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Absolction—grant of, 357.

Accidents in coal mines—South
Shields Eeport, 723.

Addenda—Bishop Longley, election

and enthroning, itc. 792 ;
parlia-

mentary representation conti-

nued to 1S^57, 703.

Affray in Sodgefield church-yard,

335.

Ailsie Marky—'0 d'ye ken Ailsie

Marley, honey?" 620.

Airy, Professor, experiments at

Harton pit, 732.

Aislaby, 224.

Aisle of tonihs, C02.

AlansforJ on the Darwent, CGI.

Alban (St.) chapelry district of

—

order in council, boundary, po-

pulation, the church, the par-

sonage, Windy Nook, chapel,

schools, White House, 751 ; Up-
per Heworth, quarries, &c. 752.

Allan, E. H. 44, 793.

Allan press, 2C1.

Allansford bridge, 709.

Allison, Christopher, 195.

Alwent. 134.

.\ncient fortificationc, 380 ; remains,
3!)fi, 5(!3.

Ancient \nse discovered, 367 ; hu-
man skeletons, 370.

Anderson, Mojor, 359.

Anfield Plain, CCS.

Angus, Witliam Heniy, 717.

Aristocratic swindlers, 117.

Armstrong, Dr., 531.

Assault on rector of Eyton, deposi-

tion, CCS.

Auld wives of Whitburn, 423.

Axwell, do. Park, paintings, 676.

Bailey, .John, 79.

Bainbridgc Holme, 528.

Baker, Sir George, 660.

Balguy, llev. .John, C39.

Baliols, family of, 4.

Banditti, former habitation of, 569.

Barclay, David, 491.

Barlow Fell, 077.

Barmston, 742.

Barnard Castle—description of, 13
;

suiTpy and inventory, Bracken-
bury's Tower, Baliol's Tower, 14

;

a Eoman road, ths Flatts, roman-
tic scenery, 15 ; siege of, 49, 50.

Barnard Castle, parochial chapelry

of—acreage, population, liistory,

the Baliols, 4 ; original charters.

5 ; Baliol CoUege, Oxford, 6

;

Sweetheart Abbey and Lady De-
Torguill, powers of the lords of

Barnard Castle, 7 ; the see of

Durham seized by the crown, 8
;

the Beauchamps, Nevilles, and
riantagencts, 9; Viscount Bar-

nard, Barnard Castle entitled to

return members to parliament,

Cromwell enters the town, 12

;

the Castle, 13 ; the town, descrip-

tion of, the bridge, Barnard Cas-

tle tragedy, 17; old rhjme, ex-

communication, the church, 18 :

tablets and monuments, II) ; be-

quests, terrier, 21 ; church rates

and Easter dues disputed, 22

;

election of churchwardens and
sexton, chapels, 23 ; Eogers,

Barnes, 24 ; Wesley, charities,

St. John's hospital, 26; chancery

suit, 27 ; description and value of

St. John's hospital property, 28
;

enclosure acts, 29; weste lands,

80; Teesdale union, dietary table,

81; markets, fairs, courts, 82;
manufactures, trade, &e. the

genius of the river, treatment of

apprentices, 34 ; banks, Darling-

ton and Barnard Castle railway,

35; sanitary condition, S8 ; gas
and water, 39 ; Withcm testimo-

nial, 40 ; benevolent institutions,

&c. 42; schools, character of in-

habitants, 43 ; reply to Justice

Creswell, 44 ; environs, Abbey
bridge, Egliston Abbey, Eokeby,
<tc. 45 ; Kinninvie, Marwood,
Streatlam and Slainlcn, 46 ; the

Bowes family, 47
;
papers, 48

;

watch and ward, the siege, 4!)

;

deplorable state of the bishopiic

described, 51 ; Sir George Bowes'
reward for loyally, last will and
testament of, Eichard, his ward-
robe, &c. 52 ; John Knox, 53

;

Stoney Bowes, Lord Strathnaorc,

54; Streatlnm Cnstlc, 59; the
park, Stainton, cbnpels, schools,

encroachment on highway, CO

;

Westwick, acreage, population,
inclosure of moor, &c. CI.

Barnes, High and Low, 529.

Barnes, alderman, 24.

Battle of Marsden Bock, 482.

Beamish, House, 635.

Bcde, the venerable, 744.

Bede's well, 747.

Bell, .Tolin, 757.

Bellasis, 311.
Belle Vue, 791.

Benfieldside, chapelry district of

—

extent, population, rates, the
church, (199 ; Shotley Bridge,
Society of Friends, German sword
cutlers, paper mill, gas company,
schools, mechanics' institute,

fairs, &c. 700 ; chnpcls, the spa

—

analysis. Snows Green, the Laws,
701 ; Black Hill, Consett or Con-
side iron works, 702 ; Consett
Park, the Howens, Knitsley,
Berry Edge, Leadgate, school,
reading rooms, Eedway HiU,
Eoman Catholic chapel, 703.

Bensham, 787.

Bents, 735.

Bequests to the church, 05.

Berry Edge, 703.

Bertie, Admiral Sir Thcmas, 1C9.

Bewick, Thos. weed tngiaver, 7C8.

Bewick, Mm. the pointer, C65.

EiddicL— South, £C9.

Bill Quay, 750.

BillingLfm, parish of—extent, po-
pulatitn, lates, ECO; schools, <tc.

307; the church, £08; extracts

frcm registeis, of 9; charities,

Pellasis, 311 ; Port Clarence,

Havertcn Hill, CowptnLewIcy,
312.

Eillmgside, CCS.

Eiikleck, Eev. S. 137.

Birtley, diapeliy distiict of— ex-

tent, populalicn, rates, C23 ; iron

works, talt spring, the cburih,
chapels, school, Porto Eello,

Ley bum Hold, Hnrratcn, extent,

populalif n, rates, C24 ;
' The Op-

pressed Man's Outoy,' C25; Pe-
law, Picktree and Ko\a Scotia,

Falfield, C26 ; Chater's Hnuph,
High Haugh, Lambton Castle,

description, €27 ; the park, gar-

dens, the Liimhtcns, C28 ; the
Loniliton woim,C31 ; Woim Well,
Woim Hill, C82.

Bishcpton, parish of—extent &c.
Castle hill, 233; the church,
charities, 235 ; East and West
Newbiggin, Little Stainton, tra-

gedy, 23C.

Bisbopwcomiouth, JC9, 416.
Black Hall rocks, 371.
Black Hill. 702.

BlackUirn Fell, 695.

Blackett, Joseph, S83.

Blackball on the Dorwent, 679.

Blakistcns, the, 209 ; manor of, 211.

Blanchland, 71L
Blnydon, C84.

Bleak House, 7C.

Blue Quarries, 790.

Bolam, 138.

Boldon, parish of—extent, popula-
tion, rates, Boldon Book, 736;
West Boldon, chapel, school, the

church, restorations, 738 ; chari-

ties, East Boldon, 738; White
Mere Pool, Boldon Moor di-

vided, Brockley Whins, Newton
Garths. 739.

Boldon, West, 737 ; East, 738.

Bon mot of King James at Lumley
Castle, 615.

Boum Moor, 572.

Bowes family, 11, 24, 47.

Bowes (the) papers, 48.

Bowes House, 572.

Bowlees Houses, 70.

Bradbury and the Isle, 343.

Bradlpy,'(i98.

Bnidloy Hall (Eyton) 671.

Bradley. Ealpli, .'100.

Brand, Eev. John, 740.

Brandling family, 750.

Brearton, 285.
Ertckcn Hill, 610.
Buwster, Eev. J. 222.

Prit'gEwalfr, L'nri ot, 123.
Erockett. Willitm Htniy, 777.
Eiccklty Wbirs, 7:]9.

Erctnis (Hipb) chapel, 600.
Ercwn, Dr. 459.
Eiuntcn, Vice-odmiral, 161.

Building Hill. 411,416.
Bunker Hill, CCC.

Euidcn, C£6.

Burden fcmily, Eowland, RC7.

Eumhcp !ind Htmsteels, CSC.

Eumo] field, Co7 ; murder, ib.

Buhhbladcs. 065.

Bute (:e]c'—Fast and West, 655.

Butteiwick, 345.

Eyerside, 609.

Eyrcn, Lady, 608.

Loid, marriage at Seahom, 682.

Code, John, 126.

Caird, Mr., and the Duke of

Clevelcnd's tenants, 112.

Carbonate, substitute for, 749.

Carietcn, 282.

Caipendale, the Eev. Geo., 71.

Cair, Jol!n,L.L.D., 7C6.

Carr of Cockon, family of, 575.

Corr's Hill, Carr HiU House, 780.

Castle Hill, 233.

Castle Ldtn^porish of, acreage,

populatirn, rales, schools, the

castle, 365 ; Castle Eden dene,

rcmcntic sceneiy, 300 ; Eowland
Burdon, £67 ; the church, 368

;

school, chapels, 369.

Cat Dene, 750.

Cauldrcn Snout, 74.

Charters in town chest, Barnard
Castle, 45.

Chater's Haugh, 627.

Chester Ward— extent, boundaries,

divisions.parishesandchapelries,

508.

Chestcr-le- Street—parish of, extent,

population, rates, C9H ; ancient

history, Eoman antiquities, a

ghost story, 589 ; dividing the

ccmmons, the town, 6C0 ; the

chunh, the stocks, St. Cuthbert,

COl; aisle of trmbs, 602; ex-

tracts frcm puiish books, 603;

charities, CC4
;
]ioor law union,

605 ; religious and educational

establishments, COO; trade Ac.

the deaiery, 607; White Hill,

the Heiniitage, South Hill, the

Flatts, Gnat Lumloy school,

608 ; charity, Lumley Hospital,

Sir Jolm Duck, 009 ; Little Lum-
ley, Lumley Castle, description

of, 610; family, 612; Horace

Walpole, 610; Lambton, Flaws-

w-ortli, Hougbton Gate, 618;

Waldridge, extent, populatioD,

ice. 619.
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Chflton Moor, 563.

Chipchase, John, 171,
Chowdean, 791.

Christopher, Capt. 209.

Circurastiintial eridence, 373.

Clanny, Dr. W. K.,181.
Clavering, James, amusing diarv,

5iO.

Claxton, 300 ; William, 323.

Claymo.id, Rev. Dr., 310.

Cleadon, 73.5 ; Cleadon House, ib.

Cleatlam, 138.

Cleveland District, 203.

Cleveland, Duke of, lOS.

Cleveland, Duke of, Harte estate

act, Ui.
Coal, household, 310.

Goatham-Conyers, 219.

Oockeu, 574 ; the hall, assize trials,

575.

Cockfield Fell, 81.

Cockfield—parish of, county-rate,
population, 78; chapels, the
church, 79 ; charities, royalty of
estate, 80 ; fell, dyke, 81 ; water
worn stones, woodland, church
school, 82.

Cold Hesleden or Hesleton, 580.
Collinson, Captain, 738 ; Rev. John,

762.

Collierley—chapelry of, boundaries,
extent, population, &c. 6lii;

Collierley-Dykes, Dipton, Pontop i

the church, 003 ; school, Kyo,
Rev. Blythe Hurst, 604; Harpley
House, Anfield Plain, chapel,
Bushblades, BiUingside, 665.

'

Collieriey-Dykes. 663.

Colliery Row, 563.

Colliery—sinking a shaft in 1606,
571.

Colliery villages, description of,

cottages, how furnished, &e. 573.
Collieries— leases, value, dead

rents, &c. 530, 631, 637,645, 684,
689, 695, 696.

Collieries—list of (see also vol. i.1

Woodland 83, Haswell 300, South
'

Hetton 301, Shotton Grange 363,
Castle Eden 369 ; South Wingate, 1

Hutton Heniy Coal Company

'

375, East Hetton, Clarence,
Hetton, Crow Trees, Coxhoe,
West Coxhoe 379, Bowburn,
West Hetton, Heugh Hall, Cas-
sop and Cassop Moor 381, Thorn-
ley 385, Wingate Graage 387,
Trimdon, Trimdon Grange 390,
Byhope, ilonkwearmouth 536,
Houghton 503, Newbottle 505,
sinking a shaft in 1600 571,
Rainton pits Cocken 574, Xloors-
ley 577, Hetton, Cawline 579,
Murton 587, Lumlev, 609, Lamb-
ton 618, Nettlesworth, Waldridge
619, Pelton 021, Ouston 622.
Urpeth, Edmondslev, Twizel
623, Harraton 626, Tanfield Lea,
Tanfield .Moor 635, Beamish,
East Tanfield 636, Buru.jfilield

637, Shield Row, East afilV'^Vest

Stanley 638,Eigliton Moor, Team
640, Kibblesworth 646, Burnop
Flat (i56, Holniside and Crag
Head 057, Langley 058, Iveston
«59, Pontop and Dipton 663,
SoulU Tanfield 605, R. ctjir's

Glebe and Stella Freehold 671.
Blajdon Burn 076, Garesfie'd

677, Stella Coal Company 682,
Stella Grand Lease684,Farnacres
692, Mai-Iey HiU 695, Medomslev,
Old Medomsley 696, St. Hilda
722, Harton 732, Washington
741, Oxclose, North Biddick 742,
Usworth 743, Hebbum, Jarrow
747, FelUng 750, Heworth 752,
Oakwellgate, Shipcote 785, Tyne
Main or Friars Goose 780, Sheriff
Hill 700.

Colpitts, Martha, 84.

Colville, Camilla, 751.

Consett iron Works 702 ; Extract
from Tremenheere's Keport 702.

Consett Park 703.

Consumption of coal in producing
iron 203.

Conyers family, 357.

: Convent of St. Hilda, 256.

j

Cook, William, 782.

Cornsay, Comsay Hall, 657.
Cosin, Bishop, 2S2.
Cowheel, 092.

Cowpen Bewley, 313.
Coxhoe, 378, sale of estate, 379, 380.
Cradock, Rev. John, 133.
Cradock, famUy of, 133, 387.
Cramer Dyke House, 787.

Crawcrook, 071.

Crawshay, George, 783.

CressweU, Justice, reply to his re-

marks, 44.

Crook Gate, 695.
Crook HaU, 600.
Crosby, Brass, 174.

Crowley, Sir Ambrose, 675.
Cuthbert, St., 601.

Dale, family of, 535.

Daltjn-le-Dale, palish of, extent,
population, rates, the church,
charities, Cold-HesleJoa or Hes-
leton, Murton-in-the-Whius or
East Murton, extent, population,
rates, 586.

Dalton-Piercy, 245.
Darlington, Earl of, 107.

DarUngtou Ward—table shewing
the area, number of houses,
population, itc. in each parish
and chapelry, 143; number of
persons to square mOe, Jtc. 144 ;

occupations iu each lUstrict, 145.
Darlington Ward, south-west divi-

sion, 3.

Darncrook, 787.

Darwencote, 099.
Danvent Haugh, 076.
Darwent lead mines, 712 ; statement

of mining agent, ib.

Darweut Villa, 075.

Davy, sir Humphrey, 743.
Dawes, Rev. R., 749.

Doanery, 607.

Dcckham HaU, 7S6.

Da Foe, Daniel, 758.

Depositions at Lanchester—laying
violent hands upon the curate,
050.

Deptford, 530.

Diusiiale, the rector overreached,
338.

Dipton, 663.

Dixon, George and Jeremiah, 78.
Diibson, Alexander R., 756.
Dobson, John, architect, 589, 591,

765.

Domestic feud, superstition, &c. 696.

!
Draining the coal field east of New-

castle, 786.

Drummoud, Earl of Perth, 569.

,

Duck, Sir Jolin, 009.

Dunkirk Place, 747.

Dunstan, Hall, Lodge, 692.

Durham, Eari of, 630.

Durham ( Earl of) memorial, 567.

Dutch galliot, 201.

Dyons, 135.

Early Nook, 224.

Easington Declaration—theSolemn
League and Covenant, 354.

Easington Lane, 579.

Easington Ward—table shewing the
area, number of houses, popula-
tion. Sec. in each parish and cha-
pelry, 596 ; number of persons to

square mile, occupations, .Sic. 355,
394 ; South Dirision, 351; North
Division, 391.

Easington, parish of—acreage, po-
pulation, rates, schools, chapel,

351; Salter's Way, 353; Hett
dyke, the church, -353 ; charities,

poor law union, its extent, ifeo.

355 ; Horden, 350 ; Hawthorn,
358; school, 359; South Hetton,
charity, Pespool and Boisfleld,

361; Shotton, acreage, &c. school,
hall, 362 ; the church, 363 ; Ed-
deracres, Eden, 364.

East Town, 750.

Ebehester, parochial chapelry of

—

extent, population, rates, chapels,
Roman ramparts, &c. 704 ; re-

mains of a Roman bridge, the
church, 705.

Ebdoa, Rev. T. sale of his library,

309.

Eden, Little, Deyne House, 364.

Edmondbyers, parish of—area, po-
pulation, rates, chapels, schools,

reading room, bridge. Hunter
House, the chtirch, 710; chari-
ties, Ronghside, 711.

Edmondsley, 623.

Edwards, Dr. 44.

Egerton, Rev. H. 431.

Egglesclitfe, parish of—area, value,

population, poor law union, rail-

ways—theircontributions to local

rates, schools, 320 : the church,
222 ; visitation, charities, Tarm
bridge, 333 ; Early Nook, Aisla-

by, 334; Trafford Hill, News-
ham, 225.

Eggleston, 68.

Eighton Banks, 640.

EUison, C. family of, 747.

Elstob, 329.

Elstob, William and Elizabeth, 345.

Elton, parish of—area, value, po-
pulation, 212; Elton HaU, the
Suttons, oldest woman, 213 ; the
church, 214.

Elwick, 244.

Elwick Hall, parish of—extent,
rates, 315; the church, 310;
Amerston, Newton Hansard,
Stotfold, Bruntoft,the Close, 317.

Embleton, 346.

Emery, John, 476.
Eppleton—Great and Little, 580.
Ettrick family, 529.

Ewbank the artist, 458.
Ewer, Capt..205.

Expert thief—bank robbery, 181

.

Fairies' cradle, 580.

Farnacres, 692.

Fatfield, 020.

Fawcett family, 418.
FeUing—High and Low, 749

;

Shore, 750.

Fellside Quarter, 693 ; FeUside, 695.
Fiddler WUlie, 80.

Fishburn, 340.

Fisher, Rev. P. 90.

Field House, 135, 787.

Flatts, 608.

Flemingfield—sale of, 364.
FoUonsby, 748.

Ford—^Lanchester, 655.

Forgery—Sunderland joint stock
bank, 444.

Forest and Frith, 71.

Fowler, Capt. 209.

Foxton and Shotton, 344.

Fratricide, 709.

Friars goose, 786.

Fulthoi-p, 320.

FulweU, 538.

Gainford Great Wood, 135.

Gainford—parish of, area, value of
property, population, 125; sa-

lubrity. Sir Walter Scott, 12(i

;

water, police, railway, schools,

literary institute, the church,137 ;

antiquities, excommunication,
129; vicarial rent-charge, 130;
chapels, 113 ; charities, Gain-
ford Hall, 133 ; Selaby, 133 ; the
HaU, ib. ; Alwent, Snow HaU,
134; Greystone, lleld House,
Dyons, Gainford Great Wood,
Langton, area, value, population,

135 ; Langton Grange, Headlam,
breach of the Sabbath, 136

;

Cleadam, Morton-Tynemouth,
Bolam, 138 ; Summerhonse,
139 ; Piercebridge—acres, value,

population, Roman station, Wat-
ling street, 140 ; antiquities, Mr.
Maclauchlau, Mr. Denham, Ro-
man remains, coins, Ac 141.

Garth, Sir S. M.D. 139.

Gateshead—origin of name, parish,

area, population, rates, lustory,

752 ; the manor of Gateshead
transferred to the ecclesiastical

commissioners, amount of consi-

deration paid to lessee, descrip-

tion of manor, extracts from
parish books, 753 ; Gateshead
House, the RiddeUs, letter from
Sir John Lesly, the borough pro-

perty, proclamation, Asiatic cho-
lera 755

;
great fire and explosion,

reverberation felt at Shields, &c.

756 ; official inquiry, value of

property destroyed, subscription

for the sufferers, description of
town, 757 ; St. Mary's church,
759; church plate, antiquarian
relics, 760 ; extracts from parish
books, description of burying
ground, inscriptions on tombs,
761 ; old parsonage. Trinity
chapel, 702 ; new chapel of St.

Edmund, Hospital of King James,
763 ; charity commissioners' re-
port, income and expenditure,
764; St Cuthbert's church,
dissenting chapels, 765; charities,

766 ; Poor-law union, 767 ; in-

come and expendiiure, books
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sold as waste paper, description

of workhouse, dispensary, 708

;

benevolent institutions, 709

;

anchorage school, parish regis-

ters—description of the books,

770 ; schools, mechanics' institu-

tion, 771 ; town hall, Hillgate,

projected improvements, Tyne
bridge, 772 ; high level bridge,

774 ; railway station, baths and
wash-houses, goverament and
franchise, charters ofincorporated

companies, Prince of Wales down
a coal pit, 775 ; municipal corpo-

ration—boundaries, 776 ; bounda-
ries of the wards, town councillors,

ifec. 777 ; local covuts, warrant for

extending jurisdiction fi-om New-
castle to Gateshead, police re-

turns, 778 ; coi-poration accounts,

779 ;
parliamentary representa-

tion, 781 ; sanitary condition,

783 ; supply of water and gas,

Hawks and Crawshay'sirou works,

783 ; Park ii'on works. Friars

Goose chemical works, Tyne che-

mical works, electric telegraph

wire works, 784 ; trade, fairs,

TjTie improvement commission-
ers, 783 ; Friars Goose, Salt Mea-
dows—grant to Newcastle coi-po-

ration. Park House, Deckham
Hall, Cramer Dyke House, Salt-

wellside, Darucrook, Field House,
Bensham, 787 ; Eedheugh, Team,
chapels, 788.

Gateshead FeU, parish of—boun-
dary, dividing the Fell, 788 ; the
church, Sherift" Hill, meeting the
judges, chapels, school, asylum,
Beacon Hill, 789; Sherifl' HUl
House and Cottage, Hawksbury
Hill, Can-'s Hill, Cai-r HUl House,
Blue Quarries, Low Fell, chapels,

school and lecture rooms, 790

;

Chowdean, Belle Vue, Carter's

well, Wrekenton, sanitary condi-

tion, hii'ing, chapel of ease, 791

;

chapels, schools, asylum, 792.

Gateshead House, 704.

Gateshead Low Fell, 790.

Gateshead Park House, 786.

Gateshead volunteers, 790.

Ghost storj-, 599, 671.

Ghosts, no law relative to, 738.

Gibbet, the last erected, 731.

Gibside—mansion, paintings, cha-
pel, 094.

Gibson, W. S. 254.

Gilpin, Bernard, the apostle of the

north, 551 ; his will, 555.

Goldsmith, Oliver, arrested at Sun-
derland, 403.

Goosepool, 219.

(iossii) and scandal, 341.

(iray, Piev. Robt. 425.

Greatham Hospital—charter, 301

;

ancient ordinances, endowment,
letters patent from James I. 302

;

charity commissioners' report,

revenue, bill in chancery, 303.

Greatham, parish of—extent, jjopu-

lation, rates, Greatham Hall,

Ralph Ward .Jackson, 299 ; tlie

'ihurch, 300 ; Greatham HospitiJ,

stone cotlin found, contents, 301

;

I'arkhurst's Almshouse, 304

:

charities, 305 ; Claxton, 306.

Greencroft, Hall, paintings, 659.

Greenside, 670.

Greenstone dyke, or Cockfield FeU
dyke, 81.

Grey, Mr. jun. 784.

Grey family, 206.

Greystone, 135.

Grievances of Muggleswick, 708.

Grindon, parish of^—extent, popula-

tion, rates, churches, 318 ; chari-

ties, Thoi-p-Thewles, 319; Ful-

thorp, Wj-nyard Park, 320;
mansion, etc. 321 ; the Vane
Tempests, Marchioness of Lon-
dondeny, the Marquis, 325 ; Abd-
el-Kader's letter, Whitton, 326.

Haggle, David, 778.

HaU, T. Y. 682.

Hamsteriey Hall, 698.

Handfasting, 603.

Hann, James, mathematician, 741,

Harding family, 694.

Hardmek—the mansion, grounds,
Grecian temple, serpentine river,

banquetting house, statuary, 342.

Hardwick House, 373.

Hai-le, William Lockey, 787.

HaiTaton, 624; hall, 627.

Hart, parish of—acreage, value,

population, poor rates, 237 ; his-

tory, 238 : sale of estates, Duke of
Cleveland's will, 340 ; acts of par-

liament, suit in chancery, &c,

241 ; Duke of Cleveland's Harte
Estate Act, 242 ; the church, 343

;

charities, 'Throston, Elwick, 2-14 :

Dalton-Piercy, Thorp-Bulmer,
sale of, 245 ; Nesbit, sale of, 346.

Hai-tburn, East, 198.

Hai'tlepool, parochial chapelry of

—

area, value, population, ancient
history, 240 ; description of the
town, 350 ; town moor. Maiden's
Bower, Fairj' caves, the Elephant
rock, the inhuman lover, the
town walls, 251 ; St. Hilda's
chui-ch, 252; convent, St. Helen's
chapel, 250 ; the Friary, Holy
Trinity district chapelry, 257

;

chapels, 258 ; charities, court of
chancery scheme respecting, 201

;

support cf the poor, corporation,

263, 265 ; courts leet and baron,
county court, markets, fairs, 207 ;

hanks, supply of water, 268;
water company, educational, re-

ligious, and other institutions,

269
;
public baths, cemetery, 270

;

sauitaiy condition, 271 ; harbour,
piers, docks, 272 ; expense of
dock accommodation, 275 ; light-

house, customs port, 277 ; ship-
ping dues, coast guard, 278;
commerce, exports, value of, &o.
279 ; shipping companies, pilots,

life-boats, 280; fisheries, inha-
bitants, 281.

Hartlepool, West, parochial cha-
pelry of—streets, California, 2n6

;

police station, town improvi.Mioiit

act, slaughter houses, the church,
287 ; chapels, 2S8 ; cemetery, the
-A.tliena;um, 289 ; mechanics' in-

stitute, schools, internal trade,

west docks, 290; agreement be-

tween dock company and railway
directors, 291; life boat, pilots,

Middleton, hai-bour of refuge,

293 ; piers, passing toll, &c. 294.

Harton, 732.

Harvey, Edward, 186.
Harwood, 71.

HasweU, High and Low—the col.

Uery, itc. stationary engines, the
tourist, 360.

Havelocks, the, 533, 794.

Haverton Hill, 312.

Hawks, Geo. 788.

Hawthorne, the Dene, Hive, Cot-
tage, A-e. 308.

Headlam, 130.

Heath, John, 554.

Hebbm-n, 717 ; HaU, ih.
; Quay, 748.

Hedgefield House, 680.

Hedley, 646.

Hedworth, 748.

Heleyfield—Heley chapel, 661.

Henderson, Robert, the sailing

Quaker, 165.

Hendon, 440.

Hermitage, Chester-le-Street, 008.

Heroine, a, 728.

Herrington—East and MidiUe,
563 ; West, 504.

H5tt Dyke, 353.

Hetton.le-Hole parish—area, po-

pulation, rates, chapels, schools,

reading room, the hall, the
burn, the church, 578; col-

lieries, Easington Lane, 579

;

chapels, schools, reading room,
emigration, Downs, Fairies' cra-

tUe, Great and Little Eppleton,
extent, population, rates, 580.

Heworth, chapelry of—extent, jjo-

pulation, rates. Nether Heworth,
school, 748 ; the church, High
and Low FelUug, ancient coin,

chapels, schools, chemical works,

749 ; the Brandlings, Unes to

Miss Fanny Brandling, Felling
Shore, chapels, manufactories,
East Town, Nest House, Hew-
orth Shore, manufactories. Bill

Quay, manufactories. Cat Dene,
Lizzie Moodie's, Pelaw Main,
750; Holly HUl, 751.

Heworth Shore, 750.

Heworth, Upper, 702.

Heyrick, Tobias, 130.

High Force, 74.

High Haugh, 627.

Hilton, 115.

Hodgson, Rev. John, antiquary, 746.

Hogg famUy, 205.

HoUinside, 094.

HoUy HUl, 751.

Holmside—Holm HaU, 656.

Hopper family, 087.

Hopping, WindmiU HiUs, Gates-
head, 759.

Horden, .356.

Houghton Gate, 618.

Houghton-le-Spriug, parish of

—

boundary, rates, population, 548
;

Marchioness of Londonderry and
her workmen, Houghton Feast,

549 ; the church, evidence in a

pew cause, 550 ; tombs, Bernard
GUpin, &c. 051 ; chapels, cliari-

ties, 554 ; Sir George Wheeler's
charity, scheme for future ma-
nagement, 557 ; schools ; 550 ;

mei-hanics' institution, poor law
union, 060

;
gas company, supply

of water, sanitary condition, 001
;

halmote court, 562 ; Chilton

Moor, Colliery Row, Wardon-

Law, East and Middle Hen-ing.
ton. 563 ; West HeiTington,
church. Cox Green, Newbottie,
004 ; school, church, 505; Bunker
HiU, Philadelphia Row, Morton
Grange, 506.

Howdon, Lord, 387.

Howens estate, 703.

Hoyle, J. T. 749.

Hudson, George, M.P. 491, 599.
Hulam, 374.

Hullock, Sir John, 20.

Himstanworth, parish of—extent,
population, rates, chapels, school,
711 ; lead mines, Arkendale and
Darwent Company, the chui'ch,

-Alan-Sheels, extracts from parish
register, 712.

Hunter famUy, 696.
Hurst, Rev. Blythe, 004.
HuiTTorth estates, 387.

Hutchinson famUy, ofWhitton,327.
Hutchmson, W. 44.

Hutt, Wm. M.P. 781, 793.

Hutton-Heniy, chapel, coal co. 370.

Hylton famUy, 542.

Hylton Castie—description of, sub-

terraneous passage, 041 ; famUy.
042 ; the caiUd lad o' Hylton, a

ghostly visitant, 545; brownie,
the sprite banished, chapel, 540.

Inclined plain, peril upon, 372.

Ingleton chapeliy district—area,

l)opulation,ratos, the chapel, 114 :

Hilton, 115 ; Wackerfield, 110.

Inhuman lover. 251.

Iron works, Birtley, 624.

Iveston, 669.

Jackson, Ralph Ward, 299.

Jarrow chemical works, 747.

Jarrow parish—extent, population,

rates, Roman station, etc. 744 :

chapels, schools, manufactories,

the church, 745 ; charities , 740 ;

Dunkii'k Place, Monkton, paper
mill, chemical works, Bede's weU,
Hebburn, chapels, schools, haU,

747
;
Quay, Hedworth, Wardley,

FoUonsby, 748.

Jarrow Slake and docks, 730.

Jennett, Thos. 180.

Johnson family, Ghester-le-St. 807.

Kell, Wm. 778. ;

KeUoe parish—area, population,

rates, KeUoe town. Church Kcl-

loe, ifec. the church, S70 ; chari-

ties, Coxlioe, chapels, schools,

378 ; tlie hall, 379 ; sale of estate,

Quarriugton, 380 ; Cassop, Turs-
dale, 381.

Kibblesworth, 640.

King's Meadows, 755.

KipUng, Capt. Robt. 34.

Knight's hole, a cavern, 383.

Knitsley, 703.

Knox, ite Scottish reformer, 53.

Kyo;
X, ihe 5

Laird o' Banfi—ncftes of the Bank
of Elegance, 538.

Lambtons, the family of, 628.

Lambt.on castle—description of. the

vestibule, saloon, library, gallery,

paintings ancient and modern,
627 ; the building in danger,

precautions adopted, pai'k, 623.
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Lambton house, 618.
Lambton, Low, 508 ; New, 572.
Lambtou Worm, legend, 6:il.

Lamesley—chapeb-y of, extent, po-

pulation, rates, the church, 0:JM
;

charities, C39;Allerdean,Eighton
Banks, the church, Eaveusworth,
population, &c. 640 ; origin of
name of Ravensworth, legend,

the castle, description, tUl ; the
Lapland girls, 04:}; parliamentary
representation — the colours,

stanzas, 044 ; Blackburn Fell,

645 ; Kibblesworth, Hedley

—

extent, population, rates, 046.

Lanchester parish—boundarr, ex-

tent, population, rates, Smallhope
Burn, Pagan masonry, chapel,

the church, 647; a collegiate

church, ecclesiastical discipline,

dean and prebends, 049 ; charters,

051 : poor law union, Roman sta-

tion, 052; ancient relics, 053 ; in-

closure ofmoors, 054 ; Ford, Cold-
pike hill, Maiden Law, Butsfield,

Woodlands, 655 ; Bumhop and
Hamsteels, moor di\'ided. Holm-
side, Holm hall. New Holmside
hall, 656 ; Ousterley, Whitley
Green, Comsay, EusseU's Alms-
houses and school, 657 ; Langley
058 ; Greencroft, Greencroft hall,

paintings, A'c, Little Greencroft,
Iveston, 65f); Crook hall, High
Brooms, chapel, 660 ; Heleyfield,
Heley cbapel, Alansford, Hole
house, 601.

Langley, 658 ; the bum, 659.
Laws estate, 701.

Layton, East and West, 342.

Layton, Geo. 43.

Leadgate, 703.

Leadmines—London Lead Co., 66
;

Eggleston smelt mills, 08

;

Nether Hurth, Troutbeek Foot,
Birkdale, Tees Side.Green Hurth,
Cross Gill Head consols, 75.

Lead mines, Blackball, 372.

Lead mining royalties, 709.

Leases, calculation for renewal, 378.
Leasehold tenm-es, 410, 476.

Leasehold titles,trial respecting,684.

Lee, John, 88.

Leslie, general, 400.

LiddeU, family of, 642.

Lighthouse, removal in an entire
state, 501.

Inlbum family, 400.

Lintz Green, 030.

Lizzie Hoodie's, 750.

Londonderry, Marquis of, 323, 325.
funeral procession, &a. 217.

London Lead Company, 66.

Long Newton parish—area, value,
population, 215 ; the Vanes, 216;
funeral of Marquis of London-
derrj', the church, '.il7 ; charities,

Coatham-Conyers,Goosepool,2 19.

Longley, Bishop, 792.

Lough, John, sculptor, 706.

Low-hand Quarter, 691.
Lowth, Bishop, 336.

Lumley Castle, 610; description,

the great hall, family portraits,

the great dining room. Oil

;

music room, &c. the Sliakspere
portrait, 012 ; stripped of its he-
reditary furniture, 017.

Lumley family, 012.

Lumley Great, 008 ; Little,

Lumley hospital, 609.

Lumley Thicks, ib.

610.

I

Maltby, Rev. H. J. 222.
i Man-haven, 735.

I

Marley hiU, 695.

Marston Rock, 735.

JIailin, William, 774.

Marwood, 40.

Mather James, South Shields, 729;
Ersk-ine, ib.

Meadley, G. W. 462.

Medicinal spring, Shotley Br. 701.

Medomsley chapelry—extent, popu-
lation, rates, 095 ; encroachment
on village green, 696 ; the church,
description of property in district,

697 ; charities, Bradley, Hamster-
ley hall, 698 ; Byerside, Darwen-
cote, 699.

Middlesborough, 201 ; dock, iron
works, &c. 202.

Middleton, 293.

Middleton St. George parish—ex-

tent, value of land, population,
225; the church, 226; terrier,

charities, 227 ; Middleton-One-
Eow, West Hartbam, 228; Oak
Tree, Pounteys bridge, 229.

Middleton in Teesdale parish

—

acreage, county rates, population,
&c. 62 ; Middleton house, market,
town hall, bridge, water supply,
the church, beU house, 03 ; cha-
pels, charities, 04; education,
institutions, Ac; 65 London Lead
Company, produce from mines,
bargains, 00 ; wages, education of
workmen's children, librarj-, 07

;

iuclosure of lands, Eggleston,
acreage, rates, &c. smelt miU,
chapel, 08; chapels, mechanics'
institution.Eggleston hall, Stand-
ing Stones, inclosing commons,
Newbiggin, 09; charities, Bow-
leeshouses, chapel. Winch bridge,
70 ; Forest and Frith, Harwood,
chupel and school, 71 ; chapel of
ease, school, poor's stock, chapel.
High Force, 73 ; Cauldron Snout,
74 ;

lead mines, 75 ; Bleak house
70.

Jliddliton, Capt. 314.
]Middle;on-One-Eow, 228.
Mineral spring, analysis, 569.
Monkton, 747.

Monk-Hesleden parish—area, po-
pulation, rates, the church, 370 •

charities. Black Hall rocks, 371;
estates for sale, 373; Hulam',
Sheraton, 374; Hutton-Henry,
3/5,

Monkwearmouth, 412, 422, 440
480.

Moor, Capt. 314.
Moore, Mr. A. J. 484.
Moore, Jeremiah, 205.
Moor House, 577.
Moors Bum, 578.
Moorsley—Low, 577.
Mordon, 344.

Morton—East and West, 340.
Morion Grange, 566.
Morton-Tynemouth, 138.
Muggleswick parish—extent, popu-

lation, rates, 705 ; the park, the
three Hopes, 706 ; Darwentdale
plot, the church 707 : providing

church books, 708 ; lands trans-

ferred to perpetual curate, Eow-
ley (Cold) and Eoughside, cha-

pels, Muggleswick common, lead

mines, royalties, AUansford
bridge, fratricide, 709.

Murton-in-the-Whins, or East
Murton, 586.

Muster roU, 456.

Nesbit, 245 ; sale of, 246.

Xesbit, Charles, wood engraver, 693.

Nest House, 750.

Neville family, 93.

Newbiggin, 69.

Newbiggin—East and West, 230.

NewbotUe, 504.

Newport, 201.

Newsham, 124, 225.

Newton Bewley, 314.
Newton Garths, 739.

New year's gift to Q. EUzabeth, 240.
Nicholson, Eev. W. 80.

North Biddick, 742.

North and West Pastures, 739.

Norton parish—area, value, popu-
lation, school, 204 ; chapels, Nor-
ton house, 205; the church,
profane market, 208; charities,

school, Blakiston, 209.
Nova Scotia, 626.

Nunnery, 254.

Oak chest for keeping the bishop's
money, 333.

Oak Tree, 229.

Offerton, hall, 569.

Old George, 199.

Oldest woman in the world, 213.
Ordnance survey, 62.

Ouston, 022.

Owton, 298.

Pagan masonry, 647.

Paley, Archdeacon, 431.

Pallion, 530.

Parkhurst's Almshouse—indenture
enrolled in court of chancery,

304 ; property, trustees, 305.

Parliamentary representation, 793.
Parish stocks, 601.

Patie's Nook, a rendezvous, 328.

Pattinson, H. L. 685.

Paul Jones the pirate, 404.

Pease, Joseph, 793.

Peat, Lady, 563.

Pelaw, 026.

Pelaw Main, 750.

Pelton Lonin 020.

Pelton chapelrj-—boundary, popu-
lation, rates, the church, 020

;

schools, colliery, 021 ; Ouston,
Urpeth, extent, population, rates,

papei' mUl, moor divided. Poker-
fey, Pit-hill, 622; Edmondsley,
extent, (tc. Broomyholme, Trib-
ley, Twizel, 62.3.

Pemberton, family of, 528.

Penance, 759.

Penshaw hill, 567.

Penshaw parish—boundarj', area,

population, rates, 566 ; Victoria

bridge, Durham memorial, Pen-
shaw hm, chapel, schools. New
Penshaw, 567 ; Low Lambton,
the church, Shiney Eow, chapel,
schools, 568 ; Offerton, South
Biddick, area, population, rates,

hoU, mineral spring, the Bid-

dickers, 569 ; Bourn Moor, area,

inhabitants, rates. New Lambton,
chapel, school, Bowes house, salt

works, 572.

Pelton coUierr—the queen v. H. B.
Swabey, valuation of colliery,

&c. 621.

Pespool and Boisfield, 361.

Philadelphia Row, 500.

PhilUmore, Dr.—right to marry at

parish church, &c. 436.
Pickernell, Mi-. 500.
Pickled parson, 337.

Picktree, 626 ; Brag, a mischievous
goblin, ib.

Piercebridge, 140.

Pit-hUl, 622.

Pitmen, riotous conduct, 619.

Plawsworth Cottage, 618.

Plummer, Matthew, 790.

Pocock, Sir George, 240.

Pontop, Pontopike, 063,

Port Claience, 312.

Portrack, 198.

Potato Tom, 204.

Pounteys bridge, 229.

Powder magazine, 745.

Preston-upon-Tees, 198.

Procession to meet the judges, 789.

Profane market at Norton, 208.

Purvis family, 618.

Purvis, Billy, 268.

Quarrington, seat of ftn encamp-
ment, 380.

Eaby Castle—early history, Cohnan
the dramatist, 109 ; Bulmer's
tower, Clifford's tower, Leland's

description, 110 ; the bai'on's hall,

drawing rooms, kitchen, paintings

and family portraits, chapel, con-

servatoiy, park. 111.

Eaby and Keverstone, 93.

Railways—DaiUngton and Barnard
Castle, 35 ; Stockton and DarUug-
ton, 185 ; West Hartlepool Har-
bour, North-eastern, 180 ; Hart-

lepool Dock and Railway Co.

Stockton and Hartiepool, 274;
Durham and Sunderland, Pen-
shaw, 522 ; Londonderry, Sun-
derland and Seaham, 594. ( See

Rates.)

Eainton, West, 572 ; East and Mid-
dle, 574.

Eainton Pit houses, 574.

Eainton parish—West, area, popu-
lation, rates, 572; Sir John
Duck's mansion, remains of an-

cient chapel, schools, chapel, the

church, 573 ; Rainton Pit houses,

Raiuton Pits, East and Middle

Rainton, area, ite. chapel, school,

Cocken, area, value, population,

colliery, 574 ; Moor house, Moors-

ley, area, population, rates. Low
Moorsley, colliery, itc. 577.

Eates contributed by railways, 149

185 204 220 226 232 233 237 245
246 290 306 312 327 330 360 362

370 378 380 381 386 388 522 548

564 566 509 572 573 574 577 578

580 581 584 585 587 598 620 623

625 033 047 659 663 665 671 672

680 087 095 702 705 722 733 740
742 744 748 752.

Rating railways, 599.

Ravensworth, Lord, 644.
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Eavensworth Castle—description,

principal entrance, 641 ; saloon,

dining room, Ubraiy, paintings,

consenatoiy, the museum, gar-

dens, park, &c. am.
Eedcar, 203.

Redheugh, 788.

Redmarshall parish—extent, &c.
township, expenditure, 229 ; the
church, 230 ; charities, Carleton,

Stillington, 233.

Eedway hUl, 703.

Reed, Joseph, dramatist, 176.

Eeid, .James, 021.

Riddle, E. mathematician, 733.

Rippon, Cuthbert, 781.

Ritson, Joseph, 173.

Robinson family, Silksworth, 534.

Robinson Stoney Bowes, 54.

Rogers, Rev. John and Mrs. Tooley,
2.5.

Romaine, Rev. W. 203.

Roman station—Roman altar, coins,

and other relics, 052.

Roman ramparts, 704.

Eotherham, Rev. J. 554.

Rowley (Cold) and Roughside, 709.

Rudd, Rev. Thos. 218.

Russia Company, 192.

Ryhope, 535.

Ryton parish—extent, population,

rates, 065 ; fishery, division of

common. Bar Moor, Woodside
Green, Moor House, EmmaVUla,
the church, 667 ; charities, Rj-ton

Woodside, Greenside, 670; cha-

pel, school, mechanics' institute,

Stawgate coal pit explosion,Craw-
crook, extent, &c. schools, divi-

sion of Crawcrook town fields,

Bradley hall, 671.

Ryton Woodside, 070.

Sailor's Home, 457.

Sales of estates, where the amount
of purchase is named, 61, 116,

121, 134, 135, 153, 213, 221, 240,

246, 317, 330, 343, 358, 362, 305,
373, 374, 381, 382, 387 (see also

vol. i.).

Salt Meadows, 780.

Salt works, 572 : spring, 624.

Salter's Way, 352.

Saltwellside, 787.

Satley chapelry—area, population,

rates, the church, 001 ; Broom-
shields, West Street.Hedley Hope,
Meynell v. Surtees—an action

respecting wayleave, 062.

Scots house, 739.

Scurfield famUy. 533.

Seaham hall, 581.

Seahara Harbourchapeb'y dishict

—

extent, population, rates, 588;
the pier, inner .and outer harbour,
589 ; royalties, lighthouse, 590 :

shipments of coal, the town,

the church, 591 ; chapels, educa-
tional institutions, 592 ;

joint

stock gas company, 593 ; infir-

mary, railway, 594.

Seaham parisli— extent, population,

rates, the hall, 581 ; marriage of
Lord BjTon and Jliss Milbanke,
the church, 582 ; charities, 583;
colliery, new church, Seaton and
Slingley, 584.-

Seaton Carew parochial chapelrj'

—

sxtent, population, county and

local rates, fashionable bathing

place, 296; the church, chapels,

schools, 297 ; Owton, the fam ily

of Dixon, 298.

Seaton and Slingley, 584.

Sedgefield parish—extent, popula-

tion, rates, history, 330 ; deposi-

tions taken after the suppression

of the northern rebeUion, 331

;

division of waste lands, the town,

the church, 332 ; depositions,

334 ; church rates, 335 ; chapels,

poor law union, 337 ; charities,

338 ; institute of Uteratm-e and
science, schools, county lunatic

asylum, 340; gas and water

company, Hardwick, 341 ; East

and West Laj'ton, 342 ; Bradbury
and the Isle, 343; Morton, Fox-
ton and Shotton, 344 ; Buttermck,
345 ; Embleton, Fishbum, .346

;

charities, area, 347.

Selaby, 133.

Seymour, Mr. Digby, 492.

Shakspeare porti-ait, 612.

Sharp, Sir C. 264.

Shepnerdson family, 410.

Sheri'ir HiU, 789.

Sheraton, 374.

Sherwood, Dr. 134.

Shield or Sheel Row, 637.

Shield, W. the eminent English
composer, 087.

Shiney Row, 568.

ShoUey Bridge, 700.

Shotton, 362.

Siddons, Mrs. 476.

Signing HOI, sign of the cross, 383.

Silksworth, 534.

Simondside, 732.

Sleigh, lieut.-col. 162.

Smith, Dog, 261.

Smith family, 636.

Smith, Rev. Thos. D.D. 660.

Snows Green, 701.

Snow haU, 134.

Snotterton, 92.

Souter Fount, 733.

South Shields—extentoftownships,

population, rates, early history,

713; the market place, parish and
church of St. Hilda, Westoe
chapel of ease, 715; chapelry

district of the Holy Tiluity,

boundary, the church, chapelry

district of St. Stephen, boundary,
the church; chapels, 716; chari-

ties, master maiiners' asylum,
718

;
poor law union, 719 ; bene-

volent, i-eUgious and educational

institutions, 720; glass works,

721 ; ship buOding, markets,
fairs, railways, St. Hilda coUiery,

722; accidents in coal mines

—

report, town improvement act,

gas company, 723 ; water com-
pany, baths and wash houses,
theatre, races, corporation, boun-
daries of borough, 724 ; police,

borough accounts, court leet,

depth of water on the bar, 725

;

custom house, dues, conservancy
of the river, moorings, river

police, &c. 726; steam ferries,

pOots, sculler boats, temporary
bridge, 727 ; life boats, 728

;

shipping, marine board, trade,

JaiTow slake and docks, 730

;

Westoe, the common fields divi-

ded, 731 ; Harton, Professor Airy,

Simonside, division of common
fields, 732.

Southwick, 539.

Spearman family, 384.

Sporting establishment, 215.

Staindi-op Moor, 92.

Staindrop parish—area, county
rate, population, antiquity, 83

;

Staindrop hall, market,mechanics'
institution, farmers' club, gas

company. Miss Colpits, 84

;

Langley beck, the church, 85

;

monuments, 86 ; the college, 89

;

tithes, 90 ; chapels, church rates,

charities, 91 ; Snotterton, Stain-

drop moor inclosed, 92 ; Raby
and Keverstone, the Nevilles, 93;

the peacock of the north, 94

;

first Earl of Westmorland, his

immense possessions in the

county, 96 ; Cicely of Baby, 98 ;

assault on the heir of Rokeby,
inventory of goods, &c. of the

widow of Sir Heniy Gascoigne,

99 ;
proclamation during the

rebellion, 101; the wily Constable,

letter from Queen of Scots, de-

grading suspicions,102 ; Margaret
Ne^olle convicted at Durham
assizes, her letter to Queen
Elizabeth, 103 ; the Vanes, 104

first Baron Barnard, 100 ; Earl

of Darlington, hunting anecdote,

107 ; Duke and Marquis of Cleve

land, correspondence with Col

GaiTett, 108 ; Raby castle, survey,

Colman the dramatist, 109 ; de

scription, 110 : baron's hall,

chapel, park, &c. Ill ; the Duke
of Cleveland's tenants, 112

Keverstone hall, Langley dale

and Shotton, extent, rates, chapel,

&c. 113.

Stainton-le-Street parish—Great

Stainton, extent, population,

rates, the church, 328 ; charities,

school, Elstob, 339.

Stainton, 60.

Stainton, Littie, 236.

Standish family, 578.

Standish gallery, presentation to

King Louis Pliilippe, sale of

gallery and library by auction

after the revolution of 1848, 576.

Stantield, J. F. comedian, 402.

Stanger v. Nelson, Mr. Freeman's
will, 359 (see errata).

Stanley hall, 638.

Startforth, 38.

Stella chapelry district—order in

council, boundary, population,

079 ; Stella hall, chapel, schools,

Hedgefield house, 080; the Tem-
pests, Widdringtons, Earl of

Derwentwater.A-c.OHl ; Blaydon,

084 ; trade, gas works, the church,

085 ; chapels, schools, mechanics'

institute, Scotswood bridge joint

stock compy., railway bridge, 086

Stella hall, 680.

Stephens, Wm. 127.

Stephenson, Rev. Geo. 231.

StiUington, 232.

Stoney Bowes, 54.

Stockton, Henry, 100.

Stockton, South, 200.

Stockton Ward—extent, 147 ; divi-

sions, list of parishes and chapel-

ries, 148 ; area, population, num*
ber of houses, &c. 347.

Stockton parish—area, value of

property, piopulation, history,

149 ; ancient customs to be ob-

served in trade, survey, 151

;

bishop Booth's ship, costs, i'C.

152; the castie, sui-vey of the

manor and townships, 153 ; se-

questi'ation of the property of

loyalists, German trade, &c. 154 :

description of town, coins, the

Burdon family, 155 ; St. John's
well, borough rights, 157 ; exten-
sion and improvement act, boun-
daries, 158; church of St. Thomas
159 ; chapelry of Holy Tiinity,

163; mortgaging the parsonage
house, 164; chapels, ib.

; poor
law union, income and expendi-
ture, 166 ; charities,, blue coat
school. Old Cockerill, 167;
Christmas tree, 168; benevolent
institutions, 170 ; grammar.
Trinity and other schools, 171

;

mechanics' institution and libra-

ries, 172; town hall, 174;
borough hall, the shambles, 175 ;

custom house, bridge, theatre,

176 ; corporation, mayors, coim-
cillors, &c. 177 ; bailifl', revenue,

plankage dues, the bishop's din-

ner, police, county court, 178

;

markets, fairs, manur'actories,

179 ; Stockton and Cleveland
bank. Tees bank, 180 ; an expert
thief, 181; Stockton and Durham
county bank, savings bank,
amusements, 182 ; waste lands,

races, benefit societies, sujiply of

water, 183 ; gas company, 184 :

Stockton and Darlington railway,

185 ; suspension bridge. West
Hartlepool harbour, railway,river,

186 ; Tees narigation company,
the new cut, discoveries whilst

making the excavation, 187 ;

Newport, Cargo Fleet, tidal har-

bours commission, 188 ; debt
due from the port, dock act, 189

;

fisheries, 191 ; customs port,

the Russia company, &c. 192
;

quays, shipping companies, 194 :

steam boats, Ufo boats, 195 :

commerce, 196; tonnage of

vessels, quantities of coals ship-

ped, chamber of commerce, 197 ;

Portrack, East Hartbura, Pres-
ton-upon-Tees, 198; Old George,
the whinstone dyke, 199.

Stotfold, 317.

Stranton parish—area, population,

county and local rates, 283 ; the

church, 284 ; charities, Tunstall.

Broarton, 385.

Strathmore, tenth Earl of, 54.

Streatlam Castle—description of,

family portraits, 59; paintings,

armour, the park, (iO.

Streatlam and Stainton, 46.

Strickland, Miss, 10.

Summei-house, 139.

Sunderland, Earldom of, 409.

Sunderland in the great E xhibition

,

519.

Sunderland bridge, 409, 474.

Sunderland hero—Crawford, 526.

Sunderland, borougli of—parishes,

townships, extent, population,
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^91; Bishopweaitnoutli parish,

boundaries, population, rates,

JJisliopweiirmoulb Panns, 'Mi

;

Jlonkwearmouth, nmuicipal bo-

rough, 39:J ; inliabitants, ascs,

occupation , (to. ;!!U; parliament-

arj' borough, derivation of name
of Sunderland, 31)5; historical

events, 390 ; leases, :ii)8 ; old char-

ter, 3U9; alarm of invasion, 402
;

eitracts from parish registers,

v.)lunteer coi-ps, 404 ;
pillory, 405

;

Emperor of Russia at Sunderland,

bull baited, political union, Cob-

bett's lentm-e, 407 ; affray between
the military and police, Earldom
'if Simdcrlaud, history of Bishop-

wearmoulh, 409 ; Building Hill,

Burn Fields, 411 ; Weai-mouth
I'anns, history of Montwear-
mouth, 412 ; Monk's Garth, town
of Sunderland, 415; Bishopwear-
inouth, 410 ; Wearmouth Green,

Walk, &c. 417 ; Sunniside, 418
;

Sunderland, 419 ; Octagon cot-

tage, perambulating boundaries,

121 ; Jlonkwearmouth, Spotty's

Hole, 422 ; EokerGill, song, 423.

Parish of Sunderland, the church,

424 ; St. John's chapel, Spi-ing

(harden Lane chapel, sale of con-

secrated property, 427. Parish
of BishopwearmoutL, the church,

428 ; enlargement, monuments,
cemeteries, 429 ; extracts from
register books, 430 ; income of

the rector, 433. District cha-

pehy of St. Thomas, boundary,
population, the chapel. Chapeliy
district of St. Andrew's, Deptford,

boundary, population, the chapel,

Districtchapelrj-of Ryhope, order

in council, boundarj-, the chapel,

438. District cbapehy of Hen-
Jon, order in council, boundaiy,
population, the church. Cba-
peliy of Hylton Chapel or Low
l-'ord, boundaiy, the chapel. Pa-
rish of Monkweannouth, the
church, 440. Parochial chapelry
of All Saints, boundaries, popu-
lation, the church, 442, Cha-
jielrj' district of Southwick,
bouudaiy, the church, 443. The
borough continued—dissenting
chapels, charities, 452 ; Gray
schools, 453 ; maritime institu-

tion, 455; muster roll, 450;
sailors' home, 457 ; infirmary and
dispensai-y, 458 ; eye infinnaiy,

charitable and benevolent insti-

tutions, societies, 400 ; subscrip-

tion librar)' and news room, 462

;

schools, 403 ; poor-law union

,

400 ; ferries, 408 ; the bridge,

409 ; exchange, Sir Walter Scott's

poetical address, 474 ; custom-
house, barracks, batteries, 475

;

theatre, 470 ; Lyceum,Atheu!eum,
museum, literary and philosophi-

cal society, 477 ; mechanics, re-

gister buildings, market, 478

;

fairs, batlis and wash-houses,

479 ; the corporation, 481 ; town
moor, 485 ; Sunderland Oqilum
Asylum Act, 488 : parliamentarj'

representation, 491 ; court baron,

.tc. 493 : county court, petty ses-

sions. Water Co. 495; Gas Co.

490 ; sanitary condition, 497

;

harbour, 498 ; River Wear Watch
Act, 505 ; docks, coal trade, 507

;

lime U'ade, 508 ; ship-building,

509 : shipping, steamers, pilots,

511 ; life boats, north dock, 512 ;

south docks, 613 ; glass trade,

517
;
potteries, roperies, &c. 518 ;

bridge hotel, newspapers, 519

;

banks, 520 ; railways, 522 ; im-

ports and exports, duties, 523 ; in-

habitants, 524; Galley's Gill, 525

;

Bainbridge Holme, 538 ; Low and
High Barnes, 529; Pallion,

Deptford, school, 530 ; Ayre's

Quay, Thomhill, 531; Ford,

Hylton, Feriy, chapels, schools,

action of trespass, 532 ; Silks-

worth, Grindon, Farnton Hall,

534 ; 'Tunstall, Ryhope, dene and
bay 535; Burden 530; Fulwell,

537 : Southwick, chapels, schools

539 : Hylton. 540 : the castle,

541 : the cauld lad, 545 : the cha-

pel, 540 : Sunderland union in-

come and expenditure, 547.

Superstition—four fingers and a

tiiumb, 328 ; fairy ilngs, &c. 410.

Surtees family—-Hamsterley, C98.

Suspension bridge—the first for

support of a railway, 180.

Sutton family, 213.

Sutton, Mrs. Grace, 161.

Swabey, H. B. 621.

SwalweU, 093 ; hopping, ib.

Swinbum, Hemy, C98.

Swinburne, Col. family of, 6C3.

Tale of TjTie Bridge, 773.

Tanfield arch, 036.

Tanfield chapelry—area, popula-
tion, rates, school, &e. 633 ; the
church, charities, 634 ; Tanfield

Lea, Moor, Beamish, 635 ; Beam-
ish Moor divided, Cawsey, Tan-
field arch, Tantoby, Lintz Green,
036; Friarside, Priestfield, Bur-
nopfield, Biyansleap, Shield or
Sheel Row, 037 ; North Horn,
Stanley haU, 038.

Tantoby, 630.

Team, 788.

Teesdale tmion, income and expen-
diture, 31.

Teutonic weU, 307.

Thomltnson, Rev. Dr. 689.

Thompson, Alderman, 490.
Thomhill, 531.

Thornley chapelry—extent, popu-
lation, rates, schools, chapel, the
church, &c. 382.

Thornton, Roger, 014.
Thorp, Archdeacon, family of, 669.
ThorpBulmer, sale of, 245.
Thorp-Thewlcs, 319.
Throston, 244.

Tide-gauges, 503.

Tolls, important decision respect-
ing, 378.

Tragedy at Little Stainton, 236.
Tragic incident, 617.

Trimdon chapehy—extent, popiJa-
tion, rates, the old hall, schools,
the chm-ch, 388; charities, the
Ropers, King Canute, 389.

Trollop family, 383.

Tunstall, 285, 535.

Tweddell, John, 320.
Twizell, 623.

Tyne improvement conimissioners,

785.

Urpeth, 622.

Usworth chapehy district—extent,

population, rates, 742 ; Great

Usworth, chapel, mansions, the

church, school, Little Usworth,

chapel, school, 743.

Usworth—Great and Little, 743.

Usworth House and Usworth Place,

743.

Vane family, 104, 210.

Vane Tempest, 323.

Victoria bridge, 567.

Wackerfield, 116.

Waldridge, 019.

Waldy family, 221.

Wallis family, 722.

WalUs, Rev. John, 311.

Walters, Ralph, 781.

Wappiug, 572.

Ward, Nathaniel, 90.

Warden or Warden Law, 563.

Wardrobe of a fine gentleman of

the 16th centurj', 52.

Washington, the American patriot,

740.

Washington rillage, 740.

Washington Row and Washington
Staiths, hamlets, 741.

Washington parish—extent, popu-

lation, rates, 739 ; the chm-ch,

740 ; charities, Washington Row,
Washington Staiths, chemical

works, &c. 741; Oxclose, Barms-
ton, North Biddick, manufacto-

ries, Worm HOI and Worm WeU,
742.

Water-worn stones. 82.

Watts, Mrs. (Miss Waldie) 120.

Wear Banking Company—proceed-

ings in bankruptcv—Mr. Jones,

<tc. 520.
Wear Shipping Co., sale of vessels,

811.

Wearmouth Panns, 412.

Wesley, John, 20, 416.

West Hartburu, 228.

Westoe. 731.

Westwick, 01.

Wetherall, Rowland, 420.

Whickham parish—area, popula-

tion, rates, schools, chapels,

mansions, 687 ; lands enclosed,

mines, Grand AJlies, ihe church,

089 ; charities, 6IJU ; Low-hand
Quarter. 691 ; Farnacres, Duns-
tnn hall, Cowheel, Dunstou

—

trade, chapels, schools, mechanics'

institute, Lodge, 092 ; SwalweU
—ti-ade, news-room, chapels,

schools, hopping, Fellside Quar-

ter, 693 ; Gibside, mansion, paint-

ings, chapel, the Marleys, Hol-
linside, 694 ; Clockhum Lane,
FeUside, Mariey HUl, Bu-d HiU,
Crook Gate, 695.

White, A. 205.

Whitburn paiish—area, population,

rates, chapels, schools, Whithvun
hall, the Lizard, Souter Point,

old coins, the church, 733; depo-

sitions—penance, tithes, itc. cha-

rities, 734 ; Bents, life-boat,

Cleadon, chapel, school, man-
sions, Biddick, Farding Lake,

Man-haven, Marston Rock, 735

;

marine grotto, 736.

White HUl and South HiU, Chester-
le-Street, 608.

White House, 751.

White Mere Pool, 739.

Whitley Green, 657.

Whitton, 326.

Whorlton bridge, 119.

Whorlton parochial chapelry—area,

value of property, population,
chapel, aristocratic swindlers,

117 ; the chapel, 119 ; charities,

120 ; Sledwish, 121.

WUkinson famUy, Coxhoe, 379.

WUUamson, bir Hedworth, family
of, 415.

WiUiamson, Rev. W. D.D. 687.

Wilson, Thomas, 791.

Winch bridge, 70.

Windy Nook, 751.

Wingate chapelry tUstrict^—area,

population, rates, 385 ; chapels,

schools, the church, 380 ; Win -

gate Grange, the Hurworths, 387.

Wingate Grange, 387.

Winlaton MUl, 076.

Winlaton parish—extent, popula-
tion, rates, 672 ; California aUol-

ments, Ubrarj-, mechanics' insti-

tute, schools, the church, 073

;

chapels, 674 ; Winlaton Cottage,

Darwent VUla, Sir Ambrose
Crowley, 675 ; Winlaton MUl,
Darwent Haugh, AxweU, the
park, 676 ; the Claverings—bill

in chancery, Clavering v. EUison

;

Old Axwell, Whitehouse, chapel.

Barlow, enclosing the feU, &c.

677 ; ChopweU, crown lands, 678 ;

Almonside or Guards, Blackball,
679.

Winston parish—extent, value, po-
pulation, 121 ; the bridge. Earl of

IBridgewater, the church, 122

;

charities, 123 ; Newsham, Bar-
ford-on-the-Moor, Westholme,
Osmondcroft, Heighley, Primrose
HUl, 124.

Wiuterbottom, Dr. 718.

AVishing weU, 632.

Witches, 243.

Witham famUy, 40.

Wolviston parochial chapelr,'—
area, population, rates, school,

312 ; chapel, vUlage festival, the

church, rhymes from churchwar-
dens' books, 313 ; Newton Bew-
ley, 314.

Woodcock, Mrs.hercharitie8,455-6.

WoocUand, 82.

Woodlands, 655 ; hall, 056.

Worm HUl and WeU, 632, 742.

Wrekenton, 791.

Wright, Joseph John, 540.

WycUfl'e, 118.

Wynyard—Wynyard park—extent,

WeUington monument, 320 ; de-

scription of mansion, <S;c. 32l

;

mansion burnt and rebuUt, ttc.

322 ; the estate, successive pur-

chases, suit in chancery, marriage
of tlie Marquis of Londoudern,
323 ; his last wUI, &c. 325 ; Abd-
el-Kader's letter, 320.

Yadmoss, 71.

Yarm, 201.

Yarm bridge, 223.
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HISTORY OF THE COUNTY OF DURHAM.

DAELINGTON WAED.

THE SOUTH-WEST DIVISION.

ibSfc^'^yt
south-west division of Darlington Ward

consists, as lias been seen, of the parishes of Middleton-

in-Teesdale, Winston, Gainford, Staindrop, and Cock-

field, the parochial chapelries of Barnard Castle and

Whorlton, and part of the chapelry district of Ingleton.

The parish of Cockfield participates in the coal trade of

the Auckland district ; and that of Middleton-in-Tees-

dale has been long celebrated, like the dale of the

Wear, for the productiveness of its lead-mines. The

aspect of the country, in this part of the division, is

bleak and hilly, consisting, for the most part, of lofty

fells, similar to those by which Weardale is hemmed in.

The river Tees, however, presents a striking contrast to

the placid course of its neighbour stream, hurling

itself over precipices and through chasms which might

fitly acquire for it the character of an alpine torrent.

Even as it approaches the more sylvan and cultivated

parts of the division, it continues, in times of flood, which

VOL. II.

are frequent and siidden, to rush over its rocky channel

with considerable turbulence and force. The scenery

of the country, however, after leaving the imposing but

sterile heights of Middleton Fells, becomes rapidly

more beautiful ; tad no part of the coiinty is more fer-

tile and highly cultivated than the remainder of this

division. Barnard Castle (with its ruined fortress),

Middleton-in-Teesdale, and Staindrop are the market

towns; the eastern portion of the division enjoying the

advantage of proximity to the markets of Darlington

and Bishop Auckland. The introduction of railway

traffic may be expected shortly to facilitate more exten-

sive intercourse, and provide an easier outlet for the

products of the south-west division. Several elegant

and pleasant mansions adorn the face of the country

;

whilst the princely castle of Raby, and that of Streat-

1am, are associated with historical recollections, not

only of the county, but of the kingdom itself

B
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DARLINGTON WARD—SOUTH-WEST DIVISION.

PAEOCHIAL CHAPELEY OF BARNAED CASTLE.

The chapelry of Barnard Castle is bounded on the south and south--west by the river Tees, which separates it

from the parishes of Rokeby, Startforth, and Romaldkirk, in the North Riding of Yorkshire ; on the west and

north-west by the parish of Middleton-in-Teesdale ; on the north by the parish of Staindrop ; and on the east by

the chapebry of WhorUon. The townships into which it is divided are, 1, Barnard Castle ; 2, Marwood, includ-

ing Woolhouse, High and Low Shipley, Hullerbush, and other ancient estates; 3, Streatlam and Stainton; and,

4, Westwick, with East and West Shaws.

BARNARD CASTLE.

This township occupies an area of4,007 acres. In 1 83 1

,

it contained 513 inhabited houses, and 20 uninhabited;

in 1841, 679 inhabited, 61 uninhabited, and 2 building ;

and in 1851, 688 inhabited, 8 uninhabited, and 11 build-

ing. The value of the property assessed to the county-

rate in 1853 was £11,942. The population of the town-

ship was, in 1801,2,966; in 1811, 2,986; in 1821,3,581;

in 1831, in consequence of the increase of manufacto-

ries, 4,430; in 1841, 4,452; and in 1851, 4,608. Of

the latter number, 2,216 were males and 2,392 females.

The return includes 101 persons in 1841, and 60 in

1851, in the union workhouse.

HISTORY.

The tract of country extending along the north bank

of the Tees, between Middleton-in-Teesdale on the

west, to Coniscliffe on the east, was, with the exception

of the little parish of Winston, anciently known as

the parish of Gainford. Amongst the places which the

Earls of Northumberland obtained from Bishop Ald-

hune, between 998 and 1018, Whorhon, Sledwish,

Stainton, Streatlam, and Marwood, portions of Gain-

ford, are enumerated. This part of the country

suffered severely from the devastations of the Conqueror

(see vol. i., page 196) ; and, after his departure, Jlal-

colm king of Scotland, led his army down Teesdale

towards Cleveland, in his progress burning churches,

murdering the nobles, and seizing the women and

young men as captives for slavery.

The Baliols.—Whilst suffering from the above

accumulated disasters, the forests of Teesdale and Mar-
wood, the lordships of I\Iiddlcton-in-Teesdale and
Gainford, with all their royalties, franchises, and im-

munities, were given by William Rufus, about the year

1093, with the barony of Bywell in Northumberland,

to Guy Baliol, who had come into England with the

Conqueror. The principal circumstances known rela-

tive to Baliol, after taking possession of his new domain,

are, his grant of the churches of Gainford, Stokesley,

and Stainton-in-the-Street, to the abbey of St. Mary's,

York ; and the prohibition from King Henry L, after

the year 1109, that he should not hunt in the forests of

Bisliop Flambard. He left issue Barnard, Joceline,

and Hawise ; the latter married to William Bartram,

Baron of Mitford, and founder of Newminster Abbey.

Barnard Baliol, son and successor of Guy, was a man
of bold, active, and enterprising spirit. Dissatisfied

with the lowly position of the ancient manor place of

Gainford, he commenced the erection of that fortress

which bore his name, and the extensive ruins of which

still remain in attestation of his power. This mighiy

structure was built between the years 1112 and 1132;

and the security afforded by its vicinity having attracted

the surrounding population, the town of Barnard Castle

rose into existence. A burgage tenure was granted to

its inhabitants by the founder of the castle ; their privi-

leges and immunities to be similar to those which Alan

of Britany had granted to the burgesses of Richmond

;

and the burgesses, in return, paid a certain rent to

their lord. Baliol frequently visited the court of

David I., king of Scotland ; and from him he obtained

lands which were the means of introducing his posterity

into that kingdom. In 1138, however, he was one of the

northern barons who met in council at Thirsk, and was

sent with Robert Brus to dissuade David, who lay with

his army near the Tees, from advancing into England.

The Scottish king persisted ; and Baliol shared in the

victory over him on Cowton Moor, called " The Battle

of the Standard." Though at first favourable to the

claims made on the see by Comyn, Baliol's possessions
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CHAPELRY OF BARNARD CASTLE. 5

at Barnard Castle were, In 1140, ravaged by the army

of the usurper : they succeeded in obtaining a large

booty, and took several prisoners, who were, like

others, put to torture. In 1142, Baliol was made

prisoner with King Stephen at the battle of Lincoln.

Barnard Baliol, son of the above, succeeded his

father before 1167, and in that year was fined for neg-

lecting to certify the number of his knights' fees. Two
years afterwards, he paid £100 to have restitution of

hss lands, which had been seized by the crown. He
granted a confirmation of privileges to the burgesses of

Castle Barnard and their heirs, in chief, in fee, and

inheritance. This document, which is still preserved

in a small oaken box, within the town-chest, in the

Town Hall, is written on vellum, in a bold, legible

hand, with a seal of yellow wax appendant, bearing the

remains of an equestrian figure, with a shield and ex-

tended sword ; but the circumscription is broken ofi".*

In 1174, the Scots, under William the Lion, having

laid siege to Alnwick Castle, Barnard Baliol, Robert

Stuteville, and other barons, marched to its relief.

Before daybreak, a thick fog obscured their passage,

and a halt was recommended ; but Baliol exclaimed,

" Let them stay that will ; I am resolved to go on,

though none follow me, rather than dishonour myself

by staying here." Stimulated by his example, they

pursued their march ; the sun suddenly broke forth •

and they perceived the Scottish king in the open field,

surrounded by only 60 followers. After a short, but

gallant resistance, the monarch was made a prisoner,

and sent to Richmond Castle.

Barnard Baliol married Agnes de Pichenii or Pinck-

ney, and left issue three sons, Eustace, Guy, and

Ingelram. He was a benefactor to several ecclesiastical

foundations, and confirmed the grant of the churches

of Gainford, Barnard Castle, and Middleton, to St.

Mary's Abbey, York. To the monks of Ricvaulx he

gave lands in Tecsdale, with pasturage for 60 mares

and three colts of two years old, and for six score

young cattle, 12 kine, and two bulls.

Eustace Baliol, who succeeded before 1193, had paid

100 marks for license to marry the widow of Robert

Fitz-Piers in 1190; and in 1199, he paid 200 marks

fine for neglecting the king's precept to go to the wars

of France. He granted several charters, and confirmed

• In the same box are deposited charters of Hugh, John, and Alex-
ander Biiliol, three documents referring to a chantry in the chapel, a

letter from Prince Charles's council in 1618, and the silver seal of the

burgesses.

those conceded by his predecessors. He left issue

Hugh, Barnard, and Ingelram.

Hugh Baliol succeeded his father about the year

1212. He granted to the inhabitants of Barnard Castle

" all that common pasture, and aU common lands in the

east and north parts, from a certain rivulet which flows

from Watercale, or Watershaw, and runs into Beckdam

;

and from the road which leads from Castle Barnard,

and goes towards Stanhope," {Stonehope, or Stonehill,

now called Stainton,) with moor, marsh, turf, and peat

;

excepting that they and their heirs " should not take

from the wood ofWythners,Hankeslave, or Berlainicker,

without the consent of him and his heirs." Under
another charter granted by him, the burghers and their

resident tenants held common of pasture in Marwood
for all their cattle, free of agistment or pannage. They
might make a drift on Hermyre at their pleasure ; each

burgher might build his own oven without any pay-

ment, and might take ground for building, and gather

dung (or scrapings) before his door to the tniddle wag.

If the lord should build a common oven, the burgesses

were not compelled to use it. They were to grind their

corn at the lord's mill, paying a sixteenth for multure

;

and the baker at the common oven was to charge a

halfpenny for baking their meal, and to find fuel.

Many of these concessions, trivial in modern times,

were of vast importance in the feudal ages.

Hugh Baliol adhered firmly to King John in all his

wars with his barons and the Scots, and was rewarded

both with wealth and power. It is no wonder, therefore,

that he and his brother Barnard were denounced by

those barons amongst other " fautors and evil coun-

sellors." Alexander, king of Scotland, having invaded

England as an ally of Louis of France, burned Holme

Cultram Abbey and took Carlisle; "and as he passed

by Castle Barnard, with his companie (which castle

then stood in the precinct of Halywerkfolk in the cus-

todie of Hugh Baliol) he surveid it about, to espie

whether it were assailable of any side ; and while he

was thus occupied, one within discharged a cross bowe,

and strake Eustace Vescy (which had marryed his

syster) on the forhead with such might, that he fell

dead to the ground, whereof the kinge and all his

nobles conceaved great sorrow, but wear not able to

amend it;" and the Scots drew oflT their forces. Of

Hugh Baliol, Dugdale says, '•' Certain it is that he

benefitted himself not a little in those troublesome times

of King John's reign (being then for the king) ; for

when all was quiet at the entrance of King Henry

the Thu-d, he could not forbear his wonted course of
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plundering." He died in or before the year 1228,

leaving issue three sons, John, Eustace, and Hugh,
and a daughter, Ada, by marriage Baroness of Wark-
worth.

John Baliol, on liis succession, paid £150 rcHef for

his possessions. In exchange for lands which he had
inclosed in his park, and others -which the burgagers

had released to him and his heirs, he granted to the

fi-eeholders (now first mentioned) and burgagers a cer-

tain common pasture in Marwood, the boundaries of

which M'ere, " from Roger Cross westward by the park

waU to the saltury, or deer leap,* under Stanley on the

west, and from thence to Egleston "Way, adjoining to

Beaconsgate on the north, and so by Egleston Way to

the west foot of East Moss Mire bridge, and so in

Blackdean towards the north." This tract adjoins that

granted by Hugh BaHol ; and the two contained 9,700

acres of land. The hospital of St. John the Baptist

(see Charities) is reputed to have been founded by
John Baliol in 1230.

This powerful baron was as faithful in his adherence

to Henry III. as his father had been to John. He
married Devorguill, or Devorgald, eldest daughter and
heiress of Allan, Lord of Galloway,! by Margaret,

daughter and co-heiress of David, Earl of Huntingdon,
younger brother of William the Lion, king of Scotland;

and by this union he acquired a great accession of

wealth and influence. He was sheriff of Cumberland
So and 3i Henry III., and governor of Carlisle Castle

;

sheriff of Derby and Notts., 45, 46, and 48 of the same
reign ; and summoned to a council or parliament in the

45th. On the marriage of Margaret, the king's daugh-

• A place so arranged that the deer, when driven from the forest,
might leap into the enclosure, from which they could not escape.

t Isabel, second daughter of Alan, was the wife of Robert Bruce.

X " There is in the Chronicle of Lanercost,' ' says Mr. Raine, " a record
of a proceeding, in which this prelate (Kirkhamj was concerned, which,
if I am not mistaken, led to a very important result, the foundation
of a college in Oxford, which has been the seat of learning for nearly
six centuries. After recording the death of the bishop, the chronicler
proceeds to describe the deceased prelate as a man of such authority
that, whilst the powerful held him in honour and fear, he restrained
the rebeUious with a tight rein. It happened, however, conunues he,
that a baron of his diocese, one of the highest in name of the whole of
England, forgot the honour of his rank and insulted the church. Ad-
monition was treated with contempt, till at last the offender was, by
rigorous measures, brought back to a sense of his duty, and was c'om-
peUed, all the people looking on, to receive at the door "of the cathedral
a personal castigation from the liands of the bishop himself, and was
bound to settle a sum of money to maintain for ever certain scholars
in the university of O.xford.

" Now a question arises, who was this unnamed and penitent baron,
upon whom the bishop inflicted such signal chastisement • -Was it

ter, to Alexander, the young king of Scotland, their

tuition was committed to John Baliol and Robert Ros of

Wark ; but, within two years, they were both accused

to King Henry, at Nottingham, of having abused their

authority. Richard, Earl of Gloucester, and John

Mansell, one of the king's counsellors, were despatched

to Edinburgh, with a choice body of men ; and learning

that the young king and queen were shut up in the

castle, they procured entrance, with a few followers, by

pretending to be the inferior servants of Ros. The

queen " presently came to them, and made a grievous

complaint of her hard usage ; expressing that she was

kept there like a prisoner, in a solitary place, near the

sea, and destitute of any wholesome air ; being neither

permitted to go abroad, nor to have attendance of

waiting-maids fit for her ; no, nor to enjoy her hus-

band's bed. AU which the earl and Mansell remedied."

Baliol made his peace with King Henry partly by the

payment of a large fine, and partly by reminding him

of the services of his father to King John. A fine of

100 marks was le-vied upon Ros. Baliol was shortly

afterwards sent as an ambassador to France ; and he

was present at the victory of Northampton in 1264, and

shared the defeat and imprisonment of King Henry
and Prince Edward at the battle of Lewes. Hav-

ing regained his liberty, he devoted himself, with

all his characteristic energy, to the service of his royal

master.

The memory of John Baliol is rendered famous by

the foundation of Baliol College, Oxford. For some

time previous to his death, he gave annual exhibitions

to certain poor scholars at that university,* and had

not John de Baliol, lord of Barnard Castle, who, as we know from

another record, had, in the year 1255, personally assaulted the bishop,

and had carried of to prison four of his attendants ? The cause of this

outrage was as follows:—Some of Baliol's men having sacrilegiously

broken into the church of Long-Newton, the bishop had excommu-
nicated and imprisoned them for the offence, and Baliol's object was

to seize and keep the bishop's men in durance till his own should be

absolved and set at liberty. The bishop appealed to the crown ; and,

after a hearing, it was determined that he had acted according to law,

with this exception, that the excommunicated men ought to have been

held to bail.

" The question then stands thus. We have a nameless baron of the

bishopric of the highest rank entering into a solemn engagement, as a

condition of his absolution for an offence against the bishop, to mak<>

provision for ever for certain scholars in Oxford. We have John Ba-

liol, a baron of the diocese, and, be it remembered, in rank without

compeer, committing an outrage against the bishop in 1255. After

that we have law-proceedings, which, then as now, might not be termi-

nated in a day; and next, in 1263, or thereabouts, for the precise year

is not known, we have this same John Baliol founding certain scho-

larships in Oxford, and soon afterwards DivorguiDa his widow esta-

blished the college which bears his name. Is it not more than probable
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intended the settlement of lands for tlicir permanent

endowment ; but as he did not live to complete his

beneficent design, it was carried out, with commendable

liberality, by his widow. He died in 1268, and was

buried in the abbey of Sweetheart in Galloway.* He
left issue four sons, Hugh, Alan, Alexander, and John j

and four daughters, viz., Margaret, wife of Thomas

Lord Multon, of Gilsland ; Ada, wife of William de

Lindsay ; Cicely, wife of John de Burgh ; and Mary,

wife of John Comyn of Badenoch, a competitor for the

crown of Scotland in 1293, though he inclined to

Baliol, and would do nothing to prejudice his cause.

Hugh Baliol succeeded to the barony of Gainford

and Barnard Castle. Little is known of him except

that he never paid bis father's executors £10 he owed

them for two horses. He married Agnes de Valence,

daughter of the Earl of Pembroke, and died without

issue in 1271.

Alan, second son of John Baliol, having died before

Hugh, the latter was succeeded by Alexander, third son

of John, who gave the inhabitants of Barnard Castle a

charter confirmatory of their right of common in Mar-

wood. He left no issue by his wife, Alianor de

Genouve, or Geneve, and was succeeded in the immense

inheritance of the family by his oniy surviving brother,

John Baliol, then 28 years of age, and who, it appears,

that Baliol College owes its origin to an act of sacrilege in the church

of Long-Newton ? and ought not the name of Walter Kirkham, Bishop

of Durham, to be had in grateful remembrance by its men r"

The origin of this title is attributed to the conjugal piety of the

Lady DcvorguUl. Wintoun's Chronicle relates that, on the death of

Baliol, his affectionate widow caused his heart to be embalmed, and

enclosed

" In a coffin of ebore.

That she gart be mayed therefore,

linamelyt and perfectly dight

;

Lockit and bounden with silver bright.

She founded intil Galoway,

Of Cisterians order, an Abbay,
Dolce Cor she gart them all.

That is SiDcct Hart that Abbay call

;

But now the men of Galloway

Call that Abbay New Abbay."

With affectionate remembrance, " quhil livand in this world," she

caused the cabinet containing the heart of her husband to be set before

her at meat, to which, as in his presence, "she did revercns;" and

alter "all the coursys" of the meal had been as decorously served as

during his life, she rose from the table, and the dinner was distributed

to the poor. That she might not be separated from that beloved heart

even after death, she ordered in her will

"That hart thai suld then ta.

And lay it betwene hir pappys twa

;

As digght tliey war than with honoure.

To lay her with that in scpoultoure."

had received his education at Durham school. The

powers of the lords of Barnard Castle continued to be

considerable. An itinerant judge was sent to dispense

justice in their territory; there was also a chief bailiff of

the liberty, a constable and a porter of the castle, and a

forester. A coroner was appointed by the lords of the

liberty, who also had " divers knights' fees, wardships,

marriages, and reliefs there ; and had the goods of the

nief ox: native, which they frequently took into their

own hands." They had free-warren and chase over a

large extent of moor and waste ; with the soil, mines,

quarries, and other perquisites, from whence the muni-

ficent grants above noticed were derived. They had

the return of writs and warrants awarded thither, so

that no officer could enter the liberty, but by writ de

non omittas. The appointment of markets and fairs

was vested in them ; the goods and chattels of felons

condemned within their courts were their perquisites

;

and they received a yearly rent, called the Brew-farm,

from all the alehouse keepers, v.'ho were obliged to' be

licensed by the steward in open court.f

In England, besides his lordship of Barnard Castle,

John Baliol possessed estates in several of the southern

counties, as well as the barony of Bywell in Northum-

berland ; in Scotland, he inherited from his mother the

lordship of Galloway, the castle of Botel in Kenmore,

t The territory was held, at this time, at five knights' foes and a

quarter. Agnes de Valencia, widow of Hugh Baliol, had her dower in

Gainford, where she held the court and other baronial privileges, as

well as in Piercebridge and Ileadlam, altogether worth £100, with the

reservation to the lord of the rents of the free tenants of Ileadlam ;

she also held half of the mills of Gauiford and Piercebridge, and a

third part of the forest of Teesdale. Alianor, widow of Alan Baliol,

had a third part of each of the following possessions, viz,, the mUls of

the borougli and the demesne lands of Castle Barnard ; of two parts

of the park and wood there, and of the forest of Teesdale; of the vill

ofWestwick; of two parts of Whorlton, with the mansion; and of

the mills of Gainford and Piercebridge, all worth £40 13s. 4.jd. per

annum. William de Falderly held for his life two carucates of the

demesne in Langton, of the annual value of £9, of the gift of Lady

Devorguill; and an annuity of £10 was granted by her son John out

of Long-Newton to Alan de Tesedale. The interest that remained to

John Baliol himself has been thus described :—Two parts of the

borough rents, and a like proportion of the profits of the markets,

fairs, and mills, £34 13s. 4d. ; castle-guard rents, £3 Vis., besides the

service of four pounds of pepper, seven of cumin, and two capons. He
also had 120 acres of the castle demesne, valued at Is. an acre ; and

two parts of the extensive park and woods, at £'iO per annum. The

agistment of Teesdale forest produced 60s. Heboid sole possession of

the manor of Middlcton, and derived from it, with its hamlets, £1()

13s. 7 id. Two parts of Westwick produced, in rents from bondholders

and cottagers, £14 Os. 6d. ; two parts of Whorlton, with the mills,

£16 ; the rents and services of half the vill of Langton, £10 ; and

the rents of the free tenants of Ileadlam, with the license to brew,

£3 12s. The patronage of the hospital of St. John at Barnard Castle,

and of the chapel at Newsham, belonged to him.
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and Kirk Andrews ; and in France he retained the

hereditary possessions of his Norman ancestors. He
married Isabel, daughter of John Plantagenet, Earl of

Warren and Surrey, by -whom he had issue two sons,

Edward and Henry. On the failure of the direct issue

of WUliaiu the Lion, king of Scotland, in the person of

Margaret, " the maid of Norway," who died at the

Orkney Isles, on her passage to her realm of Scotland,

in September, 1291, Baliol became one of the chief

competitors for the vacant throne. The dispute was

submitted to the king of England, as lord paramount,

by the seven Scottish earls claiming the right of consti-

tuting their king, and by Baliol and Bruce themselves
;

and Edward very properly, and agreeably to the recog-

nized laws of primogeniture, decided in favour of the

claims of John Baliol, who swore fealty to the English

monarch at Norham on the 29th November, 1292, was

crowned at Scone on the following day, and did ho-

mage for his crown at Newcastle on the 26th December
.following.

The important events which followed are rather mat-

ter for general than for local history (see vol. i., page

47). It is sufficient to stale here that the galling

humiliations imposed upon the new king by Edward I.

had at length the effect, probably intended, of exciting

indignant feelings. The alliance of the Scottish king

with Philip of France, then at war with England, and

the open renunciation of fealty to the latter kingdom by
Baliol, served as a welcome pretext to Edward, who
invaded and overran Scotland ; and so complete was his

success, that, according to Fordun, " John Comyn,
Lord of Strabolgy, who had just made his own peace

with Edward, persuaded Baliol and his son to accom-

pany him from Aberdeen to Montrose Castle, Avhere

he awaited the approach of King Edward, on whose
arrival, the same King John, stripped of his royal or-

naments, and bearing in his hand a white wand, did,

for very fear of his life, confess his several offences

against his liege lord—by forming alliance with France,

by contracting his son to the French king's neice, by
renouncing his allegiance, by invading England, and

resisting his lord Edward ; and did then, by delivery of

his wand and staff, make fidl resignation of all his right

to the crown and realm of Scotland into the hands of

the king of England." Thus ended the " troublesome

• It is unnecessary, in this place, to follow the career of the brave

but unfortunate Edward Baliol, son of John, and sometime king of

Scotland, whose fortunes rose and fell as rapidly as did those of his

sire, lie is said to have died in 1363 at Doncaster; and in him the

chief line of Baliol terminated. His brother Henry was slain at Annan
in 1332, whilst fighting on his behalf; and though some of the junior

reign of King John (having endured three years and

seven months), whose very name was accounted so un-

fortunate, that no king of Scotland was ever after

allowed to bear it." After a brief imprisonment in the

Tower of London, he was allowed to retire to his estate

in GaUoway ; and subsequently he went to reside in

his Castle Galliard, in Normandy, where, worn out

with age, afflicted with blindness, and despairing of

that crown which was the hereditary right of himself

and his posterity, this " dim discrowned king" died in

1314.*

The See of Durham.—The forfeiture of John

Baliol's English estates was adjudged to have occurred

on the 25th of December, 1293, " on which day he re-

ceded from his homage." At that era, the barony of

Gainford, not having been attached to the see of Dur-

ham, was generally considered to belong to Northum-

berland ;t and it was consequently the duty of the

sheriff of that county to enter the forfeited territory.

As he neglected to do so, however, Bishop Beck, after

having, as an experiment, entered on Long Newton and

Newsom, seized the whole barony, on the feast of St.

Martin, 1294, in virtue of his presumed prerogative of

jura regalia.

The palatinate was seized by the crown on the 17th

July, 1301 ; but the bishop obtained restitution of the

temporalities in the following year. In 1305, they

were again seized by the king, who, at this time, had

determined to abridge the overgrown power of the

prelate, and particularly to detach from the see the

large possessions which it had acquired on the attain-

ders of Baliol and Bruce. Eobert de Clifford, who
had already obtained Hart and Hartness from the king,

was appointed custos of the bishopric ; and a royal

writ, addressed to him, directed that a jury, summoned
from the bishopric, should make a return to certain

questions annexed, relative to Baliol's forfeited posses-

sions. Accordingly, a jury of twelve residents of the

barony met at Barnard Castle ; and, by virtue of their

return, Clifford immediately seized for the crown " the

Castle of Barnard, with all the lands and tenements

which the bishop held of the barony of Gainford, and

all other the lands and tenements which, by virtue of

the said inquisition, ought to appertain to the king, and

branches of the family were of note both in England and Scotland,

every trace of the name was extinguished before the close of the 14th

century.

t About 240 years afterwards, namely in 1.535, a bill passed the

House of Lords, declaring Hartlepool and Barney CasseU to be in the

county of York.
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none else." The fealty of the freeholders present was

then taken ; and all the goods and chattels found in the

castle, lands, and tenements were attached. The total

annual value of the possessions thus obtained was £183

5s. 9^d., besides the dowers charged on them, amount-

ing to £150 13s. 4d.

It may be added here, that, though Beck obtained

restitution of the see in the first year of the following

reign, yet neither he nor his successor, Kellaw, made

any effort to regain the barony ; and even when, on the

petition of Bishop Beaumont, the parliament recognized

the right of the see to the disputed territory, and issued

writs commanding restitution, yet these orders, repeat-

edly made, were never attended to.

The Beauchamps, Nevilles, and Plantagenets.—
On the 2nd of February, 1307, King Edward I., then

on a sick bed at Lanercost, conveyed to Guy Beau-

champ, second Earl of Warwick, " the castle and vill of

Barnard Castle, and manor of Middleton, with its

chases and other appurtenances, in the bishopric of

Durham, which belonged to John Baliol, an enemy and

rebel to the crown, and which, by his forfeiture, had

come as escheats to the king's hands." This act was

dictated at once by gratitude for the past services of

Warwick, and by policy, as a more proper person to be

entrusted with the possession of an important northern

fortress could not have been found than this stern

and redoubted warrior. He was one of the nobles

whom Edward I., when dying at Burgh on Sands, en-

joined not to let Gaveston return to England " to set

liis sone on ryot." On the ascendancy of that favourite,

therefore, in the following reign, the Earl of Warwick
joined Thomas Earl of Lancaster and others, and took

Gaveston prisoner at Scarborough; but, on the inter-

cession of the king, the Earl of Pembroke undertook,

upon forfeiture of all he had, that their victim should

not escape, provided he himself were allowed to con-

duct him to a conference with the king. The rest

seemed to consent ; but, during the journey of Pem-
broke with Gaveston, AYarwick came in the night with

a number of armed men, and took the latter back to

Warwick Castle, on a hill near which, after a short

consultation, he was beheaded. The particular enmity

which Warwick bore to Gaveston is said to have

originated in the latter having called him " Tlie Mack

Dog of Arden," in allusion to his swarthy complexion ;*

* " Pcrs Gaveston rayled on the nobles, calling Gilbert de Clare,

Counte of Glocestrc, Cot-old's Bijrile ; Lacy Erie of Lincolne, Bode

Crcnee; and Syr Gui Counte of Warwickc, J\oi> C/iic7t d'.lrdcrne."

in confirmation of which, it is added that, when the axe

was raised over the neck of the unfortunate man,
Warwick approached him, and, with characteristic

ferocity, exclaimed," This is the bite of the black hound

of Arden !" None of the parties in this transaction

were ever punished. The Earl of Warwick married

Alice, daughter of Ralph de Tong, and widow of Tho-
mas de Leybourne, by whom he had issue Thomas, his

successor ; John, captain of Calais, and admiral of the

fleet, 23 Edward III. ; and five daughters. He died

August 12, 1315, aged 44.

Thomas Earl of Warwick succeeded his father at the

age of two years. During his minority, Roger Mor-
timer, Earl of March, was governor of Barnard Castle,

when an ineffectual attempt was made by Bishop Beau-

mont to regain possession of it. On the earl coming of

age, "he was scarce ever out of some great and memora-
ble employment," being present at the battles of Cressy

and Poictiers, and at the siege of Calais. He after-

wards accompanied Prince Edward in his wars against

the infidels. In 41 Edward III., he wasjoined in com-

mission with Bishop Hatfield and others, to supervise

the Marches of Scotland; and he was one of the

founders of the Order of the Garter. On landing at

Calais in 13G9, whither he had been sent to assist the

Duke of Lancaster and the Earl of Hereford, who were

threatened by the French army, and whose troops were

wasted by famine and plague, he reprehended their de-

laying to fight, and exclaimed, " I will go and fight

before the English bread which I have eaten be di-

gested." He accordingly drove the French before him,

but, on his return to Calais, fell a victim to the pes-

tilence which was raging, and died on the 13th

November. His wife was Catherine, daughter of the

Earl of March, by whom he had issue Guy, who died

without issue at Vendome, April 28, 1351 ; Thomas,

his successor; Reynburne ; William Lord Bergavenny
;

and nine daughters.

Thomas, the second earl of the name, was 24 years of

age when he succeeded his father is 1369. He was

chosen one of the governors of King Richard II. during

his minority ; but the control which they exercised over

the early extravagance of the monarch was not forgiven

when he assumed the reins of government. Warwick
was suddenly arrested, and banished to the Isle ofMan

;

and his castle, town, and lordship of Barnard Castle,

together with his manors of Middleton and Gainford,

It is easy to conceive the exasperation that would be excited amongst

the proud burona of England by the application of these offensive

epithets.
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were, in 1398, granted by the crown to William Scroop,

Earl of Wiltshire. In the next year, however, they

were restored by Henry IV. to the Earl of Warwick.

By Margaret his wife, daughter of "\A^illiam Lord

Ferrers, the earl had issue Richard, his successor, and

four daughters, two of whom died in infancy, and the

other two became nuns at Shouldham. He died on the

8thof AprU, 1401.

Richard Beauchamp, Earl of Warwick, was an imper-

sonation of all the most brilliant and graceful attributes

of chivalry. Henry IV., whom he assisted against Owen

Gleudower and Henry Hotspur, made him a Knight of

the Bath. His travels extended to Russia, Poland,

Italy, Venice, and the Holy Land. At Verona, he

fought a single combat, according to the custom of the

age, with Sir Pandulph Malacet, or Malet, who had

challenged him, and whom he nearly slew. On his

arrival at Jerusalem, he set up his arms on the north

side of the temple.* After his return to England, he

was appointed by Henry IV., with Bishop Langley and

others, to treat concerning a peace with Scotland ; and

in the second year of Henry V., he armed himself to

assist in putting down the Lollards. During the succeed-

ing wars in France, he was actively engaged ; and being

appointed captain of the town of Calais, he sent three

challenges to the French court, from whence three knights

were deputed to the tournament. These Warwick him-

self successively encountered and vanquished, appearing

on each occasion in a different suit of armour. At Con-

stance, shortly afterwards, Dugdale says he received a

challenge from " a great duke" for his lady's sake, and,

in jousting, slew him. Henry "\'I., to whom, in his

youth, the earl had been guardian, appointed him

regent of France ; an office which he held about four

years, when he died at Rouen, April 1, 14-39. He
married, first, Elizabeth, daughter and heiress of Tho-

mas Lord Berkeley, by whom he had three daughters
;

and, secondly, Isabel, daughter of Thomas, and heiress

of her brother, Richard Lord Le Despenser, by whom
he had issue Henry and Anne.

• Dugdale relates that "a noble person called Baltredam (the Sol-

dan's Lieutenant) hearing that he was descended from the famous Sir

Guy of Warwick, whose stonj they had in hooks of their oirn langtmrie,

invited him," &c. "Afterwards Baltredam said he would wear the

earl's livery, and be marshall of his hall ; and he gave Sir Baltredam

a gown of black peak, furred. Moreover, Baltredam told the earl that

he believed as he did, and rehearsed the articles of the Creed ; and he

was skilful in sundrj- languages."

t " On each side of the faded melancholy portrait of this unfortunate

lady," says Miss Strickland, " in the pictorial history of her maternal

ancestry called the Rous Roll, [still preserved in the llcralds' College,]

Henry Beauchamp, born in 1424, was created Duke
of Warwick at the age of 19, and in 1445 was crowned

king of Wight, but died on the 11th of June in the

same year. By his wife, Cecily, daughter of Richard

Neville, Earl of Salisbury, he had a daughter, Anne,

who died in 1449, at the age of 10 years.

The widely-extended possessions of the Duke of

Warwick devolved, on his death, on his only sister,

Anne, who married Richard NeA^ille, Earl of Salisbury,

son of the earl just mentioned, and who, by this union,

acquired the title and estates of the Beauchamps. The

eventful career of this illustrious nobleman, styled,

from the influence he exercised during the Wars of the

Roses, " The King-maker," is too well known to re-

quire repetition in this place. After his death on

Barnet Field, on Easter-day, 1471, Bishop Booth made

great efforts to procure a confirmation of the decision

made in favour of the see in the parliament of Edward
III., issued many instruments, and had repetition of

the adjudication in his favour ; yet the family of War-

wick continued to hold Barnard Castle.

The Earl of TV'arwick left two daughters ; Isabel,

who married George, Duke of Clarence, brother of

King Edward IV. ; and Anne, who married, first,

Edward, Prince of Wales, murdered at Tewksbuiy,

and, secondly, Richard, Duke of Gloucester, another

brother of the king, and who himself ascended the

throne in 1483 as Richard IlLf To these daughters,

by an act of parliament passed in 1474, the possessions

of the earl were assigned. On the attainder of the Duke
of Clarence in 1477, the Duke of Gloucester, by some

means, obtained the undivided possession of Barnard

Castle. He had frequent employment in the affairs of

the north and the wars in Scotland ; and it is probable

that he sometimes used this castle as a temporary place

of residence. That he effected considerable repairs and

restorations may be inferred from his cognizance, the

boar, sculptured on its walls ; and, indeed, its capabili-

ties as a military post could scarcely have escaped the

eye of so consummate a warrior. By patent from

two mysterious hands are introduced, offering to her the rival crowns

of York and Lancaster."

" (), would to God, that the inclusive verge

Of golden metal, that must round my brow,

Were red-hot steel, to sear me to the brain !

Anointed let me be with deadly venom

;

And die, ere men can say—God save the queen !"

She pined away and died within a year after the death of her only

child, Edward, Earl of Salisbury and I'rince of Wales, the son of

King Richard.
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Bishop Dudley, the duke held the rangership of "Wear-

dale Forest. On the death of Edward IV., Richard

was attended to London by a troop of northern men,

" marvellously ill-favor'd."

But it was not merely for his bravery and military

skill that this prince acquired his popularity in the

north. In 1477, he obtained a license from Edward

IV. to found a college within Barnard Castle, for a

dean and twelve secular priests, ten clerks, and six

choristers, to the honour of Jesus Christ, the Virgin

Mary, St. Margaret, and St. Ninian, and to purchase

lands, &c., not exceeding the yearly value of 400 marks.

The members of this college were to be "a body corpo-

rate, with all rights, powers, and privileges as such;

and the said duke and his heirs to be perpetual patrons

of the said college, to be called the college of Richard

Duke of Gloucester, at Barnard Castle, in the diocese

of Durham." It is probable that the stirring events in

which he was subsequently engaged, delayed the com-

pletion of his design ; and his death on Bosworth Field,

on the 22nd of August, 1485, put an end to aU. his

plans. That some progress was made in the proposed

buildings, has been inferred from the existence of

several sculptured stones, bearing the name and crest of

Richard, and built up in the walls of tenements. A
sculpture in bold relief, apparently designed to be

])laccd above a gateway, recently stood at the corner of

Newgate Street, and represented an ecclesiastic be-

neath a canopied niche, with a pastoral staff in his right

hand, a book in his left, and a rampant boar on each

side. The conjecture of Surtees, that this group is a

representation of St. Anthony and his usual attendant

swine, is not borne out by the dedication of any build-

ing or chantry to that saint in Barnard Castle.

On the death of Richard, this lordship was imme-

diately seized by his conqueror, Henry VII., who
restored it to Anne, widow of the "proud setter-up

and puller-down of kings," and mother of Isabel and

Anne, wives of Clarence and Gloucester. This, how-

ever, appears to have been merely a method taken to

secure the possessions to himself; for, on December 13,

1488, by a special feoffment and fine, she conveyed

them wholly to the king, entailing them on the issue

male of his body, with remainder to herself and her

heirs.

Barnard Castle and its dependencies continued vested

* Sir George extols the loyalty of the townsmen of Barnard Castle,

who had ' not one recusant amongst them since the first yeare of her

Ma'"''' reign ;" and adds, " A" 30 of her Ma''es most happie reigne, it

was publiqucly given out that the Spanyards were arryved at llart-

VOL. 11.

in the crown for at least 20 years after this event.

How it came into the possession of the Nevilles of

Raby does not appear ; but it is certain that they held

it for a considerable time before the rebellion of the

last earl in 1569. On that memorable occasion, it was

seized and garrisoned for the queen by Sir George

Bowes, of Streatlam, who defended it against the main

body of the insurgents for eleven days, and then, as is

commonly recorded, surrendered it, for want of provi-

sions, upon honourable terms, being allowed to depart

with arms, ammunition, and baggage. The account

which he afterwards gave of the affair is as follows :

—

" In the last rebellion in the Northe, the townsmen at

their owne cost watched the passages, bridges, and

foards of the river Tease, to putt backe their enemye's

and their provision about 30 dales together before the

seige of the castle there. The enemys forces approch-

iuge, six score townesmen, well appointed of their own

charge, entered the castle, and contynued there in de-

fence of the same eleaven dayes, at which tyme the

siege was raised."* But, in whatever manner the

siege concluded, it had the desired effect of delaying

the maich of the insurgents until the Earls of AVarwick

and Surrey had time to advance, and thus contributed

much towards the speedy suppression of the rebellion.

The attainder of the Earl of Westmoreland threw the

lordship once more into the possession of the crown,

notwithstanding the interference of Bishop Pilkington.

(See vol. i., page 67.)

Concluding Details.—As a reward for the courage

and fideHty of Sir George Bowes, he obtained from

Queen Elizabeth a lease of Barnard Castle, and of

some royal mines, for 21 years, which was renewed at

his death. The fee of the castle and manor were after-

wards granted by James I. to his favourite, Robert

Carr, Viscount Rochester, Baron of Brancepeth, and

Earl of Somerset; but on his attainder, they again

reverted to the crown. Soon after, they were, with

Brancepeth and other estates, settled for the mainte-

nance of the household of Charles, Prince of "Wales, by

demise, for 99 years, to Sir Francis Bacon, attorney-

general, and others, with power to grant leases for 27

years, or three lives ; and the survivors of the grantees

assigned to Sir Henry Vane, Knt., for the unexpired

remainder of the term. On March 14, 1626, in consi-

lepoole, 20 myles distant from this tow-ne, whereupon instantly about

400 townsmen, well armed and appointed, marched forward out of the

same, to have resisted the invasion, if luiy had been attempted."

This letter was written in lo9i.
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deration of a fiue of £1,500, Charles I. granted to

Samuel Cordwcll and Henry Dingley, in trust for Sir

Henry, the reversion of the assigned premises, together

wdth all deer and wild cattle in the parks, and free

chase and warren, to be held of the crown by knights'

service, under the yearly rent of £100 19s. 4d. In

1640, Sir Henry Vane obtained a grant from the crown

of sundry privileges annexed to his manor of Eaby and

honour of Castle Barnard, which latter was created a

barony by William III. This title was first conferred

upon Sir Christopher Vane, on July 8, 1699; and the

Hon. Henry Vane assumed the title of Viscount Bar-

nai-d in 1754. The castle and manor of Barnard Castle

are still vested in his descendant, the Duke of Cleveland.

When the people of the county and city of Durham

commenced their eflbrts to obtain parliamentary repre-

sentation in 1614, the borough or town of Barnard's

CastcU was named as a place entitled to return mem-

bers. In the bill brought into the House of Commons,

JIarch 6, 1620, fourteen members were claimed for

Durham. " The bill was committed ; reported with

amendments, March 14. Knights for the county; citi-

zens for Dui'ham. Barnard Castle to have burgesses,

because the prince his town, and he desireth it ; and

Hartinpoole because a port. The rest refused for

pestering the house.'' In the debate. Sir Thomas

Wentworth argued, " Rather to leave out Barnard Cas-

tle, which is a ary town, than Hartinpoole." Sir Talbot

Bowes—" In Hartepoole not a sufficient man to serve

;

in Barnard Castle many. This the prince his town;

that a subject's." On question—Durham to have

knights ; Durham city to have two burgesses ; Barnard

Castle two burgesses. The subject was again agitated

in 1621, 1623, and 16.24.

In 1614, there was a great snow, the deepest ever

known, and did not yield until Febuary 26 ; nine people

of this place and neighbourhood were lost ; it was past

travelling but in danger of life for man and beast ; by

report was six yards deep in the couutry.

• The diary of Mr. Sanderson, of Egleston, in which the above cir-

cumstance is recorded, contains, amonsst family matters, several

notices of passing events, as, " 1662—R\ i. iOs. abushel ; wheat, 12s.

;

peas, "s., 8s. 1C72—A wet harvest; oats ikiI till Lukesmas. 1673

—

Little hay cut till 1st Sept. ; corn unsound ; multitudes of sheep died.

18th January, .39 ships cast away on the Northumberland coast, 16 be-

longed to Newcastle and Shecls ; their very best vessels. Oats, 6s. a

bushel ; bigg, 63. 6d. ; rye, 6s. 4d. ; malt, 18s. to 20s. aload, new mea-
sure. 1674—A famine if corn had not come in at Newcastle ; oats not

got in at Luke's day : at Rood-day, 1673, there was above 400 red deer

in Teesdale forest, but were destroyed in the snow. 20th Dec, 1675,

much thunder and lightning ; 29tli Jan., black-birds sang ; 19th Feb.,

In 1634, the severe winter obliged the people of

Richmond and the bishopric to take their cattle over

Stainmore to seek fodder after Fastness Eve.

The plague broke out at Osmondcroft and Winston

in 1636; and so great were its ravages in the neighbour-

hood, that Barnard Castle Magdalen fair was cried

down. In April, 1645, that dreadful visitation again

made great havock in the town and vicinity.

After the rout at Newburn, in April, 1642, 500 Scots,

of whom 200 were cavalry, were billeted upon the inha-

bitants of Barnard Castle, where they left a debt of £80.

On January 3, 1644, Francis Walker, of Barnard

Castle, Gent., was tried at the sessions at Durham, for

saying, " The parliament are rogues, rebels, and traitors

—God confound them and the devil confound them

;

and he wished the parliament house were blown upp
with gunpowder as it should have been once, and he

hoped to see them all hanged one against another

within a short time—that the parliament ought to be

kings themselves, and that they would have him (the

king) to be worse than either you or I, and that he

(the king) could not say the horse he rode on was his

own."

The exuberant loyalty of Francis Walker does not

appear to have been participated in by his townsmen,

when Lieut. Gen. Oliver Cromwell entered Barnard

Castle on Tuesday, October 24, 1648. Anthony Mar-

tindale, Matthew Stoddart, Cuthbert Raine, Robert

Hutton, Francis Hutchinson, William Hutton, Morgan

Rowlandson, Thomas Heslop, Samuel Martindale,

George Dayle, John Lively, and William Ti'harton,

went out to meet him, and rode before him into the

town, where, having conducted him to his lodgings,

they presented him with burnt wine and short cakes.

He departed for Richmond on the following day.*

Tradesmen's tokens were issued in Barnard Castle,

in 1665 and 1666, by George Sanderson, Christopher

Pinkney, William Hutchinson, Chiistopher Burfey,

ilatthias Sowerby, Anthony IMarkindaill, Thomas Bull,

and Michael Alderson.

the cuckow heard ; 28th Feb., his servant fishing, went dry shod over

Tees at Winkham. 1 676^A remarkable fine harvest ; all com got

in before Sept. ; wheat 3s. 6d. a bushel ; rj'e, bigg, and barley, 2s. a

bushel ; oats, 4s. and 5s a load, old measui'e. 28th October, ) 673, the

sun shining bright at noon, the stars were seen. In the beginning of

Dec, 1680, was observed a long meteor, west and by north ; it appeared

just at close of day, began at the top of the firmament, and reached

the horizon. 1681—A great drought, no grass, cattle on baron lee,

obliged to be c.irried up to the high fells ; oats, in June 10s a load

;

rye loaves. Id. a poimd ; rye, 7s. a bushel Winchester ; hay sold for

six times its xisual price, much remained to be mowed in the middle

of September."
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On the 18th of February, 1684-5, King James II.

Was proclaimed at Barnard Castle. The justices pre-

sent Tvere Sir William Bowes, Mr. William Robinson,

and Mr. Sanderson. Several gentlemen dined " at

Blagrave's." Their music consisted of two trumpeters

with silver trumpets, and four drums.

During a very violent storm of thunder and light-

ning, September 19, 1729, a barn, with the corn in it,

was set fire to and consumed. A house in the adjacent

village of Startforth was also struck, the walls and fur-

niture of which were much damaged. Two children

were playing on the floor in one of the rooms ; but

though one of them was thrown on a bed at some dis-

tance, it received no further injury than the fright.

A fire broke out in the house of Robert Newby,

barber, on July 11, 1748, destroying two other houses

before it was extinguished. The Hon. Henry ^'ane

sent his engine and apparatus to assist the inhabitants,

and afterwards made a present of them to the town.

In March, 1784, as some men were ploughing in the

lands of Swaites Hall, near Barnard Castle, they turned

up several pieces of silver, which, upon examination,

were found to be coins of Henry I., and had probably

lain in the ground near 600 years. A tradition of trea-

sure being hid there had been handed down in the

family for ages.

During the night of October 13, 1839, there was a

btrong gale of wind, accompanied by heavy and conti-

nued rain. The river Tees was swollen to much be-

yond its usual height during floods, and inundated

many of the houses in the lower part of the town,

particularly in Bridgegate, where it swept away furni-

ture, clothes, &c.

On August 25, 1832, Barnard Castle and its neigh-

bourhood were visited by a violent thunder-storm,

accompanied by a whirlwind, which completely un-

roofed a thatched cottage, and laid the inmates senseless

on the floor. A large stack of hay was thrown down ;

and a man, employed in breaking stones on the road,

was lifted oft" his feet, and thrown to the ground, but

\\ ithout being much hurt. The whirlwind crossed the

Tees, tore up some large trees near Lartington Hall,

and killed a calf in a field at Cotherstone. The Tees

rose to a great height, and the road between Barnard

Castle and Bowes was rendered almost impassable.

The district between Barnard Castle and Brough
was, on the 9th of March, 1835, visited by a severe

storm of snow and wind, which stopped the stage

coaches and mails for more than a day.

Her majesty Queen Victoria was proclaimed at Bar-

nard Castle, on the 3rd of July, 1837, by the steward,

jury, and officers of the manor court, assisted by several

of the respectable inhabitants of the town. The procla-

mation was first made in front of the King's Head inn,

and afterwards at the usual places. Flags were hoisted

on the steeple of the church and the Raby battery, and

the bells were rung on the occasion.

The events connected with the various town improve-

ments, the passing of the Darlington and Barnard

Castle Railway Act, &c., will be noticed under their

respective heads.

THE CASTLE.

The ruins of this ancient fortress, once amongst the

most important and extensive in the north of England,

crown a lofty series of precipitous rocks on the north

bank of the Tees, and originally commanded one of the

principal passages between Durham and Yorkshire.

The choice of its site is a proof of the military tact of

its founder ; and now, long after its warlike uses have

ceased, and its strongest and loftiest walls are crumbling

to decay, it is still majestic in ruin, and may be consi-

dered as an appropriate monument to the kings, war-

riors, and statesmen to whose power it once formed so

mighty an adjunct.

The earliest description extant respecting this castle

is that of Leland :
—" The Castelle of Barnard stondith

stately upon Tese. The first area hath no very notable

thing yn it, but the fair chapelle, wher be 2 cantuaries.

In the midle of the body of this chapel is a fair marble

tunibe, with an image, and inscription about it in

French. Ther is another in the south waul of the body

of the chapelle of fre stone, with an image of the same.

Sum say that they were of the BaUlioUes. The inner

area is very large, and partly motid, and well furnished

with towres of great logging. Ther belong 2 parkes to

this castelle ; the one is caullid Marwood ; and thereby

is a chace that berith also the name of Marwood, and

that goith on Tese ripe up into Tescdale. There is but

a hil betwixt the chases of Langeley and Marwood."

The siege of this castle during the Northern Rebel-

lion has been already alluded to.* At that time, it must

have retained much of its original strength. In a

ballad preserved in Percy's Relics, it is related that

• A common bishopric rliyme has been supposed, upon somewhat

vague grounds, to refer to this siege, as having been a taunt used by

he insurgents to the defenders of tlie castle :

—

" A coward, a coward o' Barney Cassel,

Darena come out to fight a battle."
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"the uttermost \ralles were lime and bricke," which

the earls readily won ; but that the innermost walls

*• were cut in rocks of stone," and presented a more

formidable resistance.

In a survey and inventory, taken in 1592, the apart-

ments described as in the " round tower" are " the

highest romth of the tower," " my ladies chamber,"

" the closett," " the bathing howse," " the third

romthe," " the wyne seller," and " the lowest rome in

the tower." In other parts of the castle were "the

dyninge chamber," " the great chamber," " the little

hall," "the buttrie," "the studye," "the gallerie,"

" Mr. Eob. Bowes' chamber," " the romthe wt^out Mr.

Robert's chamber," " Mr. David's chamber," " the

romthe next the old nurserie," " the old nurseryc,"

" the romthe under y<^ evidence," " the old hall by the

wardrobbe," " the great wardrobbe," " the romthe w^^n

the wardrobbe," " the great hall," " the kitchen, larder,

and paisterie," " the brew house," " the chamber over

gateman's hole," " the entrie of the dungeon gat," " the

many gate ward," " the great barne" "the garner," " two

chambers over the many gates," " INI"* WicklifF's lodg-

ings," "the hall," " Mr. George's chamber," and "the

milk house." It is added that "the leades over all the

Towers and lodgings contevned in this Inventorie are

in reasonable good repaire, saving that the rayne water

entreth in at some small crisses •w'^^ is needful to be

repaired. The doors of the said lodgings for the most

p'te have no locks, being taken of and carried to Eabie,

•nth a great kasenett out of the studie by my ladies

appointment. Some paynes of glas were taken downe

out of the gallerie by Mr. Henry Bowcs's direction,

and imployed in the Many Gates. The state of all

implemts and other things conteynid in this said Inven-

torie stand in effect according to y*^ former vewe,

saving that the glas in the windowes are for the most

p'te more ruynous by vehement wynds ; and will dalye

decaie if further order be not taken for the same."

The unroofing and dismantling of the castle is thus

alluded to by an anonymous wiiter (in 1634):—"I

have thought (upon view of the late impregnable fort

of Barnard Castle, which resisted the force of the Earles

in their rebellion by the space of 11 dayes, and then

\-ielded only upon composition) since it was pulled

downe in the ycare of our Lord 1630, that it had beene

a happy thing for us, and the whole kingdome, if the

founder thereof had covered it with slate or straw.

Oh! misery! can £1,000 worth of leade, iron, wood,

and stone, be more worth than a castle, which might

have been a receptacle for a king and his whole traine .'"

The dread of the author is, " that the iron and leade

may peradventure be sold to the utter enemyes of our

kingdom."

The gradual and progressive decay of more than two

centuries has effected the demolirion of nearly all but

the outward shell of this once magnificent fortress. The

gateway of the outer area is approached from the west

side of the main street of the town ; and the castle walls

on this side are covered by the backs of houses. All

traces of the chapel have long been obliterated; the

space consists of an open field, in which a few small

gardens are placed beneath the ruined walls. There is

no appearance of towers or bastions in this part of the

walls, which are carried along the very verge of the

cliffs, about 70 feet high, overhanging the street called

Bridgegate, and surrounding the area on the east, south,

and west. On the north and east, a deep fosse and

strong wall separate this portion of the ruins from the

site of the principal fortifications, which site is now oc-

cupied by an orchard, intersected by numerous traces of

foundations. A quantity of lead, run amongst stones,

was found about two feet below the surface a few years

ago. It was here, probably, that the keep was placed ;

and the circumvallations have been more lofty than

those towards the south. A pond, near the middle of

the orchard, is never dry, though on a much higher

level than the moat, in which there is no water. Near

the north-eastern angle are the remains of " Bracken-

bury's Tower," a name suggestive of imprisonment.

Its appearance is that of a gloomy dungeon, being an

arched vault, now open towards the interior area. A
passage through the waU on the south is filled up with

earth and rubbish. There was a hearth and chimney

on one side, and two niches on the other. A small

square hole through the arched roof may have been

used for letting down provisions. The top of this vault

is covered ndth earth and bushes.

In the centre of the northern wall of the castle there

is a gateway leading to the Flatts. It is beneath a cir-

cular arch, partly built up ; and there are vestiges of

flanking buttresses, the whole having been defended by

a semicircular tower. To the west of this there is an

angular projection, near which the top of the arch that

connected the outer and inner moat is still visible. The
north-western angle of the castle is formed by what has

been called " Baliol's Tower," a circular erection of con-

siderable height, and of excellent ashlar masonry. It

contains a stone dome or vaulting, 30 feet in diameter,

without ribs or central pillar, and not more than 18

inches in height above the springing line. In the survey
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aljove mentionccl, it is stated that " the leades over the

said tower is in reasonable repaire, saving the gutters."

The furniture of " my ladies chamber" consisted of " a

portall of wainescot, a cupboard over y<^ chymney, the

bay window svled on both sides w^^ waynescott, and

the window wth glass, and iron in all p'ts whole ; the

glass is now something decaied." In the bathing

house, " A great lead and a little one, a broken casnett,

a spowt of lead, lying in y^ wall, w'^ a cocke, a leafe

of a wyndow, and an old truncke w'liout a lock. It'm,

in my ladies chamb'r more, three barres of iron sett fast

in y^' chymucy, a table of walnutt tree, a frame in the

bay-window, the oute doore w'l^out a locke, and a por-

tal doore at the goinge uppe the staires." Certainly, a

more romantic situation for a lady's bower can scarcely

be conceived. This tower has been kept in belter con-

dition than any other part of the castle, having been

repaired and fitted up some years ago as a shot factory,

for which purpose the walls above the ancient well were

bored through. It is now occupied by a person who

cultivates the orchard in the interior, and who also

officiates as a guide to visitors. He has acquired the

appellation of " the monk of Barnard Castle," and his

single chimney-pot, smoking above the walls, contrasts

somewhat oddly with the surrounding ruins.

The western walls of the castle overlook the bed of

the Tees, and command a splendid view of the more

distant country. One of the most consincuous features

in this part of the building is a beautiful mullioned

window, hung on projecting corbels. There can be

little doubt that this was the work of Richard, Duke of

Gloucester, as, within it, on the soffit of its arch, there is

a bold sculpture of the boar, surrounded by fanciful

tracery. " And," says Mr. Surtoes, " if this were

Gloucester's state-chamber when he liJy at Barnard, the

selection does no discredit to his ta^te ; from no point is

the wild and beautiful vale of Tees seen to more advan-

tage. Perhaps the military advantage, of a complete

sweep of eye over the bridge and the approaches from

the south and west, had its weight." This apartment,

called in the survey, the great chamber, contained, at

that time, " the great baie-windowe w^li yron, two kas-

* Early in the morning of March 12, 1827, a rock of some tons

weight was separated from its long abode, and came down with a

tremendous thundering noise, from a height of 20 yards, against a

house in Bridgegate, occupied by persons named Green and Dickin-

son. Instantly the side of the house gave way ; and two children,

who were sleeping in a lower room were for some time buried in its

ruins, but were taken out unhurt. Dickinson, who occupied an up-

per room, was asleep in bed ; but though the floor gave way, and one

side of the house disappeared, his bed was kept up by a holdfast to

netts, and y^ glas broken, one Iron chymne, w^^out a

backe, two great dores w^'iout locks, one dore goinge

upe ye staii-es, w'^^out a locke, a paire of trussells, and

three walnut-tree planks in Mr. Fiilthorpp's keeping."

To the south of the large window, the wall is sup-

ported by four lofty buttresses, and contains two pointed

windows. On this side of the fortress there was a

sallyport, leading to the bridge. The wall near this

place seems as if about to topple down the precipice

immediately below. Indeed, between 60 and 70 years

ago, a large portion of it, as high as that which

remains, slid from its base and fell over the cliff; the

chasm was afterwards filled up by a low wall. In the

spring of 1810, a part of the south wall fell : it bat-

tered in the roof of a house, and a man at work in a

saw-pit below was providentially preserved by a tree

falling across it.* The entire circuit of the walls in-

closes an area of 6j acres. Several coins of Edward I.

and Edward III. have been found within the en-

closure.

The garrison of the castle, as well as the cattle which

were sometimes collected within its walls in times of

danger, were supplied with water conveyed in pipes

from a large reservoir, called the Ever, in the Flatts,

on the north side of the fortress. A Roman road,

branching from the High Street from Catterick to

Bowes, led over the Tees at this place by a ford called

Street Ford, from which the little village of Startforth

derives its name. In July, 1839, whilst the workmen
were digging the foundation of a gasometer on groimd

presented for the purpose, they discovered a portion of

this road at the depth of about 6 feet from the surface,

12 feet wide, and quite perfect. It was formed of lime-

stone rock placed edgeways, and compacted with frag-

ments of sandstone, probably obtained from the river

side. The road proceeded from hence, by way of

Streatlam and Staindrop, till it joined the great road

from Piercebridge to Binchester. The Flatts are now
enclosed and cultivated, and present some of the most

delightful scenery of a district which abounds in natural

beauties, the attractions of which are not surpassed by

those of any other part of the Tees.f

the remaining wall, and he remained suspended like a tenant of the

air. Through assistance, however, all the inmates of the house were

rescued from their perilous situation.

t The author of " A Tour in Teasdalc " says, " When you reach

the tangled dell at the end of the terrace (the Flatts), wind down a

small track to the rivulet, and take the road through a fine hanging

wood by the Tees side to a small inclosure, part of an ancient park

in the true character of Shakspcarc's forest scenes, where his outlaws

Thank you for purchasing from Ebay Shop Retromedia

http://stores.shop.ebay.co.uk/retromedia


16 DAELINGTON WARD—SOUTH-WEST DIVISION.

THE TOWN".

The town of Barnard Castle is 25 miles, by road,

south-west from Durham, 39 from Gateshead, 45 from

South Shields, 38 from Sunderland, 38 from Hartle-

pool, 28 from Stockton, 16 from Darlington, 14 from

Bishoi) Auckland, and 224 north-north-west from Lon-

don. In 1851, the population was 4,357, of whom

2,088 were males and 2,269 females ; and' there were

644 inhabited houses, 8 uninhabited, and 11 building.

For the population of the township, see page 4.

The town is about a mile in length, and is situated

on the southern slope of a hill, which descends steeply

to the river Tees. It is approached from the north-east

by the Bowes and Sunderland Bridge turnpike, which

connects it with Staindrop, Bishop Auckland, and the

great north road to Durham. Galhjale, or Gallowgate,

is a broad street or suburb running from east to west.

According to some atithorities, the ancient town of

Marwood stood here, before Barnard Castle was built.

The street is supposed to derive its name from having

been the place of execution belonging to the lordship.

Spearman, who wrote in 1729, says, " The place of

execution of felons is at this day apparent; and the

trials of matters of right were there (at the castle) till

26th King Henry VIII. that it was enacted that all

felons should be tried by the king's commission ; since

which time the felons have been tried at Durham, to

save the king's charges of justices coming to Barnard

Castle." On an eminence, at the head of this street,

where the roads to Staindrop and Middleton diverge,

several stone steps and a broad pavement were dug up

some years ago : these were supposed by some to have

been the remains of the market cross of Marwood, but

Avere more probably the site of the engine once used for

the decapitation of criminals. A close in the vicinity

was called, in ancient records, Ilanheslavc, or Hang

Slave. Near the same place is an old chapel, called

Bcdekirk, now occupied as a farm-house. Some of

the ancient lancet lights may still be seen in the east

wall, and the piscina also remains. There are no re-

revel and his fairies sport ; keep the river, and you will gain a most

truly solemn and sequestered spot completely closed in by wood, and

luidisturbed by any sound save the remotely dashing water. The

wild forms of the venerable oaks that skirt the old moss-covered wall

of the inclosure ; the noble height of the opposite hill, covered to the

summit with lofty trees ; the glassy smoothness of the river at your

feet, and the scattered masses of rock in its channel, impress you

with delicious awe. Ascend the hill, and go through a ploughed

field, along a carriage road, to a thatched helm or shed in a little wild

coppice (in themselves a pleasing picture), and you will enjoy a most

enchanting scene ; but seek for a small oak beyond, near a serpentine

cords relative to Bedekirk ; but it is conjectured to be

a chantry, mentioned in the Valor of 1536, of the total

annual value of £4 9s. It is the property of the repre-

sentatives of the late Miss Lee, of Staindrop.

King Street and Queen Street, formed within the last

30 years, adjoin Gallgate on the south.

The Cattle 3IarJ:et joins the western extremity of

Gallgate, and is continued by the Horse Market and

the Market Place, which, together, form the main

street of the town, running nearly north and south : it

is upwards of 40 yards wide, and contains several good

houses, inns, and shops. At the southern extremity of

the Market Place, the Toton Hall stands nearly in the

middle of the street. It is an octangular building,

around the basement story of which there is a circular

piazza, inclosed with an iron railing, and occupied by the

sellers of eggs, butter, &c., on market days ; the inner

portion of the building being iised as a dungeon. A
room in the upper story is appropriated to the transac-

tion of the town's business and the meetings of the

magistrates. An inscription records that the building

was " erected by Thomas Breaks, a native of Barnard

Castle, in 1747." On the top there is a cupola, con-

taining a bell, and surmounted by a vane. Two circu-

lar perforations in the latter attest the dexterity of one

of the Barnard Castle Volunteers, named Taylor, and

Cruddas, one of the gamekeepers to the Earl of Strath-

more, who, in 1804, fired at it from the door of the

Turk's Head inn, at about 100 yards distance. The

old tolbooth and the shambles, which formerly stood in

this street, were removed by the Earl of Darlington in

1806, at the request of the inhabitants, by whom they

were considered as a nuisance.

Opposite to tlie Town Hall, the street called Newgate

stretches to the east, and joins the road to Westwick,

Whorlton, &c. The remarkable sculpture mentioned

in page 11, which for many years stood on the ground

at the north corner of the entrance to this street, has

been removed to a place of greater security. A sculp-

ture, with a hoar jmssant, is built up in the wall of one

of the houses in Newgate.*

path, rather below the summit of the hill, on the brow of the river,

and you command at once a view each way. I shall not pretend to

describe it ; the pen and the pencil must alike fail."

* An ancient oaken chair, conjectured to have been a part of the

castle furniture in the time of Ricliard III., was long preserved in a

house in this street, but was sold and removed a few years ago. The
seat was plain ; but a HTeath of tlowcrs ran up each of the back rails.

In the centre of the cross-rail was the crown of England, supported

by a figure on each side ; and the foot-rail was also oruaiuenttd by a

crown.
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"Thorngate is a continuation of the main street to

the south from the Town Hall. The upper part, from

its steepness, is called The Bank, and its footpaths for-

merly consisted of flights of steps. The lower part is

terminated by the Tees. Thorngate appears to be the

most ancient part of the town. Several of the houses

are of stone, and roofed with flags. In the wall of one

of these, a low dwelling, with mullioned windows, on

the, west side of the street, is a stone inscribed

" Ricardus," in bold Old English characters. On the

front of an arched passage in this house, there are two

shields, the bearings on one of which are obliterated ;

but the other bears the arms of Brunskill, an ancient

Barnard Castle family. In the interior of the archway,

tliree fragments have been inserted, which, if united,

would read, "Broun. Ahlat—cuj. a'i'e p'picie—tur

Deus." Several old wainscot closets, in the interior of

the house, are curiously decorated with carvings of

birds, foliage, animals, and human figures. An old

building formerly stood on the opposite side of the

street, conjectured by Hutchinson to have been a house

of friars Eremites, of the order of St. Austin, who ob-

tained leave of Archbishop Neville, in the vacancy of

the bishopric of Durham, to build a priory and chapel,

upon ground given by Thomas Bcauchamp, Earl of

Warwick. On a mullioned bow window in the front

was inscribed, " Soli Deo honor et (jJoria" The back

buildings formed a square, in the style usual in religious

establishments. Some years ago, the front of the house

was used as a chapel by Dissenters. It is now nearly

all rebuilt, a small pointed arch only i-emaining of the

original structure ; and the inscription has been buUt

up in the interior wall.

Bridgegate, or Briggate, is a long narrow street

• " The Barnard Castle Trnqedy," preserved in Ritson's "Durham
Garland," sliows " how one John Atkinson, of Murton near Appleby,

servant to Thos. Howson, miller, at Barnard Castle Bridge-end,

courted the said Ilowson's sister ; and after he had gained her entire

affection by his wheedling solicitatinns, left her disconsolate, and

made courtship to another, whom he married by the treacherous

advice of one Thomas Skelton, who, to save the priest's fees, &c.,

performed the ceremony himself; and. upon hearing the news, the de-

serted maiden broke her heart, and bled to death upon the spot. This

being both true and tragical, 'tis hop'd 'twiU be a warning to all lovers."

The vicinity of tho bridge has, of late years, acquired a sort of

notoriety, in consequence of murders and other outrages li-jviug been

conmiitted there. The last recorded instance is that of Charles

White, hawker, whose body was found in the Tees on the 7th of May,

1851, with four wounds, seemingly from a sharp instrument, on the

head, and having apparently been in the water about three weeks.

Several persons deposed to having seen him in a state of intoxication

at various times, a few weeks before the body was found ; and his hat,

which he had purchased for 23d., was found at a place called " The

which diverges from the foot of The Bank towards the

west and north-west, and skirts the foot of the rocks

which bear the ruins of the castle tiU it reaches tlie

bridge. This street forms the only road into the town

from the south, except a winding path around the west

and north sides of the castle.

The Bridge, consisting of two strong groined arches,

connects Barnard Castle with the village of Startforth,

on the Yorkshire side of the Tees. The arch on the

Durham side is somewhat higher than the other. In

Leland's time, " the right fair bridge on Tese" had

three arches. There is an inscription now nearly obli-

terated, on the battlement of the north arch, " E. R.

1569," which, if it be the date of its erection, suggests

a conjecture that the two previous arches may have

been so injured, or perhaps entirely destroyed during

the siege of the castle in that year, as to render their

removal necessary, when the present more elevated

arch might be substituted. During the great flood of

1771, the Tees was so high that the lower arch, on the

Yorkshire side of the river, was not suflficiently capa-

cious for the great quantity of water. The battlement

was consequently forced down, and the water took its

course along the street of Startforth, drove away the

causeway, washed ofi" the soil down to the rock, and

demolished eight dwelling houses, so that not one stone

was left upon another. The road at the end of the

bridge was washed away to the depth of four yards, so

that persons passing into Yorkshire were obliged to go

down a ladder. Successive repairs and additions have

been made on the bridge since that time ; and it is now

a strong, substantial building, well adapted to resist the

floods to which it is frequently exposed.*

Gentleman's Hole," about a mile from where the body was disco-

vered. The verdict of the coroner's jury was, " That the deceased

had come to his death by being cast into the river Tees, and thereby

drowned, by some person or persons unknown;" thus involving a

charge of wilful murder. The mystery of the case excited considera-

ble mterest, as the deceased was a poor harmless fellow, and without

money to form a temptation for robbery. It was probably this event,

with others of a similar nature, which drew from Mr. Justice Cress-

well certain animadversions on the character of the people of Bai'uard

Castle, which ^vill be noticed in their proper place.

But other scenes have been enacted on Barnard Castle bridge.

According to Sir Cuthbert Sharp, the Rev. Alexander Hilton, curate

of Denton in 1681, and a member of the family of Hilton, of Hilton,

left a son, named Cuthbert, of great notoriety, who having taken

orders in no church, but having been trained as a Bible clerk under

his father, went to Barnard Castle, and celebrated illicit marriages

iipon the centre of the bridge. The old rhyme said to liave been

made use of by him on these occasions, after having made tlie parties

leap over a broom-stick, is as follows :

—
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Though the principal streets of Barnard Castle are

wide and airy, a great part of the population reside in

the narrow and confined courts, alleys, and yards, which

branch off from the main thoroughfares. Of these there

are upwards of TO, many of which are approached by

covered passages from the front, without any other out-

let. The houses, which are of stone, are generally

three stories high. The second floor, in many cases, is

reached by stone steps built on the outside of the front

wall. Each house is subdivided into separate tene-

ments of one room, small in size, and low pitch. In

numerous instances, the windows are not even made to

open. The lower parts of the walls are generally damp

for want of subsoil drainage and eaves guttering.

Many of the houses occupied by the working classes

are the property of farmers, who, by virtue of the

ownership, obtain certain privileges in the shape of ex-

emption from tolls. For their benefit, also, immense

masses of manure are allowed to accumulate in the

premises, which contribute materially to vitiate the at-

mosphere, and, by soaking into the subsoil, tend to

deteriorate the quahty of the water in the adjoining

wells.

The strata forming the earth's crust in the town

varies. At the head and east side of Gallgate, the

Horse Market, Hall Sti'eet, and Queen Street, the

upper stratum is of a wet, moving, sandy natvu'e ; from

Queen Street to the Town HaU, it is clay and gravel

;

to the south of this, the limestone crops out ; and at a

short distance further, gritstone makes its appearance.

The west side of the town is, to a considerable extent,

made ground.

The town and district around are, generally speaking,

very healthy ; but particular localities, from defective

drainage and local impiuities, are not so. In many of

" My blessing on your pates, and your groats in my purse,

You are never the better, and I am never the worse."

It is but justice to say, however, that the authenticity of this cou-

plet has been controverted ; and it is said to have been, like the ballad

on the feud between " Ridley and Featherstonehaugh," an effusion

of the sportive muse of Mr. Surtces. Sir Cuthbcrt Sharp adds, "This

Psnli/ex ilaxinuvi left six sons, on whom he quaintly bestowed the

names of Abraham, Job, Solomon, Da\'id, Cuthbert, and Alexander,

and who seem to have derived no stain from their father's illegal

practices. They were remarkable only for their industry and inge-

nuity, and were the first artizans in Barnard Castle who practised the

art of dyeing cloth of various colours."

• The folloiWng sentence of excommunication, issued by Bisbop

Hatfield, affords a striking instance of the lawlessness and outrage

prevalent in the district in his time, from the effects of which even

churchmen were not exempted :

—

" WTierc-is certain sons of Belial wantonly laid sacrilegious hands

on Sir John de Upsal, priest, thereby incurring the penalty of the

the courts and yards, the wind can never by possibility

sweep the surface ; and even in the main streets, erec-

tions have been so placed as to impede adequate ventila-

tion ; there are no throiigh streets, and although the

Market-place is comparatively wide, yet the position of

the Town HaU, at the junction of Newgate Street and

the Bank, seriously impedes a free current of air.

The roads and foot-paths in the township are under

the control of an unpaid board of surveyors, four in

number, elected annually in vestry, irrespective of the

proper qualification for the business of road-making,

who make and collect their own rates. The length of

roads in the township is about 17 mUes, and excellent

materials for their formation and repair abound in the

district. There are no public foot-paths except in the

town ; the proprietors, where flagging is laid, pay the

first cost, and it is afterwards kept in repair by the sur-

veyors. The kennels are pitched with pebbles. The

Duke of Cleveland, as lord of the manor, keeps the

pavement of the Market in repair.

THE CHURCH.

The church stands near the angle formed by the junc-

tion of Newgate Street with the Bank, and is a spacious

building, capable of accommodating 900 persons. It

consists of a nave and narrow side-aisles, a transept, a

chancel, and a square detached tower at the north-west

comer.* The whole of the exterior walls are embat-

tled. The tower was formerly surmounted by a leaden

spire ; but it was taken down in 1774, being then un-

safe, and the tower was raised to the height of 60 feet.

The original peal of bells were four in number, the

oldest of which was of excellent tone, and inscribed

around its rim, " Campana Sancte Trinitatis et omnium

canon (Si quis Viavolo suodeuti) ' MTioever by the instigation of the

devil ; and afterwards they followed close after the said Sir Jolm to

the church of Barnard's Castle, whither he fled through fear of

death, and beset hin in the said chapel : having tried in vain to drag

him out, and having then forced him to retire, so that he sought, for

a last refuge, the belfry of the said chapel, and got up into it, they

then endeavoured to suffocate him with stupifying fumes and poison-

ous odours, and thus maliciously intlicting, by their very many de-

testable devices and cruelties, no little injury and distress on the said

priest, and an open affront of the whole clerical body. Wherefore,

in respect of the aforesaid evil doers, declare publicly and with all due
ceremony in the chiu-ches, when the largest number of the people
shall be assembled, that these men have incurred the sentence of the
greater excommunication stated in the canon, and that they are and
have been altogether excommunicated. The absolution of all these

men, except on their death- bed, we particularly reserve to ourselves

and our successors, Farewell. Given at Auckland, the 23rd day of
January, 1378.''
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Sanctorum." The whole were removed in 1823 ; and

a new peal of bells, cast by Mears of London, were

purchased, towards which Bishop Barrington, the Earl

of Darlington, Sir John Hullock, Miss Lee of Stain-

drop, and several other gentry, liberally subscribed.

The weight of the bells is 73 cwt. 2 qrs. 81bs.

T'he entrance to the church from the west was re-

stored in 1813, when the whole of the interior, which

Hutchinson says was "wretchedly stalled and the pave-

ment broken," was repaired and neatly pewed. The

north aisle is formed by an octagonal and two cylindrical

pillars, supporting circular arches of unequal span;

and that on the south by three octagonal pillars sup-

porting pointed arches. The windows of the aisles are

square, with mr^lioned compartments. The south porch

of the transept, in which was anciently a chantry of the

Virgin, has long been used as the burial-place of the

Boweses of Streatlam, several of whose escutcheons,

with a helmet, a gauntlet, and a banner, decorate its

walls. The south window of this porch consists of five

lights under a square head ; and another window to the

east is double under a pointed arch. The north transept

has two low blank arches in the cast wall, and is lighted

by a modern sash. The arch above the entrance to the

chancel is pointed, decorated with sculptures of foliage

and human heads, rising from pilasters with em-

battled capitals. The east window, which was rebuilt

in 1816, consists of five lights under a pointed arch

;

and instead of the two windows on the south, a pointed

one was inserted at the same period. There are two

galleries, one in the north transept, and the other at the

west end of the nave. The font is a large octagonal

bason, of the black marble found in the Tees, scvdp-

tured on four of its alternate faces with a raised shield

;

the intermediate compartments containing a triangular

device, supposed to be the marks of tradesmen or bur-

gesses who presented the font to the church.

On the 24th of October, 1839, the church was, for

the first time, lighted up with gas, the funds for which

were provided by public subscription.

On the death of the late incumbent, the Rev. John

Davidson, in 18-47, a subscription was commenced for

the erection of a stained glass window to his memory,

towards which the Duke of Cleveland gave £10; Lady
Hullock, £2 2s. ; Mr. Joseph Mollis, 10s. 6d.; a friend,

by Mr. Brownless, churchwarden, £1. The entire ex-

pense was estimated at from £30 to £40. The ancient

window on the east side of the south transept has been

filled with stained glass, containing a suitable design

and inscription.

VOL. II.

Robert de Mortham, vicar of Gainford, in 1280,

founded a chantry to the Virgin in Barnard Castle

church, where there were five other chantries, the

founders of which are unknown, viz. :—those of St.

Catherine, St. Helen, and St. Margaret, (the two latter

within the castle,) with an endowment of £6 a year

;

that of the Twelve Apostles ; and the guild or fraternity

of the Holy Trinity, with a yearly income of £5 18s. 8d.

A recumbent effigy of Robert de Mortham, in his

ecclesiastical robes, with the cup in his hands, remains

on an altar-tomb, in the south transept, where are also

some other architectural remains of his chantry. A
stone coffin lid, sculptured with a highly decorated

cross, chalice, books, &c., is built up in the north-east

angle of the exterior chancel wall ; and part of a sculp-

tured cross, found in taking down the south wall of the

chancel in 1819, was afterwards placed at the outside of

the south-east corner. On one side of a curious table-

monument, near the west end of the south aisle, is a

coloured effigy of George, son of Humphrey Hopper,

of Black Hedley, Northumberland, who died March

30, 1725, aged 23. He is dressed in a cocked hat,

blue coat, and yellow breeches, of the fashion of the

time, holding a red rose in one hand, and in the other

a scroll inscribed

—

"Here stands my Statue carved in Stone

To mind j" Liveiug I am gone.

He Cometh, forth like a flower and is cut down."

In contrast to this blooming figure, the other side of

the monument contains a representation of a skeleton,

with the initials of the deceased, and

—

"Death cuts down all both Great and Small."

The following inscriptions are on the ends of this

tomb :

—

" Blessed are the Dead who die in y" Lord.—I know that my Re-

deemer liveth."

" When the shrill trump of God shall pierce

The Secret chambers of the Dead,

And rowzo the Sleeping Universe

Trom out their owze, or dusty bed.

Such bright rewards will Yertue have

When waft by angels, She may Sing

Boast triumph now, insulting grave
;

Ilelentlcss Death ! whcre's now thy Sting !

In the sovith wall of the transept is a brass, enclosed

in a frame of wood, and bearing the following inscrip-

tion :

—

" Bernard Castle.—lonathan Rogers filivs primngenitvs loh'is

Rogersii A. M. ct Gratia; vxoris civs Obiit An" x'i IC.30 Nov. S.

lice peep'dinto the world, wlxcre lice could see,

Nought but confusion, Sinne and misery

D
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Thence scap'd into his Sau'ors armes thus liee

Gott Heauen, for fourteene dayes mortality.

lohn Rogers Elivs 2dT8l. R. et G. R. Obiit An" xti 1GJ2, Avg. 30.

Bles'd Soule, Thy name did mind of God's grace

Thou wast his gift, whose loue shew'd vs thy fac^

But hee that gaue, did take in T^ moncths space

Thou found'st in Fathers amies a resting place."

A splendid monument of Malta stone was erected in

the chancel, in 1835, to the memory of Baron Hiillock :*

it forms a niche in the wall, containing a statue of the

Goddess of Justice, underneath which is the following

inscription, upon marble, supported by a carved corbel

bearing the arms and crest of the deceased baron :

—

"To the memory of the Hox. SiK John Hullock, Knt., and Baron

of the E.Kchequer. He was born at Barnard Castle, April a. 1767, called

to the bar by the Society of Gray's Inn in 1793, married in 1704, raised

to the bench of the Exchequer in 1S23, and died at Abingtor, in Berks,

on his judicial circuit, 31st July, 1829. By a clear and -vigorous mind,

he rose to eminence as a sound lawyer, and, promoted solely by his

learning, industry, and integrity, he discharged the duties of a judge

to the general satisfaction of his country. This monument is erected

by his afflicted widow."

The church-yard is situated on the brow of the hill

-which overlooks the Mains, and is surrounded by

dwelling-houses and other buildings ; its surface being,

in parts, several feet above the level of the adjacent

streets and houses. The chief part of the ground is

held bv immemorial occupation ; the entire area is

about 7,735 yards. The average number of inter-

• Sir John Hvllock.—This eminent lawyer and able judge, the

son of Timothy Hullock, Esq., of Barnard Castle, and descended from

a family traced back to the reign of Henry VIII., was born in 1764,

and in early life was entered at Gray's Inn. He practised at the bar

upwards of 20 years ; and in 1792, he published " The Law of Costs,"

a work which brought him favourably into notice. " The Law of

Costs in Civil Actions and Proceedings," another production of his

pen, appeared in 1796; and a second edition, in two volumes, was

])ublished in ISIO. In that year, he resigned the office of recorder of

Berwick, which he had held for some time, and was succeeded by

Christopher Cookson, Esq. Amongst the counsel on the northern

circuit, he was only surpassed by Mr. Scarlet, afterwards Lord

Abinger. The following anecdote has been adduced as a proof of the

manliness of his character :

—

'• In a cause which he led, he was particularly instructed not to pro-

duce a certain deed unless it should be absolutely necessary. Not-

withstanding this injunction, he produced it before it was necessary,

with the view of deciding the business at once. On examination, it

proved to have been forged by his client's attorney, who was seated

behind him at the time, and who had warmly remonstrated against

the course which he had pursued. Jlr. Justice Bayley, who was trying

the cause, ordered the deed to be impounded, that it might be made

the subject of a prosecution. Before this could be done, however, Mr.

Hullock requested leave to inspect it ; and on its being handed to him,

immediately returned it to his bag. The judge remonstrated ; but in

vain. No power on earth, Mr. Hullock replied, should induce him to

surrender it : he had incautiously put the life of a fellow-creature in

ments, during the seven years ending 1848, was

114'29 per annum. Besides the escape of morbific

matter on the opening of graves, it is probable that

some portion is carried off with the drainage, and

pollutes the water in the wells to the south, between

the church-yard and the Tees.

Itr the month of June, 182-4, a Roman coin, nearly the

size of a sovereign, was found in the church-yard by

the sexton. It was in a state of good preservation, and

round a head decorated with a wreath of laurel, was

the following inscription :
—" Imp. Caes. Nerva Tk.Il-

lANAVs Germ." (The Emperor Caisar Nerva Trajanus

Germanus). On the reverse side is a crowned figure

seated, and holding an olive branch in the right hand,

round which is inscribed—" P. M. Tr. P. Cos. m. P.

P." (a high priest, a tribune of the people, thrice a con-

sul, and styled the father of his country j. Nerva Tra-

jan reigned in the DSth year of the Christian era;

consequenth' the coin is above 1750 years old.

Registers.—Boole No. 1 contains baptisms from

1609 to 1687, burials from 1617 to 1687, and mar-

riages from 1619 to 1687 (defective); Nos. 2 to 6,

baptisms and burials from 1688 to 1812, and marriages

from 1688 to 1753 ; and Nos. 7 and 8, marriages from

1754 to 1812.

Barnard Castle chapelry, in the deanery of Darling-

ton, is not in charge; the vicar of Gainford, patron.

Dedication to St. Mary.

peril ; and though he had acted to the best of his discretion, he should

never be happy again were a fatal result to ensue. Mr Justice Bayley,

not sorry, perhaps, to have an excuse for assisting the design, con-

tinued to insist on the delivery of the deed, but declined taking de-

cisive measures until he had consulted with the associate judge.

The consultation came too late ; for the deed was destroyed without

delay, and the attorney escaped,"

In 1816, Mr. Hullock was promoted to the rank of serjeant-at-law

;

and during the few years he occupied that position, he was engaged in

several important causes. On the resignation of Mr. Baron AVood in

1823, Mr. Serjeant KuUock was promoted to the office of one of the

Barons of the Court of Exchequer, a situation which he held till the

time of his death, and the duties of which he discharged with integrity

and sagacity. On Saturday, the 25th of July, 1829, he arrived at

Abingdon as one of the Judges of Assize of the Oxford circuit, and,

on the following day, he attended divine service, apparently in good
health ; but in the course of the night, he experienced a violent attack

of cholera morbus, of which he died on the following Priday. On
the 21st of August, his rem-ains reached Barnard Castle, and were
deposited in the family vault. A numerous concourse assembled ti>

witness the procession ; and his empty carriage was followed by a

number of aged women, who had been maintained thieliy by his

charity, and who testified their grief by tears and lamentations. A
funeral sermon was preached in the church on tlie Sunday following,

by the Rev. John Davidson, incumbent of Barnard Castle, from 2
Sam. iii. 38, " Know ye not that a prince and a great man is fallen

this day in Israel
:"

I
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CvBATES—John Messenger, 1436 ; Sir John Slake, prest., 14S3 ;

Peter Carter, cap., 1533; Ralph Bailies, el„ 1565: Thomas Gierke,

15G6; Halph Heightley, 1570; Matthew Copperthwaite, 1576 ; Cuth-

bert Bradley, 1577 ; John Shcring, 1622 ; Giles Forster, A.M., 1634 ;

John Rogers, A.M., an intruder, 164 4; 'WDliam Biekerton, A.M.,

1672 ; John Brockell, 1673 ; John Chapman, A.M., 1GS2 ; Alexander

Swinton, a Sect, 1694 ; Arthur "Wilton, 1736, p. m. Swinton ; Tho-

mas Marshall, 17.39, p. m. Wdton; Taylor ThirkeUl, 1740; Thomas
Forster, A.M., 1740; John Charlton, A.B., 1743, p. m. Forster;

William Dunn, A.B., 1747, p. m. Charlton ; Jcshua White, A.M.,

1760 ; James Stubbs Hale, 1785, p. m. 'W'hite; John Davidson, 1816,

p. m. Hale ; George Dugard, A.M., 1847, p. m. Davidson.

The income of the curacy is derived from a stipend

of £6 10s. paid by the vicar of Gainford ; £10 per

annum from the trustees of Lord Crewe's charity ; £63,

the rent of 108 acres of land at Holdsworth, in Mar-

wood, left by Mr. Butler ;* £9, the rent of 13 a. 1 e. 3 p.

at Northiield, in the parish of Startforth, purchased

with Queen Anne's Bounty ; with 30 acres at Bowes,

Cow Close, and an allotment on Bowes Moor ; the

church-yard, and the surplice fees. The living was

augmented with £200 from Queen Anne's Bounty in

1723, to meet a benefaction of £200 from John Lodore,

Esq. ; in 1812, with £200 by lot from the same fund;

and in 1815 with three sums of £300 to meet three

sums of £200 from Bishop Barrington, Trinity College,

Cambridge, and Lord Crewe's trustees. In 1817, a

house and garden for the incumbent, situated at the

extremity of Newgate Street, were purchased for £830
derived from these benefactions. The gross income of

the living is £228 per annum, subject to permanent

payments amounting to £5.

The discrepancy between the population of Barnard

Castle and that of the mother parish of Gainford, as

contrasted with the respective endowments of the livings,

has long been regarded as a grievance. A meeting of

lay members of the Church of England, for the purpose

of discussing this anomalous subject, was held in the

Witham Testimonial early in January, 1850, A^'illiam

"Watson, Esq., of Spring Lodge, in the cliair, at which

it was stated that a petition on the subject had been pre-

sented to parliament by Lord H. Vane. Copies of the

petition had been forwarded to the Bishop of Durham,
the Master and Fellows of Trinity College, Cambridge

* Mr Thomas Butler, brother-in-law to Mr Alderman Barnes, in

his will, dated August 19, 1678, styles himself a farmer at Cletlam,

and bequeaths two farms in Marwood, "for the maintainence of a

preaching minister of Barnard Castle," charging his executor, Mr.
Barnes, to fulfil his will, " as he will answer it at God's judgement
seate." He desires his body to be opened, that it maybe known
what was the cause of tlie pain in his side. He leaves " Fox's Book
of Martyrs" to the use of the minister of Barnard Castle ; to the vicar

of Gainford " Williams true Church, or SoUomans Viuiard ;" and to

(patrons of the living of Gainford), and the vicar of

that parish. A committee of 25 laymen was appointed,

to further the object of obtaining a more equitable

division of the revenues of the parish.

In reference to the income of the curacy, Surtecs

quotes the following extracts from a terrier of " the

High Parish of Gainford" (Barnard Castle), given in

by John Lively, vicar, March 20, 1635 :

—

" Mr. John Lively hcldeth the church-yard, containing about an

acre.

" Item. All tithes of what kind soever in the whole chapelry,

excepting the corn tithe of the whole chapehy ; and also the tithe hay
of Westwick, and except as hereafter is excepted.

" The owners of the corn mylnes pay, as we are informed, by an-

cient prescription for the tithe of the same, viz., the maynes mill,

13s. 4d., for Thorngate mill, 13s. 4d. on the feast of St. Mark the

Bishop, in winter.

" Excepting that the Honble Sir Henry Vane and owner of the

parks of Marwood doth pay, according to ancient prescription, for the

tithe hay, and all other tithes renewing in the said parks (except the

ancient tenants within the said park, viz., Metcalfe's, Raine's, and

Mitchcl's farm), 13s. 4d. on the 22d July, which ancient tenants of

the farms aforesaid, and of other farms and tenements, do pay at

Easter, viz. Metcalfe's farm, 12d. ; Garfoot's farm, 19d. ; Barne's farm,

12d. ; Mitchell's farm, 12d. ; John Mitchell for Parrock Houses, 3d.;

John Raine, for his farm in Shipley, 1 2d. ; Ralph Simpson, for ditto,

12d. ; John Raine, for Holdersworth-field, 6d. ; George Hodgson, for

Robert Knott, 4d. ; ditto, for West Roger Moor, 4d. ; ditto, for half

of Marwood House, 2d. ; Gabriel Wharton, for the other half, 2d.

;

ditto, for East Roger Moor, 5d.; Henry Raine, for Hollerbush, 4d.

;

John Hodgson, for Low Hollerbush, 4d.

•'Mr. Cudbcrt Thoresby doth pay, according to ancient prescrip-

tion, for the tithe-hay of Woolhouse, at Easter, only 4s. 8d.

" Mr. Middleton, for the tithe-hay of the Broad Close, Alkenhead

Close, Hill Close, and Dyke Nook Close, 3s. 4d.

" As we are credibly informed, the land called Beeilelcir!!, now in

the occupation of Widow Arrowsmith, payeth no tithe at all.

" William Lively, Gent., at Easter, for the tithe-hay of Gibb

Garths in Barnard Castle, 2s. 6d."

[The two preceding jjaragraphs have been crossed out.]

" Gabriel Wharton, now tenant of the Flatts, for tithe-hay and all

other tithes, 10s. 22d July.

" The farmers of Streatlam pay for tithe-hay of the farms thereof,

26s. 8d. 22d July.

" The farmers of Stainton and Brennylaw, for their tithe-hay on

St. Mark's Day, only 5s."

In this document an account is rendered of the sur-

plice fees and oblations, and of the mode of drawing

all the children whom he "gaveCluistendomcto," half a crown apiece.

In remarking on the disinterestedness and imjiartiality of Jlr. Barnes's

conduct in the conveyance of this estate, Sir R. Shafto, the cotmsel,

gave his opinion that the " disposition of the said estate in Marwood

for maintenance of a prcadiing minister, was a good appointment

within the statute of 43 Eliz. However, he thought the land well de-

vised to Mr. Barnes, who might convey as the will directed ; and that

none of the devises in the will would make mortman, there being no

device of the land to the parson or vicar and liis successors."
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tithe of calf, fleeces, lambs, foals, Szc. " For every

woman giving thanks after childbirth, a cade, viz. half

a yard of cloth worth 5d. and a penny in money." For

every marriage, Gd. For every corpse man-born upon

the bier, now 9d. ; and for every corpse brought upon

ihe head, now 5d., but in memory of man 5d. and 3d.

[but twenty years ago, when Mr. Dickon (Archdeacon)

Cradock was vicar of Gainford, and one Mr. Sinclair

(.' Shering), curate of Barnard Castle, he did raise and

execute y^ said fees, &c.] ; and for every corpse brought

form Whorlton, one penny. For every freeholder in the

town, a penny for smoke ; and for all other persons in the

chapelry, a halfpenny. Within the town, apenny a plough

;

without, a halfpenny. For the milk of ?0 ewes, 4d. For

a tithe goose. Id. "For a hen within the chapelry with-

out the town, whether theij have any or none, 2d."

The payment of church-rates, as in many other places,

has frequently been objected to. During a contest in

1848, the church clock was stopped by the churchwar-

dens, and the bells were not allowed to be rung on the

Sunday. The result of the poll being adverse to the rate,

a subscription, in the form of a voluntary rate, at Id. in

the pound, amounting to £50, was agreed to be raised,

for defrayimg the usvial expenses ; but the sums re-

ceived by the churchwardens only amounted to £26

;

this they applied in paying some of the demands upon

them, leaving others unpaid, and, amongst the rest, the

sexton. That official, it appears, had held the office for 27

years, previous to which his ancestors had filled the

office of parish clerk for upwards of 160 years. He was

allowed, at a vestry meeting, held in 1845, a salary of

£14, which was confirmed in 1846 ; and for this sum he

brought an action, in the Barnard Castle county court,

against the churchwardens, on the ITth June, 1847.

The vestry minute, fixing the salary, was produced;

and he also proved the performance of his official duties.

For the churchwardens, it was submitted that the rate-

payers being a fluctuating body, the resolution of 1845

was not binding upon their successors in 1846, who, by

refusing a rate, had decided that there should be no

salary ; and that the churchwardens were not liable, as

they had not personally made any contract with the

plaintiff. The case was adjourned, and eventually de-

cided in favour of the defendants. The sexton was

afterwards empowered to collect for himself the arrears

of the voluntary rate ; but so small were the sums

received, that on February 16, 1848, there was still a

deficiency of £11 2s. l',d., which he afterwards

attempted to make up by an appeal to the inhabitants of

the chapelry generally.

The subject of Easter dues has also been long agitated

in Barnard Castle ; and on March 4, 1854, a cause was

tried at the spring assizes at Durham, Stephenson v.

Snaith, in which the plaintifi", parish clerk of the cha-

pelry, sought to recover the sum of Is. 8d., being five

years' arrears of Easter dues, from the defendant, a

householder within the chapelry. In the course of the

trial, it was stated that the plaintiff had been met in the

county court by a prohibition from the Queen's Bench,

and was therefore compelled to bring his action in the

present form. He had been appointed to his office of

parish clerk in 1817, by the Rev. James Blackburn,

vicar of Gainford ; and a terrier, dated 1792, was read,

by which 4d. from each householder was ordered to be

paid to that official as Easter dues. This, he stated,

produced him about £7 10s. a year; but, if all paid, it

would amount to £17 or £18. In 1844, there was

£270 due to him as arrears of fourpences ; and, at the

time of the trial, there was much more, though he

could not say how much. He was paid Is. 6d. for each

marriage by banns, and 5s. for a marriage by license

;

9d. for the burial of a poor person ; Is. 6d. for a morning

funeral; and 3d. for a churching. Mr. Richard Frater,

clerk to Mr. Davison, produced three terriers from the

Consistory Court, which showed the appointment of the

plaintifi", and the amount he was to receive as Easter

dues. This witness also stated that he had produced

the earliest terrier he could find. (See, however, that

of 1635, quoted above.) The witnesses on behalf of

the plaintiff deposed to having paid this 4d. regularly

during the time he had held the office. For the de-

fendant, several persons deposed that they had never

paid it; and his counsel argued that there was no

evidence proving Barnard Castle to be a parochial

chapelry, or to have been so since 1189, and that it was

therefore to be considered a perpetual curacy. He also

argued that the scale of charges just quoted was diflferent

from that of the terrier of 1792, viz. " The clerk's

wages are by custom as follows—from each householder

throughout the parish an Easter due of 4d. ; for every

marriage by license, 2s. 6d., and by banns, Is. ; for a

funeral, 6d. ; and for a christening, 3d. ;" and hence the

payments could not be by custom, besides the total dil-

ference in the value of money since the early period

necessary to constitute Barnard Castle a parochial cha-

pelry. The judge, in directing the jury, said there

were three questions for them to consider : 1st, Whether

Barnard Castle was a parochial chapelry ; 2nd, Whe-
ther it was so from time immemorial ; and, 3rd, Whether

the 4d. had been unanimously payable to the clerk of the
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chapelry. There was sufficient /iri'mo facie evidence of

its being a parochial chapelry. If the contrary had

been the fact, and it had been of modern creation, that

must have been by act of parliament, which could have

been produced. A verdict was returned for the

plaintiff.

Election of Churchwardens

.

—Prior to 1849, several

disputes had arisen in Barnard Castle respecting the

number, right to appoint, and mode of election of the

churchwardens or chapelwardens. The management of

the affairs of tlie chapelry (consisting of Barnard Castle

and other three townships) had formerly been entrusted

to a customary select vestry, a fixed proportion of whom
had been chosen by each township. Amongst other acts,

the vestry used to select churchwardens ; but the vestry

itself having lost all legal existence, disputes were en-

gendered as to who should now appoint those officials,

who acted for the whole chapelry. After many angry

public meetings, the inhabitants of the chapelry agreed

to submit the facts to Mr. Frederick Robinson, an emi-

nent barrister, and to act upon his decision. His writ-

ten opinion, dated 24th May, 1849, upon the state of

facts, and various queries submitted to him, is now
deposited in the parochial chest, and, in substance, is

embodied in the three following paragraphs :

—

1. That there is no valid subsisting custom for the

election of a definite number of churchwardens by and

for each separate township of the chapelry, nor for the

election of those officials by a select vestry—that the

inhabitants of the whole chapelry must unite with the

incumbent in one appointment of two churchwardens;

and if they cannot agree, the inhabitants must appoint

one, and the incumbent the other.

2. That at the meetings to elect churchwardens,

there can be no plurality of votes ; the vestry act (58

Geo. III., c. 69) only applying to meetings of inhabit-

ants of a place all jointly maintaining their own poor.

Here, the townships into which the chapelry is divided

maintain their poor separately, and have separate over-

seers. The vestry act (Mr. Robinson stated) does not

apply to meetings of a chapelry, where such chapelry is

divided into townships, each maintaining its own poor

;

consequently, every inhabitant at a chapelry meeting,

paying scot and lot, had a vote, a.nd no inhabitant more

than one vote.

3. If a church-rate were duly granted, he (Mr. Robin-

son) was of opinion that the cost of warming and lighting

the church, of ringing bells for divine sarvice, and of

taking a poll, if duly demanded, on a question affecting

the election of chapelwardens, or the laying on of a

VOL. II.

church-rate, or the repair of the church, were legal

items of payment out of a church-rate.

Appointment of Sexton.—In 1849, the Rev. G. Dugard
dismissed the sexton, Mr. G. Cansfield, from his office.

This act was sanctioned by the churchwardens ; but the

inhabitants claimed the right of appointing and dismissing

the sexton. Writers on parochial and ecclesiastical law

were obscure or contradictory on the subject; some al-

leging that the power was in the inhabitants, and others

in the incumbent. Mr. Cansfield disputed the right of

his successor to take the fees, and the inhabitants sup-

ported him in an action at law. The case was tried

at Durham assizes in the spring of 1849, and after-

wards argued before the Barons of the Exchequer,

at Westminister, who decided that the right to appoint

and dismiss a sexton was not vested in the inhabitants

at common law, unless there was an immemorial usage,

which in this case there was not ; but that the right to

appoint and dismiss belonged to the incumbent and

churchwardens, where the sexton held his office distinct

from the parish clerk, and performed the office of grave-

digger as well as took care of the church utensils and

its cleansing, &c. In other cases, where the offices of

parish clerk and sexton were combined in one indivi-

dual, the right to appoint and dismiss was in the incum-

bent. The case therefore settles this question. It is

reported in 4 Exchequer Reports, 234, and in the 18

Law Journal Reports, N. S. Exchequer, 361.

CHAPELS.

Roman Catholic Chapel.—About eight years ago,

the Roman Catholics purchased a large building called

the Union Hall, and converted it into a chapel. It is

neatly fitted up in the interior, and capable of seating

500 hearers. Above the altar is a beautiful fresco of

the crucifixion, copied by Mr. Harvey, a talented

young artist of Barnard Castle, from the highly cele-

brated fresco in the Catholic chapel, Lartington Hall.

The Rev. W. Allen is the officiating priest. There is a

Sunday school held in a room adjoining, which is also

used as a day school.

Independent Chapel.—The religious part of the

community in Barnard Castle would seem to have been

early imbued with the principles of the Reformation,

and prepared for the succeeding struggles of Noncon-

formity, by the preaching of the celebrated John Knox,

whose first wife, Margery, was daughter of Sir Robert,

and sister of Sir George Bowes, of Streatlam, Knight

E
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Marshal. The Lady Isabella, second wife of Sir AVil-

liam Bowes, and daughter of Judge Wray, introduced

the cawse of Nonconformity into this town. She was a

liberal patroness of the Puritan ministers, and frequently

exerted her influence to obtain the liberty of such of

them as had been silenced, whom she afterwards placed

in such situations as she deemed most in need of their

efforts. In the maintenance of ministers under her

patronage, she bestowed no less than £100 per annum.
On the death of her husband at Walton, near Chester-

field, Oct. 30, 1611, his body was sent for interment

among his ancestors in the church of Barnard Castle.*

Her domestic chaplain, Mr. Dike, attended the funeral,

and, on his return, represented to her the very ignorant

and irreligious state of the to>ra, then, as he represented,

destitute of a resident preaching minister. She was

* In Surtees's pedigree of the Bowes family, it is stated that Sir

'William was buried at Chesterfield ; and this account has been fol-

lowed by Sir Cuthbert Sharp, in his " Memorials of the Rebellion."

t Alderman- B-irves.—Mr Ambrose Barnes was born at Startforth

in the latter end of the year 1637. He was the son ofThomas Barnes,

Gent., whose progenitors for seyeral descents had resided at that place

as lords of the soil and manor. Tlie early part of his youth was passed
under the guardianship of Mr. George Stothart, of Pamard Castle,

who was one of those then known by the name of Puritans, keeping

many days of fasting, humiliation, and prayer ; and to the private

meetings at his house resort was made by the then young Sir Henry
Vane and others who afterwards figured in public affairs. The chief

recreation of the young Ambrose, however, is stated to have been
cock-fighting ! After due care had been t;iken in his education, he
w;>s apprenticed to a merchant in Newcastle, whose confidence he en-

joyed to so great an e.\tent as to be allowed to make Tentures on his

oivn accovmt. During the prevalence of the plague in the town, his

master was so terrified, by the contagion having reached his female

domestics, that, rising from dinner, and leaving his shop, books, keys,

and business in the charge of Barnes, he repaired to Shields, and took
a ship for Hamburgh. Barnes himself shortly after took the infection,

and was shut up alone several days and nights, in a large empty house
near the Exchange, and where his food was brought to the door for

him to take in. A tumour on the back of his neck was supposed to

have been the cause of his recovery. Having completed his appren-
ticeship, he went to Hamburgh, where he joined the "Eastland Com-
pany," but did not remain long. On tlie 12th of June, 1655, he mar-
ried Mary, third daughter of Thomas Butler, merchant adventurer, of

Newciistle, by his wife, Elizabeth Clavering, of Callaley, Northumber-
land. By this marriage, Mr. Barnes had issue two sons and three

daughters. He had not long been the governor of his o«-n family,

before he was thought worthy of a more public trust, and was elected

alderman of Newcastle without his knowledge. On hearing of this,

lie repaired to the Spital, the place of election, and resigned the office,

but was again elected on the following morning. Previous to the
llestoration, he was the means of biinging to Newcastle several of the
most eminent Puritanical ministers of the day, and professed great

attachment to their preaching and doctrines. Though attached to the
principles of the Commonwealth, he took the oaths of supremacy
and allegiance on the 25th of October, 1660; but many of his favourite

jjreachers were compelled to quit or resign their livings. At Raby
Castle, he had a dispute on religion with William Pcnn, who, growin"

consequently anxious that he should take up his resi-

dence in that capacity ; but he declared he durst not

venture among so surly a people, and recommended the

courageous Richard Rothwell. The labours of that

zealous individual were so successful that he obtained,

amongst persons of his own denomination, the appella-

tion of " the Apostle of the North." In 1644, the par-

liament sent the Eev. John Rogers to be minister of

this parish (see Cur.4.tes), who held the living sixteen

years, but was ejected on the Restoration of Charles II.

Lord Wliarton then presented him to the rectory of

Croglin, in Cumberland, from whence he was ejected

under the Act of Uniformity. He returned to the A-il-

lage of Startforth, and preached in the manor-house

there, which belonged to his brother-in-law, ilr. Alder-

man Barnes of Newcastle;! also in Darlington, Stockton,

weary of the discussion, ended it by saying, "Thouknowest, Ambrose,

now that Paul is dead, he can neither tell thee nor me what his mean-

ing was." The part he had taken in public affairs brought him into

the notice of government as a person whose good will it might be de-

sirable to cultivate; and King Charles II. was desirous of having him
returned to parliament. His opinion of the king, however, was given

on his return home, after a visit to the council, that, "as Charles II.

is said very much in his person to resemble Tiberius Cxsar, so did

he presage, his reign would no less resemble that of Tiberius, wherein

our Lord was crucified." A rumour having occurred of a great ar-

mament being fitted out in Holland, Col. Widdrington, "in a huff,"

desired Barnes to order some guns down to Tynemouth Castle. "That
is not my business," wasthereply; " the king never made me governor

of that castle." This, and some other circumstances rendered himunpo-
pular with the loyal party ; and Harry Willis, a drunken shiinvright,

carried his abuse to such a length in public, that Barnes was priivoked

to commit him to the tower on Tyne Bridge, then used as a prison.

Here lay a quantity of malt, which the tipsy man shoveled out of the

window into the river, singing

—

" base mault,

Thou didst the fault.

And into Tyne thou shalt."

When the infamous Judge Jeffreys, in the course of the northern
circuit, came to Newcastle, " he would," according to the author of a
MS. Life of Barnes, " drink to filthy e.^cess till 2 or 3 o'clock in the
morning, going to bed as drunk as a beast, and rising again with the
symptoms of one who had drunk a cup too much. When the court
was sat, instead of the gravity of a tribunal, the judge, with his
raileries aiid his jests, there acted the part of a harlequin. In his
hand he held out a paper, telling the court, in a menacing manner
he had there got a black list of damn'd fannatiqs, and was resolved
ta scour them. A fine was levied on Barnes' house, but Mr. Barnes
escapt. Jeffenes was huge witty upon all the prisoners, but it fretted
him sadly he could not catch this Barnes.

" In the many occasions our author had to be abroad, if wee look't
into his family at home, we might have found his house that had
suffered military execution. The furniture of the kitchen and other
moveables were many months hid in the hay which he kept for his
horses. Not a soul durst be seen, his family fled, and when the .ser-

geants or others knockt at the door to enquire for him, the servants,
when at home, ran down the back stairs and hid themselves, for fear
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Tecsdale, AVearcIalc, &c. After a life of labour, perse-

cution, and privation, he died in 1688, aged 78.* He
was intimate with Sir Henry Vane, who sometimes

rode from Raby Castle to attend his preaching.

An Independent congregation has existed in Bar-

nard Castle for many years. The Rev. — Lisle (who

preached at Startforth, Cotherstone, Langley Dale,

Wolsingham, and Hedley Hope), the Revds. Warden,

of being hauld before the magistrates to come in evidence against

their master; and his little son, a boy of eleven or twelve years of

age, when all the rest were skulking, was obliged to go to the gate,

and be satisfyed who it was that knockt and what they wanted before

he durst open it.

" King Charles 11. having triiled between Atheist, Papist, and Pro-

testant, wassuddainly arrested by death. King James II. changeing

his measures, Mr. Barnes obtained a noU prosequi for himself and

three or four more of his friends, which, with the act of indemnity

that followed afterwards, saved him from the utter ruin brought upon

him by fines, and forfeitures of recognizances. But public persecu-

tion is not the onely time wherein good men must look for trouble

and affliction. He buried his invaluable consort. He sustained a

great loss in a ship which foundered at sea in her voyage to Virginia,

and met with a much greater loss in a colliery, left in his hand by his

son in law for near two thousand pound, which it was far from reim -

bursing. He buried a good estate in many lead mines. The case also of

his daughters, who married away from him, affected him sensibly, to

find them met with any baseness or unkind behaviour from any be-

longi.'-.g to the families they were matcht into. An heavier blow than

all this fell upon hira in his old age, by the breaking of one of his

sons in law, who left him involved in debts and bonds for him to

answer as swept away almost all he had in the world. But the most

trying distraction of all his afflictions, was the distraction of his

youngest daughter. But his faith was unconquerable : so God was

but glorifyed, he was satisfy'd, bearing all the Lord's burdens with

invincible patience and entire resignation.

" When wet harvests, for several summers together, had occasioned

great daramage to corn, and what was found was bought up and shipt

ofi" to other parts by the m.erchants, there grew such a scarcity, that

the poor of Newcastle went about in their necessity, begging sheeps

blood of the butchers, to mingle it with oatmeal and bake it, which

served them for bread, instead of wholesome food, and this brought

a bloody flux and mortality amongst them. Then was this gentle-

man's liberality like Scaligcrs, who, when winter came, would buy
cloth to make coats for the naked, charging his family to serve the

beggars, putting them in mind how those wretched people were their

brethren by nature, and being skilful in chirurgery and physic, he

saved the lives of many who were ready to perish."

On the accession of King William, Mr Barnes was represented to

him as a person obnoxious to the government. Walking one day in

Kensington gardens, the king said to a person with him, "You know
the north country ; can you tell me any thing of one Barnes who lives

there ?" " I know him very well," replied the gentleman, " and it

please your m.ajesty as honest a man as is in your three kingdoms."
" Say you so ?" cried the king, "I have his name given up to me as a

very ill man !" and immediately drew out his pocket book and ex-

punged the name.
" Mr. Barnes, after paying a visit to the young Earl of Dcrwcntwater

(afterwards beheaded), in returning home he felt his cloak grow very

heavy and cumbersome to him, and was sorely faint and weary before

he reached his own house. But the Lord's supper being to be admi-

Orel. Shield, and AVilliam Luke Prattman, were minis-

ters in succession. The present chapel was commenced

in 1812, and finished in ]\Iay, 1813, by Mr. Prattman,

who, with an assistant, the Rev. J. Harrison, officiated

as its minister till nearly the time of his death, since

which the pastoral duties have been discharged by the

Rev. James Hardman.

The chapel is a neat and commodious structure, situ-

nistcred in the congregation the day following, he would not be hin-

dered from going to it." During the ceremony, he endeavoured to

conceal his illness, which, however, rapidly increased ; and he died on

the 23rd of March, 1710.

Joseph Barnes, Esq., eldest son of the alderman, baptized April 2,

16.53, was a barrister-at-law, recorder of Newcastle, and afterwards of

Berwick. He died in March, 1711-2. Thomas, another son, was a

minister of religion.

* TuE Rev. John Rogers .\nd Mrs. Tooley.—^The following inte-

resting incident in the life of the Rev. John Rogers appears in the

Christian Penny Magazine :
—

Sir Richard Crt dock, a justice of peace, who was a violent hater

and persecutor of the Dissenters, and who exerted himself to enforce

all the severe la«'3 then in existence against them, happened to live

near Mr. Rogers, to whom he bore particular enmity, and whom he

wsnted above all things to have in his power. Hearing that he was

to preach at a place some miles distant, he thought it a fair oppor-

tunity for accomplishing his base design ; and in order thereto, hired

two men to go as spies, and to take down the names of all the hearers

whom they knew, that they might appear as witnesses against both

them and Mr. Rogers. The plan seemed to succeed to his wishes.

These men brought him the names of several persons who were

present at the meeting, and he warned such of them as he had a par-

ticular spite against, together with Mr. Rogers, to appear before him.

Knowing the violence of the man, they came with trembling hearts,

expecting to be treated with the utmost severity. While they were

waiting in the great hall, expecting to be called upon, a little gii'l,

about six or seven years of age, who was Sir Richard's grand-daugh-

ter, happened to come into the hall. She looked at Mr. Rogers, and

was much taken with his venerable appearance. He, being naturally

fond of children, took her upon his knee and caressed her, which

occasioned her to conceive a great fondness for him. At length. Sir

Richard sent a servant to inform them, that one of the witnesses,

being taken ill, was unable to attend, and that, therefore, they must

come again another day. They accordingly c.nme at the time appointed ;

and being convicted, the justice ordered their mittimus to be written

to send them all to prison.

Mr. Rogers, expecting to see the little girl again, brought some

sweetmeats with him to give her. As soon as she saw him, she came

running to him, and appeared fonder of him than before. This child,

being a particular favourite of her grandfather, had got such an ascend-

ancy over him that he could deny her nothing ; and she possessed

such a violent spirit that she could bear no contradiction, so that she

was indulged in every thing she wanted. At one time, when she hail

been contradicted, she ran a penknife into her arm, to the great danger

of her life. This bad spirit, in the present instance, was over-ruled

for good. While she was sitting on Mr. Rogers's knee, eating the

sweetmeats, she looked earnestly at him, and asked, " What are you

here for, sir ?" He answered, " I believe your grandfather is going

to send me and my friend> to jail." "To jail!" says she, "why,

what have you done ?" "Why, I did nothing but preach, and they
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ated in Hall Street, containing a gallery, and will

accommodate above ."iOO hearers. It is duly licensed

for solemnization of marriages. The register-book of

births and baptisms extends from 1806 to 1837, and is

kept by the minister. There is a Sunday school ad-

joining the chapel, attended by about 140 boys and

girls. It was commenced in 1803, and is one of the

earliest voluntary Sunday schools established in Bar-

nard Castle.

Wesleyan Methodist Chapel.—The first chapel

belonging to the Methodist body in Barnard Castle,

was built in 1765 ; and a second one having been found

too small for the increased number of hearers, the pre-

sent spacious edifice, with dwellings attached for the

residence of the ministers, was erected in 1822. It is

situated on the east side of the Bank, and will contain

a congregation of above 1,000 hearers. The chapel

is licensed for the solemnization of marriages. The

register book, which contains births and baptisms from

1803 to 1837, is in charge of the superintendent.

Above 200 children attend the Sunday school.*

The Primitive Methodist Chapel, which is also

licensed for marriages, was built in 1829. It stands on

the Bank, and will accommodate nearly 500 persons.

The Sunday school is attended by about 150 children.

Unitakian Chapel.—It was not until about the year

1845 that the Unitarians of Barnard Castle formed

themselves into a body. As a place of worship, they

did nothing but hear me." " He shall not send you to jail," replied

she, " Aye, but, my dear," said he, " I believe he is now making out

our mittimus to send us all there." Upon this, she ran up to the

chamber where Sir Richard was, and knocked with her head and heels

till she got in, and said to him, " What are you going to do with my
good old gentleman in the hall r" " That's nothing to you," said he,

" get about your biisiness." " But I won't," says she ;
" he tells rae

that you are going to send him and liis friends to j;ul ; and if you send

them, I'll drown myself in the pond as soon as they are gone ; I will

indeed." When he saw the child thus peremptory, it shook his reso-

lution, and induced him to abandon his malicious design. Taking

the mittimus in his hand, he went down into the hall, and thus ad-

dressed these good men :
—" I had here made out your mittimus to

send you all to jail, as you deserve ; but at my grandchild's request,

I drop the prosecution, and set you all at liberty." They all bowed,

and thanked his worship. But Mr. Rogers, going to the child, laid

his hand upon her head, and, lifting up his eyes to heaven, said,

" God bless you, my dear child ! May the blessing of that God,

whose cause you did now plead, though as yet you know him not, be

upon you in lilo, at death, and to all eternity." He and his Iriends

then went away.

The above remarkable story was told by Mr. T. Rogers, the son of

the ejected minister, who had frequently heard his father relate it

purchased the chapel formerly belonging to the Weg-

leyan Methodists, built, as is stated above, in the year

1765. They have no stipendiary minister, but main-

tain their religious services and preachings by lay lec-

turers : they have also issued various able defences of

their doctrines, many of which have attained an exten-

sive circulation in the Unitarian community. A Sun-

day school is held in the chapel, attended by between

40 and 50 children.

CHARITIES.

Si. John's Hospital.—This is said to be the hospital

founded by John Baliol in 1229 ; but there is no au-

thentic document relative to its foundation. In 1355,

Bishop Hatfield fulminated a sentence of excommunica-

tion against certain persons unknown, who, to the peril

of their souls, detained and concealed the revenues

belonging to it. It is included in the " Valor Ecclesi-

asticus," made 26 Hen. VIII. (1536), and therein

stated to be in the gift of the crown, and of the yearly

value of £5 15s. 8d., subject to an annual payment to

three poor women, to pray for the soul of the founder,

of 3s. in money, and 3s. 4d. in coals. The first lease

di.scovered is one dated 1689, granted by John Chap-

man, custos, for three lives. The next lease is dated

1705, granted by Peter Ferron, for three lives, at an

increased rental, which is therein stated to be an im-

proved rent for the better accommodation of the beads-

women. In 1756, Dr. Browell demised the property

with great pleasure ; and the celebrated Mr. Thomas Bradbury once

heard it from him, when he was dining at the house of Mrs. Tooley,

an eminent Christian lady in London, who was distinguished for her

religion. She had listened with uncommon attention to Mr. Rogers's

story i and when he had ended it, she asked him, " And are you that

Mr. Rogers's son ?" He told her he was ; upon which she said,

" Well, as long as I have been acquainted with you, I never knew
that before. And now I will tell you something that you do not

know. / am the very girl your dear father blessed in the manner you
have related, and it made an impression upon me which I could never

forget.''

• Mr. Layton, in the notes to his " Castle Barnard," says, " AVTien

that zealous Christian (the Rev. John Wesley) visited Barnard Castle,

on his tour through the British Isles, the enlightened townsmen,
staunch resisters of iimovations in religion, literally threw cold water

upon all his efforts to convert them ; for, bringing out the water-

engine, they showered down their blessings upon his head, tUl this

persecuted friend of mankind deemed it advisable to commence a re-

treat (or, according to the idiom Napoleon, to make a lateral mme-
ment), in which he was pursued by the implacable enemy with their

ijying artillery : and not tUl he had fairly cleared the place, was he

enabled to wash AJs hands of them."
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for three lives, but exacted a fine of £240, the rental

remaining the same as in 1705.

In 1790, the Rev. William Lipscombe, custos, leased

the property for three lives at the same rental, but

exacted a fine of £340. On the 18th June, 1796, pro-

bably in consequence of some defect in the last-men-

tioned lease, a new one was granted by Mr. Lipscombe,

in which the property is described as follows :

—

" The mansion houses and capital messuages belong-

ing to the hospital, with the barns, stables, out-houses,

buildings and garth, garden and yard on the back side

thereof, situate on the south side of a certain street in

Barnard Castle, called Newgate Street, with another

parcel of ground used as a garden, before the same,

called the Tenter Garth ; and the several closes therein-

after mentioned, the boundaries whereof are therein

respectively described, viz. The Bank Close, the Crook

Close, another close called the Crook Close, theretofore

divided into three, the Little Garth, the Gallgate Garth,

a close called Westwick Town End Close, a close

adjoining the Lowfield Inclosures and the Lowfield

Lane, the Pinfold Close, the low end of the Broom
Close ; and also the several allotments set out to Robert

Lodge and Anthony Pearson, Martha Bass and William

Hutchinson, on the division of the intercommon fields

belonging to Barnard Castle, called the Crook, the

Newfield, the Ings, the Lowfield, the Middlefield, and

the Northfield, in lieu of certain days' work ridges and

parcels of land lying in the several intercommon fields

[containing in all 57 a. 1 r. 19 p.] ; and also the several

allotments set out to Robert Lodge and Anthony Pear-

son [containing 29 A. 2 r. 39 p.], on the division of the

Town Pasture, in lieu of sixteen cattle-gates ; and all

other houses, lands, tenements, commons, &c., to the

said hospital belonging."

The master or custos is appointed by the Lord Chan-

cellor. He has no duties to perform ; and his emolu-

ments arise from the same source as that of preceding

masters for many years, namely, from fines received on

the granting of leases for lives. By the lease just

quoted, the then master, the Rev. W. Lipscombe,

appointed by Lord Chancellor Thurlow in 1783, de-

mised to Dorothy Lodge, spinster, Thomas Bass, and

BenjaminBass,andtheir heirs, in consideration of thesur-

render of a former lease and of £141, the several estates

and premises belonging to the hospital for three lives,

being of the respective ages of 29, 18, and 22, subject

to the yearly payment of £9 16s. 8d. annually, viz.,

3s. 4d. to each of the beadswomen in the hospital on

the first day of every month, and the further sum of

£1 5s. at Christmas every alternate year to buy them
coats or gowns, and the residue to the master, £4 10s.

thereof being an improved rent for the better accommo-

dation of the beadswomen. An acknowledgment of 20

horse-loads of coals, or 10s. in money, having been paid

beyond the memory of man out of lands at Low Huller-

bush, was guaranteed by the master. At the time of

the Charity Commissioners' Inquiry, the parties in

possession were the late Rev. W. L. Prattman, who, in

right of his wife, formerly Dorothy Lodge, was entitled

to about three-quarters of the property, consisting of

about 60 acres of the annual value of £117; and the

Misses Bass, representatives of Thomas and Benjamin

Bass, who held about 271 acres, of the annual value of

about £50. There were also about 2 acres, held by

Charles Watson, valued at £6 or £7 per annum. On
the inclosure of Barnard Castle Moor, in 1799, 62 a.

1 R. 28 p. were set out to Mrs. Prattman, and 25 a. 3 r.

19 p. to Messrs. T. and B. Bass.

The hospital, or bedehouse, is a low thatched build-

ing, containing one room, in which two old women
reside rent-free, and receive 10s. monthly between

them. The appointment of a third beadswoman has

been withheld for many years, to increa5.e the stipend

of the other two. The sum of £1 5s. fo*- coats or gowns

is paid to them every other Christmas ; and they also

receive their annual supply of 20 horse-loads of coals

from the estate of Low Hullerbush.

On the death of the Rev. W. Lipscombe in 1842, a

meeting of the inhabitants was held, at which a com-

mittee was chosen, who, with the assistance of the Duke

of Cleveland, procured the appointment of the Rev.

John Davidson, incumbent of Barnard Castle, to the

office of master of the hospital. Mr. Davidson died in

1847; and on the 4th of November in that year, a

meeting was held in the National School, for the pur-

pose of petitioning the Lord Chancellor to appoint a fit

and proper person as his successor. The Rev. George

Dugard, incumbent, and Thomas Emerson Headlam,

Esq., were nominated; and a majority voted in favour

of the latter gentleman. Mr. Headlam, however, de-

clined to allow himself to be recommended ; and sub-

sequently, at the instance of the Bishop of Durham, the

Chancellor appointed the Rev. George Dugard to be

custos.

A Chancery suit was some time ago instituted, for

the regulation of this long-perverted charity ; and, in

consequence, the past system of long leases has been

forbidden by decree of the court. Upon the demise of

the surviving life, Mr. Pearson, of Newcastle, on
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which the leases are now hehl, a scheme is to be set-

tled fov the futiu-e ruanagemeut of the charity. In the

course of the inquiries directed during this suit, the

following were ascertained to be the lands and tene-

ments belonging to this charity :—

DESCBIPTION OP PROPEKTT.

42 1

The land above described is of equal quality

with the foregoing, and near the town, but

not close enough to be considered accora-

raodatiou laud.

Carried forward .

.

2

arANTITT. AXN.VALCE.
A. E. P. £ S. d.

No. lA The Bede House and gardens on the

south side of Newgate Street—an old

worn-out building

1 B A dwelling-house and office and garden,

called Tenter Garth, adjoining on the

south side of Newgate Street—an old

building with excellent garden 110 20

1 O A dwelling-house, warehouse, and pre-

mises adjoining, on the south side of New-

gate Street—good substantial newly-built

premises 1*5

1 B The raff-yard and garden adjoining,

on the south side of Newgate Street .

.

2 10

3 Crook Close, in the Crook 3 36

1 a Crook Close, in the Crook 2 1

4 4 Crook Close, in the Crook 3

r> Galgate Garth, in the Crook 3

7 Close adjoining Lowfield inclosures. This

plot of ground now forms part of the plea-

sure grounds to the house of Mr. Wil-

liam Watson, solicitor, who, I am in-

formed, has broken down the east fence,

and taken possession of it as his own
property 1 13

8 Pinfold Close, Newgate End 1

9 Close adjoining Lowfield Lane 3

14 Allotment at Middlefield 6 3 13

15 Ditto ditto 2 2 14

IG Ditto ditto 1 31

17 Ditto at the Crook 1 2 10

13 Ditto ditto 3 34

20 Ditto at LowBeld 2 1 20

26 1 11 92

All the land aboTC described is accommoda-

tion land of first-rate quality, in small

parcels, situate close upon the town, and

therefore of great value.

2 Bank Close, East Lowfield 3 12

6 Westwick Town-end Close, Lowfield .... 2 3 33

1 1 Allotment at Lowfield 7 2 24

13 Ditto ditto 1

19 Ditto ditto j 1 6

22 Ditto at the Ings 1 11)

„ Ditto at Newfield !3 113

Ditto at Tott-u Pasture "8 110

DESCRIPTION OF PHOrEKTY

84 11

aUAXTITY. ANX.TALCK.
A. K. P. £ S. d.

Brought forwiu-d 216 1

2 1 Allotment at the Ings .

24 Ditto at Newfield .

29 Ditto at the Moor .

5
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5. To Benjamin Bass, 6s. 8d. rent-charge out of his

tenements in Thorngate.

The whole of the above purchase money, and the

proceeds from the release of Brunskill's property,

amounting to £142, was laid out, with £140 raised on

mortgage, in the purchase of the workhouse, on which

an annual payment of £7 2s. was consequently charged.

The Commissioners for inquiring concerning Charities,

however, state that, from some unexplained cause, only

£3 12s. a year had been paid, which was apparently

exclusive of the £3 10s. from Brunskill's property.

The sum paid is given away at Cliristmas and Easter,

with the charities of Percival and others, in sums vary-

ing from 6d. to 2s.

In the year 1840, the workhouse was sold to Mr.

Bayles, subject to the above charge of £7 23. yearly,

payable on the 2nd day of February. The remaining

purchase money arising from the sale of the old work-

house, viz., £260, was applied in partially liquidating

the proportion of the township of Barnard Castle to-

wards the expense of building the Teesdale Union

workhouse.

Charities of Percival and others.—Robert Percival,

merchant, of Newcastle, a native of Barnard Castle, by

will, December 9, 1729, gave £40 ; Christopher Londs-

dale, March 11, 1747, £40; Peter Waistcll, August 29,

1752, £100; and Dame Elizabeth, widow of Sir Wil-

liam Bowes, in her life-time, £30 to the poor of the

parish. The whole of these sums, with the exception

of £10 of the latter, was laid out on July 1-5, 1785, in

the purchase of a close in Startforth, which is let at £8
a year. This sum is divided amongst the townships in

proportion to their contributions to the church-rate, viz.,

Barnard Castle, £4 9s. 6d. ; Streatlam and Stainton,

£1 8s. 6d.; Marwood, £1 6s. 3d.; and Wcstwick,

15s. 9d.

Emmrrson's Charity.—The Rev. Ezra Emmerson,
by will, December 25, 1733, gave £50 to be placed out

at interest for the poor of Barnard Castle. This sum
formed part of the purchase money of Northfield farm,

Startforth, bought by the governors of Queen Anne's

]5ounty for the augmentation of the living of Barnard

Castle ; and £2 10s. is paid by the incumbent on ac-

count thereof, and distributed with otlier charities as

above.

Sandcrsofi's Charity.—William Sanderson, Esq., by
will, 175—, devised to William Hutchinson, Esq., and

C'hristopher T^onsdale, Gent., his land iu Barnard Cas-

tle, called the Crook, in trust for two poor men of

Barnard Castle and one of Egglcston, to receive and

take the profits thereof to their respective uses for their

natural lives, and, after their deaths, to such other

three poor men as should be named and appointed to

succeed them. The two recipients of this charity be-

longing to Barnard Castle are elected by the vicar of

Gainford, the rector of Romaldkirk, and the rector of

Middleton-in-Teesdale, and the one out of the township

of Eggleston is nominated by the latter rector. Care is

taken to select those who have been in better circum-

stances, but reduced to poverty. The lands described

formed part of the common fields, divided and enclosed

under an act 23 Geo. III. ; the Barnard Castle portion

consisting of two plots of 3 acres each, now let by the

vestrymen at £20 rent; and the Eggleston share, con-

taining 2 A. 3 R. 27 p., let by the poor man himself at

£9 15s, Under the act 35 Geo. III., for enclosing and

allotting Barnard Castle Moor, 8 a. 2 r. 33 p. were set

out in three plots " to the trustees of Sanderson's

charity," and are let together at £8 a year. From the

rents of the Barnard Castle share, and two-thirds of

the allotments, the overseer allows 4s. 6d. a week to two

poor persons of the township, amounting to £23 8s. per

annum. In order to defray the expense of the inclosure,

in 1783, £20 was advanced by William Hutchinson,

Esq., being part of a sum of money left by Lord Vane

and l\Ir. Hutchinson's father for the use of the poor
;

in respect of which the tenant pays (in addition to the

rent) 13s. 4d. annually, and the Eggleston poor man
6s. 8d. The Barnard Castle j)ortion is also subject to a

yearly payment of lis. lid., and the Eggleston jiortion

to 5s. lid., for Acre Money, vested in the church-

wardens and overseers of the poor of Barnard Castle.

According to the act of parliament, passed in 1783,

for enclosing the open fields within the township of Bar-

nard Castle, certain payments called Acre Money are

chargeable for ever on the different allotments, in lieu

of winter eatage ; unless the same are bought at 25

years' purchase, according to the following rates, viz.

6d. for every cattle gait on the town pasture ; Is. 6d.

per acre for the Low field, Middle field. North field,

the Ings, and the New field ; and 2s. per acre for the

Crook. Until such Acre ]\Ioney is purchased, it is to

be vested in the churchwardens and overseers of the

poor of Barnard Castle for the time being, and by them

to be collected from the occupier of each allotment, and

applied in reduction of the poor rates, together with

the interest of the money paid by the proprietors for

the redemption of the Acre Money chargeable on their

respective lands. At the time of the Commissioners'

Inquiry, there was, nearly £1,000 three per cent, con-
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sols derived from this source, the interest of which, and

the Acre Money then payable, amounted to between

£50 and £60 per annum. At present, the unredeemed

Acre Money of the Town Fields (see below) amounts

to £22 16s. 9d. The list, containing the quantity and

amount paid by each person, was revised and printed

in 1843, and is publicly exhibited in the Town Hall.

There is now £975 14s. 8d. invested in the three per

cents, producing £29 5s. 6d. dividend.

Waste Lands.—By the act 35 Geo. III., above

alluded to, it was enacted that Barnard Castle Moor,

containing by estimation 6,000 acres ; the Little Moor,

40 acres ; and Glenton Green and the Baiting Steads,

20 acres, should be sold, and that out of the proceeds

the commissioners, Arthur Mowbray, Joseph Grainger,

and John Bradford, Esqrs., should, in the first place,

pay all the costs of surveying and selling the same, and

of making a high road through the Little Moor ; that

the mortgage on the poor-house should be discharged,

in lieu of which the overseers should pay £6 per

annum to the minister, churchwardens, and vestrymen;

and that the remainder of the money should be placed

in the funds, and the interest, with the £6 above-men-

tioned, distributed to such poor persons, male and

female, as the lord of the manor or his agent, the minis-

ter, churchwardens, and vestrymen, and twelve other

respectable inhabitants should think fit ; such poor per-

sons not receiving alms or parish relief, and so as no

one should receive more than £5 in any one year ; and

it was provided that the oldest poor persons resident

within the said township should be preferred, if other-

wise proper objects of the charity. The boundaries of

the lands were perambulated on the 15th June, 1795
j

and the general award of the commissioners was pub-

lished May 14, 1799.* The net produce of the sale

was invested in the purchase of £^,314 3s. lOd. stock

in the three per cent, consols, in the names of the

minister and churchwardens ; and out of the dividends,

£69 8s. 6d., and the £6 above mentioned, £5 per an-

num is paid to each of eight poor men, £4 per annum

to each of eight poor women, and the remaining £3 8s.

6d. to one old man, the last elected.

Denfs Charity.—John Dent the elder, of Bright-

well, Berkshire, clock-maker, on April 29 andoO, 1706,

assigned to trustees certain premises in Stepney for the

education of poor boys born in the town of Barnard

• One-sixteenth of the soil and the mines were reserved to the

Earl of Darlington, as lord of the manor. There was allotted to Bar-

nard Castle 2,698 A. 2 e. 6 p. ; Streatlam and Stainton, "G3 a. 3r.

44 p.; Langley Dale, 29 A. 3 b. Up. ; Eggleston, 40 a. 3a.38 p. ; and

Marwood Park, 1,140 A. 2 B. 2 p ; total, iM^ acres.

Castle. Previous to 1749, the sum of £133, raised by

the sale of those premises, had been placed at interest,

and is now in the hands of Benjamin Lee, Esq., who
pays £5 6s. 4d. interest. This sum is paid to the

treasurer of the National School ; and ten poor children,

nominated by the minister and churchwarden, are

taught free of charge.

Charities of Lord Vane and TF. Hutchinson.—Wil-

liam Hutchinson, Esq., on July 30, 1718, gave £20 to

the poor of Barnard Castle ; and William Lord Yane,

Viscount Duncannon, bequeathed £50 to the same

purpose. These two sums form what is called the Wi-

dow's Bread Fund. For the first sum, in respect of

which £1 per annum is received as interest, see Sander-

son's Charity. The other £50 is in the hands of

Mr. Hutchinson, of Eggleston, who pays £2 2s. yearly

as interest. Seven twopenny loaves are provided every

Sunday, and given to seven poor widows attending

divine service, who are selected by the minister and

churchwardens.

Hutton's Charity.—Matthew Hutton, Gent., by vrill,

November 19, 1726, directed his executors to lay out

£120 in the purchase of lands and tenements, the profits

and rents thereof to be disposed of in buying bread, to

be distributed every Sunday, immediately alter divine

service, amongst the poorer sort of housekeepers or

other poor people of the town of Barnard Castle. In

October of the year 1730, two closes in Startforth,

called Morton Gill Leazes and the Little Moor, con-

taining respectively 10 and 4 acres, were purchased

with this money ; and an allotment was since added,

making 18 a. 2r. 7 p., including Ij acres of underwood.

A small cottage has lately been built on the property

;

and the whole is now let to David Scott at the rent of

£25 a year. In conformity with Mr. Button's wiU,

the value of a proportion of this money is distributed

every Sunday, to 30 poor people, in bread.

The following is an abstract of the charities (exclu-

sive of St. John's Hospital) belonging to Barnard

Castle :

—

Ann. Amount.

"William Sanderson, Esq., for two poor men - - - £23 8

From waste lands, for nine poor men and eight poor

women -------------- 75 86
Matthew Hutton, Esq,, bread for the poor . - - - 25

Viscount Vane, and William Hutchinson, Esq., bread

for seven poor widows --------- 320
Rev. Ezra Emmerson, for the poor ------ 2 10

Glenton's Dole and other charities, do. ----- 720
Charities of Percival and others, do. -..-. 800
Mr. John Dent, educating ten poor boys . . - - 5 6 4

£149 16 10
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Township of Stre.vtlam A:<n Stainton.—John

Bowes, Earl of Strathmorr, by will, July 3, 1817, di-

rected that £25 a year should be charged upon his

Streatlam estate, for the poor of the township. No
ilistributiou, however, has ever been made in respect of

this legacy.

TEESDALE UNION.

The poor-rates in Barnard Castle, under the old poor-

law, were subject to great fluctuations. In 1816, the

rate amounted to £1,651 9s. ; and in the following year,

to £2,788 lis. In 1820, it was £2,198 9s., but fell, in

1821, to £1,547 17s. A rate of 7s. 6d. in the pound,

in 1832, produced £2,300. The poor-house (see Cha-

rities) was situated on the Mains, with a kitchen

garden attached, and contained three looms and a

warping mill, for the employment of such as were able

to work.*

The Tcesdale Union, formed under the provisions of

the New Poor Law Act, is divided into three sub-

districts, viz., Staindrop, Barnard Castle, and Middle-

ton-in-Tccsdale.

The Staindrop subdistrict contains the parish of

Cockfield, including the townships of Cockfield and

Woodland ; Staindrop parish, including Langley Dale

and Shotton, Raby and Keverston, Staindrop, Wackcr-

field, Hilton, and Ingleton ; part of Gainford parish,

including Morton Tynemouth, Langton, Headlam,

Gainford, and Cleatlam ; Winston parish ; and the

township of Barforth, in Forcett parish. West Gilling

wapentake. North Riding of Yorkshire.

The Barnard Castle subdistrict contains the township

of Ovington, or Ovingham, in Forcett parish ; the

parish of Wycliffc ; the township of Hutton Jlagna, in

the parish of that name ; the townships of Barningham,

Scargill, and Hope, in the parish of Barningham ; the

parish of Brignall ; the parish of Rokeby ; the parish

of Startforth, including the townships of Startforth with

Eggleston Abbey, and Boldrnn ; the parish of Bowes,

including the townships of Bowes and Gillnianby; and

Lartington, in the parish of Romaldkirk, all in the

• During a storm of tlnjiulcr and lightning, Sept. 2, 1824, the

electric iluiil pas.suddown one oftheehimnevsof tViis establishruent. It

came out of the fire-place of the first story; and though some old men
were sitting round the fire, it did not hurt them, except striking ont

deaf a little time. It then proceeded to the next room, tore the plas-

tering from the wall, ploughed up the boards for two yards or more,

a(id passed under the feet of an old woman who was sitting on an iron

budste.ad, yet did her no harm. Having descended to the lower story,

it played round the room in the most astonishing manner, leaving

VOL. II.

North Riding of Yorkshire ; with part of the parish of

Gainford, including the townships of Whorlton, West-

wick, Barnard Castle, Stainton with Streatlam, and

Marwood.

The Middleton subdistrict includes the remainder of

Romaldkirk parish, comprising the townships of Cother-

ston, Hunderthwaite, Romaldkirk, Mickleton, Lune-

dale, and Holwick ; and Middleton-in-Teesdale parish,

including the townships of Middleton-in-Teesdale, Eg-
glestone, Newbiggin, and Forest with Frith.

The entire union comprises an area of 174,162 acres,

of which 95,297 are in Yorkshire. The population, on

the Yorkshire side of the Tees, in 1851, was 5,662,

consisting of 2,776 males and 2,886 females ; and in

Durham, there were 7,021 males and 7,130 females, or

14,151 on the Durham side. Thus, the entire popula-

tion of the union was 19,813.

The expenditure of the townships forming this union

averaged, during the three years preceding its forma-

tion in 1847, £7,812 per annum. The following is the

yearly expenditure (exclusive of the cost of building

the workhouse) since that period, as shewn in yearly

financial reports, printed and circulated by the board

of guardians :

—

Year ending March & s. d. Year ending March £ s. d.

1838 4976 2 9 1847 4963 3 4

1839 5338 12 1848 4717 10 10

1840 5343 9 2 1849 4720 3 5

1841 6216 16 1850 5198 3 5

1842 5285 1 3 1851 4407 17 1

1843 5652 4 6 1852 4065 8 9

1844 5285 I U 1853 4183 11 8

1845 5497 8 2 1854 4171 8 4

1846 5324 10 7

The workhouse is situated in Galgate, and admits

160 inmates on a fourfold system of classification. It

has a fever ward and a vagrant ward attached. The
children are educated in the National School of the

town. In addition to the above expenditure, the

guardians have laid out in this and other buildings,

during the above years, about £3,500. A building

debt on the workhouse is now entirely liquidated.

Dietary Table.—The following " amended dietary

marks of its power. From thence it went through the wall into the

back kitchen, where it knocked one man down ; and though the mis-

tress of the house and a girl were nearly i» a line with it, they only

felt its effects a few hours. A person in the kitchen said he dis-

tinctly saw it go out of the door in the form of a ball of fire. When
the master went into the rooms to look after the old people, the sul-

phur was so strong that he could scarcely enter ; and although above

20 persons were in the house at the time, providentially none were

matciiuily hurt.
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tabic" for the paupers in the workhouse was adopted

hy the guardians on the 4th of January, 1854, and re-

ceived the sanction of the Poor Law Board on the 20th

February following :

—

Breakfast.—Men, 1 pint of coffee sweetened, and

milk, with 8 oz. of bread. Women, coffee as the men,

with 6 oz. of bread.

Dinners.—Sunday and Thursday, men, 6 oz. of

cooked meat, with 1 lb. of potatoes or other vegetables ;

women, 5 oz. of meat, with 1 lb. of potatoes, &c. Mon-

day and Friday, men, \\ pint of hash or peas or other

soup, 4 oz. of bread, and 1 lb. of potatoes or other ve-

getables; women, hash and vegetables same as men,

with 3 oz. of broad. Tuesday, men, 4 oz. of bread,

and IJ pint of boiled rice milk, sweetened with sugar

or treacle ; women, 3 oz. of bread, and boiled rice, &c.,

same as men. Wednesday and Saturday, men and

women, 14 oz. of suet pudding with treacle sauce.

Suppers.—Sunday and Thursday, men, 8 oz. of

bread, and \\ pint of broth; women, 6 oz. of bread,

and 1 pint of broth. Monday, Tuesday, and 'Wednes-

day, men 1 \ pint, and women 1 pint of oatmeal por-

ridge, with 1 gill of milk or 1 oz. of treacle and water.

On Friday and Saturday, in lieu of supper, \\ pint of

broth for men, and 1 pint for women, is added to the

dinner.

The aged and infirm are, at the discretion of the

guardians, allowed at supper, in lieu of the oatmeal

porridge or bread and broth at that meal, half an oz. of

tea, together with 4 oz. of butter and 4 oz. of sugar per

week. At the like discretion, 5 lb. of prepared peas

pudding may be substituted for potatoes occasionally

on Sundays and Thursdays, and \\ pint of milk and

oatmeal porridge substituted for any breakfast or sup-

per meal. Children under 9 years of age are dieted at

discretion; above 9 and under 16, they are allowed the

same quantities as women.

• The whole of the population on the banks of the Tees, above

Barnard Castle, says Mr. M. A. Denhara, " are designated Ilee-landers

(that is, Highlanders) by the lower orders of the masculine gender in

the above-named town, between whom and their more civilized neigh-

bours a deadly, or at least an extremely pugnacious and bloody feud,

has existed far beyond the period of living memory. The WTiter re-

collects, once upon a time, being eye-witness to one of those periodi-

cal uproars, which generally occuri'ed at every fair and hiring holdeu

at Barnard Castle ; and being at that period only a t/otmp youth, he

was, he full well remembers, most dreadfully alarmed ! The Barnard

Castle tammy-weavers were, however, no match for the stout, healthy,

brawnv lads of Mickleton and Middleton, Forest and Frith ; it being

a well-known fact that it was no uncommon occurrence to see from at

least three, to as many as six tammy-wcavers, all set, like as many

butchers' dogs, upon one Ilee-lander, who, notwithstanding the serious

MARKETS, FAIRS, COURTS, &c.

A MARKET is held in Barnard Castle every Wednesday

during the year; and annual fairs take place on Easter

and Whit-Wednesdays, for pedlery, &c., and on Mag-

dalen eve and day, for horses, cattle, and sheep. The

Easter and Magdalen fairs,* which had fallen into

disuse for many years, were, after several fruitless

attempts, revived in 1850, when a communication

was received from the Duke of Cleveland, lord

of the manor, announcing that his grace had con-

sented to waive his claim of tolls upon all animals exhi-

bited. Since that time, the boundaries of the fair are

perambulated, on each occasion, by the jury and bailiff

of the manor court, accompanied by the constables of

the township, armed with battle-axes and other ancient

weapons, and preceded by a band of music. The

shows of cattle and horses, and the attendance of buyers

and sellers at both fairs, are good. A foitnightly fair

for cattle is also held on alternate Wednesdays. The

tolls of the fairs and markets are farmed under the

Dulie of Cleveland.

The borough was anciently governed by the lord's

immediate officers, and courts were regularly held be-

fore their stewards.f In 1621, Sir Talbot Bowes, Knt.,

was steward for the crown. In the orders, commencing

the 21st of October in that year, the following occur :

—

" The farmers of the common bakehouse shall have 2d.

for every bushell, instead of as heretofore three halfpence

and a service worth a halfpenny."—" AVhereas hereto-

fore men of turbulent spirits and evill disposed have

commenced divers actions and suits in high andforraine

courts for small and trivial causes,—ordered, that all

trespasses shall be settled by two persons elected of the

jury, or else by fower honest men dwelling within the

burrow, who shall assesse the damage ; and if the

party trespased on refuse, &c., he shall commence his

odds agamst him, often proved the conqueror ! Occasionally, when
the Barney-Cassellcrs could muster sufficiently powerful, they used to

visit Middleton on a fair day, where their temerity generally met its

due reward ; for they invariably returned home not only worsted, buj

covered with blood and bruises, and occasionally, also, with broken

bones!—Although an occasional outbreak may now take place once

in the course of two or tliree years. I am happy to say that (iu the

middle of the nineteenth century) a more quiescent spirit is possessing

it.self of the Dariiey-Casscl and Tcesdale bodies, and these semi-feudal

outbreaks are fast wearing away."

t " His Highnesse Coui-t Lcet and Court Baron held at B.ar-

nard Castle, the day of , anno D'ni 1G27, for the Rt. Houble

Sir Henry Vane, Knight, Controuler of his Majcstie's Household, and
of his Maj'iex Most Hon^'e Privy Councell ; Marke Shafto, Esq., High
Steward."

—

Hurtei-s.
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suite for the trespass in this his Majestie's Burrow Qourt,

and in no other forraine court, if the trespass so assessed

do not exceed the sum in which this his Highness

Burrow Count can hold plea, on paine of 39s. lid.

April 6, 1627."—" None to buy any wood, either green

or dry, which is stolen : for every burthen forfeit to the

lord of the manor, 3s. 4d."

April 11, 1634. " Noe person or persons whatsoever

doe henceforth scolde one another, onpayne of 6s. 8d."

April 1-5, 1637. " None to suffer any corne to be

sold within their houses by foreigners before the ringing

of the corne-bell ; paync 6s. 8d."—" No tanners to buy

any neate-hydes on the market-day till the same be layd

forth in the usual place ; payne 3s. 4d. Noe glovers,

shoemakers, or tanners to sett forth any ware till the

ringing of the tollbooth-bell. No walker or fuller shall

combe or raise any cloth with woolen cards; payne

3s. 4d. No bleacher shall put any lyme to the bleach-

ing of cloth ; payne 3s. 4d. None that hath any egress

or outgates, to suffer goods or wares to be carried forth

to defraud the towler ; payne 12d."—" The constables

t.hall provide weights and measures according to the

king's standard, to be kept in the toolbooth, that all

having cause to use them may repair unto them."—" It

is ordained that the constables do yearly, at the com'on

charge of the towne, keep a crow-nett, and see the same

employed for the destruction of crows and vermine,

according to the statute, upon j'aine of xs."—" The
constable shall yearly, at the head Court at Michael-

mass, bring the common armour, crow-nets, and all

other things, &c., to the toolbooth to be viewed by the

jury."—" No inhabitants of this burrowe shall suffer

any single woman, except their hired servants, to dwell

in any of their houses, except she be such as by age,

sickness, or other impediment, is not able to worke or

make service ; payne x«." Other orders relate to carry-

ing fire in the streets, and placing straw near a fire-

place. An order is inserted against the entertainment

of any "straingcr or forainer as inmates or under-

settlers ;" and a list of sub-tenants was to be furnished,

" that such persons as arc not able to maintain them-

selves may be knownc, and such order taken as the

town or com'on may be eased, and no way pestered,

on payne 3s. 4d."—" No constable of this burrow, upon

7naking any affray, blood-shedding, or weapons drawne,

f;hall not suffer such a person to depavte forth of his

Highness House, untill he find security for his peace,

and find a sufiicient man to answer his Highness Court

for blood, 3s. 4d."—" None to call another theefe,

rogue, villain, or words of defamac'on that will bear

action at common law, and cannot prove them; pain

6s. 8d."

Sept. 30, 1639 " No butcher shall hereafter kill any

bull but two years old or above, untill he be first

brought to the ring to be sufficiently baited
;
pain xs."

Sept. 27, 16.53. " Ordered, that with the consent of

the Rt. Honble Sir Henry Vane and his learned steward,

that, whereas there is a passage made out of Barnard

Castle moate, and a way made which hath not been of

old into the Flatts, and the tenants and farmers of the

Flatts is thereby damnified ; whoever shall goe that

way shall pay, toties quoties, for a horseman 3s. 4d.^

and Is. for a footman."

Sept. 20, 1655. " No person shall make any building

or lay any rubbidge that may doe harme to the castle

wall, or the ground within the walls
;
pain 2s. 6d."

May 12, 1674. " No person shall keep any unrea-

sonable mongrell doggs or mastiffs unmuzzled in the

street; pain 3s. 4d."

Oct. 29, 1707. "Whereas the town of Barnard

Castle hath been anciently reputed for tanning of good

leather, and for preservation of the same ; ordered, that

no tanner sell, stall, or expose any bellies or wombs of

hides not well and sufficiently tanned and dressed

;

pain 5s."

1712-13. " "Whereas there has been complaint that

some of the former Grand Juries have revealed their

fellows' secrets, which is not only a breach of their

oath, [but] which often makes heart-burnings among

the neighbours, therefore, &c. ; pain. 13s. 4d."

The Court Baron of the Duke of Cleveland is held

in October every year : Mr. Binning, of Staindrop, is

the present steward.

The Police Station is situated in Hall Street. Petty

Sessions are held on the first Wednesday of every

month, at which the Rev. George Dugard, T. S.

Edger, M.D., William John Sawry Morritt, Esq., of

Rokeby Park, and other magistrates, attend.

The Barnard Castle County Court for the recovery of

small debts comprises in its district Cleatlam, Cockfield,

Eggleston, Forest and Frith (with Harwood), Gainford,

Headlam, Hilton, Inglcton, Langley Dale and Shot-

ton, Langton, Marwood, Miildlcton-in-Teesdale, Mor-

ton Tynemouth, Raby and Keverstone, Staindrop,

Streatlam with Stainton, Wackerfiold, Whorlton, Win-

ston with Newsham, and Woodland. Assistant clerks,

Messrs. Watson ; deputy bailiff, John Lax.

On the passing of the Reform Bill, Barnard Castle

was appointed one of the polling places for the Southern
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Division of the county of Durham. It is the centre of

a revising barrister's district, which includes the follow-

ing townships ;

—

Barnard Castle, Cleatlam, Cockfield, Gainford, Headlam, Hilton,

Iiigleton, Langley Dale and Shotton, Langton, LjTiesai-k and Softlcy.

Marwood, Morton Tyiieniouth, Raby and Keverston, Staiiidrop-

Streatlam and Staiuton, Wackcrfield, Westwick, Whorlton, Winston

(including Newsham), and Woodland.

After the Durham militia was disbanded at the peace,

the staff was stationed at Barnard Castle ; and the an-

nual musters of the South Durham militia are now held

at this place.* (See vol. i., page 156.)

MANUFACTURES, TRADE, &c.

The chief trades formerly carried on in Barnard Castle

were tanning, dyeing, and stocking weaving. Flax-

spinning by machinery was commenced by Mr. Tho-

mas Porthouse, who afterwards removed to Coatham

• Captain Robeet Kipling.—TMs veteran soldier enlisted into

the 43rd light infantry as a private in 1772, having previously served

three years in the Durham Militia. He was with the regiment at the

battle of Bunker's Hill, and through the whole of the ten years Ame-

rican war. Having by his merits raised himself to the rank of captain,

he was allowed to sell his commission ; but was appointed, at his wish,

extra recruiting officer, which service he performed for many years.

On his retirement, he received a sword with the following inscription

on the blade and the scabbard :—" To Capt. Robert Kipling, this

gword is presented by his brother officers, as a small token of their

sincere regard, and of the high sense they entertain of his meritorious

services during a period of thirty-five years, in the different ranks of

private, corporal, sergeant, sergeant-major, adjutant, ensign, lieute-

nant, and captain in his majesty's 43rd light infantry regiment." He
died at Barnard Castle, where he had for some tmie resided, on the

2d of December, 1830.

t In the great fiood of 1771, tlie water penetrated into some cellars

occupied by a dyer at the south end of the bridge. A few pieces of

tammies were in the kettle at the time, receiving their last process

;

but the operator, not chusing to run the risk of destruction by at-

tempting to remove them, retreated with the utmost celerity. After

the torrent had subsided, the man with groat anxiety visited the ket-

tle ; when, on removing the sand and mud, the pieces were found to

have attained a colour beyond his most sanguine expectations. The

articles were sent to London, and gave such satisfaction that orders

were forwarded for a further supply of the same shade ; but the un-

lucky dyer, not being again assisted by the Genius of the river, failed

in every subsequent attempt to produce it.

It is a rule in this trade to take boys as apprentices at 14 years of

age, upon the understanding that the boy shall allow to his master 25

per cent, out of his earnings ; and, taking the earnings at an average

of 89. per week for the first three years, and 12s. per week for the re-

maining four years, assuming the time worked to average 40 weeks a

year, it follows that the boy pays a premium of £36 for learning his

business. The difficulties and grievances of the workmen generally

were explained in the following letter from two of the body to the su-

permtending inspector of the General Board of Health:

—

" 1st, That they believe irregular employment to be one greiit cause

of both the moral and physical degradation of large numbers of their

Mundeville. The woollen trade, which had been then

established, begau to decline in 1790. A little cotton

trade was also carried on for a k\v years ; and, in the

early part of the present century, the manufacturing of

carpets was commenced by Mr. Thomas Crampton, who

was for some time very successful, and realized a hand-

some competency. In the latter part of his life, however,

reverses in business took place, and he eventually died

in the workhouse. During Mr. Crampton's prosperity,

several other establishments were commenced in the

same line ; and, for many years, the staple manufacture

of the town has been that of carpets, in imitation of

those made at Brussels and Kidderminster, in the

dyeing of which the waters of the Tees were formerly

supposed to impart a peculiar brilliancy of colour. f The

business is now carried on in Barnard Castle by Messrs.

Joshua C. Monkhouseand Sons, of Thorngate Mill, who
employ a considerable number of workmen.+ In the

body, who are often out of employment from two to six days, and in

some cases even longer; and owing to there being no place of public

amusement, the time is too often spent in public houses, where both old

and young come in contact with the worst characters, which in the end

leads to the ruin of numbers. Again, after haviiig stood so long for a

warp, we are obliged to work very long hours (often from 6 a.m. to 10

P.M.), which, with the scanty fare we are obliged to subsist on in con-

sequence of being so long out of work, tends very much to the injury

of ourphysical constitution. There is, however, another cause for long

hours besides our own necessities,—orders often come in, and the time

is so short, that it is impossible to execute them without working
tluough the whole night; the loom is thus kept going by two men,
the one relieving the other at stated times. This system is acted on in

very many shops in the carpet trade, and is most injurious to the

health of those engaged in it, producing disease of a serious nature.

We believe competition to be the cause of this ; some merchants wiU
go to the shop where they know the goods can be produced in a shorl

time, and we believe a more ruinous system of competition is not car-

ried on in any district than our employers, Messrs. Monkhouse and
Sons, have had to contend with; fur, in addition, they have had to

contend against parties in this town who have carried on a system oi"

prolonged and even life apprentieeships.

" In those districts where long hours, and shift or night work has
been given up, the practice has proved beneficial both to the employer
and employed ; no orders are taken where shift work is required, and
consequently, every man sticks to his own loom ; the work is regular,

and therefore better wages earned.

' A public play-ground and baths are much wanted ; the one would
keep parties from the ale-house, the other tend to personal cleanliness.

Again, juvenUe intemperance, we do think, ought to be stopped, by
prohibiting the ale-house keepers from harbouring youths ; a practice,

which, we are sorry to say, is carried on to a great extent, and is the
cause of great immorality and wickedness, gambling, &c. AVe would
also suggest the propriety of obliging apprentices to attend a school
after work hours until they arrive at the age of 17 or IS ; and this, w;
think, might be done by making it part of the agreement between their
employers and parents

; and for the purpose of encouraging the youths
themselves, prizes might be distributed at the end of their apprentice-
ship to those who had been most attentive scholars, most industrious
at work, and of the best moral character. In conclusion, we hope the
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j»vcat industrial display in 1851, this firm exhibited

carpets of Kidderminster fabric, cumber and point

styles, and Dutch fabric carpets, warp made from silk

noils.

An extensive manufacture of shoe thread is carried

on by Messrs. Ullathorne and Longstaff, at the Bridge

End and in Marwood. Messrs. Steele, tanners and

curriers, have also a large establishment. Barnard Castle

contains a number of smiths, machine-makers, joiners,

braziers, and other mechanics. There are several corn-

mills in the town and vicinity. The principal streets

contain many good shops, belonging to grocers, flour-

dealers, drapers, &c. ; and there are three printing offices.

The newspaper now called The Darlington and Stock-

ton Times was commenced at this town in 1847, and

removed to D.irlington in 1848. There are in the

township several wine, spirit, and porter merchants, a

brewery, 28 licensed inns and public-houses, four beer-

shops, and a spirit-bar.*

The bank of ^Messrs. Backhouse and Co., of Dar-

lington, Mr. J. C. Monkhouse, manager; the Darlington

District Banting Company, Mr. Thomas Caldwell,

manager; and the National Provincial Bank of England,

Mr. George Pippet, manager, have each a branch in

the Market Place, Barnard Castle. There are branches

of several fire and life insurance companies in the

town.

A Saeinfis Bank vfis established April 13, 1816. In

18.32, the total amount deposited was between £9,000

and £10,000. Since that time, the numberof depositors

and the sums deposited have gradually increased. In

the report for 1854, T. Richardson, Esq., actuary, there

were 530 depositors, and four charitable societies ; the

amount being £15,080 lis. 5d., with a surplus fund of

£250, making a total of £15,330 lis. 5d. The de-

positors w-erc

—

8 under £1
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for contingencies, has been estimated by the engineer at£7",191 ;
and

there is every reason to believe, tjom the configuration of the country,

that this sum will be ample.

" The proposed railway will pass from Darlington up a rich and

fertile country, and will afford every facility to the important villages

on the route, is within a short distance of Staindrop, and terminates

in the town of Barnard Castle, which contains important manufac-

tories, and is one of the best market towns in the North of England.

It will extend to the borders of upper Teesdale, receiving the traffic 1

&om its numerous lead mines, together with ironstone, freestone,

limestone, slates and flags, which abound, and require only railway

communication to convey them to market, and augment the produc-

tion of this extensive district. A large coal traffic may be expected,

not only from the population upon and contiguous to the line, but

from the inhabitants of the eastern part of Westmoreland, who now

have recourse to cart conveyance to obtain a supply of the Durham

coal, and who will then be able to resort for this article to the depots

at Barnard Castle."

Resolutions in approval of the scteme -were adopted

at a meeting of the inhabitants of the town and district,

held in the Witham Testimonial, November 3, 1852;
j

and a bill for the construction of the railway was intro-

duced into parliament in 1853. But the scheme not

having met with the approval of the Duke of Cleveland,

one of the greatest landholders in the district, it was

opposed before a committee of the House of Commons,

H. Baillie, Esq., chairman, during a prolonged sitting

often days; one of the objections being that the width

upon which it was proposed to make the formation level

of the railway was only 15 feet, and consequently
j

unsafe.* The bill was ultimately rejected.

In the mean time, the project of a railway from Bar-
\

nard Castle to Bishop Auckland was revived ("see

vol. i., p. 565). The York, Newcastle, and Berwick

Railway Company, the West Hartlepool Harbour and

Railway Company, and the Sunderland Dock Company,

though having distinct interests, united in giving their

support to this line, and each took powers to subscribe

£30,000 towards carrying out the undertaking, which

was further supported by petitions from Durham, New-

castle, Sunderland, and Hartlepool, from the bishop

and the dean and chapter, and from numerous persons

on the line ; and it was also urged in its favour that

it rendered probable an extension of the line westward,

* A petition from the trustees of turnpike roads and the surveyors

of public highways, in the district, showed that the proposed railway

would cross the several turnpikes and roads at the places following,

on a level, namely—the public highway from Cockerton to Harrow-

gate, in the township of Cockerton ; the turnpike from Darlington to

West Auckland, in the said township of Cockerton (by the same road

being raised 10 feet by an embankment) ; the turnpike from Cocker-

ton to Staindrop, in the tomiship of High Coniscliffe ; the turnpike

from Piercebridge to West Auckland, partly in the township or

hamlet of Carlbury, and partly in the township of Piercebridge ; the

turnpike from Stockton to Barnard Castle, in the said township of

so as to form a direct communication between Sunder-

land on the east and Liverpool on the west coasts.

On the other hand, in the opinion of the promoters

of the original measure, as expressed in a memorial to

the Duke of Cleveland from the Stockton Chamber of

Commerce, such a railway as that from Barnard Castle to

Darlington "would confer great benefits upon the port of

Stockton ; whilst a line of railway from Barnard Castle to

Auckland by Haggerleazes would tend to divert the traffic

from the ports of the Tees (the natural sources and out-

lets of the commerce of the Tees valley, and much of

the southern division of the county of Durham) to the

ports of the Wear and the Tyne." A committee was

also formed in Barnard Castle, November 8, 1853, to

oppose the Auckland line, which was described as "un-

likely to remunerate shareholders, and inconvenient and

circuitous in its route to the main line of communica-

tion (viz., the York, Newcastle, and Berwick railway),

and to the natural ports of the district, and for these

and other reasons is not only not adapted to meet the

wants of this town, but likely to prove injurious to its

interests." At the meeting at which this proceeding

took place, it was announced that the opposition of the

Duke of Cleveland had been withdrawn.

Both projects came before a select committee of the

House of Commons, consisting of Mr. T. Egerton, Lord

Lovaine, Mr. Adderley, Mr. Lochkart, and Mr. A'Court.

After hearing evidence on the Barnard Castle and Auck-

land line, they proceeded with that on the Darlington

and Barnard Castle railway on the 30th of March, 1854.

Their sittings were continued on the following day, and

on the 3rd, 4th, 5th, and 7th of April, during which the

witnesses examined were, T. E. Headlam, Esq., M.P.

for Newcastle ; the Rev. T. Witham ; Joshua C. Monk-

house, Esq. ; William Ullathorne, Esq., of London

;

Mr. Tarn, of London ; Mr. John Badcock, and Mr.

Joseph Di.Kon, of Barnard Castle ; Mr. John Wright-

son, coach proprietor, Darlington ; Mr. Thomas Harri-

son, carrier, Barnard Castle ; Mr. John Anderson, of

Middlesborough, contractor ; Isaac ^Vilson, Esq., of

the firm of Gilkes, Wilson, and Co., of the same place

;

Piercebridge (by the same road being raised 7 feet by an embank-

ment) ; and also twice in the township of Gainford, which said last-

mentioned turnpike road and proposed railway run alongside of and

near to for a considerable distance, and intersects four times within a

space of 4 miles, the public highway from Gainford to Ingleton, in

the said ton-nsliip of Gainford, and the Bowes and Sunderland Bridge

Turnpike Road ; and the public highway from Barnard Castle to

Egglestone, in the township of Barnard Castle. Also, that the said

crossings and proximity of the proposed railway will be highly dan-

gerous, inconvenient, and injurious to the public passing along the

said several turnpike roads and public highways.
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Messrs. George and James Graham and Mr. Edward

Potter, colliery viewers ; Mr. Christopher Hartley,

quarryman, Staindrop; Mr. Mark Sherlock, Middleton-

in-Teesdale; Mr. Isaac Cape Cust, surgeon, Barnard

Castle; Thomas Bouch, Esq., engineer of the line;

Messrs. Blythe and Hawkshaw, civil engineers ; Mr.

Brown, under steward of the Earl of Harewood ; Mr.

John Outhwaite, of Baincsse, near Catterick ; Mr. G.

P. Harrison, solicitor, Forcett; Mr. Thompson Richard-

son, solicitor, Barnard Castle ; Mr. MacNay, secretary

of the Stockton and Darlington Railway Company ; and

Joseph Pease, Esq. On behalf of the Auckland line,

Ralph Ward Jackson, Esq. ; John Vaughan, Esq., of the

firm of Bolckow and Vaughan ; Mr. Lax ; W. T.

Scarth, Esq. ; and Mr. Booth, were examined. Evi-

dence was also heard on the Stockton and Darlington

Railway (Haggerleazes Branch) Bill ; and the opinion

of the committee was, that the preamble of the Stockton

and Darlington bill was proved ; that the preamble of

the Barnard Castle and Bishop Auckland bill was not

proved ; and that the preamble of the Darlington and

Barnard Castle bill was proved; thus deciding the

subject on the merits of the respective schemes, and

not on a point of the standing orders, as stated at page

5G6 of vol. i.

The intelligence of this decision was telegraphed, on

the same day, to Darlington ; and a great number of

the inhabitants of Barnard Castle assembled on the road

to meet the expected messenger from the former place.

The wished-for tidings at length arrived ; and a pro-

cession was formed, with banners and music ; a cere-

mony which was repeated on the following evening,

when the directors of the successful railway arrived

from London.

The select committee of the House of Lords on the

Darlington and Barnard Castle railway bill met on the

19th June, 1854 ; it consisted of Lord Panmure (chair-

man), the Earl of Ilchester, the Bishop of Carlisle,

Lord Wynford, and Lord Hamilton. The petitioning

land-owners against the measure were W. Surtees

Raine, Esq., Messrs. Smurthwaite, Hunter, Topham,

and others. The principal arguments of their counsel

were directed to show the fallacious character of the

company's traffic case ; but as the opinion of the com-

mittee appeared to be made up on that subject, the

opposition was withdrawn ; and the preamble of the

bill was declared to be proved. It received the royal

assent on the 3rd July, 1854, and is intituled " An Act

to make a Railway from the Stockton and Darlington

Railway, near Darlington, to or near to Barnard Castle,

both in the county of Durham, and to make arrange-

ments with the Stockton and Darlington Railway Com-
pany, and for other purposes."—17 and 18 Vic, c. 115.

The ceremony of cutting the first sod of the railway

took place, amidst great rejoicings, on the 27th July,

1854. A procession was formed, consisting of the

Grand United Order and the Manchester Unity of Odd
Fellows, the Ancient Order of Foresters, the Free Gift

Club, the chairman and officers of the company, and a

large assemblage of the inhabitants of Barnard Castle,

Darlington, Stockton, and other towns. The ceremony

was performed by the Rev. T. Witham, chairman of

the committee, and repeated by Heniy Pease, Esq.,

vice-chairman, by both of whom appropriate addresses

were delivered.

It is anticipated that the railway will be opened in

November, 1855. The present directors are, the Rev.

Thomas Witham, Lartington Hall ; H. Pease, J. Bow-

man, J. Buckton, T. MacNay, and R. Thompson,

Esqrs., Darlington ; Owen Longstaff, Isaac C. Cust,

J. C. Monkhouse, and J. D. Holmes, Esqrs., Barnard

Castle. Treasurers, Messrs. J. and J. W. Pease

;

solicitors, Messrs. Mewburn and Co., Darlington,

and ]\Ir. Richardson, Barnard Castle ; secretary, Mr.

George Brown, Barnard Castle ; contractor, Mr.

Anderson. The capital of the company is £100,000,

with the usual borrowing powers. The length of the

line, which passes from Darlington, by Piercebridge,

Gainford, AVinston, Staindrop, and Newsham, to Bar-

nard Castle, is 15 i miles; and the estimated cost of

construction, &c., including law expenses, is only about

£7,000 per mile. The Barnard Castle terminus is near

Galgate.

The district west of Barnard Castle is an immense

grazing territory of several miles area, extending far

into Westmoreland. The corn-growing district has its

boundary a little east of Barnard Castle. The railway

will be of great advantage in conveying cattle from the

west to the great consuming districts of the iron-fields,

the West Riding of Yorkshire, and London, and facili-

tate the transmission of grain to the grazing districts,

where it is wanted. It will give an impetus to the

manufactures of Barnard Castle, and open out to tourists

the splendid scenery of Tecsdalc, as well as the mineral

resources of that lovely dale in lead, iron-stone, and

mountain limestone; conveying the latter to ]Middlcsbro'

as a flux. It will also take the celebrated magnesian

building lime westward, cheapen the transit of coal to

Barnard Castle and westward, and generally open to

the great highways of the land, and to commercial
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enterprise, a wide and rich district liitlicrto entirely

locked up.

The people of Westmoreland and Cumberland are

now actively engaged in promoting a line from the

Lancaster and Carlisle Railway, near Penrith, to the

Barnard Castle terminus of the Darlington and Barnard

Castle Railway, thus uniting the German Ocean and

the Irish Sea. There is every reason to believe that

this new project will succeed. If it does, the Darling-

ton and Barnard Castle Railway will become one of the

most important lines in the kingdom.

SANITARY CONDITION.

In the year 1847, when alarming accounts of Asiatic

cholera reached England, a committee of the guardians

of the Tcesdale Union was appointed, under the Nui-

sances Removal Act, to visit Barnard Castle. Thsy

found it abounding in nuisances of a very unwholesome

kind ; but, though some temporary remedies were

adopted, the powers of the act were found insufficient

for the sanitary requirements of the place. The Public

Health Act, 11 and 12 Vic, c. 6-3, having been passed

in 1848, a petition, duly signed by more than one-tenth

of the rated inhabitants of the town, was presented to

the General Board of Health ; and W. Ranger, Esq.,

superintending inspector, was appointed to make the

necessary pi'climinary inquiry as to the necessity for an

application of the act to the town. In the mean while,

in August, 1849, the cholera visited Barnard Castle,

where its effects were appalling. Mr. Ranger's first

sitting took place on the ITth of October, in the Witham

Testimonial, and was continued on four following days,

during which he received much information from the

Ven. Archdeacon Ileadlam ; the Rev. G. Dugard,

A.M., perpetual curate; Rev. T. Jones, sub-curate;

Dr. Edger, and Messrs. Benning, Kipling, Slader, and

Cust, surgeons ; Messrs. Watson, W. Watson, Richard-

son, Charlton, and Holmes, solicitors; Messrs. Long-

staff and J. C. Monkhousc, manufacturers ; jNIcssrs. J.

Steele, G. Brownlcss, George Brown, clerk to the

Union, and acting secretary to the Sanitary Committee,

and other inhabitants. Mr. Ranger also personally

visited numerous courts, yards, and streets, and ex-

tended his inspection to the sleeping and lodging places

• Startforth is a small but pleasant village and township adjoining

Barnard Castlt bridge, on the Yorkshire side of the Tees. The parir-h,

which includes the township of Uoldron, compri.oes 3,060 acres, and

contained, in 18.51, 16.5 inhabited houses and 6 uninhabited, with a

population of 82S persons, of whom 3JO were males and 438 females.

of the working classes, particularly in those parts where

the epidemic had been most rife.

It was shewn that, in 1841, the proportion of deaths

to the population was 1 to 46, and of births 1 in 27
;

whilst the proportion of deaths from epidemics to the

population was 1 in 197. The average age of all who

had died in the district was 27 years and 6 months,

being one-fourth less than that attained in more healthy

localities. The proportion of deaths to 1,000 of popu-

lation, on an average of 7 years, amounted to 26, being

3 in excess of the average calculation of the Public

Health Act. The cases of fully developed cholera in

the town, in 1849, -were 159 males, of whom 65 died;

and 218 females, of whom 80 died. There were, be-

sides, 1,297 cases of premonitory diarrhoea, from the

24th of August to the 18th of October. The charge of

the union during that time amounted to £530 ; and a

further sum of £400 was raised, in relief of the dis-

tressed, by a subscription among the neighbouring

gentry and inhabitants ; whilst the members of five sick

and burial clubs expended, in a period of about six

weeks, among sick members, £235 19s. lO^d., making

a total of £1,165 19s. 10 jd, exclusive of private dona-

tions.

Mr. Ranger having recommended " that the Public

Health Act, 1848, except the sections numbered 50

and 96 in the copies of that Act printed by her ma-

jesty's printers, should be applied to the township of

Barnard Castle, in the county of Durham," aTi order in

council to that effect was issued. Mr. Ranger, how-

ever, visited Barnard Castle a second time on the 25th

of April, 1851, to determine the boundary of the dis-

trict for the purposes of the act; and after hearing

evidence for and against the extension of the limits of

the township, recommended that the district should

consist of those parts of the townships of Barnard

Castle, Marwood, and vStartforth,* comprised '"' within

the area of the watershel," together with the hall, out-

buildings, and gardens, occupied by the ^Misses Hut-

chinson in Startforth, the woods on the banks of Percy

Brook, and of the Tees as far as the spring called the

Spa, which are sometimes called Flatts Wood, Percy

]5cck Wood, and Marwood Banks or Wood. Also,

" that the Local Board of Health for Barnard Castle

consist of fifteen persons, three of whom shall be chosen

It is included in the Teesdale Union. The church is situated in the

village ; and the living is a vicarage. There were formerly several

first-class schools in Startforth ; but these have been latterly discon-

tinued. The ruins of Egglcstou Abbey, noticed hereafter, are in the

township of Startforth.
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by tlie persons entitled to vote in th.it part of the dis-

trict wliich is within the township of Startforth, and

the remaining twelve by the persons entitled to vote in

the other parts of the district ; and that any person at

the time of his election, and as long as he continue in

office by virtue of the same, he seised or possessed of

real or personal estate, or both, to the value of £600, or

shall be resident and rated to the relief of the poor of

some parish, township, or place, of which some part is

within the said district, upon an annual value of not

less than £20."

Under the powers of the Act, the Local Board ap-

pointed Mr. Ranger their engineer, and have made

considerable progress in cleansing the town from the

filthy state in which the inspector had described it.

Besides providing an abundant supply of water, the

drainage of the town has been considerably improved.

The Board are now engaged in completing the con-

nection of the house drains with the public sewers

;

their attention is also directed to the removal of

nuisances, providing convenient receptacles for house-

refuse, and adopting means of effecting its quick re-

moval, and its profitable application to agricultural

purposes. The narrow courts and yards in the lower

])art of the town are kept purified by water, and the

houses are regularly whitewashed. On the appearance

of cholera in various places, in 185.3, every preventive

means was found to have been taken at Barnard Castle,

and the epidemic did not appear there.

The cost of the application of the Public Health

Act, including the necessary legal powers for the execu-

tion of the works, and the expenses of the second

inquiry for altering the boundaries of the district (by

which house property is relieved from a large portion

of the burthen of the outlying highways, and the land

from contribution to the general district rate), was

£116; whereas the cost for an act of parliament would

not have been less than £2,000 : a sum more than suffi-

cient for the drainage of the district.

SUPPLY OF GAS AND WATER.

A JOINT stock company, for supjilying the town with

gas, was established some years ago, under a deed of

co-partnership. The works are situated on the Flatts,

near the Castle. The streets are lighted by means of

82 public lamps, at a charge of £90 per annum. Of
these lights, 64 arc allowed to burn till eleven o'clock

every night except Saturday, when they arc kept open

till twelve ; and the remaining 18 burn till daylight.

VOL. IT.

The price charged to private consumers was originally

10s. per 1,000 cubic feet; but in 1845, it was reduced

to 6s., subject to a discount of Is. to large consumers.

In the ten years ending 1849, 3,052 tons of coals had

been consumed, and 38,913 bushels of coke sold.

Some improvements in the working dcjiartment were

introduced in 1845, the value of which was proved by the

circumstance that, in the preceding year, 222 tons 2

cwt. of coals were required to produce 372,200 cubic

feet of gas; whilst, in 1845, 188 tons 18 cwt. of coals

produced 541,253 cubic feet.

The supply of water for the town was formerly de-

rived from five pumps, from a well called the Demesne
Well, from a few private wells, from roofage, and from

the Tees ; but the quantity, i)articularly in summer,

was frequently insufficient. That derived from the

few wells was hard, varying from 40 to 49 degrees,

besides being liable to adulteration from the percolation

into the wells of the matters of sewers and cesspools, so

that much of the water from this source was absolutely

poisoned. The supply from the Demesne Well was very

scanty; and numbers of persons might be seen around it,

in the summer months, waiting for a supply. The rain

water collected in butts soon became putrid ; whilst, in nu-

merous places, particularly in the majority of yards, there

were neither pumps nor wells of any description. The

river water was generally much discoloured, often thick

and muddy, and always involving great labour and cost

iu carrying by hand or horse to the houses. Thus, it

was necessary for many persons to bring their supply

from a distance of nearly a fifth of a mile.

In 1849, the various sources of supply in and around

the town were examined, with a view to the erection of

water-woiks on a scale of sufficient magnitude for the

town ; and the results of Professor Playfair's analyses of

those submitted to him induced his rcconnnending that

of Stainton Hill. In addition to the superiority of this

water, the configuration of the ground intervening be-

tween it and the town was considered well adapted for

the formation of reservoirs, both with reference to posi-

tion and cost. The water of the Tees was disapproved

by the General Board of Health ; and it was ultimately

determined, on the advice of INIr. Ranger, engineer to

the Local Board of Health, to adopt the springs called

Stoneyhcld, near Strandforth, in the jiarihh of Bowes.

AVorks for drainage and water supply have been

executed simultaneously in Barnard Castle, and of

water supply alone in Startforth, the drainage of

which still remains to be done. The water at Stoney-

kcld is of 3 degrees of hardness, and rises vertically

o
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from the ground in two or three places. These have

been surrounded by puddle dykes, and formed into

two covered wells, with stone work set in cement, and

communicating with each other. From the lower well

(after providing for the supply of two farms) an educ-

tion pipe of earthenware, of 9 inches diameter, has been

laid for 3 miles and 1,533 yards, to an eminence called

Westwood, about a mile from Barnard Castle, where it

is discharged into a covered reservoir, and from thence

brought into the town in iron pipes of 7 inches internal

diameter. The total length of iron pipes, which vary

from IJ to 7 inches in diameter, is 5 miles and 469

yards; making, altogether, 9 miles and 242 yards of

earthenware and iron pipes for the water supply. The

mains and submalns of the sewerage works are of

tubular impermeable stone ware, of diameters varying

from 6 to 15 inches, joined with cement, and imbedded

in puddle. Their total extent is 3 miles and 239 yards.

The cost of the combined works, as nearly as can at

present be ascertained, is £6,000; being £4,100 for

water supply, including land-owners' charges ; and

£1,900 for drainage, including damages, &c.*

The supply of water, though sometimes insufficient

in droughty summer weather for the manufacturing

purposes of the town, is generally very plentiful. It is

beautifully clear, soft, and pleasant to the taste, and

well adapted for drinking, washing, and culinary uses.

It is never exposed to the light from its source at the

spring till it issues from the tap of the consumer. The

unusual operation of cutting up the streets, with the

occasional bursting of pipes, and other inconveniences

incidental to such proceedings, were regarded by some

of the primitive inhabitants with alarm, which was only

dispelled by the successful completion of the undertak-

ing. The highest pressure of the water is about 250

feet, and the lowest about 90 feet.

• The cost of draining the tovm with brick sewers, upon the old

system, -n-ould not have been less than £4,000, taken at the very lowest

estimate.

t So early as 1834, a member of the working classes (a dyer at Bar-

nard Castle), in an essay read to the Mechanics' Institution, said,

"Those manufacturers who are in the habit of using the water as

drawn from the river Tees in dyeing must be aware of the variable re-

sults which are obtained in delicate colours, or in dyei.-.g to pattern

;

for by following exactly the same process, the same shade is only ob-

tained at certain periods ; thus creating vexation and disappointment

to the operative, and certain loss to the manufacturer."

J The Witham Famhy.—llie Withams of ClifTe, now living at

Lartington are descended from a Lincolnshire family, who are supposed

to have derived their name from Witham Common, in the neighbour-

hood of Grantham, or from the river Witham, in the same county.

Robert Wytham, of Grantham, whose wUl bears date December

The total cost for a cottage tenement, for the whole

of the works of water service, drainage, and water

closet, is 2|d. per week; but the rates have been so

arranged that only about l|d. per week will be paid by

the tenant. The advantages of this supply have been

fully appreciated ; and it is now introduced into almost

every house and cottage; 542 tenants being supplied

from 555 service pipes. The works were inspected, in

January, 1853, by Edwin Chadwick, Esq., and Dr.

Southwood Smith, two of the commissioners of the

General Board of Health. On the 14th February,

1854, Mr. Commissioner Lewis visited Barnard Castle,

and, amongst other suggestions, recommended the for-

mation of an additional reservoir in connection with the

water supply.

The water thus brought into the town has been found

very valuable for the dyeing purposes of the carpet

manufacturers. Specimens of the dyes obtained by the

use of the waters of the Tees, even when subjected to a

purifying process, have been compared with those ob-

tained from the new water supply as it issued unfiltered

from the service pipe, and the result has proved the

superiority of the latter in producing intensity and

brightness of colour ; a circumstance which, it is hoped,

will have a favoiu'able effect on the welfare of the

town.f The profits from the sale of water for manu-

facturing purposes, will also tend to lower the rates to

private consumers.

THE WITHAM TESTIMONIAL.

A SUBSCRIPTION library, with about 100 members, was

established in 1824, but has been long extinct. The
Mechanics' Institution was commenced in 1832, chiefly

through the exertions of H. T. M. Witham, Esq., of

Lartington,J and other gentlemen of the district. " The

30, 1440, was grandson of Sir Robert Wytham; he married Mar-

garet, daughter of Richard Skeldenby, and had six sons, the second

of whom, Thomas, was Chancellor of the Exchequer; the third,

William, Dean of Wells ; and the fourth and sLxth, Sir Henry

and Sir Richard, Knights of Rhodes. John, the fifth son, mar-

ried Margaret, daughter of — Barton, of Whembic, and had issue

two sons (from the youngest of whom descended the Withams of

Bretonby and Ledstone) and two daughters. Georp;c, the eldest sou,

married Margaret, daughter and coheiress of John Wawton, of Clifl'c,

and by her (who died in 1479, and is buried at Man field) had three

sons and three daughters. The eldest son, John With.-im, Esq., of

Clilfe and Corneburg, married Agnes, daughter of Sir Thomas Gower,

of Stytnam, Yorkshire, and had a son and two daughters. Thomas, tlie

son, married Cicely, daughter of John Conyers, of Hutton-upon-Wysk,
Yorkshire ; and his son, John, married Eleanor, daughter of James

Fox, Esq., of Thorpe-uudcr-Willow. Their daughter, Margaret, be-

came the wife of Anthony Chater, Esq., of Buttcrby ; and their sou^
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objects that these early patrons of the soicety had in

view," it was observed in the first reiiort, " were, first,

to aflTord to the working classes of Bariaard Castle access

to a good library at an easy rate, and to give to ail

members of the community an opportunity of improving

themselves in those sciences more immediately con-

nected with the different arts they respectively practise

;

and, secondly, to induce them to pursue knowledge as

an amusement, rather than those low and debasing

pleasures that tend only to debilitate the body and

vitiate the mind. Another object of this Institution

was to afford the town and neighbourhood an opportu-

nity to keep pace with the other parts of the kingdom

in their prodigious advancement in literature and

science ; which you must either do or be left behind, as

a gazing-stock to those who have profited more by their

•opportunities."

From the commencement of its existence, this Insti-

tution, notwithstanding the efforts of a few zealous

members, had to struggle against great discouragements.

The working classes generally did not appreciate the

importance of such institutions; religious prejudices, at

that time, prevailed strongly against them ; and the

middle classes gave very partial encouragement, many

keeping altogether aloof. The lectures and meetings

were very thinly attended; and the income scarcely

met the current expenditure, exclusive of books or

Anthony, who married Anne, daughter of John Middleton, Esq., of

Slokcld, Yorkshire, was succeeded by his eldest son, John, who mar-

ried, 1st, Dorothy, daughter and coheiress of William Wycliffe, Esq.,

of Wycliffe -, 2nd, Mary Uudd ; and 3rd, Jane, daughter of Cuthbert

lladeliffe, Esq., of IJlanchland, Northumberland. By his first wife he

had three sons (one of whom became a raonk in Germany) and two

daughters. William, the eldest son and heir, married Anne, daughter

of George CoUingwood, Esq., of Eslington, Northumberland, and had

four sons and three daughters.

During these successive eras in the family history, the Kcformation_

which had gathered proselytes amongst many of the families of landed

gentry in the kingdom, passed lightly over the Withams, who steadily

adhered to the ancient faith. George Witham, Esq., of C'liffe, who
succeeeded William, just mentioned, had, by his wife, Grace, daughter

of Sir Marmaduke Wyvile, liart., of Constable Uurton, Yorkshire,

seven sons and two daughters. George, the second son, became a

Human Catholic bishop and vicar apostolic of the northern district

;

Christopher, fourth son, was a priest ; llobert, fifth son, was president

of the English College at Douay ; and one of the daughters, Dorothy

became a nun. Mr. Witham died in 1G48, and was succeeded by his

eldest son, John, who married, 1st, Elizabeth, youngest daughter of

Edward Standish, Esq., of Standish, Lancashire ; and 2nd, Troth

daughter of— NicholasTempcst, Esq., of nalliwell. William W^itham,

Esq., his eldest son, whose will is dated July 8, 172.3, married, in 1707,

Anne, daughter of Sir Henry Lawson, Bart., of Brough, Yorkshire, by

whom he had five sons, the second of whom, Tliomas, was an M.D. in

Durl'.am, and was buried in St. Oswald's church in 17S6. Henry,

eldest sou and heir of William, had, by his wife, Catherine, daugliter

and cohcii'ess of Anthony Mcaburne, Esq., of I'ontop, two sons and

teachers. From 1839 to 1844, strenuous efibrts were

made, by reducing the working outlay and other re-

forms, to impart stability to the society. In the latter

year, the president, H. T. M. Witham, Esq., expressed

a wish that some appropriate building should be erected

for the purposes of the society. His death, in Novem-
ber of that year, suggested to Messrs. Cust, Monkhouse,

and Brown, three of the members of the Institution,

the propriety of erecting a testimonial to his memory,
which should consist, not of an idle column, but of a

building devoted to some of those benevolent purposes

which he had patronized during his life. They there-

fore convened a meeting of the committee and a few

respectable inhabitants of the town ; and a subscription

was immediately set on foot for the proposed object.

In a short time, £750 was thus raised ; the directors of

the Dispensary (in which Mr. Witham had taken a

great interest) gave £240, on condition of having

accommodation in the building ; and a ladies' bazaar

realized £240 more, which completed the subscription.

The building is situated in the Market Place, and pre-

sents an elegant stone front, two stories in height, in

the Italian style of Grecian architecture. The lower

story is rusticated, with a handsome central door-case,

ornamented with Ionic columns, supporting an entabla-

ture and pediment, and having on each side a circular

arched window. The upper story consists of two Ionic

six daughters. He died in 1771, and was succeeded by his elder son,

William, who married Winifred, daughter of Nicholas Stapleton,

Esq., of Carlton; but dying without issue, August 2, 1802, he de-

vised the estate of ClifTe (since sold to — Wilson, Esq.) to Eliza,

daughter of his brother Thomas, of-Hcadlam, by his wife, Maryi

daughter of James Thornton, Esq., of Nctherwitton, Northumberland.

Eliza Witham was married to Henry Silvertop, Esq., born 28th

May, 1779, (younger son of John Silvertop, Esq., of Minster Acres),

who assumed the surname of Witham, and had issue, 1. Henry-John,

born July;i7, 1802, died August 20, l?3o; 2. William Lawrence,

born September IS, 1804, married Anne Maria, daughter of ^V'illianl

Salvin, Esq., of Croxdale, and died without issue in 1841 ; 3. George,

died Sept. 8, 1847 ; 4. Thomas-Edward, in holy orders of the church of

Home, born December 0, l&OG, uowof Lattingion ; .5, 6. Charles-James

and Alfred-Oswin, died young ; 7. Catherine, married, in 1823, to H.
Englefield, Esq. ; 8. Maria, died in infancy ; 9.Emma-Seraphina-Mary,

married, in 1841, to William Dunn, E^q., of Hedgeficld; O.Elizabeth-

Mary, a nun, deceased ; and, 10, Winifred-Mary-Anne, married, Sep-

tember 23, 1834, to Gerald Salvin, Esq., of Croxdale. Mr. Witham,
who served as high sheriff of the county of Durham in 1844, died on

the 28th November in that year, and was succeeded by his son, the

late George Witham, Esq., of Lartington Hall, Yorkshire, who was

captain in the 08th Light Infantry ; born October 9, 1805. Captain

Witham was a magistrate and deputy-lieutenant for the comities of

Durham and York.

Anns—Or, a bandlct, gu., between three eaglets, sa. Crest— Out of

a ducal coronet, or, a demi-woman, lier hair dishevelled, ppr., in her

dexter hand a gem ring, or. Jl/u«o—Optime Merentu.

Seat—Lartington Hall.
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columns, and pilasters at the angles, the full height of

the story, with a rich entablature, in which is carved

the name of the gentleman in whose honour the build-

ing is erected ; the same breaking over the two centre

columns, and terminating with a pediment, flanked by

a low and well-proportioned attic. Between the centre

columns is a rich Venetian window, with two Ionic

columns supporting a plain head only, which, though

somewhat singular, is yet simple and consistent in

effect. The interior contains a spacious lecture room,

library room, and librarian's residence ; with a dispen-

sary, a surgery, and out-offices.

During the erection of the building, the subscription

to those members of the Institution who were mechanics

and artizans, was reduced from 8s. to 5s. per annum.

In accordance with a suggestion from the Rev. T. E.

Witham, president, an evening school is carried on

during the winter months, in which, reading, writing,

arithmetic, geography, and history are taught. The
number of volumes in the library exceeds 2,500, exclu-

sive of periodicals. The present number of members is

150, and the income about £70 per annum. The anni-

versaries of the Institution are enlivened by soirees

;

and occasional excursions are made during the summer
months, which the objects in the surrounding country

tend to render highly attractive, as, in addition to the

historical associations connected with the district, its

botanical, mineralogical, and geological features are

peculiarly interesting.

At the annual soiree held on the 22nd of September,

1854, it appeared from the report, read by the secre-

tary, Mr. Brown, that the Institution, though not in a

declining state, was capable of more extended useful-

ness, as many of its members did not show the disposi-

tion for acquiring useful knowledge, or for scientific

attainments, that its supporters might have expected,

nor such as the means of the Institution provide.

MISCELLANEOUS INSTITUTIONS.

Dispensary.—A dispensary was established in Ja-

nuary, 1835, which is supported by donations and

subscriptions. During the year ending October, 18-18,

116 cases were attended in the town alone; and in the

following year, there were 125 cases. In the year ending

January 2, 1854, the number of patients cured was

169; relieved, 8; remaining on the book, 15; had

extra tickets, 17; died, 9; total, 218. The subscrip-

tions, during the twelve months, amounted to £47 17s.

;

and the expenditure for drugs was £23 Is. ; for instru-

ments, 4s. 3d. ; for stationery and printing, £2 4s. 6d.

)

for carriage, postage, and sundries, 9s. ; and one year's

salary of medical officers, £25. There is a deposit of

upwards of £70, belonging to this institution, in the

savings bank. A benefaction of £5 and upwards con-

stitutes the donor a governor for life. In consideration

of a donation of £240 to the building fund of the

Witham Testimonial, the institution is held in apart-

ments provided for the purpose in that erection. The

present officers are

—

President, His grace the Duke
of Cleveland; Vice-presidents, the Revds. G. Macfar-

lan, G. Price, and G. Dugard, and Jolin Bowes and

William Maude, Esqrs. ; Consulting Physician, Dr.

T. S. Edger; Surgeons and Apothecaries, Messrs.

Benning and Slater ; and Secretary and Treastirei',

Mr. Richardson.

IxDiGEKT Sick Society.—This society is also sup-

ported by voluntary contributions ; and its objects are

effected by searching out persons in distress, to whom
relief is afforded at their owo homes. Upwards of 200

cases have been annually attended to.

The Church Clothing Society is supported prin-

cipally by members of the Established Church ; and, in

connection with the schools, there is a clothing fund for

boys and girls, to which each contributes one penny

per week. There is also a general Clothing Society,

unconnected with any religious party. The Female
Charity for the Benefit of poor Lying-in AVo-

MEN is supported by public contributions.

The Society for promoting Christian Know-
ledge has a branch at Barnard Castle. The branch of

the Darlington Auxiliary Bible Society, during the

year ending Midsummer, 1853, transmitted £37 10s.

lid. on the purchase account, and £15 3s. 5d. free;

total, £52 14s. 4d. In the same period, 142 Bibles

and 178 Testaments were distributed.

Benefit Societies.—The Ancient Order of Foresters

have a lodge in Barnard Castle. Their allowance to a

member's family, on his death, is £10; and to a mem-
ber, on his wife's death, £7. The Victoria Free Gift

Society allow to a member's wife, &c., on his death,

£5 ; and to a member, on his wife's death, £3. The
Manchester Lenity, and the Grand L'nited Order of

Odd Fellows, have each a lodge in the town ; and there

are a few other clubs, for mutual support during sick-

ness, &c. The benefits afforded by Building Societies

have also been appreciated and acted upon.
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AgRicUlturat, Society.—This society, which has

been established some years for the improvement of the

breed of cattle, resolved, at the general meeting held

on the oOth August, 1854, that persons at any distance,

whether members or not, should be at liberty to exhibit

and compete for the society's premiums ; the rules

having hitherto admitted, for this purjiose, those only

who resided within 10 miles of Barnard Castle. The

public exhibitions of the society are considered to have

been the earliest in the kingdom; and at the annual

show held in the Castle Garth, on the 11th October,

1854, the cattle on the ground were pronounced to be

superior to any hitherto exhibited. On that occasion,

the principal landowners and agriculturists of the so-

ciety were present ; and at the dinner of the society,

held on the same day, his grace the Duke of Cleveland

presided. John Michell, Esq., is president of the

society; and Christopher Cradock, Esq., and the Rev.

W. F. Wharton, are the vice-presidents. Secretary,

Mr. W. Watson.

Horticultural Society.—The exhibitions of this

society are held in the Castle Garth ; and prizes are

awarded for the best specimens of flowers, fruits, vege-

tables, &c. At the exhibition held on the 8th Septem-

ber, 1854, the allotment and cottage gardeners took the

prizes in the vegetable class.

Co-operative Corn Mill Society.—This is a so-

ciety recently formed in Barnard Castle, having for its

object the supply of flour, meal, &c., on favourable

terms, and is managed by a body of directors.

National Schools.—The National School for boys

was founded in 1814, by subscription, towards which

Bishop Barrington contributed £100. The school-room

is situated on the south side of the church-yard. The

girls' school, established in 1850, and to which the

Duke of Cleveland subscribed £50, is on the north-

west side of the church-yard. On the government

inspector's visit, June 17, 1853, 191 boys were present

at examination. During the preceding twelve months,

45 liad left, and 46 had been admitted ; average at-

tendance, 170. The inspector's general observations

were

—

* Mr. George Layton, author of " Castle Barnard, a Poem," pub-

lished in 182.3, was for some time teacher of a school at Bowes. lie

was born in or near Baldersdale in 1790 or 1791, and, after quitting

Bowes, kept a school at lieworth Shore, on tlic Tync. Whilst em-

ployed in a chemical manufactoiy at tliat place, he became a member
of the Northern rolitieal Union, and was one of the speakers at tlie

" Buildings, a large room ; no class room ; a wooden floor has been
substituted for a stone one. Eight loose desks. Furniture, clock,

stove. Playground, no freehold. The school stands on the edge of

'The Mains.' Books, methods, discipline, and instruction, fair. Or-

ganization ; standard of classification : reading and arithmetic. Eight

classes for all subjects, under master, with certificate of merit, and

four pupil-teachers ; one division fist and 2nd class) for scripture.

Every class is in three groups for arithmetic. Each pupU-teacher is

confined to one class for two months."

At the girls' school, visited on the same day, 103

were present at examination ; 38 had left during the

year ; 40 had been admitted ; and the average attend-

ance was 95. General observations :

—

"Buildings, a fair-sized room ; no class-room. Four loose desks.

Furniture, clock. No playground. Apparatus, six black-boards,

five easels. Organization ; standard of classification : reading. Six

classes for all subjects ; two divisions for scripture, geography, and
object lessons. Each pupil-teacher is confined for one month to two
classes."

Other Schools.—There are several boarding and

day schools in Barnard Castle.* The Roman Catholics

have a school in Queen Street, attended by about 30

boys and 20 girls. There is a school belonging to the

Wesleyan Methodists on the Demesnes, at which about

80 boys and girls attend. At the infant school, also on

the Demesnes, about 64 boys and 50 girls are at pre-

sent instructed.

The Sunday schools connected with the various

places of worship have been already noticed. The first

in Barnard Castle was commenced in the workhouse by

a poor man named William Emmerson, who, observing

the want of education amongst the children employed

in the manufactories, assembled as many as he could

for instruction on Sundays. His efforts were at first

regarded with contempt, and he struggled on for some

time amidst the derision of those around him. Happily,

he persevered in his useful enterprize ; and the result

was, that in a few years, Sunday schools acquired the

popularity they still possess in the town.

INHABITANTS.

The town of Barnard Castle has produced some indi-

viduals whose talents and virtues would have graced a

great public meeting held on the Town Moor of Newcastle, on the

nth of October, 1819, to deliberate on the " Manchester massacre."

In various situations in life, he energetically advocated the popular

principles of annual parliaments, universal suffrage, and vote by

ballot. Some of the notes to "Castle Barnard" are piquant, and arc

illustrative of ciicumstanccs connected with the history of the town.
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wider sphere of action.* Amongst those who have

acquired more than a local fame may he mentioned the

late Baron Hullock; William Hutchinson, Esq., F.A.S.

historian of the county (see vol. i., p. 10) jf and George

Edwards, Esq., M.D.J The gradual progress of refine-

ment has, of course, extended itself into this, as well as

into other and more remote districts of the country;

and the courtesies of life are as well understood, and as

gracefully practised in and around this town, as they

are generally amongst the educated classes of society.

Peculiar ciixumstances, however, though sometimes

isolated in themselves, have occasionally been taken

advantage of for the purpose of throwing discredit on

the character of its population. The following remarks

by Mr. Justice CressweU, at the county assizes, March

6, 1851, in passing sentence of two years' imprisonment

on Edward Harper, for an assault on Elizabeth Aarday

at Barnard Castle, produced a considerable sensation at

that place. His lordship read over a list of the cul-

prit's offences, including one conviction at the sessions,

and numerous summary convictions before the magis-

trates, and observed that it was right the public should

know what sort of a character he was. Indeed, he was

a fair specimen of the men belonging to Barnard Castle,

and who reflected such disgrace upon the county. It

was a sink of vice and profligacy, for there was more

• The ancestors of Sir Roderick ilurchison, the eminent geologist,

resided at Barnard Castle. Jlr. Kipling, a celebrated mathematician

of the last century, was bom here ; Mr. Ewbank, the well-known writer

on Hydraulic Engineering, is also a native of this place.

t Several letters in the possession of R. H. Allan, Esq., F.S.A,,

Blackwall HaU, relate to the authorship of Hutchinson's invaluable

Hisjory of Durham. Mr. Hutchinson himself says, in one of his

letters, " Mr. Allan's (the antiquary) indefatigable labour has accu-

mulated most of the materials from which this work is compiled,

and fiom whose unexampled bounty and generosity they are submit-

ted to the author's arrangment for the public eye."

In a letter dated April 30, 17S6, poor Hutchinson thus bemoans

himself to his kind and worthy friend, Allan :—" I am still to endure

very insolent and impertinent reprimands from Hodgson the printer,

who complains so much of the length of the work, that, with your

leave, I am determined to strike out everj- thing possible, and with-

draw the appendix touching Holdemess, Xorham and Bedlington-

shires, and reserve them all, with notes already withheld, for a volume

of addenda after the work has passed his hand. I was so pleased

at what you said that he appeared better satisfied with the work, that

I congratulated him thereon, and was replied to, 'that the judicious

readers condemned the method, and he was heartily sick of it.' These

arc painful things after my laborious journey through so many

volumes. Please therefore, sir, to expunge all you can."

j Dk. Edwards.—George Edwards, Esq., M.D., was the repre-

sentative of a respectable and wealthy family, established for some

descents in Barnard Castle, but said to be originally from Wales.

Dr. Edwar^U graduated at Edinburgh, but never practised except

crime committed in Barnard Castle than all the places

of the county put together. That, indeed, had always

been its character ever since he (his lordship) had

known it, and it was a great disgrace to the county that

it should continue in such a state.§

This sweeping charge called forth several indignant

replies, through the medium of the press, from inhabit-

ants of the town, one of whom says, " That there have

been, and perhaps still are, vicious and worthless cha-

racters in Barnard Castle, I readily admit j but that the

party alluded to is a fair sample of the inhabitants, I

most emphatically deny. The learned judge seems to

have forgotten that Barnard Castle has produced men
eminent alike for their learning and piety, and, amongst

others, the late Baron Hullock, whose calm dignity, and

placid, even temper, under the most trying cuxum-

stances, Mr. Justice Cress well would do well to

imitate."

General charges against whole communities are too

indiscriminate to be just ; and it is but fair to state that

a subsequent report of the chaplain of the county

prison proved that the learned judge's observations had

been hasty and inaccurate.

The Rev. George Dugard, incumbent of the chapelry,

and a magistrate of the county, in a report delivered to

the superintending inspector of the Board of Health,

gratuituously, and spent the greater part of a handsome estate in

philanthropic projects. He was the author of several books and pam-
phlets on political, medical, and agricultural subjects, the first of

which, " The Aggrandisement and National Perfection of Great

Britain," in 2 vols. 4to, was published in 17S7 ; and the last, "The
National Improvement of the British Empire, or an Attempt to rectify

Public Affairs," in 2 vols. Svo, appeared in 1808. During the latter

part of hb life. Dr. Edwards resided in Suffolk Street, Charing Cross,

London ; and he died at Hammersmith, on the 17th of January, 1823,

in the 72nd year of his age. Many of the improvements in and

around Barnard Castle were projected by him.

§ In his charge to the grand jury at the same assizes, 5Ir Justice

CressweU, with reference to the county at large, remarked that " in

looking through the calendar he was struck with two circumstances

—one was, that the amount of education amongst the criminals ap-

peared to be very small, and the other, that the amount of drunk-

enness appeared to be very great. In this county, these two prolific

sources of crime—ignorance and intemperance—seemed greatly to

prevail. He therefore trusted in their respective stations, they would
apply themselves in such a manner as to remedy these evils ; and that,

from the spread of education, and the greater caution that would be

exercised in granting and renewing licenses for public-houses, they

would be the means of improving the morals and habits of the popu-

lation of the county." With respect to the alleged want of education,

the learned judge ought to have remembered that the county should

not justly be hold responsible for the united ignorance of the multi-

tudes of Irish, Scotch, and other labourers, who have been for some
years back, and are still attracted by the prospect of employment at

the public works in progress.
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gave an appalling picture of the moral depravity of the

working classes in Barnard Castle, which he attributed,

amongst other causes, to the apprentice system, whereby

youths and girls are allowed to receive their own

earnings, and are thus placed beyond the control of

their parents or friends. He states that at the age of

15 or 16, boys and girls quit the paternal roof, and

reside with each other ; and a long list was furnished

to the inspector of parties thus living, under the term

of going tally, some with children varying from one to

eight in number. That the picture is overcharged,

however, may be safely presumed ; as, were such the

general state of society, the evil would be so intolerable

in its consequences to tradesmen and ratepayers as to

work its own cure.

ENVIRONS OF BARNARD CASTLE.

Fp:w towns in England can compete, for beauty of

scenery, with Barnard Castle. The country around is

richly wooded, fertile, and highly cultivated ; and the

banks of the winding Tees, descending in gentle slopes,

or projecting in overhanging precipices, form pictu-

resque and graceful combinations with the rocky bed

over which its foaming waters force their way.

The Flatts, a beautiful woodland scene, on the west

of the Castle, and which commands several delightful

views of that venerable ruin, the church and town, the

village of Startforth, and the fields and pastures on the

Yorkshire side of the river, has been already alluded to

(sec page 15). The walks were formerly almost impassi-

ble, until the late Dr. Edwards, having obtained per-

mission from the Earl of Darlington, planned a.nd

carried out, at his own expense, a series of meandering

footpaths, adapted to the surrounding scenery, and

leading to a sulphureous spring, about 2 miles north-

west from the town. " The walks through wild Mar-

wood," says Surtees, " were planned with admirable

simplicity—threading the thicket, crossing the ravine,

scaling the cliff, and again descending to the shelving

margin of the river, with all the effect of natural forest-

tracks." " A small expense," says the author of " A
Tour in Teesdalc," " might protect the spring from the

floods ; and a well-built, though not a large inn, would

afford sufficient accommodation to establish its credit."

The Mains is a fine level pasture close to the Tees,

bounded on the west by the houses in Thorngate, and

on the north by a steep green hill, on the ridge of which

stand the church, the National School, and the houses of

one side of Newgate Street, stretching towards the east.

At the eastern extremity of the Mains is the Alley

Bridge, a beautiful structure of one bold arch, with

embattled parapets, over Avhich the ivy has thrown its

dark green tapestry. It was erected at the sole expense

of John Sawrey Morritt, Esq., of Rokeby Park ; and

opened with an imposing Masonic procession and cere-

mony on the 19th of June, 1773. In a little dell near

the south end of the bridge, and on the west side of the

road leading from it to Rokeby, stand the romantic ruins

of Egliston Abbey, from which the bridge derives its

appellation. Part of the east window stiU remains, and

crumblins frasrments of walls and arches remain to at-

test its former architectural splendour ; the whole scene

softened down by time since the period when its demo-

lition was recent :

—

"The levcrend pile lay Tvild and waste.

Profaned, dishonoured, and defaced.

Through storied lattices no more

In softened light the sunbeams pour,

Gilding the Gothic sculpture rich

Of shrine, and monument, and niche.

The Civil fury of the time

Made sport of sacrilegious crime

;

For dark Fanaticism rent

Alter, and screen, and ornament,

And peasant hands the tombs o'erthrew

Of Bowes, of Rokeby, and Fitz-Hugh."

Rokeby,

Of the objects above noticed, a writer already quoted

says, "Walk over the Mains, a large pasture on the

contrary side of the town to the Flatts ; cross it towards

the mill, and follow the Tees to the Abbey Bridge. A
segment of the arch is seen, deeply shaded by the hang-

ing woods on each side of the river, which, considerably

below, presents an unbroken lake-like surface, but within

a hundred yardsresvimes its rough impetuous character,

and foams over opposing rocks towards the bridge. En-

deavour to get on the rocks, and pass under the bridge,

to the distance of about a hundred and fifty yards, till

you are opposite to a large mass of rock in the mid-

stream. Turn round, and through the majestic arch the

ruins of Egliston Abbey appear like a framed picture.

Climb the hill, and rcttu-n by the fields to the high road.

As you approach, you have another and perhaps the best

view of the abbey, and an extensive and diversified coun-

try. Go down to the bridge, which looks on two fine

avenues of wood and rock, both up and down the river

;

one terminated by the town of Barnard Castle, and taking

in the ruins and a rude bridge over a small rivulet ; the

other closed by the house at Rokeby." In returning to

the town by the Yorkshire side of the river, the writer

says, " The town, the castle, the bridge, appear spread
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before the eye like a map in a fine sunset, so inimitable

are the variety and richness of tint afforded from so many
different objects, and from five distinct ranges of hills

which form the lofty back-ground." The environs of

the river Greta, -n-hich flows into the Tees from the

south, are admirably described in the notes to Sir

Walter Scott's poem of Eokeby.

KiNXiNviE.—This hamlet, n-hich is partly in the

township of Barnard Castle and partly in that of Mar-

wood, is situated 3 J miles north from the town, and

contains a school, a public house, aud the shops of a

cartwright and a blacksmith.

MARWOOD.

This township forms the north-western part of the

chapelry of Barnard Castle, and adjoins the town on the

west, part of which, with the Flatts, are included in it.

Its extent is 3,675 acres; and the population, at the

successive returns, was 156, 177, 212, 200, 224, and

205. Of the latter number, lOS were males and 97 fe-

males ; and there were, at that date, 35 inhabited houses.

The annual value of property, assessed for the county-

rate in 1853, was £2,457 14s. lid.

The contributions of the township of Marwood to the

Teesdale Union, for the year ended March, 1854, were,

for in-maintenance, clothing, and funerals, £9 Is. 5d.

;

out-relief and lunatics, £15; irremoveable poor, salaries,

and other common charges, £9 18s. 3d. ; constable and

costs before magistrates, 14s. 6d. ; law costs, revising

barrister, and jury lists, IDs. ; journeys, salaries of

assistant overseers, incidental expenses, &c., £1 Os. Id.;

total of expenditure, £36 4s. 3d., being £5 19s. 7d. less

than that of the preceding year. The vaccination fees

amounted to 12s., and registration to lis. 6d. The

overseers paid to the county rate o£41 10s. 2d.

Marwood anciently contained a town of its own name

;

but the erection of the castle and town of Barnard Cas-

tle, and the successive grants of land made to the bur-

gesses and freeholders, gradually induced its decay and

final disappearance. INIarwood Chase or Park extended

along the north bank of the Tees, and bordered on the

southern verge of Langley. It was purchased from the

grantees of the crown, with Barnard Castle and Raby, by

Sir Henry Vane, and was disparked in 1628. It is now
the property of the Duke of Cleveland. Woolhoiise was,

in the 17th century, held by the Thoresbys. High Ship-

ley, or Marwood Hag, was the property of the Ravnes

;

and Cuthbert Eayne, who died unmarried before 1715,

with Emma his sister, sold it to George Bowes, Esq., of

Streatlam, for £2,100. Low Shipley, which belonged

to the Simpsons, was, with Roger Moor, sold, in 1709,

to Lady Elizabeth, widow of Sir William Bowes, for

£1,500. Robert Knott, with TFes^ JJo^er il/oor, passed

from the Traynes to ^Villiam Robinson, of Rokeby,

Gent., whose descendant, Sir Thomas Robinson, Bart.,

conveyed them, in 1742, to George Bowes, Esq. Hole-

house was part of the estates of the Raynes. Huller-

bush, one of the old estates of the Boweses, was

repurchased from the Hodshon and Bell families, in

1692, by Mrs. Ann Bowes, for £210. It is now the

property of the Duke of Cleveland. ParrocJc Mire

was the estate of Sir John Hullock, who left a life

interest in it to Lady Hullock.* On her decease, it

passed to J. Lamb, Esq., solicitor, son of Sir John

Hullock's sister.

STREATLAM AND STAIXTOX.

This township contains the village of Stainton, the

castle and park of Streatlam, and a number of scattered

houses. It comprises an area of 2,907 acres. The po-

pulation, in 1801, was 272; in 1811, 232; in 1821, 251;

in 1831, 324 ; in 1841, in consequence of several work-

men being temporarily employed at the castle, it had

increased to 373 ; and in 1851, it was 344, of whom 177

were males and 167 females. There were, at that time,

69 inhabited houses and 2 uninhabited ; and the pro-

perty was valued for the county-rate, in 1853, at £2,450

16s. lOd.

During the year ended March, 1854, Streatlam and

Stainton contributed to the Teesdale Union, for in-

maintenance, clothing, and funerals, £1 13s. 7d. ; out-

relief and lunatics, £28 13s. 6d. ; irremoveable poor,

salaries, and other common charges, £31 19s. 7d.

;

constable and costs before magistrates, 8s. 6d. ; law

costs, revising barrister, and jury lists, 10s. ; journeys,

salaries of assistant overseers, incidental expenses, &c.,

£1 10s. 6d. ; total of expenditure, £64 15s. 8d. The

repayments of relief by relations and other receipts

were £1 4s. 6d., leaving a net total of £63 lis. being

£11 8s. 8d. less than that of the preceding year. The

vaccination fees were £1, and for registration, £1 Is. 8d.

The countv-rate paid by the overseers was £41
19s. lOd.

• A mural tablet of marble, to the memory of Lady Hullock, has

been erected in the chancel of Barn-ard Castle church, on the oppo-

site side to that on which Baron Hullock's is placed.
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STREATLAM.

"Warin Trayne is the first named lord of Stretlam

and Staynton. With his son Hugh, he endowed a cha-

pel for their men there, with the consent of Guy de

Laci, vicar of Gainfjrd, in 1210. John, great grandson

of Hugh, married Agnes, daughter and heiress of

Ralph de la Haye, of Staynton -in-the-Street, said to be

a niece of Hugh Baliol ; and their sole daughter and

heiress, Alice, aboutl310, married Adamde Bowes, Knt.,

who thus became lord of Streatlam in right of his wife.

THE BOWES FAMILY.

The descent of the Bowes is traced from a cousin of

Alanus Niger (the Black), Earl of Richmond, who ap-

pointed him captain of the tower of Bowes, and leader

of 500 archers. Sir Adam Bowes, above named, some-

times styled of Richmond, was " learned in the lawes."

chief justice of the Court of Common Pleas, by patent,

5 Edw. IIL, 1331 ; steward of Richmondshire, and

seneschal to Bishop Kellaw. In 1333, he settled Os-

raondcroft and Stubhous on his son Robert, reserving to

liimself an annuity of £9 out of the former and 40s. out

of the latter. He was succeeded by his eldest son, Ro-

bert, whose son, also named Robert, released all right in

Helton, Barford on the Moor, Whorleton, Osmondcroft,

and Cockfield, to his father's trustees, 12th December,

1356, and died without issue. Thomas, his eldest

brother, was succeeded in the Streatlam estates by

AVilliara, a third son of the elder Robert. He is said

to have been created a knight banneret at Poictiers in

1346; and, in 1384, became heir to his mother, Eliza-

beth, daughter of Sir John Lilburne, of Lilburne,

Northumberland. He married Maude, daughter and sole

heiress of Richard de Dalden, lord of Dalden, Pallion,

Hamildon, and Clowcroft. His will is dated January

17, 1420. Sir Robert Bowes, his eldest son, was created

a banneret at the siege of Rouen in 1419 ; and was slain,

with Thomas Duke of Clarence, at Baugy Bridge, in 1421.

His widov\, Joan, daughter of Sir Robert Conyer-., of

Ormesby, Cleveland, married Thomas Bromflete.

Sir William Bowes, son of Sir Robert, and only sur-

viving heir of the whole family, had livery as heir to his

grandfather, Sir William, in 1410, and became heir to

his motlier, Joan Bromflete in 1438. He married Jane,

daughter of Ralph Lord Greystock, on whose death in

the first year of their marriage, and before she had

reached the age of twenty, he " toke much thoght, and

passed into France," where he was engaged in the wars,

and knighted at Vcrnoylc in 1424. Leland says of him,

VOL. IT.

" One of this house, caulled Syr Gul. Bowes, was Cham-
brelayne with the Duke of Bedeforde, brother to Henry
the 5, and uncle to the 6, and Protector and Governour

in Fraunce, by whos favor Bowes, caullid in Frenche

Mounseir de Arches, being in Fraunce with hym a xvii

yeres, waxid riche, and comming home augmented his

lande and flime."—" Syr William Bowes, that was in

France with the Duke of Bedeford, did build a fun-

damentis the manor place of Stretlam in the Bishoprik

of Dirham, not far from Barnardcs Castelle." Having
retired to his hereditary mansion, which he had caused

to be rebuilt from a model sent from France, he con-

tinued, for the sake of his beloved wife, a widower till

his death in 1465, at the age of at least 86. He is dis-

tinguished in the family roll as " old Sir William

Bowes," and was warden of the Middle Marches and

governor of Berwick.

Sir William Bowes, only son of the last-named Sir

William and Jane Greystock, was sheriff of Northum-

berland 6 Edw. IV., and warden of the Middle

Marches under John, Marquis of ]\Iontacute, and

Richard, Duke of Gloucester. By his wife, Maude,

daughter of Henry Lord Fitzhugh, of Ravensworth,

he had issue five sons and seven daughters. Six of the

latter married respectively into the families of Hilton of

Hilton Castle, Bulmer of Wilton, Conyers, Lisle,

Swinnow, and Wycliffc.

William, eldest son of Sir William, married Isabel

Clifton, a neice to Bishop Booth, but died without issue,

and was succeeded by his brother, Sir Ralph Bowes, of

Streatlam and Dalden Tower. He became entitled to

considerable property in Richmondshire, by his mar-

riage with INIargery, daughter and co-heiress of Richard

Conyers, Esq., of South Cowton. His son. Sir Ralph

Bowes, of Streatlam, Dalden, and South Cowton, was

appointed high sheriff of Durham on the 4th of October,

1482, and served that office 30 years imder Bishops

Sherwood, Fox, Sinews, Bainbrigg, and Ruthall. Ho
was at Flodden Field in 1516. By his wife, Elizabeth,

daughter of Henry Lord Clifford, and sister of Henry,

first Earl of Cumberland, he had issue two daughters

and a jiosthumous son, George, born in 1517, and in

ward of Sir William Bulmer 10th February, 2 Wolscy.

He married Muriel, daughter of William Lord Eurc,

of Witton, and sister of Sir Ralph Eure. The latter

married Margery, sister of Sir George Bowes, thus dou-

bly cementing the union of the families. Sir George

died in 1546 ; and his only son, Ralph, having died

young, the estates and representation of the family

passed to his uncle, Sir Robert Bowes. He was of the

H
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Privy Council to Henry VIII., the Council of the

North, Master of the Eolls, warden of the Middle

Marches, and escheator of Durham by patent from

1529 to 1543. He married Jane, daughter of Sir

James Metcalfe, of Nappa ; but his four sons died

young ; and he was succeeded by his nephew, George,

son of Richard Bowes, Esq., of Aske, by Elizabeth,

daughter and co-heiress of Roger Aske, Esq.

Sir George Bowes, of Streatlam, was heir male of

the whole family, and was styled of Aske, Tth April, 1

Eliz. ; of South Cowton, 1st J uly, 4 Eliz. ; and was

sheriff of Yorkshire in the same year. Like most of his

ancestors, he was early trained to the profession of arms,

and distinguished himself in the Border wars. The

Earl of Shrewsbury, marshal of Berwick, conferred on

him the honour of knighthood in 1558, in which year,

in conjunction with Sir Henry Percy, he invaded the

Merse, burnt Dunse and Langton, and repulsed the

Scotch and French at Swinton. He married, first,

Dorothy, daughter of Sir William Mallory, of Studley

Royal, Yorkshire; and, secondly, Jane, daughter of

Sir John Talbot, of Grafton, Worcestershire, by

Frances, daughter of Sir John Guildford, only sister of

John Talbot, Esq., and aunt of George, Earl of Shrews-

bury. Supported by powerful family connexions, and

endowed with splendid talents, Sir George Bowes con-

tinued to occupy an honourable position in the North,

where he was distinguislicd for his loyalty to Queen

Ehzabeth, and attachment to the Protestant faith.

He was induced by principle to resist the Northern

Rebellion, on its outburst in 15G9. The first muttered

thunder of that event is contained in Sir George's

diary, which commences, " I met the Earl of West

merland of Saturday next after St. Matthew's day

(21st September), or there about, as our ways crossed,

his to Branspeth, and mine to the Isle : and appointed

* This correspondence, with other memoranda on the same subject,

which have been called "the Bowes papers," consist of a large col-

lection of original letters, copies of letters, and other documents.

Some fragments were discovered in a closet in the library at Gibside,

which had been long shut up ; and the remainder were found on the

Gth of October, 1833, after a most laborious search by W. Ilutt, Esq.,

M.P., and Sir Cuthbert Sharp, in an old deal box, thrown carelessly

aside, in the room used as an armoury by the Derwent and Gibside

yeomanry. They were in very bad condition ; but by dmt of indus-

trious patching and pasting, with great care and labour, they now

form eiirhteen folio volumes, with pStieci indexes to the whole, and

are deposited at Streatlam Cistle.

t " A note made the xxiiith of Xov. Eliz. xii, of .all the horsemen

at Barnard Castle to serve the Queenes M,aje3tie. Spears, Bow, and

Harquebusses :

—

then to meet the said Earl of Westmcrland of Wednes-

day next, after our hawking ; which appointment I-

kept, but he came not, nor sent, though he were not far

thence." Assured of his fidelity, the Earl of Sussex

and the Privy Council kept up an unintermitting cor-

respondence with Sir George,* who says, " Seeing

I have a charge of the Queue's Majestie's Castle of

Barnard Castle, wherein I have bestowed my small

portion of armor and weapon, and meaneth yf there be

any further assembly, to draw thither." The Earl of

Sussex, in one of his letters, says, " Suerly you deserve

grete thanks for your dylygence in advertysements,

which the queue shall well understand ; and I pray you

to contynue them, for I wyll grownd moste upon that

[which] cometh from you."

Thus trusted and complimented, Sir George devoted

all his political tact and military skill to the circumven-

tion of the insurgents. On the 15th of November, he

writes, " I thought yt good to begin th' assemblye here

(at Barnard Castle), where ys alredye corned unto me,

with greate haste, and well appoynted, to serve as light

horsemen, the whole gentlemen dwellinge upon the

ryver of Teyse of both syds, whose names I thoughte

good to advertyse your lordship of. And as I jtidge,

they brought with them ny abowt a hundred lighte

horsemen, well mounted, and armed with playte coyts

and speares, and I have of my owne verye nye an hun-

dred light horsemen. And there ys also assembled

hether of the countrethes next adjoynyng, two hundred

able men, armed and wcajjoned with playte coyt, jack,

bowes and arrows, and bylles, and twenty corslets of

my owne, and thirtie arqtiebusses ; the effect of which

nomber ys a cho}-se of my owne tenants and others

under my rewle, of the queue's majestie's tennants of

Barnard Castell lordship.f And most dewtyfidlie and

obedyentlye the people nye these parts assemblythe

Sir George Bowes .

.

John Conyers

Robert Bowes
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styll, whereof the best lyke, in person and furnyture, I

stayc, and the reste with thanks, and good words, I

rcturne home." Speaking of the depredations com-

mitted by the rebels, he says, " They soght for my
children, where they were at scole, but yesterdaye I

brought them hythcr."

On the 29th November, this sturdy loyalist writes,

" They mean to holde me shett with ther horsemen,

cuttingc me from my vyttales, and to break my mylls,

all which lyethe a good waye from me, save one, which

Ys beyond the ryver, but lyethe nye the Castell, and,

therefore, I truste gardablc; but I am indifferentlye

well provyded, thoo they tooke from me thirtie quarters

of malte and a good portyon of whcate, by good intelli-

gens then had (as I fearc). They evcrye day come and

offer scrymyshinge, and bearcth in our scoute and

scowryers ; but we take noo layrom, but kepethe close,

for cawses [which] shall after be tolde to your lordship.

Sewer hayste ys requyred ; for their ys moo made

wormes than ys yctt cropen owte of the shelles, which,

by a spedye wynter, may have their horns holden in.

—

The whole number here lyeth to be vytteled of my
provysyons onelyc (for lacke of moneye), and yet moste

of them verye well satysfyed, and plcntye ; and the

soldyers vyttelled for three pence the male."

Having, with his little troop,* fortified himself in the

Castle, " Even nowe," says he, " the rebells, with the

two Erlles, hath plantyd to me, butt not rownde : ther

fotmen ys butt comynge. They offerde somons, which

I, by shetynge (shooting) a gunne over hys head, re-

fused, and wold suffre no man to speake to theyme.

Your L. knowythe the stayt of this howsse ; but yff I

had the 300 shotte, to come frome Berwyck, hear, I

shuld beat thcym owtt of the toune which they have

taken. We vewe theyr horsmen to be abowt 1,200, all

whychc standylhe within fawcone shotte, which we
lacke, and kepethe that we have choyssle (carefully),

for feare of ferther lacke. We loke for releaffe at your

* A document (.•ont;uiiing the following particulars, but without a

date, appears to apply to this period :—

Watch and Ward, Barnaud Castle.

Over part of the many Gates—Mr. WyviU, Chi-istopherWandisford,

Mr. Dodsworth, 21.

The AVest Gate House—Robert Wyeliffc, 4; Mr. Blakiston, 11;

1.3.

The Stable.ioinin;; the Lords Stable—John Conyers, 4; Christopher

Wandislbrd, 4 ; Byran Sniilhson, 2 ; 10.

The Stable within Braekenbury Tower—The Constable, 5; Henry

AVandesford, 2 ; Leonard Bcniies, 1 ; Francis I'arkinson, 1 ; 9.

Lords Stable, Bowes Tower, Stable in the South Wall—Sir George

Bowes, 13 ; his servants, 16 ; his servants, .3 ; .32.

The House within many Gates, the west end of Constable Tower

—

Kobcrt Bowes, ut ; Mr Blakiston, 4 ; 38.

Lordship, whocs settyng forthe butt one dayes jorney

owtt of Yorke, I trust wold feare (frighten) theyme,

and Yorkshire ys now clene swepyd of theyme. Not-

withstanding many of those that came home from them
receyving theyr vyttayles, and gettinge such money as

they cold, ar retorned to them agayn ; but yf some

soldyers were shewen, I fully hope yt wold do much
good. Fynally, I have, and shall serve dewtyfully

;

and so long as I shall leve, I shall keep my faythe and

treuthe to our good Queue Elizabeth unspotted.—It

were convehyant that some of good credytt were sent

into Cumberland, without which, Symon Musgravc
(who ys very forward and willing in thys service, and

so ys the L. Scrope, but not so well inclyned as the

other ys) lytic will be done for the servyce ; and, ther-

fore, the said Symon ys mete to serve.—Thus having

myne cares full of ther shoting, and informed that ther

fyve peces of ordynance now in sight, which I think

they meaue this nyght to plant, I humbly take my
leave. From the Queues Majesties Castell of Barnard

Castell, in haste, the first of December, 15G9.—Yt is

necessary that we be hastely releved."

On the 6th of December, a sally was made by 200

horsemen, two of whom were slain and 30 taken by the

rebels. An immense mass of depositions occur in the

Bowes Papers resijecting the skirmish, to prove the

damage done, and to implicate those who took a part in

it. Sir George sent forth a jjarty of horse, with cattle,

from the west gate, to be placed in the park. Some of

the horsemen were taken, and stripped to their " dub-

lets and hose ;" and their horses were sold by the cap-

tain, and the money distributed to the men. Captains

Robynson, Tatam, and Metcalfe are named ; and

Sampson Norton apjjears to have held a high command.

f

The difficulties experienced by Sir George during

the siege, and the manner of its termination, are nar-

rated in a note from Lords Sussex, Hunsdon, and Sir

R. Sadler, to the privy council :
—" It may please your

The Constable Tower—Mr Tallboys, (i ; Gritlith Kenyston, 1 ; mij

mother, 3 ; Mr. Toiige, 4 ; 14.

In the Hall end—Mr. Vincent, 6; of mine own, 6 ; 12.

The Hall head—Mr. John Conyers, 13 ; Mr Kobert Bowes men, 3 ;

Mr. Bainbridge, 3 ; Little Robert Bowes, 4 ; Mr. Robert Askwitli, 2
;

Mr. Christopher Askwith, 2 ; Mr. Girliiigtun, 5 ; Mr. Nicliolas Gir-

lington, 22 ; 33.

West Side, hard to the niani>Hjkacs—Mr. Sayer, 11 ; Mr. Metealf,

1; 12.
^^

^_^
The East side of many Gates—Mr. R'ookby, 7 ; JL-. Hall, 3 ; Mr.

Clerke, 2; 12.

t Li the siege of Barnard Castle, the rebels killed live men, three

within and two without. On the night of the skirmish, they wounded,

with arrjuebus shot, 67 withui the castle.
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good LL. This day Sir George Bowes, Robert Bowes
his brother, and diverse of the gentlemen that were

with him in Barnay Castell, came hether to us ; by

whom we understand that the soldiers that were in the

Castell did daily, by great nombers, leape over the

walls to go to the rebells.* And on Friday last, ther

leaped over the walls, at one tyme, abowt the number
of fourscore ; since which tyme, they have growen to

such mutenies, as, upon Saturday, vii or viii score of

them, that were appointed to garde the gates, and had

alwaies ben of the best disposed, did sodenly sett open

the gats, and went to the rebells ; wherupon Sir George

Bowes, seing the falshode of his men, was driven to

composicon, and is, with all his men, horses, and armor

that remayned there, come away in saulftie. He hath

had longe lacke of drink, and was scanted of bread

;

and yet, if his men had ben trewe, he mighte and wold

have kepte it untill he had ben releved. He hath

served very faithfully and stoutly, and the rebells have

spoiled him of all he hathe, so as his losse is very

greate ; and yet it semeth the delivery of the Castell,

by the falshode of his men, doth greve him more than

all his losses, although, considering he and the gentle-

men be in sauli'ty, we finde the rebells have smale

comoditie by the Castell. "We have made the greater

haste forwards upon hope that when we sholde come

towards the river of Teise, the rebells wold lew the

seege; and that being now at an ende, we will marche

forwards more easely. AVe thinke it will be two dayes

longer before we come where the rebells be. Cesame,

by Toplif, 12 Dec, 1569."

Whilst Sir George Bowes was closely besieged in

Barnard Castle, the rebels took possession of his castle

of Streatlam, and destroyed, or carried away, the whole

of his goods, after having committed every possible

excess. On this subject, he says, " At my comyng

abrode, my storers and kepers off my houses repayred

to me with the sayme speache that Jobes servants to

him (save only for my children) ; for I am utterly

spoylled off all my goodes, bothe within and without

my housses ; and all my corn and cattle karried away ;.

• Sir George himself thus describes his difficulties :
—"I was be-

seged by the rebells, and contenewing there in strayte scage, wythe
very hard dyett and great want of bread, drynek, and water, which
was our onely dryncke, save I myxed yt with some wj-ne. I founde

the people in the Castle in continual! mutenyes, seakyng not only,

by greatt nombers, to leape the walles and r\m to the rebells. bat

also by all menes to betraye the pece (a fortified place), and with

open force to deliver yt, and all in yt, to the rebells. So far, as in

one daye and nyglit, two hundred and twenty six men Icajiyd over

the walks, and opened the gaytes, and went to the enemy ; of which

and my housses fully defaced, by pulling away off the

dores, wyndowes, irons off the windows, syling, and all

my brewe vessels and other vessels, and chymnees

apperteyning my kytchyn ; so that I now possess no-

thing but my horse, armor, and weapon, brought out

from Barnard Castle, which I more esteem than twenty

times so much off other things ; for that by yt I am
enablyd to serve my good queue, whom God preserve,

and I wey not all my losses." To repair those losses,

the Earl of Sussex gave him the household goods of

the Earl of Northumberland, remaining at Brackenbo-

rough and Topcliff, by grant, dated the 16th of De-

cember, 1569, and confirmed by the commanders of the

southern army, the Earl of Warwick and Edward Lord

Clinton, on the 27th.

On the suppression of the rebellion, Sir George was

created, by special patent. Provost Marshal Xorth of

the Trent ; an office which gave him an opportunity of

wreaking his vengeance on the enemies of the queen

and himself, and which he is said to have exercised

vriih. great severity. There can be no doubt that he

executed this duty with the same stern fidelity with

which he had perilled life and property on behalf of the

queen ; and the usual warrant of execution was an

order from him, to persons in the immediate neighbour-

hood of the prisoners, on whom he could rely. The
notices were brief, as will appear from the following

example :

—

" xjtij die Jan.

" Men of Craven to be executed nyhe the townes where they dwel-

led.— Throjffeld—Robert Araye. MyUeslon—Richard Kaley. Hanlyth

—Wm. Scranston.

" I \^-ill that you, Henry Girlington, Thomas Rolandson, George

TJnes, and Richard Garthe, do see the execution of these above naymed,

in some place nyghe the towns where they dwelled.

" IlaiUyth—Wm. Lawson to be hangman, and so discharged.

(Signed) " George Bowes."

Then follows an order for the discovery of their property :
—" I will

that you, George Unes, do inventorye the goods of these men, within

named to be executed ; promysing the wyffes smd children, that I will

be good with theyme.—Inquer for leases.

(Signed) " George Bowes."

But it must be remembered that the instructions

under which Sir George Bowes acted were of the most

nomber, thirty five broke their necks, legges, or armcs in the leaping.

Upon which espeeyall extreraytyes, and that day our water that we
had, by the intelligens off them that fled from us, being strayt, or taken
away, and by other great occasyons, I was forced, by eomposytyoii

offered, to leve the pece ; takying with me all the men, armor, wea-
pons, and horses ; levyng my household stuffe, which I made no ac-

compt off, in this tyme of servyce, tho the valewe wer greatt, so as the

enemyes rcceyed only the bare pece and stuff aforesaid, which, by the

causses aforesayd, I could holde no longer." It would appear, from
the above, that the enemy had cut off the water-pipes from the Flatts.
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positive nature, and extremely sanguinary character.

On the 4th of January, 1569 (TO), the Earl of Sussex,

in a note to Cecil, says, " 300 and odd be appointed in

the county of Duresme to be exequuted by marciall

lavre

:

—
Of the eitie of Duresme, the aldermen and townsmen XXX,
Of constables .... XL.
Of servinge men, of the meaner sorte and worst disposition,

taken prysoncrs .... .... .... XXX.
Of towncsmcn of Darneton .... .... .... XVI.
Of the countrey men appointed to be exequited in every

towne where they dwell .... .... CLXXII.
Of those that did leapc over the walles at Barny Uastle .. XX.

XX.

^Vhcrcof, at Duresme IIIl.

At Darneton XLI.
At Barny Casllc .... .... . . A'X.

In towns and villages in the ooutrey .... CLXXII."

In the execution of his dreadful duty. Sir George

says, " I have taken such order with thes that dealeth

•with the goods of thos executed, that they should deale

favorable with the wyfes and children, so as they might

[not] onely not have cause to complane, but be satis-

fyed ; and, so far as I knowe, so they are ; for in all

Darneton, by this composicon, I caused [to] make for

me an agrement with the wyfes, cometh but to £viii

;

for wher I fynde them, and hathe many children, I

take nothing at all. And for the more fiivcring of

t'lera, I have committed the doyeng hereof to the wor-

shipful neighbours, with instructions to favor the poor,

and to deal favorable with all."

On the 10th of January, the Earl of Sussex writes to

Sir George, " I have sett the nombers to be executed

in every towne, under the name of every towne, as I

did in your other book, which draweth neie to two

hundred ; wheryn you may use your dyscretyon in

takyng more or lesse in every towne as you shall see

juste cause for the offences and fitness for example, so

as in the hole you passe not of all kynde of such, the

noniber of two hundred ; amongst whom you may not

execute eny that hathe freholds, or noted wolthye ; for

so is the Quenes Majesties plesior, by her speciall

comandmrnt."

Though thus armed with an almost discretionary

power to put to death or save alive, it appears that Sir

George's measures, energetic as they were, were not

sufficiently prompt to satisfy the vengeance of his royal

mistress and her ministers. On the 14th of January,

* The deplorable state of the bishopric is thus described by Bishop

Pilkington, in a letter dated Januajy 4 :
—" The cuntre is in grete

mysere j and, as the shircff writes, he can not doe justice bi anie

the Earl of Sussex writes to him, " It is thought that

the executyons be very longe in doynge, and I fere the

Quenes Majestic wyll fynde cause of offence wiih her

charge eontynued so longe for that purpose ; and, ther-

for, I prayc you make all the haste you can, to avoyde

offence, for a lyttell matter wyll styrre offence where

charge growethe by it." And on the 19th, Sir George

was again admonished, " I reccyved, yesternight, letters

from the eorte, wherby I perceyve the Queues Majestic

doth much marvell, that she dothe not here from me
that the execution is yet ended ; and that she is disbur-

dened of her charges, that was consyd.ered for that re-

specte ; and, therfore, I hartely praye you to use

cxpedyton, for I fere this lyngeryng wyll brede dys-

plesor to us bothe."

The minutes of the courts which Sir George held

for the trial of the parties implicated, are not preserved ;

and the proceedings must have been brief and expedi-

tious, as the queen was so impatient to be relieved from

further expense. Sir George states that he executed

none but such as confessed that they had been in actual

rebellion two days, at least, after the expiration of the

first pardon, or who took an active part in exciting their

neighbours.*

In the mean while. Sir George's private resources

were crippled by the exertions he had made ; and he

laid his case before her majesty as follows :

—

" The humble Petition of Sir George Bowes.

" To the Ciueenc"s Most Excellent Mat's-

"In mnste humble wise bcsechith yr Iliglmcs. Yor obedient sub-

ject and faithfull s'untc George Bowes, of Stretlara, in the countie

palatine of Duresme, Knight, that whereas y Matie saide subject in

testificac'on of his dewtifull good hartc tDwards yo^ Highncs, and to

advaunce yo^ Ma'i" against the late rebellc in the Nortl.e, hath truly

s'ved your Ma'ii^ against the ungodly and unnaturall attempt of the

said rebelle ; and in all that late s'vice sustayned such great charge in

the furnyture and execuc'on of the same, and suche extreme losses

by the spoyles of his goodes and houses defaced, as w'out y' Matie

gracious relief and goodness to be extended towards him, he shall

neither be hable to recover and hold his former estate, nor yet be

hable to s've y Ma''" in suche callinge and sorte as before he hath

done, and as he is most desyrous duringe his whole life to doe, being

fuUie resolved and redye therein to bcstowe his life, landcs, and all

that he possesses. Male it therefore please yo' most excellent Ma''",

of your bountifuU goodness towards yo'' said subject, to graunt to

him and his hcircs in foe simple landes and tcn'ts of the yearly value

of one hundred markes of the possessions of the late lebells in the

Northo attayntcd ; and also lands and teu'ts of the yearly rent of

eleven pounds of the possessions of the late dissolved monastarye of

Fountaine, in the countie of Yoike, now in th' occupac'on of yo' saidc

subject, lying undcvydeablie together with other landes in Cowton, a

number of juries of such as be untouched in this rebellion, unto thei

be auther (juited by law, or pardoned bi the CJ. Majestic. The num-
ber ulf ulfenders is bo grete, that few innocviU are lift to trie tlic yikie,"
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manor of yo' said subjecto, gcvinge to your Highness for the sama

ninctcne hxindreth marks, to be paid in fower yeares by equall

porc'ons ; or ells to graunte to yor said subject and his heires in fee

farme, one hundred pounds by yeare, p'eell of yo' Ma''« crowne pos-

sessions, givinge to yo^ Highnes for the same fourtcne himdreth

pounds, to be paid in fower yeares by equal porc'ons ; and also to

paic to yo' Ma'ie, yor heires and succsssors, th'accustomed rent and

fi^u'me. And yo' Highnes saide subject shall, is he is most bounden,

gladly employe himself and all that he hath in yor Ma'>° s'^ice, and

contynuallie praye imto God to grant unto yor Ha''" a long and most

prosperous reigne over us y" most humble and faithfuU subjects."

At length, on the 4th of November, 1572, Sir George

received, as the reward of his loyalty, some portions of

the forfeited estates, amongst which were Bradbury

and the Isle, Bradley, and Marienfield in Yorkshire;

but these, in each case, were burthened with a heavy

reserved rent. The letters patent state that the queen

had granted to him and to John Hutton and David

James, the lordship of Bradley, being part of Robert

and Michael Tempest's estate, attainted ; the lordship

of Scruton, and Markington, in co. York, part of the

estate of Thomas Markenfield, attainted; with all the

privileges and customs in Bradley, Eogerley, Frostcrley,

Sonneyside, Blackbank, Dayborne-syde, Newlandside,

Rucopp, and Wolsingham, in co. Durham ; and in

Scruton and Markington, in co. York ; also, four mes-

suages and 120 acres of land in Colierly, with the

messuage in Vyhurst (alias Ivyhurst), and Lince ; and

three mess, in !Murdon als Morden ; and one mess, in

Brusplatte, part of the said Tempest's estate, in co.

Durham ; two mess, in Sunderland, part of .John Swin-

borne's estate, attainted ; one mess, called Garter House,

in Fishbourne, part of Tempest's estate ; one mess.,

* The will of this gentleman, who died unmarried in 1599, is pre-

served in the Consistory Court of York. As a description of the

wardrobe of a fine gentleman of that period, its insertion may furnish

a relief to the important, but somewhat gloomy history of his prede-

cessor :

—

• In the name of God, Amen. The foure and twentieth day of

June, in the xlint year of the raignc of our Soveraigne Ladie Quene

Elizabeth, I Ilichard Howes, of Richmond, within the countie of

Yorke, Esquier, sicke in bodie, but of perfect remembrance, &c.,

declare this my last will and testament. I commit my soule unto

Almightie God my Creator, and my body to be buried in the church

of Richmond. Item, I give unto my brother, Talbot Bowes, my two

stoned horses, my two gray naggcs, and my dainty pasing black

nagge. Item, I give more unto ray brother Talbot a paire of britches

of haire colored velvet, thicke laid over with silver lace, a white

satan dublet, and a paire of silver colercd silke stockings. Item, to my
brother Tliomas my lease of the tythes of Gaynforth. Item, to my
sayd brother a sewte of haire colercd satann, a black taffatie cloke,

lined with sarcenet, and laced about the skiites imd down the bodie

with a large blackc silke lace. Item, I give fuithcr to my said bro-

ther a paire of purple silke stockinges. Item, I give to my brother

five closes, and two copices of wood, called Dalbank-

spring and Middleton-spring, co. York, out of INLirken-

ficld's estate ; and three mess, in Unthank, in parish

of Romykirk ; and the mess, in Ellerton with Bolton,

Laverton, Grantley with Hungate, and Kirk Staynley,

the said Markeufield's estate. Bradley, Scruton, &c.,

to be held, in capite, by the service of the fortieth part

of a knight's fee ;
paying various charges.

The constant engagements of Sir George Bowes in

public life prevented his frequent residence at Strcat-

1am. He was elected M.P. for Knaresborough in the

short parliament of 1571 ; and, in 1572, he represented

the borough of Morpeth. On the 27th July, 1576, he

was appointed high sheriff of the county palatine by the

queen ; and in 1579 he was governor of Berwick. He
died at Streatlam on the 1st of August, 1580, aged 53,

and was buried in the family vault at Barnard Castle.

His character for loyalty is summed up by Christopher

Rokeby, Esq., of Mortham Tower—" He teas the

surestepyllore the Qucns Majestie had in thes partes."

The children of Sir George Bowes by his first wife,

Dorothy IMallory, were. Sir William, who succeeded

him (see Br-^dley, vol. i., p. 643) ; Robert, bred to

the profession of the law, but killed in the Keswick

mines, 1600 ; George, of Biddie Waterville ; Henry,

married Anne Carnaby, of Kelso, and died without

issue in 1603 ; Elizabeth, married to Sir Christopher

AYandesford, of Kirklington, Yorkshire ; Agnes, mar-

ried to Sir John Conyers, of Sockburn ; and Jane, died

unmarried.

By his second wife, Jane Talbot, the Knight

Marshal had five sons, Francis, Talbot, Richard,*

John threescore and six poundes ten shillings and eight pence. Item,

unto my said brother John my seute of plain blacke satann, a large

blacke cloake, and a long pheson (pheasant) colored cloake laid

about the skirts and color (collar) with goulde lace, my two fethcr

beddes with the furniture, a canopie, a pair of hollin shittes (Holland

sheets), and a paire of hollin pillow biers. Item, to my sister Hilton

my gould ringe set with diamond; Item, I will that my executor

make two like unto it, the one whereof I give to my sister Agnes

Bowes, the other to my sister Hutton. Item, to my sister Jane vi^

vii. viiirf. Item, to Ambrose Barnes, xfc. Item, to Mrs. Anne War-
cop a brood (? a brooch, or a broad piece) and plaine goulde ringe, and

my scarfe and a eammericke handkerchef, laid about with gould lace

and wrought with silke. Item, to my cousin Johnson, parson of

Richmond, xxs. and one goulde ring set with a Cornish diamond ; to

Arthur Hallewell, xxs. ; to Humphrie Claxton, xxs. ; to Christopher

Miekleton, xxxs. Item, to my man Kirton, x/.v. .and a seute of russet

fustain and a Scottes sworde. Item, to Annas Blenkinsop, iii?. vis.

viiit/. and all my ruffes and shertes. Item, to Tliomas Caldwall, my
boy, my blacke grogerani scute and a paire of taunye saltan britches,

laid thirke with blacke silke lace. The rest of all my goods, movea-

ble and immoveable, I give to my brother Talbot Bowes, whom I
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Thomas,* and John ; and three daughters, Anne, mar-

ried, first, to Thomas HiUon, Esq., of Hilton Castle, and,

secondly, to John Dclaval, Esq., of Uissington, North-

umberland; Elizabeth (to whom the queen was god-

mother), married to Sir Timothy Hutton, Knt., of

Marske; and Jane, married, first, to — Chatterton, of

Ireland, and, secondly, to— Peacock. Margery Bowes,

fourth sister of the Knight Marshal, was the first wife

of John Knox, the Scottish Rcformer.f

On the death of Sir William Bowes, eldest son of Sir

George, in 1611, an entail, created by the latter in

1.569, came into operation; and Sir Talbot Bowes,

eldest surviving son of the Knight Marshal's second

marriage, entered on Streatlam and the other principal

estates. It was afterwards arranged by Sir Talbot,

with his brother Thomas, that the half of Streatlam,

Stainton, Cleatlam, and Barford, should be enjoyed by

Sir George Bowes of Biddick, representative of the

elder line ; but he sold his right in the two first-named

places, for a perpetual rent-charge of £100 per annum,

to ISIatthcw Hutton, Esq., of Marske, from whom it

was subsequently purchased by the widow of Thomas

Bowes, Esq. Cleatlam also, after passing through

intermediate proprietors, was eventually united to the

principal family estate.

Sir Talbot Bowes was elected M.P. for the borough

of Richmond eight times. He entertained James I. at

Aske, and was knighted by him on the 24th of April,

1617 ; being also master and keeper of the chases, &c.,

within the lordship of Barnard Castle, and steward of

the castle. He married Agnes, daughter of Thomas

ordine the full snd sole executor of tMs my last will and testament,

to see my debts paide, fiinerall charges, legaces, and bequests per-

formed. In witnes, S:c. Richard Bowes.
" 1 am to receive of my cosin Jenison, of Clcasbie, at Martinmas

Eve next, xfa. ; cousin Rokeby, \l. I owe cousin Blakiston the mer-

cer, bi.1."

* Thomas Bowes was of Gray's Inn, and of Chelsea, and afterwards

of Streatlam. lie was sometime a gentleman pensioner. lie married

Anne, daughter of Thomas Warco]), Esq., of Tanficld, Yorkshire, by

wliom he had tliree sons and a daughter.

t The acquaintance of Knox with the daughter of Richard Bowes,

commenced at Berwick, in 1-351. Her father ami uncle. Sir Robert,

were decidedly adverse to the union ; but her mother was constant

in her inclination to the connection, and tried every means to obtain

her husband's consent. " On the 6th November, 1.3.53," Knox says,

" I spake with Sir Robert Bowes on the matter ye know, whose dis-

dainful, yea despiteful words have so pierced my heart, that my life

is bitter to me." They were married in 1.3.53. She accon^panied her

husband to France in 1556, as well as her mother ; and they are men-

tioned as being at Geneva, 13 Sept., 15.56. Many of the letters of

Knox are addressed to Mrs. Bowes, whom he always designated by

the appellation of mulhcr. Mrs. Kno.x died In 1560, and Mrs. Bowes

Warcop, of Smardale, "Westmoreland, and died without

issue in February, 16.37-8.

Talbot Bowes, Esq., (who succeeded,) Avas the eldest

son of Thomas, fourth son of Sir George's second mar-

riage. He died in December, 1G54, and was succeeded

by his next brother, Thomas. Being imbued with the

hereditary loyalty of the family, a heavy fine was im-

posed upon him as a delinquent, on payment of which

he received a certificate from the committee sitting at

Newcastle, dated September 27, 16-19. He married

Anne, daughter and co-heiress of Anthony Maxton,

chaplain to Charles I., rector of Wolsingham, and pre-

bendary of Durham. He died in February, 1706 ; and.

to the prudence of his widow, during a period of 30

years after his death, the family are indebted for the

re-anne.xation of much of their original property. By
this lady, Thomas Bowes had six sonsj and five

daughters.

The three first-born sons died in infancy ; and the

fourth, William, became successor to the estates. He
was born in 10.36 ; admitted of Trinity College, Cam-

bridge, May 26, 1672; and entered of Gray's Inn,

June 4 of the same year. He was employed abroad

under Sir Leoline Jenkins ; and, after the peace of

Nimeguen, travelled into France and other European

countries. He was elected M.P. for the county of

Durham in August, 1679, and also in 1680, 1695,

1702, and 170.J. On the 1.3th of April, 1684, he was

knighted by Charles II. at A^^hitehall; and on July 15,

1685, he received the appointment of master forester

and chief warden of all the king's forests and chases in

in 1572. Letters are e.Ktant addressed by Mrs. Bowes to Knox, and

couched in the most affectionate language. The circumstances of this

connection place the domestic character of Knox in a favourable

light. By this marriage he had two sons, Nathaniel and Eleazar,

both educated in St. John's College, Cambridge, where the elder pro-

ceeded A.B. and A.M., and died Fellow of the Society in 1580. Ele-

azar -was B.D., vicar of Clacton Magna, Essex, and preacher of the

University. He was buried in St. Jolui's chapel in 1591. Both died

without issue, The only notice of the family m the Bowes papers is

in a letter from Thomas Appleby, Sir George's servant, to liis master,

dated London ,May 29, 15S0 :
—"The seneor Knox, your ncphewc,

who proccdid Mr. of A rte scnce Easter, was buryed at Cambridge

yesterday, and disseasid uppon Frydaye in the afternoonc. His sick-

ness was, they write, a tertiane ague, and he hath had it aboute xiiii.

dayes before God toke him to his mcrcyc."

X John, the fifth son, born 1658, wa.s of Trinity College, A.M., 1 681

;

S.T.P., 1698 ; rector of Elwick, 1701 ; of Bishopwcarmouth, 1715
;

prebendary of the 5th stall, 1696; of the first stall, 1712; died un-

married on the 14th of January, 1721-2, and was buried in Durham
Cathedral. George, the sixth son, born 1659, was solicitor- general to

Bishop Crewe, and recorder of the city of Durham. He married

Anne, daughter of .\.ntliony Salvin, Esq., of Sunderland Bridge, and

widow of Gilbert Machon, Esq. ; and he died without issue on May
M, 1724.
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the lordship of Barnard Castle, Teesdale, and Mar-

wood. In 1688, he raised a troop of horse, which

were reviewed on the Palace Green, Durham, by

Bishop Crewe, as Lord Lieutenant of the county ; and

it is said that higher honours were proffered to Sir

William, had he been disposed to accept them. He
married Elizabeth, eldest daughter and at length sole

heiress of Sir Francis Blatiston, Bart., of Gibside, by

Anne, daughter of Sir George Bowes, of Biddic, and

thus united the two lines of Bowes, besides addmg to

the family estates those of Gibside. Sir William died

in London, and was buried at Barnard Castle on the

lltli of February, 1706, leaving four sons and five

daughters.

William Blakiston Bowes, eldest son of Sir William,

was born January 1, 1697, and admitted a fellow com-

moner of Trinity College, Cambridge, September 25,

1707. He died intestate on the 7th of October, 1721.

Thomas, his next brother, having also died on the 18th

of May, 1700, the estates descended to George, third

son of Sir William, born August 21, 1701. He was a

captain in a regular regiment of horse in 1722, but

retired from the service, and was a candidate for the

representation of Berwick in the following year. On
the 21st of August, 1727, he contested the representa-

tion of Morpeth ; and, two days afterwards, he was

elected M.P. for the county of Durham, which he

continued to represent in the successive parliaments of

1734, 1741, 1747, and 1754. He was chairman of the

grand jury in the years 1730, 1736, 1741, 1746, 1747,

1750, 1753, and 1757, and was an active and able

magistrate. In 1745, he took an active part in raising

forces to repel the Pretender ; being appointed deputy

J Andrew Rohixson Sto.net Bowes.—On the death of the Earl,

the Countess of Struthmore, then 27 years of age, was not only a

pretty, lively, and very accomplished woman, but was considered

the best female botanist of the time, and had the character of being

literary, having ^vritteu a dramatic piece, called " The Siege of

Jerusalem," in five acts. She was, moreover, ip possession of irn-

jnense wealth, with the splendid adjuncts of a fine house in Grosvenor

Square, a house and extensive gardens and conservatories at Chelsea,

the seals of Paul's Walden, Gibside, Barnard Castle, and the castles

of Streatlam and Hilton, besides lands in Middlesex. " She possessed

a very pleasing en bon point. Her bust was uncommonly fine. Her
stature was rather luider the middle class ; her hair brown ; her eyes

light, small, and she w;is nearsighted. Her face was round; her

neck and shoulders graceful ; her lower jaw rather underhanging,

and which, whenever she was agitated, was moved very uncommonly,

as if convulsively, from side to side. Her fingers were small, and her

hands exceedingly delicate." Her house in Grosvenor Square was

the resort of many literary and scientific men, and in particular of

naturalists. Soon after her husband's death, a Mr. Grey, who had

made a fortune in India, aimed at her hand, and became an accepted

suitor ; but a new caudidatc appeared, whose arts were too jjowcrful,

lieutenant on the 14th of September, a captain of the

first troop of horse militia on the 21st, and colonel of

the armed association on the 15th of October. Mr.

Bowes's first wife, to whom he was united on the 10th

of October, 1724, was Eleanor, the beautiful daughter

and sole heiress of the Hon. Thomas Yerney, eldest

son of George Lord Willoughby de Broke, by Eleanor,

daughter of Thomas Lord Leigh, of Stoneieigh. She

died on the 14th of December following the marriage
;

and her husband remained a widower until June, 1743,

when he married ilary, otily daughter and heiress of

Edward Gilbert, Esq., of Paul's Walden, Hertfordshire,

by whom he had issue, a daughter, named, after both

his wives, Mary-Eleanor. He died on the 17th of Sep-

tember, 1760, and was buried at Whickham.

Mary-Eleanor, daughter and sole heiress of George

Bowes, Esq., was born on the 24th of February, 1749,

and married on her birth-day, in 1767, John Lyon,

Earl of Strathmore, son of Thomas, eighth earl, by his

wife, Jane, daughter and co-heiress of James Nicholson,

Esq., of West Rainton, M.P. for the city of Durham in

1708. In compliance with the will of his wife's father,

the earl, by act of jJarliament, took the name of Bowes.

The issue of this marriage were three sons and two

daughters. Lady Maria-Jane, the eldest daughter, was

born April 2, 1768; married at Hallgarth, May 11,

1789, Col. Barrington Price; and died at Cerney,

Gloucestershire, Aprd. 22, 1806. Lady Anna-Maria,

younger daughter, was married at Loudon, January 28,

1758, to Henry-James Jessup, and died March 29,

1832. The earl died on a voyage to Lisbon, March 7,

1776, aged 39.*

John Bowes, tenth Earl of Strathmore, born AprQ

and his schemes too deeply laid for the competition of ordinary cha-

racters.

This was Andrew Robinson Stoney, Esq., a younger son of a

respectable Irish family, born in 1745. He became a lieutenant

in the 30th regiment, which was quartered at Newcastle-upon-Tyne,

where he contrived to win the hand of Hannah, daughter and heiress

of William Newton, Esq., of Burnoptield, who posses^ed about

£1)0,000. His regiment being shortly alter disbanded, he took up his

residence at Cold-Pig Hill, the seat of his wife's ancestors. Mrs.

Stoney Avas an amiabie woman, but was hastened out of the world by
the cruelty of her husband, by such ingenious processes as pitching

her headlong down a flight of stairs, shutting her up in a closet in her

chemise (some say without it) for three days, and feeding her on an

egg a day, iuid by other modes of torture, mental and physical, of

which he was an eminent master. Having thus disposed of his first

vnie, he began, whilst carrj'ing on a system of gammg, cock-fighting,

and horse-racing, and visiting watering-places and the petty clubs in St.

James's, to look out for another. His attention was caught by the gay

widow of Grosvenor Square, and he determined to make a bold stroke

for so tempting a prize. Tlie mode by which he set about tliis was one

of the most remarkable and inspired etforts of demoniac genius. There

I
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11, 1709, was a cornet in the "Blues," November 15,

nSG, and captain in the Goth foot, May 15, 1789, but

retired from the army, February 2, 1791. He was

elected a representative peer of Scotland in 1796, 1802,

were, of course, characters about the countess adapted to the pro-

motion of his object ; and the acquaintance of these he cultivated,

corrupted them, and engaged them in his cause. Thus, by flattery,

by galhmtry, by every possible means, he made his way to the countess

tlirough her creatures. His connection in the county of Durh.am

through his first marriage, afforded a plea of introduction ; and, that

effected, he made his attack by every stratagem that man or woman
could devise. He soon perceived that the countess was of a romantic

and visionary turn of mind ; and he therefore got a conjuror tutored

to his wishes, and with a female emissary, planned a party in which

the countess was to be included, to have their fortunes told. He
caused letters to be sent to her, with the Durham postmark on them,

purporting to be from a lady, who complained that for the sake of the

coimtess he had forsaken her. In these letters suspicions were

thrown out that Mr. Grey, the accepted lover, was in the interest,

and supported in his wishes by the relatives of the late Lord Strath-

more ; a thing which, above all, was calculated to alarm the countess,

and excite a jealousy of their interference. These schemes succeeded;

but the grand stroke was to come.

A\'hilst he was thus cultivating the acquaintance of the countess, a

sweeping attack was made on her character, pursuits, and associates

in the "Morning Post." Vindications were made by her friends,

and replications ensued. The attention of the public was attracted

;

«nd the aspersions on the countess became so intolerable, that she

declared that whoever would avenge her, bj' challenging and fighting

the editor ol that paper, should be rewarded with her heart and hand.

Stoney, who had himself been the secret assailant, inmiediatcly

challenged the unwary editor (the Rev. Henry Bate, afterwards Sir

Henry Bate Dudley), fought hira, and contrived both to wound and be

wounded in the affair; and on the 17th January, 1777, only four

days after the duel, he was rewarded with tlie hand of the grateful

countess. lie soon after assumed the name of Bowes, by his majesty's

pleasure.

Having thus stepped into the possession of a most splendid fortune,

this adventurer, the month following his marriage, offered himself as

a candidate to succeed Sir Walter Blackett as o.-.e of the representa-

tives for Newcastle. His opponent, Sir John Trevelyan, Bart.,

polled 1,163, and Bowes I,0C8 votes. The latter lodged a petition,

whiih accused Sir J. Trevelyan of bribery ; but no sufficient proof

having been produced, the election was declared valid by a comnuttoe

of the House of Commons.

Bowes now took the house at Hammersmith, which the JIargravine

of Anspach had just left, and which was afterwards tlie residence of

Queen Caroline, the unfortunate consort of George IV. He cut down
much of the valuable tindier on the Gibside estate ; but the public

were afraid to purchase it, and it lay on his hands. From the Shaftoe

family he purchased the Benwell estate, and, in 1780, served the office

of high sheriff of the county of Northumberland. This year, he was
more successful in his electioneering attempts, being, on September

21, returned member for Newcastle by 1,135 votes. Mr. Dclaval

petitioned against him i but nothing was done in the business. At
this time, Gibside was the scene of feasting and extravagance ; but

the expenses of Bowes's shrievalty, his election contests, his horse-

racing, his insurances, and his purcliase of Benwell, compelled him
to retreat, hi 1703, to Paul's Walden, the scat of Mrs. Bowes, his

mother-in-law. The count(^ss, about this time, was delivered of a

son ; and Mr. Bowes affected mucli solicitude for her health. Having
t.dien a furnished house in Grosven-jr Square, they returned to Lon-

VOL. II.

and 1S07 ; and on the 7th of August, 1815, was created

an English peer, by the title of Baron Bowes, of

Strcatlam Castle, in the county palatine cf Durham,

and of Lunedale, in the county of York. The Der-

don, where this arch-tormentor continued his malignant practices.

AVhile pretending great tenderness to his unhappy wife, it is easier

to imagine than describe all the secret vilUmics and degradations

by which such a tyrant can make every moment of a woman of

feeling and refinement bitter as death. In the first place, Bowes
carried on the most licentious intercourse with women of all kinds.

He seduced almost every maid-servant, and all the farmers' daugh-

ters that he could. He expended on other women great sums in

jewellery and other extravagances; and he cared not how much
of all this came to the knowledge of his wife. Amongst others

was a beautiful young woman, one of his farmers' daughters, whom
he had seduced, and for whom he had at one time purchased £50

worth of truikets in Cockspur Street ;
" her mother and sister,"

says his biographer, " came after dinner, ami they all look lea with the

countess."

In order to silence his wife, and to hold her i/i terrorum, as well as to

provide himself with a weapon against her, should she be at any time

driven by desperation to seek the protection of the laws against him,

he resorted to one of those means which only a first-rate scoundrel

could imagine or accomplish. He compelled his wife to write, or

wrote for her, " The Confessions of the Countess of Strathmore," in

which he made her to draw the strangest picture of herself, and her

life before her marriage with him, imaginable. That any woman of

education would voluntarily thus sketch out a confession of the

grossest infamy against herself, is beyond all conception. The cruel-

ties and indignities by which she was coerced have not been all re-

corded ; but one means said to have been employed was to enclose

her hair, which was long and very fine, in a chest, and locking

it down, keep her thus confined in a lying posture till her will gave

way to his diabolical wishes ! Having extorted i'rom her the " Con-

fessions," they were "laid behind his pillow by night, and read by

him in scraps for his purpose by day. He got them by heart ; they

formed a part of his travelling equipage to Paris, and every where else_

They were a treasure which he hugged to his bosom, and over which

he brooded with a rancorous rapture." Nor did he forget, at the

necessary moment, to hand them into a public court of law against

his wife. Meanwhile, every mental and physical suffering that in-

genuity could devise was inflicted upon her. "Her person, ac-

customed only to distress and confiuement, found no alleviation of

tlie bitterest sorrow. Mind and body jointly sitbmitted to receive

the pressure which Bowes, like a mangle, daily rolled upon them, and

both were grievously collapsed."

Bowes now commenced a series of stratagems to obtain pos-

session of the countess's two daughters, who were wards in Chan-

eery ; and, under the plea that the very life cf their mother depended

on seeing them, he succeeded in escaping with Lady Anna-Maria,

the youngest, to Paris, taking the countess with hira. Though he

employed the professional powers of the greatest lawyers of their

time, Erskine, Law, and Scott, (afterwards respectively Lords Ers-

kine, KUenborough, and Eldon), the Court of Chancery compelled

him, in November, 17S4, to restore the young l;;dy to her proper

protectors.

The continued cruelties of Bowes at length roused the mind of the

unhappy countess to a paroxysm of desperation ; and s!ie deterinincd

to escape from him, and put herself under the protection of the laws.

Accompanied by a faithful waiting nniid, she conti'ivcd, whilst Bowes

went out to dine, on the 7th of Febrnaiy, 17t>o, to elude the vigilance

of his satellites, and got undiscovered ijito Oxlb:d Screet, where, after
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went infantry and Gibslde cavalry were raised, during

the late war, at his expense, and were placed under his

command. On Sunday, July 30, 1820, he married

Miss Maiy !Milner, of Staindrop, and died on the day

some torturing delay, they entered a hackney coach. Scarcely was

this eifected, when they saw Bowes in pursuit, looking out of the

window of another coach, Avithout his hat, and dririjig very fast.

Fortunately, he did not see them ; but the escape was so narrow, that

the countess, in her low state of health, fell into hysterics, and could

with difficulty be persuaded that she was out of danger. She was

conducted to the house of Mr Shuter, barrister, in Cursiter Street, and

exhibited articles of the peace against her husband in the Court of

King's Bench. Bowes took lodgings in the same street, and watched

her as a cat would a mouse ; whilst he appealed, as an injured man>

to the Courts of Chancery, of King's Bench, and even of Doctors'

Commons. He had, however, employment enough of itself to bribe

all the maid servants and others whom he had seduced, to silence the

cries of their distressed children and to keep hunger and ruin out of

the way of any honest justification and strong temptation ; but in spite

of all this, there were sufficient who found their way to Doctors'

Commons to answer the countess's purpose.

The proofs exhibited in court were of the most horrid kind : and

to feel the force of them, the rank and sensitive mind of the countess

must be takeu into consideration, with what she had done for Bowes,

and that these inflictions had been the ordinary treatment of long

years. They consisted in "beating, scratching, biting, pinching,

whipping, kicking, imprisoning, insulting, provoking, tormenting,

mortifj'ing, degrading, tyrannizing, cajoling, deceiving, lying, starving,

forcing, compelling, and a new torment, 'nTinging of the heart." To

all these allegations Bowes had little to oppose, except those Confessions

which he had had manufactured expressly for such an emergency

;

and the trial terminated most decisively in favour of the countess.

Bowes was, however, determined not to be foiled ; and he kept a

constant watch upon the motions of the countess. Aware of her

danger, she took into her weekly pay a constable named Lucas, a

highly respectable man, in whom the court had great confidence, but

whose honesty was not proof against the temptations of Bowes. This

man, on the 10th of November, 1786, inquired of the coachmen, as

his custom wes, if his lady went out that day, and was answered in the

affirmative, receiving orders to attend between one and two o'clock in

the afternoon. About that time, her ladyship had business at a Mr.

Foster's, in Oxford Street ; and for company, took Mr. Farrer, brother

to her solicitor, and her maid, in the coach with her. In their way

they met with no interruption ; but they had scarcely been five minutes

in the house of Mr. Foster, before some persons known to be

emissaries of Bowes came into the shop. Alarmed at their appear-

ance, the countess withdrew to an inner room and locked the door,

requesting Jlr. Fo.'iter, at the same time, to go privately and procm-e

assistance, to be in readiness for her protection, in case any violence

should be offered. He had scarcely left the house when Lucas tapped

at the room door, and, on being admitted, informed her ladyship tliat

she was his prisoner, that a warrant had been put into his hands,

that he must do his duty, but that it was rather fortunate for

her ladyship, as he would take her before Lord Mansfield at

Caen Wood, who, no doubt, would frustrate all the wicked purposes

of her enemies, and take her under his own immediate protection.

With this artful talc, in the then state of her mind, she was easily

prevailed upon to step again into her coach, as Mr. Farrer was per-

mitted to accompany her. The moment she was seated, her servants

were all dicharged by a pretended order from her ladyship, a con-

federate coachman mounted the box, and a new set of attendants, all

armed, surrounded the coach. Li this manner they proceeded, with-

after the nuptial ceremony, in the 52nd year of his age.

His estates were not entailed ; and he made a full

settlement of his property previous to his death. The
English barony expired with him ; and a doubt arose

out noise or interruption, till they reached Highgate HiU, at the

bottom of which stood Mr. Bowes, who, addressing himself to Mr.

Farrer, very civilly requested to change places with him, and then

seated himself at the right hand of his lady, who was no longer

in doubt as to his design. The coachman was now ordered to

proceed, and to quicken his pace.

Mr. Farrer, being now at liberty, made all possible haste to London,

and application was made immediately to the Court of King's Bench,

in order to effect a rescue. Two days afterwards, two of Lord Mans-

field's tipstaffs set off for that purpose to the North. In the mean
time, Bowes continued his journey. At Barnet, fresh horses were

ready to put in ; and a post-chaise and four, with some accomplices,

were in waiting to attend. Though the windows of the coach

were broken, and the lady appeared in great distress, yet not the

least effort was made to interrupt their progress ; and it was not

till the next day at noon, when a servant of Bowes arrived at the

Angel inn, at Doncaster, 195 miles from London, that there is any

account of their further proceedings. In half an hoiu-, the coach

stopped in the street ; and while the horses were being changed, Mr.

Woodcock, the master of the inn, handed some cakes to Bowes,

which the latter presented to the lady ; but whether she accepted

them or not, the landlord could not positively assert. The moment
the horses were in harness, they pursued their course northward ;

and the next place where they were noticed was Bransby Moor,

where the lady was shown into a room, attended by a chambermaid^

and guarded by Bowes, who hastened her return, and seemed all im-

patience till she was again seated in the coach. At Ferry Bridge,

she had leave to go into the garden ; but Bowes waited at the door.

What further passed till they arrived at Streatlam Castle remained

a secret till her ladyship's airival, iri the evening of the 21 -t of

November, at the house of Messrs. Farrer and Lacy, on Bread Street

Hill. The detail she then gave of her sufferings, during the eleven

days of absence, was truly pitiable. She stated that, at the time of

taking her away, the confederates were all armed ; that, as they

drove along, Bowes endeavoured to persuade her to sign a paper, to

stop proceedings in the Ecclesiastical Court, and to consent to live

under the name and character of his wife, both which she positively

refused to do ; that he then beat her on the face and body with his>

clenched fists ; that, when she attempted to cry out, he thrust a

handkerchief into her mouth ; that, on the most trifling contradiction,

while on the road, he beat her with the cham and seals of his watch

on the naked breast ; and that, at last, provoked by her firmness, he

presented a loaded pistol to her he.id, and threatened her life if she

did not instantly sign the paper, but this she was determined never to

do. On arrivirg at Streatlam, he endeavoiu-cd to persuade her to

take the government of the family, and to act in every respect as his

wife, which she still most solemnly refused to do ; on which, in a

glow of passion, he pulled out a pistol, bid her say her prayers, and,

with a trembling hand, presented it to her head. This, too, failing of

effect, he violently beat her, then left her, and she saw no more of

him for a whole day, when coming up to the room rather more calm

than usual, he asked her if she was not yet reconciled to a dutiful

domestic life ; and being answered with some asperity, he flew into a

more violent passion than she had ever yet seen him, pulled out the

pistol, and bid her say her last prayers—she did say her prayers,

and then bid him fire !

By this time, the whole country began to be alarmed for her, and

he for his own safety. He, thcrcfoie, in order to cover his escape.
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whether a marriage in England, subsequent to the birth

of a child, would legitimatize that child in Scotland.

The question was determined in the negative; and the

Scottish peerage devolved upon his lordship's youngest

brother, the Hon. Thomas-Lyon Bowes, who became

Earl of Strathmore, Viscount Lyon, and Barou Glamis,

and keep her still in his power, ordered two of his domestics to be

dressed up so as to personate himself and her ladyship, and to shew

themselves occasionally before the windows to appease the populace,

and to deceive his pursuers. This stratagem had its full effect ; the

people were quiet whUe they thought her ladyship was safe ; and the

sheriff's officers, who were sent to execute the attachment, actually

served it on the wrong persons ; while, in the mean time, Bowes took

her out a back way; dragged her, between ten and eleven o'clock, in

tlie dark, to a little cottage in the neighbourhood, where they spent

the remainder of the night, and where he behaved to her in a manner

shocking to the delicacy of civilized life, by reiterating his threaten-

ings, and, finding threats in vain, throwing her on the bed, and

flogging her with rods. On leaving the cottage in the morning, he

had her set on horseback behind him, without a pillion, and took her

over a dismal and trackless course, covered with snow, to Darlington

where, in the house of an attorney, which occupied the site of the

present Joint Stock Bank, she was shut tip in a dark room, and

threatened (a red-hot poker being held to her breast) with a mad

doctor and strait-waistcoat ; but all in vain.

The hour of deliverance drew near. Here they had been tracked
;

the house was beleaguered by the tipstaffs from London ; and it

•was no longer safe for Bowes to remain. He therefore skulked out

the back way, through the Sun inn yard, and set out with her before

day, in the same manner that he brought her, taking her over hedges

and jiloughed fields, till, being seen by the husbandmen at work, he

•was so closely hemmed in, that an old countryman caught hold of his

horse's bridle. Bowes presented his pistol to frighten him, but

•was knocked down by Christopher Smith, a constable of Neasham,

who was in pursuit of him, and felled to the ground with the but- end

of one of his own pistols. He had previously endeavo'-ired to cajole

the countrymen by offering to reward them if they would conduct

him across the Tees. The countess having slipped off the horse, and

made herself known, Smith bade the men get sticks, set upon him,

and take him at all events. "Anthony Claxton," says he, "put off his

hat, and went near Bowes, which I perceiving, bid him put on his hat

and be upon his guard ; and seeing Bowes rest his pistol upon the

other in the belt, I rushed upon him and seized them both, and called

for assistance, when John Walton came and took hold of the horse

and led him past me. While Bowes .struggled with me, one of the

pistol handles broke in my hand ; and by pulling them away, the

guard of the trigger cut a piece out of the foremost finger of my right

hand. I threw that pistol away, and with the other gave Bowes a

blow upon the right side of his head, which knocked him from the

horse. Fearing he had more pistols about him, and that he might

shoot some of us, I gave him another blow upon the back part of his

head, and cut it about two inches. Lady Strathmore asked if he was

killed, and desired we would not strike hira again ; and several times

bade us search his pockets for pistols, and take care he did not shoot

some of us. Her ladyship, being then upon her horse before Gabriel

Thornton, bade us farewell. I sent John Gunson away for a surgeon

to dress the wound, and took him to Eliza Stubbs's till Tho. Bowes,

Mr. Turner, and Mr. Kudd's man came and dressed the wound, and

then carried Bowes away to Mr. Tho. Bowcs's house at Darlington

And on the Wednesday, he was conducted to London by three men
from Lord Mansfield's and Bow Street offices," The countess,

Tanadyer, Scidlaw, and Stradichtle. His grandson,

Thomas-George Bowes, born September 28, 1822, is

the present inheritor of the Scottish titles and estates.

The Hon. George Bowes, of Paul's Walden, eldest

brother of the tenth Earl of Strathmore, was born

November 10, 1771 ; married, June 14, 1805, Mary,

meanwhile, made the best of her -way to London, attended by some of

her deliverers.

On the 22d of the month, she appeared in the Court of King's Bench ;

but the court being up, no proceedings could that day be had on her

case. The next day, she was again presented to the court; and as

soon as the judges were seated, Mr. Law, her council, moved, "That
she might exhibit articles of the peace against her husband, A. R.

Bowes." The articles were read, and being sworn to and signed, tn

attachment was immediately granted against Bowes. On the 27th,

he was produced at court, to answer the articles. He was dressed in

a drab-coloured great coat, with a red silk handkerchief about his

head. He was supported by two men, yet nearly bent double -n-ith

weakness, in consequence of his wounds. He frequently appeared

on the point of fainting ; and liis appearance, on the whole, was the

most squalid and emaciated that can possibly be imagined. The
result of his desperate undertaking was, that he was sentenced to

pay a fine of £300 to his majesty; to be imprisoned in the King's

Bench for three years ; and at the end of that term to find security

for fourteen years, himself in £10,000, and two sureties of £5,000

each. Lucas, the constable, was very justly sentenced to a fine of

£50, and three years imprisonment in Newgate ; and the other ac-

complices received proportionate punishments. The countess ob-

tained a sentence of divorce from Doctors' Commons, and in her

exultation at her liberation, wrote the following epitaph on the fallen

villain, and sent it by Lady Strathmore to Bowes in the King's

Bench prison ;

—

"Here Rests,

'UTio never rested before.

The most ambitious of men ; for he sought not

Virtue, wisdom, nor science,

Yet rose by deep hypocrisy, by the

Tolly of some, and the vice of others,

To honours which nature had forbade, and

Riches he wanted taste to enjoy.

He saw no faults in himself, nor any worth in others.

He was the enemy of mankind
;

Deceitful to his friends, ungrateful to his benefactors, cringing

To his superiors, and tyrannical to his dependants.

If interest obliged him to assist any fellow cre.ature, he regretted the

Effect, and thought every day lost in which he made none wretched.

His life was a continual series of injuries to society.

Disobedience to his Maker ; and he only lamented in despair

That he could off'end tli'jm no longer.

He rose by mean arts

To unmerited honours, which expire before liimself.

Passenger I examine thy heart.

If in aught thou resemblest him
;

And if thou dost

—

Read, tremble, and reform !

So shall he, who living was the pest of society,

AVhcn dead, be, against his will, once useful to mankind."

The remainder of Bowch's life, which continued for 22 years after

his trial, was spent in prison, or within the rules of one ; first, in

the State Rooms ; then, within the walls of the Bench ; and about
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Kingstondaughter of Edward Thornhill, Esq., of

Lisle, Berkshire; and died without issue, December 3,

1806. His widow, in December, 1811, married Col.

Barrington Price, widower of Lady Maria-Jane Bowes
(see page 54).

the last 12 years, within the rules in St. George's Fields. But he
was by no means idle during this period. Law and intrigue still

continued to be his farourite pursuits. Soon after his marriage with
the countess, he discovered that she had contrired and signed a deed,

reserving to herself the estates left by her father whether she mar-
ried or remained single. This deed he had induced her to revoke.

She had also been considerably in debt, and joined Bowes in a deed,

granting annuities to the yearly amount of £3,000 for the countess's

life, by which measure £24,000 was raised. In order to secure the

payment of these annuities, certain parts of the estates, in which the

countess had a life interest, were vested in trustees, who were to pay
the surplus, if any, to Bowes and the countess. By the decision of

the Court of Chancery in 17S5, the deed of revocation, which he had
forced the countess to sign, was declared a nullity; and it was re-

ferred to a Slaster in Chancery to take an account of the rents

received by Bowes since the commencement of the suit ; a large sum
was reported to be due from him ; and a receiver of the rents and
profits was appointed. A long train of litigation followed, during

which, on the 20th of April, ISOO, the countess died ; when Bowes
moved from the Bench to St. George's Fields. In June, 1807, the

deed of revocation was brought before Sir James Mansfield, and a

verdict was fouud in favour of the Earl of Strathmore, which ter-

minated Bowes's legal transactions. During this time, his tricks and

contrivances were innumerable. He could be ill at pleasure—asthma-

tic—spitting blood from the rupture of a vessel, but in reality having

swallowed calves' blood for the purpose—and sick to death in a

coach, when called to appear before the Court, having provided him-

self with a dose of ipecacuanha in readiness for such an occasion.

He laid aU manner of schemes to cheat all whom he had emy thing

to do with, even the husbands of his sisters, on pretence of leaving

them his BenweU estate, provided they guaranteed him an annuity

;

and what shewed his extreme cunning was, that he contrived to

fleece a whole series of attorneys, one after another, making them

advance money to him while he employed them in hLs lawsuits, till

they each in turn refused to advance any more. These exploits gave

him the highest deliglit.

Amongst the catalogue of his villanies in seduction, the most

strange is that of a respectable young woman, whom he used to see

as she went to visit her father in prison, who had been a man of large

landed property, but had ruined him-ielfby keaping a pack of hounds.

This young lady had five children by him, wliich were ties of such

strong affection to her, that they made her undergo all the cruelties

she suffered at Bowes' hands rather than be separated from them.

Indeed, he kept her locked up in a room by herself, and she

was literally a prisoner in his house from 1787 to the day of his

death. He watched her, notwithstanding, with the most vigilant and

inquisitive jealousy. On one occasion, a gentleman had chambers in

the King's Bench which happened to face those of the apartment

in which he kept this young lady. The gentleman could not look

out of liis window without Bowes imagining instantly that he was in

love with the fair captive. He therefore dressed himself up in her

clothes, and flirted with this gentleman at the window. l"his he re-

peated for many successive mornings, and had satisfactorily engaged

the gentleman's attention. When he had worked up his plot, and

brought his deception to the proper pilch, Bowes threw open she

window, shook off his female dress, and displayed his own proper

The dowager Countess of Strathmore, widow of the

tenth earl, was married at St. George's, Hanover
Square, London, on the 16th March, 1831, to AV'illiam

Hutt, Esq., then M.P. for Kingston-iipon-Hull, and
now for Gateshead. Her son, John Bowes, Esq.. of

person, laughing, insulting, and jeering by breaths, as he could do
in a manner to confound those whom he had caught in his toils. The
poor man was so disconcerted, that he was not risible for a long time

after.

His amusements and habits of life became lower as he grew older

;

and they were the more demonstrable, as he not only drank his wuie

selfishly, but also took to spirituous liquor. He kept no servant

;

and would buy neither brushes nor brooms, but the two daughters

—

daughters of the locked-up lady—went do^vn upon their knees, and

gathered up the dirt with their hands. To induce new and unwary
attorneys to bite, and advance money, he would pretend that he

would sell his estates—BenweU, deeply mortgaged, and a property

which had fallen to him in Ireland, with about three hundred a-year

;

and would make a grand display of this property ; would produce the

reports of surveyors who had valued it, at the same time that he

pleaded his great necessities, his own tattered appearance, and the

state of his children, whom he contrived should be seen without shoes

or stockings. He would even name the day of sale ; yet he never

sold, always having in the mean time effected his purpose of spunging

his dupe.

At the last extremity, this extraordinary man made his will, leaving

something to each of his children by the captive lady, but not even

mentioning her in it who had so long suffered all his tyrannies, capri-

cious cruelties, and asperities of temper, with the most exemplary

patience, and with every endeavour to the last moment to contribute

to his comfort. It was not without the earnest entreaties .-md tears of

his and her own children, and by the persuasions of Mr. Foote, that

he was at the last moment prevailed on to name her with £100 per

annum. His death took place on the 16th of January, 1810.

Mr. Jesse Foote, surgeon, who concludes his biography of Bowes
with the pithy sentence, •' He was a villain to the back-bone !" thus

describes him :
—" His speech was soft, his height more than five feet

ten, his eyes were bright and small, he had a perfect command over

them, his eyebrows were low, large and sandy, his hair light, and his

complexion muddy ; his smile was agreeable, his wit ready, but he

was always the first to l.augh at what he said, which forced others to

laugh also. His conversation was shallow, his education was bare,

and his utterance was in a low tone and lisping. There was some-

thing uncommon in the connexion of his nose with his upper lip ; he

never could talk without the nose, which was long and ciu'ved down-

wards, being also moved ridiculously with the upper lip." Another

writer describes Bowes as possessing the most fascinating manners,

and as being witty, hospitable, and convirial, and a most pleasant

table companion. He lived on terms of great intimacy find friendship

with the late Duke of Norfolk, and Sir. Lee, the celebrated lawyer,

for some time attorney-general ; and, in early life, he was respected

by both the Scotts, afterwards Lords Stowell and Eldon. That

Bowes, even in later times, retained some opulent friends is certain,

or he never could have obtained security to the amount of £14,000 for

the privilege of the Rules of the King's Bench prison. He had a

sister, who married the Hon. Arthur Moore, judge of the Common
Pleas in Ireland. The issue of Bowes by his marriage ^rith the

Countess of Strathmore, were, 1, William Johnstone Bowes, bom
May 8, 1782, at Paul's Walden, lieut. R.X., lost in the Blenheim,

with Sir Thomas Trowbridge, 1807 ; 2, Mary, resided for some time

at Bath, unmarried.
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Streatlam Castle, is proprietor of the English estates of

the junior branch of the ancient flimily of Bo\yes. He
was elected M.P. for the Southern Division of the

county of Durham in July, 1837, in July, 1841, and in

January, 18-47.

Akms of Bowes of Stue.vtl.vm^I. Ermine, three long bows Gules.

2. Argent, a cross flory inter four martlets Vert, Da/den. 3. Azure, a

maunch Or, Conyers. 4. Azure, a maunch Or, an annulet for differ-

ence, Conyers of Cowton. 5. Barry of Or and Azure, Aske. G. Azure,

five fusils in fer.sc. Crest—On a wreath, a sheaf of six arrows,

salterwise Or, banded Gules.

I

STREATLAM CASTLE.

The original castle of Streatlam is supposed to have

been built by the Baliols, and was the residence of the

ancient f;imily of Trayne, predecessors of the Boweses.

Sir ^Villiam Bowes, as has been seen, rebuilt the castle

from the ground about 1450. That it was a place of

considerable strength may be inferred from the fact,

that though Sir George Bowes threw himself into

Barnard Castle on the 27th of November, 1569, yet

Streatlam was not taken by the rebels till the 4th

December. They evacuated it on the 16th of the same

month ; but during the brief period of its occupation

by them, every species of wanton excess and depreda-

tion had been committed. The glass windows and iron

stancheons had been torn out, and every thing carried

away which could be removed; so that the loss sus-

tained by Sir George was estimated, at Streatlam alone,

at £1,200. Amongst the articles plundered on this

occasion were, a "gilded" suit of armour, which stood

in the gallery ; " 40 fether beds ; the hangings of

tapestry, for ij chambers ; the hangings of say, for iij

cliambers ; a gowne of plaine black velvat, a gowne of

tawnye velvat, and one of black wrought velvat ; a fore

parte of blackc velvat, laide all over with lace of

goulde ; one of black velvat, laid all over with bonne

lace of silver and goulde ; a kyrtle of crimisin damaske,

and overbodic of blackc velvat, all imbroderyd ; a dob-

blet of white satten ; as much long frenge and narrow

frenge as would dresse a saddle and a pillion; a littell

gilted cofcr, with half a doscn peaces of goldesmithe

worke ; a dosen great pearlc ; a blew sayfer and an

amytas ; one paire of crymisin velvat bretches, laid all

over with silver lace ; ij tunes of gascoignc wine, one

firkin of sackc; iiij tents, with their furniture," &c.

The work of destruction was so complete, that Sir

George was obliged to take up his residence at the Isle

fqr several mouths afterwards; and he was unable to

receive the Earl of Sussex at Streatlam until the 10th

of September following.

Some portions of the old walls, &c., have been re-

tained in the present building, which was new fronted

and modernized by Sir William Bowes, great grandson

to the Knight Marshal, in 1708, 9, and 10, when the

stone was won from the quarries of Staioton and Ling-

bury. Its front elevation, which is towards the south,

consists of a centre and projecting wings, on each of

which there is a cupola; the walls being surmounted

by a handsome balustrade, from whence a rich and
undulating prospect may be enjoyed. The castle is

three lofty stories in height, and 152 feet in length,

which is less by 12 feet than the front of the former

castle. Near the western extremity, the remains of a

square tower are visible in the wall. At this end of

the castle, and below the level of the present passage,

there was formerly an iron "grille," which separated

the portion called the dungeon from the more habitable

part ; and rings, with chains attached, were fixed in the

walls. In 1580, after the death of Sir George Bowes,

four vaults are mentioned in the inventory of his house-

hold furniture; one of which was called the "great

vault" beside " Haddox hole," which was the lower

dungeon. The great hall was above the dungeons
;

and the chapel was on the next floor above. Two
pointed arches, now built up, are supposed to have

been lights to the ancient chapel. Two antique sculp-

tures of the arms of Sir William Bowes, builder of the

previous castle, impaling those of Greystock, are built

up in the north wall of the present edifice ; as is also a

representation of the seal of Sir William, with the arms

of Baliol, Dalden, Greystock, and De la Ilaye. To-

wards the north-east end of the building there were

formerly a gateway, a moat, and a drawbridge; and
the remains of ancient buildings still exist beneath the

adjacent ground, which also contained a pond, called

the " moat." To the north of the western wing there

was a sort of walled and deep tank, in wliich articles of

value were secreted in times of danger and alarm.

Several human skeletons, skulls, &c., have, from time

to time, been found to the north and north-cast of the

castle.

The f)rincipal flimily portraits at Streatlam are—Sir

George Bowes. Knight Marshal^ 1572, aged 45; Sir

George Bowes, his grandson, in the dress of a gentle-

man pensioner, 1628, aged 32; a portrait unknown,
dressed in a buff jerkin ; Mrs. Bowes, widow of Tho-

mas (Miss Maxton), 1688, aged 65; Sir 'NVilliam

Bowes and Lady Bowes, with their daughters and sous,
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William Blakiston and Thomas; George Bowes, Esq.,

in his favourite blue frock coat, and several portraits of

his first wife, the beautiful ^liss Verney ; Mary-Eleanor

Bowes, afterwards Countess of Strathmore, in crayons

;

John Lyon, ninth Earl of Strathmore, painted in 1763

;

" John, Earl of Strathmore, given to his son, by Tho-

mas, Lord Camelford;" John Bowes, tenth Earl of

Strathmore, in the uniform of the " Blues ;" John

Bowes, Esq., in a Spanish dress, by Jackson ; and Sir

Martin Bowes (not of the Streatlam line), " The gift of

the Eight Honourable Arthur Onslow, Speaker of the

House of Commons." There are also several pictures

by eminent masters, amongst which are, a portrait of

the Archduke Albert, by Rubens ; a Fruit Stall, a

Boar Hunt, and a Game Stall, by Snyders ; the Holy

Family, by Annibal Caracci, after Raphael ; and several

smaller paintings. A heavy cuirass and a helmet,

reputed to have been worn by Sir George Bowes, are

preserved at Streatlam ; and the room in which he died

has stiU the reputation of being subject to his occasional

visitations.

Hutchinson and others have designated the situation

of Streatlam Castle as " gloomy and confined ;" whilst

Sir Cuthbert Sharp says that its general features are

" quiet grandeur and solemnity," though he admits

that " it has evidently been chosen and retained from

more imperious considerations than the smiling and

picturesque beauty of the landscape." The castle, in-

deed, occupies the bottom of a deep valley, of no great

width, through which flows, immediately in front of

the building, a little rivulet, here called Streatlam

Beck, but which higher up is known as the Forth

Bum, and lower down as the Alweut Burn. The

rising ground, on the south side of the stream, cuts off

the prospect in that direction. The park, which sur-

rounds the castle, contains about 400 acres, nearly one-

fourth of which is planted with ash and sycamore.

STAINTON.

This village has been variously termed Stainton Law—
Black Stainton, from the moorish character of its situa-

tion

—

Stainton en Ics Craggs, from its extensive quarries

of freestone, from which the stone for the castle and

town of Barnard Castle has been dug—and Stainton in

le Kerris, or Carrs, from a tract of bog land, nearly a

mile in extent, on the south side of the road from

Barnard Castle to Staindrop, called Broomielaw Stell,

or Blackbeck Bog. The village contains a public

house; but no business of importance is carried on.

There is a school for boys and girls, at which, on the

visit of the government inspector on the 15th of June,

1853, 38 children were present at examination, 17 had

left, and 12 had been admitted during the preceding

twelve months. The following are the inspector's ge-

neral observations :

—

"Buildings, fair-sized room, floor half of wood and half of stone;

no class-room. Desks, four loose. Furniture, clock. Playground,

good-sized yard. Books, fair. Apparatus, black-board. Organiza-

tion, methods, discipline, and instruction, fair."

The minister of the Independent chapel in Barnard

Castle formerly held a service in the school-room everj'

Sunday afternoon ; but this duty has, for the last few

years, been performed alternately by the Rev. George

Dugard, incumbent of the chapelry, and the Rev.

Thomas Evan Jones, curate. There was anciently a

chapel of ease at Stainton ; but no traces of it now

remain. The Wesleyan Methodists have a chapel in

the village.

The highway through the village of Stainton runs

close by the front of the dwelling-houses ; and on the

opposite side of the road there is a large space of

ground, which has always been used as a village green.

On the 26th of November, 1851, Mr. John Dent, agent

to John Bowes, Esq., appeared before the magistrates

; at the Barnard Castle petty sessions, on the information

of Mr. Thomas Cruddas, of Stainton, charging him

with having caused an obstruction and encroachment

I

on the highway, by building a stone wall between the

outer side of the road and the village green, so as to

inclose the latter, and lay it to the adjoining lands be-

I

longing to Mr. Bowes. The magistrates decided, that

as the wall was built in some places within 15 feet of

the centre of the road, it was an encroachment, and

fined the defendant 40s. and costs ; the survevor being

ordered to null down the wall. A countercharsre was

P then made by Mr. Dent against Mr. Thomas Cruddas

and Mr. Martin Atkinson, of wilfully injuring the

surface and highway, by tearing up the stones and soil

thereof. It appeared that there was an ancient well

and spring of water upon the village green, and within

a few feet of the road, at which the inhabitants had

been accustomed to draw water for upwards of 50

years, but which had been enclosed by the wall above

alluded to. The charge arose from the defendants

having pulled down a part of the wall near this well,

which they admitted, but contended that Mr. Bowes
had no exclusive right to inclose an ancient accustomed

well in his grounds. The information was dismissed.

The Traynes, lords of Streatlam, were earlv propric-
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tors of Stainton, which they originally obtained by

grants from the Baliols. Margaret, daughter of Hugh
Traync, became the wife of John Norays, of Dalton,

when her father granted to her two osgangs in Stain-

ton, consisting of twenty-four acres lying separately at

Applebrewall, Blakelawe, Milnstanside, Pikelawe, Nor-

manlawe and Hermire, and Sengelawe. In 1262, after

the death of her husband, she released the same lands

to her brother, Robert Traync. Adam the Smith, of

Midleton, for the service which the said Robert had

rendered to him at his great need, surrendered to him

his land in Staynton. Robert Trayne granted to

Harold de Stainton a messuage and nine portions of

land lying at Grccnwellflat, Lucewell Chcstres, at the

Lady Cross, ad Crucem Domina, on the east of the

road to Cletlam, at Stainton Law, and at the Old

Assart betwixt the thickets on the north and the brook

on the south, at Suthenesflatt, at Blakelawe, and the

portion called the Rood, between the grantor's lands

and the road to the castle. Other small properties are

named in ancient charters.

Geoffrey, son of Jordan Russell, seneschal to Bishop

Stichill, acquired a considerable estate in Stainton by

various purchases. Amongst these were the lands of

Sir A^'illiam de Hamildon, who, in 1300, released them

to Sir John de L'Isle, by whom they were transfen-ed

to Russell. The latter also acquired Methestres, Dol-

finrydding, and Quarinangyll, from Thcophania, daugh-

ter of John ; and Robert Mustel, of Kendale, and his

wife, Amabil of Burahousehead, granted a messuage

and lands to him. These estates, together with the

lands released to Geoffrey by Eudo Traync, passed to

Peter Russell, brother to Geoffrey, and from him to a

third brother, Simon, who had assumed the surname of

Hcadlam. John, great-grandson of Simon, granted a

lease of the Bailzie Haule of Stainton to the widow of

his father, of which transaction the following testimony

is preserved at Strcatlam :

—

" For alsmuch as it is meritore and needfull to soe

trew Christen-mcn to profis and testifye the trewth of

enie doubtful! mater staudyng in variance, y'rfor be it

knowne to all Crysten peple to gwom ys present wryttys

shall com to here or see, yatt wee Hery Johnson, of

Ilcdlam, and AVillm Pereles, of Wynston, witncsseth,

that John Hedlem, of Hedlem, cftcr the decese of

Henry Hcdlcm, suted pesably to the Bailzyhaul of

Staynton, and sone after Icte to fermc the said haulc

w"i the appurtenances y'rto belongyng to Elisabeth

Hedlem, wyfe of the said Hery, for y<^ terme of hyr

lyfe ; and after hyr decese the sayd John Hedlem,

fadyr of Gyffray Hedlem, entrcd pesably to the said

haulle, wtli th' appurten'ts, &c., and yen sone after

ye sayd John lete to ferme the same haulle, w^li th'

appurten'ts, &c., to oon Coke of Changyll; the guych

paid ferme for it the space of thre yer. In witness,

&c. Yeven at Hedlem, ye fyrst day of May, ye yer of

our Lorde 1476. AVytnes to ye scylling, Thomas Garth

and John Syngylton."

John Hedlam, Esq., in 1526, conveyed all his lands

in Stainton to Sir William Bowes. A part of the

estate was mortgaged, about 1630, by Sir George

Bowes, of Biddick, to Matthew Hutton, Esq., of

Marske, from whose descendant it was purchased, in

1801, for £27,895, by the late Earl of Strathmore, and

thus again re-united to the Bowes' possessions.

WESTWICK.

The township of "Westwick adjoins that of Barnard

Castle on the east, and is bordered by the Tees on the

south. It contains an area of 1,445 acres. The num-
ber of inhabitants, at each respective return, was 93,

95, 97, 98, 67, and 63 ; the latter number consisting of

33 males and 30 females, inhabiting 12 houses. The
value of property assessed for the county -rate in 1853

was £1,506 16s. 3d.

During the year ended March, 1854, the township

of Westwick contributed to the Teesdale Union, for

out-relief and lunatics, £26 15s. ; for irremoveable

poor, salaries, and other common charges, £8 6s. ; for

constable and costs before magistrates, &c., 10s. 6d.

;

for law costs, revising barrister, and jury lists, 10s.

;

for journeys, salaries of assistant overseers, incidental

expenses, &c., 2d.; total of expenditure, £36 Is. 8d.,

being £6 more than that of the preceding year. The

registration cost 3s. lOd. ; and the county-rate paid by

the overseers was £25 14s. lid.

There is no village in this township, the population

of which is chiefly agricultural. Westwick Moor, con-

taining 824 acres, was inclosed about 17G5. The estate

was part of the forfeited possessions of the Earl of

Westmoreland. It is at present the pro2)crty of —
Webb, Esq., whose family have held it for several

generations. The tithes of Westwick belong to the

rector of Winston.
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PAEISH OF MIDDLETON-IN-TEESDALE.

iHE extensive parish of Middleton-in-Teesdale forms the south-western extremity of the county of Durham.

It is separated from the county of Cumberland by an undefined line* and the Crook Burn ; below which the Tees

divides it, on the south-west, down to the Cauldron Snout, from the county of Westmoreland. Thence the river

forms the boundary between this parish and that of Eomaldkirk, in the North Eiding of Yorkshire, until it

reaches the western extremity of ^larwood, in the chapelry of Barnard Castle, which forms the south-eastern

boundary of this parish. On the east, it is bounded by Langley Dale, in the parish of Staindrop, and by Wood-

land, in the parish of Cockfield ; on the north-east by the chapelry of Lynesack ; and on the north by the parish

of Stanhope. Middleton-in-Teesdale is divided into four townships, viz., 1, Middleton; 2, Eggleston; 3, New-

biggin; and, 4, Forest and Frith. Eggleston Common, now a stinted pasture, forms the eastern portion of the

parish. Middleton Common (now inclosed), Newbiggin Common (partially inclosed and the remainder stinted),

Ettcrsgill Common, and Langdon Beck CommoUj extend along its northern boundary; and West and Back Com-

mons are situated in the v.'est and south-west.

The whole of the extensive territory included in the

parish of Middleton-in-Teesdale, which anciently con-

sisted of a large forest and chase, was held, with the

lordship of Barnard Castle, by the Baliols and their

successors in that princely domain. Like the other

estates forfeited by the Earl of Westmoreland in 15G9,

it has become, with the exception of Eggleston and a

few smaller portions, the property of the Duke of

Cleveland.

MIDDLETON-IN-TEESDALE.

The township of Middleton-in-Teesdale, extending

from the river Tees on the south to Bollihope and

Westenhope Commons, in the parish of Stanhope, on

the north, contains 10,434 acres. The property assessed

for the county-rate in 1853 was valued at £3,037 18s.

6d. The population, in 1801, was 796; in 1811, 988;

in 1821, 1,263; in 1831, 1,824; in 1841, 1,770; and

in 1851, 1,849, of whom 932 were males and 917 fe-

males. There were, at that time, 357 inhabited houses,

3 uninhabited, and 5 building.

This township, during the year ended March, 1854,

contributed to the Teesdale L'nion, for in-maintenance,

clothing, and funerals, £12 8s. 8d. ; for out-relief and

Ordnance SuK^"T;Y.—The boundary between the county of

Tjurham and parts of Westmoreland, Cumberland, and Northumber-

land, is an undefined straight line, running from stone to stone,

mound to mound, or post to post. It has recently been surveyed

under the directions of the Board of Ordnance (see page 169).

In the first instance, it was arranged that the scale of the plans for

lunatics, £244 Is. 8d. ; for irrcmoveable poor, salaries,

and other common charges, £102 5s. 6d. ; for constable

and costs before magistrates, &c., £1 8s. 9d. ; for law

costs, revising barrister, and jury lists, 6s.; for jour-

neys, salaries of assistant overseers, incidental expenses,

&c., £13 17s. 7id. ; total of expenditure, £374 8s. 25d.,

from which were deducted repayments of relief by

relations and other receipts, £12 12s. 6d., leaving a net

total of £361 15s. 8^d., which was an increase of £44
19s. 2jd. over that of the preceding year. There was

paid for vaccination, £6 17s. ; registration, £7 8s. 2d.

;

and the county-rate paid by the overseers was £52 12s.

The town of Middleton is situated on the north bank

of the Tees, 10 miles north-west from Barnard Castle,

12 south-west from Stanhope, and 253 (by road) north-

north-west from London. There is no regular street,

the houses being scattered in rows or singly along the

sides of the hiUs on which the town is built. The most

regular and ornamental part is called Mastei-man

Place, situated in the south-east portion of the town.

It was erected in 1823 by the London Lead Com-
pany, under the direction of their managing agent,

Robert Stagg, Esq., from designs by I. Bonomi, Esq.,

architect, of Durham. The cottages of which it con-

sists are arranged in uniform rows, and are surrounded

the county of Durham should be six Inches to the mile; but, in

consequence of the importance of the mining and engineering opera-

tions of the district, the scale adopted is 2.3'344 inches to the mile,

being l-2o00th of the actual lineal dimensions of the ground. It is

intended to execute the plans of the towns on a scale five times the

size of the other portions of the county.
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by a spacious garden, a suitable portion of which is

appropriated to each dwelling. The first occupants

of those cottages took possession in Slay, 182-1,

accompanied by bands of music, &c. ; and as vacan-

cies occur, they are filled up by the Company from

amongst their most deserving workmen, each of

whom pays a rent of £3 per annum for his cottage and

10s. for his garden. Additional cottages have recently

been erected, which are also intended for meritorious

workmen. Mithlleton House, at the west end of the

town, was the residence of Robert Stagg, Esq., above

noticed, by whom both it and the adjoining grounds

were considerably improved and beautified : the man-

sion is now the residence of the present superintendent,

R. W. Bainbridge, Esq.

A market is held in Middleton every Saturday, at

which a few samples of corn are sold ; but Barnard

Castle is the principal corn-market of the district. The

general market is not very well supported : it is most

numerously attended on those alternate weeks in which

the miners, as in Weardale, receive their monthly pay.

On the third Thursday in April, and the second Thurs-

day in September, fairs are held ; but the cattle, sheep,

cand horse fair has been discontinued since the establish-

ment of that at High Force.

There are six inns and public houses in Middleton,

with several shopkeepers, tradesmen, and mechanics,

a post office, a rural police station, and two corn-mills,

worked by the Hudshope Beck, which flows through

the town from the north.

Sliddlcton is one of the polling places at parlia-

mentary elections for the southern division of the

county ; and the revising barrister's district is identical

with the parish.

The Toicn Hall is situated at the west end of the

town, and was built by the late Duke of Cleveland, for

the convenience of the markets. A railing around the

lower story encloses the stalls of the butchers ; and the

upper story contains offices for the accommodation of

the duke's agents, for the savings bank, the mechanics'

institution, and a room in which public meetings are

held.

The Bridge across the Tees was erected by public

subscription, and is a handsome structure of one aich,

80 feet in span. During the floods in the winter of

• A previo-as bridge, built in 1811, fell when nearly completed.

Richard Attee, a butcher, who was in the habit of crossing between

Middleton and Mickleton in Yorkshire, had freqiiently predicted its

fall, and, at the time of tliis catastrophe, happened to be on the spot

with his wife. Full of his favourite theme, he ventured beneath it to

vol,, n.

1853, it received some trivial damage, which was

speedily repaired.*

There is an excellent road from INIiddleton to Alston,

constructed under the superintendence of the celebrated

M'Adara : the parliamentary powers for its formation

were obtained in 1824. The road leading from Mid-

dleton towards Westmoreland passes north-west along

the banks of the Tees. An excellent road has also

been recently formed from Middleton to Stanhope.

The siqiply of 'water to the town is neither sufficiently

abundant nor of good quality. Means, however, are

about to be taken to remedy this inconvenience. It is

proposed to lay pipes to a fine spring a short distance

from Middleton, the cost of which, including the erec-

tion of public fountains, is estimated at about £500.

Towards the undertaking the Duke of Cleveland has

promised £100; the London Lead Company, £100;

J. Hill, Esq., Appleby, £20; the Rev. J. Brown, £10;

R. W. Bainbridge, Esq., £10.

THE CHURCH.

Middleton church is situated on a rising ground, on

the north side of the town, and near the eastern bank

of the Hudshope Beck. There are several traces of

antiquity in the main building. It is entered by a

porch on the south, above which there is a pointed arch.

The body of the church consists of a nave with a south

aisle, and a chancel ; the latter separated from the nave

by an elliptical arch. An oblong and a cylindrical

pillar form the aisle, and support an elliptical and two

circular arches. The font is an upright cylinder of

stone. The piscina remains in the wall near the north

door of the chancel ; and there is a pointed niche in the

south wall, near the altar-table. The windows of the

chancel are pointed ; but the rest are irregular and

modern. Sepulchral relievos of crosses are placed

above the vestry door and the principal entrance to the

church.

At a few yards distant, to the north of the church,

there is a small square structure, called the hell house ;

and here the three bells belonging to the church are

hung. At the entrance to the church-yard stands an

ancient cross, consisting of a small round stone i)illar,

surmounted by a sun dial, and rising from the centre

point out its imperfections ; when his wife perceived the structure

moving, and instinctively rushed forward to drag him from his

perilous situation. At that instant the bridge fell and destroyed

them both, in the presence of numerous persons who had assembled

at the linio.

K

Thank you for purchasing from Ebay Shop Retromedia

http://stores.shop.ebay.co.uk/retromedia


64 DARLINGTON WARD—SOUTH-WEST DIVISION.

of a square base, on each side of which are three or

four steps. The preservation of this neat and interest-

ing relic is much eni.langered by the mouldering of the

lime or cement used in joining the steps ; but this may

easily be remedied by a little timely attention.

The second Barnard Baliol confirmed to the abbey of

St. Mary's of York the church of Middleton, with two

oxgangs of land, a toft, and a croft in the town ; and

the abbot presented to the living, at the nomination of

the Baliols, for the Bishop of Durham's institution. On
the forfeiture by the Earl of Westmoreland, the right

of presentation was vested in the crown.

Registers.—Books Nos. 1 to 6 contain baptisms,

burials, and marriages from 1578 to 1812.

]\Iiddkton-iu-Teesdale rectory is in the deanery of

Darlington ; the queen, patron. King's books, £25

17s. Id.; Tenths, £2 Us. 8Jd. j Episc. proc, 16s.;

Archid. proc. os. ; Syn., 3s. Dedication to St. Mary.

Kectors.—"Walter de Langchester ; Roger de Kirkcby, 1378, p.

res. Langchester; John Bromlev, 1416; John Bower, 1432, p. m.

Bromley; Stephen Wilbcrfos, 1434, p. res. Bower; John Pal&well,

1501 ; Edward Natres, S.T.P, ; WilUam Bell, 1549, p. m. Natres

;

Leonard PUkington, S.T.P. , 1559 ; Anthony Maxton, 1619 ; Timothy

TuUle, A.M., 1660; John Allason, S.T.P., 1700, p. m. TuUie; John

Emerson, A.M., 1728, p. m. Allason; Thomas Dade, A.M., 1774,

p. ra. Emerson ; Robert Lascelles, A.M., 1778, p. res, Dade ; Charles

Bailey, A.M., p. ra. Lascelles ; John James Thornhill, A .M. (reotor

of Cockfield and vicar of Staindrop), p. m. Bailey ; John Henry

Brown, A.M., 1829, p. m. Thornhill.

The rectory-house stands on an elevated site to the

north of the church, and was nearly rebuilt by the

present incumbent. The glebe, containing about 50

acres of land, is situated to the west of the town. The

rector is entitled to all tithes except lead. On the in-

quiries instituted by the ecclesiastical commissioners in

1835, as to the nature and amount of income belonging

to the various rectories, &c. , no return was made by the

rector of Middleton ; nor, since that time, has any official

statement appeared. The living, however, is said to be

worth about £600 per annum.

CHAPELS.

Baptist Chapel.—This chapel, a neat stone build-

ing, with a dwelling house for the minister, was erected

at the expense of Robert Stagg, Esq., and his family.

It is registered for the solemnization of marriages. The

register of births, kept by the minister and deacon, con-

tains 18 entries, extending from 1829 to 1836. The

chapel was opened for public worship on the 21st June>

1827.

The Wesleyan Methodist.s and Primitive Me-

thodists have substantial stone buildings, as places for

public worship, each capable of holding from 300 to

400 hearers.

The Independents had at one time a place of worship

in Middleton ; but it has been discontinued for the last

30 years.

CHARITIES.

School.—By indentures of lease and release, dated

March 18 and 19, 1729, Christopher Stephenson and

Mary his wife, Robert Hoggart and Elizabeth his wife,

and Margaret and Grace Robinson, which said Mary,

Elizabeth, Margaret, and Grace, were the sisters and

co-heiresses of William Robinson deceased, conveyed

to Edward Oxned and Joseph Bainbridge, and their

heirs, a messuage and three closes, called Jacob Croft,

Lenny Croft, and Kirk Close, all in INliddleton, in

trust, after the decease of the first named parties, to

apply the rents and profits for the endowment of a free

school at Middleton. The schedule annexed lo the

deed contains rules or statutes, by which it is ordered,

that the master of the school shall be ajjpointed by the

rectors of Middleton, Stanhope, and Wolsingham, who

shall also have power to suspend or remove him for any

default, neglect, immorality, or crime ; that the mes-

suage above mentioned should be fitted up for the

school, the future repairs of which were to be paid for

out of the rents and profits of the other premises, after

which the surplus was to go to the master; that 16

poor children of the constablery, or, in default thereof,

of the parish of Middleton, should be taught gratis ;

that they should not be admitted under the age of six,

nor continue after the age of twelve ; that they should

be taught to read and write, and should learn arithmetic,

and that care shovild be taken that they were duly

catechised ; that, on vacancies occurring, the rector of

Middleton should nominate to the first, and the over-

seers of the town to the two next, and so on in suc-

cession; but thatif any person Should neglect to nominate

for a month, he should lose his turn ; that the visitors

should have power to alter the statutes, and that the

curate of Middleton should not be schoolmaster unless

the rector should pay him such reasonable stipend as

should be approved of by the rectors of Stanhope and

Wolsingham, and such as the said curate might have

reasonably expected or deserved in case he was not
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schoolmaster, it being intended that the endowinent

should not be made use of to ease the rector of Middle-

ton in the stipend to be paid to his curate. No new

trustees were ever appointed ; and the Kirk Close,

containing about 3 acres, was given up by a former

schoolmaster, on a suit being instituted against him by

the heir of William Robinson, by whose posterity it is

still held. The property now belonging to the school

consists of two closes, containing about 3 acres, let to

a yearly tenant at £13 10s. rent; about 5 acres in-

closed from the Fell, and allotted to the school under

an inclosure act, let at 30s. a year, the landlord paying

the poor-rates ; and about 5 or 6 acres of Fell, let at

6s. Ttie school and house of the master, having become

much dilapidated, were repaired about the year 1833,

partly with a sura of money obtained by the rector from

the National School Society, and partly from his own
resources ; the buildings continued a long time unfinished,

but were at length completed. The gross amount of the

master's income, besides the use of the school-house

and a small garden, is £15 6s. per annum, for which 16

boys (eight in respect of what remains of the original

endowment, and eight in respect of money laid out on

the school-house), appointed by the rector and overseers,

are instructed in reading, writing, accounts, and the

church catechism, without any charge except for coals.

He has also about 30 pay scholars ; and the free chil-

dren, if desired, are instructed with the others in draw-

ing, geography, and mensuration.

Parish Land.—A parcel of land, containing 6 a. 1 r.

6 p., belongs to the parish, though it is not known how
acquired. A building, formerly used as a workhouse,

stands upon it, and is now let in tenements ; the rents

being paid to the parish, and divided amongst the town-

ships.

PerJdn's Charity.—Thomas Perkin, of Hudgill, by

will, February 9, 1711-12, charged his house and close,

called Hudgill Close, containing about 3 acres, with a

yearly payment of 5s. to the poor of Middleton town-

ship, 10s. to those of Newbiggin, and 10s. to those of

Forest. On the Commissioners' Inquiry in 1828, no

payment had been made for 14 or 15 years ; and they

wrote on the subject to the then proprietor, Mr. Tho-

mas Robinson, who declared his intention to resume

payment when called upon by the parish officers. The
money, however, is still unpaid.

Township of Middleton.—Poor's Stock.—Under
date of April 15, 1719, in one of the parish books,

there is an account of poor stock, belonging to this

township, amounting to £28 15s. 4d., to which is

added, "Left by Cuthbert Lind (de Poortree), £10,
for which Dr. Allanson (the then rector), John Lind,

and John Johnson, are trustees." In 1729, the stock

at interest was £54, which, in 1764, was put out to

interest in the hands of the trustees of the turnpike road

between Appleby and Kendal. The interest, £2 14s.

per annum, has been improperly carried to the general

account of the poor's rate.
'

The charities belonging exclusively to the townships

of Eggleston, Newbiggin, and Forest and Frith, will

be noticed under their respective heads.

EDUCATION, INSTITUTIONS, &c.

Besides the parish school, and that belonging to the

London Lead Company (noticed below), Middleton

contains several day-schools, for the education of those

who are disinclined or ineligible for admission into

those two establishments.

A Mechanics' Institute was established in Middleton

in 1847. Its meetings are held fortnightly in the Town
Hall, which is granted for the purpose gratuitously.

It consists of about 25 members, who pay one shilling

per quarter subscription. There are about 400 volumes

belonging to the institution, towards the support of

which the Duke of Cleveland contributes £5 annually.

A Subscription Library, supported by the monthly

payments of the members, aided by occasional donations

from the friends of such institutions, has been for some

time established in the town.

There is a branch of the Darlington Auxiliary Bible

Society, which, in the year ending Midsummer, 1853,

contributed £39 Os. 4d. on the purchase account and

£15 as free, and distributed 181 Bibles and 100

Testaments.

A Floral and Horticultural Society has been esta-

blished six years. An annual exhibition takes place in

the Lead Company's school-room, when various prizes

are awarded for the best specimens of flowers, fruits,

vegetables, &c.

The Parochial Clothing Society is under the manage-

ment of Miss Stagg and a committee of ladies. It con-

sists of about 140 members, who contribute a trifle

monthly, and have a proportionate addition allowed

from the funds, for the purchase of clothing. The
annual expenditure is about £150.

The Fuel Society is supported by the Duke of Cleve-

land, the Lead Company, and a few resident subscribers.

During the winter months, about 50 cart loads of coals

are distributed to the poor in the township.
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There are also t^vvo Miners' Refuge Clubs, a Benefit

Club, and a Foresters' Socicti/, established in the town.

Saci/iffs Bank.—The Middlcton-in-Teesdale savings

bank was established in May, 1838 ; and the report of

the institution for November, 1854, shews the following

details :

—

13 depositors whose respective balances (including

interest) did not exceed £1 each £6 12 Ij

27 do. were above £1 and not exceeding £5.

10.

15

.

20.

30.

40

50.

18
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an interference. The Company, many years ago, built

a store shop at Nenthead, in Alston Moor, which is let

to a tenant on the express condition that he shall sell

exclusively for ready money ; but even there, the

workmen are left entirely unbiassed in the outlay of

their earnings, and nothing in the shape of truck is

allowed to exist. In Teesdale, the Company's work-

men, in 1848, established a corn society, for the pur-

pose of obtaining a supply of grain and other articles of

consumption at moderate prices ; and although the

Company aided them in this enterprize, yet every one is

left entirely to his own discretion as to becoming a

member of the society.

The wages are paid in monthly advances on account,

and the balance at the end of the year. All monies

are paid direct to the workmen in the Company's own

offices, and no part thereof, on any account, in a public

house, or through any interested medium. Medical

attendance and medicine, for the workmen and their

families, are provided at the cost of the Company. In

1817, the Company established a fund throughout their

works, for aiding their men in sickness and old age,

and yielding other benefits. For some years after its

lirst establishment, the payments were so much in

excess of the capital as to induce a state of bankruptcy ;

but through judicious arrangements, and the liberal aid

of the Company (who for many years contributed not

less than £450 annually to it), the fund has now
attained a position for meeting all its liabilities. The
present yearly contribution of each member is 30s.

;

and the allowances are, for sickness, 7s. per week ; and

for pension on attaining 65 years of age, 5s. per week

;

with £2 for funeral expenses, and £3 to the widow or

family on the death of a member. The state of the

fund undergoes a septennial revision by a professional

actuary ; and the benefits are increased or diminished

by the fund committee (composed of the Company's

district agents and of men selected by and from the

workmen at large) with his advice. In November,

1853, the number of fund members was 884, and the

invested capital amounted to £21,321 14s. lid.

In the promotion of education, the Company have

been among the foremost ; their schools for their work-

men's children at j\Iiddleton-in-Tccsdale, and also at

Nenthead in Alston Moor, having been erected in the

years 1818 and 1819, at the instance of their late super-

intendent, Jlr. Stagg. At these schools, the Company
provide and pay the masters, and find books, stationery,

and every school requisite ; and in return exact regu-

larity of attendance from the age of six to that of twelve

in the case of boys, and up to fourteen in the case of

girls then remaining members of their parents' family,

and a contribution of one shilling per quarter from the

parents of each child taught, with the exception of

orphans and the children of widows, who are taught

free. Admission into the Company's employment is

made dependent upon a school character; and on pass-

ing a satisfactory Bible examination, each child is pre-

sented with a handsome Bible, having inscribed thereon,

" The Gilt of the Lead Company." By the principles

upon which these schools arc conducted, religious in-

struction is so combined with secular as to meet, proba-

bly as far as is practicable, the antagonistic views that

so much abound at the present day on that important

question. The rules of the week-day schools provide

—

" That the school be opened -n-ith singing and pi aver ; and the

teaching be carried on not less than six hours each day, for five days

in the week.

" That the Sacred Scriptures, in the authorised version, or extracts

therefrom, shall be read and taught in school.

" That no Catechism, peculiar to any religious denomination, shall

be used in the school, nor any peculiar tenets of any religious sect

inculcated on the scholars.

" That every child attending the Company's week-day school

shall be required to attend twice every Sabbath such place of religious

worship as his or her parents may think proper."

The Sunday schools are conducted on a similar

system :

—

" Every child attending the Company's week-day school, shall,

when required, attend the Sabbath school taught in the Company's

school room, on the Sabbath morning ; and, twice on the Subbath

day, such place of religious worship as his or her parents may think

proper.

" Every child must be present at the hour fi.ved for the opening of

the school, and must come prepared with such portion of Catechism,

Bible lc:sson, &c., as may have been previously appointed by the super-

ijitendent or teacher, and must conform to all the school regulations."

Exceptions from the rules arc allowed in cases where

parties reside at a distance from the schools, or where

religious scruples are entertained by the parents ; but,

in either case, it is required that the children shall at-

tend some other school for the specified period.

A free library has for many years existed, not only

for the use of the scholars attending the schools, but of

the whole of the Company's workmen. It now con-

tains about 1,000 volumes; and additions thereto are

from time to time being made. In 1854, the Company

erected a reading room at ^Mastermau Place, for the use

of their workmen ; and it is intended that this room

shall be heated, lighted, and kept in order at the cost

of the ("ompany, leaving the men to ])r()vidc books,

pcriodic.ds, and newspapers from their own resources.
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Discouragement is given to those drinking and dis-

orderly habits which are, in too many places, so great a

bane to society ; and these offences incur, in the Com-

pany's works, either a pecuniary penalty payable to the

workmen's fund, or dismissal from the Company's ser-

vice, at the discretion of their superintendent.

Governor of the Company, John Masterman, Esq.,

M.P. ; deputy governor, Octavius Wigram, Esq. ; and

superintendent, Robert Walton Bainbridge, Esq,

The Hojie farm, or Hope House, situated on the

moorland, was anciently part of the possessions of Rie-

vaulx Abbey. After the Dissolution, it was purchased

of the crown by William Bitchburn and Roger Mar-

shall, who afterwards conveyed it to Ralph Tailbois, of

Thornton : his descendants sold it to Richard Clervaux

of Croft, from which family it passed lo the Tempests,

and is now the property of Timothy Hutchinson, Esq.

Another farm, called Focjgyforth, or Fofigerthwaite,

part of the ancient possessions of the Scroops, was, in

1638, conveyed by Lady Scroop to Anthony Maxon,

and afterwards became the property of Sir Nicholas

Tempest. It is now, with the old mansion house and

farm called Stotley, once the property of the Cumins,

and recently of the Bowes family, in the possession of

Timothy Hutchinson, Esq. Hoodgate, Middleside,

East and West Birch Closes, Long Lands, The Rigs,

High and Low Nook Closes, The Crofts, Broadlegate,

East and West Wooljnts, East Friar House, and

How Gill, are the names of small portions of land in

the township.

An act for inclosing lands in the parish of Middleton

was passed 45 Geo. III., c. 13. The award of the

commissioners was read at Eggleston on the "5th, and

at Middleton on the 27th of April, 1815 ; and deposited

in the Exchequer, city of Durham, on the 10th of

October, 1816. The accounts were examined and

passed September 16, 1830, when there was a balance

in hand of £743 9s. 2d. ; and in September, 1839, the

balance was £398 12s. lOd.

Another act was passed June 16, 1834, by which the

above act was in part repealed. Allotments were to be

made for stone and lime quarries, for repairing roads

and buildings, and for public watering places. The

rector's allotment was to be fenced at the general ex-

pense ; and he was empowered, with the consent of

the ordinary and the patron, to lease his allotment for

21 years, to commence within twelve months after the

passing of the act. The rights of the Duke of Cleve-

land, as lord of the manor, were secured. The whole

of the commons are now allotted and enclosed.

EGGLESTON.

This township, which forms the eastern portion of the

parish, contains 7,919 acres; and the property was

valued for the county-rate, in 1853, at £2,335 lis. 7d.

The population, in 1801, was 306; in 1811, 335; in

1821, 464; in 1831, in consequence of the erection of

a mill, it had increased to 623 ; in 1841, it was 617

;

and in 1851, 636, of whom 307 were males and 329

females. There were, at that time, 113 inhabited

houses and 1 uninhabited.

In the year ended March, 1854, the township of

Eggleston contributed to the Teesdale Union £8 8s.

lOd. for in-maintenauce, clothing, and funerals ; £77

lis. for out-relief and lunatics ; £28 3s. for irremovea-

ble poor, salaries, and other common charges ; 14s. for

constable and costs before magistrates, &c. ; 10s. 6d.

for law charges, revising barrister, and jury lists; and

£3 6s. for journeys, salaries of assistant overseers, in.

cidental expenses, &c. Total of expenditure, £118 13s.

4d., from which £4 10s. 3d. was deducted for repay-

ments of relief by relations and other receipts, leaving a

net total of £114 3s. Id. This was £3 13s. 7:3d. less

than the expenditure of the preceding year. The ex-

penses of vaccination amounted to £3 Is. 6d., and the

registration to £1 16s. 8d. ; the county-rates paid by

the treasurer being £39 4s. 9d.

The village of Eggleston is situated 4 miles south-east

from iSIiddleton, and 6 north-by-west from Barnard

Castle. A small stream runs through it from the hills

on the north to the Tees ; and a bridge across the river

forms a communication with Yorkshire. There is a

public house in the village, and a few mechanics. At

a short distance is a smelt mill, belonging to the Lon-

don Company, at which about 40 workmen are engaged.

It was erected under the direction of Robert Stagg,

Esq., and is so constructed and arranged that the lead

ore requires no lifting, but descends from process to

process, until it is brought out as lead at the lower part

i
of the mill. The Company have recently erected a

i number of cottages, with small gardens attached, which

are to be occupied by their workmen here on the same

terms as those in Masterman Place, Middleton.

The chapel of ease adjoins the botanic gardens of T.

Hutchinson, Esq. It is a neat building, consisting of

a nave and chancel, ca])able of accommodating 150

persons. There is a small cemetery attached to the
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chapel ; but it is much too crowded. The living is a

curacy, not in charge nor certified, but endowed by a

grant from Queen Anne's Bounty. The rector of

Middleton, who presents to the living, pays an annual

stipend of £6 to the curate ; and by an order in council,

April 17, 1844, the ecclesiastical commissioners were

empowered to make an annual grant of £27 to the

chapelry of Eggleston, the net income of which was to

be £100. There is no glebe house. The Eev. AVilson

Brown, A.B., is the present incumbent. The register

book contains baptisms, burials, and marriages from

1795 to 1813.

There was a small chapel at Eggleston, built by Mr.

Emerson Dowson, of London, for the use of the Inde-

pendents and Wesleyans ; but it is now converted into

a dwelling house. The Wesleyan Methodists erected

a spacious chapel in 1828, capable of seating about 150

hearers. It was built by subscription, £20 being con-

tributed by Mr. John Parker, and £5 each from various

other persons. It is a stone building, with a roof of

Westmoreland slate. The school, properly divided for

boys and girls, is attended by about 100 children, and

is maintained by the Duke of Cleveland, the London

Lead Company, and T. Hutchinson, Esq.

For an account of Sa7idcrson's Charity, one of the

recipients of which must be an inhabitant of the town-

ship of Eggleston, see page 29.

In the savings bank at Barnard Castle there is a sum

of £20 lodged, stated to have been left many years ago

by a lady, the interest to be given to the oldest poor

widow at Eggleston. The interest, 17s. per annum, is

disposed of accordingly.

The FAjijlcston Mechanics^ Institution, established

about seven years ago, is held in the school-room.

There are from 50 to 60 members, and the library con-

sists of about 700 volumes. It is supported by public

contributions and a small charge for membership.

The tolls on the Egglestone coal road produce about

£670 per annum, as follows (1853) :—Eggleston gate,

£295 ; Stotley gate, £168 ; and West Pits gate, £206—
total, 669 ; this sum being above the expenses of

collecting.

Eggleston Hall, the seat of Timothy Hutchinson,

Esq., is situated to the south-west of the village, and is

an elegant residence, surrounded by tastefully arranged

pleasure grounds, contrasting happily with the bleak

hilly region in its immediate vicinity. An artificial

cascade of considerable height is formed by the stream

which runs through the grounds ; and a subterranean

promenade, excavated by blasting the solid rock, winds

along the side of the Tees, which here divides itself

into several channels.

An ancient monument, consisting of a circle of rough

stones, with a cairn in the centre, known by the name
of the Standing Stones, stood about a mile north from

the village, and, from the proximity of a large tumulus,

was supposed to be a memorial of some battle fought in

early times, but was more probably a druidical remain.

For many years, the stones were removed for the pur-

pose of repairing the neighbouring roads; and no re-

mains of the circle are now left.

The manor of Eggleston formed part of the posses-

sions of the Earls of Westmoreland; and, on the

breaking out of the Northern Rebellion in 1569, sixteen

persons joined it from this place. In 1631, it was

purchased from the citizens of London by John Child,

of the Inner Temple, Esq., and Daniel Britain, citizen

and vintner, who, in the following year, conveyed it to

Tobias Ewbank, of Staindrop. It was afterwards the

property of a family named Sanderson, and, about the

beginning of the last century, came into the possession

of an ancestor of the present proprietor, Timothy Hut-

chinson, Esq.

An act for dividing and inclosing certain parts of the

moors, commons, and waste lands within the manor of

Eggleston, was passed in 1785; and the j)lots were

marked out on the 23rd of May in that year. The

award of another act, for dividing a part of the remain-

ing portion of the common, was deposited in the Ex-

chequer, city of Durham, on the 18th of January,

1817. The undivided portion is now a stinted pasture.

Folly, or Foxgill farm, containing about 100 acres, was

purchased some time ago from — Harrison, Esq., and

is the property of T. Hutchinson. Esq.

NEWBIGGIN.

The township of Newbiggin adjoins that of Middleton

on the north-west, and contains 4,627 acres. Its popu-

lation, at the six periods of enumeration, was 281, 294,

416, 507, 516, and 583. Of the latter number, 307

were males and 276 females ; and there were 92 in-

habited houses and 1 building. The annual value of

property was estimated for the county-rate, in 1853, at

£1,190 15s. 6d.

For in-maintenance, clothing, and funerals, the Tees-

dale Union received from the township of Newbiggin,

in the year ended March, 1854, £4 17s. ; for out-

relief and lunatics, £64 i2s. 3d. ; for irremoveable poor,

salaries, and other common charges, £44 15s. 5d. ; for
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constable and costs before magistrates, £1.; for law

costs, revising barrister, and jury lists, 7s.; for jour-

neys, salaries of assistant overseers, incidental expenses,

&c., £4 3s. 6d. ; total of expenditure, £119 15s. 2d.,

towards which £12 Os. 6d. was received as re-payments

for relations and from other sources, shewing a net

total for the year of £107 14s. 8d. ; whilst that of the

year 1852-3 was £119 18s. 6d. £3 2s. 6d. was paid

for vaccination, £1 5s. for registration, and the over-

seers paid to the county-rate £19 16s. lid.

The village of Newbiggin is situated on the north

bank of the Tees, 2^ miles north-west from TNIidJleton.

It contains a small ^V'esleyan chapel, which is one of

the oldest in the district, and in which the Rev. John

Wesley occasionally preached. There is a smelt mill

and a few tradesmen. A former public house is now

converted into a private dwelling. A road from New-
biggin to Daddiy-Shields, in Weardale, was constructed

between 20 and 30 years ago, and affords a track over

the wild and steep fells between the two places. The

principal part of the township of Newbiggin is the

property of the Duke of Cleveland; but some portions

of it were held by the late Ven. Archdeacon Headlam.

School.—By indenture, July 18, 1799, William Tarn

gave £400 three per cent, consols, upon trust, to the

Drapers' Company of London, from the annual divi-

dends of which 20s. was to be deducted for expenses,

and the balance paid to the rector and churchwardens

of Middleton, who were to pay 10s. 6d. annually to the

curate for examining the 'children of Newbiggin school,

on the Sunday nearest to the 2nd day of July (the

birth-day of the said William Tarn), in the parish

church, and preaching a sermon upon the occasion.

Should there be no curate, the money was to be paid

to the rector, or such other minister as should perform

the duty. From the remaining money a competent

supply of coals was to be provided for the school, and

the balance paid to the schoolmaster. The sum of £10

9s. 6d., the net proceeds of the charity, is now paid to

the master, who engages to supply the school with

firing, which the churchwardens consider it a part of

their duty to see fulfilled. The average attendance of

children at the school is about 50, all of whom pay for

their instruction. The building belongs to the town-

ship, the inhabitants of which claim the right to appoint

• An act was passed in the parliamentary session of 185.3, entitled

" An Act for the better Administration of Charitable Trusts," (cap.

137). A board of commissioners, inspectors, &c., has been appointed

under its provisions, with powers to inquire into the condition and

management of charities, to compel the production of accounts, to

the schoolmaster, which has been hitherto exercised by

the rector of the parish ; and the subject is under ju-

dicial inquiry.*

LiiuFs Charity.—£1 12s. 6d. per annum, the inte-

rest of £40 left by Cuthbert Lind to the poor of this

township, has been improperly carried to the account

of the poor-rates.

Poor's Stock.—There is now no trace of about £20,

mentioned in the parish books as poor's stock belonging

to this township.

BowLEES HorsES.—A Primitive Methodist chapel

was erected at Bowlees about three years ago. The
site was given by the Duke of Cleveland, and the cost of

the building defrayed by public subscription. It is un-

derstood that the promise of the site was procured from

his grace by one of the members of the Primitive Me-
thodist body, who, meeting the duke one day, made
known to him personally the wants of his brethren. His

grace demanding to know what good the Primitive

Methodists had ever done, that they should ask such a

favour, the supplicant immediately replied, that " they

had made the drunkard cease to drink, the swearer

cease to swear, and the poacher to lay down his gun."

The Bowlees Burn flows into the Tees from the

north, a short distance north-west from Newbisrffin.

Winch Bridge.—The river Tees is, near Bowlees

Houses, crossed by the Winch Bridge. The original

structure is said to have been the earliest suspension

bridge in Europe, having been certainly in existence

more than a century ago, though the exact date of its

erection is unknown. Its original purpose was to aSbrd

a passage for the miners residing in the village of Hol-

wick, on the south side of the river, to and from their

work in the mines in Middleton. Its dimensions were
much exaggerated in the accounts given by tourists

;

and Hutchinson states its length at 70 feet, and its

height from the river at near 60. In a description

given by W. C. Trevelyan, Esq., in Brewster's Phi-

losophical Journal, 1828, its real dimensions are thus

stated :

—

'

Length of bridge between the rocks, 59 feet 4 inches. Length of

chain supported by the rock on the north side, 12 feet. Length of

do. on the south side not visible, being covered with earth. Centre
of bridge lower than the ends, about 3 feet. Heiaht of bridge above
the surface, 21 feet. Depth of the river, 8 feet 6 inches.

examine parties on oath, &c. ; but as the various clauses of the act

are imporVant, especially in the county of Durham, where charitable

endowments are numerous, an epitome of the provisions of the Ad-
ministration of Charitable Trnsts Act will be given at the close of the

account of the present division of the county (Darhngton Ward).
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The iron links were atout 6 inches long, 1 1 inches

broad, and the bars of which they were formed, | inch

and f inch thick. The chains were fixed by bolts into

the rock at each end, and on them were laid wooden

cross-rails 3 \ feet distant ; on these were laid deals

lengthwise, forming a floor 21 inches broad, with a

hand-rail 2| feet high on each side. Smaller chains

near the ends were fixed to the rocks, to prevent the

bridge from swinging ; a purpose which was very im-

perfectly attained.

From long exposure to the weather, as well as from

friction, some of the iron links were latterly almost worn

through, and the boarding and hand-rails were rotting

and crumbling away. In August, 1820, a party of

nine men and two women were passing the bridge from

Hoiwick, most of whom being upon it at the same time,

the unusual weight destroyed the balance; and one

of the chains being overstrained by a previous in-

clination to one side, it snapped, and three men were

thrown into the Tees. One of them was dashed to

pieces on the rocks ; the others, falling into the water,

were saved. The bridge was soon after repaired by

the late Earl of Strathmore ; but it was subsequently

taken down, and a substantial modern foot-bridge, sus-

pended from metal posts, was erected in its place by

the late Duke of Cleveland. The precipices on each

side of the river at this place, and the rocks in its chan-

nel, are of basalt ; their ruggedness breaks the torrent

into numberless turbulent cascades, rapids, and eddies,

which, especially in times of flood, render the scene

wild and romantic in the extreme.

FOREST AND FRITH.

The extensive township of Forest and Frith consists of

three Parts, known as Ettersgill, IVIiddle Forest, and

Harwood Parts, containing altogether 17,370 acres,

and extending from the township of Newbiggin, about

4^ miles north-west from Middleton, to the borders of

Westmoreland. Its population has progressed, at the

six periods of return, as follows :—460, 601, 723, 760,

884, and 904 ; the latter number consisting of 483

males and 421 females, inhabiting 119 houses. The

• Tub Rkv. Georoe Carpexdale died on the 13th April, 1S38,

aged 73. He faithfully discharged his duties as schoolmaster and
reader at Ilarwood chapel from the year 1789, and with equal use-

fulness and propriety those of his sacred office from the time of his

ordination in the year 1S08. The foUomng interesting sketch of

the romantic career of Carpendale is fiom the pen of the Rev. J. L.

Low, A.M. :—

VOL. II.

i:)roperty assessed to the county-rate was valued, in

1853, at £1,366 7s.

This township contributed to the Teesdale Union,

during the year ended March, 1854, 10s. 6d. for extra

medical charges; £138 12s. lOd. for out-relicf and

lunatics ; £74 4s. 4d. for ii-removeable poor, salaries,

and other common charges; £1 8s. 6d. for constable

and costs before magistrates, &c. ; and £21 14s. l^d.

for journeys, salaries of assistant overseers, incidental

expenses, &c. ; making the total of expenditure, £236
7s. Ojd. The repayment of relief by relations and

other receipts amounted to £12 Is. 3d., leaving a net

total of £224 6s. ejd., which was £19 Is. Ifd. more

than that of 1852-3. For vaccination, £11 7s. was

paid; and for registration, £2 lis. 4d. The overseers

paid £22 lis. 8d. to the county-rate.

Ilarwood district is the highest and most remote

portion of the parish, and the westernmost part of the

township. AVithin the last thirty years, considerable

improvements have been made in the roads of the dis-

trict. A former road, ascending steeply by the side of

Harwood Beck, has been superseded by a new line,

which, leaving the old one at Bowlees, near Newbig-

gin, passes the High Force, crosses the old road, and,

winding to the north of it, ascends with a more gradual

inclination, traversing the lofty moors which divide the

county of Durham from Westmoreland and Cumber-

land. Where this road has attained its highest eleva-

tion, nearly 2,000 feet above the level of the sea,

commences the dreary and apparently boundless waste

of Yadmoss, which in former days was all but impassa-

ble, especially in winter ; and many casualties occurred

during the heavy snow storms, which frequently bewil-

dered and overwhelmed the solitary traveller. Yadmoss,

however, is not, where it is traversed by tire road, so

extensive as it appears to be. A little beyond the

middle of it is Crook Burn, an insignificant brook,

which here forms the boundary between Cumberland

and Durham. A stone with B on its front, G on one

side, and H on the other, indicates the division of the

township of Garragill and Harwood district.

Harwood Chapel and School stand by the river side,

near the head of Harwood Beck, some distance from

the load. The old chapel, in whicli Carpendale* so

" Between 50 and 60 years ago, a somewhat remarkable num be-

came schoolmaster of Harwood. His name \va? George Carpendale,

a person of a very respectable family ; a brother of his being a clergy-

man at Armagh, connected, it is believed, with the cathedral there.

In his early days, however, George had led a dissolute life, iuul had

been impressed as a sailor. After having been for some years at sea,

he was discharged as unfit for service, on account of liis woucds. He

L

Thank you for purchasing from Ebay Shop Retromedia

http://stores.shop.ebay.co.uk/retromedia


74 DARLINGTON WAED—SOUTH-WEST DIVISION.

Cauldron Snout, High Force, &c.—The course

of the Tees, as it rushes along the south-western border

of this district, displays a succession of natural wonders.

The tour from Yadmoss to Cauldron Snout and the

High Force is thus described by Mr. Sopwith :

—

'' Pedestrian tourists, accustomed to mountain travel-

ling, may readily find their way from the descents of

Yadmoss to Cauldron Snout ; but most visitors will do

well to engage a guide, who may readily be procured

by inquiry at any of the farms or ' onsteads.' From
Harwood, access may nearly at all times be had on

foot; but only in dry weather by horses. In either

case, it is a fatiguing journey of about three miles,

chiefly over the steep and rugged sides of Harwood
Fell. On gaining the summit of this lofty moor, an

expansive but dreary prospect bursts upon the view.

^Vide and moss-covered moors extend in a gradual

slope to the Tees, which here winds its way through

a wilderness of the most stern and desolate aspect. In

the distance, a vast amphitheatre is formed by succes-

sive ranges of mountains in Yorkshire, Westmoreland,

and Cumberland, and which, towards the north, seem

blended like waves into each other. But the bright

spot and redeeming interest of this prospect is the

Weel, whose waters, spread in the hoUow of a vast and

dreary basin, present a beautiful contrast to the dark

heath of the barren moors which siirround it, while its

width and serpentine form give it the appearance of a

broad river flowing through the midst of a desert.

" The Weel is a sullen lake, in breadth about half a

mile, and three or four times that length, formed by

the interception of the Tees by basaltic rocks, over

wliich the water flows into a deep and rapidly descend-

ing gorge, and forms the waterfall of Caiddron Snout.

" On approaching the foot of the Weel, the rough

road, over moss and ling, is suddenly more roughened

by nnmerous projecting points and edges of basalt,

which render either riding or walking both trouble-

some and somewhat dangerous. On descending the

rocks, the visitor beholds the waters of the Tees rushing

with impetuous force down a steep basaltic chasm of

two or three hundred yards in length. Near the top is

the interior, and the professor, who supposed the family to be absent,

ventured to indulge in a temptation so irresistable as the sight of a

good library. Great was his surprise and consternation to behold

the family and a circle of friend* ! Explanation of so unwonted a

visit in such a costume, so armed, and on a Sabbath ere, seemed be-

yond hope, and a speedy retreat was made. Safely returned to the

inn, carrj-ing the sturdy sapling, nearly seven feet long, he rejoiced

iu his escape, and declared he would keep the said sapling as a

household god ; but, alas ! on the following mom a portion of it had

a wooden bridge, thirty feet long, over the fall, from

whence the visitor may view the swift and foaming

current beneath. The fall is interesting at any time'

even in very dry weather, the stream gamboling in its

descent amongst the various channels which the rocks

afford. But when the Tees is swoln with rains, it

rushes down in one impetuous and unbroken torrent of

almost resistless force, and, with its sides of frowning

tower-like cliffs, forms a spectacle truly terrible and

sublime.

" Those who delight in the minor beauties of nature

will here find them united with her boldest works.

The variously-coloured lichen on the surface of the

basalt is extremely beautiful, and not less so are the

wild flowers which spring from the sides of the chasm.

The examination of these, and viewing the fall from

various situations, will, to most persons, afford much
gratification. But it must be admitted that to some,

and especially to ladies, the attractions of Cauldron

Snout may scarcely repay the difliculties of the jour-

ney. A good horseman with a skilful guide will

enjoy a ride on the rocky edges of scars, and over loose

basaltic stone, deep moss-ruts, and frequent banks, both

deep and stony ; but it is well that the tourist should be

apprised of this before he undertakes a jaunt in which

such fatigues must necessarily be encountered.

" Follo\ving the course of the Tees by rugged banks

for nearly five miles, the tourist reaches the well-known

cataract of High Force. The river, in traversing the

mountainous coimtry which has just been described,

becomes rapidly augmented by various tributary

streams, and, after its junction with Harwood Beck,

assumes a wide and noble aspect. The fall of such a

river, at fifteen miles from its source, over a precipice

of upwards of fifty feet in height, may readily be con-

ceived to be an object of the highest interest as regards

remarkable and sublime scenery ; and it is scarcely less

interesting to the geologist from the clear development

of the strata it displays.

" The river immediately above the fall is divided by

a lofty rock into a greater and a less channel, the

former of which m dry weather contains the whole

been taken to I'ght the fire. The worthy landlady, observing that

the professor did not enter the church, at once expressed her opinion to

his two companions that he " surely maun be a Papist." Professor

Pillans stiU occupies the honour.ible position he then held, as

Professor of Humanity, in the T-'niversily of Edinburgh ; and it

was entirely from his suggestion that Mr. Sopwith was induced to

write the " Account of Mining Districts," from which the above and
other quotations, relating to Weardale and Teesdale and to the lead

mines generally, have been made.
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stream, while at other times both cliannels are filled

with impetuous torrents, which, rushing over the preci-

pice, form a cataract on each side of the central mass of

cliffs—
' That rear their haughty head

High o'er the river's darksome bed.'

The principal channel is worn into a rugged descent at

the edge ; but the greater part, probably about 40 or

50 feet, is quite perpendicular ; and over this the

descent of so large a body of water at all times insures

a gratifying treat to the lovers of natural scenery. The

less channel is considerably worn, so that, when dry, a

person may without much difficulty climb up it, and

examine the junction of the basalt with the adjoining

strata.

" Hutchinson describes the main channel as having a

perpendicular fall of 82 feet; but this is much over-

rated. The height of the central rock is stated in the

' Tour of Teesdale' to be only 63 feet; the entire per-

pendicular height of the fall probably does not exceed

50 feet, and the inclining falls above may be 15 or 20

feet more. Nearly one-half of the entire depth of the

adjacent rocks consists of basalt, which, in the middle

of the stream, towers up into a rugged but picturesque

summit. Except in high floods, this station may easily

be gained, and from thence the spectator can look down

and behold the rolling torrent precipitated into the

abyss below. Being on the giddy verge of so lofty a

rock, the rapidity of the stream, the thundering noise

with which it mingles with the deep sullen waters

Ik'Iow, and the clouds of foam which often reflect the

iris' lovely hues, altogether combine to produce min-

gled sensations of terror, astonishment, and delight.

" Having taken this i?iverted view of the Force, the

tourist, by walking about two hundred yards along the

top of the banks on the north side of the river, will find

a somewhat rugged but not very difficult descent down

the rocks and underwood, and from the sides of the

river may command a view of the fall at various dis-

tances. Here lofty precipices on each side form a

magnificent amphitheatre, on the sides of which may be

traced the rapid rise of the strata in a north-west

direction, and the basalt regularly ranging with the

• Besides the extensive lead mines worked by the London Com-

pany, there are several royalties taken by adventurers, who form

themselves into companies. The Nether llurth Lead Mininy Company

is divided into G4 shares, and has been established about 20 years

;

the royalty belongs to Sir Richard Tufton, and was previously the

property of the Earl of Thanet. A duty of l-7th is paid to the lord

of the manor. Tees Side Lead Mining Compamj has boon established

other strata. The upper part and summit are more or

less covered with brushwood and a few ash and yew

trees ; while, at the extremity of the vista, the ceaseless

roar of the descending flood completes the majestic

character of the scene."

The wild scenery above described owes its peculiar

character to the rugged outline, the great extent, and

thickness of a large bed of stratiform basalt. At High
Force and Cauldron Snout, the river cuts through it,

and displays the beds upon which it reposes. About

half a mile below Cauldron Snout, on the north bank

of the river, the violent action of heat upon the beds

below the basalt is very evident. An example of the

mechanical effects produced on the strata is to be met

with by the side of the foot-path leading to the pool,

beneath the High Force, which may be easily observed

by any one visiting the waterfall. The limestone under

the whin is much altered, having become white and

crystalline.

In the Tees, above Cauldron Snout, the whin sill

may be seen about 300 yards above the Week The

bed above it here is a limestone of considerable thick-

ness, rendered generally of a coarse granular texture,

and of a white colour. In ascending the stream, the

basalt is covered by the superior strata ; but at a lead

mine called Nether Hurth,* the whin was worked into

in following a vein, and found to bear a good deal of

ore. In the mine at Troutbeck Foot also, on Tees

side, four miles above Cauldron Snout, the whin was

sunk through in following the vein for lead ore, of

wliich it contained a rib 12 to 14 inches wide. It was

here found 3 fathoms below the surface, and was 11

fathoms thick. At Birkdale lead mine, by the side of

Maize Beck (a considerable stream, which joins the

Tees near Cauldron Snout), two shafts were sunk into

the whin in search of a lead ore vein, which was found

3 feet wide, having in it sometimes a rib of ore 1 foot

thick. Maize Beck, for the greater part of its course,

runs upon the surface of the whin sill ; and in the

higher part, near the edge of the fells, that bed is laid

bare by denudation for a great extent of surface.

The whin occurs in the lower part of Lunedale : it is

also found at Lune Head, but is not known any further

aDunt three years. It is divided into G,400 shares. The workings are

in the parish of Alston, near the source of the river Tees; the com-

missioners of Greenwich Hospital are lords of the manor, to whom
l-7th dues ai-e paid. Adjoining Tees Side Mine is Green Hurt/t

Milling Company, divided into 128 shares, and has been established

many years. Cross ilill Head Consols, another mining company,

divided into 6,400 shares, was established in 1854.
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to the south. In a section below Cauldron Snout, the

basalt is seen crossing the edges of several inclined

beds of limestone, &c.

" In no situation," says Mr. Hntton, •whose descrip-

tion has been followed in the above detail, " is the

chemical action of the basalt so apparent as in Teesdale ;

in no other situation arc the limestones and shales acted

upon so powerfully as they are there, both above and

below that bod ; and the impression upon my mind is,

that, by the depth of the valley, we there cut so far

into the strata as to approach near to an outlet of the

volcanic matter. Not that I suppose the basalt of Bel-

ford or Holy Island to be ejected from hence as from a

crater ; but that, perhaps, a great crack or fissure in

the strata existed, of which the whin sill is the over-

flowing. This idea of High Teesdale marking, as it

were, a centre of volcanic action, is perhaps corrobo-

rated by the general direction of the great basaltic

dykes of Durham and Yorkshire, they appearing to

spring from hence as from a focus, which had continued

in activitv at different periods, up to one beyond even

the consolidation of the oolitic series."

Bleak House.—The external features of Teesdale

resemble those of Wcardale ; and the identity of occu-

pation in the two districts, have naturally tended to

produce a similarity of character amongst their inhabit-

ants. (See vol. i., p. 677.) A local -pen has given a

graphic description of some of the features of landscape

attractions which tend, in no small degree, to attach

the inhabitants of Teesdale to what, on a first inspec-

tion, and especially if visited in stormy weather, might

seem bare and cheerless hills, such, indeed, as the same

writer has, in another production, called " treeless,

miserable wastes"—" region of mists, and birth-place

of the storm." Yet, on a further acquaintance, deep

and impressive scenes of beauty and sublimity are to be

found—a stillness—a quiet grandeur and amplitude,

which, in solemnity, and even in landscape effects, far

exceed what is commonly found in lower districts.

This has been well described by Mr. Pearson, formerly

of Middleton, in a visit to Bleak House—not the ideal

fabric of Mr. Dickens' tale so called, but a veritable

dwelling in Lunedale bearing that name in 1827. As

the influence of scenery forms the groundwork of the

earliest local attachments, our readers will perhaps not

object to the portraiture of a true Bleak House and its

desolate adjuncts, situated nearly on the very borders

of the county of Durham :

—

" We slowly, and on foot, ascended the mountains

that separate Teesdale from Lune. The road, a very

twisted and zigzag one, wound' its way by mount and

hollow, rock and pool. I was amazed to see so many
deep gills, or ravines, in the mountain side, which

appeared from TNIiddleton to be uniformly smooth and

regular in its ascent. We pursued our way, however,

sometimes scrambling over its bold elevations, and at

others plunging into the deep and hidden recesses,

until we reached the fell top, where we made a ' breath-

less pause.' An extended prospect opened to our view

To the right of us, the romantic and varied scenery of

Teesdale lay stretched out before us. The Tees, seen

in various points, had a curious and picturesque ap-

pearance : at one place, it made a bold curve—at

another, a right angle—then was lost in a chasm—then

sprang over a precipice—and then, as if tired of gam-

bolling, it swept proudly on in a right line. The

scenerv was congenial to the stream : here a terrific

line of basaltic precipices carried the eye to the bleak

and boundless wilds that stretched beyond—there,

smiling woods, villages, white-washed hamlets, with the

fugitive rivulets that were coming in from the moun-

tains, mingled beautifully with each other, and formed a

scene that, to a poet's eye, might have been fraught with

inspiration. On our left lay a far- extended waste of

heath, bounded by, and melting into a chaos of lower-

ing clouds, whose alpine ridges, catching the sun

beams at partial openings, produced a mimic representa-

tion of mountain scenery, in all its fantastic and dismay-

ing forms."

To Bleak House, then distant more than seven miles

from any church, the writer and his friend, a Home
Missionary, were going, to meet an assembly of the

rustic dwellers of the lonely dale. They found it more

populous than it had at first appeared; "most of the

farm houses and miners' cottages being built in the

sheltered hollows by the water side, and not visible at

any distance, from the numerous intervening hills ;" a

description which applies generally to the habitations

throughout the adjacent dales. An account is given of

the interior of the dwelling which served on this occa-

sion as a place of worship for seventy persons. Those

who would study the manners and trace the character

of a people so secluded as these are from the world,

must accurately regard many humble details which

escape attention in the crowded thoroughfares of the

world. Travellers on the continent, who follow only

high roads and railways, travel in steam boats, and

dwell in fashionable and expensive hotels, can form no

idea of the quiet, simple, and inexpensive modes of life
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M'hich prevail in less frequented districts ; and tourists,

who visit the Lakes of Cumberland and "Westmoreland,

gee indeed the mountains, dales, and lakes, but meet

at every stage an artificial and modernized condition of

things, altogether different to that which the pedestrian

finds on penetrating the inner recesses of the country.

Bleak House consisted of " two rooms on the ground

floor in a line with each other ; tlie first and largest being

the kitchen—the other answering the double purpose of

parlour and bed-room. The windows were extremely

low, and the bank on the opposite side, rising abruptly

to a considerable height, gave to the house a dark and

gloomy appearance. The accommodations were of the

most humble order : a large copper kettle, hanging

above the preacher's head, was his only sounding

board ; and a chair, turned towards him, his pulpit.

All the chairs, benches, and stools in the house were

arranged for the hearers; and a ladder set upon trestles

supplied ten or a dozen of them with scats. Yet rude

as these accommodations were, there was one part of

the arrangement which might have taught a more

polished congregation a charming and pc rhajis requisite

lesson :—the long settle, and the cliairs by the fire side,

were reserved for the old people and those females who
had young children In tlicir arms. Whether the

warmth of the fire had a kindly Influence In preventing

the coughing of the former and tlie crying of the latter,

I cannot pretend to determine; but they were as much
hushed as any of the rest of the little assembly.

Both kitchen and parlour were crowded, and comprised

every age, from infancy to grey hairs. Some of the

venerable old men appeared like solitary remnants of a

former generation

—

pieces of wreck left on shore by the

storms of former years—survivors of the temjjcsts in

whose billows our fathers found their graves. Their

faces told the tale of long-past years. Single-breasted

coats, with huge flat buttons, exhiljited a fashion that

had elsewhere become obsolete. Their trembling Lnees,

feebly knocking against each other, proclaimed that

they also had nearly reached t/ie mouth of the stream—
the roar of the ocean was sounding in their ears—the

tide of life about to subside in the waters of eternity.

'• The preacher was listened to with deep and earnest

attention, as he discoursed from words of exquisite

beauty and impressiveness, well suited to these lonely

wilds :
' For the Lord shall comfort Zion : he will

comfort all her waste places; and he will make her

wilderness like Eden, and her desert like the garden of

the Lord.' His appropriate and affectionate address

seemed to make a strong impression on the minds of

his rustic hearers. Nothing could be more gratifying

than the reception he met with at the close of the meet-

ing. Many shook him cordially by the hand, and

thanked him for coming so far to preach to them ; and
others, who only wished him ' Good day,' did it in that

kind, warm-hearted manner, which seemed to acknow-

ledge a benefit and solicit a better acquaintance. The
good people of the house also, Martha like, hasted to

make the parlour ready for our reception.

" Whilst taking a little refreshment, I asked the

master of the house where all the people came from,

and give his characteristic reply :
—

' Many of them
come a gay bit off from the dales further ower, some

from the houses along the fell edges by the limestone

quarries, and a canny few from the onsteads (houses)

by the beck meetings, a mile further up. It's not

much preaching one has the chance on here ; and folk

are fain to come when they can get It so near them.'

" AA^e set out on our return. A considerable quan-

tity of rain had fallen during our stay; the sun was

sinking amidst the broken clouds ; a hundred new-

formed rivulets, glittering in his beams, crossed the

darjv heath with lines of light ; the beautiful iris, heaven's

own messenger of peace and good will to man, stretched

Its bold arch from fell to fell, amidst the crags; the

fleecy mists floated in fantastic and ever-varying shapes ;

the mountain tops, towering above the shadowy chaos,

revelled in the sun's unclouded brightness ; while in

the distance, the lofty ridges of the Westmoreland hills

were seen emerging, like a new creation, from the dli-

solvlng glories of the western sky. We looked back

on the scenery we had left—the rainbow stood directly

over it, the extremity of tlie magnificent arch almost

touching the humble roof of the dwelling which had

formed the little church of the valley. The wilderness

was Indeed like Eden, and the desert smiled 'like the

garden of the Lord.'
"

Such is a vivid jjortrait of landscape scenery, of rustic

habits, and of devotional feelings, which form the deep

foundations of that ardent love of home which so

strongly attaches the miner to his native dales. Neither

words nor pencil can convey an idea of the romantic

charms of wild moorland scenery : aerial tints olten

clothe the summits of the mountains, so blended

with floating mists and clouds that it is difficult to dis-

tinguish the hues of earth from those of heaven.
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PARISH OP COCKPIELD.

The parish of Cockfield is bounded on the west by Middleton-in-Teesdale, on the south by the chapelry of

Barnard Castle and the parish of Staindrop, on the east by the chapehy of St. Helen's Auckland, and on the

north by that of Lynesack. It consists of the townships of Cockfield and Woodland, containing together 4,416

acres. The latter township, however, is completely separated from that of Cockfield by the chapelry of Lyne-

sack and the township of Langley Dale in the parish of Staindrop.

COCKFIELD.

The annual value of property assessed for the county-

rate in the township of Cockfield, in 1853, was £1,518

18s. 6d. The number of inhabitants, in 1801, was 461 ; in

1811, 475; in 1821, 533; in 1831, in consequence of

the employment of labourers in railway works, it had

increased to 790; in 1841, it was 994; and in 1851,

owing to the partial working of collieries and the cessa-

tion of labour at a large stone quarry, it had decreased

to 647, consisting of 341 males and 306 females. In

1841, there were 194 inhabited houses and 17 unin-

habited : in 1851, the numbers were, 147 inhabited, 46

uninhabited, and 1 building.

In the year ended IMarch, 1854, the township of

Cockfield contributed to the Tcesdale Union £12 17s.

lOd. for-inmaintenance, clothing, and funerals ; £83 5s.

6d. for out-relief and lunatics ; £42 16s. 8d. for irre-

• George and Jeremiah Dixon.—These eminent and ingenious

men, born at Cockfield, were the sons of an old and faithful servant

of the Raby family, whose portrait is preser%-ed at the Castle, in-

scribed, " An Israelite indeed, in whom there is no guUe." They

received the rudiments of the mathematics under Mr. John Kipling,

of Barnard Castle ; but tlieir education was chicHy self- acquired.

George, named in the text, though of a genius that rivalled Jeremiah,

confined himself to a more retired life, being employed in the north

j"n various coal works and other mining adventures, in which he dis-

played an extensive knowledge and competent judgment. He is also

said to have been a good mathematician, a mineralogist, a pamter, an

engraver, and a great expeiimentalist in chemistry, hydraulics, and

pneunntics, an excellent land surveyor, and a most beautiful

draughtsman.

Jeremiah Dixon was a contemporary, and on very intimate terms,

with that celebrated and strange compound of genius and eccentricity,

William Emerson, of Hurworth ; and also with John Bird, of Bishop

Auckland, another kindred spirit, (see vol. i., p. 558,) through whose

recommendation he was selected by the Royal Academy of Woolwich,

as a fit person to be sent out to the island of St. Helena, for the purpose

of observing the transit of the planet Venus across the sun's disk.

\Mien Dixon was undergoing his examination, at that establishment,

with respect to his qualifications for the task, the first question put

to him was, " Whether did you study mathematics at Cambridge or

Oxford r" With a good deal of natiual simplicity he replied, " At

moveable poor, salaries, and other common charges;

18s. for constable and costs before magistrates, &c.

;

£1 13s. 6d. for law costs, revising barrister, and jury

lists ; and £4 4s. 6d. for journeys, salaries of assistant

overseers, incidental expenses, &c. ; the total of ex-

penditure being £145 16s., which was less by £9 15s.

9d. than that of 1852-3. The cost of registration was

£2 13s. 4d. ; and the county-rate paid by the overseers

was £25 13s. 3d.

The village of Cockfield is situated 6 miles south-

west from Bishop Auckland, and 3 north from Stain-

drop. It is irregulai4y built ; and much of its primitive

rural character has been superseded by the erection of

houses for the colliery population which has, for some

years, found employment in the vicinity. There are a

brewery, three public houses, a few beer shops, and

several mechanics, tradesmen, and shopkeepers. A
school-house was erected by Mr. George Dixon,* of

neither place." " Then at what public school did you get your rudi-

ments?" " At no public school," was the reply. "ITien at what

particular seat of learning did you acquire it?" "In a pit cabin

upon Cockfield Fell," said the humble scholar.

His abilities were tested, and found equal to the task ; he was

accordingly sent, and performed it to the satisfaction of his employers.

The academy which sent him out, was a military one ; and from that

time, till the day of his death, he wore its luiiform, which was a red

coat and a cocked hat. He was also employed to set the limits and

bounds of the provinces of Maryland and Pennsylvania, in America.

His genius for invention manifested itself in many other ways,

originatiiig many of the mechanical contrivances and machines now
used about the coal works. It has been stated, that he was the ori-

ginal discoverer of coal gas ; and that his o\vn garden wall, on the

edge of Cockfield Fell, was the first place ever lighted by coal

gas. This discovery is generally attributed to William Murdock,

a native of Cornwall, who, in the year 1792, employed it for light-

ing his own house and offices at Redruth ; and, in 1798, con-

structed the apparatus for the purpose of lighting Bolton and
Watt's works, Soho, near Birmingham. With respect to Dixon's

claim to the discovery, the probability is, that it was simultaneous

with that of the other ; and that, from his residence in an obscure

locality, and unostentatious disposition, his discovery did not become
known till after that of Murdock. His first experiment is said to

have been made—like that of many other embryo philosophers—with
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Cockfield, which was afterwards enlarged at the expense

of the parishioners, and used as a meeting-house by the

IVesleyan Methodists. It is now a Centenary chapel,

and is a neat building, capable of holding about 200

persons. The Primitive Methodists erected a chaijel

in 1826. Cockfield Hall, formerly the property of the

ancient family of Watson, and now of the Boweses, is

an old mansion, similar in style to many common in this

part of the county of Durham : it is situated a little to

the south of the village, and has long been occupied as

a farm house. A considerable portion of the moat

around it is still visible.

THE CHURCH.

Cockfield church is a humble structure, consisting of

a nave and chancel, without side aisles or tower,

capable of accommodating 200 persons. The entrance

is on the south ; and a pointed arch separates the nave

from the chancel. The font is a ponderous octagonal

bason of freestone ; and the piscina still remains in the

wall near the altar-table. The pulpit is of oak, orna-

mented with antique carving. The arms of Charles II.

are sculptured on the north wall of the chancel ; and

near it is a painting of the royal arms, dated 1726.

The nave is lighted by three narrow pointed windows

on each side ; and there are three lancet lights on the

east, and two on the south side of the chancel. At the

west end of the nave there is a gallery.

In the church-j'ard, near the south-east corner of the

chancel, is a recumbent figure of a female in stone, Sj

feet long, which village tradition asserts to be a repre-

sentation of a pupil drowned in the moat at Cockfield

rather a rude sort of apparatus : his retort being an old tea kettle ;

aud for pipes, to convey it along the orchard wall, he used the stalks

of hemlock (locally called humJoek). lie died in Cockfield, and was
buried at a little chapel belonging to the Society of Friends (ofwhich

body he was a member), which stood at the \-illage of Old Raby, near

Haby Park. This chapel was pulled down, many years ago, by the

late Duke of Cleveland, for the purpose of improving the park and

road near the castle ; and a dog-kennel was built upon its site, so

that the grave of this man of genius has neither line nor stone to

indicate where his bones are laid. The neglect which the burial

places of the two Dixons seem to have fallen into may be attributed,

in a great degree, to the peculiarity of the Society of Friends, in

objecting to monuments and tomb-stones in memory of their departed

friends.

tToHN Bailey, Esq., of Chillingham, Northumberland, was the

son of Mr. William Bailey, of Blades Field, near Bowes, in the

county of York. He showed a taste for drawing very early in life,

and was patronized and assisted both in that and in mathematical

stU'Ucs by Mr. George Dixon, of Cockfield, who was his uncle by

maiTiage. He was employed wlien a young man by that gentleman

as tutor to his chddren, during which time he devoted his leisure

VOL. II.

Hall, at some time when that building was a school

:

but as the effigy is evidently of higher antiquity than

such an appropriation of the hall would warrant, the

probability is, that, allowing the truth of the catastrophe,

the sufferer was a member of the resident family.

Eegisters.—Book No. 1 contains entries of bap-

tisms, burials, and marriages from 1578 to 1617; Nos.

2 to 4, baptisms and burials from 1652 to 1812, and

marriages from 1652 to 1753, interrupted by No. 5,

baptisms from 1806 to 1811; and No. 6, marriages

from 1754 to 1812 (deficient from 1617 to 1652J.

Cockfield rectory is a discharged living in the

deanery of Darlington, with Staindrop vicarage an-

nexed ; the Duke of Cleveland, patron. King's books,

£9 18s. ; Tenths, 19s. 9jd. ; Episc. proc, 4s. 6d.

;

Archid. proc. 2s. ; Synodals, 2s.

Rectors.—Robert Arnays ; William Home, 1411 ; John Lj-ndesay,

Hll, p. res. Home ; John de Hoton, 1420, p. m. Lyndesay ; Thomas
Sproxton, 1432, p. res. Hoton ; William Burgh, occ. July 12, 1452 ;

William Askewith, cap. 1504; Nicholas Stocall, cl., 1522, p. res.

Askewithe ; William Clayburgh, cl., November 30, 1540, p. m.
Stocall; Richard Baylis, cl., August 28, 1548, p. res. Clayburgh;

Robert Dixon, A.M., April 13, 1575, p. m. Baylis ; Timothy Bossall,

A.M., June 24, 1616, p. res. Dixon; Thomas Lyndlc}', June 27,

1617, p. m. Bossall; George Trench, A.M., July 1, 1621, p. res.

Lyndley;* Toby Sedgwick, occ. June 18, 1658 ; Simon Gilpin, Sep-

tember 27, 1690 ; Peter Farren, May 13, 1700, p. res. Gilpin ; Simon

Gilpin, A.M., 1714, p. m. Farren; Thomas Browne, 1717, p. m.
Gilpm; Benjamin Worgom, 1724; William Gibson, March 14, 1734

;

William Addison, cl., July 20, 1746, p. m. Gibson ; Peter Fisher, cl.,

1751, p. res. Addison; George Davison, 1793, p. m, Fisher; John
Jones Thornhill, A.M., (rector of Middleton-in-Teesdale,) 1806, p. m.
Davison ; J. W. D. Merest, A.M., (rector of Cockfield and perpetual

curate of Darlington,) 1829, p. m. Thornhill; Harry C. Lipscomb,

A.B.,t 1846, p. res. Merest.

hours to drawing and engraving many of the pieces which bear his

name ; but he never followed engraving as a sole occupation. No
doubt Mr. Bailey profited largely in his scientific knowledge by living

under the roof of his relative. After attending to the education of

his cousins, he practised land-surveying, and for a short time was

mathematical teacher under the Rev. John Farrcr at Witton-le-Wear.

He tliere married the daughter of Nicholas Grecnwell, Esq., and

shortly afterwards become Lord Tankerville's land-agent at Chilling-

ham, which appointment he retained to the time of his death. He,

at tlie same time, did a great deal of business as a general land-agent

and surveyor, and few men have greater claims to the gratitude of

posterity for the many lasting improvements in rural economy planned

and executed by him. Mr. Bailey engraved several of the plates ol

Hutchinson's topographical works : he was also the author of an
" Essay on the Construction of the Plough," 8vo., and joint writer

with Mr. Culley of the Northumberland Report, drawn up for the

Board of Agriculture. He died June 4, 1819, aged 68.

* Lyndley, by his proctor, assigned, as a reason for his resignation,

that being in debt, he durst not show his head abroad, and bo the

cure was entirely neglected, June 19, 1620.

t Author of a "History oi Staindrop Church, Durham."

M
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The glebe consists of 18 acres of land; but the rec-

tory house, an old thatched building north of the

church, has long been unfit for an ecclesiastical resi-

dance, and is let in tenements.* The gross income of

the rectory, with Staindrop vicarage attached, is stated

at £390 per annum, subject to permanent payments

amounting to £36. From the remaining £35-1, £60 is

paid to a curate for Cockfield. The Eev. Peter Bar-

low, A.B., is the present oiEciating clergyman.

The Eev. J. W. D. Merest, as a tithe-owner of not

less than one-fourth of the tithes of the parish, by no-

tice, dated May 15, 1837, called a parochial meeting of

the land and tithe-owners, to take place on the 19th

June following, to discuss a proposed commutation of

tithes. The measure was carried into effect upon a seven

years' average.

CHARITIES.

Frencli's Charity.—A freehold house in the Back

Row, Newcastle-upon-Tyne, was bequeathed, August

11, 1686, by George French, citizen and haberdasher,

of London, to the poor of the town and parish of Cock-

field for ever. The house is let in tenements, at rents

amounting to £8 8s. a year ; but the premises are out

of repair, and the rents have long been irregularly paid.

When received, they are divided, at May-day and

Martinmas, in sums varying from 2s. 6d. to 4s. or 5s.,

amongst the poor of Cockfield, according to a list made

out by the churchwardens.

IIutto7i's Charity.—Out of the estate of Hindon, in

this parish, John Hutton, by will, July 16, 1657, gave

20s. per annum for ever to the poor of the parish ; the

overseers to dispose of it according to the monthly cess

for the poor. For some years, it has been received by

the overseer of Woodland, and applied wholly for the

benefit of that township.

Donor unknown.—The tenant of a small farm called

Fold Garth, in Woodland, belonging to the Duke of

Cleveland, pays Ss. yearly to the overseer of Woodland,

* In this house resided the Rev. 'WiUiam Xicholson, who for 23

years officiated as curate of Cockfield on a salary of £20 per annum.

^^^len incapacitated from duty by age, he was allowed an annual

pensionof £10 ; but having no person to attend upon him, and his

faculties being impaired, he gradually became extremely dirty ill his

person, and used to be hooted about the village by the children, with

whom it was a customary sport to "plague t'ould pareson." At

length, Mr. John Hinscliffe, the parish clerk, took pity on the forlorn

and degraded state of this unfortunate son of the church, and had

him removed into his own house, where, with much difficulty, the

vermin, &e., were cleansed from his body, and his last moments

who gives it, with the proceeds of Huttou's charitv, to

one poor widow not receiving any relief from the

township.

From an earlj' period, the manor of Cockfield was

held by the family of Vavasour. Henry Vavasour, 5th

Bishop Hatfield, died seised of Cockfield, holding of

the bishop in capita, by homage, fealty, service at the

court, and a quarter part of a knight's fee. William

Vavasour, in the 31st year of the same prelate (1375),

died seised of the manor, with the advowson of the

church, and a certain mine, Carhonum Maritimoriim,

value 20 marks when let to farm. In Bishop Langley's

time, Cockfield had become the property of the Ne-

villes, as, in 1420, that prelate granted a pardon to

Ralph Earl of Westmoreland, for purchasing without

license, from Henry le ^ avasour, Chiv., the manor,

with the advowson of the rectory ; and on the 16th of

March, 1425, the bishop confirmed the settlement made

thereof by the earl, which had been executed without

license, to Johanna his countess, and the heirs male of

their bodies. In 1569, fifteen persons from Cockfield

followed their lord in his disastrous rebellion, three of

whom suffered death by the public executioner after its

suppression. This estate, like the other possessions of

the earl, was forfeited to the crown ; and on August 17,

2nd James I., that monarch granted to Henry Lidley,

of Halden in the coimty of Kent, Knt., and John

Starkey, of the same, Gent., all the manor and appur-

tenances of Cockfield, valued at £20 13s. 4d. per

annum ; with the profits of the courts there, valued at

2s. per annum. The estate subsequently became vested

in the modern lords of Raby ; and the Duke of Cleve-

land is now lord of the manor.

The royalty of the estate, south of the village, is held

by John Bowes, Esq., and others, under whom the

Seven Sisters Colliery has been worked. On August

25, 1851, the Inclosure Commissioners of England and

Wales gave notice that John Bowes, of Streatlam

Castle, Esq., had made application, under the provi-

rendered comparatively comfortable. He died on JIarch 8, 180j, and

was buried on the south side of Cockfield church.

Another retired clergyman was the Rev. William Wilson, better

known as Fiddler Willie, who was a native of Cockfield, where his

father carried on business as a master mason. Ha\-ing received a

liberal education, he was ordained for the church, and resided for

some years at Morpeth and other places in the north of England

as curate, never having obtained superior prefurraent. He was twice

married ; and, at the latter period of his life, removed to his native

place, where he resided, till his death about 15 years ago, on the

property left him by his father.
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sions of the act 13th aud l-tth ^'ict., cap. 31, for the

sum of £1,800 by way of loan, for the drainage of his

lands in the parish of Cockfield. Mr. Bowes is the

principal landed proprietor ; but there are several

others in the township. Twenty-two lots of houses,

cottages, a brewery and malting, a garden, and closes

of land, belonging to Mr. George Dixon, were sold, on

the 8th of April, 1830, to various purchasers. An
estate called Wigglesiuorth is the property of P. H.

Stanton, Esq. There are three farms belonging to

the township of Cockfield, but situated on the south of

Woodland township. One of these, East Hindon,

containing 72 acres, with an allotment of 133 acres,

belongs to a school at Burton in Kendal, and is charged

with the pajonent to Button's charity of 20s. per

annum.

CocJifield Fell.—This large tract extends northward

from the village to the Gaunless, and is about 2 miles

in width fi'om east to west. Coal has been worked on

it from an early period, as may be seen from the above

notice of Vavasour's mine, which is the first inland

colliery upon record. The "lines and entrenchments"

on Cockfield Fell, described by Bailey in the Antiqua-

rian Repertory, are probably the remains of old coal

workings ; the moderate depth to which it was neces-

sary to sink rendering this district, in the infancy of

mining machinery, available to the enterprize of early

speculators ; though its distance from the nearest port

prevented competition with the more maritime collieries.

The opening of the Stockton and Darlington railway,

however, removed this difficulty; and the coal on

Cockfield Fell, the royalty of which belongs to the

Duke of Cleveland, has been nearly all worked out.

One of the most remarkable peculiarities which occur

in the coal field of the county of Durham, is the great

Greenstone Dyke, which enters the county from the

south-east, a little above Preston-upon-Tees,* and,

passing by Bolam, intersects the coal beds on Cockfield

Fell, from which circumstance it has been commonly

called the Cockfield Fell Dyke, Passing to the north-

west, it appears to run into the Butterknowle slip

dyke and the Hett basaltic dyke, and thence on towards

the western sea. Its effects on the seam of coal are

thus described by the late H. T. M. Witham, Esq. :—
" Although innumerable examples of the changes

caused by the action of volcanic dykes have been

already described by various authors, yet I have read

* Li the neighbourhooJ of Roseberry Topping, Yorkshire, this dyke

deteriorates the quality of the iron- stone to the south of it, in the

same manner as the Hett dyke injures the eoal in its southern vicinity

.

of none whose influence has been more powerful or

more extensive than that produced by the great Cleve-

land or Bolam Dyke upon the coal wliich lies under

Cockfield Fell.

" This colossal dyke is too well known to geologists

to require here any particular remarks. The distance

of its course, running from S. E. to N. W., is computed
to be about 70 miles, and how much further it may go

in either direction is as yet a matter of uncertainty.

The breadth differs; butfrom its extent generally, the mass

of volcanic matter injected must have been enormous.
" Under this common several seams of coal arc

worked. The coal, with the other strata, is thrown up
to the south six yards by the dyke. In working towards

it, when within fifty yards, the coal begins to change.

It first loses the calcareous spar, which occurs in the

joints and faces, and begins, to look dull, grows tender

and short, and also loses its quality for burning. As it

comes nearer, it assumes the appearance of half-burnt

cinder ; and approaching still nearer the volcanic mass,

it grows less and less in thickness, becoming a pretty

hard cinder, and only two feet six inches thick. Eight

yards further, it is converted into real cinder ; and

more immediately in contact with the basalt, it becomes,

by degrees, a black substance called by the miners doiok

or swad, resembling soot caked together, the seam of

coal being reduced to nine inches in height. There is

a large portion of pyrites lodged on the roof of that

part of the seam which has been reduced to cinder. On
each side of the dyke, between it and the regular strata,

there is a thin gut or core of clay, about six inches

thick, which turns the rain water on the rise side, and

forces it to the surface, forming numerous springs as it

traverses the country. The coal spoiled by the action

of this greenstone dyke is as follows :—twenty-five yards

of bad short coal, half reduced to cinder, sixteen yards of

cinder, and ten of the sooty substance before described,

making, together, fifty-one yards. Should a similar

effect have taken place on the rise side, of which (from

what has already been wrought) no doubt can be enter-

tained, it will make altogether upwards of one hundred

yards in breadth of coal, which the cflect produced by

this dyke has rendered quite unfit for ordinary colliery

purposes. The dyke itself, at this point, is eighteen

yards thick.

" Here, then, we have a most convincing proof that

the substance ejected into and through this immense

crack, must have arrived at the surface in a state of

most intense heat, and which, when cooling, shrunk

and contracted, so as to produce on each side what is
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called the gut or core of 6 inches, now filled with clay,

as before observed. Water-vrorn stones have occasionally

been found embedded in the solid coal of the main

seam.

" The Greenstone of the dyke is of great value

throughout the whole line for making and repairing

roads, for which purpose it is quarried in every direc-

tion upon Cockfleld Fell ; it has been used for the

above purpose upwards of seventy years, Mr. Dixon

being the first person there who so applied it.

" AVhUst mentioning the Whin Dyke of Cockfield

Fell, I must observe, that there are here, as throughout

the whole coal field, numerous faidts, all of which by

the miners are called dykes : these are, perhaps, more

difiicult of explanation than the other, and as materially

affecting the regular stratification of the coal, are of

more importance to the mine owner. These are those

cracks and slips which throw the coal and other strata

out of theu- regular bearing, either up or down. These

cracks are generally not more than five or six inches

wide, and the substance contained in them is an indu-

rated impervious clay."

Mr. "Witham illustrated the dislocations of the coal

strata in the Auckland district by a section, "from

which," says he, " will be apparent the amazing force

which must have been in operation when they were

formed ; the sm-face of the earth must have been

agitated like that of the sea, and by a force wlrich there

can be no doubt was volcanic, from the identity of the

effects produced on a small scale at the present day."

Mr. Francis Forster, colliery viewer, in 1830 pub-

lished an investigation of the nature of the several

specimens of co;d, &c., from this dyke, from which the

following conclusions are drawn :—The basalt is light

grey, fine-grained, and compact, interspersed with

crystals of felspar ; specific gravity, 2"672 ; loses eight

per cent, in a strong air-furnace heat, and becomes

fused into a brown glass. The coke or carbonized coal,

mixed up with the basalt, is extremely hard, fracture

uneven, grey, mixed with irregular streaks of carbonate

of lime and sulphuret of iron; specific gravity, TOST,

that of the coal which it represents being 1'27. The

coke, when reduced to powder, and calcined in a strong

red heat, leaves 23 per cent, of heavy incombustible

powder, of a reddish colour.

The "water -worn stones" alluded to by Mr. AVitham,

commonly called " rolled stones," are found in a por-

tion of Cockfield Fell colliery, of about 3 acres in ex-

tent, on the north side of the dyke. Their position

does not seem to be influenced by that disruption, as

they occur, in many instances, 400 yards from it, and

occasionally at greater distances. Similar specimens

have been also met with on the south of the dyke, as

far as the outcrop of the coal. In the coal which is

altered by the dyke, only one solitary specimen has

been found, though they are abundant in the solid coal

adjacent.

WOODLAND.

This township, as above observed, though belonging to

the parish of Cockfield, does not adjoin the township of

that name, but is bounded on the south by that of

Langley Dale (from which it is divided by the Hindon

Burn), by Eggleston on the west, by South Bcdburn

on the north, and by the last named township, Ham-
sterley, and Lynesack and Softley on the east. This

boundary includes AA^oodland Common on the west, a

large tract of land which was formerly moor ; but an

act for its division having been obtained in 1814, the

whole is now inclosed and cultivated, except some large

portions awarded to the Duke of Cleveland, John

Bowes, Esq., and some other land-owners. In 1851,

there were 46 inhabited houses, and 5 uninhabited,

scattered over a bleak, sterile, and hilly district. The
population of the township, at the periods of enumera-

tion, was 78, 102, 155, 223, 241, and 240; the latter

number consisting of 122 males and 118 females. The

value of the property assessed to the county-rate in

1853 was £685 16s. 4d.

Woodland, diuing the year ended March, 1854,

contributed £30 12s. to the Teesdale Union for out-

relief and lunatics ; £16 18s. for irremoveable poor,

salaries, and other common charges ; £1 Os. 6d. for

constable and costs before magistrates, &c. ; 15s. for

law costs, revising barrister, and jury list; and £3 Is.

4d. for journeys, salaries of assistant overseers, inci-

dental expenses, &c. ; making a total of expenditure,

£52 6s. lOd. Tliis was less by 14s. than the expendi-

ture of the preceding year. The expenses of the

registration amounted to £9 8s..' 6d.; and the county-

rate paid by the overseers was £11 19s. lOd.

The village of Woodland is 3 miles north-west from

Cockfield, and 7 north-by-east from Barnard Castle.

It contains a public house, and a Methodist chapel,

erected in 1826. A church school was commenced in

1850, and is under the superintendence of the Rev.

Peter Barlow, curate of Cockfield, Avho also performs

divine service in the school-room every Sunday after-

noon or evening. The only support given to the
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school is from the Dulce of ClcTeland, the Eev. H. C.

Lipscomb, and the Rev. P. Barlow, whose yearly dona-

tions are paid to assist the master, as he has only a small

weekly pence from the parents of the children. The
school is well attended.

A shot factory was carried on in Woodland in 1797,

by Messrs. Todd and "Walker, a portion of the buildings

of which still remain ; but the manufacture has been

long discontinued. A tile-shed, with cottages and

grounds attached, were sold by the Rev. J. J. Thorn-

hill, in 1826, to Mr. Jeremiah Gibson, whose widow
now holds the land upon which they stood ; but, since

the sale, the making of bricks and tiles has been dis-

continued, the erections have been taken down, and

the ground renovated to its former state.

Woodland Colliery is near the outcrop of the coal

seams, and is the most westerly coal mine in the county

of Durham ; it M'as worked by Messrs. Sharp and

Hardy, under a lease from the Duke of Cleveland, up
to May, 1837, and is now carried on by the assignees

of the late Rev. William Luke Prattman. The coal is

a continuation of that of the Auckland district. The
colliery is situated within a mile north from the Cock-

field Fell Dyke, and somewhat less thnn two miles south

from the Ilett Dyke. The latter runs nearly parallel

with the outcrop of the coal from Wittou-le-Wear, and

shows itself west of Hamsterley.

Woodland was anciently part of the estate of the

Earls of Westmoreland, and now belongs to the Duke
of Cleveland. Three of the farms, adjoining this town-

ship on the south, are an isolated portion of that of

Cockfield.

PARISH OF STAINDEOR

iHE parish of Staindrop is bounded on the north by Cockfield and the chapelry of Lynesack, on the north-west

and west by the chapelry of Barnard Castle, on the south by Gainford, and on the east by the newly-formed cha-

pelry of Ingleton. It contains the townships or constableries of, 1, Staindrop; 2, Raby and Keverstone; 3,

Shotton and Langley Dale ; and 4, a portion of Clcatlam, the remainder of which is in the parish of Gainford,

with which parish it will be noticed. The townships of Ingleton, Hilton, and Wackerfield, previously portions

of the parish of Staindrop, were in 1845 formed into the parochial chapelry of Ingleton.

STAINDROP.

The township of Staindrop comprises an area of 1,751

aci'es. The property was valued for the county-rate, in

1853, at £4,542 12s. 3d. In 1801, the population was

1,156; in 1811, 1,087; in 1821, 1,273; in 1831,

1,478; iu 1841, 1,399; and in 1851, 1,429, of whom
649 were males and 780 females. There were, at the

latter date, 292 inhabited houses, 6 uninhabited, and 3

building.

In the year ended March, 1854, the township of

Staindrop contributed £34 13s. 3d. to the Teesdale

Union for in-maintcnancc, clothing, and funerals ; £1 Is.

for extra medical charges; £170 10s. Gd. for out-relief

and lunatics ; £75 7s. 8d. for irremoveable poor, salaries,

and other common charges; £2 12s 6d. for constable

and costs before magistrates, &c. ; £1 8s. 6d. for law

costs, revising barrister, and jury lists ; and £3 14s. 6d.

for journeys, salaries of assistant overseers, incidental

expenses, &c. ; the total of expenditure being £289 7s.

lid. The repayments of relief by relations, and other

VOL. II.

payments, amounted to £7 18s. 6d., leaving a net ex-

penditure of £281 9s. 5d., which was £39 8s. Id. more

than that of the preceding year. The cost of registra-

tion was £3 3s. ; and the overseers paid £46 18s. 6d.

to the county-rate.

The town of Staindrop is a place of great antiquity ;

its name is derived from Stein Dorf, the stony village,

probably from its proximity to the Roman road between

Street-le-ham and Watling Street. In veneration of

St. Cuthbert, King Canute, when he performed his

pilgrimage by Garmondsway, to the shrine in the

catliedral at Durham, ofiered up at the altar Staindrop

and Staindropshire, viz , Cnapaton (Suottertonj,

Scottun (Shotton), Rabi, Waccrleld, Efonwowda (Even-

wood), Alclet, Luterington, Elledun (Eldon), Ingeltun,

Ticcelca (Thickley), and JMidrltun. Bishop Flambard

seized the dominion of Staindropshire from the convent,

but restored it before his death; and in 1131, it was

granted by Prior Algar to Dolphiu, son of I'chtrcd, to

be holden of him in capitc, under tlic yearly rent of

£4. The history of Staindrop is, after this event.
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involved in that of Eaby. In devotion to the last of

the Nevilles, 4-1 of the inhabitants of Stayncdroppe

joined in the Northern Rebellion, of -nhom 7 were

afterwards executed.

The town of Stauidrop is situated on the turnpike

road between the city of Durham and Barnard Castle,

19 miles from the former and 6 from the latter place.

It is 32 miles by the turnpike road from Gateshead, 39

from South Shields, 32 from Sunderland, 35 from

Hartlepool, 24 from Stockton, 12 from Darlington, and

244 from London. The town consists principally of

one wide and well-built street, of about half a mile in

length, and contains several elegant and substantial

houses, the residences of many respectable families.*

Sfaindrop Hall, formerly the property of the Ewbanks,

was some time occupied by the widow of the Hon.

Rahy Vane, and is now the residence of John Gregson,

Esq.

Bishop Hatfield, on the 24th of January, 1378,

granted a charter for holding a weekly market in Stain-

drop every Saturday, and annual fairs on the vigil of

St. Thomas the Martyr and the two following days.

The fairs have been long discontinued. The weekly

market is tolerably well attended ; but the corn market,

which was revived about 30 years ago, is again discon-

tinued. The stalls for the use of butchers and others

attending the markets with their goods, are miserable

erections, standing in the wider part of the street ; their

removal, however, is contemplated. Staindrop has a

rural police station in the Barnard Castle district ; and

there is also a post-office, and several good inns and

public-houses ; business to some extent is also carried

on by drapers, grocers, shoemakers, joiners, smiths, and

others. A mechanics' institution and literary society

has recently been formed ; it consists of about 100

members. Lectures are delivered during the winter

months, and besides the daily and weekly papers which

are taken in, the library consists of upwards of 600

* A commission de lunaiico inquirendo, wliicli excited considerable

attention in the county, w;is opened in the county conrts, in the city

of Durham, on July 5, 135t, in order to enquire whether Martha

Colpitts, spinster, late of Staindrop, was a lunatic on the 1st of July,

18")2, or at any time subsequent to that period. The object of the

inquiry was to test the validity of the will of Miss Colpitts ; and Mr.

Commissioner Barlow presided during the investigation. Alter an

adjourned hearing, the jury found Miss Colpitts of unsound mind

from the 30th July, 1852, and that she had continued to be so up to

that time. The master, who concurred in the verdict, appeared to

have been under the impression that it was tmanimous ; hut when

the inquisition had to be signed, William Greenwell, of Bearpark

Lodge ; Augustus Hind Hunt, Birtley House ; William Hunter,

East Parks ; and 'WilUam Jones, Cassop, dissented. Of course, this

volumes ; the subscription is 8s. per annum for adults,

and for young men under 18 years of age, 4s.

The Staindrop Farmers' Club, commenced in 1846,

through the exertions of Mr. Dean and a few other

persons, continues in a flourishing state. The anniver-

sary meetings are held in January, at which, as well as

on other occasions, addresses are delivered and papers

read illustrative not only of the details of farming, but

also of the position and prospects of national agriculture.

The town is well supplied with good spring water.

The Staindrop Gas Company was established in

1853 ; the works are erected at the east end of the

town, and cost £1,300. The capital of the company is

divided into shares of £5 each. Tlie gas is of a very

pure quality, and is introduced into the principal dwell-

ing houses, inns, and places of business.

Petty sessions are held on alternate Saturdays, at

which the presiding magistrates are, the Rev. H. C.

Lipscomb, A.M., vicar; Thomas M. Maude, Esq., of

Selaby Park; and T. E. Edger, Esq., M.D., of Gain-

ford. Their sittings were for many years held in a

room of the Queen's Head Inn ; but recently a place

was obtained, adjoining the lock-up, at a rent of £8 a

year, one-half of which was to be paid by the county,

and the remainder by the magistrates, who, at the

sessions held October 15, 1851, presented a memorial,

requesting that the whole might be paid by the county

treasurer. The chairman of the quarter sessions replied

that the Staindrop magistrates had pledged themselves

to pay this rent in consideration of the county enlarging

and improving the court-house. At the sessions on

AprU 7, 1852, an applicaiion was made on behalf of the

Rev. H. C. Lipscomb, stating that his brother magis-

trates had refused to contribute towards the rent, the

moiety of which had consequently to be defrayed by

himself. The rule, however, was, that the county

should, on the erection of any justice-room, contribute

a sum equal to any local subscription.

f

made no difference in the resiUt, as imauimity amongst 12 of the 17

who composed the jury was sufficient to c.irry the verdict. The
majority were, Thomas Crofton, Holywell ; Robert Brack, Shincliffe

;

John Furneis, Coxhoe ; Richard Greenwell, Bishopwearmouth

;

Chiu-les Garthorne, Cornforth ; Robert Jackson, High Bumigill

;

George Liddell, Great Chilton ; Philip Miller, Esh HaU ; John Pratt,

Streatlam Mill; WiUiam Proud, Cocken; TTiomas AVearmouth,

Byers Garth ; Robert Wilkinson, Great Chilton ; and WUliam Millar,

Old Pittington.

t One of the magistrates observed that when a justice .room was

held in a public-house, it inevitably led to drinking. If parties were

victorious, they went to rejoice over their victory ; if they were de-

feated, they went to condole with their friends.
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The Langley Beck, which runs from the north-west,

passes the town on the north, and separates it from

Raby Park. It is crossed by a bridge near the east end

of the church. A footpath was recently formed from

this bridge to the church-yard, two-thirds of the expense

of which was defrayed by tlie county.

THE CHURCH.

The original foundation of a church at Staindrop is

considered to be coeval, at least, with the time of

Canute's grant. The first incumbent is named in 1131

;

and the date of the nave, the earliest part of the church,

has been conjectured to be about the year 1200, the

period of transition from the Norman to early English.*

The Rev. H. C. Lipscomb, in his " History of Stain-

drop Church," says that " no part remains (if we except

one or two stones built into the walls which appear to

have vestiges even of Saxon Work) of an earlier date

than the middle of the 12th century. The church then

consisted of a chancel and a short nave with very low

aisles, and probably a low massive tower. In this state

it appears to have remained for rather more than half a

century, when an alteration took place which might

more properly be called a reconstruction." This " was

accomplished by elongating the structure two arches

westward, which necessitated the erection of a new
tower. The north aisle was then lengthened, and like-

wise the south one j the transepts were added, the

chancel constructed anew with its present existing

scdilia, and a building erected on its north side two

stories in height, the lower room being used for the

purposes of a vestry, and the upper one possibly for the

abode of an Anchoret. This room had three small

windows pierced in a slanting direction through the

wall, giving a view of the high altar, and still visible in

the north chancel wall. These additions had hardly

been perfected twenty years when it was found desirable

to widen the south aisle, and this new addition was made
in a superior style of masonry known by the name of

ashlar work. The porch was at the same time built in

a peculiar manner, being entirely constructed, even to

its outside covering, of stone. The window at the west

end, the only one remaining of its date (the middle of

the 13th century), is a fine specimen of a triple-lancet

under a hood-moulding. At this time also some ercc-

* On the corner of a house at tlie east end of the town is an ancient

sculpture of a man and a dog ; traditionally said to represent a person

who jumped or fell from the church while it was being built, and was
followed by his faithful dog.

tion was contemplated and commenced near the cast

end of the aisle. A small triple shaft with a moulded

capital, surmounted by the first stone of the arch, was

placed against the south side of the easternmost pillar

of the nave. [This was removed when the church was

restored in 1849.] It appears, however, that the work
was abandoned—probably on account of the nave pier

not being sufficiently substantial to form an abutment."

The edifice, as it now stands, is spacious and stately,

consisting of a tower, a nave and side-aisles, and a chan-

cel, but no transept, though there is a slight projection

northward at the east end of the north aisle, containing

three lancet lights. The principal entrance is by a

south porch, above which is a sun dial. The doorway

consists of plain mouldings, and the roof is strongly

groined. There are four circular arches on each side

of the nave ; those on the south side being adorned

with the zigzag ornament, and supported by three lofty

pillars, two of which are cylindrical and one clustered,

with capitals of sculptured foliage. The cylindrical

pillars, with their arches, may be considered the oldest

portion of the present building, being of the Norman
period, about the year 1170. Leland says, "I hard

that afore Rafe of Raby time, thcr was that alonly that

now is the south isle." The arches of the north aisle

resemble those of the south, but want the zigzag sculp-

ture. This part of the church is probably of the date

of 1343, when Ralph Neville founded the chantries in

the south aisle. It was enlarged and rebuilt about the

close of the 15th, or beginning of the 16th century; at

which time the ridged roof of the chancel was removed,

and the present flat one substituted. The windows of

the south aisle, which were restored about 50 years

ago, are of the decorated style, under low arches.

That at the east end is of the time of Bishop Neville,

about 1345. Those in the north aisle are nearly in the

same form as the south ones, but more modern. The

clerestory has four low arched windows on each side.

The tower is supported by lofty pointed arches, and

has a large square' staircase turret. The up])cr part of

it, above the corbels, appears to have been added, about

1360, to the lower, over which it projects as a cornice.

In 1788, the Hon. Mrs. Raby Vane made the parish a

present of six bells, cast for the purpose in London.

She died in May, 1789 ; and until within the last i'cw

years, a peal was always, on the anniversary of lier

death, rung to her memory.

A pointed arch and a screen separate llic nave from

the chancel, which is a spacious and handsome portion

of the church, being 49 feet in Icngtli, and 18 feet 8
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inches in widtli. Within the altar rails, in the south

wall, arc three niches or stalls for the officiating priests,

supposed to have been a part of the original chancel

:

their date being probably about 1230. The arches

have trefoil heads and deep mouldings ; but the inter-

vening shafts have been cut away. The keystones in

the roof of the chancel are sculptured with the Neville's

saltire. The east window, of about the date of 1500,

is divided by mullions and transoms into three tiers of

pointed arches under a low arch at the top, and retains

an armorial coat of the Nevilles and their alliances with

the Beauchamps and Plantagenets, in ancient stained

glass. There are three large pointed windows on the

south side of the chancel. To the north are two hand-

some windows, lately restored by the Duke of Cleve-

land, from a design in the perpendicular style by John

A. Cory, Esq., architect. The place of the ancient

roodloft, the stone stairs to which stUl remain, was

long occupied by a seat for the Raby family ; but the

oaken stalls, twenty-four in number, having been re-

stored by the Duke of Cleveland, are now occupied by

his grace.. Some of the desks had been removed; but

the carvings are bold and well executed.

The Duke of Cleveland, when Earl of Darlington,

presented the chiu-ch with an excellent organ, the

organist of which was also appointed and paid by him.

The font is a plain octagon of Teesdale marble, with

the Neville quarterings on its sides.

In 1849, extensive repairs and restorations were

made in the church. A new roof was placed over the

south aisle, and the lead-work of the other parts re-cast.

In the interior, the stone-work was cleansed from

whitewash and repaired ; the northern and western gal-

leries were taken down, and the organ placed on the

floor, by which arrangement the beautiful arches

supporting the tower were thrown open. The old

pewing, constructed shortly after the Restoration of

Charles II., was also removed, and replaced bj- scats of

a more ecclesiastical character. The pulpit and reading-

desk are executed in oak, of very elaborate designs, and

with the seats, harmonize with the ancient perpendicu-

lar screen and stalls remaining in the chancel. The
floor was paved with encaustic tiles of a chaste pattern,

which gives an aii- of warmth to the whole. The

architect employed was John A. Cory, Esq. The
organ, on its removal, received several alterations

and repairs, by Mr. Hoggett, of Darlington. By
the alterations in the seats, additional accommodation

for 75 persons was obtained. A grant of £30 in

aid of the undertaking was made by the Incorporated

Society for the Enlarging, Building, and Repairing of

Churches, on condition that 86 seats, described in the

plan, should be set apart and declared to be free for the

use of the poor for ever. There are now 436 appro-

priated sittings, 86 free, and 113 for children; being a

total of 635. The remainder of the expense, except

£100 raised by church-rates for the roof, was defrayed

by private subscription.

MoNtiMEXTS.—The first monument which now attracts

the eve of the visitor on entering Staindrop church, is

that of Ralph Neville, first Earl of Westmoreland of

that name, " who," says Leland, " is buryed yn a right

stately tumbe of alabaster yn the quire of Stainthorp

college, and Margarete his first wife on the left bond of

hym ; and on the right bond lyith the image of Johan

his second wife ; but she is buried at Lincoln, by her

mother Caterine Swinesford, Duchess of Lancaster."

This beautiful monument has been removed from the

chancel, and placed, many years ago, in the south-west

corner of the church, immediately within the entrance.

Here, unfortunately, it was exposed for some time to

the heat of a stove, under the influence of which one

side of it, with its beautiful sculptures, were mouldering

away; some injury was also done to it b^' the perverted

ambition of the ignorant, many of whose initials are

scratched upon it. It seems to have been much mu-

tilated, indeed, at the time of its removal. It is still,

however, one of the finest specimens of ancient sepul-

chral monuments to be found in the north of England

;

and the description given of it by Gough is still gene-

rally applicable :

—

" It is an altar tomb of alabaster, with rich niches at

the sides. The earl is represented in plated armour, a

pointed helmet, with a flowered wreath and mail gorget.

On the frontlet of the helmet, I. H. S., and from the

sides a strap charged with SS, and closed by a triple

ring. He has a large pair of curled whiskers. The

seams of his armour are richly ornamented, and also

the borders of his elbow-pieces. 1 he saltiie is on his

breast : a belt crosses him with a sword at his left side,

and a rich studded belt girds round the flaps of his

armour, under which is a shirt of mad : his knee-i)ieces,

and the beltings and seams of his cuises and gaberdines,

and the instep-pieces, are also richly ornamented.

Under his head is his helmet, supported by an angel,

with the bull's head, his crest. At his feet, a lion, and

behind the lion two monks at a desk. His second wife,

Joan, daughter of John of Gaunt, at his left hand, is

habited in a mantle, kirtlc, and surcote, all richly edged
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and faced ; her hair braided and coomed with quatre-

foils, with a cordon from two lozenge-fashioned studs

:

her sleeves buttoned to the wrists ; on her head, which

rests on two cushions, the undermost tasselled, sup-

ported by three angels, is a coronet, and round her

neck a collar of SS, fastened with a triangular ring, and

a medal appendant. His first wife, Margaret Stafford,

on his right hand, has a similar coronet and collar of

SS ; at the feet of each of the ladies are two dogs,

collared, pecphig out from under their robes ; and at

the feet of all two monks kneeling at their desks. The

whole work was (from apparent remains) gilded and

painted."

At the north-west corner of the church is another

monument, which has also been removed from the

chancel. It is of wood, and inferior in elegance of de-

sign to the first, but is, notwithstanding, a highly-

interesting specimen of antique carving. It represents

Henry, fifth Earl of ^\'cstmoreland, and two of his

wives. By his will, dated 1563, he desired to be buried

in the church of Siaindrop, near Jane, his second wife.

He is represented in armour, except the head, which is

bare, the hair curled and the beard pointed ; the hands

are elevated without gauntlets, the legs extended, and

the ivct resting on a greyhound. The hands of the two

countesses are elevated ; and they are dressed in the

fashion of their time, without ornament, and stiffly exe-

cuted. There is no effigy of the earl's third wife. The
following inscription, in the old English character, now
l)artly defaced, runs round the edge of the tomb :

—

" This tombe madk in the yere of our Lord God
1560, and in yk second yeare of elizabeth, by

THE GRACE OF GoD QuENE OF ENGLAND, FraNC,
AND IeRLAND, DEFENDER OF THE FAITH, BI THE
COMMANDAMENT OF THE RIGHT HONORABLE HeN.
ErLE of "\\''eSTMERLAND FOR HIMSELF AND HIS

THREE WIVES, THAT IS TO SAY, AnnE, DOUGHTER TO

THEHL OF Rutland, Jane, Margaret, doughters
" There are four compartments on each

side of the tomb, formed by small carved pillars, and

containing effigies of the eight children of the earl,

dressed according to the time in which they lived, and

respectively surmounted by the names of Elinor—Ka-
tharin—Ralfe—Charls—Edward— Ihon— ]\Iare

(obliterated)

—

Adeli. On the ends of the tomb are

carved the arms of the family, with their alliances, the

Flantagenets and Manners. Rencath, at the west end,

"All yov that come to the chvrch to praye,

SA vaternoster and a crede, for to have kercy
of vs, and all ovr progeny." On the cast end.

under the panels, " Made by the handes of John

Tarbotons."

The south aisle appears to have been the burial jilace

of the Nevilles. '"In it," says Leland, "as I hard,

was buried the grandfather and grandedam of Rafe

Raby, and they made a cantuarie there. In the waul of

this isle appere the tumbes and images of three ladys,

wherof one hath a crounet, [this figure is not now to be

found,] and a tumbe of a man child, and a flat tumbe

varii marmoris. Ther is a flat tumbe also, with a playn

image of brasse [still in the church], and a scripture,

wher is buried Richard, sun and heire to Edward, Lord

of Bergavenny. This Edward was the flft son of

Daraby" (de Raby). There are two mural arches in

the south aisle, one of which is surmounted by a

crocketted triangular canopy, with pierced tracery of a

beautiful character, and springing from two heads, the

one plain, the other crowned. The canopy terminates

in a finial upon a bracket, probably intended for an

image. Underneath is a recumbent effigy of a female,

veiled by a deep hood, with garments descending to the

feet. Another eflSgy, which seems to have been re-

moved into this recess, from some other part of the

church, is now placed near the alabaster monument.

The other arch, which is a plain circular one, also con-

tains the recumbent effigy of a female ; that of a child,

which lay by it, has been removed into the other canopy.

Figures of lions, &c., on which the feet of the effigies

have formerly rested, are deposited with them in the

recesses. To the east of the ornamented arch are the

sedilia, or stalls for the priests who sung the office for the

dead. Ralph de Neville, in 1343, obtained license

from Prior Fossour and the convent to found three

chantries to the Virgin in Staindrop church ; and it is

probable that the south aisle was appropriated to that

purpose. The two principal effigies have been supposed

to represent Eufemia, daughter of Sir John Clavering^

and jNIargery, daughter of 3Iarmadid<e Thweng, the

first and second wives of John Lord Neville, fiither of

the founder of the chantries. A small porch, with a

groined roof, in the south-eastern angle of the south

aisle, the door of which is now closed up, afforded in-

gress and egress to the chantry priests : a new doorway

to the church-yard has been formed by cutting down the

cast window of the aisle. The endowment consisted of

three acres of land for the building of a habitation for

the priests, and of twenty marks annually issuing out of

Stayndrop and Stayndropshire ; the founder covenant-

ing, notwithstanding, that the prior and convent, of

whom he and his ancestors held Stayndropshire, should
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continue to receive their annual rent of four pounds

without deduction.

Near the tombs of the Earls of Westmoreland is a

beautiful mural monument of marble, with a bust, by

Nollckins, inscribed to John Lee, Esq. ;* and there is

another to the memory of Richard Sherwood, Esq.,

who died May 26, 1816, and Elizabeth his wife. The

south aisle contains several inscriptions to the Blacketts

of Hoppyland. Sepulchral stones of the Hutchinsons

and others, the brasses of which have been taken away,

are in various parts of the nave, &c. Within the altar-

rails are stones over the burial places of Thomas Vane,

Esq., who died June 25, 1675, aged 23 ; the Hon.

Raby Vane, died October 23, 1769; and William,

Duke of Cleveland and Southampton, died May 12,

1774, aged 76. A white marble points out the burial

place of the Hon. Grace Vane, daughter of Christopher

Lord Barnard, and the Lady Eliza, daughter of the

Earl of Clare, who died October 2, 1710, aged 19. A
lofty mural monument of white marble, on the south

side of the altar, represents a sarcophagus, on which is

a view in relief of Raby Castle; above is a recumbent

» .ToHN Lee, Esa„ an eminent barrister-at-law, for many years

resided at Staindrop. He was a native of Yorkshire, and was born

in 1733. For several years he attended the northern circuit, where

he was familiarly known in the legal and professional circles of that

time as Jack Lee. Notwithstanding his talents, he was not at first

successful in his native county, but went many years to York assizes

without receiving a single brief. On this subject, the following

anecdote was related by the late Earl of Eldon :
—" One afternoon,

after dinner, he declared that he found a prophet had no honour in

his own country, and that as he never received a single guinea in

York, he would shake the dust off his feet and leave it, the next

morning, never to return again. Now Davenport, on hearing this

determination, went to his own lodgings ; and himself, with Wedder-

burn, drew up a brief."—It " purported to be in a matter entitled the

king against the inhabitants of Hum town, for not repairing a high-

way ; setting forth the indictment and the names of the witnesses to

be examined, and their testimony, in a most skilful manner, and they

sent it to Lee's lodgings, with a guinea as the fee. Lee came into

tlie circuit room in the evening, and Wcdderburn exclaimed, ' Bless

me, Lee, I thought you were gone !' ' Well,' said Lee, ' it is very

extraordinary : I was just going. I was shaking the dust off my feet

in this place, as an abominable place, that I never would see

again, when, lo ! a brief is brought to me, and I must stay.' ' Well,'

said Davenport, ' in what cause may that be?' Lee said, ' In an in-

dictment, the king against the inhabitants of Hum to« n.' ' dear
!'

said Davunport, they brought me a brief in that case with a bad

guinea, and I would not take it. I dare say they have given you the

bad guinea." ' I have it in my pocket,' said Lee ;
' here it is.' Daven-

poit looked at it and said, ' Y'es, this is the same guinea,' and put it

in his pocket. Wedderburn and Davenp jrt then told him the joke

they had practised to have the benefit of his company a little longer

at York. I think, upon memory, though he was a very good-

tempered man, he never iorgave this joke." From that time,

however, he led almost every cause at York ; and when Mr. John

effigy, looking up to a cherub, which displays a wreath

;

and the inscription commemorates Henry, the second

Earl of Darlington, who died at Raby Castle on the

10th September, 1792, aged 65. On the north side of

the altar is a beautiful mural monument, on which is

sculptured Faith leaning on an altar ; a cherub near her

supporting an urn ; and beneath is an inscription to

the memory of Margaret, Countess of Darlington,

eldest daughter of Robert Lowther, Esq., of Meaburn,

Westmoreland, who died September 10, 1800. Ad-

joining this is another, representing a sarcophagus,

above which is a female figure reclining on a couch,

and an angel directing her attention upwards to cherubs

who are presenting a crown : it is inscribed to the me-

mory of Katherine JNIargaret, Countess of Darlington

,

daughter of the sixth and last Duke and Duchess of

Bolton, who died at Cleveland House, in the 40th year

of her age, on the 16th of June, 1807, A beautifully

sculptured monument, of the purest white marble, by

Westmacott, was erected in the centre of the chancel to

the late Duke of Cleveland, on the 2nd of August,

1843, by the duchess dowager.

Scott (afterwards Lord Chauccllor Eldon) joined the northern circuit,

he was treated with great distinction and kindness by Mr. Lee, who
then had a good deal of business. As the circuit, in those days,

was usually performed on horseback, Lee and Scott used to ride

homeward together at its close, one to Staindrop and the other to

Newcastle. " Of John Lee" wrote the Earl of Eldon, " I loTe to

indulge in the remembrance. To me he was most kind in my younger

days. He was a very powerful cross-examiner of a witness. I

remember a witness remonstrating against the torture of his cross-

examination. The man, who was clothed in rags, said, ' Sir, you

treat me very harshly, and 1 feel it the more because we are relations.'

' We relations, fellow !' said Lee ; ' how do you make out that ?'

' A\Tiy,' said the man, ' my mother was such a person, and she was the

daughter of such a man, and he was the son of a woman, who was

the daughter of a person (naming him) , who was your great grand-

father, or great, great, great grandfather.' ' Well,' said Lee, ' you

are right, he was so. And then, my good cousin, my good fourth or

fifth cousin, speak a little truth, I beseech thee, for the honour of the

family—for not one word of truth, cousin, hast thou spoken yet.'
"

The subsequent career of Mr. Lee was successful and dignified.

He was for some time attorney-general for the county palatine of

Lancaster, and afterwards for that of Durham ; and he represented

the borough of Higham Ferrers in parliament. He also, under Lord

Rockingham's administration, successively filled the offices of solicitor

and attorney-general to the crown, to the latter of which he was pro-

moted in November, 1783. After a life of probity and honour, he ex-

pired on the 5th of August, 1793, in the 61st year of his age, and was
interred in Staindrop church, where the monument was erected to his

memory by his widow. This lady was the daughter of Thomas and

Tabitha Hutchinson, and died on the 17th of August, 1812, in the 7Sth

year of her age. A tablet, bearing an elegant inscription, was placed

on the most western pillar of the south aisle by her daughter, the

late Miss Lee, of Staindrop, who died on the 4th of April, ISol, aged

74, after a life of unobtrusive benevolence.

I
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Thk College.—Bishop Langley, by license, dated

November 10, 1408, empowered Ralph Neville, Earl

of Westmoreland, to found a college in Staindrop, to

consist of " one custos. eight chaplains, four secular

clerks, six esquires, and six other poor persons ;" the

license does not confine the founder to numbers or

their quality.

In Tanner's Notitia, the establishment is described

as "a college for a master or warden, six priests, six

clerks, six decayed gentlemen, six poor officers, and

other poor men, to the honour of the Virgin Mary. It

was endowed at the Dissolution with £170 4s. 6d. per

annum, in the whole, and £126 5s. lOd. clear." The

endowment originally consisted of two messuages and

twelve acres in Staindrop, granted by the earl towards

the maintenance of divine service ; besides which the

churches of Letham in Lancashire, and of Brigham in

Cumberland, were appropriated in augmentation.

The college adjoined the church, and appears to

have been finished by the surviving countess, as Leland

states that " Johan erectid the very house self of the

College of Stainthrop. It is set on the north side of

the collegiate chirch, and is strongly builded all of

stone." The remains of its ruins were in the recollection

of the last generation of inhabitants in Staindrop. The

number of stalls in the chancel was increased on the foun-

dation of the college, and those at present existing were

then erected. It is probable that the earl intended this

house for the reception of his military retainers, or

those servants more immediately about his person who
should be reduced by misfortunes, or otherwise dis-

abled. In 1544, William Rievaux, Conan Denande,

Charles Elmedon, William Wren, jun., Ralph Gower,

and James Tcnante were the inmates. The following

is a list of the masters :

—

Robert Knayton, cl., H32 ; Jolm Norman, 1438 ; WiUiam Lambert,

occ. May I, 14.50, and 1477 ; Thomas NeTille, priest, (rector of

Branccpath) ; William Pollerd, July 20, 149S ; John Claymond,

A.M., (vicar ol' Norton, 1498), October 12, 1600 ; AVilliam Maudesley,

A.B., 1501, p. res. Claymond; Edmund Natras, S.T.P. (rector of

Middleton-in-Teesdale), 1537 ; Thomas Gamard, 154—, p. res.

Natras.

Registers.—Books Nos. 1 to 3 contain baptisms and

burials from 16o5* to 1759, and marriages from 1635 to

1719 and 1723 to 17G0; No. 4, baptisms from 1760 to

• There were, in that year, 43 baptisms, 11 marriages, and 33

burials. As compared with this, there were, in the year 1850-51,

44 baptisms, 8 marriages, and 39 burials.

From 1644 to 1646, " through want of a minister, and care-

lessness of the clerk during the wars, much of the Register is lost

;

only here and there a name registered."

1806, and burials from 1760 to 1893 and 1805 to 1806

;

No. 5, baptisms from 1806 to 1812; No. 6, burials

from 1807 to 1812; and Nos. 7 and 8, marriages from

1760 to 1812.

The Impropriation, Advowson, and Vicarage.—
That the prior and convent of Durham continued to

exercise some jurisdiction over the church of Staindrop,

after the territory had been granted to Dolphin, son of

Uchtred, has been inferred from the license granted to

Ralph Neville in 1343. It was, however, rectorial till

1412; the Bishops of Diu-ham being the patrons. In

1319, an agreement occurs between Bishop Beaumont
and Nicholas de Stayndrop with Isabella his wife, by
which the bishop gives a s2)arrow-hawk for the advow-

son of the church. The rights of Bishop Hatfield also,

as patron, were reserved on the institution of John
lugilby to the rectory in 1347 ; but in 1372, the ad-

vowsons of Staindrop and Brancepeth had become
vested, by some exchange, in John of Gaunt, Duke of

Lancaster, from whom they are supposed to have

passed to the Nevilles.

On the institution of the college. Bishop Langley,

April 12, 1412, with the consent of the prior and chap-

ter of Durham, annexed the impro^iriation and posses-

sions of the church. " Yet, lest the cure of souls

should suffer neglect, the bishop ordains that a perpe-

tual vicarage shall be instituted, to which, when vacant,

the warden and chaplains of Staindrop college shall

present a clerk, being either one of their own number,

or some other fit person being in priest's orders, of

sufficient learning, and honest conversation, and who
shall have competent skill in chaunting, and shall be

able to perform and administer all other duties to the

cure of souls pertaining, to be admitted and instituted

by the bishop and his successors ; and that the pa-

rishioners may, on emergency, have the readier access

to their vicar, the incumbent for the time being shall

occupy one decent and sufficient chamber within the

college, nigh to the gate, in which he shall abide and

sleep, and shall daily eat at the costs of the college,

with the wardens and chaplains, as one of the establish-

ment, lest living alone he should be tempted to cxtra-

vagatiun." " And besides the premises assigned for

his residence, the vicar shall receive, in full of his

1652, June 14. " Mem. From this time till August there was
noe minister ; soe that the clUldren were caiTied to other parishes to

be baptized."

1709, Miurch. "From this time till 21st Nov., 1710, no account at

all can be given of the register, by reason of the carelessness of John

Pearson, the late clerk. Tho. Lamb, Curate."
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portion, twenty marks annually from the warden in

penny rent, by two equal payments at Martinmas and

the Nativity of St. John the Baptist ; and in every case

of such payment being in arrear for fifteen days, the

warden, &c., shall forfeit twenty pounds sterling to the

bishop's almoner." The warden was also to pay 40s.

annually to the bishop's exchequer, and 20s. to the

prior and convent, as an indemnity for any loss by

reason of the premises ; also 10s. annually from the

glebe to the bishop.

After the Dissolution, the advowson of Staindrop

church remained for some time in the crown. King

James I., by letters dated January 24, 1GI2, granted to

Francis Morris and Francis Phillips all the tithes, &c.,

of the parish, of the value of £-5.5 10s. 9d. ; they agree-

ing to pay to the vicar £6 l-Ss. 4d., and £6 13s. 4d. to

an assistant chaplain. In lG-35, Charles I., on the

humble petition of Sir Henry Vane, Knt., granted

license to Bishop Morton to create and establish a per-

petual vicarage within the parish church of Staindrop,

with power for Sir Henry to endow it to the annual

value of £57 or therebouts. Under this license he

endowed it with a manse and garden, the petty tithes

of Ingleton, Hilton, Wakcrfield, and Staindrop, and

the oblations and Easter dues, and presented the living

to the Rev. Nathaniel Ward.

Staindrop rectory ; patron, the Bishop of Durham.

Dedication to the Virgin.

Eectors.—.\ldwin presbytor de Stayndrop, occ. T131 ; John de

Clithe, pr. Edw. I., 1274 ; William de Eouthbur, 1294 ; William de

Quickham, 1325 ; John de Ingleby, 1347, p.m. Quickham ; William

de Dent, 1362, p. res. Ingleby ; William de Deighton, 1363, p. res.

Dent ; John Alwent, 1410, res 1412.

• Nathaniel Ward.—This martyr to his loyalty was one of the

sons of John Ward, minister of Haverhill in Suffolk. His elder

brother, Samuel Ward, B.D., was a preacher of considerable emi-

nence at Ipswich. Nathaniel is understood to have been originally

a student at law ; and, after a residence of some years abroad, he was

presented to the vicarage of Staindrop by Sir Henry Vane, where, it

has been said of him, " He was upon an outpost, and he did his duty

there, as feeling that he belonged to the main body." In January,

1639, he writes, "At home I am engaged in a constant struggle

against my corrupt nature ; abroad I have to contend with impiety

and barbarism.'" The obligations required of the clergy, at that

time, by the ruling powers, were very distasteful to Mr. Ward, who,

in 1644, either left or was ejected from his living, and joined the

Cavaliers, then in arms in Cumberland. At the siege of Milium

Castle, the ancient seat of the Huddlcstons, he received a mortal

wound. His noncupatory will, by which he bequeathed his lands,

tenements, and hereditaments to his wife Mary and her heirs, was

made in the presence of John Huddleston, John Tempest of the Isle,

Thomas Hutton of Ilutton-John, John Heath of Kepycr, and Robert

Grey.

t Rev. Peter FrsnER.—Dr. Sherwood, of Snow Hall (which see),

contributed the following obituary notice to the Gentleman's Maga-

VicARs.—(Patron, Staindrop College).—Willi.im Home, 1412 -

John Norman, 1432 ; John Rote, or Note, 1471-1476 ; John Robson ;

Thomae Homer, 1498, p. res. Robson ; Thomas Bentley ; Thomas
Gumell, 1537, p. res. Bentley (Bishop Tanstal granted him license to

resign to John Wareyn, for a competent annual pension, dated 27th

December, 1537) ; Robert Skyrro, 1541.

Stipendiary Curates. Annual value, £6 13s. 4d. for

the ofEciating minister, and £6 13s. 4d. for an assistant

;

in toto, £13 6s. 8d. reserved out of the impropriation.

Henry Skathlock, 1556, p. m. Skyrro ; Francis Brackenbury occurs

Jan. 16, 1564, parish priest of Staindrop ; Robert Dixon, 1577; Henry

Setree occ. 15S8 ; Robert Dixon, 1595, p. m. Setree ; Nathaniel Wood,

A.M., 1615 ; Robert Dixon, jun., A.M., 1616 ; John Stockdale,

sequestrator curatos, 1617.

The vicarage restored 1635 ; cert, val., £44 5s.

Patron, the Duke of Cleveland.

Nathaniel Ward, A.M., 1635 ;•—Millet ; —Bowes ; Samuel Feake,

A.M., 1653 ; Simon Gilpin, 1660 ; Simon Gilpin, A.M., 1700, p. ni.

his father ; Thomas Browne, 1717 ; Benjamin Burgess, 1728 ; William

Gibson, 1740 ; Peter Fisher, 1746 ;t George Davison, March, 4, 1794,

p. m. Fisher; John Jones Thornhill, A.M., June 21, 1806, p. m.

Davison ; John William Drage Merest, A.M., June 8, 1829, p. ra.

Thornhill ; Harry Curteis Lipscomb, A.M., October 30, 1846, p. res.

Merest. i

The great tithes of the whole parish are vested in

the Duke of Cleveland. In January, 1838, T. F.

Scarth, Esq., agent for his grace, called parochial

meetings of the six townships of the parish, for the

purpose of making an agreement for the general com-

mutation of the tithes, agreeably to the act of 6 and 7

Geo. IV. ; and an arrangement was made for the

purpose.

1 wo small fields or closes are attached to the living

zine :
—" On the 5th of Sept., 1793, died at Staindrop in the county

of Durham, in the 85th year of his age, the Rev. Peter Fi.shcr, who
had been vicar of that parish upwards of fifty-six years. He was
rector of Cockfield, in the same county, and of Woodham Walter, in

Essex ; a man no less venerable for his virtues than his years ; who,

without any extraordinary brilliancy of intellect, had plain good natu-

ral parts, which he had diligently cultivated. In divinity his reading

was constant, almost to the last moment of his life. He was rich in

the knowledge of the scriptures, and happy in his manner of ex-

pounding them ; a neat composer, a grave and dignified preacher ;

but he was chiefly distinguished by the more rare and valuable

qualities of the heart, by his unaffected piety and unbounded bene-

volence. Mildness and condescension, humility and gentleness,

beamed from his countenance, and influenced all his demeanour,

rendering him very amiable in common life, and much regarded by all

who knew him. Of the sick he was a diligent and conscientious

visitor ; to the poor and needy a liberal benefactor. By his parish-

ioners, among whom he had been abundant in labouis more than half

a century, he was greatly beloved ; and no doubt the ' t/ood old parsun,'

as they used affectionately to style him, will long live in their remem-
brance,"
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as a glebe, subject, at the discretion of the Duke of

Cleveland, to the payment of £10 per annum ; and there

is also a parsonage-house. The living is held with that

of Cockfield, see page 79.

CHAPELS.

Friends' Meeting House.—The Society of Friends

formerly had a meeting house at Raby, on the demoli-

tion of which they erected a substantial building at

Staindrop, capable of accommodating about 250 persons.

There is a burial ground attached. The register books

contain entries of births from 1777 to 1793 and from

1795 to 1819, and burials from 1776 to 1799 and 1795

to 1820.

Independent Chapel.—A congregation of Inde-

pendent Calvinists has long existed, through the instru-

mentality of the late Rev. J. L. Prattman, in Staindrop.

The present neat and commodious chapel, capable of

seating about 350 hearers, was opened on the SOth of

May, 1827. The Rev. J. Jackson, who was minister

at that time, was succeeded by the Rev. R. Thompson,

A.M., the present pastor. The register book, which is

kept by the minister, contains 57 entries of births and

baptisms between 1806 and 1837. The chapel was

registered, pursuant to the acts 6 and 7 Wm. IV.,

c. 85, and 1 Vict., c. 22, for solemnization of marriages,

on the 8th July, 1837.*

Wesleyan Methodist Chapel.—Between 30 and

40 years ago, the Wesleyan Methodists purchased a

house on the south side of the street, which they con-

verted into a chapel, capable of containing about 150

persons. Sunday schools are attached both to this and

the Independent chapel.

The Primitive Methodists are not numerous in

the town of Staindrop; but since 1827 they have had a

room appropriated as a place of worship.

In the year ending Midsummer, 1853, the Staindrop

branch of the Darlington Auxiliary Bible Society con-

tributed £3 10s. on the purchase account, and £11 10s.

free; and 25 Bibles and 24 Testaments were distri-

buted in the same period.

• In April, 1837, a distraint for church-rates was made on the Rev.

R. Thompson and four of his congregation, and on three members of

the Society of Friends. The goods were sold by auction in the mar-

ket-place ; but as there was no competition, the proceeds fell short of

the expenses.

VOL. II.

CHARITIES.

School.—In 1710, John Grainger, Esq., bequeathed

£300 for teaching 30 poor children of Staindrop. The
sum of £15 yearly, being interest at the rate of five per

cent., was, a few years ago, paid by Thomas Papillon,

Esq., of Acrise, near Folkestone, in whose hands the

principal was vested ; and the schoolmaster, in consi-

deration thereof, instructed 30 children in reading,

writing, and accounts, without any charge. The inte-

rest, however, is not now paid, the bond for the same

having been lost.

Su7iday-scliool.—A Sunday-school was established

for the poor children of this parish above 70 years ago,

by a subscription of the then Earl of Darlington, Mrs.

Raby Vane, and other parties. The capital was after-

wards augmented by the late Duke of Cleveland ; and

the amount, £300, was placed in his hands, at five per

cent, interest. The school was held in the vestry ; but

during the incumbency of the Rev. J. W. D. Merest, a

large and commodious building was erected near the

church, as a school-room, having distinct portions for

boys and girls. About 60 children usually attend. A
salary of £6 6s. a year is paid to the master, and the

rest of the income is applied in the purchase of books.

Brahanfs Charity.—In respect of this charity (see

vol. i., p. 428), 19s. is received by the churchwardens

at Easter ; Is. being deducted for land-tax. This

money is carried to the general charity account.

Poor's Lands.—It is not known from whom the

following lands were derived ; but for a considerable

length of time they have been let by the vicar, church-

wardens, and twenty-four for the time being, for chari-

table purposes. 1. A field, containing about 3 acres,

called the Lee Close, let at the yearly rent of £10 10s.

2. About 7 acres of land, called the Ackwards, let at

£34. 3. A garden, containing about three-quarters of

an acre, let at £7 14s. 6d. 4. An allotment, called the

Moor Butts, set out upon the inclosure of Staindrop

Moor, in 1764, to John Brownlcss, the churchwarden,

in trust for the poor, in respect of their ancient lands.

The allotment contains 2j acres, and islet at £14 15s.

A small parcel of land was sold in 1826 ; and the pro-

duce of the sale, £32 5s. 7d., is deposited in a bank in

Darlington. The whole of these sums, with the pro-

ceeds of Brabant's charity, amounting to £67 18s. 6d.,

are divided into 20 parts, as follow :—For Staindrop

township, 7 ; Raby, 5 ; East Quarter (including Wack-

erficld, Hilton, and Ingleton), 4 ; and Langley Dale

and Shotton, 4. The Staindrop share is distributed

o
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soon after Easter, chiefly to •widows and other poor

persons not receiving parochial relief, in sums varying

from 5s. to 10s. each. In Raby, the donations vary

from 8s. to 10s. The township of Ingleton receives

two-fifths of the portion assigned to East Quarter, and

the remainder is divided equally between Wackcrfield

and Hilton : these shares are distributed in sums varying

from 5s. to 25s. In Langley Dale and Shotton, the

donations vary from 10s. to £2.

Township of Staindrop.—Johyi Simpson, by will,

dated April 5, 1680, bequeathed to his wife, Ann Simp-

son, all his lands in Staindrop, subject to an annual

payment of 20s. to the minister, &c., for the putting

out poor children apprentices, or to be distributed at

their discretion amongst poor widows aud fatherless

children in Staindrop. Before the year 1794, this

property had been divided ; and 14s., part of the rent-

charge, is now paid by the Duke of Cleveland's steward,

as charged upon a house belonging to his grace ; 4s. is

paid by John Hodgson, shoemaker, in Staindrop, as

charged upon a house belonging to him ; aud 2s. is paid

by the representatives of the late Miss Lee. The

whole is generally applied towards putting out a child

of the township of Staindrop apprentice, or in supply-

ing clothing for such child when bound out.

Snotterton", supposed to be the Cnapaton of Canute,

is situated about a mile west from Staindrop. It was

anciently a manor, though it now consists of only a

farm, with a house called Rahy Grange, built in 1831

on the site of the old fimily mansion, the walls of which

were surmounted by an embattled parapet, with crock-

ctted spires at the corners. 1 he Fitz-Meldreds, and

their descendants the Nevilles, are its first recorded

possessors; and it passed from the latter, in 1411, to a

family whose heiress mariied John Bainbrigg. He
died in 1516 ; and his successors for four generations

were owners of Snotterton, leaving their coat and crest

sculptured over the principal door of the mansion. In

1607, George Bainbrigge (who married a sister of Sir

George Bowes, Knight Mavshalj sold the estate to

Toby Ewbanke, Esq., of Staindrop Hall, eldest son of

Henry Ewbanke, prebendary of Durham. It was

afterwards held by the Smarts,* from whom it passed to

the Earl of Darlington, and is now the property of the

Duke of Cleveland. A portion of the freehold called

Blakeley, however, passed through the Baileses, Douth-

* Of this family was Chiistopher Smart, the poet, of whom a

notice appeared iu vol. i., p. 327.

waites of Westholme, Garths of Somerhouse, and Hil-

tons of Killerby, to Sir William Bowes, Knt., of

Streatlam, in whose descendant it is still vested.

Staindrop Moor.—In 1764, an act was passed for

dividing and enclosing Staindrop Moor, stated to con-

tain about 500 acres. The Right Hon. Henry Earl of

Darlington, as lord of the manor of Raby, claimed the

soil of the said moor; and Francis Smart, Esq., as lord

of the manor of Snotterton, also claimed such soil, as

being parcel of and belonging to the said manor. The

Earl of Darlington was also impropriator of all the

tithes, both great and small, arising within the township

and parish of Staindrop. The proprietors entitled to

right of common were, the said Henry Earl of Dar-

lington, Thomas Hutchinson, John Tidy, William

Hutchinson, William Lodge, William Blackett, James

i Hudson, and others. The act provided that the said

moor be set out, divided, and allotted, on or before the

1st of May, 1765, by the commissioners, William

Jepson of Heighington, John Dobbinson of Witton

Castle, and Michael Hodgson of Field House, gentle-

men. One full sixteenth part (quantity and quality

considered) was to be allotted in lieu of the right to the

soil, and the remainder divided amongst the whole of

those holding right of common, in satisfaction of such
' rights, after the formation of proper highways, quarries,

! and watering places. The act was not to prejudice the

rights of the lord of the manor, nor his privilege of

working mines and quarries, and of making roads and

wagsou-ways to them, or removing hedges and other ob-

structions thereto. Damages to individuals by such means

were, after notice given in Staindrop church on a Sun-

day morning, to be decided upon by two or more

justices of the peace, v^'ho were to order the same to be

paid by the lord of the manor ; and if the parties

should be dissatisfied with their decision, then such

damages were to be settled by a jury. No tithes of

corn or hay were to be paid from the allotments for five

years after the award of the commissioners was given.

The expenses of the act, surveying, &c., were to be

jointly borne by the owners of allotments.

Mary Bowes, widow of George Bowes, Es(]., claimed

a right of common on the above moor, in respect of

certain lands or tenements within her manor of Streat-

lam, over and above what she was entitled to in respect

of Blakeley farm ; which right was denied by the Earl

j

of Darlington and the other proprietors of land. It

was therefore directed by the act that the said claim

: should either be decided upou by a feigned action at
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law or by arbitration ; and that no part of the said moor

should be divided, nor the act be any-ways put in

execution, until after such trial or award.

Francis Smart, Esq., lord of the manor of Snotterton,

also contended that he and his ancestors, and all those

whose estate he hath in the said manor, had, time

immemorial, claimed and exercised a right of dominion

and seigniory in, upon, and over the said common or

moor, as lords of the said manor, over and besides a

right of common to which he was entitled in respect of

his lands and tenements ; and this claim of dominion

and seigniory was denied by Henry Earl of Darlington.

It was therefore enacted that the said Francis Smart

should be at liberty either to try the said right at law,

or to have it determined by the arbitrators ; and that

no part of the common or moor should be divided, nor

the act be any-ways put in execution in relation

thereto, until the decision of such trial or arbitration.

The decisions were in favour of the duke, and a

division thereupon took place. The award was depo-

sited in the office of the Exchequer, city of Durham,

on March 21, 1765.

RABY AND KEVERSTONE.

The township of Raby and Keverstone, to the north of

that of Staindrop, contains an area of 2,752 acres

;

the property was valued for the county-rate, in 1853,

at £2,649 12s. lid. The population, at the six deceri-

nial returns, was 213, 201, 203, 247, 284, and 313.

Of the latter number, 148 were males and 165 females;

and there were, at the same date, 51 inhabited houses.

The contributions of the township of Raby and

Keverstone to the Teesdale Union, for the year ended

March, 1854, were as follow :—For out-relief and

lunatics, £23 lis. ; for irremoveable poor, salaries, and

other common charges, £19 16s. 7d. ; for constable and

costs before magistrates, &c., 12s. ; for law costs, revis-

ing barrister, and jury lists, 10s. ; and for journeys,

salaries of assistant overseers, incidental expenses, &c.,

£1 10s. The total of expenditure, £45 19s. 7d., was

£7 IDs. 5d. less than that of the preceding year. The
cost of registration was 10s. 8d. ; and the overseers paid

£43 14s. 8d. to the county-rate.

* Some have endeavoured to prove that the provincial word ncvel,

to pummel with the fist, is derived from the pugnacious character of

the lords of Rahy ; but the word is evidently founded on another

common both in the north of England and in Scotland, namely, nief,

or neavi; the fiat. The name of Neville is derived from Kova
Villa.

HISTORY—THE NEVILLES.

Raby formed a part of the grant of King Canute in

Staindropshire, and was also included, though not by

name, in that of Prior Algar and the convent to Dol-

phin, son of Uchtred, Earl of Northumberland. Raby

is first mentioned as being the lordship of Meldred, the

son of Dolphin ; and his successor, Robert Fitz-Meldred,

intermarried with Isabel, daughter of Geoffrey, and

sister and heiress of Henry de Neville, who died

without issue, 11 Henry III., 1227. The ancestor of

the Nevilles was Gilbert, an admiral in the fleet of the

Conqueror in 1066, whose grandson, Geoffrey, married

Emma, daughter and heiress of Bertram Bulmer (see

Brancepeth, vol. i., p. 429j ; and gratitude for the

possessions acquired by these marriages induced Geoffrey,

the son of Robert Fitz-Meldred and Isabel his wife, to

assume the Neville surname.*

Robert Neville, eldest son of Geoffrey, was lord of

Raby, Brancepeth, and Sheriff Hutton, and flourished

from 1257 to 1282. He appears as governor of the

Border castles of Wark and Norham in 1258-9 ; warden

of the forests north of Trent, 1261 ;
governor of York

castle, 1264 ; of Pickering castle, 1266 ; and of Bam-

borough, 1270. From Geoffrey, a younger brother,

were descended the Nevilles of Hornby.

Robert Neville, son of Robert above named, by his

wife Isabella, daughter of Roger Bertram, Baron of

IVIitford, married Mary, one of the daughters, and

eventually sole heiress of the powerful Baron, Ralph

Fitz-Ribald, lord of Middleham. Dugdale relates that

this Robert Neville frequented the company of a certain

lady in Craven, in an adulterous manner; and, being

surprised by some of her husband's friends, was by them

so mutilated that he died of the wound, June 6, 1271,

and was buried at Coverham, Yorkshire. His wife,

Mary of Middleham, remained a widow 49 years,

" dwelling upon her own inheritance," and, on her

death in 1320, was buried at Coverham, of which her

ancestors were the founders.

RALrH Lord Neville.—On the death of the elder

Robert Neville,t he was succeeded by his grandson.

t A rhyme, supposed to be the oldest in the north, is a liimcnt f.ir

this baron :
—

" Well I wa sail ys homes blaw

llaly Rade this day ;

Nou es he dede and lies law.

Was wont to blaw them ay."
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Ralph, only son of the second Robert and Mary Fitz-

Eanulph, who, though represented as spending his time

amongst the monks of Marton and Coverham, occa-

sionally took that part in public afiairs which befitted

his rank. Amongst other things, he, with John Fitz-

Marmaduke, espoused the popular cause against Bishop

Beck, when that prelate infringed the privileges of the

tenants of St. Cuthbert. (See vol. i., p. 48.) He was

summoned to parliament from 23 Edward I., 1295, till

5 Edward III. ; and was ordered to join Edward I. at

Portsmouth, in the 22nd year of his reign. He also

shared in the disastrous campaign in Scotland with

Edward II. When long past the prime of life, he was

sentenced by Bishop Kcllaw to do penance in Stain-

drop church for the crimes of incest and adultery with

Anastasia his daughter, wife of Lord Walter de Fau-

conberg. He married, first, Eufcmia, daughter and

coheiress of John de Clavering ; and, secondly, Mar-

garet, daughter of John Thweng. On his death, April

18, 1331, he was buried at Coverham. During his life,

a dispute arose relative to the annual offering of a stag

to the prior of Durham, on St. Cuthbert's day in Sep-

tember, as a part of the tenure of Raby, but which

would appear to have been rather a custom than a legal

claim. " Contrary to the custom of his ancestors,"

says Dugdale, " he not only required that the prior of

Durham, at the offering of that stag, ought to feast him,

and all the company he should bring, but that the prior's

own menial servants should for that time be set aside, (

and his peculiar servants and officers put in their stead.

^Miereupon, amongst other of his guests, he invited

John de Balliol of Barnard Castle, who refused to go

with him ; alleaging, that he never knew the Nevills to

have such a privilcdge there ; Sir William de Bromp-

ton fthe bishop's chief justice) likewise acknowledging,

that he himself was the first who began that extravagant

practice : for being a young man, and delighting in

hunting, he came with the Lord Nevill at the offering

of the stag, and said to his companions, Come, let us go

into the ahhy and wind our horns ; and so they did.

The prior further adding, that before the time of this

Ranulph, none of his predecessors ever made any such

claim ; but when they brought the stag into the hall, they

had only a breakfast, nor did the lord himself ever stay

at dinner, except he was invited." This baron not being

thought competent by his mother to manage the world's

wealth, she settled her manors of Middleham and

Coverdale on her grandson.

This " gentleman," Robert Neville, commonly known

as the Peacock of the North, has left little memorial

behind him, except his being " a very, very peacock,"*

and that, on the bridge of Elvet in Durham, he assaulted

and slew Richard Fitz-ilarmadukc, while the latter

rode to open the county courts, as the bishop's

seneschal. In the year following this outrage, of which, ^bm
it appears, no public account was taken, the " peacock" ^H
led a band to plunder the Scottish !March, when he was

met by James, Earl of Douglas, at Bewick Park,

Northumberland, and was there overthrown and slain

in the contest.

Ralph Neville, next brother to Robert, was taken

prisoner on the same field on which his brother fell,

and succeeded to the estates 5 Edward III., being then

40 years of age, and steward of the royal household.

He revived the dispute with the prior of Durham, rela-

tive to the stag, and claimed " to be entertained the

whole day, and likewise the morrow at breakfast ;" his

own officers being admitted to wait on him, jointly with

those of the prior. The prior knowing him to be

powerful, and that the country durst not displease him,

and to gain his favour, in regard he had no small interest

at court, " was content that for one time he should per-

form it as he pleased, yet so that it might not be drawn

into example." And .so Lord Neville, having carried

his point, brought but few with him, and these more for

the honour of the prior than a burthen ; and shortly

after dinner took his leave, but left one of his servants

to lodge all night, and breakfast there, pretending that,

as a son and tenant of the church, he would not be bur-

thensome to it by bringing a great train ; for, said he,

" What does a breakfast signify to me? Nothing."

This Ralph Lord Neville, in 7 Edward III., was a

commissioner to settle articles between the king and

Edward Baliol, and was joint warden, with Henry
Percy, of the East and Middle Marches, in the follow-

ing year, when he was also governor of Bambrough
castle. In the 11th year of that reign, he was again a

commissioner in Scotland, and, shortly after, lent the

king all the money arising from the sale of wood in his

manor of Flaxfleet in Yorkshire. From the 5th to the

39th year of Edward III., he was summoned to parlia-

ment. He was also employed in several of the subse-

quent negotiations, both with Scotland and France;

and in the 33rd Edward III., he attended the king into

• It has been conjectured that this title originated in an armorial

badge. In 1651, the m.inor of Winston was held of Raby by one
broad arrow feathered with peacock feathers ; and a sculpture above

the north door of Staindrop church bears a faint resemblance of some
bird, rather than to a lion.

Thank you for purchasing from Ebay Shop Retromedia

http://stores.shop.ebay.co.uk/retromedia


PARISH OF STAINDROP. 95

the latter country, marched to Montlehery, and, accord-

ing to Froissart, "placed himself in ambush, with Lord

Mowbray and other knights, about three leagues from

Paris, where, after a sharp skirmish, the French were

defeated." But the most conspicuous event in his life

was his presence at the battle of the Red Hills, popu-

larly known as the battle of Neville's Cross. (See vol i.,

pp. 52, 384.) He married Alice, daughter of Sir Hugh

de Audley, sister of Hugh Earl of Gloucester, and widow

of Ralph Baron of Greystock, by whom he had issue

six sons and four daughters. After an active life, Sir

Ralph died on the 5th of August, 1367, and was buried

in the nave of Durham cathedral, being the first layman

to whom that honour had been conceded. The tomb

and mutilated effigies of himself and his wife Still re-

main.* (See vol i. p. 266.)

Sir Robert, second son of Ralph Lord Neville,

married Margaret, widow of Sir Thomas Grey, and

died without issue.

Alexander, third son, born at Raby, became first

canon and then archbishop of York, where he beautified

and strengthened the castle of Cawood. Being much

in favour with Richard II., the enemies of that king

designed to imprison the archbishop in Rochester

Castle ; but he fled for protection to Pope Urban at

Rome, " who partly out of pity (that he might have

something for his support), and more out of policy (that

York might be in his own disposal upon the removal of

this archbishop), translated him to St. Andrew's in

Scotland, and so dismissed him with his benediction."

This translation, however, was by no means agreeable

to the applicant ; as the archbishoprick of St. Andrew's

was inferior to that of York in honour and revenue

;

and, besides, the Scots, looking at that time with jea-

lousy on all Englishmen, could not but be particularly

opposed to one of the family of Neville, so active in the

wars against them. " Indeed," says Fuller, " half a

loaf is better than no bread ; but this his new translation

was rather a stone than half a loaf, not filling his

belly, yet breaking his teeth, if feeding thereon. This

made him preferre the pastorall charge of a parish

church in Lovaine, before his arch-no-bishoprick, where

• The offerings of his funeral consisted of a vestment of red velvet,

richly embroidered with gold, silk, great pearls, and images of saints

standing in tabernacles, which he gave to St. Cuthbert. His body
was brought in a chariot drawn by seven horses into the bounds of

the church-yard, and then carried upon the shoulders of knights

into the middle of the church, where the abbot of St. Mary's in York
(in consequence of the bishop's absence, and the impotency of the

prior) performed the office of the dead, and celebrated the morrow
mass, at which were offered eight horses, viz. four for the war, with

he died in the fifth year of his exile, and was buried

there in the convent of the Carmelites."

Sir William Neville, fourth son of Sir Ralph Neville,

is frequently mentioned as having distinguished himself

in arms, from 35 Edward III. to 8 Rich. II., and is

noticed, in the latter reign, as a chief leader of the

Lollards.

John Lord Neville, son of Ralph, was with his

father at the battle of Neville's Cross, and afterwards,

by his bravery and talents, contributed much to the

aggrandizement of the house of Raby. Pie was knighted

for his services at the barriers of Paris, and summoned
to parliament 42 Edw. III. In the 44th of the same

reign, he was constituted admiral of the royal fieet from

the mouth of the Thames northwards, and retained by

indenture to serve John Duke of Lancaster in war and

peace. Two years afterwards, " about the Feast of the

Nativity of S. John Baptist, he made that new work of

marble and alabaster in the church of Durham, under

the shrine of S. Cuthbert, which cost above two hun

dred pound." (See vol. i., p. 268.) To this warlike

baron is also to be chiefly attributed the building of

Raby Castle, which he had a license to castellate in

1379. Whilst lieutenant of Aquitaine, he reduced that

province to quiet, and took 83 walled towns, castles, and

forts. On the expedition of Richard II. into Scotland

in 1385, Lord Neville's train (which, with those of the

other nobility of the north, formed the rearward of the

army) consisted of 200 men at arms and 300 archers.

His first wife was Maude, daughter of Henry Lord

Percy, by whom he had two sons and five daughters.

By his second wife, Elizabeth, daughter and heiress of

William Lord Latimer, (who, after his death, married

Lord Willoughby, of Eresby,) he had a son and a

daughter. He died at Newcastle-upon-Tyne on the

17th October, 1389, and was buried in Durham cathe-

dral, where his altar-tomb remains between the pillars

of the south aisle.

Sir Thomas Neville, second son of John Lord Ne-

ville, was summoned to parliament as Lord Furnival,

7 Richard II.

four men armed, and all their harness and habilamcnts ; and four tor

peace ; and also three idoths of blue and gold. Four of the horses,

however, were redeemed after the funeral, by John de Neville, son of

the deceased, for 100 marks. Alice, his widow, sent to the saeri«t

1 20 pounds in silver, to be employed in the repairs of the cathedral

;

and also, for celebrating his anniversary, one vestment, two tunieles,

one cope, three albs, three stoles, four maniples of black satin, and

another embroidered vestment to be used at the celebration of the

sacrament.
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John, son of Lord Neville by his second wife, was

summoned to parliament as Baron Latimer, 5 Henry

V. to 9 Henry VI., and married Maud, daughter of

Thomas Lord Ciiflbrd, and widow of Richard Earl of

Cambridge. His sister, Elizabeth, married Sir Thomas

AYilloughby, son of her mother's second husband.

FiKST Eari, of AVestmoreland.—Ralph, eldest son

and successor of John Lord Neville, was advanced,

under the name of Dan fDominusJ Raby Nevell, to

the title of Eiirl of Westmoreland, in 1398, by Richard

II., from whom he received many other fiivours.

When, however, Henry Duke of Lancaster landed at

Ravenspur, the earl joined hiTu, and was one of the

principal actors in placing him on the throne as Henry

IV. For these services, he was rewarded with the

earldom of Eichmontl, and the office of Earl Marshal of

England for life ; and he continued to enjoy the favour

of Henry, sometimes seasoning the grave counsels he

tendered by such rhymes as the following :

—

" Who so wyll Fraunce wynne.

Must with Scotland fyrst beginne."

After the death of his first wife, Margaret, daughter

of Hugh Earl of Stafford (for his marriage with whom

a dispensation was obtained from the Pope, the parties

being between the third and fourth degrees of consan-

guinity,) the Earl of Westmoreland married Joan, legi-

tiniated daughter of John Duke of Lancaster, and

widow of Sir Robert Ferrers, Knt., and thus became

brother-in-law to the king. When the Percys, aided

bv Owen Glcndower and the Earl of Douglas, rose in

rebellion against Henry, Westmoreland adhered faith-

fully to the monarch ; and, by driving back to Prudhoe

Castle his old associate, the Earl of Northumberland,

he prevented the junction of the latter with Hotspur at

the battle of Shrewsbury. He afterwards, on the in-

surrection of Richard Scrope, Archbishop of York,

made him prisoner by a stratagem of at least a dubious

character, and delivered him to the king.

Holingshead's account of the transaction is that the

carl sent messages to the archbishop, in the forest of

Galtres, to understand the cause of his great assembly,

to which the prelate (who was in armour) answered

that it was for fear of the king only, to whom he could

have no free access for the multitude of flatterers about

him, and shewed the articles of their complaints. The

earl professed that he " liked of the archbishop's holy

and virtuous intent," and induced him to persuade

Mowbray, the earl marshal, also in rebellion, to ac-

company him to a place of conference with himself.

At this meeting, Westmoreland agreed to do his best

towards effecting a reformation, and said, " Well then,

our travail is come to the wished end ; and where our

people have been long in armour, let them depart home

to their wonted trade and occupations. In the mean

time, let us drink together, in sign of agreement, that

the people on both sides may see it, and know that it is

true that we be light at a point." The archbishop sent a

knight with a message to this effect, to his people, who,

seeing shaking of hands and drinking, returned home.

Meanwhile, the other party stealthily increased, and the

archbishop and earl marshal were arrested. Leland states

that Westmoreland's army pursued that of the arch-

bishop, stripping and severely scourging those that they

could lay hold of. The king then marched north

against Northumberlandj and, on his way, executed at

Durham the Lord Hastings, Lord Fauconbridge, Sir

John Colville of the Dale, and Sir John Griffith.

In the reign of Henry V., the Earl of Westmoreland

accompanied that monarch into France, and was pre-

sent at the battle of Agincourt, where he had in his

train five knights, 30 lances, and 80 archers. Shake-

speare, who has pourtrayed a sketch of the sagacity,

prudence, and subtlety of the earl, makes him wish, on

this occasion, for " more men from England ;" to which

the chivalrous king replies, " The fewer men the

greater share of honour."

The collegiate church of Staindrop owes its founda-

tion to the earl; and on his death, October 21, 1426,

he was buried there, and the gorgeous alabaster altar-

tomb erected over him which still commemorates his

memory (see page 86).

His possessions in the county of Durham, at the

time of his death, were immense. Besides the parishes

of Staindrop and Brancepeth, and the advowsons of the

respective churches, he had, according to an inquisition,

manors, lands, buildings, or mines, at Elwick, Dalton,

Hurworth, Nether Coniscliffe, Bolam, Ullerbush, Al-

went, Denton, Eglestcn, Holmeland, Hunwic, Tud-

howe, Sunderland (Bridge), Wodyfal, Halleywell,

Britley, Fyshburne, Oxenade, Cockerton, Cocksyde

house, Derlington, Halghton, Mawfeld, Cockfield (with

the advowson of the living) and Wodland, Eldnn,

Alansheels, Blakwcll, Ivesley, Roulee, Hedeley, Corne-

showe cum Hedleyhop, Thornell, Grenwell, Helmpark,

Bynchestre, Bires, Whitworth, Whetlaw, Westberden,

Pelton, Winlawton, in the city of Durham (with the

advowson of St. Mary's in the South Bailey), Cambous

in Bedlyngtonshire, &c.

The domains of the carl in other parts of the king-
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dom were also extensive ;* but most of tliem were be-

stowed on the favoured issue of the second marriage.

Sir John Neville, eldest son of the earl, commenced

early in life to serve in the wars of France, where he

was made governor of Veruoil in Normandy. " John

Neville, Knight of England, with thirty glayves, dis-

comfited, by Estampes, fifty Frenchmen, taking divers

of them." He was appointed to receive the submission

of such places as succumbed to Henry V., and to

" assault, reduce, and garrison those who stood out."

In his own country, he was governor of Roxburgh and

warden of the West Marches. He married Elizabeth,

daughter of Thomas Holland, Earl of Kent, and sister

and coheiress of Thomas Holland, Earl of Kent and

Duke of Surrey, by whom he had three sons, Ralph,

John, and Thomas (ancestor of the Nevilles of Wear-

dale), and three daughters. He died in 1423, in his

father's lifetime.

Ralph, second son of the eaid, married Mary, daugh-

ter and coheiress of Sir Robert Ferrers, of Oversley.f

The daughters of the earl by his first marriage were*

Maud, married to Peter Lord Mauley ; Philippa, to

Thomas Lord Dacre, of Gilsland ; Alice, first to Sir

Thomas Grey, of Hoton, and afterwards to Sir Gilbert

Lancaster ; Elizabeth, a nun at the INIinoreses in Lon-

don ; Margery (or Anastasia), abbess of Barking
j

Anne, married to Sir Gilbert Umfreville ; and Mar-

garet, married first to Richard Lord Scrope, and after-

wards to William Cressener, Esq.

Richard Neville, K.G., eldest son of the earl by

Joan Plantagenet,t and to whom his father gave Mid-

dleham, was warden of the East and Middle Marches

;

created Earl of Salisbury by patent, 4th May, 20 Hen.
VL, 1442 ; governor of Carlisle, 1448 ; and grand

chamberlain of England, 1460. He married Anne,

• They are enumerated by Dugdale as follows :—the manor of Sti-

ford, CO. Northumberland : the manor of Boston, called Burt-hall

;

the soke of Mumby ; the manors of Wilces, Frompton, Ledenham,
Fulbeck, and Wastinburgh, co. Lincoln: the manor of Cheshunt, co.

Hertford : Claverinf; and Calmore, co. Essex : the castle and

manor of Sheriff-Holton : the manors of Elmington, Skirbenibeck,

Yarcsthorp, Kaskel, Ilowko, Soreby, VViberfosse, Stanfordbrigge,

Ilaund-Burton, Kiiapton, Kisc, Sutton-super-Darwent, Shirborne in

Ilerford-Lithc, Apelton in Kidale ; the castle, manor, and lordship of

Middlcham ; the manors of Charlton, C'overdale, West Witton, Wood-
hall, Kcttlcwell iu Craven ; Thoraldby. Ncw-biggin, with Bishopdale,

Bainbridgge, Esingwold, and Iloby; Gilling,.\ideburgh, Bowes, For-

»ct, Danby, Catrike, Arkclgarthdale. and New Forest ; also the
|

castle of Richmond, with its members, the manors of Snape, Well
Crakhal, Rand, Newton, East Ilawkeswcl, Ruskby, Faccby, Carl-

ton in Clevelan 1, lUlderwel, Caldingston, South Cowton, Fcrgherbv,

Leyboume ; Sufon in Galtres, with the bailiwick of Eangbergh, all

iu the county of York. Likewise tbj manor of Baiingbourne, in

daughter and sole heiress of Thomas Moutacute, Earl

of Salisbury, and was beheaded at Wakefield by the

Lancastrians in 14{>1. His eldest son became Earl of

Warwick (the " king-maker," see page 10).

John Neville, second son of the Earl of Salisbury,

was summoned to parliament as Baron Neville, 38

Hen. VI. ; as Baron Montague, 1 Edw. IV., 1461

;

created Earl of Northumberland, 1465, which dignity

he resigned 1470, and was created ilarquis of Monta-

gue, K.G., and Chancellor of England. He was slain

at Barnet, April 14, 1471, and attainted. By his wife,

Isabel, daughter and coheiress of Sir Edmund Ingle-

thorpe, of Borough Green, Cambridgeshire, he had two

Sons and five daughters. George, the eldest son, was

created Duke of Bedford, 1469; succeeded as Marquis

of Montague, 1471 ; degraded from his dignity by act

of parliament, 1477; and died without issue in 1483.

Sir Thomas Neville, third son of the Earl of Salis-

bury, who married Slaud, daughter of Robert Lord

Willoughby, of Eresby, was slain at Wakefield M'ith

his father.

George Neville, fourth son of the Earl of Salisbury,

was born at Middleham, educated at Baliol College,

Oxford, and consecrated bishop of Exeter before he

was 20 years of age. Five years afterwards, he was

made Lord Chancellor of England. On his consecra-

tion to the archbishoprick of York in 1470, he made a

prodigious feast at his instalment to all the nobility,

most of the prime clergy, and many of the gentry ; the

contents of whose bill of fare were as follow :—300

quarters of wheat, 330 tuns of ale, 104 tuns of wine, 1

pipe spiced wine, above 400 bucks, does, and roebucks,

80 fat oxen, 6 wild bulls, 1,000 wcdders, 300 calves,

200 kids, 300 hogs, 300 pigs, 4,000 rabbits, 3,000 capons,

100 peacocks, 200 cranes, 3,000 geese, 2,000 chickens,

Cambridgeshire ; Perrit, Soureby, the hamlets of Langwathby,

Scoutby, Carlcton, LidcU, Gamelesby, Blenherhasset, Wigton in

AUerdale, and Bolton in AUerdale, all in co. Cumberland.

t " Sir Raff the rich Rugbe, [mentioned in the Battle of Chevy

Chase], was probably Sir Ralph Neville of Raby Castle, son of the

first Earl of Westmoreland, and cousin-german to Hotspur. In the

more modern edition of the ballad, he is expressly caUed Sir Rali)h

Rabby, i.e. of Raby."

—

Minstrelsy of the Scottish Border, vol. i.,p. (iu.

X After the death of King Henry V., a petition was sent to the

regency by I.ady Westmoreland, his aunt, praying that her " Chro-

nicles of Jerusalem," and tne " Expedition of Godfrey of Boulogne,"

borrowed of her by the late king, might be returned. Henry, though

a learned prince, seems to have had the bad habit of borrowing

books and never returnirig them. The prior of Christchurch, iu ii

most pitiful complaint, said that he had lent to his dear lord. King

Ilenrv, the works of St. Gregory, who had never retuined them to

him, Ihcir rightful owner.
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4,000 pigeons, 200 bitterns, 4,000 ducks, 400hernsews,

200 pheasants, 500 partridges, 4,000 -woodcocks, 400

plovers, 100 curlews, 100 quails, 1,000 egretts, 200

reese, 1,506 hot venison pasties, 4,000 cold venison

pasties, 1,000 dishes of jelly parted, 4,000 dishes of

plain jelly, 4,000 cold custards, 2,000 hot custards, 300

pikes, 300 breams, 8 seals, 4 porpoises, and 400 tarts.

At the dressing and ordering of this feast, no less than

1,000 servitors, 62 cooks, and 515 kitcheners were em-

ployed. "But," says Fuller, "the inverted proverb

found truth in him. One (jlutton-7neal mahes inany hun-

gry ones : for some years after falling into the dis-

pleasure of King Edward the Fourth, he was slenderly

dyetted, not to say famished in the castle of Calls ; and

being at last restored by the intercession of his friends,

died heartbroken at Blyth, and was buried in the

cathedral of York, 1476."

Sir ^ViUiam Neville, fourth son of the Earl of West-

moreland, was governor of Roxburghe Castle, and

summoned as Baron Fauconberg 7 Hen. YII., 1429 to

1460 ; created Earl of Kent, 2 Edw. lY., 1461 ; Lord

Admiral of England, and K.G. He married Joane,

daughter and heiress of Thomas Lord Fauconberg, by

whom he had three daughters. He died in 1462, at

Pondelarche, in Normandy.

George Neville, next son of Ralph, Earl of West-

moreland, had the estates of his father's uncle, John

Lord Latimer, settled upon him, and was consequently

summoned as Baron Latimer, from 10 Hen. YL, 1432,

to 1469. He married Elizabeth, third daughter and

coheiress of Richard Beauchamp, Earl of Warwick,

(see page 10,) and died December 9, 1469. His de-

* The fortunes of this last-mentioned daughter, who was mother to

(wo of the three kings of England belonging to the House of Yor/c, and

grand- mother to the other, "may pass," says Fuller, "for the clearest

instance of humane frail felicity.

" HER HAPPINESS.

" She was youngest daughter and child to Kalph, Earl of West-

merland, (who had one and twenty) and exceeded her sisters in

honour, being married to Richard, Duke of York.

" She was blessed with three sons, (who lived to have issue) each

bom in a several kingdom, Edicard, at Bourdeaux, in France, George,

at Dublin, in Ireland, Richard, at Fotheringhay, in England.

" She beheld her eldest son Edward king of England, and enriched

with a numerous posterity.

" HER MISERIES.

" She saw her husband kill'd in battel ; George, Duke of Clarence,

her second son, cruelly murdered ; Edward, her eldest son, cut oifby

his own intemperance in the prime of his years ; his two sons but-

chered by their uncle Richard, who himself, not long after, was

slain at the battle of Bosworth.

" She saw her own reputation murdered publickly at Paul's Cros s

by the procurement of her youngest son Richard, taxing his eldest

brother for illegitimate.

scendant, Edmund Neville, of Latimer, on the attainder

of the Earl of Westmoreland in 1569, claimed the earl-

dom, as heir male of Ral2)h, first earl. On his

monument in Eastham church, Essex, he is styled

Lord Latimer and Earl of Westmoreland.

Thomas, next son, married Alice, daughter and

heiress of— Seymour.

Robert NevUle, seventh son, was consecrated Bishop

of Salisbury, 1427, and translated to Durham, 1438.

(See vol. i., p. 57.)

Edward Ne\-ille, eighth son, married, first, Elizabeth,

sole daughter and heiress of Richard Beauchamp, Earl

of Worcestor and Lord Bergavenny ; and secondly, by
papal dispensation, Catherine, daughter of Sir Robert

Howard, and sister to John, first Duke of Norfolk. He
had livery of the lands of Bergavenny, 14 Hen. YI.

;

summoned as Baron of Bergavenny, 1450 ; and died

October 18, 16 Edw. lY., 1476. From his first mar-

riage were descended the Barons and Earls of

Abergavenny and the Nevilles of Billingbere.

% Cuthbert, Henry, and John, the remaining sons of

the Earl of Westmoreland, died young.

The dausrhters of the earl and his second wife were

—

Catherine, first married to John Mowbray, Duke of

Norfolk, who died in 1434, and afterwards to Sir John

WydvUle, Knt., son of Richard Earl Rivers ; Eleanor

(or Elizabeth), to Richard, Lord Le Despencer, and

afterwards to Henry Percy, Earl of Northumberland
j

Anne, first to Humphery Stafford, Duke of Buckingham,

and afterwards to Walter Blount, Lord Mountjoy; Joane,

a nun ; and Cicely, the youngest of twenty-one children,

married to Richard Plantagenet, Duke ofYork.*

" Yet OUT Chronicles do not charge her with elation in her good, or

dejection in her ill success, an argument of an even and steady soul

in all alterations. Indeed she survived to see Elizabeth, her grand

child married to King Henry VII. ; but little comfort accrued to her

by that fon/unc<i'oH, the party of the Y'orkists were so depressed by
him. She lived five and thirty years a widow, and died in the tenth

year of King Henry \'II., 1495, and was buried by her husband in

the quire of the collegiate church of Fotheringhay in Northampton-

shiie, which quire being demolished in the days of King Henry the

Eighth, their bodies lay in the church -yard without any monument
untU Queen Elizabeth coming thither in progress, gave order that

they should be interred in the church, and two tombs to be erected

over them. Hereupon, their bodies, lapped in lead, were removed

from their plain graves, and their coffins opened. The Duches Cicely

had about her neck hiongiiig, in a silver ribband, a pardon from Rome,
which penned in a very fine hand, was as fair and fresh to oe read as

if It had been written but yesterday. But, alas, most mean are their

monuments, made ofplaister, wrought with a trowell, and no doubt

there was much danbinff therein, the queen paying for a tomb propor-

tionable to their personages. The best is, the memory of this Cicely

hath a better and more lasting monument, who was a bountiful

benefactress to Queen's College in Cambridge."
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Second Earl of Westmoreland.—Ealph Neville,

eldest son of Sir John, succeeded his grandfather as

second Earl of Westmoreland. He married, first,

Elizabeth, widow of John Lord Cliflbrd, daughter of

Henry Lord Percy (Hotspur), eldest son of Henry,

Earl of Northumberland ; and, secondly, Margaret,

only daughter of Reginald Lord Cobhani, of Star-

boroHgh, Surrey. He died November 3, 2 Rich. III.,

1480.

John Lord Neville, only son of the earl, married

Anne, daughter of John Holland, Duke of Exeter, but

was slain, on the part of Henry VI., at the battle of St.

Alban's, 1451, during the life of his father, and left no

issue.

Sir John Neville, brother of the earl, married Anne,

widow of his nephew, and also espoused the cause of

the house of Lancaster, fighting on whose behalf, he

was slain at Towton, on Palm Sunday, 1461.

Third Earl of Westmoreland.—Ralph, eldest

son of Sir John Neville, and his wife, Anne Holland,

succeeded his uncle as third Earl of Westmoreland in

1480. He served in the army of the Earl of Surrey,

and is mentioned in that nobleman's letter to Henry

VIIL, giving an account of the storm of Jedburgh.

He married Matilda, daughter of Sir Roger Booth,

Knt., of Barton, Lancashire, and niece of Laurence

Booth, Archbishop of York, by whom he had a son,

Ralph Lord Neville, who married Edith, daughter of

Sir William Sandys, of the Vine, Hampshire, but died

in the lifetime of his father. Leland says, " This Lord

Neville died, his father the earl yet living ; whereupon

At a horse-race on Gatherley Moor, near Richmond, Chi-istopher

Neville made an assault on the lieir of Rokeby. It is said that he

was sent by his brother Henry, fiftli Earl of Westmoreland, with 100

men, to kill Rokeby ; but the father of the latter was so beloved that

the son "was both defended and guarded from the violence of- his

adversaries, and was able so to have rebounded the blows given hira

by them, that they should have spilt the best blood in their bodies if

his party had been willing." The old man, however, as justice,

commanded peace, saying, " Gif [although] it grieves me to see liim

bleed that bleeds, yet peace, the peace."

t To Margaret Gascoignc, a daughter of this countess by her first

marriage, whose fortune had been entrusted to the earl, he granted in

lieu a lease of Oxon-lc-Field. The following appears in the Wills

and Inventories published by the Surtees Society ;

—

" An Inventory of all the goods and cattells wich were Margaret

Gascoigne's single-woman, within the bishopbriek of Durham, lait

deceased, at the whyt friers in London, praised by Thomas Lacy,

gentihnan. Anno Domini 15G7, the xxiiij of March. First, one lesse

of grang called Oxnold Feld night Dallington, maid by the Right

honorable Henry lait Eric of Wcslnierland, to hir in rccompenc of hir

child's porcon wich he had remaining in his hands of the yerely

value of Ix^., the rents paid and all other paments discharged. Item

VOL. 11.

the erle took much thoght, and dyed at Horneby
Castle, in Richmontshire, and there is buryed in the

paroche chirche." The death of the broken-hearted

earl occurred in 1523.

Fourth Earl of Westmoreland.—Ralph, son of

Ralph Lord Neville and Edith Sandys, born February

21, 1499, succeeded, on the death of his grandfather, as

fourth Earl of Westmoreland, K.G., and was one of

those who signed the letter to Pope Clement VI.,

thi-eatening to throw off" his supremacy unless he con-

sented to the divorce of Henry VIIL and Queen
Catherine. He married Catherine, daughter of Ed-

ward Stafford, Duke of Buckingham, by whom he had

issue seven sons (two of whom, Cuthbcrt and Christo-

pher,* were attainted far their participation in the

rebellion of their nephew) and eleven daughters. He
died April 24, 1549-50.

Fifth Earl of Westmoreland.—Henry Neville,

fifth Earl of AVestmoreland, K.G., and warden of the

West Marches, married, first, Anne, daughter of Tho-

mas Manners, Earl of Rutland ; second, Jane, daughter

of Sir Richard Cholmondeley, Knt., and widow of Sir

Henry Gascoigne, Knt. ;t and a third wife, named

Margaret.* He died in August, 1563, and was buried

at Staindrop, beneath the tomb which he had prepared

for himself and two of his wives (see page 87). By his

first wife he had issue four sons (the three youngest of

whom died without issue) and four daughters.

Sixth Earl of Westmoreland.—Charles, son and

heir of the above, and sixth Earl of Westmoreland,

the said erle did by his last will and testament geve and bequith vnto

hir all that his interest and lease for terme of yeres which he had in

the dcanrye of Darlington of yerly value the rents paid, &c., of xil.

She neither aught any debts nor yet g.ave any legaces." Her ward-

robe, " First a goune of chaungable tafl'atie laid one with gold laic,

ees. 8d. A goune of silk grogram laid one with silk laic, 46s. 8d.

One old goune of maccado, 26s. 8d. Two kirtells wherof one of

changable taifatie th' other of grogram, 30s. Two peticotts, thone of

skerlet th' other of stamell, &5s. Two frenche hodes with lytic billi-

ment of gold, 66s. 8d. Other necessary apparell, 268. 8d. Summa
of the apparell, £14 18s. 4d."

In reference to the deanery of Darlington, it may be observed that

the editors of Spclraan's Sacrilege attribute the misfortunes of the

later Nevilles to their possessing certain dissolved monasteries.

J Dugdale mentions but two wives ; Jane, daughter of the Earl of

Rutland; and Mm i/aref, daughter of Sir Richard Cholmley. Surtees,

in his pedigree of the Nevilles, enumerates Anne Manners, a second

wife named Jane, and Margaret Cliolmondelcy ; but, in the text, he

mentions the %vill of the earl, dated 1563, in which " he desired burial

in the church of Staindrop, near Jane (Chomley), his second wife."

The authority of the will is conclusive.

P
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was 21 years of age at the time of his father's death,

and married Jane, eldest daughter of Henry Howard,

Earl of Surrey* (the poet), beheaded in 1547, and sister to

the Duke of Norfolk, who was also beheaded June 2,

15T2. It does not appear that the earl was imbued

with any of that martial feeling which had characterised

his ancestors, but rather that he was inclined to field

sports and private enjoyment. With Sir George

Bowes, of Streatlam, he seems to have lived on friendly

terms ; and on the 17th of May, 1569, as commissioners

under the great seal, they attended the musters, taken

upon Hamilton Hills, of all the inliabitants of the

wapentake of " Langbarughe," from the age of sixteen

and upwards. In September following, he appears to

have been engaged in dispensing hospitality at Brance-

peth ; as, on the 7th, Lord Hunsdon, having finished

his warden court at Alnwick, writes to Cecil, from

Newcastle, " I rode to my Lord of Westmerland, too

be mery." It may be hence inferred that his loyalty

hitherto was unimpeached.

The fatal Rising of the North, however, occasioned

by the designs of the friends of Queen Mary of Scot-

land to effect a marriage between her and the Duke of

Norfolk, brother-in-law to the Earl of Westmoreland,

was accelerated by the indiscreet representations of those

in the confidence of the latter nobleman. Wavering

between allegiance and fear, both he and the Earl of

Northumberland delayed obeying Elizabeth's summons

to appear before her, until it was too late, and they

were fully committed to the insurrection. The alarms

to which Northumberland was exposed at Topliff,

where it was insinuated that he was to be seized and

conveyed away " moffeled" to the council, induced

him to fly to his coadjutor at Brancepeth. On the i-4th

of November, according to Sir George Bowes, " at iiii

of the clocke in the afternoone, the said erles, accom-

panyd with Rychard Norton, Francys hys sone, with

dy^'ers other of hys sayd sones, Xpoferr Nevell, Cud-

bert Ne-vyll, uncles of the sayd Erie of Westmerland,

and Thomas Markynfclde, •v\-ythe others, to the nomber

of three [score] horsemen, armed in corsletts and coytts

of playt, with speares, harquebusses, and dagges ; and

entred the mynster thcyr [at Durham], and thcyr toke

• 'When the Earl of Surrey was ronfined in the Tower, his children

were placed under the charge of the Duchess of Richmond, their

aunt, to be brought up and educated ; and Fox (the martyrologist),

their instructor, hears honourable testimony to tlie talents and abili-

ties of the Lady Jane, who, he says, profited so wonderously in the

Greek and Latin tongues, " that she might well stand in competition

with the most learned of the time, for the praise of elegancy in both

kinds." She is described as being one of the most learned ladies of a

all the bokes, but one, and theyme and the comu-

nvon table defaced, rentt, and brok in peces. And
after made a proclamatyon in the queues name, that no

man, before theyr pleasur knowne, shuld use any ser-

vyce : and callyng the cetezens before theyme, told

theyme how they had done nothyng but that they wold

avowe, and was after the quenes procedynges. And so

taryinge about the space off one hour, they departed

;

puttyng a watch of twenty-four townsmen to the towne,

which tooke a servante of myne which I sent thither,

and hyme caryed to hys lodgynge, and theyr he was kej^t

tyll this morninge, and so came away.—In haste, at

Barnard Castle, the xvth of Nov., at xii of the cloke,

1560."t

The queen's command that Westmoreland should

instantly repair to court, was, unfortunately, not deli-

vered until he had thus gone beyond the power of

retractation. On the same day on which the above

transactions took place at Durham, he wrote from

Brancepeth to the Earl of Sussex as follows :

—

" My Lord—I ame sorie that my happe is so harde

that I can not obey the Quenes Majesties letter, in

coming up to her presence, with howe greate a grefe it

is to my harte, God knows, who ever loved her, and

will do during lyfe, never meninge anie thing prejudi-

cial! to her Majesties person, but have bene, and ever

wil be, her faithfuU and trewe subiecte. Althoughe I

be now forced to thos extremities, contrarie to her pie-

sure and your counsell, to remaine here, seking to

strengthen myself against the malice of myne enemies,

which daily seke ray destruction ; for which cause I am
compelled to gather my frends by anie meanes I thinke

woidd beste serve my torne ; nevertheless mayning

faithfully to her highnes, althoughe I knowe it shall be

otherways taken. If the Quenes Majesties letters had

come before this day, I had been more clere from

ofi'ence than now I ame; because my going to Duresme

hathe made the pepell which I have been the stay of,

all this whyle, till I feared to have bene plukt out of

my howse ; which unlawful means I 'never ment to

yelde to, rather chosing to dye, then thus cruellv to

have bene sent up. But, if her Majestie had, before

this extremitye, preparyd for me, I would willingly

learned age, when knowledge, as well as virtue, was deemed essential

to the female character.

t This letter, irhich is extremely difficult to be read, has been

evidently written in great haste ; as it is addressed to " my singular

good Lord the Erie of Westmerland, Lord President of the Quenes
Majesties counsell established in the North Parts," instead of to the

Earl of Sussex.

1
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have obeyed ; but not to avoyde tliose dangers I have

presumed so far, as I dare not venture to kome in [her]

Majesties presence. But, good, my lord, for the frond-

ship sake before tyme profeste, cease not to be a frende

for me to her Majestic, though I look you wil be other-

wyse. Thus wyshing you much honor and helth, and

trusting you will advertise her Majestic of this my
excuse, I will make an ende."

An outline of the history of the rebellion has been

given in vol. i., p. 67 ; and various circumstances con-

nected with its details will be found under the heads of

the locaUties in which they occurred. It is, therefore,

only necessary in this place to mention such particulars

»;> relate to the Earl of Westmoreland. The proclama-

tion issued at Darlington was penned, by his command,

by Thomas Jenny, at the dictation of Marmaduke
Blakiston. Like other documents promulgated by the

earls, it accuses the queen's counsellors of seeking to

destroy the ancient nobility and the true religion :

—

" Thomas, Earl of Northumberland, and Charles, Earl of West-

moreland, the queens most trewe and lanvful subjects, and to all her

highness people, sendeth greeting :—Whereas diverse newe set upp
nobles about the Quenes Majcstie, have and do dailie, not onlie go

aboute to overthrow and put downe the ancient nobilitie of this

realme, but also have misused the Quenes Majesties o\vne personne,

and also have by the space of twelve years nowe past, set upp and

mayntayned a new found religion and heresie, contrarie to Gods
word. For the amending and redresing whereof, divers forcn powers

doo purpose shortlie to invade thes realnies, which will be to our

utter destruction if we do not otirselves speedilie forfend the same.

Wherefore we are now constreyncd at this tj-me to go aboute to amend
and redressc it ourselves, which if we shold not do, and forenners

enter upon, as we shold be all made slaves and bondsmen to them.

These are therefore to wiU and require you, and every of you, being

above the age of sixteen years luid not sixty, as your dutie towards

God doth bj-nde you, for the settinge forthe of his trewe and catho-

licke religion, and as you tender the common wealth of your cuntrie,

to come and ressort unto us with all spedc, with all such armour and
fumyture as you, or any of you have. This fail you not herein, as

you will answer the contrary at your pcrills. God save the Queue."

On the retreat of the insurgents from Yorkshire, the

Earl of Westmoreland superintended the siege of Bar-

nard Castle, and was present at its surrender. On the

advance of Sussex, he fled with the horsemen. The
adventures of the earls, during their flight, are thus

narrated in a letter, dated the 22nd December, from

Sussex to Sir W. Cecil :
—" I have intcllygens of suchc

as were present, and sawe it, that the next morninn-

* " Of Liddisdail the common theifia

Sa peartlie steillis now and reifis,

That nane may kcip

Horse, nolt, nor scheip,

Nor yett dar sleip

For their mischiefis."

—

Maitland.

after the erles came in to Lydysdale, Martyne Elwood,

and dyvers others of the pryncypall men of Lydysdale,

dyd rayse tlier force agenst the erics, Blacls Ormston,

and the reste of ther company, and offered the fyght

;

so as both partyes were lyghtcd, and in the end Jlarten

Elwood sayd to Ormston, he should be sory to enter

deadly feude with him by bloodshed, but he would

charge him and the reste before the Regent, for keep-

ing of the rebells of England, jf he did not put them

out of the country ; and that, yf they were in the coun-

try after the next day, he would do his worste agaynst

them, and all that mayntained them. Wherupon the

erles were dryven to leave Lydesdall, and to fly to one

of the Armstrongs, upon the latahle, or the borders

betwyn Eydsdale and England. The same daye the

Lydesdale men* stole my Lady of Northumberlands

horse, and her ij wemens horses, and x other horses; so as

when the erles went away, they left her and all the reste

that had lost their horses on foote, at John of the Sydesf

House, a cottage not to be compared to any doge kennel

in England. Such is their present mysery ; and at their

departing from her, they were not 50 horse, and my L.

of Westmorland changed his cote of plate and sword,

with John of the Syde, to be the more unknowen."

Two days afterwards, Lord Hunsdon writes, " The

erles rebelles and their principall confederates (as I

here) do lurke and hide themselfes in the woodes and

desertes of Lyddesdale ; but, if they tary on the Bor-

ders there. Sir Jo. Eorster is in good hope to have som

of them, or it be long. The erles have changed their

names and apparell, and have made themselfles lyke to

the owtlawes of Liddersdale. We have to presume

and to suspect gretely, that they shall receyve som

helpe and comforte of the L. Hume and of the Carres

in Tividale ; but the greatest feare is, of their escape by

the sea, eyther on the este, or on the west coaste.

Order is given here to the capteynes of the Q. Ma'i^^

shippes, to attende well on the este coaste ; and if you

have done any thing for the west coast, they shall the

more hardly escape."

On the 7th of January, Sir John Forster writes to

Cecil, " Treuth it is, the Earl of Westmoreland pre-

sently lying in the overmost-chamber in Farnyhurst

Tower, and my Lady of Northumberland is lodged in

the lowest chamber. Ther is in the erles companie

t " He is wcil kccd, John of the Syde,

A greater thcif did never ryde.

He never tyris

• For to brck byris
;

Ouir muir and myris

Ouir gude anc guide."

—

Maitland.
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Francis Norton and other six of the erles servants, the

Welbcries, Henry Eidley, and others ; old Norton,

Markcnfiehl, Egremont Eadclifl'c, Swinborne, and Tem-

pest. They are all presently with the Lord of Buck-

leiigh, at Branxham."

AV'hilst the Earl of Westmoreland was sheltered by

Sir Thomas Ker, laird of Farnihurst, he was visited by

his kinsman, Robert Constable, who had been employed

by Lord Leicester and Sir Walter Wildmay, to go to

Scotland after the rebels, where he might percase

" worke sum feate to bctrap some of them."* Constable

endeavoured to gain his confidence, for the purpose of

betraying him, and represented the disgrace brovight on

the house of Neville, which, he said, had " been

honourable, and of great antiquity, and never spotted

till now." The earl's tears, on this, flowed abundantly,

and he confided his hopes and sorrows to the bosom of

his treacherous relative, who advised him to come to

his house when all was quiet ; a course which would

have consummated Constable's villainy. The earl gave

him a ring from his finger, to present to the countess as

a token, and to will her " to take no care nor thought

for him, for all his care was for her and his children ;"

and that he hoped by God's grace to recover the queen's

favour. He also desired that his lady should send one

of her best jewels to Lady Ker, and the fairest gelding

she could procure for the laird, as a return for the

charges he had put them to. Notwithstanding these

particulars, related by Constable himself, that wily

* Constable did not afterwards attempt to palli.ite the baseness of

his conduct in trying to trap those that trusted in him ; but said that

he hoped, if he were succesFfuI in his >-illany, the queen would spare

their lives, otherwise his co7iscie>ice would be troubled.

t By the following extract of a letter from the Queen of Scots to

her ambassador in France, the Archbishop of Glasgow, dated August

4, 1574, some negociations appear to have been in progress:—"To
the English, and more especially to the Eail of Westmoreland,

you will communicate my good intentions when I shall have the

power [alluding to the means in France] ; and with regard to his

appointment, I should be very glad that he had it, provided that two

things were secured—the one his safety, of which I entertain doubts

because the remainder of those who are of his religion, and who are

better supported than he would be, are beginning to withdraw, as

you will hear is the case with Oxford. In short, it is not easy for a

good Catholick to continue here, without danger of his life, or of

what is still dearer to him—his conscience. Thus, informing you of

the offers which have been made to him, I shall in my first dispatch,

state what I may hereafter discover. Certainly, I will not advise him

to refuse a good offer, if it occurs ; but I would admonish him in

accepting it, that he takes good care not to injure the service of God,

his.friends, and his reputation ; and not to be certain of his lifa,

except on dishonourable conditions." She then directs a sum to be

paid to Westmoreland, the amount of which is not named.

hypocrite hints at a jealousy of the laird of Farnihurst

about Westmoreland and his "new wanton lady." The

events which followed prevented the Earl from accept-

ing his kinsman's Jiosjjitaliti/. The particulars of the

interview of the latter with the countess at Brancepeth

have been given in vol. i., p. 430.

The earl was strongly suspected of remaining con-

cealed about Brancepeth for some time after the

rebellion^ and also to have been present at several

inroads on tlie English Border. He is said to have been

at the convention of Leith, and to have " satin cownsell

wyth the rest of the lords." In the autumn of 1570, he

embarked at Aberdeen, and shortly afterwards arrived

at Flanders, where, on the representation of the Duke
of Alva, King Philip of Spain allowed him a pension of

50 crowns per month. He was anxious to obtain a

pardon ; but the correspondence that has been pre-

served shows that his hopes continued to grow fainter

with the lapse of time.f

The Countess of Westmoreland, after many ineifec-

tual endeavours to procure the pardon of her husband,

died in retirement in 1593, and was buried at Kenniug-

hall on the 30th of June. Her attachment to the Pro-

testant religion seems to have weakened the charge

brought against her by the Earl of Northumberland, of

having instigated her husband to the rebellion + Queen

Elizabeth had at first allowed her a pension of £200

per annum for herself and her three daughters ;§ and in

May, 1577, an additional annuity of £100 was granted.

J
" 'U'hat meanes did the Lady of Westmorland use to provok the

erle, hir husband, to proceder"

" None that he knoweth, till the last daie, when they thought to

have broke [up], and every man to have shifted for himself ; at

which tjnne, she dyd provoke hyni and the rest, with vehement per-

swasion and crycngs, as he hath formerlie declared."

—

Xorthumber-

luiid's Examination.

§ The family of the Earl and Countess of Westmoreland consisted

of four daughters, viz., Catherine, Eleanor, JIargarct, and Anne.

Catherine Neville was married privately to Sir Thomas Grey, Knt.,

of Chillingham, Northumberland, at the manor house of Battersby,

Yorkshire, on the 7th of November, 158.5. He died without issue

April 9, 1590, leaving his fortune, after the payment of some legacies,

to his widow. The degrading suspicions to which this descendant of

a noble house was afterwards subjected, are exemplified in the

following letter from Bishop Mathcw to Lord Burleigh, 27th May,
1598 :—

" Right Honorable :—Male it please your good lordshipp to be

advertised, that I have lately caused the lady Katherine Gray,

widdow, one of Westmoreland's daughters, to be apprehended by
Mr. John Conyers, the sheriff of this countie, and Mr. Robert

Tailbois, one of the justices of peace, and have admitted her to the

safe custodie of Christopher Glover, gaoler of Duresm Castle, to be

kept forthcoming in his private house nihe the gaole. This ladie was
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She was, says Henry Howard, of Corby Castle, " a

lady of great virtue and acquirements, accompanied

with such gentle feminine manners, sense, and affec-

for many yeares sought by the late earle of Huntington ; was de-

tected for the rcccaving and rcleTing of sundrie seminarie priests, as

Stafferton, with the flesh mark in his face, (with whose too much
familiaritie she hathe been judged in London,) Bost, who since was

executed, Mushe, and Patteson, besydes many others, whose names

come not presently to myiide. She hath always illuded the processes

and messengers ot the ecclesiasticall high commission, by eloyning

and withdrawing hcrselfe hitherto from all appearance. Of late

tyme, somewhat synce Martinmas last, she took to farme a house and

land, called Grenecroft, nigh Lanchester, in this countie, 8 myles

hence, northe and by west, letten unto her by M'rs Hall, a widowe,

conformable, and sister to Nicholas Tempest's wife of Stella, that

great recusant, where the ladie hath been coming and going ever

since, and sometimes made good cheere to twentie of her frendes at

once, especially at Christmas ; and wliere, if I be truly informed,

there was bad rule kept, both spiritually and carnally. Within half

a mile of that house, on this side Lanchester, dwelleth at the manor-

lioiise, one William Hodgson, an olde servant and follower of the

earle, whose sonne, called John, is a speciall recusant, and is reported

(but how certainly, I know not) to have married this ladie. This

William Hodgson is a perilous fellow, conformable to her majestie's

proceedings, and fernior to her highness of the whole deanery of

Lanchester dissolved, worth, it is said, some cc markes, or better,

above the yerely rent. In Lanchester towne dwellth Lancelot!

Hodgson, when he is at home, but he is now in prison for recusancie>

a dangerous person, and not unlerned ; who the last yere was marriedi

as himseU'e confesseth, by an old popish priest, but no seminarist, nor

at a masse, as he allegcth, to M:u-ie Lee, daughter to another of

therlo's chefe old servants and oihccrs at Bnmcepcth, in those daies.

nie manor of Lanchester belonging to me, and Brancepath lordship

to her majestic, by therle's attaynder, doe adjoin together, and there-

fore, I thinke, the ladie Graye did there mean, for the tyme, to sett

up her rest so nigh her father's olde tenants ; the house itself also

(standinge towards the fells, and nigh a pretty wodde) strongly built

of newe, with many shifting contrivances, may yelde good opportu-

nitie to lodge and intcrtajme, not only other ill guests, but, percase,

thearle himself, si et quatenus, Nowe, that she is in hands, I would
from your lordship be directed, with some expedieion, how she shall

be dealte with and used ; 1. whether detayned in durance, or bayled

upon good bond for her appearance from tyme to tyme ; 2. whether

she shall be touched only for recusancie, or charged with other

matters that may occurre ; 3. whether, if any thinge amountinge to

fclonye shall arise against her, she shall be tried thereof at the next

assises here, or in Northumberland, as her sister the ladie Margaret

was anno 151)3, and by her majestic was gratiously pardoned in hope
of the continuance of her pretended confurmitie (from which I hcare

she has relapsed since) ; 4. whether she shall be suffered to keepe
house of hcrselfe, witli some of her owne servants about her, and
other friends sometimes resorting to her, as she desyreth earnestly, or

lyve, as her keeper sliall provide for her, in a more private and close

manner ; 5. whether she shall be permitted to ryde abrode and take

the aire, or continue within her lodging ; with such other particulars

as your lordsliip, in your wisdome, shall think fitt to impart unto me.
My healtlie will not yet serve me either to sonde for her, or goe to

Iter ; but at the tyme of my visitation, about a fortnight hence, or

xviii dayes, I shall take occasion to speak with lier, and examine her,

if your lordship, before that tyme, shall so advise me, and if God will

give me leave. The whylc, with humble thanks to your good lordship

for the allowance of my impost, I betake your lordship to the grace

tionate love of her family and her duties, that had her

father lavished on her all the praise of the imaginary

Geraldine, he could scarce have made her more intc-

of God.—At B. Auckland, 27th Mali, 1598.—Youi lordship's most
humble in Christ, ToniE Duresme."
Margaret Neville, who was only five years old at the time of the

rebellion, was tried and convicted at the Durham assizes in 1594, for

having been found in company with a seminary priest, John Boast
(see vol. i., page 200). A letter from her to Queen Elizabeth has
been preserved in the Lansdowne MSS. :

—

" To the Queues most excellent Maiestie : most humblie with
teares beseacheth your highnes, your maiesties most desolate poore
subject, Margaret Nevill, one of the daughters of the infortunate late

Erie of Westmorland, to take prineelie pittie upon my lamentable
estate. With great greefe, I doe confesse (most gratious sovereign)

that sithins the death of my deare mother, having no part of that

allowance which it pleased your Majesty most gratiouslie to bestow
upon me, nor any of her maintenance, I was foreid, by reason of great

want, to receive reUefe of papistes, by whose subliltie, my needie

simplicitie was allured from myne obedience and loialtie to their

superstition and errors ; and so being drawne into the companie of a

seminarie priest, I was condemned. At the assizes the last somer,

being destitute of help, it plesed the good bishop of Duresme, at the

motion of my Lord President and the judges, to take me into his

house, where he onelie hathe, and doeth yet whollie releeve me ; a:id

by his godlie and soiuide earnest instructions, he hathe (I moste
humblie praise God) fuUie reformed me in relligion, which (by God's
grace) I shall, with all obedience to your highnes, constantlie pro-

fesse, while I live. And now (alas) seeinge this pitiful bishop, my
onelie help, is verie shortlie to leave this countrie, and I know
not ho« or where to be relieved, I commend my cause and
woeful estate unto God and your Majestie, most himiblie beseaching

your higlmess, of your prineelie and moste gratious wonted com-
passion, to be mercifuU unto me, a moste distressed poore maiden ;

and to vouchsafe me your most comfortable pardon for my life, and
somwhat also for my releife (which if I still want, my liefe wil be no
Ufe, but mere misserie) ; so shall the enemies of true religion have no
cause to reioice at my woe; the repenting poore converts, by myne
example, wil be comforted ; and 1 (as most bounde) shall never cease

with them to praie for your Majesties moste happie reigne, in all

wished felicitie, long to endure.—Feb. 14, 1594.—Your Majesties

moste woefuU poore prisoner, Maroarett Nevyll."
As this letter was written whilst she was in the house of a

Protestant bishop (Ilutton), who had laboured hard for her con-

version, and when she was under sente."ice of death, she would
naturally adopt the sentiments most likely to obtain grace from the

queen. Two days atterwards, the bishop wrote to the Lord Treasurer

to solicit her pardjn ; but she continued a prisoner till the following

year, when she received a pardon. She married Nicholas Pudsev, a

Yorkshire gentleman, and received au annuity of 100 marks from

James I., in 1604.

Anne Neville married David, younger brother of Sir William

Ingleby, of Ripley, Knt. In the enquiry and survey of Brancepeth,

in 1614, it is stated that she held a lease from the queen, of the

herb.ige of the East Park, at a yearly rent of £40. She left an only

daughter and heiress, Mary, mai-ried to Sir Peter Middleton, Knt., of

Stokefield, Yorkshire. Eleanor Neville, the other daughter of the

Earl of Westmoreland, died unmarried before 1C04.

The Lady Adeline, the maiden sister of the Earl, appears to have

survived all her own generation, and even her nieces. She had an

estate in Willington, where she resided in the house recently belong-

ing to Col. Mills. It is said that JLu-y Queen of Scots once slept here.
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resting than what has been written of her by Robert

Constable, the wily betrayer of the Earl of Westmore-

land." It was her sad destiny to be bereaved of a

father and a brother, who both died on the scaffold,

and of a husband who lingered in misery and hopeless

exile.

It appears that, during the latter years of his life, the

Earl of Westmoreland was treated with neglect by the

government under which he was pensioned, and only

regarded with consideration as a person whose influence

might be useful in the event of an invasion of England.

In 1601, he is represented, at an advanced age, as a

suitor for the hand of a daughter of Richardot, who

insisted, as a condition to his consent, that the earl

should procure an addition of 200 crowns per month to

his pension. On the 16th of November, in the follow-

ing year, however, he died at Newport, after an absence

of 30 years from his native land. Camden, in noticing

his death, says, " From this family, fruitful in nobility,

there sprung (besides six Earls of Westmoreland) two

Earls of Salisbury and Warwick ; an Earl of Kent ; a

Marquess Montacute ; a Duke of Bedford; a Baron

Ferrers of Ousely ; Barons Latimers ; Barons Aberga-

venny ; one queen ; five dutchesses, to omit countesses

and baronesses ; an Archbishop of York ; and a great

number of inferiour gentlemen."

On the death of the earl, no claim was made on be-

half of the Nevilles of Weardale ; but Edmund Neville

of Latimer urged his pretensions to the lands and

honours of Westmoreland, reminding James I. of his

assurance that " if you were King of England, I was

Earle of Westmoreland without exception ; the credit

of which message was warranted by a letter from my
Lord of Darlington, assuring further, that now my
fortunes shall rise with yours ; and irrevocably ratified

by your sacred Majestie in your postscript, written

with your royal hand, v.hich was never yet known to

retract what it deliberately set downc, in the words, ' I

shall now with grace promise you to your right, and

satisfy you to your expectation ;' which letters was also

styled to the Earl of Westmoreland." Neville's letter

concludes by claiming the title and honours of the earl

who fell "for his service and affection to the king's

mother.^'' This appeal, however, was not merely unsuc-

cessful, but Edmund was actually cited for having

assumed the title with which the king had accosted

• Though, the ancestors of this family anciently wrote their name

Vane, it appears that, from before 148S to 1582, they altered it to

Faiie. They descended from Howel-ap-Vanc, who was seated in

Mouraouthshiie after the Norman Conquest ; and their family pedi-

him. The judges also decided that the earldom was

legally forfeited.

Raby, after the attainder of the Earl of Westmore-

land, continued vested in the crown until 1613, when it

was granted, with Barnard Castle, &c., by James I., to

his favourite, the Earl of Somerset ; but, after a brief

possession, these lordships reverted to their royal master

(see page 11). They were subsequently purchased of

the lessees of Charles I. by Sir Henry Vane the elder,

Knt.

THE VANES.*

Sir Hekry Vajje the Elder.—This distinguished

politician was knighted by King James I. in 1631, in

which year he was ambassador to the states of Den-

mark, Sweden, Holland, and Bohemia, comptroller of

the king's household, and a privy counsellor ; and, in

1639, he was secretary of state, and treasurer of the

household. King Charles I., on his progress to Scot-

land, in May, 1633, was entertained at Raby Castle by

Sir Henry Vane ; and on April 29, 1639, that monarch

again visited Raby, on his march against the Scottish

Covenanters, when Sir Henry commanded a regiment

of 1,000 men. His dismissal from his offices, and

enmity to the Earl of Strafford (who, out of contempt

to the Vanes, had been created Baron of Raby), are

matters of general history. During the civil wars, he

took part with the parliament.

A daring coup-de-main, by which Raby Castle was

taken in 16-15, with the subsequent events, are thus

narrated in the newspapers of tliat time :

—

In the Kingdoni's Weekly Intelligencer, July 8, it is

stated that, " Upon the Lord's day, June 29th, by five

of the clock in the morning, 120 Horse and Dragoons

came out of Bolton Castle, and scaled the walls of Raby
Castle, where the draw-bridge was, & surprised !Mr.

Singleton & Mr. William Allison, servants to Sir

Henry Vane, in their beds ; whereupon Sir George

Vane raised the country forthwith, both horsemen with

arms, & the foot also, well armed, in all about 300 men.

Upon Monday, the 30th, at twelve of the clock, they

came to Staindrop, about a quarter of a mile from the

castle : then came also six troops of horse out of York-

shire, which Col. Wasdale & Major Smithson com-

manded—they were all there by seven a clock at night.

gree contains the names of several illustrious indi^nduals. Henry

Vane was knighted by the Black Prince at the battle of Poictiers,

September 19, 1356. Sir Ralph Fane was created a Knight Banneret

at the battle of Musselburgh, September 21, 1547.
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After their coming, tlicy rescued many cattell, -which

the rebels were driving into the Castle : they took

fifty-five horses from them, with the loss of one man,

some of them worth £20 a piece. Next day they took

nineteen horses more of them, so that they have now
but sixty left, which will not be kept long. Sir Francis

Liddale is commander in cheife of the enemy : the rest

are Bishoprick and Yorkshiremen. They have sent

Sir George Vane's horses to us, by reason they wanted

hay extremely. They are destitute of bread very

much, which, it is hoped, will make them yield within

few dayes. They are now so blockt up that they dare

not stirre out."

The Mercurius Ciricus, July 17, says, " Sir Francis

Liddcl offers to go away & leave the Castle as they

found it."

In the Kingdoni's Weelly Intelligencer, July 29, it

is said, " Kaby Castle is certainly surrendered to the

Parliament's forces." And the Scots Dove, of the 1st

of August, states that " Raby Castle is yielded up j the

officers to march away with arms, & the common sol-

diers with their lives upon their legs : they may put

their hands in their pockets if they wUl. They left

300 good armes behind them : powder, and other am-

munition, good store." The Mercurius Veredicus, of

the 4th of August, adds that " Rabby Castle was surren-

dered to Sir George Vane : Sir Francis Liddel, the

Governor, & the souldicrs to march to Boulton or

Newark."

From the following entry in Staindrop parish regis-

ter, it appears that Raby Castle was again besieged in

1648 :
—" William Joplin, a souldier, slaine at the seige

of Raby Castle, was buried in the church, 27 Aug.
1648.—Mem. many souldiers slain before Raby Castle,

which were buried in the Parke, & not registered."

Sir Henry Vane died in 16.54-5, aged 69. His wife

was Frances, daughter and coheiress of Thomas Darcy,

Esq., of Tolshunt-Uarcy, Essex, by whom he had issue,

1, Sir Henry, his successor; 2 and 3, Thomas and

John, both died in infancy ; 4, Sir George (afterwards

of Long-Newton, which see) ; 5, Sir Walter, of Ship-

bourne, a major-general under the Prince of Orange,

and killed at the bijttle of Scneffe in Germany, in

August, 1647 ; 6, Charles, of Chopwell, died unmar-

ried ; 7, and 8, William and Edward, died unmarried
;

9, Margaret, married to Sir Thomas Penham ; 10,

Frances, married to Sir Robert Iloueywood ; 11, Anne,

married to Sir Thomas Liddell of Ravensworth ; 12,

Elizabeth, married to Sir Francis Vincent; and, 13,

Catherine, died unmarried, 1692.

Sir Henry Vane the Younger.—This extraor-

dinary man was born at Shipbourne, and educated

at Westminster school, whence he was removed to

Magdalen College, Oxford. He then proceeded to

Geneva, where he imbibed opinions antagonistic to the

Liturgy and the government of the Established Chui'ch,

inclining to the opinion of Origen that devils and all

should be saved. About this time, several persons,

who were uneasy at home on account of their religious

opinions, emigrated to New England ; amongst whom
was Vane, who, notwithstanding his youth, was elected

governor of Massachusetts ; but his enthusiasm soon in-

duced the colonists to repent their choice, and his govern-

ment terminated at the next election. He then returned

to England, was appointed a joint treasurer of the navy,

chosen M.P. for Hull, and, notwithstanding his repub-

lican predilections, was knighted by Charles I. in 1640.

He was, however, instrumental in producing the con-

demnation of Lord Strafford, and carried up to the

lords the articles of impeachment against Archbishop

Laud. He took no part in the king's trial and death,

but was one of the council of state appointed to supreme

power after that event. He continued a strenuous

opponent to Cromwell, whose well-known apostrophe,

" Sir Harry Vane, Sir Harry Vane—the Lord

deliver me from Sir Harry Vane !" has become a his-

torical by-word, and who even sought to intimidate him

by questioning his title to the Raby estates, and causing

him to be imprisoned in Carisbrook Castle. While

treasurer to the navy (a place he held till the first wars

with the Dutch), Sir Henry Vane's fees amounted

to little less than £30,000 per annum ; but considering

this too much for a private subject, he, with rare honour,

gave up his patent (from Charles I. for life) to the then

parliament, desiring but £2,000 yearly for an agent he

had bred to the business, and the rest to go to the pub-

lic. The restoration put an end to his labours for the

perpetuation of a republic; and Charles II., though he

promised that his life should be spared, thought " cer-

taynly he is too dangerous a man to Ictt live, if we can

honestly put him out of the way." He was accordingly

tried, found guilty in spite of an eloquent defence, and

brought to the block June 14, 1662; when his address

to the spectators was rudely interrupted by drums and

trumpets.

The wife of Sir Henry was Frances, daughter of Sir

Christopher Wray, of Glentworth, Lincolnshire.

Henry, William, and Richard, their elder sons, died

without issue. Thomas, fourth son, married Frances,

daughter of Sir Thomas Liddell : he was elected M.P.
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for the eounty of Durham, June 21, 1675, but was

attacked by the small-pox, and " was in a fever at Raby

upon ye day of his election, whereby he died ye fourth

day after, June 25th, in the morning," aged 23, and

was buried at Staindrop. ChristojAer, fifth son, suc-

ceeded his father ; and Cecil, Edward, and Henry died

infants. There were six daughters, of whom Dorothy,

the eldest, married Thomas Crispe, of Essex, in 1679;

Frances, married Edward Kegwick, Esq. ; Mary, mar-

ried Sir James Tillie, of Pentillie Castle, Cornwall,

Knt., died withoiit issue in 1682, and was buried at

Shipbourne ; Anne and Catherine, died unmarried ;

and Albinia, married Henry Forth, Esq., an alderman

of London, and had issue Henry Forth, Esq., of Dar-

lington, who married Anne, daughter of Richard Hilton,

Esq., and died June, 1746.

First Baeon Barn.\rd.—Christopher Vane, Esq.,

fifth son of Sir Henry, was elected M.P. for the county

of Durham, in the room of his brother Thomas, on the

25th of October, 1675, but was an unsuccessful candi-

date in the elections of 1678-9, 1679, and 1680. He
was created Baron Barnard of Barnard Castle, July 8,

1699, with remainder to heirs male. The title of Raby
would have been preferred ; but it was still in the male

descendants of the unfortunate Strafford's younger

brother. The wife of Lord Barnard was Elizabeth,

eldest daughter of Gilbert Hollis, Earl of Clare, and

sister and coheiress of John, Duke of Newcastle, by
whom he had issue four sons and four daughters. Two
of the sons, Henry and Christojiher, and three of the

daughters, Elizabeth, Albinia, and Mary, died in

infancy ; the fourth daughter, Grace, survived her

father, and died unmarried.

" In the year 1714," according to "^'ernon's Reports,
" Lord B. having taken some displeasure against his

son [Gilbert], on whom the castle was settled, got 200

workmen together of a sudden, and in a few days

stripped it of its covering of lead, iron, glass, doors,

and boards, &c., to the value of £3,000. The son filed

his bill, praying an injunction to stay committing waste

in pulling down the castle : on a hearing, the court not

only continued the injunction, but decreed that the

castle should be repaired, and put in the same condition

it was, August 1714; for which purpose a commission

issued, to ascertain what ought to be done, and a mas-

* "The coach and six," adds the facetious writer, "is nothing
extraordinary, but perhaps the following equipage may be a little

unusual. 'John Borrow departed this life, the 17th day of January,

being Satterday, this yeaie 1684-5, and was reported that he, see a

ter appointed to see it done, at the expense of Lord B."

This strange proceeding, on the part of his lordship, is

said to have been instigated by his wife, who was so

strongly exasperated against her son, that she attempted

to set fire to the castle. " This old jade," says Surtees,

in a letter to C. K. Sharpe, Esq., " after her death,

used to drive about in the air, in a black coach and six

;

sometimes she takes ground and drives slowly up the

lawn to Alice's Well, and still more frequently walks

the battlements of Raby, with a pair of brass knitting

needles, and is called Old Hell Cat.'* Lord Barnard

died on the 28th of October, 1723, aged 70, and was

buried at Shipbourne.

The Hon. ^Villiam Vane, of Fairlawn, Kent, second

surviving son of Lord Barnard, was elected M.P. for

the county of Durham in 1708, but was an unsuccessful

candidate in 1722. He was created Viscount Duncan-

non of Ireland, June 12, 1720, and Viscount Vane and

Baron Duncannon on October 13, in the same year.

His wife was Lucy, daughter and coheiress of William

JoUiffe, Esq., of Caverswell, Stafibrdshire, who died

March 7, 1742.. Lord Duncannon died suddenly of

apoplexy, at his seat of Fairlawn, May 20, 1734, aged

53, having three days before been elected M.P. for

Kent. His first-born son, Christopher, died in 1721,

aged 17. John, second son, died at Naples, February

5, 1723, aged 17. William, thii-d son, born 1714,

succeeded as Viscount Vane in 1734 : he married

Frances, daughter of Francis Hawes, Esq., and widow

of Lord William Hamilton ; and died April 5, 1780,

without issue, when the title became e.xtinct. An act

passed for the sale of his estates to pay his debts ; and

the tithes of Darlington, which had been settled upon

the lords of Fairlawn, reverted thereupon to the main

line by purchase.

Second Baron Barnard.—The Hon. Gilbert Vane,

eldest son of the first Lord Barnard, succeeded to the

title on the death of his father. He married Mary,

daughter of Morgan Randyll, Esq., of Chilworth, Sur-

rey, who died at Newark, August 4, 1728, aged 47.

His lordship died April 27, 1753, aged 75. Their

children were, 1, Henry. 2, Morgan, made comptroller

of the stamp office in 1732; married, first, Margaretta,

daughter of Mr. Robert Knight, formerly cashier to the

South Sea Company, by whom he had a soa, Morgan

coach dra-wne by six swine, all black, and a black man satt upon the

cotch-box. He fell sick upont and dy'd, and of his death several!

apparitions appeared after.' Verbation from the diary of Jacob

Bee."

i
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Vane. She died at the Bath in May, 1739. He mar-

ried, secondly, Anna Maria, daughter of — Fowler,

Esq. ; and, thirdly, Mary, sister of John Woodyear,

Esq., by whom he had a daughter, Mary Vane. 3.

Thomas, died February 19, 1758. 4. Gilbert, a lieu-

tenant-colonel in the army, died unmarried in 1772.

6. Charles, of Mount Ida, Norfolk, had an only daugh-

ter, Henrietta, who married Sir AVilliam Langham,

Bart. 7. Anne, maid of honour to Queen Caroline

;

she died at the Bath, unmarried, March 11, 1735-6.

8. Elizabeth, married to Sir "William Humble, Bart. ;

she died February 22, 1770. 9. Jane, married to Tho-

mas Staunton, Esq., of Stockgrove, Bucks.

E.\RL OF Darlington.—The Hon. Henry Vane was

born in 1705. He was vice-treasurer of Ireland, re-

ceiver and paymaster-general of the army in 1742, and

was elected M.P. for the county of Durham, July 1,

1747. Being made a privy counsellor, joint paymaster

of the forces, joint treasurer of war, and lord of the

treasury, in 1749, he was re-elected M.P. on the 3rd

of May. He succeeded his father as Baron Barnard

in 1753, and was made Lord Lieutenant and Vice-

admiral of the county of Durham. On the formation

of the Duke of Newcastle's ministry, he was, on April

3, 1754, created Viscount Barnard and Earl of Dar-

lington. In consequence of the violent state of party

feeling at that period, his character has been variously

represented ; Horace Walpole lashing him in his most

bitter style, whilst the premier duke panegyrised him

in the House of Lords as " Harry Vane, who never

said a false thing, or did a bad one." He married

Grace Fitzroy, daughter of Charles, first Duke of

Cleveland (son of King Charles II. by Barbara Villiers,

who was created Duchess of Cleveland), and sister and

heiress of the second duke.* By this lady the earl had

three sons and three daughters. He died March 6,

1758, and his widow in 1763, aged 66.

The Hon. Frederick Vane, of Selaby, their second

son, was born June 26, 1732. He was treasurer of

Chelsea Hospital, and elected M.P. for the county of

• This nobleman often resided at Kaby, and, in the hunting or

sporting season, had also an occasional dormitory and refectory (both

one room) in the house of one of thf Kaby tenants at Piercobridge,

which is still pointed out. " He seems," says Mr. Longstaft'e,

'judging from the popular traditions floating in South Durham, to

have been a quiet unoffending man, of the most unassuming sim-

plicity, lie doated upon the chase ; and once, when out on his

favourite bent, his horse happened an accident, and he was compelled

to mount a haystack to obtain as wide a scope of view as possible.

The farmer's wife, tenanting the adjacent farm, bustled out, and

fieix'cly called him down. The peer's gentle explanation, ' My good

vol.. II.

Durham in 1761 and 1768, but declined a contest in

1774. He married, first, Henrietta, sister of Sir Wil-

liam Meredith, Bai't. : she was buried at Gainford,

March 10, 1796, " above 70." On September 7, 1797,

he married, at Gainford, Jane, eldest daughter of

Aithur Lysaght, Esq., of Bath.

The Hon. Raby Vane, third son of the Earl of

Darlington, was born in 1736, and succeeded his eldest

brother in the representation of the county of Durham,

March 22, 1758. He afterwards represented Carlisle,

and was a captain in the navy. He married Eliza-

beth, daughter of George Sayer, D.D., archdeacon of

Durham; died October 23, 1769, and was buried at

Staindrop.

Anna, eldest daughter of the earl, was married, first,

to the Hon. Charles Hope Weir, brother of James,

third Earl of Hopetown ; and, secondly, to Brigadier-

general the Hon. George Monson. Mary, second

daughter, was married to Ralph Carr, Esq., of Cocken,

and died in 1781, without issue. Jane, youngest

daughter, died unmarried, January 20, 1759.

Second Earl of Darlington.—The Hon. Henry

Vane, born in 1726, was elected M.P. for the county

of Durham, on the elevation of his father to the peerage,

on May 5, 1753, and was again returned in the follow-

ing year. On his father being created Earl of Dar-

lington in 1754, he assumed the title of Viscount

Barnard; and he succeeded to that of Earl of Darling-

ton, &c., in 1758. He was Lord Lieutenant and

Vice-admiral of the county, an alderman of Durham
city, colonel of the Durham militia, governor of Car-

lisle, and master of the Jewel Office. His greatest

enjoyment, however, was the superintendence of Raby

farm, which included lands of the annual value of £1,200,

on which all the improvements in agriculture were prac-

tised ; though there was one ancient usage retained, the

tillage lands being ploughed by between 20 and 30

teams of four oxen each. In the farm-yard were close

stands for upwards of 40 oxen, besides an open spacious

fold with a cistern of water perpetually running : there

woman, I am the duke,' only added fresh fuel to the termagant's fire.

''Why, I dinna care whether ye be duke or drake, ye shall come

dov\Ti.' Another story has been bandied about in newspajjcr liltra-

ture in fifty changes ; but it is very generally localized in Uarlhigton

Ward. It seems that the hot blood of Finch did not satit^factorily

naturalize itself with the amiable duke, who used to hold his high-

spirited wife's hanks of linen thread while she wound them, but often

entangled them with his awkward handling. On one of these

occasions, she angrily exclaimed, ' You fool you !' a taunt which even

he could not tamely submit to, for he replied sharply, ' Yes, I was a

fool when I married >ou.'"
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were also covered racks and pens for 800 sheep, with

various other convenienees.

On the 10th of March, 1757, the earl married Mar-

garet, eldest daughter of Robert Lowther, Esq., of

Meaburn, Westmoreland, and sister of James, the first

Earl of Lonsdale, by whom he had two daughters, who

died in infancy, and one son. The earl died on the

8th of September, 1792, and was buried at Staindrop.

His widow surnved him till the 11th of September,

1800, when she expired at Langton Grange, and was

interred at Staindrop.

Duke .o'd Marquis of Clevel.4.nd.— William

Harry Vane, third Earl of Darlington, Viscount and

Baion Barnard, was bom July 27, 1766. He was

Lord Lieutenant, Gustos Rotulorum, and Vice-admiral

of Durham, colonel of the Durham militia, and some

time ]M.P. for Winchelsea. On September 17, 1827,

he was created Marquis of Cleveland ; in January,

1833, he was advanced to the titles of Duke of Cleve-

land and Baron Raby; and in 18-39, he was elected

K.G. On September 19, 1797 (being then Earl of

Darlington), he married Lady Katherine-Margaret

Powlett, second daughter and coheiress of Harry, sixth

and last Duke of Bolton, and coheiress of a moiety of

the barony of St. John of Basing, by whom he had

issue— 1. Henry, his successor. 2. Louisa-Catherine-

Barbara, born January 11, 1791; married July 29,

1813, to Francis Forester, Esq., brother to the late

Lord Forester; and died January 8, 1821. 3. The

Hon. WiUiam-John-Frederick, born April 3, 1792;

took the name of Powlett, by royal license, dated April

20, 1813, in compliance with the last will and testament

of his maternal grandmother, Katherine, Duchess of

Bolton ; and married, July 3, 1815, Caroline, fifth

daughter of William, fourth Earl of Lonsdale, K.G.,

born February 17, 1792. He succeeded his brother in

the representation of the county in 1815, and was also

elected in 1818, 1820, 1826, and 1830. He became

Lord William on the elevation of his father to a mar-

quisate. 4. Caroline-Mary, born February 8, and

died May 11, 1795. 5. Augusta-Henrietta, born

• On his coming of age in 1S09, a plentiful dinner was pro\-ided at

Rahy Castle for the tenantry. The park guns were fired at one

o'clock, and a ball was given to the tenants' wiyes and daughters in

the evening. An os was roasted whole at Darlington, and distributed

with plenty of bread and ale to the populace ; another was roasted

and distributed in like manner at Piercebridge (where the skuU and

gilded horns are still preserved in a butcher's shop), a third at Stain-

drop, a fourth at Cockfield, a fifth at Barnard Castle, and a sixth at

lliddleton-in-TeeEdale, at all of wliich places there were great re-

December 26, 1796; married, June 2, 1817, to Mark

Milbanke, Esq., of Thorpe Perrow, near Bedale,

Yorkshire. 6. Laura, married, February 24, 1828,

to Lieutenant-colonel William-Henry Mejrrick, of the

3rd Foot Guards. 7. Mary-Arabella, born June 2,

1801; and married, April 23, 1831, to the Hon.

Richard Pepper Arden, of Pepper Hall, Yorkshire,

now Lord Alvanley. 8. Harry-George, born April

19, 1803; and elected M.P. for the Southern Division

of the county in 1841, twice in 1847, and in 1852.

The Countess of Darlington died June 17, 1807 >

and the earl married, July 27, 1813, EHzabeth, daugh-

ter of Robert Russell, Esq., who survives him. The

duke died January 29, 1842, aged 75, at his residence

in St. James's Square, and was buried in Staindrop

church.

Secosd Duke and Makquis of CLE^•ELA^'D.

—

Henry Vane, Duke and Marquis of Cleveland, K.G.,

Earl of Darlington, Viscount and Baron Barnard of

Barnard Castle, and Baron Raby of Raby Castle, was

born August 16, 1788.* He married, November 16,

1809, Sophia, eldest daughter of John, fourth Earl of

Powlett ; was elected M.P. for the county of Durham,

October 14, 1812, and continued its representative

until July, 1815, when he accepted a commission in the

army, which vacated his seat. In 1824, he obtained

the rank of lieutenant-colonel of the 75th regiment,

and is now colonel of the Durham militia.f He be-

came Earl of Darlington on the elevation of his father

to the rank of a marquis; and after he retired from

the representation of the county of Durham, he sat in

parliament for Tregony, Totness, and Saltash. His

grace is now the representative of the titles and honours

acquired by the elder branch of the Vane family.

Insignia.—Arms. Quarterly. I. and IV., a?. 3 sinister gauntlets-

or, for Vane. II. and III., Quarterly, 1 and 4 quarterly France and

England ; 2 Scotland, 3 Ireland (being the arms of Charles II.) ; over

all a baton sinister, compony ar. and az, for Fitzrot.

Crests.—I. On a wreath, a dexter hand, couped above the wrist,

erect in a gauntlet proper, bossed and rimmed or, brandishing a

sword, also proper, for Vane. IL On a chapeau gu. tumed-up
ermine, a lion passant, guardant, or, crowned with a ducal coronet az.

and gorged with a collar counter-compony ar. and az., for Fitzboy.

joicings. The ox-roasting process on such occasions, it is gratifying

to observe, is now considered " a custom more honoured in the breach

than the observance."

t A correspondence of some interest, on the subject of military

discipline, took place in September, 18-54, betn-een his grace and
Colonel Garrett, arising out of proceedings in a court martial, held

on Lieut. Perry, of the 46th regiment of foot, and which appeared in

the public journals of the day.
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Supporters.—Dexter, a griffin ar. ; sinister, an antelope or, each

gorged with a plain collar az. (formerly the griffin iras worn charged

with 3 ganntlets a3 in the arras, and the antelope Avith 3 martlets).

These are the supporters of Vane ; but those of Fitzeot have oc-

casionally been adopted, tIz., dexter, a lion guardant or, crowned

and gorged as in the crest ; sinister, a greyhound ar., collared as in

the dexter.

Motto.—Ncc temcre, nee timide.

EABY CASTLE.

This " noble pile of stately towers" is situated about a

mile north from the town of Staindrop, and is supposed

to occupy the site of the mansion given by Canute to

the church of Durham. The earUest record relative to

its erection occurs in 1379, when John de Neville

obtained a license to " make a castle of his manor of

Raby, and to embattle and crenelate its towers." The

architecture of nearly the whole castle agrees with this

date ; and as most of the modern repairs and additions

have been made in unison with it, this edifice is now

the most perfect specimen of a feudal baron's palace to

be seen in the north of England.

Immediately after the Northern Rebellion, a survey

was made, June 14, 1570, and Raby is therein described

as " the most anncyent house of th Erie of Westmor-

land ; and scytuat in the south part of the busshopryk,

tonne myles from Darneton, and fyve miles from Bar-

nard Castle. And the Castell of Raby is a marevelouse

huge house of buyldyng, wherin are three wards, and

buylded all of stone, and covered with leadc ; and yet

ys there no order or proporcyon in the buylding therof,

and standyth in a playne countrie. The ground and

soylc aboute yt very good and bountefidl for corn and

grasse, but very barren of wood and tymber. Neyther

the scytuacon of the place, or the Castell ytselfe, of any

strengthe, but lyke a monstrouse old abbey, and will

soone decay yf it be not continuaDy repayred, yt

standeth so open and playne, and subject to all wynd
and wether. And, albeyt, the same is tenne myles

further south than Branspeth, yet ys yt more subject to

all extremyte of wether than Branspeth, bycause yt

standyth naked and bare, without covert, and more

open upon the great waste called Feuds Fell and

Weredale, which begyne within two myles of Raby,

• George Colman, the younger, the well-known dramatist, in re-

lating the particulars uf a journey in the north in 1775, in company
with liis father, says, " The late Earl of Darlington (then Lord of the

Castle) was an old acquaintance of my father ; and when first we
came beneath uia roof, it presented to us a warmer picture of ancient

hospitality thai I had ever witness' d, or may, perhaps, ever see

again.

" We were benighted on our road thither ;—our day's journey had

and so continue to Hexam, a great wast countrey and

nothing so well inliabyted as th est parte of the busshop-

ryk, and few gentlemen of any lands or lyving inhabyting

there j for the most parte of all the possessions in those

partes are eyther belonging to the busshoprick or to the

erle. And the gentlemen that were [of] any posses-

sions were planted in the este parts of the countrey

;

and that dyd wel appere at this horryble and mon-

struous entrepryse, for ther were not many gentlemen

of many possessions inhabyting betwen the houses of

Raby and Branspeth on the west parte of the countrey

and th est sea, but were infected with this rebellion, and

toke part with th erle, to the utter subversion of them-

selfs and their posteryte, as shall right well appere, by

reason whereof the countrey is left voyde and barren of

governors and gydes, and very much empoveryshed,

not without ther greate deserte."

Raby Castle stands upon the summit of a gentle

slope, and has certainly owed little of its military

strength to its position. The resources of art, however,

have compensated for natural disadvantages ; and the

lofty embattled wall which still surrounds the vast

assemblage of towers, and the moat around this exteiior

defence, must have rendered the fortress almost impreg-

nable before the invention of cannon. The water has

long been drained from the moat on the north, west,

and south sides of the castle, and its banks have been

formed into grassy slopes ; but on the east, the bed of

the water has been considerably extended, and it now
presents the appearance of a small lake. The outer

wall, above mentioned, encloses an area of about two

acres, into which there is only one entrance, by a gate-

way tower on the north, defended by a portcullis and

flanking parapets. A spacious raised terrace within

the battlements, passes entirely round the main build-

ings, the principal entrance to which is by a massive

gateway on the west, with a double gate and covered

way, strengthened by two square towers. From one

of these, a hanging gallery forms a communication with

Clifford's Tower ; and a second gallery extends east-

ward to a smaller turreted tower. Crossing the court-

yard, the carriage drive is extended, by a modern

alteration, into the hall.*

been all along unpropitious ; it rained heavily and inccss.intly ; and

we had met with delays, and petty accidents, and vexations, at every

turn. In the last seven miles, after sun-set, a fog arose ;—one of the

horses cast a shoe, and his rider dismounted to grope for it in the mud
and in the dark ;—my father let down the glass, to ask what Avas the

matter, in phrase too classical for a north-country post-boy to under-

stand ; and the post-boy answered in a dialect (luite incomprehensible

to the translator of Terence. I could not act as intcrpretor between
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One of the most prominent features in the east front

of the castle is Buhner's Tower, so called from Ber-

tram Buhner, lord of Bulmer and Brancepelh, whose

estates passed to the Nevilles hy marriage with his

daughter, about the year 1190. This tower is totally

unlike any known example, being lozenge-shaped in-

stead of rectangular ; and, from this singularity, some

antiquaries have imagined it to be of Danish origin,

and that it was part of a castle existing previous to the

erection of the present one. A further inference is,

that this is a part of the original building mentioned in

the grant of Canute. In the upper story there are two

square-headed panels, which have, at a distance, the

appearance of windows, but each of which contains an

enormous b. The whole of this front of the castle,

which is of great extent, presents a most imposing and

warlike appearance. The south front is also very

effective ; but the central part was restored by Inigo

Jones in the Italian style, totally out of keeping

with the rest of this venerable fortress. The diilerent

towers of the castle are designated by the names of

those commanders to whom it is supposed their defence

was assigned during the periods of Scottish incursion

or civil war.

Of the exterior of the castle, " Its grey extent of

towers," says Mr. Howitt, " rises before us, with its park,

well peopled with herds of deer, stretching around it.

Comparatively flat again as is the situation, and which

would seem to have been better liked by the Nevilles

than more hilly and romantic ones, there is nothing that

we recollect to have seen any where which impresses

us at the first view with a stronger feeling of the old

feudal grandeur. It stands in its antiquity and vast-

them ; for I knew nothing of the north- country language. All this

time, the rain was pelting in upon us, at the chaise window ; we
were chilly—hungry—impatient—comfortless—sitting diunerless in

a post-chaise—and waiting the ifsue of a hunt after a horse-shoe.

" As we passed through the outer gateway of the Castle, the

vapour was dense upon the moat, and we were enveloped in night-

fog, while the rolling of the carriage wheels, and the trampling of the

horses' hoofs, sounded dolefully over the draw-bridge ;—we might

have fancied ourselves victims to the darkest times of Gallic despot-

ism, condemn'd by a lettrc de ccuhct to linger out our lives in the

deepest dungeons of the Bastille; but, lo ! on the opening of a

massive door, a gleam of light flash'd upon us ;—crack went the

whips—wc dashed forward at full trot—and, in a moment drew up,

—not to a piazza, nor a vestibule, nor a flight of steps in a cold court-

yard—but before a huge blazing fire, in a spacious hall. The

magical effect of this sudden transition, from destitution to luxury,

has never occurr'd to me any where else—except in the two last

scenes of every pantomime, when the Guai-dian Genius, with a wand,

waves and recitatives Harlequin and Columbine out of a Coal-pit, into

the temple of the Goddess of Gas ;

—

' Hence grief and darkness, enter light and joy !'
"

ness, the fitting abode of the mighty Nevilles. We
can almost imagine that we shall find them still inhabit-

ing it. The royal Joan, walking with her maidens on

the green terrace that surrounds it, or the first great

Earl of Westmoreland setting out with all his train, to

scour its wild chases and dales for the deer, or to pro-

ceed to the Marches to chastise the boldness of the

Scots. The exterior of the whole place has been well

preserved in its true ancient character ; it is the great,

grey, and stately feudal castle,

' With all its lands and towers.'

" It is, in fact, these old towers, these old courts, this

great baronial hall, and the kitchen, that are the objects

of real interest in Raby ; remnants of its antiquity, the

cotemporaries of those who stamped them with the

feeling of belonging to them and their fortunes. The
Clifford's Tower, and the Tower of Bertram Bulmer,

let us ascend to them, and gaze over the parks and

glades of Raby, to the far distant scenes that once

formed the princely possessions of the Nevilles. Near

the top of this tower, which stands separated from the

rest of the building, and to which you ascend by

eighty-nine steps, are raised those old letters, the

initials of Bertram Bulmer, mentioned by Leland,* and

a splendid prospect south-eastward lies before yon.

Coniscliffe, Darlington, Sadberge, Long-Newton, Stock-

ton, with the Cleveland Hills and 'Black' Hamilto.n.

From other points of the castle you catch equally noble

and far views—the distant mountains of Hope and

Arkendale, and westward the vale filled with the woods

of Streatlam and Lady Close."

In the centre of the great entrance hall, above

• According to Leland, " Eaby is the largest castel of loggingees

in all the north couutery, and is of a strong building, but not set

other on hill, or very strong ground. As I entered by a causey into

it ther was a litle stagne on the right hond ; and in the first area, were

but two towres on a ech ende as entres, and no other buildid ; j-n the

2 area, as in entring was a great gate of iren with a tour, and 2 or 3

mo on the right hond. Then were al the chief toures of the 3 court,

as in the hart of the castel. The haul and al the houses of offices be

large and stately ; and in the haul I saw an incredible great beame of

an hart. The great chambre was exceeding large, but now it is fals

rofid and dividid into 2 or 3 partes. I saw ther a litle chambre

wherein was in windowes of colerid glasso al the petigre of the

Nevilles : but it is now taken down and glased with clere glasse.

Ther is a tower in the castel, having the mark of 2 capitale B's from

Bertram Bulmer. Ther is another tower, bering the name of Jane,

bastard sister to Henry IV. and wife to Rafe Neville the first Erl of

W^estmerland. Ther long 3 parkes to Raby, whereof 2 be plenished

with dere. The midle park hath a lodge in it ; and thereby is a

chacc, bering the name of Langcley, and hath fallow dere : it is a 3

miles in lenght."
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noticed, there is a row of sis octagonal pillars, support-

ing a roof of lofty groined arches. Above the hall is

another stately room, called the Baron's Hall, 120 feet

long by 36 broad, and the same in height, terminating

in a circular tower. Two of the windows front the

east, beneath a modern archway, which extends from

the Central Tower to Bulmer's Tower. The west end

of the hall is crossed by a gallery for the musicians,

whose duty it was to enliven the feasts of its feudal

lords and their numerous guests. " Here assembled,

in the time of the Nevilles, 700 knights who held of

that family."

" Neville sees

His followers gathering in from Tees,

From Were, and all the little rills

Concealed among the forked hills

—

Seven hundred knights, retainers all

Of Neville, at their Master's call

Had sate together in Raby's hall."

—

fVordsworth.

The kitchen, from whence those feasts were supplied,

is a magnificent and lofty square of 30 feet each way.

Its roof is groined, supported by four semicircular ribs,

which spring from the sides of the square, and leave a

square ventilating shaft in the centre. There are five

windows in the side walls, with a gallery passing all

round before them, and four steps downwards from

each, but ending at a great height above the floor.

The old fire-place and larders render this the most per-

fect ancient kitchen in existence. " The oven," says

Grose, " was of dimensions suited to the hospitality of

those times, higher than a tall person, for the tallest may
stand upright in it ; and I think its diameter must be

fifteen feet. At present it is converted into a wine cellar

;

the sides arc divided into ten parts, and each holds a

hogshead of wine in bottles."

The rooms in the castle are numerous, handsome,

and conveniently disposed ; several of the passages and

galleries having been scooped out of the solid walls.

One of the drawing-rooms is 30 feet by 20, and the

adjoining dining-room is 51 feet by 25. A circular

room in the south front, built in anticipation of a visit

from George Prince Regent, is characterized by Billings

as " a wretched attempt at modern Gothic." " It is, in

fact," says Mr. Howitt, " this complete adaptation to

modern uses and splendour, which disappoints one in

the interior of Raby. The exterior is so fine, so feudal,

so antiquely great, that when we step in and find our-

selves at once in modern drawing-rooms, with silken

couches and gilt cornices, the Nevilles and their times

vanish. We forget again that we arc at Raby, the

castle of the victims (victors) of Neville's Cross, and of

Joan, the daughter of John of Gaunt, and feel that we
are only in the saloons of the modern Duke of Cleve-

land. We revert to the quaint description of Leland,

and wish that we could see it as he did."

In several of the apartments of the castle there are

excellent paintings, including interesting portraits of

personages connected with the present family. There

is a large music piece in the dining room in Clifford's

Tower, containing the group of figures which Rubens

placed in the centre of the Marriage Feast of Cana, in

which he introduced his own portrait as a chief musi-

cian, with his contemporaries as performers.

About the year 1850, the Baron's Hall was new
roofed and lengthened, and the old towers fitted up into

handsome bed-rooms, from designs by Mr. Bourn,

architect. The old chapel of the castle has also been

recently fitted up for worship : the windows contain

two or three scriptural representations, executed by

Mr. TVailes of Newcastle, and are filled up with stained

glass collected from various sources. The ancient font

and piscina, however, have been thrown aside. About

the same time, an elegant Mausolcictn, in the ecclesias-

tical style of architecture, was erected, as a place of

sepulture for the Raby family, on part of the site of the

ancient College, on the north side of Staindrop church-

yard.* It was consecrated by the Bishop of Durham

in September, 1851 ; and the remains of the deceased

members of the family were removed into it from the

vault in the church.

A beautiful and extensive conservatory was erected

in the gardens in 1850, under the direction of Mr.

Roberts, gardener to the Duke of Cleveland. It is

covered with patent rough plate glass, from the manu-

factory of Messrs. Hartley and Co., of Sunderland.

" The park," says the lively writer above quoted, " has

many fine woods, glades, and lawns, and prospects of far

beauty ; but its aspect partakes of the character of the in-

terior of the castle—newness. We are surprised to see

so little timber bearing a relative antiquity to the castle.

The treet are comparatively young. You see groups

and plantations of a very modern date. The whole has

the air rather of a place new made, than of one as old

as the days of Canute, who is said to have built some

part of the original house. You do not see those old,

grey, and gnarled oaks around that you see in the

• The widow of the Hon. Raby Vane, who died May 28, 1789,

aged 47, desired burial in the north-west portion of the cemetery,

wliere an altar-tomb perpetuates her memory. By this choice she

dissipated the popular prejudice against being buried on the noitli

1 side of the church.
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forests of Sherwood, Needwood—Chartley and other

parks. It seems as if some great revolution, as is the

fact, had passed over it ; and that in its days of change,

the axe of the spoiler had laid low its ancient forests.

The castle looks like a grey patriarch left amid a more

juveuQe race. Let us rejoice that the strong walls of

the stout old Nevilles have defied the ravages of politics

as well as of time, and that future generations may see

iu them a fine example of what the habitation of the

great old English noLle was."

A couimissiouer from the Times newspaper, Mr. Caird, in one of

his letters on the agriculture of the county of Durham, in 1S50, says,

"The tenants of the Duke of Cleveland have no leases, but the

lioldings are hereditary, the same families in direct descent occupying

the same farms for centuries. His Grace's estates were valued fifty

years ago, and the rent has never since undergone any change. One

of the best farmers on tlie estate has in his possession a lease of the

land he now occupies, granted to one of his ancestors in the reign of

Queen Elizabeth."

Some of Mr. Caird's statements, however, relative to the state of

the farms and the system of farming pursued on the estates of his

grace, were considered by the tenantry to be unjust and calumnious,

and elicited the following rejoinder from the Staindrop Farmers'

Club, January 2", 1851 :

—

1st. "That the commissioner only saw two farms (the one the farthest

east—the other only three miles west of the former) on an immense

estate, extending from Cumberland to mthin sis. miles of Dar-

lington.

2nd. " The rents, instead of being ' fifty per cent, lower than the

neighbouring estates,' are g^iite as high, and have been increased by

interest on buildings, cross-draining, &c., done by the landlord.

ord. " ^^'^lether the valuation made fifty years since was a low one

or not we cannot say, but many of the tenantry have been changed

—

some farms, on reletting, being raised—others lowered in rental ; and

many of the farms are kno-wn to be dear.

4th. "The tenantry, as a class, may not be 'wealthy ;' but there is

not, and never has been, one farthing of arrears on the entire pro-

perty ; and, as to their being ' neither industrious nor enterprising,'

the fabrication is far too gross to be credited Ln this district ; for,

though the ' Times' Commissioner' might not see the 'high farming'

of Baldoon, yet, had he taken any pains in looking over this neigh-

bourhood, and been wishful to give a correct report, instead of one

for a party purpose, he would have seen or been told of (and ex parte

hearsay seems to be his favourite and general plan of gaining know-

ledge) the many and great improvements which have been made and

are still going forward—with the assistance of a good landlord, aided

by a respected agent, and the energy of an industrious tenantry,

whereby the labourers of a thickly-populated district have full

employment, at wages too fi-om 10s. to 12e. per week, and whose

comfort and happiness are cared for more than iu perhaps any other

pai't of England."

ilr. Caird justified his statements as to the rents by asserting that

his information was derived from competent authority. " He spent

the greater part of two days in examining the Duke of Cleveland's

estate in Durham, and traversed many miles of it. He visited the

farms of three gentlemen mentioned to him as among the best

managed on the estate. Two of these farms he walked over and

minutely examined, accompanied by the tenants ; the third he drove

through, and had an opportunity of seeing the general style of

management, but declined (in the absence of the tenant) to stirvey

The avenue leading to the castle from the Durham
road is near Keverstone Hall ; and there are also ap-

proaches from the DarUngton road and from Staindrop

bridge, besides a road for the use of domestics. The
surrounding country is richly cultivated, and in every

direction presents delightful specimens of the rural

scenery of England.*

Eaby was formerly a considerable village ; and 27 of

its inhabitants followed their lord in his Ul-fated rising

minutely without his permission. All these farms were several

mUes distant from one another, and were pointed out to him by the

most competent authority as very favourable specimens of the general

farming on the estate. Besides this minute examination of individual

farms, our commissioner observed the state of the neighbouring

farms, and of all those which he necessarily traversed in passing from

point to point."

On October 5, 1850, the Times commented at some length on a

speech delivered by the Duke of Cleveland at an agricultural meeting

in the coxmty of Durham, in which his grace concluded " by referring

to the great increase of wealth and luxury during the last few years,

and the hardships which farmers would be subject to were they com-

pelled to forego those comforts which their forefathers did not enjoy,

but which with them had become almost necessaries of life, while

other classes of the community continued to enjoy them." On this,

it is remarked that iu all professions, but more especially in that of

the small farmer, such fluctuations must necessarily occur, and that

the state of things described, is not peculiar to the existing crisis.

In reference to the county of Durham, the wTiter says

—

" Of all places in the world, ' a coal field' has the least right to cry

out for protection. The county of Durham is very little more than one

huge colliery, the prosperity of which rises and falls every day with

that of the commerce and manufactures of the world. Every fresh

steamer on the German Ocean, the Thames, the Mediterranean, or eren

the Red Sea ; every street added to this metropolis, or any other town

in the eastern and southern counties ; every factor)- built either here or

on the neighbouring shores, every new railway in a great part of this

island, is a fresh customer to Durham, to South Shields, to Sunder-

land, to Bishopwearmouth, to Monkwearmouth, to Gateshead, to

Darlington, and half a dozen other populous centres and ports of the

coal trade. The cities, the villages, the nobility, the clergy, the

tradesmen, the labourers, and, we must add, the farmers in the

coimty of Durham, all derive their wealth or their competence from

coal. But for that coal, one-half of them would never have been

there, and the indigenous inhabitants would by this time have been

almost reduced to eat one another. They know their own interests,

and it is as much their choice as it is their destiny that their fortunes

are linked with those of the world at large. It was at their continual

importunity that the export duty on coal was removed, and British

coal made cheaper at Boulogne than in London. It is all the same

to them whether they feed the furnace for a British, a French, or a Bel-

gian mill. It is the crop below ground, not above, that they depend

upon ; and, if there is plenty of work below, there will be plenty of

cheer above. As for the pretence that Durham is, even in an ordinary

sense, an agricultural county, it is enough to mention that at the last

census, ' the farmers and graziers,' male and female, old and young,

only amounted to 3,538, being about one in a hundred of the whole

population ; while the men and boys returned as agricultural

labourers only amounted to 8,844 ; that is, about one in forty of the

whole population."
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in 1569, 5 of whom suffered for their offence by the

hands of the public executioner. The village was

pulled down during the last century, for the purpose of

improving the park and the road near the castle. The
Friends' meeting house has already been alluded to (see

pp. 79, 91). Its registration books of births, burials,

and marriages contain entries from 1669 to 1804. A
dog-kennel occupies the site of the chapel ; and above

the grave-yard there is a row of stately trees. New
Italy, erected between 1780 and 1790, consists of a

few houses to the east of the castle, chiefly occu-

pied by persons employed on the estate. A gaso-

meter has recently been erected near it, from which the

castle is supplied with gas.

Keverstone was held by the Setons under the

priors of Durham, till it was forfeited by Christopher

Seton, during the episcopacy of Bishop Beck. Edward
I. granted it to Geoffrey de Hethpole, from whom it

passed to the Nevilles and Burtons, and was purchased

by an ancestor of the Duke of Cleveland. Keverstone

Hall, the residence of Thomas Freshfield Scarth, Esq.,

land-agent to his grace, is situated near the north-eastern

angle of Raby Park.

LANGLEY DALE AND SHOTTON.

This township extends from 2 to 4 miles north-west of

Staindrop, along the north side of the Staindrop Beck,

westward from Raby park, in which that part called

Shotton is situated. The whole contains 4,685 acres

;

and the property was valued for the county-rate, in

1853, at £1,972 15s. 6d. The population has vai-ied,

at the periods of enumeration, as follows :—143, 160,

198, 217, 185, and 163. Of the latter number, 78

were males and 85 females. There were, at the same

time, Si9 inhabited houses and 1 uninhabited, but no

regular village. The township comprises fifteen farms.

In the year ended March, 1854, the township of

Langley Dale contributed to the Teesdale Union, for

in-maintenancc, clothing, and funerals, £16 4s. 6d. ; for

out- relief and lunatics, £14 18s. ; for irremoveablc

poor, salaries, and other common charges, £26 10s.

lid.; for constable and costs before magistrates, 15s..;

for law costs, revising barrister, and jury lists, 10s.

;

and for journeys, salaries of assistant overseers, inci-

dental expenses, &c., £1 19s. ; total of expenditure,

£60 17s. 5d. The repayments of relief by relations

and other receipts amounted to 10s. ; and the net ex-

penditure exceeded that of the preceding year by £5
17s. lid. The cost of registration was 13s. lOd. ; and

the county-rate paid by the overseers was £33 8s. lOd.

The Gaunless Smelt-works are situated in Langley

Dale, and contam three smelting furnaces, two refining

furnaces, two slag hearths, with blast, a reducing fur-

nace, one bone and two assay furnaces, a smith's shop,

sleeping rooms for the smelters, a cottage for the super-

intendent, a stable, and other appurtenances. There

are also two fire-brick kilns, and a brick-shed and dry-

ing floor, contiguous to the smelt-mill.

A small Methodist chapel was erected about 40 years

ago, on a piece of land which, previous to the inclosure

of the extensive commons in the district, was considered

as a part of Marwood township.

Langley Dale and Shotton were anciently parcels of

the estates of the Earls of "Westmoreland. An old

tower, close by the Langley Burn, is said to have been

the residence of a mistress of the last earl ;
" a noble-

man," says Surtees, "who, from more than one

authority, appears to have been of a very amorous

disposition." From "the Forest of Langleye," 19

followers attended him in 1569, of whom 6 expiated

their offence with their lives. The Duke of Cleveland

is the present proprietor. Slmighter Closes and Scotch

Stone arc supposed, from the quantities of human re-

mains and rusted armour dug up, to have been the

scenes of sanguinary contests at some remote period

;

but neither history nor tradition alludes to any such

circumstance.
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CHAPELEY DISTEICT OF INGLETON.

IHE chapelry district of Ingleton, formed by an order in cjouncil January 13, 1845, and licensed by the

Bishop of Durham under the act of 6 and 7 William IV., c. 85, consisted of the townships of Hilton, Ingleton,

and Wackerfield ; being bounded on the south and east by the parish of Gainford, on the north by the parochial

chapeky of St. Helen Auckland, on the north-west by the parish of Cockfield, and on the west and south-west by

the townships of Raby-cura-Keverstone and Staiudrop cum-Suotterton in the parish of Staindrop. By an order

in council, bearing date January 8, 1850, the township of Killerby, in the parish of Heighington, was separated

from the said parish, and united to the chapelry district of Ingleton.

INGLETON.

This township comprises an area of 813 acres ; and

the annual value of property assessed for the county-rate

in 1853 was £1,261 lis. 3d. In 1801, the population

was 236; in 1811,285; in 1821, 293; in 1831, 355;

in 1841,344; and in 1851, 305, of whom 156 were

males and 149 females. There were, at that time, 80

inhabited houses, 8 uninhabited, and 1 building ; and

the township contains six farms.

The contributions of the township of Ingleton to the

Teesdale Union, for the year ended March, 1854, were,

for out-relief and lunatics, £23 15s. ; for irremoveable

poor, salaries, and other common charges, £25 18s. Id.;

for constable and costs before magistrates, 18s. 6d.

;

and for journeys, salaries of assistant overseers, inci-

dental expenses, &c., £1 8s. 3d.; being a total expendi-

ture of £51 19s. lOd. The rejjayments of relief by

relations and other receipts were £6 Is. 4d. ; and the

balance, £45 18s. 6d., was 18s. Id. less than the net

expenditure of the preceding year. The cost of regis-

tration was £1 Is. 4d. ; and the county-rate paid by the

overseers was £21 17s. 5d.

The village of Ingleton is situated on the high road

between Staindrop and Darlington, 3 miles from the

former place. It contains four public-houses and

several shopkeepers and mechanics. The village school

was rebuilt by subscription in 1816; after which it was

partly pewed off, by the consent of the freeholders of

the townshij}, to be occupied as a meeting-house for the

Methodist body. It is now used on Sundays as a

Primitive Methodist chapel. About 50 scholars attend

the week day school; and the church Sunday school is

held in the same building. The village contains a

post-office, and is the station of a parish constable.

Ingleton was one of the places included in the grant

of Canute to the church of Durham. The Nevilles

possessed the greater part of the township, as a member

of Raby ; and a portion of land was held under them

by the family of Bowes. The principal freeholders at

present, are T. Hutchinson, Esq., and C. Middleton,

Esq., who is lord of the manor.

THE CHAPEL

"

Is a neat plain edifice, of the early pointed style of

architecture, consisting of a nave and chancel, the latter

being entered by an elegant archway. There is a bell-

turret and an entrance porch at the west. The roof is

of high pitch, and covered with slate. There are three

windows on the south side and three on the north, each

of two compartments. The east window is of three

compartments. The chapel contains 206 sittings, all of

which are free. The building cost £430, towards

which the Church Building Society gave £100, the

Duke of Cleveland £100, and the remainder was made

up by subscription; the neighbouring farmers and

others leading the required materials free. The church

is dedicated to St, John, and was consecrated by the

Bishop of Durham, November 1, 1843. A spacious

bui'ying ground is attached.

The vicar of Staindrop is patron of the living ; and

the Rev. Martin Wright is the present incumbent, who

entered upon his duties in 1845, though no endowment

was made until 1849. By an order in council, July

30, in that year, the ecclesiastical commissioners made

an annual grant of £30 to the living ; the net income

being stated at £35, and the commissioners were at that

time unable to raise it to the full extent of the scale of

population. The order in council of January 8, 1850,

mentioned above, which annexed Killerby to this cha-

pelry, declared that " so much and such of the tithe
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rent-charges "belonging to the vicarage of Heighington

as arise and accrue within the townships of Killerby

and Walworth, in the said parish of Heighington, were

transferred to the said district chapelry of Ingleton for

ever." The rent-charge for the township of Killerby

is £20, and that for the township of Walworth £31,* or

£51 in all; this sum being subject to all rates and

charges. In 1850, a donation of £350 was made from

the Maltby Fund towards the erection of a parsonage

house at Ingleton. The house cost about £830, in-

cluding the ground ; and the remainder, besides the

above grant, was raised by subscription.

For the charities payable to the chapelry of Ingleton,

see Staindrop, p. 91.

HILTON.

The township of Hilton, which adjoins that of Ingleton

on the north, contains 1,092 acres. The number of

inhabitants in 1801 was 88, and at the following suc-

cessive periods of enumeration, 104, 113, 118, 112, and

101. Of the latter number, 58 were males and 43

females ; and there were 22 inhabited houses and 3

uninhabited. The township, which contains eight

farms, was assessed for the county-rate in 1853 at £861.

The Teesdale Union received from the township of

Hilton, during the year ended March, 1854, £31 10s.

for out-relief and lunatics; £12 8s. 5d. for irremovea-

ble poor, salaries, and other common charges ; 16s. 6d.

for constable and costs before magistrates, &c. ; 10s. for

law costs, revising barrister, and jury lists; and £3 Os.

6d. for journeys, salaries of assistant overseers, inci-

dental expenses, &c. The total expenditure, £48 5s.

5d., was £7 12s. 8d. more than that of the preceding

year. The cost of registration was lis. 2d.; and the

overseers paid £14 lis. 10 jd. to the county-rate.

The little village of Hilton is pleasantly situated on

an eminence, 3 miles cast-north-east from Staindrop,

and is chiefly inhabited by persons engaged in agricul-

ture. Hilton Hall, the ancient family seat, is now a

farm-house, occupied by Mr. J. J. Read. When the

• The dean and chapter of Durliam, and the Rev. Wilson Beckett,

incumbent of Hcighinj^tou, made it a condition, in giving their con-

sent to the arrangement, that the commissioners should recommend to

her majesty in council that additional provision for the cure of souls

ill that parish should be made ; and they accordingly proposed " that

all our estate and interest in all the yearly rent-charge or sum of

fifty-four pounds ten shillings, lately belonging to the second ca-

nonry in the cathedral church of Durham, awarded to the Right

Reverend John Bird, Bishop of Chester, the then holder of such

canonry, and his successors, in lieu of the rectorial tithe arising or

VOL. II.

estate was purchased by the Earl of Darlington in

1789, " right of court-leet and court-baron, and several

quit-rents payable to the lord of the said manor," were

attached to the lordship of Hilton. With the mansion

house were " several messuages or tenements, farms,

and closes of arable, meadow, and pasture ground,

parcel of the said manor, containing together, by esti-

mation, 838 acres or thereabouts, greatly underlet to

substantial tenants, at the yearly rent of £566 and

upwards." The estate was described as " capable of

very great improvements, lying compact together, plea-

santly situate on a gentle rising ground, commanding a

most beautiful prospect of an extensive vale, and in the

centre of the several market towns of Darlington,

Bishop Auckland, Barnard Castle, and Staindrop.

There are coal pits within three miles of Hilton, and

every reason to suppose coal may be found in the

premises : the land-tax remarkably low, and several

valuable quarries upon the estate."

The manor of Hilton was anciently held by the

Boweses of the Neville family. Thirteen of its inha-

bitants joined the Northern Rising, three of whom
suffered death in consequence. James I., in 1606,

granted the manors of Hilton and Bradbury to Thomas

Emerson, Esq., for 1,000 years, under the yearly rent

of £550. Hilton afterwards passed to the Mannings,

from whom it was purchased by Henry Marley, at

which time it was charged with £160, as its portion of

the rent.

A family named Hilton subsequently held the manor

for several generations. They were descended from

Thomas Hilton, of Hilton Bacon, in Westmoreland,

Esq., and Catherine, daughter of Anthony Bracken-

bury, of Selaby. Lancelot, their second son, married,

first, Catherine, daughter and coheiress of Ralph Al-

went, of Dyons, by whom he had issue James Hilton,

of Dyons, three other sons, and four daughters ; and,

secondly, Elizabeth, daughter of Leonard Smelt, of

Kirby-Fletham, Yorkshire, and relict of Richard Cock-

field, by whom he had issue Leonard Hilton, died in

1605-6 ; Francis Hilton, of Killerby ; Lancelot Hilton,

growing -B-ithin the township of Redworth, in the parish of Heighing-

ton, in the countv of Durham, and apportioned upon the lands lying

within the said tfjwnship, shall forthwith, and without any con-

veyance or assurance in the law other than this scheme, and any

duly gazetted order of your majesty in council ratifying the same,

become and be vested in the said Wilson Beckett, clerk, vicar of

Heighington aforesaid, and his successors, vicars of Heighington, for

ever." This scheme was confirmed by an order in council, dated on

the 9th, and gazetted on the 15th of March, 1850.

K
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of Durham and of Hilton ; and a daughter. He died

in 16.36.

Lancelot, son of the above, born in 1608, was an

attorney-at-law, a collector of ship-money in Crossgate

constablery in 16.35-6, and under-sheriff during the

Commonwealth in 1652. He married, first, Mary,

daughter of Thomas Colmore, of Durham, by whom he

had issue Lancelot, Abraham, Richard, Cuthbert, Ro-

bert, Eleanor, and Elizabeth; secondly, Dorothy,

daughter of William Wright, and relict of John Cra-

dock, of Gainford, by whom he had issue three sons*

and three daughters ; and, thirdly, Anne, daughter of

Ralph Salkeld, of Berwick-upon-Tweed, and widow of

WiUiam Hilton, apothecary, of Newcastle-upon-Tyne.

Abraham, second son of Lancelot Hilton, succeeded

to the estate on the death of his father in 1685 (the

first-born, Lancelot, having died young), and married,

first, Eleanor, daughter, of Henry Marley, of Hilton,

by whom he had issue Mary, who died young ; and,

secondly, Eleanor, daughter of Thomas Massock, of

Headlam, who survived him, and afterwards married

Samuel Burton, of Keverstone. On the death of

Abraham Hilton in 1718, he was succeeded, as lord of

the manor of Hilton, by Abraham, grandson of Richard,

his eldest brother. He married Margaret, daughter

and coheiress of Isaac Surtees, of Myresflatt, near

Darlington, and had issue Henry (who succeeded him

in 1748), Abraham, and Mary.

Henry Hilton, of Hilton, died in 1759, without

issue, and was succeeded by his brother, Abraham,

born in 17.31, one of the six clerks in Chancery, who

married, in 1765, Anne, daughter of James Close, of

Richmond, Gent. He advertised the manor and man-

sion house of Hilton for sale by auction on the 11th of

July, 1785 ; and they were purchased in 1789, as above

noticed, by the Earl of Darlington, for £10,0-40.

Abraham Hilton died December 22, in the same year

:

he had issue Abraham, born 1766, died unmarried

October 1, 1792; Ralph, who died in infancy; Henry,

a spirit-merchant at Barnard Castle, died in 1843

;

James Surtees, lieutenant in the 62nd regiment of foot,

and captain in the 16th light horse, died unmarried at

* One of these, Alexander, was curate of Denton, and rector of

Romaldkirk, and died in 1682, leaving two sons; William, an attor-

ney, who carried about a brief describing himself as mad, and

praying for means to put himself into prison ; and Cuthbert, noticed

at page 17.

t The arms of the Hiltons of HUton, co. pal., are the same as the

old coat of Hilton in Westmoreland, viz.. Sable, two stiltires in chief

and three annulets, two and one, argent ; Crest, on a wreath a demi-

Darlington, after his return from the West Indies,

October 30, 1796, aged 22; William Freeman, some

time cornet in the 27th light dragoons, died May,

1798, aged 23, on his passage home from the East

Indies ; Margaret, born 1770, married to Harrington

Lee, of Darlington, and died in 1830; and Mary-Anne,

who died unmarried May 6, 1803, aged 25.t

WACKERFIELD.

The township of Wackerfield, to the west of that of

Hilton, contains 744 acres, divided into five farms.

The value of property assessed for the county-rate in

1853 was £1,011 18s. lid. The number of inhabitants,

at the respective decennial returns, was 94, 113, 105,

112, 122, and 136. Of the latter number, 70 were

males and 66 females, inhabiting 24 houses.

During the year ended March, 1854, this township

contributed £5 Is. 8d. to the Teesdale Union for in-

maintenance, clothing, and funerals ; £5 4s. for out-

relief and lunatics ; £8 6s. for irremoveable poor,

salaries, and other common charges ; 16s. 6d. for con-

stable and costs before magistrates, &c. ; 7s. 6d. for law

costs, revising barrister, and jury lists; and £1 10s. 6d.

for journeys, salaries of assistant overseers, incidental

expenses, &c. ; being a total expenditure of £21 6s. 2d.

Towards this sum, £5 6s. 2d. was received as repay-

ments of relief by relations, &c. ; the balance, £16,

being £22 lis. less than the net expenditure of the

preceding year. The registration cost is. lOd. ; and

the overseers paid £17 to the county-rate.

The village of Wackerfield, 3 miles north-east from

Staindrop, contains two public houses and a blacksmith's

shop. It was one of the places included in the gift of

Canute, and was held of the prior and convent, in the

time of Cardinal Langley, by a family named Sockburn,

by fealty and 12d. rent. The NeviUes afterwards held

it as a member of Raby ; and a portion of it is now the

property of the Duke of Cleveland, the remainder

belonging to W. W. Hawdon, Esq.

For an account of the township of Killerby, re-

cently attached to this chapelry, see vol. i., p. 535.

griflin. The family has been widely diffused, through the Killerby,

Dyons, and other branches throughout the county of Durham. Mr.

Longstaffe derives the Westmoreland family from Robert de Hilton,

younger brother of William de Hilton, baron of the bishopric, who
died before 1208 ; but Rainc curtly observes, " The Hyltons of Hylton

Castle, county palatine, and the HUtons of Hilton Racon, county of

Westmoreland, are two distinct families, utterly unconnected \\-ith

each other in their origin, whatever may be said or assumed to the

contraj-y."
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PAEOCHIAL CHAPELET OF WHORLTON.

The parochial chapelry ofWTiorlton is bounded by the township of Westwick, in the chapeh-y of Barnard

C astle, on the west ; by the parish of Winston on the north and east, and by the Tees, dividing it from the parish

i)f Wycliffe, in the North Riding of Yorkshire, on the south. It consists of one township, but includes the estates

i)f Sledwish, Arlaw Banks, Whorley Hill, Etherley, and Humbleton, and a portion of that of Stubb House, the

remainder of which is in the adjoining parish of Winston.

The township of Whorlton comprises an area of 1,760
;

acres, the property in which was valued for the county-

rate, in 1853, at £1,800 17s. 8d. In 1801, the number
\

of inhabitants was 245; in 1811, 246; in 1821, 300;
\

in 1831, 311; in 1841, 286; and in 1851, 296, of

whom 154 were males and 142 females. There were,

at the latter date, 60 inhabited houses, and 1 unin-

habited.

The chapelry of Whorlton, during the year ended

March, 1854, contributed to the Teesdale Union, for

in-maintenance, clothing, and funerals, £4 lis. Id.;

for extra medical charges, 10s. ; for out-relief and

lunatics, £33 2s. ; for irremoveable poor, salaries, and

other common charges, £19 16s. ; for constable and

costs before magistrates, &c., 14s. 6d. ; for law costs,

revising barristers, and jury lists, 10s. ; and for journeys,

salaries of assistant overseers, incidental expenses, &c.,

9s. lid. The repayments of relief by relations and

other receipts amounted to 15s., which reduced the ex-

penditure to the net sum of £58 7s. 6d. ; being

£1 19s. 3d. less than that of the preceding year. The
vaccination fees were 12s. 6d., and the expenses of

registration, £1 2s. 8d. The overseers paid to the

county-rate £31 7s. 8d.

Being a member of the great lordship of Barnard

Castle, Whorlton passed with it to the successive noble

families enumerated in the history of that place, till the

attainder of the Earl of Westmoreland in 1569. In the

reign of James I., it was comprised in the grant to the

citizens of London, in trust for sale ; and the principal

part of it was purchased from the trustees by Taylor

and Lee, who sold it to Ambrose Johnson. This family

* Some years ago, the Earl of Darlington summoned Archdeacon

Headlam, and Robert Dinsdale and Thomas Harrison, Esqrs., to do

suit and service to the honour of Barnard Castle, in the prosecution

of which claim he caused certain inclosurcs belonging to the Arch-
deacon and Mr. Harrison to be broken do\vn. The latter, however,

recovered damages from the duke in a cause tried at Durham.

continued to hold the estate till 1725, when it was pur-

chased by Robert Sanderson, Esq. ; and it afterwards

passed by marriage to the Milburns, of Armathwaite

Castle, Cumberland. In 1819, on the sale of the

property in ^V^horlton belonging to R. S. Milburne,

Esq., Thomas Harrison, Esq., of Stubb House, be-

came the purchaser of the manor of Whorlton, and of

JVliorley Hill, a farmstead and cottages, occupying

79 A. 3 R. 18 p. Mr. Harrison was also owner of

Etherley and other property in the chapelry, which now
belong to P. H. Stanton, Esq., of Newcastle-upon-

Tyne. Arlaw Banks is the property of Mr. Christopher

Lonsdale. An estate, anciently belonging to the

WyclifFcs, was afterwards held by the Bacons of Newton

Cap, and is now the property of Morley Headlam, Esq.,

son of the late Ven. Archdeacon Headlam.* The town

pasture was divided in 1677.

On February 4, 1851, the luclosure Commissioners

for England and Wales gave notice that the Ven. John

Archdeacon Headlam had applied for £1,200 by way

of loan for the drainage of lands in the parish of Gain-

ford and township of Whorlton.

The village of Whorlton is situated 3 miles east-south-

east from Barnard Castle, and contains an endowed

school, attended by about 60 children, two public-

houses, and a few mechanics. Several of the houses

bear dates of the early parts of the last century. A row of

stone cottages, with flagged roofs, and small gardens in

front, were erected on the east side of the road through

the village, by the late Archdeacon Headlam, about 20

years ago.f A chapel belonging to the Independents

was erected near the church in 1840 ; the ministry is

t AiiisTocKATic SwiNDLKHs.—In September, 1851, Whorlton be-

came the residence of a gentleman and lady, bearing the names of

William O'Brien Fitzgerald, Esq., and the Hon. Lady Emily Angusta

Fitzgerald. On the 9th of April, 18.32, they were brought up in cus-

tody before the ^'en. Archdeacon Headlam, at WyclyfTe, charged

with having obtained £40 from Mr. Wm. Henry Payn, solicitor, at
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conducted by Mr. Ferdinand Raine, who attends every

Sunday. The village is well supplied with water.

The situation of Whorlton is extremely beautiful ;

the Tees, with its overhanging cliffs, thicily fringed

DoTer, in the county of Kent, under false pretences. It appeared,

from the statements and deposition of Mr. PajTi, that in the month of

September last he was sent for by the prisoners (who were then incar-

cerated in a prison at Pau, in France), to defend them against some

charges brought against them of defrauding the tradesmen there to a

great extent, by appearing as, and representing themselves to be

English aristocrats, and living in splendid style n'ithout paying their

accounts. On Mr. Payn's arrival at Pau, he found the prisoners had

been tried and sentenced to 12 months' imprisonment five days pre-

viously ; but he obtained an appeal to a superior court, and it was

ultimately decided that if the prisoners discharged the accounts of

the tradesmen, and foiind bail for their appearance on a future day

to answer any further charges which might be preferred against them,

they were to be liberated. From the plausible statements made by

the prisoners to Mr. PavTi, backed by false names in their passports,

a false entry from a marriage register in Yorkshire, and an affection-

ate letter from the Queen of the French, obtained by trickery, he was

induced to advance money to discharge the debts incurred by the

prisoners, and deposit a sum by way of bail, amounting together to

between £700 and £800, and they were thereupon liberated. The

prisoners then came to England •n-ith Mr. Payn, and on their arrival

at Dover, pretended to him that they were entitled to a sum of

£3,000, which was in the hands of their agent, Mr. Henry Foster, an

Irish barrister, residing at Furnival's Inn, London ; that this sum was

due to them in the month of November then last past, and as they

were then without funds whereT\"ith to convey them home to Durham,

they requested Mr. Payn to advance them £40, to be repaid with the

other sums he had laid down for them out of the £3,000 to be received

from Mr. Henry Foster. They also represented themselves to be of

noble birth, and that the female prisoner was the Hon. Lady Emily

Augusta Fitzgerald, daughter of Lady Ann Isabella Howard

;

that the said Lady Emily was the widow of Count Eltz, an Hun-

garian nobleman, who died eleven years after their marriage, and

during part of which period the Countess Eltz resided at Florence,

where the count was commandant at the time ofthe revolution ; that

the Lady Emily was entitled to large estates as the widow of the

count, and to money lent by him to Lord Normanby ; and that

the papers were with their agent, Mr. H. Foster; that the Lady

Emily was at the present time under the displeasure of her mother

for marrv-ing her present husband, who was only a private gentleman;

and that the Lady Emily was rel.ited to the family of the Duke of

Cleveland, had resided at Raby Castle in her youth, and was also

related to Lord Carlisle's family, resident at Castle Howard, in York-

shire. From these and other similar representations, Mr. Payn

advanced them £40. He soon commenced enquiries after Mr.

Hcnrj- Foster, but finding no such person, he communicated

with his agent in Durham, who watched the whereabouts of the

prisoners, and it seems they had come to 'Whorlton very shortly after

leaving Dover. Mr. Payn having accertained their residence,

wrote several letters to Mr. Fitzgerald, at Whorlton, stating he was

unable to find Mr. Henry Foster, and requiring an explanation ; to

these letters he received evusive replies. He also advertised for Mr.

Foster in the French journals, Euid searched Dublin and Liverpool for

liim without success.

Mr. Payn's evidence was taken, wherein he deposed to the ma-

terial facts above mentioned, and stated he believed the representa-

tions of the prisoners to be false, and that, in fact, there was no such

person as the Mr. H. Foster alluded to by the prisoners. In answer

with trees, passing near it on the south. On the oppo-

site bank, the village of Wycliffe, with its church

steeple, forms a beautiful object;* and a fine range of

country extends to the south-east, south, and west, in

to the charge, the prisoners stated that Mr. Payn was not promised

to have the money from Mr. Foster, but told that he had a bond for

the money, and that it was not their faults that Mr. Foster could not

be found. Archdeacon Headlam committed the prisoners to Dover,

where the offences were stated to have occured, but consented to take

bail in £100 for their appearance, which not being produced, the pri-

soners were conveyed to the police station at Barnard Castle, from

whence they were removed to Dover, and committed for trial by the

magistrates of that place. It appeared that the gentleman had been a

wine-merchant's clerk and a broker at the Stock Exchange, named
William Bennet Bothers ; his father being a grocer at Gravesend-

He wrote articles on finance and Stock-Exchange transactions for the

papers, getting into debt, and something worse. Having had an

action of crim. con. brought against him, in "Wakefield v. Sothtrs,"

he thought it best to fly the country, and change his name, going to

Italy. For some years, his talents were employed in victimizing the

nobUity, gentry, and the trading community. Strange to say, the

legal profession were duped by him and his " Lady" Emily (the

widow or wile of an Austrian officer) with some success, until cut

short in his deep-laid artifice against Mr. Payn. In October follow-

ing, JIrs Sothers, Dienbacher, alias Lady Emily Fitzgerald, who had

been arrested some weeks before at the suit of Emily Baillie, was

discharged out of custody by Mr. Sutton of Ormond-street, London,

on her paying to his client £50 in discharge for £31.5. Mr. Sutton's

o^vn debt amounted to £750 ; and Mr. Ford, of Henrietta-street, Con-

vent-garden, held a bill for £400, drawn by Sothers and accepted by

Emily Fitzgerald de Diembacher before marriage. These debts were

stated to the grand jury. Mr. Addison was employed by " Lady

Emily'' to plead her discharge for some informality before Mr.

Justice Erie, but without effect, and she was returned to custody.

F'mding no hope left of obtaining her discharge, she tendered the

£50, which was accepted. The male prisoner was, in the interim,

transported.

• Wycliffe.—This village, the birth-place of John Wycliffe, the

great reformer of the church, and long the seat of his family, is

situated on the southern bank of the Tees, about four miles east Irom

Barnard Castle. Access is gained to the opposite bank of the river

by means of an ancient rustic ferry, or by the modem suspension

bridge at Whorlton. The village is embosomed in trees, and the

river Hows close by. The parish contains 2,162 acres ; and the

population, in 1851, was 144, consisting of an equal number of males

and females, inhabiting 24 houses. AVycliffe Hall, formerly the seat

of the local family, and now the property of their descendant. Sir C.

Constable, stands boldly on the summit of a cliff, divided by a brook

from the adjacent woods. The foundations of the church are coeval

with the Conquest, though some remains are supposed to be of earlier

date. During the succession of ages, it had suffered great dilapida-

tions, and had become almost a ruin. The tasteless repairs and

alterations which had from time to time been effected also contributed

much to detract from its venerable appearance. Tender the auspice*

of the late rector, the Yen. Archdeacon Headlam, and his son, the

Rev. Arthur Headlam, the long-needed restorations and repairs were

effected in 1853, from plans furnished by Mr. Austin, architect, of

Newcastle, and by which the chuich has resumed much of the

appearance which it originally presented. Some of the monumental

brasses, notwithstanding the neglect to which they have been ex-

posed, are in fine preservation : they are principally memorials of the
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which latter direction the now classical woods of Rokeby
and Mortham are visible.

The Bridge.—In 1829, an act of parliament was

obtained for building a bridge over the Tees at Whorl-

ton, and making a turnpike road from Staindrop to

Greta Bridge, with a branch from Whorlton to Bar-

nard Castle, and another from the south end of the

bridge to the turnpike from Winston Bridge to Small-

ways. The foundation stone of the bridge was laid on

the 9th of June in that year by Miss Headlam,

daughter of the archdeacon, amidst great rejoicings

;

but, during the flood which occurred in the night of

October 13, the structure, so far as completed, was

entirely carried away, to the ruin of the contractors.

At this juncture, the Ven. Archdeacon Headlam,

'J'horaas Harrison, Robert Dinsdale, and Thomas Whel-
don, Esqrs., undertook, at their own risk, to erect a

suspension bridge of iron, the foundation stone of the

north pier of which was laid on the 19th of August,

1830 ; and the main chains were thrown over the piers,

and safely moored into the rock on each side, on the 1st

of April, 1831. On July 7, this elegant structure,

which was erected from the designs and under the

direction of the late Mr. Green, architect, Newcastle, was

opened for public use by a procession, consisting of a

band of music, the architect, and the committee of

management, on horseback, followed by a train of twenty-

seven carriages, and a numerous assemblage of spec-

tators on horse and foot, who proceeded over the bridge,

and along the line of road to Thorpe, the seat of

Wycliffe family, and the most ancient are about 500 years old. The
church was re-opened for worship on the 8th of October, 1853, by

the Bishop of Ripon.

The life of Wycliffe forms a portion of the history of his country

and of Europe. He was bom about the year 1324, and studied at

Oxford, where he distinguished himself by his attention to his studies.

As early as 13.36, he inveighed against the authority of the Pope;

and in 1360 was active in opposing the mendicant friars. His sub-

sequent life was spent in struggling with what he conceived to be

abuses in the church, in which he was sometimes supported by the

aristocracy, and always highly popular with the people. His opposi-

tion to the claims made by the Pope made him favourably known to

many of the nobles ; whilst his doctrines were frequently subjected

to the censures of the hierarchy. Like many other bold spirits, who
have had the courage to denounce abuses, he was frequently led into

extremes of an opposite character ; but his talents and learning were

unquestionable, and he evoked a spirit of enquiry, the effects of

which are still felt, and will long continue to influence both the

speculations and the practices of mankind. He died of paralysis on

the 31st of December, 1384, at Lutterworth, of which he was rector;

and 30 years after his death, his bones, by order of the Council of Ccm-

Btance, were taken up and burnt, and the ashes thrown into a brook.

* On Saturday, June 25, 1842, four anglers (a clerical gentleman, a

shoemaker, a schoobuaster, and a boy), in order to pursue thcii- sport,

Colonel Cradock, M.P., one of the chief promoters of

the undertaking, and returned along the bridge again

to Whorlton. The span between the points of suspen-

sion is 180 feet. Some repairs being required, the

bridge was closed for a short time, and re-opened to

the public in September, 1854.

THE CHAPEL.

The old chapel was a small, ancient edifice, consisting

of a nave and chancel, divided by a round-headed arch,

without ornament, and afforded accommodation for

about 90 persons. The door-way, which opened to

the south under a low porch, was early Norman. The
building, falling into decay, was recently pulled down,
and a new chapel built upon its site at the south of

the village. It was opened in 1853, the ceremony of

consecration being performed by the bishop of Cape
Town. It is an elegant stone building, in the decorated

style of architecture, and consists of a nave and chancel,

with an open roof of oak, stained and varnished. The
chancel is floored with Minton's encaustic tiles, and the

portion of the nave occupied as sittings is floored with

wood. The seats are oak, stained and varnished, and
all open, capable of accommodating about 150 persons.

The chapel is entered by a porch on the south, and at

the south-west corner an octagonal turret or spire, about

50 feet high, forms a belfry. The roof is of high pitch,

covered with Westmoreland slate. There is a large

window at the west end, divided into four compart-

went on to a small island in the middle of the Tees, a short distance

from AVhorlton. The island is easy of access when the water
is low, but unapproachable when the contrary is the case. They had
not been long on the island when it began to rain, and they were glad

to seek shelter among the bushes. But while they were in tliis situa-

tion, a great body of water came rolling down the river, owing to

there having been a great fall of rain further westward. The poor
fishers leaped up in astonishment, and to their infinite mortification,

not to say dismay, found that the tiny stream which before had
scarcely wet their feet, had now become an impetuous flood, seven

feet deep, precluding every possibility of escape. To add to their

disaster, the rain now fell in torrents. In the evening, their situation

was descried by some neighbours, who, by means of ropes, convcved
to them refreshments and materials for making a fire, which some-
what cheered them through the long and dreary night that ensued.

When morning came (being Sunday), a large crowd of people were
collected on the opposite bank, to view the forlorn islanders. In the

evening, however, the flood abated, and they were enabled to quit the

place of their captivity. The clerical gentleman, who was a tall man,
waded through, with the boy on his shoulders ; and the others were
pulled through the still deep and rapid stream by a rope. One of

the spectators, to show his agility, went along the provision rope to

the island; but. on his retui-iiiug, the rope broke, aixd he uaiiowly
escaped drowning.
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ments, with trefoil openings crowned with rich tracery,

and in the gable is a small circular window. That at

the east end is of three compartments, and similar in

other respects to the west window. Of the same cha-

racter are three windows on the north side, two on the

south, and two in the chancel. The east and west ends

of the building are surmounted by crosses. The

pulpit is of stone, of neat construction. There is a

stone baptismal font, lined with lead ; and near to it is

a stove, by which the church is warmed. The building

is surrounded by a well-laid drain of earthenware pipes.

The stone for the church was procured 'within a few

hundred yards of the place. The erection of the edifice

cost £600, which was raised by public subscription, a

rate of 2s. in the pound on a rental of £1,800,* and a

grant from the Church Building Society. The bury-

ing ground remains unaltered.

Registers.—Book No. 1 contains baptisms from

1626 to 172-1; burials, 1678, 1688, to 1725; and mar-

riages from 171.3 to 1725 (imperfect). No. 2, baptisms

from 1725 to 1797; burials, 1724 to 1797; and

marriages, 1727 to 1753. No. 3, baptisms and burials,

1798 to 1812; No. 4, marriages, 1754 to 1812.

Whorlton is a perpetual curacy ; the vicar of Gain-

ford, patron. Cert, val., £12 10s. Dedication to St.

Mary.

Curates.—Henry Armitage, 1636; John Moresby, ("a laic, cele-

brator of clandestine marriages, and guilty of other misdemeanors"),

1677 ; William Brockell (curate of Wycliffe), September 29, 1716, p.

susp. Moresby ;
— Grey (" a vagabond Scot"), Christmas-day, 1724,

p. exp. BrockcU, who "was unjustly and violently ejected from the

same cure, and from his stipend of fourteen pounds, by James Mailed,

Gallo perfido et projligato, on the instigation of T. E. (Thomas Eden),

rector of Winston ; — Parkins ; Peter Fisher (vicar of Staindrop,

&c.) ; James Farrer (vicar of Brignall, Yorkshire, not licensed to

yVTiorlton) ; Philip Airey, 1757, p. exp. Farrer ; Richard AVilson

(perp. curate of Bowes), 1793, on presentation of Thomas Harrison,

Esq. ; Robert Green, A.M. (curate of All Saints, Newcastle), 1822

;

James Potts, 1827, p. res. Green; John George Edwards, A.M., 1849,

p. m. Potts ; Arthur HeaJlam, 1854, p. res. Edwards for the vicarage

of Pittington.

The parsonage house has long been unfit for resi-

dence. In 1767, Whorlton received £200 by lot from

Queen Anne's Bounty. In 1771, the Rev. John Ro-

therham contributed £200 ; in 1795, £200 was given

by the trustees of Mr. Marshall (a great benefactor to

the Bounty fund) ; and in 1800, £200 was given by

Bishop Barrington. Each of these donations was met

* The Ven. Archdeacon Headlam, and P. H. Stanton, Esq., of

Newcastle, paid this rate for their tenantry, in aid of the building

fund.

by one of similar amount from Queen Anne's Bounty

;

and with the proceeds various parcels of land in the

chapelry, containing altogether 59 A. 2 r., were pur-

chased as glebe, in addition to the cemetery, containing

half an acre. The corn-tithes were formerly paid to

the representatives of the late Earl of Strathmore; a

modus of 6s. 8d. was paid to the curate for hay from

the estates of Sledwish, Aidaw Bank, and Humbleton

;

and the hay-tithe of the remainder of the township was

paid to the late Archdeacon Headlam. The cura.te

received all other tithes in kind. In 1850, all the

tithes were commuted for £257 per annum, viz., to the

incumbent curate, £75 ; to Archdeacon Headlam, £37

;

and to William Hutt, Esq., and his wife, the dowager

Countess of Strathmore, lessees of the Master, Fellows,

and Scholars of Trinity College, Cambridge, £145.

The latter sum is now collected by B. Simpson, Esq.,

solicitor, Richmond, as agent for the college. The

gross income of the living is stated at £113 per annum,

subject to permanent payments amounting to £6.

CHARITIES.

Lonsdale's Charity.—Christopher Lonsdale, by will,

dated March 11, 1747, bequeathed £20 to Thomas and

Richard Holmes, to be put out at interest by them and

the survivor, the heirs, executors, and administrators of

such survivor, and the interest to be paid yearly to the

use of the poor of Whorlton on Christmas-eve. By an

award, May 13, 1793, Cornelius Harrison, Esq., of

Stubb House, was adjudged liable to the payment of

this interest, as being the legal representative of T. and

R. Holmes ; and he consequently, until his death in

1806, paid 16s. a year to the curate for distribution, or

distributed it himself. His sister also, who was his

executrix, continued the same practice until her death

in 1810. Thomas Harrison, Esq., who succeeded to

his father's property, and P. H. Stanton, Esq., the

present owner, have also kept up the payment.

Donor unknoion.—About half an acre of land in the

township is supposed to have been left many years ago,

the rents to be given to the oldest poor inhabitant not

receiving relief. This land produced £1 per annum ;

but money being wanted to rebuild the village school-

house, the land was sold, and the money laid out upon

the school, on account of which the master pays £1

annually to the oldest poor inhabitant. The school is

attended by about 60 boys and girls, who are instructed

on the national system. A clock, presented by Mr.

Dove, of Greta Bridge, is fixed above the entrance.
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Sledwish.—About half a mile to the west of Whorl-

ton stands Sledwish Hall, now occupied as a farm-house.

It is one of those ancient and venerable dwellings which

are stiU to be found in isolated and lonely places,

scarcely reached by the revolutionary hand of modern

improvement, but bearing in its grey old age the me-

morials of former splendour. That portions of it were

built or restored by one of its possessors in the time of

Queen Elizabeth, is evident from an elaborately deco-

rated ceiling, in which the armorial emblems of that

sovereign are conspicuous objects ; but there are other

parts of the building which bear traces of a higher

antiquity. In the large hall there is a wide fire-place,

with an antique bracketted chimney-piece. The south

front appears to be the most ancient part of the edifice.

Like many similar remnants of former times, Sledwish

Hall has its grim traditions of mystery, concealment,

and secret passages, which received a seeming corrobo-

ration, some years ago, by the discovery of the remains

of an infant in a stone coffin in an adjoining field.

This, however, has been accounted for on the supposi-

tion that the Catholic possessors of this place, in times

of persecution, might bury their dead privately with

their own ceremonies, and that some priest of their faith

might have found a refuge in the intricacies of this

remote and secluded edifice. The hall was repaired

and restored in 1854; but many of the interior decora-

tions have been removed.

Sledwish was held from an early period by the

Menvils. Ninian Menvil, after his participation in the

plot for placing Lady Jane Grey on the throne, fled

and was outlawed, but was restored in blood and estate

on the accession of Elizabeth. Towards the latter end

of the 16th century, Sledwish passed from Ralph Ash-

ton, Esq., to John Clopton, Esq., the queen's receiver

for several of the northern counties, and who displayed

his loyalty by decorating the " orchard chamber" as

above described. From his descendant the estate

passed to the Townleys, of Lancashire, from whom it

was purchased, in 16-12, by Sir John Clavering, of

Callaly, Northumberland, for £2,370. After belonging

to the Withams, of Cliff, it was bequeathed by Thomas

Breaks, of London, Gent., to his nephew, Charles

Allen, surgeon, of Greenwich Hospital, whose daughter

intermarried with James Poole, Esq., of Gray's Inn

;

and Sledwish is now the property of their son,

Edward Poole, Esq., barrister-at-law, of Ledbury,

Herefordshire.

Stubh House, to the east of Whorlton, is a handsome

residence, occupied by Richard Dodgson, Esq. The

estate, which is partly in the parish of Winston, was

derived from the Holmses by Cornelius Harrison, Esq.,

whose son, Thomas Harrison, Esq., bequeathed it to

P. H. Stanton, Esq., of Newcastle-upon-Tyne, the

present proprietor.

PAEISH OF WINSTON.

THE parish of Winston is bounded on the west by the chapelry of Whorlton, on the north and east by the

parish of Gainford (the Langley Beck forming the boundary), and on the south by the Tees. It forms one

township, including the villages of Winston and Newsham, the estates of Heighley (or HeighclifFe) Hall, Osmond-

croft, Barford-on-the-Hill, and Westholme, and part of that of Stubb House.

The parish and township of Winston contains 2,961

acres ; and the property in it was assessed to the county-

rate in 1853 for £2,679 lis. lid. The population,

in 1801, was 307; in 1811,281; inl821,287; in 1831,

327; in 1841,293; and in 1851, 301, of whom 155

were males and 146 females. There were, at the latter

date, 55 inhabited houses and 5 uninhabited.

The contributions of the parish of Winston to the

Teesdalc Union, in the year ended March, 1854,

were as follow :—For in-maintainance, clothing, and

funerals, £26 Us. Id.; for out-relief and lunatics, £34

16s. 6d. ; irremoveable poor, salaries, and other

common charges, £57 4s. Us.; for constable and

costs before magistrates, &c., 17s. ; for law costs,

revising barrister, and jury lists, 10s. 6d. ; and for jour-

neys, salaries of assistant overseers, incidental expenses,

&c., £1 15s. 3d. ; making a totol expenditure of £121

15s. 3d. The repayments of relief by relations and

other receipts amounted to 10s. ; and the balance ex-

ceeded the net expenditure of the previous year by £42

7s. Id. The registration cost £1 3s. 2d. ; and the

overseers paid £45 19s. 3d. to the county-rate.

Thank you for purchasing from Ebay Shop Retromedia

http://stores.shop.ebay.co.uk/retromedia


VZi DARLINGTON WARD—SOUTH-WEST DR' ISION.

The village of "Winston stands on the ridge of a hill

overlooking the Tees, and contains a public house, and

a few masons, wrights, small shopkeepers, &c. The
village is well supplied with water. Besides the en-

dowed school (see Charities) there is a dame-school

in the village.

IJ'ins/on Bridge.—In 1424, Ralph Neville, Earl of

Westmoreland, by will, dated at Raby, October 18, be-

queathed 100 marks towards building abridge at Wyn-
ston. There is, however, no record of the erection of

such a fabric, though the necessity of having a passage

across the Tees at this place must even then have been

apparent. " Before the building of Winston Bridge,"

says Bailey, " towards the latter end of the eighteenth

century, the coal carriers from the North Riding of

Yorkshire, when coming into the county of Durham,

always provided themselves with axes, in order to be

prepared to render the roads passable by mending them

after the primitive fashion now pursued on the corduroy

roads in the backwoods of America." The present

bridge was built in 1763 and 1764, from a plan designed

by Sir Thomas Robinson, Bart., of Rokeby. It con-

sists of a single arch, the segment of a circle, measur-

ing 112 feet span, 22 feet broad, and 20 feet between

the parapet walls. It was long considered by architects

the largest arch in Europe. The elevation renders the

road nearly level with the Yorkshire side. The ma-

terial is a hard blue ragstone. When most of the

bridges in the north of England were washed away by

the great flood in 1771, Winston bridge remained un-

injured. The river scenery in the locality is extremely

beautifid.

The manor of Winston was anciently a part of the

estates of the Fitz-ileldreds of Raby, and was granted,

in 1313, by Ralph Lord Neville to Geoffrey le Scrope.

of Masham, chief justice of the King's Bench. On the

execution of Henry Scrope for treason against King

Henry V., the estate was considered a forfeiture to the

see ; but being entailed, it was restored by Bishop

Neville to John, brother of Henry Scrope, and con-

tinued in the family till the death of Emanuel, Earl of

Sunderland, whose estates were inherited by three

natural daughters. By marriage with one of these,

* Eahlof BaiDGEWATEB.—With this nobleman, a descendant ofthe

Duke named in the text, the title of Bridgewater became e.xtinct. By
his will, his lordship bequeathed his manuscripts to the British

Museum, with the interest of £7,000 to the librarians in whose charge

they were placed, and £5,000 to augment the collection of manuscripts

of that institution. He also left £8,000 to the President of the Royal

Society, for some person or persons whom he might appoint, to write,

print, publish, and expose to public sale one thousand copies of a

Winston came into the possession of Scrope Egerton,

first Duke of Bridgewater, in whose posterity it conti-

nued till the death of John, seventh Earl of Bridge-

water, on which event his brother, the Hon. and

Rev. Francis Henry Egerton, succeeded to the title

as eighth Earl of Bridgewater.* John, dying without

issue in 1823, devised his freehold estates in trust, to

convey them to Lord Alford, his great nephew, with a

proviso that if the latter died without having acquired

the dignity of Duke of Bridgewater, then the estates

should go over to other persons. Lord Alford died,

leaving a son, but without having acquired the stipu-

lated dignity; and the House of Lords, in 1853, held

that the condition as to acquiring the dignity was void,

being against public policy, and that the estates de-

scended to the son of Lord Alford.

THE CHURCH.

Winston church is situated to the east of the village,

on the summit of the lofty and picturesque banks of the

Tees, which are here beautifully interspersed with over-

hanging wood. The edifice is of a peculiar architecttural

character, of the early pointed transitional stj'le. It

consists of a chancel, nave, and south aisle ; the latter

formed by four pointed arches, supported on cylindrical

columns, with somewhat peculiar square plinths. It is

entered by a projecting porch on the south. The nave

is lighted by treble windows at the west, and long

narrow single windows on the north ; and the aisle by

low double windows to the south. The chancel is

lighted by treble windows at the east, and very narrow

windows in the sides. "WTien the Rev, AV. Turner

entered upon bis duties as rector in 1846, he found the

building in a most dilapidated state, and commenced

the repairing of the chancel, with the assistance of Mr.

Thompson, the bishop's architect ; and it is a matter of

regret that the roof, though neat, should not have

been restored in harmony with the building. The

restoration of the body of the church was soon after-

wards undertaken, and a considerable portion of the

edifice rebuilt, including an open timber roof, and an

octagonal bell-tower and spire at the south-west angle

work " On the Power, Wisdom, and Goodness of God, as manifested

in the Creation ;" and the productions resulting from this muniicent

bequest are popularly known as the Bridgewater Treatises. The

Right Hon. and Rev. Francis Henry Egerton, eighth Earl of Bridge-

water, was a son of John Egerton, Lord Bishop of Durham ; and at

the period of his decease, he w.is a prebendary of the fourth stall of

Durham Cathedral. See vol. i., page 255, where a brief memoir of his

lordship is given.
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of the building, which forms a marked feature in the

landscape when viewed from the Yorkshire side of the

river. The present rector, the Rev. W. Webb, com-

pleted the interior fittings, new pulpit, open seats, &c.

The old baptismal font, curiously sculptured with

dragons in combat, festoons of roses, &c., remains; but

the royal arms, painted above the chancel, dated 1661,

have been removed. The whole of the restorations of

the body of the church have been executed in harmony

and strict historical accuracy with the date of the

original building, for which we are indebted to the

taste and judgment of the architect, Mr. Dobson, of

Newcastle ; and the sacred edifice, which contains

sittings for about 170 persons, is now in a most perfect

state, presenting an admirable model of a country

church.

Registers.—Books Nos. 1 and 2 contain entries of

baptisms from 1572 to 1644, and 1646 to 1812; burials

from 1573 to 1812; and marriages from 1572 to 1753.

No. 3 contains marriages from 1754 to 1812.*

Winston rectory is in the deanery of Darlington ; the

Bishop of Durham, patron. King's books, £9 18s. 1 ^d.

;

Tenths, 19s. 9|d. ; Episc. proc, 7s. ; Archid. proc, 2s.

;

Synod, and proc, 2s. Dedication to St. Andrew.

Rectors.—Kicardus, 12o4 ; Robert de IngUby, 1371 ; Robert de

Subblesdon, 1376, p. m. IngUby; Robert de Conton, 1379, p. res.

Subblesdon; John Gudhogh, 1391; "William Marshall, 1406, p. res.

(ludhogh ; William Slegall, 1406, p. res. Marshall for Boldon ; John

Ilunteman, S.T.P. (vicar of Norton and dean of Lanchestor), 1409,

p. res. Slegall ; Robert Steele, p. res. Hunteman ; Richard Burgh,

1420, p. res. Steele; Lancelot Claxton (dean of Lanchester

and master of Sherbum Hospital), 1458 ; Thomas Yakesley, 1496,

p. res. Claxton ; Christopher Hobson, 1511, p. m. Yakesley ; Thomas
Chambre, 15i3, p. m. Ilobson ; Anthony Salvayn (successively

rector of Rj-ton and Sedgefield, and prebendary of the 12th stall),

p.m. Chambre; Richard Farrowe, 1559, p. res. Salvayn; Edward
Bankcs, A.M., 1570, p. m. Farrowe; Richard Revington, 1572,

p. res. Bankes for Washington ; Henry Ewbank, A.M. (sometime

rector of Wolsingham), 1588, p. m. Revington ; Daniel Birkhead,

S.T.P. (also rector of Egglpscliffe, successively preb. of the 6[h and
10th stalls), 1620, p. res. Ewbank for Whickhara ; Thomas Jackson,

S.T.P. (see vol. i., p. 618), 1625, p. m. Birkhead ; Richard Thursby,

A.M. (previously vicar of Kelloe), 1631, p. res, Jackson; Cuthbert

Marley, A.M., 1662; Peter Lancaster, A.M., 1672; Sir George
Wheler, Knt., S.T.P. (see vol. i., p. 254), 1706, p. m. Lancaster

;

Thomas Eden, LL.D. (fourth son of Sir Robert Eden, Bart., preb. of

the 9th and then of the 7th stall, rector of Brancepeth), 1709, p. res.

Wheler; Jolm Emerson, A.M., 1754, p. m. Eden; Hon. Richard

* "Die Sabb. 1 Jan. 1583, Office against William Bernard, he is

presented to be an usurer." " 19 Oct. 1583, sentence that William
Bernard shall do penance in his parish church of Winston on the

Lord's Day next ensuing, in the usual dress, and shall there publicly

read the fifteenth Psalm, Dumlne, quis habitabit, &c., and shall give
up a bill for three pounds to Robert Appleby to be cancelled."

VOL. II.

Byron, A.M. (also rector of Ryton), 1774, p. ra. Emerson; Thomas
Burgess, D.D. (preb. of the 2nd stall, afterwards successively Bishop

of St. David's and of Salisbury), 1795, p. res. Byron for Haughton-
le-Skerne; Frederick Mundy, A.M., 1804, p. res. Burgess ; WiUiam
Turner, 1846, p. m. Mundy ; William Webb, A.M., 1848, p. res.

Turner.

The rectory house stands a little towards the east of

the church, and is a neat and commodious building,

with beautifully arranged hanging gardens towards the

river, commanding one of the richest and softest i-iews

on the Tees.f Contiguous is the church-yard, which is

gracefully shaded by a number of fine old trees, beneath

whose branches a noble prospect of Raby opens to the

north.

The rector receives the rectorial tithes of Westwick,

in the parochial chapelry of Barnard Castle. The
vicar of Gainford is entitled to the great tithes of Prim-

rose Hill or AVinston Demesnes ; the rector of Winston

holding the vicarial tithes. The income is £557 per

annum.

CHARITIES.

School.—Lord Crewe's executors entrusted to the

Rev. Thomas Eden, rector of Winston, the sum of £70,

to be laid out in land for the use of a school in the

parish, in which the master should teach as many poor

children, at 8s. a year each, as the rent would maintain ;

the boys to be nominated by the rector for the time

being. The Rev. T. Eden bequeathed this sum to Sir

Robert Eden and his heirs, to carry out the required

objects. The money wa^ for some time in the hands of

Sir William Eden, Bart., of Windlcstone, and who
allowed five per cent, interest for it. Ou his declining

to do so, the principal was placed in the hands of the

Rev. AV. Webb, rector, by whom it was deposited in

the bank of Messrs. Backhouse and Co., Darlington, at

the ordinary rate of interest. The Countess of Bridge-

water invested £304 lis. 4d. in the three per cent,

consols, the interest of which, with that of the £70

above-named is paid to the schoolmaster, who, in con-

sideration thereof, instructs twelve children (boys and

girlsj free, in reading, writing, and arithmetic. The
average attendance at the school is about 30. The
school-house, an excellent stone building, was erected

at the expense of the late Lord Alford.

" 1632. Richard Sowerby, of Newsham, ordered to do publique

penance for adultery, and to pay 40s. to the poor."

t From the beautiful situation of the church and parsonage, it has

been said that a rector of Winston should never ofl'er to a lady who
had seen this enchanted spot, as he could never be sure that she did

not marry the situatiou.

S
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Newsham is a little village, 2j miles south from

Staindrop. Neioshatn Hall, formerly the property and

residence of the late Robert Moses Dinsdale, Esq., is

now occupied by Miss Moses. Newsham anciently

gave name to a local family, from whom it passed to

the Boweses; after whom, the Headlams of Stainton

were proprietors. Ralph Bowes, Esq., of Barnes,

having acquired the estate by marriage with the heiress

of Headlam, sold it, in 1591, to Francis Bunny, rector

of Ryton. The Douthwaites of Westholme, in 1692,

acquired Little Newsham from the Bunnys, and in

1717 sold it to the Bacons of Newton Cap. The ances-

tors of the present owner of Newsham Hall acquired

other portions of the estate, which became much
divided. The present proprietors in Newsham are

Miss Moses, and Captain Bacon Grey, of Styford,

Northumberland. Walker Hall, to the south of News-
ham, is the property and residence of John Bourne, Esq.

Barford-on-the-Moor, or Barford-on-the-Hill, is an

estate on the north-western verge of the parish ; a part

of it was given to the chiuxh of Durham by the Fitz-

Meldreds of Raby, and is now held by lease from the

dean and chapter. The lordship of Barford was held

by the family of Bowes, and afterwards by the Huttons.

Lord Rokeby and G. M. Taswell, Esq., are now the

principal proprietors.

Westholme is another estate formerly belonging to

the Boweses, from whom it passed to the Douthwaites,

44th Elizabeth. The daughter of the last heir male of

the family, Bernard Douthwaite,* married Jonathan

* The deaths of the father and son of this sole surviror of the

name are recorded on a flat stone in the nave of the church, bearing

the following inscription:—"Here was buried yo body of John
Dowthwaite of Westholme, Gen. who dyed Septl" ICth 1680, aged 80

Newton, of Barnard Castle, who sold the estate to the

Bacons of Newton Cap. It is now the property of

Captain Bacon Grey. The mansion-house, erected by

the Douthwaites in 1607, consists of a centre and two

gavelled wings, with mullioned windows. It is at pre-

sent a farm house, in the occupation of Mr. J. C.

Wetherilt.

Osmondcroft.— Robert Fitz-Meldred granted Os-

mondcroft to the church of Durham, under which it

was afterwards held by the Boweses. In 1564, it was

purchased by Thomas Myddleton, Esq., of Barnard

Castle, who resold it in 1571 to Henry Brackenbury.

After passing through several intermediate proprietors,

it came into the possession of the late Lady Peat, and is

now the property of John Leadbitter Smith, Esq. The
exterior of the old mansion-house has been somewhat

modernized ; it is now used as a farm house.

Heighley (or Heighcliffe) Hall was a possession

and residence of the Scropes, situated to the south-

west of Winston. It was an antique mansion, with

pointed and mullioned windows, capable of admitting

but a dim light into the interior, in which a huge fire-

place was one of the most conspicuous features. This

house, and the last remains of a chapel or hermitage,

which once stood near a neighbouring wood, were

removed a few years ago.

Primrose Hill is a farmhold forming a part of the

Winston demesnes, and adjoins the parish of Gainford ; I

it was the property of the Earl of Bridgewater, and I

now belongs to the representatives of Lord Alford.

years.—Here lyeth ye body of John Dowthwaite his grandson who
died lune ye llf" 1707, aged 23 years son of Bernard Dowthwaite of

Westholme Gent now liveing the last heir male of ye familye owne"
of Westholme above 200 years." I
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PAEISH OF GAINFOED.

The once extensive parish of Gainford anciently included the chapelries of Barnard Castle, Whorlton, and

Denton, and occupied (with the exception of the intervening parish of Winston) about 18 miles of the north bank

of the Tees, between Piercebridge on the south-east and High Shipley on the north-west. Exclusive of the

above chapelries, it is bounded by the parish of Winston on the west, by the parish of Staindrop (and chapclry

of Ingleton) on the north-west, by the chapelry of St. Helen's Auckland on the north, by the chapelry of Denton
and the parish of Coniscliffe on the east, and by the Tees (separating it from the parishes of Manfield and Gilling,

in the North Riding of Yorkshire) on the south and south-west. The parish of Gainford, as at present consti-

tuted, includes the following townships or constableries :—1, Gainford, including Selaby; 2, Langton ; 3, Head-

lam ; 4, part of Cleatlam ; 5, INIorton-Tynemouth ; 6, Bolam ; 7, Summerhouse ; and, 8, Piercebridge. The two

latter, though in the parish of Gainford, are in the south-east division of Darlington Ward, and attached to the

Darlington Union.

GAINFORD.

The township of Gainford comprises an area of 2,274

acres. The population, in 1801, was 445; in 1811,

431; in 1821, 500; in 1831, 524; in 1841, 585; and

in 1851, 669, of whom 349 were males and 320 females.

There were, at that date, 142 inhabited houses, 8 un-

inhabited, and 4 building. The value of property

assessed to the county-rate in 1853 was £3,785 15s.

This township, during the year ended March, 1854,

contributed to the Teesdale Union £6 10s. Id. for in-

maintenance, clothing, and funerals; £64 10s. for out-

relief and lunatics; £37 15s. for irremoveable poor,

salaries, and other common charges; £1 10s. for

constable and costs before magistrates, &c. ; £1 Is. for

law costs, revising barrister, and jury lists ; and £6
12s. 9d. for journeys, salaries of assistant overseers,

incidental expenses, «&c. Towards the total expendi-

ture, £117 18s. lOd., there were repayments of relief

by relations and other receipts amounting to £3. The
vaccination fees were 9s. 6d., the registration £1 19s.

6d., and the county-rate paid by the overseers £62
15s. lOd. The net expenditure of the preceding year

was £90 14s. 2d.

The earliest historical notice of Gainford* occurs in

Simeon of Durham's narrative, in which it is stated

that Eda, or Edwine, a Northumbrian chief, who had

Originally written Giganford from the Saxon gegan, to go, and a

ford which crossed the Tees there, the remains of which are still

visible. The name has also been written Geagenforda, Gegainford,

Geineforde, Geneford, Gineford, Gayntford, Gaynesford, Gayncford,

Gaineford. Geynford, Gainesford, Genford, Gainforthe, Geinford,

Gaynl'orde, and Gayiiford.

t Mr. Brown, in a recent lecture at the Mechanics' Institution,

exchanged his helmet for a cowl, was, on his death in

801, buried in the monastery of Gegenforda. The
same authority states that Ecgred (Bishop of Lindis-

farne 821-845) "gave the church and vill which he

had built on the spot which is called Geinforde, with

whatever belonged to it from Tees to Wear, to the holy

confessor, St. Cuthbert." The appurtenances extended

from Deorstreet (Watling Street) on the east to a cer-

tain mountain on the west, and also included lands on

the south side of the Tees, three miles towards the

south and six to the west, with the two vills of Ilecliff

and Wigecliff which he had built, and Billingham in

Hartness. Camden mentions the occupation of these

parts by the Danes.f Gainford was one of the places

which Bishop Aldune mortgaged to the Earls of

Northumberland, and were never restored to the see.

It appears probable that the lordship of Gainford

had been seized by the Norman Conqueror from a

descendant of the earls, as it continued to be indepen-

dent of the see of Durham. William II., as has been

seen (page 4), granted it and its dependencies to Guy
Baliol. In 1293, Agnes de Valencia, widow of Hugh
Baliol, held Gainford in dower, and had gallows and

infangenetheof, or the privilege of judging thieves

taken within her liberty, the chattels of felons convicted

in her court, and free warren in all her lands. The
subsequent history of Gainford, till the attainder of the

Gainford, observes, in reference to the valley of the Tees, near

Hainard Castle, " The very name of her hills and valleys are inspir-

ation to the antiquary, and carry the mind back to the times when
in Thorsgill, Wodcncroft, Frigasgill, or Fragill, and Baldersdalc, the

deities of our forefathers received their wonted homage, and when on
Baal-hill, near Barnard Castle, the ancient inhabitants llglited their

fires to the Phceuician god."
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Earl of Westmoreland in 1569, is identical with that of

Barnard Castle, already given.

The lands in this township were granted and distri-

buted in comparatively small freeholds. In 1686, the

freeholders were, Sir Richard Sandford, Bart., of

Howgill, Westmoreland; Richard Cradocke, Esq., of

London ; Thomas Cradocke, Esq., counsellor-at-law,

Durham; Gilbert Marshall, Esq., of Selaby; Cuthbert

Rayne, Gent. ; Henry Eden, Robert Stoddart, John

Burrell, John Rayne, Francis Blakiston, and Richard

Swainston. The possessions of the Cradocks, with

some augmentations, are still held by their descendant,

Capt. Christopher Cradock, of Hartforth Hall, York-

shire. The house belonging to the Edens still bears

the inscription, " [16 "IE" 96]." The representative

of the Swainstons is John Swainston Goodger, Esq.,

solicitor. The principal proprietors in the township at

present are, the Duke of Cleveland; John Bowes,

Esq. ; Capt. Cradock ; William Surtees Raine, Esq.

;

Thomas Smurthwaite, Esq., of Holme House; the re-

presentatives of the late John Chapman; William

Bowman ; Mrs. Capt. Goodger ; and Mrs. Graham.

The manorial rights of Gainford were purchased

from the crown, about the year 1634, by Sir Henry
Vane the elder, and are now possessed by the Duke of

Cleveland.

The village of Gainford stands nearly equidistant

between Darlington and Barnard Castle, or 9 miles

from each, and 4 south-east from Staindrop. It occu-

pies the undulating brow of a hill which slopes gently

• John Cade.—This indusnious collector and antiquary chose

Gainford as a place of residence aftur his retirement from business.

He was born at Darlington in January, 1734, of humble but respect-

able parents, and received the rudiments of his education at the

grammar-school of his native town. From school he was sent to the

warehouse of a wholesale linen draper in I,ondon, where he rose, by
honest industry, from the lowest to the highest station, and obtained

a share in a branch of the concern at Dublin. Having realized a

small but competent fortune (it has been saidby successful smuggling),

he retired, about 1775, to Durham, from whence he removed to

Gainford, where he devoted the subsequent part of his life, except a

few of his last years, to antiquarian researches. These were prin-

cipally of a topographical character, and were directed to the un-

defined traces of roads and fortifications, in examining which it was
his peculiarity to attribute every thing to the Romans. He traced a

Roman road from the m-'Uth of the Tees along the coast to Shields,

and another from near Neasham by Great Stainton, Mainsforth, and

Old Durham, to Chester-le-Street and Gateshead; "but every hill,

natural or artificial, mound or earthwork near his line of march, was

to b^' Roman. The moated house of Bellasis, the mount at Eishopton,

and the natural sand-hills at Mainsforth and Acley-heads were all

declared stations." Hutchinson, as Surtees observes, " took a pleasure

in ruining poor Jack Cade's castles, and breaking up his loads j" and

the difference in the opinions of these two antiquaries on tliis subject

was the cause of some Ul feeling. Cade's communications on Roman

to the Tees, on the opposite side of which the bank

rises abruptly, and is overhung with scattered trees and

clumps of brushwood. In the western part of the

village is one of those open spaces or greens, so charac-

teristic of this part of the county, and which, while

adding much to the general comfort and salubrity of

their respective localities, afford suitable rendezvous for

the sports of childhood, the recreations of youth, and

the relaxations of old age. The subject is thus alluded

to by Sir Walter Scott :

—

" He views sweet Winston's woodland scene,

And shares the dance on Gainford green."

The pedestal of what appears to have been a market

cross, removed from the middle of the green by Vicar

Cranke, now lies near the church-yard gate. Around

the green the principal houses of the village have been

erected ; and a range of respectable dwellings extends

along the brow of the hill towards the east. The aspect

of the place is considered more that of a minor watering

place than of a retired village, and the adjacent scenery

is very beautiful. " There is here," says Mr. Walbran,
" none of that utter poverty and squalid wretchedness

which too often meet the eye in the villages of the

north; and, on the whole, few places afford a more

comfortable and suitable retreat, either for those who

wish for retirement, or who are not inclined to spend

their time, or hazard their competency, in commercial

pursuits."* Seen from a distance, Gainford forms a

pleasing object in a landscape diversified and relieved

remains to Dr. Kaye, afterwards dean of Lincoln, and Mr. Gough,

are in the Archa;ologia, vols, viii., ix., x. His peculiar diffidence

and ill health prevented him from becoming a member of the Society

of Antiquaries ; but his communications to that learned body were

always received by them with respect. Much ol his attention was

also directed to what has been called Gothic architecture, the modern

innovations on which he viewed with the true eye of taste. His

passion for illustrating books is said to have been so strong as to have

led to the expansion of his copy of Dugdale's works to no less than

a hundred volumes ; and his illustrated Camden was a splendid and

magnificent exhibition. He assisted Pennant, and in 1788 com-

municated to Gough several corrections by himself and Allan for the

counties of Durham and York, in the new edition of Camden ; and in

the same year, he favoured Mr. NichoUs with " Some Conjectures on

the Formation of the Peat-Mosses in the Mountaineous Parts of the

Counties of Durham, Northumberland, Cumberland, &c., in which

other analogous Circumstances are briefly mentioned," printed in the

Gent. Mag., vol. lis. p. 967. " About sLxteen years before his death,"

says Mr. Allan, " he had a paralytic stroke, which deprived him of

the use of his legs, and he was confined to his bed ever after. During

that period, he was, nevertheless, always cheerful ; and frequently,

after dining below ivith his sister, I have enjoyed two or three hours

of sociable conversation with him, over a bottle of wine, by his bed

side. Some years before his death, I visited him, and he gave me
Drayton's Polyolbion, Harding's Chronicle, Lord Clarendon's His-
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by the winding river, with its steep wood-crowned

cliffs on the one bank, and beautiful slopes of verdure

ou the other.*

There are several springs of excellent water in the

neighbourhood, from which the village is well supplied.

About a quarter of a mile to the west, and on the bank

of the Tees, there is a sulphureous spring, resembling

in quality and sediment those of Dinsdale and Croft.

The county police have a station at Gainford, under

the Barnard Castle division ; and there is a post-ofHce

lecciving house, three inns or public houses, and a few

tradesmen and shopkeepers. The Gainford branch of

the Darlington Auxiliary Bible Society, in the year

' nding Midsummer, 1853, contributed £3 8s. 4d. on

tlie purchase account, and £2 6s. 3d. free, and distri-

buted l-t Bibles and 8 Testaments.

The railway between Darlington and Barnard Castle

passes within a few yards of Gainford, where a station

will be erected. The line crosses the Tees twice near

this place ; one of the bridges being about 300 yards to

the west, and the other about a mile further.

The village contains a respectable boarding school,

for the education of young gentlemen, conducted by

the Rev. William Bowman, and at which there are

three resident tutors. The proprietor has erected a small

gasometer for his establishment, but allows parties the

use of it at a certain rental. The parochial school will

be noticed with the Charities. There is also a girls'

school, attended by about 40 children, supported by the

subscriptions of Mrs. Macfarlan and others, and a

weekly pence from the scholars.

Literary Institute and News Room.—Gainford

Library, News Room, and Literary Institute was esta-

blished November 13, 1852. It contains upwards of

tory of the Rebellion, and Knight's Life of Erasmus. He told me he

had sent all his illustrated books on antiquities as a piesent to the son

of his early benefactor when in trade, who he said was a gentleman of

property and education. I have heard of his name ; but were I in-

clined to mention it, I must dip ray pen in gall or vinegar, or at least

in bitter black ink, for the unfeeling inelegant wretch sold them in

Mr. Cade's lifetime. After this, my friend devoted himself entirely

to reading sermons and theological tracts, of which he went through

an immense mass before his death. His conversation on this subject

could not be learned or critical ; but it was sensible, lively, and never

gloomy. I believe, indeed, no man ever waited with firmer patience

for his dissolution, or with a stronger reliance on Christianity. He
died at Gainford, December 10th, 1806, aged 72, and was buried at

Darlington." He was never married ; but a maiden sister, who resided

at his house, survived liim, and died at Darlington on the 14th of

October, 1812, when she was buried by his side in the church-yard.

A protile portrait of Cade, probably the only one ever sketched, is at

Crook Hall, the residence of the Rev. James Raine, who purchased it

at the sale of the effects of Mr. George Ashton, of Durham. It is in

crayons, by Sykes, and represents a man of great mildness of coim-

VOL. II.

500 volumes, and the news room is well supplied with

the London and provincial papers, together with some

of the leading periodicals of the day. There are about

80 members, whose subscriptions vary from 4s. to 10s.

per annum. The undertaking having proved highly

successful, a new building was agreed to be erected,

" suitable to the growing wants of the institute, the

neighbourhood, and the times." For this purpose,

Richard Hodgson, Esq., of Beverley, presented a piece

of ground; his grace the Duke of Cleveland contri-

buted £20; the Rev. T. Witham, £20; the Rev. G.

Macfarlan, £10; Joseph Hawdon, Esq., £10; R.

Hodgson, Esq., of London, £5; T. M. and "VV. ]Maude,

Esqrs., £5 each; Capt. Cradock, £5; G. Piggot, Esq.,

£5; the Rev. W. Webb, £5; R. Ableson, Esq., £5;
W. S. Raine, Esq., £5; John Mitchell, Esq., £5;
G. B. Wharton, Esq., £5; Mr. Thomas Raine, £5;
Mr. W. Simpson, £5, &c. ; together with the proceeds

of a bazaar. The building, which is situated in the

western part of the village, consists of a large room for

public lectures, a library room, and suitable ajiartments

as a residence for the librarian; the whole from designs

by Mr. T. Gibson, architect, Newcastle. The cost of

the erection was upwards of £400.

THE CHURCH.

The church alluded to in the grant of Ecgred doubtless

occupied the site of the present edifice; and several

fragments of sculptured crosses, &c., are built up in its

walls. Guy Baliol, after acquiring the lordship of

Gainford, gave its church two oxgangs of land, and the

tenth of the demesne of his manor, with the churches of

tenanee, with a sensible face, not devoid of character. It has a

powdered head, with horizontal curls at the ears, a sky-blue coat,

with a low turned down collar, and shirt frills of lace in profusion.

William Stephens, an engraver both on stone and metal, and well

known for his peculiar skill in copyingancientrecordsandinscriptions,

was for some time resident in Cambridge ; but having come into

possession of a house with a small property attached in Gainford,

through the death of an uncle, who was cook to the Shuttlewortli

family at Foreet, he removed to this place, where he resided for several

years, and where his taste and talents were exercised in his peculiar

department. He died at Gainford, and was buried there October 10,

1781.

• " The extreme narrowness of the ancient ways," says Mr.

Langstaffc, " would almost lead to the impression that sidings for the

passing of vehicles would be required. There is a small lane leading

from Gainford to the Tees, the queer nooks of which have been

supposed to have answered the same purpose. Popular tradition places

a sentry in each in rebellion time. I confess these assumed sidings

were not of the width I expected
;
yet in so contracted a lane the

smallest advantage would be of service."

T
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Staiiiton, and of Stokesley in Yorkshire, to the convent

of St. Mary at York, for the benefit of the soul of King

Henry, Henry's father King William, his mother Queen

Matilda, his brother King William, and his son William ;

as also for that of his own soul, that of Dionisia his wife,

Barnard Baliol his nephew, and of all faithful people

deceased. At the close of the grant, he states that the

donation vras for the good of the souls of his father and

mother, and of all his progenitors. Subsequent con-

firmatory grants were made by other members of the

Baliol family ; and the convent would appear thereafter

to have enjoyed or delegated the right of presentation

to the vicarage. Disputes between the monks and

some of the vicars were occasionally referred to the

mediation of the Bishops of Durham. After the Dis-

solution, the living of Gainford, including the great

tithes of the whole parish, and the advowson of the

vicarage, was granted by the crown to Trinity College,

Cambridge ; the vicar presenting to the dependent

chapelries.

The erection of the present church is attributed to

the convent of York, about the middle of the 13th

century. It is situated at the south-western angle of

the village green, and its cemetery is bounded on the

south by the Tees, the encroachments of which rendered

a considerable outlay necessary, for embankments and

other means of security, some years ago. The ground-

plan of the church is regular, consisting of a tower, a

nave with side aisles, and a chancel. The tower is open

to the nave, and rests on three pointed arches; that to

the east has swerved from its perpendicular, and is

supported on each side by flying buttresses, which rest

on the exterior walls of the aisles. The superstructure

is low and finished by a plain parapet, with corner

spirets. To the middle of the west front is attached a

heavy buttress, inclosing the belfry stairs. There are

three bells, two of which are of considerable antiquity :

on one of them is inscribed, in narrow Longobardic

characters, " f Saynt Cwthbekt saf ws vnowert;"

and on the other, " t fHELP Marj qavod Roger of

KvRKEBY." (See list of vicars.) The third bell bears

the inscription, in Roman characters, " Tho : Swain-

STON CHVRCHWARDEN. GloRIA IN AlTISSIMUS DeO.

1715. S.S. Ebor." The tower contains a good clock,

on one of its angles.

The south entrance to the church is by a porch, once

the burial place of the Garths. On the north, the en-

trance is beneath a plain arch. Including the space

under the tower, the nave is 60 feet 3 inches long, and,

with its aisles, 39 feet wide. The side-walls are supposed

to have been reconstructed about the time of Henry VI.,

or later, and are supported on the outside by buttresses.

The aisles are each formed by pointed arches of unequal

span, supported by cylindrical pillars ; the capitals of

those adjoining the chancel arch being slightly or-

namented with flowers. From a mark remaining on

the eastern face of the tower, it appears that this part

of the building was once surmounted by a clerestory

;

but this has been removed, and a sloping roof, covered

with Westmoreland slates, extends to the walls of the

aisles. The windows appear to have been subjected to

several alterations, and are very irregular.

The chancel opens from the nave under a plain

pointed arch, supported by brackets, beneath which are

traces of the masonry on which the beam supporting the

rood-left formerly rested. This part of the church is

31 feet 3 inches long, and 16 feet 11 inches broad.

The windows on the east are three lancet lights ; and

there are two of the same character on the south.

Those on the north have been closed, in consequence of

the erection of a vestry. The leaden roof of the chancel,

like that of the nave, has been replaced by one of slate.

The pews in the nave are of the period of Charles II.,

though with several injudicious repairs and alterations.

A srallery was erected over the north aisle by the late

John Walton Elliott, Esq. The church is estimated to

contain accommodation for 3-50 persons. The font is

a plain round basin, supported by a cylindrical shaft, 3

feet 9 inches high. The altar-table is curiously carved.

There was a chantry in this church, dedicated to St.

Mary. In 1501, Joseph Cocker was incumbent, with

an income valued at £2 19s. 4d. John Betson was the

last chaplain, and returned his revenue as arising from

the site of his house and garden, four cottages, and

certain ploughing and meadow lands in Gainford, worth

£3 annually ; issues from the chantry of the Blessed

Virgin, in the castle chapel of Barnard, 10s. ; from a

tenement and lands in Cleatlam, 6s. 8d. ; from a tene-

ment in Bolam, 3s. 4d. ; from a certain parcel of land

called Assilbroke, 12s. ; from the king's receiver, a

payment of 6s. 8d. ; in all, £4 18s. 8d., with a deduc-

tion of 9s. lOd. for tenths. In 1553, he was in the

receipt of a pension of £4 per annum.

There is a rich sepulchral stone in the floor of the

chancel, within the altar-rails, sculptured with highly

decorated crosses, the chalice, and other ornaments. A
fragment of another sculpture lies near it. Several

monumental stones and brasses in the church and

church-yard record the deaths of various incumbents of

the parish, or refer to the burial places of the most
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distinguished families in the neighbourhood.* In a

grove, by the side of the church-yard, there is a spring

still called St. Mary's Well

Registers.—Books Nos. 1 and 2 contain registers

from 1560 to 1812.t

Gainford vicarage is in the deanery of Darlington ;

the impropriation and patronage in Trinity College,

Cambridge. King's Books, £36 6s. Ojd. ; Tenths,

£3 12s. 7|d. ; Episc. proc, 18s.; Archid. proc, 2s.;

Synod, and proc, 4s. Dedication to St. Mary.

Rbctoes.—^Bemardus (son of Hugh de Baliol) occ. 1174; Guy de

La-ey, 1210; Stephen, circ. 1220; Alexander Nolan, 1228; G. St.

Adrian (a cardinal deacon) ; Opicion St. Vitalis (the pope's nephew

and chaplain), p. m. St. Adrian.

Vicars.—William Roundel, 1261 ;}: Robert de Mortuomari, or

• " Mr. Stephens commimicated a fragment of an inscription dug

up in the green : it was cut under an indented roll, and what was

legible is as follows : . . .aid the cetae in a rery rude letter.

Among many nations, the idea of putting into the grave, with the

dead, utensils to which the party was much attached, hath prevailed

:

in a grave was lately dug up a tobacco stopper, cut in boxwood,

tipped with silver, marked i. t., a hand grasping a bible at the top.

In the green were lately discovered, in a gravel pit, many human
skulls, but no other bones ; probably the evidence of some dreadful

decapitation, in the feudal ages, by the guillotine."

—

Hutchinson,

vol. Hi. p. 223.

Mr. Cade mentions a rude-shaped stone coffin, with a circular

cavity for the head, and containing a skull and some bones, discovered

in digging a grave at Gainford. Part of an antique seal-ring was

found in it, containing a green stone or flux, the intaglio a Cupid,

with something like a hammer or pick-axe in his hand, raised against

a festoon or olive-branch. Mr. Cade conjectures that this ring

belonged to some of the lords of Raby, who might be interred here

before the foundation of Stainthorp. About 100 years before the

discovery of this coffin, another of a similar shape was found a little

below the surface, where that was deposited. " On taking it up,

ihere appeared, for some depth, a fabrication of mortised stone and

clay, in every respect resembling those receptacles of mortality at

Twyneham." The coffin was afterwards purchased by a publican in

the village, who used it as a cooler for his wort ; and after being

prostituted to other ignominious purposes, it was observed by Mr. Cade,

in a mutilated state, in the shape of a pump trough.

t In 1659—" Courteous Reader, this is to let thee understand that

many children were left unrecorded or redgestered. But the reason

and cause was this : some would and some would not, being of a

fickle condition, as the time was then : this being their end and aim

to save a groate from the poor Clarke, so they would ratlier have ihuiu

unredgestered. But, now seeing it hath pleased allmighty God of his

Love and mercy to send us a king, now it is their design to have them

redgestered, who before were unredgestered, as namely," &c. In a

private book of Dr. Robert Swift, who was vicar-general and official

principal of the diocese of Durham from 1561 to 1577, arc the following

depositions relative to an unlawful marriage :

—

"Edward Ward, of Langton near Gainford, husbandman, aged 40

years.

—

" He «aith that ther is dyvers writing (no doubt the Table of

Kindred and Affinity respecting marriages between relations) hang-

Mortimer ; 'William Pickering occ. 1311 ;§ Robert de Mortham (see

page 19) ; Robert de Horton, 1349 ; WiUiam de Swafeld, 1356, p.

m. Horton ; Reginald de Kirkeby, 1362, p. res. Swafeld ; WUliaui

Semius, occ. 1401 ; Roger de Kirkeby, 1401 ;|| Richard Amall, LL.B.
(sub-dean of York, and prebendary of Barnaby, and after of Langtoft),

1412, p. m. Kirkeby
; Anthony de St. Quintin, 1427, p. res. Amall

;

Roger Esyngwald, LL.B., 1428. p. res. St. Quintin ; Richard Drax,

1429, p. res. Esyngwald ; Peter Fryston, 1437, p. res. Drax ; WiUiam
Lambert (master of Staindrop College), 1452 ; WiUiam Sever (abbot

of St. Mary's York, and successively bishop of Carlisle and Durham)

;

AVilliam Thompson ; WiUiam Fulthorpe, 1531, p. res. Thompson ;

Robert Beiinet (a monk of Durham, and prebendary of the 11th stall

on the foundation), 1538, p. m. Fulthorpe; Thomas Scgcswick.D.D.^

1558, p. m. Bennet ; Richard Forster, 1559, p. depr. Segeswick ;

AVilliam Stevenson, B.D. (preb. of the 9th staU), 1562, p. depr.

Forster, for holding two livings, contrary to the act of Henry VIU. ;

Henry Naunton, A.M. (rector of Egglescliffe, 1588, and preb. of the

4th StaU), 1575, p. m. Stevenson; Charles Ferrand, occ. 1582 and

1589; John Cradock, A.M. (afterwards D.D.), 1594; John Lively,

B.D. ,11 1628, p. m. Cradock; Henry Greswold, A.M., 1643, p. esp.

Lively ; George Sanderson, an intruder ; Henry Greswold, again,

inge upon the piUers of the church of Gainford, but what they ar, or

to what effect, he cannott deposse; saing that he and other

parishioners doith gyve ther dewties to be taught such matters as he

is examined upon, and is nott instruct of any such.

" He saith, tliat he was maried with the said Agnes in Gainford

church by the curat Sr Nicholas, about 14 dales next after Christen-

mas last past, but not contrary to the lawes of God, as he and she

thought. And for the resydew of the article he thinks nowe to be

trewe, but not then. Examined whither that he, this deponent, dyd

knowe at and before the tyme of their mariadg, that she the said

Agnes was, and had bein, his uncle Christofore Ward's wyfe, ye or

no, he saith that he knew that to be trew, for she had, and haith yet,

fyve children of his the said Christofer's. Examoned upon the danger

of their soules, and evyll example, he saith that both he and mayny
honest men in that parish thinks that it were a good deid that thei

two meght still lyve to gyther as they doo, and be no further

trebled. t
" Augnes Ward, alias Sampton, aged 40 years.

" all the Lonlship and paroch of Gainford knew howe nighe

hir first husband and last husband was of kyn, and yet never found

fault with their mariadg, neither wlien thei wer asked in the church 3

sondry sonday nor sence—they haith bein likned to gither more and

2 yere, and yett never man nor woman found fault—but rather thinks

good ther of, bicause she was his own uncle wyf. t''

I During his incumbency, the Baliols were in the habit of

purchasing the corn tithes of the parish, bond for the pajTuent of

which was given by some of their most wealthy adherents.

} Bishop Kellawe proclaimed sentence of excommunication, with

candle and bell, against certain sons of iniquity who had molested

and hindered Pickering in the collection of his tithes in Barnard Castle

Park and the Forest of Moorewoode.

II
His will, a document of considerable length and interest, has been

inserted in the Wills and Inventories published by the Surtees

Society.

H Mr. Lively, who was also vicar of Kelloe, was a man of consider-

able learning. He bc(iueathed tlie large sum of .£30 to be expended

on his funeral. It is to him that the old distich is applied :

—

" Here lies John Lively, vicar of Kelloe,

He had seven daughters and never a fellow."
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1661 ;* Edmiuid Fotherby, A.M., 1662, p. exp. Grcswold by the Bar-

tholomew Act; Thomas Malet, A.M., 1701, p. m. Fotherby ; James

Mailed, B.D., 1721, p. m. Malet ; William Morgan, D.D., 1747, p. m.

Mailed; Tobias Heyrick, B.D.,t 1754, p. m, Morgan; John Wilson,

A.M. (vicar of Catterick), 1782, p. m. HejTick ; Bertrand Russell,

B.D., 1792, p. m. WUson; John Cranke, B.D., 1798, p. m. Russell

(Cranke was so subject to fits, that he never preached during his

incumbency, except when he read the articles on his induction)

;

James Blackburn, A.M. (rector of Roraaldkiik, Yorkshire, some
time perpetual curate of the donative of Gibside, and lecturer of St.

Nicholas', Newcastle), 1816, p. m. Cranke; George Macfarlan, A.M.
1824, p. m. Blackburn.

The corn-tithes of the parish were leased by Trinity

College, Cambridge, to the representatives of the late

Earl of Strathmore, but are now collected by a local

agent, having been commuted for annual payments

amounting to £1,891.

The vicarage-house adjoins the church-yard on the

west. It was chiefly built by the Rev. T. Malet, du-

ring his incumbency, and has received considerable

additions from the present vicar. Its annual value is

* Greswold says, in the parish register, that he collected as many
of the scattered leaves of Cradock's old register as had escaped the

talons of Sanderson, the intruder's children, taught by their father's

example to plunder—harpy like.

t Tobias Heyrick was the sixth and youngest son of the Rev.

Samuel Heyrick, rector of Lodington, Northamptonshire, and was

born in 1710. He was vicar of Over, Cambridge, and was a senior

fellow of Trinity College, Cambridge, where he was greatly esteemed,

and where many pleasant anecdotes, both of him and his elder

brother Nathaniel, are still recollected. " I was accustomed," says

Jlr. Allan, in his contribution to Nichol's Literary Anecdotes, " to

visit him, with my father, at Gainford, when very young ; and he

struck me, at that time, as a most extraordinary character. K I may
be permitted to use the expression, he was a remarkable epicure

(deditus ventri), though a man of wit and otherwise good manners. I

have seen a copy of a note of his, deoluiing to partake of a haunch of

venison, apologizing, as a reason, he understood that fotir were

invited ; and as Mr. was one of then, he was sure there would

•not he more than fat for two! I was once sent n-ith a servant, to

carry him a present of smelt, or sparlings as they are called here,

being the first that had been caught in the river Tees that season.

He had dined before I arrived, but received me with attention, and

produced plenty of sweetmeats and dried fruits for my entertainment.

As I was amusing myself, he opened a door that led from his parlour

to the kitchen, and cried out, 'Ellen, fry a dozen!" In about five

minutes afterwards, he opened the door again, and said, ' Ellen, make

the dozen a score !' He gave me half-a-crown and filled my pockets

with good things. When I got home, I related what had passed, and

it afforded entertamment to a party my father had to sup with him,

at which I was permitted to be present, although I was not conscious

how I had been the cause of their merriment."

Another gastronomic anecdote, told in the village, relates that Mr.

John Eden, of Gainford, one day invited Heyrick to dine with him,

but, previous to the appointed time, requested him to call at his

house, when he afforded him a preliminary gratification by the

exhibition of a fine h.aunch of venison, that was acquiring a proper

gusto in the larder. Toby paced round and round the joint, rejoicing

in prospective at its forthcoming demolition, while Mi'. Eden was

estimated at £50. The gross income was stated in

1835 at £1,020 per annum, subject to permanent pay-

ments amounting to £252, leaving £768 clear. Since

that time, however, the vicarial tithes of the parish

have been commuted for rent-charges, amounting, in

the whole, to £1,173 10s. 25d. per annum, of which

£5-10 14s. lOd. arises from the chapelry of Barnard

Castle.

The measures taken to obtain a more equitable divi-

sion of the income of the parish have been alluded to at

page 21. The Barnard Castle committee, though

pointing out the j ustice of dividing the vicarial tithes in

proportion to the population, conceded that this might

be taken as an extreme view, and submitted " that the

very lowest measure of justice which ought, under any

circumstances, to be accorded to them, is that the vicarial

rent-charge of £540 14s. lOd., arising from the chapelry

of Barnard Castle, should be appropriated wholly to its

own spiritual use j" and they further urged that the

discussing who should be invited, and hinted that Wood, the curate

of Darlington might be one. " Wood ! no, no," said Toby ; " Wood

!

No. He'll eat it all. We must not have him." Wood accordingly

was not invited ; but, shortly after, he heard of the circumstance, and

had not long to wait before he had an opportunity of paying Master

Toby in his own coin. One Monday moniing, he espied him in

Dai'lington market, purchasing a pair of soles, which he eyed with

uncommon delight, and carefuUy deposited in the pocket of his upper

coat. Wood bemg assured that, according to his usual custom, he

would call at his house before he left the town, patiently waited his

advent, for the consummation of his joke. On his arrival, he lavished

every species of attention or. him. and invited him to dinner. Toby,

in the contemplation of the delicacy in his pocket, declined. Wood
became still more urgent, and induced compliance at last, by the

announcement, that a remarkably fine pair of soles was to form part

of the entertainment. So he stayed, and was delighted, and at length

departed in peace to his vicarage at Gainford. He had not long been

ensconced in his pai-lour, before he cried out, " Lucy, take those soles

out of ray coat pocket." Lucy forthwith duly searched the coat, but

to no purpose, and reported the same. "Child, you're mistaken,"

cried he ;
" go again." A " non inmntus" was again returned to thr

inquisition ; and his o%vn personal investigation confirming the dread

certainty that they had vanished, he very justly exclaimed, " Oh, that

Wood ! that Wood! he has done me!"
His sister, Miss Elizabeth Heyrick, resided vrifh him. " He

delighted in teazing her before company ; and when she came into

the room in which her morning callers were waiting for her, dressed

out in silks and satins, he soon afterwards followed, and then began

the fun, which ended in his sister's leaving the room in high dis-

pleasure ; and then old Toby would, in half joke and half earnest,

shout out, ' There she goes—a duchess ! a duchess !'
"

But Heyrick was not a mere gourmand or heartless man of pleasure

or wit. His learning and benevolence were long gratefully remembered

and acknowledged ; and he was generally classed with that good old

race of pastors whose memory continues to linger in the affections

of their parishioners. He always resided at his benefice, and at length

died on the 30th of ilarch, 1 7S2. The inscription on his tomb-stone

iu the ehurch-yard, and a tablet in the church, are his memorials.
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time had arrived for erecting the chapelry into an inde-

pendent vicarage. After some further correspondence,

conducted, on the part of the committee, by Mr. Rich-

ardson, solicitor, of Barnard Castle, a scheme proposed

by tlic Master and Fellows of Trinity College was

received by that gentleman in May, 1850. It provided

" that the said chapelry of Barnard Castle should be

forthwith separated from the vicarage and parish church

of Gainford, and be constituted a separate parish for

ecclesiastical purposes, and a perpetual curacy and

benefice," subject to the same ecclesiastical jurisdiction

as Gainford, and with its own peculiar churchwardens.

The pecuniary arrangement proposed was as follows :

—

" That from and after the next avoidance of the said vicarage and

parish church of Gainford (but subject to the proviso next hereinafter

contained) all so much and such part of the tithe rent charges, or

other pajTnents, or compositions for or in lieu of tithes belonging to

the said vicarage of Gainford, as arise and accrue or arc payable

within or in respect of the said chapeby of Barnard Castle, (and now
amounting to the annual sum of £540 14s. lOd. or thereabouts,) shall

belong and be attached to the said proposed separate bcneftce of

Barnard Castle for ever, and be held, received, and enjoj'ed by the

incumbent thereof for the time being accordingly. Provided, never-

theless, that in the event of any vacancy or vacancies happening in

the said vicarage of Gainford, by the death, removal, or other avoid-

ance of the present or any succeeding vicar thereof, before any vacancy

shall happen in the said benefice of Barnard Castle, by the death,

removal, or other avoidance of the present incumbent thereof, then

and imtil such vacancy shall happen in the said last-mentioned

benefice, all the aforesaid tithe rent charge or rent charges of the said

chapelry of Barnard Castle, shall belong and be attached to the said

- icarage of Gainford and perpetual curacy of Barnard Castle, in the

- :res and proportions following ; (that is to say) three undivided

Stlh parts or shares thereof to the said vicarage ; and two imdivided

fifth parts or shares thereof to the said perpetual curacy, and shall be

held and enjoyed by the incumbents of the said benefices for the time

being accordingly.

" That when and so soon as under the provisions hereinbefore con-

Uiined the whole of the tithe rent charge or charges of the said

chapelry of Barnard Castle shall become absolutely attached to the said

said perpetual curacy of Barnard Castle, the payment of the aunual

sum of £7 10s., now made by the Vicar of Gainford to the perpetual

curacy of Barnard Castle shall cease, and the said vicarage and the

incumbent thereof shall thenceforth be exonerated and released from

the same annual sum ; but without prejudice to any arrears thereof

which may be then due, or to the right of the uicumbent of the said

chapelry for the time being, or his representatives, to receive a pro-

portionate part of the said annual sum up to the time of such dis-

charge."

The committee having claimed the whole portion of

the tithe rent-charge, immediately on the next avoidance

of the parish of Gainford, the masters and seniors of

the college replied that not having appointed the Rev.

G. Dugard to the living of Barnard Castle, and that

apjjointment not having conduced in any way to a

vacancy in one of their foUowsLlps, they considered

they had acted liberally in making provision for an

increase of £216 to the living before such an advantage

might accrue to them. Eventually, under the advice

of the Duke of Cleveland, John Bowes, Esq., and

other influential land-owners, the committee consented,

though reluctantly, to the proposed arrangement, which

was shortly after confirmed by an order in council.

CHAPELS.

Roman Catholic Chapel.—Through the liberality

of the Rev. T. Witham, of Lartingtou Hall, aided by

partial assistance from other parties, the foundation of a

new Catholic church and presbytery was laid at Gain-

ford on the 2nd of March, 1854 ; and it was completed in

the following year. The church is a Gothic erection, of

the early English style of architecture, capable of holding

about 300 people, and stands east and west, with a

south porch. The side walls are buttressed and pierced

with plain lancet windows; the east end having a

triplet, and the west end two lancets, all surmounted

with hood mouldings, terminating in carved heads and

ilowers. The west end is also surmounted by a small

belfry; and floriated crosses form the terminations of

the east end and porch gables. The whole of the win-

dows are filled with stained glass; the side windows

being enriched principally with armorial bearings, and

the centre light of the eastern trii^let containing a figure

of Christ ascending ; whilst the lights on each side of it

are filled in with figures of St. Thomas of Aquin, the

learned doctor of the Catholic church, and St. Osmund

Martyr, to whom the chapel is dedicated. These are

the productions of Messrs. John and Joseph Gibson, of

Newcastle. The chapel has a high-pitched roof of

open timber, illuminated, in gold and colours, with

texts of scripture running along the ribs and principals,

the work of Mr. Henderson, church decorator. A
corridor connects the chapel with the presbytery, which

is a building in a later style of architecture. The

whole has been built from the designs of Mr. T. Gib-

son, architect, Newcastle.

Independent Chapel.—This place of worship was

opened on New-year's day, 1850. It is of stone, in

the early English style, and is lighted on the sides by

eight lancet-headed windows, and at the south end by

two of a similar kind, and a large three-lighted window

above the door. The weathering of the gables, finials,

and label moulds are very neat. The roof is much

elevated and strong : the construction, however, gives
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it a light and airy appearance : the rafters are framed

together with a collar beam, under which braces and

brackets are fixed, forming a semicircle, and terminat-

ing in strong moulded stone corbels. The side walls

and angles are supported by buttresses of hewn stone,

which give a strong and substantial appearance to the

building. The pulpit is part of an octagon, with

Gothic-headed panels, and moulded framing ; and the

chapel contains an organ. Instead of pews, the body

of the chapel is fitted up with forms, having sloping

backs, which contribute much to the comfort of the

occupants, and will seat about 130 persons, but are so

arranged that 70 additional sittings may be provided at

a trifling outlay. The building, which cost £350, is

warmed by hot water, and fitted up with gas. Being

altogether different from any previous erection in the

neighbourhood, it forms a pleasing object, and is easily

accessible from the neighbouring villages. The resident

minister of Staindrop officiates in the chapel.

Wesleyan Methodist Chapel.—The Wesleyans

have a chapel in Gainford, erected in 1834, and capable

of accommodating 150 persons.

CHARITIES.

School.—Henry Greswold, vicar of Gainford, who

for many years gave an annual donation of £6 to the

village school, on October 12, 1691, gave £100 to John

Raiue, Henry Eden, Cuthbert Swainston, and Cuthbert

Raine, to be laid out in the purchase of lands or an

annuity, the proceeds to be paid towards a yearly salary

for the schoolmaster, for teaching the poor children of

the parish. In January, 1804, the representatives of

two of the obligees paid in £25 each, which, together

with £39 10s. 6d., an ancient poor stock, was laid out

in the purchase of £156 Os. 3d. three per cent, consols,

* The stock of money belonging to the poor of the parish of Gain-

ford, April 16, 1664, was as follows :—£5 given by Richard Garth, of

L;ington, and £5 by Thomas Morton, of Darlington, in the hands of

(reorge Sanderson, of Forcet. £5 given by William Garth,

of Headlam, in the hands of Richard Walbank, of Gainford, and

R;ilph Carter, of Piercebridge ; the interest to be distributed to

necessitous widows. £5 given by Margaret Natters, of Bolam, in the

h.-mds of Francis Sotheran, of Cleatlam. £2 given by the Rev. John

Lively, vicsir of Gainford, in the hands of Lancelot Shawter, of

Summerhouse. £3 given by Thomas Fawdon, of Piercebridge, 10s.

for 10 years (and he was buried March 14, 1659). £10 left by Henry

i:arter, of Gainford, in the hands of Robert Smith, of Hurworth,

weaver. £10 given by John Stoddert, of Gainford, in the hands of

Robert Stoddert, brother of the deceased, who promised to pay £2 to

the poor, "for his years," every Easter-Tuesday. £5 given by John

Eden, of Gainford, in the hands of .\nn Eden, his widow. £10 given

by John Garth, in the hands of John Burrell, of Gainford. £5 given by

Mrs. Eliziibelh Garth, of Headlam, April o, 1670. £5 given by

in the names of the Earl of Darlington and R. E. D.

Shafto, Esq. The remaining £50 had been previously

paid up, and invested on mortgage of the tolls of the

turnpike road leading from Barnard Castle to Stockton,

producing £2 10s. interest yearly. The schoolmaster

receives this sum, and £2 16s. 2d. as his proportion of

the dividends from the above stock, for which he in-

structs, in reading, writing, and accounts, six children

recommended by the churchwardens, from any part of

the parish, exclusively of the chapelry of Barnard Cas-

tle. The village school is a substantial building of

considerable age, and stands near the entrance of the

church-yard. It is attended by from 30 to 40 boys,

who pay a weekly pence.

Poor Stock.—Some person unknown, in 1639, gave

to the poor of Gainford £20 ; Robert BurreU, in 1665,

£18 13s. 9d. ; and Mary Swainston, in 1738, £2. The

poor stock, invested as above stated, is supposed to

have arisen from these donations ; and a moiety of

£1 17s. 4d., from the dividends thereof, is given away

at Christmas and Easter amongst the poor of the parish

(except those of Barnard Castle), one-fotirth being

appropriated to each quarter, in small sums of 6d. to

Is. each.—Four other sums of money, amounting to

£26, were lent out; but no interest has been paid on

them for many years.*

Gainford Hall.—A castle at Gainford, built by

Bishop Beck, is mentioned in Grey's Notes ; but there

are no remains, or even tradition of a castle, though it

is probable that some tower or other building might be

attached to the lordahip. The present Hall, supposed

to occupy the site of a previous " manor place," stands

at the west end of the village. Its erection was com-

menced by Vicar Cradock,t but it appears never to

William Garth, of Headlam, December 22, 1670, witness his own
hand. " William Mann, of Piercebridge, by will, dated March 26,

1674, gave 10s. to the poor of the parish of Gainford, to be distributed

on St. Thomas's day, for ever,"

t The Rev. John CR.iDOCK.—A descent has been claimed for the

Cradocks from Caradoc, the Caractacus of the Romans, who was

defeated at a mountain near Shrewsbury, called Caer Caradoc. The
family was diffused through several counties in England, and even in

Britany, where, at a village called Caradoc, their crest has been dis-

covered. The Rev. John Cradock, named in the text (from whose

character seems to have been derived the saying, " .4s cunning as a

crafty Cradock" J, was the youngest son of John Cradock, of Xcw
Houses, in Baldersdale. On his appointment to the vicarage of

Gainford, he purchased property in the palish, and erected Gainford

Hall. In 1619, he was appointed archdeacon of Northumberland,

which office he resigned on the 6th of August in that year, on being

appointed the bishop'sspiritual chancellor and ricar general. He was, at

the same time, collated totheprebendof theoth stall. On the 3rd ofMay,
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have been finished. Its appearance at the ends is that

of three tall gable-ended houses joined together. Over

the doorway in the north front, which is very plain,

are the arms and name of John Cradock, 1600, and

the initials I. C, M. C, and B. C. The south entrance

is highly decorated with fluted pilasters and other orna-

ments. The windows are square and mullioned.

Several of the rooms are wainscotted ; and one, in the

lower story, has a stuccoed cornice of flowers and fruits.

The staircase is unfinished. An old stone wall sur-

rounds the house, and incloses the space formerly

occupied, or intended to be so, by gardens and orchards.

A circular turretted dove-cot stands in the eastern

portion, where there it also a deep well. The hall is

the property of Capt. Cradock, and is occupied by Mr.

Thomas Raine.*

Selaby.—The Brackenburys of Burn Hallf (see

vol. i., p. 382) appear to have first acquired pos-

sessions in this part of the county by the marriage of

Nicholas, heir male of the family, with Agnes, the

heiress of Denton. Sir Robert Brackenbury, whose

name is familiar to the readers of Shakspeare, was pro-

prietor of Selaby. He was the second son of Thomas

Brackenbury, of Denton, and was Lieutenant of the

Tower during the whole of the reign of Richard III.,+

1624, Sir H. Anderson, of Haswell, M.P. for Newcastle, presented a

petition to the House of Commons accusing Cradock of extortion in

the discharge of his office. On the 22nd of the month, the Committee

for Courts of Justice reported that he, " being a high commissioner

for Durham, a justice of peace, and a chancellor, was found to be a

.Tcat offender in all these—confounding their several jurisdictions,

nd making one to help the other. That on the sequestration of one

Allen's goods, worth £1,000, it was granted to two strangers, who
ransacked the house, and seized upon divers bags, during the funeral

sermon. On the vnU being found, and one Hawden executor, pro-

piobate was refused, and a second sequestration granted ; when
Cradock, in his capacity of justice of peace, broke open the house,

and after ransacking it, offered an oath, ex officio, to the executor, and

upon that acked him what he had done with the bags of money.

New sequestrators were then appointed—the chancellor's man being

summoner. These eat up all the provisions in the house, took Haw-
don and sent him to gaol, whence he could not be released until 20

pieces were given, and a fine of £50 paid to the Bishop of Durham.

All which was done out of any session, at the cost of £6 in fees, and

no act of sequestration made." Other offences were also stated ; and

the Committee gave it as their opinion that this man deserved greater

punishment than Lambe, another offender of the same class. What
the decision of the house was does not appear ; but his chapter do

not appear to have attached any importance to the proceedings.a s

they shortly after presented him to the vicarage of Woodhom. For

his death, see vol. i., p. 256. His son. Sir Joseph Cradock, Knt.,

LL.D., some time of Ilarperley, was commissary of the archdeaconry

of Richmond, and died in 1686. aged 81. Thomas Cradock, his son,

was a barrister-at-law, attorney-general to Bishop Cosins, and M.P,
for Richmcnd. He died in 1689, when the entailed estates descended

to whom he appears to have been faithfully attached,

and died with him on Bosworth Field. His name is

still applied to one of the towers of his royal master's

fortress of Barnard Castle. After the defeat and death

of Richard, an inquisition of the forfeited estates of

himself and adherents was held, on which it appeared

that, with the exception of a small property in Darling-

ton belonging to the fallen king, Selaby was the only

estate in the county of Durham owned by any of his

friends. This being entailed, and Sir Robert having

left issue two daughters only, it passed to his nephew,

Richard, fifth son of Anthony Brackenbury, of Selaby,

Gent., bailiff" of Gainford. He was gentleman usher to

Queen Elizabeth, and frequently employed in the cere-

monies, receptions, and embassies which took place

during her reign. Selaby became the property of

Gilbert Slarshall, of Newcastle-upon-Tyne, Gent, (who

had married Agnes, daughter and coheiress of Cutbbert

Brackenbury), by purchase from John Brackenbury,

of Gainford, in 1657. His granddaughter, Anne, mar-

ried, in 1702, Richard Freeman, Esq., of Batsford,

Gloucestershire, Lord Chancellor of Ireland, whose

descendants by his first wife sold Selaby to the Earl oi

Darlington ; and it now belongs to the Duke of Cleve-

land.

Selaby Hall is beautifully situated about half a mile

to iiis nephew, Richard Cradock, whose great grandson, Marmaduke
Cradock, sold Harperley to George Pearson, Esq. His descendant,

dipt. Christopher Cradock, is the presentrepresentative of the family.

* Mr. Raine is well known as an agriculturist and a first class cattle

breeder on the banks of the Tees ; and amongst the various prizes

awMded to him is a silver cup, ^xnth a suitable inscription, presented

by Sir Matthew White Ridley, Bart.

t A tradition states that Perse Brackenbury came in with the

Conqueror, had a grant of Burn Hall, and married the heiress of

Robert de Mervayle, of Selaby. Of him, and in allusion to the

family crest, an old rhyme says,

"The black lion under the oken tree

Made the Normans fight and the Saxons flee."

Robert, son of William de Brackenbury, of Great Burne, w.as

appointed, with 30 others, February 4, 1342, to array all the defensible

men in Darlington Ward to oppose the Scots.

X According to Shakspeare, he had held the office in the previous

reign of Edward IV. In the tragedy of Richard HI., his principal

characteristic appears to be a prudent desire to avoid discussion on

matters not immediately connected with his duty ; as, " With this,

my lord, myself have nought to do ;" and when the villains, sent to

the Tower to murder Clarence, show to Brackenbury their warrant

for admission, he quietly remarks

—

"I am, in this, commanded to deliver

The noble duke of Clarence to your hands.

I will not reason what is meant hereby.

Because I will be guiltless of the meaning.

Here are the keys ;—there sits the duke, asleep."
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north from tlie Tees ; and the estate, -n-hich contains

750 acres, is well wooded. Selaby was for many years

occupied by the Hon. Frederick Vane, second son of

the first Earl of Darlington, and afterwards by Richard

Bell, Esq. It has since been the residence of Jacob

Maude, Esq., and more recently of the late Thomas

M. Maude, Esq., who died at Barnard Castle, March

2, 1855, when on duty with the Durham Militia.

Alavekt, a little to the south-west of Selaby, and

containing about 310 acres, anciently gave name to a

local family. John de Alwent confessed before Bishop

KeUaw that he had committed adultery with Agnes de

Eaby, and Annabella de Durham, and also failed to

prove that he had not committed the like offence with

Christiana Clergis, Annabella de Castle Barnard, and

Emma le Aumbeleur. The prelate mitigated the sen-

tence somewhat in consequence of the station in life of

the offender ; nevertheless he was, clad only in linen,

to be whipped round his parish church of Gainford on

six several Sundays and festivals, and also round the

market-place at Darlington on six several Mondays,

during that part of the day when it should be most

thronged. By mandate, dated at Stockton on the 6th

of August, 1313, the vicar of Gainford was directed,

under pain of the major excommunication, to monish

publicly the said John to appear, and to see that he did

appear on the succeeding Sunday in the church-yard

and so forth, from the one day to the other, until the

expiration of the term : and it was provided that, if he

did not submit himself, he should be excommunicated

throughout the whole archdeaconry of Durham, and

shunned by his fellows as excommunicated until he

should conform and obtain grace and favour. The

• This gentleman had a horse called Old Drummer, which had

been -wounded in the neck by a bullet at the battle of Sheriff-Moor in

1715, and died in 1753, at the age of 45. His remains were buried

near the Tees, where a Latin inscription on a wooden tablet, now

somewhat mutilated, is affixed to a tree, and records his name and

good qualities.

t De. Sherwood.—Thomas Sherwood, Esq., M.D., besides the

ordinary routine of professional education, applied himself with

ardour, during the early years of his life, to the study of such authors

as enabled him to combine theory and practice in perfection, and by

which he gradually acquired that confidence in himself which was

through life his characteristic, and by which he was enabled instinct-

ively, as it were, to recognise latent disease, and to administerpromptly

either to its prevention or its cure. For 30 years he engaged himself,

with zeal and ability rarely surpassed, in the active duties of his

profession. In cases of fracture of the skull, or natural derangement

of the head, he was eminently successful. From circumstances, his

classical education was limited ; though in after life he evinced an

amount of knowledge and taste in polite and elegant literature with

vicar was also desired to return, about the Feast of

St. Cuthbert, an account of what had been done, and

whether the culprit had been in any wise disobedient

and refractory.

Alwent passed at an early period to the Nevilles.

After the attainder, it was purchased by Richard

Brackenbury, Esq. ; and a portion of it subsequently

passed from the Marshalls to a family named Thompson,

whose descendants, in 1728, sold it to Ralph Hodgson,

Gent., of Barnard Castle. Another portion came into

the possession of the Metcalfes, who sold it in 1636 to

John Withani, Esq., of Cliffe. From his descendants

it passed, in 1699, to Thomas Maire, Esq., of Hardwick,

who, in 1716, conveyed it for £850 to Ralph Hodgson,

Gent. A part of Alwent was sold by the Hodgsons, in

1753, to George Bowes, Esq., and is now held by the

trustees of the late Earl of Strathmore ; the remainder,

belonging to the representatives of the late Ralph

Hodgson, Esq., was offered for sale in 1837 ; when it

was described as a farm house with 188 acres of land

;

a water corn-mill, with a house, a garden, and 8 acres

of land ; and a close containing 5 acres. It was pur-
' chased by the late Mr. John Chapman, of Headlam,

and is now held by his representatives. «

Sxow Hall, about a mile east from Gainford, was

for some generations the property of the Raines, of

whom Richard, born in 1622, was first named of Snow
Hall. Edward Raine, who died in 1758, left the estate

to his nephew, Timothy Wright ;* and the latter be-

queathed all his property to Richard Sherwood, sur-

geon, of Staindrop, father of Thomas Sherwood, Esq.,

M.D.,t whose son, Christopher Sherwood, Esq., is the

present proprietor.

which few could compete. The history, poetry, and biography of h-,?

own county, also, occupied a considerable share of his attention ;

and Surtees, in the first volume of his History, p. 10, speaks of him

as one " without the early and valued assistance of whom that work

would never have been undertaken." It is sad to add, however, that

the latter days of Dr. Sherwood were clouded by misfortunes. The

perfidy of friends has been mentioned as beering heavily upon him ; but

it was his domestic bereavements which most powerfully affected him,

and finally led to the painful catastrophe which closed his existence.

Ralph Shekwood, a younger son of the doctor, was bom April 3,

1798, and received a liberal education at Witton-le-Wear. He was

destined for the medical profession ; and with this view he studied

for a while in London, and was afterwards removed to Edinburgh,

where he studied anatomy under James Wilson, Esq., at St George's

Hospital. Here his quickness and talent, his great attention to

anatomical and surgical pursuits, and the accuracy of his pencil and

pen in sketching ofl-hand, in the hospitals to which he had

access, those various morbid and other appearances produced by

nature or the hand of the operator, quickly gained for him the notice

and approbation of those best qualified to appreciate his abilities.
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East or Low Greystone, a little to the north, was

formerly a part of the Snow Hall estate, but was sold,

in 1757, to Robert Elliott, of Middleton-in-Teesdale,

from whose grandson it passed to the Raines. It was

purchased by Dr. Sherwood, in 1811, for £3,150. By
marriage with Mary, his youngest and only surviving

daughter, it became the property of William Surtees

Raine, Esq. Greystone Hall belongs to Mr. Robert

Elliott, a descendant of the family just named, who
resides on the estate.

Field House, an adjoining property, was sold by the

Burrels, to Francis Holmes, of Darlington, and by him

to John Jones, gardener at Raby. In 1825, Dr. Sher-

wood purchased it from the Rev. John Jones Thornhill,

vicar of Staindrop, for £4,100.

Dyons, anciently a village, but now a farm of about

200 acres, was named with Summerhouse in ancient

charters. It passed from the Alwents to the Hiltons,

who held it for several generations. Afterwards, it

passed successively to the Honeywoods and the Baileys

of Chillingham, Northumberland, and is now the pro-

perty of the Duke of Cleveland.

Gainford Great Woon, about a mile north-west

from the village, was one of the baronial appendages to

the honour of Gainford and Ba.rnard Castle. Whilst

vested in the crown after the attainder, the timber was

exit down ; and a second growth was felled in the early

part of the 18th century. The wood, in its jjresent

state, presents a dark, regular, and monotonous mass.

Whilst in Edinburgh, he became possessed of five very amusing

letters written by Mr. Ritson to Mr. Laing, which, with a portrait of

their author etched by himself, he communicated to Mr. Nicholls,

who inserted them in the third volume of " Literary Illustrations of

the Eighteenth Century," p. 77o, &c. A strong predilection for the

stage, hon ever, acquired whilst in London, now received an additional

stimulus from an acquaintance with Mr. Yates (afterwards of the

Adelphi Theatre, London), Mr. J. Russell, and other eminent per-

formers ; and an unfortunate difference having occurred between

himself and his father relative to his expensive habits, he made his

debut at York, in July, 1818, in the character of Dandic Dinnwnt in

the opera of Gny Mannering. Under the assumed name of Shervrin,

he continued to perform with the York company, sustaining the

countrymen, Scotchmen, and sailors with success. It is said that at

this time he was visited by an uncle, a physiciim, who had returned

from the East Indies with an independent fortune, and who, after

expostulating with him on the profession he had chosen, offered to be

at the cxpence of finishing his medical education, and sending him
out to the same situation which lie himself had occupied. The
reply of Ralph was, " It is my father's duty to do all this for me ;

and I will not receive the obligation from any other person." In the

Lichfield, Birmingham, and Brighton Theatres, he endured all the

vicissitudes and privations of a country actor's life, wearied of which,

he at length sought and obtained liis father's forgiveness, and was

received under the paternal roof. Soon after, however, the celebrated

VOL. II.

occupying about 100 acres of somewhat swampy ground,

tangled with brushwood, and affords a secure retreat for

foxes and other animals. It is the property of the

Duke of Cleveland.

LANGTON.

The township of Langton contains 1,061 acres; and, in

1853, the property was valued for the county-rate at

£1,175 6s. 4d. The population, at the several returns,

was 78, 65, 90, 107, 99, and 95, of which latter num-
ber 52 were males and 43 females. In 1851, there were

18 inhabited houses and 1 uninhabited.

The Teesdale Union received from the township of

Langton, for the year ended March, 1854, £2 2s. for

in-maintenance, clothing, and funerals ; £5 lis. 6d. for

out-relief and lunatics; £9 18s. 3d. for irremoveable

poor, salaries, and other common charges ; 14s. for

constable and costs before magistrates, &c. ; 7s. 6d. for

law costs, revising barrister, and jury lists; and £1 6s.

for journeys, salaries of assistant overseers, incidental

expenses, &c. The total sum contributed to the town-

ship, £19 19s. 3d., was £3 16s. 8d. more than that of

the preceding year. The charge for registration was

8s. 6d. ; and the overseers paid £19 lis. 8d. to the

county-rate.

The hamlet of Langton is situated 2 miles north from

Gainford, and 3 east-by-south from Staindrop. Langa-

dun was one of the unrestored villages resigned to the

Earls of Northumberland by Bishop Aldhune, and

comedian, Emery, died ; and an observation once uttered by him at

Brighton, " When I am gone, Ralph, of all the actors I know,

is most likely to supply my place," having dwelt on the mind of the

young man, he once more abruptly left his lather's house, and repaired

to London. After some difficulty, the doors of Diury were

opened to him, through the mediation of Mr. Oxberry ; and he

appeared on February 14, 1823, in his favourite character of Dandie

Uinmont ; the result being an immediate engagement for three years,

at £7, £8, and £9 per week. Here he continued to represent the

characters in which his great predecessor had acquired his fame

;

but his debilitated constitution never recovered the effects of sleeping

in a damp bed at Cambridge.

In the mean while, Elizabeth Sarah Sherwood, the eldest sister of

Ralph, who was laid on a lingering death-bed, earnestly besought her

father, as a last request, to be reconciled to Ralph, which, after some

hesitation, he promised i and his son was suffered to come home to

die. The daughter expired on the 2.3th of October, 1829, aged 22.

The bereaved parent, overwhelmed by accumulated misfortimes, spent

his time in gazing vacantly on a portrait of his son in one of his

ehai-acters, or in talking incoherently of his daughter. The mind

of Dr. Sherwood at length gave way, and his body was found in the

Tees near his own house, Feb. 28, 1830, and interred in the family

burial-plaee in Staindrop church-yard. At the time of his decease

he was in the 60th year of his age.

U
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afterwards belonged to the Nevilles.* It is now the

property of the Duke of Cleveland. Langton Grange

was for some years occupied by the dowager Countess

of Darlington, afterwards by Captain Watts, R.N.,t and

is now the residence of Archbold Cochrane, Esq.

HEADLAM.

This township comprises an area of 780 acres. The

population, in 1801, was 89; in 1811, 175; in 1821,

* In Dr. Swift's private book, already quoted (1561-1577), the

following depositions occur, relative to a breach of the Sabbath by-

Thomas Betson and John Fowler, of Langton :

—

" Cuthbert Potter, of Lankton, husbandman, aged oO years.

" He saith that the said Betson and Fowler dyd use ther bodyly

labour with ther beasts in harrawinge and sawinge upon a Sondaye,

about Michaelmas last past, against the commandements of God and

the lawes of hoUy churche. Examined upon what day of the moneth

neisit deponere. E.xamined what maner of grain yt was that the said

Betson and Fowler dyd sawe, he saith wheit. Examined what tyme
of the said (Sondaye) that they dyd harowe and sawe, he saith airly,

bifore none, for this e.xaminate sawe them bothe that daye at the ser-

vice in Gainftirth church, at the beginninge of the morning praier.

Examined whether any moo of the said parish dyd so lykcwise, or no,

he saith none, to this examinate's knowledg, saing that ther was yere

enowgh, and that they might well eneugh have taried unto the Mon-
day and Tewsday next after, as this examinate and many other

dyd. t
"Thomas Stoddert, of Headlham, yoman, alias husbandman, aged

about 50 years.

" They neyded not so do but upon folish oversight, for not only in

Langton, but also in many other townes in that parish, many had

plowed upon the Setterday next byfore besyd those 2, and sufferde

the sawinge to the weke after, for ther was tyme and yere eneugh,

saing he thinks y' was not godly doon of them, f"
The following is the " confession or declaration to be maid by

Thomas Betson and John Fowler, in the parishe Churclie of Gaj-ne-

furth :—
" Derely beloved, Althoughe it be one of the chefcst of Godd's

comanndements when he saythe thus, ' Remember that thowe kepe

holy the Saboth daie ; sex daie shall thou labor, and doe all that thou

haist to doe ; but the seventh daie is the Saboth, or ristinge daie, of

the Lorde thy God ; in it thou shalt doe no maner of worke, thou and

thy son, thy doughter, thy man servant and thy maide servante, thy

cattell and thy stranngers that is mthin thy gaits ; for in sex dayes

the Lord maide heaven and carthe, the sea and all that in them is,

and rested the seventh daie ; wherfore the Lorde blessed the seventh

daie and hallowed it,' yet we, Thomas B. and J. F., forgettinge

our obcdiente dewties to the lawe of God aforesaid, and to the

Quonc's Majestie's ecclesiastieall lawes of this realrae, have of late

prophaned, unhalowed, and, as muehe aa in us lycth, dishonered

Godd's holly saboth daie, which daie is appointed emongest all

Christian men to prayse God for his benefites, to aske those things

that be nedefuU, at Godd's hands, and to doe other works acceptable

in Godd's sight, [not] gyvinge our selves to worke unlawfull, servile,

and bodyly labors of sawinge, harowinge, without any urgent

nccessytye, in which doings as we have offended the lawes of God
and the Quene, to our rcprooche and your evill example, so we
humbly here before you all acknowledge our selves to be sory for that

and all our misdeds and offences, besechinge God to turne tliis our

232; in 1831, in consequence of the removal of a

boarding school, it had declined to 109; in 1841, it

was 117; and in 1851, 129, of whom 61 were males

and 68 females, inhabiting 20 houses. There were

also 2 houses building. The value of property assessed

for the county- rate in 1853 was £1,104 Os. 6d.

During the year ended March, 1854, the township of

Headlam contributed to the Teesdale Union £1 14s. for

in-maintenance, clothing, and funerals ; £11 6s. forout-

rclief and lunatics ; £7 13s. 6d. for irremoveable poor,

punyshement as well to our amendement as your good example. In

testimony wherof we pray you all to lifte up your harts and voices

with us to our Heavenly Father, in the name of his deaie son Jesus

Crist, sayne, ' Our Father, which art in heaven,' &c."

t Mrs. Watts (Miss Jane Waldie).—Mrs. Watts was the daughter

of George Waldie, Esq., of Hendersyde Park, Roxburghshire, and of

Forth House, Newcastle-upon-Tyne. Jane, the youngest of five

children, was born In 1792. From earliest cliildhood, her quickness

of intellect and original talent were remarkable. She was in infancy

passionately fond of reading ; and, when only five yeiira of age, had

made considerable progress in the science of astronomy. The first

five summers of her life were passed at the sea-side, in the village of

Tynemouth, where she took great delight in wandering about the

Gothic and mouldering cloisters of the ruined abbey. She did not

go through any regular system of education, but was a day-scholar

at a boarding school in Newcastle during the -winter months, until

she was fifteen years of age, when she was sent, though for six months

only, to a boarding school in Edinburgh, kept by Miss Playfair, sister

to the celebrated professor ; and that learned student, during the

short time Miss Waldie was in his sister's seminary, discerned the

great powers of her bright and original mind ; and both at that period,

and afterwards, when he met with her in Italy, Professor Playfair

honoured her with his marked notice and approbation.

Sliss Waldie's genius for painting manifested itself in infancy.

Unaided by teachers, uninduced by example, no sooner could her

little fingers grasp the pencU than she eagerly attempted to delineate

the trees, cottages, and other rural objects which surrounded her

when residing in the country. When quite a child, she pored for

hours over an old quarto volume on perspective, the only work on

any branch of art which her father's library contained. In sketching

from nature, she possessed unrivalled and incredible facility. Often,

in the romantic regions of Italy or Switzerland, and while the car-

riage rolled along, or the boat glided swiftly over the blue bosom of

the lake, her rapid pencQ, with a few master strokes, would delineate

the features of scenes, which, when afterwards painted in the glowing

hues of nature, were recognized and admired by all ; especially by

those artists who, with every advantage of time and instruction, had

themselves depicted the same subjects. The paintings she occasionally

sent to the Royid Academy and British Gallery, and which always

appeared without her name, were invariably distinguished and ad-

mired by the most eminent judges of art, for their beauty of

composition, fine tone of colouring, truth to nature, and feeling and

expression. Her characteristic modesty led her to attribute the

high encomiums she received to flattery or good nature ; and she

resolved, by an ingenious experiment, to ascertain their real estima-

tion. Accordingly, she sent a painting for actual sale to the British

Galler)', where it would necessarily stand in competition with those

of the best British artists ; but a member of her own family, unfiling

that the picture should be irrecoverably disposed of, privately desired
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salaries, and other common charges ; £1 for constable and

costs before magistrates, &c. ; 12s. 6d. for law costs, re-

vising barrister, and jury lists; and £1 ISs. forjourneys,

salaries of assistant overseers, &c., being a total of £24

4s., which was £3 12s. 5d. more than the expenditure of

the preceding year. The cost of registration was 6s.

lOd. ; and the county-rate paid by the overseers was

£18 9s. Id.

Headlam, at a very early period, gave name to a

resident family ; and in 1309, Simon, brother of Peter

and Galfrid Russell (the latter senechal of Durham),

also assumed the name of Hedlam. The estate itself

was included in the barony of Gainford; and, in 1304,

Agnes, widow of Hugh Baliol, held it in dower. An
inquisition taken after the attainder of John Baliol,

returned the rents of the free tenants, with the duty

paid for license to brew ale, at 62s. Another in-

q uisition, taken on the death of Guy, Earl of "Warwick,

hy Simon de Hedlam and other jurors, shewed that the

lunual rents of the freeholders had increased to 65s.

tijd.
J the return from the bondholders, and the license

to brew, produced the large sum of £13 6s. lljd.

;

certain services were valued at 4s. 3d., save reprisals ;

and a forge only produced 6d. Headlam formed part

of the forfeited estates of the Earl of Westmoreland.

The property was afterwards much divided. The

Garths held an estate for several generations ; and the

Lancasters, of Socbridge, Westmoreland, acquired pro-

perty in the 16th century, which was afterwards sold to

the Birkbecks, a Cumberland family. Anne, daughter

of Henry Brackenbury of Sclaby, and widow of Chris-

the keeper of the gallery, to whom it was left to fix the price, to put

upon it nearly doable the sum usually demanded for landscapes of a

similar kind. Yet, almost at the opening of the exhibition, the pic-

ture was purchased by a British nobleman distinguished for fine taste

in the arts.

Prom Mr. 'Williams, the celebrated landscape painter, Edinburgh,

Miss J;me Waldie received some slight instructions in etching, which
art she pursued with considerable success. She also executed several

paintings which were deservedly admired, from sketches of scenery

which she made whilst on a tour in North and South Wales. During
the "hundred days," Miss Waldie accompanied her brother and
sister on a tour to Flanders and Holland, and was at Brussels during

the eventful battle of Waterloo. Her account, recorded in her

journal, of the circumstances attendant upon that important event,

is highly graphic and interesting. She took a panoramic sketch of

Ihe field after the battle, drawn with masterly firmness, accuracy,

breadth, and feeling. It was pulilished with her journal, and went
through ten editions in the course of a few months.

In 1821, Sliss Jane Waldie became tlie wife of Captain Watts, a

naval officer who had distinguished himself in numerous actions
;

and they adopted Langton Grange as their residence. Unfortunately,

however, the health of Mis. Watts, which had been severely affected

whilst in Italy, became gradually worse ; and after enduring great

topher Hutton of Hunwick, married Henry Birkbeck*

in 1606; and their daughter Eleanor married Henry,

eldest son of Timothy Draper, " one of his majesty's

customers " at Newcastle-upon-Tyne, in 1636. The
estate afterwards passed, by successive marriages, to the

Mossacks and Clarks ; and Ann, only surviving child

of Ralph Clark, Gent, of Headlam, married, in 169',),

Lawrence Brockett, attorney-at-law, of Hilton. The
hall and estate were sold in 1845, by the widow of

Richard Hodgson Brockett, a descendant of the family,

to the late John Hett, Esq., by whose representatives it

is now held.

The village of Headlam is 2 miles north-cast from

Gainford, and 3^ east-by-south from Staindrop. It is

pleasantly situated on the south side of a rising ground,

and is watered by a small stream, which, after supplying

the hail ponds, winds its way towards the south-east,

and falls into the Tees at Carlbury. The remains of

an ancient chapel, in the middle of the village, are now
converted into a stable. Some venerable willows, which

overhung its bank, were wantonly destroyed, on tljc

anniversary of Gunpowder Plot, some years ago.

In a retired situation at the east end of the village is

the ancient residence of the Birkbecks, originally of the

time of Elizabeth or James I., but now modernized into

a commodious mansion, called Headlam Hall, tho

residence and property of the representatives of tlie

late John Hett, Esq. The original staircase and hall

are preserved ; the latter being a fine wainscoted apart-

ment, 30 feet 10 inches by 17 feet 9 inches, with a

richly ornamented fire-place at the south end, bearing

sufi'ering with uncomplaining patience, she died on the 6th July,

1826, in the 34th year of her age, leaving only one son.

Iler published literary productions are, " Sketclies of Italy," "A
Tour in Flanders, Holland, and France," " Continental Adventures,"

and sundry contributions in prose and verse to various periodicals.

As an artist, however, Mrs. Watts was more distinguished than as an

authoress ; and few have attained, without instruction and in so short

a time, so high a degree of excellence in the various branches of art as

this highly gifted and amiable wora;m.

* TuE Rev. Simon Bikkbeck, brother of Henry, born in 1584, was

a noted preacher, a good disputant, aud well read in the fathers and

schoolmen. In 1617, he was presented by his kinsman, Kichard

Wharton, Esq., (receiver-general within the archdeaconry of Ilicli-

mond, the bishopric of Duiham, and the county of Northumberland,)

to the vicarage of Gilling, Yorkshire, where he died September H,
1G.56. In 1634, he published "The Protestant's Evidence, shewing

that for 1500 years next after Christ, divers Guides of God's Church

have, in Suiulry Points of Religion, taught as the Church of England

now doth;" in 16o7, "Answer to a Romish Antidotist;" and a

"Treatise of Death, Judgment, Heaven, and Ilell." The two first-

named works are still considered by many as amongst the most

powerful and argumentative works that Protestantism has produced;
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the arms of Henry Birkbeck and Anne Brackenbury,

bis wife. At the other end of the room is a large full-

length portrait, rudely executed, of some member of

the family, probably of Henry Birkbeck himself,

dressed in the fashion of his time. Attached to the

house are a garden, lawn, orchard, pleasiire grounds,

and plantations. Tradition points out one of the

enclosed grass yards, on the east, as the place of inter-

ment used by the Puritan family of Mossock in the 17th

century. The house and grounds command views up

and down the valley of the Tees, extending on the

south-east to the Yorkshire hills, and on the west and

north-west including the woods of Raby and the dis-

tant hiUs of Teesdale. The hall was for some years

occupied as a boarding school.

CLEATLAM.

The township of Cleatlara, partly in the parish of

Staindrop, contains 1,097 acres, and was assessed for

the county-rate in 1853 at £1,166 10s. 4d. There

were 73 inhabitants in 1801, 103 in 1811, 126 in 1821,

94 in 1831, 95 in 1841, and 107 in 1851. Of the

latter number, 52 were males and 55 females, inhabit-

ing 27 houses.

The contributions of this township to the Teesdale

Union, for the year ended March, 1854, were, for in-

maintenance, clothing, and funerals, £6 8s. lid.; for

irremoveable poor, salaries, and other common charges,

£6 Is. 7d. ; for constable and costs before magistrates,

&c., 14s. ; for law costs, revising barrister, and jury

lists, 5s. ; and for journeys, salaries of assistant overseers,

incidental expenses, &c., lis. 6d. ; the total expendi-

ture, £14 Is., being 14s. 5d. more than that of the

preceding year. For registration, 3s. 6d. was paid

;

and the county-rate paid by the overseers was £19

IDs. lid.

The village of Cleatlam is situated on an eminence,

3 J miles north-west from Gainford, and 2 south-by-east

from Staindrop. The principal estate is one of the

hereditary possessions of the Bowes family, who also

acquired other property from a family named Ward.

The old mansion of the latter, still the property of John

Bowes, Esq., a gavel-ended old house, with muUioned

windows, remains. The collegiate church of Staindrop,

and the chantrey of St. John the Baptist in St. Andrew's

Auckland, had lands in Cleatlam, in which also were

the estates forfeited by Sir John Somerset. The pre-

sent owners of land are, John Bowes, John Barnes,

and John Smith, Esqrs. Cleatlam Moor was inclosed

in 1636.

MORTON-TYNEMOUTH.

The little township of Morton-Tynemouth contains

399 acres, on which, in 1851, there were 5 inhabited

houses and 1 uninhabited. The value of property

assessed to the county-rate in 1853 was £498 17s.

The population, at the six decennial returns, was 23,

28, 31, 19, 28, and 28, of which latter number 13 were

males and 15 females.

Morton-Tynemouth contributed to the Teesdale

Union, during the year ended March, 1854, for out-

relief and lunatics, £13 12s. j for irremoveable poor,

salaries, and other common charges, £9 lis. lid.;

for constable and costs before magistrates, &c., 8s.

;

and for journeys, salaries of assistant overseers, inci-

dental expenses, &c., 6s. ; being a total expenditure of

of £23 17s. lid., or £1 19s. lid. less than that of the

preceding year. The cost of registration was Is. lOd.

;

and the county-rate paid by the overseers £8 10s. 7d.

Morton, which derives its addition from having once

belonged to the priors of Tynemouth, was one of the

vills given up by Aldhune to the Earls of North-

umberland, but which reverted to the see of Durham

;

for Bishop Kellaw granted to Thomas de Graystanes

five messuages, 45 acres of arable, and 1 of meadow in

Morton nigh Kyllerby, to hold by the thirtieth part of

a knight's fee. The estate was held by the families of

Graystanes, Morton, Alsvent, and Birkbeck, and was

purchased in the latter part of the 17th century, by the

Cradocks. It is now the property of Christopher

Cradock, Esq., of Hartforth Hall, Yorkshire.

BOLAM.

The township of Bolam contains 989 acres, with 28

inhabited houses and 2 uninhabited ; the whole valued

for the county-rate in 1853 at £960 6s. 3jd. It is in-

cluded in the North-west Division of the Ward, and in

the Hamsterley sub-district of the Auckland Union.

The population is given in the returns as follows :

—

95, 121, 121, 115, 129, and 125, of whom 61 were

males and 64 females. The Cockfield Dyke, which

passes through this township, is quarried for the roads.

The village of Bolam is situatetl on an eminence com-

manding an extensive prospect to the south and west,

4 1 miles north-north-east from Gainford, and 7 north-

west from Darlington. It contains a public house.
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At the east end of the village, a chapel of ease was

erected about 20 years ago. The building is in the

Gothic style of architecture, and is capable of ac-

commodating nearly 200 persons. Service is performed

on Sundays by the vicar or the curate of Gainford.

By Hatfield's Survey, the tenants of Bolam paid 5s.

annually to the farmers of Midridge Grange for leave

to water their cattle at Wydhop-pool. The I)e la Poles

held a large estate in the township, by rents and

services under the Percys. An inquisition taken on

the death of Ralph, Earl of Westmoreland, in 1425,

states that he held 40 acres of land in Bolam of the Earl

of Warwick. In 1510, Richard Lord Lumley died seised

of this estate. By letters j)atent, June 5, 1561, Robert

Pursglove, the last prior of Guisborough, founded a

school and hospital at that place, and endowed them with

his lands, tenements, rents, and services in Bolam.

This property, consisting of about 400 acres, still be-

longs to the institution, and gives to the sbc beadsmen

• SiE. Samuel Gabth, M.D.—This elegant poet and talented phy-

sician was the son of William Garth, of Bolam, though, in

biographies, he is generally styled a native of Yorkshire. He received

his academical education at Peter House, Cambridge, vi^here it is said

he resided until he took his degree of M.D. on July 7, 1692. At the

period of his admission to the college, a violent dispute existed

amongst the members, relative to the establishment of a dispensary

for distributing medicine gratis to the poor of the city of London and

its environs. The measure, which was founded on a unanimous vote

of the college, July 28, 1687, was opposed by the apothecaries, who
found means to raise a party in the college itself, and a violent dis-

pute arose. Dr. Garth warmly espoused the cause of the liberal

party ; and the result was the production of his admirable satire,

" The Dispensary." It was first published in 1694, and being widely

read and admired, contributed materially to the fame of the author.

In a few months, it passed through three editions, in consequence

of which he afterwards made many additions and corrections; and,

in 1706, he published a sixth edition, with several descriptions and

episodes not before printed.

In 1703, William Garth, father of Sir Samuel, states in his will,

that " Whereas he hath been at great charges in the education of his

eldest son, Samuel Garth, at the University of Cambridge, and in his

taking his degree there of Doctor of Physick ; and whereas his son,

William Garth, hath several times denyed great and good preferments

offered to him, chusing rather to live and remain with me, though to

his loss of time, &c., he hath therefore, as part recompencc, granted

to William all his leasehold lands, &c., in Bolam, held under the

hospital of Jesus in Guisbrough, and he now devises to him all his

free lands in Bolam." To Samuel he gives £10, and a like sum to

his third son Thomas, a major in the army. But though a good edu-

cation and the sum just named were the sole patrimony of Dr. Garth,

he soon attained the first rank in his profession. He was a zealous

Whig ; and his companionable talents, and proficiency in polite

literature, acijuired him patrons of great rank aud influence. In

1697, he composed and printed his " Harveian Oration," which was
much extolled for its Latinity. In this oration he ridiculed the mul-
tifarious classes of quacks with a just spirit and inimitable humour.
Although a party man, he was always ready to benefit men of merit

on every side, and hence was an early encourager of Pope. He was

of the hospital, in right of their life interest, the

privilege of voting for members for the Southern

Division of the county of Durham. The Garths,*

Raynes, Trotters, Wranghams, Crawfurds, and South-

erns held divers estates in Bolam. Besides the hospital,

the principal proprietors are, the Duke of Cleveland,

G. B. Wharton, Esq., Mr. Geo. Marley, and Mr. John

Sowerby.

SUMMERHOUSE.

SuMMERHorsE is a township in the South-east Division

of Darlington Ward, and is included in the Aycliffe

subdistrict of Darlington Union. It contains 809 acres,

and was assessed for the county-rate in 1853 at £1,028

lis. 4d. The population, in 1801, was 158; in 1811,

156; in 1821, 189; in 1831, 192; in 1841, 165; and

in 1851, 177, of whom 84 were males and 93 females.

also the principal means of procuring the last decent attentions to the

neglected remains of Dryden, which rendered him highly and de-

servedly popular. In 1710, he addressed a copy of verses to Lord

Godolphin on his dismissal, and displayed his attachment to the

house of Hanover by an elegant Latin dedication of an intended

version of Lucretius to the Elector, afterwards George I. On the

accession of the latter, the honour of knighthood was conferred upon
Dr. Garth in 1715 ; the ceremony being performed with the Duke of

Marlborough's sword ; and he was appointed physician in ordinary to

the king, and physician-general to the army. He is said to have had

a very extensive practice, in which he conducted himself with great

moderation, as to his views of pecuniary reward, and with a strict

regard to the honour and interests of the profession. He died in the

height both of medical and literary reputation, January 18, 1718, and

was buried in the church of Harrow-on-the-Hill.

The minor poems of Dr. Garth consist of "Claremont," a poem
descriptive of the seat of the Duke of Newcastle ; Verses to Lady
Louisa Lenox ; to the Duchess of Bolton ; to the Earl of Darlington,

with Ovid's Art of Love ; Addresses to Lord Godolphin and the

Duke of Marlborough ; Verses inscribed on the drinking-glaeses of

the Kitcat Club (instituted in 1703, with the design of supporting a

warm zeal for the Protestant succession of the house of Hanover, and

which consisted of about 30 noblemen and gentlemen, including '• all

the talent" of the Whig party) ; Lines on Queen Anne's Statue ; on

the Conspiracy, 1716; and Prologues and Translations from Ovid.

He has left no work directly professional ; his mind being too much
directed to polite literature and social intercourse to allow of his

paying any great degree of attention to science. Tliough he was

deemed a latitudinarian as to religion, yet Pope says, in a letter, " His

death was heroical, and yet unaffected enough to have made a saint

or a philosopher famous ; and if ever there was a good Christian

without knowing himself to be so, it was Dr. Garth." His wife was

Martha, daughter of Sir Henry Beaufoy, of Enescote, Warwickshire,

by the Hon. Charlotte Lane, eldest daughter of George Viscount

Lanesborough. Martha Beaufoy, sole daughter and heiress of Sir

Samuel, married William Boyle, captain in the Duke of Schomberg's

horse, brother to Henry Earl of Shannon, and fourth son of the

Hon. Henry Boyle, youngest son of Roger, first Earl of Orrery,

Thfcir descendants arc the Bainbrigges, of Hugglescote, Leicestershire.
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There were, at the latter date, 42 inhabited houses and

1 uninhabited.

The hamlet of Sumraerhouse is situated on the turn-

pike road between Staindrop and Darlington, 6 miles

west-north-west from the latter place, and 2 north-east

from Gainford. A subscription school was erected in

1821, and is capable of holding 70 children. The late

Duke of Cleveland, the Rev. J. Blackburn, vicar of

Gainford, Messrs. George Dent, T. Wilkinson, and

others, were the principal contributors. The school at

present is butindiiferently attended. A Methodist chapel

was opened in 1823, but isnow discontinued. Thevillage

contains a few tradesmen and mechanics, and one public

house. Obscure traces of extensive foundations remain in

a field on the south side of the village, which are locally

called " The Castle Garth."*

At the feast of St. Cuthbert, in September, 1207,

William, son of Robert Beneit, gave to the monastery

of Dui-ham certain lands in Summerhouse; and by

another charter, he added six oxgangs which William

Mastcl held. These lands were afterwards granted by

the prior and monks to the Nevilles. After the

attainder, the estate was sold, and became the property

of the Sandfords of Hewgill Castle, Westmoreland, and

subsequently passed by marriage to Philip and Filmer

Honeywood, of Markshall, Essex, from whom it was

purchased, in 1786, by John Bailey, Esq., of Chilling-

ham, Northumberland. William Bailey, Esq., of Ha-

slerigg, sold it to the Duke of Cleveland ; and with the

exception of about 24 acres belonging to the represen-

tatives of the late John Wilkinson, the whole township

belongs to his grace.

PIERCEBRIDGE.

This township forms the south-eastern portion of the

parish of Gainford, and is, like Summerhouse, included

in the south-east Division of Darlington Ward, but is a

member of the Darlington subdistrict of the union. Its

area is 920 acres, divided into five farmsteads ; the

property was valued for the county-rate in 1853 at

£1,184 6s. 6d. The number of inhabitants, in 1801,

was 193; in 1811, 231 ; in 1821, 236; in 1831, 278;

in 1841, in consequence of the discontinuance of a

• Surtees conjectures the name of the township to have been

originally applied to a summer residence of the early lords of Raby.

+ To the north of Catterick, the great Roman road, which may be

traced through the county in a continuous line from Doncaster to

Catterick, separates into two branches, one of which, passing by Greta

Bridge and Bowes, proceeded to Carlisle (Lugnrallium) ; and thg

cither, crossing the Tees at Piercebridge, was continued to NewcasUe

boarding school, it had declined to 224 ; and in 1851, it

was 235, of whom 119 were males and 116 females.

There were, at the latter date, 52 inhabited houses and

2 uninhabited.

The village is beautifully situated on the banks of the

Tees, Sj miles west-by-north from Darlington. Tra-

dition has derived the name from Priesthridge ; the

bridge over the Tees, previously of wood, being said

to have been built of stone by two priests of the

neighbourhood, " or from the priests appointed to

serve the devotion of travellers, as well as in the

neighbourhood of a chapel, the ruins of which

remain hard by the bridge." But the name in early

records, is generally Pei'selridge, as in Leland, " Perse-

bridge, sumtime of five arches, but a late made new of

three arches. There is a prati chapel of our Lady, hard

by Persebridge, of the foimdation of John BaUiol, king

of Scottes."

Piercebridge stands on the site of a considerable

Roman station, to the east of which, at about 200 yards

distance, the great Roman road called Watling Street

entered the county of Durham from Catterick (the

Roman CataractoniumJ,f and passed on, in the direction

of the present road to Legs Cross, towards Binchester

(see vol. i., p. 104). Maclauchlan agrees with Horsley

and Hodgson, in placing Magis at Piercebridge, the

station at which contains about 8 j acres within the walls.

A part of the western side of the vallum remained till

the year 1822, when it was demolished by the occupant,

James O'Callaghan, Esq., M.P. for Winchelsea, and

the stones, (many of which were of very large size, and

of an oblong shape) used in the erection of farm budd-

ings, with the exception of a few that retained fragments

of inscriptions ; but the north and west sides of the

mound are still visible, as also the south-western angle.

Like most other Roman stations, this has been erected

on a lingula, or neck of land formed by the junction of

two streams ; the small stream which here flows from

the north-west into the Tees dividing the township of

Piercebridge from that of Carlbury,J in the parish of

Conisclifi'e. " This brook," according to Dr. Hunter's

MSS., " suppUed the ditch of the fortress with water, and

also the garrison by an aqueduct, firmly arched at the top,

so as to bear the public road, till 1730, when some coal

{Pons ^lii). These two lines of communication connected the south

of England with both the eastern and western extremity of the Roman

\\'all.

X
" The occurrence of this name so near to the Roman camp," says

Mr. Maclauchlan, "renders it possible that the Britons called the

place Caer, and that the Saxons added their own word Bury—

a

Camp."
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draughts penetrated through it, discovering the cavity

above a yard wide and a yard and a quarter deep."

This ancient work was evidently intended to protect

the ford by which the road from the south passed

towards Scotland. The road itself does not appear to

have passed through the station ; but Mr. M. A. Den-

ham, of Piercebridge, who has paid considerable atten-

tion to the antiquities of the place, affii'ms that in dry

weather the mark of a way may be seen across the field

called the Tofts, to the Roman road. In descending the

hill on the south side of the river, from the turnpike

sjate towards Piercebridge, at a spot where the modern

road branches off to ClifFe Hall, a Roman monumental

lab, with an inscription, was recently found, in lowering

the bank to join the Roman way.

Mr. Maclauchlan supposes that the station at Pierce-

bridge, with Howbury camp, that at Greta Bridge, and

the commanding post at the fords of Barforth, called

( )ld Richmond, formed a line of defence for this part of

the Tees. The position at Howbury is well chosen, as

it commands a view of the river as far as Winston

Bridge on the one side, and above the ford at Wyclffe

on the other; being also equidistant (3 miles) from the

two last-named places.

A great number of coins, urns, and other antiquities,

have been found in and around this station. A small

brass statue of Mercury, of elegant workmanship, said

to have been found here, forms the subject of an en-

graving in the Archaiologia, xix., 289. Au inscription

on an altar, erected by Antonius Quintianus to the

memory of Condatus, is given in Cough's Camden, &c.

A massive thumb-ring of pure gold fweight 182 grains)

was found in 1818, with some other Roman remains, at

this place, and is now in the possession of the dowager

Duchess of Cleveland. The hoop, wrought by the

hammer, is joined by welding the extremities together:

to this is attached an oval facet, the metal engraved in

intaglio ; the impress, though somewhat effaced, being

two human heads, probably male and female, respcctant,

or gazing upon each other, the prototyj)e of the nume-

rous " love seals" of a later period.* A beautiful gold

coin was found April 6, 1853, bearing the following

inscription :—(Obv.) "imptraianoavggerdacp
MTRP." (Rev.) "COSVPPSPQROPTIMOPRINC."
It is now in the possession of Mr. M. A. Denham.

* This is not the first Roman example of the kind found in Eng-
land. 'I'he same device appears on a ring, apparently of the Koman
period, found on Stanmore Common in 1781, and mentioned in

Gough's Camden, vol. i., p. cxx. Where the idea occurs on
medieval seals, the heads are usually accompanied by the motto,

The number of interesting coins found at Pierce-

bridge, and the thoroughly distinct character of its

Roman remains, have of late attracted much of the

attention of antiquaries ; and his grace the Duke of

Northumberland, with other distinguished persons,

frequently visit the station.

Several rude stone coffins, projecting from the bank
of the river Tees, have been exposed as the earth was
washed away by the river; and one, projecting from

the face of a quarry at Carlbury, on the west side of the

road, may be seen in passing by.

A number of smoking pipes, made of clay, and locally

known by the name of fairy pipes, are often found,

many of which are in the possession of Mr. Denham.
The chapel mentioned by Leland, of which some

traces still remain, was dedicated to the Virgin, and is

first mentioned in 1315-16, on the inquisition of the

property of Guy Earl of Warwick. In the in-

quisition taken on the forfeiture of Thomas Earl of

Warwick, 1397-8 (see page 9), mention is made of

the advowson of the "church" in Piercebridge; and in

another inquisition, it is described as the " free chapei

of Percebridge." A sui-vey was made, 2nd Edw. VI.,

describing " The chauntrie of Priestbrig, granted for

terme of liffe to the incumbent, Peter Carter, of the age

of L. yeres, incumbent. The yerelie valewe c. iiijs.

iiijc?. Stoke, none. Plate, one challes of silver, pois t.

ounces. Goods and ornaments, not praysed. Lead,

none. Bells, one, pois by estimation xvi lib." The
commissioners, on this occasion, were Sir Thomas
Hylton and Sir Robert Brandling, Knts., and Robert

Mennell and Henry Whilreson, Esqrs. In Mr. Allan's

Collections, quoted by Hutchinson, it is stated that " In

St. Mary's chapel was a chauntry, which had £2 2s. 4d.

salary annexed to it : for the which, every farm in this

town, Langton, and Headlam, presented a petition to

Trinity College, Cambridge, as being of old erected,

though now ruined, to excuse them from going to their

parish church at Gainford. The whole sum annually

collected, and called chauntry money, amounts to £8
13s. 4d. A load of wheat was first proposed by the

inhabitants, then the sum of money above, paid in lieu,

for the service of their chapel. This collection was,

about 30 years ago, unpaid during the term of three

years. Twenty-two years ago, a stranger from York,

"Love me, and I thee;" to which also a counterpart is found
amongst relics of a more remote nge. Galcotti, in his curious illus-

trations of the " Gemma; Antiqua; Litterata;," in the collection

of Ficoroni, gives an intaglic engraved with the words, "A.\io te
AMA ME."
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demanded the money upon the inhabitants, when, par-

ticularly George Hobson, desiring to know by what

authority he asked it, he refused to show any, but

threatened them with an exchequer writ; they,

frightened at this, were forced to comply."

There was also another chapel, dedicated to St. Helen

;

but its origin and history are altogether unknown.

Piercebridge was one of the places resigned to the

Earls of Northumberland. As it formed a portion of

the possessions of the Nevilles, 13 of its inhabitants

joined the insurrection of the last earl, two of whom

suffered death.

On the 1st of September, 164i2, " the Earl of New-

castle/' says Eushworth, " being upon his march from

Newcastle upon Tyne to York, with a considerable

army, when he was advanced as far as Piercebrig

(being a pass over the river Tees, which parts York-

shire and the county palatine of Durham) a party of the

Lord Fairfax's horse, commanded at that time by Cap-
[

tain Hotham, disputed the pass with the said earl

several hours, having but two small pieces of ordnance

with them. But the Earl of Newcastle did over-power

the Lord Fairfax's forces with great cannon; where-

upon Capt. Hotham, and those forces with him, retreated

towards the Lord Fairfax's head-quarters at Tadcaster.

In the said dispute Col. Thomas Howard [of Tursdale,

youngest son of Lord William Howard], with several

other gentlemen, under the command of the Earl of

Newcastle, were slain. So the Earl of Newcastle

marcht towards York, and had his commission enlarged

to command in chief in Yorkshire, and other southern
!

counties, as well as in the rest of the northern counties."

In this engagement, the royalists erected a battery on

Carlbury hills ; and the Parliamentarians placed theirs

on the opposite banks. Cannon balls, human bones,

and entire skeletons have occasionally been found in

the banks overhanging the road near the scene of action.

With the exception of about 10 acres, and a few of

the houses in the village, the property of Mr. Denham,

Mrs. Stoddart, and Miss Winston, the whole of the

township belongs to the Duke of Cleveland. Pierce-

hridge Hall, now a farm-house, belongs to his grace.

Bridge or Clmyitry House is the property of Mr. M.

A. Denham. The skull of the ox roasted on Lord Bar-

nard coming of age in 1809, with its horns gilded, is

preserved in a butcher's shop ; as is also that of the ox

roasted on his father's attaining his majority.

The village includes an open green; and the road

passes through it to the bridge, below which is an ancient

corn mill. The houses are mostly cottages. There are

two schools, and a post-office receiving house, but no

public houses. The bridge, which here crosses the

Tees to Cliffe, is of three arches. Previous to the

great flood of November, 1771, the timber, piles, and

foundations of an ancient bridge were visible at a short

distance further do-wn the river ; but they were torn up

and washed away on that memorable occasion.

A sum of money, producing 10s. yearly, was given by
a Mr. Hobson, at some unknown date, to the poor of

the township of Piercebridge. Nothing has been

paid for the last 50 or 60 years, nor is it known where

to apply for it.

\
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THE AEEA, NUMBER OF HOUSES, POPULATION, &c., IN EACH PAEISH

AND CHAPELEY OF DAELINGTON WAED.

IHE particulars relative to the extent and population of each township in the Ward have been given under

their respective heads. The following table shews the number of acres contained in each parish and chapelry

district ; the number of houses inhabited, uninhabited, and building ; and the population at the two last periods

of enumeration :

—

SOUTH-EAST DIVISION.

ACRKS.

Parish of Darlington 7856

Parish of Hurworth 3930

Parish of Dinsdale 1150

Parish of Sockburn (part of) 653

Parish of Haughtou-le-Skeme 10301

Parish of Aycliffe 10858

Parish of Heighington (with Killerby) 8206

Parochial chapelry of Denton 2046

Parish of Coniscliffe 3008

Parish of Gainford (part of) 1729

49737

HOUSES, 1841.
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POPULATION, &c. (CONTINUED).—SOUTH-WEST DIVISION.

ACRES.

Chapelry of Barnard Castle 12030

Parish of Middleton-in-Teesdale 40250

Parish of Cockfield 4416

Parish of Staindrop 918S

Chapelry of Lngleton (exclusive of Killerby) 2649

Chapelry of \\Tiorltoii 1760

Parish of 'Wiiiston 2961

Parish of Gainford (part of) 6600

79854

HOUSES,
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OCCUPATIONS.

In the classified population tables published in 1854,

and founded on the census taken in 1851, a statement

is given of the number of persons engaged in various

professions, trades, and offices in each district and large

town. The following particulars relative to Darlington

Ward are selected :

—

In Darlington district there were 17 males and 4

females in the post-offices, 6 in the inland revenue, 13

police, 20 clergymen, 6 Protestant ministers, 4 priests

and other religious teachers, 39 schoolmasters, 62

schoolmistresses, 12 governesses, 12 other female teach-

ers, 60 male and 31 female innkeepers, 4 male and 45

female lodging-house keepers, 40 male and 429 general

domestic servants, 6 coachmen, 16 grooms, 1 gardener,

20 male and 28 female inn servants, 86 housekeepers,

48 female cooks, 47 housemaids, 31 nurses, 2 mid-

wives, 58 engine and machine makers, 56 railway

engine drivers and stokers, 95 other men engaged in

railway traffic, 2 female railway attendants, 116 railway

labourers, 7 male and 34 female house proprietors, 47

male and 36 female land proprietors, 368 farmers, 24

female do., 1 grazier, 12 farm bailiffs, 103 farmers'

sons, &c., 273 do. wives, 136 do. daughters, &c., 752

male and 302 female out-door agricultural labourers,

141 male and 99 female in-door farm servants, 9 other

males connected with agriculture, 6 female hawkers,

124 washer-women, &c., 254 males and 100 females

engaged in woollen cloth manufactures, 28 male and

85 female worsted manufacturers, 5 maltsters, 13 brew-

ers, 9 male and 5 female licensed victuallers and beer-

shop keepers, 10 victuallers' wives, &c., 10 wine and

spirit merchants, 3 coal-miners, 6 coal-merchants and

dealers, 26 iron-manufacturers, 8 independent gentle-

men, 39 do. ladies, 38 male and 201 female annuitants,

10 male and 110 female paupers of no stated occupation,

and 3 male and 1 female lunatics do.

In Auckland district there were 4 male and 3 female

post-office attendants, 3 inland revenue officers, 15

police, 17 clergymen, 4 Protestant ministers, 9 priests

and other religious teachers, 43 schoolmasters, 40

schoolmistresses, 12 governesses, 45 male and 18

female innkeepers, 6 male and 4 female lodging-house

keepers, 18 male and 242 female general domestic

servants, 3 coachmen, 9 grooms, 5 gardeners, 7 male

and 25 female inn servants, 64 housekeepers, 13 cooks,

13 housemaids, 11 nurses, 76 engine and machine

makers, 68 railway engine drivers and stokers, 33

other persons engaged in railway traffic, 79 railway

labourers, 10 male and 34 female house proprietors,

33 male and 10 female land proprietors, 382 farmers,

35 female do., 10 farm bailiffs, 106 farmers' sons, &c.,

267 do. wives, 106 do. daughters, &c., 740 male and

58 female out-door agricultural labourers. 111 male and

89 female in-door farm servants, 7 other males engaged

in agriculture, 10 female hawkers, 35 washer-women,

&c., 4 maltsters, 21 brewers, 15 male and 12 female

licensed victuallers and beer-shop keepers, 14 vic-

tuallers' wives, &c., 4 male and 1 female wine and

spirit merchants, 13 woollen cloth manufacturers, 3,179

coal-miners, 3 lead-miners, 13 iron-miners, 238 iron-

manufacturers, 4 independent gentlemen, 3 do. ladies,

15 male and 77 female annuitants, 33 male and 162

female paupers of no stated occupation, and 2 male

lunatics do.

In Teesdale district, there were 3 male and 3 female

post-office attendants, 3 inland revenue officers, 9 police,

20 clergymen, 7 Protestant ministers, 4 priests Jind

other religious teachers, 30 schoolmasters, 33 school-

mistresses, 9 governesses, 51 male and 18 female inn-

keepers, 2 male and 14 female lodging-house keepers,

47 male and 267 female general domestic servants, 5

coachmen, 12 grooms, 8 gardeners, 10 male and 15

female inn-servants, 45 housekeepers, 33 cooks, 34

housemaids, 13 nurses, 2 pawnbrokers (the only esta-

blishments of this description in the whole Ward), 10

engine and machine makers, 8 male and 16 female

house proprietors, 52 male and 40 female land proprie-

tors, 613 farmers^ 85 female do., 10 farm bailiffs, 480

farmers' wives, 202 do. sons, &c., 177 do. daughters,

&c., 639 male and 106 female out-door agricultural

labourers, 179 male and 137 female in-door farm ser-

vants, 9 other males connected with agriculture, 8

female hawkers, 67 washer-women, &c., 2 maltsters, 9

brewers, 8 male and 3 female licensed victuallers and

beer-shop keepers, 7 victuallers' wives, &c., 8 wine and

spirit merchants, 78 coal miners, 635 lead-miners, 85

lead-manufacturers, 7 independent gentlemen, 8 do.

ladies, 44 male and 159 female annuitants, 9 male and

40 female paupers of no stated occupation, and 2 male

lunatics do.

The Weardale district contained 5 male and 1 female

post-office attendants, 1 inland revenue officer, 5 police,

11 clergymen, 6 Protestant ministers, 2 priests and

other religious teachers, 28 schoolmasters, 16 school-

mistresses, 1 governess, 20 male and 7 female

innkeepers, 1 male and 1 female lodging-house keepers,

j

15 male and 133 female general domestic servants, I

groom, 3 gardeners, 3 male and 12 female inn-servants,
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29 housekeepers, 8 cooks, 8 housemaids, 1 nurse, 6

engine and machine makers, 2 railway engine drivers

and stokers, 7 other males engaged in railway traffic, 29

railway labourers, 5 male and 12 female house pro-

prietors, 29 male and 8 female land proprietors, 227

farmers, 35 female do., 100 fai-mers' sons, &c., 168 do.

wives, 56 do. daughters, &c., 157 male and 28 female

out-doov agricultural labourers, 40 male and 47 female

in-door farm servants, 4 other males connected with

agriculture, 4 female hawkers, 12 washer-women, &c.,

2 maltsters, 5 brewers, 7 male and 2 female licensed

victuallers and beer- shop keepers, 5 victuallers' wives,

&c., 1 wine and spirit merchant, 268 coal-miners, 1,232

lead-miners, 87 lead-manufacturers, 175 iron-miners,

144 iron-manufacturers, 1 independent gentleman, 2

do. ladies, 9 male and 47 female annuitants, 10 male

and 22 female paupers of no stated occupation, and 1

male lunatic.

There were, in each district, a proportionate number

of grocers, drapers, millers, shopkeepers, smiths, joiners,

builders, tailors, shoemakers, dress-makers, clerks,

agents, &c., suitable to the requirements of the locality.

" Charitable Trusts Act."—The provisions of this act have been noticed at page 70 ; and as a new

act, amending that of 1853, is about to pass the legislature, the intended insertion, in this part of the work, of

an epitome of the present act, is omitted.
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STOCKTON WARD.

'^'^tm

aorktan mrlij,r..w,n„.» -vvMvw comprises an open, pleasant,

and healthy district, occupying the south-eastern angle

of the county of Durham. An imaginary line running

nearly north from the Tees at Middleton-one-Row. and

the river Skerne, divide this "Ward from the South-

east Division of Darlington Ward on the west; the

parish of Bishop-Middleham, in the recently formed

Ward of Durham, abuts on the north-west corner of

Stockton Ward, the boundary of which runs from

thence east and north to the parish of Kelloe, in the

South Division of Easington Ward, whence it passes,

by an imaginary line in nearly an east-south-east

direction, to the sea, a little to the north of Hartlepool.

The German Ocean washes the eastern shore of the

Ward ; and it is divided from Yorkshire on the south-

east and south by the river Tees. The Ward, from its

south-eastern extremity at Middleton St. George to its

north-eastern point at Hartlepool, is about 18 miles

long : and from Stockton on the south-east, to the verge

of Sedgefield parish on the north-west, it is about 10

miles broad ; but this width diminishes nearer to the

sea.

Stockton Ward is not, generally, so hilly as the other

parts of the county ; the acclivities being more gradual

and e.vtended. The soil is fertile ; and watered, besides

the Tees and the Skerne, by the Billingham, Embleton,

and Greatham Becks. That part which adjoins the

Skerne near Sedgefield, is low and marshy j whilst

• From its winding eccentric curves, says Mr. Longstaffe, " it de-

rives its name, the Celtic Taoi, signifying mnding. We have more
rivers than one of this name in her majesty's dominions; and the

Thiess, a large river, flows into the Danube. lu ' the winding Tay,'

we have the word in nearly its original form, and a pleonasm strik-

ingly expressive of the propriety of its appropriation. Dyer fell into

near the Tees, at the south-western extremity of the

Ward, the country resembles, in character, as well
as situation, the rich pasture lands around Darlinp-ton.

The Tees itself, having left far behind the rocks and
precipices of its early course, and wheeled its devious

way around the meadows of Blackwell, Hurworth,
Sockburn, and Dinsdale, continues its windings, by
Yarm and Stockton to the wide estuary by which it is

disembogued into the sea ; but, even below the latter

town, its course is so tortuous as to have required

artificial cuttings to facilitate the operations of com-
merce.*

The introduction of railway communication, which
has brought the latent productions of the interior into

active demand, has produced a corresponding revolution

in this part of the county, by rendering its ports and
shores available both for the transmission of that pro-

duce, and the reception of merchandize from abroad.

The shores at the mouth of the Tees are now furnished

with shipping places for the coal and iron of Durham
and Yorkshire ; and populous and bustling towns and
villages occupy situations which were formerly marshy
swamps. The long-neglected lagoon of Hartlepool

has also, within the last twenty years, been improved
and extended to a degree approaching the marvellous.

The market towns in Stockton Ward are Stockton,

Hartlepool, and Sedgefield. The soutlicrn portion has

also the advantage of proximity to the market town of

the same venial error when he talks about ' the shady dales of
winding Towy, Merlin's fabled haunt," Towy being only a modification,

of Tay. Every one recollects the Tajo (pronounced Tayo) flowing
past Lisbon ; there is a Tava flowing into the Danube, and another
river of the same niune in Moravia; nay, there is even a Tay in

China /"
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Yarm, iu the North Riding of Yorkshire. Wynyard,

the seat of the Marquis of Londonderry, Hardwick

House, Sands House, Preston Hall, Norton Hall,

Elton House, Fishburn Hall, and several other

gentlemen's residences, adorn various localities. The
Ward comprises two divisions, the South-west and

the North-east ; which respectively include the follow-

ing parishes and chapelries :

—

Stockton parish, with

Trinity chapelry.

Parish of Norton.

South-west Division.

Holy Parish of Elton.

Parish of Egglescliffe.

Parish of Middleton St.George.

Parish of Long-Newton.

Parish of Redmarshall.

Parish of Bishopton.

Chapelry of Hartlepool.

Parish of Hart.

Parish of Stranton.

Chapelry of Seaton Carew.

North-east Division.

Parish of Greatham.

Parish of Billingham.

Chapelry of Wolviston.

Parish of Elwick Hall.

Parish of Grindon.

Parish of Stainton-le-Street.

Parish of Sedgefield.

The parishes of Hurworth, Dinsdale, and the Dur-

ham part of Sockburn, which were formerly a part of

the South-west Division of Stockton Ward, were, under

the provisions of the act 9 Geo. IV., c 43, attached to

the South-east Division of Darlington Ward ; as were

also the townships of Sadberge, Morton-Palms, and

Coatham-Mundeville, in the parish of Haughton-le-

Skerne. On the formation of Durham Ward, the

parish of Bishop-Middleham, previously belonging to

the North-east Division of Stockton Ward, was con-

stituted a part of the new district. Stockton Deanery,

however, is still co-extensive with its old boundary.

The parish of Craike or Craike Hall, in the wapen-

' Craike was given by Egfrid, king of Northumberland, in 685, to

St. Cuthbert. on his being elevated to the see of Lindisfame ; and

the later Bishops of Durham had a castle within the manor of Craike,

with a seneschal, a chief forester and keeper, a park keeper, and a

bailiff. The ruins of the castle, now fitted up as a farm-house, oc-

take of Bulmer, in the North Riding of Yorkshire,

though 28 miles from any part of the county of Durham,

was formerly a part of it,* and attached to the South-

west Division of Stockton Ward and to the deanery of

Darlington. By the act 2 and 3 Wm. IV., c. 64, s. 26,

however, all such detached portions of counties were

to be considered, for the purposes of elections, as parts

of the counties by which they were surrounded ; and by

the act 7 and 8 Vict., c. 61, which received the royal

assent August 6, 1844, every detached portion became,

after the 20th October in that year, for all purposes,

part of the county to which it had been attached by the

previous act.

cupy the site of a Roman fortress. The living is a rectory, and the

church is dedicated to St. Cuthbert. The parish is about 2 miles

from Easingwold, and comprises an area of 2,779 acres, with a popu-

lation, at the last census, of 608 persons. The order in council for its

incorporation in the diocese of York is dated January 24, 1837.

r
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SOUTH-WEST DIVISION.

PAEISH OF STOCKTON.

OTOCKTON was anciently a part of the parish of Norton, and contained a chapel of ease to its church ; but as the

town increased in trade and population, and the chapel fell into decay, an act of parliament was obtained, 12th

Anne, 1711, to make Stockton, with East Hartburn and Preston, a distinct parish. Another act was passed, 1st

Geo. I., 1713, to explain and amend the former. The parish of Stockton, thus formed, is bounded on the south and

south-east by the river Tees ; on the east and north by the parishes of Billingham and Norton ; and on the west

by Elton, Long-Newton, and EgglesclifFe. It includes four constableries, viz., 1, The Borough of Stockton ; 2, the

Copyhold Township of Stockton ; 3, East Hartburn ; and, 4, Preston-on-Tees.

STOCKTON.

Stockton, includiug the Borough and Copyhold Town-

ship, comprises an area, including the adjacent water of

Tees, of 3,032 acres. Its population, in 1801, was

4,009; in 1811, 4,229; in 1821, 5,006; in 1831, in

consequence of the formation of railways to the coal-

field and the progress of trade in the port, it had

increased to 7,763 ; in 1841, to 9,825 ; and, in 1851, to

10,172, of whom 4,766 were males and 5,406 females.

The workhouse of the Stockton Union, situated in the

township, contained 37 persons in 1841, and 36 in 1851,

in the census of which year 96 persons on board sea-

going vessels were included. It will be seen, from

the above statements, that the population of the town

has increased, during the present century, more than

150 per cent. The Rev. T. Rudd stated the number of

families, " poor and rich," in 1666, at 166, which,

estimating four to a family, gives a population of 544,

80 that since that period the number of inhabitants has

increased twentyfold. In 1841, there were 1,859

inhabited houses, 55 uninhabited, and 28 building

;

and in 1851, 1,975 inhabited, 128 uninhabited, and 3

building. The value of property assessed for the county-

rate, in 1853, was £30,604.

In 1851, the Stockton and Darlington railway, which

has an extent of 2 miles and an acreage of 21a. 1r. 32p.

in the township, contributed £129 13s. 6d.. to the local

rates, and, in 1852, £120 8s. 3d. The Clarence rail-

way, extending 1m. 2f. and covering 14a. 1r. 24p.,

contributed (including stations, coal depots, &c.) £50
5s. 8d. in 1851, and £46 13s. lOd. in 1852. The"gross

amounts collected in the Borough and town of Stock-

ton, during these two years, were, £3,082 Is. Id., and

£2,097 19s. lOid.

HISTORY.

According to Cade, " Stockton derives its name from

the stocks or stumps of trees with which the site was

formerly overspread. It may be presumed the country

from Egglescliffe towards Norton was a forest of oaks

(similar to that where Oakham is situated) in the time

of the Britons. The Roman station was at Thornalby,

on the opposite side of the Tees ; and no doubt the con-

querors of the old world, at an early period, denuded a

district from whence they were subject to frequent

sallies and dangerous encounters." This derivation,

so characteristic of the antiquary who propounded it,

has been succeeded by another, perhaps equally fan-

ciful :
—" The name of Stockton must have been given

by Teutonic invaders, or not till after the language

became Teutonic. It is not unreasonable to suppose

that Stockton was originally a Danish post—a depot of

plunder for Danish freebooters ; or it might have been

the medium of a more peaceful intercourse with the
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Baltic and this northern district of England—the word

Stock signifying a fund or depository of goods," &c.

In the account given by Simeon of Durham of the

ravages of Scula and Onlafbal, which extended to

Billingham, Stockton is not mentioned, and was there-

fore probably not then in existence ; as, from the

proximity of the two places, the latter could scarcely

have escaped the fury of the Danish warriors. But

though early history is thus silent relative to this town,

its antiquity may be inferred from its giving name to

one of the wards of the county.* It has been con-

jectured that the castle and manor of Stockton belonged,

about the time of the Conquest, to some of the Norman
barons, by whom they were given to the see of Dur-

ham ; as, although a member of the wapentake of Sad-

berge, this place was part of the possessions of the see

before the purchase of that earldom. The town, like

many others similarly situated, probably owed its origin

to the protection afforded by the fortification, which,

in its turn, derived its conveniences and luxviries from

the markets held near its walls. The earliest authentic

account of the bishop's manor is contained in Boldon

Book, to the following effect :

—

There were eleven and a half tenures in villenage

;

each tenure consisting of two oxgangs, the rents and

services the same as Boldon, except cornage. Six

farmers held nine oxgangs ; their rents and services

like Norton. Adam Fitz-Walter held a carucate and

an oxgang under one mark rent. William de Tumba
held three oxgangs for half a mark, and one oxgang by

permission of the bishop, and was quit of all services so

long as he remained in the bishop's service ; but on

quitting it, he was to work as Walter did for his half

carucate. Robert held the old hall toft near his dwelling

for 16d. rent. Elwin and Robert, cottagers, paid 12d.

for two tofts ; Goderic, the cottager, 6d. ; and Suane,

the smith, 4d. for a toft. The punder held six acres,

and had the thraves of Stockton and Harteburn, ren-

dering fourscore hens and 500 eggs. The passage of

the Tees paid 20d. The whole vill provided one milch

cow. One oxgang, which the bishop held across the

Tees opposite the hall, paid 4s.

In the time of Richard I., "Robert de Stoketon sailed

• The ward is a subdivision corresponding to hundred in the south

of England. The origin of the latter is explained by stating that

England was divided into hides, about 294,950 in number. The hide

was the measure of the alod—the ethel, or inherited individual pos-

session ; it was the lot or share of the first settler, and kept a plough

at work, being supposed to suffice for the support of one hiitise or

household. For this purpose, it was considered that 100 or 120 acres,

the area of a hide, was then necessary. Ten such free families con-

the Bishop of Durham's (Pudsey) great ship to Lon-

don ;" and it is probable the same munificent prelate

might occasionally honour Stockton Hall or Castle with

his residence. Tradition states that Bishop Pictavia

was visited at Stockton by King John, who, a few years

afterwards, dated his charter of privileges to the burgesses

of Newcastle from this place, February, 5, 1214. Bishop

Poor erected a chapel at Stockton, to St. Thomas the

Martyr. When Bishop Farnham abdicated the see,he re-

served for himself, by the Pope's license, the manors of

Stockton, Easington, and Howden, and retiring to the

first-named place, "betoke himself to contemplacon."

He gave four oxgangs, and the toft and croft which be-

longed to Matildis de Cumba, to the chapel of St.

Thomas, and died at Stockton in 1257.

Bishop Stichill, in the first year of his episcopacy,

" granted to his beloved and faithful GameUus de Jarve

(Jarrow) two oxgangs of land in the vill de Stoketon,

which Elyas once held, and one acre and one rood

of meadow at Halneshalnes in the said vill, and also two

oxgangs in the said viU which Adam Castlelok once

held, which four oxgangs Henry de Tuding, clerke,

held for his life at his pleasure, to be holden by the said

GameUus and his heirs (not being Jews, but of the true

religion) in perpetual fee, rendering and paying for the

bishop's life half a mark of silver, and after his decease

20 shillings per each year ; and that the said Gamellus

shall grind his grain which shall grow on the said land

at the bishop's mill de Stoketon."

At what time Stockton was incorporated as a borough

does not appear ; but it is supposed to have received

this privilege from King John in 1201, when he

granted the charter of incorporation to Hartlepool.

In 1310, Bishop Beck granted to Stockton a market

upon every Wednesday for ever, and a fair every year

upon the feast of the translation of St. Thomas the

Martyr, Archbishop of Canterbury, to continue eight

whole days. Stockton is mentioned as having been one

of the places destroyed by the Scots in 1325 ; and a

naval ,orce was consequently stationed at the mouth of

the Tees. The town, however, seems to have speedily

revived, and enjoyed an increasing trade, as is evinced

by the following instrument, dated 17th Edw. III.

stituted a tyihing ; ten or twelve tj'things, a hundred; and an

indifferent number of hundreds, a shire. This arrangement, however,

was never carried out ; in the course of the thousand years which

have since elapsed, the face of the county has undergone great

changes ; and the distribution of the population, which &om less than

four millions has increased to eighteen millions, is no longer the same.

Hence, the necessity has arisen for the modem division of counties

and wards into districts and sub-districts.
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1344, from the mayor and bailiffs of Newcastle, to the

maj'or, bailiffs, and burgesses of Stockton, giving them

instructions respecting the usages and customs to be

observed :

—

*' Upon certain articles and customs of our town, the which,

amongst you in your towne above remember' d, you claim to use and

have, and which to you are not altogether well known, &c., the articles

and customs in the manner which with us in our town aforesaid we

use the same, and heretofore, time to the contrary whereof memorie

doth not remain, have used, &c. That merchandise coming within

the port of the said town of Newcastle, ought to be sold by the mer-

chants of the said merchandize, and not by the host, being a burgess,

and the host ought to receive to himself now part above his fellows,

and that the same merchandize ought not to be sold nor delivered

before the rising of the sun, nor after the setting of the same. And

that every burgess according to his stait ought to have of such lik

things and victuals for sustcntation of his hous, although he was not

at the buying th'of, whilst the ship was disburdening, &c. No bur-

gage ought to buy merchandize upon the sea coming, before they

come within the harbour of the to^vn, &c. except by the special

licence of the major. And that now boat ought to pass upon the sea

against the ships with merchandize fraught or carried, except some

sign be erected in the same ship, that the same ship is in danger ; and

that the merchandize may be sold before that ship, or within the ship,

or elsewhere within the liberty of the town, after a plank be laid and

fastened to the ship, viz. from the rising of the sun to the setting of

the same. And that fish and herring may be sold by the host, being

a burgess, and that the burgess bemg a host shall taike netting for

sail of the merchandize of straingers, only for fish and for herring he

may. And if more ships shall come at one flowing tyde of the sea,

every ship, distinctly and plainly, ought to be sold to the burgesses

pro denariis duos, by the noon of the day, and at divers prices, accord-

ing to the value of the things. And that the major of the town, and

sounder part of the commonalty amongst them, order whatsoever for

the utility of the town shall seam fitt to be ordered, and that which

amongst them shall be ordered, shall continue firm and establ. &c.

Every burgess may have a mill of his own upon his own land,hous-mill,

water-mill, or wind-mill, or hand-mill; he may also have an oven

or furnace, but not to bake bread to seU ; and he may receive his

neighbours' unto his oven, saving the right of our Sovereign Lord the

King of furnace or bakehouse. Every burgess may have his own

measur in his o^vn proper hous. The sonn of a burgess, whilst he is at

the finding or tabl of his father, shall have the same liberty which his

father hath. If the servant of a baron or knight be made a burgess,

and shall remain within the burrough one year and one day, without

calumpny of his lord or his bailifl', he shall be a burgess for ever.

Every burgess may send his corn to be ground to whatever -nill he

will. Now merchant, not being a burgess of the town aforcsd.d, may
by in the town wall or hidgs, except it be of the burgesses of the

town. Every burgess of the town aforesaid in his testants, his lands

and tenths which he hath purchased, he may give in legacie to whom-

soever he will, according to the custom of the town aforesaid.

Butchers which shall sell flesh dead of the murrin, or other flesh un-

wholesome or superseminate, shall be punished according to the

statute, &c. Cooks which shall sell pies half bak'd, or flesh not well

sodd, or roasted, or warmed, according to the same statute shall be

punished. Hucksters shall be amersed at the first time, which shall

by any thing before the fifth hour, as forestalling ; for the second fault

they shall forfeit the thing bought ; for the third fault tVicy sliall

sufi'er the judgment on the pillorie ; the fourth time he shall be im-

prisond and redeemd ; and the fifth time shall (decst.)

In testimonie whereof the seal of the majorallity of our towne afore-

VOL. II.

said to these presents to be fixed we have thought good. Given at

Newcastle upon Tyne on Thursday next after the feast of St. Matthew
the Apostle, in the year of the reign," &c.

Bishop Kellaw rebuilt the Castle or Manor-house at

Stockton in a very elegant style. October 18, 1376

(31st Hatfield), a commission was issued to inquire

against " John de Carrow and other malefactors, who
entered our Castle at Stockton vi ct armis, and took

away John, son and heir of Alice, daughter and heir of

Thomas Seton, being under age, and ward of the

bishop."

Hatfield's Survey contains a very circumstantial

account both of the Borough and manor. There were

thirty-nine tenants within the Borough, and forty-six

without it. The number of free tenants was seven.

Richard Maunce and his partners paid for the fee-farm

of the Borough, with the tolls, perquisites, fines for

alienation, the bakehouse, the toll called totoerst, and

22s. lid. ob.. Borough-rents as above in two parcels, in

all 106s. 8d. There was a park, with an ancient

orchard, and seven acres and a rood of inclosed meadow,

which were leased for £8 ; and a pasture called Bishop-

holme and Turspit, 40s. The ferry and ferry-boat

were also leased for 53s. 4d. Thomas Fowler, and

Emma, that was wife to William Fitz-Thomas, held mes-

suages by rents and services. The bond-tenants, besides

their several rents and services, jointly held Punderland,

six acres, 5s. ; and paid at Martinmas, in lieu of one

milch cow, 6s. Every bond rendered two hens at

Christmas, and ten eggs at Easter, in all 20 hens and

200 eggs. Of the selfodes and servants of the bonds,

as in Norton. There had been a smithy in the lord's

waste which used to pay 4d., then waste and out of

lease. The tenants jointly held the common bakehouse

for rent for castlemen at the four terms, 12d.

Eight persons are mentioned as holding exchequer-lands.

The chantry-lands were four oxgangs, with a messuage,

once of Robert Combe, which used to pay 6s. 8d., now
nothing, because they were in mortmain for a certain

chantry, occupied by a certain chaplain, then continually

celebrating ; an old toft, moreover, once of Robert de

Combe, the site of his hall-house, used to pay 16d.,also

nothing, being at the tenure of the same chaplain. A
plot, once of William Fitz-Thomas, exchequer-land,

used to pay 2d., now in the lord's hands, since the death

of Emma, wife of William. Besides the park and

orchard above named, there were seven score acres of

demesne meadow, lying in divers parcels, worth 3s. per

acre, in all £21. Other distinct portions occur, let at

various rents. The punder held, in right of his office,

y
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two parcels of meadow called Mirershevid and Wibbys-

gat, and the Parkside towards the south, one acre and

a half, and Beligate (Bailey-gate), and Jarnirgate

(Janiter-gate), and the road which leads to Preston.

Divers pasture grounds were let for £6 13s. 4d. ; and

the woods in the park for 16s. 8d.

Bishop Booth had a "ship" built at Stockton. In

his register, 1470, the charges connected with her build-

ing are thus stated :—Felling timber in Gatished woods,

12s. Carrying of the wood to the Tyne, two days

at 12d., 2s. Two barrels of pitch, 9s. " Flekes," 6d.

Seven stone of " sye," 21d. 50 "bords," called

" waynscoting," 20s. lOd. 32 st. of iron, at 6id., 17s.

4d. Working the same into nails, &c., at Sjd., 9s. 4d.

84 nails, called "great spikyng," (ijd.), 100 nails

(7d.) called " dowbyl spiking," 60 nails (5d.) called

"thaknale," 60 nails (3|d.) called " hechnale," 300

(greater hundred) nails (2s. 6d.) called "takenale,"

and 300 (greater) nails of wood, 7s. 7|d. For sawing

Ij rood of timber for the ship, at 3s. 4d., 4s. 2d. Car-

penters for the new ship, 36 days, at 7d., 21s. Other

carpenters, at 6d. Two new " orez " for na^dgating

the ship across the water and back again, 2s. Sum,

£6 5s. lOld.

The residence of later prelates at Stockton was merely

occasional, though the Castle received some repairs from

Bishop Barnes in 1578. In 1569, nine of the inhabitants

of the town were implicated in the Eising of the North,

of whom two expiated the oflence with their lives. At

this period, Stockton appears, from the following

passage in Camden, to have been, though a borough

town, a place unworthy of notice. " Beyond Darling-

ton," says he, "Tees hath no townes of any great

account standing upon it, but gliding along the skirtes

of green fields and by country villages, winding in and

out as he passeth, at length dischargeth himself at a

larse mouth into the ocean, whence the base and botham

of the triangle towards the sea beginneth."

In the summer of 1597, Bishop Matthew removed to

Stockton to avoid the plague, which raged at Durham;

and. in that year, part of Stockton Castle was accidently

burned. In 1602, Nicholas Fleatham, mayor, and the

burgesses of Stockton, petitioned Bishop Matthew for a

renewal of the charter of Anthony Beck, as, they alleged,

the market and fair had for many years been discon-

tinued. The desired charter was granted June 4, 44th

Elizabeth. Shortly afterwards, however, the inhabitants

disputed with the bishop the right of receiving duties

from ships coming into the port for anchorage and

plankage. A decree of the bishop's court of chancery,

1620, decided the dispute in favour of the prelate,

proving that those duties were paid in the time of

Henry VI., and that there was a staith or quay in the outer

court of the bishop's Castle at Stockton, at which ships

coming into the port arrived, and that the said staith or

quay had decayed within two or three years last past.

It has been supposed that the people of Stockton

were endeavouring to procure some chartered privileges

about the time of Charles the I.'s accession. What
these were does not appear ; but the jealousy of the

citizens of Durham was excited ; and, at a meeting of

the "Drapers and Taylors' Company" of that city, held

Februaiy 1, 1677, 58 being present, it was declared

that the granting of such privileges would be "to the

prejudice, damage, and ruin of this city and corporation."

There is no record of these circumstances in the posses-

sion of the corporation of Stockton.

Eushworth says, " Ou August the 29th (1640), Dr.

Morton, the Bishop of Durham, a learned and moderate

bishop, had an account of the defeat at Newburne, and

that the king's army were retreating into Yorkshire,

whereupon the said bishop went to his Castle of Stock-

ton, in the bishoprick of Durham, standing on the edge

of Yorkshire, but he quickly removed thence into York-

shire." The Castle, however, continued in the hands

of the royalists, as, according to the authority just quoted,

the king contemplated increasing its garrison, "in re-

gard the Scots had bi-ought in more men to Newcastle,

and placed more at Durham, than were at the beginning

of the treaty. However, to avoid all suspicion and

jealousie, his majesty was pleased to wave those inten-

tions." In the treaty of Eipon, executed October 26,

1640, the eighth article stipulates "that the river of

Tees shall be the bounds of both armies, excepting

always the town and castle of Stockton, and the village

of Eggscliffe ; and the counties of Northumberland,

and the bishoprick of Durham, be the limits within

which the Scottish army is to reside."

On April 4, 1642, an order of the House of Commons
was issued For paying " unto Sir Heniy Anderson,

Knight, and to the mayor of Stockton for the time

being, the sum of £7 2s. 8d., to be distributed to the

several inhabitants of Stockton, in discharge of part of

the billet-money due ujito the several inhabitants for

the bnietting his majesty's ai-my."

In August, 1644, Stockton was taken by the Earl of

Calender, and garrisoned by the Scots, who continued

to hold the Castle until after they had, in 1646, received

the price for which they sold the king to the parliament.

On February 26, 1646-7, the House of Commons

Thank you for purchasing from Ebay Shop Retromedia

http://stores.shop.ebay.co.uk/retromedia


PARISH OF STOCKTON. 153

resolved, " that Stockton Castle be made untenable, and

the garrison disgarrisoned j" and, on the 13th July

following, " that the house doth concur with the Lords,

that the works about Stockton Castle made sithence

these troubles, be slighted and dismantled, and the gar-

rison disgarrisoned." On March 24, 1647-8, Stockton

manor was sold to William Underwood and James

Nelthorpe for £6,165 10s. 2|d.; but the Castle was not

totally destroyed till four years afterwards.* The state

of the manor at that period is described in the following

document :

—

" An exact survey of the manor of Stockton, and of the townepps

thereunto belonging, viz. Carleton, Norton and Stockton, and Hart-

burne, made and taken by Edward Colston and George Daile, Gen-

tlemen, 1647. But tlie Court of Survey was begun by Thomas

Saunders, Samuel Leigh, Esquire, and George Daile, Gentleman, by

virtue of a commission to them and us directed 18th of January, 1646,

made from the honourable the trustees in the said commission named

and authorised, with others, by 2 several ordinances of the High

Court of Parliament, for the disposal of archbishopps and bishopps

lands, throughout the whole kingdom of England and dominion of

Wales. The jury enquire into severall articles, and present with the

said commissioners as followeth, (^iz.)

"That the B'pp's Castle, situate at the South end of the Towne of

Stockton by the river Tease, is ruinous, and in great decay ; that the

River is Navigable, & within 10 miles of the Mayue Sea.—That the

towne of Stockton is an anticnt Burrough & Markett towne by antient

Charters, but the Markett uuserv'd of late, it standing very dirty in

winter, formerly a fair for 8 days.

" That the Country is a Champion Country, very fruitful, though a

stiff clay.

" 'J'hat the Castle hath had a great moate ab'- it, but the same is

now for want of cleansing filled up in part, & within that moate hath

heretofore been orchards and gardens, but all destroyed ; there hath

likewise been a Parke, but the same hath been disparked.

" That there belongeth to the said Castle good demesnes worth per

ann. as it is now lett, £218 Is. Id. viz. a meadow or parke lying

tinder the Castle Wall, containing 26 acres, now lett for £19 Os. 4d.

—

The Thornes, with the Intack & horse close, containing about thirty

acres, & the other ground abt- 20 acres, lett for £30 2s. 8d.—The Park

heads 45 acres, Littie meadow field 40 acres, lett for £41 9s. 9d.—The
great Sura'er field 130 acres, and Winter field, lett for £82 18s. 7d.—
Kclsoe Hill 40 acres, and Midnight Hole 40 acres, letten for £41 9s.

9d.—Smithy Hill & orchard, lying under the Castle Wall, is now lett

for £00 lOs. Od.—All which amounts together to £218 Is. Id.—And
by the testimony of several upon oath the same is worth £280 Os. Od.

—That there is no wood growing upon any part of it, or in that part

of ye Country ; nor is there any Quarryes, Mynes, Parks, or Sheep
Racks within the said Moate, except the Park above mentioned be-

longing to the B'pp.

• An imaginary view of the castle, previous to its demolition, is

given in Brewster's History of Stockton. The history of the

drawing from which this view was taken is thus given by Ritson :

—

" Old Mr. Burden, of Norton, told me that Mr. Thompson, the Pres-

byterian minister here, had collected several very curious papers

relating the castle, chapel, and borough of Stockton and Norton, and
the county in general, which at his decease came to his daughter,

" That the B'pp has the royalties of the River Tease, as Whales,

Sturgeons, Porpoises or the like, taken on that side the River next

the County of Durham within his manor of Stockton, & all wracks of

the sea, but know not what they are worth:—not £5 per ann.

"That there is one Water Come Milne called Norton Milne, w^h

we are informed the Ten's of the severaU Townepps within the said

mann'' (save only Carleton) are tyed to grind all their Corne at ; *c

that there belongeth to the said Milne 6 acres of meadow, the hay of

which belongeth to the Ten' of ye s* Milne, but the herbage thereof

after the hay taken off' belongeth to the Inli'itants of theTowuepp of

Norton, which s*- Milne is lett by lease unto Alice Armstrong for 3

Lives.—And the Copyholders within the s^- severaU To'i^Tiepps by the

Custome of the s<l- mann'r- are to repaire the si- Milne with Thatch &

Wall, & to scour the Race & Dame, when need requireth ; & to fetch

such timber from time to time from Clarke wood near Osmotherley or

elsewhere, within 12 miles distance from the said Milne, as also the

Milstoncs for the use of the sd- Mihie from Raley-Grcen or Walker

field, for which their service every draught is to have 4d. per mile, &

their Men's Dinners paid by the tenant : other Milnes we knowe of

none within the s* mann. belonging to the B'pp.

"That the sov'rall Ten's- of the afores'i- Townepps (viz.) Copy-

holders, are to do suit and service to the Lords Courts, & to carry his

provision or household stuff'e to Durham or B'pp Auckland from

Stockton Castle, (viz.) at Id. per Bushell for Corne, and 4d. per mile

for every draught, & meat & drink for men and Cattle ;—Wee dont

know of any releif or heriott ever paid unto any B'pp after the death

of any tenant.

" That there is 60 Oxgangs of Land in Norton, the Owners whereof

at such times as the B'pp had his demesnes at Stockton in his owne

possession did helpe to winn & mowe the hay, or otherwise to pay

the sunie of 40s. in lieu thereof, yo service being 00 daysworkc.—The

Tenants of Hartburne pay yearly for service silver 8s. Stockton

townepp for the like, 8s.

" That the fi'ynes upon Death or Alienacon of Copyholders ai'e

certaine as we believe and not arbitrary, for that time out of mind the

severall Copyholders upon death or aliena'con have paid a certaine

sume to the Lord of this mann''- imposed upon them by the title of a

Cesse, web hath been always certaine upon every tenant, although

some less than the annual rent reserved, and others the full rent

reserved, & upon others more then the rent, but aU these certaine, as

appeareth by the severaU Copyes of one and the same thing for many

descents.

" That the works, customs, and services of the Copyholders are

little worth, and that we know of no Cottagers within this mann'r-

" That we know not what the p'fitts of the Courts, Wayfcs, Strayes,

Felons goods, AVrecks of the sea, Fynes, Amerciaments, or other the

like Casualtyes are worth per ann, unto the Lord.

"That Warrens or Forrests tlie B'pp hath none within this mann'.

But liis Priviledges, Royaltyes, Franchises are great, as he had Jura

Regalia within the County Palatine of Durliam.

"That the Lord hath the right of Presenta'con of the Vicaridgc of

Norton, and of tlie Chapelry of Stockton.

"That there is belonging to the said Vicaridge Glebe lands worth

£60 per ann. and the same is a man'- and keepeth its Courts two times

in the year, and oftencr if he please ; and one Brough is the vicar

who was married to Mr. Joseph Watt, of Stockton, after whose

death she sold them to George Weatherall a grocer there, who made

tobacco and sugar papers of them ; and that the only one he (Mr.

Burdon) knew saved was part of an account of the castle with a

drawing of it, which he now lias, and which Mr. Smith had got

wrapped about a pennyworth of gunpowder ! !

!"
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there : his tithes are valued to be worth £40 per aun.—Housing he

hath rery convenient, & the same in reasonable good repaire.

" That the Lireing at Stockton is a poor peu'con not worth above

per ann. £30 or £35 or thereabouts."

The LailifiF of the Borough was also keeper of the

Castle, with the territories, gardens, and orchards be-

longing to it, and was allowed pasture, herbage, and

hay, within the pastures of the bishop, for two horses

and ten cows ; together with a patent fee of £6 13s. 4d.

per annum, and other profits, advantages, and emolu-

ments of place. The £6 ceased with the office of

keeper; but the steward of the bishop's court

retains 13s. 4d.

The sequestration of the property of royalists, and its

appropriation to parties friendly to the parliament, have

been put on record :

—

" Stockton. A warrant to Rowland Burden, of Stockton, author-

izing him to execute the office of baUiffof Stockton, wh late belonged

to Roger Carre, Gent. dec<l- Apud Sadberge, 23 Aug. 1644.

" 16 Sept. 1644. Certificate for Rowland Burdon, that he is well

affected to the parliament. Eod. die. Richard Melsonby app'sd to

looke to preseri-e the woods of Lieut. Coll. Thos Davison attWinyard

and Fulthorp, for the benefitt of the Com'onwealth. Eod. die.

Warr' for George Sayer, of Preston, and Jo. Medcalf, to give

satisfacc'on to Rowland Burdon and Robert Burdon for a trespas on

the tyth of Preston.

"Friday, 20 Sept. 1644. Warrant for the D. and C. tenants in

Stockton Warde to appear before us. High constables for Stockton

Warde, Robert Johnson of Greatham, Thomas Welfoot of Bishopton.

" 10 Dec. 1644. Warr' to sequester ths goods of Mr. Philip

Mallory, at Norton. 16 Feb. 1644. Seq' of Mr. Laurence Sayer and

Leonard Stott's land in Preston.

" Letten to Rowland and Robert Burdon four and a half organgs

of land in Stockton, late belonging to Richard Grubham, delinq')

£15 IDs.

"28 Feb. 1644. Letten to Rowland and Robert Burdon all the

demesne-lands of Stockton, viz. the Great Summer-field, the Winter-

field, Little Winter-field, Kelsey-hiU, and the Parkes, £125 for a year.

11 Dec. 1645. The same lett to George Lilbume, Esq., £166 for a

year. 28 Feb. 1644. The Thomes, Horseclose, and Intack, parcel of

the demesnes, lett to Robert Guy, Bryan Crosby, Wm Usher, and

Catherine Fowler, £25 per ann. Eod. die. Letten to Richard Wil-

kinson, of Paul Hartbume, one tenement, now in his possession,

belonging to Mr. Robert Ellis, delinquent, rent 40 marks."

In 1660, the township of Stockton sent nine men,

with arms, being its proportion, to a muster of the

militia on Chester Moor ; the charges on the township

for the same being £3 os. lOd. On the 1st of May, in

the following year, the town contained only 120

• The presence of these auxOiaries seems to have been very dis-

tasteful to the male part of the inhabitants, as is evinced by the

following extracts, quoted by Brewster :—"Stockton, Jan. 2, 1745-6.

We are all here in confusion, with having so many Dutch qu.artered

among us. TT'e had three at the first, but have now got happily rid

of their nauseous company." Jan. 30, 1745-6. "The people you

mentioned are Dutch, and not the Koyal Hunters ; and though they

dwelling-houses, and none of them of brick ; the few

which were of stone having been constructed of materials

from the Castle.

On the 24th of April, 1666, Stockton obtained a

charter from Bishop Cosin, for a fair and market,

similar to those granted by Bishops Beck and Matthew,

About the same time, it was represented that there were
" divers large and spacious fields and parcels of ground

lying and being within the township territories of

Stockton, which lay in common and undivided." The

inclosure of these wastes created a spirit of improvement

in the town, which has ever since prevailed.

During the winter of 1739-40, the weather was ex-

tremely severe ; and apprehensions being entertained of

a scarcity of grain, the price rose considerably. In

May and June, 1740, there was much rioting in Stock-

ton, whence there was an exportation of com. No
troops could be had ; and the mob seized the boats

laden with wheat, which they declared a lawful prize,

before "Admiral Haddock," their commander. At

length, soldiers arrived ; and some of the ringleaders

were taken, though not without opposition, to Durham
gaol, and afterwards transported for seven years to

America.

The panic during the rebellion of 1745-6 was as pre-

valent in Stockton as elsewhere ; the town was filled

with German troops,* and a small corps of volunteers

was raised for its protection. There were great re-

joicings when news arrived of the victory at Culloden

;

and a raft laden with combustibles was set on fire, and

floated down the river.

On December 9, 1780, the shock of an earthquake

was experienced at Stockton.

Loyal addresses from Stockton were presented to the
j

king and his ministers at various periods during the I

American war, and on the breaking out of the French

Revolution. In 1798, the Loyal Stockton Volunteers

were enrolled for the defence of the town, and upwards

of £850 was subscribed in aid of government, for pro-

secuting the war with France.

In July, 1799, a powerful whirlwind carried several •

hundredweight of hay to an immense perpendicular I

height, whilst some haymakers were at work in a field

near the town.

are the very outcasts, yet have they found a way to make themselves

agreeable both to young and married ladies in this place. They had

an assembly last Monday night, to which was invited several married

ladies, unmarried, and widows, but with strict injunction that no

Englishman should come in they placed a sentinel at every

door but the soldiers have now got an order to hold themselves

in readiness to m.-urch, and Sunday is said to be the appointed day."
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On May 13, 1802, the Stockton Volunteer corps was

disembodied ; but, on the renewal of hostilities in the

following year, they were again called out, and arrange-

ments, similar to those adopted in Bishop Middleham,

(see vol. i., page 394,) were made for removing the

•women, children, aged, and infirm to Bishop Auckland,

in case the country should be invaded by an enemy.

In 1814, the establishment of peace was celebrated by

an illumination and other rejoicings.

On the 24th September. 1827, the Duke of Wellington

passed through Stockton, on his way towards Wynyard.

On this occasion, a triumphal arch was erected at the

south entrance of the town ; and his grace, having been

met at Yarm bridge by a procession of the nobility,

clergy, and gentry of the neighbourhood, was conducted,

amidst the firing of cannon, to the Town Hall at Stock-

ton, where addresses were delivered from the mayor,

aldermen, and recorder of Stockton ; the mayor, alder-

men, and recorder of Hartlepool ; and the inhabitants

of Stockton and its neighbourhood. An entertainment,

of which about 100 persons partook, was prepared in

the Assembly Room ; after which the duke departed,

with the Marquis and Marchioness of Londonderry, for

Wynyard.

The recent legislative enactments, relative to the town

and port, will be noticed under their respective heads.

THE TOWN.

The town of Stockton is 20 miles by road south-

south-east from Durham, 27 south from Sunderland,

10 south-south-west from Hartlepool, 1 1 east-north-east

from Darlington, 4 north-north-east from Yarm, and

242 north-north-west from London. It occupies the

outer verge of an angle formed by the river Tees,

which here changes from a northerly to an eastern

direction. It is described as " bounded on the east and

south-east by a range of hills at the distance of 14 miles

or more from its site. On the west and north-west

there is a general ascent from the estuary or bay towards

the centre of the country. A funnel-like valley is thus

• On August 8, 1792, a number of silver coins were found concealed

in an inner w.ill of an old house near the Market Place. Many were

in good preservation, among which were some of Edward VI.,

Queens Mary and Elizabeth, Charles I., and James II., but none of

the Commonwealth. They were claimed as treasure-trove, and 840

of them, weighing 91b. 4oz., were delivered to the Lishop of Durham,
as lord of the manor. Several other coins and tokens have occa-

sionally been found at Stockton.

t The Burdon family were extensively ramified in Stockton. The
following deposition occurs in 1675, "on the part of Agnes, alias

VOL. II.

formed between the high lands of Durham and the

Cleveland hills, through which the river Tees flows.

The town is seated on a bed of diluvial clay of great

thickness, overlaying a stratum of sandstone, which

is principally visible in the bed of the Tees, at the

great whin dyke at Preston, because, it is said, of the

immense thickness of the diluvian beds which occupy

almost entirely the country between Stockton and Dar-

lington. The red marl between Yarm and Darlington

is ascertained to be at least 120 fathoms thick. Tlie upper

soil is loamy, resting upon a stratum of gravel and sand,

overlaying a solid blue clay."

The principal street of Stockton, called High Street,

runs north and south, and is about three-quar-

ters of a mile in length, and at the Marhet Place,

at the southern portion, is 180 feet wide. These

dimensions are much beyond what are usually found in

either old or modern towns, and impart an open, cheerful,

and cleanly aspect to the place. Originally, however, it

was unpaved ; the houses were constructed of lath and

plaster, with roofs of straw thatch ; and, in 1611, even

the mayor's house was of no better materials. Brick,

which is now commonly applied in building, seems to

have been sparingly used ; and the ouly stone erections

were those constructed from the ruins of the castle.

The first order for paving was made in 1717, and soon

after two pumps were directed to be sunk. In 1718, an

order occurs " that all the whole Borough from the com-

mon channels shall be paved ; that a smith's shop

adjoining to the Toll-booth shall be purchased, and that

the moneys which shall yearly come to the Borough shall

be laid out in paving." The last thatched house in

Stockton was pulled down in 1788.* The east side of

High Street was flagged in 1810, and the west in

1812. On this side, and near the south end, stood the

oldest house in the town, well known by the name of

" TIic Blue Posts," from two pillars of blue marble,

that had been taken from the Castle ; they supported

a projecting gable, on which was inserted the date,

1485. This was the family house of the Burdens,

ancestors of Rowland Burdon, Esq., of Castle Eden.f

Aime Borden, wife of William Burden, against Elizabeth Anderson,

in a cause of defamation" :

—

" Thomas Fewler, of Stokton, coteman, alias chapman, aged about

50 years.—He saith that, about Candlemas last past, this deponent,

being their nigh neibor, was bringing in two stirks of his from the

wayter into his owne house, at what tyme the parties was chidynge,

and one of them revilinge the other. And this deponent then hiird

Elizabeth Anderson caull the said Anne Burden ' crowkct handyd

wytch.' He saith the words was spoken audicntly there ; thor might

many have hard them ; bcinge spoken so neigh the crose and in the

towue gait as they were.—Signum f TuoM-ii Fewlek. "

Z
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It was taken down in 1811, and the stone posts

were added to the remains of the Castle. Its site

is now occupied by an inn. A house west of the

church, which belonged to a branch of the Burdons

whose heiress married into the Webster family, is

inscribed " Hcec domus cedijicata fuif, An>io Domini

1671, per E. B." Nearly the whole of the houses in

High Street are now modern erections, and contain

the principal shops, inns, &c., in the town.

At the north entrance into the town, by the Norton

road, which is crossed by the Stockton branch of the

Clarence railway, various new streets and rows have been

erected during the last 20 years. Amongst these may be

named Albert Place, Major-street, Haffron-street,

Thorpe-street, Garbutt-street, Catholic-street, King-

street, Queen-street, Thomas-street, Thompson-street,

Wellington Place, Victoria Terrace, Tennant-street.

Mount Pleasant, Elysian Place, Hewg ill-street,

Clarence Terrace, Buhner's Buildings, and North

Terrace.

Several streets and passages branch off from the High

Street towards the river on the east. The first of these

is Church Roio, the front of which faces the parish

church on the south, and is continued towards the

east by Paradise Row. In front of the latter, which

was erected on the site of an old ropery, is The Square,

a spacious green, planted with trees and shrubs. It

was inclosed with wood rails in 1803 ; and, in 1822,

these were succeeded by a paling of iron. The vicarage

and other good houses range along the row on the north

side of the square. Other streets and lanes extend east-

ward from Paradise Row to the railway. Commercial-

street, Maritime-street, and Fletcher-street, are recent

erections in this locality, comprising what is known by

the name of the Ranters' Buildings.

From the south-eastern angle of the Square, a lane

leads in a south-south-east direction to Smithfield, so

called from a field belonging to John Smith, who erected

a considerable portion of the houses upon it. A line of

pleasant houses extends along the banks of the Tees,

called Cleveland Row, from the fine prospect of

the Cleveland hills which it commands. Houseicife

Lane and Cherry Lane (once a garden) lead from the

south side of the Square to the Tees, near which stands

the old Custom-house.

The south-west corner of the Square communicates

with an open space called Thistle Green, formerly of

greater extent. Near this place, the banks of the Tees,

which here form a crescent, are bordered by a number

of good houses, quays, wharfs, granaries, bond and other

warehouses, breweries, manufactories, ship-building

and timber yards, &c.

The next avenues leading eastward from the High

Street are Bishop-street and Silver-street ; the former

joining the south-west corner of Thistle Green, and the

latter ending at Calvert's Gate, which leads to the river.

These two streets, in the beginning of the last century,

and before the intervening workhouse and alms-houses

were erected, were continuous under the common name

of Broad-street ; the two sides being distinguished by

the names of North-street and South-street.

Further to the south, Finkle-street* branches east

from High-street to the river. Playhouse Yard, on the

north side of Finkle-street, contains the Theatre, and

communicates with Silver-street and Bishop-street.

Castle Gate, near the south-eastern corner of High-

street, receives its name from its situation near

the entrance of the ancient Castle. It was pre\-iously

called Cook's IVynd, from a family named Cook, who,

soon after the year 1700, erected a large house, still

standing at the corner of the street; and, at a more

early period, the passage was called Ferry Lane, as

having been the road to the ferry-boat, which used to

ply at this place before the erection of the bridge.

On the west side of High-street, near its northern

extremity, is Bishopton Lane, from which the road to

Durham branches to the north-west. Further south are

Dovecot-street (so called from an ancient dove-house or

pigeon-cot, recently removed, which stood out of the

line in front of the other houses) and Ramsgate. Park

Row, branching off from the south-west corner of

High-street, is continued by Yarryi Lane.

Connecting Mill Lane (a continuation of Dovecot-

street) and Yarm Lane, are parallel streets, running

north and south, called IVest Roto, William-street,

Brunswick-street, and Skinner-street, and a cross

street called Albert-street.

Opposite to the south end of High-street are

the gas works, from the east end of which the New
Walk extends in a south and south-east direction

to the bridge over the Tees. This Walk occupies

the site of the western fosse of the Castle ; on the

southern part of which several small dwellings arc

now situated, called Cottage Row. On the east front,

towards the river, are various granaries and manufac-

tories. The walls of a garden, which occupies the

northern ditch, have evidently been built out of the

• " A I'eimil, vennel, Tenilla, the common kennel, sink, or drain.

The plant fennel is in this country commonly called finkle."

—

Ritton,
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squared stones of the Castle. Near the Walk is King

Johi's Well, so called from a tradition of that monarch

having built the Castle, but still known by its more an-

cient name of St. John's Well : the water from it runs

through the southern fosse. On the 20th of August,

1842, a well, supposed to have been closed for nearly

two centuries, or since the demolition of the Castle, was

discovered by an ingenious mechanic, who occupied a

cottage and garden within the precincts of the fortress.

The surface, for several inches deep, was covered with

gravel, beneath which were found a large number of

tiles ; these, though apparently fresh when found, were,

on being taken out, mostly in a shattered state. The
inclosure, in which there is not a stone of the original

structure now to be seen, is still called the Park. Bishop

Barrington appropriated it and other parts of his demesne

lauds at Stockton, for the purpose of forming a milk

farm for the use of the poor of the town ; and a sort of

embattled cow-house was built on the spot. The Walk
was formed by subscription about 50 years ago, and

planted with trees by George Sutton, Esq. On the

west side of the bridge road is a large coal depot,

connected with the Stockton and Darlington railway,

which is continued from this place to the quays in

the eastern part of the town. Attached to the sta-

tion there is a commodious inn, and other appropriate

erections.

The Borough of Stockton comprises only a small

portion of tl'e town, by which it is entirely surrounded.

It extends from Dovecot Street ou the north to near

the south end of High Street, Park Row, &c. ; and

from the river on the east to West Row on the west.

In 1851, it contained 342 inhabited houses and 15

uninhabited; the population consisted of 888 males

and 979 females, or 1,867 in all. The jurisdiction of

the town consisted of two parts ; one, exclusively that

of the Borough, and the other that part beyond its

boundary ; constables and surveyors of highways being

separately appointed for each district.

There are 72 Borough rights, each consisting of a

certain portion of ground, with the buildings thereon,

and laid down on the old plan preserved among the

corporation records. On one section (near No. 45) a

memorandum states, " This is the thing in question,

and has never had a Borough right." The number of

holders of these rights is continually varying j the

burgages are not all of equal size, many of them having
been subdivided ; but only one vote in the corporation

can be given for each original portion, and this riglit is

exercised in turns, annually, by each owner ; except in

some instances, where, at the division, the Borough
right has been reserved to some particular property.

The length of carriage-way within the Borough is

1,180 yards, of foot-way 1,808 yards, the total area of

paved surface to the carriage-way 18,494 square yards,

and flagging 1,888 square yards. Without the Borough,

the length of carriage-way is 11,643 yards, and of foot-

way 14,235 yards. The length of adopted roads in the

township is 3 miles 3 furlongs 8 roods ; the requisite

expenditure being about £500 per annum.

Some dissatisfaction has recently been expressed in

consequence of various public footpaths in the neigh-

bourhood of the town having been closed by the adjoining

landowners, or through their influence ; and two of them

were, in 1853, ordered to be re-opened, one leading

across the Park field by the Tees, and the other near

Oxbridge Lane. Amongst other alleged grievances

was the removal, in 1852, of a wooden bridge across the

old channel of the Tees, which preserved the continuity

of the foot-road between Stockton and Middlesborough,

and saved a considerable distance. This, it appears, was

done by the conservators of the river, at the instance of

the proprietors of the Stockton and Middlesborough

railway, whose property, it was said, was trespassed

upon by the public. In July, 1853, Mr. Trotter, mayor

of Stockton, declared his intention of bringing the sub-

ject before the conservancy board; and the corporation

of the town have also expressed an opinion favourable

to the restoration of the bridge.

An act of parliament was procured in the 1st year of

the reign of George IV., 1820, intituled, " An Act for

Lighting, Cleansing, and otherwise Improving the

Town and Borough of Stockton," in the preamble of

which it is stated that " the streets, squares, and other

public passages and places of the town and borough of

Stockton are not properly lighted, paved, and cleansed,

and are subject to various encroachments, nuisances,

and annoyances." The provisions of this act applied to

the whole town. The number of commissioners named
amounted to 94, exclusive of the mayor and aldermen,

aU of whom were ex-officio members.

At a quarterly meeting of the council, in 1838, it was

resolved to procure by-laws for the better government

of the town, as regarded the cleansing and watering of

streets, removing nuisances, removal of offensive things,

&c., to which the Lords of the Privy Council gave their

consent on the 20th of October in that year ; but these

by-laws could only be put in force in the Borough.

On the 27th of November, 1847, at a general meeting
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of the inhabitants, a sanitary committee was appointed,

consisting of the vicar and the mayor of Stockton, the

Rev. R. D. Kennicott, the Rev. A. Gray, Drs. Keenly-

side and Whiteside, and Messrs. W. Skinner, T. Wren,

J. Smith, J. Byers, W. C. Newby, J. R. Wilson,

T. Close, Robinson AVatson, and C. H. Skinner ; Mr.

^\\ Richardson, secretary ; and Mr. R. Richmond,

treasurer. In consequence of the statements contained

in the report of the committee, as to the drainage,

paving, scavengeriug, &c., in the town, a resolution of

the Inhabitants -was agreed to, calling upon the com-

missioners under the local act to carry out its provi-

sions, and to enforce those of the Nuisance Removal

Act.

In 1848, a petition was forwarded to the General

Board of Health, from certain inhabitants of the

Borough, and another from inhabitants of the other

part of the town, praying that the provisions of the

Public Health Act, 11 and 12 Vict., c. 63, might be

applied to the Borough and town. W. Ranger, Esq.,

superintending inspector, after giving the requisite

notice, entered upon a preliminary inquiry, in the

Corporation Hall, on the olst of October, 1848,

and received evidence from medical men and others.

His report is dated April 11, 1850, and contains the

Tisual suggestions as to a plentiful supply of water, the

removal of nuisances, the ventilation of streets and

dwellings, drainage, &c., together with an opinion that

the Public Health Act ought to be applied to the town;

three members of the town council, and nine properly

qualified inhabitants of the town, to form the local

board of health. No further progress, however, was

made in the matter at that time.

Simultaneously with a measure for the transfer of the

conservancy of the river Tees (noticed hereafter), a bill

was introduced into parliament in 1852, " to extend

the boundaries of the municipal borough of Stockton,

to transfer to the corporation thereof the properties and

effects now vested in certain commissioners having

jurisdiction in the township of Stockton, and to make

provision for better draining, lighting, watching, paving,

cleansing, supplying with water, and improving the

Borough." The boundaries of the Borough were to

be extended to those of the township. AA^ith the in-

tended act were to be incorporated the whole or some

portion of the following :—An act of 5 and 6 William

IV., Intituled, "An Act to provide for the Regulation

of Municipal Corporations in England and Wales;"

" The Towns Improvement Clauses Act, 18-47 ;" " The

Town Police Clauses Act, 1847 ;" " The Markets and

Fairs Clauses Act, 1847 ;" and " The Public Health

Act, 1848."

The necessity of an application to parliament had

arisen from the fact that the Borough of Stockton, com-

prising only one-fifth in value of the rateable property

in the town, was placed in the second section of Sche-

dule A, 5 and 6 William IV., whereby her majesty

was precluded from granting the desired extension of

the town by order in council. The bill met with con-

siderable opposition in parliament ; but being supported

by the corporation and other influential parties, it was

eventually passed, in April, 1852 ; and the rate-payers

of the township generally, instead of those of the

Borough only, became invested with the municipal

franchise. The anomaly was thus removed of a go-

verning body of 24 members being elected from a

constituency of about four times that number, not 50 of

whom were eligible for election ; whilst the numerous

surrounding population were unenfranchised. The act,

as amended in committee, is intituled " The Stockton

Extension and Improvement Act, 1852."

Boundaries of the BoRorcH.—The boundaries of

the Borough, as altered and extended by the act,

" commence at Portrack Bridge, thence along the

south and east sides of a brook called Lustram

Beck, up to and as far as a point 188 yards in a

direct line from the north side of a bridge called

Hartburn Bridge, which crosses the Lustram Beck,

on the turnpike road leading from Stockton to Dar-

lington, and at which said point the said beck

called Lustram Beck runs entirely into the town-

ship of East Hartburn, thence along the boundary

fence, between the townships of East Hartburn and

Stockton, to the said turnpike road leadmg from

Stockton to Darlington- -thence along the north side

of that turnpike road in an easternly direction to

where such road meets the turnpike road leading from

Stockton to Yarm ; thence across such last-mentioned

turnpike road, and in a southerly direction, along the

east side of the said last-mentioned road, to where the

same is joined by the Stockton and Darlington Railway,

at which point a signal-post is placed, belonging to

the said Stockton and Darlington Railway Company

;

thence along the north boundary of that railway till it

reaches the river Tees at the Railway Bridge : thence

along the line of high water, at ordinary spring tides,

on the Durham shore of the said river Tees till it

reaches the bend in that river at the lower end of Blue

House Point, near Portrack (which bend was cut off
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from, and ceased to form part of, the navigable channel

of the Tees by the * Tees Navigation Company's Act,

1828') ; and thence in a northernly or north-easternly

direction along the line of high water at the tides

aforesaid on the Durham shore of such bend until it

reaches the said bridge at Portrack aforesaid."

Within these limits the Borough is divided into four

wards,* each of which returns six councillors. The

powers and property held by the commissionersf under

the act of 1820 are vested in the mayor, aldermen,

and burgesses, who are to have power to levy rates,

penalties, or other monies ; to supply gas and water

to the town, for which purpose they may lease the

works of the existing companies; to improve the streets,

lanes, and roads ; to regulate fairs and markets ; and

to appoint constables for that purpose.

CHURCH OF ST. THOMAS.

It has been seen that Stockton was originally parcel of

the parish of Norton. The chapel of ease built by

Bishop Poor stood near the centre of the old church-

yard, south of the present church, and does not appear

to have possessed any claims to architectural beauty.

By the original ordination, Bartholomew, vicar of

» BouNDAKiEs OF THE Wabds.—^The respective boundaries of the

wards, as fixed by the act, are as follow :

—

"The South-east Ward—to commence at the stone bridge over the

river Tees, in the township of Stockton ; thence along the east side of

the road leading from that bridge to the town of Stockton ; thence

along the east side of the High Street, in Stockton aforesaid, including

on such east side the Shambles and the Town Hall ; then to the shop

or dwelling house, number 25, on the east side of the said High

Street, ill Stockton aforesaid ; thence along the south side of Bishop

Street aforesaid to the point called the Bishop's Landing Place in the

Tees ; and thence southwards, along the line of high water atorduiary

spring tides on the western shore of the said river Tees, to the said

Stone bridge over the said river
;

" The South-west Ward—to commence at the said stone bridge

over the said river Tees ; thence along the west side of the said road

leading from that bridge to the town of Stockton aforesaid : thence

along the west side of said High Street to the point where the same

meets Dovecot Street, beingnumber 1 30 in the High Street ; thence along

thesouthsideof the saidstreet called Dovecot Street, and along the south

side of the road or footpath leading from thence, in a westernly direction

or north-westernly direction, pastLightPipeHall.to thewooden bridge

over the said brook, called Lustram Heck ; and thence southwards,

along the eastern margin of the said Lustram Beck, to the before-

mentioned point, 188 yards in a direct line from the north side of the

said bridge called Hartburn Bridge ; thence in the line before described

from that point to the said railway bridge over the Tees ; and thence

along the line of high water at ordinary spring tides on the western

shore of the said river Tees to the before-mentioned stone bridge over

the same river ;

"The North-west Ward—to commence at the said wooden bridge
over the said Lustram Beck, and thence in an eastcrnly direction

Norton, agreed to find an officiating chaplain, and the

parishioners were to have in their said chapel of Stock-

ton baptism, burial, and all ecclesiastical rights ; they

were to visit the mother church on the Feast of the

Assumption, and pay to the vicar 50s. at four terms,

viz., at the Feast of St. Martin in winter, 12s. 6d. ; at

the Feast of St. Cuthbert in Lent, 12s. 6d. ; at the Feast

of the Nativity of St. John Baptist, 12s. 6d. ; and at

the Feast of St. Cuthbert in September, 12s. 6d. The
persons who became sureties for the payment of these

sums were, Ada son of Ada Preston, Walter Ruffus,

Hugo Nasuc, Richard Poker de Preston, Walter son

of Walter de Hartburne, William son of Robert Provost,

Eudo, clerk de Norton, Roger Cornccd, William Smith,

Thomas Giei, Ada Carpenter, John Scalin, Thomas

Sprot, and Walter de Stockton, clerk. In case of

failure of payment, celebration of divine offices and

sacraments was to cease ; and for contumacy, they were,

with the consent of the archdeacon of Durham and the

chapter of Darlington, to be altogether revoked. On
every Lord's day, the parishioners were to offisr one

penny with the consecrated bread, except when they

attended the mother church.

There was a chantry or free chapel in Stockton,

dedicated to the Virgin Mary, endowed with four ox-

along the north side of the said road or footpath leading from such

wooden bridge to Dovecot Street aforesaid ; thence along the north

side of Dovecot Street and the west side of the said High Street ; and

so, in a northerly direction, along the west side of the road leading

from Stockton aforesaid to Norton Bridge ; and thence, in a south-

ernly and westernly dhection along the east side of the said Lustram

Beck to the said wooden bridge before named

;

" The North-east Ward—to commence at Portrack Bridge, riuiuing

thence along the south side of Lustram Beck aforesaid, where the

same beck joins the east side of Norton Bridge aforesaid ; thence, in

a southendy direction, along the east side of the road leading ii-oni

such last-mentioned bridge, to Stockton aforesaid ; thence along the

east side of the said High Street to the south-west corner of the

Alms-houses in Stockton ; and thence, in an easternly direction,

along Bishop Street and the Kennel at the south side of Thistle Green

in Stockton, till it meets the line of high water at the tides aforesaid

at the said Bishop's Lauding Place; and thence, along the same line

of liigh water on the north shure of the said rivei to Blue House
Point ; and thence along the castside of the said before-mentioned bend

at Portrack, so cut off by the said 'Tees Navigation Company's Act of

1828 ' as aforesaid, until such boundary reaches the said bridge at

Portrack aforesaid."

t At the LnnuLry in 184S, Mr. Wade, a commissioner and treasurer,

stated, " that he generally attends the meetmgs, but he finds very great

difficulty in getting five other members to attend, and it requires five

commissioners to form a quorum ; in order, therefore, to transact the

public business and make contiacts, he is fr'equently obliged to send

for commissioners residing nciir to meet him, e.\cept on special occa-

sions and they want to serve their own individual interest, when a

score of them will attend ; but that the average number attending

dues not exceed eight throughout the year."
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gangs of land and four borough houses for the main-

tenance of a chaplain. The two last chaplains -were

Thomas Salvin and William Crofton. Shortly before

the dissolution, "^V^illiam Baynbrigg gave the third of an

oxgans^ to provide two wax-lights to burn before the

altar of St. Thomas-a-Bccket. In 15-18, the whole

revenues of the chapel amounted to £5 3s. 6d. per

annum; yet with such avidity was church property at

that time appropriated, that this poor pittance was

seized by the crown, and granted out to individuals ;

and St. Thomas-a-Becket's candles ceased to burn. A
memorandum in the Harleian MSS. says, " The Chapell

of Stoketon aforesaid standcth a myle [two miles] from

the pyshe Churche aforesaid, not only for the easment

of t'inhabitaunts of the towne of Stoketon, but also for

thcasment of divers p'ishionners of sundrie other p'iches

in the "Winter tyme, when for rayny fludes they can

come none whether els to here Devynn srvice." The

obstruction of the " rayny fludes" betweeen Norton and

Stockton is, thanks to improved roads and drainage,

no longer apparent.

The premises belonging to the chapel were, in the

reign of Edw. YI., ordered to be leased to William

Crofton, of London, for 21 years, at £8 rent per annum.

A minister, however, seems to have been continued ; and

in 1705, " the inhabitants still paid to the vicar of

Norton £3 per annum, commonly called the Pn'esfs

own"—a corruption of the word prescription. Towards

this sum, Stockton paid £2 ; Hartburn, ISs. 4d. ; and

Preston 6s. 8d. ; the amount being collected of every

landed man who had two oxgangs of land of about 12s.

per annum, and of their widows, 8d., and of every other

inhabitant 6d., except of the chapel-wardens and of

their widows only -Id. For the tithe of fish, every

fishing coble was to pay 4s. and a salmon cock or scurf

worth 6d. on the 8th of September yearly. The vicar

maintained a curate at his own cost to serve the chapelry.

Succession of Chaplains before the Eeformation.—J. Cap-

ellanus, fil. W. Pistoris, 1333; Thomas , 1408; W. Osbern,

1430-1448 ;• T. Salvin, W. Crofton, the last incumbents.

CcRATEs AFTER THE Kepormation.—C. Smith, 1561 ; Sir R. Syn-

cler, 1563 ; W. Heron, 1565 ; \V. HogweU, 1566 ; W. Allen, 1566 ;

R. Blaxton, 1568 (rector of Elton 1571) ; G. Mordcn, 1572 ; W. Fow-

ler, 1578, p. res. Morden; J. CoUin, A.B., 1685 (dro^-ned whUst

sw-imming in the Tees) ; T. Mann, 1585 ; T. Edyer, 1585 ; C. Fewster,

1599; T. Robinson, 1609; T. Smithson, 1610; T. Lawson, 1612

(ricar of Staiuton in Yorkshire) ; J. Place, 1617, p. res. Lawson ; J.

• It appears that, at or before this time, Stockton gave name to a

family. In 1417, Henry Stockton was appointed tlie first vice-chan-

cellor of Cambridge University, during the chancellorship of .lohn de

Richendale, afterwards Bishop of Chichester. The chancellor's

absence in 1413, which rendered the appointment of a vice-chancellor

Wright, 1623, p. m. Place; M. Rawling, 1635 ; R. Macdowell, 1636,

p. m. Rawling; R. Salkeld, 1611, p. m. MacdowcU, who was kUled

by a fall from his horse on Bamby Moor; J. Gregg, May 1, 1662 ;

T. Rudd, May 1, 1663.

The ruinous state of the chapel, and the increased

population of the town, at length rendered the erection

of a new church necessary. The subject was introduced

in a sermon by the Rev. T. Rudd, September 2, 1705 ;

and the briefread May 21, 1710. On the 5th June follow-

ing, the foundation stone was laid, and the structure con-

secrated by Lord Crewe on the 21st of August, 1712.

On the brief, there was collected in Stockton, £83 7s.

9d. ; in Preston and Hartburn, 17s. 6d. ; in Billingham

and Sedgefield, £14 12s. 6d. ; in Norton and Blakiston,

£40 8s. 3d. ; in Yarm and Egglescliife, £10 6s. 5d.

;

in Darlington and Elvet, £6 13s.; in Long-Newton

and Redmarshall, £3 14s. 6d. ; by the collectors of the

brief, £550 ; the justices of the county, £267 ; the

Bishop of Durham, £100; the dean, £20; and private

subscriptions, £528 13s. lOd. ; total, £1,625 13s. 9d.

The disbursements were, for deals and wood, £350

Os. 7fd.; bricks, £173 16s. 9d. ; lead, £337 2s. l^d.

;

stone-work, £299 7s. ; bricklayers' work, £128 4s. 5d.

;

plumbers' work, £46 2s. ; carpenters' work and laying

the roof, £46 14s. Id.; and for sundries, £194 17s. Id.;

leaving in the treasurer's hands, £48 9s. "lA.

In the interim, the act of 12lh Anne, 1711, was

passed, constituting Stockton, with East Hartburn and

Preston, a distinct and separate parish from Norton.

Under this act, and that of 1st Geo. I., 1714, the

direction of parochial affairs is vested in the vicar and

twelve vestrymen, to whom the Bishop of Durban, lord

of the manor, is empowered to grant, for the augmen-

tation of the vicarage, a parcel of ground there specified,

or any other parcel or parcels of waste ground within

the manor, without fine, and under the custom and

yearly rent of one penny, provided the same be not of

more or greater yeaidy value than £20 at the time of

making such grant. The new-constituted vicarage was

entitled to all such tithes within its precincts as had

been usually paid to the vicar of Norton; and the

patronage of the living was solely vested in the Bishop

of Durham. As a recompence to the parish of Norton

for the separation, and in lieu of all future demands or

contributions for or towards the repairs of Norton

church, and all or any other taxes or cesses to the parish

necessary, was his being sent by the king (Henry V.) to Rome, in

company with the Bishop of Ely and the chanceUor of Oxford, to

acquaint the two Popes at that time contending for the supremacy of

the church, that except one would yield, England would acknowledge

obedience to neither.
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of Norton, the inhabitants of Stockton agreed to pay to

the inhabitants of Norton the sum of £100. It was also

enacted that the vicar should hold the parcel of waste

ground adjoining to the church-yard on the east side

thereof, the same being intended to build a house upon

for the vicar ; and the vicar was thereby empowered to

take lands, not exceeding £100 a year, over and above

the lands and provisions above stated, and was directed

to bear and pay a third part of first fruits, tenths, pro-

curations, and synodals for the parish of Norton.

The church of St. Thomas is situated on the east side

of High Street, and is a spacious structure of brick,

with copings of freestone to the doors and windows.

Though not erected in strict accordance with the

medieval style of architecture, the building combines

so many of the elements of comfort and convenience as

to entitle it to a favourable place amongst English

churches. Its entire length is 150 feet, and its breadth

67. The height to the middle of the roof is 40 feet.

The roof was originally covered with lead ; but in 1793

this was replaced with Westmoreland slate. A square

tower at the west end is 80 feet high, and contains a

set of six bells. A clock and chimes were added in 1736,

the tunes of which were altered in 1819: in 1832, these

were removed, and a new clock, with chimes, introduced.

The entrance is under the tower, in the porch of which

were formerly placed the fire-engines of the town. The
nave is separated from each of the side-aisles by five

square pillars, supporting semicircular arches. The
windows, generally, are modern sashes under circular

arches ; besides which there are skylights in the roof

above the galleries. The western gallery was erected

• Vice-admiral Nathab Brunton was born at Stockton in 1744,

and first entered the navy in 1771 as an able seaman on board the

Marlboroutjh. He shortly after became master's mate on board the

same ship ; and on the 19th of September, 1777, was promoted to be

a lieutenant, in which capacity he served in the Europe and Courageux.

On the 21st of March, 1782, he was made commander of the Flirt

;

and on the 6th of August, 1783, he was promoted to the rank of post-

captain. He was successively captain of the Courageux^ the Assistance,

the Mckmur, the Lefiat/m?i, and the Dictator. For much of this success

in life ho was indebted to the kindness of the llight Hon. Constantino

John Lord Mulgrave, who had been his captain in the early years of liis

service, and whose notice had been attracted by the professional

merit and irreproachable conduct of the young sailor. On the 9th of

November, 180.5, Captain Brunton was made a rear-admiral of the

blue ; on the 3rd of July, 1810, promoted to be a vice-admiral of the

blue ; and on the 4th of June, 1814, to be a vice-admiral of the white.

By the patronage of the Mulgrave family. Admiral Brunton was pre-

sented with the appointment of deputy pajTnaster to the forces at

New Brunswick ; but the infirmity of deafness, which increased as

he grew old, precluded him from active service in the latter part of

his life. He died at Stockton on the 19th of November, 1814, aged

70 years.

in 1719 ; and an excellent organ placed in it in Decem-
ber, 1759, which was greatly improved and repaired in

1784, by Donaldson, of Newcastle, in consequence of

several of the pipes having been maliciously stolen and

destroyed. The north gallery was added in 1748, and

the south gallery in 1827. The cast window contains a

beautiful figure, in stained glass, of the Redeemer bear-

ing the cross, and enfolding the reed, the sponge, and

the cord. At His feet are placed the crown of thorns

and the nails. Above, the Hebrew name of Jehovah ,

below, inscribed in a circle, in old English characters,

" He was despised and rejected of men." The outer

compartments are filled with ornamental details. The
window was executed by Mr. Gibson, of Newcastle, in

1828. Beneath it, the communion table stands in a

recess. The church, which affords accommodation for

about 1,500 persons, is regularly stalled with oak ; and

the reading-desk and pulpit, which are placed against

opposite pillars in the nave, arc of handsome work-

manship.

Comparatively modern as is the date of Stockton

church, and consequently destitute of ancient memorials

of the dead, the testimonials to the departed worth of re-

cent times are by no means few or uninteresting. In the

south aisle are monuments to the memory of Tice-

admiral Brunton ;* of John Allison, merchant, and

lieutenant-colonel of the Loyal Stockton Volunteers

;

and of Grace, wife of George Sutton, Esq.f In the

north aisle, though partially hidden by the staircase of

the gallery, is a beautiful mural monument of marble to

the memory of Frances, wife of George Hoar, Esq., and

daughter of William Sleigh, Esq., who died January

t Mrs. Grack Sutton.—This exemplary lady was the third daugli-

ter of William Horsfall, Esq., of Strothes-Hall, in the West Riding of

Yorkshire, and in 1780 married George Sutton, Esq., of Stockton and
Elton. Her life was one continued series of acts of charity and
efforts in behalf of education. The Stockton School of Industry was
principally founded through her exertions, and she was indefatigable

in her attentions to its prosperity. She also patronized a benefit

society for females, to the funds of which she liberally contributed.

To alleviate the wants and sufferings of the poor, her purse and her

personal exertions were ever spontaneously devoted. Till within a

few days other death, she was assiduously employed in her benevo-

lent labours ; but she at length fell a victim to a fever, either brought

on by the extreme inclemency of the season, acting on a constitution

already weakened, or caught from contagion in some one of the

many scenes of distress she was in the habit of visiting at all times,

and in all places. She died on the 17th of January, 1814, in the .37111

year of her age, and was interred in the family vault at Elton. Some
of her most important charities have been perpetuated by her hus-

band, who survived her. See Charities. The tablet to her memory
in the church was erected by a subscription from the ladies of

Stockton, " as a recording homage of esteem and veneration to private

worth from public affection.'

'
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24, 1761 ; there is also a tablet commemorative of

Lieutenant-colonel "W'illiara Sleigh, who died February

13, 1825.* There have been no interments within the

walls of the church.

In 1838, in consequence of a grant of £600 towards

building an additional church in Stockton, from the

Incorporated Society of London, 553 sittings M-ere set

apart in the parish church, and declared free for ever.

The district for confirmation includes Stockton, Holy

Trinity, Eedmarshall, Elton, Wolviston, Grindon

Elwick Hall, Norton, Long-Newton, Billingham,

Egglescliffe, Greatham, Bishopton, Stainton-le- Street,

and Seaton-Carew.

The church-yard was found too small for the parish

so early as 1770, and on the 20th July in that year an

additional piece of ground was consecrated by Bishop

Trevor. The area of the whole is 4 a. k. 331 p. The

ground, which was originally very wet, was much im-

proved by draining and other means ; but notwith-

standing the opening of Trinity chapel cemetery, it has

been latterly so much crowded that only 189 interments

took place during the seven years ending 1848 ; and

it is now virtually closed. A new burying-ground for

this church, situated between that of Holy Trinity

chapel and Yarm Lane, and containing 2 a. 3 r. 8'8 p.,

was consecrated on the 7th of November, 1849. There

is no fence between It and the Trinity cemetery, the

limits of each being merely marked by boundary stones.

The burial service for funerals belonging to St.

Thomas's church is read in Trinity chapel; but the

fees are paid to the minister of the former.

Registers.—Books Nos. 1 to 4 contain entries of

baptisms from 1637 to 1812, burials from 1621 to 1812,

and marriages from 1637 to 1642, and from 1644 to

1812. There are notices of the deaths occurring in the

garrison in 1640-1.

Stockton vicarage, being created a parish by a late

act of parliament, is not in charge or certified, but pays

• LiEtT.-coL. William Sleigh.—This gentleman, a native of

Stockton, was the son of Charles Sleigh, Esq., by Mary Sutton,

daughter of William Sutton, Esq., and sister of George Sutton, of

Stockton and Elton, Esq. In early life, he entered the 19th regiment

of foot in August, 1775, was made lieutenant in 1778, and captain in

1780. He served with his regiment in the American war, and was

present at two actions. After his return to England in 17S5, he mar-

ried Ann, the only diild and heiress of John Waid, Esq., of Billing-

ham. In 1790, he became captain in the 23rd regiment, and

lieutenant-colonel of the 83rd in 1794. On retiring from the army,

he accepted the commission of major in the Durham militia, and

subsequently was appointed inspecting colonel of volunteer corps in

the disuicts of the West Riding, in Manchester, and in Wales. His

a third part of the first-fruits, tenths, procurations, and

synodals for the parish of Norton ; the Bishop of Dur-

ham, patron. Dedication to St. Thomas.

Vicars.—G. Gibson, A.M., 1713; W. Eden, A.M., 1714, p. m.
Gibson (res. for EUWck HaU) ; G. Walker, A.M., 1715, p. res. Eden
(he abolished the practice of interring the bodies of the poor without

coffins) ; J. Skelly, A.M., 1742, p. m. Walker (he put a stop to the

j
inhuman custom of throwing at cocks on Shrove-Tuesday) ; W.
Vaughan, A.M., 1772, p. m. Skelly (res. for Norton, afterwards rector

of Haughton-le-Skerne) ; A. Cleeve, A.B., p. res. Vaughan (res. for

Wooler) ; J. Greville, LL.B., 1780, p. res. Cleeve (res. for Whickham)

;

C. Anstey, A.M., 1782, p. res. Greville (res. for Norton) ; E. Wilson,

A.B., 1786, p. res. Anstey; J. Brewster, A.M. (vicar of Greatham,

rector of Egglescliffe, Line. Coll. Oxon., 1799 ; George Stanley Faber,

B.D., Line. Coll., 1805, p. res. Brewster (res. for Redmarshall, after-

wards rector of Long-Newton) ; Thomas Baker, A.M., Oriel Coll.

O.xon., 1809, p. res. Eaber (res. for Whitburn) ; John Gilpin, B.D.,

1810, p. res. Baker; William Nicholas Darnell, B.D. (prebendary of

Durham), C. C. C. Oxon., 1815, p. res. Gilpin; James Cundill, 1820,

p. res. Darnell for St. M.^garet's, Durham ; George Newby (see vol.

i., p. 619), 1832, p. res. Cundillfor Coniscliffe ; Hon. R. J. Eden, 1844,

p. res. Newby for Whickham; Francis Jos. James, 1847, p. res. Eden.f

A piece of ground, adjoining the church on the east,

was originally intended for the site of a vicarage-house,

and bricks were made on the spot for that purpose;

but a house was afterwards purchased on the north side

of the ground so allotted. Bishop Chandler left £200

for this purpose. Lord Crowe's trustees gave £50 in

1750, and £80 was raised by the sale of the bricks

which had been prepared. In 1783, the parsonage was

repaired and enlarged by the Rev. C. Anstey; and

further improvements were effected during the incum-

bency of the Rev. G. Newby.

The waste granted by the bishop for the augmentation

of the living, called Thistle Green, on a part of which

Workhouse Street and Silver Street have since been

erected, was leased out, under the powers of the act of

1711, by the vicar and vestry, for 1,000 years, in portions 1

as follows :—On August 27, 1716, to James Cook, at a I

reserved rent of £13; to John Cook, at £4 5s.; to
j

David Douthwaite, at £6 2s. ; to William Peacock, .it
|

£4 ; and to Jonathan Watson, at £2 12s. 6d. ; on March |

last service was commander of the volunteer cavalry in his native

district ; and in all these services he acquitted himself as an expe-

rienced and judicious officer. An attack of paralysis brought on a

gradual decline ; and he died at Stockton, at the age of 66, on the

13th of February, 1825.

t On the promotion of the Hon. and Rev. R. J. Eden to the bishop-

ric of Sodor and Man, the following impromptu appeared in the

Edinburi/h Evening Post

:

—
"At first, Eden was given to Man,

A garden to work and to feed in
;

But now we've an opposite plan.

For Man is given to Eden."
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4, 1719, to Cuthbert Hodgson, at £2 7s. 6d. ; on April

20 following, to Jonathan "Watson, at £1 10s., and to

John Cook, at £1 lis.; and on January 20, 1783, to

John Barker at £19 ; total, £54 8s. The whole are

leased free from taxes imposed or to be imposed by act

of parliament; the vicar covenanting to pay land-tax,

or allow the same out of the rent then next due. Large

sums were expended by the lessees in building and

otherwise improving the premises, and valuable con-

siderations were paid by persons purchasing under the

first lessees. An attempt was wade by the Rev. W. N.

Darnell, whilst vicar, to invalidate the leases, on the

pleas that the provision partook of the nature of a

charity, that the lessees were merely trustees, that the

leases were in effect a total alienation, and therefore a

breach of trust, and that only building leases for a term

usual in such cases were in the contemplation of the

legislature. The case was heard before the Vice-chan-

cellor, Sir Thomas Plumer, in April, 1817, who held

the leases good ; and on an appeal, the Lord Chancellor,

in November, 1821, though observing that the legis-

lature had given a greater power than they intended,

confirmed the decision of the Vice-chancellor.

The gross income of the living was stated, in 183-5,

at £294, subject to permanent payments of £47. From
the remaining £247, £50 was paid to a curate. The
income of the vicar has since been increased to £300 a

year from the bishop's demesne lands.

CHAPELEY OF HOLY TPJNITY.

IHE boundary of the chapelry of Holy Trinity, Stockton, commences at the centre of the river Tees, opposite to

the centre of Finkle Street, and proceeds in a southwardly and westwardly direction along the centre of the same

river, to where the parish of Egglescliffe joins the parish of Stockton ; thence following in a westwardly and

northwardly direction the boundary line that divides the last-mentioned two parishes to where the same meet the

parish of Elton ; thence in a northerly and north-westwardly direction along the boundary line that divides the

parish of Stockton from the parish of Elton, to where those parishes meet the parish of Norton ; thence in an

easterly direction, following the boundary line that divides the township of Hartburn, in the parish of Stockton,

from the parish of Norton, as far as the township of Stockton ; thence following the boundary in a southwardly and

eastwardly direction that divides the township of Hartburn from the township of Stockton to the point where it

crosses the lane or road called Oxbridge-lane, and so along the centre of that road eastwardly, including all the

south side thereof, to the point where it forms a junction with the occupation lane leading to Light Pipe HaU,

thence along the centre of the said lane, and the footpath in a northerly and easterly direction to an occupatiou

road, leading from Stockton to the windmill, continuing along the centre of the same to Dovecot Street, then east,

down the centre of Dovecot Street, crossing the High Street south of the Town House, and down the centre of

Finkle Street, including all the houses on the south side thereof to the centre of the river Tees, where the

boundary commenced.

The cemetery of St. Thomas's church having been

found insufficient for the population of the parish, a

field presented by Bishop Van ^lildert, on the south

side of Yarm Lane, was opened out as a place of

sepulture in August, 1832, and was shortly after conse-

crated. The contract for the erection of a church upon

this ground was let on the 16th of September, 1834

;

and the foundation stone was laid on the 18th of No-
vember following, by the Ven. Charles Thorp, arch-

deacon of Durham, on which occasion there was a

public procession. The church was to be built entirely

by public subscription, without the aid of any church-

building society. The ceremony of consecration was
VOL. II.

performed, on the 22nd December, 1835, by the Bishop

of St. David's.

In February, 1836, a meeting was held in Stockton,

for the purpose of dividing the to^vn into ecclesiastical

districts. The order in council for assigning the

boundaries (above given) of the Trinity district ap-

peared in the London Gazette, December 29, 1837 ;

and the church was licensed by the Bishop of Durham,

Octobers, 1838, under 6 and 7 Wm. IV. In 1851,

the district contained 3,631 inhabitants, of whom 1,713

were males and 1,918 females. There were 709

inhabited houses, and 33 uninhabited.

The church is built of stone, and consists of a nave
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and chancel, ^vith a small transept towards the south.

The building is Gothic, extremely ornamental in the

exterior, and intended to be after the decorated style

of architecture, from designs by Messrs. B. & J. Green,

Newcastle. The entrance door is at the west, in a

square projecting tower; the tower is carried up to the

height of the roof, and then, taking the form of an

octagon above, with four flying buttresses at the base,

terminates in an octangular spire, 200 feet high. Each

of the external angles of the nave and transept terminates

with octangular pinnacles, the main walls finishing with a

perforated battlement of the perpendicular style. The

vestry is placed in the under part of an octangular apse at

the east. The interior is extremely plain ; it has a low

pitched open timber roof, a gallery on each side, and one

at the west end, on which is placed an organ, purchased

by subscription and with one-third of the proceeds of a

bazaar. It was built by Mr. Nicholson, of Newcastle,

and is of great power and compass of tone. The design

of the front of the case is Gothic, in a style corresponding

with that of the building. The whole of the sittings in

the church are stained in imitation of oak, and afford

accommodation for 1,200 persons; a proportion of them

being appropriated as free sittings for the use of the poor.

During a heavy gale of wind on the morning of

December 25, 1852, a portion of the upper part of the

spire was blown down. At a vestry meeting, a rate was

agreed to, for meeting the cost of reparation, which

was estimated at upwards of £100 ; but the Bishop of

Durham having forwarded to the churchwardens the

sum of £30 towards the restoration and other expenses

connected with the church, and further subscriptions

being raised for the same purpose by the inhabitants of

the town, the levying of the rate was not carried into

effect.

The Bishop of Durham is patron of the living ; the

Rev. Richard Dutton Kennicott, A.B., incumbent, and

the income is stated at £300 per annum.

The parsonage-house stands at the west, adjoining

the church-yard. It is a plain brick building, but

commodious in its interior arrangements. In 1850,

£300 was granted from the Maltby Fund, for the pur-

pose of building it, on condition of the necessary means

being forthcoming within a twelvemonth for the com-

pletion of the work ; and a bazaar on behalf of the

object realized £220. The following circular, addressed

to various friends, was issued in furtherance of the

undertaking :

—

" My dear Sir—The Ecclesiastical Commissioners for England

having made a grant of £300 out of the ' Maltby Fund' towards the

buUding of a parsonage-house in the district parish of the Holy

Trinity, Stockton-on-Tees, and the Bishop of Durham allowing me to

mortgage the living for £300, I must use my best endeavours to raise

by local subscription or otherwise the sum of £300 to meet the defi-

ciency, the estimated cost of the building being £900. I have

therefore to solicit the favour of any donation which you may be

inclined to give towards this desirable object.—I have the honour to

be, dear Sir, yours, very respectfully,

"Richard Button Kenxicott.
" Stockton, July 1, 1858.

"To "

The cemetery appropriated to the Holy Trinity

church contains 4 a. 3 r. 33| p. With that belonging

to the parish of Stockton, which adjoins it on the south

(seep. 162), the entire area is about 7 a. 3 k. 2| p.,

surrounded by walls on the sides next the fields, and by

a handsome palisading towards Yarm Lane. The

whole is planted with shrubs, and kept in excellent

order. The soil is a strong, retentive clay, and not

completely drained. No interments take place within

the church. The average number of funerals in the

church-yard is about 200 per annum.

CHAPELS.

Roman Catholic Chapel.—The Roman Catholics

formerly assembled in a chapel in Play-house Yard.

In 1832, whilst the Rev. J. Dugdale, from Ushaw

College, was the resident pastor, the building was

enlarged and improved ; but the situation being incon-

venient, funds were raised for a new building, and the

foundation stone of the present chapel was laid on the

31st May, 1841. A bottle, containing a written state-

ment of the circumstances connected with the project,

and the names of the reigning sovereign of England and

of the Pope of Rome, with several coins, &c., were

deposited, covered with a brass plate, inscribed " a.d.

MDCCCXLi." The chapel was opened on the 7th May,

1842, with the usual imposing ceremonies. It occupies
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a commanding site In Norton Road, and has two large

school-rooms and a cemetery, containing 8 perches, or

24^ square yards, adjoining. The edifice, which cost

about £7,000, is in the Gothic style of architecture,

from designs by Pugin, the present chapel forming one

aisle of the general design, the architect intending to

add the other portions as required. The chapel, which

is dedicated to St. Mary, is licensed for the solemniza-

tion of marriages. The Rev. Richard Singleton, the

present clergyman, has received an appointment to a

chapel in another district.

Independents.—During the indulgence granted by

Charles II., the Rev. John Rogers (see p. 24), who may

be considered the founder of dissent in Stockton, in

1672 licensed the first place of worship in the town.

An Independent chapel was founded in Green Dragon

Yard, Finkle Street, in 1799. The register books of

the congregation, which contain 67 entries of births and

baptisms, extend from 1799 to 1816, and from 1821 to

18.36. The congregation removed to a chapel in West
Row, which was erected in 1815, at a cost of about

£500 ; the principal contributor being Mr. Henry

Beckwith. It is licensed for solemnization of mar-

riages ; and the Rev. Thomas Davison is the present

minister.

Dissensions having arisen in the congregation, a

division took place j and the seceders, in 1845, under

the denomination of Conghegationalists, built a cha-

pel in Tennant Street, Norton Road, which they

licensed for the solemnization of marriages.

United Presbyterian Church of Scotland.—
This chapel was erected in West Row about the year

1812, and formerly belonged to the Independents. It

will accommodate about 300 hearers, and is licensed for

the solemnization of marriages.

Baptist Chapel.—A Particular Baptist congregation

assembled in Stockton during a considerable portion of

the last century. Salem chapel, which is situated in

West Row, was originally built for a warehouse, but

converted into a chapel in 1809, and has been for many

• Though the character and manners of the Society of Friends are

generally assimilated, by the influence of their principles, yet in-

dividual members are sometimes found who stand prominently forth

in the general picture. Kobert Henderson, of Stockton, was well

known all along the coasts of Yorkshire, Durham, and Northumber-

land, from MTiitby to the Farn Islands, by the name of " Tfie sailing

Quaker." His character was upright, and his generosity extreme,

for which latter failing, and the recklessness he evinced, in spite of

all remonstrances, to the dangers of the sea, he is said to have been
" disowned" by his friends. On January 2, 1791, he and one of his

years under the ministry of the Rev. William Leng.

The building has recently been enlarged, and is licensed

for the solemnization of marriages.

Unitarian Chapel.—There was a congregation of

Unitarians in Stockton in the 17th century ; the Rev.

Thomas Thompson having been ordained their minister

in 1688, and for whom a meeting-house was erected, at

the north end of High Street, in 1699. He was suc-

ceeded, in 1729, by his son, the Rev. John Thompson,
who was followed, in 1753, by the Rev. A. Blakie.

The present chapel, which is licensed for solemnization

of marriages, was almost wholly rebuilt on the site of

the old one in 1756, and will accommodate 300 per-

sons. The Rev. B. Evans became minister here in

1785, the Rev. Robert Mair in 1792, and the Rev.

S. Kennady in 1803. The latter gentleman conformed

to the Church of England in 1817 j and, in the follow-

ing year, Mr. Evans was re-appointed minister, which
office he held till 1821, when the Rev. J. C. Meeke
succeeded him. The Rev. C. C. Nuttar, the Rev. W.
Duffield, the Rev. Thomas Cooper, the Rev. J.

McDowell, and the Rev. Thomas J. Read, (who is the

present minister,) have since successively followed. A
good library is attached to the chapel ; and a fine organ

was erected about 20 years ago.

Friends' Meeting House.—This building, which

was erected in 1814, at the cost of £1,800, including

the purchase money for the surrounding cemetery, is

situated in Mill Lane, opposite the north end of Bruns-

wick Street. The interior is neat and commodious.

The chapel has been enlarged, and will seat about 200

hearers. The inclosed burial ground contains 17 roods,

or 514j square yards. The register books commence

in 1647.*

Wesleyan Methodist Chapel.—The Rev. John

Wesley first preached at Stockton on August 16, 1748.t

A Methodist chapel was in due time erected, which

becoming unsuited for the increasing congregation,

another was opeped on the 13th of June, 1813.

The foundation stone of the present spacious edifice,

men sailed from Newbiggin for Alemouth in his coble, contrary to

the advice of all the fishermen, and the expostulations of the other

man who completed his little crew. The latter travelled to Alemouth

on foot, and arrived just in time to witness the fate of his employer

and colleague, who were dro%raed in attempting to take the harbour,

in sight of the whole town.

t The first collection for Wesleyan missions, in a circuit which

included Stockton, Hartlepool, Yarm, Ilarlington, Bishop Auckland,

&c., took place in 1799, when only £2 IO5. was collected.
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which is situated in Brunswick Street, was laid on the

16th of March, 1823, by Richard Walker, Esq., assisted

hy J. Wilkinson, Esq., mayor ; it was opened on the

31st December following, when collections were made

amounting to upwards of £200. The chapel is 20 yards

long and 18 broad, and will accommodate 1,200 hearers.

A Sunday-school and two dwelling houses for the

preachers are attached. The register of births and

baptisms extends from 1824 to 1837, and contains 21

entries; the building is licensed for solemnization of

marriages. There is an excellent organ in the chapel,

by Mr. Thomas Charlton, of Stockton.

The Primitive Methodist Chapel is situated in

jNIaritime Street, Smithfield. It was erected in 1825,

and will contain about 350 persons. Previous to its

erection, the congregation met in a room in Playhouse

Yard. Their first camp meeting at Stockton was held

on St. Swithin's day, 1821.

The WESLEY.iN Association Chapel, in Regent

Street, will hold about 200 persons. There is a

Wesleyan Reformer's Chapel in Mill Lane. The
Eethel Meeting House for Sailors is on the

Quayside. The Latter Day Saints have a meeting

house in Brunswick Street, at which about a dozen

persons attend.

POOR LAW UNION.

The poor of the Borough and copyhold manor of

Stockton, previous to the passing of the present Poor

Law Act, were supported by a general rate ; and the

workhouse, situated at the corner of a street to which it

gave name, belonged to the whole parish. The annual

amount of poor-rate had increased, between 1816 and

1832, from £1,675 to £2,400.

The district of the Stockton Union is divided into

the subdistricts of Yarm, Stockton, and Hartlepool.*

The Yarm subdistrict comprises the parishes of Long

Newton. Elton, part of Redmarshall (the townships of

Redmarshali and Carleton), Grindon, and Egglescliffe,

in the county of Durham ; and, in the North Riding of

Yorkshire, the chp.pelry of High Worsall, in North-

allerton parish ; the parish of Kirk Leavington, consist-

ing of the townships of Low Worsall, Kirk Leavington,

Castle Leavington. and Pickton ; the parish of Yarm

;

• In the population returns of 1S51, Stdgefield Union is returned

as a subdistrict of Stockton Xluion. This and some other deviations

from the established arrangements of poor law Unions, were made by

the parties collecting the census, for the purpose of facilitating their

returns.

the townships of Stainton, Maltby, and Ingleby Bar-

wick, in the parish of Stainton ; the parish of West

Acklam ; and the parish of Middlesborough, comprising

the township of that name and Linthorpe.

The Stockton subdistrict contains the parishes of

Stockton and Norton, in the county of Durham ; and

the township of Thornaby, in the parish of Stainton,

Yorkshire.

The Hartlepool subdistrict contains the parishes of

Billingham (including Wolviston), Greatham,Stranton,

Hart, and Elwick Hall, and the chapelry of Hartlepool.

The entire area of the Union is 83,774 acres, of

which 19,657 acres are in Yorkshire. The whole

population, in 1851, was 44,433, of whom 22,389 were

males and 22,044 females. In Yorkshire, there were

6,580 males and 6,237 females, or 12,819 in all ; the

remaining population belonging to the county of

Durham.

The' income and expenditure of the Union, for the

year ending Lady-day, 1851, has been given in vol. i.,

p. 162. In the following year, the receipts from poor-

rates were £10,091 16s., and the receipts in aid of the

poor-rates £499 19s., or £10,591 15s. in all; and the

total expenditure was £11,043 3s.; that for medical

relief being £288. There were 35 children attending

the workhouse school. In the year ending Lady-day,

1853, the receipts from the poor-rates were £10,241

Is,, and in aid of the poor-rates £245 5s., amounting to

£10,490 6s. ; whilst the expenditure was as follows :

—

In-muintenance £4S6 13

Out-relicf 4,522 19

Workhouse loans repaid and interest thereon 275 5

Salaries and rations of officers 637

Other expenses of, or immediately connected with relief 715 19

Total expended for relief of the poor 6,656 16

Costs of proceedings at law or in equity 200

Constables' expenses and costs of proceedings before

judges 55 15

Vaccination fees 27 16

Payments on Account of the Registration Act, viz.. Fees

to clergymen and registrars, outlay for register

offices, books, and forms 171 9

Payments for or towards the county, hundred, or

borough rate, or police rate 2,473 1

Expenses allowed in respect of p;u-liamentary or

municipal registration, and cost of jury list 28 2

Money expended for other purposes 49 1 7

Total expenditure £10,104 6

The expenditure for medical relief was £310 63.

The average number of children attending the schools

of the workhouse was 28 ; and the amount of money

paid to the board of guardians from the parliamentary
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grant in respect of the salaries of teachers was £24 16s.

tor the year.

In the year ending Lady-day, 1854, the poor-rate

received in Stockton amounted to £3,499 18s. There was

paid for in-maintenance, £286 9s.; for out-relief, £1,827

15s.; and the total amount, including other payments,

expended for the relief of the poor, was £2,698 13s.

The law expenses were £77 Is. ; vaccination fees, £14

15s. ; registration expenses, £35 6s. ; and the county-

rate, £570 17s.

In 1852, £600 was raised by the sale of the workhouse

in Bishop Street, and £601 4s. 9d. directed to be appro-

priated to the cost of the new Union workhouse in Port-

rack Lane, a neat and commodious structure of brick.

CHARITIES.

Alms-houses.—According to a license granted by

Bishop Crewe, the alms-houses " for the convenient

lodging of poor impotent persons belonging to the

township of Stockton," appears to have been erected

about the year 1682. The principal contributors to this

benevolent project, which was warmly promoted by the

Rev. T. Rudd, were Margaret Bailey, John Stope,

Matthew Wiggoner, and James Cook. The latter, on

December 29, 1702, bequeathed £100, to be paid to the

mayor, vicar, and overseers of the poor, to be placed

out at interest at five per cent., or laid out in the pur-

chase of lands or tenements, the yearly produce to be

by them distributed amongst the needy and poor people

that shall dwell in the alms-houses, for their better

support and maintenance; but in case this interest or

income was not so paid, it was to revert to his sou and

daughter, John Cook and Lucy Dalston, whom he

appointed his executors. By indenture, November 27,

1732, it was stated that the said John Cook, who alone

had administered to the will, had died insolvent ; but

though Mrs. Dalston was advised that she was not liable

to the said legacy, or any part thereof, she agreed to

pay £.50 for the purposes directed in the will. This

donation was applied as part of a sum of £200 payable

to Ralph Bunting out of the leasehold premises be-

longing to the charity school ; but no interest has been

paid upon it for many years, nor is it known whether

the principal was ever paid off.

By will, dated February 16, 1811, George Brown,

• The first master was Mr. Robert Cockcrill, who had kept a school

in the Toll-booth. His father, " old C'ockerill," was captain of a ship ;

and, in a violent storm, being washed overboard with one wave, and
thrown upon deck again by another, in pious remembrance of this

Esq., (who was also a benefactor to the school,) be-

queathed to trustees £3,000 to be applied in rebuilding

the alms-houses. With this sum a new building was

erected on the same site on the east side of High Street,

in 1816, from a plan by Wyatt. It consists of a centre

and wings, 123 feet in length, built of brick, with stone

dressings. On the right of a spacious arched entrance

is a committee room, in which also the business of the

Stockton savings bank is transacted ; and on the left arc

commodious apartments appropriated to the dispensary.

The upper floor is aproached by a covered gallery :

and the entire number of apartments in the building,

for the residence of poor widows and families, is 36.

The alms-people are appointed by the vestry.

Charity or Blue Coat School.—This school was insti-

tuted by voluntary subscription in 1721, v.'hen a body

of trustees was appointed, and it was resolved that a

school-room should be taken as near the church as

possible ; that a master* should be appointed with a

yearly salary of £20, to instruct 20 boys to read^ write,

and cast accounts ; and that the said boys should be

clothed. In 1759, 16 girls were added, and afterwards

four more educated, and, though not clothed, eligible

into the school in turn.

In 1729, the trustees purchased the leasehold interest

in two closes of meadow-land called Lustram and El-

wick-mire, in the town fields of Stoclrton, which were

held under lease from the Bishop of Durham, for three

lives, for £670, under a reserved rent of £5 3s. 4d.

Towards this purchase, £200, mentioned under Alms-

houses, was borrowed from Ralph Bunting, Esq. On
May 24, 1824, Bishop Barrington renewed the lease of

tills property at the yearly rent of £5 : the fine was

£1,080 7s. 4d., from which the bishop made a donation

of £700 to the school.

Six copyhold closes adjoining the town, and contain-

ing 26 a. 2 R. 31 p., were purchased in 1772 for £1,635,

of which £1,205 was advanced by Frances Stapylton.

Two of the closes were sold in 1809 for £1,200; and

the remainder of the money borrowed for the purchase

has been paid off.

The pecuniary legacies and donations, which fur-

nished the means for making the above purchases, have,

since 1721, amounted to £2,686 10s. The most im-

portant sums are, £100 given by Nicholas Swainslon,

£100 by Lord Crewe's trustees, £200 bequeathed by

remarkable escape, he would never r.fterwards sufl'cr his beard to be

shaved, and kept every Wednesday (the day of the week on which it

happened) as a solemn fast.
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John. Swainston, £1,000 bequeathed by George Brown,

and the above-named £700 given by Bishop Barring-

ton. The remainder is made up by sums varying

from £5 to £50.

The introduction of the national system of education

having rendered enlarged accommodation necessary, the

present spacious school-rooms, with a garden and

dwellings for the master and mistress, were erected in

1816, in Norton Road. Towards this object, £685

12s. 4d. was appropriated from the legacy of George

Brown. The building is 58 feet long, 34 broad, and

18 high, and bears an appropriate inscription.

The income of the institution, arising from the lease-

hold and copyhold property above mentioned, amounted

to £199 10s; but an act was passed, June 28, 1833, to

enable the trustees of the school to sell and dispose of

certain lands and hereditaments belonging to the charity,

and to purchase and acquire other lands in lieu thereof,

and also the reversion of the lands held by them for

lives. The powers thus given have been acted upon

for the benefit of the charity.

In the 3 per cent, consols there is a sum of £600,

supposed to include £100 given by George Brown in

his life-time ; another of £550, bequeathed by George

Sutton ,• and another of £400, being the amount of two

legacies of £200 stock each, bequeathed by the said

George Sutton to the Blue Anchor and Golden Cup
clubs, and which came to the funds of this charity when
these clubs were discontinued. There is also a yearly

rent of £3 paid by the trustees of the said George

Sutton, as William Fleatham's gift. To the above

regular income of the school, amounting, previous to

1833, to about £250 a year, are added various sub-

scriptions and a collection after a sermon, making an

addition of about £30 to £50 per annum.

The school is supplied with books, stationery, and

materials for the girls' work, and is conducted (with the

modifications noticed below) according to certain rules

agreed upon in 1814. By these it is pro-vaded that

every benefactor of £5 5s., and every annual subscriber

of £1 Is., shall be deemed a trustee; that a select com-

mittee shall be chosen every year, consisting of five

trustees ; and that the vicar, the mayor, and treasurer

shall always be of the number. That such committee

shall visit the school as often as they shall see occasion,

particularly at Easter and Michaelmas, to fill up vacan-

cies. That 20 boys and 20 girls of the parish of Stockton

shall be clothed according to the old rules ; no child to

• One of the most novel and interesting school-treats ever given in

StOL-ktou was displayed in the school-room in Chiistmas week, 1854.

be taken under 7, or above 11 years of age, and to con-

tinue there to the age of 14. That the vacancies shall

be filled up from the general school, preference being

given to merit. [The number of children clothed is

now increased to 40 boys and 40 girls.] That all chil-

dren who shall continue in the school their full time

and behave themselves well, and then go out to some

honest employment, shall have a Bible and Prayer

Book, and 40s. in money given to them, under certain

j)rescribed regulations. That the joint salaries of the

master and mistress shall be £65 per annum [now raised

to £100], and that £10 shall be allowed them for coals.

That the master shall teach the boys and girls reading,

writing, and the common rules of arithmetic, and in the

principles of religion and morality ; and that the mis-

tress shall instruct the girls in sewing, and such other

work as may make them useful. That in the morning

and evening, prayers, extracted from the Liturgy of

the Church of England, shall be read in the school.

That the master, with the scholars, shall attend divine

service every Sunday, Wednesday, and Friday, and on

other holidays. That the school shall be taught on the

Madras system, and that the regulations established in

the Barrington School at Bishop Auckland, shall be

adopted.

On the visit of the Rev. J. D. Stewart, government

inspector, March 10, 1853, there were 64 boys present

at examination ; 53 had been admitted, and 55 left

within the pre^aous twelve months ; and the average

attendance had been 56. The general observations

were

—

" Buildings fair ; no class-room ; brick floor. Desks, two groups of

three parallel desks, on a gallery; master's desk. Furniture, stove, gas.

Playground, small yard. Books, discipline, and instruction, fair.

Apparatus, one large, two small black-boards. Methods ; oral

lessons might be improved. Five classes for general work, under un-

certificated ma.ster, and one pupil teacher ; three divisions for Scrip-

ture, grammar, and geography ; one group for arithmetic. The pupil

teacher is confined to one class for two months. The boys are ar-

ranged in parallel rows."

At the girls' school, there were 54 present at ex-

amination. General observations :

—

" Buildings, a fair-sized room ; separated by sliding partitions from

boys' school ; no class-room : partly wooden floor ; mistress' desk.

Furniture, fire-place. Playground, books, discipline, and instruction,

fair. Apparatus, two small black-boards and stands. Organization;

standard of classification ; leading and writing. Four classes for

general work, under mistress, with certificate of merit ; one division

for geography and grammar. The girls are arranged in square

classe."*

It consisted of a Christmas tree, of unusual dimensions, and decked

i with about 450 usefiil and ornameutal articles intended as presents for

li
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Jenkinses Charity.—Major John Jenkins, a native

of Wales, who came into the north with Cromwell's

army, bequeathed, in 1661, 52s. per annum to the poor

of Stockton, 12d. to be paid every Sabbath day in white

bread. This sum is paid to the churchwardens by the

owners of certain lands in the parish, and 12 penny

loaves are provided every Sunday, which are given to

poor widows who attend divine service.

Bunting^s Charity.—Elizabeth Bunting, by will,

July 14, 1765, gave £300 to the vicar and church-

wardens of Stockton, for the poor of the parish, not

receiving relief from the rates. Her personal estate

not being sufficient for the payment of her debts, George

Hartley and Ann his wife, desirous to perpetuate this

charitable donation, invested a like sum, on the 25th of

February, 1772, in the purchase of £-378 13s. 6d. three

per cent, consols in the names of trustees. The dividends,

amounting to £11 7s. per annum, are transmitted to the

vicar, who distributes the amount amongst poor

persons of Stockton, in sums varying from 10s. to 20s.,

and in some cases to 40s. A book is kept, containing

an account of the recipients.

Snowdon's Charity.—John Snowdon, in 1781, be-

queathed £100 three per cents, stock for the benefit of

four decayed housekeepers of Stockton, shoemakers to

have the preference. (See Norton.)

Sutton's Charities.—George Sutton, besides his

legacies to the Charity School, bequeathed to trustees,

April 4, 1815, £500 three per cent, consols, the divi-

dends to be paid to the treasurer of the female benefit

club in Stockton, whereof his late wife and Mrs. Ann
Sleigh were the original patronesses. Also £100 like

stock, the dividends to be invested half-yearly, so that

the same should accumulate for 20 years, after which

time the dividends of the whole should be paid to the

the children. This tasteful and liberal display had been provided by

seTcral ladies of Stockton, under the auspices of the vicar. The
school was decorated with flags and artificial fiowers ; and the

promenade was enlivened by vocal and instrumental music.

• Admihal Sik Thomas Bertie, K.S.—In the will of this dis-

tinguished officer was the following passage :—" And if my old nurse,

Ann Thompson, of Stockton-upon-Tees, in the county of Durham,
widow, shall happen to be living at the time of my decease, I give

and bequeath to her the sum oi fifty pounds sterling. But in case

she shiil biot then be living, I do hereby give and direct the same to be

distributed amongst the poor of the town of Stockton aforesaid (that

being the place of my birth). And it is my will and desire that such
distribution shall be made under the sole direction and discretion of

the mayor of the same town, for the time being, into whose hands I

direct my executors, hereinafter-named, to pay the same." Ann
Thompson died in his lifetime ; and on the death of the admiral, in

1825, his executors and brothers, William and Ralph Hoar, on the

treasurer of the other female benefit club in Stockton.

He further directed that his executors should set apart

£200 like stock, for each of the five benefit clubs of

men in Stockton which should be subsisting at the time

of his death, the dividends to be paid to the treasurers

of such clubs for the time being, under certain specified

regulations ; and that in case the said clubs of men or

women should be discontinued, the stock which would
have been appropriated to their benefit should be trans-

ferred to the trustees of the Blue Coat School, for the

purposes of that charity.

In respect of the a6500 left for the female benefit

club first mentioned, M\b per annum is paid to its trea-

surer. The yearly sum of .£3, in respect of the legacy

of £100, was re-invested from time to time as directed,

and the dividends of the whole are applied to assisting

the income of the other female benefit club. Two of

the bequests to mens' benefit clubs have fallen to the

school ; and the dividends in respect of the residue, ,£600

stock, are divided equally, and paid over to the treasurers

of three male benefit clubs still existing. Thomas Rich-

mond, Esq., is the present treasurer.

Mr. Sutton also bequeathed to the late Mrs. Sutton's

Blanket Fund the interest of £200 five per cent, consols ;

to the Dispensary, while that establishment shall con-

tinue, the interest of £300 three per cent, consols ; to

the Sunday schools, the interest of £100 do. ; to the

School of Industry, the interest of £300 do. ; as an

addition to the stipend of the church organist ("interest

to accumulate for 20 years) £400 do. ; towards enclosing

a burial-ground, if purchased within six years from the

testator's death, £600 do. ; towards paving, lighting,

and improving the town, if an act of parliament should

be procured within five years from his death, ^200

;

and to the Bible Society, £100.*

nth of October in that year, paid the full legacy into the hands of

William Skinner, jun., Esq. , then mayor of Stockton, for distribution.

Admiral Bertie was the fourth son of George Hoar, Esq., of

London and of Stockton, deputy master of the Jewel Office in the

Tower, by Frances, daughter of William Sleigh, Esq. He was born,

at Stockton on July 3, 1758; and after being instructed in the

theoretical branches of his profession, under Mr. Harris at Christ's

Hospital, he entered on actual service in October, 1773, on board the

Seahorse, commanded by Captain Farmer, and sailed soon after to the

East Indies. In this vessel he first met, and became the messmate of

Nelson and Trowbridge ; and an intimate friendship commenced with

them, which continued uninterrupted through life. Wliilst serving

as lieutenant in tlio Monarch, Capt. Kowley, Lieut. Hoar introduced

the life-buoy into the service ; and the ship led the van division in

the action between Keppel and D'Orvillicrs. In 1779, when on board

the Suffolk, he was in the action of Grenada ; and in the following

year, he was in the Conqueror, which formed part of Admiral Rod-
ney's fleet in the action with De Guicheu. In 1789, he wa» made
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BENEVOLENT INSTITUTIONS.

The Dispensary.—This institution, which affords

medical and surgical assistance to the poor, was esta-

blished in March 16, 1790, but was closed at the end

of July, 1812, and continued so until Januaiy, 1815.

It originally occupied part of the workhouse ; but on

the building of the present Alms-houses in 1816,

apartments therein were appropriated to this useful

charity. The gentlemen of the faculty give their

attendance ; and the house apothecary receives a salary

of £90 per annum for receiving patients in the forenoons

of iMondays, Thursdays, and Saturdays ; and for dis-

pensing medicines on every afternoon, Sundays and

Tuesdays excepted ; as well as for attending at their

own houses those patients who are not able to leave home.

Contributors of one guinea and upwards annually, and

benefactors of ten guineas, are entitled to have at all

times two patients on the books of the charity for each

guinea subscribed, or benefaction of ten guineas. Con-

tributors of less than one guinea are allowed to recom-

mend to the charity two patients for each five shillings

subscribed. The donations to the institution have

been—In 1817, a legacy by G. Sutton, Esq., (see

Chakities,) interest of £300 in the three per cent,

consols ; in 1820, a legacy by Mr. Robert Christopher,

£18 ; in 1824, the managers of the Newcastle Musical

Festival, a donation of £25 ; in 1831, the Bishop of

Durham, £40 ; in 1832, a legacy by J. R. Rountree,

Esq., £18 ; in 1834, a legacy by Mrs. Elizabeth Crowe,

£20; in 1835, a donation by Mr. William Mitcalfe,

London, £5 ; in 1843, L. Raisbeck, Esq., interest of

commander of the Due d'Estisac sloop, in which he served till the end

of the American war. On the 20th of May, 17S8, he married

Catherine-Dorothy, daughter and coheiress of Peregrine Bertie, Esq.,

of Low Laj'ton, Essex, whose n;une, agreeably to the will of that

gentleman, Captain Hoar assumed.

Whilst Captain Bertie commanded the Ardent, the board of

ordnance adopted an improvement suggested by him, on the

42-pouitder carronades. On the capture of the Texel fleet, he

escorted the whole of the prizes to the Nore. At the battle of

Copenhagen, under Lord Nelson, Bertie particularly distinguished

himself in the Ardent, by compeUing four of the Danish flotilla to

surrender, for which he received the thanks of Xelson, who visited

his ship for the pm-pose on the morning after the battle. After

being employed in the blockade of the Spanish fleet at Cadiz, he was

appointed to the command of the Corageaux, 74, which ship was

nearly wrecked in a storm, whilst convoj-ing a fleet of 170 merchant-

men to the West Indies. On the 28th of April, 1S04, whilst

commanding the St. George, attached to the Channel fleet, he was

promoted to the rank of rear-admiral of the blue ;
and, during his

services in the Baltic in 1809, the king of Sweden created him a com-

mander of the mihtary Order of the Sword. lU health and an

impaired constitution, however, compelled Rear-admiral Bertie, on

£1,700 ;• and in 1846, a legacy of £200 by the same

gentleman.

In the year 1854, the annual subscriptions amounted

to £64 8s. ; and the total income and expenditure were

respectively about £170. The number of patients on

the books at the commencement of the year was 61, and

834 were admitted during the twelve months, making a

total of 895. Of these, 770 were discharged cured, 7

relieved, 3 discharged for private attendance, 24 trans-

ferred to the Union district surgeon,f 1 left the town

whUst ill, 26 died, and 70 remained on the books,

January 1, 1855.

A Society for the Relief of Lyixg-o Women
was commenced in 1817, and is supported by voluntary

subscriptions. The Marchioness of Londonderry is the

patroness. Each person relieved is supplied with a

loan of bedding and baby linen for a month, besides a

present of a bushel of coals and a pound of soap, a

supply of gruel and bread for twelve days, and a do-

nation of Is. From 60 to 80 poor women have been

annually assisted by this charity.

The Society for promoting Christian Know-
ledge.—A sermon is preached annually in behalf of

the funds of this society, to which there are also a

number of subscribers.

The Town Mission, established 1849, employs an

agent, with a salary of £10 per annum, to visit the poor

and sick, the lodging-houses, and the shipping, to de-

liver and exchange tracts, &c. A Female Protection

the lOth of February, 1810, reluctantly to strike his flag. At that

time, he had been 25 years afloat, of which upwards of 20 were spent

in the service of war ; and he had been engaged in between 20 and

30 actions, general or partial. He afterwards passed through the

progressive gradations of rank, until, on the 28th of May, 1825, he

attained the honour of " Admiral," which, however, he did not long

live to enjoy. He died at Twyford Lodge, Hants., the residence of

his brother, George Hoar, Esq., on the 14th of June, 1825, in the

67th year of his age.

• At the disembodyment of thtt " Loyal Stockton Volunteer

Infantry," (the non-commissioned officers and privates of which, with

their wives, widows, and lineal descendants, are entitled, by the rules

of the Dispensary, to a preference as patients,) certain sums had

accumulated from officers not accepting the pay allowed, and other

sources, wliich were held by Mr. Raisbeck, the commanding officer,

and put out at interest, until they attained to the above amount. This

sum was then placed in the hands of trustees, by whom the interest,

£65 10s. 5d., is paid to the institution.

t Vp to April, 1S37, paupers were relieved at the Dispensary, in

consideration of a subscription from the poor-rates.
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Society is connected with the mission, which also

extends its efforts to the Ragged School. During the

year 1854, the subscriptions amounted to £54 18s. 9d.

;

the ladies' basket, £^5 ; children's bazaar, £26 ; col-

lection at annual meeting, £2 Os. 2d. ; interest, 18s. 7d.

;

total income, £108 17s. 6d.

Stockton Auxiliary Bible Society.—This society,

of which the Rev. F. J. James, vicar, is president, and

W. Skinner, Esq., secretary, recently contributed £\Q\

19s. 7d. to the jubilee fund of the parent society. In

the year 1853-4, the subscriptions, exclusively on the

purchase account, amounted to £14 Os. Id.

EDUCATIONAL AND LITERARY
INSTITUTIONS.

Grammar School.—In 1785, a spacious room was

built by subscription, in West Row, for a Grammar
School ; the ground on which the building was erected

being leased to the corporation from the Bishop of Dur-

ham. The school was afterwards removed to a house

belonging to the late W. Skinner, Esq., in Skinner

Street; and the building in West Row was sold in 1851.

The premises in Skinner Street were taken from the corpo-

ration on lease for a limited period, which is now about

to expire. The master usually receives £76 from the

corporation, on condition of teaching six boys recom-

mended by the mayor.

Trinity Schools.—These schools, connected with

Trinity church, consist of a boys' school, the School of

Industry, and an infant school, and are situated in

Yarm Lane. The site for the buildings was given by

the Bishop of Durham. The schools are under govern-

ment inspection ; and on the visit of the Rev. D. J.

Stewart, March 11, 1853, there were 110 boys present at

the examination; 63 had left, and 8 had entered during the

preceding twelvemonth; the average attendance was 103.

The inspector's general observations were

—

'• Buildings, good sized room ; no class-room ; brick floor. There
arc signs of settlement in the building. Desks, three groups of

three parallel desks, on a gallery. Furniture, stove. Playground
Apparatus, one black-board and

Organization fair
;

fair. Books and discipline fair.

easel. Methods and instruction moderate.

• John Chipchase.—Mr. John Chipchase, w,io died at Stockton,

at the advanced age of 70, March 13, 1816, was a member of the

Society of Friends, and a distinguished teacher of mathematics.

Of industrious habits and close application to study, he was fortunate

in becoming a pupil of Emerson (see Huuworth, vol. i., p. 499). Mr.
Chipchase was, for half a century, a successful teacher of mathe-
matics , residing in a seaport town, his instruction was invaluable

to young men studying navigation, and many young Danes and Nor-

VOL. II.

standard of classification : reading and arithmetic. Six classes for

general work, under uncertificated master ; first and second class

occasionally formed into one diAision for Scripture lessons. Boys

arranged in square classes, and at parallel desks."

The School of Industry was established in Castle Gate

in 1803, for educating and clothing females free of

expense, and is supported by voluntary contributions.

Efforts are now being made to effect an enlargement of

the school. For this purpose, an amateur concert was

given in the Borough Hall, on the 30th of January,

1855, under the patronage of the mayor, T. Craggs, Esq.,

and the ladies' committee of the school, when between

£90 and £100 was realized. A plan of enlargement

was forwarded to the Council of Education by Mr.

Clephan, architect, which was approved of. Queen's

scholarships have occasionally been obtained by ap-

prentices from this school. The average attendance at

the time of the inspector's visit was 88 ; 78 had been

admitted, and 70 left during the preceding twelvemonth ;

and 93 were present at the examination :

—

" Buildings, the room is not large enough for the children ; no class-

room. Desks, two groups of three parallel desks, on a gallery. Fur-

niture, clock, two flap desks. Playground and instiuction fair.

Beoks, a supply is n anted. Apparatus, tliree black-boards. Me-
thod, the oral lessons might be improved. Discipline good. Organi-

zation ; standard of classification : reading. Five classes for general

work, under mistress, with certificate of merit, and two pupU-teach-

ers : first and second class form a division for Scripture lessons.

The pupil-teachers are each confined for one month to one class."

At the infant school, 76 were present at the examina-

tion, and the average attendance was 90 :

—

" Buildings fair. Desks, gallery. Playground, fair-sized yard.

Books, apparatus, methods, discipline, and instruction, fair. Organi-

zation ; standard of classification : reading. Nine classes for general

work, under untrained mistress ; three divisions for object lessons,

Scripture lessons, and arithmetic."

Other Schools.—There are three boarding schools

in Stockton. A school on the national system for boys,

girls, and infants, was opened April, 12, 1847, in the

Square ; and the British School for boys and girls, in

Tennant Street, has four pupil teachers, and an attend-

ance of above 200 children. St. Mary's Catholic

school, in Major Street, is attached to the chapel.

Besides the two infant schools connected with the

national schools, there is one in Regent Street

;

there are also ten day schools in the town.* Thornaby

wegians were at various times placed under his tuition. He was
strongly attached to his native town, and particularly to its local his-

tory. He was an active member of the religious society with which

he associated, and in controversial politics, in which he never violently

engaged, his sentiments were on the liberal side of the question.

With much study and attention to his numerous pupils, he appears

to have injured his constitution, which had never been strong, and
he died much lamented by his scholars and a large circle of friends.

2b
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national school, for boys and girls, is in South Stockton.

Sunday-scJwols are attached to most of the places of

worship in the town. A Ragged School was established

in the Castle Gate in 1853 ; it is supported by private

subscription, and the average attendance is about 60.

Mechanics' Institution.—"The Stockton, Yarm,

and Norton Institution for the Instruction of Mechanics

and for the promotion of useful Knowledge," was esta-

blished April 11, 1825, and occupied a large room in

Mason's Court. Sanguine hopes of success were enter-

tained on its commencement ; but, after the novelty of

the experiment had subsided, the number of members

declined from 22-i in 1826 to 94 in 1829. In the fol-

lowing year, a smaller room was taken for the library,

which was opened two evenings in the week for the

delivery of books during the next five years. In 1836,

a society called the "Reading Association," was formed;

and a union of the two institutions was effected April 5,

1837, under the name of the " The Mechanics' Insti-

tution and Reading Society." This name was altered

in 1846 to "The Stockton Institution of Literature and

Science,"

Like many similar institutions, this has required all

the energy of its conductors to procure the support

requisite for its prosperity. Newspapers were intro-

duced in 1848, in which year the library was removed

to the Temperance Hall, Tennant Street. Summer

excursions and Christmas festivals were continued from

year to year, and numerous lectures were delivered on

various subjects, in aid of the general funds. Efforts

were for some time made to procure the erection of a

suitable building, by shares of £1 each ; and donations to

the amount of £50 were received, including £20 10s.

from the bishop, £10 from Lord Harry Vane, and £5

from C. B. Bewicke, Esq. In 1851, the members,

desirous of ensuring the future stability of the Institution,

entered into negotiations for the purchase of the Cdr-

jwration Hall, on the north side of Dovecot Street,

which was ultimately effected at a cost of £1,100.

The foundation stone of this building was laid on the

30th of November, 1839, by Thomas Jennett, Esq.,

mayor of Stockton; and a number of coins were

deposited under the stone. On the 23d of October,

1840, the building was opened by a splendid soiree.

Its interior comprised a range of spacious public rooms,

consisting of the Stockton news room, the superlnten-

dant registrar's office, a dwelling-honse, a.nd cellars.

In 1851, however, the building was advertised for pub-

lic sale. A considerable portion of the purchase money

was allowed to remain on mortgage of the premises

;

and, amongst other efforts to liquidate the liability, a

bazaar on a grand scale, with evening promenade con-

certs, was held in the Borough Hall, on the 25th, 26th,

and 27th of July, 1853. A superb screen, which was dis-

posed of by the committee by lottery, was presented by
the Marchioness of Londonderry ; and numerous other

valuable articles of taste and utility were contributed

by the neighbouring gentry and tradesmen. The in-

stitution is in possession of a valuable library, consisting,

at the close of 1854, of 1,727 volumes, besides a variety

of apparatus and mechanical instruments, and a col-

lection of minerals. A general meeting is held quarterly

for the discussion of literary, philosophical, and scientific

subjects, &c. ; and the library is open three evenings in

the week from October to April inclusive, and two

evenings in the week the remainder of the year.

Classes for instruction in various branches have long

been established. There are upwards of 400 members,

of whom the first class pay 15s., the second 10s., the

third 8s., and the fourth 5s., per annum. Ladies are

admitted at the latter charge, which entitles them to

all the privelegs of membership except the news

room.

In 1849, the committee engaged two acres of ground

in the vicinity of the town, which they drained and

divided into 19 compartments; these are relet for

gardening purposes to members of the Institute at from

7s. 6d. to lis. per annum each.

A preliminary savings bank, in connection with the

institution, was opened April 17, 1852, by 30 depo-

sitors. At the end of the year, the number had in-

creased to 96 ; the amount deposited being £132.

The object of this bank is to act as an auxiliary, by

enabling parties to deposit smaller sums than are

received by the savings bank of the town, to which, as

they accumulate, they are, if desired by the depositors,

transferred.

Athen.i:um.—At the inaugural meeting of this insti-

tution, held in the Corporation Hall, April 19, 1850,

50 persons enrolled their names as members.

The Subscription Library was commenced July

5, 1791, and contains a number of useful and enter-

taining volumes in various depaitments of literature.

The members pay a subscription of one guinea per

annum each. The business of the institution is under

the direction of a committee ; and the library is kept

in premises in High Street.
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Chxtrch Library.—Mr. John Stock, formerly a

schoolmaster in Stockton, gave to the church there a

collection of books, many of them on subjects of pole-

mical divinity, written in the 17th century, with good

editions of some of the Fathers. This collection was

made the foundation of a divinity library in 1799 ; and

the vestry room was fitted up for its reception. The

subscription is 2s. per annum.

• Joseph Ritson.—Amongst the erudite and intelligent natives of

the town of Stockton, none occupy a higher place than Joseph Ritson,

bom on the 2nd of October, 1752, and distinguished as a critic and

•intiquarian. His destination was the law, and he was placed with

Ri>lph Bradley, Esq., an eminent conveyancer of the town. (See

GttEATHAM.) After some few years, he entered Grey's Inn, where he

was called to the bar ; and continued a member until his death. He
practised exclusively as a conveyancer ; and his talents, accuracy, and

integrity, secui-ed him a high professional character, which might

have led to affluence and wealth ; but disdaining the plodding, dry

technicalities of the law, he sought out something more congenial to

his ta.ste, in ancient English poetry, old ballads, and the drama

;

contenting himself with a moderate share of business, merely sufficient

to eke out a small private income. He spent a great part of his

time in the then little explored treasures of the British Museum ; his

daily walk being, when in London, between his own chambers and

that place.

He was naturally of a delicate constitution ; which was perhaps

rather weakened by the extreme abstinence which he imposed upon

himself, being a strict vegetarian, abstaining from animal food

&om principles of humanity. He wrote a book in defence of

his principles on that subject. In this work, which is entitled " An
Essay on Abstinence from Animal Food as a Moral Duty, by Joseph

Kitson, 1802," he says, " Mr. Richard Phillips, the publisher of this

compilation, a lustye, healthy, active, and wellooking man, has

desisted from animal food for 20 years : and the compiler himself,

induc'd to serious reflection, by the perusal of Mandeville's Fable of

the Bees, in the year 1772, being the 19th of his age, has ever since to

the revisal of this sheet, firmly adhere'd to a milk and vegetable diet,

having, at least, never tasteed during the whole course of those 30

years, a morsel of fish, flesh, or fowl, or any thing, to his knowledge,

prepare'd in or with those substances, or any extract thereof, unless,

on one occasion, when tempted by wet, cold, and hunger, in the

south of Scotland, he venture'd to eat a few potatos, dress'd under
tlie roast : nothing less repugnant to his feelings, being to be had ; or

except by ignorance, or imposition ; unless it may be in eating eggs,

which, however, deprives no animal of life, though it may prevent

some from coming into the world to be murder' d and devour' d by

others."

Ritson had also adopted peculiar ideas, with respect to both religious

and civil government ; and in his controversies, is said to have dis-

played an indefensible asperity, which caused him to be represented

rather as a cynic and misanthrope. Sir Walter Scott (with whom he
was on intimate terms, brought about no doubt by a similarity of taste

for old ballad lore), says, " As for Ritson, he and I still continue on
decent terms, but I dread I shall see a whisker first and then a claw
stretched out against my unfortunate lucubrations." This was in

allusion to the publication of his Border Minstrelsy. Scott further

says, in a letter to a friend, " I loved poor Ritson with all his singu-

larities
; he was always kind and indulgent to me ; he had an honesty

of principle about him, which, if it went to ridiculous extiemities,

was still respectable from the soundness of the foundation. I don't

Other Libr-^ries.—The Unitarians and Wesleyans

have libraries in their respective chapels. The town
formerly contained four cii'culating libraries ; but there

is now only one.*

Subscription News Room.—The subscription to

this room, which is in the Town Hall, is 21s. per an-

num. There is a good supply of London and country

believe the world could have made Ritson say the thing he did not

think ; I wish we had his like at present."

Ritson once paid a visit to Scott, when the great minstrel lived at

Lasswade ; and met there John Leyden, another kindred spirit and
antiquarian, who, far from imitating his host's forbearance, seems to

have taken a pleasure in tormenting and ridiculing the peculiarities

of his brother guest. Amongst other circumstances which happened
during their stay, Scott delighted to detail the scene which took place

when his two uncouth allies first met at dinner. WeU knowing
Ritson's holy horror of aU animal food, Leyden complained that the

jonit on the table was overdone ; "Indeed for that matter," cried he,

" meat can never be too little done, and raw is best of all." He sent to

the kitchen accordingly, for a plate of Uterally raw beef, and manfully

eat it up, with no other sauce but the exquisite ruefulness of the

Pythagorean's glances. Amongst Ritson's peculiarities, he adopted

a singular orthography, which he intended should give every word,

root, and derivative its full value. Scott says, with respect to this

whim, " BaUantyne, the Kelso printer, who has a book of his in hand,

groans in spirit over the peculiarities of his orthography, which, sooth

to say, hath seldom been equalled since the days of Elphinstone, the

ingenious author of the mode of spelling according to the pro-

nunciation, which he aptly termed 'Propriety ascertained in her

picture.'
"

Though Ritson did not pretend to be an author, yet the many dis-

sertations prefixed to his ancient songs and metrical romances ; his

life and notes to "Robin Hood," in which he collected together all

the Poems, Songs, and Ballads, relating to that celebrated English

outlaw ; and several other illustrative essays, evince a depth of re-

search and originality of powers of no ordinary character. And at

the sale of his books, Johnson and Stevens' edition of Shakesperc,

with 3 vols, of MS. notes by Ritson, sold for £110. He also wrote

and published several works on legal subjects ; and is said to have

assisted Hutchinson in his History of Durham, and prepnred some
materials for a "Villare" of his o^vn.

But what connects Ritson more particularly with this district, is

his publication of the Bishopric Garland, or Durham Minstrel, being

(as he says in the title page) " a choice collection of excellent Songs,

relating to the above County, full of agreeable variety, and pleasant

mirth," first published in HS'l. This collection of odd rhyme and

old song is made up, principally, of that kind of lore, in which are

recorded, as Goldsmith says, " the short and simple annals of the

poor," ditties which " at her wheel the village maiden sung ;" some
of them of considerable antiijuity, dated as far back as 1282. Some
of these pieces, he says, were gathered "orally," others were taken

down as they were sung in the Market Place. And of these trifles,

collected in this way, it has been recorded, on his o^vn authority, that

they sold better than any other of his various publications. The
Bishopric Garland is made up of eighteen difi'erent pieces, the first

and longest of which (under the title of "a Durham Garland") is in

four parts ; and is said by Lockhart to have been taken by Sir Walter

Scott as his ground work for the novel of Guy Mannering. Ritson also

edited and published the Yorkshire Garland, the Northumberland
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journals ; and any stranger may be admitted on being

introduced by a subscriber.*

PUBLIC BUILDINGS.

Thb Town Hall, ok Town House.—This edifice,

the order of court for the erection of which is dated

March 9, 1735, occupies the centre of High Street. In

Garland, and the North Country Chorister. " The Life of King

Arthur, by Joseph llitson," was published, after the death of the

author, by his nephew, Joseph Frank, Esq., of Stockton. Ritson

died at Hoxton, in the -vicinity of London, in the house ot Sir

Jonathan Miles, under a fatal attack of his mental faculties, September

23, 1803, in the 52nd year of his age.

* Brass Crosby, Esq.—The politicians of Stockton, whilst dis-

cussing "the manna of the day," may well exult in the reflection,

that much of the interest of modern newspapers is derived from a

source lor which they, and the British public generally, are mainly

indebted to the patriotism and public spirit of a native of the town.

Brass Crosby, born May 8, 1725, was tlie son of Hercules Crosby, a

respectable burgess of Stockton, and of Mary, daughter of John

Brass, of Blackhalls, in the parish of Hesleden. After being placed

with a respectable solicitor in Sunderland, he removed to London,

where he practised with success, and was introduced to public life in

the office of city remembrancer in 1760. He served as sheriff in 1764,

in the following year was made an alderman, and became lord mayor

in 1770. Li his address of thanks on this occasion, he assured his

fellow citizens that, at the risk of his life, he would protect them in

their just privileges and liberties ; and the strong political feeling

which prevailed at the period, particularly in the city of London,

rendered it not improbable that some circumstance would occur to

call those principles into action. Mr. Crosby was then M.P. for the

borough of Honiton, and was first brought into contlict with the

government by refusing to back the press warrants, which, until this

period, were current in the city. An exciting contest with the House

of Commons followed. The Speaker had issued his warrant against

the printers of the Gazetteer and the Middlesex Journal^ two of the

papers of the day, on a charge of misrepresenting the speeches of

certain members of the house. As the printers refused to appear at

the bar, a royal proclamation was issued for their apprehension, and

thty were brought before Aldermen Wilkes and Oliver, by whom
they were not only discharged, but bound over to prosecute the

person who made the capture. An appeal to the lord mayor was,

about the same time, made by Mr. Miller, printer of the London

Evening Post, who had likewise been taken into custody by a mes-

senger from the house, on a similar charge to those against the other

printers. The serjeant-at-arms consequently attended at the Mansion

House, to demand the bodies of both printer and publisher ; but as he

had not applied to a magistrate to back the warrant, or to any peace-

officer of the city to assist him, his lordship informed him " that as

long as he held the high office of lord mayor, he was the guardian of

his fellow_citizens' liberties, and that no power on earth should seize

a citizen of London without authority from him or some other magis-

trate of the franchise." He accordingly declared Miller at liberty,

and made out a warrant to commit the messenger for an assault and

false imprisonment. At the request of Miller's counsel, the commit-

ment received the signatures of Aldermen Wilkes and Oliver, in

addition to that of Crosby ; but the messenger was bailed by the ser-

jeant-at-arms.

The House of Commons was indignant at tliis defiance of its

1744, it was enlarged, on the pulling down of the

old Toll-booth, a mean building, ascended by steps,

and built on open arches. The present structure

is large and commodious, forming a square building,

three sides of which are three stories high. At-

tached to the fourth or north side is a piazza, sup-

ported by six pillars, erected in 1768, for the accom-

modation of the market people. The Assembly Room,

authority, and ordered the lord mayor and Alderman Oliver to attend

in their places (together with Alderman Wilkes), to answer for with-

standing the execution of the warrant. Oliver was voted to the

custody of the lieutenant of the Tower on the 25th of March ; and, on

the 27th, on a division of 202 to 39, the lord mayor was committed to

the same place. It was moved that, in consequence of his bad state

of health, he should only be committed to the custody of the serjeant-

at-arms ; when Crosby immediately rose and said, " An honourable

gentleman has talked of the lenity to be shewn me on account of my
health, and my being only committed to the custody of the serjeant-

at-arms. I know that I was prejudged on Monday, and that the

string of resolutions and warrants is now in the gentleman's pocket.

I ask no favour of this house—I crave no mercy from the treasury

binch—I am ready to go to my noble friend in the Tower, if the

htuse shall order me. My conscience is clear, and tells me that I

have kept my oath, and done my duty to the city of which I have the

honour to be chief magistrate, and to my country. I will never

betray the privileges of the citizens nor the rights of the people. I

have no apology to make for having acted uprightly, and I fear not

any resentment in consequence of such conduct. I will through life

continue to obey the dictates of honour and conscience, to give my
utmost support to every part of the constitution of the kingdom, and

the event I shall always leave to heaven, at all times ready to meet

my fate." The excitement out of doors was very great. In returning

I

from the house, tlie populace took the horses from the lord mayor's

coach, and drew it to Temple Bar, though it was then midnight ; and

having conceived some suspicion of the deputy serjeant-at-arms who
attended him, when they got there they shut the gates, and informed

his lordship that those with him had been drawn to the utmost ex-

tent of their boundaries, and that they must now immediately get out

of the coach. The lord mayor comprehended the full extent of the

danger they were in, and pledged his honour that the gentlemen with

him were his particular friends, who were to accompany him home ;

upon which the procession proceeded to the Mansion House with

loud huzzas. The lord mayor slept there that night, and in the

morning went privately to the Tower.

The committal and imprisonment of the lord mayor of London was

felt to be an event of peculiar and extraordinary importance, not only

in the city, but in all parts of the kingdom. He was at once honoured

with the freedom cf the city of Worcester and of the town of Bedford ;

and addresses to him were forwarded from the counties of Carmar-

then, Pembroke, and Cardigan, the towns of Newcastle, Stratford,

and Honiton, the common councils of every ward in London, and

many patriotic clubs. His lordship remained in prison until the

prorogation of parliament, when, on the 8th of May, he left the Tower,

accompanied by Aldeiman Oliver, under the discharge of 21 pieces

of cannon belonging to the honourable members of the Artillery

Company, Hud passed along Tower Street, and straight through the

city, in the state coach with all the city honouis, and with a pro-

cession of 53 carriages in his train. At night, the city was illu-

minated. At the conclusion of his mayoralty, Mr. Crosby received

the thanks of the corporation, and a splendid silver cup, value £200.

Indeed, the feeling of the nation was unequivocally shown on the
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which occupies the whole of the upper part of that side

of the building, is now to be converted into a council

room, magistrates' room, and county court, instead of

that portion of the Borough Hall which is used for

those purposes; a portion of the first floor is to be

appropriated for the town surveyor, news room, &c.

The principal entrance to the Hall, above which is a

sculpture of the arms of the borough, is at the south-

west angle. On the centre of the building is a square

tower, containing a clock, the gift of Robert Clarke,

Esq., recorder of Stockton, in 1804. At the top of an

upper and diminished story of the tower is an entablature

and balustrade, each corner of which is supported by two

round columns. The whole is surmounted by a spire.

Borough Hall.— The corporation of Stockton,

having decided on the necessity of providing improved

accommodation for the business of the borough, pur-

chased a large mansion in High Street, near the south

end of the town, the residence of the late Richard

Dickson, Esq., and formerly occupied by Colonel Sleigh.

The house in front admitted of easy conversion into
|

council-chamber, justice-room, offices, &c. ; and behind

there was a spacious area, consisting of a yard and

garden, on which to build a hall. The adaptation of

the premises to the intended purpose was intrusted to

Mr. W. Clophan, architect, of Stockton. The front

building merely required its interior arrangements to

be altered. The yard was covered with a a ridged roof

of glass, and forms a pleasant, sheltered approach from

the house to the hall, suitable for a conservatory, and in

which flower shews may be held with good effect. Its

dimensions are 72 feet by 23. A lobby, 21 feet long

by 8 wide, with a retiring room on each side, connects

this approach with the hall itself. The hall is an elegant

building, though in no particular style of architecture.

Its interior is 80 feet long, 36 wide, and 36 high.

Light is obtained by a large window at each end, filled

occasion ; and the fact that, since that period, the proceedings and

debates in parliament have been regularly printed and published,

which before they were not, is sufficient to secure to Crosby the

gratitude of posterity as well as the plaudits of his contemporaries.

It is related that a vagabond, having been brought before Mr.
Crosby when sitting alderman, said, " I think you and I have been

in all the gaols in England." "How, you rogue r" "Why, your

worship has been in the Tower, and I have been in all the rest."

Mr. Crosby's prosperity in life was considerably advanced by three

successive marriages. His first wife was Mrs. Walraven, widow of a

rich salesman and dealer in seamen's tickets; his second, Mrs. Coombe,

was the widow of a collar maker to the ordnance ; and in 1772, he led

to the altar, as his third bride, Mary, daughter of Mr. .Tames Mead, a

wealthy merchant of London, and widow of the Rev. James Tattersall,

rector of Gatton, Surrey, with whom he had the manor of Chelsfield

with obscured glass ; and there are three elegant gasa-

liers suspended from the ceiling. The hall is appro-

priated for holding public meetings, bazaars, assemblies,

&c. It was opened on the 15th of May, 1852, by
a dinner, to which the mayor and corporation had
invited the chairman and directors of the Leeds Northern
Railway (the first train of which arrived at Stockton on
this day), the chairman and directors of the Stockton

and Darlington Railway, the chairman and directors of

the Stockton, Hartlepool, and Clarence Railways, the

Tees Navigation committee, the Middlesborough Im-
provement commissioners, and other gentlemen. The
total cost of the Borough Hall was £3,300, as appears

by the following details :

—

£ 8. d.

Purchase of the premises 1,500

Site sold off to the county for police station ....... 300

1,200
New hall 1,3.50

Vestibule 300

Alterations and repairs in house 150

Lighting and furnishing hall and vestibule 300

£3,300

Market Column.—A little to the south of the Town
Hall there was formerly an old covered cross. It was

removed in 1768, and replaced by a handsome Doric

column, 33 feet high, resting on a square base, which is

approached on each of the sides by four steps.

The Shambles.—In 1768, shambles were erected for

the butchers. Being, in 1821, considered unfit for their

purpose, the corporation came to a resolution of rebuild-

ing them ; and the foundation stone of the new erection

was laid June 21, 1823. After the work had been

carried on a few days, however, it was levelled by order

of a party in opposition to the measure. It was again

begun, and again demolished ; and, in the following

year, council was heard on both sides at the Town Hall,

when a verdict was given in favour of the projected

Court, in Kent. Alderman Crosby was President of Bethlem and
Bridewell Hospitals, Governor of the Irish Society, Vice-president of

London Workhouse, and Chairman of the four City Commisions, viz.,

1, The city and bridge-house estates ; 2, the Thames navigation ; 3,

the control over the corn and coal meters ; and, 4, general purposes.

He was also trustee (as one of the senior aldermen) of Greenwich

Hospital, Wilson's charity, &c. He died February 11, 1793, in

Chatham Place, and was buried with considerable pomp in Chels-

field church. As he had no surviving issue by any of his ivives at

the time of his death, his large property, with the exception of

several small legacies and annuities, which latter were to devolve on
the decease of the parties to the hospitals of Bethlem and Bridewell,

was divided amongst his five sisters or their children. A good
portrait of this patriotic magistrate is placed in the Irish Committee^

room, Guildhall.
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improrement, and notice of appeal laid in by the op-

positionists. The work was now proceeded with ; and

the building completed and opened in June, 1825. It
1

is of brick, one story high, with stone cornices along the

tops of the walls and the windows ; and with conve-

nient interior arrangements. A portion of the shambles,

at the north end, has recently been converted into a

corn exchange. The situation of the whole, it must be

owned, in the centi-e of the Market-Place, is prejudicial

to the appearance of the High Street.

The erection of a general slaughter-house in a suita-

ble place is in contemplation. A field has been

purchased for the purpose, situate at the north end of

the town, at a cost of £900.

The Ccstom-hotjse.—In 1681, in consequence of

the decline of Hartlepool, the chief offices of the

customs were removed from thence to Stockton ; and in

1683. three free quays were appointed by a commission

from the Exchequer. The first Custom-house was in

the Red Lion Inn Yard, whence it was removed in

1696 to the foot of Finkle Street. In 1730, a new
|

Custom-house was built by the corporation on the site

of the old one. The present building was erected in
\

1828, to the north of that last named, but still near the

Quay. Its interior is commodious, and the principal
\

room is well lighted from a dome in the roof. Several

good warehouses for wet and dry goods are attached.

The business, however, will, on and after the 17th

Mav, 1855, be conducted in a portion of the Borough ;

Hail.

The Bridge.—The passage between Stockton and

the Yorkshire side of the Tees was formerly effected by

a ferry boat, the tolls of which were leased under the

Bishop of Durham. In 1762, an act of parliament was

obtained for building a bridge across the Tees, near the

place used by the ferry ; and the foundation stone of the

edifice was laid August 23, 1764. It was built by

subscription, and completed in April, 1771 ; the cost

being £8,000, and the subscribers entitled to interest

not exceeding five per cent. In compensation for the

ferry-dues, the act gave to the see of Durham an in-

demnity of £90 per annum, and £3 per annum for every

acre of the bishop's ground which might be used as a

road leading to the bridge. The boat-house and ad-

• Mr. Joseph Reed.—This well-known dramatist was born at

Stockton in 1722, and cemmenced business there as a rope-maker.

He afterwards removed to Sun Tavern Fields, London. His first pro-

duction appeared in 17-58, entitled "Madrigal and TruUetta,

a mock tragedv, acted under the direction of Mr. Gibber, at the

joining ground were conveyed to the mayor and bur-

gesses. The act provided, that when the incumbrances

should be discharged, and a sufficient purchase of land

made as an equivalent for the Bishop of Durham's rent,

the bridge should become free, and be repaired at the

equal charges of the county of Durham and the North

Riding of Yorkshire. In 1792, the tolls were let for

£702 per annum; in 1802, for £800; in 1808, for

£860; in 1811, for £941; and in 1814, for £1,010;

but, in consequence of the discontinuance of Stockton

races, which were held on the Carrs in the Yorkshire

side of the river, they were reduced to £900. So much

more profitable was the speculation than had been an-

ticipated, that the debt on the bridge was cleared off

August 2, 1816 ; and in 1819, a mob, under the im-

pression that the passage shonld consequently be free,

attacked the gates, two of which they threw into the

river, carried a third in triumph about the town, and

then burnt it in the High Street. The tolls, however,

ceased on the 1st of January 1820; and the purchases

for the bishop, to which the income had meanwhile

been applied, were completed in July, 1821.

The bridge consists of five arches. The span of the

centre one is 72 feet, and it is 23 feet high from low

water mark ; the two next are 60 feet in span ; and the

end arches are 44 feet. The carriage road is 18 feet

wide ; and there is a raised pavement of 3 feet broad

for foot passengers, who, as well as carriages, &c., for-

merly paid toll each way. The toU-house, after under-

going some improvements, was converted into a public

house. The arches are much impeded by loose stones

which have been thrown down for the support of the

piers.

The Theatre.—This place of public amusement,

which was erected in 1768, is situated in Green

Dragon or Playhouse Yard ; it presents no exterior

attractions. The interior was renewed a few years ago.

The receipts, when the house is fiUed, amount to about

£40. It was first opened by Mr. Bates's company of

actors, who also performed at Durham, Sunderland,

Darlington, &c. Since that time, the managers oc-

cupying the other theatres in the county have generally

rented that of Stockton. It is usually kept open

about three months in the year, and is satisfactorily

supported.*

Theatre-royal, Convent Garden ; with notes bv the author. Dr.

Humbug, critic and censor-general." In 1761, " The Register

Office, a farce," appeared, and at once ranked its author amongst
the standard dramatists of the country. Though without a plot, its

characters are all well conceived and ably contrasted ; and Margery
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THE CORPORATION.

Stockton was formerly governed by a mayor, recorder,

and aldermen ; but the office of recorder is now

abolished. The mayor was elected, on the first Tuesday

after the 29th of September, by a majority of the bur-

gesses or owners of houses, buildings, &c., of burgage

tenures in the town ; but since the passing of the town

extension act in 1852, the franchise is vested in the

electors entitled to it under the Municipal Corporations

Act, 5 and 6 Wm. IV., c. 76. It is not necessary, as

in most other corporations, that the person elected to

the office of mayor should be first chosen an alderman ;

for it does not appear that the latter title was anciently

known in this corporation, it being formerly distin-

guished by the style of " mayor and burgesses," &c.

;

but having been once elected into the office of mayor,

he afterwards became one of the body now called

aldermen, and so remained as long as he continued in

the possession of burgage property. The mayor, by

virtue of his office, was in the commission of the peace,

and also a justice of the court of pleas at Durham,

during his mayoralty. The town council now consists

of a mayor, eight aldermen, and twenty-four councillors;

six of the latter being elected from each of the four

wards described in the act, in the same manner as

directed by the Municipal Corporations Act. The
corporation is constituted the local Board of Health,

with all the powers of the Public Health Act ; and also

with power to contract for lighting the streets, and to

lay down gas pipes for the Borough. The town's

sergeant walks before the mayor in procession, clothed

in a large wrapping cloak trimmed with lace. The robes

of office worn by the mayor and aldermen are black

silk gowns with silk tassels on the arms, trimmed with

ermine, and purple facings. The following is a list of

the mayors of Stockton from the earliest period :

—

R. Burdon, 1495 ; W. Brown, 1508 ; \V. Laykey, 1546 ; J. Bayn-

brigge, 1559; R. Bunting, 1664; B. Tunstall, 15S8 ; R. Bunting,

1599; N. Fleatham, 1601; T.Lambert, 1G16; R. Wetberall, 1619;

W. Burdon, 1621; W. Swainston, 1622; T. Watson, 1623 ; W. Harte,

1624; T. Lambert, 1625; W. Ilarte, 1627; G. Wethcrall, 1630; J.

Jeesop, 1632; T. Watson, 1634; J. Jessop, 1635; G. Wetherall,

1637 ; J. Jessop, 1638 ; T. Watson, 1639 ; J. Cook, 1640 ; R. Burdon,

Moorpout is probably the finest specimen of genuine Yorkshire on

the stage. She is from " Canny Yatton (Ayton) under Roseberry,

the he'est mountain in o' Yorkshire, aboon a mile and a lio'f high,

and as co'd as ice a to'p on't t'ettest summer day ;" and is, no doubt,

drawn from the life. Tliis farce having been put into the hands of

Mr. Foote in 1758, the latter copied the character of Mrs. Snarewell

into his own farce of " The Minor," under the character of Mrs. Cole ;

a proceeding which naturally excited the indignation of Reed. In

1766, Reed produced his tragedy of "Dido," which, though well

1641; J. Cook, 1643; R. Burdon, 1644; T. Watson, 1646; J. Bun-
ting, 1648; R. Burdon, 1650; T. Watson, 1653; R. Burdon, 1654;

T. Watson, 1656 ; J. Atkinsan, 1657; T. Jessop, 1658; W. Peers,

1660; Ralph Eden, 1662; J. Atkinson, 1663; R. Jackson, 1664;

T. Jessop, 1666 ; J. Atkinson, 1667 ; T. Jessop, 1668 ; J. Cook, 1669
;

T. Jessop, 1670 ; R. Jackson, 1671 ; N. Fleatham, 1672 ; J. Cook,

1674; R. Jackson, 1676; W. Lee, 1678; W. Atkinson, 1680;

R. Moor, 1682 ; J. Burdon, 1683; J. Cook, 1685 ; R. Moon, 1687 ;

T. Wrangham, 1689 ; R. Jackson, 1691 ; J. Cook, 1693 ; J. Burdon,

1694; W. Atkinson, 1697; J. Cook, 1698; T. Wrangham, 1699;

R. Bunting. 1701 ; J. Cook, 1703 ; T. Redman, 1704 ; AV. II. Atkin-

son, 1706; R. Bowlby, 1707; T. Sutton, 1708; J. Cook, 1710;

R. Bunting, 1711 ; T.Redman, 1712; J. Wells, 1713; J. Burdett,

1715 ; J. Cook, 1717 ; T. Ogle, 1718 ; J. Cook, 1719 ; W. Raisbeck,

1720; J. Cook, 1721; AV. Gibson, 1722; D. Douthwaite, 1721;

J. Burdett, 1726 ; J. Finch, 1728, died ; W. Sutton, succ., also 1730

;

H. Brown, 1731; J. Burdett, 1733; R. Bunting, 1734; D. Dou-
thwaite, 1735 ; J. Raisbeck, 1736 ; T. Raisbeck, 1737 ; J. Troy, 1739

;

W. Sutton, 1741 ; J. Raisbeck, 1742; W. Sleigh, 1743 ; II. Brown,

1745; J. Raisbeck, 1746; T. Raisbeck, 1747; R. Whitley, 1748;

J. Troy, 1750 ; R. Ferrand, 1751 ; W. Sutton, 1753 ; W. Sleigh,

1754; H. Brown, 1755; J. Raisbeck, 1756; T. Raisbeck, 1757;

R. A\T]itley, 1758; G. Sutton, 1759; W. Sutton, 1761; R. Ferrand,

1702; W. Sleigh, 1763; T. Fall, 1764; J. Wilkinson, 1766;

G. Sutton, 1768 ; J. S. Raisbeck, 1769 ; R. Preston, 1771 ; W. Sleigh,

1773; B. Lumley, 1774; G. Hutchinson, 1776; J. Da\ison, 1778;

R. Webster, 1780 ; C. Sleigh, 1782; J. Sutton, 1783; G. Sutton,

1784; J. Wilkinson, 1785 ; C. Smith, 1786; J. S. Raisbeck, 17SS;

B. Lumley, 1789 ; AV. Sleigh, 1790 ; J. Sutton, 1791 ; G. Sutton,

1792; R. Burdon, 1793; T. Simpson, 1795; G. Sutton, 1797;

C. Smith, 1798; R. Wilkinson, 1799; Richardson Ferrand, 1801;

John C.arr, 1803 ; George Hutchinson, 1805 ; Watson Alcock, 1807 ;

James Walker, 1809 ; John Hutchinson, 1810 ; James Walker, 1811 ;

Thomas Hutchinson, 1812; George Sutton, 1813; Richard Dickson,

1814; Henry Hutchinson, 1816; William Br.aithwaite, 1818 ; Tliomas

Jennett, 1819 ; William Skinner, 1820 ; Richard Jackson, 1821 ; John

Wilkinson, 1822; William Skinner, jun., 1825; Thomas Walker,

1827; Robert Lamb, 1830; Leonai-d Raisbeck, 1832 ; Robert Tliomp-

son, 1834; William Skinner, 1835; Robert Lamb, 1836 ; Christopher

Lodge, 1837 ; Thomas Jennett, 1838 ; William Skinner, jun., 1840 ;

C. Trotter, 1842 ; W. Skinner, jun., 1844 ; J. Crosby, 1845 ; John

Bales, 1847; C. Trotter, 1849; W. Skinner, 1853; Robert

Craggs, 1854.

The first municipal corporation, elected December 26,

1835, were—Councillors : Christopher Lodge, Robert

Lamb, Christopher Martin, William Robinson, Thomas

Walker, Robinson Watson, Joshua Bycrs, George

Walton, Thomas Jennett, Robert Jordison, Joseph

Wade, Samuel Braithwaite, George Applegarth,

John Robinson AValker, William Skinner, son.,

Christopher Coalcs, Thomas Heaviside, and Joseph

Claxton. October 30th, the councillors elected the

received by the audience, was only acted three nights, and was never

printed. His last piece, "Tom Jones," a comic opera, was performed

at Covent Garden in 1769, and was very successful. Mr. Reed

preserved through life the character of a sensible, worthy, friendly

,

man ; and his taste for the drama never prevented his attention to

business. He died in London, August 15, 1787, leaving a handsome

fortune to his two sons, John Watson Reed, a solicitor in London,

and Shakspeare Reed, afterwards of Thornhill, near Sunderland, Esq.,

and a magistrate for the county of I)u;'ham.
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following from their own body to be aldermen :

—

William Skinner, sen., Robert Jordison, Christopher

Lodge, Robert Lamb, Robinson Watson, and Thomas
Walker; and on the 1st January, 1836, Wm. Skinner,

sen., mayor.

A greve or bailiff is appointed by the Bishop of

Durham. The present steward of the bishop's courts

in the Borough of Stockton is Mr. Joseph RadcliiFe

AVilson, who was appointed by his lordship in January,

1853, on the death of Mr. Faber.

It is recorded that the court-leet, which had been

granted in the time of Charles II., had, a few years

previous to 1770, fallen into disuetude; but upon the

]-epresentation of the mayor and burgesses, a case was

prepared and submitted to a sergeant-at-law, in conse-

quence of whose opinion the court was revived,

together with the other courts of- the Borough, two

meetings being held annually. The jurisdiction of the

court-leet not being co-extensive with the town, it has,

of late years, again fallen into abeyance.

The revenue of the corporation of Stockton arises

from the rents of houses and the stallage of the Sham-

bles and Market Place, which are all freehold, and

from the income of other property held by leases under

the Bishop of Durham, particularly the Town House,

the port, and the anchorage and plankage dues.* The

latter (originally granted by Bishop Neile, on the deci-

sion in 1620, to Rowland Wetherall) are granted upon

trust, from time to time, to apply and dispose of the

profits that arise from the premises for making and

repairing the public streets and pavements, or for pay-

ment of debt contracted on that behalf, or for other

p\iblic uses, and for the public advantage and conve-

nience, in such manner as the mayor, aldermen, and

burgesses, from time to time to be assembled at the

courts to be heldforthe said Borough, or the major part

of them, should direct, appoint, or approve of. Out of

the income, an allowance of £30 per annum was for-

merly made to the mayor for the time being, towards the

expense of the mayoralty, which allowance is now in-

creased to £50 ; but the whole of the clear yearly income

from anchorage and plankage is appropriated for public

improvements. The annual statement of the corpora-

tion accounts is printed.

The corporation are empowered to levy rates, not

• In Mr. DaTison's evidence, before a committee of the House of

C!omraon3, June 22, 1838, he said, respecting the corporation of

Stockton, " They have them (the tolls) upon very moderate terms ;

rind at one time, we used to make them a present of the fine, and they

in return, when the bishop went there to hold a confirmation, used to

exceeding 3s. in the pound on the full net annual value

of property in any one year ; for special district rates,

not exceeding 9d. in the pound ; and for private

improvement rates, not exceeding 6d. in the pound.

In consequence of the defalcation of a tax collector,

the following printed hand-bill was issued in February,

1851 :—

"Notice is hereby given, that a meeting of the inhabitants and

rate-payers of the township of Stockton will be held at the committee

room. Alms-houses, Stockton, on Tuesday, the 18th day of February

instant, at 11 o'clock in the forenoon, to take into consideration the

subject of a letter received from the sur^'eyor of taxes, which states

th.it the township of Stockton has been returned into the exchequer

as in arrear, in respect of property and income tax, and that proceed-

ings will be commenced against the township for the recovery thereof.

Thomas Lambert and Robinson Watson, churchwardens ; W. W.
Child, George Weldon, and George Harrison, overseers. Feb., 1851."

After some discussion, it was agreed, at the meeting,

to make up the amount.

Police.—A proposal from Major White to amalga-

mate the County and Borough Police was accepted at a

special meeting of the town councillors ; and a police

station was erected in West Row in 1851. The site,

which formed part of the premises now occupied as a

Borough Hall, was purchased from the corporation by

the county for £300 ; and the buildings and cells cost

£500.

The following are the Borough magistrates :—The

mayor and ex-mayor, Thomas Richmond, Robert

Craggs, Robert Keenleyside, M.D., William Richard-

son, Charles Trotter, Peter Romyn, and Samuel Braith-

waite, Esqrs. Their sittings are held in the Borough

Hall.

ConNTY Court.—The county court is held monthly

in the Borough Hall ; T. Crosby, assistant clerk. Its

circuit includes the townships of Aislaby, distant 5

miles ; BiUingham, 3 ; Bishopton, 6 ; Bradbury, 14

;

Butterwick, 12; Carleton, 4; Chilton, 14; Coopen

Bewley, 5; Cornforth, 14; Egglescliife, 4; Elstob, 9;

Elton, 4; Embleton, 10; Ferryhill, 16; Fishburn, 12;

Foxton and Shotton, 8; Garmondsway Moor, 14;

Grindon, 6; East Hartburn, 2; Mainsforth, 13; Bishop-

Middleham, 12; Mordon, 11; East and West New-
biggin, 7; Newsham, 6; Long-Newton, 5; Newton

give his lordship and the clergy a dinner, once in four years, and the

bishop never took any fine of them. But upon one occasion when

we went, by some means they did not give him a dinner as usual, and

so we recollected it the last renewal, and we did not return the fijie :

but it was done always upon very moderate terms."
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Bewley, 6 ; Norton,2; Preston-le-Skerne, 10; Preston-

on-Tees, 2 ; Redmarshall, 4 ; Sedgefield, 8 ; Great

Stainton, 8 ; Little Stainton, 5 ; Stillington, 8; Stockton;

Thrislington, 13; Trimdon, 13; Whitton, 5; Wolvis-

ton, 5 ; and Woodham, 12.

Revising Barrister's Coxtrt.—Stockton is one of i

the polling places for the Southern Division of the

county of Durham. The revising barrister's district

comprises Aislaby, Billingham, Carleton, Cowpen
Bewley (including Saltholme), EgglesclifFe, Elton, East

Hartburn, Long-Newton, Newsham, Newton Bewley,

Norton, Preston-upon-Tees, Redmarshall, Stockton,

and Wolviston.

MARKETS, FAIRS, LOCAL TRADE,
MANUFACTURES, &c.

Stockton market, as established by the successive

charters above noticed, is held on every Wednesday.

It is well supplied with all kinds of grain, butcher's

meat, fish, poultry, butter, eggs, vegetables, &c. ; and

numerous hawkers attend, with their different wares.

A market, on a somewhat smaller scale, is held on

Saturdays. The schedule of tolls, fixed by the Stock-

ton Extension and Improvement Act of 1852, is as

follows :

—

Butchers' stalls per year, for the use of the party taking only, and

subject to the lessee for the time being of the market under the cor-

poration having the privilege of letting the same on the days when

the same are not actually occupied by the yearly tenant himself, £4.

Each butcher, for a stall for a Wednesday only, 2s. Do., for a

Saturday only, Is.

All stalls, 8 feet in length and 4 in breadth, except such as after-

wards mentioned, covered, 9d. Do., not covered, 6d. Stalls of

greater dimensions in proportion.

Standage on the ground for 12 feet by 6, for pots, glass, wooden ware,

baskets, and furniture, 6d. For brooms. Id. Hucksters' and fiuit

stalls, covered, 9d. Do., not covered, 6d. Potatoe and fruit carts, 3d.

For standage of goods sold by auction:—Furniture. Is. Imple-

ments of husbandry and farming utensils. Is. Horses, cows, pigs,

sheep, or other beasts, for each lot, 28. For each hawker's cart or

waggon, 68.—Fish stalls, of the above dimensions, per day, 4d.

Caravans, per day, small, each, Is. 6d. Do., middle size, each, 3s.

Do., large, each, 4s.

A Fair is held in Stockton annually, according to

ancient charter, on the 18th of July ; and other fairs

are held on the Thursday before November 19, and

on November 23. On the 31st of January, 1770, the

first fair for cattle, sheep, and horses was held. A
horse fair accompanied the opening of the Shambles,

September 28, 1824. On February 7, 1838, a horse

• At the National Exhibition of 1861, Mr. Byers contributed a

•cries of his products, which included the lead ores as obtained from

the Grass-hill mine, Tcesdale, the ores prepared for smelting, the lead

VOL. II.

fair was again commenced. Fairs for the sale of cattle,

sheep, &c., established in 1811, were held on the last

Wednesday in every month ; in 1830, it was found

necessary to shorten that interval, and hold them once a

fortnight; and on the 21st of January, 1851, a com-

mencement was made of holding them weekly. A fat

cattle show was established in 1853, by a committee of

the corporation.

In 1853, the opening of the Leeds Northern Railway,

which established a communication with the manufactur-

ing districts, induced the authorities of Stockton to

establish a Wool MarJcet, at which farmers and others

might more advantageously dispose of their produce

than by selling it on their own farms. It was resolved

that the last Wednesdays in June and July should be

the days for this market ; and a commencement was

made on the 22nd of June and the 20th of July, 1853.

The result was favourable ; and there is every prospect

of continued success to the market. A Cheese Fair is

also held annually.

There are in Stockton four iron founders and engine

builders, having steam power ; Messrs. Brown Brothers

are also millwrights ; Messrs. Maddison and Pigg, brass

founders and finishers ; besides the establishments of

Messrs. Fossick and Hackworth, Mr. Mainwaring, Mr.

Roger, &c., whose various works give employment to a

considerable number of men.

Five millers and corn merchants carry on business in

the town, generally by steam power. This branch of

business is extensive ; the supply of grain from the

surrounding agricultural districts, with that imported

from other parts of England and from abroad

being here converted into flour for the supply of the

numerous mining population to the west and north, and

also for transmission to Newcastle, Dundee, Aberdeen^

Glasgow, and Edinburgh. The excellent quality of

Stockton flour has long been celebrated. A co-operative

corn-mill company was in existence in 1847.

Various descriptions of earthenware are manufactured

in three potteries. Bricks and tiles are also made in the

vicinity of the town.

An extensive trade in lead is carried on, principally

from the mines in Teesdale. There is a large smelting

mill in Stockton, the property of Mr. Byers, who ships

considerable quantities of sheet and pipe lead to London

and other places.*

in pig, sheet lead, and lead piping. There were also a cake or button

of silver, and the different qualities of litharge obtained during

cupellation. The blags which accompanied the common and refined

2 c
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There are three rope and twine makers ; one of the

establishments being carried on by machinery. Stock-

ton has long been celebrated for its manufacture of

canvas, in which two firms are at present engaged.*

Flax is imported from Rotterdam and other places ; and

the flax-dressing trade which has long been carried on

in Stockton, is represented by Mr. Richard Walker,

AYest Row.

Several wholesale grocery establishments supply the

district around the town. There are ten wine and spirit

merchants. There are also large bonding warehouses,

situated near the river, for the bonders of spirits, tea,

sugar, tobacco, &c. The town contains three breweries

(at two of which are makings) ; four ale and porter

merchants ; fifty-seven inns, hotels, and public houses

;

and nine beer-shops. No less than thirty-four fire and

life insurance companies have offices in Stockton.

There are five printing offices, with a number of the

shops of booksellers,t grocers, flour-dealers, drapers,

tailors, shoemakers, dressmakers, &c., besides the work-

shops of joiners, wrights, smiths, turners, and other

mechanics.

The establishment of " The Darlington and Stockton

Times" newspaper has been noticed in the account of

the first-named town, vol. i., p. 476.

The increase in trade and population of late years

has, as a matter of course, occasioned a corresponding

addition to the houses and streets of the town ; which,

to some extent, has been facilitated by the establishment

of building societies.

On the banks of the river there are the ship-building

yards of F. Coatcs, Quayside, and M. Pearse and Co.,

iron ship-builders, North Shore, each of which has a

patent slip-way for the repairing of vessels.

On September 6, 1806, a mail-coach commenced

running through Stockton to Sunderland and South

Shields. 'J'he hours of its arrival and departure were

adapted to the alterations made in the arrangements of

the north mail; but, in 1832, it was discontinued, and

the letters were brought from Darlington in a gig. In

November of that year, a committee of the inhabitants

was formed, to select some competent and influential

person, who should be deputed to endeavour to pro-

cure a direct mail communication with the metropolis.

lead illustrated the successive conditions through which the ore has

to pass in obtaining the various merchantable commodities. A medal

•was awarded to Mr. Bycrs for his contributions.

• To the National Exhibition, Messrs. Dixon and Longstaff, of

North Shore, contributed a specimen of sail-cloth made from Baltic

long flax, and hand-loom woven.

t Mr. Thomas Jennett, printer and bookseller, died June 27, 1846.

Stockton now participates with other places, in this

respect. In the advantages derived from railway com-

munication ; and there are offices for the electric tele-

graph at the stations of the North-eastern and the

Stockton and Darlington Railways. Carriers diverge

from Stockton to all the principal towns and villages

in the county of Durham and the North Riding of

Yorkshire.

BANKS.

Stockton dots not at present possess any parent banking

establishment, the monetary transactions for the com-

merce of the port being conducted through the medium

of agents of distant banking houses, as those indepen-

dent firms which have at various periods been

established, do not appear to have been successful. The

bank of Messrs. Backhouse and Co., and the National

Provincial Bank of England, have each a branch

establishment in High Street ; and the Darlington

District Joint Stock Bank have premises for its agent

in Finkle Street. Particulars of these firms have

already been given, for which see vol. i., p. 483.

Stockton and Cleveland Bank.— This was a

private bank, established in Stockton under the firm of

Lumley, Wilkinson, and Snowdon. They issued their

own notes, and possessed the confidence of a great por-

tion of the trading population of the district. The

concern, however, stopped payment on the 2nd of

August, 1815, and caused much distress amongst the

humbler classes of the neighbourhood, the £1 notes

being at the time in general circulation.

Tees Bank.—This was also a private banking com-

pany, established in 1785. The partners in the firm

were George and John Hutchinson, W. Hutchinson,

jun., and Thomas Place. In 1824, a robbery to a con-

siderable extent was committed itpon the bank. A
reward of two hundred guineas was offered for such

information as might lead to the discovery and convic-

tion of the offender ; and advertisements to the following

eflfect were inserted in all the leading newspapers :

—

Stolen, from the York and Shields Mail, supposed

He was mayor of Stockton in 1819, and was the first chief magistrate

under the niw Municipal Act. He continued an alderman untU the

time of his death ; and perhaps no man ever enjoyed a larger share of

well-merited popularity among his fellow townsmen and neighbours.

His funeral was attended by a numerous public procession ; and

elegiac verses to his memory were published. There is a full-length

portrait of him in the Borough Hall.
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when changing horses at Stockton,* about 3 o'clock in

the morning of Saturday, the 31st January, 1824, a

leather portmanteau (under the care of John Dobson, a

clerk in the Tees Bank) containing parcels of notes,

checks, bills, &c., amounting to £4,970 4s. 8d. Amongst

the missing bills were—one on David Carrick, Carlisle,

10/. 10s. Id. ; Charles Smith on John Rayne, Newcas-

tle, 2Sl. 4s. ; George Coverdale, Stokesley, on J.

• An Expert Thief.—A young man, engaged as a traveller, left

York on a Friday evening, inside the London mail; the night bleak

and stormy, in the month of January. It was his first journey as a

commercial gent. There was not a single passenger in or out tiU

thev reached Easingwold, when an outside got up. The mail pro-

ceeded on to Thirsk, where the coachman and guard said to the

stranger, that as the night was wet and stormy, he might go inside.

Ue did so, and, when inside, wrapped himself up in a dreadnought

coat, and turned his back to the young traveller, who, despite sundry

courteous endeavours to elicit his views on the state of the weather,

neither saw his face nor heard his voice. Nothing transpired till the

coach reached Stockton, where a young man enquired if there was

room inside. The reply was " plenty." The stranger in the dread-

nought by this time left, paying the coachee, but remarking that if

he did not find a friend he expected to see, he would return before

the coach started. He disappeared in the darkness of the night, but

only made a circuit round the coach and stood crouched like a tiger

at the opposite door. He was a London thief, and a sharp one, who

had laid his plans well. The young gentleman who had asked about

the scat, was a banker's confidential clerk, in the charge of a very

large snm of money, upwards of £20,000 in bills and notes. Our

young traveller also came out here, and was warming himself at the

fire; when, as a kindness to the coachman and guard, the banker's

clerk ordered some brandy, and whilst it was being brought he took

out liis tin case with his own hand, and placed it secui ely under his

seat, shutting carefully the door of the empty coach ; but before he

had left the coach six paces, the London thief had opened the oppo-

site door, and was oif with the treasure. The horn blew, the passen-

gers were seated, the mail started. Nothing occurred between

Stockton and Sunderland, except that an old woman got a lift of six

miles, and left at Castle Eden. "When the coach arrived at Sunder-

land, the young traveller's destination, he had his luggage carried to

the principal inn. The banker's clerk was now left alone in fancied

security ; when, verging towards the conclusion of his journey, he

looked to see that his box was safe, and to his horror found it gone.

There was an instant and eager search ; and a consultation with

coachee and guard led to the conclusion that the young traveller was
the robber, and the old woman an accomplice. The banker, who was
an energetic person, ordered a coach and four, and drove back as fast as

wheels could carry him. Here his suspicions were confirmed. The
young traveller, finding Saturday market-day at Sunderland, could do

no business ; he took a gig to Newcastle, where he found it market-day

also. He then proceeded to Hexham, where he called upon some cus-

tomers, after which he returned to Newcastle. He spent the Sunday at

North Shields with a friend. By tliis time, the banker was on his trail,

and had magistrates and police out on various routes, tracing him like a

fox, and suspicion deepened at every winding. The banker with his

party reached Shields a few hours after him, searched all the inns

and many houses ; but the young traveller's friend chanced to be far

above suspicion, and the pursuers were at fault, for the gentleman

drove the object of their pursuit past them ne.xt day in his own
carriage to Sunderland. He then started on the outside of the coach

for Newcastle. Two policemen, in plain clothes, were taken up on

Temple and Co., Newcastle, 25/. 6s. Gd. ; do. on George

Cowan, Newcastle, 100/. ; do. on Matthew Renwick,

Newcastle, 46/. 9s. 4d. ; do. on John Hodgson, New-
castle, 20/. ; do. on Samuel Dobson, Newcastle,

24/. lis. Id.; R. Wood, Wynyard, on. T. and G.

Hutchinson, Sunderland, 352/. ; John Reed, Yarm, on

Thomas Morland, Newcastle, 25/. 17s. 6f/. ; do. on W.
Marley, Newcastle, 80/. 14s. 6d. ; J. Wetherell, Dur-

the coach beside him. Six expresses passed the coach on the road,

summoning the magistrates and making sure arrangements that escape

should be impossible. Eour policemen were stationed at Gateshead,

and as many on Newcastle bridge, and a tolerable party waited the

arrival of the coach at the Turf Hotel. Not a word or movement
shewed the young traveller that he was exciting any interest. He
was allowed to leave the coach, and proceed to the Turk's Head,

where he ordered dinner and retired. Before he got his coat off,

however, the waiter gave him notice that he was wanted in the

traveller's room. He said it was impossible, as he did not know a

single gentleman in Newcastle ; but on the waiter giving his name as

that of the gentleman wantea, he proceeded to the other room, where

Forsyth, then at the head of the Newcastle police, met him politely,

locked the door, and expressed his regret at the necessity of leading

him to prison. It was some time before the young man could be

made to understand Forsyth's obiect, the charge, and the suspicion

against him ; and when he did, he staggered back and fainted. He
was taken before the magistrates ; and the more the case was investi-

gated, the more conclusive seemed the evidence, coupled with his

flight, and the fact, that in his declaration he forgot to mention the

old woman, who could no where be traced, and who was now
decidedly regarded as an accomplice. Bail was consequently re-

fused, untU the references he gave in Glasgow were applied to. But
much to the wonderment of all ready to pronounce him guilty, the

replies were that the thing was next to impossible ; that his character

was unimpeachable; that respectable men pledged their existence

for his innocence, and that the writers would bail him to any amount.

On this, bonds were immediately executed, and the unfortunate

youth was again at liberty ; but to his dying day he could never

forget the feeling of degradation and injured pride that rose within

him, as when liberated he passed out through a crowd of spectators,

eager to catch a glimpse of the clever robber ; and one desperate cha-

racter, more acutely cruel than his fellows, gave him a hurrah for his

cleverness in baffling justice. The suspicion, groundless as it was,

gave him great uneasiness ; and a joyful heart had he, when he leor.ied

that the harpies of the criminal law had drawn a remark upon the

passenger with the dreadnought coat leaving the coach, and had
ascertained, that on the night in question, a chaise and four had

taken him from the next stage to London, withont losing much time

by the way, or leaving any trace behind. Advertisements were

inserted in the London papers, offering a handsome reward for a box

lost at Stockton, containing a large sum of money ; but, no reply was

made, until a month elapsed after the bank had ceased advertising.

Then, however, came a letter from London, saying that the WTiter

had observed several advertisements regarding a box lost at Stockton
;

that the writer knew of a box lost there on the night named, but

i

it contained a larger sum than was specified, and therefore was

I

probably not the same. If, however, it was, it would be returned in

exchange for a draft for £2,000, and £700 more for expenses ; but, in

the meantime, there must be a bond of security forwarded for the

fulfilment of the contract, and no questions were to be asked. This

I

looked like compounding a felony, so a compromi>;e w.is attempted,

I but it was never answered. The full terms were then concluded, and
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ham, on Mark Hopper, Durham, 10/. 5s. ; George

Coates, Norton, on John Riseborough, Sunderland,

77/. 5s. ; J. P. Wimberley, Doncaster, on Miss Jowsey,

Sunderland, 11. 5s. ; do. on John Oyston, South Shields,

6/. 13s. Id., &c., &c.

The lost property was somewhat mysteriously re-

covered ; but it was never known by whom the robbery

was really committed. The bank stopped payment on

the 24:th September, 1825, producing that distress in

the district which usually accompanied the failure of

such establishments.

Stockton and Durham County Bank.—During

the prevailing rage for establishing banks on the joint

stock principle, a prospectus was issued in 1838, in

favour of Stockton, with the above title. The address

stated, that the opening out of various railways and

branches, the increase of the exports of the port and of

trade generally in the district, held out favourable

prospects for the success of such an undertaking ; the

increase of productive industry requiring a correspond-

ing augmentation of banking facilities, and that expe-

rience had shown that these facilities can be best

secured by the Joint Stock Banking system. The
Provisional Committee were— Messrs. Thomas Allison

Tennant, Christopher Lodge, John Stagg, Robert

Lamb, Andrew Sanders, and Ralph Ward Jackson

;

solicitors, Messrs. Jackson and Skinner. Capital,

£150,000, in shares of £20 each. The requisite amount

of capital having in a short time been subscribed, the

company commenced business in premises suitable for

the purpose. A forgery was committed upon their £5
notes in 1845; and the parties having been discovered,

they were tried and convicted at the Durham assizes.

In the course of business, the company met with various

losses ; and in June, 1846, they declined business in

favour of the National Provincial Bank of Encrland,

transferring their accounts to that establishment.

The sum of £12 10s. per share was paid up at the time

of the Stockton and Durham County Bank declining

business ; and though the shareholders were considerable

losers in the undertaking, yet, as i'ar as the pubHc

were concerned, all current liabilities were ultimately

met.

the bond of security despatched ; and, eight hours before the mail

that carried it returned, a person with the appearance and address of

a gentleman, with an easy and confident air, walked into the bank
with the identical box, and an open note which told its own tale,

simply soliciting an answer. On opening the bos, the contents were
found precisely as lost. The stranger was paid over £2,700, and left

the bank with a bow to the manager, but without utternig a syllable,

Savings Bank.—The bank for savings at Stockton

was commenced at May- day, 1816, and, in the first

half-year of its operations, accumulated a fund of

£1,212. Its progress since that time has been steady and

encouraging. Its business is transacted every Wednes-

day, in a room appropriated for the purpose, in the

Alms-houses. On the 20th of November, 1852, there

were 1,551 accounts, with deposits amounting to £44,995

16s. 7d. ; and, in 1853, 1,609 accounts, with £46,727

14s. lOd. In 1854, there was £49,678 8s. in the hands of

the Commissioners for the Reduction of the National Debt,

and £96 2s. 7d. in the hands of William Skinner, Esq.,

treasurer. The number of depositors were as follows :

—

99 whose respectiye Balances do not exceed £1 £49 12 5

327 abo-re £1 and under £5 837 7 2

227 „ 5 „ 10 1,580 5

146 „ 10 „ 15 1,756 3 4

167 „ 15 „ 20 1,829 13 9

209 „ 20 „ 30 4,906 16 10

162 „ 30 „ 40 5,059 1 10

62 „ 40 „ 60 2,769 12 5

133 „ 50 „ 76 7,946 U 5

55 „ 75 „ 100 4,762 3 2

48 „ 100 „ 126 6,345 6 9

26 „ 125 „ 150 3,517 7 6

32 „ 150 „ 200 6,432 7 10

1623 Total number of Depositors

30 Charitable Societies

6 Friendly Societies

1659 Total Number ol Accounts Total Balance £47,730 12 5

There was invested with the Commissioners, on the

separate surplus fund account, £1,906 9s.; and after

deducting £100 to meet current expenses, £37 9s. 2d.

remained to be carried to the same account.

AMUSEMENTS, &c.

It does not appear that the amusements and pastimes

of the people of Stockton diifered materially from

those of other places similarly situated. Cock-fighting,

it seems, was formerly a favourite amusement. On
the 14th of September, 1756, a main of cocks was

fought at Stockton, between the gentlemen of Darling-

ton and llelmsley, which consisted of twentv-two

battles, twelve won by the former, and ten by the latter.

and posted back to London, as he came, with four horses. A few
days al'ter, the manager received a case of excellent wine, value about

£30, and a note, thanking him for his good faith, complijuenting him
on his business habits, telling him that the expenses of his party in

the transaction had been heavy, as they had made four attempts before

they succeeded, and concluded by an offer of similar services if the

wTiter should be fortunate enough ever again to render them necessary.

46
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Bull-baiting was also a favourite amusement ; and the

bull-ring, which was in the High Street, opposite the

north front of the Town Hall, was not removed till the

mayoralty of Robert Wilkinson, Esq., 1799-1800.

In an award of 1658, alluded to in that of 1662, for

dividing waste lands near Stockton (see page 154), is

this proviso :
—" Be it remembered, that whereas Salt-

holme was to be equally divided betwixt John Jesson,

Esq., and Thomas Harperley, and by that award afore-

said, there is ordered and appointed to Thomas Har-

perley one acre of land more than to the said John Jesson,

Esq. And the said John Jesson, Esq., doth abate the

said acre of land out of his proportion which is to be set

forth to the said Thomas Harperley, in consideration

that the said Thomas Harperley and his heirs and

assigns shall for ever thereafter permit any that hath

a mind to bowl on the usual accustomed place in the

Saltholme within the said Thomas Harperley's allot-

ment there." No trace or tradition of this bowling-

green remains.

Maces have been held at various times on the Carrs

on the Yorkshire side of the Tees. In 1809, the course

was flooded by the river, and the horses ran in the

water. The usual time for commencing the races has

been the Thursdays in the first week after the York
August Meeting. A Regatta was held in June, 1843.

There is a Cricket Club in Stockton, the members of

which have acquired considerable dexterity in that

athletic exercise. The cricket ground is in Portrack

Lane. Assemblies have for many years been popular

recreations with the inhabitants of the town ; and the

celebration of public events, either of a general or local

nature, is usually a source of social enjoyment. Music
is also m uch cultivated ; amateur concerts are regularly

and successfully given in Stockton ; and a spirit of

literary inquiry is widening the sphere of intellectual

knowledge.

Benefit Societies.—Intimately connected with the

welfare of the working classes are a number of benefit

societies.* " The Loyal Tradesmen's Glory Lodge of

Independent Order of Odd Fellows, Manchester Unity,"

is held at the Vane Arms every alternate Saturday, and

consists of nearly 60 members. " The Loyal Blooming
Rose Lodge, Manchester Unity," is held at the Green
Dragon Inn, and consists of about 50 members. Be-

• A Lodge of Free and Accepted Masons (No. 19), which was con-

stituted on the 3rd of February, 1725, at the Swan and Kuraraer,

Fmch Lane, London, was afterwards removed to the Swan, in

Exchange Alley, and from thence to the Queen's Head, Stockton, on

sides these, there are upwards of 30 other societies, in

which the number of members varies from a dozen

to 150. See Sutton's Charities, page 169.

Master Mariners' Asylum.—This institution was
established in 1837. From the annual statements of its

accounts, it appears that there is generally a balance

kept in hand of about £200.

SUPPLY OF WATER.

At the superintending inspector's inquiry in 1848, it

was stated that " the imperfect supply of water (and

that very impure in quality) with which Stockton is at

present served, has for some years been a subject of

serious consideration to the inhabitants ; and, as the

population increased, the evil of a scanty supply became
more apparent." No less then 700 houses took their

supply from St. John's Well, the hardness of which was
37 deg. There were, at that time, two public pumps in

the Borough and one without. The latter was kept in

repair by the surveyors, and was locked up from Satur-

day night to Monday morning ; and the former were

locked up at stated periods during each day. To houses

of above £30 per annum, common lift pumps were

attached ; and wells were dug for the purpose to the

depth of about 36 feet. For washing purposes, rain

water was collected from the roofs. The poorer classes

travelled, upon an average, a distance of 100 yards for

their supply of water, or were subjected to a charge

made by the water carriers of Jd. for about three gallons.

The water in the river Tees being salt, except at low

tide, the people resident on its banks abstracted a

supply at that period.

In 1850, a plan for a supply of water to Stockton was

prepared, by which it was proposed that the water

should be filtered from the Tees at Yarm into a reser-

voir on the south side of the river, and forced along the

railway viaduct to reservoirs near Egglescliffe, 60 feet

above the level of Stockton. Thence it was to be con-

veyed by pipes laid along the turnpike road, a distance

of 4^ miles. The estimated cost was £10,000; audit

was understood that a single capitalist had ofiered to

subscribe a fourth of that sum. The water was analyzed

by Dr. Glover, of Newcastle, and was stated to be well

suited for domestic purposes. The scheme was registered.

the 2nd of December, 1756, when it was made No. 30. In 1773, it

was removed to the inn now called the Vane Arms, and entitled

"The Lodge of Philanthropy." It has been closed for many years;

and Free Masonry has not since been revived in Stockton.
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Mr. Ranger, on his visit to Stockton, urged that

" the supply of water, and the machinery for its

distribution, should be in the hands of those, and

of those only, who have an interest in applying

it in combination with house and street drainage,

and the prevention of underground collections of liquid

filth of every description, whereby alone offensive and

pestilential exhalations can be avoided." The promoters

of the Stockton water-works, fully concurring in this

view, abandoned their intention of applying to parlia-

ment for a bill of incorporation, and, in doing so, avowed

that their object primarily was that of securing to the

inhabitants an unexceptionable water supply.

Mr. R. F. Reed, engineering surveyor, was en-

gaged by several gentlemen resident in the town

and neighbourhood to make a survey of the district

preparatory to the establishment of a water com-

pany. A report, prepared with the assistance of Mr.

J. Fowler, C.E., was furnished in October, 1850, in

which it was recommended to obtain a supply of water

from " a district situated west of Stockton, in the town-

ships of Norton and Carleton, and bounded by the road

leading from Stockton to Sedgefield on the north, by

that leading from Stockton to Redmarshall on the south,

and sloping eastward from an irregular summit lying

between those roads, three miles from Stockton, and 170

feet above high water spring tides in the river Tees at

that town ; and which, by the present natural conveying

descents, would comprise a ' gather ' of 750 acres, off a

clean district, situated on clay, and free from villages

—

the rain water flowing off which could, by the existing

water-courses, and by catch-water drains, be impounded

in stone reservoirs, and the main pipes supplied from

a service reservoir at a distance of If miles from the

town, and at an elevation of 70 feet above high water

ordinary spring tides in the Tees at Stockton, and 40

feet above the level of the High Street—an elevation

sufficient to lay the water into the highest story of any

house in the town.—All the proposed area of gather is

a poor tenacious clay ; the whole of the district of the

lowest scale of fertility."

" The Stockton, Middlesborough, and Tarm Water

Works Act" was passed in 1851 ; and the town has

since been supplied with water from their works. (See

Darlington, vol. i., p. 486.) In 1854, an act was

passed to enable the company to supply water to Norton,

Coatham, Redcar, &c. The offices of the company are

in Dovecot Street. The town fire-engines, which

formerly stood in the church porch, are now kept in

premises in Brunswick Street, and are in good repair.

SUPPLY OF GAS.

" The Stockton Gas Light and Coke Company" was

formed by act of parliament, 3 Geo. IV. ; and the town

was first lighted with gas on the 15th November, 1822.

A new company having been projected, who applied to

parliament for an act of incorporation, meetings were

held on the 16th and 18th December, 1845, in the

Alms-houses, between its provisional directors and a

committee of the old company, at which an amalgama-

tion was agreed upon, and it was resolved to rix the

value of stock and materials to be transferred by arbi-

tration. The premises, works, and apparatus, were

accordingly valued at £5,532 ; of this, the new company,

on their bill receiving the royal assent, were to pay to

their predecessors the sum of £60, and the remaining

£5,472 was to be divided into 576 shares, of £9 10s.

each. The entire capital of the new company was

fixed at £7,980, in 840 shares of £9 10s. each ; and

until the difference of £2,508 was paid up, the holders

of the old company's shares were to receive interest out

of the profits of the new one at the rate of five per cent,

on the above £5,472 ; and after the full capital should

be paid up, the old company was to merge and be ex-

tinguished in the new one. The new act, intituled,

" An Act for lighting with Gas the Town and Borough

of Stockton, in the County of Durham," received the

royal assent on the 16th July, 1846, and extends over

the town and Borough of Stockton, the parish of Nor-

ton, and the town of South Stockton. It is provided

that the dividend shall not exceed the rate of 10 per

cent., except when necessary to make up a deficiency

to that amount in the interest of previous years ; any

surplus that may arise is to go towards a fund, not

exceeding £1,500, for contingencies. Power is given

to the county magistrates, on petition from ten inha-

bitants of the company's district, to modify the charges

for gas, so that the above limitations may not be
J

exceeded. The capital has been for some time paid up.

The gas works are situated opposite the south end of 1

High Street. The gasometers will hold about 24,000

cubic feet of gas. There are 24 round metal

retorts, and 6 clay ones; but the whole of the

metal retorts are not in use. The bore of the

main pipes is 4 and 5 inches. Three are 211 lights in

the streets, each of which, up to September, 1849, was

estimated to consume 9 feet per hour, and for which

Is. 9d. per week was charged; but the commissioners,

under the Lighting and Paving Act, having requested

a reduction to Is. 7d. per lamp, on the understanding

Thank you for purchasing from Ebay Shop Retromedia

http://stores.shop.ebay.co.uk/retromedia


PARISH OF STOCKTON. 185

that the quantity consumed should be reduced to 5 feet

per hour, the price was eventually fixed at Is. 8d., sub-

ject to the same reduction. Up to March, 1849, the

price to private consumers was 6s. lOd. per 1,000 cubic

feet; but, at that date, it was reduced to 5s. lOd. The

quantity of gas consumed in the previous year, by 247

private consumers, was 2,298,560 cubic feet. In the

year ending March, 1853, £464 was received from

streetlights, and £1,173 4s. for private lights; and,

after the payment of expenses, the sum of £997

lis. lOjd. being at the disposal of the company, a divi-

dend of 19s. per share was declared, and the surplus

carried to the next year's account. A reduction of 10

per cent, on the rates of charge, to both public and

private consumers, was made on the 1st of September

following.

RAILWAYS.

Stockton and Darmngton Railway.—An account

of the origin and progress of this important undertaking

will be found in vol. i., pp. Ill and 484. It appears that,

for some time after its opening, September 27, 1825, the

locomotives were worked by vertical cylinders, and the

motion was communicated to the wheels by an endless

chain. Their power was not one-tenth of some of those

of the present day, and their greatest speed was about

eight miles an hour. Passengers travelled in old stage

coaches, mounted upon framings of railway wheels,

without springs, and drawn by horses. The motion

^ was described as " fully as easy as in any coach on the

road. A very slight jolt is felt, accompanied with a

• The coal field beinK situated fully 320 feet above the level of the

tidal river where the coals are put on board ship, necessarily gives a

descending line of railway ; and for several miles the inclination is

such that the laden waggons wiU run of themselves, or, more scien-

tifically speaking, by the force of gravitation. But although the

laden waggons require no power on such parts to take the coals to

the place of shipment, the empty waggons must be hauled back, for

which purpose, the horses had to trot down to be ready to begin

their work ; and as the laden waggons were suffered to run down at

a rate of six or eight miles an hour, heavy horses were soon fatigued

by the down journey. Some one ingeniously suggested that it

would bo a great saving of horse-labour to let them ride down those

portions of the line where the descending gradient was sufficient to

make the waggons run without any dragging or hauling. For each

horse, a homely waggon, with low wheels, railed on all sides but

at one end, ironically called a dandy cart, was constructed ; and

although the poor brute might question why he was, througli coaxing

and whipping, made to mount himself into such a novel situation,

yet such is the sagacity of the horse that the species very soon dis-

covered that it was easier and more pleasant to ride than to walk, and.

In some instances, became very expert in getting into the dandy car-

click or rattle, every time the wheels pass over the

joints of the several rails, and also at the breaks which

occur at the several passing places, and then, if any

thing, feel harsher than in a coach. At any bend of the

road, or other places where the view is obstructed, the

coachman blows a horn to give warning of his approach,

to any waggons or vehicles that may be coming or

going on the way.—Some parts of the way were laid

with rails of cast iron, joined at every four feet; and on

coming upon these, the jerks and jolts were more fre-

quent, more audible, and more sensible, resembling

exactly, as the coachman justly observed to us, the

clinking of a mill hopper." The journey between

Stockton and Darlington occupied about an hour

and a quarter. The railway commenced with two

locomotives ; but the traffic in coals soon exceeded their

capabilities, and a great portion of it was hauled by

horse power.*

The goods depot of the railway is near the end of the

stone bridge across the Tees, and the passenger station

is on the opposite side of the river, at South Stockton, to

which electric wires are extended both from the east

and west. At the half-yearly meeting of the company,

held in Darlington, February 14, 1855, the report stated

that the income during the past six months had been

£143,541 6s. 3d., being an excess of £15,466 12s. 7d.

over the corresponding six months of 1853, and of

£17,976 2s. 8Jd. over the half-year ending July, 1854.

In consequence of the extension of traffic, application

had been made to parliament for leave to Increase the

share capital by the creation of 8,000 new shares of £25

each. A dividend for the half-year was declared at the

rate of £9 per annum.

f

riages even when in motion, having been taught that if they did not

display some alacrity in mounting, they ^\oiUd have to run on foot

several miles. There was, in 183G, according to Sir George Head, ail

old hojse employed in this " cart before the horse" fashion upon the

Stockton and Darlington line. On being unhitched, he invariably

first allowed the carriages to pass him, and then, trotting after the

train, leaped on to the low dandy of his own accord ; and he per-

formed the feat not only without urging, but, on the contrary, with

so much eagerness as to render it difficult to keep him off, although

the carriage was two feet from the ground, and the progressive rate

nearly five miles an hour. A basket of hay was suspended on the

dandy ; and therefore the only wonderful part of the ceremony was

its performance.

t A writer in Frazer's Magazine for May, 1844, says, "To the

success of the ' Stockton and Darlington Railway ' may be traced the

rise of all others We hope the time may never come when the

millions at home and .abroad, who enjoy the advantages of railways,

shall have forgotten that they owe them to Edward Pease of Dar-

lington. It would be idle to relate the endless opposition he received,

tlie hostility of antagonists, the cold support of friends, the vexatious
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TJie Stochton and Darlington Railway Suspension

Bridge, for connecting the original line with the

Middlesborough and Redcar railway, on the opposite

side of the Tees, was the first application of a bridge of

suspension for the support or continuation of a railway.

It was erected by Captain Brown, R.N. ; the foundation

stone was laid July 18, 1829 ; and it was opened De-

cember 27, 1830. The space between the supports was

281 feet 4 inches ; the versed sine, 28 feet; the width

of platform, 16 feet; the height from the surface of

high water, 20 feet ; and the sectional area of chain, 40

square inches. The weight between the points of sus-

pension was 111 tons ; and the structure was calculated

to support a load of 150 tons. The weight of an engine

and 20 waggons, which were all intended to pass over

at one time, was 112 tons ; but upon the first trial being

made with 16 waggons, as they advanced, the platform,

yielding at first to their weight, became elevated in the

middle, so as by degrees to form an apex, which was

no sooner surmounted by half the number than the

couplings broke asunder, and eight carriages rolled

onward, and eight back again. In consequence of this

misadventure, the construction was necessarily altered,

the platform remaining suspended as before, but being

fortified underneath by four starlings, upon which it

was supported. The bridge then received an indefinite

number of waggons ; but in 1844 it was removed, with

its wooden supports. A flat iron bridge, with stone

pillars, was substituted ; in consequence, however, of

the failure of a bridge on a similar construction in

Cheshire, attended by loss of life, supports of wood

have also been annexed to the new structure.

West Hartlepool Harbour Railway.—(See vol.

i., pp. 113, 115.) A branch of this (originally the

Clarence) railway, crosses the Norton road, and skirts

the eastern limits of the town towards the river. The

station is in Bishopton Lane.

obstacles, the absurd objections, the doubt of some, and the prejudice

of others, the ignorance of all. These matters are now being forgotten.

Confident in his judgment, ready in resource, undismayep by dif-

ficulty, with indomitable energy and perseverance, he gradually

surmounted every thing ; and it remains a striking instance of fore-

sight that, without any experience, and with ' all the world before

him where to choose,' he selected what, to the ordinary observer, is

an unpromising district, and made the first and most successful

railway."

* Mr. Edmund Harvey.—The idea of making a cut or channel at

this place was conceived, and warmly advocated, so early as 1769, by

Mr. Edmund Harvey, pewterer, a respectable though obscure trades-

man of Stockton. He illustrated his pkm, in urging the adoption of

which he spent his whole life, by making two plates of copper of the

exact shape of the curve of the river which was to be cut off, and of

the neck which formed the peninsula ; one of these plates was of

NoRTH-KASTERN RAILWAY.—See Leeds Northern,

vol. i., p. 115. This line was opened, amidst great

rejoicings, on the 15th of May, 1852. The station is in

Bishopton Lane, and possesses an electric telegraph.

RIVER, &c.

The course of the Tees, from its rise in Cumberland to

the sea, is between 80 and 90 miles. The tide rises to

Worsall, 3 miles above the town of Yarm. Between that

place and Stockton bridge, a distance by the river of

about 7 miles, it is generally called the upper naviga-

tion. The vessels employed upon it have folding masts,

to permit them to pass through the bridge. A middle

navigation extends from Stockton bridge to Cargo

Fleet, a distance of about 6 miles ; and a lower naviga-

tion from Cargo Fleet to the most seaward buoy, beuig

a length of nearly 7 miles.

Stockton, from the elevation of its site, suffers little

from the floods which frequently inundate the opposite

low grounds on the Yorkshire side of the river, and by

which the shipping are sometimes driven from their

moorings. The fresh water sometimes rises at flood time

at Stockton about 3 or 4 feet above spring tide level.

The river was frozen over at Stockton in 1784, 1795,

and 1819.

The sinuosities of the Tees have already been alluded

to ; and these, immediately below Stockton, were for-

merly so great as to materially lengthen the navigation

between that town and the sea, as well as to prevent an

adequate depth of tidal water for shipping.

An extraordinary southern curve in the river between

Portrack and Stockton measured upwards of two miles

round, though the neck of the enclosed peninsula was

only 220 yards across. The improvement of this part

of the river many years ago attracted attention •* and

considerable exertions were made by William Sleigh,

smaller dimensions than the other, and, when laid upon it, shewed

the course of the stream as it then was, and of the canal as he intended

it to be. Another pursuit of this worthy, but eccentric man, was the

education of half a dozen boys, whom he accompanied to church

every Sunday, when it was his custom to lay scraps of pjiper,

with admonitory texts of Scripture, on the vestry table, for the pe-

rusal of the clergyman. Having, by some means, received a few sheets

of copper, on which the government duty had not been paid, he for

several years felt a great uneasiness of mind, but at last resolved to

ease his conscience by paying the duty. Often did he attend the

Custom-house for that purpose, but the officers only laughed at

his scruples ; till at length, he threw down the money before them,

telling them they might give it to the poor, if they could not carry it

to a right account, he being determined to " render unto Cfesar the

things that are Cacsai''s, and unto God the things which are God's."

Mr. Harvey died in 1781, aged 83 years.
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Esq., mayor of Stockton in 1791, in which year Jona-

than Pickernell, engineer, published a plan and esti-

mates of the cost of the desired cutting. The first act

of parliament obtained to improve the river Tees navi-

gation was the 48th Geo. III., c. 48 :
" An Act for

making a navigable cut from the east side of the river

Tees near Stockton, into the said river, near Portrack,

in the county of Durham, and making various other

improvements in the navigation of the said river between

the town of Stockton and the sea, 27th May, 1808."

The passing of this act had been much delayed

by the opposition of Lord Harewood, owner of Man-

dale mill and granary, on the Yorkshire side of the

Tees, and at the very southern extremity of the curve

;

and this opposition was only withdrawn on condition of

his receiving £2,000 as compensation when the cut should

be made navigable. Under the powers of this act, the

Tees Navigation Company raised £9,000 in £50 shares,

to bear interest at 10 per cent., and £3,000 in loans at

5 per cent. The cut was satisfactorily executed by

contract; and in the morning of September 18, 1810, it

was formally opened ; three sloops, the Custom House

boat, the Redcar life-boat, and numerous pleasure boats

sailing through it from Portrack, amidst the firing of

guns, &c. The river navigation was thus shortened

2 M. 2 F. 36 p. ; and the depth of water at Stockton

was increased 2 feet. The cost of the cut, irrespective

of salaries, office rent, and casual expenses, was, for

labour and materials, £7,927 6s. lid.; purchase of

lands and compensation, £2,567; engineer's plans, &c.,

£281 Is. 6d. ; and parliamentary expenses, £1,387

16s. lid.; total, £12,163 5s. 4d.

The act enabled " the Tees Navigation Company" to

lay the following duties on all vessels lading or unlading

cargoes in the river :—For every British vessel entering

or clearing coastwise, 6d. per ton ; every British vessel

to or from a foreign port, 9d. per ton ; except such

vessel be laden with Norway timber only, then 6d. per

ton ; every foreign vessel. Is. 6d. per ton, except such

foreign vessel be laden with Norway timber only, then

Is. per ton. In May, 1811, £615 14s. 6d. had been

received ; and in the following year, £1,150. From
the opening of the cut, to May, 1847, in the year

previous to which £1,474 12s. 6d. was received, the

entire amount of dues was £21,247 7s. lid., or an

average of about £1,250 per annum. The expendi-

• A forest of fruit and other trees were found buried at a great

depth in the earth whilst making this excavation. The roots lay

lower than the deepest part of the river. In many places, acorns

were found, and nuts of a full growth, some whole, and others

VOL. II.

ture on the river, from 1811 to 1828 inclusive, was

£2,832 4s. lOd.

In 1824, Mr. Henry H. Price, C.E., was employed

to examine and survey the Tees navigation, and made

two reports, with plans, sections, soundings, and

estimates for making a cut at Newport and other im-

provements. On the 19th of June, 1828, an act, 9 Geo.

IV., c. 97, received the royal assent for enabling the

Tees Navigation company " to make a navigable cut

from the east side of the river Tees, near Portrack,

(Blue House Point,) in the county of Durham, into the

said river near Newport, in the township and parish of

Acklam, in the North Riding of the county of York."

By section 62, the company was empowered to raise

£20,000, at an interest of 10 per cent, per annum ; and

by section 63, to raise in share capital £30,000. The

new cut,* which crosses a large curve in the river to the

north, was opened in due form on the 10th of February,

1831, the brig Arno being towed through the channel,

accompanied by a number of steam-boats, &c. It is

about 1,100 yards long, 16 feet deep, and 250 feet

wide ; and by it vessels which could not navigate the

old channel are now enabled to sail up to Stockton.

The cost, irrespective of salaries, office rent, and casual

expenses, was £16,306 15s. 2d. for labour and materials

;

£5,553 4s. 7d. for purchase of land, compensation,

&c. ; £1,309 lis. 8d. for engineering plans, «&c. ; and

£2,826 7s. for parliamentary expenses ; being a total

outlay for the cut of £25,995 18s. 5d. From 1829 to

1850, there was expended on the river £65,243 14s.,

and paid to engineers £3,765 6s. 7d., amounting to

£69,009 Os. 7d. This sum, with the cost of the cut,

exceeds the £50,000 raised under the act in capital and

loans, by £45,004 I9s.

The cut made in 1810, with that of 1831, and the

improvements of the river navigation by the erection of

parallel works and jetties in Billingham Reach, Bamb-

let's Bight, and Cargo Fleet Reach, shortened, deepened,

fixed, and improved the navigable channel between

Stockton and the latter place. A steam dredge boat

was employed, and about 14,550 tons of clay were re-

moved from the bed of the river. In 1808, vessels

drawing only about 8^ feet of water at ordinary springs

could go up to Stockton ; this can now be done by

vessels drawing about 15| feet. The lower jetties were

run out by H. H. Price, Esq., C.E. ; and more were

as if perforated by a maggot. The oval circumference of a metal

buckle, a stag's horn, a bullock's head, a demi molaris of some ru-

minating animal, &c., were also discovered. One of the oaks, just

above the root, measured eight feet in diameter.

2d
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afterward placed by W. A. Brooks, Esq., at first resident,

and afterwards consulting engineer to the Tees Na-

vigation Company.

At Newport, about 3 miles below Stockton, the river

runs east-north-east to Haverton Hill, and is called

Billingham Keach. Hence its course changes soixth,

having the drops at Port Clarence on the Durham side,

and the newly-formed town and docks of Middles-

borough on the Yorkshire side. At the southern ex-

tremity of this latter reach, and also on the Yorkshire

side, is Cargo Fleet, from whence the channel of the

river, turning eastward, extends into a wide estuary,

which is a little contracted at the mouth by a tongue

of land projecting from the north, called Seaton Snook.

From this point, a sand called the North Gare stretches

to the south and east ; and nearly opposite to it is the

South Gare, a sort of peninsular shoal from the Bran

Sand, which occupies the south side of the harbour

mouth. The estuary is nearly 5 miles long from Cargo

Fleet to a line drawn from Seaton Snook on the north

side to Tod Point on the south ; its greatest breadth is

of miles ; and it contains about 8,800 acres. Excepting

the central channels, it is nearly all dry at low water ;

that part of it which lies between the channels and the

Durham shore being called the Seal Sand.

Between Cargo Fleet and " the ninth buoy," a dis-

tance of nearly 3 miles, are two navigable passages,

called the north and south channels. Below their

junction, a rocky ledge projects from the Bran Sand

into the channel. At the buoy is a pool of about 7 3

acres, having a depth of from 2 to 3 fathoms at low

water. At the " eighth buoy" there is another pool,

with an area of 4 acres, and a depth of from 2 to 4

fathoms ; and at the " fifth buoy," a pool having an area

of about 50 acres, with a depth of from 2 to 7 fathoms

at low water. In these valuable anchorages vessels can

lie in safety. Indeed the bay or estuary of the Tees is

a place of great security for ships in stormy seasons

;

and many vessels, which are not concerned in the trade

of the river, enter it for shelter.

At spring tides, about 10 or 12 feet is the depth on

the bar at low water. The rise on the bar, at springs,

is 17 feet ; at Middlesborough, 14 feet 3 inches ; and

at Stockton, 12 feet. On the 5th of March, 1851,

during a north-east wind, there was an extraordinary

rise of 19 feet 6 inches on the bar, 16 feet 3 inches at

Middlesborough, and 14 feet at Stockton. The

dificrence between the time of high water at the bar

and at Stockton Quay is one hour.

Lights were placed in the river in 1838. There are

four towers and one floating light at the entrance, placed

at the expense of the Tees Navigation Company, under

the direction of the Trinity House of Deptford Strond
;

and the channel, from thence to Middlesborough, was

lighted under the direction and at the expense of the

Navigation Company, who maintained eleven fixed and

one barge light for that purpose. On board the floating

light a log-book is kept, containing records of all im-

portant transactions, and also an account of all vessels

arriving at and sailing from the river Tees. Some of

the leading lights are occasionally removed, by persons

appointed for the purpose, according to the shifting of

the bar or shoals. These lights are so judiciously placed

that vessels can come in as well by night as by day.

All the eleven bay and river lights burn rape-seed oil,

and are equally brilliant with those along the coast

;

the saving over sperm oil being considered one half

The following letter was addressed to the company

from the corporation of the Deptford Trinity House, on

August 22, 1851 :—

"SiK—The Deputy Master and a Committee of the Elder Brethren

of this Corporation having rery lately returned &om a Toyage of in-

spection on the east coast, and having, in the course of their progress,

visited the light-houses on the Bran Sand, I have been directed to ex-

press, for the information of the Tees Navigation Company, their

satisfaction at the appearance of those lights, and to state that they

consider that any alteration in the mode of exhibiting them is rendered

unnecessary. " I am, Sir, your most humble servant,

" J. R. Wilson, Esq. "J. Hekbert."

The buoys from the sea to the eighth buoy are the

property of and under the direction and maintained by

the Trinity House ; and those above that buoy are

under the direction of and maintained by the Tecs

Conservancy Commissioners.

In the Second Report of the Tidal Harbours Com-
mission, published in 1846, the Commissioners say,

" Stockton-on-Tees, including Middlesborough, is one

of the most thriving of our coal ports. The channel of

the river has been contracted and deepened ; the ap-

proaches are admirably lighted ; a floating dock of nine

acres has recently been opened at Middlesborough ;

the traffic and revenue of the port have doubled within

these few years ; and, in 1845, the Dai'lington Railway

Company leased the whole of the harbour dues, and

declared it a free port. All is bustle and activity, and

all seems to prosper. Yet even here, on a close in-

spection, the want of some control is manifest—the

quays are nearly all private, and are falling into the

river ; the piers of the bridge are only supported by

the loads of stone thrown down at their foot ; rocks of

whinstone impede the upper navigation, and cause
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damage to the barges ; the entrauce of the dock at Mid-

dlesborough, completed but five years since, is only

thirty feet wide ; while about 2,000 acres of the estuary

have been enclosed, and the corresponding tidal water

excluded ; and the channel over the bar, which formerly

ran out due east, has, in consequence, changed to

north-north-east. Great complaints also are made of the

want of a harbour of refuge in the neighbourhood, and

of a beacon on Redcar Rock, upon which vessels are

annually wrecked."

The same authority states the debt due from the port

of Stockton, January 1, 1842, at £43,505; 1843,

£41,204; 1844, £42,136; 1845, £41,970; and 1846,

£42,002. The gross income in the year ending at the

latter date was £9,235 ; the debt being in the propor-

tion of 4"5 to the income.

In January, 1846, "VV. A. Brooks, Esq., C.E.,

addressed an elaborate report to the chairman of the

committee of the Tees Navigation Company, in which

were stated the means necessary for diverting the navi-

gable channel through the estuary into a more northerly

course, and thereby restoring the direct east and west

passage into the harbour, which existed previous to 1805.

The cost of the proposed works was estimated at

£15,211 Is. The report was given at length in the

commissioners' second report on Tidal Harbours,

1846.

Tees Conservancy and Stockton Dock Act.—In

1851, a bill was prepared and introduced into parlia-

ment, for transferring to commissioners the property,

powers, and liabilities of the Tees Navigation Company,
repealing or amending previous acts, dissolving the

company, constructing a dock near Stockton, making
cuts, and other works.

A report to the Lords Commissioners of the Ad-
miralty, by W. Bald, Esq., C.E., the inspector appointed

by them to make a local inquiry into the case of the

Tecs Conservancy Bill, was ordered by the House of

Commons to be printed, April 28, 1851. Mr. Bald,

in concluding his report, observes

—

" I am of opinion that the estuary of the river Tees, and the entrance
at the bar, are capable of great improvement in being deepened to a
considerable extent.

"1. That by a proper arrangement of works seaward at the bar,

namely, those of protection, and those of guidance, to direct the
scouring currents, many feet of an additional depth of water will be
gained, and maintained by the force of the scouring power.

"2. That the channel inwards from the bar to the natural existing
anchoring basin at the Kfth buoy, may be made, by a proper arrange-
ment of works, 15 to 18 feet deop.at low-water springs, which will be
31 to 34 feet deep at liigh water.

" 3. That the estuary channel, from the fifth buoy up to Cargo

Fleet, may be made 12 feet deep at low-water springs, -which will be

28 feet at high water.

" 4. That the riyer channel up to Stockton is capable of being

made 10 feet deep at low-water springs, which will be 23 feet at high

water.

" 5. That an asylum basin to any extent can be formed at the fifth

buoy (where a natural basin exists of 50 acres from two to seven

fathoms deep), and capable of being deepened, so as to float, at low-

water springs, vessels drawing more than 20 feet of water.

" 6. That in combination with the improvement of the river naviga-

tion, an extent of many thousand acres of land could be safely

embanked in from the sea without injury to the scouring power re-

quired at the bar entrance or in the river, if proper works be con-

structed to direct and guide the force of the current in the navigable

channel."

The inviolate preservation of the existing places of

anchorage are emphatically recommended in the report.

Notice of the intended bill was given on the 6th of

November, 1851 ; and the act received the royal assent

June 30, 1852. The preamble states the capital of the

Tees Navigation Company, created under the acts of

1808 and 1828, at £29,000, in 580 shares of £50 each ;

and the debt, on mortgage and otherwise, at £39,320.

It is enacted that the commissioners to be appointed

under this, " The Tees Conservancy and Stockton Dock
Act, 1852," shall become subject to the liabilities of the

company. The commissioners are to consist of five

persons elected annually on the 9th November by the

Stockton council, five by the Middlesborough Improve-

ment Commissioners (now by the Middlesborough

council), and two by the Yarm rate-payers ; five to be

a quorum. The commissioners appointed by the

Stockton council are to be " The Stockton Dock Com-
mittee," and to exercise all powers connected with the

proposed dock ; three to be a quorum. The body of

commissioners are to be conservators of the Tees, vested

with the property of the Tees Navigation Com.pany.

The works, and the order of their execution, are as

follow :

—

" First. The channel from Middlesborough to the ninth buoy
anchoring pool

; (to wit,) a cut and channel from the present channel

of the Tees fi'om the river entrance of the Middlesborough dock to the

ninth buoy anchoring pool in the Tees, and the diverting by dykes

or otherwise through that cut and channel the waters of the Tecs.

" Secondly. The widening of the present channel of the Tees on
the south bank thereof, from the east end of the Stockton cut next

hereinafter described, along the south bank of the Tees down to a point

in the Tees near Newport, in the North Riding of the county of

York.

"Thirdly. The Stockton cut ; (to wit,) a cut or channel from the

southern side of the Tees, from a point near to the stone bridge at

Stockton across certain lands in the township of Thornaby, in the

parish of Stainton, in the North Riding of the county of York, and
into the present channel of the Tees, at a point opposite or nearly op-

posite to the island called Jenny Mill's Island, .md then diverting

through the Stockton cut of the waters of the Tees.
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" 'Fourthly. The making in the present bed or chtinnel of the Tees,
!

between those two last-mentioncJ points, and on the land lying

south of the present channel of the Tees, between those points and

the Stockton cut of the Stockton Dock
;

(to wit,) a dock or basin for

the accommodation of the shipping in the Tees, with or without flood-

gates, at the eastern end of the dock or basin, and all necessary

wharfs, quays, landing-places, warehouses, works, and conveniences.

" Fifthly. The embanking and filling up of the south-west comer

of the present channel of the Tees, to the distance of 400 feet or there-

abouts, at the commencement of the Stockton cut.

" Sixthly. The making of a road, or the appropriating and making

public of the existing private road leading out of the high road from

or near to the west end of that stone bridge over the Tees, and the

extending of the same across the principal embankment up to the

west side of the Stockton cut at the south end thereof.

" Seventhly. The appropriating and making public of a private

road adjoining to or leading from the high road from Stockton to

Guisborough, at a point about 330 feet from the east end of that

stone bridge, and leading thence to the ship-building yard now oc-

cupied by Messrs. William TumbuU and Company on the south side

of the Stockton cut.

"Eighthly. The widening, deepening, straightening, dredging,

protecting, and otherwise improving of the bed, channel, and banks of

the Tees, as the commissioners from time to time deem necessary for

maintaining and improving the navigation thereof, from High Ford

to the outside the bar at the mouth of the Tees.

" Ninthly. The preventing and removing of all obstructions to the

navigation of the Tecs, and aU encroachments therein, and the pre-

Tenting of the erection of piers, quays, jetties, wharfs, and other works

on the Tees.

"Tenthly. The providing, placing, maintaining, and removing of

buoys, beacons, moorings, steam-engines, dredges, and other works

and machinery, lights, lightships, and lighthouses in or near the

entrance of the Tees.

" Eleventhly. The removing or compelling of the removal of all

wrecks, encroachments, and obstructions, which may in any way

prejudice or obstruct the free navigation of the Tees.

"Twelfthly. The making, amending, repairing, maintaining,

altering, and removing of all such works and conveniences whatsoever

as the commissioners from time to time think it proper, for any of the

purposes of this act, to make, amend, repair, maintain, alter, and

remove ; and (subject to the provisions of this act) the commissioners

may do all other acts necessary for the conservancy and improvement

of the Tees, and the regulation of the navigation thereof ; nevertheless

doing as little damage as can be, and making full satisfaction (as by

this act provided) to all parties interested for aU damage by them

sustained by reason of the execution by the commissioners of the

powers of this act."

The shipping-places of the Clarence Railway Com-

pany are to be protected, and disputes with the company

settled by arbitration. The Admiralty may make a

breakwater from Seaton Snook in an eastwardly direc-

tion towards South Gare bank. The works by the

commissioners must be completed within seven years

from the commencement of the act. Provision is made

for the maintenance of proper light; and schedules of

harbour and dock dues are included in the act.

" The Stockton Dock Account" is to be kept dis-

tinct from the other transactions of the commissioners

;

as are the receipts and disbursements on account of the

dock. The sum of £80,000 may be raised on mortgage

of the Dock Fund, and £207,000 on the Tees Conser-

vancy Fund.

On or before the 1st of December, 1852, the com-

missioners were to issue mortgages for £18,000 to

shareholders in the Tees Navigation Company under

the act of 1808, at 4 per cent, interest, and in the pro-

portion of £100 principal money for every £50 share;

for £36,320 to creditors under the act of 1828, at the

respective rates of interest on the money borrowed

;

and for £32,000 to shareholders under that act, at four

per cent, interest, and in the proportion of £80 principal

money for every £50 share. The whole of the principal

sums are to be paid off within seven years after the com-

mencement of the act. At the end of ten years, a

sinking fund is to be formed, for paying off annually

not less than one-thirtieth part of the debts then stand-

ing. As soon as the claims of the Tees Navigation

Company are discharged, it is to be dissolved. The

Tees Conservancy Fund is to be charged, first, with the

above interest; and, secondly, with the execution of

improvements in the river, and the maintenance of the

navigation.

Provision is made in the act for securing the property

of Thomas Hustler, Esq., called the Holmes, and

situated at the east end of the intended cut, on the

south side of the river, by embankments, &c. The

owners of property separated by the cut, as well as the

occupiers of land on the north side of the canal, are

allowed to have ferry-boats, without paying compen-

sation for their use. The property of the see of Durham,

at the Samphire Batts, is also to be protected ; and if

the cut is at any time abandoned for five years, the lands

on each side shall be vested in the owners of the

adjoining property. *

Soon after the passing of the act, the rate-payers of

the town became dissatisfied with that part of its pro-

visions which related to the formation of Stockton

Dock. A public meeting was held on the subject, at

which a committee was appointed, who, after having

received information from all parts of the kingdom, and

patiently discussed the various schemes proposed for

raising the required capital, came to the unanimous

conclusion of recommending not only the mortgage of the

dock dues, but the rates of the town, to the extent of

£70,000. At a full meeting, held October 18, 1852,

the report of the committee was adopted, which proposed

the imposition of a rate in aid of Is. in the pound on all

house property in the borough. This, it was urged.

Thank you for purchasing from Ebay Shop Retromedia

http://stores.shop.ebay.co.uk/retromedia


PARISH OF STOCKTON. 191

would place the superintendence of the concern in their

own hands, instead of those of shareholders who might

live at a distance, and, having no connection with

Stockton, would merely look upon the docks as a

profitable investment of capital. Many signatures of

rate-payers were obtained in support of the proposed

measures ; and, in the session of 1853, a bill was intro-

duced into parliament, comprising an amendment of the

Tees Conservancy and Stockton Dock Act—a separa-

tion of Stockton Dock from the Tees Conservancy

—

additional powers, including arrangements for traffic

between the Stockton Dock and the Stockton and

Darlington Railway, the Leeds Northern Railway, and

the Stockton, Hartlepool, and Clarence Railways

—

alteration of dues—and rate in aid on property in the

borough of Stockton. Notwithstanding the plausibility

of the scheme, opposition was aroused to some of its

provisions; and it was rejected by a committee of the

House of Commons, the proposed rate in aid being

considered without a precedent.

Some misunderstanding occurred in 1853, between

the Tees Conservancy Commissioners and the new
shareholders of the Tees Navigation Company, respect-

ing interest due ; and the latter took council's opinion

on the subject. J. W. Willcock, Esq., barrister-

at-law, said, " The commissioners are bound to abstain

from laying out a shilling in executing the works between

Middlesborough and the ninth buoy anchorage pool,

or other improvements, works, and conveniences, in

diminution of the fund applicable to the interest of the

£32,000 mortgagees. It is their duty to follow the order

prescribed by the 97th and 110th sections of the act."

The learned gentleman concludes by saying, that the

mortgagees " are entitled to obtain, by bill in Chancery,

the appointment of a receiver to apply the receipts in

the order prescribed by the 97th section, and also an

injunction to restrain the commissioners from applying

the income at least, if not also the capital, of the Tees

Conservancy Fund otherwise than in accordance with

the directions of that section." The commissioners also

signified their intention of taking a legal opinion.

On the 23rd of June, 1853, the Tees Conservancy

Commissioners advertised for tenders for loans, in sums
of not less than £500, for the terms of five or seven years.

On the 19th December following, the works committee

reported, at a monthly meeting, that they had inspected

the proposed lines laid down by Mr. Bald at Cargo
Fleet, and were of unanimous opinion that the alterations

proposed to be adopted would be of great advantage to

the river.

Fisheries.—The bishops of Durham have had, for

centuries, the royalties of the Tees, including whales,

sturgeons, porpoises, and the like, taken on the Durham
side of the river. When a whole porpoise, placed on

the dinner table at once, was considered " a dainty

dish" to set before king, lord, or bishop, this right

must have been of considerable value ; but. at present,

the shoals of porpoises which frequent the sand banks at

the mouth of the river, are considered to be very in-

jurious to salmon and other fish of inferior size.

The supply of sea fish is generally abundant. In the

Tees itself, flounders, eels, smelts, or sparlings, &c., are

found. The river fishery has for centuries been con-

sidered an important pursuit. The following document

is in the Cursitor's Rolls :

—

"Tpore Cuthbti Epi. 1530. (Bishop Tunstall)
—
"Where variance

heretofore hath been among the inh'tants of the town of Stockton, for

taking of head fishes as Sealles, Purpose, Sturgion, and other lyke

fishes, betwixt the fishers with drawing netts on the one p.' And the

fishers with haling netts on the other p' —It is ordered, by consent

and agreement of both the said p'y'for appeasing of aU variance in

time to come, in manner and form following, (that is to say) That it

fishers of both sorts, some with drawing netts and some with haling

netts go about to take any Scale, Purpose, or like fish within the

river of Tease. If it fortune the said fish to lyght in the haling netts,

then all those fishers with haling netts assembled for that purpose,

pursuing the said fish to have him alone, and the fishers then assembled

with drawing netts to have no part thereof with the haling netts ; and

likewise if it fortune the said fish to lyght in the drawing nets, then

all those fishers with drawing netts assembled for that purpose, pur-

suing the s<l fish to have him alone, and the fishers then assembled

with haling netts to have no pt thereof with ye drawing netts. And
also. It is ordered, that every man of both sorts of fishers then assem-

bled for that purpose, shall give unto 5 water-room sufficient and

none to come within another to hurt his neighbour gere upon pain of

6s. 8d. on him that shall offend them as oft as he shall so do to be

levyed of the same offender at the next court after, without further

delay.

" Also, it is ordered, that no man of no sort of the fishers aforesaid

shall fish with kydell netts for taking of smelts, Sperling, or fry from

a certain place called Salthoue, so upward upon the river of Tease,

after St. Mark day unto Lammas day 'nly hereafter upon pain of 6s.

8d. of every man so doing as he shall so do to be levyed at the next

court after, without further delay."

Shrimps are taken in Tees bay by means of small

nets fixed to the end of poles. Cockles are gathered on

ridges of sand left dry at ebb tide near the middle of

the stream ; and a considerable trade is carried on in

mussels, of which there is an extensive bed. From ten

to twelve tons of this shell fish are gathered weekly,

and forwarded by railway to various parts of the

country.

In shallow parts of the river, at Middleton-One-Row

and higher up, there is abundance of trout. But

the principal fishery is that of salmon, which may be
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taken in the Tees, according to act of parliament passed

in the 1st of George I., from the 22nd of November to

the 12th of August, by any of the fishermen, on their

paying to the vicar a small sum for each boat as a tithe

of fish. In different parts of the river, the salmon

fisheries are let as private property, a rent per boat

being paid at each station. Otters, however, are ex-

ceedingly destructive to the fish ; and several of them

have been sometimes seen fighting for a salmon.

" An otter in the Wear
You may find but once a year

;

An otter in the Tees

You may find at your ease."

The old English sport of otter hunting may frequently

be -witnessed, at meetings of " the Stockton and Hur-

worth Otter Hounds ;" and there are several keen

sportsmen in Stockton and neighbourhood. The breed

of salmon in the Tees, however, has other enemies than

the otter; and it was found necessary, in February,

1853, to appoint a committee of the Stockton town

council, to investigate the laws for the preservation of

salmon and preventing the destruction of spawn, with a

view to the protection of the fisheries on the Tees. It

was stated by Mr. Alderman Byers, that, high up the

river, the spawn was carried off to feed pigs with.

CUSTOMS PORT OF STOCKTON.

In consequence of the decline of the port of Hartlepool,

the chief ofiicers of the customs were removed from

thence to Stockton in 1680; and three free quays were

appointed by a commission from the Exchequer in

1683. The port is described in that document as a

member of the port of Newcastle-upon-Tyne, and its

limits are stated to be " from the Black Halls, about

eight miles from the bar of the Tease towards the

• The Russia Company was established in the reign of Philip and

Mary, by letters patent, granted to " certain merchant adventurers for

the discovery of lands unknown," and confirmed by act of parliament

in the reign of Elizabeth. They are empowered to levy dues in every

port and harbour throughout England. The dues are received at the

port of London by the secretary of the company, and at the out- ports

by the receivers of the revenue, or their clerks, amounting, in round

numbers, to from £1,800 to £2,000 per annum. In the year 1852,

the amount le\"ied upon ihe port of Stockton, was £7 16s. lid. Her
majesty's consul at St. Petersburgh, it appears, is the commercial

agent of the company, and derives fully one half of his official salary

from this appointment. The agent at St. Petersburgh superintends

the affairs of the chapels at that place, as well as those at Cronstadt

and Moscow, towards the erection of which, the company have largely

contributed ; the company also contribute to the maintenance of

chaplains at all those places, as well as at Archangel and Solambol

;

and a school is established at St. Petersburgh under their auspices.

The company represents a large colony of British subjects established

in the cities of St. Petersburgh and Moscow, and in the ports of

N.N.W., and so into the sea to 14 fathoms water; and

from thence directly, in a supposed line, till it fall

opposite to the promontory or point called Huntcliffe-

foot, about six miles from Tease-bar, towards the E.S.E.

;

and so directly from the said barr and limitts up the

river Tease S.S.W. to the horse-ferry, commonly called

Stockton Ferry, saving the usual and known priviledges

by law belonging to the port of Hartinpoole."

A more extensive jurisdiction is assigned in a com-

mission returned into the Court of Exchequer, Michael-

mas term, 3 Geo. II., wherein it is stated that " the

port of Stockton extends from the point commonly

called Ryhope-nook, adjoining the district or limits of

the port of Sunderland, about sixteen miles from the

bar of Teese towards the north and by west, and so into

the sea to fourteen fathoms of water at low water, and

from thence directly in a supposed line till it fall oppo-

site to the promontory called Huntcliff-foot, adjoining to

the disti-ict or limits of the port of Whitby, about six

miles from the said bar toward the east-south-east, and

so directly from the said bar and limits up the river

Teese to the bridge commonly called Yarm-bndge.

Dated October 18, 1729." In conformity with this

arrangement, the new harbour of Seaham was originally

considered a member of this port.

The customs port of Stockton now extends from the

south side of the town of Seaton, the limit of the cus-

toms port of Hartlepool, to Huntcliff Foot, the limit of

the customs port of "WTiitby.

The parties who are empowered to levy dues within

the port are—The Tees Conservancy Commissioners,

the Municipal Corporation of Stockton, the Trinity

House of Newcastle, the Trustees of Ramsgate Harbour,

the Warden and Assistants of Dover, Bridlington Har-

bour Trustees, and the Russia Company.*

Cronstadt and Archangel. The British subjects in St. Petersburgh

alone, in 1852, amounted to about 3,000 ; and this number was con-

stantly increasing from the influx of artisans and their families, who
are hired by the Russian manufacturers. The Russian Company and

the British factory at St. Petersburgh, have been always closely con-

nected ; and to the profitable carrying on of the Russian trade, it has

been deemed essential that English houses should exist in Russia.

The commissioners appointed by the House of Commons to enquire

into the local charges upon shipping, in recommending in their report,

dated July, 185 1, that the exclusive pri^ileges of this company be

abolished, state, " The Russia Company is entitled to exclusive

privileges in Russia as well as in this country ; and in ordinary times

this circumstance might have given rise to some practical difficulty.

But trade with Russia is suspended, and a favourable opportunity,

therefore, is afforded for the abolition of the exclusive privileges of

the company, as well as of the maritime charges levied by them. We
have reason to believe that the funded property of the company is

sufficient to provide for the indemnification of all who possess vested

interests."
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The Tees Conservancy Commissioners levy light dues

and river tolls. The light dues consist of Id. per ton

upon every vessel entering the Tees, and Id. per ton on

every steam vessel trading to or from the Tees ^\dth

jjassengers. The river tolls are, per ton

—

For every vessel inwards or outwards, with coals or goods, 3d.

Uo. do. to or from any foreign port, duriug tlie con-

tinuance of any existing lease of any of the said tolls, Cd.

And after the determination of such lease, 3d.

For every vessel entering the Tees for refuge, Ijd.

For every vessel entering the river in ballast and being afterwards

towed out without taking a cargo, l^d.

The above powers are under the act of 15th and 16th

^'ictoria, above quoted. Under its provisions, as has

been seen, the Tees Conservancy Commission super-

seded the Tees Navigation Company, by whom the

former light dues and river tolls had been leased to the

Stockton and Darlington Railway Company for £8,200

annually, viz., £6,900 for tonnage dues and £1,300

mastage for Tees bay lights. The receipts on these

accounts for the preceding sis years were as follow :

—

TONNAOE. MASTAGE.

Year to April 30, 1840 .. £9,631 3.. 1,184 6 9

1841 .. 8,850 6 6.. 1,064

1842 .. 7,872 7 4.. 1,053 8

1843 .. 7,714 1 8 .. 1,292 16 6

1844 .. 7,436 16 5 .. 1,212 13 9

1845 .. 7,828 3 5.. 1,492 19 2

The railway company's lease expired on the 1st of

May, 1854.

The limits of the jurisdiction of the commissioners

extend from outside the bar at the mouth of the river

Tees to the High Ford across the river from the town-

ship of Aislaby to the township of High Worsall in

Yorkshire, and into the various creeks, &c., below, into

which the tide flows.

The charges levied by the municipal corporation of

Stockton as lessees of the Bishop of Durham, who, in

the right of his see, is owner of the port of Stockton,

are—first, anchorage and plankage ; and secondly, town

dues.

The anchorage and plankage comprise 2s. 6d. on

each ship per voyage ; on foreign vessels, double. These

imposts have been considered a hardship by the

owners of vessels tliat only came up to Middlesborough
;

and, in 1837, a trial took place at Durham respecting

them, wlien a verdict of 12s. 6d. was given in favour of

•"NoTicf: TO Mabiners.—Tees Navigation Dues. Notice is

hereby fjiven, that from nnd after the 1st November next, the dues

heretofore payable to the Tees Navigation Company, for vessels

entering the river Tees, either from foreign countries or coastwise

the bishop, thereby establishing his right. These dues

were let in 1852 for £700. The gross amount levied

in that year was £779 7s. 6d. The amount of differen-

tial duty, paid out of the consolidated fund in respect of

foreign vessels privileged under treaties of reciprocity,

was, in 1852, £-47 12s. 6d. ; no differential duty was

levied on foreign unprivileged vessels in that year.

The town dues are, 4d. for every 100 bushels of corn

landed, and Is. for each 100 deals. The amount levied

in 1852 was ,£99 Is. 2d. The lease of these tolls is

for twenty-one years, renewable on payment of a fine,

as is usual in leases of church property. Subject to

this fine, and the ancient reserved rent, these dues form

part of the borough fund.

The anchorage and plankage dues have been re-leased

to trustees for the Stockton and Darlington Railway

Company, for £700 annually ; the lease expired on the

1st April, 1854.

On the borough fund, £9,099 17s. is secured. The

other revenues of this fund amounted in 1852 to £1,458

12s. 5d., of which sum £1,410 was realized by sale of

property. There was no borough rate. In that year,

£1,055 17s. 6d. was paid to the Bishop of Durham for

the renewal of the lease of the port.

During the lease by the Stockton and Darlington

Railway Company, the river tolls have not been levied

on shipping taking cargoes from the railway^ the com-

pany bearing the loss with a view to induce traffic to the

Tees ; from which the railway anticipated an increase

of revenue.* The lease of the dues by the company, it

was understood, would not be renewed by them at the

same rate ; but the amount which may be raised when

the dues are re-imposed, will probably bear a near pro-

portion to the rent.

The Trinity House of Newcastle levy primage at the

port of Stockton, under a charter of James II. ; it con-

sists of 2d. on every ton of goods imported ; on every

last of hemp, flax, &c., reckoned by the last, 3d. The

gross amount levied in 1852 was £177 2s. lO^d., which

was paid to the credit of the Trinity House funds.

The dock at Middlesborough is the property of the

Stockton and Darlington Railway Company, which,

being a trading company, levies dues only from those

using its property.

Besides the sums above-named, the

Harbour Commissioners levied at Stockton, for the year

Bridlington

(except from the port of London), will be altogether discontinued;

and such vessels will be allowed to enter the Tees free. By order of

the committee, J. K. Wilson, chief clerk to the Tecs Navigation

Company.—Stockton, October 25, 1844."
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1852, £143 10s. 6d. ; the warden and assistants of

Dover harbour, £9 19s. 6d. ; Ramsgate Harbour Com-
missioners, £14 Is. 0|d. ; and the Russia Company,

£7 16s. lid.; amounting in the whole to £9,430

19s. 6d. For Middlesborough, the warden and assist-

ants of Dover harbour received £76 Os. lOjd. ; and

Ramsgate Harbour Trustees, £80 12s. ; making a total

sum, levied within the customs port of Stockton, of

£9,587 12s. 4id.

Quays.—There are 22 private quays in Stockton

harbour, varying in length from 20 to 260| feet;

eight are of stone, eight of timber, and six of timber

and stone. There are four public quays, of which one,

of timber, belongs to the Bishop of Durham, and is

lllj feet long and 17 wide; one, of stone, belonging

to the Stockton corporation, 79j feet long and 12^

wide; one of stone, belonging to Mr. C. Martin, 271

J

feet long and 51 J wide; and one of stone and timber,

belonging to Mr. Sylvester Ingledew, 113j feet long

and S\ wide. There are five coal staiths belongfin? to

the Stockton and Darlington Railway Company, and

two belonging to the Clarence Railway Company.

At Newport there is a private quay of stone, 192

feet long, belonging to T. Hustler, Esq. There are

six coal staiths at Port Clarence. A public quay at

Middlesborough, 93 feet long, and built of timber,

belongs to the owners of the estate ; and there are also

two private quays of timber, one of which, 301 feet

long, belongs to Messrs. Bolckow and Vaughan, and the

other, 58 feet long, to the Pottery Company. Mr.
Hesselton has a stone quay, 318 feet in length, at

Cargo Fleet.

SHIPPING.

Bishop Pudsey's " great ship," intended for the cru-

sades, has already been alluded to ; and that a native of

Stockton was appointed to navigate her is a proof that,

at that time, the mariners of this port were skilful in

their vocation. In 1635, when the unpopular tax of

ship-money was levied, Stockton, Hartlepool, and Sun-

derland, were charged with providing one ship of 200

Ions for the service of the state, manned with 80 men
and double equipage, &c., at an expense of £1,850,

levied on the whole county.

The convenient situation of the port of Stockton, on

the revival of the town from its depression in the 17th

century, occasioned a gradual increase in the number of

ships, which began to be required for the exports and

inports of the surrounding district. The advantages of

united effort in this direction were at length seen ; and

in January, 1803, a shipping company was formed,

under the style or firm of " The Maritime Company ;"

and in 1806, " The Merchants' Shipping Company,"

for the purpose of conveying goods to and from London

and other ports, commenced with eight ships, of from

105 to 120 tons burthen. This company, which was

remodelled in 1824, now possess the " Swaledale,"

"Teesdale," " Allerton Packet," and "Richmond
Packet," schooners, one of which sails from Stockton,

and another from London, every Saturday.

The success attending the establishment of the latter

company induced " The United Shipping Company,"

previously formed, to dissolve itself, and form another

under the firm of " The Stockton Shipping Company."

On the dissolution of the company in 1844, the follow-

ing ships belonging to it were sold by auction on the

2nd July:—the "Oak," 343 tons n.m., for £1,505;

the " Harmony," 254 tons do., £1,105; the *' Princess

Victoria," 241 tons do., £1,060; the " Stockton," 214

tons do., £1,100; the "Jane WTiite," 204 tons o.m.

£880 ; the " Aimwell," 192 tons n.m., £960 ; the Rose-

berry," 191 tons do., £925 ; the " William Skinner,"

163 tons do., £850; the "Elizabeth," 169 tons o.m.,

£550; and the " Barbara," 165 tons do., for £455.

" The Stockton and London Shipping Company"

was commenced in 1837, and has been generally suc-

cessful, having realized a considerable reserved fund.

Their ships, which are said to be about to be replaced

by a new line of iron clipper schooners, are the " Dar-

lington," the " Richmond," the " Barnard Castle," the

" Auckland," and the " Thirsk." One of them sails from

Stockton every Saturday.

" The Stockton Union Shipping Company," the

vessels of which took coals to all parts as cargoes

offered, was formed in 1822. At the commencement,

the capital was small; but, in December, 1835, it had

increased to £12,000, and the average dividend for the

three preceding was 16 J per cent. The company

was dissolved in 1853, when the following ships were

sold, viz., the " Paragon," for £1,410; the "Commo-
dore," for £1,405; the "Hero," for £1,300; the

"Black Boy," for £1,120; the "Hope," for £930;

the "Rosebud," for £950; the "John," for £1,455;

the " Union," for £765 ; and the " Empress" (said not

to belong to the company), for £1,625.

Other companies have been, from time to time, pro-

jected or established. " The Commercial Shipping

Company," formed in 1834, had a subscribed capital,

in January, 1835, of £2,925, which afterwards increased
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to £12,000. " The General Shipping Company/' and

'• The North York and South Durham Shipping Com-

pany," both commenced in 1834, with flattering pros-

pects of success. " The Stockton and Cleveland

Shipping Company," with a capital of £20,000 in 800

shares of £25 each, issued a prospectus on April 17,

1839 ; the provisional committee being Messrs. W. C.

Newby, C. J. Spence, R. Sherwood, W. TurnbuU, W.
T. Dixon, W. W. Watson, J. Appleton, G. Walton,

and J. Laidler. " The New Merchants' Shipping

Company " held its first meeting of shareholders in July,

1852.

Stockton Marine Insurance Association. — The

statement of accounts of this association, up to April,

1854, shewed a balance in hand of £2,684 15s. 9d.

;

and it was therefore agreed to divide 17s. lid. in the

pound upon the amount of premiums received, and any

surplus to be carried to next year's account.

There are regular traders from Stockton to Hull,

Newcastle, Glasgow, Dundee, Leith, and Montrose.

The number of vessels belonging to this port in

January, 1795, was 47 ; tonnage, 5,730. In September,

1821, there had been an increase of 19 vessels and 1,150

tons. In January, 1827, there were 57 vessels,

measuring 5,465 and 18-94ths tons ; in 1828, 79 vessels,

measuring 6,520 tons ; and in 1829, 74 vessels, measur-

ing 7,206 tons. In January, 1832, the number had

increased to 80 vessels, measuring 7,970 tons ; and in

1850, there were 182 vessels, measuring 27,348 tons.

At the close of the year 1854, there were 158 vessels,

measuring 28,603 tons : of these, 37 were below 100

tons burthen, 56 between 100 and 200 tons, 51 between

200 and 300 tons, 9 between 300 and 400 tons, 2 be-

tween 400 and 500 tons, 2 between 500 and 600 tons,

and one above 600 tona.

• Mr. Chmstopher Allison.—Stockton, like other northern porta

has produced its quota of brave and skilful seamen ; and, in the list

of Ihese, Mr. Christopher Allison, master mariner, may be named, he

having materially contributed to the capture of the Michault privateer,

of 14 nine-pounders and 182 men, on New-years Day, 1758, in Dunge-
ncss-road. Mr. Allison was at that time master of the Adventure

armed ship, which was commanded by Captain Bray for the king.

On perceiving the French .snow standing in, she was at first taken for

an English cruizer. " Dinner being ready," says Allison, " Captain

Bray gave orders for all the hammocks up, and clearing the ship

which was done in the time we were at dinner. Monsieur, smelling

our beef, roast-pork, and plum pudding, came down in order to

deprive us of it ; we dined on our beef and pork before they came :

the pudding we fought for." The cable having been veered out to

the splica, and tlien cut, the ship bore away large ; but as there was
not time to get the topsails hoisted, and the enemy evincing an in-

tention to rake the AdvetiCvrc, the helm was put hard a-port, which

VOL. II.

Steam-boats.—The river Tees was first visited by a

steam-boat in 1822. In 1824, one was built for tbe use

of the port ; and, 20 years afterwards, there were seven

belonging to the Tees, which were chiefly employed in

towing ships. In 1851, there were 22, varying from 16

to 46 horse power, and possessing an aggregate of 677

horse power. In 1854, there were 26 registered steam

vessels, of from 10 to 53 tons burthen, and containing

an aggregate tonnage of 574 tons ; besides a vessel of

225 tons, belonging to the principal merchants and

manufacturers of Middlesborough.

Life-boats.—About the year 1804, a life-boat was

established at Redcar, to the south of the Tees, which
has often proved highly serviceable to the crews of

vessels wrecked on the coast. As a considerable time

necessarily elapsed before this boat or that at Hartlepool

could reach ships in distress on the north side of the

Tees, Jonathan Backhouse, Esq., of Darlington, pro-

vided a life-boat at his own expense, which is stationed

at Seaton Carew. In 1825, a meeting was held at

Stockton for the purpose of adopting a general system

of relief for mariners* shipwrecked on the neighbouring

coasts, when a considerable subscription was raised for

the purpose. " The Tees Bay Life-boat Society" was

established in 1839. The life-boats were formerly

maintained by subscriptions raised among the visitors

at Hartlepool, Seaton Carew, and Redcar. It was,

however, thought desirable that the ship-owners should

comply with a voluntary charge, and the boat be placed

under the control of the commissioners. The Hartle-

pool Dock Company are bound to maintain a life-boat,

for which, however, they levy a charge on ships. In

addition to the life-boat at Hartlepool and Redcar, an

order was given in 1853 for one at Middlesborough.

brought the ship athwart the bows of the enemy, whose howsprit was
secured by ropes, and lashed to the capstan of the English vessel, the

crew of which had thus the advantage of ralcing the other. The
credit of these manoeuvres was claimed, and probably with justice, by
Mr. Allison. The action was kept up, principally with musquetrv,

from the quarter-deck and roiuid-house of the Adventure, until the

enemy struck their colours ; but the party who boarded, headed by
Allison, was unexpectedly received with a volley of small arms, which
compelled them to retreat. About ten minutes firing with tlie great

giuis, however, brought the action to a conclusion. Captain Bray
was rewarded for this exploit with the command of the Amelia, an 8o

gun ship ; though Allison stated that, during the greater part of the

action, he and the pilot were in the round-house, which was musket-
proof. Mr. Allison afterwards ushered in every new year with a

plum-puddinff, in remembrance of the dinner and exploit of the let of

January, 1758. Uedied at Stockton on the llth of July, 1808, aged

87 years.

2 E
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COMMERCE.

With other ports on the east coast of England, Stockton

is well situated for carrying on a trade with continental

ports, and only requires accommodation for shipping to

gain its full proportion in the advantages of such trade.

In 1815, it was made a bonding port for goods enu-

merated in Tabic C. of the Warehousing Act; and in

1818, the indulgence was extended to timber. In May,

1832, the Lords Commissioners of the Treasury were

pleased, by their warrant, to appro-»e of the port of

Stockton as a warehousing port, for sugar, coffee, dried

fruits, rice, cheese, or cocoa nuts, either on importation

direct, or removal coastwise. These, with the privileges

before mentioned, make Stockton a bonding port for all

articles ofgeneral merchandize allowed to be warehoused,

except tobacco ; the proprietor of the extensive tobacco

manufactory at Stockton having given the requisite

security for the facilities required for his business.

The goods carried coastwise are chiefly lead, flour,

butter, cheese, bacon, linen and linen-yarn, worsted-

yarn, alum, &c. The imports are wine, groceries, fruit,

foreign and British spirits, porter, seeds, hops, and every

other article necessary for the consumption of the sur-

rounding country.

The principal export over sea, during the last century,

was lead ; but this trade afterwards declined. The ex-

port of grain also, which, in 1749, amounted to 35,400^

quarters of wheat and 5,387 quarters of rye, is now

only occasional. The nature and quantities of goods

exported will be understood from the following par-

ticulars, extracted from " Brown's Export List,"* for

1854. From January to July inclusive, the Stock-

ton shipments were

—

Earthenware, 240,550 pieces .

.
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cwt. qrs. 9 lb. In 1810, it was 2,966 loads 45 feet of

timber, and 174 cwt. 3 qrs. 8 lb. of deals ; in 1820,

3,015 loads 12 feet of timber, and 156 cwt. 3 qrs. 8 lb.

of deals ; and in 1825, 5,255 loads of timber, and 301

cwt. 3 qrs. 29 lb. of deals. In 1854, the importation

had increased to the large amount of 30,858 loads of

timber and deals, employing 143 ships of 23,396 tons.

The greatest revolutions, however, which have oc-

curred in the trade of Stockton, are in coal and iron.

In 1770, 4,096i chaldrons and 65 tons of coals were

landed in the port of Stockton ; and the import, though

diminished, continued for some time after the com-

mencement of the present century. The opening of

the Stockton and Darlington Railway, the first loading

of coals from which was made in January, 1826, com-

pletely changed the course of the coal trade ; and though

the subsequent opening of the port of Hartlepool has

introduced an important rival into the market, the

united vend from Stockton and Middlesborough has

continued to shew, generally, a state of prosperity. In

1828, the first year of the railway, 7,295 tons were

shipped from the Tees ; after which time, the vend was

as follows :

—

1827 18,588

1828 64,290

1829 46,216

1830 79,433

1831 151,262

1832 231,959

1833 336,060

1834 285,765

1835 357,726

1836 359,731

1837 316,781

1838 405,660

1839 465,792

1840 658,117

1841 498,092

1842 474,092

1843 438,789

1844 380,504

1846 662,853

1846 527,764

1847 489,889

1848 428,409

1849 354,969

1850 491,000

In 1853, 70,701 tons of coal and 16,633 tons of coke

were shipped from the Tees for foreign parts. During

the year 1854, 12 British and 55 foreign vessels

cleared from Stockton for foreign parts, carrying 4,634

tons of coal and 1,224 tons of coke. From Middles-

borough, 178 British and 418 foreign vessels cleared,

with 37,410 tons of coals and 22,449 tons of coke.

The shipment of coals and coke coastwise, during the

last five months of 1854, were as follow :

—
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to the " Stockton Dock Rate in Aid Bill," (towards

the expenses of which £25 was subscribed), to the

" Darlington and Barnard Castle Railway Bill," the

" Stockton and Cleveland Union Railway Bill," and

other matters connected with the commercial prosperity

of the district. Its business is conducted by a president,

a vice-president, a treasurer, a committee of five per-

sons, and two secretaries.

PORTRACK

Is in the township of Stockton, and has usually been

described as a hamlet one mile distant from the town.

The number of additional buildings, however, in the

course of erection at the north-east part of the town for

manufacturing purposes, has almost entirely connected

the hamlet with the town itself. Extensive iron works

are now being erected on this estate ; tliree blast fur-

naces are nearly completed, belonging to the firm of

Messrs. Holdworth, Benington, Byers, and Company;

and Messrs. Sparkes and Company have purchased ten

acres of ground adjoining, and are arranging for the

erection of two blast furnaces. Blue Souse estate is

the property of Viscount Boyne, of Brancepeth

Castle.

Portrach Holme estate was offered for public sale

November 30, 1837 ; it was described as consisting of

about 137 acres of land, the entire village of Portrack,

and Portrack Gardens, of copyhold tenure, late belong-

ing to J. D. Nesham, Esq., deceased; and as a portion

of the land adjoined the river Tees, it offered eligible

sites for ship-building yards and other commercial

purposes, &c.

EAST IIARTBURN.

The township of East Hartburn, situated to the west

of Stockton, contains an area of 1,020 acres; and the

annual value of property assessed for the county-rate in

1853 was £1,326 15s. The population, at the succes-

sive periods of return, was 104, 115, 121, 152, 135, and

174. Of the latter number, 84 were males and 90

females ; and the number of houses, at that period, was

37 inhabited and 2 uninhabited.

During the year ended Lady- day, 1854, the receipts

from poor-rates in the township of East Hartburn

amounted to £50 5s. ; and receipts in aid of poor-rates,

17s. ; total, £51 2s. The expenditure connected with

relief was, for in-maintenance, £1 17s. ; out-relief,

£23 19s. ; workhouse loan repaid, and interest thereon,

£1 5s. ; salaries and rations of officers, &c., £4 ; other

expenses, £1 13s. ; total, £32 14s. Constables' ex-

penses and costs before magistrates, lis.; vaccination,

Is. ;
payments or registration fees to clergymen, 7s.

;

payments towards county and other rates, £22 4s.

;

registration, 5s. ; other payments, £2 16s. ; total expen-

diture, £58 18s.

The village of Hartburn, situated on the brook from

which it derives is name, is I3 miles west-south-west

from Stockton, the road from which place to Darlington

passes through It. It contains a public-house, and a

few tradesmen.

According to Boldon Book, there were twelve villains

in Ilarteburn, each holding two oxgangs, and paying

rent and services as those of Boldon, except cornage.

Alan son of Osbert held an oxgang ; and three cottagers

held two tofts, working fourteen days for the lord in

harvest. The vill provided one milch cow. Ten caru-

cates of demesne, in Stockton and Herteburn, were on

lease, and rendered twenty chalders of wheat.

In Bishop Hatfield's Survey, John Laken is the only

free tenant named, holding by charter and knight's

service, and aiding to clean the stream and pool of

Norton mill. William Baron, besides two other mes-

suages and oxgangs, held, with his fellows, a plot of

ground on Northdeynslde, containing 43 acres, belong-

ing to the demesne, paying 21s. 8d. Three cottagers

and various other tenants are named. The tenants hold

the common bakehouse, 2s. ; the kiln (no rent) ; the

forge, 2d. ; the bond-tenants, in lieu of a milch cow,

6s. Every selfode paid 3d. to the lord; and every

bond-tenant's servant Id. to the lord, in lieu of work,

at Michaelmas.

Six persons from Hartburn joined the Northern

Rebellion, one of whom was executed. The principal

proprietor in the township is John Stapylton Sutton,

Esq., of Elton Hall.

Thomas Gibson bequeathed to the poor of East Hart-

burn £20, the interest thereof to be distributed to them

in white bread every Lord's day, at the Communion

table, in Stockton church, or, falling them, to the other

poor then present. This sum appears to have been

carried to the account of the church-rate, as 20s. is paid

thereout yearly, and disposed of in bread as directed.

PRESTON-UPON-TEES.

The township of Preston is situated adjoining those of

Stockton and Hartburn on the south, and is bounded

by the Tees on the east. It contains, including its
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liberties in the river, 1,108 acres; and the property

was assessed to the county-rate, in 1853, at £1,348 per

annum. The population, in 1801, was 64; in 1811,

62; in 1821,57; in 1831,76; in 1841, 111; and in

1851, 113, of whom 61 were males and 52 females.

There were, at the same date, 18 inhabited houses, and

1 uninhabited. The township contains five farms* and

a public-house.

In Preston-on-Tecs, during the year ended Lady-day,

1854. there was received from poor-rates, £46 17s.

;

and payments in aid of do., 3s. The expenditure for

in-maintenance was £6 10s. ; for out-relief, £13 4s.

;

workhouse loan and interest, £1 4s. ; salaries and rations

of officers, &c., 13s. ; other expenses, 6g. ; total con-

nected with relief, £21 17s. Constables' expenses and

costs before magistrates, 17s.; vaccination. Is.; pay-

ments on registration fees to clergymen, 5s. ; towards

county and other rates, £23 Is. ; registration, 4s. ; for

other purposes, 19s. ; total expenditure, £47 4s.

• "Old George."—One of the farms at Preston was, for some years,

held by Mr. George Ord, a natWe of Great Stainton, where his father

was an eminent farmer and cattle-dealer under the Pennymans. He
died while George was young ; and his widow removed to a farm at

Cowpen. As George grew up, he began to suppose himself handsome,

and fancied that every young female who looked at hLin was in love

with him, He made a prudent choice, however, in his first wife, Miss

Polly Preston, of Yarm, whom he married in March, 1773. During

her lite, she made an amazing improvement in her husband ; but un-

fortunately for him, she died, five or six years after their marriage, in

giving birth to twins, leaving them and other three children to the

widower. He soon got another helpmate, who was virtuous, careful,

and indnstrious herself, but gave in to all his whims, and a dorm.ant

mental malady began to appear. He left the Cowpeu farm, and took

one of Sir John Eden's at Preston ; and having been always a dreaming,

musing fellow, he began to suppose himself superhuman, and to see

most absurd and chimerical visions. Every thing went WTong ; his

com failed for want of cultivation, and for want of attention his cattle

died. He now became a vagabond, carrying his dreams, visions, and
hymns from one side of the island to the other ; and twice he wrote

(of course without receiving any answer) to Mr. Pitt, representing

that the nation was in great danger, and could not be saved without

his helping hand. Although he could scarcely spell a word right,

he was continually using his pen on hymns and spiritual plays of the

most doggrel character. Sometimes he sung them at the market

crosses during the hirings of servants, or at other public meetings

;

and he commonly had a crowd of disorderly persons about him, some
commiserating his conduct, otliers casting dirt, stones, or vile potatoes

in his face. Sometimes a too well directed aim brought the blood

from his nose ; but he never ceased his singing, and seemed to take

no notice. Amongst others to whom he directed some of his uncon-

nected effusions was his landlord. Sir John Eden, who long suffered

him to remain on his farm ; but wearied at length by the foolish con-

duct of his tenant, let it to a more deserving person. By this time,

George had a host of children by his second wife, wlio, with his elder

ones, were reduced to ruin and distress. He was father, grandfather,

and great grandfather to descendants almost innumerable, who were
living in low employments : most of them he married off when they

were little more than children, being a gi'eat stickler for matrimony.

The Stockton and Darlington railway passes through

this township over an extent of 1 M. 3 F. 19 Y., and

covers an area of 7 a. 1 r. 16 p. In 1851, when the

gross amount collected for local rates was £27 12s., the

railway contributed £8 Os. 5d. ; and in 1852, when the

gross amount was £56 Is. 8d., the railway contributed

£16 Os. lOd.

The celebrated whinstone dyke, described in page 81,

here enters the county from the east-south-east. In

this place, it is 75 feet wide, and has been quarried to

a considerable depth. The whinstone is of a fine grain,

very hard, and of a dark grey or bluish-black colour :

it is disposed in large horizontal blocks, which intersect

nearly at right angles a light-coloured sandstone, and

are covered with a thin crust of ferruginous ochre. The

whole is capped by a bed of diluvian, 45 feet in thick-

ness, consisting of a different coloured clay, somewhat

calcareous, and partaking of a gravelly nature. A little

below the quarry, the basalt crops out into the bed of

George had once an interview with Johanna Southcote ; but as two

of a trade seldom agree, they came outrageously to cross purposes in

their doctrines. George considered Atmsc^ the true Shiloh ; and the

vulgar prophetess was then destined to become the mother of Shiloh.

In his writings, he styled himself the chosen minister of God, the

only true Branch, the great I am, the Messiah or Shiloh, the Prince

of Peace, and many other names ; and the good folks that knew him

called him a second Solomon, Preacher George, the Antichrist, the Pope

in disguise, the Ancient of Days, and sometimes the wandering Jew.

For nearly fifty years he frequented the markets of Darlington, Stock-

ton, Sunderland, and other places in the county, where, plainly but de-

cently dressed, he paraded the streets or visited the inns, carrjing nnder

his arm a large collection of ballads or pamphlets, which he modestly

offered to the persons he met with, crying, " Buy a book ! buy a

book!" If one was bought for a penny, he was perfectly satisfied;

and gentlemen who had known him in better times occasionally pre-

sented him with a sixpence or shilling. In his wanderings, he tra-

versed the three kingdoms ; often, when his finances were low, he

was conveyed in a pass-cart from one township to another, and some-

times, on his route homewards, was farther from Prcston-on-Tees at

night than he had been in the morning. He declared most solemnly

that he would never die, and was certainly, notwithstanding his age,

very active. In 1S30, he was still rambling from house to house, but

was not so erect as formerly ; he had lost his teeth, and his hair w.a3

as white as snow. Still he was as amorous as ever ; and the matrons

and young lasses scampered off at his approach, to avoid a divine

salute, or a Sion kiss fi'om the Ancient of Days. Such damsels as

submitted patiently to his tales of heavenly love and delight, were

immediately registered in his Book of Books, being destined after-

wards to be seen hand in hand with him, singing and dancing in the

air, and kicking with their feet the heads of those who were .so stub-

born as not to hearken to the charmer's voice. Notwithstanding his

predictions, he was at last gathered to his fathers, though maintaining

to his dying moment that he was a true prophet. His eldest son,

whose imagination was filled with wheels, perpendiculars, and dia-

meters, and who firmly believed he had discovered the perpetual

motion, was, on his death, biuried beside the patriarch at Seymour, in.

Cleveland, where a small property had been left to the parties.

—

Lumjstuff<:' s Darlington, p. 254.
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the river, and forms a portion of the western bank, four

or five feet in height.

Preston Hall, the property and residence of Marshall

Fowler, Esq., stands beautifully on the northern bank

of the Tees, and commands the view of a fine bend of

the river, enclosing a plain of considerable extent, ter-

minated by the woods of Thornaby and Stainsby, with

the picturesque range of the Cleveland hills in the

distance.

By Boldon Book, there were seven villains in Pres-

ton, holding and paying the same as in Hartburn.

Walter, "Waldewin, Adam son of "Walter of Stockton,

Orine son of Toki, William son of Utting, and Eichard

Rand, are named as tenants. The whole vill provided

one milch cow.

In Hatfield's Survey, John de Carrowe paid for the

lands of Thomas de Seton, rents amounting to 38s. per

annum. WUliam Baron, Thomas Baron, and Matilda

Bowes held parcels of ground, at various rents.

Preston conferred its name on a local family at an

early date. In the foundation charter of Stockton

chapel, about 1234, Adam son of Adam de Preston is

mentioned. Alice, daughter and heiress of Ranulph

and Cicely Preston, married Robert de Eden, who died

seised of their lands in 1413. Meanwhile, various other

families held property in Preston. John Randolph

died seised of nine messuages and oxgangs in 1362

;

and the principal and manorial property belonged to

the Setons. Alice, daughter and heiress of Thomas
Seton, who died in 1360, married Sir Thomas Carrowe,

Knt. ; and, on the death of their son, John de Carrowe,

without issue, in 1386, the estate reverted to the heirs

of his mother, the Sayers and Setons. A portion of it

descended to the Hotons of Hardwick ; and the pro-

perty of the Sayers was purchased by Sir Marmaduke
Wyvill, Bart. From the WyviUs, Sir Marmaduke and

Sir Wniiam, the "manor or lordship of Preston-on-

Tees" passed to George Witham, Esq. In 1722,

William Witham, Esq., granted the manor to Sir John

Eden., Bart., whose great grandson conveyed it, with

the rest of his property here, to David Burton Fowler,

Esq., of the Inner Temple. The latter gentleman

erected Preston Hall in 1825, and died January 30,

1828, aged 92 years. He bequeathed the estate and

manor to his great nephew, Marshall Robinson, Esq.,

the present proprietor, who, by royal letters patent,

assumed the name of Fowler.

SOUTH STOCKTON, YAEM, MIDDLESBOEOUGH, &c.

tV ITHIN the last few years, these districts have risen into considerable importance. Although situated on the

Yorkshire side of the Tees, they are within the boundaries of the Customs Port of Stockton ; and their trade and
increasing commerce being so interwoven with that of the town of Stockton itself, a brief account of South
Stockton, Yarm, Middlesborough, &c., may not here be inappropriate.

SOUTH STOCKTON.

The estate of South Stockton is situated at the south

end of the bridge, on the Yorkshire side of the Tees,

and has of late years become a considerable manufac-

turing district. During a recent joint stock mania, a

large cotton manufactory was commenced, the requisite

capital being divided into a number of shares. The
undertaking, however, was a failure ; and the large

brick building used as the factory having long stood

empty, has recently been purchased by Joseph Pease,

Esq., together with about 30 acres of ground adjoining,

for the sum of £7,000, and will, no doubt, be appro-

priated to some important undertaking. The ship-

building yards and patent slip-way of Messrs. Turn-

bull and Craggs are at the south end of the bridge;

near adjoining are the timber yards of Messrs. Arm-
strong ; there is also an iron ship-building establish-

ment, belonging to Messrs. Richardson, Duck, and

Co. The Teesdale Iron Works are the property of a

London firm. There are also, at South Stockton, three

saw mills, extensive bottle works, a pottery, a steam

corn mill, an artificial guano manufactory, &c. ; and

the principal dwelling houses comprise the following

streets :

—

Bridge Street, Britannia Street, Cleveland

Terrace, George Street, Middle Street, Norton Place,

Queen Street, Stafford, Thornaby Lane, Thornaby

Terrace, and Trafalgar Street. The places of worship

are Stafford Pottery chapel, and the IVesleyan Re-

formers^ meeting-house.
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YARM.
Yarm is a small market town and parish of considerable

antiquity, the estate of Yarm having been granted

by William the Conqueror to Robert de Brus. The

town stands on the Yorkshire side of the Tees,

about 4 miles south-west of Stockton, on a penin-

sula formed by the river, and is connected with the

Dorhara side by an ancient stone bridge. It maintains

a considerable trade, principally carried on by water,

by means of river craft or barges, of from 40 to 60 tons

burthen. There are also vessels of firom 80 to 100 tons,

which trade from Yarm to Boston in Lincolnshire

and various Scotch ports ; the vessels, which draw seven

feet water, proceeding from Stockton and Yarm in one

tide. In Yarm there are two extensive steam flour

mills; one the property of Mr. Benjamin Wren,

who turns out several hundred sacks of flour per

week, and during the year 1850 imported and exported,

by the river only, flour to the amount of £50,000

in value ; his mill has two engines of 40 horse power,

turning 17 pairs of stones. There are also in the town

a tannery, a tobacco-pipe manufactory, tile and brick

works, the usual miscellaneous shopkeepers, and a con-

siderable trade in agricultural produce.—The town-hall

is a neat building ; and the parish church, which stands

at the west end of the town, is an unpretending edifice,

rebuilt in 1730. The Society of Friends, the Inde-

pendents, Wesleyans, and Roman Catholics have each

places of worship ; and there are several schools, besides

the free Grammar School, founded and endowed in the

lime of Queen Elizabeth. The population of the parish

of Yarm, in 1851, amounted to 1,647. The market is

held on Thursday weekly, and there are four annual

fairs. The Friarage, a commodious mansion, erected

on the site of a house of Black Friars, is the property

and residence of Thomas Meynell, Esq.

In the year ended Lady-day, 1854, the receipts from

Yarm for the Stockton Union were £642 ; and the ex-

penditure for the relief of the poor was £465 18s.

Other disbursements amounted to £107 2s., making a

total outlay of £573.

NEWPORT
Is a small hamlet near the Tees, on the Yorkshire side

of the river, where there is a wharf, extensive granaries,

• A circumstance is stated to have recently occurred in the Tees,

which shews the necessity of a minute as well as a general knowledge
of geography. Between Stockton and Middlesborough, there is a
little hamlet, containing some half a dozen houses, which rejoices in

the name of Newport ; and to this little place came a little Dutch
galliott, laden with wheat, the captain of which proceeded on shore

and a commodious quay.* The cut formed by the Tees

Navigation Company (see page 187) runs to a point at

a distance of about 600 yards from the west end of the

upper quay at Newport ; and the large slip of valuable

land, left by the bed of the river, gave rise to expensive

litigation, as to who was entitled to the land. On the

Durham side of the river, the bishop, as possessing jura

regalia in the county, and as lord of the manor of

Stockton, claimed the land, and granted a lease of it to

Messrs. Rowntree, Clarke, and Grey, of Stockton. On
the Yorkshire side, the adjoining owners claimed and

took possession of the residuary portion ; but in 1827

Mr. Marwood, of Busby Hall, as chief bailifl" of the

liberty of Langburgh, and therefore grantee of the

crown, laid claim to the land on the Yorkshire side ,:

and in 1841 brought an action of ejectment against the

Earl of Harewood, whose estate joins the river. The

cause was tried at the Yorkshire spring assizes of that

year, and a verdict given in favour of the defendant,

the Earl of Harewood.

MIDDLESBOROUGH.

Middlesborough (or Middleburg, the name supposed

to be of Danish origin), is a corporate and maritime

town, in the North Riding of Yorkshire, on the

southern bank of the Tees, four miles east from Stock-

ton, seven miles from the sea, and about three miles

from the village of Marton, the birth-place of the cele-

brated circumnavigator. Captain Cook. The town has

risen into notice since 1830. The estate in 1546 was

granted to Thomas Reeve, and latterly came into

the hands of William Chilton.

The Stockton and Darlington Railway Company, in

1829, obtained an act of parliament to extend their rail-

way to the south side of the river Tees, near Mid-

dlesborough ; and to the construction of this Une may

be attributed the immediate cause of the unexam-

pled rise of Middlesborough ; for at that time the estate

upon which the town is built contained only one house.

The originators of the railway perceived the incalcu-

lable advantage of selecting Middlesborough as a place

for the shipment of coals, the water being much deeper

here than at Stockton, and having greater facilities for

the unloading and loading of vessels. A company was

to seek his consignee. He was not long in discovering there was no

such firm in the place as the one he sought, and the result of his

enquiries was to convince liim that he had arrived there, instead of

his proper destination, Newport ill Wales, for which place he set sail

with a heavy heart.
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therefore at once formed, under the name of the Mid-

dlesborough Company, the members being Thomas

Richardson, Henry Birkbeck, Simon Martin, Joseph

Pease, jun., Edward Pease, and Francis Gibson, Esqrs.

They purchased some ground of Thomas Hustler, Esq.,

and about 500 acres of the estate ofWilliam Chilton, Esq.,

as the site of a new town, a terminus of the Stockton and

Darlington Railway, and for the erection of coal staiths

or '• drops," warehouses, &c. The speculation proved

highly successful, building sites being sold at prices

leaving a large profit. A well-built, commodious town

speedily sprung up, diverging at right angles in well

formed streets from a large square in the centre, used

as a market-place, where court houses and commodious

covered buildings have been erected.

The Middlesborough " drops" were opened in 1831,

on which occasion T. Y. HaU, Esq., a spirited colliery

owner, sent one block of coal, hewn at Black Boy col-

liery, of which Mr. Hall at the time was manager,

weighing 3^ tons, for shipment to the London Coal Ex-

change, being the largest block ever shipped from the

northern coal field. Large quantities of coal were soon

forwarded from Middlesborough to the metropolis;

and from that time to 1841 the coal trade continued to

increase, when it was deemed expedient to construct

the present dock, which was planned by W. Cubitt,

C.E., and executed under the superintendence of

George Turnbull, C.E. On the 11th May, 1842, ships

were admitted into the dock. Vessels are loaded

afloat at all times of the tide, and the shipment of coals

has been regularly and extensively carried on.

Middlesborough Dock has an area of nine acres of

water surface ; it is entered by a channel, rather more

than a quarter of a mile in length, leading from the

mid-channel of the river Tees. The entrance lock is

132 feet long and 30 feet wide ; the bottom of the dock

is 3 feet under the level of the sills ; the depth of water

on the sills is 15 feet at neap tides, and 19 feet at spring

tides. For the shipment of coals there are ten staiths or

drops, at each of which coals may be loaded at the rate

of five keels per hour, being equal to 1,050 tons. The

dock will contain 135 ships of 16 keels each. Ballast

is taken from vessels at a very low rate, by means of

cranes worked by steam at the different wharves on the

river banks, and also in the dock. The branch railway,

which communicates with the dock, is situated on the

south side of the town, and terminates in the double

lines of railway leading to the ten drops. The raised

platform, covered by diverging lines of railway, com-

prises an area of 15 acres, and affords standage room

for 3,000 waggons, or more than 9,000 tons of coal,

besides ready means of egress for locomotives with their

trains of waggons. The coals shipped are from the

collieries of Evenwood, Witton Park, Butterknowle,

Woodfield, Adelaide, St. Helen's, Whitfield, Old

Etherley, North Bitchburn, &c. There are eight coal-

fitters' offices, and several ship and insurance brokers.

The Advance, steam-ship leaves Middlesborough for

London every Saturday, with goods and passengers.

There are three maritime insurance offices in the town

;

besides nineteen offices and branches for fire, life, and

guarantee insurances.

In addition to the establishment of Middlesborough

Dock, and the trade connected therewith, there are

several extensive manufacturies and mercantile esta-

blishments in full operation on the banks of the river.

The most important of these are the extensive iron forges

and engine building establishment of Messrs. Bolckow

and Vaughan, for the making of railway bars, bar and

sheet iron of all descriptions, having a number of steam

engines, a tilt hammer, cast iron foundry, and anchor

forge, with a river frontage of 650 feet, including a

wharf of 320 feet, on which are three powerful cranes

for the shipment of their produce. In connection with

these works, are the iron, smelting, and rolHng mills at

Witton (see vol. i., p. 599), and iron-stone mines at Es-

ton, where the firm have also erected extensive furnaces.

An interesting feature, in connection with these works,

is the working of the oolitic iron-stone on the Cleveland

hills, of which Messrs. Bolckow and Vaughan possess

an extensive tract, where they work the ore open-cast

to a thickness of from 18 to 23 feet. In winter, the

works are carried on by tunnelling, for the protection

of the men ; and on the return of spring the roof is

thrown in, or otherwise, as may be desirable. The

iron produced from this stone is of the most valuable

kind, malleable and ductile to a great degree. Messrs.

Bolckow and Vaughan are also owners of Woodfield,

West Auckland, and Whitelee collieries, in the county

of Durham.

Messrs. Gilkes, Wilson, Leatham, and Co., have an

extensive locomotive engine manufactory and iron

foundry at Middlesborough. An earthenware manu-

factory and the Cleveland bottle works employ a number

of workmen. There are also ship-building yards, patent

slip-ways, chain manufacturies, &c.

At Cargo Fleet, a little to the south of Middles-

borough Dock, Messrs. Gilkes, Wilson, Leatham, and

Co., have four iron furnaces ; and Messrs. Cochrane

and Co., have also four. Messrs. Swinburne and Co.,
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have two furnaces at Eston Junction ; where three have

also been erected by Messrs. Elwin and Co.*

In 1840, an elegant church was erected, on the site

of an ancient chapel, at the cost of £2,500. There are

also places of worship for Catholics, Independents, the

Society of Friends, Baptists, Wesleyans, and Primitive

Methodists ; also various schools, including a free

grammar school.

The Exchange Hotel, a handsome Grecian structure,

was erected at a cost of £4,500, raised in shares of £100

caeh. To the shareholders, however, the speculation

proved unprofitable ; the property was ultimately pur-

chased for public purposes, and now belongs to the

corporation.

In 1841, an act of parliament was obtained for paving,

watching, lighting, and otherwise improving the

town, and for establishing a market.

The Town Hall, with an enclosed market, was built

in 1846 ; it is a neat building, faced with a fine fire

brick, with apartments for various public offices.

A charter of incorporation was obtained for Middles-

borough in 1853, the honour of the mayoralty being

conferred, by the unanimous voice of the council, upon

H. W. F. Bolckow, Esq. The first town councillors

were—H. W. F. Bolckow, Isaac Wilson, John Vaughan,

Robert Elliott, Edgar Gilkes, Henry Thompson, James

Harris, W. Blenkinsop, S. Stonehouse, G. Bothomley,

J. G. Holmes, and W. Fallows.

The population of this district, in 1801, consisted

of 25 inhabitants ; in 1829, of 40 inhabitants ; and

reached, in 1851, 9,000 ; it is now 12,000.

The township of Middlesborough, in the year ended

Lady-day, 1854, paid £715 Is. in poor-rates, and the

receipts in aid of the rates were £10 8s., making a total

income of £725 9s. The expenditure for relief of

the poor was £437 9s. ; the payments to county and

'Other rates, £135 7s.; and for other purposes, £191
4s. ; making a total expenditure of £764.

The Cleveland District.—That portion of North
Yorkshire, known as the Cleveland district, is now
generally admitted to be inexhaustibly rich in its mineral

wealth. The iron-stone has been properly tested, and

by analysis found to produce nearly 40 per cent, of

• Consumption of Coal.—To produce 140 tons of pig iron weekly,

each furnace requires 600 tons of coal ; and for each ton of that portion

which is converted into bars, rails, and sheets, which may be two-

thirds oi the whole quantity, or 93 tons, 3 additional tons of coals will

be required. Assuming that each of the above eleven furnaces, and
of three erected at Port Clarence, on the opposite side of the Tees, pro-

duces the average quantity of 140 tons, the weekly produce wiU be

VOL. II.

metal of a first-rate description. A seam of ore runs

along the line of hills on the lower chain, commencing

at Lofthouse alum works, extending to Eston Nab
Beacon ; and the second chain of hills, with the

intervening valleys of Dale House, Skelton, and Guis-

borough, extending to the Ben Nevis of Cleveland

—

Roseberry Topping, has the same bed or stream of ore.

The beds lie nearly level for several miles, varying in

thickness from 12 to 20 feet. The greatest facilities

exist for working the ore, as, by a moderate computation,

no less than ten millions of tons of stone may be obtained

by open quarrying alone. A railway unites Redcar

with Middlesborough, where it joins the Stockton and

Darlington railway ; and branches are formed from the

Redcar and Middlesborough line to Birdley Moor,

Eston Nab, Roseberry Topping, Birnaldby Moor,

Guisborough, Cod Hill, and the iron-stone deposit

at Huntcliffe and Redcliflfe, on the sea banks. Though
it is only since 1850 that public attention has been

directed to this important portion of North Yorkshire

and that its mineral treasures have become developed, yet

more than twenty years ago some gentlemen of scientific

attainments placed on record their belief that valua-

ble seams of iron-stone abounded in Cleveland.

Charles Attwood, Esq., in one of his geological investi-

gations, about the year 1830, communicated his convic-

tion, that a large extent of valuable iron-stone existed in

this district ; and Mr. T. Y. Hall, author of a treatise on

the Northern Coal Field, states, that in the year 1833,

he accompanied Mr. Brooks, now engineer to the com-

missioners of the river Tyne, " to examine and report

upon these valuable iron ores, as may be seen in the

report made by Mr. Brooks, when engineer for the river

Tees, and published in the Nautical Magazine for May,

1833. Notwithstanding the publication of this long

and valuable report, calling attention to the subject

generally, and to the immense beds of iron ore existing,

from that time until very recently, little notice was taken

of that which has since turned out to be so important."

Redcar.—Redcar is situated about 4 miles south of

the Tees ; though not established as a port for the

shipment of coals, it has lately risen into importance, in

consequence of its proximity to the Cleveland Hills.

1,960 tons, requiring, for the manufacture of pig iron alone, 8,400 tons

of coals, or 436,000 tons per annum. But if the proportion of iron

above indicated be manufactured into malleable iron, the consumption

of coals will be 12,320 tons per week, or 640,640 tons per annum.

There are now at least 40 furnaces in blast in the county, wliich, on

the above calculation, will recjuire 24,000 tons of coal weekly, or

1 1,248,000 tons yearly, for the production of pig iron alone.
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Extensive iron-stone workings have been commenced

by various parties in the neighbourhood j the produce

being conveyed by railway, or shipped at Eedcar.

Some years ago, Mr. Brooks suggested the formation of

a harbour at Redcar, not only for mercantile purposes, I of twenty feet at low water and forty at high water

but as a refuge for ships of war and merchant vessels,

in stormy weather. The projected harbour comprised

an area of 450 acres, admirably situated, and sheltered

by rocky promontories north and south, with a depth

PARISH OF NOETON.

Norton parish is bounded by that of Stockton on the south and east, by Billingham on the north-east and north,

by Grindon on the north-west, and by Redmarshall on the west. It includes the manor of Blakiston, but forms

only one township or constablery.

Norton contains 4,614 acres. Its population in 1801,

was 965; in 1811, 1,053; in 1821, 1,186; in 1831,

in consequence of the employment of a number of

labourers on railway works, it was 1,486; in 1841,

1,623; and in 1851, 1,725, of whom 810 were males

and 915 females. In 1841, there were 374 inhabited

houses, 12 uninhabited, and 4 building ; and in 1851,

402 inhabited, 14 uninhabited, and 2 building. The

annual value of property assessed to the county-rate in

1853 was £9,623 10s.

The receipts from the parish of Norton for the

Stockton Union, during the year ended Lady-day,

1854, were, from poor-rates, £636 13s. ; in aid of the

rates, £26 5s. ; total, £662 18s. There was paid, for

in-maintenance, £30 13s. ; out-relief, £406 14s.; salaries

and rations of officers, &c., £50 7s. ; other expenses,

£44 5s. ; total expenditure for the relief of the poor,

£531 17s. Constables' expenses and costs before

magistrates, 15s. ; vaccination, £3 10s. ; payments or

registration fees to clergymen, £4 18s.; towards county

and other rates, £163 18s.; registration, lis. ; for other

purposes, £53 5s. ; total expenditure, £756 14s.

The Clarence railway has an extent of 4 m. 6 t., and

an area of 36 a. 3 K. 14 p. in this parish. Its contribu-

tion to the local rates in 1851 was £66 13s. 4d., and in

1852, £75 ; the gross amount collected in those years

being £646 lis. 7d. and £715 14s. o^d. There is a

station near the village.

• An act for more effectually repairing and improving this road

was passed May 23, 1832, for 31 years. See vol. i., p. 107.

t "PoTATOE Tom." — Thomas Baker, a "farmer and Quaker

preacher," lived at Holm-house, on the road between Norton and

Portrack. The above epithet was bestowed upon him in consequence

of his havins, about the year 1736, introduced the potatoe into the

county of Durham, by planting it in the favourable soU of Norton.

Desirous of monopolizing the trade to himself and family, he and his

The pleasant and airy village of Norton is situated on

the turnpike road* between Stockton and Sunderland,

about 2 miles north from the former place. Norton

bridge, on this road, was rebuilt in 1832. The prin-

cipal street is wide, with rows of trees at the sides. At

the north end is a spacious green, surrounded by houses.

Norton Grove, Grange Terrace, Cambridge Terrace,

Olive Grove, Walker Place, and Victoria Place, are

rows of neat and respectable houses, principally on the

road between Norton and Stockton. So valuable is the

ground for building sites in this neighbourhood, that a

piece of land near the village was recently sold to a

Stockton merchant for £350 per acre.

Besides the Grammar School, noticed hereafter, there

are in Norton two boarding schools for young ladies,

and two day schools kept by mistresses. Sunday schools

are connected with the church and the Primitive

Methodist congregations. There is a post-office, a rural

police-station,eight inns and public-houses, two breweries

and maltings, and a spirit merchant. An extensive

tannery has long been carried on ; and there are several

bricklayers, builders, joiners, shopkeepers, tailors, and

other tradesmen. At the north end of the village, near

the Clarence Railway, about 30 acres of land have

recently been purchased, upon which a company intend

erecting iron blast-furnaces. A number of market

gardeners around the village supply it and the town of

Stockton with their produce.f From the salubrity of

two sons, James and John, kept their baskets with the potatoes, when
they first planted them, concealed under their great coats, which they

wore en the occasion. Though totally illiterate, he contrived, by

careful practical observation, to raise finer fruit and vegetables in his

garden than could be found in any similar spot in the county. He
frequently felt called upon to address the meetings of the Friends,

which he did in homely, but expressive terms ; telling them, on one

occasion, he was afraid some of them were like the potatoes of that

year, which under a fair outside concealed a rotten heart. Not being
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the situation, Norton lias long been a favourite place of

residence with persons of independent means,* as well as

with many of the professional gentlemen,f merchants,

tradesmen, and officials of Stockton. A large Wesleyan

Methodist chapel was erected in 1824. The Society of

Friends had, for some years, a meeting-house in Norton,

which is now let to the Primitive Metliodists ; but its

burying ground is still used by its proprietors.

On December 19, 1851, the highway surveyors were

summoned before the local magistrates for neglecting to

repair the highways ; but the case was referred to the

quarter sessions of the county. A lengthened discussion

followed ; and the repairs are now applied to the high-

ways, strictly so called ; the private roads being main-

tained by the owners of property.

Norton House, a handsome mansion, is the property

and residence of John Hogg,J Esq., A.M., late fellow

of St. Peter's College, Cambridge, barrister-at-law of

the Inner Temple, F.R.S., and M.R.S.L.,§ whose an-

cestors have long been resident in Norton.

John Hogg, Gent., of Norton, left, by Isabel his wife

(who died April 19, 1762, aged 80j, two sons, Thomas

and John, and a daughter. The eldest son, Thomas

Hogg, Esq., of Norton, and of the College in the city

of Durham, married Ann, only child and heiress of

able to read, it is probable he never heard of Sir Walter Kaleigh, to

whom the nation is understood to be indebted for his favourite root

,

but the following anecdote bears some resemblance to that of Raleigh's

velret cloak, which he threw into the mire to make a passage for

Queen Elizabeth :—" Long had Thomas Baker followed in vain Mary
Jekyl, as a lover ; she, being considerably older and much richer than

himself, was afraid he courted her to obtain the mammon of this

world, till walking together in Stockton street, in dirty weather, they

came to a kennel, over wliich Mary was afraid to pass. Thomas,

upon this, gallantly set his foot in the middle of it, which Mary
stepping upon, got clearly over, and looking upon the courtly action

as an unquestionable proof of real affection, soon after consented to

marry him."

• Jebemiah Moore.—The romantic outline given by Hutchinson of

the life of Jeremiah Moore is the only record of his eventful career.

Taken, by means of his elder brother, into Turkish slavery ; escaping

from the hardships of that state ; impressed into the navy, in which
he was serving in the Mediterranean when his brother's death placed

him in independence ; he settled at Norton, and spent the remainder

of his life in acts of goodness. Having no relations, he bequeathed

to six gentlemen, who had befriended him in adversity, £1,500 each ;

and to his housekeeper, Mrs. Ann Kendal, his executrix and residuary

legatee, £3,000 in trust for her son. All the legatees were enjoined

to receive their legacies at his house in Norton, over a large bowl of

punch, on the 1st of March next after his death ; and they were re-

quired yearly to commemorate that day as long as they lived, it being

the anniversary of his escape from slavery.

t Anthony White, Esa., son of Robert White, Esq., of Norton,

was bora at that place, and became a graduate of Cambridge Uni-

John Jefferson, Esq., of Norton and Elton, whose

ancestor was Sir John Jefferson, Knt., solicitor-general

for Durham in 1663, seneschal of the see in 1674;

created successively sergeant-at-law in 1683, recorder

of Durham in 1686, a judge of the Common Pleas in

Ireland in 1691, and one of the lord keepers of the

great seal in Ireland in 1697. By his wife, Mr. Hogg
had issue, John, his heir ; Thomas, died an infant ; Ann,

died young ; Jane, died aged 16 ; Dorothy, died young ;

Isabella, died unmarried ; and Elizabeth, married to the

late Lieutenant-colonel Grey, of Norton, deputy lieu-

tenant, and justice of the peace.

John Hogg, Esq., of Norton House, barrister-at-law

of Lincoln's Inn, and D.L. of the county of Durham,

married, in 1791, Prudentia, eldest daughter of the

Rev. Watkin Jones, rector of Darwen, Denbighshire ;||

and died in 1823. He had issue—Thomas-Jefferson,

barrister-at-law, of the Middle Temple, late one of the

Municipal Corporation Commissioners, and revising

barrister for the counties of Durham and Northumber-

land ; John, now of Norton House, born March 21,

1800; William, late scholar of Clare Hall, Cambridge,

died unmarried in 1821 ; Robert-Ewer, died unmarried

in 1817 ; Sarah-Isabella, died an infant; Prudentia-

Ann; and Elizabeth-Sarah.

versity, where he took an honourable degree. At London, he com-

menced practice as an assistant surgeon at the Westminster Hospital,

with which institution he continued to be associated till his death.

At an early period he obtained celebrity for the dexterity and success

of his operations in difRcult cases. His reputation procured him a

place in the council of the Royal CoUege of Surgeons, and he thrice

succeeded to the presidential chair. To men engaged in scientific or

literary pursuits, his knowledge and skUl were freely extended ; and

he suggested several important improvements in surgical mstruments.

He died at his residence in Parliament Street, on the 9th of March,

1849, aged 70.

% The name is generally written as above ; but it occurs, in old

family writings and papers, as Hooyg, Hogge, Hodg, or Iloodg.

<j Mr. Hogg is author of several papers published in the " Transactions

of the Royal Society of Literature ;" amongst which are, " A Memoir

on Two Roman Inscriptions relative to the Conquest of Britain by the

Emperor Claudius Csesar ;" "Supplemental Note" to do. ; "Notice

of recent Discoveries in Central Africa by Drs. Barth and Overweg,,

and of two supposed new Languages in that Country ;" " Notices on

a Papyrus Greek Manuscript ;" &e.

II
Sarah, wife of Mr. Jones, was daughter of Robert Ewer, capt.

69th comp. Marines, by his wife, Prudentia Nourse, of London.

Capt. Ewer sailed round the world with Anson, and suffered great

distresses by being shipwrecked : he distinguished himself by

his gallantry, April o, 1758, on the coast of France, under Sir Edward,

afterwards Lord Hawke, but was unfortunately lost in tlie Ramilics,

February 15, 1780. Miss Jones was also niece of l>r. John Ewer,

Bishop of Llandaff, and subsequently of Bangor, in 1708,
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Arms—Quarterly : 1st aig., three boars' heads, couped, sa., for

Hogg; 2nd, az., a fret, arg., on a chief of the last, three leopards'

faces, gu., for Jefferson; 3rd, or, on a mount, vert, a lion, rampant,

az., for Jones ; 4th, arg., a wolf, statant, sa., on a chief, az., three

crosses formee, of the first, for Ewer.

Crest—A boar, statant, ppr., pierced in the side with an arrow, or,

against an oak-tree, ppr., fructed, or.

Thomas-Robinson Grey, Esq., a magistrate for the

county of Durham, resides at Norton. The family is

traditionally descended from a younger branch of the

noble house of Grey of Northumberland.* John and

Robert Grey were successively resident in the city of

Durham. John, son of the latter, was an alderman and

mayor of that city in 1707, 1715, 1722, and 1735. He
married, first, January 13, 1699, Rebecca, daughter and

coheiress of William Chipchase, Gent., of Norton, the

last male representative of the family of that name, one

of the most ancient stocks in the place. By this lady

(who was buried January 14, 1716), he had issue

five sons and two daughters. He married, secondly,

August 5, 1718, Mary, daughter of George Bowes,

Esq., of Bradley, and by her (who was buried Decem-

ber 1, 1721j he had issue two sons (one of whom,

Bowes Grey, was many years under-sheriff of the

county), and two daughters. Mr. Grey was buried at

St. Nicholas' church, Durham, September 17, 1750,

aged 80, and was succeeded by his fourth, but eldest

survi%dng son,

John Grey, Gent., of Norton, baptized July 21,

1709, who married, December 23, 1727, Anne, daugh-

ter of Hugh Finch, Gent., of Billingham, and by her

(who was buried September 17, 1787) had issue,

William, who married Elizabeth, daughter of— Wright,

Gent., of Bishopton, whose daughter, Elizabeth,

became wife of the Rev. C. Anstey, vicar of Norton

;

Chipchase ; John, married to Elizabeth, daughter of

John Darnell, of Billingham ; Elizabeth ; and Ann,

wife of John Ward, of Billingham, and mother of Ann,

wife of William Sleigh, of Stockton. Mr. Grey died

about 1760.

Chipchase Grey, Esq., second son of the above, born

August 29, 1732, was some time a surgeon at Sunder-

land. He married, September 8, 1757, Anne, eldest

daughter of Thomas Robinson, Esq., of that place ; and

by her (who died at Norton, March 10, 1787) had issue,

John, died in infancy ; William, a solicitor, of Gray's

Inn, died unmarried December 24, 1801, aged 38;

* A pedigree, recorded in the Heralds' College, shews the descent,

in an uninterrupted line, of the eldest branch of the Greys of Norton,

through twenty-five generations, from William the Conqueror ; Gund-
reda, fifth daughter of that moniirch, having married William de

Thomas-Robinson ; and two daughters 'who died in

infancy. Mr. Grey died August 2, 1821.

Thomas-Robinson Grey, Esq., born July 1, 1767,

only surviving son of Chipchase Grey, was a lieu-

tenant-colonel in the army, a magistrate, a deputy

lieutenant of the county, and thirteen years collector

of the customs of the port of Stockton. He married,

March 10, 1796, Elizabeth, daughter of Thomas Hogg,

Esq., of Durham, and by her had issue, Thomas-

Robinson, his successor, now of Norton, born May 25,

1801; William, born April 22, 1803, died in infancy;

William-Robinson, who has assumed the name of

Robinson, and has issue (see Silksworth) ; John,

merchant, of Liverpool ; Elizabeth-Anne ; Margaret

;

Harriet, died February, 1847 ; and Maria, married,

July 18, to her second cousin, John-William Smith

(see Ryhope), and has issue.

William Grey, Esq., son of John, younger brother

of Chipchase Grey, Esq., was born in 1778; married,

July 2, 1807, Joanna, only child and heiress of William

Scurfield, Esq., of Coatham-Mundeville and Crindon

House (by Dorothea, his wife, second daughter of

Thomas Bowker, Esq., of Deckham Hall, Gateshead),

by whom he has issue, William-Scurfield Grey, Esq.,

A.M., of St. John's College, Cambridge, barrister-at-

law, and in the commission of the peace for the county

of Durham ; George-John Grey, Esq., A.M., assumed

the name of Scurfield (see Ford) ; John-William Grey,

clerk, A.M., assumed the name of Smith (see Ryhope) ;

Charles, an ensign in the 1st West India regiment,

died in June, 1842, unmarried ; Henry-Anthony,

merchant, of Liverpool ; John-Reynolds, now of Cal-

cutta; Robert-Septimus, died in infancy; Sarah-Dorothy,

married to her cousin, William-Robinson Robinson (see

above), and has issue ; Joanna, and Elizabeth, died

young.

Arms.—Gu., a lion rampant, within a bordure, engrailed, arg.

Crest.—A scaling-ladder, arg.

Motto.—De bon vouloir server le roy.

There are several other resident proprietors in

the village of Norton.

Norton, in some of the old records Normanton, from

its old possessors, the Normans, is a member of one of

the bishop's great manors. According to Boldon Book,

there were in Norton thirty villains, each holding two

Warren, Earl of Warren and Surrey, one of whose descendants,

through the blood, in the interval, of many noble and illustrious

families, was WiUiam Middleton, Esq., paternal ancestor of the

Greys.

Thank you for purchasing from Ebay Shop Retromedia

http://stores.shop.ebay.co.uk/retromedia


PARISH OF NORTON. 207

oxgangs of land under the same rents and services as

those of Boldon, except cornage, which they did not

pay, because they had no pasturage. There were

twenty farmers, each holding two oxgangs, and paying

half a mark. Each of them ploughed and harrowed

half an acre of the lord's demesne, provided two men

two days in reaping, and the like at hay-making, and

two wains for one day or one wain for two days to lead

corn ; and all of them jointly tilled four portions in

autumn with all their families, except the housewives.

Adam of Normanton held a carucate for 10s., and pro-

vided thirty-two men for one day, or the same quantity

of labour, with four wains j and his men and their

families were to till four portions, but he and his

household were to be clear. Adam, son of Gilbert de

Herdwic, held thirty-six acres of the land of Norton,

near Herdewyc, as tenant at will, under two marks rent.

The mills had eight acres allotted to them, and the

Mill-meadow, and paid twenty marks. The punder

had four acres and the thraves of corn, lilce other pun-

ders, and paid fourscore hens and five hundred eggs.

Twelve cottagers held tofts and crofts, and thirteen

acres in Norton fields, paying 6s., and each giving

fourteen days' work within the year, and all together

tilling four portions of land in autumn. The North-

meadows were in the bishop's hands. Norton paid

;Js. for toll of ale. The whole vill provided two milch

cows.

In Hatfield's Survey, the tenants are distinguished into

tenants in drengage, free tenants, bond tenants, selfodes,

cottagers, and tenants by exchequer rents. Sir Roger Ful-

thorpe, Knt., held Adam de Normantan's tenure in

drengage, which, from an intermediate occupier, was

now called Lucas-ford, comprising two messuages and a

carucate of eight oxgangs, each containing fifteen acres.

The whole of the services were commuted for 9s. lOd.

rent at Michaelmas, and lOs. exchequer rent. Sir Roger

held twenty-nine acres besides, once Master John of Nor-
ton's, called Trumperland, under 6s. 8d. rent. Robert

Johnson and Robert Spurner were free tenants. There
were twenty-four bond tenants, each holding two oxgangs,

at the usual rents and services. Every two of them were

privileged to erect a booth at St. Cuthbert's fair ; and
when required, they were, in every year, to build a

house, 40 feet long and 15 wide. The selfodes, or

self-holds, paid 3d. to the lord yearly. The punder
paid fourscore hens at Christmas and five hundred eggs

at Easter. There were eleven cottagers. The tenants

held two acres and a rood called Punderland, and paid

2s. 7d. William Etys and three others held the

common forge, 18d. John Mageson a dovecote, 6d.

The tenants paid 66s. 8d. for the common bakehouse,

lOs. for toll of ale, and 12s. in lieu of two milch cows.

The Norton, Stockton, and Hartburn mills, were let

with their lands, Milnecrock, Seggecrock, Crawcrock,

and Longacre. The exchequer lands were those formerly

held by bond tenants. The holders of them carried

timber and millstones for Norton and Stockton mills,

and ground their corn at a thirtieth part multure.

Whenever the bishop repaired or rebuilt his manor-

house at Stockton, they were to carry his timber for

that purpose ; and they were also to carry the bishop's

wine from Tees water into his cellar at Stockton, by

virtue of their oath, and by tenure of the manor. All

these services were compounded for 15s. 9jd.

The records contain notices of a few scattered free-

holds. The Fulthorps and their descendants long con-

tinued to hold lands in Norton. The principal part of

the property in the parish is still held by lease, or by

copy of court roll, under the see of Durham.

The Long Fields, the Rushmires, the Crook, the

Hardwick farm and farm-house, a farm-house at the

north end of Norton village, with two cottages adjoin-

ing, and a pew in the church, the property of John

Peacock, Esq., were sold on his decease, in 1851 ; when

the Hardwick farm, containing 118 a. 2 r. 22 p., was

purchased by John Grey, Esq. ; the Crook, containing

37 A. 2 E. 18 p., by John Fox, Esq. ; and the farm-

house, cottages, pew, and Rushmires and Long Field,

containing 32 a. Ok. 19 p., by W. Colpitts, Esq., on

whose decease they became the property of his nephew,

Christopher Colpitts, Esq.

The White House estate, containing about 186

acres, with the ornamental cottage called Bath House,

were sold, some years ago, by the trustees of the Rev.

C. Anstey, to Thomas Robinson Grey, Esq.

Norton water-mill, situated to the east of the village,

on the road to Billingham, pays all parochial rates to

Stockton.

Whilst the wapentake of Sadberge was in the crown.

King Henry II. granted a weekly market to Norton

on the Lord's day. The king makes known, by deed

directed " to Thomas Arclib. and to all viscounts and

barons and all his faithful subjects, French and English,

in Everwicscira [Durham was so designated in the days

of Alfred] and Northumberland, that he had granted to

Ralph, Bishop of Durham, to hold a market in Nortun,

on every Lord's day, requiring the peace to be kept

with all those frequenting the market ; and granting

such customs as were in use in all his sundry markets
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throughout England." To this charter, or grant,

Robert, Bishop of Lincoln, Nigil de Albini, and

Robert de Brus, -were -witnesses, at York.* The ne-
\

cessity for this market may be surmised from the extent

of the parish, which then included Stockton, Hartburn,
[

and Preston, the people from whence were under the

necessity of passing sometimes through " rayny fludes,"

to the parish church on Sundays.

THE CHURCH.

Norton church stands on the highest groxind in the

village towards the north. Its shape was originally

cruciform, with a square central tower ; but the south

transept has been considerably shortened. The nave

has regular side aisles, each formed by two cylindrical

pillars, with capitals of light round mouldings, and

pointed arches. Four circular arches support the tower.

There are traces of pilasters and carving near the

altar. The chancel formerly contained stalls for the

prebendaries.

In 1823, the church underwent considerable repairs

and restorations. The side walls of the western part

were entirely taken down and rebuilt, so as to enclose a

larger area ; and the space thus gained, added to the

erection of two galleries, allowed room for constructing

twelve appropriate new pews, and nearly 350 sittings,

which are to be free and unappropriated for ever for

the use of the poor : the church is consequently calcu-

lated to accommodate 850 persons. The front of the

south transept was rebuilt, with a handsome lancet

window. The stone-work of the chancel was re-fronted,

in conformity with the original. The eastern window,

which consists of three lights under a low arch, was

* "I do not think the following," says Mr. Longstaffe, " has been

added to any of our county histories, though it forms a capital gloss

on the grant by this king (Henry 11.) to Bishop Flambard, of a market

at Norton, on the Lord's Day, and is extremely curious in a literary

point of view, to boot :—In Brompton's Chronicle, it is related that as

Henry was passing through Wales, on his return from Ireland, in the

spring of 1172, he stopped at Cardiff Castle, on a Sunday, to hear

mass ; after which, as he was mounting his horse to be off again, there

was presented before him a somewhat singular apparition, a man

with red hair and a round tonsure, a distinction that would seem to

imply that there were still in "Wales some priests of the olden chiirch

who held out iigainst Romish innovations, and retained the ancient

national crescent-shaped tonsure. He was lean and tail, attired in a

white tunic, and barefoot. This individual began in the Teutonic

tongue, 'GoDE olde Kisge." and delivered a command from Christ,

as he said, and his mother, from John the Baptist, and from Peter,

that he should suffer no traffic or servile works to be done throughout

his dominions on the Sabbath-day, except only such as pertained to

the use of food ; which command, if he observed, whatever he might

copied, and one on a larger scale, of fine and massy

proportions, inserted at the western end of the church.

The north side of the chancel was also ornamented by

two large Gothic windows, exactly corresponding with

those on the south side. The expenses were defrayed

by the Rev. C. Anstey, vicar, assisted by subscriptions

from Bishop Barrington, the London Society for the

Enlargement of Churches and Chapels, the Ven. Arch-

deacon Prosser, Lord Crewe's trustees, A. Anstey

Calvert, Esq., and the Rev. — Marwood, of Busby

Hall.

Two of the old bells of the church were dated 1607

and 161S, and the third was inscribed " Venite exulte-

mus Domino, 1664, R. D." The largest of these

remains ; but the next in size, being cracked, was sold

for old metal, and the smallest was purchased by J.

Shields Peacock, Esq., and presented to the Town Hall

at Middlesborough : two new bells were made for

the parish by Mears of London.

The south transept was anciently called " Pity

Porch," from an image or altar to Our Lady of Pity.

In the north transept, called " Blakiston Porch," are

several monuments to the Davisons of Blakiston. A
small gallery was erected in this porch in 1854, by the

vicar and G. F. H. Russell, Esq. (now Viscount Boyne),

for the Sunday-school children.

A recumbent eiEgy, which formerly lay in Blakiston

porch, is now placed on the south side of the chancel,

within the altar-rails. The figure is in armour, with a

rich canopy of tabernacle work over the head, which

is uncovered. The hands are elevated and the legs

crossed, the feet resting on a lion in the act of destroy-

ing some animal. A small figure, in the attitude of

reading, is placed near the feet. The sword is sheathed

;

undertake, he might easily accomplish. Although only the three

first words are chronicled in what the writer calls Teutonic (i. e.

Saxon or English), there can be no doubt that the rest, though recorded

in Latin, was in the aame, and it appears that the king understood

English, though he might not be able to speak it, for he, speaking in

Frerwh, desired his attendant soldier to ask the rustic if he had

dreamed all this. The soldier (who must have spoken both lan-

guages) made the inquiry accordingly, in English, when the man

replied to the king, in the same langiuige as before, ' Whether I have

dreamed it or no, mark this day ; for, unless thou shalt do what I

have told thee, and amend thy life, thou shalt within a year's time

hear such news as thou shalt mourn to the day of thy death.' Then

he vanished, and calamities thickened on the perverse king. His

profane market at Norton waned and fell, and, like the heap at

Oxenhale, the place of the market cross is marked by a large pool,

called Cross Dyke, which, as dyke is applied to any thing formed by

digging, may have been artificially caused. Some years ago, I re-

member its being perfectly dry in a hot summer, but was too young

to observe whether any remains of the cross foundation existed."
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and tlie shield bears the arms of Blakiston, Surtees,

Bowes, Dalden, and two of Conyers. These could not

have been borne by any of the Blakiston family before

1586, which is too late a date for the effigy. Tradition

assigns the figure to Thomas Blakiston, who died in

1484 ; and it has been inferred that the arms were sub-

sequently sculptured on the blank shield.

A handsome and powerful organ, with barrels for

playing thirty of the best psalm tunes, is placed in a

lofty gallery beneath one of the arches of the tower : it

was the gift of the Rev. C. Anstey, who also presented

a service of communion plate, and a fine painting of the

recognition of our Saviour by the two disciples at

Emmaus, formerly an altar-piece in a Benedictine con-

vent on the continent. The Rev. C J. Plumer,

successor to Mr. Anstey, presented two silver plates for

collecting the offerings at the communion. A new font,

the gift of the present vicar, is placed at the west end

of the church. The old one, though not now used,

still remains in its place in the chancel. A window of

stained glass was placed on the south side of the chan-

cel, in 1853, by William Lloyd Wharton, Esq., of

Dryburn Lodge, Durham, the lay rector.

The burying place of the Davisons of Beamish is

near the altar-table. In other parts of the church are

monuments to Capt. Gregory, R.N., who died February

18, 1774; Admiral Policarpus Taylor, died in 1781;

William Christopher, Esq., died Novembers, 1793;*

Elizabeth, wife of the Rev. C. Anstey, &c. In the

chui'ch-yard there is an altar-tomb to Thomas Briggs,

said to have been a sufferer in the South Sea scheme,

• Captains Christopher and Fowler.—Captain AVilliam Christ-

opher, a native of Norton, and commander of one of the ships belong-

ing to the Hudson's Bay Company, was sent out by t}ie governors of

that company, in 1761, to pursue such plans as might facilitate the

discovery of a north-west passage. With this object, he sailed up

Chesterfield's Inlet in the sloop Churchill ; but, on the water turning

brackish, he returned. In the following year, the investigation was

repeated ; when Captain Christopher discovered that the inlet termi-

nated in a fresh water lake, 170 miles from the sea. He also examined

Pistol Bay, which he sailed round in an open boat, without discovering

any passage into a western sea.

When M. de lo Perouse attacked the company's factories in 1783,

two of their ships, loaded with oils, furs, &c., were respectively com-

manded by Captain Christopher and Captain Jonathan Fowler, a

native of Stockton. To obtain possession of so valuable a prize,

Perouse despatched a frigate after Cliristopher's ship, the Seahorse,

the sails of which, after a chase of some duration, were furled as if

coming to an anchor. The captain of the frigate, ignorant of the

navigation, and fcarijig that by following too closely, he might en-

danger his ship, cast anchor in reality ; when Christopher immediately

made sail for sea, and, aided by nightfall, made his escape. Perouse

hereupon burnt the factory, and made preparations for attacking Jtho

other ship in Nelson river. Fowler, however, sailed in the night,

and, on being pursued, stood in so close to the land that the French

who kept a little shop in Norton under an assumed

name, and died in 1731. There are also monuments
to several of the •vicars.

Under the Pope's command, Norton was made a

collegiate church by Bishop Carilepho, for the main-

tenance and support of the secular canons whom he

removed out of the cathedral church at Durham. The
college consisted, after 1227, of eight prebendaries,

whose incomes were estimated, in 1291, at £6 per

annum; but the total value in 1534, 26 Henry VIII.,

was £4 6s. 8d. each, or £34 13s. 4d. in the whole. The
stipends arose from part of the corn tithes of the

parish ; and the prebendaries were charged with the

repairs of the chancel. In 1533, Lancelot Thwaites,

Anthony Salvin, Nicholas Thornhill, John Tunstall,

Nicholas Lentall, Rowland Swinburn, and Jerome

Bernard, received pensions of £5 each. The tithes of

the college are now in lay hands.

From a deed of bargain and sale, dated December

11, 16th James I., there appears to have been a hermitage

at Norton, endowed with a messuage and land at Stock-

ton, " appropriated to the finding of two candles of five

shillings value in the chapel of Stockton," and of which

Thomas Salvin was incumbent.

Registers.—Book No. 1 contains entries of baptisms,

burials, and marriages from 1574 to 1713, interrupted

by No. 2, which contains baptisms and burials from

1700 to 1798, and marriages from 1700 to 1753. No.

3 contains baptisms and burials from 1799 to 1812

;

and Nos. 4 and 5, marriages from 1754 to 1812.

f

gave up the chase. After retiring from the company's service witli

considerable fortune, the two captains settled mth their families in

Stockton. Captain Fowler died at that place, June 7, 1790, aged 57,

and was interred at Eggleseliffe ; and Captain Christopher died at

Newcastle, whither he had gone for medical advice, in 1793, aged G8,

and was buried at Norton.

t The early entries iji the register are in good Latin. There "are

numerous notices of the Blakistons ofBlakiston, and of others of the

name and family. Amongst other entries :—

"Anno D'ni 1608, ye 17th of March, this yeare & daye, came

Will'm Parckhouse, one of the houshold s'vants of St Wyll'ni

Blakiston, of Blakiston, knight, & did signifye to us from his s<^ M'-
yo vicar, & church wardens of tlic p'rish of Norton, that his said M'-

wold from this day forward confyne himselfe to his maner house of

Blakiston, situate and being w'thin the p'rish of Norton, according to

the statute of confj-nment in that case p'vyded.—James Rand, vicar

of Norton. Ralph Davison. Kalph Pattinson."

3 Jan. 1635, there appears a licence granted by Gabriel Clarke,

D. D., archdeacon, &c., to allot the seats, and the parishioners ai-c to

be placed "in decent maner accordinge to theu- ranks, degrees, and

qualities.

" In consequence of the above. Imp" Mr. Davison of Blaixton, shall

sitt in the scate ne.\t unto the ehanccll one the north side, where he
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Norton is a vicarage in the deanery of Stockton ; the

Bishop of Durham, patron ; the holders of the college

tithes, imp. King's Books, £31 lis. Sjd. ; Tenths,

£3 OS. Ifd. ; Episc. proc, 17s.: Synodals, lis.;

Archid., 4s. Dedication to the Vii-gin.

Vicars.—Bartholomeus, 1234 ; Thomas Persona de Norton, circ.

1236 (witness to Bishop Poor's ordination of Stockton chapel) ; W.
dc Bromham, 1255 ; J. de Barnhaughe, 1282 ; N. de Derlington,

12S3, p. res. Barnhaughe ; E. de Dalton, 1310, p. m. Derlington ; "W.

de Stafford, 1335, p. m. Dalton ; J. de. Wyghton, 1345, p. m. Stafford

;

K. de Habington, 1354, p. m. Wyghton; J. de Seton, 1361, p. res.

Habington; H. Graspois, 1362, p. res Seton; R. de 'V\Tiiteby, 1365,

p. res Graspois ; J. de Billeston, 1380, p. m. 'WTiiteby ; W. Lathom,

1394, p. m. Billeston; J. de Cokyn, 1407, p. m. Lathom (official to

Bishop Skirlaw, 1400) ; R. Bromley (on whose complaint Cardinal

Langley ordered the canons of Norton to repair the chancel), 1410,

p. m. Cokyn ; J. Hunteman, S.T.B. (dean of Lanchester, chancellor

of Lincoln, and prebendary of Sutton in the Marsh), 1416, p. m.

Bromley; J. Rande, 1427, p. m. Hunteman; R. Kellowe, 1430 ; T.

Hoton, 1438 ; R. Bates, 1452 ; W. Appleby, A.M., occurs 1496

;

J. Claymond,* A.M., 1498 ; L. Collynson, C.L.B. (nephew to

Archbishop Baj-nbrigg, treasurer of York 1514, prebendary of

Wcighton 1509), p. res. Claymond; R. HUdyard, S.T.B., 1533; J.

Rudd, S.T.P., 1539 ; B. Gilpin (rector of Houghton-le-Spring),

1554, p. depr. Rudd ; R. Dalton, S.T.B. (prebendary of the 7th stall,

of the family of Dalton of West Auckland), 1556, p. res. Gilpin

;

J. Rudd again, 1558, p. depr. Dalton; J. Rande, A.M., 1578 (pre-

bendary of the 1st stall at Durham, and prebendary of Litchfield)

;

A. Peme, A.M. (of Peter House, Cambridge, proctor 1615, chaplain

to Bishop Neile), 1621, p. m. Rande; E. Gower, S.T.B. (resigned

for Stanhope), 1640, p. m. Peme; P. Mallory, A.M. (a younger son

of Sir Mallory, of Studley, co. York, occurs for the last time

March 20, 1644, ejected and went to the West Indies in Prince

Rupert's fleet), 1640, p. res. Gower; R. Brough, an intruder, 1645-

16.59; A. SmaUwood, 1661; T. Davison, A.M., 1663; T. Rudd,

A.M., 1 690, p. depr. Davison (he allowed his predecessor the income

for life, and continued to act as his curate ; also vicar of St. Oswald's)

;

J. Forster, A.M., 1712, p. res. Rudd; W. Sisson, A.M., (FeUow of

St. John's College, Cambridge, rector of Markshall, Essex, in 1723),

1746, p. m. Porster ; W. Vaughan, A.M. (chaplain to Bishop

usith to sitt, and for his servants and tenants to sitt in the north porch,

wh is called by the name of Blaixton porch.

" As for men servants w^h cannot read, we appoynt them for to sitt

in the south porch, called by the name of Pettie porch ; and as for

wome' servants, for to be placed to kneele down in the middle ally,

nere the font. Order signed, And. Pern, vicar. M.armad. Chapman,

Richard Halliman, churchwardens."

"Marriage comes in on the 13th of January, and at Septuagesimo

Sunday it is out again until Low Sunday, at %vc'' time it comes in

again, & goes not out till Rogation Sunday, thence it is \xuforbidden

until Trinity Sunday, from thence it is forbidden till Advent Sunday,

and comes not in again till ye 13 of January."

Several German otScers and soldiers, who belonged to the Duke of

Cumberland's army in 1745, were buried at Norton, and registered in

the books.

" The heart and bowells of the right honourable James Earl of

Weerays, bur. 22 March, 1756. The remains was buried with his

ancestors at AVeemys Castle in Scotland, the 8th day of April." He
had resided in Norton from the time of the rebellion in 1745.

* Dr. Clatmoxd.—John Claymond was bom at Frampton, Lin-

cobishire, and educated at Oxford, where he was made FeUow of

Egerton, resigned for Haughton-le-Skeme), 1773, p. m. Sisson; G.

Johnson, A.M. (prebendary of Lincoln, and rector of Lofthouse, co.

York), 17—, p. res. Vaughan ; C. Anstey, A.M., 1786, p. m.

Johnson ; C. J. Plumer, 1828, p. m. Anstey ; Hon. F. N. Clements,

A.B., 1849, p. res Plumer.

At the general array of the clergy on Gilesgate Moor,

in 1400, the vicar of Norton furnished one lancer and

two archers.

On the 15th December, 1625, John Harperley, of Stockton,

naving been convicted of incest, performed penance in Norton church

and Stockton chapel. " AAT" day hour and place he being precog-

ni2ed appeared and confessed, and was enjoined acknowledgment in

penitential manner in the churches of Norton and Stockton w^ he

performed, & had also been ordered to perform the like penance at

y» market crosses of Durham and Dameton w^ he commuted and

paid £6 for j-e same, and therefore desired that he might be no fur-

ther proceeded against—ordered to enter into recognizance in £40

and sureties £20 each, and to certify before 12 June next."

The vicarage-house, which was much improved by

the Rev. C. Anstey, stands near the church on the

south-east; it is surrounded by fine plantations, and

ornamented with luxuriant gardens. The glebe con-

sists of above 270 acres. The gross annual income of

the living is stated at £379, subject to a permanent

payment of £1. From the remainder, £80 a-year is

paid to a curate. In 1840-41, Mr. Plumer made a claim

for hay and small tithes, which the parishioners thought

had been covered by modus. The facts were laid

before the Tithe Commission in London, whose decision

was in favour of the vicar. A commutation was made

for £80 in lieu of all small tithes. There is a manor

court within that of the bishop, held by the vicar, and

probably derived from the collegiate establishment.

One of these courts has been held since the induction

of the present vicar.

Magdalen College in 1488. On entering into holy orders, he became

famous for his learning, piety, and gravity, and was much esteemed

by Bishop Fox, by whom, when Bishop of Winchester, Claymond

was made ^rs? president of Corpus Christi College, then newly esta-

blished, 1516. On resigning the living of Norton in 1518, he reserved

to himself a yearly pension from it of 20 marks, to be paid by the

abbot and convent of Selby, Yorkshire. He published " Notae &
Observationes in Plinii Naturalem Historiam," and left several works

in MS. During the latter part of his life, he took the Eucharist every

day, and died at a good old age, November 19, 1537. By his last

will, he bequeathed £480 to the college, to purchase lands for the

maintenance of six scholarships in Brazenose College, one of whom
was to be elected from Norton or Stockton ; one from Frampton, his

birth-place ; one from Oveston, Havant, or Mattisfont, in Hampshire

;

one from Benager, near Wells, or from Moncheton, near Taunton, in

Somersetshire ; one from Cleeve, in Gloucestershire ; and one from

the city or county of Oxford. These scholars were called Clay-

mondines, and at present Clemmondines. By the practice oi the

college, and with the consent of its president, they are reduced to

three ; and the allowance to each is £2 per quarter.
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CHARITIES.

School.—Certain lands in the parish, for the support

of the school, have been held under the see of Durham,

on leases for three lives, at least since the year 1650.

The dwelling-house, garden, and school-room, which

are freehold, are on the north side of the village green,

and are occupied by the master rent-free. There are a

bakehouse and oven in Norton, formerly let at £6 10s.

rent, but now at £3 10s. ; a close called Lady Kiln

Garth, with the toft on which Lady Kiln formerly

stood, in Portrack Lane, containing about 4 acres, and

let (with other lands mentioned below) at £10 a year;

an acre of arable land which the Lady Kiln occupied,

the site unknown, but in respect of which the vicar

formerly paid £2 IDs., now £2 ; and the Hermitage

Garth, containing \\ rood, formerly let at 15s.; but

now sold to Mr. W. Wilkinson, subject to a payment

to that amount. In addition to the above, Lord Crewe,

in 1720, granted two fields in Darlington Lane, con-

taining about 5 acres, now let with the Lady Kiln

Garth ; about 2 acres of meadow land in " The Bottom,"

let at a yearly rent of £5 ; and a cottage and garden,

let at £6 6s. The total quantity of land is 12 a. 2 r.

33 p. The following is the rental table for May, 1855,

from which are deducted the bishop's annual out-rents,

the renewal fines, and repairs :

—

John Manners, for land

Jonathan Jackson

Thomas Hall, cottage

Elizabeth Smith, cottage

John Fox, land

John Brown, bakehouse .

.

Gross

In respect of these emoluments, the master, Mr. Bell,

is required to teach six boys of the parish, appointed

by the vicar, without any charge. They are not ad-

mitted until they can read, write, and have a know-

ledge of the first four rules in arithmetic, when they are

instructed in the classics. There are at present 55

other boys attending the school (seven of whom are

boarders), who pay for their instruction. The present

trustees are, John Hogg, Esq., Rev. C. J. Plumer,

M.A., and— Cartwright, of Durham, recently deceased.

On the death of the second trustee, the survivor

appoints two as successors, with the approbation of the

bishop.

Thompson's Charity.—John Thompson, by deed, 1st

Geo. I., gave certain lands in the parish, producing

£6 3s. per annum, in trust for the poor and for uphold-

VOL. II.
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Thank you for purchasing from Ebay Shop Retromedia

http://stores.shop.ebay.co.uk/retromedia


212 STOCKTON WARD—SOUTH-WEST DIVISION.

of Edward IV., Edward Park, Esq., in vain en-

deavoured to recover the estate from the Blakistons, by

suit in the court of the prior of Durham.

The family of Blakiston, thus secured in the posses-

sion of the ancient manor, continued to advance in wealth

and importance. In 1483, an inquest on Thomas

Blakiston, Esq., describes the manor as containing a

hall, pantry, and buttery, six chambers, a kitchen, a

stable, and other buildings, an orchard, 44 oxgangs,

each of 15 acres, 60 acres of meadow, and 100 of pasture,

worth annually altogether, £20.

Marmaduke, a younger son of Thomas Blakiston, of

Blakiston, Esq., was attainted for his share in the

rebellion of 1569. William Blakiston, who married

Alice, daughter of William Claxton, Esq., of Wynyard,

November 26, 1581, -was knighted at Whitehall, July

23, 1603. Sir Thomas Blakiston, his son, who was

created a baronet in 1615, sold the estate in the same

year, after it had belonged to his ancestors for 300

years.*

Alexander Davison, merchant, of Newcastle, became

the purchaser of Blakiston. He was charged with a

horse for the service of Charles I., and was afterwards

knighted ; at the age of 80, he was slain, with his

youngest son Joseph, during the gallant defence of

• Sir William, son of Sir Thomas, was a colonel in the service of

Charles I. He refused to compound for his estates, and afterwards

underwent a long imprisonment in Maxtoke Castle, Warwickshire.

Newcastle. Thomas Davison, Esq., his eldest son and

successor, married Elizabeth, daughter of William

Lambton, of Lambton, Esq., and compounded for his

estates for £1,412. On the restoration, he was knighted,

and made high sheriff of Durham by patent, July 30,

1661. He died in 1667. His grandson, Thomas

Davison, of Blakiston, Esq., married, first, Anne,

daughter of Sir John Bland, of Kippax, Yorkshire, and

afterwards Theophila, daughter of Charles Turner, Esq.,

of Kirkleatham. Thomas Davison, Esq., his eldest son

by his first marriage, married Martha, daughter of

William Hoar, of Limehouse, by whom he had issue

Thomas, born January 8, 1744-5, who took the

additional name of Bland (since borne by his de-

scendants), and resided at Kippax Park. The old hall

at Blakiston, on which were sculptured the Blakiston

arms, was taken down, and the materials sold at Stock-

ton. The manor of Blakiston was sold, about 50 years

ago, to William Russell, Esq., of Brancepeth Castle,

and became, in right of the heirs of that family, the

property of G. F. H. Russell, Esq., who is now, by the

death of his father on the 30th of March, 1855, Viscount

Boyne.

The deputation of the manor and other lands in

Norton is granted to Thomas-Robinson Grey, Esq.

His estates, valued at £600 per annum, were returned to him at the

Restoration. The title expired in him ; and the other branches of

the family have declined like the original stock.

PAEISH OF ELTON.

IHE little parish of Elton is bounded by the township of Hartburn in the parish of Stockton on the east, by the J

parishes of Norton and Redmarshall on the north, by Bishopton on the north-west, and by Long-Newton on theJ

south-west and south. It forms but one township or constablery.

Elton contains an area of 1,419 acres. Its population,

at the six decennial periods of enumeration, was 78,

76, 105, 103, 92, and 84. Of the latter number, who
inhabited 22 houses, 38 were males, and 46 females.

The value of property assessed for the county-rate in

1853 was £895.

The amount received in poor-rates, in the parish of

Elton, during the year ended Lady-day, 1854, was £50

5s. ; and receipts in aid of the rates, 17s. The ex-

penditure for in-maintenance was £1 16s.; out-relief,

£28 15s. ; workhouse loan repaid, and interest thereon.

£1 12s.; salaries and rations of officers, £4; other ex-

penses connected with relief, £1 13s. ; total, £37 6s.

Costs of law and equity proceedings, 14s. ; constables'

expenses and costs before magistrates, 5s. ; vaccination,

lis.; payments on registration fees to clergymen, £1

13s. ; towards county and other rates, £15 2s. ; re-

gistration, 8s. ; for other purposes, £3 18s. : total ex-

penditure, £58 9s.

The village of Elton is situated on the road between

Stockton and Darlington, about three miles from

the former place. It contains but few pri^rate
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residences j* there is a blacksmitli's shop, and a beer

shop. A. parish constable resides in the village. From

this little hamlet, four persons joined the rebellion of

1569, one of whom suffered death.

Elton Hall, the property and residence of John-

Stapylton Sutton, Esq., is a handsome modern mansion,

the plantations and grounds about which were designed

and planted by George Sutton, Esq. Elton Hall

estate also received great improvements from the taste

of Lieut.-colonel Sleigh, of Stockton, Mr. Sutton's

nephew ; he built an elegant green-house, and occupied

the mansion for a few years previous to his death. The

Elton beck intersects the grounds. A stone, originally

brought from Stockton Castle, and afterwards preserved

in a farm-yard wall at Hartburn, is now inserted in a wall

on the grounds at Elton. It represents two couchant

lions, about three feet in length and one in breadth.

Elton, with Barmton and Skerningham, were given

by Bishop Aldhune, as a marriage portion with his

daughter Ecgfrida, to Uchtred, Earl of Northumberland,

who, tiring of her, sent her back to her father, and her

possessions were restored to the church. She afterwards

married Kilvert, a Yorkshire thane, who also sent her

back ; and at last she became a nun, and was buried in

the cemetery at Durham.

William de Homez is mentioned as the proprietor of

the manor of Elton in the time of Bishop Philip de

Pictavia. It was afterwards held, for several descents,

by the Gowers, from whom, in 1546, one moiety de-

scended to Lawrence Tregoz or Thorowgood. The
other moiety had become vested, before 1435, in the

family of Bowes, and afterwards passed to Sir

Cuthbert CoUingwood, by marriage with Dorothy,

daughter and coheiress of Sir George Bowes, of Dalden.

By Sir Cuthbert it was sold, in 1573, to Thomas

• " The oldest Woman in the Wobld."—Mary Benton, whose
maiden n«me was Lodge, was bom, it has been stated, on the 1 2th

of February, 1731, at Raby Moor House, while called Lodge's House,

near Keverstone, but in the parish of Cockfield. Her father,

Mr. Ralph Lodge, lived to the age of 106 years. In early life, she

resided with her grandmother, who kept an inn at Piercebridge. Up
to the period of her death, she had a vivid remembrance of the

soldiers being quartered there during the rebellion in 1745, and the

terror inspired in the neighbourhood at that period.

" Then she graced a village scene,

When the bold ' Pretender' came.

Can this being then have been ?

Can she be the very same ?

She was then 'a growing girl,'

In King George the Second's day,

Who his banner did unfurl,

To drive the intruding Scot away.

Sergeantson, of Preston-le-Skerne, and John-Thomas

and Christopher Jefferson, of Elton. The heiress of

the family of Jefferson intermarried with Thomas Hogg,

Esq., whose descendants, Thomas and John Hogg,

Esqrs., of Norton, still hold a portion of the estate and

a third of the advowson.

The first-named moiety of Elton became settled in the

Erringtons. Jolm Errington of Elton, Esq., was a

colonel in the service of Charles I., and named a de-

linquent in the ordinance of parliament 1644. On the

petition of his wife, Mrs. Mary Errington, a fifth part

of his estates at Elton, Egglescliffe, and elsewhere, was

allowed for the maintenance of herself and her family.

He died in 1666 ; and John Errington, his son, who
had also been a lieutenant-colonel in King Charles's

army, sold his estate in Elton, in 1682, to Robert

Shafto, Esq., recorder of Newcastle. It was sold some

years ago, by John Shafto, of Whitworth, Esq., to

Thomas Wade, of Fatfield, Esq., for £11,000, from

whose trustees it was rececently purchased by J. S.

Sutton, Esq. This manor comprises 783 A. 2 e. 19 p.,

divided into four farms.

The property of the Suttons is also derived from the

Jeffersons. Rachael, daughter of — Jefferson, Esq.,

married, in 1693, Thomas Sutton, Esq., of Stockton and

Hartburn, and had, with three other children, who all

died without issue, William Sutton, Esq., born in 1701.

He married, in 1727, Mary, daughter of J. Watson,

Esq., of Stockton, and had issue, George, his heir ;

John, of the Hon. East India Company's service,

married to Mary, daughter of Edward Bunting, Esq., of

Stockton ; and Mary, married to Charles Bathurst

Sleigh, Esq., of Arkindale, Yorkshire.

Mr. Sutton died April 4, 1769, and was succeeded

by his son, George Sutton, Esq., born June 26, 1735.

And the soldiers quartered there

Praised her neat and modest mien.

Her rosy cheek and raven hair

In budding brightness then were seen."

Her husband's name was John Benton, a butcher, with whom she

resided at Long-Newton ; but being a " a graceless and a spenthrift,"

she separated herself from him shortly after their marriage. During

her latter years, Mrs. Benton lived with her aged and only daughter

at Elton. She was regarded with much interest in the neighbour-

hood ; and her cottage was frequently the resort of visitors, whose

bounty assisted in making her comfortable. Her form was bent

;

but her conversation w.is free and lively ; her eye, though dimmed,

was intelligent ; she was able to dispense with the assistance of

spectacles to the last. At length, " the old woman of Elton," as she

was called, breathed her last, and was buried on the 7th of J.inuary,

18.53. The inscription on the coffin plate stated her age to be 117
;

but, if the above date of her birth be correct, she must have been in

her 122nd year.
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He -was a magistrate for the county of Durham, and mar-

ried, in 1780, Grace, youngest daughter of William

Horsfall, Esq., Storthes Hall, in the West Riding of

Yorkshire ; but dying without issue, February 4, 1817,

at the advanced age of 82, he bequeathed his estates to

his grand-nephew, George-William Hutchinson, who as-

sumed, in consequence, the surname and arms of Sutton

(see Whitton). This gentleman married, April 21,

1824, Olivia, second daughter of Henry Stapylton,

Esq., of Norton, senior male descendant of the ancient

family of Stapylton of Slyton, and had issue two sons

and three daughters. John-Stapylton Sutton, Esq.,

second son, born November 22, 1832, is the present

possessor of Elton Hall. He married, April 26, 1855,

Sarah-Jefferson, youngest daughter of John Charles

Maynard, Esq., of Hauxley Hall, Northallerton.

Arms—Gu., a castle or, thereon a stork, ppr., for Sutton, quartering

the ensigns of Sleigh and Bathurst.

Crest— A. stork, ppr., holding in the dexter claw a rose, and charged

on the neck with a cross-patee, gu.

Vieicly Hill farm, containing 207 a. r. 23 p., is

the property of John Leaper, Esq., Hull.

THE CHURCH.

The church is an humble edifice, capable of accom-

modating 100 persons, and consists of a nave, chancel,

and south porch. On the western gable is a bell turret,

containing two small bells, and surmounted by a cross ;

and a cross is also placed on the gable of the chancel.

1'he roof is of slate. The church was nearly all rebuilt

by the Rev. A. Wade in the third year of his incumbency.

A circular arch divides the nave and chancel. A vestry

is attached to the north side of the chancel. On the

south side of the nave are three pointed windows, two

on the same side of the chancel, and one on the north ; in

all of which the plain sashes, previously introduced, have

been removed, and are replaced by diamond-cut glass.

The east window contains representations of the Cruci-

fixion and Resurrection in stained glass, erected to the

memory of the late G. W. Sutton, Esq., by his widow.

A recumbent effigy, which formerly lay beneath an arch

in the north wall of the nave, is now placed within the

altar rails. It represents a knight in armour, supposed

to be one of the Gowers. The head, which wears a

close cap, rests on a pillow ; the face is uncovered, the

hands are clasped on the breast, the legs crossed, with

spurs on the heels, and the feet resting on a lion.

Registers.—Books Nos. 1 and 2 contain entries of

baptisms and burials from 1573 to 1812, and marriages

from 1573 to 1753 ; and No. 3, marriages from 1754 to

1812.

Advowson.—From William de Homez, the advow-

son of Elton passed to the Gowers and Boweses, and

afterwards to the Erringtons and Jeffersons ,• the former

having two turns, and the latter one. The Erringtons'

right of presentation passed, with their property to the

Shaftos, and is now held by J. S. Sutton, Esq. ; and

the turn of the Jeffersons is supplied by T. and J. Hogg,

Esqrs.

Elton rectory, a discharged living, is in the deanery

of Stockton. King's Books, £7 6s. 5|d. ; Tenths,

14s. 7|d.; Episc. proc, 6s. 8d. ; P'duob. Syn., 2s.;

Archid. proc, 2s. Dedication

Rectors.—W. de Ellewike, 1311; T. Trowell ; J. de Brafferton,

1378, p. res. Trowell : "W. de Percebrigg, 1403; R. Toppyng, 1435:

p. m. Percebrigg ; J. Bowes, cap., 1495; P. Balyt, 1519; J. Saver,

cap., 1536; T. Wright. 1567; R. Blaxton, 1571, p. depr. Wright;

T. Bell, 1595; R. Colraore (second son of Clement Colmore, chancel-

lor of the diocese of Durham ; pres. by Bishop Neile by lapse), 1608 ;

R. Thursby, A.M. (pres. by Bishop Neile by lapse), 1619, p. res. Col-

more ; W. Murray, A.B., 1621, p. res. Thursby; T. Maikendale,

1649 ; H. Doughtie, A.M., 1668, p. m. Markendale ; T. Mawman,
1709 (a Nonjuror, and deprived 1716; died at Stockton 1763), p. m.

Doughtie; W. Russell, 1716, p. depr. Mawman ; J. Rowntree, cl.,

1758, p. m. Russell; T. Ewbank, A.M., 1804, p. m. Rowntree; A.

Wade, A.B., 1840, p. m. Ewbank; J. Milner, 1855, p. m. Ward.

By a terrier, July 23, 1788, the glebe consists of the

site of the rectory adjoining the church-yard, with a

stable, barn, fold-yard, and nearly an acre of groimd

called the Ashes in the east, a small orchard or

garden on the north, and a plot of ground planted

with fruit-trees on the south; two fields on the

south of the road leading from Darlington to Stockton,

the one estimated at 11, the other at 10 acres, abutting

on lands of George Sutton, Esq., west, on Coatham

grounds south, and on the high road to Yarm east

;

and four fields, respectively of 18, 11, and 10 acres, on

the north side of the same road from Darlington to

Stockton, abutting on the grounds of George Sutton,

Esq., on the west, north, and east.

About the year 1641, the rector entered into a com-

position for £22 10s. in lieu of tithes, which was

acquiesced in by his successors until 1804, when the

Rev. T. Ewbank filed a bill in the Court of Exchequer

against the land-owners, to compel the payment of

tithes in kind. The court directed an issue in Easter

Term, 1813; and the cause was tried by a special jury

at Durham assizes, and a verdict found for the rector.

i The defendants ha\-ing moved for a new trial, the case
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came on before the barons In Hilary Term, 1814, when

the court, after hearing counsel on both sides, dismissed

the application, and decreed payment of tithes in kind,

vrlih costs both in law and in equity.

The gross income of the living is stated at £180 per

annum, upon which are charged permanent annual

payments to the amount of £10, leaving a net sum of

£170 a year.

PARISH OF LONG-NEWTON.

I
This parish is bounded by the township of Preston in the parish of Stockton on the east, by Elton and

Bishopton on the north-east and north, by the chapelry of Sadberge on the west, by Middleton St. George on

the south-west, and by Egglescliffe on the south and south-east. It forms only one township or constablery,

which includes Coatham-Conyers, or Coatham-Stob, and Goosepool, which is a part of West Hartburn.

The parish of Long-Newton occupies an area of 4,544

acres. The population in 1801, was 295, and fluctuated,

at the succeeding periods of enumeration, as follows :

—

253, 338, 313, 293, and 325. Of the latter number,

181 were males and 144 females ; and there were, at

the same date, 68 inhabited houses and 1 uninhabited.

The value of property assessed for the county-rate in

1853 was £3,224 14s.

During the year ended Lady-day, 1854, the amount

of poor-rates in the parish of Long Newton was

£137 18s. ; and receipts in aid of rates, £2 lis. Con-

nected with relief, £8 4s. was paid for in-maintenance

;

£84 15s. for out-relief; £6 for workhouse loan and

interest; £12 7s. for salaries and rations of officers, &c.

;

and £5 2s. for other expenses; total, £116 8s. Con-

stables' expenses and costs before magistrates, 17s.

;

vaccination, 2s. ; payments on registration fees to

clergymen, 17s. ; towards county or other rates,

£55 5s. ; registration, 6s. ; for other purposes, £9 8s.;

total expenditure, £183 3s.

The parish contains upwards of twenty farms. In

passing through this parish, the Stockton and Darling-

ton railway extends along 1m. 3f. 125 y., and covers

an area of 8a. Or. 21 p. In 1851, when the gross

• The followmg document refers to the sporting establishment kept
at Long-Newton by Sir H. V. Tempest :

—

"A Reward of one hukdeeu Gdineas.—Longnewton, October
16, 1798. Whereas the racing stables belonging to me at this

place were broken open on the 10th instant, about twelve o'clock at

night, or betwixt that and two o'clock on the following raomin", and
a mare called Lady Sarah most barbarously treated, and actually left

for dead :—I do hereby offer a reward of one hundred guineas to

any person or persons who shall discover the party or parties con-
cerned in this inhuman transaction—the said reward to be paid on
conviction of the offender or offenders.

"The mare was matched for five hundred guineas (play or pay)
against a mare of Mr. Thomas Burden's, at Stainton Vale, to be run
the next Doncaster races.

VOL. II.

amount of local rates collected was £180, the railway

contributed £24; and in the following year, it con-

tributed £26 13s. towards an amount of £247 13s.

The village of Long-Newton extends, about half a

mile in length, along the road between Stockton and

Darlington, to within 4J miles of the former, and 6

miles of the latter town. The houses are irregularly

built, and scattered along the sides of the road. The
village contains a county police station, a school,

attended by between 60 and 70 children, a public-house,

a beer-shop, the shops of blacksmiths and cartwrights,

and a few other tradesmen. The family mansion of the

Vanes, which was a large brick house, was, after being

some time let in tenements, taken down many years

ago. The outer walls and entrance gate remain, and

the ground is in grass and orchard.*

Long-Newton Was anciently a member of the great

lordship of Gainford, or was held under it by the

Baliols. A convention occurs in 1231, between Bishop

Poor and John de Baliol, by which the bishop grants

that Baliol and his heirs shall hold the vill of Long-

Newton, as their ancestors held, by homage, service,

and money payments ; Baliol, with John Fitz-Robert,

Eustace de Baliol, Walter de Fountains, Henry de

" It appears that the staple of the door was forced out ; and though

several horses of considerable value, and deeply engaged, were in the

stable through which any person must have passed to get to the

loose place where Lady Sarah stood, no injury was done to any of

them.
" It is evident from the marks about her head and neck, that the

mare was attempted to be strangled with a cord; and there seems

little doubt that the party or parties concerned thought htr de-

stroyed.

" If any person can give the smallest information that may lead to

a discovery of the offender or offenders, they will be handsomely

rewarded for their trouble, either by applying to me at Wynyard, or

to Mr. Joseph Walker, of Longnewton.—H. T. Vane."

2h
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Baliol, and Nigel de Baliol, promising on their oath

that they would labour to obtain of the king that the

bishop may have the homage of Gainford, and of cer-

tain knights' fees in the wapentake of Sadberge, held of

that barony. On receiving such homage, the bishop

was to give up to Baliol all the ancient charters of the

vill of Newton.

This convention was not adhered to. Certain of

Baliol's men intruded into the church of Long-Newton,

which they occupied by armed force. Bishop Kirkham
excommunicated the oifenders, and, after they had con-

tinued forty days impenitent, caused them to be seized

by the secular arm. Hereupon, Eustace and Joceline

de Baliol, Henry Fitz-Ralph, and many others, placed

themselves, armed and provided with horse, in ambush
in a wood which the bishop and his retinue were to

pass, whom they seized, " and with swords and other

weapons did irreverently insult and most enormously

handle them." Four of the bishop's train were taken

as prisoners to Barnard Castle ; and the bishop having

complained to the king, Baliol was ordered to release

his prisoners, and make competent satisfaction to the

bishop, " that," said the royal mandate, " we may hear

no more of the matter ; otherwise we shall be obliged

to lay a differing hand to the business." (See page 6.)

After the forfeiture of the last John Baliol's lands,

Long-Newton came into the possession of the Beau-

champs, Earls of Warwick, under whom the Surtees

family held a house and 100 acres of land at 13s. 4d.

yearly. The families of Killinghall and Conyers after-

wards held lands in this parish. On the attainder of

Ralph Conyers in 1569, his estates here were forfeited

to the crown, and were granted by Queen Elizabeth, in

1573, to Sir Roger Manners, Knt.

The first of the Vane family who settled at Long-

Newton was George, fourth son of Sir Henry Vane
the elder (see page 104). He was born at Shipburne,

Kent, where he was baptized July 20, 1618. On
November 22, 1640, he received the honour of knight-

hood. He married Elizabeth, daughter and heiress of

Sir Lyonel Maddison, of Rogerley and Newcastle-

upon-Tyne, by whom he had four sons and nine daugh-

ters. On his death in 1679, he was buried in

• " An old cartwright of Long-Newton," says Mr. Longstaffe,

" who made divers articles for Dr. V;me, being unable to write, used

to make his bills out in a system of hieroglj-phics, describing the

items by rude drawings. In one of these ingenious documents, there

was a simple circle which puzzled the patrician most woefully ; he

recollected nothing of the sort being done for him, and in despair

went to the old man to make enquiries. The latter, however, was

Long-Newton church, where there is a monument to

his memory.
" His honour wonne i'th field lies here in dust

His honour got by grace shall never rust

The former fades, the latter shall faile never

For why, he was S' George once, but St. George ever."

Sir George was succeeded by his second, but eldest

surviving son, Lionel Vane, Esq., baptized July 25,

1646. He married Catherine, third daughter and at

length co-heiress of Sir George Fletcher, of Hutton,

Cumberland, by whom he had issue six sons and seven

daughters. In the parliaments elected in 1698, 1700,

and 1701, he represented the county of Durham; and

died May, 1711.

George Vane, Esq., of Long-Newton, eldest son and

heir of Lionel, was born September 18, 1685 ; married,

on the 27th September, 1722, Anne, eldest daughter

and coheiress of Gilbert Machon, Esq., of the city of

Durham, by whom he had issue four eons and four

daughters ; and died July 24, 1750.

Lionel Vane, Esq., second, but eldest surviving son

of George, succeeded to the Long-Newton estate on the

death of his father ; and died unmarried, February 20,

1793.

Sir Henry Vane, LL.D.,* fourth son of the above

George, and brother and heir of Lionel, was bom
February 26, 1728-9 ; rector of Long-Newton, 1760

;

married, March 3, 1768, Frances, daughter of John
Tempest, and sister and at length sole heiress of John

Tempest, Esq., of Wynyard and Old Durham; created

a baronet by patent, dated July 17, 1782 ; and died

June 7, 1794. His only daughter, Frances-Anne, born

April 15, 1769, married Michael-Angelo Taylor, elected

M.P. for the city of Durham in 1818, 1820, 1826, and

1830.

Sir Henry Vane, Bart., only son and heir of the

above Sir Henry, was born January 25, 1771 ; and in

1794, pursuant to the will of his uncle, John Tempest,

Esq., M.P., of Wynyard, he assumed the name and

arms of Tempest. He married, at the Marchioness of

Antrim's house, in Hanover Square, London, April 28,

1799, Anne, eldest daughter of Randall-William Mac-
donnell, Marquis and Earl of Antrim and Viscount

more accustomed to invent hieroglyphics pro tern, than to read them
when accomplished, and had completely forgotten the signification of

the mystery. ' TVTiy ,' said he, scratching his head, 'it's like a cheese

;

but, what, I niwer sould a cheese to your worship ! Cheese ! cheese

!

Oh ! I know what it is ; it's a grvndstone, and I've forgotten to put a

pop iiit' middle on't.'
"
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Dunluce, in Ireland, K.B., in her own right Countess

of Antrim, and Viscountess Dunluce. She married, se-

condly,by special license. May 14, 1817, Edmund Phelps,

Esq., who assumed the surname of Macdonnell, and died

May 30, 1852, aged 72. Her ladyship died June 30,

1834, and was succeeded in her titles by her sister.

Sir Henry Vane Tempest was elected M.P. for the city

of Durham on the death of his uncle, and also at the

election of 1796; but declined in 1800. In 1807, he

was chosen to represent the county of Durham, which

he continued to do till his death, August 1, 1813, when

the family estates became the property of his only child,

Lady Frances-Anne-Emily Vane Tempest, afterwards

Marchioness of Londonderry (see Wyntard).
On the 4th of February, 1851, the Inclosure Com-

missioners for England and Wales gave notice that the

Most Honourable Charles William, Marquis of London-

derry, had made application for an advance of £10,000,

under the provisions of the Private Money Drainage

Act, 1849, for the drainage of Lands in Long-Newton,

Eedmarshall, Sedgefield, Elwick Hail, Grindon, Billing-

ham, Kelloe, Dalton-le-Dale, Seaham, St. Oswald,

Gilesgate, Houghton-le-Spring, and Washington. On
the 2nd of April following, another notice was issued,

that a further advance of £517 was required for the

drainage of lands in Long-Newton and Elwick.

The Brocks estate, consisting of a house and 131 a. 1 r.

30 p. of freehold land, the property of Wm. Holt, de-

ceased, was advertised to be sold Feb. 23, 1853, pursuant

to a Chancery order, in a cause Fowler v. Holt.

THE CHURCH.
This edifice, which was nearly rebuilt in 1806, in the

style locally known as the Barrington, consists of a nave

and chancel, without transepts or tower, except a bell

turret; the entrance to the church is from the west.

The interior dimensions are—length of nave, 55 feet

4i in.; chancel, 33 feet 4i in.; width of chancel, 17

feet 9 in. ; nave, 20 feet 9 in. Instead of the ancient

circular arch, which formerly divided the nave and

• The funeral of the Marquis of Londonderry took place on Thurs-
day, the 16th Manh, 1854. It had been the deceased nobleman's
wish to be interred in the family burial-place of the Vanes, at Long-
Newton ; and, on the preceding Monday evening, his remains were
removed from Holdemess House, London, to the terminus of the
Great Northern Railvi-ay, at King's Cross. The mourning coaches
which followed the hearse were occupied by his sons. Lord Portarling-

ton his son-in-law, and his nephews. The officers and men of
the marquis's regiment (the 2nd Life Guards) having e-xpressed

a desire to pay the last tribute of respect to their colonel, by attending
at the station as a guard of honour to receive his remains, the assent

of the family was given ; and the whole regiment, with the colonels

chancel, there are now three narrow pointed arches,

supported by plain square pillars ; but it is in con-

templation to remove these, and replace them by

a single arch of suitable proportions and character

;

when the present flat slated roof will be superseded by

a raised one. A tower, the foundation for which is

measured out, is about to be built by the Marchioness

of Londonderry. The furniture of the chancel and the

pulpit are very plain. A silver cup and plate for the

communion service, has been presented by the present

rector, and a small barrel organ by the marchioness.

A circular baptismal font stands on the right of the

entrance ; and there is a stove in the chancel. There

is accommodation in the church for 180 persons. The

windows, which are arched, consisted for some time of

plain sashes, but these have been removed ; and each

window is divided into two lights by a stone mullion.

On the north side of the nave there are two of those

double lights, on the south side three, and one on each

side of the chancel, which contain figures, in stained

glass, of the four evangelists. The east window is in

three compartments : in the centre is a figure of the

Saviour, and on each side are representations of the

Nativity and the baptism by St. John. In the middle

window on the south side of the nave, are two highly

finished representations of St. Peter and St. Paul, in-

troduced at the expense of the rector, the Rev. T. H.

Dyke, in memory of Bishop Van MUdcrt. The whole

of the stained glass is by Mr. Wailes, of Newcastle.

The church contains, besides the monument to Sir

George Vane, above mentioned, memorials of Dame
Elizabeth, his widow, who died October 25, 1684

;

George, his grandson ; the Rev. Sir Henry Vane

;

Dame Frances Vane, his widow, died January 19,

1796; SirHenry Vane Tempest; and Hyacinthe-Sophia-

Henrietta-Charlotte Vane, infant daughter of the Mar-

quis and Marchioness of Londonderry. The last person

interred in the family vault, within the altar rails, was

the late marquis.*

From the depositions taken in 1510, on the sup-

and officers at its head, marched from the llegent's Park barracks to

the station, where the men were drawn up in double column on a part

of the platform kept clear for their accommodation, where, on the ar-

rival of the hearse, and during its continuance in the station, the band

performed "The Dead March in Saul." At Wynyard, where the

domestic chapel had been prepared for the purpose, the body was

laid in state. On the morning of the funeral, the train was headed

by nearly a hundred of the tenantry on horseback, riding two abreast.

Then followed a carriage, containing an officer of the deceased mar-

quis's household, bearing his coronet, &c., which was succeeded by

the hearse, drawn by six beautiful black horses, richly caparisoned in

fine black cloth and plumes. On each side of the hearse, the family
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pression of the Northern Rebellion, it appears that Thomas I

Collins;, churchwarden, received a commandment from

one Captain Welton and Richard Harbome, in the

queen's name, to set up the high altar and holy water

stone in the church ; that his daughter was sent to

engage Cecily Merington, Katherine Somerset, Mar-

gerie RealfF, and IsabeU Mawcr, to bring sand and

clay for the purpose ; and that John Nicholson and

Adam jMarkham were employed by Colling to do the

work. Mass was said by Harbome ; and Welton and

his company rent and made away with the church books.

All those employed in the work afterwards expressed

contrition, and prayed the queen's forgiveness.

The church-yard is planted with a grove and shrub-

bery, and is open as a lawn to the rectory. It has

recently been extended to the south, at the expense of

the present rector. In 1819, the matrix of a brass

seal was found in the ground, inscribed, " sigillum

wiLELMi DE BROc;" and on the inner circle, " g. i. k.

E. NOMEN l' ABET."

Registers.—Book No. 1 contains entries of baptisms

from 156-1 to 1655 ; burials and marriages from 1564

to 1653, interrupted by No. 2, containing baptisms and

burials from 1649 to 1773, and marriages from 1655

to 1753. Nos. 3 and 4, marriages from 1754 to 1783.

No. 5, baptisms and burials from 1774 to 1783. No.

6, baptisms, burials, and marriages, from 1783 to 1812.

Long-Newton rectory is in the deanery of Stockton ;

the Bishop of Durham, patron. King's Books, £20 ;

Tenths, £2; Episc. proc, 2s. ; Archid. proc, 2s. De-

dication to St. Mary.

arms were emblazoned on white satin, with the motto, " Milueitda

corolla draconis." After the body followed the usual accompaniment

of a soldier's funeral—his horse, led by a groom. In the first mourn-

ing coach were the chief mourners, Lord| Castlereagh, Lord Seaham,

and Lord Portarlington ; in the next were the pall-bearers, his Grace

the Duke of CleTeland, the Marquis CamJen, Lord Hatherston, and

General Bro-n-n ; and in a third were a party of the officers of the 2nd

Life Guards, who had come from London in order to pay this last

tribute of respect to their colonel. In other coaches were the clergy,

gentry, and agents connected with the deceased nobleman. At the

station of the Leeds Northern Railway, the procession was met by

the mayor, corporation, and clergy of Stockton, who conducted the

cortege to the boundary of the borough, and then returned to the

town. A short time previous to the arrival of the funeral at Long-

Newton, the Marchioness of Londonderry, Lady Portarlington, the

Marchioness of Blandford, Lady -Adelaide Law, and Viscountess Sea-

ham, who had come in private carriages, were admitted into the

church by the chancel door. ITie funeral ceremony was conducted

by the Rev. T. H. Dyke, rector, in the presence of a crowded and

deeply impressed congregation. At Durham, Sunderland, Stockton,

and Seaham Harbour, the funeral of the Lord-lieutenant of the county

was observed by the closing of shops, tolling of bells, and other public

manifestations.

Rectors.—P. de Brandon, 1259 ; A. de Pickering, 1356 ; J. Attelc*,

1360; W. de Corbrigg, 1369; T. de Thorp; T. Newham, 1410; J.

Oculshagh, 1425; R. "Wynkethly, 1428; J. Corby, 1433; R. Booth,

LL.B. (archdeacon of Durham, nephew of Archbishop Booth), 1465;

R. Leyboume, S.T.B. (rector of Sedgefield), 1497 ; L. Hutchinson,

(master of Univ. Coll. Oxon.), 1540 ; R. Dalton, S.T.P. (vicar of Bil-

lingham, preb. of the 7th stall), 1554 ; C. Rent, A.M., 1556 ; R. Hart-

bume, A.M., 1558 ; E. Bankes, A.M., 1562 ; W. Morton, A.M.,

(archdeacon of Durham, vicar of Newcastle, ob. 1620, bur. at St.

Nicholas, Newcastle), 1588. p. m. Bankes; R. Tunstall, A.M., 1616,

p. res. Morton; J. Oliver, A.M., 1662, p. m. Tunstal ; T. Baker,

S.T.B., 1687, p. m. Oliver ; J. Finney, A.M. (preb. of the 3d stall),

1690, p. depr. Baker; Michael Fenwick, A.M., 1706, p. res. Finney

for Ryton ; Thomas Rudd, A.M.* 1712 ; Christopher Mansell, A.M.,

1719, p. m. Rudd; James Douglas, A.M. (perp. curate of Witton-

Gilbert. preb. of the 4th stall), 1742, p. m. Mansel; Sir Henry Vane,

Bart., LL.D. (preb. of the 10th stall), 1760, p. res. Douglas for

Stainton ; Charles Plumptre, A.M., 1794, p. m. Vane ; George Stanley

Faber, B.D., Line. Coll. Oxon, (see vol. i., page 410), 1811, p. res.

Plumptre for Haughton-le-Skeme ; Thomas Hart Dyke, A.M., April,

1832, p. res. Faber for Mastership of Sherburn Hospital.

The parsonage, with its appurtenances, were built

by the Rev. J. Finney, rector. It is a good house,

situated to the north of the church. The following

terrier of the rectory was taken July, 1806:

—

" The glebe-land consists of ten acres equally divided into two

closes (out of one of which is a piece taken off and added to the

garden), bounded on the west and north by the lands of David Bur-

ton Fowler, Esq., on the east by the lands of Isaac Sparkes, Esq.,

Sir Henry Vane Tempest, Bart., and David Burton Fowler, Esq. ; a

garden and ground round the parsonage or mansion-house (exclusively

of the piece above mentioned) about an acre ; the parsonage or man-

sion-house ; a house for the curate, standing on the glebe next the

town-street ; a bam, a stable, and cow-house, and coal-house, and

wash-house, &c., &c., all covered with tiles, and built of brick or stone.

The parsonage or mansion-house is built partly of stone, partly of

brick, the whole plastered on the outside with rough-cast ; containing

on the ground-floor, study, with closet, dining-parlour, kitchen, with

• The Rev. Thomas Rudd was a native of AVestmoreland, and

became curate of Stockton on the 1st May, 1663, in which situation

he appears to have exercised considerable influence on the dawning

prosperity of the town. In consequence of the changes which

occurred in the government, many of the clergy found great difficulty

in taking repeated oaths of allegiance to successive monarchs ; and

amongst others, the Rev. T. Davison, vicar of Norton, and patron of

Stockton, refused to swear allegiance to William and Mary, and was

deprived; Mr. Rudd being appointed to the living, July 25, 1691.

In gratitude to his predecessor, however, Mr. Rudd allowed Mr.

Davison the use of the vicarage for Ufe, with all the profits, he finding

a curate, and Mr. Rudd only reserving to himself the income from

the chapelry of Stockton. It is supposed that his representations

were instrumental in separating the latter from the mother church,

and in procuring the erection of that at Stockton. In 1761, he be-

came vicar of St. Oswald's, Durham, and was instituted to the rectory

of Long-Newton, July 19, 1712, after having ministered in Stockton

49 years and 3 months. His death, at the age of 79, took place

on the 15th July, 1719. He was father of the Rev. Thomas Rudd,

librarian of the Dean and Chapter's Library at Durham ; and grand-

father of WUliam Rudd, Esq., of Durham, counseller-at-law, and

of the Rev. Edward Rudd, rector of Haughton-le-Skeme. A flat stone

in the chancel of Long-Newton church is inscribed to his memory.
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one small one, and passages ; all except the study floored with stone,

or plaster, or brick, and the walls plastered ; the study, with closet,

13 boarded, and the walls papered. First story—dining-room, three

bed-rooms, and two closets : floors boarded. Second story—four

small bed- rooms, three closets, two servants' gairets : all boarded

tioors. Furniture of the church—A blue cloth cover for the pulpit,

dijsk with cushion, blue cloth cover for the communion table, one

large table-cloth and napkin, a small thin silver cup, two old pewter

flaggons, one pewter plate, large Bible, three large Common Prayer

Books, the book of homilies, and an octavo collection of the occasional

serWces. The fences of the church-yard are kept in repair by the

parish, excepting the west fence, which is repaired by David Burton

Fowler, Esq. All manner of tithes is due to the rector in kind,

except that the farms at West Hartbum pay among them one shilling

and four pence per ann. only for tithe of hay. The rector receives

seven shillings per ann. for seven oxgangs at Sadberge (an old terrier

speaks of fourteen oxgangs). Also eight shillings per emn. from the

rector of Haughton. In the church-yard are two large sycamore

trees. Several others of different sorts, planted for ornament, and

being of young growth, in the church-yard and ground about the

house, and a few small ash-trees in the hedge-rows of the fields.

Charles Plumptre, rector. William Dryden, churchwarden."

The Rev. J. Douglas augmented the living consider-

ably by breaking through a composition under a suit in

Chancery, against George Vane, Esq., and others,

whereby it appeared that Bishop Cosin, the patron of

the living and ordinary of the diocese, was not a party

when the composition was made between the rector

and parishioners.

A modus of 8s. a year is paid by the incumbent of

J [aughton-le-Skeme to the rector of Long-Newton

;

and a part of the chapelry of Sadberge contributes to

tlie church-rate of this parish. The sum of 8d. is paid

to the rector from Mr. Wilson's oxgang, 8d. from Mr.
Robinson's, Is. 6d. from Mr. Harris's, 6d. for Mr.
Stokel's, and 5s. for Mr. Wilson's. At a meeting

called by the Rev. T. H. Dyke, held December 9,

1836, the tithes of the parish were commuted. The
gross annual income is now stated at £6.54, subject to

annual payments amounting to £30.

CHARITIES.

Barker's Charity.—See vol. i., p. 467. The yearly

sum of 20s., paid by the tenant of the lands charged
in East Newbiggin, is divided equally between ten

l)oor and aged persons of the parish, widows being
preferred.

Carter's Charity—The sum of £2 10s., left for the

benefit of the poor by — Carter, is vested in the hands
of the vicar for the time being, who pays 2s. 6d. yearly

as interest, which is given away to one poor person on

Candlemas day, with the produce of the preceding

charity.

COATHAM-CONYERS, oe COATHAM-STOB.

The first addition to the name of this estate is evidently

derived from the family by whom it was held ; the

second, however, has not been accounted for. The old

gable-ended mansion stands near a little brook, and is

secluded amongst trees. Much of its antique panelling

remains in the rooms. Human bones, discovered in

the vicinity, are supposed to denote the site of the do-

mestic chapel and cemetery. The estate contains 604

acres, 170 of which are rich old sward.

In the 14th century, Cotam was held of the Surteeses,

by knight's service, by the family of Conyers of Sock-

burn, and afterwards became the property of a younger

branch of the same house. Ralph Conyers, Esq., sou

of Robert Conyers, Esq., of Coatham and Long-New-
ton, forfeited his lands on engaging in the Northern

Rebellion. Queen Elizabeth granted these possessions

to Roger Manners, Esquire of the Body; those of

Long-Newton to be held by common soccage, and those

of Coatham by the fortieth part of a knight's fee and

13s. 4d. to the bailiff of Long-Newton. Coatham was

afterwards granted to Sir John Ramsay, Knt., who
disposed of it to Edward Cropley, Esq., of London.

In 1684, it belonged to Sir Edward Bowyer, of Leigh-

thorne, Sussex ; in 1720, to Joseph Micklethwaite, Esq.

(created Viscount Micklethwaite, of Ireland, in 1725)

;

and, more recently, to the Dennisons, of Yorkshire.

It is now the property of J. S. Sutton, Esq., of Elton,

by whom it was purchased about a year ago.

GOOSEPOOL.

This name is applied to three farms attached to the

parish of Long-Newton, to the rector of which they

pay tithes, though they belong to the ancient vill of

West Hartburn, and join with the parish of Middleton

St. George in the payment of poor-rates. In the 16th

century, a family named Paule were the proprietors,

from whom it passed in 1620, for £1,200, to Robert

Ellis, of Rudston, Yorkshire. His descendants sold it

to Elizabeth Hall, of Haughton, widow; and, after

belonging to the families of Sleigh and Hoar, it was

sold in 1795, by William Hoar, Esq., and other parties

interested, to the trustees of the monies produced by

the sale of Cocken woods, to the uses limited under

the will of Ralph Carr, Esq.

Thank you for purchasing from Ebay Shop Retromedia

http://stores.shop.ebay.co.uk/retromedia


220 STOCKTON WARD—SOUTH-WEST-DIVISION.

PAEISH OF EGGLESCLIFFE.

The parish of EgglescliiFe is bounded by Long-Newton on the north-west, by Stockton on the north, by the

Tees on the east and south, and by Middleton St. George on the west. It is divided into the to^vnships of

Egglescliffe, Aislaby, and Newsham.

EGGLESCLIFFE.

The township of Egglescliffe comprises an area of 1,507

acres. Its population has increased, from 270 in 1801,

at each succeeding enumeration, to 293, 332, 424, 443,

and 493, of which latter number 231 were males and

252 females. There were, at that time, 106 inhabited

houses and 4 uninhabited. The property assessed to

the county-rate in 1853 was valued at £3,850.

The receipts for the Stockton Union, during the

year ended Lady-day, 1854, were, from Egglescliffe

township, £200 6s. ; Aislaby, £110 12s.; and News-

ham, £36 7s. ; total for the parish, £347 5s. The

expenditure was as follows :

—

For in-maintenance : Egglescliffe, £5 1 63. ; Aislaby, £3 £ s.

Is. ; Newsham, 8s £9 6

Out-relief: Egglescliffe, £109 7s.; Aislaby, £60 lOs. ;

Newsham, £9 Ss 179

Workhouse loans repaid, &c. : Egglescliffe, £6 7s.
;

Aislaby, £4 19s. ; Newsham, £2 lis 13 17

Salaries and rations of officers, &c. : Egglescliffe, £12

3s. ; Aislaby, £6 13s. ; Newsham, 178 19 13

Other expenses : Egglescliffe, £5. ; Aislaby, £2 16s.

;

Newsham, 7s 8 2

Total expenditure connected with relief 229 17

Costs of law proceedings; Egglescliffe, 143. ; Aislaby, 10s. 1 4

Constables' expenses before justices : Egglescliffe, 6s.

;

Aislaby, 6s. ; Newsham, IO3 1 1

Vaccination : Egglescliffe U
Eegistration fees to clerymen : Egglescliffe, £1 13s.

;

Aislaby, 4s. ; Newsham, 2s 1 19

County and other rates : Egglescliffe, £64 123. ; Aislaby,

£43 13s. ; Newsham, £16 3s 124 8

Registration: Egglescliffe, 6s.; Aislaby, lOs. ; News-

ham, 7s 1 2

For other purposes : Egglescliffe, £7 188. i Aislaby, £5

10s. ; Newsham, £2 2s 15 10

Total expenditure £375 12

The Stockton and Darlington railway passes through

this township, and covers an extent of 2 a. 3 F. 161 v.,

and an area of 13 a. 1 r. 4p. In 1851, when the local

rates amounted to £242 8s. 7|d., the railway contri-

buted £38 3s. 9d. ; and in 1852, the contribution was

£30 lis. towards £194 19s.

The Leeds Northern railway, now a branch of the

North-eastern, covers an extent of 1 M. 2 F. 100 v., and

an area of 11 a. 2 r. 5 p., besides 14 a. 1 r. 35 p. occu-

pied in the township. Its contribution to the local

rates, in 1852, was £2 2s. 6d.

The village of Egglescliffe* stands on the steep and

lofty northern bank of the Tees, and overlooks the

curve in that river which nearly surrounds the low

peninsula whereon the town of Yarm is situated. In

an open space, in the centre of the village, there is the

time-worn pedestal and mutilated shaft of an ancient

cross, from which it has been inferred that a market

was formerly held on the spot. Many of the dwellings

are cottages, with small gardens in front. There are an

inn and two public-houses in the village. A tannery,

belonging to the Messrs. Kay, is situated near the

bridge; where also is the Tees Paper-Mill, worked

by steam-power, the property of Messrs. Bainbridge

and Son. There are two wind corn-mills in the

township.

The Rev. D. J. Stewart, government inspector of

national schools, reports that on his visit to those of

Egglescliffe, May 3, 1853, there were, at one, 61 boys

and girls present at examination ; 40 had left and 30

been admitted during the 12 months ; and the average

attendance was 76. His general observations were

—

"Buildings fair; no class-room. Desks, two groups of four parallel

desks, in a gallery. Furniture, clock. Books, fair; apparatus, three

black-boards, three easels. Methods, discipline, and instruction,

fair. Standard of classification : reading and arithmetic. Four

classes for general work, under master, with certificate of merit, and

one pupil teacher : two divisions for scripture lessons ; another

classification for arithmetic. The pupil teacher is not confined to any

one class."

In another school, the reverend gentleman reports

there were 34 children present at examination ; 5 had

left and 10 been admitted during the 12 months ; and

the average attendance was 40. General observations :

—

" Buildings fair ; no class-room. Desks fixed to wall. Booksfair."

• From eccles, eglis, or eglteys, a church or place of worship, (Latin

ecclesia—French, ejWce—Gaelic, eaglais,) and the Anglo-Saxon cliffe,

the cut off (cleftJ or broken mountain, or rock.
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In the latter end of 1853, the Committee of Council

on Education granted an assistant master to EgglescUffe

school.

A Sunday-school has been established in connexion

with the church, the children of which are annually

entioftained at tea by the Rev. H. J. Maltby, who has

also commenced a penny savings bank for them, by
whic;li they obtain 20 per cent, upon their savings.

T'he " Yarm depot" of the Stockton and Darlington

ra'away, for coal and lime, is situated near the high road

Vhich passes towards the bridge ; and is connected with

the main line by a branch of about three-quarters of a

mile in length.

That branch of the North-eastern railway which was

constructed under the name of the Leeds Northern,

enters the county of Durham at Egglescliffe by the

^"arm viaduct. This handsome structure consists of

43 arches, each of about 40 feet span. The greatest

height from the river to the level of the railroad is

about 65 feet. From the viaduct, the view of the town

of Yarm, and of the valley up and down the river Tees,

with the Cleveland hills in the far south-east, is very

beautiful. At the Egglescliffe junction, about a mile to

the north, the railway crosses the Stockton and Dar-

lington line on the level, where there is a joint station

Ix'longing to the two companies. The Leeds Northern
was formally opened on the 15th of May, 1852.

Egglescliffe is generally supposed to be a place of

considerable antiquity. Its ancient owners were the

Aislakbys, lords of the adjoining vill, from whom it

passed by marriage, about 1420, to the Astleys. The
manor, consisting of the Castleholmes , a free fishery,

and a tenement called Holchouse, was granted by char-

ter, August, 4, 1554, by William Astley to James
Garnett, of Blasterficld, Westmoreland.* John Garnett,

great-grandson of James, baptized October 22, 1615,

was a captain of horse in the regiment of Colonel

• According to the following depositions, one of the Garaetta held
the office of churchwarden :—
"The personal answer of Christofer Story, in causa correctionis.

" Christofer Slorye, of Aisleyby, yeoman, aged about 26 years. He
saith that he was in Eggiscliff the day, yere, and hower articulate.

He sayth that he, this exarainate, spoke to the neighbours that salt
by hym after this sorte, ' I hard say that ther is a minister set up in

York that got a 11 women with childe that lemcd the catechisme ;'

and when Sr George, the curat, said, ' I wold ^vy9h that ye meddled
no more with me than I do with you." And this deponent maid no
more answer nor other waies. Per me Cheistofrh Stobt.

" Robert Garnet, of Eggiscliife, husbandman, aged about 60 years.
He saith that the day, moneth, and yeare articulate, the said S' George
Wheitley, ther curat, being in the pulpct in the said church of Eggis-
cliff and movinge all men to send ther chyldrcn and servants to lerne
the catechiame, the said Christofer at that worde spoke to the said

George Heron, in the service of Charles I. ; and on

February 28, 1644-5, all his lands, rent £55 10s., he

being declared delinquent, were letten to Mr. WUliani

Garnett and Mr. John Taylerson. He afterwards com-

pounded for his estate for £142. In 1669, Alice, his

only child, died ; and, in the following year, he sold

his manor and retired to Darlington, where he died in

1674-5, bequeathing £50 to the poor of Egglescliffe.

Dr. Thomas Wood, Bishop of Litchfield (see vol. i.,

p. 351), who had purchased from Garnett, in 1690

devised the estate to his nephew, Henry Webb, Esq.,

on condition of his taking the name of Wood. In

1726, Edward Elstob, Gent., granted his lands in

Egglescliffe (which he had purchased for £1,800), sub-

ject to the charges in Bishop Wood's will, to Peter

Consett, of Yarm, Gent., for £1,600, reserving a farm

of £130 per annum.

Several small freeholds occur in Egglescliffe at

various periods. The manor or lordship of Eggles-

cliffe comprises a manor-house, with several houses,

farms, and lands, containing altogether about 300 acres,

and a salmon fishery on the Tees. The commutation
for tithes amounts to £75 2s. per annum. It is the pro-

perty of William Standish Standish, Esq.

A considerable estate belongs to Thomas-William
Waldy, Esq., of Egglescliffe, and Castle-Leventon,

Yorkskire, a magistrate for the North Riding of York
and the county palatine, and one of the surviving sons

of John Waldy, Esq., of Yarm, by Margaret, his wife,

sole heiress of Richard Garmonsway, Esq., of Haugh-
ton-le-Skerne and Great Burden. He succeeded, with
his other co-heirs, to the estates of their father, January

5, 1832. The Waldys are a Kelso family, of whom
John Waldy married Anne, youngest daughter of the

Rev. Edward Walters, A.M., incumbent of Yarm. Their

great-grandson, Thomas-William Waldy, above named,
born July 31, 1801, married, first, Jane, only child of

Sr George all the wordes articulate ; and ther upon the said S' Georg
said to the aforesaid Story, ' yf ye be able to burthen mc, I shall aun-
swer you ;' but Story gave hym no answer, nor moo words spake to

hym ; saing (seeing) that, the said curat stcmed no more, but taritd
still in the pulpett, and redd and went forw.vrd with his bus>nies, as
he used to doo other hoUydaics. Examined whether the said Christo-
fer spoke thoise words on hight, or no, he saith that he thinks that
ther was about 40 persons or moo that hard thois words. Marry,
they that was below in the church, this examinate saith that he
belyveth that they hard not ; saing that he spoke not thois wordes in

any greiff (anger), but rather in boorde. He saith that he lij-m sclfe

is one of the church wardens of the said church, and personally then
present

; saith upon his ooth that ther was many that hard as above-
said, but none moved them selfes ther att, and that ther was none
that made any laughter tlicr at. Marry, the said Christofer smylcd
when hr spok as abovesaid.—Signum t Eoubuti Gaunett."
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Robert Scott, Esq., of Bootham, York, and had issue

Jane-Elizabeth ; he married, secondly, Ellen, daughter

of Henry-Thomas Faber, Esq., justice of the peace, and

has issue Edward-Garmonsway, born May 10, 1836

;

and Mary, married, August 29, 1827, the Rev. William-

Smoult Temple, rector of Dinsdale.

A)-ms—Or, a bend, between three leopards' faces.

Crest—A dove and olive branch, all ppr., and out of a mural crown, a

demi-lion, az., holding in his dexter paw a cross-crosslet, fitchee, or.

Motto—Fidelia.

The other proprietors in the township of Egglescliffe

are, Thomas Meynell, Esq., of the Friarage, Yarm;

Dr. Keenleyside, of Stockton; Mr. Robert Emmett,

Grange/ and Major Swinburne, owner of White-lee

Spring farm.

THE CHURCH.

The church stands near the brink of the declivity

which slopes from the western extremity of the village

to Yarm bridge. It consists of a nave, a chancel, a

wide south transept, and a western tower. The latter is

embattled at the top, with corner spirets ; and there is

an embattled projection on the south, to the height of

the belfry. The entrance to the church is by a small

porch on the south. The transept above alluded to,

called Pemberton's Porch, is separated from the nave

by two pointed arches, supported by an octagonal

pillar : its exterior end-walls are embattled, and it is

lighted by two windows beneath pointed arches. A
pointed arch separates the nave and chancel ; and the

pitched roof of the latter, though its side walls are

lower, is carried up to the same height as the nave.

The east window has five lights, and the other windows

of the chancel three. The church will accommodate

200 persons. One of the bells in the tower, dedicated

to St. Mark, bears the inscription, " t Sancte Mar.

Ce. ora. pro. nobis." Between the words are re-

presentations of bell-ropes and bells. One of the bells

was cracked and sold about 25 years ago : there are

now two bells in the tower.

Under an arch in the south wall of Pemberton's

Porch is a recumbent effigy of a knight in chain armour ;

• He was a native of Phrygia, educated at Sienna, and was one of

the Reformers, and a friend of Erasmus and Colet, with whom, and a

few other foreigners, he was excused irom paying a subsidy to the

king, anno 1513. He left £10 to the repair of Egglescliffe church,

and £20 to buy implements of husbandry for the poor parishioners.

t The Rev John Brewster, A.M., was a minister of the Church of

England G6 years, the last 28 of which he was incumbent of the above

parish, having previously held, successively, the livings of Greatham,

Stockton, RedmarshaU, and Boldon. Numerous as his preferments

were, they were conferred upon him solely from the high veneration

the right hand holds the sword hilt, and the other the

scabbard ; the shield is sculptured with the arms of

Aslakby, and a sort of winged serpent is biting its

lower point; the legs are crossed, and the feet restip<?

on a lion. Another figure, nearly similar (the win^ .

serpent being omitted, and two animals suppor'

feet) is placed upright against the exterior wal

same porch, and is much worn and mutilated.

Mural monuments in the chancel record th

of members of the Hall family, of Newsham

,

Mary, wife of Edward Trotter, Aislaby. A
plate points out the burial place of the Rev. G.

Harris, rector of Egglescliffe. In the church-yart

amongst other tombs, are the burial places of tht

Holts, of Flass ; of Rowland Webster, Esq., of Stock-

ton ; and of Captain Jonathan Fowler (see p. 209).

Registees.—Books Nos. 1, 2, and 3, contain entries

of baptisms and burials from 1539 to 1812, and mar-

riages from 1539 to 1753 ; No. 4, marriages from 1754

to 1812.

Egglescliffe rectory is in the deanery of Stockton

;

the Bishop of Durham patron. King's Books, £28

17s. Id.; Tenths, £2 17s. 8id.; Episc. proc, 13s. 4d.

;

Synod, 3s. ; Archd. proc, 3s. Dedication to St. John

the Baptist.

Rectobs.—R. deHengham,1294 ; Mag. S. de Charrying, 1344 ; \V.

de Basyngham, 1350; H. de Westwick, 1367; J. Attelee, 1375; J.

de Battesford, 1379 ; H. Besewj-k, 1390 ; W. Damyan, U28 ; T. Bel-

lingham, 1444 ; "W. de Basyngham, 1454 ; W. Smithson, B.D., 1472 ;

D'n's T. Hall, 1497 ; N. West, LL.D. (dean of Windsor, bishop of

Ely 1515), 1499; J. Sixtine,* 1515; W. Bolleyne, 1519; C. Overs,

cl., 1534 ; L. Thwaits, 1541 ; B. Bajmes, A.M., 1555 ; W. Garnet,

LL.B. (rector of Ryton), 1561 ; R. BeUamie, A.M. and M.D. (master

of Sherburn Hospital, preb. of the the 3d stall), 1577 ; E. Bankes

(rector of Long-Newton), 1585; H. Naunton, A.M. (preb. of the 4th

staU), 1588 ; R. Cheke, A.M., 1606 ; D. Birkhead, S.T.P. (preb. of

the 6th, afterwards of the 10th stall), 1610 ; W. Shawe, S.T.B. (mas-

ter of Sherburn), 1624, p. m. Birkhead; I. Basire, S.T.B. (see vol. i.,

p. 256), 1636, p. m. Shawe ; J. Morton, S.T.B. (archdeacon of North-

imiberland and preb. of the 12th stall), 1676, p. m. Basire ; P. Forster,

1711, p. res. Morton for Sedgefield ; G. W. Harris, A.M., 1739, p.

m. Forster; WiUiam "Vaughan, A.M., 1778, p. m. Harris; George

Sayer, A.M., 1782, p. res. Yaughan for Haughton-lc-Skerne ; John

Brewster, A.M.,t 1814, p. m. Sayer; Henry Joseph Maltby, A.M.,J

1842, p. m. Brewster.

which his diocesan entertained for his truly christian character and

zealous exertions. He was the author of a History of Stockton, and

of several valuable treatises on religious subjects. He died at the

rectory, Egglescliffe, November 28, 1842, at the age of 89 years.

X The appointment of the Rev. H. J. Maltby to the eighth stall of

Durham cathedral, and the order in council of February 2, 1852, for

regulating the incomes of the prebendaries, have been noticed in vol.

i., pp. 140, 143. It was at a meeting, held January 22, 1852, that

the arrangement of the incomes was resolved upon by the ecclesiastical

commissioners ; and their secretary communicated their resolution to
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In the Registry at Durham there is the following

terrier relative to this parish, without date, but supposed

from the style to be of the time of Charles I.'s reign :

—

" Certeyn meadow-closes, 26 acres or thereabouts ; one close of

arable ground ; one close of pasture, 64 acres ; one close, called

Parson's Moore, 60 acres or thereabouts ; with the parsonage-house,

hames, and other houses. Item, the tythe-corne and hay of Egles-

ciiffe towne, and all other tythes in kinde. Item, Aslabie tythe-corne

and hay, and all other tythes in kinde. Item, the tythe of the fishinge

of three boats, fishinges on Teese, accustomably paying per ann. 6s.

8d. a-boate. Item, thirteen cottages, with 33 acres of grounde to

them belonginge, accustomably paying per ann Item, the

tj-thes of Mr. Garnett's mills, Us.
" Ccstomarie Tythes.—Mr. Christopher Hall, for Newsham, £4 9b.

2d. per ann. Trafford-hUl, £4. The parson of Haughton, for Sad-

bcrge, £2. The parson of Middletone Rawe, fis. Item, one close at

Middleton-George, called Counflatt, 3s. 4d. Item, Fishgarth, £1 10s.

Item, christnings, burialls, mortuaries, marriages, offerings at Easter,

cliurchings." Signed, Will™ Warde, Francis Fox, Will™ Thompson,

churchwardens.

The following statement is given in Archdeacon

Clarke's visitation, March 12, 1633 :

—

" The chancel in good repaire. They have a very fine Bible of the

old edition, given by Dr. Birkhead's mother. They have Jewell and

Harding, and the two tomes of Homilies, but not chained in the

church. Under the arch, and immediately above the monument of

the knight, an excellent edition of King Charles I. Works, in folio,

and a folio edition of Bishop Jewel's ' Apology," are chained upon a

reading desk, and are in good preservation. They want the king's

arms betwixt the church and chancel, they want the book of Canons,

and a poor man's box. The south porch, called Hindmer's Porch

[now Pemberton's Porch], in great decay. The church-yard wall or

dike in decay : to be made of brick, or pailed according to the Canon ;

it is totally decayed. The south window, which is dammed upp, to

be opened. The clock in decay."

On the 21st of August, 1644, a warrant was issued

to John Husband, of Sunderland, Gent., " to demise,

lett, collect, and gather the gleeb, tythes, rents, and

averages within the parish of Egsclife, late belonging

to Dr. Easier, and to seize all the estates, chattells, &c.,

of the said Dr. Easier, for the use of the Com'onwealth

;

aud wee require George Feathcrston, Gent., and Marke
Hall, to be aiding and assisting therein." On the 28th

the Bishop of Durham on the 24th, requesting at the same time, that

until the scheme was confirmed by her majesty, his lordship would
defer collating a new canon to the stall vacant by the death of Dr.

Durell. The bishop, however, without any knowledge of the con-

templated measure on the part of the commissioners, had, on the 23rd
of January, collated to the vacant stall his son. On the 30th, in reply

to a communication from the commissioners, asking his lordship to

co-operate with them in giving effect to the scheme for limiting the

income of the canons to £1,000, the bishop wrote that he could see no
objection to such a measure ; and Mr. Maltby afterwards, in a letter

addressed to the commissioners, acceded to the arrangement. On the

6ih February, the secretary wrote to the bishop, stating it might per-

haps be worth his lordship's consideration whether, in order to ensure

VOL. II.

February following, " The sevaral particulars belong-

ing to the rectory, lett to divers persons for £64 Is.

6d., whereof £12 16s. is allowed for the maintenance

of the wife and children of Dr. Easier, late rector

thereof."

The rectory-house is an ancient but extensive

mansion, situated to the east of the church, and has

received several repairs and modern additions from

recent rectors. In the highest story is a recess hidden

by a sliding panel, in which Dr. Easire was concealed

from the Parliamentarians, who searched the house for

him during the civil wars.

The gross income of the living is £1,120 per annum,

subject to permanent payments amounting to £71,

leaving £1,049 clear.

CHARITIES.

Hall's Charity.—William Hall, on the 16th February,

1660, gave £100 to purchase an annuity of £6, issuing

out of four oxgangs of arable land in Yarm, and which

was to be distributed equally, by trustees, every 10th

of December, to five poor widows dwelling in the

parish, and who should have become widows while they

dwelt there; or, in default of widows, to so many
fatherless children, born and inhabiting in the said

parish, under the age of 13 years ; and in default of

widows and children, to poor aged men dwelling in

Egglescliffe. The rent-charge was withheld in 1723

aud 1724 J but on the trustees filing a biU in Chancery,

the owners of the lands submitted to pay it for ever.

No trustees have been appointed since 1722; and,

since 1752, the churchwardens have had the manage-

ment of the charity, which is distributed to six poor

widows.

Yarm-Bridge.—The date of the erection of this

bridge has been assigned to the year 1400. " Yare-

ham-bridge of stone," says Leland, " a three miles

the carrying out in strictly legal form the intentions of himself and

his son, and to obviate all possible question as to the period from

which the collation of the latter became valid, it sliould be effected

by an entirely new instrument, bearing date subsequent to the cer-

tificate of value which the commissioners were prepared to give.

The bishop, in reply, while professing the willingness of himself and

his son to bind themselves down by any further security tliought

desirable to the observance of the regulation, objected to cancelling

the instrument of collation as being unprecedented, and because it

would involve the necessity of a fresh installation and reading in, on

which it would be necessary to consult the dean and chapter. With
thiis communication the correspondence ceased.

a I
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above Stoketon, made, as I hard, by Bishop Skirlaw."

It consisted originally of five pointed arches ; and

there is a tradition that the north arch was cut, and

formed into a draw-bridge, during the civil wars, when

Egglescliffe, with Stockton, was garrisoned by the

royalists. The parish register, February 1, 1643, re-

cords " a soldier slain here at y<^ Yarum skirmish."

The north arch has, since that time, been rebuilt in a

semicircular form, and of more capacious width, to

allow the water to pass in times of flood. In 1805, an

elegant iron bridge, of one arch 180 feet in span, cast

by Messrs. Walkers and Co., of Masborough, near

Rotherham, was erected at this place ; and it was on

the point of being opened, when, owing to some defect

in the abutments, it fell, about midnight, on the 12th

of January, 1806. It is stated to have cost £8,000,

and the weight of iron contained in it was 250 tons.

After the fall of this structure, the stone bridge was

considerably widened and strengthened at the joint ex-

pense of the counties of Durham and Northumberland.

EARLY NOOK.

This hamlet is situated about three-quarters of a mile

north from Egglescliffe, where the Yarm branch of the

Stockton and Darlington railway commences. A vitriol

factory, the property of the Egglescliffe Chemical

Company, was commenced at this place in 1831 ; and

the erection of dwellings for the workmen, and a public

house near the railway station, speedily followed. The

property of Mr. Thomas Wcatherall, deceased, of this

place, containing about 230 acres, with a cottage and

blacksmith's shop, was sold, pursuant to an order in

Chancery, in a cause, Raisbeck and others r. Holt and

others, on the 12th of August, 1835, and now belongs

to Thomas-WilHam Waldy, Esq.

AISLABY, OR AISLAKBY.

The township of Aislaby, to the west of Egglescliffe,

contains 2,260 acres, divided into nine farms. The

population, at the several returns, was 116, 148, 166,

143, 128, and 141, of which latter number 71 were

males and 70 females ; and there were, at that date, 27

inhabited houses and 1 uninhabited. The property

assessed to the county-rate was valued, in 1853, at

£2,610 13s. 4d.

Aislaby is a scattered \'illage, one mile west-north-

west from Yarm, and 5 south-west-by-south from

Stockton. It contains a public house and a blacksmith's

shop. One of Mother Shipton's prophecies says,

"When Egglescliffe sinks and Yarm swims, Aislaby

will be the market town."

At what time a family assumed the local name, does

not appear. William de Aislakby and Agnes his wife,

in 1313, presented the chantry of St. Thomas the

Martyr, founded within the manor, to Thomas de

Manneby, chaplain. Walter, third son of William, son

of John de Aislakby, died in 1410, leaving an only

daughter, Agnes, his heir, who became the wife of

Hugh de Asteley. After belonging to various members

of the Astley family, the estate was sold, July 10, 1557,

by William Astley, to Robert Hindmers, Clerk. Four

of the people of Aislaby, one of whom was afterwards

executed, followed the earls in the insurrection of 1569.

In 1595, Aislaby was purchased of the female de-

scendants of Hindmers, by Michael Pemberton, Esq.,

whose grandson, also named Michael,* baptized 1615,

was major in the service of King Charles I., and had

two brothers, John and Henry, captains. He married

Alice, daughter of Christopher Place, Esq., of Dinsdale,

who, after his death, became the wife of Captain John

Garnett, of Egglescliffe. Michael Pemberton, son of

Michael just named, was baptized 1644, and married

Ann, daughter of George Metcalf, of Thornborough,

Yorkshire. His son, John, who married Mary, daughter

and heiress of Christopher Place, of Darlington, alienated

the estate, about 1720, to Robert Raikes, Esq., of

Northallerton ; and Robert Raikes Fulthorpe, Esq., sold

the reputed manor of Aislaby to Rowland Webster,

Esq., of Stockton, from whose descendant it was pur-

chased by the first Earl of Eldon, and is the property of

his representatives.

A younger branch of the Aislabys held property,

which has long been much subdivided, passing through

various possessors. The present proprietors in Aislaby,

besides the Earl of Eldon, are, the Rev. W. S. Temple ;

Thomas Meynell, Esq., of Yarm; Robert Kay, Esq., of

York; and the representatives of — Marshall, Esq.

Belle-Mount, late the property of Mr. William Holt,

now belongs to the representatives of the Earl of Eldon.

Fishgarth, a piece of meadow ground on the banks

of the Tees, evidently takes its name from a dam or

wear for taking salmon, some traces of which are still

visible. On the 1st of September, 33 Car. II., a mob

• The Pembertons, as well as their predecessors, the Aislabys,

were partial to the name of Michael. One of the latter family, resi-

dent at Bowes, having only daughters, and fearing that no son would

ever arrive, called one of them ilu-hal. The ancient surname of Ais-

laby still lingers on the banks of the Tees.
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of persons assembled at Piercebridge, summoned in the

name of William Bowes, Esq., of Streatlam Castle, and

proceeded, with guns, pistols, and other offensive

weapons, towards the dam at Fishgarth, then belong-

ing to Sir Henry Marwood, Knt., and Timothy

Maleverer, Esq. At Neasham, they were met by Mr.

Henry Chaytor, of Croft, and a Mr. Killinghall, who

called for ale, drank Squire Bowes's health, and

gave 6s. to the rioters for the same purpose ;
" the drum

beating, and they shouting and whooping, A Bowes

!

A Bowes .'" On arriving at the dam, they pulled and

broke down as much of it as they could with saws and

axes, and were only prevented by the height of the

water from demolishing the whole. They likewise

" discharged severall guns and pistols at the Fishgarth,

and also threatened to burne the dwelling-house of one

Christopher King, erected there." Having done all the

mischief in their power, they dispersed ; but, though the

affair was brought before the sheriff and magistrates, the

result does not appear. The offence to Mr. Bowes was,

that the dam prevented the fish from passing up the

river.

Trafford Hill, or Trefford Hill, occupies a

commanding situation on the southern verge of the

township. Thomas Graa held the manor in 1336, by

the service of a pair of white gloves on St. Mary
Magdalen's day. In the next century, it was in the

possession of the Tempests, with one of the heiresses of

which, named Dionysia, it passed by marriage to William

Mallory. The Wentworths afterwards held it ; and John

Witham, Esq., of Cliffe, was the owner of the estate in

1640. In 1832, it belonged to Robert Campian, Esq.,

of Whitby, by whom it was sold, in 1840.

NEWSHAM.

This township, 3 miles west of Yarm, covers an area of

1,054 acres, divided into four farms, and containing, in

1851, 9 inhabited houses. In 1853, the property was

assessed for the county-rate at £965. The population,

at the respective enumerations, was 34, 35, 44, 58, 57,

and 67 ; of the latter number, 38 were males and 29

females.

There was formerly a chapel at Newsham, dedicated

to St. James. The Aislakbys were anciently possessors

of the manor ; and it afterwards became the seat of the

Halls, descended from the Halls of Gretford, Lincoln-

shire. The fourth possessor of the name, Christopher

Hall, Esq., was charged with a horse and furniture for

the service of Charles I., and compounded for his estate

for £460. Lodowick Hall, Gent., his son and heir, was

some time of Great Chilton (for which estate he also

compounded for £419 lis. 5d.), and was a justice of

peace for the county. With Christopher his son, he

sold Newsham to Robert Blakiston, Gent., of Old

Elvet, whose great grandson, the Rev. Robert Blakiston,

held lands in Newsham in 1738. The Coatsworth

family also had possessions in Newsham. The estate

of William Skinner Marshall, Esq., was advertised to

be disposed of, by auction, in September, 1855. It

comprised Newsham Hall farm, containing a house,

cottage, buildings, and 427 a. 3 r. 2 p., valued at £560

annual rent; Newsham Grange farm, of 111 a. 1 r.

33 p., and a house, valued at £170 per annum; White

House farm, of 165 A. 1 r. 13 p., with house, cottages,

&c., valued at £170 per annum; and a cottage, garden,

and orchard, valued at £6 per annum.

PARISH OF MIDDLETON ST. GEOEGE.

iHE parish of Middleton St. George is bounded by Egglescliffe on the east, by Long-Newton on the north-east,

by Haughton-le-Skerne on the north, by Dinsdale on the west, and by the Tees on the south, extending to within

2j miles west of Yarm, and 4^ miles east-by-south from Darlington.

This parish, which contains an extent of 2,050 acres,

comprises but one township ; the only assemblages of

houses being the village of Middleton-One-Row and the

hamlet called Oak Tree. The population, in 1801,

was 215; in 1811, 202; in 1821, 209; in 1831, 299;
in 1841, in consequence of Middleton-One-Row being

much resorted to as a watering place, the number had

increased to 433; but, in 1851, the census having been

taken prior to the arrival of the summer visitors, there

was an apparent decrease of population to 332, of whom
167 were males and 105 females. There were, at the

same date, 68 inhabited houses and 5 uninhabited.

The annual value of property assessed to the county-

rate in 1853 was £3,157 5s. 6d.
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The Stockton and Darlington railway covers an area

of 16 acres in this parish, and has an extent of 2 M. 1 F.

55 Y. In 1851, the railway contributed £53 2s. 6d. to

the local rates, and £37 3s. 9d. in 1852 ; the gross

amounts collected in those years being £208 4s. 7|d.

and £135 14s. SJd.

Low-Middleto-n Hall stands in a sheltered situation

near the Tees. A handsome cross, said to have been

brought from Neasham Abbey, is placed in the garden.

When the wapentake of Sadberge was granted by

Richard I. to Bishop Pudsey, the son of Godfrey

Baard owed the service of two parts of a knight's fee

for Middleton and Hertbum. The Surteeses had

acquired lands from the Baards in the time of Bishop

Beaumont. Rowland Bart, in 1320, died seised of half

the manor, which he held by homage, fealty, suit at the

court of Sadberge once in three weeks, and 2s. 3d.

;

leaving his son Ralph heir. Half a messuage and 30

acres were held by Robert de Cambe in 1337. The

manor shortly afterwards became the property of John

de Killynghall, a justice itinerant under Cardinal

Langley in 1413 ; it was held of the bishop by 9jd.

;

and four messuages and eight oxgangs in Over-Middle-

ton were held of Thomas Surtees, Chivaler, by the

same proprietor. The property passed from Francis

Killinghall, representative of the direct line of the

family, in 1569; but a younger branch, descended from

John Killinghall, Esq., who died in 1574, held a third

of the manor for some time afterwards, and acquired

the main portion in 1606, by purchase from Richard

Madox. John Killinghall,* Esq., of Middleton St.

George, great-grandson of John above-named, was a cap-

tain in the army of Charles I., and compounded for his

estate for £440. He married Margaret, one of the

daughters of William Lambton, Esq., of Great Stainton,

and died January, 1651. His grandson, William

Killinghall, Esq., died unmarried in January, 1702-3;

and the estate passed to Robert, successor to the second

son of Captain Killinghall, who married, first, Jane,

daughter of George Allan, Esq., of Darlington; and

second, Sarah, widow of John Maynard, Esq., of Yarm.

His sister, Elizabeth, married William Pemberton, of

Darlington, merchant; and their daughter, Elizabeth,

married James Allan, Esq., of Darlington and

Blackwell.

Robert Killinghall, Esq., of Middleton St. George,

• Middleton George, 1611. Spiritual Coiirt Proceedings against

"Wm. Kyllrngall, Esq., who " entertaynetli in his house as kitchen

•wench a woman that hath had two basterds at a birth (as if that made

the matter worse) ; it is not pretended he is suspected with her ; but

died February 13, 1758, and was succeeded by his son

by his first wife, John Killinghall, baptized February

27, 1726-7, who died without issue June 20, 1762. He
devised Middleton St. George to his kinsman, William

Pemberton, descendant of William Pemberton and

Elizabeth KilHnghall. William Pemberton, his sou

and successor, died without issue, March 11, 1801,

when the representation in blood of Pemberton and

Killinghall devolved on the Allans. This last William

Pemberton devised the Killinghall estates to his

maternal aunts, of the family of Cocks, of Plymouth, to

the prejudice of his cousin and heir-at-law, George

Allan, Esq., M.P., who, with a view to invalidate the

will, had a trial at law at the Durham assizes in 1806,

when a verdict passed in favour of the parties claiming

under the will, and the Cocks fanuly have since remained

in enjoyment of the estate.

The Middleton Cottage estate, to the east of the

property of H. A. W. Cocks, Esq., is trust property,

held under the wiU of the Rev. William Berman, dated

1700 ; the last trustee having been appointed in 1819.

The estate comprises 43 a. 2 R. 3 p., and contain a small

house or cottage ornee, which stands on a gentle

eminence, sloping to the Tees. The tithes of this

property, and of 2 a. R. 19 p. in Middleton-One-Row,

are commuted for a money payment of £2 12s. 9d. to

the rector, and an equal sum to H. A. W. Cocks, Esq.

There is also an annual rent of 43d. payable to the

Bishop of Durham at Maitinmas.

THE CHURCH.

The church stands on elevated ground, to the south-

east of Middleton-One-Row. It is a small plain struc-

ture, consisting of nave and chancel. When the

neighbouring spa at Dinsdale began to attract an influx

of visitors, the north wall of the nave was carried out

several feet, so as to admit of an additional range of

pews. The chancel was rebuilt at the same time, and

the whole church new roofed with Westmoreland slate.

It win accommodate 150 persons. A subscription was

raised in 1854 for the purchase of an organ of the value

of £30.

William Killinghall, in 1521, by will, charged his

estates " for the sustentacon of an honest preste which I

will shall syng for the sowles of me, myn auncesters and

he owes 8s. 4d. sesscment, and licka the churchwarden with his ttaffe

when he calls for it." Mr. K. answered that " he acted out of charitie,

and struck the churchwarden lightlie with a small gold-headed cane

which he useth to walk with ordinarily."
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helres in the pariche churche of MIdilton George by

the space of seven yeres next after my death perceyving

yerly for his salary vij markes."

Registers.—Book No. 1 (parchment) contains en-

tries of baptisms and burials from 1650 to 1754, and

marriages from 1650 to 1753; No. 2, baptisms and

burials from 1755 to 1812 ; and No. S, marriages from

1754 to 1812.

The church or parsonage of Middleton St. George

was stated, in 1312, to be divided into two portions

;

the one free from all ecclesiastical burthens, then hedl

by William of London, chaplain, on the presentation of

Ralph Bart; and the other charged with all the burthen

of the vicarage, to which John de Cambe had presented

his son, John Cambe, priest. This partition was con-

fii'med by Bishop Kellaw. The institutions to the

sinecure and portionary rectory (valued in the King's

Books at £4; Tenths, 8s; Episc. proc, 4s. 6d.; Synod,

2s.), were as follow :

—

W. de London, 1350 j R. Bolton, ; R. Kelynghall, 1434, p. m.

Bolton ; C. Conyers, ; R. Redemayne, LL.B. (son of William

Redemayne, Esq., chancellor of the diocese of York), January 27,

1570, p. m. Conyers ; J. Cradock, A.B., 1625, p. m. Redemayne.

The entire advowson has since been attached, by

purchase or otherwise, to that part of the manor belong-

ing to the KillinghaUs, and is now vested in its possessor.

Middleton St. George rectory is a discharged living

in the deanery of Stockton, paying no first fruits or

tenths. King's Books, £3 13s. lid. ; Tenths, 7s. 3f d.

;

Episc. proc, 4s. 6d ; Archid. proc, 2s. Patron, Henry

A. W. Cocks, Esq. Dedication to St. George.

Rectors.—J. de Cambe, 1312; A. de Shutlington, 1359; W. de

Meryngton, 1365; W. Sadler, 1466; J. Todd, 1501 ; D'n'a W. Rip-

pon; J. Orpyn, 1531 ; M. Myers (vicar of Bishop-Middleham), 1598 ;

W. Cassc, 1613,» p. m. Myers; W. Harrison, 1636; M. Wetherall

(rector of Diusdale), 1677 ; R. Scruton (rector of Dinsdale), 1690, p.

m. Wetherall ; W. Raine, 1693 ; J. Lambton, 1705, p. m. Raine ; W.
Noble, A.M. (rector of Dinsdale), 1722; John Whaley, A.M., 1746;

William Addison, A.B. (rector of Dinsdale), p. m. Whaley ; WiUiam
Addison Fountain, A.B., 1798, p. res. Addison ; Henry Graves, A.M.,

(perpetual curate of High Worsall, near Tarm,) 1838.

The following terrier of the rectory, dated August

23, 1792, mentions the division of tithes, &c. :

—

"Imprimis, two inclosures, containing about fourteen acres of mea-
dow and arable land near Oaktree, with a bam upon it built with

bricks and covered with tiles. Item, a moiety of the church-yard,

containing about an acre. Item, a moiety, or full half, of all tithes

• William Killinghill, who held a moiety of the rectory, wished
Mr. Casse to join him in suing Francis Forster, of Darlington, for

their joint tithes due from West Hartbum. The rector refused,

because by his daughter he had received at Darlington from Forster

within the said parish in their proper kinds, except a modus of £i

13s. 4d. in lieu of the tithes arising from two farms belonging to Wil-

liam Pemberton, Esq., called Low Middleton and Oaktree-house

farms ; and a moiety of a modus of 16s. in lieu of the hay and small

tithes of Foster-house, or West Hartbum farm ; and a moiety of a

modus of 22s. in lieu of all tithes arising upon Gingerbread farm,

belonging to Hall Wharton, Esq. ; and a moiety of a modus of 20s.

in lieu of aU tithes arising from Whitehouse farm, the property of

Mr. WUliam Wrightson. These moduses are all payable at Michael-

mas ; the church-yard fence is repaired by the tenants of the parish.

John Whaley, rector ; WUliam Addison, trustee to William Pember-

ton, Esq. ; George Chambers, Thomas Richardson, churchwardens."

At present, H. A. W. Cocks, Esq., has a moiety of the

great tithes, and the incumbent the remainder. In the

report of 1835, the gross annual income was stated at

£100, subject to permanent payments, amounting to

£9. The rector of Middleton St. George pays an

annual pension or out-rent of 5s. to the rector of

Egglescliffe. The rectory-house, with its appendages,

is stated to have been entirely ruinous in the time of the

Rev. Richard Scruton, rector. The Rev. W. A.

Fountain built a handsome mansion on his private

estate.

CHARITIES.

School.—A school-house was buUt by subscription

about the year 1768 ; and, after the completion of the

building, there was a balance of £75, which was placed

in the hands of the Rev. William Addison, who gave a

memorandum. May 12, 1777, promising to pay the

same, with interest at four per cent., to the trustees of

the school. The sum of £3 is paid annually as interest

to the schoolmaster. The ground on which the school

is built, nine yards square, is held by trustees on lease

for 894 years from May 12, 1703. The master resides

in the school-house, which, with the school-room, was

almost entirely rebuilt in 1828, at a cost of nearly £100,

undertaken by the then master, who was promised, but

never received, some donations by way of reimburse-

ment. The school is attended by about 30 children,

all of whom pay for their instruction.

Donor unknown.—Two yearly sums of 8s. each were

formerly paid for the benefit of the poor of this parish

;

the one by Christopher Richardson, and the other by

Elijah Cocks, Esq., proprietors of the lands supposed

to have been charged with such payments. Some years

before the visit of the Commissioners for inquiring con-

" 203. to buy a cloke, 3 bushels of ry, and besides the said Fr.-mcis

Foster being a good friend unto him." The cloke appears to have

covered the defaults of the donor.
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cerning Charities, the above gentlemen refused payment,

and in 1829, produced their purchase-deeds, which

contained no notice of any charge for charitable

purposes.

MIDDLETON-ONE-ROW.

Middleton-One-Eow, or Over-MIddleton, 5 miles east-

south-east from Darlington, consists principally of one

long row of good houses, built near the sloping verge of

the bank of the Tees, fronting the south. The dis-

covery of the medicinal spring at Dinsdale (see vol. i.,

p. 508), attracted visitors to the locality, and produced

considerable improvement in the village, by the erec-

tion of an inn on an extensive scale, and private dwell-

ings suitable for the accommodation of respectable

parties. Several of the houses are fitted up with

projecting windows, and other suitable decorations.

That indispensable requisite to a watering place,

a circulating library, has been established for many
years ; and several shopkeepers and tradesmen

carry on business. In summer, the place is further

enlivened by temporary bazaars, for the sale of useful

and fancy articles. The view from the row is very

beautiful, comprising the picturesque windings of the

river, fringed to the water's edge on one side by the

woods of Dinsdale, on the hill above which the asylum

of Dr. Mackintosh forms a conspicuous object, and

bordered on the other by the fertile fields and pastures

of Yorkshire, surrounded on the south and south-east

by the Cleveland hills. From the western extremity of

the row, a pleasant footpath, with rustic seats placed at

convenient distances, winds down to the little rivulet

which divides the parishes of Middleton and Dinsdale,

and, after crossing its bridge, leads to the spa. Car-

• According to an entry in the Allan Archives, this Marmaduke,

on one occasion, over-reached the rector of Dinsdale. Some lands in

Middleton-one-Rawe had been granted by the Surteeses to his uncle

John, incumbent of that parish, for life and 20 years following ; but

after the lease had expired, the clergj-man wished to consider it as

part of the glebe. In 20 Eliz., John, the only son of Marmaduke,

had a trial with the then rector about it ; and John Hudson, of Mor-

ton, grassman, aged 54, deposed that he was, wlien "but a boy of a

dozen or xiii years of age, present at the buriall of John Sewerties

[the former rector], and then had n penny given him" [the funeral

dole] ; that Marmaduke borrowing 10s. of Rowland Clerk [a succeed-

ing incumbent] upon his signett, the latter, within or about a month

after, requested to have his money ; when Marmaduke told him
" that it was but a small thing that he the said Marmaduke had of

him, and that therefore he thought that the said Rowland would not

have bene so haistie with him. ' For,' quoth the said Marmaduke,

'if I would I could take the two oxgangs of land which thoue occu-

piest here in this towne from the, wliich is a hundreth times better

riages frequently ply between the village and the Middle-

ton station of the Stockton and Darlington railway.

Over-Middleton was held of the see by the family of

Surtees, by fealty and 4s. 6d. rent. On the division of

the family estates in 1552 (see vol. i., p. 506), this

manor was allotted to Marmaduke Surtees.*

In 1569, one of the inhabitants of " Midletun Rawe"
joined the Rising, and was afterwards executed ; whUst

of three, from other parts of the parish, one also suffered

death. Thomas Surtees, Esq., grandson of Marmaduke,

in 1598 sold the manor to Anthony Felton, Gent., who
conveyed it, in 1608, to Arthur Aldborough, Esq. ; and

he, in 1612, granted to Christopher and Alan Ayscough.

James Ayscough, Esq., of Middleton-One-Row, is

named amongst those who refused to compound with

the parliament for their estates. Some parcels of the

estate had, however, been previously alienated, and

were held by different families. Property, belonging

to the Wrens of Billy Hall, passed, by purchase, in

1595, to Roger Wilson, vicar of Kelloe ; and of more

recent date to Thomas Wrightson, Esq., &c.

WEST HARTBURN.

The name of Goosepool is now locally applied to the

whole of West Hartburn, though it properly belongs

only to that part of the viU which is within the parish of

Long-Newton. The village is situated near the north-

eastern verge of the parish of Middleton, and contains

a public-house, and a station on the Stockton and Dar-

lington railway. According to tradition, there was a

chapel and burying-ground in Goosepool ; but there is

no record of such a foundation. West Hartburn has

generally been held by the proprietors of other parts of

the parish. The Forsters, in 1628, purchased an estate

thsm the money thou lent me.' ' Nay then,' quoth the said Rowland,
' that I think you cannot do.' ' Yes,' quoth the said Marmaduke,
' that I can. But be thou good to me, and I will be good to thee.'

' Why, sir,' quoth the said Rowland, ' any thing I have you shall

comaimde.' ' And well then," quoth the said Marmaduke, ' come

hither to me againe such a day, and I will show the good specialtie

that the two oxgangs is myne to do with what I list." And so for

that time the said Rowland departed." On their meeting, the per-

plexed parson found that Surtees had right, and had to compound

for £4 IDs. and the 10s. he had lent, for a life interest. He paid by

instalments ; and Archer, anotlier witness, saw him come to Mar-

maduke at Darlington, and say, " Sir, now I have paide you all my
money according to our agreement, and therefore I pray you now let me
have assuraunce made for my life, that I be not any more troubled.'

' Marrie parson,' quoth the said Marmaduke, ' that I will with good

will. And come go with me to Mr. Hailes.' And so they went

together to 'iilx. Hailes to have assurance made."
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from the Wrens, which has since acquired the name of

Forster House. It was afterwards the property of the

Rev. W. A. Fountain. Gingerbread House belongs to

the Whartons.

Oak Tree is a hamlet so called from the sign of a

public-house, 5| miles east from Darlington. Mr.

Thomas Ellis, the principal proprietor, has a large

brewery and malting in the place.

PotTNTEYS Bridge.—This structure, the Pons Teys,

stood about 300 yards below the site of the sulphur

well at Dinsdale. The date of its erection is unknown

;

but it may fairly be attributed to the Saxon, if not the

Roman era, and was probably the first arch erected

across the Tees, being named soon after the Conquest

as being of old foundation. Defences were erected

near it on each side of the river ; and it is supposed to

have been long the principal entrance into the county

from the south. A house of hospitality for travellers,

a water-mill, and a chapel dedicated to St. John, were,

in course of time, erected on or near the bridge. The
chapel was endowed by the Surteeses and others ; and

there was also, in the immediate vicinity, a hermitage,

in which William Byndelawes, of Burton in Lonsdale,

was placed by Prior Wessyngton in 1426. Less

peaceful neighbours seem to have afterwards infested

the road ; as Bishop Cosin, on transmitting some gold

into Yorkshire, cautions the bearers by telling them

that " Mr. Hilton's sonne, who brought your letters

hither, tells us that he was in great danger to be robbed

about Darnton and Neesum by thieves and highwajTnen

tbat lay upon the street there, to set upon passengers

who they thought carried any money witb them ; and

he named Barwick for one, a famous thiefe, with others

in his company, besides one Middleton, and one

Coperthwaite, who layed at Neesum for their pray, and

that he was putt to ride full speed for four miles to-

gether, to escape them in their pursuit of him." These

dangers, combined with the opening of Croft Bridge,

which afforded a more open road from the south, led to

the desertion of the old High-street, and the conseqtient

neglect of Pounteys Bridge. At what time this struc-

ture was destroyed does not appear ; but vast quantities

of squared stones, cramped with iron, have been re-

moved at various times, and particularly when the

neighbouring bath was buUt. It is said that when the

water is low, the remains of foundations may still be

seen. The adjacent ford is called County Ford.

PAEISH OF EEDMAESHALL.

IHIS parish is bounded by Elton on the south, by Norton on the east, by Grindon and Sedgefield on the north,

and by Stainton-le-Street and Bishopton on the west. It includes the constableries of Redmarshall, Carleton, and
Stillington, the latter of which is included in the Sedgefield Union.

REDMARSHALL.

The township of Redmarshall includes an area of 956

acres, divided into five farms, and containing a public

house. Its population, at the periods of enumeration,

was 60, 76, 75, 56, 48, and 76, of which latter number
39 were males and 87 females, occupying 12 houses;

and there was also one uninhabited house. The annual

value of property assessed for the county-rate, in 1853,

was £670.

The townships of Redmarshall and Carleton are in

Stockton Union, and tliat of Stillington in Sedgefield

Uruon. The receipts from Redmarshall in the year

ended Lady-day, 1854, were £16 16s., and from

Carleton, £106 15s. The expenditure of those town-
ships was as follow :

—

£ e.

In-mamtenance : Redmarshall, 23. ; Carleton, £3 ISa, .. 3 17

Out-relief: Redmarshall, £7 Is. ; Carleton, £35 ISs. . .

.

42 14

Workhouse loans repaid, &c. : Redmarshall, 88. ; Carle-

ton, £3 7s 3 15

Salaries and rations of officers, &c. : Redmarshall, 38.

;

Carleton, £8 3s 8 6

Other expenses : Redmarshall, Is. ; Carleton, £14 88. .

.

14 9

Total expenditure connected with relief 73 1

Constables' expenses before justices ; Redmarshall, 138.

;

Carleton, 16s 1 9

Vaccination : Carleton 10

Registration fees to clergymen : Redmarshall, Is. ; Carle-

ton, 1 2s 13

County-rates, &c. : Redmarshall, £9 88. ; Carleton, £24

13s 34 1

Registrations : Redmarshall, 6s. ; Carleton, 5s 10

Otherpayments: Redmarshall, £198. ; Carleton, £10 IDs. 11 19

Total expenditure £122 3
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The towTisliip of Eedmarshall contains one public

house. James Pallister, Esq., of Little Burdon, at his

own expense erected schools for boys and girls, with

suitable residences for a master and mistress. They are

called PaUister's Schools, and are supported by £10

per annum granted by Mr. Pallister, various other

subscriptions, and the payments of the children.

Though the manor of Redmarshall* was held from an

early date by the see of Durham, yet, in an ancient

charter to Finchale Priory, the name of Emma, Lady of

Redmarshall, occurs. Bishop Beck gave the manor to

his brother, John Beck, Baron of Eresby in Lincoln-

shire, who sold it to Thomas Moulton, from whom it

passed to Sir Henry Lisle, Knt., lord of the manor of

Wynyard. By deed, bearing date 1306, Sir Henry

gave Redmarshall to Catherine his niece, wife of Allan

de Langton, burgess of Berwick and Newcastle, and to

the heirs of the body of the said Catherine for ever.

In L569, five persons from Redmarshall joined the

rebellion, one of whom was afterwards executed.

This manor continued vested in the lords of Wynyard
till 1596, when William Claxton, Esq., died without

issue. One-third of it afterwards passed successively

through the families of Merley of Wemyngton, Lanca-

shire; Buckle, of Whitton; Place, of Dinsdale; Brom-

ley, of Nesbit ; and Spearman. In 1750, the trustees

under the will of Gilbert Spearman conveyed it and a

third of Claxton's Porch to John Tempest, Esq., of

Wynyard, for £3,540, from whom it descended to the

Marchioness of Londonderry. Another third of the

manor was carried, by the marriage of the daughter of

William Claxton with Sir William Blakiston, of Blakis-

ton, into the latter family, who sold it to Nicholas

Forwood, of Bishopton, from whom it passed, in 161^,

to John Cooke, draper, of Newcastle. The other third

part of the manor, which belonged to the Jennisons by
a marriage with the youngest coheiress of Wynyard,
was sold in 1613 to Anthony Buckle, yeoman. Several

persons have, from time to time, held parcels of land in

Redmarshall. The principal proprietors, besides the

Marchioness of Londonderry, are, Morton John

Davison, Esq., of Beamish, Mr. James Pallister, and

Mr. George Hutchinson. Redmarshall farm contains

266 A. 3 R. 12 p., land-tax, £3 6s. 3 id. ; and Ox Eye

faxm 216 a. 1 k. 22 p., the land-tax £3 2s. 6id.

• Surtees derives the etymology of Redmarshall from " The Hill of
the lied Mere" or Bed Mere*s Hill ; because it could be seen from a

considerable distance, rising over a level district of loam and red clay,

where the floods of winter would formerly coUect and rest on the

tenacious soil in a broad discoloured pool or mere.

THE CHURCH.

By some it has been thought, from the size of the

tower of this church, that it was originally intended as a

place of defence ; but, as the tower is only of the usual

proportions, there seems nothing in this respect to

corroborate the opinion. The body of the church now
consists of nave, south porch, south transept called

Claxton's Porch, and chancel. In the north wall of

the chancel, which is divided from the nave by a

Norman arch lined with plaster, there is an arched re-

cess, of the transitional period, apparently for a monu-

ment to some benefactor of the church ; and in the

south wall is a sedilia of three compartments, of the

perpendiciilar date. Claxton's Porch opens from the

nave under a pointed arch, supported by corbels, and

contains a large window which lights the whole nave.

On a broad altar tomb in this porch, are two recumbent

figures, male and female, of very elegant work in

alabaster, but much defaced by time and neglect. The

male figure is in armour, with gloved hands elevated,

but without shield or sword ; this latter perhaps broken

off. The head of the female rests on a padded cushion

;

the arms are broken ; the waist is clad in a short tunic

;

and flowing drapery envelopes the feet. These figures

represent Thomas Langton, of AVynyard, who died in

1417, and his wife SibUl, of Layton, stated in Glover's

Pedigree of the Lords of WjTiyard, to lie " in the

porche of the parish churche of Redmershill, under a

tombe of alabastre, having both their portraictuies en-

graven very sumptuously."

The lead roof ofthe church was removed, and the lights

altered, in 1806 ; but considerable traces of antiquity

were retained. From this date, the edifice continued

without further alteration, until 1845-6, when the present

rector, the Rev. T. Austin, A.M., effected extensive im-

provements and restorations. The unsightly sash win-

dows were at once removed, and appropriate ones ofstone

introduced. The eastwindowisofgeometrical character,

of three trefoil headed lights, grouped under a pointed

segmental arch. The south window of the transept,

known as Claxton's Porch, is of perpendicular character,

of four cinquefoil headed lights, under a four-centered

arch. The side windows of the chancel and nave are

of three lights, of geometrical design. The tower arch

is Norman, as well as the outer door-way of the south

porch ; this door-way, previous to its removal to the

south, formed the northern entrance to the church. At

the time of these alterations, a vestry was added on the

south side, contiguous to Claxton's Porch. A new font
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cover was also introdiiced, being in character with the

existing interior wood work. The pews are of oak,

with plain poppy heads, of similar character and date

with those of Brancepeth, Sedgefield, Gateshead,

&c. The church will accommodate about 160 hearers.

The whole of the alterations were effected at the

expense of the rector, from designs furnished by his son,

T. Austin, Esq., architect, Newcastle, who also provided

designs and plans for the new rectory.

Registers.—Book No 1 (parchment) contains entries

of baptisms from 1564 to 1745, burials fi-om 1559 to

1752, and marriages from 1568 to 1749, deficient, and

interrupted by No. 2, which contains baptisms from

1737 to 1762, burials from 1745 to 1762, and marriages

from 1737 to 1767; also by No. 3 (parchment), con-

taining baptisms and burials from 1760 to 1812. No.

4 contains marriages from 1754 to 1812.

Redmarshall rectory is in the deanery of Stockton
;

the Bishop of Durham, patron. King's Books, £17

18s. Ijd. ; Tenths, £1 15s. Ofd.; Episc. proc, 10s.

;

Synod., 2s.; Archid., 2s. Dedication to St. Cuthbert.

Rectors.—Petrus occurs 1258; T. Aorizi (or Eversi), 1366; R. de

Redcmershill ; N. Hulne (master of Greathara 1427, preb. of Dar-

lington), 1415; A. Morland, 1461 ; W. Mawdesl)-; J. Flint (prior of

Ponlefract), 1502 ; W. Preston, S.T.P., 1530 ; P. Wilbefosse, B.D.

(vicar of Northall, co. Middlesex), June 20, 1533, p. m. Preston; J.

Redemayne, A.M., August 17, 1533, p. m. Wilbefosse; W. Carter,

S.T.P., August 18, 1544, p. res. Redemayne ; S. Binks, January 20,

1546, p. res. Carter ; R. Richardson, November 17, 1588, p. m. Binks

;

M. Blakiston, A.M. (archdeacon of Cleveland, preb. of the 7th stall),

occurs September 4, 1585 ; J. Calfhill, A.M. (preb. of the 5th stall),

1599, p. res. Blakiston; W. Neile, A.M. (preb. of Sutton-in-the-

Marsh and treasurer of Lincoln), January 14, 1619, p. ra. Calfhill;

J. Rand, A.M., October 6, 1620, p. res. Neile ; J. Kidd, an intruder,

• The Rev. Geouge Stefhemsox, son of the Rev. George Stephen-

son, vicar of Long-Penton, Northumberland, and curate of All Saints,

Newcastle, was bom in that tovm April 16, 1759; he was placed

in earlv life at the Newcastle Grammar School, and matriculated

March 26, 1776, as a commoner of Lincoln College, O.xford. In 1783,

he was elected Fellow ofMagdalen College. On completing his studies,

h;> was ordained to the curacy of Long-Newton, under the Rev. Sir

Henry Vane, and was afterwards successively curate of St. John's

chapel, Sunderland, and of Bishopwcarmouth church ; which latter

appointment he hold for a period of 45 years, under the rectorship of

Egerton, Paley, Gray, and \Volleslcy. The estimation in which he
was held by Paley is attested by that celebrated author having, in his

will, appointed Mr. Stephenson to be editor and distributor of his

parochi.il sermons. This brought him under the notice of Bishop Bar-
rington, who, in 1809, presented him to the vicarage of Kelloe, and,

in 1814, to that of Redmarshall. He had, many years before, been
presented, by the President and Fellows of Magdalene College, to the
rectory of Saltfleeby, Lincolnshire. In such high estimation was Jlr.

Stephenson held by the parishioners of Bishopwcarmouth, that they
presented him, in 1827, with a piece of plate, value f 100. On the

erection of St. Thomas's church, in that parish, he became its first

VOL. H.

depr. 1660; J. Robson, A.B., September 2, 1661, p. m. Rand; J.

Jackson, March 13, 1605, p. m. Robson; E. Morecroft, A.M., Novem-

ber 23, 1668 ; W. Dunn, A.M., 1694, p. m. Morecroft; W. Johnson,

LL.B., May 14, 1737, p. m. Dunn ; J. SkeUy, June 24, 1760, p. m.

Johnson ; Thomas Holmes Tidy, A.B., 1767, p. res. Skelly ; J.

Brewster, A.M., 1805, p. m. Tidy; George Stanley Faber, B.D.,

Line. Coll. Oson., 1809, p. res. Brewster for Boldon ; Henry George

Liddell, A.M., Braz. Nose Coll., 1811, p. res. Faber for Long-New-

ton ; George Stephenson, A.M., Magd. CoU. Oxon..* 1814, p. les.

Liddell for Boldon ; Hon. J. P. Eden, 1843, p. m. Stephenson ;

Thomas Austin, A.M., 1844, p. res. Eden for Stockton.

The rector of Redmarshall furnished a lancer and an

archer to the array of the clergy on Gilesgate Moor in

1400. In 1462, Adam Morland, rector, had a pardon

for inclosing and embattling his rectory-house.

f

The old parsonage, which adjoined the church-yard,

was, in 1845, taken down and a new rectory built a

few yards further north. The building is of brick, of

Elizabethan character, with stone dressings. The en-

trance to the front door has a pointed arch, with an

inscription above, bearing the date of the building.

The arms of Lord Crewe, which were above the

entrance-door of the old building, are placed on the

south gable ; and above is a sun-dial, bearing date 1712.

The building cost about £1,000, which was defrayed

by the rector, with the exception of the grant allowed

from Queen Anne's Bounty. The garden attached to

the rectory is laid out with considerable taste.

A small bronze figure, finely cut and of excellent

workmanship, was found amongst the foundations of the

old building, and is in the possession of the rector.

The glebe consists of 6 A. 2 r. 19 p. The rector is

generalljr entitled to all tithes : the gross income is

stated at £365 per annum, subject to permanent pay-

ments amounting to £24, leaving £341 clear ; but this

incumbent ; and he died at the parsonage-house there, ori the 27th

December, 1843, in his 85th year. He was, at that period, one of the

oldest magistrates in the county, and the senior clergyman of the

diocese, having been in orders upwards of 60 years. His remains

were attended to the family vault in Sunderland church-yard by the

clergy, mayor, magistrates, and principal inhabitants of the town.

t " The practice of embattling parsonage-houses of the higher

class," says Surtees, *' was, for an obvions reason, not uncommon in

the north. In a list of Northumbrian fortresses taken during the

minority of Henry VL, the tower of Whitton, belonging to the rector

of Rothbury, and six other fortified parsonages, are enumerated

amongst the Forfalicia, or lowest order of castelets. All these were,

probably, mere towers added, as at Houghton, to the main building

;

or sometimes, as at Rothbavy, placed a little distant, for the advantage

of situation, and calculated merely to preserve a few valuables from

a sudden surprise of the Borderers. The church towers were used

for the same defensive purposes, and some reliques of old armour are

still frequently preserved in the northern churches." As an illustra-

tion of the uses to which church towers were sometimes put, see

Merrington, Easington, and HovGUTON'-LE-SniiNO.
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is considerably above the average receipts dixring the

last few years.

CHARITIES.

Church Rents.—The churchwardens received 2s. 6d.

from the Rev. Edward Davison, for his estate at Stil-

lington ; 3s. 4d. from Morton John Davison, Esq., for his

estate at Redmarshall, and 2s. for his estate at Carleton ;

2s. from — Ellis, Esq., for his estate at Carleton ; total,

9s. lOd. The origin of these payments, which were

applicable to the repairs of the church, is unknown

;

and of late years nothing has been received for this

purpose.

Morpeth's Cliarity.—Christopher Morpeth, by will,

January 10, 1640, gave to the poor of the parish a rent-

charge of £3, payable out of his lands in Bishopton

Field, called the Hyets ; £1 10s. to the poor of Stilling-

ton, and the remainder to those of Redmarshall and

Carleton, in equal portions at Easter and Christmas ;

also 20s. yearly out of the same estate, 10s. to StiUington,

and 10s. to Redmarshall and Carleton, to be given every

New-year's day, being the day on which his daughter

Elizabeth was buried. These sums are distributed

by the overseers amongst the poor of the respective

townships in sums varying from os. to 10s.

CARLETON.

The extent of this tOAvnship is 1,453 acres, containing

36 inhabited houses. The population, at the successive

periods of enumeration, was 99, 10-5, 140, 183, 157,

and 186: 102 of the latter number being males and 84

females. The annual value of property assessed for the

county-rate, in 1853, was £1,491.

The Clarence railway occupies an area in this town-

ship of 12 A. 2 R. 36 p., and extends over 1 3i. 3 f. 90 Y.

In 1851, it contributed £40 7s. lid. to the local rates;

the gross amount collected being £118 8s. lid.; and

in the following year, the contribution from the railway

was £21 17s. 6d. towards an amount of £92 16s. 5d.

The \'illage of Carleton is situated about 4 miles

north-west from Stockton, and contains a dame school,

with the shops of two smiths, a cartwright, &c. From
an inscription on a pewter flagon, containing about a

gallon, in possession of the late Sir Cuthbert Sharp, it

is probable that rural sports, similar to those of other

places, were formerly celebrated here. The inscrip-

tion, within a wreath, is as follows :
—" The free gift of

the Inhabitants of Carleton, in the county of Durham.

Winne it and weare it. Anno Domini 1672."

Amongst the places detained from the see by the

men ofNorthumberland was Carlentune, which Henry I.

ordered to be restored in 1109. By Boldon Book,

there were 23 farmers holding 46 oxgangs; each

farmer paying 2s. lOd., performing certain services,

and furnishing 2 hens and 20 eggs. Gerbrode, Helias,

Walter the miller, Suminia the widow, and WiUiam

the son of Orm, held portions of land ; and 20 skeps of

com, Jarrum measure, were rendered for the mill.

Under Hatfield's Survey, some of the services were

commuted into money payments. The drengage land

was held by William the son of John de Redmershill

and Simon de Carera. Thomas son of John Gower,

Hugh de Laton de Thorp, and Thomas de Cramblyng-

ton, were free tenants. William Umfray, John of

Neseham, and 18 others, held 31 messuages and 56-

oxgangs, and, besides other rents and services, were

bound to lead timber and mill-stones for Carleton mill

;

also to assist in leading timber for the repair of the

manor-house at Stockton, and in roofing Stockton mill,

when required. An instance of the gradual manner in

which manumission was beginning to be obtained, occvirs

in the case of Thomas Godfrey, who, though a niej of

the lord, resided at Seaton-Carew, paying 5s. a year.

The drengage lands were held, subject to suitable

service, until the reign of Elizabeth. Meanwhile, the

names of various proprietors occur. The Richardsons

and Davisons have held lands in Carleton from a remote

period ; and the estate of the latter family is vested in

the Rev. Edward Davison, of Durham. Seaton Hills,

Holmes Land, and Carleton Farm, belonged to the late

G. Hutchinson, Esq., of Stockton. The greater part of

the township, however, is copyhold, under the see of

Durham. Carleton farm, of 156 a. 1 R. 7 p., with some

other property in the village, is subject to an annual

copyhold rent of £1 12s. 8d.

STILLINGTON.

This township is detached from the rest of the parish

by a junction of Bishopton and Grindon, and is included

in the Sedgefield Poor-law Union. Its extent is 1,104

acres ; and the annual value of property assessed for the

county-rate in 1853 was £1,042. The number of

inhabitants, at the decennial returns, has varied as

follows :—69, 42, 49, 96, 67, and 70, the latter amount

consisting of an equal number of males and females.

In 1851, there were 11 inhabited houses and 2

uninhabited.

Thank you for purchasing from Ebay Shop Retromedia

http://stores.shop.ebay.co.uk/retromedia


PARISH OF BISHOPTON. £33

The Clarence rail\vay, which extends along IJ mile,

and covers 22 acres iu this township, contributed

lis. lOd., in each of the years 1851 and 1852, towards

the local rates, the gross amount of which in 1851 was

£17 8s. 4d., and in 1852, £29 13s. 5d.

The hamlet and township of Stillington is situated

about 2 miles to the north-west of Eedmarshall. From
an early date, lands in this to-miship have been held

of Merton College, Oxford. "William de la Pole, in

1367, held five acres of the Master by the service of

a rose, which was also rendered for the same, in the

10th of Bishop Langley, by Michael, Earl of Suffolk.

Stillington furnished five followers to the Northern

Rebellion, one of whom was executed for the offence.

Mr. Christopher Morpeth, of Stillington, was charged

with a horse and furniture for the service of Charles I.,

but released. On September 6, 1644, warrant was

issued to sequester the estates of Mr. Richard Hart-

burne, papist and delinquent, let at £14 10s. ; also of

Richard Morpeth, letten at £48. On the 6th of

February following, Captain Hartburne's lands were

let, " allowing to the widow her proportion," to John

Husband, Gent.

The college lands are leased by the Rev. Edward
Davison. The Jennisons of Elswick and other families

have held lands in this township ; but a considerable

portion is under the see of Durham.

PAEISH OF BISHOPTON.

IHE parish of Bishopton is bounded by Long-Newton and Elton on the south-east, by Redmarshall on the east,

by the same parish and Grindon on the north, by Great Stainton on the north-west, by Aycliffe on the west, and
by Haughton-le-Skerne (including the chapelry of Sadberge) on the south-west and south. It includes three

townsliips, viz., 1, Bishopton; 2, East and West Newbiggin; and, 3, Little Stainton. The parish is annexed to

Sedgefield Union.

BISHOPTON.

This township contains an area of 2,002 acres. Its

population, in 1801, was 349 ; in 1811, 312; in 1821,

365; in 1831, 423; in 1841, 362; and in 1851, 365, of

whom 175 were males and 190 females. The increase

in 1831 was occasioned by the number of labourers

employed in the formation of the Clarence railway.

There were, in 1851, 84 inhabited houses and 4 unin-

habited. The annual value of property was estimated

for the county-rate, in 1853, at £1,923 17s.

Bishoptonis aplcasant village situated on an eminence,

about 6 miles west-north-west from Stockton, and con-

sists of two open rows of good houses. It contains

five public houses, with two blacksmiths, a joiner, a post

office receiving-house, and a number of tradesmen and
shopkeepers. Bishopton parish feast is held on St.

Peter's day ; and an old cross near the church has pro-

bably been the centre of the ancient merry-makings at

that anniversary. There is a small Methodist chapel in

the village. In 1813, a spacious school-room was built

by subscription, to which Bishop Barrington contributed

£20 ; the trustees of Lord Crewe's charities, £30; M.
J. Davison, Esq., and family, £30; the Rev. John
Bright, £25 ; J. G. Lambton, Esq., (afterwards Earl of

Durham,) £10 ; the Rev. C. Anstey, vicar of Norton,

£10 ; the Re*. Ralph Tatham, vicar of Bishojiton, £5 ;

and Mr. Thomas Sowerby, £5. A convenient dwelling

for the master was erected, shortly afterwards, contiguous

to the school. The usual attendance is from 50 to 60

children. A few voluntary subscrif)tions are collected

in the neighbourhood for the school, which also

received a portion of £20 given annually by the

late master of Sherburn Hospital in support of Bishop-

ton, Grindon, Sockburn, KeUoe, and Ebchestcr schools ;

but there has been no regular endo'wment. The

Charity Commissioners of England and Wales now
propose, however, in their amended scheme for the

management of the hospital, that £200 a year shall be

appropriated from its funds, towards the support and

benefit of those schools. A girls' school, attended by

between 30 and 40 scholars, is supported by subscription

and the quarterly payments of the children.

The most remarkable object at Bishopton, and which

is, indeed, one of the most singular antiquities in the

county, is the Castle Hill, a fortification consisting of

an artificial conical mount with a truncated summit, and

surrounded by a double trench. It is constructed of

common clay and such stones as might be picked up in

the surrounding country, and both its sides and sununit
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are covered with verdure. Its height is 4.31 feet, and

the flat top is an ellipsis of 50 feet by 30. The inner

ditch is carried close around the base ; but the outer

one, though near it on the north and south, extends to

a considerable distance east and west. The Bishopton

Beck flows by on the south, and was probably used for

inundating the trenches. Tradition ascribes this rude

fort to Roger de Conyers ; but, though he may have

entrenched and used it, some antiquaries are inclined

to give it a higher antiquity, and to suppose it a Roman,

Saxon, or Danish remain. The coincidence between

the Conyers and Lambton legends, associated with the

conical hills connected with each family, is curious and

significant. (See vol. i., p. 510).

The first recorded event in the history of Bishopton

is connected with the Castle Hill. It was here that the

courageous and faithful Roger de Conyers fortified his

house, after he had braved the enmity of the usurper

Comyn (see vol. i., p. 35) ; and here he successfully

resisted the numerous army sent against him. Here,

also, the mild William de St. Barbara found an asylum

when the rest of the county was in the hands of his

unscrupulous rival ; and, in the house of Conyers, he

received the homage of such of his vassals as returned

to their duty.

A circumstance Qlustrative of the servile condition of

the children of the soil at that period, is recorded in a

charter, by which Roger de Conyers conveyed to the

prior of Durham the three sons of Eylof de Biscopton,

with all their succession, in exchange for a horse and

six marks of silver, which he had received from the

treasury of St. Cuthbert at his greatest need.

Little of consequence occurred to disturb the tran-

quillity of Bishopton until the breaking out of the

Northern Rebellion in 1569. On the ITth November,

Sii' George Bowes writes, " They [the rebels] have

constrained, by force, sundry to follow them; as the

people of Bishopton, tenants of John Conyers, my son-

in-law, being ready to come forward to serve the queen's

majesty under him here, they not only forced them to

go with them, but compelled the rest of the town,

armed and unarmed, to go to Darneton." It is re-

corded that sixteen persons from " Byshopton," eight

from " Little Staynton," and one from " Newbyggynge,"

joined the insurgents ; and the executions which

followed the failure of the enterprise were four at

Bishopton, two at Little Staintou, and, that an example

might not be wanting in each township, the single

representative which Newbiggin had furnished in the

outbreak also sufiered death.

Bishopton remained in possession of the Conyers

family until 1613, in which and the two foUowing

years. Sir George Conyers, Knt., of Sockburn, and

George Conyers, Esq., his son and heir, alienated the

whole of their manors of Bishopton, Stainton, and

Newbiggin, in various parcels, to their tenants.

The " Bishopton Estate" contains 98 a. 1 r. 16 p. of

freehold, and 20 a. Or. 4 p. of leasehold. The latter is

held by lease, dated May 25, 1614, granted by Sir

George Conyers, Knt., to Cuthbert Beckfield, and

John and Richard his sons, for the term of 2,000 years,

at the yearly rent of 26s. 8d., payable to the lord or

lady of the manor of Bishopton ; acquittance, 6d. The
northern portion of the freehold land is called Stilling-

ton Brigg Close, and was purchased, July 16, 1685, by

Robert Eden, Gent., of Bishopton j it includes an

acre, supposed to be inclosed and held by lease from

Leonard Jackson to Christopher Morpeth, for 1,999

years, at a rent of three barleycorns, by indenture dated

August 18, 4th Charles I., and assigned to Robert

Eden. The land-tax on the whole was £2 10s. 5d.,

but is now redeemed. The fields in the northern por-

tion pay £2 to the poor of Stillington, £1 to the poor of

Redmarshall, and £1 to the poor of Carleton.

Amongst those in Bishopton who purchased from

Conyers, the names of Forwood, Elstob, Humfray,

Buckle (owner of the mill and miU-dam), Jackson, &c.,

appear. Of a loyal family named Todd, the following

interesting episode is furnished in the Sequestrators'

Books :

—

" Information of John Middleton, constable, conceming the delin-

quency of Lancelot Todd.—His son Christopher Todd in the army
against the King (!) and Parliament and the father and son lived all

together ; had 7 kine, 9 sheep, 12 acres of pease, tind 5 of oates.

John Middleton was present when oulde Todd said, ' My son Cursty

shall go and fighte for the King, and who knows but he may come
back a captain in spite of the Crop-ears ;' and that Middleton was

present also when a blacke horse, which he thinks belonged to oulde

Todd, was brought out of the stable for Chi' Todd to ride away upon ;

and after drinking he rode away about two of the clock in the morn-

ing by moonlight, and that oulde Todd went often to Coll. Ccnyers,

at Layton, a noted papist and delinquent. Oulde Todd's lands worth

£30 a-yeare."

Immediately follows an order to " sequester the

goods of Lancelot Todd, papist, £26 Is. 2d." The
property of Todd, which included the Castle Hill, was

afterwards sold to Timothy Davison, Esq., and now
belongs to his descendant, John Eden, Esq., of

Beamisii. Woogrey, an estate of 142 a. 1 r. 38 p.,

with three closes of land in the township, late the pro-

perty of Thomas Hutchinson, Esq., of Stockton,

deceased, have become, by purchase, the property of
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William Trotter, Esq., of Bishop Auckland. The

other proprietors in the township are, George Head,

Esq., JVcst House; Mrs. Croft and others. John

Page Sowerby, Esq., of Stokesley, holds a lease of

the corn tithes of the parish from Sherburn Hospital,

at an annual rent of £-470 10s. Blshopton Mill, worked

by water and steam, the property of the late Mr. John

Willis, was offered for sale by auction, January 10,

1852, but remains in the hands of trustees.

THE CHURCH.

Roger Conyers, with the consent of Robert, his son

and heir, granted Bishopton and Sockburn churches to

Sherburn Hospital, soon after its foundation; and

Bishop Pudsey confirmed the gift, but reserved to him-

self the power of ordaining proper vicars thereto. The
original structure was of Norman foundation, and con-

sisted of a nave and chancel, which were repaired and

modernized, and the lead exchanged for slate, in the

early part of the present century. In 1846-7, the

church was rebuilt and enlarged, and now consists of

nave, north aisle, chancel, vestry at the east end of the

north aisle, and a tower on the west ; under the tower

is the main entrance to the church. The chancel is

separated from the nave by a pointed arch. There are

four geometrical windows in the south aisle, and four

in the north, and a west window of three lights, carry-

ing three plain circles under a pointed arch ; in the

chancel there are two lancets, one on the soutli and one

on the north side. The east window is a triple lancet,

filled with stained glass, the centre portion representing

die Lamb bearing the banner, presented by Miss

Anderson, of Bishopton. In the tower is an organ and

a pew for the singers. The organ was built by Messrs.

Hoggett and Sons, of Darlington ; and by permission

of the vicar, Mr. Cooper, master of the village school,

in 1851 set on foot a subscription for its enlargement,

amongst the contributions to which was six guineas

from the Bishop of Durham : by this means two octaves

of keys and nearly one hundred pipes were added to

the instrument. The church is fitted up with 300

sittings, 200 ajipropriated and 100 free. There is a

sun dial on the south side of the chancel, and the

cemetery is well protected by a substantial stone wall.

The whole of the expense of the improvements and re-

building of the church was defrayed by the vicar, the

Rev. T. B. Holgate, The restorations were con-

ducted under the superintendence of Messrs. Sharpe

and Paley, of Lancashire.

Registers.—Book No. 1 (parchment) contains re-

gisters of baptisms, burials, and marriages, from 1653

to 1752 ; and Nos. 2 to 4, baptisms and burials from

1753 to 1812, and banns of marriages from 1754 to 1812.

Bishopton, otherwise Bishopston vicarage, is a dis-

charged living ; the Master and Brethren of Sherburn

Hospital, propr. and patrons. King's Books, £4 5s.

lOd. ; Tenths, 8s. 7d. ; Episc. proc, 7s. ; Arch. Syn.

and prox., lis.; Archid. proc, 4s. Dedication to St.

Peter.

Vicars.—A. de Yersey, 1290; R. de Mersk, 1291; D'n's Thomas
occurs 1317; Radulphus ; W. de Newhouse, 1382; J. de Skyrwith,

1391 ; J. Bawdon, 1400; J. Sawer, 1409 ; J. Semer, 1501 ; W. Aland-

son, 1558; T. Wall, 1560; G. Widdowes, 1579; D. Miles, 1625; J.

Buckley, A.M., 1661; R. Croft, 1662; W. Thirkheld, A.M., 1681;

J. Tate, 1686; M. Athelston, 1687; R. Condor, 1722; R. Newhouse,
1727 ; S. Hudson, A.M., 1740 ; Richard Tinkler, 1762 ; Ralph Tatham,

A.B., 1776 ; Robert Walker Bamford (chaplain of Sherburn Hospital),

1825, p. m. Tatham; Thomas Burton Holgate, A.B., 1838, p. m.

Bamford.

The glebe consists of about 70 acres. The Hospital

of Sherburn is entitled to the tithe of wool and lamb.

In 1835, the gross annual income of the living was re-

turned at £179, subject to permanent payments amount-

ing to £14. The income at present is £170, towards

which the late Master of Sherburn Hospital contributed

a voluntary payment of £30 per annum. On his death,

the management of the hospital fell into the hands of

the Charity Commissioners of England and Wales,

who, in an amended scheme, published May 10, 1855,

proposed to endow the vicarage of Bishopton with a

permanent augmentation of £70 per annum.

CHARITIES.

Barker's Charity.—The yearly sum of £1, left by

Thomas Barker (see vol. i., p. 467), is paid by a tenant

of the Marchioness of Londonderry at East Newbiggin,

and distributed at the church, amongst the poor of the

parish, by the churchwardens on Candlemas-day.

Thompson''s Charity.—Robert Thompson, by will,

January 31, 1715, charged his property in the to-5\Tiship

of Bishopton with £5, left to the poor by his vuicle,

William Robson, deceased. In rcspectof this sum, the

owner of Bell's Field pays 5s. a year, which is dis-

tributed with the. preceding charity.

Donors unknown.—The churchwardens receive 5s.

annually from the o"\vner of some houses in Bishopton,

and 13s. 4d. from the owners of certain land in Little
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Staiuton. The latter sum Is distributed with the above

charities, and the 5s. in penny and fwopenny loaves at

the same time.

EAST AND WEST NEWBIGGIN.

This township, 6 miles west from Stockton, contains

five farms, on which are seven inhabited houses. The

property was assessed for the county-rate, in 1853, at

£538 5s. The successive population returns give the

number of inhabitants at 42, 34:, 26, 35, 37, and 37 ; of

which latter number 24 were males and 13 females.

The purchasers from the Couyers in East Newbiggin

were, Richard Cusson, Giles Widdowes (vicar of

Bishopton), Thomas Morrie, and John Widdowes.

The present proprietors in the township are, the Mar-

cliioncss of Londonderry ; the representatives of the

late Earl of Eldon ; William Lambton, Esq. ; Mr.

Bryan Watson, IVest Newbiggin ; Watson Alcock,

Esq. ; and Mr. Tinkler, of Stockton.

LITTLE STAINTON.

This township and hamlet occupy the most westerly

part of the parish, and are 7 miles west-by-north from

• In 1798, one of those tragedies occurred at Little Stainton which

sometimes disturb the quietude of the most rural districts. Mary

Nicholson, a servant with Mr. John Atkinson, farmer, was an orphan,

and considered of very weak intellect. It was reported that her

master had taken great liberties, and behaved very cruelly to her
;

and she at length procured some arsenic at Darlington, which she

mixed vnxh. flour intended for a pudding for her master. On
his coming home, he declined eating ; and the poisoned flour was

made into bread for the following morning's breakfast, of which the

whole family, except the servant, partook. In consequence, the family

were taken Ul, and a medical man was hastily sent for, who succeeded

in recovering all but the aged mother of the farmer, who, after linger-

ing for several weeks in great pain, expired. The family had no

doubt of the girl's guilt, but merely discharged her from their service,

telling her that if she never came near Little Stainton again, they

would take no proceedings. The wretched creature, having no person

to relieve her on being turned out of doors, wandered about the

country for several days and nights, and was only sheltered and fed

Stockton, and a mile south from Stainton-le-Street. The
township is divided into four farms,* containing, alto-

gether, 1,083 acres. The number of inhabitants, at the

successive returns, was 59, 62, 62, 54, 74, and 82 ; 42

of the latter being males and 40 females. In 1853, the

property was valued for the county-rate at £797 5s.

Forwood, Elstob, Welfoot, Johnson, Newton, and

Marchell, were the purchasers in this township from

the Conyers. In 1644, the sequestrators let " to

Lancelot Lambe, of Bishopton, all the tythes of corn

and graine in Little Stainton, and East and West New-
biggin, late belonging to Coll. Thomas Davison : the

rent xxx*. monthly." Various changes of proprietor-

ship have occurred in the township. Lord Chancellor

Eldon acquired lands, to which has since been added

property late belonging to the Rev. Henry Askew, of

Greystock, Cumberland, and Mr. James Leybourne

Chambers ; the whole being now held by the representa-

tives of the late Earl of Eldon. A messuage, garth, gar-

den, and farm, the property of the late Mr. John Briggs,

were sold by his widow, in 1853, to WiUiam Trotter,

Esq., of Bishop Auckland, who has also acquired

property late belonging to the Rev. John Bright, of

Scifilington, Shropshire.

on one occasion by Mr. Ord, farmer, of Newfield, near Darlington.

At length, she returned to her previous home, and told the Atkinsons

that she could not rest day or night, and that they might send her to

! gaol, or treat her as they pleased. Accordmgly, she was sent to

Durham, and tried at the assizes following. She stood in court alone,

without a friend, without a soul to speak in her behalf, and was found
guilty, but her case referred to the twelve judges. At the July

assizes of the following year (1 799), she was sentenced to die. On the

22nd, an immense crowd of spectators assembled to witness her end

on Framwellgate Moor. After being launched from the cart, and

remaining suspended for some little time, when still conscious, the

rope broke and she fell to the ground. Upwards of an hour elapsed

before another was procured. " In the interim," says the Newcastle

Chronwle of the day, " she recovered her faculties, and conversed with

her unhappy relatives tiU a rope was brought, when she was launched

into eternity amidst the shrieks and distressful cries of the surround-

ing spectators."
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THE NORTH-EAST DIVISION.

PARISH OF HAET.

^Ut parish of Hart is bounded by the sea on the east, on the north and north-west by Monk-Hesledon parish,

on the south-west by Elwick Hall, and on the south by Stranton. It comprises the following townships, viz., 1,

Hart ; 2, Throston ; 3, Dalton-Piercy ; 4, Elwick ; 5, Thorp-Bulmer ; and, 6, Nesbit. The two latter, which

form the most northerly part of the parish, are in Easington Ward ; and Nesbit, which in 1841 was returned in

the population census with Monk-Hesledon, is attached to Easington Union. The parochial chapelry of Hartle-

pool was held by the vicars of Hart ; but, in 1807, it became a perpetual curacy.

HART.

The township of Hart includes 2,589 acres, of which

223 arc water. Its population, at the six periods of

return, was 219, 228, 231, 243, 276, and 297 ; 154 of

the latter being males and 143 females. There were,

in 1851, 49 inhabited houses, 2 uninhabited, and 2

building. The annual value of property assessed to the

county-rate in 1853, was £3,476 10s.

The following is the account of that part of the parish

of Hart connected with Stockton Union, for the year

ended Lady-day, 1854 :

—

Receipts.

Poor-rates : Hart, £130 17s. ; Throston, £72 4s. ; Dalton-

Piercy, £38 Is. ; Elwick, £67 14s. ; Thorp-Bulmer, £. s.

£41 Ub 350 7

In aid of poor-rate, &c. : Hart, £5 3s. ; Throston, 6s.

;

Dalton-Piercy, £3 lOs. ; Elwick, £1 4s 10 3

Total receipts £360 10

Expenditure.

Ill-maintenance: Hart, £24; Throston, 128.; Dalton-

Piercy, £1 7s. ; Elwick, £2 13 28 12

Out-relief: Hart, £55; Throston, £4 6s. j Dalton-

Piercy, £15 14s.; Elwick, £41 78.; Thorp-Bulmer,

£6 10s 122 16

Carried forward £151 8

Brought forward £151 S

Workhouse loans repaid : Hart, £4 12s. ; Throston, 19s.

;

Dalton-Piercy,£2;Elwick,£216s.;Thorp-Bulmer,13s. 11

Salaries and rations of officers : Hart, £6 10s. ; Tliroston,

£1 7s. ; Dalton-Piercy, £3 ; Elwick, £5 17s 16 14

Other expenses : Hart, £2 14s. ; Throston, lis. ; Dalton-

Piercy, £1 5s.; Elwick,£2Ss 6 IS

Total expenses connected with relief 186

Costs of law proceedings : Hart 9 7

Constables' expenses before justices : Hart, 12s. ;

Throston, 12s.; Dalton-Piercy, 10s.; Elwick, lis.;

Thorp-Bulmer, £1 Is 3 6

Vaccination : Hart, 19s. ; Dalton-Piercy, 10s. ; Elwick,

£1 16s 3 5

Registration fees to clergymen : Hart, 18s. ; Throston,

£1 9s.; Dalton-Piercy, 4s.; Elwick, 12s.; Thorp

Bulmer, 2s

Coimty-rato, &c. : Hart, £58 ; Throston, £62 3s. ; Dal-

ton-Piercy, £12 14s. ; Elwick, £20 12s. ; Thorp-

Bulmer, £23 17s 177 6

Registration: Hart, 15s. ; Tluoston, 4s. ; Dalton-Piercy,

10s.; Thorp-Bulmer, £1 4s 2 13

For other purposes; Hart, £7 13s. ; Throston, £4; Dal-

ton-Piercy, £5 ; Elwick, £7 6s. ; Thorp-Bulmer,

£1 158 25 14

3 5

Total expenditure £410 16

The Hartlepool railway, which passes over an extent

of 1 M. 6 F. 103 Y. in this township, and covers 45 acres.
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contributed £60 to the local rates in 1851, and £30 in

1852 ; the gross amounts collected in those years being

£173 16s. 6d. and £86 17s. 9d.

HISTORY.

The name of Hartness was applied to the whole dis-

trict between the movith of the Tecs and a little to the

north of the modern limit of Stockton Ward, and is sup-

posed to signify the headland (Scandinavian, ness) or

promontory of stags. In the Chronicle of Lindisfarne,

however, as quoted in Lambard's Dictionary, " Heort-

ness" is mentioned as " a tovra in the north partes,

Ecgred, Bishop of the Holy Isle (from 830 to 845)

builded and gave to the see for ever." This passage

evidently applies to the town of Hartlepool.

Hart and Hartness, with other rich manors and wide

domains, were held, before the Norman Conquest, by

Fulk de Panell. To avenge the slaughter of Robert

Comyn and his followers at Durham, the Conquerer

entered Heortnesse, which he wasted with fire and

sword, as well as other parts between York and

Durham; "when grew so great famine that these

northerns were forced to eat the flesh of men." Robert

de Brus, a noble knight of Normandy, who had come

over with the king, was rewarded by his royal master

with Hartness, as well as with Skclton, Yarm, Danby,

and other possessions in Yorkshire, and Annandale in

Scotland.

It was probably a second Robert de Brus, son of the

first, who married Agnes de Panell, daughter of Fulk.

He founded the priory of Guisborough in 1129, and

gave thereto the chiuxhes of Hart and Stranton, with

their dependent chapels. He was joined with Barnard

Baliol in offering terms of peace to the Scottish king

David, and afterwards shared in the victory over that

monarch on Cowton Moor in 1138. He died in 11-11,

and was buried in his abbey of Guisborough.

Adam, eldest son of Robert, succeeded to the estates

in Yorkshire. A younger son, Robert, had been pre-

sented by his father with the lordship of Annandale

;

but, fighting in the cause of his liege lord, the king of

Scotland, he was taken prisoner by his father, and

transferred by him to the English king, who graciously

delivered the young captive back to his parent. It is

related that having complained that his valley at

Annan produced no wheaten bread, his father added to

his former possessions the more fertile district of Hart

and Hartness, for which, in 1171, he paid 100s. into the

chequer as scutage, on the marriage of the king's

daughter. He gave to the monastery of Guisborough

six oxgangs of land in Stranton and one in Hart, with

the chapel of St. Hilda at Hartlepool. He died in

1171, and was succeeded by a son of his own name.

William, son of the latter, who died in 1191, had a son

named Robert, who married Isabel, daughter of David,

Earl of Huntingdon, and grandchild of Henry Prince

of Scotland, and thus acquired for his posterity their

claim to the crown of that kingdom. On his death in

1245, he was succeeded by his son, the sixth Robert

de Brus, who adhered to the cause of Henry III. in

the barons' wars : he was captured at Lewes, but

restored by the victory of Evesham. In 1291, he was

brought into competition with Baliol for the disputed

succession of the Scottish throne; but resigned his

pretensions, and died in 1295.

Amongst the chivalry who devoted their youth to

the holy wars, was Robert, son of the last named

Robert de Brus. After his return from Palestine with

Prince Edward, when he is described as having been
" an illustrious knight, and a most beautiful young

man," he was hunting, with a large party, in the woods

near the castle of Turnbery, the seat of Martha, the

young Countess of Carrick (whose father. Earl Neil,

had fallen in the crusades), when he wa3 met by the

lady herself. She was so enamoured at first sight,

that, according to Eordun, she gave him the salutations

and embraces " usual in courts," and entreated him to

partake of her diversions. " AVhen he betrayed a

reluctance to her proposal, she forcibly drew his reins

back with her own hands, and led the knight, against

his will," to her castle, where she kept him in gentle

durance for "fifteen days and more." They were

shortly afterwards married ; and King Alexander, pro-

voked at the clandestine union, seized the lands of

Carrick, but soon restored them, and Brus thus became

Earl of Carrick. He acknowledged the title of Baliol

in 1293, and remained all his life in the allegiance of

England. He had summons to parliament in the 23rd,

24th, and 25th Edward I., and attended that monarch

in his invasion of Scotland. His death took place, in

his government of Carlisle, in 1304.

In 1306, the ninth Robert de Brus, after many

vacillations, asserted his claim to the crown of Scotland ;

on which he was immediately declared a traitor and a

rebel by King Edward ; and his manor of Hart, the

borough of Hartrepol, and all his other property in the

bishopric of Durham, were granted to Robert Lord

Clifford and his heirs for ever, saving the rights of the

church of St. Cuthbert.
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Five years previous, the king had granted the custody

of the temporalities of the see of Durham, seized in the

absence of Bishop Beck, to Clifford, who had served

his royal master with fidelity during the Scottish wars.

He was slain at the battle of Bannockburn, and was

succeeded by his son, Roger, then a minor. Bishop

Kellawe, in right of the see, committed the manors of

Hert and Hertness to the custody of William de Elme-

den. Roger Clifford joined the rebellion of Thomas

Earl of Lancaster against Edward II., and was taken

prisoner at Boroughbridge in 1321, and soon after

beheaded at York. His forfeited estates were granted

to John Earl of Richmond, shortly after surprised and

taken prisoner at Byland Abbey by King Robert

Bruce, and who subsequently died in France.

In 1327, Robert, brother and heir of Roger de

Clifford, was restored to his estates; and, about the

same time. Bishop Beaumont established hia claim

before parHament to all the forfeitures in the palatinate

which had occurred in the reign of Edward I. Clifford

died in 1344, seised of the manors of Hert and Hert-

nesse, held of the see by the service of two knights'

fees. Robert, his son, being only 13 years of age.

Bishop Bury committed the estates to the care of his

cschcator, William de Mordon. Robert de Clifford

afterwards served at the battle of Cressy ; and on his

death about 1362, he was succeeded by his brother,

Roger Lord Clifford, who died in the 13th year of

Richard II., seised of the manors of Hert and Hartil-

pole, with the towns of Elwick, Stranton, and Brerton.

Thomas Lord Clifford, his son, who died two years

afterwards, was succeeded by John Lord Clifford, then

an infant, afterwards slain at the siege of Meaux in

France, in the 9th of Henry V. Thomas Lord Clifford,

his son, lost his life in the battle of St. Alban's, fighting

for Henry VI. ; and, faithful and zealous for the house

of Lancaster, John, his successor, made so great a

slaughter with his own hands, at the battle of Wake-
field, that he was thenceforth styled " The Butcher."

He was slain at the battle of Towton, on Palm-Sunday,

March 29, in the first year of Edward IV., leaving

two sons ; the eldest, Henry, only seven years

of age.

The victorious Yorkists eagerly endeavoured to find

the children of the fallen warrior; but his widowed

• In Wiitaker's Craven it is related that, about 1S47, Clifford

" fell into a languishing sickness, and was reduced to such an extreme
state of weakness, that his physicians thought him dead. His body-

was already stripped, laid out upon a table, and covered with a herse-

cloth of black velvet, when some of his attendants, by whom he was

VOL. II.

lady had her youngest son conveyed to the Netherlands

(where he soon after died), and concealed the eldest at

Lonsborough, in Yorkshire, with a shepherd who had
married an attendant on his nurse. Though brought

up as the son of the shepherd, the youth patiently

submitted to the deprivations and humiliations of his

life, occasionally cheered, as they were, by the stolen

visits of his mother. The marriage of that lady

with Sir Lancelot Thrclkeld did not interfere with her

maternal care; for when, about the eighth year of

Edward IV., her father. Earl Vesci, died, and rumours

were spread about the court that the young Lord Clif-

ford was stiU alive, she, with the assistance of her

husband, had the shepherd, with his wife and family,

conveyed to the mountains of Cumberland, near the

Scottish Border, where she was enabled to continue her

hazardous visits to her son. In this obscure condition

he continued till the beginning of Henry VII. 's reign,

when he was nearly 30 years of age, and so meanly

bred as to be unable to read. He was, however, re-

stored by King Henry to his lands and honours, and

learned to write his name. He took up his principal

residence at Barden Tower, in the vicinity of Bolton

Priory, " to the end," says Dugdale, " he might have

opportunity to converse with some of the canons of the

house (as it is said) who were well versed in astronomy

;

unto which study having a singular affection (perhaps

in regard of his solitary shepheard's life, which gave

him time for contemplation) he fitted himself with

diverse instruments for use therein." He held a com-

mand at Flodden Field, and died in 1523.

Henry Lord Clifford, son of "the shepherd lord,"

was one of those who, in the parliament of 22nd Henry

VIII., subscribed the letter to Pope Clement VII.,

importuning him to ratify King Henry's divorce from

Queen Catherine. He was created Earl of Cumber-

land and Knight of the Garter, appointed Lord Presi-

dent of the North, and several times Lord Warden of

the Marches. His death took place April 22, 1542;

when he was succeeded by his son, Henry Lord

Clifford, second Earl of Cumberland.* George, the

third earl, was 12 years of age at the death of his

father, and was educated at Cambridge under John

Whitgift, afterwards Archbishop of Canterbury. He
was a brave warrior, a distinguished voyager, and an

greatly beloved, perceived symptoms of returning life. He was once

more put to bed, and, by the help of warm clothes without, and cor-

dials within, gradually recovered. But, for a month or more, his only

sustenance was milk sucked from a woman's breast, which restored

him completely to health, and he became a strong man."
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accomplished courtier.* In 1536, he was one of the

peers who sat in judgment upon Mary Queen of Scots

at Fotheringhay. " His first voyage," says Dugdale,

" was to Sluyse in — an. 1587, to assist Sir Eoger

"Williams against the Duke of Parma. His second in

an. 158S, when the Spanish navy threatned an invasion

here, wherein he did great service. His third to the

isles of Terceira and Azores, where he took the fort of

Fyales, and received a dangerous wound. His fourth

to the coasts of Spain; and his last to S. John de

Portarico, where he won the town, with great honor,

and returned safe into England about the beginning of

October, an. 1598." He was made a Knight of the

Garter in 1592 ; but his " building of ships, hors-racing,

tilting, and the like expensive exercises," involved hira

in necessities, which compelled him, in 1586, to sell a

great portion of his estates ; and, amongst others, the

manors of Harte, Hartnessc, Hartlepool, Thurston,

Over Thurston, Nether Thurston, and Nelston, were

purchased by John Lord Lumley, of Lumley Castle,

for £5,350.

Alter remaining in possession of the Lumley family

till 1770, the above estates were sold by Richard,

fourth Earl of Scarborough, for £72,000, to Sir George

• His new-year's gilt to Queen Elizabeth, in 1600, was " one petty-

cote of wliite sarcenet, embrothered all over with Venyce silver plate,
|

and some camac'on silke, like Columbine's." His countess presented

" one paire of braceletts of golde, conteyuing eight peeces like knottes,

and eight roundo peeces, garnished with small sparks of rubyes, peaxle

and half pearle."

t Sib George Pocock.—^This distinguished naval commander was

sou of the Rev. Thomas Pocock, chaplain to Greenwich Hospital.

He was bom March 16, 1706, and entered the navy in the twelfth

year of his age. Having honourably passed through the subordinate

ranks of his profession, he was promoted to the rank of post captain

in 173S, and joined Rear-admiral Haddock's squadron in the Mediter-

ranean, where he made several rich captures. In 1745, he convoyed

four of the East India Company's ships out ; and on his return, was

ordered to the West Indies, where, on the death of Commodore Legge,

September 19, 1747, he succeeded to the chief command on the Bar-

badoes station. In 1754, in the Cumberland, of 66 guns, he joined

Rear-admiral Watson's squadron in the East Indies, which reduced

tlie fort of the famous pirate Angria. He was made rear-admiral of

the white on February 4, 1755 ; and on the 4th of June, in the follow-

ing year, rear-admiral of tlie red. He assisted at the recovery of

Calcutta from the Nabob Siirajah Doulah, and afterwards served at

the reduction of Chandernagore. Admiral Watson died at Calcutta,

August 16, 1757, and Admiral Pocock succeeded to the chief com-

mand in the East Indies, where he fought two severe battles with the

French fleet under Count D'Ache, who was compelled, on both occa-

sions to escape by flight, and take shelter in Pondicherry road. Here

it was not thought prudent by the British commander to attack both

the ships and the fort at one time ; and he accordingly lay in the

oifiug, keeping his Ime of battle formed. The French squadron, con-

sisting of eleven sail of the line and two frigates, at length sailed out

;

but instead of engaging, M. D'Ache made the signal for his ships to

Pocock, K.B.,t from whose descendant, George Po-

cock, Esq., of Hoiwood House, Kent, and Twicken- ^^
ham, Middlesex, they were purchased, about 1830, by ^J
William-Harry, then jMarquis, and afterwards Duke of

Cleveland.

By the will of this nobleman, dated June 15, 1836,

he bequeathed his Hardwick, Hartlepool, and Hart

estates to the use of Henry Lord Brougham and Vaux,

Thomas Metcalfe, and Gerard Bliss ^Yharton, upon

trust for Prederick-Acclom Milbank, second son of the

testator's daughter, Lady Augusta-Henrietta Milbank

(see page 108), and his heirs male ; failing which, for

Henry-John Milbank, third son of his said daughter, or

for Augustus-Sussex .Milbank, her fourth son, or for

her younger sons in succession, and their respective

heii's ; failing which for Mark-William-Vane Milbank,

her eldest son and his heirs. In default of such issue,

the trust was to be for the second and succeeding sons

of the testator's daughter, Lady Laura Meyrick, and

their issue ; failing which, for her eldest son, Augustns-

Williani-Henry Jleyrick, and his issue ; failing which,

for the sons of his other daughter. Lady Arabella Arden,

and their issue, in tlie same order ; failing which, for

the testator's own right heirs for ever.

make sail to the southward, by which they increased their distance

from tlie British fleet from about a random shot at daylight, to near

four leagues to windward . As it was the opinion of the rear-admiral

and captains that the condition of the squadron was not such as to

warrant following them, Admiral Pocock proceeded to Madras. In

the following year, he returned to England, leaving the command to

Rear-admiral Stevens. In 1761, he was honoured with the Order of

the Bath ; and the East India Company placed liis statue in marble

in their hall, Havmg been promoted to be admiral of the blue, he

sailed in the Xamur, of 90 guns, to the West Indies, where he took

the command in chief of the fleet engaged in the memorable expedi-

tion against the Havannah, the capital of Cuba. This fleet consisted

of 26 ships of the line, 15 frigates, and a considerable number of

sloops of war and bombs, amounting altogether to more than 50 ves-

sels of war, which arrived off the Havannah on June 6, 1762. The

land forces under the command of the Earl of Albemarle, brother to

Admiral Keppcl, amounting to upwards of 10,000 men, were landed

on the next day ; and the joint operations of the army and navy were

conducted with such vigour and unanimity that the Moro fort was

taken by storm, after a siege of 29 days, during which time the enemy

lost above 1,0C0 men. About a fortnight afterw.ards, the governor

desired to capitulate for the town, which was granted. The private

property of tJie inhabitants was secured by the treaty ; but the con-

querors found a booty computed at near three millions sterling, in

sOver and valuable merchandise, belonging to the king of Spain,

besides an immense quantity of arms, artillery, and military stores.

On his return home, Sir George Pocock received the thanks of both

houses of parliament, of the city of London, and other public bodies,

for his distinguished services, but never accepted of any subsequent

command, and, in the year 1766, totally retired to private life. He
died at his house in Curzon Street, May Fair, April 3, 1792, at the

advanced age of 87 ; and his remains were interred in the family

vault at Twickenham.
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On the death of the Duke of Cleveland, January 29,

1842, an act of parliament was obtained (5 and 6 Vict.,

c. 23) to enable the trustees of his will to grant mining,

building, and other leases of the trust estates, and to

sell or exchange parts of them. The mining leases

were not to exceed 41 years as regarded quarries of

stone, coal mines, and seams of coal, or 60 years as re-

garded iron, ironstone, and coal accompanying them.

Building leases were not to exceed 99 years ; and the

trustees were empowered to appropriate any part of the

lands so leased for markets, crescents, open spaces,

squares, roads, streets, &c. Power was also given to

sell " Hartwick estate in the parish of Monk Heselton,"

*' Hutton Henry estate, also in the parish of Monk
Heselton," and "Hurworth estate in the parish of

Kelloe," or to exchange these for other freeholds.

A second act, 9 and 10 Vict., c. 30, 1846, gave

further powers to the trustees, and enabled them, for

the advantage of Frederick-Acclom Milbank and other

persons beneficially interested, to grant building leases

for 200 years, instead of 99. Power was given to sell

or exchange the Dalton-Piercy estate, stated to contain

145 A. 7 B. ; also the whole of the corn tithes or half of

the hay tithes of Hurworth estate, and to convey the

" Slakes and land dry at low-water mark." The deceased

Duke of Cleveland having entered into an agreement

with the Hartlepool Dock Company to be at half the

expense of excavating and deepening about 30 acres of

the Slake, the trustees were empowered to raise, by

mortgage on the trust estates, a sum not exceeding

£4,000 for that purpose. The act provided that, after

paying interest, one-twentieth of the money so raised

should be annually dischai-ged.

An act, 12 and 13 Vict., c. 16, 1849, " to enable the

trustees of the will of the late Duke of Cleveland to raise

certain monies on the trust estates in the county of Dur-
ham by the said will devised, and for the management of

the said estates," recited that, since the passing of the

previous act, " the said Frederick-Acclom Milbank had

had an eldest son, William-Harry-Vane Llilbank, then

of the age of six months ;" and that, as the proposed ex-

cavation would be a work of a permanent nature, and

more likely to be beneficial at a distant time to the future

proprietors of the estates than to the said Frederick-

Acclom Milbank, then about 29 years of age, the pro-

vision for paying off the money proposed to be borrowed

in 20 years should be repealed. It was also provided

that the trustees might raise the sum of £1,129 4s. 5d.

by mortgage, to meet the expense of carrying out an

agreement entered into with the Hartlepool Gas and

Water Company ; and they were empowered to alter or

rescind the agreement with the Hartlepool Dock
Company for excavating the tidal lands called the

Slake. The' Court of Chancery was to allow, tax, and

settle all costs and expenses incurred by the trustees in

the exercise of their functions.

By indenture, December 22, 1849, the trustees, with

Frederick-Acclom ]MLlbank, 'granted to John Sutton,

Esq., the lands and hereditaments therein described for

the term of 500 years, subject to the proviso for cessor

of the term on payment of the sum of £1,869 4s. 3d.,

being the amount of costs, charges, and expenses which

the trustees were authorized to raise. By indenture,

March 23, 1853, Henry-William Woodhouse was con-

stituted a trustee in the place of Thomas Bletcalfe, who,

by reason of unsoundness of mind, had become unable

to act. Another indenture, June 13, 1853, states that

Matthew Ford, Gent., of Lincoln's Inn Fields, had been

appointed by the Lords Justices sitting for the Lord

Chancellor to join and concur with the necessary parties

in conveying the lands ; and he, in pursuance of the

order in Chancery, with the consent of Lord Brougham,

conveyed to Christopher White, Gent., of Lincoln's Inn,

the manors, &c., to hold to the use of the trustees.

After the passing of the last-mentioned act of parlia-

ment, a suit in Chancery was instituted between the

trustees and Elizabeth Duchess Dowager of Cleveland,

Lord Harry-George Vane, Frederick-Acclom Milbank,

and William -Harry-Vane Milbank, for the purpose of

ascertaining whether the agreement between the late

duke and the Hartlepool Dock and Railway Company

could be enforced ; when the Master found that there

was no contract capable of being enforced against the

company.

An act, 16 and 17 Vict., c. 29, received the royal

assent August 20, 1853, for extending the powers of the

trustees, and enabling them to raise money on the trust

estates. The preamble recites, amongst other circum-

stances, that, since the passing of the previous act,

Frederick-Acclom Milbank had had another son, Pow-

lett-Charles-John Milbank, then about twelve months

old. The act provides that clauses as to short-workings

may be inserted in mining leases, which may thus be

assimilated to the general custom of the county. Lands

may be leased for villa sites, for terms not exceeding

200 years, provided each site shall not exceed 10 acres,

and that the villas or dwelling houses be of a superior

class. Covenants to insure in certain cases may be

dispensed with. The trustees may reserve and accept

rights, and may exchange any part of the estates for
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straightening boundaries, &c. Power Is given to effect

an exchange, not exceeding Sacres, with William Grey,

Esq., of Crimdon House, according to an arrangement

entered into during the life-time of the late duke, on

the formation of the Hartlepool railway. The trustees

may sell any part of tlie estates for pubUc purposes, re-

serving a ground-rent ; and if any fine be paid, it is to

be treated as money arising under power of sale. They

may, with the sanction of the Court of Chancery, ex-

cavate the Slake, and for that purpose raise money by

mortgage of the estates, which shall not exceed £4,000.

A new embankment having been erected on the west

side of the Slake, as required by the Admiralty, and a

common sewer made to drain the adjoining building

ground, at a cost of £945 10s. 3d., by Frederick-Acclom

Milbank, the trustees were empowered to raise that sum

by mortgage. They were also empowered to raise, by

the same means, any sum not exceeding £10,000 for

the purpose of constructing or erecting " any railway

stations, reservoirs, water-works, docks, graving docks,

slip-ways, ship-building yards, and other works gene-

rally connected with ship-building and dock purposes,

and for erecting ballast cranes and machines for raising

ballast out of vessels, and constructing railways and

tram-roads, for the removal of ballast from vessels and

depositing the same on the said estates, or for conveying

goods and merchandise to or from ships, or to or from

manufactories, and for the purpose of levelling or con-

tracting with any other person or persons or bodies

corporate for the levelling of sand-hills on the said

estates, so as to convert the same and any other portion

of the said estates into land for building and other

beneficial purposes, and for the purpose of making

sewers, roads, streets, or ways, and all necessary works

belonging thereto, and for the purpose of purchasing

the pipes and other materials laid down and used by

the said Hartlepool Dock and Railway Company for

conveying the water from Dyke House Springs on the

said estates to the works of the said company at Hart-

lepool aforesaid, and also for all snch other works or

matters connected with the said estates which the said

Court of Chancery may from time to time think bene-

ficial." All monies raised under this power are to be

extinguished in 20 years, commencing at the end of 10

years after the money shall be raised. The remaining

provisions of the act relate to the arrangement of costs

;

* Mr. Ellerker was a well-known race-horse breeder ; and several of

hb stud—Saxouy, Cleveland, Cardinal York, &c., have competed

successfully on some of the principal race-courses in England, Mr.

Ellerker was succeeded in his pursuits by Jlr. Robert Stephenson

;

settlement of disputes by arbitration,- leases of ease-

ments, privileges, waterleaves, or wayleaves through

or over lands, &c., adjoining the estates ; settlement

of accounts ; priority of incumbrances ; trustees' ac-

countability, &c. The short title of the act is, " Duke
of Cleveland's Harte Estate Act, 1853."

The village of Hart is situated 11 miles north-by-

east from Stockton, and 4 miles west from Hartlepool.

It occupies the brow of a considerable eminence, which

commands a fine view of the town of Hartlepool, with

its ancient church towering above the docks and ship-

ping, the modern town of West Hartlepool, the village

of Stranton, and a long extent of sea coast to the north

and south. On the south-west side of the church-yard

is the Manor-house, formerly the residence of the

Ellerkers, and now of the family of the late Mr. Robert

Stephenson.* Included in some farm-offices, a Uttle

further to the west, are the well-preserved remains of

an ancient building, supposed to be monastic, and in

which tradition asserts that the celebrated Robert

Bruce was born. In the village are a public-house

(though formerly there were three), a brewery, a mill,

two blacksmiths, two cartwrights, and a few workmen.

A school was built in 1828, at the west end of the

village, by the late Duke of Cleveland ; it is capable of

accommodating about forty scholars, and at present

about twenty attend. It is without endowment, being

supported by the subscriptions of the children.—The

parish feast is held on the Sunday and Monday before

Old St. Magdalen's day.

From Hart, seventeen persons joined the rebellion of

1569, of whom four were executed. In 1587, the

plague raged with great virulence in the village and

neighbourhood ; no fewer than " 89 corses" were

buried, one of which was " a young woman unknown,

who died in the street."

An attempt was made to procure coals near Hart in

1735, when the depth of the boring through a bed of

hard limestone was 55 fathoms, 1 yard, 1 foot, 4 inches ;

after which, a succession of open limestone, with soft

marly partings and water, put a stop to all further pro-

ceedings. In 1808, the attempt was renewed about

200 yards from the place previously tried : at the depth _

of 29 fathoms, beneath an uninterrupted bed of hard I

limestone, there was a considerable quantity of water,

and Virago, Voltaire, and the winner of the Derby in 1850—Voltigeur,

are weU known in the sporting world. Mr. Stephenson died

in 1852, and his valuable stud was sold at the following Doncasttr

meeting.
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succeeded by 50 fathoms of limestone ; beneath this

the workmen came to a quicksand, through which the

bore-rods penetrated 4 yards without any signs of its

terminationj and the work was abandoned.

THE CHURCH.

Hart church, which is the mother church to St. Hilda,

Hartlepool, is supposed to have been of Norman archi-

tecture, although but little of the original now remains.

The tower itself is Norman ; but the upper portion has

been removed and a modern termination given to it.

In the body of the church, large modern pointed arched

windows have been introduced instead of the original

small windows, and a flat plastered roof given to the

chancel when it was rebuilt in 1806. The edifice,

which stands at the north of the village, consists of nave

with side aisles and chancel. There is an old bas-relief

of St. George and the Dragon on the outer south wall

of the chancel, which, from exposure, is much decayed.

Within the entrance porch, which is on the south, are

six grotesque heads, considerably mutilated. The south

aisle is formed by three small octagonal pillars, sup-

porting four obtusely pointed arches, with two south

windows and one to the east. A short thick column,

supportiug two circular arches, above which are eleven

grotesque heads, divides the nave from the north aisle.

The roof of the nave is of fir, and those of the aisles oak.

A large circular arch divides the nave from the chancel

:

the latter has three windows ; one at the east end and

one on each side. On the south side of the chancel is

a mural tablet to the Ellerker family, and a similar

monument in the south aisle to the family of the Scur-

fields. The pews were repaired in 1827, and the

church will acconunodate 250 persons. On the north

side of the chancel a handsome organ has recently been

introduced.

The baptismal font is a curious sculpture, formed of

the limestone common in the neighbourhood. The
base, tlie shaft, and the basin, are all octagonal. The
base is sculptured with alternate cherubs' heads and

quatrefoUs. On the sides of the shafts are niches, in

which are figures of saints, with their appropriate sym-

bols. Around the bottom of the basin are foliage and

cherubs. On four of its compartments arc the winged

• Alison Lawe, of Hart, who appears to have practised as a " wise

woman," was buried on the fitUi of August, 1-558. Janet Bainbridge

and Janet Allenson, of Stockton, " resorted to Alison Lawe for help

of y« sick;" and in the following year, "they did ask counsell at

witches." At Norton, she Is declared to have "been a sorceror, and
is now suspected of the same." Having been cited to appear in

court, as "a notorious sorceror and inchautcr," she was sentenced to

lion of St. Mark, the eagle, and emblems of the other

evangelists; figures of the apostles or saints occupy

other three compartments ; and the eighth contains a

representation of the resurrection, with the cup, the

scourge, and the spear. Billings remarks that this font,

" though richly sculptured, has nothing to recommend

it as a work of art ;" it has, however, frequently been

the subject of the artist's pencil.

The church-yard* is well drained and walled round,

and is partially planted with shrubs.

Bruce's grant of the churches of Hart and Strantou

to Guisborough priory (1129) was confirmed by several

of his descendants and by successive bishops. Bishop

Beck, in 1288, in consequence of the burthens with

which William de Middlesburgh, prior, and the con-

vent of Guisborough, were oppressed, from their great

expenditure in charities, &c., granted to them the vicar-

age of Hart, with the customary obventions and appurte-

nances, during the life of the said William, which they

m.ight convert to their use and relief, so that the vicarage

were duly served by two virtuous and discreet canons,

who were to practise hospitality to the poor as far as

they were able. In 1308, the same prelate (then patri-

arch of Jerusalem), as a mark of his especial favour, in

consequence of the religious devotion, the continual

observance of hospitality, &c., of the prior and convent

of Guisborough, granted them the indulgence that in

the church of Hart and chapel of Hartlepool, where

the cure of souls had previously been exercised by a

secular vicar, divine service should, after that time, be

perpetually performed by a canon of Guisborough, &c.

In the valuation or taxation of ecclesiastical benefices

which was made in the reign of Edward I., in conse-

quence of a grant of the ninth part of their value by

Pope Nicholas for the aid of that monarch in his

expedition to the Holy Land, the vicarage of Hart was

valued at £40 ; equivalent to nearly £500 in the money

of the present day.

Registers.—Books Nos. 1 and 2 (parchment) contain

entries of baptisms from 1577 to 1812, burials from

1577 to 1676, and marriages from 1577 to 1753 ; No.

3, burials from 1677 to 1812 ; and No. 4, marriages

from 1754 to 1812.t

stand in the market-place at Durham, "with a papir on her head,"

on the following Sunday in the church at Hart, and on the Sunday

succeeeding in the church at Norton.

t " December 17, 1596. Ellen Thompson, fornicatrix (and then

excommunicated), was buried of ye people in ye chaer [lane] at

ye entrance unto the ycate or stile of y^ church yard, on the east

thereof."—" Feb. 12, 16U. Old Mother Midnight, of Elwick,
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Hart vicarage, the prior of Guisborough patron till

the Dissolution ; since, the crown. Duke of Cleveland,

imp. King's Books, £11 ITs. Id. ; Tenths, £1 3s. 8id.

;

Episc. proc, 6s. ; Archid. proc, 4s. ; Synod., 4s.

Dedication to St. Mary Magdalen.

Vic.\RS.—J. de Wirkesall ; J. de Cotum, 1358, p. res. Wiikesall

;

.T. Hall ; J. EasiBgwald, 1418 ; R. Sorncbie, 1501 ; W. Wilson ; K.

Todde, LL.B., 1537, p. m. Wilson; W. Hardyn, cl., 1554, p. res.

Todde ; J. Robson, cl., 1584, p. m. Hardyn ; Gabriel Price, 159S ; J.

Leake, A.M., 1613 ; E. Yoimg, cl., 1626, p. m. Leake ; Bowey,

an intruder, ejected for non-conformity ; E. Smathwaite, A.B., 1661

;

S. Woodifield occurs 1689 ; R. Werge, A.M., occurs 1723 ; J. Mor-

land, cl., A.M., 1735, p. res. Werge ; Benjamin Pye, B.C.L., 1770, p.

ra. jftlorland ; Richard Ridley, A.M., 1808, p. m. Pye; Edward

Moises, A.M., (morning lecturer of All Saints, Newcastle, and mas-

ter of the Royal Grammar School at that place) 181 1, p. res. Ridley

:

William Gorst Harrison, A.M., 1845, p. m. Moises.

The vicar of Hart furnished one lancer and three

archers to the general array of the clergy in 1400.

The vicarage-house is at the west of the village, and

was enlarged and improved a few years ago. The

glebe consists of about 72 acres; and the vicar is

entitled to the tithes of certain farms, called " the three

Thorps." Several of the vicars have made occasional

claims on the tithes of Hartlepool ; but, in considera-

tion of the poverty of that benefice, they did not

persevere further than the assertion of their undisputed

right. The annual income is stated at £247, subject

to a permanent papuent of £25, leaving £223 clear.

CHARITIES.

Charities of Bromley and others.—Robert Bromley,

by deed, November 24, 1668, gave to the poor of the

lordsliip of Hart the sum of £20, the interest to be

applied towards putting out apprentices. The prin-

cipal, with other money given to the poor by a person

named Barker, is supposed to have been laid out by

Edward EUcrker, steward of the estate, in building

three cottages on land now belonging to,F. A. Mil-

bank, Esq. Another sum of £35, the gift of some

person unknown, was, in 1786, vested in Mr. EUerkcr,

and produced £1 15s. a year. One of the cottages was

fitted up as a school by the late Duke of Cleveland

;

another was inhabited by a pauper placed there by the

overseers ; and the third let by them to a blacksmith at

20s. a year. Nothing appears ever to have been given

buried."—" 1652. Jolrn Pasmore departed this life one Sunday,

and was buried on black Monday, 29th of March. There was a star

appeared in the south-east; yo sun eclipsed."

There are several entries respecting members of the families of

Lawson and Howard, both of Thorp .Bulmer.

to the poor, or applied in putting out apprentices, in

respect of this charity. The cottage used as a school-

room is now occupied by the master of the new school,

rent free, and the other two by the blacksmith, who
pays to F. A. Milbank, Esq., 20s. per anTinm for his

shop and 25s. for the cottage behind.

See township of Daltox-Piercy.

THROSTON.

The township of Throston adjoins that of Hart on the

south, and contains 1,575 acres, of which 104 are sub-

ject to tidal overflow. The population returns, at the

periods of enumeration, give the numbers at 58, 48,

71, 70, 101, and 240; of which latter number 187 were

males and 53 females. For the accommodation of this

population, there were, in 1851, 18 inhabited houses,

and 4 more were being built. The property was

assessed to the county-rate, in 1853, at £3,756. The
township contains 7 farms.

The Hartlepool branch of the York, Newcastle, and

Berwick railway, extending over a mile, and covering

an area of ten acres in this township, contributed £20

towards the local rates in 1851, and £15 in 1852 ; the

total amounts collected in those years being £125

19s. Id. and £71 Os. 8d.

The hamlet of Throston is 2| miles west-by-south

from Hartlepool, and 11 north-north-east from Stock-

ton. The township has always been a part of the Hart

estate, and passed with it through its successive

proprietors.

ELWICK.

The township of Elwick forms the south-western por-

tion of the parish of Hart. It covers an area of 1,500

acres; and contained, in 1851, 55 inhabited houses, 3

uninhabited, and 2 building. In 1853, the annual

value of property assessed for the county-rate was

£1,229, 13s. The decennial returns of population are

170, 179, 213, 232, 238, and 250, the latter number

consisting of an equal proportion of males and females.

The village of Elwick stands on the side of a hill,

separated by a deep dene from the adjoining parish

and church of Elwick Hall, and is 9 miles north-by-

east from Stockton. It contains a mill, a tile manufac-

tory, two public-houses, a dame's school, and the

usual village tradesmen. An annual feast, at which the

most popular rustic sports are kept up, is held on the

Sunday and Monday after Old St. Magdalen's day.

Thank you for purchasing from Ebay Shop Retromedia

http://stores.shop.ebay.co.uk/retromedia


PARISH OF HART. 245

Ailewic, in Hertenes, was given by the second

Robert de Brus, in marriage with his daughter Agatha,

wife of Ralph, son of Ribald, of Middleham. Their

great-grandson left three co-heiresses, the eldest of

whom married Robert Neville, in whose posterity the

manor of Elwick remained till the rebellion of 1569.

That outbreak was joined by five of its inhabitants, of

whom one was executed. After the attainder, a num-

ber of small freeholds were formed. The principal

proprietors at present are the representatives of the late

J. Martindale, Esq., and of Mr. Shafto, solicitor, Dur-

ham. Mr. Robert Darling holds property in the town-

ship. The owner of Dovecotfarm resides in London.

DALTON-PIERCY.

The township of Dalton-Piercy is the most southern

portion of Hart, and is joined by the parish of Elwick

Hall on the west, and by Brearton, in the parish of

Stranton, on the south. Its extent is 987 acres ; and

the property was assessed for the county-rate, in 1853,

at £760 12s. The population was returned successively

at 70, 68, 75, 79, 78, and 91, of whom 4-3 were males

and 48 females. The number of houses, in both 1841

and 1851, was 16 inhabited and 1 uninhabited.

The hamlet called i2e(f Lions derives its name from

two public houses on the Sunderland and Stockton road;

it is 8 miles north-by-east from the latter place.

Dalton was sold, in 1370, by Henry Lord Percy to

Sir Jolin Neville, of Raby, and was forfeited in 1569

by the last Earl of Westmoreland. Since that time, it

has been much divided ; tlie Chiltons being the prin-

cipal proprietors. Frederick-Acclora Milbank, Esq.,

and the representatives of the late Mr. J. Jobson, hold

property in the township; and Dalton-Piercy and

Three Gates farms belong to Queen's College, Oxford.

The sum of £20, given to the poor of Dalton-

Piercy by some person unknown, was, in 1786,

vested in Mr. Chilton. It is now, say the Com-
missioners for inquiring concerning Charities, " in the

hands of Robert Colman, of Hart-on-Hill ; and there is

qi memorandum in the township-books, signed by Mr.

Colman, acknowledging that he had £^0 in his hands,

which he received from Mr. Chilton. It is understood

that die yearly sum of 20s. is distributed by Mr. Col-

man amongst poor persons in tlie township, according

to his own discretion. It seems, however, desirable

that tliis small sum should be disposed of in a more
public manner." On the decease of Mr. Colman, since

the Commissioners' enquiry, the property of Hart-on-

Hill was sold to Mr. Stafford, Seaham.

THORP-BULMER.

Thorp-Bulmer, in Easington Ward, but in the parish

of Hart, comprises 903 acres, of which 77 are tidal

water. It is 5 miles north-west from Hartlepool, and 12

north-by-east from Stockton, and contains three

inhabited houses, on the same number of farms ; the

value of property assessed for the county-rate in 1853

being £1,108 5s. 4d. The number of inhabitants, as

returned by each census, was 24, 34, 24, 28, 21, and

31 ; the latter number consisting of 13 males and IS

females.

The Hartlepool railway extends over 6 furlongs, and

covers an area of 23 k. 3 e. in this township. It con-

tributed £16 5s. to the local rates in 1851 ; the gross

amount collected being £27 9s. 8d. ; and in the follow-

ing year, to a gross amount of £41 lis. l|d., the railway

contributed £24 7s. 6d.

The township derives its addition from its early pro-

prietors, the Buhners, who held it from a remote period

till the attainder of Sir John Bulmer, Knt., of Wilton

Castle, Cleveland, 28th Henry VIII. ; and the estate

having consequently fallen to the see. Bishop Tunstall

bestowed it on his nephew, Bryan Tunstall. John

Lord Lumley and Catherine his wife appear in a pardon

for alienation of Thorp-Bulmer estate in 1607. It

afterwards became the property of the Lawsons, and

was di-vided amongst their heirs, the Middlctons and

WyclifFcs. That portion belonging to the Middletons

descended through the Salvins and other intermediate

proprietors to the Maires of Hardwick; and in 1765,

John IMaire of Lartington conveyed his property in

Thorp-Bulmer to Elizabeth Hopper, widow, of Crook

Hal!, for £3,050.

The Thorp-Bulmer estate, containing 231 a. Or. 8 p.,

was advertised for sale, August 11, 1795. Its rent was

then £120 per annum, and was valued at £180; the

tenant paid for land-tax, £7 16s. 6^. ; church and

poor assessments, about £6 15s. ; and tithes, about £20.

In a field to the south, belonging to Sir George Pocock,

about half an acre had been given off Hart lordship, to

entitle Thorp-Bulmer to a court held at Hart yearly.

The principal proprietors at present ai'e, W. Grey,

Esq., Norton ; and the representatives of the late John

Davison, Bishop-Wearmouth.

NESBIT.

The little township of Nesbit comprises one farm of

326 acres, with two houses, inhabited, at the successive

returns of population, by 5, 5, 9, 10, 12, and 11 persons

;
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the latter consisting of 5 males and 6 females. The

annual value of property was estimated, in 1853, at

£174 3s. 4d.

In 1350, Hugh do Tesedale died seised of lands in

Nesbyt held of the Ne\illes and Bulmcrs. Amongst

succeeding proprietors may be named Richard Aske

and William Wilbefosse, Richard RadclifFe, the Wel-

burys, the Butteries, and the Bromleys of Hart. From
the latter family it passed by marriage, in 1695, to John
Spearman, Esq., of Hetton-le-Hole. In 1723, the

Spcarmans sold Nesbit and several estates in Sheraton,

for £6,900, to Anthony Wilkinson, Esq., of Crossgate,

Durham, to whose descendants they still belong. Nesbit

pays a prescript rent of 20s. for great tithes.

PAEOCHIAL CHAPELEY OF EAETLEPOOL.

The chapclry, town, and royal borough of Hartlepool occupies a rocky peninsula, rising gradually from a

narrow sandy isthmus. On the north-east, east, and south, its cliffs are washed by tho German Ocean ; on the

south-west and west, it is bounded by the large inlet forming its harbour ; and on the north-west, the isthmus

above mentioned connects it with the parish of Hart, of which it forms a portion.

This chapelry contains an area of 990 acres, of which

150 are under tidal water. In 1801, the population

was 993 ; in 1811,;i,047; in 1821, 1,249 ; in 1831, 1,330;

in 1841, 5,256 ; and in 1851, 9,503, of whom 4,800 were

males and 4,703 females. The increase at the two latter

periods was ascribed partly to the presence of a con-

.siderable number of labourers employed in the new

docks, and partly to the increasing trade of the port.

On the night of Maixh 30, 1851, 220 persons on board

sea-going vessels were included in the enumeration.

A workhouse belonging to the Stockton Uunion con-

tained 38 persons in 1841, and 42 in 1851. In 1841,

there were 841 inhabited houses, 25 uninhabited, and

53 building; and in 1851, 1,466 inhabited, 28 unin-

habited, and 29 buUding. The value of property

assessed to the county-rate in 1853 was £18,670 6s. 8d.

The municipal borough of Hartlepool is co-extensive

with the chapelry.

In 1S51, the York, Newcastle, and Berwick railway

(now the North-Eastem company's), covering 2 acres,

and passing over 1 F. 180 y. in Hartlepool, contributed

£5 12s. towards the local rates, and £6 lis. 3d. in

1852. The gross amounts collected in those years were

£1,072 15s. 6d. and £1,329 13s. lOd.

HISTORY.

The venerable Bede relates that " Hieu (otherwise St.

Bega), the first female who took the veil in Northum-

berland, founded the monastry of Hereteu (about 640),

and soon after, retiring to Kaelcacaester (Tadcaster),

was succeeded by Hilda, as abbess of Hereteu." Hilda

was the daughter of Hereric, grandson of King Edwin.

She was early devoted to a religious life, and first

founded a small monastry on the north of the Wear,

but removed to Hereteu, where she governed the

monastry with exemplary piety and regularity, and was

visited by Bishop Aidan and other devout men. Her
pious example at home, and the fame of her virtues

abroad^ contributed much to the advancement of

Christianity; and, from her active benevolence, she

received the name of " mother." So venerated was her

character, that she has been ever since considered the

patron saint of Hartlepool.

" Oswy, king of Northumberland," continues Bede,

" had vowed to devote his daughter to the service of

God if he was victorious over Penda, king of Mercia,

and after his victory on the river Vinnaed, performed

his vow by placing ^Iflede, an infant of scarcely twelve

months, in the convent of Hereteu, under the Abbess

Hilda, who after two years (in 658) removed with

^Iflede to Streaneshalch (^Vhitby), where she had

obtained a grant of ten hides of land (from Oswy), and

there founded an abbey." Hilda died at her new abode

in 674. Neither history nor tradition has preserved

any traces of the monastry of Hereteu, until the year

800, when it is recorded that the Danes destroyed Tin-

mouth and Hartness. In 865, the nuns of St. Hilda, who
had fled for refuge from Hartlepool to Tynemouth, were
" translated by martyrdom to heaven." For ages, the

very site of their convent was matter of conjecture ; until

a discovery of recent date, noticed hereafter, decided

the question.

On July 13, 1174, Hugh, Count of Bar, nephew to
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Bishop Pudsey, landed at Hartlepool with a body of

Flemings, consisting of 40 knights and 500 foot soldiers,

to assist William the Lion in his invasion of England

;

but on learning that the Scottish monarch was a prisoner

at Alnwick, the infantry were immediately sent back to

their own country. This is the first historical mention

of Hartlepool by name ;* but the fact of its being chosen

for the landing of an armament proves it to have been

previously a port of some consequence.

After the purchase of the wapentake of Sadberge by

Pudsey in 1189, the Bishops of Durham claimed that

Hartlepool should be held of them as chief lords of the

see. William Brus succeeded his father, the fourth

Robert, in 1191, and obtained a grant from the crown

of a weekly market to be held at Hartlepool every

Wednesday. In 1200, King John, by charter, created

the town a borough, the men of which " shall be free

burgesses, and have the same laws and privileges as our

burgesses of Newcastle-upon-Tyne." In 1216, he

confirmed to Robert, son of ^\'^illiam Brus, the market

granted to his father, and added the privilege of hold-

ing an annual fair on the feast of St. Lawrence and two

days following.

t

The claims of the bishops to wrecks of the sea, and

other perquisites, were early distasteful to the lords of

Hartlepool. During the minority of the fifth Robert

de Brus, and whilst he was under the guardianship of

Peter de Brus, of Skclton, the latter caused certain

"mean men" of Hartlepool to seize a vessel that was

cast on shore, for which they were fined 50s. by the

justices at Sadberge. Peter then caused a burgess of

the town, Gerard de Seton, known to be friendly to the

bishop (Poor), to be seized and imprisoned at Skelton.

Excommunication was, in consequence, solemnly hurled

against all concerned, and Seton was allowed to return

home. A fine of £20 against Brus was only remitted

after three days' intercession with the bishop, at Dar-

lington, by William Earl of Albemarle and John Earl

of Lincoln. The justices of Sadberge ordered a me-

morial to be made out of the first wreck which fell to

the bishop after this transaction ; and accordingly a

wooden cross was soon after erected in a place called Blake-

lawe, between Hartlepool and Sadberge : it was formed

• From Hart, with the Norman addition Ic pol, the pool, or mere.

The British pioll has the same meaning.

t " Hartlepool," says Surtees, " was now in that delightful state of

existence which is allowed once, and once only, to all bodies, as well

human as corporate, bourgeoning with the fresh vigour of young life,

regardless of the distant hours of slow decay, which as surely await,

if exempt from sudden ruin, every institution of human policy, as

they do every form of mortal mould." This talented historian and

VOL. II.

out of the mast of a wrecked vessel ; and from the yard

was made a candlestick, appropriated to the use of the

church of Sadberge. The cross was standing in 1313.

The sixth Robert de Brus " builded the haven and

wall about the town of Hartlepole, with ten towers on

eche syde of the haven, and a chayne to be dra^vne

between them near the haven, which haven would hold

a C sayle." In 1293, an inquest was held before the

king's justices itinerant, to ascertain the privileges and

liberties as well of the bishop as his tenants within the

palatinate. " Robert de Brus hath at Hartlepool, within

the liberty of the said bishop, market and fair, and assize

of bread and ale, and all which to fair and market be-

long ; and free port of the sea, and keelage, of every

vessel with a boat 8d., and 4d. of every vessel without

a boat, and prisage of fish.

Hartlepool was granted to the Cliffords with the

other forfeited possessions of Bruce. In 1312, Sir

James Douglas, at the head of a Scottish force, pene-

trated to Hartlepool, carrying off much spoil, and many
prisoners of both sexes ; and, two years afterwards, the

Scots again ravaged all the country on the banks of the

Tees, cruelly plundering and destroying the villages.

The inhabitants of Hartlepool got on board their ships,

with such goods as they could remove, and put out to

sea till the danger was over.

The situation of Hartlepool, during the Scottish wars,

rendered it a place of much importance ; and its inha-

bitants were frequently entrusted with, or undertook,

a share in the maritime transactions of the nation.

Some were employed in the conveyance of provisions

and stores, and others fitted out their vessels for actual

war.J When, in 1346, the English fleet lay before

Calais, the whole armament consisted of 738 ships,

carrying 14,956 men, or an average of about 20 each.

Those furnished by Hartlepool, however, were five in

number, with 145 men, or 29 to each vessel. In 1354,

the king ordered the admiral of the north fleet to " pro-

vide three vessels from the port of Tyne or Hertelpool,"

to convey Bishop Hatfield to parliament.

Grants of tolls for the support of the walls and haven,

repairing the pavement, and building the pier, were

made by successive bishops ; but armaments being no

amiable man would have rejoiced had he lived to see his prediction

falsified and his comparison disproved.

% It does not appear that friends were always distinguished from

foes. In 1379, the king directed a writ to Bishop Hatfield, on the

complaint of William and John Canynges, merchants of Bristol,

ordering John Ilcsilden, sen., Andrew Brountoft, &c., to appear in

the courts of Westminster, for having seized and carried into Hartle-

pool a ship of Canynges', sailing towards Calais and Flanders.

2m
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longer needed, and the shipping of the north gradually

engaging in the coal trade of the Tyne, the port of

Hartlepool began to decline ; its importance ceasing

with the Edwards. Its re-edification was thus urged

on Cardinal Wolsey, in 1523, by Frankleyn, Chancellor

of Durham :
—" And after your liberties be enactyd and

confermyd, your grace may straight waye, by writt of

restitution, entre possession in Hartlepoole, whiche,

with membris, is worth two hundrethe markes a yere

staudyng rents, besydes casualities. The recoveryng

and fortifying of that haven town shuld be a gret profett

and strenkithe to all ye Bishopricke, refuge to our

Englishe shippes, and myghte do manie displesurs to

the king's enemies, for w^ purpose it is thought to stand

best of any haven towne in Englande : the p'misses

would [should] be remembered at this p'sent P'liament,

or ells yor grace shal lose manie com'odities and

profetts."

In 1535, an act of parliament was passed declaring

Herthill Pole and Barney Castle, which the bishop

supposed to be within his jurisdiction, to be parcel of

the county of York, and not of Northumberland, as

the men of Ilertilpole " said and clcymed." The rights

of the bishop were, however, restored by an act of par-

liament in the first year of Queen Mary.

On May 23, 1560, the Duke of Norfolk wrote to the

Privy Council that " ther was certen Englishmen, that,

about three weeks or a month past, were taken prisoners

at Dunbar, which, upon their worde, returned hether

for three or foiu- dayes, who declared that the French

had a platt of Hertelpole, where they minded to set

men a land, and to fortify the place ; which being done,

they hooped to make York the bownes of England.

This came out by an Italian, who is the fortifyer at

Dunbar."

On the breaking out of the rebellion in 1669,

Hartlepool was considered, both by the queen and by

Cecil, as a likely place for the insurgents to receive

succour from the Duke of Alva. Cecil fears it will

" brede some longer trouble ;" and again, 3rd Nov.,

" I would gladly hear more from you of Hertilpole."

It was taken possession of by Christopher Neville, on

the part of the earls ; and, in a letter from Gregore

Peacocke and John Fysoke, to the Earl of Sussex,

dated 18th Dec, at " Scardeburg," they state, that

" immediately after our coming from York, we did pass

from Scardburgh with one bark, with Sir Henry Percy,

and did land him at Tynmouth, upon Friday next after ;

and, as we did pass by Ilartilpole, we shot at them,

and they at us; and, seeing the number, as we did

suppose, of two hundred men.—On the 17th Dec,

being of Hartlepole, we took a coble and three men,

which was on fishing ; they declared that there was two

hundred soldiers there, being footmen, and one Stafford

and .... being captains of the said men, and that Mr.

Nevill doth sometimes come and go thither with one

hundred horsemen ; and, as for shipping, there is none

there, nor was not a great while, but four five-men

cobles and sixteen small cobles. Desiring to know

your lordship's pleasure what we shall do with the men

of HartiUpuU, for they are very poore, and Kath almost

no clothes to their baches."

On the 11th December, Lords Sussex, Hunsdon,

and Sir R. Saddler write to the council :
—" The place

(Hartlepole), with tj-me and longe worke, may be made

of such force as by good soldiers it might be kepte

;

but as it is, and possessed by such as have it, we think

verily it cannot be kept three dales against us.—The

haven will not receive any great shipp at full sea, and

at lowe water all vessels lye upon dry grounde ; so as

hardley can it serve for forein power.—We be sory that

negligence was used by such as shuld have entered into

it.—We had nether ordinance nor shott to putt into it

;

and that many parts of the walls were broken downe.

We think that such as shold have entered into it, could

neither have kept it from the rebells, nor from any

forein force."

Sir H. Gates took possession of the town after the

departure of the rebels. In a letter from Lord Sussex

and Sir R. Saddler, to Cecil, dated 27th Dec, from

Hexham, they say, "We understand, from Sir H.

Gates and others that have taken the view of Hartle-

pole, that it is very ruynouse, and the walls downe in

many places, and not gardable without a great force

;

and, in respecte wherof, we conceive it to be a super-

fluous charge to continue there."

Lord Sussex went to view it, ITth Jan., 1569-70;

and Sir R. Saddler adds a P.S. to his letter of the 18th

of Jan., dated Hartlepool :
—" My Lord Lieutenant

cam hether yestr night, purposely to view this town.

He is so carefull of his charge, and so desirous to see

and know all things mete for his knowledge, that

though he had caused sundry platts to be made of it,

yet, because it hathe been noted a matier of such

moment, he cold not be satisfied till he had seue it, and

now we are returning to Duresme." The opinion of

Lord Sussex does not appear ; but it was most likely

unfavourable to the reparation of the walls, as they

were afterwards neglected.

In 1587, the plague raged with great violence at
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Hartlepool ; and the deaths amounted to nearly double

the usual number.

John Lord Lumley, who had purchased Hartness

from the Cliffords in 1586, procured from Queen

Elizabeth, in 1593, the charter enjoyed till recently by

the burgesses of Hartlepool. He claimed to hold the

lordship directly of the crown, and that Hartness was

parcel of Northumberland ; and had divers disputes on

these subjects with Bishop Mathew. On the question

being submitted to the arbitration of John Savill, ser-

jeant-at-law, and Robert Cooper, of the Inner Temple,

they awarded " that they did take the said manors,

with their members, to be within the precincts of the

liberties royal of the Bishop of Durham, between the

said rivers of Tyne and Tecs ; and that the said Lord

Lumley should contribute to all assessments and common
charges of the liberty royal, after the rate of 100 marks

inheritance by year. And that all process and precepts

whereby perpetual arrests should be made, or execu-

tions ofjudgments should be done within the manors

aforesaid, should be first directed to the bailiff of

the said manor for the time being; and in default

of due execution of any such process, that the

sheriff or other officer of the said liberty enter and

execute such process," &c. The parties consented

to the award ; and thus this long-litigated question was

set at rest.

For the discussions which took place relative to

Hartlepool sending members to parliament, see p. 12.

;

and for the levy for ship-money, see p. 194.

During the civil war, Hartlepool was at first occupied

by the royalists ; Baron Hilton, with his regiment, being

stationed there in 1642. On the second incursion of

the Scots in 1644, the Earl of Callender took Hartle-

pool and Stockton for the parliament; and, in the

following year. Lieutenant-colonel Douglas was go-

vernor of the first-named place. In 1647, it was

delivered up to the parliament, who resolved, soon

after, " that the new works of Hartlepool be slighted,

and the town disgarrisoned." It was, however, occu-

pied by the parliamentary forces, who, in 1648, joined

with those at Newcastle, Holy Island, and Berwick, in

the petition to Lord Fairfax, representing the king as

the cause of all the miseries suffered by the country,

and declaring " that all other endeavours are to little

purpose, while the grand delinquent is untouched, as

being not an acceptable sacrifice to the justice of God,
to offer him ought else while the Agag is spared !" In

the following year, Captain Webb, governor, was
sworn a free burgess of the town.

The prowess of the Hartlepool garrison is recorded

in the following passages of Whitlock's Memorials :

—

In December, 1649, " Pirates lay lurking up and

down in those seas, and did great mischief. That one

of them went into the river Tees, and took out of a

vessel, as she lay on ground, 200 firkins of butter, and

went on shore, and took divers gentlemen ; but being

pursued by a party of foot from Hartlepool, they left

the gentlemen beliind, and got to their ship."

In February, 1650, " An Irish frigat boarded a

Newcastle ship near Hartlepool, which the governor

seeing, caused some of his guns to be so planted, that

they shot the Irish frigat through and through, and

caused her to hasten away, and leave her prize behind,

which came in safe to Hartlepool."

Hartlepool was again thrown into a state of alarm in

1677, when the Dutch fleet hovered on the English

coast, and even burned the shipping in the Medway.

The trained bands were called out, to protect the en-

trances to the Tees and Wear. Mr. Thomas Davison,

in a letter to the bishop, dated July 19, says, " My
Lord—Upon Tewesday night (that night of thunder

and lightning) a post (at his swiftest rate) came to me
from the maior of Hartlepoole : the messenger to all the

towns he passed through boded much more amazement

than the night itself, and of whose news that terrible

night seem'd but a bare forerunner ; jor his word to all

was, Feareful doeings at Hartlepoole. The maior

in his letter tells me of an expresse he had just then

from Whitby, to be sent to our frigates before Tyne-

mouth. The contents of it were, that two Hollands

men-of-war had the eveniuge before attempted the

taking two ships out of Whitby road, but were beaten

off by some gunns from a platform there ; but that which

most moved him, as he said, was a Hollands man-of-war

who that verie evening was come within shot of Hart-

lepoole, and had just then sent his long-boate within

Teesmouth, as farr as the inner buoy, as they conceived,

to plum the harbour, and upon his returne, they fear'd

a resolution of that and several other ships for landing."

On repairing to Hartlepool, Mr. Davison found the

Dutchman preparing to depart ; and Captain Belasys,

who had kept his men on guard all night, dismissed

them in the morning.

From that period, few public events occurred to

diversify the decline of Hartlepool. The loyalty of its

inhabitants, during the alarm of the invasion by the

French, manifested itself in the embodiment of a corps

of volunteers, under the command of Charles Spearman,

Esq., as lieutenant-colonel.
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Reduced at length to the standard of a fishing village

and place of summer resort, and with little communica-

tion with the inland part of the county in consequence

of its nearly insulated position, this ancient town seemed

gradually dwindling into insignificance ; when the ap-

pliances of modern science, and the energetic spirit of

the present century, rendered its capabilities for im-

provement available. The landing of the late Rowland

Burden, Esq., from the London steamer, with the

intelligence that the Hartlepool Dock and Railway

Bill had passed both houses of parliament on the 24th

May, 1832, was an epoch in the history of the town of

higher importance than any thing which had occurred

in ancient times. A spontaneous and enthusiastic pro-

cession of the inhabitants bore that patriotic gentleman

in triumph from the then ruinous pier to the Town Hall,

where he detailed, in his usual modest style, the dif-

ficulties which had been surmounted in procuring the

desired enactments. Since that time, the history of the

town will be comprised in an enumeration of the im-

provements which have been successively effected, and

of those which have extended themselves into the

adjoining parishes.

THE TOWN.

It has already been stated that the town of Hartlepool

stands upon a peninsula, and is consequently nearly

surrounded by water. The connecting isthmus is so

narrow, low, and sandy, that Hutchinson conjectured

the tide at high water had once flowed over it. Ex-

cavations made more recently, however, would seem to

show that this peninsula, like some other parts of the

coast, now s\ibmerged, was once covered with forests

which were the haunt of the hart, and from which the

district has taken its name. The peninsula itself forms

the south-eastern projection of the bed of magnesian

limestone extending along the coast from this place to

Tynemouth, and which here dips at a considerable

angle towards the north-west.

The older part of the town occupies the south side of

the peninsula, and consists of a principal street called

High or Southgate Street (anciently St. Mary's Street),

a back street called Middlegate Street, running parallel

with it, and several cross streets, called Pudding Street,

St. Mary's Street, &c., all having an ascent towards

St. Hilda's church and the Town Moor. Southgate

Street contains several good houses and shops ; and on

the south side stands the Town House, a stone building

erected in 1750, on the site of a previous hall. The

court-room is about 50 feet long by 22 1 broad, and is

15 feet high. The market cross formerly stood in front

of this edifice, and consisted of a square flight of steps,

terminated by a rude pillar of stone. Being found

inconvenient, it was removed; and a colonnade, abutting

from the Town House, was erected for the market

people ; but this was also taken down above 20

years ago.

From the south side of Southgate Street connecting

avenues lead to that part of the town walls forming the

boundary of the old harbour. These walls form a

pleasant terrace, occupied by dwelling houses, which

command a fine view across the harbour to the new

docks, &c., at West Hartlepool, with the sea-coast

beyond, and the distant Cleveland hills.

Around the inner harbour, now converted into the

Victoria Dock, several winding streets have been

erected. The oldest of these, called Northgate Street,

terminates at the North Gate, at the western extremity

of the town, and the site of the ancient fortifications in

that direction.

" On the authority of local tradition," says Sir C.

Sharp, " it is reported that in former days the fisher-

men lived without the walls, in the ' Farwell Field,'

and that the town, properly so called, was inhabited

by the garrison, and the upper classes of society." The

boundary wall of the township formerly inclosed Far-

well Field, without which is Hart Warren.

A wider curve sweeps from the Farwell Field to the

head of Middlegate Street, and, under the name of

Fisher Roto, terminates near the north-west corner of

St. Hilda's church. A piece of ground at the back of

Middlegate Street, called the Stripes, is now partially

built upon.

The Poor's Lands (see Smith's CharityJ extend

around the last-mentioned road up to the north side of

St. Hilda's church, and separate the town from the

Common Fields and Toion Moor. Another portion of

the Poor's Lands is situated between the south side of the

church and the cliffs. When the formation of the har-

bour, docks, and railway was in progress, the rapid

influx of population rendered an extension of the town

necessary ; and these grounds appeared most available

for the purpose. Accordingly, on a petition for an

amended scheme being made to the Lord Chancellor,

by James M'DowcU and William Manners, two of the

inhabitants of the town, dated December 5, 1845, an

extension of powers was obtained for the trustees of the

charity. In the report of Sir Griffin Wilson, the

Master, dated May 6, 1846, and confirmed by the
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Vice-chancellor, Knight Bruce, on the 29th following,

it is recommended that in the Chare Head Field, con-

taining 3 A. R. 5 p., there should be a front street, or

terrace, a centre street, 40 feet wide, and a cross street,

30 feet wide, the whole containing 14 houses paying an

annual ground rent of £2 2s. each, 38 houses paying

£2 each, and 34 houses paying £1 Is. each; in

Johnny's Close, or the Stripes, containing 2 R. 28 p., a

street 30 feet broad, containing 19 houses at £1 10s.

ground rent each, and 5 houses at £2 2s. each; in

Field Gate Close, containing 2 A. 1 R. 9 p., a street 50

feet broad, with a square in the centre, containing 48

houses at £2 ground rent, and six back sites at £1

each ; in Friarage Close, 6 a. Or. 16 p., six streets, a

circus or double crescent, the whole comprising 96

houses, 10 villas, a centre shrubbery, &c., producing

an annual ground rent of £280 per annum ; in New
Close, containing 4 a. 1 r., four streets 40 feet wide,

crossing each other, with 102 houses, at ground rents

varying from £1 10s. to £2 each ; and in Broad Close,

containing 2 a. 2 r., contiguous to the Docks, 85 houses

or tenements, at ground rents of £1 Is. each, except

17 fronting east, with gardens, at ground rents of £2
per site.

Notwithstanding the urgent demand for houses, a

period of four years elapsed before any person ventiu-ed

capital for building on the above-named closes ; for, as

the trustees of the charity had no control over the legal

title to the estate, it was feared that the lessees might

be holding under a doubtful tenure. In 1850, however,

the Baptist congregation took a piece of ground by a

simple agreement with the trustees ; the Primitive

Methodists followed; and several other persons have

since built upon the trust property.

The Town Moor environs the town on the east and

north, and extends to the verge of the cliffs. This

promontory commands a magnificent sea view, with an

extent of coast from Whitby on the south to Suter Point

• A large portion of the " Elephant Rock," after weathering the

etorms of past centuries, and being frequently an object of Interest to the

artist, was, after a storm, broken away by the high surf on the 22nd

October, 1841. The rock obtained the name of Elephant Rock, ixom

its rude resemblance to the figure of an elephant, when seen from the

opposite walk upon the Moor. It is thought by many as a somewhat
singular coincidence, that two elephants should have been brought

into the town, in the menagerie of Mr. Womhwell, within a few hours

before the faU of their huge rocky effigy on the neighbouring sliore

;

and that this was probably the very first occasion in which an

eltpha.it had ever been seen in Hartlepool.

t At this place, an unfortunate girl was thrown over the cliff by her

inhuman lover, as noticed in the parish register ; " Mary Fardiug, a

stranger, who, by a coroner's inquest, was found to be murdered by

on the north. Detached masses of rock, surrounded by
the sea at high tide, have probably been separated from

the main land by the incessant action of the waves.

Some of these natural columns are 40 feet high, and
have been worn by the sea into grotesque and fanci-

ful arches.* The gulf which separates the principal

mass from the shore is called the Maiden's Botver, and

tradition says it derived its name from being the haunt

of a mermaid.

t

A battery stood, during the war with France, at the

eastern extremity of the Moor, near the site of wliich

the light-house was built in 1847. Further north is a

subterraneous passage, hitherto unexplored, known by
the appellation of the Gun Cove, probably from a

battery having been placed on the cliff above. The
Fairy Coves, near the north-eastern termination of the

town wall towards the sea, are small cells hewn in the

rock, 12 feet abo\e the shore, and 5 feet in diameter;

probably intended as places of concealment in times of

danger.

The entire length of the roads in the township is

5,064 yards ; but the dedicated roads only are under

the jurisdiction and management of the surveyors, two

in number, who are elected annually from the body of

ratepayers in open vestry. The length of roads that

fall under the surveyors' management is only 2,214

yards, and about 60 yards of public footpaths. The
highway rates are generally from 2d. to 3d. in the

pound per annum. The condition of these thoroughfares

has been much complained of, both as to the form of the

surface and want of means for a proper discharge of

water.

Town Walls.— These fortifications, erected by

Robert de Brus, surrounded the town on all sides,

except where the height of the cliffs rendered such de-

fences unnecessary. Vestiges of breastworks are still

visible on the Town Moor towards the sea. To the

William Stephenson, merchant in Northallerton, by whom she was

pregnant, was buried June 7, 1727." Under this date, a charge of

Is. lOd. stands in the churchwarden's accounts, " for making Mary
Farthing's grave." The perpetrator of the crime was afterwards

executed at Durham ; and the subject was commemorated in a local

ballad, of which the following are stanzas :

—

" AVith sighs and with groans, with tears and with moans.

She utter'd such plaints as would soften flint stones.

Oh ! where shall I hide my shame, tlien — she cried,

Kind sir, take some pity, and for me provide.

" I promised her fair, that I would take care

Of her and her infant, and all things prepare

At Hartlepool town, where she would be do-ivn :

Poor soul, she believed me— as ever she'd done."
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north-east the walls extended along the edge of the bank,

which becomes gradually lower towards the istlimus

connecting Hartlepool with the main land ; but this

portion of the defences is nearly obliterated. Frag-

ments of walls, towers, and bastions remained across the

isthmus until the formation of the railway and dock

rendered their removal necessary. Here stood the

North Gate, the principal entrance into the town, at a

distance of about 300 yards from the sea. This gate

had been apparently strengthened with a ditch, and

probably a draw-bridge. Its arch, about 13 feet high,

was ribbed, and, besides double gates, had its portcullis :

the width of the passage was II5 feet, and of the whole

gateway tower 34 feet ; the projection being 16 inches

beyond the face of the wall. The superincumbent tower

was entered on each side from the parapet of the wall.

This gateway was long abandoned as a thoroughfare ;

the road being conducted to the west between it and the

inner harbour. In 1836, notwithstanding an attempt

made to save it by the late INIr. VoUum, this fragment

of antiquity was taken down by order of the surveyors

of highways. Without tliis part of the fortifications, in

the Farwell Field, there were, until late years, remains

of ditches and slight breastworks, thrown up during the

occupation of the town by the Scots, and supposed to

have been supported by cannon.

The inner harbour or haven, which formed a nearly

semicircular bay on the west side of the town, was crossed

by the town wall from the North Gate to the extreme

point of land opposite, and was thus enclosed from the

outer harbour. The wall was here above 8 feet thick,

faced on each side with dressed stones, and having a

parapet guarded by a breast wall and embrasure. There

was a water-gate, 24:| feet wide and 10 high, to allow

small vessels to pass without removing the boom chains

of the grand entrance, which was 36 feet wide, and de-

fended by massive round flanking towers. Square

bastions were placed at intervals on the walls, the

southern extremity of which was terminated by a half-

moon. The formation of the Victoria Dock rendered

the removal of this part of the fortifications necessary.

At the half-moon above mentioned the wall forms an

angle towards the east. At a distance of 166 feet there

is a square bastion, 8 feet 7 inches in front ; and 309

feet further there is a large projection in the wall, most

probably modern, 49 feet long, with a sallyport ; at a

distance of 355 feet, a round bastion, 13 feet in front;

and 287 feet beyond it is the Water Gate, which only

communicates with the land at low water, and from

which an avenue leads to Southgate Street. The arch-

way of the gate is pointed, about 8 feet In width, and

defended on each side by angular turrets, with the

points projecting. This part of the town wall is about

18 feet high, and from 6 to 9 in thickness. Its appear-

ance is more modern than might be supposed, in conse-

quence of the repairs which have been necessary to

protect it from the encroachments of the sea.

From the Water Gate the wall proceeds to a point of

the rock fronting the sea, and near the pier. The whole

of these defences are constructed of the magnesian

limestone hewn from the cliffs.

ST. HILDA'S CHURCH.

The church of St. Hilda stands on elevated ground,

and from its projection towards the sea, forms a con-

spicuous object on the coast. This noble structure is

supposed to occupy the site of a previous church, the

doorway of the southern porch being of the late Norman
or transition period, and consequently more ancient than

the present edifice, which is early English. The church

consists of nave with aisles, a few feet erf the previous

chancel and its aisles, and a very massive and lofty

western tower.

The most striking and peculiar features of the tower

are the enormously massive buttresses by which it is

supported. Those on the west project above 26 feet,

and they are respectively 3 feet 9 inches and 3 feet 2

inches thick. Each of them is pierced with a fine re-

cessed early trefoil-headed doorway. From the extra-

ordinary form of these buttresses, says Billings, " we

might fancy the original design had for its object a cross

church, consisting of nave, transepts, choir, and chancel,

and that, this intention being altered, the buttresses

were placed against the tower to compensate for the loss

of support which the complete members would have

given it ; but on a closer inspection of the masonry, we

discover portions of the walls, windows, and (upon the

buttress sides) the coping stones of the roofs of three

small chapels, attached to the west, north, and south of

the tower, and all of the early English period when the

church was first built. The southern chapel, indeed,

still exists.

" A survey of the interior of the tower satisfies us of

the necessity of large buttresses, for they sustain the

lateral pressure of a lofty and heavy stone-ribbed

groining, which is undoubtedly the best constructed

specimen of the kind in the covmty. This vaulting, with

the clustered columns from which it springs, once formed

a fine addition to the interior of the chiirch, from which

it is now separated by a ponderous wall of later date."
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The buttresses on the south side of the tower are

lower than those on the west and north; but from

pinnacles at their extremities, flying buttresses extend

to the walls ; one of which, having previously fallen,

was restored in 1838. The tower is ornamented by

two tiers of pointed arches ; in the upper tier there are

four arches on each side, with a row of corbels above.

An embattled parapet of a later date, with a crocketted

pinnacle at. each corner, surmounts the whole. In the

tower are three bells, all of which are cracked. The

principal entrance to the church, now closed up, was

on the west side of the tower.

The southern doorway of the church, already alluded

to, is a beautiful specimen of the architecture of its

time, with its characteristic chevron moulding. It is

remarkable that one of the pieces of stone, against the

left capital, is left uncarved. This fine doorway was

long protected by a plain porch of humble character

;

but a more appropriate covering has been erected at the

cost of Mrs. Vollum, widow of the late William Vollum,

Esq., of Hartlepool. The foundation stone of this

ornament to the church was laid by the benefactress on

the 16th of April, 1852.

The walls of the aisles and clerestory are supported

externally by buttresses. Between each of those of the

clerestory are three pointed arches, of which the centre

ones are windows. Some of the capitals are of very fine

character. The form of the early English ridged roof

is marked upon the tower wall.

The interior of the nave and aisles is well proportioned,

being 85 feet long and 44 feet wide within the walls

;

the centre is 21 feet wide. Each of the aisles is formed

by five pillars, supporting pointed arches. The pdlars

are alternately square and octagonal, surrounded by

cylindrical pilasters ; and there are circular bands or

cushions enclosing the whole both of the bases and

capitals. The arches of the south aisle have the appear-

ance of being inaccurately dravrn, or deformed by

extraordinary pressure ; but besides the fact that there

is no lateral thrust to cause this obliquity, the joints of

the superincumbent masonry are perfect and regular.

The chancel arch is lofty and of graceful proportions,

springing from clustered pillars ornamented with foliated

capitals. One of the columns on each side terminates

in a graceful chaplet, short of the capital of the rest of

the columns. The chancel, probably from its being the

Bruce mausoleum, was a most remarkable building, of

nearly equal length with the nave, and having its

columns, arches, and aisles of the same dimensions as

that part of the church, and apparently more highly

decorated. In 1719, it was almost entirely unroofed;

and a brief was granted by George I. to coUect the sum
of £1,732 for repairing this and other dilapidated por-

tions of the church, then so much decayed as to be in

danger of falling down. On September 22, 1721, it

was agreed that the church and chancel should be con-

tinued at their full length and breadth ; that the roof

should be flattened to four or six feet pitch ; and that

the north wall, if advisable, should be taken down and

rebuilt ;
" but in fear of y<^ cash arising from y^ brief

may not answer y^ expectation, ye said wall shall be

referred until ye last
;"—" and as for ye chancel, y' is

referred until ye Earle of Scarborough's consent is got

in writing." On May 22, 1724, Bishop Talbot granted

his permission for the necessary repairs ; but the chan-

cel, then 23; yards long, was all taken down except

one compartment, in which the beautiful capitals of the

side arches have been fortunately preserved. That on

the south side is used as a vestry, and that on the north

is enclosed. The arches opening from the aisles of the

nave are perfect, but have been filled up with masonry.

In the minute of 1721, it is directed "y* ye said

church shall be new flagged, pued, and whitened, and

in respect to ye glory of ye antiquity of s'^ church, what

repairs ye windows may want, they shall be wrought

after ye same model as they now are." The whitening

here mentioned was removed from the chancel arch and

some of the columns of the nave in 1838 ; and other

parts of the walls and columns underwent the same

cleansing process in 1851, so that the magnesian lime-

stone, of which the church is built, is restored to view

in all the beauty of its warm buff colour. The win-

dows, however, without regard to " the glory of the

antiquity," are filled with modern framed sashes. In

October, 1838, an organ was placed in the church.

In 1600, the number of " pues or stalls," was 33,

including the stalls of the " vicarr and dark," and the

" stall or pue for the maior and brethren." The pre-

sent pews and the gallery at the west end of the nave

were erected when the church was repaired in 1724.

Only 60 of the sittings in the church are free.

Two stone eS'igies, restored from the church-yard,

are placed in the north aisle. They are defaced and

mutilated ; but the most perfect represents a person in

a gown, holding in one hand a glove, and in the other a

scroll ; an angel supports a pillow on which the head

rests, and the feet rest on a couchant dog. The other

figure is that of a female, with the hands joined together

on the breast, in an attitude of prayer. Surtces con-

jectures the figures to represent a mayor of Hartlepool
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and his dame. In the floor beneath the tower is a

small monumental slab, bearing an early incised cross.

Beneath the chancel arch, a large slab is inlaid with a

brass, bearing the efSgy of a woman in a high-crowned

hat, ruff, long waist and stomacher, close gown with

long sleeves and flowered petticoats, and " casta fides

viCTRix" on a scroll issuing from her mouth; the stone

bears the following inscription :

—

" Here vnder this stone lyeth buryed the bodie of the yertvoTS

gentellwoman Jane Bell who dep'ted this lyfe the ri daye of Janvarie

1593, being the dowghter of Laverance Thomell of Darlington gent.

and late wyfe to Parsavel Bell nowe maire of this towen of Hartin-

pooell marchant

Whos vcrtues if thou wilt beholde

Peruse this tabel hanging bye

Which will the same to the unfolde

By her good lyfe leame thou to die

.(Etatis suee 40."

The font, which stands under the western gallery, is

an elegant bason of Yorkshire marble, " the gift of

George Bowes, Esq., 1728." The communion-plate

consists of a large pewter flagon, a silver chalice, and a

silver paten ; the latter " the gift of Mr. Calib Read-

shaw, of Richmond, January 13, 1726."

The church-yard, which surrounds the church, con-

tains about 8,534 square yards, including 100 yards

which has been appropriated. No interments take

place in the church; those in the cemetery average

about 180 per annum. The most remarkable monu-

ment is that of the Bruce, which formerly occupied the

place of honour in the centre of the chancel, but, on the

curtailment of that part of the church in 1724, was left

outside ;
" an example of ingratitude to founders, and a

reproach to those by whom it was thus dishonoured."

The tomb is covered by a slab of black Frostcrley

marble, 9 feet long by 6 broad, without inscription ;

the panels on the supporting sides are charged with

the Bruce's badge, a lion rampant, without variation

or addition, evincing that this " giant tomb" contained

the remains of one of the family who lived before the

• From ancient documents published in the Collectanea Topographica

tt Geneologica, vol. y., p. 223, et scq., it appears that the nunnery of

St. Mary's and St. Andrew's at Marriek, in the North Riding of

Yorkshire, was territorially connected with Hartlepool. Some of the

circumstances have been enumerated by a talented antiquary :

—

" Robert de Brus gave in free alms to the nuns of Marriek a toft in

Hertepol. The charter is without date, but is witnessed by WiUiam

de Brus and Bernard de Brus. William de Brus, the donor's son,

confirmed his gift. William Seer, of Hartlepool, granted, with the

assent of his lord, Robert de Brus, a yearly sum of two marks from

tlie land of Simon de Waynfleth upon the Ness, and of Roger de

Newton, Peter Marrays, and Agnes de Witeby, in St. Mary's Street.

John the Mason, of Hartlepool, is the second subscribing witness.

arms of Annandale were assumed. Several stone coffins

have been found in various parts of the church-yard.

In digging a grave (March, 1790), a stone coffin was

discovered, containing the remains of a man, ap-

parently quite entire. He had been interred in his

clothes, and, according to monastic custom, with his

boots on ; but on being exposed to the air, the whole

went to dust, except the soles of the boots. The found-

ations of ancient walls have been found parallel with

those of the nave, and extending westward of the tower

about 20 feet.

The dependent chapel of St. Hilda at Hartlepool,

though not named in Brus's grant of the churches of

Hert and Stranton to Guisborough, is mentioned in the

confirmation charters of Bishop Pudsey in 1195, of the

fifth Robert de Brus, of Bishop Kirkham in 1259, of

Bishop Stichell in 1273, and of Bishop Kellaw in 1311.

It was also included in the grants of Bishop Beck in

1288 and 1308, by which divine service was to be

performed by a canon of Guisborough. The monks

of this convent paid to the bishop, as superior lord, a

rent called " land-mail," and a composition in lieu of

suit of court, in respect of their property in Hartlepool.*

In the taxation of 1291, the chapelry of Hartlepool was

valued at £23 13s. 4d., which evinces a considerable

amount of commercial prosperity in the place, as such

a sum may be taken as worth about £300 at the present

time.

" That which is the glory, and ought to be the pride

of Hartlepool," says Mr. W. S. Gibson, " is this fine

church of St. Hilda—the noble legacy transmitted by

ancient piety to the dwellers in that haven town, the

hallowed monument of its former greatness. Reared

in a distant age, it witnessed the rise of Hartlepool,

and saw its prosperity and its proud mural defences

spring as it were from the ocean wave, under the

renowned and powerful family who inhabited the

neighbouring lordship, and the politic and fostering

care of the mitred sovereigns of the palatinate. It saw

Robert de Brus, who is described as lord of Annandale, conflrmj this

donation ; and to this grant John de Carrou, lord of Seton, is a wit-

ness. Another tenement in the Ness was demised to Robert Fitz-

William de Seton, formerly burgess of Hartlepool, he rendering

annually for lights in honour of the blessed Mary the Virgin, in the _

church of St. Hilda, six pence in silver, and to the nuns of Marriek I

ten shUlings.' The charter is witnessed by Andrew de Bruntoft, then ''

mayor, and William de Farneley, bailiff of Hartlepool, and is dated

on Wednesday next after the feast of St. Matthew, 1316. A charter

in 137t"i, between Matilda Melsonby, prioress, and William Midlam

of Hartlepool and Alice his wife, relating to a house in Hartlepool,

is witnessed by John de Seton, mayor, Robert Goldsmith and Walter

Backster, baiUffs of the town."
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Hartlepool the harbour of warlike armaments, and the

emporium of commerce ; and, as ' long rolling years'

swept on, it saw the ancient prosperity of Hartlepool

depart with the feudal age, and her bulwarks yield

partly to the ocean, but chiefly to the long siege of

time. At length it saw the day, when, at the bidding

of the spoiler, its serving-priests—the canon-brothers

of Guisborough, went forth to return no more. But

there St. Hilda's church remains in all the majestic

features of medieval art. Generations have passed

away beneath its venerable shadow, and Hartlepool,

from a fishing town, has become an important borough

with a noble harbour and capacious docks, their quays

laden with merchandise and resounding to the labours

of busy industry ; yet, while all has changed around,

the church of St. Hilda retains its ancient features, and

looks down upon the returning prosperity of Hartle-

pool, inviting her people as of old to return to Him of

whose bounty all things come."

Chantries.—There were at least three chantries in

Hartlepool church. Bishop Skirlaw, April 3, in the

8th year of his pontificate, granted license to the mayor

and commonalty of the town of Hartlepool to found

anew, to the honour of St. Helen, a chantry of one

chaplain, to pray for the good estate of the bishop

whilst alive, of Maude (daughter of Beauchamp, Earl

of Warwick), wife of Roger de Clifford, and of the said

mayor and commonalty, and for the rest of their souls

after death ; with license to settle on Robert Rosson,

chaplain, keeper of the said chantry, and his successors,

tliree messuages which Geoffrey de Eltham and Isabel

his wife hold for life, and seven messuages, 401 acres

and 10 roods of arable land, one acre of meadow, 10

tofts and crofts, and 14s. annual rent, with the appur-

tenances in Hartlepool and Neleston, held of the same

Maude Clifford. Richard Brigge, the last incumbent,

had a pension of £4 allowed at the Dissolution, which

he received in 1553.

St. Mary's chantry was founded at the same time with

the former, by similar license, to consist of two chap-

lains, to pray for the same personages. The endowment

was one messuage, which Isabel de Shildon, wife of

John Goldsmith the elder, held for life; one messuage,

held by Thomas del Kyrke, 30 messuages, 27 tofts and

crofts, 2^ roods of land, and 84s. 6d. rent, held of Maude
Clifford. Thomas del Kyrke and Thomas de Thornton

were the chaplains on the foundation. The mayor, &c.,

had also license to give seven messuages in Hartlepool,

held of Maude Clifford, to Walter Backster and William

VOL. II.

Howe, keepers of the fabric of the church, for the

purpose of supporting a light at the altar of the Blessed

Virgin ]\Iary, and for sustaining the choir of the church.

St. Mary's chantry was valued at the Dissolution at £7
13s. 4d. ; and John Holmes, the last chaplain, received

a pension of £5 per annum. The property belonging

to this chantry was situated at the Heugh, in Mickle-

gate. Butcher Chare, Long Close, Nunnery Close, &c.

The chantry of St. Nicholas was founded at the same

time, and by the same parties as St. Helen's and St.

Mary's. The endowment consisted of eight messuages

in Hartlepool, held of Maude Clifford; and John Abel

was chaplain on the foundation.

Registers.—Book No. 1 contains entries of baptisms,

burials, and marriages from 1566* to 1712 (defective) ;

No. 2, baptisms and burials from 1713 to 1773, and

marriages from 1713 to 1753 ; Nos. 3, 4, and 5, baptisms

and burials from 1774 to 1812; and No. 6, marriages

from 1754 to 1812.

Hartlepool is a perpetual curacy ; the vicar of Hart,

patron; F. A. Milbaiik, Esq., imp. Dedication to St.

Hilda.

CuBATES.—J. Wilkinson occurs 1609; — Boyd occurs 1643; P. Don-

kinge, 1669 ;
— Saunders occurs 1683 ; T. Shewell, 1689 ; P. Raper

occurs 1690; S. Woodilield occurs 1712; W. Burn occurs 1714; J.

Wilkinson occurs 1719; I. Johnson occurs 1731; H. Petrie occurs

1745; J. Thomas occurs 1754 ; W. Adey occurs 1759; G. Scollough

occurs 1761; H. Crookbain occurs 1767; William Harrison, 1770;

Benjamin Lumley, A.M., 1797 : I. II. Dickenson, A.M., 1806 ; N. J.

HoUingsworth, A.M., 1807 ; WUliam WUson, cl., 1812 ; Robert

Taylor, cl., 1834, p. m. Wilson.

The parsonage-house is situated in Middlegatc

Street; but, being unfit for residence, is let out; and

the Incumbent resides in a house near the church,

belonging to the Duke of Cleveland. A grant of £300

was made from the Maltby Fund, in 1853, towards the

erection of a new parsonage.

In 1723, Lord Crewe's trustees endowed the living

with £10 per annum. lu 1724, the Governors of

Queen Anne's Bounty gave £200, and the vicar of

Hart and others contributed a similar amount, which

sums were expended, in 1727, in the purchase of a

portion of the Island farm at Bishop-JIiddleham, the

other parts of which belong to the parishes of Castle

Eden and Pittington. In 1812, £800 was given from

• The book is dated 1.591 ; but a memorandum states that "all

y christenyngs, weddings, and buryalls, conteyned in the former

paper register booke of y" said eliapple (commencing 1506) are trulie

thence transcripted and engrossed into this present register booke,

as by mutuall co'ferencc thercuf may and dothe more fully appeare."

2 N
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the parliamentary grants ; and in 1814, an additional

augmentation of £1,000 was made, consisting of £200

from Bishop Barrington, £200 from Lord Crewe's

trustees, and £600 from Queen Anne's Bounty.

These sums were laid out, in 1818, on lands at Long-

Newton, then let for £100 per annum, but now pro-

ducing only £35 clear. In 1835, the gross income

was returned at £169, subject to permanent payments

amounting to £6. At present, the sources of revenue

are as foUow :—Bishop-Middleham farm, £40 ; Long-

Newton do., £35 ; surplice fees, £70 ; Lord Crewe's

trustees, £10; tithes commutation (see page 244), £15;

Easter offerings, £10; total, £180.

The district for confirmation at Hartlepool includes,

St. Hilda's, Holy Trinity, Hart, Stranton, Monk-

Hesledon, Castle Eden, and Wingate Grange.

CONVENT OF ST. HILDA.

The scanty information derivable from history, relative

to the monastery founded by Hieu, and afterwards the

residence of St. Hilda, has been given at page 246.

In some of the earliest records of the corporation, an

enclosure eastward of the church, on wliich the priory

had been erected, is called Nunnery Close ; and

fragments of Saxon remains have been occasionally

discovered. In laying the foundations for a house

in a field called Cross Close, in June, 1833, several

small inscribed sepulchral stones were found, which

have been pronounced veritable relics of St. Hilda's

convent. They were at the depth of 3 J feet from the

surface, resting on the limestone rock ; and each

supported the skull of a human skeleton. They

extended in a north and south direction, close to each

other, and in regular order. On some of the stones are

crosses in relief, with the Greek alpha and omega on

each side of the upper division. Two of them are

inscribed, in mixed Runic and Saxon characters, with

names which have been rendered by Mr. Kemble, the

learned Anglo-Saxon antiquary, Hildithrith and Hildi-

gith, or, according to another authority, Hildeth the

virtuous, and Hilme the meek. They measure re-

spectively 9 inches by 6, and \\\ inches by 114, and

are about 3 inches thick. Fragments of two circular

flat stones, with a figured pattern and Latin words

inscribed on them, were also found : the word Re-

quiescat is distinctly legible upon one of them. The

words Ora and Pro occupy the upper compartments of

another of the square stones ; a name rendered Ver-

torht and a word which is illegible being on the

lower portion. The skeletons were male and female

;

" the former," says a late writer, " apparently of a tall

race, and with a peculiar thickness of the fore part of

the skull, which, in an age of hard knocks and keen

fighting, must have been an enviable perfection." The
probability, however, appears to be that this was the

cemetery of a peaceful community, and that it was

attached to the primitive convent of St. Hilda ; though

the fact of some of the skulls being found detached

from other bones has given rise to an opinion that their

deaths were violent. On the 15th of October, 1838,

another stone, lOj inches by 9, and 2j inches tliick,

was discovered. It bears a similar cross, and the alpha

and omega as on the other stones, with a proper name

rendered Gerchtsye by one authority, but which is

more probably Berchtha. Several skulls and bones

were found at the same time. The bodies had been

placed in two rows, north and south ; and the burial-

place had not apparently exceeded 15 or 20 yards in

length.

In April, 1851, in excavating a portion of a field

belonging to Smith's Charity, the skulls and bones of

about 150 human beings were discovered in a space not

exceeding 25 feet square. They were huddled together

in all positions, and were supposed to be the remains of

men slain in conflict at some remote period. Some of

them were the bones of persons of not less than 6 feet

S or 4 inches high.

ST. HELEN'S CHAPEL.

This chapel was situated in the Farwell Field, near

the Freemen's or St. Helen's Well, where hewn stones

have been occasionally found. In October, 1845, its

foundations were accidentally discovered, consisting of a

chancel of about 14 feet in length by 20 broad, with a

transept 35 feet long at the west end. No part of the

walls e.xceeds 3 feet in height ; " but," says Billings,

" an attentive examination of the architectural fragments

proves them to be of the early English period, after the

year 1200, and certainly of later foundation than the

fine church" of St. Hilda. A stone coffin, con-

taining the skeleton of a person 5 feet 10 inches high,

was discovered near the chapel.

Wniiam de Brus gave the chajjcl of St. Helen " that

is on the warren here," for the support of a light at the

great altar of Guisborough. Robert Palmer de Hartyl-

pool, by the consent of Emma his wife, and Martin

Fuller, of the same place, gave their lands ; and Alice,

daughter of the latter, released her dower in her lands.

I
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all which grants were confirmed by Robert de Brus.

Ralph de "Whitwell bequeathed a messuage and its

appurtenances to be sold, for the stipend of a chaplain

in St. Helen's chapel, as long as the money should last.

Whitwell being illegitimate. Bishop Beaumont seized

the messuage as an escheat ; but it was restored by

Bishop Bury, on discovering that the executors had

been in possession forty-one weeks before the death of

the testator.

THE FRIARY.

Ax a little distance from St. Hilda's church, in a north-

east direction, stands a house known as the Friary.

The Franciscan monastery of Grey Friars was founded

by one of the Bruce family before 1258, when it is

mentioned as under the wardenship of the Grey Friars

of Newcastle. Walter de Newton, John Oggill,

Robert Wycliff, Master of Kepyer Hospital, and John

Trollop of Thornley occur as benefactors. At the

Dissolution, the establishment consisted of a keeper,

Richard Thrilkeld, and eighteen brothers, and the clear

yearly value of their possessions was £4 5s. 8d., which

the payment of the brethren's pensions reduced to 4s. 8d.

The stock, bells, plate, &c., were of small value. In

37 Henry VIII., the monastery was granted to John

D'Oylcy and John Scudamore ; and its site was held in

1605 by Ralph Conyers, Esq., of Layton. It was pur-

chased of the Porrett family, in 1634, by the trustees of

Smith's charity. The building called the Friary is an

old gabled house, with mullioned windows, and has

evidently been built on the site of the monastery since

the Dissolution. There is an excellent well of hewn
stone, 43 feet deep and 6 feet square. The Friary and

land surrounding it belong to Smith's charity estate,

and are under the guardianship of the corporation,

subject to a fee-farm rent of £2 10s. 9d., which was

purchased many years ago from the Duke of Leeds by

the late G. W. Meadley, Esq., of Bishopwearmouth, and

by him devised to the Rev. James Tate, of Richmond.

The house was for many years occupied as a workhouse

for the town, and is still used as an occasional vagrant

ward. It contains a few beds for patients, in case of

sudden illness in the town. The poor law guardians

of Stockton Union pay a rent to the local trustees of the

charity ; but a new scheme will enable the latter body

to let the ground to greater advantage. The Friary

house is recommended by the Attorney-general to be

used as an hospital for the town; a sura of money
having to be appropriated out of the funds of the

charity towards the maintenance of such hospital.

DISTEICT CHAPELEY OF THE HOLY TEINITY.

iHE boundary line of the district chapclry of the Holy Trinity, Hartlepool, commences from a bound-stone
placed by the sea shore, close by the Town Moor, and proceeds westerly therefrom in a straight line, passing
on the south side of Moor House as far as the " Stripes," along the same, crossing Northgate and down Sunny
Side to the south-eastern corner of Victoria Dock, then skirting the south-western side of that dock, until it

reaches the boundary line of the parish of Stranton, then proceeds along such boundary line until it leaves the
same at the southernmost point of the last field of Low Warren Farm, and from thence proceeding westerly to

the south-western corner thereof, and from thence following the boundary of such farm until it reaches the sea
shore, where another bound-stone is placed, and from such bound-stone proceeds south-easterly along the sea
shore to the point where the first mentioned bound-stone is placed, and where the boundary commenced. The
district was formed by order in council, February 7, 1853, and gazetted on the following day.

The rapid increase of population in Hartlepool, conse-

quent on the formation of docks and increased trade,

having rendered additional church accommodation ne-
cessary, a committee was appointed in 1848 to devise

and carry out means for the erection of a new place of

worship. Liberal subscriptions were obtained ; and the

foundation stone was laid by J. P. Denton, Esq., mayor
of Hartlepool, on the 22nd August, 1850. The architect

selected was John Middlcton, Esq., of Darlington, whose
estimate was £2,500. The contract for the building.
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Romish faith. A procession -was marshalled at the old

chapel, consisting ofthe school children, with their super-

intendents ; the female members of the congregation,

amongst whom was the dowager Lady Stourton, with

R part of her family ; the male members of the church,

followed by the guild in their costume ; the Roman

Catholic bishop of the district, preceded by a large

cross, and with his train borne on each side by a priest

in canonicals ; thirteen clergymen of the district ; and

the architect, J. A. Hansom, Esq., of Preston (inventor

of the carriage bearing his name), with his assistants.

During the procession and ceremony, appropriate

music was chauntcd.

So much expedition was used in the erection, that

the church was completed and dedicated on the 28th of

August, 185L This ceremony was conducted with

much pomp in the presence of Cardinal Wiseman ; Dr.

Hogarth, Bishop of Hexham ; Dr. Briggs, Bishop of

Beverley ; Dr. Brown, Bishop of Shrewsbury ; Dr.

Morris, Bishop of Troy ; and a large number of priests

from various places in the neighbourhood.

The exterior of the church, which consists of tower,

nave, with clerestory, side aisles, and apsidaLchancel,

is plain and without side buttresses. It is 121 feet in

length, and 43 in width. Contrary to the usual

arrangement, the tower and entrance are on the east,

and the chancel occupies the west end of the church.

The tower is square, supported by corner buttresses,

and surmounted by an octagonal spire. It contains a

peal of eight musical bells, partly purchased by sub-

scription, but principally at the cost of Mr. John

I.awrcnson, of Hartlepool. The ceremony of " blessing

the bells" was performed by the Bishop of Hexham,
and a sermon was preached on the occasion.

A peculiarity of the interior is the floor having an

inclined plane, with a descent of 2 feet 6 inches from

the western doorway to the altar-rails. The stations of

the Passion, fourteen in number, are in quatrefoil panels

on the walls. Above the entrance from the vestry is a

figure of the Virgin Mary, saluted by an angel on each

side, with the words (on scrolls), " Ave Reyina Cm-

lorum" and a coiled serpent beneath her feet. This

sculpture is after one in the parish church of Lanchester.

The altar, font, and pulpit are of stone. The roof of

the chancel is richly decorated in the Byzantine style

;

and the apse contains five windows of stained glass,

representing the Immaculate Conception, the Presen-

tation, the Incarnation, the Nativity, and the Assump-
tion ; the gifts, respectively, of Jlrs. Hopper, Mrs. "W.

Witham, the Right Rev. William Hogarth, the Rev. T.
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A. Slater, and Joseph A. Llansom, Esq. At the west

end of the north aisle, above the altar of the Bleiscd

Virgin, is a mortuary window given by Lord and Lady

Stourton. The window at the east end of the aisle, the

gift of the Rev. Thomas AVitham, of Lartington, and

Henry Silvertop, Esq., of Minsteracres, contains figures

of St. Thomas Aquinas and St. Henry. Mr. F. Burnett

gave the window at the east end of the south aisle ; and

that at the west end, containing appropriate representa-

tions of the good Samaritan and Tobias burying the

dead, was given by the members of the guild or sick

club of Hartlepool. The side windows are the gifts of

various individuals ; the subjects being either the patron

saints of the respective donors, or something appro-

priate to the place.

Beneath the chancel is a crypt, or small mortuary

chapel, lighted by three stained glass windows, repre-

senting St. Joseph, St. Catherine, and St. Winifred.

It has a stone altar, and encaustic tile flooring. This

neat little chapel was fitted up at the expense of the

dowager Lady Stourton.

United Presbyterian Chapel. — The building

erected by the United Presbyterians faces Darlington

Street. It has two heights of windows in front ; one

window on each side of the doorway and three above ;

the roof terminating with a pediment. The building is

without pretensions, but neat and well proportioned.

The chapel was erected in 1839, and opened for divimc

service on the 1st of Jan,, 1840 ; it is capable of accom-

modating 500 hearers. The ground on which the

chapel was built was purchased of the late Duke of

Cleveland, who granted the site on moderate terms.

A few members of United Presbyterians came to

reside in Hartlepool about the year 1833, and they

assembled in a large room taken for the purpose. In

1838, a congregation was formed ; and under the auspices

of the presbytery of Newcastle, steps were taken for

the erection of the present commodious place of worship.

There is a Sunday-school attached to the chapel, the

attendance at which ranges from 70 to 80 children
;

there is also a ncll-selectcd library connected with it.

Baptist Chapel.— This recently-erected chapel is

situated at the north-east corner of Chare Head Field,

on a portion of the Smith's Charity estate. The

foundation stone of tlie building was laid JNlay 19,

1851, and the edifice opened ior divine service in the

following year. The front elevation of the chapel is

somewhat ornamental ; the door-way is in the centre.
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with a window at each side and three windows above,

having rusticated dressings ; the angles terminate with

pilasters and the roof finishes \vith a pediment. The

building cost about £600, and will accommodate 500

persons, including the gallery at the east end, capable

of seating about 130. A Sunday-school is attached to

the chapel, and is attended by about 60 children.

The Baptists first assembled in Hartlepool in 1845,

when the congregation consisted of only seven members.

The congregation not being yet sufficiently numerous to

defray the requisite expenditure, an annual grant is

received iVom the fund of the Baptist Home Mission.

Independent Chapel.—The chapel of the Inde-

pendents or Congregationalists is situated in Darlington

Place. It was erected in 1844, at a cost of upwards of

£1,000, exclusive of the price paid for the ground.

The front elevation is v/ell proportioned and somewhat

imposing ; the doorway is in the centre, with a window

on each side and three windows above. The solids of

the front are relieved by four pilasters, with an entabla-

ture and pediment as a finish to ihe roof. The chapel

will accommodate upwards of 500 persons, including 60

free seats. There is a Sunday-school belonging to the

chapel, attended by about 200 children. There is also a

good library for the use of the school and congregation.

The Independents first assembled at Hartlepool, in

1840, in a room rented for the purpose. The room

soon becoming too small for the increasing numbers of

the congregation, it was resolved to build a suitable

chapel, and ground wa.s purcha.sed for the present

edifice in 1843.

Wesleyan Methodist Chapel.—The first visit of

the Rev. John Wesley to Hartlepool was on the 5th

July, 1T57, when he says, " I preached in the main

street, to near all the town ; and they behaved with

seriousness." This enthusiastic promoter of Christianity

preached in the town on several occasions afterwards

;

his last visit appears to have been on the 14th of June,

1790, when he preached in the evening to as many as

the Town Hall would contain ; and on the following

day to a large congregation in the open air. Successive

places of worship were occupied by his followers ; the

first being a room in the yard of Mr. R. Taylor,

Sunniside ; the second was the house which stands

across the main street, leading to the dock, occupied by

Mr. Soutter, cooper ; the third was a chapel on the town

wall, built about 60 years ago, which was occupied until

1839, when the present chapel was built in Northgate,

on a piece of ground sold to the society at a reduced

price by the Duke of Cleveland, who also gave the

stones used for the base, corners, and windows of the

building. It will seat about 750 persons, including

about 150 free sittings for the poor. Hartlepool is a

part of the Stockton circuit, at which place the regular

preachers resided till 1841, when a resident minister

was appointed for Hartlepool. The Sunday-school of

the chapel is well attended, and possesses a library for

the children.

Primitive Methodists.—The Primitive Jlethodist

chapel stands opposite to the new Roman Catholic

chapel, and is erected on ground purchased from the

trustees of Smith's charity. The foundation stone was

laid in 1851. Attached to the chapel is a minister's

house and school-room. The situation and size of the

building gives it a commanding appearance. The front

elevation consists of a centre projection, with a well

proportioned Doric doorway and a window on each

side, and three circular-headed windows above, ter-

minating with a pediment. The imposts of the windows

continue on to the flanks, in which there is a window

corresponding with those in the centre compartment

;

each of the angles terminates with a pilaster. The

Sunday-school is attended by upwards of 150 children.

Primitive Methodism was first introduced into Hart-

lepool in 1822 ; and about three years afterwards, a

granary was taken and fitted up as a chapel. In 1830,

a chapel was built in the Croft, which was afterwards

enlarged and improved by the erection of galleries ; but

the congregation continuing to increase, steps were

taken for the erection of the present large and com-

modious building.

Wesleyan Reformers' Chapel. — The Wesleyan

Reformers for some time occupied the Town Hall

as a temporary meeting-house. In 1851, they erected

a chapel in Chare-head Field, capable of accom-

modating 300 persons.

Wesleyan Association Chapel.—After holding

their meetings in a room in Darlington Street, the

members of the Wesleyan Association built a chapel

in Mount Pleasant, capable of containing about 400

persons, on a part of Smith's charity estate, near the

Primitive Methodists' chapel. It was openetl April 11,

1852.

The Bethel.—There is preaching every Sunday
afternoon, by ministers of various denominations, in a

f
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large room in Minerva Place, fronting the Victoria

Dock. This place is attended by sailors and their

families ; and the expenses are defrayed by voluntary

contributions.

CHARITIES.*

Smithes Charity.— Henry Smith, or Smyth,t in

1626-7, bequeathed aU his property to trustees for the

purchase of estates of the annual value of 100 marks

for every £1,000 laid out in the several towns of

England; the rents to be appropriated for the relief of

aged poor and infirm people, married persons having

more children born in lawful wedlock than their labours

should be able to maintain, poor orphans, such poor

people as should keep themselves and families to labour,

and should put forth their children apprentices at the

age of 15 ; and that such course should be taken as that

a stock should be provided and always in readiness to

set such of the said persons to work as should be able

to labour and take pains, and not to or for the relief of

any persons who should be given to excessive drinking,

whoremongers, common swearers, pilferers, or other-

wise notoriously scandalous, or to any persons that

should have been incorrigible, or disobedient to those

whose servants they should have been, or to any

vagrant persons, or such as should have no constant

dwelling, or should receive any inmate or inmates to

dwell in the house with them, or should not have inha-

bited in that parish for the space of five years next

before such distribution should be made, or being able

should refuse to work, labour, and take pains ; and he

further directed that the rents assigned for the relief of

the poor should be disposed of in apparel of one colour,

with a badge or mark denoting the same to be the gift

• From the collections relating to Grc.ithain Hospital, printed at

the private press of George Allan, Esq., it appears that on January

25, 15C3, Thomas Sparkc, master of that establishmeni, being " erased

and seke in bodie, yet God be prased of good and perfytt remem-
brance," by his last will bequeathed, inter alia, "to the poore of

Hartlepolle via. viiirf.

t "Doo Smith."—Mr. Smith was an alderman of London; and
aa he lived in Silver Street, in that city, among the working silver-

smiths, it has been supposed that he belonged to that profession. An
inscription in Great Bookeham church, Surrey, calls him citizen and
Salter, London ; but this does not prove him to have been a Salter by
trade. He was once married ; but his wife died many years before

him, without issue. Ilis own death took place January 30, 1G27-S,

at his house in Silver Street : he was buried in the chancel of Wands-
worth church, where his effigy is represented in an alderman's gown,
kneeling at a desk in an attitude of devotion, and holding a skull

between his hands. Underneath is a tablet with a long insorip-

of the said Henry Smith, or else in bread, and flesh or

fish, on each Sabbath day, publicly in the parish

churches of each parish.

It was probably through the influence of Richard

Viscount Lumley, lord of the manor of Hart, and one

of the trustees of Mr. Smith, that Hartlepool was

selected for this charity. On January 10, 1634, the

trustees purchased from Robert and William Porrett,

&c., a capital messuage (probably the Friary) in Hart-

lepool, and divers other messuages, lands, and tene-

ments, with their appurtenances, in that place,

producing £.30 per annum. Trustees were appointed

from time to time ; and the estate was for many years

under the management of the corporation. In 1828,

the rents, which were carried to the general account of

the ovci'seers of the poor, and disposed of with the

money collected with the poor's rate, amounted to £119
10s. This disposal of the funds was a manifest depar-

ture from the intention of the donor; and in 1832, the

corporation of Hartlepool, having applied to the Court

of Chancery, obtained a scheme, appointing the mayor,

recorder, and aldermen trustees ; and directing that,

after the payment of necessary charges

—

"In distributing the funds of the said charity under this scheme,

the said corporation shall in all cases give a preference to the most

deserving and industrious pers<ms, and such as have never received

parochial relief, or have been the longest without having received

such relief; and that in no case shall any part of the said charity

funds be giveu to any who at the time shall be in the receipt of paro-

chial relief, or who shall have been such receipts, and shall for the

purpose of enabling them to receive the benefit of the said colourably,

or for a short time only have ceased to receive such parochial relief."

The charity is directed to be applied

—

" In payment of premiums on apprenticing poor children of inhabit-

ants of the township of Hartlepool, or in providing clothes for such

children, on their being apprenticed to some trade or calling, or partly

in payment of premiums and partly in providing clothes, so that the

tion, stating that he had given, while he lived, £1,000 to each of the

towns of Croydon, Kingston, Guildford, Earnham, and Dorking; and

had bequeathed a like sum to the town of Richmond, and £500 to

Wandsworth, where he was born, for the relief and setting the poor

to work in the same towns. He also bequeathed £1,000 " to buy land

for perpetuity, to redeeme poor captives and prisoners from the Turk-

ish tyrannic. And not here stinting his charitie and bounty, did also

give and bequeath the most part of his estate, to a great value, for the

purchasing lands of inheritance for ever, for the relief of the poor,

and setting them a worke ; a pattern worthy the imitation of those

whom God hath blessed with the abundance of the goods of this life

to follow him herein." It is stated that the reason Mitcham is omit-

ted in the list of places in Surrey favoured with his bequests was,

" that he was whipped in that town as a vagrant, by which it appears

that his parents were but of low and mean condition." lie is said

to hive been extremely covetous, and to have obtained the name of

Dog Smith because he kept no house, but dined at friends' tables

und then desired a bit for his dog.
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number of such poor children to be apprenticed or clothed, in any one

year, shall not exceed three, and so as the premium to be paid with, or

clothes provided for, any child shall not exceed the sum of ten pounds
;

and the residue of such rents and profits in purchasing good warm woo] -

len coats and cloaks and other articles of wearing apparel, or beddmg
or fuel, to be distributed to such of the most deserving aged or infirm

inhabitants of the said township, at such times and in such manner
as to the said corporation shall seem proper. But, nevertheless, the

corporation shall be at liberty, in cases of emergency and where it

shall appear that small pecuniary assistance would be usefully be-

stowed, to make donations in money at their discretion, such dona-

tions not at any time to exceed twenty shillings to any one family."

In consequence of the temporary extinction of the

corporation in 1834, the above arrangement did not

take effect. In 1835, James M'Dowell and "William

Manners, Uvo of the inhabitants of the borough,

petitioned the Lord Chancellor for an amended
scheme, which was approved, and provides that a

general meeting of the rate-payers of the town shall be

held on the first ^londay after the j?9th of November in

every year, at which twelve substantial householders of

the town, together with the minister, churchwardens,

and overseers of the poor of the parish for the time

being, are to be elected and appointed trustees, for the

ensuing year, of the charity estates, with full power to

let and manage the same, and to receive the revenues

thereof, applying them as directed by the previous

scheme.
j

The enhanced value of the trust estates, in conse-

quence of the demand for building sites in the town,
j

has been already alluded to (seepage 250). In 1851,
^

the rental was about £300. At that time, the meetings

for the appointment of trustees were well attended

;

but a Chancery suit having been instituted against that

body for alleged mismanagement, the candidates for the

office became fewer. In February, 1853, a decree was

made, by which the costs of the petitioners. Grey and

Laurenson, were transferred to the court of the Master

of the Rolls : it declared also that there was no im-

mediate danger from incursions of the sea, and that the

trustees were clear of personal liability, having acted for

the best; the contracts _entered into with the site-holders,

being to some extent confirmed. At the meeting in

November following, the amount of rents received

during the year was stated at £245 5s. Id. ; and after

payment of heavy law costs, &c., there was a balance of

£285 1 Is. 5d. in the bank. On the 25th of January,

1854, T. W. Carbon, Esq., on the part of the Attorney-

general, attended, in the Town Hall, to receive sugges-

tions for a new scheme for the management of the

charity ; and such amended scheme is daily expected.

Sir WilUayn Blackctt's Charity.—By will, ^laich

9, 1680, Sir William Blackett bequeathed, amongst

other charities, the yearly sum of £2 to the poor of

Hartlepool, to be paid on the 1st of December, " in the

house at the bridge-end in Newcastle." This sum has

been improperly carried to the overseers' account.

Henry Hilton s Charity.—Hartlepool was one of the

places nominated in the miscalculated bequest of Henry
Hilton, Esq., February 26, 1640-1, to receive £24 per

annum for its poor. This annuity, reduced in 1663 to

£16, expired in 1739.

Crooks's School.—John Crooks, by will, September 1,

1742, charged his estates at Stranton with £15 per

annum for teaching 24 boys of Hartlepool reading,

writing, and arithmetic, and £5 yearly to buy their

books, stationery, shoes, and stockings. One of his

heirs, John Leighton, taking advantage of the statute of

mortmain, seized his share of the estate; but Ann
Crooks, a daughter and co-heiress of John, by deed of

gift, November 21, 1759, conveyed her moiety of the

estates to seven trustees, to apply three-fourths of the

rents in teaching as many poor boys as the same shoidd

be sufficient for, and the remaining fourth for books,

&c. New trustees of the charity have been appointed

from time to time. The property in Stranton contains

22 acres, the income from which is at present about

£44 per annum. A school-house was built on a piece

of ground leased of the corporation for 40 years from

September 20, 1790, at 2s. per annum; and this lease

was renewed for a similar term on October 24, 1849.

The number of children educated is 20; but no

clothing or books have ever been provided, as directed

by the founders. The master has other scholars, who
pay for their instruction.

Prissick''s Schools.—Elizabeth Prissick (widow of

Henry Prissick), who died December 30, 1826, left her

property' for the sole benefit of John ^\^ells during his

life-time, on condition of his making some provision for

the education of the poor. He accordingly erected and

endowed two school-rooms, which were placed under

trustees ; and a deed to that effect was enrolled in the

High Court of Chancery, October 7, 1835. The

income is derived from the ground-rents of leasehold

property in South Terrace, and amounts to £200 a year.

About 150 boys attend one of the schools, and 100 girls

the other, all of whom are educated free, according

to the tenets of the Chiu-ch of England, on the national

system. Since the death of Mr. ^Vells, an infant

school has been commenced by the trustees in premises

in Cleveland Place, belonging to the Duke of Cleveland,

who gives the rent to the ragged school of the town.
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The infant school is attended by about 120 boys and

girls, who are admissible at the age of four years, each

of whom pays a penny a week.

SUPPORT OF THE POOR.

It appears that, " in the better days of the corporation,"

the mayor suppor,ted the poor without a rate, the rent

of the lands being sufficient for that purpose. Li IGO-l,

the charge for maintaining the poor, and other incidental

expenses, amounted to £17 16s. Notwithstanding the

appropriation of the proceeds of Smith's charity (see

bciow) to the general relief of the poor, the amount of

rates, in the early part of the present century, had be-

come considerable. In 1815, the sum raised was £310

Is. 5id.
; but in 18£9, it had declined to £199 7s. On

the passing of the poor law act of 1834, Hartlepool

was incorporated in Stockton Union.

During the year ended Lady-day, 1854, the amount

collected for poor-rates in the township was £1,145 10s.,

and the receipts in aid of rates were £12 4s. ; total,

£1,157 14s. The expenditure for in-maintenance was

£73 15s. ; out-relief, £414 3s. ; workhouse loans repaid,

&c., £30 16s. ; salaries and rations of officers, £59

;

other expenses immediately connected with relief, £52
5s. ; total, £629 19s. The costs of law proceedings

were £25 3s. ; constables' expenses before justices, 19s.

;

vaccination fees, £17 15s. ; registration fees to clergy-

men, £36 13s. ; county and borough rates and police,

£425 18s. ; parliamentary and municipal registration,

£6 7s. ; for other purposes, £104 17s. ; total expenditure,

£1,247 lis.

THE CORPORATION.

Hartlepool is the only royal borough in the county of

Durham. Its first charter, as already seen, was granted

by King John; and Bishop Poor, in 1230, granted a

similar charter. The king appears to have had the

first appointment of bailiffs, which was afterwards held

by the bishops. The following is a list of mayors elected

t)etween 1317 to 1583, several of whom were re-elected

from time to time during that period :

—

Andreas Bruntoft, 1316, 1317 ; Joh's Goldsmith ; Will' Elius Gil-

berti ; Nicli. de Bruntoft ; Nich. Lambcrd ; Joh's dc Nesbct ; Hclyas
do Branccpath ; Joh'cs Ward ; Andreas fil' Rogcri ; Will' de Brun-
toft ; Joh's de Seton ; Bcnedictus fil' Will'i ; Ada Dowson ; Joh'cs

Nesbyt ; Joh'cs dc ^\^utrout ; Kogerus Hood ; Kic. Bruntoft ; Rob.
liowdcn

; Hic'us Vavasour ; Hob. Pert ; Kic. Lasynby ; Joh. Browne

;

Richardo Hutonc, 1583.

• Ret. William Romaine.—This celebrated divine, second son of
William Roniainc, mayor, was born at Hartlepool, September 25,

1714. The first seven years of his education was received at Hough-
ton-le-Spring

; he was then sent to Oxford, where he resided priii-

On February 3, 1593, " at the humble suit, request,

and petition of Sir John Lumley, Lord Lumley," Queen

Elizabeth was pleased to grant a charter of incorporation

to the borough of Hartlepool, the principal clauses of

which state that the burgesses shall be, and continue

for ever, a body corporate and politic, and that they

shall have a common seal ; that the mayor, to be chosen

out of the burgesses, shall continue in office one year

;

that twelve of the best approved and most discreet

burgesses shall be called capital burgesses and common
council, who shall assist the mayor in dispensing justice

and governing the borough ; that there shall be a

market on Tuesday in every week, and a yearly fair

beginning on the vigil of St. Lawrence, to continue

fifteen days ; and that the mayor and burgesses shall

have the same privileges as those of Newcastle-upon-

Tyne. In gratitude to Lord Lumley, the mayor and

chief burgesses, June 8, of the same year, " granted to

him and his heirs one moiety of all the fines, amercia-

ments, issues, sums of money to be taken for all

punishments, corrections, bloodsheds, and affrays, of

all fines taken for making burgesses or free merchants,

of all fines arising upon any ordinances, customs, or

constitutions within the said borough ; and also that

Lord Lumley and his heirs shall have keelage, viz., 8d.

for every vessel arriving vitli a boat, laden or unladen,

within the port, and for every vessel without a boat,

4d. ; and also for stallage of every shop and booth, upon

every of the market days, jd. ; and for passage of every

horse in every market day, |d. ; and for every shop and

booth in the time of the fairs, |d. ; and for passage of

every horse at any fair, |d." The following are the

names of the gentlemen who held the office of mayor

between that time and 1834 :

—

Edmund Bell, 1593 ; Percival Bell ; Robert Porrett, 1600 ;
James

Eture ; Wm. Wright ; Wm. Porrett ; Wm. AVilkinson ; Thos.

Wright ; Thos. Nicholson ; Robt. Ridlington ; John Throckmorton ;

Roger Wright ; Richard Grace ; Nicholas Joyce ; John Wells ;

Christopher Fulthorp ; John Walker, 1650; Richard I^angley ; John

Marshall ; Roger Dobson ; Joseph Speeding ; Robt. PoweU ; Robt.

Merriman ; John Miller ; Wm. Bellasis ; Anthony Dodsworth ;

John Claxton ; Samuel Smathwaite ; Robt. Routledge ; Henry

Barnes ; Richard Moore ; John Fulthorp ; AV'^m. Tempest ; Joshua

Smith ; Edmond Bell ; Joshua Smith ; William. Gibson ; George

Heath ; John Merriman ; John Crooks ; William Gibson ; An-

thony Wood ; Thos. Snowdon ; James Ilirdman ; John Tempest

;

Robt. Wright ; John Spearman : John Thompson ; John Wilson ;

nios. Davison ; James Nicholson ; Sir John Clavcring, Bai't. ;

Anthony Smith ; John Eden ; John Hedworth ; George Heath ;

Robt. Hutchinson; Sir Jolui Eden; Wm. Komaine;* Cuthbcrt

cipally, until he took his degree of M.A., October 15, 1737. He
became a frequent preacher before the University, and was noted for

his zeal in behalf of what were deemed the orthodox doctrines. As a

clergyman of the church of England, he adhered to the most rigid
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Kafton ; Johii Grevoson ; Henry Lambton ; John Hilton ; Geo.

Bowes ; Wra. Carr ; John Wilson ; Sir Henry Liddell, Bart. ; the

Hon. Henry Vane; Eobt. Lcighton ; Henry Vane, jun., 1750;

Wm. Allison ; the Hon. Raby Vane ; Robert Allison ; Sir Thos.

Clavering, Bart. : John Lambton ; Henry Earl of Darlington ;

Joshua Rafton ; Geo. Baker ; Robt. Allison ; John Greveson, jun.

;

Thos. Wilson ; Sir John Eden, Bart. ; Jonathan Dayison ; Robert

Wilson ; Ralph Milbauke ; Sir H. Geo. Liddell, Bart. ; Anthony

Hall ; John JIarley ; Charles Spearman ; Carr Ibbetson ; Wm.
Henry Lambton ; Rev. Thos. Place ; Timothy Johnson ; Sir H.

Vane Tempest, Bart. ; Henry Methold ; Ralph John Lambton, 1800
;

Sir Ralph Milbanke, Bart. ; Thos. Wilkinson ; John Douthwaite

Nesham ; Sir Martin Stapylton, Bart. ; Daniel Seddon ; Cuthbert

interpretation of the thirty-nine articles. From some dissatisfaction,

however, or want of success in his ministry, he appears, previous to

his removal to London, to have formed an intention of leaving England

for France. He was prevented from executing this design, by what

he piously deemed a providential interposition. He had actually

made the necessary preparations, and was going to the water-side, in

order to secure his passage, when he was met by a gentleman, a total

stranger to liim, who asked if his name was Romaine. He answered

that it was. The gentleman had formerly been accjuainted with his

father, and, observing a strong resemblance, was induced to make

the inquiry. After some introductory conversation, he told him that

the lectureship for the united parishes of St. George's, Botolph Lane,

and St. Botolph, Billingsgate, were then vacant ; and that, having

some interest in those parishes, he would exert it in his behalf, if he

would become a candidate for the lectureship. Mr. Romaine con-

seated, provided he should not be obliged to canvass in person. He
was chosen lecturer of St. Botolph's in 17-48, and, the year following,

lecturer of St. Dunstan's in the west, where he continued to preach

to crowded congregations almost to the time of his death. He was

for some time morning preacher at St. George's, Hanover Square,

and professor of astronomy at Gresham College. He was frequently

solicited to plead the cause of charity for various institutions, which

he at all times did with great earnestness and eloquence, and fcW

preachers ever produced more money on such occasions. His useful

la'oours at length terminated, July 26, 1795, at the advanced age of

81. Besides his work on "The Divine Legation of Moses," and

several single sermons, he published " Twelve Sermons upon Solo-

mon's Song," "The Life of Faith," " The Walk of Faith," "The
Triumph oi Faith," " An Essay on Psalmody," &c. In money
matters, Mr. Romaine evinced a great share of independent spirit

;

as an illustration, he refused large otfers from the booksellers for the

use of his name to religious compilations, and on one occasion no less

than £.500, when his annual income did not amount to half the sum.

Mr. Romaine married, in 175.5, Miss Price, who survived him about

six years, and by whom he had a daughter and two sons.

Robert Romaine, father of William Romaine, mayor of Hartlepool,

was among the French Protestants who took refuge in England upon

the revocation of the edict of Nantes. He settled at Hartlepool, and

on August 27, 1683, was admitted a burgess. In 1741, there was an

advance in the price of wheBt from 6s. to 1.5s. per boU ; on which

occasion the people rose, and a formidable mob appeared in the town.

Mr. Wm. Romaine went ont to meet them, asked them their wishes,

and was answered that they wanted com cheaper. The riotous

proceedings were put an immediate stop to, first, by promising to

sell all the corn he had at 5s. a bushel, and then by performing his

promise, for he sold to all that came at the price, whilst the other

merchants refused to do so.

* Sir Cuthbert Sharp.—This distinguished local antiquary was

the son of Mi-. Cuthbert Sharp, shipowner, by Susannah, sister of

Ellison ; Geo. Pocock ; Wm. VoUum ; Robert Wilson ; Geo. Allan

;

John Cooke; Sir Cuthbert Sharp;* Rev. Wm. Wilson; Earl of

Darlington ; Geo. Pocock ; Hon. Wm. John Frederick Powlett

;

John Cooper ; William Sedgwick ; Marquis of Londonderry ; Wm.
Skinner, sen.; Thos. Vincent, 1830; Marquis of Cleveland, 1831;

Thos. Vincent, 1832, ob. 30th March; Wm. Vollum, May 4, 1832,

p. m. Vincent; William Vollum, 1833 ; William Hazlewood, 1834.

The small amount of revenue arising from the tolls

and harbour dues, and the expenses necessarily attached

to the office of mayor,f rendered it necessary to choose

that officer from amongst the opulent, but non-resident

Brass Crosby, Esq., the patriotic lord mayor of London (see page

174). He was born at Sunderland, and received Ms early education

at the school of Dr. Bumey, Green-wich. At about the age of

eighteen, he accepted a commission in a regiment of feneible cavalry,

a force at that time introduced and supported by government ; and

he served in Ireland during the rebellion, until these cavalry forces

were disbanded. Mr. Sharp now retired from military life, and pro-

ceeded to pursue his studies in Edinburgh, accompanied by a brother

officer, the late Daniel Ellis. Soon after leaving Edinburgh, when
the preliminaries of peace had been signed with France, he eagerly

embraced an opportunity afforded him, of being one of the first to

visit Paris, and he remained there during the short interval of the

peace of Amiens. On the sudden resumption of the war, he was one

of the victims of Napoleon's ungenerous policy of retaining English

visitors as prisoners of war ; but, having formed an intimate acquaint-

ance with the grandjurje Regnier, he was by that dignitary's influence

exempted from the fate of the other unfortunate detenus, who were

ordered to Verdun. He was, however, kept in France as a prisoner

on parole for some years, during which he acquired a fluency in

speaking the language, and an intimate acquaintance with French

manners and literature. At last, through Regnier's influence he pro-

cured a permission to \'isit Holland, and from thence he returned to

England. He now settled at Hartlepool, devoting himself in retire-

ment to literary pursuits, in intimacy with the late John Ingram and

Robert Surtees, of Mainsforth whose kindred tastes encouraged hini

in the study of the local antiquities and history of the north.

Having been elected a burgess of Hartlepool, his turn to serve the

office of mayor arrived in the year 1816, during -n'hich he received

the honour of knighthood on presenting an address to his royal

highness the Prince Regent. During the period of his mayoralty,

he pubb'shed his History of Hartlepool ; he afterwards devoted him-

self to local geneology, and contributed to Mr. Siirtees' History of

Durham many of the gencologies which appear in that work. In

1823, Sir Cuthbert was appointed to the coUectorship of the customs

at the port of Sunderkmd, the duties of which office he continued to

perform until 1845, when he was promoted to the coUectorship of

Newcastle ; this appointment he held until the time of his death,

which occurred at Newcastle, August, 17, 1849. He published, be-

sides his History of Hartlepool, a Life of Ambrose Barnes, the

Bishoprick Garland, the Jolly Huntsman's Garland, Memorials of

the Rebellion of 1569, &c. " Sir Cuthbert Sharp," says Mr. Fenwick,

in the 57th Report of the Literary and Philosophical Society, " was

distinguished for fine taste, and great ability as an antiquary ; and

his important history of the Northumberland and Neville Rebellion,

forms a lasting monument to his memory."

t Amongst the expenses was an annuity of £24, incurred in a contest

with G. Pocock, Esq., lord of the manor, relative to the boundaries of

the corporation. This was submitted to the arbitration of James Losh,

Esq., of Newcastle, whose decision was given January 26, 1802.
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gentry of the county. The consequence of this was,

that latterly petty sessions were seldom held, and

offenders were sometimes removed as far as Stockton

for examination. The election of William Hazlewood,

Esq., M.D., to the office of mayor, in 1834, was

questioned in the Court of Queen's Bench, the numher

of aldermen having been reduced too low to perform

any legal act ; and he, being unable to substantiate his

title, disclaimed the office, whereon judgment of ouster

was given by the court. " And now," says a recent

historian, " commenced a period of disorganization and

misrule unequalled in any town in the kingdom of

similar pretensions—no resident magistrate—no control

—no police—the township constables incompetent and

inefficient, and literally objects of ridicule. The whole

town lay at the mercy of the lawless labourers employed

in excavating the docks. The corporate property un-

owned and uncarcd for—the freemen's pastures appro-

priated by persons from the adjoining townships, for the

use of their cattle—and the very soil, in many instances,

taken and inclosed by the owners of the adjoining

property."

At a public meeting of the freemen and other in-

habitants, held January 16, 1839, a committee was

appointed, who consulted S'r William Follett on the

state of the corporation. His opinion was that the

corporation was not actually extinct ; but he advised the

existing freemen to petition for a new charter. This

was accordingly done, and a charter obtained, September

24, 1841, by which William Vollum, Esq., was appointed

mayor : the first capital burgesses or common conucil-

men named were, Henry-John Spearman and William

John Vollum, Esqrs. ; Johnson Worthy, builder ; John
Winstanlcy, grocer ; Cuthbcrt Sharp, ship-owner

;

Thomas Rowell, bank agent; George Sheraton, gi-ocer;

William Manners, ironmonger; Stephen Horner, che-

mist; Christopher Davison, coal fitter ; Joseph Mellanby,

bank agent; and Thomas Belk, attorney-at-law.

The new corporation, though fettered with a debt of

£1,200, without revenue, and surrounded by difficulties

and obstructions, were enabled to commence proceedings

in various cases of encroachmc^nt and appropriation.

The most important of these was a case in which a sur-

veyor of highways had persisted in using a piece of

ground inclosed by the corporation, and which was
decided in favour of that body at the summer assizes at

Durham in 1845. A committee of the council drew up
and presented a report, dated July 28, 1847, on the

subject of the freemen's property, in which it was re-

commended that each freeman and freeman's widow

should receive an annuity of £12 10s. in consideration

of foregoing their respective rights to depasture a horse

and cow on the Moor and Farwell Field. An act of

parliament was afterwards procured on this subject and

that of the harbour dues.

The mayors under the charter of 1841 were

—

William Vollum, 1841; William-John Vollum, 1842; Thomas
Kowell, 1843; Christopher Davison, 1844; William Manners, 1845;

Thomas Rowell, 1846; William-John Vollum, 1847; George Green,

1848 ; William-John Vollum (accidently drowned in the Victoria

Dock, Januarj' 11) and Edward Turnbull, 1849 ; John Punshon
Denton, 1850 ; Christopher Davison, 1851.

It had been the wish of the parties who obtained the

charter that the provisions of the Municipal Act should

be incorporated in it ; but this desire was over-rviled at

the time by the opinion of Sir William Follett. In

1850, however, a committee was appointed by the

inhabitants of the town to obtain a charter containing

those provisions, so as to secure to the rate-payers the

privileges of popular representation. The existing

aldermen joined the movement; and, the preliminary

inquiries and routine having been observed, a charter

was obtained, December 5, 1850, in which it is declared,

" that the council of the said borough shall consist of a

mayor, four aldermen, and twelve councillors, to be

respectively elected at such times and places, and in

such and the like manner, as the mayor, aldermen, and

councillors for the boroughs named in the schedules to

the said Act for the Regulation of Municipal Corpora-

tions in England and Wales, except that the first mayor,

aldermen, and councillors, and the first auditors and

assessors for the said borough shall be respectively

elected at such times and in such manner as hereinafter

mentioned." The title and qualifications of the

burgesses are to be the same as those in the second

section of Schedules B in the Municipal Act. Edward
Turnbull, Gent., or, failing him, Peter Barker, Gent.,

was to draw out the first burgess list, which was to be

placed on the door of the Town llall during the eight

days next before the 2Gth December, 1850, and I'evised

by James Brothcrton, Esq., or Henry Manisty, Esq. ;

the election of mayor was to take place on January 14,

1851 ; and that of auditors and assessors on March
following; Christopher Davison or John Punshon

Denton acting as returning officer. On the first of

these occasions, 27 candidates went to the poll. The
first members of the newly elected council, which met
on January 27, 1851, were Stephen Robinson, Esq., civil

engineer, mayor ; William Gordon, John Punshon

Denton, and John Winstanley, aldermen ; Robert
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Winstanley, John Mowbray, Edward Tvirnbull,

AV'illiam Hall, "William Merryweather, Luke Blumer,

CJuthbert Emerson, George John Brown, Robert

Hunter, Thomas Robson, John Todd, and Thomas

Scrowther, councillors ; and Thomas Belk, town clerk.

Since that time, the mayors, elected in November of

each year, have been, Stephen Robinson 1851 ; Peter

Barker, 1852 and 1853 ; and Thomas Robson, 1854.

This council, in addition to their ordinary duties,

are a Local Board, for carrying out the provisions of

the Public Health Act, 1848. (See Sanitary Condi-

tion.) The queen has also granted a separate commis-

sion of the peace to the borough. J. P. Denton, Esq., of

Hartlepool ; Robert William Dixon, Esq., of Seaton

Carew; the Rev. James Allan Park, of Elwick Hall,

and the mayor of Hartlepool for the time being, officiate

as magistrates at petty sessions. There is a rural police

station in Bond Street.

The act of Parliament, applied for in 1850, received

the royal assent May 20, 1851. It provides that a

" Pastures Committee," consisting of seven freemen,

shall be annually appointed, to have the superintendence

and management of the affairs of the freemen, and the

regulation, occupation, and stocking of the pastures.

Section 24 provides " that any annual sum or sums

which shall be ascertained to be the value of the free-

men's interest in the pastures and Town Moor, and

which shall be agreed to be paid to them by the corpo-

ration for the purchase and extinguishment of their

rights of pasturage and other rights in such lands, shall

be paid by the corporation to the treasurer, for the

benefit and on account of the freemen ; and such annual

sum or sums shall be a charge upon the said land in the

hands of the corporation, and shall be payable out of the

rents and annual proceeds thereof, or out ofany monies to

be produced by any sale or other disposition thereof, in

preference to any other payments whatsoever." On such

arrangements being made with the freemen, and published

in the " London Gazette," and some newspaper in Hart-

lepool or the county of Durham, " the pastures and the

Town ]Moor, or such parts thereof respectively as shall

from time to time be the subject of the arrangement

—

shall be discharged from the rights of pasturage and

other rights of the freemen in such lands," and shall be

deemed part of the general property of the corporation,

and be held by them for the benefit of the borough.

Previous to such arrangements being completed, the

lands are to be let from year to year by the pastures

committee ; after which, they may be disposed of by sale,

lease, or otherwise. The money received, after the

payment of necessary charges, is to be called " The
Freemen's Fund," which, on the 1st of April in every

year, " shall be divisible into equal shares between the

persons who, during such year, are the freemen, and

shall be paid to them, or their respective executors,

administrators, or assigns, by half-yearly payments, on

such days as the pasture committee shall from time to

time appoint ; and in defaiilt of such appointment, the

first half-yearly payment thereof shall be made on the

5th day of April in such year, and the second half-

yearly payment thereof shall be made on the 5th day of

October in the same year," The corporation are

empowered to work limestone on the Town Moor, but

must fill up the excavations made ; and they may pro-

vide pleasure grounds or places of public resort or

recreation. They m.ay also, with the consent of a

majority of the burgesses in public meeting, set apart a

portion of not more than three acres for building pur-

poses. Money paid to the credit of the corporation

may be applied for preserving the pastures and Town
Moor from the inroads of the sea.

The act recites that, up to 18-33, the corporation were

entitled to a toll of Is. 4d. from every decked vessel

using the port of Hartlepool ; and that by the act 1

Vict., c. 78, the commissioners under it were entitled to

receive the said toll, with a toll of 8d. on every ship

using the port through stress of weather, or for other

purposes than loading or unloading, which tolls had

been applied in repairing the town walls, so as to pro-

tect the town from the encroachments of the sea. It is

therefore provided that, the powers of the commissioners

having ceased on the town receiving a charter, the cor-

poration shall collect those tolls, and apply them to the

repair of the walls, and the maintenance and protection

of the Heugh and headland of Hartlepool from the

inroads of the rea ; the works for the latter purpose to

be subject to the approval of the Admiralty. Certain

clauses of " The Harbours, Docks, and Piers Clauses

Act, 1847," and '' The Railways Clauses Consolidation

Act, 1845," are incoporated with this act.

The franchise of Hartlepool has been obtained by

gift, composition, patrimony, or servitude. Besides the

right of stint for a horse and cow on the Town iloor,

tlic burgesses are exempt from the payment of tolls to

the mayor.

The corporation possesses two ancient official seals,

made of brass. On the oldest, which was probably

made on the incorporation of the town by King John

in 1200, St. Hilda is rejiresented on the reverse stand-

ing in the centre of a canopy, surmounted by a church.
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On each side, under a smaller canopy, a priest is

celebrating mass. A crescent is on one side of St.

Hilda, and a star on the other ; with a bird descending

on each side. The legend is, "subveniat famvlis

NOBiLis HILDA svis." The obverse of the seal exhibits

a hart at bay in a pool of water, and this rebus is sur-

rounded by the legend " sigillvm commvnitatis de

HERTERPOL." The Other seal is smaller, and represents

St. Hilda, supported by two bishops, standing on a

prostrate hart ; the inscription, " sigillvm officii

MAJORIS DE HERTILPOL."

Courts leet and baron were held twice a year by the

recorder, who was steward of the borough, or by his

deputy. The grand jury presented all offences con-

trary to good order and the statutes of the corporation ;

and the court leet took cognizance of debts under the

amount of 40s. Since the borough has been governed

under the provisions of the Municipal Reform Act, the

office of recorder has not been continued.

Hartlepool County Court for the recovery of small

debts is held monthly. Tsl. Child, Esq., is assistant clerk

;

and Mr. Richard Merryweather, deputy bailiff. The

following are the townships, with their distances in

miles, which are included in its circuit:—Hartlepool;

Brierton, 4 ; Claxton, 4; Dalton-Piercy, 4 ; Castle-Eden,

9; Elwick, 6; Elwick Hall, 6; Greatham, 5 ; Hart, 4;

'Monk-Hesledon, 6 ; Seaton-Carew, 3 ; Shotton, 12

;

Stianton, 3 ; Thorp-Bulmcr, 3 ; and Throston, 3.

Hartlepool, though not a polling place for members

of parliament for the Southern Division of the county

of Durham, is the centre of a revising barrister's district,

which comprises all the townships above enumerated

except Castle-Eden, Monk-Hesledon, Shotton, and

Thorp-Bulmer.

When the subject of a new Reform Act was agitated in

parliament in 1854, the following resolution was unani-

mously adopted in the town council :—" That, viewing

the increased population and wealth of this borough,

the corporation think it expedient that it be more
directly represented than by the county members; and in

order to promote this object, it refers the matter to the

Trade and Commerce Committee, to be considered in all

its bearings."* The committee, however, did not think

themselves justified, under the circumstances, in taking

any steps in the matter.

* 'V\'hen Hartlepool was recommended, in 1620, by a committee of

the House of Commons, to have burgesses representing it in parlia-

ment, the reason assigned was, " because it is a walled town." Bir

Talbot Bowes objected on account of the poverty of the place, and
another member because it was " much given to Popery,"

VOL. II.

MARKETS, FAIRS, INTERNAL TRADE, &c.

Queen Elizabeth's charter fixes the weekly market on
Tuesday ; but, by prescription it has long been held on
Saturday, and this practice is confirmed by the charters

of 1841 and 1851. Notwithstanding the increase of the

population, Hartlepool is not as yet provided with a

covered market, the corporate funds having been hitherto

inadequate to meet the expense of such an erection.

It has been supposed that a building, with rooms
suitable for holding public meetings, &c., might be

undertaken by a joint stock company ; and such a con-

venience would certainly benefit the town, not only

by concentrating the various branches of business trans-

acted, but by inducing a greater attendance of sellers

and a better supply of the necessaries of life.

It was long felt to be a serious inconvenience to the

agriculturists of the Hartlepool district, that no facilities

for the disposal of their produce were provided in their

own immediate neighbourhood. A toll of five pecks

per last operated as a virtual prohibition to the admission

of corn for sale into Hartlepool; and when, in 1841,

this charge was reduced to half a peck per last, it was

still sufficient to prevent a supply. In 1851,

during the mayoralty of Stephen Robinson, Esq., the

subject was brought before the new municipal council,

who resolved to abolish the impost altogether ; and as a

greater inducement to farmers, premiums were promised

to those who should bring in the greatest quantity of

wheat and oats during the ensuing year. The announce-

ment was well responded to ; and on opening the

market, Saturday, September 20, 1851, 300 quarters of

wheat and 100 quarters of oats were offered for sale,

which were all bought up. The event was celebrated

by a peal of bells from the Roman Catholic church, and

a public dinner. At the following anniversary, a

premium of £10 was presented to the representatives

of the late Mr. Robert Stephenson, of Hart, for the

largest quantity of wheat, 2,024 bushels ; £5 to Mr.

Richard Procter, of Hart Moor, for the second quantity,

1,390 bushels ; £5 to Mr. John Grey, of Hartlepool, for

the largest quantity of oats, 546 bushels ; and £2 10s.

to Mr. F. Williamson, of Cliff House, for the second

quantity. During the year, above 20,000 bushels of

wheat and 6,000 bushels of oats were delivered in the

market. Premiums were afterwards offered to the

most extensive purchasers ; latterly, however, the

market has not been so well supported.

By the charter of 1841, confirmed by that of 1851,

the mayor and burgesses were empowered to hold " one

2p
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fair yearly and every year for ever, beginning on the

vigil of St. Lawrence, and from thence to continue

fifteen days, together with a court otj^iepoudre there to

be holden in the time of the fair—with tollage, stallage,

picage, fines, amerciaments, and all other profits, com-

modities, and benefits whatsoever arising, happening,

and occurring ;" provided that such fairs were not pre-

judicial to the fairs next adjoining. Fairs* have also

been held on May 14, August 21, October 9, and

November 27.

There are in Hartlepool four wine and spirit mer-

chants, four ale and porter merchants, twenty inns and

public houses, thirty beer-houses, four eating-houses,

three brewers and maltsters, and two temperance hotels.

The usual trades connected with sea-ports are carried on

;

and there are two iron-foundries and three chain-makers.

The works of the " Hartlepool Iron Company," built in

18-39, give employment to about 300 men and boys.

There are six booksellers andstationers, three ofwhom are

also printers ; and two circulating libraries for books

and one for music.

Carriers convey goods daily by railway to and from

Stockton and Sunderland. The post-office is in St.

Mary's Street, and there are two arrivals and three

dispatches of letters every day : the establishment was

formerly a branch of that at Stockton.

Banks.— For facilitating the reviving trade of

Hartlepool, a branch of Sir W. Chaytor's bank was

opened in 183.3, which, in 1836, became a branch of the

Newcastle, Shields, and Sunderland Union Joint Stock

bank, but was closed in December, 1846, on that

establishment suspending payment. Messrs. Backhouse

and Co., of Darlington, opened a branch bank in Hart-

lepool in 1838; and, in the following year, a branch of

" The National Provincial Bank of England" was

commenced : both of these establishments are still

carried on.

* Billy Purvis.—This popular local character died in his 70th year,

on the 16th December, 18-53, at Hartlepool, where his remains were

interred. William Purvis was a native of Scotland ; he was born on

the 13th January, 1784, at Auchindinny, near Roslin, of humble

parentage. In 1786, the family came to Newcastle and settled in the

Close. Having been at school for some time with Mr. Scssford, he

was apprenticed to Jlr. John Chapman, joiner. Bigg Market, New-

castle. Here his peculiar genius exhibited itself before his shop-

mates, in his abiUty to stand on one leg on the tight-rope, and other

feats of dexterity. In course of time, he procured the appointment of

drummer in the Newcastle theatre, for which he was fitted by pre-

vious practice in the Newcastle Volimteers ; was promoted to the

office of "call boy;" appeared on the stage occasionally in benefits

to dance the Sailor's Hornpipe ; and at length rose to the post of as-

sistant carpenter. He afterwards, in amatetir companies, occasionally

The Savings Bank was established in November,
1844, the business of which is transacted in the Town
Hall. Its progress has not kept pace with the popu-

lation of the town and vicinity, as compared with the

savings banks of other places ; the amount deposited at

the close of 1850 being only £2,357.

SUPPLY OF WATER.
The only supply of water within the town was formerly

from two public pumps and 92 private pumps and wells.

One of the public pumps, called the Town's Pump, is

about 30 feet deep, and the water usually stands in it to

the height of 2 feet : it was frequently locked up on

Saturdays ; and its water was often unfit for use in the

months ofAugust, September, and October. The other,

the Dandy Pump, is about 18 feet deep, and in which

the water stands to the height of 6 feet : the water is

utterly unfit for household purposes, but is held in high

estimation by the fishermen for preparing hait. That

obtained from private wells is generally too impure for

beverage. Water of a better quality was brought into

the town in casks from Stranton, and sold at the rate of

one farthing per gallon.

In 1846, a company was formed, and obtained an

act of parliament for supplying the town with water and

gas. It was intended to obtain the water from a spring

or brook called Hartburn ; but a difficulty occurred in

effecting a settlement with the proprietor of the land,

F. A. Milbank, Esq., for the use of the stream, and

which was also found to be so irregular in supply as to

be often nearly dry in summer. Another act was

therefore obtained (passed June 26, 1849), enabling the

company to procure water from a spring, the property

of the West Hartlepool Dock Company, and which

issues from a limestone quarry near Mill House. From
this source the water is pumped by steam power into

two reservoirs on the high land above the quarry, which

took the leading characters in the most popular tragedies ; but his

popularity was established by his performances at fairs, races, feasts,

hoppings, and other similar places of public amusement. As dancing-

master, conjuror, piper, play-actor, showman, &c., he has been before

the public in the north of England for half a century, nor unfrequently

exhibiting at the mansions of the gentry, in the neighbourhood—Gos-

forth, Wolsington, Hebbum, and Howick ; and no man in his day

possessed a larger share of popularity. On one occasion, during the

Whitsuntide holidays, when the South Shieds magistrates gave him

license to erect his theatre "if he would not annoy the residents

in the market place with his din," he assured them, with his ready

wit, that " the only noise that was made was caused by the audience

applauding him—which they could not help." Mr. Purvis was al-

ways ready to give a " benefit ;" he gained the good will of all who

knew him, and few have been more respectable in their station.
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are at sufficient elevation to command the entire district.

From these reservoirs, therefore, the water flows by its

own gravity through the mains, and is distributed in

the ordinary way. The larger main, from the reservoir

to the gas works at Hartlepool, is about 3,240 yards in

length, and 9 inches inner diameter. Other mains,

varying from 6 to 2 inches, serve the town gene-

rally; the principal artery being that which leads

up Northgate Street and the market-place, and passing

over a summit near St. Hilda's church, terminates for

the present near the Heugh light-house, on the eastern-

most headland of the Hartlepool peninsula. The works

are estimated to supply 275,000 gallons per day ; but

the yield of the spring in the driest seasons has always

been upwards of 700,000 gallons daily. The proportion

of solid constituents in the quarry water is 43'836 ; whilst

in that of the Town Pump it is 123-136, and in that of

the Dandy Pump, 311-529.

The cost of obtaining the act of 1846 amounted to

about £2,500, and that of 1849, £2,801 7s. 5d. ; being

a total of £5,301 7s. 5d. for parliamentary expenses.

The latter bill was obtained by the aid of a preliminary

inquiry by two surveying officers, under the authority

of the Commissioners of Her Majesty's Woods and

Forests and the Lords of the Admiralty. The capital

of the company is in 5,800 shares of £5 each. By the

act, the company have power to supply Middleton,

Stranton, Hart, and Seaton-Carew with water.

SUPPLY OF GAS.

The gas works belonging to Mr. J. A. West, erected

in 1836, were puixhased by the Gas and Water Com-
pany under the powers of the act of 1846. The
capital is in 3,600 shares, at £2 10s. each. There are

two gasometers; one capable of containing 11,000, and

the other 26,000 cubic feet of gas. The total quantity

of gas comsumed is upwards of 5,000,000 cubic feet per

annum. The length of the main pipes, which vary

from 9 to i inch bore, is about 9,000 yards. The price

charged to the majority of private consumers is 6s. 8d.

per 1,000 cubic feet; but the Dock Company pay

only 4s. 6d. The public lamps, of which there are 133,

are charged at the rate of 4s. 6d. per 1,000 cubic feet.

In 1855, the company procured a new act for the pur-

poses of increasing their capital, &c., and by some of

its clauses the charges have been partially reduced.

The shareholders have been receiving a dividend upon
their capital at the rate of 8 per cent.

EDUCATIONAL, RELIGIOUS, AND OTHER
PUBLIC INSTITUTIONS.

Hartlepool Literary, Scientific, and Mecha-

nical Institution.—This establishment, commenced

in 1833, was suspended in 1836; and though re-

established in 1840, it was again closed in 1843.

Having been once more revived, the name was changed,

in February, 1844, to that of the " Hartlepool Me-

chanics' Institute." The town was canvassed for

subscriptions in 1845 ; and in March, 1847, the insti-

tution was re-organized under its original title.

Amongst other efforts to render it popular, a news-

room was commenced in 1848 ; and in the following

year, a house was taken for the institution in the

Stripes. Donations from the Duke of Cleveland and

others have occasionally been received ; and the system

of engaging lecturers, though not at first appreciated

cither by the members or the public,* has been perse-

vered in, with prosjiects of success. A piece of ground,

in an eligible situation for an appropriate building, has

been presented by F. A. Milbank, Esq. ; and as soon

as the necessary funds can be provided, the' erection

will be proceeded with. The annual subscriptions are,

for members who have the use of library and news-

room, 12s. ; ordinary members, who have the use of

one of these only, 8s. ; minors and apprentices, 4s.

Sunday Schools.—The first Sunday school in Hart-

lepool was established by the Rev. B. Lumley, curate of

St. Hilda's, and is well attended. The children of the

Prissick Schools are required, by the rules of that

endowment, to attend the church Sunday-schools.

Similar educational establishments have been attached

to the various Dissenting places of worship opened in

the town.

Ragged School.—This school was established in

February, 1848, and is supported by subscription.

The number on the books is about 100, and the average

attendance of boj's and girls about 70, a part of whom
pay a few pence for instruction : it is, however, the

intention of the managers to make the school free as

soon as the funds will allow of such an arrangement.

In 1853, a mistress was engaged, to teach the girls

needlework, &c.

Other Schools.— There are in Hartlepool two board-

ing seminaries for young ladies. The endowed schools

• One lecturer was ao much disappointed with the attendance he

received, that he observed the next time he came to Hartlepool, it

should be with a " a moakey and trumpet."
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already noticed (see Charities) are Crooks's school, in

Middlegate Street ; and Prissick's schools, a large

square brick building, with arched sash -windows, in

Prissick Street. The Roman Catholics have a school

at the corner of Prissick Street, in a stone building for-

merly occupied as their chapel ; and there are also

fourteen private day schools in the town, in some of

which the usual branches of an English, classical,

and nautical education are taught.

At^xiLiARY Bible Society.—This institution, which

was commenced as a branch of that at Stockton in

1823, was, in 1851, constituted a distinct auxiliary. A
number of Bibles and Testaments are annually dis-

tributed, and the sums subscribed in the district for its

support, are remitted to the parent society, London.

Auxiliary Society for the Propagation of the

GosPEi, AMONGST THE Jews.—This institution, com-

menced in 1847, is managed by a committee of ladies,

and supported by different bodies of Protestants.

Indigent Sick Society.—This society was esta-

blished in November, 1847, and is supported by

subscription. It is conducted by a president, a secre-

tary, a treasurer, and a committee of ladies, part of

whom are visitors.

The Town Mission, for Hartlepool, Middleton, and

Stranton, was established in 1848; a resident agent

visited the sick, aged, and dying, distributed tracts,

and addressed public meetings. The institution is

supported by subscriptions ; but the amount collected

of late being insufficient, the resident agent has been

withdrawn.

Benefit Societies.—The St. Hilda Lodge of Odd

Fellows was commenced October 28, 1839; and the

Briton's Pride Lodge was opened in March, 1855. The

number of members belonging to these two lodges is

upwards of 500. The St. Hilda Court of the Ancient

Order of Foresters, established in November, 1839,

consists of above 200 members ; and the Loyal Sincerity

Lodge of the Aticient Order of Modern Druids, insti-

tuted in November, 1848, has about 150 members. The

St. Helen's Masonic Lodge was constituted September

11, 1846. The Catholic Guild is a society formed by

members of that religion.

Building Societies.—The first building society in

Hartlepool was commenced in 1836 ; and other two of

these useful undertakings have since been formed.

PUBLIC BATHS.

This desirable acquisition to a town has recently

been erected in Hartlepool. The building is situated

at the south-east end of the Town Moor, command-

ing an extensive land and sea view, with every

facility for recreation and exercise. This establish-

ment was opened to the public in 1850, and contains

warm, vapour, shower, and phinge baths, a large

waiting-room, and within the building spacious accom-

modation for lodgers. The edifice is in the manor-

house style of architecture ; it has a neat and well

proportioned porch, mullioned windows, the roofs

terminating with gables. The whole of the outline is

extremely effective and picturesque ; and it is only to be

regretted that the details are not a little more correct,

though, upon the whole, the building is very creditable

to the local architect, Mr. William Watt.

CEMETERY.

Amongst other precautionary measures which ema-

nated from the board of health in 1853, was the

formation of a cemetery. A meeting of the rate-

payers was held on the subject on the 31st of October

in that year, at which it was decided that a burial-

ground should be provided in accordance with the act

of parliament passed in the previous session ; that one

part of it should be consecrated for the interment of

members of the Church of England, and the other part

appropriated to Dissenters, with a chapel for each ; and

that a committee of ministers and members of various

reHgious bodies should be appointed to carry out the

measure. A committee having been formed, an eligible

site was selected, about half a mile north of the town,

between the railway and the sea-beach. The ground

consists of six acres, and is of a dry and sandy soil. The

cemetery is inclosed within a brick wall, seven feet

high. The front towards the railway is of ornamental

brick-work, finishing in the centre with gate pillars and

palisading. On the south side of the entrance, a chapel

is in course of erection for those desirous of using the

consecrated ground, with a vestry and waiting room,

the edifice terminating with an elegant clock-tower;

and on the north side, a chapel for the use of Dissenters,

with superintendent's house and requisite oflSces

attached. The entire buildings are of ornamental

brick-work, after the Norman style of architecture ; the

ground is intended to be tastefully laid out ; and from

its varied surface and the characteristic style of the

i
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buildings, the cemetery will have an attractive and

picturesque effect. The whole has been executed from

designs and under the direction of John Dobson, Esq.,

architect, Newcastle. The estimated cost is about

£3,000.

SANITARY CONDITION.

A PETITION having been presented to the General

Board of Health, signed by 112 rate-payers of the town,

William Ranger, Esq., superintending inspector, opened

an inquiry in the Tovm Hall, November 7, 1849, for

the purpose of hearing evidence and receiving statements

relative to the sanitary condition of Hartlepool. He
also visited and inspected the seats of epidemic, endemic,

and other contagious diseases.* In these investigations,

he received assistance from the Rev. Robert Taylor,

incumbent of St. Hilda's ; J. P. Denton, mayor

;

George Green, M.D. ; P. M. EJger, union surgeon ;

George Wilkinson, surgeon ; Thomas Belk, town

clerk; John Mackenzie, collector of customs; Edward

Turnbull, solicitor to the gas and water company;

Richard Wilson, churchwarden; William Gordon,

builder ; William Merryweather, builder ; the Rev.

William Knight, Roman Catholic priest ; the Rev.

James Douglas, Presbyterian minister ; John Todd,

builder ; Edward Spence, relieving officer ; John Proc-

tor, stationer ; John Lawrenson, secretary to the gas and

water company ; John Grey, surveyor of roads ; and

Henry Taylor, coal exporter.

During the 12^ years ended September, 1849, the

number of births was 3,242, and of deaths 1,949, shew-

ing an increase of 1,29-3, or, upon an average, 103'44

births per annum in excess of the deaths. Assuming the

average population of the last seven years returned at

7,500, the deaths, which were 1,359, would be in the

proportion of nearly 26 to 1,000. The principal or

generally prevailing disease was stated to be typhus

of a mild type, prevailing to such an extent as to be

endemic in spring and autumn. With regard to the

most frequent haunts of disease, G. Green, Esq., M.D.,

stated

—

" That many of the buildings were so -vicious in their construction

as to render it, in his opinion, quite impossible to put the town upon a

' "The attack of the cholera at Hartlepool, in 1832," says a late

writer, " was one of the most severe, in reference to the population,

in the kingdom ; out of a population of 1,400, there were 57 deaths.

It was supposed, by the medical men, to have been much aggravated

by the absurd practice of keeping the dead for several days after death,

which had prevailed in the town for a long period. The abomina-

tions of rotten fish and general fiith, together with a dietary among
the lower orders strongly predisposing them to such complaints, no

sound sanitary basis ; the rooms, in numerous instances, being literally

nothing more than closets ; the houses arranged without either yards

or privies ; cellars, without light or ventilation, converted into

dwellings. Numbers of houses are situate in blind alleys with

covered entrances ; the streets narrow, and |in several cases mere

culs-dt-sac ; though there is every facility for making the town one of

the healthiest in the kingdom."

The construction of some of the houses and streets,

recently erected to the east, was found to be very ob-

jectionable. The town was also very deficient in sewer-

age ; the few sewers laid down by the surveyors of

highways, at the instance of the inhabitants, not being

constructed so as to form part of a system, or placed so

as to drain the basement floors of the houses by which

they passed. The inspector, in pointing out the

remedial measures which he considered necessary, stated

his opinion that the amount of capital necessary for

public sewerage would be about £2,800. He con-

cluded by recommending the application of the Public

Health Act of 1848 ; and the duties of a Local Board of

Health are now performed by the corporation. The

office is in King Street.

Difficulties were at first encountered from the claims of

the freemen to the passages called " chares ;" but ar-

rangements were at length effected with the pastures

committee, so that those places might become highways

for the public. The accumulated nuisances of years

had to be removed, by means of carts ; the expense of

doing which, it was calculated, would be covered by

the sale of the refuse. Several of the streets were or-

dered to be paved, flagged, drained and channelled

;

and a plan of the town, with sections, for levels,

drainage, &c., was prepared. The attention of the

board was called to the old fire-engine of the town,

which was much out of repair ; and new hose and pipes,

together with a fire-escape, were procured.

When Asiatic cholera made its appeai-ance in this

county in 1853, preventive measures were adopted by

the board, in connection with the poor-law guardians ;

and only four cases occurred iu the town. A subscrip-

tion was raised, with which rooms in the Friary were

jirovided with furniture, attendants engaged, and every

possible arrangement made to prevent, if possible, the

dreaded visitation.

doubt, contributed largely to the severity of the attack. In 1849,

with a population bordering on 9,000, there were 161 deaths, of which

127 were of the malignant type. It is worthy of remark, that, in/o«r

streets, blockaded up with buildings at one end, 61 deaths occurred : viz.,

Chapman Street, 21; Twcddle Street, 16; Wells' Street, 15; and

North Wells' Street, 9. These cases, all in the severest form of cholera,

are nearly one-half of the whole mortality ; and they average six times

as many as the rest of the streets of the town.
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HARBOUR, PIERS, DOCKS, &c

The importance which the harbour of Hartlepool en-

joyed in ancient times has been already alluded to.

The mayor, burgesses, and commonalty of the town,

having, in 1473, determined on erecting a pier to

defend the harbour, and protect the south front of the

town walls from the encroachments of the sea. Bishop

Booth, by his letters addressed to all abbots, priors,

archdeacons, and their officials, deans, commissaries,

rectors, vicars, parish priests, and other ecclesiastics

;

to all sheriffs, mayors, bailiffs, constables, ministers,

and other faithful subjects of the king and the

see, entreated them to contribute to a work of

such importance by their charitable donations, &c.

Similar letters were granted by some of the succeeding

bishops.

In the first year of Elizabeth, a commission was

issued to inquire into the number of creeks belonging

to the port of Newcastle, where they were situated,

the state of their trade, customs, &c. The five de-

pendent creeks were Blith, Sunderland, Hartylpool,

Stockton, and Whitbye. Hartylpool and Whitbye

were described as being most frequented for traffic, and

were meet to be continued for the same ; but the first-

named port was much decayed, and the pier needed

repairs. The " customers" of Newcastle had deputies

at both places, who had taken entries inward and out-

ward since the ten years previous to the first of

Elizabeth. It is added that " tlie other of the creeks

are little frequented or haunted with traffic of merchants

or merchandise."

The desultory manner in which repairs were made

in the pier was ill calculated for its preservation.

When reparations were necessary, the mayor issued his

orders to the inhabitants, who brought what loose

stones they could find. In 1588 and 1665, unsuccessful

attempts were made to procure parliamentary aid. A
statute of the corporation, in 1599, expresses "that

whatsoever inhabytante of this town fyndethe nott a

suffycyent able man in his or their watche, or to the

peare, when and as often as they shall be commanded

thereunto by the constables, or peare masters, shall pay

for every time soe doeinge xiic?."

In 1719, a small duty was laid on exported grain,

the proceeds of which were intended for the reparation

of the pier ; and donations towards the same object

were obtained from several of the mayors of Hartlepool

and other gentry of the county. At length, the

dilapidations of the pier seemed to threaten the destruc-

tion of the town itself; and a subscription was com-

menced October 17, 1810, towards which George

Pocock, Esq., subscribed £500; the Sunderland

ship-owners, £378 lis. 6d. ; the Trinity House, London,

£210 ; Bishop Barrington, the Earl of Darlington,

Lord Viscount Barnard, Sir H. V. Tempest, Bart.,

Sir Ralph Milbank, Bart., J. G. Lambton, Esq. (after-

wards Earl of Durham), the Hon. W. Powlett, and the

Darlington Insurance Association, besides other sub-

scriptions, amounting altogether to £2,577 lis. 5d.

On April 15, 1812, the first stone of the new work

was laid, amidst great rejoicings, by Carr Ibbetson,

Esq. ; but the subscriptions received not being equal

to the estimated expense (£3,500), the committee at

length obtained an act of parliament for improving

the pier and port of Hartlepool, April 15, 1813,

enacting that every ship entering the harbour should

pay a duty of 2d. per ton ; every boat or coble

belonging to the port, 5s. a year ; and every house

rated to the poor at £5 or more per annum, a sum not

exceeding l-40th part of the rental. Still, however,

the funds raised from these sources were found inade-

quate. During the six years ending 1831, the revenue

from shipping was £200 Os. lid.; from house duty,

£53 5s. 7d. ; from cobles, £112; from herring boats

and pleasure yachts, £35 2s. 6d. ; total, £400 9s. In

1832, no dues were collected upon houses, cobles, or

herring boats ; the amended act having repealed those

tolls; but £34 7s. 9d. was collected on shipping. These

sums were barely sufficient for trifling repairs to the

town walls ; and the pier was only re-edified at the ex-

tremity, and connected with the land by the ruins of

the old pier, forming a mole of about 154 yards long.

In this state the pier remained for several years ; and

the harbour was equally neglected. This immense

slake or bason, when entirely flooded at high water,

contained about 200 acres ; but no part was deeper at

high water than 8 or 9 feet ; and at low water, carriages,

horses, and even foot passengers might cross the chan-

nel at its mouth with perfect safety. The inner

harbour, or haven, inclosed between the old walls and

the town, contained a surface of nearly 12 acres. The

depth of water in it varied from 3 to 4 feet at high

tide ; and it was used by the fishermen as a dock,

wherein they laid up their cobles in winter. An
attempt was made, at one time, to inclose and convert it

to the purposes of agriculture ; but this plan was

indicted as a nuisance, as the sweep of the hack-water

contained by this haven was of the highest importance

in scouring the port. The verdict of the jury before
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whom the cause was tried restored it, in 1813, to its

original condition.

Mr. R. Dodd, engineer, in a report addressed to the

corporation in 1795, proposed, by the erection of an

inner pier, a light-house, &c., at a cost of £21,537

4s. 8d., to render the harbour capable of containing

230 such vessels as are usually employed in the mer-

chant service. The difficulty, however, lay in the

distance of Hartlepool from the collieries, the produce

of which found a convenient outlet from the Tyne and

Wear. In 1823, a scheme was agitated for shipping

the coal from some of the Hetton Company's collieries

at Hartlepool; but this design was abandoned. At length,

the opening of the Stockton and Darlington and the

Clarence railways on one side, and the formation of

Seaham harbour on the other, brought the capabilities

of Hartlepool into prominence. A scheme was projected

for opening out its port, and making a railway to it.

The capital proposed to be raised for the undertaking

was £200,000, in shares of £100 each. An act "for

making and maintaining wet docks in the port of Hart-

lepool, and a railway from the said docks into the

township of Moorsley, with certain branches therefrom,

all in the county of Durham," and another " for amend-

ing and rendering more effectual an act of King George

the Third (1813), for improving the pier and port of

Hartlepool, in the county of Durham," were passed on

the 2-lth of May, and received the royal assent on the

1st of June, 1832. At a meeting of the committee of

the dock company, held July 9, Mr. Edward Steel was

appointed principal engineer, and Mr. J. T. W. Bell

sub-engineer, for the railway ; and Mr, James Milne,

of Edinburgh, engineer for the docks.

The first work commenced was the formation of a

coffer-dam, to exclude the sea ; after which the exca-

vation of the inner harbour or haven was commenced.

At a small depth below the surface, a bed of soft peat,

with trees, roots, and other vegetable remains, were

found, on which, instead of timber piling, a bed of

large stones was laid down. The deposit in the harbour

varied from 12 to 15 feet in thickness ; and several

relics, such as anchors, mooring-stones, the keel of a

vessel, &c., were found about 12 feet below the then

surface of the slake. On the east side of the haven,

next to the town, the limestone was found to be so open
that the sea rushed through it ; and it was consequently

found advisable to curtail the extension of the dock in

that direction. In 1833, in consequence of a difference

of opinion respecting the formation of the dock walls,

Mr. Milne resigned his office, and was succeeded, on

the recommendation of Sir John Rennie, by Mr. James

Brown, previously resident engineer at Holyhead.

Like many other enterprises of a similar nature, the

improvement of the harbour and formation of the docks

were found to require a more rapid advance of capital

than had been anticipated. In 1835, a sum of £30,000

was obtained, after considerable difficulty, from the

Exchequer Bill Loan Commissioners, for which private

security, of undoubted value, was required and given.

Before the railway was completed, and whilst the chan-

nel into the harbour was in progress, the dock was

opened on July 9, 1835, when coals were shipped from

Thornley colliery, in the " Britannia," belonging to

Mr. Cuthbert Sharp, of Hartlepool. In a few weeks

afterwards, the outer channel was so much improved

by sluicing, that loaded ships of 350 tons were enabled

to go to sea from the docks.

Meanwhile the Pier and Port Commissioners were

struggling with the difficulties of their trust ; and they

were under the necessity of borrowing £8,000 from the

Dock Company, which the Loan Commissioners

required to have repaid before the advance above-

mentioned should be made. In order to facilitate the

completion of the docks, the two coal companies which

first shipped their produce from Hartlepool advanced

the money. The first attempt to deepen the channel

was by means of a dredger. More effectually to scour

the harbour, a pier or jetty on the Stranton side became

necessary ; and, to avoid the expense of a more elaborate

work, this was done in 1835, by sinking old keels, and

filling them with material from the dredger, covered

afterwards with loose rubble stones, and further

strengthened by the natural accumulation of sand and

shingle. This structure has answered its intended pur-

pose as well as could have been anticipated. As it was

of great importance to deepen the channel, the sluices

were prematurely set to work ; and the consequence

was that the masonry of the " aprons," which had not

had time to " set," was torn up, and further delay and

expense incurred. In 1836, the commissioners erected

a light upon the pier, at a cost of about £200. It

became apparent, however, that their income was too

limited for the works required ; and, in 1837, they

applied for, and obtained another act of parliament, by

which their dues were increased from |d. to Id. per

ton on all vessels loading or discharging cargoes, and

half dues on refuge vessels ; their powers to raise money

being also increased from £8,000 to £16,000. This

act defined the boundaries between the Commissioners'

and the Dock Company's works to be an "imaginary line
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drawn across from the town's wall of Hartlepool to the

opposite shore, in the direction of the south edge of the

existing coffer-dam."

Au agreement was entered into, in 1838, between the

Dock Company and the Stockton and Hartlepool Rail-

way Company, by which the traffic on that line was to

be extended to the docks for shipment. This rendered

additional works, to the value of £13,000 or £14,000,

necessary. The unsatisfactory result of the agreement,

however, hastened the formation of the West Har-

bour, described hereafter.

Captain Slater, R.N.,in a report on the improvement

of Hartlepool harbour, May 20, 1840, in describing the

sluices, says

—

"There are 18 apertures of 19 feet area, for the discharge of the

waters of the Slake ; that these apertures, being under average pres-

sure of 10 feet, are capable of sending forth about 9,000 tons of water

per minute ; and it being assumed that there is a mean depth of 3 feet

at spring tides over the whole area of the Slake (viz., 118 acres), there

will be at such periods 571,120 cubic yards, or 428,340 tons available

for sluicing purposes."

In 1844, J. M. Rendel, Esq., C.E., in the course of

a report on the West Harbour and Dock, states

—

That the Hartlepool Dock and Railway Company " have formed a

commodious dock of 20 acres, and also a tide harbour of 20 acres

within the public harbour ; and as a means of keeping their tide

harbour open, as also the channel from it to sea through the public

harbour, they likewise have the power of penning up the tide in what

was originally a part of the public harbour called the Slake, so as to

run it off as a scour during low water. Their railway was origi-

nally limited to the accommodation of an unexplored coal-field lying

to the north-west of Hartlepool ; but the success which attended their

speculations has carried its extension to long-established and more

distant collieries.

"The Stockton and Hartlepool Railway was projected in 1836 ; the

company was formed in 1S39 ; and the line was opened in 1841. Its

object is to connect the several railways communicating %vith the river

Tees with the port of Hartlepool, so as to give the numerous and im •

portant collieries in the Auckland district the option of shipping their

coal in the port of Hartlepool, as being more accessible than the Tees.

It was a part of the original plan of this company to form a dock at

Hartlepool, and it appears they have never ceased their efforts to

pffect their original intention. They, however, on the opening of the

railway, entered into a temporary arrangement with the Hartlepool

Dock Company for the shipment of the coal sent down their line, and

which it was considered would amount to upwards of 400,000 tons

a year. But the result has been, that during the three years which

the railway has been opened, the quantity has not averaged one-tenth

of the original calculation, or 400,000 tons a year ; and the railway

has, in consequence, proved an improfitable speculation.

" This unfavourable result is attributed by the Stockton and Hart-

lepool Company to impediments to their trade imposed by the Hartle-

pool Dock Company, with the view of driving it to their own line

of railway, now extending into the Auckland district, as thej' say in

the spirit of rivalry. On the other hand, the H.irtlepool Dock and

Railway company state that the price charged by them for the ship-

ment of the coal brought down the Stockton and Hartlepool is as low

as the work can be done for, that they make no distinction in favour

of the traders in their own railway, and that the disappointment ex-

perienced by the Stockton and Hartlepool Railway Company is solely

attributable to errors in their original calculations as to the trade

which their line would command."

J. Murray, Esq., C.E., in a report, March 2, 1844,

speaks favourably of the system of sluicing which had

been followed by the commissioners. The Tidal Har-

bour Commissioners, in their second report (1846), say,

" Hartlepool owes its rapid rise chiefly to its southern

outlet, the want of which is so much felt at Sunderland.

This fortunate position has been in some measure se-

conded by the Dock and Railway Company, who have

now a floating dock of 20 acres, where they can load

5,000 tons of coal a day ; while the entrance is allowed

to be one of the most easily accessible of any of the tidal

harbours along the coast. The success of this port has

induced the formation of a Hartlepool West Harbour

Dock, about half a mile to the westward, the works of

which are in an advanced state. But as it is hardly to

be expected that two rival companies in the same port

should agree upon any general plan for improvement,

some independent control, free from local bias, seems to

be absolutely essential. Complaints are made of ballast

and stone being thrown over the cliff and washed into

the harbour ; that the bight of the bay is filling up with

mud and silt, caused by sluicing out of the Slake ; and

the fishermen with one voice declare their fishing

ground has been thereby destroyed."

At the time of the projection of the Hartlepool rail-

way, the following collieries, with their respective

distances from the port, were laid down on the engineer's

plan :—Moorsley pit, 14 miles; Elemore pits, 13 j do.

;

Little Town pit, 12f do. ; South Hetton (winning),

12^ do.; Haswell (winning), llj do.; and Thornley

Borehole, IO5 do. Some of these were afterwards con-

nected with other lines ; and, on the opening of the

docks in 1835, the Thornley and South Hetton coals

were the only kinds shipped there. In 1839, coals

were brought from Kelloe, Garmondsway, Wingate

Grange, and Crow Trees ; in 1840, from West Hetton

and Cassop; in 1841, from Bowburn and Heugh Hall;

in 1842, from Castle Eden and Shotton ; in 1843, from

Trimdon and South Wingate ; in 1846, from Trimdon

Grange and Willington ; in 1847, from West Cornforth

;

in 1848, from West Belmont ; and in 1850, from Whit-

well. Occasional shipments from other collieries have

since been made, but no permanent connection formed.

There are sixteen coal-fitting offices in Hartlepool.

In October, 1846, the York, Newcastle, and Berwick

Railway Company took possession of the Hartlepool
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Docks and Railway, in virtue of an agreement for a

lease. The act for this purpose was not obtained till

1848; the lease is for 31 years from the 1st of July

in that year, at 8 per cent, on the capital and debt of

the Dock Company, and 3 per cent, on that of the

Hartlepool Junction railway. At the expiration of the

time, the two companies are to amalgamate on equal

terms.

The railway approaches the docks, by way of the

isthmus, from the north-west, and passing directly for-

ward along a substantial range of staiths, divides the

company's part of the harbour into the tide basin on the

south-west and the Victoria dock (opened December 7,

1840) on the north-east, each containing about 20 acres.

In these docks there are 17 coal drops, capable of

shipping more than 40 chaldrons of coal each (of 53 cwt.)

hourly ; and, taking the time of working at 10 hours

per day, and 300 working days in the year, there is,

consequently, convenience for shipping 2,020,000 chal-

drons of coals annually. There are also three ballast

cranes, worked by steam, capable of discharging 150

tons per hour, or 450,000 tons per annum. The tidal

harbour and Victoria Dock are connected by a passage,

45 feet wide, across which there is a swivel bridge,

opened by machinery when ships are passing.

At the north-western extremity of the tidal harbour

are the sluices, by which the water flowing into the

western Slake is retained for cleaning the harbour.

Before the construction of the Docks, there was a road

called Blackstoties across the Slake, from the east side

of the water nearly in a direction towards Middleton

House ; but this road was passable only from half-ebb

to half-flood tide. When the company constructed their

embankment between the tide harbour and the Slake,

they made it sufficiently broad to carry a public road,

which gives access to the town at every state of the tide.

The lock is 40 feet wide, across which a turning bridge

is placed. To ship the traffic from the Stockton and
Hartlepool railway, it was necessary to erect a bridge

across the lock of sufficient strength to bear heavy en-

gines or loaded trains of waggons, and also capable of

being opened and closed as circumstances might require.

For this purpose, a draw bridge was constructed, which,

being necessarily level, is supported, when down, by
braces. The area of the Slake, or scouring reservoir,

which is embanked on the north and west, is 173
acres.

The expense of this extensive dock accommodation
has been given, in round numbers, at £520,000 from
the Dock and Railway Company, including the cost of

VOL. II.

16 miles of railway ; and £95,000 for the Hartlepool

Junction railway, making a total of £615,000.

The outer, or commissioners' harbour, contains 25

acres, and extends from the north-western extremity of

the town to the pier. The pier runs partly across in

nearly a westerly direction ; whilst, on the opposite

side, the harbour is protected by the jetty of keels,

stones, and shingles previously described. The limits

within which vessels are liable to the port tolls com-

prise the bay or bight between an imaginary point

about half a mile east of the headland of Hartle-

pool on the north, and the Long Scar Buoy on the

south. In entering the harbour, the pier light bears

north-by-west. The depth of water on the bar in

spring tides is 19 feet.

Between 1832 and 1835, when the docks were

opened, the revenue received by the commissioners

was trifling. The following table exhibits the number
of ships, with their tonnage, which have entered the

port of Hartlepool since 1835, and the amount of

annual revenue derived to the pier and port :

—

Years.
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" That from and after the passing of this act, the commissionerB for

carrying this act into execution shall, subject, as hereinafter provided,

be sixteen in number, and shall consist of the six commissioners, the

East Dock commissioners, the West Dock commissioners, the Ship-

owners' commissioners, the collector of the Customs at Hartlepool

for the time being, ex offiiio ; and the mayor of Hartlepool for the time

being, ex officio ; and such commissioners shall be called ' The Hart-

lepool Pier and Port Commissioners.' and may and shaU exercise the

several powers by this act conferred on the commissioners ; and sub-

ject to the provisions of this act, the commissioners shall have power

to purchase and hold lands and to improve the port, and shall be con-

servators of the port.

"That John Punshon Denton, George Moor, William Scurfield

Grev, Christopher Davison, William Gray, and Thomas Richardson,

as the six commissioners ; Rowland Burdon, Thomas Robinson Grey,

and Thomas Wood, as the East Dock commissioners ; Ralph Ward

Jackson, Robinson Watson, Thomas Wilde Powell, as the West Dock

commissioners ; the collector of customs at Hartlepool, the mayor of

Hartlepool, and the two persons who shall be the first slup-owners'

commissioners, shall be the first commissioners for carrying the act

into execution.

"That in order to determine the rotation by which the six com-

missioners shall go out of office. Be it enacted. That the said John

Punshon Denton and Christopher Davison shall go out of office on

the fourth Wednesday in the month of January, 1853 : the said George

Moore and William Gray, on the fourth Wednesday in the month of

January, 18o-i ; and the said William Scurfield Grey and Thomas

Richardson on the fourth Wednesday in the month of January, 1857 :

and on the fourth Wednesday in the month of January in every

subsequent second year, the two of the six commissioners who shall

have been longest in office shall go out of office ; and in each instance

the places of the retiring commissioners shall be supplied by the elec-

tion bv the remaining body of the commissioners at the next meet-

ing of the commissioners, of two persons to be commissioners in the

place of the two commissioners who shaU go out of office.

" That the said Rowland Burdon, Thomas Robinson Grey, Thomas

Wood, Ralph Ward Jackson, Robinson Watson, and Thomas WUde
Powell, shall go out of office on the third Wednesday in the month of

January, in the year 1853, and the two persons who shall be the first

Shipowners' commissioners shall go out of office on the third Wed-

nesday in the month of January, 1852 ; and the persons who shall be

elected in their respective stead, or in the stead of their respective suc-

cessors, as hereinafter pro\-ided, shall go out of office on the third Wed-

nesday in the month of January in every succeeding year respectively.

" That in the stead of the three persons hereinafter named as East

Dock commissioners, and of their successors, the Hartlepool Dock

and Railway Company, or the company for the time being in the

actual possession of the undertaking of that company, shall, and they

are hereby empowered to elect and nominate annually three persons,

and no more, to be East Dock commissioners, and such three persons

shall be diiectors of, or shareholders in, the same companies, or one

of them : Provided always, that the company for the time being in the

actual possession of the undertaking of the Hartlepool Dock and Rail-

way shall, during the continuance of such possession, have and

exercise solely such last-mentioned right and power of election and

nomination, and all other rights and powers by this act conferred

upon the said last-named company.

"That in the stead of the three persons hereinbefore named as

West Dock commissioners, and of their successors, the Hartlepool

West Harbour and Dock Company shall, and they are hereby em-

powered to, elect and nominate annually three persons, and uo more,

to be West Dock commissioners ; and such three persons shall be

directors of, or shareholders in, the same company,"

The principal works vrhich the commissioners are by

this act empowered to execute are, a breakwater or

pier from the Heugh in a south-eastward direction, so

as to sheher a considerable part of the north side of

the bay ; and the protection of the Heugh itself from

the encroachments of the sea. Towards the latter

object, the funds derived from a ferry across the har-

bour are to be applied, as well as the corporation toll

of Is. 4d. from each vessel.

The ferry of the commissioners, though referred to

in the act of 1837, and sanctioned by that of 1851, was

not established till January, 1854, when they erected

landing places and commenced conveying passengers.

Previous to that time, this had been performed by

decayed or infirm fishermen or pilots, and was formerly

considered " the step from fishing to the workhouse."

As the population of the district extended, however,

and the intercourse between the opposite sides of the

harbour was consequently more general, the employ-

ment became more lucrative, and the number of

persons engaged was proportionately increased. In

one week, shortly after the establishment of the com-

missioners' ferry, 3,000 passengers were taken across

by it, whilst the fishermen's boats conveyed 17,000.

The commissioners, supposing they had an exclusive

right of ferry, and finding that the competition of

the fishermen involved an amount of not less than

£1,600 a year, filed a bill in Chancery, to prevent

them plying. The fishermen appealed to a clause in the

act, which provided that nothing therein should be

deemed or construed to interfere with the rights and

privileges enjoyed by the fishermen, or injure or

destroy any of the rights and privileges which they

had heretofore possessed or enjoyed. The Vice-

chancellor directed an issue to try the validity of this

right in a court of common law ; and the case was

heard at Durham assizes, March 3, 1855, when a

verdict was found for the fishermen. The subject was,

of course, referred back to the Chancellor ; but, whilst

I

the Harbour of Refuge BiU was passing through par-

liament, the Committee of the House of Commons

1
introduced a clause to the efiect that the commissioners

shall have no exclusive right of ferry.

The most important work yet attempted by the

commissioners is the great northern breakwater or pier,

designed to elongate the Heugh, or headland projecting

to the east of the town. This pier is being chiefly

constructed of artificial stone, composed of Portland

cement and broken stones ; the latter being supplied in

abundance from the reef on which the new structure is
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itself being projected. These materials are thrown

together into a wooden frame, mixed with the cement

and water, and in a few minutes become as hard as

stone. When the frames are removed, these large

blocks will resist the action of water, and are of an

imperishable nature. They are placed closely together

in the heart of the pier, and filled up in the interstices

with pointing made of the cement, so as to form the

consistency of a rock. The artificial blocks are manu-

factured under the superintendence of S. Robinson,

Esq., the engineer, and have been brought to a high

state of perfection, as regards facility of production,

economy in the manufacture, and durability. The

lower courses of the pier have now been carried out to

a distance of 650 feet from the Heugh, and to a depth

above the extreme low water level. A change in

the direction of the pier will take place at a point

about 100 feet further seaward than has yet been

attained ; and when finished, the Hartlepool Heugh
Pier will be one of the largest solid blocks of marine

masonry in England, though only about one-fourth of

the extension proposed by the Pier and Port Bill wUl

then have been attained.

Parliamentary notices were given, in the session of

1855, for the formation of a " great float and railway,"

by converting the Slake into a dock, extending a

branch railway to it, enlarging the tidal harbour, and

making other improvements ; but the measure was

withdrawn.

It is understood to be the intention of government

to erect a fort on the Heugh, for the protection of the

town and port.

Light-house.—In 1845, the Trinity House, of Lon-

don, in consequence of a memorial on the subject,

proposed to erect a coast light-house at Hartlepool, for

the support of which a halfpenny per ton was to be

charged on all vessels trading to the port. As this

impost was calculated to produce about £2,250 a year,

the commissioners of the port, to avert such a tax upon
its trade, undertook the project themselves, and con-

sulted Sir John Macneil as to the proper situation of

the light. That gentleman, after considering the rela-

tive merits of a light at the extremity of a seaward

extension of the present pier, on the rocks beyond the

Heugh or headland, and on the top of the Heugh
itself, decided on the latter situation. The designs

were furnished by Stephen Robinson, Esq. ; the foun-

dation stone was laid August 12, 1846 ; and the light

first exhibited October 1, 1847. The tower is a

circular shaft, the diameter of which tapers from 24

feet at the base to 16 feet under the projecting balcony.

The height from the ground to the top of the gallery is

48 feet, with 10 feet more to the centre of the light,

which is 84 feet above high water mark. It is a sta-

tionary white light, exhibited from sunset to sunrise ;

and there is a red tide-light, 61| feet above high water.

In the day, the time for entering the harbour is indi-

cated by a large red ball, hoisted to the top of a mast

above the lantern. The lights are produced from coal

gas, and are directed by a dioptric lens (the only one

used for such a purpose in this part of the country) in

a plane nearly parallel to the horizon. The entire cost

of the erection was £3,200. For the security of the

light-house, it was found necessary to defend the face

of the cliff" on which it stands with masonry set in

cement, which caused an expenditure of £2,100. The
light-keepers' cottages cost £450, making an entire

outlay of £5,750. The annual charge for gas, attend-

ance, interest on capital, &c., amounts to about £435
15s. This is a gratuitous light ; the halfpenny toll

proposed to be levied by the Trinity House having been

prevented by the promptitude of the port commissioners.

The bill for constituting Hartlepool a harbour of

refuge, introduced into parliament in the session of

1855, will be noticed in the account of West Hartle-
pool, which is in the parish of Stranton.

CUSTOMS PORT.

The customs port of Hartlepool extends from the

north side of Castle Eden dene, the limit of the customs

port of Sunderland, to the south side of the town of

Seaton, being the limit of the customs port of Stockton-

on-Tees.

That an establishment for the collection of revenue

was placed at Hartlepool as early as the reign of Ed-

ward II., is proved by ancient records. Like Sunder-

land and Stockton, it was originally a member of the

port of Newcastle-upon-Tyne. On the decline of its

trade, the superior officers of the customs were re-

moved, October 16, 1680, to Stockton ; and further

reductions were successively made, until at length only

one person was retained, with the rank of principal coast-

officer. The opening of the harbour and docks intro-

duced a gradual restoration of trade and privileges

;

and in 1844, the Commissioners of Customs created

Hartlepool a separate port of the sixth class. The

bonding privileges of the port have been progressively
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enlarged, and now include, for home or exportation,

all such goods as may be legally imported, together

with East India goods removed coastwise. The ware-

housing of tobacco is also allowed, if removed coastwise

for ships' stores.

The custom-house is situated at the west end of

Southgate Street, and is ill adapted for the increased

commerce of the port. The West Dock Company,

in 1853, offered a building for the purpose ; but the

corporation of Hartlepool and the proprietors of the

docks were averse to the removal of the business.

The parties who are empowered to levy dues within

this port are—the Municipal Corporation of Hartlepool;

the Hartlepool Pier and Port Commissioners ; the

Trinity House of Newcastle ; the Trustees of Bridling-

ton Harbour; the Ramsgate Harbour Trustees; the

Warden and Assistants of Dover ; and the Russia

Company. Respecting the latter, see page 19~.

The Municipal Corporation) levy Ilarhour Dues

on every decked vessel which shall enter between the

piers of the harbour of Hartlepool (as existing in 1851)

the sum of Is. 4d. ; and for every vessel entering the har-

bour otherwise than for the purpose of loading or un-

loading, or driven within the same through dangers of

the seas, stress of weather, or pressure of the enemy,

any sum not exceeding half the aforesaid sum. Gross

amount levied in 1852, £358 10s.

This was formerly an ancient harbour due claimed by

the corporation by prescription, but which had fallen

into disuse. It was afterwards revived, and by the act

14 Vict., c. 16, sec. 48, is given to the corporation. By
sec. 50 of that act, it is enacted, " That from and after

the passing of this act, the corporation shall be liable

to, and shall uphold, repair, and maintain the town

walls of Hartlepool, and the other works connected

therewith necessary to be maintained for the protection

of the town from the encroachments of the sea; and

the tolls are to be applied to that purpose, and any

surplus is to be applied to the maintenance and pro-

tection of the Heugh and headland of Hartlepool from

the inroads of the sea." The act does not in terms

provide for the application of the surplus, if any,

beyond this latter purpose ; and it would therefore

seem that it would go to the borough fund ; but there

never has been any surplus.—The sum of £800 is

secured on these revenues.

The Pier and Port Commissioners levy Tonnage

Tolh on every vessel (except as next hereinafter men-

tioned) entering into or using the port, and every or any

part or parts thereof, the sum of Id. per ton burthen ; and

for every vessel taking refuge in the harbour, and not

loading or unloading, jd. per ton burthen. (See 14

and 15 Vict., cap. cxvii., s. 52.)—The gross amount of

this due in 1852 was £5,094 5s. 4d.

These tolls form the fund for executing the Hartle-

pool Pier and Port Act (14 and 15 Vict.), the purposes

of which are generally for the improvement of the

harbour. For limits of jurisdiction of commissioners,

see sec. 6 of act.

The sum of £14,500 is charged on these dues, at

interest varying from four to five per cent. There is

no other security. The other revenues of the commis-

sioners, in 1852, amounted to £15 10s. 9d.

The Corporation of Newcastle levy a Primage

Due of 2d. per ton on all goods imported into the

ancient port of Newcastle, of which Hartlepool is a

member. The gross amount of this due levied in

Hartlepool, in 1852, was £45 13s. 6|d.

The following is a summary of the gross amounts of

the dues (so far as they can be ascertained) levied on

ships, or on goods carried in ships, within the customs

port of Hartlepool, in 1852 :

—

£,. 9. d.

Municipal corporation 3o8 10

Pier and Port Commissioners 5,094 5 4

Trinity House of Newcastle 45 13 6|

Bridlington Harbour Commissioners 576 19 5

Warden and Assistants of Dover Harbour 203 4 2|

Ramsgate Harbour Trustees , 315 14 5j

Russia Company 1 5 10

£6,595 12 ^

The Hartlepool Dock and Railway Company are

proprietors of the inner harbour and docks at Hartle-

pool, and the West Hartlepool Harbour and Railway

Company of the West Hartlepool harbour and docks.

Each of these companies is a trading company, and is

entitled to levy dues only from those vessels using its

property.

Coast Guard.—The coast guard station is in Croft

Street, near the pier. The establishment consists of a

lieutenant of the royal navy, two chief boatmen, four

commissioned, and six non-commissioned boatmen.

There are detachments at Greatham Creek and Seaton-

Carew on the south, and at Black Halls on the north,

from which place the central establishment was removed

in 1837. The practice of bmuggling, said to have been
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formerly very prevalent, and for which the position of

the town afforded great facilities, is now nearly, if not

altogether, suppressed.*

COMMERCE.

The import trade of Hartlepool was anciently exten-

sive. By the statute of the 5th of Elizabeth, this town,

with Newcastle and Berwick, were permitted to ship

sheep-skins, wools, &c., for foreign parts ; a trade

which that act prohibited to other ports. The exporta-

tion of corn was afterwards an important branch of

commerce at this place ; and lead, butter, salted fish,

and other provisions were also shipped ; the principal

import being coals.

The extension of the coal trade to Hartlepool has

induced a corresponding revival of miscellaneous com-

merce. In the year ending January 5, 1851, the

number of ships cleared coastwise fi-om the old harbour

and West Hartlepool with cargoes was 6,576, measur-

ing 8.35,657 tons ; and oversea, 1,612 ships, measuring

238,526 tons. Of the latter ships, 935 belonged to

foreign countries ; and 683 came to load from other

places on the coast, where they had discharged their

cargoes. It is anticipated that a direct import trade

will be promoted through the medium of the Leeds

railway, which affords a communication between the

West Docks and the manufacturing districts of the

country.

The following table shews the amount of the export

trade of the port of Hartlepool, and the shipping em-

ployed in it, during the year 1854 :

—
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The shipments of coals and coke, coastwise, during

the specified months, were as follow :

—

SUpa.
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of the Tees Bay Life-boat Society till 1847, when

they were transferred to a local committee. Originally

they were supported by subscriptions and an annual

sermon in the parish church ; but now by what is

called a " voluntary contribution," payable by vessels

clearing at the custom-house.

The seamen of the port of Hartlepool, with their own

funds and the aid of the National Life-boat (late Ship-

wreck) Institution and a few benevolent imdividuals,

in 1854 provided themselves with a good life-boat. Its

services were first rendered in saving the crew of the

brig " Prospect," of Aberdeen, during a gale of wind

in October of that year. This was bravely accom-

plished ; but the ship having, in the mean time, drifted

amongst broken water, with a little boy clingmg to the

wreck who appeared to be afraid to relinquish his hold,

another attempt was made with the life-boat, and the

boy was ultimately taken off the wreck by force. The

life-boat, on this her first essay, proved, in the hands of

her skilful crew, to be one of superior qualities. A
reward of £9 2s. was voted by the National Life-boat

Institution to the seamen who manned the boat.

Fisheries.—For many years, the grand staple of

Hartlepool consisted of fish, of which many tons were

salted yearly for home consumption and exportation

;

whilst large quantities of fresh fish were supplied to the

principal towns of Durham and the North Riding of

Yorkshire. Many of the young watermen, however,

who would formerly have been brought up as fisher-

men, are now trained as pilots ; and this, with other

circumstances arising from recent changes in the town

and port, have prevented that extension of the fisheries

which might have been anticipated. At present, there

are about 20 cobles employed in the " white fishing,"

the produce of which is said to be worth about £3,500

per annum. In the herring fishery, which lasts about

nine weeks, an average of about 150 men and 50 cobles

are employed ; the annual value of the produce has

been computed at £3,375. In so precarious a pursuit

as fishing, however, these sums may be frequently

either much above or below the actual value.

INHABITANTS.

From the detached situation of Hartlepool, the inha-

bitants naturally followed, from father to son, similar

occupations, and retained the manners and customs of

the past whilst changes were taking place in towns

lying in a more direct line with the metropolis. Most

of the time-honoured customs, however, were similar to

those prevailing in the north of England generally

;

but the great extension of the place within the last few

years, and the influx of a new population, have tended

to destroy the more primitive habits of the people.

The solemnities practised every where at Easter, are,

however, stiU preserved ; and, on the approach of

Christmas, carols are sung by children
; yule clogs

blaze on the eve of the nativity; the Christmas box
and New Year's gift are not forgotten, though morris-

dancers but rarely exhibit their feats. The custom,

though not peculiar to Hartlepool, still exists of pre-

senting a child on its first visit to a relation or neigh-

bour, with three things—salt, bread, and an egg.

Mell suppers are occasionally held in the neighbourhood

at harvest home; but these festivities are now sel-

dom enlivened by the pranks of guysers. Until of late

years, at the funeral of a young unmarried female, a

garland was carried before the corpse, and afterwards

suspended in the church. A belief in toafs still lingers

amongst many of the more imaginative of the lower

orders, and few are supposed to die before their neigh-

bours have seen their wafs glide softly by. Indeed,

some have seen their own

—

" I hear a voice you cannot hear,

Which says I must not stay ;

I see a hand you cannot see,

Which beckons rae away."

Lucy and Colin,

And under the conviction that death is thereby pre-

dicted, like many prophecies which help to bring about

their own fulfilment, the party so warned seldom

recovers from the impression produced by the

appearance of such an apparition. The slot plough

ceases to be paraded through the town on the first

Monday after twelfth day ; and the practice no longer

prevails on Easter Monday for the men to take off the

women's shoes or buckles, and on the following day for

the women to retaliate in like manner.

Many years previous to the revival of the port, " a

small number of country families," says Mr. Proctor,

in his history of the town, " long accustomed to the town,

made it the place of a few weeks' sojourn in the summer

season, when it assumed a sort of spasmodic gaiety,

especially about two o'clock of the day, when the ' table

d'hote' at the King's Head invited all the lodgers in the

town to dinner, who chose that least troublesome mode

of providing their mid-day repast. Great was the flutter

in the streets for the space of ten minutes before the

appointed hour, as it seemed to be the occasion selected
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by the ' dowagers and spinsters' to show off all their

ai-ray of smart head-gear—in the shape of turbans, caps

' brave with ribbons,' and the like articles of female

mystery. Not unfrequently might be seen the amiable

curate of that day, in charge of one of those well-

appointed dames, sailing down the high street to the

dinner, to which, most probably, he had received an

invitation ; a thing of not rare occurrence, for his social

qualities, in the setting of razors and playing a rubber

at whist, rendered him an acquisition to both the sexes."

The same writer continues, " The lower class of the

females at Hartlepool, at the time in question, were re-

marked by all strangers to be a very fine class of women.

Their practice, when shrimping or seeking bait, of con-

verting their scanty petticoats into short inexpressibles

that came about half-way down the thigh, whilst all

below was ' in pun's naturalibus ,' with the red kerchief

on the head, instead of a cap, rendered them very

picturesque objects alongside the boats and cobles, and

nets and creels, with which the harbour was generally

strewed. It was remarked, that as soon as the ' navvies'

came, the costume ' a la Bloomer' disappeared—the red

kerchief gave place to the smart cap—with an occasional

wreath of artificial fiowers in it ; shoes and stockings,

white on Sundays, became the correct thing, and, in

fact, the whole aspect of the inhabitants, as well as the

face of the landscape, became changed ; and, as far as

the inhabitants are concerned, so much for the worse,

in the opinion of every true lover of the unsophisticated

native."

There is no theatre at Hartlepool ; and the amuse-

• Richard Cosin, LL.D., according to Fuller, "was bom at Hartly

Poole ; and some observe a providence that he who afterwards was

to prove the grand champion of episcopacy, should (amongst all the

counties of England) be bom in this bishoprick. His father was a

person of quality, a captain ot a company in Musselbrough Field,

whence his valour returned with victory and wealth ; when crossing .

the river Tweed (0 the uncertainty of all earthly happiness 1) was

drowned therein, to the great losse of his son Richard ; and greater,

because he was not sensible thereof, as left an infant in the cradle."
j

His mother afterwards married a Mr. Meddow, a Yorkshire gentle- I

man, by whom he was put to school at Skipton in Craven ; and, before

hf teas twelte years old, he was admitted in Trinity College, Cambridge,

where he was made a Scholar and a Fellow as soon as, by his age,

degree, and the statutes, it was possible. He was a general scholar,

geometrician, musician, physician, and divine ; but chiefly celebrated i

ments of the inhabitants are consequently derived from

the performances of itinerant companies or individuals.

Hartlepool races, after being discontinued for six years,

were revived on the 2nd of September, 1841, but have

not since been regularly held. Regattas, and other

occasional aquatic sports, are appropriate to the locality.

A " bachelors' ball" sometimes enlivens the monotony

of social life ; and, as in other places, the study and

practice of music are beginning to acquire that estima-

tion and popularity to which the science is entitled.

A town which has undergone so many changes as

Hartlepool has done, afl^ords a curious theme for re-

flection on the characters of its successive inhabitants.

In the dim mists of the past, the religious sisterhood of

St. Hilda fade from the view to give place to the grim war-

riors who were contemporaneous with the Bruce. These

are succeeded by the bold seamen of the North Sea,

who bore the chivalry of their native land to the wars of

Scotland and France, or who fought their country's

battles on their own clement ; whilst, at home, the

religion and learning of the time were preserved by the

canons of Guisborough, whose example must have in-

duced a taste for literature which endured long after

their departure.* The hardy, industrious, honest, and

simple population of the last century are now being

superseded by the acute man of business, the ingenious

mechanic, and, once more, the hardy na-s-igator. It is

to be hoped that the people of Hartlepool, now fully

alive to the advantages of their situation, may long con-

tinue to enjoy the fruits of their enterprise, talent, and

perseverance.

as a canon lawyer. Archbishop AVhitgift preferred him to the

chancellorship of Worcestor, and afterwards made him Llean of the

Arches; " wherein he carried himself without giving (though many
took) offence at him." It was laid to his charge, that he gave many

blank licences, thus giving occasion to unlawful marriages, and " rob-

bing many a parent of his dear child thereby." His biographer,

however, states, that " there was but one, which a fugitive servant

stole from the register to make his private profit thereby." During

the sickness of which Dr. Cosin died, he suffered little pain, though

very corpulent ; and his last words were, " Farewell my surviving

friends , remember your mortality and eternal life.'' He gave £40 to

the building of a chamber in Trinity College, and £15 per annum for

the maintenance of two scholarships therein ; but died so poor that

he did not leave above £50 a year to his heir.

—

FuUer't Worthies.
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PAEISH OF STEANTON.

The parish of Stranton originally consisted of the townships of Stranton (including Tunstall), Brearton, and

Seaton-Carew (including Owton). It was bounded on the north and west by the parish of Hart, on the south-

west by Elwick Hall, on the south by Greatham, and on the east by the sea. In 1841, Seaton-Carew was con-

stituted a distinct chapelry ; and that of West Hartlepool, situated in the north-east part of the township of

Stranton, was formed in 1852.

STRANTON.

The township of Stranton (which includes West Hart-

lepool and IMiddleton), with its tidal water, comprises

an area of 3,695 acres. In 1801, it contained 325

inhabitants; in 1811, the whole parish (including Stran-

ton, Brearton, and Seaton-Carew) had a population of

659; in 1821, that of the township was 371 ; in 1831,

581 ; in 18-41, 1,491 ; and in 1851, 4,008, of whom
2,288 were males and 1,720 females. The increase at

the two latter periods was caused by the large number

•of labourers, with their families, employed at the Hart-

lepool and West Docks, and to the increase of the coal

trade. lu 1831, there were 101 inhabited houses ; in

1841, 274 inhabited, 12 uninhabited, and 6 building;

and in 1851, 637 inhabited, 13 uninhabited, and 56

building. Since that time, the number of houses has

increased at the rate of 150 per annum. About six

years ago, the number of rate-payers was about 400

;

in 1855, there were about 1,400. The annual value of

property assessed to the county-rate, in 1828-9 was, for

the whole parish, £4,562 ; in 1853, it was, for the town-

ship alone, £17,579.

In the year ended I-ady-day, 1854, the amount col-

lected in poor-rates for Stockton Union, in the township

of Stranton, was £430 6s. ; in aid of rates, £5 15s.

;

total, £436 Is. In Brearton, the poor-rate amounted

to £46 10s. ; in aid of do., Ss. ; making a total income

• A mass of red stone, of 10 or 12 tons weight, was discoTered in

1829, in a bed of clay beneath the sand of the beach. It was beauti-

fully veined ; and the lower part was of a consistence between stone

and clay. When worked up into mantle-pieces, candlesticks, and
other ornaments, and polished, its brilliancy was nearly equal to that

of marble.

t Tlio following are the depositions in proceedings against Edward
Johnson (miller), in causa correctionis. 1 Feb. 1576 :

—

" Thomas Colson, of Stranton, aged about 64 years. He saith that

this exominate knoweth, as all his neighbours doe, that the said

Johnson is generally suspected to lyve in whoredome with the said

Jennet Slaiter ; and that he haith kept hir and doethe kepe hir still, as

his leman ; for that she cometh every weeke once or twiae to him

VOL. II.

of £482 19s. The expenditure during the same period

was as follows :

—

In-maintenance :—Stranton, £17 9s. ; Brearton, £15 14s... £33 3

Out-relief:—Stranton, £150 4s.; Brearton, £20 2s 170 6

Loans repaid:—Stranton, £8 10s. ; Brearton, £2 12s. .. 11 2

Salaries and rations of officers :—Stranton, £13 7s.

;

Brearton, £1 17s 15 i

Other expenses :—Stranton, £7 6s. ; Brearton, 15s 8 1

Total expenses connected with relief 237 16

Constables' expenses before justices :—Stranton, £2 5s.

;

Brearton, 18s 3 3

Vaccination fees :—Stranton, 2 12

Registration fees to clergymen :—Stranton, £17 16s.

;

Brearton, 2s 17 18

County-rates, &c.:—Stranton, £275 3s.; Brearton, £7 16s. 282 19

Parliamentary registration, &c. :—Stranton, £2 19s.

;

Brearton, 10s 3 9

For other purposes :—Stranton, £52 Is. ; Brearton, £3 15s. 55 16

£603 13

The Stockton and Hartlepool branch of the North-

eastern railway extends along 1 mile and covers 20

acres in this township. It contributed £7 6s. 6d. to

the local rates in each of the years 1851 and 1852; the

gross amounts raised in those years being respectively

£434 17s. 7^d. and £456 Os. 9d.

Stranton (obviously the town on the strandJ is plea-

santly situated about a quarter of a mile from the sea, to

which the ground slojjes gradually.* It contains three

corn-mills,t four public houses, and a few tradesmen.

to the milne at the least. And this examinant further sayth that he

hard the said Johnson confcsse and say that he had committed adul-

tery with the said Jane Slaiter, and tliat he wold never refuse hir as

longe as the breth was in him ; and tliat she shoulde never com.e in

the lawe so longe as he had one grotu to spcndc. And this exami-

nant tolde him that the neighbours wold put hir out of the parishe,

and Johnson answered that he wold place hir. And she bcinge so put

out of the parishe, was placed by him in his ownc howsc and hir goods,

and kept hir ther till she was cited ; and since she resortcthe to him,

as is aforesaid. And the said Jolmson said to this examinante that

he had rather that any maii shoulde gape his owne wyf then kissc

Jane Slaiter mouth, f
" John Cassen, of Stranton, yeoman, aged about 52 years :—lie

9. TJ

Thank you for purchasing from Ebay Shop Retromedia

http://stores.shop.ebay.co.uk/retromedia


284 STOCKTON WARD—NORTH-EAST DIVISION.

The newly-erected town of West Hartlepool now adjoins

the village on the cast, and is incorporated with it for

the poor-rates. Stranton is also included in the West
Hartlepool Improvemem Act, and is lighted with gas

;

but the water is not yet laid in, there being a good supply

in the village. An annual feast is held at this village,

commencing on the Sunday after Old Martinmas-day.

A school-house was built by subscription in 1777, but

did not receive any endowment. (Sec Charities).

Limestone was formerly quarried and burnt in great

abundance ; but, previous to the commencement of the

West Docks, this business had declined.

There was but one person who joined the Northern Re-

bellion in 1569 from "Straynton," and he suffered death.

Stranton was formerly part of the ancient Hartness ;

and the manor was held under Bruce and Clifford by

the Lumleys. John Lord Lumley, 4th Eliz., alienated

the manor of Stranton, Scaton-Carew, and Newburn-

Rawe to Sir Thomas Gresham, Knt., from whose widow

they passed to her son by a former marriage, Sir William

Read, Knt. The Wilsons of Hartlepool, the Gibsons,

and the Whartons of Old Park, afterwards held property

belonging to this manor ; the great tithes of the whole

parish belonging to the Whartons. Another manor in

Stranton belonged to the Fitz-Marmadukes of Hordon,

and their descendants, the Lumleys and Gascoignes.

It passed from the latter in 1607, to Anthony Dodsworth,
Gent., and from his descendants, in 1683, to Richard

and William Reed, of Hart, yeomen. In 1715,Dorothy,

widow of Richard Reed, intermarried witli Edward
Surtees, Esq., of Mainsforth, in which family the pro-

perty descended to the late Robert Surtees, Esq.

After the Dissolution, the lands in Stranton which

had been granted to Guisborough Abbey by Robert

Bruce, remained vested in the crown till July 31, 1609,

when King James I. granted them to George Salter,

Gent., and John Williams, of London, draper, by whom
they were granted, June 23, 1615, to Robert Gibson,

Nicholas Dodshon, and John Dodshon, yeomen, of

Stranton. The Reeds afterwards held the property for

several years. The principal proprietors at present are

F. A. Milbank, Esq. ; Ralph Walker, Esq., of Middle-

ion Grange; William Robson, Esq., of Catcote ; W.
L. Wharton, Esq. ; W. Barras, Esq. ; and Wilbraham

Egerton, Esq.

saithe that he harde the said Johnson saye that he had committed

whoredom with Janet Slater ; and, further, said if there were a hun-

drethe harnessed men set betwixt him and hir, with drawen swords

in ther hands, that he wold run throughe them all to hir ; and that, if

thcr were a htmdred devels of hell betwixt hiin and hir, with fleshe

THE CHURCH.

This church probably occupies the site of that given by
Robert de Brus to Guisborough Abbey, and the grant

of which was confirmed by Bishops Pudsey and Kellaw.

The style of architecture in all its parts is nearly similar.

The tower is lofty, rising from pointed arches, with a

triple window in its western front. The entrance is by

a south porch. Each of the side aisles is formed by

a single octagonal pillar, supporting blunt-pointed

arches ; and a lofty pointed arch separates the nave from

the chancel. In the north aisle, a porch, originally

entered by an arch, was afterwards closed up, but is

now thrown into the body of the church. Another

porch, on the north side of the chancel, wliich was the

family burial-place of the Fulthorpes of Tunstall, and

afterwards converted into a vestry, has also been re-

opened : it is formed by two elliptic arches, supported

by an octagonal pillar. About 100 additional sittings

have thus been obtained; and the arches are very

effective. The white-washing and plastering on the

pillars have been removed, and various improvements

and restorations made, by the present vicar. The old

wooden pulpit has been replaced by a beautiful one of

Caen stone ; and an organ has also been erected in a

recess on the south side of the chancel : it cost about

£70, and was paid for by a subscription headed by the

vicar. The windows of the church are the only enriched

parts, and are all either of the late decorated or perpen-

dicular period. The church will accommodate about

500 persons. The nave is 51 feet long, and, with its

side aisles, 48 feet wide : the chancel is 33 feet long by

15 wide.

In the floor of the north porch are two large marble

slabs, one of which is plain, and on the brass of the

other was formerly a representation of a person in long

robes. The mural monument of James Belassis, Esq.,

of Owton (who died in 1640), in the north aisle, repre-

sented him in the act of rising from the tomb, and

throwing off a winding sheet : being in a decayed state,

it has been removed. Other tablets record the deaths of

Reed Surtees, Esq. and the Rev. John Gagnier, vicar.

A neat vestry has recently been erected on the north

side of the chancel, in architectural harmony with the

other portions of the church.

croks in ther hands, that he wold run throughe them all to hir; ther

being present John Jackson. Saying further that he was present

with the -sacar of Stranton when he rebuked him for suche his evel

demeanour : Johnson annswered that he hoped that he that was an

evill man wold never amend.—Joux Casson."
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Registers.—Books Nos. 1 and 2 contain entries of

baptisms from 1580 to 1812, defective from 1587 to

1589, 1648 to 1680, and 1768 to 1793 ; No. 3, burials

from 1583 to 1812, defective from 1612 to 1660 and

1768 to 1792 ; No. 4, marriages from 1580 to 1812,

defective from 1647 to 1680. No entries 1686 to 1688,

and 1691.

Stranton vicarage, the prior of Guisborough patron

till the Dissolution ; afterwards, — Dodsworth, Esq.

;

now, Sir Matthew "VVlite Ridley, Bart. King's

Books, £17 16s. O^d. ; Tenths, £1 15s. 7|d.; Episc.

proc, 6s. ; Archid., 3s. 8d. ; Synod., 4s. Dedication

to All Saints.

Vicars.—Richard de Topcliff occurs 1312 ; Walter de Gisburn,

ob. 1343; Thomas Scot, 1349; John de Wolviston, 1361; Richard

Oliver, 1379, p. m. Wolviston ; Thomas Stare, 1396, p. m. Oliver;

John Burie, 1424, p. res. Stare; John Chestre, 1434, p. m. Burie;

Richard DriaSeld, 1437, p. res. Chestre ; Thomas Savage, 1481 ; Joseph

Moreby, 1501 ; George Comey, 1509, p. m. Moreby; D'nus Richard

Slater, 1510 ; John Semer, cl., 1539 ; James Lakenbie, preb., 1561,

p. m. Semer ; Richard Rawling, 1575, p. m. Lakenbie ; Philip Hather-

leye, 1578, p. m. Rawling ; William Massie, 1581, p. m. Hatherleye;

Ralph Turner, 1588, p. m. Massie ; Thomas Matthewson, 1590, p. res.

Turner; Henry Bell, 1602, p. m. Matthevfson ; John Allen, 1607:

John Smith, 1661 ; William Smith, A.B., 1671; Stephen Tennant,

A.M., 1671, p. res. Smith ; James Noble, 1710, p. m. Tennant. ;

Richard Condor, 1727, p. m. Noble; Matthew Robinson, A.M., 1738,

p. m. Condor; John Gagnier, A.M., 1745, p. res. Robinson; Joseph

Birkett, A.M. 1796, p. m. Gagnier; Rowland Webster, A.M., 1833,

p. m. Birkett; Henry R. Ridley, 1851, p. res. Webster forKelloe.

The vicar of Stranton provided one lancer and two

archers to the array of the clergy in 1400.

The glebe consists of the vicarage-house and garden,

at the south-west corner of the village. The vicar is

generally entitled to the tithe of hay, and to all small

tithes. The gross annual income of the living was

stated, in 1835, at £325, subject to permanent payments

amounting to £45, leaving £280 clear. The tithes

were commuted in 1841 ; those of Stranton for £220,

those of Brearton for £25, and those of Seaton-Carew

for £100, making a total of £345, besides the sums

received as surplice fees.

CHARITIES.

FultJiorpe's Charity.—The Rev. Christopher Ful-

thorpe, by will, June 30, 1707, devised to trustees all

his property in Tunstall, Mordeston, Stranton, Thros-

ton, Hart, Hartlepool, and elsewhere in the county of

Durham, that they, after paying certain legacies and

annuities out of his estate at Catcote, should with the

residue build a school-house in such place as he should

direct, the master of which, who should be a deacon or

qualified as such, was to receive £20 yearly for teaching

15 children in Stranton and Hart parishes gratis. The
further sum of £8 per annum was to be laid out in

buying coats, shoes, and hats for four scholars, and 40s.

for Common Prayer Books, Whole Duties of Man, and

Bibles, for such as should need them, and had made

the greatest improvement. He also directed that if his

three grand-daughters, Mary, Elizabeth, and Margaret

Ellis, should die without issue, all the residue of the

rents and profits of his estates should be applied in the

purchase of lands for the augmentation of vicarages and

parsonages in the county of Durham first, and after-

wards in Yorkshire or elsewhere. No school was for

many years established according to the directions of

this will J though two of the proprietors of Catcote

admitted that £400 and £200 had been returned from

their respective purchase monies, on account of the

claim that might possibly be made upon them in respect

of this charity. At length, in 1841, a school-house was

erected, by the proprietor of Catcote, at the north end

of the village. It is called Fulthorpe's School, and is

managed by five trustees, of whom the vicar of Stran-

ton for the time being is the acting trustee. The

proprietor of Catcote, W. Robson, Esq., gives £30

annually; and the school is attended by above 80

children.

TUNSTALL.

This estate, which adjoins Stranton on the west, was

the ancient seat of the younger branch of the Ful-

thorpes. After the attainder of Sir Roger, Richard II.,

in 1399, restored it, with other possessions, to Sir

William Fulthorpc, to hold during the life of his father.

It afterwards passed by marriage to the families of

Radclyffe, Booth, and Strangways, but was again

acquired, by marriage and purchase, by the elder line

of Fulthorpe. In 1707, it passed to the grand-daugh-

ters of the Rev. C. Fulthorpe, one of whom married

Robert Raikes, Esq., of Northallerton, whose son sold

the estates. James Robinson, Esq., the purchaser of a

part, sold Tunstall to Mrs. Barras ; and it is now held by

Mr. William Barras. Catcote, which was sold at the

same time to Mr. Henry Robson, is at present the

property of William Robson, Esq.

BREARTON,

Or Brierton, a township to the south-west of Stranton,

comprises 748 acres, divided into three farms, and con-
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talning four inhabited houses. The number of

inhabitants, in 1801, was 82 ; in 1811 the population

was included with the rest of the parish ; and at the

four succeeding enumerations, it was 21, 22, 27, and

33; 18 of the latter being males and 15 females. The

property was valued for the county-rate in 1853 at

£465. The hamlet of Breaiton is 8 miles east-north-

east from Stockton.

This manor anciently belonged to the Grcystocks;

one of whom, Sir William Greystock, in 1344, settled

this estate, with Nesham and Coniscliffe, on himself

and the heirs of his own body, with remainder over,

failing such issue, to Robert, son of Ralph Neville, of

Raby, on condition of his assuming the arms and name

of Greystock. Brearton, however, continued in his own
descendants till the reign of Henry VII., when it

passed by marriage to Thomas Lord Dacre, of Gilsland,

and afterwards to the Howards. In the reign of Charles

II., Sir William Blackett, Bart., held this manor : it was

afterwards the property of the family of Turner, and

subsequently of Kirkleatham Hospital, to which it still

belongs.

PAEOCHIAL CHAPELEY OF WEST HAETLEPOOL.

The recently formed parochial chapelry of Christ Church has assigned to it all that part of the parish of Strantonr

comprised within the following boundaries, that is to say : firstly, all that part which is bounded on the south by

the highway leading from the sea shore to the village and the parish church of Stranton, and extending westwards

as far as the point or corner at which the said highway turns southward towards the said parish church.

Secondly, that part of the said parish commencing from the said last-mentioned point or corner of the said high-

way, and extending along the highway leading from the said parish church of Stranton to the paint or corner of

the highway leading towards Throston, and as far westwards thereon as the eastern boundary of the field of

Ralph Walker, adjoining certain houses and property belonging to William Hutchinson on the west side of the

ground belonging to Ralph Ward Jackson, and Robinson Watson, merchant, and Thomas Wilde Powell, gentle-

man, and intended for a public cemetery. Thirdly, that part of the said parish commencing from the western

extremity of the said ground intended as the public cemetery (and including the same ground), and extending

from the said point or corner of the said highway leading to Throston aforesaid as far as the northern extremity

of the said parish of Stranton, and along the entire northern and eastern boundary of the said parish of Stranton ;

and which said disti'ict intended to be hereby assigned, shall be under the immediate care of the minister who

may be duly licensed to serve such church, as regards the visitation of the sick and other pastoral duties, and the

publication of banns of marriage, and the solemnization and performance of marriages, baptisms, and churchings

in the said church.

WEST HARTLEPOOL.

The town of West Hartlepool has risen into existence

solely in consequence of the formation of the West

Docks. Up to the year 1845, the entire site was a

barren shore and land, on which stood a solitary farm-

house. The ground becoming the property of the Dock

Company, the plan and arrangements of the buildings

are more systematic than is usually the case with places

so hastily constructed. The parts more recently built,

in particular, are judiciously laid out; the main streets

running at right angles from east to west and from

north to south. The principal are Church Street,

Whithij Street, Scarborouf/h Street, Victoria Terrace,

and Albert Terrace / and other large thoroughfares are

in the coiu'se of formation. The houses are generally of

brick, and well built ; and the shops are neat and com-

modious. The adoption of one uniform system of

drainage will, it is hoped, supersede the necessity of

future expensive changes. The Dock-offices, situated

at the north end of Victoria Terrace, are about to be

taken down ; and more extensive and suitable budd-

ings will be erected for the purpose where the present

Tower Buildings stand.

The district called California, to the north-west, forms

an exception to the other parts of the town ; the houses,

mostly occupied by workmen, being crowded together,

and generally deficient in those conveniences and

sanitary arrangements which are now considered es-

sential to health and comlbrt.
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"Upwards of 100 acres of land are about to be added

to the town, as building sites for villas, &c. These

tracts are situated to the south and west, and belong

respectively to the West Hartlepool Dock Company,

Mr. Richardson, Mr. Turnbull, and Mr. Carter. The

town is supplied with water and gas by the Hartlepool

company.

Police Station.—A proposal was made in 1853, by

the West Hartlepool Dock Company, to contribute

£100, a free site, and stone sufficient for building a

police station in the township of Stranton, with lock-up

cells, and accommodation for their own and the county

police, on condition that the magistrates should con-

tribute a sum of equal value, viz., £150; the estimated

cost of such a building being £300. The station was

to become the property of the county; the police

of the company, under this arrangement, were to be

consolidated with the county force, as provided for by

the Constabulary Act. The proposal being accepted

by the magistrates, a station was erected on the east side

of West Hartlepool, and is used by the county police,

and for the accommodation of the force engaged at the

docks.

Town Improvement Act.—In 1853, Ralph Ward
Jackson, Esq., applied, on behalf of the town, for an

improvement act ; and, at a public meeting of the in-

habitants, a committee was appointed to consider the

eligibility of such an object. The project having met

with general approval, an act was obtained, and received

the royal assent June 2, 1854. It is intituled, " An
Act for paving, lighting, watching, draining, cleansing,

regulating, and otherwise improving the town of West
Hartlepool, and part of the township of Stranton, in the

county of Durham, for providing a cemetery, and for

other purposes." The persons named in it as the first

commissioners are, Ralph Ward Jackson, the Rev.

Henry Richard Ridley, Thomas Casebcurne, Ralph
Walker, Christopher Salmon, William Lisle, John
Richardson, John Taylor, William Ramsay, Jacob

Allison, William Waldon, and Cuthbert Emerson.

One-third of the number are to retire on the 25th of

March in every year, and their successors to be elected by
rate-payers of £10 and upwards. They are empowered
to divide the limits of the town into " The Town Dis-

trict" and " The Rural District," and to set up boundary
stones. They may purchase lands for opening new
sti-ects, regulate their width, and enforce flagging and
draining. They are also empowered to construct sewers,

to convert sewerage into manure, to supply water, to

establish baths and wash-houses, to provide slaughter-

houses, and to construct a cemetery. They may impose

highway and borough-rates, levy tolls, and may borrow

£13,250 towards paying the expenses of the act,

building a town-hall, market-house, and other public

buildings ; and £13,000 for the other purposes of the

act. A sinking fund is to be set apart, of not less than

one-thirtieth part, in one year, of the money borrowed.

Slaughter-houses.—At a meeting of the town im-

provement commissioners, held in November, 1854, it

was resolved to purchase, for £500, an acre of ground

belonging to the Dock Company, on the east of a pro-

jected cemetery, for slaughter-houses; the purchase-

money to remain at interest at five per cent, per

annum for five years, with the option to the com-

missioners of paying it off at any time within that period.

About eighteen slaughter-houses have been erected on

this ground, with a fold-yard attached to each; and

there is also a residence for an attendant. The build-

ings form an enclosure to the ground, which is of an

oblong form. The maximum charges for using the

slaughter-houses, according to a schedule annexed to

the Improvement Act, are, for every bull, ox, cow,

steer, heifer, or other beast. Is. ; for every calf, 6d.

;

for every sheep or lamb, 4d. ; and for every hog or pig,

6d. The act provides that notice shall be given, by
printed handbills, when slaughter-houses are provided

;

after which notice, persons slaughtering elsewhere in

the town are liable to a penalty not exceeding £5 for

each offence. The justices may decide whether there

be a sufficient number of slaughter-houses. The officers

of the commissioners have power to seize bad meat

;

and any butcher, provision dealer, or other person ex-

posing for sale unwholesome meat, fish, or other

provisions, is liable to a penalty not exceeding £5,

and forfeiture of the articles exposed.

THE CHURCH.

Christ Church, AVest Hartlepool, is situated on a

piece of ground, of about an acre in extent, enclosed by

a dwarf wall and iron palisading, and laid out with

walks and grass sward. This ground, with the stone

and lime for the erection of the church (which is the

magnesian limestone from the neighbouring quarriesj,

were given by the West Hartlepool Dock and Railway

Company. The building is in the early English style

of architecture, and consists of a square western tower,

nave with side aisles, transept and polygonal apse or
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chancel. The roof is covered with Peak's terro-metallic

tiles, divided into lozenge compartments by diagonal

courses of a darker colour crossing each other. At the

intersection of the nave and transept roofs, there is an

octagonal lantern, containing eight quatrefoil windows

for ventilation, and above which is a spire and orna-

mental iron finial.

The tower, beneath which is the principal entrance

of the church, is 100 feet high, with a stair turret at

the south-east angle, and contains a peal of six bells, by

Taylor and Son, of Loughborough : they cost nearly

£400, towards which the Bishop of Durham contributed

£100. The tower is surmounted by a spire and vane,

25 feet high, which forms a conspicuous object from

the sea.

The extreme length of the interior is 125 feet, the

width of the nave 28 feet, the length of the transept 89

feet, and its width 23 feet. At the west end of the

nave is a stone gallery, for the choir and organ ; the

latter built by James Langley, Esq., of Greatham.

The interior of the roof is open, and stained in imitation

of old oak : the height from the floor to the ridge is 38

feet. The south transept, appropriated to sailors, is

called the Mariners' Porch, and bears on its gable a

sculpture of an anchor. The chancel is approached by

three steps. There is a spacious vestry, with an en-

trance-porch, at the north-east corner of the church.

The sittings, which are all open, are of deal, stained in

imitation of oak, and contain accommodation for 1,000

persons, 300 of which are free. The doors, pulpit,

reading-desk, altar-rail, table, and chairs, are of oak.

The font, which is elevated on three steps in the south-

west angle of the church, is of stone, with a carved oak

cover. The windows are filled with plain and coloured

glass in geometrical forms, with painted borders. In

each of the transept gables there is a circular window,

in twelve compartments ; the centre of that to the north

containing a sitting figure of the Saviour. Three com-

partments of the east window are filled with stained

glass, containing figures of Christ, St. Peter, and St.

Paul.

The church is built from designs by Mr. E. B. Lamb,

architect, London. Tenders were advertised for the

erection on March 4, 1852 ; and the church was com-

pleted and consecrated by the Bishop of Durham on

the 20th of Aprd. 1854.

The district was assigned to Christ Church, by the

Bishop of Durham, in compliance with a petition pre-

sented to him, and in accordance with the pro%'isions of the

act of parliament for such purposes. The district com-

prises the populous suburb called California, and

Middleton, which includes a large portion of the old

docks. As a preliminary, the sum of £1,000 was

invested, being a foundation for an endowment, in the

hands of the following trustees :—Ralph Ward Jackson,

Esq.; Charles Swainston, Esq., Cooper Hill, Preston;

the Rev. G. T. Fox, Durham ; the Rev. H. W. M'Grath,

rector of Kersall, Manchester ; and the Rev. John

Lawson, vicar of Seaton-Carew. The interest from this

sum, with the pew-rents and surplice-fees, constitute

the only sources oi income. Application was made to

the ecclesiastical commissioners for a permanent grant

;

but, though the district contains upwards of 7,000 in-

habitants, besides the floating population in the shipping,

the application was not complied with. The living is

in the patronage of the above five trustees ; and the Rev.

John Hart Purges, A.B., is the first incumbent.

A parsonage house is now being erected on ground

given by the Dock Company, adjoining the church on

the south-east. The cost is estimated at £1,200, towards

which a grant of £400 was made in 1854 from the

Maltby Fund. The style of architecture will corres-

pond, in some degree, with that of the church.

CHAPELS.

Congregational Chapel.—This chapel, which is

in course of erection, is situated a little to the south of

Christ Church, in Tower Street. The style of the

building is Gothic, of the early decorated period, from

designs by Mr. Thomas Oliver, architect, and consists

of nave, east and west transept, gallery, and square

tower with an octagonal spire, terminating with splayes

at the base, to fit the form of the tower ; its height,

measuring from the foundation, is 110 feet. The edi-

fice is of brick; the window-dressings, cappings,

buttresses, and tower, will be covered with Portland

cement. The pews are of stained fir ; the roof is open,

supported by metal columns and arches, and the build-

ing is calculated to accommodate 700 hearers. The

vestry, school-room, class-rooms, &c., are arranged

under the chapel. The entire cost will be upwards of

£2,000 ; but a portion of the gallery and school-room

only will be finished at the present time. Towards the

cost of erection, the English Congregational Chapel

Budding Society gave £250 ; the proceeds of a bazaar

in the town, on behalf of the building fund, produced

£170; John Richardson, Esq., of Stranton, gave the

site, value £220 ; and subscriptions of various amoimts

have been contributed by the congregation and their
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friends. The chapel is expected to be opened for

divine service in January, 1856. The Rev. J. H.

Hughes, formerly a missionary in the West Indies, is

the minister.

The few Congregationalists, or Independents, who

were in West Hartlepool, first opened a room in 1854,

as a place of meeting ; since that time, the numbers so

rapidly increased, that the necessity of a larger place of

worship occasioned measures to be adopted for the

erection of the present building.

Wesletan Methodist Chapel. — This chapel,

situated opposite to the church, is a large plain brick

building. It was opened on Whit-Monday, 1855.

The Primitive Methodist Chapel is a brick

building in Dock Street, built by subscription, and

will hold about 300 persons. Previous to its erection,

the congregation met in a school-room.

AVesleyan Reformers' Chapel.— This place of

worship is situated in Lynn Street, and will accommo-

date above 600 persons. It contains a gallery ; and

there is a large school-room on the ground floor. The
congregation formerly assembled in the Wesleyan

chapel at Middleton ; but, on differences arising in the

Methodist body, they commenced a subscription for

building the present chapel in 1850 ; and it was opened,

June 8, 1851, by prelchers who had been expelled

from the Wesleyans.

CEMETERY.

In accordance with the provisions of the town improve-

ment act, the commissioners, in November, 1854,

agreed to purchase a field, containing 1 1 acres, at £200
per acre, from the Dock Company ; the payment to be

made on the same conditions as that for the site of the

slaughter-houses. The ground is described in a schedule

annexed to the act as " a certain field, or piece or par-

cel of land, in the township of Stranton, now in the

possession of Ralph Ward Jackson, Thomas Wilde
Powell, and Robinson Watson, and which said field is

bounded on the south side thereof by a highway leading

from Stranton to Throston and Hart, in the county of

Durham, and on the east side or end by a highway
leading from Stranton aforesaid to Hartlepool, and the

eastern end of which said field is situate about 3.30

yards to the west of a certain water reservoir belonging

to the Hartlepool Gas and Water Company."
The act provides that every part of the cemetery

shall be enclosed with walls or other sufficient fences,

of at least 7 feet high ; but as it may not be deemed ex-

pedient at once to appropriate the whole ofthe land, the

commissioners may set apart and enclose a suflScient

portion for burial purposes, and let the remainder for

any term not exceeding three years. At present, the

part inclosed is surrounded with wooden paling, which

is erected at the rate of 5s. per yard. Part of the land

is to be consecrated for the burial of persons according

to the rites of the Chvu'ch of England; and the re-

mainder is for the interment of Dissenters. Near, the

centre of the ground two chapels have been erected

;

one appropriated to the consecrated, and the other to

the unconsecrated portion of the cemetery. They are

of stone, and in the Gothic style of architecture. A
lodge, with an entrance-gate on each side, is built in a

style harmonizing with the chapels, and is surmoi^ntcd

by a bell turret. Between £200 and £300 have been

expended in forming the cemetery, the allotted part of

which is nearly ready for consecration.

The commissioners are empowered to charge for

interments (which arc not to be allowed in the

chapels, or within 15 feet of their outer walls),

" such sums of money as they shall from time to time

think reasonable," to be the same in the consecrated

and unconsecrated parts, and not to exceed, for any

corpse interred in a vault, catacomb, or brick grave,

the sum of £4 ; and for every other corpse, the sum of

£1 lOs. The incumbent of Christ Church is the

chaplain appointed by the act, and is entitled to receive

from the commissioners a fee of 7s. 6d. for the funeral of

everyperson who,at the time of his death,isratedatmore

than £5 for the relief of the poor ; and 2s. 6d. each for

the funeral of poor persons. The commissioners arc

empowered to provide premises for the reception of the

dead previous to interment; and they may order the

removal of all corpses from lodging-houses, dwelling-

houses, cellars, out-houscs, or other buildings, from

which injurious effects may be apprehended, to the

premises provided, there to be decently and carefully

kept previous to interment. No interments are to take

place in any other part of the ecclesiastical district of

Christ Church than the legal cemetery.

THE ATHENJ5UM, &c.

This beautiful building stands in a prominent part of

the new town. The principal front is adorned with

pilasters and a well proportioned entablature, the roof

terminating with an elegant blocked cornice. It is in

the Italian style, and of an appropriate classic character.
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The frontage in Lynn Street is seventy-four feet, and

that in Charles Street is fifty-one feet. The foundation-

stone of the building was laid August 25, 1851 ; and it

was formally opened on the 7th of September, 1852. The

cost was about £1,100, exclusive of the site and stone

materials, which were furnished by the dock company,

and cartage and labour provided by the neighbouring

farmers. Towards the building fund, Ralph Ward Jack-

sou, Esq., contributed £100, and his example was im-

mediately followed by subscriptions from various parties

iu the town and district. The building was erected from

designs by Mr. H. B. Robson. The interior comprises

a school-room, laboratory, and store-room on the base-

ment floor ; a news-room, library, two class-rooms, and

two rooms for a housekeeper, on the ground floor ; and

on the upper floor a lecture-room, 70 feet by 30, with

coved ceiling, a gallery, and ventilating arrangements.

On the latter floor there is also a retiring-room, with

offices connected. The large room is used for assem-

blies ; and there are apartments occupied by the board

of commissioners.

A Meclianics' Institute was established in West

Hartlepool in 1836, under the patronage of the Rev.

R. Webster, then vicar of Stranton, and R. W. Jack-

son, Esq. Since the completion of the Athenaeum, the

library and museum of the Institute have been placed

iu that buUding ; and classes for French, German, &c.,

have been established, tea-parties held, and lectures

delivered, in connection with it. At the anniversary

meeting of the society, January 30, 1855, the number

of members and the income were stated as follows :

—

3 honorary members, £2 2s. each, £6 6s. ; 105 first

class, or Institute and news-room members, 16s. each,

£84; 86 second class, news-room alone, 8s. each,

£34 8s. : 7 third class, ladies, 6s. each, £2 2s. ; and 12

fourth class, under 18 years of age, 4s. each, £2 8s.

;

being a total of 210 members, and a revenue of £129 4s.

National School.—In 1854, a subscription was set

on foot for the erection of schools, in connection with

Christ Church, for the instruction of 800 boys, girls,

and infants. Another object proposed is the establish-

ment of an evening class for seamen and sea apprentices.

The Dock Company presented the site on the south-

west of the church, and offered to furnish stone from

their quarries ; in addition to which it is estimated that

£2,400 will be required. Towards this sum, C. S.

Swainston, Esq., of Preston, contributed £50; W. B.

Swalnston, Esq., £20 ; Messrs. Klcngdon and Co.,

Hamburgh, £20; Trinity House, Newcastle, £20;

William Hutchinson, Esq., £10; Rev. G. T. Fox,

£10 10s. ; and there were several smaller subscriptions.

Other Schools.—There is a boarding-school for

young ladies at West House ; and in the town there are

four day-schools for boys (one of which is held in the

Athenaeum), and four for girls.

INTERNAL TRADE.

The usual professions and trades of a seaport town

flourish in West Hartlepool. Besides engineers,

builders, house-carpenters, &c., there are eight ship-

building yards, including one recently established by

Mr. Pile, previously an eminent builder of clipper

vessels at Sunderland. His premises, which are leased

from the Dock Company, adjoin the Jackson Dock on

the north-west, and include a dry dock, measuring 320

feet long, 72 feet broad at top, 32 feet broad at bottom,

with an entrance 60 feet wide, being the largest on

the east coast. The ship-yard contains every descrip-

tion of machinery necessary for building and repairing

all kinds of iron and wood ships and steamers. The

iron foundries of Mr. W. Taylor and Bastow Brothers

are in Hope Street. There is a canvas manufactory in

Tennant Street, and several block and mast makers

near the docks. The town contains a printing-office, a

variety of shops, three breweries, four ale and porter

merchants, ten inns and public-houses, twenty-two

beer-shops, two eating-houses, and a corn-mill. Further

details relative to the trade of the port will be given in

the account of the docks and harbour of refuge.

WEST DOCKS.

Though the coal trade of the southern and south-

western portions of the county of Durham was directed

to the Tees by the Stockton and Hartlepool and the

Clarence railways, yet the intricate navigation of that

river was soon felt to be an inconvenience; and, in

1838, a branch from the Clarence railway, in the town-

ship of Billingham, was projected, for the purpose of

enabling those coals to be shipped at a new dock, to be

formed in land purchased for the piu-pose, adjoining to

the Slake at Hartlepool. A company was accordingly

proposed, with a capital of £150,000, in 3,000 shares at

£50 each. It was estimated that 160,000 chaldrons, or

400,000 tons of coal would be annually vended by this

railway, producing a revenue of £19,166 13s. 4d.

Fish, it was calculated, woidd produce £1,000; pas-
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Bcngers, £5,200; and merchandise, £1,500; whilst the

expenses were calculated at £6,500, leaving a supposed

profit of £20,366 13s. 4d. Though threatened with

opposition by parties shipping coal at the old Hartle-

pool docks, an act was obtained in 1839, for the forma-

tion of "The Stockton and Hartlepool Railway."*

It was completed in 1841, and is nearly 8 miles in

length.

To avoid further competition, the old dock company

entered into an agreement for three years, with the new

railway company, to ship the coals and other traffic of

the latter in their docks. The unsatisfactory ter-

mination of this agreement has been alluded to in page

274 ; and measures were taken in earnest for the con-

struction of the new dock and harbour in the situation

originally proposed. Application was made to parlia-

ment, in the session of 1844, for an act for the purpose,

which encountered a severe opposition from the old

dock company, the Pier and Port Commissioners of

Hartlepool, and others, backed by the opinion of Mr.

Murray, C.E. The approval of the Admiralty was,

however, obtained ; and petitions, numerously signed,

were presented to parliament in favour of the new
enterprise, from the shipping interests of the ports of

Newcastle-upon-Tyne, North Shields, South Shields,

Blyth, Sunderland, Scarborough, Whitby, Yarmouth,

Lynn, Ipswich, and Hartlepool; also from the fishermen

of the latter place, and from the owners of collieries in

the southern and western districts of the county, de-

siring to ship in the W^est Dock, and representing an

annual production of upwards of 500,000 tons. Not
the least important petition, on this occasion, was from

eight captains of vessels, who, in attempting to make
the old harbour in a severe gale from the east-north-east,

on the 26th of February, 1844 (while the bill was before

parliament), were wrecked under distressing circum-

stances, on the very site proposed for the new harbour,

and the whole of whom, according to the evidence of

one of the captains, could have saved their ships if that

harbour had then been formed. Through the energetic

• The original directors were, Henry Vansittart, Esq., Kirkleatham,

Yorkshire ; William Thomas Salvin, Esq., Croxdale ; Gerard Salvin,

Esq., Mill Crook, Yorkshire ; Captain Kobcrt Moses Dinsdale, News-
ham Park, Yorkshire ; Captain George Edward Watts, R.N., Langton
Grange ; Robert Hugginson, Esq., Roraaldkirk, Yorkshire ; Charles

Baruett, Esq., Cockerton ; Stephen Walton, Esq., Norton ; Richard

Dickson, Esq., Stockton ; Thomas Allison Tennant, Esq., do.; John
Stagg, Esq., do. ; Mr. Cuthbert Wigham, do. ; Mr. Robinson Watson,
do.; and Mr. Andrew Sanders, do.—Bankers: The Stockton and
Durham County Banking Company.—Solicitors : Messrs Jackson and
Skinner, Stockton, and Messrs. Bell and Steward, 39, Lincoln's Inn
Fields, London.—Engineers: Messrs. George Leather and Son, Leeds.

VOL. II.

exertions of the friends of the bill, it was at length

passed, and received the royal assent on the 23rd May,

1844. The promoters were thus incorporated as " The
Hartlepool West Harbour and Dock Company ;" and

hence the establishment of " The West Harbour and

Docks."

The works of the West Harbour and the inner dock

were commenced in the spring of 1845. The harbour,

formed by stone piers projecting from the land, con-

tained an area of 13 acres; and the dock, excavated

in the neighbouring meadows, contained 8 acres.

f

They were opened, amidst great public rejoicings, on

the 1st of June, 1847 ; when the "Prince" barque, of

Jersey, and the " Benbow" schooner, of London,

entered from the sea ; and so excellent were the ship-

ping accommodations, that both vessels were laden

with coals in two hours, and proceeded to sea the same

tide on which they entered.

The importance of the harbour of West Hartlepool

was evinced by the fact that during the first seven

months after its opening, ending December, 1847, 460

ships entered, and 54,202 tons of coal and coke were

shipped. The entries and shipments in the following

specified years were

—

In 1848, 1,242 ships, 169,021 tons.

„ IS49, 2,753 „ 388,954 „

„ 1850, 3,882 „ 589,990 „

„ 1851, 3,782 „ 674,742 „

In 1851, the directors of the Dock Company and of

the Stockton and Hartlepool Railway Company agreed

that, by uniting the two undertakings and their proper-

ties together, upon fair and reasonable terms, the true

interests of the proprietors in both would be best and

permanently secured—their joint traffic conducted

with more freedom and efficiency—greater vigour and

economy in the united concerns practised—and all dis-

putes as to rates, dues, provisions, and management for

mutual traffic prevented. The amalgamation of the

companies ensued ; and the united income for the first

year, ended June 30, 1853, was £102,412 17s. 8d.

t In consequence of the clay, or marl, forming the bed of the

channel into the harbour, being exceedingly hard at a certain depth,

the ordinary dredging machine was found to have little or no effect,

owing to its want of stability. Mr. T. Casebourne, the engineer of

the company, therefore constructed a raft or float, with apparatus by

which holes were made in the nlay, 4 inches in diameter, and of the

required depth, for receiving a cartridge containing three or four

pounds of powder, to which one of Eickford's fusees was attached.

The hole was then carefully tamped, and on the raft being floated

away, the fusee was lighted. The cost of the apparatus complete

was about £100. A paper on the subject was read at a meeting of the

Institution of Civil Engineers, on April 9, 1851.

2s
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The total amount of the working expenses was £45,391

13s. Id., leaving a balance of £57,020 4s. 7d., out of

which a dividend of four per cent, was declared, and

£581 carried to the next year's account. At that

period, the united companies and that of the Clarence

line had expended about £1,200,000, and possessed

powers by their various bills to raise about £300,000

more, in case of need.

Additional harbour and dock accommodation having

become necessary, new piers were constructed, enclosing

an area of 44 acres. Another dock, called the " Jackson

Dock," containing 14 acres, was also formed, and

opened on the 1st of June (the anniversary of the first

dock), 1852. The lock entrance to it is 60 feet wide,

with a graving dock connected. Accommodation was

thus provided, in the harbour and docks, for 500

vessels. New drops and staiths were provided ; and

every conceivable arrangement was made for facili-

tating the business of the place. Ships drawing 18

feet water were sent to sea with coal cargoes for the

East and West Indies, the Mediterranean, Baltic,

Hanseatic, French, and other ports. The value of

West Hartlepool, as a harbour of refuge, was demon-

strated on several occasions soon after its being opened.

The coals shipped at these docks are West Hartle-

pool Wallsend, Heugh Hill do., Tennant's do., West

Hetton do.. South Kelloe do.. West Kelloe do.,

Dennison's Bentley's do., Tees do., Coundon do.,

Backhouse's do., Hunwick do., Byer's Green do.,

Newfield do., Sepping's do., Willington do., Bowdon

Close, do., Brancepeth do., and Whitworth do. There

are six coal-fitting offices in the town.

During the formation of the second dock, the Leeds

Northern railway was constructed, connecting West

Hartlepool with the manufacturing districts of Leeds,

Halifax, Huddersfield, Wakefield, Bradford, Manches-

ter, Liverpool, Preston, and other parts of Lancashire.

This undertaking, opened June 1, 1852, constituted

West Hartlepool the medium for the import of mer-

chandise for the interior, with a corresponding facility

of obtaining outward freights. The formation of the

Darlington and Barnard Castle railway, now in pro-

gress, will also tend to increase the traffic and revenue

of the port.

At a special meeting of the West Hartlepool Harbour

and Railway Company, May 17, 1853, it was resolved

to construct a third dock, of from 8 to 10 acres, chiefly

for foreign vessels. The works were speedily com-

menced ; and the " Commercial Dock" is now nearly

completed. In connection with it will be a ship-yard

and gracing dock of still larger dimensions than the one

at present in use; also a large timber pond, import

timber yard, saw mills, &c., to meet a want which

becomes daily more apparent, as it is now found neces-

sary to pile the immense quantities of timber imported

upon the quays and other places, or to float it in the

docks amongst the shipping.

Extensive and admirable warehouses have been

erected along the greater part of two sides of the docks.

A line of railway is laid through the centre of the whole,

so that by the aid of turn-tables and other appliances,

a cargo may be transferred from shipboard to the

Stockton and Hartlepool line, or from thence to the

warehouses and docks, with ease and facility. A com-

modious railway station is immediately adjoining, and

an electric telegraph communicates with London and

other towns. On July 4, 1855, the docks, warehouses,

&c., were inspected by George Hudson, Esq., M.P.,

N. Plews, Esq., and other gentlemen connected with

the Sunderland Docks.

During the half-year ended December 31, 1853, the

Dock and Railway Company's receipts on revenue

account amounted to £57,103. In the corresponding

period of the following year, the amount was £67,108,

being an increase of £10,905. The working expenses

during the last-named half-year amounted to £31,907,

the taxation to £676, and the interest on debentures

and loans to £13,731. After satisfying aU preferential

claims, a dividend of four per cent, per annum was

declared upon the consolidated stock of the company,

with a surplus of £1,680 to be carried to the reserve

fund. The capital account shewed that of the sum

authorized, viz., £1,994,666, there had been raised and

expended £l,563,205,leaving still to be raised £431,461.

Since 1852, in which year the second dock was

opened, the following shews the number of ships

entered, and the quantity of coal and coke shipped :

—

In 1852, 4,336 sliips, 687,370 tons.

„ 1853, 4,469 „ 680,536 „

„ 1854, 4,826 „ 696,079 „

A considerable portion of the exports from the port

of Hartlepool, tables of which are given in page 279,

were shipped at the West Docks. The vessels entering

inwards with cargoes from foreign ports, during the

year ending June, 1853, were 74; and 892 cleared out-

wards with cargoes. In the following year, 240 ships

entered, and 1,041 cleared outwards. During the year

1848, the first year after the opening of the docks, the

value of goods exported, exclusive of coal and coke, was
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£541 4s. 6d. ; in 1850, it was £1,795 Is. lOd. ; and in

1854, £2,261 18s. 5d.»

Steam ships, of large tonnage,run between West Hart-

lepool and London, and also to and from Hamburgh and

other ports on the continent. A shipping company was

commenced soon after the opening of the harbour, but

was dissolved in 1852. West Hartlepool has been made

a bonding port ; and the propriety of erecting a custom-

house has been under the consideration of the authorities.

" The West Hartlepool Mutual Marine Insurance

Association" was formed in February, 1855, and, in a

few weeks, received tonnage for insurance to the amount

of £25,000.

The port charges are as follow :—Dock dues, vessels

loading or discharging a cargo, l|d. per register ton

;

ditto not loading or discharging, |d. ; Ballast dis-

charging, Is. 3d. per ton. Dues of commissioners,

vessels loading or discharging a cargo, Id. per register

ton ; ditto not loading or discharging, ^d. Steam-boats,

Is. per keel. Pilotage, Is. 3d. per foot in summer;
Is. 6d. in winter. The tonnage rates are graduated,

according to the length of the voyage, from 2d. per ton

from ports in the United Kingdom to Is. 6d. from the

West Indies, east coast of South America, Greenland

or Davis' Straits, or any place eastward of the Cape of

Good Hope, or westward of Cape Horn.

Life-boat.—The West Hartlepool life-boat, esta-

bHshed in 1847, is maintained by the Dock Company,
in accordance with the provisions of their act of parlia-

ment. The boat has frequently rendered efficient

assistance on occasions of shipwreck or danger. The
life-boat is kept in a suitable shed, a little to the south

of the town.

Pilots.—The pilots are under the jurisdiction of the

Trinity House at Newcastle : their number at present

is thirty-four.

MIDDLETON

Adjoins the original tidal harbour of Hartlepool on the

south-west.f It received its appellation from a

• The compiler of Brown's Export List for December, 1854, ob-

Bcrvcsthat he " connot refrain from congratulating his friends in AVcst

Hartlepool in particular, on the proud position which that new-born
community has occupied in the export department of the past year.

The development which it has exhibited has been not only wonderful,

but, as far as the compiler can learn, has been created by no acci-

dental or factitious circumstances. It has been the bona fide homage
which fortune generally pays to industry, the honourable return which
happily is still often made to that enterprise of which foresight is the
assisting herald, and prudence the protecting pilot. That it may go on

gentleman named Middleton, who purchased the pro-

perty and settled upon it about the year 1766. When
the improvements in the harbour were commenced,
this was the first part of the parish of Stranton which

participated in the prosperity of Hartlepool, by the

formation of ship-building yards, landing-places, and
other necessary adjuncts. At a short distance from

the ferry are the iron-works of Messrs. Richardson

and Co., and the Hartlepool Bottle Company's works.

Near these are several rows of houses and shops. A
national school was erected in 1840 : it is a large brick

building, with some ornamental display on the south.

A Wesleyan Methodist chapel, erected in 1835, has

recently been purchased by the Dock Company ; and

the congregation assemble in the new chapel at West
Hartlepool. There is a wind-mill, three public houses,

and a beer-shop in the village. A foot-path, whilst the

dock gates are closed, leads from Middleton to West
Hartlepool.

HARBOUR OF REFUGE.

When the act of parliament was obtained, under the

powers of which the old harbour of Hartlepool was

restored to more than its ancient importance, few per-

sons could have been so sanguine as to foresee a

necessity for those extensive artificial basins, in close

proximity with it, which have been scooped out of the

solid land, and are still being expanded to meet the

increasing commerce which well-directed enterprise has

brought to their wharves. A still more magnificent

work, however, is now about to be commenced, by

which a large extent of the sea itself will be inclosed

and appropriated to the port of Hartlepool.

The shelter afforded to the shipping in stormy weather

by the harbour of West Hartlepool, and the peculiar

adaptation of that part of the coast to the purpose,

naturally suggested the idea of transforming the bay of

Hartlepool into a harbour of refuge. Scientific men,

amongst whom were Mr. Rondel, unanimously pro-

nounced in favour of the project ; and it was observed

that " whatever can be shewn as eligible or promising

and prosper is the sincere wish, the compiler believes, not only of

himself, but of those elder communities also, which, although they

may look with astonishment at the success of a younger neighbour,

can yet behold it without the slightest admixture of either envy,

begrudgement, or dismay.''

t Some years ago, a large quantity of human bones were discovered

at this place, whilst draining a morass. Tliey were supposed to be

the remains of the Scottish soldiers who fell during the siege of

Hartlepool in IG'44.
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in any other site, is shewn a hundredfold more clearly

in this."

Accordingly, on the 4th of November, 1854, through

the exertions of Ralph Ward Jackson, Esq., and his

friends, notice was given of a bill to be introduced

into parliament in the ensuing session, by the com-

missioners of the port of Hartlepool, supported by the

two dock companies, "for the improvement of the

port of Hartlepool—protection of Hartlepool Heugh
or headland and bay—formation of Harbour of Re-

fuge—establishment of Ferries, powers to levy ad-

ditional or other tolls, rates, and duties, and to raise

further monies—amendment or repeal of acts—and

for other purposes." By this bill, the limits of the

port are preserved from the south side of Seaton-Carew

to the Black Hall rocks ; the linuts of the harbour are

defined by a line touching close on the outer bounda-

ries of the town of Hartlepool and West Hartlepool

;

and within the latter a " town district" is defined for

the purposes of this bill. The commissioners' act of

1852 is to be repealed; but several general provisions

are proposed for the protection of rights secured under

it. " The Hartlepool Port and Harbour Com-

missioners," as reconstituted, are to be twenty-two in

number, viz., the six commissioners under the act of

1852, three East Dock commissioners, three West Dock

commissioners, two ship-owners' commissioners, six

town commissioners, and two c£ officio commissioners,

to wit, the collector of the customs and the mayor of

Hartlepool. At any time when the aggregate tonnage

of the port shall exceed 49,000, the number of ship-

owners' commissioners is to be three. The important

works to be executed are thus described :

—

"Powers to make, construct, and maintain an outer Harbour in the

Bay of Hartlepool, and for that purpose to make, construct, and main-

tain a southern pier or breakwater, commencing upon and from the

shore or high water banks of the sea, at or near a certain building

called Carr Cottage, in the township of Seaton-Carew and parish of

Stranton, in the cotmty of Durham, and extending from such point,

in an easterly and northerly direction, over, along, upon, or near to a

certain reef of rocks called ' Long Scar,' and the shore and bed of

the sea, and terminating in the German Ocean, at a distance or extent

of about 2,900 yards from the first-mentioned point. Also powers to

make, maintain, vary, extend, or enlarge a northern pier or break-

water, commencing from or near the cliffs called ' the Heugh,' in

the township and borough of Hartlepool, in the county of Durham,

at or near a pier now in course of construction under the said act, and

extending from such point in a south-easterly direction, and termi-

nating in the German Ocean, at a distance of about 400 yards from

the head or seaward termination of the said southern pier ; and to

make or construct a sea wall or barrier, or sea walls or barriers, with

all requisite and proper works and conveniences connected therewith,

for the protection of the headland of Hartlepool and the cliffs near or

adjoining thereto from the inroads of the sea ; such sea wall or walls,

barrier or barriers, to commence from a point on or near the sea

shore, at or near to a place called or known as the ' Far Kiln, ' in the

township of Throston and parish of Hart, and thence along, opposite,

or near to the course of the cliffs or sea-sbore, up to, and terminating

at, or near the point on the sea shore, from which the said northern

pier is hereinbefore described as commencing."

The area to be enclosed by the piers will be nearly

1,000 acres, in which the commissioners are empowered

to sluice, dredge, deepen, and improve the anchorage

ground. There will be a depth of 30 feet at the en-

trance at low water spring tide ; and thus the harbour

will be accessible at all times and states of tides. The

estimated cost is £800,000. Extensive powers were

required in the bill for removing seashore rocks,

making ferry-landings, and employing ferry-boats,

steam-tugs, and dredgers. During the progress of the

bill through committee, however, it was decided that

no exclusive right of ferry shall be conferred on the

commissioners.

The revenue by which it was proposed to construct

and maintain the harbour works were, 1st, By certain

tolls, or tonnage duties on all ships, at rates specified

;

2nd, By rates or tolls on all goods, animals, and mine-

rals ; 3rd, By a "rate in aid," to be called the

" Owners' Rate," the maximum of which was fixed at

Is. in the pound, to be levied on all property within the

" town district" which is rateable for the relief of the

poor, and according to its yearly rateable liability to

that purpose ; but rateable property within the districts

of the docks companies, was to contribute at three times

this amount ; 4th, By a rate to be called the " Occu-

piers' or Tenants' Rate," at a maximum of 6d. in the

pound on property rated to the relief of the poor at £10

and upwards ; and, 5th, By an extension of liability to

the " Owners' Rate" to every lessee of four years'

standing. The above maxima were afterwards reduced

to 8d. for the owners', and 3d. for the tenants' rate.

The rating clauses of the bill excited some opposition,

particularly amongst the inhabitants of Hartlepool. In

reply, it was urged that the encroachments of the sea

on the Heugh woidd, in a few years, render a heavier

rate necessary for its preservation ; and as such pre»

servation was essential to the safety of the town itself,

common prudence warranted a participation in the pro-

jected measure, which included so desirable an object.

In other ports an alarm was raised under the idea

that a " passing toll" on shipping would be imposed.

In deprecating the latter idea, the promoters of the bill

added that it was not intended to impose any toll

whatever on coal or merchandise, but only, as usual in

such cases, tonnage rates on vessels entering within.
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and therefore profiting by the works of the com-

missioners.

In urging the claims of the port of Hartlepool, to

such an extension as that contemplated, the commerce

of the two sets of docks was shewn to have increased in

a ratio beyond that of other ports. In 20 yeai's, from

1833 to 1853, the difference in the quantity of coal

exported to foreign ports alone was as follows :

—

1833. 1853.

From Newcastle and Shields, 233,709 tons 1,353,905 tons.

From Sunderland and Seaham, 176,487 , 542,227 „

From Stockton and Hartlepool, 3,700 „ 532,625 „

413,896 1,428,757

During the year 1854, 10,117 vessels entered the two

sets of docks, and nearly 1,700,000 tons of coal were

shipped. In the same period, the merchandise goods

from Yorkshire, Lancashire, &c., were exported in

large quantities, by way of Hartlepool, to Hamburgh
and other foreign ports. The increase in this respect

is shewn by the following comparison of the respective

values of the specified months :

—

1853-4. 1854-5. Increase.

October £3,904 £34,498 £30,594

November 10,100 50,379 40,279

December 9,842 59,914 50,072

January 9.947 32,466 22,519

February 8,025 32,587 24,562

March 25,171 83,103 57,932

AprU 15,233 133,979 118,746

£82,222 £426,926 £344,704

Average per month in the first- named seven months. . £11,746

Do. in the seven corresponding months £60,989 8 6

Being an average increase per month of £49,243 8 6

The utility ofa harbour of refuge on the north-east coast

of England may be considered as indisputable. Between
Flamborough Head and the Frith of Forth, ships in

distress must either run for some one of the coal ports,

or risk being drifted ashore. The bay of Hartlepool,

to which the Heugh presents a point on one side for

the projection of a pier, and the Long Scar rocks a

good foundation for an opposite one, may thus be easily

secured and protected in all weathers. The eligibility

of the site is evinced by the fact, that, during a series

of stormy weather in February, 1855, a greater number

of colliers sailed from Hartlepool than from any other

port in the north of England ; the numbers being, fi-om

Hartlepool, 226; Newcastle, 224; Sunderland, 194;

Seaham, 55; Blyth, 12; and the Tees, 11. In the

same month, and whilst the harbour of refuge bill was

before parliament, Mr. Calver, C.E., a strenuous oppo-

nent of the measure, and who was engaged in a survey-

ing cruise on board one of her majesty's cutters,

himself sought refuge in the West Dock from the

violence of a north-easterly gale, which had continued

to blow without intermission during the greatest part of

a week.

In the months of August, September, October,

November, and December, 1854, and January, 1855,

the following ships, with coal and coke, left the ports

between the Tees and Blyth :

—

For British ports 15,435 ships, with 3,035,698 tons.

For foreign countries 5.251 „ „ 1,113,942 „

Thus, 20,686 ships, with 4,149,640 tons, left ports

within 35 miles of each other, in the space of six

months, all of which ships navigated the German
Ocean almost within sight of Hartlepool bay ; but not

one of them, if caught in the north-easterly, easterly,

or south-easterly gales, so frequent on the coast, had

any place to run to for shelter and protection available

at all times and states of tide.

During the progress of the bill through the House
of Commons, several modifications were made in such

of its provisions as were considered to affect property

and trade prejudicially. It was read a third time on

the 6th of June, 1855, passed the House of Lords on

July 3rd following, and duly received the royal assent.
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PAEOCHIAL CHAPELEY OF SEATON-CAEEW.

The chapelry of Seaton-Carew, formed by order in council, October 21, 1841, and licensed by the Bisbop of

Durham under the act of 6 and 7 William IV., comprises the whole township of Seaton-Carew, and is bounded

on the north by the townships of Brearton and Stranton, on the east by the German Ocean, on the south by the

river Tees, and on the west by the parish of Greatham.

The township of Scaton-Carew, with its sea and river

coast, comprises an area of -1,885 acres. Its population, in

1801, was 263; in 1811, it was included in the return

with the rest of the mother parish of Stranton; and

at the four following enumerations, it was 312, 333,

588, and 728 ; of which latter number 320 were males

and 408 females. The number of houses increased

from 116 inhabited, 16 uninhabited, and 1 building,

in 1841, to 152 inhabited and 19 uninhabited in 1851.

The property was assessed to the county-rate, in 1853,

at £4,804 10s.

The receipts from the poor-rate, in the year ended

Lady-day, 1854, amounted to £153 10s., and in aid of

rates, 10s. The expenditure for in-maintenance was

£9 Is. ; out-relief, £26 10s. ; workhouse loans repaid

and interest, £1 7s. ; salaries and rations of officers,

&c., £2 7s. ; other expenses connected with relief, £17

12s. ; total, £56 17s. Constables' expenses before

justices, £1 17s. ; vaccination, £1 3s. ; registration

fees to clergymen, £1 3s.; county and other rates,

£79 14s. ; registration, 7s. ; other payments, £16 15s.

;

total expenditure, £157 16s.

The Stockton and Hartlepool branch of the North-

eastern railway passes over an extent of 1 M. 7 f. 205 y.

in this township, and covers an area of 22 a. 1 e. 11 p.

In 1851, it contributed £4 9s. 6d., and in 1852

£5 4s. 5d. to the local rates ; the gross amounts col-

lected in those years being £103 6s. Id. and

£122 3s. Ud. The station is about half a mile from

the \allage.

Seaton-Carew is situated on the sea shore, 3 miles

south from Hartlepool, and 9^ north-east-by-north

from Stockton. The oldest part of it consists of three

sides of a square, inclosing a green ; the fourth side

being open towards the sea, which has probably under-

mined and carried away the east row. In some parts,

there is a narrow footpath between the houses and the

edge of the cliff; and in others the tide flows up to the

very foundations. To the south of the square, a row of

houses faces the east, separated from the beach by a

carriage road, at the extremity of which a spacious

hotel, with an extensive range of offices and other

buildings, was erected by George Pearson, Esq., whilst

proprietor of the estate.

This village has long been held in high estimation as

a fashionable bathing-place, for which it is admirably

adapted. It contains several good and well-furnished

lodging houses ; and possesses the usual adjuncts of bath-

houses, bathing machines, a circulating library, and

various shops and tradespeople. Seaton Hotel is capable

of accommoding assemblies and other meetings ; and

there are also three public houses. A salmon fishery is

carried on at this place.

A tide-waiter, two boatmen, and a pilot, belonging

to the Stockton custom-house establishment, were for-

merly placed here. A detachment of the Hartlepool

coast-guard are now stationed at Seaton-Carew.

A good turnpike road connects Seaton-Carew

with West Hartlepool, and is kept in repair by

the inhabitants of the respective townships. The

sandy beach is firm and level to West Hartlepool

on the north, and to Seaton Snook on the south of

Seaton-Carew ; an extent of upwards of 4 miles, com-

manding a beautiful view of the ocean, with the town,

port, and shipping of Hartlepool on one hand, and the

entrance to the Tees, the Cleveland hills, and the re-

ceding coast of Yorkshire on the other. The point of

Seaton Snook projects southward into the wide estuary

of the Tees, which, says Brewster, " forms by far the

wildest scenery in this neighbourhood, and is in every

way well adapted both for the occasional resort, and for

the haunts of birds, during the season of incubation."

The romantic and solitary character of the scenery is,

however, now much modified by the proximity of the

iron manufactories at the mouth of the Tees. Fears

were entertained, by some of the inhabitants of Seaton-

Carew, that the formation of the harbour of refuge at

Hartlepool might endanger their village, by throwing
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the whole force of the tide upon its coast ; and they

required a guarantee from the promoters of that project,

during the passage of their bill through parliament.

THE CHURCH.

There are no traces of the ancient chapel, dedicated to

St. Thomas a' Becket, and given by Brus with the

mother church to Guisborough. Raould, the prior, in

1200, granted to Walter Carrow, for 60 acres of land,

three tofts, and pasture for 100 ewes and their lambs, the

privilege of a chantry within Seaton chapel. In 1312,

Prior Geoffry determined that the vicar of Stranton was

bound to provide for the maintenance of Seaton chapel.

The present church, consisting of nave, chancel, and

western tower, was erected through the exertions of the

late Mrs. Lawson, of Boroughbridge Plall, Yorkshire,

who contributed £2,400 towards its endowment. The
original cost of its erection was £819 19s. 5d. It was

consecrated September 29, 1831, as an additional church

for the parish of Stranton. The chancel was added in

1842, and, with a gallery, afforded about 250 additional

sittings. The church will now accommodate 506 per-

sons, and, during the bathing season, is completely filled.

The expense of the enlargement was £871 15s. 2d.

This sum included the cost of a clock, and a beautiful

f,ast window, filled with stained glass, presented by the

Rev. J. Lawson, the present incumbent, who also

presented an organ, value £50. In 1848, this instru-

ment was enlarged as a finger organ, at a cost of £82
«s., raised by subscription. The nave is lighted by
four windows on each side ; and all the windows of the

chancel are filled Math stained glass. A vestry adjoins

the chancel on the north. The western tower is

square, surmounted by comer pinnacles: it contains

the principal entrance to the church, the exterior walls

of which are covered vrith ivy. The burial ground
was consecrated July 26, 1842, by the bishop of the

diocese.

The Rev. James Lawson, son of the founder and
patroness, was the first incumbent, and was succeeded,

in 1833, by the Rev. Arthur Guinness. The Rev.
John Lawson, the present incumbent, was appointed
in 1835. In the parliamentary returns of that year,
the gross income of the living is stated at £60, subject
to permanent payments amounting to £8. By order
in council, April 17, 1845, the ecclesiastical commis-
sioners were empowered to make an annual grant of
£45, so as to bring the net income to £97. A more
recent statement gives the permanent endowment at

£63 Is.; the glebe, £44; pew-rents, £14 14s.; fees,

£4; total, £125 15s. On the expiration of the 21

years after the consecration, the chuixh-rates, which
had been payable during that period to the mother

church of Stranton, became applicable to the church at

Seaton-Carew ; and the gross income of the living is

now about £150 per annum.

In 1830, the Wesleyan Methodists erected a small

chapel in the south row of the village ; and there is

also a meeting-house belonging to the Society of Friends.

A day-school, endowed with £5 per annum by Lord
Crewe's trustees, for some time existed at Seaton, but

was indifferently attended. There is now a national

school for boys and another for girls. At the first of

these, on the visit of the Rev. D. J. Stewart, government
inspector, June 28, 1853, 45 boys were present at ex-

amination; 7 had left and 11 joined during the preced-

ing twelvemonth ; and the average attendance had been

36. The general observations of the inspector were

—

" Buildings, one fair-sized room with a curtain to separate the boys

from the girls ; stone floor in the greater part of the room ; no class-

room. One group of three parallel desks. Furniture, stove, clock,

book-closet. Play-ground, small yard. Books, very fair supply

;

apparatus, three black boards, three easels. Standard of classification ;

reading, spelling, and arithmetic. Four classes for all subjects, under
master, with certificate of merit, and one pupil-teacher ; one division

for scripture and object lessons ; three groups for arithmetic. The
pupU-teacher is confined to the same class entirely.

In the girls' schools, 45 were present at examination;

10 had left and 28 had joined during the preceding

twelve months ; and the average attendance was 33.

General observations :

—

"Buildings same as boys'. Desks, one group of three parallel.

Play-ground, small yard. Standard of classification : reading and
arithmetic. Fourjclasses for all subjects, under mistress, witli certifi-

cate of merit ; one division for scripture, geography, and grammar
lessons."

Styr, son of Ulphus, gave lands in Seaton to the see

of Durham, in the time of Bishop Aldhune. In 1180,

Peter Carow is said, in the king's charter to Bishop

Pudsey, to hold his lordship of Seaton of the crown, by
the service of one knight's fee ; which service he and
his heirs are awarded from thenceforth to render to the

see of Durham, as others the bishop's tenants between
Tyne and Tees. In 1337, John dc Carrow died seised

of this manor, which he held iti capite of the bishop, by
homage and fealty, and the service of the fourth part of

a knight's fee, and doing suit at the wapentake of Sad-

berge, with a yearly rent of 13s. 4d. payable at the
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bishop's exchequer, in Durham, at the feast of St. John

Baptist, value £20. He left issue—1. John, son and heir,

who died without issue. 2. Sir Thomas Carrowe, Knt.,

who married Alice, daughter and heiress of Thomas dc

Scaton, and had issue John Carrowe, married to Isabel,

widow of Sir Robert UmfreviUe, Knt. 3. Avice, who,

by her first husband, Simon Langton, lord of Wynyard,

had issue William Langton, whose only daughter,

Sybill, became wife to Sir Roger Conyers. 4. Joan,

married to Richard Hayton, and had issue John

Hayton. 5. Alice, married to John de Whitworth,

whose daughter, Joan, became wife of John Hoton.

6. Isabel, married to William Porter, of Seaton, and

had issue William Porter.

In 1363, John of Seaton-Carrowe, having through

ignorance seized a royal fish, cast on his lands there,

and being called to account for the same, by his charter

or deed acknowledged the trespass, and the bishop's

right thereto, and compounded accordingly for 100

marks damages.

John Hoton and Joan his wife conveyed to Ralph

Earl of Westmoreland, who enfeoffed Sir John Lumley.

By the inquisition taken the 15th year of Bishop Lang-

ley, after the death of Sir John, it appears that he held

the fourth part of the manor by purchase from the Earl

of Westmoreland, another fourth, which was the estate

of his father. Sir Ralph Lumley (Isabel Porter's share),

and a moiety of a third part held in dower by Isabel

Umfrcville ; and that he had, besides, six messuages,

four salt-pits (one of which was called 3Iahe-BeggarJ,

seven oxgangs of land, and ten acres of meadow, which

he also purchased of the earl, rendering to him yearly

£19 5s. 4d. It is supposed that parts of the estate were

given as portions to the heiresses of Lumley; as, in

1562, John Trollop, of Thornley, maternally descended

from the Lumleys, granted his manor of Seaton to Ber-

tram Anderson, merchant, of Newcastle. In 1620, it

belonged to Sir William Read, Knt., of Osterley,

Middlesex; Sir Henry Anderson, Knt., of Elemore

;

and Robert Johnson, yeoman, of Greatham. The por-

tion of the latter had been recently purchased from the

lords of Wynyard, descendants of Avice, wife of Simon

Langton. A cause, instituted by information against

Johnson, was heard in the bishop's court in 1621,

touching a royal fish cast ashore at Seaton ; when a

decree was made, declaring that the fish belonged to

the bishop in right of his prerogative.

In 1766, there were a number of claimants as tenants

in common, having right to the manor, as appears by a

suit instituted in the court of chancery at Durham,
respecting a wreck within the manor, the merits of

which were never discussed. In 1792, a portion of the

manor and a considerable estate in Seaton were pur-

chased from the assignees of Robert Preston, of Stock-

ton, by George Pearson, Esq., of Durham, whose I

daughter and heiress intermarried with George .

WUklnson, Esq., of Harperley, who sold the property

to the first Earl of Eldon.

Considerable property in Seaton-Carew was held by

Robert Henry MacDonald, Esq., M.D., of Durham,

and a freeman and burgher of Renfrew. He was the

last male heir of this family, and dying without issue,

July 31, 1838, his estates passed by devise to his kins-

men, James Henry Dixon, and his brother, Robert

William, of Seaton-Carew.* The latter is in the com-

mission of the peace for the county of Durham ; and

the former married Margaret, daughter of Anthony

Taylor, Esq., of Airton, Yorkshire, and has surviving

issue Samuel Taylor and lanthe.

OWTON.

This ancient manor is situated to the south-west of

Seaton. It was forfeited by Robert Lambert in 1569,

and granted in 1574 by Queen Elizabeth to Edmund
Gresham and Percival Gunston. Richard Brookman,

the next possessor, granted it in fee to Richard

Belassis, Esq., whose successors. Sir William and Sir

Richard Belassis, of Ludworth and Owton, were suc-

cessively high sheriifs of the county. Richard Belassis,

Esq., of Gray's Inn, in 1693 released all right in

Owton to the trustees of Gerard Salvin, Esq., of Crox-

dale, by whose descendant this estate was alienated,

some years ago, to Mr. George Fletcher. It is now in

the possession of Ralph Watson, Esq., of Middleton

House, West Hartlepool.

* The family of Dixon, large landed proprietors, were located at

Beeston, Yorkshire, and arc descended in the female line from the

ancient family of De Beiston of Beeston, where it appears they resided

in 1207, in which year Adam de Beeston was witness to a charter

granted to the town of Leeds by King John.
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PARISH OF GREATHAM.

PAEISH OF GEEATHAM.

The parish of Greatham is bounded on the north-east and north by the chapelry of Seaton-Carew a.nd the parish

Stranton, on the west and south-west by the parish of Elwick Hall and the chapelry of Wolviston, on the south

by Billingham, and on the east by the sea-marsh in the estuary of the Tees.

townships of Greatham and Claxton.

It includes the constableries or

GREATHAM.

The township of Greatham, with its water liberties,

contains 3,310 acres. Its population, at the six de-

cennial periods of return, was 442, 407, 446, 519, 635,

and 651 ; 311 of the latter number being males and 340

females. There were, at the same time, 142 inhabited

houses, 6 uninhabited, and 2 building. The property

was assessed to the county-rate, in 1853, at £3,623 5s.

The account of Greatham parish with Stockton Union,

for the year ended Lady-day, 1854, was as follows :

—

Receipts from poor-rates :—Greatham, £73 8s. ; Claxton,

£10 Us £83 19

la aid of rates :—Greatham, £21 14s. ; Claxton, 2s 2116

Total receipts £105 15

Expenditure for in-maiutenance :—Greatham, £1 9s.

;

Claxton, 5s 1 14

Out-relief :—Greatham, £56 13s. ; Claxton, £1 12s 58 5

Work-house loans repaid :—Greatham, £4 10s, ; Claxton,

12s 5 2

Salaries and rations of officers :—Greatham, £3 3s.

;

Claxton, lOs 3 13

Other expenses :—Greatham, £1 6s ; Claxton, 4s 1 10

Total connected with relief 70 4

Constables' expenses before justices :—Greatham, £1 Us.

;

Claxton, 12s . 2 3

Vaccination :—Greatham 1 11

Registration fees to clergymen :—Greatham, £1 16s.

;

Claxton, Is 1 17

County-rates, Sic. :—Greatham, £60 8s; Claxton, £14 Is. 74 9

Peurliamentary registration, &c. :—Greatham, 10s. : Clax-

ton, 10s 1

Other purposes :—Greatham, £11 13s.; Claxton, £2 Is. 13 14

£164 13

The Stockton and Hartlepool branch of the North-

eastern railway extends 1m. 7 f. 267 v., and covers

• Ralph Waed Jackson, Esa.—It is to the enterprising spirit of

Ralph Ward Jackson, Esq., of Greatham Hall, that the port and town

of West Hartlepool owe their origin ; and the second dock was con-

sequently designated by his name. When he originally projected a

harbour at that place, the magnitude of the imdertaking induced

several persons to doubt its ultimate success ; but the talent, energy,

and perseverance of Mr. Jackson surmounted all difHculties, and ex-

cited the emulation of many who eventually became coadjutors in his

VOL. II.

18 A. 1 R. 30 P. in this township. In 1851 and 1852,

when the amounts collected for the local rates were

respectively £142 2s. and £143 18s. 10 Jd., the railway

contributed £5 in each year.

The village of Greatham, about half a mile from the

railway station, 6j miles north-east-by-north from Stock-

ton, and 2 1 north-west from the estuary of the Tees,

occupies the ridge of a hill on the north side of the

Greatham Beck. It contains a corn-mill, seven public

houses, and several shops. In 1831, Bishop Barring-

ton erected a school-house in the centre of the village,

a neat stone building, with the usual inscription in

front ; the intelligent master, Mr. Elliott, an able con-

tributor to the mathematical periodicals of the day,

has about 50 children under his charge. There are

also two day-schools. Grove House, the handsome

residence of James Langley, Esq., stands a little to

the east ; and Greatham Hall is the residence of Ralph

Ward Jackson, Esq.* Several of the inhabitants find

employment on the cockle-beds and in shrimping at the

mouth of the Tees. Though the ancient salt-works in

this vicinity have long been ruined, some of the farms

still pay a salt-rent to Greatham Hospital. " Greatham

Midsummer" is an annual feast, at which races and

other rural sports are continued on for two days.

This manor belonged to the celebrated Simon de

Montfort, Earl of Leicester, who was slain at the battle

of Evesham, August 5, 1264, when his son, Peter de

Montfort, was taken prisoner. The estate being con-

sequently forfeited, it was granted by the king to Thomas

de Clare ; but the gift was revoked, in consequence of

the claim urged by Bishop Stichill, who founded upon

it the Hospital of Greatham. One person was executed

gigantic project. On every subject connected with the docks or the

rising town around them, Mr. Jackson's zeal has been conspicuous ;

and his efforts have been directed with equal ability and success to

the extension of the trade of the port, and the comfort and welfare of

the inhabitants of the town. In token of their respect and gratitude^

the merchants, ship-owners, tradesmen, and others residing in West

Hartlepool presented Mr. Jackson, in February, 1851, with a splendid

testimonial, the work of Messrs. Hunt and Roskell, jewellers, gold-

2t
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at Greatham for joining the Rising of the North. In

1650, the common fields of the township were divided.

The present freeholders are the Langley family.

THE CHURCH.

The ancient church of Greatham was taken down in

1792, and the present edifice erected, principally with

the old materials, and the proceeds of the lead from the

roof, &c., which realized £315 15s. 6d. It consists of

nave, chancel, side aisles, and western tower. The only

portions of the original building remaining are the pillars

of the aisles, of which there are three on each side, sup-

porting pointed arches. An elliptic arch separates the

nave and chancel. There are three windows in each ofthe

aisles, one on each side of the chancel, and a large east

smiths, and silversmitlis to the queen, and designed by Mr. Alfred

Brown.

This elaborate work of art, which was exhibited at the great

national display in Hyde Park, has been thus described :—Elevated

on a column decorated with buUrush and lotus leaves, is the bust of

Mr. Jackson, around which are the figures of Commerce, Science, and

Industrj'. Industry, with the distalf in her hand, and the bee-hive

by her side, supports it on the right ; while Science, her foot resting

on the globe, is decorating the bust with a wreath of laurel, and Com-
merce, the cornucopia by her side, and the caduceus in her hand, is

pointing to a -s-iew taken from the sea of Hartlepool West Harbour

and Docks. Reclining on the base are the figures of Neptune and

.^olus, the representatives of the elements, wind and water. Between

are groups of shipping implements ; and on the pedestal below are

panels containing the inscriptions, arms, cypher, and crest of Mr.

Jackson, and the various mouldings are formed of cables and oak

leaves. The whole is placed beneath a revolving glass shade, upon a

stand, richly carved with dolphins on the feet, and emblemetical

devices on the sides. Tliis testimonial cost between 400 and 500

guineas ; but, as a work of art, is considered of greater value.

A full-length portrait of Mr. Jackson, painted by Frederick Grant,

Esq., R.A., is about being presented to the town of West Hartlepool

by his friends and admirers. This work of art has cost upwards of

three hundred guineas, and will be placed in the Athenaeum, bearing

the following complimentary inscription :—" Ralph Ward Jackson,

Esq., founder of West Hartlepool."

In honour of Mr. Jackson, the last ship launched by Mr. John Pile

at Sunderland, previous to his removal to Hartlepool, was christened

the "Port Jackson." It may be here stated that Captain Cook,

the great circumnavigator, in order to perpetuate his gratitude and

friendship for Sir Georg(' Jackson, Bart., one of his earliest benefac-

tors, gave the name of " Port Jackson" to the noble harbour he disco-

vered near Botany Bay, in New South Wales, on the 6th May, 1770.

Mr. Ralph Ward Jackson is connected with the ancient and im-

portant family of the Ducketts. In the reign of Henry III., we find

Richard Duckctt, archdeacon of Bedford, a learned and distinguished

judge. Andrew, son of Sir Richard Duekett, was the first president

of Queen's College, Cambridge ; and to his influence this college

principally owes its origin. Sir Lionel Duekett, Lord Mayor of

London in 1573, was partner with Sir Thomas Gresham, who buUt

the Royal Exchange, and was the founder of Gresham Hospital. John

Duekett, a colonel on the royalist side, had many adventures, and, on

one occasion, escaped the fury of the Roundheads by being conveyed

tlu-ough the parliamentary army in a hearse. Thomas Duekett was

window, all modern. The seats in the chancel are

appropriated to the Master and Brethren of Greatham

Hospital ; and at the west end of the church are places

for the inmates of Parkhurst's Hospital. Above these

is a handsome gallery, supported by cast metal pillars.

The church contains accommodation for 250 persons.

It is now undergoing repairs and additions, by which

about 60 more sittings will be obtained. Handsome
windows, harmonizing with the building, will be in-

serted in the east and other parts of the church. The
contract has been taken for the sum of £500, which

will be raised by subscription, aided by grants from the

Church Building and other societies.

The church contains several memorials of the Brad-

ley family,t and of those of the Rev. J. Horseman and

the parliament.ary representative of Calne from 1754 to 1765, for

which borough the famUy sat for upwards of a century. Grace,

grand-daughter of George Duekett, married, first, Robert Neale,

Esq. ; and, secondly, Sir George Jackson.

Sir John Jackson, of Hickleton, received the honour of knighthood

in 1619 : he left two sons, Bradwardine emd George. Bradwardine

died without issue ; and the grandson of George married Hannah,

daughter of William Ward, Esq., of Guisborough, by whom he had

issue—1, WiUiam, who died unmarried ; 2, Edward, drowned at sea

;

u, George (the friend of Captain Cook), who was created a baronet in

1791, and assumed, by sign manual, under the will of Thomas Duekett,

the name and arms of Duekett : he was secretary to the Admiralty

and jndge-advocate to the fleet ; 4, Ralph, of Normanby Hall, Cleve-

land, Yorkshire. Ralph married Mary, daughter of Richard Lewin,

Esq., of Eltham, Kent, and died in 17S9. His son, William Ward
Jackson, died February 2, 1842, leaving George Edwin Ward (who

died in February, 1854), the Rev. William Ward (the present pos-

sessor of the famOy seat and estate), Ralph Ward (now of Greatham

Hall), and other sons and daughters. Ralph Ward Jackson married,

in 1829, Susanna, second daughter of Charles Swainson, Esq., of

Cooper Hill, Lancashire, and has issue one son, William Charles

Ward.

t R.\LPH Bradley, Esq., was bom at Greatham, September 2,

1717. He was called to the bar by the society of Gray's Inn, but

soon after settled at Stockton, and confined himself almost exclusively

to the practice of conveyancing ; from his reputation in which, and

his retired habits, he increased his small paternal estate to £40,000.

After deducting certain legacies, he devised the bulk of this property

to George BrOH-n and Rowland Webster, Esqrs., and the Rev. John

Brewster, all of Stockton, in trust, to apply the yearly sum of £500

for twenty years, commencing three years after his decease : and alter

the said twenty years, the yearly sum of £1,000 until January 6, 1860 ;

which, together with such sums as he might have in the funds at

the time of his death, was to be applied to the purchase of such books

as " promote the interests of virtue and religion, and the happiness of

mankind." Jlr. Bradley died December 28, 1788, when, according to

the directions in his will, an amicable suit in Chancery was irtstituted

;

and, by a decree of Lord Chancellor Thurlow, the charitable intention

was set aside in favour of the next of kin, by which the fortune de-

volved on Joseph Yeal, of Greatham; his two sisters, viz., Margaret

Parkins, of the same place, ^^'idow, and Sarah Yeal, of London ; and

Mary, wife of John Sutton, Esq., of Stockton, and daughter of Edmond
Bunting, Esq., of the some place, his first cousin.
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the Rev. J. Brewster, vicars of Greatham. The

Langleys have a burial-place In the church-yard.

Registers.—The general registers contain entries

from 1566 to 1812, imperfect from 1717 to 1721.*

Greatham vicarage Is a discharged living, in the

deanery of Stockton ; the Master of Greatham Hos-

pital, patron. Episc. proc, 4s. ; Syn., lis. ; Archld.,

2s. Dedication to St. John the Baptist.

VicAKS.—Maurice occurs 1278 ; R. de Toppeclyre, 1308 ; A. de

Bedale, 1312; T. Bolton, 1424; J. Lanyers, 1430; W. Spencer,

1432; W. "Watson, 1501; R. Ratcliffe, cap.; J. Mutho, 1533; J.

Emson, February 30, 1535; G. Wynter, 1558; R. Sparke, 1580;

W. Wodd, 1581; J. Wood, A.B., 1627; E. Smathwaite, 1649;

J. Muke, 1653; P. Drummond, A.M., 1662; J. Kearsley, 1678

;

R. Redhead, 1722; J. Horseman, 1730, p.m. Redhead; J. Brewster,

A.M., 1790, p.m.|Horseman ; John Brewster, A.M. (vicar of Langhton,

Lincolnshire), 1818, p. res. Brewster.

The vicarage is a neat building, to the south-east of

the church, with a garden and orchard of half an acre.

The glebe consists of 19 acres in Greatham township,

which have a right of four gates on the marsh. The

vicar has also the undivided moiety of 50 acres (of

which the vicar of Dalton-le-Dale has the other

moiet}') in the township of Seaton-Carew, and the

moiety of a farm-house and stables in the village of

Seaton, and of ten stints on Seaton Marsh. The
Master of the Hospital holds the whole of the great

tithes of Greatham ; but the vicar has tithe of hay and

all small tithes in the township of Claxton, and all

small tithes, but not hay tithe, in the township of

Greatham, except from the Hospital lands, which are

totally exempt. The gross Income of the living was

stated, in 1835, at £186 per annum, subject to perma-

nent payments amounting to £7, leaving £179 clear.

GREATHAM HOSPITAL.

Greatham Hospital is situated on the west side of the

village. The old buildings had, in tlie course of time,

become very ruinous ; but, during the mastership of

John-William Egerton, Earl of Bridgcwater, the Hos-
pital and chapel were entirely rebuilt, and the farm

• "1661. Collected upon a brcefe for ye releefe of Protestants

of ye dukdom of Luthnania, obtenned by John de Kransby, deputy
of the Protestant churches in these places, one shilling threepence.
Collected on yo fast days, for yo plague, .Sept. and Oct. 1665, Is. 8d.

Collected in ye church of Greatham for ye use of those that suffered
by ye dreadful fire of London, the sumc of five shillings four pence,
on the fast day, being Wednesday ye 10th of October, 1666. For
John Osbume, Russia merchant, for his insupportable losses at sea,

38. 2d., Sept. 30, 1066. For ye use of Moorish Long and his sister.

buildings, &c., repaired and improved, at the cost of

several thousand pounds. The foundation stone of the

Hospital was laid September 15, 1803; and it was

finished in the following year. It is a square stone

building : in the south front is a porch beneath three

pointed arches, which are surmounted by a tower and

cupola, with a clock, and a commemorative inscription.

A large hall occupies the centre of the building ; and

the rooms of the thirteen brethren are arranged around

three of its sides. The windows are square, divided

by stone mullions, under labels. A grass plot, sur-

rounded by a plantation, is laid out before the Hospital

;

and the whole is neatly arranged, and kept in excellent

order. The master's house is a handsome building,

with a pleasant garden, and commands a fine view of

the richly inclosed country to the south, and of the

Cleveland hUls.

The chapel of the Hospital is situated in the master's

garden, and was erected in the place of a previous

building in 1788.t

A slab in the floor is bordered by a brass, bearing an

Inscription, partly in the Saxon character, denoting the

burial-place of William de Middlcton, master in 1312;

and a brass fixed in the Avail, near the altar, contains an

inscription in Old English, requesting the prayers of

the fiiithful for Nicholas Hulme, John Kelynge, and

William Estfeld, masters of the Hospital.

Greatham Hospital was founded by Bishop Stichell,

on his acquiring the forfeited manor of Peter de Mont-

fort. The charter bears date on the Morrow of the

Epiphany, 1272; and the foundation is dedicated to

God, St. Mary, and St. Cuthbert, for the health of the

soul of the founder, of the souls of all kings of England,

of the prelates of York and Durham, the monks of

Durham, the parishioners of St. Cuthbert, and the souls

of all the fiiithful departed. The manor and advowson

of Greatham were granted to the masters and brethren

serving God there, for the sujiport of the same poor

men, and the needy who should resort thither, in free

and perpetual alms ; and the said master and brethren

were exempted from all toll, custom, geld, or stallage,

fair or market, bridge-toll, castle-ward, sheriff or

coroner's rents, suits of court, bailiwick, or wapentake,

who suffered in Ireland by pyrats. Is. 4d., Mar. 10, 1667. 1663, Oct.

25, for William Sandwcll, who suffered shipwreck. Is. lOd.

t In taking down the wall of the old transept, a stone coffin was

discovered beneath the wooden cfflgy of an ecclesiastic. It contained a

skeleton, with a chalice lying on the left side, as though it had fallen

from the hands, which had been clasped upon the breast. The only

other remaining substance within the coffin was a portion of the shoes

or sand als.
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&c., within the county ; with exemption from processes,

except before the bishop, or the justices itinerant.

By the ordinances made by the bishop, January 23,

1272, it was provided

—

That there should be one master and priest, and five other priests,

and two clerks of honest conversation and competent learning, minis-

tering at all times, and 40 poor persons, the more needy of the

manors of the Bishop of Durham, to be maintained of the goods of the

Baid Hospital.

That the said masters, priests, and clerks, should perform such re-

ligious exercises as therein mentioned.

That they should eat at one table,* and be in one house, should be

obedient to the master, and should receive from him a certain quan-

tity of money una cum mensa honorahili.

That the master should provide the clerks according to the expenses

of their station.

That, when the master should die, or be removed for misconduct

by the bishop or his successors, the said bishop or his successors, or,

if the see should be vacant, the prior of Durham, should appoint

another fit person.

That the other priests and clerks should be appointed and remova-

ble for cause by the master.

That no person should be appointed master, but a priest of know-

ledge and prudence, who should personally attend to the affairs of the

place, unless it should behove him to be absent on the business of the

house.

That the poor, to the number above mentioned, should have com-

petent lodging, and should be provided by the master according to the

ability of the place, and should be appointed and removable for cause

by the master.

That if the goods of the house should be of further sufficiency, the

number of the poor should be increased accordingly ; but, if they

should decrea.se, the number should be diminished, as it should ap-

pear fit to the master.

That the Bishop of Durham, or his deputy, should visit the hospi-

tal twice a year, or oftener, and audit the master's accounts.

A power was reserved to the bishop and his successors

to correct and modify these statutes, and to order what

should seem useful. The first master, appointed Ja-

nuary 23, 1272, was Andrew de Stanley, who was

followed by

—

T. de Levesham, occurring November 22, 1301 ; W. de Middleton,

1312; W. de Westle occurs July 17, 1351; T. de Bridekirk

occurs November 18, 1358; W. de AVestle, pbr., August 17,

1361; H. de Snayth, November 10, 1361; J. de Sleford, 1363,

p. res. Snayth; H. de Snayth occurs again 1363, p. res. Sleford;

AV. de Denby, 1366, p. res. Snayth; J. de Henle, August 28. 1372,

p. res. Denby; T. de Weston, June 17, 1396 (archdeacon of Durham,

and prebendary of York and Howden) ; J. de Tibbay, 1508, p. m.

Weston; K. Steel, 1414: J. Hunteraan, S.T.B., 1415, p. res. Steel;

N. Hulme, 1427, p. m. Hunteman ; J. Soulby, 1433, p. res. Hulrae ;

R. Tatman, S.T.P., March 22, 1439, p. m. Soulby; J. Lathom, cl.,

April 20, 1441 ; W. le Scroop, 1450 ; J. Kellynge, cl., 1463, p. m.

• The sort of subsistanre provided for the poor brethren may be

gathered from two grants of corrodies which occur in Hatfield's Rolls.

In 1352, 'William Douant releases his corrody, viz., every day a loaf

of second bread, half a pitcher of second ale, a rackful of hay, a peck

of oats, a candle, and a peck of coals in winter, and litter for one horse,

and a chamber, and a gown of the suit of the serving men of the hos-

Scroop; W. de Estfield; E. Strangwish, August 26, 1600, p. m.
Estfield ; H. Gascoin occurs 1532; T. Sparke (suffragan bishop of

Berwick, and prebendary in the 3rd staU of Durham cathedral), Sep-

tember 6, 1541, p. m. Gascoin ; J. KingesmeyU, A.M., March 1, 1571,

p. m. Sparke ; J. Barnes, pres. by Queen Eliz. November 6, 1585.

Bishop Beck confirmed the endowment, and gave

the church at Greatham to the master and brethren,

adding one chaplain and one clerk to the establishment.

Edward III. and Edward IV. also confirmed the

charter; and the latter granted to the master and

brethren a weekly market and a fair twice a year.

Bishop Tunstall issued letters of citation to visit in

1532; but no proceedings occur. This, being a lay

foundation (valued at £97 6s. 3Jd. annually), did not

come within the statutes of 27 and 31 Henry VIII.

;

though it appears that the king's \'isitors at the Dissolu-

tion carried off some " superstitious ornaments" of the

chapel. Bishop Hutton visited in 1590.

By letters patent, dated July 20, 1610, King James I.

refounded the hospital, which was thenceforth to con-

sist of a master and thirteen poor unmarried men of

advanced age, and to be called " The Hospital oj God
in Greatham, in the County Palatine of Durham."

Under this charter, the master must either be a Master

of Arts or Bachelor of Laws ; and he and the brethren

are constituted a body corporate and politic, with

common seal, and power to receive or purchase lands.

The Bishop of Durham is the patron, and has the ap-

pointment of the master : but the brethren are nomi-

nated by the master. The bishop is also empowered to

repeal ancient statutes and make new ones. The manor

and advowson of the church, with their rights and

privileges, are secured ; with power for the master and

brethren to grant leases for 21 years, or three lives, at

the best rents reasonably to be had.

During the ci^-il wars, the hospital suffered severely.

Dr. Clarke, a steady loyalist, was, in 16-44, ejected

from the mastership by the House of Commons ; and

the place was bestowed upon Dr. Rand, " a constant

friend to the cause," but who was in his turn displaced,

to make room for Dr. Simon Askew. The following

masters occur under King James's charter :

—

H. Dethicke, appointed Master by the charter ; E. Moorcroft, A.M.

;

W. Neile, cl., November 13, 1619, p. res. Moorcroft ; J. Cousin,

S.T.B., June 22, 1624. p. m. Neile; G. Clarke, A.M., July 24, 1624,

p. res. Cosin ; S. Rand, M.D., an intruder, occurs, 1644 ; S. Askeve,

pital. In 1353, William de Wastle, master, and the brethren of

Greatham, grant to Robert Mengot a corrody for life, of seven white

loaves and seven pitchers of the best ale weekly, and every day such

a commons as is served to one chaplain in hall, and 10s. for his gown ;

and if the same pensioner abide in the hospital, three quarters of sea

coal and three pounds of caudles, and a decent chamber.

i
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an intruder, 1653; T. Potter, S.T.P., May 19, 1662; Sir G. Gerard,

Bart., A.M., May 27, 1663, p. res. Potter; J. Parkhurst, LL.B.,

October 30, 1676; D. Parkhurst, LL.B., June 2, 1711, p. res. Park-

hurst; N. Halhead, Gent., August It, 176-i, p. m. Parkhurst; J. W.
Egerton, Esq., (afterwards Earl of Bridgewater, see vol. i., p. 2.56,

and vol. ii., p. 122) 1785, p. m. Halhead ; Hon. Augustus Barrington,

D.C.L., 1823, p.m. Egerton.

Every brother receives from the master, on his

appointment, a deed, granting him an annuity of 28s.,

with daily meat, drink, and fire, during his life, sick-

ness or infirmities notwithstanding, so that the grantee

performs and maintains all the statutes and ordinances

ordained or to be ordained according to the foundation

of the hospital ; and there are certain rules to which

the brethren, on their appointment to the hospital,

subscribe, thereby engaging to attend the service of the

church and chapel when not prevented by illness, and

to conduct themselves with decency and propriety.

Previous to 1819, there were only dwellings for six

in-brethren, the remaining seven being out-brethren

;

but in that year, the Earl of Bridgewater, master, at his

own expense, added apartments for the latter. The
emoluments of the brethren consist of a yearly pension

of £8, a cloak every alternate year, their diet according

to a table settled in 1819, and a sufficient quantity of

coal for consumption in their own rooms. The diet is

provided by the tenant of the hospital farm : the meat

is dressed in the farm-house adjoining to the hospital,

brought up into the common hall, and there divided

by one of the brothers, each taking this duty in rotation,

into thirteen portions ; and the brethren take tlieir

respective portions to their own apartments. On certain

saints' days and holidays there are additional allowances.

The chaplain or his deputy is always ready to attend to

any complaints that may be made as to the quantity or

quality of the provisions, and frequently examines them

himself without being so called upon. In the accounts,

the diet of the brethren is charged as amounting to

£286 a year ; and credit is given to the tenant of the

Hospital farm to that amount. The same tenant also

provides the stipulated quantity of coal, viz., 20 two-

horse loads annually, delivered at the hospital, at the

fixed price of £7.

The Rev. John Brewster, vicar of Grcatham, is the

present chaplain of the hospital, whose duty is to read

prayers every morning in tlie chapel of the hospital.

His salary, which, up to 1851, was £42 per annum, is

now £60 ; and £40 a year is paid to the steward who
collects the rents, makes the disbursements, and keeps

the accounts. The residue of the proceeds of the hos-

pital estates, after deducting the above payments, and

VOL. H.

the charges of repairs, insurance, and other incidental

expenses, is paid to the account of the master. The

general rule adopted with regard to the renewal of

leases is to take from a year and a half to a year

and three quarters net annual value for 21 years, on

the expiration of seven ; and two years net rent, a little

more or less, for putting in a new life. The following

summary was given by the commissioners for inquiring

concerning charities

;

Revenue.
£.

84 2 82

3 9

Demesne lands :—Hospital and West Field farms,

3.52 A. 1 K. 9 p., £540 per annum ; East Field farm,

227 a. Or. 1 p., £150 ; North Closes farm, 75 a.

3r. 13p., £72 762

Annual rents and payments in lieu of duties and

services reserved on leases of lands and tenements,

for three lives and 21 years

Corn-tithes, and payments for tithe of grass land,

in Greatham, on an average of three years, ending

Michaelmas, 1835 131

Fines on renewal of leases, on an average of 12

years, ending Lady-day, 1836 508 18 10

Expenditure.

Diet for the brethren, per annum
Wine for the sacrament administered in the chapel

Coals

Payments in money of £8 per annum to each of the

1 3 brothers

Clothing, each a cloak once in two years (average)

Chaplain's salary

Bailiff's salary

Annual salaries for winding up clock and attending

to the ventilation of the hospital

Nurse's salary

Incidental expenses in the hospital, brushes, &c. .

.

Annual repairs at the hospital, chapel, master's

house, and farm buildings ; average in six years

Insurance

Land-tax

Steward's salary, £40, and incidental expenses

relating to the demesne, £10

Leaving a net revenue to the master of £886 5 3j

This sum, however, is understood to be somewhat

above the general average revenue, the renewals having

been more frequent than usual during the twelve years

included in the above table.

In 1851, a bill was filed in Chancery for the better

management of this hospital ; .and a scheme for that

purpose, consisting of 44 clauses, has recently been

proposed by the Attorney-general. By it, the charity

is to be under the management of twelve trustees,

whose qualifications, meetings, and order of business

2u

El,486
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are specified. A clerk is to be appointed, at a stipend

of £25 per annum ; and a receiver, who is to have any

sum not exceeding £5 per cent, on the amount of rents

collected ; but should the offices be combined, the total

amount received by him shall not exceed £5 per

cent per annum. The trustees shall let or demise the

charity property, except the hospital buildings, at the best

annual rent that can be obtained, either from year to

year, or for 21 years, without fine or premium. From
and after the time when the Hon. Augustus Barrington

shall cease to be master of the hospital, the master shall

be a clergyman of the Church of England in priest's

orders, who shall be called " The Chaplain ^\'arden of

the Hospital," and be appointed by the Bishop of

Durham for the time being. His annual stipend is to

be £300, which sum is also to be paid to the Hon.

Augustus Barrington during the time he continues

master. If the present chaplain should die before the

master, the trustees may appoint a chaplain, with a

salary of £100 until the death of the said master; but

if the present chaplain survive the master, he is to be

the first chaplain warden. The duties of this office are

to read prayers daily in the chapel, and peiform two

full services on every Sunday, with one on Christmas-

day, Good Friday, and every day of public fast and

thanksgiving. The trustees are to have the patronage

of the vicarage of Greatham, to which they are to be

at liberty to appoint the chaplain warden ; in which case,

the stipend as chaplain waiden is to be only £200 a year.

As vacancies occur in the number of inmates of the

hospital, the trustees may appoint poor women to be

sisters, as part of that number. The parties elected are

to be poor and needy persons, of the age of 50 years at

least, and who have not been in receipt of parochial relief

within twelve months next preceding the time of elec-

tion ; a preference to be given to those who have resided

three years and upwards on any of the manors belonging

to the see. The money stipend of the inmates is to be

continued as at present, as well as the method of

supplying them with food ; but the trustees are to have

power to make a different arrangement with respect to

the latter. A porter and matron are to be appointed,

at salaries not exceeding £50 a year each ; and a sum

not exceeding £20 a year may be expended for medical

attendance. Out of the surplus income, a sum not ex-

ceeding £50 a year may be applied for the benefit of

the schools for children of the poor in the parish of

Greatham. For making such additions or improvements

as may be thought necessary in the hospital buildings,

the trustees are empowered to borrow not exceeding

£1,000 ; after the repayment of which, the surplus is to

be invested in the purchase of bank 3 per cent, con-

solidated annuities. 'When, by the falling in of the

existing leases of the charity property or otherwise, the

income shall be increased to a sum which, in the opinion

of the Attorney-general, shall make it desirable that a

further scheme should be settled for the administration

of the charity, application shall be made by him to the

Court of Chancery for that purpose. The above

scheme is undergoing some modifications, the particu-

lars of which will be given in a future page.

The seal now used by the master and brethren of

Greatham Hospital represents an ecclesiastic under a

canopy, supporting with both hands the keel of a ship

(which crosses and covers his breast) like that in the

old nobles : at the stem and stern of the vessel are two

shields of arms, a plain cross on the right, and on the

left France and England quarterly; above, in the canopy,

are the arms of Edward the Confessor. Underneath

the figure is inscribed, " Steph's Payn." The legend

of the seal is, "Sigillum officii elemosinarii Regis

Hesrici Axglie." As Stephen Payn, dean of Exeter,

was almoner to King Henry V., it is supposed that

Greatham had been resigned, with other similar founda-

tions, into the hands of that monarch, to deprecate his

intention of seizing the revenues of the church.

PARKHURST'S ALMSHOUSE.

Dormer PARKHfRSX, L.L.B., master of Greatham

Hospital, in 1761, began to erect alms-houses for six

poor widows or spinsters, a little to the north of Great-

ham Hospital. They were completed in the following

year, and are neat separate apartments, with a small

garden-plot to each. By indenture, dated October 12,

1762, and enrolled in the Court of Chancery on the

23rd November following, he conveyed to Ralph Brad-

ley, John Swsinston, William Moor, James Hett, Joseph

Dunn, Ralph Atkinson, and John Jordison, in trust,

eight closes, known by the names of Brown's-brig-hill,

Bridge-acre, Elizabeth Calvert's Bigger-haugh, and

Elizabeth Calvert's Lesscr-haugh, containing together

by estimation 27 acres, situate in the township of Stock-

ton, out of the rents of which £4 16s. a year was to be

paid to each of the inmates of the said alms-houses, by

equal payments on the first day of every month ; also to

each of them the further yearly sums of 4s. at Christmas,

2s. at Easter, and 2s. at Whitsuntide; on the 1st of

October yearly, a gown ready made, to be all of the
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same colour and decent ; and a sufficient quantity of

coals and fuel. In case of sickness, a proper nurse was

to be provided and paid for her trouble. After the

decease of the founder, the master of Greatham Hospital

is to appoint the poor women, who are to be widows or

unmarried, of the age of 50 years or upwards, legally

settled in the township of Greatham, or failing such, in the

places nearest to it. They are to keep their persons and

houses clean, be peaceable in their conduct, and attend

divine service in the parish church on Sundays, and

the chapel of the hospital on other days. In case of

misbehaviour or their marrying, they may be deprived

of their apartments and income by the master. Should

there be a surplus income, £6 is directed to be applied

in binding apprentices, and the remainder equally

divided amongst the six alms-people. By the indenture,

directions are given for supplying the places of defunct

trustees. Mr. Parkhurst covenanted to pay off a mort-

gage on the premises for 1,000 years, which had been

given as a security for £1,300.

At the date of the foundation, the property was let

for £30 a year. It is at present let to three tenants, at

rents amounting to £97. Out of this sum, each of

the six sisters receives £1 every month, 4s. at Christmas,

2s. at Easter, and 2s. at ^VTiitsuntide, amounting in the

year to £74 8s. They also receive £1 5s. each in lieu

of coals and a stuff gown, every Christmas. If any of

them are ill, or unable to take care of themselves, one

or more nurses are engaged to attend them, with an

allowance of about 2s. a week each. Besides the cost

of repairs, lis. 6d. is paid annually for insurance, and

3s. 7d. for a quit rent. In 1828, there was a balance in

hand of £119; and it was then notified by the trustees

that there were funds in hand for putting out apprentices

;

but as Rand's charity was thought to be sufficient for

that purpose, the allowance to the alms-people for coals

was increased from £7 10s. to £12. In 1834, however,

it was found necessary to reduce it again to £7 lOs., in

consequence of the ruinous condition of the farm-build-

ings and alms-houses, the necessary repairs of which

have cost great sums for several years ; but the charity

property is now in good repair, and there is a fair

balance in the hands of the treasurer to meet any

emergency as to future repairs, or for providing nurses

in case of sickness.

The following gentlemen are at present the trustees :

—

James Langley, Esq., Grove House, Greatham (who
also kindly acts as treasurer to the charityj ; Rev. J.

Brewbter, vicar ; Rev. R. Webster, vicar of Ktlloe

;

Mr. Henry Lamb ; and Mr. R. Atkinson, Greatham.

OTHER CHARITIES.

Rand's Charity.—Samuel Rand, M.D. (Master of

Greatham Hospital during the Commonwealth), by

indenture, October 12, 1669, gave £100 to Thomas

Peers, to be disposed of to the poor of Greatham

according to the discretion of the minister and church-

wardens for the time being. In respect of this sum,

£6 per annum is received from the tenant of Sir Wil-

liam Pennyman, owner of lands in Thornton, York-

shire, and has been disposed of, time out of mind, for

the benefit of children placed out apprentices or going

into service. The premium paid with each apprentice

is £3. In June, 1828, there was a balance in hand of

£23 9s. 6d., which in 1854 was diminished to a mere

trifle.

Barker's Charity.—Francis Barker, June 24, 1754,

paid £10 to Ralph Bradley for the use of the poor of

Greatham. In 1800, this money was laid out in repair-

ing two houses belonging to the parish ; and 10s. is

distributed yearly at Candlemas,by the overseers, equally

amongst all the poor widows of the parish.

" Poor's Cottage."—A piece of land, containing about

4 acres, is supposed to have been left by Thomas

Barker, uncle of the above Francis Barker, and is held

by the parish officers under a lease of three lives,

renewed occasionally, by the Master and Brethren of

Greatham Hospital, at 7s. annual rent. It is let for

£11 10s., of which 6s. is disposed of in bread, given to

the poor of the parish at Candlemas ; and the residue,

after deducting the Hospital rent, is distributed at

Whitsuntide and St. Thomas's day, in sums varying

from 3s. to 6s.

Carr's Charity.—Matthew Carr, by will, January

28, 1818, bequeathed £100 to the minister and church-

wardens, in trust, to be placed out on good securities,

and the interest to be given to the poor at Christmas.

In October, 1819, £90 (legacy duty having been de-

ducted) was laid out in the purchase of £100 four per

cents., which, in July, 1824, was sold out for £100

15s. 6d. This was placed in the savings bank at

Stockton, and produces £3 per annum interest, which

is divided equally amongst all the poor widows in the

township at Christmas.

" Widow's Dole."—There is a monthly distribution

of 4 lb. of dough, ready for baking, given at Greatham

Hospital to 26 poor persons or families. It commences

every year in November, and continues to the com-

mencement of the wheat harvest, when the distribution

ceases.
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CLAXTON.

The township of Claxton is situated to the west of

Greatham, and contains 866 acres, divided into six

farms. At the periods of enumeration, the number of

inhabitants was 42, 46, 38, 32, 53, and 49 ; 28 of the

latter being males and 21 females. There were, at the

same period, 8 inhabited houses, and 1 uninhabited.

The property was assessed to the county-rate, in 1853,

at £842.

The Claxton family, of Norman extraction, were

originally named Heriz. Leo de Claxton had a grant

from Thomas prior of Durham of a toft for the founda-

tion of a free chapel, with a quit-claim of two oxgangs

of land which his grandfather had assigned for the

same purpose. In 1484, on the death of Sir Robert

Claxton without male issue, this manor fell to the share

of his eldest daughter, Margaret, wife of Sir William

Elmedon, whose grand-daughter married Sir William

Bulmer, from whose descendants the estate passed, in

1632, to the Johnsons of Greatham and Seaton. It has

since belonged to various proprietors, and the principal

portion is now in the hands of the trustees of the late

Thomas Jobson, Esq. Other portions are held by

Messrs. Robert Chilton and William Robinson, both of

Billingham.

PARISH OF BILLINGHAM.

The parish of Billingham is bounded by Greatham on the north, by a portion of Elwick Hall and Grindon on

the north-west and west, by Norton on the south-west, by the same parish and the river Tees on the south, and

by the estuary of the Tees on the east. Besides the chapelry of Wolviston, it contains the townships or consta-

bleries of Billingham (which includes Belassis), Newton Bewley, and Cowpen-Bewley.

BILLINGHAM.

The township of Billingham, with its liberties in the

Tees, includes an area of 3,139 acres. The population,

in 1801, was 335; in 1811, 341; in 1821, 395; in

1831, 401 ; in 1841, 782; and in 1851, 723, of whom
348 were males and 375 females. There were, at the

latter date, 150 inhabited houses and 38 uninhabited.

The annual value of property assessed to the county-

rate in 1853, was £4,284 5s.

During the year ended Lady-day, 1854, the account of

Billingham parish with Stockton Union was as follows

:

£. s.

Receipts &om poor-rates: — Billingham, £237 13s.;

Cowpen-Bewley, £56 4s. ; Newton-Bowley, £51 9s. - 3-15 6

In aid of poor-rates :—Billingham, £3 17s.; Cowpen-

Bewley, £10 13s, ; Newton-Bewley, £1 4s. - - 15 14

£361

Expenditure for in-maintenance :—Billingham, £23 9s.

;

Cowpen-Bewley, £1 9s. ; Newton-Bewley, £2 15s. - 27 13

Out-relief: — Billingham, £99 9s.; Cowpen Bewley,

£21 I9s.; Newton-Bewley, £29s. 10s. - - - 150 18

Workhouse loans repaid, &c. :—Billingham, £9 2s.
;

Cowpen-Bewley, 13s. ; Newton-Bewley, £2 13s. - 12 8

Salaries and rations of officers :—Billingham, £18 10s.;

Cowpen-Bewley, £3 3s. ; Newton-Bewley, £5 13s. - 27 6

Other expenses :—Billingham, £7 13s.; Cowpen-Bew-

ley, £1 6s. ; Newton-Bewley, £2 7s. - - - 11 6

Total connected with relief - 229 11

Brought forward

Costs of law proceedings : Billingham - . . .

Constables' expenses before justices :—Billingham, 13s.;

Cowpen-Bewley, 16s. ; Newton-Bewley, lOs.

Vaccination: — Billingham, £1 5s.; Cowpen-Bewley,

17s. ; Newton-Bewley, 2s. . - . . .

Registration fees to clergj-men :—Billingham, £2 14s.

;

Cowpen-Bewley, 18s. ; Newton-Bewley, 8s. -

County-rates, &c. : — Billingham, £73 2s. ; Cowpen-

Bewley, £41 9s. ; Newton-Bewley, £23 9s.

Parliamentary registration, &c. : — Billingham, 5s.

;

Cowpen-Bewley, 5s. ; Newton-Bewley, 8s.

For all other purposes ;—Billingham, £27 3s. ; Cowpen-

Bewley, £3 Us. ; Newton-Bewley, £5 6s. -

£229 11

7

1 19

2 4

4

138

18

36

£412 19

The Clarence railway, which passes through this

township, covers an area of 44 a. r. 11 p. and an ex-

tent of 3m. 5 p. 120 Y. It contributed £35 Is. 4d. to

the local rates in each of the years 1851 and 1852 ; the

gross amount collected in 1851 being £272 9s. 75d., and

in 1852, £272 19s. 4d. The Stockton and Hartlepool

(now a branch of the North-eastern) railway covers 8 a.

and extends 7 P. 59 y. : it contributed £8 in each of

the above years. Billingham railway station is about a

quarter of a mile from the village, from which the rail-

ways' diverge towards Port Clarence and West

Hartlepool.

The village of Billingham is situated about 23 miles

north-by-east from Stockton, on the turnpike road from
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thence to Sunderland. The site is elevated, and com-

mands an extensive view to the south, over the river

Tees, which is distant about 2 miles. There are in the

village a brewery, a malting, a large skinnery, five

public houses, and a few tradesmen. A national school

for boys and girls was erected in 1852 ; it was visited,

July 21, 1853, by the Rev. D. J. Stewart, inspector,

whose general observations are

—

" Buildings, a fair-sized room ; one class-room, two porches. Four

groups of parallel desks. Furniture, clock, book-closets. Books,

a fair supply. Playground, very small yards at each end of the school-

buildings. Apparatus, one black-board, one easel. Organization,

four classes under an untrained master."

There are two dames' schools for children in the vil-

lage. A Sunday school is connected with the church.

The inhabitants are supplied with water from a pub-

lic well ; and there are several private springs, the

water of which varies in quality.*

Some early Saxon named Billing, who here took up

his ham, or home, is supposed to have conferred the

title on BiUingham. In 795, a civil war broke out in

the kingdom of Northumberland; and the insurgents

assassinated Ethelred, the king, at Corbridge. Wada,

their chief, '^z.i attacked near BiUingham, about 800,

by Ardulf, successor of Ethelred, who, after a san-

guinary contest, defeated the rebels. The battle is

supposed to have been fought on the low grounds

between BiUingham and Norton, where a skull and

several bones, and a plain silver ornament, were dug

up in 1804.

Egfrid, Bishop of Lindisfarne, gave BiUingham in

Hartnesse to the church of Durham ; and Eanred, son

of King Ardulf, and father of Ethelred XL, built the

town and founded the church, about the year 860.

During the contests for the crown of Northumberland,

King jElla spoiled the churches of Cliff, Wiclifie,

• Brewster describes a "Teutonic well" at BiUingham, as tending

to prove the Saxon origin of the place :
—"This simple well consists of

a huge lever, from the upper end of which a common bucket is sus-

pended by a chain, and which is supported on a prop, or fulcrum.

The bucket is counterpoised by a large piece of sheet lead fastened

on the lower end, and is in equilibria when it is filled with water.

The fulcrum is the rough and unformed trunk of an ash tree, and the

lever is a long branch of the same wood. Its dimensions are as fol-

lows ;—Height of the fulcrum from the ground, 8 feet 4 inches

;

length of the lower arm of the lever, 6 feet ; of the upper, 9 feet

;

length of the chain, about 12 feet. The mouth of tlie well is circular,

its diameter 2; feet, over which is erected a rectangular wooden frame,

2 feet 8 inches in height, and open at the top. The surface of the

water below that of the earth is not more than two feet." The writer

compares this well with those of Denmark, Sweden, Lapland, &c.,

and with a drawing of a Teutonic well published in Clarke's Travels.

t The venerable historian does not mention the precise tract on

BiUingham, and Craike. In the time of Bishop
Cutheard, 900-915, Reingwald, a pagan king, landed

a considerable force on the coast of Northumberland
;

and after having made a sudden attack upon Yorkshire,

where several of the principal inhabitants were expelled

or murdered, two of his generals, Scula and Onlafbal,

took' possession of the territories and towns of St.

Cuthbert. Scula laid waste the whole country from
Jodene (Castle-Eden) to BiUingham, and inflicted the

most grievous and intolerable tributes on the miserable

inhabitants ;
" from whence to this day," says Simeon,

" the men of Yorkshire, whensoever they are enforced

to pay a royal tribute, endeavour, in relief of their own
taxation, to lay their burthen on that part of St. Cutli-

bert's patrimony which Scula possessed. But, blessed

be holy St. Cuthbert ! hitherto they have laboured in

vain."t

King William I. restored BiUingham to the church

of Durham; and Bishop Philip gave it, with all its

rights, to the convent. In the records, there are several

licenses and other documents connected with the letting

of the lands. A freehold was acquired by a family

who assumed the local name, and who were descended

from " John de Cowhird," husband of Bishop Kellaw's

sister. This family afterwards settled at Crook Hall,

and released to the convent in 1498.

The Catholic earls appear to. have had many partizans

in this parish in 1569. No fewer than 22 from Billing-

ham, 10 from Cowpen, 10 from Newton and Bewley
Grange, and 19 from AVolviston, joined in the insur-

rection ; after the suppression of which, 5 of the

BiUingham men, 2 from Cowpen, 3 from Newton, and

4 from Wolviston, suffered death. Peter Finch, of the

latter place, labourer, aged 40 years, swore, and affixed

his mark to the deposition, " that he, this examinate,

was not at burninge of any bookes, nor hard not masse."

which Onlafbal, the coadjutor of Scula, exercised his rapacity ; but

he is represented as being much the most hardened of the two. So

audacious did he become that he sacrilegiously seized the lands of the

bishopric, and treated with contempt the warnings and exhortations

of Bisliop Cutheard, who is represented as haviiig been more desirous

to save a sinner than to recover his possessions. The hardy pagan

had no faith in the miraculous powers of the patron saint of the dis-

trict. " Why do you threaten me," said he, "with your dead man ?

By all the power of my gods, I swear that I will be a fearfiU enemy
both to this dead man and all of you." Thus saying, he was about to

enter the church to plunder the holy shrines ; but the power of the

outraged saint was now awfully exerted :—the feet of the blasphemer

were suddenly transfixed to the threshold, where, after suffering ex-

treme torture, he expired, acknowledging, with his last breath, the

might and sanctity of St. Cuthbert. Scula and his host, terrified by
this judgment, fled to their ships, and left the possessions of the church

free for evermore.
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Thomas Watson, of Billingliam, yeoman, aged 50

years, deposed

—

"That, being at Hartlepoill emongst other retells in one William

Tompaon house, he sawe Hartborn articulate in his bedd, and his bro-

ther with hym, that helpt the said Hartborn to doo masse; but in any

other place he never spacke to or with the said Hartborn but in the

church ther, byddinge him good morrow afore a great multitude,

saing that he never moved or required the said Hartborn to come to

Billingham church, wher this examinate is dark, nor enfornied Staf-

ford's men that the balj-ff of Billingham had ther bookes, nor required

the baliffe to delyver the said bookes to be bomt ; but he saith that the

hye alter stone ys buried in the quier ther, and one read cope is also

remaining in the said church undefaced. Per me, Thomas Watson."

Sir Henry Anderson, Knt., and a family named
Chapman (one of whom issued a Billingham token in

1666), possessed freeholds in the parish in the 17th

century. The Parliamentary Sequestrators, in 1644,

dealt with no lenient hand towards the property of the

church and its tenants. The tithes of Wolviston were

let for £48 per annum ; those of Cowpen for £28 ; and

those of Billingham for £62. The estate of Capt.

Gascoine Eden was sequestered ; and portions of it,

with those of others, were let to new tenants. Bewley

Grange, previously let for £130, was now relet for

£100; and the rent of Saltholme was fixed at £150.
" Upon request of Miss Ann James, daughter of Mr.

William James, one of the prebends of the church of

Durham, allowed to her one 5th part of the rent of

Bewley Grainge for present reliefe and maintenance of

herself and sister."

A division of common fields was made in 16—, by
commissioners appointed by owners and occupiers in

Billingham. Nearly the whole of the lands in the

parish are held by leases for 21 years, under the dean

and chapter of Durham.

THE CHURCH.

Billingham church probably occupies the site of that

founded by Eanred. The tower, 48 yards high, and

considerably broader from the base towards the centre,

whence it begins to contract upwards, certainly belongs

to the Anglo-Norman, if not to the Saxon period of

architecture : it has all those features of towers which

are usually ascribed to the latter period, very much
resembling the tower of St. Benedict's church, Lincoln.

The top inclines considerably eastward. Several

curiously carved stones, of great antiquity, appear in

the exterior masonry. The tower undoubtedly belongs

to a much anterior period of architecture to any portion

of the present church, which is only attached to it.
j

In the interior of the church, the nave is separated

from the south aisle by four cylindrical columns, sup-

ported and surmounted by square cushions, at each of

the angles of which a light cylindrical pilaster is

attached to the main pillar. The arches supported by

those pillars are pointed, with zigzag mouldings. An
equal number of pillars, rectangular in form (through

the most easterly of which there is a perforation), form

the north aisle, and support plain pointed arches. The

south aisle, whose arches are moulded with the dog-

tooth, is considered some 30 years later than the north

aisle. At the east end of the north aisle is

—

" A little Gothic niche

Of ancient workmanship, that once had held

The sculptured image of some patron saint."

A pointed arch separates the nave from the chancel,

beneath which is a screen of trellis-work. The interior

arches, with their supporting pillars, are early English,

of about the year 1260. The chancel was of the same

date ; but, having shrunk, it was taken down and

rebuilt in 1846. At the time of the restorations, the

plastering of the roof of the nave, which had only been

put up some few years previous, was removed, which

brought out to view a fine antique oaken roofing. The

arches and pillars were chiselled over, and now

appear in all their original freshness. The chancel is

of high pitch, covered with slate ; the roof of the nave

and aisles is of lead. When the alterations were

effected, several additional sittings were obtained, and

the edifice will accommodate about 500 worshippers.

No portion of the expense of these alterations was paid

by the parish, nor, indeed, are church-rates ever im-

posed ; the church lands (noticed hereafter) producing

a sufficient income for the purpose of maintaining the

fabric, and defraying all other expenses connected with

the church.

On the south side of the chancel are four plain

windows, and three on the north, in the early English

style. The east window is in three compartments, and

is filled with rich stained glass of superior quality. In

the south aisle are three plain square windows, with

modern sashes. A new window has been placed in the

north aisle ; and it is intended that the others shall be

made uniform with it.

The principal entrance to the church is from the

south ; that on the north, opposite to it, having been

walled up when the chancel was built. The threshold

is formed of an ancient tomb-stone, inscribed with

Saxon characters, now nearly obliterated, and which is
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supposed to be a fragment of the original church of

Eanred. A new vestry was erected, at the time of the

late restorations, on the north side of the chancel. The

font is a good specimen of early English, and is sur-

mounted by a beautiful Elizabethan spire of carved

wood-work.

An organ, at the west end of the nave, was purchased

by subscription, amounting to about £130; it was

opened on the 9th March, 1854, in the presence of a

crowded and respectable congregation, including several

of the principals and students from the University of

Durham, when full church service was performed by

the members of the Durham University Choral Society,

assisted by some of the cathedral choir of Durham.

The church-plate consists of a paten, given in 1712

by Mrs. Margery Davison (relict of John Eden, Gent.,

and wife of Thomas Davison), and two large silver

flagons ; one, " Given to y^ parish of Billingham A.D.

1758, by Tho. Chapman, D.D., prebendary of Dur-

ham ;" the other is inscribed, " Domim Ricardi Dong-

wurth, Vicarii de Billingham, 1761."

Registers.—Books Nos. 1* and 2 contain registers

from 1570 to 1781, interrupted by No. 3, which con-

• On the first page is the following :—" Books belonging to the

churche. Imprimus, a great Bible and Paraphrases. It. iij Commu-
nion Books. It. Jewell and hardinge. It. book of functions. It.

a book of homilies. It. Nicholas Heminge book. It. a book of wilful!

rebells.

" Clothes belonging to y« churche.—Imp'ms, a surplice-cloth for

the currat. It. j fory» clerk ; a lininge tableclothe ; a carpet-clothe for

y table ; a part of a old vestment for y pulpit ; a old coverlitt for

weddinges ; a harden bagg for y» surplice clothe ; a new pulpit cloth

and quisson ; a new Jbooke of canons and constitutions j a book of

articles, &c. ; 2 painted trenchers, given by y« vicar for ye com'union

breed ; 3 peuter potts."

" 1687. Spent when our vicar, and some with him, went the peram-

bulation, 7s. 6d. For a quarte of sacke to give Mr. Deane an acom'o-

dation, 2s."

" For ringing of a day of thanksgiving for the queen being conceived

with child, 2s. 6d."

" 1688. To the ringers for powder and drinke when the worthy

bishops were set at liberty, 5s. To the ringers upon K. James's

birth-day." Immediately after :
" To the ringers upon the day of

thanksgiving for the Prince of Orange, Ss. Upon the coronation-

day. Is. 6d."

t George Cliff, prebendary, aged 57, in his deposition taken after

the suppression of the Northern Rebellion, April U, 1570, says, "that

he was in the cathedral church in the morning, at such as was then

done, on St. Andrew's day (30th Nov.) ; and he was there on the

Saturday next after (3rd December), at the even song, in his habit,

and also on Sunday after. On the 30th Nov., one Robert Pierson,

priest, sung mass at the high altar, at which mass he was present, in

the quire, and heard him ; he did not sing at it, nor look at the ele-

vation, and sat still in his stall ; and bowed not, nor knocked, nor

tains entries of baptisms from 1759 to 1812, and burials

from 1781 to 1812. No. 4 contains marriages from

1754 to 1812.

Billingham vicarage ; the dean and chapter of Dur-

ham, patrons. King's Books, £11 3s. l|d. ; Tenths,

£1 2s. 3-:Jd. ; Episc. proc, 6s. 8id. ; Synod, 5s. 4d.

Dedication to St. Cuthbert.

Vicars.—R. Hagat, 1180; Galfridus, 1220; R. de Jarrow, 1240;

J. Tyn, 1276 ; Richard, 1280 ; A. de Slykeburn, 1296 ; Robert, 1319 :

W. de Offington, 1329; Richard, 1337; J. Fraunceys, 1349; N. de

Catton, 1365 ; J. de Lynehouse, 1381 ; J. deCoken, 1391 ; J. Killum,

1396; J. Byry, 1403; T. Stare, 1424; J. Neceham, 1438; Sir R. —

,

1456 ; Sir R. Brerely, 1480 ; T. Dobson, 1494 ; T. Bentley, 1526 ; R.

Hj-ndmer, 1538 ; R. Dalton, S.T.P., 1544 (prebendary of the 7th

stall, depr. for recusancy) ; G. Cliff, S.T.B.,t 1560 (prebendary of the

12th stall, and sometime rector of Elwick and of Brancepath) ; J.

Macbrey, 1565, p. depr. Cliff. ; G. Cliff, S.T.B., 1584, p.m. Macbrey ;

T. Hokes, 1596 ; W. Smith, 1599 ; C. Borke, 1603 ; R. Clerkson,

1662; S. Bolton, A.M., 1665; J. Milner, A.M., 1681, p. m. Bolton ;

J. Alcock, A.M., p. res. Milner ; S. Simpson, A.B., 1703, p. m.

Alcock; J. Waring, A.M., 1715, p. m. Simpson; R. Dongworth

A.M. (master of the grammar-school of Durham), 1733, p. m. Waring

;

T. Hayes, A.M., 1761, p. m. Dongworth (resigned for St. Oswald's,

precentor of the cathedral) ; J. Branfoot, A.M., 1765, p. res. Hayes ;

R. Fenwick, 178.., p. m. Branfoot; W. Baverstock, A.B., p. res.

Fenwick; John Clark, p. m. Baverstock; Thomas Ebdon, A.B.,

1831, p. m. Clark; Philip Rudd, A.M., 1853, p. m. Ebdon.J

kneeled, nor used any open fact, nor reverend gesture. On the 3rd

Dec, he was at even song in Latin ; on the said Sunday, the pulpit

standing by the clock, and he sitting in the gilson stall behind the

Lady Boulton altar, and by reason that the press of people was very

great, he heard his voice, but understood not one sentence of that

which was said by the preacher. When the people knelt down to

take absolution, he thought that the preacher had been bidding

prayers. He received no holy bread nor holy water, nor used no

other rite or ceremony ; for he was either reading of his Testament,

or holding talk with one or other. That he was neither willing nor

earnest to follow or hear the said seri'ice, nor to receive the Pope's

absolution, whereof he knew not ; and as for books or ornaments, he

knew not where they had them."—Cliff had successively Billingham,

Elwick, and Brancepeth, the latter by the gift of Lady Adeline

Neville, in 1571. He died in 1595.

In 1575, John Davison was sentenced to excommunication for

calling John Martyn, curate of Billingham, " a vacabound, a wag-

wallett, and syde-tailed knave."

+ LiiiRARY OF THE Rev. Thos. Ebdon.—On January 31, 1833, the

sale of the library of the above gentlemen, comprising nearly 4,000

volumes, in theology, classics, history, architecture, French, Italian,

German, Spanish, Oriental and general literature, was commenced in

the Public Sale and Exhibition Rooms, Durham, by Mr. J. W. Elliot.

The sale excited considerable interest amongst bibliopolists. The books,

most of which were elegantly bound, generally brought good prices.

Walton's Polyglott Bible, 8 volumes, folio, brought £16. Acopy of the

Encyclopedia Britannica, in 21 vols, and 3 vols, of plates, full bound in

Russia, £20. ; Pinkerton's Voyages and Travels, 17 vols, full bound in

Russia, £5 12s. 6d.: Lodge's Portraits, 12 vols, in 6, calf, marbled edges,

£5 ; Lewis's Topographical Dictionary of England and Wales, Atlas*

2 vols., and Map of Eiiglaud in 4 portions, in all 13 vols., £1 6s.

;
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The grant of the church to the convent by Bishop de

Pictavia was on condition that " there shall be a per-

petual vicar, on the presentation of the prior and

convent ;" and the original endowment includes " the

manor which Walter de OiEngham and his predecessors

had occupied, and the oblations, mortuaries, and small

tithes whatsoever of the whole parish, as well from

bond as free, excepting the tithe of hay, and the tithe

of the live-stock belonging to the prior and convent."

At the general array of the clergy on Gilesgate Moor

in 1400, the vicar of Billingham furnished one lancer

and two archers.

Billingham Terrier, June 18, 1629.—" A mansion-house, the

church-yard, a garden, stackgarth, and three rood or thereabouts of

arable land, in every of the three cornfields of Billingham, with two

little lands in Volveston-field ; tn'o little dales in the medowes, the

one in a place called Frogonel, contg half an acre ; the other in the

Milne Medow, contg another half acre, or a little more ; with a horse

or cow gate, whether the vicar shall make choice of, at May-day,

when they stint. Also a sheep-gait one year, and two the second

year, and three the third year, as the fallows goe in the townfields of

BUlingham. Farther, there is belonging to the said vicarage a piece

of ground, called the tenth part of Pecker's, lying in the north field.

There are also belonging to the said vicarage the lesser tyths of

Billingham, as lamb, wool, hay, calf, pig, goose, and hen ; together

with a little portion due for the milkens. The like in all respects in

Volveston, Cowpon, and Newton, saving that in Cowpon and New-

ton he hath only a little portion of money for his tyth hens. Also

he hath tythe of hempe and lyne when they have anie, and in Cow-

pon a little portion of tyth salte when they make anie. There is also

Iiightfoot's Works, edited by Pitman, £3 3s. ; Townsend's Old and

New Testament, £1 lOs.; Stephen's Thesaurus ("Valpy's edition), 10

vols., folio, £o 2s. 6d. ; Watt's Bibliotheca Britannica, £4 2s. ; Calmet's

Dictionary of the Bible, 4 vols., folio, and 1 vol. of plates and maps, £2

2s. ; Patrick, Lowth, Arnold, Whitby, and Lowman's Commentary

on the Holy Scriptures, edited by Pitman, 6 vols., folio, £3 5s. Scott's

Bible, £2 Gs. ; Mant and D'Oyley's Bible, 3 vols., £2 2s. ; Facciolat.

Lexicon Totius I.atinitatis, folio. £l 13s.; Passow's Greek Lexicon

£1 7s. ; Richardson's English, Persian, and Arabic Dictionary, edited

by Wilkins, 2 vols., folio, £2 17s. De Sacy's Chiistomathie Arabe, 3

vols., £1 10s. ; Johnson's Persian, Arabic, and English Dictionary,

2 vols., folio, £3 6s. ; Knight's Old England, 2 vols., £1 10a. ; Ryal's

Portraits of Eminent Conservative Statesmen, £1 4s. ; Jerdan's

National Portrait Gallery, 5 vols., £2 14s. ; Hodgson's History of

Norlhumberland, 6 vols., 4to., £7 12s. 6d. ; the Thousand and One

Nights (Lane's edition), £2 23. ; Burnett's History of the Reformation,

6 vols. £1 Is. : Marsh's Michaelis, 4 vols., £1 Is. ; Elliott's Hora;

Apocalyptica;, 4 vols., £1 Us. ; Kitto's Pictorial History of Palestine

and the Jews, £1 4s. ; Scott's Border Antiquities, 2 vols., £2 3s. ;

Kiught's Pictorial Shakespeare, £4 15s. ; Chalmers's British Poets,

from Chaucer to Cowper, £6 ; Lord Bacon's Works, £1 16s. ; Locke's

Works, £1 12s. ; Hale's Analysis of Chronology, £1 13s., British

F.ssayists, £2 4s. Afterwards, as a contrast to some of the above

prices, Schrevellii Lexicon, and Pearce's Longinus, 2 vols., were

knocked down for one penny ! Bellorii Admiranda, £1 16s ; Piranesi,

a volume of miscellaneous engravings. £2 10s. ; Piranesi Vasi e Can-

lahrdei, £4 ; Loggie di Rafaele nel Vaticano, £2 12s., and LeTriomphe

de I'Empereur Mazimilien I., with many curious woodcuts, by Hans

liargimair and Albert Durer, £5 5s., were bought for the University

belg to the said vicarage the tithe of calf, lamb, wool, pig, goose, and

hens at Saltholme (saving only of those goods wt are Mr. Dean's own
proper goods), for wt the vicar has only four pasture-gaytes in the

best pasture, and the like is due from Bewley Grainge (saving of the

prebend's own proper goods). He receiveth also yearly from

Bellasys, in lieu of the tyth thereof, 26s. 8d. ; but if any of his

farmers by removal of goods do make inchace and mUchace, thereby to

defraud, then absolutely the whole year they can have no priviledge

at all. There are belg to the vicarage all surplice fees, &c. There is

also a farm, with the appurtenances, holden by lease of the dean and
chapter, w^" having been very antiently possessed by the vicar, wee
hope will hereafter be continued, which we much desire."

The vicarage-house, with gardens adjoining, stands

on an elevated situation on the north side of the church,

overlooking the adjacent valley, and commanding a

most extensive view of the surrounding country, with

the Richmond and Stanhope hills in the distance. In

1855, the old parts of the building were repaired, and

new dining and drawing rooms, entrance hall, and

three rooms above, were added to the west. The addi-

tions are built of white freestone, from near Bishop

Auckland. These improvements, together with new

offices, stables, and gateway, were effected at a cost of

upwards of £1,000, towards which £300 was contri-

buted from the Maltby Fund, and £100 by the dean

and chapter of Durham, patrons of the living. The

gross annual income is stated at £274, subject to per-

manent payments amounting to £30.*

Library. Morghen'sViewsof Poestum, £2 2s. ; and Hogarth's Works,

Heath's Plates, Explanations of Nichols, £6 68., &c., &c.

• Rev. John Wai,lis.—This eminent botanist, learned antiquary,

and amiable man, was for some years curate of Billingham. He is

stated to have been bom at Ireby, Cumberland, in 1714; he took

his degree of A.M., in 1740, at Queen's College, Oxford, where he

acquired some reputation as a sound scholar. At the age of 23, whilst

residing on a curacy at Portsmouth, he married ; and the matrimonial

happiness of himself and his amiable wife became proverbial where-

ever they resided. Having removed to the north, he published, in

1745, "Reflections on a Candle, in an irregular Ode," printed by

John Goodes, Newcastle-upon Tyne, to which was prefixed an adver-

tisement, announcing that he had opened an academy at Wallsend.

In 1748, he published, also at Newcastle, in 2 vols. 8vo, "The occa-

sional Miscellany, in Prose and Verse, consisting of a Variety of

Letters, written originally to a young Gentleman designed for Holy

{
Orders, with specimens of Sacred Poetry and Sermons," Having

1

become curate of Simonbum, Northumberland, he had an opportunity

j

of indulging his taste for botany ; and the antiquities of t'ne district

{

attracting much of his attention, he published, in the year 1769, his

history of the county of Northumberland, in 2 vols. 4to. The first vo-

lume contains an account of plants, fossils, &c., and evinces the author's

proficiency in natural history ; the contents of the second vol., though

limited in plan, and on various subjects, are of considerable merit.

The reputation which this work procured for him did not, however,

improve his fortunes ; for, in consequence of a dispute with his rector,

Dr. Scott, he was compelled to resign his curacy, on which he had

resided happily for many years, and to take refuge, mth his wife, in
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CHARITIES.

Poor's Land.—Robert Eden, Esq., of Windlcstonc,

by will, December 26, 1662, left £10 to the poor ol the

parish of Billingham; Mary Davison, of Billingham,

October l-l, 1670, 40s. ; Ralph Lawrence, of Cowpen-

Bewley, June 12, 1673, £10; John Eden, Gent., of

Billingham, May 2, 1680, £10; and Eleanor Steer, of

Wolviston, December 22, 1682, £20. Feb. 10, 1686, Mr.

Francis Buck " did give unto the poor in Billingham

10s. every year during the natural life of his sister, Mrs.

Margery Eden, relict of Mr. John Eden." The poor

money was'afterwards laid out in the purchase of a cot-

tage, a kiln-house, and a close. There are in the town-

ship two houses, and a field of four acres, the rents of

which have for nearly a century and a half been distri-

buted to the poor. The fields are let by the church-

wardens for £12 a year, one of the houses at £2, and

the other to the overseers, who put in a poor person as

occupant, and pay £2 15s. rent. Of the amount, the

township of Billingham receives £8 Is. 6d. ; Cowpen,

£2 Os. 2d. ; Newton, £2 13s. 2d. ; and Wolviston, £4
Os. 2d. These several shares are distributed to the

poor by the officers of each township, in sums varying

from 2s. 6d. to 5s.

Church Lands.—There are certain lands in the parish

now let to several tenants at rents amounting to £53 a

year, the proceeds of which have been applied to the

support of the church at least from the year 1676. The
amount, except £1 mentioned below, is carried to the

church-wardens' account.

Chapmaii's Charity.—Ann Chapman, by wiU, sup-

posed to be dated November 9, 1725, bequeathed £20
to the poor of the township of Billingham, the interest

to be distributed at Christmas, Easter, and Pentecost,

mostly to poor widows. The principal is considered as

secured upon the church-lands, £1 from the rent of

which is divided at Christmas and Easter amongst four

or five poor widows.

Gardner's Charity.—^y will, October 22, 1790,

Alice Gardner bequeathed to the vicar and churchwar-

tho house of a friendly clergymen with whom he had been acquainted

at college. In 1775, he became curate, jn-o tempore, at Haughton-le-
Skerne, and immediately after removed tu the curacy of Billingham,

where he continued till increasing infirmities obliged him to resign

at Midsummer, 1792. Thus, notwithstanding his abilities and learn-

ing, he never obtained a higher position in the church than a curacy
of £30 per annum. Mr. Pennant and Mr. George Allan endeavoured
ineffectually to assist him with Bishop Egerton ; but Bishop Barring-

ton allowed him an annual pension from the time he resigned his

curacy
; and, by the death of a relative, he came into possession of

the rents of a very small estate during the two last years of his life

VOL, II.

dens of Billingham £20, to be invested in the three per

cents, and the dividends to be distributed, on the 1st of

January annually, amongst poor widows of the town-

ship not receiving parochial relief. In respect of this

charity, there is a sum of £40 14s. 3d. three per cent,

consols, standing in the names of the Rev. William

Baverstock, Philip Moore, Robert Chilton, and Thomas
Carlisle. The dividends, amounting to about £1 14s

4d., were received by Messrs Sykes, Snaith, & Co., of

Stockton, and transmitted to the vicar for distribution

till 1825, when that house failed, since which time no

dividends have been received.

BELLASIS.

Bellasis is a hamlet in the township of Billingham,

3^ miles north-east from Stockton, consisting of a few

houses. The ancient manor house of the Lambtons

and Edens is now occupied as a farm house. The walls

are of great thickness ; and traces of a moat still remain

around it.

The Bellasis family were seated here from about

the time of the Conquest. The exchange effected by
one of its members with the prior and convent of Dur-
ham has been detailed in the account of Henknoi.l,

vol. i., p. 544. This transaction is supposed to have taken

place before 1272 ; and in a charter dated 1380, what

appear to have been the last fragments of the property

of John de Bellasis in Wolviston, are conveyed to the

prior and convent. A younger branch of the Lamb-
tons of Great Stainton held the lease of Bellasis for

several generations. Marmaduke Lambton, of Bellasis,

styled in Glover's Visitation, 1575, " Blynde Lambton,"

died without issue, leaving three sisters his coheiresses,

one of whom, Elizabeth, married John Eden, of Dur-
ham; Alice became the wife of Robert Claxton,of Old

Park ; and Frances, of Skclton, of Armeswcll. The
Edens eventually acquired, by purchase and descent, the

whole lease of Bellasis, which was sold by Sir John
Eden, Bart.

His disposition was so mild, however, and his sense of duty so proper,

that he acquiesced without a mui-mur or a sigh in his humble fortune
;

and in token of his gratitude to Bishop Barrington, he was, just at the

close of his life, engaged in packing up an ancient statue of Apollo,

found at Carvoran, a Roman station on the great Wall, as a present

to the Hon. Daines Barrington, brother to the bishop. Havin" re-

moved to the village of Norton, he died there, July 23, 1793, aged
79. His widow survived him only a short time. The Rev. Richard
WiUlis, vicar of Carham, was his brother ; and the Rev. Ricliard

Wallis, rector of Seaham and perpetual curate of South Shields,

was his nephew.

2x
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PORT CLARENCE.

The shipping places of the Clarence railway (see

vol. i., p. 113) are situated near the south-eastern point

of Cargo Fleet Reach, and opposite to Middlesborough.

At Port Clarence, Messrs. Losh, Bell, and Co. have

taken ten acres of land, upon lease from the Clarence

Railway Company, and erected three blast furnaces

and extensive iron works. The works of Messrs. Losh,

Bell, and Co. will extend the town of Middlesborough

on the north side of the river, so that ere long there

will be a North and South Middlesborough on the Tees,

as there are at the Tyne a North and South Shields.

Haverton Hill.—At this place, near the curve of

the river Tees between Billingham and Cargo Fleet

Reaches, a glass-house was erected about 20 years ago

;

and there is an iron-foundry of considerable extent,

carried on by Mr. S. Robinson.

COWPEN-BEWLEY.

This township forms the south-eastern portion of the

parish, and, with its tidal shore on the Tees, occupies

an area of 4,594 acres. Its population was successively

returned, at the periods of enumeration, at 128, 120, 132,

137, 196, and 217 j the latter number consisting of 118

males and 99 females. In 1851, there were 42 inha-

bited houses, 6 uninhabited, and 1 building ; and the

property was assessed to the county-rate, in 1853, at

£2,412 15s.

The Stockton and Hartlepool branch of the North-

eastern-Railway has an extent of 1 m. 5 F. 66 Y. and an

area of 10 a. 3 r. 5 p. in this township. In 1851, the

railway contributed £4 2s. 6d., and, in 1852, £6 3s. 9d.

towards the local rates ; the gross amounts collected in

the township in those years being £66 3s. 6d. and £94

Is. 9d.

The village of Cowpen-Bewley stands on the road

between Billingham and Greatham : it is 5 miles north-

east-by-north from Stockton, and contains a school, a

public house, and a few trademen. The lands in the

township are held by lease under the dean and chap-

ter of Durham. Saltholme, one of the largest farms

in the county, is let for £1,800 per annum. The salt

marshes extend along the north side of the Tees mouth.

Several extensive earthen mounds, now covered with

herbage, mark the sites of the old salt works once carried

on at these marshes. <

PAEOCHIAL CHAPELET OF WOLVISTOX.

The chapelry of Wolviston comprehends the two townships of Wolviston and Newton-Bewley, and is bounded

on the south-east by the townships of Billingham and Cowpen-Bewley, on the north-east by the parish of

Greatham, on the north by that of Elwick Hall, and on the north-west by the parish of Grindon.

WOLVISTON.

WoLviSTOX contains an area of 2,396 acres. In 1801,

the population was 411 ; in 1811, 390; in 1821, 541 ; in

1831, 582; in 1841, 588 ; and in 1851, 750, of whom

393 were males, and 357 females. There were at the

latter date, 143 inhabited houses and 14 uninhabited.

The annual value of property assessed to the county-

rate, in 1853, was £2,188 13s.

During the year ended Lady-day, 1854, the sum re-

ceived for poor-rates in Wolviston was £88 6s., and in

aid of rates, £1 3s. The expenditure for in-maintenance

was £3 10s. ; for out-relief, £44 15s. ; workhouse loans

repaid and interest thereon, £5 19s. ; salaries and rations

of officers, &c., £5 13s. ; other expenses, £2 7s. ; total

outlay connected with relief, £62 4s. Constables' ex-

penses before justices, 17s. ; vaccination fees, £2 2s.

;

registration fees to clergymen, £2 10s. ; county and other

rates, £36 15s. ; registration, 8s. ; for other pui-poses,

£6 ; total expenditure, £110 16s.

The village of Wolviston is pleasantly situated on the

Stockton and Sunderland turnpike road, about 5 miles

north-by-east from the former place, and 2 north from

Billingham. The soil is dry, the situation airy, and the

prospect extensive. Wolviston contains a rural police

station, six public houses, a corn-mill, and a number

of shopkeepers, tradesmen, and mechanics.

A good public school-room, capable of containing

100 scholars, and a house for the master's residence,

were erected in 1832, by grants from the Bishop of

Durham, the dean and chapter, the trustees of Bishop

Barrington, and other sources, at a cost of £175.
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Twenty scholars are taught free, each for three years,

towards whose education the dean and chapter contri-

bute £10 annually.

There is a small chapel belonging to the Wesleyan

Methodists, with a house for the minister, and a

school An alnis house was erected by the Marchioness

of Londonderry in 1838 ; it is a handsome brick build-

ing, capable of accommodating six poor women, chiefly

widows, who are appointed by the marchioness.

An annual village festival is kept on the first Sunday

after Lammas-day ; and on the following day, a horti-

cultural exhibition is held in the school-room. Races

and shews of various kinds follow ; and in the evening,

balls take place at the public houses.

Hose Villa, with its beautiful lawn, green-house,

and vineries, is situated close by the village on the

south, and commands a splendid view of Cleveland,

with its vast manufactories of iron, and of the Tees

bay, Redcar, &c. It was formerly the property of

the late Thomas Appleby, Esq., and now belongs to

John Skinner, Esq. It is at present occupied by

Augustus Friedrichsen and Wright Clunie, Esqrs.

It has been plausibly conjectured that the prior and

convent acqipred lands in Wolviston with those of the

mother church at Billingham. Various proprietors,

from time to time, either sold or exchanged their lands,

until nearly the whole became vested in the church.

Amongst others was Ricardi Ingeniater (Richard the

snarer or gamekeeper), who, with Thomas his heir, ex-

changed their lands in Wolviston for parcels in Pitting-

ton. His seal, a wolf passant, is obviously appropriate

to his profession, and favours the traditional derivation

of the word Wolviston. Surtees, however, imagines

that the place was the tun, or seat of Wulf or Wulfhere,

a Saxon settler.

THE CHAPEL.

The chapelry of Wolviston was severed from the parish

of Billingham, formerly the mother church, in 1577.

The chapel stands near the centre of the village ; but

its position has been encroached upon by the erection

of several small cottages, which face and nearly sur-

round it on two sides, without any intervening fence,

and are chiefly inhabited by labourers and their fami-

lies. At what period it was originally erected is not

clearly known; but it would appear to be of rather

ancient date, from the fact of the building having fallen

into ruins about 1620, and lain in that state nearly 100

years. It was at last rebuilt in 1716, as appears from
the following detailed account, given in an old church-

warden's book, of " the Disbursements legally incurred

for regaining the Chappell of Wolveston for the Benefitt

of the Town, after it had been detained from them for

some years by the Vicars of Billingham," who had

surreptitiously taken possession of the same when it

lay in ruins, " which amounted to £4 14s. 3d. ; whilst

the Disbursements in particular for rebuilding the said

Chappell after it was regained by the joint costs of the

Townshipps of Wolveston and Newton Bewley equally

by flarmrights, and amounting to eighteen in Wolveston

and nine in Newton, were £99 10s. Id."

The chapel consisted, until the year 1830, of a nave

and chancel. In that year, a square tower, surmounted

by corner pinnacles, was erected on the south side of

the nave. The entrance to the chapel is by a doorway

in the tower, which, being partially open to the inte-

rior, contains a gallery, and above is a loft in which are

two bells. The original entrance, which was on the

west, was built up, and the porch converted into a

vestry ; a convenience which the chapel did not before

possess. By these improvements, 190 additional sit-

tings were obtained ; and in consideration of a grant

from the Society for promoting the Enlargement and

Building of Churches and Chapels, 130 of that number

were declared free. There were previously 130 ap-

propriated seats, so that the chapel will accommodate

320 hearers. An east window is surmounted by a

circular arch ; but the whole interior is dimly lighted.

An organ, purchased by subscription, was opened

December 24, 1854.

The chapel appears to have been dedicated to St.

Mary Magdalen, and not to St. Peter, as stated by

Hutchinson. The village festival was formerly held

on the Monday after St. Mary Magdalen's day; and

the dedication is distinctly mentioned in the following

quaint, but not unpoetical lines, inscribed in the

churchwarden's book above quoted, " Upon viewing

the Charges Rebuilding St. Magdalen's Chappell at

Wolveston in 1716":—

" Let weeping Magdalen cease her tear,

And with a smile clear up her eye ;

This little chappell standing here,

Made sacred to her memory :

" Neglected late in rubbish lay,

O'ergrown with moss, and mouldering

Is now rebuilt sprightly and gay,

Like a young Phcenix from her nest.

" Devotion's warmth did soe inspire

With holy zeal each generous heart,

That all concern'd, with glad desire,

Pursu'd the work, and did impart

dust;
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" Each one their share with such good will,

And with intentions large as free,

Still to give more, and more untill

They brought it to what now you see,

" Neither too gaudy, nor too great.

But decent as the house of prayer,

Designed to be clean and neat,

As hearts should be that cometh there.

" And if Posterity list to know
To what amount the cost did come.

This book to after times will shew

Each severall, and the totall sume.

" And now since finished, let us pray,

That God will bless, and own't again.

And that his Gracious Presence may
Dwell there alway. Soe be't. Amen."

Registers.—Books Nos. 1 and 2 contain entries of

baptisms from 1759 to 1812, and marriages by license

to 1780. Since that period, none have been solemnized

here, though on what account is not known. All mar-

riages and funerals take place at Billingham, 2 miles

distant from Wolviston. Nos. 3 and i carry on a con-

tinuation of the baptismal registers. There are two

churchwardens' account books, one of which dates

from 1663.

Wolviston chapel of ease is not in charge nor certi-

fied; the dean and chapter of Durham, patrons.

CuKATEs.—John Manwell, 1577 ; John Wilton, 1578 ; John Word-

ington, 1585 ; John Manwell occ. 1598 ; James Kinge occ. 1631 ;

Richard Redhead, 1717; Richard Lightfoot, 1725; John Aspinwall,

1762 ; George Barron Jackson, A.M., 1805, p. m. Aspinwall ; An-

thony Garthorne, 1810, p. m. Jackson ; Lancelot Christopher Clarke,

A.B., 1823. p. m. Garthorne.

The emoluments of the living are entirely derived

from 122 acres of land belonging to it, besides a yearly

payment of 9s. per farm from each of the 26 farms

within the chapelry, and 12s. 6d. from the AVolviston

Mill and two dales of meadow attached thereto : it is

payable half-yearly at Lady-day and Michaelmas.

About the year 1764, Wolviston received £200

augmentation by lot, £200 from Queen Anne's Bounty,

£100 from Lord Crewe's trustees, £50 from the dean

and chapter, £30 from the Bishop of Durham, and

£20 parochial collection; total, £600, which was

vested in the purchase of lands at Chester-le-Strect.

In 1810, the sum of £1,000 was obtained from similar

sources, £300 of which was applied towards purchasing

a parsonage-house ; the remaining £700 being vested

* Captains Middleton and Mook.—Newton-Bewley is supposed to

have been the birth-place of Christopher Middleton, about tlie begin-

ning of the last century. Ho was bred to the sea, and served generally.

in the purchase of lands at Easington, it addition to a

small farm belonging to it ; thus raising the gross an-

nual income to £99, subject to a permanent payment

of £2. The dean and chapter afterwards granted 80

acres of land near Billingham, annual value, £125 8s.

;

fee-simple, £3,762 ; but this is stated, in an order in

council, April 27, 1842, to be " subject to a lease, which

will expire in May, 1849;" and the ecclesiastical com-

missioners add that " whereas the tithes of the parish of

Billingham are now vested in us, and the proceeds

thereof exceed the last mentioned annual value (£126),

it appears to us, after due consideration of the wants

and circumstances of the said parish, to be expedient

that a temporary annual grant should be made to the

said perpetual curacy of Wolviston, of equal amount

to the prospective augmentation aforesaid." In 1849,

a farm of 61 a. 2 r. at Billingham Grange, was annexed

to the living by the dean and chapter, and lets for

£100 per annum, raising the net value of the living

to £183. In the commissioners' first report, June 24,

1845, an augmentation of £126 per annum is an-

nounced, and the net income of the living is stated to

be £256.

The parsonage house having become .unfit for resi-

dence, £220 was granted, on the recommendation of

the Bishop of Durham, from the Maltby Fund, in

1850, towards its restoration and enlargement, at a cost

exceeding £300. It is situated in a pleasant healthy

part of the village, and is now a commodious and com-

fortable residence. The village green, in front, has

been enclosed, drained, and considerably improved.

The great tithes of the chapelry are commuted for

£337 16s., which is paid to the ecclesiastical commis-

sioners. The small tithes, amounting to £50 per

annum, are received by the vicar of Billingham.

NEWTON-BEWLEY.

The township of Newton-Bewley, or Beaulieu, adjoins

that of Wolviston on the north-east : it contains 1,562

acres, divided into seven farms. The successive returns

of population state the numbers at 88, 84, 86, 92, 87,

and 121 ; of the latter number, 49 were males and 72

females ; and there were, at that period, 22 inhabited

houses and 1 uninhabited. The property was valued

for the county-rate, in 1853, at £1,393 3s.

The village of Newton-Bewley* is situated 6 miles

if not altogether, on board one of the vessels of the Hudson's Bay

Company, engaged in the fur trade. His experience in those seas re-

commended him to Mr. Arthur Dobbs, a gentleman of science and

Thank you for purchasing from Ebay Shop Retromedia

http://stores.shop.ebay.co.uk/retromedia


PARISH OF ELWICK HALL. 315

north-by-east from Stockton, and contains several cot-

tages with neat gardens in front, a public house, and a

com-miU. The manor-house (of which no vestige now
exists) and demesnes in this township were assigned to

fortune, who induced the Lords of the Admiralty to appropriate a

ship of the navy to the purposes of discovery, and to give the com-

mand of her to Captain Middleton. The Furnace homb, and the Dis-

covery pink, were accordingly put under his orders ; the latter being

commanded by Mr. William Moor, a native of Billingham. They

sailed in 1741, and wintered in Churchill river, where they remained

till the 1st July in the following year. The attention of Middleton

was attracted by u river called the AVager, 6 or 8 miles broad ; but as

the tide of flood always set in from the eastward, or into the mouth of

the river, no opening could be expected through it. At another open-

ing, 1.3 miles in width, they came to a headland, to wliich, conceiving

it to be the north-east point of America, Middleton gave the name
of Cape Hope ; but finding that the land beyond it merely extended

to the west of north, he gave it the name of Repulse Bay. Having

ascended a high mountain, he obtained a full view of a strait, 18 or 20

leagues in length, and 7 in breadth, extending south-east towards

Cape Comfort, and on the eastern coast of Southampton Island. It

appeared to him that the strong tide which came through this strait

was merely that which entered by Hudson's Straits, brought by another

channel. The strait was completely frozen from side to side ; and, on

calling a council, " it was agreed to make the best of their way out of

this dangerous strait."

The account which Middleton gave of these proceedings, on his

return, was either disbelieved or misunderstood. Anonymous letters

(afterwards disgovered to have been written by the surgeon and cap-

tain's clerk) stated that the frozen strait was all ?. chimera, as was

every thing that Middleton had written concerning that part of the

voyage. Mr. Dobbs intemperately declared him a traitor, bribed by

the company to stifle the discovery ; an accusation which Middleton

indignantly denied, and much acrimonious language was used on both

sides. The Lords of the Admiralty also were not satisfied with his

explanations ; and an unfavourable impression generally prevailed

against him. lie retired from public service ; and having married his

servant, he had a large family, and is said to have died poor. His

latter years were spent at Norton, where he died, and was buried on

the 15th of February, 1770.

the twelfth stall in Durham cathedral. The endow-

ments and estates of this cauonry became vested in the

ecclesiastical commissioners in 1853. (See vol. i.,

page 445.)

The honesty and integrity of Middleton have been amply vindicated

since his death. By later navigators, and especially by Parrj-, all the

features of the coast which be explored were found to have been most

accurately described by him ; and though his conclusions with regard

to the origin of the tide in the Welcome River, and the impossibility

of penetrating further, are proved to have been hastOy made, they

were supported by very strong presumption. Captain Lyon, in his

private journal, says, on this subject, "Thus our examination of this

much doubted place terminated ; and the veracity of poor Middleton,

as far as regards the bay at least (Repulse Bay) was now at length

established, and in looking down the strait we had passed, he was

fully justified in calling it a frozen strait."

The failure of Middleton did not, at the time, shake the general

opinion respecting the possibility of a north-west passage to the

Pacific Ocean. A considerable reward being offered for the discovery,

a new expedition, under the direction of private persons, with Mr.

Dobbs' assistance, was fitted out for the purpose ; and Captain Moor,

who had been Middleton's associate, was appointed to the command.
He was accompanied by Mr. Henry EUie, whom the committee of

management had engaged to write a narrative of the voyage. Moor
commanded the Dobbs gaUey, of 180 tons; and the California, of HO
tons, was commended by Captain Francis Smith. The vessels sailed

on the 20th of May, 1746, and made land on the west side of the Wel-

come, August 21 . During the winter they moored in a creek about two

miles above York fort, the governor of which does not appear to have

promoted their designs. In the followingsummer, they examined Wager
Strait, and another opening to the northward, probably Middleton'.s

frozen strait ; but although appearances were encouraging, a difference of

opinion prevailed amongst the commanders and officers ; and, on the

7th of August, it was decided by a council, on account of " the

advanced season of the year," to bear up for England. They arrived

in Yarmouth roads, on the 14th of October, 1747, after an absence of

one year, four months, and seventeen days. Captain Moor soon after

retired from the service, and settled at Greatham, where, in 1757, he

married Mary, sister of Ralph Bradley, Esq., of Stockton. He died

in 1703.

PARISH OF ELWICK HALL.

village of1 HE parish of Ehvick Hall (sometimes locally called TVest Parish, from its situation in respect to the

Elwick, in the parish of Hart) is bounded by Hart and Greatham on the east, by the chapelry of Wolviston and

by Grindon on the south, by Sedgefield (from which it is divided by the Emeldon Beck) on the west, and by

Monk-Hcslcdon and Hart on the north. It forms but one constablery ; but includes the manors, granges, or

farmholds of Amerston, Newton Hansard, Bruntoft, Close, Stotfold, and Poplar Row.

Elwick Hall contains 4,321 acres, and was assessed

for the county-rate in 1853 at £2,411 15s. Its popula-

tion, at the successive periods of return, was 129, 129,

176, 169, 165, and 187, of whom 102 were males and

85 females.' At the same time, there were 32 inhabited

houses and 11 uninhabited.

The receipts from poor-rate, during the year ended

Lady-day, 1854, were £89 6s. ; in aid of rates, £1 18s.

;

total £91 4s. The expenditure for in-maintcnance was

£11 12s.; for out-relief, £45 7s. ; for workhouse loans

repaid, &c., £5 7s.; for salaries and rations of officers,

&c., £9 3s. ; for other expenses connected with relief,
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£11 ; total, £82 9s. Costs of law proceedings, £1 12s.;

constables' expenses before justices, 10s. ; vaccination

fees, 4s. ;
payments on registration fees to clergymen,

12s. ; for county and other rates, £40 4s. ; registra-

tion, 10s. ; other payments, £9 2s. ; total expenditure,

£1.35 3s.

There is no village in the parish of Elwick Hall.

" In this parish," says Hutchinson, " there is neither

town or village, cottage house for the poor, surgeon or

apothecary, midwife, blacksmith, joiner, house-carpen-

ter, mason, bricklayer, cart or M'heelwright, weaver,

butcher, shoemaker, tailor, or barber, schoolmaster or

schoolmistress, ale-house, or public bakehouse, grocer

or chandler's shop, or a corn-mill." With the excep-

tion of a public-house near Embleton, a school, two

cottages, a blacksmith's and a joiner's shop, this de-

scription of the parish, written about 80 years ago, still

applies. The school is situated a short distance from

the church : it was built by subscrijition in 1852, on

glebe land, and is supported principally by the rector

and the contributions of the children ; the attendance

averages about 40. To the north-west of the church is

a little mount called Beacon Hill, admirably adapted

for the purpose implied by its name.

THE CHURCH.

Elwick church is situated about 9 miles north-by-east

from Stockton, and 2 cast from Embleton, in the parish

of Sedgefield. It stands on the brink of a deep dene,

through which runs a small brook, dividing the parish

of Elwick Hall from the village and township of

Elwick, in the parish of Hart. The approach from

the village, which, in Hutchinson's time, was by a

"multitude of steps," is now a steep road and footpath.

The church was repaired, and the lead of the roof ex-

changed for slate, in 1813 ; and the windows, except

the two on the south side of the chancel, were renewed

about twelve years ago. The tower is a low square

structure, on the south side of the church, and contains

the principal entrance. In the south wall of the

chancel is an antique sculpture, apparently representing

the Crucifixion. Each of the side aisles is formed by

three cylindrical columns, supporting pointed arches

;

and the entrance from the nave to the chancel is

beneath a low semicircular 'arch. There is a vault

within the Communion rails. Above the table is a

metal tablet representing the Last Supper. Two of

the stalls in the chancel are carved wiih poppy heads.

The east window, under a pointed arch, is in three

compartments, including a portion of stained glass

;

and there are two similar windows on the south side of

the chancel. The nave is lighted by a large window

under a semicircular arch on the west, a square modern

window in the south aisle, one at the east end under a

pointed arch, and two pointed windows on the north.

There is a small gallery at the west end ; and the

church is calculated to accommodate 149 persons. The

entire roof of the edifice is flat and plastered. The

font is an octagonal bason of beautifully spotted marble.

In the chancel is a mural tablet to the memory of Dr.

Parker, rector of the parish. Elwick is also the family

burial-place of the late Sir James AUan Park, one of

the judges of the court of Common Pleas.

Walter de Cumba, April, 15, 1327, gave by charter

to Robert Garnet of Ellewyk^ and Anastasia his wife, all

his land in Bruntoft, charged with the payment of six

marks annually to the church, for which the rector for

the time being was to provide a chaplain, to sing, for

ever, for Walter and all his benefactors.

The church-yard is terraced to the edge of the

ravine on the north, and commands an extensive view

to the south and east.

Registers.—Books Nos. 1 and 2 contain entries of

baptisms aud burials from 1592 to 1797, and marriages

from 1592 to 1752 ; and No. 2, baptisms and burials

from 1798 to 1812, and marriages from 1754 to 1811.*

Elwick rectory ; the Bishop of Durham, patron.

King's Books, £20 18s. l|d. ; Tenths, £2 Is. 9:^d.

;

Episc. proc, 13s. ; Archid. proc. 4s. ; Synod., lis.

Dedication to St. Peter.

Kectors.—Stephanus r'r eccl. de Elwick occurs 1200 ; W. de Gyp-

wico ; E. de Bemardcastel, 1352 ; W. de Harram, 13-53 ; J. del Beck,

1359 ; J. de Castro Bcmardi, 1361 ; H. de Westwik, 1362 ; J. Atelee,

1367; W. de Traffcrd, 1368 ; J. deBattisford, 1373; J. Bo-nTing, 1376;

T. Wyhot, 1378 ; J. Gyll, 1400 ; W. de Wynlaton, 1414, p. m. GyU

;

B. Heighington, 1501 ; T. Atkynson, 1546 ; G. Clyffe, S.T.B., 1562 ;

H. Ewbank, A.M., 1598 ; G. Claik, A.M., 1620 ; J. Cosin, S.T.B.,

1624 ; J. Bowey, an intruder, ejected 1660 ; D. Bollen, A.M., 1660
;

D. Granville, 1664; G. Brereton, A.M., 1667, p. res. Granville; H.

Beaumont, A.M., 1672, p. res. Brereton ; J. Bowes, S.T.P., 1701, p.

m. Beaumont; W. Eden, 1715, p. res. Bowes; R. Parker, D.D.

1741, p. m. Eden: "SV. Vaughan, A.M., 1776, p. m. Parker; George

Sayer, 1777, p. res. Vaughan; George Watson, A.M., 1783, p. res.

Saver; Richard Richardson, D.D., 1791, p. m. Watson; James

Allan Park, A.M.December, 12, 1828, p. res. Richardson for Brance-

peth. (See vol. i., pp. 415 and 428.)

• An entry states that " maryinge by justices, election of registers

by the parishioners, and the use of ruling elders, first came into

fashion in the times of rebellion, under that monster of nature and

bludy tJ^ant, Oliver Cromwell."
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It n^as the intention of Bishop Beaumont to present

this rectory to the convent ; but this was prevented by

his death. One lancer and two archers were furnished

by the rector of Elwick at the array of the clergy in

1400.

Elwick Hall, the rectory house, is a handsome man-

sion, standing on the north bank of the dene, oppo-

site to the church. It is well sheltered by rising

plantations. The glebe consists of two farms, con-

taining together 3-15 acres ; and the rector is generally

entitled to tithes of all decriptions from the other

thirteen farms in the parish. The gross annual income

is stated as £544 per annum, subject to £2 for perma-

nent papnents.

Amerston.—Aymundestun, the viU of the Saxon

Aymund, adjoins the Embleton dene. It was granted

to Kepyer Hospital by Gilbert Hansard, and, at the

Dissolution, passed through the Cockburnes to the

Heaths (see vol. i., p. 377). John Heath, in 1600,

sold it to Henry Dethicke, Master of Greatham Hos-

pital, whose son sold it to the Ashmalls. Amerston

Hall, the mansion of the latter family, who resided

here for several generations, stiU remains. The trustees

of the Rev. Ferdinando Ashmall, the last of the family

(see vol. i., p. 410), sold the estate, in 1762, during his

life, to Humphrey Robinson, for £1,330. It is now
the property of Mr. John Robinson.

Newton -Hansard.—This manor derives its addition

from the Hansards of Walworth. In the time of

Bishop Hatfield, it was held by William Dacre, lord of

Gilsland, and passed from his heirs, through Katherine

de Qwhitfield, to John Neville, lord of Raby. After

the attainder, it was granted, in 1575, by Queen Eliza-

beth, to Thomas Calverley and Henry Anderson, Esqrs.

In the 17th century, it was purchased of the Calverley

family by the Smiths of Burn Hall, who sold it to the

Thellusons. It is now the property of the Marchioness

of Londonderry.

Stoteold was held, in the 14th century, of tlie bishop

in capite, by the family of Kilkenny, rendering 6d.,

called wodesiher. It afterwards became, by purchase,

the property of the Nevilles, who sold it, before the

attainder, to William Selby, of Newcastle. The Cans
and Milbanks purchased from the Selbys. High Stot-

fold was purchased from the executors of Ralph Carr,

Esq., of Cockcn, by Ralph John Fenwick, Esq., M.D.,

who sold it to Jonathan Backhouse, Esq., of Darling-

ton. Middle Stotfold was sold by the Milbanks to the

Shepperdsons. Loto Stotfold was sold, April 3, 1818,

by John Hall, Esq., of Weston Colvill, Cambridgeshire,

to Watson Alcock, Esq., surgeon, of Stockton; who
erected a house on one of the farms, which is known by
the name of Gunner's Vale.

Bruntoft, the toft upon or near the hum, early gave

name to a resident family, and was afterwards purchased

by the Claxtons. With Claxton (see p. 306) it passed

by marriage to the Buhners, who, in 1605, sold it to

John Featherstonhalgh, Esq., of Stanhope. On July

20, 1652, ^Ralph Featherstonhalgh, Gent, of North

Auckland, conveyed Bruntoft to William Pennyman,

Esq., of Gray's Inn, who sold it to Gerard Salvin,

Esq., of Croxdale. Bruntoft, the Toft, and Low Brun-

toft now belong to the Marchioness of Londonderry.

The Close is the name of a farm on the south of

Embleton dene, which anciently belonged to the

Nevilles, and was forfeited at the attainder. In 1607,

it was conveyed by the grantees of the crown, for

£1,200, to Sir George FreviUe, Knt., to hold in com-

mon soccage of the manor of East Greenwich, under

£13 6s. 8d. crown rent. Nicholas Freville, nephew
and devisee of Sir George, sold the estate to Gerard

Salvin, Esq., of Croxdale, for £2,640 : it is now the

property of the Marchioness of Londonderry; and

Plaintrec Hill, near Amerston Hall, is tlie property of

the representatives of the late Mr. James Jobson,
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PAEISH OF GEINDON.

The parish of Grindon is bounded on the north-cast by Elwick Hall, by the chapelry of Wolviston and the

parish of Norton on the east, by Redmarshall and Bishopton on the south and south-west, and by Sedgefield on

the west and north. It is divided into the townships or constableries of Grindon and Whitton.

GRINDON.

There is no village bearing the name of Grindon ; but

the township contains the village of Thorp-Thewles,

and the manors of Fulthorp and Wynyard. Its area is

3,4i6 acres. In 1801, the population was 325; in 1811,

230; in 1821, 255; in 1831, during the formation of

the Clarence railway, 309; in 1841, 285; and in 1851,

267, of whom 141 were males and 124 females. At the

latter date, there were 61 inhabited houses and 7 unin-

habited. The annual value of property assessed to the

county-rate, in 1853, was £2,055 14s. 8d.

The receipts from this parish, for the Stockton Union,

in the year ended Lady-day, 1854, were, for the town-

ship of Grindon, £133 8s. ; and for Whitton, £32 16s.

;

total, £166 4s. The cxpenditxire was as follows :

—

In-maintenance :—Grindon, £6 ; Whitton, 12s £6 12

Out-relief :—Grindon, £~i 19s. ; Whitton, £13 6s 88 5

Workhouse loans repaid:—Grindon, £5; 'WTiitton, 16s. 5 16

Salaries and rations of officers:— Grindon, £11 13s. j

Whitton, £1 7s 13

Other expenses connected with relief :—Grindon, £4 16s.

;

Whitton, lis 5 7

£119

Constables' expenses before justices :—Grindon, 6s. ;

Whitton, 12s 18

Vaccination :—Grindon, 5s. ; 'WTiitton, Is 9

Registration fees to clergymen:—Grindon, 13s. ; \\Tiitton,

2s 15

County-rates, &c. :—Grindon, £34 18s. ; Whitton, £14 14s. 49 12

Parliamentary regist.; &c. :—Grindon, 7s. ; '\\Tiitton, 83... 15

Forallotherpnrposes:—Grindon,£813s.; Whitton,£2 14s. 11 7

£182 16

CHURCHES.

The old church of Grindon, a plain structure, consisting

of nave and chancel, stands in a field a little to the east

of the road between Durham and Stockton. The
porch on the south side is called Fulthorp's Porch, and

* In the Act Books of the Spiritual Court of Durham, February,

1632, is a "sentence against Elinor Greene, for scandalous abuse of

her minister, James Wallace, viz., by uttering these, and other

on the floor are some sculptured slabs. The edifice

had accommodation for 120 hearers ; but owing to the

dilapidated state into which the fabric was falling, and

its inconvenient situation for the increasing population

in other portions of the district, a new church was

erected and consecrated at Thorp-Thewles in 1848,

since which period the old church has ceased to be used

as a place of worship ; but the church-yard continues

to be reserved as a place of interment for parties

possessing a family burying ground.

The new church is of plain early English, consisting of

nave and chancel, with sittings for 175 hearers, 120 of

which are free. Attached is a cemetery, consisting of

an acre of ground, of fine dry soil, enc),osed within a

substantial wall. The cost of the building was about

£900, towards which the Marquis and Marchioness of

Londonderry were liberal contributors ; the bishop of

the diocese presented £50 ; the Diocesan Society, £50

;

the Incorporated Society of London, £40, &c. ; the

late William Russell, Esq., of Brancepeth, presenting

the ground. The church, which is dedicated to the

Holy Trinity, was erected at Thorp under the sanction

of the bishop and incumbent, and with the consent of

other parties interested.

Registers.—Books Nos. 1 and 2 contain entries of

baptisms from 1566 to 1812, burials from 1565 to 1812,

and marriages from 1565 to 1578. No. 3 contains

marriages from 1759 to 1812.

Grindon vicarage is a discharged living in the

deanery of Stockton ; the Master of Sherburn Hospital,

patron. Crewe's augmentation, £10. King's Books,

£4 lis. 5^. ; Episc. proc, 2s. 6d. ; Archid. proc, 2s.

Dedication to St. Thomas a Becket.

Vicars.—Gamellus, 1194 ; W. Baty ; R. de Auckland, 1358 ; W
Boteler, 1379 ; H. Flinton, 1390 ; J. de Hexham, 1402 ; J. Drawelesse,

1421 ; T. WaU; R. Hochonson, 1560; G. Gibson, 1579; F. Greene,

1599; J. Wallace, A.M.,* 1618; R. Bower, A.M., 1653; W. Alder,

words: ' Thou a minister?— Thou a devill ! Out rogue ! Out theefe!

Out tchoare !' " the last word used from habit. Sentence " to acknow-

ledge her fault publiquely in time of divine service, and to pay costs."
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A.M., 1668 ; W. Thompson, 1678 ; T. Nicholson, 1699 ; C. Haggarth,

1707, p. res. Nicholson; R. Pigot, A.M., 1723, p. m. Haggarth; J.

Nicholson, 1748, p. res. Pigot; T. Rotheram, A.M., 1760, p.m.

Nicholson ; J. Middleton, 1769 ; W. Terrot, A. M., p. m. Middleton ;

W. W. Ewbank, A. B., May, 1832, p. m. Terrot; W. Cassidi, A. B.,

1840, p. res. Ewbank.

The vicarage-house was formerly used as a farm house

;

but, during the incumbency of the Rev. W. W. Ewbank,

considerable improvements were made in the building.

The Master of Sherburn has the great tithes, and tithes

of wool and lamb. The vicar is generally entitled to

hay tithe, and all other small tithes throughout the

parish, excepting that no tithe for hay is paid for

Whitton, nor for Spittle-meadow, in Thorp. The glebe

consists of two closes, one in front of the parsonage,

and the other adjoining it on the west, comprising,

together with the church-yard, about 14 acres ; and of

a farm at Mordon-moor-house, in the parish of Sedge-

field, purchased with Queen Anne's Bounty, con-

taining about 65 acres. The vicar also receives £10

annually under the provisions of Lord Crewe's will.

The gross income was stated in 1835 at £142, subject

to £11 for permanent payments. The late Master of

Sherburn Hospital allowed £60 a year to the incum-

bent, which It is now proposed to increase to £100 (see

page 235). The living is now worth £200 per annum.

CHARITIES.

Fleetham^s Cltarity.—George Fleetham, by a codicil

to his will, June 14, 1816, gave £80 to the vicar of

Grindon, in trust, to be invested in government or real

securities ; the dividends to be applied in schooling,

clothing, putting out apprentices, or otherwise for the

support and benefit of four poor children of the town-

ship, under the age of 14 years. After deducting the

legacy duty of £8, the balance was paid to the Rev.

William Terrott, then vicar, who purchased therewith

£88 6s. 7d. three per cent, consols. The dividend,

£2 12s. lOd., is paid to the master of the school at

Thorp-Thewles, who, in consideration, instructs three

poor children of the township, appointed by the resi-

dent clergyman.

Lost Charities.—In consideration of £60, left to the

poor of Grindon by some person unknown, £3 per

per annum was formerly paid by a person who rented

lands from the Rev. Mr. Davison. These lands having

been sold, nothing has been paid for about £50 years,

nor is there now any evidence to support a claim.

The sum of £20, given by some person unknown, to

VOL. II.

the poor of "VVTiitton, vested in 1786 with Henry Hut-

chinson, and producing 16s. per annum, was lost by
the failure of the bank of Hutchinson and Co., in

Stockton, in 1825 ; no proof of the debt having been

made under the commission of bankruptcy.

THORP-THEWLES.

The village of Thorp-Thewles is situated on the turn-

pike road between Durham and Stockton, 16 miles

from the former, and 5 from the latter place. It con-

tains a flour-mill, a public house, and a few tradesmen.

An old brick mansion at the east side of the village,

supposed to have been the residence of the Kendals,

and more recently occupied as an inn, has been for

many years let in tenements, and going to decay. In

1824, the Marchioness of Londonderry built a room

for a day and Sunday-school on the north side of the

village, to which she contributes annually ; £10 is also

subscribed by Lord Boyne, £5 by Lord Crewe's

trustees, &c. About 50 children are usually taught

;

and, previous to the erection of the new church, lectures

were delivered in it by the curate of the parish on

Sunday afternoons. The late Marquis of Londonderry

subscribed two guineas per annum to a benefit society

;

and the marchioness provided clothing for many of the

poor children of the parish ; but both these charities

are now discontinued.

Thorp early gave name to a resident family. Ma-
tilda, daughter of Godefrid de Thorp, and Roger de

Stotfaldia, her husband, about 1200, granted part of

their lands in the town fields to Stephen de Elwick,

who, by charter, granted and gave to God, the blessed

Mary, St. John the Baptist, St. Goderich, and to Ralph

the prior and the monks of Finchale, all his lands in

Thorp in perpetual alms, for the support of hospitality,

and the maintenance of three poor persons daily, ren-

dering yearly to John de Ketton and his heirs a pound

of cumin, and making foreign service. John de Ketton,

Nigel de Rungeton, John son of Galfrid de Thorp,

Robert de Minsterton, Walter de Shotton, his daughter

Cecilia de Thorpthewles, John Ward of Thorpthewles,

and Robert son of William, lord of Thorpthewles,

all granted lands and houses, about the same period, to

the priory of Fiuchule. Afterwards, the Hiltons,

Blakistons, and Buhners, appear as proprietors in

Thorp. In the 6th year of Bishop Pilkington, a

license was granted for Francis Constable, Esq., whose

family had acquired " Bulmer's Lands" in Thorp-

Thewles, to alienate to John Swinburne, Esq., of

2 Y
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Chopwell. William Kendall, of Thorp-Thewles, oc-

curs in 1575; and his successors continued to hold

possessions for several descents. The Claxtons,

Blakistons, and Davisons, proprietors of Wynyard and

Blakiston, also held property in this manor. In 1623,

Robert Tweddell died seised of a third of the manor of

Thorp and the water-mill ; and the property descended

in the posterity of his brother, Francis TVeddell, of

Hesledon.*

FULTHORP.

The earliest record of Fulthorp is in 1337, when
Roger of that name held half the manor by the twelfth

part of a knight's service. Sir Roger Fulthorp,

a judge of the Common Pleas and cliief justice of

the palatinate under Bishop Hatfield, was attainted,

with other "false judges," as a traitor; and his sen-

tence was commuted to banishment to Ireland.

Amongst the estates granted to his son by Richard II.

was Thorp-Thewles, probably Fulthorp, as that manor

was held by the family till a late period, though they

took up their residence at Tunstall, in the parish of

Stranton. Fulthorp became by purchase, in 1596,

the property of Thomas Blakiston, who, in 1616,

granted it to Arthur and Humphrey Robinson, who
sold it to the Davisons of Blakiston, with which latter

estate it passed to William Russell, Esq., of Brance-

peth Castle.

• Of this family, in later times seated at Threepwood and Untliank,

Northumberland, was John Tweddell, Esq., an enterprising and

accomplished scholar, who was bom at Threepwood on June 1, 1769.

His early education was entrusted to the Rev. Matthew Raine, of

Hartforth school, near Richmond ; and his proficiency at Trinity

College, Cambridge, procured him unprecedented honours. His

"Prolusiones Juveniles," published in 1793, furnish unequivocal tes-

timony to the extent and versatility of his talents, and were warmly

eulogized in a letter from Professor Heyne, of Goettingen, to Dr.

Buigess, the learned Bishop of St. David's. In 1792, Mr. Tweddell

entered himself a student of the Middle Temple ; but feeling a pre-

dilection f(ir political economy, and a wish to employ his talents in

diplomacy, he determined to travel, and employ a few years in

acquiring a knowledge of the manners and feeling of such foreign

powers as were then accessible to Englishmen. Accompanied by Mr.

Webb, a gentleman of fortune, he embarked for Hambtugh, Septem-

ber 24, 1793, whence he proceeded to Berlin and Vienna, at all which

places his talents procured him an honourable reception. His

determination to traverse Switzerland on foot frightened his com-

panion ; and he carried out his scheme alone. In this excursion, he

acquired the friendship of Lavater, the venerable Necker, and his

accomplished daughter, Madame de Stael. After spending some time

with Count Rumford, he passed into the Ukraine, and, in 1797, pro-

ceeded to Moscow, where he witnessed the coronation of the emperor,

experienced the kindness of Sir Charles (afterwards Lordj AMiitworth,

WYNYARD PARK.

Wyny.\rd P.\rk, the extensive scat of the Marchioness

of Londonderrv, is situated two miles from the village

of Thorp-l^hewles. The park contains an area of about

2,500 acres, in which are formed several artificial lakes.

The ground, commanding a distant view of the Cleve-

land hills, presents an undulating surface, pleasingly

varied with wood and water.

The enclosures, which are divided by a neat tasteful

wire fence, from 6 to 7 feet in height, are stocked with

several hundred head of deer ; and the preserves con-

tain a very large variety of game, principally pheasants.

Near to the main avenue, and on the highest point

of ground, stands an obelisk, 120 feet in height, forming

an agreeable object in the surrounding landscape ; it

was erected to commemorate a visit in 1827 from the

Duke of Wellington, the old commander and compa-

nion in arms of the late Marquis of Londonderry.f On
one of the entablatures is inscribed :

—

"WELLINGTON THE FRIEND OF LONDONDERRY."

Nearly in the centre of the home park stands the

mansion. It is delightfully situated on the margin of

a large artificial lake, which is spanned by a light and

elegant chain bridge, after the model of the Menai

bridge ; and its sloping banks are covered with a great

variety of evergreens.

The mansion, a modern building, erected by the late

and was introduced to Stanislaus, the last king of Poland. He
next visited Sweden and Finland, passed through Russia to the Crimea,

and from thence to Constantinople. Having proceeded to Greece, he

obtained the liberation of the French traveller, Fauvel, in a manner

highly honourable to his character. After visiting Plataea, Thebes,

Livadea, Charonea, Thermopylae, and La\"issa, and taking an excur-

sion to Mount Athos, he returned to Athens, where, from excessive

fatigue, he was attacked by spasms in the chest and a fever, which

terminated his life on the 2.5th July, 1799, in the arms of M. Fauvel.

His remains were deposited in the Theseura, with a beautiful Greek

inscription by the Rev. Robert AValpole, A.M., of Carrow Abbey,

near Norwich. With a handsome and well-formed person—polished,

affable, and prepossessing manners—a chastened and ingenious wit

—

and a large acquaintance with men and books, Mr. Tweddell was

universally admired in life and lamented in death. In 1815, the Rev.

Robert Tweddell published a very interesting volume, entitled,

" Remains of the late John Tweddell," with a republication of his

"Prolusiones Juveniles;" but his valuable journals, drawirigs, and

papers, which were forwarded to the British embassy at Constan-

tinople, have never been recovered.

t It is somewhat remarkable, that the last stone of the monument
had hardly been fixed in its place, and the finishing-touch given to

the work, before the melancholy tidings of the duke's death reached

the ears of the workmen, and changed, as it were, the pillar of

triumph into a cenotaph of grief.
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marquis, uuder the direction of the architect, Mr.

Wyatt, is in the Grecian style of architecture.

The principal entrance, on the north front, is heneath

a massive Corinthian portico, constructed of large

blocks of stone, and considered the finest in the north

of England. Passing through the front hall, the visitor

enters the statue gallery ; a magnificent apartment, 120

feet in length, 80 feet -ndde, and 60 feet high. This

gallery, which forms the centre of the building, is

octagonal, and is surmounted by a dome, with a lantern

of beautiful stained glass in the centre. Around the

walls are forty-eight jasper columns, having each a base

of statuary marble, black and gold marble sur-bases,

and plynths of Egyptian green. The doors from the

gallery are supported on either side by pillars of Sienna

marble. The works of art in the gallery include the

Laocoon, the Apollo Belvidere, and many others of

great beauty. To the south of the gallery, and forming

the south front of the mansion, are the reception rooms, a

magnificent suite, 300 feet in length, which, whilst

opening into each other by folding doors, afford an unin-

terrupted and magnificent vista terminated by the con-

servatory. In this suite of rooms are the biiliard-room,

the library, **the vestibule (which contains some fine

Canalletti's and other paintings), the drawing-room (the

walls of which are panelled with large mirrors, and the

ceiling elaborately gilt), and the great ball-room, which

adjoins the conservatory.

The conservatory is stocked with numerous orange

and lemon trees, and a great variety of choice exotics,

and rare and costly flowers. The building is 27 feet

high, 77 feet in length, and about 60 feet in width.

On the north side of the mansion are the breakfast-

room and the great dining-room ; the latter contains

portraits, chiefly by Sir Thomas Lawrence, of several

members of the family ; among others is that of the

late marquis on horseback, in the uniform of the 10th

Hussars, as in his celebrated charge at Benevento, in

which he overthrew a very superior force of the enemy's

cavalry. There is also a portrait of the Marchioness of

Londonderry, leading by the hand Lord Seaham when
a boy ; one of Sir Henry Vane Tempest, her ladyship's

father ; also one of the late Lord Castlereagh in his

coronation robes. The dining-room is 60 feet long by
30 feet in width.

Within the mansion, at the north-west angle, is the

chapel, which is fitted up with rich and solid Spanish

mahogany, of a beautiful grain, and of chaste and

neat design. Around the walls are Corinthian columns

of white marble. The stained glass windows were

executed by Mr. Wailes, of Newcastle. The ceiling,

with its deep cornices, are massively gilt.

The chapel, as well as the statue gallery, and the

north entrance hall, are flagged with polished marble.

The floors of the reception rooms are of polished oak,

inlaid with satin-wood and rosewood borders. The
doors are of the finest Spanish mahogany, and the

furniture and ceilings of the principal rooms are

elaborately gilt.

Adjoining the mansion to the north-west, the memo-
rial room, a spacious apartment, is in course of erection,

wherein will be deposited the papers and writings of

the late marquis, together with his various orders, and
the numerous objects of interest which he had acquired

during his eventful career. The apartment is 40 feet

9 inches in length, 26 feet wide, and 21 feet high.

Twenty marble pilasters of the Corinthian order extend

from the floor to the ceiling. Niches, with plate glass

doors, are placed between the pilasters for the reception

of the trophies, &c., belonging to the late marquis.

Above the niches are panels in the wall, intended to

contain groups of figures in bas-relief; the interior

walls are plastered with Parian cement, and the cornice,

beams, and ceiling painted and richly gilded. The
work is executed by Messrs. W. and C. Burnup, of

Newcastle, from designs by the Hon. Thomas Liddell,

of Ravensworth Castle, whose taste and ability in

decorative art are justly admired.

From the mansion, a broad terraced walk conducts to

the gardens, which cover many acres of ground. The
front or flower garden is flanked in its whole length

with an extensive range of glass houses, containing

pines, grapes, figs, peaches, and many other fruits, and
rare and curious exotics and flowers.

A broad gravel walk or drive, arched over with

trellised wire, and clustered with roses, jessamines, and
other flowers, leads from the gardens to the orchard,

and to the dairy—a pretty rustic building.

To the south of the gardens, and sloping down
towards the lake, are the extensive pleasure-grounds,

which are intersected with numerous gravel drives, and
contain an aviary and a pretty Grecian temple. The
park also contains grass rides several miles in extent.

The soil, which is a strong loam, has lately been
completely drained, and by a judicious following up
with artificial and other manures, is improvino- greatly

both in quality and appearance.

The site of the mansion of \Vynyard was formerly

occupied by a hall of the same name, the residence of
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the late Sir Henry Vane Tempest, father of the present

Marchioness of Londonderry, and which had long been

the seat ofthat distinguished family. Soon after the noble

marquis became united to the family, the former hall

was razed to the ground, and a magnificent mansion

erected on the same site, from a beautiful Grecian de-

sign by P. W. Wyatt, Esq. The building was

commenced in 1822, and when nearly completed, from

some accidental cause, the magnificent edifice was

almost entirely burnt to the ground, on the night of the

19th Feb., 1841.* The damage from this calamity was

estimated at about £150,000. The building of the

present mansion was soon afterwards commenced; the

style and arrangements adopted being the same as those

of the building wliich had been so unfortunately

destroyed

Sir Hugh Capel, Knt., held Wynyard in the reign of

King Edward I. He had five daughters and co-

heiresses ; viz., Cicely, married to Richard Daldene

;

Laderancia, married to Peter Wykes ; Orfranca,

Elizabeth, and Amyce. After his decease, Joan, his

widow, married John, the son of Peter Deuthorp, who
had the wardship of two of the daughters, and procured

to himself divers lands in the manor of Wynyard,
which he gave to Sir Henry Lisle, Knt., by deed dated

1283. Peter Wykes, above-named, sold his wife's part

* An immense quantity of T.oluable furniture was destroyed by the

fire, and several exquisite works of art, amongst which were portraits

of Queen Anne, George III., and Queen Charlotte, and, with only

one or two exceptions, the whole of the Tempest family pictures. In

the conservatory a number of large camelias, and twenty-five large

orange trees in full growth, formerly the property of the Empress

Josephine, together with a number of other rare and choice exotics,

perished. Tlie plate, books, and a number of valuable pictures were

saved; and two fixed superb mantle-pieces, valued at £1,000 each,

received but little injury. The fire appears to have first broke

out in the chapel; the flames were observed at about 11 o'clock at

night, and continued their progress until 7 o'clock next morning. An
inscription on a brass plate inserted in the base of one of the columns

at the front entrance, which is still retained, gives the date of com-

mencing the building and other particulars, as follows:—"This

mansion was erected by Charles William Vane, third Marquis of

Londonderry, and the first Earl Vane of the United Kingdom of

Great Britain and Ireland, G.C.B., G.C.H., K.S.G., &c., &c. ; and by

Anne Frances Vane, Marchioness of Londonderry and Countess

Vane, who was sole heiress to all the collieries in the county of

Durham belonging to the Vane and Tempest families, inheriting the

same from her father. Sir Henry Vane Tempest, Bart., who married

Anne, Countess of Antrim. The building was conmienced in Decern-

ber. Anno Domini, 1822. The whole of the stone of this fabric was

brought 26 miles from the quarry on the family estate at Penshaw

colliery. PhUip W. Wyatt, Esq., architect."

An inscription on another brass plate nearly adjoining the above,

records the date of the fire, the re-building of the mansion, &c.

of the manor to Sir John Lisle, Knt., who gave the

same to Allan Langton and Catherine his wife, daugh-

ter of Sir John. In 1316, Roger Fiilthorp and Alice

his wife gave to Alan, son of Henry Langton, and

Margaret his wife, the fourth part of the manor of

Wynyard which they liad of Philip de Cullj'e. Henry

and William Langton, July 18, 1344, obtained a grant

of free-warren in their manors of Wynyard and Red-

marshall. Simon Langton, fifth son of Henry, and

heir to his brothers, married Avice, daughter of John

Carrow, of Seaton-Carrow, and coheiress of her nephew.

Thomas Langton, their son, was chamberlain and chief

officer with Henry Percy, Earl of Northumberland and

Lord of Cockermouth, 1417, " and he did augment the

manor-house of Wynyard, with new edifices and build-

ings, as appereth by indentures made betwixt him and

the artificers, dated in Anno 2^° of King Henry the

Fifth." See the notice of the monument of this Thomas

Langton and Sibill his wife at Redmarshall, p. 230.

On his death, his estates passed to his niece, Sibill,

who married Sir Roger Couyers, Knt., and whose

granddaughter, Sibilla, married Ralph Claxton, in her

right of Wynyard. William Claxton, Esq., their

grandson, born about 1525, was a skilful herald and

antiquary, and author of various collections relative to

Durham. t Wynyard is described, not long after his

decease, in 1600, as " so fruitfuU of soyle, and pleasant

t William Claxton.—The literary, geneological, and topogra-

phical treasures collected by this venerable gentleman, who seems

to have had some design of illustrating the antiquities of his native

county, were liberally supplied to his friend Stowe, as well as to

Camden, with whom he corresponded. In 1575, he hospitably enter-

tained the Herald Glover, during the Visitation (see vol. i., p. 172)

;

and his pedigree is the fullest in the collection. In a letter to Stowe,

written in 1582, Mr. Claxton requests the return "of that symple

peece of worke whych you have ofmyne concerning the Busshoprick,"

and adds that he has " so delt in his behalfe" that he has procured

such " worthy and auncient recordes and monuments as are much fit-

ter for his purpose." " A trew and perfect note of Busshop Pilkyng-

ton" is promised in another of his letters. In 1584, he writes to Master

Stowe, from Winyerd, asfoUows:

—

" JEsrs.—Good Master Stowe : I receyved your courtouse letter by

Roberte Layton the caryer, by which I understand y' yow have

receyved my booke, letter, and tokin, accordyng to my directyons.

I am glad to hear of y' good proceading in those two notable workes

yow have in hand, and I wysh my abylytie were of credytt to doe yow
any good therein. You know my mynd towards yow. I hope it

needs no further explanation. I am allways bould to mayke yow
partaker of such antyquities imd notes as I have any way compast in

my opynyon to doe you good, which you may perceyve by thes notes

under-written, leaving them, being but rude, and of my nowne inqui-

sition, to y r better consyderation, and more learned dysposition thereof.

I pray you, good Mr. Stowe, to see the great boke I sent you by Lay-

ton safely packed ;" and, after some further expressions of kinilness,

concludes, " I have also sent you an Inglish crowne by Robert Lay-
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of situation, soe beautified and adorned with woods and

groves, as noe landes in that parte of the countrie be

comparable to them." His estates passed to his

daughters, Alice and Anne, wives of Sir William Bla-

kiston and William Jennison, Esq., and his grand-

daughter, Cassandra Lambert, afterwards wife of

Francis Morley, Esq.

By successive purchases, the estate became united in

the Davisons, of Blakiston. Ralph Davison, Esq., of

Wynyard, compounded for his estate for £400; and

Samuel Davison, Esq., of the same place, compounded

for £320. Wynyard afterwards passed to Alexander,

brother of John Davison, Esq., of Blakiston; and his

son sold it to Thomas Rudd, Esq., counseller-at-law,

Durham, from whom it was purchased by John Tem-

pest, Esq., of Old Durham and Sherburn, descended

from the Tempests of Holmside and of the Isle. He
represented the city of Durham in 1742 and the three

succeeding parliaments; he died in May, 1766. John

Tempest, Esq., his son, was elected M.P. for the city

in 1768, 1774, 1780, 1784, and 1790. On the death of

his only son, John-Wharton Tempest, he devised to his

nephew, Sir Henry Vane,* Bart., and died August 12,

1794. (Se? p. 217.)

Sir Henry Vane Tempest died August 1, 1813 ;

and on the 17th, a motion was made in the Court of

Chancery, ex parte his daughter. Lady Vane Tempest,

born January 16, 1800, that a manager might be

appointed to superintend the collieries belonging to

her ; on which the Lord Chancellor observed that he

was well acquainted with the collieries in question, and

was thoroughly convinced that to interpose a single

week's delay in carrying them on might cause their

ton, for a remembrance, wishing vow to assure yourself so long as I

lyvc vow shall not want a friend."

Mr. Claxton thus spent a long, virtuous, and probably happy life in

the acquisition of his valued treasures, and in corresponding with the

most learned antiquaries of the time. He was, besides, a commissioner

of array, and an active and loyal magistrate. "It is pleasing," as

remarked by a kindred spirit, " to ob.^erve that his antiquarian pursuits,

and his attention to letters, at a period when some gentlemen were

unable, and others were ashamed, to write their own names, did not

render him less attentive to the proper dnties of his station."

• "llus benevolent gentleman," says Longstaffe, "had for up-

wards of forty years employed William Garthwaite, of Wolviston, as

carpenter at the hall, and afterwards as porter at the lodge. Two or

three days before he died, he asked the old man if he could do any

thing to make him more comfortable ; but he expressed himself to be

<|uite content as he was. The squire died ; Madame Tempest, his

widow, requested nothing except the miniatures of her husband and
son, and left Wynyard for Little (irove near London. Henry Vane, of

Long-Newton, was the heir to his uncle ; but his long absence on the

continent, his precarious health, and the total want of intelligence,

rendered his existence e-xtremcly doubtful. One day, his valet acci-

ruln. He therefore granted the order : and Arthur

Mowbray, Esq., became manager and receiver of the

proceeds from the collieries. That gentleman after-

wards became bankrupt ; and the Court of Chancery

made an order that all unsatisfied claims should be

proved before the master on or before July 30, 1816.

Lady Frances-Anne-Emily Vane Tempest was mar-

ried, April 3, 1819, by special license, to Charles-

William Stewart, Baron Stewart, of Mount Stewart

and of Ballilawn, Donegal, Ireland. The immense

possessions to which the lady was heiress, together with

the fact of her being a ward in Chancery, attracted, at

the time, a considerable degree of public interest,

which had been enhanced by a judgment pronounced

by the Lord Chancellor, in the case " Taylor v. the

Countess of Antrim," wherein his lordship stated his

opinion, " that considering the imprudent line of con-

duct adopted by Lady Antrim, her ladyship should be

interdicted in any further communication with her

daughter, pending the inquiry into the case." He
also observed that whether the match between Lord

Stewart and Lady Tempest might be considered by the

court hereafter to be eligible need not be considered

now. To express his own opinion honestly, he did

not see that it would be a match so ineligible ; and he

had not discovered any proof of an alleged collusion on

the part oi Lord Stewart.

By royal license, dated May 6, 1819, Lord Stewart

and his wife were authorised to take and use the sur-

name of Vane only, and to subscribe the same before

all titles of honour.

The family of his lordship claims a common ancestor

with the Earls of Galloway, viz.. Sir William Stewart,

dentally took up an English newspaper, and saw an advertisement

requesting the immediate return of his master ; and they both arrived

at Wynyard with all possible expedition. At the entrance to the

grounds, they reined in their horses, and were gently riding through,

when, to their infinite surprise, a loud voice exclaimed ' Come back !'

On looking round, a tall elderly man approached from the lodge

demanding where Harry had got authority to ride through without

his leave ; a smile pervaded the baronet's features, which exasperated

the old porter stiU more, and he fiercely cried, 'ITiou's somebody's

diity lick-plate, or thou never would come here in such an impudent

mimner !' After amusing himself a little longer, the lick-plate threw

off his disguise, and told the porter plainly who he was, for the porter

had completely forgotten the young heir's features. The astonish-^

ment was now on the other side ; but Sir Harry Vane Tempest (to give

him his latter title) told him good-naturedly to get his luit and stick

andjaccompany him to the hall, talking over the events of his absence

on the way. A visit to the lodge, to present the faithful creature

with a guinea for a new wig, soon followed ; and in his infirmity he

was pensioned with his son and daughter at Darlington, and even-

tually was placed, through Sir Harry's influence, at Kirkleatham

Hospital, where he died in 1818, aged 88."
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of Garlics, from whose second son, Sir Thomas

Stewart, of Minto, descended John Stewart, Esq., of

Baililawn Castle (the first of the family that settled in

Ireland), who received a grant of land from James I.,

in the county of Donegal, and was succeeded at his de-

cease by his eldest son, Charles Stewart, Esq., whose

great-grandson, Alexander Stewart, Esq., of Mount
Stewart, county Down, M.P. for the city of London-

derry, married, June 30, 1737, Mary, only surviving

daughter of Alderman John Cowan, of Londonderry

(by his aunt, Anne Stewart), and sister and heiress of

Sir Robert Cowan, Knt., governor of Bombay. He
was succeeded at his decease, in 1781, by his eldest son,

The Right Hon. Robert Stewart, of Baililawn

Castle, county Donegal, and of Moxmt Stewart, county

Down, M.P. for the latter county, who was elevated to

the peerage of Ireland, November 18, 1789, as Baron

Stewart. His lordship was created Viscount Castle-

reagh, October 6, 1795 ; Earl of Londonderry, August

10, 1796; and Marquis of Londonderry, January 22,

1816. He married, first, in 1766, Sarah-Frances,

second daughter of Francis, Marquis of Hertford, by

whom he had Robert, Viscount Castlereagh, his suc-

cessor ; and secondly, in 1775, Frances, eldest daughter

of Charles (Pratt), first Earl Camden, by whom (who

died January 18, 1833) he had (with other issue,

deceased) Charles-William and seven daughters.* He
died April 8, 1821, and was succeeded by the son of

the first marriage.

Robert, second marquis, born July 18, 1769, filled

several high ministerial offices as Viscount Castlereagh.

His lordship married, in 1794, Emily-Anne, youngest

daughter and co-heiress of John (Hobart), second Earl

of Buckinghamshire, but had no issue. The marquis

died at his seat at North Cray, Kent, August 12, 1822

(at which period he was secretary of state for foreign

aff"airs), and was succeeded by his half-brother. Lord

Stewart.

Charles-^Villiam Vane Stewart, Marquis of Lon-

donderry, K.G., Earl of Londonderry, Viscount

Castlereagh, and Baron Stewart, in the peerage of

Ireland ; Earl Vane, Viscount Seaham, of Seaham,

county Durham, and Baron Stewart, of Stewart's

Court, in the peerage of the United Kingdom, was

* I. Frances- Anne, married, in 1799, to Lord Charles Fitzroy, and

died in 1810. 2. Caroline, married to Thomas Wood, Esq., of Gwer-

nevet, county Brecon, M.P. and colonel of the East Middlesex

militia. 3. Georgiana, married to George Canning, Esq., afterwards

Lord Garvagh, and died in 1804. 4. Selina, married, in 1814, to

David Kerr, Esq., of Portavo, coimty Do\vn. 5. Matilda, married,

born May 18, 1778 ; elevated to the peerage as Baron

Stewart, July 1, 1814; succeeded to the Irish honours,

as third marquis, on the decease of his brother,

August 12, 1822; and was created. May 28, 1833,

Viscount Seaham and Earl Vane, with remainder to

his lordship's male issue by his second marriage. The
marquis married, first, August 5, 1804, Catherine,

youngest daughter of John, third Earl of Darnley, and

by her ladyship (who died in 1812) had a son,

Frederick-William-Robert, Viscount Castlereagh, lord-

lieutenant of the county of Down, M.P., and now
Marquis of Londonderry ; born July 7, 1805 ; married,

April 30, 1846, Viscountess Powerscourt, relict of

Richard, sixth Wscount, and daughter of the Earl of

Roden.

The second wife of Lord Stewart, as has been seen,

was the Lady Frances-Anne-Emily Vane Tempest.

The responsibilities devolved upon his lordship by the

management of the property of his bride, consisting of

extensive estates and some of the most important coal

mines in the county of Durham, opened a new field for

the exercise of energies which the cessation of war had

thrown into temporary inaction. His lordship applied

himself with a vigorous activity, which formed one of

his characteristics, to the development of the vast

resources of the estates ; and in this sphere of exertion

exhibited a degree of enterprise and sound judgment,

the fruits of which will be permanently enjoyed by his

successors. Among the great works of improvement

which Lord Londonderry planned and carried out to

completion, was the construction of Seaham Harbour,

an undertaking almost unprecedented as an instance of

private enterprise, and justly accounted at the time

amongst the wonders of engineering achievements.

(See Seaham Harbour.)

His lordship became lord-lieutenant of the county of

Durham in 1842, on the death of the Duke of Cleve-

land. He was also custos rotulorum of the counties

Londonderry and Down, in Ireland.

An act was procured, August 31, 1848, to amend a

settlement made by the Most Hon. the Marquis and

Marchioness of Londonderry, and the Hon. Viscount

Seaham, and for other purposes therein mentioned.

On the death of this distinguished and gallant noble-

in 1815, to Edward-Michael Ward, Esq., who is deceased ; she died

in 1S42. 6. Emily-Jane, married, first, in 1814, to John James, Esq.,

w^ho died in 1818: and secondly, in 1821, to Viscount Hardinge,

G.C.B., general commanding-in-chief. 7. Octa\-ia, married, in

1813, to Edward, second Lord EUenborough, and died in 1819.
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man, his will was proved at Doctors' Commons. It

consists of a few lines, giving all his estates, real and

personal, to his marchioness, absolutely and at her

entire disposal, appointing her also sole executrix. The

will bears an unattested endorsement in his lordship's

own hand-writing, recapitulating its contents in terms

of most affectionate endearment. The personal estate

in the province of Canterbury was sworn under

£45,000, which, when added to that within the pro-

vince of York, which is under £250,000, and in

Ireland under £40,000, makes an aggregate of

• The Makqui3 op Londonderry.—This nobleman was bom
May 18, 1778, in Mary Street, Dublin. At the age oi fourteen, he

received a commission as ensign in the 108th foot, was appointed to a

company in 1794, and joined the expedition under the Earl of Moira.

Captain Stewart was appointed assistant quartermaster-general to

that division of the forces which landed at Isle Dieu, under General

Doyle i and after the return of the British army, he was attached to

Colonel Charles Crawford's mission to the Austrian armies in

1795-6-7. At the battle of Donauwert he was wounded by a musket

ball. On his return home, he was appointed aid-de-camp to his uncle,

Earl Camden, then lord-lieutenant of Ireland ; and, during the Irish

rebellion, Lieutenant-colonel Stewart served with the 5th dragoons.

He was afterwards appointed to the lieutenant-colonelcy of the 18th

light dragoons.

In 1799, he accompanied Sir Ralph Abercrombie's expedition to

Holland, During this campaign he was again wounded ; a ball

struck the glass he was looking through, which it broke ; but the

tube turned the force of the ball, or the accident might otherwise

have proved fatal. On the 2oth September, 1803, he was appointed

aid-de-camp to his Majesty, \vith the rank of colonel ; and soon after-

wards he occupied for a lime the situation of Under Secretary of

State in the war department. From this appointment he retired to

assume the command of a brigade of hussars, under Sir John Moore,

in Portugal, where he was to act with the rank of brigadier-general.

On the advance of the army into Spain, he covered the march of Sir

John Hope's division ; and he was in the cavalry actions of Sahagun

and Benevente during the retreat of Sir John Moore's army. His

conduct was freciuently the subject of praise by Sir John Moore ; and

on one occasion that general remarked—"Our cavalry is very superior

in quality to any the French have ; and the right spirit has been

infused into them by the example and instruction of their two leaders.

Lord Paget and Brigadier-general Stewart.''

On arriving at Corunna, January 13, 1809, Sir John Moore deter-

mined to send home Brigadier-general Stewart, in order to report

upon the progress of events. Sir John remarks, " that Brigadier-

general Stewart is a man in whose honour I have the most perfect

reliance ; he is incapable of stating any thing but the truth." At the

same time. General Stewart had been seized with a severe ophthalmia,

which made it impossible at the time for him to serve. Not many
months elapsed, however, before he returned to the Peninsula as

adjutant-general to the army under Sir Arthur WeUesley, a post

which he continued to hold until May, 1813. During the pursuit of

Marshal Soult's army across the Douro, he led two squadrons of the

16th and 20th dragoons, whi(h charged the enemy most gallantly;

and on many other occasions his name was honourably mentioned,

particularly in the affair at El Uodon. For these services, and for

his exertions at Talavera, he received the thanks of the House of

Commons, February 5, 1810.

It was not, however, o.-Jy on the field of battle, where he ever

personal property left by the deceased amounting to

£335,000, exclusive of all the vast settled estates and

collieries of the Vane and Londonderry families in

England and Ireland, in the former of which he is

succeeded by Lady Londonderry, and in the latter by

the present marquis.

The Marquis of Londonderry* has left issue by his

second wife

—

1. George-Henry -Robert-Charles, born at Vienna,

April 26, 1821 ; there baptized at the hotel of the

British Embassy, 4th June following, and afterwards

displayed the qualities of a fearless and accomplished soldier, that

the Marquis of Londonderry earned honourable distinction. He was

from time to time engaged in important missions to the camps of our

allies. One instance may be recorded in which his personal courage

and resolution rendered essential service to the common cause. He
was specially charged with the supervision ofBernadotte, the Swedish

king, who had armed his troops by help of subsidies from England,

and was at the time wavering in his allegiance. No intercession less

energetic than that of Sir Charles Stewart would have been effective

to retain him in the path of duty. The secret history of the time

exists to show what kind of remonstrances the English envoy found

it necessary to employ at so critical a moment as that which pre-

ceded the great battle of Leipsic.

During the whole of his active services on the continent, he was a

member of the House of Commons, to which he was returned for the

county of Londonderry in the first parliament after the union, in 1801

.

Sir Charles Stewart was appointed envoy extraordinary and minis-

ter plenipotentiary to the court of Berlin, April 7, 1813; and in

November of the same year, he was removed from the lieutenant-

colonelcy of the Enniskillen dragoons, which he had held from 1799,

to the command of the 25th light dragoons. He had become a major-

general July 25, 1810, and was promoted to lieutenant-general

June 4, 1814. In the latter year, he was appointed ambassador to

Austria ; and, together with his brother Lord Castlereagh, the Earl

of Clancarty, and Earl Cathcart, he was constituted one of the

plenipotentiaries on the part of Great Britain to the congress of

Vienna ; the Duke of Wellington being subsequently added as first

plenipotentiary on the 18th January, 1815.

Lord Stewart was nominated to the command of the 10th hussars,

February 3, 1820. When holding that appointment, he fought a duel

with Mr. Battier, a cornet in the regiment; and in 1840, in conse-

quence of a speech which he had made in the House of Lords, he was

challenged by Mr. Henry Grattan, M.P. for Meath county, and again

obeyed the call of honour.

On the 12th Aug., 1822, on the melancholy death of his half-brother

Robert, the second Marquis of Londonderry, then premier. Lord

Stewart succeeded to the dignities conferred on their father in the

peerage of Ireland.

In 1837, he attained the rank of general in the army ; and in June,

1843, on the death of Earl Cathcart, he was removed to the command
of the 2nd Life Guards.

The noble marquis died at Iloldernesse House, Park Lane, on the

1st March, 1854, aged 76. His remains were interred at Long-Newton,

the ceremonies attending which have already been given—see p. 217.

As a soldier. Lord Londonderry is admitted to have been as fearless

as ever drew sword, and as undaunted in battle. In politics, his

lordship was always attached to the Tory party. He had formed

relations of intimacy with the present Emperor of the Frencli when

an exile in this cjuntrj-, and utfectuuUy exerted himself to mitigate
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created Viscount Seaham; elected M.P. for the

Northern Division of the county of Durham in 1847

and 1852; and succeeded his father as Earl Vane. He
married, August 3, 1846, Mary-Cornelia, only daughter

and heiress of the late Sir J. Edwards, Bart., and has

issue a son, born July 17, 1852, and a daughter named
Erances-Cornelia-Harriet-Emily.

2. Adolphus-Frederick-Charles-William,born July 2,

1825; elected M.P. for the city of Durham in 1852,

but which election was declared void ; succeeded his

brother. Viscount Seaham, in the representation of the

Northern Division of the county of Durham, which he

resigned in 1854, on joining his regiment, the 3rd

or fusilier guards, which was at the seat of war in the

Crimea.

3. Ernest M'Donnell, born February 29, 1836.

4. Frances-Anne-Emily, born April 15, 1822 ; mar-

ried, July 12, 1843, to the Marquis of Blandford,

eldest son of the Duke of Marlborough.

5. Alexandrina-Octavia-Maria, married September 2,

1847, to the Earl of Portarlington.

6. Adelaide-Emihna-Caroline, married February 11,

the rigours of Louis Napoleon's imprisoument in the fortress of Ham.
In return, he solicited and obtained, from Louis Napoleon, the

release of Abd-el-Kader, when the following correspondence took

place between the marquis and the oriental chief:

—

" Thanks to the only true God.

"His Excellency, Lord Marquis of Londonderry, the Irish general

—peace be with you ! Know that the commandant, Boissonet, has

communicated to me your letter. You are, indeed, a man of a good

heart, and it was you who kindly visited me at Amboise, and it is

quite one of the impossibilities tliat we should forget your visit and

j'our bounty. For a sheriff [meaning a noble] is one who ' never

forgets the good done, and does not recollect the evil.'

" The Emperor Xapoleon has set me free : may God prolong his

life in the empire and increase him in victory. I shall remain obliged

to him to the end of my life, and my children after me will inherit

my gratitude to him.

"I cannot visit you in your coimtry, because my departure is at

hand ; and my mother is old and infirm, and I cannot leave her.

" May God increase your good, and be gracious to you : and peace

be with you.

" This is from your friend, Abd-el-Kader, Mohammed il Been.

" Dated the 8th, last day of Safer."

The Emir, on his arrival at Broussa, again addressed the marquis

thus :

—

" Thanks be to the only God ! and to his lordship, the magnificent,

the very distinguished, the man of heart, the key of happy releases,

before whom misfortune vanishes. Monsieur the General Vane Lon-

donderry. Health to you and to your spouse—one not less amiable

than illustrious. We have arrived at Broussa, in health and

happiness. It is impossible we can ever forget you ; and your friend-

ship is so much the more precious to us in proportion as you are a

man of honour, doing good to all men : because, likewise, you have

loved us and have treated us with compassion ; and, thirdly, because

you are allied by an ancient friendship to our well-beloved and our

benefactor, his Majesty the Emperor Xapoleon III. We thank you

1852, to Frederick-Henry Law, A.B., of Corpus

Chri&ti College, Cambridge.

Arms.—Quarterly: 1st and 4th, az., three sinister gauntlets, or

;

in chief, a trefoil, slipped, of the last, for Vame : 2nd and 3rd, or, a

band, compony, arg. and az., between two Uons, rampant, gu., for

Stewart.

Crests.—Of Vase : a dexter gauntlet, erect, holding a sword, ppr.,

pommel and hilt, or. Of Stewart : a dragon, statant, or.

Supporters of the Family—Dexter, a Moor, wreathed about the

temples, arg. and az., holding in his exterior hand a shield, of the

last, garnished, or, charged with the sun in splendour, gold ; sinister,

a lion.

Supporters borne by the late ilarqiiis— Two hussars of the 10th

regiment ; the dexter mounted upon a grey horse, and the sinister

upon a bay horse, with their swords drawn, and accoutred, all ppr.

Motto.—Metuenda coroUa draeonis. (The dragon's crest is to be

feared.)

Seats—Mount Stewart, Downshire; Garron Tower, Glenam,

coimty Antrim ; Wynyard House and Seaham Hall, Durham.

WHITTON.

This township occupies the southern portion of the

parish, comprising an area of 742 acres, divided into

five farms. The hamlet, containing a public house, is 5

always. Receive the sincere expression of our acknowledgments.

May we not be lost to your recollection ! Wirte to us. The
greeting of ABD-EL-K.iDER, Ben-Mahhi-Eddis.

" 29th February, 1853."

To the above. Lord Londonderry replied as follows :

—

" Most illustrious, heroic, and noble chieftain,—It is impossible for

me to express the sentiments which I experience in receiving from

you a testimony of a friendship so flattering, and of an acknowledg-

ment so honourable to me, such as your autographic letter announces.

I am rejoiced that your health is good, and that you are now happy

after so many sufferings and misfortunes occasioned by injustice.

And if I have by my efforts in the slightest degree contributed

towards your restoration to liberty, I exult in my good fortune. My
wife is sensible of your kind remembrance, and we recall with lively

interest your cordial reception of us in the Chateau d'Amboise. It

will not be easily obliterated from our remembrance. You call me
' a man of heart,' I am proud of that title. You call me ' a man of

honour,' and add that you set value on my friendship. These

words and this character, pronounced by the Emir Abd-el-Kader,

will spread throughout my own country, throughout France, and

throughout Europe, and will constitute my passport as having

served the cause at once of justice and humanity. And they will

never be consigned to indifference, or to oblivion. If, unha]>pily,

we should but seldom meet in this world, at least this ' man of heart

;
and of honour' will always remain devoted to the good cause, and to

the Emir Abd-el-Kader. Vane Londonderet,
" General in her Britannic Majesty's Army."

The Marquis of Londonderry occasionally appeared as an author.

He published, in 1805, " Suggestions for the Improvement of the

Force of the British Empire;" and, in 1828, "A Narrative of the

Peninsular War, 1808-13," in which he was understood to have had

the assistance of the Rev. Mr. Gleig, afterwards chaplain to the

forces. More recently he gave to the world, the important cor-

respondence of his brother, Robert Marquis of Londonderry, K.G.
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miles north- west-by- west from Stockton. The popula-

tion of the township, which has 11 inhabited houses and

a large flour-mill, was stated at the periods of return, at

38, 45, 59, 75, 52, and 50, 23 of whom were males and

27 females. The annual value of property assessed to

the county-rate, in 1853, was £886.

The Clarence railway extends along IJ miles, and

covers 12 acres in this township, towards the local rates

of which it contributed £10 in 1851, and £7 10s. in

1852 ; the gross amounts collected in those years being

£44 6s. and £33 4s. 6d.

From an early period, lands in Whitton have be-

longed to Sherburn Hospital. The Chipchases, Wat-

sons, and Shawes appear as freeholders at various pe-

riods. The Davisons of Durham have more recently

held lands. Whitton House is the property and resi-

dence of the Hutchinsons.

This family is supposed to derive from Uitonensis,

who came over from Castle Cronenburg with Harold

Harfager, and settled at or near Bishop-Middleham, then

a fortified place. Thomas Hutchinson, grandson of

Richard, fourth son of Thomas Hutchinson of Corn-

forth,* baptized April 20, 1G61, purchased the estate of

Whitton. He married, June 18, 1705, Sarah, daughter

and co-heiress of Henry Law, Esq., of Dillingham, and

was succeeded by his son, Henry Hutchinson, Esq., of

Whitton and Bishopton, born in 1706, who married, in

1728, Mary, daughter of George Scurfield, Esq., of

Crimdon House, and had issue, George, his heir

;

Thomas, of Bishopton ; Henry, of Stockton and Kirk-

* Robert, eldest son, bom October 20, 1579, married, January 3,

1606, Agnes Morland, and had (with a yourger son, Peter, who mar-

ried, in 16.53, Mary Johnson Kells) a son and successor, John Hutchin-

son, of Middleham, born in 1612, who married, September 11, 1638,

Elizabeth, daughter of the Rev. Thomas Bedford, A.B. and had a son,

Thomas Hutchinson, who married, April 1.5, 1673, Elizabeth Lynn,

and was succeeded by his son, Thomas Hutchinson, of Cornforth, born

in 1674, who married Ann Haswell, and had issue, I, Elizabeth, born

ia 1699, married, in 1719, to Bryan Roper, Esq., of Trimdon, and had

VOL. II.

leavington ; and John, of Penrith, whose grandson

assumed the name of Sutton (see Elton, p. 214), and

whose eldest daughter, Mary, became the wife of

William Wordsworth, the poet.

George Hutchinson, Esq., of AVhitton and Stockton,

banker, married Catherine, daughter of Francis Forster,

Esq., of Burton, by Frances, his wife, daughter of

Charles Bathurst, Esq., of Skatterskelf, M.P. for Rich-

mond, and grand-daughter of Joseph Forster, Esq., of

Burden, fourth in descent from Florence Forster, a

younger son of the Edderstone family, and had issue

George, his heir ; Henry, born May 13, 1778 ; and

Frances-Mary, married, July 15, 1800, to Charles Swain,

Esq., son of Samuel Swain, of Sewardstone, Essex.

Mr. Hutchinson died February 24, 1804, aged 74.

George Hutchinson, Esq., of ^Vliitton House, son of

the above, was born Sei^teraber 20, 1768 ; married. May
16, 1793, Charlotte Barbara, daughter and coheiress of

Thomas Dawson, Esq.,of Tanficld,andhasissueGeorge-

Thomas, born March 15, 1794; married in 1826,, Eliza-

beth, only daughter of Captain John Mercer, of the

East India service ; Charles-Francis, born July 22,

1796 ; Charlotte, died young ; and Catherine-Mary,

married to Jose-Luis Fernandes, grandson and repre-

sentative of the late Marquis of Tavora. Mr Hutchin-

son is a deputy lieutenant for the palatinate.

Arms—Per pale, gu. and az. semee of cross-crosslets, and a lion

rampant, or.

Crest—out of a ducal coronet, a cockatrice, az.

Motto—Nihil humani alienum.

Seat—^Vhitton House, Durham.

a son, Robert Roper, LL.D., chancellor of the diocese of York, who
married, in 1754, Lady Harriet Hay, daughter of George, 7 th Earl of

Kinnoul, but died without issue ; 2, Thomas, born in 1702, married, in

1727, Jane Surtees ; 3, William, born in 1706, married, in 1728, Han-
nah Doubleday, of Butterby, and dying in 1777, left a son, \Vm. Hut-
chinson, the historian ofDurham (see vol. i., p. 10), born Dec. 31, 1732

;

married, Sept. 3C, 1758, Miss Elizabeth Marshall, descended from Sir

Thomas de Ogle ; and dying April 7, 1814, left issue Robert Marshall,

born 1764, Elizabeth, Winifred, Hannah, Frances, and Mary.

2 z
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PARISH OF STAINTON-LE-STEEET.

IHE parish of Stainton-le-Street is bounded by Haughton-le-Skerne and Bishopton on the south, by the latter

parish and Rcdmarshall on the east, by Sedgefield on the north, and by Ayclifte on the west. It is divided into

the townsliips of Great Stainton and Elstob.

GREAT STAINTON.

The area of this township is 1,214, acres, divided into

four farms.* The population, according to the succes-

sive returns, was 10-i, 107, 126, 154, 105, and 117; of

whom 64 were males and 53 females, inhabiting 24

houses. The annual value of property assessed to the

county-rates, in 185-3, was £972 3s.

The village of Great Stainton, now a mere hamlet, is

pleasantly situated in a fine country, sloping to the

south about 5 miles south-by-west from Sedgefield. It

derives its addition (le-Street) from its position on the

Roman road from Pounteys Bridge to Old Durham;

and its prefix seems to imply its comparative extent

with other places of the same name. There are several

traces of foundations in the adjacent fields ; and a place

still called Cross Hill, a little to the north-east, has

been supposed, though without any evidence, to have

been the site of a cross. The village contains a public

house, and a few rural tradesmen. Stainton Grange,

to the south-west, has long been unocupied and fallen

to decay.

Thomas de la Haye held lands and a messuage in

* The following superstition is still prevalent amongst the people

of this district :—" D;ulington market has been unlucky to the

farmers of Hawsley (near Great Stainton). One of them (named

Boazman) had promised the daughter of Sarah Close, of Ayclifie,

marriage ; but, like many other people, failed to perform his intentions.

The old lady (who had a suspected cat, and in passing whose door,

school-lads, some sixty years ago, always ejaculated, ' Four fingers

AND A THUMB, WITCH ! I DEFY THEE ! I' accompanying the conjuration

by the action of placing the thumb on the middle of the palm, and

the four fingers upon it) had her revenge. The faithless swain soon

began to lose all his flocks and herds, either by murrain or witchcraft

;

their bodies were thrown into a ditch near Newton Ketton, and were

pointed out to my informant by his father years after ; and so frightful

was the visitation, that he is known to have come in tears to say that

he had not one horse left to take away the dead bodies out of the fold-

yard. For some time, even the cattle given or sold very cheap to him

by his pitying neighbours, died also ; but at last he began to prosper.

In returning from market, one Monday evening, ' half seas over,' he

fell from his horse, and was suffocated in a dirty pool of water near

Patie's Nook. About forty years afterwards, the witch-bound farmer's

nephew met liis death on a similar journey from market, in the same

Stainton of John Baliol, by one penny rent at Easter

fealty, and suit of court once in three weeks at Gain-

ford. The same rent was paid for half the manor by

Richard Lambton, Esq., who was slain, fighting on

behalf of the house of Lancaster, at Towton, on Palm

Sunday, 1461. His descendant, William Lambton,

Esq., of Great Stainton, who died in 1612, left two

daughters, viz., Anne, who married Nicholas Chaytor,

Esq., of Butterby, and was the mother of Sir William

Chaytor, Bart., of Croft ; and Margaret, who married

John Killinghall, Esq., of Middletou St. George.

Their portion of Stainton appears to have passed

through the Ogles of Durham to the Middletons ; and

William Middleton, in 1759, conveyed to John Tem-

pest, Esq., of Sherburn, ancestor of the Marchioness of

Londonderry. Other property in the township was

held by the Rickabys.

THE CHURCH

Stands on an elevation to the west of the village. It

is a small neat edifice, without tower or side-aisles,

capable of accommodating 103 persons. The east

state of intoxication, at the same place, and in exactly the same

manner. The two succeeding occupiers of Hawsley also suffered

violent deaths ; the first by jumping from a train near Stillington when
tipsy, the second by a corve of coals running over a staith, and

crushing him when standing beneath."

—

Lotigstaff,

Patie's Xook, at the end of Cat-kill Lonin (so called from its liaving

formerly held the reputation of being a rendezvous for cats, or witches,

to hold their annual diabolical consultations,) where four roads meet

near Stainton, is a place of ghastly renown. Patie's beer-liouse was

a place of no very good association in any way. One market day, at

Darlington, two f;irmcrs, Pringle and Race, fell out sadly, and

Pringle threatened, " Before the sun rise to-morrow, I will be re-

venged of you." Race passed through Ilaughton, Pringle after him,

and that was the last time he was seen alive. Two butchers intended

to halt at Patie's Nook at midnight ; but looking in first, they saw two

men by a glimmering light ; one supported a dead man's body bleed,

ing from ear to ear, the other holding a basin to catch his blood. The

butchers fled in terror. It was conjectured that Pringle and Patie

burnt poor Race's body in an oven, but no evidence was procured;

the murderers escaped, and the vile den, or beer-house of the olden

time, has wholly passed away.

i
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windo\r consists of three lights under an obtusely-

pointed arch ; there are two arched windows on the

south side of the chancel : those of the nave are common

sashes. The font is an octagonal basin of freestone

;

the communion table is plain and unadorned. Texts of

scripture, in plain black frames, are arranged on the

walls. The burial-places of the Scurfields of Elstob,

and the Nicholsons, are in the chancel.

Registers.—Books Nos. 1 and 2 (parchment) con-

tain entries of baptisms and burials from 1561 to 1800,

and marriages from 1561 to 1752 ; No. 3, marriages

from 1755 to 1799 ; and No. 4, baptisms, burials, and

marriages, from 1797 to 1812.

Stainton, alias Staynton in Strata, rectory ; the prior

of St. Mary's, York, patron till the Dissolution ; since,

the crown. King's Books, £12 13s. 4d. ; Tenths, £1

5s. 4d. ; Episc. proc, 8s.; Archid. proc, 2s. Dedica-

tion to All Saints.

RKCTOttS.— William, presb. de Stainton, 1120 ; R. dc Appleby ; T.

de Lincoln, 13G9; T. deLindesay,1370 ; J.Cotenore, U16; R. Marshall,

1433 ; R. Medow, 1448 ; D'n's J. Manfield, 1446 ; B'n's R. Chamber,

1497 ; W. Wytham, 1524 ; D'n's J. Metcalfe, 1530; R. Marshall, 1538 ;

S. Robsnn, 1582; T. Ingmethorp, 1594, p. res. Robson ; H. Doughty.

1638, p. m. Ingmethorp ; T. Carr ; J. HUUard, 1658 ; W. Pell, A.M.,

1660 ; T. Pearson, 1662, p. depr. Pell for nonconformity ; J. Platts,

A.M.. 1681; T. Nicholson, A.M., 1706, p. m. Platts ; J. Emerson,

A.M., 1749 ; H. Vane. LL.D., April 21, 1754 ; J. Douglas, S.T.P.,

p. res. Vane ; G. Maclellan, A.M. ; H. Philpotts, A.M., p. m. Mac-

lellaa; T. Baker, A.M., p. les. Philpotts ; W. Addison, August 18,

1811, p. res. Baker; D. M. Peacock, A.M., 1812, p. res. Addison;

Thomas L. Trotter, A.M., 1841, p. m Peacock.

The church and rectory formed part of the monastry

of St. Mary at York, and were included in the con-

firmatory charter of King Henry II. Since the Disso-

lution, the advowson has remained in the crown.

Queen Henrietta Maria had a grant of £17 6s. 8d.

fee-farm rent out of this rectory. The parsonage,

which was rebuilt by the Rev. J. Emmerson, is a

handsome mansion, with a garden and shrubbery, and

commands an extensive prospect, bounded by the

C'leveland hills on the south, and reaching to the sea

on the east. The glebe, including the site of the

house, &c., contains 47 a. 3 r. 6 p. The rector is enti-

tled to all tithes. The gross income is stated at £'540,

and the permanent payments at £61, leaving £279

clear.

CHARITIES.

Srhool.—The Rev. Thomas Nicholson, rector of

(rreat Stainton, by will, January 26, 1745, bequeathed

£100, and his interest in certain leasehold property in

Northallerton, to trustees, who were to sell It, and

apply the proceeds and legacy to the salary of a school-

master, who should teach the poor children of Great

Stainton reading, writing, and arithmetic, with the

Church Catechism, and the expositions thereof by Dr.

Nicholson, Dr. Kenn, Dr. Wake, Bishop Beveridge, a

little book called the Art of Catechising, and Lewis'.s

Catechism. The master was to be appointed or re-

moved by the owners of the testator's estates in York-

shire ; and the bequest was to be on condition that the

freeholders of Stainton provided a school-house at their

own expense. The devised property was sold for £84,

which, with the £100, produces an interest of £7 7s.

annually. In 1771, the trustees of Lord Crewe's

charities gave £60 to the use of Stainton school ; and

£40 of this sum was laid out, in 1774, in the purchase

of a rent-charge of £1 10s. out of a tenement and close

in the parish of Stanhope. A further donation of

£100 was made in 1779 ; on which, Anthony Hubbock

and Isabella his wife gave £60, on condition that four

poor children from Little Stainton, in the parish of

Bishopton, should be nominated to the school by the

owners of the house then held by the donors. These

two sums, with the £20 remaining from the first grant,

were laid out, in 1780, in the purchase of £290 10s. 2d.

stock, the dividend from which, £8 14s. 6d., is paid to

the schoolmaster. The school is now conducted on the

national system. At the visit of the government in-

spector, in July, 1853, there were 22 boys and girls

present at examination ; 7 had left and 8 had been ad-

mitted dviring the preceding twelve months ; and the

average attendance was 21. General observations:

—

" Buildings, a small ror.m, brick floor ; no class-room. Two desks

fixed to wall. Furniture, clock. Playground, the village green. Books

fair; apparatus, one black-board, one easel."

Barker's Charity.—Mary Barker, in 1719, gave £5,

vested in the overseers, to the poor of Great Stainton.

In respect of this sum, 5s. is distributed annually at

Easter amongst five poor widows.

ELST015.

Ei.sToB is a township to the north of Great Stainton,

comprising 733 acres, divided into four farms, and con-

taining 6 inhabited houses. In 1801, the population

was 37 ; in 1811, 29 ; in 1821, 28; in 1831, during the

construction of the ('iarcnce railway, 94 ; in 1841, that

undertaking having been completed, 27 ; and in 1851,

38, of whom 21 were males and 17 lemales. The annual
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value of the property assessed to the county-rate, in

1853, was £476.

In this township, the Clarence railway has an extent

of 6f. 119 y., and an area of 7 a. Or. 3 p. In 1851, it

contributed £3 9s. towards £36 5s 3d., the amount of

local rales ; and in 1852, the gross amount being £30
12s. 6d., the railway contributed £2 17s. 6d.

The Greys of Northumberland were anciently proprie-

tors of Elstob, which was forfeited to the see on the exe-

cution of Sir Thomas Grey, at Southampton, in 1417.

The estate, about the close of the following century, I

passed through the Spencelys and Wrens of Henknoll

to William Scurfield, Gent., whose posterity held it

for several descents. It was afterwards mortgaged to

various parties, and eventually united by purchase in

William Spearman, who, in 1723, conveyed to William

Challoner, clerk. In 1771, Robert Challoner and Na-
thaniel Green (a mortgagee) joined in conveying their

lands in Elstob to John Tempest, Esq., of Wjmyard,
for £4,500 ; and from the descendants of the latter it

passed to the first Earl of Eldon, Lord Chancellor of

England.

PAEISH OF SEDGEFIELD.

IHE extensive parish of Sedgefield, forming the north-western extremity of Stockton Ward, as at present

constituted, is bounded on the north-west and west by Bishop-Middleham in Durham Ward, and Aycliffe in

Darlington Ward, on the south by Stainton-le-Street and Redmarshall, on the south-east by Grindon, on the

east by Elwick Hall, and on the north by Trimdon and Kelloe. The parish is divided into seven townships :

—

1, Sedgefield, including Hardwick, Sands, and Layton; 2, Bradbury and the Isle; 3, Mordon ; 4, Foxton and

Shotton ; 5, Butterwick, including Old Acres ; 6, Embleton, including Swainston and the Mortons ; and,

7, Fishburn.

SEDGEFIELD.

This township contains 5,171 acres. In 1801, its

population was 1,184; in 1811, 1,307; in 1821, 1,268;

in 1831, 1,429; in 1841, 1,345; and in 1851, 1,362,

of whom 650 were males and 712 females. In 1841,

there were 23 persons in the Sedgefield Union work-

house, and 22 in 1851. At the latter period, the

township contained 295 inhabited houses and 14 un-

inhabited. The annual value of property assessed to

the county-rate, in 1853, was £6,055 10s.

The poor-rate return of the parish of Sedgefield, for

the year ended Lady-day, 1855, was as follows :

—

Receipts.
£. s.

Poor-rates —Sedgefield, oiOl. 11.5.; Bradbury, 137/. 17s.;

Morden, 96Z. lis.; Foxton and Shotton, 311. 12s.; But-

terwick, 50?. 12s. ; Embleton, 63/. 6s. ; Fishburn, 130?. 14s. 1,051 3

In aid of poor-rates :—Sedgefield, 71. 1 Is. ; Bradbury, II. 6s.

;

Morden, 16s. ; Foxton ahd Shotton, 9s. ; Butterwick, 85.

;

Embleton, 15s.; Fishburn, W. 10s 12 15

£1,063 18

Expenditure.

In-mainteneince :—Sedgefield, 52/. Is. ; Bradbury. 2s. ; Mor-

den, It. ; Embleton, Is. ; Fishburn, U. 13s S3 18

Out-relief:—Sedgefield, 2S7/. 10s.; Bradbury, 43/. 12s.;

Morden, 43/. 12s.; Foxton and Shotton, 14/. 7s. ; Butter-

wick, 28/. 7s. ; Embleton, 17/. 17s.; Fishburn. 66/. 4s... 501 9

Brought forward £555 7

Salaries and rations of oflScers :—Sedgefield, 60/. 4s. ; Brad-

bury, 10/. 3s. ; Morden, 6/. 10s. ; Foxton and Shotton, 3/.

13s.; Butterwick, 3/.; Embleton, a/. 17s; Fishburn, 12/. 101 7

Other expenses:—Sedgefield. 81/.; Bradbury, 321. 15s.;

Morden, 5/. 13s.; Foxton and Shotton, 3/. 4s.; Butter-

wick, 21. 12s. ; Embleton, 5/. Is. ; Fishburn, 10/. 8s 140 13

Expenditure connected with relief 797 7

Carried forward 565

Costs of proceedings at law :—Sedgefield

Cons'ables' expenses before justices :—Sedgefield, 3/. 3s.

;

Bradbury, 1/. 05. ; Morden, 1/. 9s. ; Foxton and Shotton,

1/.; Butterwick, 15s.; Embleton, 14s,; Fishburn, 1/. 19s.

Vaccination:—Sedgefield, 21. 7s.; Bradbury, 10s. ; Morden,

1/. ; Butterwick, 2s. ; Embleton, 3s. ; Fishburn, 12s

Registration fees to clergymen, &c. :—Sedgefield, 3/. 15».

;

Bradbury, 10s. ; Morden, lis. ; Foxton and Shotton, 3s. ;

Butterwick, 4s. ; Embleton, 5s. ; Fishburn, 12s

County-rate, &c. :—Sedgefield, lOU/. 19s. ; Bradbury, 45/.

lO.s ; Morden, 30/. ; Foxton and Shotton, 11/. 12s. ; But-

terwick, 11/. 17s.; Embleton, 19/. Is.; Fishburn, 22/. 2s.

Parliamentary registration, &c. :—Sedgefield, 1/. 10s. ; Brad-

bury, 8s. ; ilorden, lis.; Foxton and Shotton, 8s.; But-

terwick, 7s. ; Embleton, 7s. ; Fishburn. 9s

For other parposes .—Sedgefield, 6/. 6s. ; Bradbury, 31. 18j. ;

Morden, 3/. 16s. ; Foxton and Shotton, 2/. 6s. ; Butterwick,

14s. ; Embleton, 1/. Us. ; Fishburn, 3/. 16j

3 13

10 5

4 14

6

241 1

4

22 7

£1,089 7

History.—About the year 900, Bishop Cutheard,

successor of Eardulf, with the church's money re-

deemed the vill of Sedgefield, with its members, which
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had been previously held by Aculf, Ethelbryth, and

Frythlake.

Boldon Book records that there were twenty villains

in this manor, who held their lands and performed

their services like those of Boldon. There were also

twenty farmers, each of whom held two oxgangs, and

paid 5s., besides contributing, with their households, a

prescribed number of days' service in hay and corn

harvest. John, the reeve, had two oxgangs j the

smith, one oxgang, for which he made the tenants'

carts, finding his own coals ; the carpenter, twelve

acres for making and mending carts and implements of

husbandry ; and the punder, twelve acres, paying 40

hens and 400 eggs. Five cottagers held five tofts, paid

5s., and tilled four portions. The villains paid 3s. for

toll of ale, and 20s. for cornage ; and the whole vill

joined to provide one milgh cow. The manor-mill

paid six marks, and Fishburn mill-dam 2s. ; William of

Aldacres, 16s.; Utred of Butterwick, half a mark; and

William held Herdewyck, and paid 10s.

Bishop Kellaw, in 1312, granted a weekly market,

to be held on Friday, with a yearly fair for five days,

commencing on the Eve of St. Edmund the Arch-

bishop. John de Whytechurch, rector, made complaint

to Bishop Bury, that the Friday market was neglected,

and that the chapmen and others exposed their mer-

chandise and transacted their business in the church

porch on Sundays ; on which the bishop issued a con-

firmation of Kellaw 's grant.

Amongst the free tenants named in Hatfield's Survey

were Roger de Fulthorp and John Herdwyck, who
held the estate of Herdwyck; also John Henley, rec-

tor, Thomas del Hall, Thomas Gray, and the owners

of Butterwick and Oldakrcs, which latter estates had

recently been brought into cultivation. Malmen are

named, whose services were the same as those of the

farmers in Boldon Book. The villains, if required,

were to build, once in the year, a house, of specified

length and breadth ; on which service, each was to be

released from 44 of his averpcnnies. William Kellaw,

the punder, besides the hens and eggs, paid 6s. The
tenants paid 6s. in lieu of a milch cow, 20s. for cornage,

31s. 8d. for scatpennies, and 26s. 8d. for averpennies

;

and the bonds redeemed their woodlades for 20s.

Portions were held by exchequer rents. The Brok
moor is mentioned, for which the tenants paid 16s. 8d.,

before 40s. ; and a fulling-mill near Cornforth, which

used to pay 33s. 4d., was untenanted.

On the breaking out of the Northern Rebellion in

1569, nineteen persons joined it from Scdgefield, seven

from Fishburn, four from Shotton, and one from Mor-

den. The proceedings in Sedgeficld on that occasion

are described in the depositions taken after the

suppression of the insurrection. Cuthbert Gubion,

labourer, aged 73; Thomas Richerdson, do., aged 60;

Robert Walker, do., aged 50 ; and Christopher Hart-

burn, do., aged 40, were employed in building the

altar in the church, which the queen's soldiers after-

wards cast down. John Newton, parish clerk, hus-

bandman, aged 58, saith

—

"That he, this examinate, was present in the church of Sedge-

field when the workmen and laborers, byfor examined, had ther work

rcdye, and was lyffdng up the aulter stone ; and in ther so doing,

sodainly thei cauld of this examinate for his helpe, sainge, ' Ye passe

not of the maiming of us.' Whereupon, this deponent came to them,

evon them, and helpt to gyve the said workmen and laborers a lyfft

at the said aulter stone, at the laying on of the same ; saing the soil-

giers afterware cast ytt doun, which was hyd with rubbish and layd

low in the presenc of this examinate, Piowland Hixson, and Walker-

son, and by Robert AValkcr, and that ther was to the number of SO

persons that drewe the said stone with ropes out of Gibson Gartlj

;

but this examinate knoweth nor can name any one of them. Also he,

this examinate, came to masse, which one Richard Hartburn said,

the vij. of December, in the church of Sedgefield, and kneUd and

used reverence therto : he used no beads, nother toke hoUywater nor

holly bread. And as for the hollywater stone it came out of Potter

Garth to the church ; and this examinate dyd se the setting up of the

same, and was caried out of the church and church yard by Roland

Hixson and one other whom he knoweth not ; sainge that this exami-

nate brought water in a skeil to be maid in holly water, and the said

Hixson broughte bread also then for holly breade. He hard also

Richard Hartburn sermon in the said church, sainge the doctrine of

England was nowght, and that this Realm was cutt off frome all other

Nacions ; but whither he gave any open absolucion to the people or

nott, this examinate cannott depose. And as for the bokes, he heryng

that bokes was bornt at dyvers places, this examinate delyver all the

books to the said Roland Hixson the churchwarden, but the Byble

and 2o Salters ; but when the Books was first bornt, after what soort

they were bornt, or by whom, he cannott depose ; for this examinate

was then in his bedd. Mary, at the latter borninge of the books this

examinate was at burninge of the 2° Salters, and bornt one old boke

of his own to save the Bible, which thereby is yet, the said Byble,

savyed."

In the personal answer of Roland Hixson, husband-

man, aged 50 years, he stated that he was compelled

by Lancelot Bulman, Brian Headlham, and Richard

Fleitham, to assist in setting up the high altar and holy

water stone. As for the books, he said that Fleitham

came to his house, before dayliglit, and commanded

him, in the queen's name and the earls', to deliver the

church books to him .and Bulman, as they would not

leave the town till they had them to burn.

"And thereupon this examinate rose out of his bedd, and caried

the said books to the crosse, to the nomber of fyve bookes, which this

deponent browght to the crosse in the toune gayt, wher they were

burnt by this examinate and dyvers others ; amongest which was

('ulhbert Gibson, which help to cutt the said books ; other fett fycr
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and wliynos and straw, amongcst which was Agnes Sklaitcr, Isabell

Fidler, Florence Lookson, widow Whj'te, and other. Examined

whither this deponent, whea the bokes was in buminge, sayd, ' Se

wher the Homilies fieith to the devill
;

' which words he, this exami-

nate, donieth. Mary, he saith, that when one old booke of the dark's

was iir buminge, this deponent said alowd, 'Se wher the byble

bornes ;' which words he spoke to the intent that the byble should

not be cauld for, M'hich is yet sa[fL'] therebye."

Several other depositions, to the same effect, have

Leen preserved. After the suppression of the outbreak,

five executions took place at Sedgefield, two at Fish-

hum, one at Foxton, and one at Morden.

On July 25, 1636, a division of waste and common

lands in the township was made, with the consent of the

bishop. The bishop's waste, about 2^ acres, was given

to the rector, who also received, as compensation and
|

allotment, nearly 158 acres more. The other principal

claimants were, Sir Ralph Conyers, Knt., of Layton;

Nicholas Frevile, Esq., of Hardwick ; Henry Blakiston,

Gent., of Sedgcfield (son of Marmaduke Blakiston,

then late rector) ; Robert Jonson, John Harrison, John

.Johnson, Thomas Smith, Leonard INIiddleton, Rowland

Hixon, Richard Bradley, Thomas Wright, John

Younge, Humphrey Mason, Roger Cowlinge, Robert

Bellerbie, Richard Key, John Walker, Robert Hind-

mers, Olliver Scott, Ralph Watkin, Peter Hodshon,

Robert Brown, Gyles Botcherbie, Alice Buckle and

'William Elstob, and Florence Butler, widow, and

(Jeorge Butler, Gent., of Fishburn.

A large proportion of the lands in the township is

still held by lease, or by copy of court roll, under the

see of Durham. The various freeholds have passed

through the families of Lambton, Conyers, Ord, Wright,

and others.

The Town.—The town of Sedgefield is situated on

the turnpike road between Durham and Stockton,

and is 11 miles from the former and 10 from the latter

place. It is distant, by road, 14 miles from Hartle-

])ool, 24 from Sunderland, 31 from South Shields, 25

from Gateshead, 12 from Bishop Auckland, 26 from

Barnard Castle, 14 from Darlington, and 248 from

London. The town stands on a fine gradual swell of

di-y gravelly soil, and is consequently airy, pleasant,

and healthy. In the centre is a large area, on which

a market was held every Friday, and cattle fairs on the

first Fridays in April and October. The markets are

now, however, but nominal ; the wants of the to-mi

being met by casual supplies of agricultural produce

from the immediate district. A fair for the sale of

swine is held on the first Friday of every month.

Several good houses surround the square on the

south, west, and north sides, the east side being occu-

pied by the church, rectory, &c., and the endowed

school (see Charities). The latter is a substantial

structure, faced with freestone, erected on the site of a

previous building in 1826 ; the cost being defrayed by

subscription, towards which Lord Barrington, then

rector, contributed £100 ; the Barrington School Fund,

£200 ; the fund for establishing schools in Durham,

under act of parliament passed in 1822, £100; Lord

Crewe's trustees, £150; the executors of Bishop Bar-

rington, £300; William Russell, Esq., £50; Miss

Orde, £5 ; Mr. Salvin, £5 ; and Richard Wright, Esq.,

£10. In 1852, the trustees of the Barrington School

at Bishop Auckland granted £15 towards the repairs

of the school.

A good inn and posting-house stands at the north-

east entrance into the town, and five inns and taverns

in other quarters. There is a large brewery and

malting. Several cartwrights, joiners, smiths, shoe-

makers, tailors, shopkeepers, and tradesmen, required

for an agricultural population, carry on business, and

are supported by the inhabitants of the town and sur-

rounding district. Hauxley water corn-mill is about a

mile from the town ; and a railway station on the

Clarence line is distant about IJ mile.

According to ancient custom, the parish-clerk is

obliged to furnish a foot-ball on Shrove Tuesday,

which he throws out into the market-place, where it is

contested for by the mechanics against the agriculturists

of the town and neighbourhood ; the day's sport gene-

rally concluding by the victors and the vanquished

drinking " potations pottle deep" in commemoration of

their exploits.

THE CHURCH.

This edifice stands probably upon the site of the

church of which Ulchild was rector in 1085, and in

which Andrew de Stanley, first Master of Greatham

Hospital, was buried. The present structure is cruciform,

and is one of the most handsome churches in the dis-

trict. The western tower is 60 feet high, embattled,

and supported by corner buttresses, from the tops of

which spring lofty hexagonal turrets, surmounted by

conical spirets.* It contains five bells, and has a good

clock on the west front. The Rev. Theophilus

• In May, 1854, a temporary observatory, 30 feet high, was erected

on tho top of the steeple, by Mr. Cahill, who was employed by the

lioard of Ordnance in making a trigonometrical survey of the district.
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Pickering, rector, intended to furnish an additional

bell, which was cast, and brou<rht to Sedgefield, about

the time of his death ; but having impoverished himself

by charitable gifts, he scarcely left effects for his

funeral, and the bell was returned to the manufacturer.

The ancient custom of ringing the curfew is still

continued in this rural parish. In the summer months,

it is rung at nine o'clock in the evening, and in winter

at eight ; and after a pause, the day of the month is in-

dicated by a corresponding number of strokes of the

bell. In the morning, the bell is rung in summer at five,

and in the winter at si.x o'clock.

The entrance to the church is by a plain porch on

the south. The length of the nave and side aisles is 70

feet, and their width 48 3 feet. The aisles are formed

by rows of three piUars, each of which consists of four

cylinders joined, standing on a square plinth, with sur-

rounding bands at mid-height, and surmounted by

capitals curiously sculptured with foliage, flowers,

birds, and human figures. The arches are pointed,

springing from corbels of human heads, and ornamented

with zigzag and filletted mouldings. The pillars are

the earliest specimens of their style in the county, and,

with their bands, resemble those in the circular part of

the Temple church, London, finished before 1200.

Each aisle is lighted by two arched windows ; and

there are three clerestory windows on each side of the

nave.

The transept is 89 feet long. The south end, or

south transept, formerly the chantry of St. Thomas, is

lighted by a large window on the south and two on

the sides, under pointed arches. The north transept,

also built for a chantry in 1379, is lighted in the same

manner, and was long used as a burial-place for the

Hotons and Frevilles. It is now fitted up with a

gallery, containing the Hardwick seats ; the space

under which is used as a vestry.

Beneath the lofty arch which separates the nave from

the chancel is a rich screen of tabernacle work, in old

oak, with three canopied stalls on each side, divided by
light pillars, and surmounted by crocketted spires.

The chancel is apparently of the same date as the north

transept, and is 53 feet 8 inches in length, and 20 feet

• •' There is preserved at Durham, in the (burt of Chancery, an
oblong chest of oak, containing upon the inside of its lid, in colours
still distinct, the arms of England and Neville, together with the
shield of liishop Bury, and a coat unknown. There are also spirited

representations of two wiverns, a lion rampant, and a centaur holdin"
a round shield and spear. The whole affords a valuable specimen of
the colouring and emblazoning of its period. It appears from an
Ancient Roll of the year, that hi lo21 the Keceiver General of the

5 inches in width. The space within the rails is large

and commodious. There are tluee pointed windows on

each side ; and the east window is divided into five

compartments, surmounted by elegant tracery. In the

centre, the arms of Bishop Barrington are emblazoned

in stained glass ; on the north side, those of Lord

Viscount Barrington, the late rector ; and on the south

side, those of the Rev. T. L. Strong, the present rector,

at whose expense the window was renewed, and other

restorations made in the chancel. This part of the

church is paunelled with oak, about 8 feet high, and

stalled with seven seats on each side, which, with the

screen, are of the Elizabethan era.

Under the belfry is a good organ, the gift of Dr.

Pickering, dated 1708. The font, supposed to have

been presented by the same donor, is a large octagonal

basin of black marble, sculptured with the arms of

Pickering, Elstob of Foxton, Hoton of Hardwick,

Thornton, Butler of Old Acres, Lambton of Hardwick,

Wright of Sedgefield, and another. One of the most

remarkable and primitive features in the church was

the old money-box, consisting of the hollowed stump of

a tree, fixed in the pavement, but which is now taken

away.*

The church contains monuments to several of its

rectors, and to members of the principal neighbomung

families. In the pavement of the north aisle was, until

recently, a large stone, with two inlaid figures of brass,

representing skeletons in shrouds, each about half a

yard long. That on the left had the shroud wrapped

around the lower part of the waist ; but in that on tlie

right, it was thrown quite open. These mementoes

have been removed.

In 1848 and 1849, considerable repairs and altera-

tions were made. The roof of the chancel, which had

previously been ceiled, was renewed, and is now of

high pitch and open. The cost was defrayed by

subscriptions amounting to between £200 and £300,

to which the bishop, the rector, and some of the

Barrington family contributed. The roofs of the

nave and aisles are also open, and constructed of

stained wood.

The floor of the church is paved with diamond-

See gave to the churchwardens of Sedgefield a shilling, to be laid out

upon the fabric of their church, in exchange for a chest 'for the saft

keeping of the bishop's money during the time of the audit.' John

de Whitchurch, rector of Sedgefield, was the sole executor of tlie

will of Bury, from whom he had received his various preferments.

Was the chest here purchased that which is above described ; and

had it been originally placed in the church of Sedgefield by Whit-

church, in memory oi his patron?"

—

Raine s Auckland Castle, p. 3G.
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shaped tiles ; and covered with wood beneath the seats.

The pews are all open ; and there is accommodation for

600 persons.

The communion table, it appears, was unlawfully

removed by the churchwardens in 1567. The arti-

cles set forth by the bishop's notary public, Thomas

K[lng], against Jo. H., Jo. B., Robt. D., and S. W.,

T. M., and every of them, are, 1. That the bishop is

ordinary of the see ; and that R[obert] S[wift] is

his vicar. 2. That the bishop has power, by act of

parliament to set or place the table of the holy com-

munion in the chancel or the body of every church,

and to appoint where morning and evening prayer may
be most conveniently said or sung. 3. That in 1562,

the bishop appointed that the Lord's table should stand

in the body of the church, and also that Common
Prayer should be there said and done in all places

within the diocese. 4. That, in the present year 1567,

the said R. S., ordinary, being personally present in

the church of Sedgcfield, did appoint the Communion
i

Table and certain forms or desks to be placed in the

body of the church, in such order and comeliness as I

seemed unto him most convenient for the ministration
,

of sacraments and saying of Common Prayer. 5. That
'

on the 7th November inst., the said Jo. H., Jo. B.,

&c., " not haveinge God before their eyes, nor the pre-
\

heminence of the jurisdiction Episcopall, did into the

* The following depositions, taken in 1 568, in a charge brought by

George Cuthbert against Brian Headlham, have been published by

the Surtees Society :
—

"Lance!ot Butiman, of Sedgefield, husbandman, aged 54 years.

—

He, this examinate, was by at the Evening Praier when the church

wardens of Sedgefield cam to hym and demandyd 12d. of the said

Bryan, bycause he hadd his capp on in servic tyme, and he, the said

Bryan, refused to pay the 12d. and maid his skcwse that he had an

evill head.—lie remembrith that the said Bryan receyved at Easter

last, and about the feaste of Candlemas, when the parishe was com-

mandyd.—He hard not Brian Headlam threten the said Th. Watkin,

or any of the church wardens, but he said that, yf the law wold serve

liym, he wold seke remedye by lawe against the said Watkyu.—The

curat answered thus, ' Thou saist lyke a knave.'

"Thomas Watkin, of the same, husbandman, aged 54 years.—He
and the said Bryan mai ied 2 susters. He saith that he kept his cap

on upon one Sonday at the Morning Praier, wherfore tliis examinate

and Robert Laiton demandyd 12d. of hym. And one other tyme, at

the Evening Praier, and the third tyme, he misused the curat, and

spoke to hym at such tyme as the said curat was examininge or

speaking to a penitent. And ther upon this examinate and his fel-

lowes demandyd 3s. of the said Bryan, according to their presentment,

which refused to pay yt unless he were compelled by order of lawe.

—

He saith that this last yere he receyved twise. and byfor that yere

neither he or any parishioner then receyved but once.—He saith that

about Cbristemas last past the said Brian said to this examinate, ' I

pvomes you, yf the lawe wiU serve me, I shall make you spend 40s.'

Examined of the caui>e wherfor, he saith, bycause he this examinate

churche aforesaid enter, and, after dyverse contemp-

tuous wordes then and there by them spoken, being

also counselled to the contrarye, did forceableye,

contemptuouslie, and rashlic take up and remove the

said table, forms, or desks." 6. That the said Jo. H.
" verie contemptuouslie and rebelliouslie in the said

churche, before dyvers honest pcrsones, once, twyse, or

oftener, said openlye that he would remove the said

table and formes, which the said Ordinarye had placed,

addinge further that he was a hinderer and no furtherer

of God's service." 7. That " whosoever dothe usurpe,

invaid, or contempe the jurisdiction Episcopall of any

Bushop, or his Ordinarye, is by the lawe (ipso facto)

excommunicated, and so ought to be declared and

reputed amongst all Christian men." The parties

were sentenced accordingly.*

It was agreed at a vestry meeting, held December 6,

1750, to erect a gallery in the chmxh, and to make a

skylight in the roof, above the said gallery ; but this

resolution was afterwards opposed and set aside by

John Burdon, Esq., of Hardwick, on the ground of its

interfering with his property and seats in the said

church.

At a meeting held in the vestry, July 8, 1811, it was

resolved that the purchaser of the pew bounded on the

north by the south aisle, on the east by the east aisle,

on the south by the rector's pew for the time being, on

presented the said Bryan to the judg, M' Swyft, in the consistory of

Durham—the presentment is trewe and all the contents therein.

" Robert Smith, of Foxton, husbandman, aged 50 years.—He saith

that he was in the church of SedgcfeUd, in the tyme of servic, when
the said Bryan dyd disquiet M' Horsfall ther curat with speaking to

hj-m at that tyme, viz. the said curat thought the 2 penitents satt to

hy up in the church, and spoke to them, aud speciall to one of them,

to sett lower, and at last she so dyd, and ther stood a yong man neir

hir whom the said curat asked whether that she was his wench or no,

and the young man gave no answer, but Brian said then to liim, the

said curat, ' She may be youres, yf ye will ;' and one other tyme this

examinate dyd se the said Bryan have on his cap at the tyme of the

Morning Praier, and further," &c.

Extract from the libel against Brian Hedlam of Sedgefield :
—" That

you, Brian Hedlam, being in the parish church of Segfeld, the 17 day

of November last, 1568, at the Morning Praier, at the saing of the

generall confession and repeting of the Lorde's praier, beleffe, and

ten commandments, letane, and other suifi-agies ; at which time, by

the Queue's lawes, every Christen man and woman ought orderly and

reverently to put of his cap and knele upon his knees, and use other

reverent behaviour, you, Brian Hedlam, not having God before your

eies, but stirred up with de^Hlish contempt and irreverence, did, the

day and time aforesaid, sit with his cap on his head, and being thereof

lawfully admonished, refused contemptuouslie to rcforme these dt-

faultes, or to pay 12d. to the churchwardens for the poore man's boxe

then dcmaunded, and disturbed the church with talking."

In the following year, Headlam appears to have engaged actfvely

in the proceedings of the insurgents. See page 331.
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the west by pews formerly belonging to Robert Mason,

should be indemnified from all charges and costs in

taking possession of the same.—The said pew was sold

to Richard Wright, Esq., for the sum of £16, on the

day above mentioned.

The fabric is maintained in repair by a church-

rate, which usually amounts to three-halfpence in the

pound. In 1848, to meet the heavy charges consequent

upon the alterations and improvements, the rate was

twopence-halfpenny in the pound ; in 1849, twopence ;

in 1850, thi-ee-halfpencc, the latter amount continuing

to be imposed. The rate of three-halfpence, by the

returns in 1854, amounted to £78 10s. 3d., the different

townships in the parish bearing the following pro-

portions :

—

Sedgefield £30 6 3

Buttenviek 4 8 8

Fishbum 6 19 9

Embledon 6 18 11|

Foxton 3 16

Morden 10 7 1

Bradbury 15 13 61

£78 10 3

St. Catherine's chantry, in the north transept, was

founded by John de Henly, parson of Sedgefield, by

charter from Bishop Hatfield, dated September 16,

1379 ; it was endowed with lands of £10 per annum, for

* Affray in Sedgefield Church-yard.—Proceedings against

John Johnson and others, for laying violent hands upon John Mf rtin

(probably the same person mentioned p. 309) curate of Sedgefield, in

the church-yard :

—

" 21 Oct. 157o. The personal answer of John Johnson, of Sedge-

Icild, yoman, alias husbandman, aged about 35 years.—Hesaith that,

in the moneith of Maii or June articulate, being yett in the present

ycrc 15"5, he, this examinate, haith nott at any tyrae maliciously by

wordcs quarrelld, chidd, or railed to or upon the said John Martyn,

cler'' , the minister articulate ; saing, furtlier, that he, this examinate,

never spoke nor said the worde in this article libellat, ' Ilawg villain !

have I nowe catched the ? I shall nowe be evon with the.' Mary,

this deponent remembrcth that, .about the lUth of June articulate,

this examinate and Bobert Walker and John Clerk, bein aU thre with

many moo in the church yardc of Sedgfeild, upon a sonday after the

evyning praier, John Martyn, articulate, being then also in the churcli

yard of Sedgfeild, which had newly then maid a fray upon or with

Robert Crampton, or ells the said llobert with the said Martyn, for

that they 2 had fought togither, by the rcporte of the said Walker

and Clerke, which had then after sent for this deponent, being the

constable ; and at his this examinate's comminge into the said church

yarde, he, this deponent, went and commandyd the said JoUu Martyn

to fynde sucrtie for the Quene's majesties puac ; which Martyn wold

fynd no suertio by any persuasion or gentle motion thai this examinate

culd then use or make to the said Martyn, but misused this deponent,

beinge the (iuene's majesties constable and oiKcer, by unseming

words, saing to this examinate, ' Yt is thy knavery and thy practis of

this fray bytwixt Crampton and me,' the foi said John Martyn; and

saing ther also, ' The Queue haith knaves to hir officers, and thou ar

one of them, being the worst,' saing to and mening upon this dtpo-

VOL. II.

two chaplains to celebrate divine service at the altar.

In 1392, Bishop Skirlaw granted license to John de

Henlie, clerk, "W^illiam de Langchester, vicar of St.

Oswald's, and William de Hill, chaplain, to give to

John de Bishopton, chaplain, custos of St. Catherine's

chantry, lands, houses, and rents in Butterwick, Aid-

acres, and Hoton ; and William Hoton of Hardwick,

under a charter from Bishop Langley, June 6, 1435,

assigned six messuages, two cottages, and 170 acres in

Sedgefield, to Thomas Hoton, chaplain, and his succes-

sors for ever. At the Dissolution, the chantry was

valued at £11 8s. 8d. per annum. John Franks, the

last chaplain, had a pension, which he received in 1553.

St. Thomas's chantry was in the south porch : its

foundation is unknown ; but at the Dissolution, its value

was £5 6s. A pension of £4 was paid to Richard

Turner, the last chantry priest, in 1553. In October,

1764, as some workmen were repairing the floor of the

south transept, they found a large stone image, "cu-

riously cut," near six feet long, and lying at full length,

with an arch over it, but without any inscription.

The guild or chantry of St. Mary occurs in the re-

cords. Robert Kerr, chaplain of St. Catherine's,

bequeathed £10 to it; and Bishop Fox granted an

indulgence for the repair of its chapel and altar in 1500.

The church-yard* is planted witli lofty trees, and con-

nent ; and ther upon this examinat toke and caried the said Martpi
to the stokes.

" He did not violently, maliciously, or injuriously lay his hands of

the said John Martyn, but accordinge to his offic, for the preservanct

of the Queue's majestie peac, nor dyd maliciously thruste, beit, or

use the said Martyn ; saing that this examinat, havinge holde of th(

said Martyn gowne, and beinge without the ehurch yarde, and tlic

said Martyn in the church y;u-d, or upon the style thereof, this exa-

minate pulling the said John Martyn by the said gown, and he the

said Mai'tyn hynging batke, and not williiige to goo with this t.\ami-

nate, thcrupon only the said John Martyn's gown was rent, and no

otherwaies ; samg further that this deponent then after ledd the said

John perlbrse to the stoks, being in the backhouse of Sedgfeild.

—

t John Johwson."

John Clerk and Robert Walker, churchwardens, deposed to send-

ing for Johnson, the constable, to the refusal of Martin to find sureties,

and to his gown being torn in the seutHe to get him over the stile ;

and Clerk added, that he and his fellow Walker " toke the said John

Martyn by the leggs, and so caryed him to Parlement house, alias tin

bakehouse, wher the stokes were. And ther the said John Martyn

was sett in the stoks by John Johnson, who ijfted up the said stoks

then, and also put in the said John Martyn his leg in the said stoks.

And this examinate laid the said S' John JLirtyn gown imder hym,

wher he the said Martyn contynt wed by llie sjiaic ot one halil houer."

Thomas Wheitley, a witness on the pan of Martin, deposed that

Crampton made a fiay with him, when the constable was sent for,

who called Martin " kna\e," and said he should go to the stocks

;

when the said Johnson, Walker, and Clerk, " togged the said Martyn

violently against his will by the head and shuluer, more lyke a beast

than a man, and caied hym to the stoks, tearing then also his gowne."

3a
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tains a number of tomb-stones. Two marble tablets on

the exterior wall at the east end of the chancel indicate

the family burial-place of the Spearmans, of Old Acres.

There was formerly a foot-path through the ground

;

but it was resolved by the rector and four-and-twenty,

at a meeting held in the vestry April 1, 1823, that the

churchwardens should be empowered to lock up the

church-yard gates, excepting only during divine service,

and that application be made at the Durham Midsum-
mer sessions for that purpose.

Registers.—Books Nos. 1 to -4 contain entries of

baptisms and burials from 1580 to 1812, and of marriages

from 1580 to 1753 ; No. 5, marriages from 1754 to

1812 ; also. No. 6 (kept at Embleton), baptisms, burials,

and marriages from 1650 to 1760.

Sedgefield rectory is in the deanery of Stockton ; the

Bishop of Durham, patron. King's Books, £73 18s.

l|d. ; Tenths, £7 7s. 9jd. ; Episc. proc, £1 13s. id.

;

Synod., lis. J Archid., 4s. Dedication to St. Edmund
the Bishop.

Rectors.—TJlchild, 1083; Petnis Clericus de Seggefeld, 1168;

W. de Quelmer, 1274 : W. de EweU, 1301 ; T. de Hessewell, 1313

(Master of Sherbum Hospital) ; J. de 'VMiytecliurch, 1339, p. m.
Hessewell (archdeacon of Wilts) ; J. de Grey, 1359, p. m. Whyte-
church; J. de Henley, 1361, p. m. Grey (treasurer of the bishop's

household) ; T. Weston, 1380 (archdeacon of Durham 1393, prebend

of Grindall in York rh. 1397. prebend of Hoveden, ob. 1408) ; J.

Clifford, 1392 (treasurer of York ch. 1374); A. de Hopwood, 1408;

J. Leyburne, 1424, p. m. Hopwood (prebend in Lincoln ch.); Dr. G.

Radclyff, 1425, p. res. Leyburne ; J. Heyworth, 1436, p. res. Radclyff

• Bishop Lowth.—This learned and eminent prelate was the second

son of Wm. Lowth, an apothecary and citizen of London ; his elder

brother, William, being also a distinguished divine. Robert was born

November 27, 1710, and at Winchester school gave the first specimen

of his great abilities in a poem entitled, " The Genealogy of Christ, as

it is represented on the east window of Winchester CoUege Chapel."

From Winchester he was elected to New College, Oxford, and took

his degree of A.M. in 1737. As professor of poetry, to which office

he was preferred in 1741, he struck out a new path, by giving a course

of lectures on Hebrew poetry, which afterwards added much to his

reputation. In 1749, he became acquainted with the Duke of Devon-

shire, in consequence of his attending his brothers. Lord George and

Lord Frederick Cavendish, on their travels ; and the duke was so well

satisfied with Lowth's conduct, that he afterwards proved his steady

friend and patron. In 1750, Bbhop Hoadley conferred on Lo^vth the

archdeaconry of Winchester, and in 1753. the rectory of East Wood-

hay, in Hampshire. In 1754, he received the degree of D.D., con-

ferred by the university by diploma. In 1755, he went to Ireland as

first chaplain to the Marquis of H irtington. In consequence of this

appointment, he had the offer of the bishopric of Limerick ; but this

he exchanged with Dr. Leslie, prebendary of the eighth stall at Dur-

ham and rector of SedgeScld, which were accordingly given to him

by Dr. Trevor, Bishop of Durham, who was not a little pleased to

rank among his clergy a gentleman of such rare accomplishments.

(treasurer of Lichfield); William Eyworthe, 1436; J. Radclyffe,

resigned for a pension of 50 marks; W. Estfeld, 1496, p. res. Rad-

clyffe ; R. Leybum, 1499, p. m. Estfeld ; R. Shorten, S.T.P., 1518;

R. Layton, LL.D., 1535 (dean of York and visitor of the monastries)

;

J. Redmayn, S.T.P., 1544, p. m. Layton ; A. Salvayn, S.T.P., 1558,

p. m. Redmayn; A. Lofthouse, 1560, p. depr. Salvayn (pres. Queen
Eliz., see vac.) ; R. Skynner, S.T.B., 1562, p. depr. Lofthouse ; R.

Swj'ft, LL.D., 1.562, p. m. Skynner; M. Blakiston, A.M., 1599, p.

m. Swyft ; R. Blakiston, 1631, p. res. patris; J. Naylor, S.T.B., 1634,

p. m. Blakifton ;
— Hunton, an intruder, ejected 1060 ; D. Grenville,

A.M., 1667, p. m. Naylor (see vol, i., pp. 251, 253) ; J. Clayton,

S.T.P., 1691, p. depr. Grenville; T. Pickering, S.T.P., 1705, p. m.

Clayton (see vol. i., p. 255) ; J. Morton, S.T.P. 1711, p. m. Pickering ;

T. Rundle, LL.D., 1722, p. m. Morton (master of Sherbum House,

and Bishop of Derry) ; J. Gamage, A.M., 1728, p. res. Rundle ; J,

Lesley, A.M., 1747, p. m. Gamage (Bishop of Limerick) ; R. Lowth,

S.T.P.,* 1755, p. res. Lesley (bishop of Oxford and of London) ; J.

Ekins, S.T.P., 1777, p. res. Lowth ; Geo. Yiscount Barrington, A.M.,

1791, p. ra. Ekins (see vol. i., p. 258); Thomas Linwood .Strong.

A.M., May, 1829, p. m. Barrington.

The inhabitants of the parish received warning on

August 20, 1644, to " forbeare payment of any tythes

or rents to Joseph Nayler, Dr. of Di^-inirie, parson of

the said parish ;" and, two days afterwards, a warrant

was issued to distrain his goods, and to keep them ac-

cording to inventory for the use of the Commonwealth.

On the 29th November, an order was issued to pay all

rents, &c., due for tithes, to " John Vincent, preacher

of God's word, who hath now the parsonage of Sedge-

field conferred upon him by authy of parliament ;" with

the exception that Mrs. Dulcibella Nayler was to have a

fifth of the income for the maintenance of herself and

children.

In J^une, 1766, Dr. Lowth was promoted to the see of St. David's,

and, about four months afterwards, translated to that of Oxford ;

succeeding, in 1777, Dr. Terrick in the see of London. Dr. Lowth

published his lectures on Hebrew poetry in 1753, and in 1758, his

Life of William of Wykehara, founder of Winchester and New Col-

leges. His greatest literary work was on the prophecies of Isaiah,

which, says Skelton, " is the best book in the world, next to the

Bible." He was involved in a controversy with Bishop Warburton ;

but this did not, to any important extent, interfere with his literary

labours. TMien Archbishop Coniwallis died, the king made an offer

of the archicpiscopal see to Dr. Lowth ; but this dignity he declined.

He was now advanced in life, tormented by a painful and lingering

disorder, and had recently exprienced some severe strokes of domestic

calamity. He died November 3, 1787, aged 77, and was buried at

Fulham.

Many of his poetical effusions and occasional discourses were pub-

lished, and went through several editions. His discourse " On the

Kingdom of God," preached at a visitation at Durham, was much

admired for its liber;ility of sentiment. Dr. Lowth united, in an

eminent degree, the qualities of the gentleman with those of the

scholar ; he conversed with elegance as he wrote with accuracy. His

piety had no tincture of moroseness, his charity no leaven of ostenta-

tion ; and whilst virtue and learning are reverenced among men, the

memory of Lowth will be respected and admired.
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The glebe is extensive, lying in the townships of

Sedgefield, Bradbury, Embleton, and Fishburn. The

rectory house is situated to the south of the church, and

is enclosed from the to^\^l. Several of the latter rectors

had made improvements and additions ; but, on De-

cember 31, 1792, a fire broke out in one of the lodging

rooms, which consumed the greatest part of the building

before it was extinguished.* The present handsome

mansion was erected by the late rector. Lord Barring-

ton, assisted by the bishop and the Hon. Admiral Bar-

rington. The kitchen, with its muUioned windows, and

a portion of the outer castellated wall, are the only

remnants of the old parsonage.

The rector is generally entitled to tithes throughout

the parish, with the exception of some small moduses.

In 1739, the Rev. J. Gamage, rector, filed a bill in

Chancery against several land-owners in the township,

in order to break through a composition entered into by

Dr. Nayler, and compel payment of tithes in kind.

The defendants filed a cross bill to establish the com-

position, which had been accepted by six preceding

rectors, and also by Mr. Gamage himself for nine or ten

years. In 1741, the Lord Chancellor decreed the pay-

ment of tithes in kind, with costs against the defendants ;

the bishop, ordinary of the diocese and patron of the

living, not having been a party to Dr. Nayler's ar-

rangement. In 1835, the gross income was £1,933,

subject to permanaut payments amounting to £131.

From the balance, £1,802, £220 was paid to two cu-

rates, who, with the rector, alternately officiated in the

chapel of ease at Embleton, The tithes were commuted

a few years ago for about £1,500. The salaries of the

curates are at present respectively £170 and £120.

CHAPELS.

Roman Catholic Chapel.—A chapel has been

occupied by the Roman Catholics in Sedgefield for

some years. It is dedicated to St. Joseph, and was

recently the scene of " a mission," extending over ten

days, given by the Rev. R. Sufficld, one of the fathers

from the Diocesan Mission House, St. Ninian's,

Wooler, Northumberland. Mr. Sufficld was formerly

priest of Sedgefield and Thornley ; but there was no

• Previous to the burning down of the rectory house, the supersti-

tious and credulous portion of the inhabitants of Scdgefiel d were alarmed
by an apparition, denominated the Pickled Parson, which for many
years was presumed to infest the neighbourhood of the rector's hall

"making night hideous." The supposed origin of the tale is attri-

buted to the cunning of the rector's wife, whose husband having died

resident minister at the first-named place until the

appointment of the present clergyman, the Rev. —
Marldand.

Wesleyan Methodist Chapel.—The Wesleyan
Methodists have a chapel at the west end of the village,

which they have occupied for the last 50 years. The
building will contain about 250 hearers; during

service, the average attendance is 150. A library has

recently been established in connection with the chapel.

POOR LAW UNION.

The Sedgefield Union comprises the parish of Sedge-

field; the parishes of Bishop-Middleham, Stainton-le-

Street, and Biishopton ; the chapelries of Ferryhill and
Trimdon; the townships of Preston-le-Skerne and
Woodham, in the parish of Ayclifie ; and the township

of Stillington, in the parish of Redmarshall. The
Union contains 23 townships ; its entire area is 43,953

acres ; and the population, in 1851, was 8,501, of whom
4,383 were males and 4,118 females.

For the receipts and expenditure in the year ended
Lady-day, 1851, see vol. i., p. 162. Since that period,

they have been stated as follows :

—

Up to Lady-day, 1852 -

1853 -

„ 1854 -

„ 1855 -

RECEIPTS.

£,. s.

2,830 I

2,602 4

2,550 3

3,020 12

EXPENDITURE.

£. S.

- 2,728 10

- 2,664 4

- 2,712 U
- 3,030 14

The receipts and expenditure of the respective town-
ships in the parish of Sedgefield, for the last-named

year, have been given at page 330. The following

shews the income and expenditure of the other portions

of the Union :

—

Receipts.

£..

Poor-rates :—Parish of Bishop-Middleham, 150/. 14s. ; parish

of Bishopton, 196/. 19s.
j
parish of Stainton-le-Street, 85/.

6s. ; chapelry of FerryhUl, 456/. 10$. ; chapelry of Trim-
don, 285/. 13s. ; part of parish of Aycliffe, 321/. lis.

; part

of parish of Redmarshall, 13/. 18s. - - -1,510 11

Id aid of poor-rate :—Bishop-Middleham. 5/. 7s. ; Bishopton,

21. 8s. i Stainton-le-Street, 1/. 12s. ; Ferryhill, 8/. 2s. ; Trim-
don, 28/. 17s.; Aycliffe, 4/. 3s.; Redmarshall, 3s. . 50 12

£1,561 3

about a week before the tithes (which are generally let off to farmers,

and the rents paid on the 20th of December) became due, she con-

cealed his death by salting his body in a private room. Her scheme
succeeded ; she received the emoluments of the living, and the next
day made the decease of the rector public. Since the fire, the appari-

tion has not been aevn.
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Expenditure.

In -maintenance :—Bishop-Middleham, IS/. 12s. ; Bishopton,

•U. 13s,; Stainton-le-Street, 1/. 8s.; Ferryhill, 231. 8s.

Trimdon, 40/. 12s. ; Aycliffe, 23/. 18s. - - - 11111

Out-relief :—Bishop-Middleham, 222/. ; Bishopton, 98/. lis.

Stainton-le-Street, 33/. Ss. ; Ferryhill, 173/. 6s. ; Trimdon

92/. 7s. ; Aycliffe, 119/. 18s. ; Redmarshall, 21. 5s. - 741 15

Salaries and rations of officers :—Bishop-Middleliam, 34/,

10s.; Bishopton, 19/. 3s.; Stainton-le-Street, 10/. 14s.

Ferryhill, 37/. 8s. ; Trimdon, 10/. 14s. ; Aycliffe, 23/. 14s.

Redmarshall, 1/. 10s. - - . - - 137 13

Other expenses :—Bishop Middlehara, 54/. 7s.; Bishopton

16/. 12s.; Stainton-le-Street, 9/. 5s.; Ferryhill, 57/. 7s.

Trimdon, 74/. 18s. ; Aycliffe, 20/. 10s. ; Redmai-shall, 1/. 6s. 234 5

Total expenses connected with relief 1,225 4

Costs of law proceedings :—Eishop-Middleham, 10/. 14s.

;

Bishopton, 6s. ; Ferryhill, 4/. os. ; Trimdon, 8/. 13s. - 23 18

Constables' expenses before justices :^Bishop-Middleham,

8/. 19s. ; Bishopton, 2/. 7s. ; Stainton-le-Street, 1/. 10s.

;

Ferryhill, 3/. 14s. ; Trimdon, 51. 15s. ; Aycliffe, 3/. 4s.

;

Redmarshall, 14s. - - - - - 26 3

Vaccination fees :—Bishop-Jliddleham, 51. ; Bishopton, 4s.

;

Stainton-le- Street, 7s.; Fen-yhill, 9/. 10s.; Trimdon, 8/.

17s. ; Aycliffe, 11. 18s, ; Redmarshall, 3s. - - 25 19

Registration feesto clergymen :—Bishop-Middleham, 4/. 14s.

;

Bishopton, 1/. 5s.; Staiuton-le-Street, 12s. ; Ferryhill, 9/.

Is. ; Trimdon, 9/. 19s. ; Aycliffe, 1/. ; Redmarshall, 2s. - 26 13

County-rate:—Bishop-Middleham, 111/. 12s.; Bishopton,

54/. 4s. ; Stainton-le-Street, 24/. 3s. ; Ferryhill, 143/. 14s.

;

Trimdon, 61/. 9s. ; Aycliffe, 1 14/. 5s. ; Redmarshall, 17/. 7s. 626 16

Parliamentary registration :—Bishop-Middleham, 1/. 15s. ;

Bishopton, 1/. 6s.; Stainton-le-Street, 17s. ; Ferryhill, 1/.

3s. ; Trimdon, 1/. ; Aycliffe, 18s. ; Redmarshall, 7s. -76
For other purposes :—Bishop-Middleham, 17/. 2s. ; Bishop-

ton, 4/. 19s. ; Stainton-le-Street, 5/. Is. ; Ferryhill, 26/.

;

Trimdon, 18/. 13s. ; Aycliffe, 6/. 2s. ; Redmarshall, 1/. Us. 79 8

£1,941 7

The workhouse occupied by the Union is the same

building as that used for the parish previous to the

passing of the Poor Law Act, and for which a rent of

£5 a year is paid to the churchwardens (see Harrison's

and Wren's CharitiesJ. There is no paid assistant

overseer.

CHARITIES.

School.—Sedgefield school is endowed with a close,

containing 5 acres, on Beacon Hill, in the township of

Sedgefield ; from whom derived is not known, The

property is let by the schoolmaster at £9 a year.

In respect of £52, old school-money, laid out in the

purchase of Howie Hope estate, hereafter mentioned,

the master also receives £5 a year from its rents. In

consideration of these sums, he instructs six poor

children of the township, who, as well as the master

himself, are appointed by the vestrymen. The trustees

of Wright's charity, noticed below, also pay £9 18s. to

the school, for which they appoint six boys. From 40

to 50 other children generally attend, who pay for their

own instruction.

Wrighfs Charity.—Richard Wright bequeathed,

July 23, 1790, £300 to trustees, to be invested in the

purchase of three per cent, consols, and the dividends

applied in educating and clothing six poor boys between

the ages of six and fourteen. The whole of the dividends,

£12, had been paid for educating the boys up to the

time of the Charity Commissioners Inquiry in 1829;

when they recommended that the surplus, after paying

the usual sum, 30s. each per annum, should be applied

in clothing as far as it wovild go. The schoolmaster

receives, as above-stated, £9 for teaching, and 18s. is

allowed for books, &c. : but no clothing is procured.

There is a small balance in hand.

Lowther^s Charity.—John Lowther, by will, Octo-

ber 19, 1792, directed that £600 stock should be

transferred to trustees, and the dividends applied in the

education and clothing of such poor children as he or

the trustees should appoint. Up to July, 1828, £4 16s.

a year was paid to a schoolmistress for teaching eight

girls, each of whom received clothes to the value of

£1 5s. annually ; but a surplus of £25 being at that

time in hand, it was resolved that six additional children

should be appointed until that surplus should be

exhausted.

Bainhriclge's Charity.—In respect of £50, less 10

per cent, legacy duty, bequeathed by John Drake

Bainbridge, October 16, 1811, for the same purpose as

the last-named charity, Lord Barrington for many
years paid £2 5s. interest, which was, in ignorance of

the testator's intention, given away with other charity

money. It is now given to the girls' school above

named.

Cooper's Alms-hot/ses.—Thomas Cooper, surgeon, of

Sedgefield, by will, March 6, 1702, demised to George

Cuthbertson and John Mowbray, and their heirs, all

his messiiages and lands in the chapelry of Hamsterley,

and at Hj-ndon in the parish of Cockfield, in trust, to

pay, from the rents and profits, to each of five poor

men and five poor women (being of the age of 50 years

at the least, and living and remaining in the township

of Sedgefield) the sum of £2 half-yearly, by equal por-

tions ; the said poor men and women to be nominated,

after the decease of his wife, by the rector and 24 of

the parish, who were also to provide each of the

recipients with a coat of the value of 8s., of a blue

colour, with the letters T. C. upon the arms in yellow.
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The testator also directed that, if he himself should not

erect a suitable alms-house in his life-time, the sum of

£100 should be given to the trustees for that purpose;

that the cost of repairs should be deducted equally out

of the several annuities given to the said poor people

;

and that they should not admit any person whatsoever

to dwell with them, unless in case of sickness. He
further directed, that if the requisite number of poor

people could not, at any time, be found in Sedgefield,

the deficiency should be made up from the township of

Cornforth, in the parish of Bishop-Middleham.

The alms-houses, a range of low brick buildings, with

the founder's arms in the centre, are situated to the

north of the church. The owner of the Hamsterley

estate pays £44 yearly ; each of the alms-people

receiving 40s. half-yearly, and 8s. in lieu of a cloak.

Wrightson's Charity.—In 180.3, William Wrightson

gave £5 yearly out of a field near Beacon, to be divided

equally amongst the ten alms-people. The sum of 10s.

each is distributed accordingly on St. Thomas's day.

Forster's Charity.—Thomas Forster (many years a

domestic in the family of Dr. Lowth), by will, Novem-
ber 15, 1814, directed that £2,400 should be invested

in the names of trustees, who were to apply so much of

the dividends as they might think necessary in the pur-

chase of suitable clothes for the inmates of Cooper's

alms-houses, and divide the remainder equally amongst

them. He further directed that £600 should be

invested, the proceeds of which were to be applied in the

purchase of good bread, to be distributed every Sunday

amongst 20 poor persons of the township not receiving

parochial relief. With the first legacy, £.3,4-35 7s. 9d.

three per cent, consols was purchased ; the half-yearly

dividend from which, £51 10s. 7d., is distributed

equally by the rector and churchwardens amongst the

alms-people. The other legacy was laid out in the

purchase of £858 16s. lid. three per cent, consols, the

half-yearly dividend from which is £12 17s. 8d.

Twenty sixpenny loaves were, until recently, given

away every Sunday to the same number of poor per-

sons ; the small deficiency in the half-year's money
being made up from Harrison's charity, hereafter

mentioned ; but the loaves are now reduced in size so

as to meet the sum allowed.

Lady Freville's Charity.—This charity, a portion of

which belongs to the parish of Bishop-Middleham, has

been noticed in vol. i., p. 397.

Harrison's and Wren's Charities.—In 166.3, Bryan
Harrison gave £100, the interest of which was to be

distributed to the poor of the town of Sedgefield every

Sunday. With £80 of this money, a house near East

Well, and a piece of ground called White Bread Field,

were purchased. In 1759, £30, given to the poor of

the parish by Rebecca Wren, was laid out in building

and repairing the premises, which, with a piece of

ground, were let to the overseers at £5 a year, and are

now used as the Union workhouse. The field was im-

proved by draining in 1820, for which purpose £30
was lent by the overseers ; and the rent was conse-

quently advanced from £6 lOs. to £13 a year. The
above sums are laid out in bread, which is distributed

weekly, beginning soon after Christmas, and continuing

as long as the money lasts. The following is the " Small

White Bread account" for 1848 :

—

:£. s. d.

Received 1 year's rent of White Bread Field,

£14 ; which, with rent of Poor's House, and

balance from last year 38 i Oj

Paid out-rent to the Bishop of Durham 3 4

" John Hood and others, for bread, for 12

weeks, at fl 17s. lid. per week 22 15

Balance due from churchwardens 15 6 Si

£38 4 9|

Howie Hope Estate.—The Howie or Holloway's

Hope copyhold estate, held of the manor of Bishop-

Middleham, contains about 28 acres. The first moiety

of it was purchased in 1705 for £100 2s. 6d. ; and the

remainder, about 1734, for £140. The following bene-

factions appear to have been applied towards those

sums :

—

1663.—From the gift of Bryan Harrison, being the balance

after the purchase mentioned above £20

16S0.—Henry Airey, the interest to be given to the poor of

the town of Sedgefield on Feb. 17 yearly 10

1684.—Robert Johnson, the interest to be given to the poor

of Sedgefield on St. Thomas's day yearly 20

1685.—John Gibson, the interest to be given to the poor of

the town yearly 3

1686.—Thomas Barker, the interest to be given to the poor

of the parish on Candlemas-day 10

1739.—Alice "Vane, the interest to be given to the poor of

the township of Sedgefield 5

Amount of School-stock, whereof £20 was given by Mrs.

FreviUe 52

Bequest of Madam Mary FreviUe to the poor 20

Howie Hope, Avith a cottage and barn erected

upon it, is let by auction, and produces about £40 a

year. Out of this rent, £5 is paid to the schoolmaster

on account of the school-stock included in the

purchase, 13s. 3d. yearly for land-tax, &c. To the

balance is added the produce of Bainbridge's and

Jane Mason's charities, any surplus of Lady Freville's

charity that may remain on St. Thomas's day, money
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collected at the sacrament, and a voluntary donation by

the rector ; and the whole is distributed, on the 14th

February yearly, amongst the poor of the parish. The

following statement of the account is for February,

1847:—

Receipts.

Balance from Lady Freville's charity £51 18

Received 1 year's rent of Howie Hope, from Robert

Dakers 41

One year's rent due from Neiceless farm, to the poor

ofSedgefield 1

£93 18

Payments.

Paid out-rent due to the Bishop of Durham, for Howie

Hope 2 5

„ baUiff'srent 6^

,, master of Grammar school 5

„ for paper and keeping accounts 7 6

„ for stamps 10
,, a poor man ill of fever 1

„ poor of Sedgefield 45 16 6

„ „ Foxton 1 11 6

„ „ „ Morden 4 4

,, „ ,, Bradbury 6 6

„ „ „ Butterwick 1 8

„ „ „ Embleton 2 18

„ „ „ Fishburn 7 15
69 19

Balance due charity 17 7 6J

£93 18

Jane Mason's Charity.—Jane Mason, in 1662, gave

20s. yearly to the poor of the parish, charged on a

close called Shotton Newkes, by the proprietor of

which it continued to be paid until about three years

ago, when the estate fell into the hands of trustees, and

the payment was discontinued.

Lamb's Charity.—John Lamb, of Manchester, by

will, November 26, 1808, directed that on the death of

Martha Furness, aU his personal estates, with the

exception of £100, should be settled for the support of

£ve poor aged impotent men, and five poor aged

impotent women, of the parish. This sum amounted to

£484 7s. 3d., which it was intended to lay out in land.

On the death of Martha Furness, however, the money

was invested in government stock ; and the interest is

given as directed.

Soulsby's Charity.—William Soulsby, Esq. merchant,

of Essex Street, Strand, London, bequeathed to the

churchwardens and trustees for the time being of the

old Grammar School, Sedgefield, the sura of £300, clear

of legacy duty, to be invested in government stock ; the

interest arising therefrom to be paid to the master for

the time being of the said school for ever, for the educa-

tion of two additional poor children (such children not

to be under seven nor above ten years of age), to be

instructed in the Latin classics until they attain the age

of fourteen ; the said children to be appointed by the

vestry ; and in case the trustees of the old Grammar
School should neglect or refuse to fulfil their trusts,

then it shall be lawful for the executors and trustees of

the said Wm. Soulsby, or their heirs, to see to the pro-

per application of the interest arising from the £300 of

government stock, and to nominate and appoint such

children, in accordance with the intention of the donor,

as should receive the benefits of the said charity. Mr.

Soulsby died April 10, 1832 ; his will was proved in

the Prerogative Court, Canterbury, June 27, in the

same year; and the £300 was invested in April, 1833,

in government stock amounting to £340 18s 2d. in the

names of the Rev. T. Linwood Strong, rector; Richard

Wright, Esq., Sands ; Benjamin Ord, Esq., and the

Rev. Wm. Middleton, Sedgefield. The charity is

administered agreeably to the intentions of the testator.

INSTITUTIONS, &c.

The Sedgefield Institute of Literature and

Science was commenced in December, 1849, and now
consists of 70 members, possessing a library of 651

volumes. Donations of books have been occasionally

made by Dr. Townsend of Durham, the Rev. T. L.

Strong, rector, the Rev. T. J. Steele, of Sedgefield, and

other friends of education. The subscriptions average

about £20 per annum. There is a reading room, pro-

vided with newspapers, open daily from 10 a.m. to

10 P.M. Lectures are occasionally deUvered gratui-

tously ; and annual soirees are held. Rural fetes have

been twice held, by permission, in the neighbouring

pleasure grounds at Hardwick, at which visitors from

Stockton, Hartlepool, &c., are admitted.

Schools.—There is a boarding-school in Sedgefield,

for the education of a limited number of young ladies.

Besides the free school (see pp. 332, 338), the rector

supports a school for boys, and a school for girls is

supported by Mrs. Strong, both of which are well

attended.

County Lunatic Asylum.—In 1854, a site for a

lunatic asylum was examined, by order of the county

magistrates, by Dr. Hill, of the asylum for the North

Riding of Yorkshire, who reported favourably of its

suitableness. At a meeting of the magistrates, August 2,
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1855, it was finally agreed that the building should be

erected on the land selected, which is situated to the

north-east of Sedgefieid, between Fishburn and the

Durham road.* It is estimated that the cost, including

the ground, will be about £50,000.

Gas and Water.—A gas company has been pro-

jected, to be in shares of £5 each, forming a capital of

£1,000. The number of shareholders is under 25, and

therefore not liable to the provisions of the Registration

Act. The town is supplied with water from various

springs and a public pump.f

Ploughing Matches, at which prizes are given, are

occasionally held at Sedgefieid, for the encouragement

of agricultural labourers.

HARDWICK.

The manor of Hardwick adjoins Sedgefieid on the

west, from which Hardwick Hall is distant about half

a mile. The mansion is a spacious building, fronting

the south, and overlooking the highly ornamented

pleasure grounds which were formed during the pro-

prietorshij) of John Burdon, Esq. Immediately in

front is a fine sheet of water, covering 36 acres ; the

margin of which is fringed with reeds and rushes, the

resort of numerous water-fowl from the neighbouring

marshes. Grassy slopes and plantations of flowering

shrubs and evergreens, thickened with forest trees

behind, surround this magnificent lake, a view of the

whole of which is commanded from a Gothic seat,

elevated on a flight of steps, protected by a porch. At

the west end of the lake is the Bath, a neat building of

the Doric order, in the vestibule of which there is a

bust of Diana. An alto-relievo sculpture, representing

the head of Neptune, is in one of the dressing rooms

;

and the fire screen of another room is ornamented with

a painting of Apollo and the Muses. On the verge of

• A double murder was committed at Cowley House, near Sedge-

field, on the 10th November, 1828, by a man named Joseph Hutchin-

son, on his father and brother, who were joint occupiers of the farm.

He rose from dinner without any provocation, and returned with a

kitchen poker, with which he felled his victims to the ground, and
afterwards beat their brains out with a hammer. He then coolly

saddled a horse, and rode to Durham as though nothing had hap-

pened, but was taken on liis return. At his trial, February 23, 1849,

the grand jury threw out the bill for murder on the ground of insanity.

Being arraigned on the coroner's warrant, and asked whether he was
guilty or not, he replied, " I did it, but were they (Christians or not ?"

He seemed perfectly collected, and indifferent to what was passing,

tolling the jury that he would bring " a speech bo.\" for them. Me-

a smaller lake is a hermitage, containing busts of New-

ton, Bacon, Locke, Aurelius, Boyle, and Cicero. A
large mirror, opposite the entrance, reflects an artificial

cascade at the further end of the lake.

An elegant Grecian temple, in the Ionic order, stands

on a circular eminence on the south side of the lake.

It is square, surrounded by a colonnade of six pillars on

each side, and surmounted by an octagonal dome.

Busts of Homer, Virgil, Horace, Milton, Shakespeare,

Ben Jonson, and Pope, are placed in niches around

the walls. The walk along the colonnade commands

an extensive prospect of the surrounding country. In

the interior, above the entrance, is a bust of Mi-

nerva ; and busts of Socrates, Plato, Demosthenes,

Julius Caesar, Titus, Marcus Brutus, and Antoninus

Pius, are arranged on brackets around the room.

There are medallions of the four seasons in the recesses

between the windows, which, with the stucco work of

the ceiling, were executed by Cartici ; the floor is

inlaid with marble mosaic. In triangular divisions at

the four corners of the room is an inscription :
—" Tliis

Temple hegtm hy John Burdon, Esq., in the year 1T54,

and finished in 1757." The inside of the cuj)ola is

adorned with paintings by the Bornese, father and son,

representing IMusic, Painting, Sculpture, and Architec-

ture, the four cardinal virtues, and Minerva surrounded

by genii and warlike trophies.

A serpentine river, the extremities of which are

hidden by the surrounding plantations, is crossed by a

picturesque bridge. On a pedestal in the middle of the

river, Neptune is represented in the act of throwing his

trident, similar to the figure in the market-place at Dur-

ham. The road from the bridge leads to an artificial ruin,

which consists of a small central apartment, above a

pointed arch, and surmounted at one corner by a circular

turret. Several curious sculptures from Guisborough

Priory are built into the walls.

The Eanquetting House, intended to have formed

part of a sumptuous mansion, stands near the east

dical and other evidence proved the unsoundness of his mijid ; and he

was taken back to prison, to be removed to an asylum.

t The fetching of water has always afforded an opportunity for

gossip and scandal, an instance of which occurs in the case of " Janet

Steiling con. Margaret Bulman," nearly throe centuries ago :

—

" Agnes Wheitley, wife of Robert ^^^^citley, of Scgetield, aged 33

years.— .'i.s this cxaminate was commyng forth with her skeill, she

hard BuUman's wyffe call Stylliuge ' noughtie pack ;' who answered,

' What nowtynes know you by rae ? I am neither goostcler nor steg

(gander) steiler, I would you knew ytt." And then Bullman's wyff

said, 'What, noughiy hoore, caull thou me goose steiler:' 'Nay

mayry, I know thee for no such,' saith Stillinge wyffe, ' but I thank

you for your good reporte ; whills you and I talk farther."
"
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end of the large lake, flanked by two lines of ever-

greens. Its exterior is Corinthian. The principal

apartment is 50 feet long, 25J broad, and of the same

height: it is splendidly fitted up, and adorned with

gilding ; the mantle-piece is formed by well contrasted

specimens of beautifully coloured marbles. At each

end of the room, is a semicircular recess, supported

by Ionic columns, containing a bow window ; the front

windows overlook the lake. Busts of Flora, Sappho,

Faustina, and CorneUa, are placed on brackets on one

side of the room ; and those of Virgil, Vitruvlus, Pal-

ladio, and Inigo Jones, are opposite. In an oval in the

centre of the ceiling is a painting of the Feast of the

Gods, by Hayman ; to the right, in a square, Thetis

supplicating Jupiter for her son ; and to the left, Venus

delivering the cestus to Juno, both by Wall. Above

the doors are Bacchanals, and Cupid and Psyche,

by Hayman. Amidst all this gorgeous classical and

mythological display, there is a well executed por-

trait of the founder, John Burden, Esq., in the plain

dress of an English gentleman, with his spaniel by his

side.

The designs for the several buildings were made by

Payne, and executed by ISIr. Bell, of Durham. The

grounds contain 150 acres, of which 46 acres are covered

with water.

Parties holding the local name are mentioned both in

Boldon Book and the Survey; and though other proprie-

tors occur, the whole estate was eventually concentrated

in the principal owner. John de Hardwick died in

1-S98, and left an only daughter, Agnes, who married

Gilbert de Hoton. The estate afterwards came into the

possession of William Hoton, mercer, of London, one

of whose daughters was married to William Hansard,

of Walworth, and the other to William Hebburne, who

thus acquired Hardwick. Anthony Hebburne, Esq.,

great-grandson of William, joined the insurrection of

1569, and was included in the act of attainder. His

lands in Hardwick were granted, by letters patent, in

the 32nd year of Queen Elizabeth, to George Frevillc,

a Staffordshire gentleman, who had served as clerk of

the ordnance under the Earl of Sussex, and had thus

been employed in quelling the rebellion. The estate

was held under a reserved rent of £25 19s. 6d. In

1603, Freville was knighted by King James at York, on

his first entry, and was keeper of Raby for the crown.

Dving without issue, Hardwick passed to his nephew,

who was charged with a horse and its furniture for the

service of Charles I. His daughter Margaret married,

first. Sir Thomas Lambton, (knighted by Cromwell)

son of Sir William Lambton, Knt. ; and, secondly,

Nicholas Conyers, Esq., of Biddick. Freville Lambton,

son of Thomas and Margaret, married Ann Milward, of

Uttoxeter, Staffordshire, who, on her death bed, desired

her husband to marry her cousin, Thomasiue Milward,

which he accordingly did. The issue of this marriage

was Thomas Lambton, whose six daughters and co-

heiresses sold Hardwick, in 1748, to John Burdon, Esq.,

who conveyed it, in 1780, (reserving his life interest,)

to William Russell, Esq. The estate is now the pro-

perty of Viscount Boyne, of Brancepeth Castle j and the

mansion is the residence of C. Bramwell, Esq., of

Sunderland.

EAST AND WEST LAYTON.

The manor of Layton is about two miles south-east

from Sedgefield. A family named Layton intermarried

with the Brackenburys, who held of the Mundevilles,

by rendering a barbed arrow at entrance, or 40d. The

property of the Laytons afterwards was divided between

the Colvilles and Moresbys, and was re-united in Cuth-

bert Conyers, Esq., second son of Sir William Conyers

of Sockburn, and high sheriff of the county. Ralph,

his son, forfeited his life estate by engaging in the

Northern Rebellion ; but, through an entail, it passed

to his nephew, Sir Ralph Conyers, whose son, Cuth-

bert, was colonel of a regiment of horse for Charles I.,

and fell in that service at Malpas in Cheshire, in

August, 1644. The last of the family was John

Conyers, a younger brother, who, having been educated

abroad for the Catholic church, led a retired and

melancholy life in an obscure lodging with one of his

own tenants ; and, dying unmarried and intestate in

1748, Layton became the property of Thomas Maire,

Esq., of Lartington, and George Baker, Esq., of

Elemore, descendants of the daughters of Sir Ralph

Conyers. George Baker, Esq., having, in 1771, pur-

chased Maire's moiety, sold Layton to William Russell,

Esq., of Brancepeth, and it is now the property of

Viscount Boyne.

Sands House, for many years the property of the

Ords, and latterly of Richard Wright, Esq., son of

Ralph M'ard, Esq., is now the property and residence

of his relative, Mark Ord, Esq. It is situated about a

mile west-south-west from Sedgefield, and is a spacious

and elegant house, commanding an extensive and beau-

! tiful prospect of the surrounding country.
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BRADBURY AND THE ISLE.

The manors of Bradbury and the Isle form a township,

which contains 2,043 acres. Its population, at the suc-

sessive periods of return, was 106, 125, 132, 147, 167,

and 171 ; 83 of the latter number being males and 88

females. In 1851, there were 31 inhabited houses.

The value of property assessed for the county-rate, in

1853, was £2,731.

The York, Newcastle, and Berwick, now the North-

eastern railway, has an extent of two miles, and an area

of 26 A. 2 R. 23 p. in this township, and contributed '

£38 8s. 8id. in 1851, and £42 5s. in 1852, to the local

rates ; the gross amounts collected in those years being

£114 5s. 7d. and £125 4s. The Clarence railway,

with an extent of 6f. and an area of 7 a., contributed

£11 in 1851 and £11 10s. in 1852.

Bradbury.—The village of Bradbury is situated on

the Skerne, 2 5 miles west from Sedgefield. It consists

of two or three farm houses, a public house, a black-

smith's shop, and a few cottages, in but indifferent con-

dition. There was formerly a chapel of ease in the

township, dedicated to Saint Nicholas; but it fell to

decay, and its foundations were removed nearly a

century ago.

Bradbury, with Mordon, Socceburg, and Grisebi,

were given to Saint Cuthbert by Snaculf, the son of

Cykell. It is conjectured that this manor anciently

belonged to the knightly family which took its name

from the adjoining Isle. In 1343, Bradbury and the

Isle were parts of the estate of William de la Pole, who
held of the bishop by suit of court and half a knight's

fee. From the De la Poles, Earls of Suffolk, these

estates had passed, before 1439, to Roger Thornton,

merchant, of Newcastle, with whose daughter and

heiress they passed in marriage to John Lord Lumley.

Before 1569, Bradbury and the Isle had become the

property of the Nevilles, and wore included in the

forfeitures of the Earl of Westmoreland. Bradbury

was granted to Sir George Bowes apparently for a term

of years, on the expiration of which. King James I., by

letters patent, dated October 19, 1606, demised the

manor of Bradbury, with that of Hilton (see p. 115),

to Thomas Emerson, Esq., for 1,000 years, under the

yearly rent of £550. It would appear that the Ear) of

Huntingdon had, in the interim, purchased Bowes's

term. Surtees states that the grant was to Sir John
Ramsay, Knt., the king's preserver from the Gowry
conspiracy. The term, however, was purchased from

VOL. II.

Emerson by Richard Manning ; and King Charles I.,

in 1638, granted the inheritance to Edward Manning,

brother of Richard, under the same reserved rent. On
the purchase of Hilton by Henry Marley, the rent was

apportioned, and £360 was charged upon Bradbury.

In 1653, the Mannings sold this manor to John Farrer,

Gent., of Durham. Arrears of rent having accrued,

Cromwell, by his warrant under the privy seal, dated

at Westminster, April 15, 1658, ratified the apportion-

ment. In 1719, a moiety of the manor was purchased

by Benjamin Ord, of Sedgefield ; and the other moiety

was afterwards sold by Farrer Wren, Esq., to Richard

Wright, Esq., of the same place, who devised it to his

grand-nephew, Richard Ord, Esq., of Sands, on condi-

tion of his assuming the name of Wright. The first-

named moiety, with property formerly belonging to the

Smiths and Addisons, were united by the late Richard

Wright, Esq., and now belong to Mark Ord, Esq.

The Isle lies to the south of Bradbury, and, being

completely insulated by the Skerne, the Rushyford

Beck, and some smaller streams, is liable to inundations
;

but, since the formation of the railway, not to the same

extent as formerly. The L'Isles and De Insulas occur

in several ancient documents. The Isle was granted,

with Bradbury, to Sir George Bowes ; at which time a

survey states it to consist of " a fayre hall, with boords,

thrystells, and fowrmes ; and a fayre chymney, wyth

one chaymcr above covered with slayte. A fayre par-

lowre, well syled, and in good case of glassinge ; and

on yt a greate chaymer covered with slayte. A lobbye,

from the say'd greate chaymer into a galerye covered

with leade, being of xvii yeards of lengthe, and iiij

yeards and d. broode." Other chambers are mentioned,

as well as a " goodley barn and stables for 24 or 30

horses, a leade that will salt iij oxen." The extent of

the fields is not mentioned; but the park is of " 100

days' mowing," and the " grene about the howse will

beare calves."

The Isle was sold by Sir William, son of Sir George

Bowes, to Sir Cuthbert Buckle, whose son sold it to

Sir Thomas Tempest, Knt., attorney-general of Ireland.

During the Commonwealth, he compounded for his

estate for £134. His son, John Tempest, Esq., mar-

ried Elizabeth, daus;htor and heiress of John Heath,

Esq., of Kepyer and Old Durluini; he was colonel of

a regiment in tlie army of King Charles 1. At the

Restoration, he was nouiiiiatcd for a Knight of the

intended Order of the Royal Oak, whicli was never

established. His estate, as returned, w;is valued at

3 B
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£1,000 per annum. He took a prominent part in the

efforts made to procure parliamentary representation

;

and, though unsuccessful, he and William Davison,

Esq., were met, on their return from London, with a

jiopular welcome. Bishop Cosin, much annoyed at

this, writes, " The newes that you write of Mr. Jony

Tempest and his vain-glorious coming in triumph with

one hundred and fifty horse before him into the country,

lookes like a great insolence or somewhat that is worse."

Mr. Tempest represented the county in the parliaments

of 1675, and 1678-9, and died in July, 1697. The
Isle continued in the possession of his posterity till

it was sold by the Marchioness of Londonderry to Lord

Chancellor Eldon. The ancient mansion-house, which

has long been deserted by its owners, still remains, and

is occupied as a farm-house ; its projecting gables, and

narrow windows with stone mullions, harmonizing with

the dreariness of its situation.

MORDON.

The township of Mordon contains 1,537 acres. Its

population is stated in the successive returns at 101,

127, 124, 174, 161, and 163, of which latter number
82 were males and 81 females. There were, at the

same time, 33 inhabited houses and 2 uninhabited. In

1853, the property was valued for the county-rate

at £1,801.

The North-eastern railway passes over 1 F. and

covers 1 a. 1 r. in this township. It contributed

£2 10s. 5d. in 1851, and £2 19s. 7d. in 1852, towards

the local rates ; and the Clarence railway, which has an

extent of 1 m. 5f. 35 y. and an area of 15 a., contri-

buted, in those years, £23 13s. 4d. and £27 14s. The
gross amounts collected were £74 14s. 6d. in 1851 and

£101 10s. 8d. in 1852.

The village of Mordon is about two miles south-

west from Sedgefield. It consists of two or three farm

houses, a public house, and a few workmen's cottages.

Mordon Carrs is an extensive level of many hundred

acres, through which the Skerne and its numerous

feeders slowly traverse through their devious windings,

and frequently in winter overflow their low banks. At

such times, the place is the resort of flocks of wild

geese, ducks, &c. Though the Carrs have been somc-

• " Die Jovis, die Febr. anno 1630.—Willm Hixon, of Mordon, a

Papist recusant, for interrupting divine service in ye cathedral church

of Dnrham, by his profane & outrageous roaring & bellowing like a

bull, near unto the queare door, whereby the service of God was in-

terrupted, &c., & wt was conceived to be done in contempt, he being

what improved since the formation of the railway, the

line has been more than once injured or rendered

impassable by these inundations, respecting which there

is an old adage :

—

" When Roseberry Topping wears a hat,

Mordon-Carrs will suffer for that."

Mordon was included in SnaculPs donation to the

church. There appears to have been for some time a

family of the local name. In 1334, William, son of

Thomas de Shotton, died seised of two messuages and

60 acres of land in Mordon, held of the bishop in capite
,

by homage, fealty, and the fortieth part of a knight's fee,

leaving Alicia, daughter of Roger de Grenden, his heir.

John de Kellaw held three parts of the vill in 1348,

which, in the following year, were held by John

Harpyn, charged with the support of three chantry

priests at the altar of St. Helen's of Kellawe. From
the Harpyns, Mordon passed by marriage to the

Lumleys, and afterwards to the Trollops of Thornley.

The Martins, Harrisons, Reeds, Hixons,* Conyers,

Hodgsons, and Wards, occur at various periods as

holding property in Mordon. The daughter and

heiress of John Ward, Gent., of Billingham, married

William Sleigh, Esq., by whom her possessions were

consequently held. Other portions were purchased of

the Reeds by William Russell, Esq., and by Lord

Barrinsfton.

FOXTON AND SHOTTON.

This township consists of a hamlet with five farms called

Foxton, and two farms called Shotton, about 3 miles

south from Sedgefield. The extent of the whole is 1,787

acres. The returns of population are 53, 62, 63, 73,

44, and 58, 35 of the latter being males and 23 females.

The property was valued for the county-rate, in 1853,

at £697 6s.

"

In 1851, the amount collected for local rates was

£38 18s. '^\A.., towards whsch the Clarence railway,

covering an extent of 2f. and an area of 4a., contributed

£3. In 1852, it contributed £4 towards an amount

of £51 9s.4id.

Foxton or Foxdene manor belonged to the Knights

Templars, whose possessions, on the dissolution of their

order, were transferred to the Knights Hospitallers of

as aforesaid a Papist recusant : was sentenced to make an open sub-

mission at y« markett crosse, in Durham, on a Satterdaie in his

lyning appareU, & to pay costes of court. Presentibus Ricardo Hunt,

S.T.P., Decan. John Cosin, John Robson," &c.

Thank you for purchasing from Ebay Shop Retromedia

http://stores.shop.ebay.co.uk/retromedia


PARISH OF SEDGEFIELD. 345

St. John. Under them, the families of Seton, Carrowe,

Sayer, De la Pole, Fulthorp, and Elstobb, held various

possessions. The latter family, probably deriving their

name from the hamlet of Elstob, in the adjoining parish

of Stainton, and who resided here from 1393 to 1726,

at length acquired nearly the whole vill.* At the death

of Roger Thornton in 1470, 115 acres and two oxgangs

in Foxden were held by him of John Sayer and Tho-

mas Seton. In the last century, the manor was the

estate of Carlton Carr, Esq., of Haiighton.

Shotton appears to have belonged generally to the

same proprietors as Foxton. A part of it belonged

to John Hebborne of Hardwick in 1507; and Anthony

Hebborne, who was attainted in 1570, forfeited lands in

Shotton of £11 annual value. These were granted by

the crown to Sir William Bowes, who sold them to Sir

George Frevillc, of Hardwick. In 1685, Shotton was

the estate of Gerard Salvin, Esq., of Croxdale, whose

descendant, William Thomas Salvin, Esq., sold it to

William Russell, Esq. ; and Foxton and Shotton now
belong to Viscount Boyne, of Brancepeth Castle.

BUTTERWICK.

Thi.s township, including the manor of Old Acres, con-

tains an area of 1,495 acres, on which, in 1851, there

were 10 inhabited houses. The population, at the six

decennial periods of return, was 60, 49, 54, 38, 51, and

64 ; 31 of the latter number being males and 33 females.

The property was assessed to the county-rate, in 1853,

at £710. The hamlet of Buttcrwick, which contains a

public house and three or four farm houses, is about 2

miles east-by-north from Sedgefield.

In the time of Bishop Pudsey, the drenge fed a dog

• William and Elizabeth Elstob.—Ralph Elstob, merchant-

adventurer, of Newcastle-upon-Tyne, of which town he was sheriff

in 1686, was the second son of Charles Elstob, Esq., of Foxton. He
died in April, 1688, leaving, by his wife, Jane, daughter of William

Hall, merchant, of Newcastle, four sons and four daughters.

William, eldest son, was removed from Eton to Catherine Hall, Cam-
bridge, and from thence to Queen's College, Oxford, whence he was
elected Fellow of University on the aSrd July, 1696. The study of

Saxon literature was at that time popular in Queen's College, and, at

the request of Dr. Hickes, Mr. Elstob translated the Saxon homily of

Lupus into Latin. In 1709, he produced a Latin version of the

Saxon homily of Saint Gregor)*; but his most considerable design

was an edition of the Saxon laws, the publication of which, however,

was prevented by his death. Through the influence of an uncle, who
was a prebendary of Canterbury, he was presented, in 1702, by the

dean and chapter of that church, to the united parishes of Saint

Swithin and Saint Mary Botham, London. He died March 3, 1715.

His sister, Elizabeth Elstob, is considered to have been " the first and
last of her sex who was a Saxon scholai'." She is said to have re-

and horse, provided two greyhounds for the chase, and

five cords of provender, attended the court, and served

on embassies. Utredus de Butterwick paid half a mark ;

and the vill paid 32s. for cornage, and various rents in

kind, with services by the villains. In Hatfield's Survey,

the rent is stated at £6 13s. 4d., which was also paid

by John de Heton in Bishop Bury's time. The manor

afterwards passed in marriage to William Bellasis, of

HenknoU ; and it was acquired by purchase by Richard

Baynbrigg, Esq., in 1462. In 1581, George Baynbrigg,

Esq., grandson of Richard, granted the manor to

Gerard Salvin, Esq., of Croxdale, in whose lineal

descendant it is still vested.

A tenement, 15 acres of land, and 4 of meadow,

which had belonged to the chantry of St. Catherine, in

Sedgefield church, were granted by Queen Elizabeth,

in 1591, to Edmund Downing and Roger Rant, to hold

of the manor of East Greenwich in soccage, and by 14s.

8d. rent. In 1612, the property was purchased by

Ralph Butler, Gent., of Butterwick, and has since been

united to the Old Acres estate.

Old Acres is mentioned in Boldon Book as paying

16s. rent, which, in Hatfield's time, was reduced to

8s. lid. In the 15th century, the manor had become

the property of the Fulthorps, and passed by marriage

to Richard Booth, and afterwards to John Swinburne,

Esq., of Chetwell, who engaged in the Northern

Rebellion. In 1574, it was granted to the trustees of

Robert Bowes, Esq., of Aske, who sold it for £71 13s.

4d., to Gregory Butler, Gent., of Bishop Auckland.

It remained in the Butler family till 1715, when it

passed to Robert Spearman, Gent. In 1832, it Avas the

seat of his daughter, Mrs Charlotte Swinburn, and is

now in the possession of her representatives.

ceived the rudiments of her very extraordinary education from her

mother ; and she was also the companion of her brother's studies at

Oxford. With him she removed to London, and printed an English

translation with her brother's homily in 1709. She also assisted him

in an intended edition of Gregory's Pastoral. A few Saxon homilies,

of which she had undertaken an edition, were printed in folio at

Oxford. Chief Justice Parker defrayed the expense of the tj'pes for

a Saxon Grammar, which she published in 1715. On the death of

her brother, she was under the necessity of keeping a school for her

subsistence at Evesham, until she obtained a pension of twenty

guineas from Queen Caroline. The death of her benefactress, and

consequent stoppage of her pension, again plunged her into diffi-

culties, from which she was at length rescued by the Duchess

Dowager of Portland, in whose family she became an inmate.

Rowe Mores describes her in her old age, sitting in her chamber at

Bulstrode, surrounded with books and dirt. The latter days of this

extraordinary woman were rendered easy and comfortable by her

patroness, at whose house she died on the 30th of May, 1756.
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546 STOCKTON WARD—NORTH-EAST DIVISION.

EMBLETON.

This township, with Swainston and the Mortons,

measures 3,356 acres, on which, in 1851, there were 20

inhabited houses. Its population, in 1801 and the five

following enumerations, was 98, 105, 100, 105, 98, and

117; 6-4 of the latter number being males and 49 fe-

males. The property was assessed to the county-rate,

iu 1853, at £1,142.

Embleton, anciently Elmdene, from an elm-wood

which formerly grew in the neighbouring dene, is a

hamlet 4 miles east-by-south from Sedgefield. It

contains a chapel of ease, capable of accommodating 60

persons, in which the curates of Sedgefield officiate on

alternate Sundays. Some round arches in the north

wall, now closed up, show that it has been formerly

wider in that direction ; and it is supposed that the

chancel originally extended further to the east. It is

the only remaining one of four chapelries once dependent

on the church at Sedgefield.

This place anciently gave name to the family of

Elmeden, in whom it continued until Elizabeth,

daughter and heiress of William Elmeden, intermarried

with William Buhner. The Bulmers resided at Elme-

den, and were styled of that place, till it was alienated

piecemeal, in the ITth century, to the Eshes, Hicksons,

and Surteeses. It afterwards passed, through William

Wrightson, surgeon, of Sedgefield, to Mr. John WiUis,

of Stillington, in whose descendant it is still vested.

Lamb's Charity.—In 1728, William Lamb gave £5,

the interest to be given to the poor of Embleton. This

sum is placed in the hands of the rector of Sedgefield

for the time being, by whom the interest is paid every

four years to the overseer of Embleton, for distribution

amongst the poor of that township.

Swainston is a hamlet about 3 miles to the east of

Sedgefield. The estate comprises three farms. High,

Middle, and Low Swai?iston, near the latter of which

are the vestiges of several houses, apparently the

remains of a considerable village.

Swainston was the property of the Nevilles from the

year 1370, and, after the attainder, was granted by

Queen Elizabeth to Thomas C'alverley and Henry

Anderson. It was afterwards purchased for Sir Thomas

Tempest, whose lands here, let for £140 per annum,

were seized by the sequestrators, and let for £90. The

property descended to the Marchioness of Londonderry.

On July 19, 1855, the Lands Improvement Company

gave notice that application had been made by the

Most Hon. Frances-Anne -Vane, Marchioness of Lon-

donderry, for the power to charge on lands in Swains-

ton, in Long Newton, in the Close, parish of Elwick

Hall, and in Barmston, parish of Washington, a sum
not exceeding £3,425 5s., under the provisions of" The

Lands Improvement Company's Act, 1833," and of

" The Lands Improvement Company's Amendment
Act, 1855," to be applied to improvements, and to be

repaid with interest by way of rent-charge or annuity,

in the terms of the said act.

West Morton.—After passing through the hands of

various owners. West Morton became the property of

the Claxtons, of Old Park, who held it till 1649, when

it was purchased by Thomas Todd, merchant, of

Newcastle. In the beginning of the 18th century, it

was the property of Bertram Stote, of Jesmond ; and, by

successive purchases, it passed, before 1754, to John

Nesham, Esq., whose descendant, in 1808, sold it to

John Griffith, Esq., of Durham.

East Morton belonged to the Elmedens and Bul-

mers, and, latterly, to the Maires of Lartington.

FISHBURN.

This township is the most northerly part of the parish

of Sedgefield, and contains 2,082 acres. In 1801, the

population was 154, and increased progressively at the

subsequent enumerations to 171, 192, 212, 239, and

261, of whom 127 were males and 134 females. In

1851, there were 55 inhabited houses, and two unin-

habited. The value of property assessed for the county-

rate in 1853 was £1,325 4s.

The village of Fishburn stands on the side of a hill

sloping to the south, about 2 miles north from Sedge-

field. It is a neat and pleasant place, containing two

public houses, a corn-mill, and the shops of a smith, a

millwright, &c. T'here is a Wesleyan chapel in the vil-

lage ; and a school is endowed with £5 per annum by

Lord Crewe's trustees. In November, 1852, £10 was

granted from the same source towards rebuilding the

school-room. One of the curates of Sedgefield reads

the church service in the school-room every alternate

Sunday afternoon ; the rector also taking his turn.

From the family of Fishburn this manor passed to

the Claxtons, and was divided amongst three of the

daughters of Robert Claxton, who died in 1484. They

married into the families of Elmeden, Conyers of Hor-

don, and Widdrington. The portion of the Elmedens

I
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passed through the Bulmers, Ords, and Woodifields, to

William Beckwith, Esq., of Thurcroft, Yorkshire,

whose descendant. Colonel Beckwith, still holds pro-

perty in the township. The Conyers' portion passed to

the Layton branch of the family; it was seized in 1644

by the sequestrators, and subsequently alienated. Lands

belonging to the Lumleys and Boweses became, in

1558, the property of Robert Ayton, whose sisters

married, respectively, Robert Farrer and William

Hcighington. The descendants of the Farrers or

Farrowes continued in lineal succession till 1759, when,

on the death of Nicholas Farrowe, without issue, the

estate descended to his nephew, Nicholas Chilton, Esq.,

whose descendant. Miss Chilton, of Fishhurn Hall,

died in 1839, and left several charitable bequests.*

The property belonging to the Chiltons, is now held

by Robert Hall Nayler, Esq., who occupies the man-

sion, and by Mr. John Giles. A tenement in the

village, called Charter House, the property of the

• John Brarawell and John Kipling, Esqrs., executors of Miss

Chilton, paid £180 to the Durham Infirmary, the legacy duty of £20

having been first deducted from the sum of £200 which she had be-

queathed. The British and Foreign Bible Society also received £200
;

Wilkinsons, is subject to an annual fee-farm rent

of £2.

Airey's Cliarity.—Henry Airey, in 1680, gave

£7 10s., the interest thereof to be given yearly to the

poor of Fishhurn on February 14. This money is in

the hands of the representatives of the Chiltons, by
whom 7s. 6d. is distributed annually as the interest.

Mason's Charity.—William Mason, in 1696, charged

his lands in Fishhurn with £1 4s. a year for the poor
of that township, and 6d. each at Christmas, Easter,

and Pentecost, to every poor widow. The sum of

£1 4s. (all that has been paid for many years) is con-

tributed in equal portions by John Chilton, John Rich-

ardson, and the tenant of Col. Beckwith, and is given

by the overseer, on Feb. 14, to about ten poor persons.

WoodifieliTs Charity.—The sum of £20, given by
John Woodifield, in 1744, to the poor of Fishhurn, was
lost many years ago, having been placed in the hands
of William Arrowsmith, who became insolvent.

the Wesleyan Methodist Missionary Society, £350 ; the Church Mis-
sionary Society, £100; the Wesleyan Preachers' Auxiliary Fund,
£100; and a sum of £200 stock, for the education of poor children

belonging to the township of Fishburn.

THE AEEA, NUMBER OF HOUSES, POPULATION, &c., OF STOCKTON WAED.

SOUTH-WEST DIVISION.
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STOCKTON WARD.

It will thus be seen that the entire area of the ward is

92,143 acres. The annual value of property assessed to

the county-rate in 1853 was £151,706 9s. 9d. In 1831,

the population of the South-west Division was 11,664;

and of the North-east Division, 7,470 ; or 19,134 in

all. In 1841, as shewn in the above table, it was 27,039,

being an increase of 7,905 during the ten years, or about

41-314 per cent. The number in 1851, 34,996, shews

a further increase of 7,957, or 29'423 per cent ; the

increase during the preceding twenty years being at the

rate of 32'9 per cent.

In the parliamentaiy returns of the population in

1851, certain parishes in Yorkshire are included in

Stockton Union (see page 166). In that and Sedgefield

Union there were, in 1851, 14,610 males above 20 years

of age, of whom 4,935 were bachelors, 8,796 married,

and 879 widowers. Of 14,086 females above that age,

3,208 were spinsters, 9,180 married, and 1,698 widows.

There were 24,238 persons under 20 years of age, of

whom 15,851 were born in the county of Durham, 168

in London, 6,047 in Yorkshire, 214 in Scotland, 324

in Ireland, 33 in foreign parts, 1 at sea, and the re-

mainder in various parts of the British dominions ; and

of 28,696 persons above 20 years of age, 13,024 were

born in the county of Durham, 373 in London, 9,052

in Yorkshire, 781 in Scotland, 1,344 in Ireland, 129 in

foreign parts, 1 at sea, and the rest in diiferent parts of

England. There were 45 persons blind, 22 deaf and

dumb, and 86 in the workhouses.

OCCUPATIONS.

The following particulars relative to Stockton Ward are

selected from the classified population tables, founded on

the census of 1851 :

—

There were in the Ward, at that time, 17 males and

10 females, above 20 years of age, employed in post-

offices ; 8 males in the inland revenue ; 66 in the customs

;

5 in other government offices ; 27 policemen ; 22 Chelsea

pensioners ; 8 Greenwich do. ; 36 clergymen ; 14 Pro-

testant ministers ; 9 priests and other religious teachers ;

1 physician; 31 surgeons; 33 druggists; 10 male and

4 female teachers of music; 60 schoolmasters; 117

schoolmistresses; 17 governesses; 10 other female teach-

ers ; 16 male do. ; 136 male and 47 female innkeepers
;

128 innkeepers' wives ; 5 male and 94 female lodging-

house keepers ; 52 male and 725 female domestic

servants; 1 coachman ; 22 grooms ; 131 housekeepers ;

46 female cooks; 55 housemaids; 26 nurses; 19 do.,

not domestic servants; 18 male and 54 female inn

servants ; 2 midwives ; 180 washerwomen ; 30 male

and 17 female hawkers ; 145 railway engine drivers and

stokers; 84 others engaged in railway traffic; 47 ship-

owners; 1,502 seamen; 147 pilots; 301 others engaged

in sea navigation ; 33 male and 83 female house proprie- I

tors ; 44 male and 42 female land proprietors ; 689 male

and 55 female farmers ; 452 farmers'wives ; 2 graziers ;

247 farmers' sons, grandsons, brothers, nephews, &c.

;

237 farmers' daughters, «&c. ; 12 farm bailiffs; 1,335

male and 102 female out-door farm servants; 318 male

and 196 female in-door do. ; 13 other males connected

with agriculture ; 98 fishermen ; 10 maltsters ; 62 brew-

ers ; 30 male and 15 female licensed victuallers, beer

shop keepers; 22 victuallers' wives; 31 male and 1 female

wine and spirit merchants ; 580 coal miners ; 22 coal

merchants and dealers ; 228 coal heavers, &c. ; 464

railway labourers; 186 earthenware manufacturers; 533

iron manufacturers ; 7 independent gentlemen; 29 inde-

pendent gentlewomen ; 57 male and 318 female annui-

tants ; 35 male and 118 female paupers of no stated

occupation ; 2 male and 7 female lunatic do ; and 17

male and 8 female vagrants and others in barns, &c.
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EASINGTON WARD.

gnainiltnil WtiXl is nearly oblong in form;

one of its sides, which extends from the parish of Hart

to the mouth of the Wear, being about 15 miles in

length from south to north, and bounded by the Ger-

man Ocean. The average width of the ward from east

to west is from 7 to 8 miles. It is separated from

Stockton Ward on the south by an imaginary line

running west-north-west through the parish of Hart,

and between the parishes of Sedgefield in Stockton

Ward on the south, and Kelloe and the chapelry of

Trimdon on the north. On the west, this Ward is

bounded by Durham Ward, and is separated from

Chester Ward on the north-west by the river Wear.

The parish of Monkwearmouth, with part of its de-

pendent townships on the north bank of the Wear,

being attached to the municipal borough of Sunder-

land, are incorporated with Easington Ward.

The general appearance of the country in this ward is

hilly, but without any remarkable elevations. The

soil is not so fertile as that of Stockton Ward and the

eastern portions of Darlington Ward. Except the

Wear, on its verge, there are no streams of any magni-

tude to enliven the landscape ; but in some of the

numerous denes or chasms in the limestone rock, which

wind deviously from the interior to the soa-shorc, there

* "The beat household coal," says Mr. Hall, " is worked principally

in the county of Durham, south of the river Wear. A line from

Seahara Harbour, by Easington, Shotton, Thornley, Ludworth, Shin-

cliffe, Cassop, Lord Londonderry's pit at Elvet, near Old Durham,
and thence by the river Wear to Penshcr, and then on to the sea

south of the entrance of the Wear, will circumscribe the principal

are scenes which are not exceeded in beauty in any

other part of the county.

But it is below the soil that the great wealth of this

important ward is found. Nearly its entire extent is

one immense bed of the best household coal ;* and its

surface is characterised by the numberless steam-

engines and other apparatus by which the mines are

drained, their produce exhumed, and their wealth con-

veyed for use or shipment. The southern boundary of

the coal-field passes across the AVard from Hartlepool

docks and railway through Monk-Hesleden, near

Castle-Eden pit, and to the south of Hutton-Henry.

Limestone is also extensively quarried and burnt in

many places, and is another valuable natural produc-

tion of the Ward. Public and private railways meet

and intersect each other in various directions ; and

the district may be considered as one great mining and

manufactoring laboratory.

Though containing a large population, Easington

Ward possesses only one market-town—Sunderland.

Villages, large enough for market-towns, however,

form the central points of populous colliery districts

;

and the facilities of modern transit afford an easy com-

munication with the markets of Durham, Sedgefield,

Darlington, Stockton, and Hartlepool.

portion of the household district." Within these limits this writer

estimates the coal-field at 95 miles by 7'5, or 71'2(5 square miles.

The coal is brif^ht and cubical ; compact, so as to turn water under

pressure ; burning first to a black, cinder, which in turn is consumed,

leaving a small portion of ashes; specific gravity from 1-2 to 1'3. It

also produces coke, but not always free from sulphur.
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350 EASINGTON WARD.

Crowded as this ward is with the works of modern

science and progress, it cannot be expected to retain

many monuments of antiquity ; some of its ecclesiastical

edifices, of course, excepted. Hylton Castle is the

only architectural remain which can claim a highly

remote origin ; but there are several elegant modern

mansions, the residences of influential families, which

possess no common claims to admiration.

This ward formerly contained, in whole or in part,

fifteen parishes and four extra-parochial places ; but the

parishes of Pittington, Saint Giles, Saint Mary-le-Bow,

Saint Mary-le-Less, and Saint Nicholas, the Castle

Precincts, and the College, in the city of Durham, with

the extra-parochial places Sherburn Hospital and

Whitwell House, the township of Coxhoe, Quarrington,

and Cassop, in Kelloe parish, and the townships of

Moorsley and Moorhouse in Houghton-le-Spring pa-

rish, were severed from it under the powers of the act

of 6 Geo. IV., c. 43, and annexed to Durham Ward.

Easington Ward is arranged in two Divisions, the

Southern and Northern, which respectively contain the

following parishes and chapelries :

—

Parish of Easington.

Parish of Castle-Eden.

Parish of Monk-Hesleden.

Parish of Sunderland.

Parish of Bishopwearmouth.

Chapelry of St. Thomas.

Chapelry of Deptford.

Chapelry of Hylton.

Parish of Monkwearmonth.

South Division.

Parish of Kelloe (part of).

Chapehy of Thornley.

North Division.

Chapelry of All Saints.

Chapelry of Southwick.

Parish of Houghton-le-Spring

(part of).

Chapelry of Hetton-le-Hole.

Chapelry of Penshaw.

Chapelry of Wingate Grange.

Chapelry of Trimdon.

Chapelry of West Rainton.

Parish of Seaham.

Parish of Dalton-le-Dale.

Chapelry of Seaham Harbour.

Parish of Chester-le-Street

(part of).

The townships of Lambton and the Lumleys, in Ches-

ter-le-Street, will be treated of with that parish.

Under the jjowers of the act 15 and 16 Vict., c. 81,

sec. 15 and 16, the to-svnships of Sunderland, Bishop-

wearmouth, Bishopwearmouth Panns, Burdon, Daw-

don Field Houses, Ford, Fulwell, Monkwearmouth,

Monkwearmouth Shore, Hylton, Ryhope, Seaham,

Snksworth, Southwick, and Tunstall, have been formed

into a subdivision for the purposes of the county-rate.

Easington Deanery is co-cxtensive with the Ward as

it existed previous to the alterations above described,

and includes the parishes parochial places, and town-

ships annexed to Durham Ward on the west ; whilst

the parish of Monkweai'mouth and its dependant

chapelries, though annexed to Sunderland for parlia-

mentary and municipal pm-poses, remain incorporated

in Chester Deanery.
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THE SOUTH DIVISION.

PAEISH OF EASINGTON.

This parish, which gives name to the Deanery and Ward, forms the most northern portion of the South

Division. It is bounded by the chapelry of Shadforth and the parish of Pittington, in Durham Ward, on the

west, by Houghton-le-Spring on the north-west, by DaUon-le-Dale on the north, by the sea on the east, by

Castle-Eden and Monk-Hesledon on the south-east and south, and by Thornley chapehy, in the parish of Kelloe,

on the south-west. It is divided into four townships or constableries, viz., 1, Easington, including Thorpe and

Hordenj 2, Hawthorn; 3, HasweU and Pespool; and, 4, Shotton, with Little Eden, Flemingfield, and

Edderacres.

EASINGTON.

The township of Easington contains 5,217 acres, of

which 227 acres are sea-coast. Its population, in 1801,

was 487 ; m 1811, 542 ; in 1821, 593 ; in 1831, 693 ; in

1841, 812 ; and, in 1851, 916, of whom 475 were males

and 441 females. There were, at the latter date, 156

inhabited houses, 3 uninhabited, and 5 building. The

return of 1851 includes 26 persons in the Union work-

house. The township contains about 30 farms. The

property was assessed for the county-rate, in 1853,

at £5,013.

Easington is a considerable village on the turnpike

between Stockton and Sunderland, 17 miles north of

the former, and 10 south of the latter place. Standing

on elevated ground, which gradually slopes towards the

sea, at about a mile distant, its church tower affords a

useful landmark to sailors near the coast. In the village

are a station of the county police force, a post-olEce

(established May 24, 1842), four public houses, a steam

corn-mill, a wind-mill at a short distance, and several

shopkeepers and tradesmen, the greater proportion of

whom are tailors and shoemakers, supported by the

colliery population in the district.

The parish school, for boys and girls, is a commo-
dious stone building near the chuich, well lighted and

ventilated. The national system of education is adopted,

and about 120 is the average attendance. The school

was erected in 1814, by subscription, the principal

amount being contributed by Archdeacon Prosser, who

also gave £1,000 for its future support. This amount

is invested in the three per cents, and produces between

£33 and £34 per annum ; to this sum the trustees of

Lord Crewe's charity give £10 annually, and the

remaining expenses are made up by liberal contribu-

tions from the rector and the payments of the children,

each of whom is charged twopence per week for edu-

cation. There is one other school in the village, which

is attended by between 20 and 30 children.

It is said that Dr. Gabriel Clarke gave, by will,

dated May 8, 1662, £60 to buy a lease of £10 per

annum for a schoolmaster at Easington ; but no trace

of this bequest is now to be found.

The Wcsleyan Methodists have a chapel in Easing-

ton; but the Primitive Methodists' place of meeting

has been discontinued.

A corps of yeomanry cavalry, consisting of two

troops, was raised in Easington Ward towards the latter

end of the last century, and placed under the command

of Rowland Burdon, Esq., as major. They were pre-

sented with their colours on Sunday, Sspteniber 24,

1798, by Mrs. Burdon.
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oOZ EASINGTON AVARD—SOUTH DIVISION.

Easington is first mentioned in a grant to Ealfrid, the

son of Britulfinc, by Bishop Cutheard. " EssLngton,"

says Lambarde, " a manor perteyninge of auncient

tyme to the byshopryke of Durham ; for when one

Nicholas resigned in tyme of Henry III., he had this

towne, Howden, and Stocton, appointed for his susten-

tation duringe his life."

This place is mentioned jointly with Thorpe in

Boldon Book. There were 31 villains, who held their

lands, and performed their services, like those of

Boldon. Simon and Galfrid Cokesmaht were the only

free tenants, each of whom held half a carucate of land

and served on the bishop's embassies. The carpenter,

smith, and punder, each held lands for their services

;

and the two vills rendered 30s. cornage, and provided

two mUch cows. The demesne was let out ; but the

pasture and sheep stock were in the hands of the

bishop.

A messuage and a parcel of land in Easington were

held in capite of Bishop Bury by John Fairey, by the

service of " aiding the bishop's baUifF to drive goods

distrained, attesting summonses, and superintending the

carriage of a dole of wine annually." His descendants

held possession for several generations, and are sup-

posed to be the ancestors of the yeomanly family of

Ferry, of Thorp.

The mischief inflicted on the coast by the Scots,

during the reign of Edward II., may account for the

numerous waste lands and reduced rents mentioned in

Hatfield's Survey. Nine free tenants are named in

that record, who performed the service of embassy.

Upwards of 300 acres of demesne lands were leased at

a gross rent of 18d. Twenty-nine bond tenants occu-

pied thirty-two messuages, each holding two oxgangs

of 15 acres; and, besides various small money rents at

various feasts, they rendered eight bushels of lot oats

at the feast of the Purification, two hens at the feast of

the Nativity, ten eggs at the Passover, and 13d. at the

feast of St. Michael in lieu of other work. They also

paid 30s. for cornage, 40s. for castle-men, 12s. in lieu

of a milch cow, and carried a tun of wine. The cot-

tagers collected the hens, and carried them to the

bishop's manors between Tyne and Tees. Sixteen of

the cottages wore empty and their lands in grass.

Ivichard Colling and eight others held two tenements,

two cottages, two tofts, a garden, and a curtilage, par-

cel of the Manor-place ; and William SwalwcUs held a

garden near le Maysendieu, and paid 12d. Nine acres

of meadow and the pasture were held by Adam Glede

and others at £4 ; and the same tenants paid for an

improvement called the Rydding 16s. lOd. ; for the

common forge, 4s. ; and for the windmill, formerly

£13 6s. 8d., then only £6 13s. 4d.

Six persons from Easington joined the rising in

1569, two of whom were afterwards executed.

The manorial property has always been vested in the

see of Durham, under which a great proportion of the

lands are still held by copy of court roU. Easington,

Thorpe, Cassop, Shadforth, the Sherburns, and

Shotton, do service at the halmote court. Fillymoor

Close, worth £7 per annum, was anciently held by the

rector, on condition of his defraying the expenses of

the bishop's seneschal and his attendants. Between

the years 1656 and 1665, the moors of the parish were

enclosed, and divided amongst the freeholders, copy-

holders, and leaseholders. In a decree dated 22nd

August, 1672, the first of the following divisions is

recited :—1st award, Easington Moor, which appears

to have been divided in 1656.—2nd award. Division of

Little Thorp lands, 23rd March, 1659.—3rd award,

30th April, 1661, Easington Moor.—4th award, 23rd

January, 1661, concerning the allotments of Forster

and Paxton.—5th award, 23rd March, 1665, division of

Easington Cow Close, and Easington al's Thorp Lee.

The allotments are numerous.

Several closes and portions of leasehold ground

have, from time to time, been bought and sold by

various proprietors. The names which occur are. West

Closes, Farmer's Close, Crawlaw or Crawhall Closes,

Coleman Close, Moor Close, Comet Hill, the Briyhills,

Scaldrish Hills, High and Low Pope's Chair, High

Moor, Tihhy Smith's Moor, Shepherd's Closes, &c.

The names of the farms are Duncombe's Moor, Rise-

bridge, Strawberry Hall, Milestone Moor, Hall Field,

Holme Hill, &c. Coic Close, containing 865 acres,

was sold in April, 1825, by order of the Court of

Chancery, in the cause between Elizabeth Nicholson,

widow, and others, plaintiffs, and Rowland Webster

and others, defendants : it is subject to an annual rent

of £2 6s. 3d., and payments of 3s. 6d. and 7s. 3d. to

the bishop. Beacon House farm is freehold, situated

on the south side of Hawthorn Dene : it derives its

name from Beacon Hill, an eminence on which fires

were formerly lighted to warn mariners from the

dangerous coast.

Salter's Way.—The remains of an ancient road,

under this appellation, passes through the parish of

Easington, as well as along the greater part of the

eastern coast of the county of Durham. It is known

by the same or similar appellations near the coast in
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several parts of the island. Cade supposed it to be

Koman.

Uett Dyke.—The Hett basaltic dyke traverses the

Durham coal field, in a west-south-west direction from

the sea in the township of Easington. It passes between

Shotton and Haswell collieries, and those of Thornley

and Ludworth ; passing Hctt, it continues between

Ferryhill and Sunderland Bridge, close by the north

end of the village of Tudhoe, across the Wear, and a

little to the north of Willington colliery, apparently

running into the Butterknowle slip dyke. It may be

traced considerably beyond the outcrop of the coal at

AVitton-le-Wear, and runs nearly parallel with it till it

joins the Cockficld Fell basaltic dyke (see page 81).

The Hutton seam of coal, on the south side of the Hett

dyke, is much thinner and more expensive to work

than the same seam on the north side, particularly in

the eastern portion of the district. The dyke has been

cut through in Shotton and Willington Collieries.

THE CHURCH.

It would appear that at Easington there was an edifice

for the performance of religious worship, long before

the overthrow of the Saxon dynasty. The tower of the

present church, however, which is the most ancient

part of the building, is of the Norman era ; the nave

and chancel walls are early English, of about 1270, and

the side walls in the decorated style. The tower, about

60 feet high, is supported by a circular arch, concealed

by a flat modern ceiling, and a strong exterior buttress

on the south-west. The entrance to the church is on

the south side of the tower, the original south door in

the nave having been closed up. Several fragments of

old armour are preserved in the tower, probably kept

there when that part of the church was used for

defensive purposes, " which," says Hutchinson, " per-

haps belonged to such castlcmcn as the manor was
bound to provide by the tenure, or to the proper

parochial guard j for, as the steeples or towers of

churches were to be kept in repair by the ancient laws

of the church tenures, as the fortress of such parish,

it is probable armour was provided for the men of such

fortress." The nave is 57 feet long and 22 wide ; and

the aisles, which are of equal length with the nave, are

1 1 feet wide. The south aisle is formed by one round
and two light octagonal pillars ; two of the pillars of

the north aisle are round, and one octagonal ; and the

arches supported by those pillars are lofty and elegant.

The chancel is separated from the nave by a pointed

arch rising from corbels. An uninterrupted view of the

entire edifice is now obtained, as the beautiful decorated

screen, ornamented with foliage and open work in oak,

has been removed. This screen, which is carefully pre-

served, is of about the year 1660, as are also the boldly

carved bench-ends with which the body of the church

is completely fitted.* A portion of those in the south

aisle are called the Pesspool Seats ; other stalls are the

property of the owners of Hordcn and High Eden

estates. A helmet, which was formerly kept in the

chancel, is supposed to have belonged to one of the

Conyers family, of Hordcn Hall, who died in 1644

;

this date being marked on the wooden plume.

The chancel, which was entirely rebuilt and restored,

except the north wall, in 1853, is 41 feet long and 21

feet wide. The east window, of the decorated style, is

chaste and beautiful ; it consists of five lancets filled

with stained glass, representing the Annunciation, Bap-

tism, Crucifixion, Resurrection, and Christ appearing

to the three Maries, by O'Connor, of London. There

are three windows on the south side, and on the north

one window, and an entrance to the vestry ; these win-

dows are also filled with stained glass. Within the

altar-rails are two recumbent figures. The one at the

south side is of freestone, found, during the recent

repairs, under the foundation of the south wall of the

nave, below the tablet to the Conyers family. It is a

male figure, the hands jilaced upon the breast, legs

crossed, with sword and shield, and on the latter are

three popinjays ; the figure is in good preservation, the

lower part of the legs only being slightly mutilated.

The figure on the north side lay previously under the

Pesspool Seats ; it is the effigy of a female, of Stanhope

marble, in excellent preservation. Tiie head rests on

a cushion, the drapery extending to the feet ; on the

breast are sculptured three popinjays, two above and

one below the cincture, and it is inferred that these

effigies are memorials of the ancient owners of Horden.

A neat marble tablet is erected on the north wall, to

the memory of the youngest daughter of the present

rector, the Rev. H. G. LiddcU.

The roof of the nave is an open arch of stained oak ;

and the clerestory, which had been blocked up by the

plastered ceiling, is now opened out. There are four

windows on each side of the nave ; those on the north

* "The general effect of the screen and bench-ends," says Billings,

"is excellent ; and if they are questionable in point of detail, the

fault must be attributed to the prevailing taste of the time, and not

to the architect who designed them—James Clement, of Durham,
who died in 1690."
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were inserted about four years ago by the rector, and

those on the south side at the expense of the rector and

the parishioners during the following year. A mural

tablet of grey marble, in the south aisle, records the

death of Francis Conyers of Hordon, in 1635, John in

1664, and Chi-istopher in 16— ; the epitaph not having

been completed.

There is an organ near the entrance, purchased by

subscription about two years ago ; and large stoves are

arranged to wai-m the church.

The chancel was rebuilt at the entire expense of the

rector, and the restorations and repairs of the other

portions of the edifice were defrayed partly by the

parish and partly by the rector's family. In 1855, the

interior of the church was thoroughly cleaned and

painted, for which a church-rate of twopence in the

pound was unanimously agreed to, the usual rate being

one penny or three-halfpence.

The chantry of St. Mary, in Easington church, was

of ancient date. Bishop Richard de Marisco and

Bishop Farnham were amongst its benefactors ; and

Adam Neuman alienated to it, without license, a

messuage and 21 acres in Little Eden, worth 10s. per

annum. At the Dissolution, this chantry was valued

at £4 lis. 4d. George Burnell, the last incumbent,

had a pension of £4, which he received in 1553.

The chantry of our Ladie of Pittie was founded

November 17, 1526, by the will of John Jackson, of

Easington, " for one preeste to sing at the awlter of our

Ladyq in the church of Easington for the saules of the

said John Jackson, Jenet his wife, his parents, Deane

Henry Dalton, Mr. Thomas Hobbes, clerke, late Arch-

deacon of the Busshopricke of Duresme, and for the

sowles of the Rev. Father in God Hughe Priour of

Duresme, WiUiam Frankleyn, and John Bentley, after

they be departed—and for all Christen sowles." Rules

were imposed for the conduct of the chaplain, who was

to be appointed by the prior of Durham for the time

being ; and the chantry was endowed with lands and

messuages in Easington and an out-rent of 60s. It

was valued at the Dissolution at £5.

Registers.—Books Nos. 1 to 3 (parchment), contain

entries of baptisms, burials, and marriages from 1571

to 1797 ; and No. 4, baptisms, burials, and marriages

from 1798 to 1812.

In the vestry is preserved the Easington Declaration,

a copy of the " Solemn League and Covenant," taken by

the parisliioners, Oct. 26, 1645, " according to an order

directed by the Hon^e the Standing Committee at New-
castle to the minister for the time being, Philip Nesbitt."

Easington rectory is valued in the King's Books at

£100; tenths, £10; episc. proc, £2. The Bishop of

Durham, patron. Dedication to St. Mary.

Bishop Richard de Marisco founded or endowed

this church before 1222, and, in that year, granted to

John de Romesey, rector, and his successors, the lands

called Renyngmolmer,
pasture for ten oxen in the

demesne, and the service of the land of Suth-twysle.

In 1256, Bishop Kirkham collated Robert de St. Aga-

tha, archdeacon of Durham, to this rectory, and, by the

same instrument, decreed the perpetual union of the

rectory and archdeaconry. See, therefore, the list of

archdeacons, vol. i., p. 98. It was probably as arch-

deacon, in which capacity he had the charge and conduct

of the clerical levies, that, at the general array of the

clergy in 1400, the rector of Easington is stated to be

" oneratur sufficienter"

Archdeacon Roger Leyburn, in 1501, had license

from Bishop Fox to enclose 40 acres of the glebe, lying

near Le Hallefeld, with free passage to and from a pond

upon the moor. During the civil wars. Dr. Gabriel

Clarke, was expelled from the rectory as a Malignant

;

and Philip Nesbitt, a Scotchman, styled Minister

Verhi Dei, intruded himself into the church. Nicholas

Heath of Eden, Thomas Midford of Pespool, and

Thomas Shadforth of Eppleton, gentlemen of estate in

the neighbourhood, acted in all the committees of

sequestration.

"Th.etx)taUrentofEasingtoupaTsonage, latebelonginge to Dr. Clarke,

rector thereof, is £137 10s.; five farms and a halfe at Greetham,

£— ; in toto, £248 10s. ; whereof allowed to Mrs Mildred Clarke, for

maintenance of herself and her children, £49 Hs.—Sept. 17, 1644."

Dr. Clarke survived the Restoration. For an account

of his successor. Dr. Granville, see vol. i., p. 251. The

Hon. and Rev. Robert Booth, the Rev. George Sayer,

Dr. Dickins, Dr. Pye, Dr. Prosser, and the Rev.

Charles Thorp, followed in succession. By the Durham

Church Estate Bill, passed in 1832, the rectory of

Easington was separated from the archdeaconry of

Durham ; and the Rev. Henry George LiddeU, A.M.,

was appointed rector.

The rectory-house, which stands a little to the north

of the church, shaded by a grove of sycamores, was

built at the same time as the nave of the church ; and

large portions of the original structure are still discover-

able in the present mansion, especially- in the domestic

offices. The house has been much improved by the

present rector. A ruined oratory, with a large west

window under a pointed arch, stands a little to the

north. The glebe consists of between 500 and 600
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acres of land ; and the rector is generally entitled to

great and small tithes throughout the parish, with the

exception of a prescript rent of £7 10s. from the manor

of Horden, £27 9s. lid. from the township of Hawthorn,

and £2 10s. from Edderacres. A prescript of £7 6s. 8d.

from Little Eden, (which see) was purchased by Row-

land Burdon, Esq., from Dr. Pye, when archdeacon,

under the authority of an act of parliament which ena-

bled the clergy to sell certain property, and with the

proceeds to purchase their land-tax. The rector pays

5s. annually to the bishop for Pilmire Close, and £4

for the expense of a halmot-court dinner, held once a

year, and for defraying the charge of the bishop's

seneschal. He also pays £1 lis. to the guardians of

the poor of Gateshead, for a stripe of land within the

precincts of the rectory ; £2 3s. 4d. to Kepyer School

;

and a fee-farm rent of £4, out of which the land-tax is

deducted; and he receives £1 6s. 8d. cottage-rents, is

entitled to the kelp on his sea-rocks, and annually holds

a court for the manor of his rectory. The gross income

was stated in 1835 at £1,437, subject to permanent

payments amounting to £126, leaving £1,311, from

which £127 was paid to a curate. A parochial meet-

ing of land-owners and tithe-owners in the parish was

held April 3, 1837, pursuant to the provisions of the

act, 6 and 7 Vict., when a commutation of tithes was

effected.

CHARITIES.

Charities of Wardell and another.— A close in

Hawthorn, the rents of which were given to the poor,

was sold, with the consent of the parishioners, about

70 years ago, for £100. In 1771, Richard Wardell

gave £100 to the poor of the parish; and these two

sums are secured, with interest at five per cent., on

mortgage of the tolls of the turnpike road between

Newcastle and Monkwearmouth (see vol. i., p. 100).

The interest is distributed in the church on Candlemas

day and Saint Thomas's day, amongst the poor, by the

curate and the parish officers, in sums of about 2s. 6d.

each. An account of the distribution is kept by the

curate.

Sparkc's Charity.—A rent-charge of 8s. per annum,
given to the poor of the parish, and payable out of

property in Hutton-Henry and Trimdon belonging to

the representatives of Mr. Stott Donnison, has not been

paid for above 40 years.

For other charities, see Hawthorn, Haswell, and
Shotton.

VOL. II.

POOR-LAW UNION.

Easington Union comprises the parishes of Easington,

Castle-Eden, Monk-Hesledon, Dalton-le-Dale, and

Seaham ; the townships of Kelloe, Thornley, and Win-

gate, in the parish of Kelloe ; the township of Nesbitt,

in the parish of Hart ; and the township of Burdon, in

the parish of Bishopwearmouth. The township of

Haswell sends three guardians to the board ; the town-

ships of Dawdon, Thornley, Wingate, and Monk-
Hesledon, two each ; and each of the other townships

in the union, one. The ex-officio members of the

board arc, the Rev. H. G. Liddell, chairman ; Rowland

Burdon, Esq., of Castle Eden, senior vice-chairman

;

Rev. A. Bathune, of Seaham Harbour, junior vice-chair-

man ; and R. Anderson, Esq., of Seaham Harbour.

The Union contains 38,943 acres, and, in 1851, a

a population of 21,795 inhabitants, of whom 11,466 are

males, and 10,329 females. There were 5,604 males of

20 years and upwards, of whom 1,634 were bachelors,

3,687 married, and 283 widowers. Of 4,951 females,

801 were spinsters, 3,706 married, and 444 widows.

There were 11,200 persons under 20 years of age, of

whom 9,400 were born in the county of Durham, 47

in London, 273 in Yorkshire, 1,959 in Northumber-

land, 315 in Cumberland, 97 in Scotland, 147 in

Ireland, 12 in foreign parts and colonies, and the

remainder in various j'arts of the British dominions

;

and of 10,555 persons of twenty years and above, 6,288

were born in the county, 1,784 in Yorkshire, 3,999 in

Northumberland, 742 in Cumberland, 313 in Scotland,

359 in Ireland, 39 in the colonies and foreign countries,

1 at sea, and the rest in other parts of England.

There were in the Union, at that time, 2 males and

3 females, above 20 years of age, employed in the post-

office, 1 inland revenue officer, 15 in the customs, 12

police, 11 clergymen, 3 Protestant ministers, 2 priests

or other religious teachers, 11 surgeons, 5 druggists,

22 schoolmasters, 17 schoolmistresses, 3 governesses,

4 other female and 7 male teachers, 30 male and 6

female innkeepers, 11 female lodging-house keepers,

16 male and 125 female general domestic servants,

2 coachmen, 2 grooms, 1 gardener, 33 housekeepers,

8 female cooks, 8 housemaids, 1 nurse, 2 male and 15

female inn-servants, 1 midwife, 3 male and 6 female

house proprietors, 6 male and 6 female land proprietors,

7 pedlars, 22 railway engine drivers, 5 shipowners,

387 seamen, 42 pilots, 46 others connected with sea

navigation, 185 male and 15 female farmers, 71 male

and 60 female agricultural servants, 10 brewers, 11

3d
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male and 7 female licensed victuallers, 1 wine and spirit

merchant, 2,7-12 male and 10 female coal miners, 3 male

and 21 female annuitants, 7 male and 36 female paupers

of no stated occupation, and 2 male vagrants. There

were 12 persons hlind, 5 deaf and dumb, 17 in the

workhouse, and 2 in hospital.

The income and expenditure of the Union, in the

year ended Lady-day, 1851, has been given in vol. i.,

page 162. The following are the receipts and expendi-

ture since that time :

—

Year ended Lady-day, 1S52.

.

„ ,, 1853..

1854..

1855..

Receipts. Expenditvke.

.£3,765 15 — £4,033 6

. 4,106 4 — 3,982 7

. 4,292 8 — 4,268 17

. 4,597 3 — 4,422 13*

£1,639

The income and expenditure of the parish of Easing-

ton, in the year ended 1855, were as follow :

—

INCOME. £. s.

Receipts from poor-rates :—Easington, 327/. ISs.; Haw-
thorn, 74/. Is. ; Haswell, 723/. 15s. ; Shotton, 468/.. . 1,593 9

In aid of poor-rates :—Easington, 51. 3s. ; Hawthorn, 1/.

8s. ; Haswell, 11/. 7s. ; Shotton, 27/. 13s 45 11

EXPENDITVRE.

In-maintenance :—Easington, 15/. 18s.; Hawthorn, 1/.

17s. ; Haswell, 69/. 15s. ; Shotton, 28/. 6s 115 16

Out-relief;—Easington, 131/. 14s.; Hawthorn, 21/.;

Haswell, 356/. ; Shotton, 183/. 12s 692 6

Workhouse loans repaid, &c. :—Easington, 19/.; Haw-
thorn, 51. 4s.; Haswell, 38/. 13s. ; Shotton, 25/. Is... 87 18

Salaries and rations of oiEcers :—Easington, 23/. 16s.

;

Hawthorn, 6/. 10s. ; Haswell, 48/. 9s. ; Shotton,

3U. 7» 110 5

Other expenses : — Easington, 20/. 7s. ; Hawthorn,

4/. 17s. ; Haswell, 36/. 6s. ; Shotton, 42/. 2s 103 12

Total connected with relief £1,109 14

Costs of law proceedings :—Shotton 6 13

Constable's expenses beforejustices:—Easington, 3/. 8s,

;

Hawthorn, 1/. ; Haswell, 1/. 7s. ; Shotton, 6/. 2s . . . 11 17

Vaccination :—Easington, W. 7j. ; Haswell, 12/. ; Shot-

ton, 3/. 16s 17 3

Registration fees to clergymen:—Easington, 21. 18s.;

Hawthorn, 75. ; Haswell, 14/. ; Shotton, 4/. 10s 21 15

County, rates, &c. :—Easington, 83/. lis.; Hawthorn,

21/. 10s. ; Haswell, 144/. 16s. j Shotton, 74/. 3s 324

Parliamentary registration :—Easington, 1/. 5s. ; Haw-
thorn, 1/. 5s. ; Haswell, 1/. ITs. ; Shotton, 1/. 2s 5 9

For all other purposes:—Easington, 21/. 14s.; Haw-
thorn, 4/. 83. ; Ha.swell, 59/. 143. ; Shotton, 33/. 16s. 119 12

£1,616 3

* The medical otScers' salaries amounted to £139. £62 10s., repaid

by her majesty's treasury on account of those salaries, is divided

according to the averages, and placed opposite each township in the

column in aid of poor-rates.

The workhouse is situated to the east of the village.

The building is of stone, in the manor house style, and

with the yard, out-buildings, and garden ground, occu-

pies an area of about an acre and a half. There are four

classifications in the establishment, containing 75

inmates. The cost of the building was about £2,500,

and the amount was arranged to be paid by instalments

in twenty years.

The dietary table for the able-bodied is as follows :

—

Breakfast—every day, 6 oz. of bread, and 3 gills of

boiled milk with oatmeal. Dinner—Sunday and

Thursday, 5 oz. of cooked meat, and 12 oz. of potatoes

;

Monday and Friday, 4 oz. of bread and 3 gills of soup
;

Tuesday and Saturday, 1-4 oz. of suet pudding ; Wed-
nesday, 4 oz. of bread and 3 gills of rice milk.

Supper—Sunday and Thursday, 6 oz. of bread and 3

gills of broth ; Monday, Tuesday, Wednesday, Friday,

and Saturday, 6 oz. of bread and 3 gills of boiled milk

with oatmeal. The aged and infirm are, at the discre-

tion of the guardians, to be allowed at breakfast and

supper, in lieu of the allowances of milk with oatmeal

and broth at those meals, above specified, 2 oz. of coffee,

1 oz. of tea, together with 4 oz. of butter and 4 oz. of

sugar per week. Children under 9 years of age, to be

dieted at discretion; above 9 and under 15, to be

allowed the same quantities as women. Sick to be

dieted as directed by the medical officer.

HORDE N.

HoRDEN Hall, situate about a mile from Easington,

and near the head of a dene which descends to the sea,

is one of the few remaining specimens of old domestic

architecture remaining in the county. It is now a small

building, but has originally been of greater extent.

Its exterior is somewhat plain, consisting of gables to

the east and west, with a projecting porch to the

south, having two heavy cylindrical pillars on each

side. Above is a bay-window, divided into several

lights by plain stone muUions. A shield of arms above

the entrance appears to fix the date of the building

about the time of Christopher Conyers, in the age of

James I. or Elizabeth. The staircase is of oak, and the

balustrade is roughly, but spiritedly carved with foliage

and figures. The drawing-room is panelled, and orna-

mented with a carved oaken chimney-piece, bearing

some grotesque busts and a profusion of tracery and

foliage in relief. In the centre of two compartments

are the arms of Claxton and Conyers. " Nothing,"

says Billings, " can exceed this decoration in the exe-

Thank you for purchasing from Ebay Shop Retromedia

http://stores.shop.ebay.co.uk/retromedia


PARISH OF EASINGTON. 357

cution of its detail ; and as a specimen of its style, it is

not to be surpassed."

Bishop Flarabard, after the accession of Henry I.,

granted Horden, Ravcnsworth, Blakiston, and Hetton

to his nephew, Richard, from whose descendant, Mar-

maduke, the family assumed the name of Fitz-

Marmaduke. John Fitz-Marmadukc was one of the

barons who, in 1300, asserted their sovereign's

authority in Scotland, in opposition to Pope Boniface.

He died in 1311, whilst engaged in the wars in Scot-

land. Being at that time governor of St. John's Town,

Perth, the flesh was boiled from his bones in a huge

cauldron at that place, to the intent that when in

peaceful times an opportunity should present itself, the

bones might be brought home and buried in Durham

cathedral, according to his will. In consequence of the

frequency of such practices, a canon of the church had

been promulgated on the subject; and Cardinal Beren-

garius, Bishop of Tusculum, imposed on the offenders

in the present case the mild penance of attending their

lord's obsequies at Durham, having first interposed the

authority of the church to insure the quiet transporta-

tion of the relics. Meanwhile, a dispute had arisen

between Richard, the son, and the executors of the

deceased, relative to the funeral, which, though appa-

rently settled before the bishop as ordinary, continued

to be mooted with much angry feeling, and was

eventually appealed to the court of York, when it was

probably terminated by the untimely death of Richard

Fitz-Marmaduke. " In the year 1318, there fell out

in the bishoprick a most strange and detestable action ;

• A translaiion of a letter, dated .Tuly 5, 1479, from William, the

keeper of the Friary of Hartlepool, to Sir Robert Claxton and his lady,

is given by Sir C. Sharp. It contains a gi'ant of absolution ; and on

the back is written, " May our Lord J. II. S. Christ, who gave to his

disciples the power of binding and loosing, himself absolve thee. And
by the authority of the Apostles Peter and Paul, and by the virtue of

tliis bull and papal indulgence, and by the whole power of the

church, I absolve thee from all thy sins, confessed and unconfessed,

and those which thou wouldest wish to confess if they should occur

to thy memory. And I grant tliee a plenary absolution and remission

as far as the keys of the church e-xiend in this part, so that thou

mayest be absolved before the tribunal of our Lord Jesus Christ, and

mayest have eternal life, and mayest live for ever."

t The last of the Conyers.—The Conyers family, " one of the

most honourable houses in the north," have been mentioned under

the respective heads of Soukbukn, Bisiiopton, &c. Its last represent-

ative was Sir Thomas Conyers, wliose misfortunes and poverty fortu-

nately came to the knowledge of the historian Surtecs. With his

characteristic veneration for old families, that gentleman, in December,

1809, addressed an appeal, of mingled simplicity and feeling, to the

editor of the (ientleman's Magazine, on behalf of the aged knight.

Al'ter staling the anticjuity, noble alliances, and large possessions of the

for as Richard Marmeduc, seneschall to the Bishop of

Durham, did ride to hold the county court, he was

slain upon the old bridge of Durham, by his kinsman,

Robert Neville. (See page 94.) The only reason

assigned for this outrage is that in the following passage

of Leland's Col., i., 547 :
—"James Duglas discomfltted

the band of Englishmen at Berwicke (Bewick) wher

Robert Neville was slayn, the which Neville had afore

slayn Richard Fitz-Marmaduke, at the Old Bridge of

Duresme, ybr despite who might rule most.'"

Besides the manors of Horden, Ravensworth, Lames-

ley, Silksworth, Ulnaby, and Carlebury, which Richard

Fitz-Marmaduke had inherited from his father, he also

held the manor of Stranton, from his mother Isabel,

sister of Robert Brus. The manors of Horden and

Carleton were, after his death, settled on Thomas,

Earl of Lancaster, who granted the former to Sir —
Holland. Sir Thomas Holland, Knt., leased Horden

to John Fitz-Adam de Menville and Agnes his wife,

at £13 rent; and their descendants held it for four

centuries. Isabella, daughter and sole heiress of Wil-

liam de Menevylle was married first to William Laton,

and afterwards to William Claxton, 12th Skirlaw. Sir

Robert Claxton, Knt.,* who died 7th Bishop Dudley,

left four co-heiresses, of whom the third daughter,

Elizabeth, was married to Richard Conyers, and be-

came possessed of Horden as her share of her father's

estates. John Conyers, son and heir of Christopher,

was created a baronet July 14, 1628. His son, Chris-

topher, died in 1693, and was the last Conyers of

Horden.f The four co-heiresses of Sir Baldwin

family, he adds, " that on the death of Sir George Conyers, who had

squandered the little that was left, the barren title descended to his

uncle, Thomas Conyers, who after a life perhaps of some imprudence,

certainly of much hardship, after an unsuccessful attempt in a humbW

business, and a subsequent service of several years at sea, is now, iu

his seventy-second year, solitary and friendless, a pauper in the parish

workhouse of Chester-le-Street. When I add, that if any credit be

due to physiognomy. Sir Thomas has received from natm-e, in his line

manly figure and open expressive countenance, the native marks of a

gentleman ; and that he bears his lot with a degree of fortitude

equally removed from misplaced pride, or querulous meanness

;

enough I hope will have been said to interest some benevolent minds

in his favour. Accustomed to a life of hardship and labour, he wishes

for neither affluence nor luxury ; but his present humiliating situation

he feels severely." To this letter Mr Surtees appended his name and

address, adding, "I will willingly contribute£20 ayear to this purpose.

I have a fi'w promises of annual guineas, whicli will raise this to £36

.

Of the present application, the object of it is ignorant ; and it would

be cruel to acquaint him with it, indess somethuig be effected for

his relief.
"

In consequence of this letter, Mr. Surtees became engaged in vo-

luminous correspondence with persons making inquiries, and offering

assistance. On February 2C, ISIO, before the subscriptions had been
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Conyers, Bart., on November 23, 1767, conveyed

Horden and lands in Preston-le-Skerne and Little

Thorpe, to Rowland Burdon, Esq., for £20,000. The

manor of Horden was advertised for sale by private

contract in 1818, and by public auction on May 2,

1825. The estate was described as freehold and tithe-

free (land-tax redeemed), and containing about 954

acres, of which about 50 were wood land, and above

300 old grass land ; the whole being let in two farms,

viz.. Harden Hall and JVest Horden. The estate

became the property of W. Scruton, Esq., Durham,

and now belongs to Matthew Woodifield Esq.

Little Thorpe, or Thorpe-nigh-Easington, is a

hamlet about a mile south of Easington, and is included

in the same manor. John Thorpe in 1385, and Robert

Dalton in 1560, occur as proprietors under the see.

An estate in Little Thorpe, containing a farm-house

and 100 acres, purchased in 1843, the greater part of

which is held by lease under the Bishop of Durham,

now belongs to Mr. Henry Longstaff.

HAWTHORN.

The township of Hawthorn contains 1,552 acres, of

which 86 acres are covered by tidal water. Its popula-

tion, at the successive periods of return, was 114, 118,

140, 162, 177, and 183 ; 86 of the latter number being

males and 97 females, and inhabiting 39 houses. The

value of property assessed for the county-rate, in 1853,

£1,291.

The village of Hawthorn is pleasantly situated upon

received, he hastened to the relief of the old baronet, accompanied by

the Rev. Patiiuk George, then curate of Bishop-Middlehara, who

afterwards spoke with admiration of the delicate and kind manner in

which he executed his commission. Hisown grey head uncovered, he

accosted Sir Thomas r.t once with cordiality and respect, simply

stating the purpose of his visit. The old man was at first much
affected ; but a dormant sense of pride seemed to be awakened, and

he said, " I am no beggar, sir; I won't accept any such offers." Mr.

Surtees gently soothed this temper, assuring him that the gentlemen by

whom he was deputed were actuated by no motive that could be

offensive to him, but only by feelings proper to their rank, and his

own ; and that, by acceding to their wishes, he could only evince his

own sense of that propriety, and prove that he, in their situation,

would have felt and acted as they now did. Thus his scruples were

gradually overcome, and he consented to the proposed arrangement,

with many expressions of gratitude to those who had so kindly inte-

rested themselves in his situation. He was removed from the workhouse

on the 1st of M;u-ch, though the proposed amount of subscription

was not then filled, to a situation of ease and comfort, at the house of

Mr. William Pybus, Chester-le-Street, where he was respectfully and

kindly treated. He was not destined, however, long to enjoy the

asylum so considerately prepared for him. His strength had been for

an eminence about half a mile north from Easington,

and nearly at an equal distance from the sea. It con-

tains a public house, a blacksmith's, and other small

shops, and six farmsteads. In the township there is

a corn-mill.

Hawthorn Dene is one of those deep ravines which

descend to the eastern coast of the county of Durham.

Near its embouchure. Admiral Milbank built a summer

retreat, which he called Sailor's Hall, now partly in

ruins, and belonging to Mr Mark Snowdon. When
the estate was purchased by Major Anderson, of New-
castle, he erected an elegant Gothic mansion near the

same site, designating it Hawthorti Hive Cottage,

which now belongs to his representatives. It commands

an imposing view of the wild and rocky coast, which

here consists of rude cliffs, broken by the action of the

sea into deep caverns ; whilst the offing is also nearly

filled with dangerous rocks and shoals, over which the

waves break furiously during storms from the east and

north-east. At a little distance there is a fine bay called

Haicthorn Hive, or Hythe, formed by a natural rocky

projection called the Skaw, and off which the light

colliers of Sunderland frequently await the flow of the

tide in fine weather. " The placidness of a summer's

evening calm," says Hutchinson, "when the moon is

reflected on the smooth bosom of the ocean, is highly

pleasing to the contemplative eye ; but when the storm

lifts the distracted waves, with a horrid gloom confounds

the elements, and mixes the spray even with the clouds

;

when the winds groan in the caverns, and the hoarse

billows thunder along the beach; when the shrill cries

of distress and wreck strike the ear from wretches with-

some time declining ; and his constitution, naturally vigorous and

robust, sunk under the increasing burthens of age and infirmity. He
died on the 15th of March, without pain and without a sigh, after

taking an affectionate farewell of liis relatives and friends. Sir Thomas

left three daughters married in humble situations. The sum of

£100 5s. had been subscribed on his behalf, comprising £10 from

Bishop Harrington ; £5 from Sir Thomas Sheppard, Bart. ; £5 from

George Anderson, Esq., Newcastle (sec Hawthorn) ; £10 from Sir

Thomas H. Liddell, Bart, (afterwards Lord Ravens«orth) j £10 from

Sir H. V. Tempest, Bart. ; £2 from William Radcliffe, Esq., Rouge-

Croix ; £2 from the Rev. John Ward, Mickleover near Derby ; £1 Is.

from James Hammett, Esq. ; £2 2s. from E. A. and E. H. ; £10 from

Sir Henry Etherington, Bart.; £15 from Thomas Harrison, Esq.,

Stub House ; £1 from Thomas Wilkinson, Esq., Oswald House

;

£2 2s. from Sir Joseph Andrews, Bart. ; £5 from Sir Montagu Cholmley,

Bart. ; and £20 from Robert Surtees, Esq. From the amount, £16

was paid for clothes and linen ; £5 43. lOd. in discharge of debts ; £S

for lodging, and a gratuity for trouble i £4 13s. 6d. medical attend-

ance ; and £19 19s. 6d. for funeral expenses. Some further charges

left a balance of £47, which was employed in placing some ol hi*

grandchildren in decent occupations.
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out succour ; when the affrighted cattle bellowing leave

the hills, and driving showers sweep the disconsolate

landscape, little remains to make such a situation

eligible."*

In 1387, Bishop Fordham, in vindication of his legal

right to all whales, sturgeons, porpeis, and thulepolls

wrecked on the coast of Durham, directed Roger Ful-

thorpe, and others his justices, to enquire concerning a

certain porpoise, worth 100s., lately wrecked at Haw-
thorn, and which Robert Brown, of that place, and

other malefactors, had seized and carried away.

Hagathorne was granted by Bishop Flambard to

William, the son of Ranulf; and Bishop Pudsey con-

firmed the donation to Thomas, son of William. The

family afterwards assumed the name of Herrington.

The INIerleys, Lumleys, and other families held lands

in Hawthorn at an early period; and subsequently the

Menevilles, Claxtons, and Radclyffes, successively held

the manor. The manorial rights now belong to Lord

and Lady Deerhurst.

Three of the farms in this township, West Butterlaw,

Little Coop House, and Big Coo2) House, belong to the

representatives of the Countess of Coventry. The pro-

perty of Major Anderson, including Kinley Hill,

containing 188 acres; the mansion, pleasure grounds,

garden, &c., containing 29 acres ; the Poor Close, in

the village, containing 5| acres ; and the Blue House
(copyhold) farm, containing 45 acres, were purchased

• On the 5th of November, 1824, nearly fifty vessels perished

almost immediately off the Hive, together with all their crews, except

that belonging to the ship Dido, which was wrecked betwixt two
rocks, .-ibout 30 yards from the shore. Here Major Anderson, who
witnessed the distressing scene, had assembled all his servants in order

to render every possible assistance to the unfortunate mariners, who,

having lost their main-mast, fore-mast, and rudder, collected them-
eelvus \ipon the bowsprit, and made several fruitless attempts to

throw a rope to the shore ; fortunately, however, the major had an
excillont Newfoundland dog, which, by encouragement, alter several

dangerous attempts, succeeded in catching hold of the rope, and
brought it through the raging surges to the major and his servants

;

by it the crew, fourteen in number, escaped from the foaming gulph,

which had threatened them with destruction. The crew, having

been refreshed with every necessary comfort at the major's house,

departed after gratefully thanking their preservers ; and so affected

were the feelings of the captain's wife, that, on the following day, she
visited Hawthorn Hive Cottage, where she, with streaming eyes,

expressed her gratitude, and falling upon her knees, kissed the dog
which had been so essentially instrumental in saving her husband
and liis crew.

George Anderson, Esq., F.S.A., wlio had been major of the 34th
regiment of foot, and was for some years a deputy-lieutenant and
magistrate of the county of Northumberland, died at his house in

Anderson Place, Newcastle, on the 6th September, 1831. He was a
liberal benefactor to the public institutions of that town, and by will

left the following bequests :—To the church of St. Andrew, £100 to

by Richard Pemberton, Esq., in 1836. Peak House
farm, to the east of Hawthorn, and near Kinley Hill,

is the property of Mr. Thcmaas Henderson. In the

western portion of the township is Butterlaiu farm,

containing 66 a. 2 r. 17 p., formerly the property of

Sir M. W. Ridley : it afterwards belonged successively

to Mr. George Pearson and Mr. James Freeman, and is

now the property of the Pembertons.f The coal under

this farm still belongs to Sir M. W. Ridley, who pos-

sesses the usual powers for winning, working, and

carrying it away. Other property in the township

belongs to B. Ogdcn, Esq., of Sunderland, and to the

South Hetton Coal Company.

Hawthorn School.—By an instrument, dated Novem-
ber 24, 1736, Robert Forster directed that £200
should be put at interest by the Durham meeting of the

Society of Friends, and paid to a schoolmaster or mis-

tress at Hawthorn, for teaching 24 poor children, to be

appointed by Nicholas Dodshon and Warren Maude,
their executors and assigns. In respect of this

charity, the sum of £255 in the new four per cents

now stands in the names of trustees, producing an

annual dividend of £10 4s. A school and dwelling-

house, with a small garden, were given by the above

Robert Forster, and are kept in repair by the Society

of Friends. The sum of £10 a year is paid to a school-

mistress, for which she teaches 14 children reading,

writing, and accounts, and the girls needlework in

repair and ornament the tower, and a further bequest of £400 to erect

a spire 100 feet high, if the tower should be found capable of bearing

it, his wish being that it might be visible from Durham, and be an
ornament to the town ; to St. John's church, £200, to raise a spire 50

feet high on the tower thereof, with his arms engraved thereon ; and
to St. Nicholas' church, £500 for the purpose of obtaining a large

bell to strike the hours upon ; aU of which bequests to be null and
void if not complied with in the course of three years after his death.

The steeples of .St. Andrew's and St. John's were not sufficiently

strong to bear the proposed accumulated weight ; but the great bell

was provided for the clock of St. Nicholas' church, and is stUl popu-
larly called in Newcastle, in commemoration of the testator, " The
Major."

t Mr. Freeman died in January, 1848. By his will, dated in 1847, he
gave the residue of his property, real and personal, to trustees for sale

and investment, and to stand possessed of the trust funds, " in trust

for and to pay the same to all liis cousins who should be living at his

decease, in cciual shares, their executors, administrators, and assigns,

for their own use and benefit." Tliis gave rise to a contest between
tlie testator's first cousins on ihc one iiand, and liis first cousins once

removed and his second cousins on the other ; the first cousins con-

tending that they alone were entitled to the benefit of the bequest.

The case " Stanger v. Nelson," came on, July U, 1855, before Vice-

chancellor Sir J. Stewart, who held that the first cousins once

removed and the second cousins living at the testator's decease were
not excluded from participating in the bequest.
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addition. The children are selected by the mistress,

subject to the control of a visiting committee.

HASWELL.

This township comprises an area of 3,108 acres. The

population, in 1801, was 93; in 1811, lUj in 1821,

115; in 1831, 263; in 18-11, in consequence of the

opening out of new coal mines, it had increased to

3,981 ; and in 1851, it was 4,356, of whom 2,326 were

males and 2,030 females. At the latter date, there

were 856 inhabited and 10 uninhabited houses. The

property was estimated in 1853 at the annual value of

£8,689 is. 7s.

The Hartlepool railway has an extent of 2 miles and

an area of 16 acres in this township. Its contribution

to the local rates, in each of the years 1851 and 1852,

was £300. The Durham and Sunderland line, with an

extent of 1^ mile and an area of 10 acres, contributed

£400 in each year ; the gross amounts collected being

£9,218 10s. lOd. in 1851, and £9,219 15s. 6d. in 1852.

High Haswell, about 3 miles west from Easington,

contains three farm-houses and a few cottages. Low
Haswell is about a quarter of a mile to the north-west,

and consists of a farm-house, the property of Baker

Baker, Esq., of Elemore. Haswell Laxe is a con-

siderable village, consisting of a long line of houses,

shops, and public houses. Adjacent is the junction

station of the Durham and Sunderland and Sunderland

and Hartlepool railways.* The Wesleyan Methodists

have a chapel in the village, which will hold about 200

hearers ; there is a school attached, and both are well

attended. The Primitive Methodists have also a chapel

and school, of about the same size, and equally well

supported. There is, besides, a village school, at

which between 40 and 50 boys and girls are taught ; it

is maintained by the children's pence. The place is

well supplied with water for domestic purposes.

Haswell Colliery village consists of pitmen's

houses only. At the colliery is a school for boys and

another for girls, supported by the colliery owners, and

the children's pence. The curate of Easington per-

forms service in the boys' school every Sunday afternoon.

• "If the tourist, on his way to Hartli^pool," says Dr. Granville,

'' departs direct from Sunderland, many are the modes and changes

which ho will witness in the manner of being forwarded to his destina-

tion. The manner altogi-ther is a tedious, though an extremely cheap

one ; and as the levels of the ground vary, so do the means employed

to travel over them. Thus, from the sea village of Ryhope, three

miles from the first station out of Sunderland, the traveller will be

dragged up an elevated plane, by stationary engines working an cnd-

Haswell Colliery.—The first attempt made to obtain

coal by the Haswell Coal Company, Messrs. Clark,

Taylors, Plummer, Lambs, Maude, Laws, and Bell,

was in a part where the limestone is comparatively

thin, being only about 36 fathoms ; but beneath this

was found about 20 fathoms of quicksand, abounding

with feeders of water, the pressure fi'om which impeded

the operations of the sinkers, and could only be kept

under by strong engine power. After an expenditure

of about £60,000, it was found necessary to abandon

the sinking ; the only set-off to the outlay being the

value of the materials removed. Another sinking was

commenced in a field of coal received in exchange from

the South Hetton Coal Company, for the same area of

coal belonging to the Haswell Company near South

Hetton pit. Two boreholes were abandoned ; one

having 16 fathoms, and the other 26 fathoms of quick-

sand ; but another, near that last mentioned, in the

field received in exchange, was foimd to be free from

this obstruction. The five-quarter seam of coal, 3 feet

6 inches thick, is at the depth of 90 fathoms from

the suiface ; 30 fathoms further is the main coal ; 16

fathoms lower, the low main, 3 feet 7 inches thick

;

and 20 fathoms beneath it, the Hutton seam, 4 feet

4 inches (all good) ; being a total depth of 156 fathoms.

The number of workmen employed under ground in

this colliery, for the raising of 200,000 tons of coal

yearly, is as follows :

—

M<*D. Boji.

Staff (for safety) employed in superintendence,

and in properly ventilating the mine and

waste, in keeping roads, setting timber,

removing obstructions, and doing all things

necessary for the safety of the mine and the

workmen
Bargainmen, or men employed on piece work in

stone drifting, cutting through troubles, &c .

.

In transit of coal under ground

Employed in cutting coal 210

289

60

12

7

13

126

139

The first shipment of coals from the colliery took

place, July 2, 1835 ; and the first waggon of coals that

passed over the Durham and Sunderland railway was

on the 5th July, 1836, when a supply was sent to

Hendon. The coals are now shipped at Sunderland,

less rope, and in that manner will he reach Haswell. Of these

stationary engines there is one at every three miles ; but even that

number would not have been sufficient for the intended purpose, had

not the ascending ground been rendered less steep, by excavationi

made through the soft oolitic rock to a considerable depth. At

Haswell the moving power is again changed ; and a single horse, put

in front of the whole train, is found to be sufficient to draw the

immense loads I have described along a single rail."
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Seaham, and the Victoria Dock at Hartlepool. They

are called in the market, Richmond Main, Haswell

Wallsend, Plummer's Wallsend, and Easington

Wallsend.

One of the most fatal cases of explosion on record in

the north of England occurred in the " Little Pit," at

this colliery, on the afternoon of Saturday, Scptemher

28, 1844. No fewer than 95 lives were lost, either by

the explosion itself or by the " after damp." The

event took place shortly after three o'clock, when " the

back shift" (as it is called) were at work ; and of the

number then in the pit, only four persons, who were at

the bottom of the shaft at the time, escaped, in conse-

quence of the explosive current having been intercepted

by some waggons laden with coals on a " roUey way."

The four men were at the end of those waggons nearest

to the shaft. The horse attached to the train was killed,

and thrown completely over in the form of a summerset,

falling on his back. The point where the explosion oc-

curred was called the Meadows-Flat, about 1,400 yards

from the shaft ; and the misfortune was thought to have

been occasioned either by the removal of a " jud" or

pillar of coal, by which a quantity of gas had been sud-

denly extricated, or by a fall of stone from the roof,

which injured the gauze of a Davy lamp. An inquest

•wa-s held on the 29th September, and, by adjournment,

on the 1st, 2nd, 9th, and 11th of October ; and the ver-

dict was to the effect that the deceased " were accidentally

and by misfortune killed by an explosion of fire damp,

at the lyittle Pit of Haswell colliery ; and further, that

there is no blame attributable to any one connected with

the said pit."

An extensive colliery village at South Hetton,
erected near a little cottage, well known by the name

of Snipj)cy''s Gate, on Salter Lane, consists of several

rows of houses, and the usual shopkeepers. A chapel

of case has been erected on high ground, by the side

of the railway. It is of stone, in the Gothic style, with

a bell turret above the entrance, a vestry, and a gallery

in the interior ; it will hold about 300 persons. There

is also a school in the village.

South Hetton Colliery, belonging to Messrs. Forster,

Walker, Burrell, Green, and Co., is on the northern

verge of the township. The five-quarter seam is not

at this pit under the limestone and lower red sand-

stone ; but the main coal is of good quality and thick-

ness, at 140 fathoms. The depth to x\w. Hutton seam,

18 180 fathoms, where it exists in great perfection, and

produces best household coal. The sinking of this

colliery was commenced about the same time with that

at Haswell, but with so much better success that the

Hutton seam was reached before the first sinking at

Haswell was abandoned. The coals are shipped at

Sunderland, Seaham Harbour, and the Victoria Dock,

Hartlepool, and are called in the market South Hetton

Wallsend.

Hessewelle gave name to a local family at an early

date. Talbot de Northallerton, in 1338, granted a

rent-charge out of the lands at Great Haswell to John,

son of Adam de Menville and Agnes his wife and their

heirs. From the Menvilles the estate passed to the

Claxtons (see Horden), and, with Pespool, Boysfield,

and half the manor of Fishburn, was allotted to Felice,

youngest daughter of Sir William Claxton, who became

he wife of Sir Ralph Widdrington, Knt. In the

reign of Queen Elizabeth, the manor of Great Haswell

was held by Richard Bellasis, Esq. ; and, before 1680,

it was sold by William Bellasis, Esq., to John Duck,

alderman of Durham (see vol i., p. 375). Lady Duck,

in 1695, devised it to Thomas Nicholson, Esq., of

West Rainton, who died in 1727, leaving three daugh-

ters and co-heiresses. Jane, the eldest, married

Thomas Earl of Strathmore (see p. 54) ; Anne, the

second, married the Hon. Patrick Lyon, brother to the

earl ; and INIary died a spinster. By deed of partition.

Great Haswell was allottd, in 1759, to the Countess of

Strathmore, whose grandson, John, tenth Earl of

Strathmore, sold it to the late Sir George Shee, Bart.,

of Dunmore, in the county of Carlow. South Falloio-

Jield and a farm at High Haswell are held by his

representatives. North Fallowficld, Haswell Moor

farm estate, and other property, formerly belonging to

T. R. G. Braddyll, Esq., were purchased by Baker

Baker, Esq., of Elemorc, in 1850. Haswell colliery

is situated nearly in the centre of the latter estate,

which contains 275 a. r. 12 p., and, with the excep-

tion of 43 A. 3 R. 48 p. of plantations, is leased to the

colliery company.

Adamsoii's Charity.—In 1756, John Adamson, by

deed, gave land to the poor of Haswell, then vested in

the overseers, and producing 12s. per annum. No
information can now be obtained respecting this charity,

the payment of which has been discontinued for many

years.

Pespool and Boisfiei.d, now united, arc supposed

to be estates originally formed out of the large wastes

belonging to the manors of Easington and Haswell, and
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contain 630 acres of land in the southern portion of

Haswell township. Pespool was early the estate of

Edmund de Denum, who held it of the bishop in capite,

by homage and fealty and 13s. 4d. rent. On his death

without issue, his four sisters became his coheiresses.

By Hatfield's Survey, Lady Isabel de Claxton held the

manor by 13s. 4d. rent, and a pair of spurs, at the feast

of St. Cuthbert in September, and four acres de nova

vasto under 6d. rent. In 1484, Pespool and Boisfield

were included with Haswell in the share of Felice

Widdrington above named. After having passed through

the hands of several proprietors, the manor was pur-

chased, in 1623, from Robert White and Elizabeth his

wife, by Thomas Midford, merchant, of Newcastle, who
resided on the estate. Both he and his son and successor,

William, were zealous Parliamentarians ; and, after the

Restoration, the conduct of the younger Midford having

involved him in difficulties, he mortgaged Pespool to

Thomas Strode, Esq., barrister-at-law, of Parnham, in

Dorsetshire. In 1697, it was purchased, for £3,550,

by Mathias Partis, who conveyed it to Robert Lawson,

of Newcastle, in 1700, from whom it passed, in 1706, to

Robert Forster, merchant, of the same place. The
heirs of the latter, in 1752, sold the manor and estate,

for £3,640, to John Nesham, Esq., of Houghton-le-

Spring, from whose grandson it passed, in 1808, to John

Pemberton, Esq., of York, for £8,850. His widow,

Mrs. Pemberton, of Sherburn, is the present proprietor.

SHOTTON.

The township of Shotton, the most southerly portion of

the parish of Easington, contains 3,853 acres, 173 of

which are tidal water. The population was, at the suc-

cessive returns, 250, 286, 264, 272, 603, and 1,607 : of

the latter number, 822 were males and 785 females.

In 1841, there were 118 inhabited houses, and two

building; and in 1851, 284 inhabited, 3 uninhabited,

and 24 building. The proprrty was valued for the

county-rate, in 1853, at £4,450.

The Hartlepool branch of the North-eastern railway

passess over 2 m. 2 f. 192 y., and covers an area of 27 a.

in this township. In 1851, it contributed £86 13s. 4d.

• Some parties in this district having been interrupted whilst engaged

on the ordnance survey of the countv, at present being made, a printed

notice was conspicuously posted in the township of Shotton, ad-

dressed to owners and occupiers of land in the parish of Easington,

stating that surveys of the several townships in the parish of Easing-

ton would commence on the 13th Aug., 1865; that each surveyor

has a printed appointment, on which his name is written, authorising

to the local rates, and £65 in 18-52 ; the gross amounts

collected in those years being £453 4s. 33d. and £343

12s. Ijd. In the year ended March, 1855, the payments

of the railway were, for poor-rate, £93 15s. ; highway

rate, £20 16s. 8d. ; church-rate (jd. in the pound),

£2 3s. 4d.; total, £116 15s.

Shotton.—The old village of Shotton is about 2 miles

south from Easington, and 12 from Sunderland. It

contains two public houses, a blacksmith's shop,* four

farm-hoitses, a school, and a few cottages.

School.—Edward Walton, of Wheatley Hill, in the

township of Wingate, by will, dated 1768, bequeathed

a house and garden in Shotton as a school-room and

residence for a master ; and endowed it with a share of

£2,000 (see Bishop-Auckland, vol. i., p. 554) for

teaching 20 poor children. WiUiam Dunn, of Easing-

ton, clerk, had, by will, December 8, 1760, given and

bequeathed " to the township of Shotton, £40, to be

paid to the churchwardens or overseers for the time

being, the interest thereof to be applied to the education

of the poor children of Shotton." This bequest produces

£2 per annum, which, with £20 from Walton's charity, I

is paid to the schoolmaster, who has the use of the

house and garden, and the payments from the children

who are not under the endowment. The appointment

of the free scholars is at the discretion of the master,

subject to the same visiting committee as at Hawthorn.

The committee repair the school premises from the I

charity fund.

Shotton Hall, to the east of the village, late the pro-

perty and residence of the Rev. Ralph John Brandling,

now belongs to the owners of Haswell colliery. It is a

commodious and modern mansion ; the ceiling, stair-

case, and balustrade of the interior being highly

ornamented. Attached are some fine old woods, a fish

pond, and extensive pleasure and garden grounds. It

is at present the residence of Robert Calverley Be

wicke, Esq.

New Shotton is the colliery village, consisting

principally of workmen's houses, and containing the

church. Shotton tilery is about a quarter of a mile

from the colliery.

him to act on the survey, and which he is ordered to shew to persons

asking the reason of his being on their lands ; and should any sur-

veyor refuse to shew his appointment or behave improperly, that he

be reported to Lieut. O'Grady, Royal Engineer's offices, Newcastle-

on-Tyne. And any person wilfully obstructing or hindering such

person so appointed, is subject to a penalty of £10, but which may be

mitigated to a sum not less than £2.

J
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THE CHUBCH.

In 1845, it was proposed to the ecclesiastical commis-

sioners that the townships of Shotton and Haswell

should be formed into an ecclesiastical district, under

the Church Endowment Act. Subscriptions were com-

menced under the auspices of the Rev. H. G. Liddell,

rector of Easington, to raise the necessary funds for the

erection of a church and a parsonage. The sites for

both were given by the owners of Haswell and Shotton

collieries, who also presented a donation of £100. The

Bishop of Durham gave, towards the church, £50 ; the

rector of Easington, £200; the Diocesan Church

Building Society, £100; Mrs. H. G. Liddell, £30;

Rev. W. W. Liddell, £30 ; John Taylor, Esq., £20;

Mrs. Burdon, £20; Lord Ravensworth, £10; B.

Baker, Esq. £10; Mrs. Pemberton, £30; the Incorpo-

rated Church Building Society, £16.5 ; T. Forster, Esq.,

£10; Mrs. Pemberton, York, £10; Rev. H. G.

Liddell, jun., £25 ; Miss A. Liddell, Miss C. Liddell,

R. Burdon, Esq., Mrs. Richmond, Hon. Mrs. Thomas

Liddell, Misses Burdon, Rev. J. A. Park, Miss Taylor,

and Miss J. Taylor, Earsdon, £5 each. Towards the

parsonage, the rector of Easington gave £100 ; Mrs.

H. G. Liddell, £10; R. Burdon, Esq., £20; Mrs.

Burdon and the Rev. W. W. Liddell, £5 each.

The foundation-stone of the church was laid, on the

11th September, 1852, by Mrs. H. G. Liddell; and

the edifice was consecrated, July 11, 185-4, by the

Bishop of Moray and Ross, by virtue of a commission

from the Bishop of Durham. It is dedicated to Saint

Saviour, and is expected to be a distinct chapelry

district; but no permanent endowment has yet been

made, and it is at present a chapel of ease to the parish

of Easington. The designs for the church, which is a

neat and elegant structure, in the early English style

of architecture, were by Mr. P. Hardwick, of London.

It consists of nave, chancel, and north aisle, with a

porch and vestry ; the nave being 54 feet long by 25

broad, the chancel 25 by 20, and the aisle 54 by 11.

The seats are arranged to give accommodation for

380 persons. The roof is open. At the east end, there

is a fine window of mixed character ; the altar is sur-

rounded by an elegant iron railing ; and the pathway

around it is paved with black and red encaustic tiles.

• This may be deduced as an instance, amongst others, of the faith

placed in a long and undisturbed possession of the royalty ; the cus-

tomary payments being made for renewals. The capital would not

have been embarked, says Hugh Taylor, Esq., in his evidence before

the Episcopal and Capitular Revenues CoDimissioners, May 17, 1849,

" except in the confidence that at all events forty orsi.xty years would

VOL. II.

The vestry is separated from the chancel by a screen

;

and the font is of excellent workmanship. A spacious

burial-ground is attached to the edifice ; but no par-

sonage-house is yet erected. Service is performed by

one of the curates of Easington.

In Shotton, anciently Ceatton and Scotton, there

were, according to Boldon Book, sixteen villains,

holding, paying, and working like those of Boldon.

Robert diet, William Lorimcr, and Saddoc, are the

tenants named. The smith held an oxgang of 15 acres

for his service. The whole vill paid lis. for cornage,

and provided one milch cow. Thomas, the punder,

held 8 acres, and paid 40 hens, 300 eggs, and 4s. The

demesne was farmed with a stock of three draughts and

200 sheep, and paid 24 chalders of corn, as many of

oats, and 12 of barley ; and four marks for the stock of

sheep.

Edmund de Denum, in 1350, died seised of a mes-

suage and 24 acres in Shotton, which place is not men-

tioned in Hatfield's Survey. By decree, August 16,

1673, a division of common lands was made. Much of

the property within the vill is held by copy of court-

roll under the manor of Easington. About 1T56,

Elizabeth Thompson, whose ancestors had held lands in

Shotton from the time of Queen Elizabeth, intermarried

with Charles Brandling, Esq., of Gosforth, Northum-

berland; and Shotton Hall subsequently became the

property and residence of their second son, the Rev.

Ralph John Brandling.

Shotton Grange Colliery.—This pit was sunk by the

Haswell Coal Company in 1841, on the south side of

the Hett Dyke, for the purpose of working the five-

quarter seam, and also in expectation of meeting with

the Hutton seam in good workable condition, which

had been sunk to in the Haswell pit, on the north side

of the dyke. In 1849, the undertaking had cost nearly

£120,000, from which neither profit nor interest had

been derived.* The Hutton seam was found to be

inferior in quality, and the five-quarter was therefore

principally worked at first ; after which the Beaumont

or Harvey scam, below the Hutton, was sunk to. A
drift was also made, at much labour and expense,

through the Hett Dyke, which was found to be of great

thickness and very hard. The good Hutton seam on

elapse before any change in those respects was made, it being no more

than usual for lessees to have leases of the above duration where such

a large amount of capital is embarked. The royalty won by Shotton

colliery is almost exclusively leasehold, so that this kind of property

is all that the company depend on for compensation."

O E
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the north side was thus reached, and a direct under-

ground communication made between the Shotton and

Haswell collieries, which will enable the coals of that

scam to be brought to bank at the first-named pit, and

transmitted thence to Hartlepool for shipment. The

five-quarter seam, 3 feet 6 inches thick, is at the depth

of 127 fathoms ; the main, 4 feet thick, is 14 fathoms

lower ; the low main, 3 feet 7 inches, 20 fathoms ; and

the Hutton seam, 4 feet, 19 fathoms deeper ; being 180

fathoms in all. The depth to the Harvey seam is 210

fathoms. The coals are called in the market, Shotton

Wallscnd and Shotton Unscreened.

Flemixgfikld is a tenement about 2 miles to the

west of Shotton, granted by Bishop Stichell, out of the

moors, to John de Flemyng of Newcastle, Isabel his wife,

and their heirs, to be held by homage, service, and 66s.

8d. rent. The estate, after having reverted to the see,

was held, under Bishop Hatfield, by Walter Hawyk,

and was devised by Bishop Langley to Thomas Holden,

Esq., for 90 j'cars, under 20s. rent. The Conycrs

family held it during the latter part of the 17th century.

Pursuant to a decree of the High Court of Chancery,

made in a cause, " Hutchinson v. Hutchinson," Fle-

mingfield was advertised for sale on June 8, 1848. It

contains a farm-house and 194 a. 38 p. of meadow and

arable land, and now belongs to Mr. Henry Bell, of

Durham.

Edderacres, containing 376 acres, lies to the south-

west of Easington. By Boldon Book, " Adan, the son

of John, held Etheredesacres, in exchange for land

which his father held in Great Halcton. Afterwards he

sold half the vill to Nigel, brother of John the Clerk,

to beheld of the bishop in chief; and he pays for that

moiety half a mark : and Drogo of Z\Iidilham pays

half a mark for the other moiety, which he holds in

pledge for the said Adam." John del Halle de Elvet

held the estate of the bishop in capite, by homage,

fealty, and 13s. 4d. rent for all services; and on his

death without issue, the husband of his sister, Alicie,

assumed the local name. Edderacres was afterwards

parcel of the possessions of the chantry of St. John the

Baptist, in the church of St. Oswald, Durham, founded

in 1402 by Eichard, Joan, and Gilbert de Elvet. After

the Dissolution, the manor continued in the crown till

the reign of James I., when it was granted by letters

patent, with the rest of the possessions of the chantry,

to Simon Wiseman and Eichard JIare, to hold of the

king's manor of East Greenwich, in free and common

soccage, under a yearly rent of £11 12s. 2d., payable

at the Annunciation and the Feast of St. Michael. The
Wilkinsons have for many years been proprietors of

Edderacres, which now belongs to the representatives

of the late T. S. Wilkinson, Esq.

Little Eden.—This manor is situated on the north

bank of Eden Dene, the rivulet in which divides Castle

Eden from the parish of Easington. Traces of founda-

tions are visible in a field called Chappel HiU, in which

was formerly an ancient tower, taken down by the late

Eowland Burden, Esq. Little Eden was an estate of

the Hawicks, the last of whom, Walter Hawyk, on

March 2, 1426, settled his estates on trustees, " for as

mckil as he purposed to travail unto the kynge's service

into the parties of Fraunce." His daughter, Joan, mar-

ried Eobert Rhodes ; and on her death, the right of

succession was vested in John Trollop, of Thornley.

The Heremitage and the Conygrate are bequeathed in

the will of John Trollop, Esq., January 3, 1569, to

Leonard Trolloppe, he " paying yerly therefore to my
heires xxx cuple of conyes, without other rent, during

the lyfe of the said Leonard." After the decline of the

Trollop family. Little Eden became a possession of the

Heaths, and was sold by George Heath, Esq., to Major-

general John Lambton. In 1800, Ealph Lambton,

Esq., conveyed Little Eden and Beggarshush to Eow- J

land Burdon, Esq. The latter estate, with Cotsford
"

Grange, after belonging to the Heaths, was, in 1740, in

the possession of Francis Brandling, merchant, and

descended to the Ildertons, from whom it was conveyed

to Major-general Lambton. Little Eden, Sigeworth,

Eden Hall, Black Hill, and Cotsford Grange, containing

together 774 acres, were leased on May 13, 1804, for

12 years, at the yearly rent of £550. Cotsford and John

Burdon, Esqrs., and their two sisters, are now proprie-

tors of Cotsford Grange. The western part of Little

Eden, late the property of Mrs. Ibbetson, now belongs

to Cuthbert Ellison, Esq., of Hebburn. The Garden

of Eden is the name given to a cottage and orchard in

the dene.

EoEX-DEYNE-HorsE.—Nicholas Heath, Gent., of

Eden, and Elizabeth his wife, and Archibald Waddeil.

Esq., and Elizabeth his wife, on June 1, 1655, to Thomas

Delaval, Esq., of Hetton-le-Hole, the messuage called

Deyne House, with a garden, orchard, and certain

closes, having a right of road from the highway leading

from Easington to Little Eden, and a similar exemption

from tithes with that place. In 1675, the premises were
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sold by Eobert Dclavale, Esq., and Rebecca his wife,

for £850, to James Hall, of Monk-Hesleden, who, with

Jacob Wilson, of Sunderland, conveyed them to

Hannah Wilson, spinster, who intermarried with Fran-

cis Harrison, of Sunderland. Their descendants, in

1763, sold Eden-Dene House, or Dene House, to

Rowland Burdon, Esq., and it now belongs to the pro-

prietors of Cotsford Grange.

PAEI3H OF CASTLE-EDEN.

The parish of Castle-Eden is bounded by Easington on the north, by the chapelry of Wingate (formed of

portions of the parishes of Castle-Eden and Kelloe) on the west, and by Monk-Hesledon on the south and east.

1 he parish forms but one township, which is co-extensive with the manor.

This parish and township comprise an area of 1,935

acres. Its population, at the successive periods of

return, was 362, 257, 281, 260, 558, and 491 ; of which

latter number 247 were males and 244 females. There

were, in 1851,96 inhabited houses and 13 uninhabited.

The annual value of property assessed to the county-

rate, in 1853, was £4,518.

In 1851, the Hartlepool branch of the North-eastern

railway, which passes over 3 m. 7 f. 107 y., and covers

42 a. 2r. in this parish, contributed £100 15s. to the

local rates, and £104 12s. 6d. in the following year

;

the gross amounts collected in those years being £257

15s. 8i,d. and £253 18s. 2kl. The station near the vil-

lage is 7 miles from Hartlepool, and IO5 from Ferryhill.

The receipts from the poor-rates, in the year ended

Lady-day, 1855, amounted to £245 10s., and in aid of

rates, £4 7s. The expenditure was, for in-maintenance

JC16 9s. ; out-relicf, £91 19s. ; workhouse loans repaid

&c., £15 19s.; salaries and rations of officers, £20
other expenses, £16 Is. ; total expended in relief,

£160 8s. Constables' expenses before justices, 15s.

vaccination, 19s.; registration fees to clergymen, £1
county-rate, £75 6s.

; parliamentary registration, £1 9s.

all other purposes, £22 13s. ; total expenditure,

£262 10s.

Castle-Eden consists ofthe more considerable village

called the Factory, and the old village of Castle-Eden,

lying about half a mile apart from each other. The
Factory, so called from extensive cotton works having

been erected at the place by the late Rowland Burdon,

Esq., but which, for many years, have been discontinued,

is situated on the turnpike road between Stockton and

Sunderland, 15 miles north of the former place, 12 south

• In Castlc-Edcn House is preserved the cup of the last abbot of

Bury, a capacious goblet of Dutch gUuss, handsomely moiuitcd in

silver, but without any inscription. A cover of silver has been added

of the latter, and 21 from the sea. There is a large and

commodious inn and posting house, called the Castle-

Eden Inn, with brewery and malting attached, at which

the petty sessions are held for the southern division

of Easington Ward. A school for boys is supported,

by Mr. Burdon and the payments of the children,

the average attendance at which is about 40 ; and at a

short distance, on the road side, is a neat stone building,

erected as a school-house for girls, which is supported

by Mrs. Burdon and the quarterly payments of those

attending. There is a literary and reading society,

which is well supported. A friendly, or benefit society,

held at the Inn, was commenced in Castle-Eden, Aug.

10, 1793, and is said to be the first institution of the

kind established in England. There is a post ofiice in

the village, a cabinet-maker's work-shop of considerable

extent, and some other tradesmen. Horticultural ex-

hibitions, steeple chases, &c., are held annually. A
little to the north, and on the south side of the dene,

are the erections of the Castle-Eden Neio Winning ; but

the colliery operations are suspended.

The old village of Castle-Eden lies a little off the

main road, to the north. It consists of about 17 work-

men's cottages, with flower gardens in front ; at the

north of the village is the church, near which is a

pleasantly situated dwelling, occupied by the Misses

Burdon.

Castle-Eden House,* or, as it is locally termed. The

Castle, the property and residence of Rowland Burdon,

Esq., is a spacious mansion, situated to the north-east

of the church. The exterior of the building is plain

;

but the dimensions and arrangements of the interior are

chaste and elegant, particularly the gallery and staircase,

recently fitted up. The surrounding plantations and

in good taste, by its latter owners. After the Dissolution, the cup

came into the hands of the Reeves of Suifolk, and by descent to the

first Rowland Burdon, Esq., of Castle-Eden.
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pleasure grounds are extensive, and the magnificent

conservatory, erected about two years ago, is con-

structed after the most approved models. The whole

of the estate has been much improved by its modern

owners ; and Castle-Eden Dene, in particular, by a

judicious combination of art with its wild natural

beauties, has been rendered one of the most romantic

and pleasing spots in the north of England. Its

previously inaccessible fastnesses have been opened out

by a winding path of between three and four miles in

extent, which commences near the house, and after a

devious course, through woods, over rocks, and near

waterfalls, terminates at the sea shore.

"A poet, and a poet only," says Dr. Granville,

" can do justice to the many varied beauties of this en-

chanted region. The brilliant tone and robust pencil

of Stanficld might seize and portray some of its truly

magnificent pictorial features, which appear, as it were,

purposely arranged for the artist, in some of the happiest

and incessantly varying combinations of rocks that seem

split asunder by some geological catastrophe, and hanging

woods, which, in many places, actually darken the face

of the sun, and serve to perpetuate night.

" A winding and safe road, throughout the whole

extent of this defile, serves admirably the purpose of

displaying its endless beauties to the many hundred

visitors who, during the summer, are admitted by the

liberal proprietor to the enjoyments of this magnificent

region, containing some of the finest scenery in Durham
county. Seen from the upper part of the dene, not far

from where a stream of water springs from the crevice

of a rock, and, forming a natural cascade, falls into the

Gunner's Pool, the road can be traced to a considerable

distance through the valley below. Snake-like and in

broad coils it rushes down the deep sides towards the

bottom of the dell, which is too much steeped in gloom

to reveal its own secrets. Here and there the road is

seen for a moment to right itself upon a level in the

shape of a platform, or to wind round a steep bank

covered with trees and brushwood ; but it soon again

takes a downward course, and proceeds to its des-

tination.

" Caves, gloomy and unfathomable ; masses of rock,

detached and rolled down precipices—among which a

stream of water frets and murmurs—and trees of every

species that place themselves in the soil of Great Baitain

—such are some of the features that strike the attention

• On the site of this chapel, about 100 yards north of the bridge

between the mansion house and the church, a workman, in 1775,

found a vase of thick greenisli glass, resembling that of the beads and

of the visitor, who in general prefers approaching the

dene, and exploring it, from the lowest or sea-shore

entrance. Gay vehicles, filled with such visitors, are

seen almost constantly ascending from below ; and many
did I beholden that day, fromacircular terrace that over-

looks a hanging wood, and heard them trying their

prolonged halloos, to provoke an echo which faintly

answered to their calls. Gipsy parties are spread

among the steep and grassy slopes, seeking for a spot

where to display their picnic baskets. They gaze up-

wards at the azure of the sky, which they can only

behold through the various clumps of trees that hang

over them, forming a refreshing canopy to their repast."

The town of Jodene or Yoden is mentioned by

Simeon as having been the northern limit of Scula's

piratical oppressions (see page 307). " In those days,"

it is added, " Ealfrid, the son of Britulfinc, flying from

the pirates, came beyond the mountains towards the

west imploring the mercy of St. Cuthbert'and Cutheard

the bishop that they should give liim some lands. And
Cutheard gave him these towns : Esington, Sileton,

Thorep, Hovedon, Yoden, duas Ceaaton (Shottonj,

South-Yoden, Holom, Hoten, Tumlington, BilUngham

v.'ith its appendages, Scrufaton (Sheraton) ; and Bishop

Cutheard, having completed fifteenyears in the bishopric,

dyed."

During the life of Cutheard, Tilred (see vol. i., p.

23) redeemed South-Eden, and gave one half of it to

the church of Durham, that he might become a monk in

that monastry, and the other half to Norton that he

might be made abbot there.

Robert de Brus, who became lord of Eden after the

Conquest, granted the chapel to the monks of St. Cuth-

bert, with all tithes and parochial dues, upon condition

that within four years the prior should build a chapel

within the vill and procure it to be consecrated. This

is supposed to be the origin of the parochial church of

Eden ; and that a castle or manorial residence supplied

the addition to the name. Eustace de Eden having

become indebted to Leo, the Jew of York, the monks

of Durham advanced 17 marks to release him ; and to

discharge this debt, he gave half liis land to St.Cuthbert,

and 10s. out-rent from the moiety that he preserved.

Seven donations of land in Eden were given to the

church of Durham by William de Turp (Thorpe) ; in

one of the grants of which the chapel of St. James is

named.* Bishop de St. Barbara, about 1150, devised

snakestones attributed to the ancient Britisii. The neck of the vase

is narrow ; and a number of short tubes, all closed at the ends, pro-

ceed from the body. The mouth was applied to a human skull, sc^
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half of the tithes of Castle-Eden to Guisborough Priory

;

and Ivo, son of Adam de Seton, bestowed the manorial

right upon the same institution. Lands in the parish

were rented of the chiu-ch of Durham by the Claxtons.

King Edward VL, by letters patent, March 27, 1553,

in consideration of £1,343 3s. 4d., granted to Simon

Welbery and Christopher Morland the lordship of

Castle-Eden, late parcel of the monastry of Guisborough,

with £20 issuing out of the rectory ofEden, 26s. issuing

out of the lands of St. Cuthbert at Durham and the

lands of John Claxton at " Eden in the parish of

Hesledon," the messuage and appurtenances in Eden

in the tenure of John Jackson, late belonging to the

church of Durham, and four messuages in Wingate,

together with tlic lands of Lanchester college, to be

holden of the king in chief, as one fortieth part of a

knight's fee. Castle-Eden, with all its rights, became

the property of Anthony, eldest son of Simon Welbury.

John "Welbury, July 6, 1614, sold the manor to Sir

Robert Carey, afterwards Earl of Monmouth. Before

1678, it had become the property of Sir William

Bromley, K.B., of Baginter, Warwickshire, whose

great-grandson, William Throckmorton Bromley, Esq.,

in 1758, sold it to Rowland Burden, Esq., grandfather

of the present proprietor.

This family are descended from Thomas Burdon, of

Stockton, who Avas nine times mayor of that iowv.

between 1641 and 1655. He married Elizabeth,

near the surface as to leave the tottom of the vase exposed in the

gutter of the hedge. The body had been deposited horizontally, and

covered with loose stones ; the head towards the cast. The vase was

full of earth, and when emptied seemed to retain a subtle aromatic

smell. This mode of sepulture seems to be of an earlier date than the

12th century, wlien the chapel of St. James, named in William de

Thorp's grant, was founded.

* Rowland BunnoN, Esa,—Amongst the many philanthropic or

patriotic individuals who have appeared in the county of Durham,
none have attained a higher place in public estimation than Rowland
Burdon. The town of Sunderland, in particular, found in him one

of the most munificent of its patrons. He was one of the eailieit ex-

amples of a merchant representing an English county, having been

elected member of pavliamunt for the county of Duihaui in 1790, when
he at once directe<l lis energies and talents to tlic furtherance of its pros-

perity. The turnpike road from Sunderland to Stockton was pvocui'ed

by his exertions ; but the most magnificent production of his inven-

tive genius and genuine patriotism is the cast iron bridge at Sunder-

land. In I79I, he brought the subject before parliament ; and in the

following year, with some difficulty, obtained an act for its erection.

After having caused an experimental rib to be cast, and set up by
Messrs. Walkers, ofRotherham, under the direction of Mr. Thomas
Wilson, ?s clerk of the works, Mr. Burdon brought forward a proposal

to the town of Sunderland and the county, for constructing a bridge,

on his principles, over the Wear. This proposal was adopted, and
the foundation-stone was laid, amidst great rejoicings, by Mr. Burdon.

daughter of John Swainston, and had, with several

daughters, two sons, George and Henry. He died in

1657, and was succeeded by his eldest son, who married

Elizabeth, daughter of William Hutchinson, Esq., of

Trimdon, and dying in 1681, was succeeded by his only

surviving son, the Rev. Rowland Burdon, some time of

Sedgefield. He married Sarah, daughter of John

Reeve, Esq., of Great Milton, Oxfordshire. On liis

death in 1750, he was succeeded by his only son, Row-
land Burdon, Esq., baptized January 7, 1724, a mer-

chant in Newcastle, and purchaser of Castle-Eden. He
married, August 26, 1755, Elizabeth, daughter of

George Smith, of Burn Hall, and dying October 25,

1786, left an only child, Rowland Burdon, Esq., of

Castle-Eden, who married, first, on June 27, 1780,

Margaret, daughter of Charles Brandling, Esq., of

Gosforth, Northumberland, by whom (who died Fe-

bruary 17, 1791) he had an only daughter, Elizabeth,

born January 18, 1783, and died January 30, 1791.

Mr Burdon married, secondly, in 1794, Cotsford,

daughter and sole heiress of General Richard Mathews,

and had issue four sons, Rowland, Richard, John, and

Cotsford, and three daughters, Elizabeth-Anne, Frances,

and Mary-Cotsford. He died September 17, 1838, in

his 82nd year.* Rowland Burdon, Esq., his successor,

is a magistrate of the county of Durham, and chairman

of tlic quarter sessions.

Arms.—Az., three palmer's staves, inter semee of cross-crosslets, gu.

on the 24th September, 1793. He advanced £30,000 towards the

completion of this grand undertaking ; and on the opening of the

bridge for general use, Augast 9, 1796, in the presence of his royal

highness the Duke of Gloucester, Mr. Burdon was appouited, pro

tempore, provincial grand master at a very splendid masonic ceremony

and procession.

In 1796, Mr Burdon, was again elected M.P. for the coimty. On
September 7, 1801, he addressed a letter to the fi-eeholders of the

county, announcing his intention not to offer himself again as a

Cimdidate ; and Sir Henry Vane Tempest at once became a candidate

for the vacant seat. Addresses to Mr. Burdon, however, were

forwarded from South Shields, Simderlaiid, Durham, and Gateshead,

requesting him to alter his resolution. Failing in this, a county meeting

was held, at which he was proposed .and seconded as a fit and proper

person to represent the comity; and Sir H. V. Tempest honourably

witlichew from the contest. Mr. Bui-don was consequently elected

without opposition, July 26, 1S02. In this election, the ordinary course

of proceedings was completely reversed ; the solicitations and exer-

tions being all made by the electors, the object of thcu- choice alone

remaining at home, quiet in the bosom of his family, until tlius ho-

nourably recalled to public life.

In 1S06, Mr Burdon finally declined tlie representation ofthe county

At this period, tlie unfortunate failure of the bank of Surtees and Co.

put a stop to the useful pursuits of this true patriot. His life interest

in the Castle-Eden estate was advertised for public sale. It was

described as the mansion-house, gardens, &c., containing )71 A. ;

certain houses and lauds in Castle-Eden, containing 1,580 a., let at.
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THE CHURCH.

The ancient chapel of Saint James of Eden, founded

by Robert Brus, and afterwards appropriated to the

priory of Guisborough, has already been alluded to.

The present church was erected in 1764, by Rowland

Burdon, Esq., as recorded by the following inscription

on a marble tablet in the vestry :

—

" Anno Domini JIDCCLXIV. This Sacred Fabric, which con-

suming Time had now reduced to ruinous Decay, was, with the

addition of a Steeple, rebuilt from its old foundation, by Rowland

Burdon, Esquire, at his own free charge : who thus most humbly

dedicates to the service of Almighty God a portion of that wealth

His blessing hath conferr'd ; the Tenants bearing their part of the

labour of leading the materials. T. Todd, Curate ; W. Lane, Church

Warden."

£1,325 10s. ; and 50 a. let to "Webster, Wilson, and Co., for 21 years

from NoTember, 1799, at the yearly rent of £300. His share in the

Newcastle Fire Office and Water Works, and a large pew in St.

Nicholas' church, Newcastle, were included in the advertisement.

To the honour of the gentry of the county, however, they interfered to

prevent the alienation of Mr Burden's family property. A committee

were appointed to raise a subscription-loan of £15,050, for the pur-

chase of his life and reversionary interests in Castle-Eden, upon

security of that estate, with interest at 4 per cent.

" This measure," it was observed in the prospectus, " which ori-

ginated in motives of public gratitude for past services, the committee

are fully aware, falls very short ot being a proper acknowledgment for

those disinterested exertions in Mr. Burden's public as well as private

life, from which the commercial and landed interests of the county of

Durham have derived advantages of the most extensive importance.

" In order to anticipate any objection as to the insufficiency of the

accommodation proposed, the committee think it necessary to state

that Jlr. Burdon has refused to accept of any other accommodation

than that of a loan.

"

The followingsums weresubscribed :—TheHon. andRt. Rev. theLord
Bishop of Durham, £1,000; William Russell, Esq., £1,000 ; Joseph

Bvdmer.Esq., £1,000; George Robinson, Esq., £500; ThomasXicholson,

Esq., £500 ; William Ingham, Esq., £500 ; AVilliam Grieves, Esq.,

£500; the Rev. Robert Gray, D.D., £100; the Rev. George Stephenson,

£100; Mrs. Bramwell, £100; Mr. Grimshaw, £100; Miss Sanderson,

£100 ; Messrs. Richard and Marshall Stonehouse, £100 ; Jlr. Ralph

Hills, £200 ; Messrs. Cooke and Co., bankers, Sunderland, £500 ; the

llev. Dr. Price, LL.D., £100; Messrs. Mowbray and Co., Durham, £500;

John Graham Clarke, Esq., £200 ; WiUiam Darnell, Esq., £200 ;

Robert Clarke, Esq., £500; Henry Stapylton, Esq., £100; the Rev.

Mr. Anstey, £100 ; William Sleigh, Esq., £100 ; George Suthem,

Esq., £200, &c.

The estates were of the clear annual value of £1,600 or thereabouts.

They were to be conveyed to trustees for 99 years, who were to pay

the interest h.<ilf-yearly ; £800 at the end of the first and second years,

£1,000 at the end of each yearto the I3th ; £1,200 at the end of the

14th ; and£l,250 at the end of the 15th; the clear annual surplus of the

rents and profits, after the above payments and expenses of the trust,

were to be paid to Mr. Burdon, or in such other manner for the benefit

of himself or his family as should be expedient.

Further security for the repajinent of the principal was made, in

case of the death of Mr. Burdon. The trustees were William Russell,

Esq., of Braucepeth Castle ; Joseph Bulmer, Esq., of South Shields ;

Tliomas Nicholson, Esq., of Bishopwearmouth; William Maland, Esq.,

of Pall Mall, Westminster ; and Anthony Murton, Esq., of South-

Two uniform aisles were added by the late Rowland

Burdon, Esq. ; and the church has, from time to time,

received several other improvements. It is a very neat

and commodious structure, containing sittings for 450

persons. The spire forms a pleasing object in the sur-

rounding landscape. It contains a clock, the dial of

which faces the west. The font, an oval basin of

marble, with a Bible by Baskerville, two folio Prayer

Books, a silver flagon, chalice, and paten for the altar,

were all the gifts of the patrons. A mutilated efEgy of

a monastic, apparently in the Benedictine habit, lies

in the church-yard, and is supposed to represent one of

the ancient chaplains of Saint James. The ground is

ornamented by rows of trees.

ampton. The securities were settled and approved of by Francis

Hargravc, Esq., Q.C., and Robert Hopper Williamson, Esq.

It was not in the nature of Mr. Burdon to remain totally inactive,

Though unable to participate, to the extent ofhis wishes, in furthering

the welfare and prosperity of the coxmty, he was not the less intent

upon that object. One of his last public efforts was made in obtaining

the act of parliment for the improvement of the harbour at Hartlepool

in 1832 ; a measure productive of as important and beneficiid results

as any to which he had ever lent his aid.

At a public meeting, March 17, 1837, at the Exchange Buildings,

Sunderland, the Rev. Robert Gray, rector, in the chair, it was

resolved, "That Rowland Burdon, Esq., of Castle Eden, in this

county, having originally planned the execution of the Iron Bridge

over the Wesir at Sunderland, and having chiefly assisted in its con-

struction, both by procuring an act of parliament for the same, and

by advancing the principal part of the funds employed in its comple-

tion ; having also materially aided in planning and carrying into

effect the several improvements made in the pubUc roads leading to

and from Simderland, as well as in procuring the making of new
roads ; and having thereby rendered the most important service to

the borough of Sunderland and its neighbourhood, a public subscrip-

tion be forthwith entered into amongst the inhabitants of the borough,

and any individuals connected with it, for the purpose of promoting

the erection, in honovir of Mr. Burdon, within the borough, of an

enduring public memorial, which may at once record the grateful

sense which they entertain of his services, and in future times may
stimulate others, Uke himself, moving in public life, to consider the

good of the community more than their own private advantage."

The committee were, the Hon. and Rev. Dr. WeUesley ; Mr. Beck-

with, Mr. C. Bramwell, Mr. R. B. Cay, Dr. Clanny, Mr. Dickinson,

Mr. C. Ferguson, Mr. C. Gowhmd, the Rev. R. Gray, Mr. G. Har-

rison (William Street), Mr. Hopps, ilr. Jonassohn, the Rev. B.

Kennicott, Mr. G. W. Longridge, Mr. T. Moore, Mr. Ord, Mr. T.

Reed, jun., Mr. Scott, Mr. Scurfield, Mr. Smart, Mr. Tanner, Mr.

Webster, and Mr. Wood.
The personjil appeaiance of Mr. Burdon was that of a stout inde-

pendent Englishman ; and while he possessed the usual accomplish-

ments of the truly polished gentleman, the cheerful and benevolent

cast of his countenance attracted the esteem and respect of all who

approached him. As a commercial man, he was known and respected

by the wealthiest merchants of the Tyne, Tees, and Wear. The

philanthropy, the public spirit, and the integrity of Mr. Burdon,

notwithstanding the comparative retirement of his later years, ren-

dered his name deservedly popular in the county of Durham, where

it is still known as a household word.
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The Register contains entries of baptisms, burials,

and marriages, from 1720 to 1812.

Castle-Eden curacy ; the prior of Guisborough an-

ciently imp., now the dean and chapter of Durham

;

Rowland Burdon, Esq., patron. Dedication to Saint

James.

CcKATEs.—Radulphus Capellan ; D'ns Warinus ; William de In-

firmaria, 1180, 1196; John Capelliin de Eden occurs 1363; Robert

Harding occurs 1501 ; Jolin Wilson, 1.541 ; George Gibson, 1577 ;

t'hristopher Vickors, 1582 ; Richard Jackson, 1586 ; Thomas Brauger

occurs 1635; Stephen Woodifield, 1673 died 1708 (vicar of Hart);

Walter Bourn, 1724 ; John Todd, 1763, p. res. Bourne ; James Ord,

A.M. (of West Langton Hall, CO. Leic.) 1813; Henry MUls, A.M.,

p. res Ord ; Ralph John Brandling, A.M. (rector of Middleton, near

Leeds), p. res. Mills ; H. K. Collmson, A.M., 1827, p. res. Brandling ;

John Burdon, A.B., p. res. Collinson ; Henry Baker Tristram, A.M.,

1845. p. res Burdon.

There is no glebe nor parsonage. A rent-charge of

£12 4s. is paid out of the manor of Castle-Eden ; and

in 172.3, £10 per annum was added under the will of

Lord Crewe. William Bromley, Esq., gave £200, to

which the governors of Queen Anne's Bounty added

£200, with the amount of which a third part of the

Island farm, in the parish of Bishop-Middlcham, was

purchased, (see page 255,) the rents of which form part

of the income. The living was further augmented in

1830 with £200 from Rowland Burdcm, Esq., £100

from Lord Crewe's trustees, £100 from Jlrs. Pin-

combe's trustees, and £400 from Queen Anne's bounty.

In 183.5, the living was stated as worth £63 per annum.

A rent-charge of £25 (fee-simple, £750) is granted by
the dean and chapter from the corn-tithes of Castle-

Eden. By order in council, dated August 19, 1853,

and gazetted September 16 following, " all that the

yearly rent-charge of £91 awarded to the former holder

of the second canonry in Dui'ham cathedral in lieu of

tithes, arising out of or upon lands situate within the

parish of Casth-Edcn, in the county of Durham," was
" transferred to and vested in the Rev. Henry Baker

Tristram, incumbent of the perpetual curacy," and

his successors. The great tithes of the parish belong to

the second stall of Durham cathedral.

E)}r/inc Mamifadoi-y, Sfc.—This establishment, situ-

ated at the crossing of the Sunderland and Stockton

turnpike road and the Hartlepool railway, was for some
years carried on by Thomas Richardson, Esq., of the

Middleton works, Hartlepool. The premises contained

foundries, steam-engines, and other necessary machinery.

and were held by lease, to expire November 13, 1853,

at a rent of £15 per annum. Mr. Richardson died

October 18, 1850; and the manufactory and stock were

sold by auction April 4, 1853.

Castle-Eden Colliery is above a mile distant from

the village of Castle-Eden. The shaft and other erections

are at the extreme east of the parish of Castle-Eden

;

and the colliery village, a few yards distant, is built in

the parish of Monk-Hesleden. The village, which

consists of several rows of workmen's houses, having a

considerable space of ground between each row, has a

post-office, a rural police, two public houses, and

several tradesmen. The railway station at the village is

6 miles from Hartlepool, and llj from Ferryhill. The

national school, which is well attended, is a large orna-

mental stone building, comprising master's residence

and separate departments for boys, girls, and infants.

The building cost about £1,100, the amount of which

was defrayed by the owners of the colliery, public sub-

scription, and a government grant. On the visit of the

government inspector, July 18, 1853, SO children were

present at examination ; 210 had been admitted during

the preceding twelve months ; 202 had left ; and the

average attendance had been 60. The general observa-

tions were

—

" Buildings, good-sized room ; no class-room. Desks against the

wall. Play-groimd good. Books deficient supply ; appai'atus, one

large black-board. Besides 210 fresh admissions, there have been

between 80 and 100 re-admissions during the year."

The Weslcyan Methodists and Primitive Methodists

have each a chapel, and the Latter Day Saints hold

meetings on the Sundays in the open air. Water for

domestic purposes has to be carted from Castle Eden,

as there is no supply in the village.

The coUiery is carried on by Messrs. Cook and Co.

At the depth of 120 fathoms are the three and five-

quarter seams, together 8 feet thick ; the main coal, 5

feet 4 inches thick, is 7 fathoms lower ; the low main,

3 feet 6 inches, is 28 fathoms lower ; and the Hutton

seam, 3 feet 3 inches, is 25 fathoms beneath ; making a

total depth of 180 fathoms. The pit is about 15 miles

within the western outcrop of magnesian limestone at

Thickley, and borders on the outburst of new upper

red sandstone. As in other collieries to the south of

the Hett Dyke, the Hutton scam, so valuable to the

north, is very tender. The coals are transmitted by the

Hartlepool railway, a distance of about 6 miles, to the

Victoria dock lor sliipment.
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PAEISH OF MONK.HESLEDEN.

IHIS parish is bounded by Castle-Eden on the north, by the sea on the east, by the parish of Hart on the south,

by KeUoe on the west, and on the north-west by the chapelry of Trimdon. It contains four townships, viz., 1,

Monk-Hesleden ; 2, Hulam, or Holom ; 3, Sheraton ; and, 4, Hutton-Henry.

MONK-HESLEDEN.

The township of Monk-Hesleden comprises 2,453

acres of land and 484 of water. The population, in

1801, was 150; in 1811, 148; in 1821, 164; in 1831,

176; in 1841, 490; and in 1851, 1,495, of whom 775

were males and 720 females. The increase at the two

latter periods is attributable to the formation of the

Hartlepool railway and the opening of the new col-

lieries. In 1841, there were 94 inhabited houses, 3

uninhabited, and 1 building ; and in 1851, there were

303 inhabited and 27 uninhabited. The value of pro-

perty assessed to the county-rate in 1853 was £4,310.

The Hartlepool branch of the North-eastern railway

has an extent of 2j miles and an area of 27 acres in this

township. In 1851, it contributed £78 2s. 2d., and in

1852 £115 9s. 2d. to the local rates ; the gross amounts

collected in those years being £209 7s. 4Jd. and

£306 13s. lid.

During the year ended Lady-day, 1855, the account

of Monk-Hesleden parish with Easington Union stood

as follows :

—

Income. £. s.

Poor-rates :—Monk-Hesleden, 286?. 18s. ; Sheraton and

Hulam, 571. is. ; Hutton-Henry, 259/. 7« 603 9

In aid of poor-rates :—Monk-Hesleden, 71. 14s. ; Sheraton

and Hulam, 11. 5s. ; Hutton-Henry, 31. 17s 12 16

£616 5

EXPENDITUKB.

In-maintenance : — Monk-Hesleden, 91. 3s. ; Sheraton

and Hulam, II. 13s. ; Hutton-Henry, 2U. 3s 30 19

Out-relief:—Monk-Hesleden, 120/. 17s. ; Sheraton and

Hulam, 23/. 14s. ; Hutton-Henry, 76/. 13s 221 4

Workhouse loans, repaid, &o. :—Monk- Hesleden, 17/. 6s.

;

Sheraton and Hulam, 4/. lis. ; Hutton-Henry, 10/. 7s. 32 4

Salaaies and rations of oificers : — Monk-Hesleden,

21/. 12s.; Sheraton and HuUim, 5?. 14s.; Hutton-

Henry, 13/ 40 6

Other expenses ;—Monk-Hesleden, 17/. 6s.; Sheraton

and Hulam, 4/. 6s. ; Hutton-Henry, 9/. 14s 31 5

£355 18

Law-costs :—Hutton-Henry 6 10

Carried forward £361 8

£. 8.

Brought forward £361 8

Constables' expenses before justices :—Monk-Hesleden,

3/. 10s. ; Sheraton and Hulam, 1 6s. ; Hutton-Henry,

3/. 3s 9 9

Vaccination :—Monk-Hesleden, 9/. 15s. ; Hutton-Henry,

1/. 15s 11 10

Eegistration fees to clergymen :—Monk-Hesleden, 6/. 6s.

;

Sheraton and Hulam, 4s. ; Hutton-Henry, 3/. Ss 8 18

County-rates, &c. :—Monk-Hesleden, 71/. 17s. ; Sheraton

and Hulam, 25/. 9s. ; Hutton-Henry, 32/. 13s 129 19

Parliamentary registration:^— Monk-Hesleden, 1/. 2s.;

Sheraton and Hulam, 1/. 7s. ; Hutton-Henry,!/. 4s... 3 13

For all other purposes :—Monk-Hesleden, 32/. . 6s.

;

Sheraton and Hulam, 4/. 4s. ; Hutton-Henry, 32/. 3s. . 68 13

£594 10

The Butterknoicle Slip-dyke (see vol. i., p. 575)

runs westward from the sea at Hesleden Dene,* parallel

with the Hett Dyke, (see page 353), and at an average

distance of about 3 miles to the south. This dyke

throws the strata 40 fathoms downwards, and affords the

only instance in which the new red sandstone is thus

thrown in.

Mo^K-Hesleden, or Low Hesleden, is a small

village situated near to Hesleden dene, 21 miles east-

south-east from Castle-Eden, I35 north-by-east from

Stockton, and 1| from the sea. The church, the vicarage,

a tenement called Hesleden Hall, and a few mean

cottages are all that constitute the village.

THE CHURCH

Is a plain unadorned edifice, with modem sash win-

dows, consisting of nave, chancel, and a low tower with

a pitched roof The baptismal font and pulpit are in

keeping with the building. There are two stoves for

• An aperture was discovered, June, 1849, in the side of the hill in

Hesleden Dene, wliich was foxmd to be the entrance to a large cave,

evidently long shut up. On further search, five human skeletons were

found, one of which was of lai'ge size. When discovered, the bones

seemed nearly perfect ; but on being brought to the light, they

crumbled away. History and tradition are silent relative to this cave

and its contents.

I
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PARISH OF MONK-HESLEDEN.

wanning the church ; but it is at all times damp. A
solitary marble tablet, to the memory of Madam Mairo,

adorne the north wall. The church will accommodate

about 200 hearers. It was new roofed and repaired in

1795; the old lead being sold towards paying the

expenses.

Registers.—Books Nos. 1 and 2 (parchment) con-

tain entries of baptisms and burials from 1578 to 1812,

and marriages from 1578 to 1753. No. 3, marriages

from 1754 to 1812.

Hesledon vicarage is a discharged living in the

deanery of Easington ; and a peculiar to the dean and

chapter of Durham. The prior and convent, patrons

to the Dissolution ; since, the dean and chapter.

Episc. proc., 4s. 4d. Dedication to St. Mary.

Vicars.—William de Redmarshall, chaplain, cire. 1307 ; D'ns

John de ByweU, cap., 1322, p. m. Redmarsh,all ; John de Ingk-by, 1331,

p. m. ByweU; William del Hey, 1340, p. m. Ingleby ; Jolui de Gritlon,

1348, p. m. Hey ; John de Ingleby, 1349, p. m. Gritton ; William de

Marton, 1358, p. res. Ingleby ; J. de Riggeton. 1380, p. m. Marten

;

W. Marmill, 1384, p. res. Riggeton ; J. Burgeys, 1384, p. res. Marmill

;

W. dc Matton, 1385, p. res. Burgeys; T. de Yafforth, 1398, p. m.
Matton ; T. Preston occurs 1424; to whom, by the name of their

beloved chaplain, John Prior of Durham and the convent granted a cor-

rody, Dec., 1430 ; R. Kirkby, 1434 ; T. Turpynne, 1446, p. m. Kirltby

;

B. Rudd, 1485 ; T. L)iine, 1504, p. m. Rudd ; R. Whitclitd, 1527, p.

m. Lynne ; R Ducket, 1560 ; J. Stephenson, 1562, p. m. Ducket; li.

Wandles, cl., 1578, p. res. Stephenson; M. Leonards, A.B., 1628, p. m.
Wandles; E. Morecroft, A.M., 27th May, 1639 ; J. Wood ; E. Morecroft,

jun., 1682, p. res. Morecroft, sen. ; R. Leeke, A.M., 1700, p. m. More-
roft ; W. Partheriche Turner, A.M., 1714, p. res. Leeke ; J. Wheeler,

A.B., p. m. Turner ; James Nicholson, A.B., 1753, p. res. Wheeler;

Thomas Austin, cl., p. res. Nicholson ; buried at Hesleden ; Dickins

Haztlwood, A.M., Ch. Ch. Oxon ; resigned for Aycliffe V ; William
Hayes, A.B., Magdalen Coll. Oxon., 1806, p. res. Uazelwood.

Ten marks annually were granted by the prior and
convent to their chaplain, William de Redmarshall.

One mark of this sum was attached to the chapel of

Hardwick. The vicar was bound to officiate in the

church in person, and to provide another chaplain to

officiate as deacon. In 1325, an augmentation was
granted to the vicar, in consideration of the losses sus-

tained by him from the incursions of the Scots ; it con-

sisted of " the croft which abuts on the vicar's garden

;

common of pasture for two horses, three cows and their

calves of one year, four swine, and fifty sheep, within

the demesne lands of Hesledon and the Prior pasture ;

and the smoke-pennies of the whole parish of Hesledon."
The last article of the grant was to cease when the

vicarage recovered its usual state of prosperity. At the

general array of the clergy in 1400, the vicar of Hesle-
don furnished one archer.

VOL. II.

The tithes of corn and grain of Hesledon and Hesleden

Hall belong to the sixth stall in Durham cathedral.

The great tithes of Hutton-Henry, the annual value of

which is £90 (fee-simple, £2,700), have been granted

by the dean and chapter to the living. The gross

annual income was stated, in 1835, at £200, subject to the

permanent payment of £21. The tithes of the whole

parish were commuted, at meetings of the tithe owners of

the respective townships, held on the 12th of May, 1837.

The tithes of Hesleden township are £157, paid to the

Bishop of Exeter ; the vicarial tithes are £48.

CHARITIES.

Mrs. Burn's Charity.—The yearly sum of £5 was
received, up to the year 1821, by the incumbent of the

parish, in respect of this charity, and distributed amongst
the poor not receiving parochial relief. The payment
was latterly made by Nicholas Ruddock, Esq., of Hex-
ham, who acted as agent for Isaac Sparke, a minor

;

but the estates at Hutton-Henry being sold to pay the

debts of the latter in the year above named, the only

documentfound relative to the charity was a copy of a deed

of release, purporting to have been madeuponaprevious

lease for a year. The original deed would have been

sufficient evidence of the execution of a bond for securing

£100 to the above charitable purpose, and the payment
of interest up to 1821 would have proved that the bond
had been unsatisfi^ed; but the title-deeds had been given

up to the purchasers, and no legal claim could be made
for a continuance of the payment.

HiOH Hesledon is a hamlet 1| mile east-by-south

from Castle-Eden, and 6 miles north-west from Hartle-

pool. It contains a corn mill, a blacksmith, a joiner, a

few farm houses, and a sort of beer-shop, with the spirit

license.

BLACK HALL ROCKS.

Black Halls is a farm on the sea coast, and derives

its name from some very romantic rocks, about a mile

from the mouth of Castle-Eden Dene. These rocks are

broken into isolated masses, and scooped into deep

caverns, of the most rude and grotesque appearance.

Some of the caverns penetrate to a great extent into

the rocks, and recede far beyond the light of day ; others

are open, and supported by natural pillars. These have

been formed by the force and ceaseless action of the

waves, which have also separated enormous masses from

the coast, washing some away, but leaving others stand-

ing like the vast towers of a cathedral ; in some places

3f
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the rock is perforated so as to resemble a finely pointed

arch gateway.

Near Black Hall rocks, a lead mine, known by

the name of the Black Hall Lead Mine, has been

worked for many years, though without much success.

It is at present laid in.

After passing through an extensive and deep excava-

tion, the Hartlepool railway crosses Hesleden Dene by

a viaduct ; and is continued through Crimdon Cut,

from which a lofty embankment forms an inclined plane

to its termination. " For the space of the two last

miles," says Dr. Granville, " this single (now double)

railway forms, as it were, the back-bone of a ridge,

partly natural and partly artificially raised, which

becomes narrower as it proceeds onwards to its termina-

tion into the ocean, where the town of Hartlepool is

situated. Its upper plane is just wide enough to admit

that one line of rails and no more. In some parts (that

is, farthest from the town) the ridge is nearly 100 feet

high, in others only 75, 60, and 50 feet. On its left,

• The wTiter proceeds to state that, on learing Hartlepool, it was

his intention to proceed on foot, by the sea shore, to view the Black

Hall rocks ; but, fatigued by walking on the loose sands, oppressed by

heat, and dreading a coup de suleil, he turned off to the west, and

scrambled up the steep acclivity to the summit of the railway

causeway. " But here," says he, " another danger awaited me,

which I had not anticipated, and which, for the moment, presented

itself in a much more threatening attitude than the one I had not had

the courage to encounter. It has already been stated that the summit

of the ridge, or causeway, is just wide enough to admit of a single set

of railway trucks, which occupies the centre. The space left on each

side is only of sufficient width for a man to walk upon ; but he must

be of strong nerves and have a steady head to do so ; for as each mar-

gin oi the causeway is unprotected by any barrier, and a precipice of

60, 70, or even 100 feet depth yawns below it, it is no ordinary head

that can stand the walking upon the very brink of it, along the whole

of an uninterrupted line of two miles and a quarter, as straight as the

course of an arrow.

" To avoid the latter alternative, I took to the middle between the

tracks, and thus proceeded on my pedestrian tour towards Hesledon,

enjoying, from the height where I surveyed them, the magnificent

sight of the ocean on my right, and of the fertile country on my left,

which extended to the very verge of the hUls on which Durham rose

in the distant horizon.

" Presently, as I had walked about a mile without meeting a single

object in my progress, a small black speck appeared in sight straight

before me, and at the farthest visible point, which seemed to occupy

the centre of the long and narrow causeway. At first the object,

tl;mked on each side by lofty and dark embankments, seemed station-

ary, like an insulated rock between them. But as I kept progressing on

my way, it appearea to detach itself from the surrounding landscape,

and to stand out in front of it, uutil it left the landscape behind, and an

empty space besides. 'I'he latter kept increasing at every instant as the

object got larger and larger, and thus showed that the latter was

ravelling on the same causeway as myself, and advancing towards me.

" Then, and not till then, the frightful thought shot across me, that

this was one of the long and heavy uaius of loaded waggons, rolling

the waters of the German Ocean leave a broad sandy

shore, along which runs a double and triple parallel line

of sandy hillocks, from 20 to 30 feet in height, capable

of defending the basis of the ridge from the inroads of

the sea. On the right or land side, a rich succession of

corn-fields appear to a considerable distance, until they

merge into a more varied and still further landscape."*

This part of the line is now adapted for locomotive

engines. It is one of the heaviest existing gradients;

but is overcome by the trains being generally composed

of empty waggons on their return to collieries.

Hesleden (the hazel-deneJ was granted to the prior

and monks of Durham by Bishop William de CarUepho,

who held it till the Dissolution. The advowson of the

vicarage and the great tithes were restored to the new

cathedral church ; and Queen Elizabeth granted Hesle-

den Hall to Eobert Bowes, Esq., of Barnes, as a reward

for his services during the Northern Eebellion. Four

of the inhabitants of " Munck Hesleden," and five .

of those of " Hoton Henrye," joined that insur- |

down the inclined railroad on its way to the terminiis at Hartlepool

—

a thought which the total absence of smoke, or of any appearance of

fire in a train that was moved without a steam-engine, prevented my
entertaining before.

" Of the reality of my surmises, and of the awfulness of my position,

I soon became convinced, as, with increased velocity and almost noise-

less revolution, the rolling train kept nearing me, showing its long

line of dark waggons guided by no human hand that could stay iu

progress on perceiving my danger. Of that danger I became quickly

sensible ; and in the emergency of the instant, I knew not which way

to escape, unless, indeed, I attempted the perilous experiment of re-

treating down the precipitous side of the causeway, the bottom of

which was, in this part, immersed iu an extensive sheet of water.

Places there were indeed, here and there, on the summit of the cause-

way, where the platform swelled out to afford room for the workmen,

when employed on the road, or any stray traveller, to retreat to while

the trains are passing. But none such were at hand where I stood

transfixed almost to the ground, convinced that inevitable destruction

awaited me if I continued in the centre of the railway, or serious per-

sonal injury if I retreated to the narrow path between the rail and the

brink of the causeway. Meantime upon

—

• Those single ribs of steel.

Keen as the edge of keenest scimitar,

The lengthened cars rolled on.'

" There was not a moment to be lost. I could now distinctly see

and count the loaded waggons ; and as the drumming noise of their re-

volving wheels became louder and louder, I felt sick at heart. What

was to be done ? I threw myself with my face flat on the ground,

athwart the narrow path on the right of the rail, with my arms extended,

and quickly retreating backwards until my legs and body hung pen-

dulous against the side of the causeway—my head beingjust above the

edge of it—I kept myself thus suspended by my arras stretched on

the ground, untU the whole train had passed me, its downward velocity

fanning the very air on my cheeks.

'As the cars roU"d on their rapid way,

I bow'dmine head and closed mine eyes for dread.'
"
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rection ; and one execution took place in each

township. Bowes conveyed the estate, in 1572, to

Nicholas Twcddell, in whose descendants it continued

till 1759, when John Tweddcll, of Hesleden Hall,

master and mariner, Grace his wife, and Hannah
Twcddell liis mother, joined in a sale of their pro-

perty to Rowland Burdon, Esq., for £1,385, re-

serving £20 a year rent-charge to Hannah Tweddell,

for life, and two garths in Hesleden to John Tweddell

and his heirs for ever. (See page 320).

Lands and tenements in Hesleden were granted, in

1612, to William Whitniore, Esq., and Jonas Verdon,

Gent., both of London, who granted them, two years

afterwards, in parcels, to various purchasers. The

greater part of these premises descended to Nathaniel

Pewterer, Gent., who, in 1763, conveyed The Black

Halls and other property to Rowland Burdon, Esq.*

An estate had formerly belonged to the Reeds of

Hart; another to Robert Bromley of the same place

(who, in 1644, was returned as well affected to the

parliament, and was employed in sequestrating the

estates of his loyal neighbours) ; and another to Gilbert

^^'^yldbore, of School-Ayclifie, Clerk, and Frances his

wife, from whom it passed, through Christopher Mickle-

ton aud John Dodshon, and their heirs, to Robert Whar-
ton, and subsequently to the Wylds. The whole of these

passed, during the last century, to the Burdons. Stoney-

Carr-F'udd, now called Fill-Pole, from the abundance of

hazel nuts which grow there, was, in 1697, the property

of Robert Aisley, Gent., who sold it, in 1700, to Mary
Bowser, widow, of Bishop Auckland ; and Richard

Bowser, Clerk, in 1777, conveyed it to Rowland Burdon,

Esq., for £1,900. An estate in Black Halls has, for

• On the 5th of February, 1807, by order of the assignees of

Aubonc Surtces, Rowland Uurdon, John Brandling, and John Era-

blcton, bankrupts, certain freehold mossu.igps, tenements, farmholds,

lands, and grounds, situate in High and Low Hesleden, with a spring

of wood in Hesleden Dene, containing together about l,.j.50 acres, the

property of Mr. Uurdon, were advertised for sale. They were at that

time in the several possessions of Messrs. Harding, Messrs. Lax,

Messrs. Thompson, Matthew Thornton, Robert Berkley, and several

others. The premises were to be put up at £'2.5,000. A part of the

dene, from Swardon's Slack to Temp's Hole, had been settled by
arbitration ; the trees and herbage being assigned to Mr. Wilkinson,

and the royalty to Mr. Burdon. In every other part of the dene, the

hedge, and not the burn, was the boundary between their properties.

t CmcvMSTANTiAL EVIDENCE.—Tlic body of a young woman was

found on the 26th July, 1812, by the sea side, near to Hardwick,

under suspicion of having been murdered. It was stated tliat the i

deceased was the daughter of a potter, named Dixon, resident at Wol- I

vision ; that she had been seduced by a young man from u neighbour-
,

ing village, who, having since married, murdered the deceased and

fled. During the inquest, the father, brother, and sister of the girl

who was_missing from W olviston, swore to the identity of the deceased

;

several descents, belonged to the Wilkinson family.

There are three farms called Black Halls, one of which

belongs to Lady Sharp. Mickel Hill farm. Monk-

Hesleden farm, and Lane House farm belong to the

representatives of the late Mr. Burdon.

Hardwick House.—This pleasant mansion is situated

near the sea, about \\ mile east from Castle-Eden, and

15 miles south-by-east from Sunderland, and is sur-

rounded with scattered plantations and various kinds of

forest trees. It is a regular square building of brick,

with a front to the south and west. In one of the chim-

neys of the attics is a secret recess, used as a place of

concealment by the Catholic priests, at the period when
the exercise of their religious rites was proscribed.

Service was performed in the domestic chaj)el here

previous to the erection of the chapel at Hutton-Henry.

The hall is now occupied by Thomas Jloor, Esq.

In the dene which runs from Hardwick to the seaf

there is a chapel excavated in the limestone rock, where

the mysteries of the proscribed faith were celebrated in

times of danger. The entrance to this cave is about

4 feet high ; and the interior measures 9 feet by 6, and

is 7 feet high. The niche in which the cruets stood is

still visible. The altar is very narrow ; and the moul-

dcrinET remains of a rude crucifix are still visible in the

wall. The approach is difficult, and requires great

caution, as there is a precipice immediately beneath, at

the foot of which is a running stream.

An ancient chapel, with lands in Flardwick, were

granted at an early period to the convent at Durham ;

a possession which was confirmed by several successive

kings and pontifis. Ranulf de Fisseburn, for 12 acres

and their evidence was corroborated by a woman who deposed that

the stays which were produced, and which were taken from the body,

were made by her for the girl in question. After this apparently con-

clusive evidence, the coroner consented, on the application of the

father, to give up the body to him for interment. Before, however, it

had well reached its intended resting-place, a police officer, who had

been in quest of the supposed murderer, arrived with the startling in-

formation, that both the young man and the missing girl were alive and

well at Lofthouse, in Cleveland—whither the father, by direction of

the coroner, immediately proceeded, and actually found his daughter.

On an adjourned inquest, at which additional evidence was produced,

it appeared that the deceased, whose name was Jane Jackson, was the

daughter of a respectable man at Easington ; the girl had been living

as servant with Mrs. Middleton of Sedgefield, and on returning from

a visit to her mother, who was ill at the time, she was seen passing

through Shotton, and afterwards proceeding in the direction of Castle

Eden Dene ; and from the condition in which she was found, no doubt

existed of her having been brutally murdered, but by whom no

evidence has ever been obtained, though in the month of Sept., the

government offered £50, and the county £50, for the discovery of the

murderer.
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of land, had a grant of the chapel from the prior with

license to have mass celebrated in it by his own chaplain.

The chapel seems to have been destroyed during the

ravages of the Scots in the reign of Edward II. ; and the

manor was exchanged for Muggleswick by the convent

and Bishop Pudsey. The manor and vill of Hai'dwick

were granted by Bishop Robert to John de Malton, to

hold by the twentieth part of a knight's fee and suit at the

county court of Durham only. John de Denum died

seised of the manor in 1327; and his brother and heir

assumed the local name of Herdwyck. Margaret de

Ogle occurs, about 60 years afterwards, as holding the

manor for life, by grant from William de Martin, vicar

of Heslcden, and John Forster, chaplain, with remainder

to Richard and John Aske, William Benet, and Richard

Gurneys, chaplain. In 1391, John Aske was returned

heir of entail ; and his posterity continued to hold the

manor until 1587, when Robert Aske, or Asken, alienated

it to Christopher Maire, Gent., of Durham. Hardwick

continued in possession of the Maires till the present

century, when it passed to the Withams, from whom it

was purchased by the late Marquis of Cleveland. It is

now the property of F. A. Milbank, Esq. Hardwick
Hall farm contains 260 a., and Blue House farm 340 a.

HULAM.
The united townships of Hulam and Sheraton contain

an area of 2,256 acres. The poiDulation of Hulam, at

the successive enumerations, was 7, 11, 16, 15, 21, and

29 ; 9 of the latter number being males and 20 females,

inhabiting three houses. The to^vnship consists of two

farms, which support their poor jointly with Sheraton.

The annual value of property in the united townships,

assessed to the county-rate in 1853, was £1,528.

By Boldon Book, Holome rendered 20s., and carried

the bishop's wine with a draught of six oxen. The
heirs of William Claxton, by Hatfield's Survey, held

Holome, which was once Thomas de Holome's, and

rendered 26s. 8d. In the 7th Eliz., George Claxton

sold the manor, for £506 13s. 4d., to Edward Perkyn-

son, of Newcastle, whose eldest daughter and coheu-ess

became the wife of Henry Midford ; and her son and

heir, Christopher Midford, sold it to James Perkinson.

Before 1670, it had become the property of the Strodes

of Dorsetshire. On the death of Serjeant Strode, about

1708, Bishop Crowe entered the estates within the

county as an escheat for want of an heir ; when Mr.

Evans, who lived beyond London, brought an ejectment,

he being really heir-at-law. The bishop, being threatened

with an application to parliament, prudently surrendered

possession, and paid a considerable sum for costs and

damages. Evans sold the estate, with lands in Sheraton,

to Dame Isabel, widow of Sir Ralph Carr, Knt., of

Cocken, whose grandson, Ralph Carr, Esq., sold them,

in 1729, to Anthony Wilkinson, Esq., of Crossgate, for

I

£8,500. Hulam is now held by the representatives of

the late Anthony Wilkinson, Esq.

SHERATON.

The population of Sheraton was returned, at the suc-

cessive periods of enumeration, at 99, 97, 116, 110, 147,

and 128 : 65 of the latter number were males and 63

females ; and there were, at the same date, 23 inhabited

houses and 2 uninhabited.

The village of Sheraton, anciently Shurveton, is

situated on the Sunderland and Stockton turnpike road,

3 miles south of Castle-Eden, and 12 north of Stockton.

It contains a day-school for girls"; and there are two

public houses, and some other tradesmen. The
township contains five farms.

Thomas, the son of Stephen, the son of Burnolf, gave

a carucate of land in Shroveton, with pasture for 1,000

sheep, in perpetual alms to the steward and leprous

brethren of Sherburn Hospital ; and Bishop Pudsey

confirmed the grant. By Boldon Book, the vill was

held in drengage in two moieties. John held one half,

but was discharged of the services of half the drengage

for Crawcrook, which he had quit-claimed. Thomas,

who held the other moiety, rendered SOs. for cornage,

, four lot chalders of malt, the like of meal and of oats
;

I
and for every carucate of villain land he ploughed and

harrowed two acres, and wrought four days at harvest

with one man, carried half a tun of wine and a millstone

to Durham, and provided half a milch cow. As a

drenge, he fed dog and horse in proportion to half a

drengage, attended the forest chase with one greyhound,

and provided two cords and a half of provender and two

men, made suit at court, and went on embassies.

In Bishop Hatfield's time, the moieties of Sheraton

were held by the Lord de Neville and John de Aske,

under specified rents and services. The names of

Thomas Hexham and the heirs of William Wakefield

and Alan de Tesdall occur in the Survey. Lord de

Neville's portion descended through Hogo de Billey,

Roger Thornton, and other proprietors, to John Lord

Lumlcy, who suffered a recovery thereof in the 15th

year of Bishop Tunstall. The moiety ofAske descended

to Ricliard Aske, who died m 1460, leaving John, his

son and heir, under age. A fourth part of Sheraton,
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with half that of Hulam, was alienated, in 1591, by

James Casson and Jane his wife, to Henry ISIidford,

Gent. The property seems to have been afterwards

much divided. Three acres of arable land, called Ladie-

lands, und a certain garth in Monk-Hesleden orHutton-

Henry, from which the lights in the parish church had

been supported, were, on June 12, 1600, granted by

Benjamin Harris and Robert Morgan, of London, to

Thomas Clayton, of Beautrove, to be held in soccage

of the manor of East Greenwich as fully as the queen

granted the same to them by letters patent of the 11th

June. Sir William Chayter, Bart., of Croft, in 1685,

conveyed this property to John Spearman, Gent., of

Durham ; and John Spearman, Esq., of Hetton-le-Hole,

John his son and heir, and John Wilkinson, of Elvet,

conveyed their lands in Sheraton, with the manor of

Nesbit,to Anthony Wilkinson, Esq., of Crossgate, whose

descendents are now the principal proprietorsin Sheraton.

John Brown, Esq., also holds property in the township.

HUTTON-HENRY.

This township, which forms the most westerly part of

the parish, contains 1,987 acres. The number of in-

habitants in 1801 was 156; in 1811, 155; in 1821,

174; in 1831, 162; in 1841, 287 ; and in 1851 it had

increased to 1,067, of whom 582 were males and 485

females. The number of houses in 1841 was 58 inha-

bited, 2 uninhabited, and 4 building ; and in 1851, 225

inhabited and 31 uninhabited. In 1853, the property

was assessed to the county-rate at £1,951 per annum.

The Hartlepool Junction branch of flic North-eastern

railway covers an area of 6 acres, and has an extent of

half a mile in this township. Its contribution to the

local rates, which amounted to £150 in 1851, was £14
3s. ; and in the following year, when the gross amount
was £118, the railway contributed £12 Is. 8d.

The village of Hutton-Hcnry stands on high

ground, nearly 2 miles south from Castle-Eden, and 13

north from Stockton. It contains four public houses, a

dame's school, and some tradesmen. In 1824, a neat

Catholic chapel was erected by the Rev. Thomas A.

Slater, for theuse of his own congregation. Itis licensed,

according to act of parliament, for solemnization of

• All uncU'rtakiug called "The IZartlepool and Ilutton-IIenry Coal,

Coke, and Firo-brick Company," waa brought before the public in

May, 18;).5. The existing proprietors of the colliery proposed that

the company should make a cash payment of £11,000, to meet liabili-

ties, and a small annual instalment for ten years, without interest, to

cover the advances made in developing the resources of the colliery.

The working is carried or. by one shaft in throe compartments, and an

marriages. A dwelling attached to it is called Hutton

House.

In ancient records, this manor is called Hotona,

Hilton, and Hootan, or Great Hootan. According to

Boldon Book, it paid 35s. for cornage, provided one

castleman and one milch-cow, and paid eight chalders of

malt, and the like quantity of meal and of oats. Richard

and Utred arc named amongst the tenants ; and the

villains wrought three days in autumn, with one man
for each oxgang of land. The drenge performed the

usual services.

Henry de Esh, from whom the manor derived its

additional name, is stated in Hatfield's Survey to

hold the vill of Huton, and four parcels of land there,

by foreign service, rendering 53s. 6d. He, with several

others, held lands in drengage, formerly Robert Peri-

sou's and Guy de Hutan's ; and William Ward held

lands, formerly belonging to Roger, the son of Philip.

Though the family of Esh continued to hold the manor,

various small possessions were held, from time to

time, by the Herons, Boweses, De Vails, and Claxtons.

In the reign of Queen Elizabeth, Richard Esh sold the

manor to William Wyvill, who, in the 15th year of the

same reign, conveyed to Christopher Mairc, Esq. The

estate of Hutton-Henry, and that of Rodid Ridge, con-

taining 773 a. 1 r. 30 p., with the manor, extending

over an area of about 3,000 a., were purchased, in

1819, by the Marquis of Cleveland, with certain reser-

vations for the income and residence of a Catholic

priest. The estate has passed, with Hardwick, to the

present proprietor, F. A. Milbank, Esq.

Hart Bushes, the property and residence of a younger

branch of the Maires, now belongs to George Townsend

Fox, Esq. ; and a farm called Blakclcy is the property

of the Rev. E. Davidson.

South Wingafe Colliery, on this estate, was sunk by

Messrs. Seymour and Co. It is on the extreme south-

east of the great northern coal-field ; and here the main

coal seam goes out, and the fire-clay puts in, 4 feet

thick, with iron ore balls, of about the size of an f:^^.

The low main seam, 4 feet 2 inches thick, is 36 feet

lower, making 732 feet dip, with 70 fathoms of lime-

stone above the stratification. The site of the colliery

i s called Catley Hall.*

engine of 80 horse power for raising coal and pumping ; and the esti-

mated nett outlay for the completion of the winning was £13,000,

which would realize a vend of 100,000 tons annully. Mr. Hall,

however, in his work on the Northern Coal Field, estimates the cost

of the pit at £20,000, and for railways and other machinery £70,000,

making £100,000 in all, which, at eight per cent, on 270 workiiigdays

in the year, is equal to £30 per day for interest alone.
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PAEISH OF KELLOE.

IHE parish of Kelloe, to the west of Monk-Hesleden, originally consisted of the following townships:— 1,

Kelloe ; 2, Coxhoe ; 3, Quarrington ; 4, Cassop and Tursdale ; 5, Thomley ; and, 6, Wingate. The two latter,

in consequence of their vast increase of population, have been formed into distinct chapelries ; and the present

boundaries of the parish are, Monk-Hesleden on the east, Wingate and Thornley chapelries on the north, the

parish of Bishop-Middleham on the west, and Sedgefield and the chapelry of Trimdon on the south. The town-

ships of Coxhoe, Quarrington, and Cassop are incorporated in Durham Ward (see vol. i., p. 193), and in the

Saint Nicholas sub-district of Durham Union.

KELLOE.

The townsliip of Kelloe contains 1,592 acres. The

population, in 1801, was 80; in 1811, 12; in 1821,

101; in 1831, 102; in 1841, 156; and in 1851, 149,

of whom 79 were males and TO females, inhabiting 28

houses. The annual value of property assessed to the

county-rate in 1853 was £2,727 9s.

During the year ended Lady-day, 1855, the receipts

from poor-rates, in the township of Kelloe, amounted

to £79 lis.; and in aid of poor-rates, 17s. The ex-

penditure for in-maintenance was £1 2s.; out-relief,

£12 10s. ; workhouse loans repaid, £3 2s. ; salaries and

rations of officers, £3 17s. ; other expenses, £2 17s.

;

total connected with relief, £23 8s. Constables' ex-

penses before justices, £1 ; registration fees to clergy-

men, £1 2s. ; county-rates, &c., £45 9s. ; parliamentary

registration, £1 12s. ; for all other purpo.ses, £7 6s.

;

total expenditure, £79 17s.

Kei.lok Town, as the village is called, contains a

public-house, and a few farm-houses and cottages. Kel-

loe Old Hall is now used as a farm-house. CiitTRCH

Kelloe is a hamlet about half a mile to the west, and

consists of the church, the vicarage, and another house.

Kelloe Beck is a small trout stream, which rises from

two heads near Thornley and Wheatley Hill, and flows

by Coxhoe and Cornforth, exchanging its name for

that of every village which it passes. After receiving

rivulets from Ferryhill and Quarrington, it runs

through the low grounds between Tursdale and Hett

Moors, and terminates its coiu'se in the M'ear at

Croxdale.

East Hetton Colliery, worked by Messrs. Robson

and Jackson, stands on the bank side, at a short dis-

tance above Church Kelloe, on glebe land. The

workmen's houses are on the opposite side of the beck.

in the township of Coxhoe, forming a village locally

called Canaan. It consists of several rows of houses,

comprising a few public houses, and the ordinary shop-

keepers. The ground belongs to — Fawcett, Esq.

Kellaw Magna and Kellaw Parva are named in old

records. The freehold manor and vill, including the

site of the modern village, is identified with the former.

About the middle of the 13th century, Alexander de

Kellaw occurs as a benefactor to Sherburn Hospital.

Bishop Kellaw was of this family ; and his brother,

Patric Kellaw, commanded the troops of the bishopric

against the freebooters of Northumberland. Joan,

daughter of William and Agnes de Kellaw, in the 11th

year of Bishop Langlcy, conveyed her possessions in

marriage to John Fossour, who, in 1383, purchased

from John Lord Neville a third part of the manor

which had been held by the Nevilles. The Fossours

made Kellaw their residence till the commencement of

the 17th century, when they removed to Harbourhouse

on the Wear. A warrant appears in the Sequestrators'

Books, September 16, 1644, to Capt. Sharpe, Robert

Roper, Symon Lackenbie, and Wm. Hall, to seize and

sequester the estates of Lieut.-col. John Forcer at

Town-Kelloe, and of Maior John Kennett of Coxhoe,

and the estate of John Reed of Cassopp, and of all

other delinquents and Papists in the parish of Kelloe.

The tenants of Kelloe Town, it is stated, " all deny to

take any part thereof." On the death of Basil Forcer,

Esq., in 1782, without issue, the manor of Kelloe was

sold to John Tempest, Esq., and is now the property of

the Marchioness of Londonderry.

THE CHURCH.

The church stands in a secluded valley on the north

side of Kelloe Beck. It is a small edifice, of early

English, consisting of nave and chancel, and a low
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tower, supported by buttresses. Tliornley or Pity

Porch, the burial-place of the possessors of Thornley,

was a large projection, which formerly opened into the

nave by a pointed arch and half a circular arch sup-

ported by a low pillar ; but its dimensions were reduced

to the size of a common pew. In 1854, the chancel

was taken down and rebuilt. The east window is of

three compartments, under a pointed arch, of the early

decorated date ; in the south side of the chancel are

three windows of two lights, and one of a single light.

The south side of the nave has two large and one small

arched modern sash windows ; and on the north side

are two of similar construction and a small square sash

one. In the west side of the tower is a.lso a small sash

window. The floor of the church is boarded, and will

accommodate 250 persons.

The cost of re-building the chancel was defrayed by

the master and brethren of Sherburn Hospital. The

church-rates are generally one halfpenny in the pound

annually.

A chantry at the altar of the Blessed Mary, in the

church of Little Kellaw, was founded in 1347 by John

Fitz-Henry do Kellaw and Elizabeth his sister, for the

daily celebration of mass for the good of their souls,

and for the souls of their parents, and of all the parish-

ioners of Kellaw. All the lands belonging to the family

in Thornlaw, of £10 value, were appropriated in 1352

to the support of this chantry, which is thus identified

with Thornley Porch.

The cemetery, which is of ample extent, is well walled

round. It contains a stone coffin, ornamented with

a cross-flory in bas-relief A part of the ground is

appropriated to tlie chapelry of Trimdon ; and the lord

of that manor pays £2 2s. annually to the vicar of

Kclloe, for leave for himself and the inhabitants of the

chapelry to be btiricd in it.

REniSTERS.—Books No. 1 to 3 contain entries of

baptisms and burials from 1693 to 1812, and marriages

from 1693 to 1753; No. 4, marriages from 1754

to 1812.

Kclloe is a vicarage ; the Bishop of Durham, patron
;

olim the Master of Sherburn. King's Books, £20

;

Tenths, £2; Episc. proc, 10s. ; Arch, proc, 4s. ; Pen-

sion to Sherburn Hospital, £1 6s. 8d. Dedication to

Saint Helen.

ViCAKs.—Peter de DL'rlin;;ton; Ilcnry de Burdon, 1724; Elias de
I.anp\euton; Thomas de London; Nicliolas; Thomas Cantuarcnsis

;

John Gray, ob. circ. 1339; Richard of Westminster, 1352, occurs

trustee in the Thornlaw charters; J. Burdon; T. Gray, H18, p.m.

Uurdon ; R. Marshall, 112S, p. m. Gray; W. Hewetson occurs 1494 ;

J. Ellison occurs 1522 ; G. Baytis occurs 1536 ; W. Bennet, S.T.P.,

1547, p. res. Baytis (prebendary of the 4th stall in Durham cathedral)

;

R. WUson, S.T.B., 1579, p. m. Bennet; J. Liveley, S.T.B., 1625, p. m.

Wilson; T. Dixon, an intruder, ejected for nonconformity ; T. Pier-

son, A.M., 1661 ; W.Howell, A.M., 1681, p. ra.Pierson; W. Thomp-

son, A.M., 1699, p. m. Howell; J. Douglas, A.M., 1735, p. m. Thomp-

son; J. Dover, cl., 1742, p. res. Douglas; William Longstaif, A.M.,

1771, p. m. Dover, ob. Dec. 1, 1806, set. 73; George Stephenson,

A.M., Magd. Coll. Oxon., 1807, p. m. Longstaff; Rev. Robert

Birkitt, p. res. Stephenson : Rowland Webster, A.M., 1851, p. m.

Birkett.

At an inquisition taken in the church of Kelloe in

1339, it was deposed that five of the vicars had been

collated by Bishop Beck, and one by Bishop Beaumont.

The jurors were—Dns John, rector of St. Mary's in

the North Bailey ; John vicar of ]\liddleham ; "William

Bedale, chaplain of Fishburn ; William of Gateshevid,

chaplain of Trembleton (Trimdon) ; John de Alverton,

chaplain of Kellaw, Clerici ; John Freman of Cassop

;

Galfrid Fitz-Robert of Coxhoe ; Thomas fil. Uttyng of

Thornlaw ; William Shakelock, Thomas fil. Nichol,

Hughe Belle, of Kellaw, Laid. Such of the jurors as

were clerks, owned that they had seen a letter purport-

ing that one Philip, Bishop of Durham, had collated a

clerk to the vicarage on the presentation of the Master

and Brethren of Sherburn. That corporation appears

to have exercised the right of presentation till 1579,

when Bishop Barnes rejected Ralph Lever's presentation

of George Swalwell (see vol. i., p. 453), and collated

Roger Wilson. Since that time, the living has remained

in the gift of the Bishop of Durham.

John Liveley, vicar (see page 129), on April 8,

1636, delivered a terrier into the Registry, describing

the vicarage, which he had lately built, as " a very well

contrived house," and mentioning certain quit-rents

noticed thereafter. The glebe was described as con-

sisting of several closes and small parcels of unincloscd

land. The corn and hay tithes, payable to Sherburn

Hospital, were, in 1644, let by the sequestrators to

George Thompson, of Howlincarr-house, for £28 4s. 8d.

monthly. At present, the glebe is all inclosed, and

estimated to contain 222 acres. The annual income is

stated at £197. The present vicar has been appointed

surrogate for the surrounding pojjiilous district. In

1852, a grant of £288 6s. 8d. was made from the

Maltby Fund, towards the restoration of the parsonage-

house; and in the following year, an additional sum of

£111 13s. 4d. was granted. It is a neat building,

situated near the church, and surrounded with tastefully

arranged flower gardens.
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CHARITIES.

Airey's Charity, or Kirtoii's Dole.—By will, Febru-

ary!, 1630, Henry Airey bequeathed £5, to be put out on

good security, and the interest to be distributed amongst

the poor of the parish. The interest on £5, in the hands

of one of the churchwardens, was for many years paid

under the name of Kirton's Dole, and divided, about

Easter, amongst the overseers of the six townships in

the parish, lOd. to each, for distributim amongst their
i

repective poor ; but in consequence of the great trouble

attendant on this arrangement, the principal was, in

185-t, added to the church-rate.

Sparh^s Dole.—The yearly sum of 6s. was formerly
|

paid by the Rev. W. S. Donnison, of Filliskirk, near

Thirsk, and distributed to the poor as Spark's Dole;

biit nothing has been paid for above 50 years.

COXHOE.

The township of Coxhoe, which adjoins that of Kclloe

on the west, contains 1,055 acres; and its population,

which has been latterly vastly increased by the opening

of new coal mines, was, at the successive periods of

return, 117, 171, 132, 154, 3,904, and 4,101. Of the

latter number, 2,244 were males and 1,857 females ;

and there were, at the same time, 781 inhabited houses

and 68 uninhabited. The property was assessed to the

county-rate in 1853 at £5,197 19s.

* An important decision respecting tolls was gifcn at the quarter-

sessions, AprU 1, 1S32, in an appeal, " Furness w. the Justices of

Durham, " when it was decided that Mr. George Emmerson, of Cox-

hoe, was not liable to more than one toll in the day for passing a turn-

pike gate with the same cart and horse, though with a different load,

provided he did not travel a distance of more than 3 raUes on the road.

At a special session for the highways for the county. May 13, 1S54,

an adjourned hearing took place on behalf of a number of r.ite-payer8

of the township of Coxhoe, to oppose the passing of the accounts of

Thomas Wood, Esq., Coxhoe Hall, the surveyor for the township, on

the ground of his having, without the consent of the rated inhabitants,

applied the funds of the township to the making of a footpath from

his residence to Kelloe church and on Quarrington Hill, instead of

to the repair of the carriage road. The question in dispute was,

whether a covering of engine ashes, smuU stones, and other cheap

materials, such as had been laid down, came under the dc'inition of a

footpath under the Highway Act, 5 and 6 Wm. IV., c. 68, sec. 45.

Opinions on both sides were given by various road surveyors ; and

the bench decided that the accounts for woik done on the portion of

road mentioned as having been injured by Mr. Wood should not be

allowed ; but that they could not disallow the whole £24 objected to,

as part of that sum had been expended in cutting do^NTi hills, and

widening the road. The interpretation put upon the act was that the

surveyor had no right to make a footpath without the consent of the

vestry ; and there was no question that in the first instance it was

intended to make a footpath, but that the intention had been altered.

The sum of £10 was therefore disallowed in the accounts, which were

then passed.

The Hartlepool Junction railway has an extent of

3 F. 50 Y., and an area of 2 a. Or. 20 p. in this to^vn-

ship ; it contributed £7 12s. 6d. in 1851, and £6 6s. 8d.

in 1852, to the local rates. The Clarence railway,

with an extent of 70 t., and an area of 34 p., con-

tributed, in the same years, lis. 3d. and 9s. 6d. ; the

gross amounts collected in the township being £492

14s. 4d. and £372 8s. 4d.

Coxhoe village Ues between a portion of the Hartle-

pool and Clarence railways, about 3 miles south-east

from Durham, on the turnpike road, from that city to

Stockton.* It is occupied principally by workmen's

houses, and forms a street of about half a mile in

length. At the north end is the portion called Black

Gate, as the old toll-gate of that name is still continued.

There are Wesleyan and Primitive Methodist chapels

in the place, to each of which Sunday and day schools

are attached. There are also two dames' schools. A
considerable business is done by drapers, grocers, pro-

vision dealers, and others. There is an association for

the prosecution of felons in the townships of Coxhoe,

Quarrington, and Cornforth. At the north end of

Coxhoe the Clarence railway terminates ;
passing

which, West Hetton pit village commences, the col-

liery being but a few yards distant. A little further on

the road is the residence of Mr. Johnson. At a short

distance are Park Hill farm,t and Croio Trees farm

house and cottages. At Croio Trees toll-gate a road

t The following letter, relative to this estate, illustrates the man-

ner of calculating the renewal of leases under the see of Duiham :

—

"Bishop .\uckland, Feb. 16, 1835.

" Sir,—I beg to acknowledge the receipt of your letter of the 14th

inst., and am sorry to find that the amount of the fine, &c. for the

renewal of the lease of the Parkhill Estate exceeds your expectations,

but must inform you that the information you have received as to the

general run of fines for putting in a life being one and a half year's rent

is quite erroneous, the calculation for renewal of leases of that nature

depending entirely upon the ages of the two existing lives, and conse-

quently varying in almost every instance. In your case, the ages of

the now existing lives are 64 and 42 respectively, and the calculation

is made accordingly, and upon a very liberal scale. The sec of Dur-

ham, as you may perhaps be aware, has received no fine upon this

property for very nearly 40 years.

" On the other side, as you desire, I send you a statement of the

proportions that will be payable by Messrs. Birkctt and Lammas, but

am unable to say how soon the new lease will be ready on the surren-

der of it— it may be done in perhaps a week or ten days after the sur-

render has been completed.

" I am. Sir,

" Your most obedient servant,

" R. A. Douglas Gkesley.

" To Mr. TurnbuU, Hatter, Newcastle.

" Your own proportion, £158 2s. 6d. ; Mr. Birkett's do. £23 lOs. 3d.

;

Mr. Lammas' do. £4 15s. 9d. ; Total, £186 17s. Od."
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leads oflf to Sunderland by way of Rainton. Boio Burn

consists of a few houses towards the Shincliffe station.

CoxJioe Hall, the residence of Thomas Wood, Esq.,

stands in a heahhy situation, in a good sporting country.

It is a handsome square building, fronting nearly south,

and forming a conspicuous object from many parts of

the country. The estate contains 1,056 acres, and is

scattered over with rising plantations. The hall and 100

acres belong to the representatives of Anthony Wil-

kinson, Esq., and the remainder to James Farish, Esq.

Strenuous efforts have been for some time made to

procure funds for the erection of a church in this

locality. In 1845, it was proposed to the ecclesiastical

commissioners to form a district, including the whole of

the townships of Coxhoe and Quarrington, the western

part of the township of Cassop, and the whole of the

township of Cornforth, in the parish of Bishop-Middle-

ham, then estimated to contain altogether a population

of 3,100 persons, but, according to the returns of 1851,

containing 3,700. The average distance from any

church is more than two miles, and none of the sittings

in the parish church of Kelloe are free. It was proposed

that one half of the sittings in the projected church

should be free ; but as there are no resident landed pro-

prietors, and few persons possessed of sufficient means

to subscribe largely, an appeal was made to the public

in June, 1852. At that time, the Church Societies had

subscribed £500 ; the Bishop of Durham, £50; the

Rev. T. H. Yorke, vicar of Bishop-Middleham, £100;

Henry Blanchard, Esq., £200; the Rev. R. Webster,

£50; the Rev. J. Birkett. £40; the Rev. H. William-

son, £20 ; James Farish, Esq., £10 ; and there were

smaller sums to the amount of £40 19s. No further

progress has yet been made.

The Clarence Hetton, Crow Trees, Coxhoe, and

West Coxhoe collieries (the latter commenced by the

" Durham County Coal Company") are worked by
Messrs. Robson and Jackson. According to Mr. Dunn,
the five-quarter seam, 3 feet 8 inches thick, is found at

Coxhoe pit at the depth of 10 fathoms; 10 fathoms

lower is the main coal, 4 feet 2 inches ; the Hutton

seam, 4 feet thick, 41 fathoms lower ; and another seam,

1 foot 9 inches thick, 24 fathoms lower ; making a total

depth of 85 fathoms. In the Crow Trees pit, the five-

quarter seam, 3 feet 6 inches thick, is at the depth of

45 fathoms; the main coal, 4 feet 6 inches thick, 12

fathoms further ; the low main, 2 feet 4 inches, 26 fathoms

further ; and the Hutton seam, 18 fathoms lower still.

The above colleries are sunk a little within the outcrop

of the magnesian limestone.

VOL. II.

Boldcn Book contains no notice of Coxhoe. John

Denum died seised of a moiety of a coal mine, and of a

messuage and twelve acres, in the 10th year of Bishop

Beaumont. According to Hatfield's Survey, a resident

family had then assumed the local name ; but the

Blakistons had previously acquired the manor and vill,

which they continued to hold till 1621, when the estate

passed by marriage to William Kennett, Esq., whose

great-grand-daughter, Mary, married Kenneth, Earl

and titular Marquis of Seaforth, of the kingdom of

Scotland. The earl engaged in the rebellion of 1715 ;

and his lady died in exile at Paris in 1739. Before

1749, John Burdon, Esq., had purchased the manor ;

and he, after 1758, conveyed to John Swinburn, Esq.,

husband of his niece, Sarah Burdon. William Swin-

burn, Esq., brother and successor of John, died without

issue ; and the estate, after passing to Major William

Swinburne, was sold, December 19, 1794, under a

decree in Chancery, to John Foster, Esq., of Lincoln's

Inn. From him it passed to Thomas Cooke, Esq.,

and afterwards to Anthony Wilkinson, Esq. The

royalties descended, under the devise of John Burdon,

Esq., to the family of Hale of Guisborough.

The manor was offered for sale in 1824, and de-

scribed as consisting of three farms yielding a rental of

more than £1,000 per annum; with water, corn, and

bone mills, labourers' cottages, &c., and a poor-house

for the maintenance of its own poor ; the whole held

for the term of 1,000 years.

The Wilkinsons are descended from Richard Wilkin-

son, Esq., of Crossgate, city of Durham, whose youngest

son, William, died in 1717, leaving issue, 1, Thomas, of

the city of Durham, barrister, who married December

17, 1717, Mary, daughter and heiress of William

Featherstonhaugh, of Brancepeth and Stanley ; he died

February 20, 1733, after which his widow married Sir

William Williamson, Bart, of Monkwearmouth ; 2,

John; 3, Anthony; 4, Richard.

Anthony, the surviving son, baptized September 19,

1684, married Deborah, daughter and coheiress of

Gilbert Machon, Esq., and had issue, William, his suc-

cessor ; Thomas, of Brancepeth, married in 1757, Jane,

daughter of R. Wilkinson, of Kirk-Ella, Hull, and had

four daughters (1, Deborah, married to Calverley Bc-

wicke, Esq., of Close House, Northumberland ; 2,

Anne, married to W. W. Bolton, of Hull ; 3, Jane,

married to Fewstcr Johnson, Esq., of Ebchester Hill,

Durham ; 4, Maria-Isabella) ; Gilbert, of Newcastle,

merchant, married Jane, only daughter of Hauxley

Surtecs, of the same place ; Margaret, married to

3g
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Thomas Wharton of Old Park, M.D. ; Isabel, married

to John Richardson, Esq., of Fram-wellgate ; Anne,

married to Timothy Hutchinson, Esq., of Egleston

;

Deborah, married to William Reed, Esq., of Sand-

Hutton, York ; and Elizabeth, married, 1st, to George

Mowbray, Esq., of Ford, and 2nd, to John Goodchild,

Esq., of Pallion.

Mr. Anthony Wilkinson died 1758, and was succeeded

by his eldest son, William, of Newcastle, who served

the office of high sheriff of Northumberland in 1757.

He married Philadelphia, daughter and eventually sole

heiress of Thomas Clennell, Esq., of Clennell, North-

umberland, and had issue seven sons and two daughters,

one of whom, Dorothy, was married to Henry CoUing-

wood, Esq., of Lilburne Tower, Northumberland (his

second wife).

Mr. Wilkinson died October 14, 1768, and was suc-

ceeded by his eldest son, Anthony, who died unmarried,

and was succeeded by his brother Robert. This gentle-

man married, about 1782, Hannah-Elizabeth, daughter

and coheiress of Robert Spearman, Esq., of Oldacres, by

whom he had issue four sons and two daughters ; the

oldest daughter married Calverley Bewicke Bewicke,

Esq., of Close House, Northumberland ; and the 2nd

daughter, Hannah-Isabella, married Warren Maude,
Esq., of Green Bank, Durham.

Mr. Wilkinson died November, 1825, and was suc-

ceeded by his eldest son, Anthony Wilkinson, Esq.,

born September 25, 1785; married Miss Hall, and had

issue, Anthony, Clennell, Mary-Ann, and Emily-Spear-

man. Mr. Wilkinson was a magistrate and deputy

lieutenant, and served as high sheriff for the county,

in 1837.

Arms—Gu. fesse, ^Tavy, between three unicorns' heads, arg.

Crest—Out of a mural coronet, gu., a unicorn's head, arg.

The estate of Coxhoe pays a prescript-rent of 7s. 6d.

to the vicar of Kelloe, and 12s. 6d. for the tithe of

Coxhoemill; £2 13s. 4d. to the Master of Sherburn

Hospital, in lieu of corn-tithe ; and a fee farm-rent of £-3

4s. 8d. to Sir J. P. Twisden, Bart.

An estate was ofi'cred by sale by private contract in

July, 1831, consisting of two farms. The East Farm,
containing 383 A. 2 K. 19 p., was let for £450 a year ;

the West Farm, 274 .\. 2 r. 32 1-., for £311; and a

lime-kiln and small tenements, for £83 10s. There

were 30 acres of thriving plantations, of more than 20

years' growth, making a total measurement of 771 a.

Coxhoe corn-mill and farm ; the Stripes, Bridge

Close, and the Corner inclosures ; 126 a. 2r. of planta-

tion ; several freehold dwelling houses, including a

public house and a school, were sold August S, 1832,

to the owners of East Hetton colliery. This estate is

subject to the payment of 3-28th parts of the prescript-

rents payable to the Master of Sherburn Hospital and

the vicar of Kelloe, in lieu of the tithe of Coxhoe mill.

QUARRINGTON.

This township, the most westerly portion of the

parish, comprises 1,589 acres. Its population, partici-

pating in the increase of the district, was stated, at the

successive returns, at 122, 143, 177, 173, 732, and

1,063; 570 of the latter being males and 493 females.

At that time, there were 213 inhabited houses and 6

uninhabited. The value of property assessed to the

county-rate in 1853 was £3,182 10s.

The Newcastle and Berwick (North-eastern) railway

extends 5 F. 60 y. and covers 6 a. in this township

;

and its contributions to the local rates in 1851 and 1852

were £31 12s. 6d. and £23. The Clarence line h;is an

extent of 100 y. and an area of 2 r., and contributed, in

the years above named, £2 10s. 4];d. and £1 5s. The

gross amount collected in the township in 1851 was

£224 12s. 51d., and in 18-52, £162 2s. 6d.

The township of Quarrington, anciently Qiieringdon,

is somewhat irregularly intermingled with that of Corn-

forth. It pays a prescript-rent of os. 8d. to the vicar of

Kelloe. The village is situated about 3 miles south-

east from Durham, and occupies the south-western

base of a long ridge of limestone hills.

At a place called Castle Hill, about 2 miles to the

west of Quarrington, in the ground belonging to a small

tenement called Stand-alone or Sedyehitlee, are some

traces of an ancient fortification. The ground plot,

which is situated on a level, is nearly square, and con-

tains about an acre and a half, which has been sur-

rounded by a moat, and is thro-\vn up regularly by a

very gentle rise towards the centre. Several square

foundation stones have been found in ploughing the

ground. Tradition, upon what authority does not ap-

pear, has assigned this place as u residence to tiie

Baliols at some remote period.

Quarrington Hill has twice been the seat of an en-

campment. The Scotch army, under the Earl of Leven,

remained here from the 8th to the 13th of April, 1644,

on their removal from E.isington to FcrryhiU, and tlienee

to Darlington ; and a detachment of the Duke of Cum-
berland's array occupied the south-western declivity of

the hill for some weeks in the spring of 1747. The
traces of the arrangement of their huts or tents are still

visible.
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In Boldon Book, Qiiarringdenshire included Sher-

burn, Shadforth, and Cassop. The punder had 20 acres,

and rendered six score hens and 1,000 eggs ; the greve

held an oxgang, and the smith 12 acres ; and four

carucates of the demesne, with the sheep, stock, and

pasture, were in the lord's hands. The shire paid 64s.

for cornage, and provided three milch cows. The

Master and Brethren of Sherburn Hospital held Quar-

rington Grange in Bishop Hatfield's time, with its

appurtenances, under £18 18s. annual rent. Quarring-

ton has since been leased by the Bishops of Durham to

the families of Raket or Rackett, AUenson, Williamson,

and others.

Bowburn Colliery, 17 fathoms to the main coal, TVest

Hetton, 28 fathoms to the five-quarter seam, and Heiigh

Hall, 58 fathoms to the same, all in this township, are

worked by Messrs. Robson and Jackson. There is a

village at each colliery. A little to the west of the

Heugh Hall is a quarry, in which basalt is wrought.

CASSOP.

The township of Cassop lies to the north of Quarring-

ton, and west of Thornley. It contains 1,622 acres;

and its population, at the successive returns, was 33, 59,

78, 69, 1,076, and 1,769; 974 of the latter being males

and 795 females, inhabiting o31 houses. In 1853, the

property was assessed to the county-rate at £3,257

Os. 4d.

Tlie North-eastern railway has an extent in tliis

township of 1 m. p. 190 v., and an area of 22 a. It

contributed £40 7s. lid. to the local rates in 1851, and

£48 9s. 6d. in 1852 ; the gross amounts collected in

those years being £201 Os. 8d. and £241 15s. 3d.

The village of Cassop is situated about 4 miles south-

east-by-east from Durham. It commands an extensive

prospect to the north-west, including the cathedral, and
Iwunded by the western hills. Old Cassop consists of

four farm houses and a few cottages. A mile from
thence is the colliery village, consisting of rows of

cottages, with eight public houses and a few shops.

Horse and foot-races were held by the inhabitants of

Cassop, on Thornley Moor, on Whit-Monday, 1853.

Cassop was anciently included in Querringdonshire,
and was the centre of a large tract of open country used
for the chase by the Bishops of Durham ; whence its

name, the hop or hill on which the caza, or chase, as-

sembled. William de Kent, according to Boldon Book,
held four oxgangs of land, and served in embassies.
By Hatfield's Sui'vey, Thomas Clerk of Elvet held the

same lands by similar service and 6s. 8d. The vill has

since been held by lease under successive bishops ; the

names of Busbye, Davison, Archer, Tomlynson, Bailes,

Wilson, Bewick, and Reed occur as lessees.

The corn-tithes of Cassop are held by lease for 21

years under the Master and Brethren ofSherburn Hos-

pital. A parochial meeting for the commutation of the

tithes, was held on the 19th of December, 1838. A
prescript-rent of 3s. 8d. is paid to the vicar of Kelloe.

Cassop and Cassop Moor Cotlieries are worked by

Ralph Park Philipson, Esq., and the coals are shipped at

the Victoria Dock, Hartlepool: they are known in the

market as Cassop Wallsend and St. Cuthbert's Wallsend.

TuRSDALE.—This ancient manor is situated to the

west of Quarrington ; a farm-house, standing on a gentle

slope of ground, being supposed to occupy the site of

the mansion. On the north, a little dell receives the

Kelloe (here called the Tursdale) Beck, on its course

towards the Wear.

The manor of Trillesden was granted by Bishop

PhOip to his servant, John le Boteler, whose grand-

daughter's husband assumed the name of Trillesden.

His great-grandson, William de Trillesden, had, before

1337, alienated the estate to William de Elmeden. In

1451, Bishop Neville confirmed the manor to William

de Elmeden, a descendent of the above, though the

supposed grants and confirmations to Le Boteler had

been delivered up to the bishop's chancery, to be there

cancelled, with a confession that they were false and

fabricated. In 1508, Elizabeth, the only daughter and

heiress of William Elmeden, carried the estate in

marriage to William Bulmer, Esq., and his great-grand-

son, Sir Bertram Bulmer, is said to have been one of

the most gallant and expensive men of his age in this

country. He was knighted at Durham on the first

entry of James I., and afterwards spent much of his

time at court ; whilst his style of living at Trillesden

was very splendid. Having dissijiated much of liis

property, he raised a troop of men, at the head of whom
he fought in the Low Countries ; but being, on one

occasion, deserted by his followers, he was taken

prisoner by the Spaniards. He died at Durham, and

was buried at St. Oswald's on the 6th of May, 1638.

Thirlesden, otherwise Tursdale, was conveyed, on the

20th December following, for £1,658, by William

Bulmer, Esq., of Morwick, to Lord William Howard
of Naworth, whose son. Colonel Thomas Howard, was

slain in the skirmish at Picrccbridge (sec page 142).

Thomas Howard, Esq., son of the colonel, in 1692,
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conveyed the estate, for £3,950, to "William Wilkinson,

Gent., of Crossgate, in whose descendants it has since

remained.

Tursdale pays a prescript-rent of 5s. to the vicar of

Kelloe, and £1 12s. in lieu of corn-tithe to the Master

of Sherburn.

CHAPELEY OF THOENLEY.

The chapelry of Tliomley was formed by order in council, January 31, 1844,and licensed by the Bishop of Durham

under the act of 6 and 7 Wm. IV. The district is bounded on the south-west by the township of Kelloe, on the

south by the consolidated chapelry district of Wingate, on the south-east by the parish of Castle-Eden, on the

east and north-east by the parish of Easington, on the north by the parish of Pittington, and on the north-west by

the township of Cassop, in the parish of Kelloe.

The township of Thornley, originally portion of the

parish of Kelloe, contains 1,107 acres. Its popidation,

in 1801, was 56; in 1811, 58; in 1821, 60; in 18-31,

50 ; in 1841, 2,730 ; and in 1851, 2,740, of whom 1,423

were males and 1,317 females. At the latter date, there

were 531 inhabited houses and 2 uninhabited. The

district included in the chapelry contained 564 inhabited

houses and 2 uninhabited; and the population was

2,902, consisting of 1,505 males and 1,397 females.

The property in the township was assessed for the

county-rate, in 1853, at £5,024 10s. 2d.

The receipts from poor-rates in the township of

Thornley, during the year ended Lady-day. 1855, were

£403 18s. ; in aid of rates, £7 9s. The expenditure

for in-maintenance was £61 13s.; out-relief, £164 18s.

;

workhouse loans repaid, £19 los. ; salaries and rations

of officers, £24 12. ; other expenses, £18 19s. ; total

connected with relief, £289 15s. Constables' expenses

before justices, £2 17s. ; vaccination, £6 18s. ; regis-

tration fees to clergymen, £9 10s. ; county-rate, &c.,

£83 15s. ; parliamentary registration, £1 10s. ; for all

other purposes, £31 19s. ; total expenditure, £426 14s.

The village of Thornley is 8 miles south-east-by-east

from Durham, on the road from thence to Hartlepool, and

about 5 miles from Easington. It contains a public house.

Tliomley old Hall is occupied by the colliery owners

The modern village consists of pitmen's houses, shops,

and public houses. A school for boys and girls is

supported by the colliery owners. There is a Catholic

chapel, dedicated to St. Godric, and a school attached :

on January 20, 1854, it was registered for solemnization

of marriages. The AVesleyan and Primitive Methodists

have also places of worship. A library was established

in 1843, to which the Thornley Coal Company and H.

J. Spearman, Esq., contribute.

THE CHURCH.

The foundation stone of the church was laid on the

20th June, 1842, in the absence of the Rev. R. Birkett,

vicar of Kelloe, by the Rev. C. Abbott, curate. H. J.

Spearman, Esq., gave an acre of ground as a site for

the church and burying-ground. It is a plain stone

building, from designs by Mr. H. Dunlop, slightly

Gothic in style, consisting of a nave, with a single bell

turret, and will contain from 300 to 400 persons. In

December, 1850, Mr. Scott, surgeon, of Thornley,

presented a chaste and elegant set of communion plate.

The cup and paten bear the following inscription :

—

" Deo Ecclesiae de Thornley, D.D., Gulielmus Scott,

Deer, 1850."

The vicar of Kelloe is patron of the living ; and

William Ashley Shute, A.B., incumbent. By order

in council, April 17, 1844, a grant of £134 per annum

was made by the ecclesiastical commissioners, so as to

bring the net annual income to £150. In the new

scheme relative to Sherburn Hospital, it is arranged to

augment tliis living with £50 per annum. lu 1845,

Thornley was placed in the list of benefices and churches

for which houses of residence were to be provided

;

and £350 was granted for that purpose from the

Maltby Fund, in the year ending November 1, 1852.

The parsonage house is in the Gothic style of architec-

tnre, and is situated near to the church.

The adherents of Bishop William, during his contest

with the usurper Comyn, " made a place of defence on

the spot which is called Thornlaw ; and there the bishop

abode, getting such scanty pro\'ision as he might."

Hugh, the son of Pinton, proprietor of Wingate, was

appointed guardian of this fortress ; but having been
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seduced by a promise of Comyn's daughter in marriage,

he traitorously surrendered the fort, and the good bishop

narrowly escaped falling into the hands of his enemies.

There are now no remains of this fortification ; and the

more recent mansion is used as a farm-house. A sub-

terranean cavern in the limestone rock, a little to the

south of this house, now used as a milk-house, is

said to have communicated with an ancient chapel

about twenty yards to the north, and to have been used

for the purpose of escape or concealment ; in confirma-

tion of which it is said that two priests belonging to the

Trollop family, who had escaped through this passage

during the persecution in the reign of Elizabeth, were

drowned in a pool near Sherburn, stiU called Priest

Pool. The cavern itself is called Kniglifs Sole.

Signing Hill, an eminence on the road to Durham,

derived its name from the custom of making the sign of

the cross, observed by travellers on first coming in sight

of Durham cathedral.

Peter Harpyn held the manor of Thornlaw in 1190

;

and it continued in that family until Katheriue Harpyn
married Thomas de Lumley. The Lumleys, in the

14th century, acquired several parcels of land belonging

to the Kellaws, out of which their chantry in Kelloe

church had been founded. Margaret Lumley, who
married John Trollop, survived her husband, and died

some time before April 8, 1412, leaving John Trollop,

her son and heir, then of age.* John, his grandson,

was contracted by his father, July 21, 1473,f to

Catherine Sayer, of Worsall ; and Andrew Trollop, a

younger son, was a warrior of some note in the reigns

of Henry VI. and Edward IV. In France, he served

under the Duke of York ; but having afterwards adopted

the red rose of Lancaster, he was slain at the battle of

Towton, where he held a principal command.

John, son of John Trollop and Catherine Sayer, was

• The family of Trollop is supposed to have come from Lincolnshire,

in which county there is still a baronet of that name. A curious mar-
riage contract was entered into, in 1448, by John Trollop, who " ac-

cordyd with Ralph Pudsaye, of Uarfurth, p)s(iuiiT, that John,

sou and luire apparent of JohnTrolhope, schuld by the grace of God
wed and tak to wyfe one of the doghtcrs of the said Raufe at

the election of the said John the fadir als him thinke their age

will best acord j the said raariage to be made in all gudely hast

that can be efter the fest of Pasch next comyng—for whilk

in.iriage the said Raufe shal pay to the said John the fadir fourscore

marks and five—and the said John the fadir shall giff to the said John
the son and his wyff, landcs to the veray value yerly of ten marc."

He also " byndys himselfe that his lifelod (livelihood) is nowe of the

yerly value of forty marc over the reprizez, beside the manor of

Thornlaw and the demene ;" and to preserve the same for his heirs,

he covenants to sell none of his inheritance present or"that8chal
come to hym by any of his auiicestros." If (which Uod defend !) John

contracted in marriage, when little more than an infant

in arms, to Jane, daughter of Robert Tempest, of

Holmside, and, after her death, married Alice Morland.

The estate now began to be encumbered by the successive

annuities granted to the younger branches of the family.

John Trollop, for preparing to join the Northern Re-

bellion in 1569, was included in the act of attainder :

his life was spared ; but the estate was granted away by

the crown. " The grantee," it is said, " came down to

take possession. Old Trollop and several of his kinsfolk

met the Londoner on the verge of the estate, disguised

like countrymen, and received him with marks of re-

spect as their new landlord, conducted him into the

house, feasted him, and at length made him drunk.

When the contents of Old Thornlaw and Great Harry
pot+ had taken full effect, and the new landlord was

reduced to a state of insensibility, his obsequious

tenants bound him hand and foot, placed him on horse-

back, and carried him to Hartlepool, where other

friends were in readiness to receive them, and he was

immediately carried on board a light skiff. The next

morning he had full time to ruminate upon the baleful

effects of Thornley pot, under the pangs of a severe fit

of sea-sickness, on his voyage to Flanders, whither he

was actually transported, and from whence he did not

return before old Trollop had in some measure made
his peace with the court, and had obtained a lease for

life of the Thornley estate (under a yearly rent of £10).

Trollop died in 1611, when his grandson, John Trollop,

succeeded as heir of entail, and established his right

against the crown lessees by a trial at bar before a jury

of Berkshire."

Under the pressure of incumbrances, successive mort-

gages of parts of the estate were had recourse to ; and

the Milne-field and the Gore (the latter the best and

principal portion of the property) were sold between

Trolop the son die without issue, the lauds shall revert to his father.

Lastly it was agreed that the bridegroom should remain in the guver-

nance of his father " till he be of reasonable age to governe himselfe."

Each party binds himself in the penalty of £10 to observe these

conditions.

t In 1476, John Trollop, of Thornley, by his will, dated at " Ilart-

ilpole," October 30, (which is attested by Richard Vavasour, mayor
of that town,) bequeathed his soul to the Virgin, St. Jolm the Baptist,

St. Cuthbert, and all the blessed company of heaven, and desired that

his body miglt be buried with the Friars Minors at Iliirtlepool, to

whom he gave " Xi. to synge a trentall (a service of thirty masses) for

his soule." Amongst other legacies, he left to his three daughters

£20 each, " to get them husbands."

{ These were two notable pots, of great capacity, which had been

frequently bequeathed by will, and had long descended as heir-looms

ill the house of TUorulcy."
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1621 and 1625. On the 4th of December, 1636, John

Trollop, eldest son of the proprietor, in a sudden quarrel

at a horse-race at Whitc-hail-dike-nook, fought with

William Selby, Esq., of Newcastle, and slew him on

the spot ; when he immediately fled, and was outlawed

at the ensuing assizes. On the breaking out of the

civil war in 1641, the elder Mr. Trollop espoused the

royal cause ; and two of his sons were killed in the

service of Charles I. and II. at Wigan and Oxford.

His house and furniture, even to his grandchild's

apartments, were seized by the sequestrators, who de-

scribe the goods as follows :

—

" Inventory of all the estate reall and p'sonall of Mr. John Trolop

rrf Thomley, Esq., Papist, and of ilr. John Trolop the younger, 14

Sept, 1644—In the hall, three ould tables and a chaire and a forme,

10s. ; stuff in the parler, 18s. ; in the inner parler, 13s. ; his owni

chamber, £1 ; young Mr. Trolop's lodging-room, £2 ; little John

Trolope's stuff, 10s. ; kitchin stuffe, 5s. ; a bull and four mUk-kine,

&e. ; an oulde lead, 3s. 4d."

Like other Cavaliers, the Trollops, after the Restora-

tion, found themselves reduced to the family mansion,

and about a third part of their original estate. John

Trollop, the survivor of so many misfortunes, died in

1668, leaving a son and grandson. The latter died in

1676, in the lifetime of his father, who thereupon sold

the remainder of the property, for £1,500, to John Spear-

man, Gent., and retired to West Herrington, where he

died in 1682. His remains were interred in Thornley

Porch, Kelloe, at the charge of Mr. Spearman. The

other parts of Thornley estate have been re-united by

purchase by the descendants of Mr. Spearman.

The family of Spearman are descended from Robert

Spearman, a younger son of the Spcarmans of Dun-

nington, Shropshire (seated there since the Conquest,

and are said to be descended from the old Lords of

Aspramond), who came into the north with the troops

that suppressed the great rebellion called " The Pil-

grimage of Grace," and was at the battle of Solway

Moss in 1542. He married, first, Agnes, daughter of

Thomas Robinson, merchant, of Newcastle, but had no

issue ; and, secondly, a daughter of Whitfield, of "WTiit-

field, Northumberland, by whom (who married,

• From Michael, the eldest son, descended Ralph Spearman, Esq.,

of Eachwick, Northumberland, the last heir male of the family. He
frequently mentioned a latent intention to arrange the recollections of

e long life spent in the acquisition of antiquarian and legendary lore,

but left no work behind him to perpetuate that extensive local know-

ledge of which he seemed to be the^sole depository. He died at Each-

wick, July 13, 1S23, aged 74, having devised his estates to his friend,

John Hunter, Esq., now John Hunter Spearman, Esq.

t Robert, third son, in 1715 purchased the manor of Old Acres (see

page 345), He married, December U, 1701, Hannah, daughter of

WiUiam Webster, merchant, of Stockton, and dying October 18, 1728,

secondly, — Bates), he had a son, Robert. In 35th

Eliz., 1593, he held lands in Preston, in the manor of

Tynemouth, and died in 1600, aged 81.

Robert, son of the above, married AHce, daughter of

John Browne, lieutenant-governor of Tynemouth

Castle, and had issue two sons* and three daughters.

Thomas, the second son, born about 1598, married,

November 16, 1620, Margaret, daughter and co-heiress

of John Atkinson, Gent., of Cleadon. Robert, his son,

born about 1623, married, in 1644, Dorothy, daughter

and co-heiress of John Pattison, of Boldon, by whom
he had issue four sonsf and two daughters. He died

January 27, 1657-8, and was buried at Tynemouth.

John Spearman, Esq., eldest son of Robert, baptized

January 16, 1645, was a sound and judicious lawj'er

and antiquary, and 30 years under-sheriff of Durham.

In 1678, he purchased the manor of Thornley, and in

1686, a moiety of that of Hctton-le-Hole. He married,

November 3, 1663, Elizabeth, daughter and co-heiress

of Richard Whitfield, Esq., jun., alderman of Durham,

and had issue six sons and two daughters, of whom,

Elizabeth, the eldest, married, July 4, 1687, Michael

Mickleton, Esq., of Crook HaU; and Dorothy, the

youngest, married Mr. Serjeant John Cuthbcrt, re-

corder of Newcastle. Mr. Spearman died September

21, 1703, aged 58.

Gilbert Spearman, Esq., sixth son of John, baptized

August 17, 1675, succeeded to the Thornley estate.

He was a barrister-at-law, and married, first, in 1697,

Mary, daughter and co-heiress of Robert Bromley,

Gent., of Nesbitt, by whom he had four sons ; and,

secondly, September 1, 1701, the daughter and sole

heiress of Robert Pearson, Esq., of Bishop-Middleham,

by whom he had four sons and two daughters. He pub-

lished, in 1729, in small quarto, " An Enquiry into the

ancient and present state of the County Palatine of

Diu-ham," being the joint production of himself and

father (see vol. i., p. 9) ; and dying in 1738, was buried

May 14 in that year.

Robert Spearman, eldest son, married, about 1721,

Miss Anne Stare, of the city of York, and had issue

left three sons and two daughters. Robert, the eldest son, says

Hutchinson, " is immortal in the literary world ; and who for his

erudition, was not more illustrious than for his private virtues." He
married, first, Miss Mary Lewcn, and, secondly, Anne, daughter of

Robert Sharp. Gent., of Hawthorn, by whom he left five daughters,

his coheiresses. Dorothy, the eldest, was married to John-Ralph

Fen-n-ick, M.D., of Durham ; Mary-Anne, died unmarried May 9,

1777 ; Hannah-Elizabeth, was married to Thomas Wilkinson, Esq., of

Coxhoe ; Charlotte, to Thomas S\vinburne, Esq., of Pontop ; and

Margaret, to Calverley Bewicke, Esq., M.P. of Close House,

Northumberland.
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three sons and three daughters. He died in 1747, and

was succeeded by his eldest son, Charles, who married,

first, Jane, daughter of Robert Irvine, Esq., of Woodhall,

Dumfrieshire, and had issue to survive infancy two

sons and a daughter; and, secondly, Margaret, sister of

William Young, governor of Grenada and Tobago, by

whom he had one son, Alexander-Young, major in the

artillery. Mr. Spearman died October 21, 1763, aged

35, and was succeeded by his eldest son, Robert-Irvine

Spearman, Esq., who died unmarried October 8, 1775,

and was succeeded by his brother, Charles Spearman,

Esq., a justice of the peace for the county palatine.

He married Sarah, daughter and coheiress of Samuel

Brooke, Esq., pf Birchington, Kent; and by her (who

died in August, 1808) had issue four sons and three

daughters. Charles, the eldest son, born November

14, 1791, was first lieutenant in tlie royal artillery, and

killed at Waterloo.

Henry-John Spearman, Esq., now of Thornley, born

December 7, 1794, second son, succeeded his father.

Arms—Az., a chcv., erm., between three broken epeaj3, erect, or,

headed, arg.

Crest—A demi-lion, rampant, holding in the muuth a spear, ppr.

Motto—Dum spire spero.

SeiU—Newton HaU, near Durham.

The manor of Thornley pay a prescript-rent of 6s. to

the vicar of Kelloe ; and £1 13s. 4d. to the IMaster of

Sherburn, in lieu of tithe-corn, payable by equal portions

on the two feasts of Saint Cuthbert, in March and

September. The appointment of one of the thirty

brethren of Sherburn Hospital, by an act of 27th Eliz.,

is vested in the owner, for the time being, of the manor

of Thornley, who will in future, according to the new
scheme laid down by the ecclesiastical commissioners,

be included in the number of governors.

Tho7-nley Colliery.—This colliery, with that of Lud-

worth, in the adjoining chapelry of Shadforth (see vol.

i., p. 411), is worked by Messrs. Thomas Wood, Gully,

Chayters, and Burrell, under the firm of the Thornley

Coal Company. The Thornley pit is on the south side

of the Hctt Dyke ; and in consequence of the thinness

of the Hutton seam, ^the workings were at first limited

to the five-quarter, and afterwards sunk to the Beaumont

or Harvey, which yields a good coking coal. The

company, being in possession of a large district of coal

north of the dyke, worked up to that obstruction, but

did not attempt to cut through it. They, however,

sunk the Ludworth pit, on the north side of the dyke,

near to the present Haswell pits, where they found the

Hutton seam in its usual thickness and good quality,

and now work it extensively for shipment. In the

Thornley pit, the five-quarter seam, 3 feet 7 inches

thick, is at the depth of 84 fathoms ; the main coal, 2

feet 8inches, 18 fathoms further ; the Maudlin, 6 fathoms

;

the low main, 2 feet 9 inches, 15 fatlioms ; the Hutton

seam, "Z feet 2 inches, 21 fathoms ; and the Harvey

seam, 3 feet 8 inches, 21 \ fathoms ; being a total depth of

165 i fathoms. Their private railways, which join a

little to the east, connect Thornley and Ludworth

collieries with the Hartlepool railway ; and a line from

Thornley to the south-west leads to the Clarence.

CHAPELRY DISTRICT OF WINGATE.

J HE consolidated chapelry district of Holy Trinity, Wiugate Grange, was formed by order in council, June 3,

1842, and licensed by the bishop of the diocese under 6 and 7 William IV. It consists of that portion of the

])arish of Castle Eden which forms the site of the church and church-yard, and those two portions of the town-

ship of Wingate in tlic adjoining parish of Kelloe, which are called or known by the name of Wingate estate, and

Wingate Grange estate, being bounded on the north by the Durliam and Castle-Eden lane, and the remaining

part of the said township of Wingate in the said parish of Kelloe ; on the cast and south-east by the said parish

of Castle-Eden, and the enclosure walls of the church-yard, which divides tlic same church-yard from the

remainder of the said parish of Castle-Eden, and by the township of Hutton-Henry in the parish of Monk-
Ilesleden ; on the south by another part of the said township of Wingate in the said parish of Kelloe, and by

the parish of Trimdon ; and on tlic west by the townships of Kelloe and Thornley, in the said pimsh of Kelloe.

The township of Wingate comprises an area of 4,154

acres. Its population, latterly influenced by the fluc-

tuations of coal-mining operations, was rcturaed, at the

successive enumerations, at 135, 151, 131, 115, 2,625,

and 2,436 ; 1,304 of the latter number being males and

1,152 females. There were, in 1841, 489 inhabited
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houses and 4 uninhabited ; and in 1851, 485 inhabited,

and 44 uninhabited. The same numbers of houses and

inhabitants were returned for the chapelry as the town-

ship. The annual value of property assessed for the

county-rate in 1853 was £2,419 6s. 8d.

The Hartlepool branch of the North-eastern railway

has an extent of 2 m. 1 F., and an area of 26 a., in the

township of "VYingate. In 1851, the local rates collected

amounted to £481 4s. 6|d., towards which the railway

contributed £39 7s. 6d. ; and in 1852, it contributed

£92 10s., the gross amount collected being £603

Is. 2jd. The station is 8j miles from Hartlepool, and

9 miles from Ferryhill.

The township of Wingate, during the year ended

Lady-day, 1855, contributed to Easington Union,

£538 14s. in poor-rates, and £13 6s. in aid of rates.

The expenditure for in-maintenance was £27 16s. ; out-

relief, £258 2s. ; workhouse loans repaid, £34 19s.

;

salaries and rations of officers, £43 19s. ; other ex-

penses, £44 19s. ; total connected with relief, £409 12s.

Law expenses, £9 18s. ; constables' expenses before

justices, £4 10s. ; vaccination, £9 2s. ; registration fees

to clergymen, £6 3s, ; county-rate, £40 6s. ;
parlia-

mentary registration, £1 lis.; for all other purposes,

£S6 18s. ; total expenditure, £518.

The village of Wingate is situated to the east of

Thomley ; it is 6 miles east-south-east from Durham,

and 3 from Castle-Eden.

The colliery village consists of 150 double and 228

single cottages, belonging to Lord Howden, besides

several other residences built on ground purchased

from his lordship. There are six public houses in the

village (three also at Wheatley Hill Lane), a number

of retail pro^•ision dealers, the other usual shopkeepers

in similar localities, a post-office, a rural police station,

and two parish constables. There is a Primitive

^lethodist chapel, the foundation-stone of which was

laid December 8, 1841 ; it will accommodate about

700 hearers. About the same period, the Wesleyan

Methodists converted tft'o cottage houses into a chapel,

to which is attached a week-day school. The popula-

tion of the village was, in 1855, between 1,400 and

1,500. The village lies rather in a vale, but is found

to be tolerably healthy. The supply of water is brought

in carts from a spring about half a mile distant.

THE CHURCH.

WtxG.'^TE Church was consecrated by the Bishop of

Durham on the 22nd of October, 1841. Though plain

and simple with respect to ornament, the building is of

elegant design, and consists of nave and chancel, in the

early English style of architecture, wdth four lancet

windows on each side, and three on the east. There

is an ornamented bell turret on the western gable.

The interior is fitted up with considerable taste. The

font, of Caen stone, is of exquisite design, by Chantrey
;

it was presented by Lady Forbes, of Fitzroy Square,

London.

The church, with schools for the colliery children,

was built by private subscription ; the colliery owners

being the chief contributors. Their subscription was

£300, in addition to which Lord Howden, one of the

principal proprietors, gave £200, besides timber and

joiner-work for the schools, and Lady Howden £50,

with an annuity of £10 to the girls-schools.

The cost of the church and schools was about £1,100,

besides the site, which was presented by Rowland

Burdon, Esq. The school is provided with distinct

apartments for the boys and girls ; the average attend-

ance is about 100. The children pay weekly pence,

and the owners of the colliery make up the amount of

salary to the master of £70 per annum, with house and

firing.

The curate of Castle-Eden is patron of the living

;

and the Rev. E. N. V. Boydell is the present incum-

bent. In pursuance of an order in council, dated

August 27, 1842, the ecclesiastical commissioners made

an annual grant of £139 per annum to the living of

Wingate Grange ; the net income being fixed at £150

a year. It is arranged, in the new scheme relative to

the government of Sherburn Hospital, to grant an

augmentation of £50 a year to the incumbent of Win-

gate. The benefice was placed in the list of those for

which a residence for the minister was to be provided

by the ecclesiastical commissioners. A parsonage was

built about twelve years ago. It stands about a quarter

of a mile from the church, and is a substantial building,

which, with the grounds, cost above £1,000, principally

granted by the ecclesiastical commissioners.

The treacherous Hugh, the son of Pinton (see

page 382), experienced the clemency of Bishop William,

and is mentioned in a charter of that prelate as proprie-

tor of Wingate. It was given by Bishop Pudsey to

Finchale Priory, by which the greater part of it was

held till the Dissolution. The prior of Durham, in

1428, exchanged lands in Ludworth with Thomas

H olden, Esq., for certain lands and rents in Wingate,

Merrington, and Elvet. In 1553, certain property in
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Wingate, which had belonged to the convent of Dur-

ham, was granted by Edward VI. to Simon AVelburie

and Christopher Morland, and, after passing through

the hands of various proprietors, was purchased, in

1702, by William WUldnson, Esq., of Crossgate. It is

now the property of his descendant, Thomas Wil-

kinson, Esq.

The town of Wingate pays a prescript of 3s. to the

vicar of Kelloe.

Wingate Grange belonged to the convent of Dur-

ham, and was valued at £12 13s. 4d. per annum. Two
gentlemen of London, named Eastechurch and Best,

had a grant of it from Queen Elizabeth, and transferred

it to Thomas Liddell, of Newcastle. In 1608, he

granted it in fee to Christopher and George Wharton,

Esqrs., from whose descendants it passed to the Davi-

sons, and afterwards by marriage to the Bakers, who

sold it in 1811 to Sir John Cradock, K.B., now Lord

Howden.*

Wingate Grange pays a modus of 3s. to the vicar of

Kelloe, and 18s. 6d. to the Master of Sherburn in lieu

of corn-tithe.

Wingate Grange Colliery,^ the property of Lord

Howden, is 74 fathoms deep to the five-quarter seam.

This colliery, and the two Trimdons, says Mr. Hall,

" though producing good coal, have yet been so costly

that they have been either sold or valued at a tithe

of the amount expended iipon them by their original

owners. They are worked in the five-quarter scam

;

and, if the working operations had been judiciously con-

ducted, some of these concerns might have, before this,

yielded satisfactory returns for the original owners ; but

which have proved much more so, upon a smaller outlay

of capital, for the new owners. There is a good stripe

of coal in the five-quarter seam, here and there, from

Wingate to Trimdon and Kelloe, averaging about a mile

in breadth, and altogether about three miles in length."

* Lord Howden.—For the origin of the family of Cradock, see page

132. His lordship is descended from a younger branch of the family

of Sir Matthew Caradoc, governor of Glamorganshire, temp. Henry
VH., who married the Lady Catherine Gordon, called " The White
Rose of Scotland, " widow of the famous Perkin Warbeck, whom she

had been forced to marry by hia Scotch adherents. General Sir

John Francis Cradock, only son of his Grace, John (Cradock), Arch-

bishop of Dublin, Lord Primate of Ireland, was created Baron Howden,
in the peerage of Ireland, Oct. 10, 1819 ; and Baron Howden in that

of the United Kingdom, Sept. 7, 1831. His lordship was a general

officer in the army, colonel of the 43rd regiment of foot, a knighl

Grand Cross of the Bath, and knight Grand Cross of the Imperiat
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Wheatley Hir.L adjoins Wingate on the north. It

was anciently called Quetlawe, a name supposed to be

derived from White Law, on account of the hoary ap-

pearance which high exposed situations frequently retain

after the rind has thawed on the lower grounds. It was

the property of Robert Rhodes in 1474, and passed by

miirriage to the Bainbriggs,from whom it was purchased,

in 1621, by Sir Thomas Riddell, Knt., of Gateshead,

for £2,700. Sir Thomas and his son granted it, in 1639,

to Lord William Howard, of Naworth Castle, for £2,880,

from whose descendants it passed, with Tursdalc, to the

family of Wilkinson, and now belongs to the Rev. T.

Wilkinson,

Greenhill, parcel of Wheatley Hill on the east, was

sold by Thomas Bainbrigg, Esq., in 1616, to George

Martyn, Gent., of Durham. It has since passed to the

family of Gowland.

The whole estate pays a prescript rent of 2s. to the

vicar of Kelloe, and 13s. 4d. in lieu of corn-tithes to the

Master of Sherburn.

The Hurworths.—White Hurworth, Black Hur-

worth. Red Hurworth, and Hurworth-Holden-Carr, or

Hurworth-Hollingforth, form the most southern part of

the township, and adjoin the parish of Sedgefield. The

family of Kellaw anciently had possessions in Hurthe-

worth, which afterwards came to the Fulthorpes, under

whom the Claxtons held a part of the manor. Hurworth-

Brian, otherwise Hurworth-on-the-Moor, was divided

by lot (supposed red, white, and blackj, in 1468,

amongst the three daughters and co-heiresses of Thomas

Hurworth. The Maires subsequently held the chief

part of the property, which now belongs to the represen-

tatives of the late A. AVilkinson, Esq. Red Hurworth

and Black Hurworth are the property of F. A. MUbank,

Esq. ; and Holden-Carr, east and west, belongs to the

Rev. R. H. Williamson. There are a few other pro-

prietors in the township.

Ottoman order of the Crescent ; which orders were bestowed upon

his lordship for his distinguished services in Egj-pt. He married, Nov.

17, 1798, Theodosia-Sarah-Frances, 3rd daughter of John, first Earl

of Clanivilliara, by whom he had an only son, John Hobart, the pre-

sent peer, born Oct. 16, 1799. His lordship married, Jan. 11, 1830,

Catherine, daiighter of his excellency, Paul, Count Skavronsky. He
succeeded his father as 2nd baron in July 1839. Lord Howden is envoy-

extraordinary to the Queen of Spain, and has had conferred upon him

various English and foreign honours.

t AVhilst some workmen at the colliery were engaged in sawing a

tree, a bird's nest, containing three perfect eggs, was found in the

solid wood, about a foot from the bark.

3h
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CHAP,ELEY OF TEIilDON.

iHE chapelry of Trimdon forms the most soutk-westerly portion of Easington Ward. It is bounded by the

parish of Kelloe on the east and north, by Garmondsway Moor in the parish of Bishop-Middleham on the west,

and by the parish of Sedgcfield on the south. It includes but one township or constablery of the same name,

which is annexed to Sedgefield Union (see page 337).

The township of Trimdon contains 2,280 acres. In

1801, its population was 278; in 1811, 274; in 1821,

302; in 1831, 276; in 1841, 382 ; and in 1851, in con-

sequence of the erection of two colliery villages, 1,5&8,

of whom 836 were males and 762 females. In 1841,

there were 84 inhabited houses, 5 uninhabited, and 1

building; and in 1851, 324 inhabited, and 108 unin-

habited. The annual value of lands and buildings in

1829 was £1,433 10s., and in 1853, £3,686 15s.

The Hartlepool branch of the North-eastern railway

has an extent of a mile, and covers an area of 12 acres

in Trimdon. Its contributions to the local rates were

£25 in 1851, and £28 6s. 8d. in 1852; the gross

amounts collected in those j'ears being £224 7s. 7|d.

and £266 14s. ll|d. The Trimdon station is 6f miles

from Ferryhill, and lOf from Hartlepool.

The village of Trimdon consists of one long and wide

street, situated on an eminence, 4 miles north from

Sedgefield. At the west end is the mansion-house of

the estate, called Trimdon Old Hall, and inscribed in

front, " Brian Roper, Asjio Dom. 1718." This man-

sion, with its appurtenances, 27 acres of land, and a

pew in the chancel of the church, are still held by the

Ropers, for the residue of several terms of 999 years,

subject to an armual out-rent of lOs. l|d. ; the land-tax

is redeemed, and the tithes are commuted at £5 5s. a

year. There are three public houses and a few

tradesmen in the village. The brewery, with a

dwelling-house, a pew in the church, and a garth, are

lield by lease for 999 years, granted in 1615, subject to

an annual out -rent of 5s. 6d. There is a girls' school

in the village, to which the Diocesan School Society,

in 1850, made a donation of £10. For the boys' school,

see Charities. There are now three places bearing

the name of Trimdon ; the old village, Trimdon Grange,

and the colliery village. A court leet and court baron,

formerly held by the lord of the manor, are now dis-

continued.

THE CHURCH.

This church, which stands in the middle of the village,

is a ruinous neglected looking edifice, consisting of nave

and chancel, with bell-turret at the west. There are

two modern arched sash windows in the chancel, and

three of similar construction on the south side of the

building, the north side being entirely blank. In the

interior the furniture is plain and common, with texts

of scripture in frames hung upon the walls. The

church is exceedingly damp, and the only indications of

recent attention to the edifice are, a coat of yellow-ochre

in the interior, and an external white-washing.

Registers.—Book No. 1 (parchment) contains en-

tries of baptisms from 1720 to 1812, burials from 1721

to 1812, and marriages from 1721 to 1753 ; No. 2,

marriages from 1754 to 1812.

Trimdon chapel is not in charge, paying no first

fruits or tenths. Cert, val., £21 5s. ; Episc. proc, 2s.

Dedication to St. ilary Magdalen. Col. Beckwith,

patron.

CUR.VTES.—John Senhouse, 1.501 ; James Buckle, 1-575 ; George

Swallowell, 1576, p. res. Buckle (executed at Darlington, July 26,

1.594; see vol. i., page 453) ; Ralph. Anterbubse, 157S ; George Mor-

den, 1579 ; John Martine, 1587 ; Fisher occurs 1613 ; William

Lister occurs 1632 ; Stephen Woodifield, 1673 ; Robert Adamson,

1695 ; William WoodiSeld ; Bryan Lancaster, 1752, p. m. Woodifield

;

William Dunn, 1759, p. m. Lancaster ; Benjamin BarTsise, 1763,

p. m. Dunn; Edward Davison, sen., 1783, p. m. Barwise; W. Nor-

Tal ; George Sproston, 1846, p. res. Nerval.

A part of the church-yard of Kelloe was set apart for

the use of this chapelry; but on August 5, 1811, Bishop

Barrington consecrated a burial-ground at Trimdon.

The glebe house and garth were settled, about 1614,

by Humphrc)' and Thomas Wharton, Esqrs., with an

annual rent-charge of £20, free from all deductions,

issuing out of the manor of Trimdon, in four feofiees.
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for the perpetual endowment of the church, and the

maintenance of the officiating priests for the time

being.

Ann Lister, spinster, of Billingham, in 1715, devised

110 acres of land, with a farm-house, held for the resi-

due of a term of 1,000 years (from March 25, 1614) by

the lord of the manor of Trimdon, under 56s. 2d. rent,

to the President and Fellows of the Queen's College of

St. Margaret and St. Barnard in Cambridge, or their

appointees, on trust, " to dispose of the rents for and

towards the maintenance of a person to be by them

chosen, to preach on all Sundays in the afternoon

throughout the year, in the parish church or chapell of

Trimdon ;" with a proviso that should they at any time

be enabled to purchase the advowson, they might settle

the profits as an augmentation for the minister. The

contingency was refused by the President and Fellows ;

and under a decree, about 1730, tlie lands were settled

as a perpetual augmentation to tlie cure, under the name

of a Lectureship.

Seven acres of copyhold land in Chester-le-Street

were purchased with £400 granted from Queen Anne's

Bounty. In 1835, the gross income was stated at £103

a year, from which a permanent payment of £7 was

deducted, together with £78 as the stipend of a curate.

The railway passes through a portion of the glebe land,

the extra rent from which, together with the increase of

surplice fees from the two collieries, have materially

increased the income.

CHARITIES.

Charities ofJohn andHenry Airey, Ann Lister, and
John lVooJi_field.—The interest of £50 (part of a sum of

£200 advanced on certain lands in Trimdon) was be-

queathed by John Airey, for the putting out of four

children, yearly, as apprentices. Henry Airey, by will,

February 1, 1680, left £50, the interest of which was

to be distributed to the poor yearly on the day of his

death, reserving 5s. to the parish for the commemoration.

In 1718, Ann Lister bequeathed £40, and Jolin

Woodiiield £20, for the poor ; and to these sums £40
was added by the township, to complete the purchase of

the above-named lands. These consist of three closes,

contaiuiug between 11 and 12 acres, and let at £32 a

year. One-fourth of this sum is set apart, in respect of

the gift of John Airey ; between £3 and £4 being

alloAved yearly to the parents of two boys who have

been placed out apprentices, for the purpose of pro-

Tiding them with clothing, as it is not here customary

for masters to receive premiums. Another fourth is

given away on the 10th July, under the name of Ann
Lister's Benefaction, and is divided amongst 14 or 15

poor persons, in sums varying from 5s. to 20s. Of the

remaining half of the rent, 5s. is paid to the minister for

preaching a sermon on the 20th of February, in com-

memoration of Henry Airey, and the residue is given

away on the same day, or soon afterwards, to about 17

or 18 poor persons of the parish, in sums varying from
12s. to 30s.

School.—Henry Airey, above named, bequeathed to

John Airey, of Trimdon, liis lands called North Moor,
Shoolebriggs, andRoughleyClosej he paying £5 yearly

out of the same towards maintaining a free school in

Trimdon for ever, for teaching such poor children as the

minister and churchwardens shoidd think fit ; and also

paying 5s. yearly to a minister for preaching a sermon

on the day of his death. The yearly sum of £5 is paid

by the owners of the lands named, in quarterly pay-

ments, to the schoolmaster of Trimdon, for which he

instructs six boys or girls in reading ; and 5s. is added

to a similar sum named in the preceding charity, for

preaching the commemoration sermon. The trustees of

Lord Crewe's charities gave £5 per annum to the school

up to 1846, since which time it has been discontinued.

Hoper's Charity.—A piece of ground in Trimdon,

called the Paddock, is supposed to be identical with land

given by Bryan Roper to the poor. It is let at £5 per

annum, which the churchwardens di.stribute to such

poor persons as appear to be proper objects, in sums

varying from 5s. to 12s.

When King Canute came on his pilgrimage to the

shrine of the holy St. Cuthbert, he alighted from his

horse at Trimdon, and having his head shaved, travelled

barefooted and bareheaded from thence to Durham. Trim-

don, the Place of Tonsure, is supposed to have derived

its name from this transaction. About the year 1146,

Bishop William de St. Barbara, with the consent of the

chapter, gave the church to G uisborough priory ; and the

manor was added to the gift by Bishop Poor. After the

Dissolution, the manor and the patronage of the chapel

were sold out, and became the estate and residence of

the Ropers. In the Sequestrators' books :

—

" 12 Dec. 1644. Letlen to Kobuit Roopcr, jun. all thoso lands in

Trimdon which he fiirnied of the Lord Bryan, from Muy-duy last, £75

perann. by Mr. (ioorgo and Kiehiird Lilburne.

"It being doubted whether the Lord ISryan was a delinquent, there

came in one and stow l', am! sj prucvd him a ddiiaiiuint"
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Robert Roper, Esq., who died in 1687, sold the

manor, with its appendages, to John Woodifield, Esq.,

of Fishburn, ancestors of the Beckwiths of Thurcroft

and of Herrington, of whom Lieutenant-colonel Beck-

with is the present representative.

On January 20, 1853, notice was given by the En-

closure Commissioners for England and Wales, that

Col. William Beckwith, of Silksworth, had applied,

under the provisions of the act of 13th and 14th Vict.,

cap. 31, for the advance by way of loan of £1,500 for

the di'ainage of lands in Trimdon, and in Fishburn in

the parish of Sedgefield.

Park House farm, partly leasehold and partly free-

hold, contains about 239 acres, and pays a modus of

93. 8d. yearly in lieu of aU tithes. It is the property

of liOrd Viscount Boyne.

Sunniside is a leasehold estate of 67 a., held for an

unexpired term of 999 years, and subject to an annual

out-rent of 15s. 3d., and of 8s. 6d. in lieu of all tithes

arising in one half of the estate. It is at present the

property and residence of Mr. T. Marshall.

Humble Knowle farm, containing 160a. Or. 15 p.,

was offered for sale by auction, August 23, 1825.

Trimdon Colliery is worked by the Thornley Coal

Company (see page 385). The five-quarter seam, which

is at the depth of 65 fathoms, is 4 feet thick ; the main

coal, 17 fathoms lower, is 5 feet 8 inches; the low main,

40 fathoms lower, is 3 feet 7 inches ; and the Harvey

seam, 30 fathoms lower, is 3 feet 8 inches ; the total

depth being 152 fathoms.

Trimdon Grange Colliery is situated about a mUe to

the west of the last-named pit, and is worked by the

South Hetton Company, Messrs. Forster, Walker,

Burrell, Green, and Co.
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THE NORTH DIVISION

BOEOUGH OF SIJNDEELAND.

?ij)P parishes of Sunderland, Bishopwearmouth, and Monkwearmouth, with part of their out-townships,

form the borough and town of Sunderland ; it is bounded by the German Ocean on the east, by the parish of

Whitburn on the north, by Boldon on the north-west, by Washington and Houghton-le-Spring on the west and

south-west, and by Seaham on the south. The parishes of Sunderland and Bishopwearmouth occupy the south

side of the river Wear, and that of Monkwearmouth the north. The whole form a district extending about

seven miles from north to south, and averaging about four from east to west. The latitude of the light on the

north pier is 54 deg. 54 min. 5 sec. north ; longitude, 1 deg. 22 min. west. The town is 7 miles from South

Shields, 11 from Gateshead, 13 from Durham, 28 from Wolsingham, 23 from Bishop Auckland, 38 from

Barnard Castle, 31 from Darlington, 27 from Stockton, 21 from Hartlepool, 272 from London, and 135 from

Edinburgh.

POPULATION AND EXTENT.

According to the census of 1851, the entire population

of the parishes of Sunderland, Bishopwearmouth and

Monkwearmouth, was 71,004; the number of inhabited

houses 9,041 ; the extent of the district comprised 15,041

acres; and the annual value of the property, assessed for

tlie county-rate in 1853, amounted to £156,131. The
following are the proportions of each parish :

—

Acres, loh. ha. Ua.

Sunderlnnd . . . . 178. .1,776. .26.

Bpwearmouth .9,444. .4,954. .84.

Mkwearmouth 6,419. .2,332. .48.

Bdg. PopalatioD. Ann. val.

. 4.... 19,058.. £26,888 15

.77.. .3.5,035.. 96,229 19 8

61 ..16,911.... 33,012 6 4

Sunderland.—The township ofSunderland is bound-

ed on the east by the sea ; on the north by the Wear,
dividing it from Monkwearmouth ; and on the west and
south by Bishopwearmouth. The peninsula comprised

within these limits contains an extent of 178 acres, of

which 58 acres are covered by tidal water, leaving 120

acres as the habitable part of the township ; and of this

space the Town Moor and church-yard occupy about

20 acres. There is no reliable statement of the popula-

VOL. II.

tion previous to the census of 1801. From the register

of burials in Bishopwearmouth in 1681, 21st Charles IL,

it appears that the united population of Sunderland and

Bishopwearmouth did not exceed 2,490. The natural ratio

of increase or decrease, independent of immigration and

emigration, appears from the parochial and other

registers as follows :

—
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most of ffhich contained a population of 9,308 persons,

of whom 4,108 were males and 5,200 females ; and

there were, besides, 189 military in the barracks : the

western subdisti'ict (including a small portion of Bishop-

wearmouth township, north of Coronation Street, with

513 inhabitants), contained 7,525, of whom 3,478 were

males and 4,047 females ; forming a total population in

the parish of 17,022. Of this number, 2,285 were

under 5 years of age, 1,982 between that age and 10,

3,383 under 20, 2,703 under 30, 1,900 under 40, 1,323

under 50, 876 under 60, 540 under 70, 262 under 80,

97 under 90, 8 under 100, and there were 55 of whom
the ages were not specified.

In 1851, the eastern subdistrict contained 4,992

males and 5,465 females, with 201 military in the bar-

racks ; and the western subdistrict contained 4,136

males and 4,264 females ; forming an aggregate popu-

lation of 19,058, of whom 563 belonged to the portion

of Bishopwearmouth above alluded to. On the night

of the enumeration, March SO, 1851, there were in

East Sunderland 168 persons, and in West Sunderland

60, on board sea-going vessels in the harbour.

In 1811, there were 1,662 inhabited houses, occupied

bv 3,538 families, and 22 uninhabited houses : 19

families were chiefly employed in agriculture ; 1,496

in trade, manufactures, or handicraft ; and 2,023 not

comprised in the above. In 1821, there were 1,618

inhabited houses, 40 uninhabited, and 5 building : 14

families were employed in agriculture, 949 in trade,

&c., and 3,101 otherwise. The number of inhabited

houses in 1831 was 1,744, with 49 uninhabited and 4

building : the families respectively classified under the

above three heads being 8, 1,382, and 3,088. In 1841,

the eastern subdistrict contained 906 inhabited houses,

25 uninhabited, and 2 building ; and the western sub-

district, 875 inhabited, 31 uninhabited, and 3 building.

In 1851, the numbers were, in the eastern portion, 915

inhabited, and 13 uninhabited; in the western, 860 in-

habited, 13 uninhabited, and 4 building. The annual

value of property assessed for the county-rate, in 1853,

was £26,888 15s.

Bishopwearmouth.—This parish is bounded by the

Wear on the north, by Sunderland and the sea on the

east, by Seaham on the south, and by Houghton-le-

Spring on the west. It includes the chapelry districts of

St.Thomas,Deptford, Hylton, and Heudon, andis divided

into seven townships or constablerics :—1, Bishopwear-

mouth, including Barnes, Pallion, and Bainbridge

Holme, and containing 2,665 acres, of which 188 are

covered by tidal water ; 2, Bishopwearmouth Panns, 5

acres ; 3, Ford, 1,000 acres ; 4, Silksworth and

Grindon, 1,988 acres; 5, Burdon, 1,109 acres; 6,

Tunstall, 801 acres ; and, 7, Ryhope, 1,876 acres, of

which 188 acres are tidal water ; being a total of 9,444

acres, of which 495 acres are water. The entire parish

extends about five miles from north to south, and about

three miles from east to west

The township of Bishopwearmouth, in 1801, con-

tained a population of 6,126, of whom 2,706 were males

and 3,420 females; in 1811, 7,060; in 1821, 9,477;

in 1831, 14,462; and in 1841, (exclusive of the small

portion attached to Sunderland township, as above

noticed,) 23,693. The entire population of the town-

ship, at that period, was 24,206, of whom 3,420 were

under 5 years of age, 2,822 between that age and 10,

4,854 under 20, 4,772 under 30, 3,230 under 40, 2,157

under 50, 1,418 under 60, 665 under 70, 349 under 80,

105 under 90, and 9 under 100, besides 43 whose ages

were not specified. There were 234 persons ia the

Union workhouse, and 13 in the Infirmary.

In 1851, the population (exclusive of the district above

alluded to) was 31,261, consisting of 14,452 males and

16,809 females ; the entire population of the township

being 31,824. There were 296 persons in the Union

workhouse, and 15 in the Infirmary. On board sea-

going vessels, there were, on the night of eniuneration,

289 persons.

Of 2,716 families in 1821, 109 were employed in

agriculture, 1,598 in trade, manufactures, or handicraft,

and 467 not comprised in those classes. There were

1,361 inhabited houses, 49 uninhabited, and 33 building.

In 1831, there were 2,226 inhabited, 61 uninhabited,

and 65 building ; the number of families employed in

agriculture being 106, in trade, &c., 1,881, and other-

wise, 1,455. The number of inhabited houses in 1841

was 3,550, 144 uninhabited, and 122 building. In

1851, there were 4,452 inhabited, 77 uninhabited, and

78 building. The annual value of property assesed for

the county-rate, in 1853, was £78,220 15s.

lire township of Bishopwearmouth Panns, extends

along the south bank of the '\\''ear from the bridge to the

township of Sunderland. It appeal's to have been

gradually gained from the river by enbankments, and

derives its name from " the ten salt panns" mentioned in

a survey made in the time of Queen Elizabeth. Its

population, in 1801, was 564, consisting of 279 males

and 285 females ; in 1811, 476 ; in 1821, 483 ; in 1831,

363; in 1841, 298; and in 1851, 316, ofwhom 155 were

males and 161 females. In 1821, there were 47 inhabited
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houses; in 1831, 28; in 1841, 24; and in 1851, 27.

The property was valued for the county-rate, in 1853,

at £1,715 per annum.

The population of the out-townships of Blshopwear-

mouth, at the periods of enumeration, was as follows :

—

1801. 1811. 1821. 1831. 1811. IfSl.

Ford 602 712 791 911 1720 1922, or973male3and940fem.

SUks«-orthl38 1.50 210 252 267 305, or 141 „ 164,,

Burden, ..69 107 149 162 114 123, or 66 „ 67 „

TunstaU, . .63 50 66 75 64 70, or 34 „ 36 „

Ryhope, ..254 255 368 365 423 475, or 226 „ 478,,

The number of houses, inhabited, uninhabited, and

building, in 1841 and 1851, and the annual value of

property assessed to the county-rate in 1853, were as

follow :

—

In 1841.

In. Vn. Bdg.

Ford.... 183 8 3 ..

SUksworth.. 46 1 ..

Burdon 20 5 . .

,

Timstall .... 9 . .

.

Ryhope ....78 2 . . .

In 1851.

In. Ua. Bdg

.249

.51 2 1

.20 2

10

86 3

£. 8. d.

. . . 4,826 10

. . . 3,979 18

. .. 1,457 10

. .. 1,583 17 7

. . . 4,446 18 3

MoNKWEARMOUTH.—This parish is dividedfrom Sun-

derland and Bishopwearmouth by the Wear, and is

bounded by Washington on the west, by Boldon on the

north-west, by Whitburn on the north, and by the sea

on the east. It extends from east to west about five

miles and a half, and from north to south about two

miles. The parish comprises the chapelry districts of

All Saints and Southwick, and includes the constableries

of Monkwearmouth, Monkwearmouth Shore, Southwick,

Hylton, and Fulwell. Three farms in the district of

Simonside, in the chapelry of South Shields, also belong

to this parish, being considered as partly belonging to

Southwick, and partly to Fulwell.

The township of Monkwearmouth contains 616 acres,

of which 69 acres are tidal water. Its population, in

1801, was 1,103, consisting of485 males and 618 females;

in 1811, 1,091 ; in 1821, 1,278 ; in 1831, 1,498 ; in 1841,

2,155 ; and in 1851, 3,366, of whom 1,686 were males

and 1,680 females. There were 26 persons on board

sea-going vessels, on the night of enumeration. In

1821, therewere 197 inhabited houses, and 6 uniiiliabited;

in 1831, 231 inhabited, 10 uninhabited, and 6 building

;

in 1841, 304 inhabited, 5 uninhabited, and 10 building

;

and in 1851 , 505 inhabited, 13 uninhabited, and 3 building.

The annual value of property assessed to the county-rate,

in 1853, was £5,607 2s. 3d.

Monkwearmouth Shore township formerly comprised

a few fishermen's huts, but is nowjoincdtothe old town
of Monkwearmouth, and crowded with ship building

yards, boat-builders, and smitheries. Its area is 308

acres, of which 58 acres are tidal water. The population

,

in 1801, was 4,239, ofwhom 1,998 were males and 2,241

females; in 1811, 4,264; in 1821, 4,924; in 1831,

6,051 ; in 1841, 7,742, of whom 3,622 were males

and 4,120 females ; and in 1851, 10,109, of whom
4,865 were males and 5,244 females. On the night

of enumeration, 42 persons were on board sea-going

vessels. The number of houses in 1821 was 620

inhabited, 11 uninhabited, and 8 building ; in 1831, 670

inhabited, 15 uninhabited, and 6 building; in 1841, 1,065

inhabited, 24 uninhabited, and 8 building ; and in 1851,

1,292 inhabited, 14 uninhabited, and 33 building. The
property was assessed to the county-rate in 1853 at

£16,182 lis. lOd.

The township of Fulwell contains 807 acres, of which

58 acres are tidal water ; Southwick contains 1,018

acres ; and Hylton, 2,670 acres. The following are the

returns of their respective populations :

—

1801. 1811. 1821. 1831. 1841. 1861.

Fulwell,.. 85 145 118 158 134 196, or 82malesand 87fem.

Southwick, 554 641 1004 1301 1912 2721, or 1438 „ 1288 ,,

Hylton, ..312 363 320 420 505 646, or 292 „ 252,,

The increase and excess of males in Southwick town-

ship are attiibuted to the number of labourers employep

at the lime-kilns and quarries. On the night of enume-

ration, 29 persons in this township were on boaid sea-

going vessels.

The following are the numbers of houses inhabited,

uninhabited, and building, in the above townships, in

1841 and 1851, and the annual value of property in

1853:—
In. Un, Bdg. In. Un. Bdg. L. s. il.

Fulwell 26..1..0 35.. 1.. 3.... 1,827 13 4

Southwick 262.. 18 .. 2 409.. 6 .. 22 6,963 6 10

Hylton 103.. 6 .. 91..14 .. 2,431 11 I

Municipal BoKoucn.—By the act of 6 and 7 Wm.
IV., c, 103, the municipal borough of Sunderland com-

prises tlie parish of Sunderland, the townships ofMonk-
wearmouth and Monkwearmouth Shore, and so much
of the townships of Bishopwearmouth and Bishopwear-

mouth Panns as is included within a circle of one mile

from the centre of Wcarmouth Bridge. The municipal

boundary extends to the westward, on the south side of

the Wear, about three-quarters of a mile beyond its

limit on the opposite side, which leaves out the township

of Southwick, with its houses and manufactories, but

includes similar property on the south side of the river.

By " the Borough of Sunderland Act, 1851," the muni-

cipal borough is divided into four districts. " The Sun-

derland District" means the parish of Sunderland j "the
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Bishopwearmouth East District," the township of Bishop-

wearmouth Panns, and such part of the township of

Bishopwearmouth in the borough as is situated on the

east or seaward side of the Bishopwearmouth Burn ;
" the

Bishopwearmouth West District," the remaining portion

of the township within the borough ; and " the Monk-

wearmouth District," such parts of the borough as lie

on the northern side of the river Wear.

In 18.51, the municipal borough contained 7,975 in-

habited houses, 131 uninhabited, and 98 building. The

population was 63,897, consisting of 30,377 males and

33,520 females. That part of the parish of Bishopwear-

mouth included in the boundaries contained 31,048 in-

habitants. The ages in the borough were as follows :

—

Under 5. 5 to 10.

Males 4,527.... 6,787.

Females 4,578. .. .7,028.

Il<o20. 21<o30. 31«o40. 41<o50.

.. 5,770 ... . 4,909 .... 3,469 .... 2,355

, . . 6,537 .... 5,472 .... 3,930 . . . 2,730

51 to 60.

Males'.... 1,420 ,

Females ..1,785 .

61 to 70.

... 785 .

..1,001

71 to 80.

. .. 260 .,

. .. 401 .,

81 to 9

. . 25

.. 54

91 to 100. .4401)6 100

.. 5 „

.. 16 1

The birth-places of the inhabitants were as follow :

—

Under 20 yra. 20 yrs. ^ upw.

Within the borough 22,032 16,236

In the county of Durham 3,026 5,943

„ Northumberland 1,068 3,317

„ Cumberland 94 374

„ Westmoreland 31 116

„ Yorkshire 518 2,048

„ other English counties 476 1,578

At sea.

London, &c 229 .

.

Wales 46 .

.

Scotland 443 .

.

Ireland 1,126..

islands in the British seas 6 .

.

British colonies and East Indies 28 .

.

foreign parts 81 .

.

7..

29,210

. 650

98

. 1,565

. 2,475

17

57

. 208

7

34,687

The number of persons engaged in each of the follow-

ing trades, professions, &c., was as follows ; the first

column containing those under 20 years of age, and the

second column those of 20 and upwards :

—

Males.

Agents

Agricultural labourers

Anchor smiths

Annuitants

Architects

Auctioneers -

Author

Bilkers

Banker

Blacksmiths -

Boat and bargemen -

1

11

6

I

2

19

173

14

19

166

94

24

5

10

1

82

1

306

281

BoatbuUders - - 36 46

Boilermakers - - 19

Bookbinders - - 3 10

Booksellers - - 2 16

Brewers - - 3 64

Bricklavers - - 1 31

Brokers - - 3 4

Builders - - 1 35

Butchers - - 117 220

Cabinet makers and up-

holsterers - - 49 153

and la-

and

3

178

29

1

12

Clergymen

CoaUieavers

bourcrs

Coal merchants

dealers

Coal miners -

Commercial clerks

Customs

Domestic servants

general

coachmen -

grooms

gardeners -

inn serranta

Drapers

Druggists

Earthemware manufac-

turers

Editors

Engine and machine -

makers

Farmers

Glass manufacturers

GoTernment officers -

Grocers

Hawkers, pedlars

House proprietors

Independent gentlemen

Inland revenue

Innkeepers

Iron manufacturers

Ironmongers -

Joiners

Labourers, undefined - 211

Land proprietors

Licensed victuallers,

beer shop keepers, - 1

Local officers

Lodging house keepers

Masons and paviors

Merchants

Millers

Music masters

Nail manufacturers

- 32

- 175

- 62

- 4

- 1

196

8

221

107

2

8

Annuitants

Domestic servants

(general)

housekeepers

cooks

housemaids -

nurses

inn servants

Earthenware manufac

turers

Farmer
Farm servants and

labourers

Glass makers -

Governesses -

House proprietors

Independent ladies

16

30

630

47

67

35

2

1

3

9

119

52

25 98

113

37

444

2

250

28

37

7

15

60

426

23

563

1274

12

72

19

6

304

30

43

8

28

Painters (artists) - 1 13

Painters and glaziers - 62 173

Paupers of no stated

occupation - - 24 26

Pawnbrokers - - 12

Physicians - - 6

Pilots - - 192

Police . . 63

Post office - - 1 10

Priests and other reli-

gious teachers - 4

Printers - - 23 41

Protestant ministers - 26

Quarrymen and lime

burners - - 4 100

Railway engine drivers 3 26

Railway labourers - 17 113

Others engaged in rail-

way traffic - 2 33

Rope makers - - 80 136

Other workers and

dealers in hemp - 55

Sail cloth manufacturers 34

Sawyers

SchoolmaBters

Other teachers

Seamen

Others connected with

sea navigation

Ship agents -

Ship owners -

Shipwrights -

Others engaged in fit-

ting ships -

Shoemakers -

Slaters

Solicitors

Surgeons

TaUors

Vagrants

Whitesmiths -

Wine and spirit mer-

chants

122

84

205

42

25

373 268;

14

8

13

12

653

88

110

2

69

2

5

154

61

146

1372

160

629

20

35

44

364

2

19

Females.

2 269

954

4

3

25

17

66

- 16

11

1

1031

107

41

47

17

50

17

1

42

U
22

135

11

Innkeepers

Land proprietors

Licensed victuallers,

beer shop keepers

Lodging house keepers

Midwives

Music mistresses

Nurses, not domestic

Paupers of no stated

occupation -

Post-office

Schoolmistresses

Other teachers

Shipowners and others

connected with ships

Wine and spirit mer-

chants

30

29

25

16

36

135

3

3

61

351

1

99

24

16

54
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Parliamentary Borough.—The parliamentary bo-

rough comprises the parish of Sunderland, the town-

ships of Bishopwearmouth and Bishopwearmouth Panns

in Bishopwearmouth parish, and the tOA^mships of

Monkwearmouth, Monkwearraouth Shore, and South-

wick, in Monkwearmouth parish. It is, consequently,

more extensive than the municipal borough, and, in

1851, contained a population of 67,394, of whom
32,195 were males, and 35,199 females. There were,

at the same time, 8,519 inhabited houses, 136 unin-

habited, and 138 building.

NAME.

The simplest and most obvious derivation of the name

of Sunderland seems to be, that it marked the original

situation of the place, on a point of land almost isolated

by the Wear and the sea, which probably flowed much
higher than at present up some of the deep gullies on

the coast. In confirmation of this opinion it is stated in

Spearman's " Enquiry into the Ancient and Present

State of the County of Durham," that in the year 1346,

Thomas Menvil occupied a place at Hendon for the

building of ships ; and it is argued that " as it is not

likely he would launch them into the open sea, it follows,

as a matter of course, there must have been some con-

siderable inlet or arm of the sea at thot place."

A somewhat fanciful writer in a popular periodical

says, " With regard to the meaning of the name

of Sunderland, it seems to have originated in the

fact, that the rocky coast southward from it is broken

into deep gaps and caverns, just as a district in York-

shire is denominated Cleveland from its clejts or cliffy

aspect. Now, these indentions or ruptures at this part

of the coast do not present the appearance of having

been brought about by the gradual tear and wear of

time, and the ceaseless operation of the weather and the

waters in calm and in storm, as is the case in other

interruptions of the continuity of the line of coast,

where the sea seems rather to have insinuated than

forced an entrance, to have undermined than stormed.

It exhibits the appearance rather of being the effect of

some dread volcanic shock, or awful Neptunian con-

vulsion, sudderdy rending the rocks asunder. And
this appearance of violence it is which has given the

name to the district, quasi sundercd-land—such being

its grand leading feature, or most striking characteristic

:

which just shows, that untutored minds, as well as poets

and rhetoricians, indulge in the figure synecdoche, and,

setting at defiance the axioms of mathematicians, often

make a part—especially a prominent part—equivalent

to a whole.

" One observation more, of importance to the student

of geography, which the term Sunderland suggests, and

we shall bid it adieu. Here the termination land, as

in other cognate terms, such as Sutherland, Holland,

Northumberland, very obviously demonstrates that it

originally was applicable to a district of country, and not

restricted to a town ; to the shattered maritime territory,

in fact, as above described, whose leading physical

feature gave birth to the name. Now, this limitation of

the name, from a district to a town, presents us with a

very singular exception to a general rule, which will be

found to obtain to a great extent in the topographic vo-

cabulary of 'England, and indeed of the United King-

dom, so far as Scotland and Ireland have been assimilated

to Saxon formulas and usages. The rule to which we
allude is this : that the towns in general take precedence

of districts, and impose their names upon them by
extension ; and seldom vice versa, as is the case with

the town under discussion. An inspcctionof the names

of the counties and shires of England, and of their re-

spective capitals or chief towns, will serve to illustrate,

and abundantly evince the truth of this remark."

There is no historical evidence, however, that the

name of Sunderland was ever applied to the district.

In old Saxon maps, the word " Weranmuth" is written

opposite to the port. In Bede's " Lives of the Abbots

of Wearmouth and Jarrow," it is stated that Benedict,

on his return from his last journey to Rome, " among
a great variety of other valuable acquisitions, imported

two cloaks, woven entirely of silk, and most admirably

wrought. In exchange for these, he obtained of

King Alfred and his council (for Egfrid, during his

absence had been slain) three hides of land, near the

mouth, on the south bank of the river Wear." It has

been deduced that this land formed the site of the

present town of Sunderland ; but its extent is so much
greater than that of the town, that it is more likely to

be applicable to " the delightful vill .of South Wear-

mouth, with Offerton, Silksworth, Ryhope," &c.

;

Bishopwearmouth being called the nciv borough of

Wearmouth, in contradistinction to Monkwearmouth.

In a passage in Bede's Ecclesiastical History, as

translated into the Anglo-Saxon by Alfred the Great,

Sunderland is mentioned by name. Indeed, the venerable

historian says that he was born there. After stating

that he was mass priest of the raonastry of the blessed

Apostles Peter and Paul, which is at Wearmouth and

Jarrow, he adds that he was " born in Sunderland of
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the same monastry ; or, according to Alfred, " Wees

ic acenned on Sundorlande ihaes ylcan mynstres."

Endeavours have heen made to weaken the effect of

this passage by arguing that the word Sunderlande is

not used as a proper name, but implies a severance from

the waste for the purpose of ownership or appropriation

;

" Sundercd-land near the sea." It is translated " ter-

ritory of the same monasteries" in Dr. Giles' translation,

merely implying that Bede was born in the neigh-

bourhood of the two monasteries. But Hutchinson,

the writer of the life of Bede in Dr. Kippis's

Biographica Britannica, Gough, and Hodgson,

concur in stating that Bede was born in the territory

afterwards given to the monastery of UuirEemuda and

IngjTTviumj and the two latter, quoting the Saxon

translation which mentions Sundorlande, remarks that

some manuscripts read Rumorland. " It is quite evi-

dent," says a recent writer, " that both Gough and

Hodgson understood the word ' Sunderland' as a proper

name. If it had not been so, how comes it that some

of the manuscripts read Rumorlande 9 This very

error confirms my opinion that a proper name is meant.

If the word ' Sondorlande' means territory or posses-

sions, is it not likely that it would be very familiar in

the time of Alfred—in fact, a common household word

or expression—and so almost beyond the possibility of

being misunderstood or misinterpreted ?"

Lingard inclines to the opinion that Sunderland,

opposite to the monastry, is meant ; and Butler, in his

life of Bede, says that the spot on which he was bom
was covered by the sea before the time of the historian

Simeon. "If this be true," says Lingard, "it may

have been some other tongue of land, or a prolongation

of the present, on which the sea is yearly making

encroachments."

HISTORICAL EVENTS.

From the discovery of a supposed Roman pottery, in

1849, during the excavations for the docks,* it has been

inferred by some that Sunderland occupies the site of a

Roman settlement ; and a passage in William of ^lahnes-

bury has been cited in confirmation. " Britain con-

tains," says he, " in its remotest parts a place on the

borders of Scotland where Bede was bom and educated.

• About 8 feet below the surface appeared a circle about 25 feet in

diameter, he-n-n out of the limestone rock. In the interior of this was

a circle of small rubble stones, in arrangement resembling a gin or

horse mill, which had apparently been erected for the purpose of

grinding clay. Near this place was found a quantity of red and yellow

The whole country was formerly studded with mo-

nasteries, and beautiful cities founded therein by the

Romans ; but now, owing to the devastations of the

Danes and Normans, it has nothing to allure the senses.

Through it runs the Wear, a river of no mean width,

and tolerable rapidity. It flows into the sea, and re-

ceives ships, which are driven thither by the wind, into

its tranquil bosom." This passage, however, is scarcely

conclusive ; and as no other remains, such as altars, &c.

,

have been found, nor any vestige of communication with

the recognized Roman roads, whilst ancient writers are

silent in respect to the place, sufficient evidence has not

been adduced to establish a conclusion.

In Anglo-Saxon times, Wiranmuthe, or Ostium

VedreB, the harbour at the mouth of [the Wear, had

acquired some note. It was here that, soon after the

Conquest, Malcolm, king of Scotland, during a destruc-

tive inroad along the eastern coast, found the heir of

England, Edgar Atheling, his sister ;Margaret, and a

train of Saxon followers, waiting in the harbour for

wind and tide to carry them to Scotland from their

Norman conquerors. Indeed, the port must have been

of great utility to the smaU craft which then navigated

the coast ; and it may natm-ally be inferred that the

rising town of Sunderland, though not mentioned in

contemporary history, was rapidly increasing in size

and population. This is evinced by the charter which

Bishop Pudsey granted, towards the close of the twelfth

century, to the burgesses of the town.

In this important document, the bishop grants to the

burgesses the same privileges as those enjoyed by the

burgesses of Newcastle ;
" that all pleas arising within

the borough, except those of the crown, be determined

there. Disputes between those plying with ships at

that port, and merchants to whom the cargoes are sold,

to be determined within the third influx of the tide,

that navigation might not be retarded ; merchandise

brought by sea to be landed before sale, except salt and

herrings. A year and a day's possession of lands, &c.,

without claim, the claimant being within the realm, and

not under age, a sufficient quietus. A burgess's son.

maintained by his father at bed and board, entitled to

the like pri\-ileges as his father. A villain remaining

and holding lands or tenements in the borough for a

year and a day, without interruption, to have the same

ochre, some broken earthenware, and four perfect specimens ofRoman

bottles, with necks about a foot in length, the under part being globular.

They were common red ware, and unglazed. One of them was sent

to the Antiquarian Society of Newcastle, and another to the

Sunderland Museum.

Thank you for purchasing from Ebay Shop Retromedia

http://stores.shop.ebay.co.uk/retromedia


BOROUGH OF SUNDERLAND. 397

franchise as a burgess. A burgess migbt sell his lands

and go where he pleased, if no claim was subsisting

against him. If a burgess was complained against in a

matter where battle ought to be waged by a villain, he

was to make defence by thirty-sis men, unless the

value in suit was one hundred pounds, or the crime

imputed to him ought to be tried by battle. No bui'gess

was compelled to fight against a villain, unless he had

forfeited his franchise. There was not to be witlun the

borough bloodwite, merchcte, heriot, or hlood-drawing

.

The reve, or head-borough, was to look after all for-

feitures touching bread and beer. A burgess might

bring in his com from the country when he pleased, ex-

cept at a time of prohibition or embargo. Wliatsoever

a burgess bought he might sell without license of the

lord or his heir. Every burgess had liberty to buy

timber and fire-wood equally with the burgesses of

Durham They should enjoy their common pasturage

as was originally granted to them, and which the bishop

caused to be perambulated. Customs of fish were to be

reserved to the bishop, as Brus had from his people of

Hartlepool." Witnesses—German the Prior; Bur-

chard the Archdeacon ; Symeon the Treasurer ; Master

Richard of Coldingham ; Master Stephen of Lincoln

;

Master Bernard ; Henry Marshall ; Arnald, Adam,
and Symon, chaplains ; Gilbert of Lee ; Philip the

sheriff; Jordan Escolland ; Alexander of Hilton

;

Gaufrid the son of Richard ; Roger of Epplingden.

Pudsey, in 1153, received and enjoyed the rents of

the borough of Sunderland, the passage across the river

by the ferry-boat, the fisheries, and the duties and

profits accruing from ships, vessels, &c., plying to and

within the port.

According to Boldon Book, " Sunderland (here

mentioned by name) was let to farm, and paid a hun-

dred marks ; and Roger de Audis paid one mark for his

mlU-pool, which was established within the bounds of

Sunderland."

During the vacancy which occurred in the see after

the death of Pudsey, the crown held the temporalities.

Of tallage duty, the town of Sunderland rendered ac-

count of 58«. ; in the treasury, 27s. ; and it owed 31s.

The town of Wearmouth rendered account of 37s. ^d.

;

in the treasury, 31s. \d. ; and it owed 6s. 2>d. The
town of Tunstall rendered account of 4/. 8s. A.d. ; in the

treasury, 75s. 8</. ; and it owed 12s. 8f/. The town of

• It seems probable that such of these yares ae were most detrimental

to the port and river were suppressed under subsequent episcopal

commissions of conservatorship ; particularly, a commission issued by
Bishop Neville, 24th July, 1440, orders the reduction or removal of

several yores therein named, under the penalty of 100 marks each. As

Burden rendered account of 50s. St?. ; in the treasury,

43s. %d. ; and it owed 6s. lie?. Richard and WHliam,
the farmers of Ryhope, owed 43s. 4c?. Of scutage,

Alexander de Hilton rendered account of 4/. ; in the

treasury, 40s. ; and he owed 40s. Roger de Audis

owed four marks for the same. Of the fines of the

bishop's servants, Stephen de Henden rendered account

of 20 marks ; in the treasury, 10 marks ; and he owed
10 marks.

In the episcopacy of Bishop Farnham, Henry III.,

in the 31st year of his reign, granted a charter to the

burgesses of the new borough of Warnemouth, confirm-

ing their liberties and free customs to an equal extent

with those granted by his father, John, to the burgesses

of Newcastle. He grants them a merchants' guild

;

that none of them should plead without his borough,

except for pleas of foreign tenures ; that none of them
should try by combat, and in pleas of the crown they

might justify themselves according to the ancient custom

of the city of Westminster ; that they shall be quit of

toll, lastage, pontage, and passage, as well in fairs as

without, and throughout all parts of the land, as well

on this side the sea as beyond ; that yearsgive and

schotale shall be quashed, and that whoever should

come to the borough with merchandise,whether strangers

or otherwise, should come, stay, and depart in the

king's peace, rendering the right and due customs.

Witnesses—P. Bishop of Hereford ; R. of Clare, Earl

of Gloucester and Hertford ; Roger de Bygod ; Mar-
shall, Earl of Norfolk ; John de Plesshey ; William de

Cantilupe ; Ralph Fitz-Nicholas ; Philip Basset
;

Bertram de Greol ; Robert de Mucegros ; Panlin

Peyser, &c.

In 1358, Bishop Hatfield leased the borough of Sun-

derland, with the fisheries and WoUon-yarc, to Richard

Hedworth, of Southwyk, for 20 years, at 20?. rent.

Under the Survey of the same bishop, " Thomas

Menvill held the borough, with the free rents, worth

32s. 8^/., the fishery in the Wear, the borough court,

the tolls, and the stallage, with eight yares belonging

to the bishop ; eight shillings rent from the prior of

Durham for Ebyare, and eight shillings from John

Hedworth for his yare called Owen's-yare, and for the

right of drawing a net in the harbour of the said

borough."* At the same time, " Menvill held a place

called Hyndcn (Henden Bay) for tlic plying of vessels."

late as 1788, 72 salmon vcre taken at one draught near the harbour-

mouth. Since that year, the fishery, ivhether &om the great extension

of the lime, lead, and copperas works on the river, or from other causes,

has declined so far as to be totally abandoned.
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The borough-rent had been reduced since 1358 from

20/. to 61. The record concludes with enumerating

some trifling properties held by exchequer rents

:

" John Hedworth, a messuage and garden containing

half an acre, I2d. ; a cottage, formerly John del Shell's,

2s. Gd. ; and another cottage of the same rent. John

Hobson, a messuage and three roods called Yholwatson,

which used to pay 6s. 8d., but now only 3s. Ad. ; and a

waste before his door in Wearmouth, 'Hd. There is a

certain waste, formerly belonging to Richard de "Wear-

mouth, at the end of the town there, and sometime

parcel of the demesne, containing half an acre, which

used to pay 2s., but now waste and untenanted."

In 1456, Bishop NevQle granted to Ralph Bowes,

by copy of court roll, all the borough of Sunderland,

the ferry-boat passage, fisheries, and the dues for ships,

&c., to hold for his life. Edward IV., having seized

the temporalities of the see, granted the borough, &c.,

to Robert Bertram, and that he should " have a certain

great ferry-boat, for the passage aforesaid, at our cost,

and to be kept in sufficient repair, with all its appur-

tenances, as often and whenever it shall be necessary

during the term aforesaid."

In 1476, Bishop Booth granted a patent to Ralph

Bowes, Esq,, of the bailiwick of the borough of Sun-

derland.

Cardinal Bainbrigg, in 1507, granted the borough,

by copy of court roU, to Sir Ralph Bowes, of Dalden,

Knt., under 6/. rent. Bishop Tunstall, in 1558-9,

granted to Thomas Smith the office of bailifi"; also a

lease of the anchorage and beaconage of Sunderland.

In the return to the commission of the 1st Eliz.,

relative to the creeks dependent on the port of New-

castle (see page 272), Sunderland is mentioned, distant

six miles from the mouth of the Tyne, but as one of

those " little frequented or haunted with traffic of mer-

chants or merchandize."

William Whitehead was constituted vice-admiral and

bailiff of Sunderland for life, by Bishop Barnes, he

rendering annually to the bishops's auditor 20/. : he died

in 1604.

October 18, 1590, the borough of Sunderland, the

ferry-boat or passage across the Wear, and the fisheries

of Sunderland, were granted by Bishop Hutton to

Ralph Bowes, Esq., of Barnes, and his sequels, accord-

ing to the custom of the halmotc-court, in as ample a

manner and form as his grandfather. Sir Ralph Bowes,

Knt., occupied the same : rent 4/.

Bishop James, July 6, 1609, granted the office of

water-bailifi' to John Randj of Bishopwearmouth ; and

on the 26th September, in the same year, a presentment

was made in the borough court of Sunderland, concern-

ing royal wrecks and anchorage there. The patent of

John Rand, as water-baUiff, was renewed by Bishop

Neile, October 11, 1622. In 1622, Richard Bartlett

held the office ; in 1628, Nicholas Whitfield, his deputy

being William Caldwell ; since which time, the office

has been granted, with the duties of anchorage, beacon-

age, &c., by lease from the successive bishops.

In 1633, Bishop Morton conferred the place on Sir

William Bellasyse; yet, says Spearman, in 1638

—

" One Slichcl Crake (a footman or other servant to his majesty) was

made water-bailiff of Sunderland port, first by his majesty's patent,

and afterwards (in the vacancy of a Lord High-Admiral) by lease,

and after that by the Earl of Northumberland, Lord High-Admiral.

But he never enjoyed it peaceably, but was always opposed in it by

Thomas Morton, then Lord Bishop of Durham, or his lessees of that

office and port-duties, which was contested by orders, and counter-

orders, until the grand rebellion, and the exclusion of the bishops.

Crake obtaining an order of the commons of parliament to prohibit the

clearing of ships without his fees and warrant : the bishop's lessees

obtained another order, revoking that to Crake, and quieting the

lessees in the possession until it should be determined by law, which

Crake did not prosecute at law, and so the lessees continued the

possession till the lease expired durirg the common-wealth. WTien

Col. George Fen\vicke purchased of the usurper's trustees for sale of

bishop's lands, &c., the reversion, under which he enjoyed it untU the

happy Restauration of King Charles 2, when the bishop (Dr. Cosins)

entered and granted a new lease of all the profits, duties, and offices

aforesaid. And Michael Crake being then living, he revived his claim

(to the water-bailifFs office of Sunderland port), which was opposed

by Bishop Cosins, and the whole matter was referred by his Royal

Highness the Duke of York, then Lord High-Admiral, to Dr. John

Exton, then judge of the admiralty of England, to examine andreport.

Dr. Exton examined, and reported the bishop's claim and right to it to

be good, and therein instanced and recited diverse of the ancient

charters, records, and evidences before mentioned, to ground and

warrant his report, which v,ras allowed. Whereupon his Royal High-

ness, then Lord High-Admiral, granted a warrant to summon Crake

to shew cause why his patent should not be revoked, 4[ nisi causa to

vacate his grant ; and no cause being shewn therein, the bishop con-

tinued the possession. John Cosins, bishop, by his letters patent

under the county palatine seal, made John Tempest, Esq., his vice-

admiral, guam diu se bene gesserit. The same bishop then also (hy his

like patent) made Richard Matthew, Gent., his judge of his court of

admiralty. Also he then made Walter Ettricke, Gent., his register

of the said C"urt by like patent, afterwards William Blakestone,

Esq., Charles Montague, Esq., and William Lambton, Esq.,

were successively vice-admirals, by the like patents from the bishop

of Durham. And Sir Richard Lloyd, Knt., and Henry Lambton,

Esq., were successively made judges of the said court of admiralty by

the bishop of Durham's patents. And the said William Lambton,

Esq., Henry Lambton, Esq., and Walter Ettricke, now are patentees

of the said several offices under the Right Honourable Lord Crew,

Baron of Stean, present Lord Bishop of Durham. N.B. The High

Court of Admiralty hath frequently (since the Restauration) admitted

of appeals from the bishop's court of admiralty at Sunderland."

Leases of the wastes, between high and low water

marks of the rivers Tyne, Wear, and Tees, were granted
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by Bishop Howson, on January 2, 1630, to Sir William

Bellasyse and ]\Ir. Thomas Layton ; and by Bishop

Cosin, November 5, 1670, to Sir Gilbert Gerrard and

Miles Stapylton ; the latter for three lives, at a yearly

rent of 40s.

Several leases of the borough and its appendant

privileges have been granted to the present time.

Latterly, they have been divided into two leases. The

one including the borough, the courts, fairs, markets,

tolls, anchorage and beaconage, has been vested, under

different renewals, in the family of Lambton, of Lamb-

ton, and is still held by the Earl of Durham ; the other,

comprising the ferry-boats, the metage, and tolls of fruit,

herbs, and roots, was held, from the year 1661 until the

year 1795, by the family of Ettrick, at which period the

lease was purchased by the commissioners of Wearmouth

bridge, under the powers of the act S2 Geo. III.

Early in the 16th century, the coal trade begun to be

established in the port of Sunderland, which eventually

rose into importance. This was probably facilitated

by the statute of Henry VIII., which restrained and

mutilated the palatine jvirisdiction.

Between the years 1600 and 1630, a considerable

influx of population appears to have taken place,

including several families of Scotch settlers, and some

foreign merchants.

The borough, as has been seen, had hitherto been

governed by a bailiff, appointed by patent under the

bishop. In 1634, however. Bishop Morton, to en-

courage the increasing trade of the place, incorporated

the burgesses and inhabitants by the title of Mayor,

twelve Aldermen, and Commonalty of the Borough of

Sunderland. The charter states " that Sunderland

had, beyond the memory of man, been an ancient

borough, known by the uame of the New Borough of

Wearmouth , containing in itsel f a certain port where ships

had plied, bringing and carrying merchandise, as well to

and from certain ports, as from other ports of the

kingdom : the articles therein specified are sea-coals,

grindstones, rubstones, and whetstones. It also states,

that the trade was then greatly increased, by reason of

the multitude of ships that resorted thither ; and the

borough anciently enjoyed divers liberties and free

customs, as well by prescription ,«as by virtue of sundry

charters from the bishops of Durham, confirmed to

them by the crown ; which, from defect in form, proved

insufficient for the support of the ancient liberties,

privileges, and free customs of the borough." The
corporation were empowered by the charter to hold lands,

to have a common seal, and to have one court, " to

VOL. n.

be holdcn every day, from three weeks to three

weeks, before their recorder." At this court, actions,

suits, quarrels, and debts not exceeding 40/., might be

tried ; and its Serjeants were empowered to execute its

warrants, distresses, attachments, and other precepts.

The gentlemen incorporated under the charter were as

follow :

—

Mayor, Sir William Belasyse, of Morton

House, Knt. Aldermen, Sir William Lambton, of

Lambton, Knt. ; Thomas AVharton, Esq. ; Hugh
Wright, of Durham, Esq. ; Robert Bowes, of Biddic-

Waterville, Esq. ; Hugh Walton, alderman of Durham ;

George Gray, of Southwick, Gent. ; Francis James, of

Hctton, Esq. ; Richard Hcdworth, of Chester Deanery,

Esq. ; William Langley, Gent. ; George Lilburne, of

Sunderland, Gent. ; George Burgorn, of Wearmouth,

Gent. ; George Walton, alderman of Durham. Common
Councilmen, William Wycliffe, of Offerton, Gent.

;

Edward Lee, William Freeman, William Caldwell,

John Husband, Thomas Scarborough, William Potts,

John Hardcastle, Robert Collingwood, of Hetton-on-

the-Hill, Thomas Snowdon, Christopher Dickinson,

William Dosssy, John Harrison, Thomas Lacie, William

Thompson, Adam Burdon, George Humble, William

Huntley, Thomas Atkinson, Robert Young, Clement

Oldcorn, Humphrey Harrison, William Watt, and

Thomas Palmer. Recorder, John Richardson, Esq.

Their successors were to be elected on the Friday

before the IMonday next after the feast of St. Michael

the Archangel ; except the recorder, who was to be

elected by the mayor and aldermen. The penalty for

not accepting office was not to exceed 20 marks. The

corporation were to have power to make laws for the

regulation of the borough and its trade. The market

v/as to be held on Friday in every week ; and there

were to be two fairs, or marts, held within the borough

every year for ever, to wit, one on the feast of St.

Philip and St. James, and the other on the feast of St.

Michael the Archangel, with all fees, dues, pledges,

rents, tollages, piccages, stallages, and perquisites.

The privileges and emoluments granted by the charter

were to be held of the see in fee-farm, on the payment

of 13s. 46?. on the feast of St. Martin the Bishop, in

winter only. The deed was ratified, April 17, 1634,

by the dean and chapter of Durham.

Notwithstanding the ostensible advantages and im-

portance conferred by this charter, it was at once

suffered to fall into disuse ; no election having ever

been held to replace the corporation named by Bishop

Morton. Probably this may have arisen partly from the

uncertainty and distrust which preceded the civil war.

3 K
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From the first outbreak of that unhappy contest, the

port of Sunderland and the collieries on the Wear
became of prime importance to the contending parties.

A garrison for the king was for some time stationed

here. On January 14,1643-3, the lords and commons,
" taking into their consideration the number of shipps,

and quantity of money, that is every year employed from

London, and other parts and places of this kmgdome,
for the fetching of coales and salt from Newcastle,

Sunderland, and Elythe, and finding that since the

beginning of the present troubles, the towne of New-
castle, being possessed by forces raised against the king

and parliament, hath beene, and is the principall inlet

of forreine ayde, forces, and ammunition, for the

strengthening of that force that intends destruction to

the parliament, and thereby to the i-eligion, lawes, and

liberties of this kmgdome ; and taking into consideration,

that sufficient coales be supplyed from other parts for

the use of this kingdome ;" do ordain, that in considera-

tion of ships being liable to be seized at those places,

" no shippe, shippes, or barques," shall thenceforward

make any voyage thither.

Notwithstanding this order, however, the fortified

town of Newcastle stood out for the king against the

* Genekal Leslie.—Alex;indcr Leslie, created Lord Balgonie, and

afterwards Earl of Leven, was the son of Captain George Leslie, of

Balgonie, by his wife Anne, a daus;hter of Stewart, of Ballerhin. Of
the place of his birth, or the extent of his education, little can be said

with certainty. Zachary Hamilton, preceptor to the Pretender's son,

told Lord Hailes, that Leslie was a soldier offortime, and that one day,

on a march in Scotland, he said to an officer, "There is the house

where I went to school." " How, general !" answered the officer,

" I thought you could not read."—" Pardon me, I got the length of

the letter G." However this may be, certain it is that he acquired

the highest reputation as a soldier, under Gustavus .\dolphus, King of

Sweden, who appointed him governor of Stralsund, which he bravely

and vigilantly defended against the Imperialists. He was also governor

of the cities along the coast of the Baltic ; and afterwards promoted to

the rank of field-marshal over an army in Westplialia. In 1639, Leslie

returned from Sweden and took the command of the Scottish army in

opposition to King Charles I. He died at Balgonie on the 4th of April,

1661, at a very advanced age, and was buried on the 19th of the same

month, in the church of Markinch. "Few men," says Chambers,

" have been more fortunate in life than Alexander Leslie, Earl of

Leven. He appears to have entered upon its duties without fortune

and with a scanty education, and by the force oi his talents, seconded

by habits of religion and persevering industry, raised himself to the

highest honours which society has to confer, both in his own and in

foreign countries. His services were at the time ofimmense value to his

country, and would have been much more so, had they not been

shackled by the prejudices, the prepossessions, and the ignorance, of

those whom the circumstances of birth placed over him as directors.

His lordship acquired extensive landed property, particularly Inchmar-

tininthe Carse of Gowrie, which he called Inchlcslie. He was twice

married ; first to Agnes, daughter of Renton of Billy in Berwickshire,

and by her had two sons, Gustavus and Alexander, the latter of whom

Parliamentarians from 1642 to the end of October,

1644 ; so that no coals were exported from the Tyne

to London in that time ; though an ordinance, dated

June 5, 1643, was issued, containing regulations for

rewarding adventurers in the coasting trade, and

granting bounties from a fund raised by portions of the

estates of papists, delinquents, and others, and by sub-

scription. It thus became essential to the Parlia-

mentarians to obtain possession of Sunderland. In

January, 1644, the Scottish army, under Leslie,* Earl

of Leven, assembled at Harlaw, near Berwick ; and,

after a fatiguing march and some severe skirmishing,

entered Sunderland on the 4th of March ; the royalists,

under General King, hovering in their rear.

The Scottich army amounted to 18,000 foot and

3,500 horse. The vestiges of their camp remained

visible in the West Pann Field until the ground was

levelled on which the present streets to the west of

Pann Lane, Bishopwearmouth, were erected. Though

the town was decidedly favourable to the Parliamentary

cause, principally through the influence of the Lilburns,

who possessed a great amount of property and interest

there,t the Scots found it very difficult to obtain pro-

visions ; the surrounding country being in arms for the

succeeded hira as Earl of Leven, and five daughters. After the death of

his first wife, wliich took place in 16-51, he married Frances, daughter

of Sir tlohn Ferriers of Taraworth in Staffordshire, relict of Sir John

Parkington, baronet, of Westwood, in the county of Worcester, by

whom he had no issue. His peerage finally became merged by a

female with that of Melville, in conjunction with which it still

exists."

t " The first of the family who settled at Sunderland was George

Lilburn (uncle of John and Robert) : he was probably at first an

adventurer in the trade of the place, and was afterwards carried for-

ward, together with the increasing fortunes of his more active republi-

con cousins, to a considerable pitch of local influence. During the

whole of the civil wars, he acted as the onli/ magistrate within the

limits of the borough, and in ICoi was returned one of the knights of

the shire in Cromwell's parliament. He sat constantly on all com-

mittees of sequestration, and contrived in \-irtue of his office to get

possession of a colliery at Harraton, belonging to the lessees of Sir

John Hedworth, which cleared him £15 a day. He survived the

Restoration, and died very aged in 1677. Thomas Lilburn, his eldest

son, was of Offerton, where the family held considerable property, and

died in 1665, being described on his monument in the chance! of

Houghton church as ' one of the persons instrumental in his majesty's

happy restoration ;' he bore a major's commission in Monk's army

:

his estate at Offerton was in the possession of his brother George's

descendants in 1737. William Lilburn, grandson of the elder George

Lilburn by a second marriage, sold some property in Simderland to

the family of Robinson as late as 1717; his descendants were after-

wards in a very reduced condition, for one of them was confined about

1742 in MorjJeth gaol for debt, and being permitted by his creditors to

go to Newcastle on his parole for a day to visit his mother, who was

also a prisoner for the same cause, he met by the road one , an
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kin^, and all supplies cither spoiled or driven away.

Of five vessels, sent from Scotland with provisions,

three were wrecked, and two driven by stress of weather

into the Tyne, where they fell into the hands of the

royalists.

The king's forces, having been strengthened by the

accession of twelve troops of horse from Yorkshire,

under Sir Charles Lucas, took up a position, on the 6th

of March, on the summit of a hill about three miles

from Sunderland. According to the Scottish account,
'' Such of our army as could be presently advertised,

were drawn up within half a mile of them, and con-

tinued all that night (though it were very cold and

snowing) in the fields. Upon Thursday the seventh,

the enemy drew up their forces upon a height about

two short miles from us ; but the snow fell in such

aboundance, that nothing could be done till the middle

of the day, that it was fair ; at which time we advanced

towards them, and they marched northwards, as is

conceived to gain the winde. Both armies were drawn

up in battell, the enemy having the advantage of the

ground ; but we could not without very great disad-

vantage engage our armie, in regard of the unpassable

ditches and hedges betwixt us. Both armies faced

other till the setting of the sun, at which time the

enemy retreated, and we kept the ground till the next

morning in a very cold night.

" Upon Friday the eighth, in the morning, there was

some little skirmishing betwixt some small parties of

horse, wherein the advantage that was, fell upon our

side : three or four were killed on either side ; we took

divers prisoners, by whom we understood that many of

theirs were wounded. Our commanded muskettiers

and horse advanced, and gained the ground where the

enemy stood the day preceding. The enemy still

retired, and, as appeared, with a purpose to retire

altogether; for they fired the neerest villages, and

retired under the smoke thereof. Our commanded
men advanced nearer the height, the enemy giving

ground all the time. We had resolved to fall upon
their rere ; but there came suddenly a great storm of

snow, which continued for an hour, so that we could

not see the enemy ; and before we could discover them
again, it began to snow again, and continued snowing
till night, which opportunity the enemy made use of,

and marched away in great haste to Durham.
," We understand since, from very good hands, that

attorney, who reviled him most bitterly, and reproached him with
his unfortunate circumstances in so taunting a manner, th.iit Lilbum
drew his sword, and running him through the body, left him dead on

through the extremitie of the weather these two nights

(the enemy lay in fields, and there hastened march to

Durham), they have suffered great losse, many of their

men and horse dying, but more run away. We hear

they have lost of their horse eight hundred, besides the

losse of their foot ; we sustained some losse, but blessed

be God, no wayes considerable."

The same writer continues, " On the thirteenth, for

the enlargement of our quarters, and to straighten the

enemy, wee drew towards Durham ; but after wee had

tarried there so long as our horse provisions lasted, not

being willing to remove further, till Sunderland, a place

of so great consequence to us, were better fortified, we
returned thither, and quartered the army on the north

side of the river of Wear, towards Newcastle, at the

Shields; in this march wee saw no enemy.
" All this time we were in great difl5.culty what to do

without horse, our foot being reasonably well supplyed

by sea ; if our horse stayed they must starve, if they

went away without our foot, the enemy being so near,

with an army so strong in horse, it was hazardous when
we should meet ; if our foot went with them, it was to

lose the advantage of their supply by sea, the land

not affording provisions.

" The enemy decides this debate, and on the twenty-

third of this instant, drew up their army from Durham,
and thereabout, towards Chester ; and on the twenty-

j

fourth, being the Lord's day, [expecting to surprise the

Scots at sermon time] drew uji on the north side of

Wear, at a place called Hylton, tAvo miles and a halfe

from Sunderland, the same distance as when they faced

us before, only this is on the north side Wear, the

other on the south. We accordingly drew up on a hill

east from them, towards the sea. Our cannon were at

Sunderland, our head quarter ; but by the help of the

seamen lying in the haven, wee conveyed one great

peece over the water, who themselves drew it up to the

field where it was to be planted : the tide failed for

carrying the rest at that time, some small field peece>

wee had. After the armies had faced each other most

part of that day, toward night, about five o'clock, the

cannon began to play, which they bestowed freely,

though to little purpose ; and with all the commanded
foot fell to it to drive one another from their hedges,

and continued shooting till eleven at night; in which

time we gained some ground, some barrels of gunpow-

der, and ball and match. Wee lost few men, had more

the spot : he was tried for the fact, and found guilty of man-

slaughter only, in consideration of the excessive provocation."

—

(See vol. i., pp. TR, -570.)
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hurt and wounded ; among whom no officer of note

liurt with danger, but the lievtenant-colonell of the Lord

Lothian's regiment. What their loss was is yet uncer-

tain to us ; but we know they had more slaine, as wee

finde, being masters of their ground.

"This morning, being the twenty-fifth, they were

faceing each other, but the ground they possesse inac-

cessible by us, without great disadvantage, in regard of

the many hedges and ditches betwixt. What the event

of this meeting will be I do not know, nor will not

guesse ; hitherto hath the Lord helped us. Our men

are cheerfull, our hopes good.

" Sir James Lumsdaine came over to us very oppor-

tunely with a brigade of three thousand of the forces

we had left in Northumberland, the twenty-third of

this instant, which hee now commands in the fiehl.

" The words given out on both parts were these :

—

On ours, ' The Lord of Hosts is with us.' On theirs,

' Now or Never.'

" Captain Lawsou and Captain Newton have taken a

prize in Tees, laden with cloth and lead."

The result of the affair at Hyltou and Boldon Hill is

thus narrated by another writer :
—" Many officers, who

have been old souldiers, did afHrm they had never seen

so long and hot service in the night time ; there was

divers killed on both sides ; but the number of their

slaine did verrv farre exceed ours, as we understood by

the dead bodies wee found the next day upon their

ground, besides the seven waggons draught of dead,

and hurt men not able to walk, that the Constable of

Bouden affirmed he saw carried away. The enemy

quit their ground, where they left much powder, match,

and armes behind them ; and retired to the hill where

the body of the army lay.

" The next day the enemy began to retire ; but

laboured to conceal it from us, causing their men to

march about the hill, and casting up two breastworks to

plant canon. In the afternoon, when we understood

the certainty of their retreat, we followed them ; and

their horsemen, who had stayed on the hill while their

foot marched away, retired more swiftly than an

ordinary march. Our horse and dragoons marched up

the hill, charged them, and routed all that were not

passed the ditches. Divers ofthem were killed; and some

men of note, whom we know not, save one Rut-master

Harrison, and Sir Marmaduke Langdales Capt. Lieut.

;

divers taken, amongst whom was Sir Richard Gladill,

Lieut. Col. and Sir Francis Steward. There was also

a cornet taken, bearing a crown above and a hand and

a sword beneath, with this motto—' What Law cannot.

the Sword must maintain.' The night hindred us from

doing any further execution upon them. The day

following, the enemy (who the day preceding thought

it a point of honour to retire in the day and not in the

night) did not appeare, having stollen away in the

night time."

The disasters of the royal cause in Yorkshire having

compelled the ^larquis of Newcastle to withdraw his

forces from the bishopric, the Scots marched to Easington,

in order to intercept the supplies of the royalists from

Hartlepool. On the Tth of April, they held a solemn

fast, and, on the following day, removed to Quarrington

Hill (see page 380). During their stay at Sunderland,

Sir William Armyne, one of the parliamentary com-

missioners, resided there.

The following entry occurs in the parish register of

Bishopwearmouth :
—" Jeremy Reed, Billingham in

Kent, bringer of the plague, of which died about thirty

persons out of Sunderland in three months. Sepult.

July 5th, 1665.

The only tradesman's token ever issued at Sunderland,

was from William Fawcett, bearing his name and a

lion rampant, the arms of Fawcett of Boldon. This,

with other provincial tokens, were called down in 1666,

when a government coinage of halfpence and farthings

was issued.

During the alarm of invasion by the Dutch (see page

2i9), the following curious letter was despatched from

the commanding officers of the troops stationed at

Sunderland :

—

" Sunderland by the Sea, June 7th, 1667.

" Right Honourable,

" We did according to your Lo'pps orders draw our companyes and

troops to this place on tusday last, the same night and the next day

we were entertained wit" a most violent storme, wch had a lamentable

effect upon a fleet of 100 light colliers coming from the southward and

being in sight of this port when the storme began, we heare of many

being cast away upon this coast and by the judgment of able seamen

it is doubted that at the least one half of them is lost, we thought it

our dutyes to give your Lo'pp this sad account, but we are in hopes

that if the dutch fleet were out they would run the came risque and

secure us for some time from any attempt from them ; we shall be

circumspect and diligent in our stations and be ready to observe what

further orders shall be transmitted from your Lordsiiipp to

Your humble servants

Ei : Hedworth Johx Tempest

Will Belass. Tho : Fe.ituerstonhaugh.

" To the right honourable John Lord Bpp of Durham, at his castle at

Auckland.'*

In consequence of the influx of Scotch settlers and

others, Nonconformity became very prevalent in Sun-

derland during the reigns of Charles II. and James II.

;

and, from the following extracts, it would appear that
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the laws relative to those «ho dissented from the

Established Cliiirch were not allowed to remain a dead

letter :

—

" Wcannouth Epi.

"Thomas Remiison, Thomas Burdon, Richard Palmer, Samuel

Hodgkius, Richard Wilson, Thomas Smith, Robert Wardlc, John

Cockrill, George Wright, for not coming to the church. 23 August,

1674, ex.

" Edward Bears, jun., George Snawdon, Sunderland, Daniel Turbot

and Zachariah Cockrill, for not paying Easter reckonings. 23 August,

1674, ex.

" William Johnson, Gent., a Papist. 10 Dec. 1674, ex.

" George Wright, Robert AVardel, Stephen Holder, Richard Wilson,

sen., William Maude, ElHnor Wardle, Tliomas Smith, Elizabeth

Parker, Richiird Palmer, Thomas Lax, Samuel Hodgkins, Maudalin

Spenceley, Maria Liddie, Zachariah C'ockerill, and Maria Shipperd-

son, for schismatics, and offenders against all order. 10 Decern.

1675, ex.

"Ralph Wycliffe, gent., Thomas Laccy, William Wilson, jun.,

John Qucstfield, John Morley, Jolui Taylor, Maria Sidgcwick, Ann
Kinson, and William Bird, for wlioUy absenting themselves from

church, and trequenting private conventicles.

" Jacob Lilburne, for not receiving communion. 26 August,

1677, ex.

" Thomas Harrison, William Maude, Maria Liddel, and Eleanor

Wardcl, for keeping open shops on holy-days.

" Rich.ard Middleton, Thomas Burdon, William Maude, Eleanora

Wardell, George Wright, Robert Wardell, William Appleby, and

Thomas Harrison, Quakers."

About the year 1682, the enterprising Sir Ambrose

Crawley commenced an iron manufactory in Sunderland;

but the situation not answering his expectation, he,

after a trial of five or six years, removed to Winlatou

and Swalwell, near the river Tyne.

In the year 1719, the borough of Sunderland, in

consequence of its rapidly increasing population, was

erected into an independent rectory.

During the agitation arising from the rebellion in

1745, a mob, consisting chiefly of sailors, entered the

Catholic chapel, " where they found several people at

prayers, and a couple to be married, who, with Mr.

Hankins their priest, all fled out ; upon which the

sailors immediately pulled down their altar and crucifix,

together with all the seats, the priest's robes, all their

books, the furniture, and every individual thing in the

room, and burnt them in a fire made for that purpose,

and also a large library of books and papers belonging

to the priest." The following was amongst the

papers :

—

A list of odd Friends.—Matthew Russell,

S.D. ; Thomas Ayrc, S.D. ; Warren Maude, S.D.

;

Mark Burley, S.D. ; Maylin, W. ; Inman, E.F. : Craggs,

S.D. ; Mathew Carr, F. ; George Robinson, S.B.

;

George Syall, S.B. ; Ann Syall, B. ; Nath. Leak,B.;
Cooper Shiphard, W. ; James Donison, 0. ; William

Wilkinson, H. ; Thomas Firryby, S.D. ; John Hodgson,

S.B. ; Ofiicer Bainbridge." This list is said to have

contained the names of persons well affected to the

government. The meaning of the letters attached to

each does not appear.

May 24, 1751, in heating an oven in a gentleman's

house, near the church at Sunderland, the fire took

hold of some wood adjoining, when a woman servant

ran into the church (being SundayJ, calling out, " Fire !

fire !" on which the congregation made the best of

their way to the door in the utmost confusion, and in

their hurry to escape, broke the font, which was of

very curious workmanship.

Oliver Goldsmith, in his flight from the University

of Edinburgh, where he had become security in a con-

siderable sum of money for a fellow student, was

arrested at Sunderland about the beginning of 1754.

Mr. Laughline Maclane and Dr. Sleigh, having de-

livered him from the bailiff, he took his passage in a

vessel to Rotterdam, and from thence proceeded on that

pedestrian tour through a great part of Europe, the

incidents of which are so beautifully illustrated in his

" Traveller" and " Vicar of AVakefield."

On June 25, 1759, Jeremiah Bell, of the grenadier

company in Colonel La Faussille's regiment of foot,

quartered in Sunderland, was shot for repeated desertion.

The memorable flood of November 17, 1771, which

carried away the bridge of Newcastle, and destroyed

three bridges and drowned three collieries on the Wear,

also caused great destruction at Sunderland. The

cries of the poor boys (few of the men being on board),

with the cracking of the ships, were indeed terrible.

All the assistance possible was sent by the inhabitants

;

but the darkness and wetness of the night prevented

many from receiving proper help. A great number of

keels were driven away, and many men and boys lost.

Part of the pier gave way to the force of the water,

and another part was damaged by the ships which

drove against it. Eight or nine dead bodies were cast

ashore on the Sunday morning in the harbour. Hay-

stacks and great quantities of household furniture,

as also a coal staith, were driven down the Wear into

the sea.

On October 22, 1775, whilst a woman was preaching

in the Metliodist meeting-house iu this town, a false

alarm of the galleries coming down was raised ; in

the confusion that ensued, one young woman was killed,

and several of the congregation were trampled down

and dangerously bruised.

During a heavy gale of wind, on December 2, 1775,
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many stacks ofchimneys n'ere blown down at Sunderland,

and ships driven from their moorings. The east part of

the church-yard wall was also blown down, and two

men were buried for some time in the ruins : one of

them, named Muckle, was killed on the spot.

In September, 1779, Paul Jones appeared off the

coast of Northumberland and Durham, as commodore

of an American squadron, consisting of the Bon Homme
Richard, of 40 guns, and 375 men ; the Alliance frigate,

of 40 guns and 300 men ; the Pallas (French) frigate,

of 30 guns and 275 men ; and the Vengeance brig, of

12 guns and 70 men. ]Much consternation was excited

in the district ; but the curiosity of the females of

Sunderland got the better of their fears, and they

crowded the Town Moor to see his ships go by. Tra-

dition says he was prevented, by the sight of so many
" white sheep," as he called them, from firing into the

town. His memorable engagement and victory over

the Serapis and Countess of Scarborough, off Flam-

borough Head, followed.

•January 7, 1782, about twelve o'clock at night, a fire

broke out in a ship in Sunderland harbour, close to Mr.

Thornhill's quay ; and having her fall complement of

stores on board, with the guns loaded, the inhabitants

and soldiers could give her no assistance, so that, as the

fire proceeded, her guns were discharged, and at last it

readied the powder-room, when she blew up.

The sailors at Sunderland, on February 13, 1783,

came on shore, and proceeded in a large body in search

of those persons who had informed the press-gangs

against them. Those they found were mounted on poles,

and carried through the streets exposed to the insults of

the populace. At length, the North York Militia was

called out, and, with the civil authorities, succeeded in

dispersing the mob. One of the informers was so mal-

treated by the rioters, that he died in consequence ; and

so infuriated were the populace that his friends durst not

biry him, that ofSce being performed, without the usual

ceremonies, by the soldiers.

On November 19, 1783, at night, the Free Masons'

Lodge at Sunderland was discovered to be on fire ; and

before it was extinguished, all the furniture, pictures,

&c., were unfortunately consumed.

The foundation-stone of the Phoenix Lodge of Free

and accepted Masons, Queen Street, was laid April 5,

* The dress of this corps was at thiit time eonsidored very graceful.

The covering for the head consisted of a tin helmet, japanned black,

hnving a small peak in front, and around the sides a crimson silk band

adorned by a light brass chain; a black feather extended over the top

from the front to the back ; and on the right side was a white feather.

The short-tailed coat was dark blue, with led faccings, which extended

1784. After the usual ceremonies, coins of his majesty

George III., and an elegant coronation medal of Queen
Charlotte, were deposited in the stone, with a copper-

plate bearing a suitable inscription.

In the latter part of 1793, a subscription was set on

foot in Sunderland, by advertisement, for purchasing

flannel waistcoats, white yarn stockings, &c., for the use

of the British troops in Flanders. A considerable amount

was raised, in sums varying from two shillings to five

pounds.

On January 24, 1794, the Good Intent, in Sunderland

harbour, was discovered to be on fire ; but being towed

into the middle of the river, the flames were prevented I

from communicating to any other vessel. The fire was

not completely got under before several of her guns _

(which happened, at that time, to be loaded) went off, I

and nearly the whole of her inside in the after part was

consumed. This accident was owing to the carelessness

of the boys, who had left a lamp burning on board.

On April 25, 1795, an advertisement was issued in

the port of Sunderland, ofiering a bounty, for entering

the navy, of 31/. 5s. to able seamen, 23/. 10s. to ordinary

seamen, and 17/. 5s. to landsmen; concluding, as usual,

with " God save the king, and success to the navy of

Great Britain."

On the 9th of August, 1796, the magnificent cast iron

bridge across the Wear was opened to the public.

His Royal Highness Prince William of Gloucester

arrived at Sunderland on October 3, 1796, to take the

command of the troops in that place. On November 25

following, a serious affray broke out between the West-

minster Militia and the Lowland Fencibles, arising from

one of the former corps having wantonly killed a tame

favourite goat belonging to the Fencibles. Both

regiments drew up in battle array in the barrack ground ;

but, by the strenuous exertions of Prince William, order

was restored, and the offender sent before a court

martial.

A transport arrived in Sunderland on the 8th Octo-

ber, 1796, with 150 French emigrants on board, who

were accommodated with such convenience as the

barracks afforded.

During the war at the close of the last century, a corps

of Volunteer Infantry were kept up in Sunderland.*

They were disbanded at the peace of 1801 ; but, on

down the front. A great number of the body were keelmcn, who wore

tiglit-fitting blue pantaloons, with black gaiters covering the ankles.

The rest of the corps, consisting of tradesmen and others, wore white

pantaloons. Of course, it was necessary to keep the two part of the

regiment distinct. On one occasion, during the evolutions of a sham-

fight on the sands, it was the pm-t of the keelmen to retreat before an
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the renewal of hostilities, another corpsj under the com-

mand of Sir Ralph Milbank, Bart., of Seaham, was

raised. They were presented with their colours by

Lady Milbank, from a large hustings erected for the

occasion on the Town Moor.

About the same tune, a corps of Volunteer Artillery

was formed, and placed under the command of Lieut-col.

Richard Markhara, draper, of Sunderland. They ac-

quired considerable proficiency in the batteries which

guarded the harbour.

A body of volunteers also enrolled themselves as Sea

Fencibles. They consisted of pilots, keelmen, and

other watermen, with a few shipowners and retired

captains. They had no uniform, but were trained to

the use of the pike by an officer of the royal navy.

On March 21, 1801, the price of wheat having risen

to 40s. a boll, a tumult took place in the corn-market ;

when the windows of the inns to which tlie farmers

resorted were broken, a quantity of corn was trodden

under foot, and many of the farmers' carts thrown

into the river from the Ferry-boat Landing, one of which

was found next day floating in the sea. One of the

1 ioters tvas seized by a magistrate, and committed to the

('age, but was soon liberated by the people. At last, the

riot-act was read, by candle-light, on the steps of the

(ieorge Inn ; and a body of the Lancashire Militia, with

loaded muskets, kept guard round the inn during the

night.

In 1803, a correspondence took place with the Admi-
ralty, respecting the release of some keelmen who had

been impressed ; and their lordships intimated, Feb. 25,

that unless the keelmen provided out of their own body
a number of men in the same proportion as those of

Newcastle, the Admiralty would be under the necessity

of ordering the keelmen of Sunderland to be impressed.

The number agreed to be provided was one man in ten.

In 1809, an act of parliament was obtained for paving,

watchmg, lighting, and cleansing thetown of Sunderland,

for removing the market, for building a town-hall or

market-house, and otherwise improving the said town,

and for establishing a watch on the river Wear.
On October 3, 1811, Thomas Elliott stood one hour in

the pillory at Sunderland, according to his sentence,

having been convicted of an assault on a young girl. The
novelty of the scene brought together an immense con-

course of people, supposed to be not less than

^0,000.

advance of the other party; but, disdaining to be conquered even in

appearance, they stood their ground, and discharged their pieces at

their opponents so closely that several of the faces of the latter after-

November 29, 1813, Sunderland was illuminated

three nights, in commemoration ofHolland and Hanover

being freed from the influence of France. Many devices

and transparencies of " Orange Boven," " Wellington,"

&c., &c., were displayed. During these rejoicings, the

Quakers, having refused to light up, became the objects

of popular fury. One of them had every square of glas-s

in his house broken ; while several empty tar-barrels

blazed before his shop and house.

On the ratification of the treaty of peace in 1814,

many sailors and others, inhabitants of Sunderland, who
had been confined from various periods as prisoners of

war in France, returned home, several of them in a

very distressed state. On this occasion, a subscription

was raised for their temporary relief, amounting to

745/. 18s. Id.

In the afternoon of March 2, 1815, a number of per-

sons, principally keelmen and casters on the Wear,

assembled in order to pull down the bridge which had

been erected across Galley's Gill, near Bishopwearmouth,

for the purpoee of conveying the coal-waggons belong-

ing to Messrs. Nesham and Co. to the staith below.

They then proceeded to their work of destruction ; and,

having entirely pulled down the bridge, set fire to the

staiths at the head of it, and burnt all the machinery

which was erected there for the purpose of conveying

the waggons down the inclined plane to the spouts,

where the coals were put on shipboard without the in-

tervention of keels. They also pulled down one house,

and unroofed several others. The disturbance continued

till a late hour at night, when a number of cavalry

arrived from Newcastle, and dispersed the mob. One

man was killed by some of the falling timber. The

occasion of this tumultuous proceeding originated

in an idea that other similar staiths were about to

be erected upon the AVear, in consequence of which,

there would not be so much employment for keelmen

and casters. The injury done was estimated at GOOO/.

In consequence of a rapid thaw, accompanied with

wind and rain, on the 30th December, 1815, nearly all

the ships and keels on the river Wear were broken

adrift ; but were fortunately secured before they drove

to sea.

September 18, 1816, many of the tradesmen in Sun-

derland injudiciously refused taking the shillings and

sixpences that were plain, and without remains of the

impression. In consequence of this, after dark, a large

wards retained, through life, the blue marks of the gunpowder. The
corps raised in the next war was about 600 strong, who were dressed

much the same as the soldiers of the line.
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concourse of the poor inhabitants met and commenced

an attack upon the shops of Messrs. Caleb Wilson,

Nattrass, Middlebrook, Walton, Andrews, Hall, &c.,

all grocers and flour-dealers ; the windows of both

shops and houses were nearly demolished, and the shop

of Middlebrook completely gutted by the mob, who

were seen running away with hams, bacon, groceries,

&c. After the shop had been forced open, the 33rd

regiment were called out ; and on the riot-act being

read about midnight, they prepared to act hostilely,

when the mob in a great degree dispersed, but not

before several soldiers had received severe bruises from

bricks, &c. The house of Mr. Barnes, surgeon, being

at this time rebuilding, the mob took many hundred

bricks to use as missiles. The town continued in great

alarm and commotion for some time after the event.

On Friday, October 18, 1816, a farmer, standing in

the market of Sunderland, asked 16s. a bushel for his

wheat, when a fellow standing by him forcibly seized

upon the sack and ran oif with it. This daring outrage

was the signal for the whole of the corn being seized

by the populace, and instantly the whole market

became the scene of the utmost confusion and alarm.

The shopkeepers shut in their windows, the magistrates

appeared and read the riot-act, and the military were

ordered to be in readiness ; but fortunately their

services were not required. By the active exertions of

about 50 or 60 special constables, the corn was nearly

all recovered and tranquillity restored.

The Grand-duke Nicholas of Russia (afterwards

emperor), and his suite, consisting of Baron Nicholay,

Sir William Congreve, Koutousoff, Dr. Crichton, Ge-

neral Saurossoff, M. Klinker, M. Marsell and M.

Pavosky, arrived at Sunderland on the 13th December,

1816. On the following morning, attended by the

Rev. Dr. Gray, rector of Bishopwearmouth, they

minutely inspected the pier, the iron bridge, and the

coal staith of Messrs. Nesham and Co., and afterwards

took refreshment at the rectory-house.

A bull was baited at Sunderland on May 28, 1822 ;

on which occasion a large mob assembled to witness

this regal relic of barbarism.

August 31, 1822, His Royal Highness the Duke of

Sussex descended the river Wear to Sunderland in Mr.

Lambton's (Lord Durham) barge. The ships in the

harbour were decorated with flags, and the people

loudly cheered him. On entering the carriage that

awaited his arrival, the populace took the horses out,

and drew him to the house of A. Feuwick, Esq., where

he partook of a cold collatior. Previous to leaving

Sunderland, his royal highness addressed the crowd, and

thanked them for the kind reception with which they

had honoured him.

The town was first lighted up with gas on the 9th of

March, 1824.

On August 10, 1825, the Union Club of Seamen,

having difiered with the ship-owners, and observing a

vessel going to sea manned with men not belonging to

the port, determined on an attack. The principal ship-

owners, who had been sworn in as special constables,

were prepared to protect the vessel, which, however,

was boarded by about 400 seamen, who threw the ship-

owners and the crew overboard, excepting the captain

and mate. A party of dragoons having arrived, the

riot-act was read ; and, as the mob refused to disperse,

the military fired, when five men were killed.

The Duke of Wellington visited Sunderland, October

4, 1827, on which occasion a triumphal arch was erected

across the High Street at Sunniside, at the expense of

the ladies of the town. The duke arrived in the carriage

of the Marquis of Londonderry, which was drawn into

the town by a number of men who unyoked the horses

for the purpose. In passing under the triumphal arch,

roses and crowns of laurel were dropped into the

carriage by three young ladies, dressed in white, who

were placed in the centre of the arch. At the Exchange,

where the pressure of the crowd was extreme, the duke

alighted, and ascended a platform in front of the build-

ing, when an address was presented to him by George

Robinson, Esq., to which he made a suitable reply.

At a dinner in the news-room, 204 persons sat down,

that being the largest number which could be accommo-

dated. The Marquis of Londonderry occupied the

chair, and Sir Cuthbert Sharp the vice-chair. A ball

at the Assembly Room followed, which was crowded to

excess.

April 10, 1829, a boy, who had been striking the

topgallant-mast of the brig Lion, and found there was

not room for him whilst passing under the bridge, had

the presence of mind to get up amongst the iron work,

where the ship left him ; he was shortly after rescued.

Sunderland and its neighbourhood were visited by an

awful storm of thunder and lightning, accompanied by a

high wind, on the 28th of April, 1829.

July 27, 1829, his royal highness the Duke de

Chartres and suite arrived at Sunderland, after visiting

Newcastle, and descending one of the coal-pits in the

neighbourhood, which he examined with much attention.

At Sunderland he inspected the bridge, the pier, &c.

During Tuesday, October 14, 1829, above 150 light
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colliers had arrived safely iu Sunderland harbour, and

several sailed again loaden, with a fine north-west wind

and a smooth sea; but during the night, the wind

having shifted to the north-east, a most tremendous sea

eamc on, and morning presented one of the most awful

spectacles witnessed there for many years. Day-light

discovered four vessels lying on their broadsides on the

south rocks ; and by three o'clock, p.m., there were 15

vessels on shore and wrecked between the south pier

and Ilendon. About four o'clock, the Eleanor of

Monkwearmouth, which had sailed the day before for

the northward, in putting back, sunk off the mouth of

the harbour, and all on board perished, consisting of a

father and son named Hills, and two seamen, in sight of

some thousands of spectators, unable to render the

slightest assistance.

King AV^illiara IV. was proclaimed in the barrack-

yard, June 30, 1830, by the officers of the depot of the

SOtli regiment ; and in the town, on the 3rd July, by

the magistrates.

On the 26th October, 1831, the disease called cholera

morbus made its first appearance in this country at Sun-

derland ; and so fatal were its effects, that between the

abo%'e day and April 3, 1832, there were 538 persons

attacked, of whom 205 died. The ships from the port

were put under quarantine, causing great stagnation of

business, which added much to the distress amongst the

poor. The large school-house at Coxon's Green was

fitted up as an hospital ; the barrack gates were closed,

to prevent the garrison having any communication

with the town ; the magistrates caused the streets and

lanes to be cleaned by the fire engines ; and a committee

divided the town into visiting districts, for the purpose

of distributing medical aid. Newcastle, Gateshead,

North Shields, and several other towns and villages in

Durham and Northumberland were attacked by the

epidemic, which has since repeatedly visited these and

other places with all its original malignity.

On the 27th October, 1831, a great public meeting

was held at Sunderland, to determine on presenting an

address to the king, on the subject of the rejection, by
the House of Lords, of the bill for a reform in the

Commons House of Parliament. The address was
forwarded for presentation to his majesty on the 10th

of November, with 10,077 signatures attached to it.

On the 27th August, 1832, the members of the Sun-
derland Political Union, and other friends of reform,

celebrated the passing of the reform bill by a public

dinner in a large field near Waterloo Place. The
tables were arranged under a spacious canvas covering,

VOL. II.

and about G70 persons sat down to dinner. After

several speeches had been delivered, the pressure and

uproarious conduct of a crowd on the outside caused

the meeting to be broken up ; and the Rev. John

Wright, chairman, Charles Attwood, Esq., and the

members of the council, retired to the Bridge Inn,

from the windows of which they addressed a concourse

of people.

September 25, 1832, Mr. Cobbett delivered a lecture

in the theatre, on the state and prospects of the

country.

The first hackney coach in Sunderland commenced

running in May, 1833.

A dreadful storm at sea occurred on the 31st of

August, 1833, in which 47 seamen belonging to the

port were drowned, and 15 more were missing. A
public meeting was held in October following, at which

a subscription was entered into for the relief of the

families of the sufferers.

A regatta was held on July 21, 1834: the races were

from the pier-end, about H mile to sea and back, and

the various prizes well contested for. Similar aquatic

sports are now frequently held.

On September 25, 1834, after two previous attempts,

Mr. Green ascended in his balloon from Mr. Thompson's

raff-yard, near the gas-works, accompanied by Mr.

Vipond. The balloon coming in contact with the mast

of a vessel, Mr. Vipond got out of the car on to the

round top. The aeronaut then ascended to the altitude

of nearly a mile, and descended into the sea near

Whitburn, where he was rescued from his perilous si-

tuation by a pilot's coble.

In the night of October 8, 1835, an immense mass of

limestone rock, projecting from the south bank of the

Wear near the Earl of Durham's drops, fell with

tremendous force into the river : the weight of the

stone was supposed to be about 500 tons.

During the night between Sunday the 17th and

Monday the 18th January, 1841, the most destructive

flood on record in Sunderland harbour took place.

After a long and severe frost, a thaw came on ; and

a great quantity of ice accumulated between the bridge

and Ferry Boat Landing. A heavy rain began to fall

on the evening of Sunday ; and some ships were driven

from their moorings at Pallion and Deptford, bixt were

soon brought up and moored. About midnight, larger

pieces of ice floated down the river, which, meeting

with obstructions, were driven over and under each

other, and formed huge unwieldy masses, cemented

together to the depth of several feet, which so much
3r-
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impeded the current, that about Pallion the water at one

time stood six feet higher than at the Mark Quay.

About four o'clock in the morning, this barrier of ice

yielded to the increasing pressure of the water ; and

the whole rushed down with irresistible force, tore

away entire tiers of ships from their moorings at the

Hetton and Lambton staiths, hurried them rapidly

under the bridge, breaking their masts in the passage,

and dashing them against the vessels below, swept

away tier after tier, and threw them into a mass of

wrecks extending from one side of the river to the other,

opposite the Durham and Sunderland railway staiths.

During the darkness, the crashing of the ice, the break-

ing of masts, bowsprits, and bulwarks, the shouting of

men, and the shrieks of sailor boys, were terrific ; and

daybreak revealed an unexampled scene of havock.

Seven of the eight drops of the Hetton staiths were

rendered unserviceable ; and one of them was actually

carried away in the rigging of a ship. Fortunately,

several steam-boats had taken refuge in the North

Docks ; and, with their assistance, a passage was made

through the mass of ships on Tuesday afternoon ; and

the ice drifted to sea, carrying with it an immense

quantity of timber and wreck. Several ships had pre-

viously been driven to sea, some without their crews,

and were picked up at Seaham Harbour and other places

on the coast. About 30 keels were sunk or destroyed,

and all the harbour boats and other small craft in the

river were annihilated. The loss was estimated as

follows :—Sunderland ships, insured, 50,000/. ; do. un-

insured and strangers, 30,000/. ; timber lost, &c.,

5,000/. ; staiths, keels, &c., 6,000/. ; total, 91,000/.

The removal of the north pier light-house, in its

entire and perpendicular state, was commenced August

2, 18-tl ; and it was brought to its destined site,

420 feet nearer to the end of the pier, on the 3rd

of October following, without any accident having

occurred.

A magnificent bazaar, was held in the Athenneum, Sun-

derland, on the 14th, 15th, and 16th Sept., 1841, under

the patronage of Queen Adelaide, and the Marchioness

of Londonderry, in aid of the funds for building the

new church at Seaham Harbour. The marchioness and

other ladies presided at the stalls, and the splendid

fancy fair was crowded with gay and fashionable visitors.

The proceeds amounted to about 1,200/. In the evening

of the 16th, a fancy ball was held at the Thompson

Arms Hotel, in aid of the funds for the Infirmary.

His Royal Highness the Duke of Cambridge visited

Sunderland on the 24th Aug., 1842, accompanied by the

Russian ambassador and a large party of noblemen and

gentlemen. An address was presented to the duke by

the corporation. The distinguished party were enter-

tained and dined in the Exchange Rooms, and attended

a ball afterwards at the Athena;um.

September 8, 1842, an American seaman, named
Smith, 2S years of age, leaped from Sunderland bridge

into the river, a height of 110 feet, amidst the heart)'

cheers of an astonished multitude. He repeated the

feat on the 15th; but on this occasion, it nearly cost him

his life. When brought ashore, medical assistance was

obliged to be had, from the very feeble and exhausted

condition he was in. He, however, ultimately recovered.

The first public Catholic procession which had taken

place in Sunderland for 350 years, occurred January

22, 1843, when the Holy Guild of St. Bede, with their

crosses, &c., attended a funeral from Brougham Street,

up Union Street and High Street, to the foot of Durham
road, from whence the corpse was conveyed in a hearse

to the Catholic burying-ground at Houghton-le-Spring.

On November 26, 1845, whilst the day sliift-men of

the Derwent Iron Works, Bishopwcarmouth, about

400 in number, were at breakfast, one of the boilers, of

35 horse power, attached to the engine of the rolling

mill, burst with a tremendous explosion, passed over a

smaller boiler (which was struck and forcibly removed

a distance of 22 feet), ascended into the air like a balloon,

and then fell to pieces, the fragments being thrown

upon the roof, against the chimney, and on other parts

of the premises. The fall of a portion of the warehouse,

and an immense quantity of materials and founcby wall,

was the consequence ; and a number of the workmen
were buried under the ruins or injured by detached

fragments. Two were taken dead from beneath the ruins,

one died on being removed to his home, and upwards

of 20 others were more or less severely cut and hurt.

On the 6th of February, 1846, the brown paper mill

of Messrs. Hutton, Fletcher, and Co., near Sunderland,

was set on fire by some incendiary, and destroyed.

On the night between the 4th and 5th of July, 1846,

a murder was perpetrated at the Rector's Gill. A
young woman named Catherine Hindmarsh, aged 19,

was found to have been thrown over the cliff on to the

Lambton railway, 50 or 60 feet below, and died on the

following day. She had left home, in Crow Tree

Lane, in the evening, to procure eggs and butter ; and

the plate and money were found on the edge of the

cliff. The coroner's jury returned a verdict of " Wilful

murder against some person or persons unknown."

On September 3, 1847, at Seaham Harbour, Robert
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Brown, Esq., mayor of Sunderland, and a considerable

portion of the corporate body, presented a complimen-

tary address to Sir Robert Peel, on his statesmanlike

conduct in procuring the repeal of the corn laws.

On September 2-3, 1847, a serious affray between

some soldiers of the 6.3rd regiment, then lying in Sun-

derland barracks, and the borough police, led to the

apprehension of some of the military ; and an organized

attack was made by their comrades on the police, with

their belts, and with bottles and glasses wrapped up in

handkerchiefs. For some time the town was kept in a

state of riot. On the 25th, the mayor, with several

])olice and other officials, went to the barracks to

identify the offenders ; when the whole 7th company

rushed out upon the party with drawn bayonets, and

drove them out of the barracks. The regiment was

immediately removed to Newcastle barracks, where

the ringleaders in the outrage were identified. Two
of them were sentenced to two years imprisonment,

and five to one year, in Wakefield house of correction.

November 12, 1847, the toll for foot passengers on

the bridge was discontinued.

On August 12, 1849, the cholera re-appeared in Sun-

derland, where its ravages continued for several weeks.

About 150 ships, part of a large fleet of light colliers,

which had been wind-bound for some time, entered

Sunderland Harbour on Good Friday, March 29, 1850.

On the following day, a heavy gale from the south-east

came on, in which the remainder of the fleet ran for the

harbour. Nine of them were driven behind the north

pier, and became wrecks ; and about 50 others, which

gained the entrance of the harbour, were violently

driven against the pier and each other by the violence

of the waves, and eventually went ashore on the shoal

called the Potatoc Garth, with the loss of masts, yards,

bowsprits, &c. Fortunately no lives were lost.

A most alarming fire occurred on the 30th of March,

1855, which threatened at one period the safety of a

portion of the town. The fire broke out in the ware-

houses of Mr. Fairley, an extensive wholesale chemist,

situated in Number's Garth, in the midst of a densely

populated district. The materials in the warehouses

were highly inflammable, consisting of flax, tar, tur-

pentine, oil, &c. The fire-brigade, the Wear marine

engine, and the engine and soldiers from the barracks,

were in immediate attendance ; but not being able to

subdue the raging element, a telegraphic despatch was

• Surtees observes, " Lord Scrope was owner of the manor of

Langley, and of other estates in the county of Durham ; hut it is hard

to say what connection induced the Northamptonshiie family of

forwarded to Newcastle for the assistance of police,

engines, and firemen. Meanwhile, to arrest the spread-

ing flames from communicating between the burning

houses and High Street, a house in Garden Street was

pulled down, which had the desired effect ; and soon

after the arrival of the Newcastle engines, the devouring

element was subdued. The mayor, A. J. Moore, Esq.,

was most active during the whole of the time, and

150 men of the 85th regiment from the barracks were

of great service. The loss of property was estimated at

upwards of 10,000/.

EARLDOM OF SUNDERLAND.

The title of Earl of Sunderland has been conferred on

two noble families. It was first bestowed June 19,

1627, by Charles L on Emanuel Lord Scrope, of

Bolton, Lord President of the North, who died without

lawful issue. On June 8, 1643, the title was conferred

by the same monarch on Henry Lord Spencer, of

Wormleighton, who fell in the royal service at the first

battle of Newbury, in the year of his creation. The

honour still remains in his descendants, and is the third

title of the Duke of Marlborough, whose second title.

Marquis of Blandford, is held by courtesy by his

eldest son, now M.P. for the borough of Woodstock,

and married to lady Frances Vane, eldest daughter of

the late Marquis of Londonderry by his wife, Frances-

Anne Vane. The third title. Earl of Sunderland, is

held by courtesy by the eldest son of the Marquis and

Marchioness of Blandford.*

HISTORY OF BISHOPWEARMOUTH.

" The delightful vill of South Wearmouth," including

Weston, Offerton, and Sllksworth, with the two Ryhopes,

Burden, Seaham, Seaton, Dalton, Dalden, and llcsildcn,

stated to have been " wrested from the church in former

times through the malignity of evil men," were restored

to the see of Durham, about the year 930, by King

Athelstan, then in an expedition against Constantiue,

king of Scotland.

Wearmouth and Tunstall are mentioned together in

Boldon Book. " In Wermouthc and Tunstall are

twenty-two tenants in villenage ; and six cottagers,

whose work, rents, and services are like those of

Boldon. The carpenter, who is aged, holds twelve

acres for life, for making carts and harrows (for the

Spencer to select the distant title of Sunderland." It is curious to

observe that, by the above marriage, the connection between the

inheritor of the title and the county has been renewed.
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tenantsj. The smith has twelve acres for the iron

work of the carts, and finds his own coal. The pay
and services of the punder are the same as the punder
of Boldon (i. e., a landed salary of twelve acres, and a

thrave of corn from every cart-load, and he pays 80
hens and 500 eggs). The two vills pay xxs. cornage,

and provide two milch cows. The demesne is farmed

with a stock of twenty draught oxen, two harrows, and

200 sheep. The rent, including the mill, is twenty

pounds : the fisheries pay six pounds, and the borough
of "Wcrmouth twenty shillings."

Previous to the time of Hatfield's Survey, many of

the personal services had been commuted for monied
rents. Thomas Menvill of Hynden (see page 397) is

mentioned. John Hobson paid 18s. -id. for 10 acres

of the demesne ; William Gray and sixteen others held

140 acres, under proportionate rents ; and Robert

Carter held one acre called Foreland, and paid 2s.

John Hobson, William Gray, and six others, are also

mentioned as bond-tenants, paving small rents in lieu

of the services mentioned in Boldon Book. They paid

amongst them an increase of 4s. lOd., and each of them
paid two hens at the Nativity, and ten eggs at Easter.

The bond-tenants paid 6s. at the Feast of Saint Martin,

instead of providing a milch cow ; 10s. for cornage at

the Feast of St. Cuthbert in September ; and 8s. 8f^.

for woodlades at the Nativity of St. John Baptist. They
held the common forge, and paid 3s. -Id. ; and all the

* William Shepperdson, Esq., of BishopwearmoutU and of Murton,
living in 1635, married Joan, daughter of John Goodehild, Esq. of
Kyhope, and sister of Robert Goodehild, Esq., of Paiion, by
whom he had issue— I, John, who left three sons (.lohn, of Bishop-

wearmouth, who was father of an only son, Joha, who mar-
ried, in 1G69, Elizabeth, daughter and co-hciress of Ralph Smith,

Esq., of West Rainton, and had issue ; George, of Newcastle, and
afterwards of South Shields, who had issue George, of Biddick,

whose only daughter and heiress, Elizabeth, married Francis Middle-

ton, Esq., of Offerton ; and Richard, of Hetton-le-Hole, who married,

in 1654, Elizabeth, daughter and heiress of Richard Walsh, Esq., of

Hetton, and left issue) ; 2, Adam, a captaiji under Cromwell, and had
issue

J and, 3, Edward, of Morton, which he acquired by gift from his

father, November 2i, 1645, was captain of a troop of horse under

General Monck. The original commission, under the hand and seal

of " George Moncke, captain-general and commander-in-chiefe of all

the forces in England, &c.," to Edward Shepperdson, to be "eaptaine

of a troop of horse in Col. Francis Hacker his regiment," St. James,

25 Feb., 1659, with a commission signed in the name of the " parlia-

ment of the Com'onwalth of England, by William Lenthall, Speaker,

26 Jan., 1659," is in the possession of the present Edward Shep-

perdson, Esq.

Captain Shepperdson married and had issue, Edward, his eldest

son and successor, who married Margaret, sister and sole heiress of

William Sympson, Esq., of Pittinghall Garth, and granddaughter of

Sir William Belasyse, of Murton, by whom he left, at his decease,

July, 170", a son and heir, Ralph. Ralph Shepperdson, Esq., of

Pitliugtonhall Garth, married Margaret, only child and heiress of

bond-tenants of Wermouth, Tunstall, Refhope, and
Birden held the mill and brewery jointly, and paid, —

.

Robert Payn, Julien Gamel, and eight others, were
cottagers. Of the exchequer lands, John de Sunderland
held a toft and an acre of land, tilled four portions for

the loid in autumn, and paid 2s. Robert Bullok, and
eleven others, held ten tofts with a certain curtilage, and
some other lands and gardens. The same tenants held

amongst them four acres, which were part of the smith's

lands, and paid 4s. ; and the bond-tenants held one acre

of the smith's land, and paid, till a smith should be

found, 12d.

The Shepperdson family have held lands by copy of

court roll in Bishopwearmouth, since the commencement

at least of the records of the Halmot Court, temj).

Edward III.*

It would appear that, in the course of time, the rents

above noticed had become fixed by custom. No tenant

in bond or villenage is noticed in the survey of Queen

Elizabeth ; and at present nearly the whole vill of

Bishopwearmouth is held by copy of court-roll under

the bishop's manor of Houghton-le-Spring. For several

centuries, the lands remained undivided and in common
pasture, under the names of South Moor, Prest Moor,

&c., and were consequently of small value. In 1649,

the customary tenants were induced to improve their

lands.f which began to be considered as well situated on

account of their vicinity to the rising town of Sunder-

the Rev. T. Musgrave, of Great Salkeld, Cumberland, prebendary of

Durham, and rector of Wliitburn (6th son of Sir William Musgrave,

Bart., of Eden Hall), and dying June 16, 1719, was succeeded by his

eldest survi\-ing son, Edward, of Pittingtonhall Garth. He married

Margaret, only daughter of George Baker, Esq., of Elemore, and had

an only son, Ralph. Ralph Shepperdson, Esq., of Pittinghall

Garth, married, in 1779, Frances, daughter of the Rev. Samuel Kir-

shaw, D.D., by whom he had issue four sons and four daughteis.

Mr. Shepperdson died November 8, 1793, and was succeeded by his

eldest son, Edward, the present representative of the family, bom

September 20, 1780. He is an acting magistrate and deputy lieu-

tenant of the county of Durham, for which he served as high sheriff

in 18J3. (See vol. i.. p. 403.)

_4r»w—Sa. on a bend, arg., three lozenges, az., each charged with

a planetary sun in his glory.

Motto—Nubem eri piam.

Residence—Durham.

t In proof of the confidence placed in leasehold tenures in this dis-

trict, John Gregson, Esq., of Durham, stated, before the Episcopal

and Capitular Estates Commissioners, Mar 11. 1849, "I have a

leasehold estate held for tliree lives, an estate of some value ; it con-

sisted originally of two rather large straggling farms ; it is near the

tovm of Sunderland ; and by converting the two farms into four, and

being at the expense of putting up two entirely new sets of farm-

houses and farm-buildings of every description, the estate is very

much increased in value. All this has been done upon the leasehold,

there being no part of the estate of freehold tenure."
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land, "just raised from obscurity by its flourishing coal-

trade, and enriched every day thereby." An agreement

was accordingly come to that the lands should be set

out by district moots and boundaries.

Building Hill and its quarries, containing about 14

acres, were reserved for the use of the copyholders

generally, who had liberty to dig and carry away stones

for building, without any payment or cost. In 1767,

this right was opposed by Teasdale Mowbray, Esq., who

conceived he had a right to levy a small charge on each

copyholder carrying away stones from the quarry. A
law-suit ensued, in which John Thornhill, Esq., was

defendant, when the evidence went to prove that no

charge had ever been made by any person on account of

stone got and carried away from the quarry, and a ver-

dict was consequently given for Mr. Thornhill. It

would appear that the privilege of digging limestone is

liable to abuse ; as it was found necessary to hold a

meeting of the Building Hill copyholders, on May 10,

1848, in consequence of certain persons working the

limestone, and selling it to the public, thereby violating

the rights of the copyholders.

In 1844, at the instance of the Watch Committee, the

Town Council commenced proceedings towards purchas-

ing the interest of Miss Mowbray in Building Hill,

with the intention of appropriating it as a place of re-

creation for the public. Miss Mowbray entertained the

project, and her trustees intimated that they were willing

to sell her interest for 2,500/. An application was then

made to the Commissioners of Woods and Forests, for

a participation in the parliameutary grant of 10,000/.

towards the formation of public walks in populous towns.

On the 5th of June, a sub-committee was appointed to

examine the hill, with a view to its improvement; and

on the 25th of August, Mr. Symonds, an agent of

government, visited Sunderland, expressly to inspect the

proposed site. In consequence of his favourable report,

750/. was awarded by government, on condition that

the ground, when purchased, should be legally and

permanently secured as a place of recreation for the

people, and that the money subscribed, including the

government grant, should be sufficient to carry the pro-

posed plan into execution. Notwithstanding this

encouragement, however, the design was suffered to

languish ; it having been urged, as an objection to the

purchase, that the public already exercise certain right

over the hill. The right of the copyholders to take

away the stone, at the nominal charge of \d. per load,

was also mentioned as likely to work away the whole

hill in 30 or 40 years' time. At Icngtli, the special

committee ofthe council entered into communication with

Mr. Percival Forster, relative to the purchase ; and Mr.

and Mrs. Mowbray, in October, 1852, consented to take

2,000/. for the ground. It was proposed to raise this sum,

with the government grant of 750/., by loans at four

per cent., to be paid off by instalments from rates levied

over a course of years. A part of the design is the

erection of a crystal palace, including a winter garden,

school of design, museum, concert hall, meeting room,

bazaar, and exhibition ; and a premium for a plan of such

erections has been offered. Meanwhile, the surface has

been planted with forest and other trees, and laid out

with gravel walks, which intersect gracefully-formed

mounds, in the most approved style of landscape gar-

dening.

The Burn-Fields, otherwise Howle-Eile Burns, is a

parcel of ground to the west of Bishopwearmouth, and

contains about six acres, intersected by a rivulet.

From time immemorial, the inhabitants have had the

privilege of bleaching their linen in these fields, and

taking water from the burn for that purpose. This

right was contested in an action at law in 1760, when
it was recognized and acknowledged. In the early part

of the present century, a neighbouring proprietor

ploughed up the ground, and planted it with corn and

vegetables. Incited by Mr. John Hopper, of Crow
Tree Road, a party of the parishioners, before harvest,

repaired to the place, pulled down the fences, and de-

stroyed the crops. An action at law was the conse-

quence ; and on the case being tried at Durham, Mr.

Hopper proved that the Burn Fields belonged to the

people by prescriptive right, and obtained a verdict.*

A question arose in the halmot court, held at Bishop-

wearmouth, in October, 1851, for the bishop's manor of

Houghton-le-Spring, as to the right of the copyhold

tenants, to dig clay and make bricks, &c., upon their

copyhold lands. In the following year, the Copyhold

Enfranchisement bill was introduced into parliament, and,

after careful investigation, became the law of the land.

It provided that after the 1st day of July, 1853, the

lords of manors might compel the tenants to enfranchise

their surfiice rights, fines, heriots, &c., in their copy-

holds, and the tenants to have the same power against

the lords. All the minerals, including coal, stone, clay,

gravel, &c., which are distinctly specified in the act,

• Mr. Hopper was in e^trly life a seaman, Imt afterwards acquired a

competence as a grocer and chandler in the parish, and became a town

-

counciller oi the borou^li. On the termination of tlie trial noticed in

the text, the parisldoners of Bishopwearmouth presented him with iv

silver enuff-box. He died August 7, 1848, aged 69,
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are reserved as belonging exclusively to the lords, and

cannot be worked without their license or authority.

The whole of the brick and tile yards in the township

of Bishopwearmouth are upon the bishop's manor, and

must consequently be worked according to arrange-

ments made between his lordship and the tenants.

On the formation of the Pcnsher branch of the

North-eastern railway, the company thought it prudent,

in order to avoid paying exorbitant damages for

severance, to purchase many parcels of land, particu-

larly near Building Hill, which were not immediately

needed for the purposes of the railway itself. They

are now in treaty with the Bishop of Durham for the

enfranchisement of this land, which they intend to offer

for sale as building sites, and which will consequently

be of freehold tenvire.

Wearmouth Panns.—In 1601, this township was

held by Ralph Bowes, Esq., of Barnes ; and " the ten

Salt Panns" were granted, with several other parcels,

in 1635, by William Bowes, Esq., to Sir William

Lambton, Knt., of Lambton, who was slain at Marston

Moor in 1644, when this part of his property was

settled in trustees for the use of his second wife, Dame

Catherine Lambton, and his issue. Her grandson,

Frevill Lambton, Esq., of Hardwick, in 1714, sur-

rendered the same to his cousin, William Lambton,

Esq., of Lambton. A portion of waste, granted to

John Heath, Esq., in 1586, was surrendered, three

years afterwards, to Ralph Lambton, Esq., father of

Sir William above named. In 1600, a third portion

of waste, " lying beneath Houldeape from the great Cone

east to the grete Hinginge Scarr west, and extending

from the lowest part of the bank twenty-four yards into

the channel of the Wear," was granted to John Lord

Lumley, for a coal stailh.

HISTORY OF MONKWEARMOUTH.
During the episcopacy of Aidan, first Bishop of Lin-

disfame (see vol. i., p. 19), the pious St. Hilda, aunt to

Adulf, king of the East Angles, took the veil, and

obtained a hide of land for a monastic establishment on

the north bank of the Wear. After remaining a year,

however, she removed to Hartlepool, and eventually to

Whitby (see p. 246). No trace is now to be found of

her establishment near the Wear ; though Greaveson

says, " There is a humble chvirch betwixt the mouths of

the Tyne and Wear, dedicated to St. Hilda, and it

standeth nearer to the Tyne than to the Wear. Its

exact situation is on a headland called Sowter Point

;

here possibly stood the little convent of St. Bee." It

is certain that the founders of religious houses, in that

early age, frequently chose promontories overlooking

the sea for the sites of their establishments, as at St.

Abb's Head, Tyneniouth, Hartlepool, Whitby, &c.

Biscopius, a noble Saxon officer in the service of Oswy,

king of Northumberland, having been munificently

rewarded for his military exploits, relinquished the

world at the age of twenty -five. Agreeably with the

practice of zealous Christian converts at that time, he

visited the holy see at Rome ; and so impressed was he

with what he had seen and heard there, that, after a

short stay in Britain, he determined on going back.

His representations also induced the eldest son of the

king to propose accompanying him ; but this was ex-

pressly forbidden by the monarch. After the second

visit of Biscopius to Rome, he remained two years in the

convent of Lirlna, at the isle of St. Honorat in France,

where he received the clerical tonsure and adopted the

name of Benedict. He returned from a third pilgrim-

age in 669, in the train of Theodore, archbishop elect

of Canterbury, and was appointed abbot of St. Peter's,

but resigned his charge, two years afterwards, to Abbot

Adrian, and travelled to Rome a fourth time. On this

occasion, he collected, by purchase and gift, a valuable

assortment of books and relics, with which he returned

to Britain in 672. The death of Koynwalk, king of the

West Saxons, frustrated an intention of taking up his

residence under the protection of that prince ; but in

Egfrid, king of his native Northumberland, before

whom he displayed his much-valued treasures, he found

a warm patron and friend, and received from him a

grant of seventy hides of land. With this munificent

gift he founded the monastery of St. Peter's, on the

north bank of the Wear, in the year 674.

After a year of preparation, Benedict sent to France

for masons to build him a church, in the Italian style

;

and so expeditious were his proceedings, that he had

the gratification of celebrating mass within its walls in

less than a year from its commencement. Zealous for

the embellishment of his church, he next sent to France

for glaziers, who filled the windows of the sacred

building, the cloisters, and the cells, with glass, a sub-

stance then scarcely known in Britain : they also

instructed the native Saxons in their mystery, and thus

commenced a manufacture which still flourishes on the

banks of the Wear.*

Soon after the completion of this monastry, Benedict

• The windows of York cathedral liad previously been glazed by

Archbishop Wilfred ; but the glass was imported.
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obtained another grant from King Egfrid of forty hides

of land, with which he founded the monastry of St.

Paul at Jarrow. Anxious that the services in his

churches should be performed with all due pomp and

decorum, he undertook a fifth and final journey to

Rome, committing the charge of Wearmouth monastry

to his vice-abbot, Easterwin, who had been a courtier,

and was a relative of Benedict. After discharging the

duties of his office with unaffected humility for nearly

beven years, he died of the plague ; and the brethren

elected Sigfrid, a man of learning, excellent morals, and

admirable temperance, but labouring under an incurable

disorder of the lungs.

At this crisis, Benedict, himself suffering under

illness, returned from his pilgrimage. With him came

Brother John, arch-chanter or leader of the choir of St.

Peter's at Rome, who instructed the monks of Wear-

mouth in the whole order of psalmody, and the complete

ceremonial of the church, and also pricked out for them

a course for the whole year. The pious founder also

brought with him a large accession of books and relics,

an epistle of privilege and immunity from Pope Agatho,

and some paintings on sacred subjects for the decoration

of the church. Covering the roof from wall to wall was

a picture of the Virgin Mother of hea>.ven, with the

twelve apostles; the south wall was covered with illus-

trations of incidents recorded in the gospels ; and the

north wall was filled with subjects taken from the

Apocalypse. " Thus," says Bede, " the humble disciple,

whose ignorance of letters excluded learning at one

inlet, might feel his faith confirmed, and his religious

impressions strengthened, by surveying, whithersoever

he turned, either the gracious countenance of the

Saviour, the awful mystery of the incarnation, or the

terrific scene of the last judgment."

Feeling his latter end approaching, Benedict exhorted

his brethren to unity amongst themselves, obedience to

Rome, and the election of an abbot, distinguished rather

for piety and learning than by birth and rank, more

especially cautioning them against his brother, who,

says he, " as ye know, walks in the way of the flesh."

To avoid such a mischance, he prevailed on the dying

Sigfrid, to appoint Ceolfrid, abbot of St. Paul's at

Jarrow, to the government of the united houses. That

accomplished, the holy Benedict died in the

year 689.

Ceolfrid was sole abbot of Wearmouth and Jarrow

for 21 years, during which he added largely to the plate

and vestments of the church, and nearly doubled the

library. He completed a bargain commenced by Bene-

dict with King Aldfrid, by which the latter gave eight

hides of land on the river Fresca in exchange for

an admirably executed book of Cosmography, which

Benedict had brought from Rome. Afterwards, Ceol-

frid exchanged the land on the Fresca, paying the just

difference, for twenty hides at a place called ad villiim

Sambuce, which was nearer to the monastry. New
letters of immunity from Rome, similar to those issued

by Pope Agatho, were obtained, exhibited before

the synod of bishops, and ratified under the hand

of King Alfred. About the same time, Witmer, the

servant of Christ, gave ten hides of land in Daldun to

the monastry. In his youth, Ceolfrid had visited

Rome, in company with Benedict ; and he at length

determined, in 716, to spend the remainder of his life

in the exercises of religion in that sacred city. The
resolution was no sooner formed than it was put in exe-

cution ; and notwithstanding the tears and entreaties of

his brethren, he departed on the third morning after

announcing his intention. After mass, he girded him-

self for his departure ; and having kindled the incense

and bowed before the altar, he turned towards the west,

holding the flaming censer in his hand, and from the

altar steps pronounced his blessing on them all. The

sobs and cries of the monks mingled with the Litany,

after which they attended him to the margin of the

river, where they knelt to receive the kiss of jieace.

From a skiff he gave them his last farewell, whilst they

elevated the cross and waved their burning tapers. On
reaching the south shore, he mounted a horse which

had been prepared for him, and departed.

It is related that there were at this time, notwith-

standing the ravages of pestilence, no less than 600

monks in Wearmouth monastry alone. After three

days of prayer and humiliation, they proceeded, with

the consent of a few from Jarrow, to elect Hustbert, a

monk of St. Peter's, to the government of both monas-

tries ; and, with a few monks from each, he hastened

to overtake Ceolfrid, to receive his confirmation, and

forward by him a commendatory letter to Pope Gregory.

Ceolfrid, however, never reached Rome : oppressed

with age and infirmities, he expired in the monastry of

the Trine Martyrs, near Langres, in France, at the

age of 74.

Huffitbcrt, who had become an inmate of the monas-

try early in life, and visited Rome in the time of Pope

Sergius, possessed the qualifications of reading, writing,

singing, and teaching. How long he superintended the

united monastries is not known, as the death of the

Venerable Bcdc, in 7-35, closed the only source of
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Anglo-Saxon history, wKicli is from that period I

involved in darkness.

That the monastry of St. Peter's perished during the

incursions of the Danes is certain ; but the date of that

event is unknown. Inguar and Hubba burned York,

and entered the Tyne in 867 ; and, in 870, Halfden,

flrith another band of pirates, laid the country adjoining

Tyiiemouth in ashes. Probably Wearmouth suffered

on one of these occasions ; as, according to Simeon, it

lay •waste and desolate 208 years. It is stated by

Malmesbury that Malcolm, king of Scotland, destroyed

a church or monastry on the Wear during his incur-

sion ; but there is no evidence to identify it -with St.

Peter's. It was not till Aldwin and his brother monks

had been recalled from !Melrose by Bishop Walcher

(see [Jaerow), that this monastry was revived. The
fire-stained walls of the church were renovated, the

thorns and briars which choked up the choir were

cleared away, and the roof restored j the monks, in

the interim, residing in huts of boughs woven together.

The vLll of North Wearmouth was granted to them by

the bishop ; and Southwick was added by William de

Carilepho. In 108-3, however, that prelate removed

the monks both of Wearmouth and Jarrow to Durham^

and both houses were reduced to cells dependent on

the monastry of St. Cuthbcrt; the superior of St.

Peter's bearing the title of Master of JVearmouth.

Few circumstances of note occur in the history of the

monks of Monkwearmouth till the Dissolution. Prior

Richard Claxton in 1285, and Prior Galfrid de Burdon

in 1322, retired hither ; the latter having the tithes of

Fulwell assigned for his support. At the Dissolution,

the whole revenue of the cell amounted, on the highest

estimate, to no more than 26/. 9s. dd., or, according to

Dugdale, 2bl. 8s. 4rf. Henrj' VIII., by patent, June

18, 1545, granted " all the house and scite of the late

cell of Wermouth, with all messuages, &c., and three

closes of arable land, containing 60 acres, a close of

p.isture 53 acres, a close of land, furze, and heath, called

Westfelde, and the banks adjoining, 18 acres, the

Calwerds meadow 16 acres, the Calfe close an acre and

half, eight cottages with two acres, and a free fishery in

the Wear [and aU the messuage formerly in the tenure

of Richard Aleynson, now of Christopher Hogge and

Agnes his wife in Darlington, otherwise Darneton-

upoH-the-iocll, parcel of the priory of Mountgrace,

&c.], to hold by the 40th part of a knight's fee, and

14s. \\d. crown rent [and the messuage in Darlington in

free soccage]," to Thomas Whytched, a near relative to

the first dean of Dui-ham. William Whytehed, son

and heir of Thomas, in 1598 conveyed the manor of

North Wearmouth to John Widdrington, Esq^., whose

grandson, John Widdrington, died seised of the manor

in 1641, leaving an only daughter and heiress, Anne,

afterwards wife of Ralph Pudsey, in her right of

Plessey.

Some time about 1641, the estate of North Wear-

mouth became the property of Colonel George

Fenwick, of Brinkburn, an active officer in the service

of the parliament, a sequestrator, and one of the com-

mittee for the ejection of scandalous ministers. In

1646, he purchased the bishop's manor of Iloughton-

le-Spring and the borough of Sunderland of the

parliament ; but the latter possessions reverted to the

see on the Restoration. Colonel Fenwick, by his wife,

Alice, daughter of Sir Edward Apsley, left two daugh-

ters and co-heiresses ; the eldest of whom, Elizabeth,

married the celebrated parliamentary leader. Sir Arthur

Haslerigge, Bart. ; and the youngest, Dorothy, became

the wife of Sir Thomas AVilliamson, the heir of Sir

Thomas Williamson, of Great Markham, Nottingham-

shire, a loyalist who had lost 30,000/. in the cause of

the king. Lady Williamson, in 1689, purchased the

moiety of Monkwearmouth from Sir Thomas Hasle-

rigge, son of Sir Arthiir, and by will, October 28, 1699,

devised the whole estate to her husband for life, with

remainder to his nephew, WUliam Williamson, with

several remainders over.

Sir Thomas Williamson died April 23, 1703, and

was succeeded by his brother. Sir Robert Williamson,

Bart., who married Rebecca, daughter of John Bur-

rows, Esq., and dying in 1708, was succeeded by his

son, Sii- William Williamson. He was appointed high

sheriff of the county palatine of Durham, by patent,

September 7, 1723, which office he filled till his death

in April, 1747. He married, first, Elizabeth, yoimgest

daughter and co-heiress of John Hedworth, Esq., of

Harraton, and had issue several children, one of whom,

William, was rector of Whickhamin 1768 (see Whick-

HAii) ; and, secondly, Mary, daughter and heiress of

William Featherstonhaugh, Esq., who died without

issue. Fenwick-William, eldest son of Sir William

having died in 1737, he was succeeded by his second

son. Sir Hedworth Williamson, Bart., of Monkwear-

mouth and of Whitburn, and who also held the office

of high sheriff from 1747 until his death, January 13,

1789. He married Elizabeth, daughter and heiress of

William Hudleston, Esq., of Milium Castle, Cumber-

land, by whom he had two sons. Sir Hedworth, who

succeeded him, was high sheriff from 1789 to March
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14, ISIO, when lie died. The office thus remained in

the family 77 years, during the episcopates of Bishops

Talbot, Chandler, Butler, Trevor, Egerton, Thurlow,

and Barrington. Sir Hcdworth married, October 20,

1794, Maria, daughter of Sir James Hamilton, Knt.,

of the county Monaghan, Ireland, by \\hom (who

died January 19, 1848,) ho had issae Hedworth, the

present baronet, "Williaui-Hamiltou, Robert-Hudleston,

and three daughters.

Sir Hedworth Williamson, seventh baronet, was born

November 1, 1797 ; and married, April 18, 1826,

Anne-Elizabeth, third daughter of Thomas-Henry, late

Lord Ravensworth, by whom he has issue, Hedworth,

born at Florence, March 25, 1827; William-Henry,

born at Florence, October 14,1829; Charles, born at

Whitburn Hall, September 1, 1833; and Victor-Alex-

ander, born at Cheltenham, June 28, 1838. Sir Hed-

worth AVilliamson was elected M.P. for the county of

Durham in 1831, and for the boiough of Sunderland in

Nov., 1847. In 1840, he was high sheriff for the county.

A rma—Or, a chevron, gu., between three trefoils, slipped, sa.

Crest—Out of a muial crown, gu., a wyvera's head, or.

Sca<—'U'hitbum Hall.

The property in Monkwcarmouth leased under Sir

Hedworth Williamson was formerly held for tlirec

lives ; but in several instances those leases were not

renewed, and the lives expired. Building leases have

more recently been granted upon ground rents varying

from 2f/. to od. per square yard.

In the township of Monkwcarmouth, upwards of 400

acres of arable land and about 100 houses, are held by

lease under the dean and chapter of Durham. Of
these possessions, more than 120 acres of land and con-

siderable house property have been held for more than

a century by the Abbs family, and was purchased by

them of the Hyltons, who had previously held it from

the lime of the monastry ; and it has been uniformly

renewed every seven years. The principle of renewal

is virtually acknowledged by the dean and chapter in a

regulation they have adopted, by which they do not

charge an improved value on the erection or rebuilding

of a house for the two rfext following septennial

renewals. The leasehold uiterest in the land used for

agricultural purposes has been invariably estimated at

not less than twenty years' purchase, unless the first

seven years of the existing lease has nearly expired,

when some deduction is made to meet an early renewal.

On the faith of this marketable value and permanency
of tenure, great improvements have been made, and the

land is, for the most part, in a high state of cultivation.

VOL. II.

The situation occupied by the monastry of Monkwear-
mouth was, after the Reformation, chosen for the erec-

tion of Monk- Wearmouth Hall. This edifice probably

contained many fragments of the monastic buildings ;

but whether it was reared by the Whytehcds, Wid-
dringtons, or Fenwicks, does not appear. It formed

three sides of a square with the church. "The
kitchens, which fronted to the cast, and closely adjoined

the church, were lofty and spacious, with large square

AWndows, divided by stone mullions and transoms :

these had very probably formed part of the monastic

ofHces. A large dining-room was pannelled with dark

oak, on which were painted landscapes and hunting

pieces ; the staircase also was of dark oak." On April

13, 1790, a fire broke out at the east end of the hall,

and spread witli such rapidity that the whole was

destroyed, except a small building to the west. A plot

of ground to the north of the church is called the

Plonk's Garth ; and it is conjectured that the burial-

place of the monastry was extended in that direction.

Indeed, the remains of human skeletons have been

frequently found in various parts of Monkwcarmouth.

THE TOWN OF SUNDERLAND.

Sunderland stands upon the magnesian limestone

formation, which consists of upper laminated limestone

containing fossils, and in a descending order, gypseous

red and bluish white marls, magnesian limestone with

fossils, marl, slate, and remains of imbedded fishes,

resting upon a lower red sandstone, containing coal-

plants, the whole formation resting upon the great

carboniferous system. The insulated eminence called

Building Hill affords a great variety of interesting

specimens of limestone. The botryoidal limestone, as

well as the compact and thin laminated limestone, are

found in great abundance ; the latter sometimes exhibit-

ing the appearance of marine vegetable impressions. A
still more curious specimen, supposed to be peculiar to

the situation, is found about the middle of the rock,

and occurs in cones of distinct formation, shaped

like the top of a sugar-loaf: it is perforated on all

sides with small holes, and when fi-acturcd longitudinally,

presents a very beautiful appearance, much resembling

the vertebrae of small animals. Rock milk is found in

great plenty in fissures on the north side of the quarry.

The whole of the limestone, when scraped or pounded,

emits a sulphureous or urinous smell, indicating the

presence of sulphurated hydi'ogen. In working the

3 M
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quarry, fragments of sacrificial vessels and other

remains of antiquity have occasionally been found,

einncing that this eminence had been, in early times, a

place of worship, or temple of our Druidical ancestors.*

The united towns of Bishopwearmouth and Sunder-

land may be said to consist of one long street, called the

High Street, extending their whole length from Wear-

mouth church on the west to the Barracks at the east

end of Sunderland, with numerous streets and lanes

branching oflF to the north and south, and these again

crossed by streets running parallel with the main one.

In the town of Sunderland, the ground descends steeply

from the High Street to the Wear on the north ; but

from the township of Bishopwearmouth Panns west-

ward, the river is overhung by steep and lofty crags

of limestone.

Bishopwearmouth.—The Wearmouth Bum, which

flows from the south-west, and drains about 1,100 or

1,200 acres of land turns north at the foot of the hill on

which Wearmouth church is situated, and seems to have

formed the western boundary of the ancient town or vil-

lage of Bishopwearmouth. In its course to the river, it
|

traverses the deep and rugged ravine formerly called

Galley's Gill, but now more generally the Rector's

Gill, from its forming the boundary of the old rectory

house and grounds. The upper part of this ravine has

been arched over, and covered with ballast, on which a

cemetery in connection with the church has been

formed. Its lower part is crossed by the viaduct used

for transmitting coals to the Lambton drops. This

erection, originally of wood, was destroyed in the outrage

noticed in page 405, and subsequently replaced. The

railway was originally carried through a short tunnel,

hewn in the rock on the east side of the Gill. A sub-

stantial bridge was erected in 1848, consisting of seven

piers of solid masonry ; viz., three small piers at the

» The progressive superstitionfl of succeeding ages have continued

to attach an unearthly interest to the hill. Fairy rings were formerly

thought to be of more frequent occurrence on its summit than in other

places. In the trial of 1767, a woman stated "that her father went

to the hill one night for his gavelock, and saw a wawih" also, that

when a man of the name of Coward was " digging this rock about

ninety years ago, he found in a cavity, several fathoms from the sur-

face, a large toad alive, with a nob on its head as big as an egg, fall of

diamonds, and thereby got a great deal of money." The journal of the

Rev. John Wesley contains an account of the exorcism of a " per-

turbed spirit," on the summit of Building Hill ; and the vestiges of

the circle within which the unhallowed visitant was not allowed to

pass were long believed, by the devout people of the town, to attest

the truth of the narrative. PiUars of limestone, left probably as

records of the depth to which the quarry had been worked

away from them, were, at the commencement of the present century,

west and two at the east end, with two large or main

piers supporting the centre. The distance between

these piers is 150 feet ; the east pier is 50 feet from the

rock head, and the west pier 50 feet from the foundation.

A strong platform of the best red pine, well caulked,

and strongly fastened with bolts of iron, is laid upon

them. On both sides of the platform a wooden arch is

constructed, each being 150 feet long, and built up with

fourteen layers of red wood, forming a solid and com-

pact body, 15 inches by 21 inches in thickness, and

strongly bound together by straps of iron. The four

ends of the arches are fitted into cast metal shoes resting

on the longitudinal pieces of timber which pass over

the piers. The railing of the arches is formed of five

strong wire ropes, firmly screwed down and extended

the whole length. The extreme length is 350 feet, and is

the largest wooden bridge in England. The arches are

braced and adjusted on the most scientific principles,

so as admirably to support the great pressure of the

structure. The eastern approach is from the corner of

the Rector's Park wall, in an easy descent of 45 wooden

steps. Sixty steps is the descent on the western side,

the approach being near the Hetton staiths. The

bridge was opened early in 1849. The expenses were

borne chiefly by the Earl of Durham ; the Bishopwear-

mouth Highway Board contributing 70/., in considera-

tion of the road aflforded across the Gill for foot

passengers. The view from the western bank of the

ravine is peculiar and striking, and has often excited

the attention of tourists. The lofty and precipitous

crags of limestone rock which impend on each side of

the river, indented by quarries, and interspersed with

limekilns, bottle-houses, and loading gears ; the num-

ber of ships, keels, and other craft, passing and

repassing in the deep and comparatively narrow bed of

the river ; and the elegant arch of the iron bridge,

combine to form one of the most impressive and

called " the devil's stones ;" and it was considered to be dangerous

to walk nine times round them. One of the most remarkable circum-

stances connected with the hill, in the early part of this century, was

an extraordinary parade of the Sunderland Volunteer infantry, who,

at a late hour on a Sunday evening, were drawn up in a circle on the

summit. Before they had taken up the position, the night grew

intensely dark, and a violent storm of thunder, lightning, and rain

came on; in the midet of which the corps fired successive_/(:i«-(fe-yo'*'

The effect of their fire, running in a circle roimd the hill, and mixed

with the conflict of the elements, was exceedingly striking. It was

particularly impressive as seen from the ships on the coast, as well

as from the town and the surrounding country. The erection of

buildings in every direction, near and around the hill, must speedily

obliterate every remnant of superstitious feeling connected with it, if

such should haply exist in our present matter-of-fact day.
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animated pictures to be found in this part of the

county.

Near the site of the staiths, on the east, there was

formerly a well of excellent water, from which the

shipping was supplied, and which was known to the

older inhabitants by the name of the Castle Well.

Many years ago, an ancient sculptured stone and some

fragments were dug up near it, at the bottom of the

cliff, from the top of which they probably fell. On the

north side of the Rector's Park, there was formerly a

wall towards the river, called the Castle Wall ; and a

street on the east side of the park is called Castle Street.

Some have inferred from hence that a castellum or

religious house stood near this place ; but there is no

historical evidence to that effect.

Wearmouth Green, to the south-east of the church,

was probably the original centre of the village. Amongst

other matters relative to the trial of 1767, an old man
deposed, " that he had heard old John Richardson say,

that the market was on the Green, and that he shewed

where the cross and the stalls stood—that the Sunder-

land people had stole the custom-house, then the

market, and would steal the church if they could carry

it." Old people living at the commencement of the

present century professed to remember an iron ring in

the centre of the Green, at which bulls were formerly

baited. It is now formed into a shrubbery, enclosed

with an iron railing, and surrounded with respectable

houses. It was enclosed under the authority of a grant

de novo, made by Bishop Barrington to Thomas
Nicholson, Esq., of Wearmouth Green, of this piece of

waste ground belonging to the bishop, as lord of the

manor, as a new copyhold according to the custom of

the manor of Iloughton-le-Spring. Amongst the pro-

peity of Robert Nicholson, Esq., deceased, sold by
order in Chancery, April 12, 1825, were a mansion

house, garden, and parcel of ground on Wearmouth
Green-; the house being then occupied by Dr. Clanny,

at 30^. a year rent. The whole were copyhold, and

subject to payments amounting to \l. 3s. 9(/. : the land-

tax on part redeemed.

The High Street, after a ievf turnings near the

church and rectory, proceeds nearly in a straight

easterly direction. It was formerly an open road,

passing through the West Pann Field (the site of the

Scottish camp in 1644j, and having a turnpike gate at

about half the. distance between Wearmouth church

and the parish of Sunderland. This gate was kept for

some years, about the middle of the last century, by a

man named Robin, who thence acquired the title of

" Robin o' the Yett"—a name which continued to be

applied to that part of the road long after the removal

of both Robin and his gate. Its site was nearly opposite

the south end of Pann Lane. On this road, after the

enclosure of Wearmouth Green, an annual hopping,

with rural sports, was held. As houses began to be

erected on each side of the road, extending themselves

towards Sunderland, other streets were built, branching

off from it towards the north, as Diamiiuj-street, Queen-

street, &c., which extend to the banks of the river.

The Crow Tree Lane is an old road towards the south,

eastward from which Walworth-street, York-street,

King-street, Nile-street, Sec, were formed, also leading

southward from the High Street.

The erection of the iron bridge over the Wear, and
the formation of Bridge Street, tended further to the

extension eastward of the town of Bishopwearmouth.

Wearmouth Walk consisted of successive rows of

respectable houses on the north side of the High Street,

extending from Bridge Street on the west to Sunder-

land Street on the east ; each dwelling having a small

flower-plot or shrubbery, with iron palisading in front

The " walk," or footpath, was long a favourite pro-

menade, before the luxury of flagging was thought of,

and the small round stones then used for paving would
have deterred the pedestrians of modern times. In

1848, the Bishopwearmouth Paving and Lighting

Commissioners, and the Highway Board appointed a

joint committee to treat with proprietors of houses on

Wearmouth Walk, with a view of improving the street,

by giWng up a portion of their several fronts, and
adding the same to the foot-path, while the present

foot-path would be thrown into the carriage road. As
many of the proprietors would not consent, the object

was abandoned. Several of the shrubberies have now
shops built over them, extending to the foot-path; and

some of the houses have also been converted into shops,

beer-houses, &c. The western part of the Walk was

adorned, a few years ago, by tfie erection of the Register

Buildings, in the Gothic style of architecture, from

designs by Mr. T. Moore ; and more recently by an

elegant range of shops and houses, extending 150 feet

eastward from Bridge Street. The elevation of the

latter pile of buildings comprises four stories, and is

disposed in five distinct compartments, viz., two princi-

pals and three wings. The order followed is the

Corinthian. The lower story contains eight sjiacious

shops. In the centre of the south front is a range of

ten columns. These are surmounted by the main
cornice, composed of medallion blocks and dentils.
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above which is the attic story, with plain columns and

cornice, finished with a block course, the top of which

is 48 feet above the street. At the corner of Bridge

Street is a circular building, ornamented by a peristyle

of columns, and finished at the top by a dome, from

designs by Mr. G. A. Middlemiss.

Lamhton Street, William Street, East Cross Street,

and Sunderland Street, branch off from Wearmouth
Walk towards the north, and were erected many years

ago ; but the Paun Field, on the east side of Bridge

Street, was not built upon till about 1817 or 1818.*

Sans-strect and Villiers-street,f on the south side of the

High-street, were built previous to that time. Nor-

folk-street is further west, and Sunmside,+ the house of

Jacob Maude, Esq., imparted its name to an extensive

shrubbery in front, the site of which is now occupied

by shops and houses, built of freestone. The portion

appropriated to business comprises entablature, columns,

&c., after the Choragic monument of Lysicrates, but

differing in tlie architrave and the absence of figures on

the frieze. The superstructure is an Italian arrange-

ment. The designs for this building were by Mr. T.

Moore. Several other fronts iu the High-street have,

within the last few years, been tastefully rebuilt.

* There was formerly a w-ind-mill in the Pann Field, which, saith

tradition, from it3 lonely situation, was long the resort of immense

troops of cats, who tliere held their midnight orgies, " making night

hideous" with their iiifcmal screams. At length, the miller, rousing

his courage, and arming himself with a flail, suddenly burst in, during

a dark night, upon the unholy conclave, and laid about him with all

his might till the place was cleared of its visitants. In the grey of the

morning, several old women were seen, dragging their way home in

various directions, with broken arms and legs; and the mill thence-

forth remained free from its disturbers.

t Tlie first fligging laid down in Sunderland was on about 50 yards

of the foofp.ith on the east side of Villiers Street, between 40 and 50

years ago ; but the novelty attracted such crowds of youths and dis-

orderly characters m the cvemiigs, as to prove a nuisance to the neigh-

bourhood, and the removal of the flagging was seriously contemplated.

J
" We'U all away to Sunniside,

To see the fitter's maiden."

Local Song,

5 The family of Fawcett is of some antiquity in the cotinty of

Durham, and held considerable property in the parish of Boldon.

This property was partly alienated, and partly descended in the

female line to a daughter of the elder brother of the great-grandfather

of the present represcntitive of the family, who now possesses, besides

the pro])erty in Bisliopwearmouth, estates at Lanchester, and in the

townsliip of Framwcllgatc, in the city of Durham.
Christopher Fawcett, Gent., of Lambton, who held lands in

Chester and Boldon in 16C9, left three sons and tliree daughters.

The second son, John, barrister, and recorder of Durham, was born

in 1676, and married Elizabeth, daughter of Richard Stonehewer,

Esq., of Dxirham, by whom he had several sons and daughters.

The sites of Fawcett-street, John-street, Frederick-

street, and Foyle-street, on the south side of the High-

street, are the property of John Fawcett, Esq., of Dur-

ham. § The first-named street is one of the most imposing

in the town ; its structural elegance being well set off by

an extensive shrubbery on its western side. It is

immediately opposite to Bridge-street, and forms a

direct communication with the Stockton road : this part

of the road was formed in 1836. The Borough-road,

running east and west from the south end of Fawcett-

street to Sans-street, has, within the last 30 years,

become a street, with several rows of good houses, one

of which, fronting the south, is called Tavistock-place.

Tatham-street joins the Borough-road on the east.

Further south, several streets and rows of houses have

been recently erected.il St. Bedels Tower is the resi-

dence of A. J. Moore, Esq. The Grange, to the west

of Building-hill, has long been used as an academy and

boarding-school. It is at present conducted by the

Rev. Frederick Iliff, D.D.H
From the south end of Sans Street to the Town

Moor on the east, and to Hendon Burn on the south,

the ground, which 40 years ago was devoted to agri-

cultural purposes, is now covered with streets, which

Richard, the fifth son, was vicar of Newcastle, rector of Gateshead,

and prebendary of Durham cathedral. He was succeeded by his

eldest sou, Christopher, recorder of Newcastle, baptized July 2, 1713 ;

married May 29, 1757, AVinifred, daughter of Cuthbert Lambert,

Esq., M.D., of Newcastle, and had one son and five daughters. The

Rev. John Fawcett, the only son of Christopher, resident at Newton
Hall, married January 29, 1795, Mary Anne, youngest daughter of

Ralph Bates, Esq., of Milbourne aud Holywell, Northumberl.ind, by

Aime, his wife, daughter of Henry Ellison, Esq., of Hebburn Hall,

and had issue five sons and four daughters ; John his heir ; Christo-

pher, rector of Boscombe, WUts, married Sarah-Frances, second

daughter and co-heiress of George S. Foyle, Esq. Mr. Fawcett died

July 13, 1S30, aged 61, and was succeeded by the present John Fawcett,

Esq., M.A., of B.iliol College, Oxford, who was bom May 6, 1799, and

served as high sheriff for the county of Durham, in 1847.

.-Inns.—Or, a lion, rampant, sa. debruised by a bend, compony, gu.

and arg.

Crest.—A demi-lion, sa., holdi:ig between the paws an arrow, erect,

or, feathered, arg.

Riisidence.—North Bailey, Durham.

II
A parcel of land near Building HUl, part of the estate of Mr. .-ind

Jlrs. Mowbray, which had been let at 6/. per acre for agricultural

purposes, was sold for building sites, in 1S49, for 600/. per acre, which,

at 25 years' purchase, is equ;d to an annual rent of 24/.

U During the enlargement of Bishopwearmouth church in 18-50,

divine service was performed in the Grange school, the use of which

was granted to the parishioners by Dr. Iliif. On the 26th November

in that year, an elegant silver salver was presented to the reverend

gentleman, as as acknowledgment of respect and gratitude for his

kindness.
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i

intersect each other in various directions. Hendon

Road occupies the site of what was formerly called

Alick's Mill Lonin, from a windmill in the occupation

of Mr. Alexander Bowmaker. This mill stood on the

only piece of ancient freehold land in the township of

Bishopwearmouth. It is two acres in extent, and, with

the mill, stables, &c., was let, in 1825, to Mr. Edward

Bowmaker at rents amounting to 21/. The Borough

steam mill, near the site, is still carried on by the

descendants of Sir. Bowmaker. A sale took place,

April 12, 1825, pursuant to a decree in chancery, of

one-third part of lauds, part of the estate called the

Moor Farm, and one-third part of the Waterloo Baths

on the said estate ; the third of the rents of tlie whole

amounting to 110/. 3s. 4</. ; also one-third of ground-

rents amounting to 136/. As. 4d., charged upon ground

in Nicholson's Square, Cousin Street, Zion Street,

Moor Street, and places adjoining, all in Moor Farm;

the whole being copyhold, and measuring 39 a.

2 R. 30 p.

The extent of the principal streets in Bishopwear-

mouth is as follows :—High Street, 3,142 feet in

length, 53 in width, and having 8 10 feet of sewer

;

Borough Road, 2,990 feet long, 31 wide, with 871 feet

of sewer; Coronation Street, 1,515 feet long and 33

wide ; Sunderland Street, 460 feet long and 28 wide ;

Bridge Street, 686 feet long and 58 wide ; Moor Street,

1,500 feet long and 35 wide; Lawrence Street, 950

feet long and 58 wide; Pemberton Street, 290 feet

long and 40 wide, with 750 feet of sewer ; Woodbine

Street, 950 feet long and 50 wide, with 960 yards of

sewer ; Villiers Street, 942 feet long and 42 wide

;

Tatham Street, 1,135 feet long and 33 wide, with 510

feet of sewer; John Street, 1,152 feet long and 36

wide; Fawcett Street, 1,120 feet long and 50 wide,

with 240 feet of sewer ; Crowtree Road, 1 ,010 feet long

and 37 wide; Foyle Street, 300 feet long and 60 v/ide,

with 360 feet of sewer, and Hendon Road, 1,260 feet

long and 30 wide.

Sunderland. — The boundary line between the

township of Sunderland and that of Bishopwearmouth,

crosses the High Street, at the foot of Sans Street,

towards the head of Russell Street. From heuce to

the foot of Grey Street, the High Street has a some-

what steep descent towards the cast. The principal

thoroughfares to the north within this space are Russell-

street (formerly better known as the Beggar Bank),
and Bodleioell-lane, which leads to the Ferry Boat
Landing. The name of the lane was derived from a well

or spring, from which water was supplied at the price of

a bodle (half a farthing) per skeel. On the south side

of the High-street are George-street, Spring Garden-
lane, Drury-lane, Maudv's-lane, &c. Up to the latter

part of the last century, there was, says Burnett, " a

high and rising ground, beginning at Sans-street and

ending at George-street. The houses that were situated

there had a terrace before them, which extended a con-

siderable way into the street. At the north side of this

terrace there was a wall, and by several steps you
descended to the horse-road, which was considerably

lower than the terrace ; this part was then called the

High Justice Trees. A gentleman informed me he

recollected when the stumps of some of the trees were

to be traced upon this terrace. Proceeding eastwards,

from George-street to Maude's-lane, on the south side

of the street, the ground was high, forming a sloping

bank, but not terraced. From Maude's-iane to the foot

of Grey-street, a high and rising ground commenced,

which was terraced, and a wall built at the north side

of it. This terrace extended a great way into the street,

and was considerably higher than the horse-road ; there

were a flight of steps (about twenty) to descend into

the horse-road ; this part was called the Low Justice

Trees. These high grounds were afterwards lowered,

which considerably improved the appearance of the

town. Where cellcrs formerly had been, there arose

shops." In consequence of the removal of the Low
Justice Trees, the entrance to the George Inn, and

those of several shops near it, were by high double

flights of steps. These were removed about 40 years

ago. The name seems to have arisen from the magis-

trates holding their meetings iu the George Inn,

beneath the trees in front of which the terrace afibrded

a pleasant promenade.

Eastward from hence to Church-street, the High-

street is nearly level. That part of it between Union-

lane and Church-street was formerly appropriated as a

flesh market. Butchers' shops occupied the south side

of the street; and in front of them, outside the

foot-path, there was a fixed row of shambles. Stalls

for the sale of meat also ]irojected from the houses on

the north side. At the west end of the shambles there

was a large pedestal, the remains of a market cross,

near which the dealers in eggs, butter, &c., were seated

on market days ; whilst vegetables, crockery ware,

cheese, &c., were either displayed on tables or on the

ground.

Coronation-street, formerly the Bark-lonin, extends

from the head of Nile-street to tlie head of Church-street,
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nearly parallel with the High-street, and, for a considera-

ble space, forms the boundary between the parishes

of Bishopwearmouth and Sunderland. In December,

1850, the workmen employed in making a drain, dis-

covered the foundation of the ancient boundary wall,

which enclosed what was formerly termed the " Moor

Farm," upon which Moor-street is now erected. This

discovery settled some difficulties which then existed as

to the proper situation of the boundary line.

Several steep and narrow lanes lead from the High-

street on the north to the Low-street and the river;

amongst which may be named Water-lane, Moss''s-lane,

Anderson's-stairs, &c. The High-street, in this part, is

45 feet above high water mark ; and the ground rises to

the height of 60 feet at the head of Church-street and

the adjoining thoroughfares. This rising ground is

excessively crowded with buildings, only intersected

by narrow lanes and alleys. These are. Stamp's-lane.

Mill-hill, Robinson's-lane, Love-lane, and Sailor's-

alley. Further to the east, Maling's-rigg , Nesham's-

square, Vine-street, Burleigh-street, and Silver-street,

leading from the High-street to the Town Moor, are

wider, and, if kept in good order, might be made tolera-

ble thoroughfares. Indeed, the most respectable inhabit-

ants formerly resided at the east end of Sunderland, as

is evinced by the name of Fitfer's-row ; but on the

erection of the new streets in Bishopwearmouth, they

gradually removed thither. Fronting the High-street,

at the foot of Vine-street, is a house once the property

and residence of Colonel Robert Lilburn, brother of

" Freeborn John" (see p. 400). It is of stone, three

stories in height, with a lofty flagged terrace in front

:

the latter appendage, however, as well as the interior,

are now occupied as brokers' shops, warehouses, a Jews'

synagogue, &c. Further to the east, the High-street

terminates at Moor-street, the eastern side of which is

formed by the Barracks ; whilst Pottery-bank descends

north-east towards the harbour. The Town Moor will

be noticed at length in its proper place.

The Low-street commences at Bishopwearmouth

Panus, and follows the windings of the river. The

upper part is botinded by ship-building yards. Under

the decree in Chancery, Nicholson v. Webster, a ship-

building yard in Bishopwearmouth Panns was offered

for sale, April 12, 1825, described as containing a

double dock 167 feet in length, and the breadth of its

gates 30 feet 6 inches, and another dock 110 feet in

length, with 29 feet breadth of gates ; also two public

houses and a dwelling house, the whole of the premises,

which are copyhold, being then held by Messrs. William

Adamson and Sons, ship-builders, at a yearly rent of

400/. The eastern portion of Low-street is connected

with the quays of the harbour. The Mark Qtiay de-

rives its name from a mark or guage of the depth of

water on the bar being fixed there for the information

of seamen and pilots. A considerable portion of the

houses between the Low-street and the river were

pulled down to make room for the drops of the Durham
and Sunderland railway ; but since the formation of

the Docks, the coals brought by that line sre shipped

there, and the drops have been removed.

The extents of the principal streets in Sunderland,

are—High Street, 2,-318 feet long and 53 wide, with 865

feet of sewer ; Low Street, 1,770 feet long and 20 wide

:

George Street, 630 feet long and 195 wide, with 768

feet of sewer ; Church Street, 735 feet long and 296

wide ; Queen Street, 690 feet long and 12 wide, with

696 feet of sewer ; Pottery Bank, 205 feet long and 15

wide, with 189 feet of sewer ; Water Lane, 100 feet

long and 8 wide, with 183 feet of sewer ; Russell Street,

373 feet long and 126 wide, with 450 feet of sewer

;

Bodlewell Lane, 303 feet long and 12 wide, with 58

feet of sewer ; Coronation Street, 265 feet long and 25

wide, with 135 feet of sewer ; and Moor Terrace, from

Coronation Street to Hendon Landsale, 1,300 feet long

and 45 wide. Golden Alley and Ropery Lane are each

only 9 feet wide ; Water Lane, Wood Alley, and South

Alley, each 8 feet ; Stob Lane and Little Flag Lane,

each 7 feet ; Watson's Lane and Moss's Lane, each 66
feet ; and Bull Lane, 5'3 feet.

There are, in Bishopwearmouth and Sunderland, 15

sewers, and 27 small drains which fall into the river.

The most important of these are Wearmouth Burn (above

noticed), and a sewer with an outlet near the Ferry

Boat Landing. The principal outfalls into the sea are,

the Hendon Burnj an outlet at Hendon Landsale,

which commences in High Street, north end of Crow

Tree Road, and passes beneath several of the new streets

in Bishopwearmouth ; an open sewer, which crosses the

Town Moor towards the Docks ; and another to the

south of the Barracks. The drainage of the town is

chiefly superficial ; there being very few private drains

communicating with the sewers. The engineer of the

borough, in September, 1855, laid before the courcil a

comprehensive plan for the draining of the town. The

whole area he proposes to sewer is 1,680 acres ; and the

sewerage of the densest portion of the town is to go

direct to the sea. The sewers vnll be 55 5 miles in length,

of various dimensions ; he estimates the total cost of the

works at 83,302/.
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The boundaries of the parish of Sunderland were pe-

rambulated for the first time in the year 1810, by the

Rev. J. Hampson, rector, and the parishioners, in con-

sequence of the late Hendry Hopper, Esq., of Hendon

House, building the Octagon Cottage u-pon, and inclosing

a part of the Bishop of Durham's waste (now part ofthe

site of a landsale coal staith on the Durham and Sunder-

land railway), for a garden. Mr. Hopper's tenant, in-

structed by him that the cottage was in the parish of

Bishopweamiouth, resisted the payment of poor-rate to

the parish of Sunderland; but after some vexatious liti-

gation, the claims of the latter parish were established,

and the rate has since been regularly paid.* The bounda-

ries were afterwards perambulated in 1835, 1846, and on

May 3, 1853. On the latter occasion, the Rev. Henry

Peters, rector, the overseers and churchwardens, Mr.

G. W. Wright, secretary to the ancient select vestry,

Mr. T. Hedley, assistant overseer, and several other

gentlemen, accompanied by the parish constables and

persons with gingerbread, «S:c., for distribution amongst

the children, proceeded first to the head of Baines-lane,

Coronation-street, where the letters S.P. were painted

on the wall, as also at various turning points through-

out the route. " Thence they passed up by the line of

the houses to the head of Back Grey-street, where

a stone is put down on the west side, with S.P. cut upon

it, thence down the same and through the house occu-

pied by Mr. Ridley Ditchburn, at the south end of the

Primitive Methodist chapel in Flag-lane, the whole of

which house is within the parish. They then proceeded

down Flag-lane, to a house on the west side, belonging

to Mr. Drysdale and others, and passed out at the

head of Spring Garden-lane, where the boundary line

passes through a house next to the Episcopal Chapel.

They next entered George-street, visiting a house on

the east side, occupied by Mr. Ferguson and others, and

one on the west side, occupied by Sherwood and others.

Houses on both sides, as well as at the back, of Covent

Garden-street, were also visited, and the boundary line

marked upon them. Passing through a yai-d and

through Mr. Ord's smithy, the party came down the

east side of Sans-street, crossed the High-street, to the

• Tliough defeated by the parishioners of Sunderland, Mr. Hopper,

who was an acute lawyer, successfully resisted all claims made upon

him for ground rent, by the freemen and stallingers, for the Octagon

Cottage, &c. Whenever the freemen applied to Mr. Hopper for ground

rent, he invariably laughed them off by telling them "To keep them-

selves quiet, or he would bring the Bishop of Durham upon them to

take the Town Moor from them." At Mr. Hendry Hopper's death, the

Octagon Cottage fell to his nephew, the late Thomas Hopper, Esq., of

Silksworth, and afterwards to Thomas Hopper, Esq., of Durham

;

both of these gentlemen followed the example of thoir uncle, Mr.

extreme west end of a house now occupied by Mr.

Thompson, draper, thence into a yard behind, and from

that down Russell-street, through some workshops,

into the Low-street. Crossing the latter, they came to

a house containing the cable-testing machine, belonging

to Messrs. Ritson and Co. This divided the township of

Panns from that of Sunderland.

" At Johnson's Quay, near this spot, cobles were in

readiness, and the whole party embarked on the river.

The Contractor steam-boat, gaily decorated with flags

and streamers, was waiting for them in mid stream,

and, as soon as they were on board, proceeded down

the Wear, and out to sea—at the south side of the har-

bour—for about a mile. They then came round by

the south beacon and the south entrance of the dock,

and landed in cobles on the beach, where, having been

joined by some other gentlemen, they inspected an an-

cient plan of the parish, and proceeded to the foot of a

road at Hendon Bay, leading from the sands to Church

-

street. Thence they tracked the course of a letch or

runner, on the north side of a field belonging to Edward

Wylam, which has from time immemorial divided Sun-

derland parish from Bishopwearmouth township. From

this, passing under the arch of a bridge, beneath the

railway, to the Octagon Cottage, the boundary line

crosses the road and passes through the third house in

East Woodbine-street. It then passes into Mr. Robin-

son's stable-yard and plantation, across his garden, and

through the dining room of his mansion. Mr. Hedley

and Mr. D. Huntley leaped in at the south window,

and came out at a window at the east side of the lodge

;

and ' S.P.' was marked on a stone at the corner of the

building. The boundary line then passes the north-

west corner of Robinson's wall, and the overseers

climbed over it to the house No. 44, Railway-street,

and from that, over Mr. Thompson's timber yard, to

the lowest house on the north side of Lawrence-street.

The line then passes tlirough the yard of the Waterloo

Baths, and along the Ropery Walk to the point of

starting, Baines'-lane."

Previous to the commencement of the procession, a

protest was received from the secretary of the Dock

Hendry Hopper, and never acknowledged the freemen and stallingers

as their landlords. Thomas Hopper, Esq., of Durham, sold the

Octagon Cottage, &e., to the late Edward Wylam, Esq., of Chester-

le-Street, who, on the 27th of September, 1831, accepted a lease from

the three grassmen (the then three junior freemen) of the ground for

21 years, at the nominal yearly rent of 20*. ; but not a farthing of it

was ever paid by Mr. Wylam ; he sold tlie premises to ChristophiT

Bramwell, Esq., of Hendon House, to whom the three grassmen

granted a lease on the 21st of August, 1835, for 21 years, at the yearly

rent of 20s., which has been regularly paid.
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Company, on the plea of that part of their property

which was covered by the sea when their act was passed

being extra-parochial, and not included in the parish of

Sunderland. A meeting of such of the parishioners as

paid " scot and lot" was held on the 12th May follow-

ing, at which it was stated, on behalf of the Dock
Company, that the lodging of the protest was merely to

prevent their being prejudiced at an after period by the

boundaries having been walked over, should council's

opinion give them a claim to exemption. The pro-

gressive rating which had taken place on the dock was

referred to by the parish authorities as follows :

—

" At the outset, an agreement was made that the

Dock should be rated upon 800Z. value, with the un-

derstanding that as the drops were removed from the

Low Quay to the Dock, the Dock rating was to be

increased in proportion. The following extracts from

the rate-books will shew how the company have been

used by the parish-officers: Rate made October, 1850,

Dock rated on 800/.; ditto January, 1851, ditto 1,010/.;

ditto April, 1851, ditto 1,176/. 15«. ; ditto October,

1851, ditto 1,417/.; ditto April, 1852, ditto L500/.;

ditto October, 1852, 2,500/. Being an average for the

first year of 1 ,100/., and for the second 2,000/. Although
the arrangement was most strictly adhered to by the

overseers, not one single increase was ever made to the

Dock assessment without meeting with the opposition

of the directors. On the rate made October, 1851, the

Dock was advanced to 1,739/. Against this amount the

directors appealed, and the overseers, t,o meet their

wishes, consented to a reduction to 1,417/. ; yet at that

time it appears the company were in the receipt of a

clear income of upwards of 6,000/. per annum. In Oc-

tober last, after the company had removed every drop

from the Low Quay (which drops alone would have

been rated upon 2,000/.), the Dock assessment was

again increased to 2500/., and again did the directors

object to the increase, refused to pay the rate, and

threatened to appeal. Our predecessors finding the

parish losing value by the Dock, and the directors

dissatisfied with the amount of rating, considered it

time to adopt measures to have the question of rating

the Dock permanently settled, and for this purpose

applied to Hull, Birkenliead, Liverpool, Southampton,

and other places, for information respecting the prin-

ciple of rating adopted in these places, from which

enquiry they became conversant with the mode of esti-

mating Dock assessments ; and on applying the rule or

practice of other places to the Sunderland Dock, found

that, instead of 2,500/., they were really worth and liable

to be rated upon 5,742/., and upon this sum they are

now rated."

Mo:sKWEARMOt'TH.—The streets and thoroughfares

of Monkwearmouth and Monkwearmouth Shore are

very irregular ; and any descriptive account woidd con-

sequently be unsatisfactory. The principal streets are

Strand-street, leading from the Folly End, near the

Ferry Boat Landing, 630 feet long and 40 feet wide ;

Hedworth-street, 570 feet long and 28 wide ; Williamson-

street, 652 feet long and 27 wide ; Wear-street , 995

feet long and 34 wide ; Fleming''s-open, 302 feet long

and 24 wide, with 330 feet of sewer; Clmrch-streel,

1,632 feet long and 43 wide, with 1,210 feet of sewer;

Hallgarth-square, is 150 feet by 135 ; Whithurn-street

is 1,480 feet long and 33 wide, with 600 feet of sewer;

Liddell-street, 652 feet long and 53 feet wide, with

400 feet of sewer ; Barclay-street, 978 feet long and 52

wide, with 270 feet of sewer in Back Barclay-street

;

Dundas-itreet, 1,385 feet long and 48 wide ; Church-

way, 540 feet long and 22 wide ; North Bridge-street,

1,504 feet long and 52 wide; Broad-street, 509 feet

long and 70 wide ; Southwick-road, 2,320 feet long and

30 wide ; the Quay, 1,500 feet long and 35 wide ; Bon-

ner''s-Jield, 700 feet long and 41 wide; and Portobello-

lane, 400 feet long and 15 wide.

Sir Hedworth Williamson is proprietor of the entire

township of Monkwearmouth Shore. The north-eastern

portion of Monkwearmouth is that held by the

Abbs family, and has been much improved, within the

last 20 years, by the erection of the baths at Roker,

with an elegant hotel and a handsome row of dweUing

houses, overlooking the sea to the north of the harbour

mouth. These buildings are situated at a short distance

from the lofty limestone cliffs, which here form the sea

coast, and present a pleasant esplanade in front of the

houses. The sands afford a good promenade for pedes-

trians ; and the cliffs, which afford some curious

specimens of the limestone of the district, have been

worn by the action of the sea into several curious caves

and excavations, one of the most remarkable of which

is called Monks' Caccrti, or Spotty's Hole. It acquired

its first appellation from a tradition that it had been an

ancient passage, forming a communication between the

ancient monastry of St. Peter's and the sea-side, and

used by the monks for the purpose of eluding their

enemies in times of invasion or civil commotion. Its

second and more modern title is derived from a foreigner

who, many years ago, having probably left some vessel

in the harbour, took up his residence in this dreary
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abode. " Being unable to sppak the English language,"

says Mr. Garbutt, " his daily subsistence was gained

among the farm-houses in the neighbourhood, where he

endeavoured to make himself understood by means of

signs, and was known by the name of Spotty, on account

of the variegated spots on his upper garment. Having

lived for some time in this subterraneous habitation, he

suddenly disappeared, and was supposed either to have

died suddenly , or, by advancing too far into the cavern,

to have fallen a prey to foul air."* Itoker Gill is a

ravine north of the baths ; the footpath across it was

• There is a mysterious dread in many minds, attached to lunatics

and others, which appeai-s to have invested poor Spotty with

" unlucky," if not preternatural attributes. This feeling is expressed

in one of the most natural and characteristic songs connected with

the town of Sunderland. It was published in Sir C. Sharp's " Ui-

shoprick Garland ;" a work now extremely scarce. The music is a

species of recitative, which is highly necessary, as all the rules of

metre are completely set at defiance :

—

" Come all ye good people & listen to me,

And a comical jest I will tell unto ye,

Belanging to that Spottee that lived on the North Key,

That has neither house nor harbour hee.

" The poor auld Wives of the North side dis'nt knaw what to dee.

For they cannot come to see their husbands when they come to the

key,

Yax they're fear'd o' their sells & their infants tee :

O ! this Roguish fellow they call Spottee.

" But now he's gune away to the sea side.

Where mony a ane wishes he may be wash'd away wi' the tide

;

For if Flouter's flood come, as it used for to dee.

It will drive his heart out, & where will his midred bo ?

" Laird Forstcr was riding alang the sand.

As he or ony other gentleman might dee,

VOL. n.

formerly inconvenient, if not dangerous ; but there is

now a wooden bridge. On the north promontory of the

Gill is a battery, erected during the war with France,

and now used as a station for the coast guard, who are

here trained in the use of artillery and small arms.

Roker Gill is the only outlet for drainage from

Monkwcarmouth which falls into the sea. Five sewers

and nine small drains fall into the river, all above low-

water mark. On this side of the Wear, 164 acres of

town and 1,106 acres of country drainage fall into the

river.

Spottee cam out, his tatter wallups did flee,

"The auld wives of AVhitburn does'nt know what to dee ;

They dare not come alang the sands, wi' the lang tailed skates in

their hands, to Jacob Spence's landing, as they used for to dee

;

For they com alang the sands, wi' their swills in their hands ;

But now they're forced to take a coble, & come in by the sea.

"He gathers coals in the day time, as he's weell knawn for to dee,

And makes a fire on i' the night, which casts a light into the sea,

Which garr'd the poor Sloopy cry helm a lee,

A a' back o' the carcasshes com poor she.

" Lack & a-well-a day ! says the maistcr, what shall we dee?

Trust to Providence, says the mate, & we're sure to get free :

There was a poor little lad on board, that had come a trial voyage

to sea.

His heart went like a pair of bellows, & he swore he wad never gang

mair to sea.

" Johnny Ushaw the maister wad a' carried him away,

But the ship's company swore, deel be their feet if they wad with

him stay
;

Wee'll first forfeit our wages for ganging to sea,

Before we'll gang wi' that Roguish fellow they call Spottee.

3 N
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PAEISH OF SUNDEELAND.

iHE parish of Sunderland is co-extensive with the township, which is bounded on the south and west bv that of

Bishopwearmouth, on the north hy the river Wear, and on the east by the German Ocean. For the purposes of

the Poor-law Union, it was divided, in 1841, into two subdistricts, the eastern and western. For its population,

extent, &c., see page 391.

THE CHURCH.

Sunderland Church, which was consecrated by tlie

Bishop of London on the 5th of September, 1719, is a

plain, neat structure, built of brick, -with stone mould-

ings round the windows and doors. It consists of a

square western tower, nave, side aisles, and chancel.

Its length, inchiding the tower, is 1.35 feet ; the length

of the nave, 72 feet ; and the breadth, 54 feet. The

interior is handsome and well lighted. The aisles are

formed by seven elegant pillars on each side, with

Corinthian capitals ; and are lighted, on the north and

south, with six arched windows, and one towards the

east. The chancel consists of a semicircular recess,

which was an addition to the original building, designed

and erected principally at the cost of the Rev. D. New-

combe, the first rector. It is lighted by a large window

on the east, and supported towards the nave by two

fluted columns of the Corinthian order ; the floor being

elevated a little above that of the nave. Underneath is

a vault called the " Rector's Vault," in which some of

the incumbents have been interred ; but sepulture is

not allowed in any other part of the church. The pul-

])it, which stands in the centre aisle, is elegant. A
spacious gallery, the front of which is ornamented with

the royal arms and those of Lord Crewe, extends across

the west end of the nave. Adjoining the organ is a

gallery for the choir ; and an upper gallery was erected

for the use of the poor in 1821. The church conUiins

1,513 sittings, of which 562 are free. The whole is

kept remarkably clean ; and is lighted, during evening

service, with gas. The vestry is on the south side of

the principal entrance from the west, and above it a

small parochial library is kept. The roof of tlie church

was rebuilt and covered with slate in 1803, under the

direction of Mr. Wilson, engineer ; the expenses, toge-

ther with the cost of nineteen new windows, were de-

frayed by the money obtained for the lead removed from

the roof, which originally appears to have cost

only 24/.

There were formerly only five bells in the tower.

In December, 1829, eight new bells were brought from

London, two of which were presented by Dr. Welles-

ley, rector of Bishopwearmouth. The tenor weighs 14

cwt. They were rung for the first time on New-year's

Eve following. In the tower is a clock, with dials

fronting to the west and north.

The church-yard has been repeatedly enlarged. Q'l

July 28, 1819, part of the adjoining Moor, which had

been added to the cemetery, was consecrated by the

Bishop of Oxford. In 1829, and at subsequent periods,

portions of the ground have been covered with ballast

to heights varying from three to seven feet. In 184G,

an additional acre of ground was added. The whole

now contains 5 a. Or. 12 p., or 24,56-3 yards, exclusive

of the area on which the church stands. It is bounded

on the north by the Church AValk and Trafalgar Square,

on the east by Trafidgar Square and a road separating

it from a manure depot, on the south by the Town
Moor, and on the west by Church-street. The

stratum is composed of strong sound clay, which is

found at a depth varying from four to eight feet from

the present surface, to which height it has been raised

as above described. Water is sometimes found in the

clay. No grave is made less than four feet deep ; the

general depth being five feet. The average number of

interments is above 600 per annum.

Registers.—Books Nos. 1 to 4 contain baptisms

from 1719 to 1812; Nos. 5 to 9, burials from 1719 to

1812 ; and Nos. 10 to 16, marriages from 1719 to 1812.

Sunderland rectory; dedication to the Holy Trinity.

The Bishop of Durham, patron.

Rkctors.—Daniel Newcombe, inducted July 25, 1719; Richard

Swainston, A.M., 1739, p.m. Newcombe; George BiamweU, A .M.,

17o8, p. m. Swainston ; John Coxou, A.M., 1762, p. res. Bramwell;
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James Smyth, A.B., 17S8, p. m. Coxon ; John Fairer (see

vol. i., p. 619), 1793, p. m. Smyth; John Hampson, A.M.,* July 8,

1795, p. res. Fairer; Robert Gray, A.M.,t 1819, p. m. Hampson;

WUliam Webb, A.M., 1838, p. m. Gray; Henry Peters, A.M.,

October, 1848, p. res. Webb for Winston.

J

The rectory-house, with a garden in front, is situated

in Church-street, on the north of the church, from

which it is separated by the Church-walk. The foun-

dation of the income is 80/. per annum from a

church-rate, with the surplice fees, &c. Thomas

Davison, Esq., in his evidence before a select com-

mittee on church leases, June 22, 1838, stated that

Bishop Barrington had granted an augmentation from

the demesne lands of the see, so as to bring the income

of the living up to -300/. a year ; but, by the parliamen-

tary return of 1835, during the incumbency of the Rev.

R. Gray, it was stated at only 264/., out of which 240/.

was jjaid to two curates. The same amount is still

stated as the value of the living. On the last avoidance

of the rich rectory of Bishopwearmouth, efforts were

made, without effect, to divert a portion of its revenue

to the parish of Sunderland.

An act was pa^ised in 1719, " for making the town and

township of Sunderland a distinct parish from the

parish of Bishopwearmouth, in the county of Durham."

The preamble is as follows :

—" \'\liercas the parish of

Bishopwearmouth, in the county of Dnrliam, is a large

parish, consisting of divers townships, villages, and ham-

• Mr. Hampson was the author of "The life of John Wesley,

M.A.," 3 vols. ; a Trsinslation of Vida's Poetics ; and a volume of

Sermons. He was a justice of th«? peace; and o.i July 1, 1809, in

consequence of information received, he prevented a hostile meeting

between Mr. John Wall Christopher Itobinson and Mr. William

Hutton, an otHcer in the 2nd Queen's llegiment, who had sent a

challenge to Robinson as the seducer of his sister. Miss Hutton, a

most beautiful girl, after the birth of her child died broken-hearted.

Robinson afterwards married a daughter of Sir James Pennyinaii_

He was thrown from his horse whilst returning &om a hunting party,

and died April G, 1823, aged 41.

t Rkv. Roheet Gn.vT, M.A.—Mr. Gray was the second son of Mr.
Thomas Gray, of Sackville Street, London, jeweller. He was born

April 1, 1787, and became a member of Oriel College, Oxford, where
he took the degree ofM.A., in 1813. In 1814, he was appointed curate

to his uncle, the late Dr. Gray, Bishop of Bristol, who was at that

period rector of Bishopwearmouth. In the years 1819, and 1820, he
took a prominent part in a controversy with the Socinians,

by publishing various tracts and remarks on the second note

in the Unitarian version of the New Testament. At the close of

the year 1819, Bishop Harrington appointed Mr. Gray, as the successor

of the Rev. John Hampson, to the rectory of Sunderland ; and the late

Rev. Henry Parkes became his curate. Mr. Gray entered upon the

duties of his new appointment with all the zeal and piety for which
he wxs so eminently distinguished ; he procured additional sittings in

St. John's Cliapel, for the accommodation of the poor, and was mainly
instrumental in the establishment of various schools and religious and
charitable societies in the district. The revenues of the living of Suii-

Icts (of which the town of Sunderland is one), and the

said town of Sunderland being a large and populous

town, containing six thousand souls and upwards, and

by reason of its commodious situation near the sea, at

the mouth of a navigable river, is become a place of

great trade and commerce, and the families daily in-

creasing, insomuch that the parish church of Bishop-

wearmouth, aforesaid, will not contain one fourth part

of the inhabitants of the said parish, they, the said

inhabitants of the said township of Sunderland, at their

very great expense, and by the voluntary contributions

of several neighbouring gentlemen, and by money-

collected by a brief, have erected and built a beautiful

church, and a vestry-room, within, or adjoining to the

same, and a dwelling house for a minister or rector,

and his sviccessors, to live in, upon a parcel of ground,

part of one of the common fields of the said town of

Sunderland, and within the manor and borough of

Sunderland, called the Intack ; and have inclosed or

doolcd out a parcel of ground adjoining thereto for a

cemetery or church-yard, for the burying of Christian

people there : And now the said inhabitants, within the

said town and township of Su-iderland, being desirous

to be a parish of themselves, distinct and separate from

the parish of Bishopwearmouth ; to which, as well, the

Right Honourable Nathaniel Lord Crew, Lord Bishop

of Durham (who is the patron of the said church of

derland would liave been totally inadequate to support his contingent

expenses
; but the allowance received from his father was liberal

;

and after that gentleman's death, the Rev. Mr. Gray succeeded to an

ample fortune, which he distributed liberally to the needy, and by the

force of his e.iample procured numerous contributions for charitable

purposes. It is said that Bishop Barrington, on hearing of Mr. Gray's

character for benevolence, offered him a prebend's stall in Durham
cathedral ; the rector, however, excused himself from accepting the

generous offer, on the ground that he could not spare time to live in

residence during a part of the year, as a close attention to his parochial

duties rcijuircd that every moment at his disposal should be employed

ia promoting the welfare of his parishioners. AMien the cholera ap-

peared in 183.3, he took the most active part in visiting the sick, from

house to house, during the continuance of the pestilence ; and on all

occasions of sickness or distress amongst tlie poor in lus parish, he was
ever foremost in rendering assistance. Indeed, there is too much
reason to suppose that the invaluable life of the rector fell a saeiifice

to his philanthropy, and increasing visitations to the numerous suf-

ferers during the prevalence of typhus fever, in the month of January

1838 ; his death taking place on the 11th February following, at the

age of 50. His remains were interred in the burial ground attached

to Sunderland church, in the presence of a vast assembly, including a

numerous attendance of the neighbouring clergy.

I The living had been offered to the Rev. J. Hudson, A.M., of

Hexham, who, after reflecting on the heavy responsibilities of this

important benefice, declined to undertake its charge. The Rev. H.
Peters was appointed a surrogate by the Bishop of Durham, in

November, 1848.
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Bishopwearniouth, and ordinary of the said diocese, and

lord of the manor of Sunderland), as John Bowes,

Doctor of Divinity, the present rector or incumbent of

the said church of Bishopwearmouth, have consented

and agreed ; whereupon the said inhabitants of Sunder-

land do humbly beseech your majesty that it may be

enacted," &c.

After providing for the formation of the parish, within

the boundaries of the township of Sunderland, and

constituting the Bishop of Durham patron of the living,

the act directs that within three months after the 1st of

May, 1719, a meeting of the inhabitants paying scot

and lot shall be held in the vestry, at which the major

part " shall chuse twenty-four substantial and creditable

inhabitants of the said parish of Sunderland, each of

"whom shall have a freehold estate, or other estate of

inheritance, of the yearly value of ten pounds, to be

vestrymen for the parish for the space of three years

from the day of such election." Similar elections are

to take place every three years, and in cases of death

of any of the four-and-twenty. They are to have power

to appoint " a scavenger for the said town of Sunder-

land, to cleanse the streets from dirt and mire, and to

convey the same away ;" and they are " authorised,

and required, from time to time, equally to rate, tax,

and assess all the tenants, occupiers, and farmers of

houses, keys, lands, tenements, and hereditaments, and

estates whatsoever in the said parish of Sunderland

;

and also stock in trade and personal estates, with such

sum or sums of money as they, or the major part of

them, then and there assembled, shall think just and

reasonable"—" for defraying the charges and expenses

of procuring and obtaining this act of parliament, and

for and towards buying of bells for the said church

;

and for the doing, finishing, and perfecting what shall

be thought fit and convenient to be further done in or

about the said new church ; and for keeping the same

in repair, defraying the yearly expenses of the church-

wardens concerning the same ; and for the raising the

yearly sum of eighty pounds, for a stipend for the

rector for the time being, and the further yearly sum
of ten pounds for the clerk of the said parish of Sun-

derland for the time being, and a competent sum yearly,

as a salary for a scavenger." These salaries are to be

paid quarterly, viz., at the feasts of St. John the Baptist,

St. Michael the Archangel, the Nativity of our Lord,

and the Annunciation of the Blessed Virgin Mary.

It is further enacted that the churchwardens and

vestry-men shall keep a book for receipts and a book

for payments ; " and that it shall and may be lawful to.

and for all, and every person and persons, that shall or

may be in any ways concerned, to have free access unto,

and view the said respective books of receipts and dis-

bursements, at reasonable times, without any fee or

reward to be taken or demanded for view or inspection

thereof." In case of default of payment, four or more

justices may issue their warrant for distress and sale of

goods. " And if any person shall find him or herself

aggrieved by any assessments to be made by virtue of

this act, or by any distress or seizure to be made for the

same, or for the money so to be collected, in such case,

he or she may appeal to the justices of the peace, to be

assembled at any general quarter sessions of the peace,

to be held for the said county of Durham, within three

mouths after such distress made, who are herebv ini-

powered to hear and finally determine the same ; and to

award and give costs to the party and parties appealing

or defending, as to them shall seem meet ; and the de-

termination of the said justices shall be final, and no

appeal to be had or made from the same."

In consideration of the rector of Bishopwearmouth

continuing to pay the whole first fruits, tenths, pro-

curations, and synodals that have been accustomed in

that parish, he and his successors shall " have, hold, and

enjoy all such tithes of fish and other payments in lieu

thereof, and all payments due or payable by or from

fishermen or coblemen, for or in respect of the fish by

them to be taken yearly, and every year arising, hap-

pening, and being within the said township of Sunder-

land ;* and also all the tithes of corn, and grain, and

hay, growing and arising within the said parish of

Sunderland, as the said rector of Bishopwearmouth

and his predecessors have hitherto enjoyed the same."

The rector of Sunderland is consequently freed and

discharged from the payment of first fruits, tenths, pro-

curations, and synodals ; and he is entitled to all the

surplice-fees, Easter-reckoniugs, and other payments of

that nature which become due in the parish.

" And be it further enacted, that if any action,

plaiut, suit, or information shall be commenced or

prosecuted against any person or persons for what he

or they shall do in pursuance or execution of this act,

such person and persons so sued may plead the general

issue, if not guilty ; and upon any issue joined, give

this act and the especial matter in evidence ; and if the

• " Ask you what lands our rector tithes ? Aias !

But few our acres, and but short our grass ;

No crops luxuriant in our borders stand,

For here we plough the ocean, not the land."

Crabbe,
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plaintiff or prosecutor shall become nonsuit, or suffer a

discontinuance, or if a verdict pass against him, the

defendant or defendants shall recover double costs, for

which they shall have the like remedy as in any other

case where costs by law are given to defendants."

The act further provides for the speedy settlement of

accounts then due, and makes the usual reservations in

favour of the rights of the crown, the see of Durham,

and the representatives of Ralph Lambton, Esq., lessee

of the borough.

ST. JOHN'S CHAPEL.

Tins chapel of ease is situated on the verge of the

Town Moor, and near the south-west corner of the

Barracks. It was erected on ground given for the

purpose by Marshall Robinson, Esq., of Herrington;

and the cost was partly defrayed by a subscription, to

which John Thornhill, Esq., added the requisite amount

for its completion, on condition that when every other

subscriber was accommodated he should have the re-

maining pews. Mr. Thornhill also furnished the

design for the edifice, which is an oblong square,

built of brick, ornamented with hewn stone ; there is a

square tower at the west end, with an entrance portico

on each side ; but there are no bells. The spacious

roof is remarkable as being unsupported by pillars.

The communion table is placed in a circular recess

at the east end, underneath which there is a vault

containing the remains of the founder, Mr. Thornhill.

The pulpit and reading-desk are in the centre of the

south wall. There arc three spacious galleries, one of

which is generally appropriated for the use of the

soldiers in the Barracks ; and all the seats in the middle

gallery on the north side, except those in the front, are

now free and open to the public. There are, in all,

1,765 sittings, of which 1,108 are free. The organ

stands at the back of the western gallery.

The right of presentation for twenty-one years was

reserved to Mr. Thornhill j the subsequent patronage

being vested in the see of Cnrham. The first incum-

bent was the Rev. Mr. Hall. The chapel was opened

on the 6th of April, 1769, when the Rev. John Coxon,

rector of Sunderland, preached the sermon. The cere-

mony of consecration was performed, on the 5th of

October following, by the Bishop of Durham. Late on

• The sale of property which has been consecrated for the service

of the Church of England, or of ground consecrated as a place of

sepulture, is not of common occurrence. The following announce-

ment, however, relates to a recent instance :

—

Christmas-eve, December 24, 1770, a paper parcel was

delivered at the house of Mr. Hall, curate, containing

a silver chalice and paten of elegant construction, with

the following inscription engraven on each :
—" For the

use of St. John's chapel, Sunderland ;" to which they

were accordingly applied at the communion on the

following day. They were the gift of Mr. Thomas
Thompson. The remainder of the communion plate

was presented by James Donnison, Esq. The expense

of subsequent repairs and improvements, the last of

which took place in October, 1851, has been defrayed

by voluntary subscriptions.

In 1769, Mr. Thornhill endowed the chapel with 10/.

per annum out of copyholds, in the parish of Sunder-

land. In consequence of this endowment, an allotment

of 200/. was voted from Queen Anne's Bounty, to aug-

ment it. In each of the years 1770 and 1771, Mr.

Thornhill advanced 200/., which was met, on both

occasions, with an equal sum from the governors of the

Bounty ; tlms producing an amount of 1,000/. This

sum, in 1791, was vested in land at East Boldon, which

at first yielded 40/. per annum, afterwards 75/., and

more recently 60/. With further contributions, 2,077/.

10s. 2f/. was purchased in the tlu'ee per cents., which,

with the rental of the estate at Boldon, make the whole

income of the curacy 122/. Os. id. Mr. Thornhill's

endowment of 10/. per annum ceased to be payable, in

virtue of an agreement between the bishop and him, as

a condition in the deed of endowment. The Rev.

Henry Peters, A.M., rector of Sunderland, is the present

incumbent.

SPRING GARDEN LANE CHAPEL

Spring Garden Lane Chapel was purchased from a

Presbyterian congregation, in 1843, by the Rev. Robert

Gray, rector of Sunderland, and some of the pa-

rishioners, assisted by a donation of 50/. from the

Bishop of Durham ; and, after undergoing considerable

repairs, it was fitted up as a chapel of ease for the

parish. Divine service, according to the rites of the

Church of England, was performed in this chapel for

the first time, on December 17, 1843. On June 18,

1855, it was put up for sale by auction at the sum of

300/. ; but there being only one offer, it was bought

in at the reserved bid of 500/.*

" To be sold by auction (by order of the mortgagee with power of

sale), at the George Inn, Newcastle, on Thursday, the 23rd daj' of

November, 1854, at two o'clock precisely, by Mr. Broiigh (unlesu

previously disposed of by private contract, of which due notice will
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PAEISH OF BISHOPWEARMOUTH.

IHE boundaries and extent of the entire parish of Bishopwearmouth, and of the townships of which it is com-

posed, are given at page 392. Its limits are, however, circumscribed by the formation of the chapelry districts of

Saint Thomas, Dsptford, Hylton, Ryhope, and Hendon. Each of these ecclesiastical divisioas will be noticed

in detail under thfir respective heads.

THE CHURCH.

Tins church occupies the ridge of an eminence on the

east side of Wearmouth Burn. There can be little

doubt that a church was built here soon after the grant

of Athelstan, about 930; but though many parts of the

structure, as it stood in 1806, were of ancient date,

thcv could scarcely be attributed to so early a period as

that indicated by the grant. It consisted of nave, side

aisles, chancel, and western tower. The nave v/as

formed by four arches on circular pillars, and had four

clerestory windows on each side. The chancel, part of

wliirh still remains, opened into the nave, under a

lofty pointed arch, springing from corbels. The whole

of the lights in the body of the church were modern

:

but the east window, which still remains, is divided into

five lights, ornamented with tracery of the early deco-

rated Gothic. After the formation of the parish of

Sunderland, this church must have long been sufficient

for the requirements of that of Bishopwearmouth,

extensive as it wna ; but as a dense population gathered

around it, a want of accommodation became more

apparent. The building itself had also become

ruinous, and a considerable renovation was consequently

necessary.

In 1806, the nave and aisles were unroofed, and a part

of the side walls taken down ; the whole of the pillars

and arches of the interior were removed, and the outer

walls of the aisles raised to an equal height with the

nave, so as to admit a gallery running round three

sides of the church. Twenty-four feet of the chancel,

and a large north porch which adjoined the present

be given), the builduig known as St. Paul's chapel, situate at "West-

gate II ill, in Newcastle, together with the beadle's house and the ad-

joining ground, hitherto used as a cemetery ; the whole containing

about 0,263 squiire yards.

" The property is freehold. The chiipel will be sold without

restriction as to use or application ; but the cemetery is subject to a

perpetual trust, by which it was appropriated to the purpose of the

intetment of the dead, according to the rites of the United Church of

England and Ireland, und it will be sold subject to that restriction.

vestry, were added to the body of the church. The

arch above the chancel was taken down, the stones num-

bered, and carefully replaced in their original form, but

further to the east. The western tower was also taken

down and rebuilt, the south porch removed, and a west

entrance opened under the new tower, a square structure,

containing a clock, and surmounted by crocketed spirets

at the corners. During these alterations, the funeral

bell was suspended on the boughs of an old tree which

overhting the road on the west of the church-yard.*

The works were begun in December, 1806 ; the

chancel was opened for service in 1808 ; and the

whole was finished in 1810, soon after which an organ

was erected in the western gallery, and six musical bells

were placed in the tower. At the same time, a new

burial-ground was purchased, and being enlarged

by a parcel of the bishop's waste, was consecrated

August 9, 1810.

The church, as enlarged, contained 1,100 sittings;

but none of these were free. The population of the

parish still continued rapidly to increase ; and though

the district chapels of St. Thomas, Deptford, Hylton,

and Ryhope had been erected, the rector and church-

wardens found it necessary to issue a scheme, dated

March 23, 1849, for providing an increase of church

accommodation, founded on a comparison between the

population of Sunderland and Bishopwearmouth, with

its dependent chapelrics. Sunderland, according to the

previous census, contained 17,022 inhabitants, and its

church and dependent chapelries were provided with

3,898 sittings, or nearly one-fourth of the whole. The

population of St. Thomas's district was estimated at

Burials have been discontinued since the 1st of May last, under an

order in council.

" Further particulars may be ascertained on application to Messrs.

Stable and Dees, or Messrs. Adamson and Sons, solicitors, Newcastle."

The building was purchased by a body of the CongregationalistB,

by whom it is now used as a place of worship.

* Sentence of excommunication, dated September 7, 1425, was

denounced against persons unknown, for cutting down an ash tree in

the cliurch-yard of Bishopwearmouth.
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6,000, and its church accommodation was 1,000, or one-

sixth ; the population of Dcptford district was assumed

at 7,000, with 1,220 sittings, or one-sixth; the popula-

tion of Hylton was about 2,000, with 400 sittings, or

one-fifth ; and the population of Ryhope was 900, with

180 sittings, or one-fifth ; whilst the population of the

remainder of the parish was 17,000, with only 1,100

sittings, or one-sixteenth. To meet this deficiency, it

was proposed to erect a new church at Hendon, and

another in some other part, containing together at least

1,250 sittings; and also to enlarge the parish church,

by adding a north and south transept, thereby gaining

540 additional sittings. It was thought prudent, how-

to postpone the first part of the scheme to a future

period. The amount of money required to carry out

the whole was 8,000/.

The designs for the transepts were made and carried

out by John Dobson, Esq., architect, Newcastle; the con-

tract for building was let to Messrs. Turn bull and Cum-
mings ; and the church was ordered to be closed after

the 30th July. A great number of bodies in the church-

yard were removed to gravo.s adjoining, and others to a

large oblong grave about 8 feet deep, prepared at the

south side of the vestry. On the 10th of Jlarch, 1850,

the chiuxh was re-opened for public worship ; 553

additional sittings having been provided. The transept

windows arc of early decorated Gothic. The length of

the church, from cast to west, including the entrance

porch, is 108 feet; the length of the nave, 64 feet; its

breadth, 48 feet ; its height from floor to ceiling, 44

feet ; each transept is 20 feet by 33 ; length of the

chancel, 42 feet. The chancel is double stalled with

oak on each side, and ornamented with a carved

entablature in open work.

There was a chantry of the Blessed Virgin Mary in

this church, valued, at the Dissolution in 1547, at 31.

15s. 4(/. yearly. Ralph Parkinson, the last incumbent,

had a yearly pension of 31., which it is recorded he

received until 1553.

On the south side of the chancel are two beautiful

memorial windows of stained glass, the first of which

was erected to the memory of Mrs. Lotherington by her

children ; and the other, by Jane Stot Lotherington, to

• Mr. Ro^\^,.^ND Wetheiull.—Near the Testry door is a stone

inscribed, " Rowland Wethcridl (Mathematician), departed this life

19th June, 1791 (he was the first wlio set up printing in Sunderland),

aged fit years."—"This gentleman," says Mr. Garbutt, "was a

native of Great Salkeld in Cumberland. About the year 1762, he

settled in Sunderland as a teacher of the Mathematics. Observing

the inconveniencies under wliich the gentlemen of the law and others

laboured, in being obliged to send their handbills, &c., to Newcastle,

John Lotherington, Esq., of South Moor, and John

Stot Lotherington, barrister, her father and brother.

This window contains figures of John the Baptist and

John the Evangelist, with other ornaments, executed

by Mr. Wailes, of Newcastle ; and the stone work,

which is in the Gothic style, was tastefully fitted up by

Mr. Roseberry, of Sunderland. The oi'iginal entrance

under the tower at the west, is now occupied by a win-

dow, filled with stained glass, presented by and from

the manufactory of Messrs. Hartley and Co., Sun-

derland.

The monumental effigy of Thomas Middleton, of

Chevelingham, the founder of the family of Silksworth,

lay originally on an altar-tomb in the north aisle. It

represented a knight in complete armour, the hands

elevated, with the sword suspended from his belt on

the left, and a short dagger on the right : the feet rest-

ing on a lion. The inscription ivas dated 1400. It now

lies broken in two pieces in the western entrance porch.

Several mural tablets are placed in various parts of the

church, commemorative of the families of Scurfield,

Johnson, Maud, Wilson, |Bramwell, and others. The

inscription on one to the memory of William Eden,

Esq., surgeon, who died January 6, 1819, is said to be

from the pen of Lady Byron. There are upwards of 17

family vaults within the church.

Cemeteries.—Notwithstanding the addition made to

the church-yard in 1810, it had become so excessively

crowded that the General Board of Health, October 15,

1849, interdicted all funerals, except in vaults, of which

there are 53. This burying-ground contains 3,893

square yards, exclusive of 795 yards occupied by the

church. It is bounded on the north by dwelling-

houses ; on the east and south by a narrow street ; and

on the west by a street upwards of 12 feet below the

surfiice of the church-yard, which is enclosed on this

side by a retaining wall. The strata consist of four

feet of dark soil upon a layer of three feet of shingle

and sand, underneath which is a bed of two feet of

strong dry clay. The average depth of each grave is

four feet. During the enlargement of the church in

1849-50, the ground was levelled, neatly laid out, and

planted with a number of young poplars.*

for the purpose of being printed, he commenced the typographic art

in the liouse now occupied by Mr. George Longstaff. butcher, in the

High Street: he afterwards removed to a more commodious situation

in Maud's Lane, where the concern was carried on till liis death.

About the year 1780, Mr. Graham began the printing business;

previous to which time Mr. Wctlierall had been tlie first and only

printer in Sunderland : consequently, any other claim to priority

is at variance Willi the fact."
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Behind the Nationiil School in the Low Row, op-

posite the west end of the church, there is another

burial-ground, containinf^ 1,484 yards, thi-ough which

there is a lai-ge culvert for the passage of the Wear-
mouth Burn. This cemetery is bounded on the west

by a street, the surface of which is considerably above

the burial-ground ; on the north and south by waste

ground, dwelling-houses, and other buildings ; and on
the east by dwelliug-housrs separated from the burial-

ground by a water-course. The eastern extremity of the

ground is bounded by the National School, underneath

which there are 12 large vaults used for sepulture. The
average depth of each grave is four feet sis inches.

In the Rector's Gill there is a cemetery containing

3^ acres, bounded on the south by the Rector's Park, a

garden, and an infant school ; on the west by Silks-

worth Row ; on the north by a road leading to the low

part of the Rector's Gill ; and on the east by the

Rector's Gill. The "W^earmouth Burn flows through a

culvert underneath it. The natural strata are composed

of marly limestone, from which the ground has been

raised to its present height with marl, loam, &c. There

arc 24 private vaults ; and the graves average five feet

in depth. A chapel for the performance of the funeral

s('r\'ice was erected in this cemetery, in 1849, at the

cost of the Bishop of Durham. It is a picturesque

Gothic structure, capable of seating 72 persons.

• The second volume is kept with uncommon minuteness by
Thomas Brougliton, A.M., curate, who has recorded his zeal for the

fiithful preservation of the entries by writing on the first page, *' Si

ijuis hune llbrum vel miitilare veil in ulla parte, vel nomen aliquod dtlcre,

nnt infahum immutare audeat, pro sacrilego habeatur."

1621, " Dec. 30, John, a child from the Pannes, forswome of his

father, forsaken of his mother."

" William Summerbell, Garrison souldier, and Margaret Moody,
marr. June 18, 1642."

" Adam Thompson, souldier of the Garrison, and Ursula Bee of tliis

parish, Aug. 27, 1642."

" Richard Watson, who was killed at football, of Sunderland, sepult.

1-5 Jan. 1667-8."

" Elizabeth the wife, Richard the son, and Alice the daughter of

Thos. Thornton of Weremouth, all three burnt to death in his house

that day, July 2, 1686."

"March 2', 1695, a person aged about twenty years, a tawney

borne at the Bay of Bengali in the East Indies, and being taken

captive by the English in his minoritie, was (after due examination

of himself and witnesses) baptized and named John Weremouth by

mc T(homas) O(gle), curate."

" On Tuesday, June 13, 1749,Wearraouth-Green was ploughed up by

s plough dra^vn with two mares by Thomas Liverseeds and his son."

The parish books contain the following entries :

—

1662. " Collected for hoUybread silver in Wearmouth, 4d. ; Sunder-

land, 6d. ; the Hamletts, 2d. (in the pound) : the whole of the

churchwarden's receipt for 1661, £88 9s. 2d. ; disbursed, £.54 18s."

1663. " Given to a poor traveller that came out of Turkey, 6d. To

John Kn.iggs for whipping the doggs, 43." This item appears in

The number of interments in the three burial-grounds,

in the ten years ending 1848, was 4,603. The Secretary

of State having given notice of an Intention to take

proceedings for closing, at different periods, the whole

of the burial-grounds in the borougli of Sunderland, a

burial board for the township of Bishopwearmouth was

appointed in June, 18-54. At a meeting of the rate-

payers, held April 9, 1855, it was agreed to purchase

glebe land belonging to the rector, at the rate

of 300/. per acre, of sufficient area for a burial-ground

for the township. The site, which had received the

sanction of the Secretary of State for the Home Depart-

ment, is bounded by Hylton Lane on the north and

Chester Lane on the south, and is severed by the Earl

of Durham's colliery railway passing through its centre.

This disadvantage will be remedied by a bridge being

formed under the railway embankment. There will be

access to the ground both from Hylton and Chester

Lanes. The bricks for the erection of chapels for the

Established Church and for Dissenters, walls, &c., will

be made from a valuable seam of clay in the ground.

Registers.—Books Nos. 1 to 5 contain entries of

baptisms and burials from 1567 to 1755, and marriages

from 1567 to 1753;* Nos. 6 to 9. baptisms and burials

1 from 1756 to 1812 ; and Nos. 10 to 13, marriages from

i 1754 to 1812.

subsequent years without any increase of salary, but with the ad-

; ditiiinal functions of " sweeping the church and keeping the childer

; in order."

', 1664. "VoT buiyfying xhe c\viic\i,Wl.; ibid, a separate charge for

guilding the king's p.rmes and the commandements, lOZ.
; paid rogue-

money, 21. lis. ; and an assessment for maimed soldiers, 3/. 18«.

I

1666. "Paid for the pateheads (badger's heads), 2s. 1667. For

I

four foxheads, 43. 1669. For two capp-ravens (hooded crows), U.

lOrf." Similar rewards for the destruction of vermin occur in subse-

quent years.

1671. Aug. 26. Collected firom house to house through the whole

parish " for the relief of many poor Christians under Turkish slavery,

from under the great scale," HI. Zs. 3d. ob.

1675. "For expenses in burying a drowned man, who was cast up

at Claxho (Claxheugh), 7s. lOrf. For burying a poor man found dead

in Cole-Nook, 's. 6d."

1678. " Collected for the rebuilding of St. Paul's from house to

house in the whole parish, 12/. 6a. 6d."—"For going to Durham with

Popish recusants. Is. 6d."

1682. " CoUectedfor the reliefe of the distressed French Protestants,

il. 1.5s."

1 685. " Ringing for the overthrow of Argile, 5j. ; for ringing for joy

about loyalist, 5s."

1686. " For oyle and coles for boyleing the clocke, \0d. ; for 42

quarts of claret, at Is. 2d. per quart, 21. 9s."

1688. "Ringers. King James birth-day and 5th November, 6s."

The Revolution occurred at this time ; and on the 14th of February

following, with equal loyalty to the new dj-nasty, the bells were rung
'' for proclaiming K. William and Queen Mary, 5«."
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Bishopwearmoulli rectory is in the deanery of

Easington. King's Books, 89/. 18s. lid. ; Tenths,

81. 19s. 10 Id. ; Episc. proc., 11. 18s.; Archid. proc,

2s. Dedication to St. Michael. The Bishop of Dur-

ham, patron.

Rectoes.—Adam de Marisco,* circ. 1217 ; "William de Dunelmo ;

Adelmar, p.m. WiUiam of Durham, 1250; Richard de Kirkeham,

1252 ; William de Ayreminne, 1317 ; John de Eston, 1341 ; William

de Nen-port, 1360 ; David de WoUour, 1366, p.m. Newport; Simon

Cardinalis titulo S. Sixti, 1370, p. m. WoUour ; Tho. deNcwby, 1372,

•p. res. Simonis; D'ns Kobcrt Gebenens, Presbyter Cardinalis titulo

12 Apost., occurs 16th June, 1375; WiUiam de Pakington occurs

1.381; Roger de Holme, 1390, p. m. Pakington; John de Denham,

18th March, 1399; Richard de Holme; John New-ton, 1424, p.m.

Holme ; R. de Elvet, 1426, p. m. Newton ; Thomas Leys, 3rd Decem-

ber, 1431, p. ra. Elvet ; George Radcliffe, 1483 ; Richard Nykke, 23rd

• "Anno 1223.—Brother Adam de Marisco (or Marsh) went this

year also out of our nation. This is the person who was admitted into

the order by Br. Agnellus, soon after his arrival at Oxford. Dr.

Fuller calls him Adam Marsh ; and another author (Wharton, Anglia

Sacra) says, he wiU ' add one thing of him for the edification of pos-

terity, which is, that Adam de Marisco was famous for both exemplary

life and cxccUcnt learning before he changed his state, and was for

three years parson of a certain parish-church, called }Virmmdh, in the

diocess of Durham; but being inspired with an holy hatred of this

world, he, of his own free choice, changed the manner of his life and

habit, and became a Frier Minor.'
"

t The Rev. Robert Grey was one of the witnesses to the will of the

Rev. Nathaniel Ward, slain at Milium Castle. See p. 90.

I Author of an excellent Treatise on Gardening, entitled, " The
Clergyman's Recreation, shewing the Pleasure and Profitof the Artof

Gardening," in two parts : the second part relates to fruit trees and

the building of waUs. (4th edit., Lintot, 1716.) Mr. Laurence also

pubUshcd "Anew System of Agriculture," in five books, fol., Lond.,

1724, and a small volume entitled " Cliristian Morals and Christian

Prudence," 8vo, Lond. 1717, for John Knapton. Mr. Laurence left an

only son, the Rev. John Laurence, rector of St. Mary's, Alderman-

bury ; and three daughters—Elizabeth, married to John Goodehild of

PoUion ; Penelope, to John Pemberton of Bainbridgeholme ; and Mary
to Edward Dale of Tunstall, aU in the parish of Bisliopwciirmouth.

§ Being possessed of a large private fortune, Mr. Egerton (brother

of Bishop Egerton) lived in a style of splendour unequalled by any

other rector of Bishopwearmouth. He had his public days, when his

house was open to aU the gentry of the neighbourhood, without invi-

tation. He was extremely tenacious of his right to tithes, which he

insisted upon to a farthing ; but that being complied with, he would
liberally present them to a poor farmer. After he had been paid the

tithe of fish, commonly called the " coble teen," 2s. 6rf. yearly from
every coble engaged in fishing (now discontinued), he gave a sump-
tuous dinner to the whole of the men engaged in the fishery, at an
expense considerably exceeding the amoiuit paid for " coble teen."

H Dn. Paley.—This eminent philosopher and ornament of the

Church of England was bom at Peterborough, in July, 1743, and was
educated by his father, who was head master of Giggleswick school,

iu Yorkshire, vicar of Helpstone, in Northamptonshire, and a minor
canon of Peterborough. On completing his 15th year, he accompanied
his father to Cambridge for the purpose of admission, and was ad-

VOL. II.

December, 1494, p.'m. Radcliffe ; Richard Wyatt, 8th April, 1502, pr.

per Hen. VII., sede vac. ; WUHam Carther, S.T.P., 1st July, 1546
;

Thomas Pattenson, el., 1548, p. res. Carther ; Adam Hallyday. S.T.B.,

1560, pr. Reg. Eliz. sede vac. ; Toby Mathew (afterwards Bishop of

Durham), S.T.P., 2Sth May, 1590, p. m. Hallyday ; Francis Burgoyne
S.T.B., 1595, p. res. Mathew; John Johnson, A.M., 25th February,

1632, p. m. Burgyone ; Christian Sherwood, S.T.P^ 20th January,

1643, p. m. Johnson ; WUliam Johnson, A.M., an intruder, 1646 ;

Samuel Hammond, a second intruder ; WiUiam Graves, clerk, a third

intruder, 1654; Robert Gray, S.T.P.,t 1661 ; John Smith S.T.P.,

2Sth July, 1704, p. m. Grey; John Bowes, S.T.P., August, 1715, p.

m. Smith; Jolm Laurence,]; A.M., 1721, p.m. Bowes; AVadham
Ch;mdler, A.M., 1732, p. m. Laurence; Henry Bland. A.M., 1735, p.

res. Chandler; WiUiam Radley, A.M., 8th September, 1768, p. m.
Bland; Henry Egerton, A.M., 1776, J p. ra. Radley; WilHam Paley,

D.D., 1795, p. m. Egeiton; Robert Gray, D.D., (see vol. i., p. 257)

1805, p. m. Paley
;|| The Hon. and Rev. Gerrard Vallerian WcUeslcy,

D.D. 1827, (see vol. i. p. 256) p. res. Gray, promoted to the bishopric

of Bristol; John Patrick^Eden, A.M., 1848, p. m. WtUesley.

mitted a sizar of Christ's College, November 16, 1758. He performed

the journey on horseback, and used often thus humourously to

describe the disasters which befcl him on tha road :
—" I was never a

good horseman, and when I followed my father on a poney of my own,

on my first journey to Cambridge, IfeU oil' seven times : 1 was lighter

then than I am now, and my falls were not likely to be serious. My
father, on hearing a thump, would turn his head half aside, and say,

' Take care of thy money, lad.' " Of the frankness with which he

was, in after life, in the habit of relating the adventures of his youth,

the following is a curious instance :
—" I spent the first two years of

my undergraduateship happily, but unprofitably. I was constantly

in society, where we were not immoral, but idle and rather expensive.

At the commencement of my third year, however, after having left

the usual party at rather a late hour in the evening, I was awakened

at five ill the morning by one of my companions, who stood at my
bed-side and said, 'Paley, I have been thinking what a d****'d fool

you are. I could do nothing, probably, were I to try, and can afford

the life I lead : you could do every thing, and cannot afford it. 1

have had no sleep during the whole night on account of these re-

flections, and am now come solemnly to inform you, that if you

persist in your indolence, I must renounce your society.' I was so

struck with the visit and the visitor, that I lay in bed great part of

the day, and formed my plan. I ordered my bcd-makcr to prepare

my fii'e every evening, in order that it might be lighted by myself.

I arose at five, read during the whole of the day, except such hours

as chapel and hall required, allotting to each portion of time its pe-

culiar branch of study, and just before the closing of gates (nine

o'clock) I went to a neighbouring eotfee-house, where I constantly

regaled upon a mutton chop and a dose of mUk pimch. And tlius,

on taking my bachelor's degree, I became senior wrangler." To this

singular adventure may, perhaps, be attributed, not only his suc-

cessful labours as a coUege tutor, but the mviduable productions of

his pen.

In 1765, Mr. Paley obtained the first prize for a prose Ijatin dis-

sertation, " A Comparison between the Stoic and Epicurean Philoso-

phy, with respect to the influence of each on tlie morals of a people,"

in which he took the Epicurean side. Having received deacon's

orders, he accepted a curacy at Greenwich, took the degree of A.M.

in 1766, and was ordained a priest iu 1767 by Bishop Tcrrick. In the

following year, he became assistant tutor in his college, where his

lectures were highly appreciated. It was during a controversy on

tlie propriety of requiring a subscription to articles of faith, tliat he

made use of the jocular expression that "he could not afford to keep

a conscience," which has so often been quoted to his disadvantage.

So
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The rectory house and sp-ounds were situated to the

north of the church, from which they were separated

by the western end of the High Street. They oc-

cupied the site of a very ancient religious house of the

monastic class, some traces of which were until recently

visible. The old rectory was nearly destroyed during the

civil wars ; and a memorandum, dated August 29, 1650,

states that " whereas the parsonage-house of Bishop-

wearmouth was in the yeare 1646 defaced and exceed-

ingly ruined by armies, William Johnson, admitted at

that time to the rectory, hath since disbursed consi-

In a conversation at the time. Dr. Gordon, a high churchman,

exclaimed to Sir. Jebb, an advocate of improvement, " You mean, sir,

to impose upon us a new church government." " You are mistaken,

sir." said Sir. Paley, " Jebb only wants to ride his own horse, not to

force you to get up behind him." In 17G6, he quitted the university,

and married Miss Jane Hewitt, of Carlisle. His first benefice was the

rectory of JIusgrove, Westmorland, worth only about 80?. a year, and

he was afterwards successively inducted into the vicarage of Dalston,

Cumberland, and the living of Appleby, Westmoreland ; the latter

worth about 300?. per annum. Several treatises on various subjects

proceeded from his pen about this time, amongst which was a small

volume of extracts, entitled, "Tlie Clergyman's Companion in visiting

the Sick," which has passed through nine editions. In 1780, he was

collated to the fourth prebendal stall in Carlisle cathedral ; in 1782,

he was made archdeacon of the diocese ; and in 1785, chancellor.

Wien the M.S. of his celebrated work, "The Elements of Moral and

Political Philosophy," was ready for the press, he offered it to Mr.

Faulder, a publisher, for 300?. ; but the latter refused to give more

than 250?. Wliilo the treaty was pending, a bookseller from Carlisle

was commissioned by an eminent publisher in Paternoster Row to

offer Mr. Paley 1,000?. for his copyright. The Bishop of Clonfert

had undertaken to conduct the negotiation with Mr. Faulder, and,

fortunately for Mr. Paley, received intimation of the rivtJ offer before

agreeing to the smaller sum. Mr. Faulder, though much surprised at

the advance, agreed to pay the sum required before the bishop left

the house. " Little did I think," said Mr. Paley, " that I should

ever m.ike a thousand pounds by any book of mine."

His next great work was " HorajTauUnte ; or, the Truth of the

Scripture History of St. Paul evinced, by a comparison of the Epistles

which bear his name with the Acts of the Apostles, and -n-ith one

another." In May, 1792, he was instituted to the vicarage of Ad-

dingham, near Great Salkcld, on the presentation of the dean and

chapter of Carlisle. During the political ferment excited by the

French revolution, he published " Reasons for Contentment, addressed

to the Labouring Classes," and the chapter in his " Moral Philosophy"

on the British Constitution. In 1793, he vacated Dalston, on being

collated by the Bishop of Carlisle to the vicarage of Stanwix. His

celebrated "View of the Evidences of Christianity" appeared in the

following year, and secured him a still higher position in the religious

and literary world. The Bishop of London at once instituted him to

the prebend of St. Pancras, in the cathedral of St. Paul's ; and, shortly

after, he was promoted to the subdeanery of Lincoln, a preferment of

700?. per annum, by the bishop of that diocese. Whilst at Cambridge

in January, 1795, whither he had gone to take up his degree of D.D.,

he was sui-prised by a letter from Bishop Barrington, with whom he

had no acquaintance, offering him the rectory of Bishopwearmouth,

then estimated at 1,200?. a year. When he waited on his new patron

to express his gratitude, his lordship interrupted his acknowledg-

ments :
" Xot a word," said he ;

" you cannot have greater pleasure

derable summes of money to make the same habitable :

in all 41/. 8s." After the Restoration, the south part

of the rectory was rebuilt by the Rev. Robert Grey,

and appears to have been finished by his successor. Dr.

Smith, whose arms were placed in the south front.

He received 100^. for dilapidations, and expended 600/.

on the house. The park was enclosed from the adjoin-

ing gill by the Rev. H. Egerton. Surrounded by its

extensive garden and walled court, Surtees conceived

it to have " much the appearance of an ancient seat-

house that had been gradually encroached on by the-

in accepting the liring of Bishopwearmouth, than I^have in offering it

to you." He now resigned the prebend of Carlisle and the Uving of

StanwLX, and divided his residence principally between Lincoln and

Bishopwearmouth, spending his summers in the latter and his winters

at the former of those places. Soon after his arrival at Bishopwear-

mouth, he agreed to a proposal from some of the prmcipal land-

owners for an aimual compensation for tithes, and granted them a

lease for life. He next undertook the composition of his last work,

"Natural Tlieology ; or Evidences of the Existence and Attributes of

the Deity, collected from the appearances of Nature." In this he

proceeded very slowly, and was much interrupted by ill health ; but

the work was published in the summer of 1802, and dedicated to his

patron, the Bishop of Durham.

Dr. Paley's first wife died in 1791 ; and he married, on December

14, 1795, Miss Dobinson, of Carlisle. During his residence at Bishop-

wearmouth and Lincoln, he visited and entertained company in a

handsome, but not ostentatious style. He frequently mixed in card

parties, and was considered a skilful player at whist ; but he would,

at all times, readily forgo the game for conversation with an intelligent

companion. A lady once observed to him at a card-table at Lincoln,

" that the only excuse for their playing was that it served to kill

time."—" The best defence possible, madam," replied he, " though

time wUl in the end kill us." Through life, he took much pleasure

in witnessing the performance of good actors in the theatre. In con-

versation, he was at once instructive and pleasant ; and several

instances of his quiet humour are recorded. An old clergyman

dining at the episcopal palace with a party of distinguished visitors,

is said to have gravely asserted, that, though he had been married

almost forty years, he had never had the slightest difference with his

wife. I'he bishop, pleased at this rare instance of connubial felicity,

was, perhaps, on the very point of a compliment, when Dr. Paley

archly exclaimed, " Don't you think, my lord, it must have been

very flat ?" Like Dr. Johnson, Paley was remarkably fond of good

living. When his health declined, he used frequently to take ex-

ercise on horseback in the rectory park at Bishopwearmouth ; on

which, as he used to relate, some wag, who in all likelihood knew

him well, one morning wrote upon the door of the park, " Feats of

Horsemanship here every day, by an Eminent Performer ;" and, two

or three weeks after, " Additional Feats, for a few days only, by a

New Performer from Ireland ;" tlie Bishop of Elphin having arrived,

and being expected to ride out with him.

His health at length simk under long protracted disease. On his

return from Lincoln to Bishopwearmouth, early in May, 1805, he ex-

perienced an attack, in which the usual remedies were found ineffec-

tual ; he sunk under the accumulated influence of debility and

disease, and tranquilly breathed his last on the evening of Saturday,

May 25, 1805. The last testimony of his regiird for his parishioners

was a volume of sermons, which, by a codicil to his will, he be-

queathed for gratuitous distribution amongst them.
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neighbouring buildings." The popular production ofDr.

Palcy, his " Natural Theology," was written in one of

the rooms of this house, which retained many antique

vestiges, in its thick walls, oak ceiling and pannclling,

and fine oaken staircase, with its spirally twisted balus-

ters, of the date of about 1600. This venerable eccle-

siastical residence, with its out-buildings and garden,

were put up for sale by auction on the 6th of March,

1855, at the upset price of 3,000^. 3,100/. was offered

;

when a reserve bidding of 4,400/. was made on the

part of the vendors. It was afterwards purchased by

Mr. Hodgson, and the fine oaken staircase has been

preserved. The demolition of the house has since

been proceeded with, and the ground, comprising

about 13,709 square yards, is now being cleared for

building sites.

The glebe, besides the ground above described, con-

sists of a farm lying on the north side of the lane

leading from Bishopwearmouth to Chester-le-Street,

containing 130 acres or thereabouts. "The rector is

generally entitled to receive all manner of tithe in kind

from the townships of Wearmouth, Tunstall, and

Silksworth : the township of Burdon is exempt from

payment of hay-tithe, and a part of Ryhope from corn-

tithe." The estates of Barnes and Pallion, in the

township of Wearmouth, pay a modus of 14/. 13s. 4id.

in lieu of all tithes and offerings whatsoever ; the whole

estate of Ford pays a similar modus of 10/. ; and Bain-

bridge-Holme pays a modus of 5«. and two fog-gaites

in lieu of hay-tithe and all small tithes.

In the return of the Commissioners for inquii'ing

into the Ecclesiastical Revenues of England and

Wales in 1835, the gross income of the rectory of

Bishopwearmouth is stated at 3,346/., subject to

permanent payments amounting to 447/. The stipends

of three curates, 516/. in all, were paid out of the

balance of 2,899/. On the death of Dr. Wellesley in

1848, and the appointment of the Rev. J. P. Eden,

one of the bishop's chaplains, to the living, the

parishioners of Sunderland addressed a memorial

to hi.s lordship, praying that a portion of the re-

venues of Bishopwearmouth parish should be applied

in augmentation of that of its poorer neighbour. To
this it was replied that Bishopwearmouth itself required

all its income, the different chapels dependent on the

rectory being about to have their emoluments increased.

It was also stated that after a careful investigation, in

which his lordship had the assistance of the late rector's

steward and several gentlemen in Sunderland, the

reports as to the revenues in question had been found

to be greatly exaggerated ; and reference was made to

tlie probability that a considerable portion of them,

derived from railway leaves at the Rector's Gill, would

cease when better facilities for shipping coal should be

afforded by the opening of the docks.

In reply to a question put to Lord John Russell by

Mr. Horsman, in the House of Commons, February 9,

1849, his lordship stated, as from the Bishop of Dur-

ham, that " the tithes, glebe, and surplice fees were

henceforward to go to the rector of Bishopwearmouth,

and the other portions of the revenue, arising from

staiths, wayleaves, and coal-rents, were to be vested in

trustees, to form a fund to be appropriated amongst the

four incumbents of St. Thomas, Deptford, Ryhope, and

Hylton. It appeared that the whole value of the rectory

of Bishopwearmouth was 3,828/., out of which the late

rector paid 1,605/., leaving 2,223/. for himself. Under

the new division, about 1,200/. would be for the rector's

income, and the remainder would be divided between

his curates and the four incumbents, which latter would

have about 1,600/. divided amongst them." The sup-

position of 400/. being appropriated to each of the

district chapelries, leaving 514/. to each of the curates

of the parish church, excited some surprise ; and Mr.

Horsman gave notice of motion " to call the attention

of the house to the petition from Sunderland for the

more equal distribution of the livings of Bishopwear-

mouth and Sunderland." On the 26th, Lord John

Russell explained that he had misunderstood the

bishop's reply, and had since been informed that " after

the 13th of May, the funds arising from wayleaves and

coals will be paid to tfustees (the bishop and rector).

They will pay to each chapelry at least the amount they

at present receive, so long as the wayleaves remain.

Any surplus will be put into the funds to accumulate

for the spiritual benefit of the parish and its chapelries ;

but not to add one farthing to the income of the incum-

bents. Among other objects, greatly desired, is the

building of a church at Hendon, in the parish of

Bishopwearmouth, some two or three miles from the

mother church, with, I am told, 6,000 inhabitants. I

have little doubt that we shall improve the present

payments to the chapels, in proportion to the population

;

but so long as the question of the wayleaves remains

unsettled, we do not think it prudent to hold out

expectations which it may not be in our power to

gratify."

Petitions, in support of Mr. Horsman's views on the

subject, were forwarded from Sunderland and Bishop-

wearmouth, in which the petitioners denounced the
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arrangement made by the bishop, which they stated

would give to the rector of the latter parish an income

of above 2,0001. per annum, and be subversive of the

interests of the church, unsuited to the wants of the

population of Sunderland, and unsatisfactory to those of

Bishopveearmouth. On the 20th of March, Mr. Hors-

man moved that a humble address be presented to her

majesty, praying that she would be pleased to issue a

commission of inquiry into the allegations of the peti-

tioners, and the agreement stated to have been come to

by the patron and the incumbent with respect to the ap-

propriation of the surplus revenues. After a lengthened

debate, Sir F. Baring moved the previous question, for

which 53 votes were given, and 39 for the original mo-

tion ; and thus a decision of the house was avoided.

In June, of the same year, the Ecclesiastical Com-

missioners produced a " di'aft scheme for making better

pro%asion for the cure of souls in the parish of Bishop-

wearmouth," in which they proposed to transfer the

patronage of St. Thomas's, Deptford, and Ryhope, held

by the rector, and that of Ford, held by Arthur Gray,

clerk, of Stockton, to the bishop. The revenues were

assumed at 3,550/. a year, of which 1,600/., the produce

of the tithe-charge, glebe, and surplice fees, was assigned

to the rector; 1,050/. was to be divided amongst the

various chapelries of the parish ; and the balance, 900/.,

was to be funded for providing parsonage houses.

Against this scheme, a petition was forwarded from the

inhabitants of Sunderland.

In an order in council, dated July 30, 1849, it is

stated that the Rev. John Patrick Eden and Arthur

Gray had agreed to transfer and assign their patronage

in the above curacies to the Bishop of Durham and his

successors, and that the said John Patrick Eden desired

to relinquish a portion of the revenues of the rectory of

Bishopwearmouth, for the benefit of the parish.

The Ecclesiastical Commissioners therefore advise

that " whereas such endowments and revenues con-

sist of and arise from various sources ; that is to say,

from tithe rent-charges, rent of glebe land, and siir-

plice fees, and also from rents of wayleaves, staiths, and

coal ; and these are now charged upon and payable out of

the said tithe rent-charges and rent of glebe land, in part

endowment of the said perpetual curacy of St. Thomas,

the annual sum of 200/. ; and in part endowment of the

said church or chapel of Ryhope the annual sum of

100/. ; but the said perpetual curacy and church or

chapel, and also the said church or chapel of Hylton,

otherwise Ford, are very inadequately endowed, and the

said perpetual curacy of St. Andrew, Deptford, has no

certain endowment, and there is no house of residence

either for the perpetual curate of St. Andrew, Deptford,

or for the minister of Hylton, otherwise Ford ; and the

said John Patrick Eden is desirous th?t the whole

of the proceeds arising from such rents of wayleaves,

staiths, and coal should be appropriated in making

better provision for the several perpetual curacies and

churches or chapels aforesaid, and in further providing

for the cure of souls in the said parish hereinafter

mentioned

:

" And whereas the proceeds of the said tithe rent-

charges, rent of glebe, and surplice fees, after making

deductions for rates and for costs of collection, amount

together as nearly as may be to the average annual sum

of 1,630/. (subject to the charge of 300/. as aforesaid),

and the said annual sum is, and under the arrange-

ments herenafter proposed will still be, liable to further

deductions for pajTnent of curates :

" And whereas the proceeds of the said rents of way-

leaves, staiths, and coal, amount as nearly as may be to

the average annual sum of 1,950/. ; but such last-men-

tioned proceeds are from their nature of uncertain

amount and continuance :

" We, therefore, further recommend and propose,

that as from and after the 13th of May now last past,

all the rents, profits, and proceeds of wayleaves, staiths,

and coal aforesaid shall be paid to us, and after

making deductions for all necessary expenses, shall

be carried in our books to the credit of a fund,

to be called the Bishopwearmouth Fund, which

shall be held by us in trust to be applied, and shall

from time to time be applied, in manner following,

—

that is to say :

" There shall, as a primary charge upon such fund,

be paid by us thereout, by equal half-yearly payments,

on the 1st day of June and the 1st day of December in

each and every year, the first such payment to be made

on the 1st day of December next, the two several an-

nual sums of QOOL and 100/. hereinbefore mentioned to

the incumbent and minister for the time being of St.

Thomas and Ryhope aforesaid respectively ; provided

that if, upon any such day of payment such fund shall

not be sufficient to meet the whole of such primary

charge, a sum equivalent to the deficiency shall be paid

to us by the rector of Bishopwearmouth, for the time

being, but shall be repaid to him by us, out of the first

money standing to the credit of such fund on any sub-

sequent day of payment, over and above the amount of

such primary charge; and, subject to the proviso last

aforesaid, but not otherwise, the tithe rent-charges and
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rent of glebe land aforesaid shall be absolutely released

and discharged from the said two several annual sums

of 200/. and 100/.

" And we further recommend and propose, that at

the end of each and every whole year, if the remainder

of such fund, after discharging thereout such payments

and repayments, if any, as aforesaid, shall amount to the

sum of 750/., there shall forthwith be paid by us, for the

year then past, the further sum of 100/. to the perpetual

curate of St. Thomas aforesaid, the further sum of 100/.

to the minister of Ryhope aforesaid, the sum of 350/.

to the perpetual curate of St. Andrew, Deptford afore-

said, and the sum of 200/. to the minister of Hylton,

otherwise Ford, aforesaid ; and if in any such whole year

such remainder of such fund shall not amount to such

sum of 750/., then such remainder shall be divided into

15 equal parts, andof such parts there shall be paid two

parts to the perpetual curate of Saint Thomas, two

parts to the minister of Ryhope, seven parts to the

pirpetual curate of St. Andrew, Deptford, and four

parts to the minister of Hylton, otherwise Ford ; and

at the end of every such whole year as aforesaid, the

sums, if any, by which such remainder of such fund

shall exceed the said sum of 750/., shall be invested by

us in government or real securities in England, and the

dividends, rents, and profits of every such investment

shall be carried to the credit of the same fuud, towards

further securing the payments aforesaid, and towards

providing houses of residence for the perpetual curate

of St. Andrew, Deptford, and the minister of Hylton,

otherwise Ford aforesaid, and towards the endowment

or augmentation of the income of any new church or

VOL. n.

chapel, churches or chapels, or any newly-constituted

district or districts, within the said parish of Bishop-

wearmouth, and providing houses of residence for the

incumbents or ministers thereof respectively, or to or

towards all or any of such additional purposes, and in

such amounts or proportions, as shall from time to time

be approved by the Bishop of Durham for the time

being and by us, and, until the next vacancy of the

said rectory, by the said John Patrick Eden.
" And whereas the said John Patrick Eden would,

under tiie existing law, be entitled, during his incum-

bency as such rector aforesaid, to the whole annual

improvement which might arise from the grant of any

lease, or the sale, of that portion of the glebe land

belonging to the said rectory which is commonly called

the Rector's Park, but the said John Patrick Eden is

desirous that the proceeds of any such improvement

shall be also apj)lied to the general benefit of the said

parish ; we, therefore, further recommend and propose

that if by means of any such lease or sale during the

incumbency of the said John Patrick Eden, the annual

income accruing from or in respect of the said park or

of any part or parts thereof shall be improved, all the

net additional annual proceeds constituting such im-

provement shall in like manner be paid over to us, and

shall be carried to the credit of the same fund, and shall

be subject to all the same and the like provisions as are

herein contained with respect to the proceeds of such

rents of wayleaves, staiths, and coal as aforesaid."

It is in accordance with the latter clause of this order

that the old rectory house has been demolished, and

the park ground sold for building sites.

3p
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DISTEICT CHAPELRY OF SAINT THOMAS.

The district chapelry of St. Thomas was founded by order in council. May 23, 1844. The boundary com-

mences at the bridge over the river Wear, and proceeds along the middle of the river in an easterly direction

till it meets the parish of Sunderland ; it then proceeds in a southerly and easterly direction along the boundaries

of the said parishes of Sunderland and Bishopwearmouth till it enters Cousin Street, along the middle of which

street it proceeds in a westerly direction to Nicholson Street, and passing up the middle of that street till it enters

the Back Lane or Borough Road, along the middle of which it proceeds till it meets the back street between

John Street and Fawcett Street; it then turns in a northerly direction up the centre of that street, and

continues along the back street between Bridge Street and Bedford Street, as far as the bridge, where the

boundary commenced.

In 1851, the chapelry district contained 992 inhabited

houses, 23 uninhabited, and IT building. The popu-

lation at the same date was 7,005, of whom 3,033 were

males and 3,972 females.

THE CHAPEL.

The chapel is situated in John Street, Bishopwear-

mouth. The foundation stone was laid June 18, 1827,

and the edifice consecrated, as a chapel of ease to

Bishopwearmouth parish, on the 14th October, 1829,

by the Bishop of Durham. The building is of plain

Gothic, with a low belfry at the west end, and consists

of nave only. There are five windows on the north

and south, and one of larger dimensions at the east.

A portion of the east window was ornamented with

stained glass, representing the Evangelists and some

minor figures; and, in 1854, the centre was filled

up by representations of the Holy Trinity, the Three

Kings of the East, and their attendants ; and one

of the windows on the north side of the church contains

a representation of the Resurrection, erected by the

• A question having been raised as to whether marriages of parties

residing within the district of Saint Thomas' Chapel ought to be cele-

brated at the chapel of the district, or at the ancient church of the

parish, a case was prepared for the opinion of Dr. Phillimore. The

following were the questions submitted to the learned gentleman, and

his opinion thereon :

"1st. Supposing A.B. and C. D.reside within the limits of the dis-

trict assigned to the chapel of Saint ITiomas, have they the option of

being married in the parish church ?

" 2nd. Supposing A. B. resides in the district remaining attached

to the parish church, and C. D. resides in the district of Saint Thomas,

and they intend to be married in the parish church, is it necessary

that banns should be published both in Saint Thomas's and the parish

church ?

'' 3d. Is it necessary that the chapel of Saint Thomas and Saint

Rev. R. Skipsey, in memory of his mother. The
chapel is a strong and well-executed building, of ashlar

stone, from designs by P. W. Wyatt, Esq. It was

calculated to contain, including the gallery, 1,153 sit-

tings, 472 of which were in pews, and 681 free seats

;

but in the scheme issued by the rector and church-

wardens in 1849, the number of sittings is stated at

1,000, 500 of which are appropriated and the remainder

free. The cost of the building was upwards of 5,000/.

A part of this sum was contributed by the Commis-

sioners for the Erection of New Chiuxhes under the

Million Act. Soon after the erection of the chapel, a

service of communion plate and an altar-cloth were pre-

sented for its use by the late Mrs. Woodcock, who had

previously contributed 500/. to the building fund.

The patronage of the living was vested in the rector

of Bishopwearmouth. The income, which was at

first 200/. per annum, was augmented to 300/. by

an order in council, July 30, 1849. The Rev.

George Stephenson, A.M. (see page 231), was the first,

and the Rev. Richard Skipsey, A.B., is the present

incumbent.*

Andrew, Deptford, should be licensed and certified by the bishop,

either under 6 and 7 Wm. IV., c. 85, or the 7 and 8 Vict., c. -56, or any

other act? or is the order in council uuder the 59 Geo. HI., c. 134,

sufficient to authorize the solemnization of marriages therein under

the present acts of parliament ?"

" 1. This question is not free from difficulty, and the church build-

ing acts are so complex, and in some instances so conflicting, that it

is often with some distrust of myself that I give an opinion respecting

their precise construction,

" But I find from enquiry, that in the registry of the diocese of Lon-

don, in all cases in which the commissioners have assigned districts,

under the provisions of the 16th sec. of 59 George III., c. 134, it is

the practice of the office, under the special directions of the judge
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CHAPELEY DISTEICT OF SAINT ANDEEW'S, DEPTFOED.

The boundary of the chapelry district of Saint Andrew, Deptford, commences at the Newbottle, or Lambton

Staiths, by the river Wear, and proceeds along the middle of the river in a northerly and westerly direction as

far as the township of Ford ; it then turns in a southerly direction along the boundary of Ford township till it

reaches Hylton lane, along which lane it proceeds easterly, following the boundary of the glebe lands as far as

the Old Iron Works (including Aitkel's and Ogden's Land), and from the Old Iron Works down the eastern

side of the street called Farringdon Row, till it meets the rector's glebe, and so down to the Newbottle or Lambton

Staiths, where the boundary commenced. The formation of this district was included in the same order in

council with that of Saint Thomas's, viz., May 23, 1844.

The population of this chapelry district, in 1851, was

6,193, of whom 3,143 were males and 3,050 females.

There were, at that time, 929 inhabited houses, 11 un-

inhabited, and 16 building.

THE CHAPEL.

The chapel of St. Andrew's, Deptford, is licensed by

the Bishop of Durham, under 6 and 7 "Wm. 4. The

foundation stone of the building was laid December 31,

1840, and the chapel consecrated on the 14th of the

same month in the following year. It consists of nave,

chancel, a north, south, and west gallery, a spiral tower

about 160 feet high at the west end, and a vestry at the

south-east corner. There are five windows on each side

of the nave, an east window, and one on each side of the

tower at the west, the greater portion being filled with

stained glass, presented by James Hartley, Esq. The

building is of ashlar stone, presented by the late Mar-

quis of Londonderry ; and the ground is the gift of

Mrs. Aylmer, of Walworth Castle. The chapel is of the

early transition date, from designs by T. Moore, Esq.,

architect, Sunderland ; it contains sittings for 1,220

(Dr. Lushington), to grant licenses to persons residing in the districts,

to have their marriages solemnized in the parish church.

" It is consistent also with my own knowledge, that eminent judges

have expressed an opinion that every parishioner has a legal right to

be married in the church of his parish,

" If this be so, and I can see no specific enactment in any of the

statutes to which my attention has been directed, by which such legal

right is taken away ; but, on the contrary, there is an express pro-

vision in the IGth section, by which the districts are formed, that they

are to remain subject to the superintendence and control of the

incumbent of the parish church. I am led to the opinion that if A.
B. and C. I), reside within the limits of the district assigned to the

chapel o;" St. Thomas, they have the option of being married in their

parish church.

" 2. If I am correct in the opinion I have formed on the last ques-

tion, it seems to follow by almost necessary inference, that if one

persons, of which 915 are free. The entire cost of

erection was about 3,000^., towards which the follow-

ing subscriptions were received:—Her majesty's com-

missioners and the Church Building Society, each 500/.;

the Hon. and Rev. Dr. Wellesley, 200/. ; the Bishop

of Durham and Lord Barrington's trustees, each 100/. ;

the Rev. William Ettrick, 70/. ; the Diocesan Church

Building Society, Rowland Webster, Esq., W. Feather-

stonhaugh, Esq., Mrs. Reed, Ralph and Richard

Pemberton, Esqrs., 50/. each; Alderman Thompson,

M.P., the Ayre's Quay Bottle Company, and Messrs.

William Booth and Co., 25/. each ; Lord Dungannon,

Addison Fenwick, Esq., Bernard Ogden and Sons, Dr.

Cowan, and William Bell, Esq., 20/. each; Andrew

White, Esq., M.P., White, Panton, and Co., Robert

Scurfield, Esq., Henry Tanner, Esq., and John B.

Ogden, Esq., 10/. each ; with several smaller sums.

The first incumbent was the Rev. W. Wilson ; he

was succeeded, on his removal to Ryhope in March,

1843, by the Rev. W. H. P. Bulmer, previously of

Hylton chapel. The patronage of the living was in the

first instance vested in the rector of BIshopwearmouth ;

but it is now exercised by the bishop of the diocese.

party resides in the district attached to the parish church, and the

other in one of the districts created under stat. 59, Geo. III., it will

be sufficient for all legal purposes if the barms are published only in

their parish church ; at the same time, if I am advised with by either

of the parties about to be married, I should recommend that ex

abundanti caiifeUa, the banns should be published in both churches.

"3. If the order in council under 69 Geo. III., c. 134, which

authorises the solemnization of marriages in the chapels of Saint

Thomas and Saint Andrew, issued with the consent of the bishop, it

does not appear to me to be essential to the validity of any marriages

celebrated in cither of those chapels, that such chapels should be

licensed and certified by the bishop, either under 6 and 7 Wm. IV.,

c. 85, or the 7th and Sth Vict., c. 60, although it may be matter of

convenient regulation that they should be so certified.

" Joseph Phillimore.

"Doctors Commons, 4th May, 1853."
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The living, which was originally 200/., is 3501. per

annum, having been augmented to that amount by the

same order in councU, July 30, 1849, by which the

additions were granted to the other chapelry districts

in the parish of Bishopwearmouth. There is a parson-

age house situated at a short distance from the church,

towards the erection of which 400/. was granted, in 1851,

from the Maltby Fund, with a grant from the ecclesi-

astical commissioners, and other subscriptions. The

cost of the whole, including the grant, was about 1,100/.

DISTEICT CHAPELEY OF EYHOPE.

In an order in council, dated February 18, 1854, it is stated to be expedient that particular districts should be

assigned to the consecrated churches of Saint Paul at Ryhope, Saint Mary at South Hylton, and Saint Paul at

Hendon, in the parish of Bishopweai-mouth, under the powers contained in 59 Geo. III., s. 16. " The district

chapelry of Ryhope" is to consist of the three townships of Ryhope, Burdon, and Tunstall, and is bounded on

the east by the sea; on the north, by the boundary line which separates the township of Bishopwearmouth from

the townships of Ryhope and Tunstall, till it meets the boundary line of the township of Silksworth ; on the west,

by the said boundary line which separates the township of Silksworth from the townships of Tunstall and Burdon,

till it meets the point of the road from Ryhope to Durham, which is intersected by the Hetton waggon-way ; on the

south-west, by the parish of Houghton ; and, on the south, by the boundary line which separates the townships

of Burdon and Ryhope from the parishes of Dalton-le-Dale and of Seaham.

THE CHAPEL.

A CHAPEL of ease was erected at Ryhope in 1826, in

which one of the curates of Bishopwearmouth performed

divine service every Simday. The building consists of

nave and small chancel, a porch at the west end, above

which is a small bell-turret. The entrance to the chuixh

is at the south side of the porch. There are two win-

dows of double lights on the south and two on the north

side, an east and north window in the chancel, and one

in the west side of the porch. There are 180 sittings, of

which 90 are free. The chapel is dedicated to Saint

Paul. The stipend was 100/. a year, but is now aug-

mented to 200/. The patronage, which originally

belonged to the rector of Bishopwearmouth, was trans-

ferred to the Bishop of Durham in 1849. The Rev.

John Hayton was the first incumbent; and was

succeeded, in March, 1843, by the Rev. William

Wilson. The parsonage house, at the east of the vil-

lage, was built by the ecclesiastical commissioners

during the incumbency of the Rev. J. Hayton.

There is a burial-ground attached : it is surrounded

by a low stone wall ; but, from neglect, is much out of

repair.
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DISTEICT CHAPELEY OF HENDON.

This chapelry district, formed by order in council, February 18, 1854, comprises tbat portion of the township

of Bishopwearmouth which is bounded by the township of Ryhope on the south ; by the sea on the east ; by the

parish of Sunderhind and the district of Saint Thomas, Bishopwearmouth, on the north ; and on the west by a

line drawn in a southerly direction along the middle of the New Road, till it reaches the Hendon Burn ; it then

proceeds westerly along the course of the burn till it reaches the road which leads from Bishopwearmouth to

Ryhope ; and it then proceeds in a southerly direction along the middle of that road till it reaches the boundary

line which separates the township of Bishopwearmouth from the township of Ryhope. The population of the

district is estimated at 10,000.

THE CHURCH.

This church is of the early pointed style, with orna-

mented eve course. It consists of nave, chancel,

and south aisle. The aisle is divided from the nave

by five pointed arches, supported on octangular pil-

lars, and the chancel arch, of the width of 18 feet,

springing from squai'e piers, terminates with columns

supported on ornamental brackets. The church is entered

by a projecting porch at the south-west, and an octan-

gular entrance at the south-east with stone roof The
vestry is at the north-west of the chancel, with a heating

apparatus underneath. The chancel is lighted by three

windows at the east, richly ornamented in the interior,

and two single lights at the south and one at the

north. The aisle is lighted by four double lancet

windows, and the nave by five single windows on

the north and two at the west end, terminating with

a pointed circular window in the gable; the gable

finishing with an octangular bell-cot and spire.

The roofs consist of open timber work, oak-stained,

and the ceiling between the rafters tinted blue ; the

whole from designs by John Dobson, Esq., architect,

Newcastle. The walling of the building is of well-

dressed limestone, in irregular courses, of a greyish tint,

and being extremely well executed, produces the eflfect

of age in unison with the style of the edifice. The
dimensions of the building arc—nave, 71 feet by
29 J south aisle, 71 feet by 13; and chancel, 33 feet

by 23. The church contains accommodation for 560

sittings sittings 212; do. for children.

The cost of erection was
viz. :—free

108; appropriated, 240.

2,772/. 13s.

The Rev. Richard Beverley Machell, A.B., was

appointed, in May, 1849, to the Hendon district of

Bishopwearmoiith parish; and a temporary place of

worship was opened. On the 1st of June, following,

the sum of 300/. was granted by the Incorporated

Church Building Society towards the building of two

churches in the parish; the subscriptions collected

amounting to 2,300/. towards a required sum of 4,000/.

The Durham Diocesan Church Building Society also

gave 100/. In the following month, Mr. Machell was

presented by the Lord Chancellor to the rectory of

Barrow-on-the-Humber, near Hull. The Rev. Ralph

Tatham, D.D., Master of Saint John's College, Cam-

bridge, and formerly Vice-chancellor of that University,

presented a plot of ground, near the head of Eden

Street, Bishopwearmouth, on which the erection of the

church was commenced in 1850. It was consecrated

November 6, 1852, by the Right Rev. Robert Gray,

D.D., Lord Bishop of Cape Town, who officiated on

this occasion for the Lord Bishop of Durham. In

addition to a collection made, as usual, on this occasion,

5/. was given expressly towards the purchase of a bap-

tismal font. The present incumbent is the Rev.

Benjamin Mathie, A.M. The endowment will be pro-

vided for by the trustees appointed July 30, 1849.

There are schools attached to the church, which will

be noticed under their appropriate head.
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CHAPELEY OF HILTON CHAPEL, OR LOW FORD.

This chapelry, -which was licensed by the Bishop of Durham, under the 6th and 7th Wm. IV., on the 26th of

November, 1839, comprises the township of Ford (exclusive of Ford Hall), the village of Grindon in the town-

ship of Silksworth, and SpringweU House in the township of Bishopwearmouth.

THE CHAPEL.

A CHAPEL of ease was consecrated at Low Ford, by the

Bishop of St. David's, on the 15th of February, 1821

;

the living being then a curacy, in the presentation of

the rector of Bishopwearmouth. The chapel was buUt

and endowed by Capt. T. J. Maling, R.N. It was con-

structed by altering some dwellings, and is a very plain

building, containing 400 sittings, of which 160 are free.

A small burial-ground attached to it is now about to be

closed. A national school was erected, adjoining to

the church, by the Rev. Robert Gray, rector of Sun-

derland, in whom the patronage had become vested.

The right of presentation was afterwards held by the

Rev. Arthur Gray, but now, by the order in council of

* In November, 184S, the position of the inctunbent was thus de-

scribed :—" The worst case of all is the district chapelry of Ford,

South Hylton. The parson there has about 90/. a year, and the pew

rents ; but rather than give offence to any of his people, he declines

to collect the latter, except from such as choose to pay him volun-

tarily. Some few do this ; but not many, we are sorry, for the sake

of the worthy incumbent, to say. From his emoluments, however,

he has 30/. a year to pay for a dwelling house and a small garden
;

July 30, 1849 (see page 434), belongs to the Bishop of

Durham.

The first incumbent was the Rev. W. H. P. Buhner,

on whose removal to Deptford, in 1843, he was suc-

ceeded by the Rev. Joseph Law, A.B., the present

curate. The value of the living has been augmented,

by the above order in council, from 90/. per annum* to

200/. In 1840, the Bishop of Durham gave a donation

of twenty guineas towards the erection of a parsonage

house. It was erected in 1855, in the Dove Cot

field. Low Ford, alias South Hylton, from designs by

T. Moore, Esq., architect, at a cost of 1,100/., under

the direction of the ecclesiastical commissioners ; the

incumbent, Mr. Law, having, in the first instance, pur-

chased the ground.

besides, he half pays the school-master's large salary, viz., 10/. a

year ; the leader of the choir, or singing master, also looks for 21. a

year in return for regular attendance, assisting and teaching the

scholars psalmody during the week and on Sundays, ^"hat is left

after all this for one of the district ministers in the parish of Bishop-

wearmouth ? A mere trifle— not more than the pay of a poor

quarryman."

PARISH OF MONKWEARMOUTH.

For the boundaries, extent, population, &c., of the entire parish of Monkwearmouth, see page 393. The

formation of the districts of All Saints and Southwick have left to the ecclesiastical jurisdiction of the mother

church little more than the township of Monkwearmouth Shore.

THE CHURCH.

Monkwearmouth Chcrch, though shorn of its ori-

ginal proportions by successive alterations and repairs,

still retains traces of high antiquity. It originally

consisted of tower, nave, aisles, and chancel ; but the

south aisle was destroyed at some remote period, of

which there is no record. The exterior has long been

coated with lime and roughcast. The north aisle was

separated from the nave by cylindrical piUars supporting

pointed arches, but has been for many years thrown

into the nave, at the west end of which one heavy,

round semi-pillar, with an octagonal capital, still

remains attached to the wall. The chancel was for-

merly divided from the nave by a heavy circular arch,

formed like those of Jarrow, but more lofty and

extended. The old pointed arch of the east window,

closed up in the wall, is still distinguishable, springing
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from corbels of human heads. Part of the chancel is

built with clay, instead of mortar ; and some old win-

dows are closed up and covered with plaster. About

twenty years ago, a portion of ancient stained glass was

discovered in a disused light on the south side, and is

probably part of that manufactured under Benedict,

founder of the monastry. The tower is undoubtedly

ancient, and is thought to have stood from the seventh

century, being supported on heavy low arches, having

round-headed Saxon lights, and from the character

of the lights and the style of the masonry, it is be-

lieved by mary to be of original Saxon architecture.

The battlements at the top are probably an addition to

the original structure. The tower consists of five unequal

stories, and contains two bells. An illuminated dial was

encased in the the tower 1852.

The total length of the church is 122 feet. The nave

is 74 feet long, 41 J feet broad, and 23 feet 7 inches in

height. The chancel is 26 feet long. The principal

entrance is through a small north porch, under a

])ointed arch. A modern vestry is attached to the north

wall of the church.* The windows are modern and

irregular, being partly square and partly under pointed

arches. The church contains a good organ. In 1852,

the decayed parts of the exterior of the church were re-

paired ; and at the same time, the gallery, which extends

round three sides of the nave, supportcdby slight pillars,

was re-painted and varnished, the pillars burnishedanew,

and modern chandeliers introduced. The altar space

was considerably improved by the removal of the old

rails, the lessening of the space in front, and the forma-

tion of a row of seats on each side ; and a magnificent

crimson altar-cover, richly emblazoned, was added.

Beneath the tower stands the effigy of a Benedictine

monk in his full habit, the hands clasped on the breast.

It was discovered in 1808, by some workmen employed

in lowering the footsteps near the north-west porch, and

rested on a large flat stone, having probably been re-

moved from the church. Though supposed by some

to represent one of the ancient abbots, a more probable

conclusion appears te be that it was one of the " Mas-
ters of Wearmouth," after the cell became subordinate

to the monastery at Durham. The effigy of a knight

in armour, described by Hutchinson, has been removed
or destroyed. The face of an altar-tomb, sculptured

with the arms of Hylton and Vipond, projects from the

• Between one and two o'cioek on Christmas morning, 1852, a man
attending to a gasometer which had been newly fitted up in the
church, heard a noise at the aisle door, but, thinking it was the wind,
paid no attention to it. On opening the church, for service, in the
morning, however, it was found that the iron safe in which the parish

wall in the vestry. ' The entrance of a tomb was dis-

covered, some years ago, under the west end of the

tower ; two circular pillars belonging to it, each about

2 feet 9 inches long, are formed of the finest magnesian

limestone, and have evidently been turned in a lathe.

About 1812, a hammer was found in the wall near the

roof of the church ; the handle, which was curiously

carved, on being exposed to the air, fell into powder.

There are several mural monuments and slabs in the

church belonging to the Williamson family.

The burial-ground contains 11,404{ square yards,

and is bounded on the north and east by vacant ground

considerably elevated above the level of the church-

yard, on the west by Church Street, and on the south

by dwelling houses and a narrow back street. The
strata are quite dry to a considerable depth, and consist

principally of earth of a loamy description. The depth

of the graves varies from 4 to 8 feet : there are 25

vaults, varying from 6 to 8 feet in length. Some years

ago, there was a deposit of gravel and sand made in the

church-yard, averaging a depth of 3 feet. During the

ten years ended 1848, the interments amounted to 3,152.

A new burying ground, consisting of about 12 acres, is

situated near Ftilwell. It is surrounded by a stone

wall. At the entrance is a neat lodge, and on the

grounds are two small chapels, from designs by Mr. T.

Oliver—one for the Episcopalians, and the other for

the Dissenters.

Registers.—In 1790, near the whole of the parish

registers were destroyed by the fire which broke out in

Monkwearmouth Hall, then the residence of the

minister. The vestrymen, under the sanction of the

archdeacon, sat for several successive days, published

by advertisement, to receive and enter on record such

authenticated copies of registers as might be in exist-

ence ; and the whole thus collected were sworn to

before the magistrates at Sunderland, February 18,

1791. Books Nos. 1 and 2 contain entries of baptisms

from 1786 to 1812, burials from 1768 to 1812, and

marriages from 1785 to 1812.

Monkwearmouth is a discharged living in the

deanery of Chester, and a peculiar to the dean and

chapter of Durham. Sir Hedworth Williamson, Bart.,

patron and imp. Episc. proc, 4s. The church retains

the ancient dedication to Saint Peter.

books were kept had been broken open, and about 6/. carried away.

The missionary-box and the vestry closet had also been forced ; and
the thieves, in the latter place, had emptied two bottles of wine. A
reward of a/, was ofl'ured by tlie churchwardens.
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CuEATES.—William Houghall occurs 1563 ; Thomas Blakeston occ.

12tli March, 1565 ; Edmond Stapleton occ. 1571 ; William Reiseley,

1575; William Watson, 31st January, 1576; George Carr, 1609

(curate of South Shields) ; Francis Todd; Kichard Hicks, A.M., 13th

September, 163S, p. m. Todd (see Whitbur) ; John Hicks, A.B., 15th

March, 1662, p.res. Hicks; EdmundBowey, A.M., 1667, p.m. Hicks;

John Morland, cl., 1721 ; Thomas Hylton, A.M., 1736, p. res.Morland

(of Lincoln College, Oxford ; of the baronial family ; presented by
John Holton, Esq., to whom he was next heir male) ; Francis GrindaU,

1739, p. m. Hilton; Thomas Gooday, cl., 1742, p. m. Grindall (author

of "The Complaint in the Day of Desertion," 4to. 192 pages, St.

Nicholas' Library. Newcastle) ; Jonathan Iveson, cl., 26th May, 1768,

p. m. Gooday ; Wilkijison ; John Hcskett, ob. 18th October,

7810; Gilfrid Gates, p. m. Heskett, ob. 7th May, 1816 (many years

curate of Trimdon and sometime of Bishop-Middleham, in all situations

highly respected) ; Benjamin Kennicott, A.B., 1816. p.m. Gates (of

Oriel College, Oxford, son of the Eev. Benjamin Kennicott, vicar of

Woodhom, and great nephew of Benj.amin Kennicott, D.D., canon of

Christ Church, RadcUffe Librarian, and well known as a Hebrew
scholar.)*

There was no residence for the incumbent of this

parish from 1790 till 1853, when a grant of 200/. was

* The importance attached by Mr. Kennicott to the observances of

the church, and the due performance of the rites and ceremonies pre-

scribed by its litergy, evinced by the following copies of hand-bills

issued to his parishioners ;

—

" Good Friday. 'WTiereas little regard has been hitherto paid to

this day by the inhabitants of this toT.Ti and neighbourhood, the

parishioners are most respectfully desired to refrain from work, and

made from the Maltby Fund towards the erection of

one; and a grant of a similar sum was made in the

following year. Sir Hedworth Williamson gave the

ground.

The revenue of the perpetual curacy was derived

from a small pension of between 4/. and 51. from the

exchequer, the sitrplice fees, 45 acres of land at Hed-

worth in the parish ol Jarrow, and the interest of 2,000/.

augmentation money, consisting of two grants of 200/.

each from Sir Hedworth Williamson, Bart., one from

Bishop Barrington, and one from Lord Crewe's trustees,

met by four successive grants of 300/. each from Queen

Anne's Bounty. To these sources the dean and chap-

ter, some years ago, added a rent-charge of 81/. Is. on

Southwick tithes, the fee-simple of which is valued at

2,440/. 10s. The gross income of the living is 23"/.

per annum, subject to permanent payments amounting

to 12/., leaving a net sum of 225/.

to attend their respective places of worship.—Monkwearmouth vestry,

March 22, 1826."

" Baptism. Parents are particularly requested, when they bring

their children to the church to be christened, to provide godfathers

and godmothers, as far as they possibly can, of serious and godly

character, that the rite may be devoutly performed. B. Kexxicott,

P. Curate.—Monkwearmouth, May 12, 1843."

PAEOCHIAL CHAPELSY OF ALL SAINTS.

All SAINTS parochial chapelry, Monkwearmouth, comprises the townships of Monkwearmouth and Fulwell,

and is bounded on the south by the township of Monkwearmouth Shore, on the west by the chapelry cf South-

wick, on the north by the parish of Whitbm-n, and on the east by the sea.

This chapelry was formed September 3, 1844. Its po-

pulation, in 1851, was 3,509, of whom 1,742 were males

and 1,767 females. There were, at the same time, 540

inhabited houses, 14 uninhabited, and 6 building.

THE CHURCH.

This church was erected upon two acres of land given

by the dean and chapter of Durham for the purpose.

They also subscribed liberally towards the building

fund. The edifice is built after the early English style,

from designs by John Dobson, Esq., architect, Newcas-

tle. It consists of nave, chancel, south aisle, and octan-

gular bell-tower and spire, and a vestry at the south-

west angle of the building. The church is entered by

a receding porch at the west end of the aisle. The

tower contains a staircase, which will lead to the gallery

intended to be erected. The aisle, which is divided

from the nave by four arches supported on octangular

pillars, is lighted by four double windows on the south,

and one at the west end ; there are five double windows

at the north side of the nave, and two single ones at the

west end. The chancel has a triplet window at the

east, three single ones at the south, and two at the north

sides. The seats are aU open, and contain 313 appro-

priated and 242 free sittings. The nave, aisle, and

chancel are covered with open timber roofs, oak stained.

The nave is 77 feet by 26 feet 8 inches ; the aisle, 53 feet

by 9 feet 8 ; the chancel, 26 feet 8, inches by 20 feet.

The interior of the church is well proportioned, and the

details being carefully carried out, the general efiPect is

pleasing and harmonious ; whilst the varied outline of
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the exterior, and the historical accuracy of the detail

exhibit the requisite features of an ecclesiastical edifice

on a small scale. It was opened for service May 13, 1849,

and consecrated by the Bishop of Durham on the 23rd

October following. This was the first instance of conse-

cration in Monkwearmouth for nearly 1,200 years. The

erection cost upwards of 2,000/., which was provided by

subscription. In 1848, the dean and chapter subscribed

an additional 100/., the Rev. B. Kennicott, curate of

Monkwearmouth, 10/., and the Rev. T. H. Dyke, vicar

of Long-Newton, 51., towards liquidating the debts re-

maining due ; and in January, 1850, the dean and

chapter again contributed 100/., making 600/. in all,

and the Rev. B. Kennicott an additional 50/. towards

the same object. In 1851, 350/. was contributed from

the Maltby Fund, towards the erection of a parsonage

house, for which purpose the dean and chapter added

100/. The patronage of the living is vested in the

queen and the Bishop of Durham alternately ; and the

Rev. B. C. Kennicott, A.B., is the present incumbent.

CHAPELEY DISTRICT OF SOUTHWICK.

IHIS district, licensed by the Bishop of Durham under the 6th and 7th William IV., consists of the whole

townships of Southwick and North Hylton, and occupies the most westerly portion of the parish of Monkwear-

mouth, bounded on the north and west by those of Boldon and Washington.

THE CHURCH.

The church of the Holy Trinity at Southwick is situated

on a beautiful and commanding site, at the west end of

the village. The foundation stone was laid on the 9th

of May, 1842, by the Ven. Archdeacon Thorp ; and on

the 17th December, in the following year, it was opened

by the Rev.R. F. James. Itwasbuiltand endowed at the

expense of the dean and chapter of Durham, and con-

sists of tower, nave, and small chancel, containing 600

sittings, half of which are free. The style of archi-

tecture is early English, with lancet windows; the

tower is square, 60 feet high, with corner turrets. The
entrance to the church is from the west, under the

tower. The interior contains a gallery ; and the whole

is warmed with hot air. The contributions of the dean

VOL. II.

and chapter consisted of 1,400/. in money and 200/. in

land, besides an endowment consisting of a rent-charge

on Southwick tithes, 32/. 135. 7d. ; on the tithes of

Monkton, 83/. 12s. 10c/.; land and houses ceded, 173/.

;

annual value, 289/. 6s. 5d. ; fee-simple, 8,679/. 10s.

The first incumbent was the Rev. Francis Joseph James,

who, in 1847, resigned for the vicarage of Stockton,

and was succeeded by the Rev. Lewis Morgan, A.M.

The communion plate bears the following inscription :

—

" Presented to the Rev. L. Morgan, by Mrs. and Miss

Lee and pupils, as a token of remembrance for his pas-

toral visits. April 25th, 1849." Agrantof 150/.wasmade

from the Maltby Fund in 1852, and a further sum of 50/.

in the following year, towards the erection of a parson-

age house. The burial ground, containing \\ acres, is

walled round ; it was opened in November, 1844.

3p
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BOEOUGH OF SUKDEELAND CONTINUED.

CHAPELS.

Roman Catholic Chapel.—The chapel of St.

Mary, which was opened on the 15th September, 1835,

with the usual rites and ceremonies, forms a conspicu-

ous object on the west side of Bridge Street, Bishop-

wearmouth. The building is of the early English style

of architecture, after the date of Salisbury cathedral,

from designs by I. Bonomi, Esq. The component

parts of the elevation are extremely bold and well

proportioned, and the building affords a noble and

pleasing variety to the architecture of the street. The

interior, having a large gallery, is extremely plain, and

is lighted principally from windows at the east end.

The chapel Avas afterwards found to be insufficient for

its increasing congregation ; and through the munificence

of the Rev. P. Kearney, two side chapels, named after

" Our Lady" and " St. Joseph," affording about 150

additional sittings, were erected, and opened on the

3rd of December, 1852.

The " Popish Recusants" in Sunderland and the

Wearmouths were, like others of their faith, exposed to

the rigours of the penal laws, as appears from entries in

the parish books. In 1689, the names of twenty-three

gentlemen and yeomen, and nine women, were de-

nounced in those places. The Catholic chapel was

destroyed by a mob in 1745 (see page 405), when the

priest left the town ; but visits were afterwards made by

missionaries until 1760. At that period the Rev. John

Bramber built a house and chapel at the south end of

Vine Street ; but the trustee becoming a bankrupt, the

premises were sold by his creditors. Mr. Bramber was

succeeded, in 1785, by the Rev. Mr. Fletcher, who

procured the erection of a chapel in Dunning Street,

Bishopwearmouth, which was occupied by the congre-

• FoROEET.—Axi action was brought against the Key. P. Kearney,

in the court of Exchequer, in November, 1848, by tlie Sunderland

Joint Stock Banking Company, to recover the sum of 1,000!.

being the amoiuit of a bill of exchange, dated November 9, 1846,

and purporting to h.ive been accepted by him for and on behalf of

one Charles Isaac Humble. In answer to the allegation set forth

in the declaration, the defendant pleaded that the acceptance was a

forgery. The bill in question was the last that became due on the

purchase of a ship from Humble by the reverend gentleman. Before

it became due, a rumour reached Jlr. Kearney that there were more

than one bill out said to bear his acceptance for 1,000^. ; and he cou-

gation until superseded by the present building. Its

situation was retired, and its exterior unassuming ; but

the interior was handsome, and, with a commodious

gallery, capable of seating about 400 persons. Mr.

Fletcher died in 1812, and was succeeded by the Rev.

Peter Wilcock, translator of Bede's Lives of the Abbots

of the United INlonastry of Wearmouth and Jarrow.

He removed to Liverpool, when the Rev. Edward

Crane became pastor of the congregation, and was suc-

ceeded, on his removal to Ellingham, Northumberland,

by the Rev. William Maddocks, who was shortly after

appointed to the mission at Ashton in the WiUows,

Lancashire, when the Rev. Philip Kearney,* the present

minister, entered upon his duties. He is now assisted

by the Revs. J. Bamber and F. Kirsopp. The chapel

is licensed for the solemnization of marriages.

On ]\Iay 31, 1846, a Society of St. Vincent de Paid

was formed in connection with this church. Its objects

are to bestow temporal and spiritual assistance on those

in need of it ; as, for instance, if children are found in

the town who cannot attend the chapel or schools for

want of proper clothing, it will be provided for them out

of the funds. " Working members" collect subscrip-

tions, and make enquiries relative to poor children and

families.

St. Bede's Convent of Sisters of Mercy occupy a

house in Green Street, Bishopwearmouth. There are

eleven sisters, of whom Mrs. Margaret O'Connell is

mother superior. Their duties are to instruct the poor

and visit the sick.

The Guild of St. Bede is a benefit society, consisting

of members of the congregation.

CONGEEGATION OF CoRN MaRKET ChAPEL. This

congregation was probably founded by the Scottish

sequentlj' allowed two such biUs to be dishonoured. On receiving

the usual notice, he obtained permission to inspect both bills, andpro-

novjieed one of them to be a forgery, but paid that which he allowed

to be genuine. On the trial, several persons expressed their belief

that the disputed signature was in Mr. Kearney's hand-writing

;

whilst, on the other side, many gentlemen spoke positively to the con-

trary. In addition, the examination of Humble, taken at Florence

whither he had absconded, was read, wherein he declared that there

was only one bill of 1,000!. accepted for him by Mr. Kearney, which

he had endorsed to a gentleman named Bum. The jury returned a

verdict for the defendant as to the non-acceptance of the bill.
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Presbyterians who settled ia Sunderland in the early

part of the seventeenth century. The Corn Market

chapel was built, about the year 1711, by the Rev.

George Wilson,* and was the oldest Dissenting chapel

in Sunderland. It was situated in a narrow court on

the north side of the High Street, a little to the west of

the site of the Exchange, and was capable of accommo-

dating 550 hearers. In the title-deeds, the congregation

arc styled Protestant Dissenters. On the death of Mr.

Wilson, about the year 1734, he was succeeded by

Lemuel Lathom, M.D., an Arian. The Rev. Mr.

Richardson, William Lee, and .'W'iUiam Young, were

Buccessively appointed to the pastoral charge. The

latter, who accepted a living at Kelso in the Church of

Scotland, was succeeded by the Rev. Robert Knipe.

On his resignation, the vacancy was filled by the Rev.

William Piatt, whose successor, the Rev. John Clegg,

discharged the duties of pastor for nearly twenty years,

and, at his death in 1809, was succeeded by the late

Rev. Samuel Turner, author of " A Mite for the

Treasury," and several sermons. In 1851, a music

saloon was erected in close proximity to the chapel, the

sounds from which so much annoyed the congregation

at tlicir evening services on week days, that they applied

to the magistrates for a suspension of the license of Mr.

Metcalf, to whose house, the Royal Exchange Tavern,

the saloon was attached. He offered either to close his

concert-room on Wednesday evenings during the time

of service, or to purchase the chapel, which had been

offered for sale, at a fair vahiation ; but, Mr. Turner

and his friends, whilst before the magistrates, refused

to sell the chapel to him " on principle," and declined

his offer to close the room on the night specified.

Eventually this determination was withdrawn, and the

chapel, having been purchased by Mr. Metcalf, has been

added to his concert-room. The congregation mean-

while met, by pcrmis.jion of the Rev. Dr. Patcrson

and congregation of St. George's chapel, in the school-

room on week days ; and, since the sale of the Corn

Market chapel, they have also held their meetings for

worship on Sundays in the same place, though they

have now no regular minister. A new chapel is now
being built in the Borough Road. The congregation

• Some idea of the rancour entertained by the Whig and Tory
parties at tliat time may be gained from the following fact:—On the

intelligence of a victory gained over the French, by the Duke of Marl-

borough, an illumination took place, and a hogshead of ale was pro-

cured by the Tories, and brought opposite Mr, Wilson's house (now
ihi! Exchange Tavern) to regale the populace. Mr. Wilson, above

referred to, was sent for, and it was insisted that he should drink the

queen's health on his knees ; to which he answered, that he " never

is Independent in Its form of government, and its

doctrines arc highly Calvinistic. There are two books

of births and baptisms, kept by the minister ; one con-

taining entries from 1719 to 1802, and the other from

1802 to 1837.

St. George's Chapel (English Presbyterian).—
This elegant chapel was erected, in 1825, in Villiers

Street. It is a substantial stone edifice, in the Doric

order, capable of seating about 800 persons, and cost

4,100/. The congregation seceded from the Corn

Market chapel (noticed above), in consequence of

certain innovations being introduced ; and after meeting

for two years in a large room at the head of Pewterer's

Lane, they built a meeting house and residence for their

first minister, Mr. Lazenby, in Robinson's Lane. Ho
vacated his office about the year 1736, and was succeeded

by Mr. Brown, who died in 1765. The Rev. John

Somerville, who came to the ministry in 1765, was so

successfid that it was found necessary to enlarge the

meeting-house. He died in March, 1801, and was

succeeded by the Rev. James Richardson, who, three

years afterwards, returned to Scotland. His successor,

the Rev. William Gaidiner, was minister twelve years,

and, after his death in 1816, was succeeded by the

Rev. Mark Aitkin. The Rev. Dr. Paterson, who

became pastor of the church in 1821, is the present

minister. The congregation belongs to the presbytery

of Newcastle, in communion with the Presbyterian

church in England, and is favourable to the Free

church in Scotland. The chapel is licensed for the

solemnization of marriages. The register book of births

and baptisms, which is kept by the minister, contains

35 entries between 1831 and 1837.

The erection of day-schools in connection with St.

Geoi'gc's chapel was commenced in 1849. The build-

ing, which is from designs by Mr. Thomas Oliver, jun.,

is two stories high, in a palatial Italian style, with

Tuscan doorway, the pillars of the latter supporting an

entablature. On the ground-floor are class-rooms,

respectively 20 feet by 12, 26 feet by 21, and 24 feet

by 19; the transept containing two class-rooms, each

12 feet by 11. The first floor comprises a general

kneeled but to his God." On this refusal, his windows were immedi-

ately broken. N<jt satisfied with this outrage, they shortly afterwards

undermined the chapel on the north side, and caused it on the following

Sunday to give way, which being perceived by the congregation, they

lost no time in rushing out. An action at law was the consequence of

this proceeding, in which Mr. Wilson was successful, and gained con-

siderable damages.
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class-room, 47 feet by 34, with raised ceiling, and

transept 23 feet by 18. The whole height is about 31

feet. The schools are designed to afford a good

classical and commercial education to children of both

sexes of the middle and working classes, without

reference to sect. They are at present attended by

about 300 boys and girls. A Sunday-school is also

held in connection with the chapel, and another at

Ayre's Quay is carried on by the members of the

congregation.

UmON Chapel.—This neat chapel stands in Corona-

tion Street, and was built in 182^, at the cost of 1,200/.

It contains accommodation for 650 persons. The

congregation is in connection with " the United Se-

cession Church of Scotland." This body of Dissenters

held their first meeting in Sunderland in 1762, in

the building afterwards used as a theatre; but in

1766, the Rev. James Waugh having become their

minister, they erected Spring Garden Lane chapel

(see page 427). Mr; Waugh died in 1786, and was

succeeded by the Rev. Thomas Mason, who was followed,

in 1821, by the Rev. David Duncan. On the death of

that gentleman in 1829, he was interred in a vault

below the pulpit of Union chapel, to which the congre-

gation had removed. The Rev. J. Muir is the present

minister. Besides a Sunday-school held in the chapel,

the congregation have one at Ayre's Quay, and one at

West Harrington. They are now building a large

school in Sussex Street, at a cost of 450/., the school

attached to the chapel being too small. The chapel is

licensed for the solemnization of marriages. The first

register book of baptisms contains entries from 1766 to

1824, and the second from 1826 to 1837: they are

kept by the minister.

M.\ling's Rigg Chapel.—About the year 1777, a

few persons of the Independent denomination hired a

room in Ropery Lane, where Mr. Knipe, of Newcastle,

occasionally preached. Becoming gradually more

numerous, they engaged Mr. Heslop (brother-in-law of

the Rev. William Romaine) to be their pastor. On

October 28, 1778, Maling's Rigg Chapel was opened

by the Rev. James Murray, of Newcastle. In 1791,

ilr. Heslop removed to Horsley in Northumberland,

and was succeeded by the Rev. John Bailey, a clever

but imprudent man, who found it necessary to resign

in 1796. He was succeeded by the Rev. Newton

Blyth, from GlasgoAV, when the chapel was enlarged,

and a front gallery erected. Mr. Blyth removed

to Branton in Northumberland in 1809, and was suc-

ceeded by the Rev. John Drysdale, who, in 1817, was

admitted a member of the Newcastle presbytery ; h\xt,

in 1825, he was induced to resign. The Rev. John

Anderson, the next minister, was a licentiate of the

church of Scotland. The Rev. J. Morris, on whose

admission the congregation joined the United Secession

church, is the present pastor. The chapel aflfords ac-

commodation for nearly 300 hearers. A Sunday school

is connected with the congregation.

Smyr?ja Chapel.—This chapel is situated in the

Borough Road, Bishopwearmouth. It was erected in

1843, and will accommodate 550 persons. Its congre-

gation belong to the United Secession Church, and

occupied Spring Garden Lane chapel from 1822 to

1843, where, on the 5th of March in the latter year, the

services of the Presbyterian body terminated. In

April, 1844, a deputation from the board at Edinburgh,

for liquidating debts on Secession chapels, offered 120/.

to the congregation, on condition of their raising 200/.

in eighteen months, so as to meet 320/. of the debt re-

maining against the chapel. This oifer was unanimously

accepted, and a subscription opened. On May 8, 1846,

280/. had been raised, which, with the grant and former

subscriptions, extinguished a debt of 500«. within three

years. The Rev. J. Parker, who succeeded the Rev.

J. Scott, is the present minister. A Sunday-school in

the chapel and one at Dcptford are carried on by the

congregation. The register of baptisms, which is kept

by the minister, extends from 1831 to 1836. The

chapel is licensed for solemnization of marriages.

Hamilton Street Chapel, Monkwearmouth.—
This is another chapel belonging to the United Se-

cession Church, and was erected in 1827, at a cost of

700/. The Rev. Charles Johnstone was the first

minister. On Sunday evening, May 19, 1850, whilst

reading from the pulpit the 7th chapter of Matthew, as

far as the 21st verse, " Not every one that saith unto

me. Lord, Lord—" he was seized with a fit of apoplexy,

in which state he was carried home, and expired shortly

afterwards. The Rev. J. Mathison is now pastor. An
oKex of 70/. was made by the Edinburgh board, men-

tioned above, on condition of 130/. being raised to

clear off 200/. of the existing debt of 300/., which offer

was accepted. The chapel is licensed, according to act

of parliament, for solemnization of marriages. There is

one book of births and baptisms, containing entries from

1827 to 1837, and kept by the deacon.
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New Scotch Church.—A Scottish Presbyterian

congregation was organized in Monkwearmouth in 1777,

and met in a stable, having appointed the Rev. James

Hope their pastor. In the following year, they erected

Ropery Lane Chapel. Mr. Hope died in 1784, and

was succeeded by the Rev. John Henderson, who, in

1797, went to Holland. His successor, the Rev.

William Stoddart, resigned in 1802, and was succeeded

by the Rev. Alexander Macfarline, who enlarged the

chapel by a commodious gallery, so that it would contain

about 800 persons. He also changed its name to Park
Chapel. In 1813, he resigned. His successor, the

Rev. John Abernethy, got a kirk in Scotland in 1816,

and was succeeded by the Rev. John Frazer. In

1826-7, the congregation erected the New Scotch

Church, a light and elegant stone structure, from

designs by John Dobson, Esq., near the north end of

the bridge. It contains 500 sittings, and was opened

July 12, 1827. The succeeding ministers were Dr.

Wood, the Rev. — Fisher, and the Rev. A. Hardic,

the present pastor. The chapel was offered for sale by

auction, November 28, 1842, when it was stated to be

freehold, subject to an annual ground-rent of 11.

Bethel Independent Chapel.—This congregation

originated in a division which took place in the Scotch

Church in Robinson's Lane, after the death of Mr.
Gardiner, and met for some time in the School of In-

dustry, near the Town Moor. In 1817, they erected

Bethel chapel, a large and commodious structure, with

a handsome stone front, in Villiers Street, Bishopwear-

mouth, and which was altered and improved in 1826.

It cost about 3,000/., and is capable of containing nearly

1,000 persons. In 1830, the Rev. T. Stratton was the

minister. The Rev. J. W. Richardson, his successor,

resigned in 1843 ; and the Rev. R. Bowman was ordained

on the 18th of October in that year. On August 9, 1848,

the Rev. R. W. M'All was ordained minister of Bethel

chapel, but resigned in 1851, since which time the

congregation has had no regular minister, but continues

to meet. The chapel is licensed for solemnization

of marriages. The register book of baptisms contains

224 entries from 1811 to 1836, and that of burials con-

tains 156 entries from 1826 to 1837.

A burying-ground adjoins the chapel, and is 25 yards

long by 22 wide. The central part is a series of brick

vaults, which occupy one half of the ground. The
outer range of vaults is opened from the surface of the
ground, and the inner range is approached by a flight

of ten steps, at the bottom of wliich is a chamber ten

yards long and four wide. In the door leading to the

vault are two apertures, which, with another at the

north end of the chamber, are the only means of afford-

ing a circulation of air, for which purpose they were

constructed. On all sides are small compartments, 7

feet in length, 2 feet 2 inches in width, and 8 feet in

height, separated from each other by a partition wall

half a brick thick. In these compartments the coffins

are deposited, and covered with about 6 inches of loam

or sand ; the front of the compartment is then built up
with bricks and mortar to the level of the cofEn, or of the

loam by which it is covered ; there it remains till the

next interment, when the fresh coffin is placed on the

loam covering the previous one, another covering of

loam is thrown on, and it is again built up. The
process is repeated as interments take place, until the

compartment is filled up, when the front is closed. The
number of interments averages 14 yearly.

On November 18, 1849, a school-room adjoining the

chapel was opened. It measures 50 feet by 27, and is

17 feet high ; the cost of erection was raised by the

voluntary contributions of the congregation. One of

the Sunday-schools connected with the chapel is held

in this room, and another at Pann Lane.

Ebenezer Independent Chapel.—This elegant

chapel is situated in Fawcett Street, Bishopwearmouth ;

and the foundation-stone was laid August 9, 1851.

The circumstances connected with the event are thus

detailed in the inscription, on parchment, deposited in

the stone :

—

" The origin of the building about to be reared over this stone niay

be thus briefly described. The congregation for whose use it is erected

formed a part of that assembling in Bethel Chapel, Villiers-street, in

this tomi ; and left it in consequence of the resignation of the

Rev. Robert Whitaker Jl'All, formerly student in the Lancashire In-

dependent CoUcge, and for nearly three years pastor of Bethel Cha-

pel aforesaid. The resignation was tendered the 30th of January, and
received the 13th of February, 18.51. The names of 310 members of

the church having, meantime, been affixed to a memorial requesting

the withdrawal of the resignation, and the pa.stor having felt ur.able

to comply with that request, a large majority of the entire church,

together with a large majority of the scat-holders, formed themselves

into a new congregation, and on the 20th of February, 18.51, the se-

ceding members were constituted a second Congregational church, and
Mr. M'All was unanimously elected to the pastorate, and accepted

the same. 'I'he congregation is permitted, by the Christian liberality

of Mr. John Halcro, to worship regularly in Bethany Chapel, Hed-
worth Terrace, during the erection of the new building. There are

at this date, 2-40 members in church fellowship. The neiv structure,

designed by Mr. Thomas Oliver, jun., architect, and calculated to scat

about 1,100 persons, with lecture room to scat about 350 persons, is

called Ebenezer Chapel, and will be set apart for purposes ofreligious

wjrship in coaaectioa with thj deuo;uiuatioa of Protestant Disseuters
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styled Congregationalists or Independents. And this first stone was

laid by the Rev. Robert Taughan, D.D., President of the Lancashire

Independent College, Manchester, on this ninth day of April, in the

year 1851.

" R. W. M'AiL, Pastor.

"EiiPH Atkissox, Shipowner, and formerly Deacon of

Bethel Chapel."

The chapel was completed in the beginning of

the year 1852, at a cost of about 2,000/., and was

opened on the 6th of November. The style of the

building is Italian ; it is of stone, with vermiculated

quoins at the angles. The principal front has a large

Corinthian portico. The tympanum of the pediment

is broken by the segment of the cornice which forms an

arch over the large western window. The ceiling is

divided into three compartments, separated by light

cast iron columns carried up from the floor, and forming

arches between them. The capitals of the columns are

painted white and gilt ; and behind the pulpit is a large

recess with Corinthian pilasters, painted to imitate

Sienna marble. The ventilation is good ; the whole of

the impure air being removed into a large receiving

shaft at the end of the budding. The Rev. R. W.
M'All continues to hold the office of pastor.

DuNDAS Street (Monkwearmouth Shore) Inde-

PEXDE?!T Chapel.—The congregation assembling here

originally worshipped in Salem chapel ;* but differences

having arisen amongst the trustees and some of the

members, they erected the present chapel, which will

hold from 300 to 400 persons, and is licensed for

solemnization of marriages. The Rev. W. Pai-kes, who

succeeded the Rev. S. Watkinson, is the present

minister.

There is a burying-ground adjoining the chapel, con-

taining 225 square yards. The suiface is a gravel

deposit on a bed of clay. There are two vaults ; and

the average depth of graves is five or six feet. The

funerals have not exceeded 20 in 10 years.

Services in connection with the Independent de-

nomination were commenced at Hylton-Ferry on De-

cember 9, 1849.

Baptist Chapel, Sans Street.—A Baptist con-

gregation, which probably originated in the time of

• The congregation of Saltm chapel were separatists from Park

chapel. In 1794, they purchased a small house, which had formerly

been a Masonic Lodge on one of the Ballast Hills, and which they

called Lodge Chapel. Mr. Robinson, their iirst pastor, being compeUcd

to resign, was succeeded, in 1S14, by the Rev. Joseph Banks, In the

following year, Salem Chapel was erected, at the cost of 1,00(1/,, and

contained accommodation for about 700 hearers. Mr. Banks died in

Cromwell, existed in Sunderland before the close of the

ITth century. The meeting house was in the Low
Street, near the Black Bull Quay; and they had a

burial ground on the east side of the former Friends'

meeting house in High Street. In 1796, this burying-

ground was sold by the heirs of one Benjamin Hod-

skins, whose father was the only remaining trustee.

The purchasers converted it into building ground ; and

many graves were opened in digging foundations. It

is said that more than a cart-load of bones, some of the

skulls having the hair on, were re-interred underneath

the stairs of one of the houses.

The next notice of the Baptists as a body was in 1748,

when John Pine, an Independent minister, and some

of his congregation, were baptized by Mr. David

Ferney, Baptist minister of Bishop Auckland. Mr.

Pine removed to Shrewsbury in 1754, and was succeeded

by Mr. Wdliam Peden, who died in 1761. He was

succeeded by Mr. Strafen, of Whitehaven, during

whose pastorate, a meeting-house in Queen Street,

Bishopwearmouth, was built. Mr. Bowser, the next

minister, had been a Wesleyan. The meeting-house,

; being at too great a distance from the town, was sold,

and a new one provided in Maliug's Rigg in 1777 ; but

Mr. Bowser having to leave the town, the congregation

was dissolved.

About ten years afterwards, Mr. William Bigg,

deacon of an Independent congregatiom, adopted

Baptist views, and, with some other persons, was

immersed. Having augmented their numbers, they

formed themselves into a church, March 26th, 1797

;

and on February 21, 1798, Mr. Bigg was ordained

their minister. The foundation stone of the present

meeting house in Sans Street, containing accommodation

for above 200 persons, was laid on July 9, 1798 j and

it was opened on the 25th of December in the same

year. Mr. ^rniiam Greatrex became co-pastor with Mr.

Bigg in 1806, in which office he continued till 1820,

when he was transferred to Hettqn, where he died in

1844. Mr. Bigg retired from the ministry in 1812,

and died at an advanced age in 1820. Mr. Alexander

Wilson succeeded him as pastor, and continued till his

death, January 3, 1846. In 1821, Mr. Josiah Cormack

became his coadjutor, and died in 1843. Mr. James

1817, after which time the congregation had no stated minister. The

chapel was sold, some years ago, to the dean and chapter of Durham,

with the intention of converting it into an Episcopalian chapel ; but

the erection of All Saint's church having been suggested by the Rev.

B. Kennicott, this chapel is now used as a school in connection

with the church.
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Redman, the present minister, who had occasionally

preached from the year 1837, was ordained June 21,

1844. There is a Sunday-school attached to the chapel.

The register book contains entries of births from 1797

to 1837.

There is a burying-ground attached to the chapel,

contjiining an area of 110 square yards. The stratum is

clay. The interments, after the passing of the General

Registry Act, were not more than three per annum,

most of which were children. There are no vaults, and

the average depth of the graves varied from 5 to 8 feet.

By a regulation of the chapel trustees, no interment

was to be made nearer the surface than 4 feet 6 inches.

Interments were ordered to be discontinued by the

secretary of state in 1854.

Differences in minor points of opinion and discipline

have occasionally caused secessions from the congrega-

tion in Sans Street, and led to the formation of other

bodies in the town. The doctrines held by the Baptists

in Sunderland are Calvinistic.

Maling's Rigg Baptist Chapel, a room fitted up
for worship, contains accommodation for 160 persons.

The Rev. J. Kneebone for some time officiated here,

but received a call for Hartlepool in 1849. The Rev.

J. Preston is the present minister.

Providence Chapel, in Charles Street, and Gar-
den Street Chapel, Bishopwearmouth, each capable

of seating about 100 persons, belong to congregations

of Baptists.

ExoN Baptist Chapel stands on the Ballast Hills,

Monkwearmouth Shore, now Barclay Street. It will

hold upwards of 200 people, and was erected in 1808,

at the cost of 6001. Mr. Isaac Watts, the first minister,

resigned in 1817, after which Mr. J. Gr.rrow became

pastor. There is now no resident minister. Hall-
garth Square Baptist Chapel, Monkwearmouth
Shore, was lately under the pastorship of Mr. J. Graham

;

but no duty is now performed in it. A Sunday-school

is attached to each of the above chapels.

Bethesda Free Chapel is a large building of brick

and stone, situated in Tatham Street, and is capable of

containing 1,450 persons. It was commenced in 1844,

and opened in March, 1845 ; it was erected principally

at the cost of the Rev. A. A. Rees. This gentleman was
formerly one of the cm-atcs in Sunderland church, but se-

paratedfrom the Establishment, and was joined by a num-

ber of his friends. The church service was originally

performed in Bethesda chapel, but was afterwards dis-

continued. The congregation is composed principally

of members professing'to be "^baptized believers." All

the sittings are free. Connected with the chapel are a

school, a library, two home missionaries, and a Dorcas

Society.

Bethany Chapel, Hedworth Terrace, was opened

September 16, 1849. Mr. John Halcro seceded from

the congregation of the Chui'ch of England, of which
he had been an active member, and erected this chapel

for the benefit of the poor. It is a somewhat elegant

structure, capable of accommodating 600 people.

Neither pew-rents nor collections are taken. Schools

have been opened in connection with the chapel ; and

it is conducted on principles nearly similar to those of

the Bethesda Chapel congregation.

Friends' Meeting House.—The Quakers, or

Friends, formed a society in Sunderland at an early

period. About the middle of the 17th century, they

had a meeting house, which was demolished by an

ignorant rabble in 1688, who also broke the windows in

many private houses of the Friends. In 1718, it was

restored ; and, about 60 years afterwards, it was re-

edified, and the exterior rough-coated. It was situated

on the north side of High Street, about midway between

Sunderland Street and Numbers Garth. The premises

were sold in 1822, and the front converted Into shops ;

but the old burial-ground behind remains the property

of the society. The present handsome meeting house

in Nile Street was erected at the same time, at a cost of

nearly 3,000^., raised partly by the sale of the old premises,

and partly by subscription. The interior, though plain,

is handsome, and in winter is rendered comfortable by

a steam apparatus, and by the diffusion ofwarm air. It

is divided into two parts by a moveable pai-titlon.

The burying ground contains upwards of 530 yards,

exclusive of the site of the chapel and dwelling-house,

and is bounded on the south by the Borough Road, on

the west by open ground and a back street, on the north

by dwelling houses and yai'ds, and on the east by Nile

Street and dwelling houses. The stratum consists of a

fine dry loamy earth, and the appearance of the whole

is neat and orderly. The area of the ground used for

interments is 184 feet by 36 feet ; and the graves are 9

feet deep for adults, and 7 feet for children. On the

west is another piece of ground of the same size as that

now in use, which was intended for burials when
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needed, as well as 144 square feet of ground opposite

the meeting-house, on the east side of Nile Street. The
latter plot, however, is now to be sold for building sites

;

the society having purchased a portion of the new
parochial burying-ground for their own exclusive use.

The present burial-ground is ordered to be closed after

May 1, 1856. In 1850, the society agreed to place

stones over the graves of their deceased relatives, with

their names in fidl, and the date of their death,

inscribed upon them, in the same way as a stone was

placed over the grave of their founder, George Fox, at

his decease. The first register book contains entries of

births from 1660 to 1759, and of burials, from 1651 to

1759; the second book contains births and burials from

1760 to 1795.*

Wesletan Methodist Chapel, High Street.—
The Eev. John Wesley first visited Sunderland on the

12th March, 1746, where a small society of his followers

had been formed, who met in a room in Wood Street.

The society continuing to increase, they removed to a

more commodious place in Ettrick's Garth, and next to

the building afterwards altered and used as a theatre.

Here Mr. Wesley preached, on May 10, 1752, to what

he calls " one of the liveliest societies in the north of

England." About the year 1758, the society built a

chapel in Numbers Garth; but, in 1790, they found it

necessary to erect a larger one. The new chapel is

situated at the foot of Sans Street, and was opened by
the Rev. Dr. Coke in 1791.f It was considerably en-

larged in 1809, and again in 1824, and will now
accommodate above 2,500 persons. The east and west

wings consist of dwelling-houses, appropriated for the

residences of the preachers. Large areas, inclosed by
railings, formerly extended along the entire fr'ont ; but

those parts in front of the preachers' houses now con-

tain shops, on a line with other places of business

in the street. The building is calculated to have cost

7,000/. The register book, kept by the superintendent

minister, contains entries of births and baptisms from

1797 to 1837.

Fawcett Street Wesletan Chapel is a handsome

building of modern Gothic composition, and contains a

• On the 8th of August, 1851, a distraint was made on John

Thomas Backhouse, ofWest Hendon House, a member of the Society

of Friends, on account of tithe rent charge, claimed on behalf of the

rector of Bishopwearmouth, amounting, with expenses, to 10/. 14j. Id.,

when 8 J tons of old land hay, value about 35/., was taken. On the

same day, i~ tons of old land hay, value about 20/., were taken from

Edward Backhouse, of Ashburne, on the same account, for a demand
of 6/. ISs. id., including expenses. The rector, haying learned that

good organ and sittings for 1,450 persons. On June

15, 1843, notice was issued that Fawcett Street Wes-

leyan chapel, being certified according to law as a place

of worship, had been duly registered for solemnizing

marriages, pursuant to 6 and 7 Wm. IV., c. 55.

The Wesleyans have occasional or regular meetings

in the New Town beyond Hendon church, at the Iron

Works, in Stafford Street, Union Street, Mill Street,

Ballast Hills, Mill Field, Ryhope, and Hylton ; the

accommodation at each place varying from 60 to 400

persons.

On March 15, 1812, a Methodist chapel was opened

in Vine Street, which was sold in 1822 to the trustees

of the national schools. Burleigh Street Chapel, an old

Wesleyan place of worship, containing 300 sittings, has

been let to various denominations.

imtburn Street Wesleyan CA«;je/,Monkwearmouth,

was built in 1761, and calculated to seat 800 persons.

It was enlarged and re-edified in 1826, at a cost of

2,000/., and will accommodate a congregation of 1,500.

There is a school attached. A house has been purchased

in Dundas Street, and is occupied by the minister.

Wesletan Association.—This body have a chapel

in South Durham Street, called the Tabernacle, con-

taining 700 sittings, with large schools attached ; another

of the same name in Brougham Street, containing 800

sittings, and with schools ; another at JDeptford, con

taining 200 sittings ; and another at Hylton, contaiaing

200 sittings. The first-mentioned chapel is licensed

for solemnization of marriages.

Wesletan Reformers.—This body have a place of

meeting in Back Harrison Street, Bishopwearmouth

;

and they also assemble in the Athenaeum, Fawcett

Street. They have a chapel in Dock Street, Monk-

wearmouth, occupying an area of 72 feet by 32, and

capable of holding 850 people. The cost of the

building, 600/., was raised in shares of 21. each. Con-

nected ^-ith this is a branch chapel, called Ebenezer, in

William Street, Monkwearmouth Shore. A portion of

the congregation have joined the Wesleyan Association.

Primitive Methodists.—The Primitive Methodists

founded a congregation in Sunderland in 1810. The

the bailiff had not given due public notice ofthe sale, and only brought

two persons with him as bidders, by one of whom the hay was pur-

chased, directed inquiry to be made by his agent, which resulted in

the discharge of the baUilf from acting on his behalf.

t From a receipt dated November 11, 1798, it appears that the rent

of a whole pew in the Methodist chapel was lOi. &d. March 5, 1800,

2s. &d. was paid " for half a year's pew-rent in the new Methodist

chapel."

Thank you for purchasing from Ebay Shop Retromedia

http://stores.shop.ebay.co.uk/retromedia


BOROUGH OF SUNDERLAND. 451

first chapel belonging to this body was erected in Flag

Lane in 1824, at a cost of about 1,500?., and contains

accommodation for 1,500 persons. The registers of

births and baptisms contain 236 entries, extending from

1823 to 1837. Since this chapel was founded, a place

of worship has been opened in Hopper Street, Bishop-

wearmouth, with accommodation for 250 persons ; one

in Hcndon Street ; one at Hylton and one at Ayre's

Quay, each containing 100 sittings. The body have

also a chapel in Williamson Terrace, Monkwearmouth

Shore, capable of containing about 500 hearers.

Methodist New Connexion.—Tliis body, after

holding their meetings for some time in the PhoBuix

Lodge of Free Masons, Queen Street, opened Zion

Chapel, in 1809, in what was from it called Zion Street,

opposite the head of Queen Street. It is a neat, com-

fortable place of worship, capable of accommodating 550

persons, and cost 1,500/. It is licensed for solemniza-

tion of marriages. Under the pulpit are deposited the

remains of the Rev. John Grundell, a blind gentleman,

who was for eighteen years a preacher in this connexion.

The book of births and baptisms contains entries from

iNll to 1836, and is kept by a registrar. Providence

Chapel, Dame Dorothy Street, Monkwearmouth Shore,

aLso belongs to this body, who maintain Sunday-schools

at each of their places of worship.

Unitarian Chapel.—From 1814, the members of

the Unitarian body in Sunderland assembled for wor-

ship in the old Free Masons' Lodge, Maling's Rigg.

On May 14, 1830, the foundation-stone of the present

commodious chapel in Bridge Street was laid by the

Rev. William Turner, of Hanover Square chapel,

Newcastle. It was built from designs byT. Moor, Esq.

The cost of its erection was 1,000/., and it is capable of

accommodating 600 persons. The chapel is heated

with warm air. The Rev. John Wright was the first

minister ; and the present pastor is the Rev. R. Spears.

The Gospel Diffusion Chapel is in Upper Sans

Street, Bishopwearmouth. It was founded by the Rev.

J. H. Rutherford: the Rev. W. Telford is the present

minister.

The United Christian Church is a congregation

which holds its meetings in Crescent Row, Ballast

• In the report presented to parliament on non-pai-ocViial registers

(see vol. i , p. 36R), the Jews declined giving up their books, stating

tliat their registers were kept in the Hebrew language, and that they

were frequently required in connection with yarious obscrvancea of

thtir religion.

VOL. II.

Hills, and Assembly Hall, Sans Street, Bishopwear-

mouth ; Hugh Riddell, minister.

The Latter Day Saints meet in the Phoenix Lodge,

Queen Street.

Sailors' Bethel.—Meeting houses under the above

title arc situated in Church Street, Sunderland, andWear

Street, Monkwearmouth Shore. The latter was opened

October 8, 1843. The Rev. T. Clark is the resident

missionary, who preaches every Sunday morning in

Chm-ch Street meeting house, and in the evening in

that at Monkwearmouth. Service is performed in the

afternoon by ministers from the various denominations

in the town.

Jews' Synagooues.—The Polish Jews have for

many years assembled for worship in the house at the

foot of Vine Street, mentioned at |page 420 as the

residence of Col. Lilburn : it will hold upwards of 300

persons. The more modern or English Jews' synagogue

is situated in High Street : it is held in a distinct

building, adjoining Mr. Jacob Joseph's house, and will

accommodate about 200 persons.

There is a burial ground belonging to the Jews at the

south end of Crescent Row, Ayre's Quay, Bishopwear-

mouth. It is triangular in shape, containing 536 yards,

and was for many years isolated from buildings, but is

now bounded on the north and west by dwelling houses,

and on the east and south by vacant grounds. The

strata consists of a surface soil of one foot, below which

there is 4 feet of strong yellow clay, and sand impreg-

nated with water beneath it. Only 16 bodies were

bui-ied during the 10 years ending 1848. The depth of

each grave is feet. There are no vaults. A piece of

ground, 16 yards by 7 J, was added in 1848. A grave

once made is never re-opened.*

Total Religious Accommodation.—The number

of sittings provided by all religious bodies in the

borough "of Sunderland, in 1851, was 31,264, Avhich,

taking the population at 63,897, gives a proportion

of sittings of 48-9 per cent. To accommodate 58

per cent, of the population, 5,796 additional sittings

would be required.

t

t In the county, the number of sittings provided was 192,.396.

being a proportion of 407 per cent, in the gross, or 46-4 after deduct-

ing Ibr unctjual distribution, 'flie number of additional sittings re-

quired, in order to provide for 68 per cent, of the population, is

47,944.

O B,
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CHARITIES.

Sunderland Parish.

Donn{so7i's Charity.—Elizabeth Donnison, by will,

dated September 5, 1764, appointed trustees, who were

directed, after the death of her husbaud, to apply the

interest of 1,5007., iu the first place in defraying the

charges of the trust, and in the next place towards hiring

a house or room in the parish of Sunderland, convenient

for a charity-school, and towards employing a person to

teach the childi-cn thereinafter mentioned, with a salary

not exceeding 107., and that the overplus shoidd be

employed in clothing a competent number of poor girls

bom in the parish of Sunderland, who were to be

taught the English tongue, and spinning, sewing, and

knitting, in the said school, gratis ; and the said girls

and teachers should be appointed by the trustees, or the

major part of them ; that the girls shoidd not be nomi-

nated under seven years of age, nor remain after sixteen ;

and that the trustees for the time being, or the major

part of them, should have power to make such orders and

regulations for managing the said charity as they might

think fit. Trustees were from time to time nominated

to act with the rectors of Bishopwearmouth and Sunder-

land, and tlie owner of the estate of High Ford for the

time being. The present owner of that estate is Scur-

field Gray, Esq., of Norton; and the other trustees are

Christopher Bramwell and AVilliam Robinson, Esqrs.

The Commissioners for inquiring concerning Charities

report, " The information we received at Sunderland

with respect to the funds of this charity was, that they

consisted merely of a sum of 2,6147. 7s. Id. three per

cent, consols, standing in the names of the Rev. Robert

Gray, rector of Sunderland, and George Robinson, with

.John Goodchild and Timothy Parker, both deceased,

the amount of the stock having been increased from

time to time by investments of the surplus income. It

appeared, however, to us, that the sum above mentioned

did not include the whole of the stock which had been

so purchased ; and Mr. Gray having undertaken to make

further inquiries on the subject, he has discovered that

there was purchased, in addition to what he had been

before apprised of, 1,0567. 4s. 10(/. like stock, viz.,

in October, 1791, 1927. lis. Id. ; in September,

1796, 7117. 2s. 2J. ; and in October, 1800, 1527. Is.ld.

This sum of 1,0567. 4s. 10(7. stands in the names of the

Rev. William Paley, the Rev. George Scurfield, and

the Rev. John Hampson. These persons are all dead,

the last named having been the survivor. We are

assured that steps will immediately be taken to obtain a

transfer of this stock from the personal representative

of Mr. Hampson into the names of new trustees."—This

was iu due time effected.

The dividends on the sum of 2,6147. 7s. Id., amount-

ing to 787. 8s. 6f7. per annum, are received by the

Northumberland and Durham District Bank, by vir-

tue of a power of attorney. The trustees draw upon

the bank for such money as from time to time may be

required, and interest is allowed by the bankers on the

balance in their hand. A small addition to the income

formerly accrued from the work of the girls in the school,

which was accounted for to the trustees ; but no work is

now done for any one but themselves. Till 1828, the

trustees rented a school and residence for the mistress,

at 107. a year ; but a house was built about 25 years

ago, on a part of the Town Moor, with the consent of

the parishioners, for the residence of the school-

mistress, and an old school nearly adjoining thereto,

which had been built by the parishioners, was enlarged

and improved for the benefit of this charity. The

expense of these buildings and improvements amounted

to 5667., of which 4007. was given for the purpose by

one individual, and the residue was raised by subscrip-

tion. A rent of 67. a year is paid to the rector for the

school-room, which is situated at the north-east corner

of the church-yard. The schoolmistress formerly

received a salary of |207., with a profit on the girls'

work, which was afterwards raised to a fixed sum of

247. and a gratuity of 27. 2s. a year : it is now 307.

She instructs 36 poor girls of the parish, appointed by

the rector, with the concurrence of the other trustees.

The children are taught reading and writing, the four

first rules of arithmetic, and needle-work ; they are also

instructed in the principles of the Established Church,

as well as in church music, and are required to attend

church every Sunday, Wednesday, Friday, and saint's

day. On their admission into the school, each girl re-

ceives a completeset of clothing; and they are all provided

with two dresses in every year. During the time they re-

main at school, they are supplied with spelling-books

and other school requisites ; and on leaving, they each re-

ceive a Bible. The average expense of the clothing for

the girls is about 487. a year. The accounts are kept

by the rector, to whom the management of the charity

is chiefly left ; they are audited h.ilf-yearly. Qn the

31st July, 1855, there was a balance in hand of 1127. 10s.,

which was subject to the expenditure of the current

half-year up to Christmas.

Waltoti's Charity.—Edward Walton, a member of

the Society of Friends, in 1768 directed, amongst other
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things, that the interest of one-fourth of the money be-

queathed by him for charitable uses should be paid to a

schoolmaster or schoolmistress at S.underland, under the

directionof the monthly meeting of the Society of Friends

at Newcastle, according to certain rules which he pre-

scribed for this and three other schools founded by him

in Bishop Auckland, Shildon, and Shotton. Some time

appears to have elapsed after the death of the testator

before any school was established at or near Sunderland ;

but with the income, which in the interval accumulated,

a school-house was afterwards built in Bishopwearmouth,

and the fee of the ground on which it stands was

subsequently purchased. For several years a school

was carried on in this house ; but it was afterwards

thought more advisable to send a certain number of

children to a master keeping a school on his own account

in Bishopwearmouth, under the imjiression that the

acting trustees were thus enabled to select the best master

that the neighbourhood afforded. In pursuance of this

scheme, the upper part of the old school-house was let

for 61. 6s. a year, the lower part being reserved for an

infant school ; and the rent was added to the yearly sum

of 30/., being one-fourth of the annual dividends of the

stock belonging to this charity. The premises have

since been sold to Messrs. Vint and Carr, and are used

as a printing office for the " Sunderland Herald." The
interest of the purchase money is added to the funds of

the charity. Out of the income, 20/. was paid to a

schoolmaster in Bishopwearmouth, who for this sum
in.structed 16 children of Sunderland and Bishopwear-

mouth, appointed by a committee from the monthly

meeting of Newcastle ; but by sending the cliildren to

the British and Foreign School, the number has been in-

creased to 20. In the selection of children, preference is

given to those whose parents or connexions are or have

been members of the Society of Friends ; and in the next

place, orphans, or the children of widows, and those who
from bodily infirmity arc not likely to be able to get a

livelihood by manual labour, arc preferred ; the children

are generally appointed when about 10 or 12 years of

age. Out of the income, 4/. per annum is laid out in

supplying books for the scholars, and the residue has of

late years been reserved for binding out apprentices. A
committee, appointed by the monthly meeting at New-
castle, visit the school regularly, and supply the vacancies

of children. The accounts arc kept by E. Backhouse,

jun., one of the Society of Friends.

Alms-houses.—There are two alms-houses, containing

eight apartments, in Church Street, Sunderland, which
have long been in the possession of the Freemen and

Stallingers of Sunderland, who from time to time, as

vacancies occur, appoint widows of poor persons of

Sunderland to succeed to the apartments. The alms-

people had formerly no other allowance but what they

received from the parish rates ; but the rector now
gives a sum, amounting to about \l. 12s. a year each,

from the Sacrament contributions. The buildings are

very old, and have been kept in repair out of the rents

of the Moor and other property held by the freemen.

Williamson's Charity.—The sum of 2/. annually is

paid by the agents of Sir Hedworth Williamson (see

MoNKWEAEMouTH Charities), and was formerly im-

properly applied in aid of the poor's rate, but is now
received by the churchwardens, and distributed to the

poor every Whit-Tuesday, along with the money col-

lected in the parish church poor-box.

Pottery Lease.—There is a large plot of ground to

the east of Sunderland, which, on May 13, 1820, was

granted by four freemen on a 21 years' lease, for a

pottery, at the yearly rent of 10/., which sum was

intended for the use of the poor ; but, in 1829, nothing

had been paid for that purpose. It was stated to the

Commissioners for inquiring concerning Charities, that

the lease was granted pending some disputes which had

arisen as to the right to the Moor, of which the property

in question forms a part ; but, though declining to

enter into the question as to the title of the Freemen

and -Stallingers to the premises, the commissioners con-

clude that " the rent hitherto received under the lease

ought to have been distributed to the poor, to whose

use it was reserved ; and that in future, during the

existence of this lease, the yearly rent ought to be

distributed in like manner." The 10/. a year has,

however, been hitherto paid to the freemen's fund, and

not to the poor. The lease is now about to be renewed,

when the rents will be paid to the Principals and Go-

vernors of the Orphan Asylum. No distinct evidence

could be had by the commissioners relative to another

lease, said to have been granted about the same time, in

which a rent of 5/. had been reserved for the poor in a

similar manner.

National, or " Gray''' Schools.—In April, 1822, a

Methodist chapel in Vine Street was sold for 950/. to

the Rev. Robert Gray, rector of Sunderland, and the

other trustees for founding and establishing a school for

the education and religious instruction of the children of

the poor; and, in 1827, an adjoining parcel of ground

was purchased for 285/., as a site for the residence of

the master and mistress of the schools. On September

3, 1823, Elizabeth Woodcock, widow, transferred, in the
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name of the trustees of these schools, 1,000/. new four

per cent, stock, as a permanent endowment for their

support. The cost of enlarging the building and erect-

ing the dwelling houses was defrayed by subscription.

The dividends from the stock given by Mrs. Woodcock,

amounting to 40/. per annum, are received by tlie

rector of Sunderland, to whom also 20/. a year is paid

by the trustees of Lord Crewe's Charity, and an annual

subscription to the amount of 4/. 4s. " These receipts,"

say the Commissioners, " fall far short of the expenses

incurred in supporting the national schools : about 100/.

a year is paid to the schoolmaster and schoolmistress as

their salaries, and the annual disbursements amount

altogether upon an average to about 160/. a year."

The difference was paid by the Rev. Robert Gray, the

rector, who undertook the management of the schools.

By indenture, dated September 13, 1838, and en-

rolled in the High Court of Chancery on the 17th of

the same month, between the Freemen and Stallingers

of Sunderland of the one part, and the Rev. William

AVebb, rector, of the other part, the said Freemen and

Stallingers granted to the said William Webb and his

successors an annuity of 31/. 10s., charged upon the

Town Moor, to be paid at or in tlie porch of Sunder-

land church, between the hours of ten and twelve

o'clock on the 1st of July in every year, without de-

duction, and with powers of distress and entry in case

of default in payment. The said William Webb and

his successors were to stand seised of the said annuity

in trust to pay the same to the treasui'cr for the time

being of " The Gray Schools," to be api^lied for the

purposes of that institution, u]ion condition that the

Freemen and Stallingers should at all times thereafter

be allowed to place in the said schools 42 cliildren to

be instructed free of charge. In case the schools should

be dissolved or discontinued, or the managers or trus-

tees should refuse to instruct any child appointed by

the Freemen and Stallingers, the grant was to cease

;

provided that the governors and managers might ex-

pel any child for reasonable cause. Each Freeman was

to have the privilege of nominating two children, and

each Stallinger one child to the school j no child to be

eligible unless his or her parents were parishioners of or

were resident in the parish of Sunderlimd, or unless

such child were the issue of a seaman or of a fisherman

belonging to the port of Sunderland, though living in

any part of the adjoining parishes.

By the 10th section of " The Sunderland Orphan
Asylum Act, 1853," the right of nominating 42 children

to the " Gray Schools" is transferred to the Princij)ais

and Governors of that corporation. The 11th section

recites that " whereas the buildings and premises be-

longing to the said Gray Schools are inconveniently

situated, and are not sufficiently capacious to accom-

modate the children therein, and it is desii-able that the

same should be rebuilt, and whereas part of the said

Town Moor might be conveniently appropriated for that

purpose : Be it therefore enacted, That it shall be law-

ful for the corporation [of the Asylum], and they are

hereby required, upon the application in writing of the

rector for the time being of the rectory and parish

church of Sunderland requiring them so to do, to set

out and appropriate a part of the said Town Moor, not

exceeding half an acre in extent, convenient as to si-

tuation, as and for a site for the new school, and to con-

vey and assure the same when so set out unto the rector

for the time being of the said rectory and parish church of

Sunderland, to be held by him and his successors, rec-

tors of the said parish, in trust for the said Gray School,

and to the end and intent that fit and proper buildings

for the purposes of the said school may be erected and

built thereon." In the two following sections it is pro-

vided that 400/. shall be paid from the Asylum fund to

the rector, " to be by him expended in erecting and

building such fit and proper buildings as last aforesaid ;"

and that the Bishop of Durham, patron of the Asylum,

shall have the right of nominating two children to be

instructed in the schools without charge.

All the children of Sunderland and the neighbouring

parishes are admitted to the schools on the payment of

Id. per week, and instructed on the national system.

The Rev. D. J. Stewart paid his official visit to the

boys' school on the 11th July, 1853, when there were

247 children present at examination. During the pre^

ceding twelve months, 230 had left and 250 been ad-

mitted; the average attendance having been 218. The

general observations were

—

" Buildings, no change has taken place. Sis loose desks. No
play ground. Books, method, discipline, and instruction fair. Orga-

nization ; standard of classification : reading. Eight classes for

general work, under a master, with certificate of merit, and four pupil

teachers ; three divisions for Scripture and history lessons ; one group

for arithmetic. Each pupil teacher is confined to one class for nine

weeks."

The inspector visited the girls' school on the 1st of

July following, when 190 were present at examination ;

190 had left during the year ; 200 had been admitted ;

and the average attendance was 174. General

observations :

—

" Buildings, one large room over the boys. Desks, five loose. No
play ground. Books, methods, discipline, and instruction fair. Or-
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ganization; standard of classification: reading and arithmetic. Eight

classes for general work, under a mistress, with certificate of merit,

and five pupil teachers ; four divisions for Scripture lessons. There

is no particular rule followed in the division of the classes among the

pupil teachers."

" The returns of the Gray school for the past year,"

says Mr. Stewart, " show in a striking manner the fluc-

tuations of a school which has to contend with a dis-

organised population. With an average attendance of

892, tlicre have been 450 fresh admissions duiiug the

year. Whenever I have visited this institution, at least

one half of the children, both on account of age and

attainments, would have been more profitably employed

in an infant school."

The school-rooms and premises have been recently

sold to Messrs. White and Son, for 9001. ; and a new

building is about to be erected on suitable ground on

the Moor, near Trinity Place, in accordance with the

provisions of the act.

ChAEITIES in BiSHOPWEARMOtJTH PARISH.

Scurjicld's Charity.—On March 8, 1819, Dorothy

Scurficld, amongst other charities, bequeathed the sum

of 1/. 1a'. to be paid yearly to tlie schoolmistress of the

national school in this parish.

Grat/s Charity.—The Rev. Robert Gray, D.D.,

then rector of Bishopwcarmouth, in 1825 gave 30/.,

the interest to be paid yearly towards the salary of the

master of the national school erected in Bishopwcar-

mouth in 1808. The interest is applied accordingly.

Gibson's Alms-houses.—Jane Gibson, by will, dated

Jnly 14, 1725, gave to Isabel Reed, of Bishopwcar-

mouth, \vidow, 1,400/., to purchase ground, and to build

thereon 12 rooms, in the parish of Bishopwcarmouth,

or Sunderland, and that the sum remaining after build-

ing the rooms was to be put out at interest, to be paid

yearly to 12 poor persons chosen by the said Isabel

Kced, her heirs and assigns, preferring tlie relations of

She said Jane Gibson. The said Isabel Reed married

Ralph Robinson, Esq., of Middle Ilerrington, and, with

her husband, fulfilled and enlarged the intention of the

foundress, built the hospital on her own ground, and

laid out 1,000/. in the purchase of copyhold lands; and

the appointment became vested, under the will of the

foundress, and by a subsequent decree, in the family of

Mowbray, the dcsccndcnts and representatives of Isabel

Reed.

The alms-house is situated on the east side of the

church-yard, and forms three sides of a square, open to

the west. It comprises 12 apartments, sis above and

six below. The copyhold premises with which the

charity is endowed consist of a farm-house and out-

buildings, and 21 acres of land, let at a yearly rent of

108/. ; and 4^ acres, let at a rent of 24/. The rents,

amounting to 132/. per annum, are received by Thomas

Hopper, Esq., of Silksworth, one of the trustees, and

divided half-yearly between the 12 inmates of the alms-

house equally. The alms-people are appointed by the

representative of the Mowbray family. When an

inmate dies, no salary is paid to her successor for the

first half-year ; and this portion of the rents is carried

to a separate account for repairs.

Botocs's Alms-house, and Ogles Cliarity.—There is

on Bishopwcarmouth Green an alms-house, containing

apartments for 12 women, which, as it appears from an

inscription on the building, was founded by the Rev.

John Bowes, rector of Bishopwcarmouth, in 1725. The

inmates are appointed by the rector of the parish. The

only endowment arises from the will of Dr. Thomas

Ogle, dated in 1725, who, as it appears from a table of

benefactions in the church, charged his estate in Stain-

ton with the yearly payment of 5/. to the poor of these

alms-houses, redeemable on payment of 100/. This

sum was afterwards paid to tlie dean and chapter of

Durham, and from them 5/. is received annually by the

rector, who gives 5s. at Christmas to each of the alms-

women, and the remaining 2/. is applied in occasional

repairs.

Maritime Institution.—By indenture, dated August

29, 1820, Elizabeth Woodcock, widow, conveyed to the

Rev. Robert Gray, rector of Bishopwcarmouth, the

Rev. Robert Gray, rector of Sunderland, the Rev.

Thomas Baker, rector of Whitburn, Charles Simpson,

Nathan Horn, and John Davidson, a piece of ground

containing 55 yards by 30, near Crow Tree Lane, and

10 houses which she had erected thereon as alms-

houses ; and she also invested in the names of the said

rectors and J. Davidson 3,333/. 6s. M. consols, and

833/. 6s. 8(/. reduced annuities, in trust, to permit the

said alms-houses to be enjoyed by 10 women of the age

of 56 or upwards, being of irreproachable moral cha-

racter, members of tlie Church of England, widows ox

unmarried daughters of master mariners of Sunderland,

not receiving relief from the rates, nor any one having

for her own use a clear income of 20/. a year ; the said

women to be a])poiuted by Elizabeth Woodcock during

her life, and afterwards by a majority of the trustees.

One of the women was to be appointed matron, and

they were all to observe rules prescribed for their con-

duct. By these it was provided, amongst other things.
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that the matron should attend church twice every Sun-

day in Bishopwcarmouth or Sunderland, and see that

the other ahns-women attended, and that they assisted

each other in sickness ; she was to keep the keys of the

gate ; and, in case of her becoming incapable to do her

duty, the trustees might appoint a person to act for her,

or appoint another matron. If any of the alms-women

should mai'ry, or if any of them should fail to comply

with the rules, or otherwise misbehave themselves,

they might be removed by the founder or trustees.

The dividends arising from the consols before mentioned,

amounting to 100/., were to be equally divided amongst

the said ten women ; and those from the reduced an-

nuities, 251., were to pay for the insurance of the pre-

mises and the furniture therein, improving and repairing

the buildings, 41. a year extra for the matron, the costs

and expenses incurred in the trust, 51. per annum to

the treasuier for keeping the accounts, and the expenses

of the funeral of any of the alms-women dying without

leaving sufEcient effects for that purpose. The rectors

of the three parishes above named, for the time being,

are to be trustees ; and the successors of the others are

to be appointed by the survivors.

Elizabeth WoodcocJc's Charities.*—In addition to

the endowment of the Maritime Institution, Mrs. Wood-
cock bequeathed to the same trustees the fiu'ther sum
of 2,000/. three per cent, consols, in trust, to pay the

dividend thereof for the benefit and towards the support

and maintenance, as well ofthe Church of England charity

schools established at Sunderland and Bishopwearmouth,

as of the aged poor in those places, in equal shares.

She also bequeathed 200/. three and a half per cent,

stock to the same trustees, the interest thereof to supply

coals and an annual dinner to tho alms-house pensioners

;

also 5/. and a suit of mourning to each of the said pen-

sioners, and 100/. sterling to each of the six trustees for

their trouble. AH these bequests were free from legacy

duty.

At the annual meeting of the trustees, January 29,

1844, the funds were divided as follows :—To the Ship-

wrecked Mariners' Society and the Master Mariners'

Society, 20/. 7s. Sd. each ; to the Bishopwearmouth and

Sunderland Indigent Sick Society, instituted by the

late Rev. Robert Gray, A.M., 6/. 15s. \\d., to the

Bishopwearmouth and Sunderland Indigent Sick

• Mrs. Woodcock, a native of Sunderland, died at Cheltenham,

March, 20, 1841, aged 80. She waa a liberal patroness to the in-

stitutions of the town ; and her prirate charities were also extensive.

The poor always found in her a kind benefactress, and no appeal to her

benevolence was ever made in vain.

Society, Edward Backhouse, Esq., treasurer, 3/. 8s.

;

to the Sunderland Churchmen's Benevolent Society,

5/. Is. \\d.; St. Thomas's church Benevolent Society,

1/. 14s. ; to the Bishopwearmouth Churchmen's Bene-

volent Society, 2/. 7s. Qd. ; Sunderland Lying-in Charity,

3/. 8s.; Whitburn Life-boat Fund, U. 8s.—Total,

66/. 18s. lOf/. The trustees determined to meet annually,

on the tliird Monday in January, alternately at Sunder-

land and Bishopwearmouth vestries, to distribute the

future dividends. The above scale of distribution is

continued.

Charity in MoNKWEARMorTH Parish.

Williamson's Charity.—Dame Dorothy Williamson,

who died November 4, 1699, gave the following yearly

stuns, charged upon the Williamson- estates in Monk-
wearmouth, to the poor of the different townships :—To

North Wearmouth Shore, 3/. ; to Sunderland, 21. ; and

to Bishopwearmouth, North AVearmouth town, Hylton,

Southwick, and Fulwell, 1/. each. The money intended

for the Monkwearmouth townships was, some years ago,

improperly carried to the accounts of the respective

overseers ; but it is now distributed in charity to the

poor.

Charities in the Townships of Ford and Ryhope.

Scurjiehrs Charity.—Dorothy Scurfield, mentioned

under the head of Bishopwearmouth, bequeathed 1/. Is.

yearly, which is paid to the master of a small school at

Hylton Ferry, in the township of Ford, who, in con-

sideration of it, teaches two cliildren free ; and 21. 2s.

to the master of a school at Ryhope, for which four

children are taught free.

MUSTER ROLL.

In the 20th year of the reign of George II., an act was

passed, intituled, " An Act for the Relief and Support

of maimed and disabled Seamen, and the Widows and

Children of such as shall be killed, slain, or drowned

in the Merchants' Service." Under this act, aU ships

in the merchant service, registered at Sunderland, paid

6d. per month to the funds of this institution, for every

sailor on board, whilst employed ; the act directs a pro-

portionate deduction from the seamen's wages ; but, at

the port of Sunderland, the owners paid it themselves.

In 1750, the trustees under the act purchased the

Assembly Room and adjacent buildings, at the head of

Church Street, for 148/. The premises comprise a large

square or green, called the Assembly Garth, of which
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the west side is formed by tlie ball-room, approaclied

by a flight of steps ; the north and south sides consist

of dwelling houses ; and the east side is separated from

Church Street by a wall and railing. The buildings

originally contained thirty-eight rooms, appropriated

for the reception of superannuated sailors or their

widows. Persons possessed of these dwellings were

not entitled to further relief; but other claimants on

the institution were allowed, for a sailor, 2s. per month

;

for a widow, the same; and for each child, under 14

years of age. Is. The institution is governed by fifteen

trustees, elected annually, who hold their meetings in

the Assembly Room. On April, 1849, the trustees

commenced pulling down the old houses, forming

the south wing of the Garth; and a new one,

capable of accommodating double the number of

inmates, has been erected. The trustees are still

elected as at first, but act under the provisions of

the Mercantile Marine Act, for the registering of

seamen, &c., passed in 1835, by which the institution

is placed under government control. Major Charles

Frederick Parkinson is the present superintendent.

The " Assembly Room" is now called " Seaman's

Hall." In July, 1852, the decayed seamen, widows,

and children of seamen, in receipt of pensions from the

Muster Roll fund, received, according to a new regu-

lation, three months' pension in advance, instead of

receiving it monthly, as was the previous custom. Sea-

men not being now compelled to contribute to the

Muster Roll, the greatest part of the money paid to

the present pensioners is supplied by government. It

was calculated, at the date referred to, that all clauns

by existing and future pensioners on the fund would

be extinguished in about 30 years.

The Aged Seamoi's Asylum, Trafalgar Sqxiare,

is under the same superintendence as the Muster Roll.

The inscription above the entrance states that it was
" Erected under the 4th and 5th of Wm. IV., 1840.—
Trustees—Martin Lonie, And. Muir, S. L. Howe, Geo.

Cook, Thos. Rickaby, W. Nicholson, J. L. Cooper,

Jno. Crozier, Jno. Rowe, J. G. Gourley, R. Atkinson,

Jno. Lambton, Jno. Atkin, Jno. Tulley. Geo. Hood,
Sect." The square contains eleven plain brick double

houses, surrounding a green, in the centre of which is

a fountain. In the front is an iron palisading and gate.

The building was erected by subscription.

The Society for the Relief of the Widoms and
Children of Shipwrecked M.\rineus is supported
by voluntary subscriptions and donations.

SAILORS' HOME.

This useful institution was established in 1852, for the

purpose of affording to seamen an asylum on their

arrival in port, where they can be comfortably lodged,

and be secured from those temptations to extravagance

and dissipation which are so commonly thrown in their

way. A secure place of deposit is also afforded for

their hard-earned wages, until they have an opportunity

of returning to their respective homes. The Bishop of

Durham is patron ; and the mayor of Sunderland, for

the time being, president. The business is managed
by a board of directors ; and the Home is in the charge

of a paid manager. The charge for boarding each sea-

man is 12s. per week, of which 9*. %d. is expended for

board, and the remaining 2s. ^d. in assisting to pay the

manager's salary, rent, firing, &c. The men in the Home
have the use of a good library and periodicals. The
scriptures and other religious books are also freely cir-

culated amongst the seamen while in the house, and on

leaving for long and distant voyages. During the two

years and a half ending January 9, 1855, 1,250 seamen

had entered the Home, and had conducted themse Ives

in an orderly and respectful manner ; whilst 1,820/.

had been deposited in the safe keeping of the manager,

and in numerous instances forwarded by him, at the

request of the seamen, to their families. The amount

of donations received on the furnishing account from

the commencement to December, 1854, was 225?. 7s.,

of which, after paying all charges, 40/. Is. Id. was car-

ried to the credit of the maintenance account. The

amount of subscriptions on the maintenance account,

from June 30, 1853, to the date last mentioned, vt'as

156/. 4s. lOJ. ; and 80/. 3s. Id. was allowed by the

manager as a proportion of the seamen's board. The

expenditure was 273/. 17s. 9(/. ; of which 89/. 4s. was

for the manager's salary, assistance, and washing

;

46/. 16s. 4rf. for servants and gas; 40/. for rent;

18/. Zs. 4</. for rates; 43/. 17s. hd. under the head of

sundry expenses ; and the remainder for coals, earthen-

ware, plumbing work, printing, advertising, and other

charges. The premises rented in the Exchange Com-

mercial Buildings having became inadequate to the

increasing requirements of the Home, the directors

came to the conclusion that a new building ought to be

erected, in a suitable locality, with every convenience
;

and a site on the old Custom-house ground, fronting

the Moor, was selected for the purpose, for the purchase

of which, and the erection of the house, a subscription

has been commenced.
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INFIRMARY AND DISPENSARY.

The establishment of the Sunderland Humane Society

took place in 1791, in consequence of the death of a

person, who, whilst batliing, was seized with apoplexy,

and died for want of the proper means of resuscitation.

Mr. Bernard Ogden having applied for and procured a

set of apparatus from the Royal Humane Society of Lon-

don, receiving houses were appointed in suitable places

adjoining the river, each provided with a complete set

of apparatus ; drags were placed in many parts, and every

appointment of the society completed.

An extraordinary committee of the Humane Society

was formed in January, 1794, expressly to take into

consideration the means likely to lead to the establish-

ment of a Dispensary. From this committee anaddress

issued to the coal-owners, ship-owners, and others

;

a considerable subscription was obtained, and the Dis-

pensary established in May, 1794; when Drs. Scott

and Brown were appointed physicians ; Messrs. Greg-

son, Ferguson, Eden, and AVatson, surgeons ; and Mr.

J. T. Robinson, house apothecary. At a general meet-

ing of the Humane Society, held on the 4th of June

following, that institution was incorporated with the

Dispensary, and its funds transferred accordingly. A
house in Villiers Street was occupied as the Dispensary.

The vast increase of the population of the district,

• J .W. EwBANK, R.S.A.—No more striking or painful instance of

the degradation of genius is on record than that presented in the life

of Mr. Ewbank, who died in the Infirmary at Sunderland, on the 28th

ofNovember, 1847. This talented man is said to have been born about

the year 1799, either in Gateshead or Newcastle-upon-Tyne. While

young, he was apprenticed to Mr. Henry Coulson, decorative painter,

of the latter town, in whose service he had enlarged opportunities of

indulging his artistic tastes. At the close of his apprenticeship, he

removed to Edinburgh, where the principal contemporary painters

recognized in the yoiuig artist the germs of a future, and by no me;uis

ordinary fame. Enthusiastic in his art, he threw off the routine of a

mere copyist, and betook himself to the study of nature ; filling his

sketch book with the fruits of several professional tours in the High-

lands and other parts of Scotland. His talent soon procured hira

notice and distinction ; and he became celebrated botli as a painter and

teacher of drawing. Pupils flocked around him ; and his pencils,

which he had expressly manufactured for himself, were generally

adopted by artists. Marine subjects were his favourites ; and in them

he excelled. About the peri(>d at which he became a member of the

Scottish Royal Academy, he produced two large pictures, which were

both highly praised ; the subject of the one being "The Entry of

George IV. into Edinburgh," and the other, " The Entry of Alex-

ander the Great into Babylon." Another of his productions at tills

time, " A View of Edinburgh from Inchkeith," has been charac-

terised as one of the highest of its class.

But whilst thus in the high road to fame and competence, his moral

firmness was giving way before a gradual but rapidly progressivt ad.

diction to convivial pleasures. The declension uom respectability to

and other circumstances, having rendered a more ex-

tended and efficient medical establishment necessary,

the members of the above institution convened a meeting

of the inhabitants of Sunderland, Bishopwearmouth, and

their vicinities, which was held on November 16, 1818,

at the Exchange, the Rev. Dr. Gray, rector of Bishop-

wearmouth, in the chair, to consider the expediency of

establishing an infirmary. Some delay took place before

all the difficulties in the way of this great undertaking

were removed ; but on January 10, 1823, the founda-

tion-stone of the Infirmary was laid by the Right Hon.

Lord Stewart, afterwards Marquis of Londonderry.

The building, which cost 3,000/., occupies an airy

situation near the Durham road, Bishopwearmouth.

The front, which is towards the south-east, is of brick,

and the ends and back part of rough stone. The
building consists of a grotind and a first floor. It is

surrounded by a small garden, enclosed by a wall and

iron palisading. The gateway is supported by stone

pillars, near which is a porter's lodge. In 1855, part

of the ground floor was appropriated for a free accident

ward, and fitted up with five beds. There are in the

house 19 beds for the accommodation of patients, and

12 beds for fever cases.

This useful institution is supported by donations and

annual subscriptions, and has proved of immense service

in numberless instances of distress and suffering,* as well

drunkenness, and from thence to the lowest state ofhuman degradation

and misery, has been too often exemplified to require description. With
poor Ewbank, the fall was apparently in-etrievable. While bitterly

lamenting Ms misfortunes, and feelingly contrasting his condition with

that of more prosperous da}'s, he often formed resolutions of amend-

ment, which, unfortunately, he had not fortitude to put in execution.

His friends in Newcastle, Sunderland, and Shields, made repeated

efforts to restore him to a position in society, but without success.

" The history of this talented but unfortunate man, for many years

past," says a recent writer, " is the history of debauchery and misery,

in which all related to him have been involved. His domicile

was literally the abode of want. A solitary chair and a pile or two

of bricks, were the only articles in the shape of furniture in

his dwelling. The window sill served him for an easel. Under
such circumstances, the numerous pictures painted during the

last ten or twelve years of his life were produced. Tliese were

generally painted on a piece of tin—within an hour—and sold

when wet, for 6d. or Is.—which went to supply the craving necessity

of the hour. For many years, his productions were rather the wreckg

than the works of the artist. They did not exhibit many of those beau-

ties that earned for him his early fame. Some ofthem are distinguished

by correct drawing and faultless perspective ; but the majority have

been managed in a dirty and slovenly manner." Another source of

income wiis derived from pencil sketches of landscapes, executed on

small cards, and embodying the recollections of happier days, when,

with liis port-folio and pencil, he wandered amongst the beautiful and

romantic scenery of the north. In the sale of these productions, he

was assisted by a very young girl, his daughter, who, with himself,
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!is to the community in which it is placed. The num-

ber of Dispensary cases for the year ending May 31,

185.5, was 1,641, "being an increase of 101 over the

preceding year ; in-door patients in the Infirmary, 95

;

and in the fever ward, 44 ; being, in all. 111 over the

previous year in the different departments." There

were, at the above date, 437 patients remaining on the

books.

The institution is under the patronage of the Lord

Bishop of Durham ; and the present presidents are,

the Duke of Cleveland, Earl Vane, the Earl of Durham,

Viscount Boyne, Lord Ravensworth, Lord William

Powlctt, Sir Hedworth Williamson, Bart., and the

Rev. J. P. Eden. Earl Vane, the Rev. William Webb,

R. B. Cay, Esq., Christopher Bramwell, Esq., and H.

Tanner, Esq., are proprietory trustees; Sir Hedworth

Williamson, Bart., E. Backhouse, jun., Esq., and the

Rev. Richard Skipsey, acting trustees ; the Rev. Thos.

Baker, the Rev. Henry Peters, George Hudson, M.P.,

Edward Backhouse, Robert Fenwick, William Bell,

John Fawcett, Joseph John Wright, Nathan Horn,

George Hudson (Grange), Henry Tanner, and Barna-

might be seen wandering from shop to shop for the purpose, in the

most squalid and tattered attire. Perhaps the most distressing portion

of this melancholy history is to be found in the following communica-

tion, which appeared a few years ago, in the columns of a local paper ;

—

"I have in my painting room, in Sunderland, a portrait of great merit,

painted, I think, by Sirams of Edinburgh. The subject is a child of

about three years of age, who, not afraid of soiling her white dress, has

seated herself at the foot of a tree, and placed her bonnet by her side.

She is employed in arranging a bunch of flowers. The beauty of the

rose, the wild walltlowcr, and the honeysuckle, increase the loveliness

of the girl, who, while arranging her treasure, regards the spectator

\tnth an arch expression of childish joyousness. Beauty sparkles from

her dark eyes, and lurks in her rosy cheeks dimpled with smiles. It

is a very personification of innocence and beauty, which, for some 20

years, has smiled from that canvas, the admiration of all who can

appreciate—and who does not appreciate infantine loveliness ? Last

week's record of crime, in your paper, stated that the subject of this

beautiful painting had come under the hands of justice for the nine-

teenth time. This unfortunate yoiing woman was that lovely child,

and a daughter of Ewbanlc's. The freedom of sunshine and perfume of

flowers has been excliangod for the gloom and damp of a prison. This

is one of the painful contrasts in life, shewn in this suffering child of

sorrow—the unfortunate daughter of an unfortunate parent."

Whilst residing in Sunderland, Ewbank was seized by fever : he
was admitted into the Infirmary, where his constitution, originally

strong, but enervated by bad usage, svink under the attack.

* Dii. Brown.—Dr. Joseph Brown, it appears, was bom at North
Sliields, and was the seventh son of Mr. George Brown, a highly re-

spectable member of the Society of Friends, and an enlightened

scholar. The education of his son Joseph was the usual liberal edu-

cation of a young gentleman of the period. He made choice of the

medical profession ; and after the usual matriculation and college and

hospital study in Edijiburgh and London, he entered the army. The
commencement of the year 180S saw the future physician in a medi-

cal capacity in Jersey, from whence he was scut abroad to join the

VOL. II.

bas Sharp, Esqrs., vice-presidents ; H. Thompson, Esq.,

treasurer ; Drs. Brown,* Burn, and Morris, physicians ;

Messrs. Mordey, Maling, Dixon, and Parker, surgeons ;

and Mr. Edward Pilkington, apothecary and surgeon.

There is a managing committee of sixteen, of whom
three constitute a finance- committee, and three a house

committee.

The accounts for the year ending June 1, 1855, were

as follow :

—

Receipts. £. s. d.

Subscriptions for Dispensary tickets £509 6

„ „ Infirmary do 99 15

609 1

Donations for current expenses 41 5

In-door patients, from Sunderland Union, &c 90 7 10

Interest 136 16 6

Returns from income tax and insurance premiums ... Gil 5

Loan from capital account 63 2 6

Balance due the treasurer 1 3

£948 4 6

Expenditure. £. s. d.

Balance from previous year's account 6 6 4

Medicines, instruments, &c 293 18

Carried forward £300 4 4

staff corps of cavalry in the Peninsular army of AVellington. Mr.

BrovNTi was present at the battles of Busaco, Albuera, Vittoria, the

Pyrennees, and Nivelle, besides the first siege of Badajos. He remained

discharging his arduous duties in Portugal and Spain until the

peace of 1814, when he returned to his native country. In the

following year, however, he was recalled, and remained in Paris from

its second capture, and the close of the great revolutionary war, to

the final withdrawal of the army of occupation iu 1818. During this

period of eoaiparativc rest, Mr. Brown devoted much of his time to

French literature, whilst at the same time he saw many of the great

men, and witnessed some of the most striking events of the century.

He saw the troops of England keeping guard in the Place de la Con-

corde, and the taking down, for restoration to their exulting owners,

of the chef-de-aucres of Italian and Flemish art, and the removal of

the miracles of Guido and RapV ael from the humbled walls of the

LouvTC. On Mr. Bro-mi's return to England, he obtained, in 1819,

liis degree of M.D. in Edinburgh; and in the same year married the

accomplished daughter of Lieut. Col. Aird, a lady of such brilliant

personal attractions, that Byron, dujing his hymeneal visit to the

north, pronounced her the most perfect beauty he had ever seen. It

was about this period that Dr. Brown fairly settled in Sunderland,

where his ability, industry, and general high qualities very speedily

gave him professional pre-eminence. As a medical wiiter. Dr. Bruwn

ranks higli in the professional world. He has publislied essays on

fever, diseases of the heart, &c., and was the first writer of eminence

on cholera. He contributed several articles to the Cyclopedia of

Practical Medicine, and was on the staff of the British imd Foreign

Medical and Quarterly Review; and in 1851, published a "Defence of

Revealed Religion ;" a work which is regarded as the best popular

compendium on that important subject. During nearly twenty years.

Dr. Brown has been a justice of the peace, for the last fourteen years

an nlilerm.nn of the borough, and in 1840 filled the office of mayor ;

and notwithstanding his numerous professicm.il duties, no man has

!
t.iken a warmer interest, or a larger amount of labour in general

public aflUiis than Dr. Brown.

3s
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Brought forward £300 4 4

House expenses 361 12 10

Gate-keeper, delivering notices U 16 2

Gas and water 13 7 8

House surgeon, one year's salary 100

Assistant, 49 weeks ... 61 9

Humane Society, rewards for saving life 2 15

Collector's poundage and receipt stamps 30 12 11

Stationary, printing, insurance, tradesmen's bills, &c. 76 6 7

£948 4 6

The capital account, on June 1, 1855, stood as

follows :

—

£. 3 d.

£1,713 7s. 3d. 3 per cent, consols, at par 1,713 7 3

Corporation of Sunderland, loan on bond 2,000

Collected at churches and chapels on ^thanksgiving

day for harvest 88 9 11

Donations towards maintenance of free accident ward 600

4,401 17 2

Repaid current expenditure account 63 2 6

£4,338 14 8

The stations of the Humane Society, on the south

side of the Wear, are, the engineer's office, pier works
;

the Exchange, High Street; Earl of Durham's office,

west of the bridge ; the paper mill, Southwick Boat

;

emd Mr. Gales's ship-building yard, Hylton. On the

north side, Roker Hotel ; Sir Hedworth Williamson's

office, North Quay ; and Messrs. Hall's building-yard,

near the brid^re.

THE EYE INFIRMARY,

Established June 13, 1836, is held in Numbers Garth,

Bishopwearmouth : it is open from one to two o'clock

every Monday, Tuesday, Thursday, and Saturday.

Between 400 and 500 patients are admitted annually,

and the application of medical or surgical means has

thus been affiarded, which the sufflsrcrs could not have

commanded but for the establishment of this valuable

institution.

LYING-IN CHARITIES.

The Sunderland Lying-in Charity, for the relief of

poor and industrious married women, is in Wear Street,

Bishopwearmouth, and is under the patronage of the

Marchioness of Londonderry. Visitors to women at

their own houses are appointed, who, besides granting

the ordinaiy assistance, give Uncn, bread, soap, &c., as

may be thought most proper. There is a similar

institution in Monkwearmouth.

BISHOPWEARMOUTH AND SUNDERLAND
INDIGENT SICK SOCIETY

Was constituted January 23, 1827, by the Rev. Robert

Gray, rector of Sunderland, for the purpose of afibrding

reUef to working men, disabled by sickness from follow-

ing their employment. The Rev. John Patrick Eden
is the present patron, and the Rev. Henry Peters presi-

dent. The business is conducted by a committee of

fourteen. From the establishment of the society to the

close of 1854, 6,886 indigent sick persons were relieved

by its funds, being an annual average of about 246.

The visits made by the committee amounted to the

number of 49,315, or 1,761 annually. The sum of

3,622/. 18s. IQcl. was applied in affording relief to the

objects of the institution, and the incidental expenses

amounted to 191/. 7s. 9d., making the whole expendi-

tui-e 3,814/. 6s. Id. The receipts of the society during

the same period (exclusive of a reserve fund) amounted

to 3,852/. 8s. 3d., from which a balance of 38/. Is. Sd.

remained. The reserve fund arose from collections

made in the several churches and chapels of Sunderland

and Bishopwearmouth, on the 15th November, 1849, the

day of general thanksgiving for the disappearance of the

cholera, which, with interest, amounted, at the close of

1854, to 107/. Is. 6(7.

The Sunderland and BrsHopwEARMOcxH Indi-

gent Sick Society is principally supported by the

Society of Friends, and is similar in its objects to the

above.

THE BENEVOLENT SOCIETY

Was established in 1792, for the relief of persons in

poverty and distress. The parishes of Sunderland and

Bishopwearmouth are divided into districts, and visitors

are appointed to each. This institution is supported by

donations, subscriptions, and public collections ; the

contributors being mostly Wesleyan Methodists.

Female Refuge Institution.—This charity was

established in 1853, for the relief and restoration of un-

fortunate females. Its offices are in Green Street,

Bishopwearmouth.

FREE MASONS' LODGES.

Free Masonry was established in Sunderland in 1755,

and a handsome hall, called King George's Lodge, was

erected, and dedicated July 16, 1778 : this hall was

accidentally burnt down in November, 1783. On August
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6, 1784, the first stone of the Pkaenix Lodge, 146,

Queen Street, was laid by Dr. Brown ; it was de-

dicated with great solcmriity on the 5th of April, 1785.

The building is neatly and appropriately fitted up, and

contains an organ. The Sea Captain's Lodge was

formed in January, 1757, and for many years met in a

room in the Queen's Head inn. Queen Street : it is now
designated the Palatine Lodge, 153, and its meetings

are held in the long room of the Bridge Hotel. St.

John's Lodge, more recently established, is held in

Bishopwearmouth. Processions of Free Masons were

formerly much more frequent in Sunderland than they

have been of late years.

FREE GARDENERS.

A LODGE of Free Gardeners has long existed in Sun-

derland. The displays of fruit, flowers, &c., formerly

made at the stated processions, were much admired,

and were appropriate precursors of the horticultural

fetes now so fashionable in many places. After

some years' discontinuance, a numerously attended

procession was held in 1855.

Free and Easy Johns, Sons of Harmony, Odd
Fellows, and other societies of a friendly, benevolent,

or social character, have flourished from time to tune in

Sunderland, with various degrees of success.

FRIENDLY SOCIETIES.

The Philanthropic Society, instituted April 7, 1792,

is now discontinued. The Seamen's Loyal Standard
Association was formed in 1824, and comprises many
hundred members, who have associated for mutual
relief in cases of shipwreck, sickness, superannuation, &c.

The Captains' Benefit Association was also established

in 1841 for similar purposes. The Shipwrights' Be-
nevolent Society is composed of several hundred carpen-

ters of the Wear, combined for the usual objects

contemplated by benefit societies; by whom processions

of a somewhat imposing character have occasionally been
held.

Sunderland Churchmen's Benevolent Society.—This
society was commenced in 1836, for the relief of sick

members, medical assistance, &c. A bequest of 150/.

was left to its funds by Mrs. Elizabeth Woodcock. The
annual receipts are about 280/. a year, part of which is

nowreserved as asinkingfund, and the remainder divided

annually amongst the members. A sermon is preached
in Sunderland church every Wliit-Tuesday, being the

anniversary of the society, when the members make a

collection in aid of the Sunderland and Bishopwear-

mouth Indigent Sick Society : during the fifteen years

ending in 1854, these collections amounted to 194/.

18s. lid.

The Bishopwearmouth Cliurchmen's Benevolent

Society, and the St. Tliomas' CJmreh Benevolent Society,

are conducted on the same principles as the Sunder-
land Churchmen's Benevolent Society.

There are many other benefit societies in the town,

some of which are continuous, whilst others break up
and divide their capital annually.

The Seameti's Friendly Association, North Quay, is

a union for the protection of their interests in the rate

of wages, &c.

BIBLE SOCIETY.

The Sunderland, BisnorwEARMouTH, and Monk-
WEARMOUTH AUXILIARY, in Connexion with the British

and Foreign Bible Society, was formed in June, 1811.

Its offices are at No. 63, Fawcett Street ; and the Rev.

J. P. Eden, A.M., is president. Up to August, 1854,

68,800 Bibles and Testaments had been distributed.

The Ladies' Association, established in 1821, had dis-

tributed 10,613. The amount of free contributions,

during the preceding year, was 55/. 5s. : Ladies' Asso-
ciation, 29/. 12s. Id. ; Country Association, 13/. 8s. 10(/.

;

total, 98/. 5s. lid. The donations to the Jubilee Fund
of the parent society amounted to 162/. 16s. 4f/., and to

the Chinese Testament Fund (for distributing one

million New Testaments in the Chinese language),

73/. I3s. 8d. The sum of 50/. had been voted as a

free donation to the parent Society.

The Sunderland Auxiliary Society, in connexion

with the Edinburgh Bible Society, was established

about twenty years ago. Its meetings are held in the

Athenaeum.

The Religious Tract Society was formed in the

year 1809. A subscription of 5s. per annum constitutes

a member, who receives from the depositary, in Fawcett

Street, tracts to the amount of his subscription.

A Temperance Society, conducted on the principles

usual in such institutions, has been in existence for some

years.

The Seamen's Society was instituted January, 1843,

and is supported by voluntary subscription. An agent

or missionary is employed to visit vessels, and distribute

Bibles and tracts to seamen. The society is conducted

on general principles, and without reference to sect.
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SUNDERLAND SUBSCRIPTION LIBRARY.

Several gentlemen of literary and scientific attain-

ments, observing the want of an institution in which a

collection of books might be available to the inha-

bitants, met at the house of Mr. James Field Stanfield,*

and on the 31st of January, 1795, passed a resolution

to adopt means for the establishmert of a public library.

Amongst its earliest promoters were, the Rev. John

Farrer, the Rev. George Stephenson, Dr. Tipping

Bro^vn, Bernard Ogden, George Wilson Meadley,t

Michael Longridge, J. F. Stanfield, Richard Markham,

William Eden, &c. On May 6, 1801, the foundation-

stone of the present building, in High Street, Bishop-

wearmouth, was laid, " in the name of Almighty God,

the fountain of intelligence, and the source of mind."

The lower story is occupied by shops ; and the principal

room on the first floor is about 31 feet in length, 20 in

breadth, and 15 in height, with two smaller apartments

for committee meetings, &c. It was intended to defray

the cost of the building, which amounted to 1,250/., by

shares of lOZ. each, entitling the holders to a dividend of

• James Field Stanfield was a highly popular comedian in the

Sunderland company, and was also much respected for his poetical i

and literary talents. He wrote and sung Irish song^ admirably
;
and

his "Patrick O'Neal," "Wedding of Ballyporeen" &c., were ranked
^

amongst the best of their class at that time. He also wrote several
j

of the"odes and other pieces which were sung or recited at Masonic
|

festivals in Sunderland. Having been in eaily life a s;iilor in the
,

African trade, he wrote and published a poem called " The Guinea

Voyage," in the style of Falconer's "Shipwreck," descriptive of the

horrors of the slave trade, and which, notwithstanding his profession,

rendered him a favourite with the Society of Friends. The production

ou which his fame chiefly rests is his elaborate "Essay on

Biography." For some time he carried o.i business as an innkeeper

and°wine and spirit merchant in Sunderland ; and it was in his house,

at the foot of Drury Lane, that his son, the present eminent marine

and landscape painter, was born. In early life, this young man

assisted his father as scene-pauitcr in Sunderland Uieatre, but was

afterwai-ds apprenticed as a sailor at Shields. His taste for painting,

however, ultimately overcame every obstacle, and he obt;iincd an

engagement as an assistant scene-painter in Drury Lane theatre,

London, where his talents speedily obtained for him that high rank

as an artist which he still enjoys.

t George Wilson Meadley.— This gentleman was born at

Sunderland on the 1st of January, 1774, and was educatedat Witton-

le-Wear, under the Rev. John Farrer. Being intended for commer-

cial pursuits, he was apprenticed in Durham to XIr. Chipchase, who

united the busmesses of grocer, draper, and banker. The discussions

which took place in Durham at this time, on the Slave Trade, the

Test Act, and the French Revolution, which were conducted by some

ot the most talented men of the day, attracted much of his attention,

and influenced his opinions, which became decidedly Uberal. On

completing his appreuticcship, he spent some time at home in the

study of the French and ItaUan languages and general Uterature, and

in 1796 undertook a voyage to the Levant, but experienced the evils of

existing hostiUties on his return, both in captivity and deUverance. In

the net proceeds of the library and shop rents, the ma-

nagement being vested in seven trustees. But although

some of the principal promoters took several shares, only

730/. was raised by this method ; and the difference was

borrowed. This was not paid off till May, 181-1, since

which time the shareholders have received interest on

their shares, which has for some years amounted to 10

per cent. Proprietary members pay two guineas en-

trance. Reading members pay 11. per annum, without

entrance money, and afterwards become proprietary

members, at one guinea per annum. There are now

260 members. The books are generally well selected,

and include works in almost every department of lite-

rature. A museum is attached to the library.

Sunderland Reading Society.—This institution

was formed January 21, 1803, under the patronage of

Mr. Michael Longridge. It is held in Russell Street,

and contains several hundred volumes. It is open to

subscribers, paying 6s. a year. It is sometimes called

the Wesleijan Library, being chiefly supported by

members of the Methodist, body.

180 1, he visited Dantzic ; and he also visited Hamburgh and made a

pedestrian tour in Holstein in 1S03. The induction of Dr. Paley to the

rectory of Bishopwearmouth in 1795, produced an acquaintance and

friendship between that great man and Mr. Meadley, which was con-

tinued tUl the death of the former in 1S05. As no biographer of this

celebrated writer appeared, Mr. Meadley, after a suflicient interval, com-

menced compiling his " Memoirs of Dr. Paley," which was published

in 1809, and so well received that a second edition was speedily called

for. In 1S13, he published " Memoirs of Algernon Sydney," which

he dedicated to his friend. Dr. Disney, of the Hyde in Essex, and,

about the same tune " Memoirs of Mrs. Jebb." Several other articles

of minor biography proceeded from his pen ; particularly a " Memoir

of Mr. Robert Clarke," an ingenious young surgeon in Sunderland,

and a "Tribute to the Memory of the Rev. Robert Waugh, Vicar of

Middleham." He also published, in a single Svo. sheet, an "Arranged

Account of the several Motions for Parliamentary Reform." After

much reflection, he withdrew from the Established Church, and avowed

himsell' a Unitarian in a "Letter to the Bishop of St. David's, on some

extraordinary Passages in a Charge delivered to the Clergy of his

Diocese in September, 1813." During the last two years of his life,

he was engaged in collecting materials for a life of John Hampden,

as a companion to that of Sydney, and also for a memoir of Dr.

Disney. He spent a great part of the year ISIS in Loudon with this

object, but returned home with a hepatic affection, which soon ter-

minated his life. About fifty gentlemen, of different religious deno-

minations, assembled at the Subscription Library, and joined his funeral

procession as it passed along ; and shortly afterwards, the subscribers

caused a marble tablet to be placed in the principal room, bearing tha

following inscription :—To honour the memory and perpetuate the

example of George Wilson Meadley, as one of the founders of this

Library, who died 2Sth November, 1818, in the 4oth year of his age,

this marble was erected by the resolution of a general meeting ofsub-

scribers.—His correct and extensive knowledge, historical, political,

and liter:u-y, was ever zealously devoted to advance the wclfiire of this

iiis'.ilutioD, which thus records its great and irreparable loss."
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Other Libraries.— The Medical Library, in the

Infirmary, and The Law Library, held at 141, High

Street, Bishopwearraouth, are supported by the members

of the respective professions. One of the first circulating

libraries in Sunderland was kept by Miss Weatherburn,

librarian of the Sunderland Subscrijition Library; since

which, several others have been established, ; but at

present there are but two.

News Rooms.—The news-rooms in Sunderland,

besides that in the Exchange, are, the Athenaeum, the

Lyceum, one in Barclay Street, Monkwearmouth Shore,

and several minor ones.

A Farmer's Club was established in Sunderland in

1849, the members of which dined together for the first

time on January 5, 1850.

Library for Sunderland Seamen.—This institu-

tion was commenced in the latter part of the year 1854,

to which the Bishop of Durham gave a donation of 2/. %$.

;

i. S. Barron, J. H. Farrer, and John Kinnett, Esqrs.,

each \l. ; Mr. James Imray, maps and books of the

value of upwards of 20/. ; and there were several other

donations in books and money.

SCHOOLS.

The vast increase in the extent and population of Sun-

derland, during the present century, has naturally

attracted attention to the means of education. While

the annual rate of increase of population, in counties,

in the half century from 1801 to 1851, was, for England

and Wales, 141 persons in every 1,000, in the county

of Durham it had risen to 193. Notwithstanding that

the western portion of the county is very thinly peopled,

the increase in population for the decennial period from

1841 to 1851 -was 26 per cent., or exactly double that

of the whole of England and Wales. In Sun-

derland and the Wearmouths, the increase, during that

jjcriod, was from 56,G07 to 71,004, or 25 per cent.

The number of childr(!n, in each subdistrict of the Sun-

derland Union, between the ages of 5 and 15, was, in

1851, as follows :

—

Male«. Pemaletj. Total.

In North Bishopwearraouth subdistrict,

5 and under 10 1,020 1,037 2,057

" 10 and under 13.. .. 916 960 1,876

In South Bishopwcannouth subdistrict,

and under 10 852 918 1,770

" 10 and under 15 .. .. 74.5 836 1,581

Carrried forward 3,633 2,751 7,284

Males Femaleg. Totals.

Brought forward . . .

.

3,533 3,751 7,284

In East Sunderland subdistrict, 5 and

under 10 583 607 1,190

" 10 and under 15 .. .. 492 556 1,048

In AVest Sunderland subdistrict, 5 and
under 10 497 471 988

10 and under 15 .. 474 480 9.54

In Monkwearmouth subdistrict, 6 and

under 10 1,025 980 2,003

10 and under 15 .. .. 933 917 1,850

7,537 7,762 15,299

The total numbers within the limits of the municipal

borough were

—

Malei. Females. Totals.

5 and under 10 3,581 3,599 7,180

10 and under 15 3,206 3,429 6,635

6,787 7,028 13,819

There were, at that date, 24 public schools in the

district. The attendance at these, on the 31st of March,

1851, was 1,882 males and 1,478 females, or 3,360 in

all. There were belonging to those schools, or on the

books, 2,283 males and 1,921 females, being a total of

4,204.

At 120 private schools, the attendance, on the 31st

of March, 1851, was 2,043 males and 1,940 females, or

3,983 in all ; whilst there were on the books 4,312, of

whom 2,197 were males and 2,115 females.

Hence, at the above 144 schools, the numbers were^

—

Attending, March 31, 1851

Ou the books

Males. Females. Total.

3,925 3,418 7,343

4,480 4,036 8,516

These returns place the educational position of the

locality in a very striking light. In allusion to the

number of children between the ages of 5 and 15

(15,299), the Rev. D. J. Stewart, government inspector

of schools, says, " It will be undcrstnting the actual

number to say that there are now 15,000 children be-

tween the ages of 3 and 13 ; but, on the hypothesis that

only half of them are poor, 75 school-rooms for 100

scholars each would represent the accommodation re-

quired for the children of the poor. There are five

parochial schools under inspection in these three

parishes at the present time ; and instead of finding

15,000 under instruction, the census returns account

for no more than 7,343 children in attendance at all the

schools throughout the registration district. In a

locality which is perhaps the wealthiest in the north of

England, the whole education of the people is appa-

rently in the hands of the venture schools ; and for

i
a population of 70,000 and upwards, there arc but 24
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j)ublic institutions, with an attendance of 3,360

children."

In reference to this part of the subject, Mr. Stewart

quotes the opinion of the late rector of Sunderland, the

Rev. W. Webb :
—" The reason why the children of the

parish of Sunderland are so ignorant, arises,' I think,

from the following causes:—In the first place, our

schools are inadequate to the number. Sndly, They

can, at a very early age, obtain employment ; and 3rdly,

Then- parents ai-e ignorant, and consequently, do not

appreciate the advantages of education. Five years

ago, I instituted adult night-schools, from October to

May, which have been well attended, and I am per-

suaded have done much good ; and could I obtain a

sufEcient number of efficient teachers, I feel confident

much greater advantages would result."

There were seven evening schools for adults in Sun-

derland in 1851, which were attended on the 29th of

March, by 149 males and 29 females.

In addition to the artizan population, there is a large

seafaring community, which materially increases the

difficulties in dealing with the children of the poor.

The loss of life which takes place among sailors throws

a great number of children upon individual charity, or

on public funds, for support every year. In September,

1853, there were 316 boys and 353 girls upon the

registers of the Mercantile Marine Pension List,*

without any means of education. Major Parkinson,

superintendent of this fund, says, " If schools to teach

the girls reading, writing, arithmetic, and the use of

their needle, were established, it would save many from

a life of vice and degradation. With regard to the

boys, I am particularly anxious that a government hulk

should be placed in Sunderland docks, and also one in

the river Tyne, between North and South Shields.

These hulks would answer for schools on week days,

and as Bethels or sailors' chapels on Sundays, an in-

ducement to many sailors to attend divine worship who

now never hear the word of God, from a reluctance to

enter strange churches ashore among landsmen, and in

which they are doubtful of accommodation.—If the two

hulks were sent down, and schools established in them

under government inspection, not only would these

boys be taught reading, writing, arithmetic, and geo-

graphy, but they would learn the rudiments of education

before going to sea. If a mast were erected in each

hulk, the physical development of these boys could be

cultivated by gymnastic exercise and the practice of

* The amount of pension granted to children of masters is 21. is.

eadi child, and to children of seamen 1/. 2s.

habits of agility. To create these schools for seamen's

children is to encourage a nursery for the British navy,

to nurture the germ from whence warrant officers,

masters, and mates are to be supplied ; and by extend-

ing the benefit to the sons of sailors not on the Pension

List, a numerical strength of scholars to any amount

may be obtained. The children of masters and seamen

are retained on the Pension-books until they have ob-

tained the age of 14. If the schools were established,

I have reason to hope that the two last years' pension

would be advanced as an outfit for girls entering service,

or for boys bound apprentice either into the royal navy

or in mercantile ships."

On this subject, the Rev. D. J. Stewart adds, " Many
of the female orphans might become eligible candidates

for apprenticeship (as teachers) ; and if those whose

tastes and acquirements fitted them for the work were

boarded under the care of a matron, who would enter

upon the task with a just view of the responsibility

of her charge, they would at least be spared from those

scenes of temptation to which at present they are

pitilessly surrendered. If it were possible to provide

some industrial education for the whole, it is not too

much to expect that many would obtain employment in

situations presented to them through the agency of some

responsible committee, and more especially as there is

the probability of obtaining assistance towards their

outfit.

" With regard to the boys mentioned in Major Par-

kinson's letter, one very obvious means of providing

for them would be the estabHshment of a naval school,

where special instruction would be given to the seafaring

youths of the port in general. The ignorance which

sailors have, even of their own profession, is too well

known to require any discussion ; and I believe that if

a competent teacher of navigation were sent down, his

services wotild be extremely useful to the niaiitime

population in general."

Sunderland Navigation Schools.—This important

institution, which is in connexion with the Board of

Trade, appears to supply, in some degree, the deficiency

mentioned by the Rev. D. J. Stuart. It was commenced
in 1855, and is held in a building in Lodge Terrace,

Hendon. The school is well fitted up with charts,

diagrams, instruments, and books, partly at the expense

of government, and partly by public subscription, thus

superseding the necessity of their purchase by pupils.

There are three departments, the first of which is a

Boijs^ School, in which the education is of a general
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and practical character, bearing particularly on the use-

ful purposes of life, and comprising geography, arith-

metic, mathematics, and algebra. The charge for this

school is (id. per week. The boys are under no necessity

to go to sea, but may choose their own profession. The

Schoolfor Apprendcrs and Seamen is held in the evening

as well as during the day, and the instruction is of that

practical character which is required to fit seamen and

apprentices for their duties afloat, and enable them to

rise in time to be mates and masters. Seamen pay 1*.

and apprentices 6(/. per week. A special room is fitted

up as a Schoolfor Mates and Masters of vessels who may
desire to obtain the information necessary to pass the

examination of the Local Marine Board, or otherwise

improve themselves in the knowledge of their profession.

The charge for masters and first mates is 5s. per week,

and 2s. Qd. for second mates. The master of the school,

Mr. Bolt, served an apprenticeship as a pupil teacher

of the Royal Naval School at Greenwich, and afterwards

in the Board of Trade Navigation School in London.

Bl.SHOPWEARMOtTTH NATIONAL ScHOOL. This School

was established in 1808, under the personal direction of

Dr. Bell (see vol. i., p. 409). It is situated in the Low
Row, opposite the west end of Bishopwearmouth

church, and was built by subscription. The whole ex-

pense amounted to above 500/., of which 220/. was

collected by parochial subscription, 50/. was given by
the executors of Dr. Paley (being part of the produce

of an edition of his sermons), 50/. by Lord Crewe's

trustees, 38/. 12s. by Bishop Barrington, 10/. by Dr.

Bell, 80/. (in two donations) by the Society for the

Encouragement of Parochial Schools ; and the deficiency,

amounting to about 60/., was supplied by Dr. Gray,

then rector. The building consists of two stories; the

lower one appropriated to the use of tlae boys, and the

upper one to that of the girls. The number of children

under tuition is generally above 200.

Bishopwearmouth, or Park Schools. — These

shoois were erected in 1854, on sloping ground towards

the cemetery, at the western portion of tlic Rector's

Park, and immediately behind the site of the old rectory.

The building consists of three school rooms ; one a fii-st

dass boys' room, measuring 55 feet by 19, with a class

room 20 feet by 14 ; the other two apartments are appro-

priated, one for second class boys, 77 feet long by 18,

and one for girls of the same dimensions, with open
timber roofs, and a class room to each, 20 feet by 14,

the whole capable of accommodating about 600 children.

There are apartments for a master and mistress above

the first class boys' room, with every requisite con-

venience. There is a large distinct play ground for boys

and girls, with spacious court yards for each class.

Great care has been taken to produce warmth, light,

and ventilation, and an ample supply of water. The
walls of the building are of block sandstone, with hewn
dressings, and the interior lined with brick. The
building is after the manor house style, the roofs ter-

minating with gables and ornamental chimneys. The
schools are the best arranged in the north of England,

and may serve as a model for similar erections. They
stand on elevated ground, and as seen from the west,

have an ornamental and picturesque eflfcct. The designs

were made and the building erected under the superin-

tendence of John Dobson, Esq., architect, Newcastle.

The entu-e cost was about 2,300/., which was raised by

subscription and the government grant.

Monkwearmouth National School for boys, es-

tablished in 1812, is supported by voluntary contribu-

tions. It is situated in Hallgarth Square. On the visit

of the Rev. D. J. Stewart, government inspector. May
25, 1853, there were 252 boys present at examination.

There had been admitted, during the previous twelve

months, 249, and 173 had left ; the average attendance

having been 220. The following are the inspector's

general observations :

—

" Buildings, one large room of inconvenient shape ; no clas9-room_

Desks, two groups of three loose desks
; gallery. Furniture, clock,

gas, two fire-places. Playground, a fair-sized court. Books, fail

supply ; apparatus, five black-boards, two easels, one black-board fixed

in a frame. Organization ; standard of classification : reading and

arithmetic. Eight classes for all subjects, under untrained master and

two pupil teachers ; three divisions for grammar and geography lessons.

Each pupil teacher is confined to one class for six weeks. Methods
discipline, and instruction, fair."

The Donnison, the Walton, and the National

Schools have been noticed under the head Charities.

St. George's C//ff/>e/ school, Villiers Street, has been de-

scribed in the account of the chapel. A school is

also attached to Smyrna chapel.

The British and Foreign School is situated in

Hendon Road, and is open to all denominations of

religion.

A School of Industry was erected by subscriptim

in Sans Street in 1809, i n commemoration of King
George III. having attained the 50th year of his reign.

Its affairs having become embarrassed, the building w^
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sold, and is now used for the county court. The JVes-

leyan School of Industry is held in Hendon Eoad.

There is also a Gvrls^ School of Industry, held in the

Primitive Methodist chapel, ^Monkwearmouth Shore,

under the patronage of Lady ^^'iUiamson : the girls pay
2(f. per week.

St. Thomas's Schools, in connection with the church

of that name, were situated in Garden Street, Bishop-

wearmouth. They were burnt down in 1855, and are

about to be rebuilt.

Hexdox Schools.—On the erection of the district

church of Hendon, it was intended that schools should

be erected on a portion of the ground presented by the

Rev. Dr. Tatham; but more extensive school accom-

modation having become requisite than was at first

proposed, in consequence of the increasing population

of the district, a plot of ground was purchased for the

purpose. The building, which was erected under

the direction of John Dobson, Esq., contains two
rooms, each 77 feet by 19, and to each of which a

class-room is attached, 20 feet by 14 J, with playground

behind, and requisite conveniences. The rooms are

comfortably heated, well lighted and ventilated, and

will accommodate 200 boys and 200 girls. The build-

ing is of brick, with stone dressings, and is extremely

simple in form, after the date of about 1600, having

tsvo projecting gables in front, finishing with orna-

mental baye boards. The cost of the erection was

about 1,500/.

Roman Catholic Schools.—In 1830, a commodious
school-house was built and endowed for the education

of Catholic children, near the chapel in Dunning Street.

The name of the donor was concealed. The present

schools are in Back Bridge Street, near the Roman
Catholic chapel.

Boarding and Day Schools.—Besides the Grange
School, Stockton Road, conducted by the Rev. Frederick

Iliff, D.D., there is a boarding school for young gentle-

men and two for young ladies in Bishopwearmouth.

Four of the seminaries in the town are denominated

nautical schools ; and day-schools are carried on by
masters and mistresses in various parts of the three

parishes. There are also four Infant Schools. Instruc-

tions in foreign languages, music, and dancing, are

imparted by several resident professors.

Sunday-Schools.—Sunday-schools were first at-

tempted in Sunderland in 1786, but had become greatly

reduced in 180.3, when an effort was made to revive

them. They were ardently supported, both pecuniarily

and by personal exertions, by Mr. Michael Longridge,

a member of the Wesleyan body ; and similar establish-

ments have long been supported by the various religious

communities of the town. In 1851, there were 62

Sunday-schools in the town, attended, on the 31st of

March, by 2,464 males and 2,855 fsmales, or 5,359 in

all. There were on the books, at the same time,

7,469 children, of whom 3,510 were males and 3,959

females.

Ragged Schools.—A meeting for the establishment

of a Ragged School in Sunderland was held on the 3rd

of September, 1849; and it was opened on the 15th of

October following, in Silver Street, under the direction

of Mr. Aitchison, previously of Westminster Ragged

School, and who has been succeeded by Mr. J. Shorter.

The Bishop of Durham is patron of the Institution.

The premises originally occupied have been given up,

the old Custom-house in Fitter's Row having been

purchased, and which is now being fitted up for the

Ragged School. The glass for the windows, valued at

about 70/., was presented by Mr. Alderman Hartley.

An infant school has been attached to the institution.

POOR LAW UNION.

Sunderland Union, formed under the provisions of

the "Poor Law Amendment Act," comprises the parishes

of Sunderland, Bishopwearmouth, -and Monkwear-

mouth, with the exception of the townships of Burdon

and Silksworth, in the parish of Bishopwearmouth, the

first of which is annexed to Easington Union, and the

second to Hoiaghton-le-Spring L'nion. Sunderland

Union is subdivided into five subdistricts, viz. :

—

1, North Bishopwearmouth, comprising the townships

of Ford and Bishopwearmouth Panns, and part of

that of Bishopwearmouth ; 2, South Bishopwearmouth,

comprising part of Bishopwearmouth township, and

those of Tunstall and Ryhope ; 3, East Sunderland

;

4, West Sunderland, with a small portion of Bishop-

wearmouth annexed ; and, 5, Monkwearmouth. The
total extent of the L^nion is 11,944 acres, of which 738

acres are tidal water. In 1851, the population was

70,576, consisting of 33,802 males and 36,774 females.

The number of males above 20 years of age was 17,888,

of whom 5,220 were bachelors, 11,605 married, and
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1,063 wiflowers. Of 20,360 females above 20 years of

age, 4,299 were spinsters, 13,053 married, and 3,008

widows. The classification of trades in the Union

nearly approximates to that of the municipal borough,

for whitli see page 394.

One of the first minutes in the vestry book, after the

formation of Sunderland as a distinct parish, is an order

for a rate of " Is. Vid. upon each pound yearly rent,

and the like sum upon each 20/. stock in trade and

personal estate." Under an act of 31 Geo. III. (1791),

" every ship or decked vessel laden with coals, be-

longing to, and registered at, the port of Sunderland,

and cleared out from the said port," is liable to a duty

of \d. per ton. Every ship which shall be again

freighted, or take in any other cargo there or at any

other port, 2d. per ton per annum, and so in proportion

for any greater or lesser time, over and above the said

id. Lime vessels, 2d. per ton ; not to be payable more

than once in any one year. Vessels navigated in the

Greenland, Baltic, or other trade, except the coal-trade,

9,d. per ton per annum ; and so in proportion. The
monies so collected are to be applied to the jjoor-rates.

lender the same act, all persons who shall have already

gained settlements in the townships of Bishopwearmouth,

Panns, Monkwearmouth, and Monkwearmouth Shore,

by reason of any apprenticeship to the trade of ship-

carpenters or sailors, and shall afterwards serve for the

space of three years on board vessels trading from, and

registered at, the port of Sunderland, shall be legally

settled in the parish of Sunderland.

In consequence of the comparatively crowded popu-

lation in the township of Sunderland, its poor-rates

liave always been proportionately higher than those of

the parishes of Bishopwearmouth and jMonkwearmouth,

In LS18, the amount collected in Sunderland parish,

including county-rates, was 6,000/., besides 2,400Z. col-

lected from shij)ping under the powers of the above act

;

in Bishopwearmouth, 4,500/. ; in Monkwearmouth,

460/. ; and in Monkwearmouth Shore, 2,000/. Tiie

amounts of poor-rates in LS29 were, in Sunderland,

4,559/. ; in Bishopwearmouth, 2,732/. ; in Monkwear-
mouth, 359/.; and in the Shore, 1,185/.

The income and expenditure of Sunderland Union
in the year ended Lady-day, 1851, is given in vol. i.,

p. 162. In the succeeding years, the accounts have been

as follow :

—
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that of Mr. J. G. Oatcs, of York. The house was to

contain accommodation for 500 persons ; and the

maximum sum to be expended on the building, walls,

tanks, &c., was to be 7,000/.

The present workhouse, which consists of a suite of

substantial brick and stone buildings, capable of accom-

modating 300 inmates, and occupying a rectangular site

of 200 feet by 150, was ofiered for sale by auction on the

llth of September, 1855. In the meanwhile, an appli-

cation was made by Lieut.-colonel Tucker, on behalf of

the government, to the Sunderland board of guardians,

to rent or purchase the Union workhouse of Bishop-

wearmouth, about to be vacated, for the Durham
Militia Artillery, provided adjoining ground could be

had for a parade.* The building still remains unsold.

On the visit of the government inspector of parochial

schools, Mr. T. A. Browne, on August 8, 1855, there

were 40 boys in attendance, and 38 present in the

Union school, and 34 girls in attendance and 24 pre-

sent. " The girls passed a fair examination ; several

appeared lively and intelligent. The boys were in a

low state of discipline, and their attainments very

moderate." In 1854, 43/. lis. was received from the

government grant to the teachers of parochial schools.

"^^Hien vagrants apply for relief at the workhouse

(where alone it can be given), they are taken to the

bath-room, and made to strip and have their clothes

examined. After receiving a cold bath, they are fur-

nished with a clean night-gown and a bed. In the

morning, they are made to rise before six, and, in the

first place, are re-conducted to the bath-room to dress.

The males are then employed two hours breaking

stones, and the females an equal time teasing oakum;

after which, they are supplied with a breakfast, and are

then seen out of the town by one of the porters. It is

rarely that a second application is made ; and the num-

ber of vagrants has decreased from an average of 123

per week to 19 : in the first week of November, 1855,

there were only 6.

The plan of Mr. Oates of York was adopted by the

board of guardians for the new workhouse. For the

purpose of viewing and selecting the best arrangements

that could be made, Mr. Hills, chairman of the board,

and Mr. George Reed, vice-chairman, visited several

workhouses in various parts of England ; and much
credit is due to those gentlemen, by whose judgment

• The existence of an extensive parade ground at the east end of

the town, with spacious barracks overlooking the mouth of the

harbour, would scciu to render the government scheme unnecessary.

t On .Vpril 1, 1791, the " Xorthsiders" were invited to come to the

and discretion Sunderland is provided with one of the

most compact and best-arranged workhouses in the

kingdom. The ground selected for its site, comprising

about 7 acres, was purchased from Mr. Johnson Oates,

builder : it was formerly part of the HoUyJield estate,

on the south side of the road leading from Bishop-

wearmouth to Hylton, containing 36 .\. 3r., and pre-

viously the property of Edward Aiskell, Esq. One

half ofthe ground belonging to the Union is appropriated

for spade culture by the inmates of the workhouse.

The building, though intended for 500 persons, will

accommodate 600, and contains four school-rooms.

The inmates were removed to the new house in October,

1855. The ground cost 1,915/. 4s. 2f/., and the build-

ing, including interior fittings, &c., 14,500/. 5s. \\d,

making a total of 16,415/. 10s. \d. This sum was

borrowed from government, and is to be repaid within

20 years, with interest at four per cent.

FERRIES.

From an early period, the intercourse between the

opposite sides of the river ..Wear was carried on by

means of ferry-boats, the right of which was held by

lease under the successive Bishops of Durham. The

first lease was granted in the year 1154, the first year

of the reign of King Edward II. It was renewed from

time to time up to the year 1661, when Bi>liop Cosin

granted it to Walter Ettrick, Esq., in the following

form :
—" Of all his (the bishop's) ferry-boats of Sun-

derland, in the county of Durham, and the passage

over the water, port, or river of Sunderland, with free

egress, regress, and landing over the said water, and all

tolls due and payable for all goods and commodities, to

be sold or vended in the said borough of Sunderland

;

and likewise the profits and duties upon salt, fruit, roots,

victuals, and other merchandizes, sold by any manner of

metage, imported to the port or haven of Sunderland,

except the metage of salt, &c., imported there for the

bishop's use." This lease was continued in the Ettrick

family till the year 1795, at which date the fcrryt was

sold to the commissioners of Wearmouth Bridge for

6,300/., of which sum the Bishop of Durham, as lessor,

received 1,800/., and William Ettrick, Esq., of High

Barnes, the lessee, great-grandson of Walter Ettrick,

Esq., 4,500/. The yearly rent paid under the lease

benefits at Sunderland theatre by a postscript to the play-bill, in large

letters, conveying the intelligence " that the great boat would be in

waiting at the Ferry Boat Landing for the better accommodation of

the ladies and gentlemen of Monkwearmouth."
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was 2/. The fL'rry is now vested, by the Borough of

Sundciluiid Act, in the corporation of Sunderland.

No more striking exemplification can be found of

the progress of the town, and the increased intercourse

consequent on a growing population and expanding

trade, than is afforded by the rental of the ferry. In

17!i2, Mr. John Cowlson, the tenant of Anthony

Ettrick, Esq., was assessed to the relief of the poor of the

parish of Sunderland, according to the schedule, for their

then estimated yearly value, " for the ferry-boats and his

own house, 10-5/.," on a rate of Is. Qd. in the pound,

amounting to 7/. 7s. 6d. yearly. At that period, the

ferry w;is the onlv means of communication between

Sunderland and Monkwearmouth. In 1830, the rent

was COO/. In October, 1852, five years after the aboli-

tion of the bridge tolls, the ferry tolls were let, after a

spirited competition, at 875/. for the next year, being an

advance of 25/. upon the previous year's rental ; in

185.3, they were let at 1,015/.; in 1854, at 1,200/. ;

and in October, 1855, at 1,105/.

Various improvements have been effected from time

to time in the Ferry-boat Landings. Previous to the

di'edging of tiie harbour, commenced about 40 j-ears

ago, a gangway of planks extended for a considerable

distance into the river from the south side, fixed to the

slake, and which it was necessary for passengers to

traverse at low tide. The water having been deepened,

the boats can now come closer to the shore. Ar-

langements were made by the lessee in 1846, by which

a boat shall not wait longer than three minutes at each

landing ; the toll-house being provided with a bell to

announce the time of starting.

The quay at the north landing was built by the

bridge commissioners, but afterwards became the pro-

perty of Sir Hcdworth Williamson. In 1852, the

Sunderland corporation proposed to pay the sum of

three guineas annually to Sir Hedworth " for damage
done to the North Quay, by hauling, drawing, or

towing the ferry -boats in the river from the high land-

ing along the North Quay, and that Sir H. Williamson

siiould grant power for ever to the corporation of

Sunderland, and the lessees under them of the ferry,

to fasten any chain or rope to the North Quay, for the

purpose of drawing the ferry boats in the said River

Wear." The proposition was agreed to.

The Pann Ferry, a little below the site of the bridge,

was held by Sir Hedworth AVilliamson and General

Lambton in 1791. Doubts were raised whether the

said ferry was " an ancient ferry," or a ferry for foot-

passengers only. By the Sunderland Bridge Act, this

ferry and tolls were vested in the commissioners ; the

tci-ms to be settled by arbitration within three months

after the bridge was built. The price agreed upon
Avas 1,600/. This ferry was discontinued on the open-

ing of the bridge.

THE IRON BRIDGE.

During the latter part of the last century, the mode of

passing the river had become extremely inconvenient,

and accidents were of frequent occurrence. One of the

most fatal of these happened on the evening of April 20,

1795, when the ferry-boat, in passing from Sunderland

to Monkwearmouth, was overset; and, from about

twenty-seven persons supposed to have been in the

boat, only four or five were saved. The delay and

interruption to business were also severely felt. In

1790, Rowland Burden, Esq., turned his attention to

the erection of a suitable bridge across the Wear (see

page 367).

At first, a stone bridge had been proposed, of 200

feet span, and 80 feet to the crown of the arch ; but

the expense of such a structure was considered to be

immense ; and, on searching for foundations, none

were available within the limits of the space covered

by the tide, the rocky shores of which arc distant from

each other, in the narrowest part, about 240 feet. An-

other difficulty arose from the situation being perpetually

occupied by shipping, and the craft of the coal, lime,

and other trades, which couid not admit of a single

tide's interruption. Mr. Burden's idea, therefore, of

throwing an arch of cast iron over the Wear at once

met the emergency. The use of the material for a

similar purpose had been successfully introduced by the

Coalbrook Dale Company, and also by the celebrated

Thomas Paine ; and the improved construction invented

by Mr. Burdon, verified by experiment, dissipated

every difficidty.

The Wearmouth Bridge Act, 32 Geo. III., c. 90, is

intituled, " An Act for building a Bridge across the

River Wear, from the bank or shore thereof, in the

Parish of Bishopwcarmouth, in the County of Durham,

to the opposite shore in the Parish of Monkwearmouth,

in the same County." Nearly 400 commissioners were

appointed by name, of whom the members for the county

and city of Durham, the dean and prebendaries, the

temporal and spiritual chancellors of Durham, the

attorney and solicitor-general of the Lord Bishop of

Durham, the mayor and recorder of the city of Durham
and Framwellgate, the mayor, aldermen, and recorder
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of Newcastle, the rector of Bisliopwearmouth, thf

minister of Chcstcr-le-Street, the rector of Easington.

the rector of Houghton-le-Spring, the minister of

Monkv\-eKrmouth, the rector of Sunderland, the collector

of customs for the port of Sunderland, the steward of

the borough of Sunderland, the minister of Seaham, the

rector of Whickham, and the rector of Washington, for

the time being, were all members ex officio. The

qualification for a commissioner was the receipt and

profits of a real estate at law or equity of the clear

yearly value of 100/., above reprizes, or the possession

of a personal estate of the value of 3,000/. The com-

missioners, or any seven of them, were to meet at the

house of Elizabeth Reay, the George Inn, in Sunder-

land, on the 535th of June, 1792, and to defray their

own expenses. The bridge was not to be subject to

taxes, nor be a county bridge. Power was given to

purchase lands, and the Pann and Sunderland ferries

by arbitration ; and a provision was included for de-

termining whether compensation for Southwick ferry

should be made to John Harrison, Esq., and John

Taylor, Gent., by arbitration. The tolls specified by

the act were as follows :

—

Tolls:—"For every coach, chariot, landau, berlin, hearse, chaise,

calash, or chair, drawn by six horses, mares, geldings, or olher beasts

of draught, the sum of Ss. ; and drawn by four horses, mares, geldings,

or othir beasts of draught, the sum of 2s. ; and drawn by two horses,

mares, geldings, "r other beasts of draught, the sura of Is. 6(/. ; and

drawn by one horse, mare, gelding, or other beast of draught, the siim

ofQrf.

"For every waggon, wain, cart, or other such carriage, being laden

and dra^ni by six horses, oxen, or beasts of draught, the sum of 3s.

;

and drawn by five horses, oxen, or beasts of draught, the sum of

2s. 6(/. ; and drawn by four horses, oxen, or beasts of draught, the

sum of 2s. ; and drawn by three or two horses, oxen, or beasts of

draught, the sum of Is. 6d. ; and drawn by one horse, ox, or beast

of draught, the sum of Is.

" For every waggon, wain, cart, or other carriage, being empty and

unladen, and draw n by six horses, oxen, or beasts of draught, the sirai

of lOrf. ; and drawn by five horses, oxen, or beasts of draught, the

sum of 9f/. ; and drawn by four horses, oxen, or beasts of draught,

the sum of Srf. ; and drawn by tliree or two horses, oxen, or beasts of

draught, the sum of 6rf. ; and drawn by one horse, ox, or beast of

draught, the sum of id.

" For every horse, mare, gelding, mule, or ass, laden or imladen,

and not drawing, the sum of \\d.

" For every drove of hogs, sheep, or lambs, the sum of od, per

score ; and so in proportion for any greater or lesser number.

" For all cows and horned cattle, each \d.

" For every foot passenger, Irf., when carrying a sack of grain, or

any kind of merchandize wh.itsoever, or parcels as a porter, but other-

wise only \d."

On the 2-ith of September, 1793, the foundation-stone

of the bridge was laid, amidst Masonic honours, by

Rowland Burden, Esq. The procession, after attending

the parish church of Sunderland, traversed the town to

the site of the bridge, where they passed the river on

a platform of keels, and the interesting ceremony was

performed at the north-west corner of the intended

bridge ; the projecting crags on each side of the river

being crowded by thousands of spectators. A Latin

inscription, written by Tipping Brown, Esq., M.D.,

was read by the senior grand warden, and a translation

by the grand secretary. The latter was as follows :

—

" At that time when the mad fury of French citizens, dictating acts

of extreme depravity, disturbed the peace of Europe with iron war ;

RowLAXD BuRDON, Esq., M.P., aiming at worthier purposes, hath

resolved to join the steep and craggy shores of the river Wear, with an

Iron Bridge. He happily laid the foundation on the 24th day of

September, in the year of human salvation 1793, and the 33rd of the

reign of George the Third, in the presence of William Henrt
Lambton, Esq.,M.P., P.G.M., with a respectable circle of the Brethren

of the Society, and of the magistrates and princip,al gentlemen of the

county of Duiham ; attended by an immense concourse of people.

Long may the vestiges endure of a hope not form'd in vain."

Under the able and zealous direction and inspection of

Mr. Thomas Wilson, of Bishopwearmouth, clerk of the

works, the whole of this magnificent structure was com-

pleted within three years. The arch was turned on a

light scaflblding, which presented little or no interrup-

tion to the navigation of the river ; and the mode of

bracing the ribs was so expeditious, that the whole

structure was put together and thrown over the river in

ten davs, and the frame immediately removed. When
the erection of the arch was nearly completed, a flood

occurred in the river Wear, which seriously damaged

the north foundation of the timber centering upon

which the arch was resting. The subsidence carried

the centering, with the arch, several inches towards the

east, but left the springings undisturbed. It was not

thought necessary, at that time, to make any attempt

towards drawing back the ribs into their original

position.

The stability of the bridge was fully tested on the

18th of June (a day memorable for the opening of

similar undertakings in more recent times), 1790, when

Lieutenant-general Sir George Osborne, at the head of

the Royal Tay Fencibles, and the North Lincoln

Militia, both quartered in Sunderland barracks, amount-

ing to at least 1,000 men, marched across, to be reviewed

on Whitburn sands. On the 9th of August following,

the passage across was formally opened, when the Free

Masons, Loyal Sunderland Volunteers, the magistrates,

and the principal gentlemen of the county of Durham,
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attended, in the presence (if the local papers of

the period may be credited) of 80,000 spectators.

Since that time, this beautiful arch has often borne and

vibrated under the measured tramp of a military force.

On one occasion, the 4th of June, observed as the

birth-day of George III., it was chosen as a position

for part of the troops stationed in the barracks ; and

from it the fire of their feu-de-joie ran along one side

of the arch, and back again on the other, and was

replied to by the volleys of other parties stationed on

the river banks, the ballast hills, and other prominent

positions in the vicinity. When the Duke of Welling-

ton passed the bridge in 1827 (see p. 406), it was

estimated that 1,800 persons were upon it, which,

calculating each person at 10 stone, gives a weight

of 112 tons.

The novelty and advantage of the plan adopted by

Mr. Burdon consisted in retaining, together with the

use of a metallic material, the usual form and principle

of the stone arch, by the subdivision of the iron into

blocks, answering to the keystones of a common arcli,

and which, with a much greater degree of lightness,

possess, when brought to bear on each other, all the

firmness of a stone arch. The blocks, or more properly

frames, are of cast iron, 5 feet in depth and 4 in thick-

ness, having three arms, and making part of a circle or

ellipsis ; the middle arm is two feet in length, and the

other two in proportion ; on each side of the arms are

flat grooves, three-fourths of an inch deep and 3 inches

broad, in which, when the blocks are joined, bars of

malleable or wrought iron are inserted, which connect

the blocks with each other, and are secured by square

bolts driven through the shoulders and arms of the

blocks and bar-iron, and fastened by cotterells or fore-

locks. One hundred and five of these blocks, butting

ou each other like the voussoirs of a stone arch, form

one of the ribs of the bridge ; and there are six of these

ribs, six feet distant from each other, braced together

externally by hollow tubes or bridles of cast iron. The
whole thus becomes one mass, having the junperty of

keystones cramped together. The piers or abutments

from vvhlch the arches spring are piles of solid masonry,

24 feet in thickness, 42 in breadth at bottom, and 37 at

the top : the south pier is founded on the solid rock,

which projects over the river ; but on the north, where

the bank retires gradually, the foundation of the pier

is 10 feet below the bed of the river. The arch is the

segment of a large circle, of which the chord or span is

236 feet ; the height from low water to the spring of

the arcli is 60 feet, and its versed sine 34 feet, pro-

ducing so flat an arch that ships of 300 tons pass below

within 50 feet of its centre with great facility, having

94 feet clear at low water, and abundance of depth in

the mid-stream. The spandrils of the arch are filled

with iron circles, diminishing from the abutment to the

centre : the superstructure is of timber, planked over,

covered with a composition of tar, chalk, and sand, and

supporting the carriage-road, which is formed of marl,

gravel, and limestone. The breadth of the road is 32

feet, with a flagged foot-path on each side, bounded by

an iron balustrade. Over this railing, on the crown of

the arch, the following inscription on each side records

the completion of the work :
—" Nil desperandum

Auspice Deo"—(Nothing to be despaired of under the

Auspices of Providence.) The iron-work was cast by

Messrs. Walker, of Rotherham ; its weight is 260 tons,

of which 46 tons are malleable, and 214 cast iron.

In 1805, in consequence of the subsidence to the

east above alluded to, repairs were made under the

superintendence of Mr. John Grimshaw, who intro-

duced a series of bracing frames arranged diagonally

amongst the ribs, and thus supplied an essential requi-

site to the stability of the structure. The cost of these

repairs and improvements was 1,823^. 8s. Id. Robert

Stephenson, Esq., in his report on the state of the

bridge, September 23, 1846, says, " If it is to Burdon

that Wearmouth owes the conception and execution of

the work, it is certainly to Grimshaw that the inha-

bitants owe its preservation." Mr. Stephenson desig-

nates the bridge " a noble and sjjlendid structure,

which, for the extent of space, combined with the

astonishingly small weight of iron employed in its

construction, has no parallel in this or any other

country."

Towards the cost of the bridge, Mr. Burdon advanced

30,000/. A commission of bankruptcy having been

issued against that gentleman in 1806, an act of parlia-

ment was obtained, enabling his assignees and other

persons therein named to dispose of the securities upon

the tolls of the bridge and ferry-boats by way of lottery,

j
the sum to be raised not to exceed the 30,000/. which

Mr. Burdon had secured thereon by mortgage. This

sum was allotted into 150 prizes of different amounts,

and the drawing wa.s regulated by the State Lottery.

Medals were given to every subscriber, which contained

a view of the bridge on one side, and a description of it

on the other. The parties who obtained prizes received

debentures and intei'est at five per cent. ; the debentures

being paid off as the commissioners obtained funds

from the toll, and in a manner prescribed by the act.
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The cost of the erection of the bridge, &c., was as

follows :

—

1792. £ s. d.

For obtaining the act . . .

.

687 2 5

To consulting arcliitects . . .

.

695 15 10

Incidental expenses . . .

.

192 8 10

Purchase of ground on the north side 629 6

Purchase of houses . . . . . - 202 5 5

Shewing amount of expenditure be-

fore laying the foundation stone

2,306 13

1796.

Thank you for purchasing from Ebay Shop Retromedia

http://stores.shop.ebay.co.uk/retromedia


BOROUGH OF SUNDERLAND. 473

first opened), there was a general procession of the

mayor and corporation along the bridge. On the 25th

of August, 1847, the commissioners resolved that all

toll should cease after the 12th of November. The

treasurer announced, at a meeting of the commissioners,

October 14, in the same year, that the sum of 1,800?.

principal money, due to the creditors of the toll, had

been paid, clearing off the whole of the mortgage debt,

and leaving a sufficient balance in hand to meet all

floating debts and liabilities.

Under the powers of sections 11 to 20, 28 to 31, and

74 of the " Borough of Sunderland Act, 1851," the

powers of the bridge commissioners are transferred to

the corporation of the borough. The bridge accounts

are to be certified by declaration ; a false declaration

being a misdemeanor. The consols in the names of the

commissioners are to be applicable for the maintenance of

the bridge ; and while the corporation have funds for its

repair, it is to be free. Contracts, &c.,are to remain valid.

The corporation are entitled to the credits and liable to

the debts of the commissioners. Besides maintaining the

bridge and ferry, they are to have power to borrow

money to rebuild the bridge in case of need; and a

sinking fund, consisting of one-twentieth part of the

sum borrowed, is to be set apart annually, and to accu-

mulate M'ith interest, for repayment of mortgages. A
distinct account of credits and debits of the bridge is to

be kept.

In 1853, Messrs. Home and Scott, of the Ayre's

Quay Bottle Company, commenced cutting away a part

of the rock which forms the foundation of the south end

of the bridge, with the object of enlarging their premises.

This was done, in the ordinary way, by blasting. In

the month of August, Mr. Snowball, the town clerk,

remonstrated, in writing, with Messrs. Home and

Scott, on the injury wliich might accrue to the bridge

from their operations, and stated that in such case they

would be held liable. The blasting, however, was
continued; and on the 22nd of September, a large

portion of the rock fell into the river. It was conse-

quently found necessary to prop up the remainder of

the rock with strong beams of timber, until more
effectual means could be taken for securing the stability

of the bridge. An action was commenced bv the

mayor, aldermen, and burgesses of Sunderland, against

Messrs. Home and Scott, and Charles M'Grath, their

contractor, in which damages to the amount of 1,700/.

were claimed. The case was heard at tlie Durham
spring assizes in 1855, when the defendants j)leaded,

first, not guilty of the damage; second, that the

plaintiffs were not possessed of the bridge ; third, fourth,

and fifth, that whatever the defendants did was done by

leave of the corporation ; that the property was a free-

hold of their own, and that the plaintiffs were not

entitled to prevent them making use of it. In the

evidence it was shewn that the temporary works ne-

cessary immediately after the fall had cost 450Z. ; and

that the estimate for subsequent permanent work was,

for piling, facing, and planking, 713/. ; for shoring the

front, 315/.; filling in with concrete, 249/.; inci-

dentals, 200/.—making about 1,500/. in all. It was,

however, stated that about 250/. of the preliminary cost

would eventually be returned, in the value of stone and

timber, when the works should be completed ; and it

was also urged that part of the repairs had been pre-

viously rendered necessary by natural causes. The
jury found the amount of damages to be 986/. 5s. ; and

a verdict was accordingly given for the plaintiffs, with

leave to the defendants to set it aside, on the ground

that the plaintiffs ought to have supported their own
structure, which was practicable.

Wearmouth Bride is deservedly ranked amongst the

most beautiful edifices of which this country can boast.

A recent tourist exclaims, " What a bridge is that

iron bridge over the AVear ! Now, stand down here

and tell me, fellow-traveller, did you ever see any

thing so like a spider's web flowing airily in mid air

across a stream, as that bridge ? It is all iron, but yet

seems all filagree work ; and how nobly and proudly

the ships seem to sail under its one stretching arch,

without doing obeisance to it by lowering masts 1 The

little streamer on the topmast of that brig, now sailing

under the bridge, seems to be sporting with the light

iron circles that fill up the spandrils of the arch. In

like manner to this bridge, poetry can throw a charm

over the darkest waters and the dullest commerce."

" The best position from which to contemplate the

iron bridge of Sunderland," says Dr. Granville, " is on

the brink of one of those numerous mounds of loose

earth which project from the south bank of the river,

immediately over the lower or water road seen from

thence at a considerable depth below, winding up wide

and steep, from the margin of the river to the level of

the principal side streets of Sunderland, for carts and

trucks which go to and from the shipping.—Even

though the beholder is here placed at the height of

forty or fifty feet from the river-level, the bridge seems

to him as though suspended in the air, and he must

raise his head to look at it. Beyond it, and in the

immense space defined by its arch and its lolty abut-
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ments, large vessels are seen coming down the river,

and passing under the suspended structure, over which

a string of heavily-laden waggons is, at the same time,

slowly moving along its strong timber-framed pavement,

strewed with marl, limestone, and gravel, yet quivering

under the pressure of such a load. Two hundred and
sixty tons weight of iron projected and suspended

across a wide space, trembling at, yet resisting, the

incessant trials to which its strength is subjected every
day in the year !"*

THE EXCHANGE.

By an act of parliament passed in 1809, provision was

made for the erection of a town-hall, or market-house

;

but the money for this purpose being required for other

improvements, a fund was raised by subscription, in

shares of 50/. each, for the purpose of building an

Exchange, for mercantile purposes, to comprise the

post-office, a news-room, commission-room, brokers'

offices, &c. The site fixed upon was a part of the

High Street, known by the name of the Half-moon
Estate, from the sign of a tavern on the ground. This

property, which was much decayed, formerly belonged

to the Lilburns, and had come into the possession of Sir

Henry Vane Tempest, Bart., who now consented to

dispose of his interest in it on liberal terms The foun-

dation stone was laid by Sir Henry, in Masonic

* The celebrated bibliomaniac, Dr. Dibdin, in his "Northern
Tour," vol. i., p. 314, says, " On approaching the bridge, of only one
prodigiously elevated arch—beneath which the moderate-sized collier

sails without lowering her topmast—my daughter and myself quitted

our chaise, for a leisurely survey of this new world of wonders upon
which it seemed that we were about to enter. It was decisive enoui^h

that we were now in the region of Coal. Houses, windows, walls,

pillars, posts, and posterns, were all more or less veiled in what may
be delicately designated as bJack crape. Even the human countenance
seemed to partake of it ; and for one pure intermingling of the lily and
the rose, you shall see a score of carbonated physiognomies" ! ! !

Twenty dirty faces to a clean one ! ^^^lat will the people of Sunder-
land, particularly its well-dressed ladies, say to this aspersion on their

personal appearance ?

t Sir Walter Scott, in his diary, under the date of October 24,

1827, says, " Our party went to Sunderland to-day, when the duke
was brilliantly received by an immense population, chiefly ofseamen.
The difficulty of getting into the rooms was dreadful—an ebbing and
flowing of the crowd, which nearly took me ofi'my legs. The enter-

tainment was handsome ; about two hundred dined, and appeared most
hearty in the cau^e which had convened them—some ofthem so much
so, that, finding themselves so far on the way to perfect happiness

they e'en would go on. After the dinner party broke up, there was a
ball, numerously attended, where there was a prodigious anxiety dis-

covered for shaking of hands. The duke had enough of it, and I

came in for my share ; for though jackal to the lion, I got some part

procession, on the 10th of April, 1812 ; and the build-

ing was opened to the public on the 26th of May, 1814.

The entire cost was 8,000/.

The Exchange is a chaste, elegant structure, 9-5 feet

long, from designs by Mr. Stokoe, architect, of New-
castle. Each of the wings is surmounted by a neat

pediment ; and the lower story of the centre is open, in

the piazza form, and constitutes the Exchange. The
rooms around it are let for brokers' offices, or public

sale-rooms. The upper story contains a news-room, 68

feet long and 28 broad, in which the dinner given to

the Duke of Wellington in 1827 was held.f It con-

tains a fine portrait of Sir Henry Vane Tempest, whose

grandson. Lord Adolphus Vane, is now the president.

At a meeting of the friends of Alderman Thompson,

held December 30, 18o9, it was agreed to purchase

Bewick's (see vol. i., p. 51-5) portrait of that gentleman, at

300 guineas, to have a print engraved from it, and to place

the painting in the Exchange. Tlie room also contains

excellent portraits of Drs. Armstrong and Clanny.

The other rooms upon this floor are used for the meet-

ings of the various boards of commissioners. The
building is surmounted by a cupola, containing a clock,

with a dial on each side : after being out of use for

nearly ten years, it was repaired, furnished, with a new
bell, and set in motion on the 31st December, 1835;

the dials being of glass, and lighted with gas during

the night.

in whatever was going. "We got home about half past two in the

morning, sufficiently tired."

After Scott's visit. Sir CutUbert Sharp, in writing to him, expressed

a hope that he had not forgotten his friends at Sunderland. Sir

Walter's answer to Sir Cdthbert begins thus :

—

" Forget thee ? no ! my worthy frere !

Forget blithe mirth and gallant cheer

!

Death sooner stretch me on the bier !

Forget thee ? No !

" Forget the universal shout.

When ' canny Sunderland' spoke out

—

A truth which knaves aSect to doubt

—

Forget thee ? No

!

" Forget you ? No ! though now-a-day

I've heard your knowing people say,

Disown the debt you cannot pay,

You'U find it far the thriftiest way.

But I .- O no !

" Forget your kindness found for all room,

In what though large seem'd stijl a small room.

Forget my Surtees in a ball-room.

Forget you ? No !

" Forget your sprightly dumpty-diddles,

And beauty tripping to the fiddles.

Forget my lovely friends the LiddelU,

Forget you ? No !
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CUSTOM-HOUSE.

The original Custom-house of Sunderland is now oc-

cupied as a public house, and is approached by a flight

of stone stairs from, the Low Street, with an area in

front called the Custom-house Yard. A house on the

edge of the hill descending from the east end of High

Street to the river was used as a Custom-house in the

early part of the present century ; on its removal, a

well-finished building was taken for the purpose,

situated at the east end of Fitter's Row, Silver Street,

which had been erected as a private residence in 1727,

by Mr. Edward Brown, a member of the Society of

Friends.* The merchants and ship-owners having

presented a memorial to the commissioners of the

customs, requesting that a more eligible situation might

be appointed, the foundation-stone of the present

building was laid Marcli 1, 18.37. It is situated on the

north side of the High Street, opposite the foot of

Vine Street. The principal entrance on the south

conducts into the Long Room : beneath it are the

other offices, to which a convenient access is obtained

on the north side from the Quay. The business is con-

ducted by a collector, a comptroller, four clerks in the

Long Room, a clerk under the ^Icrchant Seamen's

Act, a landing surveyor, three searching, landing, and

coast waiters and guagers, three tide surveyors, and

officers of the coast guard. The building was erected

by a company, and is leased to the government ; but no

interest has yet been received by the shareholders.

THE BARRACKS.

This military establishment ocru])ies a large square

area at the eastern extremity of Sunderland, where it

was erected on a portion of the Town Moor in 1794.

• It is related that when this splendid house and grounds were

completed, with the adjoining houses in Fitter's Row lor the habita-

tion of his keelmen, &c., Mr. Brown was so importuned by persons

eager to view them that he was obliged to refuse permission to many

;

and to carry this into effect, he affixed a notice board at his entrance

gates, with the words, " Go about thy business," painted upon it.

Mr. Brown afterwards became embarrassed, and died in poverty. The
house was purchased in May, 18ot, by the Sunderland Corporation

Gas Company, with the intention of pulling it down; but it is now being

fitted up for the Ragged School.

t At that period, there were no drops or machinery at Sunderland

for the loading of ships with coals, which were consequently " cast"

or shovelled from the keels by men called " casters." As these were
frequently too few in number to attend to all the vessels loading at

once, the services of the soldiers in the barracks were daily required to

assist in that kind of labour. It was then a common saying amongst
the kceluien and ruiuiing fitters, when casters were wanted, " If ye

VUI,. 11.

It was put into commission in the early part of the

following year; the first barrack-master being appointed

on the 25th of March. The dwellings, guard-house,

cooking-houses, &c., were all of wood, and the upper

stories of the houses allotted to non-commissioned

officers and privates Avere approached by exterior

staircases and projecting galleries. The officers' rooms

were on the west side of the square. There was accom-

modation for about 1,600 infantry, with stabling for

ten horses, and a hospital suitably adapted for the

reception of 80 patients. During the war with France,

these barracks were usually occupied by three militia

regiments, for parading which the barrack-yard was

sufficiently large.f The whole was surrounded by a

strong wooden palisading. This is now replaced by a

wall of brick; and the dwellings in the barracks are of the

same material, the two long rows of houses on the east

side being entirely cleared away. The extension of the

barracks, and their adaption to cavalry and artillery,

are considered probable ; as well as the erection of

martcllo towers on the coast.

BATTERIES.

" The South Battery," on the Town Moor, nearly

south-east of St. John's chapel, was washed away by

the sea, about the year 1782. Another, adjacent to the

south-east angle of the barracks, was afterwards erected,

and mounted twelve 24-])oundcrs ; it was removed

during the excavations for the docks. An older battery,

in which four 24-poundcrs were kept, was situated

lower down towards the sea-shore, about midway

between the barracks and the pier ; but the site was

washed away by the sea in the early part of the present

century.J The whole of the waste on which it was

placed, which included the house occupied by the

canna get men, get soulgers." No instance of the troops being al-

lo\vcd to go out to labour occurred from the close of the war till the

plentiful harvest of 18.)4, when the commanding officer of the 85th

regiment, then stationed in the barracks at Sunderland, allotted parties

of soldiers, on the application of the neighbouring farmers, to assist in

harvest operations.

X This little fort was popularly known in Sunderland as the " Black

Cat Battery." Tradition reported that "a lady," who passed it

on her way to drown herself in the sea, re-appeared nightly in its pre-

cincts in the shape of a black cat ! When the Sunderland Volunteers

were on permanent duty, it was considered a post of no little danger to

be placed sentry at night at the lonely Black ('at Battery,

A subscriprion was raised, in 179'3. for gunpowder to be expended

by the I.oyal Simderland Volunteers in exercising the great guns in .

the batteries south of the river Wear. On the 30th of August in that

year, the corps received the compliments of the Duke of York,

through Sir Hugh Dalrymple. Amongst other subiciibers to the

3 u
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engineer to the river commissioners, their workshops,
" the engineer's garden," a square enclosure surrounded

by a wooden fence, and other premises, were excavated

on the formation of the docivs ; and the site is covered

by the beaching ground of the harbour, the tidal har-

bour, the half-tide bason, the quays, and other premises

belonging to the dock company* They are bound to

lay the foundation of a new battery, to the extent of

8,000/., in lieu of the twelve-gun battery, when the

Board of Ordnance make choice of a site

THE THEATRE.

A NEW theatre, which has been designated " The
Theatre-royal," has recently been erected in Bedford

Street, Bishopwearmouth, by Mr. S. Roxby, who has

for many years been proprietor and manager of the

theatre in Drury Lane, Sunderland. The cost of its

erection was upwards of 1,0001. The front is of stone,

the angles terminating with pilasters and Corinthian

capitals ; the centre finisliing with a pediment containing

the royal arms. The scenery is entirely new, painted

by Mr. W. Beverley and assistants.

fund were the Bishop of Durham, 15 guineas : the dean and chapter,

15 guineas ; William Henry Lambton, Esq., M.I'., 10 guineas ; Lady
Jane Lambton, Rowland Burdon, Esq., M.P., Mrs. Burdon, and
Ralph Milbank, Esq., M.P., each 5 guineas ; and Mr. Sanderson, of

Sunderland, 2 guineas. A similar subscription was raised for the

Sunderland Volunteer Infantry in the following war, which, in Decem-
ber, 1803, amounted to 1,447/. On this occasion. Bishop Earrington

contributed 50/. ; Mr. Mordey, 10/. 10s. ; Mrs. Kobson, Mrs. Webster,

and Mr. Stephen Kemble, eacli 5/. 5s. ; Dr. Clanny, two subscriptions

of 3/. 3s. each,.&c.

• The editor of " The People's History of Sunderland" quotes two
leases relative to property on and nc;ir this place. The first is one

granted by Lord Crewe, May 8, 171C, to John Lowes and Jane his

wife, " of a parcel of ground abutting upon the waste, called Sunder-

land Town Moor on the west, and the sea on the other three sides."

The same land was surrendered, February 11, 1720, by way of mort-

gage, for 35/., from John Lowes to Nicholas Burdon ; but it appears

to have been swept away by the sea before the year 1737. The other

lease, dated May 6, 1749, granted by Bishop Chandler to Newark
Hudson, relates to the waste ground named in the text, which is

described as " now covered with sand," and " containing, by estima-

tion, from east to west, 333 yards or thereabouts ; and from north to

south, 6C0 yards or thereabouts, be the same more or less, bounding

upon the sea on the cast, Sunderland Town Sloor on the west, Sun-

derland pier on the north, the south battery and Jocky Dike Nook on

the south, together with all and singular ways, easements, profits,

commodities, advantages, and appurtenances whatsoever to the same

belonging, or in anywise appertaining, to hold for the term of twenty

years, atai'.d under the yearly rent of 2s." Subsequent leases of the

same property occur in the records.

t Mrs. Siddons, sister to Mr. Kemble, and others of the family,

performed in tliis theatre daring his management. It is said that Mr.

The first regular theatrical company which performed

at Sunderland was that of Mr. Thomas Bates, who
o'iginally occupied the Assembly Room, now Seamen's

Mall, for dramatic representations, and formed a circuit

of several towns in the county. In 1778, he fitted up

and enlarged the building afterwards used as a theatre,

in Drury Lane, which he opened on the 18th of No-
vember, with apiece entitled " An Appeal to the Muses,

or Apollo's Decree," written by Mr. James Cawdell.

This gentleman, nephew of Mr. Bates, succeeded to

the management, and was very popular in Siuiderlaiul. |
In the decline of his health, his interest and j'roperty

in the several theatres of the district were purchased by

Mr. Stephen Kemble (see vol i., p. 218).t On Mr.

Kemble's retirement, he v.as succeeded by Messrs.

Anderson and Faulkner ; and the management was

afterwards succi Sbively held by Mr. Bland, Mr. ]\litcheli,

Messrs. Roxby and Beverley, and Mr. S. Roxby, who

eventually became proprietor of the building. Though

the situation, in a narrow lane, was inconvenient, the

interior of the theatre was commodious. Many per-

formers of distinguished merit have from time to time

appeared on its boardt^, several of whom subsequently

acquired high reputation in the metropolitan theatres.^

Charles Kemble and Miss De Camp, father and mother of the present

Mis. Fanny Kemble, were married at Sunderland. The bridegroom

at that lime lodged at a public house in Spiing Garden Lane, adjoin-

ing the theatre, kept by Mrs. Elizabeth Bankes, better known ae

" Betti/ Bniikes." Mr. Stephen Kemble also lodged in a dwelling still

called tlie Theatre /loiise, in the same lane.

J Mr. John Emery.—The parents of this truly great actor wera

performers in Vt. Bates's company at Sunderland, in which town

the future representative of the Yorkshire character, par cxcellenci,

was born on the 22iid of December, 1777. liis scanty education was

received at the little town of Ecclesfield, in the West Riding of York-

shire, where he acquired that correct pronunciation of the dialect

which afterwards contributed sio essentially to his success. He was

designed by his parents for a musician ; but, preferring the stage, he

made his debut, when very young, at Brighton, as Old Crazy, in the

farce of Peeping Tom, and was so successful that he procured an en-

gagement from Tate Wilkinson, manager of the York theatre, who,

with his usual sagacity, foresaw the future success of his young

favourite. On the 21st September, 179S, when only in his 21st year,

Emery made his first appearance in London as Frank Oatla.d in

A Cure for the Heart Ache, and LorcgoUt, in The Miser; and Ih©

ability which could secure success in such opposite characters esta-

blished him at once in public favour. His performances, during a

series of years, at the Haymarket Theatre, Covent Garden, and the

English Opera-house, were a succession of triumphs. His Dan, John

Lump, Zekiel Homespun, Robin Roujhcad, S:c., made him tlie delight

of the town ; but it was his Tyke, in The Scho.l of Reform, in which

his wonderful genius was most pre-eminently displayed. In other

characters, of a totally different kind, he also produced the most

surprising ofl'ects. In Williams, in Henry V., he depicted the rude

and gallant soldier ; whilst his ruffians, such as Orson in The Iron

Chesty and Barnardine in Measure for Measure, were highly finished
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THE LYCEUM.

This building, which is situated in Lambton Street,

Bishopwearmouth, was erected by Mr. R. F. Cunning-

ham. The foundation-stone was laid on the 3rd of

February, 1852 ; the architect being Mr. Joseph Potts.

It was intended for commission rooms, oiEces, club-

rooms, mechanics' institute^ concert-hall, and ordinary

or popular lecture rooms. The concert hall was 103

feet by 45, fitted up with appropriate ante-rooms, stalls,

amphitheatre, upper side galleries, and large end

gallery opposite the platform, being the largest room in

Sunderland. It was well ventilated, and heated by a hot

water apparatus ; and every requisite was provided for

accommodating large tea-parties. A news-room was

made one of the early features of the establishment, and

is still continued. In 1854, the large hall was fitted up

as a theatre, for which Mr. E. D. Davis, manager of

the Theatre Royal Newcastle, obtained from the magis-

trates of Sunderland a license for four months. It was

opened September 11, 1854, with the drama of

" Giraida," the interlude of " The Loan of a Lover,"

and the fiircc of " The Captain is not a "Miss." Mr.

Davis, having obtained an extension of his license, pur-

chased the property for 2,670^., and now opens the

Lyceum annually for a regular season. Considerable

additions have been made, under the direction of local

architects, to the strength and stability of the building,

which has thus been rendered capable of supporting any

weight that can be placed in it. The interior is taste-

fully and splendidly fitted up : its arrangements have

bee II much improved, and every care taken to secure the

accommodation and comfort of the audience. The cost

of these iinjirovcmcnts was about 900/. There are two

tiers of bo.xes around the front, besides eight private

boxes on each side of the stage, arranged in three tiers
;

the whole cai)able of accommodating o20 persons. The
pit will hold 500 persons, and the gallery about 560.

The seats in the pit and boxes are stuffed, and furnished

with backs. There are two rows of reserved seats be-

tween the pit and the orchestra. The stage, however, is

somewliat small in p^j^jfiortion to the size of the theatre.

' a'
•pecimens of obduracy. . lis Caliban'' it has been observed, " was
an effort that the votary o^Tihakspearo would \w uiii;ratcful to forget."

Nor were the comic effusions, which he frequently produced at his

benefits, the least po'pular of his displays : his " Cuddy Tlump's Peep
at the Forty Thieves," " Lunnon is the Devil," " York, you're

wanted," and others, enjoyed a national reputation.

In May, 1802, Mr. Emery married Miss Anne Thompson, da\i!!;htcr

of a tradesman in Southwark. In private lif^', he was fond of field

sports, and was u patrou of jockeys and pugilists. lu person, h^.- was

THE ATHEN.EUM.

The foundation-stone of the Athenteum, Fawcett Street,

Bishopwearmouth, was laid November 12, 1839, by his

royal highness the Duke of Sussex ; when a plate,

bearing an inscription recording the date and object of

the building and the names of the committee, with a

printed list of subscribers, were placed in the cavity of

the stone. The building was opened in 1841, having

cost upwards of 4,500/. The style of the exterior is of

the Ionic order, with portico and columns, from
designs by Mr. "William Billinton, of AVakefteld. The
effect is massive and imposing, but is injured by the

height of the adjoining houses. The Hall, in which
puulic meetings are held, measures 36} feet by 34,

with a handsome gallery around it. It is lighted

by sash windows in a coved roof. The Lecture Room
is 56 i by 28 feet; and the Long Room, the apartment

occupied by the Borough i\Iuseum, and that by the

Library and News-room, are each 66 feet by 20.

There are also several ante-rooms.

The BoKorcH Museum is rich in shells and minerals,

besides many other curiosities ; and the collection is

increasing beyond the present accommodation. Between
the 1st of January and the 1st of November, 1855, it

was visited by upwards of 10,000 persons. Under the

]irovisions of the Museum and Libraries Act, it is sup-

l^orted by a rate, at present assessed at one farthing in

the pound, which produces 126/. per annum : the rate

is sometimes half a farthing in the pound ; but the cor-

poration have power, under the act, to impose a rate

of one penny. There is no library attached to the

museum.

The Sunderland Liteuaky and Philosophical

Society is supported by a subscription of twelve shil-

lings a year from each member. Its library, consist-

ing of an extensive selection of works in the various

departments of literature, occupies an apartment in the

Athena?um. Valuable and instructive lectures have

been delivered, from time to time, to the members and

about five feet nine inches in height, heavily built, and exceedingly

strong. About May, LS22, he was seized with an inflammation of th*

lungs, and died on the 2.jthof July, at his house in Bloonisbury. lli»

funeral was attended by a large concourse of friends and admirers,

and a subscription and benefit were got up for his widow and chil-

dren. His eldest son made his appearance on the stage a few year*

at,'o, and has acquired some celebrity in the same line of characters iu

which his father achieved his great triumphs.
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the public, by Mr. J. G. Grant,* formerly one of the

secretaries, and by other gentlemen. Soirees and

other assemblies have also been occasionally held in aid

of the funds.

SuNDEKLAXD MECHANICS' INSTITUTION.— A me-

chanics' institution was commenced on the second

Tuesday in February, 1820, and consisted, at the end

of the first j-ear, of 312 members. The subscriptions

were, for master tradesmen, 12*. per annum, and 8s.

for journeymen and apprentices. A library was formed,

and gratuitous lectures were delivered by members and

other persons. For some years, the supporters of this

institution had to contend with the difficulties incident

to similar undertakings, and it was at length merged

in the Literary and Philosophical Society. A prospectus

for a new institution was advertised November 21,

1845 ; and " The Sunderland Mechanics' Institution"

was formed in August, 1847, and for some time

held in the AtheniEum, but removed in November,

1855, to premises in Lambton Street, where it is open

every Saturday evening from eight to ten o'clock. For

the last few years, it has been indifferently supported,

the subscriptions merely paying tlie current expenses.

The library Is a very good one, but lias received few

additions recently. The subscription to the library and

a news-room connected with it is 2s. per quarter.

The Athen^um News-room is supported by sub-

scriptions of one pound a year.

THE REGISTER BUILDINGS.

These buildings, of recent erection, are situated on

Wearmouth Walk. They present a very handsome

• Author of " Uufus ; or the Ked King," " Madonna Pia, and other

Poems," kc.
I

t The buildings in these passiges were mattings, warehouses,

cow-byers, and similar erections. Several of them were used as

slaughter-houses ; but, at that time, the greater part of the cattle for

the market were slaughtered in the front shops in High Street. For

this purpose, a rope was attached to the horns of the animal ir.tcnded

to be killed, whilst in the byer ; and a number of men aTid boys,

holding by one end, ran down the narrow lane, followed by the ox,

frequently in an infuriated state. On entering the intended shop,

they passed the rope round astrmg post, which brought the animal

up after a wide sweep in the street. As the practice was carried on

at any hour of the day, and on almost everj' day in the week, Tcry

nlarming scenes were frequent. If it happened to be market or a fair

day, tile covers of stalls were sometimes torn down by the horns of the

ox, or the vegetables, fruit, earthenware, &c., trampled under its

hoofs. Sometimes the rope broke, or slipped from the hands of the

attendants, when the beast ran madly tluough the street. Even when

front, In the Gothic style of architecture ; and the

apartments are used for the meetings of the hoard oiii

guardians of the Sunderland Poor-law Union.

THE MARKET.

The present market was erected under the powers of

an act of parliament, 7 Geo. IV., c. 120, intituled,

"An Act for paving, lighting, watching, cleansing, and

Improving the town and parish of Sunderland near the

Sea, in the county of Durham, for removing the mar-

ket, and for otherwise improving the said town. It

occupies the site of a field on the north side of Corona-

tion Street, and of ssveral narrow lanes and passages

to the south of that part of the High Street where the

flesh market was previously held (see p. 419).t The

foundation-stone was laid on the 24th of March, 1829,

when several coins of the reign of George IV. were

deposited beneath. The market was formally opened

by the commissioners, at six o'clock in the morning of

Saturday, the 21st of August, 1830. It contains 250

shops, occupied by butchers, fishmongers,^ dealers in

vegetables, fruit, bacon, eggs, earthenware, clothing,

shoes, &c. ; several of the shops being let to occasional

occupants. The ground and houses on the site oF the

market cost 4,200/. The principal entrance is from

Pligh Street, through a large building called the

" Arcade," commenced July 23, 1834, and which was

originally intended for a Custom-house, but has, since

its completion, been occupied as a tavern and music

saloon. The market Is let by the corporation at a rent

of 850/. a year.

By "the Borough of Sunderland Act, 1851." (in

which Is incorporated the " Markets and Fairs Clauset

Act, 1847,") sections 34 to 42, the regulation of th«

brought to the shop door, the animal frequently refused instinctively

to enter, or lay down doggedly on the pavement ; and recourse wa«

had to blows with heavy sticks, twisting the tail, and other me.ms to

compel it ; the struggle frequently continuing for a considerable time,

in the midst of an excited crowd. Though not practised to the sauis

extent, the system is still partially' c -ntij ued; and some of the

slaughter-houses, in various parts of , j
, a-i., are open to public new.

In 16S1, Anthony Hodgson, &c.,
^f.,,,'

resented at the Court Baron
iffui

latri

mage of the liege people,

305. U</.'

" for selling their bulls unbaited, to t

and against the form of the statute, &

J The fish market was, for many year».i)revious to the erection of

the new market, held on Ettnck's Quay. " Mr. John Thornhill

built a commodious covered fish market, with a large stone basin

in the centre, for the purpose of washing the fish, upon part of the

copyhold ; but the dealers in fish refused to leave their market on

Ettrick's Quay to occupy it ; this rendered Mr. Thornhill's market

valueless, and it was pulled down."

—

I'vople't Flist. of Sundiitand,

p. la.
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markets and fairs is vested in the corporation, who

have power to lease the market and tolls. This right

was granted to the Svmderland commissioners, by the

Bis" p of Durham, July 28, 1820, in consideration of

307/., to take effect upon the determination of a lease

for 21 years from September 2, 1818, to John George

Lambton, Esq., INI.P. At the same time, in considera-

tion of 393/., Jlr. Lambton conveyed all his interest

and term of the tolls and duties to the commissioners.

By the charter of Bishop Morton, Friday is nomi-

nated as the market-day for Sunderland ; and this

regulation was continued till November 18, 1820, when

the day was changed to Saturdaj' by the commissioners

under the Sunderland Improvement Act, since con-

firmed by the Borough Actj an alteration which has

been productive of very beneficial results, as being more

convenient to the population of the district. Legal pro-

ceedings were threatened by the mayor and corporation

of Durham, who considered their market injured by the

change at Sunderland ; but this opposition was with-

drawn. In February, 1844, a memorial, signed by

nearly all the tradesmen in Sunderland, was addressed

to the executors of the Countess of Durham, stating

that the executors shipped all their coals at the port,

and derived a great revenue from the town ; that the

tradesmen conld afford to sell as cheap or cheaper than

those of inland towns ; and soliciting that the working

people of the collieries should be encou.raged to pur-

chase their goods at Sunderland. In consequence of

this application, Mr. Morton, the countess's principal

agent, recommended the workmen to accede to the

request, and promised to provide market carts for their

accommodation.

In compliance with a memorial from the farmers,

millers, and principal inhabitants of the town, com-

plaining of the inconvenience attending the late hour of

the corn market, the county magistrates, on September

12, 180G, ordered that the said market should in future

begin at eleven and terminate at one o'clock. Amongst

the efforts made to improve the internal trade of Sun-

derland, it may be named that half-yearly statute hirings

for farm servants were commenced on the 2nd of No-
vembcr, 1822, to be. 1 ''r, on the first and second

Saturdays in May and^.^ , vcmber, in front of the

Exchange ; but this v shortly after discontinued.

On October 19, 1824, "F.ay and straw market was

established, to be held in the High Street, every

Tuesday. A cattle-market, to be held once a fortnight,

was commenced in Barrack Street; but proved a

failure.

VOL. IV.

FAIRS.

Bishop Morton's charter grants that two fairs or

marts shall be held within the borough every year

for ever, to wit, one oi^ the feast of St. Philip and

St. James, and the other at the Feast of St. Michael the

Archangel. These fairs continue to be held annually

on the 11th and 12th of May, and the 10th and 11th of

October, in the High Street. The articles offered for

sale are hardware, crockery, fancy articles, toys,

gingerbread, &c. The town is visited at such times by
itiuerent exhibitions of various descriptions; and the

youthful part of the community spend the evenings in

dancing and other amusements.

The tolls to be taken for the INIarkets and Fairs are

specified in the first schedule of the act as follows :

—

For every -waggon, cart, or otlier carriage, in which any thing is

exposed for sale, any sura not exceeding for every day, sixpence.

For every shop or stall in which any vegetables, roots, fruit, fish,

butter, cheese, bacon, or butcher's meat is exposed for sale, any sum
not exceeding for every week, two shillings and sixpence.

For every shop or stall on which any clothes, wares, or other goods

or merchandise are exposed for sale, any sum not exceeding for every

week, four shillings.

For every bushel of com or grain exposed for sale, any sum not

exceeding one penny.

The lessee of the corporation, in 1853, gained posses-

sion of the tolls paid for booths and shows, which had,

from the year 1817, been collected by the fishermen of

Sunderland, under their alleged right to the Town Moor.

BATHS AND WASH-HOUSES.

Sunderland appears to have been a place of resort,

during the last century, for sea-bathing. In 1800, a

suite of hot and cold baths was erected at Hendon ; and

in 1821, a set of metallic, vapour, and hot and cold salt

water baths were established on the Town Moor. To

supply the inhabitants generally, however, with what is

now considered an indispensible requisite in every large

town, the corporation determined on the erection of

suitable baths and wash-houses in Hendon Road. This

important and useful establishment was erected under

the direction of Mr. Thomas Oliver, jun., architect, and

was opened to the public on April 7, 1851. The

building, which has an ornamented front, consists of

separate departments for male and female bathers, with

waiting rooms to each, a central office, rooms for super-

intendent and matron, a spacious wash-house, 55 feet

by 25, drying room, and boiler house. The washing

room is fitted up with 34 stalls, and the drying room

with a corresponding set of apparatus heated by steam.

3 X
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There are twelve -n-arni and cold baths, four shower

baths, and two vapour baths. The whole is provided

with gas fittings, and well ventilated. The entire cost

of the building, including 300/. for the purchase of the

site and the expense of some alterations which became

necessary after its erection, was 2,973/. Os. lOd., the

greater part of which was borrowed at four per cent.,

to be repaid in 30 years. During the 38 weeks ending

December 31, 1851, 15,806 bathers used the baths, and

3,914 persons used the wash tubs. The average re-

ceipts per week were 6/. 16s. Id., and the outlay, in-

cluding interest, averaged 6/. 3s. 5d. weekly.

MONKWEAKMOUTH.

SiJ^CE 1851, a series of rapid improvements has taken

j)lace in Monkwcarmouth, where anew town has sprung

up in the East House Field, which was formerly a bal-

last hill. On this site. Dock Street, Ann Street, Dame
Dorothy Street, Barrington Street, Hardwicke Street,

Bloomfield Street, Mulgrave Street, Normanby Street,

and Milburn Place, have been erected, comprising up-

wards of 400 houses, and affording accommodation for a

considerable portion of the increasing population of the

parish. The streets are laid out, and the houses built,

upon a regular principle, from designs by John Dobsou,

Esq., Newcastle, and display a decided improvement in

the domestic architecture of the neighbourhood. " It

would be well for many districts," says Mr. Rawlinson,

" if property had been so judiciously laid out as this of

Sir Hedworth Williamson."

The baths and wash-houses* occupy a central situa-

tion near these new streets. The site was formerly a

butcher-market, on which temporary shambles were

erected : it was afterwards used for about 30 years as a

fish-market, on the ground behind which there were

four dwelling houses. The whole of this property was

presented by Sir Hedworth and Lady Williamson to

the corporation of the borough, as a site for baths and

wash-houses ; the corporation agreeing to pay an

acknowledgment of 10/. jicr annum. The foundation-

stone was laid by Lady Williamson, on the 20th of

.Tunc, 1853, when a crown, a half-cro\\'n, a florin, a

shilling, a sixpence, and a fourpcnny piece, all of the

coinage of Victoria, a paper containing the names of

the corporation, an inscription written on parchment

* At a meeting of the inhabitants of Monkwearmouth, held April

3, 1840, Sir Hedworth Williamson in the chair, it was resolved to

adopt a prospectus for establishing public baths on the beach near the

north pier. The capital was to be 1,000/., in shares of 5/. each, under

the title of " The MonUwearmouth Bath Company."

similar to that wdiich was cut on the foundation-stone,

and a copy of the card summoning the meeting of the

corporation on the occasion, were inclosed in a bottle,

which was placed in an aperture of the stone, and

covered with a sheet of gutta pcrcha. The plan of the

building was from designs by Mr. Crozier, C.E. ; and,

in general, the same principle is followed in the erection

as that adopted by Mr. Oliver in the establishment at

Hendon Road. The building is of brick, fronted with

freestone. There are ten common baths, three rolling

baths, three shower baths, and one vapour bath. The
washing hall is large, with drying and ironing room,

and every other accommodation. The cost was about

2,400/.

- THE CORPORATION.

Though the charter granted by Bishop Morton in

1634 was allowed to expire, no further election of

mayor or aldermen having taken place, yet the piivi-

leges granted to the inhabitants were expressly acknow-

ledged by the crown, and by the courts of judicature in

several suits at law, " particularly touching the herbage

of the Town Moor, and the soil thereof." The case of

Hincks v. Clark, reported 2 Levinz, 252, is generally

referred to as the first in which the borough was acknow-

ledged. In that case, the corporation called Freemen

and Stallingers, who were defendents in replevin,

avowed that Sunderland was an ancient borough, con-

sisting of twelve Freemen and twelve Stallingers, and

that custom existed that every Freeman inhabiting any

messtiage there is entitled to commonage for two horses

and four cows, and each Stallinger for one cow ; and a

widow of a Freeman or Stallinger, being an inhabitant,

had the like commonage after her husband's death.

None of the ancient charters of the borough, which are

now extant, mention any body of men incorjjorated

under the name of Freemen and Stallingers ; but as the

word " Freemen" often occurs in the old charters, it

has been presumed that the st)'le had been made use of

in some charter that is now lost. The number of Free-

men continues to be twelve ; but the number of Stal-

lingers has been increased to eighteen, though these

numbers have not been regularly kept up. Vacancies

are filled up by the Freemen, in whom the right of

election is by long usage vested. The Freemen are

elected from amongst the Stallingers resident within

the borough, and the Stallmgers are selected from the

other inhabitants. Instances of disfranchisement have

occasionally taken place, by a majority of the Freemen.
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Grassmen are first mentioned in 1718. The records of

the corporation are supposed to have been destroyed.

For further particulars, see Town Moor.

On the passhig of the Municipal Reform Bill, doubts

were entertained as to whether Sunderland was a

corporation entitled to the benefit of the act. The

oj)iniou of the attorney-general was therefore taken

upon the subject, and his reply was in the aflirmative.

He also gave it as his opinion, that the duties of chief

officer devolved, as a matter of right, upon the Freemen.

In consequence of this decision, a requisition, very

numerously signed, was presented to B. Ogden, Esq.,

the senior Freeman, soliciting him to act as chief officer

on the occasion ; but he declined the honour, as did

also Messrs. B. Bray, C. Bramwell, and T. Parker, the

next three in succession to Mr. Ogden. Mr. Spoor,

however, the next in seniority, consented ; and a public

meeting was held, at which the thanks of the burgesses

were voted to i\Ir. Spoor, and a committee appointed

to secure the benefits of the Reform Act to the borough.

As might be anticipated, much interest was excited

in the election of the first town councillors. On the

29th December, 1835, Mr. Spoor, the chief officer.

* William Reid Clanst, M.D.—Dr. Cl.inny was a native oflre-

land, but his education was completed at the medical school in Edin-

burgh. He served as assistant-surgeon for some time in the navy, in

the Baltic and North Sea, and was present in the action at Copen-

hagen. He subsequently graduated at Edinburgh, audmairied there

Margaret, daughter of Capt. MitchcU, of the Hon. East India Com-
pany's service. He tlien resided and followed his profession for a

short time in the city of Durham, and afterwards at Bishopwear-

mouth, where he practised as a physician for the long period of forty-

five years. In Slay, 1812, an extensive explosion took place at Felling

Colliery, which led to the establishment, in the following year, of

" Tlie Sunderland Society for the Prevention of Accidents in Coal

Mines," of which Sir Kalph MUbank, Bart., was president. During
its sittings, Dr. Clar.ny exhibited his steam lamp, and claimed for

himself the merit of having been the first person to conceive and
carry out the idea of a lamp to burn with safety in an explosive mix-
ture of air, for which he was honoured with an unanimous vote of

thanks. In May, 1813, a paper was read before the Royal Society,

entitled " On a steady light in coal mines, by Dr. William Reid
Claiiny," which was soon afterwards published in the Philosophical

Transactions ; and in the October following the lamp was cxliibitcd

in the Literary and Philosophical Society of Newcastle. A copy of

the first report of the Sunderland society, printed in 1S14, was trans-

mitted to Sir Humphrey Davy, accompanied with an invitation to the

north, to examine the existing systems of ventilation. During his

consequent visit to the Rev. Dr. Gray, at the rectory, Bishopwear-

mouth, in August, 1815, and his examination of the collieries at Wall-
send, Hebbui-n, &c., he conceived the idea of the celebrated safety-

lamp which has become identified with liis name ; whilst, about the
same time, Mr. George Stephenson also invented his safety-lamp (see

vol. i., pp. 111-12). The society, so philuntliropic in its objects, and
so productive of beneficial results, was not supported as it deserved,

proclaimed the names of those chosen as the first muni-

cipal representatives, as follows :

—

3IonJiweannouth IT'ard—James Allison, Cooper

Abbs, Thomas Speeding, Matthew Robson the younger,

George Wilkin Hall, and George Hudson.

IVcst Ward—Emerson Muschamp, Andrew White,

Barnabas Sharp, Philip Laing, Henry Scott (of South-

wick), and John Gordon Black.

Bridge Ward—John Coull Carr, John Hopper,

William Reid Clanny,* John Hutchinson, Errington

Bell Ord, and William Carr.

Saint MichaeVs Ward—Richard AVhitc, Robert

Burdon Cay, John Lothcrington, James Vint, Andrew
Godfrey Rahu, and William Blackett.

Bislwpioearmouth Ward—Andrew White, Thomas
Marwood the younger, George Booth, Robert Spoor,

Thomas Brown the younger, and John Atkin.

Sunderland Ward—John Barry the younger, Joseph

Lee, Thomas Taylor, William Kirk the younger, Jere-

miah Sowerby, and William Boyes Walker.

East Ward—Richard Sjjoor, William Nicholson,

Thomas Reed the younger, Thomas Reed (Nicholson

Street), Robert Dixon, and William French.

and, after being languidly carried on for several years, was eventually

discontinued.

Meanwhile, Dr. Cl^inny devoted himself to the improvement of his

lamp. After various experiments in the explosive air in the Herring-

ton Hill pit, two of the miners employed declared that they would go

into any part of a mine without fear, if lighted by this lamp ; and in

Nov., 1815, Dr. Clanny, Messrs. Holmes, Patterson, and Birkbeck de-

scended the Merrington Hill pit, and at the depth of one hundred and

one fathoms made further experiments with the lamp, at a place in

the mine where the gas was exuding from the " deads" of thelluttou

seam below, and in an atmosphere where if a lighted candle had been

introduced, an immediate explosion would have followed. Dr.

Clanny was awarded the gold and silver medals of the Society ofArts.

From 1813 untU his death, he laboured incessantly in the improve-

ment and remodelling of his lamp, and at length succeeded in pro-

ducing one, which, says Mr. Dunn, "may vie with the best extant for

safety, beauty, and utility. Asa travelling or surveying lamp for

viewers and inspectors, it is undoubtedly superior to the lamp of Sir H.

Da-^'y ; and, as to safety, that consists in the lamp becoming extin-

guished whenever the explosive mixtuie arrives at an extreme point."

As an acknowledgment of his services in the cause of humanity, a few

friends, headed by the late Marquis of Londonderry, presented him

with a splendid silver salver and a purse of gold. The presentation

took i)lace in the Athena;um, Feb. 3, 1848. Dr. Clanny published

"An Analysis of the Springs at Butterby," "Practical Observations

on Safety Lamps," " A Treatise on the Mineral Waters of Gilsland,"

" A Lecture on Zopm-on," "A Lecture on Typhus Fever," "History

of Epidemic Cholera," and " A Faithful Record of the Miraculous

case of Mary Jobson," &e. He was a Fellow of the Royal Society of

Edinburgh, physician extraordinary to the late Duke of Susses, a

Knight C'onunander of the order of St. John of Jerusalem, &c.

William Reid Clanny died Jan. 10, 1850, aged 73.
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The following gentlemen were afterwards elected

aldermen of Sunderland :

—

£as( Ward—Richard Spoor and Thos. Reed, jun.

West Ward—Barnabas Sharp and Philip Laing.

Sunderland Ward—W. Kirk, jun., and T. Taylor.

Bishopicearmouth Ward—Thomas Brown, jun., and

John Atkin.

Bridge Ward—William Reid Clanny, M.D., and

John Coull Carr.

Monkivearmouth Ward—Jas. Allison and C. Abbs.

Saint MichaeVs Ward—Richard White and John

Lotheriugton.

Town clerk—John Pexall Kidson.

On the 1st of January, 1836, Andrew White, Esq.,

was elected mayor.

A quo warranto was shortly after obtained in the

Queen's Bench to set aside these elections j but similar

disputes having occurred in other towns, the act of

1 ^ ict., c. 78, was passed, whereby it was enacted,

" that all elections into any corporate office, since the

25th December, 18o.5, in any borough named in Sci.e-

dule A, and all acts done by any person with reference

to any such election, should be good to all intents and

purposes, notwithstanding any defect in the title or

want of title in the person so proceeding, arising from

any former charter or any local custom not having been

duly complied with; and notwithstanding that there

might not have been, at the time of the passing of the

5 and 6 Wm. IV., any such corporate body as is named
in the schedule of the act, in conjunction with the

name of the borough in which any such election might

* In ISol, a conunittee of two of the council was appointed to take

measures for tlie purchase of a suitable seal or seals for the corpora-

tion ; that in use being considered by some of the members to be
" surreptitious." The gentlemen appointed executed their conunis-

sion ; but on the account, which amonnted to 54/., being presented

to the councU, objections were made to the payment for such " fan-

tastical articles as had been purchased," when " a suitable seal could

have been had for twenty or thirty shillings." Ultimately the pay-

ment was disallowed.

t A hostile meeting took place at Marsden, on May 1-1, 1842, be-

tween Mr. Richard Spoor, of Whitburn, one of the Sundeiland

borough magistrates, and ilr. Joseph John Wright, of Sunderland,

solicitor. The point of diiference arose out of some allusions to Mr.
Spoor in a letter addressed by Mr. Wright to the Marquis of London-
derry, and read by that nobleman in the House of Lords on the Sth of

the month. The parties exchanged shots without effect, when the

seconds interfered, an explanation took place, the parties shook hands,

and left the ground with their friends. Sir. Spoor was attended by
Capt. Crawford, son of the late M.P. for London, and Mr. Wright by
Dr. Millar. A>« d' esprit appeared on the subject, entitled, '-The
Battle of Marsden Rock, between Sir Richard de Spurr and Sir Joe de
Wright," in 4 pages 12 mo., in 4 cantos. The following is the fourth

canto :

—

have been had." The eflFect of this act was to put an

end to all questions arising out of the circumstance that

the former charter, granted to the borough, had not

been acted upon ; and the members of the new corpo-

ration of Sunderland became, by virtue of these statutes,

the legitimate successors of the ancient corporation,

and adopted the corporate seal accordingly.*

On the 18th of May, 1842, at a meeting of the town

council, it was resolved, '• That, notwithstanding the

repeated charges made by the Marquis of Londonderry,

the present Lord Lieutenant of the county of Durham,

to the effect that the ten gentlemen appointed on the

recommendation of the town council of Sunderland, by

the late government, to act as justices of the peace for

the borough, have been influenced by political feelings

in the discharge of their magisterial functions, the

council is fully persuaded that such imputation is

totally unfounded, and that those gentlemen, in their

decisions, have never been actuated by such unworthy

motives ; and that the cordial thanks of this council are

especially due to them for the efficient, impartial, and

honourable manner in which they have at all times

discharged their important magisterial duties." Also,

" That the warmest thanks of this cotmcil are due, and

are hereby offered to the Most Hon. the Marquis of

Normanby, for his generous and triumphant vindication

of the public conduct and character of the magistrates

of this borough, appointed by her majesty's late go-

vernment, from the aspersions attempted to be cast on

them by the present Lord Lieutenant of the county."f

At a special meeting of the Sunderland corporation,

" Adown the glen rode armed men
Sir Milliir scratched his wig :

Sir Joseph rode within his chaise,

Sir Richard in his gig.

" They landed by the battle plain.

Beside the beating surf,

With Peter Allen from his cave.

Jack Winter from the turf.

" Sir Murdey is a glorious wag.

In cottage or in hall.

And to himself he said, 'I'U load

Their arms with cotton ball
!'

" He called Sir Millar to his side,

A tory of renown ;

—

And knowing he was deaf and blind.

He rammed the cotton down.

" And at ten paces distant, there.

These noble warriors stood.

And each was quivering every limb.

To shed each other's blood
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June 15, 1846, it was resolved, "That a memorial be

forwarded to the government, requesting that a com-

pulsory clause be introduced into a bill for the purpose

of compelling the various local trusts now in existence

in the borough of Sunderland to transfer the powers

vested in them to the corporation of Sunderland," &c.

Previous to the passing of " The Borough of Sun-

derland Act, 1851," several anomalies existed in the

manner of rating the different townships included in

the borough ; those townships being under the manage-

ment of distinct boards of commissioners and surveyors,

appointed by local acts of parliament. These inconve-

niences are thus stated iu a communication from the

Paving and Lighting Commissioners, dated December

13, 1848, to the General Board of Health :~
" A local act, passed in the 7 Geo. IV., regulates the

parish of Sunderland ; and another local act (50 Geo.

III., c. 25) regulates part of the township of Bishop-

wearmouth and the township of Bishopwearmouth

Panns. This district is on the south side of the river

Wear. No local act applies to Monkwearmouth and

Monkwearmouth Shore, the district on the north side

of the river. The commissioners under the Sunderland

local act have power to levy (and they have generally

exercised this power) an annual rate of 2s. 6d. in the

pound, calculated upon the poor's rate ; and the act in

force in Bishopwearmouth and Bishopwearmouth Panns

authorises the commissioners to levy a maximum rate

of Is. in the pound on certain kinds of property within

certain limits, a maximum rate of 6cl. in the pound
upon certain other kinds of property within the same

limits, while a rate of (id. in the pound is levied upon
a large portion of Bishopwearmouth (which was not

built at the time the local act was passed, and is not

included within its limits) for the jmrposc of lightiny

only. This portion of the township was brought

within the operation of the local act by an order of the

town council, dated the 9th day of August, 1838,

under the provisions of the 87th section of the Munici-

" They took the pistols in their hands,

And turned them back to back
;

' Now, fire !' was given ; Sir Richard wheeled,

And fired off in a crack.

" Sir Joe stood like a monument.

With fear I do declare,

And when his senses came again,

lie fired into the air.

Sir Richard's bullet, it was found

Near Peter Allen's ass.

And Peter 's got it now preserved

Within a spirit glass.

pal Corporation Act. There are also certain streets in

Bishopwearmouth [Zion Street and one or two others

in its immediate vicinity, part of Coronation Street,

Tatham Street, and Hendon Road] which were built at

the time of the passing of the local act, but by an over-

sight were not included within the limits ; and the

owners of property therein claim to be exempt from

payment of rate, and in fact, up to the present time,

have successfully resisted it. Many houses are thus

circumstanced. It may also be observed, that the

parish of Sunderland, being of limited extent, and

almost entirely covered with buildings, has no high-

ways to maintain, except the paved streets, and these

are under the jurisdiction of the commissioners; but in

Bishopwearmouth and Bishopwearmouth Panns, the

commissioners have jurisdiction over the footpaths of
the streets only, which streets, in the township of

Bishopwearmouth, are under the exclusive control of a

board of surveyors of highways, elected under 5 and 6

Wm. IV., c. 60, who levy an average annual rate of

\0d. in the pound for the repair of the highways, a

large portion of which arc not only without the limits

of the local act, but also without the boundaries of the

municipal borough, diverging, in different directions,

into the surrounding country district of Bishopwear-

mouth. The owners and occupiers of property in

Bishopwearmouth Panns keep the highways of that

township in repair."

The annual income of the Sunderland commissioners

was, at that time, estimated at about 840/. Is. -id. from

a rate at 2s. 6d. in the pound, about 883/. from the

market, 24/. from the fair and bell, and 51. from way-

leave ; total, 1,752/. 7s. id. And they owed upwards

of 13,000/., which debt had been principally contracted

in the formation of the market, the tolls from which, it

will be seen, were considerably more than sufficient to

pay the interest.

The income of the Bishopwearmouth commissioners

may be stated at nearly 1,000/. They had no real

Sir Joseph's ball, it soared away

Among the stars aboon,

They've secn't through HerchcU's telescope

Now sticking in the moon !

These warriors all went home again,

As wise as ere they came ;

So all the knights got roaring full,

Of wine and mighty fame.

" Now when you go Marsden Rock,

On Peter AUen call.

He'll pui.-.t you out the battle field,

Aud show the cotton ball
!"
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property, and the rates were mortgaged to the extent

of 2,000^. The annual expenses of the commissioners

were, 100/. for interest on debt, about 600?. for light-

ing, and 807. for clerk, surveyor, and assessor; leaving

a sum of 200/. yearly to apply towards repairs and

improvements.

IMonkwearmouth Shore and Monkwcarmouth were

under the government of inspectors for lighting, and a

highway board consisting of twenty persons, appointed

under the General Lighting Act and Highway Act.

There were no local public acts in force in those

townships.

The preamble to the Borough Act recites 50 Geo.

III., c. 25, intituled, " An Act for lighting and watch-

ing the streets, lanes, and public passages of the town

of Bishopwearmouth and Bishopwearmouth Panns ; for

cleansing, paving, and regulating the footpaths of the

said streets, lanes, and public passages ; and for remov-

ing and preventing nuisances, annoyances, encroach-

ments, and obstructions therein ; and for widening and

rendering more commodious several of the said streets,

lanes, and public passages," under the management of

119 commissioners, a clerk, and a surveyor; 50 Geo.

III., c. 27 (local) ; 7 Geo. IV., c. 120, intituled, " An

Act for paving, lighting, watching, cleansing, and im-

proving the town and parish of Sunderland near the

Sea, in the county of Durham, for removing the market,

and for otherwise improving the said town," under 172

commissioners, a clerk, and a surveyor ; 32 Geo. III.,

c. 90 (Wearmouth Bridge Act) ; 54 Geo. III., c. 119

(local) ; and 6 and 7 Wm. IV., c. 103. The Borough

Act came into operation on Wednesday, August 27,

1851. Parts of the Public Health Act are incorporated

in it ; and it is to be carried out by the corporation,

who are thereby constituted a local board of health.

It repeals the first, second, third, and fifth of the above

recited acts, and vests the property of the commis-

sioners under the first five acts in the corporation.

With this act are incorporated "The Markets and

Fairs Clauses Act, 1847 ;" " The Towns Improvement

Clauses Act, 1847 ;" and " The Town Police Clauses

Act, 1847." It provides for the conversion of sewage

into manure, and makes the corporation indictable for

non-repair of highways ; turnpike tolls not to be taken,

and highway rates not to be assessable in the borough.

The lighting of jMonkwearmouth and Monkwcarmouth

Shore under the general act is to cease. An appeal

• Anthony John- Moore.—Mr. Mcore, says the author of " Public

ilen of the North,' ' is a bright and suiking example of what assiduity

aiul character can accomplish. He had no imposing connections

may be made to the General Board of Health against

a determination by the corporation ; and no improve-

ment is to be proceeded with before determination

made. The proceeds of any sale of premises are to be

credited to the district which bore the expense of pur-

chasing such premises. Rates are not to be made for

longer than a year, nor retrospectively. The expense

of repairing highways is to be the first charge. Rates

are not to be greater than 2s. 6d. in the pound per

annum; and their amount may include expenses of

raising the same, and, as regards improvement rate,

interest on outlay. Remedies are provided for the

recovery of rates. The corporation are to keep distinct

accounts for the bridge, the water-works, the Sunder-

land district, the East Bishopwearmouth district, the

West Bishopwearmouth district, and the Monkwcar-

mouth district. The act is not to extend to the farm

called Simonside, nor to any lands or tenements in the

township of Monkwcarmouth, distant more than one

mile in a direct line from the centre of Wearmouth

Bridge ; and in case the corporation, under the provi-

sions of the Public Health Act, purchase the Sunder-

land water-works, this act shall be put in force for such

purposes as relate to the supply of water in all places

within the limits of " The Sunderland AVater Works

Act, 1846." Saving clauses are inserted, reserving

the rights of the corporation, the Sunderland Water

Company, the Sunderland Corporation Gas Company,

and the Bishop of Durham.

The corporation thus became the sole authority for

managing the local affairs of the town; all the pre-

viously existing commissions being merged in it, except

the River Wear Watch Commission, which had been

estabhshed under a special act of parliament, not inter-

fered with by the Improvement Act. The various

officers under the old commissions, who were not conti-

nued in their offices, were, by the act of parliament,

secured compensation, by way of annuity, with the

sanction of the Lords of the Treasury.

The following is a list of the mayors of Sunderland :—

Andrew White, January 1, 1836; the same, November 9, 1836;

Richard Spoor, 1837; Joseph Simpson, 1S3S; Joseph Bromi, M.D.,

1839 ; Richard White, 1840; Sir Hedworth AVilliamson, Bart., 1841

;

Andrew ^^^lite, 1842; Robert Burdon Cay, 1843; James Allison,

1844 ; Robert Bro-ivn, 1845 ; the same, 1846 ; Sir Hedworth William-

son, Bart., 1847; Joseph Simpson, 184S ; William Ord, 1849; Wil-

liam Mordey, 1850; James Hartley, 1851; the same, 1852; Samuel

Alcock, 1853 ; Anthony John Moore, 1854 ;
the same, 1855. •

about him, to aid his fortune at the commencement of his carter. He

served his clerkship as asoUcitor ujider Mr. Stephenson; and. when

ho sought clienls on his own accomit, his courtesy, blauduess, dili-
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On August 31, 1851, a massive gold chain, purchased

by a subscription promoted by the ladies of Sunderland,

was presented to the mayor, to be worn by him and his

successors on official occasions. Shortly afterwards, by

a further subscription, an elegant badge was added.

It bears the arms of the corporation on an oval shield

of vermilion enamel, on which is quartered the sextant

in gold. The crest is an emerald globe ; and the bor-

der, which is of purjjle enamel, bears the following

inscription in gold letters :
—" The Mayor of Sun-

DEULAXD." At the foot of the badge hangs an emerald

star, having in the centre a brilliant diamond of the

first water, the whole set in standard gold. This

elegant piece of jewellery was designed by Mr. Oliver,

architect, and is valued at 551.

THE TOWN MOOR.

It has been conjectured, with some degree of plausibi-

lity, that the borough of Sunderland was incorporated,

and the Town Moor granted to the burgesses, at some

remote period, by one of the Bishops of Durham ; as,

in the earliest charter extant, that of Bishop Pudsey in

the 12th century, " it was permitted to the burgesses to

enjoy their common pasturage as had heen originally

granted to them, and the boundaries were ordered to

be perambulated."

This ancient common of the people of Sunderland is

mentioned in 1681, in the rolls of the court baron and

view of frank pledge of the borough :
—" That the Free-

men and Stallingers, and widdowes, having any interest

in the Towne Moore, doe repaire and pave that part of

the High Street, belonging to the Towne Moore and

Comon ground fold within six months," on paine, &c..

39s. lid.

In 1719, when the act was passed for making Sun-

derland a distinct parish, the Town Moor was divided

by stone walls in three parcels, then named the Great

Moor, the North Moor, and the Intake. It was upon
the latter portion that the church was erected and the

church-yard enclosed. Though the act reserves the

rights of the bishop, no allusion is made in it to those

of the Freemen and Stallingers. In the accounts of the
" Grassmen," 1718, are charged, " Expenses on Engi-

gence, and good sense readOy found them. He was liberal in his

politics—a Whig and something more. When the corporation was
obtained under the Municipal Act of 1835, Mr. Moore became an
active and prominent member of the town council. He spoke on
public occasions clearly and sensibly, and the liberal politicians found
him an active and ett'ective ally. Mr. Moore is well known as having

neer Fawcett and John Nesham, when the sett out the

church-yard ground, 2s. Id. To the Hird a drink 2d.

For repairing the spaw-well, 21. Os. Qd." In 1719,
" Paid a man for taking up some dung nigh the church

,

when the Bpp. came to consecrate it, Sd." In 1720,
" To sending the bell about to forbid the bowlers, 6f/."

In 1722, " Received by the bouths on the moore (pro-

bably during the fair), 2/. 4s."

From time immemorial the Town Moor was appro-

priated for public convenience, recreation, and enjoy-

ment. The fishermen claimed the right, from ancient

usage, of drying their nets upon it; the inhabitants

generally used it for drying and bleaching their linen
;

its banks afforded a pieasent promenade ; and its turf

a desirable place for the sports of youth. In order that

these advantages might be enjoyed in safety, the dan-

gerous practice of bowling on the Moor was abolished.

A lofty flag-staff, which stood at the north-east corner,

beside the barracks, was frequently removed, and at

length taken away altogether, in consequence of the

encroachment of the sea. A pond near the southern

extremity was used as a watering place for horses, and by
the young for the navigation of their fleets of tiny ships,

many of them neatly and correctly rigged. Near the

sea-bank was a spa-well, the waters of which were said

to possess medicinal virtues, but whicli was washed

away by the sea in the early part of the present century.

In July, 1849, during the excavation of the South

Docks, a spring of water, strongly impregnated with

sulphur and saline substances, was discovered gushing,

in three strong feeders, out of a rock at the bottom of

the south-east corner of the dock, and was identified

with that which had disappeared from the Moor.

The inroads of tlic sea on the east are now prevented

by the Docks, which form a barrier along the whole

extent of the Moor ; but this tract of land, formerly

containing 50 acres, is now but a fraction of what it

formerly was. A large area to the northward is occu-

pied by the barracks, and by cottages and buildings

erected on plots of ground from time to time taken pos-

session of by individuals ; whilst the Durham and Sun-

derland railway has more recently occupied a consider-

able portion, and cut ofl' what remains to the east of it,

which can only be approached by a low dirty archway

been mainly instrumental in the formation of some of the principnl

public companies of Sunderland ; and his exertions in support of the

new gas and water companies have been rewarded in the most hand-

some way. He is, however, unaffected by honours and prosperity,

and is now as tranquil and unobtrusive as when he left the desk of

Mr. Stephenson.
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beneath tbe line. Tvro open drains, four or five feet

wide, convey the refuse of the town, by -winding routes

across the Moor,, to the sea ; and other nuisances deface

a tract what might be an ornament to the town.

Much of this state of things has been attributed to

the herbage of the Moor being hekl by the ancient

corporation of Freemen and Stallingers, an irresponsi-

ble and self-elected body. In reply to this, they ob-

serve, " that the altered position of the property is not

of the Freemen's seeking, but has been brought about

entirely by the increased and still increasing trade of

the town." Their claims, however, have not been

always unopposed. One case of dispute has already

been noticed. In 1814, the fishermen of Sunderland

alleged the Moor to be their property, in consequence

of tljeir ha%nng for centuries dried their nets upon it.

In order to try their right, they impounded a. horse,

grazing upon the Moor, belonging to George Robinson,

Esq., one of the Freemen. In an action, Robinson v.

Thurlbeck and others, a verdict was given for the

plaintiff; but no title was necessary to be proved by

Mr. Robinson (as one of the Freemen) to sustain his

action, the onus of shewing a right lying upon the

fishermen to justify their act, the legality of which thev

failed to establish.

After this, the Moor was claimed by the parish,

under an agreement made in 1819, in which part of

the Freemen and Stallingers and the fishermen concur-

red in relinquishing their rights in it for the benefit of

the parochial rates. But though this agreement was

made at a public meeting of the inhabitants, and in some

degree ratified by leases afterwards granted by Free-

men, reser^nng the rent for the benefit of the poor (see

p. 453), yet the Freemen and Stallingers as a body did

not admit the arrangement to be binding upon them, as

it was not consented to by every member of their cor-

poration. In 1828, a number of the inhabitants of the

town presented a petition to Bishop A'an Mildert (who,

as lord of the manor, or as having jura regalia in the

county palatine, was considered to be legally entitled

to the soil of the Moor), praying him to adopt such

proceedings as might bring the rights of the Freemen

and Stallingers to a fair trial and final decision ; but his

lordship, under the direction of his advisers, declined

to interfere until their title to be a corporation should

be first tried by an information in the nature of a giw

warranto. The Court of King's Bench was accord-

ingly applied to in the following year, and a rule

granted against Ogden and four others, to shew cause

why such an information should not be filed. After a

long argument on both sides, the court decided that in

the absence of sufiicient evidence to shew that the

Freemen and Stallingers exercised or claimed to exer-

cise jurisdiction over the inhabitants at large, an in-

formation would only lie in the name of the attorney

general ; and the rule was discharged, each party paying

their own costs.

In June, 1835, Bishop Van Mildert granted a wav-

leave lease across the Moor to the Durham and Sunder-

land Railway Company, at the yearly rent of 96/.

In 1837, an action was tried at Durham, Baxter t.

Mann and others, in which the right of the Freemen

and Stallingers, as the substantial defendants, came in-

directly in question. In opposition to the Freemen

and Stallingers, the fishermen set up a claim ; but it

was not proved to the satisfaction of the jury that the

latter had a better right than their opponents. The
Freemen and Stallingers there also claimed in a corporate

character, and put in several leases, some under their

corporate seal, to show that they had never personally

or in their individual capacity exercised any rights of

common, but had always acted as a body, by granting

corporate leases of the pasturage, and receiving the rents

into the corporate funds, which, it was alleged, were

distributed for public and charitable purposes only.

In the mean while, the mayor and common council

of the borough of Sunderland considered themselves,

by virtue of the statutes by which they were consti-

tuted, as " the legitimate successors of the corporation

of the ancient borough of Sunderland, by whatsoever

style that body was designated ;" whilst the Free-

men and Stallingers argued that as they did not come

within the operation of any of the municipal acts, their

property could not be aifected. " They claim the abso-

lute freehold of the property, and, in support of that

claim, have, for the last 100 years, granted leases of

various parts for building purposes, not to private indi-

^^duals only, but in one instance to government [allud-

ing to the barracks], who were not likely to treat with

parties who were not legally seised, and it is manifest

the Freemen could not have granted these leases if they

had only been entitled to the herbage."

In 1847, portions of the Town Moor and of the sea

shore in front of it were taken by the Sunderland Dock

Company, under the compulsory powers of an act of

parliament, for the purpose of making their docks ; and

the purchase money, 3,500/., duly awarded for the said

portions of the Town !Moor, and the accumulations

upon it, amounting, on the 19th November, 1851, to

4,148/. 4s. 2d., was paid into the Court of Chancery to
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an account entitled, " Ex parte The Sunderland Dock

Company—The Account of the Freemen and Stall-

ingers of the ancient Borough of Sunderland, The

Lord Bishop of Dui-ham, and the Honourable Charles

Grey and the Right Honourable John George Braba-

zon, Earl of Besborough, or some or one of them, in

respect of divers pieces or parcels of land, heredita-

ments, and premises situate at Sunderland near the

Sea, in the county of Durham." The purchase

monej' of 1,500/. for the sea shore amounted, with the

accumulations, to 1,777/. IC.s., and was entered to an

account entitled, " Ex parte The Sunderland Dock
Company—The Account of Her most Excellent Ma-

jesty the Queen, in right of Her Crown, and the Right

Honourable the Commissioners of Her Majesty's

Woods, Forests, Land Revenues, Works and Build-

ings, for and on behalf of Her Majesty, The Freemen

and Stallingers of the ancient Borough of Sunderland,

The Lord Bishop of Durham, The Right Honom-able

"William Keppel Viscount Barrington, and The Ho-

nourable Augustus Barrington, and The Honourable

Charles Grey, and The Right Honourable John

George Brabazon, Earl of Besborough, or some of

them, in respect of the sea shore and the bed and soil

of the sea and land recovered from the sea in the

parish of Sunderland near tlie Sea, iu the county of

Dui'ham."

In 1850, a further portion of the Town Moor was

taken by the York, Newcastle, and Berwick Eailway

Company, under the compulsory powers of an act of

parliament, for the purpose of constructing the Pen-

slier Braflch Railway, and 3,110/. pui'chase money

was also paid into the Court of Chancery to aji ac-

count entitled, " Ex parte the York, Newcastle, and

Berwick Railway Company—The Account of the

Freemen and Stallingers of the ancient Borough of

Sunderland, and the Bishop of Diu'ham, or one of

them, in respect of six acres two roods and twenty

perches of land, situate at Sunderland near the Sea,

in the county of Diu'ham-"

The above sums were placed in Chancery in conse-

quence of the Bishop of Durham putting in his claim,

as lord of the manor of Houghton-le-Spring, to the

soil and freehold of the Moor, &c. ; but the privileges

of the inhabitants do not appear to have been men-

tioned by either of the companies. On August 7,

1849, a committee of the common council of the bo-

rough was appointed to inquire into the rights of the

council as to the money deposited, and in any other

property held by the Freemen and Stallingers.

VOL. II.

In 18.51, a bill was introduced into parliament,

founded upon an indenture of bargain and sale, dated

March 20 of that year, between the Freemen and

Stallingers of the one part, and Christopher Bramwell,

Richard Spoor, John Eitson, Richard Bradley, Wil-

liam Eobinson, James Crosby, John Ward, Nathan

Horn, Michael Willey, John Scott, Robert Fenmck
the elder, and Thomas Wood (Freemen), William

Ivirk, John Spoor, William Young, William Nicholson,

Robert Tate, Thomas Hunter, John Robson, John
Barry, James Douthwaite, William Wallver, Martin

Moor, John George Robson, Edward Smith, Thomas
Burdon Ward, Henry Bramwell, Charles Alderson,

Robert Fenwick the younger, and Thomas Bradley

(Stallingers), of the other part ; wherein it was wit-

nessed that, under the provisions of 39 Eliz. and 21

James I., the Freemen and Stallingers had founded

an hospital or asylum " for the reception and mainte-

nance, and for the education, according to the princi-

ples of the united Church of England and Ireland, of

poor children whose fathers might be dead or suffer-

ing from confirmed lunacy or paralysis ;" and that

the aforesaid persons and their successors should be

incorporated by the name of " The Principals and

Governors of the Freemen's Orphan Asylum." To
them were granted two portions of the Town Moor,

which remained unsold, and the sum of 5,000/. which

had been paid by the Sunderland Dock Company, in

order that they might therewith build and furnish the

said hospital or asylum on the Town Moor ; the

surplus to be invested in the public funds, and the

interest applied in maintaining the same. The bill,

however, was not passed during the session.

In the early part of 185 J, the Freemen and Stall-

ingers and the Bishop of Durham petitioned the

Court of Chancer}' to determine who was entitled to

the sum of 3,410/. paid in by the railway company

;

and the question of who were the owners of the six

acres of land on the 1st of February, 1849, was

agreed to be tried by an issue directed to a court of

law. The case was tried at Durham on the 31st July,

1851, before Mr. Justice Vaughan Williams and a

special jury; the Freemen and Stallingers being

plaintiffs, and the bishop defendant. The verdict

delivered was, " We find for the defendant, according

to his lordship's direction, neither party having made

out their title to our satisfaction." Each of the con-

tending parties presented a further petition to the

Court of Chancery, insisting that the effect of the

trial had been to establish the right of the petitioner^
j

3 Y
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and Vice-chancellor Sir J. T. Kindersley, in giving

judgment, March, 1852, directed a new trial on two

issues ; the one to try the right, and the other to try

the fact of the possession. In the first case, the

Bishop was to be the plaintiff, and the Freemen and

Stallingers defendents ; and in the other, this arrange-

ment was reversed.

Shortly afterwards, the Freemen and Stallingers

made offers to the bishop to compromise the dispute,

which were accepted.* The Asylum Bill was again

introduced into parliament in 1853. Against the

measure, a petition was presented from the mayor,

aldermen, and burgesses of the borough, in which

they " claim to be entitled to the property which the

Freemen and Stallingers of Sunderland possess, as

the successors of the bodies incorporated by the an-

cient charters," and, amongst other things, " submit

that such of the said lands as are still uninclosed

should be left open, and your petitioners be authorised

to improve and adaf)t the same for a f)lace of public

recreation for the inhabitants of the borough." A
petition was also presented from a meeting of the

inhabitants, praying the house not to grant powers to

enal)le the Freemen and Stallingers at any time to

build up any portion of the space still unoccupied by

erections, even with the consent of the town coimcil,

as the clause stood in the bill. Certain alterations

were made by the House of Lords, with the consent

of the promoters, and which were considered satis-

factory by a deputation from the town comicil ; but

that body continued to agitate for further concessions.

The bill was eventually passed, and received the royal

assent on the 1 5th of August, 1853.

It is intituled, " An Act to enable the Bishop of

Durham and the Freemen and Stallingers of the

Borough of Sunderland to give up theii- respective

Interests in certain Lands and Mines, for the Purpose

of endowing an Orphan Asylum at Sunderland, and

of making better Provision for the Spiritual "Wants of

the Parish of Sunderland, and to enable such Asylum

to acquire and hold additional Land, and to enlarge

the Powers and to provide for the better Regulation

and IManagement of the said Asylum, and for other

Purposes." The short title is, " The Simderland

Orphan Asylmn Act, 1853."

• Uu this subject, the Bishop, in a letter dated July 8, 18o3, says,

" On the part of the see, I was forced into a vexatious and costly

litigation, which, though it has lasted three years, never brought any

expression of sympathy, still less any promise of support, from any of

the inhabitants of Sunderland. I found, at length, that if I did not

submit to a compromise, all the funds would have been lost in an

This act provides that " The Principals and Go-

vernors of the Freemen's Orphan Asylum," above

alluded to, shall be a corporation under the title of

" The Principals and Governors of the Sunderland

Orphan Asylum." This corporation may acquire and

hold lands ; the trustees of copyhold lands shall hold

the same in trust for the corporation ; and the lands

set forth in schedules A and B, annexed to the act,

with the coal, mines, and minerals under the same,

are vested in the corporation in fee simple, for the

Asj'lum, and for the purpose of providing for the

spiritual wants of the parish of Sunderland, but sub-

ject to the charge of 31/. 10s. to the rector of Sunder-

land for the Gray School (see page 454). The several

sums of 4,148/. 4s. 2d., 1,777/. 16s., and 3,410/., paid

into Chancery, shall, subject to the reservations made

on their being deposited, be transferred to the corpo-

ration, who shall thereout satisfy and pay all the

costs, charges, and expenses of the Bishop of Durham

and the Freemen and Stallingers, incurred since 1846

in respect of the said monies and rights on the Town
Moor : the Court of Chancery may order those costs

to be taxed. The annual sum of ^00/. shall be paid

by the corporation to the Bishop, " to be applied in

such manner as he, in the uncontrolled exercise of his

discretion shall think fit, for or towards supplying the

spiritual wants of the jjarish of Sunderland." If the

rents of tlie Town Moor exceed 500/., two-fifths of the

excess shall be paid to the bishop, for the same pur-

pose as the above. An account, up to the 5th of

January in every year, is to be rendered by the corpora-

tion to the bishop. The right of nomination to the

Gray Schools is transferred to the Pruicipals and

Governors of the Asjdum. The Principals, 21 in

number, shall be the rector and the mayor of Sunder-

land, two persons appointed by the bishop, five alder-

men of the borough selected by the town council, and

twelve persons appointed by the indenture of March

21, 1851. The acts of the Principals are to be valid,

though the number may not be complete. If the

number of Governors at any time be reduced below

18, the vacancies shall be filled up from the rate-

payers of Sunderland. Persons contributing two

guineas annually, or 20 guineas at one time, shall be

Governors; and persons contributing less than those

unavailing contest. Therefore, in order to avoid this, I made the

best terms I could for the town, surrendering what I still believe to

be the just rights of the see. 1 repeat that it will be found that no

further enclosure or cribbing is to be allowed on the Town Moor, nor

any pits opened in it if it be found necessary to work the coal."
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sums shall be entitled to vote at the election of chil-

dren, but not to be members of the corporation. At

meetings of the coi'poration, Principals are to have

four votes, and Governors two ; and at elections of

children, they are to have additional votes in propor-

tion to the amount of their subscriptions. Bj-e-laws

may be made to regulate the privileges to be granted

to subscribers. Power is given to invest the monies

of the institution on mortgage ; and estates mortgaged

to the corporation shall, if the mortgagees release or

they be purchased, be sold. Lands belonging to the

Asylum may be leased for 21 years for husbandry or

occupation, or for 'J 9 years for building, at yearly

rents, but without fines; and lands in mortgage to

the coii^oration may be leased for 21 years. Mining

leases in the Town Moor may be granted for 42

yearS; one-seventh of the rents from which is to be

applied to the general purposes of the Asylum, and

the remaining six-sevenths invested in government

securities; the dividends from which to be also so

applied. The treasurer's receipt is to be a good dis-

charge. With the exception of half an acre for the

school, and an acre and a half for the Asylum, all

such parts of the Town Moor and lands comprised in

schedules A and B as are situate to the west of the

railway, and now uniuclosed, shall remain open,
" and no fence, erection, or building of any nature or

kind whatsoever, shall be placed or erected by the

coi'poration thereon, nor shall the surface of such

parts of the Town Moor be broken or opened for any

pit, quarry, brick-yard, or other purpose, nor shall the

same parts be used for the deposit of timber, bricks,

manure, ballast, or other materials, unless with the

consent in writing in any of the cases aforesaid of the

council of the borough of Sunderland, to be signified

under the common seal of the mayor, aldermen, and

burgesses of such borough." If the existing lease of

the Barracks be determined, no building except ware-

houses shall be erected on the ground, unless with the

consent of the council of the borough. The follow-

ing are the schedules above alluded to :

—

Schedule A—"Firstly. All that piece or parct4 of land situate in

the parish of Sunderland, in the county of Durham, part of Sunder-

land Moor, containing by admeasurement 20 a. 2 ii. 3<j p., or tliere-

abouts, bounded in part by a road or way leading to Saint Jolm's

church, and formerly used as a ropewalk, and on other part by the

will inclosing the church-yard of the parish of Sunderland, on the

uoitli ; by the railway and land belonging to the York, Newcastle,

and Berwick Kailway Company on the east; by drawing to a point

on the soutli ; and in part by a public highway leading from the

town of Sunderland, past the north side of the Octagon Cottage, to

the sea beach ; and in part on another portion of the wall of Sunder-

land cliurch-yard, and the wall of Trafalgar Square, on the west and
south-west, and which said piece or parcel of land is now in the

occupation of the York, Newcastle, and Berwick Railway Company,
or their \inder tenants, under a lease thereof granted by the said

Freemen and Stallinger of the borough of Sunderland, dated the 2l6t

day of August, 1835.

" And secondly. All that other piece or parcel of ground situate

in the parish of Sunderland aforesaid, also part of Sunderland Moor,

containing by admeasurement 1 rood and 37 perches or thereabouts,

boundering on the barrack wall on the north, on the lands and works

of the Sunderland Dock Company on the east and south, and on land
belonging to the said Freemen and Stallingers, and now under lease

to the York, Newcastle, and Berwick Railway Company on the

west ; and part of which said last-mentioned piece or parcel of land
was lately occupied by Mes.srs. Craven and Sons, and is now unoccu-

pied, and other part thereof is now held by Mr. John Munro, under
lease fi'om the said Freemen and Stallingers.—J. S.Robinson."

ScHEDtiiE B.— " All that piece or parcel of ground in the parish of

Sunderland upon which is built a pottery, called the Sundei'laud

Pottery, and other premises situate, lying, and being on the north

side of the coney warren of Sunderland aforesaid, boundering on the

road leading from tlie east end of Sunderland aforesaid, to the pier

on the south, on premises formerly belonging to Christopher Thorn-
bill, and now to Messrs. Wood, Robson, and Jonassohn on the north,

on vacant ground on the east, and on a road leading from the High
Street down to Thornhill's Wharf on the west ; and which said pot-

tery and premises are now in the occupation of Messrs. Dixon and
Co., under lease from the said Freemen and Stallingers, dated the

10th da}' of September, 1835.

" All that other piece or parcel of ground, as now enclosed, situate

in the borough of Sunderland, containing 7 acres, 2 roods, and 12

perches or thereabouts, together with the messuages and buildings

thereon, now used as Sunderland barracks, and in the occupation of

Her Majesty's troops, under lease from the said Freemen and Stall-

ingers, dated the 1st day of January, 1844.

"All that other piece or parcel of ground, part of Sunderland

Moor, now occupied by the railway and works of the York, Newcas-
tle, and Berwick Railway Company, under lease from the Bishop of

Durham and the said Freemen and Stallingers.

" All that other piece or parcel of waste ground, being part and
parcel of the Town Moor, and situate, lying, and being near or ad-

joining to the south end or extremity of a certain piece of ground,

formerly used as a ropery or ropewalk, and now used as a public road

or way (being part of and situate at the west end of the said Town
Moor), extending from the said road on the west to the parcel of

ground next thereinafter described on the east, with the messuage or

cottage called the Octagon Cottage, and all other buildings now
standing thereon, boundering on the said road and ground belonging

to WiUiam Robinson, Esquire, on the west, upon a public high road

leading to the sea shore on the north, upon a wall enclosing the pro-

perty of the said William Robinson on the south, and upon the

parcel of ground next thereinafter mentioned on the east ; and also

all that other piece or parcel of waste gi-ound, being part and parcel

of the said Town Moor, situate, lying, and being at the cast end of

the said premises last hereinbefore described, and containing in

breailth at the west end thereof 29 feet or thereabouts ; and at the

east end thereof 19 feet -3 inches or thereabouts ; and in length from
east to west 82 feet 9 inches or thereabouts ; boundering on the said

road leading from the town of Sunderland to the sea beach on the

north; on the York, Newcastle, and Berwick Railway on the cast; on
property belonging to the said William Robinson, and known by the

name of the Hendon Lodge Property, on the south ; and on the old
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garden wall of the said Octagon Cottage on the vrest ; and which

said premises are now held by Christopher Bramwell, or his assigns,

under lease from the said Freemen and Stallingers, dated the 7th day

of March, 1S50.

" All that other piece or parcel of ground lying to the cast and

north of a house called Hcndon Lodge, formerly leased to Christopher

Thompson Maling, Esquire, and afterwards to George Kobinson,

Esquire, and since to William Robinson, Esquire, his son; together

with the several messuages and buildings now standing thereon ;
and

which said premises are now held by Marshall Fowler and others,

under lease fiom the said Freemen and Stallingers, dated the 6th day

of June, 1850.

" AU that other piece or parcel of ground situate and being in the

borough and parish of Sunderland aforesaid, bounded by and imme-

diately adjoining a public street called Coronation Street on the

north, and from thence extending in irregular dimensions south-

wards, and is at the south end thereof 25 feet wide, and on the

north end or side thereof 90 feet wide; together with the several

ancient workshops, cottages, tenements, and premises erected and

built thereon ; and which said premises were lately held by John

Kidson, under lease from the said Freemen and Stallingers, dated

the 3rd day of November, 1841.

" All that perpetual annual ground rent of £5, secured upon, and

issuing and payable out of certain lands and hereditaments in the

parish of Sunderland, formerly belonging to the said Freemen and

Stalhngers, and now known as Trafalgar Square, and granted and

conveyed by them by deed, dated the 31st day of October. 1839.

" All the remaining parts and parcels of Simdeiland Town Moor

aforesaid."

The first Principals appointed by the Bishop of

Durham, under the powers of the act, were "W. R.

Eobinson, Esq., of Silksworth, and James Laing,

Esq., of Deptford House. On March 10, 1854, five

of the Principals were appointed " pai'k-rangers," in

place of the " grassmen," whose duties were to look

after the hedges by which the Town Moor was divided,

and to see that no one encroached upon the Freemen

and Stallingers' right of pasturage upon it.

In the Court of Chancery, January 27, 1854, a peti-

tion was put in for the Asylum for payment of 3,410/.,

awarded as the value of six acres of Sunderland Moor.

Mr. J. Summers, of Sunderland, pvtt in a claim to the

land, partly as o\vner and pai-tly as an inhabitant of

the towm. For the railway company, it was contended

that the ^parties with whom they had to deal had a

defective title. The arbitrators had no power, and,

in fact, made no declaration of right ; but, there being

disputes between the Freemen and the bishop, the

* Alderm.v.n Thompson was the son of James Thompson, Esq., of

Kendal, Westmoreland, and married, in 1817, Emilia, second daugh-

ter of Samuel Homfray, Esq , formerly M.P. for Staft'ord. Mr.

Thompson was alderman of the city of London, and Lord Mayor in

1828-9, a director of the Bank of England, deputy-lieutenant

for London, treasm-er of King's College, president of Christ's

Hospital, &c. He was some time chairman of the committee

at Lloyd's, but resigned on the subscribers expressing themselves

dissatisfied with his having joined the Sunderland Shipowners' Mu-

money was paid into court, and Mr. Summers then

claimed a part of the land as owner, and, as to the

rest, rights of walking over, drying clothes upon, and

playing games upon, in common with others of the

inhabitants, and pulled down a wall to try the right,

which, at a meeting that took place, was characterized

as a good old English mode of substantiating a claim.

A litigation had ensued with Mr. Summers, and an

injunction obtained, which was still pending. The

act of parliament ha.d saved the rights of all parties

;

but that, of course, left the question of title open.

The Vice-chancellor said it appeared to him that the

legislature having thought proper to direct that this

money should be paid to the Orphan Asylum, and not

that the court should make such order Avith respect to

it as it should think fit, it was not competent to enter

into the question of the rights of the parties, whether

public or private. Those rights were expressly

reserved by the act, and, therefore, it was difficult to

see how the court could refuse to make the order for

the Asylum. .The railway company were ordered to

pay costs.

PARLIAMENTARY REPRESENTATION.

Br the Reform Act, 2 Will. IV., c. 45, jiassed June 7,

1832, Sunderland was created a new borough, with

the privilege of returning two members. For its

parliamentary boundary, see page 395. The results

of the successive elections have been as follow :

—

"William IV.

December 12 and 13, 1832, there were four candi-

dates, viz. :—Sir William Chaytor, Bart., of Witton

Castle ; the Hon. Capt. George Barrington, R.N.,

brother to Viscount Barrington, and at that time one

of the Lords of the Admiralty ; David Barclay, Esq.,

of Bletchworth Castle, Surrey, and of London, mer-

chant, brother in- law to Sir Hedworth Williamson ;

and Alderman Thompson, of London.* At the close

of the poll, the numbers were—for Chaytor, 697

;

Barrington, 625 ; Barclay, 404 ; Thompson, 322.

1,132 electors jjolled.

tual Assurance Association. Mr. Alderman Thompson sat for

Callington from 1820 to 1826, for London from 1826 to 1832, for

Sunderland from 1833 till September, 1841, and afterwards for West-

moreland. He was an eminent iron-master and shipowner ; and at

liis decease, March 10, 1854, his real and personal estates, amounting

to not less than one million and a half pounds sterling, were inherited

by his only daughter, married to the Earl of Bective, eldest son of the

Jlarquis of Headfort in the peerage of Ireland, and Lord Kenlis of

the United Kingdom.
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In consequence of conthiued ill health, Captain

Barrington was unable to take his seat, and having

accepted the Chiltern Hundreds, a new writ was

issued. The election took place on the 2nd and 3rd

of April, 1833, at the close of which the numbers

were—Thompson, 574, of whom 220 were of Sunder-

land parish, 329 of Bishopwearmouth, and 25 of

Monkwcarmouth ; Barclay, 55G, of whom 74 were of

Sunderland, 253 of Bishopwearmouth, and 229 of

Monkwcarmouth. 1,130 electors polled.

Parliament having been dissolved, an election took

place on the 6th and 7th of January, 1835; when Sir

"William Cli.aytor, Alderman Thompson, and Mr. Bar-

claj' again oifered themselves as candidates. Thomp-

son polled 844 ; Barclay, 708 ; and Chaytor, 390 ; the

total number of electors polling being 1,103.

Victoria.

July 20, 1837, was the polling day for the first elec-

tion under Queen Victoria ; when Mr. Alderman

Thompson, Mr. Barclay, and Mr. Andrew White were

candidates. At the close of the poll, the numbers

were— for Thompson, 688 ; "WTiite, 028 ; and Barclay,

Oil.* 1,149 electors polled.

* On September 7, 1837, (on which day the Monkwearmouth Docks

were opened,) a silver chiilice, weighing 66 ounces, purchased by a

penny subscription, was presented to David Barclay, Esq., by the

non-electors of Jfonkwearmouth, as a token of their respect, and of

their regret that he did not represent the boro\igh in parliament. In

liis reply, Sir. Barclay said, "This day, I consider, will prove an im-

jjortant day for the port of Sunderland ; and I shall always couple

with the event of this day the presentation of your memorial of

friendship towards mc. In subscribing my money towards th.it

dock, I knew that X was contributing to that which 'vould greatly

augment the prosperity of your port, and particularly that part on

the north side of the river. In speaking of this improvement, I may
mention its having partly originated with myself. From my first

coming to Sunderland, I always urged the advantage that wet docks

would be to your trade ; and I rejoice at being present at the open-

ing of those docks, the benefits of which I so much anticipate, both

in giving further employ to the working cla.sses, and in the general

prosperity of the borough.

t During the proceedings of this election, Sunderland was the

scene of much excitement. After the declaration of the poll, the

chairing procession was formed. His lordship was seated in an open

caiTiagc. drawn by four horses, with music, flags, &c. ; and (m aiTiv-

ing at Whitlmrn Street, Monkwcarmouth, a dangerous riot com-
menced. Two of Mr. Attwood's flags were suspended from " the

Reform Tavern," a public house kept by a person named Edward
Liddle. In passing, the crowd hooted and hissed, on which a volley

of stones, half the size of bricks, was thrown from the upper story of

the house into the procession, seriously injuring several individuals.

One of the missiles hit Lord Howick on the right hand ; and Mrs.

Bill, who was in another carriage, was struck on the arm. Exaspe-
rated at this proceeding, a portion of the crowd instantly threw back
several of the stones; the landlord then presented a fowliug-picce

On the dissolution of parliament in 1841, an elec-

tion took place on the 30th of June. Three candidates

oifered themselves, namely, Mr. Alderman Thompson,
Mr. Barclay, and JVlr. George Binns. Each having

been nominated and seconded, a show of hands took

place, which was decided to be in favour of Mr. Bar-

clay and Mr. Binns. A poll having been demanded
by Alderman Thompson, Mr. Binns declined proceed-

ing to a poll, and Thompson and Barclay were de-

clared duly elected.

Mr. Alderman Thompson having accepted the

Chiltern Hundreds, in order to become a candidate

for Westmoreland, Lord Howick (now Earl Grey) and
Matthias Wolverley Attwood, Esq., presented them-

selves as candidates. The poll took place on the IGth

Sei^tember, 1841 ; and on the I7th, Lord Howick was
declared duly elacted, the numbers being—for Howick
705; Attwood, 403 ; or 1,168 electors polled.!

On the elevation of Lord Howick to the peerage in

1845, two candidates came forward to contest the

borough—George Hudson, Esq., of York.t and Col.

T. P. Thompson, the celebrated Anti-corn-law leader,

and the father of the movement. The election took

place on Thursday, 24th August, 1845, and resulted

from the window of the upper room, and snapped the gun ; but it

only flashed in the pan. The house was now attacked, the windows

and a great part of the furniture broken, and several of the spirit

casks thrown to the ground. Sir Hedworth Williamson obtained

possession of the gun, and, in the absence of a policeman, took the

man into custody. A policeman having arrived, Liddle was con-

veyed to the station house. On examining the fowling-piece, no shot

was found in it. Lord Howick was driven to Whitburn, the scat of

Sir Hedworth Williamson. On the next day, the 18th, Liddle was

brought before the magistrates, fined five pounds, and bound over to

keep the peace for twelve months. Mr. Torbock, the owner of the

property (the public house), subsequently applied for and obtained

thirty pounds damages against the hundred.

J Geokge Hudson was born about the year 1800, atHowshani, a

small village in the East Riding of Yorkshire. Mr. Hudson's father

was a respectable farmer, and it was intended the son should follow

agricultural pursuits. The father dying when George was about 16

years of age, the aspect of affairs was entirely altered, both as touch-

ing his expectations and occupation. Accordingly, he left the

paternal roof, and was placed as an in-door apprentice with the late

Mr. W. Bell, a linen draper in the city of York. His apprenticeship

was marked by no features or circumstances differing materially from

those experienced by other young men placed in a similar position.

The great activity and energy, however, which he displiiyed, rendered

him a great favourite wilh hi.s employers. During his aiiprcnticeship,

he joined the Wosleyan Methodist community, and was a devout

and constant attcndcr at their place of worship. On the conclusion of

his apprenticeship, Mr. Hudson determined to proceed to London, to

carve his way to fortune and fame. This, however, did not suit his

employers, the business at that time being carried on under the

names of Messrs. Bell and Nicholson. To induce him to remain, ho

was offered a small share in the business, which was at oacc accepted,
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in the return of Mr. Hudson, bya majority of 128. The

numbers polled were—Hudson, 626; Thompson, 498;

gross poll, 1,124.

At the general election in 1H47, the candidates

were—George Hudson, George Barclay, and William

Arthur Wilkinson, Esqrs. The nomination day was

the 3rd of August, when the show of hands was in

favom" of AVilkinson and Hudson. At the close of

the poll, the numbers were—Hudson, 878 ; Barclay,

046 ; and Wilkinson, 509. 1,322 electors polled.

An election took place on the 20th and 21st No-

aud all intentious of proceeding to the metropolis abandoned. Mr.

Bell having retired from the firm, the lucrative concern was conducted

by Messrs. Nicholson and Hudson, and subsequently by Messrs. Hud-

son and Abbey. Between the years 1S22 and 1S27, Mr. Hudson

continued the active, plodding, enterprising draper. During the

latter year, however, an event occurred which made the embryo

Kailway Monarch a comparatively rich man. A very distant relative,

Mr. Botterill, died iu IS 27 ; and on his wiU being opened, it was

found, to the astonishment of the heir at law, many nephews, and as

many nieces, that Mr. Hudson was the inheritor of nearly the entire

fortune and possessions of the deceased, to the extent of 30,000/.

Mr. Hudson now began to take a prominent part in public business.

Active, sanguine in disposition, peremptory and ultra as a politician,

of great and acknowledged business habits, and possessed of an iron

frame and constitution, he laughed fatigue to scorn. About the year

1831 he was the leader of the Torj- party at York. Having, by virtue of

his newly acquired wealth, advanced in the estimation of his party,

he soon began to participate in those municipal honours which tliat

party had the power of conferring. Immediately after the passing

of the Municipal Keform Act, he was returned to the town council,

and elected Lord Mayor for two successive years ; and on his retire-

ment from oiBce, he was presented by his friends with a handsome

service of plate. On the formation of the York Union Banking

Company, Mr. Hudson became a shareholder, and was one of the

original directors ; and, soon afterwards, he took an active part in

the formation of the York and North Midland Kailway, in which he

commenced his noviciate in railway matters. He was chairman in

the imdertaking, as also in the York, Newcastle, and Berwick, the

Midland and Eastern Counties, &c. The most surprising success

appeared to attend evei7 undertaking with which he was connected
;

and nearly the whole body of the railway world eventually threw

their fortunes into his lap. Not only did Hudson's railways stand

higher than any others in the market, but the dividends rose higher

and higher each ensuing pay-day, and numerous branch-lines attested

the vigorous management of the potent chairman. Stupendous

bridges, embankments, and tunnels were constructed across rivers,

over valleys, and through mountains ; whilst hundreds of his friends

made fortunes rapidly. A grateful body of shareholders purchased

and presented to him the splendid house at Albert Gate ; and the

title of " Railway Kixc." was, by common consent, conferred upon

him. There seemed to be no limit to his own accumulated wealth.

Such a man was a desirable representative for the borough of Sunder-

land, then threatened with the powerful competition of neighbouring

ports. His countenance and assistance procured the completion of

those magnificent docks which promise to be the salvation of the

trade of the town. The position which he had now attained in so-

ciety brought him in contact witli many of the highest in the land.

His soirees were nightly attended by the loftiest aristocracy, and even

vember, 1847, in consequence of the retirement of

Mr. Barclay. The candidates were. Sir Hedworth

Williamson, Bart., and William A. Wilkinson, Esq.

The show of hands was in favour of Wilkinson. At

the close of the poll on the following day, the numbers

were—Williamson, 707 ; Wilkinson, 578; total polled,

1,285.

At the general election in 1852, the nomination

took place on the lOtli Julj', when George Hudson,

Henrj- Fenwick, and William Digby Seymour,* Esqrs.,

were the candidates. The show of hands was in

royalty participated in his brilliant hospitalities. During all this, he

continued to bestow his stiU unwearied attention on public boards,

parochial meetings, and railway enterprizes ; whilst prosperity and

popular favour seemed to foUow in his train. At length, however,

the tide reached its height; a crisis arrived; and the siuspicionsof

the public, once directed against its idol, were fanned up into a state

of bitterness as fidsome as the adoration with which the Kailway King

had formerly been regarded. An address of respect and confidence

was presented to Mr. Hudson from a number of his admiring and

gratefid constituents at Sunderland ; but its effect was lost amidst

the roar of attack which was poured upon him by the press on all

sides ; and the report of the York committee of inquiry confirmed

previous statements. In that document, the once great chairman

and director was accused of appro pa ting to his own use the shares

and funds with which he was entrusted. "On the 5th of March,

184S," it is stated, " a board of directors, consisting of Messrs. Hudson,

Davis, Richardson, and Plews, placed 2,000 shares at the entire dis-

posel of the chairman. They were worth 211. premium, being equi-

valent to a bontis of 42,00OZ." It was also stated that Mr. Hudson had

pocketed 38,500?., as profit made on about 10,000 tons of iron bought

by him as chairman, and sold to the company on a rise of the mar-

ket ; and other enormous discrepancies were enumerated. The

consequence of these disclosures was, that the quotations of all the

lines over which he had so spiritedly and successfully presided, fell

vei7 low in the stock market. The York and Berwick line, the 251.

shares of which had stood a few months before at 36/. each, now sunk

to 15/. per share; and the others fell in proportion. The immediate

result of the inquiry was a demand made l>y the committee upon

Mr. Hudson for 300,000/., which was refused; and the Court of

Chancery was resorted to. Reports having arisen that Mr. Hudson

was aboxit to emigrate to America, a compromise was come to for

about 90,000/. Various litigations have since arisen between railway

companies and Mr. Hudson ; but subsequent elections at Sunderland

have continued him in the representation of the borough, the inte-

rests of whicli have ever found iu him a faithful and zealous advocate

and supporter.

* William Diobt Setjiour.—Mr. Sejrmour was born at Clifton,

Connemara, County Galway, Ireland, in 1822, and is the tliird son of

the Rev. Charles Seymour, late vicar of Kihonan (a younger son of

the Seymours of Ballymore Castle, County Galway). William Digby

Seymour was educated at Trinity College, Dublin, which he entered

at the age of 14. Here he won classical honours, and, on graduating,

obtained an ethical modcratorship. He was called to the bar at the

Middle Temple in IS'IG, travels the northern circuit, and on the re-

tirement of G. H. Wilkinson, Esq , of Harperlcy Hall, was appointed

to the Recordership of Newcastle. Mr. Seymour married, in 1847,

Emily, second daughter of Joseph John Wright, Esq., of Sunderland.
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favour of Seymour and Hudson ; and a poll was de-

manded for Mr. Fenwick. At the close on the fol-

lowing day, the numbers were—for Hudson, 806

;

Seymour, 844 ; and Fenwick, 654.

Mr. Seymour having vacated his seat for Sunder-

land by accepting the recordership of Newcastle-upon-

Tyne, his re-election was opposed by Henry Fenwick,

Esq., of South Hill. The nomination took place on

New Year's Day, 1855; and, at the close of the poll

on the following day, the numbers were—for Fenwick,

9.^6 ; Sc.ymoui-, 646 ; total polled, 1,602.

Sunderland is one of the polling places for the

Northern Division of the county of Dui'ham. It is

also the centre of a revising barrister's district, which

comprises the following townships :—Bishopwearmouth,

Bishopwearmouth Pans, Burdon, Dawdon, Ford, Ful-

well. East and Middle Herrington, West Herrington,

Hylton, Monkwearmouth, Monkwearmouth Shore,

Offerton, Eyhope, Seaham, Seaton and Slingley, Silks-

worth, Southwick, Sunderland near the Sea, and

Tunstal.

COURTS, POLICE, &c.

The Bishop of Durham's Court Baron exercises juris-

diction over the ancient borough of Sunderland. The
lease of this court has been held for nearly 170 years

bj' the family of Lambton, of which the present Earl

of Durham is the representative. The following notice

will convey an idea of its powers :

—

" Court Baron of Sunderlajid.—In pursuance of a precept, dated

the 1st of July inst., under the hand and seal of Anthony John
Moore, steward of the Eight Hon. John George, Earl of Durham, to

me directed, I do hereby give notice to all freeholders and others,

who owe suit and service at the said court, that they he and appear

at the Justice Room, in the Exchange Buildings, within the borough
of Sunderland, on Tuesday, the 21st day of July inst., at 11 o'clock

in the forenoon, to do and perform the same as anciently they have
done, upon pain of amercement.

" Summonses for debts, nuisances, assaults, trespasses, &c., will be
issued on a))plication to me, asunder.—Dated this 2nd day of July
1840.—G. WiijKiNsoN, Greeve, South Street, opposite Wear Street,

Bishopwearmouth .'

'

The Halmote, or Copyhold Court, for the Manor of

Houghton-le-Spring (see PIoughton-le- Spring), was
held for Sunderland, Bishopwearmouth, and Bishop-

wearmouth Pans, for the first time, October 2;)rd, 1851,

He is author of an Address on the Genius and Study of Khetoric, of a
treatise entitled " How to employ Capital in Western Ireland," and
issued a pamphlet in defence of Mr. Hudson, at the time that gentle-
man was the subject of attaclcs by the press in reference to his trans-
actions in railway undertakings.

in the County Court Room, Sans Street. "When the

property of the see of Durham was sold, under the

authority of the parliament, the manor of Houghton
and borough of Sunderland were purchased, November

9, 1049, by Colonel George Fenwick, of Brinkburn

Priory, Northumberland, for £2,851 9s. 6d. (see vol i.,

p. 75). Colonel Fenwick held a halmote court at

Houghton-le-Spring in the year of his death, 1656,

under his parliamentary title as lord of that manor.

On the restoration of King Charles II., the manor of

Houghton and borough of Sunderland, reverted, along

with all the previous possessions of the see, to the

Bishop of Durham.

The mayor, aldermen, and burgesses of Sunderland

are copj'holders of the manor of Houghton, in right of

their corporate property, the police court, &c., for

which thej' are enrolled in their corporate names.

Property at Building Hill, the baths and wash-houses

at Hendon Row are also of copyhold tenure under the

manor of Houghton. The whole of the water-side

property, from the Old Custom-house, at the west end

of the Low Quay, Simderland, including the works of

the Commissioners of the River Wear on the east, are

copyholds, granted by Tobias Matthew, Bishop of

Durham, to Ralj)h Bowes, Esq., of Barnes, who was

admitted as tenant on the Sth day of March, 1001, in

the 43rd year of the reign of Queen Elizabeth, at the

yearly rent of IDs., payable to the bishop and his suc-

cessors at the feasts of Pentecost and Martinmas.

From the descendants of Bowes, this copyhold passed

to Walter Ettrick, Esq., collector of the customs at

Sunderland; and the Ettricks conveyed it, at various

times, to the river Commissioners. A portion of it,

now held by Messrs. Wood, Robson, and Jonassohn,

was described, at the halmote court held October 23,

1851, as bounded by the waste of Sunderland Town
Moor, which was explamed as the waste upon which

Sunderland pottery stands, belonging to the Bishop of

Durham as lord of the manor of Houghton.

The existence of these copyholds was not adduced

by the grieve at the trial between the bishop and the

Freemen and Stallingers, respecting the Town Moor,

in 1851.

Several regulations of the copyhold court, which liad

nearly become obsolete, were revived on the appoint-

ment of Joseph Davison, Esq., as deputy steward of

the manor. No court had ever been held at Sunder-

land previous to the 23rd October, IHil, at which Mr.

Davison called the attention of the copyholders to the

tenure by which they held their property. He stated,
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that " this coiu-t was called the Halmote or Copyhold

Court, and was the court of the lord of the niauor,

where the differences, either between the lord and his

tenants, or between tenant and tenant, were in ancient

times adjusted and determined, and where all transac-

tions relative to the copyhold tenants of the manor

were completed and registered. The copyhold tenants

of the manor will, by an inspection of their surrenders,

find that they hold their estates according to the cus-

tom of the court, and rendering therefore yearly, as

was wont to be rendered, and doing to the lord and

the neighbours the duties and services accustomed.

And now to inquii-e what acts of the copyholder wiU

be deemed a breach of the conditions by which he holds

his estate, and will amount to a forfeiture of it. If the

copyholder be attainted of treason or felony, or be out-

lawed for a capital crime, his copyhold is immediately

forfeited to the lord. If he convey or alien his copy-

hold by deed, or in any other manner than by surren-

der, such an act, being incompatible with the nature

of his tenancy, is a forfeiture; so likewise he incurs a

forfeiture if he leases his tenement for more than one

year without license. Another cause of forfeiture is

the denial or refusal by the copyholder of the services

of right due to the lord. If the tenant in open court

expressly disclaims being tenant to the lord, or if he

declares he owes him no services, and consequently

refuses to render any, these are evident acts of for-

feiture. So likewise if, when in court, he refuses being

sworn on the homage, or if, when duly sworn, he re-

fuses to present according to his oath, or if, being

personally summoned, he perform not his suit and

service, without alleging a sufficient cause, a forfeiture

will be incurred. A forfeiture will also be incurred by

the copyholder committing wilful waste upon his

tenement, or by felling timber (except for the necessary

repair thereof), and either selling or applying it for or

towards the repair of other tenements, without due

license obtained for that pm-pose. And as the copy-

holder can only fell such timber as shall be necessary

for, and shall be used in, the repaii'ing of his tenement,

so also is he precluded from digging or working the

mines therein, he being merely entitled to the profits

of the sm-face, and having no right to the soil or mines,

nor to the wastes and minerals, which are the freehold

and property of the lord. Upon the death like\N-ise of

the copyholder, the heir is bound, upon three procla-

mations at three several halmote courts, to come in

and be admitted to his copyhold. If he fail to do so,

the estate comes to the lord by forfeiture or escheat."

In pursuance of these regulations, the gi-ieve, on the

following day, presented Christopher Bramwell, Esq.,

for working clay out of liis copyhold estate at Hendon.

Mr. Bramwell expressed sui'piise at the proceedings,

as no such claims had been set tip before. He could

prove that for 50 years the clay had been worked

without any license from the bishop; and to forfeit

his estate without notice and evidence would be

monstrous. The verdict of the jury was, that Mr.

Bramwell had worked the clay, but that there was no

evidence that the same was contrary to the custom.

The next presentation was against the Earl of Durham,

for conveying his copyhold groimd by deed instead of

surrender; but as no evidence was forthcoming, the

case was dismissed. Dr. Tatham, Col. Beckwith, Mr.

Johnson Gates, and some others, were presented for

similar breaches of the custom, but the presentments

were dismissed.

The vexatious right of heriot, or of taking the

tenant's best beast, is not exercised on the bishop's

manor.*
At the halmote court held at Houghton le- Spring,

May 9, 1853, a third proclamation was made for the

heirs of 3 1 3 deceased trustees of copyholders in Bishop-

wearmouth, from which it appeared that 112 heirs of

trustees had been admitted to copyholds in Bishopwear-

mouth since the first proclamation was made for them

at the court held in October, 1851 ; but a majority of

the solicitors of Sunderland, whilst allowing the ne-

cessity of the admissions, in order to make perfect

titles to the copyhold properties, objected to the form

of them, as laid down by the steward. This dispute

was ultimately carried to the Court of Queen's Bench,

where a rule Kisi for a mandamus was granted against

the lord and steward of the manor of Houghton, to

compel them to admit trustees in another form.

This rule was argued before Lord Campbell and the

other justices, when a form of admission was fixed

upon as the future custom of the manor of Houghton,

and the rule discharged.

The clause in the Copyhold Enfi-anchisement Act,

alluded to in page 411, by which enfranchisement

cannot be compelled by tenants imtil after the next

admission of trustees, is likely to remain a dead letter

amongst the small copyholders of this district ; the

• An instance of the exercise of this right, in another place, has

often been quoted, in wliich the lord of the manor, on the death of

Sir Gilbert Heathcot, Bart., M.P., seized, as a heriot, Sir Gilbert's

famous horse, Smolensko, worth about three thousand pounds.
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advantages to be derived not being worth the costs of

the enfranchisement.

Gountij Court.—The first court for the recovery of

small debts was held in the Police Court, East Cross

Sti-eet, before H. Stapylton, Esq., barrister-at-law,

judge, on the 22nd April, 1847. Mr. W. H. Bram-

well is assistant clerk. The townships within the

jurisdiction of the court, and their respective distances

in miles from it, are as foUow:—Ford, 3: Fulwell,

8 ; Hylton, 4 ; Eyhope, 4 ; Southwick, 2 ; Sunderland ;

Tunstall, 2 ; Bishopwearmouth, 1 ; Monkwearmouth,

1 ; Monkwearmouth Shore, 1 ; and Wearmouth Panns,

1. The sittings are held on the last Tuesday and

Wednesday but one of every month.

Petti/ Sessions were formerly held in the George

Inn, as is exemplified by the old name of Justice Trees,

given to the frontage of that establishment. After the

erection of the old workhouse, to the east of Church

Walk, the magistrates met in rooms provided for them

in that building on every Friday. Prisoners were mean-

while locked up in " T/ie Car/e," a small ceU, with a

grated window on the south side of the Back Lonin,

now Coi'onation Street.* Afterwards, the meetings of

the magistrates were held in rooms provided for the

purpose in the Exchange. The present justice-room

is attached to the police station, East Cross-street,

Bishopwearmouth ; the magistrates are, the Mayor of

Sunderland for the time being, Aldermen Alcock,

Brown, Ord, Lindsay, and Mordey, with Edward
Backhouse, William Bell, Wallcer Featherstonhaugh,

E. Carr, James Hartlej-, Nathan Horn, George Hud-
son, Joseph Simpson, Henry Tanner, William Sedley

Burn, and James Laing.

On June 1 -j, J 84 1 , the justices acting for the borough
of Sunderland represented to John William William-

son, Esq., chairman, and the justices of the quarter

sessions, " That in consequence of the changes in the

district, no distinct understanding now exists as to the

different parishes and townships to be considered

within the limits of Sunderland, which has led to

irregularities inconsistent with the interests of the

public ;" and they gave, as an instance, the case of a

license having been refused in Sunderland, but granted

on the same day at Houghton-le-Spring, the justices

there not knowing of the previous application. They

•A row of leafless trees, to the west of this dungeon, were, for many
years, used by the boys of "Young Sunderland," during the French
war, as a depositoiy or place of display, for the demolished hats of
" French Doggers." The boys of the eastern and western parts of the
parish distinguished each other by this obnoxious appellation, and
daily contested the possession of the Town Moor with fists and stones;

therefore suggested the expediency of forming a new
division, to be called "Sunderland Division," and to

contain certain townships in the North Division of

Easington Ward. The statement was taken into con-

sideration at the sessions in October following, and the

new division was formed as desired (see page 350).

The Police Court is at 27, West Wear Street,

Bishopwearmouth. The Sunderland police first en-

tered on duty on the 14th November, 1837. The
number in 1851 was GO; the proportion of police to

the popidation being about 1 to 1,000. Two houses

have been arranged for corporation of&ces and mayor's

chamber; and adjoining is the justice room, erected in

1842. Behind are rooms for the residence of police-

men, and lock-up cells for prisoners detained for

examination, who, on being committed, are sent to

Durham jail. The superintendent, Mr. W. Brown,

resides in a house adjoining the station. The whole

of the premises are rented by the corporation.

SUPPLY OF WATEE.

FoEJiERLT, the whole town was supplied with water

from springs, the most remarkable of which was the

Bodle Well. To this, and a few other pumps, the

whole population of the town repaired for water ; and

it was usual for the inhabitants of Wearmouth Walk,

and even further westward, to send their servants

every evening, as a regular part of their work, to the

Bodle Well for a skeelfull of water. A few houses in

Bishoi^wearmouth had the advantage of private weUs.

The following announcement illustrates the manner

in which many of the inhabitants were supplied ;

—

"Low Spuing Water at the Improved Patext Ropery in Bisnop-

WEARMOUTH.—The inhabitants of Bishopwearmouth are respectfully

informed that they may now be supplied with excellent water, at the

Improved Patent Ropery, in South-street, Bishopwearmouth, at a

farthing a skeel ou the spot, and by a water cart in a few days at a

halfpenny a skeel, at their own houses. N.B. This water is found to

make excellent tea water, and answers wcU for washing. Bishop-

wearmouth, 1 1th mo. 30th, 1820."

A public meeting was held, August 31, 1824, for the

purpose of taking into consideration the practicability

of supplying the town of Bishopwearmouth with water,

when it was resolved to raise =£5,000 in 200 shares of

.£25 each. Works were constructed at the head of

tlie juniors bringing supplies of the latter amuiuiiitiou from the sea-

side in their little carts and wheelbarrows, which were not unfre-

quently cut off by the belligerents of the opposite party. The hats,

caps, and other trophies of the contending parties were condemned

and appropriated without mercy. Hundreds of boys were daily en-

gaged in these petty, but sometimes bloody contests.

3 Z
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Fountain Street, where the water is raised by two steam

engines, of 40 and 20 horse power respectively, from

a well 144 feet deep. Two reservoii-s, each holdmg

100,000 gallons, supplied the town till the formation

of new works in 1850; and they are still maintained

in working order. The following cii'cular was issued

in 1830 :—
" Watek Company.—The Directors beg to acquaint the consumers

that it is their intention to deepen the well, in order to obtain a more

abundant supply of water, and that this operation cannot be carried

on without, in a slight degree, rendering the water turbid. The con-

sumers are however assured that the thickness will not be caused by

anything injurious, and that the water may be safely drunk after al-

lowing the sand (for it is nothing else) time to deposit itself. Tlic

Directors further assure the consumers that every means wiU be used

to expedite the work. July, 1836."

The capital was enlarged, and new works construct-

ed, imder the power of an act obtained for the piu-pose

in 1846. The new works are at Humbleton Hill,

nearly two miles from Bishopwearmouth. There is

one condensing engine of loO horse power, and a

reservoir holding 1,000,000 gallons. The engine is

capable of working 10 strokes per minute, and delivers

105 gallons per stroke, or 1,050 gallons per minute,

6.3,000 per hour, 750,000 in 12, and 1,512,000 in 24

hours. The water is always on, day and night, in every

part of the borough. The reservoir is 100 feet above

the level of the road at Bishopwearmouth chnrch gates,

which gives a sufficient pressure to throw the water

over the top of the highest house without the aid of

fire engines. Pipes are laid in eveiy street and lane

in the town, and have been progressively extended to

the Ballast Hills, Ayi-e's Quay, Deptford, and South-

wick. The main pipe from the new works to the en-

trance of the town is 1 9 inches diameter ; that down

the High Street is 14 and 12 inches to Bridge-street,

and 10, 9, 8, 7, and 6 inches to the docks, around

which the pipes are laid for the shipping ; the main,

from near the Infirmary down the Borough Eoad to

Hendon-street, Hendou-lane, &c., is 9, 8, 7, and U

inches. About 8,000 tenants are supplied with water,

at charges varying from 5s. to 30s. per annum, accord-

ing to the rental, as stated in the overseers' books

;

the charges generally being more moderate than those

ofneighbouring towns. In some of the worst localities,

the company have, at their own cost, put the pipes and

necessary fittings into the houses, and collected Id.

per week from each family. The company's act con-

tains the usual stipulations relative to persons sup-

pljing or taking water, &c., from the pipes without

notice.

Fire-engines were for many years kept in the porch

of Sunderland church. There is now a house for the

engines on Wearmouth Green. Some ingenious ex-

periments have recently been made, with a view of

rendering the street lamp posts available for fixing

hose in cases of fire.

In consequence of a memorial received by the

directors in 1851, requesting an extension of the works

to South Shields, the necessary notices were given,

and an act of parliament was obtained for carr^dng

the project into efi'ect. By this act, the name of

the company is changed to " The Sunderland and

South Shields Water Company ;
" and it is provided _

that the future capital of the enlarged company shall |
be £100,000, divided into two x^rincipal equal portions,

one of which shall represent the interest of the Sun-

derland Water Company, and the other be distinguished

as extension capital. The works of the South Shields

Water Works, for which £28,000 was at first asked,

were eventually purchased for £13,000 ; a sum consi-

dered beyond their intrinsic value, but given in con-

sequence of the revenue being stated at £2,140 per

annum. For the construction of new works at Fulwell,

additional capital was raised by the issue of shares on

the new portion of the undertaking.

SUPPLY OF GAS.

The Sunderland Gas-light Company was established

in 1823, in shares of £25 each; and the town was first

illuminated with gas on the 9th of March, 1824. The

cost of the works, which are situated at the foot of

Russell- street, was about £8,000. They were i)ui-chased

in 1831 by the Sunderland Subscription Gas Com-

pany, and considerably enlarged and improved in 1837.

On December 14, 1844, the price of gas was reduced

from 10s. per 1,000 cubic feet to 6s. 8d. There are

three gas-holders, together capable of containing

102,000 cubic feet, with 75 retorts. The mains are

about 20 miles in length.

At a public meeting of the inhabitants of Smider-

land, held .January 2, 1845, it was resolved to form a

new company, to be called the Corporation Gas Com-

pany, with a capital of £8,000, in 1,000 shares of £5

each ; and that, in the event of the borough corporation

obtaining an act of parliament within six years from

the establishment of gas-works, the works of this

company should be sold to the coii^oration at cost

price, with interest at 74 per cent. After a strenuous

opposition on the part of the Bishopwearmouth and

Sunderland Commissioners, entailing an expense of
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upwards of £'3,000 on the promoters, an act of parlia-

meut was passed, June 18, 1846, incorporating the new

company, who had previously offered to purchase the

old works, first at £20, and afterwards at £30 for every

£10 share.

The paid-up capital of the Corporation Gas Com-

pany is £32,000 on shares, the full sum authorized hy

the act; and £10,000 was borrowed on moi'tgage, all

of which has been expended. The foundation-stone

of the works at Aj're's Quay was laid on Februaiy 11,

1846; and the supply of Bishopwearmouth and Sun-

derland was commenced in February, 1847. The
works comprise beds for 80 retorts, (50 of which are

set), capable of producing 280,000 cubic feet per diem.

The hydraulic main is 20 inches in diameter ; and the

set of condensers, 10 inches in diameter, are sufficient

for the condension of about 1,000,000 cubic feet of

gas. Two wet lime purifiers, 9 feet in diameter and 2

feet 9 inches deep, and two dry lime purifiers, are suf-

ficient for the purification of a much larger quantity

than is at present requii-ed. The station meter, with

time-piece and tell-tale, are capable of registering

30,000 cubic feet per hour, Two gas-holders, CO feet

in diameter and 18 feet deep, contain together

100,000 cubic feet. The length of the mains, extend-

ing in every direction, is 20,020 yards, or nearly 15

miles. The leading mains from the works to the east

end of Sunderland, and in some of the principal

thoroughfares, are 12 and 10 inches in diameter; and
the whole of the remainder, ranging from 8 to Ig^

inches, are of sufficient size to supply any future con-

sumption the particular locality may be likely to re-

quii-e. The gas is daily submitted to careful chemical

tests, and is free from sulphurettetl hydrogen and am-
monia. Its price is 4s. per 1,000 cubic feet. This
company introduced the system of letting out meters
to consumers at an annual rental, by which, and the

reduction in price, the consumption of gas in the

borough has been increased from five million cubic

feet per annum (the average up to 1845) to upwards
of forty millions.

The gas-works at Monkwearmouth were purchased
by the Corporation Gas Company in August, 1845. The
price to consumers, which had previously been 10s., 8s.,

and 7s. Od. per 1 ,000 cubic feet, was reduced to 4s. The
number of consumers consequently inereased upwards
of 200 per cent.; and the public lamps were also reduced
from £3 10s. to £2 7s. Od. each per annum. The
length of the mains, extending into every street, is

7,880 yards, or about 4} miles.

The public lamps on the south side of the river

continued to be supplied by the old company previous

to 1840, the charge was £3 12s. per annum for each,

which was afterwards reduced to £2 lOs. and £2 4s. 6d.

The two companies were amalgamated in 1854.

SANITARY CONDITION.

In 1847, during the discussion between the promoters

oftwo competing imin-ovemeut bills,Messrs. Rawlinson

and Hoskins, surveying officers, appointed by govern-

ment, sat four days to hear evidence, and made a formal

inspection of the district. On the 11th of December,

1849, Robert Rawlinson, Esq., superintending in-

spector, imder the direction of the General Board of

Health, opened an inquiry into the sanitary state of

the borough: the following gentlemen being present:

—

W. Ord, Esq., mayor; John Scott, Esq., R. Fenwick,

Esq., P. Laiug, Esq., Edward Backhouse, Esq., Dr.

Brown. William Snowball, Esq., town-clerk, appeared

on the part of the corporation, assisted by a committee,

comprising Messrs. Aid. Brown, James Williams, G.

S. Ranson, and others. For the Bishopwearmouth

Paving and Lighting Board, Mr. C. Taj^or, clerk, and

Mr. Thompson, surveyor and treasm-er to that Board.

For the Sunderland Improvement Commission, Mr.

Aid. Reed, Mr. John Watson, and Mr. Drysdale (sur-

veyor and clerk of the Board), appeared. Mr. Cooper,

(clerk), Thomas Moore, Mr. G. A. Middlemiss, and
others, were present for the Highway Board. Mr.
John Ividson for the commission acting under the

River Wear Watch Act; Mr. Robert Smart (clerk and

treasurer), Mr. J. Mounsey, Mr. R. Bowery, and Mr.

T. B. Ord, for the Wearmouth Bridge Commission.

Mr. J. S. Robinson (clerk), with Mr. John Scott

(chairman), represented the River Wear commission
;

Mr. Robinson, witli Mr. William Robinson (treasurer),

appearing also for the Freemen and Stallingers. Dr.

Brown and Mr. Mordey, in addition to attending as

members of committees of the corporation, and the

latter as a member of the Bishopwearmouth Commis-
sion, attended as the authors of a Report on the popu-

lation and sanitary state of tlie town. Mr. W. Givens

(agent), and Mr. Adamson, solicitor, for Sir Hedworth

Williamson, Bart., M.P., were present as representatives

of the honourable baronet. Mr. C. T. Potts, the Rev.

Mr. Morgan, incumbent, and Mr. H. Scott, attended

on behalf of the inhabitants of Southwick. Mr. Cooper

Abbs was present for the outlying districts of Monk-
wearmouth ; Mr. W. Allison for the Paving and
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Lightins; Board of Monkwearmouth Shore. Mi*. Tbos.

Meik and Mr. W. Drysdale attended as the authors of

a Eepoi-t on the di-ainage and sewerage of the town

;

Mr. Drysdale, in conjunction with Mr. Thomas Moore,

contributing a Report on the biu'ial-grounds within the

borough. Mr. W. B. Jameson was in attendance as

the representative of Mr. Fawcett. There were several

other gentlemen present, including Messrs. Alderman

Sharp, Thomas Pratt, Thomas Burn, Joshua Wilson,

Ai-nold Taylor, John Crozier, George Burnett, S.

Alcock, James Hills, W. Dewar, Martin Moore, R.

Bradley, H. A. iloon, Nelson Wake (registrar of

Monkwearmouth), James Bruce (inspector of nuisances

in Sunderland), John Cox (secretary of corporation gas

company), the Rev. R. W. M'All (minister of Bethel

chapel), and others.

Iia his report, Mr. Rawlinson observes, "Whatever

want of foresight there may have been in the fii'st

builders of the town, there has been a most laudable

anxiety on behalf of the new corporation, since its

formation, to improve the town generally, as also to

ameliorate the condition of the working classes. In

fact, this feeling has been participated in by all

classes since 1831-1832, when cholera ravaged the

district."

With regard to the meteorology of the locaUty, he

says, " Tiie average annual rainfall at Sunderland is

about 2o inches, whilst on the southern and western

coast generally it is about 33 inches. The prevalence

of south and west mnds, which bring in a moist atmo-

sphere from the Atlantic, is sufficient to account for the

difference. On account of the cutting east winds in

March, April, and May, the spring is later on the

eastern side of the island than on the western, although

there is no great difference in the average annual tem-

perature. There is less vapour, and consequently less

cloud, on the eastern than on the western side, and

rain falls on some 30 more days in each year at Liver-

pool than at Sunderland; the proportion having been

averaged at 178 days on which rain fell at Liverpool to

148 days at Sunderland.
" There is one set of conditions which ought not to be

overlooked, as even a minimum rainfall may create a

maximum amount of damp, and consequent sickness

and inconvenience. The site on which the town of

Simderland stands has a rapid slope or fall towards the

river, and the streets rise one above the other. Many

of the yards, middens, and cesspools immediately ad-

join the dwelling-rooms, and stand above the level of

the floors, so that the subsoil is satui-ated with the foul

refuse percolatuig beneath the foundations, and putrid

emanations are thus passed into the houses."

In a report on the population and sanitary condition

of the borough, drawn up by Dr. Brown and N. Mordey,

Esq., surgeon, they say that, taking the population

of Bishopwearmouth parish at 34,000, and stating its

area at 9,089,520 square yards, they find thei'e is an

average space for each individual of 200 square yards.

Monkwearmouth parish, exclusive of Simonsides, con-

tains 7,579,440 square yards; and, assuming its popu-

lation at 15,000, there is an average of SOoj square

j-ards to each individual. The area of Sunderland

parish is 643,720 square yards, which, to a population

of 17,000, gives an average of a small fraction less than

38 square yards to each individual. A simple calcu-

lation shows that an inhabitant of Monkwearmouth

has 13 times as much space, and one of Bishopwear-

mouth 7 times as much, as one of Sunderland. Taking

the year 1841, in which there was no epidemic preva-

lent, these gentlemen state that, out of a population

of 50,607, the general mortality of the borough was

1,562, or 2"7 per cent.; whilst in Sunderland parish it

was 3"4, in Bishopwearmouth 2*5, and in Monkwear-

mouth 2'4 per cent. Or, to present the matter in

another point of view, an imlividual born in Sunder-

land parish, to spend his life in that parish will have a

prospect of living 29 years and fom'-tenths of a year;

one born in Monkwearmouth has a prospect of 41 and

one-tenth of a year; while the prospect of life to one

born in Bishopwearmoiith is just 40 years.

Under the Borough of Sunderland Act, the mayor

and common council are constituted the Local Board

of Health for the town.

HARBOUR, PIERS, &c.

The river Wear has been described in vol. i., page 108.

The piers at its entrance form the harbour of Sunder-

land. In 1069, the king granted letters patent to

Edward Andrew, Esq., to build a pier, and erect a

light-house or light-houses, and to cleanse the harbour

of Sunderland, and to raise contributions for that pm--

pose. The same letters forbid all masters of ships

from casting out ballast within six fathoms water, and

within the space of one mile southwards and one mile

northwards from the mouth of tlie harbour, with powers

to the officers of the Admh-alty and Vice-admiralty

Com-ts to take cognizance of and punish offences.

Several successive acts of pai-Hament have been ob-

tamed for the preservation and improvement of the

port and river. The earliest is that of 3 George I.,
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the preamble of which states that Sunderland "is well

inhabited with rich and able merchants and tradesmen,

and maybe of great importance, as well for his majesty's

service and revenue, as for the pubKc benefit of the

kingdom, ha\-ing a port capable of containing many

hundi-ed sail, and very proper to be a nursery of able

seamen" for the royal navy. The act proceeds to

enumerate the causes which had conduced to injm-e

the harbour, and alludes to the benefits derivable to

the metropolis by the cheapness of coal consequent on

improving the Wear; and it appoints commissioners

for twenty-one years, seven to be a committee, with

power to survey tlie port and river; to order all owners

of whai'fs and quays to keep them in repair', and flanked

up to the shore above high-water mark, or in default,

after six months' notice, to levy bl. per month; to fine

persons for casting out ballast in the river or harbour

t)l. for each offence ; and to levy 'id. per chaldron on the

coal-owner, and Id. on the fitter for every chaldron, to

be applied towards rendering the river navigable to-

wards New-bridge, and clearing away the great sands at

the harboiu'-mouth. Coal, salt, and glass are mentioned

as the chief exports ; and coals used in manufacturing

the two latter articles in the port are exempted from

the above duties. The jurisdiction of the commissioners

is described as extending "from the promontory or

point called Souter Point, about two miles from Sun-

derland Bar towards the north-east, and so into the sea

to five fathoms at low water, and from thence in a sup-

posed direct line till it is fully opposite to that land

called Ryhope Dean, about two miles from Sunderland

Bar towards the south, and continued west from the

said bar and limits up the said river to a certain place

called the New-bridge, in the parish of Chester-le-

Street, and from thence to the city of Durham." By
the act of 1720, the commissioners were enabled to

raise monies on the credit of the duties.

Little was done to improve the river till 1719, at

which time the entrance was very intricate, and the two

main channels were both very shallow. Works at the

south pier were commenced in 1723, for the purpose of

directing the full force of the ctirreut against the bar.

In 172G,the pier was 300 yards in length, and had
cost 20,000/. In 1737, a map, published by Burleigh
and Thompson, shows the bad state of the entrance at

that period.*

An act, passed in 1740, fixes the duties at 2d. per
chaldron on all coals and cinders brought to the river

* This excellent survey is on one long sheet, 7 feet by 19J inches
;

scale, 5 inches to 3,000 feet. The plan marks the whole of'the pro-

and delivered on board of ships, betwixt the New-bridge

and Sunderland. At that period, 33 yards had been
added to the length of the pier. In 1 748, Labilye, the

engineer at Westminster bridge, was called upon
for his advice. He pointed out the principal causes of

the state of the river, and suggested the contraction of

the channel at the worst places, so as to increase the

scouring force of the stream ; deepening the Stell, a

contracted but shallow part of the channel, by manual
laboiu- and by dredging engines ; and constructing a

north pier, so as to leave a distance of 200 yards be-

tween the point of that and the south pier. He stated,

however, that "after all, as no man could foresee the

consequences of erecting the north pier, if it caused a

greater obstruction than it removed, it must be unbuilt

and taken up." He recommended also throwing all

the force of the stream into one channel, and cutting

away the bar by ballast engines, cautioning the com-
missioners against ever permitting sluices or locks to

be placed upon the river.

Mr. Vincent, of Scarborough, was appointed engineer

to the commissioners in 1752. Mr, Robin succeeded

him in 1755; and, under them, the south channel was
so much improved that the north channel was warped
up with sand. Mr. Smith, of Shefiield, proposed sundry

further improvements in 1758. An act of parliament,

passed in 1759, gives the commissioners power as far

as Biddick Ford, and no further, and imposes 2d. per

chaldron on coals or cinders brought to the river be-

twixt Biddick Ford and the city of Dm-ham. The cost

of the pier, in 1705, had amoiuited to 50,000/., and it

was estimated that its completion would cost as much
more.

In Sanderson's history of the county of Durham,
published in 1767, it is observed that, "were there an
harbour deep enough (at Sunderland) to receive the

ships which are now allowed to load in the road off at

sea, or of the same burden as enter the river Tyne, it

would greatly damage the trade of Newcastle. But

the bed of the river Wear is so rocky, that it is thought

neither art nor motley is able to make it navigable, ?is the

citizens of Durham have wished for many years."

In 1707, Mr. Wooler reported on Mr. Robin's plan

of building moles on the north and south rocks, and

the work was commenced, but, for reasons which do

not appear, was speedily abandoned. The pier was

much damaged by the high flood of November, 1771.

In a Retrospective View of Sunderland Harbour, from

pvietors on both sides of the river. The chief quays or staiths appear

to have been on the north shore.
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the }-ear 1755 to 1771, it is stated, "That the channel

at the mouth of the harbour was so very narrow and

shoal, that ships drawing only six or seven feet water

were often prevented getting out to sea; and withal

was so very crooked and oblique, that the wind, which

served for conducting ships out of the harboiu-, was

unfavourable for convejing them away to the south-

ward, where almost the whole trade lies ; and the wind

that was fair to bring them from thence, was as un-

favourable for their entering the haxbour, especially

when it blew hard southerly, which generally brought

down the largest fleets. In such a case, it was hardly

possible, with the most laborious efforts, to get more

than six or eight ships, and those of no greater burthen

than six or eight keels, or about 149 tons, into the

hai"bour in one tide ; but if the surges happened to run

high, even these few were in the greatest jeopardy of

being bulged in the Ham (a flat sand on which the sea

ran most ^dolently), and of receiving other considerable

damage, by beating one against another as they strug-

gled to get over the Stell. The dread of these im-

pending disasters occasioned many ships to go past the

port to Shields and load there, or else wait for an op-

portunity of coming back to Sunderland for theu" load-

ing, which was a great obstruction to trade, as well as

loss to the town and parts adjacent. In northerly

winds, the' sea rushed so furiously into the harboiu- that

it was with much difficulty ships lying in the lower

parts thereof could be held with all their cables out

;

and such as lay in the upper part, and at the north

quay, were often sunk upon their own anchors, which

were obliged to be carried out to hold them. Many
keels suffered the same fate when dropping down to

their respective ships upon the ebb." The remedies

which had been applied were, the cutting 45- feet deep

through a rock, extending 500 feet in length, and 180

in breadth, opening the mouth of the harbour, and

altering the direction of the pier, thereby diverting

the course of the waves to the north shore, where their

strength was broken and exhausted ; and providing

suitable moorings for vessels, which superseded the

further use of their anchors in the harbour. The

Pann-sand, a "notorious obstacle," had been so far

dragged away as to allow keels to pass at low water,

and ships at high water. The benefit of building the

pier consisted not onlj' in improving the channel, but

• Mr. PicKERXELL.—After his discharge by the commissioners of

the river Wear iu 1808, Mr. Picliernell proceeded to Falmouth, as a

candidate for the office of eugiueer there, hut was unsuccessful. On

his voyage fiom that place to Spithead, where his brother was in

in providing about four feet additional depth of water
;

so that "ships from 12 to 14 keels, or about 270 tons

burthen, that formerly could but take in from four to

six keels, or about 106 tons, within the harbour, now
go out to sea full laden." These advantages produce

a "prodigious saving in the articles of extra keel-dues,

trimming, and an immense quantity of coals which in-

evitably drop down and are lost between the ships and

keels when casting at sea."

Mr. Robert Shout was appointed engineer in 1779;

and, in 1780, Mr. Smeaton's advice was sought, who
recommended the prolongation of the pier on Mr.

Shout's plans. The preamble to an act of parliament,

passed in 1785, states that the east end of the pier had

become ruinous, and in danger of falling, and that it

was necessary to take it down and rebuild it in a dif-

ferent direction, less exposed to the sea and land floods.

The consequence of this constant extension of the

south pier, however, seems to have been the washing

up of sand into the harbour mouth, which was so

choaked up in that year that scarcely a light ship

could enter. Mr. Shout suggested that a temporary

wooden pier should be constructed, and run across the

old channel, which at that time extended as far as the

north beacon, in order to contract it, and enable the

ebb-tide to scour itself a deeper channel. His project

being approved of, it was put in execution in 1780, by

commencing what is now called the North Pier. The

work then begun was built with timber, or carcase-

work, and extended from high water mark 1,500 feet

into the sea. The effects produced by it were truly

beneficial; for, in a few months, there was a deep and

spacious channel. Its utility being now no longer a

matter of speculation, it was judged necessary, in order

to preserve the carcases, to face them with a permanent

pier, which was begun in 1788; and, previous to the

death of Mr. Shout in 1795, a length of nearly 700 feet

of solid pier, built on piles, was finished, to which Mr.

Pickernell, his successor, added 90 feet.

Mr. R. Dodds made a survey of Sunderland harbour

in 1794. He recommended chiefly the formation of a

wet dock on the present Potato Garth. In 1802, Mr.

Pickernell erected an elegant octagonal lighthouse,

about 280 feet from the extremity of the pier. It is of

freestone, and 68 feet in height fi-om the pier to the

under-side of the cap.*

command of a ftigate, and on board which he was promised an ap-

pointment, the ship iu which he sailed was captured by a French

privateer. His pipers, clothes, &c., were taken from him, and he was

conveyed to the prison at Langwy, in France. .At this place he was
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Mr. Matthew Shout became engineer iu 1804, and

reduced some of the old works, whilst he extended the

north pier. Mr. William Jessop made a report in 1807,

recommending further extension of the south pier, the

reduction of the width at the entrance to 800 feet, and

the construction of some embankment walls at various

points to increase the velocity of the stream, and at

the same time form a scouring basin.

An act of parliament, passed in 1809, empowered

the commissioners to collect ijd. from the coal-o^vners,

and IW. from the fitters, for every chaldron of coal

e xported from the port, and fixed the qualification of

commissioners at 200/. per annum real, or G,000/.

personal property.* The conservation of the river

"Wear and port of Sunderland was finally vested in the

commissioners by the 11th Geo. IV., c. 49, intituled,

"An Act for the Improvement and Preservation of the

River Wear and Port and Haven of Sunderland," and

by which the acts of 49 and 69 of Geo. III. are re-

pealed, but reserving the rights of the Trinity House,

the Bishop of Durham, and the owners of the ferry-

boats. It gives power to the commissioners to build

quays, and otherwise improve the harbour; also to

cleanse, deepen, and extend the river, and to employ

steam-power for the purpose.

Mr. Giles made a survey under the direction of Mr.

Rennie, which was completed in 1823 under Sir John

Reunie. In 1821, Mr. Rennie recommended certain

lines of extension of the pier, and the reconstruction

of some parts of the works with sounder materials,

besides other precautionary measures, calculated to

improve the port, some of which were carried into

efl'ect by Mr. Milton, the successor of Mr. M. Shout.

Mr. J. Murray succeeded Mr. Milton, and carried on

the designs of Mr. Reunie and Sir John Rennie with

great solidity, using the diving bell for part of the

foundation. The north pier, which is a fine piece of

masoniy, was thus extended to a total length of 1,770

feet. This induced the execution of one of the most

closely confined for some time, suffering all the piivations of common
pi-isouers usual at that period, b\it was at last recogniiied by two

gentlemen of Sunderland, also prisoners, but who made a representa-

tion of his circumstances to the commandant, and he was eventually

enabled to communicate with his friends in England, and favoured

with an enlargement of his liberty, which was at last so far extended

that he had full liberty of the town through the day, and was only

reiiuired to return to the fortress at night. His talents and skill in

taking plans of the fortifications at length became known to the Em-
peror Napoleon, who sent him an oU'erof an engineer's commisiou in

the French army, but which he declined. On the advance of the

Russian and allied armies, he was marched, with other prisoners of

war, from Langwy to Beauvais, a town about 40 miles north fi'om

remarkable engineering operations on record, namely,

the removal of the lighthouse, in an entire state, from

the site on which it had stood for forty years, to the

eastern extremity of the pier. This operation was

commenced August 2, 1841, and accomplished October

4, following. The re-erection of the lighthouse had
been under the consideration of the commissioners,

when their engineer, Mr. Murray, submitted a plan by
which the building might be removed entire. The
height of the building was 7.5 feet, the estimated weight

about 300 tons, and the distance to which it had to be

removed about .500 feet. The method proposed was,

to cut the masonry through near its foundation, and

to insei-t whole timbers, one after another, through the

building, and extending 7 feet beyond it. Above and

at right angles to them, another tier of timbers was to

be inserted in like manner, so as to make the cradle

or base a square of 29 feet; and this cradle was to be

supported upon bearers, with about 250 wheels of six

inches diameter, and was to traverse on six lines of

railway to be laid on the new pier for that purpose.

The shaft of the lighthouse was to be tied together

with bands, and its eight sides supported with timber

braces from the cradle upwards to the cornice. The
cradle was to be drawn and pushed forward by powerful

screws along the railway above mentioned, on the

principle of Morton's patent slip for the repairing of

vessels. The great height of the building and small

base, and other difficulties attending the experiment,

did not deter the engineer from the prosecution of his

design, and which he ultimately accomplished with

complete success. Dming the week commencing with

Monday, September 14, the lighthouse was moved daily

upwards of 30 feet in about as manj' minutes, including

stoppages ; but whilst actually moving, it was drawn

at the rate of about two feet in a minute. Whilst the

work was proceeding, the screws referred to were

abandoned, and the building was drawn forward on the

railway by ropes affixed to three windlasses, thirty men

Paris, where they arrived on the 13th of January, 1814. The fatigues

of this march brought on an illness, of which he died on the "iOth of

the same month, after having been a prisoner in France for nearly

six years.

• At a special meeting of the Corporation of Sunderland, March,

181:i, a petition to parliament was adopted, praying that the town

council should have power to appoint one-fourth of their body (the

mayor to be one) to bo ex-ufficio commissioners of the river Wear
;

that all tlie meetings of the commissioners should be open to the

public ; that their acoi7unts should be ])ublislied annually ; and that

the qualilication be reduced from £200 to £100 per annum real pro-

peity, or from £6000 to £oOOO personal property.
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being engaged in this part of the work ; and by this

means the building was removed with equal safety and

greater rapidity. The timber carriage upon which it

was rolled was withdrawn, to allow the new stone base

to be built underneath the erection. Dm-ing the entire

progress of the work, the building did not sustain the

slightest injury. The light was exhibited every night

by gas as usual, so that not even the slightest inconve-

nience resulted by and during its removal. This light-

house shows a fixed light, 78 feet above high water

mark at ordinary spring tides. In addition, there is a

red-coloured distinguishing light, 18 feet below. Both

lights are exhibited from sun-set to sun-rise tkrough-

out the year.*

In 1843, the south pier, being in a ruinous state, was

pai-tiaUy removed, and rebuilt in a direction better

calculated to resist the swell of the sea. A part of the

pier, at the upper or western end, was taken away in

1844, and a beaching gi'ound made in its jDlace for the

sea to expend itself, by which the harbour is rendered

much qiueter than before. This noble pier affords a

delightful promenade, about 650 yards long to its

eastern extremity. The top is 11 feet above high

water on ordinary spring tides, and its width between

the harbour-wall and sea-parapet is divided into two

longitudinal parallel portions, one of which, 16 feet in

width, destined for the promenadcrs, is raised about

two feet by means of a continuous range of steps. This

platfoi-m is paved with large laid blocks of stone, well

dressed and fitted together. A handsome parapet,

raised a step in height, divides it from the rubble

breakwater, formed as a glacis to protect the pier from

the south-easterly gales. Stones obtained from the

limestone quarries of Pallion are deposited, and when

sufficiently consolidated by the action of the sea, the

exterior surface of the slope is rough paved with the

largest, heaviest, and best-adapted blocks. A con-

siderable portion of the pier from the north-eastern

angle of the docks, is now being rebuilt further to the

south ; a wooden platform, in the interim, supplying

the place of the previous erection.

At the eastern extremity of this pier is a lighthouse

of wood, but which it has been some time in contem-

plation to replace with an u-on one. It shews a tide-

light, 38 feet above high water of ordinary spring tides,

from half flood to first quarter ebb, when the wind and

tide are favom-able for entering the harbour; but mth

a westerly wind, the light is put out at high water.

* In the same year (1841) in wliicli the lighthouse was removed,

Mr. Smart issued a circular in favour of constructing a tunnel under

When a gi'een light is added to the usual tide light, it

is a signal that attention must be paid to orders from

the pier ; and blue lights without the tide-light are a

signal of extreme danger. In the day-time, a flag is

hoisted, half mast high, when there is a depth of 8 feet

water on the bar ; when there is a depth of 10 feet,

with a smooth sea, it is hoisted to the mast head, and

continued till high water in a westerly wind ; and with

the wind from south-south-east to north-north-east, it

is kept up one hour and a half after high water. If

the flag be inclined to the south or north, it is a signal

to keep the ship more to the direction indicated. The

flag at the mast, ^vith ball underneath, signifies, I
" Danger in the harboiu- : be careful." Two balls on

a horizontal staff, " Your entering will be attended

with danger." Dennett's rockets, and other apparatus

for saving life, are always kept in readiness at the light-

house on the south pier ; and Carte's, with other ap-

paratus, on the north pier.

In January, 1844, the commissioners of the river

Wear gave orders that whenever the ball of the light-

house, at the extremity of the pier, is up as a signal of

the dangerous state of the navigation, temporary gates

should be put across the entrance of the south pier, so

as to prevent any person going on to it that might

rather stajid in the way than make themselves useful.

The south pier has always been a favourite place of

recreation for the people of Simderland. The view

from its extremity extends from Sowter Point on tlie

north to the Cleveland HUls and Yorkshire Point on

the south, comprising a wide sweep of coast, in which

the town of Hartlepool, 20 miles distant, is a con-

spicuous object. Close on the west is the town of

Sunderland, with its crowded and busy harbour ; whilst

to the east, the view over the sea is only bounded by

the horizon. The whole is enlivened by the continual

passing and repassing of ships of all sizes and all

rigs ; now so far oif as to appear like specks upon the

water, and anon sweeping so closely past the pier that

the sailors on their decks may be spoken with. It is

hither that the wives and relatives of seamen resort, to

obtain a last view of the ships in which they depart, as

well as to welcome them on their return after a voy-

age ; and the waving of handkerchiefs and other

demonstrations, on either occasion, are interesting

adjuncts to the scene. On fine evenings and Sundays,

the pier is crowded with pedestrians of both sexes,

enjoying the sea-breezes; but in rough weather, it is

the "Wear, lietwcen the Custom House and the FoUy End, a distance

of about COO yards.
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only a love of the sublime and terrible in nature which

can tempt a voluntary walk here. This was more

particularl)' the case before the formation of the sloping

breakwater on the south-east, as it was not then unfre-

quent for the waves to break with great violence over

the pier itself. Access to the pier can now only be

obtained by passing along two swivel bridges, which

cross the tidal harbour and half- tide basin of the South

Docks, and are consequently frequently withdrawn to

allow the passage of shipping.

Mr. Murray was appointed consulting engineer to

the commissioners of the river, and Mr. T. Meik resi-

dent engineer under him, on the 30th of August, 1845.

The White Shell Rocks, situated about 500 feet to the

eastward of the south pier, had long proved an impe-

diment and source of danger to vessels visiting the

port; but in 1846, by means of blasting, they were

completely broken up, and a depth of five feet water

was gained at low spring ebbs. The removal of other

works was also effected during the year. In 1847, the

changes made had improved the channel, and given at

least four feet of water over the bar at low water of

spring tides. The bar was then narrow and shelving,

with deep water on each side. Its occasional increase

has been met by the employment of dredging machines;

but the diminution of water had become so perceptible

in 1852, that Mr. Meik proposed to the commissioners

an extension of the piers as the only effectual remedy.

The estimated cost, however, which was about 30,000/.

for the north pier, and 20,000/. for the south, induced

the commissioners to reject the plan.

Tide gauges have for some years been fixed at the

North Dock and various parts of the harbour ; but as

these are liable to inaccuracies, the commissioners

availed themselves of a new bar gauge, invented and
" ragistered by Thomas Meik, C. E., engineer to the

commissioners of the river Wear, Sunderland, and
Henry Watson, brass-founder, Newcastle." It is

erected on a jetty of the south pier, at the entrance of

the South Docks ; the face of the gauge being

sufficiently elevated, and in such a position as to be

visible from the entrance of the harbour to the Ham
Sand, including the river entrances to tiie South Docks.

In a well, of similar depth to the water on the bar, a

float is suspended by a copper cord, which is carried

* Previous to this application, circular dials wurc used in tide-

gauges for similar purposes, nmuborcd with all the figures hotween
the depth of liigh and low tide, and indicated by a pointer like that
of aclock : the superiority of the invention above described is assumed
to be its allowing figures of iucompaiably greater size to be used than

VOL. II.

over a spiral cone in an upper story of the building

:

and, by a simple apparatus, as the tide rises or falls,

the rollers, on which a gauze web travels, are moved.

On this web are painted in large figures the various

depths from high to low water ; and as the web works,

two fixed pointers indicate the number of feet and half

feet on the bar at any hour of the tide. By day, the

figures are shown white on a black ground ; by night,

they appear distinctly lighted up, the ground still re-

maining dark. A white transparent varnish is used

for the figures, and an opaque black for the ground.*

In the same building Mr. Meik has constructed, for

the commissioners, a self-registering tide-gauge, similar

to those used in other ports. A sheet of i^aper,

properly ruled for the purpose, and of sufficient size to

contain the variations of the tide for J 4 days, is fixed

on a cylinder to which a revolving movement is given

by a time-piece; and a pencil, attached to a rack

worked by a float and wire as in the bar gauge, traces

the diagram on the paper.

Whilst the above works were being effected for im-

proving the mouth of the harbour, simultaneous efforts

were made for deepening the channel in the interior.

A longitudinal section of the river, drawn by Mr.

Murray in 1847, shewed some remarkable changes in

the bed, and corresponding improvements in the

heights of the tide, affording, at the same time, in-

creased facility for the drainage of the countrji- around.

Dredging has been carried on to a great extent, and

from 100,000 to 150,000 tons of ballast, &c., have been

raised from the river annually. By this means the

berths for laden ships are kept level, with from 8 to

15 feet of water at spring ebbs. The tides extend as

far as Biddick Ford, about 8j miles up the river, and

to the mere stones north and south. The harbour is

divided into four sections, the fh'st or lowest of which

extends from the piers to the Ferry-boat Landing, and

is appropriated j^rincipally to laden ships from the

lower drops, and to ships ready for sea ; the second

extends from the Ferry-boat Landing to the bridge,

and contains deep water berths for the ships loaded at

tlie drops above; the third extends from the bridge

to tlie Wreath Quay end, and chiefly contains loading

berths for the different staiths, and for ships waiting

turn ; and the fourth, or highest division, extending

could be contained on a dial of the previous construction. This ren-

ders it very applicable also for clock dials, railway signals, or any
other devices which require to be distinctly seen both hij day and night

;

whilst it is not easily damaged by the elements or by fracture.

4 A
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from the Wreath Quay end to Pallion, is for light ships

and those hxying up for the winter. Mooring chains

are laid in the river, and posts on the shore ; but some

of the latter are private property, and their use is

consequently charged for. Since the destruction caused

by the flood of January, 1841, (see page 407) stronger

moorings, some of them double, have been laid down.

The whole are under the superintendence of a harbour-

master and assistants.

In January, 1843, Mr. Murray propoimded a plan

for converting the lower part of the harbour into a

floatuig dock, by placing a wall of masonrj% with a

waste wear and flood or sluicing gates, together with

piers and navigable gates between them, running

diagonally upwards and across the river from the high

Coble Slip to the Folly End, and from that downwards

to the Sand Point called the Ham Sand, enclosing a

tidal basia on the northern side of the river. These

works were intended to pen up or impound at least 7

feet of water above the low water mark of spring tides

at the Folly Point. One hmidred acres of water would

thus be rendered available to shipping, producing at

Pallion a depth of 5 feet in the channel, and in the

vicinity of the gates an average depth of 12 feet, which

was considered sufficient to afford every facility for

moving ships out of the berths at the different coal

staiths, and to keep the laden vessels afloat. Other

improvements, such as di-edging away iiart of the

Potatoe Garth, and forming a tidal basin for steam

tugs, were included in the plan. Founded on this

scheme, "A Bill for improving the port of Sunderland,

by procuring a more uniform depth of water therein,

and for constructing a tidal basin and other works, for

the better accommodation of the shipping trading to

the said port," was presented to parliament ; and a

petition on its behalf was adopted at a public meeting

held Apiil 25, 1843. On the 27th, however, Mr. James

Walker, Admiralty engineer, issued a report unfavour-

able to Mr. Murray's plan. Early in May, a report

appeared from Mr. Rendell, in which, while approving

of ]\Ii-. Mm-ray's scheme generally, he advised that it

should be more extended, by excavating the Potatoe

Gai-th, and removing the upper part of the south pier

fmlher back; but at a meeting held on the 11th of

May, the commissioners agreed that, in consequence

of Mr. Walker's report, and the opinion of the

Admiralty that great alterations must be made in the

plan for a floating dock, the bill should be withdrawn.

In a report, September, 1852, Mr. Meik observes,

"By cutting off projecting points that impede the free

flow of the tidal currents, and by filling up indents

which lesson their force, the course of the stream is

brought into a series of gentle curves, to the greater

facility of the navigation, and to the estabUshment of

a permanent deep-water channel." In conformity with

these principles, the projecting points which he pro-

poses to cut off are, the upper end of Pallion Quay,

the abi-upt apex of rock at Raven's Wheel, and the

upper portion of the Wreath Quay ; whilst all bend s

and lateral spaces are to be enclosed with easily-cui'ved

walls. Where sands exist on the convex shore, the

water space or river channel is to be reduced to an

uniform width. Amongst other wastes, within the flow

of the tide, proposed to be enclosed, was that called

the Southwick Salt Grass, near Ayre's Quay.

The plan for the new quay line was submitted to the

Admiralty; and at a meeting of the Wear commis-

sioners, October 15, 1855, a letter was read from Cap-

tain Veitch, announcing his approval. In a report

read to the meeting, pointing out the necessity of in-

creased harbour-room, Mr. Meik says :

—

" During last summer, from an uncommon continuance of favour-

able weather, a steady and most profitable trade has been carried on.

The usual change, however, from the sun crossing the line, brought

a large fleet of light vessels, and at the same time caused the detention

of the laden ones.

"These light vessels crowded into the harbour and South Dock to

such an extent, that on Tuesday last the black ball announced that

the South Dock could accommodate uo more, there being 1-44 vessels

in the dock, 56 of which were laden ; consequently all those vessels

that subsequently entered were obliged to find berthage in the already

overcrowded harbour. This continued to such an extent, that on

Thursday the harbour, with berths but imperfectly prepared, from

the dredger haviug been so much engaged at the lower part of the

harbour, had to stow away 143 laden and 270 light vessels—in all

410 vessels—some of considerable burden.

" It is evident that the South Dock has hitherto, in a great measure,

met the increase of trade ; but, at a time like the present, the harbour

has again to accommodate as many vessels as it had to do before the

dock was made, and there is little doubt such will again be the case

on a further increase in size of the dock.

" It is also well known that 400 to 500 vessels, crowded into a tidal

harbour such as this, of only SO or 100 acres area, with a necessary

open passage through it, must suffer more or less damage and con-

siderable risk."

Ml'. Meik further proposed that along the line of the

intended new quayage, and throughout the whole ex-

tent of the harbour, the " mooring-posts " and

"bollards" should, when fixed, be free for the use of

all vessels, and stated that his plan would give accom-

modation for 175 to 200 vessels to moor in security.

He concluded by suggesting that the wide space called

the "Rack," immediately above the Wreath Quay,

should be appropriated for the convenience of the large

screw coUiers which regulaily load in tlie harboui*.
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The motion for an application to parliament relative

to the projected quay-line, was, however, after some

discussion, withdrawn.

It was stated, at the visit of the Tidal Harbour

Commissioners, October 31, 1845, that there are about

150 river commissioners, a great many of whom are

ship-owners, and some of them have been sailors.

Vacancies are filled up by the remaining commissioners.

Their services are gratuitous; they meet about once a

month; and the average attendance is from 15 to 20.

The river is surveyed once a year by the engineer and

thirteen of the board. The commissioners levy the

follo%\ang :

—

Coal Dues.—On all coals and cinders shipped within

the limits of the port of Sunderland, the amount is

fixed by the commissioners on the first Wednesday in

every July, but must not exceed Gd. per chaldron.

The rate of duty in 1851 was ^^d.; in July, 1852, it

was 2jrf. per chaldron. The gross amount of this due

in 1852 was 9,379/. lis. Zd.

Tonnage Duty.—On every ship entering the port

(except ships entering for safety only, and departing

without taking any fresh loading), \d. per ton for each

voyage, not exceeding three within the j^ear.

Li'jhthouse and Rcfurje Due.—On each vessel entering

the port once in every voyage, \s., and \d. for every

two tons of the burthen of such ship, liable to the

other tonnage duties ; and, if entering for refuge only,

\\d. per ton.

The gross amount of these duties in 1852 was

2,759A Us. Id.*

These dues are leviable by the commissioners, for

the improvement of the harbour and river. The limits

of the jurisdiction of the commissioners comprise the

river Wear to Biddick Ford, and extend seaward to five

fathoms at low water, from Souter Point to Ryhope
Dean.

The sum of 35,000/. is charged on the harbour dues,

at interest varying from 4 to 4^ per cent. : there is no

other security.

The other revenues of the commissioners amounted,

in 1852, to 111/. S.s. Qd.

* When the lighthuusc and tounagu due whs enforced, the ship-

owners contended that it was contrary to the act of parliament ; and

it was at length agreed to submit a joint case to Mr. Fitzroy Kelly,

solicitor-general, who replied, December 24, 1845 :

—

"1. I am of opinion that the words 'entering the said port for

safety and refuge only, ' are to be understood in their popular and

ordinary sense, and render such vessels only liable to the duty of IJd.

per ton as enter the port to avoid some immediate danger at sea,

either from the weather, or an enemy, or on accident to the ship.

" I think that the tonnage duty imposed in page 42, is chargeable

RIVER WEAR WATCH ACT.

On November 14, 1837, the watch committee of the

council of the borough of Sunderland appointed a

police force for the borough under the 84th sec. of 5

and 6 Will. IV., c. 76, upon which event the powers
vested in the Commissioners acting in execution of the

local Act, 7 Geo. IV., c. 120, then in force for the

establishing and maintaining a watch on the river,

ceased. The council from thenceforth levied a borough-
rate, and maintained a police force throughout the

borough, with the exception of the river, although the

shipowners were not only rated to the borough-rate as

inhabitant householders, but were also rated upon and
paid to the amount of nearly 400/. per annum on their

shippijig property, which was then rated as stock in

trade. This state of affairs continued till 1839, when
the thefts and depredations upon the river Wear in-

creased to a very great extent; and within a few weeks
three fires occurred on board of vessels in the river, by
which much damage was done.

To remedy these evils, the ship-owners applied for

en act, which was passed, and received the royal assent

June 4, 1,840, " for establishing and maintaining a

proper and eifective watch on the river Wear, in the

port or haven of Sunderland near the Sea, in the

county of Dm-ham." The management was vested in

165 commissioners therein named and their successors;

the qualification being the possession of shipping

registered at the port of Sunderland of the value of

1000/., with a residence in the borough of Sunderland,

or within seven miles thereof. The officers are a clerk,

with a yearly salary of 30/. ; a treasurer, with a yearly

salary of 20/.; one superintendent of police (who is,

and must be by the act, the superintendent of the

borough police), at a salary of 50/., ; one inspector, at

a weekly salary of 27.v.; four captains at weekly salaries

of 20s.; and 17 boatmen at weekly salaries of 18«.

The above is the establishment from September 1 to

May 1. In summer the force is reduced to 10 men.
The ijroperty of the commissioners consists of two
floating powerful fire-engines, each worth about 800/.,

upon all vessels entering the port (fur three voyages), except for

refuge or safety only, whether they enter for or with a cargo, or to

obtain provisions, or a crew, or any other pnrpose.

"2. lam of opinion that vessels having paid tonnage dnty for

tlitee voyages, are not for the remainder of the year exempt from

safety or refuge duty, if they enter the port for safety or refuge only.

" 3. The meaning of the safety or refuge clause being once ascer-

tained, and constituting a single and excepted case, every entry into

the port for any other purpose whatsoever is a voyage, and to the

extent of tlii'ec in a year, renders the vessel liable to tonnage duty." .
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and four boats and equipments. Their jurisdiction is

between Sunderland pier-head and Deptford ; and, for

putting the act in force, they levy tonnage dues. On
the first voyage in every year of each vessel entering

or passing out of the port, any sum not exceeding Id.

for every ton builhen. The rate levied has, since

Sept. 1, 1852, been only ^d. per ton. The gross amount

of this due ui 1852 was 1,251/. 4s. Id. There is no

debt charged on these dues.

The other revenues of the commissioners, in 1852,

amounted to 30/. 5s. Id.

The services of the river police have been of im-

mense advantage in rendering assistance to vessels,

&c., which had broken adrift ; in cases of fire, as well

on board ships as in ship-buildiug yards and other

places on shore adjacent to the river; in saving lives;

in picking up and restoring to the owners vast quantities

of timber and other valuable propertj' which otherwise

would have drifted to sea ; in putting a stop to depre-

dations ; and in checking the practice of casting ballast

into the river, which, before the establishment of the

force, prevailed to a very serious extent. The fol-

lowing is a statement of the services of the police :

—
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Tyne Harbour Liijht, and Holy Idand Beaconage

Dues.—For Tyne Harbour Lights, British vessels of

100 tons, Ud.; under 200 tons, 1,9, \d.; under 300

tons, Is. 3d. ; above 300 tons, Is. 5d.; foreign vessels,

2s. The Trinity House are entitled to levy for the

buoys and beacons at the Holy Isle, 2d. per vessel

under 200 tons, ^d. above 200 tons. In practice,

instead, they levy is. per loaded vessel passing the

Fairway buoy at the Holy Isle. The gross amount

levied in this harbour, in 1852, was 590/. 2s. lOd.

TiiE Docks.—The North Dock and Sunderland

Dock, being the property of a trading company, levy

<lues only on such vessels as use the property of the

company.

Summary of the gross amounts of the dues, so far

as they can be ascertained, levied on ships, or on

goods carried in ships, within the Customs Port of

Sunderland, in 1852:

—

River Wear Commissiouers £12,139 3 10

„ Wiitch Commissioners 1,251 4 1

Tlie lessee of tlie Bisliop of Durham 578

Trinity House of Newcastle 599 13 SJ

Do. do. Seaham 282 2 7

Whitby Harbour Tmstees 1,353 6 8

Bridlington Harl)our Commissioners G68 12 7

Do. do. do. Seaham 188 13 2

Warden and Assistants of Dover Harbour.. 359 10 101

Do. do. do. Seaham.. 110 4 5]^

Ramsgate Harbour Trustees 460 18 2.V

Do. do. Seaham 110 4 5^
Russia Company 16 3 10

£18,117 18

In November, 1839, Sunderland was declared, by

order in council, to be a fit and proper place for the

no authority could be showu for levying them on the inhabitants of

Sunderland. The latter, he admitted, was certainly a creek of New-
castle ; but it was only a member of the port for fiscal puriioses.

After a careful summing up by the judge, the jury returned a verdict

for the plaintiffe.

* In a letter from a correspondent at Sunderland, dated June 13,

1755, to the Gentleman's Magazine, " an account is given of ships

that loaded here within the year 1762, transcribed from the custom-

house books, viz. :

—

la the quarter ending Coasters. Forei^ Parts. Total,

l.ady-day ... 370 ... 15 ... 385

Midsum. ... 1303 ... 64 ... 1367

Michael. ... 1271 ... 65 ... 1336

Christmas ... 480 ... 29 ... 609

3424 178 3597
" So great is the trade of Sunderland. Many of these are from 100

to 60O tons burthen ; and it is a question whether there be ten ports

in the woild wher» a greater number of ships, of ecpuil burthen are

loaded in the same time. la 1753, there belonged to this port only

importation of goods from parts within the limits of

the East India Company's charter. It has long been

ranked as a third-class port ; but as this position does

not entitle it to a Custom-house establishment ade-

quate to its trade, efforts have recently been made to

induce the Customs authorities to constitute it a first-

class port.* That it is fully entitled to that position

is shown by a comparison of the amount of tonnage,

in the foreign and colonial trades, entered inwards and

outwards at Sunderland in 1853, with that at Glasgow

(a first-class port), which stood as follows :

—

Sunderland

Glasgow

668,565 tons.

422,474 „

Excess in favour of Sunderland 246,091 ,.

In the same year, the tonnage similarly employed at

Bristol was 283,223 tons ; at Leith, 209,400 ; and at

Dublin (all first-class ports), 143,235; making a total

of 035,898 tons, or 32,007 less than Suuderland alone.

In the coaling trade, 1,330,140 tons were cleared
;

while from the six first-class ports of Liverpool, Hull,

Glasgow, Dublin, Bristol, and Leith, the amount was

only 983,334 tons.

COAL TRADE.

Coal is mentioned in the Boldon Book as being used by

the smith of Bishopwearmouth. Previous to the reign

of Richard II., the inhabitants of the county of Durham
had obtained no privilege to load or unload coals on

the south side of the Tyne; but in 1384, that monai'ch,

in testimony of his devotion to St. Cuthbert, and for

other reasons, granted leave to export the produce of

the mines in the county, without paj'ing any duties to

about 190 ships ; and it is to be observed that this great number of

vessels are chiefly loaded with coals, which is the staple commodity

of the place, and the produce of the country, whence a double

advantage arises ; for great sums of money are brought in, and many

people are employed. In the summer season, there are also about

10,000 tons of lime and limestone carried from this river, in small

sloops of about 20 or 30 tons, which are not included in the above

numbers. I am informed there loaded at this port, between Lady-

day and Michaelmas, 1748, 2,497 sail of ships, and from July 1 to

August 1, 1740, 626 sail ; and that either in the year 1762, or 1763,

there was loaded here about 297,000 Winchester chaldrons of coals.

The amount of the duties of goods, exported and imported, from and

to foreign parts, communihus annis, is about 10,000/. And it is cer-

tified that about 200,000 Winchester clmldrons are canried coastways,

whence there is a duty of 5s. a chaldron on delivery, amounting to

65,000/. The whole revenue arising to the crown from the imports,

exports, and produce of Suudorlan<l, may be reckoned about 76,000/.

per annum, so that possibly, with respect to the duty arising from

it, it may be the 6th, or at least the 7th port in the kingdom."
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the coiiioration of Newcastle. The privilege appears

to have been speedily exex'cised, as, in the rolls of

AMiitby Abbey, 1396, William Kede, of Sunderland, is

mentioned, with others, as bringing coals in ships to

that monastry, at the rate of 3*-. id. per chaldron. In

1421, it was enacted that the keels or lighters, carrying

coals to ships, should measure exactly 20 chaldrons, to

prevent fraud in the duties payable to the king. By
an office erected September 22, 1623, for the surveying

of coals taken to London and other places, for which

IJ. per chaldron was granted, 3,200/. per annum was

raised; and on the 16th February, 1624, a proclamation

was made for surveying sea-coals at Newcastle, Sun-

derland, and Blyth.

The civil war brought the capabilities of Sunderland,

as a coal port, into impi'ecedeiited prominence. In

1644, an order was made by the parliament that all

persons of their party should have leave to trade for

coals either to Sunderland or Blyth, both of which

places remained in their possession. About the same

period, an imposition of As. per chaldron, Sunderland

measure, and after the rate of about 2s. per London
chaldron, was laid on all coals shipped coastways

during six months, which, with other circumstances,

had the effect of raising the price in London to the

enormous sum of 4/. per chaldron.

In 16G1, the hoastmen of Newcastle procured an im-

port of Is. per chaldron on all coals exported from

Sunderland, with the intention of balancing the trade

of the two ports.

From 1704 to 1710, the average annual exportation of

coals from this port was 05,760 chaldrons. On Novem-

ber 3, 1727, an agreement not to sell coals to any fitter

for less than lis. Oaf. per chaldron was signed by the Earl

of Scarborough, Henry Lambton, John Hedwoilh,

Thomas Smith, Thomas Allan, and Nicholas Lambton,

Esqrs., Mrs. Jane Wharton, and Mr. William Donnison,

coal-owners of the county, and by 26 fitters. In 1758,

the river Wear vend of coals was 180,449| chaldrons,

of which Henry Lambton, Esq., vended 19,213| chal-

drons, and John Tempest, Esq., 20,866 chaldrons; the

highest amount being 38,2105- chaldrons by Mrs. Jen-

nison and Co. In 1770, the export was 213,645 chal-

drons; in 1790, 298,077; and in 1800,303,459:^. Since

that period the coal trade of the port has continued to

increase (see vol. i., p. 185); and the opening of the

Docks has given an additional impetus to its progress.

The following is a statement of the number of ships

cleared, and the quantity of coals exported duiing the

year 1854 :

—

British vessels.
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Milium Terrace, in the same townsliip ; of Burdis and

Co., Carley, Fulwell; and of T. Bowes, High South-

wick. The exportation is chiefly to the Yorkshire

ports, and those on the eastern coast of Scotland.

SHIP-BUILDING.

From the entrance of the harbour up to Hylton Ferry,

the banks of the "Wear, on both sides, are crowded

with ship-building yards, docks, &c., presenting, in a

most striking point of view, an exemplification of the

enterprise and industry which have so efi'ectually con-

duced to the pi-osperity of the port. Scarcely an

opening on the shore of the river, or a nook or crevice

in the limestone rocks which overhang it, can be

found, in which a ship, of large or small dimensions,

is not in course of erection. Sunderland is em-

phatically the first ship-building port in the world.

There can be no doubt that ship-building eai'ly

formed an important part of the business of the port

;

but the first record on the subject is that relative to

Thomas MenvUl, wlio built ships at Hendon in 1346.

In the inventory of Ralph Lambton, Esq., January 10,

I59.'5, mention is made of 3 salt panns, valued at 10/.,

and of " 2 keiles wh. kables, ankers, and all other

fumiter, xxx/." Little, however, is Imown of the pro-

gress of ship-building till the latter end of the last

century, when ships of from nine to ten keels burthen

began to be built. The launch of the Lord Duncan,

on March 2, 179(J, from Southwick Quay, was long

afterwards remembered as an important event ; she

having been the largest vessel ever built in the port

;

her extreme length was 143 feet 10 inches, her breadth

89 feet, and her admeasurement 925 13/94 tons.

The North Sands, Monkwearmoutli Shore, pre-

sented a favourable site for the operations of ship-

wrights; and many fine vessels have been there

constractcd. Ships were also built behind the south

pier, where they were launched into the sea. The
first dry dock was at the Jack Daw Quay, near the

present site of the Lambton drops. Messrs. John and

• A writer in a recent periodical supplies us with the curious in-

formation that " Marinera term a vessel from the Tyne a Geordie, and
from the Wear a Jamie. At sea, they can distinguish the one from
the other by the different colours of their bows, sides, stems, &c.

And right worthy sea-tubs these same Gcordies and Jamies arc in a

gale of wind, cither weathering the storm like the ger-falcon, or gal-

lantly riding it out lively and buoyant as a wild-duck ! And right

worthy, too, are the tars who man our dingy navy—alert aloft or

alow—skilled with steady eye, and heart, and hand, to steer the good
craft, with never a j/aip, over the tempestuous waste of waters—cool,

Philip Laiug were the first to introduce the novelty of

a floating dock on the river. They purchased an old

man-of-war, taken during the war with the Dutch, and,

after cutting away all her superfluous timbers, con-

verted her into a very useful floating dock for the re-

pair of vessels. She was stationed on the north side

of the river, a little below the bridge. In the beginning

of the present century, there were seventeen ship-

building yards on the Wear, between Hylton Ferry

and the North Sands. Surtees enumerates 24 in

March, 1814, at which time thei'e were foiu' dry docks

and four floating docks. According to the same
authority, there were building, in December, 1810, 37

ships, with an aggregate tonnage of 8,410; in Novem-
ber, 18II, 32 ships, of about 8,020 tons; and in

November, 1812, 37 ships, of about 8,437 tons, giving

an average of 228 tons.

But though thus vigorous and enterprisiDg in the

prosecution of their business, the ship -builders of the

Wear do not appear generally to have been possessed

of much scientific knowledge respecting it. Even in

1804, although a ship of 12 or 14 keels was kept on

the stocks eighteen months or two years, her construc-

tion was far from excellent in proportion to the time

occupied. The form, in general, was exceedingly rude

;

the proportion of breadth of beam to the length of the

ship being not more than 1 to 3j, subjecting them to

the scornful designation of tubs* One vessel, of 129

tons, built in 1805, was GO feet long, and 22 broad, or

exactly one-third! £0*0rts were, however, made to

attain a more graceful, as well as a more useful stan-

dard ; and a vessel built at Southwick in 1810, by Mr.

Benjamin Heward, the "Nicholson Nicholson," of Ki

keels, was considered of so fine a model that the

builder was presented with a piece of plate as a testi-

monial of high appreciation.

The degree of perfection in construction would seem

to have been regulated according to price. Hence it

came to be derisively said that the Sunderland shiji-

bmlders could " either liuild a ship or ma/cc one." So

recently as 1835, when Lloyd's Registry was instituted,

courageous, and collected, amid the many images of death, the

lurking perils, and the sudden emergencies, that ever beset the

nautical life ! Oh, ye sons and daughters of aftluence and luxury, as

you sit at ease and safety by the cheerful sea-coal fire, and

' When you do hear

The rain and wind beat dark December,'

think gratefully upon the hardy blue jackets, who are even then

braving the boisterous storm, and buffeting the nocturnal billow to

contribute to your comfort on shore !

"
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Sunderland was not found worthy to claim any ex-

emption from the rule that " no ship hiiilt north of

Yarmouth should have a classsification of more than

ten years." The j)rogress towards perfection, however,

since that time, has been most rajnd. The proportion

between the length and breadth has been gradually

changing, up to the present time, when a ship's length

is ordinarily ik to 5^ times that of its breadth, an im-

provement which not only adds greatly to beauty of

model, but to practical excellence in sailing. The

shipping of the Wear, therefore, will now bear a com-

parison with those of any other port ; and the builders

have found their reward in an increased demand for

ships. Oak and beech, with English elm, were, a few

years ago, the kinds of timber generally used ; the

decks being of Baltic red wood. To this succeeded

American yellow pine ; and for the general purposes

of shipbuilding, African teak, mahogany, green heart,

and East India teak, have been gradually introduced.

Hempen rope, previously to 1820, was almost univer-

sally used for cables, but has since been graduallj'

superseded by iron chain cables.

Amongst the smallest ships built at Sunderland may

be mentioned one of about three keels, constructed,

preNdous to the year 1800, on Wearmouth Green, by a

carpenter during his leisure hours. When finished,

she was dragged, bj^ way of the Keelmen's Lane, to

Southwick, a distance of above a mile, to be launched-

Another, of 15 tons, was built in 1817, in a yard be-

liind the Subscription Library, Bishopwearmouth.

She was conveyed, with great parade, on a wheeled

carriage, to the south pier to be launched, by a well-

known running fitter named Willie Harrison, who acted

as pilot during her dry voyage down High-street.* A
more wonderful voyage, however, followed, when this

tiny bark actually sailed for the West Indies, in tow

of a large ship called the "Janus." From this vessel

she was parted in a storm, the fury of which she out-

lived, and actually arrived at her port three weeks

before her bulky companion. This voyage was justly

considered at the time as a very extraordinary and

daring feat of seamanship.

One reason for the smallness of the shipping for-

merly built on the Wear was the difficulty and danger

experienced in launching them, from the narrowness

and shallowness of the river. Previous to the laimch

• At the Bridge Hotel, aud sutne other places where large assem-

blages of refpectable parties had congregated to view the sight,

Willie, who coutiaued to heave the lead, declared that the vessel

had got aground ; and it was only by a subscription amongst the

spectators that she could be washed off again.

of the Lord Duncan, noticed above, the bed of the

river had to be deepened before her. Large ships

were also compelled to take in a part of their loading

at sea, from want of water on the bar. The judicious

improvements made by successive engineers have,

however, nearly overcome those apparently insur-

mountable obstacles ; and ships of large size, for the

East and West India trades, have for many years been

built on the Wear. On March 4, 1851, a fine frigate-

built ship called the " Chowringhee," of 1,000 tons

burthen, new measure, and classed A 1. 13 years, was

launched from the yard of Mr. William Pile, jua.

North Sands. Her dimensions were, length of

keel and rake, 170 feet; extreme breadth, 31 j feet;

depth of hold, 21|- feet. She was the first vessel built

in Sunderland whose length was 5 times her breadth,

and the largest ever before built on the Wear. Mr. Pile

launched a still larger vessel, namely, 1,200 tons bur-

then, on the 4th of April, in the following year : her

dimensions were, length of keel and rake, 188 feet;

length over all, 220 feet ; extreme breadth, 35 feet

;

depth of hold, 23 feet. Another magnificent barque,

classed A 1, 13 years, of the burthen of 1,500 tons,

was launched from the building-yard of Messrs. Thomp-
son and Sons, North Shore, on the 24th February,

1853; her extreme length being 158 feet; breadth,

32 feet; depth of hold, 212- feet; height between

decks, 7 feet. Besides being constructed in the

most scientific manner, she was strengthened in-

ternally by strong transverse bars of iron.

The construction of iron ships, which has been for

some time extensively carried on in the Tyne, has

also been commenced at Sunderland. The first iron

ship, 100 tons burthen, was commenced in May, 1851,

near the drops of the Monkwearmouth colliery.

The number of ship-building yards on the Wear is

now 72. The tonnage built in 1840 was 00,706. The

progress of the trade dm-ing the succeeding years will

be seen by the following table :

—

Ships. Tons. Average.

There were built in 1841, 141 ... 40,3;»6 ... 2S6J

1842, 107 ... 26,837 ... 250J
1843, 86 ... 21,377 ... 251i

„ 1844, 100 ... 27,131 ...
271i

„ 184.5, 131 ... 38,200 ... 292

1S46, 133 ... 41,835 ... 314J

„ 1847, 148 ... 46,901 ... 316J

„ 1848, 142 ... 37.878 ... 2.;6|

„ 1849, 155 ... 41,333 ... 286

„ 18-50, 158 ... 51,374 ... 325^

„ 1851, 146 ... 61,823 ... 355

1852, 142 ... 56,045 ... 390J

1853, 152 ... 68,479 ... 4-50
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Of the shipping built on the Wear in 1850, 78 were

sold to other ports; in 1851, 81 ; in 1852, 94; and in

1853, 112.

SHIPPING, &c.

In vol. i., p. 191-2, some particulars have been given

relative to the shipping of Sunderland. In 1797, 488

vessels belonged to the port, with a tonnage of 03,287,

or an average of 129^ tons; in 1801, 518 vessels, with

a tonnage of 79,795, averaging 154 tons ; in 1811, 519

vessels, with a tonnage of 72,588, averaging 131 tons;

in 1821, 557 vessels, witha tonnage of 81,888, averaging

147 tons; and in 1831, 626 vessels, with a tonnage of

120,711, averaging 192f tons. Twenty yeare after-

wards, namely, in 1851, there were 1,003 vessels, with

a tonnage of 207,804, averaging 207 tons.* In the fol-

lowing year, the number of ships had increased to

1,025, carrying 210,035 tons, and averaging 211. In

1853, there were 992 ships, carrj-ing 212,914 tons,

and averaging 214f. In 1854, there were 97 ships, of

and under 50 tons, can-ying 2,955 tons, and 803 ships

above that burthen, carrying 205,527; the whole

averaging 234j tons. There were 9 foreign-built

ships, of 1,927 tons, registered in the port during the

year. The number of sailing vessels registered De-

cember 31, 1855, was 1,000, carrying 234,910 tons.

By the retui-ns of 1829, Sunderland was the fourth

port of the kingdom for ships and tonnage, being next

after Newcastle. In consequence of the subsequent

division of the Tyne into the ports of Newcastle and

Shields, Sunderland became the third port in the

kingdom, being exceeded only by those of London
and Liverpool. By the returns of 1854, however, the

tonnage of the port of Shields exceeded that of Sun-

derland by 14,228 tons; in December, 1855, the excess

was 7,099 tons.

Shipping companies have been established in Sun-

derland fi-ora time to time, with various degrees of

success. There are none at present in existence.!

There are in Sunderland nine marine insurance

associations, two for maritime passengers' life and
effects, and one for master mariners.

* The oldest ship belonging: to tlie port, the "Old Concord," was
built in 1772, and measured 168 tons. Having been dismasted and
water-loggcd in returning timber-laden from the Baltic in the autimin
gales of 1851, she was pickedup and towed into Scarborough. On the

4th of January, 1852, her hull was sold by auction for £391, amidst
the cheers of the audience.

t The sale of the Wear Shipping Company's vessels took place

April 20, 1843, in the presence of from 600 to 600 persons. The

VOL. n.

Steam Vessels.—It was formerly customary, during

contrary winds, to employ a number of persons on the

piers to haul shipping in and out of the harbour by
means of ropes. The introduction of steam-tugs, some
years ago, has totally superseded this plan ; the alter-

ation in the form of the south pier rendering the con-

tinuance of this mode impracticable. There were, in

the year ending December 31, 1854, 37 steam-vessels

registered under 50 tons, containing an aggregate of

642 tons, and four vessels above that tonnage, con-

taining 1,690 tons.

Pilots.—The pilots of Sunderland are appointed

by the Trinity House of Newcastle-upon-Tyne, and
use the common " coble" in their avocation. At
the conclusion of the last, and commencement of the

present century, it was usual for keelmen and other

watermen to pilot ships in and out of the harbour, for

which purpose they used "foy-boats," of light and

elegant construction. This practice being exceedingly

detrimental to the regular pilots, the Trinity House,

in December, 1803, appointed a ruler of pilots for the

port ; but, saj's Mackenzie, " he was violently and
perseveringly obstructed in the execution of his of&ce

by the ship-owners, who discarded the licensed pilots

and employed their own servants [in the foy-boats].

At this crisis, the Trinity House acted without energy

or authority ; and the licensed pilots, being reduced

to a state of starvation, in 1805 revolted from obedience

to the house. Mr. Brown, the ruler, was recalled in

May, 1806, having received from the house, above

what he got from the pilots, 293/. 10*., and was now
voted a pension of 20/. per annum. The law charges

during the contest amounted to 106/. is."

In August, 1839, several individuals were brought

before the magistrates at Sunderland, charged with

having piloted ships or vessels out of the port, they

not being branch pilots, and thus rendering themselves

liable to a jienalty not exceeding 20/., nor less than

1 0/. The defence set up was, that the masters and

crews had piloted the ships themselves, and only re-

quired assistance in some cases. One person was

proved to have piloted a ship over the bar ; but some

"Beta" sold for 880/.; the "Gamma," 1,185/.: the "Delta," for

1,370/.; the "Grove," for 1,345/. ; the "Coadjutor," for 1,100/.; the

"Globe," for l.S.SS/. ; the "Thomas and Margaret, for 645/. ; and the

"Myrtle," for 890/. ; total, 8,650/. After the above, the "Hcpsa," a
ship not belonging to the company, was sold for 1,315/.; the whole

forming the most extensive sale of shipping property that had ever

taken place in Sunderland.

4 s
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dispute arising about the limits of the port, the magis-

trates could not decide whether he had violated the

law. Ou the 25th July, 1843, the shipowners of Suu-

derlaud passed a resolution condemnatory of the

control of the Trinity House in appointing pilots.

This appears to have arisen, in some degree, from

Thomas Mallahar, an unlicensed j)ilot, having been

fined 10/. by the magistrates. Litigations on the same

subject have fi-equently occm-red ; but the legal right

to license pilots on the part of the Newcastle Trinity

House remains undistiu-bed.

Life-boats.—Two life-boats were stationed at the

mouth of Sunderland harbour soon after the loss of a

very valuable vessel in 1799. One of them is now kept

at the north j)ier and one at Heudon, imder the charge

of the harbour-master. They were constructed on a

plan suggested by John Davison, Esq., for which he

received, through his Royal Highness the Duke of

Sussex, the medal of the Humane Society. In cases

of ship^Teck, they are manned with ten rowers each,

who are mostly volunteers, and whose services have

often been the means of saving life and propertj'.* A
new life-boat, built by Mr. Wake, was satisfactorily

tried in July, 185i. Two houses of shelter for the

pilots have been granted by the life-boat committee ;

one on the south side, immediately adjoining the life-

boat house, and another at the North Dock.

NORTH DOCK.

Notwithstanding the extensive improvements which

were made in the harbom- of Sunderland, it was still

inadequate to the rapidly increasing number of vessels

belonging to the port, and the gi'eat expansion of its

trade. The subject of dock accommodation became,

therefore, a matter of vital importance. A proposal

for forming a floating dock was submitted to the

River Wear Commissioners, in 1816, by Mr. WUliam
Bell, who, after stating the method by which a fund

might be raised for the pm-pose, and estimating the

revenue that would arise from it, concluded, with a

wisdom and foresight which subsequent events have

verified, by asserting that, " When the period shall

• It would be impossible to recouut all the deeds of daring which

have been accomplished by means of the life-boats, or to enumerate

the names of the brave men who have manned them. The most re-

cent recognition of such services was in the case of Mr. Joseph Hodg-
son, carver, of Sunderland, who, in January, 1856, received the silver

medal of the Eoyal National Life-boat Institution, John Street,

Adelphi, London, in testimony of his extraordinary exertions, extend-

arrive that we shall have a floating or wet dock at

Sunderland (for I am certain it will take place at some

future period), the property in the parish of Sunder-

land will rapidl}' increase in value, and the east part

of the parish, which is at present of comparatively little

estimation; will then become of considerable im-

portance ; the collieries upon the Wear will become
more extensive, in proportion as vessels will be en-

corn-aged to trade to the port ; and Sunderland will

become the first port in the kingdom, as far as respects

the coal trade, as it is a fact, admitted by all sea-faring

men, that should the harbour of Sunderland ever be

made a good one, its locality as a sea coal port wiU

give it the palm of pre-eminence over every other."

In 1829, the project of establishing wet docks was

again brought before the commissioners: but as that

body considered the application of their income to be

limited to the preservation of the river, port, and haven,

they declined entering upon the subject as a board,

leaving the matter perfectly open to any body of ad-

venturers inclined to undertake the project. Still the

necessity of some increase of accommodation continued

to press upon the attention of those interested in the

trade and prosperity of the port. The harbour being

frequently choaked up with shipping, great danger and

confusion were experienced, more especially duiiug

floods. The owners of vessels consequently prefeiTed

loading in the Tyne ; whilst strenuous efi"orts were

made to divert the coal trade in other directions.

Seaham Harboiu' was formed by the Marquis of Lon-

donderry; by the Stockton and Darlington railway,

coals were conveyed to the Middlesborough drops on

the Tees ; the improvement of Hartlepool harbour was

proposed ; i-ailways were suggested for connecting the

richest coal-field in the county with the Tyne ; and it

was recommended to convert Jarrow Slake into a wet

dock. The inhabitants of Sunderland were naturally

alai-med at these movements ; and a public meeting

was convened on the 5th of September, 1831, to con-

sider the propriety of building commodious wet docks.

Another application was made to the commissioners of

the river Wear, who appointed a special committee on

the subject; and an appeal was made to the coal-owners

for 2fl?. per chaldron on the annual vend, in aid. In a

iug over a period of 12 years, in Siiving life. He had personally

rescued 10 persons from drowning, and assisted, in life and other

boats, in saving about 17 others. He had always declined any

pecuniary consideration for his services, but was very solicitous to

possess the medal of the old and valuable institution, which was voted

to him with applause.
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report by Mr. Steplienson, he named four situations as

eligible for docks, but gave preference to "that on the

Sunderland side of the river, opposite the Potatoe

Gartli, and immediately east from the Barracks." For

a dock of 30 acres on this site, capable of affording

berthage for 300 ships of 100 tons each, he estimated

the cost at 193,311/. 7,s. dd. Mr. Giles, engineer, also

took a siu'vey of the same ground ; and a subscription

for defraying the expenses of preliminary measures

was raised; but no definitive result occurred.

The expediency of forming a dock on the north side

of the river was, during the above transactions, seriously

contemplated by the people of Monkwearmouth. At a

meeting of the merchants, ship-owners, and inhabitants

of that parish, held November 9, 1831, it was resolved,

" That the situation near the pier, at the nort/t side of

the harbour, is by its natural and local advantages, the

best adapted for such an object.—That the reports and

plans submitted to the meeting are highly satisfactory,

and lead to the conclusion that a capacious wet dock,

sufficient for all the exigencies of the port, can be

formed on the north side, near the entrance of the

harbour, without having recourse to a compulsory tax

upon shipping, too onerous for the present dej^ressed

state of that important interest, and can be completed

in a comparatively short period.—That application be

made to pai'liament, during the ensuing session, for an

act to enable commissioners thereby appointed to carry

into effect the formation of a wet dock near the entrance

at the north side of the harbom-.—That application be

made to the commissioners of the river Wear for their

sanction and support." It was proposed that this dock

should be 30 acres in extent, which, it was calculated,

would hold half the number of ships that could lie

between Hetton Staiths and the Pier.

The j)romotcrs of docks on the south and north

sides of the river brought their respective projects

before parliament in the session of 1S32, upon the

prmciple of constructing them as public docks, by

means of dues to be levied iipon the whole trade of

the port ; and after a pi'otracted investigation into their

merits, both bills were thrown out. As it appeared

impracticable to obtain the unanimity necessary to

construct a dock on either side of the river, in the

nature of a public measure, by a tax on the whole

port, the advocates for a dock on the north, or Monk-
wearmouth side, with the assistance of Sir Hedworth
Williamson, the chief proprietor, turned their attention

to the establishment of a private company, for the

purpose of constructing a dock under a royal charter

of incorporation, with a capital of 120,000/., raised in

shares; and on the 14th of February, 1835, the foun-

dation stone was laid by Lady Williamson, in the pre-

sence of a great concourse of people. It was connected

with the Bradling Junction railway in 1839, which
afforded, by means of the Newcastle and Carlisle line,

a connection between Sunderland and the western

coast, and was afterwards purchased by the York,

Newcastle, and Berwick Railway Company, and is now
the property of that establishment, under its newly

assumed title of the North-eastern Railway Company,
affording a convenient place of shipment and delivery

for the coals and merchandise carried by that line to

and from the port of Smiderland.

SOUTH DOCKS.

The prospectus of the Wear Dock and Railway Com-
pany, with a capital of 500,000/., in 25,000 shares at

20/. each, was advertised October 3, 1845. On the

10th, a private meeting of the directors of the Durham
and Sunderland Railway Company', and the provisional

committee of the South Dock project, took place, at

which measures were taken for selling the line of railway

to George Hudson, Esq., who also intimated his inten-

tion of taking shares in the Dock to the amount of from

10,000/. to 50,000/. In consequence of these proceed-

ings, a new scheme was propounded ; and, on the 1 7th

of the same mouth, a prospectus was issued for the

formation of a Dock Company, with a capital of

225,000/., in 9,000 shares of 25/. each. On the 3rd of

November, the proprietors of the railway agreed to

the sale of the line to Mr. Hudson, at 31/. 10s. per 50/.

share ; he taking all the liabilities, amounting to nearly

300,000/.

The act "for constructing a wet dock and other

works, on the south side of the river Wear, at Sunder-

land," received the royal assent May 14, 184G. The
requisite excavations and other necessary works were

speedily commenced, and proceeded rapidly. In July,

1847, Messrs. John Craven and Sons contracted with

the Dock Company to construct, by the 31st December,

1849, a wet dock and half-tide basin on the south

beach, under the direction and control of the company's

engineer, Mr. Murray. Groynes were erected towards

the sea, for the purpose of retaining the excavated

materials, and of arresting the sand and shingle which

naturally drift southward, thus forming a barrier beach

effectually excluding the sea from beyond a given

line.
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The first three gi'oynes, the lengths of which varied

from 326 feet to 358 feet, were erected at a height above

ordinary high -water mark of 2 feet G inches and 10

feet at the seaward and inner ends respectively. The
exterior was composed of ashler work; the interior,

partly of theexcavated magnesian limestone, and partly

of rubble set in mortar. Tlie crest was formed into

an arch with a radius of 5 feet G inches. The other

four- groynes were constructed of a different form

in consequence of those fii-st erected not retaining the

deposited excavation, nor accumulating other materials

as had been expected, and also by their having been

injured by the sea during a heavy storm, which occurred

at the time of the equinoctial tides, dui-ing the spring

of I8i8. The sides of the latter groynes were semi-

cycloidal, each being generated by a ciixle of 12 feet

9 inches in diameter, and uniting at the apex; the sea-

ward and inward ends are respectively 7 feet and 10

feet above high water mark; and their lengths vary

from 510 to 579 feet. Their construction commenced
at the second point, as they were placed at distances

from 350 to 450 feet apart. On the land side, the

excavations were carried to within a short distance of

the barracks, clearing away the battery and aU the

ground between it and the sea to a depth sufficient for

the bottom of the dock.* Quays were erected around the

whole; and approaches leading to the Dock were formed.

Up to June 30, 1849, the income of the Dock Com-
panj^ on calls was 179,294/., and from other soiu'ces

2,751/.; being a total of 182,045/. Their total expen-

ditui-e, to the same time, was 175,105/. At an extra-

ordinary meeting of the shareholders, held August 20,

in that year, a resolution was carried, empowering the

directors to make arrangements with the York, New-
castle, and Berwick Railway Company, for shipping

in the Smiderland Dock all the coal, cinders, coke,

and culm, and other articles of merchandise, brought

down the Durham and Sunderland branch line, or the

intended Pensher branch, or any other railway of the

company ; for loading timber or other articles intended

for conveyance by the said railway ; and for purchasing

the staiths, drops, timber erections, machinery, and
other materials then in use at the shipping places on
the Wear, and belonging to the railway company.
Also, to empower the directors to make arrangements
with George Hudson, Eobert Davis, and James

* On April 21, 1849, a bag, containing two gold coins of James II.,

six silver pieces of George II., and about 100 copper coins, principally

of tbe reigns of George II. and Charles II., was found in excavating
the entrance to the tidal harbour.

Richardson, Esqrs., relative to 2,345 shares standing

in theu' joint names; and to borrow 50,000/. on mort-

gage, at interest not exceeding five per cent. The
arrangement with the railway company, relative to the

shijjment of coals at the docks, and the purchase of

the staiths, was completed in Februaiy, 1850.

A succession of extraordinary riots took place at the

Docks on the 24th and 25th of September, 1849.

Disputes between the directors and engineer on one

side, and the contractors on the othei% had arisen from

time to time, involving a question of several thousand

pounds ; and a notice to quit was served on Messrs.

Craven, according to a proviso in the contract, with

permission to remove their plant. The contractors

determined to retain possession ; and, on the 21th,

forcible means were tried for their ejectment, which

they resisted by bringing a large number of their

labourers to oppose the directors and their engineer.

A collision ensued, and the dii-ectors called in the as-

sistance of the police, who took Mr. Hu'am Craven

into custody. Hundreds of excited spectators, in the

mean time, repaired to the spot ; and the scene became

somewhat alarming. On the next day, the riot was

renewed ; and Mr. Craven, who had been bailed out,

was again taken into custody. The ground was at

length cleared, and left in possession of about 300

of the company's retainers. The magistrates of the

borough consented to an application, on behalf of tlie

Messrs. Craven, for an adjournment often days; but,

on the 27th, the dispute was settled privately, and the

contract proceeded with.

The contract for the di'ops was taken in December

following, by Mr. Burlison, of Sunderland. On the

27th of January, 1850, the pressm-e of the tide broke

through a coffer-dam at the north side of the Docks,

and filled the open space. No material damage was

done to the works ; but it required a cost of about

1,000/. to erect a new coffer-dam, and pump out the

water. The coffer-dam was finished on the 7th of

February.

On the 20th of June, 1850, the Docks were opened

by an aquatic procession. The life-boats, preceded by

the dock-master, led the way, and were followed by

the "Lord Dui'ham" steamer, containing the band of

the regiment then stationed at the barracks. Next

came the " William and John," with the mayor and

corporation of the borough. The commissioners of

the river Wear, accompanied by a large party of ladies,

were on boai'd the " Seahorse." The " Fii'ebrand
"

couTeyed the directors and many of the shareholders
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of the Dock Company, with the officers of the garrison

and other invited guests. The "Pilot," and the "Peep-

of-Day-Boy," brought up the rear. The boats of the

river-police and of the harbour-master flanked the

procession. On the first steamer entering the tidal

harbour, a cheer burst from tlie multitude, which was

heartily returned; and passing through the half-tide

basin with 18 feet water, the procession reached the

inner dock, and drew up in a position opposite the

coal drops. The " Welcome," a large vessel, gaily

decked with all the flags of Marryatt's code of signals,

belonging to Charles Tajdor and Brothers, was towed

in by the " Haswell ;" the " Cleadon, " similarly

adorned, belonging to W. Bell, Esq., followed, towed

bj' the " Olive ;
" and the vessels were speedily brought

under the di'ops,when the first waggons descended with

coals from the Haswell and South Hetton collieries,

amidst the loud plaudits of the spectators. The
"Don," belonging to Messrs. Braddjdl and Co., towed

the "Pilot;" and the " Susannah," belonging to the

dock-master, closed the procession. Immense crowds

of spectators, amounting to about 30,000 persons,

tlironged the quays and every accessible point of view.*

The debarkation took place in front of the drops, un-

derneath which, in a spacious building, a cold collation

was provided, of which about 500 persons partook

;

George Hudson, Esq., M.P., in the chair.

The north entrance to the Dock is from the river,

and consists of a capacious tidal harbom-, for the site

of which a considerable portion of the west end of the

south pier, and the extensive store-yard of the river

"Wear Commissioners, were taken away and excavated.

This harbour is divided on the east from the beacliiug

ground akeady noticed by a pier or jetty, on the ex-

tremity ofwhich stands the tide gauge (see p. 503). On
the west, the excavations are carried to the foot of tlie

Bteep bank forming the eastern termination of the town
of Sunderland ; a pleasant promenade has been foiTned

on the summit, which commands a fine view of Roker,

Whitburn, and the coast to the north, the piers, the

harbour, &c. ; the spectator being on a level with the

topmasts of vessels passing through the tidal harbom-,

which is seen at a great depth below.

The half-tide basin is connected with the tidal har-

bour by two entrances, respectively GO and 45 feet wide.

Two swivel bridges, each formed of two portions of an
arch which divides at the summit, cross these entrances,

• A splendid iiainting of this imposini^ ceremony, executed by J[r.

Marlt Thompson, was purchased by the corporation, and placed in the

Borough Museum.

and give access, when ships are not passing, to the

pier and the barrier embankment of the Dock. The
basin is quadrangular in form, containing an area of

2 a. 2 r., and surrounded by 1,020 feet of quay, at

which between 30 and 40 vessels may be moored.

The entrance from the half-tide basin to the wet

dock is CO feet wide. At ordinary spring tides, there

is 20|^ feet water on the sill of its gates ; and at neap
tides, 17 feet. The dock itself was originally 3,000

feet long ; its width, at one point 620 feet, and at

another 360, averaging 440 feet ; the entire area being

18 A. 2 E. 16 p. The length of quays was 5,048 feet.

The depth of water at ordinary spring tides is 24 feet

in the middle, and SO feet at the quays. There is

ample accommodation for colliers, the west quay being

almost exclusively set apart for them ; and eight

staiths, of the most approved construction, have been
erected, which empty the coals, by drops, from the

waggons brought by the Durham and Sunderland and
the Pensher branches of the North-eastern Railway.

The barrier embankment, on the east side of the Dock
is adapted for ship-building and repairing yards, and
the establishments connected with them ; also, for

warehouses, stores, &c.

The amount of the pecuniary transactions of the

company up to June 30, 1850, will be seen by the fol-

lowing statements :

—

EKCErPTS.

£ s. d.

Deposit and calls 210,941 15 11

Loans on bond and mortgage 47,200 o

Interest, old materials Bold, transfers, rent, &c... 3,7fi2 5 8

£261,894 1 7

EXPENDITURE.

Preliminary expenses 4,918 11 2

Contractors for worlis 194,231 8

Property purchased, valuations, &c 10,677 13 11

Direction 1,004 17

Law business, conveyances, &c 2,7lJO 8 3

Amended act of parliament 1,455 12 5

Salaries, office charges, rent, taxes, &c 6,424 11

Advertisements, printing, engraving, and in-

cidentals 623 14 2

Interest on calls, bonds, and mortgage 7,545 3 11

Balances at the bankers' £20,111 19 2

Do. in secretary's hands 140 12 8

235,641 9 9

26,252 U 10

£261,894 1 7

The taking down of the drops belonging to the

Durham and Sunderland Railway, which extended

about 300 yards along the south side of the river, from
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Noble's Quaj' on the west to Hardcastle's Slip on the

east, was commenced in the latter part of the year 1850.

This space, says Mr. Smart, in a letter to the council

of the Borough, " will be entii-ely clear of erections of

any sort, and will present to the inhabitants what has

never been enjoyed before, an open and interesting

view of the river and shipping from the bridge to the

sea, including the entrances to both docks and the ship-

building landings on the North Sand. This clearance

will also essentially contribute to the ventilation of the

narrow dii-ty stairs, alleys, and passages between the

Quay and the High-sti-eet, and render the habitations

comparatively light and cheerful, or enabling them to

be made so, which, in a sanitarj' point of siew, is of

the very gi'eatest importance; and now, that the ship-

ment of coal by casting, as formerly practised, is

disused, and the staiths removed, the quay and neigh-

boiu'hood, instead of being continuaUy under the in-

fluence of clouds of coal dust, will enjoy pui'e air and a

pleasing jn-ospect. Were the quay levelled and paved,

and a regular foot-path formed, it would be one of the

best approaches to the South Dock. The face of the

quay ought to be repaired, the stairs and landing places

put into proper order, and neat uniform mooring posts

put down. Were these things done, the shipping in-

terest would be accommodated, and the opei'ations of

the river police promoted." The shipment of coal in

the Dock, however, was not general until the month of

December. In the report of the directors for February,

1851, they state that they "are glad to acquaint the

shareholders that all the calls and interest have been

paid on the 3,000 shares standuig in the name of the

York, Newcastle, and Ber^vick Railway Company ; and

theii' respected chairman, George Hudson, Esq., M.P.,

has taken upon himself the whole of the 2,315 shares,

respecting which a misunderstanding existed between

him and the railway company, and has arranged the

payment of the calls thereon, with interest, in the most

satisfactory and most honourable manner"." In October

following, the dii-ectors recommended the construction

of a graving dock, 300 feet long, 85 feet broad, and 45

feet at the gate, with a depth of water on the sill of 1

8

inches below low water of spring tides.

The coals shipped at the Dock at this time were

from Haswell, South Hetton, Belmont, Shincliffe,

\l\Tiitwell, Hetton, and Rainton collieries. In January,

1852, the first shipment of coals from North Hetton

colliery was made on board the "Peony," of Sunder-

land. The revenue for the lialf-year ending December,

1851, amounted to 5,258A 17«. O^d., which, with a

balance of 284/. 18s. Id., amoimted to 5,543/. 15s. 7\d.

The working expenses and interest amounted together

to 2,913/. 10«. Ohd., leaving available a sum of

2,030/. 5.5. Id., out of which a dividend of 2/. per cent,

was paid, and 247/. 15s. Id. carried forward.

On the 3rd of May, 1854, the directors agi-eed to

release the contractors for the southern outlet of the

Docks, Messrs. Pawson and Dyson, from the further

prosecution of theu* contract, and also to jiurchase

their plant. The work was aftenvards let out in sec-

tions. In consequence of an increase of nearly 50 per

cent, in the half-year's income, a dividend of 2j per I
cent, was declared in July. The same dividend was

declared at the next half-year ; the income having been

0,340/. 12.?. 2d., of which 3,330/. 9s. 7d. was the dis-

posable balance. About this period, the Pensher

branch railway was opened, bringing additional col-

lieries into connection with the Dock, and demanding |

increased means of shipment. In the half-year ending

June, 1853, the receipts were 7,623/., giving a net

profit of 2,815/. ; and a dividend of 3 jjer cent, was

declared. To carry out the projected new works, it was

determined to raise 150,000/. by 12,000 new shares.

The gross receipts of the following haK-j-ear were

9,259/. ; and after deducting intetrest and working ex-

penses, 4,211/. was left for division. Powers were given

to the directors to raise 50,000/. on loan or mortgage,

3,051 of the new shares remaining unallotted.

At an extraordinary meeting of the shareholders,

held November 8, 1854, it was resolved to apply to

pai'liament for an act for the construction of a graving

dock, a graving slip, and works; an increase of capital;

the creation of new preference shares ; the alteration

of tolls and dues taken by the river Wear commissioners

in the Sunderland Dock ; and the amendment or re-

peal and consideration of acts relative to the Dock.

Plans, prepared by Mr. Murray, engineer to the com-

pany, were deposited, for the formation of a graving

dock, 300 feet long by 80 feet wide, with an entrance

into the north east side of the half-tide basin; also for

the making of a slip, 520 feet long from the gates to

the top of the incline, and 45 feet wide, with an entrance

into the southern extension of the wet dock. The bill

proposed to extinguish the tolls, rates, and duties

levied by the river commissioners, " so far as such

tolls, rates, and duties apply to, afi"ect, or concern

ships or vessels entering or using the said Simderland

Dock without entering or using the said liver Wear,"

and also coals and cinders cast or delivered to such

ships. The measui'e was opposed, before a committee
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of the House of Commons, by the commissioners of

the river Wear, who claimed a right to collect the

dues on ships using the proposed southern outlet to

the Dock, as well as those entering or departing by

the river. An amended bill was afterwards intro-

duced, and received the sanction of the shareholders

at a special meeting, held May 28, 1855. The stock

proposed to be raised by it was 137,500/. by preferen-

tial shares, and 12,500/. by borrowing. "With regard

to the dues, however, no conclusive arrangement has

yet been arrived at.

The report of the directors, dated July 27, 1855,

after recording an increased income during the past

half-year, declared a dividend at the rate of four per

cent, per annum, and stated that 32 collieries shipped

their coals at the Dock, where thirteen drops were in

operation.

The extension of the South Dock was opened for

the admission of ships on the 24th of November,

1 855, by the dock-master, in his official boat, followed

by the Admiralty surveying cutter " Simflower," Mr.

Calver, master commander, R.N. ; also the pleasure-

yacht of Messrs. Wood and Spence, timber merchants,

the Prussian vessels " Cito," " JuUe," and " Ancona,"

and the English barks " George" and " Don." The
basin is connected with the Dock by an inlet, and will

be exclusively employed for discharging timber and

other imported cargoes, and not for loading purposes.

It is intended to reclaim a portion of the sea at its

southern extremity for a timber pond. The south

entrance to the Dock is now in course of formation,

and will admit vessels of a large draught of water, and

at all times of the tide. The gates at the entrance

will be worked by hydi-aulic pressure, aided by steam.

The graving dock on the north-east has also been

commenced, and will be of great utility to the port,

particularly for coppering new ships. When these

appendages are completed, Sunderland Dock will be

one of the largest and most convenient in the king-

dom. It is, in a great measure, to the enterprize of

George Hudson, Esq., M.P. for the borough, that the

inhabitants of Sunderland are indebted for this splen-

did addition to their harbour, without which the town
and port must have smik into comparative insignifi-

cance amidst the competition of neighbouring places.

MANUFACTURES AND INTERNAL TRADE.

Glass Trade.—It has been seen that the art of

glass-making was introduced into England by Bene-
;

diet Biscopius, founder of the monastry at Monkwear-
mouth. During the last and present centuries, the

manufacture and export of glass have formed an
important part of the trade of the town and port.

An enumeration of the present manufacturers is given

in vol. i., p. 189-90. There are sixteen bottle-houses,

at which from GO,000 to 70,000 bottles are daily

manufactured. " They do a great stroke of business

in the glass way," says Dr. Dibdin. " My daughter

was delighted with the different processes she saw

;

but almost screamed, as well as startled, when she

heard that, to the identical manufactory which she

was visiting, an order had come down that morning,

for ' a thousand dozen of (/in glasses /' Of course,

this could only have come from the region of ' gin-

palaces.' The ordinary wine or beer bottle is the

prevailing article of commerce in the glass way—but

both here, and in the immediate neighbourhood of

Newcastle, you shall see decanters, tumblers, and wine

glasses—vases—with all their accompaniments, ma-

nufactured in a style of siu^prising beauty and in

endless variety."

Flint and ci'own glass are also extensively produced
;

and many decided improvements in the manufactmre

of this useful article have been introduced since the

repeal of the duty. Amongst the many adaptations of

glass to popular uses, the construction or roofing of

extensive buildings is one of the most remarkable.

The high wages paid to foreigners, however, who are

employed to blow sheet glass, would add greatly to

the cost were it employed. Messrs. Hartley, of Sun-

derland, foreseeing this in 181G, invented a description

of cheap rough plate, one-eighth of an inch thick, or

30 ounces to the foot, and which, by weight, is the

cheapest kind of glass manufactured, being sufficiently

strong to resist any hail-storm.

A description of glass suitable for chm-ch, chapel,

and school mndows, and which has been termed
" quarry" glass, has been more recently manufactured

by the same firm. It is thick, of large size, untrans-

parent, figured in imitation of lead, and presenting

that chaste appearance so necessary for places of

worship. The quarry glass is also so strong that no

frames are required to support it; and though three

times the thickness of crown glass, windows made of

it are less expensive, of better appearance, and much
more durable, besides being perfectly air-tight.*

* A library was commenucd in 184G, by Messrs. Hartley and Co.,

for the use of their worlsmcn. J. Hartley, Esq., was one of thejurors

for the glass departments at the exliibitions of London and I'aris.
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Potteries.—Several extensive works for the manu-

facture of eai'thenware have long existed in Sunder-

land and its vicinity, from which large quantities are

sent to diiferent ^lai-ts of the kingdom, as well as to

foreign countries. The Sunderland Pottery, at the

eastern extremity of the town, is now carried on hy

Messrs. Dixon, Pliillips, and Co.* The establishment

of Mr. W. B. Burnside is in Pemberton's Field,

Bishopwearmouth ; that of Mr, T. Eickaby, in York

Street, Monkwearmouth Shore ; those of Scott Bro-

thers and Co., and S. Moore and Co , at Low South-

wick ; and that of J. Dawson and Co., at South

Hylton.

EoPERiES.—Numerous rope-walks were foimerly

kept in operation in Sunderland, the most important

of which were one on the north side of the Town

Moor, one on the west side near Hendou Lodge, one

in "the Garth," on the site of New Grey Street, and

one at Monkwearmouth. In 1797, Messrs. Grimshaw,

Webster, and Co., commenced their Patent Roperij at

Deptford, in which the use of a long rope-walk was

superseded, as ropes of any length could be fabricated

in a building less than 100 feet in length by 30 in

breadth, by machinery impelled by steam. Mr. Grim-

shaw, the patentee, aftenvards erected another ropery

in Bishopwearmouth, in which various improvements

were introduced. The establishment at Deptford,

where wire rope is also manufactured, is now carried

on by C. M. "Webster and Co. " Perhaps," says Dr.

Dibdin, " the most wonderful department in trade, at

Sunderland, is the rope manufactory. The ordinary

vulgar phrase is, to give a man ' rope enough, and he

will hang himseK.' Such an unfortimate creature

never need be in want of 'rope enough' at Sunder-

land—for at the manufactory of Mr. Webster, one rope

was manufactured nearly three miles and a Itulf long—
without a single splice ! This was for the great

neighboui'ing railroad. Another rope was made not

less than 4.900 yards long (or nearly three miles) for

the same raih'oad—which weighed eleven tons—was

six inches only in circumference—and cost about

450/." There is another patent ropery in Hendon
Eoad, and several other establishments for the manu-

factui-e of rope and twine in various parts of the

borough.

• This company established a library for their workpeople at the

lame time with that at Hartley's glass-works.

t On March 15, 1802, a green linnet's nest, with the moss, hair,

Most of the trades necessary in a flourishing sea-

port town are carried on in Sunderland. There are

24 timber merchants, 15 boat-builders, 25 block and

mast makers,! 10 saw-mills, 10 anchor-makers, 16

chain and chain cable makers, and 14 iron foundries.

The Bishopwearmouth Iron Works, carried on by

Messrs. Mounsey, Jansen, and Co., are in Hylton

Eoad, Bishopwearmouth ; and the Monkwearmouth

Iron Works, in Bonner's Field, Monkwearmouth
Shore, belong to Mr. J. Wakinshaw. The Sunderland

Public Chain Testing Company's Offices are in Bishop-

wearmouth Panns : their tests are admitted at Lloyd's.

The industrial and artistic skill of Sunderland was

illustrated in the articles prepared for the Great Ex-

hibition of 1851, which were previously exhibited in

the town in March of that year. They consisted of

the following :

—

Mr. James Hartley, illustrations of glass manufacture, commencing

with a model of a glas.s-making house, and extending to a great

variety of articles of glass manufacture, in successive stages. The

model was made of glass, on a scale of li inch to a foot ; the diame-

ter of the floor being 7 feet 2 inches ; height of floor from basement,

1 foot ; height of cone, 12 feet. There was also a beautiful model of

a green-house, 4 feet 2 inches square, on the ridge and furrow flat-

roofed principle.

Anthony Ettrick, Esq., illustrations of various improvements in

carpet bags, portmanteaus, joiners' and plumbers' work, tool-baskets

;

also, model of an improved method of launching a ship's boat from

the deck, and of an improved " bogie" for carrying timber, &c.

Mr, Joseph Dunn, Rainton, model of a railway for turning engines

and carriages without tui'n-tables.

Mr. Eobert Clark, engineer to the Earl of Durham, model of an

improved coal-drop for loading vessels.

Mr. John Hughes, millwi-ight, Sunderland, models of masting-

shears, and new steering apparatus.

Mr. Robert Hedley, a working shipwright, model of a first-class

vessel, executed so as to show the varioiB stages of ship-building.

Mr. James Laing, the eminent ship-buUder, a similar model.

Mr. Eobert Reay, lamplighter, Monkwearmouth, a beautiful model

of York Minster.

Messrs. Fourdrinier, a model of their machine for the prevention

of accidents in the shafts of mines.

Mr. James Dannet, plumber, model of an improved clothes-mangle.

Mr. G. R. Taylor, a geographical clock, and a model of Sunderland

Bridge. The latter was made to serve the purpose of a clock ; the

hours, from 1 to 12, being marked along the arch of the bridge, two

human figures acting as hands to the clock, and moving across ths

bridge as the hours advance.

Mr. Moses Hodgson, boat-bnilder, a model of a handsome pilot-

coble.

Mr. Bowse, painter, Sunderland, a window of painted and stained

glass, illustrating the four seasons.

Among the articles exhibited was a brick-making machine, contri-

buted by Messrs. J. and T. Ewart, Monkwearmouth, agents for the

patentee, Mr. Hart, of the Victoria and Atlas Works, London.

and other materials, in a good state of preservation, was found in

the centre of a solid log of English elm, which was being cut up in

the yard of Mr. Lumsdon, block-maker, Monkwearmouth.
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Mr. G Limlsaj', of Sunderland, obtained honourable mention for

sulpliate of iron, of superior iiuality, raaiiufacturetl from the iron

pyrites of coal mine?, exposed to air and moistiire, the excess of acid

being saturated hy digesting the lixivium upon waste iron. It is

used in dyeing silks, woollens, and cottons, making writing inks,

Venetian red, &c.

When the goods were sent in to the Crystal Palace,

there was no place unoccupied in the English part

of the exhibition ; and the Sunderland articles were

incongi'uously displaj'ed amongst those of the United

States of America,*

To the Paris Exhibition of 1855, numerous contri-

butions were sent from Sunderland, comprising mo-

dels illustrative of the art and present progress of

ship-building, including models and sections of some

of the most celebrated and powerful Sunderland ships

now sailing; samples of coal and co1^(% with a section

of a coal-pit, shewing the different strata through

which the sliafts penetrate, and the modes of working

;

a model of the docks and harbour ; specimens of ores

and mineral products
;
glass, through Mr. Hartley

;

anchors and chain cables, through Messrs. Wight and

Son, &c.

The appearance of the town of Sunderland has, of

late years, been much improved by the architectural

decorations introduced in tradesmen's shop-fronts,

some of which are handsome and imposing. The

pruicipal display of drapers', grocers', and other shops

is in High Street.! Besides the principal inn, the

Bridge Hotel, at the junction of Sunderland Street

with High Street,! there are 314 inns, taverns, and

public houses, 50 beer-shops, and IG eating-houses,

* "The moment the ceremonial of opening had come to an end,"

gays a Sunderland visitor, "like good townsmen, we hastened in

earch of our own place and its products. We had admired them,

when exhibited here ; and we wished, not without some secret

whisperings of pardonable pride, to compare them, in their new place.

among the contributions of a world, with our impressions of them,

as they graced a local exhibition room. We thought of the ingenious

dock, modelled after our graceful bridge, of our shipbuilding models,

and our life-boats, and our cobles, and of much more besides of

delicate workmanship, useful invention, or artistic beauty—we
gcarched and searched, and all in vain. How many miles of counter

we surveyed—how many courts we entered and ransacked—how
many inscriptions on flag and showboard we toilsomely deciphered

we will not stop to say—but all in vain. There was no such place as

Sunderland in the United Kingdom 1 The third shipping port of the

empire was suddenly blotted out of the map—'Canny' Sunderland

had ceased to be !

" It was very distressing.

" We applied to a policeman—to many policemen—to sappers and
miners. 'They heard it, but they heeded not;' or, if they did direct

us, it was to where we had gone already and found nothing.

" At last, one blue-coated superintendent, more knowing than his

fellows, bade us look in ' the United States.' ' But Sunderland is not

VOL. n.

There are in the town 10 breweries, 35 wine and spirit

merchants, and 1 ale and porter merchants. In the

town and vicinity there are 18 flour-mills. The law

business of Sunderland is managed by 35 solicitors.

There are 18 booksellers and as many printing offices,

besides those of the newspapers; also, offices belonging

to 1 9 life insurance companies, 22 fire and life, 1 1 fire,

1 fire, life, marine, and general, 1 accidental death,

2 fire and guarantee, 1 life and guarantee, 2 for live

stock, 1 for hail-storms, and 2 for plate glass. The
post-office was formerly held in Grey Street, from

whence it was removed to Russell Street. It is now
in Bridge Street, with receiving houses in various

parts of the town.

Amongst the other conveniences of modern times,

the use of hackney coaches and one-horse carriages

has been introduced in Sunderland, in the princij)al

streets of which these vehicles add to the usual bustle

and animation.

NEWSPAPERS.

The newspapers at present published in Sunderland

are, " The Sunderland and Durham County Herald,"

and " The Sunderland Times," The " Herald" was

commenced on the 28th of May, 183], by Thomas
Marwood and Co. ; and is now conducted by Messrs.

Vint and Carr; it is published every Friday. The
" 1 imes" was commenced October I, 1839, by Messrs.

Barnes and Beswick, and subsequently carried on by
Mr. Barnes alone, under the title of " The Northern

in the United States '—we ventured to suggest.
—

' No, but you'll find

it there, all the same,' was the only reply vouchsafed us.

" So we went a weary journey all the way to the United States ; and
there, sure enough, somewhere between Michigan, and Massachusetts,

we found canny Sunderland—her models and her clock-work, her

glass and her coal, figming innocently amid murderous bowie-knives

and many-barrelled revolvers—one of the most heart-rending cases of

wholesale emigration of a flouiiaking port, with all its industrj', to the

New World, that ever roused the wrath of a Richmond, or awakened
the ravings of a Sibthorp.

" Oh ! Sunderland—oh ! our native town—that ever we should find

thee in the United States !

"

t In October, 1830, preparations were made by an " Equitable

Joint Stock Company" to open in the hosiery line, and for supplying

other articles of necessity on reasonalde terms.

% The Bridge Hotel was built for the residence of Ralph Lambton,

Esq., elder brother of General Lambton, great-grandfather of the

present Earl of Durham. When Mr. Lambton succeeded to the

estate on the death of his brother, William Lambton, Escj., he relin-

quished his situation as collector of customs at Sunderland, and re-

moved to Lambton Hall. His residence in the town was then

converted into an hotel, which was sold, in 1850, to Mr. J. Donkin,

then tenant and now proprietor.

4 C
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Times." It is now the property of Mr. W. Hardie,

and is published every Saturday.

The first newspaper published in Sunderland ap-

peared on the SOth of .January, 1831, entitled, " The

Sunderland General Shipping Gazette and Mercantile

Advertiser:" it was brought out by Mr. William

Gracie, but discontinued after a few months. On
January 3, 1838, the first number of "The Simder-

land Beacon," a conservative paper, was published : it

was afterwards incorporated with " The Northern

Times." " The Sunderland Examiner" was com-

menced in 1851, and was removed to Newcastle in

1854, where it was carried on under the title of " The

Northern Examiner," but was discontinued in January,

1856. "The Sunderland News," which was com-

menced about the same time with the " Examiner,"

was removed to Hartlepool in 1855.

BANKS.

LAsrBTON's Bank.—There is a branch of this bank

in William Street, Bishopwearmouth. The proprie-

tors are, William H. Lambton, H. E. Lambton, John

Anderson, George Fenwick, George J. Fenwick, and

Ralph Brown, Esqrs. ; and Mr. J. S. Robinson is agent.

The principal establishment is in Newcastle.

NOETHUMBEELAXD AND DcEHAM DISTRICT BANKING

Company.—The Sunderland branch of this bank is at

No. 117, High Street, Bishopwearmouth. Jonathan

Richardson, W. B. Ogdeu, M. R. Bigge, Joseph

Hawks, and James Sillick, Esqrs., are the acting

directors; and Mr. Hepburn Thompson is manager.

The central bank is in Newcastle.

Union Banking Coiipant.—The branch belonging

to this company is in Yilliers Street, Bishopwearmouth.

The dii-ectors are, William Woods, Samuel Parker,

William Ord, Thomas Barker, Robert Pow, and John

Dryden, Esqrs. Robert Spence, Esq., is manager at

the principal establishment in Newcastle ; and Mr.

H. Armstrong is manager of the Sunderland branch.

• From the accounts of Mr. Thomas Jones, one of the partner?, it

appeared that he had speculated to the amount of '2i,2S0l. \is. 6d. in

pictures, which sold for only 3,685i. 3«. dd. He had become a partner

iu the bank in March, 1806, from which time he continued to draw

out large sums, never accounted for, and which amounted, on the

failure of the bank, to 73,148Z. 19s. ~d., besides 9,969/. \8s. lOd. which

he acknowledged. Considerable quantities of plate and jewellery had

been purchased with this money, and sold or pawned by the bankrupt.

On the last day of his examination, April 15, 1S16, he gave up aU that

he said his wife had left of these articles, consisting of a gold watch,

pearl necklace, ear-rings, and ornament for the head. These, with

£ t.
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Sir William Chaytor, Bart., and Co., afterwards had

branches in Sunderland. The latter was united, in

September, J 837, with the Union Bank of Newcastle,

previously Messrs. Chapman and Co. The North of

England Joint Stock Bank, wliich had a branch at this

town, stopped payment on the 8th of March, 1847.

An agitation was commenced in Sunderland, in

1832, for the establishment of a joint stock banking

company ; and a prospectus was issued, on the 15th of

November, of " The Wear Joint Stock Banking Com-

pany," capital 1,000,000/., in 10,000 shares of 100/.

each, and in conformity with the provisions of 7 Geo.

IV., c. 40.

" The Sunderland Joint Stock Banking Company"

was commenced in 1830; capital 200,000/., in 20,000

shares of 10/. each, with jiower to increase the capital

to 400,000/., and the number of shares to 40,000. The

first directors were, Andrew White, Esq., mayor, John

Miller, M.D., Mr. Alderman Kirk, Mr. John Clay, and

Mr. Alderman White ; managing directors, Mr. H.

Panton, and Mr. Alderman Brown. Many of the original

shareholders were influential persons in the Wesleyau

Methodist Connexion ; but the operations of tlie bank

were limited to the town. For some time, it appeared

to prosper ; and at the annual meeting in February,

1841, it was announced that the net profits of the past

year had been upwards of 12 per cent., a dividend of

10 per cent, was declared, and the balance carried to

the guarantee fund. Even in the report of February,

1852, the directors stated that the bank was in a satis-

factory position, that a balance of 1,024/. 3s. Crf. re-

mained to be carried to the guarantee fund, and that

that fund would then amount to 5,084/. 2s. Id. Losses

to a considerable amount had, however, been incurred

by the failure of large manufacturing and shipowning

firms connected with the bank ; and in 1852, it suffered

considerably by a shipowner, who had speculated in

(lend of 'is. 6d. in the pound was made in 1821, and a second, of

2d. in the pound, about the year 1836 ; the total debts beins up.

wards of 134,000^. Further assets bad afterwards been collected,

but no steps taken to divide them, a claim in equity bavin;; Iieen

made against the assignees. Mr. Commissioner Ellison, having dis-

allowed this claim, fixed sittings to audit and divide the remaining

assets. Several persons in humble life appeared, to prove on the

promissory notes of the bank. Not having done so for 27 years, they

were strictly examined by the court, but swore that the notes were
taken by them for value before the commission issued in 1816

and were admitted to prove. There were proofs on the proceedings

to the amount of 18,428;., which had not been cxp\mged, but upon
which, nevertheless, the first and second dividends bad not been
computed ; this class of creditors having, from friendship to tlie

bankrupt, and a desire to augment the dividends payable, voluntarily

abandoned their claim. The assiguces, the solicitors, and some of

railway shares, compounding with his creditors. The
bank stopped payment in November, 1852, in conse-

quence, it was said, of its London bankers, the London
and Westminster, refusing further accommodation.

The deficiency, it was at first stated, would not amount
to more than 20,000/.; and as 7/. lO.s. per share had
been paid up, a call of the remaining 21. 1 0.s-., it was
expected, would meet the deficiences. A committee of

investigation was, however, appointed, when a most
appalling state of affairs was disclosed. The deposits

held by the company amounted to 27,138/. 7s. 8d..

about half of which sum belonged to four or five de-

positors, of whom the corporation was one. But the

most painful part of the exposure was the fact of some
of the directors having used the bank for the accom-

modation of themselves and friends; one of them, Mr.

R. Brown, being liable to the large sum of 29,971/.

12s. 7d., and other accounts being much overdrawn.

Much dismay was consequently excited amongst the

shareliolders. One of them, Mr. Anthony Hoggard,

on his petition being heard before Sergeant Dowling,

judge of the county-court at York, on Monday, the 1 9th

July, 1853, was remanded for two years, for having

fraudulently disposed of his private property, so as to

diminish the sum to be divided amongst the creditors

of the bank ; and much distress and ruin were caused

to those who, relying on the assurances of the du'ectors,

had embarked their means in the undertaking. " At

Sunderland," said a writer of the day, " the managing

clique of Tarluffes, over a series of years, cmp)loyed

the capital in their own shipping transactions—con-

cealed those transactions from the other directors and

clerks—had fictitious accounts opened—closed those

accounts, when the speculation that originated them

failed, by crediting them with cheques drawn against

their previously overdrawn private accounts—released

each other from liabilities to the bank—made an-ange-

the commissioners were since dead ; but it was decided that these

proofs should be admitted. In 1822, before the bankrupt obtained

liis certificate, his friends paid a bonus of Is. in the pound to 1,400

creditors, upon notes, who bad not then or since proved, but who
upon receipt thereof, gave up such notes, which the assignees,

to preveul fraudulent tran^fer, destroyed. Some of these creditors

now claimed, and were allowed to prove. The (in il dividend, after

all those claims upon the small amount of assets in hand were allowed,

was, of course, very small.

The previous dividends were paid at Sunderland, Newcastle, and

Shields. On the second occasion, constables had to be employed at

Sunderland to keej) order among the recipients, who were admitted

by a door, and passed out through the window and down a ladder to

prevent confusion. A waggon load of books were Bubsequentl\

transferred to the official assignee.
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ments out of bank funds with their creditors—manu-

factui'ed, amongst themselves, accommodation paper

to carry on an unprofitable banking business—and

continued the business imtil it broke down under the

weight of heljjless and hopeless ruin."

RAILWAYS.

Durham axd Sunderland Branch of the North-

KASTERN Railway.—The terminus of this branch (for

an account of which see vol. i., p. 114) is on the Town
Moor, and immediately overlooking the Docks, the

drops at which communicate with the Railway. A
landsale coal depot is situated at the north side of the

embankment, D'Arey Terrace, Hendon Road.

Pensher Branch.—This branch, as its name indi-

cates, diverges irom the main line of the North-eastern

Railway at Pensher, from whence it proceeds in an

easterly direction, through the intervening townships,

to Bishopwearmouth, where it communicates with the

Durham and Sunderland line. Its length is miles,

and there are stations at Hylton, Pallion, and MiUfield.

This line was opened for traffic, December 20, 1852,

when a train of 50 waggons, laden with " Jonassohn's

Hartley Coals," was brought from Usworth colliery,

and shipped on board the " Wellington," in Sujiderland

Dock. The line was opened for passengers on June

1, 1853. There are fifteen bridges between the Town
Moor and MUlfield station, a distance of a mile and a

half.*

Brandling Junction Branch.—A railway between

Monkwearmouth and South Shields was projected in

1832, and an act of parliament was obtained for its for-

mation ; but the object was abandoned. The junction

railway suggested by the late R. W. Brandling (see

vol. i., p. 114) unites the towns of Sunderland, South

Shields, and Gateshead ; and paii of it is used in the

main line of the North-eastern railway. The original

terminus at Monkwearmouth was a temporaiy wooden
erection, in an inconvenient situation, and at a con-

.siderable distance fi-om the Bridge. It was at first

intended to erect the permanent station nearly opposite

to tlie Wheat Sheaf inn ; but, on the representation of

many respectable pailies, the present more eligible

In excavating near Tuiistall Lane, a stratum, having the appear-

ance of a sea.beach, was discovered. It was composed of small loose

stones, which had apparently been once washed by the waves of the

tea.

situation, near the Bridge, was fixed upon ; and it was

opened on the 19th June, 18i8. The building, which

is from designs by Thomas Moor, Esq., of Bishop-

wearmouth, is of freestone. The portico in the eastern

front is of the order known as Tetrastyle Ionic, and

the entablature is supported by four columns, with

angular volutes. Under the portico is the principal

entrance, which admits to the booking office, an apart-

ment about 30 feet square. To the left is a passage

leading to the first class waiting rooms ; and the second

class waiting room is on the right. North of the office

is a lamp-room and a dwelling-house for the station-

master. The w'ings are of Grecian Doric architecture,

the entablature of each being supported by fluted

columns. There is an extension to both wings in the

form of a screen wall, of considerable height, enclosing

the platform, and comprising five arches. Of these,

the one nearest each wing is fitted up with sliding

doors, for the egress of passengers ; the other four

being perforated, and fitted up with iron rails. On
each side of the doors is a niche, for the reception of

a tripod supporting a lamp. The screen wall is fur-

nished with an entablature, supported by pilasters.

The length from wing to wing is 128 feet, and the

screen walls are each 84 feet, thus forming an entire

length of 296 feet. The platform is 196 feet in length

by 17 in breadth. The space below the roof, and

occupied by the rails, is 57 feet broad. The roof is of

iron, and of a light and elegant construction, glazed

with Messrs. Hartley and Go's, patent cast glass.

Suitable warehouses and depots are attached ; and the

ground in front of the station is enclosed by a hand-

some iron railing, with approaches from folding gates

:vid pillars at the north and south ends.

According to a parliamentary return, the extent of

railway in Bishopwearmouth township is 6 f.; in Bur-

don, If. 33 t.; in Ford, ;t in Fulwell, 1m. 5f.

147 T. ; in Monkwearmouth, 1 m. 4 f. 4 y. ; in Monk-

wearmouth Shore, 3 F. 44 y.; in Ryhope, 2m. Of. io2T.;

and in Sunderland, 4 f. The areas are, in Bishop-

wearmouth, 5 a. 1 r. 38 p. ; in Burdon, 1 a. 1 r. 6 p. ;

in Fulwell, 1

9

a. 1 R. 17 p.; in Monkwearmouth, 8a,

I R, 16p, ;t in Monkwearmouth Shore, 9 a. 1 r. ; in

Ryhope, 26 a. 2r. 37 p.; and in Sunderland, 10 a.

The contributions to the local rates, in the years in-

dicated, were as follows :

—

t The railway (i'cusher Branch) was then in course of construction,

and the length and acreage not known.

X Including station, warehouses, sheds, offices, engine-housfs,

stables, and workshops, but exclusive of 18 acres of arable land.
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Contributed by railway In Gross amount collected.

Itel
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exports of the jiort do not much exceed what they were

in former years, before the South Dock was formed.

The coasting trade inwards consists principally of

British oak for ship-building ; the amounts outwards

have advanced little beyond their amount in 1850, iu

the latter part of which j'ear the South Dock was

opened. The following is a comparative statement

of the importation from foreign countries in the years

1840 and 1854 :—
1840. 1854.

No. of ships with cargoes of timber and wood from

European ports

Do. uo. from America and other

ports out of Europe

Do. do. with other goods from

countries generally

Total...

138

87

118

343

85

37y

Ingham,

In a parliamentary return, moved for by Robert

Esq. M. P., it is stated that during the

year ended December 31st, 1854, 1,514 British

sailing vessels, with a tonnage of 122,884, and 9

foreign vessels, with a tounage of 1,381, were entered

inwards at Sunderland; and 11,437 British, with a

tonnage of 1,4 05,008, and 2 foreign, with a tonnage of

80, were cleared outwards. The number of steam-

vessels entered inwards was 7, tonnage 526 ; and there

were 142 cleared outwards, with a tonnage of 63,338.

From the colonies, 125 British ships, with a tonnage

of 31,822, arrived ; and 7 foreign ships, of 1,070 tons.

There were cleared for the colonies 197 British ships,

of 42,525 tons, and 8 foreign ships, of 3,117 tons.

The foreign trade comprised 015 British ships, of

105,876 tons, and 1,063 foreign ships, of 103,114 tons,

entered inwards; and 985 British, of 190,539 tons,

and 1,378 foreign, of 139,300 tons, cleared outwards.

There are resident consuls in Sunderland belong-

ing to Belgium, Denmark, France, Hanover, Hanse

Towns, Netherlands, Portugal, Prussia, Spain, and

Sweden and Norway. There are in the town about

80 offices of ship and insurance brokers.

In addition to the particulars given in the preceding

pages relative to the coal trade, the following table

" The rather coarse and unenviable opi^het, ' Sunderland Sowies,'

is," says Mr. Den.ham, " even down to the present day. ajiplied to the

fair sex of Sunderland. The meaning of the word Soaies, although

now nearly forgotten, is evidently the diminutive of Sow. The word

is, however, still used in Scotland. Sir Walter Scott, in his Bord.

itins., names a game used by the boys of the High School, Edinburgh,

which is called Herrtjing a Sowie. A Sowie was an ancient engine of

war. In the ballad of ' Auld llaitland,' Bord Mins., vol. 1., we read,

'They laid tlieir sowies to the wall,

\Vi' mony a heavy peel.'

will shew its extent, and the revenues derived from it

by the Commissioners, during 16 years :

—

Yeor.

1840
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are short, thickset, light-hnired, and not unlike the

Hamburgher. There is more than Durham blood

in these men and women of the middle and lower

classes of Sunderland." Showy and elegant dresses

are much affected by females of all classes ; but there

is nothing peculiar about the costume of the men, ex-

cept that worn by sailors, keelmen, and other watermen,

which is appropriate to their profession.

The seamen of Sunderland have long been dis-

tinguished for their skill and hardihood. The

precarious nature of their profession has here, as in

other sea-ports, its effect in inducing a want of fore-

thought and prudence. A late writer on the Sunder-

land seamen says, " The length of .1 voyage being

uncertain,—varying from two to six weeks, and

occasionally to two months—seamen can never tell

what their earnings will be ; and they cannot, therefore,

regulate their family expenditure with so much certainty

as to square with their income. Hence, the credit

system prevails to a most injurious extent ; every

sailor's wife has a running account at some shop ; and

as almost universally the income is over-estimated, and

as seamen are liable to many casualties, very few are

free from debt; nay, most of them contract heavy

debts with the shops for groceries and clothes, and

generally pay for what they want by joining a club, or

the system called menage ; pawnbrokiug, poverty, and

misery are the fearful results." This gloomy picture,

• The destruction of the wooden bridge, &c., at Galley's Gill,

noticed at page 405, is still remembered. An early instance is

quoted from the Newcastle Courant of August 3, 1793, stating that

at the assizes at Durham, in the preceding week, " Thomas Jameson,

Matthew JIarrington, George Ball, Joseph Rowntree, Simon Emmer-
Eon, Robert Parkin, and Francis Wardell, for violently assaulting

Nicholas Lowes, of Bishopwearmauth, and carrying him on a stang,

were sentenced to be imprisoned two years in Duiham gaol, and find

sureties for their good beliaviour for tlnee years."—" These persons,"

adds the editor of the People's History of Sunderland, " were all of

them keelmen in Sunderland and Bishopwearmoutli, and were well

known to many of tlie old inhabitants of the borough. This riding

of the stang arose out of a strike, when the keelmen moored their

keels opposite to Pallion flatt, and purposely entangled their anchors

and cables to obstruct and blockade the river; the keelmen con-

sidered tliat this was so elTectually done, that it could not be cleared.

Robert llayton, Es<i., coal-fitter (afterwards major commandant of

the first Sunderland Volunteer Infantry), the magistrates, constables,

two companies of foot soldiers, and a party of the Enniskillen Dra-

goons, quartered iu Sunderland, proceeded to Pallion flatt, and
succeeded in cutting out a keel belonging to William Wilson, Esq.,

coal-fitter, (father of Miss Wil.son, of Green-terrace, Bisliopwear-

mouth), out of the hundreds which blockaded the river. Tlie keel-

men afterwards regained posses.sion of tliis keel, and hauled it up
with cables upon dry laud, at Southwick Salt Grass. Nicholas Lowes,

a keelmau, who resided near Bishopwearmouth church, gave informa-

too true in many instances, is, howevei', scarcely ap-

plicable to Sunderland seamen as a class.

The keelmen of the Wear, previous to the extension

of railways to Sunderland, and the consequent intro-

duction of loading gears, were a very important body.

They were paid according to the number of "tides,"

or trips to the staiths at which they took in their

loading ; and part of their earnings was allowed to

"run on" during the year till the "reckoning," which

took place on " Saint Tommy's Day," the 21st of

December. Unlike the keelmen of the Tyne, they did

not deliver the coals from their keels into the ships

;

that operation being performed either by casters or by

machinery for the purpose. In former times, "sticks,"

or strikes were very common with tlie keelmen, in

cases of dispute with their employers ; and scenes of

violence and outrage sometimes occurred on such

occasions.* Bowling on the Town Moor was one of

their favourite amusements ; and a " keel-course " was

a peculiar source of enjoyment. This arduous com-

petition consisted in one man in each keel propelling

his bulky vessel from Bishopwearmouth Panns, or the

iron bridge, to Hj'lton Ferry, by means of the " set,"

or " puy, " used in navigating the Wear keels. It was

a rule that if the hindmost keel approached sufficiently

near the foremost to admit boat-hooks to be clasped

from one to the other, the privilege should be used of

drawing the hindmost parallel with the foremost ; and

tion of the chief actors in this affair to the coal-fitters, for which

offence the keelmen carried hira through the town on a stang. Tha
keelmen, named before, were arrested and committed to Durham
gaol, by Sir Ralph Milbanke, Bart., of Seaham Hall, (father of the

Dowager Lady Byron), William Ettrick, Esq., of High Barnes, and

other magistrates. Tlie justices held their meetings tlien at the

George Inn, High-street, in front of which tlie foot soldiers were drawn

up, preparatory to the prisoners being sent to Durham gaol. The

keelmen threatened to attack the foot soldiers with tlieir keel-sets

and rescue the prisoners. Tliis state of things was ended by the

Enniskilleners arriving in front of the George Inn, with their diawn

swords glittering in the sun ; the prisoners were then placed in car-

riages and drove off, escorted by the Dragoons and Foot. On their

arrival near the site of the Register Buildings, High-street, Bishop,

wearmouth, the escort was assailed by a volley of stones from tha

keelmen beliind the low wall, which then fenced off the Pann field

from the Higli-street. A stone violently struck one of the Enniskil-

leners, when the black horses reared upon their hind legs with tlieir

front ones placed upon tlie wall. The dragoons fired their pistols at

the keelmen, the sate of the field was forced, and the dragoons piir-

sueil them to the banks of the river, where they escaped from tlieir

pursuers. The prisoners were then quietly taken toDiubam; the

result of their trial is given above. For many years after tliis occur,

rence, the keelmen were taunted by the inhabitants 'That they

would bring the Black Horse to them.'

"
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the exciting cry of " A heuk ! a heuk !" added zest to

the enjoyment of the spectators. Indeed, the herculean

task of contesting a " keel-course " presented a singular

contrast to the light skiff-races of the present day.

The keelmen were also, in their way, patrons of the

drama, knew the actors, and frequented the theatre,

where their favourite places were the " wings " of the

gallery, across which they bandied their coarse jokes,

sometimes to the amusement, and sometimes to the

annoyance of the quieter i^art of the audience. On

the capture of the Danish fleet at Copenhagen, a num-

ber of keelmen, balloted for that purpose, navigated

the ships to England. The last colliery which dis-

continued the use of keels for shipment on the Wear

was that at Beamish Park, the coals from which have

been transmitted by railway to South Shields and

Wearmouth Dock since the close of 1851. The few

keels now employed on the river are principally used

for supplying the manufactories on its banks with

coals.

Several ebullitions of public feeling iu Sunderland

have been noticed in the preceding pages. During

the war with the consulate and empire of France, the

loyalty of the inhabitants displayed itself in hostility

to "Tom Painers" and " Jacobins" of all descriptions.

In 1798, a regiment of Irish militia (the TjTone) was

stationed at the barracks, which, for some alleged mis-

conduct during the previous rebellion in that country,

were uot allowed to wear the pig-tail, then considered

an indispensible appendage to every soldier's head.

A quick-step (to which a ribbald song was adapted),

called " Croppies, lie down !" was composed on the

occasion, and served, as aU such efl'usions do, to in-

flame the ill feeling which ought to have been allayed.

On the 4th of June (the bii-th-day of George III.), the

usual military review took place on the Town Moor

;

when the band of the Sunderland Volunteers, in re-

taliation for their corps being placed in a supposed

subordinate position, played the obnoxious tune ; and

in the evening, when the drums of the militia and of

the volunteers met in High-street, the latter again

* In February, 1856, a serious riot was commenced in Sunderland

by a number of soldiers belonging to the Tyrone Fusiliers, then

stationed in the barracks. An attack was made on the police station

by the soldiers, nine of whom, after a desperate combat, were taken

into custody, some of them seriously wounded. They were eventually

given up by the magistrates to the military authorities.

t The placards issued by the association were har.ded '"The Sun-

derland Hero," and contained a representation of John Crawford,

of Sunderland, nailing his aciuiiral's colours to the mast. In the me-

morable engagement which Admiral Lord Duncan had with the

struck up " Croppies, lie down." The consequence

was that the afl'ronted and infuriated Irishmen rushed

from the barracks with naked bayonets, and, attacking

every person they met, cleared the streets ; and it was

only by the aid of a powerful picket that order waa

restored. The regiment was shortly after removed from

the town ; but a hostile meeting took place between

one of its officers and Major Hayton of the volunteers,

which, however, ended harmlessly.*

The patriotic spirit which induced the formation of

the Sunderland Volunteer Infautiy, Artillery, and

Sea Fencibles, and the voluntary subscriptions raised

for their support, has been revived since the breaking

out of the war with Russia. A pubUc meeting of the

pilots, fishermen, keelmen, mariners, and boatmen of

the town, was held April 30, 1855, for the purpose of

explaining the act for establishing a volunteer corps

for the defence of the coast, and giving instructions to

those willing to enrol themselves amongst the Royal

Naval Coast Volunteers. A patriotic association was

formed about the close of the same year, for the pur-

pose of inducing seamen to volunteer to man the gun-

boats building in the port; and a bounty of 10/. was

offered to each man.t

The progress of the town in social and intellectual

culture will have been illustrated by the charitable

and literary institutions which have been enumerated.

Neither have the pursuits of fashionable life been neg-

lected. " The Sunderland Hunt, " established in

February, 1811, was supported by annual subscriptions

of ten guineas. The arts and sciences have also been

popularly expounded by institutions specially designed

for the purpose. " The Polytechnic Society " opened

its first exhibition on September i, 1838. Since that

time, the " Popular Instruction and Amusement As-

sociation," and the " Amateur Choral Society," have,

by tlieii' concerts and lectures, endeavoured to intro-

duce a taste for music and rational recreation. Public

gardens at Hendon, and the formation of a park at

Building Hill, are features of social progi-ess. Some

years ago, women were frequently employed in Sun-

Dutch fleet, on the 11th October,, 1797, the dag of the Venerable,

Lord Duncan's ship, was shot away by the Dutch admiral, De Winter.

Crawford, then a sailor on board the Venerable, upon observing thia,

immediately ran up the shrouds (amidst the fire of the enemy) with

a marlin-spike in his hand, and, with the greatest coolness and in-

trepidity, nailed the Venerable's flag to the top-gallant mast liead.

For this heroic and daring action, he received a pension of £30 a

yeai- ; and his townsmen, in testimonial of his heroism, presented him

with a silver medal, bearing this inscription :
—"Orbis est Dei. Th9

Town of Sunderland to John Crawford, for gallant services on llth

October, 1797." Kevei-se, "Duncan and Glory ! British Valour."
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derland, as well as in other towns of the north of

England, in "serving the masons," or working as

bricklayers' labourers : the practice is now totally

abolished.

A school of design was commenced October 27,

1851, in the Numbers Garth school-room. Garden-

street, lent for the purpose by the Rev. Richard

Skipsey. Under the tuition of Mr. J. G. Grant and

some of the senior members, the meetings continued

to be held in that place until October, 18.52, when the

school was removed to the Assembly Hall, Sans-street,

and placed under the superintendence of Mr. Robinson

Elliott. It was afterwards held in the Lyceum till

1855, and now occupies premises next door to that

building. It was at fii'st conducted by a committee of

the ordinary members, but has latterly been under the

charge of a committee of honorary members and a

secretary, Mr. Thomas Dixon, whose efforts have been

directed to procuring the aid of government in the

appointment of a teacher, &c. The society is supported

by donations and by subscriptions of not less than 5*.

a year from honorary members, by donations of books

and drawings, and by a subscription of 2*. 6d. per

quarter from each ordinary member. In 1853, a class

was opened for naval architectural and mechanical

drawing, but has since been discontinued. Attempts

have been made to establish a class for naval archi-

tecture, but hitherto without success, as the funds of

the society have not been adequate to the necessary

expenditure. The school is open everyMonday evening,

from seven to nine o'clock. Since its commencement,

it has been attended by upwards of 100 pupils.

The town of Sunderland, and particularly the parish,

has long been held up as enjoying the sad pre-eminence

of furnishing a greater number of criminals and other

offenders against the lawthan other parts of the country.

In 1852, the year after the census, it was estimated

that while Sunderland contained nearly one-sixth of

the population of the county, it produced nearly one-

third of the criminals; and that one in every 123 of

its inhabitants was a criminal. The proportion in

South Shields was one in 132, and in Gateshead one

in 306 ; whilst in Weardale, the proportion was only

one in 907. One female in 430 of the population in

Sunderland was, diu-iug that yeai", "convicted and im-

prisoned for crime ; whilst the number of females

committed from the other portions of the county was

only one in 1,023.

As in all large commercial towns, the common lodg-

ing-houses for tramps and beggars are numerous.

They are chiefly situated in the parish of Sunderland,

in parts which are very densely populated, and where

nuisances abound. These places are a prolific source

of crime, vice, and human misery, being frequently

crowded with persons of both sexes and of all ages,

without regard to decency, comfort, or ventilation.

OUT-PLACES AND TOWNSHIPS IN BISHOP-

WEARMOUTH PARISH.

About the year 1649, an award was made relative to

the highways and private ways in the parish of Bishop-

wearmouth, in which it is ordered that the highway

leading to Durham be 27 yards wide, from Wearmouth
town to Barnes Learning; Chester highway, IGi yards

from gutter to gutter, from Wearmouth town to Thist-

ley-close Gate; for Newcastle way to be lOj yards

broad from gutter to gutter, fi-om Wearmouth town to

the North Moor gate ; a main way up Grindon Bank,

through Thomas Flower's ground to ground belonging

to the parsonage to be 8 yards broad ; and other small

roads are described. The Tuustall and Ryhope high-

ways are each to be 10|- yards broad. The whole of

these highways were set out when the township was

divided. Previous to that division, there were two

common fields, called the South Moor and the North

Moor ; and all the tenants had a right of way over

such fields, as they had so many rigs in one or ano-

ther place. The Newcastle highway was from the

Hird's Bridge to the present Low Ford, where the

river was crossed between the sites of the existing

ferry, and Messrs. Dawson's pottery. It is probable that

at that period, there were no horse ferries across the

river. The private ways were described with great care

;

and amongst the penalties imposed were 2d. each against

John Mills, for stopping the waine-way on the south

side of Bildon (Building) ; John Shipperdson, for the

same ; Ralph Holmes, for the same, Brian Stobart

being occupier ; Nicholas Bryan, for the same ; George

Snav/don, for stopping the way through Wellington to

the river of "V/ear; and Richard Wood, for stopping

the way from the Reigh Nook leading to Mr. Storey's.

A penalty of Is. is imposed on John Hutchinson, " for

trespassing in To. Hilton's grounds ;" of 5*. on " To.

Gibson, for not repairing his style between him and

To. Shipperdson;" and of 3s. id. on Richard Wood,
" for not making a sufacient cart-way, carriage-way,

for Robert Oliver to his ground, and others to their

ground."
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BAINBRIDGE HOLME.

This estate is situated near Tunstall Hills, to the

soutli-west of Wearmouth. lu 1405, it belonged to

the Lumley family, and was granted, in 1539, by John

Lord Lumley, to Nicholas Baiubrigg for life. Thomas
Whytehed, Gent., purchased the estate in 1500. It

was afterwards successively in possession of the Nat-

tresses and Shipperdsons, and was devised by Robert

Shipperdson, who died without issue in 1704, to his

nephew, Michael Pemberton, and Margaret and Bar-

bara, sisters of the testator, as tenants in common.

John Pemberton, Gent., of Monkwearmouth, subse-

quently acquired the whole by purchase.

This family, descended from John Pemberton, of

Stanhope, living in 1400, has been noticed under

AisLABY, p. 224, and Middleton St. George, p. 226.

Captain John Pemberton, brother of Major Michael

Pemberton, and second son of John Pemberton, Esq.,

of Aislaby, by his wife Isabel, daughter of Henry

Grey, Esq., of Newminster Abbey, is supposed (there

being no written evidence to that effect) to be identical

with John Pemberton of Hylton, who was agent or

steward to the family of Hylton, of Hylton Castle.*

He was named a trustee in the will of John Hylton,

Esq., July 22, 1668, wherein he is designated as his

" true friend." He married, first, Jane, daughter of

— Robinson, of Stone Cellar Farm, Usworth, by

whom he had issue John, Robert (an officer in Queen

Anne's navy), and Mary ; and, secondly, in June, 1671,

Bridget, daughter of Adam Shipperdson, Esq., of

Bainbridge Holme, sister and coheiress of Robert

Shipperdson, Gent., by whom he had issue Michael

(of Bainbridge Holme, devisee of his uncle, Robert

Shipperdson ; he married Anne Holmes, of Darling-

ton, by whom he had issue six sons and fom- daugh-

ters), Adam, and Shipperdson.

John, eldest son of the last-named John Pemberton

by his first wife, was born Februaiy 11, 1068: mar-

ried Dorothy, daughter of — Stote, by whom he had

issue John, Michael, Richard, Jane, Thomas, Adam,

and Robert ; died at South Moor I-Iouse, and was

buried at Bishopwearmouth, Sejiteriber 11, 1746.

John, his eldest son, of Bainbridge Holme, was born

November 5, 1704; married, December 11, 1740,

Penelope, daughter of John Laurence, rector of Bishop-

wearmouth, by whom he had issue John (who died

* It is presumed that .Tolrn Hyltou and John Pemberton were

captains in the corps commanded by Colonel Hylton during the civil

wars. John Hylton wrote to Dr. Basire, rector of EgglescUffe, desiring

unmarried), Stephen, Richard, and Penelope ; and

died in May, 1783.

Stephen Pemberton, Esq., (second son and successor

of John,) of Bainbridge Holme, was a justice of the

peace for the county of Diu'ham, and some time

Fellow of Oriel College, Oxford. He was baptized at

Bishopwearmouth, January 7, 1743-4 ; married. May 2,

1782, Isabella (who died August 9, 1800), daughter of

George Anderson, Esq., of Newcastle-upon-Tyne, by

whom he had issue George (liis successor), Penelope,

Annabella, Mary-Aiiue, and Elizabeth ; and died No-

vember 27, 1831.

George Pemberton, Esq., F.R.S., of Bainbridge

Holme, was born May 15, 1784; married Jane (who

died February 22, 1826), daughter of Thomas Hunter,

Esq., of Besley Hall, Worcestershire, by whom he

had issue George-Thomas (drowned whilst bathing

near Sunderland, in 1852), Georgiana-Jane, Anne-

Penelope, and Stephen-John. He sold Bainbridge

Holme to his cousin, Thomas Pemberton, Esq.

Richard Pemberton, Esq., of Barnes, third son of

John Pemberton and Penelope Laurence, was born at

Bainbridge Holme, January 14, 1746; married, Au-

gust 4, 1774, Elizabeth, daughter and sole heiress of

Ralph Jackson, Esq., of Sunderland, by whom he had

issue John, Penelope, Eleanor, Ralph- Stephen, Rich-

ard, Elizabeth, Thomas and Elizabeth (twins), and

Margaret; and died March 23, 1838.

John Pemberton, Esq. (eldest son), bom March 14,

1779; married, July 3, 1810, Marj% daughter of Wil-

liam Browne, Esq., of Talentire Hall, Cumberland;

and died .January 29, 1823. He was a barrister-at-

law, formerly of York, afterwards of Sherburn Hall,

and a justice of peace for the county of Durham.

Ralph-Stephen (second son of Richard), was bom
June 26, 1780; married, June 20, 1820, Anne-Mary,

daughter and sole heii'ess of Thomas Rippon, Esq.,

of Low Mill, county of Durham ; and died February

22, 1847. He was high sheriff for the county of Car-

marthen in 1820, and for the county of Durham in

1840.

Richard (third son of Richard) was bom April 4,

1782; married, November 4, 1830, Ellen, daughter of

Captain Robert Jump, R.N., by whom he had issue

Richard-Laurence ; and died November 3, 1843.

I'homas (fourth son of Richard) was bom March 3,

1785; married, September 21, 1830, Elizabeth Orde

him to see Tarm bridge drawn up at night, proving that Hylton's

regiment was stationed in the neighbourhood of Aislaliy, and pro-

bably raised there, as he went to Hartlepool with eighteen men.
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Button, daughter of Captain John Dutton, of New-

castle-upon-Tyne, and Calow Oaks, Derbyshire ; and

died at Naples, February 27, 1839. He was the pur-

chaser of Bainbridge Holme from his cousin George.

Richard-Laurence Pemberton, Esq., of Barnes and

Bainbridge Holme, son of Richard last named, was

born October 12, 1831; and married, November 10,

1854, Jane-Emma, second daughter of the Rev. Martin

Stapylton, rector of Bailbro', Derbyshire. He is a

deputy lieutenant and in the commission of the peace

for the county of Durham.

Arms.—1. A chevron ermine, between three griffin.s' heads couped

sable for Pemberton. 2. Gules, in a marsh a hind Itidyed proper lor

Hitidmarsh. 3. Gules, a lion rampant within a bordure, engraili;d

argent, a mullet sable for difference for Grey. 4. Or, three garbes

gules for Comyn 5. Vert, a lion rampant within a bordure engrailed

argent, for Ueton. G. Barry of six, argent and azure, in a bend

gules, a besaut for Grey of Jloiton, 7. Sable, on a bend argent three

lozenges azure, each charged with a planetary siui in its glory for

Shipperdion. 8. Or, three doves rising azure for Lawraice. 9. Or,

a chevron indented gules between three eagles' beads erased sable

fox Jackson. 10. Per fesse argent and sable, a fesse counter battled

between three falcons countercharged, belled, and jessed or, for

Thompaiitt, impaling argent a lion rampant, sable, a crescent for dif-

ference for Slaplyton.

Crests.—As above; \, Pemberton; 2, Jackson.

Motto.—Lahore et honore.

The freehold estate of Bainbridge Holme was ad-

vertised for sale in 1854, with a reservation of the

coal, all other minerals going with the land.

BARNES.

This place was, in 1370, included, with Pallion, in the

manor of Hamildon, which the Daldens held by the

fourth part of a knight's fee. The whole manor
passed in marriage with Maud de Dalden to Sir Wil-

liam Bowes, of Streatlam, in whose descendants it

continued till 1-550, when it was assigned to Anne,

third daughter of Sir George Bowes, who intermarried

with her cousin, Robert Bowes, of Aske. He nomi-

nally exchanged it with the crown for forfeited lands

in Old Acres, Seaton, and Off'erton. King James, in

1611, granted Hamildon, Clowcroft, and Grindou to

Thomas Emerson and Richard Cowdell, under a

crown rent of 83/. 4.s. Qd. ; and they immediately con-

veyed to Ralph Bowes, Esq., son and heir of Robert.

* Mr. Ettrick was an excellent auticjuary and lawyer, and con-

tributed the Additions to Dorsetshire, in Gibson's Camden ; beseems
to have been on intimate terms with most of the literary characters

of his age. The following singular story occurs in Aubrey, under the

head of " Impulses."—" A very good friend of mine and old accjuaint-

nuce hath had frequent impidses; when he was a Comnumer at

Trinity College, Oxford, he had several. When he rode towards the

west one time in the stage-coach, he told the company, 'We shall

certainly be robbed ;' and they were so. When a brother of his, a

Mary, granddaughter of Robert, married, about 1640,

William Haddock, an illiterate common carrier be-

tween Sunderland and Newcastle, who, in 1668, sold

half the estate to John Jenkins, Esq., of London ; and

in 1073, he alienated the remainder to Walter Et-

trick, Esq.

Low Barnes was sold by the Jenkins family, in

1708, to the Wardells of Sunderland. This family

were Quakers, and a room in their house was licensed

for worship for the use of the Society. The estate

descended to the Chapmans, also Quakers ; and it was

purchased of the assignees of John Chapman, of

Whitby, by Richard Pemberton, Esq., in 1783. The

house is handsome and commodious, and the grounds

are kept in excellent order.

Hif/h Barnes.—.\uthony Ettrick was of Barford, or

Berford, in the parish of Wimboru Minster, Dorset-

shire. He was born about the year 1504, and was

captain of horse at the siege of Boulogne, when that

place surrendered, in 1544, to Henry VIII. He mar-

ried Lucy, daughter of — Chottle, of Blandford St.

Mary's, Dorsetshire, and died about 1569. His grand-

son, William Ettricke, died in 1660, leaving three sons,

the youngest of whom, Walter Ettricke, Esq., of Sun-

derland, purchaser of High Barnes, was born April 26,

1628, and, living in the times of the civil war and the

Commonwealth, distinguished himself amongst the

most zealous supporters of the royal cause. He was

registrar of the Court of Admiralty in 1601. In 1659,

he married Margaret, daughter of William Sedgewick,

Esq., of Elvet, and had six sons and five daughters.

He died at Bath, August 2, 1700.

Anthony Ettricke, Esq., of High Barnes, the second

son of Walter, was born August 16, 1603. He married,

first, Jane, daugliter and heiress of Richard Stanley,

Esq., by whom he had a daughter, Elizabeth, married,

first, to Musgrave Davison, Esq., and secondly, to

I'homas Medlycott, Esq., of Venne, Somersetshire. He
married, secondly, Elizabeth, daughter of Henry Cog-

hill, Esq., of Aldenham, Hertfordshire. By this lady,

who wedded after his decease — Wittering, Esq., he

had two sons and three daughters. Anthony Ettricke

died in 1728, and was buried December 9.*

merchant, died, he left him, with other effects, a s-hare of a ship which

was returning from Spain, and of which news was brouglit to the

Exchange at Loudon other good condition; he had such an im[)ulse

upon his spirit, that he must needs sell his share, though to loss; and

he did sell it. The ship came safe to Cornwall (or Devon), and some-

where afterwards fell upon the rocks and sunk ; not a man jierished,

but all the goods were lost, except some parrots, which were broujfht

for U. Katherine."
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William Ettrict, Esq., of High Barnes, eldest son

of Anthony, born December 22, 1701, was in the com-

mission of the peace for the county of Dui'ham. He
married, in 1722, Isabella, daughter of "William Lang-

ley, Esq., of Elwick, in Norfolk, and had, with other

issue, William, his heir, born in 1726; married, in

1752, Catherine, daughter of Eobert Wharton, Esq., of

Old Park; and succeeded to the estate of High Barnes

on the death of his father in the same yeai\ His free-

hold and leasehold estates in Sunderland were sold,

August 5, 1778, pursuant to a decree and order in the

Court of Chancery. By his wife, who died November,

1794, he had one son and one daughter, the latter of

whom married William Budle, of Monkwearmouth,

and died without issue in 1821. Mr. Ettrick died

February 22, 1808, aged 82.

The Eev. William Ettrick, of High Barnes, born

May 17, 1757; A.M.; sometime Fellow of University

College, Oxford ; late rector of Toners Piddle, and

vicar of Aff Piddle, Dorsetshire, married Elizabeth,

daughter of William Bishop, Esq., of Briarts Piddle,

and had issue—William, born July 3, 1801 ; Anthony,

born September 15, 1810, and now of High Barnes;

Walter, bom February 24, 1812 ; John, born April 18,

1814; Elizabeth, married to Lieutenant Novesielski,

E.N., of the city of Bath ; Catherine, married to

Eobert Shank Atcheson, solicitor, of Duke-Street,

Westminster, and has issue ; Anne, born July 22,

1804, died May 20, 1813; Isabella, married, in 1825,

to Eobert Horn, Esq., of Hunter's Hall, Bishopwear-

mouth ; Helen ; and Mary.

Aems.— Arg., a lion rampant, and a chief, gu.

Crest.—A dcmi lion, rampant, gu., holding in the dexter paw a

marshal's staff, sable, tipped at each end, or.

A beautiful marble cenotaph, to the memory of

Walter, Anthony, and William Ettrick, designed by

Blore, was intended to occupy a place in Bishopwear-

mouth church ; but the allotted situation being too

small, the monument was erected at Barnes. It cost,

with the addition of a basement by Jopling of Gates-

head, upwards of 500/.

Barnes and Pallion pay a modus of 14/. 13.s. id, to

the rector of Wearmouth, in lieu of all tithes. Ho-

mildon Hill consists of a considerable swell of lime-

stone, containing a large mass of organic remains,

imbedded in a loose, gi-anular, calcareous rock.

On August 25, 1851, the Inclosure Commissioners

for England and Wales gave notice that Anthony

Ettrick, Esq., had applied for 1,000/., by way of loan,

for the drainage of High Barnes.

PALLION.

Pallion (supposed to be a contraction of Pavilion) Is

situated on the south bank of the Wear, about 2 miles

west from Wearmouth. Eobert Bowes, Esq., of Aske,

in 1572, granted to John Goodchilde, of Eyhope, for

200 marks, " the whole tenement and grounds called

the Pallyon, and one severall and free fishery in the

river of Were, in or adjoyning the said Pallj'on."

This fishery was anciently called Bowes Water. From
John Goodchild were descended the Goodchilds of

Pallion, who for many years carried on the extensive

lime-works at this place ; employing for its export

twenty schooners and sloops. A vein of dark marble,

capable of receiving a fine jiolish, was discovered ia

the quarries about 40 years ago. On the banki'uptcy

of Messrs. Goodchild, Jacksons, and Co., their estates

were advertised for sale by auction in 1817. The
Low Pallioa mansion and estate were described as

containing 124 a. 1 r. 2p. ; High Pallion mansion

house and estate, 231 a. Or. 31 p. ; North Moor, Lane-

house, and Todd's farms, 80 a. 1 R. ; Blue House man-

sion house and estate, 23 a. 2 r. ; Little Eppleton

mansion house and estate, in the parish of Houghton-

le-Spring, 337 a.; and East and Middle Herrington

farms, 61 a. 1 r. 2 p. The greater part of these estates

became the property of Addison Fenwick, Esq., who

resided in Pallion Hall, a good mansion, built of free-

stone, with au excellent vinery, gardens, and pleasure

grounds, situated on the Weai'. On his death, they

were sold, in 1848, to Christopher Maling Webster,

Esq. Pallion estate pays a modus of 1 s. id. in lieu of

all tithes.

There are twelve ship-building yards at Pallion, a

saw-mill, a timber-yard, and a public house.

DEPTFOED.

Deptford adjoins PaUion on the east, and is about \\

miles west of Wearmouth. For an aecoimt of the

Chapeby District of St. Andrew's, Deptford, see p.

437. The Wesleyan Eeformers, the Wesleyan Asso-

ciation, and the Primitive Methodists, have each a

chapel in the village. There is a national school for

boys and girls, which was visited on the 27th May,

1853, by the Eev. D. J. Stewart, government in-

spector, when 87 boys and 09 girls were present at

examination. At the boys' school, ] 1 9 had left, and

150 had been admitted during the preceding twelve

months, the average attendance being 82 ; and at the
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girls' school, 6 had left, and 82 been admitted, the

average attendance being 80. Tlie general observa-

tions were

—

BoTS.—" Buildings, fair-sized room ; offices iu a small yard ; no

class-room ; no fire-places. Desks fixed to wall, on one side of the

room, on a platform. No play-ground. Books, fair supply ; appa-

ratus, four black-boards."

Girls.—" Buildings, a room over the boys' school. Desks, same as

boys'. No playground. Books, moderate supply."

A school was erected, about 20 years ago, on a piece

of ground given for that puii^ose by Mr. James Laing,

an eminent ship-builder, at the request of the Rev. J.

Muir, of Union chapel, Sunderland. The master

pays a nominal rent of a farthing a year, and is bound

to teach the Westminster Assembly's Shorter

Catechism. Mr. Laing and the Ayre's Quay Glass

Company sometimes send children to the school, for

whom they pay. The average attendance of pupils is

about 40.* There are in Deptford two other day-

schools and an infant school.

Copperas works were established here, before

1760, by Robert Liman and Henry Taylor, and

are now carried on by Ogden Brothers. The Wear
Glass Bottle Works are carried on by Walker Feather-

stonehaugh, Esq. There are also the patent ropery

• " At Deptford, Southwiek, and Hylton," says Jlr. Stewart,

"which are all densely populated manufacturing districts, in the

parishes of Monkwcarmouth and Bi.«hopwearmouth, the school accom-

modation is utterly inadequate to the requirements of the locality

;

and in the few existing schools, the standard of instruction is strikingly

below the average.

" On one occasion, I saw in a school at Deptford some little boys

who were paid weekly wages, not for work done, but that a ship-

builder might claim their services whenever it suited him."

t Dr. Armstrong was born at Ayre's Quay, in the parish of Bishop-

wearmouth, on the 8th of Jlay, 1784. His father was superintendent

of the Glass Works at Deptford, belonging to Mr. Marmaduke Fea-

therstonehaugh. At an early age he was sent to school on Bishop.

wearmouth Green, but was afterwards under the tuition of the Kov.

Thomas ILason, a minister of the United Secession Church of Scotland.

He left school at the age of sixteen, when he was placed on trial with

Mr. Watson, a surgeon, at Monkwcarmouth, having shewn an early

inclination for the medical profession ; but, not liking his situation

he left it, and remained at home two or three years. His time, how-
ever, was not passed in idleness ; his pursuits, though desultory,

evinced sufficient proofs of superior ability, to induce his parents to

send him, in his 19th year, to the University of Edinburgh, for the

purpose of studying medicine, where he resided three years. In
Jime, 1807, he took the degree of JI.D., and in the same year settled

at Sunderland to practise his profession. In 1811, he was appointed
one of the physicians to the Sunderland Dispensaiy, and in the same
year married Sarah, eldest daughter of Charles Spearman, Esq., of

Thornley. In the following year may be dated the commencement
of his literar)' career, a short paper on the " Brain Fever of Drunken-
ness " appearing in the Edinburgh Medical Journal for January, 1813. I

VOL. n.

mentioned in page 518, the Wearmouth Paper Mill, at

which brown paper is manufactured ; four ship-build-

ing yards, an anchor manufactory, a block and mast
maker, a timber yard, eight public houses (to one of

which a brewery is attached), a beer shop, and a post

office. New streets, from plans by Mr. Meik, engineer
to the river commissioners, are in course of construc-

tion, and will ultimately connect Deptford with Bi-
shopwearmouth.

AYRE'S QUAY.

Ayee's Quay, formerly an isolated village on a pro-

jecting point on the south bank of the Wear, is now
connected with Bishopwearmouth by numerous rows
of houses and cottages. A portion of gi'ound on the

west is called the Salt Grass ; it is covered with water
at spring tides, and is used for securing rafts of timber.

Extensive bottle works, the works of the Corporation
Gas Company, an iron manufactory, and ship-building

yards are erected on the quay.t

THORNHILL.

This estate derives its name from John ThornhiU,
Esq., a merchant m Sunderland, by whom it was pui--

This was followed by several other publications, the principal of which
was a work entitled, " Facts and Observations relative to the Fever
commonly called Puerperal." In ISIG was published his celebrated
work on Typhus Fever. This admirable production at once raised
him to a very high professional position, passing through three large
editions iu as many years, and being received not only in this country,
but throughout America, almost with acclamation. This work was
followed by his " Practical Illustrations of Scarlet Fever, Measles
Consu7nption," &c., and was completed in December, 1817. It passed
through a second edition in the same year. The first editions of both
these works were brought out at the sole cost and risk of Mr. George
Garbutt, then a bookseller and printer at Sunderland—the profits,

after deducting the amount of paper and printing, being equally
divided between author and publisher.

Encouraged by the success of his literary labours, Dr. Armstrong
decided upon seeking a wider fiL^ld of practice, and with this view
removed, iu February, 1818, to London. Soon afterwards lie wag
elected physician to the Fever Hospital at St. Pancras. In 1821 he
was elected lecturer on the practice of physic, at the institution in
Webb-street, Mare Pond. In the year 1824, in consequence of ill

health, he resigned his office of physician to the Hospital, and in

1826 formed a new school of medicine in Little Dean-street, Soho •

his lectures at which ho abandoned in 1827, finding his strength
wholly inadequate to his incessant labours. But it was not until

December, 1828, that confirmed symptoms of disease became mani-
fest. Notwithstanding repeated changes of place, every eflbrt at
restoration proved miavailing, and he sunk under the insidious

malady of consumption, on the 12th of December, 1829, in the 46th
year of his age. His income, when in lieallli, arising from private
practice and public lectures, has been estimated at between £i 000
and £5,000 per annum.

4 E
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chased in 17G4. He erected the mansion-house upon

it, which was at that time one of the most considerable

in this part of the county. He died in 1802, and

demised his property to a person who assumed the

name of Thornhill, and who resided on the estate from

that time till 1815, when the mansion was purchased

by Shakespeare Reed, Esq., a merchant in London,

and son of Mr. John Reed (see p. 17G). Mr. Reed

afterwards acquired the Broad Meadows farm and

other lands, forming the whole of the Thornhill estate.

Thornhill Rail is stUl the property and residence of

his widow.*

The estate called Holmside, containing 6 acres, with

dwelling houses and other erections, is cop}-hold, held

of the manor of Houghton, and subject to annual pay-

ments amounting to 15s. Id. The Wellington farm,

containing 33 a. Or. 12 p., is also copyhold.

FORD.

Foe the population of the township of Ford see p. 393

;

and for an account of the chapelry of Hylton Chapel,

or Low Ford, see p. 440. The township consists of

High and Low Ford, extending along the south side of

the Wear from about 2 to 4|- miles west of Bishop-

wearmouth, and containing 1,000 acres. The annual

* Mrs. Eeed having closed a footpath leading from. Tunstall Lane

by her house and Broad Meadows farm to the Sunderland and Durham

turnpike, the Bishopwearmouth Highway Board, on July 15, 1844.

ordered their surveyor to open it ; on which Mrs. Eeed took out writs

against the members present at the meeting when the resolution was

passed. On the loth September, the Board ordered their clerk to put

in appearances to the writ ; and the case was tried before a special

jury at Durham, on the 23th .July, IS 15. The plaintife were Mrs.

Keed and Mr. Smith, tenant of Broad Meadows farm ; and the defen-

dants, Mr. Hopper and other members of the Board. It was an action

of trespass, and the declaration stated that on the 17th July, 1844,

the defendants broke and opened three closes of the plaintiffs, and

trampled upon and injured the herbage, &c., and forced open three

gates belonging to the plaintiff, and did damage to the amount of

£50. The defendants pleaded, first, not guilty; and, second, that

they made the entry by virtue of a public right of way, whereof the

defendants being seised, passed along the said roads, and removed

the gates ; and thereupon issue was joined. Witnesses were examined

on both sides at some length; and the jury returned an unanimous

verdict for the phiintiffs. There w.as a point reserved, touching the

Kability of the Board to be made defendants in this case.

+ " The Couch of Time," a Sabbath Essa)', exhibiting considerable

ability, was the production of John Lynn, a workman at Ford

Paper-mill.

X TiTB Haveloces.—The sons of William Havclock, Esq., of Ford

Hall, and of Ingress Park, Kent (who died in 1836, aged 82), occupy

a conspicuous place in tlie military annals of their country. The

eldest, Lieut. Col. William Havelock, K.H., born in 1795, was engaged

value of property assessed to the county-rate in 1 863

was 4,826/. Os. IQd.

South Htlton, or Htlton Feeey, is Zj miles west

of Wearmouth, and, besides the district church, con-

tains chapels belonging to the Independents, the

Weslej-an Methodists, the "Wesle_yan Association, and

the Primitive Methodists. A library and reading

room were established in 1844. There is a school,

conducted on the national system, for boys and girls

;

and the village contains a post-ofi&ce and a rural police

station. There are six ship-building yards, a saw-mill,

an iron manufactory, a patent rivet manufactory, a brick

manufactory, and an extensive earthenware manufac-

tory. The fu-st copperas works in the district were

established here by Mr. William Scurfield, surgeon

;

the pyrites or brasses being then regarded as of little

value. The works are now carried on by Mr. J. Rew-

castle. Mr. Scurfield having realised a handsome

fortune, purchased j)art of Ford estate. Ford paper-

mill belongs to Messrs. BlackweU and Co. ; it is worked

by steam, and manufactures printing papers, &c.t

Hylton Ferry contains about a dozen public houses.

In the neighbourhood there are several handsome

dwelling houses. Ford Hall was for many years the

residence of the Havelocks.t The ferry is the only

in all the victories of the Peninsula, and was wounded at Waterloo,

where he was aide-de-camp to Baron Alton, and received the cross of

the Hanover Guelphic order. The following singular act of heroism

is recorded of him in Kapler's PeninsiUar War :

—

"There, however, he (Giron) w.ns arrested by a strong line of ab-

batis, from behind which two French regiments poured a heavy fire.

The Spaniards stopped ; and though the adventurer Downie, now a

Spanish general, encouraged them with his voice, and they kept their

ranks, they seemed irresolute, and did not advance. There happened

to be present an officer of the 43rd regiment, named Havelock, who

being attached to General Alton's staff, was sent to ascertain Giron's

progress. His fiery temper could not brook the check. He took oft

his hat, called upon the Spaniards to follow him, and putting spurs

to his horse, at one bound cleai'ed the abbatis, and went headlong

among the enemy. Then the soldiere, shouting for " El chico bianco

(tho fair boy" —so they called him, for he w.as very young and had

light hair) with one shout broke through the French ; and this at tho

very moment when their centre was flying under the fire of Kemp's

skirmishers from the ' Puerto de Vera.'
"

This gallant soldier was killed on the 22nd of November, 1848,

whilst fighting at the head of his regiment, on the bank of the Chenab,

near the fort of Kamnuzzar, in north-western India. The 3rd and

4th Light Dragoons had been sent to dislodge a body of Sikh cavahy,

which opened right andhft to let them pass, until the dragoons, with

Col. Havelock at their head, were brought up by a nullah or ravine,

fiiU of matchlockmen, who opened a galling fire on the Europeans.

" A more fearful sight," says a correspondent of the Agra Messenger,

" was perhaps never witnessed on a field of battle, for the British nrmy

stood drawn up, both artillery and infantry, silent spectators of tha
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one within several miles ; it is much used, and has a

good landing place at each side of the river.* The

Pensher branch of the North-eastern railway passes

near the village, where there is a station.

From the earliest records, the manor of Ford,

Grindon, and Clowcroft belonged to the Hyltons.

The New-hall farm was purchased, in 1 750, by Teas-

dale Mowbray, Esq., for 3,700/. ; and George Mowbray,

Esq., afterwards conveyed it, with the mansion, to John

Goodchild, Esq., of Pallion, for 14,500/. The Ferry-

boat and Low Ford farms passed to George Longstafi'

for 2,700/. ; and the High Farm was purchased by

William Scui'field (proprietor of the copperas works)

and James Donnison for 12,500/.

The Scurfields are descended from John Scurfield,

Esq., of Crimdon House, Hart, who married, April 25,

] fi78, Mary Stratforth, of Monk-Hesledon, and had issue

one son and three daughters. He was buried at Hart,

1700-10, and was succeeded by his only son, George,

who married Joanna, daughter of — Burue, Esq., of

Brompton, Yorkshire, and had issue four sons and four

daughters. He was buried at Hart, Feb. 11, 1723-4,

and was succeeded by his son John, of Stockton, who

married, March 31, 1752, Jane, daughter of Richard

Reynolds. Mr. Scurfield died October 12, 1780, agfid

70, and was buiied at Hart. He was succeeded by his

younger brother William, formerly of Sunderland and

afterwards of Newcastle, surgeon ; he married Joanna,

only surviving child and ultimately heiress of Anthony

Smith, Esq., of Ryliope, by whom he acquired con-

bloody conflict of 450 sabres against an army amounting to more

than 15,000 men, with hear)- cannon." Havclock, cheering, led on

his 1st and '2nd. squadrons down to the hank, then into the nullah,

crossed it at a gallop, and coming to close quarters with the Sikhs,

charged through and through their ranks, and sabred hundreds of the

enemy under the most frightful showers of missiles from their cannon

and matchlocks; the Sikhs appearing to pick off the officers. The
British retired a short distance, formed up, were joined by the re-

mainder of their corps and the 5th cavalry, and again they went to

their work. Then, amidst a terrific cannonade from the enemy's

artillery, which swept away both men and horses, and a shower of

bullets which fell among the troops like hail, the gallant Havelock,

in the front of his regiment, charged amidst the fire from the batteries

of the enemy, and met his death. He had his riglit arm severely

wounded, and his left leg and left arm nearly cut oft", and was left

dead upon the field. Eleven of his men fell fighting by his side ; and
their decapitated bodies were found a fortnight after the fight, when
they were buried.

Another brother, Lieut. Col. Henry Havelock, C.B., deputy adju-

tant-general of the queen's forces in Bombay, is the author of a
" History of the Burmese War," and of a " Narrative of the War in

Affghanistan in 1838-9." This latter officer commanded the right

column of the handful of brave men (not exceeding 1,700) under tlie

gallant General Sale, when a glorious victory was obtained over

Akhbar Khan's numerous army at JoUahabad, on the 7lh of April,

siderable estates at that place and Carrowborough,

Northumberland, and by her had issue George, his

successor, and William, who married Dorothy, daughter

of Thomas Bowker, Esq., of Deckham HaU, Gateshead,

and had an only daughter and heiress, Joanna, who

married the present William Grey, Esq., of Norton,

by whom she had, with other issue, George-John Scur-

field, the present representative of the family. Mr.

Scurfield died Oct. 14, 1797, and was succeeded by his

eldest son, George, of Newcastle, clerk, M.A. ; upon

whose decease, unmarried, the bulk of the possessions

of his family devolved upon his surviving sisters, the

last of whom, Dorothy, devised a large portion of them

to her great-nephew, the present representative of the

family.

George-John Scurfield, Esq., M. A., St. John's

College, Cambridge, of Ford and Hurworth, was born

Feb. 4, 1810, and married, April 11, 1839, Aimie-

Alice, second daughter of the Rev. Hopper William-

son, of VVhickham, and rector of Hurworth, and by

her had issue four sons and one daughter. Mr.

Scurfield is the second son of the present William

Grey, Esq., of Norton, and by a royal licence, dated Oct.

22, 1831, he and his issue were authorised to take and

use the name and bear the arms of Scurfield. See p. 206.

Arms—Barry of six, per pale, counter-charged, pean and or.

Crest—On a wreath of the colours, a cubit arm, erect, in armour,

ppr, encircled by a wreath of oak, or, the hand grasping a carbine,

erect, also ppr.

Motto—Vidi vici.

EEsinENCE—Hurworth House.

1842. He was appointed a companion of the Most Honourable Mili-

tary Order of the Bath, for the important services wliich he rendered

on that occasion, and was afterwards honourably mentioned for his

services at the battles of Tezeen, Ista) iff, and Ferozipore, at which latter

engagament his conduct "commanded the esteem and admiration"

of the late Sir John M'C.askill. At the sanguinary and decisive battle

of Sobraon, he assisted in conveying the commander-in-chief's orders

to various points, " in the thickest of the figlit, and the hottest of the

fire." A third brother, JIajor C. T. Havelock, late captain in the

ICth Lancers, "was present," says Lord Gough, "in the field at

Sobraon, but unable, from the effects of a wound [received at Aliwal],

to discharge the duties of his oflice." He then held the appointment

of deputy assistant quarter-master-gencral of cavalry. The youngest

brother, Thomas Havelock, was killed in the Spanish service.

* At the Durham assizes, March 7, ]8-j6, a case was tried, Scur-

field V. Ettrick, proprietor of the ferrj'. The defendant had stopped a

road on the north side of the boat-house, by building a stable and

coach-house, thougli, as was alleged on behalf of the plaintiff, that

was the road used by the public for upwards of 40 years, whilst tho

road on the south side was not a public road. Before the conclusion

of tlie trial, an arrangement was made, tlic defendant undertaking to

make a good road, 14 feet wide, on tlio soutli side of the boat-liouse
;

and a verdict was given by consent for the plaiutill', with damages

of 40s.
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The Ford estate pays a modus or prescription of

10/., due at Martinmas, to the rector of Bishopwear-

mouth, and two horse-gaits, or pasturage for two horses,

in Claxheugh, to the said rector, in lieu of aU tithes.

An estate in this township, mth a spacious mansion-

house, containing 216 a. e. 28 p., all freehold and

tithe-free, was the property of the late Ralph Fenwick,

Esq. A waggon-way, which passes over it, pays an

annual way-leave of 376/. 5a-.

ClaxheiKjh Rock is a high limestone precipice over-

looking the Wear.

SILKSWORTH.

This township and hamlet is near the south-western

boundary of the parish, about 4 miles from Bishopwear-

mouth, and contains 1,988 acres. It includes eleven

farms and two windmills ; the annual value of property

assessed to the county-rate in 1853 being 3,979/. 18.s.

The township is attached to the Houghton-le-Spriug

Union. For the population, see p. 393. The village

contains a post-office. A handsome school-house, in

which divine ser\ice is performed every Sunday, was

erected in 1851 by W. R. Robinson, Esq., of Silksworth

Hall, from a design by Mr. Cummings of Bishopwear-

mouth. Silksuorth House is the property and residence

of Major-General Beckwith. The Silksworth Hall

estate pays a yearly out-rent of 6/. 13s. id. to the

Free Grammar-school of Rivington in Lancashire.

There was an ancient chapel at Silksworth, dedicated

to St. Leonard, and endowed with a small landed

revenue ; but the dates of its foundation and removal

are equally unknown. The Inclosui-e Commissioners for

England and Wales gave notice, April 14, 1853, that

application had been made by Col. William Beckwith,

and P. M. Beckwith, his wife, for an advance of 1,500/.

by way of loan, for the drainage of lands at Silksworth.

The ancient lords of Horden were the earliest known

proprietors of Silksworth ; but it afterwards belonged

to the convent of Durham, under whom it was held by

the Emildon family, at a free rent of 13«. Id. It

passed by mai-riage to the Middletons of Belsay,

Northumberland, from whom it descended to the pre-

sent proprietor, William Robinson Robinson, Esq.,

born July 17, 1804 ; married, May 2, 1839, his second

cousin, Sarah-Dorothy, only sm-viving daughter of the

present Wm. Grey, Esq., of Norton, and by her had

issue William Grey, born August 14, 1846, and two

daughters. IMr. Robinson is the second sm'viving son of

the late, and brother of the present Thomas Robinson

Grey, Esq., of Norton; and by a royal license, dated

Sej)t. 22, 1838, he and his issue were authorised to

take and thenceforth use the surname of Robinson

only, and also bear the arms of Robinson.

Mr. Robinson, through his paternal ancestor, George

Middleton, Esq., traces his descent in an uninterrupted

line, through twenty-five generations, from William the

Conqueror ; Gundreda, fifth daughter of that monarch,

having married William de Warren, Earl of Warren

and Surrey, one of whose descendents through the

blood, in the interval, of many noble and illustrious

families, was the above mentioned George Middleton,

Esq. A pedigree, illustrating this fact, is regularly

recorded in the Herald's College.

' Thomas Robinson, Esq., of Sunderland, married, in

1727, Margaret (eldest daughter and co-heiress with her

sister Anne, the wife of Sir Wm. Middleton, Bart.,

M.P., Belsay Castle, of Wm. Ettrick, Esq., of Silks-

worth, by Elizabeth his wife, who was eldest daughter

and co-heiress of Geo. Middleton, Esq., of Silksworth,

by Anne, his wife, sole child and heiress of Thomas

Ayre, Esq., of Bishopwearmouth) ; and by her had

issue two sons and three daughters. Mr. Robinson

was biu'ied at Sunderland, Feb. 5, 1 736, and was suc-

ceeded by his eldest son, W'illiam Robinson, captain

of dragoons, who married Elizabeth, daughter of

Buckley Butler, of Kilkenny, Ireland, by whom he

had an only son and heir, William, who succeeded to

the estate of Silksworth Hall, on the death of his great-

aunt. Lady Middleton, in 1703, and died unmarried in

1834, devising the family estate to his cousin, William

Robinson Grey, Esq., the present representative of the

family.

Akms—Gutte d'eau, on a chevron, between three bucks, trippant,

or, ,as many cinque foiU, gu.

CiiEST—On a wreath of the colours, a buck, or, supporting with

his dexter fore leg an escutcheon, quarterly, gu. and gold, in the first

quarter a cross fioiy, arg.

Mono—Post nubila Phoebus.

Gkindon is a hamlet in this township, and adjoins

West Herrington and Ofierton, in the parish of

Houghton-le-Spring. It passed from the Hyltons to

the Watsons, and has since belonged to the Blakes,

Thoralds, Milbanks, and Hoppers. Grindon House

is an elegant family mansion, with garden and other

appm'tenances, 2j miles from Bishopwearmouth. It

was sold in May, 1853, by the ti'ustees of — Gales,

Esq., to John S. Alcock, Esq.

Faknton Hall is another hamlet, anciently part of

the possesions of the monastry of Hexham. It was
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sold, in 1010, by the Hyltons, to the Peppers, of

Cleasby, Yorkshire, from whom it passed, through the

Cuthberts and Donnisons, to the Rev. Watson Stote,

who conveyed it, in ISOl, to Anthony Hopper, Esq., of

Silksworth. * Thomley Close estate is a freehold,

containing S4 acres, with a good house, plantation, &c.,

free from tithe, except a modus of (id. per acre.

TUNSTALL.

This township, 2 miles south of Bishopwearmouth,

comprises 801 acres, the whole being held by lease

under the see of Durham. In 1831, it contained 10

inhabited houses ; and the property was assessed for

the county-i'ate, in 1853, at 1,583^ 17s. Td. The popu-

lation is given in page 393. The principal objects in

the township are two lofty, round-topped limestone

hills, called Maiden Paps, from the summit of which

may be obtained a fine view of the coast from Hartle-

pool to Tynemouth, and which form conspicuous objects

from the sea. A Roman celt was found here in 1805.

In 1814, a rude sepulchre was discovered on the north

side of the southern peak, formed of slabs of common
limestone, and containing fragments of three rude

Saxon urns, ornamented with zigzag, and containing a

rich dark mould, interspersed with small fragments of

bone and human teeth.

The Dales, an ancient and respectable family, held

leases in Dalton upwards of three centuries ago. So

far back as 1490, John Dale of Dalton appears as a

witness. Edward Dale of Tunstall, descended from

Dale of Dalton, married, in 1G72, Joan Shepperdson,

and had issue. He was succeeded by his second sou,

Thomas, who married in 1713, Margaret,! youngest

daughter and co-heiress of George Middleton, Esq., of

Silksworth, by Anne, his wife, sole child and heu-ess

of Thomas Ayre, Esq., of Bishopwearmouth, and

granddaughter of Geo. Middleton, Esq., of Silksworth,

by Elizabeth, his wife, daughter and co-heiress of

Christopher Wharton, Esq., of Wingate Grange,

lineally descended through the Musgraves, FitzwilHams,

and Warrens, from Gundreda, daughter of William

the Conqueror. By his lady, Mr. Dale left at his de-

cease, in 174 1 , ason and successor, Edward, of Tunstall,

* The body of one of the largest badgers ever seen in the north of

England was found in April, 185:!, by Mr. Brack, farmer, of Low Far-

rington. It appeared to have died from mortification of a wound in

the neck, probably received in a combat with some enemy. Its ex-

treme length was 3 feet G inches
;
girth of the body, 2 feet 4 inches

;

height, l.j inches ; total weight, i st. 8 lb. After having the skin

stuffed, Mr. Brack presented it to the Borough Museum.

who married, in 1741, Eleanor, eldest daughter of tlie

Rev. John Lawrence, rector of Bishopwearmouth, and
had issue one son and three daughters ; he died in

1753, and was succeeded by his son Edward, who was
baptized July 17, 1752; he married Frances, daughter

and heiress of Francis Forster, Esq., of Elford, North-

umberland, by whom he had six sons and three

daughters. Mr. Dale died in March, 1820, aged 73,

and was succeeded by his eldest son, the present Ed-
ward Dale, Esq., of Tunstall.

RYHOPE.

At page 438 will be found a description of the district

chapehy of Ryhope. The township, which contains

15 farms, and (in 1851) 8G inhabited houses, comprises

1,870 acres, of which 307 are covered with tidal water.

In 1853, the property was assessed for the county-rate

at 4,440/. 18*. 'id. A statement of the population is

given in p. 393. The village of Ryhope is pleasantly

situated ^^ miles south from Bishopwearmouth, on the

turnpike from that place to Stockton, and contains

several good houses, well adapted for visitors dming
the bathing season. Besides the church, there is a

Wesleyan Methodist chapel in the village. The place

contains four inns, several public-houses, two corn-

mills, shopkeepers, a post-office, and a rural police

station. Jtyhope House is the residence of Edward
Dale, Esq., of Tunstall. Ryhope Dene extends about

two miles from the coast, and displays similar beauties

(though on a smaller scale) to those which have been

described in the account of Castle Eden Dene (see p.

300). Ryhope Bay affords a good shelter for batliing

machines. The right to the "wreck of the sea" was

exercised by the bishop in 1614. This right, extending

from Ryhope Dene to Sunderland pier, is now held by

lease under the bishop for 21 years, and was advertised

for sale by auction, on the 18th February, 1825, with

a mansion house, the East, West, and Field House

farms, and other property in Ryhope.

The Blue Houses estate contains 132 acres, with a

mansion house : it is partly copyhold, held of the

manor of Houghton, and the other part is held by lease

from the bishop for three lives, subject to an out-rent

tThc two elder daughters and co-heiresses of Geo. Middleton, Escj.,

of Silksworth, were—Elizabeth, married to Wm. Ettrick, Esc]., who
purchased the Silksworth estate (their eldest daughter and co-hcires8,

Margaret, married Tliomas Robinson, Esq., Sunderland); andFranceg

married Rev. Robert Henderson, vicar of Feltoii, Noi'thumberland,

son of Robert Henderson, physician to King James I.
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of 2/. 2s. llhd. The whole is also subject to a modus

of 9s. 8d. in lieu of corn tithes. Chester Stones farm,

contaiuing 23 acres, is situated on the west side of the

turnpike road between Sunderland and Stockton.

Bf/hojie Grange leasehold estate contains 63 acres.

The tithes of corn and grass for seventeen farms iu

Ryhope were held by the Goodchild family, and -were

sold to various parties on November 17, 1829.

Surtees derives the name of this place from its deep

riven dene. Two Ryliopes are mentioned in Iving

Athelstan's donation to St. Cuthbert ; but Boldon Book

describes only one, which, with Burdon, was occupied

by twenty-two villains.

The Rev. John William Smith, A.M., of Jesus Col-

lege, Cambridge, of Ryhope, and of Carrowbrough,

Northumberland, was born September 4, 1811, and

married, July 18, 1839, his second-cousin, Maria,

fourth daughter of the late Thomas Robinson Grey,

Esq., of Norton. Mr. Smith is the third son of the

present "William Grey, Esq., of Norton, by Joanna,

daughter and heiress of William Scurfield, and by a

royal license, dated Sept. 2, 1833, he andhis issue were

authorised to take and use the sm-name of Smith and

also bear the arms of Smith. See the pedigrees

of Grey, Scurfield, and Robinson.

Arms—Arg, on a bend, g\i., between two nnicorns' heads, erased

arg., armed, maned, and crined, or, three cross crosslets, of the last.

Cbest—On a mount, vert, a stork, wings elevated, arg., charged on

the breast and on either wing with a cross crosslet, gu, in the beak a

snake, ppr.

Motto—Tenax ex fidelis.

Residence—Over Dinsdale Hiill, Yorkshire.

Ryhope Colliery.—The royalty of this place appears

to have been leased under Bishop Barrington ; but,

under the idea that no coal was to be found under the

magnesian limestone, the lessee resigned the lease.

A new lease was afterwards granted to the late Lord

Barrington, for the usual term of 21 years, renewable

every seven years at a fine of about 1,000/. Lady

Barrington granted a lease to the Haswell Coal Com-

pany for 37 years, from May 13, 1831 (subsequently

extended to 42 years from May, 1849), at certain fixed

rents. No winning was for some years made upon

the royalty ; the state of the coal trade having been

such as to discourage the advance of the necessary

capital, estimated at 100,000/. Hugh Taylor, Esq..

stated. May 17, 1849, that the company had then paid

dead rents to the amount of 18,327/. 17s. lit/., and,

with a simple interest at four per cent, to 23,850/.

7s. \\d.* A survey, however, was made in January,

1849, by the agents of the company, with a view to

opening out a colliery ; and sinking operations have

since been commenced on the estate of the Rev. W.
Smith, at the west end of the village.

BURDON.

This township forms the most southern part of the

parish of Bishopwearmouth, and is attached to the

Easington Union, with which its accounts, for the year

ended Lady-day, 1855, were as follow :—Receipts from

poor-rates, 47/. 8s. ; in aid of poor-rate, 15s. ; total,

48/. 3s. Expended for in-maintenance, 19s. ; out-door

relief, 16/. 4s.; workhouse loans re-paid, 2/. 14s.;

salaries and rations of officers, 3/. 9s. ; other expenses,

2/. lis.; total connected with relief, 25/. 17s. Con-

stables' expenses before justices, 21. 2s. ; registration

fees to clergymen, 6.«. ; county-rate, 24/. Os.
;

parUa-

mentary registration, 18s. ; for all other pui-poses, 3/. 5s.;

total expenditure, 56/. 14s. The township contains 1,109

acres; and in 1851, there were 20 inhabited houses

and 2 uninhabited. The population is given at p. 393.

The annual value of property assessed to the county-

rate in 1853 was 1,457/. 10». The villages of East

and West Burdon, 4 miles south-by-west from Bishop-

wearmouth, are distinguished in Boldon Book as Great

and Little Burdon, and are sometimes called Townc

and Old Burdon. The latter estate contains 76 acres,

and pays a modus of I'^hd. in lieu of hay tithe.

The township contains eight farms, a public house, and

an elegant villa called Tunstall Lodge, formerly belong-

ing to George Robinson, Esq., of Hendon Lodge, and

now the property of J. S. Robinson, Esq. Bm'don

gave name to an ancient yeomanly family.

OUT-PLACES AND TOWNSHIPS IN MONK-
WEARMOUTK PARISH.

MoNKWEAEMOUTH CoLLiERY.—This remarkable col-

liery is situated about a quarter of a mile north-west

from Wearmouth bridge. It was commenced in May,

1820. In sinking it, 31 seams of coal were passed

through, varying in thicliness from \\ in. to Oft. 2\'va..,

and forming an aggregate of 47 feet 2 inches of coal,

including the foreign substances with which the several

seams are insterstratified. Only one of them, however,

• The gross amount paid for " Uead Kcnts," in the counties of

Durham and North<imberland, is estimated by Mr. Hall at 360,0001

per annum ; and for smface way-leaves, 150,000;.
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was found of workable thickness and merchantable

quality. The author of the "History and Description

of Fossil Fuel " observes that the shaft " has attained

a considerably greater depth than any mine in Great

Britain (or estimating its depth from the level of the

sea, tlian any mine in the world). The upper part of

the pit is siuik through the lower magnesian limestone

strata, which overlap the south-eastern district of the

great Newcastle coal-field, and which, including a

stratum of ' freestone sand ' at the bottom of the lime-

stone, extended at Monkwearmouth to the thickness of

330 feet, and discharged towards the bottom of the

strata the prodigious quantity of 3,000 gallons of water

per minute—for the raising of which into an off-take

drift, a double acting steam engine, working with a

power of from 180 to 200 horses, was found necessary.

The first unequivocal stratum of the coal formation,

viz., a bed of coal 1 ^ inches thick, was not reached tiU

August, 18.31, (being about 344 feet below the surface,)

after which the tremendous influx of watei', which had

so long impeded the sinking operations, was ' stopped

back ' by the metal tubbing, which extended from the

above bed of coal to within 20 yards of the surface.

The sinking now proceeded with spirit—still, no valu-

able bed of coal was reached, although the shaft had

passed considerably above GOO feet into the coal mea-

sures, and much deeper than had hitherto been found

requisite for reaching some of the known seams. It

became evident that the miners were in unknown
ground. A new 'feeder' of water was encountered at

the groat depth of 1,000 feet, requiring fresh pumps
and a fresh outlay of money. The prospects of the

owners became unpromising in the eyes of most men,

and were denounced as hopeless by many of the coal-

viewers ! Coal-viewing, however, had as yet been

limited to some 200 or 220 fathoms ; and the viewers

of the Messrs. Pemberton (the enterprising owners of

the colliery) were not to be bounded by such ordinaiy

depths ; they considered that the thickness of the coal

formation might be'vastly greater, where protected by

the superincumbent limestone, than whei'e exposed to

those denudations which, in the neiglibourhood of the

' rise ' collieries, had probably swept away the strata

through which their own shaft had hitherto been sunk

;

that they were, therefore, justified in anticipating the

lai'ge and known scams at greater depths ; and that, in

case those larger seams had (as was intimated) been

spUt into smaller strata, the same causes which in

other places had produced their subdivision, might, at

Monkwearmouth, have effected their junction. They

continued, therefore, their sinking, and in October,

1834, reached a seam of considerable value and thick-

ness, at the depth of 1,758 feet below the surface.

—

The outlay of capital in this spirited undertaking has

been immense—it is said not less than between 80,000/.

and 100,000/."

The seam of coal above mentioned was considered

to be identical with the Bensham seam of the Tyne, or

Maudlin seam of the Wear ; and the shaft was there-

fore continued, in the expectation of reaching the

Hutton, or most valuable seam. This was accomplished

on the 4th of April, 1840, at 19 fathoms below the

Bensham. The Hutton seam is 4 feet 10 inches in

thickness, and of excellent quality.

Though, in 1835, the coUiery had been brought into

a yearly produce of 40,000 or 50,000 tons, it had, until

that period, never been rated to the poor; but as it

was now known that several hundred pounds a year

was paid as certain rent to the dean and chapter ; that

coal was brought out from below two or three townships

;

and thatthere were valuable buildings, engines, railways,

staiths, &c., connected with the colliery, the township

determined that it should be so rated. To this the

lessees objected, upon the grounds that, although rents

were paid, coals raised, and even j)rofits realized, yet

that the profit and the quantity raised were so dispro-

portionate to any return for their capital, that, until

the colliery arrived at such a magnitude, and the mine

was so laid open as fairly to test the speculation, it was

unfair to rate them. The point was about to be con-

tested at law, when it was determined to be left to the

arbitration of Mr. Clayton Walters, barrister, under a

rule of court. Each pariy supported their claims ; and

on the 25th October, 1837, the award was delivered,

which concluded as follows :

—

" I find that, at the time the said rate or assessment,

so appealed against, was made, the said Monkwear-

mouth coUiery, including all the premises and erections,

was of no rateable value. I, therefore, do award and

determine that the said rate or assessment, so appealed

against, be annulled ; and that the rate or assessment

which hath since been made in respect to the said col-

liery, be also annulled. I do further award, that the

said respondents forthwith pay to the said appellants

the costs of the said appeal, as between party and party.

And I do further award, that the appellants and re-

spondents shall respectively bear and pay the costs of

the said reference. And I do further award, that the

respondents do pay, on the 3rd of November next, the

amount of my costs and charges."
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The subsequent discovery of the Huttou seam, above

noticed, gave such an impulse to the prospects of the

colliery, that it was transferred into the hands of the

present parties, with all its stock, at a sum bordering

upon 90,000/., followed up with further improvements

and an expenditure of 20,000/. more.

" The peculiarities of this pit," says Mr. Elliott,

viewer of the colliery, in his evidence before a com-

mittee of the House of Commons, " are the extraor-

dinary depth, namely, 265 fathoms to the Bensham
seam, 15 fathoms lower being sunk to for ' standage,'

or for a reservoir of water. The ordinary time con-

sumed in going down and coming up the shaft is from

two to three minutes respectively. The tub for drawing

coals, and also men and boys, is 7 feet high. It holds

105 pecks of coals [Newcastle pecks]. The weight of

these 105 pecks of coals by themselves is 30 cwt. [The

weight of the rope itself is nearly five tons.] The shaft

produces always, or nearly so, a sensible weight on the

drum of his ears when he descends and ascends the

upcast shaft, which is alwaj's the case ; the other divi-

sion of the brattice being that for the pumping appara-

tus, and only descended by the engineer and sometimes

the viewer-in-chief."

The jjit is more than foiu- times as deep as the height

of St. Paul's chui'ch, London. The cost of the pair of

ropes used in drawing was 550/. 12s. Gd. The average

temperature in the workings ranges from 78 to 80 deg.;

and in some jjarts of the mine it occasionally rises to

89 deg. Mr. W. J. Dodd, surgeon to the colliery, in

his evidence, describes a species of boil, caused by the

extraordinary heat of the workings, and the irritating

nature of the water in the pit, to which fresh workmen
are liable for the fii'st two or three months. At the

bottom of the i^it, the mercury ordinarily stands

in the barometer at 32 inches, and water boils at 220

deg. Fahi-enheit.

The small coal consumed by the engines has been

estimated at 3,445 tons per annum. The waggons are

* The L.ukd o' B.vnff.—On the 3id of April, 1849, a " gentleman"

and " lady " drove up in a gig to the door of FulwcU inn. The gen-

tleman introduced himself as the "Laird o' Banff," and possessed of

estates in the north of Scotland yielding rental to the amount of

7,000/. per annum. He displayed a large bundle of bank notes, and

invited the landlord to dine with him, and to send for all the respect-

able farmers and tradesmen around for the same purpose ; whilst the

workmen and others in the kitchen were regaled with brandy. The
Laird and Lady remained enjoying themselves for two days, when the

gentleman and his host rode out together to Cleadon, where the latter

according to tlie custom of landlords from home, treated his friend,

who also insisted that the waiter should keep the change. Some
people iu the house, however, began to think they had seen the laird

transferred from the pit's mouth to the Wear by means

of an inclined plane. The coals are known in the mar-

ket as Wearmouth Wallsend. The colliery is now

worked by W. Bell, Esq., and Partners, who have ex-

pended an immense sum in improvements, and in-

creased its capabilities fourfold, so that 1,700 tons of

coals can now be raised daily. Upwai'ds of 1,200 men
and boys are employed; and the fortnight's pay

amounts to from 1,000/. to 2,000/. The system of

working, introduced a few years ago by Mr. Elliott, is

that called " long wall," in contradistinction to " pillar

and stall " working, formerly imiversal in this district.

The colliery pays something more than one-third of

the rates and taxes of the entire township.

Besides the dwellings of persons connected with the

colliery, its proximity to the town has caused it to be

surrounded by buUdings inhabited by a large popula-

tion. Complaints have been occasionally made of the

nuisance caused in the neighbourhood by the spon-

taneous combustion of the j)it he&i} ; and sand, lime,

and other substances have been applied by the pro-

prietors of the colliery to remedy the alleged evil. A
school-room has been erected by the colliery owners,

who pay a stated salary to the master ; a few years ago,

it was consecrated by the Bishop of Diu-ham, and ser-

vice performed in it twice every Sunday, under the

charge of the clergymen of the parish.

FULWELL.

This township, for the extent and population of which

see page 393, is generally held by lease under the dean

and chapter of Diu'ham. The village is situated a little

to the east of the turnpike road leading from Sunder-

land to South Shields. The mansion house called

Carley Hill is situated on the road, where there is an

inn,* a windmill, and an extensive range of freehold

lime-kilns. From their elevated situation, these erec-

tions form conspicuous objects from the sea and the

surromiding countrv.

before ; and, finding he wr.s observed, he hastily mounted his horse

and galloped back to FiUwell, followed by the landlord. Whilst the

party were at supper, the constable of Cleadon, who had recci%cd in-

telligence through the electric telegraph, entered and arrested the

laird in the queen's name, on a charge of having fraudulently taken

away a horse and gig from a stable keeper at Newcastle. To the

host's utter dismay, the bundle of notes proved to be those of the

" Bank of Elegance ;" and their possessor, whose name was Davison,

the son of a butcher in Shields, was proved to be a deserter from the

G3rd regiment. He was accordingly removed to Newcastle jail. The
" lady " was a servant of good reputation, whom he had induced by

his false representations to leave a respectable situation.
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Some discoveries have occasionally been made at

Fulwell. A writer in the Gentleman's Magazine for

October, 1703, states that, in 1759, in removing a ridge

of limestone and rubbish, upon one of the quarries,

there was found the skeleton of a human body, which

measured 9 feet 6 inches in length ; the shin-bone

measuring 2 feet 3 inches fi'oni the knee to the ankle.

The head lay to the west, and was defended from the

superincumbent earth by four large flat stones. Two
Roman coins were found near the right hand.

In November, 1 820, whilst a quanjman was removing

the surplus soil at Carley Hill quarry, he found a Roman
figure, which appeared to be a Lar. There were found,

at the same time, several portions of human bones and

a quantity of common rock limpet shells, embedded in

limestone rubbish and surface soil. Several excavations

have been discovered in the solid limestone rock at

Carley Hill, similar to stone coffins, and containing

human bones. A skull and some hones, dug up by

the side of Fulwell Hill, in August, 1823, were conjec-

tured to be the remains of some one who had fallen

here during the contests between the royal and

parliamentary forces.

One of the most curious discoveries, made in these

quarries some years ago, was a square pit, within which

were deposited a quantity of stags' horns, cut into

lengths of three or four inches, and resting amongst a

deep coloured substance most resembling decayed

animal matter. It has been observed that the hoi-ns

of deer have been discovered in several parts of Britain,

on the sites of Roman temples, or places dedicated to

religious rites.

A leasehold farm in Fulwell is attached to the

Professorship of Poetry in the University of Oxford,

the gift of the Rev. Henry Birkhead, LL.D., of All

Souls College, Oxford, the founder of that lecture, and

a great part of whose estate consisted in a lease from

the church of Durham.

SOUTHWICK.

The ecclesiastical district of Southwick has been de-

scribed in page 443 ; and the extent and population of

the township are given in page 393. The village is

situated about l^ miles from Sunderland. That part

of it which is called Hit//i Southwick stands on the side

of a hill, above 100 feet above the river, to which the

ground slopes gradually down. The old turnpike road

from Sunderland to Newcastle passes through the

village and township to the boundary stone a little

VOL. n.

beyond the Red Houne. High Southwick contains the

church of the Establishment, the Ebenezer Congrega-
tional chapel, and a Wesleyan Methodist chapel, opened
November 24, 1822. The village, which contains a

post-office, is very pleasantly situated, commanding a

view of the windings of the Wear for a considerable

distance, with the busy establishments which crowd its

banks ; whilst to the east, the prospect extends to the

port and the German Ocean. The "Wear Lime
Works" are on the north-west of the village, which
contains a ropery and seven public houses. Low
Southwick is situated on the north shore of the Wear,
and contains twelve ship-building yards, a saw mill,

two earthenware manufactories, a crown glass and a

bottle manufactory, five public houses, and four beer
shops. There are a Primitive Methodist chapel, a

Wesleyan Reformers' chapel, a commercial and nautical

school, two day schools, and a school conducted on the

national system. On the visit of the government in-

spector, June 7, 1853, there were 65 boys present at

the examination ; but the average attendance was 85.

General observations :

—

" Buildings, fair-sized room ; offices in a very small yard ; no class-

room. Desks, three groups of three parallel ; a clock. Playground,
none. Books fair. Apparatus, four black boards, three easels.

Organization
; standard of classification : reading and writing. Four

classes f<ir general work, under master, with certificate of merit, and
two pupil teachers ; one division for geography, three groups for

arithmetic. Each pupil teacher is confined to one class for three

months. Methods capable of improvement. Discipline and instrua-

tion fair."

There were, at the same time, 42 girls present, out

of an average attendance of 75 :

—

" Building, fair-sized room ; no class-room. Three desks. Play-

ground, books, methods, discipline, and instruction, same as boys'."

Southwick was formerly supplied with water from

two springs at the west end of the high village ; the

inhabitants of Low Southwick obtaining theirs by

means of water-caiis. The whole now participate in

the advantages derived from the pipes of the Sunder-

land and South Shields Water Company.

In the beginning of the 14th century, the local name
was borne by John de Suthwick, after whose death the

property descended to the Hedworths. This family,

however, changed their residence here for Harverton ,

but it was not till 1030 that they sold the estate to

George Grey, Gent., of Great Lumley, for 650/. In

1 638, he also purchased a leasehold farm, in Southwick,

from Philip Ebutts, Gent. In the following year, "he

and Anthony Smith of Durham can-y'd to king and

councell a petition, from the tenants of dean and chap-

4 V
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ter, complaining tliat the dean and chapter had en-

creased the fines of their tenants upon renewing their

leases, conti-ary to a decree made in the court of York

in the time of Queen Elizabeth. Dr. Balcanquall, then

dean, complained of tliis petition ; and the council

ordered George Grey and Anthony Smith to pay all

the money which had been collected by the tenants

for their expenses (which was 80'i-) unto one of the

clerks of the council, and committed them, March 10,

1639, to the Gatehouse, until they produced the names

of all the tenants who subscribed the petition, and they

continued prisoners till April 13, 1640, upon meeting

of the parliament, and then discharged upon giving in

the list, and had the 80 1'- repaid. He (George Grey)

and Smith petitioned yc House of Commons, com-

plaining of these proceedings of the council." Grey

and Smith were afterwards required by General Leslie

and the commissioner for the Scottish army to warn

all the tenants of the bishop, dean and chapter, &c.,

not to pay their rents to their landlords, but for

use of the army. Mr. Grey invented a plan for " boyl-

iug liquore and making salt," which proved a failure ;

and he was consequently imprisoned in the Fleet for

debt in 1655. He died in 1601.

George Grey, son of the preceding, was born in

1617, and served in the parliamentary army. In 1651,

he purchased the inheritance of his dean and chapter

property at Southwick ; but it was reclaimed on the

Restoration, and he had to pay 230/. for renewing his

lease. He died at Southwick, September 13, 1702.

His son, George Grey, bom 28th February, 1651-2,

was sometime rector of Lawton, afterwards of Burniston,

near Bedale, Yorkshire, where he died .June 13, 1711.

George, his eldest son, born October 20, 1680, was a

councillor' at-law. He married Alice, daughter of

James Claveriug, Esq., of Greencroft,* and left maxims

for improving his estate, which contain some judicious

directions on irrigation and draining, and shew his skill

* The somewhat amusing diary of this gentleman has heen pre-

sevved. Tn recording the day of his birth, he adds, " About this time

the great comet was seen." The manner of travelling is referred to

nnder the date of March 18, 1684-5, " Came from Cheshire to Burnis-

ton with my father ; I was carryd on a pillow on horseback before

one Tho. Frank." On July 10, 1704 (then aged 24), " Went into

Yorkshire in stage-coach, with Mr. Leonard Wastell, my cozen Tho.

Richardson's widow, and others. I eat on the road some raisins,

which in my pocket happened to mix with a dentifrice made of beaten

china, which threw me into so violent vomiting and purging that I

had like to have dyd on the road, and performed my journey with

great difficulty." August 19, 1710, " At York assizes, and from thence

went to Durham assizes, and then to Newcastle, and lodged at Mr.

£obert Sutton's in Gateshead, aud Mri>. Sutton then recommended

in agriculture. He died May 24, 1772, aged 91, and

was buried at St. Nicholas' church, Newcastle.! He
settled a part of his estate at Southwick on the marriage k

of his only son, George Grey, with Elizabeth Ogle, of
'

Kirkley. Major George Grey, son of George and

Elizabeth, sold a portion of the estate to his mother,

who devised it to her daughter Elizabeth, Coimtess

Grey. The other portion descended to the daughters

and co-heirs of Major Grey, who sold their interest,

about 1810, to John Stafford, Esq. In 1808, the

Countess Grey conveyed her part of Southwick to

Thomas Brunton, Esq., for 7,000/. It is now the pro-

perty of Joseph John Wright, Esq., of Sunderland.

During the operation of removing the soil or clay

from the quarries on Southwick Hills, to the north-

west of the village, human bones, and sometimes entire

skeletons, have been frequently discovered. In one

instance, two or three skeletons were found together,

around each of the skuUs of which, as they lay, was

placed a circle of limpet shells, as if for ornament.

HYLTON.

The township of Hylton forms the western portion of

the parish of Monkwearmouth, and of the district

chapeliy of Southwick. For its extent and population

see p. 393. The village of North Hylton is situated on

the north bank of the Wear, 3^^ miles west from Sun

derland, and contains a Wesleyan Chapel, a Wesleyan

Reformers' chapel, and a parochial school. There are

two brick and tile manufactories, a pjToligneous acid

and naphtha manufactory, ten ship-building yards, and

a few public houses. Hylton Ferry estate, containing

293 acres, on both sides of the Wear, in 1820 produced

about 1,200/. a year, and was sold, on the 1 1th July in

the same year, for 29,500 guineas, Rear-admiral

Thomas James Maling again offered the estate for sale

in 1839. Hylton Place, a neat mansion, with 82 acres

my dear Alice to me for a wife, though I had never heard of such a

person." 1711, " I went to Robert Ellison's, Esq., at Hebburn, Jan.

13, and staid mostly there till 14 Feb. Mr. EUison proposed my dear

Alice to me for a wife, carryd me to Ravensworth Castle to see her,

went to Greencroft, and proposed the match to Mr. Claveringand

wife, her father and mother." May '28, 1712, " Came from Yorkshire

to Hebburn, and soon after made my first visit to my mistress ;
re-

turned to Gatonby June 5." Sept 29, " Bought the wedding ring."

Oct. U, "Got a licence." Oct. 13, "I married my dear Alice."

t Dr. Zachary Grej* his brother, was editor of Hudibras. He was

educated in Trinity Hall, Cambridge, and was afterwards Fellow of

St. John's, by which society he was presented to the rectory of Hough-

ton-Conquest, near Ampthill, Bedfordshire, in 1722. He died Nov.

25, 17G6, aged 78.
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of land attached, was built by Robert Reay, Esq., who

purchased the Bank-head part of the estate from the

Pembertons. It was offered for sale on October 4,

1842, and now belongs to George Hudson, Esq., of

Grange.

On the 20th November, 1851, the inclosure com-

missioners for England and Wales gave notice that

application had been made by Jemima Maling, of Mal-

vern Little, in the county of Worcester, widow, for the

sum of BOO/, by way of loan, for the drainage of Wood-

house farm, in this township.

Hylton Woodside is the name of a farm containing

217 a. Or. 2Hp. The Haurjh, containing 9 a. 3 e. 26 p.,

is the site of the building yards, &c. Both the estates

are freehold and tithe free.

The ancient ferry across the Wear conveys horses

and carriages, and is hauled across the river by a rope.

Proposals were issued, October I, 1817, for erecting a

bridge ; and it was computed that 5,000/., raised in

shares of 25/. each, would defray the expense of an

act of parliament, and purchase the right of ferry. The

scheme, howevei', was not persevered in.

HYLTON CASTLE.

This ancient baronial residence is situated three

miles west from Wearmouth Bridge, and on the side

of a lofty hill, which slopes down to the Wear. Its

situation, which Surtees describes as " low and se-

questered (according to the exact import of the original

name, Heltini)," is, on the contrary, open on the east

and west, and is only overlooked by the rising ground

on the north. It is a remarkable specimen of castel-

lated architecture, both in size and decoration, and

appears to have originally consisted of a keep only, as

tliere are no indications of external defences. It is

said to have been erected in 1072 ; but no part war-

rents a claim to such high antiquity, and Mr. Billings

places the date of its erection between 1200 and 1300.

The same writer attributes the wings to the last Lord

of Hylton, who died in 1746, by whom the castle

" underwent an Italianization." In a view by Buck,

however, published in 1728, the north wing is given.

The keep is an oblong of OG by 36 feet, having four

octagonal turrets surmounting its western front, and

two circular ones at the angles of the eastern front,

which has also a square tower projecting from the

centre of the main building. The external dimensions

of the turrets are 1 feet 9 inches, and the clear width

of the internal octagon is 9 feet 4 inches. " In the

pendent tracery surmounting the central compartment,

in the octagonal turrets terminating the square piers

which divide the front into compartments, and in the

shields on its walls, there is a strong resemblance to

the style of Lumley ;" but the turrets are larger and of

finer character than those of the latter castle, which

have no decoration, nor the corbel between the foun-

dation-stones, which forms a peculiar feature at Hylton.

The shields of arms on the west front are disposed so

irregularly, as to testify that they have been removed
thither from other places. In the highest place are

the royal arms, three^P^^/s-rfc^-Z/squartering three lions

passant ; and beneath, in a confused manner, the arms
of Graystoke, Lumley, Brabant, Percy, Ogle, Conyers,

and others. On the turrets are several shields of arms,

amongst which are those of Surtees and Bowes. The
projecting tower on the east front is ornamented with

the arms of the Hyltons without quarterings, the head
of Moses [ylorijied or horned) the crest, above which is

a large figure in relief of a stag at rest, collared and
chained.

The modern wings of the castle are uniform, and

make its frontage nearly three times its original length.

At the time of their erection, the large windows

in the keep were pierced through the walls ; but, says

Mr. Billijigs, " all the defacement it has undergone

cannot destroy the simple grandeur of its composition.

The original rooms of the castle are stated to be the

Baron's Hall, four chambers, a chapel, two barns, a

kitchen, and the gate-house. When we have reached

the lead-covered roof, a scene presents itself of which

few castles can now boast. There are the turrets, with

their staircases, and the bold broad machicolations

;

even the guard's room (surmounting the projection of

its eastern front) remains perfectly entire ; and nothing

but a few armed men is wanted to complete the picture

of bygone baronial power. Between the central turrets

of the west front are the sculptured remains of a knight

in combat with a monster of the serpent kind. Of its

meaning nothing is known. It would well accord with

the legend of the Lambton worm." There are other

figures in grotesque attitudes, or as combatants, similar

to those at Alnwick castle and the ancient gates of

York.

A traditionary belief has long existed of a sub-

terraneous passage connecting this ancient castle with

some part of the adjacent bank of the Wear. This

belief received an apparent confirmation during the

summer of 1852, when a spiral staircase was discovered,

extending from the upper portion of the castle to some
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depth below the ground floor. No one had previously

been cognizant of the existence of any such staircase in

any part of the lower story ; and it was only by perfo-

rating one of the enclosing walls, from the inside, that it

was shown to be contiguous to the hall or front entrance

to the castle. Owing to an accumulation of stones and

rubbish, which stopped the way, the descent was not

prosecuted farther than a few feet below the ground

floor. Its entire disconnection with other means of

ascending or descending the premises, seems to favour

the idea that this was a means of secret egress from

the building.

Mr. Howitt describes the large old kitchen of the

castle as " one of those tall large rooms, with a mighty

capacity of cookery, that bore imdeniable testimony to

the former affluence and jollity of its possessors ; but,"

he adds, '"
it was now the abode of a poor family, the

father of which was a labourer. All about lay the

clothes and utensils of such a class of people. It was

about twelve o'clock, and they were getting theii- dinner.

The mother and her daughter, a young woman who

worked in the fields, and appeared well daubed and

coloured with the earth in which she grubbed and

delved, and a big boy who sate on a log of wood, and

looked at me as if I was come to turn them out of a

place that seemed ten times too big for them and their

concerns."

" The whole of this large old house," says the same

writer, ''is now empty, and in the most desolate state,

fit haunt of ghosts and brownies. From top to bottom,

and from end to end, reign hollowness and decay.

The very winds seemed to triumph round it ; and a

loose pane of glass in one of the windows served them

for a harp to play upon, by which they contrived to

make a whirring and moaning noise that sounded

through the whole building, and which for a time ex-

cited my wonder whence could proceed so unearthly a

euphony. The inhabitants, however, seemed totally

unapprehensive of it.

On the walls of the rooms hung paper rotting

piecemeal, except in two or three large rooms, called

the wine and drawing rooms, which had stuccoed ceil-

ings, with figured busts on the walls, and one large

scene which seemed to be Venus and Cupid, Apollo

fiddling to the gods, Minerva in her helmet, and an old

king ; all those portraits of the Hj'lton's, and other

objects mentioned by the topographer of the county,

had vanished, and left Hylton Castle but a naked me-

morial of a departed time."

The castle had for a considerable timebeen gradually

approaching a state of ruin, when it was, about the

beginning of the present century, rendered not only

habitable, but furnished in the first style of elegance,

by the late Simon Temple, Esq. A great proportion

of the gardens and pleasure grounds was cultivated

and laid out in a beautiful manner, and the chapel

ornamented and again opened for pubhc worship.

But that gentleman unfortunately failing in his com-

mercial speculations, before he had completed his

intended improvements, the whole was left in an un-

finished state. The castle was afterwards the residence

of Thomas Wade, Esq., but has for some years been

unoccupied. A scheme was in contemplation, a few

years ago, of laying out about 12 acres of land as public

gardens, and converting the large hall of the castle

into a ball-room. An accidental fire in some out-

houses did considerable damage in December, 1^*5-5.

The origin of the Hylton family may doubtless be

referred to a very remote antiquity, though its early

history is obscured by fable. Tradition relates that a

raven flew from the north, and perched on a tower on

the banks of the Wear, where it received the embraces

of a Saxon lady, whom her father, a powerful abthane,

had there confined to protect her from a Danish chief-

tain ; and this wild tale is supposed to symbolize the

commencement of the family in a mixture of Danish
' and Saxon blood. Less fanciful, but scarcely less fabu-

lous, are some other traditions which profess to identify

the Hyltons three centuries before the Conquest. In

Carter's "Honer Redivivus," it is stated that "Adam
Hylton, living in the time of King Athelstan (A. D. 924),

gave to the monastry of Hartlepool a pix or crucifix,

which was in weight 26 ounces in silver, and caused

his arms to be engraven on it ; arg. two barrs, arg.,

which are yet seen upon the gate of Hylton Castle."

Another authority states that " upon the coming over

of WUliam the Conqueror, Lancelot de Hylton, with his

two sons, Heni'y and Robert, espoused his cause, and

joined him. Lancelot being slain in the service of the

Conqueror at Faversham, in Kent, he gave to the elder

son, Henry, a large tract of land on the banks of the

river Wear, as a reward for his own and his father's

valour. This Henry built Hylton Castle." A further

account adds that the cognizance of the chained stag,

which appears on the east part of the castle and in the

cliapel, was granted to the family for some reason by

the Conqueror.

The general tendency of these legends goes to

shew that the Hyltons were settled here before the

Conquest. The first of the race, however, of whom
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there is direct historical evidence, though he is not

mentioned by tradition, was Romanus de Helton, who

held three knights' fees, de veteri fcnffamento in the

return of Bishop Hugh, IKJfi, and was witness to the

charter of the same bishop to Archetel Bolmer. Alex-

ander de Helton, expressly named as a baron of the

bishopric in charters of Bishop Hugh, made a conven-

tion with the prior of Dui'ham relative to the chapel

of Hylton, 1 172, and was witness to several charters.

William de Hylton, baron of the bishopric, married

Beneta, daughter of Germanus Tyson, and died before

1208. Alexander, his son, in 1248, gave nine oxgaugs

of land to the prioress of Swine. Robert, who suc-

ceeded him, settled on his youngest son, William de

Hylton, on his marriage with Joaue, daughter of Wil-

liam Brittain, Essex, in 1288, the estates of Swine and

Swinestead. Robert de Hylton, eldest son of the last-

named Robert, was summoned to parliament in the

23rd, 24th, and 25th Edw. I.: he married Margaret,

daughter and co-heiress of Marmaduke Thwenge ; but

•lying without male issue, he was succeeded by his next

brother, Alexander de Hylton, whose grandson, Alex-

ander, served in the Scotch wars with Ralph Lord

Neville, 7 Edw. III., and was summoned to parliament

and 9 of the same reign : his second wife was Maude,

daughter and co-heiress of Richard de Emilden, and

widow of Ricliard Acton, mayor of Newcastle. Robert

de Hylton, his son by his first wife, married Eleanoi-,

daughter of Sir William Felton, and was succeeded by

his son, William Hylton, who married, first Joan,

(supposed Jane de Bedik), and, second, Dionysia,

daughter of Sir Robert Hylton, of S^^'yne : he died May
2.^, 148.'). His son. Sir Robert Hylton, Knt., married,

first, Maude, daughter of Roger Lord Clifford, and

granddaughterof Thomas Beauchamp, Earl of Wai-wick;

eecond, Isabel— ; and, third, Elizabeth, successively

widow of Bartram Monboucher, Esq., of Beamish, and

of Thomas Heldon. He died August 1 1, 1447, aged 02.

• A strange story respcctiuj this William Hylton, is inserted iu

Kippis's Uiogrnphy, on the authority of Dr. Hulleyu, a learned

physician in the reigns of Edward VI., Mary, and Elizabeth. This

gentleman was born in the Isle of Ely, and after travelling in Ger-

many, England, and Scotland, removed to the north, where he ac-

quired a property in the Salt Paun's at SAi'fcs by Tyuemouth. He
also practised witli repute in the city of Durham, and gained the

fttTour of Sir Thomas Hylton, in whose family he professes to have

performed some notable cures by means of herbs. In 1567, he dedi-

cated bis "Government of Health" to Sir Thomas ; but during his

absence in London in the following year, compiling materials for a

second edition of his book, his patron died, and he was charged by

Mr, William Hylton with having murdered liim. The doctor was

actually arraigned before the Duke oi Norfolk, " and the most diligent

Sir William Hylton, Knt., son of Sir Robert by his

second wife, married Mary, daughter and co-heiress of

Sir William Stapylton, of Westmoreland, and died

October 13, 14.57. Sir William, his son, aged 6 years

at the time of his father's death, married Margery,

daughter of Sir William Bowes, Knt., of Streatlam
;

and was succeeded by her son. Sir William Hylton,

who married Sybill, daughter and heii'ess of Thomas
Lumley,son and heir of George Lord Lumley, by whom
he had issue two sons and a daughter ; he entailed his

estates December 2, 1526 ; and died before 1537.

Sir Thomas Hylton, Knt., was sometime governor of

Tynemouth Castle, under Philip and Mary, and had

livery in the 10th year of Bishop Tunstall. He married,

first, Elizabeth, daughter and co-heiress of John Cler-

vaux, Esq., of Croft ; second, Anne, daughter of Cle-

ment Hurlestone, of Wokyndon, Essex, widow of

Nicholas Lambert, of Owton ; third, Elizabeth, daugh-

ter and heiress of Henry Boynton, of Sedbury, widow

of Henry Gascoigne ; and, fourth, Agnes, widow of —
Baxter, merchant, of Newcastle. His will is dated

November 8, 1558, and was proved by his widow Jan.

17, 1561. He died without issue, and was succeeded

by his brother, William Hylton, Esq., sometime of

Biddick.* He married Margaret, daughter of Sir

James Metcalfe, Knt. of Nappa Hall, Wensleydale,

Yorkshire, by whom he had issue seven sons (of whom
one, Robei-t, was of Butterwick, in the parish of Sedge-

field) and six daughters. Sir William Hylton, Knt.,

his eldest son, married Anne, daughter of Sir John

Yorke, of Gowthwayte, Yorkshire, and had by her

three sons (from the youngest of whom, Henry, were

descended the Hyltons of South Shields) and two

daughters. He was one of the few northern gentry

who, during the rebellion of 1569, adliered steadily to

the queen, into whose service he brought 100 horse.

He died in September, 1600.

Thomas Hylton, Esq., eldest son of Sir William,

injustice was used to bring him to a shameful death, that his adver-

sary might, with the covetous Ahab, tiirough false witness, obtain by

the council of Jezebel a vineyard with the price of blood." Though

the doctor was acquitted "yet did not that wicked enemy give over

his blojdy persecutions, but basely hired some ruffians to assassinate

him ;" and although " some persons of genteel extraction " (amongst

whom was R. Bellisis of Jarrow, another ungrateful patient whose life

the doctor had saved) became accomplices, yet this plot failed .ilso.

Hylton next arrested his victim for debt, and kept him a long time

in prison, where he employed himself iu compiling medicinal treatises.

Bulleyn also accuses Hylton of having persecuted the widow ol bis

brother, Sir Thomas, though she had redeemed much of his lauds by

great sums of mmiey. The narrator sums up by a pompous tirad«

against the sin of ingratitude.
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married, about 1583, Anne, daughter of Sir George

Bowes, Knt., of Streatlam, by whom he had eight sons

and two daughters. His will was proved March 2,

1597-8 ; he having died in the life-time of his father.

Henry Hylton, Esq., Baron of Hylton, son and heir

of Thomas, had Livery as heir to his grandfather, March

80, 1607-8. In 1618, he alienated the great manor of

Aldston Moor, which he had derived from the Viponds

and Stapletons, to Sir Francis Radcliffe, ancestor of

the Earl of Derwentwater. He married Mary, daugh-

ter of Sir Richard Wortley, Knt., of Wortley, York-

shire. On some disgust, he quitted the north, and

lived in obscure retirement, first at the house of a

remote kinsman at Billinghurst in Sussex, and after-

wards at Mitchell Grove, where he died. His singular

will is dated Febraary '26, 1640-1 ; and by it he devised

the whole of his paternal estate, for 99 years, to the

Lord Mayor and four senior Aldermen of the city of

London, on trust, to pay, duiing that term, 24/. yearly

to each of 38 several parishes or townships in Durham,

Surrey, Sussex, Middlesex, and Newcastle-upon-T}-ne;

28/. per annum to the mayor of Dui'ham, and 50/. per

annum to the vicar of Monkwearmouth ; to his next

brother, Robert, and his heirs, he left an annuity of

100/., and 50/. per annum to his brother John, which

last sum was to cease if he succeeded to the larger an-

nuity as heir of Robert. AU the residue and increase

of his rents he gave to the city of London, to bind out

yearly five children of his own kindred to some honest

trade ; and farther he desii-ed that 4,000/. should be

raised out of the rents, to remain in the city chamber

during 99 years, and the interest to be applied in

binding out orphan children born in the manors of

Ford, Biddick, and Barmston. After the expiration of

that term, he devised the whole of the estates, with

the increased rents and the same 4,000/., to his heir-

at-law, provided he were not such a one as should claim

to be the issue of tlie testator's body. This strange

proviso, which is several times referred to in the will,

was as follows :

—

" Yt if anie p'son shall p'tend to be a child of my
body begotten, w'ch I hope noe body will be so impu-

dent and shameless : I hereby, calling God and man
to witness, y* I have no child living of my body begot-

ten, and if any such shall p'tend so to be, I hereby

declare he or she so doing to be a very imposture, and

I hope noe body will undertake to doe such a shame-

less, dishonest, and impudent act, and he or she soe

declaring to be my child, I doe hereby utterly renoimce

and disclaim y™-

"

The will concludes by giving several legacies to his

servants, and to the family of Shelley of Mitchell

Grove ; declaring that he has 3,000/. on good bonds in

London; appointing the Lady Jane Shelley to be his

executrix, and desiring burial in St. PauFs cathedral,

" under a fair tumbe like in fashion to the tumbe of

Dr. Dunne," for which purpose he left 1,000/. to his

executrix, who never complied witli the injunction.

The widow of Henry Hylton (not named in his will)

re-married Sir Thomas Smith, an influential man
during the Commonwealth. Robert Hylton, next bro-

ther to Henry, survived him only a few months, and

he also left a widow, whose second husband. Sir

Thomas Hallyman, obtained a life -estate in the manor

of Ford in compensation of her dower. During the

litigations and Chancery suits which the above will

natm-ally produced, the ci\-il war broke out; and John

Hylton, the seventh and sole surviving brother of

Henry, espoused the royal cause. He was a colonel

in the Duke of Newcastle's army, in which his son bore

the rank of captain. The Hylton estate, between the

hostile armies, suffered severely ; and on the downfall

of the royal cause, both father and son were included

in the list of maliguants, and the total ruin of the

family seemed imminent.

Colonel Hylton married, first, Thomasine, daughter

and co-heiress of John Wasture, of Whitwell, widow of

Robert Loraine, Esq., of Kirkharle, Northumberland

;

and, second, Alice, daughter of Robert Binyon, of

Barneston. By his first wife he had issue four sons

and seven daughters. He died in December, 1655,

and was succeeded by his eldest son. Captain John

Hylton. After the Restoration, the city of London,

and the husbands of the two dowagers above named,

wearied out with litigation, consented to an amicable

decree, by which the possession of the estates was re-

stored to the heii-, on condition that he should discharge

all the particulars of the trust created by the will of

Henry Hylton, make regular payment of the several

parochial charities, and satisfy the claims of his grand-

aunts. Under these incumbrances, Mr. Hylton took

the management of his property ; but the rents, reduced

by twenty years' waste and depredation, were totally

inadequate to the charges ; and it was found necessary

to reduce the whole of the payments one-thii'd, in pro-

portion to the actual state of the rent-roll.

The ancient lords of Hylton, thus crippled in means,

retired from an eminence wliich they could no longer

occupy, and, in the walks of private life, retained a

considerable portion of that respect which the dignity
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of their ancestors had acquired. John Hylton, Esq.,

son of John just named, was a captain in the king's

service, and died unmarried in 1670. Henry Hylton,

Esq., his brother, succeeded him ; he married Anne,

daughter of Henry Procter, Esq., of Worsell, Yorkshire,

by whom he had issue two sons and four daughters:*

he died in April, 1712. John, his eldest son, married

Dorothy, eldest daughter of Sir Richard Musgrave,

of Hayton Castle, Cumberland, by whom he had

two sons and four daughters. Richard, the eldest,

died unmarried in September, 1728. John, the

second son, M.P. for Carlisle in 1727, 1734, 1741,

and 1746, also died unmarried, September 25,

1746,f and devised all his estates to his nephew.

Sir Richard Musgrave, Bart., on condition of his

assuming the surname of Hylton only. The estates

of Grindou, North Biddick, and Barmston, had been

previously alienated ; and the remaining property of

the Hyltons, comprising Hylton, Ford, Great Us-

worth, and FoUousby, the impropriate rectory of

Monkwearmouth, and a leasehold estate there, was

sold in various parcels. The castle and manor of

Hylton were contracted for, under a private act of

parliament, by — Wogan, Esq., for 30,000/. ; but the

sale was never completed. In December, 1762, they

were purchased in Chancery by Mrs. Bowes, widow of

George Bowes, Esq., of Streatlam and Gibside, for

33,800/. ; and her great grandson, John Bowes, Esq.

(son of the late Earl of Strathmore), is the present

proprietor.

Sir Richard Hylton, Bart., of Hayton Castle, de-

visee of his uncle, John Hylton, Esq., married Elea-

nor, daughter and co-heiress of John Hedworth, Esq.,

• Thomas, of Low Ford, second son, died in 1717, leaving a son,

tlae Rev. Thomas Hylton, A.M., perpetual curate of Monkwearmouth,
difid May, 1739, aged 29, and was buried in Hylton chapel ; and a

daughter, Anne, who married Mansfeldt Cardonnell, Esq., Chirton,

Northumberland. The death of the Rev. T. Hylton was regarded as

a great grief by the baron, who coGsidered him as his heir male and
lawful successor.

t Mr. Denham attributes an old song, of which the following is a
stanza, to something in the shape of an amour between the last of

the Hyltons and a pitman's wee wifie

:

—
"Drive Hawky, car' Hawky,
Drive Hawky thro' the watter

;

Our Hawky's but a little cow,

She's sometimes flaid to wade the watter
;

Tak her uj) and set her through.

Car' Hawky thro' tlie watter."

"A pitnan on the banks of the Wear, opposite to Hylton Castle,"

•ays Mr. D., "had a very handsome wife, and when the river was
swollen with rain, her husband, good soul ! used to carry her through
the watter on his back to a summer-house near to Hylton Castle.

M.P., of Chester Deanery ; and their daughter, Elea-

nor, married William Joliffe, Esq., M.P., whose son,

Hylton Joliffe, Esq., M.P., became co-heir with Sir

Wastell Brisco of the blood of Hylton.

Catherine, fourth daughter of John Hylton, Esq.,

and Dorothy Musgrave, married John Brisco, D.D.,

of Crofton ; and their son, Sir John Brisco, Bart.,

married Caroline Alicia, daughter of G. F. Fleming,

Esq., whose posterity thus became co-heirs with the

Joliffes in the blood of Hylton.

Claims have frequently been made, both by families

and individuals, to the honour of relationship with

the ancient house of Hylton ; and some of their pre-

tensions may probably have been well founded, as the

family were widely diffused. J (Seep. 116.)

The cauld Lad o'Htlton.—Numerous and varied

are the traditions relative to this ghostly visitant of

the ancient castle of Hylton. The only certain fact

which can be supposed to relate to the subject is of

too modern a date to have given rise to the tale. It

is included in the following document :

—

" Before John King, Coroner of Chester Ward, at Hylton, 3d July,

7 James I., 1609.

" An Inquisition on sight of the body of Roger Skelton there lying

dead. The witnesses (those sworn) showed that Robert Hylton of

Hylton, Gentleman, on the day and year above mentioned, between
the hours of 8 and 9 a.m., mowing (literally scything) grass with a

certain hook, " Anglice a syth," of the value of twenty pence, which
he held in his hands, the same Roger standing behind him, by an ac-

cident of misfortune (an unfortunate accident) struck with the point

of the scythe upon the right thigh of the said Roger a mortal woimil

one inch long and two inches broad, from which wound the same
Roger at the same hour died ; and that by accident and not other.

wise," &c.

Mr. Hylton, the good and last baron, hearing his fool sing this song,

asked who taught him it ' What wad ye ?
' was the fool's answer

;

and neither entreaties, threats, nor beatings could gain any further

answer."

The Hyltons were the last of the gentry in Durham who kept a

domestic fool. On one occasion, the baron, dressed in the fashion of

the day, was met by his fool, who, staring at his master's bedizened

clothes, exclaimed, " Wha'tfule now ?"

X
" In the pedigree of the Hyltons," says Hutchinson, " there are

several names remarkable for their learning and piety, but almost

innumerably those highly renowned for their martial deeds. War
seems to have been the pleasure, genius, and recreation of the

Hyltons ; nor has any family been more lavish of their blood in de-

fence of their country's cause. Since the time of the Conquest, it has

been remarked of the Hyltons, that one was slain at Feversham in

Kent ; one in Normandy ; one at Mentz in France ; three in the

Holy Wars under Richard I. ; one in the same under Edward I.
;

three at the battle of Bourdeaux, under the Black Prince ; one at

Agincourt ; two at Berwick-upon-Tweed, against the Scots ; two at

the battle of St. Albans; five at Market Busworth ; and foui- at

Floddcn Field,"
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A free pardon for this manslaughter appears on the

rolls of Bishop James, dated September 6, 1609.

Another story is, that one of the ancient barons had,

on an important occasion, ordered his horse, which

was not brought out so soon as he expected ; he went

to the stable, found the boy loitering, and, seizing a

hay-fork, struck him, though not intentionally, a mor-

tal blow. It is added, that he covered his victim with

straw tin night, and then threw him into the pond,

where the skeleton of a boy was (in confirmation of the

tale) discovered in the last baron's time. The disem-

bodied spirit of the lad was long supposed to have

nightly visited the castle, to the terror of its inhabit-

ants, until it was confined by a Roman Catholic

priest in one of the apartments, which was ever after

carefully shut up.

But a still more wild and romantic idea has been

associated with " the cauld lad o' Hj'lton," by which

his attributes have been assimilated either with those

of the Brownie, or domestic spirit of Scottish super-

stition, or with those of Milton's " lubber fiend."

He was seldom seen, but was heard nightly by the

servants who slept in the great hall. If the kitchen

had been left in perfect order, they heai'd him amus-

ing himself by breaking plates and dishes, hurling the

pewter in all directions, and throwing every thing into

confiasion. If, on the contrary, the apartment had

been left in disarray (a practice which the servants foimd

it most prudent to adopt), the indefatigable goblin

arranged every thing with the greatest precision. The
servants, however, at length grew weary of his pranks,

and began to devise means for banishing him ; but the

cauld lad, having caught an inkling of their design,

used to amuse himself in the dead of the night with

chaunting, in a melancholy strain, the following con-

solatory lines :

—

" Wae's me ! waes me 1

The acorn is not yet

Grown open the tree

That's to grow the wood

That's to make the cradle

That's to rock the bairn

That's to grow a man
That's to lay me !"

But the spirit was mistaken, for the domestics pro-

vided the usual means of banishment, •viz , a green

cloak and a hood, which they laid before the kitchen

fire. At the hour of midnight, the goblin sprite stood

before the smouldering embers and surveyed the gar-

ments provided for him verj' attentively, then tried

them on, and appeared delighted with his appearance.

frisking about the room, and cutting summersets and

gambadoes, until at length, hearing the first crow of the

cock, he twitched his green mantle about him, and

disappeared with the appropriate valediction :

—

" Here's a cloak, and here's a hood,

The cauld lad o' Hylton will do na' mair good.
"

But although he never returned to disarrange the

pewter vessels or set the house in order, yet his voice

was long after this heard at the dead hour of midnight

singing the above melancholy melody ; and a story is

told of a dairymaid who was very fond of helping her-

self to the richest milk and cream, that, one day, as

she had been sipping ^ith a spoon from various pans,

the cowed lad suddenly, but in'\'isibly, said over her

shoulder, "Ye taste, and ye taste, and ye taste ; but

ye never gie the cowed lad a taste !" Stnick with

ten-or, she dropped the spoon on the floor, rushed out

of the house, and never would enter it again, Even

up to the commencement of the present century, the

belated wayfarer, in passing the castle, would often

fancy he heard the uneailhly wailings of the cauld lad

o' Hylton.

A cupboard is shewn in one of the rooms, in which,

one tradition says, a boy, who on some account was

treated cruelly, was kept confined, and where, no doubt,

in the winter, he acquired the unenviable epithet of

" The Cold Lad." But the meaning generally at-

tached in the north to the word cowed, is that of the

hair being cut close off from the head, or even of the

head itself being cut off. This derivation of the

epithet, applied to the sprite, seems to countenance the

legend of the boy having been killed by his master.*

Hylton Chapel stands about 60 yards distant from

the north-east angle of the keep tower, on a rising

ground. The records relative to this httle domestic

establishment, which was dedicated to St. Katherine,

commence in 1157, when Romanus, the Knight of

Hylton, made a convention relative to it, with the

prior and chapter of St. Cuthbert. In 1172, Alex-

ander, the successor of Romanus, procured a right of

free burial in this chapel or its cemetery, and succes-

sive lords of Hylton gi-anted tithes, wayleaves, and

liberty to build a bam, to the prior and monks. The

revenues of the chapel were provided by the patrons.

In 1322, the chaplain, William de Hylton, received a

grant from the baron of the Passage of Bovisferry (Ox-

ferry), a toft and croft in Grindon, with one acre of

• "The cauld Lad o' Hylton" was dramatized, and performed at

the Sunderland tlieatre in 1837.
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land and a messuage and 24 acres whicli Button Frer

held in Hylton, in exchange for one chaldron of wheat,

which "William used to receive out of the estate of

Ford, and of an annual rent of 1 6s. which he received

out of an estate in Grindon, and of 4.?. paid for the

multure of the said 1 2 acres ; the said chaplain to

provide a proper boat for the ferr}', and to pray for

the good estate of his patron daily and duly. The

haughty barons of Hj'lton, however, did not always

scruple to extend this foundation at the expense of

the mother church ; and the masters of the cell at

Monkwearmoutb made frequent complaints of their

grievances, from which it appears that even personal

violence was sometimes resorted to. " Anence Wil-

liam Hylton and others diverz of his s'vants ye Satm*-

day next before Palme Sonday last past came to

Monkwermouth, and yer maid assaute to William

Lyham, Maister of Wermouth, and layd on him his

hands, in the qwere of yc said kyrk, in violence, and

poulid off his hode, to i/rete shame and reprove, and of

y<-' said Priour, with mony other words of manace, for

the whilk the said Maister durst not abyde in hys

place, for fere of bodily harme."

Chaplains of Hylton.—Thomas de Tolton, 1220 ; William

Harpyn, 1249, p. m. Yolton ; William de Lovestillo, 3 non. April,

1251 ; Galfrid de Levesham, 1297 ; Thomas de Hilton, 1321, p. res.

Levesham ; William de Hilton, 4th kal. August, 1338 ; John Kellowe

occurs 1370 ; William Byngham, p. m. Kellowe, 5th December, 1414
;

John Blakewell, 23rd March, 1433, p. m. Byngham ; Lawrence

Martyn, 10th June, 1439, p. res. Blakewell ; Robert Staynton, 1450,

p. res. Martyn; Richard Cresswell, admiss. 15th .January, 14t)2

;

Richard Bowman, 1471, p. res. Cresswell ; Robert Spragayne, 22nd

January, 1503, p. m. Bowman ; William Fabyane, 1506, p. res.

Spragayne ; Thomas Stevenson, 1531, p. m. Fabyane ; John Maris-

chall, 1536, p. res. Stevenson.

Hylton chapel was dedicated to St. Katherine, and

contained a chantry, dedicated to St. Mary the Virgin.

At the Dissolution, the chapel was valued at 6/. 13s. %d.

annually. The last Baron of Hylton restored it as a

domestic place of worship ; and Bourne mentions it as

famed for its Irish oak, and complete garnison of plate,

books, and vestments. It was fitted up with canopied

stalls, in the revived Roman style. Simon Temple,

Esq., repaired and opened it for divine worship ; but

the lead has since been stripped off, the stalls and

fittings are dismantled, and the area, after being turned

into an agricultural carpenter's workshop, was at one

time made a lodging for swine. " Its beauty, " says Mr.

Howitt, " has given way to destruction. The roof is

still on, but the windows are all nearly gone. Looking

in, you see some few pews, and the remains of a pulpit •

but not a monument of its long line of lords, stretching

VOL. n.

down from the Saxon ages to the last centmy, is left.

The whole of its ruinous floor is cleared of its pews,

and the sparrows clamour in its wooden ceiling and in

the crevices of its walls. On the outside are numbers

of stone shields of the Hyltons, and families of their

alliance, as the Viponts, Stapletons, etc., and Moses

again, with his rays."

The expenditure of the Sunderland Union, (see page

467) during the half-year ended March, 1865, was

—

£ : d.

In-mtvintenance 844 4J
Out-relief 1811 16 8

Lunatics 195 6

Extra medical fees 32 10 6

Vaccination fees 150 8

Registration fees 149 11 6

County-rate 625 19 1

Election of guardians 69 2 1

Other separate charges 86 8 5

Do. 258 15

Salaries of ofecers 2814 2 2i

£7127 18 5

The financial statement for the half-year ended 29th

September, 1855, was as follows :

—

RECEIPTS. £ J. d.

Balance in favour of each township at the commence-

ment of the half-year :—Bishopwearmouth, 320Z. 8s.

5%d. ; Panns, 28?. 7s. 2|(/. ; Ford, 96?. 2s. lOJA ; Ful-

well, 18/. lis. lid. ; Hylton, 29/. 8s. 5\d. ; Monkwear-

moutb, 65?. Os. 6Jf/. ; Monkwearmoutb Shore, 99/.

5s. Whd.; Rybope, 16/. 10s.; Sunderland, 108/. 143.

id. ; Southwick, 79/. 10s. O^d. ; Tunstall, 6/. 19s. SJrf. 869 4 S

Contributions during the half-year :—Bishopwearmouth,

2,600/. ; Panns, 125/. ; Ford, 170/. ; Fulwell, 10/.

;

Hylton, 60/. ; Monkwearmoutb, 250/. ; Monkwear-

moutb Shore, 1,050/. ; Ryhope, 60/. ; Sunderland,

2,200/. ; Southwick, 300/. ; Tunstall, 23/. 6838

Paymiistcr general 143 2

Loan and labour account, &c 63 16 2

Balance against each township :—FulwcU, 6s. 3|(/.

;

Sunderland, 51/. Is 51 7 31

£7965 10 l.f

EXPENDIIOBG.

In-maintcnance : — Bishopwearmouth, 272/. 8s. 2W.

;

Panns, 12/. 16s. OJd. ; Ford, 17/. U. G\d. ; Monkwear-

moutb, 8/. 12s. lid. ; Monkwearmoutb Shore, 95/. 16s.

9(/. ; Sunderland, 421/. 7s. 8(/. ; Southwick, 61. 10s. lOd. 833 13
1

J

Out-relief ;—Bishopwearmouth, 561/. 12s. 7d. Panns,

43/. 10s. ; Ford, 33/. 17s. ; Fulwell, U. 19s. 6d ; Hyl-

ton, 19/. 10s. ; Monkwearmoutb, 72/. IDs. 5d. ; Monk-

wearmoutb Shore, 376/. 8s. 6</. ; Ryhope, 10/. 85.

;

Sunderland, 601/. 8*. 2d. ; Southwick, 73/. 8s. 6d.

;

Tunstall, 5/. 17s 1803 9 8

Carried forward

4 G

.£2637 2 9i
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Brought forward 2637 2 9J

Lunatics :
— Bisliopwearmouth, 67^. lOj. ; Monkwear-

mouth, 151. 10s. ; Monkweamiouth Shore, 60/. 10s.
;

Sunderland, 52/. 10s 196

Extra medical fees :—Bishopwearmouth, 21. 15s. ; Ful-

weU, 10s. ; Monkwearmouth, 5s- ; Monkwearmouth

Shore, 10s. ; Simderland, 71. 18s. ; Southwick, l7s. 6d. 12 15 6

Vaccination fees : — Bishopwearmouth, 48/. Ss. Gd.
;

Panns, Is. Gd. Ford, 3/. 12s. 6d. ; Fulwell, 7s. Gd.
;

Hylton, 16s. Gd. ; Monkwearmouth, 71. 17s. Gd. ; Monk-

wearmouth Shore, 15/. 4s. Gd. ; Ryhope, 7s. ; Sunder-

land, 26/. 8s.; Southwick, 51. I5s. Gd 108 19

Registration fees : — Bishopwearmouth, 69/, 6s. 6f/.
;

Panns, ISs. ; Ford, 3/. 10s. ; Fulwell, 12s. ; Hylton,

11. 10s. : Monkwearmouth, 51. 3s. ; Monkwearmouth

Shore, 23/. ; Eyhope, lis. Gd. ; Sunderland, 37/. 15s.

6(/. ; Southwick, 6/. lis. Gd.; Tunstall, Is 148 14

County-rate; Bishopwearmouth, 373/. 19s. 1|(/.; Panns,

7/. 2s. 10i</.; Ford, 50/. 5s. 5(/. ; Fulwell, 19/. Os. lOd.;

Hylton, 25/. 6s. 7id. ; Monkwearmouth, 23/. 7s. 2|rf.

;

Monkwearmouth Shore, 67/. 8s. G|</. ; Eyhope, 46/. 6s.

Gd. ; Sunderland, 112/. Os. 8d. ; Southwick, 72/. 10s.

&ld.; Tunstall, 10/. 10s 813 18 7

Election of guardians :—Bishopwearmouth 54 12 9

Workhouse loan and interest repaid :—Bishopwear-

mouth, 129/. 18s. 2d. ; Panns, 6/. Os. Gd. ; Ford, 10/. Os.

2d. ; Fulwell, 4s. Gd. ; Hylton, 2/. 19s. Gd. ; Monkwear-

mouth, 15/ 18s. Zd. ; Monkwearmouth Shore, 54/. 8s.

Gd. ; Eyhope, 1/. 10s. lli/.; Sunderland, 123/. 8s. Urf.;

Southwick, 10/. IBs. id. ; Tunstall, 12s. Id 356 9 10

Salaries of officers, &c. :—Bishopwearmouth, 1,026/. 2s.

6irf. ; Panns, 47/. lls.Gd.; Ford, 79/. 10s. 6i ; Ful.

well, 5/. 133. 7d. ; Hylton, 23/. lOs. 7d. ; Monkwear-

mouth, 124/. 9s. ; Monkwearmouth Shore, 427/. 18».

id. ; Eyhope, 12/. 4s. Sd. ; Sunderland, 973/. 18.'. 3d. ;

Southwick, 86/. 9s.; Tunstall, 4/. 16s. 2d.\ repay-

ments, &c., 206/. 18s. 2<; 3019 1 lOJ

Balance in favour of each township at the end of the

half-year:—Bishopwearmouth, -313/. 15s. Id.; Panns,

35?. lis. garf. ; Ford, 68/. 5s. 9W. ; Hylton, 5/. 15s. 3d.
;

Monkwearmouth, 10/. 8s. 0\d. ; Monkwearmouth

Shore, 28/. Os. 9|(/. ; Ryhope, 5/. Is. lOd. ; Southwick,

117/. 14s. 24</. ; Tunstall, 2/. 2s. llirf. 617 15 9|

£7965 10 If

The total receipts for the half-year, exclusive of

balances, were 7,044/. 18«. 'Zd.; and the expenditure,

7,347/. 14.S. lid.

PARISH OF HOUGHTON-LE-SPRING.

This extensive and populous parish is bounded by Bishopwearmouth on the north-east, by the river Wear on

the north, by Chester-le-Street on the west, by St. Giles's parish on the south-west, Pittington and Easington

on the south, the latter parish on the south-east, and Dalton-le-Dale and Seaham on the east. Including the

chapelries of Hetton-le-Hole, Penshaw, and West Rainton, the entire parish contains eighteen townships,

viz.:— 1, Houghton-le-Spring; 2, Newbottle ; 3, East and Middle Herrington ; 4, West Herrington; 5,

Offerton; 6, Penshaw; 7, Biddic-Waterville ; 8, Burn Moors; 9, Morton-le-Grange ; 10, Cocken ; 11, East

Rainton; 12, West Rauiton ; 13, Moor Houses ; 14, Moor.sley ; 1-5, Hetton-le-Hole ; 16, Eppleton; 17, Little

Eppleton ; and, 18, Warden Law. Moorsley and Moor Houses are annexed to Dui-ham Ward.

HOUGHTON-LE-SPRING.
The township of Houghton-le-Spiing contains 1,475

acres; and the propertywas assessed forthe county-rate,

in 1853, at 7,596/. 3s. 4(/. There were, in 1841, 69G

inhabited houses, 73 uninhabited, and 1 building ; and

in 1851, 763 inhabited, 16 uninhabited, and 11 build-

ing. The population, in 1801, was 996; in 1811,

1,356; in 1821, 2,905; in 1831, in consequence of the

j)rogress of the coUieries and other causes, the num-

ber had increased to 3,917; but in 1841, new col-

lieries in other places having to some extent drawn otf

the mining population, which also accounts for the

number of uninhabited houses, the number had fallen

to 3,433. In 1851, it was 4,075, of whom 2,032 were

males, and 2,043 females. There were in the Union

workliouse, Houghton-le-Spriug, 31 persons in 1841,

and 28 in 1851.

The Durham and Sunderland branch of the North-

eastern railway has an extent of I f. 30 y., and an area

of 2 a. 1 r. in this township. In each of the years

1851 and 1852, it contributed 6/. 16». 4jrf. to the local

rates; the gross amount collected in 1851 being

792/. 2s. 10f(/., and in 1852, 793/. 9«. l^d.

Houghton-le-Spring is supposed to have derived its

name from the numerous springs in and about the

town, which are mostly chalybeate. One of them, in

Newbottle Lane, is called Holywell ; a name tradi-

tionally said to have been given to it by the Venerable

Bede in 700, when he, with his attendants, passed

through Houghton-le-Spiing, and di-ank of its waters.
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TOWN OF HOUGHTON-LE-SPRING.

This town is situated on the turnpike roiid between

Dui'ham and Sunderland, about G|- miles from each

place, and 1|- miles from Fence Houses station, on the

main line of the North-eastern railway. It is shel-

tered from the north and east winds by Houghton and

"Wai'denlaw Hills ; and a beautiful vale opens towards

the west. The township roads extend from Chvu-ch-

yard Comer to New Town ; Newbottle Lane, from

the inn corner to the end of the street ; Sunderland

Street is part of the turnpike road. The township

roads in New Town are, Lambton Street and William

Street. The private roads are, Robinson Street,

George Street, William Street, Hopper Street, Union

Street, Abbot Street, High Hill Side Row, and Low
Hill Side Row. The total extent of streets in the

to\vn is 4,008 yards. In 1851, there were, exclusive of

Colliery Row, which is about a mile distant, 591 in-

habited houses, 15 uninhabited, and 11 building; and

the population was 3,224, of whom 1,605 were males,

and 1,019 females. Many of the buildings in the Old

Town are large and handsome ; but the New Town,

built about 30 years ago, and chiefly inhabited by

colliers, exhibits an irregular, crowded, and unpleasing

appearance. Hoiif/hton Terrace stands to the west of

the road to Smiderland, on an elevated situation on

Houghton Bank. At a short distance behind the ter-

race, the road passes through a deep and extensive

cutting in the solid limestone rock. Houghton Hill

has for many years been quarried for its limestone,

the kilns for burning which are erected on the spot.

The perpendicular and precipitous faces of the quarries

form a peculiar feature in tlie scenery. The county

bridge, at Houghton, having been injured by the

working of collieries, was repaired a few years ago.

Uoiif/hton Hall House, supposed to have been

erected by Robert Hutton, rector of Houghton, be-

tween the years 1589 and 1G23, is a plain, massive

building, in the shape of an oblong square, each front

• Ou Saturday, the 1st of March, 1856, a dinner was given, in a

large brick Imilding intended for the reception of machinery, at Chil-

ton Moor, a branch of tliese worlds, to the pitmen, harbour men,

quarrymen, and railway men, employed by the Marchioness of Lon-

donden-y. The building is 200 feet long, by 70 feet broad ; but ad-

ditional accommodation was necessary for the immense assemblage,

above 3,000 tn number. A raised platform was erected at one end of

the room, and a gallery at the other ; and 30 large tables, in three

divisions, accommodated the workmen. In the centre of the plat-

form stood a splendid baron of beef, weighing 168 pounds. The pro-

vision made consisted of 8 fat IndlocUs and 15 sheep, slaughtered for

the occasion ; in addition to which there were a ton of plum pudding,

being uniform in design. Over the entrance is a

modern angular cornice ; the windows are divided into

five or three lights by stone mullions. The leads are

sm-mounted by a plain pediment. Having undergone
few alterations or repairs, it presents a curious speci-

men of the domestic architecture of its time. It

was for many years the mansion of the Hutton family

(see vol. i., p. 255), one of whom was a captain in the

Parliamentary army, and was buried in his own orchard,

where a broken altar tomb records his death on the

0th of August, 1G80. The house is now the residence

of George Elliott, Esq., colliery viewer to the

Marchioness of Londonderry.

The Court or Kirk Lea is the name of a field, part of

the glebe, in which it is supposed a church or other

religious house formerly stood. Coins and other anti-

quities have been dug up in it, but nothing to throw a

light on the history of the place.

In the year 1825, a weekly market was established

at Houghton; but it has now fallen almost into disuse.

On Friday, there is a small market, principally for

butchers' meat. The town contains twenty-one inns

and public houses and two beer shops ; and there are

other two public houses and two beer shops in the town-

ship. A large brewery and malting stands on the road

to Durham ; and the town contains several shops be-

longing to di-apers, grocers, &c. There is a large

foundry and crank axle manufactory, to the west of

Houghton, which was established by Mr. George

Hopper, between 20 and 30 years ago.* Petty sessions

were formerly held at the White Lion inn on alternate

Thursdays ; but a rural police station, with justice

room, cells, and officers' house, were erected in 1853,

at which a serjeant and a constable reside.

Houghton Feast is held annually on the Sunday

after New Michaelmas day, when the town becomes

crowded mth strangers at an early hour. The festival

is continued for three or four days, during which there

are horse-races and vai'ious other amusements, not

only in the town, but in all the villages of the parish.!

a ton and a half of bread, 100 bushels of potatoes, and 60 barrels of

strong beer ! The chair was taken by Earl Vane, and on his right

and left were his mother, the noble marchioness, and the Countess

Vane. After the dinner, the meeting was aildressed by the mar-

chioness in an eloquent and impressive manner, which was replied to

by Mr. James Cuthbertson, one of the older workmen. Other speeches

were delivered, all tending to promote that kindly feeling between

the employer and the emploj'ed, which it was the object of this un-

exampled gathering to perpetuate.

t On October 10, 1848, Billy Purvis (see p. 268), with his travelling

theatre, made his Ihirtittli annual appearance at Houghton Feast.
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THE CHURCH.

The church is a large cruciform building, in the early

English style, situated at the west end of the town.

A square central tower is supported by four arches, at

the intersection' of the nave and transepts ; although

of good general design, it presents no antiquarian

attraction, the upper story being modern, and occupy-

ing the place of a thin central leaden spire, the sum-

mit of which was about the same height as the present

tower. The nave is 87 ft. long, and, including two re-

gular side-aisles, 43 ft. broad. It was rebuilt during the

decorated period, about 1360. At that time, the

lancets in the ends of the transepts and the chancel

were taken away, and other windows of the prevailing

style introduced in their stead. Each of the aisles,

which open into the transepts under low pointed arches,

is formed by four clustered pillars. The chancel

which is 51 feet long and 15 broad, is divided from

the nave by a lofty pointed arch. The east \Nindow

is divided into five lights under a pointed arch, orna-

mented with tracery. The early lancet windows of the

east side of the transept have no distinguishing cha-

racteristics ; but the muUioned and quatrefoil headed

windows of the same date, on the west side, are per-

fectly unique. The great west window is divided into

five lights, under an arch ornamented with tracery

worked in quatrefoils : its effect, however, is injured

by a gallery

In the angle of the south transept and chancel, and

communicating with the church by a covered passage,

is a square detached building, with castellated walls,

containing the priests' apartments, and now used as a

vestry. In the east wall of the north transept is a

piscinium.

On the appointment of the Hon. and Rev. John

Grey to the living in 1847, he projected and executed

several improvements in the interior of the church.

In the north wall of the chancel, a deeply splayed

window was brought to view, seemingly of an anterior

date to the range of early English windows which

adorn the south wall. Some of these windows were

previously blocked up for the reception of mm-al

* The followins: evidence was given in a pew cause in 1579:—" Wil-

liam Smithe, of West Eainton, hiisbandman, aged 70 years. He saith

that article (2) is trewe, for such auncient custome they have that no

parishioner iu that parish can buyld any stall in the church at

Houghton, or take any away, without the licenc and consent of the

24 and the churchwardeons of the said parish. And 5f any man
goo furth of the said parish, but half a yere, to dwell, the church-

tablets ; but the whole range is now opened, producing

an admirable effect. A pile of wood work crowned

by the pulpit, which stood beneath the central tower,

was removed ; and the pulpit erected at the north en-

trance into the chancel, without any reading desk, the

service being now performed in the cathedral style.

The side galleries which defaced the nave were

removed ; and the modem flat ceiling of the chancel

was taken away. The intentions of the rector were

responded to by some of the parishioners, who volun-

tarily placed theii' pews at his disposal, with a view to

their being replaced bj' seats of a more ecclesiastical

character.* The organ was removed to a covered pas-

sage behind the south windows of the chancel ; and a

harmonium, on the floor beneath, is used for the daily

services.

Some progress has been made, since these altera-

tions, in filling the windows with stained glass. In

those on the north side of the chancel are representa-

tions of the Good Shepherd, St. Michael (patron saint

of the church), and St. Cuthbert. The side ^vindows

of the transepts contain the usual emblems of the

evangelists. The large window of the north transept,

presented by the pupils of Kepier School, contains

representations of the Nativity, the Presentation,

Christ blessing cliildren, and the escape of the

Israelites from Egj-pt. The upper foliations of the

large window in the south transept are adorned with

scrolls and inscriptions ; but the lower divisions are

still filled with plain glass. A beautiful double

window, in the south aisle, presented by the Rev. —
Morton, contains a representation of Christ disputing

with the doctors, and another of Joseph the carpenter

assisted by Jesus.

The exterior walls of the tower contain traces of

pitched roofs over the ti'ansepts, &c. ; and it is in con-

templation to remove the present comparatively flat

roofs, and replace them by others of a character more

consistent with the original style of this beautiful

chm'ch.

In the south transept has long been deposited the

mutilated effigy of a knight, traditionally said to re-

present one of the Le Spiings, but which Collier

wardens may lett his stall to any man that will take yt. And yf

that same man come again into the said parish to dwell, he shall laye

his fyne of another stall, yf his owne be latten. And, lykewise,

when any parishioner dieth, that haith a stall, the man or woman

that maries again shall pay a fyne for the stall that deail man or

woman had, or for another stall, yf yt be lettcn, the proflfett wherof

gooth to the rcparacion of the said church."
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attributes to Sir Roland Belasyse, 48 Hem-}' III.

The head is in a skull-cap, resting on a cushion, the

left arm covered with the shield, and the right crossed

towards the hilt of his sword ; some drapery below the

girdle, and the legs apparently crossed.

During the alterations in 1848, another recumbent

eflSgy of a knight in armour was discovered in the same

transept, on remo%'ing a modern screen of lath and

plaster with wliich the interior walls had been covered.

The figiu-e rests under a spacious canopy, which has

* TuE Ai'oSTLE or TUB NoKTU.—Bernard Gilpin, tlic Apostlu of the

North, was bom at Ktntmire, in Westmoreland, of an honourable

family, and educated in Catholicism, which he afterwards renounced.

Some account of his early life is given in vol. i., p. 99. The rectoiy

of Houghton, at the time he accepted it, was worth about iOOl. per

annum, a large sum for that day ; but the duty was proportionably

laborious, extending over no less than fourteen villages. He was of-

fered a still in the cathedral church of Durham ; but this he refused,

saying that he had already more wealth than he was afraid he should

give a good account of. Meanwhile he preached and laboured with

the zeal and afl'ection of a primitive apostle; the people flocked about

him with enthusiasm, and received from him at once temporal and

spiritual blessings ; and his enemies were as much exasperated, aud

succeeded so far as to induce his uncle. Bishop Tunstall, tostrike Gilpin's

name out of his will. At last, he was accused before Bonner, Bishop

of London, who gave order to a messenger for his apprehension ; and

now, "perceiving the reliefe which hee had found in Tunstall's

clemency would fail him, he prepared his holy soule for martyrdome

;

commanding William Airy, the steward of his house, to provide him

a long garment, that he might go the more comely to the stake.''

But whilst he was on the way to London, and as he believed to hLs

death, Queen Maiy expired, and the accession of Elizabeth released

him from all danger. He now received the patronage of the Earl of

Bedford, through whose influence he was offered the vacant bishopric

of Carlisle ; but this honour he steadily but respectfully declined, as

well as the provostship of Queen's College in Oxford.

When Gilpin became rector of Houghton, he found the parish

miserably cultivated, the people ignorant and vicious, and the par-

sonage-house decayed and uninhabitable. But the latter soon as-

sumed the appearance of a bishop's palace, where hospitality and

economy went hand in hand. He entertained his parishioners, not

only at Christmas, hut he kept a table for them every Sunday from

Michaelmas to Easter, entertaining, according to the custom of the

age, the gentry, the yeomen, and the poorer classes at separate tables.

" In his own house he boarded and kejit foure and twenty scollers,

sometimes fewer, but seldome ; the greater part poore men's sonnes,

upon whom he bestowed meat, drinke, and cloth, and education
;

and in the building, ordering, and establishing of his school, and in

providing yearly stipends for a schoolmaster and an usher, he ex-

pended the full sum of five hundred pounds ;" a sum, it may be added,

exceeding by one-fifth the annual value of his rectory. His hospitable

manner of living was the admiration of the whole country ; and

strangers and travellers met with a cheerful reception. Even their

bitasts had so much care taken of them, that it was humorously said,

if a horse were turned loose in any part of the country, it would im-

mediately make its way to the rectoiy of Houghton. Lord Burleigh,

when Lord Treasurer, unexpectedly visited him on his return from

Scotland ; but the economy of Mr. Gilpin's house was not easily dis-

concerted, and ho entertained the statesman and his retinue in such a

manner as made him acknowledge he could hardly have expected at

a deep early English moulding, beneath the window

of the south wall ; and adjacent to it is a remarkably

fine piscinium, shewing that an altar had been erected

in the angle of the wall. The legs of the figure are

crossed, and the right hand has sheathed the sword.

The device on the shield is obliterated ; and there is

no sculpture or tradition to identify the person. The
figure, however, appears to be older than that above

noticed.

The altar-tomb of Bernard Gilpin* is also in the

Lambeth. Lord Burleigh made him great offers of advancement,

which he respectfully, but firmly, declined. On looking hack from

Rainton Hill, after he left Houghton, Burleigh could not help ex-

claiming, "I doe not blame this man for refusing a bishopricke, for

what doth he want that a bishopricke could more enrich him with-

aU ? besides that he ia free from the great weight of cares."

During the Northern Eebcllion, Mr. Gilpin was at Oxford. Whilst

the rebels had possession of Durham, " some of them flew out as farre as

Houghton : there they found Master Gilpin's barnes full of corn, young

catteU, and many things provided for hospitality ; but thoy make
waste of all, selling the corne, &c., and basely making havocke of all

things which Master Gilpin had provided for pious and honest uses.

There was amongst them one fellow whom Master Gilpin bad some-

time saved from the gallowes ; and this knave was the wickedest of

all the rest in rioting away Master Gilpin's goods. Now after the

rebels were dispersed, and proceedings made against the simple jieople

somewhat more sharpely than was fitting. Master Gilpin begged the

lives of many by his intercession ; for he knew well enough that

many men were drawn into the snare, not wilfully, but through

ignorance, and the fraudulent practices of others. And now, the

whole trouble over. Master Gilpin returned to his accustomed studies

and endeavours of charity."

"Mr. Gilpin's l.ibours," says his descendcnt, the late Rev. William

Gilpin, " extended beyond bis own parish. He every year visited

divers neglected parishes in Northumberland, Yorkshire, Cheshire,

Westmoreland, and Cumberland ; and that his own flock might not

suffer, he was at the expense of a constant assistant. His flock, in

facjt, lay in all these places, for he had obtained a license from

government to travel any where throughout the Icingdom, to find out

where the people were the most neglected, and there to preach and

instruct them. In all his journeys, he did not fail to visit the gaols

and places of confinement ; and by his labour and affectionate man-

ner of behaviour, he is said to have reformed many abandoned per-

sons, in these abodes of human misery. He had set places aud timei

of prea.ching, in the different parts of the country, whicli were as re-

gularly attcuded as the assize time of a circuit. If he came to a

place in which there was a church, he made use of it ; if not, of barns

or any other large buildings, where great crowds were seen to flock,

—

some, probably, for his bounty [for, at the cud of his sermons, he dis-

tributed money amongst the poor],—but he had a sort of enthusiastic

warmth in his addresses, which turned many to a sense of religion, who
had never thought of any thi ng serious before. The dangers and fatigues

attending this employment were, in his estimation, abundantly com-

pensated by the advantages accruing from them to his uninstructed

fellow creatures." "He would usually," says his protogee aud

biographer, Carleton, "take the opportunity of Christmas holidays,

when, in respect of frost and snow, other men were loath to travell.

That time hee liked best, because then there came many holy dayes

together, and the people would more usually assemble—whereas, at

other times, they would neither come toi^ether so easily nor so often.
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south transept : it is of freestone, with some ornaments

of chain-work on the sides, and on the west end the

arms of Gilpin in bas-relief, viz., a boar under a tree.

On each side of the escutcheon, in raised letters,

" Baeneed Gilpin eectoe hvivs ecclioe — obiit

ijvAETO pie Maeth AN. DoM. 1583."

On a brass plate in the chancel are the portraits of

Margery, wife of Richard Belassis, of Henknoll, and

her eleven children ; the inscription recording her

Being sometimes benighted before he was well aware, and forced to

lodge in the snow all night : in this extremity he commanded Will.

Airy, who for the most part attended upon him, to trot the horses up

and downe, and neither to permit them nor himselfe to stand still

;

whiles he himselfe in the meanwhile did bestirre himself, sometimes

running, sometimes walking, as not able to stand still for cold."

Amongst the rude and barbarous people on the Borders, " he was

esteemed a very prophet, and little lesse than adored." Once, on

entering a church in those parts, Mr. Gilpin perceived a glove

hanging up as a challenge to an enemy ; on which he took it down,

and sharply rebuked the people for those inhuman challenges, per-

suading them, at the same lime, to live in peace and charily with

each other. On another occasion, two hostile parties, happening to

come into Rothbury church, where he was preaching, could not there

hear each others presence without their blood rising into fury. They

clashed their weapons in the very midst of the congregation, and

rushed towards each other. Gilpin called on them to respect the

sacredness of the place. For a moment the tumult somewhat ceased
;

hut as he proceeded, they again brandished their swords and javelins,

and once more sprang forward. Gilpin, seeing the fray at hand,

descended hastily from the pulpit, threw himself between them, put

an end to the conflict for the time, and then ascending the pulpit

once more, so plied them with the arguments of reason and religion

that they became ashamed of their conduct, and promised to forbear

all acts of hostility while he continued in the countiy. Such effect

had his preaching and advice eventually, that he became a kind of

moving sanctuary, and those who were in dread of their enemies

gathered about him as a certain protection. Nay, so high rose the

opinion of his sanctity amongst even the worst portion of the popu-

lation, that a thief here, having carried off his horses, little thinking

they were Gilpin's, was no sooner informed as to the owner, than he

hurried back trembling, and returned them, saying he beUeved the

devil would have seized him directly if he had ridden away with the

horses, knowing them to he Mr. Gilpin's.

Bishop Barnes, listening to the malicious suggestions of John

Barnes, his spiritual chancellor, and Gilpin's ungrateful scholar, Hugh

Broughton, ordered GUpin to preach at the visitation, just as he was

preparing to go amongst the Borderei-s. As he refused to neglect his

perilous duty, the bishop suspended him from all ecclesiastical func-

tions. On his return from his journey, he was summoned by the bi-

shop "to meete him and the rest of the clergy at Chester, whom he

found assembled in the church. ' Master Gilpin, (saith the bishop) I

must have you preach to-day.' Gilpin pleaded, that he was not pro-

vided with a sermon—and his suspension. ' But I can free you

(saith the bishop) from that suspension, and doe now free you ; and

wee know that you are never unprovided, for you have now gotten such

an hahite of preaching, that you are able to performe it, even upon the

sodaine." Master Gilpin remayned immoveable, answering that God

was not so to be tempted ; and that it was wdl with him if he were

death, on the 20th of August, 1587, at the age of 90

A marble tablet bears a Latin inscription to the

memory of William Bellasys, Esq , of Morton House,

who died December 3, 1641, aged 48. A plain blue

slab covers the burial place of Major Thomas Lilbm-u,

" one of the instrumental persons in his majesty's

happy restoration," who died March 25, 1665; and

another records the death of Margaret his wife, widow

of George Scurfield, Gent., who died September 6,

able to performe any thing in this kinde upon mature deliberation.

' Well then, (replyed the bishop) I commande you, upon your canoni-

call obedience, to goe up into pulpit. Master Gilpin, delaying the

time yet a little while, answered, ' WeU, sir, seeing it can be no

otherwise, your lordship's will he done ;' and after a little pause began

his sermon. He observed his enemies taking note of all he spoke,

yet he proceeded without fear or hesitation; and when his discourse

gradually led him to the reprehension of vice, he boldly and openly

reproved the enormities which the bishop permitted in the diocese.

A murmur ran through the assembly. Gilpin's enemies trusted that

his ruin was sealed : his friends trembled, and, when he descended

from the pulpit, crowded about him in tears. ' You have put a sword

into your enemies' hands to slay you with ! If the bishop were before

offended without a cause, what may you expect now ?' ' God
(answered GUpin) over-ruleth all : so that the truth may be propa-

gated, and God glorified, God's will be done concerning me.' The

clergy dined with the bishop ; and Gilpin's fiiends and enemies

silently waited the event. Gilpin came to take his leave of the bi-

shop, and to returne homewards. ' It shall not be so (angwered the

bishop) ; for I will bring you to your house.' And when they were now
come to Master Gilpin's parsonage, and walked within into the par-

lour, the bishop upon a sudden caught Mr. Gilpin by the hand,

' Father Gilpin (said he), I do acknowledge you are fitter to be Bishop

of Durham than myselfe to be parson of this church of yours. I aske

forgivenesse for errors past ; forgive me, father. I knowe you have

hatched some chickens that now seeke to pecke out your eyes ; hut

so long as I shall live Bishop of Durham, be secure—no one shall hurt

you.' All good men rejoiced, and Gilpin reaped in peace and

security the fruit of a pious life in all plentifull manner."

The infirmities of age at length overtook this truly good man,
" After his leane body was quite worne out with diversity of paines-

taking, at the last ever feeling beforehand the .approach of death, he

commanded the poore to be called together, unto whom he made a

speech, and tooke his leave of them. Afterwards he did the like to

others. He fell sicke about the end of February ; and after many
exhortations used to the schoUere, to his servants, and to divers

others, at the last he fell asleepe in the Lord in great peace, the 4th

day of March, in the year of our Lord 1583, and in the 66th year of

his age.

" He was tall of stature, slender, and of an aquiline countenance.

His clothes were ever such as cost not very deare : he could never

away with gay apparell : in things belonging to his own body he was

very fnagall, and retained the austeritie of the ancient. In things

which might tend to the good of others, exceeding bountiful!. Hee
was careful to avoide not only al eviU doing, but even the lightest

suspicions therof ; and he was accounted a saint in the judgements of

his very enemies. Being full of faith unfained and of good workes,

he was at last put into his grave as a heap of wheat in due time is

swept into the garner."
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1 085. Other iuscriptions relate to Dr. Bagsliaw and

the Rev. George Davenport,* rectors of Houghton-le-

Spring. North of the altar is the burial-place of the

Carrs of Cocken ; and other tablets commemorate

Nicholas Conyers, Esq., high sheriff of the county,

who died March 27, 1G80 ; Nicholas Lambton, Esq.,

of Biddic, died April 17, 1778; and Francis Middle-

ton, Esq., of Otferton, died May I, 1709. There are

also in the church inscriptions to members of the

families of Blackett of Wylam, Jackson of West Eaiu-

ton, Byers of Newbottle, Robinson of Herrington,

Rowe, and others. In the south aisle is a mural

tablet to the memory of Capt. W. S. Story, who died

at Bombay on July 21, 1810.

The cemetery, including the site of the chui'ch, con-

tains an area of about two acres, and is skirted by

rows of ancient sycamores. It has been used as a

place of sepulture from the earliest periods of Christ-

ianity, and has become much overcrowded. From
1793 to 183(i, there were 6,350 interments; and from

October 10, 1830, to the same day in 1853, 2,222,

being an average, during the latter 17 years, of 1,307.

In 1853, considerable excitement occun-ed in the town

relative to the formation of a new cemetery, an influen-

tial portion of the rate-payers having opposed a plan

brought forward by the rector, for converting a quarry

into a place of sepulture. Public meetings were held

on the subject, and several angry publications issued

from the press. A service of plate, of the value of

10/., was presented to Mr. E. D. Welford, as a testi-

mony of approval of his conduct during the struggle.

The new church-yard was, however, formed, and

consecrated by the Bishop of Exeter on the 4th of

September, 1854. An order from Lord Palmerstou,

then Home Secretary, had been received, authorising

interments in the new cemetery, and thus terminating

the disputes on the subject which had agitated the

parish. No chapel has yet been erected on the

ground.

There were anciently two guilds instituted in this

church ; one dedicated to the Holy Trinity, and the

other to the Blessed Virgin, both granted by Bishop

Booth. There was also a chantry, dedicated to St.

Margaret and St. Katherine, of the yearly value of

3/. 15s.

* George Davenport was a native of Wigston, Leicestershire.

Previous to his collation to the rectory of Hongliton, he was chaplain

and librarian to Bishop Cosin. He rebuilt the rectory from the

ground, added the chapel, and built and endowed one half of the

Registees.—Book No. 1 contains entries of bap-

tisms, burials, and marriages from 1563 to 1654, very

deficient, and interrupted by No. 2, baptisms, burials,

and marriages, from 1G53 to 1098. Nos. 3 to C con-

tain baptisms, burials, and marriages from 1699 to

1812.

Houghton-le- Spring chiu'ch is dedicated to St.

Michael ; the Bishop of Durham, patron. King's

Books, 124/., being the highest rated living of any in

England; Tenths, 12/. 8,?.; Episc. proc, 2/. 0.v. Sd.;

Archid., 4.9.

Rectoes.—Renald. occurs 1131.—Rogeruj, Presbyter de Houghton,

1147.—J. Mausel, pr. by King Henry III. anno 45 (1260).—K. de

Bekenham, 1204.—Stephen occurs 1315.—M. Marmyon, 1330.—Will,

de Dalton, 1347, p. m. Marmyon (made a composition with the Master

of Kepyer concerning the tithes of East Rainton, 16th April, 1350).—

•

W.de Burstall, 1365, p. m. Dalton (in 1377, he had an exemption from

the General Array of the Clergy, "eo quod pro benoficio suo suffi-

cientur arraiatiis et muuitis existit").—J. Henlce, 1377, p. res. Bur-

stall (rector of Sedgefield, and treasurer of the household to Bishop

Hatfield).—T. de Walkington, LL.D,, 1390 (he fiu-nished three lancers

and six archers at the General Array of the Clergy in 14C0).—J. de

Nenton, circ. 1401, p. m. Walkington (Master of Sherburn).—Henry

Oculshagh, 1427, p. m. Neuton.—T. Astlegh, 1434, p. m. Oeulshagh.—

H. Gillowe, Clerk, 30th July, 1470 (Master of Kepier Hospital, and

prebendary of Fridaythorpe in the cathedral of York ; one of the

founders of St. Mary's Guild in Houghton church).—H. Keling, Clerk,

1482, p. m. Gillowe.—A. Ligh, Clerk, 1490, (Master of Sherburn).—

Robert Kent, S.T.P., 4th December, 1500, p. res. Ligh (coadjutor to

his predecessor, A. Ligh, as Master of Sherburn).—W. Frankelyn,

S T.B , occurs 14th May, 1528 (archdeacon of Durham ; temporal and

spiritual chancellor io Bishops Ruthall, Tunstall, and Wolsey ; Master

of Kepyer ; dean of Windsor ; and rector of Chalfonte, Bucks, where

he v/as buried about 1556 : he had a grant of arms for his defence of

No'.ham Castle).— B. Gilpin, S.T.B., circ. Oct. 2'J, 1558.—E. Barnes,

S.T.R., 5th March, 1583, p. m. Gilpin.—R. Bellamye, M.D. and A.M.,

25th Jan., 1584, p. res. Barnes (exchanged this rectory and his stall in

Durham cathedral with his successor for the Mastership of Sherburn) —
Robert Hutton, S.T.P., 1589, p. res. Bellamye.—A. LyndseU, S.T.P.,

7th June, 1 C26, p. m. Hutton (prebendary of the 10th, and afterwards

of the 2nd stall, and successively bishop of Peterborough and of Here-

ford).—Peter Heyliu, S.T.P., the Cosmographer, nominated by King

Charles, 1632.—H. Mar.shall, S.T.P., 29th August, 1633 —J. Barwick,

S.T.I'., 1615, p.m. Marshall (dean of Durham 1660).—N. Rattersby.an

intruder, occurs 1659.—W. Siincroft, S.T.P., 7th Dec, 1C61, p. res. Bar-

wick (chaplain to Bishop Cosin
;
prebendary of the 9th stall ; dean of

York 1 664 ; removed to the deanery of St. Paul's the same year ; and ,
in

1677, per sallum, without first passing through a bishoprick, archbishop

of Canterbury ; deprived for refusing the oaths 1689 ; and retired to

his native village of Fressingfield in Suffolk, where he died 1693).—

G. Davenport, A.M., 23rd Dec, 16C4, p. res. Sancroft.—E. Clarke, A.M.,

1677, p. m. Davenport.—H. Bagshaw, S.T.P., 13th December, 1677,

p. res. Clarke (son of E. Bagshaw of Morton-Putney, co. Nortl)a)iipton,

alms-house, but "never mark'd the marble with his name." The

bishop was only prevented from conferring upon him additional pre-

ferment by his own singular modesty. Mr. Davenport died July 6,

1677.
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Esq., prebendary of the 9th stall in Durham cathedral).—Sir George

Wheler, Knt., S.T.P. (see vol. i., p. 254) 15th Jan., 1709, p. m Bag-

shaw.—Thomas Seeker, A.M., 12th Feb., 1723, p. m. "Wheler (bishop

of Bristol 1734, bishop of Oxford 1737, and in 1758 archbishop of

CantsrbuT)-).—E. Stonhewer, A.M., 4th June, 1727, p. res. Seeker.

—

John Rotherham, A, M.,* 30th Oct., 1769, p. m. Stonhewer.—Edward-

South Thurlow, A.M. (prebendary of Norwich, and rector of Stam-

fordham, Northumberland, sinecure-rector of Eastyn, alias Queenhope,

Flintshire, and of Llandrillo, Merionethshire), 1789, p. m. Eotheram.

—

Hon. John Grey, A.M., 1847, p. m. Thurlow.

The rectory stands to the west of the church ; it was

formerly a venerable embattled building, flanked by

Davenport's chapel on the east, by an old tower on the

west, and surrounded by a curtain wall. Henry Keling,

rector in 1483, obtained leave " to enclose, fortify, and

embattle a tower above the lower porch within his

manse." Such fortified parsonages were common near

the Borders. The rectory house, as it now stands,

was built by Davenport, whose arms and date, 1664,

still remain over the west window of the dining-room.

The late rector removed the tower and chapel,

altered and enlarged the house, laid out the pleasm'e-

grounds, and threw down part of the old wall, to open

a view over the rich warm grounds to the south. The

slebe is extensive and valuable. The rector is

generally entitled to great and small tithes throughout

the parish. The gross income was stated, in 1835, at

2,553/. per annum, subject to permanent payments

amoimting to 396/., lea^ing a net sum of 2,157/., from

which 400/. per annum was paid to fom- curates.

CHAPELS.

The Roman Catholic chapel is situated at a short

distance from the town, on the south-east side of the

road to Dm-ham. It is an oblong buUding, from a

design by Bonomi, of Diu'ham, and will accommodate

about 500 persons. It was opened for public worship

* Mr. Rotherham was born at Haydon Bridge (where his father

was master of the free grammar-school), on June 22, 1725 ; and on

entaring holy orders in 1749, he became tutor to the two sons of the

Hon. Mr. Frere, on the island of Barbadoes. During his stay there,

he wrote "The Force of the Argument for the truth of Christianity

drawn from a collective View of the Prophecy," and his " Sketch of

the one great Argument," which last production procured for him,

in his absence, the degree of A.M. from the University of Oxford, in

1753. On his retiu-n to England in 1757, he accepted the curacy of

Tottenham, and, in 1759, published " An Apology for the Athanasiau

Creed." His most admired work, "An Essay on Faith," appeared

in 1766 ; soon after which Bishop Trevor appointed him one of his

domestic chaplains, and collated him to the living of Kyton, from

which he was removed to that of Houghton, where he was distinguished

for his kindness, hospitalities, and charities. His other published

works are, " An Essay on the Distinction between the Soul and Body

on the 7th of November, 1837. The Eev. A. Dawson,

is the present clergj'man, who celebrates divine service

daily at the usual hours. The chapel is duly licensed

for solemnization of marriages, according to act of

parliament. Attached to the chapel is a dwelling

for the pastor, with a garden, a portion of which is

appropriated as a burying-ground.

A Preshyterian chapel is situated in Newbottle Lane,

the foundation-stone of which was laid December 27,

1824, and it was opened for worship in the following

year. It will hold about 200 persons, and is licensed

for solemnization of marriages. The Baptist chapel

is situated near the northern extremity of Sunderland

Street. The Wesleyan Methodists (whose chapel is

licensed for solemnization of marriages), the Wesleyan

Association, and the Primitive Methodists, have places

of worship in Houghton.

CHARITIES.

TheFree Grammar School and Alms-honse ofKepier.—
Queen Elizabeth, by letters, dated April 2, in the 1 6th

year of her reign (1574), granted to John Heath, of

Kepier,f and Bernard Gilpin, rector of Houghton-le-

Spring, that there should be in the parish of Hough-

ton a grammar-school and alms-house or hospital, in

honour of the Blessed Trinity, to consist of a master

and usher, or imder-master, and certain poor, indigent,

and infirm persons ; and that there should be two

discreet men, called governors, to manage the same.

Heath and Gilpin were appointed the first governors,

with power to the former and his heirs, and the latter

and his successors in the rectory of Houghton, to ap-

point succeeding governors, and to appoint and remove

the schoolmaster and usher according to their sound

discretion, or, in default of such appointment within

of Man ;" a sermon on the death of Bishop Trevor ; a sermon on
" the Wisdom of Divine Providence ;" another preached for the

benefit of the Newcastle Infirmary ; and one on " the Influence of

Religion on Human Laws," an assize sermon, for which he received

the thanks of Lord Mansfield. While on a visit at Bambrough Cas-

tle, being a trustee of Lord Crewe's charities, he was struck with the

dead palsy, and died July 10, 1789.

t John H ;ath, the friend of Bernard Gilpin, was a native of Lon-

don, and sometime Warden of the Fleet. He purchased the whole

of the dissolved hospital of Kepier, out of which this school was partly

endowed, and from which it derived its name. In a letter to Maister

John Hethe, Gilpin points out the mode of paying a schoolmaster

more than twenty years, and adds, " By y' time I tnist y^ laste daye

woulde foUowe shortUe, ther be so many tokens to declare y' it is at

hand."
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six inontlis, the Bishop of Durham for the time beiug

was to exercise the right.

A book of statutes, without date or signature, but

supposed to have been drawn up by the first govei'nors,

is in the possession of the rector. By these statutes,

the governors are desired, when the place of school-

master is vacant, to send to the provost of Queen's

College, Oxford, requesting him to procure some

northern man, a master of arts, who is to be appointed

if approved of; and the usher is to be appointed by

the governors, unless the master is specially authorised

by them to do so. Two rooms in the school-house

are to be used by the master, one by the usher, and

another for the lodging of poor scholars. The pension

of the master is fixed at 20/. Cs. 8d., and that of the

usher at 10/. ; and it is stated that the income would

yearly find five poor scholars and three poor men or

women, allowing them Id. a week, over which there

would be 7s., which might be divided amongst them.

It was ordered that if the master should take any

spiritual living, he should not have the benefit of the

school above one year after his induction ; and he was

forbidden to marry without the exi^ress sanction of

the governors and two justices of the peace to be named
by them. The master might take of every gentleman's

son at his entrance, or of any other that should be

placed and lodged in the school, 3.s. 4c/., and, at the

year's end, 3s. id. more, to be paid to the governors

for the repairs of the school ; the boys to be afterwards

free so long as they should continue. The master and

usher were to see that the scholars were taught " the

catechism in Greek and Latin appointed for aU
schools," and that they attended divine service at the

church, taking the places appointed for them orderly

according to their degree in the school ; that their

friends should promise, as far as they could, that

they should proceed forward in grammar, according

to their capacity; that the stipendiary scholars who
should have any maintenance of the school should

be continual followers of their learning, and in due

time, as the master should find them ready, proceed

to the university ;
" the usher shall at leisure hours be

with the best scholars, confen-ing with them of learning,

reading of books, and talking of such matters as should

be to both their increasing of knowledge, understanding

of writers by commentaries and poets' fables, hard

places, examining of grammar rules ; and, in like man-
ner, with the meaner scholars, he shall be ready, when
he conveniently may, to further them in their learning,

rules, constitutions, teaching them on playing days,

VOL. n.

and after supper the space of an hour, to write, cypher,

and understand their figm-es." After providing that no

other holidays should be allowed than certain specified

days, the statutes add, "save only certain in the spring,

when the master shall think it meet for the scholars to

exercise their bows in matching, either with themselves

or strangers, in the ox-pasture or Houghton Moor."

The will of the Eev. Bernard Gilpin, dated October

27, 1582, enumerates the means he had taken for en-

dowing the school, viz., that John Heath had given the

GiUy tithe of Bishopwearmouth, let for 8/., and three

pensions out of the parsonages of Ryton, Wliickham,

and Gateshead, amounting to 5/. Cs. Sd. ; that the tes-

tator had bought of Mr. Heath the Gilly tithes of

Easington, Chester, Whitburn, Cleadon, and Ryhope,

producing about SI. to the usher, and 5/. to three poor

scholars ; of Thomas Mallott a whit-rent of 21. Gs. 8d.

;

of Roger Rawes a fyne in Houghton, called the White

House ; of James Lisley, a iyxie on the east side of the

church-yard ; and of Sir R. Browne, a fyne in Wol-

singham, called Jack Wallierfield, for which he paid

HI. The will also states that a rent of five marks had

been given by William Carre out of lands at Cocken,

whereof 40s. was to be bestowed on the school, and the

remainder on the poor of Houghton. A rent of 13s. id.,

not mentioned in the will, is charged on the rectory

of St. Nicholas, Durham ; and a rent of 1/. 5s. on lands

in Chilton, in the parish of Houghton. Other addi-

tions to the revenue of the school were made by Dr.

Bagshaw and Sir George Wheeler, as noticed below.

The annual produce of the property was stated by the

Charity Commissioners in 1837 as follows :

—

£ s. cf.

Yearly rent out of Gateshead rectory 2 13 6

Dn. Whickham 16 8

Do. Kyton 1 6 8

For the tithes and a garth in Easington 2 3 4

A moiety of the corn tithes on 1 2 a. 3 r. 22 p. in Bi-

shopwearmouth, average for eight years 2 2

In lieu of the Gilly tithes of Whitburn and Cleadon, 6rf.

an acre on certain lands 18

For the Gilly tithes of Chester-le-Street, a moiety of

the corn tithes on 420 acres 26

A portion of tithes on 390 acres in Ryhope 30 18 6

For a rent of 21. Gs. 8d horn lands in Penshaw and Pelaw 1 19 10

Rent charge from Cocken estate 2

The house called the White House, which had been

repaired by the then master at an expense of above

400/.,letfor ....SO

The Wolsingham estate, consisting of about 60 acres. . 33

In respect of Dr. Bagshaw's benefaction 5 Q

From property purchased with Sir George Wheeler's

legacy 36

£181 8 4

4 H

Thank you for purchasing from Ebay Shop Retromedia

http://stores.shop.ebay.co.uk/retromedia


556 EASINGTON WARD—NOETH DIVISION.

From the income a considerable deduction is to be

allowed for the collection of the various rents, which

is intrusted to the master himself. The clear income

is estimated at about 150/. a year. In piu'suanee of

the charter, the governors are appointed by the rector

of Houghton-le-Spiing and the Marchioness of London-

derry, as the heirs of John Heath. The number of

free scholars is limited to six, who are taught English

grammar, writing, and common arithmetic, merchants'

accounts, the elements of mathematics, geography, and

the use of the globes ; but if instruction in the classics

or modem languages is requii-ed, they pay the same
j

as any other scholar not on the foimdatiou. No boy

is admissible under seven yeai's of age, or until he

can read a little ; the period of his remaining on the

foundation being left to the discretion of the governors.

The scholars provide their own books, &c. The mas-

ter instructs a number of pay scholars, who board

with him. He has the entire use of the school-house ;

and it does not appear that any poor scholars ever

lodged there, or received any allowance out of the in-

come, as contemplated by the parties who drew up

the statutes. In 1751, an information was filed iu the

Court of Chancery, complaining, amongst other things,

of the breach of these statutes ; and the Lord Chan-

cellor, Lord Hardwicke, though he dismissed the in-

formation on the ground of there being special

governors or visitors, expressed an opinion tliat the

statutes could not be considered as binding on the

governors. An inscription records some repaii's and

additions made in 1779 bj' John Tempest, Esq., ci

"Wynyard. The succession of masters, so far as can be

collected, stands as follows :

—

Robert Copperthwaite, Clerk, A.M., appointed on the foundation.*

—CbrititopherRansjn occurs in Bernard Gilpin's will, 1582.—Anthony

Airey, Clerk, A.M., licensed 1607.—Ralph Howden, A.M., licensed

* Amongst the most distinguished of the scholars appointeu by

Gilpin himself may be named Henry Ayray, Ralph Ironside, George

Carleton, and Hugh Broughton. Carleton, the worthy biographer of

his venerable kinsman and patron, was bom at Norham Castle, where

his father was governor. He became Fellow of Merton in 15S0, Bi-

shop of Llandafi' iu 1617, was one of the four English divines who
attended the synod of Dort in 1618, and in the following year was

translated to the see of Chichester. He died, aged 69, in 1628,

" leaving the character of an excellent divine, as well as a polite

scholar, and not ill versed in antiquities ; vigilant, and clear from

every imputation, in his public offices ; and, in private life, modest,

friendly, and affectionate." Hugh Broughton, the learned, but un
grateful, was the best Hebrew scholar of his age, and skilled in all

the learning and traditions of the Rabbins. He was entirely educated

by Gilpin, who met with him a poor boy, running by his horse's side

in one of his journeys near the borders of Wales, brought him, with

his parents' consent, to Houghton, clothed and maintained him, and

2tth September, 1631.—John Sage, Clerk, licensed 8th December,

1632.—George Caunt, A.M., licensed 26th April, 1639.—Paul Levor,

A.M.. 1682.—William Stobert, Clerk, 1686—Gilbert Nelson, Clerk —
Thomas Griffith, A.M., of Hertford College, Oxon.—William Cooper,

A.M., of Queen's College, Oxon.—William Fleming, A.M., of Queen's

CoUege, Oxon.—William Rawes, A.M. (see voL i, p. 619).—Henry

Brown, A.M., 1827.—J. Leycerter Balfour, A.B., 18.52.—The Rev. G.

Moultrie was appointed as successor of Mr, Balfour, who died in

December, ]854.t

Alms-Hoitses.—The Rev. George Lilbum, by wUl,

dated Jan. 17, 1G75, gave to three poor people, widowers

or widows residing in the hospital of Houghton, and

their successors, to be chosen by his executors out of

the parish of Bishop'^'earmouth or Houghton, 10/. per

annum, by quarterly payments, out of certain houses

devised to his son. The Rev. George Davenport, by

his will, dated September 17, 167G, directed that his

executors should pay IGG/., or purchase a rent-charge

of 10/. for the maintenance of three poor persons, in-

habitants of Houghton-le- Spring. The alms-houses

thus endowed contain six comfortable habitations,

respectively belonging to Lilburn's and Davenport's

charities. Lilburn's bequest is collected from the oc-

cupiers of property in Sunderland, belonging to the

Marchioness of Londonderry. A further endo^vment

is derived from the gift of Miss Dorothy Spearman

(Mrs. Fenwick, of Old Acres), niece of the Rev. W.
Sharp, vicar of Sherborne, Dorsetshii'e, a native of

Houghton, who purchased GOO/, consols, the dividends

to be paid to the three alms-women of Lilbiuu's en-

dowment and for the repairs of the hospital. Thirty

shilhngs a year is reserved for the latter pm-pose ; the

remaining 16/. 10s. is equallj' divided amongst the

three alms-women. The other income of the hospital

is derived from eight acres of land purchased with

Davenport's bequest, and amouuting to 15/. a year; 2/.

a year under the will of the Rev. Dr. Bagshaw ; and

afterwards provided for his support at Queen's College ; yet he after-

wards, perhaps rather from a vanity and inconstancy of temper

than any peculiar malice or design, lent himself as an instrument

to Gilpin's enemies, and joined with Barnes, chancellor of Durham,

in accusing his venerable patron of irregularities against the discipline

of the Church of England ; and he engaged in that plot which ended

so notably in Gilpin's triumph, and the discomfiture of his enemies.

Broughton was suspected of leaning towards the Church of Rome, but

is said to have refused the temptation of a cardinal's hat, and to have

died at last (August 4, 1612) in obscurity and distress,

t At Kepier Grammar-school was educated the Kev. George Bee,

private tutor to Miss llilbank, of Seaham Hall, afterwards Lady

Byron, and also in the families of Lord Bariington and Lady Lyons,

of Hetton Hall. He was ordained by the Archbishop of York in 1800,

but seceded from the Church of England in 1811, and joined

the Baptist denomination. He became minister of the chapel at

Houghton-le-Spring, where he died on September 29, 1854.
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86/. a year, beiug a moiety of the proceeds from Sir

George Wheeler's bequest, wliich is divided equally

amongst the other three alms-people. The latter sum

is derived from a leasehold estate in Raintou, purchased

with 586/. ];>«. -Id. derived from the legacy, and the re-

served rent of which is 21. 3s. Sd. per annum, besides

a fine to the dean and chapter every seven years for

renewal.

Baf/ahaw's Charitij.—The Rev. Dr. Bagshaw, rector

of Houghton, by will, November 10, 1708, bequeathed

the Broadmeadows and Slipperthorn closes to trustees,

directing that 3/. a year should be paid out of the rents

to the principal schoolmaster of Houghton, 40s. to the

usher, and 40s. to Davenport's part of the hospital

;

the overplus to be distributed to the poor of Houghton

at Christmas. The premises are let at a rent of 28/.

a year ; and after the payment of the above sums,

and 15s. \\d. for the lord's rent and land-tax, the

balance, about 18/. 10s., is distributed in bread at the

church, on four or five Sundays about Christmas.

Sir George Wheeler s Charity.—Sir George Wheeler,

D.D. (see vol. i., p. 254), by will, dated May 23, 1719,

bequeathed to four trustees 600/. to be laid out in land,

out of the rents of which 1 0/. was to be paid yearly to

the schoolmistress of the charity-school at Houghton,

2/. 10s. to the usher of the free school, 10/. for buying

clothes for the 12 female charity children belonging

to the township of Houghton only, and 2/. 10s. for re-

pairing the Gate House, where the school was then

kept, or providing another place if necessary ; and he

directed that the remainder of the rents should be ap-

plied in iH'oviding books, pens, ink, and paper, and

materials for sewing, knitting, &c. ; and also that the

schoolmistress should teach 20 female children, viz.,

1 2 out of the township of Houghton, 4 out of the town-

ship of Newbottle, and 4 out of the township of East

Rainton, such schoolmistress and scholars to be chosen

by the rector of Houghton and his successors, and the

trustees and their respective heirs ; and that they

should order such rales to be observed m the school

as they might think fit, and have power to displace

the schoolmistress and scholars as they should see oc-

casion. Certain copyhold premises held of the manor

of Houghton, and situated in the township, are pre-

sumed to have been purchased with this legacy, and to

have been surrendered to the trustees originally ap-

pointed, of whom Thomas Robinson was the survivor.

No subsequent surrender appears to have been made ;

and at the time of tlie Commissioners' Inquiry, the

Rev. E. S. Thurlow, rector, acted as sole trustee.

Besides the school-house and dwelling for the mistress,

there were two other cottages, with 16 a. 3 r. 27 p. of

land, let at a rent of 80/. per annum. The school-

mistress received 18/. of this sum for educating 20

girls of Houghton, 4 of Newbottle, and 4 of Rainton
;

about 20/. a year was paid for clothing 16 of the girls

belonging to Houghton ; 4/. to a master teaching the

children writing and arithmetic ; 2/. 5s. %d. for bishop's

rent, land-tax, and insurance ; and an average of about

17/. a year for repairs. The education of 32 scholars,

from Houghton, was subsequently provided for

On the appointment of the Hon. and Rev. John

Grey to the living in May, 1847, he assumed the

management of the charity in the same manner as

Mr. Thurlow had done. In September, 1848, he dis-

missed the schoolmistress, intending to amalgamate

the school with the National and Barrington school.

The mistress having laid the case before some of the

principal inhabitants of the town, they brought the

matter before the Lord Chancellor, but invited the

rector to join them in an application for new trustees,

and for the settlement of a scheme for the future go-

vernment of the charity. By an order dated January

15, 1849, the case was referred to Master Farrer,

who reported that the school-house, built on the Charity

property, might be conveniently occupied by the mistress

of a combined National and Charity-school, and the

school-room advantageously used as a class-room, for

separate examinations, or for teaching the younger

children. He also reported in favour of the appoint-

ment of N. Ellison, of Morton House (the Commis-

sioner of Bankruptcy for the Newcastle District), and

T. W. U. Robinson, J. R. Legge, and Mark Elliott,

Esqrs., of Houghton, as trustees ; and of a scheme

embracing the following regulations :—That the first

trustees should be the above-named gentlemen ; and

that they and the rector should enter in a book their

names and places of residence, to which all notices

should be sent; that the trustees should let the es-

tates, have the general management, and receive and

appropriate the income ; all questions as to the choice

and election of mistress and scholars, and the rules

and orders to be observed by them, to be decided by

the rector and trustees, at quarterly or special meetings,

to be held under prescribed forms ; a trustee dying, or

declining, or becoming incapable to act, the rector and

trustees to elect, as his successor, a person, a member

of the Church of England, residing in or within seven

miles of the parish ; and tlie number of scholars to be

increased (the income permitting) to 30, 22 of whom
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shall be chosen out of Houghton, and 4 each from

Newbottle and East Raintoii—out of the 22, twelve

(or more if the funds be sufficient), to be chosen by

the rector and trustees, to be supplied with clothes,

books, &c., and materials for sewing, &c., to be supplied

from the Charity fund—the salary of the mistress to be

raised to a sum not exceeding 25/. (income permitting)

—and every child having been live years at the school,

on leaving, to be furnished with a Bible and Prayer

Book, and new clothing. In case of deficiency, or of

excess of income, the trustees to determine what re-

duction, or what increase, shall take place in the

matters aforesaid ; and the rector and trustees to

determine which of the children should be the objects

of such reduction or of such increase, having regard to

the proportions of the different townships. The master

also reported his opinion to be in favour of an union

between the Charity and the National and Barrington

school, on a scheme proposed by the rector ; and who

recommended that the rector and trustees should be

at liberty to appoint the mistress of the National School,

as mistress of the Charity School, subject to dismissal

by them ; that the Charity scholars might be taught in

the National and Barrington School, but distinguished

from the other scholars by the name of " Sir George

Wheeler's scholars," and be exempt from any payments,

and in every respect enjoy the same exclusive benefits

as if taught in a building alone ; the Charity-house to

be occupied by the mistress of the combined school,

and the Charity school-room for separate class teaching

in the combined school; and that the rector and

trustees should be at liberty, if they think fit, to ap-

point a separate mistress for the Charity school, and

to continue the education of the children in the National

and Barrington school, or remove them therefrom,

and educate them in a separate room, as may hereafter

appear desirable or circumstances may requu-e. On
the 9th of February following, the petitioners presented

another petition praying that the report of the master

might be confirmed, except as to the proposed amalga-

mation of the schools, and that the costs of the peti-

tioners should be paid out of the rents and profits.

Ou the 2;^rd February, the question came before

Vice-chancellor Knight Bruce for consequential direc-

tions ; when his honour confirmed the master's report,

as far as related to the future administration and

management, and the appointment of the fiirst and

succeeding trustees, except that he directed that the

rector should be joined with the trustees in appropriat-

ing the income of the charity—that all questions re-

lative to such appropriation, and to the election of such

schoolmistress and scholars, &c., should be decided by

the rector and trustees, at meetings to be held as

aforesaid ; and that the rector should have a voice with

the tnistees in determining whether the salary of the

schoolmistress should be raised to 35/. per annum.

And his honour ordered that the union of the Charity

with the National school, as proposed by the rector,

and as certified by the master's report, should take

place upon the terms therein set forth.—Upon the

question of costs, his honour referred it to the taxing

master to tax those of the petitioners, the rector, and

the attorney-general, as between solicitor and client,

and ordered that the trustees should pay the same,

when taxed, rateably, out of one moiety of the rents

and profits of the charity estates.

T. W. U. Robinson, Esq., one of the new trustees,

who had been very active in conducting the investiga-

tion, paid the amount of the costs, about 160/., out of

his private purse, in order that the funds of the charity

might not be crippled by an eflort to procure justice.

In acknowledgment of his public spirit, he was pre-

sented, December 5, 1850, with a silver candelabrum,

value 75 guineas, contributed by 215 subscribers.

Frankeleyn's Charity.—The mayor of Newcastle,

under the will of John Frankeleyn, transmits to the

churchwardens of Houghton, II. Cs. V^d. a year, which

is paid to the poor.

William Carr's Charily.—In the wiU of the Rev.

Bernard Gilpin, it is stated that William Carr gave out

of his lands in Cocken, a rent of five marks yearly,

whereof 40s. was to be bestowed upon Kepier school,

and the other four nobles given yearly to the poor of

Houghton. These sums are paid by the agent of the

Carrs of Cocken; the I/. 6«. Qd. being given away by

the chmxhwardens, on New Year's Day, with other

charity money.

Charities of Dame Isalella Carr and others.—By
will, dated March 7, 1721, Dame Isabella Carr gave

CO/., the interest thereof to be distributed yearly at

Christmas to the poor of Houghton-le-Spring and

Cocken. By a memorandum, dated March 26, 1727, it

was agreed by Ralph Carr, Esq., Dr. Seeker, then rec-

tor, and others, that the interest of 40/. of this legacy

should be appropriated to Houghton, and that of the

remaining 20/. to Cocken. The first-named sum, with

others the origin of which is imknown, is supposed to

be comprised in 200/. lent out on security of the tolls

of the turnpike-road from Durham to Sunderland.

Interest is paid at five per cent., and, with the proceeds
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of other charities, is divided at a vestiy meeting

amongst the overseers of the different townships of the

parish, except Cocken, in proportion to the population.

Each overseer distributes his share to his respective

poor. With respect to the 20/. allotted to Cocken,

and which was deposited at the time with Ealph Carr,

Esq., no specific payment has been made for many
years.

Tempest's Charity.—John Tempest, Esq., by his

will, bearing date Apiil 1, 1794, gave to Sir John Eden,

WilUam Henry Lambton, Esq., and Henry Vane, Esq.,

tlieii' executors, &c., such a sum of money as shoidd

be sufficient to purchase in their names 1,200/. three

per cent, consols, upon trust, to pay the dividends

yearly, in such proportions as they should think fit, to

the widows of six pitmen, for their lives, whose hus-

bands should have been usually employed as pitmen

ill the time of the testator's father, or his own time,

working the Penshaw and Rainton collieries, such six

widows to be nominated by the trustees in writing, to

be deposited in the parish chest of Houghtou-le-Spring;

and he directed that when one widow should die,

another such widow as aforesaid should be appointed
;

and in case the said collieries should cease to be worked,

so that there should be no such widows to be nominated,

that the trustees should nominate six widows whom
they should think fit objects of charity, and pay them
the dividends in like manner ; and he directed that

when one of the trustees should die, or refuse or de-

cline to act, the survivors should nominate, in writing,

another trustee to act with them, so that there should

be always three tnistees. The sum of 1,200/. three

per cent, consols now stands in the names of the Hon.
and Rev. John Grey, and N. Ellison and T. W. U.

Robinson, Esqrs; and the dividends, amounting to 80/.

))er annum, are divided amongst six poor widows, ap-

pointed by the colliery agents of the Marchioness of

Londonderry, great niece of the testator.

West Rainton School.—The yearly sum of JO/, for a

school at this place is charged upon some estate be-

longing to the Marchioness of Londonderry, whose
agent pays it to a master for instructing ten children

in reading, writing, and arithmetic. A school-house

was built about 25 years ago by subscription.

* Mr. Stewart accounts for the small numliers of children atteml-
ing suhouls in the north by observing, " It is nntorions tliat for some
years back children have been able to obtain employment at such an
early age as to put aside all chances of their education.—Employment

OTHER SCHOOLS.

Nesham Hall Academy.—This establishment was for

some years conducted by Mr. Goodrick, and is now car-

ried on by his widow, assisted by Mr. Finley. Attached

is a museum, for which a neat structure has been erected

in the garden. It contains a collection of scientific

instruments, specimens of natural history, &c., suitable

for illustrating the various lectures which are from
time to time delivered to the pupils.

There are three ladies' boarding schools in Hough-
ton-le-Spring, besides several private day-schools

;

and Sunday-schools are attached to the various

places of worship.

National and Barrinytun School.—This school is

supported partly by the rector, partly by the parliamen-

tary grant, and partly by a payment of 2d. per week
from each of the children, the charity scholars ex-

cepted. The Girls' Blue Coat School, endowed by Sir

George Wheeler, is now incorporated with the national

school. At the visit of the Rev. D. J. Stewart,

government inspector, on the 13th of June, 1853, there

were 104 boys present at examination; 74 had left

during the preceding 12 months, and 70 been admitted

;

the average attendance being 93.* Of girls, there were

89 present at examination, 63 had left and 78 been

admitted during the 12 months, and the average attend-

ance was 66. The general observations were—
Boys—" Buildings, books, method, discipline, and instruction, fair

;

a small class-room. The offices in a very small yard. Desks, thrte

RToups of three loose parallel deslcs of different lengths in school room.

Furniture, clock. Playground, none. Apparatus, four black boards,

four easels. Organization; standard of classification : reading. Four

classes for general work, under master, with certificate of merit, and
one apprentice ; two divisions for Scripture and geography ; two

groups in second class for arithmetic. The apprentice takes tl e

general work of the school. The boys arc arranged in parallel rows."

GiRis—" Buildings, books, methods, discipline, and instruction,

fair ; a small class-room ; offices in a veiy small yard. Desks, two

groups of two parallel, loose, one against the wall. Playground, none.

Apparatus, two black boards, large, three small ones, four easels.

• Organization; standard of classification : reading. Four classes for

general work, under mistress, with certificate of merit, and two pupil

(eacliers; one divisi(m for Scripture le.^sons, history, and geography
;

one group for higher branches of aritlimetic. Kach pupil teacher is

confined to one class for a month."

Roman Catholic School.—This school, for the educa-

tion of boys and girls, has received a grant from the

is so plentiful and wages so high, that the education of a child is set

aside for the sake of the weekly return of his laliour.—In the parish

of Hought(m-le-Sprinir, it is rather inider the mark to say that the

average weekly wages of boys from 13 to 18 years old is li«. to 13.f.
'
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Committee of Council on Education in augmentation

of the teacher's salary, and another for books. On the

visit of S. N. Stokes, Esq., government inspector, on

the 28rd of August, 1853, thei*e were 73 children pre-

sent, 41 had left and 42 been admitted during the

preceding 12 months, and the average attendance was

50. The following are the general observations :

—

" Buildings, room of good dimensions, as described by Mr. Marsliall,

H.M. Inspector of Schools, in 1849. Nine parallel desks down middle

of room. Furniture sufficient. Playground small. Books, fair sup-

ply. Apparatus, fair. Organization, ten classes, five boys, and five

girls, kept separate, and forrued round room. Methods, model school,

Dublin. Discipline satisfactory. Instruction, good in geography and

history, but deficient in arithmetic. This mixed school is conducted

by a certificated master, with the assistance of his wife, who takes

charge of the girls' needlework. It does not seem to me that their

progress, however, in industrial skill is so satisfactory as it might be.

The duties of the master are performed with industry and fair ability.

He knows how to turn the reading lesson to good account, and in

history and geography has well instructed the first class. These sub-

jects should be more generally taught ; dictation more frequently

practised ; and arithmetic carefully attended to."

MECHANICS' INSTITUTE.

A BUILDING for the Houghton-le-Spi-ing Mechanics'

Institute was erected in 1852, on ground given for tlie

purpose by T. W. U. and A. Robinson, Esqrs. The

funds were raised by subscription ; but as the amount

fell short by about 180/., a bazaar was held by the

ladies of the town on the 31st of May and following

day, when 203/. 3s. Gd. was raised. The building

is in the Italian style, and contains a large public

room and a spacious library, with a dwelling-house

attached. The roof of the public room is formed with

arched ribs, supported on ornamental stone brackets

;

the spandrels and the apex being filled in ^vith light

open work, giving it an elegant appearance. Above tJie

entrance porch is' a campanile, intended to contain a

clock. The designs were furnished by Mr. J. E. Wat-

sou, ai'chitect, Newcastle. The library contains about

850 volumes ; and there are about 70 ordinary mem-

bers, the adults of whom pay an annual subscription of

8.«. each, and apprentices and j'oung men imder 18

years of age, 4.v. Honorary members are those who

make a donation of not less than 10/., or pay an annual

subscription of not less than 1 2s. (id.

POOR-L.\W UNION.

Houghton -LE- Spring Union is divided into the sub-

districts of Houghton-le-Spring and Hetton-le-Hole.

The first of these comprises the townsliips of Houghton-

le-Sj)ring, East and Middle Herrington, West Herring-

ton, Oiferton, Penshaw, Newbottle, Morton-Grange,

and Wardon-Law, with that of Silksworth, in the parish

of Bishopwearmouth. Hetton-le-Hole sub-district

contains the townships of Hetton-le-Hole, Great Ep-

pleton. Little Eppleton, East Raintou, West Rainton,

Moorsley, and Moorhouse. The entire Union contains

16,202 acres ; and the population, in 1861, was 19,564,

of whom 10,007 were males and 0,557 females. The
townships of Cocken, Bom-n-Moor, and South Biddick,

though in the parish of Houghton-le-Spring, are at-

tached to Chester-le-Street Union.

In 1851, there were 9,489 persons in the Union under

20 years of age, of whom 8,180 were born in the county

of Durham, 96 in Yorkshire, 666 in Northumbei-land,

34 in Cumberland, 20 in London, 54 in Scotland, 342

in Ireland, 4 in the colonies, 2 in foreign parts, and

the remainder in various parts of England. Of 10,075

of 20 years and upwards, 6,744 were born in the

county of Dnrham, 410 in Yorkshire, 1,543 in North-

umberland, 154 in Cumberland, 56 in London, 3 in

Wales, 170 in Scotland, 710 in Ireland, 13 in the

colonies, 19 in foreign parts, 2 at sea, and the remain-

der in various parts of England.

Of males above 20 yeai-s of age, 10 were employed

as police, 10 were clergymen, 6 Protestant ministers,

1 priest, 14 schoolmasters, 18 other teachers, 18 inn-

keepers, 9 domestic servants, 1 coachman, 3 grooms,

2 gardeners, 2 inn servants, 11 house proprietors, 24

employed on railways, 3 land proprietors, 100 farmers,

2 maltsters, 25 brewers, 1 5 licensed victuallers and beer-

shop keepers, 2 wine and spirit merchants, 2,353 coal

miners, 30 iron manufacturers, 1 independent gentle-

man, 10 annuitants, 20 paupers of no stated occupation,

and 4 vagrants and others in barns, &c. Of females

above 20 years of age, 10 were innkeepers, 8 lodging

house keepers, 180 domestic servants, 22 housekeepers,

6 cooks, 8 housemaids, 5 nurses, 8 inn servants, 1 land

proprietor, 8 farmers, 22 out-door agricultiu'al labourers,

43 inn-door farm servants, 5 licensed victuallers and

beer-shop keepers, 1 coal miner, 36 annuitants, and 10

paupers of no stated occupation. There were 20 bimd,

7 deaf and dumb, 26 in the workhouse, and 10 in

lunatic asylums.

There were, at the same date, 5,037 males above 20

years of age, of whom 1,300 were bachelors, 3,412

married, and 325 widowers; and 5,038 females, of

whom 990 were spinsters, 3,414 married, and 631

widows.
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The income and expenditure of Houghton -le-Spring

Union, in the year ended Lady-day, 1851, is stated in

vol. i., p. 102. In the succeeding years, it was as

follows :

—

Income. Expenditure. Medical relief.

1852 ... £4,035 16 ... £4,159 12 ... £128 16

1853 ... 4,332 12 ... 4,.5O0 1 ... 118 14

1854 ... 4,687 17 ... 4,654 2 ... 155 19

SUPPLY OF GAS.

The gas works were established in 1834, and the town

was first lighted on June 28, 1835. The company was

intended to consist of 120 shareholders of 10/. each;

but the number was never completed; and, for want of

capital, the company became embarrassed. There are

nine retorts in constant use. The price is 6s. per 1,000

cubic feet to ordinary consumers, and 3«. Gd. to large

consumers. There are 30 street lamps, which, with

posts, &c., are the property of the company, who con-

tract with the inspector to light each lamp for 1,250

hours, at 21. 2s. per annum. They are generally lighted

from the beginning of September to the end of April

or beginning of May following, according to the state

of the moon and weather.

SUPPLY OF WATER.

TuE town of Houghton is supplied with water from

numerous springs and pumps, which vary from 20^^

to 59 degrees of hardness, and contain lime and mag-

nesia.* The plentiful springs, therefore, from which

the place derives its name, and which wei'e formerly

supposed to conduce so much to its salubrity, do not

meet with the approval of modem science, which re-

quires the use of a softer water for domestic and other

purposes.

SANITARY CONDITION.

On the 28th September, 1853, a petition, signed by 98

rate-payers (the total number being about 433) of the

township of Houghton-le-Spring, was received by the

General Board of Health, praying that an inspector

might "visit the said township, make public inquiry,

examine witnesses," &c. Robert Rawlinson, Esq.,

superintcudmg inspector, accordingly held an inquiry

on the 1 9th of October following, when the following

gentlemen were present:—The Hon. and Rev. John

* Holywell, or Bede's well is of 295 degrees of hardness ; a sprin,!;

at the foot of Wardenlaw Hill, the stream of which runs through

Houghton, 25 degrees ; a pump in the market-place, 57§ degrees, &c.

Grey, rector ; Rev. Alfred T. Lee, B.A. ; J. L. Balfour,

M.A., head master of the Kepier grammar-school

;

Thomas W. U. Robinson, gentleman ; Philip James
Dunn, gentleman; Edward D. Welford, solicitor;

John R. Legg, solicitor ; George Hopper, iron manu-
facturer; George Elliott, colliery viewer; George
Tweddell, surgeon

; Robert James, brewer ; George
Himter, farmer; George Liddell, farmer; Robert
Thomas Burn, chemist ; Thomas Lynn, agent ; Arthur
Binks, innkeeper ; James Welsh, watchmaker ; John
Horton, blacksmith ; William Ord, yeoman ; John
Dobson, grocer and draper ; William Stokoe, grocer

and draper; John Wails, grocer and draper ; Thomas
Robson, yeoman ; Robert Morton, printer : James
Young, schoolmaster; William Eaile, draper; George
L. Calbreath, teacher ; C. J. Vincent, organist ; John
Hatley, parish clerk ; Wilson Laws, assistant overseer,

and others. Statements were made from the parlia-

mentary returns, relative to the population of the dis-

trict ; and also particulars respecting the rateable

value of property (7,957/. 15«.), local rating, gas, water,

and drainage. On the latter subject, the inspector's

report says, " There are no efScient sevv-ers nor drains

in the town ; such as exist have been made of rubble

or broken stone, and are quite useless for house drain-

age." The report concludes by recommending the

application of the Public Health Act.

A memorial, signed for the Earl of Durham by

Thomas Morton, and by 232 others, representing h

rateable value of 5,584/. 11«. 8^/., was presented to tlie

General Board of Health, November 17, 1853, urging

that it was not necessary to adopt the Public Health

Act in the village, " as it is not one of the towns or

populous places contemplated by its provisions, and
its adoption would entail upon the rated inhabitants a

useless expenditure of money for ofiicers, salaries, and

other necessary appliances for carrying it into effect,

merely to gratify a few individual ratepayers who con-

cocted the petition to your Honourable Board for its

adoption, and then obtained the requisite number of

signatui-es, without calling any public meeting, or in-

timating it in any way to the other portion of the

ratepayers." A memorial to the same effect was also

presented from the board of guardians of the Hough-
ton-le-Spring Union.

Notwithstanding these remonstrances, an order in

council was made, July 3, 1854, naming the 25th of the

same month for the first election of a local board of

health. Considerable dissatisfaction was excited in

consequence of alleged informalities in publishing the
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requisite notices ; and, as a precautionary measure,

nine persons were noniinatecl, who were eventually

elected. An inspector of nuisances was appointed, and

a seal for the use of the board ordered ; but fui'ther

discontent was produced by a bill presented to the

board January I, 185-5, containing charges of 35/. Os.

lid. for law expenses, 3/. 8s. Gd. for printing, and

61. 10s. for delivering voting papers at the election of

the board. At a public meeting of ratepayers, it was re-

solved to form an association for the purpose of

procuring the abolition of the local board of health,

and to watch its proceedings in the mean time. The

board subsequently resolved unanimously, " That this

board present a petition to parliament, praying that

the order in council which applied the Health of Towns

Act to this township may be rescinded, or that such

provision may be made in the bill now before parlia-

ment as will prevent small localities, similar to Hough-

ton-le-Spring, havuag to keep up an establishment

that is only requisite for large towns." The board,

however, still continues its laboiu'S.

There is much obscurity and contradiction in the

early history of Houghton-le-Spring, which has been

blended with that of Houghton-le-Side (see vol. i., p.

537). Mary, said to be daughter and heiress of

Hem'y le Spring, and in her own right lady of Hough-

ton, married Rowland Belasyse ; but the gi'eater part

of the land forms a portion of the Bishoj)'s Manor,

which includes Bui-don, TunstaU, Ryhope, East and

West Herrington, Newbottle, Warden, and Bishop-

wearmouth (see pp. 411 and 493).

The Halmote or Copi/hold Court is held twice in every

year by the Bishop of Dm-ham's seneschal, or his

deputy, who tries petty cases of debt or assault under

40«. value. According to the ancient court-roll, the

rector of the parish held the lands called Court Close,

on condition of providing a dinner twice a year for the

seneschal, his clerk, and servants. Thomas Asteley,

rector, took one close near the rectory, then divided

into three, to bold for life, or during his incumbency,

paying to the bishop 33s. 4f/., and to the gi'ieve 3s. 4rf.,

to furnish grass and hay for the horses of the seneschal

and his retinue. In 1453, the seneschal fined William

Carr, and eighteen other laymen, for keepmg grey-

hoimds and lurchers, contrary to the statute, they not

being owners of 40s. a year in land, and having kiUed

six hares in the common field. On the opening of

the court, the roU of the copyholders and leaseholders

is called over, and the grieves of the above places at-

tend, and pay in the court rent, or fines collected from

the copyholders who are not present to do " suit and

sei-vice." Previous to the close of the business, pro-

clamation is made by the clerk of the court in the fol-

lowing form :

—

" Oyez, Oyez, Oyez ! The lieirs and next of kin to AB, trustee for

CD, come forth and claim the customary lands and tenements which

he (or she) had in right whilst he (or she) lived in Houghton, or you

lose your right. This is the fiist (second, or third, as the case may
be) proclamation.'

'

The costs for admitting a trustee for a copyholder

amount to about 3/. 4s. Qd., including a 20s. stamp,

upon which the admission is made.

There is no mention of any free land in this town-

ship, in Boldon Book. There were thirteen cottagers

and three half cottagers, whose tenures, works, and

payments were like those of Newbotill. Henry the

grieve held two oxgangs of 24 acres for his service ; the

smith, 12 acres ; the carpenter, a toft and four acres

;

and the punder, 20 acres, and the thraves of Houghton,

Wardon, and Morton, rendering 60 hens and 300 eggs.

The mills of Newbotill and Bedic, with half of Rayn-

ton mill, paid 15 marks. The demesne, consisting of

four carucates, and the sheep and sheep-pasture, were

in the hands of the lord.

Under Hatfield's Survey, the services were being

gradually commuted for money payments. A freehold

estate descended for some time in the family of Rutter,

from whom it passed in marriage to the Ironsides, who

had themselves held lands by copy of com-t roll from

the year 1497. The Chiltous held lands from at least

the time of Henry VIII., and in Newbottle much
earlier. Richard Chilton, Gent., the last male heir,

married one of the daughters of Ralph Lambton, of

Lambton, Esq. : he was killed in a duel in his own
orchard.

The Nesham family also held estates both in Hough-

ton and Newbottle. Nesham Hall, a handsome man-

sion, was the residence of John Doutliwaite Nesham,
Esq.

In the tables relative to the rebellion of 1569, it is

stated that from Houghton, four joined and one was

executed ; Hayton in the hoyle, four joined and one

executed; Newbottle, three joined and one executed;

West Eryngton, two joined and one executed ; Over-

ton, two joined and one executed; West Raynton, six

joined and two executed ; and East Raynton, two

joined and one executed.

Houf/hton Colliery, the property of the Earl of Dur-

ham, is sunk close upon a fault. The three-quarter

seam, 2 feet thick, is found at the depth of 76 fathoms;
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the five-quarter, 3 feet 4 inches, C fathoms further

;

the main coal, 6 feet 8 inches, 13 fathoms further ;

the Maudlin seam, 5 feet, 9 fathoms further ; the low

main, 4 feet 8 inches, 12 fathoms further; and the

Hutton seam, 4 feet 5 inches, 14 fathoms further,

making a total depth of 130 fathoms. The coal, in

this and the surrounding district, is of the best house-

hold qualitj'. An explosion occm-red in this colliery

on the 1st September, 1828, by which three men and

four boys were killed ; and another on December 11,

1850, when 26 men and boys lost their lives. About

1 20 others, who were in the pit at the time, were saved

by "an overcast " having been blown down by the blast,

which prevented the choke damp from penetrating to

where they were. Environed on every side by this

deleterious gas, and in total darkness, they were com-

pelled to remain between five and six houi-s, until

assistance could be brought to them.

CmxTON Moor is a hamlet, one mile west of Hough-

ton town, inhabited by persons employed in the various

mining departments. Colliery Row is also a village

in this township, containing a Wesleyan chapel, and

two public houses. Dean House, Field House, Moore's

Farm, and Hour/hton Hill Mill, are all in the township

of Houghton.

WARDON, OR WARDON-LAW.

This township, two miles east of Houghton-le-Spring,

comprises an area of 518 acres, divided into two farms,

and containing a corn-mill. There were 1 1 inhabited

houses, and I uninhabited, both in 1841 and 1851.

* The workmen employed in the construction of a reservoir on the

summit of the hill, in July, 1822, discovered an oak tree, at the depth

of 10 feet. It measured 70 feet in length, 3 feet in diameter at one

end, and 2 feet at the other. The branches extended 30 feet further,

making the whole length lOO feet. The workmen bored down 10

feet further, and found nothing but wood ; but it was not dug out.

A large quantity of nuts and nut bushes were found ; the former very

perfect. About the same time, as some quarrymen were laying bare

a quarry belonging to the colliery owners, they discovered a human
skeleton, about 3 feet lielow the surface, with an old-fasliioncd button,

and two breeches kuce-buckles, which had probably been worn by

the deceased.

t In the night of August 28, 1815, the house of Miss Smith

(afterwards Lady Peat), at EastHen-ington, was set on fire, after being

robbed. The fire was discovered about two o'clock in the morning,

when the body of Isabella Young, a servant, the only person in the

house at the time, was found in the passage, quite dead, her head

having been severely fractured. At the assizes held on the 13th of

August in the following year, John Eden, James Wolf, and George

Wolf his son, were put upon their trial for burglary, arson, and mur-

der ; and after a trial which lasted nine hours, a verdict of guilty was

VOL. n.

The population, at the six successive returns, was 15,

12, 14, 54, 60, and 54 ; 25 of the latter number being

males and 29 females. The value of property assessed

to the county-rate in 1853 was 1,309/,

Wardon-Law is a lofty hill, forming the highest

ground on the eastern coast of Durham. On the

formation of the colliery at Hetton, the waggon-way

from it to the Wear was carried over the top of this

hill, by means of inclines, worked by an engine at the

summit.* It is proposed to erect a monument, in

memory of the late Marquis of Londonderry, on the

summit of Wardon-Law.

Nine farmers, in Warden, holding 1 8 oxgangs of 1 3^
acres each, are mentioned in Boldon Book. The en-

tire township is still held by copy of court-roll under

the bishop's manor of Houghton. A moiety of the

vill, which descended from the Shadforths, was sold in

1811 to Mr. William Hutchinson, of Durham, and is

stiU vested in his representatives ; the other moiety

belonged to the Hutton family, of Houghton-le-Spring.

EAST AND MIDDLE HERRINGTON.

This township is about 2 miles north-east from Hough-

ton, on the road between that place and Sunderland,

and contains 1,002 acres and 39 inhabited houses.

The number of inhabitants, at the successive returns,

was 123, 10], 133,229, 231, and 250; 126 of the latter

number being males and 124 females. In 1853, the

property was assessed to the county-rate at 1,949/.

8«. U.
East and Middle Herrington, divided by the road,

form but one village.t A Methodist chapel, the

given against John Eden and James Wolf, who were left for execution.

Some remarkable circumstances appearing to be connected with tbe

case, a few active members of the Society of Friends undertook to

investigate the affair, when an alibi was established ; numerous affi-

davits proving that James Wolf was one hundred miles from Herrington

when the crimes were committed. He therefore received a free pardon

from the king, and was liberated. On further enquiries, it was dis-

covered that John Eden had also been falsely sworn to by James

Lincoln, a seaman of Sunderland, probably to obtain the reward of-

fered. Eden was, of course, pardoned and set free ; and at the summer

assizes held at Durham on August 4, 1820, James Lincoln was tried,

and, upon the clearest evidence, found guilty of wilful and corrupt

perjurj'.

Miss Smith, who was possessed of considerable landed property in

the county of Durham, was a person of eccentric habits. She appears

to have had what phrenologists call the organ of acquisitiveness

strongly developed ; and tlie petty depredations she committed under

its overpowering influence sometimes rendered her the victim of

designing people, who threw temptations in her way. She married

the Kcv Sir Robert I'eat, chaplain and companion of George IV.,

after whose death she resided in Villiers Street, Bishopwearmouth,

where she died November 20, 1842, upwards of 90 years of age.

4i
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walls of which h.ad become dilapidated, has been

taken down ; and a new one, with a pitched roof, en-

trance porch, and arched windows, is now being

erected.

The Herrington estates were granted by Bishop

Flambard, to William, son of Ranulf, the bishop's

nephew, but whom Surtees suspects to have been a

descendant of one of the prelate's natural sons. One

of his successors, who adopted the local name, granted

East Herrington to Roger de Esh. Two parts of

Herrington are mentioned in Boldon Book as held by

Hugh Hermas, at 20s. for cornage, two parts of a

milch cow, two parts of a man for castle-ward, eight

chalders each of malt, meal, and oats, ploughing and

harrowing four acres of the lord's land at Newbotill,

and working with his men for the lord in autumn. The

drenge contributed two parts of feeding a horse and

dog.

East Herrington continued in the Esh family, and

their successors, the Smythes (see vol. i., p. -419), until

1786, when Sir Edward Smythe, Bart, sold it to

General John Lambtou, of Lambton.

Middle Herrington is supposed to have lain partly

waste between the eastern aud western manors, not

being itself mentioned as an integral manor. In 1 3S8,

John de Denum died seised of a messuage and 14 acres

in Middle Herrington, held by Roger de Esh in dren-

gage. A considerable part of the property is held of

the see by copy of court-roll. The Robinsons have

held lands from the commencement of the copyhold

records, in the time of Edward III. Ralph Robinson,

Esq., sold the principal mansion to William Beckwith,

Esq., of Thurcroft, Yorkshire, aud the Hayuing to

John and Tliomas Cooke, Esqrs., of Streathorpe, in

the same county. A considerable portion of the estate

now belongs to the Earl of Durham.

WEST HERRINGTON.

The area of West Herrington is 969 acres. Its popu-

lation has been successively returned at 209, 253, 329,

381, 343, and 344 ; the latter number consisting of 1G9

males and 175 females, inhabiting 09 houses. The

property was assessed for the county-rate in 1853 at

2.043/.

The Wodshale, with a carucate of land, aud five

acres of Woodland, were held of the bishop by homage

and fealty by John Denum above mentioned, who also

held of John Darcy, Knt., by homage, fealty, and suit

at West Herrington mill, a messuage and six acres in

the manor. The estate fell to the four sisters and cor

heirs of Robert Darcey xo, 1414. Property in the town;

ship has since been held by various families, amongst

whom may be named the Smiths, Lambs, Cuthberts of

Witton Castle, aud the Rowes ; the portion belonging

to the latter was purchased by Ralph Lambton, Esq.,

ancestor of the Earl of Durham.

A chapel in West Herrington, and one at Herverton

(Harraton), are mentioned in 1291 as having been

founded for the good estate of Sir Thomas de Her-

rington, his parents Robert and Matilda, and his wives

Amice and Osanna. A dispute in 1414, between the

rector of Houghton, and Robert Darcy, Esq., and

others his parishioners, in wliich the latter required

the rector to provide a (fhaplain to celebrate mass three

times a week in the chapel of the Blessed ]\Iarj' of

West Herrington, attests the importance attached to

the foundation. It is jtrobable that this chapel did

not sm-vive the dissolution of the chantries, as no

vestiges of it now remain.

The fovmdation stone of an Episcopal ch-apel was

laid at West Herrington, on the 20th September, 1 839

:

the site for which and a cemetery was given by the

late Earl of Durham. The building was erected at the

cost of the Rev. E. S.Tburldw, teetoo" of Houghton;

who also paid the stipend of the officiating clergyman;

The chapel was consecrated by the bishop on the 8th

September, 1840.
'

'>" '•"'

The township contains several excellent freestone

and limestone quarries. Herrington Burn Mill stands

in a pleasant situation, and was much improved some

yeai-s ago by its proprietor, Mr Nathaniel Edwards.

Cox Green, 5 miles west of Sunderland, is a busy

village on the Wear, containing an iron foundry and

five public houses. It is partly in the township of

Penshaw.

NEWBOTTLE.

The township of Newbottle comprises an area of 1,388

acres. In 1801, ,the population was 970; in 1811,

1,224; in 1821, it had increased to 2,306 ; but in 1831,

in consequence of the opening out of collieries in other

places, it had declined to 2,198, and, in 1841, to 1,836.

lu 1851, it was 2,067, of whom 1,039 were males and

1,028 females. There were, in 1841, 404 inhabited

houses and 20 uninhabited ; and in 1851, 423 inliabited

and 8 uuinliabited. The annual value of property as-

sessed to the county-rate in 1853 was 4,518/. IO.s. Id.

The North-eastern Railway has an extent of 1 60 t.,
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and an area of 2e. in the township. In 1851, it con-

tributed 6/. 5s., and, in 1852, 6/. 15.s'. to the local rates;

the gross amounts collected in those years being 488/.

6s. 6d. and 495/. 15.?. dd.

The village of Newbottle, in Saxon New Bivelling,

is situated above a mile to the north of Houghton. It

is a wide, airy, and pleasant place, on a lofty site, and

contains many respectable houses. One of these, on

the north side of the village, was the residence of the

Allan familj'. Several convenient cottages were

erected on the south about 25 years ago. There is an

extensive and old-established pottery, at the west end

of the village, carried on by Mr. Broderick; and another

has recently been established at the other end. There

are also a steam corn-mill, six or seven inns and

taverns, three day schools, and a national school for

boys and girls. The latter is called St. Matthew's

school, and is supported by the Earl of Durham. On
the visit of the Rev. D. J. Stewart, July 7, 1853, there

were 87 children present for examination ; 73 had left

during the preceding 12 months, 86 had been admitted,

and the average attendance was 89. General observa-

tions :

—

" Buildings ; the school-room and class-rooms are far from

convenient, and are made out of an old house. The offices are in

tolerable order in very small yards. Eight heavy loose desks. Play-

ground, none. Books, each boy has a set. Apparatus, four black

boards, three easels. Organization ; standard of classification

:

reading. Five classes for general work, under master with certificate

of merit, and two pupil teachers ; two divisions for catechism. Each
pupil-teacher is confined to one class for one month."

In 1850, a new church was built at Newbottle, on
ground given for the pm-pose by the Earl of Durham,
who was also a liberal contributor to the building fund,

in commemoration of his coming into possession of

his estates. The church was opened in December,
1850; and divine service is performed by one of the

curates of Houghton-le-Spring. It is a neat edifice,

in the early English style, and consists of nave and
south transept, with lancet lights ; a bell turret on the

west, and a cross on the eastern gable. An extensive

cemetery is attached.

" In Newbotill," according to Boldon Book, " are

10 cottagers, each of whom holds 12 acres, and pei-forms

two days' works in every week (for the lord) through-

out the year ; and cultivates four portions of land in

autumn with all his family except the huswife ; and
renders one lien and five eggs. And three other cot-

tagers hold each six acres, and work, from Pentecost
to the Feast of St. Marthi, two days in every week.
John the son of Henry holds a toft and 12 acres, for

Vid. rent, in exchange for the land which he formerly
used to hold in Herrington. ' The headborough holds

12 acres for his service. The smith, 12 acres for his

service. The punder, 1 2 acres, and receives a thrave

of corn from every carucate of land in Newbotill,

Bedic, and Heryngtou; and renders 40 hens, and 300
6ggs.—The demesne, consisting of four carucates of
land, with the sheep and pasture, are in the hands of

the bishop."

By Hatfield's Survey, "Hugh de Boj-nton holds 13
acres of land and one rood of demesne-land, and ren-
ders M. for every acre. John Wilkynson and foui-teen

other tenants hold 312 acres of the same demesne-lands
and render as above." The bond-lands were generally
paid for in money. At the present time, the whole
township is held under the Bishop of Durham, either

by leases for lives or years, or by copy of court-roll

under the manor of Houghton. A division of the town-
fields of Newbottle was made in KiiJl : the award is

dated 29th September. Lands called the Hall Moor
and Dobmire Moor were divided. The tenants all

claimed as leaseholders or copyholders under the
Bishop of Durham, who received ] 0/. for his interest

or consent to the division. The families of Wilson,
Watson, Chilton, and Byers, were the principal

claimants.

The Newbottle collieries were carried on for many
years by the Nesham family, from whom they were
purchased in 1819, by the late Earl of Durham, for

70,000/., since which time they have been carried on
with great spirit. The depth to the five-quarter seam
is 84 fathoms. Notwithstanding the improvements of

modern science, accidents of a serious nature have
occasionally occurred in these pits. On June 2, 181 1,

the Success pit fired, and 57 men and boys were killed.

A few weeks afterwards, on the trial of an iron horse,

or locomotive, intended to (U-aw 20 waggons, it ex-

ploded, kilUug three persons, and wounding or scalding

about 50 others, some of whom afterwards died. On
the 8th December, in the same year, four men were
precipitated down the shaft of Nesham's Main coUiery,

by the breaking of a stage, and killed. On the lOtli

October, 1821, six of the men in the pit were suft'ocated

by a current of choke-damp issuing from a perforation.

The Dolly pit exploded, November 19, 1824, when
eight deputy overmen and wastemen were killed, and
three others, who had descended in search of the
bodies, were suffocated. On the 25th of June, 1829, a

man was killed by an explosion in the same pit, whjch
continued to explode at intervals for 24 houi-s, when,
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to exclude the air, it was thought necessary to close

the pit, and to cease working in the Marg-aret pit, to

which there was a communication.

Bunker Hill is a hamlet near Houghton, and con-

tains some good houses, inhabited by different directors

and superintendents of the adjoining coal-works.

Philadelphia Row, below the brow of the hill, a

little to the north of Newbottle, is a village of pit-

men's cottages, and contains two public houses and a

school. A boiler explosion occurred at the colliery

here on Jime 15, 1832, when the engine house and an

adjoining dwelling were blown down, and five persons

killed on the spot, besides thirteen others injiu'ed,

several of whom afterwards died.

MORTON GRANGE.

This township is situated about 2 miles to the west of

Houghton, and comprises 505 acres. There were, in

1851, 35 inhabited houses and 1 uninhabited. The

population has been successively returned at 188, 251,

308, 295, 185, and 185 ; 94 of the latter number being

males and 91 females. The property was assessed for

the county-rate in 1853 at 1,310/.

The North-eastern Railway has an extent of 1 M-,

and an area of G a. 2 e. in this township. It contributed

to the local rates 60/. in 1851, and 51/. 5«. in 1852;

the gross sums collected in those years being 130/. 5».

Srf. and 111/. 1 3s. 8d.

According to Boldon Book, there were in Morton

16 farmers, each holding 25 oxgangs of 12 acres, ren-

dering Sd., and performing various services similar to

those of Warden. Under Hatfield's Survey, these

services were commuted for a money payment. In

1525, Cardinal Wolsey granted a lease of the manor
and grange, under 6/. reseiTcd rent, to Richard Bel-

asyse. Sir William Belasyse, of Morton, was high

sheriff of the county, under Bishops Neile, Monteigne,

Howson, and Morton, from 1625 till his death in 1640.

He received King Charles I. on his Scottish progress

in 1633, at the head of the gentry, "all giving the

sheriffs livery, ash colour, lined with blue bayes."

During the civil wars, the loyalty of Sir William's sons

nearly caused the ruin of the family ; but though ac-

knowledged, it was unrewarded at the Restoration.

Morton, however, continued in their possession until

after 1678, when it passed to Thomas Smith, Esq.,

previously of West Hemngton. His grandson, Mea-

borne Smith, Esq., left three daughters, whose hus-

bands joined in a sale of the estate to Major-general

John Lambton. The whole is held by lease for years

under the Bishop of Durham. Morton House is the

seat of Hedworth Lambton, Esq.

PARISH OP PENSHAW.

The parish of Penshaw was formed by order in council. May 15, 1838. It comprises the north-eastern portion

of the pai'ish of Houghton-le- Spring, to which it was formerly a chapelry, and contains the townships of Penshaw,

Offerton, South Biddick, and Burn Moor, with pai't of that of Newbottle. The population of the whole was

returned in 1851 at 3,449, of whom 1,764 were males and 1,685 females ; and there were, at the same date, 706

inhabited houses and 15 uninhabited.

PENSHAW.

The township of Penshaw contains an area of 1,066

acres. Its population, in 1801, was 1,399; in 1811,

2,275 ; in 1821, 2,090 ; in 1831, in consequence of the

progress of the colUeries, it had increased to 2,539

;

but the mining population having been drawn off to

new collieries in other places, it had declined, in 1841,

to 1,912. In 1851, it was 2,120, of whom 1,097 were

males and 1 ,023 females. The decrease in the popula-

tion was exemplified in 1841 by the fact of there being

no less than 04 uninhabited houses; the number of

inhabited houses being 420. In 1851, there were 439

inhabited houses and 8 uninhabited. The annual value

of property assessed for the county-rate in 1^53 was

4,135/. 10s. The township abounds in excellent lime-

stone, firestone, and freestone.

The North-eastern Railway has an extent of 6 f.

192t., and an area of 10 a. 1b. 17 p. in this township.

In 1851, it contributed 54/. 10«. to the local rates, and

50/. 5.5. in 1852. The gi-oss amount collected in 1851

was 488/. 6s. 2^d., and ui 1852, 503/. Os. 9^d. Penshaw
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Btation is 7| miles from Durham, and 9^ from New-

castle. For a notice of the branch from Penshaw to

Sunderland, see p. 521.

Victoria Bridi/c.—This magnificent bridge, which

crosses the Wear at Penshaw, was erected for the

Dm-ham Junction Railway, and was formally opened

with that line on the 24th of August, 1838. It was

erected from designs by T. Elliott Harrison, Esq.,

engineer, and cost about 35,000/. It has four main

arches, respectively of ICO, 144, and 100 feet span.

Of these arches, three are viaducted, being thrown

over the valley, to obtain the requisite railway level.

There are, besides, six smaller arches (three on each

side) inserted in the ai^proaches or wing walls, to

lighten the masonry, and add unity to the design.

Tlie length of the entire bridge is about 270 yards ; its

\vidth, within the parapet walls, 21 feet; the total

height of the masonry from the base of the foundation

to the summit of the parapet, 157 feet : and from the

level of the river, 130 feet. There is a double line of

railway over the bridge, with a flagged causeway on

each side for foot passengers. This structure is now
included in the main line of the North-eastern railway.

Penshaw (or, as it is sometimes improperly called

Paiiishaw or Peniilier) derives its name from the British

P<;ii, and the Saxon S/iaw, a wood or thicket. Thus,

Penshaw is the wooded hill. Its covering of native

oak remained on the Pen so late as the year 1017.

The eminence is visible for many miles round ; and

its summit commands an extensive and noble prospect,

comprehending many of the principal objects in the

north-eastern part of the county, including the sur-

rounding towns, villages, collieries, &c., with Chester-

le-Street and Durham towards the west and south.

Durham Memorial.—Shortly after the death of the

late Earl of Durham, on July 28, 1840, a central com-

mittee was formed for the pm-pose of promoting a tes-

timonial to his talents and worth. Public meetingso
were held on the subject in Sunderland and Newcastle,

and subscription lists opened, at which the sum of

nearly ."{,000/. was speedily raised by local efforts, which

was considerably augmented by a subscription com-

menced in London, under the direction of a metropoli-

tan committee. Penshaw Hill was selected for the site

of the monument ; the designs of a Grecian temple, by

Messrs. Green, of Newcastle, were adopted ; and the

execution of the work was entrusted to Mr. Pratt, of

Sunderland. The site was given by the Marquis of

Londonderry. The foundation-stone was laid August

VOL. u.

28, 1844 ; on which occasion a procession of about

400 members of the Provincial Grand Lodge of Free
Masons attended. The ceremony was performed by
the Right Hon. the Earl of Zetland, M.W.G.M. ; the

principal officers of the lodges in the north of England
being present. The proceedings were witnessed by
not less than 10,000 persons.

The temple is remarkable for its grandeur, simplicity,

and imposing effect, nothing in the shape of ornament

or meretricious decoration being introduced ; for, as

it is intended to be viewed principall)' from a distance,

any enrichment would be lost. It is of the Doric

order, and the proportions are after the temple of

Theseus. The dimensions of the order are, however,

exactly double those of that temple, the columns of

which are 3 feet 3 inches in diameter, and those of the

Durham Memorial are 6 feet inches. The propor-

tions are also thus larger than many others of the

temples of antiquity. Tlie temple has foiu' columns

at the front or end, is open to the sky at the top, and

has columns all round, raised from the ground on a

stolybate feet high, in two divisions or steps of 3 feet

each. The arrangement of tlie columns is after that

of the temple of Diana at Ephesus, having one less

on the flanks than twice the number on the end. The
total length is 100 feet; the width, 53 feet; and the

height from the ground at one end 70 feet, and the

other 02 feet. There are eighteen columns in the

whole on the stolj'bate ; four at each end, and seven

at the flanks or sides, counting two of the end ones on

each flank. They are five diameters and a half (35

feet 9 inches) high. The entablature above the columns

is 13 feet inches high, and at each end is surmounted

with a pediment. The columns are so large that a

staircase is inclosed in one of them, which gives access

to the top of the monument, from which an extensive

panorama of the surrounding country may be seen.

To save expense, the columns and most of the walls

are hollow.

Penshaw, or, as it is now sometimes called. Old

Penshaw, is a village situated at the western base of the

lofty hill, 3 miles north-by-wcst from Houghton. It

contains a Methodist chapel, two schools, and three

public houses. Annual sales of fat cattle, belonging

to the late Marquis and the Marchioness of London-

derry, have for some time been held here. An adjoin-

ing hamlet is called New Penshaw, and is mostly

occupied by persons engaged in the collieries. Pen-

shaw Cottaije and Pensliaw Lowhouse are good houses.

Penshaw Foundry, belonging to Mr, Robert Elliott, is
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conveniently situated for the adjoining coal-works. 1

Low Lamhton is a hamlet on the Wear, where the Earl

of Durham has coal staiths. At Penshaw Staiths,

belonging to the Marchioness of Londonderry, there

are four public-houses. The collieries in the township

belong to her ladyship.*

THE CHUKCH.

The church of Penshaw was erected and endowed as

a chapel of ease about the year 1754. It is a plain

building, ^^itll nothing ecclesiastical in its chai-acter,

but capable of containing about 400 persons. The

original entrance on the west has been closed up, and

another formed on the south; and the interior is

warmed by hot-water pipes. The Communion table

occupies a semicirculai- apse, in which the present

iuciunbent has placed a window of stained glass,

comprising medallions containing the symbols of the

Evangelists. Beneath the Decalogue is the foUowing

inscription :

—

PKSVRTPRFCTMN
YKKPTHSPRCPTSTN

which, being supplied with the repetition of a vowel,

forms the following monitory couplet :•

—

Persevere, ye perfect men,

Ever keep these precepts ten.

A cemetery was added in 1756, which contains several

memorials of persons connected with the surrounding

collieries and neighbourhood.t

Registees.—Book No. 1 contains entries of baptisms

fi-om 1754 to 1812, and burials from 1756 to 1812.

Nos. 2 and 3, marriages from 1754 to 1812.

luCtJMBEXTs.—William Sissons, A.M., appointed on the endowment,

buried at Penshaw 2Sth October, I7SS ; Christopher Kobiuson, A.M.,

p. m. Sisson, died October 17, 1797 ; Thomas Bowlby, A.M., 1798
;

Thomas Thompson, p. m. Bowlby ; James Waters, July, 1850, p. m.

Thompson.

On the endowment, the rector of Houghton-le-Spring

became patron of the living. The sum of 600/. was

subscribed, and 400/. was received from Queen Anne"s

Boimty. In 1835, the income was 119/. per annum,

with a glebe house; out of the income 50/. was paid to

* On Wednesday, August 24, 1842, his royal highness the Duke of

Cambridge, the Duke of Rutland, and other distinguished visitors at

AVynyard, arrived at Penshaw fi-om Rainton Meadows, where a dinner

was provided for the pitmen, and an elegant collation for the visitors.

The number of persons who sat down to dinner was 1,554. The noble

dukes mixed for a short time with the worlimcn, asking question.s

a curate. The amount appears to have been afterwards

tliminished, for, by order in council, October 6, 1841,

the ecclesiastical commissioners were enabled to grant

51/. per annum to the living of Painshaw, or Pensher,

so as to biing the net income to 150/., the parish being

in Schedule Al, containing a population of 2,000

or upwards. A grant of 400/ was made from the

Maltby Fund, dm-ing the year preceding November 1,

1851, for rebuilding the parsonage ; but this has not

yet been accomplished, and the old glebe house is

totidly unfit for residence. The living is now a rectory,

in the patronage of the Bishop of Dui-ham.

Penshaw was held at an early age by the Daltons,

except a portion caUed Bernewell, which was held im-

mediately under the see of Dui'ham. In 1428, the

manor of Bemewell and the viU of Pencher were held

by Robert Karlele, whose descendant Joan, daughter

and heii'ess of John Carlele, who died in 1488, carried

the manor by mariiage into the family of Thii-keld,

and from them to the Amcoats. It is now vested in

the Marchioness of Londondeny. The Lambtons

have held lands in Penshaw since 1370.

Shxmet Row is a pit village, 2 miles west-by-north

of Houghton, and on the road between Simderland

and Chester-le-Street. The Wesleyan Methodists

have a chapel, in the Gothic style of architecture ; and

a large chapel belongs to the Wesleyan Reformers. A
school here was endowed with 1 5/. per annum by Sir

Henry Vane, for the education of ten boys belonging

to the pitmen employed in his colliery. The late

Marquis of Londonderry converted his pay-house

into a school-house for the children of the village ;

and the building was afterwards enlarged for the re-

ception of the numbers who applied for admission. It

is now attended by about 110 boys and 100 girls, who

pay Id. per week each, and are j'l'ovided with all

necessary apparatus. The school is supported by the

private boimty of the Marchioness of Londonderry.

In the village there is a reading room, estabUshed

about 20 years ago, and in which the leading periodicals,

two daily newspapers, and several local papers are

taken in. There is also a library attached, containing

of several of the lads, respecting their age, education, health,

work, Sk.

t Mr. James Bradley, of Penshaw, died there in December,

1841, aged 92, leaving a widow, to whom he had been married 68

years, at the age of 97 ; also 1 4 sons and daughters, 75 .grandchildren,

and 46 great-grandchildren, or a total of 13.5 descendants.
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between 800 and 900 volumes. The subscriptions are,

first class, 21s. ; second, 10«. ; and workmen, 4«. Gd.

per annum. Sliiney Eow contains several sliops, public-

houses, &c. ; and a large quarry is wrought in the im-

mediate ^'icin^ty, from which the stone for the mansion-

house of Wynyard was procured.

OFFERTON.

This township forms the north-eastern portion of the

parish, and contains an area of 809 acres, on which, in

both 18 il and 1851, there were 41 inhabited houses

and 1 uninhabited. The numbers of inhabitants were

returned in the successive enumerations at 77, 175,

198, 190, 200, and 218; 120 of the latter being males

and 98 females. The value of property assessed to

the county-rate in 1853 was 1,417^. Os. lOf^.

Offerton, or Higher Town, is a small village, com-

manding an extensive view of the vale of the Wear,

and containing three public-houses, one of which is an

ancient mansion-house. Offerton Mall is now the resi-

dence of John Elliott, Esq. ; and the estate is cultivated

by a tenant-farmer.

There is a mineral spring at Offerton, which has

been analyzed, and found to contain three grains and

a fraction of carbonate of soda, and one of iron,

as the most active ingi-edients in it. The situation of

the spi-ing is beautiful, and, according to Dr. Granville,

is "wonderfully adapted by uatui'e for a watering-

place."

Offerton was one of the villages which Athelstan

gave to the see of Durham, as an appendage to that of

South Wearmouth. The Deuums and Strothers are

named as early proprietors. In the reign of Henry
rV., two-thu'ds of the manor were vested in the Fen-

wicks and Loreynes. The possessions of the latter

are now the property of the Earl of Durham ; and

Fenwick's share, which passed to the Lilburns, now
belongs to the Marchioness of Londonderry. Another

portion, after 1509, came into the Middleton family,

from wliom it descended to Pachard Wliarton, Esq.,

who sold it to Simon Temple, Esq., and by whom it

was again conveyed to Mrs. Mai-y Lambton, of Biddick,

under whose devise it passed to Mr. John Dawson,
who assumed the name of Lambton. It is now, by
pm-chase, the property of the Earl of Durham.

Drummond, Eakl of Terth.—The sequestered village of South Bid-

dick was the asylum of the attainted Earl of Perth ; and here, in the

humblest circumstances, since the disastrous and mcmoiable rdx-ilion

pf 1745, the descendants of that unfortunate nobleman have remained.

SOUTH BIDDICK.

This township adjoins that of Penshaw on the south-

west, and borders upon the Wear. It contains 343
acres. Its population, in 1801, was 490 ; in 1811, it

had fallen to 141 ; in 1821, it had rallied to 1G7, and,

in 1831, to 199; but in 1841, it had dropped to 74;
and in 1851, it was only 38, of whom 17 were males
and 21 females. In 1841, there wei-e 15 inhabited

houses, and 5 uninhabited; but in 1851, there were
only 8 houses, aU of which were inhabited. The an-

nual value of property assessed to the county-rate in

1853 was 833/.

The North-eastern Railway has an extent of 5f.

154 Y., and an area of 5 a. 2 p. in this township. In
1851, it contributed 27/. 3s. 4f/. to the local rates, and
28/. 10s. M. in 1852; the gross amounts collected in

the respective years being 09/. 8s. M. and 73/. 17s. M.
The name of Biddick, anciently Bcdi/Jce, was pro-

bably from the Saxon, being surrounded by a di/ke or

fosse. Supposing the present mansion to stand on the

site of the ancient Bedyke, the whole spot could have
been easily insulated by a trench communicating with

the Wear, and from which circumstance it may have

received the name of Biddic-Waterville, which it bears

in some old records. The village lay in a low seques-

tered situation, and has been graphically described as

"formerly inhabited by banditti, who set all authority

at defiance ; nay, the officers of excise were afraid of

surveying the two public-houses, unless in-otected by
some of the most daring of the colliers, who were re-

warded for their trouble. There were in the village

about ten shops or houses where contraband spii-its

were publicly sold without any license. The press-

gang were at one time beat out of the place with the

loss of two men, and never more were known to enter

into it ; for if they were known to be in the neighbour-

hood, the ' Biddickers,' used to sound a horn, the sig-

nal for them to fly to arms ; fires were lighted in various

places ; the keels in the river were seized, with which

they formed a bridge of communication with Fatfield

(another place on the opposite side of the river, equally

as lawless as their own), and kept watch and ward till

the danger was past ; in consequence of which it be-

came a receptacle for such as had violated the laws of

their country."*

Under the influence of his mother. Lady Jean Gordon, only daughter

of the Duke of Gordon, a woman of great spirit and activity, and
warmly attaclicd to the house of Stewart, he joined the chieftains.

On leaving his castle on that occasion, tradition states that he turned
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Boldon Book states that the villains of South Bedic

held theii" vill to farm, paid o.v., and provided 160 men
to mow in harvest, and 36 carts to lead the lord's corn

round, and, as if anticipating the result, exclaimed, " Oh ! my bonny

Drummoud Castle, and my bonny lands !" He was first lieutenant

general at the battle of Preston Panns, and commanded at the sieges

of Carlisle and Stirling. He commanded the left wing of the army
at the decisive battle of Cnlloden, where he -was severely wounded,

and fled on horseback from the field. The romantic perils and hair-

breadth escapes of the earl are too numerous to be mentioned here.

He happily effected his escape from Scotland, the more immediate

scene of danger, although he could not at the time meet with any

ship bound for France. He had previously, with a view to lull sus-

picion, and to facilitate his projected attempt to escape, caused a

report to be circulated that he had embarked for that country about

three weeks after the battle of Culloden, and died on the passage,

from the combined effects of his woimds and the excessive fatigues he

had undergone ; and this story, being cmTently believed at the time,

answered the purpose for which it was intended. In pursuance of a

preconcerted plan, he made his way to the sea-coast, and fortunately

succeeded in getting on board a vessel, which landed him safely at

South Shields. Passing on to Sunderland, he proceeded up the river

Wear to South Biddick, which place he selected as a temporary so-

journ. Being a wild, sequestered spot, inhabited exclusively by

coUiers and keelmen, who were at that period a very lawless set, and

had an especial sympathy for all who were pmsued by justice for any

crime morally short of murder, Lord Perth thought that he probably

might remain here for a considerable time, if necessaiy, safe from all

danger and pursuit. The vicinity of the coal mines added much to

the security of any fugitive ; as, in the case of sudden alarm, he could

be plunged by the friendly colliers into the recesses of a mine several

hundred feet deep, where it would be next to impossible to discover

him. The particular locality thus selected by Drammond presented

to his mind other advantages : it w<is at a convenient distance from

Sunderland, where vessels were generally to be met with, bound for

the ports of France and Holland ; and in case any event should un-

expectedly happen, prior to his final embarkation, at all favourable

to the cause of the exiled family, he was in a situation from whence

he could speedUy co-operate in atiy renewed effort which might be

made. On his arrival at Biddick, the noble fugitive took up his

abode under the humble roof of John Armstrong, a pitman, who,

without at all suspecting the rank and condition of his guest, re-

ceived and entertained him with the greatest hospitality and kind-

ness. And here it was that all the plans and prospects of the

unfortunate Perth were destined to tmdergo a total and permanent

change ; no further attempt was ever made on behalf of the expa-

tiated Stuarts, and a circumstance arose within the little fireside

circle at Biddick wliich fixed the destiny and the abode of Drammond
for life. Armstrong had a daughter, Elizabeth, who was a girl of

exquisite beauty, and of artless and most engaging manners. She

was only about twelve years of age when Drummond first came under

her father's roof; and he had taken great delight in instructing her,

and aiding the growth and expansion of the superior intellect with

which he soon perceived she was naturally endowed. Time rolled

on ; the stranger still lingered at Biddick, where he had found what

proved to be a peaceful and secure retreat; and when Elizabeth

Armstrong had entered on her sixteenth year, he conceived a violent

attachment tor her, and felt that she was necessary to his future

happiness. The hopes of the Jacobites had become finally extin-

guished ; he quite despaired of ever recovering his estates, or resum-

ing his former station ; and even if he should, the voice of love

unhesitatingly assured him that his Elizabeth would adorn it. He

at Hocton. Alianor de CoUey died seised of the manor
of South Bedyk nigh Newbotell in lH3o; and in the

following year, her son Gilbert styled himself Dominm

obtained the assent of both her parents to their union ; and, in the

month of November, 1749, she being then in her seventeenth year,

he led her to the altar at the parish church of Houghton-le-Spring.

Some time after their marriage, they removed to a cottage called the

Boat House, the occupation of which was kindly granted to Dram-

mond by Nicholas Lambton, Esq., of Biddick Hall. Even at this

time, it appears that Sir. Lambton knew a part, at least, of the

history and misfortunes of the stranger who had thus mysteriously

appeared and settled in his vicinity ; as it was remembered by Mrs.

Peters, one of the earl's daughters, recently surviving, that Jlr.

Lambton, on that occasion, addressed her father in the following

words :
—

" I know you weU enough
;
you are one of the Drummonds,

the rebels ; but I will give you the house and garden for all that

"

Attached to the cottage, which was close to the river, was a feny-

boat ; and from the profits of this boat the exiled Perth contrived to

procure a scanty subsistence for himself and his rising family. While

he was employed in the humble occupation of rowing passengers

across the river Wear, his wife had the management of a small shop,

which added a little to their very limited means of existence. In the

couree of a few years, the family consisted of six or seven children
;

and it was the parent's great delight and employment, in the inter.

vals of his occupation on the river, to give them that instruction

himself which he could not afford to procure for them at suitable

schools. As, however, the boys grew up, he was much perplexed how
to dispose of them. He could have wished to put them in some way
of life not altogether unbefitting their origin and descent ; but he was

entirely destitute of the means to accomplish this. William, the

youngest, who frequently went down to Sunderland in the keels,

conceived a liking for a seafaring life, and was in due time placed

under the care of the master of a trading vessel belonging to that

port. His elder and only brother, James, was of a more quiet and

studious turn, and lingered at home, sometimes taking his father's

place in the little feny-boat, and sometimes accompanying John

Armstrong, his grandfather, down the coal-mine where he worked, to

gratify his youthful ciuiosity, by witnessing the operations there.

He was extremely partial to his grandfather; and in this way he

gradually conceived a liking for the rude occupation which the old

man followed. The boy w;is too young, as yet, to be trusted with

the secret of his father's real rank. He longed to be able to carry

something home to his beloved mother on a Satirrday night, to add

to the common stock and common comforts of the family ; for, as his

sisters grew up, he perceived that the difficulty which his parents

had in maintaining their hiuuble household increased. Without his

father's knowledge, he got himself placed, through the intervention

of Armstrong, on the colliery establishment ; and at the end of a

week, during which his parents had observed that he was more than

usually absent with his grandfather, he brought his Uttle earnings,

and with all the pride of independence, and all the warmth of filial

and fraternal love, he poured them into his mother's lap. as she sat

conversing with his father at the door of their little cottage. Thie

was probably the most severe and painful trial which the unfortunate

Perth had ever experienced. It is true that, for some time past, his

fate and fortunes appeared to have been quietly merged in those of

the vmknown Drammond, the humble ferryman. All search and

enquiry after him had long ceased ; for the stor)- of his death on the

passage to France had obtained general credit, and had contributed

much to his subsequent security. He had been attainted of high

treason by act of parliament, along with others of the Jacobite chiefe.

He was not only dead in law, but dead to the world at large ; none
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de Bedi/k Waterville. From the Daklens and Burnyng-

hills the estate passed to the Bowes family, and, after

but a few of his friends in Fiance, and one or two of those in his

native Scotland, being at all aware that he was still in existence.

He had long despaired of any change in his affairs, or in those of his

exiled master, and had, as he fancied, resigned himself to his appa-

rent destiny. But though he might hare been resigned to it liimself,

the voice of nature was strong within him, and he now felt acutely

that he had not resigned his children. He became extremely desirous

that his son, rather than follow the unsuitable occupation in which

he had commenced, should adopt the example of his younger brother,

and try his fortunes in the merchant service. But the boy himself

had no predilection for it; and his mother was strongly oppcsed to

having both her sons entirely removed from her, and engaged iu so

hazardous a puiTsuit. Drummond communicated to his devoted wife,

and for the firet time, the full secret of his former rank and fortune,

which, up to this period, she had only partially understood. The

gentle Elizabeth felt most deeply for her idolized husband's altered

state ; and she pondered on the blighted prospects of her children

with all a mother's fondness. Still there was no present remedy, and

the youthful James continued to accompany Armstrong to the coal-

mine. In the latter end of the year 1771, a memorable flood occur-

red in the waters of the Tyne and 'Wear, which swept away the bridge

between Newcastle and Gateshead, and destroyed many houses and

buildings on the banks of both rivers, and, amongst others, the Boat

House in which resided Drummond and his family. The cottage was

reduced to a complete ruin ; the greater part of the furniture was

floated down the stream and broken ; and but for the opportune aid

of the ferry-boat, the lives of some of the inmates would probably

have fallen a sacrifice. The ill-fated Perth was reduced, by this

wide-spreading calamity, to the greatest distress. This was, however,

generously alleviated by his great friend and patron, Mr. Nicholas

Lambton, the gentleman already alluded to, who not only rebuilt for

him the Boat House, hut kindly assisted in replacing his little stock

of furniture. Some things, however, it was unfortunately beyond the

power of generosity or friendship to replace. Amongst the articles

carried away by the flood was a wooden box or chest, in which were

contained a favourite diamond ring, with various family papers, let-

ters, and documents, and amongst them the original royal patent

granted by James II., at St. Germains, to Urummcmd's grandfather,

the fourth Earl of Perth, and purporting to advance him to the dig-

nity of Duke Drummond's daughter, Mrs. Peters, remembered that

after the inundation had suljsided, her father frcipiently wandered

along the banks of the river, in the vain hope of finding the box or

some of its contents, and more particularly the ducal patent, which

he considered might possibly be of essential service, at some future

period, in assisting his family to regain their honours and estates.

But, notwithstanding all the search and all the inquiries he could

make, it was never afterwards recovered ; and it is therefore probable

that the box had floated down the river into the open sea. Towards
the close of the earl's life, and nearly thirty years after he had souglit

an asylum at Biddick, he conceived a longing desire to revisit his

native Scotland, for the purpose of taking what he now felt would
probably lie a last farewell of his long-lost castle and domains. The
many objections made by his afl'ectionate wife having been overcome,

ho set forth, in siutable disguise, on his melancholy joiirney towards

Scotland. A few weeks brought the wanderer safely back to his

anxious family at Biddick, in the same uncouth habiliments in which

they saw him depart. Great was the joy on both sides at meeting :

he related all the incidents of his journey, and of his reception in

Scotland by tlu! few friends to whom he ventured to make himself

known. He had sojourned for some time under the hospitable roof

the death of the Knight Marshall, became the seat of

his second son, George Bowes, Esq.* His son. Sir

of a Mr. Gra;me, a gentleman in whom he could place implicit con-

fidence ; and having been accommodated with suitable apparel, a lady,

who had known him well in happier days, immediately exclaimed,

on seeing him in his altered dress, " The duke looks like himselfnow!"

He was also seen and recognised by some of his former tenantry ; and
the memory of this visit still lingers round his castle of Drummond,
and his wide domains of Strathern. The earl survived this adventure

a few years, and died in the lowly home of his adoption, at Biddick,

in the year 1782, in the seventieth year of his age. He lies interred

at the little chapel of Penshaw, and his dust mingles not with the

long line of his renowned ancestry. Thus ended the disastrous life of

.lames, sixth Earl of Perth. His younger son, William, had been ex-

tremely successful in his maritime pursuits. 'Very shortly after his

father's death, he heard a rumour in London that the forfeited Scotch

estates were about to be restored by the crown to the heirs of the

former owners. This induced him to institute some inquiry on the

subject. But, on a subsequent occasion, his ship was unfortunately

run down at sea, on her passage to Loudon, and 'William Drummond
and all hands on board perished ; and to complete the disaster, most

of the documents and papers which had escaped the inundation of

1771 were supposed to have been with him on board his ship, at the

time it was unhappily lost. James Drummond, the eldest son, still

continued to follow the humble and ungenial occupation into which

his destiny had originally thrown him. Much was occasionally

talked of with reference to the recovery of his family estates ; but,

from the insurmountable barrier which poverty presented, little was

attempted, and nothing actually done; and, after a laborious life, he

died February 7, 18113, at the age of seventy-one, and now sleeps

peacefully in the rural cemetery of Penshaw, beside his once illustrious

father. James left a large family, and Thomas, his eldest son, born

April 3, 1792, and brought up a pitman, became the heir and repre-

sentative of the ancient house of Perth. He claimed the earldom
;

and his petition was, on April 28, 1830, presented to the House of

Lords, by virtue of his majesty's order of reference, and was refeiTed

by their lordships to a committee of privileges. On the 20th of June,

1831, at the Canongate Court-room, Eilinburgh, Thomas Drummond,

of Biddick, in the county of Durham, gi'andson and last heir male of

the body of James, sixth Earl of Perth, commonly called the "Duke
of Perth," was, by a respectable jury, unanimously served nearest and

lawful heir of his deceased great grand-uncle. Lord Edward Drum-

mond, who took upon him the title of Earl of Perth, and who was

the youngest and last surviving son, and last heir male of the body

of James, the fourth Earl of Perth Thomas Drummond now resides

at New Penshaw. Additional documents, tendingto prove his identity,

have lately come into his possession, which his legal adviser appears

to think will more fully establish his right to the peerage, so long in

abeyance.

In 1841, the Due de Melfort claimed the earldom of Perth, as heir

male general of the family, be being the great-great-grandson, by his

second marriage, of John Drummond, Earl and Duke of Melfort,

second sou of James Drummond, third Earl of Perth.

Under the act 24 Geo. 111., cap. 67, 1784, the Perth estates were

granted by that monarch to the father of Lady Gwydyr, who had been

found, by a decree of the Court of Session, to be the nearest heir male

of the attainted John Drummond, under the supposition that James

Drummond had died without issue.

• Some idea of the colliery operations of that day may be gleaned

from the following passage in the papers of Mr. Bowes, who died in

lli()6:
—" There is coles gotten in five severall places (of the Biddick

estates), the furthest place thereof is not 3 mUcs from the house ; and
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George Bowes, sold Biddick to the Lambtons;* and it

descended, in 1723, from Freville Lambton the

younger, Esq., of Hardwick and Biddick, to his half-

brother, Nicholas Lambton, Esq. Mrs. Mary Lamb-

ton, only daughter and heii-ess of Nicholas, devised

the estate and other property to IMr. John Dawson,

who assumed the name of Lambton. Biddick was

aftei-wards purchased by the Marquis of Londonderry,

who sold the hall, ^yith a part of the lands, to the

Lambtons of Lambton ; and they were for some time

occupied by William Henry Lambton, Esq., a yoimger

branch of the family, who died at Genera, November

23, 1825.

BOUEN MOOE.

The area of this township is 500 acres. It was formerly

called Biddick Fence, and was separated from the

township of South Biddick about a century ago,

probably on account of the population attached to the

collieries. The number of inhabitants in 1801 was

889; in 1811, 955; in 1821, 1,139; in 1831, 938; in

1841, 891 ; and in 1851, 891, of whom 438 were males

and 453 females, In 1841, there were 192 inhabited

houses and 17 iminhabited; and in 1851, 187 inhabited

I have sonke a shafte within the domaine, having onely bestowed 41.

charges, and have akeady gotten some coles, which if the seame of

coles prove to be 3 quarters of a yard thick, the same with 20O?. stocke

will yeald 200?. per ann. clear profit."

• Joseph Lampton, or Lambton, a member of the South Biddick

family, was educated for the Catholic priesthood at Eheims and

and 6 uninhabited. The annual value of property

assessed to the county-rate in 1853 was 1,302/.

The North-eastern EaUway has an extent of 7 f.

132 Y., and an area of 8 A. 2 e. in the township of Bourn

Moor, towards the local rates of which it contributed

204/. 8s. in 1851, and 184/. 5s. in 1852. The gross

amovmts collected in those years were 309/. 4s. Gd. and

271/. 5s.

New Lambton is the most considerable village in

the township ; besides which there are hamlets called

Dee-pit Row, Waj^pinf/ (where there is a good school,

supported by the Earl of Durham), Elba, Bounder

House, and Board's Nook. The township contains a

few public houses and a Methodist chapel, in which a

Sunday-school is held. At Bowes House there are

some respectable residences. Salt works were esta-

blished in 1815 by Messrs Eand and Parkinson ; the

spiing having been discovered to contain salt by the

water leaving a quantity of that article in the steam

boUer at the Dee-pit, near New Lambton, and after-

wards in the boiler at the New Lambton pit, where the

works are situated. The brine well is 97 fathoms deep.

The Earl of Dm-ham's sales of fat cattle are held at

Bowes House. The population of the township con-

sists princij)ally of miners.

Bome, from whence he was sent to England. Being apprehended,

tried, and condemned, he " suffered at Newcastle in the flower of his

age, and in sight of his friends and relatives, on July 27, 1503.

Being cut down alive, a felon attempted to rip him up ; but his heart

failed him, and he choosed rather to die than go on with the

operation. A butcher from a neighbouring village (Wldckham) was

then prevailed upon by the sheriff to execute the cruel sentence."

PARISH OF RAINTON.

The parish of Eainton was established by the same order in council, May 15, 1838, which constituted

those of Penshaw and Hetton. It consists of the entire western and south-western portion of the parish

of Houohton-le-Spring, and contains the townships of West Eainton, East Eainton, Moorsley, Moor-house,

and Cockcn.

WEST EAINTON.

The township of West Eainton contains an area of

1,788 acres. The increase or retrogression of its

population have accompanied the prosperity or decline

of the collieries. In IWOl, there were 435 inhabitants;

in 1811, 629; in 1821, 1,160; in 1831,1,184; in 1841,

1,054; and in 1851, 1,509, of whom 797 were males

and 712 females. In 1841, there were 222 inhabited

houses and 34 uninhabited; and iu 1851, 310 in-

habited and 7 iminhabited. The property in the town-

ship was assessed for the county-rate, in 1853, at C,GG2/.
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The North-eastern Railway passes over an extent of

3 M. in tliis township, and covers 1 2 A. Its contribu-

tions to the local rates in 1851 and 1852 were 04/.

16«. dd. and 59/. lis. ; the gross amounts collected in

those years being 380/. 6s. dd. and 341/. Os. 2d.

The village of West Rainton is about 4 miles north-

east from Durham, on the road from that city to

Houghton and Sunderland.* It contains a handsome

mansion-house, built about IC'JO by Sir John Duck.

There are five public -houses, and several tradesmen and

shopkeepers. A Methodist cliapel was erected in 1823.

Vestiges remain of the foundations of an ancient

chapel, in which was a chantry, dedicated to the Virgin

Mary, and called Our Lady's Chapel. In the village

are a rural4)olice station and a post office. An attempt

was made in 1848 to establish a mechanics' institution

or reading-room, but without success.

The national school is situated on the south side of

the road which passes through tlie village. The only

endowment is 51. per annum from the trustees of Lord

Crewe's Charities. The average attendance is from

40 to 50 children of both sexes. The Londonderry

school stands to the south-west of the church. It is a

neat building fronting the south, with a small plot for

flowers and grass, and winding gravel walks. There is

a square projecting porch in front, on the upper partof

which is the following inscription :

—

" This edifice erected in 1850 by Frances Anne Vane, Marchioness

OF LoNDONDEKRT, as au encouragement to the Colliers to promote the

* " Instead of the usual accompaniments of an English landscape,"

says Mr. Howitt, " the road-side was Ijordered v/ith long rows of

colliers' houses. These were not scattered, or dotatched cottages, but

continuous lines of them, of the most plain and hold construction,

dingy and grim, and placed close up to the edge of the road, without

the ornament of a little garden before them, as our country cottages

usually have. Some of these rows were nearly half-a-milo in length.

As I looked into them, I observed that their interiors were much
superior to their outer aspect. They had unusually good furniture

;

their chests of drawers, each with a japan tea-tray reared upon it

against the wall ; their clocks, good chairs, corner cupboards,

and shelves of crockery ; some of them had even pieces of carpet, and
all seemed to pride themselves on a good four-post or camp bedstead,

with mahogany posts and chintz hangings. Numbers of young men
were also standing about playing at quoits, so clean and well dressed,

that I was half disposed to suppose them colliery clerks ; but I found,

on inquiry, they were merely colliers. These wore indications of a

much more prosperous class than the colliers of the Midland counties

are ; and I entered several of their cottages, and conversed with them
on their matters. I found that, though they complained, and like

most men lamented over the good times that once were, they got

much higher wages than the colliers in the south, and had a most
contemptuous idea of them, ' Some years ago,' said they, ' we were
obliged to make a strike, as the coal masters were pulling down our

prices of labour, and thoy sent into the Midland counties for colliers

to take our places. Lord ! what poor wretches they were ! They

moral and religious education of their children, and a lasting memo-
rial of the interest she takes in their welfare."

The cost of the building was between GOO/, and 700/.

It is well supplied with books, maps, stationery, &c.,

the whole of which are fm-nished at the cost of the

Marchioness of Londonderry, who also pays the

salaries of the teachers and aU other expenses. Each
child pays Id. per week as an acknowledgment. The
attendance during the quarter ending May, 1850, was

101 boys and 110 girls. The number on the books at

present is 247, upwards of 00 of whom attend the de-

partment appropriated as an infant school. There are

good enclosed playgrounds on the north side of the

building.

THE CHURCH.

This church was erected as a chapel of ease to Hough-
ton-le-Spring in 1825, when the Rev. Joseph Tiffin,

the present incumbent, was appointed to the curacy by

the rector of that parish. By the order of May 15,

1838, the living was constituted a rectorj-, the patron

being the Bishop of Durham. The church is a plain

structure, consisting of a nave and small chancel, with

a western turret for a bell. The vestry is a very small

inconvenient room, without a fire-i)lace, beneath the

southern staircase of the gallery. The nave is lighted

by three sash windows on each side, and the chancel

by one on the east. It has been for some time in

came trooping here, with an old flannel jack a-piece, and a pit-cap

without ever a brim. They had no furniture to put in their houses :

many of 'em had left their wives and children at home, tUl they saw

how things went ; and worn't they finely off ! They had in their

houses a log of wood to sit on, and a bundle of straw to lie on ; they

eat fat mutton and drank ale, and looked as black and melancholy

as a tame raven with his wings clipped, and three or four children to

maul him with their play. They seemed no better than Irish. They
didn't understand this sort of coal-field neither ; and some of them

we helped off pretty hastily with sticks, and stones, and hootings
;

and all were soon glad to make themselves scarce.'

" I was disposed to believe that these northern colliers, as they

managed to gt^t more money, so they saved more than the southern

ones ; or how came they by such mahogany bedsteads, and such

houses crammed with furniture altogether ? But I soon found that

the collier is, in that respect, the same everjnvhere ; he cannot

save. He has his club, or fiiendly society, into which he pays his

monthly pittance against illness and old age ; and there is a class of

finniture dealers who supply a young couple on their marriage with

that indispensable article to a northern collier, a mahogany bedstead,

and all other requisites, for which he receives every fortnight an in-

stalment, till the whole is worked off. He conies to some public-

house in the place, vhere all thot-e who have been supplied by him
come on the Saturday, washed and cleaned, pay him his required

sum, and take a pipe and glass with him."
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contemplation to enlarge the chancel three or foui-

yards to the east, and to fit it up wth appropriate

stalls ; but the want of funds has hitherto prevented

the accomplishment of this desirable object. The

building is constructed of the common limestone of

the district, which is not of a very durable character.

The ceiling is plain and flat. In the spacious western

gallery is a good ban-el organ ; and the church is al-

together capable of accommodating about 500 persons.

It is warmed by pipes filled with hot water. In the

south wall of the nave is a monument belonging to the

Dunns of Moorhouse. The font is a neat octagonal

basin, with well finished sculptures on all the sides ex-

cept one. The church-yard is spacious, having been

enlarged towards the south a few years ago.

The annual value of the living is 310/., from which

100/. per annum is paid by the rector to the Rev. T. E.

Lord, cui-ate. There is no glebe house.

Rainton (otherwise Reinington, from Reingwaldi,

mentioned by Simeon) was an ancient manor and park

belonging to the prior and convent of Durham ; and

in 1508, Prior Thomas had a grant of free warren from

Bishop Bainbrigg, after which the convent obtained

many successive gi-ants of land, which, after the Dis-

solution, were bestowed on the new cathedral. Nearly

all the property in the Raintons is held by lease under

the dean and chapter of Durham.

Rainton Pit Houses is a hamlet about half a mile

to the westward of West Rainton. A dispute relative

to this place, between the parishes of Houghton and

Pittington, was settled at the assizes of 1091 ; "the

houses from Rainton turnpike -gate on both sides of

the lane leading to Cocken " being assigned to Cocken,

and " a few detached cottages near the Nag's Head,

almost surrounded by the township of West Rainton,"

to Pittington.

Rainton Pits are the property of the Marchioness of

Londonderiy. The five-quarter seam, 3 feet thick, is

here foimd at the depth of 48 fathoms ; the main coal,

6 feet, 10 fathoms fmther; the Maudlin, 12 fathoms

further ; the low main, 4 feet thick, 1 1 fathoms fmther

;

brass thill, 7 fathoms further ; and the Hutton, 4 feet

2 inches, 6 fathoms fm-ther ; being a total depth of 89

fathoms. An explosion of inflammable gas took place

in the Plain pit on December 18, 1817, when 27 men
and boys were killed ; and another on November 3,

1823, when 55 lives were lost. The Alexandiina pit,

80 fathoms to the Hutton seam ; the Adventure pit,

GO fathoms; the resolution pit, 56 fathoms; and the

Hutton House pit, are in West Rainton township.

The collieries in operation in East Rainton are, the

Dunwell, 100 fathoms to the Hutton seam; and the

Hazard, 108 fathoms, belonging to the Noilh Hetton

Company, comprising the Earl of Dm-ham and several

of the Hetton owners, viz., Messrs. Wood, Philipson,

BurreU, and others.

EAST RAINTON.

The area of East Rainton is 1,065 acres. Its popula-

tion, at the successive periods of enumeration, was 294,

455, 671, 1,600, 1,414, and 1,095; 895 of the latter

number being males and 802 females. In 1841, there

were 300 inhabited hoiises and 38 iminhabited ; and in

1851, 356 inhabited and 2 uninhabited. The value of

property assessed to the county-rate in 1853 was

3,849/.

The North-eastern Railway extends over 3 f. 17 y^

and covers 3 a. 1 e. in this township ; towards the

local rates of which it contributed 6/. in 1861, and 5/.

6.S. Bd. in 1^52. The gross amounts collected in these

years were 311/. 14«. Qd. and 287/. 3s.

The village of East Rainton is about a mile from

West Rainton, on the road to Houghton. It contains

a Wesleyan chapel, a day-school, fom* public houses,

and a brewery, malting, and corn-mill.

Middle Rainton is a hamlet, erected about 1820,

in a freehold field belonging to E. Heaviside, Esq.,

who sold it off in small building sites; it is occupied

principally by persons engaged in the collieries.

COCKEN.

Tms township lies on the eastern bank of the Wear, 5

mUes north-north-east fi-om Dm-ham, where the river

forms a most beautiful curve, and almost encloses

Cocken Hall. It contains 437 acres, on which, in

1851, there were 17 inhabited houses. The successive

returns of its population ai-e, 17, 59, 59, 71, 65, and

96 ; the latter consisting of an equal number of males

and females. The value of property assessed to the

county-rate in 1853 was 571/.

Cocken Colliery, worked for landsale by Mr. Craw-

ford, is 52 fathoms deep to the Hutton seam. At the

Dm-ham assizes in 1851, a case, Smai-t v. Morton, was

tried before a special jury, in which Mr. John Smart

and Mr. J. H. Speai-man sued as trustees of W. S.

Standish, Esq., of Cocken HaU, to recover compensa-
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tion for injury alleged to have been committed on the

Grange estate, which consists of two farms ; the High

Grange, of 212 acres, and the Grange Blue House, of

142 acres. The defendants had, it was alleged, so

worked the mines as to cause a subsidence in the farm-

houses and other buildings on the Grange Blue House

farm, insomncli that it would be necessary to pull

down and rebuild the farm-house and some of the

buildings, and other buildings would require substan-

tial repairs. The mines wers conveyed by Sir Ralph

Cole, of Brancepeth Castle, to Ralph Carr, Esq., on

the 29th of December, IG71, in consideration of the

sum of 3,375/. Up to a recent period, they had been

worked in the ancient manner; but during the last few

years, Mr. j\Iorton had worked out the pillars of coal,

causing the ground to subside. It was, after some

discussion, agreed that a verdict should be entered for

the plaintiffs, subject to a motion; and that the ques-

tion of damage should be left to John Dobson, Esq.,

architect, Newcastle.

Cocken Hall occupies a fine elevated situation, which

has been much admired by the lovers of the picturesque.

The loft_y banks of the river, covered with wood, and

parti}' laid out as pleasure grounds, overlook the

beautiful ruins of Finchale Priory on the opposite side.

The natural beauties of the place have been improved

by successive proprietors ; and the walks, retreats, and

sylvair views are much admired by all who visit

these grounds. In 1804, the convent of Teresiau

nuns, noticed in vol. i., pp. 497, 600, took up their re-

sidence at Cocken Hall, where they continued till the

opening of the adjoining colliery induced their removal

to Cockerton in 1830. The hall is now occupied by

W. S. Standish, Esq.

An important cause was decided at the Durham
assizes, 28th July, 1815, before Baron Richards and a

special jury : Sir Henry Lawson, Bart., and John
Wetherell, Esq., (tenants of Cocken estate), plaintiffs,

and the Rev. L. S. Thurlow, rector of Houghton,

defendant, on a feigned issue directed out of the Court

of Exdiequer to try the validity of a modus of 3/. 0.«.

8</., set up in lieu of all tithes of the Cocken estate.

After a trial which lasted nine hours, and the produc-

tion of a large mass of evidence, a verdict was returned

for the defendant, and the validity of the modus was
consequently established.

• The daughter, Catheiine Catr, beeainc "tlie youni,' ami lieautifiil

wife" of William Mompcson, rector of Eyam, who, when the plague
of 1665 had reached his little village, refused to desert his post ; and
recommending his children to his patron, Sir George Savile continued
in the fearless performance of his duty, visiting the sick, and burying

VOL. II.

In the time of Bishop Galfrid, jEllafus, a priest,

gave Cocken to the prior and monks of Durham, who,

in process of time, exchanged it for lands in Wolviston

with Roger de Kibblesworth. Petrouilla, heiress of the

latter, with the consent of her husband, Reginald, gave

her land, mansion, woods, and fisheries, except 80

acres, to the prior of Finchale, under whom the Kib-

blesworths, Birtleys, and Lumleys held a portion of

the vill. After the Dissolution, the site of Finchale

Priory was restored to the church of Durham ; but on
November I, 85 Henry VIIL, the king, by letters

patent, granted the capital messuage or grange of

Cocken to John Hilton of Newcastle and Isabel his

wife, their heirs and assigns, to hold by the twentieth

part of a knight's fee and 10s. id. reserved rent. Mrs.

Hilton had been previously married to Ralph Carr,

mayor of Newcastle in 1532, and, after the death of

Hilton, became the wife of John Frankleyn, also of

Newcastle. On her decease, Cocken passed to William

Carr, her son by her first husband. He married Joan,

daughter of John Trollop, Esq., of Thornley, and died

before 1579. His son, Ralph Carr, Esq., married —
Marlcy, and was succeeded by his son, William Carr,

Esq., of Cocken, who married Elizabeth, daughter of

Michael Constable, Esq., of Biddick, by whom he had
eight sons and a daughter.* Raphe, the eldest son,

married — , daughter of Sir William Blakiston, Bart.,

of Gibside, and died in 1 042. His eldest son, Francis,

mai-ried Anne, daughter and sole heiress of Sir Robert

Hodgson, Knt., of Hebburn, by whom he had a son,

Robert Carr, Esq., of North Biddick, and two

daughters; be died in 1687.

John Carr, of Newcastle, merchant, supposed to have

been son of William, and brother of Ralph Carr, just

mentioned, wedded Catherine, daughter of — Ellison,

Esq., and was succeeded by his son, Ralph Carr, who
married Isabel, daughter of Raljih Jeunison, Esq.,

and was the father of William Carr, Esq., of Coxlodge,

Northumberland. He married Jane, daughter and

co-heiress of Ralph Cock, merchant, of Newcastle, by

whom he had, with other issue, a daughter, Jane,

married to Cuthbert Ellison, Esq., of Hebburn, and a

son. Sir Ralph Carr, Knt., mayor of Newcastle in 1676,

1003, and 1705, and M.P. in 1079, 1680, and 1688.-

This gentleman, who, on the 18th December, 1665,

purchased Cocken from his kinsman, Francis Carr,

the dead; and when the fear of contagion prevented the people as

semhling in church, jireaching to them in the open air from one of

the crags behind the village. Mr, Mompeson escaped ; but his %vife,

who refused to quit her husband, unfortunately caught the infection

and died.

4 L
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Esq., married, first, Jane, only daughter of Sir Francis

Anderson, Knt., of Bradlej' Hall, and had hy her, who

died August 20, 1667, an only surviving child, Jane,

born 100-S, married, in 16SI, Sir Ralph Milbanke, Bart.,

of Halnaby. He married, secondly, Isabella, eldest

daughter of the Hon. James de Arcy, of Sedbury

Park, Yorkshu'e, brother of Conyers, Earl of Holder-

nesse, and had an only son, Ralph, born June 19,

1069, who married Anne, daughter of Henry, Lord

Fairfax, and by her left at his death two sons and

thi-ee daughters. Sir Ralph Carr died March 5, 1709,

aged 76, and was buried at Houghton. He was suc-

ceeded bj' his grandson, Ralph Carr, Esq., who mar-

ried, in 1721, Margaret, daughter of Nicholas Paxton,

Esq., of Durham, and had issue one son and two

daughters. Ralph, the son, born May 31, 1728, married,

October 17, 1753, the Lady Mary Vane, daughter of

Henry, first Earl of Darlington, but dying without

issue, September 11, 1788, devised his estates to his

nephew, Carr Ibbetson, Esq., third son of his eldest

sister, who had married, October 6, 1741, Sir Henry

Ibbetson, Bart., of Denton, Yorkshire.

Carr Ibbetson, Esq., of Cocken, married Elizabeth,

daughter of — Fletcher, Esq., and niece of Sir Hugh
Palliser, Bart., but dying issueless, the estates devolved,

according to the settlement of his uncle, upon the heir

male, Ralph Carr, Esq., descended from the second

son of Su' Ralph Carr, and sou of the Rev. Ralph Carr,

rector of Alderley, by his first wife, Anne, daughter of

Anthony Hall, Esq., of Flass. He was bom December

16, 1707; married, June 26, 1802, Mary, daughter of

Samuel Andrews, Esq.; and died in 1837, leaving (with

a daughter, Isabella Georgina, married in 1842 to

Chai'les Sandes, Esq., eldest son of Capt. Sandes,

royal foot-guards, of India Ville, Queen's County) a

son and successor, William Standish Carr, bom in

* This lady, after the decease of her first husbaud, Mr. Hall, mar-

ried Sir William Purvis Home Campbell, Bart.

t In classical and modem literature, the attainments of Mr. Stan-

dish were of a superior order. As an author, he was highly accom-

plished ; and in the fine arts his taste and liberality were most eminent.

His extensive and valuable gallery of pictures, together with his

unique and costly library of the rarest books, selected with consum-

mate judgment, were bequeathed by him, in April, 1840, to Louis

Philippe, the king of the French. His Majesty duly appreciated the

objects of this bequest, and deposited them in a suite of cabinets iu

the Louvre, which he designated the Musee Standish. Though the

king could not refiise to accept the legacy, he signified his intention

to replace all the pictures with others of equal value. A fine Ecce

Homo, by Murillo, valued at 800/., for which Mrs. Standish had
manifested a partiality, was restored to her. The French works were

not taken, and the others were replaced. Mr. Standish valued his

1807; married, in 1829, Susan, eldest surviving

daughter of Richard Jenkins, Esq., of Beachley Lodge,

Gloucestershire, and had issue a son and three daugh-

ters. In 1841, this gentleman succeeded his kinsman,

Frank-Hall Standish, Esq., of Duxbury Park, where-

upon he took the surname and arms of Standish, in

lieu of those of Carr.

Ae-MS of Carr—Or, on a bend, between three Cornish choughs,

sa., three pards' heads, erased of the field.

Ckest—.\ pard's head, erased (not, as erroneonsly stated by Burke,

a lion's head, erased).

Motto—L'esperance me console.

The Standishes of Duxbury are a family of antiquity

and note, derived from a common ancestor with the

Standishes of Standish. The following inscription

on a tablet in Chorlej- chiu-ch, describes the connection

of the family with that of Can* :

—

" Frank Hall Standish, of Duxbury Park, in the county of Lancas-

ter, Esq., who died at Cadiz, on the 21st Dec, 1810, and was interred

in the chancel of this church, Jan. 21. 1841.

" Mr. Hall Standish was bom at Blackwell, in the parish of Dar-

lington, in the county of Durham, on the 2nd October, 1799. He

was the only child of Anthony Hall, of Flass, in the County of Diir-

ham, Esq., by Charlotte his wife, daughter of Scipio Key, Esq ,• and

great-grandson of Margaret, daughter of the first Sir Thomas Standish,

Bart. She married, first, "William Wombwell of Wombwell, in the

County of York, Esq., of which marriage there is no survi\-ing issue

;

and, secondly, Anthony Hall, Esq., hy whom she had issue Anthony

Hall, Esq., her eldest surviving son, and several other sons and

daughters. On the death of Sir Frank Standish, the last baronet, in

the year 1812, intestate and unmarried, his extensive estates in the

counties of Lancaster and York devolved upon Mr. Hall Standish,

as his lieir at law, who thereupon, by the royal license, assumed the

name of Standish, in addition to that of HaU, and took the arms of

Standish of Duxbury quarterly with those of Hall. Mi. Hall Standish

was never married, and hy virtue of a devise contained iu his will,

his estates became vested in his heir at law, William Standish Carr,

of Cocken Hall, in the county of Durham, Esq., since by her majesty's

license, called William Standish Standish, Esq., who is the great

grandson of the above-mentioned Margaret Standish, through her

daughter Ann, who married the Reverend Ralph Carr then rector of

Alderley in the county of Chester.f

paintings at 32,000/., and his books at 11,000/. After the revolution

of 1848, the Standish Collection of Pictures and Library were removed

to England, and this Gallery of Pictures, with that by Spanish

artists, were sold by public auction, at Messrs. Christie's & Co.,

London, in May, 18.53. Amongst the most remarkable lots in the

Standish collection were,—a landscape, with a composition of eight

ii^ires, representing actors of the Comedie Italienne, by Watteau,

bought by the Marquis of Hertford for 700 guineas ; Morales' " The
Virgin supporting the Head of Christ," bought by Messrs. Graves for

52 guineas ;
" The Infant Jesus sleeping on the Knees of St. Thomas,'

'

by Murillo, bought by Mr. Hoskins for 380 guineas; "Christ, after

the Flagellation, kneeling on the Ground," by Murillo, bought by Mr.

Hickson for 205 giiineas ; a portrait of Murillo, by himself, bought by

Messrs. Graves for 380 guineas ; a set of four pieces by Van Loo,

representing '• Painting," "Sculpture," "Architecture," and "Music,"

bought in one lot by Mr. Wheeler for 230 guineas ;
" The Angels ap-

pearing to the Shepherds," by Velasquez, bought by Mr. Bromley for
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Mr. Standish is a magistrate for the counties of

Diu'ham and Lancaster, and a deputy-lieutenant for

the hitter, for which shire he was high-sheriff in 1845-6.

He has issue, William-Standish, born February 28,

1885, Mary-Deborah, Susan-Amelia- Georgina, and

Emma-Isabella-Harriette. The elder Miss Standish

was married at Rainton church, Nov. 22, 1853, to John

George Tollemaclie Sinclair, Esq., only son of Sir Geo.

Sinclair, of UUsha and Thurso Castle, Caithness.

Arms op Standish—Az., three standishes, arg.

Crest—A cock, arg.

Morto—Constant en tout.

Seats—Cockeu Hall, Durham; and Duxlmrj' Park, Lancashire.

Including the above, Mr. Standish has 42 quarter-

ings, proved in the college of arms a few years ago.

Cocken was separated from West Rainton, and

made a distinct constablery, by order of sessions,

Oct. 5, 1720, on the application of Ralph Carr, Esq.

MOOR HOUSE

Is situated on the south-western verge of the parish,

and is annexed to Durham Ward. It contains 272

acres, on which, in 1851, there were 10 inhabited

houses. Its population has been successively returned

at 23, 28, 29, 30, 45, and 49 ; 20 of the latter number
being males and 29 females. The property was

assessed to the county-rate in 1853 at 532/. 3s. 4e?.

The North-eastern Railway has an extent of 3f. 99 y.,

and an area of 3 A. 2 r. in the township, to the local

rates of which it contributed 11. Is. 7id. in 1851, and

71. Ss. 8d. in 1852; the gross amounts collected in

those years being 20/. 0«. Ci^d. and 17/. IS.*. Id.

In l(i()4, this place was the seat of William Ingleby,

Esq., and afterwards of George Roper, Gent.

380 guineas ; and a whole-length i)ortrait of the Infant Don Balthasar

Carlos, son of Philip IV. (born 1629, died lC-46), by the same artist,

was bought by Mr, Mawson for the National Gallery. Amongst tlie

works of English artists may be mentioned a small full-length por-

trait of a gentleman, in a red coat, iu a garden, by Gainsborougli,

sold for 44 guineas ; a sea-shore view in England, by Moiland, 941.

10s. ; and " The Shipwreck," by the same, 32 guineas. Four pictures,

by D. Roberts, were sold respectively as follows :—" Interior of the

Temple of Efen," with figures, 300 guineas ; tlie " Church of St.

Helena, at Bethlehem," 483 guineas ; the " Interior of the Mosque at

Cordova," 31.j guineas; and the "High Altar of the Cathedral of

Seville," 300 guineas. Amongst the cheaper lots was one described

as by Zurbarau, the subject the " Holy Handkerchief," founded on a

MOORSLEY.

This to^vnship adjoins Moor House on the east, and

also forms a part of Durham Ward. It contains 588

acres, on which, in 1851, there were 181 inhabited

houses and 1 uninhabited. The extension of the

collieries has increased the population, at the successive

enumerations, as follows :—36, 43, 48, 748, 821, and
942 ; of which latter number 498 were males and 444

females. The property was assessed to the county-

rate in 1853 at 2,158/.

The extent of the North-eastern Railway in this

township is 7 f., and its area 56 a. In each of the

years 1851 and 1852, it contributed 15/. to the local

rates of the township ; the gross amounts collected in

those years being 116/. 1,?. Gd. and IIO/. 0.9. 9d.

The village of Moorsley is situated on the brow of

an eminence, overlooking the vale of Houghton. Low
Moorslei/ is a hamlet, where there are three public

-

houses, two shops, and a few cottages. Moorsley

Colliery, 100 fatlioms deep to the Hutton seam, is

worked by the North Hetton Company.

Moorsley, anciently Moorcslawe (the Moor-hill), was

given by Adam de Moreslaw to the prior of Durham ;

and his son Helyas confirmed his father's donation,

abjured all right in his inheritance, and was admitted

into the prior's household as a lay domestic, to serve

either as porter of the malt-house, or in any other

menial office which the prior might appoint. His

wife, whose sex excluded her from the monastry, had

a toft and two acres assigned to her rent-free for life.

Several other grants of lands were subsequently made
to the convent. Moorsley is still held by the dean

and chapter of Durham.

legend of the llomish church—that the Virgin Mary, when following

Christ to tlie place of Crucifixion, held a white napkin iu her hand,

upon which the features of our Lord in his agony were impressed, the

faint outline of them remaining to this day. The picture is admira-

bly produced ; the pure white colour and deep folds of tlie napkin are

wontlerfully executed ; and the pale retiex, in undecided colour, of the

Saviour's features, form a fine realization of the sublime sorrow of the

occa.sion. This interesting little picture was purchased by the Messrs.

Graves for 30s. ! The total amount of the sale of the Orleans collec-

tion was 38,000/.

In 1848, W. Standish Standish, Esq., offered the use of his residence

at Duxbury I'ark to the ex-royal family of France ; but the offer was
declined.
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PARISH OF HETTOJV-LE-IIOLE.

The parish of Hetton-le-Hole was constituted by order in council, May 15, 1838. It comprises the townships

of Hetton-le-Hole, Great Eppleton, and Little Eppleton, (which formed the south-eastern portion of the parish of

Houghton-le-Spring,) and is bounded on the south and east by the parishes of Pittington, Dalton-le-Dale, and

Seaham.

HETTON-LE-HOLE.

The township of Hetton-le-Hole contains an area of

1,739 acres. In 1801, the population was 212; in

1811,261; in 1821, 919; in 1831, 5,887; in 1841,

4,158; and in 1851, 5,664, of whom 2,907 were males

and 2,757 females. In 1841, there were 917 inhabited

houses, and 228 uninhabited ; but in 1851, this gloomy

aspect of affairs was mitigated, there being 1,129 in-

habited houses and 18 uninhabited; the total number

of houses remaining the same. In 1853, the property

was assessed for the county-rate at 7,450/. 15-s. per

annum.

The Sunderland and Durham branch of the North-

eastern Railway has an e.x.tent of 1 m. 2 f., and an area

of 16 a. in this township. It contributed 80/. in 1851,

and 88/. in 1852 to the local rates, the gross amount of

which was 891/. 19.s. Sd. in 1851, and 1,016/. 19«. 9^^.

in 1852.

The \-illage of Hetton lies in the vale of Houghton,

to the north-east of Moorsley, and oh miles east-north-

east of Durham. It is the station of a superintendent

and a subordinate of the rural police. Besides the

church of the Establishment, it contains chapels be-

longing to the Baptists, and the Wesleyan, Primitive,

and Kilhamite Methodists. There is a good inn and

several public houses, with the usual shops requisite

for the supply of a large mining population. Petty

sessions are held here, but not regularly. Hetton-Ie-

Hole, though not a polling place at elections, is the

centre of a revising barrister's district, which includes

the following townships :

—

Castle Eden, Cold-Hesleden, Dalton-Ie-Dale, Easinston (including

Thorp), Great Eppleton, Little Eppleton, Haswell, Hawthorn, Hetton-

le-Hole, Houghton-Ie Spring, Hutton-Henry, Monk-Hesledon,

Moorsley, East Morton, Xeshitt, Newbottle. Penshaw, East Rain-

ton, West Rainton, Sheraton (including Hulam), Shotton, Thorp.

Bulmer, W'arden-Law, and Wingate.

There is a national school for boys, and another for

girls at Hetton, which were visited by the Rev. D. J.

Stewart, inspector, on April 25, 1853, when there were

29 boys and 51 girls present at examination. General

observations :

—

Boys.—" Buildings somewhat out of repair ; no class-room ; three

loose desks. Furniture, clock. Playground, small yard. Books de-

ficient ; apparatus, three black boards and easels."

Girls —" Buildings, playground, and books same as boys. Deska

fixed to the wall. Furniture, clock, work-table."

The Hetton Literary and Scientific Reading Room
is open every day from 9 o'clock in the morning tUI

10 in the evening, and is supplied with several news-

papers and periodicals. It is supported by donations

from the neighbouring gentrj-, and a subscription of

Gd. per month from each member, of whom there are

about 80. The library contains about 400 volumes.

Hetton Hall occupies a low situation to the west of

the village. It is finel}' embosomed by soft wooded

grounds, and stands near the margin of a beautiful

sheet of water, formed by the Hetton Burn. This

stream, which here flows tkrough a pietm-esque and

sequestered dean, rises a little to the east of the village,

passes Rainton bridge, and, running westward, receives

Houghton and West Harrington Bm-ns ; after which,

assuming the name of the Moors Burn, it passes near

Lambton, and falls into the Wear in Lumley Park.

Hetton Hall, after being long unoccupied, is now the

residence of Nicholas Wood, Esq.

THE CHURCH.

This church was erected as a chapel of ease to Hough-

ton between 20 and 30 years ago. The living is now

a rectory, in the gift of the Bishop of Dm-ham ; and

the Rev. J. S. Nichol, surrogate, is the incumbent.

The income is 280/. per annum. The church consists

of nave and chancel, separated by a low pointed arch.

The nave is lighted by three arched windows on each

side ; and the east window of the chancel is a triple

light under a pointed arch. The pews are plain, and

will accommodate nearly COO persons. The iuterior
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of the roof is ceiled. On the western gable is a turret

with two bells. The cemetery adjoins the church on

the south and east.

Hetton-le-hole and Hetton-on-the-Hill (see vol. i.,

p, 405) were ancientlj' one integral manor, of which

each vill was afterwards considered a moiety ; Hetton-

on-the-Hill being the manoi'ial residence. I\Iost of

the manor was held, in early times, by Finchale Priory

;

but the names of Layton, Tylliol, and Musgrave appear

as proprietors of other portions. The estate of Hetton-

le-Hole became afterwards the property of the family of

James, of whom William James, Bishop of Durham, was

a member. In 1 fi 1 5, he devised all his lands in Hettou

to his youngest son, Francis James. A moiety of tlie

manor was conveyed by Bryan James, Esq., to George

French, haberdasher, of London, for 1,402/. lO.s.

This property was purchased, in 1 U86, by John Spear-

man, Esq., of Thornley (see p. 384). John, his fourth

son, baptized March 28, 1672, was of Hetton, and a

justice of the peace for the county. He married, July

10, 1091, Anne, eldest daughter and co-heiress of

Richard Bromley, Gent., of Nesbitt, and left at his

decease, in March, 1724-5, with four daughters, who
died without issue, a son, John Spearman, Esq., who

died in 1740. He sold the Hetton estate to the

Countess Dowager of Strathmore, who gave or devised

it to her youngest son, the Hon. Thomas Lyon, whose

son, John Lyon, Esq., succeeded to the property. On
July 22, 1S47, an act of parliament was obtained, "for

authorizing the granting of a new lease of certain coal

mines and hereditaments in the county of Durham,

late the estate of John Lyon, Esq., deceased."

Hutlon Colliery.—Pi-evious to the winning of this

colliery, it was a controverted point with geologists,

whether coal existed beneatli the magnesian limestone,

ot, if it did, whether it might not be so deteriorated,

both in quality and thickness, as to be worthless.

The result of this undertaking, the colliery having

been sunk through a bed of the limestone, 58 yards in

thickness, set the matter at rest, and has been the

cause of opening out all that tract of valuable coal to

the east and south-east which has conduced so essen-

tially to tiic prosperity of the county. Before the

commencement of Hetton colliery, there was not a

• BuriiiLC tliu great Htiiku of the pitmen whieli occuned in the

sprinf; of 1832, a strong piirty of police anil special conntaMes pro-

ceeded to Hetton, to eject the combined workmen from their dwell-

ings, when a scene of great excitement occurred ; and on the

following morning, John Errington, one of the men who had gone to

work, was found murdered, two marbles having been fired into his

house within a mile of the spot, which now teems with

a numerous mining population. The pits are worked

bj^ the Hetton Coal Company, consisting of the Hon.

A. Cochrane and Partners, whose collieries consist of

the Hetton Lyon's pits, the Eppleton Hetton pits, and

the Elemore Hetton pits.

At these collieries, there are three seams of coal

wrought ; the high main, 6 feet thick, at a depth of

110 fatlioms, producing second-class household coal,

or Lyon's Wallsend ; the low main, 4 feet thick, at a

depth of 130 fathoms, producing first-class steam coal;

and the Hutton seam, 4j feet thick, at a depth of 150

fathoms, producing best Wallsend coals. The aggre-

gate power of the engines for raising coals is 330 horse

jiower, capable of raising about 3,500 tons per day.

The ventilation is produced by three furnaces at the

Hetton, and two at the Elemore pits, which consume

235 cwt. of small coals in the 24 hours. The tempera-

ture of tlie upcast at Hetton, which is 14 feet diameter,

is 140 deg. ; and that in the downcast pits at Hettou

and Eppleton, each 12 feet diameter, is 00 deg. ; the

total quantity of air passing through these collieries

being 190,000 cubic feet per minute.

The railway from Hetton to the company's staith on

the Wear, near Sunderland, was opened on November

18, 1822. It is about 8'miles long; and there are three

locomotives, five fixed engines, and five self acting in-

clined planes, to convey the coals to the staiths, where

there are seven drops for shipping the coals. The
inimber of men and boys employcil is about 1,500;*

and there are also 100 horses and 120 ponies employed

on the works.

The Cawline pit, Hetton, was commenced in 1824
;

but, after sinking a short distance, so much sand and

water were met with, that the project was condemned

by the leading viewers of the day. Another efibrt has,

however, been made ; and, after overcoming 22 fathoms

of sand, and a feeder of water which made 1,200 gallons

a minute, the main coal, 7 feet 1 incli thick, was

reached, at the depth of 139 fathoms, on the 1st of

August, 1855. Tlie sinking is now being continued

towards the low main and Hutton seams.

Easington Lane is a considerable village on the road

between Hetton and Easington. It is nearly a mile

body. Four men charged with the murder, who weie eommitteil to

Durham gaol umler an escort of eaviihy, were loudly cheered by their

comrades; and so strong was the feeling on the occasion, that when

tlie funeral of Errington was passing the doors of the pitmen, they

assailed it with yells and execrations.
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in length, and contains a population of about 3,000

persons. The Wesleyan and Primitive Methodists

have each a chapel. There are three day-schools in

the village, attended by from GO to 100 children ; and

a schoolmistress is engaged by a committee of four of

the inhabitants, at a salary of 40/. a year, with a house

and fii'ing, and the privilege of teaching music to private

pupils. A reading room, supported by the working

classes, is tolerably' prosperous : the subscription is (id.

per month, or \^d. per week. Easington Lane contains

several cabinet makers, who supply furniture to the

neighbouring colliery villages. There are also six

shopkeepers, four butchers, and twelve public-houses

;

with numerous dress-makers, tailors, and other trades-

men. Brick-making is also carried on to some extent.

During the year 1852, great numbers of the mining

population residing in Easington Lane were seized

with the mania for emigration, then so jirevalent.

Many of these were induced to do so by the represent-

ations of friends who had preceded them, and some of

wTiom forwarded money to assist them in their outfit.

On Sunday, the 21st of August, nine families left the

village at once ; and on the following Tuesda}', they

were followed by other nineteen families ; their des-

tination being chiefly America. One family had had

70/. forwarded to it by relatives in the United States.

The exodus of so great a number of emigrants from

one place created a sensation, and large numbers of

persons assembled to witness their departure. During

the following week, several parties left for Australia.

The disposition to emigrate stUl prevails to a remark-

able degree at Easington Lane.

Downs is a hamlet in Hetton township, constituted

almost entirely of pitmen's cottages.

The Fairies' Cradle is the name given to a small

oblong hollow, on the summit of an artificial grassy

tumulus, consisting entirely of field-stones gathered

together. It is situated between Hetton and Eppleton;

and its character as a haunt of fairies has preserved it

from destruction.

GREAT EPPLETON.

The township of Great Eppleton contains 095 acres,

and, in 1851, 10 inhabited houses. The number of

inhabitants, at the successive periods of enumeration,

was 35, 28, 43, 47, 74, and 63 ; 30 of the latter number

being males and 27 females. The value of property

assessed to the county-rate in 1853 was 1,711/.

The extent of the Durham branch of the North-

eastern Railway in this township is 3 f., and its area

4 A. The township being extra -parochial, the railway

is not returned as contributing to the rates, the gross

amount of which was 53/. 144-. 3f/. in 1851, and 58/,

13*. M. in 1852.

Eppleton stands on a high, regular swell of country.

The prii:cipal mansion, a plain square building of the

time of Charles II., fronts the south, and commands a

prospect as far as Huntclitf Nab, on the Yorkshire

coast.

For nearly three centuries, Eppleton gave name to a

race of local proprietors, from whom it passed, in 1391,

to the warlike family of Heron. William Heron, of

Ford, captain of Bermck, governor of Norham, and

twice Warden of the East March, sold the estate to a

tenant named Todd, from whom six-sevenths of it

passed, in 1592, to Sir Cuthbert CoUingwood, Knt., of

Dalden. One half of the manor afterwards belonged

to the Shadforths, of whom Thomas Shadforth,

brother-Ln-law to John Blakiston, one of the regicides,

was a zealous supporter of the parliament during the

civil wars, sat on all their commissions within the

county, and served the office of shei'iff in 1G51. In

1092, the estate was purchased by Francis Mascall,

Gent., of Diu'ham, by whose descendant, of the same

name, it is still held. Eppleton Field House, in 1700,

passed from the Shadforths to the Gowlands, and

afterwards became the property of James Jackson, Esq.

LITTLE EPPLETON.

This township contains 835 acres, on which, in 1851,

there were 5 inhabited houses and 1 uninhabited. The

population has been successively returned at 0, 30, 32,

17, 38, and 24 ; 13 of the latter being males and 11

females. In 1853, the property was assessed to the

county-rate at 979/. 13s. id.

The Sunderland and Durham branch of railway has

an extent of 4 f. 204 t., and an area of 5 a. 3 r. 10 p. in

this township, towards the local rates of which it con-

tributed 8/. 6s. '6d. in 1851 and 9/. 10s. in 1852: the

gross amounts collected in those years being 25/. 5s.

M. and 29/. 4s. 2d.

Little Eppletoa is the property of J. S. Fox, Esq.
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PAHISH OF SEAHAM.

The parish of Seaham is bounded by the townships of Eyhope and Burdon, in the parish of Bishopwearmouth,

on the north ; by the township of Wardou-Law, in the parish of Houghton-le-Spring, on the west ; by Eppleton,

in the chapeh-y of Hetton-le-Hole, on the south-west ; by the chapehy of Seaham Harbour on the south ; and

by the sea on the east. The parish includes two townships :— 1, Seaham ; and, 2, Seaton and Slingley.

SEAHAM.

The township of Seaham contains 1,70G acres, of which

208 acres are covered by tidal water. Its population

in 1801, was 115; in 1811, 121; in 1821, 103; in 1831,

130; in 1841, 153; and in 1851, 729, of whom 498

were males and 231 females. In 1841, there were 29

inhabited houses ; and in 1851, 81 inhabited, 2 unin-

habited, and 20 building. lu 1853, the property was

assessed to the county-rate at 2,003/. 15«. 4rf.

The North- eastern Eailway extends along 5 f. 88 t.,

and covers an area of 8 a. Or. 10 p. in the township.

It contributed 21. 15s. lOd. in 1851, and 81. Os. lOd. in

i852, towards the local rates ; the gross sums collected

in those years being 62/. Gs. Sd. and 75/. 1,?.

Tlie account of the parish of Seaham with Easington

Union, for the year ended Lady-day, 1855, was as

follows :

—

Receipts. £. s.

Kuceipts from poor-rates:—Seaham, 128Z. 13s. ; Seaton, 70?. 13«. 19!) G

In aid of poor-rates :—Seaham, 1/. 2s.; Seaton, Os I II

£200 17

Expenditure.

Tn-maintenance :—Seaham, U. 12s. ; Seaton, 12s 2 4

Out-relief ;—Seaham, 30i 18s.; Seaton, 17/. 12s 48 10

Workhouse loans repaid, &c. ;—Seaham, Zl. 19s. ; Seaton, 1/. los. 5 14

Salaries and rations of officers :—Seaham, 4i. 19s. ; Seaton, 2/. 3s. 7 2

Other expenses :—Seaham, 5?. Is.; Seaton, 1/. 12s 6 13

Total connected with relief 70 3

Constaliles' expenses before justices :—Seaham, 51. 15s. ; Sea-

ton, 1/. Is ..^. 6 16

Vaccination:—Seaham, 22. 6s. ; Seaton, 4s 2 ID

Registration fees to clers^ymen :—Seaham, Gl. 12s. ; Seaton, 5s. 6 17

County-rates, &c. ;—Seaham, 33i 16s.; Seaton, 351. 18s 69 14

Parliamentary registration :—Seaham, 18s. ; Seaton, 11. 2s. ... 2

For all other purposes :—Seaham, dl. 6s. ; Seaton, SI. is 12 10

£170 19

The vilhige of Seaham is situated close to the sea

banks, and is bounded on the south by a deep dene,

which divides it from the chapelry of Seaham Harbour.

The principal mansion, called Seaham Hull, has been

adorned with plantations and pleasure-grounds by suc-

cessive jn-oprietors, laid out, as Surtees observes, "with

the most elegant simplicity, uniting with a noble sea

view the softest pastoral scenery on the eastern coast."

The mansion-house and offices occupy 1 a. 2 e. ; the

plantations, 33 a. 2 e. 20 p. ; the garden and orchard,

3 a. 1 e. 3 p. ; and the town green, 5 a. 2 e. 32 p.

Seaham was included in King Athelstan's donation

to the shrine of St. Cuthbert ; but, three centuries

afterwards, it had, with Seaton and Slinglawe, become
a freehold manor, the property of two heiresses, Ma-
tilda and Hawysia. Their descendants, the Yelands

and Hadhams, terminated their disputes relative to

the division of the property by a solemn deed, executed

in the church in 1295. John, son of Jordan Aydrunken,

of Seaham, as the son of such a father would naturally

have to do, released considerable lands to John de

Hadham. Before 1408, Yeland's moiety of Seaham
had become vested in the family of Dalden, fi-om

whom it descended through Joan Bromflcte to her son.

Sir William Bowes, Knt. On the division of the

estates of Sir George Bowes, of Dalden, who died

without male issue in 1557, his moieties of Seaham
and Seaton fell to the share of his eldest daughter,

Dorothy, wife of Sir Cuthbert Collingwood, Knt.,

whose descendant sold them to Sir Mark Miibauke,

Bart.

The first person mentioned in the pedigree of the

Milbanke family, according to tradition, was cup-

bearer to Mary, Queen of Scots, and, in consequence

of fighting a duel, was obliged to fly to England for

safety, where he jiurchased an estate at Chirton, near

North Shields. His great-grandson, Mark, was mayor
of Newcastle in 1658 and 1072, and married one of

the wealthy daughters and co-heiresses (familiarly

called " Cock's canny hinnies") of Ealph Cock, alder-

man of that town. His eldest son, Mai'k Milbanke,

was nominated for a Knight of the Eoj'al Oak on the

Eestoration, and created a baronet August 7, 1061 : he
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died in 1080. His son, Sir Mark, married Jane,

daughter of Sir Ealph Carr, Knt., of Cocken. Sir

Ealpli Milbanke, son of Sir Mark, married, first, Eli-

zabeth, daughter of John Lord Conyers, of Hornby

;

and, second, Anne, daughter of Edward Delaval, Esq.,

of South Dissington, Northumberhxnd. Mark, bis third

son, was an Admiral of the White, ambassador to the

court of Morocco in 17G6, and died in 1805. The

second Sir Ralph Milbanke married Elizabeth, daugh-

ter and co-heiress of John Hedworth, Esq., of Chester

Deanery; and was succeeded, in 1798, by his son. Sir

Ralph Milbanke, Bart., of Halnahy and Seaham. He
represented the county of Durham in five successive

parliaments, and, on declining the seat in 1812, re-

ceived a unanimous vote of thanks for his services.

He married Judith, eldest daughter of Thomas Vis-

count Wentworth, on whose death he was permitted,

by royal license, 29th May, IHl!), to use the surname

of Noel only. His death occurred at Hampstead,

March 19, 182.5. Anne-Isabella, his only child, born

May 17, 1792, was married in the drawing room of

Seaham Hall, by special license, January 2, 1815, to

Geoi-ge Gordon, Lord Byron.*

The moieties of Seaham and Seaton held by the

Hadhams, after passing through several intermediate

* Lord Byi'ou tirst saw Miss Milbanke at her aunt s, tlien Vis-

countess Melbourne. He was at once stricken with the lady's

attainments and beauty, and proffered his hand, which was rejected,

but with so much kindness that a subsequent correspondence was kept

up. Two years afterwards, he again proposed, and was this time ac-

cepted ; although, as be himself admitted, he had not seen the lady

for ten months previously. He left London to be married at Seaham,

at the end of December, 1S14, accompanied by his intimate friend, Mr.

Hobhouse, afterwards Lord Broughton. His own feelings on the oc-

casion were thus written down at the period :—He describes himself as

waking on the morning of his marriage with the most melancholy re-

flections, on seeing his wedding-suit spread out before liira. In the

same mood, he wandered about the grounds alone till he was summoned
for the ceremony, and joined for the first time on that day his biide

and her family. He knelt down—he repeated the words after the

clergyman ; but a mist was before his eyes, his thoughts were else-

where ; and he was but awakened by the congratulations of the by-

standers to find that he was—married. The same morning, the

wedded pair left Seaham for Halnaby, another seat of Sir Ralph

Milbanke. When about to depart, Lord Byron said to his bride,

" Miss Milbanke, are you ready ?" a mistake which the lady's confi-

dential attendant i)ronounced to be a " bad omen."

The unfortunate result of tliis ill-fated union made a deep impres-

sion on the public mind at the time ; and its remembrance will be

perpetuated iu the impassioned appeal (" Fare thee well") addressed

by the poet to his lady, ;vs well as in the burst of acrimonious

invective in which he indulged against other parties connected with

the circumstances. In a letter addressed to a friend, after his final

separation from Lady Byron, is the following touching passage refer

ring to her ladyship ;

—"I must say it, in the very dregs of all this

bitterness, I do not believe there ever was a better, or even a brighter.

proprietors, were eventually united to Bowes's portion

of the manor. The whole was offered for sale by

auction on October 13, 1821, when that part of the

Milbankes' property in the parish of Seaham, besides

the mansion, the plantations, and some property in

the village, consisted of the Grange farm, 479 a. 2 R.

10 p., let at 400/. per annum ; Seaham Field House
farm, 188 a. 3 r. 11 p., let at 120/. a year; and Seaham
Domain farm, 141a. 2 r. 30 p., let at 160/. a year.

This property, with that part of the estates in the

parish of Dalton-le-Dale, noticed hereafter, wei'e pur-

chased by the late Marquis of Londonderry.

THE CHURCH.

The church is a small building, consisting of a nave

and chancel, a low square western tower, and a south

entrance-porch. It exhibits traces of high antiquity

;

and the segment of a lofty circular arch, which divides

the nave and chancel, seems to indicate that the

building was originally of greater extent towards the

north than at present. The east window consists of

two round-headed lights, under an ornament of Saxon

zigzag or nailhead ; and the lights in the nave are

narrow and round-headed. The font is a plain stone

a kinder, or a more amiable and agreeable being than Lady B .

I never had, nor can have, any reproach to make her while with me.

Where there is blame, it belongs to me ; and if I cannot redeem, I

must bear it." As the first impressions of grief wore away, however,

we find him, with unpardonable levity, introducing iu his " Don
Juan," as Miss Milliiond, one who had been " more sinned against

than sinning," and whose many estimable qualities had rendered

her deservedly admired and respected by the few whom her unosten-

tatious course of life permitted to appreciate them. An only daugh-

ter was the fruit of the marriage, " Ada, sole daughter of my house

and heart." She was born in 1816, and is frequently mentioned in

the correspondence of her father. Writing to Mr. Murray from

Venice, February 2, 1818, Byron says, " I have a great love for little

Ada, and I look forward to her as the pillar of my old age, should I

ever reach that desolate period, which I hope not." Pisa, November

17, 1821, "I have to acknowledge the receipt of a lock of Ada's hair,

which is soft and pretty, and nearly as dark as mine was at twelve."

On the 8th of July, 1833, the poet's daughter was united to Lord

King, subsequently (in 1838) created Earl of Lovelace ; a connection

by which the lineage of John Locke was identified with that of

Byron. Three children were the issue of the mairiage, viz., Byron-

Noel, Viscount Ockham, born May 12, 18S6 ;
Kalph-GordonNoel,

born July 2, 1839 ; and Anne-Isabella-Noel. After an illness of

twelve months' duration, Lady Lovelace expired at the town resi-

dence of her husband, on the 29th November, 1852, and, like her

illustrious father, before completing her 37th year. Much of the

interest which attaches to the daughters of Milton and Shakspeare

was felt in this distinguished lady, who, highly gifted, and endowed

with a large share If her father's vivid temperament, delighted in

intellectual as well as benevolent and kindly pursuits. Lady Byron,

who still survives, has been a warm patroness of education.
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basin, the rim ornamented with tracery. Over the

south porch is a sun-dial, dated 1773, with the follow-

ing quaint inscription :

—

" Tlie natxiral clock-work by the mighty One

Wound up at first and ever since has gone.

No pin drops out, its wheels and springs hold good.

It speaks its maker's praise, tho' once it stood
;

But that was by the order of the workman's power.

And when it stands again it goes no more."

There was a chantry in Seaham church, dedicated

to the Virgin; Eichard Atkinson, chaplain in 1501.

In the church-yard, near the south wall of the chancel,

is a stone coffin of the usual form, with a ridged cover,

on the ledge of which is inscribed, in Saxon charac-

ters, " Hie jacet Bichardiiis ..Scahaiam" sup-

posed to refer to Richard de Overton, rector in 1293.*

Registers.—Books Nos. 1 to 3 contain entries of

baptisms and burials from 1610 to 1812, and marriages

from 1010 to 1753 ; No
1812.

4, marriages from 1754 to

Seaham vicarage ; the Marchioness of Londonderry,

patroness. King's Books, 61. 0*. bd.; Tenths, 10».

0\d. ; Archid. i)roc., 3s. 8rf. ; Episc. proc, 3s. Ad.

Dedication to St. Mary.

Rectohs (the families of Iladham and Yeland, or Bowes, alternate

patrons). —John de Yeland occurs 1279 ; Richard de Overton, Vl'dZ
;

Hugh de Karliolo occ. 7th April, 1334; Thomas de Hadham ; Tho-

mas de Hadham, 1364, p. m. Hadham ; John de Hadham, 1381,

p. m. Hadham ; Thomas Stones, 1416 ; John Whitham, 1436, p. m.

Stones; Richard Ledyerde occ. 3rd Jan., 1451 ; Thomas Langton,

the last rector, resigned 1475.

Vicars.—Robert Chawmer, March 15, 1409 ; John Sedel, capellan,

occ. 1501 ; Thomas Wright, 1545 ;t Thomas Esterbie, cl., Dec, 1.575,

p. m. Wrifrht ; John Esterbie, l(J2'i, p. m. Esterbie :% Henry Dobbins,

* In this cemetery was interred Joseph Blackett, shoemaker, an

unfortunate votary of the muses. He was born in 1786, at Timstill,

in the north of Yorkshire, where his father was a day-labourer, bur-

thened with a large family. He was apprenticed to his brother in

London, who kept him at home on Sundays, to instruct him in read-

ing and writing. For some years, his reading was confined to such

works as Josephus, I'lusebius's Ecclesiastical History, Fox's Martyrs,

and a few others ; but having been prevailed upon to accompany an
acquaintance to see Kcmble play Richard the Third at Druiy Lane
he was induced to turn hi.s attention to Shakspeare and the poets,

from the perusal of whose works his mind, naturally of an imagina-

tive cast, became irresistibly attracted to poetical composition. His

young wife dying of consumption, and his circumstances becoming
embarrassed, he retired to Seaham, where Sir Ralph and Lady Mil.

banke, interested by his uncommon talents and engaging manners
kindly and liberally supplied hiui with every comfort and convenience
in their power; and their amiable daughter also paid him much
attention. Feeling, however, that the malady with which he was
afliicted was mortal, he was visited by the Rev. Richard Wallis, vicar

of Seaham, to whom, on the day before his death, he said witli diffi-

culty, " Miss Milbanke and you will fi.x upon a spot, a romantic one,

for me to lie in ; and the management of the rest I leave to Lady

VOL. n.

A.M., Oct. 1.5, 1661; Arthur Noel, A.B., March 17, 1668; Alexander

Clarke, 1092, p. m. Noel ; Henry Ireland, A.M., 1697, p. m. Clarke
;

John Robinson, A.M., Sept. 14, 1741, p. m. Ireland ; John Rotheram,

A.M. (rector of Houghton-le-Spring), 1778, p. m. Robinson ; Richard

Wallis, A.M. (curate of South Shields), 1783, p. m. Rotheram ; Oswald
.John Craswcll, Sept., 1827, p. m. Wallis; Joseph Lambert, A.M.,

p. m. Craswell ; R. H. Baxter, 1850, p. m. Lambert.

At the general array of the clergy on Gilesgate

Moor, the rector of Seaham furnished one hobelar and

one archer. The families of Hadham and Yeland

held the presentation to the living till 1475, when the

rectory was annexed to the abbey of Coverham, York-

shire. Richard Chawmer was aj^pointed chaplain by

Bishop Sherwood. Queen Elizabeth presented in

1575. The pfltronage was afterwards successively

vested in the families of Hickes, Noel, and Robinson,

and subsequent!}' in A. J. C. Baker, Esq. It was

held by the late Marquis of Londonderry till his death

in 1854. The glebe consists of 172 A. lOr. The
parsonage house stands to the east of the church, on

the northern bank of the dene. The vicarage is en-

dowed with the rectorial tithes. The value of the

living is 080/. j)er annum, subject to permanent pay-

ments amounting to 22/.

CHARITIES.

Cliaritics of Martin and Brice.—In 1090, William

Martin bequeathed bl. to the poor ; and Thomas
Brice, in 1702, bequeathed a like sum for the same

purpose, both of which were vested in the overseers.

The sum of 10/. has been for some time in the hands

of successive vicars, who distribute 10s. annually as

interest amongst the labouring poor.

Milbanke and you." He died August 23, 1810. About a year and a

half before, he was assisted by Mr. Pratt, author of "Sympathy," in

putting forth a volume of poems, the whole edition of which was

circulated by private patronage. After his decease, a second edition

was published for the benefit of his orphan child. Many of these

productions are characterised by native and vigorous talent.

t " The personal answer of Thomas Wright, clerk, to artich'i

against him.

"Thomas Wright, vicar of the jiarish church of Seham, aged 79 year^.

" He saith that at tlie tyme articulate he, thisexauiinalc. being in

the Consistory of Durham, swore once by God, and another tyme by

Sanct John.

" He saith that yt ys trcwe that this examinate is cauld to the

function and oftice of preist, and he trustith gyvith good example to

all his parishioners, denying that he is any common swerer or blas-

phemer.

—

Thomas Wbigut."

} In 1675, Anne, widow of Mr John Esterbie, had a certificate of

her husband's loyalty and sufferings, viz., " that he was imprisoned,

senucstercd, and deprived of all he had by the late relielllon ;'' and

that the said " Anne and her children are become pooie and fitt

objects of publick or private charity."

4 M
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Seaton ColUeri/, near the turnpike road between

Sunderland and Stockton, was sunk a few years ago,

and is now worked by the Earl of Durham and the

Hetton Coal Company. Seahain Colliery, in close

in-oximity, was commenced by the late Marquis of

Londonderry. In May, 1846, the sinkers succeeded

in getting through the sand, at a depth of 70 fathoms

from the surface, and reached a thin seam of coal.

On January 22, 1854, a seam of coal was cut, inter-

secting a band of excellent fire-clay. The depth is

above 240 fathoms ; and the seams worked are the

main and five-quarter. The pit wiU work the whole

of the coal under the manors of Seaham and Dawdon,
together with some adjoining royalties, supposed to

contain 3,000 acres, and calculated to return 14,520,000

tons of coal. Electric wires are extended to this, as

well as to all the other collieries belonging to the

Mai-chioness of Londonderry. Extensive rows of pit

houses, with kitchen gardens attached, have been

erected in various dii'ections around the two collieries,

and near the junction of the Seaham Harbour road

with the main turnpike.

New Chuech.—A church, principally for the ac-

commodation of the population at Seaham colliery, is

now being erected at the sole cost of the Marchioness

of Loudonderrj% who will also provide the endowment.

The foundation stone was laid by her ladyship on the

13th of August, 1855 ; and the building is designed to

be a memorial to the late marquis. It is situated on

the north side of the Seaham Hai'bom- road. The
designs are by Mr. P. C. Hardwick, of London ; and

the church will consist of nave, north aisle, and chan-

cel, in the early English style. The aisle is formed

by four pointed arches, supported by octagonal pillars.

A lofty pointed ai"ch is over the chancel. The nave is

lighted on the south by three narrow pointed windows,

and the aisle by low double lights on the north,

and an arched window on the west, in two compart-

ments. The east window of the chancel, and that at

the west end of the nave, consist each of five lights.

beautifixlly decorated. The roof will be of lofty pitch.

The entrance is on the south ; and the church will

contain accommodation for between 400 and 500

persons.

SEATON AND SLINGLEY.

This township, which forms the western portion of the

parish, contains 1,373 acres, on which are 38 inhabited

houses. Its population, at the six decennial returns,

was stated at 90, 120, 95, 134, 175, and 200; 105 of

the latter number being males and 95 females. The
annual value of property assessed to the county-rate

in 1853 was 2,154/. 5.«.

The Durham and Sunderland branch of the North-

eastern Railway has an extent of 1 Ji. 6 f., and an area

of 21a. in this township. Its contributions to the

local rates in 1851 and 1852 were 16/. 13s. 3rf. and

1 9/. 8s. Q\d. ; the gross amounts collected in those

years being 68/. 10s. Id. and 79/. l8s. lid.

Seaton is a pleasant little village, situated on an

eminence, about Ij miles west of Seaham, and 6 miles

south-by-west of Sunderland. It contains a public

house. The old mansion of the Middletons is of the

date of the 17th centm'y, with projecting gables and

mullioned windows : it stands on the summit of the

hill, surrounded by a few lofty fir trees.

The moiety of the Hadhams' estate in Seaton passed,

in 1501, to the Blakistons, in which family it continued

till 1635. A younger branch of the Middletons of New-

ton Hall held lands about the same time. An estate

here descended from the Wilsons to the Rev. Wilson

Bewick, D.D., of Cassop. The present proprietors

are, John Gregson, Esq., Mrs. Bond, Mrs, W. Brough,

and others.

Slingley, anciently Slinglawe, is a hill or law to the

south-west of Seaton, and was successively in posses-

sion of the Swinburnes, Widckingtons, Collingwoods,

and Dales. Some property here now belongs to Miss

M. Carr, representative of the Dales of Ryhope and

Slingley.

Thank you for purchasing from Ebay Shop Retromedia

http://stores.shop.ebay.co.uk/retromedia


PAEISH OF DALTON-LE-DALE. 585

PARISH OF DALTON-LE-DALE.

The parish of Daltou-le-Dale originally consisted of the townships of Daltou-Ie-Dale, East Murton or Mur-
ton-in-the-Whins, Cokl-Hesleden, and Dalden or Dawdon. Its boundaries were, Seaham on the north,

Houghton-le-Spring on the west, Easington on the south, and the sea on the east. On August 23, 1843, the

township of Dalden, being the north-east portion of the parish, was formed into a separate chapelry, under the

name of Seaham Harboui'.

DALTON-LE-DALE.

Tins township contains an area of 797 acres, and 18

inhabited houses. In 1801, its population was 40; in

1811, 52; in 1821, 49; in 1831, 73; in 1841, 88; and

in 1851, 83, of whom 43 were males and 40 females.

The value of property assessed to the county-rate in

1853 was 532^. 10.5.

The account of Dalton-le-Dale parish with Easing-

ton Union, for the year ended Lady-day, 1855, was as

follows :

—

Keceipts. £. 6.

Poor-rates;—Dalton, 411; Cold-Hesleden, iSl. 12s.; Murton,

17«. ICs.* 259 8

In aid of poor-rate:—Dalton, 13«. ; Cold-Hesleden, 9j. ; Mur-

ton, 21. 13s 3 15

£263 3

Expenditure.

In-maintenance :—Dalton, 18«. ; Cold-Hesleden, 12s. ; Murton,

9^. 16s U 6

Out-relief:—Dalton, 20/. 4s.; Cold-Hesleden, 7?. ; Murton, 58?. 6s. 85 10

Workhouse loans repaid, &c. :—Dalton, 21. 9s. ; Cold-Hesleden,

11. 15s.; Murton, 6Z. lis 10 15

Salaries and rations of officers :—Dalton, 3/. 2s. ; Cold-Hesle-

den, 2/. 3s. ; Murton, 8/. 4« 13 9

Other expenses :—Dalton, 21. 7s. ; Cold-Hesleden, 11. 12s.
;

Murton, 6?. 3s 10 2

Total expenses connected with relief 131 2

Coiits of law proceedings :—Murton 1 13

Constables' expenses before justices :—Dalton, 11. 17s. ; Cold-

Hesleden, 1^. 8s. ; Murton, 6/. Is 9

Vaccination :—Dalton, 6s. ; Cold-Hesleden, 4s. ; Murton, 3/. 'Js. 3 18

Registration fees to clergymen :—Dalton, 17s. ; Cold-Hesle-

den, 8s. ; Murton, 4/. 9s 5 14

County-rates, &c. :—Dalton, 8/. 17«. ; Cold-Hesleden, 211. Is.

;

Murton, 52?. Is 81 19

Parliamentary registration :—Dalton, 1/. 25. ; Cold-Hesleden,

ll.ds.; Murton, 13s 3 4

For other purposes :—Dalton, Zl. Ss. ; Cold-Hesleden, 81. 5s.

;

Murton, 81. 18s 20 11

£267 7

The extent of the North-eastern Railway in this

township is 1 P. 143 T., and its area 1a. 2e. 24 v. It

• In 1831, the poor-rates collected in Kast Murton amounted to 11. Ss.

contributed 71. 5s. lOd. to the local rates in 1851, and
15/. IGs. 8d. in 1852; the gross amounts collected in

those years being 85/. 2s. lid. and 01/. 0.?. 9d.

The little village of Dalton is about a mile from the

sea, and Gi- miles from Sunderland, on the road be-

tween that place and Stockton. The houses are scat-

tered along the side of a small brook, which runs

through a very deep, narrow, and romantic valley.

It contains a public house and the shops of a black-

smith and a cartwiight.

King Athelstan included Dalton in his grant to the

shrine of St. Cuthbert; and Bishop Eichard de Ma-
risco afterwards gave the church to the convent at

Durham. The boundaries between the possessions of

the convent and those of the lords of Dalden and

Seham were fixed, by a solemn composition, in 1155.

The lands of the convent, after the Dissolution, were

restored to the cathedral ; and the whole of the town-

ship is still held by lease under the dean and cha^jter.

THE CHURCH.

Dalton-le-Dale church consists of nave and chancel,

without aisles or tower, and contains accommodation

for 217 persons. "It is," says Billings, "of late

Norman origin ; but, in the very earliest stage of its

construction, the style of architecture changed, and,

excejiting an ornamented circular-headed doorway on

its north side (now walled up), and the circidar chancel

arch (without ornament), the whole building is of the

succeeding style, with single lancet windows, shewing

a trefoil head on their broad internal splays, the same

as at Lanchester. Like that church, Dalton has three

lencets at the east end.

" Breast high, on the north wall of the nave, near

the west end, is a series of raised stone numbers,

those indicating VII. VIII. IX. X. XI. being distinctly

visible. They formed part of an internal sun-dial,

the time havmg been marked by the rays of the sun

passing through particular windows or apertures.
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" Covering the doorway on the south side is a porch

of late decorated construction (about 1450). It is

simply and eflectively ornamented by shields enclosed

in octofoils, and between these are the remains of a

niche."

A beautiful recumbent effigy, in complete armour,

rests on an altar-tomb within a recess in the north

wall of the chancel : the surbase of the tomb is orna-

mented with blank shields within quatrefoils, and the

surcoat of the figure is worked with the arms of

Bowes. Adjoining to this, on the east, is a plain

altar-tomb of black marble, without effigy or inscrip-

tion ; and still nearer to the altar, on a slab a little

elevated above the floor, a mutilated female figure,

above which a brass plate has been removed from the

wall. The burial-place of the Boweses and Colling-

woods is in a vault at the foot of the tombs.

Registers.—Books Nos. 1 to 3 contain entries of

baptisms and burials from lG53to 1812, and marriages

from 1653 to 1753; No. 4, marriages from 1754 to

1812.

Dalton-le-Dale is a discharged living in the deaneiy

of Easington ; the prior and convent patrons till the

Dissolution ; since, the dean and chapter. Tenths,

12s. Ofrf. ; Episc. proc, 4.s. Dedication to St. Andrew.

VicAKS.—Gilbert de Bellingham occurs 1180 ; Ingelram occ. 1273
;

Robert de Henington occ. 1337 ; Wm. de Norton, 1347, p. m. Her-

riugtou ; Bich. de Wolveston occ. 1373 ; Thos. Crokey, 1405 ; Eicb.

Kuapton, occ. 1421 ; Roger Moresby, 1425, p. m. Knaptou ; Tbomas

Marcb, 1438, p. res. Moresby ; Ricliard Rasch, 1445, p. res. March
;

Wm. Aclvff, 1464, p. res. Rasch ; Wm. NichoU occ. 1477 ; John Ledcll

occ. 1485; Thos. Fell, 1486 ; Robt. Forrest, 1-526, p. m. Fell; Anth.

Fawell, 1530, p. res. Forrest; Edw. Baites, 1560, p. m. Fawell; Fran.

Trollop, 1562, p. res. Baites (after rector of Sockburn) ; Rich. Forst«r,

chaplain, 1564, p. res. Trollop ; Samp. King, cl
, p. m. Forster ; Rich.

Clement, 1605; Matt. Cowper, A.M., 1621, p. m. Clement; Samuel

Bolton, AM., 1662, p. res. Cowper; Thos. Sharp, cl., 1665, p. res.

Bolton (he rebuilt the vicarage); Peter Wilson, A.M , 1715, p.m.

Sharpe ; Edw. Hearne, A B., 1732, p. m. Wilson ; Wm. Dunne, A.M.,

1740, p. m. Hearne (curate of Easington); Thos. Drake, A.M., 1761,

p. m. Dunne (rector of St. Mary-le-Bow) ; Nich. Homsby, A.M., 1774,

p. res. Drake ; Jos. Watkins, A.M., 1775, p. res. Homsby (vicar of

Merrington, and afterwards of Norham) ; John Prynne Parkes Pcxill,

p. res. Watkins ; James Fothergill, A.M., 1783 ; William Snioult

Temple, A.M. ; J. H. Brown, 1832, p. res. Temple.

In 1273, the prior and convent endowed the vicarage

with the small tithes and offeiings of the parish. In

1337, the vicar, in consequence of the ravages of the

Scots, received an augmentation from the prior and

convent. Dalton church, in I3C3, paid 3.5. id. for

nmokc-pennics, towards the support of the structure of

Durham cathedral. Tlie corn-tithes of the parish

belong to the dean and chapter, who have endowed

the living with the tithes of Cold-Hesleden, 40/.

;

those of North Sherburn, 100/.; and with land in

Dalton-le-Dale, I/. 10s.; annual value, 14U. 10s.;

fee-simple, 4,245/. The glebe-house was described in

1835 as unfit for residence ; but a good parsonage

has since been erected. At the period just named,

the gross annual income of the living was returned at

215/., subject to permanent payments amounting to 14/.

The net sum, 201/., is still the value of the living.

CHARITIES.

The township of Cold-Hesleden is entitled to 10-lo9th

parts, and East Murton to 5-159th parts of the rent of

Longstock farm, Hampshire, under the will of Henry

Smith (see p. 101). The sums received amount to

above 33/. and IC/. lO.s. respectively, and are disposed

of by the parish officers and principal inhabitants

amongst then* respective poor, chiefly in provisions

and clothing.

COLD-HESLEDEN, ok HESLETON.

This township, which is to the south of Dalton, com-

prises an area of 1,031 acres, of which 38 acres ai-e

covered with tidal water. Its population, at the de-

cennial periods of return, was 48, 31, 55, 112, 83, and

117; 62 of the latter number being males and 55

females. There were 19 inhabited houses in 1851.

In 1853, the property was assessed to the county-rate

at 1,204/. 14s. M.
The township contains five farms. The estate pays

a modus to the vicar of Dalton, in lieu of small tithes,

viz., 2/. 17s. -id. on May 30, and 1/. 8s. Sd. on October

1 ; and the tenants lead the vicar eight cart-loads of

coals one summer, and nine the next, alternately, the

vicar paying for them at the pit. The corn-tithes

belong to the second stall of Durham cathedral.

Cold-Hesleden, after being for some time the pro-

perty of the Lumleys, was sold in 1 780, by Richard,

Earl of Scarborough, together with a free rent of 21/.

6s. 8rf., and 8s., or eight fat hens, issuing out of eight

farms in Murton-in-the-Whins, to WilUam Gibson, of

Newcastle, for 10,750/. On January 13, 1803, the

representatives under the will of Mi-. Gibson conveyed

the manor and estate, for 12,000/., to Richard I'em-

berton, Esq., of Barnes.

MURTON-IN-THE-WHINS, or EAST MURTON.

The township of Murton-in-the-Whius, which is si-

tuated to the south-west of Dalton, contains 1.466
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acres. Its population, in 1801, was 75 ; in 1811, 71
;

in 1821, 72; in 1831, 90; in 1841, in consequence of

the sinking of the colliery, it had increased to 521
;

and in 1851, it was 1,387, of whom 745 were males

and G33 females. In 1841, there were 89 inhabited

houses ; and in 1851, 235 inhabited and 1 uninhabited.

The annual value of property, which in 1829 was

753/., was assessed for the county-rate in 1853 at

3,123/. 11.9. Gd.

The Durham and Sunderland branch of the North-

eastern Railway passes over an extent of 1 m. 6 f. in

this township, and covers an area of 21a. It contri-

buted 37/. 10.?. to the local rates in 1851, and 29/. 3s.

id. in 1852. The gross amounts collected in those

years were 215/. 1.?. id. and 171/. 19.y. lid

There arc five farmsteads in the township : it pays

a modus to the vicar of Dalton of 4/. 17s. on May 30,

and 2/. 13.?. on October 10, in lieu of small tithes.

The village is chiefly occupied by persons employed

at the colliery, and contains chapels belonging to the

Wesleyan and Primitive Methodists.

From an early period, this manor was held by the

family of Lumley. About 1566, John Lord Lumley,

in consideration of 341/. 6s. 8d., alienated the whole

to his tenants, in eight portions, reserving the free

rent, inc., noticed above. Two of those portions were

united, in 1645, in Edward Shipperdson, and have

descended lineally to Edward Shipperdson, Esq., of

Pittington Hallgarth. John Gregsou, Esq., also holds

lands in the township. About 3 acres, belonging to

the church of Durham, are supposed to have originated

in the gift of one acre in Birjlatt, by Cendune, the

son of Walter de Morton, to the monks.

Murtoii Colliery.—The winning of this colliery was

one of the most arduous and expensive undertakings

of the kind upon record. The South Hetton Com-
pany, having added considerably to their tract of coal

under lease, determmed on increasing their powers of

working; and the ground was broken for the first

shaft at Murton on the 19th February, 1838. Two
months afterwards, another shaft was begun, and the

two were carried on simultaneously ; each pit being

1 4 feet in diameter. Little water was met with till a

depth of 32 fathoms was reached, when the sand-

• It was stated in the local papers of the day, that the leather

buckets alone cost lU. 5s. hour by hour, and three tan-yards had to

supply the reijuisito quantity of leather ; lOO tons of coal were re-

feeders were encountered, which were successively

tubbed off, thus freeing the shafts from water. On
the 26th June, 1839, however, the sand-feeders burst

away from the bottom of the shaft, throwing up, with

gigantic force, four feet of strong limestone which

intervened between the bottom of the sliaft and

the top of the sand. With such violence did this

eruption take place, that before the capstans could

heave up the pumps from the bottom, they were all

choked, and upwards of 10 feet of sand deposited in

the pit. Additional engine-power was now applied at

both shafts, and 4,678 gallons per minute were drawn

to bank for some time, without making any sensible

impression upon the feeders. A third shaft was there-

fore commenced, and in six months reached the depth

of 73 fathoms, when two pumping-engines, and two

winding-engines, constructed also to pump, were placed

upon it. The total amount of engine-power employed

was, three pumping-engines of 350 horse power each,

the two winding-engines of 130 horse power each, one

of loo horse power, two winding-engines of 25 horse

power each for drawing stones, and anotlier of 18

horse power, being 1,478 horse power in all. To
maintain these, 84 boilers were requisite, and 27 co-

lumns of pipes, 18 of which were of 19j inches, and 9

of 10 inches diameter. Notwithstanding the obstruc-

tion caused by the sand mixing with the water, which

frequently wore out the buckets in two or three hours

time,* 10,000 gallons wei-e drawn per minute ; and the

shafts were at length all completed through this for-

midable quicksand. Tlie whole of the feeders were

stopped back by metal tubbing, the shafts rendered

dry, and the two original shafts sunk to the several

seams of coal usually found in the district, 23 in

number, five of which are of workable thickness. The

main coal is 6 feet 2 inches ; the low main, 4 feet 7

inches ; and the Hutton seam, 5 feet. The last men-

tioned bed, at the depth of 248 fathoms, was sunk to

on the 5th of April, 1843.

On August 15, 1848, an explosion occurred at this

colliery, by which, and the after-damp, ten men and

four boys were killed. The remainder of the persons

in the pit, 62 in number, escaped the after-damp by

following a circuitous route to the shaft.

quired day by day to feed the furnaces ; and the water which flowed

from the ceaseless working of the pumps and buckets formed a stream

and created a channel where water had never run before.
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CHAPELRY DISTRICT Of SEAHAM HARBOUR.

The chapelry district of Seaham Harbour was formed by order in council, August 23, 1843, and gazetted on

the 7th of November following, wherein it is thus described :
—

" Boundaries—The chapehy district of Seaham

Harbour is to consist of the township of Dawdon, and is bounded on the north and north-west by the parish of

Seaham, on the west and south by the townships of Dalton-le-Dale and Hasleton, in the parish of Dalton-le-

Dale, and on the east by the German Sea."

The township of Dalden, or Dawdon, contains 987

acres, of which 157 acres are covered by tidal water.

The number of inhabitants, in 1801, was 22 : in 1811,

27 : in 1821, 35 ; in 1831, in consequence of the forma-

tion of Seaham Harbour, 1,022; in 1841, 2,017; and

in 1851, 3,538, of whom 1,750 were males and 1,788

females. On the night of March 30, 1851, when the

enumeration was made, 317 persons were on board

vessels in the harbom'. In 1821, there were only 3

houses in the township; in 1841, there were 402 in-

habited, 30 uninhabited, and 10 building; and in

1851, 58G inhabited, 8 iminhabited, and 6 building.

In 1823, the annual value of property in the to^^nship

was estimated at 008/. : in 1853, it was assessed to the

county-rate at 7,825/. 4«. 6d.

In 1831, the amount collected for poor-rates in

Dawdon township was 33/. 13s. In the year ended

Lady-day, 1855, the account of the township with

Easington Union was as follows :—The income from

poor-rate was 520/. IS.v. ; in aid of poor-rate, 0/. 18s.;

total, 527/. 16s. Expenditure for in-maintenance,

27/. 9s. ; out-relief, 208/. 18s. ; workhouse loans re-

paid, 17/. Is. ; salaries and rations of officers, 21/. 7s.

;

other expenses, 17/. 10s.; total connected with relief,

292/. 5s. Law expenses, 10s. ; constables' expenses

before justices, 3/. 5s.; vaccination, 16/. 9s.; registra-

tion fees to clergymen, 16/.; county-rate, 130/. 8s.;

parliamentary registration, 3/. 3s. ; for all other pur-

poses, 41/. ; total expenditure, 503/.

The parochial register states that " Dalden was

separated from Dalton-le-Dale, by the appointment of

a constable, in 174 4 ; against which separation Eichard

Mascall and other inhabitants of Dalton entered a

protest." The remains of Dalden Tower and its ad-

joining manor-house stand near the sea, in the depth

of the dale. The former was a small Border fortress,

merely consisting of a square keep-tower and walled

court for the protection of cattle. It formerly had a

chapel or oratory, which, in 1325, Sir Jordan de Dal-

den was licensed to establish ; one condition of the

grant being that no injury should be caused thereby

to the parish church of St. Andrew. The adjoining

manor-house, now in ruins, is a building of the reign

of James I.

The baronial family of Escolland held Dalden

Tower soon after the Conquest, and appear to have

assumed the local name. By the marriage of Matilda,

daughter of Robert de Dalden, with Sir William

Bowes, Knt., this manor, with other property, passed

to the Bowes family, with whom Dalden Tower conti-

nued a favourite seat for centmies. It passed, on the

death of Sir George Bowes, in 1556, to two of his

daughters, of whom Elizabeth married John Blakiston

of Blakiston, and Dorothy married Sir Cuthbert Col-

lingwood of Eslington. In 1618, the estate was

united, by purchase, in the family of CoUingwood,

who sold it, about 60 years afterwards, to Su- Mark

Milbanke, Bait., of Hahiabj% in whose family it de-

scended to the late Sir Ralph Noel, Bart., of Seaham.

It was purchased, with the other Seaham estates, by

the late Marquis of Londonderry. The property was

described at the time as consisting of the Mill House

farm, 155 a. 1 e. 30 p., let for CO/, per annum; Carr

House farm, 198 a. 3r. 5 p., and Dalden Hall farm,

261a. Oe. 39 p., let together at 255/.; Dalden Field

Houses, 670 a. 1 e. 31 p., let at 525/.; and a public

house, with 9 a. e. 23 p., let at 15/. The whole of

the lands are exempt from tithes on payment of two

yearly moduses of 2/. and 7/. 3s. 6c?. to the vicar of

Dalton-le-Dale, and of 2/. a year (prescript rent) to the

prebendary of the seventh stall of Dui'ham cathedi'al.

SEAHAM HARBOUR.

The subject of constructing a port for the shipment

of coals on the coast of Dalden presented itself to

the mind of the late Su- Ralph Noel, who, in 1820,
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instructed WilUam Chapman, Esq., C.E., to prepare a

plan for that purpose, in which certain of the inlets on

the coast might he extended, and piers erected on the

rocks without for their shelter. This plan attracted

the attention of the Marquis of Londonderry, after his

purchase of the estates ; and he directed Mr. Chapman

to prepare a more extensive one. The formation of

such a harbour was essential to the development of

the collieries belonging to the marquis, because, at

that period, the port of Sunderland was too small to

afford accommodation for the shipment of their pro-

duce. The design was also warmly forwarded by the

late John Buddie, Esq., manager of the collieries.

The site selected for the works was a range of

bleak and barren rocks, facing the sea, and with a

most unattractive landscape on their summit. Huge
fragments of isolated rock projected into the sea.

Operations, however, were speedily commenced, and

were carried on with remarkable spirit and industry.

The coves or inlets having been sheltered, their en-

largement was proceeded with in September, 1828.

The limestone rock dug out from them was converted

into lime, and used for the filling of the piers, and the

formation of a foreshore on the north, which is de-

fended by a sloping pavement and a parapet. The
south quay and jetties were also formed, leaving a

passage, 32 feet wide, into what was afterwards called

the Inner Harbour, closed by a falling gate, which

retained the water within a few feet of the level of

neap tides, and secured from the force of easterly seas

by a line of booms.

The foundation stone of the north pier, forming the

Outer Harbour, was laid November 28, 1828. The

Marquis and Marchioness of Londonderry, accompa-

nied by Lord Ravensworth and family, the Brandling

family. Sir H. Browne, Sir C. Sharp, and other

friends, having arrived on the spot, were let down in a

splendid railway carriage to that part of the harbour

where the stone was suspended, ready for its final

position. The marquis then alighted ; and Mr. Bud-

die, holding in his hand a superb silver trowel, ad-

dressed the noble marquis on the magnitude and

importance of the undertaking, and the benefits which

would result to humanity i'rom the opening of a place

of refuge to vessels in distress upon this hitherto

inhospitable coast. Mr. Buddie having presented the

trowel to his lordship. Sir C. Sharp presented a flag

to the Marchioness of Londonderry, inscribed with

the armorial bearings of the family, encircled with tlie

motto of " Success to Seaham Harbour." W. Chap-

man, Esq., the engineer, on handing to the Marquis
of Londonderry the plan of the harbour, took occasion
to deliver a few observations on the forwardness of
the work so recently commenced, and on the future

extent of its utility.

The marquis and marchioness, with their friends,

now proceeded to the spot where the foundation stone

of the first house of Seaham town was to be laid by
Viscount Seaham, who had not then attained his

eighth year. The marquis and marchioness, and the
young viscount, here descended from the carriage, and
were received by John Dobson, Esq., of Newcastle,

architect, who presented a plan of the intended town
to Lord Seaham, and in briefly addi-essing the young
nobleman, said he had the honour of presenting the

trowel for the purpose of his lordship laying the foun-

dation stone of the intended town, the magnitude and
prosperity of which would, in a great degree, depend on
the success of the harbour ; but the liberality and enter-

prise of his illustrious father would not be wanting in

giving every possible encouragement in promoting its

prosperity ; and when the great wealth and influence

possessed in the county by his talented and accom-

plished mother, the marchioness, should be taken into

consideration, there could be no doubt but that every

means would be adopted to give importance to the

town, whilst the social condition and comfort of its

inhabitants would be duly and carefully attended to.

The trowel was of silver, with a handle of limestone of

a very fine description, with which the Seaham estate

abounds. The inscription on the plate placed in the

foundation stone was as follows :

—

" George Henry Robert Charles Vane, Viscount Seaham, laid tlie

foundation stone of the first house of Seaham town, Nov. 28, 1828.

—

John Dobson, Esq., architect."

Mr. Mackreth, artist, was requested by the Marquis

of Londonderry to make the proceedings of the day

the subject of one of a series of pictures, then jiainting

for his lordship as an illustration of this great under-

taking. The painting is now at Seaham Hall, and

consists of admirable portraits of the ]Marquis and

Marchioness of Londonderry, Lord Seaham, Sir Cuth-

bert Sharp, W. Chapman, Esq., C.E., and John Dob-

son, Esq., architect, arranged and grouped with

admirable artistic efi'ect.

The Inner Harbour having been sufficiently ad-

vanced, the railway made passable, and gears con-

structed for two loading berths, the " Lord Seaham,"

a new ship of 14 keels burthen, received her loading

on the 25th of July, 1831, and was towed to sea by
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two steamers. Further excavations of limestone on

the north and west were continued with rapidity,

until the whole designed extent of this part of the

work, 2j acres, was cleared out, and brought down to

a level with the bottom of the harbour. The depth of

water is never less than 7 feet at low water, so that

loaded vessels are so far water-borne ; and the bottom

is either a hard clay or strong marie, on which the

general run of coal-vessels may lie in safety. The drops

extend along the north and south sides of the harbour,

with a narrow quay beneath them to afford access to

the shipping. The coal-waggons descend from the

banks above to the drops by means of inclined planes.

The western extremity of the harbour is a perpendi-

cular clifi', the summit of which is on a level with the

ships' topgallant-masts, and from which the view into

the abyss beneath is very striking.

The Outer Harbour is formed by piers. The north

pier extends as far into the sea, in a south-south-east

direction, as consistent with safety ; after which, form-

ing a right angle, it runs south-south-west, thus

inclosing a square area of 2j acres. This pier is

sheltered, on the north and north-east, in which direc-

tion the most heavy swells occur, by large rocks.

The foundation of the east pier, which runs parallel to

the coast, is principally upon a rock of considerable

height. These erections were designed, not only to

protect the coves and their enlargements, but also all

the future extent of harbour, as its construction might

become necessary. The height of the breakwaters is

C> feet above ordinary spring tides ; and each of their

transverse lines has two cross walls, or facings, at 40

feet asunder, to admit of an opening being made

through it, whenever an additional harbour to the

south may be formed, which may extend as far as the

ridge of rocks runs parallel to the shore, or further if

expedient. The first division of the South Harbour

was designed to contain 7 acres, the second 4|, and

the third 7 ; the whole being calculated to contain

from 200 to 300 vessels.

The extension of the hai'bour to the south was

originally considered the principal object ; and this

has been, to a considerable extent, accomplished. In

the north and the middle docks there are ten drops

for loading vessels. The south, or dry dock, contains

2i acres ; and there is a ship-building yard at its

southern extremity. The cliifs above the docks, to

the south of the Inner Harbour, are occupied by the

machinery used in transmitting the coal-waggons

(iown to the drops and drawing up the empty ones;

besides numerous offices, workshops, timber-yards,

and other edifices, most of which are of wood. Seve-

ral intersecting railways pass amongst these buildings,

for the conveyance of lime, timber, and other mer-

chandise. A wooden erection, used as a coast-guard

station, overlooks the harbour.

Two projects for enlarging the harbour are now
under discussion. It has been suggested that this

can be more economically effected towards the north

than the south ; and it will depend on the opinions

and advice of practical engineers as to which com'se

shall be adopted.

The harbour regulations provide against casting

ballast at sea, except to the southward, and in more
than 10 fathoms water. Precautions are laid down
for the prevention of accidents by fire amongst the

shipping in the harbour ; and rules are given for the

regulation of turns. The light and harbour dues, for

vessels of 50 tons and under, are 3s. Gd., with ^d.

additional for every ton above TiO. For mooring

vessels of eight keels and under in the docks, [is.

;

with id. for each additional keel above eight. Ballast

is taken out at Is. per ton. Night watch, for ships of

eight keels and under, Gd. ; above eight keels, 1*.

Cooking, six keels and under. Is.; above six keels,

Is. Qd. Fresh water, eight keels and under, 6d.;

above eight keels, 1*. Pier rope, six keels and under,

9d. ; above six keels. Is. Steam-boat towage, seven

keels and under, 7s., and Is. extra for each additional

keel. Weighing anchors in Seaham Roads (within

the limits of old Seaham vicarage and Noses Point),

21. 10s. Trimming, except in cases of extra labour,

3s. Gd. per keel.

A light-house stands on the promontory on the

north side of the harbour. A black tide flag is

hoisted by day at the time for vessels taking the har-

bour : at night, a bright red light is shewn on the

south pier as tide signal. A blue pennant above the

black flag shews that vessels drawing six feet water or

under may enter the harbour. A blue pennant above

a black ball :-^" Keep to windward imtil tide time.

Pilots .and steam-boats will go ofi" if practicable." A
blue pennant below a black ball :

—
" Use your own

discretion to lay oJBf or go to another port. You must

not attempt the harbour." Black ball :
—

" The har-

bour cannot be attempted. You had better make a

port before dark." Blue lights are burnt in the night

time, when the harbour cannot be attempted.

Seaham Harbour having been constructed by the

late Marquis of Londonderry, and being the private
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property of his representatives, dues are leviable only on

those using the property. The Tyne Harbour Light

dues, leWed in this Harbour by the Trinity House, New-
castle, amounted in 1802 to 2o6l. lis. 7(1. The Holy

Island buoys, &c., levied in the same j'ear, amomited to

25/. 8.5.

So readily were the facilities afforded by Seaham Har-

bour appreciated, that between its opening on Jul}' 25,

1831, and the 10th of March foUoT\'ing, 501 vessels,

with a tonnage of 84,650, and eniplopng 3,192 seamen,

were loaded with coals to the amount of 40,119 chal-

tlrons ; and 118 sliips received 4,275 chaldrons of Ume,

of 36 "WincliesttT bushels. Since that pei'iod, the coal

trade, though occasionally fluctuating as at other places,

has generally continued to increase. The follo^ving is a

statement of the shipments of coal from Seaham Harbour

during the year 1854 :

—

•Tanuary
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western gaUery extends across the width of the chiu-ch,

and contains a barrel organ ; but a subscription for the

purchase of a finger organ is now nearly completed.

The font is an unadorned circular basin. AU the books

required for Diviae service were presented by the Mar-

chioness of Londonderry. Above the chancel arch is a

tablet with the following inscription :

—

" This church was erected in the year 1840. It contains 400 sittings,

and in consequenee of a grant from the Incoi-porated Society for pro-

moting the enlargement, buihling, and repairing of Churches and

Chapels, 200 of that number are hereby declared free and unappro-

priated for ever.—J. H. Brown, «car."

The cemetery is extensive, and Ls enclosed by a low

stone wall.* By the order constituting the district, it is

dii-ected " that marriages, baptisms, chm-chings, and

burials should be solemnized and performed in the said

chapel; and that the fees arising therefrom should,

from and after the first avoidance of the parish church,

be received by and belong to the minister of the chapel."

A bazaar, under the patronage of the late dowager

Queen Adelaide, and conducted by the Marchioness of

Londonderry and other distinguished ladies, was held

at Sunderland on the 14th, 15th, and IGth of September,

1841, for the pm-posc of liquidating the debt on Seaham

Harboui- church, when the sum of 1,200^. was realized.

The patronage of the living was originally vested in

the late Marquis of Londonderry ; and the Eev. .Angus

Bethime, A.M., is the incumbent. The living was en-

dowed by the marquis with a rent-charge of 96/. per

annum. In the second general report of the ecclesias-

tical commissioners, it is stated that by order in council,

August 8, 1845, they were empowered to make an an-

nual grant of 64/., to meet other benefactions making

up the net income to 200/. In their third report, a

tithe rent-charge of 90/. is mentioned as having been

granted in augmentation, under an order in comicU

dated September 3, 1844. The total income is now

stated at 340/. per annum. A conditional grant of

200/. was made from the Maltby Fmid in 1851, in aid

of the erection of a parsonage-house ; but this desirable

object has not yet been accomplished.

CHAPELS.

The Wesleyan Methodists have a chapel in Tempest

place, the foimdation-stone of which was laid March 26,

1833. It contains a gaUery, and will seat about 400

• It is related that a married woman at Seaham Harbour, while in

the act of maliuig bread some years ago, fell do^Tn dead. Her husband,

who was greatly attached to her, preserved a piece of the cake she had

persons. The PRiMiTm; Methodists opened a place

of public worship at Seaham Harbour on the 4th of

October, 1846. A piece of ground in Tempest Place

was presented to the body, in 1850, by the Marquis of

Londonderry, on which they erected a chapel, capable

of accommodating about 300 persons. The "Wesleyan

Association Tabernacle forms the upper story of a

house in Church Street, the fomidation-stone of which

was laid February 3, 1837, and the stones for which were

led gratuitously by the farmers in the neighbourhood.

The CoNGREG.\TiON.u.isTS having held religious ser-

vices at Seaham Harbour for many years, it was at

length thought expedient that they should be formed into

a church, the constituting of which, and designating the

minister, took place on November 7, 1854. A "call"

was presented to the Eev. J. Harland, formerly a mem-

ber of the "Wesleyan Reformers, but who had adopted

Consresationahst ^-iews. The foundation-stone of a

chapel was laid on May 29, 1855, in Tempest Place, by

Robert "Wight, Esq., of Seaham Harbour. It is a hand-

some structure of stone, in the Gothic style, from designs

by Mr. Thomas Oliver, jun., of Sunderland. The exte-

rior walls are supported by buttresses. The entrance is

beneath a pointed arch, supported by clustered pillars,

smTnounted by carvings of human heads. Above is a

recess, containing a double light under a pointed arch.

On each side of the nave are fom- lancet lights. The

interior of the roof is of handsome workmanship. The

chapel will contain accommodation for about 500 per-

sons. The place of a chancel is occupied by a vestiy.

A Sailors' Bethel was opened at the docks on Sep-

tember 20, 1846, through the exertions of Mr. Milne, of

Smiderland. The ground and lime for the building

were given by the Marquis of Londonderry.

EDUCATIONAL INSTITUTIONS.

There are two boarding schools for young ladies at

Seaham Harbour, besides several day-schools kept by

masters and mistresses. The national schools for boys

and girls are in Church Street, and are imder govern-

ment inspection. At the visit of the Rev. D. J. Stewart,

June 6, 1853, there were present at examination 139

boys; 38 had left, and 59 been admitted, during the

preceding twelve months ; and the average attendance

was 126. Of girls, 186 were present at examination

;

84 had left, and 84 been admitted, during the year;

in her hand as a memorial. At his death, in January, 1851, he left t
strict injunctions that his friends should bury him in his wedding suit,

with the piece of the cake in liis pocket, wliich was accordingly done.
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and 136 was the averase attendance. General obser-

rations :

—

Roys—"Buildings, good-sized room; no class-room. Desks, three

groups of parallel desks. Furniture, gas. Books, discipline, and

instruction, fair. Apparatus, four black boards, four easels, two card-

stands. Organization ; standard of classification : reading and arith-

metic. Five classes for all subjects, under mastor, with certificate of

merit, and two pupU-teaclicrs ; two divisions for Scripture, geography,

and grammar. The pupU -teachers are not confined to any class."

GiBLS—"Buildings, good-sized room; small class-room. Desks,

two groups of three parallel desks, on platform. Playground and

books, same as boys. Apparatus, one black-board, one easel."

A public news and reading room was opened in the

North Terrace, in October, 1846, towards which the

Marquis and Marchioness of Londonderry each sub-

scribed one guinea annually, and Mr. H. TV. Smith gave

the gas to light the room. The establishment is now
carried on under the title of the Mech-^xics' Ixstitute.

The Londonderry Literary Institute.—On the

13th of January, 1853, a meeting was held in the news

room, in order to take measiu'es for the fonnation of a

mechanics' institution and literary society, when a pro-

visional committee was appoined to draw up rules, and

prepare a prospectus for a future meeting. The subject

having been laid before the late ISlarquis of Londonderry,

he offered a plot of ground, with a sutficient quantity of

lime, for the erection of an ajipropriate building, and also

made a liberal contribution m money. The marchioness

contributed largely; and the foundation-stone of the

building was laid in Tempest Place, on the 8th of July,

1853, by Robert Wight, Esq. In August following, a

bazaar was held by the marchioness and her family, in

Seaham Ilall, in aid of the building fund, and which

produced a considerable sum. The building was com-

pleted in the following year, from designs prepared bj'

Mr. Thomas Oliver, jmi. The front presents a fagade

of about 80 feet : from the centre projects a portico,

supported by four massive columns, and terminated by
an ornamental cornice and pediment. This part of the

building is of Grecian Doric, the proportions and details

being derived from the Parthenon at Athens. The in-

ternal architecture of the hall is in the Ionic order.

The portico leads to a large lecture hall, capable of

holding from 500 to 600 jjcrsons, on cither side of wliich

is a library and news room of ample dimensions. The
building was opened on January 3, 1855, when Sir

Archibald .zULson, the historian of Eui-ope, deUverod an

address. The society is called " The Londonderry Lite-

rary Institute," and is mider the patronage of the mar-

chioness. Subscribers of one guinea per annum are

considered full members, and entitled to the use of the

Library, news room, and free admission to ordinary lec-

tm-es. Subscribers of 10s. per annum arc entitled to the

use of either the library or news room, but not both, and
admission to lectures. Labourers and mechanics are

admitted to the use of the library or reading room on
payment of 6s. per annum, and to full membership, em-
bracing both, together with free admission to ordinary

lectures, on pajonent of 10.s. The establishment of

classes and delivery of lectures are parts of the system.

The library contains about 350 volumes, and there are

at present 45 members.

The town of Seaham Harboiu', soon after its erection,

began to exhibit some of that spirit and enterprise which
have since been more extensively displayed. As the

trade of the port has iacreased, various branches of ma-
nufactures and trade have been commenced or extended.

Amongst these may be named the works of Messrs.

R. Wight and Sons, anchor manufacturers, brass-

founders and finishers, iron-founders, engineers, &c.

Seaham Harbour Bottle AYorks wore commenced upon

the co-operative system, and were opened in AprU,

1852 : so successful were the company that it was found

necessary to extend the works hi the same year. They

are now carried on by R. Fenwick and Co., of Sunder-

land. The Londonderiy Bottle Works belong to John

CancUish and Co. Seaham Harbom- Pottery belongs to

Mr. John Hedley Walker. There are three ship-

building yards ; with sail-makers, ship-chandlers, ship-

smiths, block and mast makers, &c. Four ship and

insurance brokers and eight coal-fitters attend to the

business of the port. Two fire and life insiu'ance com-

panies have offices at Seaham Harbour. There are four-

teen iuns and public houses, three breweries, an ale and

jDorter merchant, two printing offices, and most of those

trades and professions necessary in a rising town. A
large steam flom'-mill is situated in the dene to the

north ; and public baths have been erected near the

coast. The gas-works, belonging to Mr. Henry Wall

Smith, are in Dawdon Dene : the jirice is 3*. id. per

1,000 cubic feet. A joint stock water company, with a

capital of 2,500/., in shares of 5/. each, was established in

the early part of 1851 : and after some difficulties, the

capital was paid up, and the works for the supply of the

town and harbour were completed in the summer of

1853. A branch of the Union Bank was opened, about

a year ago, in the North Terrace ; and a savings bank

has recently been commenced in connection with it.

The custom-house is situated in the same row. The

rural police have a station in John Street.
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Seaham Harboui- is about to participate in the advan-

tases derived from the iron trade. It has been stated

that the Marchioness of Londonderry intends investing

a capital of 100,000/. in the establishment of iron works

at this place, which now possesses remarkable facilities

for such a purpose.

Seaham Harbour Iiifirmari/ was built in 184-1 b)' the

Marchioness of Londonderry^ ; her ladyship dedicating to

this object the proceeds derived from the sale of a volume

published by her in 1843, entitled, " A three Months'

Tom- in Portugal, Spain, and Africa." It is a handsome

Gothic building of stone, in an enclosed space of ground

at the end of North Terrace. It contains, at present, a

dispensary or surgery, five wards with twelve beds, and

matron's apartments ; but the building is about to be

considerably extended. The Infirmary is imder the care

of a house .surgeon, and a visiting staff, consisting of a

physician and three surgeons. It is managed by a com-

mittee of twelve, elected annually by the subscribers

;

the Marchioness of Londonderry being patroness. Up
to the j^ear 1855, the Infirmary was entirely supported

by subscriptions and the payments of boarder patients
;

but in that year, in consequence of a memorial presented

to the marchioness by the masters and owners of the

shipping visiting the port, a charge of one shiUiug (or

sixpence if the vessel be imder 50 tons) is laid upon

every ship entering the harbour, imder the name of

Hospital Money, in consideration of which every seaman

visiting the port is entitled to free admission. This

change has been nearly a year in operation, and has

doubled the number of patients usually admitted in the

same period, which has averaged about 50 per annimi

since the commencement. The treasurer's account, for

the year ended December 31, 1855 :

—

Eeceipts.

Balance from preceding year

Keceiyed on account of patients

Donations, 18J. 15s, ; subscriptions, 65i. 16s. lOd.

Discounts .....
Two quarters of ships' payments to the institution

Bank interest, 8s. \\d. ; old chimney pots sold, 15s.

f231 8 15

EXPEKDITURE.

Surgeons salai7, 26J. 5s. ; do. for boarders, 5J. 10s. - 31 15

Matron'ssalaiy,25(.;a3sistant,5Mls.7(Z.;soap,lMfis.llJd. 33 8 CJ
Wine, ale, and porter - . . - 16 16

Board of patients - . . - 91 C 8

Medicines . . . . . 6 12 6

Incidentals . . . . 29 12 2

Balance in bank - . . . 22 16 9

£.
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Hartlepool, aud the intennediate places, the late Mar-

quis of Londonderry, in 1853, projected a railway to

proceed from a junction with the South Hetton coUiery

railway at Seaham Harbour, a little to the west of the

gardens at Seaham Hall, crossing the park, and fonning

a jimctiou with the Dui'ham and Simderland line at

Ryhopc ; the only bridges necessary being those over

Seaham and Ryhope Denes. The estimated cost of the

line was 50,000/.

The first sod was cut by the marquis on the 8th of

February, 1853.* Owing to differences which arose

between his lordship and the North-eastern Railway

Company, the entire completion of the line, though only

six nules in length, was not effected until July, 1855.

• On this occasion, the marquis, after alluding to his motives for the

formation of Seaham Harbour, added, " Urged on by the same princi-

ple, namely, that I should not have to seek a trade, for that if I made
the liarbour, the trade would come to me, I conceived the project of

constructing the railway we are about to commence this day. I knew
that the trade of many of the collieries to the southward of us in this

threat county must pass, sooner or later, our little half-way house of

Seaham on their way to Sunderland ; and I thought if we could get

them to stop on the road, we should be safe to obtain a large addition

to our present trade. Goramunicating these views to my able manager

,ind engineer, the latter set about the matter in real earnest, and has

Besides the Londonderry collieries, it affords access to

the Sunderland Docks from South Hetton and Murton
collieries. The Sunderland station for passengers is at

Hendon Burn ; and the railway passes, for a considerable

distance, along the banks of the sea. There are inter-

mediate stations at Ryhope and Seaham colliery ; and
the entire distance is performed in about a quarter of an
horn-. The advantages derived from this ready means
of communication between Seaham Harbour and Sun-
derland are sufficiently evident. Being entirely the

property of the late Marquis of Londonderry, the line

now belongs to his widow, who has evinced an earnest

desire to carry out every social and commercial improve-

ment commenced or suggested by his lordship.

already formed engagements with the South Hetton and Haswell
Colliei-y Companies to cany their coals over the line as soon as com-
pleted, either to ship in the first instance at Seaham, or, if not, to send

them on to Sunderland. The trade is, therefore, secured before the

railway is commenced. There is my project, and that is the simple

history of it." In conclusion, his lordship said, " If I live to see this

last project successfully accomplished, I shall cheerfully lay my head

upon my pUlow and resign life, conicious that, so far as concerns

those whose interests Providence has committed to my care, I have,

to the fullest extent of my means, discharged the duty which has de-

volved upon me."
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CHESTER WARD.

,^^7-1110 extensive and interesting district forms the

northern portion of the county of Durham, and stretches

nearly along its entire length from east to west. The

German Ocean forms the eastern boundary. On the

north, it is separated from the covmty of Northumber-

land by the river Tyne, which forms its boimdarj' from

the sea up to Wylam. From thence it is boimded on

the north-west bj'^ the Stanley Burn, the Milkwell Burn,

the river Derwent, Ecldon Burn, Norham Biu'n, and an

imaginary line. On the south, it is bounded by the

parishes of Stanhope and Wokingham, in Darlington

Ward ; and by the chapclrics of Esh, Witton-GUbert,

and Kimblesworth, and the estate of Finchalc, in Dur-

ham Ward. On the south-east, it is divided by the

river Wear from the parishes of Penshaw and Houghton-

le-Spring, in Easington Ward, and is joined by the

parish of Monkwcamiouth, now also attached to that

Ward, but foimerly included in Chester Ward.

Previous to the fonnatiou of Durham Ward, the cha-

pclrics of Esh, Witton-Gilbert, and Kimblesworth were

portions of Chester Ward. The township of Plawsworth,

in the parish of Chcster-lo-Strect, has also been attached

to Durham Ward ; whilst the townships of Lambton

and Great and Little Limdey, in the same parish, are

annexed to Easington Ward, being on the south side of

the river Wear.

The length of Chester Ward, from east to west, is 35

miles ; and its greatest width, from north to south, 12

miles. It has G miles of sea-coast on the east, and runs

up to a narrow point at its western extremity. The face

the country is various. On the sea coast, the sirrface

exhibits the uneven appearance caused by the magnesian

limestone ; whilst on the TjTie, between South Shields

and Gateshead, it is nearly level. From the lofty emi-

nence of Gateshead Fell, however, towards the west, the

country exliibits a succession of bold rounded hUls,

amongst which the Team, the Darwent, and other tri-

butary streams, find their way to the Tyne or the Wear.

Some of the valleys traversed by those waters are very

beautiful ; whilst, further to the west, the landscapes

approximate in character to those of Weardale, to which

they are contiguous.

The principal towns in the east part of the Ward are

South Shields and Gateshead. The rising villages of

Blaydon and Conside owe their progress to their ma-

nufactures. Chester-le-Strect, Ryton, Lanchester, and

several of the rural villages, stiU retain many of their

primeval features. The principal residences in the Ward
are Lambton Castle, the seat of the Earl of Diu-ham

;

Ravensworth Castle, the seat of Lord Ravonsworth

;

the ancient baronial Castle of Liunlcy; and several

elegant family mansions, which will be noticed in their

respective places.

According to Bailoy, there were, in 1810, 27,520

acres of miencloscd heathy moors, mostly situated in the

western and mountainous parts of the Ward; but a

large proportion of these has since been enclosed and

improved. Indeed, the greater part of the Ward is

hio-hly cultivated, productive, and poj^idous. It abounds

in lead, coal, lime, and excellent stone ; and the banks
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of the Tyne, Wear, Darwent, Team, Demess, Browney,

&c., are crowded with extensive and important manu-

facturing estabUsliments.

Parish of Chester-le-Street

(part of).

Parish of Lanchester.

Chapelrj' of Satley.

Chapeby of CoUierley.

Parish of Ryton.

Chapelry of Winlaton.

Chapelry of South Shields.

Chapelry of St. Stephen.

Chapelrj- of Trinity.

Parish of Wliitbum.

Chester Ward is subdi^-ided into three districts, called

the ISIiddle, West, and East Divisions. The following

is the distribution of the several parishes and chapelries.

Middle Division.

Chapelrj' of Pelton.

Chapelry of Biilley.

West Division.

Chapelry of SteUa.

Parish of "WTiickham.

Parish of Muggleswick.

Parish of Edmondbvers.

E.\ST Division.

Parish of Boldon.

Parish of Washington.

Parish of Jarrow.

Chapelry of Heworth.

Chapelry of Tanheld.

Chapelry of Lamesley.

Parish of Hunstonworth.

Chapelry of Medomsley.

Chapelry of Benfieldside.

Chapelry of Ebchester.

Chapelry of St. Alban's.

Parish of Gateshead.

Parish of Gateshead Fell.

MIDDLE DIVISION,

PARISH OF CHESTEB-LE-STREET.

It may be said that the parish of Chester-le-Street comprises the whole of the Middle Division of the Ward ; for,

besides the recently formed chapelry districts of Pelton and Birtley, the more ancient chapeb'ies of Lamesley and

Tanfield also belong to it. The parish is 9 miles in length from Eighton Banks on the north to Plawsworth on

the south, and its greatest breadth from east to west is about 7 miles. It is bounded by Houghton-le-Spring on

the south-east ; by [the chapelry of St. Margaret's, in the suburbs of Durham, Witton-Gilbert, and Kimbles-

worth on the south ; by Tanfield on the north-west ; by Lamesley on the north ; by Gateshead on the north-east

;

and by Washington on the east. Exclusive of Tanfield and Lamesley, it is divided into twelve townships, \iz.

:

—
1, Chester-le-Street; 2, Great Lumley; 3, Little Lumley ; 4. Lambton ; 5, Plawsworth, -with Nettlesworth, Hole-

myers, and Brodmyers ; 6, Edmondsley, including Broomyhobne, the Hagg, Twizell, Tribley, and "Whitehall ; 7,

Waldridge; 8, Pelton; 9, Urpeth, including Pokerley ; 10, Ouston; 11, Birtley; and, 12, Harraton, including

Picktree, Pclaw, and Ricleden.

CHESTER-LE-STREET.

The township of Chester-le-Street contains an area of

2,666 acres. In 1801, its popiJation was 1,662 ; in

1811, 1,726; in 1821, 1,892; in 1831, 1,910; in 1841,

2,599 ; and in 1851, 2,580, of whom 1,286 wera males

and 1,294 females. Tlie returns include 54 persons

in the Union workhouse ia 1841, and 51 in 1851.

In 1841, there were 477 inliabited houses, 12 unin-

habited, and 2 building ; and in 1851, 446 inhabited, 11

iminhabited, and 7 building. The value of property

i

assessed for the coimty-rate in 1853 was 9,340/. 15.5. 5rf.

The North-eastern Railway has an extent of 1 m. 7 f.,

and an area of 22 a. 4 e. in this toiniship. In each of
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the years 18-31 and 18o2, it contributed 45/. Ifis. 8(/. to

tkc local rates ; the gross amounts collected in those

years being 946/. 8s. '^d. and 935/. 17.s. 8c/.*

History.—Camden supposed that Chester was the

Condercttm of the Romans ; and it was the opinion of

Stidceley that the fii'st wing of the Asturcs lay there.

Whatever the ancient name of the station may have

been, there can be little doubt, from the discovery of

coins and other antiquities, that Chester was on the

military road betwcLni Binehester and Gateshead. In-

deed, the Rev. W. Featherstonhaugh, in a tract pre-

sented to the Antiquarian Society of ^Newcastle, advances

an opinion that Chestcr-le-Street was an important jjost

of the Romans from a very early period.

From discoveries made within the last few years, and

from personal inspection conducted on the spot, Mr.

Featherstonhaugh argues that the church and present

town occupy the real site. In an open space to the

west of the church, in the centre of the area, the foim-

dations of a house were recently discovered, with the

remains of its contrivances for warming, namely, three

In-pocaiLst pillars of rough freestone, a stone trench,

two yards long by one foot broad, some slabs of tufa,

part of a pipe tile, stamped with letters, and several

small circular hearths, containing cinders. In the same
place was foimd a large altar.

Fiu-thcr discoveries were made in 1856, in a field

south of the Roman station, in the occupation of Mr.

Murray. One large chamber and portions of two others

were opened out. The floors of the rooms wore sup-

ported upon pillars, for the piu-poso of having hot air

introduced below. Some roofing tiles, of the kind seen

at Pompeii, were obtained in a perfect state. A stone,

inscribed with the name of the second legion, styled the
" Aui/Ksff' and a large piece of ii'on, weighing 2^ cwt.,

were also found.

Coins have been met with in the garden of the

Deanery ; and Roman stones, with diamond broaching,

lie in its grounds. A scimlchral votive altar stands

where it was found, in a field south of the church ; and
a gold coin of Galba was found in 1816, in a field west
of the town. " The position of Chester-le-Strcet," con-

tinues ilr. Featherstonhaugh, " on a great road, midway
between two great towas ; its size, of no mean degree

;

• In reference to the rating' of railways to the relief of the poor,

Mr. Kudson, M.P. for Siinderlaml, iu the session of 1H4M, culled the

attention of the House of Commons to the hardship of whii'h railway

projirii'tors eoini)lained. Ho said that in looking' over the accounts of
one railway with which he was connected, the liastem Counties, he

VOL. II.

its luxm-ies and arts, as instanced in its relics of altars,

bronzes, and pottery ; and, finally, its having been

selected as the site of an extensive church establishment

from the earliest times, ^ath the Roman feature apparent

in both its Saxon and modern names ; all these woidd

lead us to the conclusion, that, though swept from our

eyes, the antiquarj' at least may call up the truthfid

image of a stirring military town, established here at an

early period of the imperial ride, and, as we see from its

coins, one of the last to be deserted in the empire's fall."

The Saxons added the name of the rivulet to the title

of the town, calling it Comccastrc, or Cuneceasfrc, imder

which name it bccatne the episcopal city of Bishop Ear-

dulph in 883 (see vol. i., p. 23). On the removal of the

see to Diu'ham, the manor, which includes Boldon,

Whitburn, the Cleadons, and the copyholds in the

parish of Chester, remained vested in the bishop.

By Boldon Book, Cestre, with the villain-service and

the demesne, the mill, and fisheries, was on lease for 24

marks. In Hatfield's Survey, the lands were divided in

the usual manner; free tenants, demesne lands, bond

tenants, cottagers, and exchequer lands. The manor-

mill and fishery in the Wear were objects of considerable

consequence, and were leased, in 1528, by Cardinal

Wolsc}', under 4/. rent, with Kcense to cut sufficient

wood for repairs.

In 1569, three persons from Chester, one from Plaws-

worth, three from Pelton, two from Byrtlye, and one

from Wallrego, joined the Northern Rebellion, aU of

whom were subsequently executed, except two of those

from Pelton and one from Byrtlye.

The follovi-ing ghost story appears in Glan-\ill's " Sad-

ducismns triumphatus," and has also been quoted in

other forms in various works :

—

" About the year of our Lord IC'fi, near unto Chester in the Street,

there lived one Walker, a yeoman of good estate, and a widower ; who

had a younj; woman to his kinswoman, that kept his house ; who was

hy the neighbours suspected to be with child ; and was towards the dark

of the evening one night sent away with one Mark Sharp, who was a

collier, or one that digg'd coals under ground ; and one that had been

bom in Blackburn hundred in Lancashii'e. And so she was not heard

of a long time ; and no noise, or little, was made about it. In the

winter time after, one .lames Grime, being a miller, and living about

two miles from the place where Walker lived, was one night alone voiy

late in the mDl, grinding corn. And as about twelve or one a clock at

night, ho came down the stairs, from having been putting corn in the

hopper, the mill doors being shut, there stood a woman upon tlie midst

found that they had paid I'i.OOnj. in rates, during the last half-year,

for 2M miles of railway, which was about Hi. per acre : while he be-

lieved it would be found that agricultural parishes only paid an average

of from 3s. to .'is. 6(1. per acre throughout the kingdom ; which he

thought must strike the house as a monstrous injustice.

4o
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of the floor, R'itU tlie hair of her head hanging do«Ti, and all bloody,

with five large wounds on her head. He being much frighted, and

amazed, began to bless him ; and at last ask'd her who she was ; and

what she wanted. To which she said, I am the spirit of such a

woninn, who liv'd with Walker: and being got with child by hiaii, he

promised to send me to a private place, where I should be well look'd

to, until I was brought in bed, and well again ; and then I sliould

come again, and kiep liis house. And accordingly, said the apparition,

I was one night late sent away wiih one Mark Shai'p ; who, upon a

moor (naming a place that the miller knew) slew me with a pick,

(such as men dig coals with) and gave me these five wounds; and

after threw my body into a coal-pit hard by ; and laid the pick under a

bank ; and his shoes and stockings heing bloody, he endeavour'd to

wash them ; but seeing the blood would not wash forth, he hid them

there. And the apparition further told the miller, that he must be the

man to reveal it, or else that she must still appear, and haunt him.

The miller retum'd home very sad and hea\y, but spi>ke not one word

of what he had seen ; but eschew'd, as much as he could, to stay in the

mill \rithin night without company, thinking thereby to escape the

seeing again of that frightful apjmrition.

" But notwitlistanding, one night when it began to be dark, the ap-

parition met him again, and seem'd very fierce, and cruel ; and

threaten'd him, that if he did not reveal the murder, she would conti-

nually pursue and haunt him. Yet for all this, he still conceal'd it till

St. Thomas's eve before Christmas, when being soon after stm-set

walking in his garden, she appeared again, and then so threatened,

and atiHghted him, that he faitlifully promised to reveal it nextmoraing.

"In the morning he went to a magistrate, and made the whole mat-

ter known, with all the circumstances. And diligent search being

made, the body was found in a coal-pit with five wounds in the head

;

and the pick, and shoes, and stockings yet bloody, in everj- circum-

stance as the appai-ition had related to the miller. "Whereupon

Walker and Sharp were both apprehended ; and at the assizes follow-

ing wore arraign'd, found guilty, condemned, and executed.

" One Mr. Fairhair (who is thought to have been the foreman of the

jury) gave it in evidence upon oath, that he saw the likeness of a child

stand upon Walker's shoulders during the time of the trial. At which

time the judge (Davenport) was very much tronhled (being supposed

likewise to have seen the same apparition) and gave sentence tliat

night the trial was ; which was a thing never used before, nor after,

in Durham, where this mui'der was tried.
"•

Chester-le-Street and its neighbourhood suffered con-

siderably by the floods on November 17, 1771, when

nearly 200 yards of the main street was covered with

water, and much damage done to the shops and houses.

All the low »roimds between Cocken and this town were

covered with the dead carcases of horses, cows, oxen,

and sheep, and also with com and hay stacks, furniture,

&c. The collieries at North Biddick, Chaters-haugh,

and Low Lambton, were filled with water, the engines

of the two former destroyed, and upwards of 30 horses

drowned in the workings. Houses, waggons, coals, and

wood of all kinds, were swept off by the irresistible

torrent.

• Mr. Arden, in a letter to Mr. Stapylton, 1671, mentions a " story

of a niaide throughing a collier, who sett upon her torobb, stripp, and

drownd her in an cdd colepitt, and she by a tricke threw him in, and

di'owned him, and this is said to be near Chester in ye Street."

"An act for diA-iding and inclosing certain moors,

commons, and tracts of waste land, within the parish and

manor of Chester, in the county palatine of Durham," was

passed 34 Geo. III., 1794. The several wastes diWded

were, Chester South Moor, Chester West Moor, Plaws-

worth Moor, Edmondsley Moor, Whitehall Moor, and

Pelton Moor, estimated in the act to contain 2,450 acres.

The parties claiming right of common were, the Right

Hon. George-Augusta, Earl of Scarborough ; William-

Henry Lambton, William JoUiffe, Ralph Milbanke,

Henry Askew, Isaac Cookson, John Lowes, and George

Pearson, Esqrs. ; Thomas Bowes, Robert Smith, John

Jackson, George Fenwick, Marmaduke Featherston-

haugh, and George Robson, gentlemen, and others.

The commissioners were Arthur Mowbray of Sherbum,

Joseph Grainger of the Heugh, and John Taylor of Ash,

gentlemen ; and the arbitrators were William Hoar of

Durham, Robert Hopper Williamson of Newcastle, and

John Wear of Gray's Inn, Middlesex, Esqrs. The

allotments followed the nature of the ancient estate, and

6d. an acre was reserved to the see of Durham for ever.

Urpeth, Birtley, and Waldridge Commons, and the

manor of Chester Deanerj-, were not to be affected by

this act.

Dtiring the floods which occurred in December, 1852,

the drain through the town was so much obstructed by

a gas pipe, which caused a lodgment of stones and gra-

[

vel, that the water flowed over the road.

The Tow>'.—Chester-le-Street is situated on the great

north road, 262 mile^ north-north-west from London,

25 north from Darlington, 6 from Durham, 30 north-

east from Baniard Castle, 24 north-west from Hartle-

pool, 9 west-south-west from Simderland, 16 south-west

from South Shields, and 8 south from Gateshead. The

town occupies a valle}- to the west of the Wetir, and

through which the Cone Beck flows towards that river.

The Cone is crossed by a bridge at the north entrance

of the town. The principal street, on the ttimpike road,

is nearly half a mile long, and contains several respect-

able houses and good shops, with a few thatched cot-

tages near its southern extremity. Two more irregular

lines of building nm westward along the banks of the

Cone ; and several narrow lanes or chares diverge from

the main street to the east and west. The whole has a

clean, lively, and comfortable appearance ; and though

I
there is no weeklj' market, yet the town, besides con-

taining several important manufactories, carries on a

considerable trade in the necessaries of life, for the sup-

. ply of the mining population around it.

«
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Tlici-o is a rui-al police station at Chcster-le-Street,

and two to\niship constables.* The town is the centre

of a revising barrister's district, including the following

towmships :—Bamiston, Birtley, Burn-Moor, Chester-

le-Stroet, llarraton, Ijambton, Great Luniley, Little

Lunili-y, Morton Grange, Ouston, Pelton, Plawsworth,

TJrpeth, Great and Little Usworth (hicluding North

Biddick), "Waldridge, and Washington.

THE CHURCH.

Tins church is one of the earliest parochial foundations

in the diocese. On the removal of the episcopal seat

from tliis place to I)ui'hani,t the church became rectorial,

and so continued till Bishop Beck, iii 1286, terminated

a litigation between Sir Walter Clifford and Master Alan

of Esiugwolde, each of whom claimed the rectory. The

bishop disallowed the claims of both, and erected the

chm'ch, which was well endowed, but shamefully iU

served, into a collegiate establishment, consisting of a

dean and seven prebendaries. The dean was invested

with the altarage of the mother church and chapels, the

fishery on the Wear, the rents and services of the tenants

holding of the church \vithin Chester and Waldridge, and

the whole demesne land of Harraton, with the messuages

and buildings attached to the chapelries of Tanfield and

Lamesley ; but he was bound to provide sufficient minis-

ters for these chapels, and to repair the chancel of

Chester. To the first prebend belonged the predial

tithes of Great Lmnley, Little Lumley, Lambton,

Woodseud, and the tithes of the coal-mines ; to the se-

cond prebend, the predial titlies of Lamesley, Kibbles-

worth, Ravensworth, Danicrook, Hedley, Ladesend,

Tugersland, Ravenshohne, and Newhouses ; to the thii-d,

those of Pelton, Pokerley, Pelaw, Picktree, Tribley,

• Tlip parish constable appears to hnve been formerly vested with

great discretionary powers, as is evinced by the summary manner in

which Margaret Herreson was placed in the stocks about tlie year 1570 :

"George Skott, of Chester-iu-the-street, yoman, aged 00 years.—He
saith thai, about tlie tyme articulate, this examinate and one Peirson

was the ciiunstables in Chester, and that one Agnes Fletcher, the said

John I'letclier wyffe. came to this deponent and his fellow and shewed

thera that the said Margaret Herreson had stoleno money out of hir

Sonne Roland eliist, and thereupon required this said exaniinate and
his fellow to set hir the said Margaret, and one Isabcll Burne, in the

sliiks : and so they, this examinate and his fellow, dyd, at her earnest

nioiion. At what tyme the said Kletcher was not in the towne ; and
at his home commyng they tlie said constables cauld of hj-m and asked

hym whither he wold follow hir as the Quene's fellon or no, and he
said yec. Ami thereupon she the said Margaret was kept in the stoks

all that niglit; saing all the contents of that article is trewe, for the

balitf was cburdged with her by this exanjinati' and his fidlowes, which
curied hir to M' Hedworth, ajustic of peace.

Edmundsley, Stovesley, and Xettlesworth ; to tlie fourth,

those of Chester and AVTiitehall ; to the fifth, those of

Tanfield, Lynce, Crook, Tanficld-leigh, Stanley, Stanlej'-

hall, Caldist, and Steels ; to the sixth, those of Birtley,

Harverton-moor, and Harden ; to the seventh, those of

Ulston, TJrpeth, and Twisle ; and all the residue of the

parish of Chester, \t.z., the predial tithes of Plawsworth

and of Waldridge, and of all the wastes within the same

parish that should afterwards be reduced into tillage,

was assigned and allotted unto the conunon residence

within the parish of Chester, to be equally divided only

amongst them who for three months' space at least in

the year continually, or for the most part, should make

their personal residence in the same church, &c. The

whole were taxed in the Lincoln valuation, 20th King

Edw. I., 1291, at 146/. 13s. 4(1. The church continued

collegiate until tlie Dissolution, in the 1st j'ear of Edw.

VL, when it became vested in the crown ; the deanery

and prebends being valued at no more than 771. 12s. 8d.

in the whole, viz., the deanery, 41/.
;
prebend of Lames-

ley, 5/. IS.'i. Sd. ; Pelton, ol. 16s. 8(/. ; Chester, 6/.

:

second prebend of Lamesley, 10/. ; Tanfield, 3/. 6s. 8d.

;

Birtley, 3/. 6s. 8f/. ; and Urpath, 2/. 6.s\ The last dean

and prebends received each a small pension ; and an

allowance was reserved for a stipendiary cm-ate.

P.EOTORS.—Mervinus Preost de, 1085 ; Walorandns Cleiicusde, 115.5
;

Jolanus; Robertus, Vi'M ; Walerandus, 1245 ; Robertus le Bursar, laSH ;

Sire Walter de Clifford, cl., 1280; Magistor Alan do Esingwalde, 1280,

p. depr. Clitlbrd.

Deans.—Will de Marclan, jur. cauonici, p. occ. l^Ul ; Mr. Roger de

Uillyng, oflicialis Dun., occ. 11)45 ; John de Salthorpe, al's Sculthoi-p;

John de Kyngeston, cl., 1354; Jolin de Derby, occ. DillO ; Thomas do

Hexham, 1407 ; John de Ashboum, 1409 ; John de Newton, cl., 1454
;

John Bawdwym, cl., 1491 ; John Balswell. luUl ; Rob. Cliamber, 1500
;

Tho. Keye, LL.B., occ. 1582; Rich. Layton, 1533; Will. Warreu (the

last dean), 1544.

•' John Peirson, of the same, tailyer, aged 30 years.—He hath known

her to have been of honest name and fame this 10 yeers and more. Ho
was one of tlie cunstables, and talked with John Fletcher of that mat-

ter, and hard an<l saw aU that was doon ; saing that she swoned dyvers

tymes, and liad died Ijut for this exaniinate. He knoweth that Bow-

maker's wylle of the Slieills had hiord the said Margarett, and gyven

hir a peuney in erlls (earnest money), and yelt, after, refused hir,

upon that lame.''

+ After the boily of St. Cut.hbert bad rested at Chester for 1 13 years,

the fierce Danes again compelled it to travel, and it sought a temporary

refuge at Ripon. Chester-le-Stroet behold the suiul no more ; a loss

which was too vast ever to be forgotten. On a tourist lately visiting

the church, the sexton pointed to an old etfigy of the saint, and said,

" That is the image of St. Cuthbert, which used to lie oti his tomb

here, and has continued ever since the monks robbed the church of his

body." The chagrin is natural. What wealth and honour has Chester-

le-Street lost by being robbed of this body !
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The original cluirch erected at Chester was of wood,

and remained until about 1045, when Egelric, Bishop of

Durham, built a stone edifice on its site. In dig'O'inff for

a foundation, a great trcasiu-e was found, supposed to

have been hidden in the time of the Romans. The pre-

sent church was probablj^ erected about the time of

Bishop Beck. It consists of nave, side aisles, chancel,

and western tower and spire. The lower part of the

tower is square, of early English of Beck's time ; but an

octagonal superstructure and the spire are of late deco-

rated, about the year 1400. " The change," says 3Ir.

Billings, " from a square to an octagonal form, in order

to suit the plan of the spire, renders the whole design

very quaint, and we believe unexampled." The tower

stands upon three arches, now partially built up ; and it

has been conjectured that it was anciently the centre of

a transept ; but there are no icmains to confirm the

supposition. On the western front is a handsome win-

dow of thi'ee lights, ^^ath tracery under a pointed arch,

above which is an old double roimd-hcadcd window,

closed with masonry. There are also closed up double

windows on the north and south. The spire is of fine

tapering j^roportions, and is 15G feet in height. There

are three bcUs and a good clock in the tower. The little

bell was presented by Robert Ashburne, dean of Chester

;

the middle bell, by John Lord Limiley ; and the great

bell, in 1409, by Cardinal Langley : the latter was re-

cast in 1665.

Each of the aisles is separated from the nave by five

pointed arches, supported on pillars of difierent fonns.

The ceiling is coved and plastered. There is a gallery,

containing an organ, at the west end of the nave. The

font, which is a massive octagonal basin of stone, is very

ancient, and sculjitui'cd on the sides with the arms of

Liunley and others ; two of the shields are obltiterated.

The pulpit was formerly placed against the centre piUar

of the south row, surmounted by a heavy soimding board,

with rude car%Tng, but has been removed to the south

pUlar of the chancel arch, where some frag-ments of an-

tique carving are preserved in the hand-rail. The south

aisle is lighted by three windows, of three lights each,

imder pointed arches, and contaming fragments of an-

cient stained glass. The north aisle, the windows of

which are irregnlar, is almost solely approj^riated to the

Lumley monvmients. About the middle of this aisle is

the Earl of Durham's pew, erected between 30 and 40

years ago under the dii'eclion of ilr. Bouomi, and re-

sembling a small gallerj' in a t ransept, being entered

fi-om the outside of the church b}- stairs and a private

door. Beneath is the vault of the Lambton family,

secured by an iron door covered with oak. The site is

supposed to have been a porch or chantry belonging to

the Lumleys ; the entire aisle bearing traces of alteration

and curtailment. The chancel arch is supported on light

brackets. Three beautifid sedillia, in the south wall of

the chancel, have been recently brought to light, by the

removal of the plaster with which they had been covered.

The east window, which had been filled by a modem
sash, was restored in 1851, at a cost of about 130/. ; the

principal contributors being the Earl of Dui-ham, Lady

Noel Byron, the late Lord Ravensworth, and other in-

fluential proprietors in the parish. It is of early Eng-

lish, in accordance with the stjde of the church, from

designs by John Dobson, Esq. The stained glass, by

Mr. Wailes, represents the Baptism, the Crucifixion, the

Resurrection, and the Ascension ; the sextafoil at the

top containing the emblematic I^amb and Banner.

THE AISLE OF TOMBS.

The interesting assemblage of monumental effigies,

commemorating the lords of Lumley, extend the whole

length of the north aisle in one unbroken line, whence

this part of the church is calkxl " The Aisle of Tombs."

No other English church affords a similar display.

The monuments ai'c foiu'teen in nimibcr, and were placed

at Chester by John Lord Lmnley, who died in 1609.

Camden says, " He had them either picked out of the

demolished monasteries or made anew ;" but be that as

it may, the effigies form an invaluable collection of

ancient costume, as they range over a period of four

centuries and a half, or from 1100 to 1550. A tablet

records some ];articvdars of each individual, with appro-

priate armorial bearings. The whole line is protected

by iron rails.

1. The first efiig\-, evidently imafrinary, represents Leulpli, in fi coat

of mail, the right liaiiil firaspiiig the sn-ord hilt, a shichl (in the left.

The figure is nuich nuitilatod. having lost the feet : the legs are

straight.

2. Ucbtred, son of the preceding, is next. He is also in arimnir,

and gi-asping the hilt of his sword.

3. William, son of Uchtred, who first assumed the Lumley name.

He is in a full suit of chain armour, over which is a siircoat, with the

drapeiy falling gracefully below the girdle. The legs are crossed, and

rest on a lion ; a shield on the left anu, and the hands crossed on the

breast. The bead rests on a cushion. The right band grasps the tail

of a paroquet, supposed to be a memorial of some romantic Eastern

adventiu-e. The aims, six popinjays impaling a cross. Surtees thinks

that this effigy is genuine.

4. William de Lumley, the legs crossed, a shield on the left aim, and
the right hand grasping the sword-hUt ; the head bare, resting on a

pillow. His hair cut at the fore-top, and in stift'curl.

h. The third William de Lumley, like the preceding, only his legs

are straight, and the feet gone. The haii' dressed like the foimer.
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8. Rojror, much mutilated ; the lejs, hands, and shield gone. The
hair curled.

7. Robert de Lumley, in a suit of armour ; the head bare, resting on

a cushion ; the legs straight, and the feet resting on a shield of his coat

armour. His matcniiU arms were afterwards adopted by the family.

8. Sir Mamiaduke Luraley, in mail, with a surooat over it, scattered

T\-ith popinjiiys : hands ulaspi'd on the breast ; Lead in a cap of mail,

resting on his gauntlets; a crisped beard.

9. I'alph, first Baron Lumley, sculpturi'd in coarse freestone, was

removed from tlie cemetery of the cathedral church of Dnrliam, by

license from Bishop Matthew. A close coat of mail ; the vizor ribbed

down the front, with two transverse slits for the sight ; the breast co-

vered with the shield ; tlie sword unsheathed and upright, the point

resting against the vizor ; the legs straight, resting on a couchant

bound.

10. Sir John Lumley. almost minutely resembling the last. This

effigy is also supposed to have been removed from Durham. The tomb

of Thomas, his son and heir, is not in the family arrangement here.

An efHgy, " broken and wasted nere the mynes of the chappell in the

first ward within the castle called Barnard's Castle," in ISIW, is conjec-

tured by Hutchinson to be the missing one. (See p. liJ.)

11. George Lord Lumley is recumbent like his predecessors, but in

robes of peace. The head bare, the hair and beard curled, a heavy ruff

or roll round the neck, the hands elevated and clasped ou the breast.

The dress is probably intended for the robes of a baron.

12. Sir Thomas Lumley, Knt., who died in the hfe-time of his father,

George Lord Lumley. The figure is in maU ; the head bare, resting

on a helmet ; the hands clasped on the breast ; the legs straight.

13. Eichard Lord Lumley, in robes, the head bare, without a beard,

bands clasped on the breast, and a rufi around the neck.

14. John Lord Lumley. in robes nearly siraUur to the last.

A mural tablet at the east end of the aisle, between 12

and 18, commemorates George Lumley, who perished in

the insm-rection that followed the Pilgrimage of Grace.

In a tomb at the east end of the north aisle, some of the

later descendant.s of the family have been interred.

The mutilated effigy of a bishop, which had long lain

in the church-yard, was, some years ago, set uji against

the wall at the west end of the south aisle : above it are

placed the words, " S.vxctus Cuthbertus."

In the floor of one of the pews in the soulh aisle is an

» The ancient practice of " handfasting," previous to marriage, is

illustrated in the following deposition, June 30, l.'jST, by Uobert Hag-

thorp, of Chester in the Street, gentleman, aged CO, who had sent Alice

Gowlaud to summon Sibell Birtefeld to. his house, to meet Richard

Dunsfourthe. " At whiche first sending the same Sibell came not.

And afterwards this deponent sent for thys defendeut agayne, at which

time .she came. At whose commyng this deponent sayed to her, ' Ye
knowe well ynough you and Richard Dimsfom-th have been long to

gethii- in oone bowse, and. me thinkc, yt were best for you hothe if ye can

fynde in your hnrtc to marye to gethii' ; and Sir Richard the parishe

preiste saieth he wilnot axe you in the churche oonles ye be handfast

(plighted before witnesses), wherefore, if ye can fynde in yourharteto

take hym to your husbond, dryve yt no longer, and yf not, breke of

bytymes.' To whom this wimian then answered nothing. And than

this deponent repeted agayne, ' Whyedoye not speke? and yfyecanne

be contented to mary with hym 1 shall sende for an other witnes, and,

if not, Icve of, in the name of God.' To whome than the woman sayed,

' Yes, I am contented, orells I would not have done to hym as I have

antique sepulchral brass, representing a female, with the

hands raised in the attitude of prayer : the outlines of

the drapery are gracefidly formed. The traces of an-

other brass, which has been abstracted, remain in the

same stone.

The church contains several mural monimicnts to the

memory of persons connected with this extensive parish.

Tlie clmrch-yard has been much encroached upon, and
has long been inadequate for the increasing nimiber of

interments. A piece of ground, at a short distance north

from the church, was consecrated a few years ago, and is

now also crowded. A large adjoining space, extending

northward to the verge of the Cone Beck, has conse-

quently been inclosed, and wiU shortly be consecrated

for the purposes of sepulture.

There were anciently two chantries in Chester church ;

but the founders are not known. One of them, dedicated

to St. ]\Iary, was of the yearly value of 5/. 8s. 10(/., and
to which belonged a tenement in Seaton Carew. Thomas
Holyman, incumbent at the time of the Dissolution, had
a pension of 4A granted hiin, which he received in 1553.

The other chantry was dedicated to St. George, of the

yearly value of 5/. 3s., of which Jeffrey Gleuton was

priest at the Dissolution, and had a pension of 4/., which

was also paid him in 1553. In 1600, William Ayton

died seised of a tenement cottage, six acres of meadow,

15 of pasture, and 40 of arable land, in Middle Herring-

ton, parcel of the dissolved chantry of St. George.

Registers.—Books Nos. 1 to 8 contain entries of

baptisms from 1582 to 1643, and from 1652 to 1812.

Nos. 9 to 14, burials from 1582 to 1642, 1652 to 1678,

and 1708 to 1812. Nos. 15 to 21, marriages* from 1582

to 1643, 1653 to 1678, 1708 to 1753, and 1754 to 1812.

(Deficient in baiitisms from 1643 to 1652; in burials,

1642 to 1652, and 1678 to 1708.)t

done.' LTpon whiche words this deponent, with the consent of this

Sibell, sent for oone John Robinsan, otherwaieS called Whitehall, to

beare witnes of the contract. At whoes commyng the said Richard

Dunsforthe, upon the informacion of thys deponent of tlie forme of

words requisite for a contract, toke the said Sibell by the hande, and

saied, ' Here I, Richard, take you Sybill to my handfast wyfe, li-oni this

day forward, all other woman to forsake, and the for to take, wliile

deathe us departe, and thereto I plight the my treuth.' And than

they drewe hands, and the woman tooke hym by the hande, and saied

in lieke wyse, ' Here, I, Sibell, take the Richard to my husbond from

this day.'

"

+ The following entiries occur in the parish books :

—

IfilS, !i7tb May. " The churchwardens meeting together for seeke-

ing for workmen to mak a fitt seate in a conveuuant place fur bryd-

gnimes, bryds, and sike wyves to sit in, iis."

1013. " Given to Mr. Francis Lowson, preacher, who maid us a

VC17 good sermon, for his charges, iis. viiid."
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Chester churcli, dedicated to St. Mary and St. Cuth-

bert, is a perpetual curacy ; Lady BjTon and Charles

Jolliffe, Esq., alternate patrons.

CuR.\TES.—George Brome occ. Feb. 23, 1504 ; Geo. Browne, Jiilv,

1578 ; \Vm. Mftssey, cl., oce. .July !(, 1579 ; Briau Adamsou ncc. Feb.

7, 1583 ; Tho. Lvddal, cl., occ. July 11, 1585 ; Eob. Willis, 16in, p. m.

LyJdiil ; Rob. Hunter occ. IC-U ; \Vm. Hume, A.B., UuS ; Edmund
Bro«ne, lfi74; Nicli. Conyers, Sept. a:), 1685; Nath. Chilton, A.B.,

1()90, p. res. Conyers; W. Lambe, A.M., (p. pres. John Hedworth,

Esq.) p.m. Chilton; Francis Milbanke, July 22, 1769, p. m. Lambe

(rector of Croft, p. pres. Sii- Ralph Milbauke) ; Lewis Powell, p. m.

Milbanke (p. pres. W. Jolittc, Esq., representative of Sii- E. Hylton )

;

John Nelson, el., 1780, p. ni. Powell (p. pres. Sir R. Milbanke) ; Wil-

liam Xestield, A.M., of Cains College, Cambridge (rector of Brancepeth

and of Witton-GUbert, and senior raagistiate of the county), 1789

;

Thomas Hyde Ripley, A.M. (vicai- of Wootten Bassett, and rector of

Tokeuham, Wiltshij-e), Sept., 1828, p. m. I^esSeld.

" It appears from the deed of endo'mnent," says the

Rev. John Dodd, in his History of the Church of Ches-

ter-le-Street, "that before the year 1715, a mere nominal

maintenance had been provided for those appointed to

the li\-ing of Chester-le-Street. Up to that time, the

yearly sum of 10/. was aU that the minister coidd claim

;

all tithes, fees, &c., contintiing in the hands of the
|

successive impropriators. In the parish registers we

tind the following entry :
' 1715, 4 Jime, Parscm Conyers

and Madam Barbery Hedworth, mar. :' and to this mar-

riage tlie living of Chester owes its endowment. John

Hedworth, the then impropriator, by way of portioning

his sister, and at the same time endowing the curacy to

which he had presented his brother-in-law, made over to

trustees (Sir WiUiam WOliauLson, Bart., William Lamb-

ton, Esq., and Henry Lambton, Gent.) certain parochial

tithes, which had hitherto been in his possession. Out

of these tithes, a certain sum was to be raised and settled

on Barbara, wife of Nicholas Conyers, and the remainder

1616, June 6. " ^r. Wm. Lambton, Kt., of his owne voltmtarie free

will, ttc, gave 20s. a yeare to the poore as long as his cole mynes shall

be wrought, and no longer."

1619. " For enlarginge of the leathers for the clasps of the Phara-

phrasis of Erasmus, id. For makeing of two chaynes and the irons

whereupon Jewell and Hardin and the Paiaphrasis standith on in the

church, 6s. 8d."

IH25. " Paid to Ferrie the piper's wife for avoiding her out of the

p'ishe when he was pressed for a soldier, xiid."

1627. Given to two gentlemen soldiers w'h a passe from the maior

of Newcastle, Sd."

1627. "Payd when the churchwardens wentt to Durham when Mr.

Willis p'cured a warrant to ditcke the poore widowes, Od."

16:)0. '• Paid to a poor woman llie 19 of August, who haveing her

husband nnirtheared in his bed, and haveing certifycait from Scotland,

and a pa-ss to travell to Ijondon liavcinge a looolve in her weeme feed-

ivge, 12d."

" Paid upon mall of a slovdog (blood-hound) wh shulld have been

tfpte in the p'ishu ujiun Ukeiug, .3s. 4d."

was set aside as the endowment of the curacy. In the

December following the above marriage, the deed was

executed."*

In the parliamentary return of 1835, the gross income

of the li\'ing is stated at 480/. a year, subject to perma-

nent payments amotmting to 103/. From the remaining

377/. (at which the value of the living is still returned),

180/. a j'ear was paid to two curates. There is no glebe-

house. The following advertisement appeared June 3,

1853 :—
" For sale, the next presentation (subject to the life of the present

incumbent, aged 71 years) to the perpetual curacy of Chester-le-Street,

which is 6 miles from Durham and 8 miles from Newcastle-on-Tyne,

of tile gross annual income, including the commuted rent-charge, of

i£546. The incimihent of Chester-le-Street has the right of presenta-

tion to tlie livings of Pelton and Birtley. For detailed particulars,

apply to Thomas Miui-ay, Esq., Chester-le-Street."

CH-AJIITIES.

Henry Smith's Charity.—This parish is one of those

entitled to a share of the rents of the Longstock estate,

belonging to Henry Smith's charities (see page 261).

Between 16/. and 17/. a year is generally received,

which, with the yearly simi of 12/. derived from Harri-

son's charity and other money, is di\-ided amongst the

towaiships of the parish, in proportion to their respective

populations, except those which form portions of any

distinct chapelry, and except the townships of Great and

Little Lumley, the former being entitled to a distinct

share of Henry Smith's charity, and the latter receiving

a considerable sxmi from the vokmtary gift of the Earl

of Scarborough. About two-sevenths of the whole sum

is allotted to the to\\-nship of Chester, to which is added

a donation of 8/. from the Earl of Durham, and 5/. 4-s.

1665. "Paid for ( re ) casting the great beU, and hanging her, and

tlie two other bells, -i^l. lis." " tor one fox head. Is."

1684. " For oyle for the bells, lOd. '
" To a pooie man who lost his

wife, three children, and nhie servants by fire. Is. M."

In a churchwarden's private book is the following entry :
—

" Aug.

10th, 1834. In the middle of the morning senice Joseph Lewins' ass

passed through the church, and in the aftonioon a lien and chicken-^.

Both occurred in time of tUvine service."

• The same deed provides that the tru^t.es shiJl ' pay or cause lo

be paid the yearly sum of five pounds of lawful money of Great Britain

to some person or persons to be from time to time nominated and ap-

pointed by the said John Hedworth. his heirs or assigns, for the

keeping clean the flour of tlie chuivh and cliaucel of Chester iu tho

Street, and for the preventing and quieting any noise or disorders that

may at any timi> happen during the lime of divine service in the said

cliurch ; and the further yearly sum of five pounds to the curate of

Taufield for the time being, and his successors for ever, by half-yearly

payments, at the Feast of St. ilichael the Archangel, and the Annun-

ciation of the Blessed Migin Mary, in eveiy year, by equal portions."

/
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from Tewart's charity. From this fund, amounting to

about 22/. per annmii, bread is given away to the amoimt

of about 13/., and the residue is distributed in the vestry,

on the 1st of January, ia sums varying from l.S'. to 5.5.

The shares of the other towTiships are distributed by

their respective overseers in small sxuns of money.

Harrismi's Charity.—Amongst other legacies to the

poor of Boldon and other places, Ralph Harrison, by

will, dated March 26, 1687, left 100/. to the poor of

Chestcr-le-Street. This legacy, with an accumulation

of interest and probably some other benefactions, was

placed in the hands of General Lambton, great-grand-

father of the jjresent Earl of Durham, whose agent pays

12/. annually in respect thereof. In the parish books,

this sum is distinguished from the 8/. above named,

which is entered as a voluntary donation.

Tewart's Charities.—Elizabeth Tewart, by will, dated

May 10, 1718, bequeathed her house to the minister of

the parish church of Chester-le-Street, he paying to the

parish clerk 20s. yearly. She also left certain copyhold

lands in the parish, called Kellsheets, out of which she

directed that 6/. should be paid yearly to a schoolmaster

for instructing gratis twelve poor children ; and that,

out of the rents, 24 penny loaves should be distributed

weekly amongst 12 poor widows and 12 other necessitous

and indigent persons, and 3/. yearly for placing out one

boy, bom and inhabiting in the town of Chester, ap-

prentice to some trade or emplojTnent. She further

directed that two houses in Chester, called EUing's

House and Chambers' House, should be used for the

habitation of two poor widows. The latter premises,

now consisting of four cottages, a garden of about 15

jierches, and an allotment of about half an acre set out

on the inclosure of Chester Commons in 1798, have

been, for about 70 years, in the occupation of two fami-

lies named Liddle and Tumbull, and their representa-

tives, who treat them as their own property. Some
years ago, the parishioners contemplated taking mea-

sures for recovering possession, so as to place poor widows

therein ; but this could not be effected without the

intervention of a court of equity, and the pi'oceedings

woidd have been more expensive than the value of the

property justified. The sum of 5/. 4s. for bread is

added to Henry Smith's charity; and the sum for

placing out apprentices is applied as directed. The

master of the national school instructs twelve children

in respect of the yearly sum of 6/., and three more on
account of a subscription of about 71. 7s., which is col-

lected and paid to him. The children are chiefly

selected by the incumbent's churchwarden, and are not

I allowed to enjoy. the freedom of the school for more

than two years. They are taught reading and writing

gratis ; but if they learn accounts, they pay l.s'. per

quarter. The parish clerk receives 20.S-. yearly in respect

of the house left to the minister.

Donor unknown.—By the indenture above mentioned,

dated December 20 and 21, 1715, John Hedworth, Esq.,

for securing 100/. he had then in his hands for the reUef

of the poor of the township of Chester-le-Street, and for

other purposes, charged the tithes which he gave up to

the minister with 5/. per annum to be paid to the poor.

Nothing was received in respect of this charity for many
years; but on application being made to the Rev.
T. H. Ripley, soon after his presentation to the Kving,

he agreed to resume the payment, which has since been
regularly continued.

POOR-LAW-UNION.

This Union ls divided into the subdistricts of Chester-

le-Street and Harraton. The first comprises the towi-

ships of Chester-le-Street, Lambton, Great and Little

Lumley, Waldridge, Plawsworth, Edmondsley, Pelton,

and Urpeth, in the parish of Chester-le-Street; the

parochial chapelry of Witton-Gilbcrt ; and the townships

of Cocken, Bum Moor, and South Biddick, in the parish

of Houghton-le-Spring. Harraton subdistrict contains

the townships of Ouston, Harraton. and Birtlev, in the

parish of Chester-le-Street ; those of Lamesley, Kibbles-

worth, Ravensworth, and Hedley, in the chapelry of

Lamesley ; and those of Washington, Great and Little

Usworth, and Barmston, in the parish of Washington.
The entire area of the Union is 33,079 acres ; and the

population, in 1851, was 20,907, of whom 10,793 were
males and 10,114 females. Of this population, 3,048
were under 5 years of age; 2,714, 5 and imdcr 10;
4,501, 10 and under 20 ; 3,473, 20 and under 30 ; 2,539,

30 and under 40; 1,902, 40 and under 50; 1,286, 50
and under 60; 802, 60 and imder 70; 430, 70 and
imder 80 ; 115, 80 and under 90 ; and 7, 90 and under
100. There were 5,437 males 20 years of age and up-

wards, of whom 1,615 were bachelors, 3,445 married
and 377 widowers. Of 5,207 females 20 years of age
and upwards, 1,120 were spinsters, 3,403 married, and
684 widows.

Of the males above 20 years of age, 1 was employed
in the post-office, 1 in the inland revenue, 7 police 7
clergymen, 3 Protestant ministers, 1 priest, 25 school-

masters, 17 innkeepers, 25 general domestic servants, 3
coachmen, 8 grooms, 6 gardeners, 2 inn-servants, 2
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pawnbrokers, 9 railway engine drivers and stokers, 8
,

others engaged in railway traffic, Ib'-i farmers, 1 malt- I

star, 10 brewers, 12 licensed victuallers and beer-shop
|

keepers, 3 wine and spirit merchants, 2,468 coal-miaers,
i

143 iron manufacturers, 5 iadepcndent gentlemen, 15

annuitants, and 13 paupers of no stated occupation.

There were, of females 20 years of age and upwards, 12

innkeepers, 14 lodging-house keepers, 193 general do-

mestic servants, 21 housekeepers, 11 cooks, 23 house-
j

maids, 5 nurses, 11 inn-servants, 2 midwives, 10

hawkers, 21 fanners, 57 agricultural labourers, 41 out-
!

door farm-servants, 62 in-door farm-servants, 9 licensed

victuallers and beer-house keepers, 64 annuitants, and

364 paupers of no stated occupation. There were in the

district 8 persons blind, 7 deaf and dmnb, and 48 i

inmates of the workhouse.
|

The bii-th-placcs of 10,263 persons imder 20 years of
'

age were as follow :—In the coimty of Dui-ham, 8,741 ;

j

in London and its vicinity, 13 ; in Yorkshire, 106 ; in
|

Northumberland, 9G0 ; in Cimiberland, 116 ; in Scot-

land, 46 ; in Ireland, 186 ; in "Wales, 5 ; in British
,

Islands, 3 ; and the remainder in various English coim- I

ties. Of 10,644, 20 years of age and upwards, 7,0-55

were bom in the coimty of Dui-ham, 51 in and aroimd

London, 321 in Yorkslm-e, 2,128 in K'orthmnberland,

278 in Cmnberland, 175 in Scotland, 398 in Ireland, 13

in Wales, 5 in British Islands, 15 in the colonies and

foreign parts, 1 at sea, and the remainder in various

parts of England.

The parish workliouse, situated on the road-side at

the south entrance of the town, has hitherto been used

for the Union. A new workhouse, however, is now in

course of erection a little to the south-west. It is an

extensive- biulding of brick, with stone facings at the

comers and around the windows. Above the entrance is

a clock tiirret, on each side of whicli, and at the extre-

mities are projecting gables. The dining-room occupies

the centre of the buQding, which is 55 yards in length.

Suitable offices are arranged behind ; and a distinct

building is appropriated as an infirmarv'. The contract

for the whole of the erections is 3,893/. ; and the cost of

the ground, which contains an area of 4 acres, was 800/.

There is no school in the workhoiise; the children

being educated at the national school of the to-\vn.

The amount of poor-rate collected in the Middle

Di^-ision of Chester TYard, in the year 1831, was 5,741/.

10s. The income and expenditure of Chester Union, in

the year ended Lady-day, 1851, has been given in

vol. i., p. 102. The accounts in subsequent yeiirs have

stood as foUow :

—
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J line 8, 1853, 103 boys were present at examination;

21 had left during the year, 115 had been admitted, and

the average attendance had been 85. The general

observations were

—

•• BuUcUugs, fiiir-sizcd room of inconvenient shape, stone floor; no

class-room. Desks against tlie wall; furniture, stove. Playground,

methods, discipline, and instruction, fair. Books, there is a want of

books for the lower classes. Apparatus, three black-boards, three

easels. Organization ; standard of classification : reading and arith-

metic. Five classes for all subjects, under master and two pupil-

teachers ; one division for music. Each pupil-teacher is confined to

one class more than the rest for a quarter of a year."

MANUFACTURES, TRADE, &c.

An extensive maniifactor}^ of tUes, bricks, drain pipes,

and chimney-pots is carried on at the north end of the

town, by Mr. W. Murray. A large iron founcby, to the

west of the main street, belongs to Mr. Thomas Murray,

who at present pays about 200/. per week in wages. A
steam flour-mill, on the bank of the Cone west of the

town, is now imtenanted ; but a new one has been

erected to tlie cast, which is in active operation. An
extensive brewery, on the south side of the Cone, is car-

ried on by ^Messrs. Fenwick and Storey, who are also

wine and spirit merchants. There are two good inns

and posting houses, and twelve other public houses in

the town, which contains a number of shojikeepcrs, and

the workshops of some considerable cartwrights, cabinet

makers, and other mechanics. The extensive skinnery

belonging to Mr. Charlton is situated on the south bank

of the Cone. Chester-le-Street is the residence of four

surgeons, whose services extend to the surrounding col-

lieries. A printing office was commenced a few years

ago, at which an effort is now being made to establish a

weekly newspaper. The to^vn is supplied with water by

a private companj'. A buUding society has been for

some time in operation.

Asavings bank was established in 1840, chiefly through

the exertions of the late Mr. E. C. Maxwell and Mr. W.
Mathews. It is under the patronage of the Bishop of

Durham. On November 20, 1855, it nimibcred 177 de-

positors, including 12 charitable and friendly societies,

the aggregate of whose deposits amounted to 5,541/.

14s. 3(1. The meetings for receiving and pajdng deposits

are held on the Monday evening in each week, at the

office of Jlr. S. Robinson, cashier. The management is

under six trustees, a board of managers, a treasurer

(E. Johnson, Esq., Deanery), a cashier, and a secretary.

The works of the Chester-le-Strcet Gas Company were

erected in 1844, and consist of nine retorts, with purify-

ing apparatus and gasometer. The capital is 1,250/., in

VOL. II.

250 shares of 51. each. The price of gas was originally

7s. 6d. per 1,000 cubic feet :• it -n'as afterwards reduced
to 5s., but is now 5s. lOd. The streets were lighted for

the first few years ; but owing to a misunderstanding

between the rate-payers and the insjiectors, this was
discontinued. It was, however, resumed, dui-ing the
winter of 1855-6, by means of a volmitary subscription.

At a meeting held in the Round School, November 26,

1855, a sanitary board was commenced, which has

adopted the provisions of the Nuisances Removal Act.

THE DEANERY.

The Deanery is a handsome brick house, j^leasantly

situated near the east side of the town. The enclosures

adjoin the east wall of the chm-ch-yard, and probably
occupy the site of the old decanal buildings. Various
remains of antiquities have, of late years, been discovered

within the groimds. The Deanery is at present occupied

by Edward Johnson, Esq.

The family of Johnson are derived from Francis

Johnson, Esq., who married Tabitha Bannister, by whom
he had a son, Francis Johnson, M.D., born March 10,

1710 : married, September 17, 1741, Mary, only daugh-
tea of Jean Iluet, Esq., of Whickham, by whom he had
three sons and two daughters. Francis Johnson, Esq.,

the eldest surviving son, born June 9, 1748, was a

deputy lieutenant ; married, Jime 6, 1782, Aime, only

child of Robert Cook, Esq., of Low Newton, Northtmi-

berland, and had issue four sons and three daughters.

Francis, his heir, now of Low Newton,' was born January

5, 1784; and married, Jime 6, 1820, Eleanor, eldest

daughter of Charles Bacon, Esq., of Styford. Edward,

fourth son, now of Deanery, was bom March 22, 1798

;

and married, October 29, 1828, Jane, third daughter of

George Atkinson, Esq., of Morland, Westmoreland.

Mr. Johnson is in the commission of the peace for the

coimty of Dtu-ham.

Asms—Gu., on a ehev., arg., between three savages' heads, ppr., as

many pheons.

Crest—A savage's head, coupcd at the shoulders, bearded and

wreathed about the temples, all ppr.

Motto—Nil adniirari.

James I., by letters patent, July 26, 1608, granted to

Sir James Ouchterlony, Knt., and Richard Giu-nard, or

Green, citizen of London, all the Deanery, Prebends,

Rectory, and Vicarage of the CoUogiate and Parish

Churcli of Chester, in trust for'the family of Hedworth.

In 1614, John Hedworth, Esq., died seised of " aU the

Decanal House of the Collegiate Church of Chester-le-

Street, with the barns, buildings, and girnales, now
4p
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waste and ruinous, and of a garden adjoining the same

premises, of the annual value of 10s., and of aU

those tithes of lamb and wool within the parishes of

Chester, Tanfield, and Lamesley, called the Thnisscl-

tithes, or Thrush-tithes." The impropriation descended

to John Hedworth, Esq., great-great-grandson of John,

just named, who died May 31, 1747, leaving two

daughters. The eldest intermarried with Sii- Eichard

Hylton, of Hylton, Bart., whose only sui-viving daughter,

Eleanor, was married to AVilliam JollifFe, Esq., M.P. for

Petersfield, Ilants ; their issue was Hylton JoUifle, Esq.,

M.P. for Petersfield, and father of Charles JolHffe, Esq.,

now living. The younger daughter of John Hedworth

became the wife of Sir Ralph MUbanke, Bart. ; and their

descendants, Ladj-^ Bjtou, and Charles JollifTe, Esq.,

are now joint owners of the Deanery, and of several

other estates and coUierics derived from the Hedworths.

The impropriation is now much divided ; but the larger

portion of the corn tithes is vested- in the Earl of Dm--

ham and R. Trevelyan and H. Witham, Esqrs.

White Hill, or Whithill, a mile west of the town,

is situated near the edge of a shelving; clifiF which over-

hangs the Chester Burn, and is the property and residence

of John Cookson, Esq. In 1310, the manor was granted

by Bishop Beck to Roger de Aida de Cestria, to hold of

the see of Dui'ham by 48s. annual rent, and service to

the manor miU of Chester. William Melotc, under

sheriff of Durham, in 1438 died seised of the manor,

then consisting of a mansion-house and 117 acres of

land, held by 40s. rent and service, and the twenty-

fomth part multure at the manor mill of Chester. It

continued in his descendants tiU the death of John
Millot, Esq.* in 1747, who devised all his estates to

Henry Wastell, rector of Simonburn. The latter soon

after sold T^Tiithill to John Cookson, Esq.

The weU-known Whithill forge was worked in the

dene between Whithill and Chester, where iron ore is

supposed to have been worked both by the Romans and

the Danes, as great quantities of scorire, or slag, are

found on the fells for many mUes westward. Vestiges

of a furnace hearth were visible at a jilace called Old

Furnace, 3 miles west of Chester, about 178G. There is

now a flint powder manufactory at this place, and a

brown paper mill at Whithill. Ochre, used in the ma-

• 1 his gpiiUeman is presumed, iiom aveiy old screen stOl preserved

at WhitehiU, on which several of his exploits are depicted, to have

been a man of singular habits and conversation. In one compartment

of the screen, he is represented hunting, in another drinking and

smoking, in a third as a successful gambler enforcing payment of his

winnings by an appeal to a brace of pistols; and, besides other advcn-

nufacturc of brown paper, is found in ground adjoining

the mill.

The Hermitage, about a mile south-by-west from

Chester-le-Street, formerly occuiDied hj Thomas Cookson,

Esq., is now the residence of Walker Feathcrstonhaugh,

Esq. South Hill, nearly 2 miles south-by-east from

the town, is the residence of Henrj'^ Fenwick, Esq., M.P.

for Sunderland. Humble Cottage, the residence of

Mrs. Himter, relict of Joseph Hunter, Esq., is about 'Z

miles west of Chester. The Rev. James Price Depledge,

curate, has a good mansion in the township.

The Flatts is a hamlet about a mile north-west of

Chester. The old mansion-house, a large brick building,

with enclosures, was the seat of the elder branch of the

Allansof Grange (see vol. i., p. 494). Some years ago,

the estate became, by purchase, the property of the

Lambtons.

GREAT LUMLEY.

The united townships of Great and Little Lumley, on

the cast side of the Wear, contain an area of 2,410

acres. The population of Great L\miley was, in 1801,

696; in 1811, 693; in 1821,1,240; in 1831, in con-

sequence of the flourishing state of the colKeries, 2,301

;

in 1841, mining operations being on the decline, 1,796

;

and in 1851, 1,730, of whom 905 were males and 825

females. There were, at that date, 370 inhabited houses

and 15 iminhabitcd. The value of property assessed to

the coimty-rate in 1853 was 3,343/. 6s. 8(/.

Lmnley was proposed to the ecclesiastical com-

missioners, in 1845, to be formed into a district. Divine

ser\ice is performed on Simdays in the national school.

There are also a chapel belonging to the Old Methodist

Connexion, and another to the New. The Tillage con-

tains eight public houses, a police station, and a few

shops. The national school was visited, Jime 20, 1853,

by the Rev. D. J. Stewart, when there were 69 boj'^s and

girls present at examination. The number of those who

had left during the preceding twelve months was 97,

and 76 had been admitted ; the average attendance

being 82. The general observations were

—

" Buildings, good sized room, used for Divine Service, no dass-room ;

all the walls are cracked from ' a creep' in the pit below. Four

tures, in the second compartment his game cock is pourtrayed, clap-

ping his wings and crowing, having " won the 100 guineas at Newcastle,

March 31st, 1740," whilst three rivals, Dunn, Brandling, and Bates,

lie dead at his feet, and a craven cock, inscribed farrer Wren, Esq., is

running away.
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loose desks ; furniture, pulpit, clock, book-closets. Playground,

part of it laid out as a garden. Books good. Apparatus, two black-

boards, two easels, map stand. Methods, discipline, and instruction

fair. Organization; standard of classification : reading and arithmetic.

Four classes for all subjects, under master, with certificate of merit,

and one pupil-teacher ; one division for Scripture and geography

lessons ; two groups for arithmetic in 1st and Uni class. The pupil-

teacher is confined to one class for one week."

The vill of Great Lumley was anciently the property

of a younger branch of the Lumley famil}', whose estates

passed to females. Thomas Knivitt, Esq., alienated his

moiety of Great Lumley in the reign of Queen Elizabeth

;

and a moiety belonging to the Musgraves was afterwards

alienated, so that a variety of freehold estates have

arisen in the township. The JSast Hall, said to have

been a seat of the Liunleys before the castle was built, is

now in ruins. This is supposed to be the house where

Liulph, ancester of the Lumleys, was cnielly murdered

by the Normans, for resenting their oppressions, and

complaining to Bishop Walcher. The Wc-'if Hall belonged

to the Aytons of West Herriugton, and was purchased

by the predecessors of the Earl of Durham. Lumle//

Thicks is an old house, rejDaired and enlarged some years

ago, and said to have been formerlj^ a chapel. Surtees

thinks that either this, or an adjoining farm-house called

Wooddone House, is the ancient Wodescnd, mentioned in

charters of the yoimger branch of the Lumley family at

the commencement of the 14th century.

Lumley Colliery is worked by Messrs. Stobart, Bell,

and Co. An explosion of inflammable gas took place in

the George pit on October 9, 1819, by which thirteen

men and boys were killed, and many others severely hurt.

Henry Smith's Charily.—This to'miship is entitled to

a share of the rents of the Longstock estate, from which

about 50/. is annually received in March. The amoimt

is given away at Christmas amongst poor people residing

in the township, and cliiefly those not receiving parochial

relief. The distribution is principally in sums of money
varying from 5s. to lO.s. ; but a small portion is disposed

of in broad, meat, or some articles of clothing, merely

for the purpose of enabling the to^vnship officers to make
a return to the solicitor of tlu^ trustees, in general tenns,

that the amount was disposed of in bread, meat, clothing,

and money.

LUMLEY HOSPITAL.

John Duck, Esq. (see vol. i., ji. 375), by indenture,

dated September 29, 168G, founded an hospital for the

sustentation and relief of twelve poor aged and imjjotent

people. John Pots and eleven widows were incorporated.

by the name of " The Brethren and Sisters of the Hos-

pital of John Duck, Esq., at Great Lumley, in the

County of Durham," with power to take lands, &c.

The said John Duck appointed that they and their suc-

cessors should have a common seal, with a cross graven

thereon, and in the circumference thereof also engraven,
" Sujilla Hospitalis John Buck Ar. apud Magna Lumley in

Com. Duiielm. ;" and he further directed, that after the

death of himself and .Anne his wife, it should be lawful for

the mayor of the city of Durham for the time being, and
his successors, and for Nicholas Salvin and cloven others

therein named (trustees designed by the said John Duck
of and for the said hospital, and for a miaister to be

chosen to read praj^ers to the poor people therein), and

such persons as should from time to time be duly elected

trustees in their room, as in an indentxire of release to be

thereafter executed shoidd be expressed, or for such

other person and persons as by the said John Duck in

his lifetime shoidd be appointed, within twenty days

after the death or removal of any of the brethren and
sisters of the said hospital, to elect and place other per-

sons of the religion of the Church of England as then

established, and not under the age of 60 years, those

poor decayed people of the town of Great Lmnley and

thereabouts (if any such there shoidd be) being in the

first place made choice of and preferred to the said hos-

pital, the above-named poor persons well and truly

observing such rides and orders as by the said John
Duck in his lifetime, and as after his death by the said

trustees, or by the visitors thereinafter mentioned, should

be appointed ; and the said John Duck further appointed,

that the three senior persons of the trustees for the time

being, duly elected as aforesaid (the mayor of the said

city of Diu'ham being one), should from time to time

after his death be the visitors of the said hospital, and of

the poor peojilo therein, and of the minister for the time

being to attend and do service there ; and should, as

often as they should think meet, once in three years at

least, visit the said hospital.

By indenture of lease and release, dated October 8 and

9, 1G8G, the said John Duck conveyed to the mayor of

Durham, and the other trustees named in the preceding

indentiu-e, a parcel of ground, formerly a messuage,

tenement, and garth, with the apinirtcnances, in Great

Liunley, and the liospital thereon lately erected by the

said John Duck, and also the closes called Robert Sides,

with their appurtenances, at Great Lmnley, the several

closes in the town-fields of Great Lumley called the

Loefield Nortli Crooks, the To\vn End Pasture, KoUoe

Hagg, and the moors, and a corn-mill on the river Wear,

at Great Lumley, with rights of fishery in the said river,
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witli all the appui'tenances, rights of common, and col-

lieries thereto belonging, upon trust, out of the clear

rents and profits of the said premises, other than the said

hospital, and the ground on which the same was built,

to pay to the said Jolm Pots and others, the twelve poor

aged persons, men and women, who should at any time

thereafter be placed in the said hospital, the clear annual

sum of 52s. each, by quarterly payments ; and also to

pay to a minister of the Chiu'ch of England, deacon or

priest, to attend and read prayers in the said hospital to

the said poor aged persons, twice every day throughout

the year, the clear annual sum of 10/., by quai'terly pay-

ments, towards his support and maintenance. Then

follows a clause, " that the residue of the rents and

profits, after satisfaction and discharge of all the several

pa^-mcuts therein mentioned, sliaU remain, unto the said

Jolm Duck, his heirs and assigns."

Sii- Jolm Duck retained the management of the charity

until his death, August 26, 16D1, when he devised aU

his estates in the township of Great Lumley to his wife,

Dame Anne Duck. She held the property under this

devise until her death, December 14, 1695. By her will,

dated November 22 iii that year, she de\"ises the mes"

suages, mills, fishings, gromids, and lands ia the town-

ship of Great Limiloy, to Richard Wharton for life,

"subject, nevertheless, and chargeable with the paj^ment

of the hospitall sallary, as now settled, and the necessary

repairs thereof, for ever." She proceeds to devise the

same estates, after ^Miarton's decease, to James Nichol-

son, in tail, "charged and chargeable as aforesaid."

James Nicholson, of Raiuton, a nephew of the foimder,

died in 1727, and by his will, dated January 14 ia that

year, devised aU his estates to his three daughters and

co-heii'csses—Jane, who married Thomas, Earl of Strath-

more ; Anne, who married Patrick Lyon, Esq. ; and

Mary, who died immarried, haN-ing de^^i3ed her share to

her nephew, John Lord Glamis, afterwards ninth Earl

of Strathmore. A deed of partition of the whole estates

of James Nicholson, Esq., was executed on the 28th day

of February, 1759 ; and it appears that the lands at

Liunley became the portion of the Earl of Strathmore.

They were ultimately purchased by Mr. Lambton. It

does not appear that the corporation of Dm-ham ever

acted as visitors of the hospital, nor -Wefe any trustees

ever appointed.

The hospital comprises twelve apartments, with a

small chapel ; and a tablet on the building bears the

following inscription :
—" IIospitale pro xn Paitperibus

FuNDAT : PER JoHAXN : DucK : Ar: UN : Aldermannor :

DuNELM : CiviT : Anno Domini mdclxxxv." Twelve

poor widows, elected from the parish of Chester or the

neighboiu'hood, reside in the hospital, and receive 50s. a

year each, instead of 52s., by quarterly pajTnents ; and

a person, not ia holy orders, who reads prayers, with a

sermon every Sunday, ia the chapel, receives the yearly

smn of 10/. These paj'ments, amounting to 40/. a year,

are made by the Earl of Dm-ham, as a charge upon the

Lumley property, of which the hedges have been re-

moved, and the land iadiscriminately mixed with that

of his lordship's estates aroimd it. The Moors, Robert

Sides, the Town End Fields, North Crooks, and Kelloe

Hagg, have been estimated as now worth 296/. a year,

without including the value of the coal underneath.

The hospital is kept ia repair by the Earl of Dui-ham,

whose family have for many years appointed the alms-

people and the chaplaia.

LITTLE LUMLEY.

The population of this township, at the successive

periods of retiirn, was 249, 259, 351, 393, 381, and 337

;

173 of the. latter number being males and 164 females.

In 1851, there were 72 inhabited houses and 2 unin-

habited. The value of property assessed to the county-

rate in 1853 was 1,504/.

The tovmship contains Lumley Castle and Park, three

farmsteads, a corn-mill at Plotters, a hamlet called

Breckon Hill, and a public house. Lumley Forge, where,

besides an iron and brass foimdery, bar-iron, anvils,

shovels, nails, and chains, were made, is now discontinued.

LUMLEY CASTLE.

This noble edifice is generally admitted to have been

built by Sir Robert Luniley, during the reign of Edward

I., but only as a mansion ; for Sir Ralph de Lumley, in

the 16th j-ear of Richard II., 1389, obtained a license to

re-edify and embattle his " manor house" at Lumley.

It stands majestically on a fine elevation above the

Wear, about one mile east from Chester, and being

constructed of a deep yellow freestone, forms a conspicu-

ous object as seen from the great north road between

Durham and that place. It is boimded on the north by

Lumley Beck, and the ground rises gradually on the

south and west from the river Wear. The east front is

near the brow of a veiy deep, well-wooded valley, through

which the beck winds towanls the river. The general

plan of this stately mansion is a parallelogram, 180 feet

long, and 153 feet in width, having four equal-sized

towers at the angles, which project boldly before the

connecting buildings, and are crowned with octagonal

I
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macliicolated turrets. The whole enclose a quadrangle

of 77 feet long by 72 wide. Attached to the north side

is an extensive stable court and subordinate buildings,

covering nearlj^ as much ground as the castle. The
formation of this part appears to be old. The south

front of Limiley Castle is comparatively modern ; but

the east retains its ancient form and is imique and im-

pressive. It is nearly as it was left by tlie builder in

Richard II. 's reign, except for the dark hues that time

has cast over it. " It retains," says Surtccs, " all its

original magnificence. Three stages of masonry are

above each other, with mullioned windows heavily grated

with iron ; and a noble gate-house projects from the

centre of the front, guarded with overhanging turrets

and a macliicolated gallery. Above this gateway are

six shields of aims, three and three, cut boldly in stone.

In the centre of the fii'st row, higher than the rest—1.

Quarterly, France and England (Richard II.). 2. On
the right, Percy or Louvaine, a lion rampant ; crest, a

lion passant. 3. On the left, a saltire, Ifecl/le ; crest, a

bull's head. In the lower row, 4. A lion rampant,

within a border engrailed, Grey ; crest, a ram's head.

5. Lumley ; crest, a paroquet. 6. Two bars ; crest,

Moses' head horned, Hilton."

The interior of the castle was, about a century and a

half ago, subjected to a complete renovation in the

Italian style, so that scarcely a particle of its ancient

architecture is visible. The ball-room, in particular, is

adorned with a profasion of foliage in plaster-work,

which does not assimilate with the internal jambs of the

castellated walls, in some places eight feet thick. For a

long period the castle has been dismantled of its furni-

ture, deserted by its owners, and uninhabited except

by housekeepers, one of whom, who died a few years ago,

had lived within its walls 65 years, during which four

Earls of Scarborough possessed the place. The site of a

private chapel in the castle, licensed by Bishop Langley

in 1432, is now unknown.

Tlie Orenf Hall is a grand, lofty, and spacious apart-

ment, ornamented with a gaUcry for minstrelsj', and I

exliibits a striking featui-e of ancient times, feudal per-

formances, and old English mamiers. It is 60 feet in

Icngtli by 80 feet in width, and of a proportionate

height. Seventeen pictures of large size, in plain black

frames, representing the successive ancestors of the

family, decorate the walls. These portraits arc as large

or larger than life, the height of the frames being seven

feet nine inches by four feet six inches. The portraits

appear in the following order:—1, Liulplms; 2, Uchtred;

3, Gulielmus; 4, Sir William de Lumley; 5, William de

VOL. II.

' Limiley
; 6, Sir Robert de Lumley ; 7, Sir Marmaduke

Lumley
; 8, Sir Ralph de Lumley, the first baron, in his

j

scarlet robes of state; 9, Sir John de Lumley; 10, King
Richard XL, seated in a chair of state, holding the scep-

tre in his left hand, and with his right presenting a patent

j

of nobility to Sir Ralph Lumley, who is kneelirig before

!
him in his baron's robes,—on the scroll, at the king's

feet, is inscribed "Kinge Richard the Seconde," and,

I

on the frame stand, " R.R. 2. an' D'no' 1384, Ao
Aug. 8 ;" 11, Sir Thomas Lumley ; 12, George Lord

j

Lumley; 13, Sir Thomas Lumley; 14, John de Lumley;
15, Richard de Lumley; 16, George Lumley; 17, Eliza-

i beth, daugliter of John Lord Darcy of Chiche, and
second wife of Sir John Lumley. This last, no doubt, is

an actual portrait; and that of King Richard II., giving

Sir Ralph LimJey a patent of nobility, is also supposed

to be an old genuine picture. The rest, it is probable,

are the work of Lord John Lmnley, who, most Ukcly,

was resolved not only to supply to the church of Ches-

ter-le-Street a complete set of his ancestors in effigy,

but to his hall another set, in their robes or martial

array, as he imagined them. Liulph, the Saxon father

of the lino, sits on his horse, aloft on a pedestal, as largo

as life, at the end of the hall. The sturdy steed is of a

dark ruddy brown ; and Liulph, clad in ai-mour, riding

with an air of great boldness, bears in his hand a sort of

I battle-axe. This brave old Saxon was a man of whom

I

his deceudants might be proud ; and, if the equestrian

statue be not an atom like him, it bears an air of similar

worth and bravery, and reminds us of his virtues. Be-

neath the statue of Liidjjh, are fifteen couplets of Latin

verses, rmgiug all possible changes on the word iiiiindi(s.

Near to the portrait of Elizabeth Darcy hangs the table

of the pedigree of the Lumleys, in gold letters, with the

armorials bearings ; and, in a niche, the modern family

crest. Four niches in the west wall contain well exe-

cuted marble busts of Ilenry VIII., Edward VI., and

Slary and Elizabeth. The fire-place is of immense size,

ynth. a mantlc-piocc supported by Doric pillars.

T/ir Great Dininy Room is in the south-western tower,

and Ls of nearly equal dimensions with the hall. It is a

noble airy room, in the French and Italian style, having

a fine vaulted ceiling of stucco-work, and in the centre

the star and garter, surrounded with various figures.

The walls are waiiiscotted, the narrower panels orna-

mented with vizors, from which depend strings of fruit

and flowers ; the alternate panels having a medallion

head of a Roman emperor. The fire-place is of beautifid

white marble of similar design ; and over it is a bas-

relief, in stucco-work, of peculiar grace and spirit—

a

4q
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wintry and mountainous landscape, with a frozen lake

and blasted trees.

The Music Room.—Here are also arranged several full-

length portraits. One, Frederick Prince of Wales, the

father of George III., when very young, in his robes.

Another, a gay and handsome looking young gentleman.

Sir Thomas Sanderson, the brother of the second Earl

of Scarborough, in rich silken robes, with the coUar of

the Bath. Two others of Lord John Liunley of 1588 :

one in skull-cap, and amiour richly inlaid with gold

;

the other in fuU crimson robes, and holding in his hands

a glove and a purse, as Baron of the Exchequer.

The Steicard's Boom.—In this room are portraits of

the great John Lord Lumlcy, with a noble and expres-

sive countenance ; and of his first wife, Jane Fitzalan.

A small figure of Ralph Liunley of 1567 ; and another

small fisTii-e of a man, with handsome delicate

features, in a Spanish dress. On the back of this pic-

ture is written " Lumley, who was in the battle of Flod-

den Field when King James of Scots was slain." Lady

Halifax, in a rich dress. The first Earl of Scarborough,

in armour ; and liis brother. General Lumley, also in

armour.

The HoKsekeejyer's Room.—Here are two youthful

portraits of the Hon. Charles and John Limiley. Also

portraits of the Hon. Thomas and Richard Limiley

when children ; and of Lady Blackett and Lady Harriet

Lumley.*

TIiP Kitchen.—Tliis apartment is upon a scale equally

noble in its dimensions with other portions of the castle,

and would have amply sufficed for the preparations of

one of Lucullus' luxurious and profligate banquets.

On the west of the castle, the river Wear is crossed by

a ferry, from which a foot-path leads to Chester-le-Street.

A little further down the river, an ancient sabnon-

• The SaiKSPEAKE Portrait.—Several portraits of illustrious

characters are mentioned by Pennant in his Scotch Tour. They were

aU dispersed about fifty yeai-s ago, when only those of the family were

retained. One ot the most remarkable pictui'cs in the collection,

though not mentioned by Pennant, was a portrait of Shakspeare, sup-

posed to be that which is traditionally said to have been painted by

Kichard Burbage, the Eoscius of his day, or by John Taylor, the water

poet, another actor, both contemporai-ies of Shakspeare. A porti'idt in

the collection of the Duke of Chondos, from which the most approved

likenesses of the great bard were copied, was long supposed to bo that

of Burbago or Taylor ; but those celebrated men were only amateurs

in the art of painting, whereas the Chandos picture might have been

painted by no mean disciple of the Van Dyck school, who copied the

likeness from Burbage or Taylor's more crude original. The Lumley

portrait is not the work of a master, inasmuch as the shadows of the

collar fall on both sides of the neck, an error into which no artist

could have fallen . The eyes are too close to the nose ; the beard and

fishery has been held by the Lumley fanuly since the

time of Henry IV., and a dam has been in existence

from the reign of Henry VIII. Renewals of the lease

from the bishop are in existence from the year 1675.

About 60 years ago, however, the sahnon-lock was so

altered and heightened as totally to prevent the passage

of the fish to the upper parts of the river. The tenant

of the Earl of Scarborough was also convicted before the

coimty magistrates, in 1832, 1833, and 1834, for alleged

illegal practices in the taking of fish. An association of

gentlemen was formed, whose object was the modification

of the height of the lock, for which purpose they ofiered

to become the tenants of the earl at the next avoidance

of the lease. These proposals were declined ; and the

result was a memorial to the Bishop of Durham, praying

him not to renew the lease to the Earl of Scarborough,

and signed by 167 of the gentry of the county. The

lock itseK was partially swept away by a flood in Fe-

bruary, 1854 ; and the Earl of Scarborough's lease

having expired on the 10th of January preceding,

formal possession of the dam was taken in the name of

the bishop, the stone-work was removed, and a free

passage was afforded to the pent-up water.

The Lumley Fajiily.—This ancient family are de-

scended from Liulph, one of the highest and most

popular members of the Saxon nobility, who fled from

the fierce Normans in the south of England, and found

shelter in the dominions of St. Cuthbert. His virtuee

and bravery were highly esteemed by Bishop Walcher ;

whilst the people venerated him for his patriotism. He
manied Alg-itha, daug-hter of Aldred, and granddaughter

of Uctred, Earls of Northumberland ; the wife of the

latter having been Elgyne, youngest daughter of King

Etheldred. When Earl Waltheof granted the church

of TjTiemouth to St. Cuthbert, Liulph led to the shrine

moustache have little cultivation ; the collar natmal, but without

elegance, the strings hanging somewhat in disorder. This portrait

was in the possession of John Lord Lumley, whose collection of con-

temporary portraits was famed even in his own day, and who died in

1009, a few years before Shakspeare. The pictiu'e was sold at Lumley

Castle, with others, in 1785, but was subsequently repurchased by the

Earl of Scarborough. On the dispei-sion of the collection in 1807, the

picture was recognized and purchased by Mr. Kalph Walters, of New-

castle, in whose possession it remained till his death, when Ms brother

pai-ted with it to its present owner, George Rippon, Esq., of North

Shields. In 1849, it was examined by Mr. Hogarth, publisher, who at

once appreciated its originality, and obtained permission to have it en-

graved. A most pcrfect/ac-simi(« of the old painting has accordingly been

produced by Mr. Brooks, lithographer, thus aflbrding to the admirers

of Shakspeare the most genuine portrait of that mighty genius which

has ever appeared.
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of St. Osmn, and dedicated to the service of the chiircli,
{

hLs son Morkar. At k^ngth, however, he fell a sacrifice

to tlie cause of the people. He complained to the

bishop of the rapacity and cruelty of his officers ; and, in

revenge, those officers assassinated him. The people,

stung to madness by the death of their protector, soon

after rose and murdered Bishop Walcher at Gateshead.

(See vol. i., p. 29.)

Uthred, or Uchtrcd, eldest son of Liulph, ohtained the

rank of a Baron of the Palatine under Bishop Pudsey

;

and his son, William, was the first who assumed the

local name of Liunley. In some romantic adventure in

the early Crusades, he won for his escutcheon the paro-

quet, afterwards borne by his descendants. By Juditli

his wife, daughter to IlesUden of Hesilden, he had issue

another Sir AVilHam, who had issue two sons, William

and Marmadukc, from the latter of whom descended the

Fitz-ilarmadidvos of Horden (see p. 357). William

married the daughter and co-heiress of Walter de Audre,

and by her was the father of Sir Roger de Lumley, Knt.,

who married Sybil, daughter and co-heiress of Hugh de

Morwick, an ancient baron of Northumberland. Robert,

next in descent, added greatly to his possessions by mar-

riage with the heiress of Thwcng.

In 1385, Ralph, grandson of Robert, was created a

parliamentary peer by summons, and built the eastern

front of Lumley Castle. He continued to sit in jxirlia-

ment imtil he was attainted, and had his lands seized, for

being concerned with Thomas de Holland, Earl of Kent,

and other lords, in a confederacy on behalf of the de-

posed Richard II., and against Henry IV. Lord Liun-

ley was a standard-bearer in the outbreak, and was slain

in the field of battle ; twenty-eight of the other leaders

of the rebellion, lords, knights, and gentlemen, beiug

taken and executed. His widow, Eleanor, daughter of

John Lord Nc^dUe, had an assignment in her widowhood

of 20/. per annima.

John, second surviving son of Ralph Lord Lumley,

had livery, in the 6th year of Henry IV., of all the

• Previous to liis departure for the war, he prepared his will, in

wliich he desires his executors to provide a decent marble tomb for

himself, and Felice his late wife, in Chester church. He gives his

two daughters 300 marks each ; 100 marks to two unman-ied sisters ;

nd desires his executors to sell his house in Wode Street, London,

for payment of his legacies. To his daughter Ann he gives a cloak of

doth nf gold, wliii'h was her mother's. To Thomas, his son, a gilt

cup, tlie gift of " my Lord tlie Bisliop of Durham." To Dame Eliza-

beth Neville, a gilt cup, a fcather-bed, and four-and-twen(y pillows.

To his cliaplain, Pdiliard Ui-path, a gUt cup and ten marks. To
brotlier Tluunas Oxenden, 40s. per annum for life ; and if (he said

Thomas slnill uiulcrtakc the Jubilee, lOOs. To the cliurr'h of Chester,

»wo robee of crimson velvet ; oud to Dan Eichord Bukley, dean of

castles, manors, and lands whereof his father was seised

at the time of his attainder ; and the honoui* of linight-

hood was conferred on him for his services in Scotland.

He also served in the French wars; and havins thus

attested his fidelity to the king, he was fully restored in

blood by act of parliament, in the 13th j'car of Henry
IV. He further signalized himself with King Henry V.

in the wars, and, in the 10th year of that monarch's

reign, lost his life, with Thomas, Didie of Clarence, the

king's brother, at Baugy Bridge, on Easter-eve, April

13, 1421.*

Sir Thomas Lumley, the next inheritor, was knighted

for his services in the wars, and concerned in various

negociations. He was made governor of Scarborough

Castle for life, and, on the accession of Edward IV.,

procured the reversion of the attainder of Ralph Lord

Lmnley, his grandfather. He was at the siege of Bam-
brough Castle ; and in regard of his fidehty, circimispec-

tion, and industry, was appointed, October 10, 1466, one

of the commissioners to treat at Newcastle-upon-Tyne,

with the deputies of the king of Scots, concerning cer-

tain grievances between the two nations. He married

Margaret, daughter of Sir James Harrington, and was
succeeded by his son, George Lord Lumley, who was

knighted before the 2nd year of Edward IV., when he
was sheriff for the coimty of Northimiberland, an office

which he also filled in the 8th and four succeeding years

of the same reign. He was elected, with Sir Robert

Folbery, to represent the coimty of Northiunberland in

the parliament simimoned to meet at Westminster, 6th

Edw. IV., and was, some years afterwards, a principal

commander imder Richard, Duke of Gloucester, at the

taking of Berwick from the Scots. For his valour and

conduct in that expedition, he was made a knight banneret

in Hooton Field, with Lord Fitzhugh, Lord Scroop of

Masham, and others. On the accession of King Henry
VII., Lord Lmnley attended that monarch in his pro-

gress through the northern parts of his kingdom, in the

first year of his reign. In the 13th year of Henry VII.,

Chester, a gilt sUvcr goblet and ten marks. Lastly, he charges his

executors to maintain, during their lives, one chantiy pnest in the

church of Chester, and to provide two able and sufficient pilgrims to

travel for his own grace, and for that of his wife Felice, to the shrine

of St. Tlionias of Canterbury. By a codicil, he appoints his brother

Marmaduke, afterwards Bishop of Carlisle, and his servant, William

Mayhu, executors. He loaves his goods in Noi-mandy and France to

be disposed of by his brother Marnuiduke, and Ijis servant, Matthew

Pacok; gives to his said brother "the little house in Wod-slrete," or,

if that be contraiy to his will, his " place without Aldrj'ggate ;" and

desii-es bis executors to make an end in all haste of the matters be-

tween liim and Sir I'ers Tylliol, and John Wodcok, if the said Wodcok
" will drawe to any reasonable end."
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he was in the expedition, under the Earl of SuiTcy,

which comi3elled the Scots to raise the siege of Korham

Castle, and afterwards marched into Scotland, levelling

several strong places, particiilarlj' Haj'ton Castle, one of

the most important fortresses between Berwick and

Edinburgh. On the espoiisals of the Princess Margaret

with James IV. of Scotland, his lordship and his son

met her at Darueton (see vol. i., p. 452), vrith several

gentlemen in his retinue, and 80 horsemen in his livery,

and waited on her majesty as far as Ber^-ick, where she

was received by Sir Thomas Darcy, the governor. Lord

Lumlej- married Elizabeth, heiress of Roger Thornton,

a wealthy merchant of Newcastle,* b}' which imion the

tower and manor of Ludworth, Bradbury with the Isle,

Bolam, 7\:xwell, SwalweU, and other possessions in Dur-

ham and Northimiberland, were added to his ample

inheritance. His wife's illegitimate brother, Giles

Thornton, disputing his title to those estates, he was

slain by Lord Liunlcy in a duel, in Windsor Castle

ditch.f

Thomas, son and heir of George Lord Lumley, mar-

ried Elizabeth Plantagenet, natural daughter of King

Edward IV., and died in his father's life-time. His

eldest son, Richard, the next baron, left issue John

Lord Lumley, who, in 1513, was one of the principal

commanders in the vanguard of the ai-my engaged at

the battle of Flodden Field. In the succeeding year, he

was simmioned to parliament as Lord Lumleij, and, in

1515, liad liver}' of all the lands of his inheritance. In

1520, he was at the meeting between his sovereign and

the Emperor Charles V. at Canterbury ; and, crossing

the seas, was, in Jime of the same year, at the great

interview of the kings of England and France, between

• llo.u'er Thnniton raispil himself from poverty to an immense fur-

tune. The manner of his advent into Newcastle is presen-ed in the

popular rhyme :

—

'• At the Westgate came Thornton in,

With a hap and halfpenny in a ram's skin."

+ '• It was, after all," says a late authority, quoting Bourne and Sur-

tees, " the grand-daughter of the opulent Koger Thoraton who carried

lier immense wealth into the family of Lumley ; for old Roger Thorn-

ton, who died in 1429, left a son and heir, Roger (who had married, in

his father's life-time, Elizabeth, daughter of Lord Greystock) ; and

Elizabeth, the daughter of this younger Roger, was the heu'ess who
married George Lord Lumley. From entries in the College of .\rms,

there seems some doubt of the asserted bastardy of Giles Thornton.

The pedigree gives the younger Roger a second wife, and states their

issue Sir Roger, Giles, and John Thornton, the lineal ancestor of

Thornton of Netherwitton."

J The date of this accomplished lady's birth does not appear : but as

it must have been about the time that Jane Seymour occupied the

throne as queen consort, it has been conjectured that she derived her

name from that source. The education of herself and sister (after-

Ardres and Guisnes. He was one of the northern lords

who engaged in the " Pilgrimage of Grace" (see vol. i.,

p. 64), but received a pardon from the Duke of Norfolk,

which was confirmed by the king. Soon after, however,

his onlj' son, George Lumley, was concerned in another

insurrection, with Lord Darcy, Sir Thomas Percy (bro-

ther of the Earl of Northumberland), and others ; and

beiug apprehended, was committed to the Tower. In

June, 29 Henrj^ VIII., he was arraigned at Westminster

before the Marquis of Exeter, high steward of England,

found guilty of high treason, and suffered death. Lord

Lmnley died in 1544, lea\-ing to his grandson, John

Lmnlej", the castle and manor of Lumley, the lordships

of Hart, Stranton, and Scaton-Carew, the manors of

Bradbury, the Isle, Beautrove, Frereside, Ludworth,

Axwell, SwalweU, Bradley, Bolam, Morton, Hesleden,

and Ilousfield, in the coimty of Durham ; the manor-

house in the Erode Chare, Newcastle ; the manors of

East and West ChevjTigton, Oldmore, Revely, Long-

hurst, and Morwick, in Northimiberland ; the castle and

manor of Kyton, the manors of Hemptrome, Thornton,

Moorsom-Magna, Yarteby, Staynton, Thorneby, and

Linthorpe, in Yorkshire ; and considerable estates in

Surrey, Kent, Nottinghamshire, and Sussex.

John Lmnlej- was an infant on the death of his grand-

father; and on a petition, 1 Edw. VI., setting forth

" that he was a person in lineage and blood corrupted,

and deprived of all degree, estate, name, fame, &e., by

reason of the attainder of George Lumley, his father," it

was enacted, " that the said John Lumley, and the heirs

male of his body, should haA'e, hold, enjoj', and bear the

name, dignity, state, and pre-eminence of a baron of this

realm," &c. His first wife was Jane Fitzalan,J daughter

wards Duchess of Norfolk ) embraced that instruction in the ancient

languages which was then usual for females of rank ; and from the

circumstance of some of their Greek and Latin exercises having been

preserved, each has been termed, in modem peerages and other works,

" a very learned lady." This learning, however, they shared with

nearly all their female contemporaries, of whose youthfiU years any

particulars have been preserved. The exercises alluded to are in ths

British Museum, amongst the Royal MSS.. having been handed down

with Lord Lumley's library. Those of Lady Lumley consist of one

rather thick volume, which seems to have been foiTaed of her ordinary

copy-books gathered together, and three separate pieces, more carefully

written, which were prepared for presentation to her father as a new-

year's gift. As Lord Lmnley's signatui-e is twice appended to that of

his lady, it is inferred that these exercises were all written after their

marriage ; but still there can be no doubt that it was in her youth,

whilst she was pursuing her education. Indeed, there is proof that

both the husband and wife pursued their studies; for in the same

collection of MSS. is a translation of Erasmus's "Instructions of a

Christian Prince,'' signed, " Your lordeshippes obedient sone, J.

Ll'mley, 15-50." Lord Lumley had lost his own father in 1537; so

that this was e-sidently addressed to his father-in law, who has placed
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of the Earl of Arundel, who acknowledged that his son-in-

kw, Lord Luraley, had " sold and mortgaged most part of

his own lands, tenements, hereditaments, and patrimony,

for the discliarge and paAinent of his (the earl's) debts

and causes." These great sacrifices were not replaced

by the Sussex estates, and a share of Arundel borough,

derived from that connexion. Lord Lumley, however,

continued to support an honourable position in the state.

Queen Maiy commissioned the Earl of Armidel, lord

steward of the household, to confer upon him the honour

of knighthood ; and on September 29, 1553, he was

made one of the Knights of the Bath, in company with

the Earl of Devonshire, the Earl of Surrey, the Lord

Abergavenny, the Lord Berkeley, and ten others. Two
days afterwards, he attended among the barons at the

coronation, when Lady Lumley was one of the six prin-

cijial ladies, dressed in crimson velvet, who sat in the

third chariot of state. On April 24, 1556, he and the

Lord Talbot introduced 0.sep Napea, the first ambassador

from the emperor of Russia, to his audience of leave

with the queen ; after which a treaty of amity and com-

merce was concluded. In the fii-st year of Queen

Elizabeth, I^ord Lumley was constituted one of tho

commissioners to receive the claims of all such as held

of the queen in grand serjeanty, and were required to

perfonn their respective services. He was employed to

treat with Cosmo Medicis, Duke of Florence, about

11,250/. o-ning to King Henry VIIL, which he received

with interest for Queen Elizabeth, who gave the duke a

discharge for it. In the midst of these honours, how-

ever, his lordship became implicated, with his father-in-

law, in the Duke of Norfolk's matrimonial intrigues

with the Queen of Scots, but escaped with a short

imprisonment. Indeed, he was included in the commis-

sions, both for the trial of the imfortimate Mary, and
for that of Secretary Da^^son, "for contempt towards

the queen's majesty, breach of his allegiance, and neg-

his nanie, " Auundel," on the first page. Lord Lumley was 17 years

of age in 15.50. Another memorial of Lady Lumley, and one which
may be eoiisidiTed as evidence of a continuance of her taste for letters

and leaminf; at a later period of her life, is a small oblong volume of

vellum, containing copies of moral apothegms, in Latin, which .Sir

Nicliolas 15ftcon had inscribed on the walls of his house at Gorliam-

bury ; wliere it is most probable Lady Lumley liad visited him. It

consists of 14 leaves, tile first of which displays her ladyship's arms
beautifully illuminated. Above is this inscription :

—" Sye . Nicholas.
Bacon . Knvohte . to . his . veky . oood . ladve . the . Ladye . Lvm-
i.YE . SENLETH . THIS." On the second page is tliis title :

—" Sentences
PRINTED IN THE LolUJE KEPARS GALLERY AT GOEHAMBVRY : AND SELECTED
BY Hm CWT OF DY\ERS AVTHORS, AND SENT TO THE OOOD LaUYE LvmLEY
AT HER DESIRE." The Sentences are in all thirty-seven

; each headed
thus, " De summo BONO," " De amditione," itc; and are ail illuminated

lect of his duty, in sending the warrant for putting the

Queen of Scots to death, without her (Elizabeth's)

knowledge." He was also one of the peers who sat on
the trial of the Earl of Essex. On the accession of

James I., his majesty was entertained at Lumley Castle

by its lordly o\\aier,* who was constituted one of the

commissioners for settling the claims at the coronation

;

as also a commissioner, with other lords, who were
authorised to make Knights of the Bath. Duriug his

Hfe, he was regarded as a stately model of the pomp,
pride, and circumstance of the ancient nobility. Few
men, perhaps, were more proud of their family name
and honours than John Lord Lmnley; and none had
greater reason for pride in ancestry. He could look

upon the castle and broad acres which for six hun-
dred years had been in the possession of his family—

a

family with which the greatest of our northern barons
had been proud to match their daughters—a family
which was connected with royalty itself, and which
sprang from a Saxon noble and the daughter of a great

Northmnbrian earl. It was this veneration for the
memory of his ancestors which induced Lord Lmnley to

gather together their bones, and to enshrine them in

that long Hne of tombs which tills the northern aisle in

the chm-ch of Chester-le-Street (see p. 602). He died
April 11, 1609. Three children by his first wife died
in infancy; and his second wife, EHzabeth Darcy, of

Chiche, was childless. Alter changing the disposition

of his estates three times, he called his kinsman, Richard
Lumley, to the succession. The deed for this purpose

was executed two years previous to his death ; and his

wUl, tind an inventory of the moveables in the castle,

are deposited in the registry of the court of Dm-ham.
The pictm-cs, furniture, &c., described, are valued at

1,404/. 17s. 8d.

Richard Lumley was knighted by James I. at Theo-
bald's, July 19, 1616, and was created "Lord Viscount

in golden letters, upon grounds of a vai-iety of splendid colours, occu-

pying 1.3 pages. After the death of her father's second countess in

1.057, Lady Lumley Lived in his house, " as his nurse and dear-beloved

cliild," until her own death, which occurred iji 1576-7. She was buried
at Cheam, in Surrey, the parish in which her father's mansion of Non-
such was situated ; and her husband erected a monument to her
memorj', on which she is represented kneeling, with small figures of

her three children below.

• It was either on this occasion, or during some subsequent pro-
gress, that the king gave utterance to the bon itwt which has been so

often quoted. Interrupting Bishop .Tames ( a relative of the Lumleys),
who was elaborating a long detail of the ancestry of the family, the
royal wit exclaimed, " O mon, gan na further, let me digest the know-
ledge I hae gained ; for, by my saul, 1 did ua ken Adam's name was
Lumley."
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Lumley of "Waterford in Ireland," by letters patent,

dated July 12, 1628 (4 Car. I.). Dui-ing the chil war,

he garrisoned Lumley Castle for the king, was a com-

mander imder Prince Eupert, and compounded for his

estate for 1,955^. 10s. He was one of those loyal peers

who subscribed a memorable declaration, just before the

meeting of the parliament that restored Charles 11.

Eichard, grandson and heir of Eichard just named,

was one of those who, in 1680, volunteered to join an

expedition against the Moors, under the command of the

Earl of Midgrave, afterwards Duke of Buckinghamshire.

The expedition being laid aside. Lord Lumley was con-

stituted master of the horse to Queen Catherine, consort

of Charles II. That monarch, in consideration of his

merit, tideUty, and noble ancestry, advanced him to the

state and degree of " Baron of Lumley Castle," and to

the heirs male of his body, and, for lack of such issue,

to Hem-y Lumley, his brother,* and the heirs male of

his body. Lord Limiley had the command of a regiment

of horse engaged in putting down Monmouth's rebellion,

and was instnimental in making prisoners of that noble-

man and his principal adherents. He became, however,

one of the most active partizans of the Eevolution of

1688, in the preparations for which he zealously partici-

pated, and, by his interest and friends, secured Newcastle

for the Prince of Orange. He was no less instrimiental

in saininsr the vote of the House of Peers, that the

throne was vacant, as also that the Prince and Princess

of Orange should be declared king and queen of Eng-

land ; for which scrx-ices, on Febiniary 14, 1688-9, the

day after their majesties were proclaimed, he was sworn

of the privy coimcil, and declared one of the gentlemen

of the king's bed-chamber; also on April 10, 1690,

before the coronation, he was advanced to the dignity of

" Viscount Lumley," of Lumley Castle ; and finally, on

April 15, to the title of " Earl of Scarborough," with a

captaincy and colonelcy in the first troop of horse

guards. In 1690, he was present at the battle of the

Boyne, and attended "William III. at the great congress

of princes at the Hague. Besides other honours during

that monarch's reign, the earl was lord-Ueutcnant and

custos rotulonmi of the county palatine of Dui-ham, the

• The Hon. Henry Lumley, who married Anne, daughter of Sir Wil.

liam Wiseman, of Canfield, Essex, is stated, on his monument in

Sabridgeworth church, Hertfordshire, to have been " in every battle,

and at every siege, as colonel, lieutenant-colonel, or general of the

horse, with King William, or the Duke of Marlborough, in twenty

campaigns in Ireland, Flanders, and Germany, where he was honoured,

esteemed, and beloved by our own armies, by our allies, and even by

the enemies, for his singular politeness and humimity, as well as for

all his military virtues and capacity." He was for many years a mem-

county of Northumberland, and the town and county of

Newcastle-upon-TjTie, and vice-admiral of the sea-coasts

of Durham and Northumberland, in which posts he was

continued by Queen Anne, under whom he was consti-

tuted one of the commissioners to treat of a union be-

tween the kingdoms of England and Scotland. On the

accession of George I., his lordship was one of the peers

entrusted by his majesty with the government of the

nation tiU his arrival. On March 9, 1715-16, he was

appointed chancellor of the duchy and county palatine

of Lancaster, which he resigned in May, 1717 ; and

thereupon had the office of vice-treasurer, receiver-

general, and pajTnaster-general of all hLs majesty's

revenues in the kingdom of Ireland, with power to act

by sufficient deputies. Ha^-ing no intention to go over

to that cotmtry, he procured an act of parliament, which

received the royal assent Jidy 6, 1717, to enable him to

take in Great Britain the usual oath to qualifj" himself

for the office. He died on the 17th December, 1721,

and was buried with his ancestors in the church of

Chester-le-Street. By his wife, Frances, only daughter

and heiress of Sir Hemy Jones of Aston, he had issue

seven sonst and four daughters. He was the last of the

family who had much immediate connection with the

north.

Henry Lord Viscotmt Ltmiley, eldest son of the earl,

died in 1710. Eichard, second son, who became second

Earl of Scarborough, was successively member of parlia-

ment for East Grinsted and Arvmdel in the reign of

Queen Anne. On the accession of George I., he was

appointed, September 21, 1714, one of the gentlemen of

the bed-chamber to the Prince of Wales, and was

shortly after constituted master of the horse and captain

and colonel in the first troop of grenadier guards. On

March 10, 1714-15, he was called by writ to the House

of Peers, and succeeded his father, in 1721, as lord-

lieutenant of Northvunberland and Newcastle-upon-Tyne.

On the 2nd of May in that year, he stood proxy for

Ernest-Augustus, Duke of York, at the baptism of the

Dulce of Cumberland ; and, shortlj' after, he was consti-

tuted colonel of the second regiment of foot-guards, and

was elected one of the knights companions of the most

ber of the House of Commons, and died whilst governor of Jersey,

October 18, 1722, in the 63rd year of liis age.

t James, one of those sons, was, in 1734, appointed to divers oflices

about court. Horace Walpole, in n letter to George Montagu, Esq.,

dated June 25, 1745, says, " Your friend Jemmy Lumley—I beg par-

don, I mean your kin, is not he ? I am sure he is not your friend :

—

well, he has had an assembly, and he would write all the cards himself,

and every one of them was to desire he's company and she's company,

with other pieces of curious orthography."
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noble order of the Garter. In 1733-4, lie resigned his

]X)st as master of the horse, and died unmarried on

January 29, 1739-40.*

Thomas, brother and successor to the second Earl of

Scarborough, was appointed, November 28, 1721, envoy

extraordinary and plenipotontiaiy to the court of Portu-

gal, and, on his return, was made a knight of the Bath.

He was elected member of parliament for the borough

of jVi'undel in 1722, and for the county of Lincoln in

1728 and 1734. Inheriting the estate of James Saimder-

son, Earl of Castleton (who died without issue May 24,

1723), he, by act of parliament, took the surname of

Saunderson, in pursuance of the will of the said earl.

His lordship married Lady Frances, second daughter of

the Earl of Orknc}', b_y whom he had one son. The

Earl of Scarborough died on March 15, 1752.

Richard, fourth Earl of Scarborough, was cofferer of

his majesty's household, and sworn of the pi'ivy council

on July 12, 1765. He was also deputy earl-marshal of

England to his grace, Edward, Duke of Norfolk, and

colonel of the northern battalion of Lincolnshire militia.

He married, December 12, 1752, Barbara, sister and

heiress to Sir George Savile, Bart., of Rufford, Notting-

hamshire, and had issue five sons. In 1707, an act of

parliament was passed " for discharging divers manors,

rectory, messuages, lands, and hereditaments, part of the

estate of the Right Honourable Richard Earl of Scarbo-

rough, by him settled on his marriage with the Right

Honour-able Barbara, Coimtess of Scarborough, from the

UBCs and trusts of the said settlement, and for settHng

other manors, lands, and tenements of great value, In

lieu thereof, to the like uses." The discharged estates

were in Lincolnshire, Yorkshii-e, and the town of New-
castle-upon-TjTie, and the proceeds of their sale were to

be applied in the discharge of certain debts and legacies

amounting to 16,950/. ; and the castle of Lumley, and

other estates in the county of Durham, were made
chargeable with an annuity of 1,500/. to the countess.

To the child or children (except the eldest) of the earl

and countess, 20,000/. was secured. Power was given

to the earl, should the countess die before him, to settle

1,000/. a year on any woman or women whom he might

afterwards marry ; and a proviso was made, that in

leases of his coal-mines, the best and most improved

• Richard, who was the friend and companion of the celebrated Earl

of Chesterfield, was in high favour with the king, and, like all favourites,

had his enemies. The king, it is said, entrusted to him a secret of

great consequence ; and his enemies were anxious to get the knowledge

of it, that they might ruin him. Richard loved a lady; and to this

lady the traitors went, ofl'ering her great rewards if she would bring

tbem to a knowlege of the secret. Delilah.like, she managed to draw

rents shoidd be reserved, without any fine or income.

His lordship died May 12, 1782, and was succeeded by
his eldest son,

George-Augustus, fifth earl, who was bom September

22, 1753. In 1774, he was chosen member of parlia-

ment for Lincolnshire. He died unmarried on Septem-

ber 5, 1807, and was succeeded by his next brother.

Richard, sixth earl, was born April 16, 1757. In

early life, he held a commission in a regiment of dra-

goons ; and, previous to his accession to the title, he
bore the name of Savile, in right of his uncle, whose
estates he enjoyed while a yoimger brother. His lord-

ship married. May 25, 1787, Harriet WiUoughby, sister

to Henry Lord Middleton, but died without issue, June
17, 1832.

John, seventh earl, brother to Richard, bom in 1761,

was in holy orders, and prebendarj' of York. This

nobleman, who, pursuant to the will of his matemal
uncle, had assiuned the name of Sa\ale, married, in

1785, Anna-Maria, daughter of Jtdlan Herring, Esq.,

and by her (who died March 17, 1850) had Issue three

sons and three daughters. He died February 21, 1835,

and was succeeded by his second son,

John Lumley-Savile, eighth Earl of Scarborough,

VIscoimt Lumley, and Baron Liunley, of Lumley Castle,

Durham, in the peerage of England ; VIscoimt Lumley,
of AYaterford, in the peerage of Ireland ; born July 18,

1788. His lordship is lord-lieutenant and custos rotu-

lorum of Nottinghamshire.

Arms—Ai-g., a fesse, gu., between three popinjays, vert., beaked and
membered, of the second, collared, of the last.

Ceest—A pelican in her nest, feeding her young, all ppr.

SuppoKTEES—Two pan-ots, wings expanded, vert, beaked and mem-
bered, gu.

Motto—Murus aeneus conscientia Sana.

Seats—Sandbeck Castle, Ba^\'try, Yorkshire ; and Lumley Castle,

Dmham.

Lvmiley Castle was stripped of all but its hereditary

furniture when Richard, sixth Earl of Scarborough,

came to the title, at which time the Savile estates

passed, by the wiU of his uncle, to a second brother.

These estates were not again recovered to the Lumley
heir till the present earl, by a legal trial, established his

right to them.

it from her lover, and revealed it to those men who were waiting at

hand. As he went out of one door, the traitors went out at another

and off to the Icing, who, the moment Richard Lumley came a^ain into

the royal presence, said, " Lumley, you have lost a friend, and I a good
servant." Richard Lumley, seeing that ho was at once betrayed in the

quarter he reposed all his love and faith, and disgraced with the king

as a man of honour went and shot himself.
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LAMBTON.

This tovniship, being on the south side of the Wear, is

attached to the North Div-ision of Easington Ward. It

contains an area of 652 acres ; and there were, in 1851,

24 inhabited hoiises. Its jjopidation, fluctuating with

the working of the coUieries, has been successively

returned at 266, 253, 293, 256, 120, and 115 ; 54 of the

latter number being males and 61 females. The pro-

perty assessed for the coimty-rate in 1853 was estimated

at 357/. per annum.

A considerable portion of the park belonging to

Lambton Castle is included in this township, which is

sometimes called Old Lnmhfon, to distinguish it from

New Lambton, in the parish of Houghton. Lambton
House was, during many centiu-ies, the family seat of

the Lambtons. It was dismantled in 1797, but after-

wards converted into a respectable and substantial house,

occupied by Henry Jlorton, Esq., land-steward to the

Earl of Durham. A large and powerfid pumj)ing-

engine belonging to Lambton ColUcnj, near the gardens

of Lambton House, is placed in a castellated and orna-

mental engine-house. The five-quarter seam, 3 feet

thick, is foimd at the depth of 46 fathoms ; the high

main, 6 feet, 15 fathoms further ; the maudlin, 6 feet,

14 fathoms further; the low main, 3 feet, 11 fothoms

further; and the Hutton, 5 feet 9 inches, 8 fathoms

further, being a total depth of 94 fathoms. On August

22, 1766, sis masons and labourers, emploj'cd in Lamb-
ton coUiery, were lolled by a tremendous explosion of

fire-damp, by which they were forced up the shaft like

balls from the mouth of a cannon ; and many acres

around were strewed with the mutilated limbs of men
and horses, timber, coals, &c.

Houghton Gate Is a small hamlet in this township,

chiefly inhabited by pitmen.

PLAWSWORTH.

The area of the township of Plawsworth is 1,224 acres.

Its population has been successively returned at 177,

225, 227, 249, 266, and 286 ; 141 of the latter number
being males and 145 females. There were, in 1851, 58

|

inhabited houses and 2 iminhabited. The annual value

of property assessed for the county-rate in 1853 was
1,438/. 18.S.

This township is attached to Dm-ham Ward (see vol. i.,

p. 193), and contains six fannstcads, two public houses,

and a corn-mill. The village of Plawsworth is situated !

on the great north road, about 3 miles from Durhimi.

The estate was anciently held by a family of its own

name ; but the Kelawes, Forcers, Wylughbys, Boj'ntons,

Hotons, Claxtons, Conyers, Daldens, Killingwjcks,

Broimfields, and Boweses afterwards occm- as proprie-

tors. The manor of Nettlesworth belonged successively

to the Gategangs, Ilagthorjjs, and Wessingtons. In

modem times, it became, with Hokmi/ers and Brodemyers,

the property of the Askews of Palinsburn. Plawsworth

Cottage, a respectable mansion, is the property and resi-

dence of the Misses Purvis, sisters of the late Thomas
Purvis, Esq.

Tlie Purvis familj- is paternally descended from the

Barkers, at one time widely spread in the county of

Northumberland, and tUling several of the first mimici-

pal ofiices in the ancient borough of Morpeth. Christo-

pher Barker, Esq., of Earsdon, born in 1732, married,

January 12, 1764, Elizabeth, only daughter of Thomas

Purvis, Esq., of Bedlington, and sister and sole heiress

of Henry Purvis, Esq. ^Ir. Barker died June 17, 1771,

leaving issue two sons, of whom the second died without

issue. The eldest, Charles-Dalston Barker, Esq., of

Earsdon, a deputy lieutenant and a deputy vice-admii-al

of the county of Northimiberland, baptized Jime 13,

1765, took the name and ai-ms of Purvis, iu compliance

with the will of his imcle, Henry PurWs, Esq. He
married, first, Mar}-, daughter of Robert Surtees, Esq.,

of MiLkweUbum, and had by her two sons and two

daughters ; and, secondly, in 1810, Dorothy, daughter

and co-heiress of Cuthbert Watson, Esq., of Cowpen, by

whom he had a daughter, married to John Anderson,

Esq., of Coxlodge. He died July 21, 1821, and was

succeeded b}' his son, the late Thomas Pur\is, Esq., of

Plawsworth and Ear.sdon, A.M. of Trinity College,

Cambridge, Q.C., and Bencher of Gray's Inn. Mr.

Purvis was in the commission of the peace for Dm-ham
and Northimiberland, and was a candidate for the repre-'

sentation of the city of Dui-ham in 1843.

Aims—Quarterly, Purvis. Barker, and Dalston,

Crest—A Saracen's head.

Motto—Nee temere, nee timide.

Seats—Plawsworth, Durham; and Earsdon, Northumberland.

By articles of agreement, bearing date the 16th of

February, 1769, for the dividing and enclosing the town

fields of Plawsworth, William Hepplc of Picktree, Jona-

than AVTiite of the parish of Ht. Oswald, and Robert

Richardson of Darlington, were appointed commissioners

for the purpose ; and their award was signed and exe-

cuted the 5th of May follo\ving. The fields to be divided

were called Broom Pasture, West Field, and Beanley

Field, on the west side of the great north road ; Little

Field, High East Field, Low East Field, and Rve Croft,
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ou the east side. They were apportioned to the pro-

prietors of the adjoining farms as follows :—To Mr.

Stephenson, 86a. 2r. 18 p. ; to Mr. Richard Rowe, 40a.

R. 12 p. ; to Mr. Hawdon Rowe, 73 a. 3 k. 5 p. ; to Mr.

John Darling, 41 a. 3 r. 13 p. ; to Mr. Thomas Mowbray,

15 a. 1 r. 16 p.; and for two lanes, 3 a. 2r. ; total,

261 A. R. 24 p.

Nottlemorth Colliery comprises a royalty of 300 acres,

and is held by lease for 42 years from January 1, 1840,

by Messrs Elliott and Jonassohn. The five-quarter

seam, 3^ feet thick, and the main coal, 5| feet tliick,

have been sunk to and partially worked ; and the low

main and Hutton seams have been proved by borings,

the former being 3 feet 2 inches, and the latter 3 feet

.9 inches in thickness.

WALDRIDGE.

This township contains an area of 795 acres. Its popu-

lation, at the successive periods of return, was 83, 77,

125, 104, 432, and 747 ; 399 of the latter being males

and 348 females. There were, in 1851, 124 inhabited

houses and 1 iminhabited. The annual value of property

assessed to the county-rate in 1853 was 1,936/. 14s. Qd.

The village of Waldridge stands on the north of the

Cone Beck, 1| miles south-west from Chester. In early

• During the first year in which this collieiy was worked, a general

strike of the pitnien of the Tyne and Wear took place ; and the owners

of Waldiidge, as well as of other collieries, employed parties of lead-

miners to work the coal. On Decemher 2-1, 1831, whUe from 20 to 30
of these men were in the pit, above 1,000 of the pitmen assembled in

a riotous manner at the shaft, stopped the engine, necessarily kept

going in order to draw out the water, and then threw lai-go iron tubs,

wooden cisterns, con'es, and other articles down the shaft, by which

VOL. II.

times, the estate belonged to the Lumleys. In 1633,

Thomas Smith, Esq., bequeathed it to his two daughters
;

and in 1720, George Black, Gent., occurs as proprietor.

Mr. David Stephenson, architect, of Newcastle, purchased

it in the early part of the present century ; and it now
belongs to the representatives of the late Captain Ste-

phenson. The late Earl of Dm-ham formed a training

ground and erected excellent stables on Waldridge Fell,

which were afterwards occupied by Chas. Attwood, Esq.,

whilst engaged in a series of expeiiments for improving

the breed of the English racer. There are an earthen-

ware and a fire-brick manufactory at Waldridge.

Waldridge ColUcrij is held under lease of Charles

JollifFe, Esq., and Lady Byron, by George Sowerby,

Esq., and Partners. The first waggon-load of coals was

drawn ofi" on August 1, 1831, amidst great rejoicings.*

There are two coal-pits and one engine-pit. The five-

quarter seam, 3 feet 7 inches tliick, is at the depth of 14

fathoms ; the main coal, 4 feet 3 inches, at 20 fathoms

;

and the Hutton seam, 3 feet 10 inches, at 50 fathoms.

The coals are shipped at the drops at South Shields.

On October 7, 1841, a large quantity of water burst into

the mine, whilst between 60 and 70 men and boys were

at work : fortunately, they were enabled to efiect their

retreat into some old workings, from which they were

afterwards safely brought to bank.

tliose below were placed in the most imminent danger. The govern-

ment offered a reward of 250 guineas, and a free pardon to accomplices

gi\'ing evidence, for the discovery of the offenders ; and a further re-

ward of 250 guineas was offered by the owners of the colliery, At the

Durham spi-ing assizes, March 2, 1833, seven men were put upon their

trial for the outrage, six of whom were found guilty. Three of them

were sentenced to fifteen months, two to twelve months, and one to six

months imprisonment.

4r
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CHAPELRY OF HOLY TRINITY, PELTON,

The district of the chapelry of the Holy Trinity, Pelton, consists of the townships of Pelton and Ouston, and

parts of the townships of Edmondsley, Urpeth, Lumesley, and Chester-le-Street, and is bounded on the north by

Urpeth Burn ; on the north-east by the Rowledge Biu-n, which separates the townships of Birtley and Ouston, and

on the south-east by the boundarj' line which separates the townships of Harraton and Chester-le-Street from the

townships of Ouston and Pelton ; on the south by the Chester Burn, which separates the township of Chester-le-

Street and part of the township of Edmondsley from the to^vnship of Pelton, as far as its jimction with the Chester

Coal-road, about half a mile to the east of Craig's Head, along the centre of which road the boundary proceeds

westerly as far as the poiat where it meets the parish of Lanchester, and then contiuues in a westerly direction

along the boundary line of the said last-mentioned paiish and the parish of Chester-le-Street, as far as the south-

western extremity of the township of Edmondsley, near to Shafto House, and on the west of the boundary-line

which separates part of the townships of Edmondsley and Urpeth from the chapeliy of Tanfield.

This chapelry district was formed by order in coiuicil,

April 3, 1843, gazetted the 13th June following, and

licensed by the Bishop of Durham under 6 and 7 TTm.

IV. Its population, ui 1851, was 2,507, of whom 1,330

were males and 1,177 females; and there were 492

inhabited houses and 11 uninhabited.

PELTON.

The township of Pelton contains 1,109 acres. In 1801,

its population was 539 ; m 1811, 672 ; m 1821, 522 ; in

1831, 550; in 1841, 1,030; and ia 1851, 1,207, of

whom 643 were males and 564 females. There were,

at the latter date, 243 iahabited houses and 5 uniaha-

bited. The value of property assessed to the coimty-rate

in 1853 was 3,631/. 6s. 3(/.

The Stanhope branch of the North-eastern Railway

has an extent of 1 m. 4 f., and an area of 18 a., in the

township. In 1851, it contributed 32/. 10s, and in

1852, 40/. to the local rates ; the gross amounts collected

in those j-ears being 198/. 19s. 4Jrf. and 259/. 6s. l^d.

The village of Pelton* is irregularly built on high

groimd about 2 miles north-west of Chester-le-Street,

and contains a few public houses, several mechanics, and

a number of dweUmgs occupied by pitmen employed in

the neighbouring collieries. Pelton House is the resi-

dence of ilrs. Fenwick, reHct of Thomas Fenwick, Esq.

» " Pelton Lonin" is the name of one of the most sprightly and

popular north -country airs. The following words, which are all that

have been preserved of the original composition, would rather appear

to be a riddle than the remnant of an old song. Or, as has been ob-

served, " they may be notliing more than words suggested to the happy

intellect of some careless bard by the air itself, and who might not be

so fastidious about the sense as the sound." How there could be five

without an odd one is not apparent.

In 1320, Hugh Burden held lands in Pelton of John

de Haddam, the superior lord. The estate afterwards

passed to the Redhughs, and then to Robert de WTielp-

ington, who conveyed it to the Neville family, and it

was forfeited with their other possessions. In 1684, it

was di'N^ded into twelve freeholds. The principal pro-

prietors at present are the Earl of Diu'ham and Charles

Jolliffo, Esq.

THE CHURCH.

The foimdation-stone of Pelton church was laid Septem-

ber 30, 1841, by J. Fenwick, Esq., of South Hill, by

whom the ground for the site was given ; and it was

consecrated by the Bishop of Durham on the 24th of

October, 1842. It is sitriated about 200 yards from the

south side of the -^-iUage, and is a stone edifice of eccle-

siastical design, by Mr. Jackson, architect, of Dm-ham.

There is accommodation for 400 persons ; and two-thirds

of the sittins:s are free. The cost of the erection was

1,400/., towards which the owners of Pelton colliery,

individually and as a company, gave 325/. A stained

glass window, representing Aaron stapng the Plague,

was placed in the chmch in 1850, commemorative

of the preservation of the parish from cholera at a

time when it was prevalent in Chestcr-le-Street and the

neighbourhood. There are also a stained glass window,

" The swine com jingling domi Pelton lonin.

The swine com jingling down Pelton lonin.

The swine com jingUng down Pelton lonin.

There's five black swine and never an odd one ;

Three i' the dyke and two in the lonin.

Three i' the dyke and two in the lonin,

Three i' the dyke and two in the lonin.

There's five black swine and never an odd one."
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composed of rich foliage and diaper work in a crocketed

frame, the gift of Mrs. Bewicke, of Close House and

Urpeth ; another, erected by John Eden, Esq., of

Beamish Park, containing his arms and those of his

uncles. Sir Piobert Johnson Eden, Bart., and Morton

John Da^dson, Esq., benefactors of the church : and one

erected by Mr. Boyd, of Urpeth, as a memorial to his

children.

The incumbent of Chester-le-Street is patron of the

living ; and the Rev. Henry Barrett, A.M., is curate.

Lady Byron, joint lady of the manor, granted 10/. a year

to the permanent endowment of the li\-ing ; and the

Bisliop of Durham gave 60/. a year to its temporary

endowment. By order in council, August 23, 1843, the

ecclesiastical commissioners gave an annual grant of

135/., thereby augmenting the net income to 150/. a

year. It is now 170/. A parsonage house was built in

1845, towards which the owners of Pelton colliery con-

tributed 100/.

A national school for girls was erected by siibscription

in 1847, to which the owners of the colliery, who subse-

quently established a school for the boys of their own
workmen, contributed 20/. A national school for boys,

with a residence for the master, was also built by sub-

scription, at a cost of above 400/. ; the principal contri-

butors being the Bi.shop of Durham; the Earl of

Durham ; Mrs. Bewicke ; Thomas Fenwick, Esq., the

donor of the site ; John Eden, Esq., of Beamish Park

;

Charles Jollifle, Esq., one of the lords of the manor;

T. \V. Craster, Esq., of Craster Tower; E. F. Boyd,

Esq. ; the owners of Urpeth, Ouston, and Twizell col-

lieries ; the incumbent and chiu'chwardens of Pelton

;

Messrs. Joshua Greene and Sons, of Gateshead; and

most of the occupiers and residents within the district of

• .James Eeid, Ksq., son uf Christian Ker Eeid, goldsmith and jewel-

ler, of Newca'itle, commenced at an early period of life as a merchant,

in whicli profession he displayed great ahility and enti.-rprise. He was

the first to give an impulse to the trade between Newcastle and Ham-
burgh, and, as early as 1823-4, established a regular communication

between the two ports. He took an active part, and was mainly in-

struiiientjil in procuring a repeal of tlie duty on sea-borne coal, thus

opening out a market for the immense quantity of small cool lying as

useless at eveiy coUiery. Having introduced the coals of the Pelton

coUieiy to the Loudon Cliartered (las Company, to which Mr. Reid was

agent, the directors so highly approved of the quality of the coal, that

in order to secure a continuous supply, Sir. Eeid was encouraged to

purchase the interest of the lessees, and to ascertain the value of the

royalty, which belonged to the see of Dnrliani. After a protracted

negotiation, in whicli much tact and ability were required, the whole
was arranged by Mr. Reid, the sum paid being 80,000/. Mr. Reid was
appointed consul for Belgium for the port of Newcastle, on the 20th of

August, 1832, after the separation of Belgium fi-om Holland, the duties

Pelton. The government inspector, the Rev. D. J.

Stewart, visited these schools on May 12, 1853, when,

in the boys' school there were 75 present at examination,

42 had left and 66 been admitted during the preceding

twelve months, and the average attendance was 80. In

the girls' or mixed school, 60 were present at examina-

tion, 37 had left and 52 been admitted during the year,

and the average attendance was 57. The general obser-

vations were

—

Boys—" Buildings, fair ; no class-room. Offices in a small yard.

Desks, three groups of two parallel desks, two fixed to wall ; furniture,

stove, book-closet. Playground, none. Books, fair supply ; apparatus,

one black board and easel, one small board. Organization : standard

of classification : reading and arithmetic. Five classes for general

subjects, under master and one pupU-teacher ; three divisions for

Scripture lessons; one group for higher rules of arithmetic. The
pupU-teacher is not confined to any one class. Methods capable of

improvement. Discipline and instruction fair."

Mixed—" Builtlings fair ; no class-room ; stone floor ; no offices.

Desks, one group of three parallel, on a graduated platform ; a gallery

;

furniture, two teachers' desks, one table, one washing basin, towel.

Books fair ; apparatus, one black-board, one easel, one small board.

Organization ; standard of classification : reading. Five classes for all

subjects ; one division for music lesson. ImlividuiJ instruction in

arithmetic."

Pelton Colliery was commenced by Messrs. Kingscote

and Co., by whom the ground was broken for the air-

shaft on August 12, 1835. The depth of this shaft is

64 fathoms, and that of the working shaft 52 fathoms.

The seam wrought is the Hutton, which is here from

4 feet 4 inches to 4 feet 6 inches thick. The fitting

office is at Newcastle, Mr. W. I. Hutchinson, agent;

but the coals are shipped at South Shields. The coUiery

was for some time wrought by Mr. James Reid* and

Partners, by whom the workings were considerably ex-

tended and various improvements introduced. It was
afterwards carried on under the firm of Swabeyf and
Co., and is now the property of W. C. Curteis and Co.

of which he continued to perform tiU his death, December 30, 1848.

The urbanity and kindness of manner, and generosity of disposition

approaching to a fault, procured for Mr. Reid the respect and goodwUl
of a large circle of friends in all classes of society.

+ On May 10, 1854, an inquiry, the Queen v. Henrj- Birchfield

Swabey, took place at the County Court, Durham, before WUliara
Wooler, Esq., the under sherifl' of the county, the object of which was
thus recited in the writ :

—
" That by an inquisition taken at the she-

rift"'s office, Eed Lion Sciuare, London, on the 7th of November last,

before Thos. Bamford and W. Burchell the younger, gentlemen, and
by virtue of a commission issued out of and under the seal of the Court

of E.xchequer, to them directed, it was found that Henry Birchfield

Swaliey, of Doctor's Commons, in the city of London, in the said com-

mission named, was, on the day of the tjildng of the said inquisition,

justly and truly indebted to the crown in the sum of CC,000i., being so

much of the monies had and received by the said H, B. Swabey, as the

Eegistrar of the High Court of Admiralty of England, for the use of
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OUSTON.

The township and hamlet of Oiiston, 3 miles north-

north-west of Chester, contaias 636 acres. Its popula-

tion, in 1801, M-as 48; in 1811, it was retiimed with

that of Urpeth, but has been estimated at 150 ; in 1821,

it was 304 ; in 1831, 273 ; in 1841, 282 ; and in 1851,

300, of whom 157 were males and 143 females. There

were, at that date, 54 inhabited houses. The property

was valued for the coimty-rate in 1853 at 1,532/. lis. 8d.

Ulkiston was given by Bishop Farnham, in 1284, to

St. Edmund's Hospital ia Gateshead. iVfter the Disso-

lution, Ouston became the property of the Andersons,

and subsequently of the Hedworths, from whom it

passed to their co-heirs, JolliiFc and Milbanke.

Ouston Collieries were formerly worked by ^lessrs.

Perldns, Thompson, and Co., and are now carried on by

Messrs. Himt and Co. The maudlru scam, 2 feet 3

inches thick, is found at the depth of 9 fathoms : the low

main, 1 foot 10 inches, 6 fathoms further ; the brass

thUl, 1 foot 10 inches, 8 fathoms further ; and 15

fathoms below that is the Hutton seam, 5 feet thick.

On February 21, 1823, four men were killed, and two

severely bm-nt, by an explosion of ioflammable air in

one of the pits. These collieries, with Urpeth, are in

the coking coal district.

URPETH.

The township of Urpeth contains an area of 1,671 acres.

In 1801, its popidation was 524 ; in 1811, (estimated at)

1,269 ; in 1821, 650 ; in 1831, 716 ; in 1841, 907 ; and

in 1851, 952, of whom 501 were males and 451 females.

There were 118 inhabited houses, and 6 uninhabited, at

the latter date. The property was assessed for the

county-rate in 1853 at 3,212/. lO-s. lOd.

The village of Urpeth is situated 3 nules to the north-

west of Chester-le-Street, and on the south of the Team.

Urpeth Paper-mill, for the manufacture of brown paper,

is worked by the Messrs. Hudson, of Newcastle, who,

duriuff the last twelve months, have introduced exten-

sive alterations and improvements. There are three

iron forges in Urjieth, belonging to Messrs. Hawks and

the crown, and by him unaccounted for, as by the same commission

and inquisition more fully appears." The jun- found the defendant to

be possessed of eight-sixteendis of Pelton collier}-, which they valued

at 1,159!. 15s. lOd. per annum, and that he was also entitled to eight-

fifteenths of the royalty, which they valued at 801i. Is. per annum.

Upon this yearly income, they valued his entire interest at 9} years'

purchase, making 18,0272. 19s. llif., subject to two mortgages ; one for

1,600J. to EUzaheth JIary Wilkinson, and another for lO.OOOZ. to Wil-

liam Prescott. Other two mortgages, for 3,000!. and 7,000!., were only

allowed as claims ; the mortgagees not being able to prove the actual

I
Crawshay. Urpeth Lodge is the occasional residence of

I

Mrs. Margaret Bewicke, widow of Calverley Bewicke,

Esq., M.P.

Urpeth Moor, containing 136 acres, was divided by

agreement in 1796 ; when the Bishop of Durham had

6f/. per acre reserved rent on the allotments, and the

mines were reserved. The award was lodged in the

auditor's office, Durham, in 1798.

By Boldon Book, Urjieth was held by drengage

teniu-e. Thomas de Urpeth is the first person mentioned

as possessing the manor, which he held of the bishop in

capite, except five lands of husbandry and an assart

called the Rydding, which Alexander de Kibblesworth,

who married his daughter Idoma, then had ; Thomas

doing homage and fealty, rendering 60.s. rent, ploughing

and harrowing eight acres of the lord's land at Chester,

ha^Tiig provision fotmd by the bishop during such work,

!
prepaiing three balks of land for seed com in autimin,

I

j
with 24 men each, and one with 12, the bishop providing

for ever}' three men a loaf of bread, of the assize of

eight to the bushel, a flagon of beer, and a portion of

cheese of half a stone weight ; besides the dringage ser-

vice noted in Boldon Book. Sir Thomas Grey, of

Hoton, held the manor imder Bishop Hatfield ; and it

was part of the forfeiture on the attainder and execution

of Sir Thomas Grey, Knt., in 1415. Bishop Neville

restored it to Sir Ralph Grey, Knt., in 1454 ; after

which it became the propertj^ of the Hedworths, who
alienated it to the Lambtons. In 1640, it was purchased

by Robert Bewicke, Esq., mayor of Newcastle, by whose

descendants it is stiU held.

Pokerleij.—This estate anciently gave name to a resi-

dent family ; and both they and the !Monbouchers, lords

of Beamish, continued to hold lands of the lords of

Urpeth. Pokerley at length became vested in the

family of Newton, from whom it passed by marriage to

the Hedworths of Whickham. It is mostly copyhold,

xmder the bishop's manor of Chester.

Pit-Hill is a hamlet containing two fitrmsteads and

two public houses, but is chiefly occupied by the viewer,

agent, overmen, and mechanics attached to the adjoin ing

pa.vment of the money to Swabcy. Two mortgages of the North of

England Joint Stock Banking Company for 5,5S9!. 13s. dd. were, a; to

5,000!., foimd to be the nnpaid purchase money of two shares purchased

by Swahey of the bank, the remainder being interest. The claim of

Swabey's copartners of a lien on his shares for upwards of 10,000!.,

monies received by him on account of the partnership, but not ac-

coimted for, was disallowed, but mentioned in the inquisition, enabling

them to traverse if they should tliink fit. The value of the moveable

stock on the coUierj- was found to be C,000!,, and the amount of debts

due to the firm 4,7021. 8s. Gd.
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pits. Urpcth Colliery is worked by Messrs. Hunt and

Co., proprietors of those at Ouston.*

EDMOXDSLEY.

The township of Edmondsley contains an area of 1,964

acres. Its poijulation was retm-ned, at the successive

enumerations, at 439, 223, 205, 150, 253, and 348 ; 186

of the latter number being males and 162 females. In

1851, there were 71 inhabited houses. The value of

property assessed for the county-rate in 1853 was

3,097/. 7s.

The Stanhope branch of the North-eastern Railway

has an extent of 3 f. 40 v., and an area of 3 A., in this

township, towards the local rates of which it contributed

21. Us. 6,1 in each of the years 1851 and 1852. The

g;ross amounts collected in those years were 78/. 19s. 5d.

and 78/. 3.s.

In 1382, "William do Edmonsley died seised of the

manor, which was held of the bishop by homage, fealty,

and 10s. It was forfeited on the attainder of Robert

Claxton for high treason, and, in 1573, became the pro-

perty of John Heath, Esq., of Kepyer. In 1632, it was

granted to the Wardells, by whose descendants West

Edmondsley is still held. Edmondsley Colliery is worked

by Mr. Tyzick.

Broomyholme was held, in 1328, by Ranulph de Mer-

• In driving through a "trouble" in Urpeth colliery, at a depth of

80 fathoms from the surface, the substance called Hatehetiiu was found

in cavities near tlie sides of the troulile, and sometimes in the solid

•antistone rock. It occurred in considerable quantity, and was suffi-

ciently soft to he made up into halls by the workmen. It is a species

ley of the hospital of Alverton, by 18s. rent, and Md. to

Robert Lambton. In 1720, it was conveyed by George

Greenwell to William and Henry Lambton, Es^rs.

The manor of Triblcy was anciently held conjointly

with Birtley. In 1472, it was granted by charter to

William Lambton the younger, Robert Lambton the

younger, and Roger Bothe, and has since formed part of

the Lambtons' family estate.

Ticizel (signifying a boundary) is a manor on Stanley

Burn, at the extreme north-western verge of the town-

ship. The Birtley, Lmnley, and Tempest families were

successive proprietors ; and it was forfeited to the crown

in 1569. In 1587, it was purchased by George Johnson,

whose descendants sold it, in 1714, for 2,041/., to

Emanuel Bradlej\ The Newtons of Burnopfield pur-

chased it from Bradley's sons for 3,500/. A moiety,

imder a commission of bankruptcy, was conveyed to

Andrew Stoney, Esq., in 1775. Thomas Bowes, to

whom the estate afterwards passed, granted it, in 1800,

imder orders in Chancery, to Richard Scruton and John

Htmible, in trust for Thomas Wade, Esq. The Hagg
estate, long held by the Pearsons, was eventually united

by purchase with the Twizel estate ia the Newtons.

Tifizel Colliery is worked by James Joicey, Esq. The

freehold of the mine, containing about 360 acres, was

advertised for sale on April 1, 1847.

of fossil wax, analogous to the Ozocerite found in Moldavia ; and it also

occurs at Merthyr Tydvil, in the ironstone of Shropshire, and else-

where. A description and analysis of the variety found at Urpeth was

laid before the Natural History Society at Newcastle, by James F. W.
Johnston, A.M., in August, 1837.

CHAPELRY DISTRICT OF BIRTLEY.

The chapelry district of St. John the Evangelist, Birtley is boimded on the north and north-east by the chapelry

of Usworth in the parish of Washington, on the east by the said parish of Washington, on the south-east by the

parish of Penshaw and the river Wear, on the south by the townships of Lambton and Chester-le-Street, on the

south-west and west by the townships of Ouston and Urpeth in the chapelry of Polton, and on the norlh-west by

the chapelry of Ijamcsley. The chapelry district, which was formed by order in coimcil, January 8, 1850, com-

prises the townships of Birtley and Harraton.

BIRTLEY

The township of Birtley comprises an area of 1,392

acres. Its population, at the six successive periods of

enumeration, was 1,026, 1,094, 1,386, 1,520, 1,759, and

1,833 ; 940 of the latter number being males and 887

females. In 1851, there were 353 inhabited houses, 6

VOL. II.

tminhabitcd, and 1 buildmg. The annual value of pro-

perty assessed to the county-rate in 1853 was 4,394/. 3s. 3d.

Birtley is a considerable village on the east side

of the turnpike road, 3 miles north from Chester-

le-Strcet. It is chiefly inhabited by pitmen, and

contains five public houses, a post-office, a police station,

and a few shops. Birtley Hall, which stands pleasantly

4s
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on a rising ground, formerly the residence of Eenjamin

Thompson, Esq., was afterwards occupied by II. Hunt,

Esq., who died in 18-JO. BirfUi/ White House is the

property and residence of Mr. Thomas Humble.

White Cake Row, Red Row, and Brown's Bidhliiigs

are ranges of cottages occupied by the workmen in the

neighbourhood

.

The Biiikij Iron Works, conducted by Messrs. Perkins

and Co., have been established above 30 years. At the

commencement of the undertaking, the iron-stone in the

district was secured, by the purchase of an extensive

royalty. The produce, however, was soon found to be

deficient both in quantity and quality; and the iron-

stone for the two furnaces which are now in blast is

brought from Whitby. On the premises is also suitable

machinery for the manufacture of iron in various de-

partments. The works are enclosed within an extensive

area, contiguous to the turnpike road on the west, and

give employment to a great number of persons in Bu'tley

and its vicinity.

The salt works at Birtley, which belonged to Sir

William Lambton, were totally destroyed by the Scots

during the civil wai-s. About 70 years ago, a salt spring

was discovered, in making a colliery drift at the depth

of 140 yards. It was convej'cd about 250 yards from

the place where it issued to the bottom of the pit, from

whence it was pimiped by a steam-engine. The water

contained much more salt than the sea, and for some

years the quantity never varied. The manufacture of

salt is, however, now discontinued.

THE CHURCH.

Birtley church was consecrated by the Bishop of Dur-

ham on the 16th of August, 1849. It is a neat and

elegant building, in the Norman style, consisting of

tower, nave, and chancel, terminating in an apse, which

has three windows, the centre one being filled with

stained glass, representing the figure of St. John the

Evangelist, to whom the church is dedicated, and having

the collect for that saint's festival inscribed on a slab

beneath it. There are five round-headed lights on each

side of the nave. The entrance to the church is on the

west, underneath a circular arch with zigzag moulding.

A verj' unique communion ser\"ice, consisting of a cha-

lice, paten, and flagon, of antique designs, and manufac-

tured for the purpose in Devonshire, was presented by a

lady. The cemetery surrounds the church.

The incimibent of Chester-le-Strcct is patron of the

living ; and the Rev. Francis WiUiam Bewsher, A.M.,

is the present curate. In 1800, 300/. was granted from

the Maltby Fund towards the erection of a parsonage-

house, and, in 18-52, 100/. in addition. It is pleasantly

situated a little to the north-west of the church, and the

grounds attached to it are tastefully laid out.

The Wesleyan ^lethodists have a meeting-room in

Birtley. A Roman Catholic congregation have assem-

bled for many years, and who, on August 8, 1843,

opened a new chapel. It is a neat Gothic structure,

from designs by John Dobson, Esq., architect, Newcastle.

On the western gable is an octagonal turret, surmounted

by a spiret. The interior consists of a nave and chancel,

separated by a pointed arch. The east window consists

of throe pointed lights, filled with stained glass, and

containing representations of the Crucifixion and other

subjects. The seats are aU open ; and there is a western

gallery, which contains an organ. The chapel is dedi-

cated to St. Joseph. Attached is a school under govern-

ment superintendence, which, in 1853, received a grant

for books from the Committee of Comicil on Education.

There is also a library and reading-room for the use of

the congregation. The present clergjTnan is the Rev.

John Swale.

Previous to Hatfield's Survey, a family had assumed

the local name of Birtley, which, in 1366, terminated in

two co-heiresses. The eldest sold her estate to Ralph

Lord Keville ; and this moiety was included in the for-

feiture of the Earl of Westmoreland in 1569. In the

following year, it was granted to Robert Catchcside and

WiUiam Carr. It passed by marriage to Gilbert EgljTi

;

and in the third descent, part of the manor became

vested in the Blenkinsops. Other parts were settled

on the Maddisons and Halls.

Porto Bello is a hamlet in the township of Birtley.

Leyburx Hold, north of Birtley, where the new and

old roads from Newcastle to Durham meet, was in former

daj's enshrouded with wood, under the shelter of which,

it is said, robbers lay in wait for defenceless travellers.

HARRATON.

The township of Harraton contains 2,394 acres. Its

population, at the decennial periods of return, was 1,607,

1,759, 2,217, 2,171, 1,601, and 1,614 ; 824 of the latter

being males and 790 females. The decrease in latter

years is attributed to the collieries in the district becom-

ing nearly exhausted. In 1851, there were 342 inha-

bited houses and 24 uninhabited. The annual value of

property assessed to the county-rate in 1853 was 5,773/

Q>s. Ad.
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The North-eastern Railway has an extent of 2 m. 4 f.

48 Y., and an area of 80 a., in this township. In 1851,

it contributed 5G/. 5.?. ChL, and in 1852, 5S/. 6s. Sd. to

the local rates ; the gross amounts collected in those

years being 334/. l.s. 6,/. and 2,1 U. 14.v. Id. The Pontop

branch of this railway, now in course of construction,

will be 3' M. in length. It commences in the township

of Ilarraton, and terminates in that of Pclton.

This township contains the Castle and Park of Lamb-

ton, the seat of the Earl of Durham ; also, the hamlets

of CiiATEu's Haugh, Fatfield, Nova Scotia, High
Haucii, Picktrf.e, and Houghton G.\te. Clement-

son's Row, at the Black Fell, and Vigo, are also places

inhabited by persons engaged in the coal works. More

than a dozen pubUc houses, and a proportionate number

of tradesmen's shops, are scattered over the township.

Harvertune was granted by Bishop Flanibard to his

kinsman WiUiam, whose descendants assumed the local

name. Ilarraton afterwards became the property of the

Darc}''s, and, by marriage, exchange, or purchase, passed

to the Hedworths. Besides this estate, the family were,

at one time, possessed of the manor of Southwick, the

grange of Saltwellside, Urpeth, Riclcdcn, lands in

Clcadon, Whitburn, Scots House, JarroW; Hedworth,
Sunderland, Moorhouse, Picktrco, West Ilorrington,

Burnigall, Woodhara, Bratferton, and Bursblades. Sir

John Hedworth, " a man of indolent temper and weak
intellect," sold and leased his estates and mines for

trifling considerations, and was at length driven from

the house of his ancestors, and subsisted on the charity

of his neighbours. He died in 1642, leaving his son,

John Hedworth, then just of age, involved in the diffi-

culties his father had created. The collieries of Ilarraton

had been leased, for a mere acknowledgment, to Sir

William Wray, of Beamish, " a Papist and recusant

convict," so that they were sequestered in 1644, when
valued at 3,000/. per annum. In 1647, these collieries

were leased, imder the state, to George Grey of South-

wick, and George Lilburn, " who also made title under

a lease of Sir John Hedworth to Robert Conyers, trans-

ferred by Conyers to Josiah Primate, and by him to

Grey and Lilburn." Primate, who petitioned parliament

in support of his claims, and Lieutenant-colonel Lilburn,

were each fined 7,000/. ; and tliough young Hedworth,

who had married the daughter of George Grey, might
have been expected to regain possession of his own pro-

perty, yet Sir Arthur Ilaslerigg, then governor of New-
castle, sequestered Ilarraton on Wray's delinquency,

and let both land and colliery to Colonel Hacker,

•Colonel Mayers, and Major Tolhui'st. Hedworth was

consequently "forced to hire his own ground of those

who occupied it, to put in some cowes to give a little

milkc to feed his poor young babes." He published

" The oppressed Man's Outcry, an Epistle writ by John

Headworth, of Harraton, in the Comity of Dui'ham,

Esquire, the 1 1th of September, 1651, unto the Honour-

able fir Henry Vane the elder, a Member of the

Honourable Parliament of the Commonwealth of Eng-
land, William Vane his Sonne, Lieutenant ColoneU

Paid Ilobson, John Middleton, Esquires, and Members
of the Committee of the jMilitia, in the County of Dur-

ham, by Authority of Parliament." In this epistle, he

states that " he is the son and hcire of a deceased knight,

Sir John Hedworth, who was lord, owner, or proprietor

of the lands of Ilarraton, in the county of Durham, and

aU the cole mynos thereof, and left them unto mo by an

unblemished ancient entayle, as strong as the law of

England (his undoubted birthright) could make any, as

his eldest sonne and helrc ; and being by his decease left

young, and destitute of the support of powerful friends

and allies, and thereby fit to become a prey to every

devouring wolfe—and it was my unhappy fate to live

in the age when Sir Arthur Haselriggc became governor

of Newcastle, a man of high and covetous spirit, the

whole county of Durham being too little in revenue to

content his greedy appetite, a man that will admit of no

rule to walk by but his own crooked and perverse will

of the sword." Mr. Hedworth died in 1655 ; and Co-

lonel Jackson, who had served in the royal army, but

afterwards acquired the confidence of Haslerigg, married

Mrs. Hedworth, and got possession of two parts of Har-

raton, having obtained a lease under the Protector. He
" secured Lady Iledworth's gowns and petticoats for his

own daughters, secured also his own sisters' fortunes for

his own use, and transmitted a large slice of the Harra-

ton estate, Cliatersliaugh, to his descendants." He was

knighted at the Restoration for his loyalty. The re-

maining third of Ilarraton was the dowry of Dame
Dorothy Hedworth, the relict of old Sir John. John
Hedworth, her grandson, left a minor in 1655, in some

measure retrieved his shattered fortunes by marriage

witli the co-heiress of James of Washington. He died

in 1688, leaving two daughters and co-heiresses, of

whom the elder, Dorothy, intermarried with Ralph
Lambton, Esq., of Lambton, and the younger became

the wife of William Williamson, Bart. In 1714, the

whole estate of Ilarraton was re-unitcd in Lambton by
purchase of Williamson's moiety. The tenure of the

manor is unilbriuly stated ut the service of one knight's

fee.
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Harraton Colliery is now worked by Messrs. Stobart,

Bell, and Co. On Xovember 29, 1808, an explosion

took place in the Row-pit, by which four men and 21

horses were killed. As the coal was set on fire by the

blast, the pits were tightly scaffolded to exclude the air

;

and on opening them, two months afterwards, the fire

was found to be extinguished. To the surprise of every

one, a pony was found alive and in good condition. It

had a trick of slipping its halter, and was supposed to

have done so on this occasion, when it found fresh air

in the rise part of the workings, and lived upon the

forage of its dead companions. On Jxme 30, 1817, 38

men and boys were killed by an explosion ; and, shortly

afterwards, eight men, who went down the Nova Scotia

pit to repair some injuries caused by the explosion in the

Row-pit, were killed by the choak damp, which had

found its way into the workings.

Pelaw is situated about a mile to the north of Ches-

ter, and contains the residence of Henr}' Stobart, Esq.

John de Pelaw sold the manor, in 1381, to the Elmeden

family, from whom, in 1557, it passed by marriage to

Sir Bertram Bulmer, who sold it, in four equal portions,

• The Picktree Brag was a mischievous goblin, the existence of

Tchich was recently firmly believed in by many of the inhabitants of

the parish of Chester le-Street. Sir Cuthbert Sharp, in his " Bishop-

rick Garland," gives the following account of this singular being {which

he inadvertently styles the Pelton Brag ) verbatim from the deposition

of an old woman of respectable appearance, of about 90 years of age,

living near the spot :—" She said, I never saw the Brag very distinctly,

but I frequently heard it. It sometimes appeared like a calf, with a

white handkerchief about its neck, and a bushy taO. It came also like

a galloway, but more often like a coach horse, and went trotUng along

the 'lonin, afore folks, settin up a gieat nicker and a whinney eveiy

now and then ;' and it came frequently like a ' dickass,' and it always

stopped at the pond of the four ' lonin ends, and nickered and whin-

nied.' My brother once saw it like four men holding up a white sheet.

I was then sure that some near relation was going to die; which was

true. My husband once saw it in the image of a naked man without

a head. I knew a man of the name of Bewick that was so frightened

that he hanged himself ' for fear on't.' ^Tienever the midwife was

sent for, it always came up with her in the shape of a ' galloway.' Dr.

Harrison wouldn't believe in it ; but he met it one night as he was

going home, and it ' maist ' killed him ; but he never would tell what

happened, and didn't like to talk about it ; and whenever the Brag was

mentioned, he sat ' tiirailin and shakin ' by the fireside. My uncle hud

a white suit of clothes, and the first time he ever put them on he met

the Brag, and he never had them on afterwards but he met with some

misfortune ; and once when he met the Brag, and had his white suit

on, (being a bold man) and having been at a christening, he was de-

termined to get on the Brag's back ; but when he com to the four

' lonin ends,' the Brag 'joggled him so sore,' that he could hardly keep

his seat, and at last it threw him otf into the middle of the pond, and

then ran away, setting up a great nicker and laugh, just 'for all the

world like a christian.' But this I know to be true of my own know-

ledge, that when my father was dying, the Brag was heard coming up

to Robert Ptmcheon and Richard Maddison of Pelaw,

Richard Sampson of Urpeth, and John Cook of Pelton.

In 1727, the estate was vested in Francis Carr, Esq.,

and passed under his device to the Carrs and Milbankes.

It is now, by purchase, the property of the Earl of Dur-

ham. RicledoH Gramje, in 1421, belonged to the Limi-

ley family, from whom it passed to the Hedworths. In

the time of Sir John Hedworth, the yearly rent was 20/.

About 1629, Ricleden became, by purchase, the property

of the Marlej's of Picktree. There were anciently a

chapel and an hospital in Pelaw, dedicated to St. Stephen.

PiCK-rREE and Nova Scotia are hamlets 1\ miles

north-by-west from Chester.* The Lambtons and Hed-

worths held property here ; but in 1679, Joseph Carr,

Esq., and Ralph Marley, Gent.,t of Picktree, were

jointly seised of the whole manor. Carr's moiety passed,

under an entail, to Sir Ralph Milbanlce, Bart., who sold

it to the late Earl of Durham ; the Lambton family

having previously, by successive purchases, acquired the

share of the Marleys.J

Fatfield is a busy village on the north bank of the

Wear, 3 miles north-east from Chester. It contains a

the lonin like a coach and six, and it stood before the house, and the

room ' shaked,' and it gave a terrible yell when my father died, and

then it went clattering and gallopin down the lonin, as if ' yeben and

yerth was coming together."
"

t " Robert Marley. of Picktree, served as a grand juror at the general

quarter sessions of the peace, held at Duiham, on the 3rd day ot Octo-

ber, 1C6C, when the grand jurj' presented a petition to the court in the

names and on behalf of all the freeholders of the said county, setting

forth, ' That they do not enjoy the privilege of sending members to

parliament as all the other counties of the kingdom do." The last of

the Marleys of Picktree was Thomas Marley, who died about 1790."

—

People's Hist, of Sunderland, p. 228.

J Ailsie Marley, the subject of a well-known popular song, was the

handsome landlady of the Barley Mow public house at Picktree. It

has been stated that, having accidentally dropped her pocket some-

where about the premises, she hunied into the house with the evil

tidings, when her husband, who was drinking with some company,

stnick up the following impromptu :

—

" d'ye ken Ailsie Marley, honey ;

The wife that sells the barley, honey?

She's lost her pocket and all her money

Aback 0' the bush i' the garden, honey."

In some stanzas afterwards added, Ailsie is described as affecting

airs of gentility, and a reflection is thrown upon her industry, so ne-

cessary a quality in a countrj- homestead :

—

"Ailsie Marley's grown sea fine.

She canna get up to sarra the swine

;

She lies abed till eight or nine

;

And d'ye ken Ailsie Marley, honey?'

On August 5, 17(i8, under the paroxysm of a fever, she wandered int*

the fields, and, fulling into an old coal-pit, was drowned.

M
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corn-mill, an iron-foundiy, and a manufactory of coal-tar,

lamp-black, and coke. At the staiths here, before the

extension of railways and the erection of drops and docks

at Simdcrland, a great nimiber of the keels took in their

loading, for shipment in the harbour. An explosion took

place at the Hall-pit near Fatfield, on September 28,

1813, when upwards of 30 men and boys were killed.

Chateu's IIauc;h is a collage adjoining Fatfield, and

at which coal-keels were also loaded. There is a small

Methodist chapel in the village. The estate formerly

belonged to the Hcdworth family, but afterwards became

the property of the Peareths, from an intermarriage with

the Jacksons of Harraton. Four men were killed by an

explosion in the pit, on August 11, 1756.

High Haugh is a hamlet on the banks of the Wear,

below Lambton Castle, where a ferry was established

many years ago.

LAMBTON CASTLE.

Lambton Castle is delightfully situated upon an im-

posing site rising boldly on the north bank of the Wear,

about two miles east-north-east from Chester-le-Street,

and, in all the newness of aspect, stands conspicuously

on the height above the river. This splendid mansion

occupies the site of Harraton Hall, formerly the seat of

the D'Arcys. The original building was in the style of

a manor house on a small scale, of the date of 1600.

William Henry Lambton, grandfather of the present

Earl, made some additions, imder the direction of Mr.

Bonomi, introducing the Italian style of architecture

;

and the late Ijord Durham, about the year 1820, con-

siderably enlarged the mansion. The exterior presents

a singidar mixture, that of the north being after the

Norman, and the other parts of the biulding, iacluding

the original portion, being Tudor and castellated with

ornamental turrets and embrasures, and a terrace wall of

considerable length and height facing the south. The

whole is of a varied outline, and produces, with its flag

tower of considerable height, an imposing and picturesque

effect.

The principal part of the interior having been fitted

up in the Italian style when William Henry Lambton

enlarged the building, the same style was continued by

the present j\Ir. Bonomi, in the additions made by the

late Earl of Dmham. The drawing room, library, and

other apartments, are richly decorated, whilst the walls

are adorned with the choicest specimens of ancient and

modern art.

VOL. II.

In the vesfibulc arc the following pictures :—General
' Lambton, by Romney ; Garrick's Villa ; Mr. and Mrs.

Garrick at tea, with Mr. Bowden, and Mr. Geo. Garrick's

familj^ by Zoffany ; Shakspere's Temple, Zoffany ; these

were pui'chased at Mrs. Garrick's sale.

The saloon : Captive, by Reynolds ; Lady Hamilton,

by the same
; purchased at liady Thomond's sale.

Titian's Mistress, Giorgione ; AVoman taken in adultery,

miknown. Of busts, are those of Buonaparte, by Chau-

dct ; Pope, by RoubilHac, pui-chased at Mrs. Garrick's

sale; the Earl of Durham, and a statue of the Hon.

Charles William Lambton, each by Behnes. Here also

are two malachite tables, of great beauty ; and two noble

porcelain vases, from the imiierial manufoctory of

Alexandorffsky, which were presented to the Earl of

Durham by the late Emperor of Russia in 1832 and 1836,

in testimony of his personal friendship and regard.

In the library the collection of books is copious and

select. The pictures, or rather portraits, are William

Henry Lambton, Angelica Kaufiiuan ; Charles, Earl

Grey, T. Phillips, R.A. ; Henry Brougham, the same

;

a Priest, Bassano ; Wdliani Lambton, Reynolds ; Frances

1

1 Susan Lambton, A. Kaufiiuan.

The Galkrij, a noble room, and worthy of the nu-

merous gems which cover its walls : Lady Louisa

Lambton, mother of the present earl, by Lawrence ; the

Hon. Charles Wdliam Lambton, by the same artist.

From this picture the admired and well known print

was engraved. The Earl of Durham, also by Lawrence
;

Death of Sir William Ijambton, at Marston Moor, Cooper;

Battle of Bosworth Field, the same ; each admirable.

The Trossachs, Glover ; Garrick at the Farmer's Return,

Zoifany ; Garrick and Mrs. Cibber, as Jafiier and

Belvidera, the same ; both purchased at Mrs. Garrick's

sale. Woodcutters, scene in Devonshire, Collins ; Land-

scape, S. Glover ; View on the Tiber, Evening, Wilson
;

Landscape, Both ; Landscape, Salvator Rosa ; Seventh

Plague of Egypt, Martin ; View near Tunbridgc, P.

Nasmyth; The Careless Messenger, Midready; Ullswater,

Hoffland ; Dui-ham Cathedral, Glover ; Lady Ann Lamb-

ton, and family, Hoppner; London and Blackfriar's

Bridge, Morning, Marlow ; Westminster Bridge, Evening,

the same ; Gravel Diggers, iVlphinson ; Ratcatchers, E.

Landseer ; Liberty, F. C. Turner ; TiUietudlem Castle,

Thompson (Edinb.) ; Tantallon Castle, the same; two

Landscapes, Doinonichino ; and many other works of

art, of equal merit.

In 1854, the greatest fear and alarm were entertained

as to the safety of this costly and magnihceut mansion.

The coal underneath the site of the building was worked

4 T
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as early as 1600. Tlic old mode of working coal was by

narrow' shifts, leaAing small jjillars to support the roof,

and these were sufficient at the time to hear the weight

of the building above ; but the upper seams, it appears,

had only a covering of fire-clay. This, ia course of time,

decomjiosed ; which, together with the additional weight

put upon the surface by the cuiargement of the mansion,

caused the building, in 1854, to crack and shrink in

several parts, renderiug it unsafe and dangerous as a

residence. Mr. Dobson, architect, Newcastle, was con-

sequently considted upon the subject. He immediately

introduced iron ties, so as to prevent the building further

separating. The mines miderneath were examined,

and the old workings fiUed up with solid brick work.

These and other precautions have been found effectual,

and the mansion is now about being put into complete

repair.

The river divides Lambtou Park into two nearly equal

portions. The bridge across the Wear was erected in

1819, from an elegant design b}^ Ignatius Bonomi, and

consists of a single arch, of 82 feet 6 inches span.* The

park, which has three handsome lodges at the respective

entrances, contained about 1,200 acres ; but, previous to

the death of the late Earl, a large tract of land was

added, and ornamental planting introduced. From
1821 to 1825, excellent horse races were annually held

in those beautiful groimds ; and Lambton Park races

were attended by the leading sportsmen of the day.

The gardens, A^nery, and nursery grounds are extensive,

and though fonnerly a mere bog, are in the highest state

of cultivation.

The Lambtons.—The regular pedigree of this ancient

family (whose name was originally written Lamfim)

commences at the close of the 12th centiuy ; but from

the name occurring in the attestation of charters, their

previous residence is fidly proved from a period approach-

ing the Norman era. The Lambtons and Limileys are

the only families in the county who retain the seats from

which they derive their names ; but whilst the Lumleys

• On Sunday, July 13, 1828, as Mr. Cook, blacksmith, of Neshaiu

coUiery, his brother-in-law, anil their wives, were prnieeding home
from Newcastle in a cart, the Wear, having overflowed, had ext nded

into the lane near the new bridge at Lambton Park. In attempting to

turn back, the horse, being nearly overhead in water, stumbled, and

was immediately drowned. After Mr. Cook and his friends had called

out for a long time, some persons walking to see the riverwent to their

assistance, but were unable to come neai- them, the water being several

feet deep in the lane, and coming very rapidly down the new bridge

field. Mr. Storey, of Ticktree, sent a horse and sledge to Lambtou, to

bring a boat to the new bridge, when John Ferguson, boatman (a

sailor), and two other persons, proceeded in the boat to rescue the

have chosen a distant residence, the Lambtons are as-

sociated with the county by a continued intercourse

down to the present time. The respect in which they

are held is evinced by the coiruuon saying, applied to

parties affecting a high position in society, that " they

think they are company for the Lambtons." The tenure

of the Lambton estates is stated at half a knight's fee.

John de Lamtmi was witness to the charter of Uchtred

de Wodeshend, between 1180 and 1200. Robert de

Lambton, lord of Lambton, son and heir of William son

of Robert, occurs in an inquisition in 1350, then aged

24 years. His son, WilKam de Lambton, heir to his

brother. Commissioner of Array for Easington Ward in

1385, and afterwards for Chester Ward, married ^Vlicc,

daughter of— Salcock, of Salcock, Lancashire, and died

July 20, 1430. He was succeeded by his son, William

Lambton, Esq., of Lambton, who died in 1431. Tho-

mas, his brother and heir, died September 26, 1473.

One brother, WiUiam, was Master of University College,

Oxford ; and another, John, was a Ivnight of Rhodes.

His son and heir, WiUiam, died January 7, 1474. His

wife, Elizabeth, had wardship of her son, Thomas, Com-

missioner of Array for Easmgton Ward, who died July

12, 1507. By his wife, daughter of — Rokcby, of

Rokeby, Yorkshire, he had an lieir, John Lambton,

Esq., of Lambtou, born in 1505. This gentleman mar-

ried Agnes, daughter and co-heiress (with her sisters,

Isabella, wife of Richard Conyers, Esq., of Horden, and

Margaret, wife of Thomas Trollop, Esq., of Thornley) of

Roger Lumley, Esq., of Ludworth, niece of Richard Lord

Lumlej^ and great-granddaughter of King Edward IV.

(through his natural daughter, Elizabeth PJantagenet,

wife of Thomas Luiulej', eldest son of George Lord

Lumley). Mr. Lambton died in 1582, and was suc-

ceeded by his eldest son,

Robert Lambton, Esq., who married Frances, daughter

of Sir Ralph Eure, Knt. (hj Margaret, daughter of Sir

Ralph Bowes, Knt.), sister of William Lord Eure, and

ninth in descent (through the families of Clifford, Lord

Clifford, Percy, Earl of Northmuberland, and ilortimer,

parties from their perilous situation. Itopes were thrown from the

boat to the people on shore to make fast to the trees, and also to tlie

persons in the cai't, as the water had risen, and they were standing up
to theu' shoulders. After three of them were removed from the cart,

it was carried away by the stream, when the other man jumped into

the w^ater, and caught hold of a rope that was thrown liom the boat.

As they were dragging him to the boat, the rope broke that fastened it

to the tree, and the boat was carried by the strong current over the

tops of the trees, in imminent danger of being upset ; but I'erguson,

by his skill, brought it ashore in Lord Durham's plantation. The
parties had been in their perilous situation in the boat abu\c tour

hours.
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Earl of March) from Lionel, Duke of Clarence, second

son of Edward III. Mr. Lambton died in 1583, and

was .succeeded by his son,

Ralph Lambton, Esq., who married, in 1587, Eleanor,

daughter of Thomas Tempest, Esq., of Stanley; and

dying in 1593, was succeeded by his son,

William Lambton, Esq., colonel of infantry in the

ser\'ice of Charles I., and who received the honour of

knighthood in 1614. Sir- William was born in 1589

;

and married, first, Jane, third daughter and co-heiress

of Sir Nicholas Curwen, of Workington, Cmuberland,

by whom he had (with two daughters, Elizabeth, mar-

ried to Sir Thomas Davison, Knt., and Eleanor, the wife

of Hemy Anderson, Esq., of Long Cautor) a son and

successor, Henr}'. He married, secondly, Catheriae,

daughter of Sir Henry Widch-ington, Kut., of Widdring-

ton, Nortliumberland, and had by that lady, with other

i.ssue, William, who fell in the royal cause, and Sir

Thomas, colonel of the horse of the bishopric of Darham,

and governor of the Leeward Islands, whose son became

devisee of Nicholas Freville, of Hardwick. On the

breaking out of the civil wars, Sir Wdliam Lambton

distinguished himself by his loyalty, and commanded

the Durham troop of di'agoons, raised by the gentry of

the bishopric, in the le^'y against Scotland, 1640. He
afterwards commanded a regiment of infantry in the

Marquis of Newcastle's army, and fell at Marston Moor,

July 2, 1644. His estates suffered severely on the first

irmption of the Scots ; and Lambton is said to have been

plundered and fired, and the collieries flooded, when the

bishopric was occupied by General Lesley, after the

skii-mish at Stella Haugh. Several branches of the

Lambton family were .sufferers during the civil wars.*

Henry Lambton, Esq., eldest son and successor of Sir

Wdliam, compounded for his estates for 960/. He
married, in 1635, Mary, daughter of Sir Alexander

Davison, Knt., of Blakiston, and had four sons and two

daughters. He died August 14, 1693. William, his

eldest son, born in 1640, was M.P. for the coimty of

Durham in seven parliaments, and died unmarried in

• Ralph Lambton, of Tribley, is represented, in " Musgrave muz-
zled," as a Papist ami delinquent under sequestration, " and bimselfe

and twelve eliihlren miserably opprost for want." John Lambton, son
of Ralph, was killed in the royal sei-vice at Bradford, May '.>0, 1043.

Fairfax ollVred quarter to tlie loyalists, if tliey would lay down their

anns ; but, tliis beiuR refused, his cavalry attacked and drove them out
of the town, taking 27 colours, 40 officers, and 1,500 soldiers.

+ This gentleman, commonly called Will Lambton, Old Will, or
True Blue, is described by Sir Cuthbert Sharp as "one of the rustiest

independent old fellows in the House of Commons. Once, on the

I724.t Henry, second son, bom in 1642, was a barrister-

at-law, and attorney-general to the Bishop of Dm'ham :

he also died immarried in 1709. John, third son, bom
in 1653, died umnarried in 1722. Ralph, fourth son,

married, in 1696, Dorothy, daughter and co-hciress of

John Hedworth, Esq., of Harraton, by whom he left, at

his decease in 1717, Henry, M.P. for the city of Dur-

ham, who succeeded to the estates of his imcle William,

but died unmarried in 1761 ; Hedworth, a major-general

in the army, died unmarried in 1774; WiUiam, who
succeeded his brother Henry, and died immarried in

1761 ; John ; and two daughters.

John Lambton, Esq., born Jidy 26, 1710, succeeded

to the estate of his brother William, and became of

Lambton HaU. This gentleman was a major-general in

the army, and colonel of the 68th or Durham regiment

of foot. He represented the city of Durham in six par-

liaments (see vol. i., p. 347). General Lambton married,

in September, 1763, Susan, daughter of Thomas Earl of

Strathmore, by whom he had issue WilKam-Henry, bom
November 16, 1764; Ralph-John, M.P. for Durham,

died Jidy 29, 1844 ; Jane-Dorothy ; and Susan-Mary-

Anne, married, in 1790, to John Wharton, Esq., M.P.

The general died in 1794, and was succeeded by his

eldest son,

William-Henry Lambton, Esq., M.P. for the city of

Durham, married Jime 19, 1791, Anne-Barbara-Frances,

daughter of George Bussey, fom'th Earl of Jersey, and

had siu'viving issue, 1, John-George ; 2, William-Henry,

born March 27, 1793 ; married, January 28, 1824,

Henrietta, second daughter of Cuthbert ElKson, Esq., of

Hebburn, M.P., and has issue ; 3, Hedworth, M.P., bom
March 26, 1797 ; married, May 19, 1835, Anne, eldest

daughter of Gervase-Parker Bushe, Esq., of KUfane,

Kilkenny, who died June 23, 1843 ; and, 4, Frances-

Susan, married, first, to the Hon. Col. Henry-Frederick

Howard, third son of the Earl of Carlisle, and who fell

at Waterloo ; and, secondly, the Hon. H. F. Compton

Cavendish, M.P. : she died November 23, 1840. Mr.

Lambton was a consistent and talented supporter of the

meeting of a new parliament, the door-keeper, seeing him dressed in

a plain grey homespun coat, made of the wool of his own sheep, and

thick slines, would not admit him further than the lobby, where he sat

qiiic'tly enough until a friend in a finer coat came up, who remon-

strated witli the door-keeper on his shutting out one of the most ho-

nourable and respectable members of the House of Commons. Tlie

door-keeper changed his tone, and hoped his honour would give him

something as a remembrance. LTp started Will, more vexed at the

fellow's servility tlian at liis former rudeness, and gave him a hearty

box on the ear, saying, ' Tliere's a godspenny for thee : I think thou'H

ken aiild Will Lambton again 1'
"
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Whig party in the House of Commons, and an advocate

for parliamentary reform. In the autumn of 1795, he

betrayed sj-mptoms of consumption ; and, early ia the

foUoTving year, he and his family embarked for Naples

in a neutral vessel. From this city he travelled north-

wards, and died at Pisa on the 30th of November, 1797.

His widow, who married the Hon. Charles-WiUiam

Wyndham, died in 1832.

John-George Lambton, Esq., bom Aprd 12, 1792,

was elected M.P. for the coimty of Durham in 1813
;

elevated to the peerage as Baron DurluDi), January 29,

1828 ; and advanced to the Viscoinifi/ of Lambton and

Earldom of Durham, March 15, 1833. His lordship was

G.C.B., knight of the foreign orders of St. Andrew, St.

Alexander Newsky, St. Anne, and the White Eagle of

Russia, Leopold of Belgium, and the Saviour of Greece.

He married, first, in January, 1812, MLss Harriet Chol-

mondelej', by whom (who died in July, 1815) he had

issue Frances-Charlotte, bom October 14, 1812, married.

+ The first Earl of Dueh.ui.—John-George Lambton, Esq., who,

liy the death of his father in 1707, became possessed of the valuable

family property at the early age of five years, was educated at Eton,

and afterwards served in the 10th hussars. On attaining his majoritj-

in 1813, he became a candidate for the representation of his native

county, and succeeded, in spite of a powerful opposition, through the

influence of his father's character. His maiden speech was delivered

on seconding a motion for an address to the crown, against the transfer

of Norway to Swedeu ; and in the following year, he reprobated, witli

equal zeal, the annexation of Genoa to Savoy. At a meeting of the

county of Durham in 1810. his speech on the " Manchester massacre"

was remarkable for its bold denouncement of the administration, and

was succeeded by a vigorous opposition to " the Six Acts" in the en-

suing session of parliament, ludeed, bis political opinions were so

strongly expressed, that, in the county of Durham, he acquired the

cognomen of " Radical Jack." On the 17th of April, 1821, he pro-

pounded a scheme of parliamentary reform, the leading features of

which were, without touching the representation of the counties and

universities, to abolish altogether the right of returning members by

cities, boroughs, cinque-ports, Ac, and to transfer tiie right of retunj-

ing the members obtained by the abolition of the boroughs to certain

districts, into which the countiy was to be formed, in the rate of a.ljOOO

inliabitants to each, giring an average of 2,500 electoi-s. by whom one

member was to be chosen. By patent, dated January 17, 1828, Mr.

Lambton was raised to the peerage by the title of " Baron Durham, of

the City of Durham." It had been his intention to take the title of

Lord Darcy of Hedworth, as being one of the co-heirs of that ancient

family; but objections were made to this by the Duke of Leeds (the

representative of the Conyers, Lords Darcy), then Lord of the House-

hold ; and tliough they were subsequently withdi'awn, yet Mr. Lambton

declined being under any obligation to his grace, and would have taken

the title of Lord Hedworth. Having been persuaded by his friends,

however, to set down the title of Lord Durham at the foot of some

others offered to his majesty's approbation, George IV. graciously com-

manded it might be Lord Durham, provided it were " of the City of

Durham."

On the formation of Earl Grey's government in 1830, Lord Durham

became a member of the cabinet as Lord Privy Seal, and had entrusted

September 8, 1835, John Ponsonby, eldest son of Vis-

count Dimcanuon, afterwards Earl of Besborough, and

died in a few months after ; Gcorgiana-Sarah-Elizabefh,

born March 2, 1814, died January 3, 1833 ; and Harriet-

Caroline, bom May 30, 1815,' died in 1832. Mr.

Lambton married, secondly, December 9, 181G, Louisa-

EUzabeth, daughter of Charles, late Earl Grey, and by

her (who died at Geneva, November 26, 1841, aged 44,

and was interred at Chester-le-Street) had issue Charles-

WilKam, born January 16, 1818, and died December

24, 1831 ; George-Frederick-D'Arcy, the present earl

;

^lary-ljouisa, born May 8, 1819, married, November 7,

1846, to the Earl of Elgin ; Emily-Augusta, born May
17, 1823, married, August 19, 1843, to Wdliam H.

Frederick Cavendish, Esq. ; and Alice-.Anne-Caroline,

married, in July, 1853, to Lord Aberdour, eldest son of

the Earl of Morton. The Earl of Durham died at

Cowes, in the Isle of Wight, on July 28, 1840.* His

remains were conveyed to Sunderland, and from thence

to him, with Lord John EusseU, Sir James Graham, and Lord Dun-
caunon, the preparation of the Refonu BOl. It is ascertained that

Lord Durham proposed the plan of taking votes by ballot, and induced

his colleagues to adopt it ; but, at the desire of Lord Grey, it was ex-

cluded from the biU. The great liberaUly and extent of the measure,

which exceeded the expectations of all pai-ties, was mainly attributed

to Lord Durham. In the del)ates on the first Refonn Bill he took no

part ; but on the second biU, in the spiing of 1832, he spoke frequently

and effectively, more paiticularly in defence of the enfranchisement of

tlie metropolitan districts, in belialf of which he delivered a speech

remarkalrle for its statistical infoiTuation. But his hetdth and tem-

perament were alike unable to bear the cares and bustle of public life.

From the close of that session, he took little part in the business of

the government; and on the 12th of March. 1833, he redred from the

administration, and was raised to the dignity of an earldom. Previous

to this time, the title of Eai'l of Durham had never been bestowed, as

the dignity was considered appurtenant to the palatinate jurisdiction

of the bishopric.

At the termination of the war of independence in Poland, the Earl

of Durham was sent, in the summer of 1833, on a special mission to

the emperor of Russia, for the purpose of endeavouring to soften the

rigour of the vindictive proceedings against that brave but ill-fated

people. Lord Durham's mission of mercy failed in its benevolent

design, and he returned to England. .\t the dinner given at Edin-

burgh in 1834 to Earl Grey, the Earl of Durham's speech in reply to

Lord Brougham obtained the enthusiastic approbation of the meeting,

and caused him to be generally hailed as the leader of the movement.

In 1835, he was elected high steward of Hull, and, in the same year,

returned as ambassador to Russia, where he remained till the summer
of 1837. In the following year, he went out as governor-general to

Canada, entnisted with powers of the most extraordinary character

;

but not finding himself so well supported by the ministry as he ex-

pected, he returned home the same year.

On all tiwing occasions, the Eaii of Durham was equally ready with

his services and his purse. He subscribed largely towards the indem-

nification of Sir Robert Wilson, and gave 1,000 guineas to the Spanish

committee, when a subscription was entered into at the Crown and

Anchor, in support of the constitutional cause in Spain. In hie ecu-
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fo Larabton Castle. Tlie intorment took place in the

family ^aiilt at Chestcr-le-Street, when the Free Masons

of the northern provinces attended, besides a large

assemblage of nobility and gentry.*

George- Frcdoi'ick-D'^Vj'cy Lambton, Earl of Dui'ham,

Viscount Lambton, and Earon Dm-ham, of the city of

Durham and of Lambton Castle, was born September 5,

and succeeded as second earl upon the decease of his

father. His lord."«hip married, May 2-i, 1854, at St.

George's church, Hanover Square, London, the Lady

Beatrice Hamilton, daughter of the Marquis of Abercorn,

by whom he has two sons, twins, named respectively

John-George (after his grandfather, the first carl, who
took the names from his two grandfathers. General

Jjambton, and George ViUiers, Earl of Jersey) and Fre-

derick-William. On the death of the Marquis of Lon-

donderry, the Y.arl of Durham was appointed his

successor as lord-lieutenant of the county palatine of

Durham.
Akms—Quarterly : 1st, sa., a fesse, between three lambs, passant,

arg., for Lambton; and. arg., a fesse, gu.. between three popinjays,

vert, collared, of the second, for Lumley ; 3rd, arg., an inescutcheon,

sa., within an orle of cinquefoUs, gu.. for Hcdworth : 1th, arg., three

cinqucfoils, gu., for D'Arcy.

Crests—1st, Lambton. a ram's head, cabossed, arg., attired, sa.

;

2nd, Hedworth, a woman's head affrontee, couped at the breast, ppr.,

hair flowing, or, wreatlied about tlie temples with a garland of cinque-

foils, gu.. pierced of the second
; 3rd, D'Arcy, out of a ducal coronet,

or, an antelope's head, issuaut, winged, arg., attired and barbed, ot

the first.

Sdpportees—Two lions, the de.\ter, gu., the sinister, az., each du-

cally gorged and supporting a statf, or, therefrom banners, of the

second, the dexter banner charged with a cross patonee, and the

sinister with a linn, passantguardant, of the third.

Motto—Le jour viendra.

Application was made, in May, 1852, to the Inclosure

Commissioners of England and Wales by the late Earl

of Durham for the advance of the sum of 10,000/., as a

loan for the drainage of lands in the parishes of Chester-

Ic-Strect, Lanohcster, Houghton-le-Spring, Pelton, Pen-

shaw, and Witton-Gilbert. The Land Improvement

Committee also gave notice, March 1, 185G, that the pre-

sent carl had applied for the advance of 10,000/., for 25

years, by way of loan, under the provisions of " The
Lands Improvement Committee's Act, 1853," and of

tests for tlie county, he spent enormous suras; but though thus liberal,

both iu principli' and practice, as a public man, yet he was, in private

life, distant and exclusive towards those beneath him. Abotlt six

months before his death, he prepared to proceed to the south of Europe
for the benefit of his health ; but becoming worse at Dover, he changed
his course for the Isle of Wight, where he died. His will was proved
in the Prerogative Courts of York and Canterbury. In the former, the

personal property was sworn to under 2.'j(),000;., and in the latter to a
much smaller amount. The will, which is entirely in the earl's own
hand-writing, occupies merely the two first pages of a common sheet

"The Lands Improvement Committee's Amendment Act,

1855," to be applied to improvements in Langley, in

the parish of Lauchcster ; in Edmondsley, Plawsworth,

White Hall, Broomyhohjie, Tribley, part of Lambton
Park, Lumley, and Birtley North Side, in the parish of

Chester-le-Strect ; in Witton-Gilbert and Fulforth ; in

Kimblesworth, extra-parochial ; and in Morton, Olferion,

and a field, house, farm, and lauds in Houghton-le-

Spriug.

The Lambton family have long been ranked amongst
the greatest coal-owners in the comity of Durham. The
colHeries at present worked by the earl, are, Brasside,

Houghton-le-Spring, iiUle Town, Lady Durham pit,

Newbottle, Sherburn, Sherburn House, and Shadforth.

Hugh Taylor, Henry Morton, and R. P. Philipson,

Esqrs., stated to the Episcopal and Capitular Estates

Commissioners, on May 17, 1849, "in support of the

firm reliance and conviction entertained by the lessees of

mines held under the chiu-ch in the county of Diu-ham
of the right of septennial renewals, the case of Lord
Durham's family ha\'ing held, for a centiuy we believe,

a very large tract of dormant coal in the parish of Ches-

ter-le-Street under the see of Diu'ham, and upon which
the regular septennial fines have been paid, without these

mines being brought into operation, which could not

hitherto be done in the state of the coal trade." Jlr.

Morton, steward to the Earl of Dm-ham, added, " There
is so much good coal in the market, that that description

would not sell to any profit ; it is lying intermixed with

a good deal of Lord Durham's freehold property, under

which there are mines all dormant at present, but which
at some distant future period will be worked, and will

come into the market when the better fields of coal which
are now being worked are exhausted, and which may,

perhaps, be sixty or seventy years hence."

THE LAMBTON WORM.

One of the most remarkable traditions connected with

the county of Dm-ham is that of the Lamhfon Worm.
It is one of those legends which are often associated -with

families of ancient standing and high rejjutalion. The

of letter-paper, the attestation standing upon the head of the tllird

page; and it conveys to the Countess of Durham the whole real and
personal estate of her husband, without restriction or control.

• The carl, when Mr. Lambton, succeeded Sir Ealph Mill)anke,

Bart., as Provincial Grand Master of the Province of Durham in 1S18

and presented the lodge with a costly and nuignificcnt suit of fui-niture

and jewels. On Januai-y JJl, ]H;U, the members of the provincial

lodges presented him, at Lambton Castk', with a sphmdid masonic
jewel ; and soon afterwards, he was appointed Deputy Grand Master

of England, but retained his provincial dignity.
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story is that one of the Lambtons, whilst a youth, per-

sisted, in spite of -n-aruings and remonstrance, in tishing

in the Wear on a Sunday, and, after repeated failiires,

he was about to desist, when he determined to have one

cast more, but drew out nothing except a very small

worm or eft. This he contemptuously threw into a well,

and went home moody and disappointed. In the coirrse

of time, however, more serious thoughts came into his

mind ; he bathed himself in holy water, took the sign of

the cross, and, apparently forgetting the trivial adventure

of the wonn, departed for the Holy Land, ileanwhile

the incipient monster continued to increase in size untd

the well became too small for its accommodation ; and,

betaking itself to the Wear, it rapidly increased in bulk

until it became a terror and scom-ge to the countr}\ The

milk of nine cows was daily requii'ed for its food. The

Worm Hill, a circidar greon knoU, around which it is

said to have coiled itself nine times, still exists, about 80

yards from the river, in attestation of the truth of the

story.* At length, the young cnisader retm-ned, and,

shocked at the consequences of his former impiety, made

several bold attempts to slay the huge creature, in all of

which he was foiled by the power it possessed of re-unit-

ing itself when cut in two. It this predicament, he

solicited the advice of a neighboming witch, who gave

him the necessary council, and promised him success, on

condition that he shoidd kill the first living creatm-e he

might meet after his victory. Accordingly, on an ap-

pointed day, the customary dole of milk was withheld ;

and roused to fui-y, the wonn proceeded to cross the

Wear, where yoimg Lambton, encased m a coat of mail

studded with razor blades, awaited on a rock in the

middle of the stream. In its rage, it wrapped itself

tightly around him, and was cut to pieces by the razor

blades ; whilst, by the rapidity of the stream, each frag-

ment was borne away without power of re-union, and the

worm was thus destroyed by its own eiforts. The anxious

father of the hero meanwhile despatched his son's

fovomite hound, in order to obviate the danger of being

himself the first to meet him. The dog, however, strayed

from the track ; and the coimtenance of the young man,

on their meeting, convinced the father that he had im-

prudently risked hunself. " Betide me Hfe, or betide

« The TT'or/H Well was about a(i yards from the hill. Half a centurj-

ago, it -was in repute as a wishing reel!, and was one of the scenes de-

dicated to the usual festivities and superstitions of Slidsummer Eve.

Siirtecs states that, in his time, a crooked pitt might sometimes still be

discovered sparkling amongst the clear gravel at the bottom of its

basin. The well also formerly ba<l a lid, and an iron ladle attached.

It has now vanished entirely, being drained into the river.

me death ?" he exclaimed, as he threw himself into the

arms of his son. It is scarcely necessary to add that

young Lambton did not sacrifice his parent to the com-

mand of the witch ; but the penalty attached to this

disobedience was, that no chief of the Lambtons shoidd

die in his bed for nine generations.

" The story," says Sm-tees, " has been transmitted with

very little variation for centuries from father to son ; and

1

1 various facts have been pressed into the service to establish

j

the commination of sudden death that has been supposed

to hang over the family. The date of the story is, of

' course, uncertain ; but nine ascending generations from

j

: the late General Lambton (in whom popular tradition
'' affirmed the curse to expire) f wovdd exactly reach to

Sir John Lambton Knight of Rhodes, of whom this

curious entry stands in an old MS. pedigree, lately in

possession of the family of Middleton, of Ofierton :

—

,

' Johan Lambeton that slewe y^ "Worme was Knight of

I

j

Rhoodes and Lord of Lambeton and Wood ApUton ("fter

the dethe of fewer brothers sans esshewe masle. His

son Robert Lampton was cb'owned at Newebrigg.' That

the knight ever succeeded to the family estates, however,

contradicts the proven pedigree.

I

" Popidar tradition a.ssigns the chapel of Bririford as

1
the spot where Lambton offered up his vows before and

after the adventure (this foundation, however, it has been

shewn, existed at a period antecedent to the earliest date

assigned to the legend). In the garden-house at Lamb-

!
ton are two figures of no great antiquity. A knight in

good style armed cap-a-pee, the back studded with razor

blades, who holds the worm with one ear by his left hand,

and with his right crams his sword to the hilt down its

throat ; and a lady, who wears a coronet, with bai-e

breasts, &c., in the style of Charles II. 's Beauties, a

wound on whose bosom, and an accidental mutilation of

the hand, arc said to have been the work of the worm.

A real good Andrea Ferrara, inscribed on the blade

1521, notwithstanding the date, has been also pressed

into the service, and is said to be the identical weapon

by which the worm perished."

Lilce other monsters of the same kind, the Lambton

Worm is represented with feet (see vol. i., p. 511). In

a letter to Walter Scott, May 13, 1810, Surtees says, " I

I

+ !Mr. Howitt says that tlie general, " fearing that the prophecy

might be possibly fulfilled by liis senants. under the idea tliat he

could not ilie in his bed, kept a horsewhip beside him in his last

Dlness, and thus eluded the prediction. .\s we have seen, there has

been little difference in the actual length of life in the two who have

L since followed, so that the evil power of the worm, or old woman,

I ]

would appear not yet to have exhausted itself."
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have becu latelj' often near the supposed haunts of the

Lambton Woiin, and I really feel much inelined to

adopt yom- idea, that animals of this description may
have been formerly nourished to a much larger size

in our woods and waters. Of four of these prodigies

which our bishopric is said to have produced, it is ob-

t On the subject of the " superstitions of the north," Mr. Taj'lor ob-

s^'r^•os that " there is a remarkable conti-ast between Surtees and his

friend, Sii- Walter Scott, who seems to have retained a lingering wish

to believe, and to perpetuate the belief, in preternatural powers, and

•vents produced by their agency ; for whore such powers are given to

his fictitious personages, bo iinifonnly makes tlie event verify the pre-

diction. Mr. Surtees was an enthusiast on these subjects; cherishing

them, for delight of the imagination, as much as Sii' Walter Scott

servable that all of them had their haunts on large rivers.

The country aromid Lambton seems particidarl}' favoui'-

able for the production of such a creature. The banks

of the river have been, time immemorial, a thick tangled

forest ; and part of the adjoining flats are low 'and

marshy, and full of willows and brushwood."*

conid do ; and took especial care ' that no particle of tlie ancient su-

perstition should be lost by his laches :' liut in liis style of recording

such, as matters of histoi-y, there is always a covert, yet tender ridicule

observable ; and when he was rejiroached, by the representative of a

great famOy in the county, with having so treated a marvellous tradi-

tion in their history, he replied, ' Sir, if you will wiite a grave version

of the stoiy, I wUl publish it as yours.' " This remark obviously appUes

to the Lambton legend.

CIIAPELEY or TANFIELD.

The chapelry of Taufield (anciently part of the parish of Chester-le-Street) is bounded by that of Lamesley on th«

east, by Pelton on the south-east, by the parishes of Chester-le-Street and Lanchester on the south, by Lanchester

and the chapelry of Medomsley on the west, by the Derwent, dividing it from the parish of Ryton, on the north,

and by the parish of Whickham on the north and north-east. The chapelry is divided into two constableries, viz.,

1, P>camish, which includes Tanfield, Tanficld Easter-Leigh, North, South, and iliddle Cawsey, Kij^hiUs, Crook,

and Dcansclose ; and, 2, Lintz Green, which includes Burnopficld, Tanfield Wester-Leigh, Stanley, Shield Row,
Becklcy, .tVndrowfield, Bryan's Leap, Yewyhui-st, Northern, Lintz Hall, Coves House, Loft House, Steleclose,

Priestficld, and High and Low Friarside.

The chapelry of Tanfield contains an area of 7,072 acres.

In 1801, its popidation was 2,228 ; in 1811, 1,810; in

1821, 2,357 ; in 1831, 2,498 ; in 1841, 2,671 ; and in

1851, 3,480, of whom 1,815 were males and 1,665 fc-

male.«. There were 554 inhabited houses, 14 tuiinhabited,

and 1 building in 1841 ; and G58 inhabited, 30 iminha-

bited, and 3 building in 1851. The annual value of

property assessed to tlie coimty-ratc in 1853 was

11,359/. 5s. Id.

The Pontop and South Shields branch of the North-

eastern Railway has an extent of 2 m. 2 F. 198 v., and

an area of 14 .\. in this chapelry, and contributed 36/.

13.S. 4«?. in 1851, and 31/. 13.s. Ad. in 1852, towards the

local rates. The Tanficld branch, with an extent of 3 M.

F. 198 Y. and an area of 18 .v. 3 u., contributed, in those

years, 55/. and 47/. 10s. The gross amoimts collected

were, 1,099/. 3s. llif/. in 1851, and 1,138/. 4s. 3(/. in J852.

BEAMISH.

TANFiEi.n.—The village of Tanfield, in the constablcry

of Beamish, is 8 miles south-west of Newcastle. It is

built irregularly on the declivity of a hill, which slopes

to the south. The name is supposed to be a corruption

of TcamfieU. It contains five farmholds, three publi(!

houses, and a boarding school for young gentlemen,

conducted by the Rev. William Simpson, curate of Tan-
field. A half-yearly hiring for servants is lield on the

first Wednesday in May, and the second Wednesday in

November, in each year, under the sanction of the lord

of the manor. An extensive tilery and brick works are

carried on at East Tanfield.

The manor of Tanfield was imifornily held by the old

lords of Beamish. Of Robert Conyers and Alice his

wife, heirs of the old De la Leighs, lords of Beamish
and Witton- Gilbert, the manor and hamlet were held,

in 1388, by Bartram Monboucher, by one penny at the

Nativity, in lieu of all services. A younger Bartram
Monboucher held the manor of Taumfield and Cawsc of

Alice Conyers, in 1399. In 1462, the manor, including

Cawsot, Ic Croke, and le Leigh, were held of the heirs of

the said Alice, by Bertram Ilarbotel. Tanficld was
included in the forfeitiu-e of Thomas, Earl of Northmn-
berland, in 1569, and was granted by the crown to

Henry Jaukman, who alienated the estate in parcels.

In 1598, he granted Tanfield West Demesnes to Thomas
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Harbotel, Gent., who died in 1612, seised of the same,

held of the croTrn by knight's service, leaving Robert

Harbotel his son and heir. The East Maynes were held

by the Shaftoes, who, on August 3, 10 Jac, conveyed to

Richard Hickson, by whom the estate was granted to

"William Kennet, Esq., whose successors held of the

crown by knight's ser^-icc. Certara property in Tanfield,

with a seat house at the east of the village, was held by

the Dawsons about a century ago, and is now annexed

by purchase to the Beamish estate. The coal under

Tauheld Moor was sold by Thomas "Wray, Esq., of

Beamish, to the Pitt family of Dorsetshire.

THE CHURCH.

"With the exception of a portion of the chancel, this

church was rebuilt in 1749 ; the expense being defrayed

by volimtary contributions. The nave is supported by

six light piUars. The wiudows are all modern. A
tower was erected iu 1854, the cost of which, about 300/.,

was defrayed by John Eden, Esq., of Beamish Park

;

and several other improvements were made about the

same time. An organ was opened in the church on

the 12th November, 1827. In the floor on the south

side of the chancel there is an iuscription commemorative
j

of Sir TVUliam Wray, Knt., who died December 30,

1628, aged 63 ; and there are also tablets belonging to

the Davisons of Beamish, the Tempests, the Claverings,
i

the Newtons, and the Rippons The tomb of the Blax-
|

tons of Gibside is in the church-yard.

Rbgisteks.—^Books Nos. 1 to 4 contain entries of

baptisms, burials, and marriages from 1576 to 1812.

Tanfield is perpetual curacy, not in charge or certified
;

Lord Ravensworth, patron. Dedication to St. Margaret.

Curates.—John Mason, 1409 ; William Hardweke, 1562 ; Robert

Dawson, 1574 ; John Armstrong, 21st January, 1580 ; John Wilson,

7th Fobmary, 1582 ; John Mason, 7th July, 1582 ; Hugh David, 11th

Januar}', 158.3 ; Thomas Carter, 1008 ; John Martin, 1673 ; John AirJ,

1700. The subsequent incumbents have also been curates of Lamus-

ley, until the appointment of the Eev. William Simpson, the present

curate, in 1824.

The great tithes of the prebend of Tanfield (parcel of

the dissolved collegiate church of Chester) belong,

generally, to the improprietors ; Lord Ravensworth

holding one moiety, and H. Witham and R. Trevelyan,

Esqrs., the other half. Tithe of lamb and wool is paid

to the perpetual curate of Chester-le-Street ; other small

tithes are paid generally to the perpetual curate of Tan-

field. An annual payment of £5 is received from the

incumbent of Chester-le-Street (see p. 604). There is a

parsonage-house ; and the annual value of the living was

stated in 1835 at 138/., subject to the permanent payment

of 5/. ; and the lalance, 133/., is still the net income.

CHARITIES.

Sobimon's Charity.—By will, dated 1730, Robert Ro-

binson left a rent-charge of 6/., payable out of a close called

Houffh-hill-bridse Close, towards the maintenance of .such

a schoolmaster at Tanfield as the minister and vestrymen,

or twelve of the said chapelry, should appoint, to teach

and instruct four children there. The yearly sum of 6/.

is paid by the agent for the estates formerly belonging

to the late Earl of Strathmore The siun of 40/., be-

queathed by the said Robert Robinson, to be laid out in

the purchase of land, the profits of which were to be

applied in better maintaining the schoolmaster, was lost

about 70 years ago, by the insolvency of a person in

whose hands it was placed.

Dadson's Legacy.—Elizabeth Da\-ison, by wiU, March

31, 1762, bequeathed 500/., the interest of which was to

be applied in support of a school or schools in the chapelry

for teaching four children in religion and reading ; and

also, if it might be done, for and towards the establishing

of a resident minister in the town of Tanfield, and for a

monthly eommmiion. The sum of 500/. is in the hands

of the proprietor of Beamish Hall, who pays 25/. yearly

as interest thereof, which, with the 6/. from Robinson's

charity, is paid to a schoolmaster, who rents a school

and dwelling house. He instructs four boys of the cha-

pelry in respect of Robinson's benefaction, and fourteen

on accoimt of Mrs. Davison's.

Agreeably to the •wiil of William Davison, Esq., dated

January 31, 1732, the yearly sum of 2/. is paid by the

owners of the same estate, and distributed amongst ten

or twelve poor yridows resident in the lordship of Beamish,

in sums varying from 2«. to S-s-.

Charities of Ilarrisoi), Robimon, and Davison.—Ralph

[

Harrison, March 26, 1687, left 100/. to the use of the

I

poor of the chapelry of Tanfield ; and Robert Robinson

;
bequeathed 50/., and Elizabeth Davison 100/., to the

same purpose. These charities are imderstood to form

part of a sum of 270/., for which Morton John Davison,

Esq., gave a bond, dated December 26, 1814, to the

minister, chapelwardens, and overseers. Interest is

paid at the rtite of 4 5 per cent., and the amomit is

distributed, on the day after Christmas-day, in simis

varying from 2s. to 5s.
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Wetherit's Ckariti/.—John Wetherit, by will, in 1748,

gave 251. to ten poor families, and 251. for the use of the

minister of the chapeli-y. SI. J. Da'i'ison, Esq., gave a

bond for these siuns, dated as above ; and interest is i^aid

at the rate of 4^ per cent., one moiety of which is for the

minister's own use, and the other is distributed to the

poor with the preceding charities.

Honisbi/'s Charity.—io\m Homsby loft 20^. to the

poor, and 20A for the benefit of the minister. These

simis are seciu-ed in the same manner as the last ; and

interest, at the rate of 5 per cent., is divided and disposed

of accordingly.

The payment of Mrs. Davison's charity was suspended

a few years ago, by an order from a Master in Chancery.

A national school was erected by public subscription

in 1843, and is partly supported by volimtary contribu-

tions : the average attendance of children is about 110.

Tanfield contains a rural police station and a post-office.

Tanfield-Leigh.—By Hatfield's Survey, William

Johnson held fom* messuages, and six parts of Tanfield-

Leigh, containing 160 acres, once John de Birtley's, of

Twisel. Bartram Monboucher held seven parts of Tan-

field-Leigh out of fifteen, with the vill, and 126 acres.

After its forfeiture by the Percys, this property was

pm'chascd of Jackman, in 1598, by James and Thomas

Shafto, from whom it descended to the Spearmans, who
sold it, in 1729, to the Simpsons of Bradley. It is now
the proport)^ of Lord Ravensworth.

Tanfield Lea Colliery was won in 1829 by the late

Marquis of Bute and Miss Simpson of Bradley, and is 22

fathoms deep to the five-quarter scam, which is 4 feet 8

inches thick ; 10 fathoms further to the main coal or

brass thiU seam, 4 feet 9 inches thick ; 32 fathoms fur-

ther to the Hutton seam, 6 feet 6 inches thick ; and 5

• On June 5, IHO.i, Mr. WOliam Temple, of Beamish, was presented,

by tlie Society of Ai-ts, with a gold medal, value 30 guineas, for his

great exertions in draining, cultivating, and improving 308 acres of

waste land, being a part of Chester division, of which the purchase

money, in ITUI), was 2,(i(i.5J., but which, on the 2-lth of Slarch, 1804,

was valued at 9,0'25i. The Society expressed themselves highly pleased

at the report of so large a quantity of land being brought into such a

itate of agriciiltui-e, in the short space of three yeai's and a half.

+ The following deposition, in the case of Anno Grynwille against

Rowland Groundye, in causa matrimoniali, occurs in a book of pro-

ceedings :
—

" Alice Stevenson, wife of Eobert Stevenson, of Bemish

park head, husbandman, aged 37 years. She saith that abouth Trenitie

Sonday, in the yere of our Lord 1.570, the parties appoyjityd bytwixt

them selves to come to this examinate's house, fortius examinate being

at a ku-kall at the said Anne father's house, she, the said Agnes, then

told this deponent that the said Roland and she the said An had ap-

pointyd to come to this examinate's house the same day. And there-

voL. n.

fathoms further to the low main, 3 feet 9 inches thick.

The colliery was sold to Messrs. Joicey in 1847, by whom
it is now worked. The royalty belongs to Lord Pi,a-

vensworth.

Tanfield Moor.—"An act for dividing, allotting,

and enclosing a common, called Tanfield Moor, in the

parish of Chester-le- Street, in the county of Durham,"
was passed 40 Geo. III., 1800. The moor contained 1,100

acres. The royalties were reserved to the Marquises of

Bute and Hertford, the Earl ofWindsor, and Miss Simp-

son ; the coal to WiUiam Morton Pitt, Esq. ; and aU
right to waifs, estrays, &c., to Sir John Eden, Bart., as

lord of the manor. Joseph Grainger, Gent., of Flass,

was the sole commissioner ; and Robert Hopper WUliam-
son, Esq., of Newcastle, arbitrator.

Tanfield Moor Colliery is 42 fathoms deep to the five-

quarter coal seam, which is 4 feet 6 inches thick ; the

brass thill, 5 feet thick, is 6 fathoms fmther ; the Hutton

seam, 6 feet thick, 34 fathoms fm-ther ; and the low main

coal, 3 feet 6 inches thick, is 6 fathoms further ; making

a total of 88 fathoms. This colliery, with the adjoining

royalty of Bushblades, is at present wrought by James

Joicey, Esq.

Beamish stands in the deep wooded vale of the Team,

7| miles south-south-west from Newcastle.* Beamish

House, the seat of John Eden, Esq., is a handsome fanuly

mansion, situated at the head of a fine level flat or

strath, through which the river winds its course, and

boimded on every side by rising grounds of irregidar

form, richly wooded. The nearer plantations are inter-

spersed \vith evergreens. The old park is on upland

ground to the south.f Beamish Lodge is the residence of

Nathaniel Clarke, Esq., agent for the estate.

upon this deponent maid more haiste home ; and comming home she

found Koland Grundyo and this examinate's husband togither, and then,

after, she the said Agnes, alias Ane, came also to this examinate's house

;

and betwixt one of tlie cloke and 3 at afternoon the same day this exa-

minate's husband and the said Roland lay of one bedd togither in this

examinate's bedd-chambre ; and the said Roland cauld for the said

Anne, when he hard hir tunge, and slie cam to h}-m. And he, the said

Roland, toke the said Ann by th'and in the presence of this examinate

and hir husband, and said to hir thes woTdes, to this examinate's ro-

membraunce, ' Here, Anne, I gyve you my faith and my trewth to be

your husband.' And she, the said Agnes, in lyke manner immediately

answerd and said, ' Here I gyve you, Roland, my foithe and my trewth

to be your wyfe.' And then they 2 kissed and drew hands. And

thereupon the said Agnes gave hj-m, the said Roland, then one gold

ryngo with a stone in ytt. And he, the said Roland, tyrled ytt bytnixt

his fynggers, and ever loking at yt. And shortly after the parties had

made raei'y in this examinate's house, that night the aforsaid Roland

and Agnes, this examinate and hir husband, went all to the said Ann

4u
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In 1268, Guiscard de Charron, lord of Beamish, left

a son, whose only daughter, Joan, married Bartram

Monboucher, Knt., of Northumberland. From his de-

scendants, the estate passed, by marriage, to Bartram

Harbotel, whose great-grandaughter became the wife

of Thomas Percy, executed for rebellion in 1537. Her

son, Thomas, Earl of Northumberland, was beheaded in

1572, when Beamish and Tanfield were forfeited to the

crown, and were granted, in the same year, to Sir Henry

Gate, Knt. In 1651, Beamish was the property of Col.

Wray, a loyalist, denoimced in the act of parliament of

that year. George Wray, Esq., in 1671, sold Beamish

to Major Christian, by whom it was conveyed to the

Davisons, and became the property of Morton John Eden,

Esq. (second son of Sir John Eden, see vol. i., p, 581),

who took the name of Davison. On John Methold, Esq.,

succeeding to the estate in 1844, he took the name of

Eden by license from the queen.

Beamish Colliery was commenced in 1763 by Morton

Davison, Esq., the owner of the estate and royalty.

There are several winnings, varj-ing in depth from 60

to 80 fathoms. The high main is about 4 feet 7 inches

thick, and the low main and Ilutton seams are also

worked. A water-wheel, turned by a stream drawn by

a level from an upper seam, was formerly used for

draining the lower seams, but was found insufficient for

the purpose, and discontinued many years ago. A
large steam-engine for pumping has lately been erected

on the site bj^ James Joicey, Esq., who is now working

the coUieries.

Tanfield or East Tanfield Colliery was commenced in

1844 by the gentleman just named. The low main is 3

feet 8 inches thick, at a depth of 20 fathoms ; and the

Busty Bank seam has lately been won at a depth of 60

fathoms. The royalty belongs to John Eden, Esq.

Beamish Moor.—An act was passed, 43 Geo. III.,

1803, for the division of Beamish South Moor, contain-

ing about 400 acres. Sir John Eden, Bart., was lord of

the manor ; and the parties holding right ofcommon were

the said Sii- John Eden ; the Right Hon. John Bowes,

Earl of Strathmore ; Sir Thomas Henry LiddeU, Bart.
;

Sir Thomas Clavering, Bart. ; Sir William Augustus

Cunningham, Bart, (as tmstee for the yoimger children

of the Hon. James Stewart Wortley) ; Edward Townley

Standish, Esq. ; William Scafe, Esq. ; and others.

The commissioners appointed were John Martindale, of

father's house togjther, where they supped togither, hut tlier was no

commuuicacion then of that matter, byeause that ther was certain

strangers ther. And at ther cominy home the said Eoland told this

the Flats, and John Fryer, of Newcastle, gentlemen.

One-sixteenth part of the conmion was set out to Sir

John Eden, as an equivalent for the soil ; and the re-

mainder was divided proportionally between him and the

other claimants. The amount of compensation for da-

mage done in working the coal, &c., was fixed at 40«.

per acre.

Cawsey lies to the north of Beamish. South Caw-

sey belongs to John Eden, Esq. Middle Cawsey and

Cawsey House are the property of Sir William Claver-

ing, Bart.

>

T.ANFiELD Arch.—Cawsey Burn runs through a deep

and romantic dell, across which is erected the remark-

able structure called Tanfield Arch. It was built in

1729, by the " Grand Allies," at the cost of 12,000/., to

obtain a level for the passage of coal-waggons. The

span of the arch is 103 feet ; it springs from abutments

j

about 9 feet high ; and, being semicircular, the entire

I

elevation is about 60 feet. From this height the level

is continued by artificial embankments of earth, in one

1 part 40 feet in height, and 140 paces in length. A
drift is cut through the solid rock, to convey the stream

of the rivulet under the embankments. The architect

was Ralph Wood, a common mason, whose name, with

the date, is inscribed on a sun-dial on one of the piers.

Brand says that Wood, having built a former arch of

timber, which fell in for want of weight, committed

suicide from an apprehension of his second structiu-e ex-

periencing a similar fate. The biulding, being now
neglected, is rapidly falling to ruin.

Tantoby is a hamlet about a mile west of Tanfield,

and contains two public houses.

LINTZ GREEN.

This township forms the western portion of Tanfield

chapeby, and is divided from that of Medomsley by the

Pontop Bum. It gave name to an ancient family,

whose estates comprised Lintz Green, Lintz Hall, and

Lintzford. In 1352, Thomas de Lj-nz having fled for

felony. Bishop Hatfield escheated his lands. Nicholas

Hedlcy, to whose family the estate passed from the

Redheughs, in 1588 entailed it, failing his own issue, on

several branches of the Hodgson family, in whom it con-

tinued tOl the extinction of male issue in Ralph Hodgson,

examinate and Mr liusband that he wold stand to theise words tliat lie,

the said Roland, had spoken to the said Anne Grinwell in the way of

matrimonye that day as aforesaid as long as he culd speak."
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Esq., 1773, whose only surviving heiress was the wife of

Thomas Selhy, Esq., of Biddlestone, Northimiberland.

The estate is now the property of Charles Ellison, Esq.

At Lintzford is a pajjcr-mill, the property of Mr. John

Annandale.

Loft HoKSc was inherited from the NiehoUs by the

Rev. William Ellison, whose descendant, Charles Elli-

son, Esq., is the present proprietor.

High Fiiarskle, in 1451, belonged to Roger Thornton,

from whom it descended to the Liunleys. It was alie-

nated by John Lord Liunley in 1562, and afterwards

divided between the Harrises and Hancocks. More

recently, it became the property of the Simpsons of

Bradley, and now belongs to Lord Ravensworth. The

Lcazcs estate, with a convenient residence, was sold some

years ago by John Scaife, Esq., of Alnwick, to Mr. J.

Addison, but is now, with the exception of a small farm

belonging to the Addisons, the profierty of J. Eden, Esq.

Low Friarside lies on the Derwent, to the west of

Gibside. In 1600, it became the property of Sir Nicholas

Tempest, of Stella, who conveyed to William Blakiston,

Esq., of Gibside, to the proprietors of which estate it

stiU belongs. The remains of a chapel, in which some

some large oak trees are growing, are still standing ; but

the date of its foundation is imkno'mi. The estate of

Friarside contains 23 a. 2 k. 1 p., of which 3 A. 3 r. 20 p.

are woodlands.

Piicsffie/d, parcel of the united chantry of Farnacres

and Frcresyde, belongs partly to the widow of WiUiam-

George Ellison, Esq., and partly to Messrs. Brooksbank

and AUgood.

BuRxoPFiELD is a pleasant village 7 miles south-west

from Gateshead. It contains a small Jlethodist chapel,

erected in 1755, and now used dming the week as a

school. There are also a police station, a post-office,

four pulilic liouscs, a large brewery, some shopkeepers

and wood-dealers, and several mechanics. A handsome

mansion at the south end of the village is the property

and residence of Mr. Watson, surgeon :* it is overhung

by a steep and lofty hiU, thickly covered with trees.

• " The BuitNOPriELD Murdeb."—Mr. Robert Sth-liiig, assistant to

Mr. Watson, surgoon, of Burnopfiolil, was munlercd, at mid-day, on
thti ij,t of November, 1S55, in a lonely road called SmaUes's Lone,

about a milo north from the village, and in the parish of Winlaton.

He had been little more than a week in the sei-viee of Mr. Watson,

and was returning from visiting the patients of that gentleman, when
ho was shot by some persons lurking near the road, his throat cut, and
his head and face fi-ightfully injured, apparently by the but-end of a

gun. His watch, money, and lancets wore taken from his pockets; and
the body was dragged through a fence on the south side of the road,

and deposited amongst the bushes in a plantation which covers a steep

Burnopfield was the property and residence of the New-
tons, and now belongs to John Eden, Esq.

Btirnopfe/d CoUury is one of those worked by John
Bowes, William Hutt, Nicholas Wood, and Charles

Mark Palmer, Esqrs., and which comprise the seams of

coal " under all or any of the lands or grounds commonly
called Tanfield Moor, within the manor or lordship of

Beamish, and in the townships of Tanfield, Lamesley,

Kibblesworth, Beamish, and Cornsay, or some one of

them, and in the parish of Chester-le-Street, and chapel-

ries of Tanfield and Lamesley." By an indenture of

demise, dated Aj)ril 26, 1731, between Dame Jane

Clavering and George Pitt, a right of way-leave from

these collieries to the rivers Tyne or Darwent is granted

for 500 years from that date, on pajanent of 2s. 6d. for

every ten of coals carried along such waggon-ways.

The present lessees hold for a term of 60 years from the

1st of January, 1850, at the certain yearly rent of 1,500/,

payable half-yearly, on the 1st of July and the 1st of

January in every year. The royalty comprises six

workable coal seams under 1,100 acres of surface, re-

cently estimated to contain 2,847 acres of whole coal,

besides 406 acres of workable pillars ; and it was stated

that the workings of the lessees had yielded a revenue of

above 2,000/. a year. At Burnopfield, the main coal is

found at the depth of 48 fathoms, and the Busty Bank
42 fathoms further.

Bri/fiits/eaj) adjoins Burnopfield, and stands on the

heights above Gibside. The name is supposed to have

been imposed from some tremendous feat or marvellous

escape ; but the legend is lost. William Scafe, Esq.,

sold a portion of Bryansleap to Lady Windsor. It now
belongs to the representatives of the late Marquis of

Bute. Part of the timber on the estate was sold in 1851.

Shield Row, or Sheelrow, is a vQlage a mile to the

south of Tanfield, and contains a common brewery, three

public houses, a day-school, two or three shopkeepers,

and a nimiber of families connected with the adjoining

pits. This place, in 1619, belonged to William Porter,

from whom it descended by marriage to the Blakistons.

declivity, where it was not discovered tiO about a week afterwards. A
considerable sensation was excited throughout the county by this atro-

cious deed, and large rewards were otferi>d for the discovei^ of the

pei-petrators. Two men, named John Cain, the proprietor of an illicit

still in the vicinity of SmaUcs's Lane, and Richard RajTie, a blacksmith

at Winlaton, were apprehended on suspicion, and brought up at the

Durham spiing assizes in 1856 ; but the evidence not being complete,

they were remanded to the summer assizes in July of that year. After

a protracted trial, in which a variety of circumstantial evidence was

adduced on behalf of the lu'oseoution, a verdict of " Not guilty" was

retiuTied.
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North-Horn is the property of Joka Eden, Esq.

Bechh'ij, wliicli belonged to the Porters of Shield Row,

has passed to the Claverings. Messrs. Bell, Backhouse,

and Partners, are proprietors of Shield Roic Colliery.

Stanloj Hall, " an old, double, gable-ended house, on

a mid hill top," stands south of Tanfield, about a niile

distant from Stanley Burn, or Consbeck, which flows

through a little valley, shaded with bii'ch and alder.

Stanley was held of the prior of Durham by WiUiam de

Kilkenny, an Irish clerk, on condition of maintaining a

clerk in his chapel at that place, to sing for the soul of

Robert de Musters. In 1394, Thomas de Birtley held

the manor of Stanley for life, with certain premises

called the Hag or Hall, with reversion expectant to
j

Richard de Kilkenny. He granted the same to Ralph

de Lumley, held of the bishop in capite by military ser-

vice, and subject to the payment of ten poimds yearly

to Catherine, the widow of "William de Kilkennv, for

Hfe. The manor was afterwards the property of the

Tempests. It now belongs to Charles Townley, Esq.

East Stanley Colliery is at present working in the high

maiu coal or brass thill seam, which is 4 feet 9 inches

thick, and at a depth of 56 fathoms. The royalty be-

longs to Charles Townley, Esq. ; and the coUiery is

worked by James Joicey, Esq. From this colliery, and

those at Beamish, there is a private line of railway, 5

miles long, which joins the Pontop branch of the North-

eastern Railway near the Newcastle and Durham turn-

pike at Picktree ; and the coals are shipped at the Pontop

drops, South Shields, and the North and South Docks,

Sunderland.

West Stanley Colliery.—The Shield Row seam, 7 feet

thick, is at the depth of 42 fathoms ; the five-quarter,

4 feet 2 inches thick, 13 fathoms further ; and the main

coal, 4 feet 8 inches thick, 9 fathoms further, being a

total depth of 64 fathoms. The royaltj" belongs to

Charles Townley, Esq., and is worked by David Bum,
Esq., and Partners, who have a number of coke ovens at

the coUiery.

CHAPELEY OF LAMESLEY.

The chapelry of Lamesley is bounded on the south-east and south bj- the chapeby district of Birtley, on the west

by the chapeby of Tanfield and the parish of Whickham, on the north by the latter parish and that of Gateshead,

and on the east by Gateshead and Washington. The chapelry includes the townships of Lamesley, Ravensworth,

Kibblesworth, and Hedley, containing altogether 7,016 acres.

LA3IESLEY.

In 1801, the population of the township of Lamesley

was 1,705 ; in 1811, it was included in the return for

the whole chapelry, which was 2,054 ; in 1821, that of

the township was 1,720 ; in 1831, 1,910 ; in 1841, 1,846

;

and in 1851, 1,914, of whom 960 were males and 954

females. At the same date, there were 418 inhabited

houses, 10 uninhabited, and 3 building.* The annual

value of property assessed to the county-rate in 1853

was 7,984/. 4.s. 8d.

The vUlage of Lamesley is situated in a pleasant vale

on the Team, to the south-west of Gateshead Fell, and

about 4 miles south from Gateshead. It contains two

• As an instance of the enhanced value of land for building purposes

in this district, it may be mentioned that two fields, containing 25

acres, called West Pennyfine Farm, in the township of Lamesley, were

sold, a short time ago, for 1,6301., being upwards of 39 years' purchase

upon the rental.

public houses, with a joiner's and a blacksmith's shop.

An airy and spacious school-room was built by the late

Lord Ravensworth in 1814, who allowed the master 25

guineas per annum for educating 25 poor boys. The
late Lady Ravensworth also allowed a yearly stipend to

a schoolmistress for the instruction of poor girls. These

allowances are stiU continued. The township abounds

in excellent coal, and the various quarries peld a quantity

of stone which is much used for making into grindstones.

THE CHTRCH.

Lamesley church was rebtiilt in 1759 ; and a plain

square tower, with an octagonal turret at the north-east

comer, was added in 1821. The church consists of nave

with narrow side-aisles of equal height ; each aisle is

formed by four obtusely pointed arches, supported by
lofty clustered pillars. The chancel is entered by a low

pointed arch. The east window is in three compart-
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ments, ornamented witli medallion coats of arms in

stained glass. There are four double windows in each

of the aisles, divided into upper and lower compartments

;

the former aiFording light to galleries which extend

over the aisles. The organ is placed in the tower, which

is open towards the nave. The font i.s a plain octagonal

basin. On the south side of the chancel there is a very

beamiful monument to the memory of the Hon. Frances-

Jane Liddell, who died in November, 1823, aged 24

years. It was erected by the late Lady Ravensworth,

mother of the deceased, and the figures are elegantly

designed and beautifully executed. Adjoining it is a

handsome mural tablet to the memory of her ladyship.

In the wall of the south aisle is a marble tablet belong-

ing to the Crosby family. The church plate consists of

two silver flagons, the gift of Sir Henry-George LiddeU,

Bart., 1765 ; a chalice, dated 1696 ; and a salver, 1740.

The family vault of the Ravensworths is in the chancel.

The church-yard is spacious, and adorned with trees : it

contains memorials to the Waltons of Farnacres, and

other families connected with the chapelrJ^ On August

16, 1849, an additional j)iece of ground was added and

consecrated by the Bishop of Durham.

Registers.—Book No. 1 contains entries of baptisms,

burials, and marriages, from 1603 to 1729 (imperfect)
;

Nos. 2 to 4, baptisms and bm'iaLs from 1730 to 1812, and

marriages from 1730 to 1753 ; and Nos. 5 and 6, mar-

riages from 1754 to 1812.

Lamcslcy chapelry is not in charge nor certified.

Patron, Lord Ravensworth. Dedication, unknown.

Cdbates.—Thomas Lang, 1409 ; John James, 1464; Sir \Vm. John-

son, Feb. 20, 15C5 ; Geo. Eglesfield, 1507 ; Thos. Martin, 1572 ; Edw.
Erington, 1587: John Blaxton, Aug. 15, 1500; Tlios. Hope, 180fi;

Arab. Lowthor, June 5, Kill ; Jer. Williams, Oct. 7, KilO ; John Buck-

ley, A.M., 10:!0-41 ; — Wilson, an intruili-r, ejected ICfiO; Jacob ItaiTop,

1077; John Ainl, 1700; John Bulguy, A.M.,* 1711; Robt. Wilson, el.,

1729, p. res. Balguy; John Wihbeisley, A.M., 1751, p. m. Wilson;
Calel) Dixon, 17H2, p. m. Wibljersley ; John CoUiuson, 1820; Robert
Hopper Williamson, 1847, p. res. Collinson.

Tliis chapelry formed the second prebend in the

coUegiate church of Chcster-le-Street, formed in 1286
;

but tlic cha])el existed previous to that date. On the

Dissolution, a slight provision was reserved for a perpe-

tual cm-ate. The chapehy pays tithe of lamb and wool

• Mr. Balguy was a native of Sheffield. He bore a distinguished part
in the Bangorian controversy, was an opponent of the principles of
Lord Shaftesbuiy, and answered Hutchinson's " Inquiry into the.

Original of our Ideas of Beauty and Virtue." He was collated by
Bishop lloadley to a prebend in the chui-cli of Salisbury, and obtained
the vicarage of Northallerton througli Bishop Talbot. During the first

four years Ii.; heUl the humble living of Lamesley, " he did not intermit

VOL. II.

to the curate of the mother church of Chester. The corn

tithe belongs to Lord Ravensworth, and the small tithes

generally to the curate of Lamesley, The parsonage is

situated to the south-west of the church. The income is

stated at 138/. per annum.

CHARITIES.

Charities of Harrison and Surtees.—Ralph Harrison,

benefactor of the poor at Boldon and other places, gave

50/., and Ralph Surtees, on September 3, 1733, 10/., for

the use of the poor of Lamesley. In respect of these

two sums, the late Lord Ravensworth paid 3/. yearly as

interest ; but on the death of his steward and of the Rev.

Caleb Dixon, incumbent of the chapelry, in 1820, this

payment was inadvertantly discontinned. On its re-

sumption, the arrears of interest were added to the

principal, so as to increase the yearly simi to be distributed

to the poor, which is now 4/. 10s.

John S/idf/i's Charity.—John Smith, by will dated

March 25, 1734, devised 500/., which he had charged

on his estates, to his daughter, and 20/. to the poor of

the parish of Lamesley. In respect of the latter bone-

faction, the yearly sum of 20s. is paid by Lord Ravens-

worth, whose father is stated to have become possessed

of the estate formerly belonging to the donor. This svmi

is divided by the incumbent, on Christmas-day, equally

amongst eight poor persons of the chapelry, not receiving

parochial relief.

GreenweU's Charity.—On May 8, 1846, the sum of

1,500/. was received from the executors of Major-general

Sir Leonard Greenwell, K.C.B., to be invested, agreeably

to his request, for the benefit of the poor of the parish of

Lamesley, of which he was a native. The proceeds were

to be amiually distributed at Christmas in coals and

clothiag, but are generally distributed in provisions.

Lady Ravensworth's Alms-houses.—These alms-houses

are situated at a short distance north from the village,

and form a neat and convenient residence for eight poor

persons, who receive 40/. a year. On the front is the

following inscriptiou :

—

" Anno Domini MDCCCXXXV.—These alms-houses were built and

endowed by Maria Susanna Lady Eavensworth iji memoi-j' of her two

departed children.—It is good forme that 1 have been nlllicted that I

might learn thy statutes. Cxix Psalm, Ixxi verse."

one week without composing a new sermon; and, desirous that so ex-

cellent an example should be followed by his son, he destroyed almost

his whole stock, and committed at one time two hundred and fifty to

the flames." He died September 21, 1748, leaving a high character as

a carulid and able philosophical writer. His only son was the famous

Dr. Thomas Balguy, archdeacon of Winchester.

4x
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LiddeWs CharUij.—The Hon. Thomas Liddell, who

died in I80G, bequeathed GOO/, for the benefit of Lames-

ley school, and 400/. for the alms-houses, to be paid on

the death of his widow, who has a life-interest in the

same.

Allerdean is situated a little lower down the vale of

Team, and to the north of Lamesley. Allerdean Cottage

is the residence of William Barkus, Esq., colliery viewer.

Allerdean or Elghton JIuur Colliery is worked by William

Wharton Burdon, Esq., and Partners ; and Team Colliery

is carried on by Mr. Burdon. The Street Fit (so called

from its proximity to the site of the Roman road), or

High Team Colliery, was held imder Lord Eavensworth

by the ancestors of Mr. Burdon from the year 1796, but

was laid in some years ago. It was situated near the

junction of the old and new roads from Newcastle to

Durham.*

EIGHTON BANKS.

EiGHTON or Aj'ton Banks is a village scattered over a

considerable extent of a high and bleak fell, cast of

Lamesley. The ground is rugged and broken, quarries

having been worked in all directions. Ayton Cottage,

formerly the residence of B. Thompson, Esq., is now

occupied by J. M. Favell, Esq., coroner of Chester

Ward.

This place is occasionally mentioned as an appendage

to Eavensworth, and is included in the general convey-

ance of the Ravensworth estates from Gascoigne to

Liddell in 1607. A small freehold, however, was early

held by a family bearing the local name, but was carried

to the Eavensworths by marriage before 1380. A grant

is in existence, dated 1387, of an acre of land near the

brook to the hermit of Eighton. In 1781, the East

York and South Lincoln regiments of militia were en-

camped at Eighton Banks ; and, in the following year,

the East York and North York regiments occupied the

same station.

THE CHURCH.

In the year ending June, 1847, a recommendation was

made to the ecclesiastical commissioners for the formation

of a chapelry district at Eighton Banks, to be composed

• About 40 veal's ago, a pitman iiuiued Bjne, with his son, wore

engaged in the Street Pit. The father was in a corfe, and tlie boy

standing on its bow, holding on by the rope, whilst the engine was

drawing them up the shaft. AVhen within two fathoms of the top, the

boy was thrown off by a sudden jerk of the pulleys, and fell perpendi-

cularly down the pit. The father, on arriving at bank, exclaimed,

" The— is g)en !—he was olways a hemp I" Meanwhile, the on-

of parts of the chapelries of Lamesley and Usworth and

the parish of Gateshead, comprising an estimated popula-

tion of 2,300 persons. For some years, a congregation

has existed at Eighton Banks, a part of which assembled

in the school-room at that place, and the other part in

the school-room at Wreckenton ; the Rev. R. H. Wil-

liamson, incumbent of Lamesley, and the Rev. —
Philp, curate of Sheriff Hill, attending to perform

di^-ine service. At length, Thomas Davison, Esq., of

Durham, granted an acre and a half of ground as a

site for a church and parsonage, and added luO/. to com-

mence the structure. The late Lord Ravensworth gave

200/. ; the Bishop of Dirrham and J. Blakency, ]"'sq.,

100/. each ; the Church Building Society, 140/. ; the

Diocesan Church Building Society, Bishop Barrington's

trustees, William Peareth, Esq., and the Hon. H. T.

Liddell, each 50/. ; the Hon. Mrs. Russell Barrington, of

Hetton-le-Hole, and R. W. Hodgson, Esq., Gateshead,

each 20/. ; the Rev. R. H. Williamson, 15/. ; the owners

of Springwell colliery, John Chandless, J. M. Favell,

John Greene, Esqrs., and the executors of the laic Dr.

Durell, 10/. each ; William Barkus, Esq., 5/. 5s. ; the

Hon. T. H. Liddell, Mrs. T. H. Liddell, the Rev. G. S.

Faber, — Favell, Esq., Henry Blanchard, Esq., Lord

Seaham, Nathaniel Grace, Esq., Miss Watson, Milltleld,

John Barras, Esq., — Watson, Esq., Mrs. J. 31. Favell,

and Mrs. J. Davison, 5/. each ; besides several smaller

donations. The fotmdation stone of St. Cuthbert'a

church was laid by the Hon. T. H. Liddell, as represen-

tative of his father, Lord Eavensworth, on Jlarch 9,

1852 ; and the edifice was consecrated by the Bishop of

Durham in September, 1854. The designs for the

edifice were gratuitously furnished by Mr. G. G. Wall,

architect, of Durham. The style of architecture is early

pointed English of the 13th century. The dimensions

of the nave are 63 feet by 27, and the chancel is 21 feet

by 15. The interior is lighted by eight lancet lights on

each side of the nave, and three similar lights at the east

end of the chancel. The church is supplied by the Eev.

E. H. Williamson and his curates.

RAVENSWOETH.

The population of this township was, in 1801, 160 ; in

1821, 161 ; in 1831, 187 ; in 1841, 151 ; and in 1851,

setter, at the bottom of the shaft, seeing soinetbin'.; fall iii^o a I'eep

" sump" beside him, pulled it out with a hook, and found it to be the

boy; who, in an hour or two, was able to be sent to bank, ar.d in .1 few

days returned to his work. It is remarkable tliat a broihcr of thii

boy, a short time afterwards, was caught by the thumb while 1 uoking

on a corfe at the bottom of the shaft, and was in that manner diawn

to the top without injury.
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loS, of whom 75 "wore males and 83 females, inhabiting

29 houses. Tho annual value of property assessed to the

coimt3--ratc in 1853 was 834/. 11«. 10(/.

I [utchiusou supposes the name of Ravcnsworth to allude

to the Jinft'cii, the standard of Denmark ; but Surtecs

ehows that the name Raven enters into the composition

of numerous iAixon names of places, and that, in some

instances, it may be derived from the haunts of the very

bird it.sclf. Ravcnsworth thus impHes the vill or domain

of the Iiavcn ; and Raremholm, or Ravenshelm, which

oecm's in old dociuncnts, signifies the tower of the Raven.

Tlie liamlet of Ravcnsworth consists of but few houses,

thoucrh thrrc are several farm-houses and cottages

tliroii'^hout the township : many of these were rebuilt

during the present century by the late Lord Ravens-

wortli, wlio, with commendable liberality, spared no

expense in erecting neat and substantial dwellings, the

arrang.mcnts of which combine every convenience and

comfort. Tlic manor includes a very extensive and

valuable held of coal. A grant from Bishop Ruthall of

way-leaves from a coUieiy here occurs in 1530. The

first waggon-ways, and the second steam-engine used in

the north, belonged to the Liddells of Ravcnsworth

;

and Colonel Liddoll and the Hon. Charles Montague

wee tiie foinidcrs of a partnership for working coals,

po;>ularly known in the north of England as the Grand

Allies.

Ravcnsworth is mentioned in a legend of about the

date ol" 10 '0. A century later, Bishop Ranidph granted

Ravcnsworth and I'llghton to his nephew, Richard, the

stock of the Barons Fitz-Marmaduke. Eleanor, sister of

the munhrcd Uuhard Fitz-Marmaduke, carried the ma-

nor of Ravcnsworth to a younger branch of the Lumleys.

In 14 _>(), Isabel, only daughter of Bartram Lumley, was

contvactcd to Sir Ilcnry Boynton ; and Isabel, their

daughter and sole heiress, became the wife of Sir Henry
Gascoigno. Their grandson, Sir William Gascoigne, of

Scdiiiiry, in 1007 alienated the castle of Ravenshelm,

the manors of Ravenshelm and Lamesley, and lands and

services in Eighton, Hedley, Over Eighton, Nether

Eight on, Longacres, Northendes, Ravcnsworth and Po-

kerley, to Thomas liddcll, merchant, of Newcastle. It

must be observed that several freeholds or tenements

existed, held by subinfeudation under the chief lords of

the fee. Tims, Jolm Scrutcvill held 24 acres in Ravens-

worth of Alexander de Kibblesworth, and 20 acres in

Lamesley of the Lady of Ravenshelm, then styled

" Countess of Ravenshelm." In 1451, a portion of land

was held by a family who bore the local name, but who
belonged to Gateshead.

RAVENSWORTH CASTLE.

This noble and magnificent edifice stands beautifully on
the eastern side of a hill, which slopes gradually towards

the Team, about 3 miles south-west from Gateshead, and
forms a fine object in the view of the vale of that river.

This castle, according to Hutchinson, "was a fortress

befoi'c any records now extant ; as there is no license to

embattle and kernellate this house found in the bishop's

archives, though of every other castle in the coimty

there is that e\'idencc " In the time of the Boyntons

and Gascoigns, it seems to have consisted of four oblong

square towers, connected by a regular curtain, and pro-

b.ibly including a keep or central tower. Buck's View,

in 1728, exliibits the towers, with a perfectly modern
building between them. The apartments were small,

but neat, and with little ornament ; the saloon and
staircase were spacious, and there was a good dining

room. Nearly the whole of the building was taken

down in 1808, with the exception of two of the old

towers, which are incorporated in the offices. One of

them is covered with ivy, and has a fine effect as seen

through the plantation rising around this part of the

castle. The inteiiors of those venerable structures are

vaulted with stone, no timber having been used in their

erection. A comparatively modern sun-dial has been

placed on one of the faces of the southern tower, and is

dated 1688.

The erection of the present castle was commenced on

the removal of the old building. It is of freestone from

a neighbouring quarry, and was built from designs fur-

nished by Nash, in a light Gothic style, consisting of a

selection from the castle architecture of various periods,

skilfully brought into contact. The castle has three

fronts ; and the various square and octagonal embattled

towers produce a pleasing effect. On one of the towers

is a reservoir, capable of containing 3,000 gallons of

water.

Internally, the castle includes every requisite to the

beauty and convenience of a splendid mansion. The

windows are square-headed, of the time of Elizabeth and

James I. ; and this has been objected to as an incon-

gruity with the earlier style of the building. The prin-

ciple of utility, however, may justify this deviation from

purity of taste.

The principal entrance to the castle is from the north,

and opens into a majestic hall, 100 feet long, 35 feet

wide, and 50 feet high. At its western extremity is a

handsome staircase, containing a sculpture of St. Michael

and the dragon; and at the cast end, a gigantic and
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highly ornamented Gothic fireplace. An open gallery

extends along the south side. The lofty roof is of oak.

Opposite the entrance, a passage conducts into the grand

suite of apartments on the groimd floor, which are

lighted from the south, and are imiformly 18 feet in

height, with coved and ribbed roofs, tastefully adorned

with plaster work. The saloon is 24 feet square ; and

the di-awing room is 36 feet 4 inches long by 24 feet

broad. The dining room, which is about the same size,

contains a cimous sideboard, of old carved oak. The

library is the most western apartment, and opens into a

handsome conservatory. Large thick folding doors of

oak di\ade the apartments, and which, when thrown

open, present a continuous xievf from the dining room

on the east to the conservatorj\

The museum, which is above the northern gateway, is

36 feet square; and the picture gaUerj' is 101 feet in

length, 22 feet in breadth, and lighted by domes.

Amongst the pictures in the castle arc, a battle-piece,

by Salvator Rosa ; a Magdalen, by the daughter of

Carlo Dolci ; dead game, by Casteels ; a portrait of a

lady, by Sir Peter Lely ; a portrait of Mareschal Le

Due d'llarcourt, by Netscher; the last portrait of

George IV., painted by Sir Thomas Lawrence ; a por-

trait of the late Lady Ravcnsworth, by the same artist

;

portraits of the late and present Lords Ravensworth, by

Evans ; Moses at the bm-ning bush, by G. Poussin

;

a landscape, by N.. Poussin ; a musical party, by Michael

Angelo de Carravagio ; a very fine boar-hunt, by
" loannes Fyt, 1648 ;" and several other excellent pic-

tures. Two of these, a Holy Family by Vandyke, and

the same subject by Carlo Rosa, are probably the finest

paintings of the kind m the north of England. A small

landscape, by the Rev. J. Thompson, is a real gem of

art. Many of the landscapes which adorn the walls of

the castle were painted by the late Lady Ravensworth,

and mostly represent Italian scenery, in the style of

N. Poussia. Amongst the other curiosities of art are

models of St. Peter's church at Rome, and St. Paul's

cathedral, London ; also a model, by Dodds, of New-

castle, intended to represent Ravensworth Castle, biit

which does not correspond with its present form. There

are several good specimens of Italian sculpture ; but the

bronze figures constitute the most valuable part of the

collection. A museum of preserved birds, with other

objects connected with the study of natural history, has

been for many years in the com'se of collection by the

present Lord Ravensworth.

The stables and other offices are on the east side of

the castle, and are entered by an archway vmder a lofty

gate-house. On the opposite side of the quadrangle is a

clock-tower, beneath which an archway conducts into a

court-j^ard, containing a dairy, kitchens, &c., and flanked

b)^ the old towers already alluded to.

The entrance hall and principal apartments of the

castle are lighted by gas, which is manufactured at a

gasometer situated in the quarry from whence the stone

for the edifice was obtained. Water is procured from a

reservoir on a western eminence, capable of producing a

pressure of 75 feet ; and there is a good supply of pipes,

&c., in case of accidental fire.

The castle is sheltered on the north and west by a fine

forest of oaks and evergreens, which cover the rising

gromids, and impart to the whole a rich and warm

appearance. Some of the trees are of great size ; and it

is related that nine men, dm-ing a thmider-storm, took

shelter in the hollow of one of the oaks. The south

aspect consists of at least 300 acres of rich meadow

lands, scattered over with large trees at irregular dis-

tances. The vale of Lamesley lies below, extending

about a mile and a half, and beautifidly clothed with

wood. At the south entrance into the park is a hand-

some lodge, ia a style corresponding with the castle.

The east side of the castle is closed in by plantations,

which exclude the view of the opposite eminence of

Gateshead Fell. The gardens are at a short distance

north of the castle, and are neat and productive. The

vinery is also extensive. The head gardener's cottage,

at the chief entrance, exhibits a striking specimen of

good taste. On the private road near the castle is the

plain shaft of a cross on an octagonal pedestal. The

common tradition is, that when Newcastle, in the reign

of Queen Elizabeth, was infected with the plague, the

country people left the provisions intended for the iaha-

bitants of the town at this place. It may be observed,

however, that in ancient times, besides the crosses in

towns and villages, such monuments were erected in

many diflerent places, for the jDurpose of reminding

travellers of their religious duties.

The Liddell Family.—The ancient pedigree of the

Liddell family is verjr imperfect. They are first men-

tioned as Lords of Liddcl Castle and Barony of Buft.

Thomas de Liddel or Lyddale, merchant, of Newcastle,

was sheriflT of that town in 1563, and mayor in 1572 :

he married Margaret, daughter of John de Layburne,

and died in May, 1577. Thomas Liddell, his son and

heir, was also shcriS" of Newcastle in 1592, and mayor

in 1609. In 1607, he pui'chased the manors of Ravens-

worth, Eighton, and Lamesley. He married Barbara,

1
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daughter and heiress of Richard Strangeways, Esq., by

whom he had four sons and two daughters. Thomas,

eldest son and heir, had, by his first wife, Margaret,

daughter of John Watson, alderman of Newcastle,

Thomas, Ids heir, and three daughters ; and by his

second wife, Jane, daughter of Henry Mitford, alderman

of Newcastle, he had Henry Liddell, who married Eli-

zabeth, daughter and co-heircss of William Jennison,

Esq., of Newcastle, from whom descended the Famacres

branch of the Liddells. Another son by the second

marriage was Roger Liddell, to whom the Darncrook

estate was bequeathed. The father died in August, 1619.

Thomas LiddeU, eldest son, baptized Apiil 14, 1578,

was sheriff of Newcastle in 1609, and mayor in 1625

and 1626. He was a zealous supporter of Charles I.,

and was created a baronet on November 2, 1642. Two
years afterwards, he was one of the gallant defenders of

Newcastle, which was stormed by the Scots after a

leaguer of eighteen months, and a close siege of eight

weeks. Six Thomas was carried prisoner to London,

committed to the charge of General Lambert, and at

last compounded for his estates as a deKuquent for

4,000/. Ho married, Febiiiary 2.3, 1595, Isabel, daugh-

ter of Henry Anderson, Esq., of Newcastle and of

HasweU-Grange, by whom he had issue.

Thomas, the eldest son, baptized October 27, 1603,

was knighted in 1626, and died the following year. He
married Bridget, daughter of Edward Woodward, Esq.,

of Leo, near Windsor, one of the maids of honour to the

Queen of Bohemia, by whom he had issue an only son.

Sir Thomas Liddell, first baronet, died in 1650, and
was succeeded by his grandson, who married Anna,
daughter of Sir Henry Vane the elder, of Raby Castle,

by whom he had issue five sons and three daughters.

He was buried at Lamesley November 23, 1697.

Sir Hcniy Liddell, third baronet, was M.P, for the

city of Durham in 1688 and 1695, and for Newcastle in

1700 and 1708. He married Catherine, daughter and
heiress of Sir John Bright, of Carbrook, Derbyshire, by
whom he had issue five sons and a daughter. Tliomas,

the eldest son, born August 31, 1670, married, October

12, 1707, Jane (buried at Lamesley in 1774), dauo-hter

of James Clavcring, Esq., of Grecncroft, and died in

1715 in his father's life-time, leaving two sons, Henry
and Tliomas (of Newton Hall). John, second son of Sir

• Sir Hciiry-Gcorge LiJdell was accompanied, on his tuur to Sweden
and Lapland, by Mr. Consett and Mr. Bowes. They left Eavensworth
Castle on May ii, 178C, and embarked at Shields on hoard the mer-
chant ship Gottonburg; and they returned in that shij) to the same
port about the middle of August following. Mr. Consett's account of
the Lapland girls is as follows :

—

Hemy, was adopted heir to his grandfather. Sir John
Bright, and assumed that name ; Honrj', third son, died

without issue ; George, foiu'th son, M.P. for Berwick-

upon-Tweed, died also without issue ; Michael died

uimiarried ; and Elizabeth the daughter, became the

wife of Robert ElUson, Esq., of Hebbiu'n. Sir Hemy
was buried at Kensington, September 3, 1723, and was
succeeded by his grandson.

Sir Henry LiddeU, 4th Bart, (eldest son of Thomas
Liddell, Esq., and his wife Jane), born in 1708. He
was M.P. for Morpeth in 1734 and 1741, and elevated

to the peerage, June 29, 1747, by the title of Baron

Rarciistcorfh, of Havensirorfh Casfk. His lordship married,

in 1735, Anne, only daughter of Sir Peter Delme, Knt.,

alderman and lord mayor of London, by whom he had
an only daughter, Anne, who married Augiistus-Henry,

Lord Eustou, afterwards Duke of Grafton, from whom
she was divorced, and married subsequently John, Earl

of Upper Ossory. Lord Ravensworth died January 30,

1784, and was biu-ied at Lamesley. As he left no male

issue, the barony expired, while the baronetcy devolved

upon his nephew, Heniy-George, son of Thomas Liddell,

Esq., of Newton Hall, by Margaret, daughter of Sir

William Bowes, of Strcatlam Castle.

Sir Henry-George Liddell, 5th Bart., was born No-
vember 25, 1749, and married, in April 1773, Elizabeth,

daughter of Thomas Steel, Esq., of Hampsnet, Susses,

and had issue Thomas-Henry, afterwards Lord Ravens-

worth ; Hemy-George, in holy orders, married, Novem-
ber 11, 1809, Charlotte, daughter of the Hon. Thomas
Lyon Bowes, of Hetton-le-Hole, and granddaughter of

Thomas, eighth Earl of Strathmore ; Elizabeth, married

to Brook Richmond, Esq. ; Anne, died mimarried in

April, 1843 ; and Charlotte-^imelia, died immarried in

1850. Sir Henry died at Sidmouth, Devonshu-e, No-

vember 26, 1791, and was buried at Lamesley on the

ISth December. He enjoyed a high reputation for a

warm and generous, but somewhat romantic disjjosition.

His rapid excursion to Lapland, in consequence of a

wager, and his retm-n with two native girls and some

rein-deer, are particularly described in Consett's " Tour

through Sweden," &c. The Lapland girls -n-ere restored

in safety to their native comitry, ai'tcr an absence of

seven months, with 50/. and numerous trinkets ; and

the deer bred in England.*

" We first met with our two female travellers at Igsund, a small town.

Their names are Sigree and Anea, and they are natives of .Tockmo

Lapmark. With respect to their persons, they are low in stature with

broad features like the rest of their country-women.—We had no great

diHioulty in pei'suadinf; them to take this journey. They seemed so

satislied that our intentions were good, and relied so entirely upon tlje
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Sir Tliomas-IIenry Liddell, born February 8, 1775,

succeeded as sixth baronet on the death of his father.

He was M.P. for the county of Durham in 1804, and

was elevated to the peerage as Baron Iiare»sirorf/i, of

Raiensicorfh Castle, July 14, 1821. He married, ilarch

26, 1796, Maria-Susanna, daughter of John Simpson,

Esq., of Bradley, and granddaughter, maternally, of

Thomas, eighth Earl of Strathmore, by whom (who died

November 22, 1845) he had issue, 1, Henry-Thomas,

his successor ; 2, Thomas, born September 20, 1800

;

married, February 28, 1843, Caroline-Elizabeth, eldest

daughter of George, fifth Viscoimt Barrmgton ; 3, Jolin-

Simpson, born February 1, 1803 ; 4, George, born July

31, 1806 ; an officer in the army ; married, May 23,

1842, Louisa, second daughter of Gen. the Hon. Robert

Meade ; 5, Robert, bom September 24, 1808 ; in holy

orders, vicar of Barking, Essex ; married, January 26,

1836, Emily, daughter of the Hon. and Rev. Gerard-

Valerian WcUesley, D.D. ; 6. George-Augustus-Frede-

rick, lieutenant-colonel in the army; born July 28,

1812; and married. May 11, 1842, Cecil-Elizabeth,

fourth daughter of the Hon. and Rev. Gerard-Valerian

Wellesley ; 7, Charles, born Juno 10, 1815 ; died De-

cember 1, 1832; 8, Adolphus-Frederick-Octavius, born

January 15, 1818 ; Fellow of All Souls College, Oxon.

;

promise of Sir H. G. L. that )ie would send them safely back again to

their frieuds and countiT, that they made very little opposition to his

proposals. In all probability the poverty of these females, joined to an

enterprizing spirit, occasioned their easy acquiescence. They thought

that if they returned at all, a circumstance they saw no room to doubt,

Uiey would not return in the same state of indigence in which they

then were. It is more surprising that their parents should consent

to their undertnldng this arduous journey. They did so, without any

bribe or any other consideration than the faithful promise of our

baronet. Tlteij dropt, indeed, sotne natural tears, but wiped them soo7i.

From Igsund, they accompanied their cliildren a part of their journey,

then took an aflectionatc leave and returned home.

" When our Lapland female friends had determined to undertake

the journey, among other questions, they desired to know whether

there were any churches in England. Before they left tlieir own

countiT, they applied to their minister for a certificate of their fidelity

to their own church. The female Laplanders, with three more as

companions, walked on foot with the five rein-deer near six hundred

miles by land before they reached Gottenburg, where we met them,

and embarked altogether for England." They "were received in this

country as great curiosities and visited by all ranks of people. And
probably they were as curious to see others as others were to see them.

I have before told you that they were lively and cheerful ; I may add

also that they were graceful and unaflected. The natural habits and

Consiitutions of these two females were truly amiable : their tempers

Bteady and unvariable, their happy dispositions pictured in tlieir faces.

Besides they were particularly easy in their address, especially Sigree

;

EO much so, tliat instead of their Lapland mountains you would have

imagined their education had been in the drawing room. This obser-

vation hf.s been frequently made by Lady L. whose natural ease and

politeness give the greatest wei^'ht to her opinii n.

married, in 1845, Frederica-Elizabeth, daughter of

George Lane Fox, Esq. -Also, 1, Maria, born April 20,

1798; married, in 1818, to the Marquis of Normanby;

2, Frances-Jane, bom July 6, 1799 ; died unmarried,

November 11, 1823 ; 3, .Anne-Elizabeth, born Novem-

ber 1, 1801 ; married, April 18, 1826, to Sir Hedworth

"Williamson, Bart. ; 4, Jane-Elizabeth, born August 17,

1807 ; married, in 1823, to the Hon. William-Kepplo

Barrington, son of A'iscotmt Barrington ; 5, Elizabeth,

married, August 1, 1835, to the Hon. Edward-Ernest

Villiers, who died October 30, 1843 ; 6, Susan, bom
January 11, 1810 ; married, October 4, 1833, to the

Earl of Hardwicke; 7, Charlotte, born February 1,

1814 ; married, October 29, 1833, to John Trotter, Esq.,

of Dryham Park, Hertfordshire, late captain of the 2nd

life-guards ; 8, Georgiana, married, September 4, 1845,

to the Hon. J. A. D. Bloomfield, now Lord Bloomfield.

Lord Ravensworth died March 9, 1855, and was buried

in the family vaidt at Lamesley.

The present Lord Ravensworth was bom March 10,

1797. In February, 1826, he contested the representa-

tion of the county of Northimiberland with Matthew

Bell, Esq., of Woolsington, and was a successful candi-

date at the memorable general election in the same year.*

He was also elected for the North Division of the county

'• The time came when they were to return ; and the same friend

who brought them into this country was particularly anxious that they

should meet with no accidents in returning. They re-embarked in tha

same ship that brought them, and we know for certain that they safely

reached their native land after an absence of several months."

• In the first of the above contests, the polling continued from Fe-

bmaiy 21 to March 7, when Mr. Liddell declined: the numbers at th»

close of the poll were, for Bell, 1,18G ; Liddell, 1,150. At the general

election, the candidates were, the Hon. H. T. Liddell ; M. Bell, Esq.

;

T. W. Beaumont, Esq., of ByweU, and Lord Viscount Howick (now
Earl Grey). The contest lasted from the 20th of June to the Cth of

July ; and the numbers poUed for each candidate were, Liddell, 1,502;

BeU, 1,380; Beaumont, 1,335; and Howick (who had declined ths

contest on the 3rd), 976. The foUowing stanzas, written at tlie time,

were from the pen of the late Robert Surtees, Esq., of Mainsforth. As
they were not written for a party purpose, they were not published till

after the end of the contest.

THE COLOURS.
** Colours of more varied hue

Than Iris' purfled scarf can show."

" O'ER Northumbria' hUl and dale,

Far and wide the summons flew;

Dallpng witli the summer gale,

Four gay banners court tlie view.

" Where bright beauty's glance is beaming,

Lasses' love and lads' delight

;

See young Liddeix's colours streaming.

In a flood otpink and white.

" Unstain'd and true, see deep True Blue,

With lighter lints combine,
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of Durham in 1837, 1841, and 1847. In 1852, he was

a candidate for the representation of South Shields, hut

was returned for Liverpool in 1853, whicli to^^•n he con-

tinued to represent till his accession to the peerage. He
married November 9, 1820, Isabella-Horatia, eldest

daughter of Lord George SejTnour, by whom (who died

August 6, 1856) ho has issue, 1, Henrj^-George, M.P.

for South Northumberland, born October 8, 1821, mar-

ried Marj'-Diana, only daughter and heiress of the late

Captain Gunning Sutton, R.A. 2, William, born June

22, 1824 ; died January 29, 1834. 3, Hedworth, captain

in the army ; born July 2, 1825. 4, Seymour, bom
February 12, 1827. 5, Atholl-Charles, an officer in the

»rmy, born August 6, 1833. 6, Albert-George, born

August 6, 1841 ; died in infancy. Also, 1, Maria. 2,

Florentia, married, in 1853, to Hugh R. Hughes, Esq.,

of Kinmel Park, Denbighshire, nephew and heir of the

first Lord Dinorben. 3, Horatia, died June 5, 1846. 4,

Elizabeth. 5, Emil}'. 6, Harriet. 7, Eleanor; and

8, Victoria- Isabella, bom with her brother Albert.

Lord Ravensworth is well known for his appreciation

of the fine arts, and as the liberal patron and encourager

of local talent. In a volume of poems, entitled " The

Wizard of the North," published in 1833, his lordship.

For honest Bell, the triumph swell,

And deck the coaly Tync.

" From Hexham's towers, from ByweU'8 bowers.

From Allen's wilder shade.

While Beaumont's name loud bands proclaim.

Glints forth ' The White Cockade:

"From mountains rough, old Blue and Buff,

That oft has won the day.

Is loath to yield, untried, the field.

And waves once more for Grey.

"
' T\BO must win, though Tout may woo

;

Mingle while ye mingle may
;

Pink and White, and Buff and Bine,

In a medley strange and gay.

"'Gay fleeting colours shift and blend

Beneath the sunbeam bright;

Two nxa^j last to six years' end,

And two mu£l fade ere night.'

" 'Twas thus Northumbria's genius spoke.

And cast a pitying glance behind,

As from old Alnwick's bowers she broke.

And mounted on the eddying wind.

"She wav'd on high the bonny Bell,

And Liddell's red rose streak'd with pale ;

The Blue and Buff, and the White Cockad«

She scatter'd on the rising gale."

• The following depositions, quoted bySurtees, in the cause of 1715

fin wUioh the bishop's right to the mines, and the plaintiflf. Sir Henry

then the Hon. H. T. Liddell, evinces much poetic feeling,

enthusiasm, and classical taste ; and to his lordship's pen

the Antiquarian and Natural History Societies of the

district are indebted for several valuable and interesting

contributions.

Creations—Baronet, November 2. ICI'2 ; and Baron, July 1-t, 1821.

Arms—Arg., fretty, gu. ; on a chief, of the last, three leopards"

faces, or.

Crest—A lion rampant, sa., billeteo, or, ducally crowned, gold.

Supporters—Two Icopai'ds, or, spotted, murally gorged and crowned,

purp.

Mottoes—" Fama semper vivit." " Unus et idem."

Seats—Ravensworth Castle, Durham ; and Collingwood House and

Eslington House, Northumberland.

Blackburn Fell.—This common, containing by esti-

mation 2,000 acres, with the stinted pasture called the

South Pasture, contaiaing 600 acres, were divided imder

an act passed in 1801. John Fryer, John Tajdor, and

John Martindale, were the commissioners. Sir Thomas-

Henry Liddell, Bart., was admitted to be lord of the

manor, and to be entitled to the soil and royalties of

Blackburn FcU and Burdon Moor (excejit the coal and

seams of coal on Blackburn Fell, which belong to the

see of Durham) ;* Sir Thomas-Henry LiddcU and Sir

John Eden, Barts., (as owners of Beamish) were recited

Liddell's right to the soil and royalties of Blackburn Fell, were esta.

blished), are curious:

—

" Blackbume Fell, about 3,0f)0 acres on the west of Ravensworth,

joins the defendant's (the hishop's) manors of Chester-le-Strect and

Whickham ; Chowdene Fell, about 2,000 acres east of Ravensworth

and Eighton, joins the defendant's manor of Gateshead ; Blackbume

Fell lies between the waters of Blackbume and Tame, on the west of

Tame; Chowden, east of Tame.
" SirT. Liddell rode the boundaries C3 years ago (1715), once down

to Blackburn, and another time near Ui-peth Burn or Tame.—William

Lawes proved the boundary of Blackbume Fell up Merebume to the

head thereof, then down Aldridches to Tame, and up Tame to Becklej

Burn.' Old Sir Tliomas kept courts.

" Francis Buck. 48 years ago, Sir Thomas Lid Jell's servants were

riding the boundaries on Blackburn Fell, near Blackbume, and thence

to an ale-house at Street Gate, where they called for driuke, and gave

the boyes drinke and white cakes.

" Ra. Suerties. The cottagers on Blackbume Fell, Hedley, Chow-

dene, and Ravensworth, appeared at Lamesley Court, and one wa»

sworn in constable, ale-taster, bread-weigher, &c. ; and old people said

they did so in Sir William Gascoigne's time, a hundred years ago. Sir

Thomas kept great flocks of sheep on Ghowd ne, and distrained Gates-

head cattle trespassing. The tenants of Ravensworth had entercom-

mon from 1 Nov. to 2 Feb. and then bailiffs broke down the hedges

from Tame to Blackburn.

" Edward LiJdelL 40 years ago, Mr. Jenison was killed on Chow-

dene by a fall from his horse; the bishop claimed the horse as a

deodand, which Sir Thomas hearing, he sent his servant John Smith

to demand him, had him carried to RaTensworth. and kept him till

Jenisou's widow come and bogged him, and Sir Thomas gave him to

her."
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to be entitled to the soil and royalties of Kibblesworth

Common ; they also claimed to be lords of Hedley FeU

and Beamish East Moor ; and the Earl of Strathmore

claimed to be lord of Hedley. The commissioners allot-

ted one-sixteenth of Blackburn Fell and Burdon Moor

to Sir Thomas-Henry Liddc41 and Sir John Eden,

Barts. ; the residue to be di-\^ded proportionally amongst

them, the Earl of Strathmore, Sii- Thomas Clavering,

Bart., and others having common rights. The town

fields of Ravensworth -were to be divided amongst per-

sons having common right ; reserving to Sir Thomas-

Henry Liddell, Bart., the coal mines and quarries. Sir

John Eden siirrendered his claim on Beamish East Moor

(otherwise part of Blackburn Fell) for some considera-

tion; and the right of the soil was awarded to Sir

Thomas-Henry Liddell. The Earl of Strathmore brought

no action within six months (the time limited), and the

lordship of the soil of Hedley Fell was also therefore

awarded to Sir Thomas-Henry Liddell. The award was

read November 5, 1812, and deposited in the exchequer

at Durham on March 13, 1818.

On January 22, 1855, a case came before the Court of

Common Pleas, " Bowles i: Lord Ravensworth," relative

to a right of way to carry coke over Blackburn Fell.

The award of the enclosure commissioners provided that

the defendant should have a right of way for carrying

coals, and other produce of mines and minerals, across

the plaintiGf 's land ; and a railway was constructed for

the purpose. The question was, whether, under the

terms of the Enclosure Act, the defendant's easement

entitled him to carry coke, as well as other articles.

The court, after heai-ing counsel, gave their opinion that

Lord Ravensworth's right of way extended to coke, as

well as the other articles, and therefore that he was

entitled to judgment.

Hollenhush is supposed to have been originally a free-

hold within the manor of Lamesley. It was forfeited to

the bishop for a murder committed by George HaU,

former owner thereof, on Ralph Hedworth, on an out-

lawry for the murder ; and the bishop granted it by

copy to Ralph Tailbois, Esq., his officer, as parcel of the

manor of Whickham, 22nd August, 39 Elizabeth.

KIBBLESWORTH.

The township of Ivibblesworth contained, in 1801, 202

inhabitants ; in 1821, 237 ; in 1831, 246 ; in 1841, 219

;

and in 1851, 476, of whom 258 were males and 216

females. In 1841, there were 42 inhabited houses ; and

in 1851, 94. The annual value of propertj' assessed for

the county-rate in 1853 was 2,643/. 4s.

The village of Kibblesworth is one mile west from

Lamesley. Kibb/esicorfh Colliery is worked by John

Bowes, Esq., and Partners. The railway to it was

opened June 6, 1842.

As early as 1180, Kibblesworth gave name to its pos-

sessors. In 1368, the TTjyper Hall, with only half the

vill, were held by Alexander de Kibblesworth ; and the

other moiety was held by the Scrute^aLles. The estate

was afterwards divided, in various proportions, amongst

the Harbottles, Wilds, Hedworths, Lawsons, Bonners,

Hargraves, and Lewens. The Nether Hall is supposed

to have been the family mansion of the Greenwells. A
portion held at a late period by the Johnstons is now

vested by pm-chase in Lord Ravensworth. The Broad

Moor, adjoining the Xether Hall, which abutted on

Blackburn FeU on the west, was dirided in 1672.

HEDLEY.

The township of Hedley, or Hedley HaU, which lies to

the west, across Blackburn FeU, contained, in 1801, 54

inhabitants; in 1821, 49; in 1831, 44; in 1841, 46;

and in 1851, 42, of whom 23 were males and 19 females

;

there being, at the same date, 5 inhabited houses and 1

iminhabited. The annual value nf property assessed for

the county-rate in 1853 was 453/. l8s. Ad.

Hedley was anciently the estate of the MundevUls, of

which family Gilbert de Merley and Agnes his wife held

the manor, with a moiety of the vill, making suit at the

court of Ravenshelm, and paj-ing to William Bultflour

and his heirs 13s. Ad. Two persons from Hedlye joined

the Northern Insurrection in 1569, one ofwhom suffered

death. Hedley soon after became parcel of the Gibside

estates, held by the Blaxtons in the reign of James I.,

and is stUl, by regular descent, held with that property.
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PARISH OF LANCIIESTEE.

?JH^_^1tt extensive parisli of Lanchester, inclusive of its dependent chapelries of Esli (see vol. i., p. 418), Satley,

Medomsley, Ebcliester, Collierley, and Benfieldside, is bounded on the north by the parish of Ryton and the chapelry

of Tanfield, on the east by the parisli of Choster-le-Street, on the south-east by Witton-Gllbert and St. Oswald's in

the suburbs of Durham, on the south and south-west by Brancepeth and Wolsingham, and on the west and north-

west by the parishes of Stanhope and Muggleswick, and the Darwent, which forms the boundary of Northumber-

land. Exclusive of the chapcbics, the parish contains the townships of Lanchcster, part of Bm-nhope and Hamsteels,

Langley, Holmside, part of Greencroft, Ivcston, Cornsay, Butsficld, and Heleyfield.

LANCHESTER.
The township of Lanchestcr and Hamlets comprises an I

area of 4,26G acres. Its population, with tliat of Buts-

field, was 708 in 1801, and 834 in 1811. In 1821, the

number of inhabitants in Lanchestcr was 659 ; in 1831,

574 ; in 1841, 57!) ; and in 1851, 752, of whom 394

were males and 248 females. There were 22 persons in

the Union workhouse in 1841, and 40 in 1851. In the

latter year, there were 131 inhabited houses, 5 uninhabited,

and 2 building. The annual value of property assessed

to the county-rate, for the undivided part of Lanchcster,

consisting of the townships of Lanchestcr, Holmside,

Bumhopo and Hamsteels, and Butsfield, was 9,019/.

The Stockton and Darlington Railway has an extent

of 1 K. 30 Y. and an area of 1 a. 1 ii. in the township of

Lanchester, In each of the years 1851 and 1852, it

contributed 8s. 2(/. to the local i-ates ; the gross amounts

collected in the district in those years being 532A 8s. 1 ^d.

and 513/. 13.s. 71(1.

The village of Lanchcster is irregularly built, in a

wann, slieltered vale, watered by the Smallhope Bui'n,

over which there are three bridges, of one arch each. It

is 8 miles north-west-by-west from Durham, and 13 south-

west from Gateshead, and contains two farmholds, four

pubUc houses, a corn-mill, and several tradesmen's and
i)l)eratives' shops. " Great part of the vUlagc,'

VOL. II.

BilKngs, " as well as the present Christian church, is

composed of the Pagan masonry of the adjacent Roman

station ; so that, as far as the materials of construction

are concerned, Lanchester may claim precedence even of

Jarrow." A Methodist chapel was erected in 1821. Petty

sessions are held every alternate Friday ;
and there are a

rural police station and a post-office in the -\-illago. Lan-

chester is one of the polling places at elections for the

Northern Division of the coimty, and the centre of a

revising barrister's district, comprising the townships of

Benfieldside, East and West Billingside, Collierley, Con-

side and Knitsley, Ebchestcr, Edmondbyers (including

Roughside), Edniondsley, Esh, Greencroft, Healeyfield,

Himstonworth, Iveston, Kyo (including Bushblades),

Lanchestcr (including Buniop and Hamsteels, Butsfield,

and Holmside), Langley, Medomsley, Muggleswick (in-

cluding Rowley), S-.tley, Tanfield (including Beamish

and Lintz Green\ and Witton- Gilbert. There was an

agricultural society in Lanchester, the object of which

was to reward merit, by giving prizes for ploughing,

faithful ser\'ices, &c. ; but it is now discontinued.

THE CHURCH.

TiiK parish church of Lanchester, though stripped of its

vast revenues since it ceased to be a collegiate church,

still exhibits many traces of its ancient

4y

grandeur. It
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was originally built during the Norman period, but

sliortly after destroyed, or nearly so ; the greater part

of the present chiuxh being of the early English style,

about 1250, with additions or insertions of a later date.

It consists of nave and chancel with regular aisles, a

tower, and a porch. The latter is very deep, and gives a

heavy appearance to the south front. The west tower,

which is 70 feet in height, is a square of 20 feet, em-

battled, and strengthened by flying buttresses. Its

lower stage contains a simple, but good specimen of the

ribbed groining of the decorated period. The nave is

45 feet in length, and, including the aisles, 54 feet in

rndth. Each of the aisles is formed by a row of three

roimd pillars, supporting foiu- pointed arches, with zigzag

moiddings. They exceed the nave by a few feet in

length. The chancel is di^-ided from the nave by the

original Norman circular arch, springing from clus-

tered pilasters, with ornamented capitals ; the arch itself

being decorated with three rows of rich zigzag mould-

ing. The chancel is 41 feet long by 15 wide. A door

opens iiito the vestry on the north, imder a pointed arch,

which has been ornamented with a group of figures in

bas-relief. The Virgin is in the midst, seated in a chair

of state, and adored by angels, whUe the Old Dragon

lies prostrate underneath. There are corbels of human

heads within the altar rails, alternately crowned and

mitred, into which iron staples are fixed for receiving

the candlesticks used before the Reformation.* An
ancient piscinum is in the wall. The old carved staUs

or prcbendal seats are still in the church, but are of

much later date than the foundation of the college.

Each of the aisles is lighted by two double windows

under square labels, and, towards the east, by one of

three lights imder a pointed arch. On the south, there

are fom* upper windows, each with two lights under

square labels. On the south side of the chancel are

three windows un^er pointed arches, two of which have

two lights, and the other three, in the early decorated

style. The east window consists of three tail lancet

li"-hts, which have been filled mth stained glass. In

the upper part was the flight of the Virgin Mary from

Herod's persecution ; and there are stiU traces of the

adoration of the Magi, with the legend, " Ecce Magi

venim JDeum ador." The Vii-gin and Child appear again

in the western window of the chancel. In the east

window of the south aisle are the arms of Tempest im-

paling Umfreville. A venerable head in the adjoining

window is said to represent the Apostle John. Other

• Eillings asks, "Are they an aiicieut t\-peof the civil and ecclesias-

tical authorities constituting the lights of the church ?"

heads and fragments of stained glass remain in various

parts of the windows. Some of the architectm-al orna-

ments are executed in the stj-le which prevailed in the

time of Henrj"^ VI. ; but the remains of a much older

edifice are visible. Fragments of Roman sculpture,

Saxon sopxdchral stcnes, and ancient tombs, have been

discovered both in the building and its vicinity.

In the wall of the south aisle is a zigzagged Norman

arch, beneath which is a recumbent efligy, in Stanhope

marble, of a canon secular, with elevated hands clasping

the chalice. This figure is supposed to represent Stephen

Austell, dean of Lanchester, who died in 1461, and on

whose accotmt Thurstan Ryston, rector of Stanhope, and

William Sotheran, chaplains, conveyed two tenements

and 18 acres in Greencroft to the churchwardens and

parishioners of Lanchester, on condition of their caiising

Placebo and Dirige to be annually performed for the

soul of Dean Austell on his anniversary, February 27,

and of finding a perpetual lamp to bum before the altar

of St. Catherine, where he was bm-ied. In the midst of

the chancel is a large blue slab, covering the tomb of

Dean Rudde, who died September 20, 1490, and also

recording the death of George Baker, Esq., of Crooke,

eldest son of Sir George Baker, Knt., who died October

14, 1677. There are inscriptions in the church belong-

ms to the "^Tiittm^hams of Holmside, the Sandersons

of Hedleyhope, the Claverings of Greencroft, the Green-

weUs of GreenweU Ford, the Maddisons of Hole House,

and other local families.

The chm-ch plate includes a sUver-gilt chalice-cover,

or " patera," discovered in the ruins of the neighbouring

Roman station in 1571, which date is inscribed upon it.

There are also a silver salver, " The Gift of the Rev.

Robert Rickarby to his Parish Church of Lanchester,

1730 ;" and two silver plates, inscribed, " A Gift to the

Parish Church of Lanchester for the use of the Com-

munion, in ye y 1762, by Miss Jane Tempest." The

organ is a very fiLoe one.

The confirmations held in the church include a district

containing Lanchester, Satley, Ebchester, Medomsley,

Muggleswick, Esh, Shotley, Collierley, Edmondbyers, and

Bcntieldside. The church-yard is elevated above the

adjoining road ; but the soil is not deep, and is much

crowded. Efibrts have recently been made to purchase

a piece of additional ground on the east.

Registers.—Books Nos. 1 to 7 contain entries of

baptisms and burials from 1560 to 1003, and 1653 to

1812 ; and marriages from 1560 to 1603, and 1053 to

1753. Nos. 8 and 9, marriages from 1754 to 1812.

The registers from 1603 to 1653 are lost.
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The church of Lanchester has been successively a

rectory, a collegiate clmreh, and a jjerpctual curacy.

Hervey occurs as rector in 1 147 ; Philip de Sancta Helena,

in 1221 ; Mag. Alex, de Alverton ; and John de Craven,

in 1283, who was the first dean. In that year, Bishop

Beck, by endowment, dated Aucland, 12 Oct., instituted

a college, consisting of a dean and seven prebendaries.

For its government he fm-nished a set of statutes and

ordinances, which were confirmed by Edward I. in 1293.

The following passages from an old English translation,

quoted by Surtecs, are curious, as illustrative of the state

of ecclesiastical discipline at the time.

"The dean shall be pei-petuall within holj' orders of priesthood,

liaA-ing wholly llie cure of souls." Each of the prebendaries of the

three fii-st stalls shall provide, at his individual charge, one«car chap-

lain ; and each of the four remaining prebendaries shall maintain one

chaplain in holy orders. Let " everye of the vicars goinge from his

house towards the churclio, and liku\rise retoniinge, i'c., endeavour

hyniself to goo with a modest and grave pace ; and when he shall come

into the churche, lett hym humble hymselfe before the crucifixe, and

there lett him pray ; and after that he has entered into the quier, and

before he doo goo into his stall, let hym inclyne and bow hym selfe

towards Uie high alter in honour and reverence of our Lord and his

most holye mother." None of the vicars shall " brawle or chide in the

quier or without ; but lett them keep sUent ; not mormoi-inge, gaj-n-

saj-inge, or contendinge with one another; neyther yett laughing,

fleering, staring, nor casting vag,abond eyes towards the people re-

mayiiing in the same church." " Let the wears read and also singe

alowde, distinctly, with full voice, and without over skipping or cutting

the wordes, making a good pause in the mydest of every verse, begyu-

ninge and endiuge altogether, not protractrage or drawinge the last

syllabic to longe ; not hastily running it over, much less interminglinge

any strange, vai-iable, profaiiie, or dishonest speeches." " None of the

^aid vicars shall, without some suHicient cause, go into any connnon
taverne, nor tarye in the same ; neither e.\ercise wrasUiuge, dauiicing,

)r any other hurtfuU gayines, nor [frequent] such spectacles or

.yghtes, which ar comonly called Myracks ; neither lett them be

helpers to any that practise the same." The succeeding clause prohi-

iiits the ecclesiastics from that ''grave scandalum" of wandering about

'upon the streate," or sitting in the houses of "anie layperson in

their habit, unlesse the occasion be goillie and honest." The punish-

ment for the first ofl'.-nce agiiiust these statutes was private repriinaud

;

1-hen severe and public rebuke in the chapter, with loss of that one
lay's stipend ; for the third otJ'ence, loss of three days' stipend; for the

fourth, ' the subtraction of a whole week's waige ;" for the fiftli, sus-

pension from the priestly office for fifleea days, with loss of waige
therewith

;
" but if anie doo fall into offence the sixt tyme, lett him be

taken as a rebel not reformable, and without delay expulsed from the

college;" saving in all things the discretion of the dean either " to deal

more courteously or sharpely." Half the fines for neglect were to go
towards church ornaments, the other half to the vicars, " who by occa-

sion thereof will be better adorned." Each prebendai7 "'"s to renew
his sacerdotiJ habit, and pay his vicar his wages, when he received the
fruits of his prebend.

The dean was to retain the whole altarage of the

church of Lanchester, and the chapels of Esh, Satley,

and ilcdom.sloy, that is to say, " of sheaves, graine, and
blaydes, called thrushe tithes, mortewarie's woU, lambcs'

milk, calves' pullej^ne, kocks and hennes, piggs, hTie,

hemp, hay, and all petty and prediall tithes ; with the

landes, medowes, demaynes, services, rents, and courtes

of the tenants of the chiu'ch ; whoreunto also the pen-

cyous of Colyerley and Satley shall be whollie appl3'ed."

" Wee also assigne to the deanery the messuages belong-

inge to the same chappells, with their cotirts and lands ;

this onely excepted—that everye of the prebendaries

shall have a certain portion of the platt, soU, or court-

yeard, of the same chappells, in which they may sell

their corns." In consideration of this endowment,

the dean was to provide two " competent chapleynes,

Hke in their habitts xmto the vicars of the cannons;"

and to bear " all ordinary chardges of the church, and

the repayriuge and uphouldiuge of the chanccll ; but he

shall not be bounde to the worke of any new building."

He was to cause the several chapels to be served by

comi3ctent ministers, direct all things relative to divine

service, and take special care that matins were sung

daily for the benefit of the parishioners who might attend

before going to their labour.

To the first stall were assigned the fee-farms of Eshe,

Cornshow, Hedley, Hamsteels, High and Low Broom-

sheels, and those arising from the land of Matthew the

Forester. To the second, Medomsley, Housetrees, Kj'o,

Biu'sbladcs, Billingside, Bradley, and Crook. To the

third Grecncroft, Ilobnside, Colj)ikehill, Steley, Bucles-

felde, the Smith's land, and Scatigurley (Satlej'). To

the fourth, Langley, Riding, Stubbilee, Brome, Notesteles,

Briuihope, Langcestre, and Pecho. To the fifth, Heley,

Conkesheved, and Kuicheley. To the sixth, Yvestone

and Benfieldside ; and to the seventh, Morileys, New-
bigging, Hartibidcc, and Fordes. Each jirebcnd was

generally denominated from the first jjlace named in its

endowment, as the prebend of Eshe, &c.

In the arrangement of the stalls in the choir, " the

first on the south side we specially reserve to oiu'self and

successors in token of preheminence." The three re-

maining stalls on that side were approj^riatod to the first,

third, and seventh prebendaries. On the north, the

dean sat opposite to the bishop, and below him the re-

maining prebendaries.

Abuses, iu the com-se of years, crept into the coUege;

and even the church, in consequence of the rapacity and

non- residence of the deans and prebends, exhibited " va-

cations and gaping ruins." Cardinal Langley en-

dca-\oiu'ed to reform the establishment, and afterwards,

by his decree, settled a dispute respecting the right of

vending and distributing holy watei' in the villages of

Hamsteels, Cornsay, and Hedley.
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DEjiXS.—.Xohn de Craven : Vt'ra. de Marolan, occ. 1311 ; 'Win. de

Qn-ycliam, 1313 ; John de Xenbifrsing. June 19, 1330 ; John de Derby,

collat. Aug. 2, 13Cn (liinfi's chaplain and canon ofWestminster, June

17, 1370 ; archdeacon of Xorthumbei-Iand, Dec. 3. 1370 ; and prebend

of DrifBeld. catbedr.al of York) : John Burgeys, 1383; John de Cokyn,

May 13, 1399; John Dallon ( archdeacon of Northumberland ) ; Wni.

Patteson; John Suthwell; John Hunteman, S.T.E., Jan. 2.5, 1409

(prebendary of Sutton in the Marsh, Line. Cath., and chancellor, which

he exebanged for the deanery of Lanchester) ; Wm. Browne, lil6, p.

res. Hunt; Wm. Aslakby, 1421 (prebendary of Welton-Paynel, Line.

Cath.) ; Stephen Anstell, oh. Feb. 27, 1461 ; John Rudd, B.D., ob.

Sept. 99. 1490 { buried in the church, under a large blue stone, -which

was afterwards the burial-place of Baker of Crook) ; Thos. Thomyoo,

D.D.. p. m. Eudde ; Lane. Claxton, collat. Apr. 7, 1496 (son of Wm.
Claxton of Hallywell, constable of Erancepeth) ; Eobt. Hyndmer, Apr.

2, 1532, p. m. Claxton.

At the Dissolution, the revenues of Lanchester college

were valued at 49/. 3s. 4fl. ; but had been valued in the

Lincoln taxation, at 90/. ISs. Ad. In 1553, Robert

Hindmers, dean, received a pension of 20/. ; "William

Fran]dand,prcbcndaryof Iveston, 3/. ; Lancelot Knagge,

prebendary of Butsfield, 2/. ; Richard Bumcheper, pre-

bendary of Medomsley, 5/. 6-s. M. ; John Mylner, pre-

bendary of Greencroft, 4/. 13.s. Ad. ; WiUiam Knagge.s,

prebendary of Esh, 5/. Small pensions were reserved

for the perpetual cxirate of Lanchester, and the curates

of Medomsley, Esh, and Satley chapeh-ies. The lands

and tithes belonging to the college were granted by the

• If the statutes prescribed by .Anthony Beck were \iolated before

the Dissolution, the following depositions shew that the new order of

things had not improved the discipline of t)ie church in Lanchester.

They occur in proceedings against James Walton for laying violent

hands upon the curate in the church -yaid :

—

" The personal answer of James AValton to the libel of Richard Myl-

ner, clerk.—James .Walton of Lanchester, yoman, alias laborer, aged

about 30 years.—Neither this examinate nor his brother, Thomas Wal-

ton, ever did lay in wayt nor frayd ofl' the said Sir Richard Mylner, in

auy malicious intent or greiff, as is articulate, nor otherwaies. This

examinate dyd never speke any raling wordes to or of the said PJcliard,

nor drewe auy dagger at the said Sr Richard, but only di-ew his dagger

for and in defence of hyuisclf. He saith, upon his ooth, the said Tho-

mas at that tyme had no dagger about hym, nor drewe them at all. nor

spoke auy raling wordes of the said Sr Richai-d ; he dyd nothing but

ouly for saff gaird of his tliis examinate lyfe. Signed t Jacobi."

'• 29 Ap. 1575. John Hopper of Shynkley, neai- Durham, husband-

man, aged abont 40 years.—Richard Mylner, articulate, about Wyt-

Bonday 3 yere la.st paste, was in one Herrison house of Lanchester, in

tlie compeny of one Lancelott Wilkinson and otbei-s ; at what tyme the

said Sr Richerd, being mery with driuke, maid a quarraB to this exa-

minate, being then Mr. Lever's man (Ralph Lever, rector of AVashing-

ton, and prebend of Durham, who held lands in Muggleswick in right

of his stall), wliieh had been at Muggleswick with four score lambs,

and, in commyng homewards to ANashington, caulde for a pott of

dnnkc at tlie said Henison's house. At what tyme the said Sir

Richard misused tliis examinate and cauld hym ' roge,' and wold neids

have him to the stoks as a roge, for any thing that this examinate

culde alledge or saye ; and rent this cxaminates coote he had on at

that tyme, bycause be this deponent wold not go to the stoks by bis

ccmicandemcnt. At what tyme the said Lancelot wilde this examinate

crown in various proportions. Sir Xicholas Tempest

held the tithes of grain in the hamlets of Lanchester and

Newbiggin, which, with a large portion of tithes held by

the Widdringtons of Cheesebum Grange, were conveyed

to the Greenwells. On March 25, 7 Edward YL, the

king, by letters patent, granted to Simon Welbury and

Christopher Morland, with other church lands, all the

capital messuage and site of the late college of Lanchester,

and all the lands and possessions to the deanery of the

same, imder a small crown rent. The grantees immedi-

ately conveyed the premises in Lanchester, Medomsley,

Esh, Greencroft, Ulshaw, and Cornsey, to Richard

Hodshon. The deanery was recently held by D. Bevan,

Esq., of London, and now belongs to Messrs. Brooksbank

and Allgood. The site of the deanery is stiU known, on

a plot of ground surrounded by a ditch, a little to the

north of the church ; but no part of the ancient building

now remains. Ladie-Lands consisted of certain meadows

and a garth called Ladies-garth, containing about six

acres : they were given for the maintenance of one light,

called Our Ladie light, in the parish chm-ch of Lanchester.

Lanchester perpetual curacy is not in charge ; the

Bishop of Durham, patron. Dedication to All Saints.

ConATES—Richard Mylner, occ. .July 21, 15(i2;« Miles Watmougli.

Jan. 31, 1586, p. m. Mylner; Robt. Hunt, A.M., lie. Sept. 15, 1(124 ;

to be content, saing that he, this examinate, shuld take no harme tlier,

and that the preist. Sir Richerd, was nott then to talke withall. Ami

the said Lancelott, and one Rippon, and James Walton, bi'oughl tliis

examinate's horse to the back door in the said Herryson's house. And
there, immediatelye, the said George Herson and the said Sir Richerd

was at hye words concerning this examinate, as he beliveth, At what

tjTue the said Herrison wyfe gave a skiike, which this deponent hard
;

and further he cannott depose, for he cam nott backe again. Signmii

+ JoHANKES Hori'EK."

Thomas Rippon confirmed this e^Hdence. Robert Hormesbye, parish

clerk of L.ancliester, deposed that the said Ricliard commonly useii

Hcrrison's house '• for compeny ofhonest persons that resortith thither.

And some tyme, by vpporte, the said Sr Richerd will be mery witli

drinke ther, but not drunken, to tliis examinate's knowledge; for that

he woU then imniediatly after reid and say his service dist.vncUy, with-

out any fault to be found ; and at no tyme so distemperd but that he

culd pyed hym self, in his going to and from his chamber, without auy

vomett, faul, stumbling, or lielp of any person ; and for fi ighting in any

ailehonse this examinate cannot depose, for he never sawe the said Sr

Richerd so doo." The same witness added that, on a Sunday after

evening pr.iyer, James and Thomas Walton were sitting on the kirk

wall ;
" and at that tyme this examinate dyd se the said Sir Richerd

comynge in the said fanld garth towers his owen chamber, having his

gown one, and one of his hands bleiding, and his dagger in his other

hand. At what tyme this examinate dyd se llichaell Mylner, the said

Sir Rii'lierd sonne, smyte with a staff at the said James ; and the afore

said James, having a moch longer staff, kepet t)ie said Michaell of hym.
so that ther was no hurt. And then came the said Thomas Wawton
bebynd the said IMychaell, and smote hym over upon a donghill ther.

And then tlie said Sir Richerd cast his gown, and gott a staff, and maid

towcrd the said James, and one Henry Thomson preieed f" b^.i.) tiia
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Thos. Thompson, lie. Sept. 30, 1635 ; .Tosias Dockwray, an intruder,

depr. M'll'ii. after conformed and proceeded I.L.B. ; Josias Dockwray,

A.B., 1003; John Martin, A.B., Ho. July 15. lOOi), p. res. Dockwray;

Alex. Eagleston. lie. 1C8-J (of the family of Egleston of Hunstanworth,

licensed to teach a school at Boldon, Apr. 31, KiHfi) ; Thos. Scaife,

lfi8«, p. res. Eaglcstou ; Robt. Carr, 1004, p. res. Scaife ; John Bryding,

A.M., 16!)5, p. res. Cai-r ; Robt. Richarby, Sept. 10, 1721, p. res. Bry-

ding; Miles Patrick, cl., Sept. 17, 1731, p. m. Richarby ; Wm. Adey,

cl., lie. Sept. U, 1744, p. m. Patrick; Eobt, Dent, cl., 1778, p. m.

Adcv; Jos. Walker, cl.. 17110, p.m. Dent; Jos. Thompson, cl., 1806,

p. ni. Walker ; John 1". Fanshawe, A.M., 1843, p. m. Thompson.

The parsonage-house stands near the church, with a

good garden attached. The curate has a pension of 10/.

from tlie crown, and 7/. Gs. 8f/. issuing from the s'icaTial

tithes, both reserved at the Dissolution. About 6 acres

were allotted on the di\asion of Ijanchcster Common, and

lOo acres at Wigside in Wolsingham parish, let at 59/.

per annum ; this land was purchased with 200/. sub-

scribed, and 200/. added by the trustees of Queen Anne's

Boimty. Above 40 acres, with right of conunon, at

Grcenhead, in the parish of Stanhope, was piu'cliased

with GOO/, subscribed, and 900/. added from Queen

Anne's Bounty : the remainder, 240/., was completed by

additional benefactions, including a gift of 190/. from

Bishop Barrington. The curate likewise receives 10/.

per annum from the tiustees of Lord Crewe's charities,

and has the right of presentation to the perpetual curacy

of Satley. In the returns of 1835, the annual income is

stated at 126/., subject to the permanent pajinent of 3/.

;

but the living, with those of Stockton, Satley, Etherley,

Esh, &c., were considerably augmented, and the arrange-

ment or scheme for that purpose received the approval

of the Bishop of Durhimi on September 13, 1834. The

net value of the liAing is now stated at 270/.

CHARITIES.

School.—In 1824, a school was erected, by voluntary

subscription, on the site of a pre\'ious one, and witli

apartments above for the residence of the master. Upon
the inclosure of the commons in 1781, a small allotment,

containing little more than an acre of very bad land.

said Sir Eicherd, sainge, ' WiU ye hold me, and seith them kill my
sone ?' .\nd (herii|i()n the said Sir P.ieherd and James frnied and smote

to gilhor, and James Wawton smote the stafl'e out of Sir Richerd hand,

ami the said Sir Eicherd retunied to his chamber again bairhead,

blciding upon his head." The deponent heard the curate say, "I am
a man otf peac, and ye seik this of me."

George Herrison, keeper of the ale-house at Lanchester, William

Hodgson, of Manor House, gent., and William Hall, of Greincroif,

gont, spoke favourably of the character of Sir Richard, thoufh the

latter had been in his company " at many feastcs, weddings, maches
Bhotyngs, dinners, and drinkins." Another witness mentioned liop-

piDgs. Thomas Robinson, servant to Mr. Uodgson, deposed to having

was set out in respect of the school : this is fenced out.

! and is in the occupation of the schoolmaster. Towards

' the endovnnent of this school, 100/. was left by John

Smirkc about 40 years ago, in respect of which 89/. 16«.

is now in the hands of the Rev. J. F. Fanshawe, who

pays 4/. yearly as interest. For this endowment, the

schoolmaster instructs four children, boys or girls, of the

parish, two being appointed by the cm-ate, and two by

1 William Thomas Greenwell, Esq., in reading, writing,

! and accoimts, without any charge. Each child is allowed

the benefit of the charity for two years. The school-

master, who is appointed by the incumbent, Mr. Green-

well, and Sir Thomas Clavering, takes other scholars,

and has upon an average 50 or 60 throughout the j'ear.

Ckirerihg's Cliaritij.—George Clavering, by a codicil

attached to his will, May 18, 1793, declared that 265/.

10.S. four per cent. Bank Annuities had been purchased

by him, in the names of himself, Allan Greenwell, Esq.,

of the Ford, and the Rev. Robert Dent, curate of Lan-

chester, as trustees, out of the dividends to pay to the

master of the school the annual sum of 10/., for instruct-

ing four boys in English grammar, writing, and arith-

metic, until they should be fit to put out to business

;

such boys to be nominated by the possessor of his estate

at Greencroft for the time being, or, in default, by the

curate of Lanchester ; the residue of the dividends to be

paid to the j)roprietor of Greencroft. Since the death

of the testator, the sum of 10/. has been annually paid

by the agent of his successor to the master of the school.

AtkhiKon's Charity.—Cuthbert Atkinson, in 1G81, be-

queathed a rent-charge of 3/. yearly, issuing out of his

lands at Woodside, to be distributed at Easter and

Christmas to the most needy, indigent, helpless poor

people. The tenant of a farm called I^ow Woodside

pays 3/. annually to the curate, who distributes it in

sums varying from Is. to 4s'., as he sees occasion, to poor

persons of the f)arish.

Old Parkh Stoch.—The simi of 110/., according to an

old f)arish book, was placed out on bond from 1732 to

1751, and the interest thereof added to the produce of

seen Sir Richard, one Meborn, and certain women, thre or 4, come

from Herrison 's to go to evening prayer; and that they were met by

James and Thomas Walton, the former of whom, after some alterca-

tion, called Sir Richard " dronkon horemonger preist," who replied,

" James, I have bein punished for my hordom, and the part I dyd

;

saing yee ar my neighbours, a good fellow and nowe an honest man, 1

pray you to leave such talke." Widton, however, continued to threaten

to " whapp his coot," and dared Sir Richard to meet bun at any place

to fight, who repeated that he was a man of jicace. The parties at

lengtli drew their daggers, when the bystanders drew Sir Richai'd away,

and he went into the church to commence the senice.
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Wilkinsons's charity, liereafter mentioned * In 1752,

the principal was laid out in the piu'chase of a close

called Lint Lands, containing 3 a. 2 k. IGp., Ij-ing be-

tween and adjoining two fields, jjart of the estate derived

from Rowland Willdnson, and also a house with out-

buildings, and a garth and cottage in Satley, part of

which premises have since been resold, and the residue

now forms part of the estate held by the parish officers,

with the lands belonging to Wilkinson's charity.

Wilkinson's Charity.—Rowland Wilkinson, by will,

dated April 20, 1G74, gave all his freehold lands in Sat-

ley to the use of the poor of the parish of Lauchester

and Satley ; the rents to be distributed by the church-

wardens and overseers, with the rest of the parish stock,

at Christmas and Easter. The estate held by the parish

officers (including the lands mentioned under the pre-

ceding head) consists of a farm-house and several closes

of old iaclosed land, containing 52 a. 1r. 27 p., and 32 a.

of allotments, set out on an inclosure in 1781. The

whole is let at the yearl)' rent of 50/. Previously to

1828, the iacome, after the payment of outgoings, was

divided, on St. Thomas's day, amongst the overseers of

the different townships, to be distributed amongst such

poor persons as received regidar weeklj' relief from the

poor-rates, in sums varying from Is. to 2s. Since that

year, the rent has been divided according to a list of

persons not receiving weekly relief, allowing to each

person from 7s. to lO.s. or 12s.

Charities of Jane and Elizabeth Tempest.—Jane Tem-

pest left 6/. a year for clothing and teaching a certain

number of poor children of the parish of Lanchester, and

4:1. a year for the relief of poor housekeepers. Her sister

Elizabeth, by will, dated Maj' 27, 1785, gave her ne-

phew, John Tempest, Esq., 200/. ia trust, out of the

proceeds of which he was directed to distribute 21. 2s. in

augmentation of the said charities, and the residue to be

distributed amongst the poor prisoners in the gaol and

house of correction at Durham. It appears that some

children were formerly clothed and sent to school by the

owner of Hamsteels, Jane Tempest's estate ; but nothing

has been paid for nearly 50 years, nor is there a trace of

any pajonent in respect of Elizabeth Tempest's charity,

nor evidence of any settlement having been made by
John Tempest, Esq., in pui-suance of either bequest.

• On a freestoue slab near the soutli porcb of the church is the fol-

lowing inscription :
—" Here Ueth the botlj- of ."Vnthonv Elarton, Sonne

of Anthony Blarton, of Kyopeth. Also his wife and thre childrend.

He did give to tlie poor of this parish v pound, to be lettcne for tenne

shillings in the year for their use, and the stoke i-emain for ever. Ho
was buried the ii of September, 1C17."

POOR-LAW UNION.

Lanchester Union comprises the whole of the parish,

with its dependent chapelries of Satlej-, Esh, and Collier-

ley, and those of Tanfield (dependent onChester-le-Street)

and Muggleswick. It is divided into two subdistricts.

That of Tanfield comprises the chapelry of that name,

and the townships of Collierley and Kj^o, containing, in

1851, 9,357 acres, and a population of 0,457 persons, of

whom 2,896 were males and 2,581 females. Lanv.hestcr

subdistrict consists of the remainder of the Union, and

contains 45,186 acres, with a population of 14,016, of

whom 7,902 were males and 6,714 females.f

For the income and expenditure of the Union for the

year ended Lady-day, 1851, see vol. i., p. 162. Since

that time, they have been as follows :

—
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on the Ian, or linn, wliicli means a sfill or quid stream.

Dr. Hia-sley makes this the site of the Roman station

called Glonicania, or Glanoventa, which Camden allocates

in Cumberland, on the banks of the river Derwent.

Glanovnta signifies clear or ican u-afcr, from linn, smooth

wafer, and ghuent, white, wan. Derwent signifies the

same thing ; and the Dvu'ham river of that name is

not so far distant but that it might have given occasion

to the name." Another opinion, however, fomided on

the authority of Richard of Cirencester, makes Lanchester

the Epiacinn of Ptolemy, which stands at the head of the

towns belonging to the Brigantes. Camden sui^poses it

to be the Langovicum of the Notitia Imperii. That it

existed during the early ages of the Roman dominion in

Britain may be inferred from the large nmnber of coins

found here belonging to the higher empire ; and a con-

siderable lapse of time must have intervened to produce

that state of decay in which it was found by Gordian.

The two follo^ving inscriptions, now in the dean and

chapter's libraiy at Dm-ham, attest this :

—

IMP. C.ES. M. ANT. fiOKDIA

HVS P. F. AVO. BALSEVM. C\1I

nAsrr.nA a solo instetxit

TE. EGN. LVC1IJ.IAKVM. I.E(J AVG.

PE. PE. CVEANTE. M A\Tl.

QVIEreO PRE COH. I. L. GOE.

IMP. C.ESAE M. ANTONITS.

GOBDIAKYS. P. F. AVG.

PRrNCIPIA EI AEJIAMEN

TAEIA CONLAPSA EESTITV

IT PEE M.ECIIJTM PYSCTM LEG.

AVO. PE. PB. CVBAKTE M. A'S'E.

QVTEINO PB. con. I. L. GOE.

The first is read thus

—

" The Emperor Gordian, by his legate,

Efmatjus Lucilianus, and under the inspection of A. Quii-inus, Prefect

of the first cohort of the Gordian Legion, built this bath and basilic."*

The second :^" When Gordiim was Emperor, and M. Fuscrs Lieu-

tenant-governor of Britain, tliese barracks and magazines, which had

fallen into decay, were repairiMl by A. Quirinus, Prefect of the first

cohort of the Gordian Legion."

An altar, now also in the library at Durham, was dis-

covered amongst the ruins of the bath, the inscription

on which has been rendered, " Fortmm Augusti sacrum

PiihVitts JEJins prwfecfits votum mint hihcns merito."

Those tdtars bear inscriptions which show that they were

either erected in the reign of Severus or CaracaUa, as

thry mention the tribune Titianim and the Vardulians.

Titianus is supposed to have been procurator of Alexan-

dria, and to have been put to death by Caracalla, with

one of bis favourites, called Theocritus. The Vardu-

li:ins were a people of Spain, and formed part of the

20th legion, which was occasionally quartered at this

• Tlie Basilica; were courts of justice and places where merchants

met la trausact business ; our modem justice-room and exchange under

one roof. Afterwards, when Christianity obtained the protection of the

emperors, tho BasUiciE were sometimes converted into churches. The
J'lincipia were the quarters of the Principes, where the legionary

eajles were deposited ; tlio Armamentaria wore the magazines of arms
or arsenal.

station. A great many other relics, including a smaU
gold plate, have been rescued from the ruins of the

station ; the greatest number of which, accumulated

by Hunter, are deposited in the cathedi-al library

;

though many are preserved at Ford, the seat of the pro-

prietor of the station. Numerous hearths, containing

ashes, have been discovered amongst the ruins ; and

quantities of iron scorife are scattered over the hills of

Lanchester. But the hearths were probably used for

cooking and not for smelting ; and it ought to be re-

membered that the station had other tenants after the

departure of the Romans. A York penny of Edward
III., a penny of Edward II., a groat of Robert Bruce,

a Calais groat of Henry IV. or V., and some later pieces

of the time of Elizabeth, have also been found.

The fiaal destruction of Lanchester station is involved

in equal obscm-ity with its origin. Siu'tees observes,

" The discovery of coins of the Constantines and their

successors, to Valentinian, may seem to prove that the

station was scarcely abandoned b fore the final flight of

the Roman eagle. Its destruction was probably owing

to some sudden and violent catastrophe. The red ashes

of the Basilica and the batli, the vitrified flooring, and

the metallic substances, evidently rim by fire, which

occur amongst the ruins, form a strong indication that

the structure perished in flames. A long night inter-

venes ; and, a century after the Norman conquest, a

Christian Lanchester first appears—parcel of the ancient

patrimony of St. Cuthbert, with a church built out of the

military ruins of Pagan Rome."

The remains of the station occupy an eminence between

the river Browney and the Smallhope Beck, a little to

the west of the village of Lanchester. On three sides

the groioids fall from the camp, which is commanded

only on the west by a high moorland hill. Within

the last eentiuy, the whole site of tlie station was over-

grown with thorns, brambles, ai:d hazels ; and though

its irregidar ruins have long been levelled, and its area

and suburbs cidtivated, yet it still exhibits one of

tho most conspicuous rem.iins of a Roman fortress at

present existing in Engl.ind. It formed a parallelogram

of 183 yards in length from east to west, and 143 in

breadth from north to south, haraig Watling Street (see

vol. i., jj. 104-6) extending along its eastern side. The

road called Wrcokendykc also led from this station, by

Maiden Law, Urpeth, Kibblesworth, and over Gateshead

Fell, to the estuarv of the Tyne. The vallum of the sta-

tion has been probably nearly 12 feet in height ; the out-

side being perpendicular, built of ashlar work in regular

courses, with stones about 9 inches deep and 12 long.
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The interior is also of ashlar work, formed of thin stones

laid tier above tijr, slanting and covering each other

featherwise, and run with mortar mixed with rough
i

gravel. The thickness of the vaUum at the present sur-

face is 8 feet, but diminishes gradually by parallel steps
,

to about four feet at the summit. It has a deep fosse

on the west, and on the other sid; s the advantage of

the sloping hill. The angles of the walls appear to have

been guarded by round towers ; and, like other Roman
camps, there were entrances in the middle of each side.

The Pru'toriura was at the north gate. The stone em-

ployed in the station has been brought from a hill about

a mile to the east of Lanchester. Though several deep \

wells have been found near the walls, and though the

garrison could be supplied with, water from two open

springs witliin 50 paces from the south and east wall,

the Romans were not to be satisfied ^-ithout a stream

flowing through their camp ; and the traces of two

aqueducts, each at least two miles long, are standing

proofs of their industry. The reservoir of both channels

was opposite the south-west comer of the vallum.

In 1851, about 20 yards of the northern rampart,

the most perfect remaining poi'tion of the station, was

levelled, and the materials conveyed to " the Ford," the

residence of the j)roprietor, ilr. Kearney, for stables

and farm-buildings in course of erection there. On the

cu'cumstance becoming known, the local secretary of the

ArchsDological Institute, Mr. Sidney Gibson, opened a

correspondence with the central committee and with the

secretaries of the Newcastle Antiquarian Society ; and

the result was that Mr, Kearney expressed his regret

that the old walls had been touched, promised that not

a stone should be removed during his occupancy, and,

rather than resort further to the Roman masonry, opened

a quarry at considerable cost.

L.vxDS.—In Boldon Book, Lanchester is stated to con-

tam 41 oxgangs, each consisting of 8 acres. Twenty

tenants in villenage paid W each of these oxgangs 30i/.,

and, with the help of the cottagers, mowed the whole of

the meadows, won and led tin? hav, and brought the

hogs from the forest : whilst they mowed, they had a

corrody (crowdy) ; and when they drove the swine, each

had one loaf. Four cottagers held & acres, is. Some

held their lands on more honourable services. TJlf held

60 acres, paid 16s., attended the lord with one grey-

hoimd at the great forest hunt in Weardale, and served

on the bishop's errands. Ulkill and Meldred held 40

acres by similar tenure. The punder held 6 acres, took

the thraves of corn of the "s-ill of Lanchester, and ren-

dered 40 hens and 300 eggs. The meadows and cow-

pastures were in the hands of the bishop. The mill paid

eight marks, and every two oxgangs of villain-tenure

l^rovidcd one measure (chordam) of provisions in the

great chase.

Under Hatfield's Survey, the tenants were distin-

guished into those who held by exchequer rents, free

tenants, bond tenants, and cottagers. At the present

time, the chief portion of the lands are held by copy of

court-roll under the see of Dm-ham. The manor in-

cludes the several vills of Lanchester, Broom, Flass,

Burnhope and Ilamsteels, Coldpikehill, Broomsheels,

Satley, Butsfield, Benfieldside, BUlingside, Kyo, Row-

ley, and Roughside.

An act was passed, 13 Geo. III., 1773, " for dividing

and inclosing certain moors, commons, or tracts of waste

land, within the parish and manor of Lanchester."

These lands were described by the names of Lanchester

Fell, Medomsley Fell, Ebchester Fell, Rowley Fell.Buts-

field and Satlej' Fell, Knitchley Fell, and Newbiggin Fell,

containing together about 20,000 acres.* The proprietors

claiming right of common were, the Right Hon. John

Bowes, Earl of Strathmore and Kinghorn ; the Hon.

Henry-Francis Widdrington, conmionly called Lord

Widdrington ; William Lambton, George Clavering,

George Baker, John Hall Stevenson, WilHam Farquhar-

son, John Simpson the elder, John Simpson the younger,

Henrj' Swiubui'ne, John Hunter, Anthony Wilkinson,

and John Moses, Esqrs. ; James Brack, Cuthbert Hun-

ter, Alan Greenwell, Samuel Newton, and Anthony

Surtees, gentlemen, and others. The commissioners

were, Thomas Forstcr of Dm-ham, .John Swinbm-ne of

Edesbridgc, Northtmiberland, and ^Martin Darnton, of

Aldernage, gentlemen ; and the arbitrators were, Tho-

mas Gyll of Diu'ham, Christopher Fawcett of Newcastle,

and Ralph Hopper of Bishop-Middleham, Esqrs. To

the curate of Satley, 30 acres were reserved, in aug-

mentation of his curacy ; and an allotment was assigned

to the curate of Ebchester, in lieu of all tithes. Certain

lands were to be appropriated for sale for payment of

the expenses of the act, enclosing, &c. Not more than

500 acres, nor less than 300, were to be assigned to the

justices of the peace for the coimty of Durham, in trust,

with suitable buildings and conveniences thereon, the

income from which was to be employed in making com-

pensation to allottees who might receive damage from the

working of thebishop's mines, &c., and the residue, if any,

* According to Bailey, the account stands 12.281a. 2e. 2p., more

improveable; .3,835 A. 3r. 7 p., less impioveable ; and 300 a., sold ta

defray expenses,
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laid out on the highways, &c. These 300 acres were

sold under a separate act, 17 Geo. III., 1779. A rent-

charge of 4rf. per acre was reserved to the see of Durham.

The new aUotnients were to be considered as of the same

tenure, and subject to the same tithes, as the ancient

estates, in right of which they were set out. AU timber

grown on copyhold enclosures was exempted from the

bishop's rent, and 21 j-ears were allowed for inclosing

the less improveable allotments. The draught of award

was read February 5, 1781 ; and the award is enrolled

in the office of the auditor, Dm-ham.

In 1810, an act was obtained for making a turnpike-

road from Durham, by Lanchester, to Shotley Bridge.

The road passes directly through the vale, instead of the

old circiritous route along the heights.

Lanchester Lodge stands upon the site of White House,

and is parcel of the dissolved deanery. In the reign of

Elizabeth, it belonged to the Tempests. It was, a few

years ago, in the possession of George Ormsby, Esq.,

and is now the property of John Fawcett, Esq., of Dur-

liam, and the residence of Mr. Shields.

Ford, or Greenicell Ford, is a handsome modern man-

sion, seated iu a beautiful vale, about half a mile

from Lanchester, surrounded by rich enclosures and

scattered woodlands, and watered by the Browney and

Smallhope Becks. Previous to Hatfield's Survey, this

estate gave name to John of FenhaU and Gamel del

Ford. The Fayrhairs held the property about a centmy

later ; and, in 1633, Nicholas Grcenwell, of Fenhall,

purchased their lands in Ford. In 1638, he acquired

another portion from Hodgson, of Manor House, and

other parcels at various dates. Greenwell, the tenement

where the family resided before the Ford was built, lies

to the south, across the Browney, The Ford estate was

offered for sale in 1851, and is now the property of

Matthew Kearney, Esq.

Manor House.—This estate adjoins Lanchester on the

south-west, and was anciently parcel of the monastry

lauds of Hexham. A modern farm-house, the property

of John Fawcett, Esq., now occupies the site of the

mansion anciently caUed Maydenstonhall.

Coldpike Hill, sometimes corrupted into Cohl-pigg-hill

and Cowpigg-hill, occurs in an early grant to St. Culh-

bert and the monks of Dm-ham. At the close of the

14th century, it was a free manor belonging to the

family of Parke. The Cocksons were owners of the

manor in the time of Queen Elizabeth. It afterwards

became the property of the Newtons. By marriage with

Miss Newton, it passed to Andrew Robin.son Stoney,

Esq. (see p. 54) More recently, it became the property

YOL. II.

of Robert Johnson, Esq., of Byker, Northumberland :

and a portion is also held by Taylor Smith, Esq.

Maiden-Law is a small hamlet on the summit of a

hill, IJ mUe north-by-east from Lanchester, near which

the roads from that place to Dui'ham and Newcastle

separate.

BUTSFIELD.

BuTSFiELD, occupying an area of 1,422 acres, belongs to

the undivided part of Lanchester parish. Its popula-

tion was returned with that of the township of Lanches-

ter in 1801 and 1811. In the subsequent enumerations,

it was returned at 226, 285, 252, and 318 ; 157 of the

latter number being males and 161 females. There

were, in 1851, 55 inhabited houses and 3 uninhabited.

East and West Butsfield are about 4 miles west from

Lanchester, and contain six farms. The estate had

given name to a family in the time of Hatfield's Survey.

The Heswells held 69 acres of the bishop in capite, by

homage and foreign service and 33s. rent, for the non-

performance of which the lands were seized by the lord

under a writ of cessavit.

Woodlands.—When the act was passed for the inclo-

sure of Lanchester Commons, the prudence of the mea-

sure was much controverted ; many persons considering

the improvement of those lands as utterly hopeless.

The commissioners sold 1,551 acres for about 8,174/.

;

and another allotment of 300 acres were sold, subject to a

rent-charge of 30/. a year. Thomas White, Esq., of Ret-

ford, Nottinghamshire, was the principal pm-chaser. H(^

planted one-half of the 300 acres with forest trees ; and,

under the .shelter of another plantation of 211 acres, he

planted 16 acres with fmit trees, which continue to

flourish.* "Thus," as has been observed, "by this

gentleman's spirited exertions, a vast, lofty, and barren

expanse of country, where the perplexed traveller wan-

dered in ambiguous tracts, is now enclosed and clothed

with rising plantations. His example has been success-

fully followed, and the barren fells are intersected with

good roads ; innumerable buildings arc scattered over a

former dreary prospect ; merchandise has now an ex-

peditious passage to the villages, which were, previous

to this enclosure and cultivation, almost inaccessible ex-

cept in summer ; and the inhabitants, greatly increased

in number, obtain with facility the principal comforts

of Ufe."

• Mr. White received the silver medal oiioe, and the gold medal ten

times, from the Society of Arts ! The first gold mediU was for planting

10,000 elms at Butsfield, tlie second for planting ;t7,'-2.'10 alders, and the

third for planting 50,000 oakb, all on the same ebtate.

4z
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Woodlands Hall is a good and substantial mansion.

The pleasure-grounds and gardens, which have been

arranged in the midst of a mlderness, are laid out with

much taste. One of the ancient aqueducts, which extended

from the Roman station, now supplies the fish-pond and

reservoir. The estate of AVoodlands consists of about 470

acres. On the death of Mr. White, it became the pro-

perty of Mr. Wilkinson, solicitor, who married the

daughter of the late proprietor. George Smith, Esq.,

of AVester Hall, North TjTie, Northumberland, after-

wards became the pm-chaser, by whom it has recently

been sold to Jonathan Richardson, Esq., for about

8,000/.

BURNHOP AND HAMSTEELS.

These places form a joint township, 6 miles west-by-

north from Durham, and containing 2,027 acres. The

population, at the successive periods of enumeration, was

68, 115, 127, 133, 154, and 139 ; 69 of the latter number

being males and 70 females. In 1851 there were 26

inhabited houses and 1 uninhabited. The township is

assessed for the coimty-rate with the \mdivided part of

Lanchester parish.

Under Hatfield's Survey, Bumhop and Hamsteels

were occupied by a number of tenants, some of whom
were free. BurnJiop lies on the Browney, and its name
is supposed to be derived from the ridge or hope that

rises from the hollow of the Brune or Browney. Hain-

sieek stands fui-ther westward, and only a short distance

from Esh, to which chapelry it was attached about the

year 1833 (see vol. i , p. 419).

In 11 Geo. III., 1771, an act was passed for enclosing

and di\-iding Hamsteels Moor, containing about 1,000

acres, held under lease from the see of Durham. The

leaseholders claiming right of common were. Sir Edward

Smythe, Bart. ; Elizabeth Tempest, spinster ; William

Lambton and John Hunter, Esqrs. ; Thomas Taylor,

George Taylor, Christopher Johnson, Alan Greenwell,

and George Wood, gentlemen, and others. The com-

missioners ajjpointed by the act were, John Smith, of

Witton- Gilbert, Gent. ; Thomas Forster, of Durham,

land-surveyor; and Martin Darnton, of Aldemage,

Gent. ; and the arbitrators were Thomas Gyll and Ralph

Hopper of Durham, and Christopher Fawcett of New-
castle, Esqrs. Twenty-one acres of land were assigned

to the curate of Esh ; and a yearly rent of &d. per acre

was reserved to the bishop and his successors, besides an

additional fine of Qd. per acre on admission or alienation

of copyholds. The charges of obtaining the act, &c.,

were to be defrayed by a rate upon the owners of allot-

ments ; the bishop not to be chargeable to siich expenses.

The roj-alties were also reserved to the see ; and damages

sustained by individual allottees through the work-

ing of mines, &c., were to be made good by the other

owners.

Burnhoj) Flat Colliery is worked by Messrs. Robert

Fletcher and John Sowerby.

HOLMSIDE.

This township is included in the imdivided part of

Lanchester parish, being situated near its south-eastern

verge, 6 miles north-west from Durham. Its area is

2,860 acres. Its population has been successively

retiu-ned at 179, 202, 228, 218, 610, and 1,012, of

whom 533 were males and 479 females. The increase,

at the two latter periods of return, is attributed to the

opening of new coal-mines and iron-stone works. In

1841, there were 123 inhabited houses, 7 uninhabited,

and 2 building; and in 1851, 207 inhabited and 31

uninhabited.

Holm Hall stands in a hollow flat, formerly immersed

in wood and morass, when its situation must have been

very gloomy. Part of the original mansion remains,

with narrow windows, strongly guarded «'ith mullions

and iron bars. It has received such varied alterations

and additions as to present a confused mass of buildings

of diiferent characters. The north side of the court-yard

is formed by the ruins of a domestic chapel ; and the

moat includes the site of an orchard. Another old

building, a little to the west, has also been defended by

its moat. New Hohnside Hall is comparatively modern,

having been built at some period subsequent to 1682.

Both halls are now occupied by farmers.

According to Boldon Book, Hobnside was held by one

mark rent, and the service of watching the bishop's deer

for 40 days in fence time and rutting season, and by the

carriage of wine with a draught of four oxen. Richard

de Hohnside occurs about the middle of the 13th cen-

tury ; and about a century afterwards, the Umfrevilles

held the estate, with Whitley and other adjoining lands.

The property passed, by marriage with Isabel, grand-

niece of Sir Robert Umfreville, to Rowland Tempest

;

and it was forfeited to the crown by the attainder of

Robert Tempest, who was engaged in the rebellion of

the earls. In 1573, Queen Elizabeth granted to Henry

Gate, Knt., the manor and park of Hohnside, to hold of

the manor of East Greenwich, under 4/. crown rent.

The manor was transferred, in 1595, to Henry Jackson

,
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Esq. : and in 1613, Sir Tunothy Whittingham* pur-

chased it from Margaret Hawkins, widow. The two

heiresses of Timothy "Wliittingham, grandson of the

above, who died in 1682, married Isaac Cookson, of

South Shields, and John Himter. of Medomsley, Esqrs.

Holm Hall was purchased by Robert Spearman, Esq., of

Old Acres, and afterwards became the property of Tho-

mas "WiUduson, Esq., of "Witton Castle, in right of his

wife, Hannah-Elizabeth Speaniian. It is now held by

his descendant, Thomas Wilkinson, Esq. New Holm-

side Hall, and some portion of lands and tithes, were

vested in the late John Hunter, Esq., and Miss Cookson,

representatives of the AVliittinghams. This property

now belongs to Messrs. Brooksbank and Allgood.

Omterley, from the time of Hatfield's Survey to 1428,

belonged to the Bii-tleys, who sold it to Thomas Chan-

cellor, Esq. From his descendants it passed to the Halls.

Whitley Greex is a neat little village on the Cone-

beck, and partly in the parish of Chester-le-Street. In

1339, Whitley belonged to John de "Whitley. By Hat-

field's Survey, it was held by the TJmfre\alles, and seems

afterwards to have gone with the Holmside estate.

Holmsidfi and Craghead Collieries are worked by the

Messrs. HecUey. Attached to them are several houses

inhabited by pitmen.

CORNSAY.

TiiE township of Comsay, in the south-easteni portion

of the parish, was formerly included in the North-west

Division of Darlington Ward ; but, by order of the

Easter sessions, 1830, it was annexed to the West Divi-

sion of Chester Ward. It contains 3,404 acres. The
population, at the decennial retiu-ns, was 234, 254, 249,

230, 201, and 370, of whom 203 were males and 167
females. In 1851, there were 83 inhabited houses and
3 iminhabited. The annual value of property assessed

to the coimty-rate in 1853 was 1,928/. Ibn. The village

contains a public house and a few cottages ; and there

are seventeen farms in the township.

Corn.say and Hedley were united under Boldon Book,
when they were held by Walter the Chamberlain, by
the payment of two marks, carrying wine with a draught

• Eldest son of Dean ^Vhittingham of Durham. He seems to have
lived in a state of feud with all his children, whose marriages lie dis-
liked

; and though his last will was calculated to sow the seeds of
dissension amongst them, yet in it Iro exhorts them " to keep uiiilie

and love amongst them, for charitie is the highest step in all the
ealher (ladder) to heaven." From the following strange entry in the

of twelve oxen, and providing five chords at the bishop's

great chase. In 1350, Will o' the Raw died seised of

half the manor of Cornsay, which afterwards belonged to

the EarLs of Westmoreland till the forfeiture. The
property in the township has long been much divided.

Cornsay Hall, 6 miles north-west-by-west from Dur-

ham, was, with a considerable estate, purchased by one

of the Taylors, whose descendants, a respectable Roman
Catholic family, continued in possession till the death of

the last male heir, the Rev. Thomas Tayloi", in December,

1818, when the property became vested in his sisters,

from whom it passed to the possession of Ushaw College.

The old hall is used as a eoxmtry retreat by the students,

who are permitted to enjoy certain periods of relaxation

at this place.

R,ussei,l's Alms-houses and School.—These buildings

are situated near the village of Cornsay, and consist of

three rooms in the centre, comprising a school-room and

a residence for the master. On one side of this biuldiug

are six apartments for six poor men, and on the other

side the same niimber for six poor women.
William Russell, Esq., of Brancepeth Castle, by indenture, dated

October 22, 1811, granted to General Gordon Drummond, Rowland
Burdon, Esq., the Rev. James Britton, Robert Taylor, George Shaw,

and two others, and their executors, &c., the premises above described,

with the buildings, gardens, and yards to the same respectively appro-

priated, for the term of 10,000 years, upon trust, to permit the said

premises to be used for the term aforesaid as an hospital and school

for the residence and accommodation of six poor men and six poor

women, to be each of them of the age of 55 years or upwards, and one

schoolmaster, and for the instruction of 20 poor children in the school-

room ; the said poor persons, schoolmaster, and children, to be from

time to time appointed by the owner or owners for the time being of

Brancepeth Castle, under such regulations as were dieninafter ex-

pressed ; and for the making a provision for the maintenance of the

said hospital and school, the said William Russell granted to the stune

parties, their executors, &c., the house and farm called Billy Hall,

containing 359 a. 2r., in the paiish of Brancepeth (nil mines and

quarries, and liberty of working the same, excepted), for the like term

of 10,000 years, upon trust, out of the rents and profits to pay to the

said poor men and women the yearly'suni of 12/. each, clear of all de-

ductions, to be paid linlf-yearly on the 13th May and 24th December;

and when any one of tlicm shoulil die, to pay to his or her personal

repi-esentative 20s. towards defraying the expense of the burial ; and

also to pay to tlie said schoolmaster the yearly sum of 2l)(. by half-

yearly payments, on the same days ; the first ludf-yearly payment of

the several sums aforesaid to be made on such days as should first

happen after the said poor persons and schoolmaster should be respec-

tively appointed ; and upon I'urther trust, to provide and deliver yearly

register of St. Nicholas' church, Newcastle, it has been inferred that

he broke his wife's heart :
—" Dame WhitlinKhame slaine by her hus-

band." In his old age, he was provust-marsball to the trainbands of

the county of Durham, and was recommended by Bishop NeOe, in

1631, as " a grave ancient knight and a severe jxisticer."
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10 each of the said poor persons and schoolmaster, at theii' own doors,

on the 13tb May in each year, three loads of coals, each load to contain

H bolls Winchester measure, and to proride and deliver yearly to each

of the said poor men a coat of wooUen cloth, and to each of the said

poor women a gown, of such stuff as the said tnistees for the time

being should direct, between the 1st October and 1st December in each

year ; and also to provide and deliver to each of the said poor persons

and schoolmaster, twice every yeai-, viz., on the 13th May and 2ith

December, the following provisions, viz., four stone of wheat meal, two

stone of beef or mutton, half a stone of raisins or eun-ants, half a pound

of tea, and seven pounds of moist sugar; and also to provide and

deliver to each of the said poor persons and schoolmaster a Book of

Common Prayer and Bible, and to deliver a new one whenever any one

should be worn out, lost, or accidentally destroyed ; and also to pur-

ihase and deliver, for the use of the scholars, such books as should be

necessary for theu' instruction, as often as occasion should requu'e;

nnd upon further trust, to raise and apply for repairing the said hos-

pital and school and the furniture therein (to consist of an iron bed-

stead, mattress, two blankets, a coverlet, two chairs, and a table for

each dweUing house, and proper desks and seats for the school-room

)

such sum as should be sufficient for those purposes ; and also to pay,

twice in every yeai-, to the rector of Brancepeth or his curate, as a

compensation for administering the sacrament at the said hospital to

the several inmates thereof, and such other persons as should attend

the same, 1!. ; or in case of the refusal of the said rector or his curate,

to pay the same to any other clergyman who should administer the

sacrament ; and also to provide bread and wine for the said sacrament.

It was next provided that proper persons be hired and paid for their

trouble in attending to the schoolmaster or such of the twelve poor

persons as should by sickness, intii-mity, or accident, be rendered

incapable of taking care of themselves. The 30 chOdren admitted to

I lie school were to be between the ages of six and ten years, boys or

gu-ls or both ; and no child was to continue in the school after the age

of twelve years. The poor persons were to be unmarried or in a state

of widowhood ; and in case any of them should have a chOd or chil-

dren, such child or chUch-en should not be permitted to become inmates

with them in the said hospital. And it was directed that the said poor

persons, schoolmaster, and scholars should constantly attend divine

worship on Sundays and holidays, unless prevented by sickness or

.some other sufficient cause, at the nearest church or chapel ; and that

(he schoobnaster should, every Wednesday morning, and also on Sun-

days and holidays, when the poor persons should be prevented attend-

ing at any chux-ch or chapel, i ead in the school-room one of Paley's or

Hampson's sermons, or such other as should be selected by the rector

of Brancepeth or his curate, and should also every morning read such

prayers as should be selecrted by the said rector and his curate, to the

said scholars and poor persons. The owners of Brencepeth Castle,

with a majority of the trustees, were empowered to make rules for the

government of the charity ; such rules to be painted or written on a

tablet; and hung up in some conspicuous part of the hospital or school.

If the schoolmaster or poor persons should refuse or neglect to comply

with the rules, or otherwise misbehave themselves, or if any of the said

jioor persons should marry, it should be lawful for the owners of

Uraucepeth Castle for the time being to suspend, punish, or remove

them, with the like power of disjdacing any of the scholars who should

misbehave. It was further directed that the trustees should pay to

the owners of Brancepeth Castle the surplus of the rents of the Billy

Hall estate ; and that they should appoint an agent to superintend

the hospital and school-house, who should report the state thereof at

least once in three months, and receive a stipend not exceeding the

yearly sum of 51. for his trouble. Whenever the niunber of trustees

should be reduced to three, the survivors might appoint so many other

fit persons, residing in or near the town of Brancepeth, as should

make up the number of seven ; and the trust estates should be assigned

so as to become vested in such old and new trustees ; the expense of

jircparing such conveyances to be paid out of the rents and profits of

the said premises.

The rents of the BUly Hall estate having been found insufficient for

the purposes of the charity, Mr. KusseU, by indenture, dated December

'i, 1816, conveyed to the same trustees, their executors, &c., for the

term of 10,000 years, a messuage and farm and several closes thereto

belonging, and containiug 197 a. or thereabouts, in the township of

Thoi-p-Thewles, excepting all mines and quarries, and the timber and

wood growing thereon, upon the same ti'usts as those contained in tlie

indenture of 1811.

Tha repairs of the school and alms-house are chargad to the private

account of the owners of Brancepeth Castle. The average annual

expenditure of the charity is about iiOl.

LANGLEY.

This townsMp, about 5 miles north-by-'west from Dur-

ham, coutams 2,378 acres. Its population, at the

successive returns, was 83, 102, 97, 75, 81, and 80 ; 46

of the latter nimiber being males and 34 females. There

were, in 1851, 16 inhabited houses and 5 uninhabited.

The annual value of property assessed to the coimty-rate

in 1853 was 1,270/. Langlcij Colliery is worked by

Messrs. Edward Richardson and Co.

According to Boldon Book, Arco, Bishop Pudsey's

steward, held Langley, one moiety of which was pre-

sented to bun by the bishop, who had purchased it, and

the remainder was held imder the rent of half a mark.

The estate reverted by escheat to the see of Durham,

and was granted to Henry de I'lsle, lord of Wynyard.

Before 1306, the manor was again vested in the see, and

was granted by Bishop Beck to Henry Lord Percy.

Under the Survey, it was held by Sir Richard le Scroop,

Knt. It is supposed that Henry Lord Scroop, the eleventh

lord of Bolton, and who died 25th Henry VIII., built

the hall of which the present ruins remain. On the

extinction of male and legitimate issue in Emanuel Lord

Scroop, Earl of Simderland and Lord President of the

North, his estates were settled on his three illegitimate

daughters, Mary, wife to Charles, Marquis of Winchester,

first Duke of Bolton ; Elizabeth, wife to Thomas Savage,

Earl Rivers ; and AnnabeUa, married to John Howe,

Esq., of Gloucestershire. Langley, with more important

estates, fell to the share of the marquis, and remained

in his descendants imtil William Powlett, son of Lord

William Powlett (second son of the fh-st Duke of Bolton),

sold the estate to Henry Lambton, Esq., whose represea-

tative, the Earl of Durham, is the present proprietor.

The ruins of Langley. Hall stand on the slope of a

lofty hiU, commanding a beautiful \'iew over the vale of

Brune, with Durham cathedral and its surrounding hills-

I
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in the distance. Some armorial shields, with bold triple

corbels of imique character, still remain ; but a huge

mantle-piece in the great hall, described by Hutchinson,

is removed. Surtees mentions a very small chamber,

with access to it concealed in the thickness of the wall,

near the south-east angle of the chief mass of building.

Part of the hall is now converted into a farm-house. It

was formerly protected partly by a moat, and partly by

the liangley Bum, which turns the old water-mill below,

and descends through a pleasant deU into the Browney.

The Langley Mill farm consists of 106 acres, and the

Langley farm 150 acres.

GREENCEOFT.

This township adjoins Lanchester on the north-west,

and contains 3,050 acres. Its population, at the several

returns, was 184, 205, 229, 235, 392, and 720 ; 383 of

the latter number being males and 337 females. In

1841, there were 74 inhabited houses, 5 uninhabited, and

1 building ; and in 1851, 121 inhabited and 21 uninha-

bited. The property was assessed for the coimty-rate,

in 1853, at 2,069/. 7s. 9f/.

The Stanhope branch of the North-eastern railway has

an extent of 1 m., and an area of 2 a. 2 r. in this town-

ship : it contributed 11. in 1851, and 7/. lis. M. in 1852,

towards the local rates. The gross amounts of rates

collected in the township in those years were 103/. 4.s. 6c/.

and 92/. 9s. 5rf.

The tovraship of Greencroft is partly in the chapelry

of St. Thomas, CoUierley, and contains thirteen farms, a

corn-mill, and a colliery, worked by John Bowes, Esq.,

and Partners. Greencroft Hall, at present imoccupied,

stands on the southern declivity of a hill, about a mile

to the north of Lanchester : it is a spacious, elegant

mansion, embosomed by luxm-iant plantations of lofty

forest trees, and commanding a fine rural prospect of the

winding vale of Lanchester. In the mansion are several

excellent paintings by Titian, and the most eminent

masters in the Flemish school. Little Greencroft is also

a handsome mansion, the property of Robert Bal-

leny, Esq.

By Boldon Book, the tenants of Greencroft paid 16s.,

carried the lord's wine with a wain of four oxen, and

maintained the twelfth part of Lanchester mill-pool

:

the demesne lands were exonerated from the latter

Bcrvice, but performed the whole carriage of wine. In

Hatfield's time, Robert de KeUow and John Rugheved

(drengcs) hold the vill of Greencroft xmder several

services, and attending the bishop's great chase with two

1
greyhoimds ; and other parcels of land were held by ex-

[

chequer rents. Kellow's moiety passed to the Claxtons,

' and was forfeited by Robert Claxton, who engaged in

the Northern Rebellion in 1569. In 1423, the Rugeveds'

portion was in the possession (on trust) of Sii- Ralph Eure,

!
Knt. This moiety was conveyed by Thomas Forster, in

I

1468, to the Halls of Stanley, who appear to have re-

imited the whole estate. Their manor-house and land

was let, m. 1598, to the Lady Catherine Grey, daughter

of the attainted Earl of Westmoreland (see p. 102).

Ralph Hall, who died in 1656, was a steady loyalist

;

and his eldest son, William, who refused to compoimd,

was plundered and sequestered, and his estate ordered

to be sold by the parliamentary commissioners. He was
still in possession, however, after the Restoration, but

in so much difficulty that he was obliged first to mort-

gage, and then to sell his estate, about 1670, to the

Claverings. It has been m. possession of that family to

the present time.

IVESTON.

IvTSSTON, about 3 miles north-west from Lanchester, is a

township containing 1,925 acres. The amount of its

population has, within the last 20 years, been influenced

by the progress of the coal mines and ii'on works of the

neighbom-hood. In 1801, there were 251 inhabitants
;

in 1811, 214 ; in 1821, 238 ; in 1831, 212 ; in 1841,

448 ; and in 1851, 2,500, of whom 1,408 were males and

1,092 females. There were, in 1841, 91 inhabited houses

and 15 iminhabited ; and in 1851, 423 inhabited houses,

313 uninhabited, and 1 building. The value of property

assessed to the covmty-rate in 1853 was 4,919/. 10s.

The Stanhope branch of the North-eastern railway

has an extent of 1 m. and an are of 5 a. in this township,

towards the local rates of which it contributed 6/. 13s. 4r/.

in 1851, and 11. Is. 8(/. in 1852. The Wear and Dar-

went railway, with an extent of 4 f., and an area of 3 A.,

contributed 4/. in 1851, and 4/. 5s. in 1852. The gross

amounts collected in the township in those years were

192/. 2s. M. and 167/. 10s. Id.

The village of Iveston consists principally of houses

occupied by colliers.

Iccaton Colliery was won in June, 1839, by Messrs.

Black, Ray, and Co. The seam of coal is 4 feet 7 inches

thick, hard, and of excellent quality. It is now carried

on by Jonathan Richardson, Esq., and Partners.

Under Boldon Book, Iveston paid two marks, provided

a milch cow, ploughed one acre and a half of the lord's

land at Lanchester, attended the great chaae with tw©
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greylioimds, and undertook the carriage of wine witli a

wain of eight oxen. A family bearing the local name
occurs soon afterwards ; but, in Bishop Hatfield's time,

the estate had become a possession of Kepier Hospital.

After the Dissolution, John Cockburn sold his manor of

Iveston to John Heath, Esq., the heiress ofwhom married

into the Tempest family ; and the estate is now the pro-

perty of the Marchioness of Londonderry.

Crool-Mall, a little to the west of Iveston, was for-

merly the seat of the Bakers, but is now used as a farm-

house. Crook is mentioned as a free manor in Boldon

Book, and belonged to the De la Leys, lords of Witton,

who soon after gave it to the church ofDurham. Under

• Sir George Baker was the son of Oswald Baker, of Durham. His

first preferment was the oiBce of Clerk of Durham Chanceiy, which his

father-in-law, Wm. Smith, Esq., resigned in his favour. He was after-

wai-ds recorder of Newcastle-iipon-Tjme, and was one of the principal

defenders of that town duiing its siege by the Scots in 1644. Devoted

to the king, he boiTowed large sums on his own credit, which he sent

to his majesty, or laid out in his serWce. Indeed, he almost ruined

his family by these exertions. He died at Kingston-upon-Hull, and

was buried in the great church of that place with the military honours

due to a cavalier.

George Baker, Esq., of Crook Hall, son of Sir George Baker, mar-

ried Margaret, daughter of Thomas Forster, Esq., of Adderstone,

Nortliumberland. Their second son, Thomas Baker, S.T.B., a learned

antiquaiy, was bona at Crook Hall, September 14, 1C,56. After an

education at the free-school at Durham, and St. John's College, Cam-

bridge, he became chaplain to Bishop Crewe, who collated him to the

rectoiy of Long-Newton in June, 1C87. It is said that the bishop

intended to give him the rich living of Sedgefield, but that Sir. Baker

incurred his displeasure by refusing to read King James II.'s declara-

ration for liberty of conscience. He resigned Long-Newton August 1,

1690, refusing to take the oaths, and retired to his fellowship at St.

John's, where he was protected tUl January 20, 1717," when, with

twenty-one others, he was dispossessed of it. This hurt him most of

till, not for the profit he received from it, but that some whom he

thought his sincerest friends came so readily into the new measures.

After the passing of the registering act, 1723, he was desii'ed to register

his annuity of 40!., which the last act required before it was amended

and explained. Though this annuity, left him by his father for his

fortune, with '20J. per annum left by his elder brother out of his col-

lieries, from the day of his death, August, 1099, for the remaining part

of the lease, which determined at Whitsuntide, 17'23, was now his

whole subsistence, he could not be prevailed upon to secm-e himself

against the act by making a conveyance. He continued to reside in

his college as commoner-master till his death, which happened July 2,

1740, of a paralytic stroke, in liis 81th year. For many years, he was

almost a recluse, and seldom went further than the college walks, un-

less to a coffee-house in an evening after chapel, when he spent an

hour with great -cheerfulness in conversing with a select number of

friends. Being appointed one of the executors of his elder brother's

btU, by which a large sum was bequeathed to pious uses, he prevailed

on the other two executors, his other brother Francis and the Hon.

Charles Montague, to lay out 1,310/. of the money upon an estate te be

settled upon St. Johu's College for six exhibitioners. Mr. Baker like-

wise gave the college lOOJ. for the consideration of OJ. a year ( then

legal interest) for his life; and to the library several choice books, both

j

Hatfield's Survey, the estate belonged to the Kirkleys,

i from whom it passed through the Thorntons, to the de-

! scendants of Richard Lord Lumley. In 1588, it had

became the property of the Shaftoes, who, about 50 }'ears

afterwards, sold it to George Baker (afterwards Sir

George Baker, Knt.*), in whose descendants it is still

vested (see vol. i., p. 405).

High Brooms has long been the residence of a respect-

able Roman Catholic family named Smith.f Brooms

Chapel is a small, but remarkably neat building, belong-

ing to the Catholics. The Rev. William Thompson is

the present chaplain, and officiates alternately here and

at the chapel of Esh.

printed and MS., medals, and coins, besides what he left by hig \^1
All that he printed were, " Reflections on Learning, shewing the In-

sufliciency thei-cof in its several particuhars, iu order to evince the

UsefixUness and Necessity of Revelation, London, 1710," which went

through eight editions, and was for some time one of the most popular

books in the English language ; and " The Preface to Bishop Fisher's

Funeral Sermon for Margaret, Countess of Richmond and Derby,

1708," both without his name. The latter piece is a sufficient speci-

men of the editor's skill in antiquities to induce a regret that he did

not live to publish his " Histoiy of St. John's College, from the Foun-

dation of old St. John's House to the prssent Time ; with some occa-

sional and incidental Account of the Affairs of the University, and of

such private Colleges as held Communication or Intercourse with the

old House or College ; collected principally from MSS., and carried on

through a Succession of Masters to the End of Bishop Gunning's

Mastership, 1C70." The original, fit for the press, is among the Har-

leian MSS., No. 7,028. His MS. collections relative to the history and

antiqiuties of the University of Cambridge, amounting to 39 volimies

in foHo, and 3 in 4to, ai'e divided between the British Museum and the

public library at Cambridge. Two large volumes of his letters to Mr.

Hearne, the antiquaiy, are in the Bodleian library. It was his cus-

tom, in every book he had, or read, to write observations and an

account of the author. Of these, a considerable number are at St.

John's College, and several in the Bodleian library, amongst Dr. Eaw-

linson's bequests ; some also fell into the hands ef private individuals,

and are much piized,

+ The Rev. Thoius Smith, D.D., Bishop of Bolina, and Vicar

Apostolic of the Northern District, was born at the Brooms, March 21,

1763. His parents sent him to the Catholic school of Sedgley Park in

Staffordshire ; and in 1778, he was removed to the English college at

Douay, where he advanced rapidly in the mathematical and gramma-

tical classes. On the death of the Eev. John Lodge, in November, 1795,

Dr. Smith succeeded to the mission at Durham. He was created the

coadjutor of Bishop William Gibson, on the 11th of March, 1810, by

the titie of Bishop of Bolina, a city of Achaia. The ceremony was

performed by the Eight Eev. Dr. Poynter, at the college of St. Edward,

Old Hall Green, Hertfordshire. On the death of hi» venerable col-

league, Dr. Gibson, June 2, 1821, Dr. Smith succeeded to the eharg*

of the diocese. He resided chiefly at the city of Diu-ham, Ushaw Col-

lege, and the family residence of the Brooms. After a long and painful

illness, he died at Ushaw College, July 30, 1831, and was interred in

the burial-ground of that establishment. He was a man of great

learning and piety, an excellent classical scholar, and a profouni

theologian.
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HELEYFIELD.

This toiSTiship is situated on the western verge of the

parish, and adjoLas Rowley in the parish of Muggleswick.

It contains 1,221 acres, comprising nine farms. Its popu-

lation, at the successive returns, was 145, 156, 161, 159,

189, and 299 ; 155 of the latter niunber being males,

and 144 females. In 1851, there were 58 inhabited

houses and 11 uninhabited. The annual value of pro-

perty assessed to the county-rate in 1853 was 836/. 16s. 7c?.

The Stockton and Darlington railway has an extent

of 1 M. 4 F., and an area of 7 a. in this township. In

1851, it contributed 21. 15.s., and in 1852, 3/. to the local

rates ; the gross amoimts collected in those years being

42/. 7s. 2d. and 46/. 4.s. 2d.

Bishop Pudsey granted the viU of Heley to Alan de

Chilton, in exchange for his interest in the bishop's vill

of Comford. In 1349, Richard de Chilton gave this

manor to Sir John Stryveln, who, in 1382, alienated it

to John Neville, lord of Raby, by whom it was granted

to WiUiam of Lanchester, vicar of St. Oswald's, and

William Graj'stanes, chaplain. The latter survived his

colleague, and conveyed the estate to the dean and chapter

of Durham ; the almoner of the convent having previously

held lands there. Hekij Chapel is mentioned in the

foundation charter of the coUegiate chm-ch of Lanchester,

1283. In 1648, the parliamentary commissioners did

" think fit and certifie that Heleyfield, in Lanchester

parish, be annexed to Muggleswick, and united to be a

parish chui-ch."

Ai.ANSFOED, on the Darwent, is supposed to have de-

rived its name from Alan de Chiltou, lord of Heleyfield.

The ford has been long superseded by a bridge. There

are a few cottages on the Diu-ham side of the river. An
inn near the bridge, and a mill, are beautifully situated

;

and the place is justly celebrated for its delightful and

romantic scenery.

Mole-Honse is seated in the deep vale of the Darwent.

The estate was, at an early period, sold by the Leybournes

to the Hoppers, from whom it was purchased, in 1595,

by Alexander Maddison. John and George Maddison,

the last lineal male descendants of the family, were suc-

ceeded in the estate by their sister, who became the wife

of Thomas Greenwell, of Broomshields, in whose de-

scendant, John GreenweU, Esq., it is still vested.

CHAPELRY OF SATLEY.

iHE chapelry of Satley is situated in a narrow vale, between the branches of a small beck, which run eastward to

the river Browney. It consists of the township of Satley, with a portion of that of Hedley-Hope, the remaining

part being now attached to the parish of Brancepeth.

SATLEY.

Tins township contains an area of 901 acres. Its

population, at the six periods of enumeration, was 78,

88, 103, 112, 132, and 287; 141 of the latter number

being males and 146 females. In 1841, there were 25

inhabited houses and 2 uninhabited ; and in 1851, 59

inhabited and 3 uninhabited. The annual value of pro-

perty assessed to the county-rate in 1853 was 504/.

Os. 10</. The township includes four farmholds ; and
the village of Satley contains two public houses, a corn-

miU, a school, and a few mechanics. In 1324, Robert

de GreenwoU held the vill of Satley of the see of Dur-

ham in chief, by 40.s. rent, and 13a\ 4fi?. in addition for

the manor mill. In later times, the families of Merely,

Chambre, Hesswell, Millet, and Rippon, held lands m
Satley.

THE CHAPEL

Is a small building, situated on a bleak hiU to the north

of the village, and possesses few features of interest. In

1221, Philip de St. Helena, rector of Lanchester, granted

to Satley chapelry a general release of all tithes, obla-

tions, and altarage, within Satley and Butsfield. Satley

afterwards became a chapel of ease to Lanchester, from

which it was again severed on receiving an augmentation

of 200/. from Queen Anne's Bounty in 1768. The living

is a perpetual ciu"acy, not in charge, of the certified value

ofll/. 4«.; and the perpetual curate of Lanchester is

patron. The annual value is 114/. ; and there is a glebe

house, towards the erection of which the Bishop of Dur-

ham gave 200/. The Rev. Joseph Thompson, the pre-

sent incumbent, was appointed to the living in 1832.

The register of baptisms, burials, and marriages are con-
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tained in one book, and extend from 1797 to 1812. The

earlier registers are supposed to have been entered at

Lanchester.

Brooimhields, under Hatfield's Survey, was divided

into various parcels. Peter GreenweU of Bromesheles

occurs in 1488 ; and the estate has ever since been in

possession of the Greenwell family. One person from

Bromshele, who joined the rebellion in 1569, was exe-

cuted. Broom-shield House was rebuilt some years ago

by John Greenwell, Esq. Brooimhiekl Cottage is the re-

sidence of some of Mr. GreenweU's relatives.

West Sheet, or West Broomshields, was long in pos-

session of the Darnell family, but was alienated by

WiUiam Darnell, merchant, of Newcastle, to the

GreenweUs.

* A case, Meynell v. Surtees, was tried before Sir J. Stewart, in the

Vice-chancellor's court, on the 7th and 8th of November, 1854. The

bUl was filed for the speoific performance of an agreement, dated in 184.3,

by which a way-leave was granted to the Darwent Iron Company, owners

of the Wear and Darwent Railway. They had been desirous of making a

railway to be called the Weardale Extension Railway, for connecting

their own line with the Bishop Auckland and Weardale Railway near

Hedley-Hope and Crook, and by that means to obtain access to the port

of Middlesborough on the Tees. The right and interest of the com-

pany in the Extension line becoming vested in the Stockton and Dar-

lingtfln Railway Company, they constructed the railway : and it was

opened for public traflSc in May, 1845. The performance of the

agreement of 1843 was resisted on several grounds, the principal of

which were, that it was not a valid agreement ; that it was only an

offer, which was not accepted in writing on behalf of the Darwent Iron

HEDLET-HOPE.

This township contains an area of 1,506 acres; and

there were, in 1851, 16 inhabited houses and 1 unin-

habited. The successive returns of population were 47,

48, 51, 72, 48, and 91; 53 of the latter n\maber being

males and 38 females. The annual value of property

assessed to the county-rate in 1853 was 1,400/. 14s. 2d.

Hedley-Hope was anciently a portion of Comsay, but

was separated from that township before the time of

Hatfield's Survey, when it belonged to the family of De
risle, of whom it was held by the Ne^dlles. After the

attainder of the Earl of Westmoreland, the estate ap-

pears to have been purchased by the Sandersons, who

were merchants in Newcastle. The principal estate was

latterly the property of Lady Peat, and now belongs fo

Edward Taylor Smith, Esq. (see vol. i., p. 440.)*

Company ; that the rent to be paid for the way-leave was undetermined :

and that the way-leave was granted for the purpose only of having

conveyed, on the proposed railway, lime for agricultural purposes, and

not for general traffic. The Vice-chancellor, in giving judgment,

dismissed the plaintiffs' bUls against all the defendants, but was not so

entirely satisfied with the conduct of the principal defendant as to

distoiss them with costs. The plaintiffs, he said, were driven into

court by the resort of Surtees to the extreme step of an action of eject-

ment without any sufficient effort on his part to avoid the expenses,

hai-assment, and risks of litigation, by offeiing fair terms for an adjust-

ment out of court. The plaintiffs so far succeeded in this litigation as

to shew that their possession was entitled at least to interim protection

by the cotirt, and the act of parliament had relieved the court from

entering upon the question of the terms on which the plaintiffs' pos

session should be continued.

CHAPELRY OF ST. THOMAS, COLLIERLEY.

The chapelry of CoUierley was constituted on the 24th of September, 1842. It consists of the townships of Col-

Uerley, Kyo, and BHlingside, and part of the town-^'ap of Greencroft, the same being boimded on or towards the

north-north-east and east by the chapelry of Tanfield, in the parish of Chester-le-Street ; on the south-east by the

road leadino- from Shieldrow to the turnpike gate on the Newcastle and Wokingham turnpike-road (including all

the houses on the north-west side thereof) ; it thence proceeds south along the turnpike-road towards Lanchester (in-

cluding all the houses on the west side thereof), till it meets the road leading to Greencroft tower, and proceeds

down that road in a south-westerly direction as far as the gate leading to the tower; thence westerly along the

road leadinw to Shotley Bridge as far as the road leading from CoUierley to Iveston, whence it proceeds north

along the centre of that road as far as another road leading to Shotley Bridge, between the townships of CoUierley,

Billingside, and Iveston, as far as the chapelry of Medomsley; it then proceeds in a northern direction along th«

boundary that divides the said chapeby from the townships of BiUingside and CoUierley untU they meet the

chapelry of Tanfield at the north-western point of the district.

COLLIERLEY.

The township of CoUierley is about 9 miles south-west

from Gateshead, and contains an area of 1,055 acres.

In 1801, the population was 539; in 1811, when that of

Billingside was returned with it, 549; in 1821, 556; in

1831, in consequence of the removal of workmen to Tan-

field coUieiy, it was reduced to 526 ; in 1841, it wm
853; but in 1851, it had faUen to 676, of whom -m
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were males and 272 females. In 1841, there were 177

inhabited houses and 11 uninhabited; and in 1851, 119

inhabited and 13 uninhabited. The value of property

assessed to the county-rate in 1853 was 1,943/. 8.s. id.

The Stanhope branch of the North-eastern Railway

has an extent of 1 m. and an area of 8 a. in this town-

ship, towards the local rates of which it contributed

13/. Os. 9f/. in 1851 and 12/. 9.s. 2d. in 1852. The Wear
and Derwent Railway, with an extent of 1 m. 2 r. and

an area of 10 v., contribiited in those years 5/. 12.s. 6d.

and 5/. 8s. 4d. The gross amount collected in 1851 was

208/. 12s. 9f </., and in 1852, 197/. Is. i^d.

CoUierley was in possession of the Guildford family in

the time of Hatfield's Survey, and continued to be their

property tiU the last heiress intermarried with the Rob-

sons. In 1474, Robert Rhodes died seised of the manor

of ColUerlcy and of laud called Greenlaw. Queen Eliza-

beth, in 1571, granted lauds here to Sir George Bowes,

who conveyed certain tenements in CoUierley to Robert

Pyc, William Parker, Cuthbert Biu-rcl, and Robert

Cooke, merchant, of Newcastle. The property in this

to\NTiship is now much divided. The CoUierley estate

contains 65 a. 1 r. 7 p., of which 20 a. n. 32 p. are wood-

lands.

Collierley-Dykes is a village on the road from

Newcastle to Shotley Bridge, and contains a Primitive

Methodist chapel ; and Dipton, another colliery village,

contains two public houses, with grocers, drapers, butchers,

and other tradesmen. It is mentioned in the earliest

inquest of the Guildfords in 1341.

The estate called Simpson's Hill contains 18 a. r.

34 p. of grass land, with several small garths and gardens,

containing 3 a. 3 r. 14 p. ; and four adjoining cottages.

PoNTOP is a village adjoining a lofty pike, called

Pontopihe, from which the name is derived. The manor,

in 13G1, belonged to the Gourleys ; and in 1409, it was

sold to SirWilliam Claxton, with one of whose co-heiresses

it passed to the Elmedon family. It afterwards became,

by marriage, the property of Sir William Buhner, whose

great grandson, Bartram Bidmer, sold Pontop in 1 600

to Anthony Meabourne.* Thomas Swinburne, Esq., third

son of Sir William Swinburne, the second baronet of

Capheaton, Northumberland, married Mary, daughter

and co-heiress of Anthony Meabourne, Esq., of Pontop

Hall, and relict of Thomas Thornton, Esq., of Nethor-

witton (by whom she had a daughter and heiress, married

to WiUiam Salvin. Esq., of Croxdale), and by this lady

» Anthony and Thomas Moabunie helil, by patent (dated February

11, 103 j ) ,
the office of Forester of Weardale, jointly and to the survivor.

VOL. II.

(who died in 1772) had a son and daughter. Thomas
Swinburne, Esq., of Pontop HaU, inlierited the estate

from his mother. He married, in 1781, Charlotte,

daughter and co-heiress of Robert Spearman, Esq., of

Old Acres, and had issue a son and two daughters. He
died in October, 1825, and was succeeded by his son,

Thomas-Robert Swinburne, Esq., of Pontop Hall, and

Marcus Lodge, Forfarshire, lieut.-col. in the army, a

magistrate and deputy lieutenant for Forfarshire ; bom
in 1796 ; married, first, December 8, 1818, Maria, third

daughter of the Rev. Anthony Ooates, rector of Gouldsbro',

Yorkshire, and by her (who died in July, 1820) had a

son, Thomas-Anthony, R.N., born July 13, 1820. Col

Swinburne married, secondly, in October, 1826, Helen,

eldest daughter of James Aspinall, Esq., of Liverpool,

and by her has two sons, Robert-Spearman and James.

He served in the Guards, in Holland and the south of

France, and in the campaign of 1815, at Quatre Bras,

Waterloo, the taking of Peronne, and ia the army of

occupation.

Arms.—Per fesse, gu. and arg., three cinquefoils, eounterohai-ged.

Ckest.—Out of a ducal coronet, or, a demi-boar, rampant, arg.,

crined, of the fii-st, langued, gu.

Motto.—Semel et semper.

In 1851, a number of ash, oak, cypher, elm, and

plane trees, standing in Cooper's GiU, Pontop East Low
Wood, and the Spring Pit AVood, were sold by proposal.

On February 3, 1854, the colonel applied to the com-

missioners for the advance of 5,000/., for draining lands

in Lanchester, Tanfield, and Muggleswick.

Pontop and JDipton Collieries are worked by Messrs. J.

Bowes, Hutt, N. Wood, and Charles M. Palmer. At
Pontop the Tyne high main seam, 5 feet thick, is at the

depth of 8 fathoms ; 24 fathoms further is the five-quarter

seam, 4 feet 6 inches ; at a quarter of a fathom further,

the brass thill, 6 feet ; at 34 fathoms further, the Hutton

seam ; and 6 fathoms further, the main coal ; the total

depth being 72j fathoms.

THE CHAPEL.

There was anciently a chapel at CoUierley, which has

been many years in ruins. The present chapel was

built by voliuitaiy contributions, for the benefit of the

mining and labouring community in the district. It

was opened by license from the Bishop of Durham, on

the 25th July, 1841, and consecrated on the 4th of

August following. The plate for the communion was

presented by Sir Thomas Clavering,Bart., of Grecncroft

the font, by the archdeacon of Durham ; the books, by

T. E. Charlton, Esq., of Broadwood Hall ; the bell, by

5a
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the Stanliope and T3-ne Railway Company ; and the
|

ground for the church and church-yard was given by i

Miss Clayton of London. The building is in the early

English style; consisting of nave and chancel, with

narrow lights, a western bell turret, and spirets at the

corners of the gables. The stone used in the erection is

that of the district, which assumes a stained appearance

on exposure to the weather ; but the turret is constructed

of a purely white stone. The church-yard is bounded

on the north by a rising plantation.

The living is in the gift of the Bishop of Durham

;

and its annual value is 140/. The first incumbent was

the Rev. Thomas Jackson, A.B., who was succeeded, in

1854, by the Rev. Blythe Hui-st.*

• Eev. Blytre Hcrst.—This learned and excellent man adds an-

other to the many instances on record, of what may be effected by the

combined influence of genius and industiy. At a public dinner, in pro

posing the health of thebishopand clergy of thediocese, Joseph Laycock,

Esq., of Winlaton, graphically detailed the successful struggles of Mr.

Hurst in pursuit of Imowledge, and which eventually led to his present

position. After eulogising the bishop, Mr. Laycock observed that there

was then li\-ing in the village of Winlaton a striking and interesting

proof of the bishop's benevolence—a man whom the right rev. prelate

had raised from the lowest ranks of the workmen of Winlaton, to the

station of an ordained clergyman of the Church of England. The in-

dividual to whom he referred was a native of Winlaton, and was put

to the trade of a blacksmith at the early age of seven years. At that

time, he had received little education. He could read the scriptures,

but could write only imperfectly. After he went to trade, he attended

a Sunday-school (Archdeacon Thoi-p's), where he made some progress.

Writing, however, was not taught in the school. When he had entered

his teens, his mind was directed to the study of languages, beginning

with his own. Afterwards, he acquired six others, ^^z., Latin, Greek,

Hebrew, Ai-abic, Syriac, and French. A few years ago, a raissionaiy

made his appearance in the \illage, to disseminate the damnable doc-

trines of Socialism, trusting, no doubt, to the well-known readiness of

the villagers to patronize whatever was new and good. The friends of

the learned blacksmith, Mr. Blythe Hurst, pressed him to deliver

lectures in reply to the Socialist. This he declined ; but he wrote a

book, entitled, " Christianity no Priestcraft," and had it printed and

published. The worthy rector of Winlaton, Mr. WardeU, enclosed a

copy of the pamphlet to tlie Bishop of Durham, as the work of a com-

mon man, a labouiing blacksmitli. The bishop wrote back, expressing

the great satisfaction with which he had read the book, and observing

that it might be written by a common man, but it was the production

of no common mind, and he was anxious to receive some further parti-

culars of the author's life. These were not mere words of compliment.

The bishop was in earnest, and wrote to Mr. Douglas, the rector of

Whickham, wishing him to see Mr. Hui-st, and ascertain his ability to

rjake a ready application of his acquirements. Mr. Douglas visited

him, and found him toiling the whole day long to support his famOy.

He pursued his studies while at work, having his lessons on his

•• liame stone"—(a stone suspended before the eyes of the workmen to

protect them from the flames). Mr. Douglas conversed with him,

and subsequently made a report to the bishop. His lordship next

wrote to Mr. Davies. the rector of Gateshead, on the subject of Mr.

Hurst. Mr. Davies visited Mr. H. at Winlaton, and stated the result

ja. a letter to the biahop. Dr. Mallby afterwards corresponded with

A national school, belonging to the chapelry, is situate

a little to the north of the church. It is partly supported

by the subscriptions of the neighbotu-ing colliery owners

;

and the average attendance of children is about 80.

KYO.

This township contains 1,230 acres. Its population, at

the successive returns, was 281, 385, 448, 412, 965, and

1,401 ; 757 of the latter number being males and 644

females. In 1841, there were 196 inhabited houses, 2

uninhabited, and 2 building ; and in 1851, 271 inhabited,

3 iminhabited, and 2 building. The property was

assessed to the coimty-rate, in 1853, at 2,864/. 10«.

Mr. Hurst, and advised him as to his coui-se of reading, recommending

to his attention the most suitable books. His lordship (mai'k his

liberality !) did more thau this; he enclosed Mr. Hurst the means of

following out his recommendation. He also wrote to Mr. CoUinson,

the late rector of Gateshead, who, like the "good Samai-itan," as he

had always been, incited Mr. Hurst to his house, and also Mr. Hurst's

daughter. Mr. CoUinson saw that the blacksmith was about to rise

from his obscure station ; and he was kindly anxious to prepare both

him and his family for the new sphere of life on which they were

shortly to enter. Some time afterwards, the bishop having occasion to

Wsit Newcastle, he had a personal intemew with Mr. Hurst, and

arrangements were then made for his ordination. When the time for

the ceremony was at hand, Mr. Hurst received a kind letter from

.\uckland Castle, intimating that apartments had been provided for his

accommodation. His lordship also presented him with a sUk gown,

through Mr. Wardell. On Thursday, the 0th inst., Mr. Hurst proceeded

to Auckland; and he (Mr. Laycock) had received a letter, communi-

cating some particulais of his reception. From this letter he would

rend an extract :—Mr. Hurst passed his examination with great credit

to himself, and much to the satisfaction of his examiner. The bishop

was particularly kind, and took especial notice of Mr. Hurst. On

Saturday, as is customary, all those to be ordained dined with the

bishop. The bishop, on looking round tie drawing room for Jfr. H.,

found that he was at the opposite end. He asked him to come to him,

and went and met him—took his aim—and introduced him to Mrs.

Maltby and all the ladies. When they met in the dining room, he

said, " You must come and sit beside me." Then he was set with the

bishop on one side, and Archdeacon Eaymond on the other ; and the

same way on Sunday at lunch. Thus honourably and pleasantly did

Mr. Hurst pass his examination, and the bishop's kindness extended

also to pa\ing the fees. On this veiy day (Tuesday), Mr. Hurst had

returned to his native village an ordained clergyman of the Church of

England ; and he would shortly, through the bishop's patronage, enter

upon his ministerial duties as curate of Garrigill, near Alston. The

villagers, as a farewell token of their esteem and respect, were now

providing a purse of gold, to be presented to Mr. Hui-st on his remova

to his ciu-aey.

Mr. Hurst's subsequent appointment to Collieiiey is noticed in the

text. In the early part of 185G, he delivered two highly interesting

lectures to the members of the Church of England Institute, New-

castle ; the first on the Sinaitic inscriptions, and the second on Egj-p-

tian hieroglyphics, in both of which he evinced the intimate kuowledga

he had acquired of those abstruse subjects.
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The Stanhope branch of the North-eastern Railway

has an extent of 1 m. 6 f. 99 y. and an area of 14 a. 3 r.

3 p., in this to\vnship. It contributed 26/. 13.s. 4e?. in

1851, and 27/. lO.s. in 1852, to the local rates. The

Stockton and Darlington Railway, which extends over

1 M. and covers 4 A. 3 n. 21 p., contributed in those years

13s. 4(1. and 14«. 9d. The gross amounts collected were

195/. 18s. lOf/. in 1851, and 202/. Os. 10^^. in 1852.

This estate was given, subject to a reserved rent, by

Walter de Monasteriis, or Musters, to Simon, archdeacon

of Dui-ham, who granted it to the almoner of St. Cuth-

bert. Henry de Ferlington, brother of the archdeacon,

gave the estate to the Hospital of the Trinit}^ in Gates-

head, which paid 40s., half of the fee-fann rent, to the

almoner of Durham. In 1631, Isabel de Birtley held

lands of the house of St. Edmond's (to which the Trinity

was annexed) by the service of a rose on St. John the

Baptist's Nativity. Subsequently, the Merleys had

lands in Kyo, and a family of Blakistons in Kyopeth.

Harpley House was long the property and residence of

the Wilkinsons. Kyo-Laws and Quaking House are farms

in the south-eastern portion of the t ownship, and contain

together about 187 acres. A considerable part of the

property in this townsliip has recently been purchased

by James Joicey, Esq.

South Tanfield Colliery.—The depth to the five-quarter

seam, which is 5 feet thick, is 44 fathoms, and at a

further depth of 8 fathoms is the brass thill seam, also

a large5 feet thick. A fire-brick maniifactorj' and
number of coke ovens are attached to the colliery. The
royalty was lately pm-chased of Thomas-Robt. Swinburne,

Esq., by James Joicey, Esq., who is working the colliery.

Anfield Plain is a considerable colliery village on
the road between Gateshead and Lanchester, and is

intersected by the Pontop and Tyne railway. It contains

a Primitive Methodist chapel, a post office, a police

station, and two public houses. The houses are of stone,

with slated I'oofe. Upwards of 200 coke ovens have been

erected in tlic neighbourhood by the Marley Hill Coking
Company. Bush blades is a smaU village near Tanfield,

and was, about 60 years ago, the residence of the late

Mr. John Buddie and his father (see vol. i., p. 181).

BILLINGSIDE.
This township comprises 288 acres, in one farm, on
which there were, in 1851, 3 inhabited houses. The
popidation, in 1801, was 54; in 1811, in was included

with that of CoUierley
; and in the four succeeding re-

turns, it was 45, 18, 13, and 16; the latter number
consisting of 8 males and 8 females. In 1853, the pro-

perty was assessed to the county-rate at 133/. 10s.

In Hatfield's Sm-vey, Richard Lorde holds a messuage
and 36 J acres, 12s. Qd. ; and an acre called Pundbanks,
6f/. Exchequer lands:—Thomas Gowhills holds a
messuage, 24i acres, 8s. 2d. ;

li acres in Pundband, &d.
;

and an acre called the Bog, Is.

PAEISH OF RYTON

The parish of Ryton, previous to the formation of that of Winlaton, contained six townships, viz., 1, Ryton; 2,

Ryton AVoodside; 3, Crawcrook, including Bradley; 4, Stella; 5, AViulaton, including Blaydon, Thoriiley, the

Spen, Whitehouse, and other tenements, parcels of the lordship of Winlaton ; and, 6, Chopwell, includmg Black
HaU, Milkwell Burn, Ravenside, Armonside, Hukergate, and other tenements. The modern parish of Ryton is

bounded on the east by Blaydon Burn, Barlow Burn, and Coldburn ; on the south by the township of Chopwell

;

on the west by Hedley Fell,* and Stanley Burn, dividing the county of Durham from Northumberland ; and on the

north by the Tyne, extending from Stanley Bum foot to Blaydon Burn foot.

RYTON.

TiEE township of Ryton contains 1,302 acres, of which

99 acres are covered by tidal water. Its population, at

the decennial periods of return, was 432, 462, 445, 590,

• The Bewtck Family.—The grandfather of William Bewick, the

painter, noticed at page 515, vol. i., was born at Hedley Fell House

;

»nd not far distant is also the birth-place of Thomas Bewick, the

677, and 739 ; 350 of the latter nimiber being males and

389 females. In 1851, there were 156 inhabited houses,

1 uninhabited, and 1 building. The annual value of

property assessed to the coimty-rate in 1853 was 3,255/.

18s. 2d.

eelolinited wood engraver, of whom a memoir will be given under the

head of Gateshead.

Talent appears to be hereditary in this fftmily. William, the grand
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The Newcastle and Carlisle Railway has an extent of

2m. Of. 160 y., and an area of 19a. 2r. 36 p. in this

tovrnship, towards the local rates of wliich it contributed

60/. in 1851, and 67/. 10s. in 1852. The gross amounts

collected in those years were 336/. 12s. 5^(1. and 324/.

6s. 6Jf/. The railway station is near the river, which

here winds around Ryton Haugh. This beautiful level,

which is dotted with trees and bushes, was long the

resort of pleasure parties, for purposes of recreation ; but

this is now interdicted, on account of the damage done

to the herbage.

father of the favourite pupil of Haydon, evinced great taste for the arts,

and pi-oduced large engravings on wood ; but having turned his inge-

nuity to the discovery of improved methods of making paper, which at

this time excited considerable interest in Germany (by Schaffers),

France, and Holland, as well as in England by Whatman and Basker-

ville, be removed from the banks of the Tyne to the Abbey Paper Mills

at Athelstane, near Rokeby, on the banks of the Tees, where be pro-

posed to carry on his experiments. As he delighted in the study of

forestry, and was intimately acquainted with every variety of wood, its

habitat and uses, it is probable that his investigations led him to

expeiiment upon the inner bark of trees for the manufacture of paper,

as well as the improvements of the finer kinds since discovered by

Didot, Fourdrinier, and at the present time by Losh of Newcastle. It

was dniing these scientific experiments, and in this picturesijue and

charming scenery, that be was struck with the beauty of the daughter

of a respectable inhabitant of Slartforth, near- Barnard Castle, whom

he married ; and in the ricinity of the ruins of Athelstane Abbey,

WUliam Bewick, the father of the artist, was born.

This second William Bemck inherited a critical taste in the arts,

which was not cultivated; but a passion for antiquai'ian lore was

indulged in instead. . He was married at Dai-Ungton to " one of the

most beautiful women that ever went to St. Cuthbert's church," as was

said by an old Quaker banker upon the High Row, as he watched her

to church. His wife, Jane Rowntree, was a native of Hurworth-upon-

Tees. Her brother George left home to try his fortune in the world

;

he set up his stick at four cross lanes, to direct his course ; it fell to the

north—he followed to where it pointed, and proceeded in that direction

until he came to Edinburgh. He there became acquainted with the

celebrated Francis Horner, with whom he planned and established the

first machinery in Scotland for spinning flax, at a place called SaugU-

ton Mills, some three miles from Edinburgh. The eldest son of George

was John Rowntree, who became a printer and bookseller at Darling-

ton, and who purchased the private printing press belonging to the

antiquary, George Allan, Esq., of the Grange. He also collected

materials, and issued a prospectus for a history of Durham, previous

to the time of Surtees ; and it is to be lamented that his early death

prevented the fulfilment of his design.

It was at Darlington, as has been noticed at page 515, vol. i., that

WiUiam Bewick the artist was bom, Oct. 20, 1795. The pupil of

Haydon distinguished himself, some few years ago, in company with

the gifted family of the Landseers, by publicly exliibiting in London

those fine cartoons from the Elgin marbles, and the cartoons of Ra-

phael, so mucU admired at the time. He also was the artist selected

to execute large drawings of the finest groups of the Elgin marbles for

the poet Goethe, and which are alluded to in Haydon's memoirs. It

was when these drawings were exhibited in the British Museum that

the venerable Benjamin West came there, and dehvered an eulogistic

address to the students, paying Mr. Bewick a high compliment for the

power and truth of his largo drawings. Aiter painting the original

The name of Ryton has been derived from the British

word Ml/, meaning water, supposed to have been applied

to places seated in a "wide watered vale." The village

is pleasantly situated on the south bank of the Tyne,

about 7 miles west from Newcastle, and is remarkably

well built and handsome, contaiuing some respectable

viUas. The banks which slope steeply between it and

the river are thickly overhung with trees. From its

summit a beautifid and interesting prospect extends to

the east, west, and north, embracing the wide and fertile

valley of the Tyne, with the distant villages of Wylam,

historical pictures mentioned by Haydon in his memoirs, he was

selected by the president of the Royal Academy, Sir Thomas Lawrence,

to proceed to Italy, and undertake the extremely ditficult task of mak-

ing, on a large scale, a series of copies of the celebrated Prophets and

Sibyls of Michael Angelo in the Sistine chapel at Rome—works of such

gigantic proportions and sublimity of composition as were never before

attempted upon so adequate and comprehensive a scale. The dilficulty

of obtaining permission for seaflbkling to be erected in the Pope's

private chapel was overcome by the letters fi-om the president of the

British Academy, who had been in Rome a short time before to paint

the portraits of the Pope and his secretaiy of state, for his majesty

George IV., and by the influence of the president of the Roman
Academy of Arts, Signer Cammuceini. The whole of the cartoons done

upon the scaffolding for the detail of this undertaking were completed,-

and four of the fuU-sized copies in oil sent to their possessor in Lon-

don, when the sudden death of Sir Thomas Lawrence put a stop to the

completion of his series in oil colours, which he had intended to pre-

sent to the school of painting in the Royal Academy ; and the four that

he had received were disposed of at the sale of his effects. These

cartoons, done on the scaffolding for the detail, are still in Mr. Bewick's

possession at Haughton-le-Skeme, and placed in a galleiy erected for

the pui-pose. The series ai'e eleven in number, and represent the

Prophets Jeremiah, Joel, Daniel, Isaiah, Ezeldel, and Zechariah ; of

the Sibyls, who, it is said, foretold the coming of our Saviour, they are

the Cumsean, the Delphic, the Erythraean, the Libican, and the Per-

sican. In viewing these transcripts of such extraordinarj' examples of

the sublime in art, we are struck with the grandeur of the composition,

and the wonderful intensity and ti'Uth of expression : and when it is

considered that they are about twice the proportions of Ufe, we gaze

with a mixture of surprise, awe, and wonder. These examples are

said to be the finest of all Michael Angelo's works, either of sculjjture

or painting, and are well adapted for a public institution or national

galleiy. After Mr. Bewick's return from Italy, he resided in London,

where he placed some of those cartoons in his studio, and where they

soon became an attraction to ai-tists and amateurs. From a bed of

sickness Mr. Bewick was ordered to the country, where ho has conti-

nued, his state of health not permitting his return to his " labour of

love" in the metropolis. Besides the cartoons, there are at Mr.

Bewick's residence a coUectiou of original chalk portraits of eminent

men, with whom he has associated in society, amongst whom may he

named Scott, .Jeffrey, Hazlitt, Matuiin, Mackenzie (" Man of Feeling"),

Shiel, M'CuUooh, Basil Hall, Brewster, Landor, Hogg, Curran, Nor-

bury, Mrs. Grant, Lady Morgan, Alison, Wilson, li'c. Mr. Bewick is at

present understood to be engaged on a series of sketches or memous
of distinguished characters of his time ; and if he draws with the pen

with the truth, power, and distinctive character he has pourtrayed in

those drawings from life, the work will, no doubt, prove highly amusing

and piquant.
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Heddon-on-the-Wall, Throckley, Walbottlc, and Benwell,

in Northumberland ; whilst Fenham plantations, and

the heights of Newcastle Town Moor close the view to

the east. A subscription school was built in 1791, and

endowed with 5/. per annum by Lord Crewe's trustees.

The Independents have a small chapel in E,ji;on, the

minister of which, the Rev. D. Wilson, also attends a

congregation at Crawcrook. There are in the village four

public houses, a surgeon, a post-ofEce, a rural police station

belonging to the Chester-le-Street division, and several

mechanics. A cross was erected in 1795, at which two

hirings for servants are held annually on the Fridays

before May 12 and November 22. The Ryton Savings-

bank, one of the oldest institiitions of the kind in

England, has been for some years discontinued. A
Society for promoting Christian Knowledge was com-

menced many years ago. From its pleasant and salu-

briou-s situation, Ryton is a favom-ite summer resort, as

well as pennanent residence, for several persons connected

with the trade of Newcastle, who obtain easy and speedy

access by means of the Newcastle and Carlisle Railway.

The principal landed proprietors in Ryton are Lady

Kinlock, the Ven. Archdeacon Thorp, and Charles

Towuley, Joseph C. Lamb, Matthias W. Dimn, ' and

Joseph Cowen, Esqrs.

The manor of Ryton belongs to the see of Dui-ham,

under which the greater part of the lands are held by

lease or copy of court roll. According to Boldon Book,

" The men of Ryton held the vill on lease, with the

demesne, the assize rent, the mill and the service due

(from the villains), with a stock of one draught and two

harrows, and twenty chalder of oats of the bishop's

measiu'e, and the fisheries ; they pay foui-teen pounds

rent, make ladings like the men of Whickham, and,

jointly with Crawcrook, provide the carriage of one tim of

wine. The pundcr has five acres and the thraves like

other pundcrs, and renders thirty hens and 200 eggs.

The villains pay twenty-foui- hens and two hundred

eggs" Hatfield's Survey mentions three free tenements,

held by the rector of Ryton, Thomas Gategang, and

John Stepyng.

An inquisition, taken at Gateshead in 1344, states that

from time beyond the memory of man there existed a

fishery near Ryton called the Blncklough, with others

called Croimcdl, Qidc/iham (Whickham), Brawwater,

Rutyare, and Makijare (near Redhaugh), all west of

Tyne Bridge ; and to the east, Kirkyare, beneath the

bishop's manor of Gateshead, ToukruheU, Melperyare

under Gateshead Park, and Tuvmcater under Freregose.

The common belonging to the manor of Ryton was

very extensive, and its boundaries towards Chopwell

were the subject of litigation as early as 1562. A
division of Ryton Moor bears date September 16, 1638 ;

and the whole of the allotments are stated to be held of

the see by copy of court roll, imder id. an acre rent ; the

mines, of course, being reserved to the see, with the

usual clauses of compensation for damages to the tenant

of the soil in working. To the manor mill 20 acres

were allotted, to provide horses for fetching in corn.

Ryton, Broomfield, and High Hedgefield, were divided

in 1G69.

The Bar Moor, in the township of Ryton, and Wood-

side Green, in the township of Ryton Woodside, were

inclosed in 1825, under the powers of an act, passed in

1823 (see Winlaton) ; when 4 a. 2 r. 10 p. of Woodside

Green was allotted to the churchwardens and overseers

of the latter to^vuship, to be by them employed and

cultivated for the use of their poor, and in relief of the

rateable inhabitants. The Bar Moor was divided, ac-

cording to certain equitable proportions, amongst the

difierent proprietors of land in the parish. The Moor

House and Emma Villa have lately been erected on a

small and beautifully situated estate adjoining the moor,

piu'chased from Lord Ravensworth by Messrs. Potter,

Buddie, Hall, and Dunn. Mr. C. R. Simpson, the ma-

nager of the collieries belonging to this fii-m, occupies

the Moor House ; and the pitmen and mechanics reside

in the Villa.

In 1267, the Scottish champion, Wallace, burned the

village of Ryton ; the English army being, at the time,

much mismanaged. "WTien David, king of Scotland,

entered England in 1346 (see vol i., p. 52), St. Cuthbcrt

is said to have appeared to him in a vision at Ryton

;

and thus, " meeting him as it were at his boimdary fence,

warned oflF the trespasser from his sacred patrimony."

In 1640, Ryton was the scene of panic and confusion

when the Scottish troops forced the pass of the Tyne

(see vol. i., p. 74). " The parsons of Rye (Rji;on) and

of Whickham first rifled theu- own houses, and then fled,

leaving nothing but a few play-books and pamphlets

;

and one old cloake, with an old woman, being the only

living Christian in the townc ; the rest being fled."

THE CHURCH.

Ryton chm'ch stands at the western extremity of the

village, in a spacious cemetery, shaded by lofty elms.

The body of the building is in the early English style,

of about 1250; but it has undergone various mutilations

and alterations, which materially aflect it8_ primary
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character. It cousists of nave, with uniform side-aisles,

chancel, and square western tower, springing from

arches supported by heavy clustered pillars ; the tower

is sm-mouutcd by an octangular spire, covered with lead,

rising to the height of 108 feet, and forms a consjiicuous

and pleasing object for miles round. The chief entrance

to the church is by a south porch. Each aisle is formed

by two pillars, supporting pointed arches, the groins of

which are ornamented with sculptures of human heads.

The western pUlars are plain cyHnders; those to the

east octagonal. The width of the nave and aisles is 42

feet, and their length 78 feet. Both the side walls have

been rebuilt ; but though the windows are of later date

than the church, the general effect of its original compo-

sition is preserved. The sides of the triangular surface

formed by the gable of the nave are continued over the

aisles ; a peculiarity which gives the building an appear-

ance of great external width. The chancel is 30 feet

long by 21 wide, and is diWded from the nave by a

pointed arch, springing from corbels, and enclosed by a

screen of old oak, carved in open traceiy, roses, quatre-

foLls, and foliage; and as the chancel is raised by steps,

the appearance of the altar from the opposite extremity

of the church is striking and impressive. Amongst the

judicious alterations effected by the present rector, are

the lancet lights at the east end of the chancel, instead

of the square window which had pre^•io^lsly been intro-

duced there. The original pointed roof of the chancel

has been removed, which causes the arch of the nave to

appear in the external wall above the present flat roof.

A western gallery, "erected at the cost of Mr. Ambrose

Crowley and the Company of Smiths at Winlaton," has

been replaced by one of smaller dimensions, in which an

organ was placed in December, 1828. There are also

galleries above the aisles. The chancel is stalled with

oak, on which a dolphin embowed inter three crosses is

repeated, supposed to be the arms of the Rev. W. James,

rector of Ryton. The vestry, which consists of two

apartments, projects from the north side of the chancel,

and contains a Hbrary for the use of the parishioners,

established principally by the contributions of the rector.

The font, a large, ancient, stone basin, stands below the

tower ; and near it is a piJpit, where the funeral service

ifl read. The tower contains three good bells.

• Francis Bunney, born May 8, 1513, was a prebendary of Durham,
chaplain to the Earl of Bedford, a patron of Puritanism, and, as Wood
adds, " very zealous in the way be professed, a great admirer of Jo.

Calvin, a constant preacher, charitable, and a stiif enemy to Popery."

He left 50!. towards the repairs of Ryton church, which sum his ne-

phew, George Bunney of Newsham, seems to have disputed ; as the

following entry occura in Eyton parish books :
—" For writing a letter

A recumbent effigy of a Benedictine monk lies in the

chancel; the hands are elevated on the breast, and clasp-

ing a book, on the cover of which is a dove; the feet

rest on a lion. There are inscriptions in the chancel to

the memory of the Rev. Francis Bimney, rector,* and

his four sons; the Andersons and Simpsons of Bradley;

the Rev. John Lloyd, rector of Eyton ; and several re-

latives of the present incmnbent. On a small tablet

near the pulpit is a memorial to Matthias Dunn, who

died January 5, 1825, aged 75 years. An old stone

coffin, of the usual form, lies in the church-yard. Close

to the north wall of the burial-ground is a large tama-

lus, nearly 20 feet high, covered with trees, and sup-

posed to be of early British origin. Near this mount

are the vaults of the late Alderman Potter, of Newcastle,

and Mr. James Hall, of Greenside.

There was a chantry in Eyton church dedicated to

the Virgin. Its foundation is unknown. Ralph Eure,

the bishop's eschcator, in 1425, mentions "five shillings,

the rent of a messuage and eighteen acres, called St.

Mary's land, given by the lord of Crawcrook to St.

Mary's altar in Ryton church, ia mortmain without

license." On September 13, 1498, John Saunders, of

Ryton, granted a cottage, three acres and a plot of

ground, to William Clark and his successors, chaplain of

St. Mary's altar, for the perpetual maintenance of a light

before the image of the Virgin.

Registers.—Books Nos. 1 to 8 contain entries of bap-

tisms, burials, and marriages, from 1581 to 1812.

Ryton rectory; patron, the Bishop of Durham. King's

Books, 42/. 10d\ lOd.; Tenths, 4/. 5s. Id.; Episc. proc,

18s.; Archid. proc. 3s. Dedication of the church to

Holy Cross.

Kectoes.—Magister William de Marghe, 1254 ; Alan de Esyngwald,

1300; John de Botheby, 1312 ; Nich. Gategang, 1334 (chancellor to

Bishop Beaumont) ; Wm. de Olby, 1312, p. m. Gategang ; John de

WyudljTiburgh, 1378 ; Thos. de Gretham, 1383 ; John de Burgh, 1402

;

Rich. Moor, 1407; John de Nepotiis ; John Wynname, 11!)7 (he bound

himself to Bishop Fox in 100!. penalty, to observe continual and per-

sonal residence); Robt. DaveU, LL.D. (the. •' Mister Doctor Davelle"

of Leland) ; Anth. Salvayne, S.T.B., 1555, p. m. DaveU (pres. to Ryton

by Gerard Salvin of Croxdale, the elder and younger, patrons by patent

from Bishop TunstaU) ; Wm. Garnet, A.B.,+ 1558, p. res. Salvayne;

John Bold, S.T.P., 1577, p. m. Garnet (Nicholas Baldwyn had letters

of presentation 1576, but was never admitted) ; F. Bunney, A.M., 1578,

to Mr. George Bunny, vid. 1619 ; 8 Feb. 1621, a suite ordd against

George Bunny of Newsom, Gent., for 50i. given by Mr. Bunny the

parson towards the repairing the church."

+ About the year 1571, Mr. William Garnett, clerk, aged about 78

years, deposed that William Sander, on the 4th December, " being in

a great raidg and furye, dyd willinglye and maliciously smite at this

deponent with a water stall, suche as fishermen hangs thernetts upon,
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p. res. Bold ; Wm. James, A.M., 1617, p. m. Eunncy (vicar of Merring-

ton and prebeiulavy of the 12th stall) ; John Wold, an intruder (his

brother intruded uito Gateshead) ; Ea. ElaUiston, A.M., IGCO, p. m.

James ; Vim. Cave, S.T.P., I()7C, p. m. Blakiston ; MiUin Sorsby, 1079,

p. res. Cave ; Jas. Finney, S.T.P., 1700, p. m. Sorsby (prebendary of

the 3rd stall, and rector of Long-Newton^ : Thos. Seeker, A.M., 1727,

p, m. Finney (see vol. i., p. 255) ; Robt. StUlingfleet, A.M., 1733, p. res.

Seeker (see vol. i., p. 350) ; John Lloyd, A.M., 1738, p. res. StUlingfleet

;

John Rotherani, A.M., 1706, p. m. Lloyd; Hon. Rich. Byron, A.M.,

170y, p. res. Rotheram for Hoiighton-le-Spiiiig; Robert Thorp, D.D.,

1795, p. res. Byron for Haughton-le-Skeme ; Charles Thorp, D.D.,

1807, p. res. Thorp.'

In 1314, Bishop Kellaw pronounced a decree between

the hospital of Kepyer and the rector of Hyton, viz.,

that Hugh de Slontalt, master of the hospital, and his

successors, should continue to enjoy an annual composi-

tion of two marks, payable by the rector, in lieu of the

one moiety of tithe of corn of the bishop's demesne lands

within the whole parish of Ryton, and should, in consi-

deration of such annual pajanent and perception, cele-

brate solemn mass with Placebo and Dirige for the soul

of Bishop Anthony.

Bishop Fordbam granted license to Thomas de Gre-

tham, rector of Ryton, to carry an aqueduct from

Southwell through the bishop's ground to tlic rectory.

Bishop Skirlaw confirmed the grant to John Burgh,

Gretham's successor, in 1405.

At the general array of the clergy, on Gilesgate lloor,

in 1400, the rector was charged with one lance and three

archers, being rated in the same proportion with the

rectors of Whickham and Gateshead.

being towerds 2 yerds long, and that 2 sundiy times ; and therwith

hurt this deponent oil' the left armo, so thatsenc that tyme this exami-

nate culde never doo any thing therwith, ye, not so moch as help one

with his owne clothes." Also, that " yt was for tliiit this deponent re-

bouked hym for cuttingyoung eish wood in this examinato's own grounde,

called the Haull close." It was also deposed that this assault took

place in Ryton town street, in the presence of divers women standing

in Janet Smith's door and other places, and that Richard Robinson,

aged 60, " was then also smytten under fott with the said Sander, and

was so myerd and blynded, by reason of the said stroks, that he could

(not) se to decern or knowo what persons they were that cried and

sawe." William Sander, the accused, replied that " being at the out

syde of the hedge, he cutt i kidgells or houghells to luinge salmon

netts upon ;" and tliat being followed to his own door by the rector, his

man-servant, and Robinson, who tried to take the hcugliells from him,

he struck the latter down, but " is not certain whether he hitt the

said Mr. Garnett at any of his strokes iu his anger or nott, for he

strooke at the nearest iu that his anger."

• The Thorps are descended from Robert Thoi-pe, of Thorpe, near

Wellwyke, in Holderness, temp. King John. John Thorpe, Esq., of

Daiithorpe, was captain in a regiment of horse for Charles I., and his

son, John Thorp, was sheriff of York in 1689. His son, Michael

Tliiirpe, of Yarni, died in 1710, leaving a son, the Rev. Thomas Thorp,

A.M., bapt. Jan. 1, 1099, vicar of ChiJlingham and of Berwick, who

The rectory-house is on the south side of the church-

yard, sequestered amidst trees and gardens. It was
principally erected by Dr. Finney; but parts of the

offices are of a date considerably older, and may be re-

ferred to the time of Elizabeth. Both the house and
grounds have been much improved by the present rector.

Several antiquities, brought from the Eoman "Wall, and
described by Brand, are carefidly preserved at the par-

sonage. The gross annual income was stated in 1835 at

1,144/., subject to permanent payments amoimting to

188/. ; and out of the balance of 956/., 263/. was paid to

two cm-ates. The present net income is 986/. a year.

About the year 1830, jirchdeacon Thorp had the offer of

the living of Easington, which, although more lucrative

than Ryton, he declined to accept, preferring to retain

the latter living, and to give Winlaton, which at that

time was connected with it, to the Rev. Henry "Wardell,

the present rector of that place.

.An agreement was entered into between the Ecclesi-

astical Commissioners and the Rev. Charles Thorp,

archdeacon of Diu'ham, that all lands, tithes, and

hereditaments whatsoever, in the parish of Darlington,

belonging to the said Charles Thorp as said archdeacon

aforesaid, shall be absolutely vested in the Ecclesiastical

Commissioners, in consideration of the annual sum of

210/., viz., paid by the said Commissioners to Charles

Thorp, and his successors as archdeacons of Durham.

This arrangement, or scheme, was approved of by her

majesty in council, and gazetted July 1, 1856.

married Mary Eobson, of Egglescliffe, an heiress, and died December

12, 1707, leaving a son, the Yen. Robert Thorp, D.D., chajilain to tho

Earl of Taukerville, Fellow of Peterhouse, Cambridge, and archdeacon

of Northumberland, who mai'ried Grace, daughter of William Alder,

Esq., of Homcliffe, and by her (who died August 2, 181-1) had issue

four sons. He died April 20, 1812. His fourth son, the Ven. Charles

Thorp, D.D., F.R.S., rector of Ryton and archdeacon of Durham, was

born October 13, 1783, and married, first, Fi-ances-Wilkie, only child

of Henry Collingwocd Selby, Esq., of Swansfield, and, secondly, Mary,

daughter of Edmund Robinson, Esq., of Thorpe Green, Yorkshii-e, by

whom he has issue a son, Charles, boi'n in 1825, and five daughters.

Dr. Thorp is Fellow and Tutor of University College, Oxford, Warden

of Durham University, prebendary of the fourth stall, and one of tlia

trustees of Lord Crewe's charities.

AjiMS—Quarterly : Ist and 4th, per pale, arg. and or, within an orle

often fleurs-de-lis, az., a lion rampant, gu., gorged with a plain collar,

and pendent therefrom an escutcheon, of tho second, charged with a

cross-patee quadrate, of tho fourth, for Thorp ; 2nd and 3rd., az., a

chevron, erm., between three boars' heads, erased, arg., langued, gu.,

for Robson; an escutcheon of pretence, for Selby.

Crest—A Hon, rampant, gu., holding in tho dexter paw a fleur-de-lis,

az., gorged with a plain collar, and jjeudent therefrom an escutcheon,

as in the arms.

Motto—Super anfiquas vias.

Seat—Ryton,
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CHARITIES.

Ealj^h Harrison, by mil, March 26, 1687, amongst the

benefactions to Boldon and other places, gave 100/. to

the use of the poor of Ryton, Robert Siirtees, by wiU,

September 14, 1705, gave all his lands in the parishes

of A^Tiickham and Ryton to certain persons therein

named, they paying thereout 201. for the use of the poor

of Ryton quarter, the interest to be distributed by the

minister and churchwardens. Thomas Siwibk, by will,

December 31, 1718, gave to the poor of the constablerj^

of Ryton Woodside 20/., the interest to be distributed at

Christmas by the foiu'-and-twentj- of the parish. Ai/-

ihonij Surtces, who died about 1720, bequeathed to the use

of the poor of Chopwell quarter 50/., the interest to be dis-

tributed by the minister and four-and-twenty. In 1708,

Sir John Clmerimj left 50/., and Jane Grey 20/. The
amount of these legacies, 260/, was for several years in

the hands of the Ven. Charles Thorp, rector, who paid

interest at the rate of five per cent., which was distri-

buted annually on the 2.3rd December, with the produce

of other charities noticed below, in sums of 3s. or 4.s.

each, amongst the poor of the several townships; regard

being had to the places for which some of the bequests

were sjieciallj' made. The principal is now invested in

the public fimds.

John Simpson, who died in 1732, bequeathed to the

rector of Ryton and his successors 50/. for the use of the

poor parishioners. The interest of this simi, 21. 10s., is

paid by the agent of the proprietor of Bradley estate,

and distributed equally among 20 poor persons, every

23rd December.

John Simpson, j'lni., by deed in 1786, gave to the poor

of the parish a sum of money, producing 5/. per annum.

This sum is received from the agent above mentioned,

and distributed at Candlemas amongst about 20 widows
or aged persons.

Jane Forstcr, in her life-time, about 60 years ago, gave

to the rector of Ryton 100/., the interest to be distri-

buted to the poor of the township of Ryton Woodside.

The present rector, who received this sum from his pre-

decessor, added 5/. as interest to the above Christmas

distribution. Mrs. Simpson, of Purser's Close, Middle-

sex, left 30/., the interest to be distributed annually at

Easter-eve to six poor widows from the neighbourhood

of the Bradley estate. Both these sums are now invested

in the public funds.

Mrs. Cox, in 1826, invested 50/. in the new four per

cents., in the name of John Copeland Weatherley, Esq.,

(since dead) of Crawcrook, the interest to be distributed,

on the 23rd December yearly, to 40 poor widows of the

townships of Ryton, Ryton Woodside, and Crawcrook,

which has accordingly been done since 1827.

Walker Lairson, Esq., who died about 1804, left 100/.

three per cent, stock to the poor of Ryton and Ryton

"Woodside, and 60/. like stock for the better support of

Ryton school. The stock was transferred into the names

of Dr. Thorp, then rector, John Cox, and Barnabas Fen-

wick, Esq., at a vestry meeting held in 1804. In 1817,

the stock was sold out by the surviving trustee; and the

produce, 97/. 16.s. was lent to the parish, imder an en-

gagement that within three years 160/. three per cent,

consols should be purchased for the use of the poor and

schoolmasters. In October, 1829, the Commissioners

' for inquiring concerning Charities fomid that the stock

had not been replaced ; but the rector forthwith pur-

chased 160/. three per cent, consols, in the names of

himself and Humble Lamb and Robert Thorp, Esqrs.,

both land-owners in the parish, relying upon the pro-

mise of the parishioners for repayment at Easter, 1830.

The entire amount of this and preceding charities, 625/.

Is. 8o?., produces a dividend of 18/. 15s., of which, since

the division of the parish, 12/. 10s. 5c/. is appropriated to

Rji:on, and the remaining 6/. 4s. 7d. to Winlaton.

RYTON WOODSIDE.

This township lies to the south of that of Ryton, and

contains 2,802 acres. In 1851, there were 226 inhabited

houses and 6 miinhabitod. The population, as stated at

the successive returns, was 885, 838, 1,057, 951, 1,059,

and 1,1 33 ; 579 of the latter number being males and

554 females. The annual value of property assessed to

the coimty-rate in 1 853 was 3,050/. 15s. The constablery

contains twelve farms, thi'ee of which are in Greenside.

In 1592, Robert Hedworth died seised of his messuage

of Ryton Woodside, which passed, in 1691, to Heniy

Jenison, Esq., of Newcastle. In 1697, it had become

the property of Robert Surtees, Gent., of Ryton, but is

now divided into several distinct tenements held by copy

of court roll imder the see of Durham, a portion of glebe

belonging to the rectory, and some portions of free land.

Greenside is a village south of Ryton, and consists

principally of pitmen's cottages extending for nearly a

mile along the road. There are five public houses, with

a few mechanics and shopkeepers. A handsome chapel

of ease to Ryton is now in course of erection from de-

signs by Mr. John Henry, architect, of Bambrough. It

is in the decorated stjde, and consists of nave and chancel.
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a south porch, and western turret. The west window is

in four compartments, and the east one in three

:

the whole of the windows are filled with plate glass.

The chapel is erected on glebe land, and partly at the

expense of the Ven. Archdeacon Thorp.*

In 1781, a large house was converted into a place of

worship for the Methodists. A school-house was built by

subscription in 1813, at which some of the children are

educated gratuitously. Many of them also attend on

Sundays ; and there is a Sunday-school at the Methodist

chapel. A mechanics' institution was erected in May,

1848, at the expense of the late Alderman Potter, John

Buddie, M. W. Dunn, and T. Y. Hall, Esqrs., lessees of

Townley, Whitfield, and Stella freehold collieries. The

site was presented by the late George Silvertop, Esq., of

Minsteracres. The institution now consists of 40 male

and 4 female members, who possess a library of 427 vo-

lumes, and take in one daily and four weekly newspapers :

the subscription is Is. id. per quarter for adults, and 8d.

for apprentices and persons under 16 years of age.

At the Siairgafe coal-pit, near this place, an explosion

took place on May 30, 1830, when 37 men and boys were

killed. Messrs. Dunn were at that time owners ; but, in

1833, the leases expired, and the colliery, having been

laid in soon after the accident, was not resumed until

1840, when it was attached to the Hector's Glebe and

Stella Freehold Collieries by the present owners. There

is a landsale pit wrought contiguous to the vUlage,

which chiefly supplies the local trade.

Greenside was included in the forfeiture of John

Swinburne, E.sq., of Chopwe11, in 1570, and was

gfranted by Eishop Barnes to Cuthbert Carnaby, Esq.,

by copy of court-roll. The same bishop granted other

lands, between Ricklcy- fordo and Abbotford near Rick-

ley Hill, to Robert Dodd.

CRAWCROOK.

This township forms the western part of the parish of

Ryton, and contains 1,158 acres, of which 23 acres are

covered by tidal water. Its population, at the successive

returns, was 325, 268, 308, 340, 200, and 320 ; 164 of

the latter number being males and 156 females. There

were, in 1851, 64 inliabitcd houses and 2 uninhabited.

The annual value of property assessed to the county-rate

in 1853 was 2,090/. 18s. Id.

The Newcastle and Carlisle Railway has an extent of

• A tradition exists that tho spot now occupied by the new chapel at

GreenaiJo was tliat origiually intended for the parish chiirih, but that

all tiie stones laid down in the day-time for the purpose were spirited

VOL. II.

1 M. If. ]63y., and an area of 6 a. 2ii. 3 p. in this

township, and contributed to the local rates 17/. 14s. 2d.

in 1851, and 16/. 13s. Ad. in 1852. The gross amounts

collected in those years were 162/. 16s. 6^f/. and

149/. 4s. 2d.

The village of Crawcrook is about a mile west from

Ryton, and contains two public houses, four farm houses,

and two schools, one of which was endowed by the late

Miss Simpson, of Bradley, and the other was under the

patronage of her sister, the late Lady Ravensworth.

By Boldon Book, Crawcrook was on lease with the

villain service ; but, before Hatfield's Survey, it had

become a free manor, and Robert Horsley held half the

vill by knight's service and 10s., also a toft and 40 acres

called Bradley, by \d. rent, on St. Cuthbert's day in

September. In 1544, Margery, sister and heiress of

Roger Horsley, married Cuthbert Carnaby, of Haydon

Bridge, Northumberland, whose descendants sold the

estate in small parcels The other moiety of Crawcrook

was the property of Kepyer Hospital, and, after the

Dissolution, was distinguished by the name of Little

Kepyer. It was purchased of John Heath, Esq., by

John Watson, of Newcastle, in 1587, when it consisted

of "four messuages, a water-mill, four gardens, 200

acres of arable, as many of pasture, 140 of meadow, 40

acres of woodland, 200 of furze and heath, 300 of moor,

30 of marsh, a free fishery in the Tyne, and 27s. rent in

Little Kepyeare near Crawcroke." Parcels of land were

granted by John AYatson, and his son Thomas, to Delaval,

Sander, Jollie, Hauxby, and French. Catherine llauxby

intermarried with Robert Surtees, Gent., of Ryton, whose

descendants still possess property in Crawcrook.

In 1794, Crawcrook town fields, consisting of 700

acres, were divided by act of parliament. The coal-

mines and other minerals were reserved to such persons

as were entitled before the division, viz., Messrs. Whar-

ton, Surtees, Wcatherley, Lynn, and others. Messrs.

Weatherley and Lynn disposed of their interest, in 1826,

to Messrs. Lamb, Buddie, and T. Y. Hall, who, after

expending nearly 5,000/. in sinking pits in tho town

fields, were obliged to abandon the pursuit, in conse-

quence of doubts being raised as to whether the parties

who had let the remainder of the coal had a right to do

so without the consent of some others who made a claim

to a portion of the undivided coal.

Bradkij Ball is nearly a mile west from Crawcrook,

and is a neat modern house, sheltered by fine woods.

away during the night to the site of the present church, until the

buihhirs conceded tlio point to their ghostly opponents, and erecte.l

Eytoii churcli wliere it now stands.

5b
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The Horsleys held Bradley with Crawcrook * Before

1610, it had become the property of John I.yon, veho

was ruined by a crown extent, but whose son retained

possession in 1626. Shortly afterwards, it passed to Sir

Francis Anderson, Knt., of Jesmond, " a devoted loyalist,

and, on the ruin of the royal cause, became an object of

peculiar persecution to the successful party. He was

fined (1,200/.), sequestered, imprisoned, and stripped of

his title of knighthood, which fell within the list of

proscribed honours conferred after the 4th of Januar}-,

164:1, when Charles separated himself from his parlia-

ment." He was sheriff of Newcastle in 1641, mayor in

1662 and 1675, and M.P. for the town in 1G60-61 and

1678-9, in which last year he died. His son and suc-

cessor, Henry Anderson, Esq., of Bradley, in 1681

• In a book of proceedings, l&lil to 1571, the following depositions

occur in a case Waules against Browi-U:—" Matthew Wilde, of Win-

lerton. aged 30 years. He saith that, about Candlemas last, this exa-

minat goinge furthe of Newcastle frome mtrliett, with Richarde Flatt*-

and the said John Waules, this examinate, seinge George Browell, said

married Dorcas Matfen. Their daughter, Jane, married

John Simpson, of Newcastle, and, in her right, of Bi-adley.

John Simpson, their second son, married Anne, daughter

of liichard Clutterbuck, Esq., of Warkworth. He was

succeeded by his only son, John !?impson, Esq., of Brad-

ley, who married, July 12, 1768, Anne, daughter of

Thomas, Earl of Strathmore, and left three daugliters,

Anne, who died unmarried ; Maria-Susanna, the late

Lady Ravensworth ; and Frances-Eleanor, who married

John Dean Paid, Esq., a banker in London. The estate

was offered for sale in 1851, when it Avas described as a

first-class mansion, with suitable offices, gardens, and

pleasure grounds, and about 1,140 acres of land, in a

ring fence. John Walker, Esq., purchased the property

from Lord Ravensworth at the reputed price of 40,000/.

unto the Siii 1 Flatt and Waules. ' Yonder is he that would be lord of
|

Bradlye hall.' And the said Waules answered. ' Let hjm take vt whan

he can get it;' wliiche wordes the said Browell heringe, said unto the

said Waules, ' Such niaynswom harlotts as thou ai-t kepes me fnim it."

"

Richard Flatte, of Winlerton, butcher, confirmed Wilde's testimony.

PATvISII OF ST. TAUL, WINLATON.

The parish of Winlaton was constituted November 6, 1832, and included the whole of the townships of Winlaton

and Chopwell, previously forming the eastern and south-eastern portion of the parish of Ryton. It was bounded on

the north by the river Tyne, from Blaydon Burn foot to the confluence of the Tyne and the Darwent, a distance of
|

about a mile. The boundary on the cast is still the Darwent, extending for about 2 miles, between Axwell Park]

and Swalwell to Gibside Hall, whence it takes a westerly direction past the Smailes, Milkwell Burn, and the western i

part of the Crown Lands in Chopwell, and divides the new parish frcm Northumberland. The line proceeds in al

northern direction past Hedley Fell, dividing that place from the townships of Ryton and Chopwell to Bucksnook
]

estate,* belonging to A. Surtoes, Esq., of Newcastle. On the south, this is the boundary line which separates thei

parish of Winlaton from that of Ryton. On the formation of the chapelry district of Stella, August 8, 1845, the
\

northern portion of the township of Winlaton was added to it (see Stkli.a). Winlaton parish, thus reduced, con-

tained, in 1851, 757 inhabited houses, 13 uninhabited, and 7 building ; and the population was 4,171, consisting
i

of 2,151 males and 2,020 females.

WINLATON.

Thk township of Winlaton comprises an area of 5,111

acres, of which 82 acres are covered by tidal water. Its

population in 1801, was 3,021 ; in 1811,3,063; in 1821,

3,295; in 1831, 3,951; in 1841, 5,006; and in 18ol,

5,627, consisting of 2,900 males and 2,727 females.

There were, at the latter date, 985 inhabited houses,

18 uninhabited, and 16 building. The annual value of pro-

perty assessed to the county-rate in 1853 was 11,875/. 5-s.

• The late Ralph Lambton, Esq., of iMorton House, so celebrated as a

huntsmau in the neighbourhood, and who kept a pack of hounds at his

The Newcastle and Carlisle Railway passes over an

extent of 2 m., and covers an area of 25 a., Or., 19 p., in

this township. In 1851, it contributed 189/. 19.s. 2d.,

and in 1852, 173/. 15s. lOrf. to the local rates; the gross

amounts collected in those years being 2,074/. Os. 4Jrf.

and 1,908/. 2s. 9\d.

The town of Winlaton stands on a high, exposed ridge,

.sloping on the north, east, and south, to the rivers Tyne

and Darwent. The houses are generally irregularly built,

and apparently laid out witliout pi n; but the streets

own expense, was in the habit of visiting Bucksnook on the last day of

the season, for the purpose of killing his Way fox.
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are partially Macadamized. There is no record of its

existence as a village previous to the year 1690, when

Sir Ambrose Crowley commenced his establishment. Of

late years some improvement has been made in its ar-

rangements and appearance. In 1848, a number of the

working men purchased about four acres of ground, in

the healthiest part of the village, from the Hon. JI. T.

Liddcll, at a cost of 370/., exclusive of deeds. The plot

was parcelled out into eighteen allotments, neatly laid

out, on which several good houses have been erected ; it

is called Califoruia. Another field, in a different part of

the village, was purchased, in 1851, of W. B. Beaumont,

Esq., yi.V. ; it contains above three acres, and is laid out

in gardens by the workmen.

There are in the town a post-office, and a rural police

station, with a lock-up, previous to the erection of which

prisoners were taken by the police to Gateshead. The
town is supplied with gas from the works of Messrs.

Cowcn at Blaydon. Water of good quality is procured,

in considerable abundance, from a number of private

springs; and the water of the "old well," 1747, at the

north end of the town, is also good, though somewhat

hard. A large inn has recently been erected, with sta-

bling and other accommodation, previously much needed.

There are also fourteen public houses and beer-shops,

and a number of shops belonging to butchers, bakers,

grocers, and other tradespeople. Since the removal of

the establishment of Crowley, Millington, and Co., in

1810, the iron trade of the place has been successfully

carried on by a number of individuals. Nearly every

workman has a shop of his own, and receives from his

employers iron, and orders into what description of

goods it is to bo made. The "oddwareraen" and "job-

bing" smiths stand highest in the scale of skilled labour;

followed by the makers of patten-rings,* hinges, and

horse-nails. The making of common nails is considered

imskilled labour. The clinking of the hammers in the

various forges, and the heaps of ashes piled against their

exterior walls, form the leading characteristics of the

streets of Winlaton. The number of smiths, however,

is gradually decreasing, in consequence of the compara-

tive distance of this place from railway and water car-

riage ; and a great number of the inhabitants are now
pitmen, employed in the neighbouring collieries of

Blaydon Main and Blaydon Burn.

A subscription library was established at Winlaton

on July 19, 1819. It is supported by a subscription of

4s. annually, and now contains above 1,400 volumes.

• About 7,00:) patten rings were, a few years ago, maJe weekly, cal-

culated to esceed half the consumption of that article in Kugland.

A ilecluinics' Institute was established in 1847, and con-

sists of 30 members, though the numbers fluctuate. The
subscription is Is. Qd. per quarter ; and the library con-

tains from 90 to 100 volumes. A news-room is attached,

and a daily paper and several weekly ones, with other

periodicals, are taken in. Lectures are occasionally deli-

vered, and the annual soirees of the institution are held

in marquees, there not being a room in the village

available for public meetings. By these efforts, the in-

stitution has hitherto been made self-supporting.

There is a respectable school for young ladies in

Winlaton. The national school is held in a building

erected on the site of the old chapel in 18 IG, and is

attended by from about 100 to 140 children, who are

supplied with books and stationary gratis ; the expense

being partly defrayed by voluntary subscriptions, and by
a weekly payment from the children. The Primitive

Methodists have a free school in connection with their

chapel ; and there are Sunday-schools attached to the

various places of worship.

The character of the inhabitants of AVinlaton was for-

merly much influenced by the discipline imposed by Sir

Ambrose Crowley, and long afterwards continued by his

descendants. That influence, however, has long been

withdrawn; and the only bond of assimilation, of late

years, has been the identity of business pursuits amongst

the population. Politics have long engaged the at-

tention of the people, who, since the withdrawal of

the great firm, have taken the foremost place in the

north on the side of democratic progress, as was evinced

during the existence of the "Northern Political Union"

between 30 and 40 years ago, and the more recent agita-

tion of "Chartism." For upwards of 50 years, a band of

music has been supported in the town, and has main-

tained a fair share of reputation. The working classes

generally are an intelligent set of men. A recent writer

saj's, " They are, however, conscious of this superiority,

and it makes them a little egotistical. They are hospi-

table and kind to strangers ; and while the morality of

the bulk is not below that of their neighbours, the vil-

lagers generally have a singulai'ly unhappy reputation for

being great adepts at boxing, gaming, and general mis-

chief-making ; while as poachers, the neighbouring squire-

archy declare them to be unequalled in the kingdom."

THE CHURCH.

An old chapel at Winlaton, dcdicatel to Sfe. Ann, wa»

destroyed in the rebellion of the earls in 1569. In

June, 1704-5, the hall belonging to Sir William Slackett
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was Hcensed as a place of worship, when the workmen

chose a minister of their own, and contributed for his

siipport one half-farthing in the shilling from their

waf^es, which was augmented by 10/. per annmn from

the proprietors. A stipend of 50/. per annum was after-

wards fixed for the minister; and the above collection

became sufficient to yield about 20/. a year for a school-

master. In April, 1705, a subscription was commenced

for building a chapel, which was finished in the follow-

ing January, on the site of the chapel of St. Ann. It

was served by its own separate minister, but fell into

decay when the proprietors of the iron works withdrew

from Winlaton in 1816 ; and the national school-room

was erected on its site by subscription, aided by gifts

from the National and Diocesan School Societies, and

from Lord Crewe's trustees. Divine service was voluu-

taril}' performed in this room by the rector of Ryton and

his cui'ates.

The present church was intended for a chapel of ease

to Ryton. The first stone was laid July 9, 1S27, by the

Bishop of Durham, by whom the church and cemetery

were consecrated on the 9th September in the following

year. The building is from a Gothic design by I.

Bonomi, Esq., and cost 2,500/. It consists of nave,

side aisles, chancel, and square western tower. The

latter is embattled and adorned with corner spires : it

contains five bells ; on the tenor, which weighs 5 cwt.,

is inscribed

—

" This peal of five holls was presented to the church of St. Paul, by

Kobert Belt, Esq., Wiulaton, Anno Dom. 1828." On the reverse,

" Charles Thorjj, B.D., rector of Ej ton ; Henry Wardell, M..\., John

Seed, B..\., curates ; Robert Watson, Newcastle Tyne, founder."

On a tablet in the church porch is the following

inscription :

—

" This chapel was erected in 1829. It contains sittings for 800 per-

sons ; and, in consequence of a grant from the Society for enlarging

and building Churches and Chapels, 40O of that number are hereby

declared to be bee and unappropriated for ever.—Charles Thorp, rec-

tor. Henry Sanderson, John Fenwick, churchwardens."

The side aisles are each formed by three octagonal

pillars, supporting obtusely pointed arches ; and a similar

arch is over the chancel. The east window, which is in

five compartments, is filled with stained glass, represent-

ing our Saviour, the Evangelists, and other saints. The
M!Cond window of the south aisle, presented by John and

Philip Smith, contains illustrations of Noah and the ark

and of John the Baptist. The fourth window on the

name side was presented by Robert Belt, Esq., and con-

tains passages from the life of St. Paul. In the north

aisle, the most easterly window, dedicated to St. Bama-

I

bas, was presented by Mrs. Nixon of Barlow ; and the

j

second window contains a representation of St. Philip,

purchased by a subscription raised by the poor of the

parish. A spacious western gallery contains an organ,

which was purchased by subscription, and is capable of

being used either as a barrel or finger organ. The

reading desk is a pedestal, placed in front of the chancel

arch. The font is handsomely sculptured. A fine

painting of Christ taken down from the Cross, presented

by Charles J. Clavering, Esq., and which was formerly

placed over the altar, is now in the vestry. The floor

[

of the chancel and the altar are ornamented with needle

j

work, the gift of a party of ladies ; and emblazoned

texts of scripture are himg around the walls. The

church-yard is well inclosed, and adorned with trees.

At the time of the formation of the parish, November

6, 1832, the Rev. John Reed, A.B., officiated as curate.

The presentation to the Kving was vested in the Bishop

of Durham ; and the present rector, the Rev. Henry
Wardell, A.M., was appointed in 1833. The parsonage

adjoins the church-yard. The gross annual value of the

lining was stated in 1835 at 356/., subject to permanent

pajTnents amounting to 91/., leaving a net income of

265/. a year.

CHAPELS.

The JVetc Comiexion Methodists erected a small chapel in

Winlaton about the year 1832 ; at which time the Pri-

mitwe Jlefhoclwts and the Independents assembled in

private rooms, the latter under the pastorship of the late

I

Rev. Ralph Davison, previously of the Postern chapel,

Newcastle. Both these bodies, as well as the Wesleyan

Methodists, have now chapels in Winlaton ; but the

Independents have not at present any resident minister.

By Boldon Book, WjTilakton and Berlcy were on

lease with the demesne and the villain service, and with

the farm stock, under 15/. rent. The tenants in vil-

lenage also mowed the lord's meadows (each two days'

work with one man), and then received their corrody

;

and won and led the hay, one day's work. The marsh,

the meadow, and the wood were reserved to the lord.

The mill paid five maiks and a half

Ralph Neville, Chivalcr, who died in 1368, held the

manor by 20 marks exchequer rent. It continued in

possession of the Nevilles till July 19, 1569, when
Charles, Earl of Westmoreland, conveyed East and

West Winlaton, for 2,000/., to Richard Hodgson and

Thank you for purchasing from Ebay Shop Retromedia

http://stores.shop.ebay.co.uk/retromedia


PARISH OF WINLATON. 675

William Selby. Sir George Selby, son of the latter,

died in 1625, and left six daughters, his co-heiresses,

married to Belasyse, Delaval, Curwen, Conyers, Fen-

wick, and Delaval
;
yet his moiety of Winlaton seems

to have descended to his brother, Sir William Selby. In

1633, John Hodshon, Esq., and William Fenwick, Gent.,

had pardon for purchasing this moiety without license

from Sir William Sclbie, Knt., and William Selbie, Esq.

;

but this alienation was probably on trust, as Sir George

Selby of Whitehouse (created a baronet 1644) is some-

times styled of Winlaton. Of the moiety held by the

Hodgsons, three-eighths were acquired by George Hodg-

son, Gent., in 1631. Alice, daughter and co-heiress of

William Hodgson, Esq., described as of Winlaton in

1661, became the wife of Sir Thomas Tempest, of Stella,

whose representatives afterwards held a portion of the

manor. The Andersons of Newcastle also held part of

the estate. The present proprietors are, Charles Town-

ley, Esq. (as representative ol Widdriagton and Tem-

pest) ; Lord Ravensworth (derived from the late Miss

Anne Simpson, of Bradle)^) ; and the representatives of

the Earl of Strathmore. The owners of houses in Win-

laton pay a small ground-rent ; and though no lease or

other security is granted them, yet the fullest confidence

is placed in the holders of the manor honourably adher-

ing to ancient custfim. About the year 1830, the late

T. W. Beaumont, Esq., then owner of 24-9Gths, offered

his part of the manor for sale, on certain equitable

conditions, which were readilj' accepted by persons who

occupied portions of his property ; and about fifty free-

holders were created by the sale.

Wiiilaion Cottage is a commodioiLS house near the

village, the property of Robert Belt, Esq., adjoining to

which is Ladj/well bleach-field. Danvent Villa, a plea-

santly situated mansion, in the Elizabethan style of

architecture, is the residence and property of George

Hepple Ramsay, Esq., J.P.

• In the Spectator, No. 299, February 12, 1712, Sir Ambrose is ridi-

culed under the soubriquet of Sir John 4nvil. He is described as "a
person of no extraction, who began the world with a small parcel of

rusty iron." " Having a very happy genius for making money, he was

knighted in his .35lh year ; and being bent upon making a family, with

a dash of good blot)d in their veins, married an indigent young woman
of fasliiiin, wlio changed liis name to Enville, and confined him to the

cockloft when she had visitors of quality." " She had no portion, but

what she wanted in fortune, she made up in spirits." Anvil's new
relatives gave him the " cold shoulder" at first, but ultimately became

so "well reconciled, that they dined with him almost every day, and

borrowed considerable simis of him, which his Lady Mary often tivitted

him with, when she would shew him how kind her relations were to

him." " She turned off a parcel of very careful servants, who had long

been with him, and introduced in their stead a couple of black.a-moors,

Sir Ambrose Crowley.—The name of this honest,

worthy, and enterprising man has long been associated

with the town and staple manufacture of Winlaton.

The only circxmistance known of his early life is the

tradition that the sign of '' The Doublet," at his esta-

blishment in Thames Street, London, was a picture of the

identical leather jerkin in which he worked when a

common smith.* He was knighted at St. James' on

January 1, 1706, was sheriff of London in 1707, and

died in 1713, being then one of the aldermen for that

city, and M. P. for Andover. He married Mary, daughter

and co-heiress of Charles Owen, Gent., of London (fifth

son of Sir William Owen, of Cimdover, Shropshire), by

whom he had one son and five daughters. John Crowley,

Esq., the son, born 1689, married Theodosia, daughter

of the Rev. Joseph Gascoigne, S.T.P., vicar of Enfield,

Middlesex, and by her had issue John and Ambrose,

who died without issue, and four daughters, Mary,

second wife to Sir William Stanhope, K.B. ; Elizabeth,

married to John second Earl of Ashburnham ; Theodosia,

to Charles Boone, Esq., M.P. for Castle Rising ; and a

posthumous daughter, who died imder age. Theodosia,

widow of John Crowley, Esq., died May 7, 1782, aged

88 years, and devised the bulk of her property to the

Earl of Ashburnham, her son-in-law, and to George

Viscount St. Asaph, his only son, and the Ladies Hen-

rietta, Jemima, Elizabeth, and Theodosia, his daughters,

then her only surviving grandchildren.

Sir Ambrose Crowley first fixed upon Sunderland as

an eligible situation for his projected mantifactory in the

north ; but after an experience of five or six years, he

transplanted his colony of smiths to the district between

Tyne and Darwent, a cheaper country, and abounding

with coal. This was about the j^ear 1690, when the

village is described as consisting of " a few deserted

cottages." In the following year, AVinlaton corn-miU

was converted into an iron forge and grinding wheel

;

and three or four very genteel fellows in laced liveries, besides her

French woman, who was perpetually making a noise in the house, in a

language which nobody understood except 'my Lady Mary. She

thought herself his superior in sense as much as she was in quality,

and tliereforc tieated him like a plain well-meaning man, who did not

Imow the world. She even dictated to him in his own business, set

him riglit in points of trade, and if he disagreed with her about any of

the ships at sea, wondered that he would dispute with her, when he

knew very well that her great-grandfather was a ttag-olficer." " In

short, he was so much out of his natural element, that to recover his

old way of life, ho would be very content to begin the world again, and

be plain Jack Anvil." This exaggerated description, irreconcUeablo as

it is with the well-known good sense and steady perseverance of Sir

Ambrose, was, no doubt, intended as a personal satire upon him by the

,
writer of the paper.
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and the works for manufacturing the heaviest articles

were soon after extended to Swalwell. At these works,

every description of iron manufucturc, " frev a needle

tiv an anchor," was soon carried on. The following

advertisement from the Pov< Boy, No. 510 (publislied

about the year 1697 or 1699), gives a detailed account

of the articles Mr. Crowley dealt in at the commence-

ment of his bold enterprise :

—

"Mr. Crowley at Ibe Doublet in Thames Street. London, iron-

monger, (loth hereby give Notice, that at his Works, at Wiiilaton, near

Newcastle upon Tyne. any gooil Workman that can make the following

Goods, sliall have constant Imployuient, and their W.iges every week

punctu.illy paid, (viz.) Augers, Bed-screws, Box and Sad-Irons, Chains,

Edge-Tools, Files, Hammers, Hinges. Hows for the [slave] I'lanta-

tions. Locks, especially Ho-locks, NaUs, Patten Kings, and almost all

other sorts of Smiths' Ware."

Ha\-ing fully established his useful and extensive

manufactory, Sir Ambrose Crowley, with great good

sense and benevolence, instituted a code of laws for the

government of his colony, and which was afterwards

altered and improved as cases and exigencies required.

A court of arbitrators was appointed to put these laws

into execution, who met in Winlaton every ten weeks,

to hear and determine disputes among the workmen.

The fees were fixed at a moderate rate. This institution

had the happiest effect in reconciling differences, ad-

ministering justice expeditiously, and rendering unne-

ces.sary the more vexatious and onerous proceedings of

the common law. Schools were also established for the

instruction of the workmen's children. A surgeon was

appointed to attend the whole body. When any work-

man was ill, he had money advanced ; when superannuated

or disabled, he had a weekly maintenance ; and at his

death his family were provided for.

The works of Sir Ambrose Crowley were purchased

from his descendants by Mr. Milluigton, whose son,

Crowley Millington, became head of the firm, which was

subsequently carried on under the name of Crowley,

Millington, and Co. In the year 1816, the establishment

was removed from AVinlaton. From that time till lately,

the greater portion of Jlessrs. Crowley's goods, sent from

the north, were made at SwalwcU and Winlaton ilill.

Now, however, they have withdrawn from SwalwcU also,

and their operations are confined to Winlaton Jlill and

the Teams. The inhabitants of "V\''inlaton, having lived

for above 125 years under the fostering care of " the

Factory," (as it was familiarly called,) were thrown into

considerable confusion at its removal. Some of the more

enterprising left the village, and settled in Sheffield,

Rotherham, and other parts of the country. Others,

however, remained in Winlaton, and, as independent

emploj'ers, have preserved and extended that trade which

Sir Ambrose founded nearly 200 years ago.

! ^

WixLATON' Mill, above mentioned, is a hamlet,

inhabited chiefly by workmen employed in the iron

manufactoiy of Crowley, Millington, and Co.

Darwent Haugh, a hamlet in Winlaton township,

about 5 miles west of Gateshead, is seated on the banks

of the Tyne, near its junction with the Darwent. There

are a coal-staith and cinder ovens, belonging to the repre-

sentatives of the Marquis of Bute ; also various works

' carried on by Mr. G. H. Ramsay, consisting of sal-am-

moniac, flint and colours for potteries, bone-ashes, bone-

manure, and fire-bricks. The clay for the latter is

I

mostly procured from Blaydon Main CoUierij, belonging

to jMr. Ramsay. Brick works, a steel forge, and a malt-

ing, are also the property of the Ramsays. A part of the

village of Swalwell, on the west side of the Darwent, is

included in Winlaton township.

j

AxwELL.

—

Axiccll Park, the beautiful modern mansion

of the Claverings, was built by Sir Thomas Clavering,

from a chaste and elegant design by Pa^Tie. It stands

open, but not unsheltered, in the midst of a soft wooded

park, which slopes gently eastward and southward to the

Darwent, and is diversified by beautiful swells and undu-

lations of ground. The southern view overlooks the

rich enclosures and hanging woods of Gibside ; and the

j

east front commands a prospect of the Darwent, part of

the vale of Tyne, the shipping at Newcastle Quay, and

the heights of Gateshead. Some very valuable pictures

by the old masters were collected by the Claverings

;

amongst which may be enumerated thoRaisingof Lazarus

and the Inauguration of a Bishop, by Paul Veronese

;

the Holy Trinity, by Caracci ; the Passover, by Le Seur

;

[

Bcntivoglio, by Titian ; Interior of a Cathedral, by
Neep and Tenier ; Sacking a Village, b)' Vander Malin

;

Skating, by Bout ; and several portraits. For some

time, Axwell Park was occupied by Charles-John

Clavering, Esq., son of General Sir John Clavering, of

Ridlamhope, Northumberland : but it has been for some

years the residence of Joseph Lamb, Esq., a gentleman

well known in the district as an intelligent and spirited

coal proprietor.

In 1362, the manor of Axwell was held of the see

of Durham by William de Birtley at 13.9. 4rf. rent.

,
Under Hatfield's Survey, it was held by the heirs of

Hugh del Redheugh by knight service and 15s. 4d.

Thomas del Redheugh, about 1411, alienated the manor

;

to Roger Thornton, whose heiress carried it to the

i
Lumleya. In 1574, it was purchased by Matthew Ogle,
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whose descendant, in 1580, granted to William Shafto,
[

of Tunficld, and to IJowland !>hat'to, two fourth parts of

the manor ; and, in 1 604, the remainder passed to Roger

Lumley, Gent. In IGJ9, the whole was re-united by

purchase in John < 'layering, alderman of Newcastle.

The family of Clavering derive their descent in the

male lino from Charlemagne. The original family name

is ])e Burgh, which was resumed by the Marquis of

Clanricarde in 1752. Eustace de Burgh a noble Norman,

had two sons, who came over with William the Con-

queror. Serlo, who built Knarcsborough Castle, died

without issue ; but his brother, Joannes, had three sons,

whose descendants became connected with the noblest

houses in l''ngland. One branch of the famil}' became

barons of Warkworth, of whom Eustace de Vcscy was

one of the competitors for tlie crown of Scotland. The

surname of Clavering was given by King Edward I.,

from Clavering in Essex, which was the chief estate of

Robert Fitz-Roger, Lord Clavering, Baron of Warkworth

and Clavering. Robert Clavering, son and heir of John

Clavering and Elizabeth Fenwick, married Ann, daughter

of Sir Thomas Grej', of Hortou Castle, Northumberland,

from wliich last are descended the family of Clavering

of Axwell Park.

James, son of Robert Clavering and Ann Grey, was

sheriff of Newcastle in 1599, and mayor in 1607 and

1618. His son, John Clavering, Fsq., of Axwell, also

served the offices of sheriff and mayor of Newcastle. He
married Ann, daughter of Robert Shafto, alderman of

Newcastle, widow of Robert Tempest, and died in 1648.

His eldest son, James CI ivering, married Jane, daughter

and heiress of Charles Maddison, Esq., of Saltwellside,

and was created a baronet June 5, 1661. His grandson,

James Clavering, succeeded to the title in 1702 ; and, at

his death in 1707, his brother, John Clavering, became

the f/iin/ baronet. He died in 1714, and was succeeded

by his son, >Sir James Clavering, baptized August 3,

1708, and died May 18, 1726. The title next devolved

on his uncle, Francis Clavering, who died without issue

in 1738, and was succeeded by his cousin, Sir James,

sixt/i baronet. He died May 12, 1748, and by his first

wife, Catherine, daughter of Thomas York, Esq., of

Riclimond, left issue, 1, Sir Thomas Clavering, sereiifh

baronet, baptized June 19. 1718, M.P. for Shaftsbury in

1754, and for the county of Durham in 1768, 1774, 1780,

and 1784. He married JIartha, daughter of Joshua

Douglass, of Newcastle, and died without issue October

14 1794. 2, George Clavering, Esq., of Greencroft,

who by Mary, daughter of the Rev. Mr. Palmer, of

Comb Rawleigh, Devonshire, and relict of Sir John

Home, Bart., left a son, eighth b:ironet. 3, Sir John

Clavering, K.B., major-general in the array, commander-

in-chief in the East Indies, governor of Berwick, and

colonel of the 52nd foot, died at Calcutta, August 30,

1777, aged 55. Sir Thomas-John Clavering, of Axwell

Park, son of George Clavering and Mary Palmer, bom
April (i, 1771, married, August 21, 1791, Clara, daugh-

ter of John do Gallais, Count de la Sable, of Anjou, by
whom he had issue, William-Aloysius, born January 21,

1800 ; Clara-Anna-Martha, married, February 8, 1826,

to General Baron de Knyff, of Brussels ; and Agatha-

Catherine, married, February 12, 1821, to the Baron de

Montfaucon, of Avignon. In 1798, >ir T. J. Clavering

raised, at his own expense, a troop of yeomanry. He
died in 1855. In consequence of certain clauses in the

will of George Clavering, father of the baronet, dated

J nuary 9, 1793, to the effect that his descendants were

not to reside permanently out of the United Kingdom,

nor to embrace the Roman Catholic religion, both of

which conditions are alleged to have been disregarded, a

bill has been filed in Chancery, " Clavering v. Ellison,"

which came before Vice-chancellor Sir R. T. Kindcrsley,

December 11, 1855. After council had been heard on

each side, however, the Vice-chancellor said he thought

the case so important, from the nature of it, that he

should reserve his decision for the present.

Arms—Quarterly : or and gu., a bend, ha.

Crest—Out of a ducal coronet, or. a demilion, issuant, az.

Seats—Axwell Park and Greencroft.

Old AxKcll lies to the south of the Darwent, where a

part of the old manor house and offices are standing, a

little to the west of Clockburn Lane. h'/iifc/ioiisc, half

a mile to the west, was formerly a seat of the Selbys, and

afterwards occupied by the Claverings.

Baulow (formerly Berley) is a hamlet in Winlaton

fownsliip, containing three farmholds, three public houses,

and a small Methodist chapel. It is principally sup-

ported by the neiglibouring colliery of Garcsfield.

Gaicxfiold Collirri/ was commenced in the year 1800 by

the late Marquis of Bute and Miss Simpson of Bradley.

The depth of the shaft is 25 fathoms, and there is also a

day level at the eastern part of the workings. The

royalty is partly in Winlaton lordship and partly in

Chopwell royalty ; and the seams worked are the stono

coal, the five-quarter, and the Brockweil, the last being

the lowest in the Newcastle coal field. The average

thickness is 33 inches. The coal is peculiarly adajjted

for making the best coke for iron manufactures.

In 1823, an act was passed for dividing and inclosing

Barlow Fell, Bcda Hills, Blaydon Green, and the other
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waste lands in the manor and township of "VYinlaton.

The preamble says, " And whereas Peregrine Edward

Townley, Esquire, Thomas Richard Beaumont, Esquire,

and Diana his wife, Ann Simpson, spinster, the Most

Honourable John Crichton, ^larquis of Bute, the Most

Honourable Francis Charles, Marquis of Hertford, Mary,

Dowager Countess of Strathmore, Henry Jadis, Esquire,

the Reverend James Blackburn, clerk, James Farrer,

Esquire, James Dundas, Esquire, James Farrer Steadman,

Esquire, and Sir John Dean Paul, Baronet, (the said

Mary, Countess of Strathmore, Henry Jadis, James

Blackburn, James Farrer, James Dundas, James Farrer

Steadman, and Sir John Dean Paul, as the trustees of

the last will and testament of the late Right Honourable

John, Earl of Strathmore deceased,) and William Morton

Pitt, Esquire, are lords and ladies of the said manor of

Winlaton, otherwise Winlington, and as such are seised

or entitled to the soil, seignories, and royalties of the said

commons, moors, or tracts of waste ground called Barlow

Fell, Beda Hills, and the wastes of the manors of Win-

laton, otherwise Winlington (except the mines, quarries,

and minerals within and under the same), as tenants in

common in the shares and proportions following ; that

is to say, the said Peregrine Edward Townley is entitled

to three undivided eighth parts thereof, the said Thomas

Richard Beaumont and Diana his wife to two other

undidded eighth parts thereof, the said Ann Simpson to

two other undivided eighth parts thereof, the said Ann
Simpson, the said Marquis of Bute, the said ]\Iarquis of

Hertford, and the said Mary, Dowager Countess of

Strathmore, Henry Jadis, James Blackburn, James

Farrer, James Dundas, James Farrer Steadman, and Sir

John Dean Paul (as such trustees as aforesaid), and the

said William Morton Pitt, to the remaining one imdi-

vided eighth part thereof, in certain shares, as tenants

in common." Mr. Thomas Bell, of Newcastle, was the

sole commissioner, and made his award June 26, 1829.

The lands divided, exclusive of that portion allotted for

roads, quarries, wells, watering places, &c., were declared

by this award to contain 394 a. 1 r. 13 p. ; of which

3 R. 36 p. was allotted to the rector of Ryton, for a

church-yard or cemeterj^ for the use of the township of

Winlaton, and on which Winlaton chapel was after-

wards erected. Mr. and Mrs. Beaumont obtained by

exchange the messuages standing upon the Fell.

CHOPWELL.

Tire area of this township of 3,150 acres. Its population

at the successive returns, was 346, 291, 237, 254, 320,

and 458 ; 224 of the latter number being males and 234

females. There were 78 inhabited houses in 1851. In

1853, the property was assessed to the county-rate at

2,090/. 18.S. Id. per annum.

The hamlet of Chopwcll is 11 miles west-south-west

from Newcastle. Chopwcll Hall is merely a farm house.

The estate was given to Newminster Abbey by Bishop

Pudsey, in exchange for Wolsingham. The Swinbums

were tenants under the abbey ; and it is supposed they

obtained the fee simple from the crowa or its grantees

after the Dissolution. John Swinburne, Esq., was en-

gaged in the rebellion of 1569, fled under attainder to

Famiherst in Scotland, escaped thence into Flanders,

was afterwards a pensioner at Madrid, and probably died

in exile. Chopwell was granted by the queen to Sir

Robert Constable, of Flamborough, in recompense of hia

base services as a spy and informer (see vol. i., p. 430,

and vol. ii., p. 102). Sii- William, son and heir of Sir

Robert, sold the manor to Anthony Aucher, who imme-

diately conveyed to Ambrose Dudley, alderman of New-
castle. Toby Dudley, Esq., son and heir of Ambrose,

left an only daughter, Jane, wife of Robert Clavering, a

younger brother of the first Sir James Clavering, of

Axwcll. The estate afterwards passed by marriage to

William Earl Cowper, Lord Chancellor, who sold Chop-

well Hall, Hersgate, and Broomfield House, to Dr.

Thorp, rector of Ryton, and his son, Robert Thorp, Esq.

West Chopwell and Greenhead were purchased by Mr.

John Taylor, of Swalwell ; Leadgate and Ravenside by

Anthony Surtees, Esq., of Hamsterley ; and other parts

by William Surtees, Esq., Sir. Miller, and Mr. Robert

Waugh. The coal-mines were reserved by Earl Cowper.

Crown Lands.—John Lyon, Esq., of Bradley, receiver

of the revenues, having become a defaulter to the crown

in the reign of James I., an extent was issued against

his estate in Chopwell, " the East Wood, Moor Close,

Deane, and the Carres." This land, which is stiU held

by the crown, is of considerable extent ; and 896 acres

of it have been appropriated to the growth of oak timber.

For many years, this large tract has been almost unpro-

fitable to the coimtry. During the 13 years ending

1826, an average gross annual sum of 687/. was received

;

in the following five years, it fell to 343/- ; in the next

five years, it rose to 764/. ; in the next five years, during

one of which, 1839, 40,000 trees were blown down, and

a large quantity thus forced into the market, it amounted

to 1 ,282/. ; and in the following six years it had fallen

to 512/. The net income in 1848-9 was 75/. ; in 1849-50,

105/. ; in 1850-51, 237/. ; and in 1851-2, 300/. In

August, 1851, 7,600 oak flittem trees and poles were

sold by auction, 5,551 larch, ash, beech, elm, and chesnut
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flittem trees and poles, and 39 tons of oak flittern bark.

No timber for naval or other purposes has ever been

obtained by the government from Chopwell. Of the

entire forest, 779 acres were so thickly crowded, and

had been so badly managed during the 30 years preced-

ing 1849, that the crop of wood could not be recovered

b}"- any management thatmight be adopted. The average

receipts from the forest being little more than 4s. per

acre, a recommendation was made that the whole should

be cut down, and the land planted with larch alone, which

was adopted by the commissioners of woods and forests.

This course will materially interfere with the beauty of

the district, but appears requisite to prevent a continued

national loss. In August, 1856, there were 17,754

flittem and sapling trees, lying for sale, which had

been felled during the preceding summer.

Almonside, commonly called the Guards, is the pro-

perty of Anthony Surtees, Esq., of Hamsterley HaU.

There is a brick and tile manufactory on the estate.

Mukergate is the propertj^ of James Hutchinson, Esq.,

by whom the house was erected.

Blackhall.—This place is situated on the Darwent,

and became the residence of a nimiber of steel manufac-

turers, emigrants from Germany ; but the colony is now

extinct, and the works have been destroyed by floods in

the Darwent. A paper-miU, formerly carried on here,

has long been discontinued. When tlic Dudleys pur-

chased Chopwell, Blackhall was hold mider the crown

grantees by the Rutherfords. In 1615, a feud arose

between the two families ; and " John Eotherforth,

otherwise Rudderford, Gent., of Wrensnest, Charles

Eotherforth, of the Black Hall, Hugh and Gawen Ro-

therforth, and "William Shafto, were outlawed for forcibly

entering into the manor of Chopwell, with intention to

kill and slay Ambrose Dudley, Esq., George Gifibrd, and

others, at a place called Westwood ; in which affray,

William Shafto struck the said George Gifford a mortal

wound in the thigh (of which he soon died) with an iron

lance." On the flight of the Rutherfords, the bishop,

April 15, 1615, granted their interest in Blackhall to Sir

Philip Constable Knt., of Everingham, who immedi-

ately conveyed to William Carr of Cocken. It appears,

however, that Charles Rotherford, who had married

Margaret, daughter of Thomas Swinburu, of Capheaton,

afterwards returned to his residence, where he died un-

molested. Blackball subsequently passed to the family

of Surtees.

CHAPELRY DISTRICT OF STELLA.

The district of St. Cuthbert, Stella, consists of all that part of the parish of Ryton comprised within the township

of Stella, and all that part of the township of Winlaton, in the parish of Winlaton, situate on the northern side of

an imaginary line commencing at a point at the southern angle of the said township of Stella, near Haggerston s

mill ; and thence extending eastward, and partly towards the north-east, along the middle of the Mill-lane, and of

Nipper's Wood-lane, and Winlaton West-lane, as far as the middle of the public road leading from Wnilaton to

Blaydon ; and tlience towards the north-east, along the middle of such last-mentioned road, as far as the middle of

the Blaydon Main colliery waggon-way ; and thence, in the same direction, along the middle of such waggon-way,

as far as the middle of the Hexham south turnpike road ; and thence towards the south-east, along the middle of

such last-mentioned road, to a point opposite to the angle formed by the boundary wall of Axwell Park, near a

certain house or cottage, now occupied by colliery workmen in the employ of George Heppio Ramsay, Esq., and

being the most northern of a group sometimes Itaown by the name of the " Old Engine Cottages ;" and thence

first towards the south-west, along such boundary wall, to the lodge at the eastern angle of the said park, near the

river Darwent ; and thence eastward in a straight line with the southern corner of the Darwent bridge toU-bar

house, across the said river, as far as the middle of the Hexham south turnpike road aforesaid ;
and thence towards

the south-east, along the middle of such last-mentioned road, as far as the ancient boundary between the said

parish of Winlaton and the parish of Whiclcham.

This district was formed by order in council, Jime 30,

1845, and gazetted on the 8th of August following.

Its entire population, in 1851, was 2,479, of whom
VOL. II.

1,245 were males and 1,234 females; and there were

385 inhabited houses, 5 uninhabited, and 9 building.

Since that time, the population has much increased.

5c
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STELLA.

The township of Stella contains an area of 319 acres, of

which 48 acres are covered with tidal water. Its popu-

lation, at the successive periods of return, was 314, 385,

421, 482, 563, and 565 ; 272 of the latter number being

males and 293 females. There were, at the latter date,

79 inhabited houses. The annual value of property

assessed to the county-rate in 1853 was 1,331/. 2s. -id.

The Newcastle and Carlisle Railway has an extent of

1 M., and an area of 7 a. 1 r. 30 p. in this township, to-

wards the local rates of which it contributed, in each of

the years 1851 and 1852, 30/. 16.s, 8d. The gross

amount collected in 1851 was 210/. 18s. 5jrf., and in

1852, 212/. 4s. 5d.

The village of Stella, 5 miles west of Newcastle, is

situated on the side of a brook, which separates it from

Blaydon. It has remained without extension for several

years, as, by the nature of the tenure, no encouragement

is given to the erection of houses or cottages. The

Townley Maiu and Blaydon Burn collieries have coal-

staiths ; there is a forge belonging to Messrs. R. J. and

R. Laycock, a brewery belonging to Messrs. Parker and

Co., and two public houses.

Stella Sail, erected by the Tempests, is a magnificent

old gavel-ended house, standing almost close to the river,

and situated in a small but beautiful park, which is

pleasingly diversified by rising grounds and clumps of

trees. The interior of the house exhibits various proofs

of the state and hospitality of its ancient proprietors,

including some curious pictures and relics of former

times. The north front overlooks Stella Saitgh, which

is intersected by arms of the Tyne. The hall is now the

residence of J. D. Lambton, Esq.

Roman Catholic Chapel.—The Roman Catholics, who

have always been a numerous body in and around Stella,

for many years conducted their worship in a chapel

attached to the Hall ; but it becoming too small for the

congregation, a new one was erected in 1831, at the west

end of the village. Arrangements had been made for

this purpose by the Rev. Thomas Eyre (the first presi-

dent of Ushaw College) when chaplain at Stella, who
obtained a grant of 500/. from the Right Hon. Lady

Mary Eyre, fifth daughter of Charlotte, Countess of

;

Newbrough, who died August 27, 1798. The interest of

this sum had increased the amount to 950/. ; and George

Silvertop, Esq., of Minsteracrcs, subscribed 100/. ; George

Dimn, Esq., of Newcastle, and his family, 230/. ; Mrs.

Dunn, of Stella Hall, 100/. ; Mr. W. DuAn, of Hedge-

field House, 50/., and Mrs. Dunn, 10/. ; the Rev. Wil-

'

Ham Hall, 50/. ; besides a number of small sums from

liberal Protestant gentlemen in the immediate neigh-

bourhood. The estimated expense was 1,500/. The

chapel is a neat Gothic structure, with buttresses and

narrow lights, after a design furnished by Mr. Green,

architect. It is 68 feet long, and 33i feet broad ; the

interior is plain, and will contain above 300 persons.

The altar stands imder an arch at the extremity ; and

the chapel contains a small but good organ. The tower,

which is 50 feet in height to the top of the cross, and

ornamented with a turret, is partly occupied by a library,

and partly as a residence by the chaplain, the Rev.

Ralph Piatt. Near the chapel are a coach-house and

stabling, for the use of such persons as reside at a dis-

tance. The first burial-groimd attached to the chapel

having become crowded, another has been formed on the

opposite side of the building, and contains several hand-

some monuments.

There are good schools in connection with the chapel

;

and new buildings have recently been erected for the

accommodation of the increased number of children.

They contain two schools, each 30 feet long by 17 broad,

with a class-room attached to each, 16 feet by 12. The

centre of the structure is surmounted by a turret, con-

taining a clock. The windows are under pointed arches,

and a portion of that to the east is filled with stained

glass. The desks are in groups, appropriated to each

class. The schools are under government inspection, and,

in 1853, received grants from the Committee of CoimcU

on Education for pupil teachers and books, since which

time the master has received a certificate of merit. At
the \isit of Scott Nasmyth Stokes, Esq., inspector, August

18, 1853, there were 44 boys present at examination,

which was the average attendance. There were 51 gii-ls

present, 16 had left during the preceding twelve months,

13 had been admitted, and the average attendance was

48. The present attendance is nearly similar.

Hedgefield House is a handsome residence to the west of

Stella, and belongs to William Matthias Dunn, Esq.

Between 1143 and 1149, Bishop William de St. Bar-

bara, by charter, granted Stella entii-e to St. Bartholomew

and the nuns of Newcastle. In Boldon Book, SteUins-

leye is mentioned as held by the son of William the

Moncyer, or master of the bishop's mint, as a landed

pension for his services. It is conjectured, however, that

Pudsey had merely taken, by virtue of his power and

dignity, a life-interest of his officer out of a portion of

an estate which did not belong to him ; as the nuns

afterwards kept possession of Stella till the Dissolution,
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ita value being then stated, " Stellingley by yer

U Vis. id."

SteUa became, shortly after this, the property and

residence of the Tempests of Newcastle, a mercantile

branch of the ancient house of Holmsidc. Nicholas

Tempest, of Stella, who married Isabel, daughter of

Robert Lambton, Esq., of Lambton, was created a

baronet iai 1G22, and died in 1626. His grandson. Sir

Richard Tempest, Eart., who came to the estate in 1641,

was colonel of a regiment of foot in the service of Charles

I., styled of Stanlej'.

On August 27, 1640, the Scots under Lesley encamped

on Hcddon I>aw, above Newburn, ojjposite Stella Haugh,

where part of the king's army, consisting of 3,000 foot

and 1,500 horse, imder Lord Conway, were drawn up to

oppose their passage across the Tyne, and erected two

breast-works against the fords, where they placed 400

musqueteers and four pieces of cannon. The Scots,

ha-ving the advantage of rising ground, planted cannon*

on the steeple of Newburn church, and placed their

soldiers in the church, houses, lanes, and hedges of that

village. The fight commenced with miisquetry, and

afterwards with cannon, and the engagement soon became

general on both sides. After some time, a breach was

made in one of the English breast-works, commanded

by Colonel Liinsford, who had much difficulty in lieeping

his men to theii' post ;
" but another cannon-shot batter-

ing in the works amongst the soldiers, and killing some

more of them, they threw down their arms, and would

abide in the fort no longer." Encouraged by these

circumstances, the Scots, at low water, sent a party of

horse to ford the river, with orders to reconnoitre the

other breastwork, and then fire and retreat. The Scots'

cannon, however, had compelled the English to abandon

these works also ; and the foot retreated in disorder up

Stella and Rytou banks, leaving their rear to be covered

by the cavalry. Some more horse, commanded by Sir

Thomas Hope, were therefore sent across the river bv
Lesley, and supported by two regiments of foot com-

manded by Lord Crawford Lindsay and Lord Lowden.

The English cavalry, imder Commissary Wilmot, son of

Lord Wilmot, Sir John Digby, " a Romi.sh recusant,"

and Daniel O'Neal, an Irishman, engaged their oppo-

nents, and had a sharp encounter with their horse ; but

being surroimded by the Scots who continued to wade

• Burnett says that the cannon were made of bar iron, hooped, like

a barrel, with cords and wet raw hides. They were carried on horse-

back, and bore several discharges.

+ The Widdringtons were an ancient and honourable Northumbrian

family, and frequently lUstinguished themselves in the wars against

through the river, these commanders and some of their

troops were taken prisoners. The rout was complete, and

a general panic prevailed in Newcastle and the neigh-

bouring country. Lord Conway, the English com-

mander, was accused of cowardice and treachery, and

made a miserable defence against the charge.

Sir Riciiard Tempest, Bart., of Stella, refused to com-

poimd for his estate, and was one of those charged, in

the acts of 1651 and 1652, with obstinate delinquency

and recusancy. He married Sarah, daughter of Sir

Thomas Campbell, Lord Mayor of London ; and dying

in 1662, was succeeded by his only surviving son.

Sir Thomas Tempest, Bart., who married Alice, daugh-

ter and co-heiress of WiUiam Hodgson, Esq., of Heb-

burn or Winlaton. He died in 1692, leaving Jane, an

only sm'viving daughter, heiress to her brother. Sir

Francis Tempest, and who married, in 1700, William,

the fourth Lord Widdi-ington.f This lady died in 1714,

up to which period, and diu'ing the reigns of the four

Stuart kings, the Tempest family had resided in SteUa.

Lord Widdrington, and his brothers, Charles and

Peregrine, in 1 715 joined the insurrection imder the

Earl of Derwentwater, in favour of Prince Charles, son

of James II. The second troop of the Northumbrian

cavalry belonged to Lord Widdrington, who, by this

rash proceeding, ruined a family and dissipated a fortune

which had flourished during seven centuries. He and

his brothers were taken in arms at Preston, tried, and

found guilty of high treason. The other parties in-

cluded in the articles of impeachment were, James Earl

of Derwentwater, William Earl of Nithsdale, George

Earl of Wintoun, Robert Earl of Carnwath, William

Viscount Kenmure, and William Lord Nali'n. Der-

wentwater and Kenmure were beheaded. Nithsdale,

by the cleverness of his coimtcss, escaped out of the

Tower a few hours before the time fixed for his execu-

tion. Wintoun also escaped. Widdrington, Carnwath,

and Nairn were pardoned ; but the attauidcr on their

blood and property was preserved. Lord Widdringtou's

estates, worth 12,000/. per annum, together with his

personal property, valued at 100,000/., were confiscated.

An act received the royal assent. May 17, 1733, for

removing the incapacities occasioned by his attainder,

and for granting him other relief, under the provisions

of which, the estates of Stella and Stanley, worth 800/.

the Scots. From the reign of Edward III., they held rcsponsiblo and

honourable posts in court and parliament. They were steady loyidists,

and were i'aithfiU to the Stuarts in the civil wars and during the Com-

monwealth. After the battle of Marston Moor, their estates wen»

confiscated; but they regained possebbion at the llestoration.
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per annum, were restored to him, having been acquired

by marriage. He Uved in retirement during the re-

mainder of his life, and died at Bath in 174:-5, when his

son, Henry-Francis Widdrington, succeeded him. This

gentleman died at Turnham Green, and was buried at

St. Pancras in London, September 7, 1774, leaving his

property and claims to his nephew and heir, Thomas

• Thomas Yoixg Haix, Esq.—This gentleman, whose name is so

well known in connexion with the coal trade of the district, is son of

the late Mr. James HaU, of Greenside, who died in March, 1841, and

who, for about half a century, was mining engineer under Messrs. G.

Dunn and Sons, George Silvertop, Esq., <tc., and for many years,

during the latter portion of that period, mining agent for Capt.

Blackett, M.P. ; W. P. Wrightsou, Esq., M.P. ; P. E. Townley, Esq.

;

and the lords ot fhe manor of Winlaton, T. W. Witham, Esq., of

Lartington HaU, Yorkshire, and other gentlemen. He served as

engineer under the late John Buddie's father at Wallsend colliery, and

acquired his position as miniug engineer by going down the A pit,

Greenside, and bringing to bauk the bodies of several men who had

been killed by an explosion, after Mr. Newton, viewer of the under-

ground works, had declined to do so. The father of the late John

Buddie, Esq., then chief manager for J. Silvertop, Esq., resigned in

favour of Mr. Hall, who continued to reside in the house of his prede-

cessor until his own death. At the close of the last century, the pit at

ChopweU collieiy (near Coalbum's), and the Stella Grand Lease A pit,

were worked by steam-engines put up by him, which pumped water

from large ponds constructed for the purpose, and which water, being

conveyed into a cistern 52 feet high, was made to tiUTi a wheel,

constructed with a brake, whereby the men and boys, as well as the

coal, were drawn up the shaft. These two engines, the last employed in

this manner in the north of England, were abandoned in ISOO and 1808.

Mr. T. Y. Hall, after passing through an unusual amount of the

drudgery of a common pit boy, served an apprenticeship under his

father and the eminent John Buddie, of WaUsend, at Townley,

Whitefleld, and Crawcrook collieries. He then acted as mining en-

gineer, under an agreement for four years, at North Hetton colliery

.

afterwards, for a similar period, as engineer and managerof Black Boy^

or Tees Wallsend colliery, belonging to the late Jonathan Backhouse,

Esq. (and which, in 1852, was sold to Nicholas Wood, Esq., of Hetton

HaU—see vol. i., p. 442 ) ; and next, in the same capacity, at South

Hetton coUierj'. Subsequently, he became a coal-owner, in partnership

with his former employer, Mr. Buddie, and the late Alderman Potter,

of Heaton HaU, as lessee of the rector of Eyton's glebe and of SteUa

Freehold collieries,—to which was afterwards added (after a cessation

of six years' working) SteUa Grand Lease, comprising Townley Main

and Whitefield coUieries—and, in conjunction with Mr. Buddie and

others, of the royalties in Crawcrook township, thus including the

whole extent of Ryton parish.

In 1839, certain mines in Virginia, United States, fired, by which

between sixty and seventy persons lost their lives. Up to the time of

the explosion, these mines had been worked by a company, under the

title of " The Blackheath Company ;" and the president or managing

owner, Col. Heth, who was in London at the time, on the recommenda-

tion of Robert Stephenson, Esq., C.E., engaged Mr. HaU and the late

Mr. Frank Forster, engineer to the London Sewerage Commissioners,

to visit the United States, and make a report upon the value of the

coal and ironstone ores contained in those mines, preparatorj' to tlieir

being offered for sale. The collieiy had hitherto been a profitable

undertaking, the price per ton at ship being 25s., and the coal scam

then inwork Ijiug,most extraordinarily, on granite rocks, and being from

Eyre, with remainder to his cousin, Edward Standish.

Under this entail, Peregrine-Edward Townley, Esq., of

Townley, Lancashire, became proprietor of SteUa and

Stanley, which are now the property of his eldest son

and heir, Charles Townley, Esq.

Slella Coal Company.—This tirm consists of the execu-

tors of the late John Buddie, Esq., Thomas Yoimg HaU,*

20 to 40 feet in thickness ; but the property appeared now to be en-

tii'ely destroyed, having remained six months unworked, as no one

was able to penetrate beyond the bottom of the shaft, the workings

being entirely fiUed with gas. The principal engineers in the United

States and Nova Scotia had been preriously engaged in restoring the

mine, but without success. The total loss sustained by injury to the

mine, sacrifice of life, general derangement, suspension of the work-

ings, and consequent loss of profit, expenses, interest, Ac, was not

less than 250,000 doUars (50,000J.). However, in about a month

after Mr. Hall's arrival, with only one miner, taken with him as his

assistant, the pit was brought into a satisfactory working state ; and

the concern was purchased (according to a conditional agreement made

in case the report of Messrs. HaU and Forster should be favoiuabie, and

be endorsed by Messrs. Stephenson, Buddie, and Sopwith) by a wealthy

EngUsh company, under the firm of " The Chesterfield Coal and Iron

Mining Company." At the pressing request of the principal partner,

Charles Scarisbrick. Esq., and other members of the intended firm, Mr.

Hall became one of the principal partners, and his services were re-

tained, at a salarj- of about 2,000?. a year, as resident superintendent

and manager, under an agreement for five years, with Uberty to visit

England for his own private business three months in each year.

Extensive negotiations were set on foot to enable the English com-

pany to hold property in America and manage it in England ; and

in consequence of delays in granting a charter on the part of the

American government, Mr. Hall crossed the Atlantic no less than

fourteen times in the short space of thi-ee years. Ultimately, however,

the charter was procured ; and the partners in the company having

strong objections to slave labour, Mr. HaU shipped a number of

miners and their families from Newcastle-upon-Tyne to Virginia, at

considerable cost. He subsequently procured esceUent employment

for several pitmen from Newcastle at the Chesterfield Company's

and other mines in the United States ; and, about the same time, he

sent several miners to work in .iustralian mines.

During Mr. HaU's sojourn in -America, the mine of the Mid-Lothian

Coal Mining Company, adjoining those of the Chesterfield Company,

took fire from the flue of an underground furnace ; and one of the

agents, an assistant, and a number of operatives, who were in the pit,

and ignorant of the imminent peril in which they were placed, were

rescued by Mr. HaU, who, after the pit had been abandoned by the

manager and his son, volunteered his services, and, at the risk of his

own life, descended the mine, warned the pitmen of their impending

destruction, and sent them up the shaft before he ascended himself,

the timber at the bottom of the shaft being in flames during the .vho'.e

time. The horses and mules he was obliged to leave to their fate, as

the flames ou the opposite side of the brattice or partition to that

which he ascended were nearly at the top of the shaft by the time he

had rescued the workmen. But for this intrepid and noble act of Mr.

Hall, aU the men in the pit at the time would inevitably have lost

their Uves. The pit remained covered up for six months, in order

that the mine, cut off from the air, might be fiUed with water to ex-

tinguish the file in the coal ; but long before the expiration of that

period, the gas fiUed the whole of the underground workings, forced its

way up the shaft against the pit covering, through a sort of rubble wall
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Charles and Addison Potter, and M. W. Dunn, Esqrs.,

who work the "West Townley or AVhitetield colliery, the

Townley Freehold pit, the Townley Glebe pit, and the

East Townley or Emma pit. The Stargate Townley, theA

12 feet high, ami ignited at the naked lights in the engine-house,

where it was consumed. Since the mine was restored by Mr. Hall, it

has progressed favourably, in spite of drawbacks, in the shape of ex-

plosions ; and from a i)anipli!et recently published by Major Woolridge,

president of the company, we leara that, with UO,OI)0(. capital, this con-

cern, as a coal speculation, has made larger profits, for the last two

years, than any coal-mine in the United States ever did before. The

company is now working part of the above-named Chesterfield Com-

pany's mines, leased at a rent of 3 cents per bushel, or 4s. per ton—

a

much higher rate than has, probably, ever been paid in any country.

Previously to Mr. Hall's engagements in America, and whilst so-

journing there, he sent various plans and documents to eminent

Russian engineers on mining matters, and, in 1840, addressed a letter

to the editor of the New York Herald, in which he pointed out the great

advantjiges that would result to Russia by the formation of a line of

railway between St. Petersburgh and Moscow. Mr. John Thomas

Carr, the lato Russian consul at Newcastle, forwarded a copy of the

paper and some other of Mr. Hall's documents to Russia ; and the sub-

ject having afterwards attracted the attention of the Czai- and the

Russian nobility. General Tcheifkine and other engineers were

sent to England to procure the best information respecting the

formation of a line of railroads, and the working of coal and iron

mines. General Tcheffkine and his suite, whilst visiting the various

coal and iron mines and manufactories in the district, spent several

days with Mr. Hall at Stella ; and for the services rendered to the

Russian engineers, Mr. Hall was honoured with a present of a series

of valuable medals, and a flattering letter of thanks from the Em-

peror of Russia. Mr. Carr was presented with a very valuable dia-

mond ring. The line of railway now formed, which extends 400

miles, is, with its stations, the same which was suggested by Mr. Hall

so many years previous to its commencement.

Since his return to England in 1843, and a sojourn of some months

in France, Mr. Hall's practice as a mining engineer has been mos'Jy

directed to his own collieries, and the occasional inspection of minus

on the continent. He was one of the sub-committee appointed by t'ae

coal-trade of Northumberland and Durham to prepare plans and sec-

tions of this coal-iield for the Exhibition of 1851. The interesting

statistics contributed by him to the publications issued by the Northern

Mining Institute, in reference to the great Northern and other coal-

fields in England, besides those of America, France, Atistria, and Aus-

tralia, are most valuable, and tend to show the variety and extent of

his experience and knowledge upon the subject.

Several improvements in colliery engineering have been introduced

by Mr. Hall. He originated the improved method of drawing coals at

great speed, by means of guides and cages in the pit shafts, and intro-

duced tub carriages with boggy wheels and edge rails into the pit

workings underground ; a system which had been unsuccessfully tried

at Hebburn colliery by the lato T. Easton, and was deemed impractica-

ble by many eminent engineers. This simple and safe method, com-

pared with the old method of slinguig men and boys in the shaft to a

loop at the end of the rope or chain, and sending up the oeals in

baskets or corves, has, no doubt, both saved life and prevented many
accidents ; whilst a saving of capital has accrued by one pit and engine

being enabled to double their former daily produce. (See publications

of the Mining Institute, vol. ii., p. 22.) One pit at South Hetton, for

instance, 1,100 feet deep, has had 800 tons of coal drawn to bank daUy

up one of three cempartments into which the 11 feel shaft is divided

pit, and the C pit, are laid in. Mr. Matthias Dunn gives

the section of the Townley collieries as follows :—At the

depth of 11 fathoms, the Wallsend main coal, 7 feet

thick ; 8 fathoms further, the Craw coal, 2 feet ; 10

by one engine of only 00 horse power, an amount not since exceeded

at any pit of that depth, although it took jilace twenty years ago.

These improvements have effected an immense reduction of expense in

the working of coal, amounting to not less than one shilling and six-

pence per ton on all coals sold. Taking the present produce of Dur-

ham and Northumberland at 10,000,000 tons per annum, the saving

to these two counties alone will be equal to one and a quarter million

sterling per annum. The yearly production of British coal is estimated

by Mr. Hall, in his paper on the Northern Coal Field, at 04 J mOlion

tons, and that of the remainder of Europe at 35.i million tons, making

a total annual yield, at the present period, of 100 million tons; and as

the system has now become general throughout this and other coal-

yielding countries, its advantages may be easily conceived.

Mr. Hall remarks, in the tracts of the Mining Institute, vol. i., p. 11,

that the Emma pit, Townley colliery, of which he is co-lessee, was the

first in which the natural gas generated in the coal was made subser-

vient to the purposes of lighting up the mine ; a previous attempt at

Wallsend having proved uusuccessfal. This beautiful adaptation of

nature to purposes of art has been for several years carried on at the

Emma pit, where the gasometer and other apparatus are in constant

operation.

The Belgian government having offered a premium of 2,000

francs, and the gold medal of the Royal Academy, for the safest

and best plan of penetrating dangerous gases, Mr. Hall gave his atten-

tion to the subject, and submitted in competition an ingenious mode of

supplying the desideratum, accompanied wi*h various diagrams, and

described as " simple in princiijle, and infallible in its operation

—

infallible, at least, as far as infallibility can be predicated of human
means ;" but the decision of the government has not yet been pub-

lished. The Patent Safety Lamp is one of Mr. Hall's most important

and useful inventions: its principal features are safety and the con-

sumption of its own smoke ; and by its use, the miner will have a

more brilliant light than he previously possessed, and will be enabled

to follow his occupation with the greatest comfort and safety.

On the passing of the "Mines Inspection Act" in 1850, Mr. Hall

became a candidate for the post of Jlining Inspector, but was unsuc-

cessful in his efforts, though supported by the principal coal-owuers

and mining engineers in the north of England. In 1855, on the ap-

pointment of five additional inspectors, Mr. Hall, supported by R. P.

Philipson, Esq., then mayor of Newcastle, again came forward

with the intention, if successful, of devoting the emoluments of the

office for two years to the proposed Mining College of Newcastle ; but,

as stated by Nicholas Wood, Esq., the application was made too late,

and Mr. Hall's generous design was unfortunately frustrated.

Mr. IlaU, in his paper on the Great Northern Coal Field (see Ap-

pendix to the 3rd vol. of the Mining Institute's Transactions), alludes

briefly to the subject of coal-cutting machines; and he has now been

for some time interesting himself in the question of introducing the

best forms of coal-cutters or picks, for machines invented to hew coal,

by means of high-pressed air-engines, without steam-power, under,

ground. An ijnproved engine and coal-cutter is now patented by

Messrs, Johnson and Dixon, of Newcastle ; and the picks or cutters

will strike 200,000 blows per minute, and are intended to cut out

and prepare a eubtc yard, or a ton of coal, every two minutes.

This engine is different from those invented and patented by Mr. W.
Pease, at the Earl of Bijcarras and Crawford collieries. If these objects

bo attained, another immense saving will be eU'ectod, inasmuch as
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fathoms further, the five-quarter, 7 feet ; 6 fathoms

further, the Ruler, 2 feet 2 inches; 16 fathoms further,

the ToTvnley seam, 4 feet 3 inches ; 1 2 fathoms further,

the stone coal, 2 feet G inches ; 3j fathoms further,

another five-quarter, 3 feet 3 inches ; 6 fathoms further,

the three-quarter, 2 feet 4 inches ; and 9 fathoms further,

the Brockwell, 3 feet 11 inches ; or a total depth of 81^

fathoms. The section of Stella Grand Lease gives the

high main, 6 feet thick, at the depth of 11 fathoms
;

the Crow coal, 2 feet 10 inches, 10 fathoms further; the

five-quarter, 3 feet 8 inches, 4 fathoms fui-ther; the

Townley seam, 3 feet 1 inch, 21 fathoms further ; the

Tilly coal, 2 feet 2 inches, 7 fathoms further ; the stone

coal, 2 feet 5 inches, 7 fathoms fiuiher ; the second five-

quarter, 3 feet 4 inches, 3 fathoms further ; the three-

quarter, 2 feet 6 inches, 5 fathoms fiu-ther; and the

Brockwell, 2 feet 11 inches, 9 fathoms fm-ther ; or 77

both manual and horse labour wilI,[to a considerable extent, be super-

seded, while the process of hewing will be expedited in a manner pro-

portionate to the increasing demand.

Mr. Hall is the author of " A Treatise on the Extent and probable

Duration of the Northern Coal Field, with Remarks on the Coal Trade

in Durliam and Northumberland," accompanied with a Plan of the

Coal Mining Districts, in which, contrary to all Jormer estimates of the

length of time to which this important coal-field will endure, he as-

serted, what was immediately afterwards endorsed by G. C. Greenwell,

Esq., in a communication to Mr. Hall, and is now generally accepted as

correct, that the field, at the present rate of working, will be exhausted

in 365 years, instead of 1700 or 1800 years, as pre%'iouslT estimated by

several eminent men. He has also written treatises on " Improve-

ments in Colliery Workings," alluded to above ; the " Coal Measures

of Styria, Austria;" " Statistical Notes on the Coal and Iron Produc-

tions of the United States," &c., which have been read to the North

of England Institute of Mining Engineers, and published with the

transactions of the society.

• Stella Grand Lease, ob Townley Main Collleey, was formerly

carried on imder lease, procured from George Silvertop, Esq., by

George Dunn, sen., and Sons, of Newcastle, and Matthias Dunn, of

Stella ; the former holding three-fourth shares, and the latter one-

fourth in the concern. By an agreement, made November 10, 1817, it

was stated that the said Matthias Dunn was " desirous that, upon his

(Jeath, his nephew, Matthias Dunn, son of his brother, Eobert Dunn,

should succeed him, and become possessed of his one-foiu-th part or

share of the said colliery," &c., on condition that his said nephew

reside at Stella to manage the colliery under the direction of the said

George Dunn and Sons, during the continuance of the lease, should he

himself not live until its explication ; and it was stipulated that he, the

said nephew, should not enter into any other colliery pursuits, or

follow any other business, in any of which cases his one-fourth share

should be held by the said George Dunn, he pajing the value of the

same to the said Matthias Dunn, according to arbitration. In the

event of the death of both uncle and nephew during the continuance

of the lease, the one-fourth share was to pass, at a valuation, to George

Dunn. Dissensions arose, during the lifetime of the elder Matthias

Dunn, as to some of the clauses in the agreement, of wliich he asserted

his entire ignorance. He died January 5, 1825, and the disputes now

became more complicated. The right of Matthias Dunn, the nephew

fathoms in all. The coals are shipped by keels and at

Willington.*

BLAYDON.

The village of Blaydon is situated on the Tyne, in the

township of Winlaton, and is about 4 miles west of

Newcastle. It formerly consisted of an irregular street,

containing a few rude and homely cottages ; but in con-

sequence of the rapid extension of trade and manufac-

tures, and a proportionate increase of population, it now
possesses several handsome and substantial dwellings.

The roads, however, still require improvement ; and as

a considerable portion of the land belongs to C. Town-

1
ley, Esq., who is precluded from selling it, a serious

check is imposed on local enterprise. The greater part

: is held on lease.f In 1852, "W. B. Beaumont, Esq.,

sold some property at the east end of the village ; and

(now one of the Government Inspectors of Mines for the Northern

Cotmties), to the one-fourth share of the colliery, &c., left by Matthias

Dunn, was disputed. It was claimed by his cousin, M. W. Dunn, of

Hedgefield, under the provisions of a ^-iil. In 1829, a discussion was

held as to which of the nephews inherited the share. As the claimants

could not agree, they threatened each other with suits in Chancery.

George Dunn and Sons not knowing what course to take, a paper, con-

taining a copy of the "Agreement made the 10th Nov., 1817, between

Matthias Dunn, of Stella, in the county of Durham, gentleman, of the

one part, and George Dunn, of Newcastle-upon-Tyne, gentleman, of

the other part." and various details relative to the points in dispute,

was printed and circulated, the lease having then four years to run.

The re-letting of the royalty did not take place while the lease conti-

nued; and as the parties never came to an understanding, the concern

came to an end in December, 1833—although the collieiy had, since

1825, realised a profit of 4,000i. per annum—and came into the pos-

session of the present owners, who hold it, together with neai'Iy all the

coal in Eyton parish, for a lengthened period.

t A case of great importance as to the validity of leasehold titles

(Doe on dera. MoljTjeux and another v. Hall) was tried at the Durham
summer assizes, July 30, 1851, before Mr. Justice Williams and a spe-

cial jui-y. It was an action brought by the lessors of the plaiutiif, the

Lord Sefton and his co-trustee under the marriage settlement of Charles

Townley, Esq., against the defend.nnt, T. Y. Hall, Esq., to recover

possession of a piece of land at Blaydon, which had been leased to him

for 99 years for building purposes, by the lessors of the plaintili', with

the consent of P. G. Townley, Esq., father of Charles Townley ; but

which lease was alleged to have been rendered invalid by want of

adequate consideration, as well as by breach of its covenants for the

erection of certain walls on the demised property, and keeping them in

sufficient repair. The piece of land in question, 7 j acres, was part of

a farm, and consisted of low haugh ground, with a frontage on the riv«r

Tyne, and adjoining the lead refinery of Mr. Beaiunont. The agreement

was made in lH39, but the lease was not executed till 1811. The annual

rent was fixed at CO/., and it was stipulated that Mr. Hall should lay

out 1,500J. in erecting good and substantial buildings on the property,

which he was to maintain in repair during the whole of the term

devised to him. For the plaintiif, it was urged that the defendant

having let portions of the property to ditferent tenants for as much ai

225J. per annum, independently of that he kept in his own hands, wa«

tl

Thank you for purchasing from Ebay Shop Retromedia

http://stores.shop.ebay.co.uk/retromedia


CHAPELRY DISTRICT OF STELLA. 685

80 great was the desire to pitrclia;Se it, that the price was

run up to above 500/. an acre. Several regular streets

have recently been erected on the hill side in this quar-

ter, terminating on the south with Gothic and orna-

mented fronts.

An act was passed, Jime 10, 1833, for 31 years, " to

make and maintain a turnpike road from the Gateshead

and Hexham turnpike road, at or near to Aswell Park

gate, on the river Darwent, in the township of Wiidaton,

parish of Ryton, to the village of Shotley Bridge."

This road passes through Blaydon and Stella.

The varied nature of the manufactures carried on

in Blaydon rendei's the inhabitants less liable to fluctua-

tions in trade than might otherwise be expected. The

following is a list of works at present in active opera-

tion :

—

^y. B. Beaumont, Esq., M.P., lead-j'ard ; Blay-

don Chemical Company ; W. C. Carr, clay retort

manufacturer ; Joseph Cowan and Co., fire-brick and

clay retort manufacturers ; E. Hall, chain manufacturer

and smith ; R. Hall and Co., chain manufacturers

;

W. Harriman, fire-brick manufacturer; W. G. Haw-

don, engine buUdcr and founder ; R. Lynn, lamp-

black manufacturer ; J. Nicholson, steam saw-mill

;

North Durham Bottle "Works ; A. Potter, coke burner

;

J. Spencer and Sons, steel forge ; B. Stokoe, fell-

monger ; and A. Thatcher, glass manufactiirer. At the

east end of the village (" Blaydon Staiths") is the old

refinery which belonged to the late T. W. Beaumont,

Esq.* In addition to these, the neighbouring collieries,

viz., Bkti/don Main, belonging to Thomas H. Ramsay,

Esq., and Blmjdon Burn, belonging to J. Cowan and

Co., give constant employment to a numerous body of

a proof that the reserved annual rent of COZ. was not the best that

rould be reasonably obtaineil ; and that an expenditure of l,!jOOi. was

not adequate to the interest granted to the defendant for so long a

term as 99 years. For the defendant, it was shown that great care had

been used by the lessor in making the original bargain ; that in 1839,

the land was little better than a swamp, being constantly liable to be

flooded by the Tyne, and let at a sum per acre not more than one-

eighth of that agreed to be paid by tjio defendant ; and that in the

erection of buildings, coke ovens, quay walls, cottages, (fee, far above

1,500?. had been expended by the defendant and his sub-lessees: in-

deed, the total sum expended amounted to above 40,000!. The conduct

of Charles Townley, Esq., the real plaintilV in the case, was animad-

verted upon, for not having impugneil the lease during the life-time of

his father, who had been a party to its terms, and was perfectly satis-

fied with them ; thus exposing the defendant to all the disadvantages

of 12 years' delay. The judge, after summing up, put the following

propositions to the jury :—" 1, Was the money agreed to bo expended

thought, by the trustees, and by Mr. P. E. Townley, adequate to the

interest granted ? 2, Was it such a sum as a man of ordinary prudence

might have thought to be adequate ? 3, Was the rent reserved the

best that might be reasonably had ? 4, Was there a forfeiture of the

lease by not erecting a wall or fence, or by not upholding it ? 0, Then

men. The extensive and important station of the New-
castle and Carlisle Railway is used as a depot for goods

coming from .Allenheads and the collieries and factories

in the west, and intended to be conveyed by keels to

other parts of the river. The keelmen of Blaydon and

Stella, though their occupation is now, to a great extent,

superseded by railway carriage, are stdl an important

body of men. The rural poHce have a station here

;

and there are a post-office and eight public houses.

Gas-works were erected in 1853 by Joseph Cowan and

Co., by which the streets, houses, &c., are lighted. The

supply of water is principally from springs.

THE CHURCH.

A CHAPEL of ease was erected at the west end of the

village above 20 years ago, and was afterwards used for

St. Cuthbert's schools, but is now occupied as a joiner's

shop. The present church was erected on a site given

by the late T. W. Beaumont, Esq., and consecrated

August 30, 1845. It is a neat structiu-e, in the early

English style of architecture, consisting of nave and

chancel of equal width, porches on the north and south,

and a western bell-turret. The church is dedicated to

St. Cuthbert. The queen and the Bishop of Durham
are patrons alternately ; incumbent, the Rev. William

Brown. By the order in coimcil which constituted the

chapelry district of Stella, it was provided that the

minister, when duly licensed, shoidd receive 100/. a

year ; when any building should be didy licensed for

divine service, 130/.; and when a chm-ch shoidd be

built, consecrated, and approved of, 150/., to be paid

half-yearly, on the 1st of May and the 1st of November,

was there a forfeiture by the non-maintenance of a road and fence, on

the south side of the premises ?" The jury, without retiring, answered

questions 1, 2, and '6, in the afliiTuative, and questions 4 and 5 in the

negative ; being, in fact, a general verdict, on the iive points, for the

defendant.

• " It was at one time," says a late writer, " the chief workshop in

the village ; and it was while manager of this establishment that

H. L. Pattinson, Esq., of Felling, made most of those iuterestiug and

important chemical discoveries which have since won him both ' fame

and fortune.' The lead was brought from Mr. Beaumont's mines at

Allenheads and the other mining districts in Cumberland, refined at

Blaydon, and then shipped. It was conveyed from the mines by small

' Scotch galloways,' or ponies, the roads behig too rugged to allow of

its being carted. A slight wood frame was swung over the back of the

pony, and contained a lump of lead on each side. It was a curious

sight in former times to see a long row of these little ragged-looking

animals, sometimes thirty or more in a lino, carrying each his packet

of lead, and faithfully following tlie leading pony, who usually had a

bell attached to his head, to denote his position and to guide the rest

when coming over the hills at night. In later times, when the roads

were improved, the lead was carried the main part of the way by light

carts. It is now conveyed by rail,"
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by the ecclesiastical commissioners. A grant of 100/.

was made in iSol towards the erection of a parsonage-

house ; but the building has not yet been commenced.

CHAPELS, SCHOOLS, &c.

The Wesleyan Mcihodish, who have long had a place

of worship in Blaydon, erected a spacious new chapel in

1856 : it is ecclesiastical in aiDpearance, with arched

windows and a roof of high pitch. The Primitive Me-

thodists erected a neat chapel in 1854, attached to whicli

is a school. The Wcsleycoi Reformers meet in the lecture

room of the Mechanics' Institution, which they rent for

worship on Sundays.

The parochial schools were erected in 1858, on a site

given by the Rev. W. Brown, who also, with his family,

contributed 200/. towards the building, and obtained a

grant of 400/. for the same object from the School

Society. The schools are attended, on an average, by

about 100 boj's, from 70 to 80 girls, and from 110 to

120 infants. There is a play-ground attached, provided

with swings, &c.

A library and reading room has existed for some time

in Blaydon, to which a neics-room was added in 1855.

A librarj' belonging to the parochial schools has also

been attached to this institution. There are about 100

members, and the ordinary subscription is 6s. a year.

The Blaydo)! and Stella Mechanics' Institution was

commenced in 1847, for the accommodation of which a

large and handsome building was erected in 1852. The

foimdation stone was laid in May by the late J. F. B.

Blackett, Esq., M.P. ; and the rooms were opened in

September. The reading-room is well attended; and

there is a good supply of newspapers and periodicals.

The library contains 450 volumes, including many ex-

cellent standard works. The lecture-room is elegantly

fitted up, with platform, gallery, &c. A school is held

in it during the week. The institution now consists of

105 members ; and the subscription is 6.s. 6f/. per annum.

The librarians attend, for the circulation of books, from

nine to ten o'clock every Sunday morning, and from

seven to eight every Monday evening. A sick benefit

club has been for some years established in connection

with the institution ; and a buUdiug society was com-

menced, under favourable auspices, about four years ago.

ScoTSWooD Bridge.—^In 1828, a joint stock company

was formed for building a chain bridge over the Tyne,

from the township of Winlaton to Scotswood in the

county of Northumberland, and for making convenient

roads and approaches thereto. An act of parliament for

this purpose received the roj'al assent on AprO. 13, 1829,

incorporating the company under the name of the " The

Scotsicood Bridge Com2mny." Their capital was limited

to 20,000/., divided into shares of 50/. each ; besides

which, they were empowered to raise a further siun of

8,000/. by mortgageofthe tolls, in case the capital should

be found inadequate.

The bridge is situated about 300 yards west of Derwent

Haugh. The first stone of the land abutment on the

south side was laid under the direction of Mr. Green,

architect, and in the presence of Messrs. Grace and

Ramsay, two of the committee, on Julj' 21, 1829. The

bridge is 630 feet in length ; the distance between the

points of suspension being 370 feci, with two half arcs

of 130 feet each. The road rises in the centre about 8

feet, forming a gentle and graceful curve. The road-

way is above 20 feet in breadth, and the carriage-way

17^ feet. The piers are of Norman architecture, light

in their construction, and graceful in their proportions

;

the whole structure being airy, elegant, and beautiful in

appearance. The act of parliament directs that "the

lowest part of the road-way shall be 21 feet at least

above the surface of the water, at the height of the

flood of ordinary spring tides ;" and provides that " it

shall not be lawful to erect any other bridge for the

passage of horses, cattle, or foot passengers, nor for the

passage of carriages, save railway carriages, properly

constructed, within 1,000 yards of the said bridge."

Three new roads were constructed in connection with

the bridge ; one commences at the north end, and leads

to Newcastle ; a second leads from the south end of the

bridge to near the west end of Darwent bridge ; and the

third from the Scotswood bridge to the Hexham road,

at the village of Blaydon. The latter road was formed

at great expense ; for the country being low and level, it
i

was necessary to throw up a mound, the earth for which

was dug from its south side, forming a very wide and

deep ditch, in the bottom of which a great number of

large trees were discovered lying in a horizontal posi-

tion. Several breaches were made in the road by the

flood in October, 1829. The formation of a portion of

the Newcastle and Carlisle Railway, between it and the

river, has, however, protected it from the recurrence of a

similar misfortune.

The Railuay Bridge is about 100 yards to the west of

the suspension bridge, and crosses the river in an oblique

direction. It is erected on a good foimdation, and the

platform for the railway ia supported by strong wooden

grears.
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PARISH OF WIIICKIIAM.

i

The parish of Whickham is bounded by the Tyne on the north ; by the Darwent, dividing it from the chapelry

of Stella and the parish of Winlaton, on the west ; by the chapolries of TanfielJ and Lamesley on the south-west

and south ; and by the Team, dividing it from the parish of Gateshead, on the east. It is divided into four con-

Btablcrics :—1, Whickham-Town ; 2, SwuUwell ; 3, Whickham-Lowhand ; and, 4, Whickham-Fellside.

The area of the parish of Whickham is 5,993 acres, of

which 88 acres are covered by lidal water. In 1801,

its population was 3,659, of whom 1,739 were males and

1,920 females. The annual value of property assessed

for the county-rate in 1853 was 13,954^. 3<. 8;/.

The Newcastle and Carlisle Railway has an extent of

2m. 2f. IIOy., and an area of 24 a. 3 r. in tliis parish,

towards the local rates of which it contributed GIL 12s'.

6rf. in 1851, and 62/. lO.v. in 1852. The North-eastern

Railway, with an extent of 1 m. 4 f., and an area of 8 a.

1 R. 24 p., contributed 75/. in each of those years. The

gross amount collected in 1851 w^as 1,850/. 5s. 2^d., and

in 1852, 1,598/. 19s. 5^d.

WHICKHAM.

The population of the township of Whickham, at the

respective returns since 1811, was 758, 788, 873, 923,

and 910 ; 417 of the latter number being males and 493

females. In 1851, there were 191 inhabited houses, 4

iminhabited, and 1 building.

Whickham is a large and respectable village, 4 miles

west-south-west of Gateshead, on the turnpike road from

that town to Shotley Bridge. It occupies the high brow

• Tiie Rev. William Williams in, D.I).. Fellow of MtTlnn College.

Oxford, was third sou of Sir William Williamson. Bart., by Elizabeth

his wife, yoiinjtcst daii^'hlcr of .lolin Hedworth, Esq., of Hiirrnton : he

died in n(i:i, leaving issi'.e a son, Williiim, wlio died unmarried, and a

daughter and eventual heiress, Anne, who marne I, October 2K, 17H2.

Robert Hopper, Esq., a barrister of great locil eminence, and recorder

of Newcastle iiponTvno, who assumed the name of Williamsim. He
diet January IS, 181),'), leaving two sons, viz., the Rev. Robert Hopper
Williamson, rector of Hurworth, and .John-William Williamson. Esq.,

of Wbickbiiu. The latter, bom September 17, 1789, wis a ma;,'istiate

and deputy lieutenant, and for several years chairman of the quarter

sessions of the county, which he resi,'iied in 181i on account of ill

health. He inherited his mother's iirnperty under the will of her bro.

ther, who left his estate in tail to his sister's second son. He died

April 17, 1H5I).

Arms—Or. a chev., gules, between three trefoils, slipped, sa.

Chest—Out of a muni coronet, a wivern's head, or.

The Hoppers of Sliiuclilfe, the paternal ancestors of this family, are

mentioned in a lease of tlie dean and chapter, dated May 11, 151)4.

One of their desccnduDts, Hcndiy Hopper, purchased, in 1720, the

VOL, IL

of a steep hill, which overlooks the pleasant vales of

Tyne and Team, and commands an extensive view of

Newcastle, and the high grounds on the north side of

the Tyne. Many of the bouses are modern and hand-

some, and tlie smaller tenements have generally an air

of cleanliness and comfort. The village contains a

library and reading room, three farmsteads, four public

gardens, five inns and public houses, a beer-shop, a post-

office, two surgeons, several shopkeepers, with varioua

mechanics and workmen. There are two respectable

boarding schools for young ladies, carried on by Miss

Simons and Mrs. Harding. The mansion at the east

end of the village, formerly occupied by Charles Att-

wood, Esq., is now the residence of J. A. Hymcrs, Esq.

The pleasant and well-sheltered mansion of the Wil-

liamsons,* Whickham Lodge, is on the south, and is now

occupied by Edward Richardson, Esq. Whickham Hall,

also the property of the Williamsons, is the residence of

Mr. J. H. Stevenson, surgeon. Whickham House is the

property of G. T. L. Blenkinsopp, Esq., of Iloppyland,

The Wesleyan and Primitive Methodids have each a

chapel in the village. The Whickham band consists of

the musicians of the place.f

estate of Crook Hall and the manor of Sidgate ; in 17;!9, the lordship

of Tbrisliiigton ; and before his death in \Tsl, he had also added to

his lunded property the e^-tatesof Heugh Hall and Qu:ininglonOi-angQ.

Dying without issue, he was succeeded by his nephew, John Hoppet,

Esq., of Shinclif}"e, son of Joliu Hopper, of the same place, by his wifa.

Anne Colling, of Long Newton, He married at Yann, Juno 25, 1752,

Elizabeth, only daughter of John Hdton, Esq., and had issue John,

wh ) diet unmarried ; Robert, who nianied the heiress of Williamson ;

and Ralph, in holy orders, who married Elizabeth Athey, and had

issue a son.

Arms—Quarterly: 1st and 4th, gyronny of eight, sa. and erm., over

all a tower, triple towered, arg.. masoned ; 2nd and 3rd, or, a chev. gu.,

between three trefoils, slipped, sa.

Crest— ,V towiT, triple towered, arg., masoned.

Residknce—Hurworth rectory.

+ Wii.i.iAM SHraT.D.—The eminrnt English composer, William

Shield, was bom at Whickhnm almut tlio \eor 1750. When rnly fIx

yeors old, he was taught by bi.s father, who was a singing ninster, to

modulate his voice and practise on the violin. At the death of hla

5b
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Whickham is a polling place at elections for the

North Division of the county of Durham. It is also the

centre of a revising barrister's district, which includes

Chopwell, Crawcrook, Ryton, Ryton Woodside, Stella,

Whickham (including Swalwell, &c.), and Winlaton.

By Boldon Book, there were 35 villains in Whickham,

each of whom held an oxgang of 15 acres, at 16d. rent,

exclusive of services, which were severe. Each villain

wrought for the lord three days in every week in the

year, besides the labour of harvest and ploughing ; they

were bound to erect a cottage 40 feet long, and 15 wide,

every year, for the maintenance of the town ; and to

carry and fetch from Durham and Bedlington the

bishop's baggage when required, with the allowance of

the corrody whilst they wrought. They also paid 9s.

cornage rent, and provided a milch cow for the lord

;

and for every oxgang of land they found a hen and ten

eggs, and served in the lord's fishery in Tyne. The

prcepositus, or head-borough man, now called the grieve,

Lad 24 acres of land allotted to him in recompence for

the duties of his office. The manor was under farm

with the villain service, mills, carts, harrows, fisheries,

and 20 chalders of oats of the bishop's measure, render-

ing 27/., and performing certain services in carriage, for

which there was an allowance of 2d. for every horse.

The punder had land assigned him, besides an acknow-

father, he was bound by inJeuture to Edward Davison, a boat-builder

in South Shields ; and during his apprenticeship, led the Newcastle

Subscription Concerts, where he repeatedly played the solo parts of

Geminani's and Giardini's concertos. His first attempt at composition

was setting the music to an ode for the opening of the I'ree Mason's

Lodge at Sunderland, written by a gentleman of Hull. Having pro-

duced an admired specimen of sacred music, he was requested, when
the new church was to be consecrated at Sunderland, to compose the

anthem, which was performed by the then excellent Durham chou-, to

an immense congregation. He next entered the orchestra at Scar-

borough theatre, where he composed the music to many of the songs by

the post Cunningham, then an aetor in Bates's company. Professors

Fischer and Borghi having procured him a situation in the Italian

Opera-house, Giardini placed him in the rank of second riolins ; but

Mr. Cramer removed him to the principal violin, at which post he

remained eighteen years, and during that time produced upwards of

twenty operas for Colinan's and for Covent Garden Theatres. Of the

latter he became musical director ; and also had engagements at all

the principal concerts in London. In the year 1790, whUe on a visit

at Tarlow, he had the good fortune to make the acquaintance of

Haydn, and afterwards declared tliat he gained more important infor-

mation by four days" communion witli that founder of a style which
has given fame to so many imitators, than ever he did by the best

dii'ected studies iu any four years of any part of his life.

In the summer of 1791, Mr. Shield paid a visit to his native village,

where his aged mother was still living, and over whose welfare he
watched with a solicitude which furnishes a delightful proof of the

excelleuco of hi.s heart. On this occasion, lie took the opportunity

of collecting several of the local airs of Durhim, Northumberland, and
Cumberland, which ho aftei-wards introduced in his " Kudimunts of

lodgment from every tillage farm by the thrave ;d he an

provided the bishop with 40 hens and 300 eggs. In

Bishop Bury's time, Robert Bridock and William Her-

ring occur as tenants.

The tenures and services are detailed at great length

in Hatfield's Survey, at which period the services were

being commuted into monied rents, and the whole gra-

dually assuming the appearance of a leasehold manor.

It is still held as such under the see of Durham. Swal-

well, Axwell, Hollinside, and Fugerhouse, had become

free estates, held by leserved rents imder the see, pre-

vious to Hatfield's Survey.

Two per.^ons from Whyckham, who joined the North-

ern Rebellion in 1569, were executed.

Near Whickham is a stratum of burnt earth, consisting

chiefly of clay and stone, which tradition says was caused

by the English army setting fire to their tents prenous

to their hasty retreat, when the Scots forced the passage

of the Tyne in 1640. The burning camp communicated

with a seam of coal, which is said to have burnt for

many years with great fury ; and the calcined stones

and earth are now made useful and ornamental in form-

ing garden walks and paths to gentlemen's houses.

Cromwell's army, or some considerable portion of it, lay

at Whickham on their march to Scotland in 1648.

The north common fields of "V\Tiickham were divided,

Thorough Bass." In the autumn of the same year, he accompanied

the celebrated critic and editor, Ritson (see p. 173), to Taris, and from

thence proceeded, witli a party of foreign composers, to visit the prin-

cipal cities in Italy. He returned to England in 1792, and soon after

published his well-known " Introduction to Harmony." At the death

of Sir WiUiara Parsons, in 1817, King George IV. appointed Mr.

Shield master of his musicians in ordinary.

His princijial published works are •' An Introduction to Har-

mony ;" " Two Sets of Ti-ios, for Violin, Tenor, and Violoncello ;"

"Hartford Bridge;" "Woodman;" " Eobin Hood;" "Lord Mayor's

Day ;" " Picture of Paris ;" the major part of " Oscar and Malviua ;"

" Lock and Key ;" " Patrick in Prussia ;" " Choleric Fathers ;" &c., &c.

Single pieces which remain popular:—" Shakspeare's Loadstars;"

" The Thorn ;" " The Bud of the Rose ;" " O bring me Wine ;" " The

Wolf ;" " The Heaving of the Lead ;" " The Post Captain ;" " Old

Towler ;" " The Streamlet ;" " The Ploughboy ;" " Let Fame sound her

Trumpet ;" " The pretty little Heart ;" " How shall we Mortals ;"

"Village Maids;" "The Battle Song;" " I've traversed Judah's barren

Sands ;
"
" Tom Moody ;" " The Literary Fund Glee," iSrc, Ac.

Mr. Shield died at his house in Bemers Street, London, on the 26th

of January, 1821), in the 80tb year of his age. By his will, he be-

queathed, in terms highly respectful and approjiriate, his fine viola, or

tenor violin, to King George IV., humbly entreating his majesty to

accept it as a testimony of his gratitude. This being communicated to

the king, he was pleased to signify, in the kindest ami most condescend-

ing terms, his acceptance of the legacy, but at the same time directed

that the utmost value should be set upon the instJ-ument by competent

judges, it being his majesty's deteniiination that Mr. Shield's widow

sliould lie no sulferer by a bequest which so strongly proved the attach-

ment and gratitude of his late faithful servant.
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by agreement of the various parties Interested (about 30

in number), April 16, lii72. This division was con-

firmed by decree in the bishop's Court of Chancery.

An injunction was also issued, under which the high-

ways were set out, and ordered to be repaired by the

parishioners.

An act of parliament (51 Geo. III., c. 21), for enclos-

ing lands in this parish, was passed April 4, 1811. The

preamble recited tliat Whickham Fell contained about

500 acres ; the bishop being lord of the manor, and Sir

Thomas-Henry Liddell, Bart., James-Archibald-Stewart

Wortley, Esq., and the Right Hen. John Bowes, Earl

of Strathmore, being lessees of the said manor. The

parties claiming right of common were, the Earl of

Strathmore, Sir T. H. Liddell, the Marquises of Bute

and Hertford, John Carr, Robert Hopper Williamsoni

George Thomas Leaton, and Jasper Harrison, Esqrs.,

and others, ilr. John Bell, of Newcastle, was apj^ointed

sole commissioner for carrying the act into effect. An
allotment was to be made and inclosed for the rector of

Whickham, in respect of his glebe ; and one-sixteenth

of the common was to be appropriated to the bishop as

lord of the manor, to whom the usual reservation was

made of the mines, with the power of working them, in

doing which as little damage as might be was to be

done to the proprietor of the soil, and for which reason-

able satisfaction was to be made. Mr. Bell's award

was read December 18, 1821.

Mines.—Bishop Bury granted a lease of the mines

under the manors of AVliickham and Gateshead to Sir

Thomas Grey, Knt., and John Pulhore, rector of Whick-

ham, for twelve years, under 500 marks rent. The

lease was renewed to the same parties by Bishop Hat-

field, at Martinmas, 1356 ; and the same prelate ap-

pointed Nicholas Cole, of Newcastle, Keeper and Vender

of his coals, within the two manors, on July 24, 1 367.

Bishop Tunstal, July 24, 1550, demised to John and

Stephen Sotheran (who had purchased the remaining

interest in a lease for 21 years), with a condition for

payment of \Ql. on opening every new pit. On May 20,

1570, Bishop Pilkington leased to Bartram Anderson, of

Newcastle, merchant adventurer, the coal-mines within

the Cross Moor in Whickham, adjoining the Whaggcs
and Newfield on the north, Gellesfield and Greenleyfield

• He was also a prebendary of St. Paul's, London, and some time

lecturer of St. Nicholas', Newcastle. His various charities are thu^

enumerated on the tablet ;—" Dr. Thomlinson built and endowi-d

y« Charity School for this parish at his own expense, sine iOOl. loft by

Mrs. Ulakiston for that purpose. He also built aChapel at Allonby in

Cumbd and a school-house there, and gavo to procure the Queun'^

soutli, the Cross Moor west, and the road from Newcastle

to the Streat yate east ; three pits only to be opened at

once, 21 years, 30^. rent

Amongst the possessions of the see extorted from

Bishop Barnes by Queen Elizabeth in 1582, were the

manors of Whickham and Gateshead. On November
12, 1583, the lease of 99 years was transferred by the

crown to Henry Anderson and William Selby, aldermen

of Newcastle, who, in 1591, granted to thii'teen principal

burgesses, on trust for the corporation of that town, who
held the " grand lease" till its expiration in 1681. The
reversion had been granted by Bishop Cosin to his son-

in-law, Sir Gilbert Gerard, and others. Bishop Crewe
afterwards leased to Colonel Liddell and his partners

;

and the manor of Whickham has since been held by
their successors, Lord Ravensworth and Partners, popu-

larly called the Grand Allies.

THE CHURCH.

Whickham church, though not remarkable for beauty or

convenience, retains vestiges of considerable antiquity.

The western tower is square, and supported by flying

buttresses. The aisles are uniform, each being formed

by three short round pillars, with square capitals, sup-

porting plain circular arches. The roof of the chancel

is covered by a plain ceiling. The principal entrance to

the church is by a south porch : there is also a small

door on the north, under a pointed arch. A west win-

dow, under a pointed arch, opens beneath the tower. In

the south aisle, the lights are pointed ; but the windows

are generally small and modern. On the north side are

indications of old arrangements, now altered and mo-

dernized. The font is an old basin of Stanhope marble.

The communion pLite and altar-cloth were presented by

members of the Bowes family, and the pulpit-cushion,

&c., by the Claverings. There are three bells in the

tower, all of recent date. About 80 of the pews in the

church were burnt by an accidental fire, November 5,

1841. The stone spouts on the outside were formerly

ornamented with grotesque heads.

The chancel contains monuments to the memory of

the Rev. Robert Thomlinson, D.D., rector of Whickham,

who died Jlarch 24, 1747 ;* John Carr, Esq., of Dimston

Hill, died January 12, 1817; the Rev. William Wil-

bounty to ye said Chap. 200J. To the Col. of Matrons at Wigton in

Cuinb. (JOOI. To the Chaiity school there lOOJ. To Queen's College

in Oxfil 10U(. To Kdmund Hall there 'iWll. And left by his Will to

je Scicielies for Propagating )« Gospel 500(., for promoting Christian

knowl. 1( ()(., for Working Scliools in Ireland lOOJ. He also bequi'iithid

his Library, a largo and most valuable collection of Beoka iu all kiuJs
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liamson, rector, died August 23, 1763; and the Rev.

James Wibbersley, rector, died April 18, 1782. A mo-

nument to Sir Thomas Clavcring, Bart., of Axwell Park,

who died October 17, 1794. is in the south aisle ; and a

tablet near the west end of the nave records the deaths

of Mr. Jas])er Dixon, of Whickham, and Dorothy his

wife. The church-yard is spacious, having been enlarged

in 1812, wlien the additional ground was consecrated by

the Bishop of St. David's. Two large flat stones, stand-

inc under the west window of the chancel, commemorate

the deaths of George and Abiah Hodgson, Quakers, wlio

died respectively in 1667 and 1669.* There are also

monuments to the Marleys of Dunston, aud to other

families in the parish.

The register comraenres in lo75, and contains entries

relative to the plague in 1597, KilO, 1626, 1645, and

1647. There are also allusions to the Scotch army in

1640, 1644, and 1648.

Whickham rectory; patron, the Bishop of Durham.

King's Books, 20/. 8.s. ll\l.; Tenths, 2/. Os. 10, r/.;

Proc. ep., 13?. ; Arch, synod., 2s. ; Proc. arc, 4s. De-

dication to St. Mary.

Rectors.—Hugo, lvJS7 ; Rob. de Baldooks. 131:! ; John de Wiiidsore ;

Thos. de Thwenge, 1344 : Jolin de I'ulhore. 1340 (constable of tlie

castle, ond receiver general to lUsluip Hatfield, rector of Wliilburn,

and vicar of Warkworth) : Rich. Iliitore. 1300 ; MagT Vfi\\. Tart, 1309 ;

Edw. I'restwick ; Jolin Kent. 1444 ; Wni. Nicliolson, 14(;2 : Richard —

,

1470 ; Thos. Bnrtrani, 1474 ; Alex. Skinner. 1483 ; R. Wuiker; J. Jlore,

1515; Auth. Beliasjs, 1833 (master of Sherburn Hospital, rector of

Brancepeth) ; Nich. WiUiamson, cl.. 1040; Claud. Ilent., cl., 155S :

John FernysiJe, preacher of God's word, 1575; John AUenson, cl.:

Henry Ewbank. A.M., 1(!20 (successively rector of Washington and

Winston, prebendary of the lith Ktall. aud prebendary of LitchfieW)

;

Robt. Rrooke, A.M., WJS, p. m. Ew bank ; Thos. Wood, A.M., 1035

(brother to Sir Henry Wood. Bail,, whose only daughter nianied the

first DuliO of Cleveland ; Dean of LitcUaeld 1003, and Bishop of Litch-

field 1071) ; Nich. Stole, an i truder; Thos. Mascm. A.M., 1071 ; Win.

Hartwell. S.l'.B., 1(81. p. ni. Ma-on (preb. of the ilth and 10th stalls)

:

Wm. Graham, S.T.P.. 1085, p. res. Hartwell for Stanlioiie (son of .Sir

Geo. Graham. Bart., of Netherby. Ciimberlanil) ; Rciht. Thonilinson,

S.T.P., 171'J, p.m. (indiani ; W m. W illiamson, D.D., 1748, p. m. Thom-

linBon (son of Sir Wm. Williamson. Bart., of Monkwrarmouth) ;
Wni_

Eadley, A.M., 1703, p.m. Wi liamson; John Wibbersley, A.M.. 1708,

p. res. Radley ; James Greville, LL.B.. 1782, p. m. Wil)ber.sley ;
lion.

Edw. Grey. A.M. (brother of the late p:ail Grey) ;
Henry-George Lid-

dell, A.M. 182'J, p. res. Grey (biother of the late Lord Ravensworlh) ;

Henry Douglass (precentor of Llandaffiathedral), 1833, p. res. Liddell

;

George Newby (see vol. i., p. (iVJ), 1844, p. m. Douglass ; U. B. Carr,

A.M . 1H40. p. m. Newby.

of Literature, to the Lorpuraliou of Newcastle for public Use, with a

lent charge of 51. a year for ever as a fund for buying new books." For

the reception of the latter magniliceut bequest, a large building was

erected on the south side of tlic chancel of St. Nicholas' churchy

Kewcastle.

• The inscripUon relates that lliese gravestones were removed out of

s. field at the west end of Whickham, on November 30, 1784, by order

of Mr. Robert Hodgson, of Louutia, drugt'ist, a descendant of tlie family.

The rectorj'-house stands at some distance from the

church, across the road to the west. It was considerably

enlarged and improved by the Hon. and Rev. E. Grey

and the Rev. H. G. Liddell. The glebe consists of the

garden, orchard, and about 45 acres of land Nearly 10

acres were added to the glebe at the time of Whickham

enclosure. In 1835, the value of the living was returned

at 803/. per annum, subject to permanent payments

amounting to 140/., and to the payment of 95/. to a

curate. 'I he net income is still returned at 663/. a j'car.

Chaiifri/ Lands.—In 1334, Robert Bridoke held five

acres and three roods of the light of St. Mary of Whick-

ham. John Heath, Esq., in 1630 purchased of Christo-

pher Skepper one acre in Whickham called Lampacre

;

and, in 1614, a third part of Grindl .w, being parcel of

the dissolved chantry of Jesus in Brancepeth church,

was sold for 550/. (see vol. i., p. 427).

CHARITIES.

Charities of B/acki'-toii and Thomlinson.—Whickham

parochial school was originally founded by Dr. Thom-

linson, about the year 1714, who applied to this purpose

a legacy of 100/., left by Jane Blackiston, for teaching

poor children of the parish in the Church Catechism and

reading and writing, and for putting them out to trade
;

and who also himself, by his will, dated November 18,

1745, left the school and dwelling-house for the master,

with certain galleries and pews in tlie church, and the

sum of 100/. in addition to the like sum given by Mrs.

Blackiston, to the archdeacon of Northumberland, the

vicar of Newcastle, and the librarian of the testator's

library at Newcastle, and their respective successors, for

the support of such school. The 200/. was laid out, in

1751, in the purchase of 200/. South Sea Annuities, now

producing 6/. a year ; and an allotment of three-quarters

of an acre of land, set out to the school, is let for 1/. per

annum. The rents of the pews and g.illeries, formerly

amounting to 11/. or 12/. per annum, aic now merely

nominal. In the year 1825, the school was enlarged by

Archdeacon Bowyer, and a house for the mistress erected

by private subscription; the national system being

adopted at the same time. The Hon. and liev. E. Grey

was a benefactor, and enabled the institution to extend

the means of education to about 160 children, of whom
two boys and two girls are annually clothed, or, in the

case of the boys, 20.s'. is given in lieu of clothing.

ILirett's Charily.—The sum of 100/., bequeathed to

the parish of Whiikham by John Hewett, who died

December 3, 1738, is now in the hands of Lord Ravens-

worth, by whom interest is paid at the rate of 4} per

I
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cent. Agreeably to ITewctt's will, SOs. is laid out an- '

nuall)' in Bibles, Prayer Books, and other books of

religious instruction ; and 20.s. is occasionally laid out in '

clothing for apprentices who have been bound out. A
balance is g.^ncrally kept in the Newcastle savings bank.

MarHhnU's Charity.—Robert Marshall bequeathed 20/.

to the churchwardens and overseers of Whickhani ; the

interest to be applied towards clothing one of the poorest

boys of the charity school. This sum w;is placed in the

hands of Sir Thomas-ITenry Liddell, and 1/. a year is

paid by Lord Ravensworth as interest, which is added

to the produce of Hewett's charity.

Ralph Harrison, March 26, 1687, amongst his other

charitable bequests, left 100/. to the use of the poor of

Whickham. Lady Claveriiig, May 18. 1726, gave 100/.

to the poor of the parish, to which Thomas Bowes, Esq.,

added 20/. more. The first-named two sums are now in

the hands of Lord Ravensworth ; but the 20/. is lost.

The interest received, 10/. per annum, is added to the

produce of Bishop Wood's charity, hereafter mentioned
;

and the whole amount, 18/. lis. 'id., is divided amongst

the four quarters of the parish, according to the number

of applicants in each, and is distributed in the vestiy, by

the respective churchwardens, on New-year's Day, in

sums of 2s. to each person.

Thomas Wood, Bishop of Litchfield and Coventry,

-gave 100/. to the poor of Whickham, and bequeathed,

November 11, 1690, a further sum of lOi/. One of

these .sums was secured on " Jackson's land," belonging

to Lady Claveriug, and produced 6/. per annum. Tlie

other was placed in the hands of Alderman Fenwick, of

Newcastle, who fell into arrears with the interest. He
afterwards paid those arrears and 56/. lOs. of the capital.

The sum of 57/. was placed in the hands of a predecessor

of Lord Ravenswortli ; and his lordship now pays inte-

rest at the rate of 4^ per cent., being 21. \\s. 3^/. per

annum. The agent for the Marquis of Bute's estates

pays the G/. from " Jackson's land ;" and the whole is

distributed with the produce of other charities, i:s above

described.

Sir James Claverlng, by will, December 6, 1697, left a

rent-charge of 12/. a year out of his messuage and lands

at Crook Bank, out of which he directed that 24 penny

loaves of wheaten bread should be given, every Sunday,

to as many poor persons of the parish, who shall be pre-

sent at divine service or sermon ; and that 24 coats

petticoats, and waistcoats, of grey russet, should be

yearly given to 24 poor men, women, or children, living

in the parish, on St. Andrew's day, such poor persons to

be appointed by his heirs. The bread is given to per-

sons named in a list prepared by the churchwardens;

and the pei'sons who receive the coats and petticoats are

now selected by the rector.

In 1730, Sir J„hii Clam-iiig, Bart., left 50/. to the poor

of the parish. Nothing is now known of this bequest.

Thomas Bowes, in 1721, left land producing 3/. a year,

and 400/. in money, producing 20/. a year, for clothing

and teaching poor children of the parish; and Grorge

Bowes, in 1739, left land producing 10/. a year for the

same purpose. This property became vested in Andrew-
Robinson Bowes ; and no information can now be ob-

tained concerning it.

Samuel Hancock, who died May, 1725, devised certain

lands in Lowfield Bank, parish of Barnard Castle, to

trustees, for the use of the poor of Whickham, on condi-

tion that his lands in the latter parish should not be

charged with poor-money ; but the overseers preferring

to assess those lands, the benefaction was given up.

The testator also devised lands to the chapelrj' of Tan-
field on the same conditions, which did not take effect

for a like reason.

John Bowe-i, Earl of Strathmore, by his will, dated

July 3, 1817, directed that the clear yearly sum of 25/.

should for ever be a charge upon his Gibside estate, and
paid to the poor of that estate, in such proportions and
manner as the occupier of Gibside mansion-house, or the

trustees under his will, should direct. Nothing has

hitherto been paid on this account.

Church Laiid-i.—The churcliwardens of Whickham
receive the rents of a house and three-quarters of an acre

of land in Swalwell Quarter, let at 51. a year ; a close

containing about four acres, let at 25/. ; and an allotment

of about one acre, set out in respect of the church lands,

let at 1/. These rents are carried to the general account

for repairing the church. The rents of another close, of

about five acres, are received by an officer called the

grieve, but are not applied to any charitable use.

LOW-HAND QUARTER.

This const^iblery includes the pleasant country on the

west of the Team to the borders of Lamesley chapelry,

and also Dunston Hill, with a fine level carse north of

Whickham, forming part of the fertile vale of Tyne.

Its population, at the successive returns since 1811, was

1,094, 1,150, 1,184, 1,192, and 1,618; 830 of the latter

number being males and 788 females. The increase in

number was ascribed to the opening of a new colliery

and other works. The Dunston Lodge lunatic asylum

contained 84 persons in 1841, and 157 in 1851. In

1841, there were 240 inhabited houses, 16 miinhabited.
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and 1 building ; and in 1851, 300 inhabited, 3 uninha-

bited, and 2 building.

Farnacres is a neat modem mansion, with pleasure

grounds tastefully laid out, situated about half a mile

north-east from Kavensworth. It is the property of

Lord Ravensworth, and at present the residence of John

Barras, Esq.

The manor of Farnacres, according to Boldon Book,

was held by Eudo de Lucels, by the tenth part of a

knight's service, and, in 1338, was in possession of a

family who had assumed the local name. By Hatfield's

Survey, it was held by Robert de Umfra\'ill, by knight's

service and 2-s. rent. William Bultflour also held a

messuage and 28 acres b}' charter, imder 16,s. rent. In

1429, Sir Robert Umfrevill, Knight of the Garter,

foimded a chantry at Fui nacres, and framed statutes for

its government, according to which the chaplains were

to pray for the souls of Cardinal Thomas Langley,

Robert Umfre\'ill, Knight, Isabel his wife. King Henry

IV., King Henry V., and all Christian souls, and of all

the kith, kin, and kindred of the said Sir Robert, and of

all the Knights of the noble order of the Garter of St.

George of WjTidesore, and of all the former o^\-ners of

the manor of Farnacres. By charter, the founder gave

the perpetual advowson to Cardinal Langley and his

successors in the see of Durham. In 1439, Bishop Ne-

ville united the hospital of Freresyde to the chantry of

Farnacres. The last appointment of a chaplain to the

united foundation occurs in 1538. Robert Claxton,

chaplain, received a pension of 5/. in 1553; and the

general dissolution of chantries took place soon after-

wards. Farnacres was first granted by the cro-n-n to

Alexander Pringle, after whose death it was conveyed to

Urias Babington ; but on his decease in 1605, it appeared

that he had only held the estate in trust for Thomas

Liddell, Esq. When the line of Liddell of Farnacres

was extinguished, their property was purchased by the

elder branch of Liddell of Ravensworth, in whose pos-

session it has since remained. In 1679, the rental

amounted to 354/. 4s. M. ; and the colliery, at 12s. per

ten of coals, to 80/.* The land is tithe-free.

' Fuger House, according to Hatfield's Survey, was one

of the free tenancies of the manor of Whickham, and

gave name to a family. Roger Thornton died in 1451,

seised of (he icaafe called Fugerfield, which afterwards

passed to the Lumleys. It is now united to Ravensworth

estate, which it joins on the north-west^

• Fanirtcrus colliery wai flooJcd by a suildfn iiriiptiun ot water Irom

BOme old workings, on October 23, 1840. Five men were drowned

;

and OS the waltr ruse to a great height in the shall, their bodies were

not reached fur several weeks afterwards.

Dunston Hall is a spacious modem house, beautifully

seated on the declivity of the hill to the east of ^V^lick-

ham. It was formerly the property of the Shaftoes, and

was purchased by the Carrs. It is now the residence of

Samuel Parker, Esq.

CowHEEL is a hamlet at the foot of Dunston HUl, con-

taining a farmhold, two public offices, and a smith's shop.

DuNSTOX is a populous village, stretching westward

from the mouth of the river Team along the margin of

the Tvne for upwards of half a mile. The site, having

been mostly gained from the Tyne, is called "The

Bishop's Waste." There are a few neat and convenient

houses, occupied by the agents of collieries and other

works ; bat the greater number are built in a very

irreffular manner : some of them, however, have small

gardens in front. The coal-staiths at Dunston are used

by some of the western collieries. Messrs. G. and C. M.

Palmer have a timber yard at this place ; and C. Myers

and Co. and T. Bennet and Son have each a chemical

manufactory. A fire-brick manufactory is carried on by

Messrs. Southerns and Watson ; and there is a ship-

building yard, a boat-builder, two spade and shovel

makers, a licensed gunpowder magazine, a brewery, four

public houses, a beer-shop, and a few shopkeepers and

other tradesmen. The rural police have a station in the

village. The Wesleyan, New Connexion, and Primitive

Methodists have each a chapel. A school-room was

erected by subscription in 1818, to which Bishop Bar-

rington, the Hon. and Rev. Edward Grey, rector of

Whickham, the trustees of Lord Crewe's charities, and

other parties contributed. The school is now conducted

on the national system by a master and mistress, and is

well attended, A mechanics' institution has been car-

ried on for some years.

Duuston Lodge, which is a short distance south of the

village, was formerly held by the Marley family. John

Marley, who died in 1806, bequeathed it to the Rev.

John Barnet of "Whickham, husband of his niece. On

^Ir. Barnet's death in 1828, the property devolved upon

his son, the Rev. Jolin Barnet, curate of St. Nicholas',

Newcastle, on whose decease, shortly afterwards, it waa

supposed the estate would revert to the Marleys. But

John Barnet, a clerk in the customs, and cousin of the

deceased, produced a codicil to the elder Mr. Barnet's

will, in virtue of which he took possession of the pro-

perty. Being charged with forging this document, he

was tried for the ofi'ence at the spring assizes at Durham,

February 26, 1830, and acquitted ; but the codicil being

admitted to be a forgery, the property devolved on
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General Marley, then serving in India. It now belongs

to John Ckivering, Esq., of Newcastle, and was for some

time occupied as a lunatic asylum by Mr. John E. AVil-

kinson, who has been succeeded by Mr. Cornelius Gar-

butt, of Gateshead.

SWALWELL.

The constablery of Swalwell lies upon the Darwent,

near its junction with the Tyne. Its population in

1811 was 1,393, and at the subsequent returns, 1,320,

1,372, 1,611,* and 1,429 ; the decrease in 1851 being

ascribed to the discontinuance of large iron works. The

number in that year consisted of 737 males and 692

females ; and there were 269 iahabited houses, 11 imia-

habited, and 1 building.

The village of Swalwell is 4 miles west-by-south from

Gateshead. Having been for many years the site of a

portion of the works of Sir Ambrose Crowley and his

successors, the buildings are tinged with smoke, and

irregularly built. Since the retirement of the company,

the place has been principally supported by private en-

terprise. There is an iron foundry belonging to Messrs.

Joseph and ]\Iiehael Spencer, a chain and anchor manu-

factory belonging to Edward Eobson and Co., a nail and

chain manufactory at High Forge belonging to —
Smith, a fire-brick manufactory belonging to Messrs.

Harrington and Co., and a saw-mill belonging to Mr.

L. Jopling. Messrs. Hoyle, Robson, and Co. have a

lamp-black manufactory; and Mr. T. Murray has a

manufactory for naphtha, acetate of soda, and charcoal.

There are also smiths, spade and shovel makers, shovel-

handle makers, and other tradesmen ; besides about a

dozen provision dealers, grocers, &c., a brewery, and

thirteen public houses. A Masonic Lodge was esta-

blished many j^ears ago. The Swalwell and Darwent

Haugh Mechanics' Institution consists at present of 97

members, and possesses a library containing 750 volumes

on various subjects. In the news-room, daily and weekly

newspapers and other periodicals are taken in. The

subscription to the whole is l^d. a week ; but, like other

similar institutions, its funds are occasionally assisted by

tea-parties and musical meetings. For this purpose, a

marquee has been recently purchased, at a cost of 80/.,

• To account for the increase in the population this year, the enu-

merator reconled the visit of " a company of strolling players
!"

+ Chaiilton Nesbit, an able artist, was born at Swalwell in 1773.

His father was a keelman, who, perceiving the bentof his son's genius,

apprenticed liim to the celebrated Thomas Bewick. His first large

work, on his own account, was engraving Johnson's view of St. Nicho-

las' clnirrli, on twelve distinct blocks of wood, which were joined and

cramped together. For this beautiful engraving he received the gold

for this institution and that at Whickham. The

music is supplied by the local bands. There are free

schools in the village for boys and girls, supported by

subscription, and attended by about 100 children. The

Ebcnezer Chapel, built in 1750, belongs to the Presbyte-

rians ; and the bodies of Wesleyan Methodists, Primitive

Methodists, AVesleyan New Connexion Methodists, and

Wesleyan Reformers, have each a chapel. The village

contains a post-office. On the west, a handsome bridge

of three arches crosses the Darwent, near the entrance

to Axwell Park. The river is navigable for keels and

wherries nearly up to this place,f

Sicalivell Eojjpiiig, held annually on "Whit-Monday,

was long famous for the exploits of " Crowley's Crew,"

who, like all isolated bodies of men, entertained both

jealousy and contempt for other classes :

—

" When we wor drest,

It was confest

We shemm'd the cheps frae Newcassell O;

So away we set

To wor toon gyet

To jeer them a' as they pass'd us 0.

We shouted some, and some dung doon
;

Lobstrop'lous fellows, we kick'd them ;

Some culls went hyem, some crush'd to toon,

Some gat aboot by Whickham 0."

According to Hatfield's Survey, " the tenants jointly

held the mill of Swalwell, the fishery there, and the toll

of ale, and used to pay thirty-eight pounds, now only

xx.s." In 1411, AVilliam, son and heir of William de

Swallowelles, quit-claimed all his father's lands in Swal-

lowelles and Whickham to John Fenwyk, chaplain, a

trustee for Roger Thornton, from whom the estate passed

to the Lumleys, and subsequently, about 1599, to Mat-

thew Ogle, Esq., since which time it has been intermixed

with the property of Axwell.

FELLSIDE QUARTER.

This constablery lies south and west of ^Vliickham, and

contains several small hamlets, with the estate of Gib-

side. The population was 501 in 1811, and, at the fol-

lowing enumerations, 455, 419, 593, and 1,608 ;
878 of

the latter number being males and 730 females.
^

In

1841, there were 126 inhabited houses, 13 uninhabited,

pallet from the Society of Arts. In London, his producUons tended

censiderably to revive the taste for wood engraving; but weaned of

the dissipations of the metropolis, he returned to Swalwdl, where he

lived in close retirement during twenty years, occupying himself with

gardening. On the death of his mother, to whom he was much at-

tached, he again repaired to London, for the purpose of resuming h.s

profession. He died at Brompton, near that city, on the llth Novem-

ber, 1838.
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and 2 building ; in 1851, 298 inhabited, 1 uninhabited,

and 1 building.

GiB<iDE.—This mansion was erected by Sir William

Blakiston in the reign ofJames I. It is delightfully seated

in a retired situation on the Darvvent, about 6 miles south-

west from >i'ewcastle. Nearly the whole of the south

front was rebuilt by John, tenth Earl of Strathmore,

with a strict regard to its original form, being embattled,

with deep bay windows divided by stone muUions and

transoms. Over the entrance-porch are the royal arms

of James I. mthin the garter, and beneath those of

Blakiston quartering Marley ; W[illiam] and I[ane]

[Blakistun], April 12, 1()20. These have bsen restored

in ftio .ninik, I. 15. S. 1805. On the north of tlie hall is

a terrace, which separates the back part of tlie house

from a steep descent into the Lady Ilaugh, a deej), rich

area of pasturage, surrounded by a rapid sweep of the

Darwent. In the interior of the mansion, the old draw-

ing room remains entire. Terms of Samson and Ilercu-

lus support a huge mantle-piece, above which are the

arms of the founder.

The house contains some most excellent paintings.

In the dining room is a large piece of Rubens' wife,

whilst pregnant, in a fruit-shop : it cost George Bowes,

Esq., 1,500 guineas. A poulterer's shop, with dead

game, is also a valuable painting ; the game and a fine

rough greyhound, by Snyders, the two human figures by

Rubens. Besides some other attractive pieces, there are

several interesting portraits of members of the Bowes

family.

A broad walk or terrace, nearly a mile in length,

leads to a handsome chapel, with a rich portico and

dome, highly embsllishod, intended by George Bowes,

Esq., for a chapel and mausoleum. It was completed

as a place of worship by John, tenth Earl of Strathmore,

who endowed tlie donative with a farm of land, worth

nearly 100/., at Laydonfield in Ravensworth, and 1,500/.

three per cent, stock, vested in trustees, partly for build-

ing a residence for the minister. A plot of ground is

enclosed for a burial-place. The chapel was consecrated

by Bishop Barrington on July 20, 1812 ; and the Rev.

James Blackburn, rector of Gainford, was the first chap-

lain. The whole of the Gibside estate is charged with

the future repairs of this domestic chapel.

At the other extremity of the terrace above men-

tioned, and rising above the woods as a terminating

object to the grand vista, is a fine Doric stone pillar, 140

* Ro^cr was son of Robert Hardin;^, one of the jiiRlices ilinoninl,

whose nncesU)', Henry Harding, is said to have foiiglit with WiJIiam

Seyntiaw, a Scotchman, befora King Robert Bruce at Perth, for his

feet in height, surmounted by a colossal figure (height,

12 feet) of Brilkh Liberty. In another part of the

grounds, the Banquetting House occupies a noble eleva-

tion : it is in the florid Gothic style, garnished with

pinnacles. Near it is a beautiful piece of water. The

park, which is 4 miles in circumference, exhibits the

most exquisite sylvan scenery. The green-house, bath,

and other buildings are executed in good taste, and some

of them in a superb style. The gardens are spacious

and well situated ; and the vinery and hot-beds are in

good order.

On August 25, 1851, the Inclosure Commissioners for

England and Wales gave notice, that John Bowes, Esq.,

of Streatlam Castle, had applied for an advance of 5,000/.

for the drainage of lands at Gibside.

The Marleys held Gibside and Jlarley Hill of the see

of Durham, in the time of Bishop Bury, by homage,

fealty, suit of court, and one mark exchequer rent. In

13M4, Richard de Marley's estates devolved to Alice de

Masham, at whose death in 1415, they reverted to her

grandson, Robert, ancestor of the second line of Marley,

who held Gibside till 1540. The last Richard de Mar-

ley, in 1534, contracted in marriage his daughter and

heiress, Elizabeth, to Roger Blakiston of Coxhoe. Ralph

Blakiston, of Gibside, suffered for his opposition to par-

liament in the time of Charles I., and was created a

baronet July 30, 1642. Sir Francis Blakiston, his son,

died in 1713, leaving an only surviving daughter, Eliza-

beth, who had intermarried with Sir William Bowes, of

Streatlam. George Bowes, Esq., third son of Sir Wil-

liam, and M.P. for the county of Durham, made Gibside

his principal seat. For an account of the Bowes family,

of Streatlam Castle and Gibside, see pp. 47-59. Gibside

is now the seat of William Hutt, Esq., M.P. for Gates-

head, in right of his wife, the dowager Countess of

Strathmore.

IToLLixsTDE.—The old manor-house of this estate

stands on a warm, wooded, and well-sheltered bank

above the Darwent, and to the east of Gibside. The

walls of the building are of great thickness, and some of

the windows retain their original form. One apartment

has the appciirance of a domestic chapel. In 1317,

HoUinside belonged to a family bearing the local name,

and after being in possession of the Rcdheughs, became,

by marriage, the property of Roger Harding, burgess of

Newcastle.* About the beginning of the 17th century,

coat of arms, vanquished his opponent, and established by right of

conquest bis indispiiUble title to a shield of giiles with three golden

greyhounda. This transaction is stated to have taken place in 1312.
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his descendants mortgaged the property, and, after long-

continued difficulties, the estate became, about 1 730, by

foreclosure of mortgage and convej'ances, tlie j^roperty

of the Bowes family.

Clockbiini Mill is turned by a little rivulet called

Dene Burn. Clochbnrn Lane is a deep, narrow road,

leading through the ravine on the east side of HolUnside.

It is said to be the track b}^ which Cromwell marched

with liis artillery, to cross the Darwent at Winlaton

ford, in 1650.

Fellside is a hamlet a short distance east of Gibside

Park, and contains a public house. John, Earl of

Strathmorc, bequeathed an endowment of 10/. to the

school, and a school-room with a dwelling-house for the

master ; but it is now given up. Sunniside is another

hamlet, near the Shotley Bridge road.

The HiirciinRS were afterwards seated at Beadnel, Northumberland.

John Hardiiif;. born in 1:!78, was admitted, at the age of 12, into the

family of Sir Henry Percy (Hotspur), and beearae one of the most

esteemed warriors of liis time. After the death of Percy, Harding

fought under the banner of Sir Robert Umfraville, aud became con-

stable of Warkworth Castle under King Henry IV., by whom he was

also employed on important missions. Notwithstanding his active

life, be found leisure to compile his " Chronicle of England unto the

reign of King Edward IV.," in verse, and, as a nietriail composilion,

beneath criticism, but, as a record of facts, highly interosting to the

English historian and anliqunry. It was first printed by Grafton in

1543, with a continuation to the ;)5th year of Henry YIII. A valuable

Marley Hill, to the south of Gibside, gave name to

a resident family so early as 1200. Mavky Hill Colliery

is one of those worked by John Bowes and Partners.*

The Hutton seam, 6 feet thick, is found at the depth of

25 fothoms
; the main coal, 4 feet, 8 fathoms further

;

the Busty bank, 5 feet 4 inches, 40 fathoms further; and
a seam supposed to be the Brockwell, 3 feet, 5 fathoms
further

; making a total depth of 78 fathoms.

Bird Hill is a neat and convenient house, west of Fell-

side, formerly the residence of Lady Anna-Maria Jessop,

and now of Mrs. Grimsby.

Crook G.\te is a hamlet on the south-western verge
of the parish, and partly in the chapelry of Tanticld

It contains a public house, and a land- sale coal-staith in

the valley which forms the parochial boundary.

edition was published by tlie booksellers of London in Ibia, with a
biographical and literary preface by Henry Ellis, Esq, The time of

Harding's death does not appear; but it could not have been before tie

completion of his work in 14e5, when he was in his 87 th year.

• An act of parliament WHS obtained, Augusta, 1835, for authorising

the sale of certain portiens of the real estates devised by the will and
eodi^ils of John Bowes, late Earl of Strathmore, and foraulhorising (he

purchase of other real estates, including lands held for long tenns of

years, to be settled to the uses of the said will and codicils, and for

extending the power of granting mining leases given Lj the said will

and for other purposes.

CHAPELRY OF MEDOMSLEY.

The chapelry of Jlcdomsley, itself a portion of the parish of Lanchester, originally consisted of three townships :

—

1, Medomsley, with Bradley, Byerside, Darwencote, and Hamsterley ; 2, Benfieldside, including Snows-Green,

Shotley Bridge, the Law, &c. ; and, 3, Consett and Knitsley. The chapelry is divided from Ryton by the Dar-

went on the north, from Tanfield chapelry and from Lanchester by the Pont Burn on the par :, and from North-

umberland by tlie Darwent on the west ; the chapelry of Muggleswick formerly forming the south-west boundary,

and that of Ebchester the north-west. In 1847, the chapelry of Benfieldside was formed, and separates Medomsley

from, the parish of Muggleswick.

MEDOMSLEY.

The township of Medomsley contains an area of 4,823

acres. In 1801, this township, with those of Benfield-

aide and Consett, contained a population of 754 persons.

At the succeeding periods of return, the numbers in

Medomsley alone were 391, 4G1, 466, 796, and 840;

434 of the latter being males and 406 females. There

were, at that time, 157 inhabited houses and 4 unin-

habited. The annual value of property assessed to the

county-rate in 1853 was 3,881/. lOs.

VOL. II.

The Stanhope line of the North-oastem Railway has

an extent of 1 m. 3 f. 88 y., and an area of 6 a. 1 r. in

this township, towards the local rates of which it contri-

buted 6/. 12s. 2d. in each of the years 1851 and 1852

;

the gross amounts collected being 250/. 14s. Z\d. in

1851, and 243/. 6s. 4if/. in 1852.

The village of Medomsley occupies a pleasant,

elevated, and healthy situation, surrounded by well-

cultivate 1 lands, aud commanding a fine view of the

beautiful vale of the Darwent and the Noithumberland

hills. It contains two public housea two sJ^qpa, a few

5e
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mechanics' woi'kshops, and several respectable dwellings *

The mansion house of the elder branch of the Hunter

family stands near the east end of the \'illage, and is

occupied by the viewer of Darwent colliery. The house

of General Hunter stands towards the west.

Encroachments having been made on the village

green, by the erection of some dwelling houses, a case

was prepared, and submitted to W. C. Walters, Esq., in

1840; and the legal opinion given was, that the said

erections were an encroachment.

One of the inhabitants of Medhelmslye joined the

rebellion in 1569, and suffered death in consequence.

Mcdomsley Colliery is worked by Edward Richardson,

Esq.,t and Old Mcdomsley by J. Richardson, Esq., Lang-

ley. In the former, the Hutton seam is foimd at the

depth of 14 fathoms, and the main coal, 4 feet thick, 6

fathoms lower ; the Busty bank seam, 8 feet thick, is 43

fathoms lower, making a total dejJth of 63 fathoms.

• > graphic sketch of domestic feud, gross superstition, and fearful

suffering, is contained in the evidence relative to the wiU of Thomas
Hopper of Medomsley, 1575-157G. Humphrey Hopper, his father,

produced, as a witness on his behalf, William Strothers, curate of

Shotley, who deposed to having been present when certain questions

relative to the property were put by the father to the son, and answered

in the affirmative. He added, however, that it was not till three weeks

after the death of Thomas Hopper that he waseallel upon to draw out

a will, founded upon those interrogatories, from tlie report ofwitnesses,

who deposed that the said Thomas was of sound mind, and had made
his father and ' the ehilde that his wyfe was withal, when }*t came to

lawfull aidg," his executors. The will was disputed by Agnes Hopper,

widow of Thomas, on w hose behalf, John Hunter, of Medomsley, de-

posed, in reference to the sanity of the deceased, " that for a treweth

this examinate hard the said Thomas say nothing of hymself at all that

tyme ; being more and one home and j, aither to the said Agnes, his

wyfe, this examinate, or to any other person, but said ' yee,' ' yee,"

when his father Uraphra asked hym any thing." Thomas Hunter and

Umphray Tainton bore testimony to the unsound state of mind of the

testator, w ho imagined that his goods were all stolen and carried off to I

Liddesdale ; and they added that "the said Uu)fr.<iy conjeured the

devyll when his sone was madd and raved." Alice Giynewell, senant.

deposed that when her master was asked by his father if he knew him,
;

" the said Thomas wold say, ' Thou art the hlak devell of Edeedsbrig.'

And then the said Umphray saynd the said Thomas and corssed hym.

and spytted, and said, 'Away, devUI,' many times." John Atkinsrn. of

the Espers, alias Lawson's House, deposed to having witnessed a

struggle between the father and son. " And Umphray culd gett no

rest of the said Thomas to he had cast hjTn doon on his bedd and lay

upon hym, and bad the said Thomas ' Lyg, lymer (lie, idle vagabond),

wilt thou not lig, lymer ?' and smote the said Thomas upon the chaffs

(jaws) dyvers tymes with the edge of his hand, saing ' Wylt thou troble

us all still?'" Discredit was thrown on the character of Humphrey's

\ritnesses; and certain debts alleged to be due from Thomas to his

brother and others were, in common opinion, supposed to be fabrica-

tions, and that he " shuld not he owing one grote."

+ The existing lease of the coal is for 21 years from May 13, 1844>

reserving a certain rent of aOOi. a year for l(iO tens of 440 bolls ; and a

tentale of 25s. for overworkings, Buljcct to a deduction of l-8th of the

Both collieries are near the western verge of the Durham
coal-field. The coals are conveyed by the Pontop line of

the North-eastern Railway, and shipped at South Shields,

and at the North Dock, Monkwearmouth.

At the date of Boldon Book, Medomsley was a free,

manor, held by a monied rent. The almoner of the

church of Durham held some lands at a remote date.

William, lord of Medomsley, is conjectured to have been

ancestor of the Feltons, who were early proprietors of

the estate. Edmund Hastings acquired Medomsley and

Hamsterley by marriage with the heiress of the Feltons
;

and his great-grandson. Sir Roger Hastings, of Fenwick

Tower, sold this manor, before August 1, 1490, to George

Carr, merchant, of Newcastle, ancestor of the Carrs of

Cocken. This family was in possession of the estate in

1656. Property in Medomsley was obtained by the

Hunters in 1584 ;J and further additions were progres-

coal won for engines, pitmen's honses, and other colliery purposes

;

and also subject to an agreement with Mr. Richardson for the ironstone

which may be collected or obtained in the workings of the coal, for a

term of 18} years from Martinmas, 1S41, at a certain rent of 'iOl. per

annum for 800 tons of ironstone, and 9d. per ton for overworkings.

Both the lease and agreement may be surrendered by the tenant at the

end of any year, on giving 1'2 months' notice.

J The HrxTEU Family.—Christopher Hunter, an eminent physician

and antiquary, was the only son of Thomas Hunter, of Medomsley,

Gent., by his second wife, Margaret Eeadshaw. He was born in July,

167i, and early became an orphan. His studies at St. John's college,

Cambridge, were partly under Mr. Thomas Baker (see p. fi60), from

whom, it is probable, much of his taste for antiquarian lore was de-

rived. He first settled at Stockton, and, in 17(W, was married, at

Durham cathedral, to Elizabeth, one of the two daughters and co-

heiresses of John Elrington, Esq., of Kspersheels. He aftenvards took

up his residence at Durham, and, in addition to his handsome for-

tune, had an extensive medical practice. His leisure was employed in

assisting the labours of several eminent antiquaries and local historians,

amongst whom may be named Horsley, Gordon, Dr. Lister, AVilkins,

and Bourne. Dr. Hunter, at one time, intended to comjjile a History

of the Diocese of Durham ; and, in 1743, be published proposals for

printing by subscription, " Antiquitates Parochiales Dioces. Dunelm.

hucusque ineditse." He was entrusted by Thomas Bowes, Esq., of

Streatlam Castle, with the arrangement of the " Bowes Papers," since

published by Sir Cuthbert Sharp. Some of Dr. Hunters MSS. are

in the cathedral library, and others in private hands ; but many, it is

feared, are lost. In the spring of 1757, he retired to his wife's estate

at Unthank. in the parish of Shotley, Northumberland, where he died^

July l:nh following, in the 83rd year of his age.

William Hunter, Esq., who died in 171'2, had, by Barbara his wife, J

two daughters and four sons, viz., Richard, of Clarewood, Northumber- J

land ; Luke, of ChoUerton, in the same county ; Thomas, of Billing,
j

side ; and Robert, of Medomsley, who married, in 1715, Dorothy, I

daughter of— Johnson, of Ebchester Hill, and left, at his decease, twoJ

daughters and a son. Cuthbert Hunter, Esq., of Medomsley. He mar- i

ried, in 1740, Anne, daughter of the Rev. Martin Nixon, rector ofJ

Wooler and vicar of HaltwhisUe, and died in 180(1, leaving by her, who ,|

died in 1791, three sons and five daughters. The eldest son, General
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sively made, and divided amongst the different branches

of the family.*

THE CHURCH.

" No one knew better than the ancient architects," says

Billings, " how to suit their designs to an intended site.

While the lofty spire of Chester-le-Street is applicable

to the protected valley, the stunted spire at Boldon may
be instanced as an adaptation to an exposed locality ; and

the position of the church now to be noticed (Medoms-

ley) has been equally studied. It stands on the summit

of the unsheltered lofty hills on the confines of Durham

and Northumberland, and consists of a low, almost flat-

roofed nave, a chancel, and a porch and vestry, all lower

even than the modern cottages which adjoin it. From
its weather-beaten, unpromising exterior, we should

never imagine the existence of the little early English

gem" presented by the interior of the chancel. The

nave is 66 feet long by 22 wide, and the chancel 35 feet

long by 15 5 wide ; the whole containing accommodation

for 280 persons. The nave has one single and two

double lights on the south, and one small light on

the west. The chancel opens from the nave under a

fine pointed arch, springing from corbels. The east

window is formed of three lancet lights, the piers orna-

mented with slender shafts or columns, belted in the

midst, and surmounted by foliated capitals. In the wall

on each side of the chancel, below the altar steps, are

two corbel heads, crowned and mitred, similar to those

at Lanchester (see p. 648). Remains of early English

crosses which have fallen from the roof, and other orna-

ments, are scattered over the chancel, in the south wall

of which a sort of decorated niche is closed up. The

Sir Martin Hunter, G.C.M.G. and G.C.H., of Medomsley.and of Anton's

Hill, Berwickshire, was born September 0, 1757, and married, Septem-

ber 13, li!)7, Jean, only daii;;hter and heiress of James Dickson, Esq.,

of Anion's Hill, and by her had issue, 1, James, a major in the army •

2, Matthew. Dysart; 3, Robert-Mac Keller, captain E.I.C.S., Bengal;

4, George-Martin, lieut, R.N., comnianding H.M. brig Cameleon ; 5,

WUlinm. E.I.C. civil service, died May 8, 1838 ; 6, Thomas-Harvey,

lieut. E.I.C.S., Bengal. Also, Jean, married, in 1830, to George Dick-

son, Esq.. of Belchesler, Berwickshire ; and Anne, Mary-Grey, and

Margaret- Dysart. The family crestof the Hunters is a deer's head.

• The landed property in this district has been thus described :

—

The Manor Estate at Medomsley contains .'547 a., including Burdon's

Garth, a field at Medomsley, and gardtm ground, with the JIanor

House, a public house, and dwellings in the village. An estate at Bil-

lingside contains lOU a. of copyhold land and 3!) a. of freehold. West

Farm contains l.')5 A. 2 ii. 37 p. ; lilljos commuted at iM. !}*., and pay-

able in moieties to the representatives of Gi^neral Sir Martin Hunter

and Messrs. Brooksbank anil Allgood—a freehold rent of (J.s., and in

respect of 25 a. 1 B. 2 p., formerly pait of Lanchester Common, 8s. t>d.

font is an old stone basin, with round mouldings, resting

on a stone shaft and square pedestal.

In the church-yard are two ancient stone coffins, on

one of which is sculptured a sword suspended from a

cross. The other is ridged, and bears an inscription on
one side, which has been rendered, " Mater Dei,

miserere mei."

Registers.—Book No. 1 contains entries of baptisms,

burials, and marriages from 1608 to 1723, interrupted

by No. 2, containing baptisms from 1608 to 1799, burials

from 1608 to 1754 and 1783 to 1797, and marriages

from 1608 to 1747. No 3 contains baptisms from 1800

to 1812, and burials from 1798 to 1812 ; and Nos, 5 and

6, marriages from 1754 to 1812. The marriage register

from 1748 to 1753 is lost.

Medomsley perpetual curacy is in the deanery of

Chester, not in charge, and pays no first fruits nor pro-

curations. Patron, the college of Lanchester, olim,

now the Bishop of Durham. Dedication to St. Mary
Magdalen.

Curates.—Robt. Wright oce. 1.501 ; John Crosby, 1561 ; Wm. Stra-

dish, 1564 ; Sir Geo. Thompson, 15(i6 ; John Graunger, 1578 ; Myles

Watmough, 1582 ; Geo. Wrightson oec. 16—; And. Leach, A.M., 1635 ;

Christ. Collison. cl. ; Jon. JeH'erson, cl., 173(1 ; Wm. Ellison, A.M.,

1784 ; Robt. Clarke, 1820 ; Edmund J. Midgley, 1838.

A glebe-house is now attached to the li\ang. In

the returns of 1830, the gross income is stated at 66/.,

subject to the permanent payment of 6/. The incumbent

at that time held also the living of Ebchester. Since

that period, 100/. per annimi has been granted from the

manor of Whickham, in augmentation of the living of

Medomsley. By order in council, dated the 13th, and

gazetted the 17th day of June, 1853, the annual sum of

14/., by half-yearly payments on the 1st of May and the

acre money, are payable to the Bishop of Durham. The Middle Farm
contains 11!) A. 2 n. 32 p. ; a portion of the estate tithe-free; the re-

mainder commuted at a corn-rent of 101. 17s., payable in moieties as

above—a freehold rent of fis., and in respect of 14 A. 3 n. 23 p., formerly

part of Lanchester Common, 4s. W^i. acre money, are payable to the

Bishop of Durham. The East Farm contains 125 a. 3r. 31 p. ; tithes

commuted at IIJ. 12s., payable in moieties as above—a modus of 2d. in

lieu of hay tithe for 6a. 1 r. 23 p. Allendale Farm contains 123 a. Or.

22 p. ; tithes commuted at Xil. 5s., payable in moieties as above—a free-

hold rent of 6«. payable to the bishop. Billingside Farm contains

147 A. R. 12 p. ; the ancient copyhold pays 2s. yearly to William Job-

ling, in lieu of the tithe of corn, and 40». to Thomas Cookson, Esq./ in

lieu of all other tithes. The freehold allotments in Medcjmsley were

formerly part of Lanchester Common, and pay. in commutation, 2(. 3».

iSd. for corn tithe, in moieties as above ; and the rents payable to the

bishop are, for the ancient copyhold !)«. lid. acre money, and for the

allotments 1(. 4s. 2)d. The Manor House, and i) a. 1 r. 13p. old grass

land, are let on lease to Edward Richardson, Esq. ; com rent las., in

lieu of tithes, in moieties as above.
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1st of November in each year, was granted by the eccle-

siastical commissioners to the Rev. E. J. Midgley,

perpetual curate of Medomsley, by way of compensation

for the diminution of fees, dues, and other emoluments,

caused by the establishment of the new district of

Benfieldsidc. The net income is now 150/. a year.

CHARITIES.

Charities of Hunter and others.—John Hunter, in 1675,

John Cuming, and Mary Burton, gave several sums to

the poor of Medomsley, amounting to 30/. In 1785, 20/.

was in the hands of John and Cuthbert Hunter, in re-

spect of which, lOs. yearly has been distributed by their

descendants to poor women. One of the daughters of

John Hunter, Esq., wife of Stamp Brooksbank, Esq., of

the Hermitage, near Hexham, frequently sent sums of

money to George White, of Medomsley, for distribution

to poor widows in the village.

A sum of 10/., mentioned in the Parliamentary Re-

turns of 1786 as being in the hands of John Forster,

appears to be lost.

Bradley.—This manor adjoins Medomsley on the

south. William de Bradley held a messuage and 60

acres of the lord by the service of a rose and half a

pound of cumin. The Pools, Feltons, Thorntons, Lum-

leys, Newtons, and Waltons successively held the manor,

» This accomplished scholar and celebrated traveller was educated

at Scorton school in Yorkshire, and afterwards studied at Paris, Bor-

deaux, and Turin. He married Wurlha, daughter of John Baker,

Esq., of Chichester. Solicitor to the Leeward Isles ; and, in 1774, he

travelled with his lady on the continent, studying antiquities and the

fine arts. His '• Travels in Spain" was published in 1779 ; and the

first volume of his " Travels in the Two Sicilies" appeared four years

afterwards. By the marriage of an only surviving daughter to Paul

Benficld, Esq.. Mr. Swinburn became involved in the misfortunes of

his relation, and obtained a place in the newly-ceded settlement of

Trinidad, where he died in April, 1603.

+ At this date, the hall and grounds, then occupied by Genera] Wal-

ter Ker, comprised 70a. Sh. 31 p.; High Hainsterley Farm and wood,

120 a. 3 li. ;U p., was let at 1901. per annum ; Pont Burn mill, Low

Hanisterley Farm, and woods, 67 a. 1 n. (i p., were let at ViOl. ; South

Field Farm and wooils, 139 a. 1 n. 37 p., Udl. ; in hand, 30 a. R. 8 P.

;

Long Close wood, (li a. 1 r. 3 p. ; Ox Close wood, 30 A. 3 R. 34 P. ; and

Pont Burn public house and blacksmith's shop were let at Wl. 10s. a

year.

The Hamsterley branch of the Surlees family is traced to Cuthbert

Surtees, of Ebchester and of Medomsley, buried August 7, 1622, and

left issue two sons and three daughters. Anthony, eldest son, pur-

chased. May 5, 1020, Milkwell Bum. in the parish of Ryton, an estate

which is still in the possession of his descendant. He left issue two

sons, of whom the eldest. Robert, was baptized at Kbcliester, September

23, 1U33, and in 1663 married Isabel Newtuu. He died June 24, 1700,

which was eventually purchased by John Simpson, Esq.,

and now belongs to Lord Ravensworth (see p. 672).

Hamsterley Hall.—This estate, about 8 miles south-

wcst-by-west from Gateshead, and 5 north from Lan-

chester, contains 518 acres. The hall is a handsome

mansion-house, beautifully situated in a valley on the

Pont Burn. It is surrounded by a garden, pleasure-

grounds, and extensive full-grown plantations, which are

laid out in shrubbery walks, and refreshed by the bum
which flows through the grounds. The arrangements

were projected and partly executed by Henry Swinburn,

Esq.,* when proprietor, and completed by the late An-
thony Surtees, Esq.

Hamsterley gave name to a resident family at an early

date. Under Hatfield's Survey, it was held by John de

Felton, who paid 4/. Thomas Swinburn, of Capheaton,

purchased Hamsterley, before 1500, from Sir Roger

Hastings ; and it passed to the Nafierton branch of the

family, who retained possession till after 1645, when it

passed by marriage to William Swinburn, Esq., of Cap-

heaton, grandfather of the first baronet. In 1762, Sir

John Swinburn devised Hamsterley to his brother,

Henry Swinburn, Esq., whose eldest son, Thomas, in

1806, debased to his wife, Frances. In 1810,f the estate

was conveyed to Anthony Surtees, Esq., and is now the

property of Robert Smith Surtees, Esq., J.P.J

leaving issue six sons and four daughters. Anthony Surtees, Gent.,

his heir, died September 8, 1724, leaving issue four sons, Anthony,

son of Cuthbert, fourth son. was major of the Northumberland militia,

of which he had the command at the time of Lord George Gordon'3

riots, where the well-known services of the corps were successful. He
died unmarried, July 20, 1803, aged CO.

Robert, eldest son of Anthony Surtees, above named, married Cathe

rine Bartram, and died April 12, 1759, aged 03, having had issue two

sons and three daughters. Anthony, the eldest son, died in the life-

time of his father ; and the second son, Robert, married Ann Hunter
of Dukesfield, Northumberland, and died July 5, 1811, aged 70. An-

thony Surtees. Esq., only son, who succeeded his father in the posses-

sion of Jlilkwell Bun;, and was devisee of considerable property from

Col. Surtees, of.\ckworth, was the purchaser of Byerside and Hamster-

ley Halls. He was in the commission of the peace of the county of

Durham, and died March 5, 183H, leaving by his wile, Alice, sister of

Christopher Blackett, Esq., M. P. for Northumberland, (which lady was

born March 14, 1801, and died in 1827.) issue several children, of

whom Anthony, eldest son, died unmarried at jMalta, March 24, 1831.

Robert Smith Surtees, who succeeded his father, is a magistrate and
deputy lieutenant for the county of Durliam, a magistrate for the bo-

rough of Gateshead, and is known in the literary and sporting world as

the author of a novel called " Handley Cross, or the Spa Hunt," &c-

He married, at Bishopwearmouth, May 29, 1841, Elizabeth-Jane,

daughter and co-heiress of Addison Fenwick, Esq., and has issue a

daughter.

Arms—Erm.. on a gules, an orb, or, otherwise, an escutcheon, arg.

Cbesi—Xlu'ee feathers, out of a coronet.
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Byerside is seated on the Darwent. It was anciently

the proi^erty of the old lords of Dalden, whose heiress,

Maude, widow of Sir William Bowes, died seised of the

estate in 1420. In 1560, it was sold by the Boweses to

William Stevenson, yeoman, of Blackhall ; and Anne,

eventually sole heiress of the last Ambrose Stevenson,

who died in 1741, became the wife of John Hall, Esq.,*

whose grandson, John Wharton, Esq., M.P. for Bever-

ley, sold Byerside to the late Anthony Surtees, Esq., of

Hamsterley.

Darwencote lies in the valley of the river from which

it derives its name. It consists of the dwelling house,

and 79 acres of land, of which about 2| acres are in-

cluded in the Darwent and Shotley Bridge turnpike

• John Hall. Esq., of Skelton Castle, Yorkshire, after his marriage

look the name and arms of Stevenson. He died in March, 1785, in tlie

fl/th year of Iiis age. He was a man of singular genius and taste, as

road. It is subject to a fee-farm rent of 13.s. 4d., pay-

able to the Marquis of Bute.

In 1569, Darwencote was forfeited by the attainder

of John Swinburn of Chopwcll, and was alienated by

Sir William Constable, grantee of the crown, in 1614,

to William Carr, Esq., of Cocken. In 1661, the estate

was divided, when Ambrose Stevenson, Gent., of Byer-

side, became possessed of the easternmost lot, including

the mill ; the mansion house and adjoining lands fell to

Eobert Surtees, and the most westerly portion to George

Surtees. Stevenson's portion afterwards became, by

purchase, the property of the late Anthony Surtees,

Esq. The mansion house is at present occupied by —
Eddowes, Esq.

may be inferred from the fact of his having been the Eugrnius of

Sterne's " Sentimental Journey." He was the author of several talented

works, both in poetry and prose.

CHAPELRY DISTRICT OF BENFIELDSIDE.

IHE chapelry district of St. Cuthbert, Benfieldside, formed by order in council, September 3, 1847, consists of all

that part of the parochial chapelry of Medomsley, in tlie parish of Lauchester, comprised within the township of

Benfieldside, and such portion of the township of Conside and Knitsley, in the same chapelry, as is situated on the

northern side of the Dean Burn, the Howans Gill, and Knitsley Burn, and also all those small detached portions

of the parochial chapelry and township of Ebchester, in the same parish, situate to the south of the high road from

Shotley Bridge to Durham by Tinkler-hiU.

This district chapelry is not licensed according to the

act of 6 and 7 Wm. IV. The population, in 1851, was

5,475, consisting of 2,987 males and 2,488 females ; and

there were, at the same date, 957 inhabited hou.ses, 176

uninhabited, and 1 biulding.

BENFIELDSIDE.

There is no towTi or viUage of the name of Ben-

fieldside. The township comprises ajk area of 1,834

acres. In 1801, its population was returned with that

of Medomsley; in 1811, it was 275 ; in 1821, 341; in

1831, 534; in 1841, 1,074, including 81 visitors to the

watering place at Shotley Bridge ; and in 1851, 2,476,

of whom 1,282 were males and 1,193 females. In 1841,

there were 175 inhabited houses, 6 uninhabited, and 26

building; and in 1851, 445 inhabited and 116 unin-

habited. The annual value of property assessed to the

county-rate in 1853 was 4,166/. lO.s.

Benfieldside is 14 miles north-west from Durham, and

12 west-south-west from Newcastle. The BishojDS of

Durham have, from time immemorial, appointed foresters

VOL. II.

or keepers of their woods at Benfieldside. The manor

was divided amongst many tenants at the time of Hat-

field's Survey. Several portions of land are held under

the dean and chapter of Durham. The remote district

of " Beufellsyde" fm-nished two persons to the rebellion

of 1569, one of whom was executed.

THE CHUECH

Is built on elevated ground on the south-east of Shotley

Bridge, with a spacious terrace at the west and south sides

of the building. The site commands an extensive view of

the distant hills, the richly wooded valley of the Darwent,

and terminates, in the foreground, with the river and

the ornamental and picturesque grounds of Shotley Hall.

The church, which is dedicated to St. Cuthbert, is

built after the early English style of the 13th century,

from designs by John Dobson, Esq., Newcastle ; it con-

sists of nave and clerestory, chancel, north aisle, and a

projecting vestry, finishing, at the west end, with a

tower and spire of about 100 feet high ; the whole pro-

ducing a bold and varied outline. The interior of the

6p

Thank you for purchasing from Ebay Shop Retromedia

http://stores.shop.ebay.co.uk/retromedia


700 CHESTER WAED—WEST DIVISION.

edifice is fittel up with open seats, capable of accom-

modating 394 persons. The open roofs are of ornamental

timber, the chancel floor laid with encaustic tiles, and

the entire interior highly finished in an appropriate

style of architecture. The foundation stone was laid

ilan^h 7, 1 '49 ; and the cost of the building was

2,fi9()/. 7fi. 4d., independent of the ground, wliich was pre-

sented by Thos. Wilson, Esq., of Shotley Hall, and who

also contributed upwards of 450/. towards the building.

In the second report of the ecclesiastical commissioners,

June 10, 1847, Benfieldside is inserted in the list of

districts agreed to be constituted, and in progress towards

completion, under the Church Endowment Act, 6 and 7 I

Vict., c. 37. In the third report, February 7, 1851, it

is returned as constituted under the loth section of the I

act, with a population of 2,8"20 ; and a grant of 400/.
;

from the Maltby Fund was announced, towards the

erection of a parsonage house This mansion stands on

the hill side below the church, and cost 1,300/.,

towards which the Bishop of Durham contributed 200/.

The patronage of the living is vested alternately in the

queen and the Bi.shop of Durham. The Rev. Frederick

B. Thompson is the present incumbent : net income,

150/. a year.

SHOTLEY BRIDGE.

The town of Shotley Brilge is situated on the Durham
bank of the Darwent, opposite to the parish of fShotley,

Korthumberland. The river is here crossed by a bridge

(which gives name to the town) on the road from Dur-

ham, by way of Lanchester, to Hexham. An act was

passed, July 30, 1831, for 31 years, " for more effectually

repairing and improving the road between the city of

Durham and Shotley Bridge." In the vicinity of the

stream, the scenery is wild and romantic, consisting of

rich haugh grounds adorned with native woods.*

A considerable portion of the property formerly be-

longed to members of the Society of Friends ; and one

of the first of their meeting-houses in the north of Eng-

land was established in the township, at which, accord-

ing to " Turner upon Providence," " the devil in much
wrath appeared to snatch away the kej' wliich was to

imprison him for ever." Though the members of this

early congregation gradually dispersed themselves to

• In IKaO. a grave was discovered iu a field near Shotley Bridge,

containing n skeleton doubled together. It has been asserted that this

mode olsepulture nas someliuies alopted in Ibrmer times.

A procession of nearly 100 horsemen, accompanied by carriages

more commerciil places, and the meeting-house was

tot-.dly abandoned, the recent establishment of iron works

in the neighbourhood afforded an inducement for the

improvement of t lie place, which has not been neglected

by this enterprising body, some of the most influential

of whom have residences at Shotley.f The extension of

the village has also been facilitated by its reputation as a

watering place.

One of tlie earliest branches of business established in

this place was by a colony of German sword-cutlers, who,

about the time of William III., forsook their native land

in pursuit of religious liberty, and settled in the valley

of the Darwent, where they intermarried, with the inha-

bitants, and gradually forgot the language of their

" fatherland.'" The original names of Woper, Ilenkals,

Vooz, Moll, and Faws have disappeared ; and that of

Oley alone remains. Inscriptions in German, above the

door-ways of two houses, record the cause of their

emigration.

Shotley Grove paper-mills belong to Messrs. Annan-

dale, who manufacture first-class paper, their machi-

nery is driven principally by steam power. There

are also a water flour-mill, four public houses, and

several shopkeepers and tradesmen. A tin-plate manu-

factory was established in the vicinity of the to\\'n,

by E. O. Tregelles and Co., in 1830, but is now

used for the fabrication of sheet iron. A gas company

has recently been established, with a capital of 6.000/.,

in 25/. shares, and will supply Shotley Bridge,

Blackhill, Berry Edge, and Leadgate. The supply of

water is from springs, and is of good quality. Shotley

Grove school, with a residence for the master, was erected

by Mrs. Annandale, and is attended by about 120

children, who pay for their education. There is also a

boarding school for young ladies. A mechanics' insti-

tution and reading room was established in 1846, under

the piitronage of the Bishop of Durham, and consists of

about 90 members, vho possess a library of upwards of

700 volumes, with a large lecture-room. Two fairs are

held annually in the vilhige, on the Mondays before

May 13 and November 11 ; and hirings for servants

take place twice a year. A floral and horticultural show

is held annually in September, and an agricultural show

in the following month. Petty sessions are held once a

Jonathan K. Kichardson, Esq.. and his bride, on their return from their

wedding tour, and escorted them to their home in the town with de-

ninnstriitions of joy ; after which a complimentar)- address was deli-

ven-d.—About 5::0 pci-sons were entertained at U'a, on tlie niai liage of

Mr. J. I'riesiman, jun.. at Sholley. iu 1B.)3. to Miss Ilichanlson ; when
and a large number of persons on foot, on the 13th of June, 1850, met jj John Bright, Esq., M.P., addressed the assembly on the uccosiun.
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fortnight at Sliotley Grove, and a county court once a

month.

A large IVes/ojau Methndid chapel has recently been

erected, in the early English style, capable of accom-

modating 500 persons, and having a school-room beneath :

it cost l,;i(>0/. 'Jhe Priinitirc Mefhodist vIkijwU in Wood
Street, is a plain substantial building, with a school-room,

erected in 1852, at a cost of 400/., and contains 3()0

sittings. The Wednjitn Reformers have also a small

chapel. The Baptixf vlifipcl, with a minister's house

attached, was erected in 1851, on a site given by Mr.

Annandale, at an expense of 700/., and will accommodate

200 persons. The Rev. George Whitehead is minister

;

and there is a school in connexion with the chapel.

The Spa.—A tradition long prevailed in the neigh-

bourhood of Shotley that a holy well once existed on the

grounds. When Jonathan Richardson, Esq., purchased

the property, he discovered, after diligent and repeated

search, the present medicinal .spring, which he imme-

diately proceeded to render available for the public good.

The spring rises on a beautiful level haugh on the verge

of the Darwent, which is surrounded and overhung with

thick woods. The water, it is believed, had, for acentury,

been allowed to overspread the ground around it, without

any direct channel into the river. Two neat cottages

have been erected on the spot, one of which contains a

saloon or meeting-room ; and the other comprises two

bath-rooms, with a shower-bath and a dressing-room in

the centre. These rooms, as well as the baths themselves,

are lined with white tiles, and have mahogany borders.

The spring first discovered is surrounded by rustic trellis-

work, with a conical thatched roof. A second spring,

of greater strength, has since been found. The first was

analy.sed by Jlr. A^'illiam West, practical chemist,

Leeds, and the second by Dr. Clanny of Bi.shopwear-

mouth. Their respective component parts are as

follow :

—

• The ancient usages of society, with regnnl to courtship, are exem-

plitied in the case of Thomas Solye and VVilliani Hcadlye against

Agnes Sniitli, of the Liiwe, in causa ninlrimoniiili. ir)71 :

—

James Elmeilon. of Hudhy. Voiksliirc, deposed that Thomas Solfv

6nu liimself were hronjjht to the house of Miii(,'aiet Sniilli hy Percival

Gibson. At wljat tynie they all Ihie was well lakon withnll, and

welcome. And the said Tlinmas Soh>y was n suitor to the .said Mar-

garett for the goodwill of hir (hiiifjhter, the said Asnes, at the said

Percivall nioeioii. heiri;,' the said Jlnrpirett Kynsman. And after that

the said Percivall and Mar{;arett had talked secrcihe togither, the said

Margarett, in the preseiic of this cxuniinate, gave the said Thomas
Soley hir good wytl of the aforesaid Agnes; and thereupon they tow,

the said Thomas and Agnes, talked togither ahout an liouer of matri-

monyu to be had bytwixt thera two, so audiently, that this deponent

CONTEXTS OF AN IMPERIAL GALI.OX.

01.11 WFI.I,. NEW WELL.

Chloride of sodium - 177 grains - 013 J grains.

Chloride of calcium - 30 ,, - 91 J ,,

Chloriile of magnesium J „ - 2 „

Carbonate of iron - 5? „ - 9J „

Carbonate of soda - l:ij „ - 2" J „

Silii^a .... .3 „ -
:ii

Bromine - - less than a grain a trace.

Iodine - . . a trace - a tnice.

Potash - - . a trace - a tiace.

Cai bonie acid gas . 10 cubic inclies l.'i cubic inches.

Carburetted hydrogen - a „ - Oj „

Nitrogen - - . 11! „ . 3J „

The taste of ihe water is agreeably saline. On standing,

it becomes turbid, and forms an ochrey deposit. When
boiled, minute crystals form upon the surface—the resi-

duum effervesces briskly with acids.

The high character given to the water on its discovery,

and the beauty of the surrounding scenery, at first

attracted considerable numbers of persons to the locality;

but the vicinity of the neighbouring iron works, ;ind the

difficulty of procuring economical accommodation for

invalids, have caused this delightful watering-place to

be nearl)' deserted. It is anticipated, however, that the

opening of the projected railway between Stocksfield, on

the Newcastle and Carlisle line, and Conside, will, by

facilitating access to the district, tend to revive the

popularity of Shotley Spa.

Skows-Green stands on elevated ground, a mile to

the south-east of Shotley Bridge. It is the residence of

Thomas and Jonathan B. Itichardson, Esqrs., and con-

tains a meeting-house belonging to the Society of Friends.

The estate contains 415 a. 3 n. 12 p., free of grait tithes,

butaportion subjcctto rectorial tithes; land-tax \l \(}\.'id_

Siioir-s-Grrcii HaiKjIm contain 70 a. Or. 2(5 p., tithe-free and

clear of all out-goings, except 2s. Qd. land-tax.

The IjAws, which has belonged to the Smiths* since

the time of Queen Elizabeth, is also on high ground

hard; also the said Margarett and Periuvall might have hard them-

Mary, the said Margarett, at therdeparting, appnintyd ilie said Thomas

Soloy to come tliither again upon Mydsomer evon, then ne.it after;

and in the mean time she wold talke with hir friends, and then gyve

the said Thomas an awnswer, for that a wedoo man, as she the said

Margaret then alledged. was a suitor to the said Agnes."

At the visit on Midsumiiitr eve. according to the same deponent, the

said Miirgaiet and Percival ' went to the waike tyere, which was a

great way of in a banke syde," whilst he himself went to bed, leaving

Thimias and Agnes alone. At breakfast in the morning, the mother

said that, '• for hir part, she gave the saiil Thomas hir good will of the

said .\gnes as I'rely ns God gave hir to hir. Whereupon the said Tho.

mas Soley toko the said Agnes by the band, and said, • Here 1 give the

my fuilh and trewilh, aad lorsako all other women for the, so long at
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to the north of Snows-Green. Bridge Hill and Blackfim

are copyhold farms in the township of Benfieldside.

Black Hill is a large and increasing village in the

township of Benfieldside, containing chapels belonging

to the "Wesleyan and Primitive Methodists, and two

schools, one of which is supported by the Darwent Iron

Company, and the other by 0. Tregelles and Co. Tlie

works carried on here by both companies, especially the

former, are of the most extensive description. The

Conside Iron "Works (see vol. i., p. 186), the property of

the Darwent Company, were established at Berry Edge

and at this place about the year 1841, and are now the

largest in the kingdom, employing upwards of 5,000

persons. Iron in its different varieties, from pig iron to

finished bar iron, is manufactured; and there are exten-

sive rolling mills for producing plates for boiler, ship-

building, and other purposes.* In connexion with these

works there are several collieries, the property of the

company, t
Black Hill Forge belongs to Henry Eitson and Co.,

timber merchants, and mauufactui-ers of shovels, spades,

nails, &c. The village contains four public houses, three

beer-shops, a post-office, and a great number of shop-

keepers and tradesmen.

God send us to lyve tagithci-.' .4nd the said Agnes answered imme-

diately even then to hjm, ' And I, Agnes, take the, Thomas, to my
husband, and forsake all other for the," and so kyssed her, and put a

ring upon hir fynger." .Percival Gibson deposed to the same effect.

Agnes Smith, on oath, denied having encouraged the suit of Soley,

when he applied to her mother. " She saith that, for hir own part,

Bhe was betrowthed thre yeres agoo to William Headley, of Woodsyd,

before Eddy Synison, and William Stevenson, in somer, at hir, this

exominate's, mother's house, and so was not free to make the said

Thomas any promes, nor made hym any such promes as is here libel-

lat,—He offered her a pair of cloves, but she refused, and wold not take

them." The witnesses on her part were Lionell Nevill, of Wolsing-

ham, and John Ne«ll, of Whittynslaw, Northumberland, whose evi-

dence went to inculpate the character of Percival Gibson, as " hanntynge

the company of certain suspectyd persons, was of evill demeanour, and

countyd to be gyven to ydleness and stelinge."

William Hedley also produced his witnesses. John Simpson, of

the Lawe. related that he had can'ied " a bowed grote and a bowed Cd.

as tokens" from Headley to Agues. Edward Sympson deposed that

'• upon Pace monday was a twelnionlli last past, at after noone toward

evening, as this cxaminate and William Headley and Agnes Sniithe

came from Ebchester towerd the said Lawe, where they had bein mak-

ing merye, they satt downe in one medow close in Ebchester west

feild." Here the ceremony of plighting troth was performed ; Hedley

presenting Agnes with two crooked coins, and she presenting liimwith

a gold ring. The deponent added that, " after that tyme, he, this ex-

aminate, thought in his consciens that they two were man and wyfe

before God, and culde have no other."

• From Consett Iron Works there were sent to the Great Exhibition

in 1851—1, A railway plate or rail, Cfi} feet long, and weighing 17 cwt.

1 qr. 46 lb., or 85 lb. per yard, i, Plate for iron ship, 20 fcet long, 3i

CONSETT (or COXSIDE) CUM KNITSLEY.

This township contains 2,617 acres In 1801, its po-

pulation was returned with that of Medomsley ; and, in

the subsequent returns, it is stated at 139, 141, 146,

195, and 2,777 ; 1,589 of the latter number being males

and 1,188 females. The number of houses had increased

from 34 inhabited and 5 uninhabited in 1841, to 480

inhabited and 57 uninhabited in 1852. The annual

value of property assessed to the county-rate in 1853,

was 7,517/.

The Stockton and Darlington railway extends 1 m.

6 F., and covers 15 a. 3 k. in this township. Its contri-

butions to the local rates, in 1851 and 1852, were 4/.

14.S. 6f/. and 21. 2s. ; the gross amounts collected in those

years being 286/. 13s. 2d. and 151/. Is. lOrf.

The name of Consett is a corruption of Conlrshered

;

though the Coulee, or Chester Burn has not its rise here.

The word is now iisually rendered Conside. By Boldon

Book, Arnold Pistor held Conkesheved in exchange for

Trillesden, vmder 24-5. rent. Half the manor was vested

in Thomas Grey, Chivaler, who died ia 1370. Sir

Thomas Grey, who was attainted imder Henry V., was

possessed of the whole ; and the estates were restored to

the family by Bishop Neville. One moiety of Consett

feet broad, and 7-16ths of an inch thick; weight, 11} cwt. 3, Beam
for marine engine, 17 feet 2 inches long, 4 feet 8 inches extreme

breadth, IJ inch thick, weight 25 cwt. Each of these monster pieces

was stamped, " Consett Iron Works—George Porster, manager."

+ The following laudatory remarks appear in Mr. Tremenheere's

Report on the Mining Districts in 1854:—"These important works

are undergoing still further increase, and are collecting round them a

proportionately large mass of people. The just, firm, and judicious

piinciplcs of management adopted from the beginning by the Company

and their agents, have had the effect of overcoming, in a comparatively

short time, most of the difSculties generally incident to the sudden col-

lection of lai-ge bodies of men, who are usually not the steadiest and the

best of their class in the neighbourl oods they have left. After a few

somewhat violent but decisive struggles for the mastery as regards wages

and other matters, in which the men were not entitled and did not suc-

ceed, and after the gradual ' weeding out ' of some of the least reasonable

among them, a feeling of mutual confidence is being estabhslied, and

appears to be fully justified by the numerous pioofs given by the Com-

pany of theii- sense of responsibility to the community which they have

called into existence. Where, a few years ago, there was little else

than wild moorland, there has been collected since 1841 a population

of near 20,000 souls ; and at no works is there a greater desire that, to

the elements of successful industn,-, which are there so abundant,

should he united the means by which that industry may be elevated

and improved. I therefore found, as I anticipated, among tlie pro-

prietors and managers of this important and growing establishment, a

zealous feeling in favour of the proposed measure for extending educa-

tion among the boys working underground ; ample opportunities for

which already exist in the schools that have been built and are aided

by the Company."
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became, about 15G5, the property of John Hall, of

Birtley (see vol. i., p. 443). The other half, which had

been held from 1481 by the Middletons, was purchased,

in 1572, by Henry Anderson, merchant. The Blenkin-

Bops occur as proprietors in Consett in 1685. In 1695,

the estate became, by purchase, the property of the

Wilkinsons of Durham, who held it tiU it was sold by

Thomas Wilkinson, Esq., to Robert Curry, Esq., of

Bishopoak. Consett Park has been for more than two

centuries the property of the Rippons. The principal

proprietors in the township at present are, the Countess

of Coventry, Jonathan Richardson, Esq., Robert Taylor,

Esq., George Baker, Esq., the heirs of the late John

Laybume, Esq., and the heirs of the late G. Blacke, Esq.

The Hoicem, bordering on the vale of Knitsley, was

sold by the Burnops, about the year 1690, to the Bakers,

and is now the property of Baker Baker, Esq., of

Kllemore.

Knitsley, a joint township with Consett, gave name

to its ancient possessors, the Knycheleys. It was free

land in the time of Hatfield's Survey, and, in 1380, had

become the property of the Surtees family. It afterwards

belonged to the Claxtons and the Euros, and is now the

property of Viscount Deerhurst.

The farm called Knitsleij West Gravge, containing 52

acres, was offered for sale by auction, December 12,

1853. The estate is freehold, subject to the annual rent

of Ad. per acre to the Bishop of Durham, to whom the

minerals under it belong. The land-tax is redeemed.

Beruy Edge is a rising village on the road between

Shotley Bridge and Durham, and partly in the chapelry

of Medomsley. It is densely populated by the workmen

employed in the neighbouring iron-works, and contains

two Methodist chapels, and a commodious school-room

belonging to the Iron Company, witli tlie usual accom-

paniment of shops, public houses, a post-office, &c.

Leadgate, nearly contiguous to Berry Edge, is partly

in the township of Iveston, parish of Lanchester. It

consists of a wide street on the turnpike road, with rows

of cottages bi'anching ofl', and a large level green on the

north. On this space a church, consisting of nave,

chancel, and western tower, was erected some years ago

by the Iron Corapanj^ ; but service has long been dis-

continued. Part of the building is now used as a school

for girls, and the remainder as an infant school, the

mistresses of whicli are paid by the Company : the

attendance of gii'ls is about 90, and of infants about 100.

On the south of the village is a boys' school, with a

lofty turret attached, erected by the Company, who pay

a salary to the the master : the average attendance is

about 90. A reading-room was commenced in 1855,

and is supported by 50 subscribers, who pay a subscrip-

tion of 2.S. per quarter. The tables are well supplied with

newspapers ; but no library has as yet been established,

the society having been supplied with books from the

Itinerating Library of the Northern Union of Mechanics'

Institutions. A small Wesleyan Methodist chapel was

erected in 1847. The Leadgate Iron and Brass Foundry

is worked by J. G. Forster and Co. The village con-

tains eight public houses and beer shops, all situated in

the principal street ; and there are a post-office and

several shopkeepers and tradesmen. The supply of

water is inadequate to the wants of the place, being

obtained from a clay-smeared reservoir near the east end

of the Aullage.

Redway Hill is a hamlet a short distance to the east,

containing a public house. A Roman Catholic church is

now in course of erection near this place, from designs by

Mr. Archibald Dunn, architect, Newcastle. This beau-

tiful building is on the site of a previous one, which,

before its completion, was destroyed by a gale of wind

on the night of February 21, 1855. The estimated cost

of that structure was 2,000/.; and the re- erection will

cost about l,200i?. The principal part of the funds

hitherto raised for the purpose has been contributed by

the Irish workmen under the Darweut Iron Company.

The Roman Catholic population in the neighbourhood is

about 4,500 in number. The church will consist of nave,

with side aisles; a tower, 120 feet high, with Lady

Chapel beneath ; and an apsidal chancel, 29 feet long

by 18 feet 6 inches wide, with a large sacristy attached.

The nave is 74 feet 6 inches long by 25 feet 6 inches

wide. Each of the aisles is 12 feet wide ; that on tha

north being 74 feet long, and that on the south, which

has a porch annexed, 61 feet. The architecture is early

Enfflish. The windows of the aisles consist of double

arched lights ; and those of the clerestory are circular,

with foliated compartments. The tower will bo square,

containing a belfr}-, and surmounted by a foliated

balustrade, within which will be a slated spire, with a

projecting pediment on each side. A staircase turret will

be attached to one of the corners, and also terminate in a

graceful stone spire, surrounded at its base by richly

crocketted pediments ; the whole combining to produce

a graceful effect. A presbytery and schools, the latter

much needed, will be built as soon as funds can ba

procured.
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PAKOCIIIAL ClIAPELUY OF EBCIIESTER.

The little chapelry of Ebchester is surrounded on the south, east, and north by the chapelries of iledomsley and
Benfieldside, and on the north-west by the river Darweat, which divides it from the county of Northumberland-

It consists of one township and constablery.

The township of Ebchester comprises an area of 550

acres.* Its population, at the successive periods of

retuni, was l'i8, 210, 200, 255, 331, and 610; 324 of

the latter number being males, and 286 females. There

were, at the same time, 101 inhabited houses, 4 unin-

habited, and 1 building. There are five farms ;

and the property was assessed to the county-rate, in

1853, at 1,?'14/. 5«. per annum. The proposed rail-

way, connecting the Stockton and Darlington line with

that from Newcastle to Carlisle, is expected to pass

through tlie township of Ebchester.

The village is distant 10 miles wcst-south-wcst from

Gateshead, and is scattered along the edge of a steep

declivity, towards the haughs of the Darwent on the

north ; while, on the south, the ground rises gently for

a considerable distance. There are a corn-mill, two

publij houses, two shops, a post-office, a surgery, and a

few mechanics ; with chapels belonging to the Weslevan

and Primitive Methodists. Ddnccitt Hall is the residence

of E 0. Tregdles, Esq.

As may be inferred from the name, this was the site

of a Roman station, supposed to have been the Viiidn-

tnora of the Itinerary, and to have been constructed by

the Lryio Scj-fii Vicfrix. (See vol. i., p. 106.) The
vallum, at the edge of the steep, is still distinct. " The
north-west angle," observes Surtees, " is perfect, and

part of the western agger, though cut through by roads

and foot-paths. On the south, also, the vallum is ex-

tremely distinguishable, just within the the southern wall

of the church-yard, part of which at least seems built

out of the ruins of the Roman ramparts ; and the moss-

grown crumbling walls of some neighbouring cottages

on the west betray a similar origin. The great road

which leads to this station from tlie south, and which

Warburton saw broad and distinct before the enclosures,

may be still partially traced ; and ' at the distance of a

• Sii staltrd in the census tallies. In Lewis's Topography of Dnr
Inm, tlie tonnsliip is repiei^entfil as containing illil ncies: und Mr.
Hare, in his U'lnrt on Shcrl urn H(i?]'itiil. stales the tot;;! if the land

helii by lease at 1,080, or, according to another account, 1,214 acres,

Roman mile and a half to the south (according to

Hunter) the foundation of a square watch-tower was

discovered, about six or eight yards west of the military

way ; the stones were cemented with lime :' and in 1727

Dr. Hunter discovered, ' a little to the south of the

south-west angle of the ramparts, part of the aqueduct

that supplied the baths ; it was composed of two erected

flat stones cemented into two niches cut in one laid flat

at the bottom.' Many scattered remains of sepulchral

and other monuments may be still observed built up in

several of the houses of Ebchester." Several altars, in-

scriptions, and other remains have been found at this

^tation iVom time to time, some of which are iu the

cathedral librarj- at Durham, and others in private hands.

In Saxon times, about the year 660, St. Ebba, daughter

of Ethclfrid, king of r^orthumberland, is said to have

founded a convent on the banks of the Darwent. t Ac-

cording to tradition, this nunnery was destroyed by the

Danes, and no vestige of it can now be discovered.

Though the great northern Watling Street continued to

ailord u passage here both to Danes and Saxons, yet

nothing is known of the events which occurred at Vin-

domora for five centuries. It would appear to have lain

desolate, the refuge only of some solitarj' hermit ; as

Bishop Pudsey, who granted it to his foundation at

Sherburn, speaks of it as " Ebchester, the place of an-

chorets on the Darwent (which river divides our forest

from that of our neighbours)," andgi\esit "for the

pasture of animals for the use of the sick brethren, and

for the maintenance of the shepherds in the same place."

He al.so gave the advowson of the church and a consi-

derable portion of l.nd to the Master and Brethren, with

" license to till one carucate of eight score acres of the

bishop's land newly disforested." These lands still

belong to Sherburn Hospital, and are held by lease mider

the Master and Brethren.

but considers thnt part of these areas may consist of outlying places

belonging to the Hospitnl.

t She is also stuted to have been the foundress of Coldingham, near

St. Abb's Head.
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The present brirljre across the Darweiit is formed by a

wooden platform, laid upon piers. At a short distance,

fragments of two stone piers remain in the river, which

are supposed to be part of a Roman bridge.

Ebchester bridge afforded a passage lor the Scottish

king, David, in 1346 ; and it is thought that Edward

III. .souglit the Scots in this direction previous to the

tantalizing view ho obtained of them in Stanhope Park

(see vol i., p. 66-5). The Covenanters, under General

Leslie, according to Rushwortli, " marched to the wafer

of the Darwent. and with difficulty got their foot by files

over the tree-bridge at Ebchester, half over-night, and

the rest next duj^, so that they all passed that night on

the field."

THE CHURCH.

TirE church occupies the south-western angle of the

Roman station. It consists of a low nave and chancel,

and a south porch. A circular arch separates the nave

ond chancel. The nave has a lancet light and two

6ash-window3 on the south, and two small lancet lights

on the north. The east window has been replaced by a

eash ; but there are six small lancet lights at the sides.

The church will accommodate 143 persons. The porch has

been taken away to make two or three additional pews

;

and the only entrance to the church is under the

belfry, on the sides of which, as there is no vestry oi-

other separated place, all the loose articles used in and

about the edifice are piled up. A mural tal)let in the

chancel, and several tombstones in the church-yard.

record the deaths of the Surteeses of Jlilkwell-burn

and of Cronywell. The church-yard is narrow and

over-crowded.

Registers.—Books Nos. 1, 2, and 3 contain entries of

baptisms from 1609 to 1731, and 1733 to 1812; buiial

from 1609 to 1731, 1735 to 1743, and 1780 to lol2

;

and marriages from 1609 to 1731, and 1735 to 1748.

No. 4 contains marriages from 17i5 to 1812. (Deficient

in burials from 1743 to 1780.)

Ebchester perpetual curacy is not in charge ; tho

Master and Brethren of Sherburn Hospital, patrons.

Cert, val., 16/. 7s. 6d. ; Episc. proc., 2s. 4d. Dedication

to St. Ebba.

Curates.—John Same, 1.501; Clement Bell occ. 1554; Giles VTid-

ilowes, 1570; Geo. Wrightson. 158() ; Mathias Wriglilson. el., 1U20 ;

Reg. Steftilrann. el.. lOHO ; Clir. CoUinson, el.. 170:) ; Jon. Jefferson, el.,

17:i0; Wm. Ellison, A.M., 17«4; Robert Clurk, 1811); George Stubbs,

18:!7.

Under the Lanchester Enclosure Act, in 1773, tho

perpetual curate of Ebchester received an allotment of

land, called Broomhill farm, in lieu of his tithes within

the chapelry. There is a parsonage-house attached to the

living. Since 1835, the annual income has been stated

at S6/. Mr. Hare, however, in his Report, 1.S56. states it

as follows :—Rent of Broomhill farm, 50/.; Rent of lands

at Rothbury, 42/. ; glebe, Ij acres, 4/. 10.9. ; surplice

fees, 3/. lO.s. ; total, 100/. The disbursements are, the

bishop's reserved rent on Broomhill farm, 1/. 4.v. ; repaira

on it and the Rothbury estate, 21. 18s. 4d. ; total,

4/. 2.S-. 4d. : leaving 95/. 17s. 8d. clear. He adds that

Icfs than 100/. per annum, making the gross income up
to 25(J/., would not be n sufficient addition to this living

j

the augmentation to be provided out of the funds of

Sherburn Hospital. He also suggested that tho sum of

600/. should be expended in the repairs of the church,

glebe, and farm-house, and tho establishment of a

school-house.

PARISH OF MUGGLRSWICK.

The parish of Mugr^leswick is bounded on the north and
the parish of Lanchester, on tho south by Wolsino-ham,

It is divided into two constableries, viz., 1, Mu<'-o-leswick-

HcTCHiNSON supposes the word Muggleswick tobederivcd

from the Scotch mickle, implying that it was once a large

village, though there is no evidence of such bavin" ever

been the case. The parish contains 7,098 acres, divided

into twenty-one farms. Its population, at the six decen-

nial periods of return, was 201, 224, 278, 298, 421. and

688; of which latter number 348 were males and 340

north-east by tho Darwent, on the cast and sonth-east, by

ind on the west by Edmoudbyers and Hunstanworth

and, 2, Rowley and Roughside.

females. In 1841, there were 71 inhabited houses and

1 uninhabited ; and in 1851, 135 inhabited and 12 un-

inhabited. The property, in Muggleswick and Rowley,

was valued for the vounty-ratc, in 1853, at 1,738/. 18«.3ti

The Stockton and Darlington railway has an extent

of '' miles, and covers 43 acres in this parish. Its con-

tributions to the local rates, in 1850 and 1851, were 40i
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9s. 9y, and 30/. 13s. 9cl.; the gross amounts collected in

those years being 16G/. 16s. lid. and 118/. 13s. lOd.

MUGGLESWICK.

The village of Muggleswick is situated at the foot of a

steep hill near the Darwcnt, 18 miles west-south-west

from Gateshead, and 9 north-by-east from Stanhope.

It consists of three farmholds* and a few cottages.

f

The parish school is a neat building, erected in 1852,

and is supported by subscription.

Bishop Pudscj", in exchange for Hardwick-bj'-the-

Sea (see p. 374), granted Miigglesmck to the church of

Durham, to which it has ever since belonged. Prior

Hugh de Derlyngton enclosed the park and built a

Camera, or lodge, containing a hall, chapel, &c., some

fragments of which still remain. Bishop Bainbridge

confirmed the possessions of the convent at Muggles-

wick, together with 216 acres of woodland and waste,

which he recites to have been granted by Bishop Kirk-

ham, with leave to enclose and impark the same. The

park was three miles in length and two in breadth.

The priors of Durham and the freeholders of Lanches-

ter were frequently at variance relative to the t/irec

* Dr.. John Carr, the son of a farmer at Muggleswick, and a re-

spectably gifted man, was born in 17:i>', and received his earliest edu-

cation at the village school, an 1 privately from the Kev. Daniel Watson,

curate. When young, he became usher to Dr. Hurst, master of a

grammar-school at Hertford, and succeeded him in that situation,

which he held with credit for many years. Through the influence of

Dr. Beattic, he was lionoured with the degree of LL.D. from the

Marisclial College, Abordeen. His principal work was a " Transla-

tion of Luciim," besides which he published ' Vol. III. of Tristram

Shandy," in imitation of Sterne, 1700 ; "Filial Piety," a mock heroic,

1763; "Extract of a Private Letter of a Critic," ITfii; and " Epo-

nina, a Dramatic Essay, addressed to ihe Ladies," 17C5. He died

June 8, 1807, and was buried in St. John's church, Hertford.

+ JVIu. John Lough, one of the most surprising geniuses of the pre-

sent age, was born at Low Muggleswick, and was brought up as a

stone-mason ; the first specimen of his taste and skill being a monu-

ment in iUlendale church. " His account of himself," says Haydon,

"was peculiarly touching ;—from his earliest boyhood he was always

making figures in clay with his brolher. In his father's window lay

on old Pope's Homer. His brother and he were so delighted, that

they used to make thousands of models, he taking the Greeks, and his

brother the Trojans. An odd volume of Gibbon gave an account of the

'Coloss.'Bum. He and his brother, after reading it, the moment the

family were in bod, built up a Colossa^um of clay in the kitchen, and

by daylight had nuule liundreds of fighting gladiators. A gentleman

I know was returniug from fox-hunting, and saw in a garden attached

to Lough's father's cottage hundreds of models of legs and arms lying

about. He alighted and walked in, and found the ceiling of the

kitchen all drawn over, and models lying about in every direction.

Lough was sent for, invited to this friend's house, who showed him
Capova's works and Michael Angelo's. To use his own language to me,

Hopes—Horselyhope, Hysehop, and Baldynghope, which

the prior claimed as having been included in the grant

of Bishop Pudsey. John Vavisour and one of the Tem-

pests having resisted the claims of the convent, the lat-

ter was fain to beseech for mercy and absolution from

the prior, and adds, "And aft my power I send you and

to my masters youre bredren xls. for amends for my part,

by the berrar of thys lett' ; and I pray you to have a

byll ageyne for this same matt', and ou' lorde god haue

yen in hys blessyd kepyng."

In 1662, Muggleswick park was alleged to have been

the scene of several seditious meetings. Some of the

gentry and others in the neighbourhood had been im-

bued with tlie puritanical spirit during the Common-

wealth, and were viewed with suspicion by the loyalists

after the Restoration. In such a state of things, every

movement was liable to bo misconstrued as treasonable
;

whilst, on the other hand, the proceedings of the

government were naturally thought tyrannical by those

who had contended for "the good old cause." It was

no wonder, therefore, that spies and informers plied

their vocation in such a season ; and such a one appears

to have been John Ellerington, of Blanchland, who, on

March 22, 1662, deposed as follows at Durham:

—

Canova did not prick him, but Michael Angclo affected him deeply.

He used to follow the plough ixnd shear the corn. " On removing to

Newcastle, he worked at his trade for some time, unnoticed and un-

known, and was employed in the building of the Literary and Philoso-

phical Society's library. At length, when in London, he conceived tho

bold idea of executing a colossal figure of Miln, which should at once

stamp his fame. This he executed at his Inimble lodgings. No. 11.

Burleigh Street, over a greengrocer's shop, without the aid of educa-

tion, foreign travel, patronage, money, or even food. "He declared

solemnly to me," says Haydon, who at once appreciated the efl'ort with

the eye of kindred genius, "that he had not ate meat for three months,

and began the fourth. He said every day at dinner-time he felt tho

want, and used to lie down till it passed. He felt weak—at last fiiiut

—giddy continually, and latterly began to perceive he thought sillily,

and was growing idiotic. He had only one bushel and a half of coals the

whole winter, and used to lie down by the side of his clay model of this

immortal iiguro. damp as it was, and shiver for hours till he fell asleep."

But when his task was completed, artists, noblemen, and amateurs

hastened to gaze upon and admire the extraordinary work of tliis un-

taught genius, and numerous orders were pressed upon him. " It is,"

says the great painter above quoted, " the most extraordinary effort

since the Greeks—with no exception—not of Jlichael Angelo, Bernini,

or Canova." Not forgetful of old associations. Mr. Lough presented a

model of his Milo to the Literary and Philosophical Society of New-

castle-upon-Tyne, ia whose splendid library it now forms one of the

most attractive objects to visitors. Several other original and boldly

conceived works have, since that time, proceeded from his studio,

amongst which those best known in the north are the Fallen Angel, a

cast of which is preserved in the museum of the School of Design,

Newcastle, the slatue of James Losh, Esq., also in the library just

mentioned, and the Oollingwood monument at Tynemouth.
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" Thisinformant saith, That he hath known divers seditious meetings

in Miijjgleswick park within these last six months, sometimes at the

house of one John Ward, who is one of their chief preachers, some-

times at the hou-ie of John Readshaw,RoherlBlenkinsop, and Rowland

Harrison, who wore met together. The said John Ward, John Rcad-

shaw. Robert Ulonkinsop, and Rowland Harrison, together with Capt.

Doffen. Capt. George Gower, Robert Readshaw, son of the said John,

Robert Taylor, Mark Taylor, both of Eddesbridge, John March, of the

game, John Joplin, of the Fo.'choles, John March, of Ridley-mill, Cuth-

bert Newton, of Ilendsey, Richard Taylor, of Crankley, Henry .\ngas,

Cuthb^'t Maugham, of Rirchenlields, George Readshaw, of Edmond-

byers, « )hn Oliver, of the same, Lewis Frost, of South-Sheales, Cuthbert

CoatswO''th and Michael Coatsworth, of the same, Richard Ord and John

Ord, of Hirchenhaugh. .James Carr, of Ardley, Robert Dalmer, of Craw-

croke, l..iwland and Nicholas Harrison, sons of Rowland Harrison

abovesaii; John Hopper, of Carp-Sheals, Thomas Readshaw, of Paddom-

Bock. Jlichael Ward, of ShoUey-field, Cuthbert Ward, of Black Hedley,

Ralph lley, of Edmondbyers, Richard Johnson, of Sunderland, and
— Forster, of the same ; where they did mutually take an oath of

secrecy not to discover their design, which was to rise in rebellion

against the present government, and to destroy the present parliament,

which had made a law against liberty of conscience, and to murder all

bishops, deans and chapters, and all ministers of the church, and to

break all organs in pieces, to destroy the common-prayer-books, and

to pull down all churches ; and further, to kill the gentry that should

either oppose them, or not join with them in their design. That they

intended first to fall upon Durham, to seize any magazine that might

be there, or money in any treasurer's hands, and to plunder the town_

They did boast of many thousands of Anabaptists and Independents

that were to join with them in the nation, with whom they had daily

correspondence by letters and messengers, upon which employment

the said informant liath been divers times sent to divers jiersons ; and

he heard them lately say, that some Papists were lately come into their

party, and they did not doubt of their real intention to join with them

in their design. That they have already in their bands some luovisiou

of arras, and do expect great proportion both of arms and anununilion

from Lewis Frost abovesaid, who hath undertaken to provide for them.

And he further saith, that for divers months by-past it was resolved

amongst them, to rise on the 25th of this instant March, but they did

lately agree to defer the execution of their design for a month longer,

till they see what the parliament would do concerning indulgence to

tender consciences, and toleration of their party, and withal, by putting

off their rising, they would be much stronger by many that would

oome to their party daily. And this informant saith, that he knows to

depose what he hath said, because he was one of their party, and was

re-baptized by the aboves.iid John Ward and was with them at most of

Cheir meetings, and did take the abovesaid oath of secrecy, but being

pricked in his conscience at the horror of such a bloody design, he
!

could have no rest nor quietness in his mind, till he had discovered

the same. I

" Samuel Davison, Cuth. Carr, The. Featherstone, Rich. Neile,
]

j ustices of the peace."

Finding that his tale was greedily swallowed, Eller-

ington went a step further, and accused several gentle-

* " But I smell a worse ratt than cither Gower or Mr. Weston,"

says Mr. Neile, in a letter dated Durham Castle, March 19, 16C4, "a
devil in sheepe's clothing, a person that for his three daughters'

bewtie and pride hatli the eonlidence to doe and saye anie thing; for

1 perceive the lead-milles stick in his stomach, for which he intendeth

to smoake my lord
; and next, that Mrs. Tempest ami her daughter

iitUng above Prudence Carleton, in ye church, about wh there hath
VOL. II.

men of rank, amongst whom were Sir Henry Wither-

ington of Northumberland ; Edward Fenwick, Esq., of

Stanton; Timothy Whittingham, Esq., of Holmside; and

Captain Lilburn, of Sunderland. The very name of Lil-

burn revived the fears of the ruliug powers; and Whit-

tingham was Imown to be a bigotted Presbyterian.

These two were accordingl)^ apprehended and detained

in f)rison for three months, after which they were

liberated, as there was not the slightest evidence to

criminate them. In the mean time, rumour magnified

the extent and importance of the Darwentdale plot

;

Bishop Cosin called out tlie trained bands, under Sir

Thomas Davison; and the principal gentry and their

followers embodied themselves in the different wards,

under Sir Nicholas Cole of Brancepeth, Col. Cuthbert

Carr, Col. Byerlej', and Henry Ijambton, Esq. After

a while, however, successive proofs confuted Ellerington's

evidence ; and his imaginary array of mounted Anabap-

tists was gradually diminished, until at length it was

found to consist of one Joseph Hopper, who had re-

turned home during the night on horseback, after having

been on a jaunt to Ireland.

During the agitation, several persons were appre

bended, but acquitted for want of evidence. This of-

fended the more zealous of the loyal party, who en-

deavoured to have the magistrates displaced from their

commission for their leniency. Even Bishop Cosin and

his officers were blamed for their want of energy and

activity in the business. Recriminations followed, and

all the petty passions were enlisted for and against the

respective parties. The most influential magistrates

were inclined to retire in disgust ; whilst their wives and

daughters contended for precedence in seats at church.*

THE CHURCH

Is a humble edifice, rebuilt about the year 1728, and

consisting of a narrow nave and chancel, without tower

or aisles ; it is capable of accommodating 150 persons.

Tradition points out, in the church-yard, the grave of

one Edward Ward, a person of gigantic stature, and a

great hunter in his day, whoso proportions were so

enormous that a favourite hound littered in his wooden

shoe. It is supposed that this legend has been applied

lately been great quarrell, and ye Carletons have turned Mrs. Tempest

out of ye seat quiet to yc other side of ye church, and her daughter to

ye lowest place in ye seat, must all be laid on my lord, for here it is

rumordthe Tempests would not have been so proud but presuming upon

my lord's kindness. Col. Tempest was not here, but in Lancashire, at

ye sessions ; he talketh of nothing but to retyre himselfe to a coimtiT

life, and give over ^11 publick imploymeuts."

5 Q
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to one of the seditious associators in 1662, whose fearful

exploits have caused him to be magnified into a giant.

Registers—Book No. 1 contains entries of baptisms,

burials, and marriages from 1730 to 1775 (imperfect)

;

and No. 2, baptisms and bui'ials from 1784 to 1812.

The entries in No. 1 are intermixed with those of

Edmondbyers.

Muggleswick is a perpetual curacy ; the dean and

chapter of Diu-ham, patrons. A peculiar belonging to

the dean and chapter. Paj's no first fruits nor tenths.

Episc. proc. (visitants' tantum), 2s. 6d.

CuEATES.—Kichard Staykiston occurs 132:3; John de Skipton. 1357;

Galfrid le Bachiler, 13(il ; Eobt. de Dunelmo, 1391; Henry Hynton,

1410; Eobt. de Aukland, 1411; Eobt. Forrest, 1501; John Byndley,

d., 1,')50 ; Thos. Benson, cl., 15G5, p. ni. Byndley ; Thos. Hawkins, cl.,

1572, p. depr. Benson ; Jas. Murthwaite occurs 1577, p. res. Hawkins

;

Miles Watmough occurs 1577; Wm. Southwick, 1586, p. res. Wat-

mough ; Peter Fisher, el., 1607, p. m. Sontlnvick ; Richard Bradley,

A.M., 1041, p. m. Fisher ; Thos. Boyer, an intruder, depr, for non-conf.

;

John Duiy, A.M.,10C2, p.res. Bradley;* Chris. Smith, IC84 (admitted

coadjutor to Jlr. Dury, being old and unable to sene, ilc), p.m. Dury;

Francis Hunter, A.M. (of the family of Hunter of Medomsley), 1735,

p.m. Smith; Thos. Coulthard. A.M. (a Scotch degree), 1743, p.m.

Hunter; Wm. Stephenson, A.M., 1779; Jas. Deason, vicar of Pitting-

ton, 1787 ; Joseph Dawson, 1810, p. m. Deason ; Saml. Kennady

;

John Gibson, 1851; Mr. Gibson recently resigned for Elanehland.

During the reign of Elizabeth, the churchwardens

were accused of neglecting to provide church books.

The following replies have been preserved :

—

" The personal answer of Thomas March, of Muggleswick, aged 40

years, to articles against him. The parishioners of every parish in

this diocese ou;.;bt to provide and fyud the church bookes articulate.

He sailh that the churchwardens articulate aught to provide for the

church boolis at the eoost of the hole parish. He saith that he, this

examinate, being one of the churchwardens articulate, haith had and

provydyd one Bible, sence Mydlunt lastc, and one of the tomes of the

Homilies for the church articulat; saing the curat ther doith and

haith don divine servic senc accor.ling to the Queeue's Magesties lawes

as other ciu'at doith in other parishes.

"bignum + dicti Tuomje Mabcii."

Surtees quotes "A most lamentable Information of Part of the

Grievances of Mugleswick Lordship, in the Bishoprick of Durham,

sent up by Master George Lilburue, Major of Sunderland, to be com-

municated to the House of Commons," and signed by 67 persons.

They stated that th' y, with ten or twelve adjoining parishes, are void

of the means of salvation, having no minister but such as the Scottish

presbyter)' furnislied. 1 hey had complained to Master James, minis-

tor of Eytou, and a prebendary, that Duery, who had been appointed,

was no i^reacher, and that his life and conversation was scandalous

;

but the reply was, ' in plaine tearmos, that if he could reade the prayer-

booke and an homily, it was nothing to us whiit kind of a man he

was." They term Bradley " one of the most deboist amongst the sonnes

of men, for hee will neither preach himselfe nor yet penult others, but

" Cuthbert M'arde, of Muggleswick, yoman, alias husbandman, aged

about 40 years. He saith that he, this examinate, and his fellow

Wright (so) haith providyd another Bible, so that the minister haith

had 2 senc Mydlent, for that the old Bible lacked some leaves ; and

one of the bokes of th'Omylies articulate the curate haith ; and a

cessment is maid to provid for an other, and haith spoken to Eiehard

Johnson to by one at Yorke, such as they laeke, saing that the last

parson, Nicoles Sapcott, put away all ther boks, Mr. Jowell bokes, ther

Bible, and many of ther bokes, and also ther communion cupe.

" Signum + Cuthbehti Wawje."

A terrier, delivered in July 22, 1788, states the glebe

and whole proceeds of the living to consist of

—

Imprimis, a cottage house, with an enclosure of two acres and

three-quarters, abutting every way on the moor; the tithes great and

small of their proper kinds of Cold Rowley, " which is a smalldistrict

or township lying within the parish of Lanchester ;" two small farms,

with a dwelling-house and byer on each, worth together21J., consisting

of sixteen acres, abutting to the east on a gill or beck, to the north on

the high road, and on the moor to the west and south, lying in the

parish of Allendale, between Allentown and Allenheads. The glebe,

tithes, and prolits, were worth, communibus annis, about44J. perannum.

Prescript rents due half-yearlj% at Whitsuntide and

Christmas :—Robert Maughan, los. ; John Jopling, 5s.

6d. ; John Ward, Is. lO^d. ; Thomas Dodds, 3s. S^d.
;

Stephen Stephenson, 5s. 6d. ; the dean and chapter,

1/. 13s. id. Total, 3/. 4s. lOj'ff.

In 1835, at which time the incumbent also held the

living of Edmondbyers, the annual value of that of

Muggleswick, was stated at 98/., but is now returned at

921. In the year ended November 1, 1852, a grant of

200/. was made from the Maltby Fimd towards repairing

the parsonage-house. It is a neat stone building near

the church.

By order in council, dated the 1 3th, and gazetted the

I

17th of June, 1853, " all those five several pieces or

parcels of land, with the cottage thereon, containing

together eleven acres, three roods, and fifteen perches,

little more or less, situate in the parish of iluggleswiek,

in the county of Durham, formerly belonging to the

eighth canomy in the cathedral church of Durham, and

upon the Sabbath day he took the locke from the church doore, and

fastened on one of his oivne, so as that the parishioners were forced

to stand in the church-yard to discharge divine duties with their

minister in cold frost and snow, to the infinite dishonour of the Al-

mightie, the great griefe of their minds, and the dreadful endangering

of themselves in that stormy time of the yeare ; other times before he

came into the church, whilst our minister was iu his exhortation, and

stood uj) beside liim, reading with a loud voyce in a book to overtop

the sound of his words: afterwards pulled him by the coate when hee

w.as in the pulpit ; but w lien neither of these would cause him to

desist from duty, he goes and rings the bels all aloud : neilher is this

all. but out of malice cals a communion, and enters upon the sacred

action without any preparation sermon before the day."
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bounded on the north and east by the Darwent woods,

on the south by lands now or Lite in the occupation of

Thomas Ritson and Ann Oliver, and on the west by

Muggleswick Common and by a public roadway leading

thereto ; all which woods and lands forming such boun-

daries as aforesaid, excepting the said common, are now

in the possession of the ecclesiastical commissioners for

England in right of the said canonry," are transferred to

and vested in the Rev. John Gibson, perpetual curate of

Muggleswick, and his successors.

ROWLEY AND ROUGHSIDE.

This to^-nship consists of Cold Rowle3^ to the south-

east of Muggleswick, and entirely surrounded by the

parish of Lanchestcr, and of High, Low, and Middle

Roughside, which are several miles westward on the

Darwent, beyond Edmondbyers, and near Elanchland.

Cold Rowley is a village on the summit of the bleak

heights between the vale of Lanchester and the Darwent,

about a mile from Allansford. It contains a few farm-

holds, and a chapel belonging to the Particular Baptists.

The congregation was commenced in 1653, by eight

persons being baptized in the Darwent. Their first

chapel was erected before 1717 ; and the present one,

built on its site, was opened February 25, 1824. It

contains 160 sittings ; the Rev. G. Whitehead, minister.

The Wesleyan Methodists have a chapel, erected in 1805,

• Fkatuicide.—A barbarous murder was committed at Longsliield,

on Muggleswick common, on Sunday tbe 7tb day of May, 1843. The

sufferer was named Williiiin Lawson, a man of some property, and a

lessee of the dean and chapter; he was bi-utaliy slain by his own
brother, Thomas Lawson. .\t the inquest, held at Edmondbyers, the

culprit made the following voluntary statement :
—" 1 live at Cote-house,

in tlie township of Muggleswick. I am a farmer, and keep about four

score slieop and lambs. I am the brother of William Lawson, the

person that is dead. I went up to his house on Sunday morning,

between C and 7 o'clock. 1 had some talk with him in the house.

He said he was going on the fell after he had milked. IJe then went

into the cow-liyer, and begun tt:lling me about a letter he had got, and

said it was for me. It was an attorney's letter, about some money I

owe to Harry Ritson ; he told me it was lis. in it. I wanted some

money of Willy—some that my mother had lel't me—and Si. 5s. he

owed me for some sheep that were sold of his and mine together. I

asked him for the money, or to go and speak to Forster Eaine to give

me time to pay what I owed him. He refused to do so. This vexed

me, and, as he was beginning to milk, I took him by the neck and we
had a straggle. He struck at me with his foot, and hit me on the

inside of the left thigh. It did not hurt me ; but it raised me, and we
went down together. There was a stone behind the byor-door, and I

hit him with it on the head three or four times. I thought I had

done so muidi for him, and he nothing for me—that was what made
me take hold of him. That's the truth, or may I never stii- ofl' this

at Watonjate, and capable of containing 250 persons.

In the neighbourhood of Cold Rowley there is a smelt-

mill, belonging to the firm of Jlatthew Byers and Co.

MufjglcsiDick Common, with its wild hills, forms the

southern portion of the parish,* and has long been
noted for its prolific lead mines. These were so rich in

the time of Charles I., that he made a grant to George,
Duke of Buckingham, of the mines of silver, or of lead

mixed with silver, in or near Mugglcswicke, alias Mug-
glesley in the county palatine of the bishopric of Duresme,
and within the compass of ten miles from Mugglcswicke
aforesaid, for twenty-one years.

The dean and chapter's lead mining royalty, in Dar-
went, extends from east to west about 8 miles, and from
north to south 5 miles, bounded on the south by the

Weardale mining district, and on the north and west by
that of Darwent. Many of the richest lead-producing

veins are known to pass into this royalty ; but it has not

yet been adequately explored, the depth at which the

ore-bearing strata lie rendering considerable expense

necessarj^ for machinery.

AUdHfiforcl bridge, across the Darwent, is on the road

from Wolsingham into Northumberland. An applica-

tion was recently made by the British Electric Telegraph

Company for leave to place their wires along this bridge

;

and Mr. Burnett was deputed to meet the surveyor on

the spot, Avhen it was arranged that one post, 15 feet

high, should be placed on the bridge at the back of the

recess.

ground. When we fell we were fiice to face, and me upon the top of

him. When I went out of the byer he got up, and leaned over a stick

between the stalls behind the door. I then went on to the fell among
the sheep, and fell in with Tommy Anderson and a man looking for a

galloway—-I don't know who he was. I thought he would not be so

had, so I did not tell anybody. My children went up to his house, and

I went afterwards, hut ho was not there. I saw Thomas Ritson and

Willy Biiinbridge. I have never told anybody before to-day. Things

being in such a bad state, and him doing nothing forme, made me take

hold of him. One bad thing begot another. After he kiekcd me, I

got wdrse. and that made me do it. I would have helped him into tho

house when my passion cooled, hut I had not power er strength. I

never told my wife ; I only told her wo had had some words. When
I say ' things,' I meant slock was so bad, and ho would ru)t give me
anything. I ha\e a family of two children, and five altogether offamily,

and my brother had no family ; and being distressed for money made
me apply to him."

John Bainbridge, a farmer, found tho unfortunate deceased on tho

Monday morning, on the fell, near to the slate quarry, resting upon his

hands and knees ; and when returning to tho place with Cuthhert

Wailey, he had moved about yards from tho place. He never

recovered his senses or spoke, but died on the lIHh.

Lawson was tried at the Durham Midsummer assizes, found

guilty of manslaughter, and sentenced to transportation for life.
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PAPiISn OF EDMONDBYERS.

The parish of Edmondbyers is bounded by the Darwent on the north, by Muggleswick on the cast and south,

and by Hunstanworth on the west. It forms but one township, which is included in the Stanhope subdistrict of

the Weardale Union.

The area of the parish is 4,880 acres. Its population,

at the successive periods of return, was 215, 313, 358,

484, 458, and 485 ; 243 of the latter number being

males and 242 females. There were, at the same time,

102 inhabited houses and 3 uninhabited. The annual

value of property in Edmondbyers (including Roughside

and Pedomsoak) assessed to the county-rate, in 1853,

was 1,375/. 6s. 5d.

The village of Edmondbyers is situated 19 miles west-

south-west from Gateshead, and 11 south-south-east from

Hexham. It consists of a few thatched cottages, which

are irregularly disposed around a small green, on the

descent of a hill washed by the Birdinhope Beck, which

here falls into the Darwent. There are two public

houses. A Wesleijan Metliodist chapel was erected in

1835, at an expense of 90/., upon ground given by Mr.

Thomas Ward, of Edmondbyers. The Primitice Me-

thodkts meet for worship in a private house. A reading-

room for newspapers is supplied with books from the

Itinerating Library of the Northern Union of Mechanics'

Institutions. A school-house was built in 1825, at the

joint expense of the dean and chapter and Lord Crewe's

trusteas : the former also give 10/. per annum towards

the support of the schoolmaster, and recently subscribed

20/. towards building a dwelling house.

Edmondbyers turnpike road, forming a commvmication

between the vales of the Wear and the Darwent, was

constructed under the powers of an act of parliament

which expired in 1836. It was, however, continued

from year to year, under the Annual Turnpike Continu-

ance Act, but was limited by the Turnpike Continuance

of 1853, to the 1st of Xovember, 1854, unless parliament

should, in the meantime, continue the same. After some

correspondence \\'ith Lord Palmerston, then Secretary

of State for the Home Department, a meeting was called

for May 1 5, 1854, to apply the money in hand towards

the discharge of the debts secured on the tolls to those

parties who chose to accept the lowest composition.

On June 29, 1829, the foundation stone of a bridge

of one arch, over a dangerous part of the river Darwent,

between Greenhead and Edmondbyers, was laid by

Nicholas Burnett, Esq., of Black Hedley, by whose

exertions the enterprise had been principally conducted

to maturity.

Hunter House, or Hunter Field copyhold farm, con-

taining 154 a. Or. 13 p., of which the land-tax is

redeemed, but subject to a rent of los. to the bishop,

and Hibble Hill freehold estate, containing 2 k. r. 32 p.,

were, by the Court of Chancery, in the cause " Mary

Parker and others v. John Parker and another," ordered

for sale by auction, March 29, 1833. Hunter Hoxise is

the residence of John Dolphin, Esq.

THE CHURCH.

The church, though rectorial, is an exceedingly plain

structm-e, 64 feet long and 24 broad, consisting of nave

and chancel, the latter supported by short buttresses.

There is accommodation for 120 persons.

Registers.—Book No. 1 contains entries of baptisms,

burials, and marriages from 1730 to 1775, imiierfect,

and interrupted by Nos. 2 and 3, which contain baptisms

and burials from 1774 to 1812. No. 4 (parchment)

contains marriages from 1755 to 1775, continued in No.

2 imtil 1779. No other registers can be found,

Edmondbyers rectory ; the dean and chapter patrons.

Tenths, 13s. l\d. ; Episc. proc, 2s. ; Synod, 2s. Dedi-

cation to St. Edmond.

Rectors.—Kicb. de Kirkeby occ. 1275 ; Lawrence, l.O.'JS ; John de

Bambui-gh, 1348; John de Sehnm, 1357; Thos. de Gathril, 1392;

Tlios. Annesley ; Wm. Hyndeley, alias de Lamesley, 1399 ; "Vim. de

Malteby, 1101 ; John de Hexham, 1401 ; Henrj- Hinton, 1402 ; EobL

Aukland. 1411 ; Eobt. Baker, 1419 ; Eic!>. Walworth, 1421 ; Wra. Den-

ton, 1400 : John Wouldhave, 14(i8 ; Wm. Fabyane, 1004 ; Eobt. Spra-

gane, 1508 ; John Forstcr, 1557 ; Thos. Benson, cl., 1570 ; John

Greenwoll. A.B., 1575; Mark Leonard, A.B., 1C09 ; Mich. Walton,

A.M., 1628 ; John Dury, .4.51., 1C39. The inaurabents were the same

with those of Mtigglesmck from that tiine until 1837, when Joseph

Forster, A.B., was inducted.

There is an excellent parsonage-house, situated near

the church, which was much improved by the Rev.
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Joseph Dawson. A terrier, delivered in 1788, states the

glebe, &c., to consist of a parsonage-house, stable, barn,

and byer, all under one roof ; a small garth betwixt the

rectory and the church-yord, one end abutting on the

street, and the other adjoining the glebe, which contains

three inclosed pieces of pasture or meadow, the whole

about twelve acres, abutting on the church-yard on three

sides, and on the common to the west ; rent, 3/. per

annum. A pasture of six acres lately inclosed from the

common, abutting on the common west, on John Ward's

land east and north, and on Messrs. Parker and

Stephenson's south ; rent, 10/. 16s. 6d. A modus of 5s.

is paid from every farm for hay ; all other tithes are

paid in kind. The whole value of the glebe, tithes, and

profits, comm. annis, is 65/. per annum. Two other

terriers were delivered in 1792 and 1806. The value of

the rectory was considerably improved by recent inclo-

sures. In 1835, it was 178/. per annum, at which it is

still returned.

CHARITIES.

Baxter's Charitt/.—Ann Baxter, of West Roughside,

widow, by will, dated January 7, 1743, bequeathed, for

the use of the poor of Edmondbyers, 15/., the interest of

which she directed to be distributed upon her tomb-stone

yearly on Christmas day ;
" only Cuthbert Whitfield and

George Whitfield excluded the benefit of the said

charity money."

RouGHSiDE,though included in the township of Cold

Rowley (see page 709), is in the parish of Edmond-
byers, and near to Blanchland. A handsome and con-

venient house, called Roughside Hall, erected by
I Frederick Hall, Esq., is now occupied by Miss M. Hall.

PARISH OP HUNSTANWORTH.

This parish is bounded by the Darwent on the north, dividing it from Blanchland* in Northumberland, by

Edmondbyers on the cast, by the parish of Stanhope on the south and south-west, and by the imaginary line

which divides Durham and Northumberland on the north-west. It forms one large township, which is incor-

porated with the Stanhope district of Weardale Union.

The parish of Ilunstanworth contains an area of 10,380

acres. Its population, in 1801, was 215 ; in 1811, 386
;

in 1821, 411; in 1831, 511; in 1841, 567; and in

1851, 615, of whom 330 were males and 285 females.

The annual value of property assessed to the county-

rate in 1853 was 1,029/. 5s.

The village of Ilunstanworth is 25 miles west-by-south

of Newcastle, and 12 miles south of Hexham, at the

western extremity of Chester Wai-d. In 1850, a room

near the lead mines was fitted up and opened for religious

worfship, at the expense of the Darwent Lead Company,

and is used by the Wesleyan and Primitive Methodists

on alternate Sundays. The parish school is partly sup-

ported by the Rev. Daniel Capper and Lord Crewe's

trustees, each of whom contribute 5/. per annum. A
library is kept in the vestry of the church, for the use of

• Blani'hI.iiKl. or Alba Landa, is seated in a narrow, deep, gieen

vale, on the north side of the Darwent, and is enclosed by lieathy hUls

and moors. Most of the inhabitants are employed in the adjoining

lead-works. In 1175, Waller de Bolbeck founded and endowed an

abbey at Blanchland for twelve PriEmonstratensian canons, with liberty

to exceed that number, with the consent of the Bishop of Durham.
Many additions were afterwards made to its possessions, which were

the parishioners. There is a water corn-mill at Edde's

Bridr/e, with a farm of 78 acres attached.

Under Boldon Book, Hunstamvorth was held by

Robert Corbet, by present service. " The hospital of St.

Giles holds a certain parcel of ground lately disforested,

and a forest for breeding cattle, near the boundary of

Walter de Bolbec." Corbet gave the church of Ilun-

stanworth to the convent at Durham, and part of the

estate to St. Giles, of Kepyer. The hitter body, two

centuries laten, gave a rent-charge of 13s. 4rf. and a

moiety of the tithes of South Sherburn to tlio prior and

convent, in exchange for the church, advowson, glebe,

&c., of Ilunstanworth. In 1439, the hospital of Kepyer

demised to Alexander Be^kfield and Mary liis wife, for

40s. rent, " the vill of Ilunstanworth, with all its pastures

and profits, by these boundaries—from the foot of

valued, according to DugdnJe, at 4l)i. Os. Od., and, according to Spaed,

at ill. Os. Id. It was gr.anted by Henry VIII. to John Bellow and
John Broxholm ; and, liaving come into the liands of the lorsters, was

for eited to the crown by the attainder of Thomas Forster, juu., Esq.,

in 1715, when it was purchased by his uncle, Lord Crcwo, Bishop of

Durliam, who left it to charitable uses.
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Lord Paget.

to grant this demesne or

Boltesbmn, ascending that water to its head, ana so

from the head of that water as far as the head of

Knewkden Burn, and so descending by that water as

far as Eweshope burn, and so proceeding as far as the

water of Darwent, and descending by the Darwent to

the foot of Boltesburn."

It appears that, after the Dissolution, the estate, parcel

of the dissolved house of Kepyer, was granted to William

In 1545, Sir William Paget had license

manor, the tenement called

Towncfield, the parcel called Slemedowes, and a rent-

charge of 6s. 8c?., issuing out of the rectory, to William

Egleston, j-eoman, by whose descendants the greater

part of the estate was alienated, about 1689, to John

Ord, Gent., of Newcastle, ancestor of John Ord, Esq.,

whose nephew, Robert Capper, Esq , of Garston, Hert-

fordshire, afterwards became proprietor. It now belongs

to the Rev. D. Capper, rector of Himtley, Gloucestershire.

The parish is tithe-free, with the exception of a modus,

paid by Lord Crewe's trustees to the Rev. D. Capper.

The principal part of the Danccnt lead-mines are in this

parish. These mines were formerly worked by a London

company, but afterwards lay waste for a number of

years. It was sworn to by a witness at a trial for waste

at Durham assizes, about 48 years ago, that the lead

mines in the Darwent district were " altogether exca-

Tated, exhausted, and totally worked out." They had,

however, been recommenced, in 1805, by a company

called the Arkcndale and Darwent Company.* This

company and another are now working the mines with

• According to a statemeut by John Kobinson, Esq., 16 years resi-

dent mining agent, publislied in a recent work, ' The first years of the

new company's operations, a steam-engine was laid down at Beldon

Shields; afterwards another at Eamshaw ; next a water-wheel, which

is still in use, fifty fee*, iu diameter, worked with horizontal rods

nearly a mile long. A few years later a hydraulic engine was made and

fitted up at Whiteheaps mine, which was, by this means, drained to

the depth of the great limestone. After this, other machinery being

brought into use, a considerable quantity of lead ore was obtained, to

the amount of 10,1)00 bings in one year. In the course of workings at

the Jeffrey's mine, a wonderful discovery was made, which deserves to

be recorded, from the fact of its being, perhaps, unique of its kind.

About 300 feet from the surface, in driving a waggate drift in the vein,

the miners came to a number of trees, seven in all, the largest of which

was about six feet in circumference ; their branches and leaves were

and so I great spirit; and the second winning is intended to

bottom the great limestone.

THE CHURCH.

HuNSTAJTwoRTH church is a small, neat structure, almost

entirely rebuilt about 70 years ago. Alexander Egleston,

who died iu 1606, bequeathed 10/. for its repairs.

Registers.—Books Nos. 1, 2, and 3 contain entries of

baptisms burials, and marriages from 1724 to 1812 ; the

marriages somewhat deficient from 1770 to 1776.t

Hunstanworth is a perpetual curacy ; the Hospital of

of Kepyer, patrons, olim., now the Rev. D. Capper. Not

in charge
; pays no first fruits or tenths. Episc. proc,

when the bishop \'isits, 3s. Ad. Dedication to St. James.

CtnuTES.—Rich, de Baldock, 1322 ; Rich. Stevenson, 1577 ; Thos.

Becke, 1045 ; John Forest, 1607 ; And. Rudd, 10!10 ; Thos. Jones

;

.And. Naughley, A.M. (a Scotch degree), 17'2i; Thos. Hudson, cl.,

pres. by Robert Ord, Esq., Chief Baron in Scotland, Sept. 21, 1758

;

Richard Close, 1811 ; Samuel Payne, 1835. Mr. Payne recently re-

signed in consequence of old age.

The fflebe house has long been unfit for residence.

The annual value of the living is GO/.

AxANSHEELS ancicntl}' gave name to a family, which

terminated in the female line about 1364. In 1425,

the Earl of Westmorland held possessions. Lands in

Alansheels, which had belonged to Blanchland Abbey,

became, after the Dissolution, together with Knewkden,

part of the possessions of the Forsters of Bamborough

and Blanchland, and now belong to Lord Crewe's trustees.

bedded in the high waggate dri.t. and were of necessity cut out to pro-

secute the further working of the mine. A part of one of the trees is

still standing in the mine, guarded with rails, to preserve it as a

memento of the discovery."

+ An older register contains the following :

—

" 27 Jan. 16-15. This day the greate storme bracke which had begun

eight weeks before."

" , 5 June, 1670. Buried—Ann -n-ife of John Robinson, John Ritson

an infant, and Anne daughter of Robert Egleston, killed by a thunder-

bolt 2:? June."

" 4 Nov. 1709. Ann daughter of James CoUing, who was eighteen

years of age, and never chewed bread ; of stature not above a three

ye.as' old child, the thickest part of her arms and legs not exceeding

the thickness of a man's thumb."
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CHESTER WARD-EAST DIVISION.

PARISH OP ST. HILDA, SOUTH SHIELDS.

(^"IjlUlu occupies the north-eastern angle of the county of Durham, and is bounded by the sea on

the east, by the river Tyne on the north, by the parish of Jarrow on the west and south-west, and by the parish

of Whitburn on the south. It incKides three townships : South Shields, Westoe, and Harton ; the township of

South Shields being subdivided into four constableries, called Low Ward, East Pan Ward, Middle Ward, and
West Pan Ward.

The extent of the respective townships in South Shields

is as follows :

—

South Shields

Westoe

Hartou

Land.
170

1,795

1,39;J

Water.
330

275

Ui

Total.

490

2,070

1,537

The following are the population returns at the suc-

cessive periods of enumeration :

—

South Shields

Westoe

Hai'toii

1801. ISll. 1821. 1831. 1811. IS.'il.

8,108 Q.OOl 8,^85 9,U74 9,082 9,025

2,903 0,164 7,018 9,682 13,990 19,349

100 205 235 217 265 770

11,171 15,370 10,738 1K,073 23,337 29,744

At the last census, there were in South Shields 4,887

males and 4,738 females ; in Westoe, 9,202 males and

10,147 females ; and in Harton, 884 males and 386

females. The excess of females in Westoe is attributed

to the absence of seamen. The return includes 130

persons in 1841, and 147 in 1851, in the union work-

house at Westoe. The number of persons on board

Vessels in the harbour, on the night of March 30, 1851,

and returned with the general population, was 668.

The number of houses in 1841 and 1851, and the annual

value of property assessed to the county-rate in 1853,

were as follow :

—

1841.

Inh. Un. Bdg.

South Shields 1,494 59
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river, ncai- the end of the Roman Wall, suitable for safe

landing at different times of the ebbing and flowing tide,

fully show its necessary correspondence with Segedunum,

the first station upon the Wall.

The Lawc (a Saxon word, signifying a fortified

eminence) seems to have been always considered an im-

portant military station. No " passage of arms," how-

over, occui's in history until 1644, when, according to a

wi-iter of the time, it was assaulted by a detachment of

the Scots under Leslie.

" Upon Saturdny. the .sixteenth of March, some commanded men in

the morning, about ihe spring of day, were to have assaulted the fort

at South Shields upon Tyne. but fearing too much the danger and

difficulty, they returned without doin^'auy thing. Upon Tuesday, the

nineteenth, wee kept, a solemn fast ihrough the army, and it pleased

God the next morning to shew us a token of his favour: a party, not

BO strong as the former, was sent to stomie tlie fort, there being no other

way of taking it. Col. Stewart, Col. Lyell, Lieutenant Col. Bruce, and

Lieutenant Col. Johnston, with some inferior oHicers, led on the party
;

the fort was very strong, the Grafi'e without being esteemed twelve foot

broad, and eleven de pe, the work above ground three yards high, and

within it five iron peece of Ordnance, some nine pound ball, some

more, an hundred souldiers, seventy musquetiers, and thirty i)ikemen.

It was situated with great advantage, being defended on the one side il

by the Ordnance of Tynemouth Castle, and on the other by a Dunkirk I

Frigot with :en peece of Ordnance ; notwitlistanding one hundred and

forty of our souldiers, without any other armcs but their swords, carried

bundles of straw and sticks, where with they filled the ditch, set

up the scaling ladders (whereof some did not reach the top of the fort,

the ditch not being w. 11 filled), and with their swords gave the first

assault ; then a party of musquetiers, and after them a party of pikes,
'

all marching up till they entered the ditch, where they disputed the
I

matterabove an houre, in which time the enemy discharged upon them i

twenty-eight shot of caunon, some with musquet ball, otiers with cut

lead and iron, beside many musquet shot. Our souldiers did resolutely

scale the ladders, and some entered at the gunports : the defendants i

hehaved themselves gallantly till it came to stroke of sword, and then

they fled away by water in boates. Sixteen of them were killed, a

lieutenant and five souldiers who stoed out to the last were taken, and

so wee gained the fort, with thepeeces, and some barrels of powder, and

their colours. The providence of God wonderfully preserved our meu, :

for only seven of them were killed, some few hurt with stones and cut '

iron, but none deadly, no officer killed."

During the war with France, in the early part of the

present century, a guard-house and battery of four guns

were constructed ou the bank facing the sea from the

Lawe ; but, soon after the peace of 1815, the gims were
j

removed to Tynemouth. The South Shields Loyal Vo-

lunteers, commanded by Lieutenant-colonel Sir Cuthbert

Heron, Bart. ; the Souths Shields Loyal Independent

Armed Association, commanded by Lieutenant-colonel

Joseph Bulmer ; and a corps of Sea Fencibles, composed

chiefly of pilots, and commanded by Captain Praed,

were organized during the war.

South Shields was formerly an insignificant village,

and is seldom mentioned in early records. Its name

indicates that it consisted originally of a few sheds, or

" sheelings," for fishermen. By an order made between

the town of Newcastle and the prior and convent of

Durham, in 1259, it was stipulated, amongst other things,

that the tenants of the latter, at South Shields, should

have liberty to bake and brew for themselves only, but

not for the use of strangers. In 1279, on a trial between

the burgesecs of Newcastle and the prior of Tynemouth,

a jury, sworn before John Delavall, the king's Justicir

Itinerat, found, that the prior of Tynemouth had built

a town upon the northern bank of the Tyne, and that

the prior of Durham had built another on the southern,

where no town should stand, but onl)' huts for fishermen.

The prior of Tynemouth's " four ovens at North Shields"

were fined five marks, and both Shields and Tynemouth

were forbidden to hold fair or market, or to expose for

sale meat, drink, or other articles.

In 1489, Lionell Bell, of South Shields, obtained from

the prior of Durham a lease for GO years, of a j)arcel of

land near St. Hilda's chapel, on which he constructed

two iron salt pans. This is the earliest notice of the

manufacture of salt, for which this town became famous

;

and to this day the names of districts and places in

South Shields bear evidence of the existence of this

branch of industry. Panwards, Pan-close, and Pan-ash,

indicate that salt pans were the chief characteristics of

these localities. A tradition prevails that when the

plague raged at Shields with great violence, the persona,

employed about the salt works entirely escaped the in-

fection. Nearly 200 pans were at one time employed,

paying, on the salt boiled therein, no less then 80,000/.

in annual duty.

The ancient part of South Shields consists of several

crowded nnd irregular lines of streets and buildings,

running for more than a mile close to the river, and

which are confined on the south and east by large hills

of ballast. Indeed, in 1768, the town consisted of the

narrow street only, next the river, with its diverging

lanes and roads. Many of the ballast hills have been

since built upon, and give the place a singular appearance.

The dean and chapter of Durham and the Rev. Samuel

Dennis, curate of St. Hilda, obtained an act of parliament

in 1768, " for vesting in the dean and chapter of Dur-

ham, a certain piece of ground adjoining to the town of

South Shields, and for making an adequate compensation

to the curate of the chapel of St. Hilda, and his successors,

for the same, and for enabling the said dean and chapter

to remove the fairs and markets out of the said town of

South Shields, and to cause the same to be held on the

said piece of ground." The groimd in question consisted
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of eight acres, on which are erected the Market Place,

King Street, Dean Street, Chapter Row, Church Row,

East Street, West Street, and Thrift Street; the amount

of compensation granted being only 30/. per annum.

The Market Place, just mentioned, is a good modern

square, having the church on the south, with Dean Street

branching off from the centre on the west. Thrift Street

on the noi-th, and King Street on the east. In the centre

stands the Town Hall, with a colonnade underneath, and

surmounted by a central turret and cupola. Further

extensions of the town have taken place in all directions
;

many of the new streets being handsomely built, and

containing good shops and other erections, which form

an agreeable contrast to the tortuous sinuosities of the

older parts of the town.

PARISH AND CHURCH OF ST. HILDA.

Thk parochial chapelry of St. Hilda was, by an order

in council, dated June 30, 1845, separated from the

mother church of Jarrow, and constituted a separate and

independent parish for ecclesiastical purposes, by the

name of the Parish of St. Hilda. In consequence of the

immense increase of population, and the extent of the

parochial district, another order in council, dated August

11, 1848, divided the parish into that of St. Hilda and

the chapelries of the Holy Trinity and St. Stephen.

The church is situated in the Market Place, and is

dedicated to St. Hilda. It is of great antiquitj', and

supposed to be cotemporary with that of Jarrow. The

earliest record of the chapolry is contained in the instru-

ment of presentation of John de Gyseburne, bj^ John,

prior of Durham, in 1402. In this evidence, the cha-

pelry is mentioned as including Les Sheels, Ilarton, and

Wivcston (Westoe). But little idea can be formed of

the original construction of the chapel, as it has under-

gone so many alterations and additions. In 1810-11,

the edifice was almost entirely rebuilt in the modern

style, except the steeple, the south and west walls, and

part of the east wall ; the pillars forming the north and

south aisles were removed, and a single roof thrown over

the whole building ; the ground floor received a new
pavement ; and a handsome uniform gallery was ex-

tended round the north, south, and west, in the latter

part of which there is a fine-toned organ. The ceiling

is stuccoed. The communion table is placed in a circular

recess, which is adorned with three appropriate paint-

ings. There are 1,520 sittings, 1,340 of which are

appropriated and 180 free. The expense of the altera-

tions amounted to upwards of 4,000/. In December,

1846, the churchwardens ordered some of the bells,

VOL. II.

which had been cracked, to be re-cast, so as to complete

the chimes.

As early as 1031, the church-j'ard of St. Hilda's was

foimd too small ; and, in that year, Bishop Howson

consecrated a plot of ground for its enlargement. In

1816, the burying-groimd was levelled, and the grave-

stones arranged in regular lines ; in 1827, an addition

was made to the chapel-yard ; but in June, 1843, it was

stated to be a nuisance, and idlimately became so offen-

sive that it was finally closed January 1, 1856.

Registers.—Nos. 1 to 9 contain entries of baptisms,

burials, and marriages from 1653 to 1812. The chapel-

wardens' books commence in 1660, when it was agreed

to permit the masters and mariners of Whitby to build

a gallery for their own use, imder the farthest arch save

one of the chapel.*

St. Hilda's is a pei'petual ciu-acy, in the gift of the

dean and chapter ; not in charge. Ep. proc., Is. id.

CuEATES.—The name of the first curate, Kobert de Dalton, occurs in

1321; and the succession continues without any particular intermission.

Richard Wallis, who entered iu 1775, was succeeded by Richard Wallis,

JI.A., vicar of Seahaiu, in 1782 ; William Maughan, 1827, p.m. Wallis

James Carr, 1831, p.m. William Maugliau.

In 1835, the gross annual income of the living was

335/., subject to the payment of 5/. From the remain-

ing 330/., 75/. a year was paid to a curate. The glebe

house was described as tmfit for residence. A new par-

sonage has since been purchased by the dean and chapter,

the fee-simple of which is stated at 1,200/. Part of the

income is from land, &c., also ceded by the dean and

chapter, of the annual value of 100/. ; fee-.simple, 3,000/.

In 1839, a deputation from South Shields waited on the

dean and chapter at Durham, with a view towards

purchasing the old parsonage for public improvements,

but were not admitted.

Westoe Chapel of Ease is situated in FoAvler Street,

and was built by subscription in 1818, at the cost of

2, GOO/. The principal subscribers were, the dean and

chapter, 1,000/. ; Lord Crewe's trustees, 500/. ; the Na-

tional School Society, 200/. ; and Queen Anne's Bounty

to its fullest extent. It contains a large gallery, and

1,400 sittings, 800 of which are free. The Rev. William

Maughan was the first incumbent appointed by the dean

and chapter. The patronage is now vested in the trus-

• " 1075, paid Mr. Trolop for the font, 31. 10«. ; for an boureglasse,

8d." It was usual then for theprencher to set (he glass up, and preiu h

it fairly out. Bishop Beveridge, it is said, carried this old custom much

further; for, when the sand had run out, he would say, "Anollur

glass, mv friends, and then."

"5h
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tees and the incumbent of St. Hilda ; and the living

was held for some time by the Rev. William Coward, <

who was appointed in 1830. The Rev. James Carr is

the present incumbent : the annual value of the living

is 220/.

CHAPELRY DISTRICT OF THE HOLY
TRINITY.

This chapelry district is bounded on or towards the east

by the Boldon turnpike road and the Stanhope and

Tyne RaQway ; on the west by the parishes of Monk-

wearmouth and Jarrow ; on the north by the river Don
'

and the river Tyne, to an inlet called the Mill Dam,

and from thence by Commercial Road, along the east
j

road, called the Jiugling Gate Lane, to the Stanhope

and Tyne Railway ; and on the south by certain lands

adjoining Harton Green Lane, in the parish of Whitburn.

The above district was assigned by an order in council,

August 11, 1848. In 1851, it contained 1,449 inhabited

houses, 8 uninhabited, and 1 6 building ; with a popula-

tion of 12,513 persons, 6,227 of whom were males and

6,286 females.

THE CHURCH

Was erected in 1834, and consecrated by the Bishop of

Chester. It is situated in Commercial Road, and is a

good stone building, in the earlyEnglish style, comprising

nave, aisles, chancel, and square western tower, ia the

latter of which ijs a clock, which is ilkuninated with gas

at night. The church contains 1,200 sittings, 800 of

which are free. The living, which is worth 300/. per

annum, is in the patronage of the dean and chapter

of Durham, who endowed it with the tithes of

Harton ; annual value, 220/., and fee-simple, 6,600/

;

and they also presented one acre of land for a parsonage,

fee-simple 150/. The incumbent is the Rev. Thomas

Dixon. The church-yard had become so overcrowded

dm-ing the few years of its existence, that an order was

made for closing it on July 1, 1856.

A national school is in connexion with the church.

The attendance, in 1856, was 335. The weekly pay-

ment varies from Id. to 3d. each.

CHAPELRY DISTRICT OF ST. STEPHEN.

TitE chapelry district of St. Stephen is bounded on the

east by the German Ocean]; on the west by the Stanhope i

and Tyne Railway ; on the north by the river Tyne ; i

and on the south by German Street, and by a cart-road

or back street behind Queen Street. i

This district was formed by the same order in council,

August 11, 1848, with that of the Holy Trinity. In

1851, it contained 718 inhabited houses, 12 uninhabited,

and 5 building ; and the population consisted of 2,919

males and 3,368 females, or a total of 6,287.

THE CHURCH.

St. Stephen's CHDRcn is situated in MUe-end Road.

It was erected in 1846,* at a cost of 2,500/., raised by

subscription, aided by a government grant, from a plan

by Mr. Salvin, of London, and was consecrated on the

11th of October in that year. It is a neat building, in

the early English style, consisting of nave, chancel,

aisles, and neat tower and spire ; and there is accommoda-

tion for 850 persons, 500 of the sittings being free. The

church contains an organ. The patronage of the liNing

belongs to the dean and chapter ; and the Rev. Samuel

Benton Brasher, A.B., nominated in October, 1848,

is the present incumbent. The patrons endowed the

living with a rent-charge of 236/. 2s. on Westoe township,

fee-simple 1,200/. ; and also ceded a house for the incum-

bent, fee-simple 350/. The annual value is now stated

at 200/. per annum. A cemetery is attached to the

building.

The St. Stephen's national schools were erected in

1852-3, at a cost of 1,500/., exclusive of the site : this

simi was mainly procured through the praiseworthy ex-

ertions of the incumbent. The averas-e attendance of

children exceeds 400. The Sunday-school is also well

attended.

CHAPELS.

RoM.\N Catholic Chapel.—In 184S, this building,

situated in Cuthbcrt Street, and which had previously

been a " Home Missionary Chapel," was purchased by

the Roman Catholic body, and altered and adapted to

suit the forms of worship used by them ; and an altar-

stone was consecrated by the Bishop of Hexham. The

chapel is dedicated to St. Bede. There are 646 sittings,

610 of which are appropriated and 36 free. It is

licensed for the solemnization of marriages. The Rev.

Edmund Joseph Kelly is the priest.

A school is in connexion with the chapel, and is

attended by about 120 children : it is partly supported

• The foundation stone was laid December 2C, 1S44, by Robert

Ingham, Esq., of Westoe. After that gentleman's speecli, Mr. E. Fair-

less stepped forward and protested against the erection of the building

on the estate, which at one time was the properly of his father; but

owing to the lease not being renewed, it had fallen into the hands of

the dean and chapter.
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by weekly pence. The attendance at the Sunday-school

is about 130.

Presb\terian Ch-Vpel.—This chapel is situated in

Saville Street. It was erected in 1841-2, and contains

650 sittings, 100 of which arc free. It is called St.

John's New Presbyterian church : minister, the Rev.

John Storie.

United Presbyterian Ciiarel.—This chapel occu-

pies the site of a previous one, erected in Heugh

Street in 1718. The present building was reared in

1779, and enlarged in 1817. There are 300 sittings,

none of which are free ; but nothing is charged for seat-

rent when parties are supposed to be unable to pay.

The building is licensed for the solemnization of mar-

riages. About 80 children attend the Sunday-school.

This chapel had its origin in the disputes which took

place amongst the congregation of the old Presbyterian

church from 1772 to 1776. It is at present under the

pastoral care of the Eev, Thomas M'Creath.

UNrcED Presbyterian Ckapel, East Street.—This

building was purchased of the Wesleyan Methodists in

1808. It contains 400 sittings, none of which are free.

About 70 children attend the Sunday-school. The

chapel is licensed for the solemnization of marriages

;

and the Rev. Henry Lawson is the present minister.

Layg.\te English Presbyterian Chapel.— This

place of public worship is situated in Frederick Street

:

it was erected in 1849, the expense being principally

defrayed by Messrs. Stevenson and Partners, of the

Jarrow Chemical Works. The building is in the early

English style of architecture, with a high pitched roof,

and a neat square tower sm-mounted by an elegant spii-e.

There are 500 sittings, none of which are free. It is

t Mn. WmjAM Henry Angus was trained to a sea-faiing life, in the

pursuit of which he was exposed to the usual dangers. Once he nearly-

lost his life hy being thrown out of a boat ; and at another time, by

falling into the hold of a vessel, among pigs of lead. Some time after-

wards, the ship in which he was sailing to the Baltic was captured by

tlie French, and he was n.urly lost in consequence of llie wreck of tlie

vessel that carried him and his fellow piisoners to France, but was

most opportunely saved by a Flemish fishing boat. Mr. Angus was in

prison for twenty months, during which he had only straw for liis bed
in tlie depth of winter, and nothing but horse beans and oil for food.

He was at length released by an exchange of prisoners, but immediately

impressed to serve on board a man-of-war. His father, however,

being aequaint<?d with the admiral of the fleet, went to Iiim, and suc-

ceeded ill obtaining his son's liberty. Mr. Angus now became captain

of a vessel belonging to his father, leading to the West Indies, &c.

;

but, after a few years, quitted the sea service. Having gone through

1

' licensed for the solemnization of marriages. Minister,
" the Eev. W. 0. Allan.

A Simday-school is held on the basement floor of the

chapel.

Congregational Chapel.—This extensive building,

I belonging to the Independents, was erected in 1824.

It is situated in Wallis Street, and has arrangements for

800 sittings, none of which are free. It is licensed for

marriages. About 230 children attend the Suuday-

!
school, which is held in the chapel, and on the basement

I

floor. The Rev. David W. Rowe is the minister.

!
Baptlst Cilapel.—This building is situated in Bar-

' lington Street, and was erected in 1801. There are

: 480 sittings, all of which are appropriated. It is licensed

j

for the solemnization of marriages. The Sunday-school

j
held in the chapel is attended by upwards of 100 children

;

\

and funds are about being raised for the erection of a

suitable room to adjoin the chapel. Minister, the Rev.

Richard Lancaster.*

The Particular Baptist Chapel is situate in Mile-

end Road, and was erected in 1840. It contains 80

sittings, aU of which are free. The Rev. George Lawson
is the minister.

Wesleyan Methodist Chapel.—This bidldinff,

situated in Chapter Row, was erected in 1808, and has

arrangements for 1,000 sittings, 100 of which are free.

It is licensed for marriages. Sunday-schools are

attached.

Wesleyan Methodist CuAFJih, foot of Westoc Lane.

This is the old Presbyterian chapel, built in 1718 and

rebuilt in 1790. It is the property of tlie Wesleyan

]\Iethodists by purchase, and is in connexion with the

Chapter Row chapel. It has 300 sittings, 50 of whicli

are free. A Sunday-school is attached.

a course of preparatory studies, at Edinburgh, he was appointed to the

Baptist ministiy in August, 1817, and devoted himself to the instnio-

tion of seamen of aU nations. WhOst on the continent, a tempting

situation of I,OU()J. a year was offered liim. besides perquisites, to preach

I
to the English settlers in the West Imlies, and converse in Dutvh

;

but he declined the offer. In 1822, ho was appointed an agent of the

Baptist llissionary Society, and, from 1H26 to 1829, was employed in

preaching and establishing schools, classes, and libraries among the

sailors, in the different sea-ports of Britain, Guernsey, and Jersey.

In 1830 and 1831, he visited the congregations formed in the north of

France and in Jamaica. He subsequently took up his residence at

Tynemouth, and officiated as minister in the Baptist chapel at South

Shields. On the 7th of September, 1832, wbUst preparing to set out

on a journey to liijuiihite the debt on the chapel, he was attacked by

cholera, then raging in the district, ai:d died the same eveninj,

I

aged 51.
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The TVesleyan Methodist Chapel, Temple Town,

is also in connexion with Chapter Row Chapel. It has

220 sittings, 120 of which are free. It has a Sunday-

school attached.

Methodist New Connexion.—This chapel was built in

1785, and re-built in 1814. There are 500 sittings, 50 :

of which are free. Above 100 children attend the I

Sunday-school, which is held in the chapel.

PannTn-E Methodist Chapel.—In 1823, the Primi-

tive Methodists erected a spacious chapel in Cornwallis

Street, containing 900 sittings, 300 of which are free.

It is licensed for marriages. About 100 children attend

the Sunday-school, in a room attached to the chapel.

The building is subject to the payment of 11. 4-s. annual

ground-rent, received by the incumbent of St. Hilda.

Prijutive Methodist Chapel, Temple Town.—This

place of worship is in connexion with that in Cornwallis

Street. It was erected in 1840, and has 320 sittings,

160 of which arc free. The Sundav-school held in the

chapel is attended by about 250 children.

Salem Assocl4TION Chapel, Queen Street, was built

by the Particular Baptists in 1824, and has since become

the property of the Wesleysn Association, by whom it

has been enfranchised. A gallery was added in 1839
;

and the building contains 714 sittings, 170 of which are

free. A Sunday-school is held in the chapel and adjoin-

ing room, attended by about 250 cliildren.

CH.1RITIES.

School.—Christopher Maughan, by will, dated March

13, 1749, directed that after the decease of his nephew,

William Maughan, 100/. and the interest thereof might

be applied towards the foundation of a free school in South

Shields. He also gave the rents and profits of his houses,

after the death of his sister, Elizabeth Maughan, to the

same object. Ann Auburne, who died about 1760, left

100/. for founding a school within seven years after her

death. About the year 1769, the above sums were

received, with other donations, including 100/. from

Lord Crewe's trustees, 100/, from Henry "WUldnson,

Esq., and 100/. afterwards bequeathed by Lockwood

Broderick. In 1797, the trustees iavestcd 1,000/. in the

• " While some men." observes Mr. Salmon, " carry out their chari-

fAWa designs through the medium of executors, when they themselves

nre laid in the cold and silent tomb, incapable of witnessing the

blessings which their bounty has left behind, Thomas Masterman
V\intt'rbottom has pursued an opposite and a wiser course. He has

in the purchase of 2,004/. 15.s. 5f/. three per cent, consols

;

and 400/. of the same stock was bequeathed by Ralph

Redhead in 1792, but did not come into the possession

of the trustees until 1800, These various bequests pro-

duce an income of between 80/. and 90/., which, with a

portion of the proceeds of Mrs. Glazonby's charity, and

collections at sermons occasionally preached for the

charity, are applied to the support of the school. The

present building, situated in Coronation Street, was

erected in 1848, and is attended by about 140 boys and

1 60 girls. The whole of the orphan children are taught

free.

GJazonhifs Charity.—!Margaret Glazonby, widow, by

will, dated March 21, 1810, bequeathed 200/. to five

trustees, the interest to be disposed of in educating and

clothing poor children in the charity-school. This sum

was laid out in the purchase of 375/. three per cent,

consols, and the dividends are applied as directed.

Hood's Charity.—William Hood, mariner, bj- will,

August 30, 1788, gave to the curate and chapelwardens

of St. Hilda's 20/., upon trust, the interest to be distri-

buted amongst the poor on New-year's day. The prin-

cipal is now in the savings bank of the town ; and the

interest is distributed in small sums, varying from M.

to Is.

Wcstoo National School.—This school, situated in the

same building as the chapel, in Fowler Street, is chiefly

supported by subscriptions and the payments of the

children. Joseph Ogle, who died in 1820, bequeathed

100/. to this establishment, of which about 64/. was

expended in payment of a debt on the building. The

average attendance is 230.

Dk. Winteebottom's Charities.*—TJie Master Mari-

ners' Asylum and Annuity Society (enrolled) was formed

by Dr. Winterbottom in the year 1846, at a cost of

2,300/., having for its object the providing a fimd for

paying annuities to aged, infirm, and poor master

mariners, their widows, and orphans, and building

asylums for their occupation ; to which he has since

added a further investment of 403/. 17s. 4c/. three per

cent, consols, for keeping in order the pleasure grounds

In front, and the paint work of the cottages.

The JFinterbottom South Shields Fundfor the Relief of

deserving Widows of Seamen is endowed with a magnifi-

liimself been the dispenser, willi no niggard hand, of his own bounteous

gilts ; ho has himself caused the widow's heai-t to rejoice, and her

children to be glad ; and he has himself been the recipient of her

grateful thanks."
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cent investment of 5,000^., and two shares besides in the

Newcastle and Carlisle Railway, for paying to fifteen

such widows as aforesaid, natives of and residing within

this borough, an annuity of 10/. each. The surplus of

the interest, as it amounts to 20/., is also to be divided,

from time to time, amongst five such widows.

The Unmarried Female Servants' Rewards Fund was

created by the benevolent doctor in 1S49, with an in-

vestment of 200/., the dividends of which are to be paid

and applied, on New-year's Day in each year, in bestow-

ing two separate rewards of 4/. and 2/. each on two

unmarried female servants, in the borough of South

Shields, or township of Ilartou, who come within the

meaning of the conditions prescribed by the deed of

trust ; and an additional investment of 150/., by a sub-

sequent deed, for the pui'pose of being applied in a

similar manner.

Reicard-i to Ploughmen.—An investment of 150/., pro-

ducing an interest of 71. 10s., to be divided as rewards

amongst the four best ploughmen at the East Chester

Ward annual ploughing match ; and an investment of

150/., producing a similar interest of 71. 10s., to be

divided in like manner, as rewards amongst the four

best plough-boys, under eighteen years of age, at that

same annual ploughing match.

The Poor of Westoc.—An investment of 200/., with

the annual interest of which coals are purchased and

divided, at Christmas, amongst the poor of the village

of Westoe.

The Marine School of South Shtelds.—In order to found

within the borough a school bearing this title. Dr. Win-

terbottom, by deed, dated August 28, 1837, and enrolled

in the High Court of Chancery, containing certain rules

by which the said school is to be conducted, conveys to

trustees, for the purposes of the school, a piece of free-

hold groimd on the east side of ]Mile-end Road, lying

between Alderson Street and Ingham Street ; also two

shares in the Imperial Fire Office Company, London

;

five shares in the Union Fire and Life Insurance Com-

pany, liOndon ; one moiety of a share in the Royal

Exchange Insurance Company, London—upon trust for

the founder during his life, after his death for his sisters,

Ann Masterman Stewart (since deceased), Elizabeth

Masterman Winterbottom (still living), and Mary Mas-

terman Winterbottom (since deceased), during their

respective lives, in equal shares, as tenants in common,

with the benefit of survivorship, and after the death of

the survivor, in trust for the said school. R. Ingham, R.

Shortridge, J. Hargravo, R. Anderson, and T. Glover are

the original trustees named ; the Bishop of Dui'ham for

the time being to be the visitor of the school ; the dean of

Durham, and the incumbents for the time being of St.

Hilda, Jarrow, Boldon, Whitburn, and Monkwearmouth,

the trustees, and six merchants or shipowners to be

chosen as provided, are to be the governors of the

school, and the six merchants or shipowners to be the

committee. The deed contains certain statutes for the

conducting of the school, the master of which is to be a

Master of Arts of Oxford or Cambridge. The trustees

to proceed under the trust when they are of opinion that

sufficient funds have been obtained for the erection of a

suitable building, and for the maintenance of the school.

POOR-LAW UNION.

The South Shields poor-law union is divided into two

subdistriets. That of Westoe includes the townships of

Westoe and Harton, and the parishes of AVhitburn and

Boldon. South Shields subdistrict contains the township

of that name, with Jarrow, Hedworth, and Monkton. The
extent of the whole is 15,477 acres, of which 1,615 acres

are covered by tidal water. The population, in 1851,

was 35,790, 17,476 of whom were males and 18,314

females. The receipts and expenditure for the year

ended Lady-day, 1851, are given in vol. i., p. 162.

The subsequent returns were as follow :

—

INCOME, EXPENDlrUHE.

In 1852 .. .. £U,>jry2 5 .. ..ill,545ia

In 1853 .

.

.

.

11,008 lU .

.

. . 11,001 15

In 1854 .

.

.

.

11,301 1-1 .

.

. . 12,323 7

In 1855 .. .. 11,918 3 .. .. 10,075 14

The expenditure for the half-year ended September

29, 1856, is thus stated :

—

In-maiiitcnance . . - . X'390 10

Out-relief ..... 1,472 10 7

Maintenance of lunatics - - - 328 5 6

Extra medical fees - - - - 11 10

Vaccination fees - - - - 72 8 6

Kegistration fees - - - - 73 11

County and police rates - - - 961 18 1

Expenses of election of guardians - - 40 11

Common ebargcs, including salaries and rations of

officers, taxes, ii'reraedial poor, wajfaiers, <tc. 1,549 3 9

^£4,900 4 4

The persons relieved during the half-3'car were thus

classified :—In-door, 78 male and 115 female adults, 112

children, and 394 vagrants. Out-door, 315 male and

955 female adults, 991 children, and 14 vagrants.

Total, 2,974.

There are twenty-five guardians in the Union, nine of

whom are elcoted by the rate-payers of South Shields,

nine by those of Westoe, four by those of Hedworth,

Monkton, and Jarrow, one by those of Harton, one by
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those of WTiitbm-n, and one by those of Boldon. The old

poor-house of South Shields was in "West Holborn. The

Union workhouse, situated in Ocean Street, is a good

brick building. A debt of 2,400/., contracted for its

erection, has been gradually reduced, by annual instal-

ments of 120/. each, to 480/. The sum of 14/. 4s. was

ordered to be paid, from the parliamentaiy grant, in

respect of the workhouse school teacher's salary, for the

year ended Lady-day, 1855, during which there had

been an average attendance of 18 boys and 12 girls.

BENEVOLENT, RELIGIOUS, & EDUCATIONAL
INSTITUTIONS.

The South Shields and "Westoe Dispensary, esta-

blished in 1821, deservedly ranks amongst the most

beneficial institutions of the borough, having, from its

commencement to the 6th of Febniary, 1856, dispensed

its benefits to 37,183 patients. It is supported by annual

subscriptions, donations, congregational collections, divi-

dends on stock, and interest, which, for the year ended

February, 1856, amounted, with the balance of the pre-

ceding year, to 192/. 14s. 2d., the disbursements for the

same period having been 201/. 2s. lOd, a balance of

8/. 8s. 8f/. being thus left against the charity.

The Indigent Sick Society was established in 1818.

Its income is derived from voluntary subscriptions and

donations, congregational collections, and interest on

capital ; and it amoimted, in 1855, to 99/. 17s. Z\d., the

expenditure having been 97/. 17s. Q^d., and the number

of sick persons relieved 204.

The South Shields Loyal Standard Association

was established October 5, 1824; and its rules were

revised, amended, and enrolled, in conformity to law, in

1853. Its objects are to make provision for the mem-

bers and their families, in case of shipwreck, death,

sickness, superannuation, or other infirmities ; and the

members must be mariners or sea-going carpenters.

The receipts for the year ended December 1, 1855,

amounted to 1,109/. 12s. 8(/. ; and the disbursements to

853/. 6s. Id. Since its establishment in 1824, 37,311/.

7s. 4f/. has been paid in benefits ; and the capital and

stock is stated at 1,471/. 15s. 6f/. The number of mem-

bers is 730.* Tlie hall of the Association is in Fowler

Street.

• Robert Ingham, Esq., M.P,. in 1839, made a gift of an excellent

pew, in the north gallery of St. Hilda's church, to the South Shields

Seamen's Loyal Standard Association, for the use of the members. The

" Seamen's Hall Pew" is the inscription now placed on tlie door.

The Tyne Master Mariner's Mutual Association,

and the South Shields Seamen's United Friendly

jVssociation, are societies for the relief of their members
in cases of sickness, death, &c. The sphere of operations

of the North and South Shields Auxiliary to the

British and Foreign Sailors' Society extends from

WUlington Quaj^ to Cullercoats, and from Jarrow to

South Shields.

The Indigent Sick Society, established in 1818, is

supported by volimtary contiibutions. The Benevolent

Society was orighiated by the Wesleyan Methodist body

in 1806 ; and a bequest of 20/., from Mr. John Hind-

marsh, was placed in the hands of the trustees of Chapter

Row chapel, the interest to be paid to the funds of this

society.

The South Shields and "Westoe Auxiliary Bible

Society', established in 1820, is on a limited scale.

The South Shields Subscription Library was com-

menced in 1803, and contains a large and valuable

collection of books. The annual subscription is one

guinea from each member. By the 26th rule it is enacted

that " in case the society shall be reduced so as not to be

supported by the annual income, then the books shall

devolve upon the incumbents of St. Hilda's chapel,

South Shields, and of Westoe Parochial School, and the

trustees of the South Shields Charitj' School, and remain

with them, in trust, for the benefit and use of any future

re-establishment of the libraiy." In consequence of the

depressed state of the funds, it appears probable that the

above rule will shortly take eflect.

The South Shields Literary, Scientific, and Me-

chanical Institution was established November 23,

1825 ; and its first meetings were held in a school-room

under the Primitive Methodist chapel, Cornwallis Street.

A hall was bruit in 1825, va. Fowler Street, which was

originally leasehold, but has since been enfranchised, and

is now the property of the society, without incumbrance.

Lectures have been occasionally delivered by Dr. Win-

terbottom, Robert WaUis, James Mather, Thomas Sal-

mon, and others ; and classes on various subjects have

been established. Those at present in existence are for

instruction in the French language and drawing, for

which paid teachers are engaged. The subscription ia

8s. per annimi ; and the funds have been assisted by

occasional exhibitions of industrial art and by annual

festivals. The income dirring the year preceding the

last anniversary was 102/. 14s. lOd., and the expen-

diture 103/. 15s. lid. The present number of members

4
1

I
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is 226, of whom 6 are females. The library contains

3,144 volumes ; and two weekly, nine monthly, and two

quartei'ly periodicals and newspapers are taken in.

The South Shields Working Men's Institute was

established on March 11, 1850, and is held in a room in

King Street. Its objects are to pro%'ide commodious

apartments suitably supplied with books, newspapers, and

periodicals, and the establishment of classes for instruc-

tion in the various departments of literature and science.

The subscription is one penny per week, and the number

of members at the last anniversary was 600. Measures

have been organized for obtaining a suitable building for

the institution.

Jarrow Chemic-U. Cojip.iny'sSchools.—In connexion

with their works, the Jarrow Chemical Company, in

1850, erected a spacious building, containing a boys'

school, a girls' school, and an infant school, besides class

rooms. There is a spacious play-ground attached, and

the whole occupy an area of a quarter of an acre. The

cost of erection exceeded 1,000/. The children of those

employed at the works pay 2d. per week, and others 5d.

A Sunday-school is held in a portion of the buildings.

Besides the charity and other schools attached to places

of worship above enimierated, there are in South Shields

a boarding school for young ladies, and nineteen day-

schools. Mr. Salmon states the number of children in

attendance at day-schools in connexion with churches

and chapels at 1,633, and at schools not so connected,

1,834, or 3,467 in all. There are 3,143 Simday-scholars,

with 344 gratuitous teachers.

MANUFACTURES, MARKETS, INTERNAL
TRADE, &c.

The decline of the salt manufacture at South Shields

has been followed by the introduction of others of greater

• All aetiou, " Dodds v. Cookson," was brought iu Api-il, 1343, to

recover 157J. lis. id. for injury done to the crojis of two fields of which

the plaintiff was tenant. The defendants admitted having occasioned

damage to the amount of 80/., which they had paid into court ; but the

jurj' returned a verdict for the sum sought. In a case, " Tlie Quceu

V. Cookson and olliers," which came on August 1, 1843, the indictment

was respited until next assizes, it being agreed that the experiments

which Professor Johnson had commenced should bo continued, ho

being accompanied by any of the prosecutors. A meeting was held at

South Shields on the 10th of August, at which resolutions were cai-ried

expressive of sympathy with the proprietors of the Alliali Works; of

con<lolencq|^with the worlonen and their families, tlireat^med with de-

privation o^'thciv means of existence ; and of remonstrance with those

who had commenced legal proceedings. A committee had an inter-

view on the 18th, with Mr. Cuthbertand Mr. John Cookson, who, in

their address, observed, " We are, and always liave been, prepared to

meet the vicissitudes of commerce, and to struggle with and overcome

importance. The first record of a chemical work (see

vol. i., p. 190) is of one at the " Alum-house Ham," about

the year 1720, carried on by Mr. John Cookson, whose

descendants manufactured glue, fig-blue, sulphate of soda,

and ciystals of soda, during the middle of the last cen-

tury. About 70 or 80 years ago, Mr. Fordycc erected a

large barilla work ; but it did not answer. Part of the

buildings were afterwards converted into a soap-boilery,

and are now glass-houses. " In the j-ear 1822," says

Mr. Salmon, "a manufactory, on a small scale, was
established at Temple Town for the manufactiu-e of

carbonate of soda, otherwise caUed alkali. The process

was then little known, and the results were imsatisfactory

until the year 1827, when an improved process was fijmly

established, and a marketable article produced. The
works were enlarged, year by year, until the year 1844,

when Messrs. Cookson and Cuthbert discontinued the

works,* and let the premises to the Jarrow Chemical

Company, who now conduct them on a scale, and in a

manner far surpassing their predecessors, both as regards

scientific appliances and quantity of produce. During
the occupation of Messrs. Cookson and Cuthbert, various

chemical substances were produced at the works at

Temple Town, viz : sulphate of copper (blue vitriol),

iodine, bleaching powder, and alum."f By a more

careful and perfect condensation of the injurious gases

arising from the processes, the present proprietors have

been exempted from those higal proceedings which

proved so annoying to their predecessors.]: The other

manufacturing chemists in South Shields are, R. W.
Swinburne and Co., Claypath Lane ; and Soloman Mease

and Co., East Jarrow.

Glass icorks were established by John Cookson before

the year 1690. Those at present carried on are, the

bottle woi-ks of Cookson, Cuthbert, and Co., East Hol-

born ; the flint and pale green bottle works of Cooke

those periodical depressions which, at one time or other, meet every

branch of manufacturing industry ; but we cannot contend against an

entUess succession of legal proceedings, bntli civil and criminal, directed

against us for injuries we are supposed to inflict upon our neighbours.

Having adopted every improvement that science can suggest, without

being able to satisfy them, we have no alternative left but to adhere to

our resolution to close the Jarrow Alkali Works."

+ On February 27, and again on March 9, 1843, the taU chimney at

Messrs. Cookson and Co.'s .MkaU Works was struck by lightning: on

the latter occasion, one man was kiUed and others injured bythe falling

bricks and lime.

J
At the exhibition of 1851, Mr. J. C. Stevenson of the Jarrow

Chemical AVorks, illustrated the crystallization of carbonate of soda by

a magnificent specimen of that salt, which was received too late to bo

placed among the articles referred to the jury. Mr. WiMiani Steven-

son, of the same works, received lionourable mention for bicarbonate

of soda, prepared by cxpoaing crystals of soda to carbonic acid gas.
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and Co., Tyne Court, West Holbom ; the plate, crown,

and sheet glass -works of Swinburne and Co., Xew Road

and Claypath Lane ;* and the bottle works of Hudson

and Co., recently belonging to the Tyne Glass Company.

Ship-huikUng.—Ship-building in South Shields dates

only as far back as the year 1720. Mr. Robert "Wallis.t

a gentleman of property and of indomitable perse-

verance, was the first ship-builder in South Shields,

where he commenced in that year. The site on which

his vessel was constructed is that now occupied by the

Brothers Greenwell, in Pilot Street. The corporation

of Newcastle, exercising entire jurisdiction over the

river and its banks, served Mr. Wallis with a notice,

during the building of his vessel, that if he launched his

ship in their waters it would be seized as their property.

Nothing daunted, Mr. Wallis launched his vessel, and

also made further encroachments upon the rights and

privileges claimed by Newcastle, by the construction of

passenger boats, known by the name of sculler boats,

which have continued in use to the present time. For

these breaches of privilege, the corporation instituted

legal proceedings, and, after much litigation, were

defeated by Mr. Wallis, and did not afterwards offer him

further opposition. 1

There are at present in South Shields fourteen I

ship-building yards for timber vessels, and one for
'

building iron ships. Attached to several of these are
;

graving docks and patent slipways, capable of accommo-
j

dating, for repairs, 25 ships. The usual concomitant

professions in a ship-building port are also carried on.

There are five anchor makers, nine block and mast

makers, seven boat-builders, six chain and chain cable

manufacturers, sixteen sail-makers, &c., with eleven shij)

and insurance brokers. Six iron foundries are in opera-

tion ; and there are three boiler builders, four engine

builders, six timber merchants, three brick and tile

makers, five paint manufacturers, and an earthenware

manufactiu'er.

There are many good shops belonging to drapers,

grocers, pro\ision dealers,^ and other tradesmen, in the

Market Place and the principal streets of the town ; and

• In 1851, a huge plate of planed cast iron was manufactured by

Messrs. Hawks and Crawshay, Gateshead, to be used for the easting of

glass by Messrs. Swinburne and Co. Its dimensions are,—length, 18

ft 4 in. ; breadth, 10 ft. 10 in. ; depth, 7} in. Its weiglitis 20 tons.

t This family is of considerable antiquity, and at an early period

settled in Northumberland. Subsequently, some of its members re-

moved to Newcastle, where they held a position of considerable

influence. Mr. Wallis, the historian, of Northumberland, is of this

family, and its present representatives are, Wm. Wallis, Esq., of

yVestoe, and Robert Wallis, Esq., of Chapter F.ow, and of Old Eidley,

Northumberland.

there are also five printing offices " The North and

South Shields Gazette" is published every Thursday, at

No. 8, Dean Street, South Shields, and No. 4, Howard

Street, North Shields. In the former town there are

two flour-mills, eight breweries, eighteen wine and spirit

merchants, 171 inns and public houses, 39 beer-houses,

four eating houses, and a temperance hotel.

Banks.—The banking establishments in the town are,

the " National Provincial Bank of England," the

"Northumberland and Durham District Bank," and

the '•Union Bank." The South Shields San'ngs Bank

was established October 27, 1817'. By the report for

the year ending November 20, 18o5, the number of

depositors was 1,747, making, with 8 charitable institu-

tions, a total of 1,755 accoimts ; the amount deposited

being 47,312?. Qs. 2d. The business is conducted in a

handsome building, erected by and belonging to the

institution, in Barrington Street.

Markets, Fairs, Sfc.—The ancient market day of South

Shields is Wednesday ; but it has now become obsolete,

and the market is held every Saturday. Fairs are held

j

on the Wednesday before the 1st of May and the Wed-
nesdays before and after the 11th November.

\

Railways.—The station of the North-eastern Rail-

way, originally the Brandling Junction (see vol. i., p.

114), is a little south of the Market Place. The electric

i
wires extend to this place, and the Electric Telegraph

Company have an office in Dean Street. Another

station, for the convenience of the inhabitants of the

western part of the town, is in Wreken Dyke Lane.§

The drops of the Pontop and South Shields Railway,

formerly tlie Stanhope and Tj-ne (see vol. i., pp. 114,

I

115), are fourteen in number, and are situated on the

Tyne at East Holbom.

St. Hilda Colliery.—The enterprising Simon Tem-

]

pie, Esq., first won a colliery at South Shields, on

the ground of the dean and chapter of Durham, from

which it was called Chapter Main Colliery. The

I

first coals were conveyed to the spout, amidst great

1 J In 1839, the South Shields Political Union issued a prospectus

j

for a joint stock pro\-ision store.

§ At Temple Town, South Shields, on AprU 12, 1S46, a locomotive

engine was thrown perpendicularly over an embankment, 14 feet high,

,
and fell on the roof of a cottage, which it broke through, burj'ing the

I

inmates in rubbish and enveloping them in steam. Two women in

the house were severely bruised and scalded, and one of them died in

consequence ; but the son of one of them, who was ill in bed, escaped

unhurt. Fortunately, the train was not dragged after the engine, or

the disaster might have been still more serious.

\l

Thank you for purchasing from Ebay Shop Retromedia

http://stores.shop.ebay.co.uk/retromedia


PAMSn OF SOUTH SHIELDS. 723

rejoicings, on April 23, 1810. The great expense of the

uudei'taking, however, compelled this gentleman to stop

payment, when the concern fell into the hands of Slessrs.

Brown, of London, proprietors of Jarrow collier}', who
sold the lease to Messrs. Devey. The pit was afterwards

worked by Robert, William, and John Brandlinfr, Esqrs.,

and is now carried on by W. Blackett, N. Wood, W.
Anderson, and II. P. Philipson, Esqrs. The shaft was

bottomed at the Bcnsham seam in July, 1825, being

about 143 fathoms deep. The average thickness of the

seam is about 6 feet ; and the workings extend to the

south of the shaft, which is situated at a short distance

from St. Hilda's church. The shaft is divided into an

upcast and downcast, by means of a brattice. The

strata rise towards the soa.

This colliery was always considered as peculiarly safe
;

but ou the morning of Friday, Juno 28, 1839, the

banksman observed the smoke of the furnace, mixed

with small coals, ascending the doicncmt portion of the

shaft, announcing the fatal certainty of an explosion.

From the situation of the colliery, in the midst of a

populous town, a great alarm was excited ; and the

most strenuous exertions were made by AVilliam Ander-

son, Esq., viewer, James Mather, Esq., wine merchant,

the medical gentlemen of the town, and others, to extri-

cate and restore the survivors. In the course of the

day, the whole of the dead bodies, 51 in number, were

exhumed. In consequence of this calamity, a local

committee was appointed at a public meeting in the town,

consisting of Robert Ingham, Esq., chairman; Dr,

Winterbottom, R. Sliortridge, J. W. Roxby, J. Clay,

E. Bell, R. W. Swinburne, W. K. Eddowes, A. Harrison,

J. Mathei', and T. Salmon, Esqrs. ; the two latter being

the honorary secretaries. The laborious investigations

of the connnitt(!C were almost unexampled ; and their

Report, as prepared by Mr. Mather, was translated into

foreign languages, became a text book for the scientific

engineer, and is tluis honourably mentioned in the Re-

port of the Parliamentary Committee of 1852, in which

Mr. Mather's labours are alluded to as " worthy of all

praise" :

—

" The Report from the South .Shickls coraiiiittop, ftppointcd to investi-

gate the causes of accidents in coal mines, was brought under our

notice ; to which report the attention of the House of Lords' Com-

• Ou the nif^lit of the 14th of Janunry, 1841, n fire, supposed to have

originated at the furnace, occurred at tlic St. Hilda Colliery. About

midnight, Hanies wore observed in or near tlie engine-house, when
fire-engines were hurried to the spot, and it was found that the brattice

in the shaft, dividing the upcast from the downcast, was on fire, anil

which liad also comniunicaled to thn shed at the top. Much appre-

hension was felt lest the circulation of air in the mine should be

VOL. II.

mittee was .also directed in 1819. On examination, this report proved

to be a repertory of informalion so extensive, ijnportant, and appai-ently

so accurate, that it seemed to supersede, in a me.isuro, the necessity

of examining very numerous witnesses. This committee continued

its labours for three years ; visited in person various mines ; oom-

inunicated with many of the most scientific men of the day, at home

and abroad ; and terminated its labours by that report."*

IMPROVEMENTS, AMUSEMENTS, &c.

In 1829, an act was obtained for "paving, lighting,

watching, cleaning, and improving" the town. The

commissioners under this act caused the houses to be

numbered, and the streets to be kept cleaner than formerly.

In 1816-18, the " Mill-dam," a sort of inland lake having

access to the Tyne, and therefore considered as eligible

for the formation of a dock, was filled up, and houses

andmanuiactorics have since been erected upon its site.

On the 31st of December, 1850, the powers of the com-

missioners under the above act were formtiUy transferred,

by deed, to the corporation of the borough ; and the

town cotmcil continued to exercise the powers and pro-

visions of the act until its repeal by the new improve-

ment act, which, on July 8, 1853, received the royal

assent. Under its powers, the Town Hall, with the

mai'kets, fairs, and tolls, were lately purchased from the

dean and chapter of Durham by the corporation of

South Shields, for the moderate sum of 500/. The un-

derground sewerage of the town will, under the provisions

of the latter act, be carefullj' attended to ; and, three

years after the completion of the Jarrow Docks, the

whole of the townships of South Shields and Westoe

will come under its operation.

Supply of Gas.—The gas company was fonued by

deed, dated March 17, 1824, with a capital of 4,000/., in

160 shares of 25/. each. The works are situated in St.

Hilda's ijauc ; and shops and houses were first supplied

October 1, 1824, and to the public streets November 1,

1829. Tiie works have since been considerably extended,

so as to contain 280,OoO cubic feet of gas ; and worka

are iu progress to extend the supply to Jarrow Slake

and tlie dorks now in coarse of formation. The number

of street lamps was originally 38, but has since increased

to 38G. The price to consumers is 4s. per 1,000 cubio

feet. The company was re-organizcd, by deed dated

December 26, 1855, and registered January 23, 1856,

stopped by the bur-ning through of the brattice, as upwards of JO men

and boys were then at work below. Fortunately, tiie stream gf water

]ioureil down by the engines carried with it a sulficieiit current of air

to prevent imnieuiate danger; and when, after an-sious and kwigpro-

tracted eli'.irts, tho fire was at last extinguished, the workmen, who

had till nearly t!iat lime been unconscious of the jeojiartly in wLicU

they were p;aced, v;ere oil safely' brought to baijU.

Ox
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with a capital of 20,000/., m 2,000 shares of 10/., and

power of increase by the issue of new shares or otherwise

to the furthersum of 15,000/. The company gave notice,

November 29, 1856, of their intention to apply to par-

liament for leave to bring in a bill to incorporate the

said company.

Suppli/ of Water.—In 1788, an act of parliament was

obtained, intituled, " An act for supplying with water

the town of South Shields, and parts adjacent, and the

shipping resorting to the said town." The suppty pro-

vided (which was from Cadwell, about two miles from

the town, and a reservoir in AYestoe Lane) having become

quite inadequate to the wants of the town, a committee

of the South Shields Improvement Commissioners was

appointed, April 24, 1845, to inquu-e and report upon

the subject ; but on May 28, 1852, an act was passed "for

better supplying with water the boroughs of Sunderland

and South Shields, and other places in the county of

Durham." (See p. 496.) The two towns are now con-

nected by water-pipes in the turnpike-road; and, in

addition to the supply from Humbleton HUl, an abundant

and apparently inexhaustible supply is obtained from a

shaft at the foot of Fulwell Hills. From these soxirces,

Eulwell, Whitburn, Cleadon, Harton, Westoe, and

Jarrow, are now being supplied with water of good

quality.

The Baths and Wash-houses in John Street, Cuthbert

Street, were erected by the corporation in 1854. They

have more than answered expectation ; and are now
being considerably extended in the washing department,

in order to supply the increasing demands.

The Theatre in Wellington Street, is a humble building,

erected in 1792, from a planbyThomas Thwaites, painter,

Whitby. It has been generallj' leased to the successive

managers of other the atresin the district, and has, con-

sequently, participated in the histrionic talent produced

by them. The last manager was Mr. Benson, who also

occupies the theatres at Durham, Stockton, and some

other places.

Races were for many years held annually on the

sands, on Whit-Monday, Tuesday, and Wednesday, and

were at one period more respectably patronized than any

other leather plate races in the north of England. In

consequence of riotous proceedings, with loss of life,

having taken place at these races in 1855, an order was

made for their discontinuance.

• On this occasion, a splendid banner was presented to Mr. Ingham,

in the Maiket Place, by R. Shortridge, Esq., as the gift of the ladies of

South Shields.

t At a public meeting of the ratepayers, January 1, 1840, a resolu-

The South Shields and Westoe United Burying-ground

is situated in Westoe Lane. It contains an area of 16

acres, and is tastefidly laid out, imder the direction of a

burial board. Near the centre will be erected two

chapels, one of which will be appropriated to the use of

members of the Established Church, and the other to

Dissenters.

BOROUGH, CORPORATION, &c.

South Shields was enfranchised by the Reform Act of

1832, and returns one member to parliament. The first

election was concluded, after a spirited contest, on De-

cember 12, in that year, when there were, for Robert

Ingham. Esq., Westoe (returned), 205 votes ; George

Palmer, Esq., London, 108 ; William Gowan, Esq.,

London, 104; and RusseU Bowlby, Esq., Cleadon

Meadows, 2.

At the election in 1835, the numbers were, for Robert

Ingham, Esq. (returned), 273 votes ; for Russell Bowlby,

Esq., 123.

In 1837, Robert Ingham, Esq., was returned without

a contest.

In 1841, the niunbers were, for John Twizell Wawn,
Esq., West Boldon (retiuTied), 240 votes ; for Robert

Ingham, Esq., 207 ; for George Fyler, Esq., London, 34.

In 1847, for John Twizell Wawn, Esq. (returned),

333 votes ; for William Whateley, Esq., London, 176.

In 1852, for Robert Ingham, Esq. (returned), 430

votes ; for the Hon. Henry-Thomas Liddell, EsHngton

(now Lord Ravensworth), 249.*

A revising barrister's court is held at South Shields,

which includes in its district the townships of Boldon,

Harton, Hedworth, Monkton, Jarrow (including Heb-

biirn). South Shields, Westoe, and Whitburn (including

Cleadon).

After two ineffectual attempts,! a royal charter of in-

corporation fortheborough of South Shields was obtained

on the 3rd of September, 1850. The municipal borough

was made co-extensive with the parliamentary borough,

which comprises the townships of South Shields and

Westoe, divided into three ^wards, ^^z., South Shields

Ward, with three aldermen and nine councillors

;

Westoe Ward, with two aldermen and six cotmcillcrs

;

and Jarrow Ward, with three aldermen and nine coim-

cillors, making a total of thirty-two. The following

gentlemen were elected to the first town council :

—

tion for procuring a charter of incorporation for the borough, waf

carried by a mnjority of 40 to 41. On the 20th of August, 1841, th«

pri\T council decided against granting charters to North and South

Shields and other places.
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South Skidds Ward.—.Tames Young, ThoninsStainton, George Potts,

John Clay, J. L. Hall, E. T. Wawn, Wra. Forrest, John White, and

Thomas Hudson.

Westoe Ward.—John Robinson, Thomas Forsyth, C. N. Wawn, B. T.

Whinney, Thomas Wallis, and H. Briggs.

Jarrow Ward.—M. Stainton, James Stevenson, George Hudson, J.

W. Lamb, J. P. EUiott, John Toshach, J. Grey, E. BeU, and J. F.

Kennedy.

The number of burgesses on the roll in the first year

of incorporation was 879 ; and it is now, in 1856, 1,570.

The following is the succession of mayors :

—

Alderman John Clay, elected in 18-50 : the same, 18.51 ; Alderman

George Potts, 18.53 ; Alderman John Eobinson, 1853 ; Alderman John

Toshach, 185i ; Alderman Thomas Stainton, 1835 ; Alderman Matthew

Stainton, 185ti.

By the Municipal Act, the appointment and manage-

ment of the police are vested in the wateh committee of

the coimcil. The force consists of a superintendent, an

inspector, a night sergeant, and thirteen police constables.

The police-station, lock-up, and superintendent's dwel-

ling, are in the court-house, AVaterloo Vale, where both

the county and borough magistrates hold their sittings,

and in which the county coui-t for the South Shields

district is held.

A separate coromission of the peace for the borough

was issued July 11, 1851, and consists at present of the

following magistrates, viz., the maj'or for the time being,

John Twizell Wawn, Richard Shortridge, John Robin-

son, James Stevenson, James Young, Thomas Forsyth,

and George Potts, Esqrs. They hold their sittings on

Monday, "Wednesday, Thursday, and Saturday in each

week ; the session^f the local county magistrates being

held every Tuesday and Friday.

Three members of the River Tyne Improvement

Commission are appointed by the town council of South

Shields.

The following is an abstract of the Borough Fund
Account for the year ended August 31, 1855 :

—

Receipts.

Borough rate from South Shields

Do. do. V>'estoe

Fines and ices . . . .

Rent of County Court

Balance due tho treasurer

£809 2 2

002 17 10

124 12 10

15

082 9 3

.£2,544 2 1

FxTESDrniKE.

Balance due treasurer, August 31, 1854 - - £'147 16 10

Police 1,036 12

Printing, advertising, itc 30 8 6

Salaries - - - - . - - 117 2

Miscellaneous 6!) 6 <J

Interest 14 1 2

Baths and wash-houses ..... 1,122 14 10

X2,544 2 1

The District Rate accoimt, for the year ended Novem-
ber 9, 1855, stood as follows :

—

Income.

Cash from collector on account of general district

rate ..... £4,605

Do. borough suri'eyor, on account of sales of

manure - . . . 197 7

Due the treasurer .... 1,458 17 1

£C,aCl 4 1

Expenditure.

Balance due the treasurer, November 9, 1S54 - £2,181 4 4

Streets, including paving, repairing, draining,

stones, watering, i-c. . - - 2,300 10 11

Lighting;— gas, 741Z. 9s. lOd. ; lamps, <tc.,

221«. Us. 8rf. - - . . 963 4 6

Advertising, printing, &c. ... 28 12 (t

Salaries - . - . . . 528 15

Rents - . - . . . 13

Miscellaneous - - . - . 29 1 6

Interest - . . . . . 210 15 10

£6,261 4 1

The court led and baron of the dean and chapter of

Durham, as lords of the manor of Westoe, is held in the

Town Hall once a year, for the recovery of petty debts,

before a barrister, as judge, and a jury. Presentments

for nuisances, encroachments, &c., were formerly made
with great ceremony at this court, but have been super-

seded by the powers of the local Improvement Act, as

exercised by the mayor and coimcil.*

HARBOUR, PORT, FERRIES, &c.

The estuary of the Tyne, between the boroughs of South

Shields and Tynemouth, forms the harbour of Shields, in

which many himdreds of vessels of largo tonnage fre-

quently take up their berths, and receive or discharge

their cargoes. The depth of water on the bar during

spring tides is 24 feet. The entrance from the sea has

hitherto been difficult ; on the north side, tho rocks

called the Black Middens, and on the south side the

Herd Sand, confine the channel of the river, which is

here called tho Narrows. The danger, however, wQl, it

is hoped, be obviated by the piers now in course of

erection. Within the Narrows, the river expands into

a cajiacioiis basin, which is deepest at the west end of

South Shields.

The whole of the Tyne was formerly considered as the

port of Newcastle-upon-Tyne; but on April 6, 1848,

North and South Shields, after many efforts for the

purpose, were constituted a distinct port. On this

• In 1851, a subscription was entered into for the purchase of a gold

chain for tho mayor, to be preicnted by the laJiea of the town.
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event, North Shields became possessed of an independent

custom-house, and a subordinate one was established at

South Shields. The customs port of Shields extends

from the southern side of the river Alne, the limit of the

customs port of Berwick-upon-Tweed, to Souter Point,

the northern limit of the customs port of Sunderland,

including the whole of the estuary of the Tyne up to the

eastern end of Whitehill Point sand, from thence so

much of the river Tyne as lies to the south of the mid-

channel of the river to the eastern end of Jarrow Qnay,

the limit of the customs port of Newcastle. The latter

port embraces the whole of the river Tyue, to the limit

of the customs port of Shields.

The dues collected in these two ports are so much
connected that it is desirable to treat of them together.

The parties who le^'y dues on ships, or on goods carried

in ships, within these ports, are—The municipal corpo-

ration of Newcastle, the Tyne Improvement Commis-

sioners, the Trinity House of Newcastle, the fraternity

of Hostmen of Newcastle, the lord of the manor of

Tynemouth, the commissioners for executing the New-
castle Coal Turn Act, the commissioners of Warkworth

harbour at TVarkworth, the lord of the manor of Amble
at Amble, the lessees of the proprietor of the harbour of

Elyth, the proprietors of the creek of Seaton Sluice, the

commissioners of Ramsgate harbour, the warden and

assistants of Dover, the trustees of Whitby harbour, the

trustees of Bridlington harbour, and the Russia Company.

The act which transferred the conservancy of the river

from the corporation of Newcastle to commissioners was

passed on July 15, 1850. It enacts that three-eighths

of the coal dues shall go to the " Tyne Improvement

Fund Account," and the remaining five-eighths to the

credit of the " Newcastle Borough Fund." By the 57th

clause, it is provided

—

" That when the inayor. sddi nnen, and burgesses of South ShieMs
shall have opened, -n-itliin their borough, a quay of not less than one

• Estimating each vessel at 200 tons burthen on an average, this

would produce a total tonnage of 07,000, wl.ich, at 8/. per ton, gives a

value of 77G,00OJ. In all other parts of the Tyne, 499 ships were moored
on the above day, giving, by the above estimate, a tonnage of 99,800,

and a value of 798,40GZ., or only 2,800 tons and 22,4'jOi. value more
than those at South Shields alone.

+ The local jeiUousies which existed previous to the passing of the

act of 1950, did not immediately subside after that event. In a letter from

"William Purdo, retired commander, R.N., James C.Stevenson, William

linskill, M. Poppelwell, Juo. W. Lamb, and Joseph Strnker, liiver

Tyne Commissioners, to the Ilight Hon. Sir James Graham, dated

June 3, 18 J4, complaint is made of neglect and mismanagement of the

river, previous to and after the act of 1850. and of being outvoted by

tho preponderating influence of Newcastle and Gateshead. A eom-
missiou was consequently appointed to inquire into the prer.ent stale

of tbe liyer : it consisted of Vice-admiral William Bowles, C.B., chair-

hundred yards in length, for the use of the public, subject to the pny-

meut of quay dues then at to the parties erecting such quay, the goods,

wares, and merchandize landed thereat shall thenceforth be exempted

fnnn the payment of one-half of the dues, which are described in th»

act as import dues."

On June 17, 1852, an act was passed " for repealing

an act of the 9th year of the reign of her present ma-

jesty, relating to moorings for vessels in the river Tyne,

and the river police, and for transferring the powers of

the said act to the Tyne Improvement Commissioners

;

for enabling the said Commissioners to construct and

maintain jners at the mouth of the said river, in the

coimties of Durham and Northumberland ; and to con-

struct and maintain docks and other works on the north

side of the said river, in the last-mentioned county ; and

for other purposes." For moorings and police, the

commissioners are empowered to Icvj- a charge of one

farthing per ton on all atsscIs entering the port of

Newcastle-upon-Tyne. Fnder this and the preceding

act, moorings have been laid down along the whole river

frontage of South Shields, at which, on January 7,

1856, when they were filled, 485 vessels were moored.*

An effective river police has also been established. The

commencement of the piers was to take place within two

years from June 17, 1852 ; and the piers and Hayhole

docks are to be completed within seven years from that

date. Both are now in progress. The estimated ex-

pense of the piers was 180,000/., and power was given

to borrow 200,000/. on mortgage. The pier rates were

fixed at \d. per ton for ships entering from British

ports, and 2d. per ton for ships from foreign ports. By
the 74th clause of the act, jurisdiction on the Tyne

between Spar-Hawk in the sea and Tyne Bridge is

given to justices of the counties of Northumberland and

Durham, and the boroughs of Tynemouth, South Shields,

and Gateshead, as well as those for Newcastle, to whom
such jurisdiction formerly belonged exclusively.f

man ; Lieutenant-general Sir John Bell, K.C.B. ; Captain Bobert

Fitzroy, R.N. ; Robert Baynes Armstrong, Esq., Q.C. ; and Isambard

Kingdom Brunei, Esq., C.E. The inijuiry was opened at Newcastle,

January 24, 1850. Thepai'des examined were—Joseph Straker, Esq.,

shipowner, merchant, and coal owner : Mr. John Walker Lamb;

Commander William Purdo, R.N. ; Mr. William Pearson : Mr. Matthew

Poppelwell, Lloyd's surveyor ; Captain William Linskill, J.P. ; AVilliam

Alexander Brooks, Esq., engineer to the river commissioners ; James

Cochran Stevenson. E~q. ; Mr. Simon Danson, harbour-master at New-

castle ; Edward Kilwick Calver, Esq., R.N. ; Mr. Alexander Comrie

;

Thomas John Taylor, Esq., mining engineer to the Duke of Northum-

berland : Mr. John Francis Ure, resident engineer of the river Clyde;

Mr. William Wake, harbour-master at Shields; Joseph Freeman, river

pilot ; Jacob Hanison, sea pilot ; Leonard Brown, river pilot ; William

Story, river pilot ; Mr. Charles Dunn, wharlinger ; John Clayton, Esq.,

town clerk of Newcastle; Joseph Cowan, Esq., chairman of the River
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Steam Ferrie-j*— The North and South Shictds Ferry

Company.—An m:t of parliament was obtained, June 1,

1829, for "establisliing- a ferry across the river, between

North and South Shields, and for opening and making

proper roads, avenues, and passages to communicate

obtained for establishing the Tyne Direct Ferry Company,

with a capital of 9,300/., in shares of 5/. each. Power
was taken in the act to enable the parties to dispose of

their undertaking to the existing company, under cer-

tain conditions and restrictions, with respect to the

therewith." Tiie promoters, with other persons, formed ' ferries authorised to be established, as imposed on the

Tyne Direct Ferry Company. Under the permissive

clause of the act, the North and South Shields Ferry

Company had conveyed to them, by purchase, the Tyne
Direct Ferry Company undertaking, with all the

powers, &c., conferred by virtue of the act of 1848;
and to the enterprise and energy of T. C. Leitch, Esq.,

the intelligent town clerk of North Shields, the public

are mainly indebted for the additional facilities now-

afforded and those in contemplation. The ferries at

present ply from the New Quay, North Shields, to the

JMarket Place, South Shields, and to a station further

east. The covnpany is at present arranging for the

establishment of a ferry between Whitehill Point and
Penny Pie Stairs : they have also power to cross at

stations between Willington Quay and Jarrow.

Pilots.—The sea-pilots of this port are under the

peculiar jurisdiction of the Trinity House of Newcastle,

by whom a toll is levied on shipping using the harbour.

Its surplus is applied as a fund for relieving maimed,

disabled, or distressed pilots, or their widows. They

reside mostly, if not altogether, at and near the Lawe,

themselves into a companv, with a cai^ital of 9,950/., in

shares of 50/. each, with power to borrow 5,000/. on

mortgage. The undertaking jJfoved highly successful.

After appropriating a considerable sum as a guarantee

fund, an annual dividend of 10 per cent, was received

by the shareholders. When the concern had been

established some j'cars, the public complained of not

having the extent of accommodation anticipated ; and in

the year 1837, a prospectus was issued to establish an-

other ferry, to be entitled The Tyne Steam Ferry, with a

capital of 10.000/., in shares of 10/. each. The principal

promoters of the undertaking were, John Lowre)', T. S.

Dobinson, and B. C. Tyzack, of North Shields, and

I'rrington Bell and George Potts, of South Shields.

The requisite surveys, plans, book of reference, &c., were

duly made; and a petition on behalf of the undertaking

was presented to the House of Commons by Sir Geoi-ge

Grey, Bart., M.P. for Tynemouth ; but owing to an

informality in regard to parliamentarj^ standing orders,

the project was withdrawn. From that time, no further

attempt was made for the establishment of a rival com-

pany until 1848, when, on the 30th of June, an act was

Tyne Improvement Commission ; Christi-on Allhuscn, Esq., merchant

and manufacturer, Gateslieiul ; Jiimos Mather, Esq., South .Shields;

John Robinson, Esq., do. ; Ealpli Turk Philipson, Jisq. ; James

Meadows Rendel, Esq., enRineer; Robert Stephenson, Esq., M.P. ;

George Macartney, Esq., M.P.; .James Walker, Esq., engineer; John

Murray, Esq., engineer of the Sunderland Doc'j Company. The com.

missioners, in thi,'ir report, dated Way ID, 1855, enumerate the various

surveys of the Tyne which have been made since that of Collins in

liiTj, " from which there does not appear any reason to assume that

tlie depth and widtli of the channel genei-ally dilfered materially from

what tliey arc at present," The report says, "whether it (the river)

l;as been improved, and whether the works in progress are likely to

improve it or otlierwise, are matters of opinion rather than fact, on

which parties dilfer materially; hut the preponderating evidence of

good authorities encourages a belief in some improvement." After

examining and remarking upon tlio works that have been effected, and

tliose in progress, the report proceeds to describe certain measures

which ought to be adopted, and concludes, " Subject to these qualifi.

cations with reference to the past, and to these conditions as aiTccling

tlie future proceedings, we are of opinion that the enci-oachments on

the tidal waters of the Tyne by jetties, embankments, and other works

executed and proposed on the banks thereof, have not injured the

narigation, and will not counteract the plans for removing the sand

banks at the moutli of the river, or otherwise injure the navigation of

that important river. In conidudhig our Report, we arc desirous of

expressing our sincere hope that the dill'orences and di.sputcs which

Lave hitlierto prevailed in the Tyno Improvement Commission, and

so much interfered with its usefulness, may from henceforth cease to

exist ; that all its members may be induced to believe that the interests

and prospei-ity of Newcastle and Shields are identical and inseparable,

and to bury in oblivion those local jealousies and animosities which

can only prejudice the community to which they belong."

• Previous to the establishment of steam ferries, the intercourse

between Soutli and North Shields was entirely carried on by means of

sculler boats, ea'di manned generally by one superannuated seaman;

and iluiing strong tides or easterly winils, tlio passage was extremely

dangerous, attended sometimes by loss of life. A tunnel under the'

river, to connect the two towns, was at one time suggested ; and after-

wards a chain suspension bridge was projected by Captain Brown, of

tlie royal navy, of suflicient elevation to admit ships to pass under,

without striking their masts. The estimated cost was 150,000!.; but

owing to the want of sufficient support, the undertaking was abandoned.

During the war with France, when the rumour of an invasion was

prevalent, an experiment was tried to form a temporary bridge across

the river. A line of cool keels was moored near Clifford's Fort,

reaching to the south side. Deals were laid across this lloatin;; bridge,

thus forming an easy road from shore to shore. Lord Mulgrave, on

tlie iiud October, 1801, ace(mipanied by General iMurniy and other

officers, rode across from Durham to Northumlierlaud. Soon after,

his lordship returned to tlie Herd Sands, at tho head of the 1st regi-

ment of the Royal Lancashire Militi.a, with their field pieces and
anmiunition waggons, when a sham action took place. The bridge

fully answered the e.xpcctations of the parties.
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at the eastern extremity of the town, where a " look-out

house" was erected for them, in 1840, by the master

and brethren of the Trinity House. Their nimiber at

South Shields is 160, and at Cullercoats 15. Their

courage and skill, in the pursuit of their dangerous

avocation, have long excited the admiration of all per-

sons conversant with nautical affairs.*

Life-boat.—The honour of the invention and first

establishment of a life-boat undoubtedly belongs to

South Shields. In September, 1789, the " Adventure,"

of Newcastle, was stranded on the Herd Sand, in the

midst of tremendous breakers ; and the crew di'opped,

one by one, from her rigging, exhausted by cold and

fatigue ; while thousands of spectators were looking on,

without the means of rendering assistance. The sub-

scribers to the Lawe House news-room (afterwards

removed to the Town Hall) formed a committee, for the

purpose of constructing a boat calculated to brave the

dangers of the sea, particularly broken water. Amongst

other models and drawings, one was presented by Mr.

Henry Greathead, a boat-builder, and another by Mr.

"WiUiam Wouldhave, parish clerk of St. Hilda's.f After

much discussion, in which Mr. Rookwood, one of the

• From interman-ying almost exclusively in each others' families,

the pilots form nearly .an isolated class. In a recent enumeration, it

was found that three of them were named Blair, seven Bums, six

Chambers, four Grieves,- seven Harrison, three Marshall, three Pear-

son, three Phillips, nine Purvis, nine Stephenson, three Thurlbeck,

six Tindle, six Wright, and twelve Young ; besides a number of names

with two each.

+ Mr. Wouldhave received a guinea for his ingenious model ; and

it is suspended to the chain of the chandelier in the church. He
was a painter by profession, and of somewhat eccentric habits ; but

bis inventive genius was considerable. His original idea was to con-

struct the boat of metal, probably sheet iron ; but it appeared at that

time so exceedingly ludicrous that iron should swim, that poor

Woodhave was compelled to yield to the power of satire. His claims

to the invention of the life-boat are still warmly supported by many

well-informed persons. Mi-. Greathead obtained considerable em-

ployment in the buUding of life-boats, and received many flattering

compliments from persons of the highest rank; in particular, a

gold ring from the Emperor of Kussia. In 1802, parliament voted

him a grant of 1,2001., the Humane Society 60 guineas and a

medal, and the Trinity House expressed their ajjprobation by

presenting him witli 100 guineas. Yet, strange to say, notwithstanding

these grants, and the extension of his business, Mr. Greathead became

a bankrupt.

J
A HEKoreE.—About the end of 1700, in a dreadful gale of wind from

the cast, a ship, timber-laden, from the Baltic, ran on shore upon the

Herd Sand. The life-boat was sent out, and brought the crew safely

on shore. A great crowd of people were coDected at the Ferry-boat

Landing to receive thcii- friends, rescued, as it seemed, from the jaws

of death. Among others, was an elegant and beautiful girl, about the

dge of sixteen, who had come expecting to receive her father, Mr.

Hume, the master oif the vessel. He had, however, determined not to

committee, described a boat by which he had been

saved at Memel in a tremendous sea, an accidental

meeting took place between that gentleman and Mr.

Fairies, the chairman, who says, " I proposed that we

should enter an adjoining tile-manufactory, and there

endeavour to explain to eaeh other our ideas of the boat,

by making a model in clay. In this we succeeded to

our entire satisfaction, and the boat was ordered to be

built by Mr. Greathead, imder the direction of the

committee. At the commencement of building the

boat, Mr. Greathead proposed that the keel should be

curved ; and this part is the whole that Mr. Greathead

has any claim to as the inventor." The utility of the

life-boat was first proved on the 30th of January, 1790,

when it put to sea for the rescue of the crew of a vessel

in distress in the offing. The men in the boat were

provided, on that occasion, with cork jackets ; but these

were found to be quite unnecessary.J Since that time,

hundreds of valuable lives have been saved at the mouth

of the Tyne alone ; and the life-boat, with various im-

provements or alterations, has been adoj)tcd botli in the

ports of Great Britain and in those of many other

countries. §

In 1826, James Mather, Esq , invented a boat, which

quit his ship, but to pa.ss the night on board. Miss Hume, hearing

her father's resolve, got into the life-boat, and, by her prayers and in-

treaties, induced the pikts to return to the ship. When alongside,

she earnestly used her prayers to induce her father to leave the ship

and go on shore. He continued, however, inflexible, and said nothing

should induce him to quit his post. Finding entreaties of no avail.

Miss Hume exclaimed, " Well, father, if you won't come to me, I am
resolved to go to you." These heart-touclnng marks of filial piety

subdued her father; he yielded to her request, and made her happy.

Miss Hume's conduct was so highly appreciated, that, on the nest day,

she was visited by all the respectable inhabitants of South Shields.

The whole family is now extinct ; but the honour of this brave action

desenes to be jJaecd on record with that of Grace Darling.

§ It is scarcely a detraction from the character of this noble inven-

tion to add that fatal casualties have sometimes occurred in its use.

On December 4, 1619, during a heavy storm, the Providence lift-boat

was launched from South Shields, to go to the assistance of a vessel

which had been driven on the Herd Sand. On coming alongside, a

rope was thrown from the brig ; but at that moment a sea broke round

her bow, caught the boat on the larboard side, and completely upset

her, throwing the crew into the water. They plunged about in a mas.-,

and she did not right, but broke her painter, and drifted away bottom

up. There were no means of assisting them ; and of the twenty-fonr

men who went ofl', only four came ashore alive. Three of these got on

tlie boat's bottom, and were taken off by the second life-boat, which put

off with another crew as soon as the accident was seen from the land.

The fourth man got on board the brig, and, with the crew, was brought

on shore by the life-boat. A subscription was afterwards raised for the

families of the sufferers, towards which the queen contributed 100

guineas. The boat which upset was one that had been erroneously

considered of an improved construction ; the principle of " letting wpll

alone" having been departed from.
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was constructed by a boat-builder in South Sliields, and
unites the qualities of a life and a ship-boat, thus aflford-

ing to sailors themselves the means of escape from
shipwreck. This talented gentleman also iuvcnted a

launching frame of the most simple construction, by
which a boat can be lowered from a vessel, in a rou»h
sea, without danger of being stove in.*

SHIPPING, COMMERCE, &c.

According to Hutchinson, there were, in 1740, only

four ships belonging to South Shields. The progress of

the trade of the jAace has, however, since that time,

advanced with rapid strides ; and in 1850, the number
of registered sailing vessels belonging to owners in

the to\vn and its vicinity was 229, with a tonnage of

52,924. The largest of these ships was the barque
" Sarah Metcalfe," of 481 tons ; and the smallest was

• James Mather, Esq.—This gentleman, though long identified

with the town of South Shields, is a native of Newcastle, and studied

medicine and philosophy in the University of Edinhurgh, where he

passed through the classes with honour. Soon after his commence-

ment in business at South Shields, he took an active part in the

exciting politics of the period, and was chairman of the Political Union

for the town and district. With twelve other gentlemen, he opposed

a public meeting in South Shields, convened to obsti'uct Catholic

Emancipation ; and he was secretaiy to the committee for the repea]

of the Tost and Corporation Acts. In 1832, he was chaii'man to the

committee of Captain Gowan (now Maulevercr), and chaii-nian at the

public dinner given to the late Joseph Hume, Esq., M.P. For his

exertions at this election, he was presented with a silver cup by a

portion of his fellow townsmen. But it is not on the debateable ground

of politics alone that Mr. Mather's name has become a "household

word," not only in the town of his adoption, but in the north of Eng-

land. His efforts in the cause of humanity, such as the inventions

noticed in the text above, and also at page 723, have been incessant

and multifarious ; and he has, on several occasions, promptly risked

his on-n life to save those of others. On September 1, 1839, three boys

were blown otf the land in a ship's boat, and were in danger of perish-

ing ; Mr. Mather followed to sea in a boat from Tyucmouth Haven.

passed the night in a stormy sea searching for the boys, and succeeded

in their rescue. For " his courage and humanity" on this occasion,

he received " the grateful and sincere thanks" of the Royal Humane

Society. Aft*r the explosion at tlio St. Hilda pit, and again after a

similar catastrophe at Jarrow on August 21, 1845, Mr. Mather was

amongst the most fearless in penetrating the mines, then filled with

the deadly after-damp, and succeeded in rescuing several workmen

from otherwise inevitable death. In tho beginning of 1851, he accom.

panied 5Ir. tJiildsworthy Gurncy, inventor of steam-jet ventUation, to

Scotland, to extinguish a fire which had for 20 years been burning in

the mines of the Earl of Jlansfield. In this arduoiis undertaking, the

cool intrepidity and scientific skill of Mr. Mather were again eminently

exemplified. On his return to England, ho was presented by the

pitmen, in the Lecture Room, Newcastle, with a silver cup, inscribed,

" Presented to James Mather, Esq., South Shields, by the Coal Minens'

Society of Northumberland and Durham, as a token of gratitude for his

talented and praiseworthy exertions in promoting measures to diminish

the dangers arising from bad ventilation and other causes in the mines

the sloop " Samson," of 20 tons. The " Consido" steam-
ship measured 259 tons; and there were eight small

steam-vessels, the total tonnage of which was 165.

f

The folio-wing particulars are extracted from the
Shipping Returns annually made to the House of Com-
mons, on the motion of Robert Ingham, Esq., ia conti-

nuation of those obtained by his predecessor, John
Twizell Wawn, Esq. :

—

SAILING.
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existing in South Shields :—Anchor, Atlas A 1, British

Insurance, British and Friendly, British and Friendly-

Protecting, Coal Trade, Eligible, Friendly, Imperial,

Maritime and Mercantile, Marine Safeguard Protecting,

Nautical, Port of Tyne A 1, Shields Marine, Standard,

South Shields Protecting, Star A 1, South Shields A 1,

Sun, South Shields Demurrage, Total Loss, and

Unanimous.

The South Shields Marine Board, for the examination

of masters and mates in the coasting trade, was esta-

blished in 1838 : the ofRce is in the Market Place.
{

About 3,000 seamen belong to South Shields, whose I

arduous duties in the coasting trade render them skilful,

hardy, and intrepid. While they were subject to im-
j

pressraent, during the war with France, they were
:

strongly prejudiced against ser\-ice in the navy ; but

this feeling is gradually wearing away.* During dis-

putes with their employers, they have frequently had
;

recourse to strikes, and the forcible stoppage of shipping ; i

but it is hoped that increased knowledge, and a better
i

understanding between the parties, will tend to render
,

Buch proceedings of rare occurrence, if not to prevent

them altogether.

Trade.—In the years below mentioned, the entries

inward coastwise, in the port of Shields, were

—

1854—602 British, 5S),589 tons.—61 foreign, 12,198 tons.

1855—300 " 42,9iG " 46 " 12,407 "

The clearances outward were

—

1854—1,530 British, 15S,Cal tons.

1855-1.20!) " 122,458 "

In 1854, 28 British steam-vessels, with a total of 686

tons, entered inwards; and 60, of 10,188 tons, cleared

outwards. In lS-05, 3, of 54 tons, entered inwards ; and

19 British, of 1,078 tons, and 1 foreign, of 550 tons,

elearcd outwards.

The entrances from the colonies were as follow :

—

1854—45 British, l:!,8ns tons.—1 foreign, 270 tons.

I.h.jS-30 " 13,220 " 2 " 985 "

The clearances were

—

1851—5f) British, 13,505 tons.—1 foreign, 346 tons.

1855—-'G " 10,430 " 4 " 1,893 "

One steam-vessel, of 462 tons, cleared for the colonies

in 1855.

The following were the entries from foreign ports :

—

1851—olfi Britisii, 110,871 tons.—1U4 foreign, 40,151 tons.

1855—902 " 189,993 " 405 " 41,243 "

• K tpacler was stationoil in Shields hiiibour, for the reception of

sailors impressed at that port, Sunderland, and the neighbouring dis-

trict. 'J'h.; memory of tb» olioiis practice of impressment is still

preserved in the simple but enduring form of a nursery chaunt, once

fery pop.dar in the county of Durham :

—

The clearances foreign were

—

1851—437 British, 83,104 tons.—180 foreign, 47.717 tons.

1855—473 " 81.077 " 418 " 30,310 "

Thirteen foreign steam-vessels, of 1,535 tons, cleared

outwards in 1855.

From a return made to the Ilouse of Commons, 6th

JIarch, 1856, it appears that 225,763 tons of coals were

shipped coastwise from the port of Shields in 1854, and

164,339 tons of coals and 52 tons of cinders in 1855.

In 1854, there were exported 178,267 tons of coals, of

the declared value of 78,052/., and 15,936 tons of cin-

ders, value 13,222/. In 1855, the export of coals was

168,433 tons, value 75,892/. ; cinders, 2,086 tons, value

1,692/. ; and patent fuel, 50 tons, value 27/.

The exports from the port of Shields, from January

to July inclusive, 1854, were as follow :

—

115 tons pig iron, value C80Z. ; 4,313 cwt. anchors and chains,

3,C04J. ; 1,152 cwt. wrought iron, 780L ; 737 cwt. bar and bundle iron,

3G7J. ; 7 iron hoop?, il. ; 1 cwt, hoop iron, IJ. ; 457 cwt. bolt iron,

220J. ; 3 cwt. sheet iron, il. ; 901 cwt. suudjy iron, 542Z. ; 3 cwt. sheet

brass, 70J. ; 2 cwt. pig lead, dl. ; 203 cwt. shot and sheet lead, 'i(A)l. ;

340 cwt. white lead, 50UZ.; 400 cwt. whiting, 2(!/. ; 91 cwt. lead coloui-s,

1342. ; 50 bags lamp black, lOOJ. ; 1 casic and 30 cwt. Venetian red,

lOZ. ; 1 cask yellow ochre, 1^ ; 1 cask paint, \l. ; 2 casks varnish, (iJ.

;

8,825 cwt. linseed oil, l,200i. ; 4 boxes tin plates, 7Z. ; 73 cwt. yellow

metal bolts, 414J. ; 197 tons metal pipes, 'JOOJ. ; 120 cwt. hardware,

3032.; machinery, 4,0002. ; G20 cwt. undressed flax. 1,2402.; 211 cwt.

rope, 9132. ; 111 cwt. copperas, 172. ; 80 cwt. alum, 342. ; 25 cwt. salts,

102. ; 80 cwt, cement, 122. ; 12 barrels tar, 42. ; 5 casks of pitch, 32. ; 4

casks, 62. ; 271 loaJs and 3,060 hoards and planks, 1,9552. ; 39 bundles

stakes, 102. ; 280 gross .md 1,193 cut gl.iss bottles, 8(il2. ; 20 cwt. flint

glass, 2342. ; 54 feet plate glass, 732. ; 11 cwt. crown glass, 142. ; 34 cwt.

window glass, 392. ; 263,209 pieces of earthenware, 1,8892.; 45 tons

fire-clay 342. ; 10 fire-clay retorts, 302. ; 257,402 fire-bricks, 7312, ; 130

tiles, 102. ; 7 millstones, 242. ; 101 chaldrons and 850 grindstones,

3872. ; 478 gallons of wine aud spirits, 2702. ; 3 cooking apparatus, 202.;

11 sails, 302.; -.ceases of books, mathematical instruments, ifec, 172.

;

130 shovels, 302.

In September of the same year, the value of tho

exports was 1,073/. ; in October, 241/. ; and in Decem-

ber, 3,159/. The articles exported in those months

(August and November, nil) were

—

1,200 pieces earthenware, 30 casks of soda, 10,000 bricks, 3G0 cwt.

chain, 24 chains, 94 cwt. anchors, 200 cwt. allc:ili, 25 cwt. magnesia, 9

east iron sets of windlass work, 101 iron sheaves, 22 iron rollers, 1 set

of winch castings, 6 cast iron hawse pipes, sets deck pipes, 6 sctj

capstan heads, 4 pumps, 40 knees, 1 cast iron purchase, 8 quarter pipes,

5 bales of sail-cloth, 250 cwt. of lamp black, 200 tons railw.iy iron,

1,710 railway sleepers, 1,430 railway chairs, and CO casks of spikes.

J.^RKow Sl.\ke and Docits.—Jarrow Slake has long

been an extensive waste on the south side of the Tyne,

" 'A ! the weary cutter, that stole my luddy away !

If it hadn't hae been tho cutter, my laddyd been here to-day.

\\ h.en 1 look'd to the southward, I lookd with a watery cyo

;

When I look'd to the nor'ard, I saw iny laddy come by.

'A ! the we;uy cutter," de. {Ad lib.)
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between South Shields and Jarrow. It was anciently a

haven, in which, it is said, the ships of Egfrid, king of

Northumberland, were anchored, but has since been gra-

dually choked up with sand and mud, and only covered

with water at the time of high tide. Its area is about

460 acres, and its form an oblong square. Various at-

tempts to establish ballast wharfs and other works about

it were formerly made, but were successively defeated by

the corporation of Newcastle, as conservators of the

river Tyne. Its suitability for the construction of docks

has long been acknowledged ; and, according to the

evidence of J. Davison, Esq., before a select committee

on church leases, June 20, 1838, a company had applied

for the purchase of 95 acres of the Slake, for which they

offered 50/. an acre. By the prospectus of the company,

however, it appeared that they calculated on receiving

2,500/. a year for the deposit of ballast on the property,

which would make the sum offered only two years' pur-

chase ; and as they proposed to make a dock of only 30

acres, it was conceived that the remainder might be so

appropriated as to deprive the public of right of way,

which it was the duty of the dean and chapter to secure.

The " Tyne Dock Companj-," however, the first general

meeting of which was held in 1839, advertised for a

contract for the erection of the whole work ; and an act

was passed, July 1, in that year, for making wet docks

and other works, at and near to Jarrow Slake. But it was

not till 1847 that the proprietors of the York, Newcastle,

and Berwick Railway (now the North-eastern) obtained

an act of parliament for making docks on the side of

Jarrow Slake. According to the terms of this act, a

sum of 150,000/. will be expended on the docks. The

company are empowered to make " docks, locks, quays,

cuts, piers, warehouses, and storehouses." The works

were commenced in June, 1855, and are expected to be

completed in four years from that time.* A station on

the Newcastle and Shields Railway has been constructed

in connexion with these works ; and the dean and

chapter of Durham have arranged to give 5,000/. out of

the purchase money of their property at the Slake, for

• One of the last gibbets erected in England was demolished by the

wnrkmen employed by the contractors making these docks. The per-

son who was gibbetted at this place was Wni. Jobling, a pitman, aged

SO years, convicted at the Durham Midsummer assizes of ISHiJ, of

being concerned with anothcrpitman,James Armstrong (who absconded

and evaded being apprehended), with murdering Mr. Nicholas Fair-

less, a magistrate, upon the road to Jarrow, on the 1st June, in that

year, and was hanged that month at Durham. The body was sentenced

to be hung in chains on Jarrow Slake, which was effected on the Bth,

under a strong eiNoI and military escort. So disgusting an exhibition

gave general dissatisfaction ; and it was a relief to the public mind
when, on the dark night between the 31st of August and the 1st of

VOL 11.

the purpose of building and endowing a church, &c., near

the intended dock. The completion of this undertaking

will add considerably to the trade and importance of

South Shields, f

WESTOE.

This township, anciently called Wyvestow, adjoins that

of South Shields on the south. The village is airy and

pleasant, and is now nearly connected by buildings with

the town. Ogle Terrace, built on freehold land, belongs

to the Ogles, of Kirkley, Northumberland, and presents a

uniform row of excellent houses, ornamented with gar-

dens, &c. The greater part of the property in the

township, however, is leasehold under the dean and

chapter of Durham, having been part of the ancient

possessions of the cell of Jarrow. A commission was

appointed, December 1, 1715, for the division of Wcstoe

Common Fields, containing 484 acres ; and the award of

the commissioners, Thomas Hilton, Thomas Garth,

Anthony Yoimg, and John Huntley, was made February

25, 1716. To Adam Bentley and Barbara his wife were

assigned 160 acres near the sea, now the Bent House

farm and Bents ; to George Harle, 105 acres, now under

lease as a farm to Robert Ingham, Esq., M.P. ; to Robert

Adamson 109 acres, now held under lease by the Rev.

Robert Green, Newcastle ; to the said Robert Adamson,

17 acres called Ox Night Field, which became the pro-

perty of the late Mrs. Green, at Laygate, and upon

which Brunswick Street, Green Street, Adelaide Street,

&c., are built ; and to Mary and Robert Eden, in trust

for the said Robert, 93 acres, now tmder lease to the

executors of the late T. Forrest, Esq. The fee and in-

heritance was, in all cases, reserved to the dean and

chapter. The manor of AVestoe comprises the tcvnships

of South Shields, Westoe, Harton, Hedworth, Monkton,

Heworth, Felling, Southwick, Fulwell, Monkwearmouth,

"VVallsond, and some larms at Simgnside. The present

lessees under the dean and chapter are, Robert Ingham,

Esq., M.P., William M. Wallis, Esq., Thomas Forsyth,

Esq., Messrs. Cookson and Co., the executors of John

September, Jobling's body was stolen from the gibbet, and secretly

disposed of by some persons unknown.

On the 10th of August, 1 ^0.5, a person named Bertram was engnlphod

in a quicksand, whilst shrimping at Jarrow Slake.

+ A coat of arms, designed by Mr. Kobinson Elliott, has been

adopted in the borough. Ou the shield is a representation of the life-

boat, above which is inscribed, " Always ready," and beneath " 1850."

The supporters are a British sailor, and an emblematical figure of

Commerce, bearing in her hand the Carfeiircus of Mercniy. Each

figure is surmounted by the union flag. The crest is an anchor, erect,

and entwined with cable. The motto is " Couraoe—Hvjusitt—
CoMMEItCE."
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Rippon, Esq., John Blenkinsop, Esq., and the executors

of George T. Fox, Esq. Jarrow Lodge, formerly the

property and residence of John Straker, Esq., stands

at the southern extremity of Jarrow Slake, and is now

the property of T. D. Brown, Esq.

HARTON.

Harton, anciently Heortediin, or " the hUl of stags,"

was included in Aldwin's donation to the monastry of

Jarrow, and belongs to the dean and chapter, under

whom it is held by Robert Delisle, Esq., the executors

of Thomas Forest, Esq., Mary Watson, Mrs. Gibbon,

the Rev. Thomas Brewster, John Robinson, Esq., J. B.

Hay, Esq., Isabella Straker, Mrs. Fox, and others. The

township, with Simonside, contains thirteen farms ; andthe

village, which is near the sea-coast, and about two miles

from South Shields, contains two public houses. There

is a spacious chapel of ease, built in the ecclesiastical

style, and which was enlarged in 1840 : the minister of

the mother church of St. Hilda officiates here. Harton

school is a neat stone building, erected in 1842, and is

attended by about 45 children of both sexes. In De-

cember, 1848, the dean and chapter made a donation of

201. to this school, to be at the disposal of the Rev. W.
Coward.

Harton Colliery, carried on by Messrs. Blackett, Wood,

Anderson, and Philipson, is situated at a short distance

to the west of the outcrop of the magnesian limestone.

• Professor Airy, the astronomer royal, selectoj Harton pit, in 1854,

for the purpose of trying his pendulum experiments, the ultimate

purpose of which was, to give the means of weighing, by the use of a

pound weight, not only the earth, but also the sun, Jupiter, and all the

principal bodies of Uie solar system. These experiments were con-

tinued during three weeks. The pit is of the depth of 1,260 feet, and

is connected, in its workings below, with those of St. HUda colliery

;

the subterraneous workings of both extending to upwards of eighty

miles, and some of them more than three miles in a direct line. The

series of experiments proved highly satisfactory, and were made the

s ubject of a lecture by ProfessorAiry, at the Town Hall, South Shields,

«n the 24th October. The lecture was afterwards printed ; and, in the

introduction, the following interesting particulars are given :—" The

experiments with this instrument (the pendulum) at Harton pit, by

the astronomer royal, were of a different nature from those made by

Eater, Sabine, Foster, and others. The former were intended to dis-

cover the exact number of vibrations of the invariable peudvilura upon

the surface, and at the lowest ascertainable depth below it. The latter

to usccrtain the actual length of the seconds pendulum, or the number

The sinking was commenced on May 10, 1841 ; and the

Bensham seam was sunk through, at the depth of 215

fathoms, July 10, 1844. The pit is remarkable for the

unusual quantitj' of metal tubbing, inserted seriatim, one

length after another, until 80 fathoms were completed,

which was surmoimted with 11 fathoms of walling.

This was occasioned by the intervention of a trouble, and

the consequent openness of the strata, through the chinks

of which the water penetrated downwards as the sinking

proceeded. The remainder of the shaft is through 40

fathoms of naked rock.*

Simonside.—This district, anciently called South

Preston, lies to the west of the lane from South Shields

to East Boldon. Nearly a centtuy and a half ago, its

common fields were divided ; one part being in Harton

and another in Westoe. There are also three farms be-

longing partly to Southwick and partly to FulweU, in

the parish of Monkwearmouth.f " Preston" was granted,

1163-1188, by Prior Germanus to Hugh de Morwick,

Baron of Chivington, Northumberland, whose co-heiress,

Sibil, became the wife of Roger de Lumley. On the

attainder of the first Lord Lumley, this estate reverted

to the church, by whom it was granted to Sir Ralph

Bulmer. In 1522, Sir William Bulmer exchanged it for

certain lands of the convent in Thorp-Thewles, Claxton,

and Fishburn ; and, at the Dissolution, it passed to the

dean and chapter. Simonside Hall is the property of

the representatives of the late Henry Major, Esq., and

the residence of William Grimshaw, Esq.

of vibrations at different places of the earths surface. One to discover

the absolute density of the earth, the other its form, and the relative

position of its parts. Since the time of the discovery, by Galileo, that

the vibrations of the pendulum are nearly equal in time, whatever the

extent of the arc—its application to clocks in 1649, by his son, Vin-

cent Galileo, at Venice and its successful development by Christian

Huyghens, this little instrument, based on a great law of the universe,

has been growing in importance and value, tUl now, in its employment

by the astronomer royal in the South Shields experiments, it has

achieved new and unexpected results." A plan of the levels of the

district around Harton pit, was prepared by the borough surveyor.

From this plan, from specimens of the strata through which tlie shaft

of Harton pit is sunk, and from the state ofhis pendvilum experiments,

the learned professor feels confident of working out a series of interest-

ing and valuable results.

+ This complex di\'ision is accounted for by a tradition that the

village was entirely depopulated by the plague above two centuries ago,

and that the nearest townships divided the deserted lands.

I
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PARISH OF WHITBURN.

The parish of Whitburn is bounded on (he north by that of Jarrow, on the west by Boldon, on the south by
Monkwearmouth, and on the east by the sea. It is divided into two townshijjs, Whitbui-n and Cleadon, and also

includes a part of the hamlet of North Biddick, in the township of Usworth.

The united area of the townships of Whitburn and

Cleadon is 4,594 acres, of which 394 acres are covered

by tidal water. Their population, at the successive re-

turns, was 675, 843, 856, 1,001, 1,061, and 1,203 ; 573

of the latter number being males and 630 females, in-

habiting 187 houses. The Brandling Junction Branch

of the North-eastern Railway has an extent of 3 m. 1 f.

110 T.. and an area of 26 A. 3 r. 23 p. in the parish, and

contributed 34/. 8s. in 1851, and 25/. 16.s. in 1852, to

the local rates ; the gross amounts of which in those years

were 469/. 17s. lOd. and 352/. 6s. 3d. The annual value

of property assessed to the county-rate in 1853 was

9,288/. 7s.

WHITBURN.

The village of WMtburn, distant 31 miles north from

Sunderland, is situated on the south side of an eminence

rising above 400 yards from the sea, and commands a

fine sea and coast view, extending as far as the Yorkshire

hiUs. There are several good houses ; and the village

contains a Wesleyan Methodist chapel, a post-office, a

brewery, and three publie houses. The parochial school

is a neat building, erected in 1824, and will accommo-

date about 100 children.* It is in the patronage of the

rector, who pays for the education of 30 poor children
;

and ho also assists in supporting another school. A
library and reading room has been established under the

auspices of Sir Hedworth Williamson, Bart. : it now
contains nearly 400 volumes, and is well supplied with

newspapers and periodicals. Whitburn Mall, said to

have been partly built by the Pilkingtons before 1600,

has been the seat of the Williamsons since their removal

• Edward Kiddle.—This distinguished mathematician was seven

years in Whitburn ; and whilst here, in 1810, his name first appeared

in the Ladv's Diary, tlien under the editorship of Dr. Hutton. Mr.

Riddle was bom at Ottcrbuni, Northumberland, from whence ho re-

moved to Whitburn, and aftenvai-ds, tlirough the recommendation of

Dr. Hutton, was appointed master of the Trinity House school, New-
castle. This appointment he held for seven years; and, through the

influence of his early friend. Dr. Hutton, lie became master of the

Upper School, Royal Naval Assylum, Groenwicli, where he remained

to the period of his retirement, in 1651. Mr. iiiddle, who was a

from Monkwearmouth. West Souse is the residence of

Joseph Simpson, Esq., J.P. Races were formerly held

on Whitburn sands at Easter ; and rustic sports are still

kept up at that season.

The Lizard is a high, dry sheep-walk, to the north of

the village, terminating on the east at Soiiter Point, the

most projecting promontory between the Wear and the

Tyne.t

Whitburn and Cleadon, having been always membera
of the bishop's great manor of Chester-le-Street, contain

few freehold estates of any consequence. The Rev.

Leonard Pilkington, appointed rector in 1563, collected

a considerable copyhold estate, which now belongs to Sir

Hedworth Williamson, Bart. Five persons from Whit-
burn and four from Cleadon joined the rebellion in 1569,

of whom two from each place were executed.

THE CHURCH
Is an ancient structure, consisting of nave and chancel,

with a western tower surmounted by a short spire. The
rafters of the nave were, some years ago, covered by a

plain ceiling; and the ancient windows have been

generally replaced by modern sashes. The church con-

tains accommodation for 400 persons. The monument
of Mr. Michael Mathew, of Cleadon, and his wife, is an

altar-tonib, on which is the recimibent effigy of a plump,

stout, elderly gentleman, in the full stiff dress of 1689.

In the chancel are memorials of several of the rectors of

the parish.:]:

Registeiis.—Book No. 1 contains entries of baptisms

from 1611 to 1680, and burials and marriages from

member of the Royal Society of Arts, died at Greenwich, in April,

1851, aged (17.

i Several Roman copper coins of Constanline, Ijcinins, Maxantius,

and Mnximian have been found near Whitburn. In 1777, a quantity

of Kiiglish gold coin, the latest of which was of the time of Charles I.,

was found in the thatch of an old cottage. In May, 1851, a guinea of

(Jueen Anne was found in a field.

} A few years ago, some bones were found at the church, which

were supposed to have belonged to a giant, but were subKoquently

proved to bo those of a horse.
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1579 to 1680 * interrupted by No. 2, containing bap-

tisms and burials from 1679 to 1798, and marriages

from 1680 to 1770, and by Nos. 3 and 4, containing

baptisms and burials from 1799 to 1812, and marriages

from 1754 to 1812.

"Wbitburn rectory is in the patronage of the Bishop

of Durham. King's Books, 39/. 19s. i^d. ; Tenths, 3/.

19s. ll^d. ; Episc. proc, 17s. ; Archid., 2L Dedication,

unknown.

Rectors.—^Wm. de Burgo ; John do Ryegate occurs 1245, and sue

cessora continue without interruption. Nath. Kllison, younger son of

Ellison of Hebburn, prebendary of tho fifth stall, and vicar of New-

castle, was appointed to the rectory in 1704 ; John Wallis, A.M., May

37, 1721, p. ra. ElUson ; E. Hinton, M.A., 1728, p. m. WalUs ; B. Pye,

LL.D., 17C9, p. m. Hinton ; J. Symons, B.D., 1791, p. res. Pye ; Thos.

Baker, A.M., March 19, 1810, p. m. Symons.

The rectory-house stands in a grove of lofty syca-

mores, and is a handsome edifice, erected in 1816 from

a plan furnished by the present incumbent, and executed

by Mr. Stokoe, architect, of Newcastle. The glebe lies

to the west of the village, and contains nearly 200 acres

;

and Sir H. Williamson pays 10s. per annum for four

* Robert Aire, of Whitburn, aged about 40 years, " in quadam causa

ineestus," saith " that he was slandered to have had karnaU knowledge

with the Baid Margarett Nicholson ; but upon his othe, which he haith

taken in the courte, he never knew her carnaUie.

" He saith that after he was commanded to bringe in his compurga-

tions, he omytted so to do ; whereupon he was declared gyltie of the

fault, and was apoynted to do his penance, as he did, in the markett

place of Durham and the church of Whitbarne.

•' He saith that true it is that ho is mai-ied to Jayne Nicholson, arti-

culat, natural! and lawful! sistere to the said Margaret Nicholson, the

bannes of matrymonie being thrise asked at Whitbarne churche ; and

because Mr. Leonard PUldngton, parson of Whitbarne, wold not suffer

them to be maried at Whitbarne without a testimonial! from the judge

of this court, after that this examinate had taken adrice with one

Fisher, the curat of Whitbarne, who promised for 5s., which this re-

spondent delyvered unto him, to marye him at Tynmouth, went to

Tynemouth with tho said Fisher, William Rookesbie, Anthonie John-

son, Robert Wrighto, & Thomas Oxnett of Whitbarne, where they

were maried by one Sr. Anthonie, curat ther, upon the thursdaie before

Faisteneven last, at 9 of the clooke before noyne the same dale ; and

he was not asked in tho churche of Tynemouth, because he was none

of that pariche.—" Signum + Robeet Aire."

Robert Wright of Whitburn, husbandman, aged 33 years, stated in

his deposition that Mrs. Grace Pilldnton deceased had interceded with

the Archdeacon on behalf of Aire, and " gatt hym excused frome the

paper the said Robert shuld have had upon hym, the tyme of his

penance's dooinge." He described tlie marriage at Tynemouth, at

which he was present, having been called upon out of his bed by Aire,

who invited him " to goo over tho waytcr to Tynemouth to eat a hen,

—

not thinkinge or knowing of any mariadge unto be sawe the said

Jane ther."

" The personal answer of Robert Chambre, taken 3 Dec.1576, to the

libel of Mr. Leonard Pilkinton, S.T.P., Rector of Whitbume, in the

cause of a titho of a wind mil].

" Ha Baith that, for tho said 9 yeros libellat, this deponent can not

riggs lying between the West Field and Lizards. The

rector is entitled to tithes generally throughout the

parish; excepting that a modus of 13s. 'id. is tendered

every Easter Monday, for Biddick farm, in lieu of aU

tithe, and 5s. for Pattison's Close in Cleadon ; and, saving

the Gilley-fithe, which pays only half-tithe to the rector

when in corn, but the whole tithe of every other Jdnd.f

The Gilley-tithe lands include 494 acres, and are so

called from having been the possession of St. Giles of

Kepyer. The sum of 6/. Os. ^d. is stiU paid annually to

Kepyer School, as a modus in Heu of the other half

tithe. The gross annual income of the rectory of Whit-

burn is 1,247/., subject to permanent payments amount-

ing to 134/, leaving a nett sum of 1,113/.

CHARITIES.

Tripletfs Charity.—Dr. TriplettJ purchased for 300/. a

rent-charge of 18/., of which 8/. was directed to be paid

yearly for binding out one or more poor children of the

parish of Whitburn, 5/. for a similar purpose in the

depose certainlye how moch wheit, maseljon, malt, and ooths he, this

examinate, or his assignes, have had and recey\'ed quarterly, as is ar-

ticulate, in every one of the said yeres ; but to this deponent's remem-

branc and upon liis conscienc he saith that in every one of the said

yeres libeUat this deponent haith receyved quarterly, as moulter

come of the said Whitbome mylne, fyve bushells of malt or ther about,

and once in every one of the said yeres about 2 pecks of grots, which

groots were conimonlye paid and delyvered to this examinat or his

assignes bytwixt Martlemas and Witsonday, and noo oots otherwaiei

at all.

" He saith, that in the yere libellat this deponent had no behyves

of his owne, that did or haith renewed, as is articvilat, the yer libeUat.

Marye, he saith his laite father, John Chamber deceased, had this last

summer in his lyfe tyme fyve bee hyves, cauld wynter steOls onlyo,

and no mo; of the which ther came and renewed bifor Lammes last

past, as is articulate, onelye f>Te swarmes, and no moo ; for the which

Iiives and swarmes this deponent, being only executor of his said

father's last wUl and testament, haith bein, and yett ys, willing to pay

for the same according to the custume of the said parishe.

" He belivith that a busheU of wheyt in every one of the yeres

libellat, one with another, was worth 3s. id. a yere or ther about, and

not above, to this examinate's knowledge or remcmbranc ; and a

bushel! of masseljen likewaies in everj' of the said yeres libellat It.

and no more ; for this examinate within theis 9 yere have sold

masseljou come, being most part benes, for id. a peck ; and, as afore-

said, one yere with another, a busheU of mulcter malt not of valua

more tlian 2s. Cd. a bushel! ; and sheUds oots as abovesaid no better

than 2s. Sd. the bushel! ; and a swarme of bees the yere libeUat wortha

20(2., and no better; for this examinate wyf did, about the last day in

harvest last, drown two of the said swarmes of his lait said father's,

which renewed this present yere ; in the which 2 swarmes this ex-

aminate said wyf had only scanty one gallon of hunny. t"

Rector of Whitburn from 1631 to 1662, ejected during the parlia-

mentary wars, but, after the Restoration, made prebendary of

Westminster.
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parish of "Washington, and 5^. to the parish of "Wood-

horn, Northumberland. The capital was eventually

vested In a copyhold estate in the township of Stockton,

let at a nett rental of 40/., and In the purchase of 280/.

Os. 4d. new four per cents.; the whole producing an

income of 61/. 4s. per annum. The sums allowed with

each apprentice are, in Whitburn, 8/., and in each of

the other parishes 51.

Bents is a hamlet on the sea shore, where the fishing-

boats are moored, and bathing machines are stationed.

It contains a public house, and a number of fishermen's

cottages. A lease for a salmon fishery was taken of the

Bishop of Durham, lord of the manor, a few years ago
;

but the lessees were opposed by the resident fishermen.

The latter have since provided themselves with stake

nets, bay nets, &c., for the capture of salmon ; but the

general fishery has fallen off, in consequence of the

increased number of steam-vessels from the Wear and

Tyne scaring the fish Into deeper water.

The Whitburn life-boat is kept in an efficient state,

chiefly through the exertions of the Rev. T. Baker and

other resident gentlemen ; and the fishermen are never

backward in their services. There Is a supply kept of

Carte's life-belts, buoys, and portable blue lights, which

can be used at sea In the life-boat, and serve both to

show the position of the wreck, and as signals to the

crew that assistance is at hand. The life-preserving

society at "Whitburn is an efficient institution in cases of

shipwreck ofi" that place.

CLEADON.

Cleadon, anciently Clivedon, Is a village on the turnpike

roadbetween Sunderland and South Shields, about 1 J mile

west-north-west from "Whitburn. It contains aWesleyan

Methodist chapel, a national school conducted by a mis-

tress, and a public house. Cleadon House, with an estate

attached, Is the property and residence of the Rev. Geo.

C. Abbs, having been purchased In 1813 by Bryan Abbs,

Esq., for 4,350/. Cleadon Meadow is the residence of

Richard Shortrldge, Esq. ; and Robert W. Swinburn,

Esq., resides at Cleadon Cottage. Cleadon Toicer, men-

tioned in 1587, was taken down about 60 years ago.

The Brandling Junction branch of the North-eastern

Railway has a station at Cleadon Lane.

In Boldon Book, the manor of Cleadon and "Whitburn

was occupied by 28 villains and 12 cottagers, whose

services were the same as those of Boldon ; and the

demesne was on lease. In Hatfield's Survey, the district

having been abandoned in consequence of the devasta-

tions of the Scots, the wastes were let to William Swal-

well, till a farmer could be found, for 26s. 8d.

Biddiek is an estate partly in this parish, and partly

In Boldon, and adjoins Jarrow on the north. Farding

Lake, the seat and property of Mrs. Elizabeth Ness, is

pleasantly situated at a short distance from the sea.

Man Haven is the name of a place mider the shelter of

Souter Point, where there is a crane by which the Tyne

pilots lower their cobles into the sea when the bar is Im-

passable. About a mile north of the point, a medicinal

spring flows into the sea.

Marston Rock.—This scene of craggy magnificence

is situated about 2 miles from South Shields. Mr. J. G.

Grant says, " The shore Is in the highest degree savage

and terrible. Its rocks, shattered by a thousand storms,

have parted, from age to age, with vast fragments that

stand in every variety of grotesque form and combination

;

pillars, and tombs, and towers ; ramparts, and huge

bridges, and triumphal arches, through the black-green

hoUows of which the billows roar and dash as If exulting

in the fresh paths they have worn and worked out for

themselves in their playful fury. There Is one enormous

craggy mass, riven from the parent beach by that al-

most omnipotent ocean which It once seemed to defy,

and now standing detached about a hundred yards,

called (prcecipue et prce aliis) Marston Rock. It Is per-

forated as we have just described ; and he who, during a

stormy sunset, has sate within the mighty archway, and

looked upon the foam-tlpt billows, coursing faster, louder,

and nearer to his craggy throne, while darker and darker

clouds gathered over the heavens, and nothing of life

was heard but the petrel's cry, and the sea-mew's shriek,

and the clang of the cormorant's wing; nor seen, unless

the flitting forms of these, and perhaps a solitary boat,

half-hid in mist, while toiling to make the port ere

night; he who has thus sat, has witnessed a sublime

spectacle, to which the gaze of life-long dwellers in

plains and valleys can boast no parallel, and of which

their imagination can realize no Image."

The natural beauties of this romantic spot have long

attracted pleasure parties; and the late Mr. Peter Allen

conceived the bold Idea of scooping out for himself a

habitation in the rock. In this ho succeeded, and re-

sided in his wild retreat for many years, continually

adding to his accommodations, imtil ho at length pos-

sessed fifteen apartments, all hewn out of the living

rock, and fitted up as a public house. He possessed a

variety of quadruped and feathered animals, which he

had tamed and domesticated. The dean and chapter of
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Durham, however, instituted proceedings against him

for an encroachment on their property ; and at the Dur-

ham assizes in July, 1849, it was arranged that he

should take a lease for 21 years, at an annual rent of

10/., pay 50/. in part of plaintifls' costs -withiii 12 months,

keep his premises in repair, &c. ; the same to be secured

• A melancholy catastrophe occurred at this place in 1852, when

Mrs. Wood (a visitor at TjTiemouth), her two children, a friend named

Miss Harris, and a nursery maid, proceeded from Tynemouth Haven

to visit Marston Eock, in a boat rowed by two old seamen. The

weather was somewhat boisterous ; and, when opposite Mrs. Allen's,

the pally was overtaken by a storm of wind, rain, and thunder. Mrs.

Allen's two sons called to them to go back ; but the men in charge of

the boat, having lost self-command, rowed for the shore, when the

boat was upset, and the whole party were thrown into the sea. By the

prompt exertions of the Aliens, and some other parties, their coble

was launched ; and, accompanied by Mr. Harbutt, preventive officer,

by rule of court, and a proper lease to be drawn up, and
submitted to Robert Ingham, Esq., of "Westoe, in case

of dispute. On the 31st of August following, Mr. Allen

died, after a brief iUness, aged 57. The establishment,

at Marston Marine Grotto, is still conducted by his

widow.*

they pulled out at great peril, and rescued Mi-s. Wood, Miss Harris,

the servant, and one of the old men ; the chilJren and the proprietor

of the boat being drowned. Immediately on gaining the land, Mr.

Thomas Allen jumped upon a horse and galloped for medical assist-

ance to Whitburn, where the horse dropped down beneath him. By
the care of Mrs. Allen and her family, the females slowly recovered.

On the evening of the catastrophe, Mr. Wood, father of the children,

arrived at Tynemouth from Leeds, hai-ing written in the morning that

he would see "his little poppits" that dny. Life-buoys, the gift of

the Rev. T. Baker, are now kept at the grotto, ready for use in cases of

emergency.

PARISH OF BOLDON.

The parish of Boldon is bounded on the east by "WTaitbum, on the south-east and south by Monkwearmouth, on

the south-west and west by Washington, and on the north-west and north by Jarrow. It includes two constable-

ries :—1, "West Boldon ; 2, East Boldon and Newton Garths.

The entire parish contains an area of 3,954 acres; and its

population has been deceniaUy returned since 1801 at

619, 662, 733, 855, 915, and 1,008. The latter num-
ber consisted of 496 males and 512 females ; and there

were, at the same date, 194 inhabited houses, 5 uninha-

bited, and 3 building. The lines of the North-eastern

Railway hare an extent in this parish of 5 m. 6 f., and

an area of 30 a. k. 9 p. The contribution to the local

rate in 1851 was 62/. 19s. 2if/., and 71/. 3s. 8d. in 1852
;

the gross amoimts collected in tliose years being 309/.

16s. 4d. and 340/. Is. The annual value of property

assessed to the county-rate in 1853 was 6,339/. 17s. 6ci.

The bishop's ancient manor of Boldon includes both

the townships. Its services, being the first that occur

in the compilation {the manors being arranged alphabe-

tically), have given name to the celebrated record called

"Boldon Buke," so often quoted in this work. In the

"Domesday Book" of the Conqueror, compiled in the

preceding century, the county of Durham was not

included. This omission was supplied, about the year

1180, by Bishop Pudsey. " The autograph of the Bol-

don Book," as is stated in the Record Commission, "has

probably long since perished; or, if it exists, the place

.of its deposit is unknown. Three copies of it, possessing

different degrees of perfection, remain:—1. One in the

Bishop's Auditor's office at Durham. 2. One in the

library of the dean and chapter in the same city. 3.

One among the manuscripts of Archbishop Laud at Ox-

ford." The most ancient copy is that in the Auditor's

office, and is a small folio, containing 24 pages, written

in a bad hand.

At the time of this survey, there were 22 tenants in

villenage, each occupying about 30 acres, and paying 2s.

rent, 6(1. for scatpennies, half a chaldron of oats, 16d.

for averpennies, leading five woodlades, pro\-iding two

hens and ten eggs, and performing three days' work for

the lord in every week, except on certain holidays at

Easter, Pentecost, and Christmas ; also certain services

in ploughing, harrowing, and mowing. At St. Cuth-

bcrt's fair, two vUlains built one booth ; aud when they

made withies and led woodlades, they were quit of all

other services. Twelve cottagers held each 12 acres,

and worked two days for the lord in each week, except

the holidays just named, providing altogether 12 hens

and 60 eggs. Robert was the only free tenant, and

probably an emancipated villain. The pimder had 12

acres, and a thrave of corn from every cart or draught,

and paid 80 hens and 600 The mm paid 5^
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marks rent, The wliolo of tlie villains were bound to

construct, in the course of their work, if needed, a house

40 feet long and 15 wide ; when id. averpennies was

remitted to each. The demesne was on lease.

Under Hatfield's Survey, the 24 villains owed the

same services as those under Boldon Book, besides the

carriage of a tun of wine, certain works at the mill, and

the transportation of goods belonging to the bishop or

his seneschal ; but the whole were commuted for monied

rents. The ser^^[ces of a considerable number of the

cottagers were commuted for rents of 32«. each ; of

others, holding smaller portions, lO.s. to 4d., and each

providing a hen and five eggs; and four, holding a plot

of ground at the west end of the vill, at 2s. 6d. The

whole amount of rent from 32 tenants of the demesne

was 44^. per annum, with scatoats, eggs, and hens in

kind, the carriage of a tun of wine, the repairs of the

miU, and carriage of the bishop and seneschal's goods.

The bond tenants paid 30s. each. The headborough

paid 22s. for the wastes. Two free tenants are men-

tioned: John de Hedworth, who held a messuage and

36 acres, a tenement and 80 acres on Boldon Moor called

Scotshouse,a plotof40 acres called Gilbert leys, the lands

sometime of Galfrid Scot, and a toft in Newton ; and

Peter del Hay, who held Faderlesfield, containing 46

acres. Twenty-seven tenants held 230 acres of the de-

mesne, and paid for every ten acres 32s. 8(/.

WEST BOLDON.

This township is principally held by Sir William Law-

son, Thomas Wilkinson, Esq., Pt. H. Ridley, Esq., the

executors of the late William Cross, Esq., Thomas Wailes,

Esq., and several cop5-holders.

The village of West Boldon is situated on a rocky

eminence on the turnpike road between Newcastle and

Sunderland, about 4^ miles from Wearmouth Bridge.

It contains several good houses, and is much frequented

by visitors on account of the salubrity of the air. The

Wesleyan Methodists have a plac& of worship ; and there

is a respectable boarding-school for young gentlemen, a

national school (see Charities), and a day-school for

girls. 1 he village contains a post-office, three public

houses,* a beer-shop, the establishment of a fcIl-monger

and wool- stapler, and a few shopkeepers and tradesmen.

• One of these, the Black Horse, has heen kept by three successive

John Merrimans for nearly 160 years, and all of them blacksmiths.

The present occiipant has a son named John, who will probably con-

tinue the succession. Some years ago, it was a custom to keep, on a

side. table iu the kitchen, a loaf of wheaten bread and a cheese, of

Tfhicli all wayfarers visiting at the bouse were at liberty to partake.

THE CHURCH.

" Crownixg a hill," says Mr. Billings, " nearly midway

between Hylton Castle and Jarrow, stands what was

once a beautifid little specimen of early English architec-

ture ; and its peculiarly designed tower and spire are

replete with interest. The term beautiful may, perhaps,

be deemed inapplicable to its ' stunted' proportions ; but

the whole structure is in perfect accordance with the ex-

posedlandscape ofwhich it forms aprominent feature; and

so long as harmonious adaptation of position is a con-

comitant of the beautifid, wdl the unassuming pile of

Boldon lay claim to that term. Unfortunately, modern

improvement has deprived the church of all other claims

to distinction."

Since the above was written, great exertions have

been made to restore the church, as much as possible, to

its pristine appearance. At a bazaar held for that

purpose at Boldon, September 16, 1851, the Rev. John

CoUinson, rector, thus described the progress that had

been made :

—

" The following restorations have been already completed by the sale

of neetUework and by private subscription, and by the liberality of

persons connected with the parish :—the three north windows of the

chancel (which were common sash windows, like those now on the

south side) have been replaced with stone mullions and plate glass
;

the flat plaster ceiling in the chancel has been taken down, and the

woodwork of the roof altered, repaired, laid open, and stained ; and

the old sash wiudows at the west end have been replaced with five new

windows, of a style suited to the rest of the ancient tower. The east

window has been replaced by a stained window of the early English

style, made by Mr. Wailes, of Newcastle. The stone work of all the

new windows has been done by Mr. Alison, of Whitburn ; the plate

glass supplied by R. W. Swinburne and Co., of Newcastle and South

Shields ; the carpenter.work performed by Mr. Codling, of Boldon
;

and the painting by Mr. Heaton.

" The late rector, Mr. LiddoU, has restored the old sash window near

the pulpit with one by Mr. WaUos of painted glass.

" But there is still a great deal to be done to complete the proper

restoration of the church. There are three windows on the south side

of the chancel, and four largo windows and two small ones in the

church to be restored. The parish of Boldon has now been requested

to assist towards the restoration of the church windows, and the chancel

roof, by the moans of this bazaar. The proceeds of the sales, and also

of the tea, gratuitously provided by ladies of the parish, will bo handed

over to a committee (composed of the rector and the churchwardens),

who, as the proper representatives of the parishioners, will have the

management of the remaining restorations in the church—viz., the

four largo windows and the two circular windows over the north and

south doors."

The church consists of a nave with side aisles, and a

chancel. Near the communion table is a recumbent

efligy of an ecclesiastic, exquisitely sculptured. Though

later than the main building (as may be inferred from

the blocking upof the lancet above), the porch is of ancient

date : it is covered with stone slabs, supported internally
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by arched ribs. A small window in the tower has its

label very prettily ornamented with the chevron ; but the

lower part of the light, of wider proportions than the

upper, is a modern contrivance for the means of egress

to the roof, upon the low modern gables of which are two

elegant antique crosses.

A stone effigy in armour, in the usual prajang attitude,

a dog, the emblem of watchfulness, at the feet, and the

head broken off—was, nearly 30 years ago, removed from

a pew which anciently belonged to the Hyltons. A
stone coffin was discovered in 1816, a foot below the

surface, immediately without the east chancel wall.

Registers.—Books Nos. 1 and 2 contain entries of

baptisms and burials from 1571 to 1778, and marriages

from 1571 to 1753 ; No. 3, baptisms and burials from

1779 to 1812 ; and Nos. 4 and 5, marriages from 1754

to 1812.

Boldon rectory is in the patronage of the Bishop of

Durham. King's Books, 24/. 1 3.s. id, ; Tenths, 21. 9s. 4d.
;

Episc. proc. lis.; Archid, proc. 2s. Dedication to St.

Nicholas.

Rectors.—William; Alverd, temp. Galfridi Episcopi ; Magister Job.

de Insula, 1311, • the succession coiitiiming ; Henry Blackett, A.M., was

appointed in 1770 ; J. Brewster, A.M., 1809 ; H. G. Liddell, A.M., 1814,

p. res.'Brewster for 'Whiekham ; N. J. Hollingsworth, A.M., March,

1829 ; John Collinson, A.M.,+ 1840, p. m. Hollingsworth.

The parsonage-house is a handsome and respectable

building. The Eev. H. G. Liddell buUt an additional

wiufif behind the original mansion ; and the Eev. N. J.

Hollingsworth erected an elegant stone front, ha^'ing

two hexagonal projections, from a plan furnished by

John Dobson, Esq., of Newcastle. The cost, together

with that of the improvements in the stables, offices,

gardens, and adjoining grounds, was about 5,000/. The

glebe, including the church-yard, contains about 147

acres. The rector is entitled to tithes throughout the

parish, excepting a moiety of the CHlli/ tithes (seep. 734),

which extend over 700 acres and two houses belonging

to them in West Boldon, and a modus of lOs. in lieu of

• The right of common of pasture on Nesbyt Moor, claimed by the

rectors of Boldon, had, previous to this date, been opposed by John

Gategang, lord of the manor. On March 3, 1311, however, a conven-

tion was signed, by which the rector, John de Insula, conceded his

claim; and John Gategang, on the other hand, bound himself and his

heirs and the land of Nesbyt Moor to provide annually one pound of

wax, to be offered at the high altar of Boldon, on the Annunciation of

the Blessed Virgin, and also to trcut fairly and kindlij such cattle be-

longing to the rector as might casually stray into the said severalty.

+ Captain Oolliuson, 15. N., sou of the Kev. John Collinson, is a

nautical clficer of considerable talent, and has served in the Indian

and Chinese seas, and various other parts of the world. On Decem-

ber 20, 1849, he commissioned the "Enterprise," in concert vfith the

all tithes, and Is. for Easter-dues paid to the rector by

Harden farm. The Gilly tithes have successively belonged

to the Monktons, Wycliifes, Martins, Blacketts, and

Claytons of Newcastle. The gross annual income of

Boldon rectory is 730/., with permanent payments of

77/., leaving 653/. a year.

CHARITIES.

School.—The Rev. Henry Blackett, rector of Boldon,

who died December 3, 1808, left 200/., in respect of

which there is now 200/. new four per cents. The in-

terest, according to the will of the testator, is paid to the

master of a school erected in 1810, who, in consideration

thereof, instructs eight poor children. The present

rector also gives 10/. per anntun towards the support of

the school, in which a library is kept, under the manage-

ment of the curate.

Harrisoit's Charity.—Ralph Harrison, by wUl, March

26, 1687, left 100/. to each of the parishes of Boldon,

Whiekham, Ryton, Gateshead, Chester, and Tanfield,

and 50/. to Lamesley, for the use of their respective

poor. Out of the rente of two mills and about 15 acres

of land in Boldon, 3/. is paid at Christmas and 21. 17s.

at Easter, as the interest of 117/. ; and these payments

are distributed to the poor at those periods, in sums

varying from Is. to 7s.

Stephenson's Charity.—John Stephenson, by will. May
29, 1759, charged a house in Westgate Street, Newcastle,

with the annual simi of 10/., out of which eight poor

persons, having legal settlements in Boldon, were to be

paid 5s. each on the 25th December yearly. The yearly

sum of 21. is paid by Mr. Annandalc, the present pro-

prietor of the house above named, to the churchwardens

of Boldon, who distribute it as directed.

East Boldon.—This village forms a street on the

turnpike road, about half a mile cast of West Boldon.

It contains several farmsteads,^ two public houses, and

" Investigator," Captain Jil'Clure, to sail to the Arctic regions in search

of Sir John Franklin, but returned to England in March, 1855, with-

out having accomplishedhis object. Numerous curious articles have

been collected by Captain CoUinson during his voyages.

J
In February, 1851, for about a fortnight this little village waa

kept in a state of excitement by the pranks of a supposed ghost, which

produced unearthly noises in the house of a resident there, and broke

several of the windows. The family kept watch ; but on rushing to

the door when the alai'm was given, nothing was to be seen. An aged

labourer agreed to keep watch in the garden with a blunderbuss ; but

at the lonely hour of midnight, the spectre, in the shape of a black and

white dog, Uirew him down by running between his legs, and the

blunderbuss " went off of its own accord," the frightened sentinel

Thank you for purchasing from Ebay Shop Retromedia

http://stores.shop.ebay.co.uk/retromedia


PARISH OF WASHINGTON.

and a few mechanics. A chapel, erected some years

ago by a body of dissenters, is now used as a chapel of

ease to the parish churijh. The property in the town-

ship is principally held by Cuthbert Ellison, Esq., John

Blenkinsopp, Esq., J. J. Browell, Esq., the Messrs.

Clayton, Jlrs. HaU, Mr. Charles Midner, Mr. W. Bur-

don, and others.

Scots House is a good mansion, sheltered by a grove

of trees, near the turnpike road, above a mile west from

Boldon. In 1381, it belonged to the Hedworths, and

was afterwards successively held by the Coles of Gates-

liead, the Maddisons, the Hudsons, and the Wades, by

whom it was sold to Thomas Wilkinson, Esq, of Sun-

derland' It is now the property and residence of Hugh
Lee Pattinson, Esq.

White Mere Pool, a hamlet a mile north-west from

Scots House, is mentioned in records of the 13th cen-

tury, and derives its name from the level country below

Boldon having been formerly covered with stagnant

water, which, being tinged by the adjacent limestone,

was called the White Mere.*

Boldon Moor was, many years ago, divided into 36

shares, half of which fell, chiefly by purchase, to the

Wades of Scots House : the remaining 18 belong to

difierent proprietors.

making his escape, crying " Murder !" Three stalwart yeomen, well

armed with rusty firelocks and rum punch, watched the next night,

but were terrified by the growl of an invisible wild bear, trying to get

loose. About 28 squares of glass had been broken, when the assistance

of the police was called in. After some niglits' unsuccessful watch,

one of them secretly took up his station in an out-house, from the roof

of which he removed a tile, so as to command a complete view of the

premises ; and here he remained upwards of 19 hours. At lengtli,

tome glass was broken, and fell on the outside, which the .servant girl

ttealthily came and picked up. A few minutes afterwards, the young

lady of the house came out dancing a polka, but suddenly snatched up

s stone, broke another pane, and ran into the house crying, " Motlier,

the ghost is come again." The policeman procured a warrant, sum-

moning the two youngwomen before the magistrates of South Shields
;

but as no law was found relative to ghosts, they were discharged.

Bowa Hill House, which fronts the west, and is over-

hung by a steep liinsstoao precipice, is the residence of

Charles Simpson, Esq., barrister. North Pastures is a

farm, purchased by Ilobert Pemborton from Christopher

Fawcett in 1753, and is now the property of Mrs. Pember-

ton. Hijlton Grove, a retired and picturesque mansion

near Hylton Bridge, is the residence of Mr. Mar-

shall Tweddell. West Pastures is held of the chapelries

of Rock and Rennington, Northumberland. The estate

of BrocMcy Whins, north of Boldon, derives its name

from an undulating whin dyke, which here rises to the

surface, and the stones from which have been used in

repairing the adjacent roads. At this place there is a

large railway station, where the lines from Newcastle,

South Shields, and Sunderland unite. The Boldon sta-

tion of the North-eastern Railway is about a quarter of

a mile west from the village.

Newton Garths, a freehold estate, was, by Boldon

Book, a separate manor, held by John Pannetarius, by

20.S. reut. In Bishop Bury's time, it gave name to a

resident family, and afterwards passed through the

NeviUes, Hyltons, Mylots, Wycliffs, and Fenwicks, to

Henry Ellison, Esq., by whom it was purchased about

1711, and now belongs to his descendant, Cuthbert

Ellison, Esq., of Hebburn Hall.

• On January 21, 1753, Mr. William Maude, a wealthy merchant of

Sunderland, left South Shields on horseback to return homewards;

not arriving there, search was ineffectually made for him. His

horse, with bridle and saddle, was found within 300 yards of the place

where he was last seen. His widow oflVrcd a reward of 50 guineas,

and the Hon. Henry Vane and George Bowes, Esq., a like sum, for

the apprehension of the supposed murderers. Mr. Maude's body was

found on the J'iiul March following, in a runner of water near the road

from Cleadon to Boldon ; and the coroner's jury brought in a verdict

of " wilful murder by persons to them unknown." Perhaps this cir-

cumstance may have suggested the subject of a sign-hoard—a man on

a white marc entering a morass—which has long been displayed at a

public house at \Vhite Mere Bool, and has sometimes been erroneously

supposed to have given name to the place.

PARISH OF WASHINGTON.

The parish of Washington, as originally constituted, was bounded by Jarrow on the north, by Monkwearmouth

on the east, by the Wear dividing it from Bisliopwearmouth and Iloughton-le-Spring on the south-oast and south,

and by the ch-apclries of Birtlcy and Ijamesley on the west. It contained tlie townships of AN'usliington, Barmston,

and Usworth, with part of North Biddick ; but Usworth has recently been formed into a district parish.

Tira parish of Washington is in the Harraton subdis-

trict of the Chester*lc-Street Union. The area of

Washington township is 1,894 acres, and that of Barms-

ton 893 acres. In 18-51, there were 217 inhabited

VOL II.

liouses and 2 uninhabited in Waahiugton, and 3-t

inhabited and 1 uninhabited in Barmston. The following

arc the returns of the population at each suooeeding

census :

—

5 L
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IgOI. 1811. 1821. 1831. 1841. 1851. Males. Fem.

Washington. .1,190.. l,26i. .1,24.1. .1,123.. 041. .l,2-.i4:..G5:J. .571

Barmston 49.. 48.. 79.. 73.. t<l.. 210. .100. .101

The North-eastern railway enters the parish of

Washington from the south by the Victoria Bridge (see

page 567), and has a station about Ij mile from the

vUlage. Its extent and contributions to the local rates

are thus stated :

—

In WashiBgton, its extent is 1 m. 2f., and its area 14 a. In Barms-

ton, its extent is 1 M. 4f. 159 Y., and its area 19 a. 2 R. 9 P. In 1851,

its contributions were 191. 6s. 8d. in Washington, and 46i. 8s. IJd. in

Barmston ; and in 1852, 29J. 19s. 2d. in Washhagton, and 29i. 9s. 7}<f.

in Barmston.

The gross amoimts collected in 1851 were, Washing-

ton, 320/. 7s. 2d. ; Barmston, 108/. 17s. 1(/. ; and in

1852, Washington, 400/. 17.s. Id. ; Barmston, 70/. 14s.

Ijrf. The annual value of property assessed to the

county-rate in 1853 was 5,077/. in Washington, and

1,525/. 10s. 6(/. in Barmston.

WASHIXGTON.

The village of Washington is situated about 6| miles

south-south-east from Newcastle, and about the same

distance west from Sunderland.* It contains a police

station, a post-office, three public houses, and a few

tradesmen. An agricultural and horticultural show is

lield annually in August. The school is principally

supported by contributions from the Bishop of Durham,

the Marchioness of Londonderry, Sir William Lawson,

and Lord Crewe's trustees. On the visit of the govern- 1

ment inspector, April 29, 1853, there were 64 boys and i

28 girls present at examination ; and the average '

attendance during the preceding twelve months had been
,

43 boys and 35 girls,
|

• The Eev. John Bhakb, A.M., was bom August 19, 1744, at

Washington, where his father was parish clerk ; and yonng Brand

was bound apprentice to his maternal uncle, Anthony Wheatley, cord-
j

wainer. Back Row, Newcastle, in 1758. At the Eoyal Grammar School
|

in that town, his talents and taste attracted the attention of the mas-

ter, the Rev. Hugh Aloises, who interested some opulent friends on

his behalf, and assisted in sending him to Oxford. After being or-

dained, he became curate of Bnlam, Northumberland; and in June,

1773, he was presented to the curacy of St. Andrew's, Newcastle. In

1774, he became curate at CramUngton, and Fellow of the Society of

Antiquaries, of which he was afterwards resident secretary. In 1784,

he removed to the rectory of St. Mary on the HUl, and St. Andrew
Hubbard, London, and, in 1796, was appointed one of the domestic

chaplains to the Duke of Northumberland. His " Popular Antiquities,"

wliich be continued to enlarge during his Ufe, had bocome a standard

work; and on May, 16, 1789, he announced that his "Historj- of

Newcastle was published, price three guineas, embellished with

thirty-four views of the public buildings, &c., engraved by Mr. FitUer."

This valuable work is in two volumes 4to; and the engra\'ings are said

U> have cost 500J. Mr. Brand died in London on September 11, 18U6.

The manor was held, about 1180, by the Hertbums,

who assumed the local name of Wessington, or Washing-

ton.f Under Boldon Book, the viU was held by a free

rent of 4/., and the service of attending the bishop's

great hunt with two greyhounds. When a common aid

was imposed, the taxation was not to exceed one mark.

In 1350, William de Wessington had license to settle

the manor of himself, his wife Catherine, and his own

right heirs. The direct male line expired before 1409.

Dionisia, daughter of the last William, married Sir

William Tempest, Ejit., of Studley, with whose descend-

ants it passed, by marriage, to the Mallorys. In 1613,

the estate was sold for 4,000/. to Bishop James, whose

grandson, W. James, Esq., died in 1662, and left it to

four co-heiresses : Sarah, wife to Wilfrid Lawson, Esq.

;

Dorothy, to Sir Richard Musgrave, Bart. ; Elizabeth, to

Robert Millot, Esq., of "WTiitehill ; and Ann, to John

Hedworth, Esq., of Harraton. The township is now
principally inherited by Sir James Musgrave, Sir Wil-

frid Lawson, and Robert D. Shafto, Esq.,

THE CHURCH.

The church is situated on elevated ground, and occupies

the site of the old building, having been rebuilt in 1831,

at a cost of nearly 1,100/., which was raised by subscrip-

tion and grants from the church building societies. It

consists of nave and chancel, and contains about 400

sittings, most of which are free and unappropriated.

Registers.—^Books Nos. 1 and 2 contain entries of

baptisms from 1612 to 1773, burials from 1603 to 1773,

and marriages from 1603 to 1767 (imperfect) ; Nos. 3

and 4, baptisms and burials from 1774 to 1812 ; and

Nos. 5 and 6, marriages from 1754 to 1812.J

+ From this family, according to Mr. Mapleson, editor and illu-

minator of " Pearls of American Poetry," the illustrious father of

American independence was descended. John Washington, of Whit-

field, in the time of Richard in., was descended from WiUiam de

Hertbum, lord of the manor of Washington in 1180 ; and the ninth in

descent from John was George Washington, the first president of the

United States. The mother of the John Washington who emigrated

to Virginia in 1657, and who was gi-eat.grandfather to the general, was

Eleanor Hastings, daughter and heiress of John Hastings, grandson to

Francis, second Earl of Huntingdon. He was the descendant, through

Lady Huntingdon, of George, Duke of Clarence, brother of Edward

IT. and Richard III., by Isabel Neville, daughter and heiress of Richard,

Earl of Warwick, the king-maker. Washington, therefore, as well as all

the descendants of that marriage, was entitled to quarter the arms of

Hastings, Pole, Earl of Salisbury, Plantagenet, Scotland, Mortimer,

Earl of Jlarch, Neville, Montague, Beauchamp, and Devercaux. It

thus appears that this pure patriot and republican derived his family

name from a humble village in the county of Durham.

{ The church was broken into on March 15, 1841, and the iron

chest containing the parish registers removed.
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I

Washington rectory is in the patronage of the Bishop

of Durham. King's Books, 18/. ; Tenths, 11. 16«.

;

Episc. proc, 10s. ; Archid. proc, 2s. Dedication to the

Blessed Virgin.

Rectors.—W. de Clifforil occurs as early as 12T9, and the succession

has continued uninterruptedly. C. Egerton, A.M., was appointed in

1786 ; J. Darison, B.D., 1819, p. m. Egerton ; H. Percival, A.M.,

1822, p. res. Davison ; R. S. Broughton, A.M., 1837, p. res. Percival

;

Hon. Lewis Vi'. Denman, 1818, p. m. Broughton.

The Eev. R. Stonhewer, rector, erected a parsonage

house between the years 1719 and 1727, which was either

rebuilt or greatly improved by the Rev. G. Talbot, after-

wards Bishop of Durham. It is an elegant and com-

modious brick mansion, with good gardens annexed.

In 183-5, the gross value of the living was 1,091/., subject

to the permanent payment of 138/. ; and from the re-

maining 963/., 106/. was paid to a curate. The tithes

were commuted in 1843 ; the aggregate amoimt is 610/.

CHARITIES.

The sum of 100/., the origin of which is unknown, but

which appears to have comprised a legacy of 5/. left by

Thomas Eobiuson in 1722, and the like sum by John

Hopper in 1732, was laid out in 1798 by William

• At the Exhibition of 1851, Mr. BeU contributed specimens of

I'attinson's patent oxichloride of lead, with iUustraUons of its use in

oil painting. Also, specimens ofmagnesia alba and calcined magnesia

;

galena, or lead ore, finely ground in water ; muriatic acid, as produced

at soda works ; rough chloride of lead, made from the lead ore by acting

upon it with muriatic acid ; oxichloride of lead, as precipitated by lime,

in its dry state, ground in oil (the residuum left after the chloride of

lead is dissolved in water, contains the silver of the original lead ore

in the state of chloride of sUver) ; and a plate of silver made from the

residuum, manufactured at the Washington Chemical Works.

+ James Hann.—This self-taught mathematician was bom in Lane

House, near Washington, about the year 1790. His father was the

master smith at Washington colUerj', and, soon after the birth of his

only son, removed to Hebbum colliery, where he superintended the

pumping engine ; his son James, at an early period, performing the

duties of stoker. Having been taken from school at an early age,

young Hann could scarcely read and write whilst a youth ; and it was

not until he had arrived at the age of maturity, and taken to himself a

wife in his own station of life, that his mathematical genius began to

develope itself. At that period, however, a working man had none of

those advantages and facilities for study which are now so readily

offered ; but wliilst engaged in attending to colliery engines at various

places, Mr. Hann read all the works on mathematics which his limited

means enubli-d him to procure ; and the following anecdote is illustra-

tive of the diiliculty he had in obtaining books treating of his favourite

subjects :

—

At the time he was engaged as an engineer in the XL, a small

passenger steam-boat, plying between Newcastle and Shields, he saw,

on his way homeward, a soiled copy of Dr. Gregory's Mathematics for

Practical Men, exposed for sale on the Quayside, Newcastle, in the

shop of a dealer in second-hand books. The price was a mere trifle ;

but Hann had not a penny in his pocket. He turned away in despair,

not knowing how to possess himself of the treasure. His wife was in

Pearcth, in whose hands it had been placed, in the

purchase of 210/. three per cent, consols. The dividend,

6/. 6.S., is divided as follows :—Township of Washington,

21. 13«. ; Usworth and Biddick, 21. 13s. ; and Barmston,

11. These sums are given to the respective overseers,

and by them distributed to the poor.

Dr. Triplett's Chariti/.—See p. 734.

WASHiifGTON Row is a hamlet inhabited by persons

employed in the adjoining coal-works, and contains a

Wesleyan Methodist chapel. Washington Staiths is

another hamlet, contaiaing a chapel belonging to the

Wesleyan Association and two public houses. Here are

a ship-building yard, a fire-brick manufactory, a coke

manufactory, and the extensive chemical works of Isaac

Lowthian Bell, Esq., who resides at Waskingion House.*

Washington Colliery,-\ a little to the west of Washing-

ton, is an extensive concern, at present worked by

Messrs. Bell and Partners. The main coal is at the

depth of 75 fathoms ; and the maudlin, low main, and

Hutton seams are successively 10 fathoms below each

other, making a total depth of 105 fathoms. An explo-

sion occurred here on the 13th of August, 1851, by

the fields when he an-ived at his house, his eldest daughter performing

the duties of housekeeper. He enquired of the child if her mother

had paid the rent which he had given her a few days before ; and on

being answered in the negative, he asked where she had put it. The

daughter dii-ected him to a tea-cup in the cupboard. He took the

money, and set oS at once, as it was near the hour his wife was ex-

pected home, and he probably feared some remonstrance. Meanwhile,

Mrs. Hann returned ; and the first news from her daughter was, that

her father had taken the money. His wife immediately set out in

pursuit, and met her husband before he had arrived at the book shop.

She remonstrated, as he had anticipated; but he cjuieted her by saying,

that if he could but get that book, ho believed he would be able to

make all their fortunes. His wife at last consented ; and Hann often

declared, that the happiest moment of his Ufe was when he became

the owner of that work. It is rather singular tliat Dr. Gregory and

Mr. Hann should have, in after years, become the most intimate of

friends.

Many of the best years of Hann's life were passed as a brakesman,

an employment j-ielding but little more remuneration than an ordinary

workman in the collier}'. He was at length persuaded to open a

school at Friar's Goose, a village near Gateshead : this he did not

continue long, though the nature of his duties gave him more facilities

for pursuing his favourite studies. WhUst here, he was a C"nli-ibutor

to the Lady's Diary, and gained a prize in conjunction with Mr. W. S.

B. Woolhouse, for solving the prize question of 18:15. Through the

influence of Mr. Woolhouse, Mr. Hann procured an appointment in the

Nautical Almanack office, Greenwich, which he held for some time.

Ho afterwards became writing master in King's College, London, and

ultimately Matliematical Master. Here he remained until within a

year or two of his death, which took place August 17, 1850. Besides

his contributions to various periodicals, Mr. Hann published works on

the Steam Engine, on the Construction of Bridges, Mechanics for Prac-

tical Men, ibc.
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wMcli 35 persons were killed. The magnitude of the

fire was evinced by the effects of the after- damp, which

defied approach to the workings for many hours, and

suffocated three men at the furnace. The pit had been

previously imperfcclly ventilated, and the coroner's jury

accompanied their verdict of "accidental death" with

the following remarks :

—

" Wc are of opinion that William Hall and others came to their

deaths by the firing of Washington Colliery, which took place at

M'Nare's board, on the 13th of August last, and that the fire was caused

by the gas being ignited at a naked light; and that the jury are also

of opinion, that, owing to the alleged state of accumulation of gas in

the mine previous to the explosion, lamps ought to have been used in-

stead of candles, and that there should have been brattices as recom-

mended by Mr. Dunn."

Oxclosc Colliery is carried on by Messrs. EUiott and

Jonassohn. The main coal, 6 feet thick, is at the

depth of 70 fathoms ; the maudlin, 5 feet, 10 fathoms

further ; the low main, 3 feet, 11 fathoms further ; and

the Hutton seam, 5 feet, 9 fathoms further. On No-

vember 28, 1805, 38 men and boys were killed at this

colliery by an explosion.

BARMSTON.

This township is situated on the Wear, nearly opposite

to Offerton, and 5 miles west from Sunderland. Here

are a spade and shovel manufactory, a blacksmith's shop,

and a ferry-boat on the river. Barmston is an ancient

manor of the Hyltons, and was sold by John Hylton, in

1669, for 2,750/., to George Lilbm-n, Esq,, of Sunder-

land, in whose family it remained till 1700, when it

passed by marriage to the Tempests.

On May 31, 1854, the Lands Improvement Company

gave notice that the most Honourable Frances Anne
Vane, Marchioness of Londonderry, had applied for the

advance of a sum, not exceeding 1,200/., to be applied

to improvements on the Barmston estate, and to be

repaid, with interest, in 25 years. Notice was also

given by the same company, on November 20, 1856,

that the marchioness had applied for the sum of 15,962/.

13s. \d. for the improvement of lands in Barmston,

Rainton, Kelloe, Seaham, Long-Newton, and Wynyard

;

the rent-charge for the repayment of the same to extend

over the term of 25 years.

NORTH BIDDICK.

North Biddick, a part of which is in the parish of

Whitburn, pays church-rates, &c., to Washington, but

is united with the township of Great and Little Usworth

for poor-law purposes. It is a hamlet close on the Wear,

a mile south of Washington, 6 west from Sunderland,

and 4 north-north-east from Chester-le-Street. Messrs.

J. and C. Cook (the former of whom resides in Biddick

Hall) are iron-founders, spade and shovel makers, &c.

;

and there are coke-ovens, a fire-brick manufactory, a

timber-yard and saw-mill, a rope-walk, two public

houses, a bookseller and stationer, and a lending library.

On this estate is the famous Worm Hill and Worm Well

(see p. 632). A coUiery was attempted at North Bid-

dick in 1841, and the three-quarter seam was cut

through at the depth of 68 fathoms.

The estate was held by Ulkill in the time of Boldon

Book, and afterwards by a family who assumed the

local name, but changed it for Sanderson about the time

of Edward III. Biddick was for many years the pro-

perty and occasional residence of the Hyltons, by whom
it was sold to the Carrs of Cocken, and passed by mar-

riage to tlie Davisons and Erringtons.

CIIAPELM DISTRICT OF USWORTH.

The chapolry district of Usworth, originally part of the parish of Washington, was separated from it and formed
into a district previous to 1837. It is bomidcd by the mother parish on the south and south-east, by Boldon on
the north-east, by that parish and Jarrow on the north, by Heworth and Gateshead Fell on the north-west, and by
Lamesley and Birtley on the west. It comprises the township of Great and Little IJsworth.

The township of Great and Little Usworth, which is

attached to the Chester-le-Street Union, contains 2,548

acres. Its population, with that portion of North Bid-

dick which is attached to it, was stated in the successive

returns at 1,236, 1,277, 1,305, 1,477, 1,374, and 2,051

;

1,090 of the latter number being males and 961 females.

In 1841, there were 295 inhabited houses and 38 unin-

habited ; and in 1851, 418 inhabited and 12 uninhabited.

The annual value of property assessed to the coimty-rate

in 1853 was 6,744/. 3s. 6f/.

A portion of the North-eastern Railway, 3 miles in

length, and covering 36 acres, was constructed in 1851,
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and, in the following year, contributed 65/. 12«. 6d. to

the local rates, the gross amount of which was 613/.

5s. 3d.

The village of Great Usworth is situated on the

declivity of a rocky hill, about 2 miles north of "Wash-

ington, and contains two public houses, several mechanics

and shopkeepers, and a chapel belonging to the Wes-
leyan Methodists, capable of seating 500 persons, built

by D. Jonassohn, Esq., for the use of the workmen at the

coUiery. Usioorth Mouse is an elegant stone mansion,

situated on an eminence commandino; an extensive view

of Biddick, Lambton Castle, Hylton Castle, Sunderland,

"Wearmouth, and the sea. It was for many years the

seat of the Peareths, one of whom, William Peareth,

Esq., who died in 1810, raised the Usworth Volunteer

cavalry during the French war : the corps afterwards

merged into the TjTie Legion, and next into the Tyne

Hussars, commanded by the late Sir Thomas Burdon,

Knt. Usworth Place is a good stone building, with an

estate of 150 a. ii. 4 p. attached. It was built by

Captain Bernard Shaw of the 2nd Foot, author of a

plan of Gibralter ; and is now the property and residence

of David Jonassohn, Esq. Blue House, and other good

residences, are inhabited by viewers and other suiierin-

tendents of the coal-mines.

According to Boldon Book, the services of this manor

were heavy ; Great Usworth paying 30*. for cornage,

with other contributions. The villains were to prepare

four portions of land, with 26 men to each, and to per-

form their services at Gateshead, carrying a pipe of wine

and a millstone to Durham. The drenge fed a horse a

day, bore his part in the great hunt with two greyhounds

and five cords of provisions, followed the court of pleas,

and served on messages. The mill paid 10s. rent. In

Hatfield's time, the whole of the services had been com-

muted into money payments. The Hyltons retained the

manor tUl the dispersion of their property in 1750, when

it was sold in eight lots ; two to William Peareth, Esq.
;

one to William Scott, Esq., of Newcastle (father of the

Earl of Eldon and Lord Stowell) ; one to Lord Ravens-

worth and Partners; one to Mr. Bowlby, of North

Shields ; and two to Samuel Shields, Esq. The present

landed proprietors are Viscount Boyne, Sir Wilfrid

Lawson, the heirs of the late J. C. Baulcott, Esq., T. B.

Wall, Esq., the heirs of the lato William Peareth, Esq.,

and Lord Ravensworth.

VOL. II.

THE CHURCH.
The church was erected in 1831, and was opened by
license on April 8, 1832. The ceremony of consecration

was afterwards performed by the Bishop of St. David's.

It is dedicated to the Holy Trinity, and is a neat struc-

ture of stone, containing 410 sittings, most of which
are free. The site Jor the church and church-yard was
given by Lord Ravensworth and Partners ; and the ne-

cessary funds were raised by the exertions of the Rev.
H. Percival, rector of Washington, and a few of the

principal proprietors of the parish. The style of archi-

tecture is that of the early pointed Gothic, and is from
a design by Mr. Green, architect, Newcastle. The
rector of Washington is patron ; and the Rev. Thomp-
son Thackeray, who succeeded the Rev. Richard Col-

linson in 1853, is the present incumbent. The annual

value of the living is 161/.

Sehool.—Great Usworth school was erected by Susan

Peareth, widow, who, by indenture, November 5, 1814,

conveyed it, with the site, 49 feet by 22, to trustees

;

directing that the Bishop of Durham for the time being

should be visitor, and the rectors of Washington, Boldon,

and "HTiitburn governors of the said school, at which

poor children belonging to the first-named parish should

be taught arithmetic, penmanship, and English gram-
mar, on payment of l|f/. per week to the master. The
said Susan Peareth, by will, dated February, 1817, left

to the same trustees 1,100/. three per cent, consols ; and,

in accordance with the provisions of the said will, 30/. of

the dividend is paid to the schoolmaster, and the remain-

ing 3/. applied to the repairs of the school-house.

Little Usworth is an estate in this township, an-

ciently held by the Moderbys, from whom it was trans-

ferred by marriage to the Stanhopes. It was afterwards

held by the Swynnows, and more recently by the

Lawsons, in whom it is still vested. The Primitive

Methodists have a chapel here ; and there are a day-

school and a beer-house.

Usworth Colliery is carried on by Messrs. EUiott and

Jonassohn. In February, 1851, the steam-coals from

this colliery were, after undergoing the usual tests, and

in pursuance of the directions of the Lords Commissioners

of the Admiralty, added to the list of those supplied

under the local contracts.

5 M
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TAIUSII OF JARROW.

The p;irish of Jarrow, exclusive of the ehapelry of Heworth, is bounded by the Tyne on the north, by the parish

of St. Hilda on the east, by Whitburn on the south-east, by Boldon on the south, and by Heworth on the west.

The townships of Jarrow, Monkton, and Hedworth with Ilobburn, now form a joint township and parish.

The united area of Jarrow, Monkton, and Hedworth is

2,826 acres, 476 of which are covered by tidal water.

The population of the parish, at the successive periods

of return, was 1,566, 3,193, 3,530, 3,598, 3,600, and

3,835 ; 1,934 of the latter number being males and

1,901 females. In 1851, there were 719 inhabited

houses and 33 uninhabited. The annual value of pro-

perty was rated in 1853 at 14,559/. 19s. The extent of

the north-eastern Railway in Jarrow is 2 m. 6f., and its

area 21 a. 2 e. : it paid 91/. 9s. 6d. in 1851, and 81/. 5s.

4d. in 1852, to the local rates, the amounts of which in

those years were 1,175/. 13s. 2|(/. and 993/. 2s. 5cl.

The village of Jarrow derives its name from the Saxon
word Gyrivy, or Gynij, meaning a fen or marsh, and
refers to Jarrow Slake, through which the Hedworth
brook, called by Leland the Bone, passes to the Tyne.

That it occupies the site of a Roman station is ascer-

tained from two inscriptions foimd during the rebuilding

of the church in 1783, one of which is read by Brand
as follows :

—

"Diffusis Proiinciis in Britannia ad utrumque

ostium exercitus postlit ;" or, The army erected this on
the extension of the Roman dominion in Britain from

the western to the eastern sea. Britannia, the name of

the island, is inscribed at full length. The other monu-
ment is the mutilated fragment of an altar :

—
"

OMNIVM FIL. . ..HADR. . .
." Supposed to be a votive

tribute to all the adopted sons of Hadrian. Fragments

• The Venerable Bede.—This learned Saxon historian, and by
posterity entitled the Venerable, was bom of obscure parents in the

small hamlet of Monkton, nearly adjoining Jarrow. Bede himself

states that his bu-th place was within the jurisdiction of St. Peter and
St. Paul ; that he entered the monastiy at seven years of age (684)

;

was ordained deacon at nineteen, and received the fuU order of priest-

hood in his thirtieth year. His whole life from childhood to age was
spent within his own monastry, in study and devotion. In consequence
of his extensive learning, his fame even reached Rome, to -which city

it is said he was invited by Pope Sergius ; but Bede was not to be
allured from his cell by the smile of potentates or the courtesy of

princes. He never accepted any preferment above the rank of a

beneficed priest. The largest and most popular of Bede's works is his
" Ecclesiastical History of the Nations of the Angles." He also wrote a
very miscellaneous collection of versions and commentaries upon seve-

ral books in the Old and New Testament ; legends and theological dis-

sertations and elementary compilations in various sciences, for the
use of his scholars. His last work was a translation of the Gospel of

of Roman brick pavements have also been foimd, as well

as a silver coin of Aulus ViteUius. A sculptured stone,

representing an archer shooting at a stag, is conjectured

by Brand to be Roman.

The foundation and early history of the church of St.

Paul at Jarrow has been included with that of Monk-
wearmouth (see p. 412). After the death of the Vene-

rable Bede* in 735, Httle has been recorded respecting

this monastry ; and the names of (he abbots that suc-

ceeded Hufctbert are imknown. In 788, whilst a party

of barbarous Danes were plundering Jarrow, their

leader was killed. It was finally plimdered and burnt

by Baltic pirates in 867, and remained abandoned and

desolate for upwards of two centuries afterwards. At

length, Aldwine, a Mercian monk, with two associates,

arrived at Monkchester (Newcastle) ; but the religious

houses at that place had suffered so severely during the

devastations of the Conqueror, that .Aldwin accepted the

in'sdtation of Bishop Walcher, who assigned the sacred

spot of Jarrow for the residence of the strangers. At

this time, 1074, the whole of the monastic buildings

were in ruins ; but having placed a rude roof of logs and

straw upon the naked walls, and erected a few poor huts

for their dwellings, their exemplary piety and self-denial

soon attracted a vast influx of persons of all ranks. The
bishop now confirmed them in the possession of Gyrwy,

and added Preston, Monkton, Hedworth, Hebbum,

St. John into the Saxon language. The Venerable Bede died on tho

2(Jth May, 735, aged 58. " The lamp of learning," says Surtees,

" trimmed by the hand of a single monastic who never passed tho

limits of his Northumbrian province, irradiated, from the cell ofJarrow,

the Saxon realm of England, with a clear and steady light; and when
Bede died, history reversed her torch and quenched it in deep night."

Bede was inteiTed in a porch on the north side of tho church ; and,

in the eleventh ceuturj', a little stone mansion, in which he was wont

to sit and meditate, was shown to those who visited the ruins. Tho
place was much resorted to by pilgi-ims and religious persons : but

about the year 1022, his remains were removed to Durham, and pre-

served in the coffin of St. Cuthbert : they were afterwards deposited in

a handsome shrine in the Galilee. In 1830-1, the tomb was examined.

(See vol. i., p. 278.) In 1855, Cardinal Wiseman and the other

CafhoUc prelates belonging to Great Britain then at Rome, supplicated

tho Pope tliat the devotion (cultc) paid to the Venerable Bede might

be extended to the whole church.
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Westoe, and Harton ; and Waltheof, Earl of Northum-

berland, gave them the church of Tinmouth and its

possessions, with the body of St. Oswin. The church of

Jarrow having been rebuilt, Ald\dn removed to Mel-

rose, but was recalled by the bishop, and revived the

monastry of Wearmouth.

In 1083, Bishop William de Carilepho removed the

monks from Jarrow and Wearmouth to Durham, and

reduced botli houses to cells dependent on the monastry

of St. Cuthbert ; an act which was confirmed by charters

from King William and King .John. From this time,

Jarrow was inhabited only by a few monks, governed by

a Master. William, prior of Durham, retii'ed hither in

1313. In 1318, the church was valued at 261. 13s. id.

per annum. At the Dissolution in 1539, it was valued

at 38/. 14s. 4d. a year, according to Dugdale, but, by

Speed's accomit, at 40/. 7s. 8d.

The manor of Jarrow was granted by the Crown, in

1544, to William Lord Eure, of Witton ; and in 1627,

it was conveyed to Henry Gibb, Esq. In 1653, it was

purchased by Thomas Bonner and Robert Ellison, who,

in 1664, divided the estate. The principal proprietors

at present are, Cuthbert Ellison, Esq. ; T. D. Brown,

Esq. ; William Snowball, Esq. ; Edward Pattison, Esq.

;

Viscount Boyne ; Mrs. Collins ; Geo. T. Blenkinsopp,

Esq. ; the Rev. Benjamin Kennicott ; S. Atkinson, Esq.;

Robert Ingham, Esq., M.P. ; the executoi-s of the late

Peter Dale, Esq. ; Timothy Potts, Esq. ; William Bar-

rass, Esq. ; H. Russell, Esq. ; Edward Wade, Esq. ; and

George Metcalf, Esq.

The village of Jarrow is seated on the point of land

at the north-western angle of the Slake, and near the

river Tyne. It contains a rural police station and a

post-office. A Primitive Methodist chapel was founded

in 1823 ; a Wesleyan New Connexion chapel was opened

November 15, 1840 ; and there is also a Wesleyan

chapel. The parochial school, erected in 1840, com-

prises separate apartments for boys and girls, and wiU

accommodate 100 children. In the village, and at

Jarroio Qitaij, there are four public houses, a corn-mill,

and several shopkeepers. The" Jarrow Hill Chemical

Works are carried on by William Jefferson and Co.

There is a ship-building yard for timber vessels, and

one for iron ships, at Jarrow Quay ; also, the establish-

ments of an engineer and boiler builder, a builder and

contractor, a smith, two brick makers, and two coke

manufacturers. Hiram Cottage is the residence of Mr.

W. Williamson, salt manufacturer. At the quarter

sessions at Durham, January 6, 1857, leave was given

to make a powder magazine in the township of Jarrow.

THE CHURCH.

;
The ruins of the monastry have long been so scattered,

and mixed up with modern buildings, as to render it

extremely difficult to form any conjecture concerning

1
their original appearance and destination. Portions of

them are Norman, and others of a late date, between

1400 and 1500. The church adjoins those ruins on the

north. It was rebuilt in 1783, with the exception of

the tower and part of the chancel, at an expense of 624/.,

part of which was defrayed by the sale of the lead and

old materials, and the rest by a subscription of 427/. 3s.

6f/. and a legacy of 50/. from the Rev. C. Ellison.

Amongst the subscribers were, the impropriators, 60/.

;

the dean and chapter, 50/. ; Henry EUison, Esq., 20/.
;

Lord Crewe's trustees, 20/. ; Bishop of Durham, 21/.

;

and the mayor and corporation of Newcastle, 21/. Por-

tions of the south aisle wall, and the small narrow

lights, 30 inches in height, and 8 inches wide, which

are over the modern square-headed doorway, are of the

character usually admitted to be Saxon. The nave was

entirely rebuilt in a different style from its original

form. The tower, in the centre of the building, is de-

cidedly of Norman origin. The low groining beneath

it, and the small window on its north side, are unques-

tionably of Bishop Walcher's time. Its plan is peculiar,

being from north to south nearly twice its length from

east to west ; and although this disproportion is consi-

derably diminished towards the top by offsets, the longer

sides have e.ach two windows, while one of the same

dimensions is sufficient for the short sides. A venerable

and interesting fragment of the original church has been

preserved, and is now in the arch of the tower, between

the chancel and the nave. The inscription upon it,

which is in bold Roman characters with the exception

of three Saxon letters, is
—

" p dedicatio b.\silicae sci

PAVLI VIII KL MAI ANNO XV EGFRIDI REG. .CEOLFRIDI ABB

EIVSDEMQ Q . ECCLES DO AVCTORE CONDITORIS ANNO HIT,"

and is thus read by Brand—" The dedication of the

church of St. Paul on the 9th of the kalends of May, in

the 15th year of King Egfrid, and the fourth of Ceolfrid,

abbot, and, under God, the founder of the said church."

One of the bells in the tower, of the diameter of 29

inches, and its greatest circumference 78, is inscribed, in

large Saxon characters, " sancte pal's ora pho mobie."*

The chancel is 40 feet long and 15 wide, and is lighted

by tracery windows, which are insertions of the lata

• The n and n are inverted in the inscription. Two inverted lieurs-

de-Iis, wliicli nre inserted between the lost three letters, have been

supposed to indiento that the bell was cast in France ; but the fleur du-

lis is a common founder's mark.
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decorated period, about 1400. There are two elaborately-

carved bench ends, belonging to the ancient chancel

seats : their date is late in the 15th centuiy ;
and one of

them is singular, shewing, in its unfinished mouldings,

different stages of the carving process.

A vestry is attached to the south side of the tower
;

and in it is preserved an old, rudely constructed chair,

said to be the veritable one used by Bede ; but it is

difficult to conceive how it escaped when the monastry

was entirely burnt by the Danes, or where it was pre-

served for above two centuries, which intervened

between that period and the renovation of the edifice by

Bishop Walcher. Numerous \-iitues are attributed to

this chair, " particularly that of assisting fecundity, on

which account brides are often installed in it immedi-

ately after mari-iage. Many a fair pilgrim, too, has

borne away pieces of this wonder-working reUc, to place

them under her pillow, confident that the man she

di-eams of, under so powerful a charm, is destined to be

her husband."

A committee was appointed in 1852 to collect sub-

scriptions for enlarging the nave, altering the vestry,

strengthening the tower and chancel walls, and restoring

the ancient door and windows, the cost of which was

estimated at 1,400/. On December 26, 1856, the

minister and churchwardens received, from an anony-

mous donor, a very handsome chalice and paten, for the

use of the church.

Registers.—Books Nos. 1 to 4 contain entries of

baptisms and burials from 1572 to 1812, and marriages

from 1572 to 1753 ; Nos. 5 to 7, marriages from 1754

to 1812. The registers for the chapelry of Heworth are

included in the above imtil 1808.

Jarrow perpetual curacy is a peculiar belonging to the

dean and chapter, not in charge ; episc. proc, 2s. Pa-

trons, in succession, Sir "William Clavering, Bart.

;

T. D. Brown, Esq. ; and Cuthbert EUison, Esq. The

church retains the ancient dedication to St. Paul.

Cdrates.—John Hutchinson occ. June 27, 156G. Francis Battle

occ. 1057, an intruder, and ejected for non-conformity. Mordecai

• This erudite antiquary and amiable man was one of the founders

of the Antiquarian Society of Newcastle-upon-Tyne, and was for many

years senior secretary of that institution. His History of Northum-

berland, a learned and elaborate work, though calculated to establish

the lasting fame of its author, was far from being accompanied by

pecuniary advantages ; and Bishop Barrington considerately presented

him with the living of Kirkwhelpington, nearly in the centre of the

county whicli formed the object of his literary labours. He died in

1846, leaving his gi-eat work unfinished. The Antiquarian Society are

now taking measures for its continuation.

+ On the announcement of Mr. Nanneys intention to resign, T. D.

Brown, Esq., in pursuance of the expressed wishes of the parishioners,

Carey, 1724, was master of Morpeth school, and afterwards becam*

successively Bishop of Clontert. of Cloyne, and of Killala ; Robt. Wat-

son, A.M., 172-1; John Mills, A.B., 1751; Wm. Glover, 1775; John

Hodgson.* 1808; John Carr, p. res. Hodgson ; Hugh Nanney; John

Mason Mason, A.M., 1849, p. res. Nanney for Caenby.t

In 1852, a grant of 400/. was made from the Maltby

Fund towards the erection of a parsonage at Jarrow, on

condition that the rest of the money should be raised

within a year. Bishop Maltby subscribed 20/. ; the

dean and chapter, 50/. ; Lord Crewe's trustees, 30/. ; the

Diocesan Curates Aid Society, 50/. ; Sir Thomas Claver-

ing, Bart., 20/. ; Lord Eavensworth, 10/. ; Robert Ing-

ham, Esq., M.P., 10/. ; Dr. Winterbottom, 5/., &c. The

house, a handsome stone structure in the Elizabethan

style, was erected in 1855, at a cost of 1,000/.

The emoluments of the curacy consist of an annual

stipend of ten marks, paid by the impropriators ; of the

Easter offerings throughout the whole parish, except the

lay-rectory grounds ; of the produce of two augmenta-
' tions by Queen Anne's Bounty, viz , 500/. in 1815
' (whereof 200/. was given by Lord Crewe's trustees, and

300/. by the governors of the Bounty and by parlia-

mentary grant), and 500/. in 1818, of which 100/. was

contributed by Mrs. Pyncombe's trustees, 100/. by the

Rev. John Carr, curate, and 300/. by the governors and

parliamentary grants ; and of the corn -tithes of Felling

allotment, ceded by the dean and chapter, annual value

16/., fee-simple 480/. In 1835, the annual value of the

Kving, with Heworth, was 197/., from which two sub

, curates received 140/. The

curacy is now returned at 200/. per annum.

gross income of Jarrow

CHARITIES.

The following legacies have been bequeathed to the

poor of the parish of Jarrow :—20/. by Thomas Pattkon

in 1680, 10/. by William Nichohon in 1714, 20/. by

I

William Brunton in 1747, 20/. by Jacob Faivcett in

1748-9, and 100/. by General Ellison in 1785. The

amoimt, 170/., is secured by the bond of the corporation

of Newcastle, who pay 6/. 16s. a year as interest at four

per cent., which is distributed to poor persons, chiefly on

offered the living to Mr. Mason, sub-curate, who at first declined the

presentation. 800t. was ofl'ered and accepted (for church purposes'!

on behalf of the Kev. J. S. Carr ; but the congregation ha^^ng memo-

rialized the bishop on the subject, and the transaction being considered

simoniacal, an order of sequestration fi-om the vicar-generals office was

received by Mr. A. Stoddart, who received the temporaUties of tjie

living ; and on April 8, 1849, the Rev. J. SprouE, of Durham Training

School, preached in the church. It was expected that the bishop would

present a new clergyman to the liring ; and Mr. Carr and his friends

prepared to take the affair into the higher courts; but Mr. Mason

eventually accepted the living.
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St. Thomas's day, by the minister, churchwardens, and

twelve, in sums of from 2s. to 6.s. each.

Walker's Charity.—Richard Walker, by will, without

date, left 60/. to the poor of this parish, from the interest

of which 5s. was to be distributed at Christmas and

Easter to poor communicants at Jarrow, 2s. 6d. on each

of those days to such persons at Hewortli, and the re-

mainder to be applied towards educating the children of

poor widows. The principal is invested as above ; and

out of the interest, 21. 8s., 10s. is distributed at each of

the above occasions at Jarrow, 5s. at Heworth, and the

remainder is jjaid for the instruction of poor children.

Jarrow Collier)/.—A colliery at Jarrow is mentioned

in 1618 ; and the " Black Staith" was the only one

marked in the parish in 1655. The present colliery

was won by Simon Temple, Esq. ; and the first shipment

of coals took place September 26, 1803. It was after-

wards carried on by Messrs. Brown, assignees of Mr.

Temple, and is now in the hands of the lessees of St.

Hilda and Harton collieries. The high main, 6 feet

thick, is at the depth of 128 fathoms ; the metal coal, 3

feet, is 18 fathoms further ; the yard coal, 2 feet 9

inches, 12 fathoms further ; the Bensham, 5 feet 10

inches, 14 fathoms further ; and the low main, 5 feet,

23 fathoms further, being a total depth of 195 fathoms.

The whole of the strata here are broken and dislocated

in a most remarkable manner ; a circumstance which

has rendered necessary the introduction of various drifts

and staples, as well as the use of undergroimd steam-

engines. The "Heworth Band" is also developed in a

peculiar manner, increasing from a few inches to upwards

of 20 feet in thickness, and completely dividing the seam

of coal. In consequence of the fiery nature of the

• Cuthbert Ellison, Esq., eldest son of Henry Ellison (died at Bath,

1795), wasbom July 12, 1783. He married Henrietta-Grace, daughter

and co-heiress of Henry Ibbetson, Esq., of St. Anthony's, Northum-

berland, by whom he has had issue— 1, Isabella-Caroline, born May

15, 1H05 ; married, October 27, 1824, to the Hon. John-George Vernon,

only son of Lord Vernon, of Sudbury Hall, Derbyshire. 2, Henrietta,

bom June .30, 1807 ; married, January 28, 1824, to William-Henry

Lambton, Esq.. brother to the late Earl of Durham. .'(, Louisa, bom
July 2, 1809 ; married, March, 1829, to Viscount Stormont, eldest son

of the Earl of Mansfield. 4, Laura-Jane, born March 29, 1811. 5,

Sarah-Caroline, born December 30, 1812. C, Ann, born May 4, 1814;

died July 18 following. 7, Ann, bom October 21, 1817; died in Lon-

don. Mr. Ellison's brother, Robert (bom September 25, 1789), was

Ueutcnant.colonel of the Grenadier Guards. Hannah, his eldest sister

(bapt. March 6, 1780), married the late John Carr, Esq., of Dunston

HUl. Henrietta, another sister, married G. W. Aylmer, Esq. ; and

Elizabeth married F. Morrice, Esq. Mr. EUison was colonel of the

Gateshead Corps of Volunteers, organized in November, 1803. He

Bensham seam, several explosions, with heavy loss of

life, have occurred at this pit.

Dunkirk Place is a village on the banks of the Tyne,

built in 1803 on the formation of a patent slip-way.

MoNKTON, an ancient possession of the monastry of

Jarrow, and the reputed birth-place of Bede, contains a

paper-mill carried on by Messrs. Blackbird and Co.,

the chemical works of M. Stephenson and Co., and

a public house. Bede's Well was formerly in high

repute as a bath for infirm and diseased children, and

the scene of Midsummer bonfires, music, dancing, and

rural sports.

Hebburn is 2 miles west from Jarrow, and contains a

post-ofiice, a public house, a brick-yard, and two ship-

building yards. There are chapels belonging to the

Wesleyans, the Primitive Methodists, and the Wesleyan

Methodist Reformers ; and a school for the education of

the children of those engaged in the collieries.

Hebburn belonged to the cell of Jarrow, and was

afterwards held by the "Willys and Baxters, from the

latter of whom it passed, in 1562, to Richard Hodgson,

alderman of Newcastle, whose familywere long obnoxious

to the niling powers for their imputed Papistical propen-

sities. It was purchased by the Ellisons about 1650,

and is now the property of Cuthbert Ellison, Esq.*

The old mansion-house was strongly built, as if for de-

fence : it was nearly rebuilt about 1700. Hebburn Hall

is now a spacious and handsome edifice, of modem
architecture.

Hehhurn Colliery.—Coals were worked at Hebburn at

a very early period, f The present colliery was com-

menced in 1792. The winning was considered one of

the most arduous and difiicidt that had been attempted,

was high sherifl' of Northumberland in 1808 ; and in 1812, when th«

late C. J. Brandling, Esq., resigned the representation of NewcasUe-

upon.Tyne, Mr. Ellison succeeded to the vacant seat, and continued

to be returned in tlie tliree succeeding parlianunts ; but at the general

election in 1830, John Hodgson (now John Hodgson Hinde), Esq..

having started as a candidate, he declined to encounter the fatigue,

anxiety, and expense of a contest. Mr. Ellison held tlie office of

sheriff of the county palatine of Durham from 1827 to 1829.

+ These mines probably formed part of the supposed passage alludcil

to in the following extract from Tlmrlow's State Papers:—" In 1B5U,

a mad design was entertained by— Clavering and Adam Sheppardson,

to contrive a way from the cole.pitts, about two miles from the castle

[of Newcastle], underground to the castle of Tynemouth, for to relieve

the enemy with provisions if need required, and for that purpose there

was a great store of provision laid in, and to be laid in at Ilcbbume-

Iwuse, and eighty firelocks and a great number of stilettoes laid in

Fdlen-house."
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the quantity of water drained amounting to upwards of

3,000 gallons per minute, until stopped back by tbe then

infant art of tubbing. The strata are nearly identical

with those at Jarrow ; and the quantity of inflammable

gas evolved during many years of inexperienced prac-

tice caused many heavy explosions, as the workmen,

hardened by custom, frequently saw without alarm

streams of blue flame emanating from the furnace.*

The colliery is now carried on by Messrs. Easton and Co.

Hebburn Quay is situated to the north of Hebbum
colliery, and contains an iron ship and boiler builder's

establishment, and two public houses. Large quantities

of ballast have been deposited here, from the ships com-

ing into the Tyne, since about the middle of the 17th i

century.

Hedworth is a village to the south-east of Hebburn,
{

in the vicinity of a brook to which it gives name, and i

contains two public houses, a wind-null, and a water-
|

mill. The viU was anciently held by a family bearing

{ This was the first colliery visited by Sir Humphrey Davy, during

a sojourn at Hebbum Hall ; and it was from bottles of gas taken from

one of the blowers of the B pit dyke, that that celebrated chemist made

the local name ; but, in process of time, it became vested

in the convent of Durham, and, after the Dissolution,

became the property of various parties. State's House,

mentioned in 1538, belonged to a family of that name.

Wardley, a short distance south from Hebbum Hall,

is supposed by Hodgson and others to be the Wredelaw,

or Weredelaw of Simeon, where the corpse of St. Cuth-

bert became immoveable in 995. It was an ancient

possession of Jarrow monastry, and was assigned for the

residence of WUliam de Tanfield, prior of Durham, on

his resignation of ofEce in 1313. Yestiges still exist of

a manor-house, or some older establishment.

FoLLONSBY, bounded by the Wreken Dyke and the

parishes of Washington and Boldon, was granted by

Bishop "WUliam to Thorald of London, and was after-

wards held by the families of Famacres, Gategang,

Thornton, Lumley, and Hylton, and continued in pos-

session of the latter till 1750. It was afterwards divided

amongst the Wades, RusseUs, and Barrases.

his experiments and analyses. The first lamps, therefore, were sent

hither to be tried by Mr. Matthias Dunn, then the resident viewer of

the colliery.

I

CHAPELRY OP HEWORTH,

The chapelry of Heworth, formerly vmder Jarrow, is bounded by that parish on the east, by Usworth on the

south, by Gateshead on the west, and by the Tyne on the north. It originally comprised the whole of the town-

ship of Heworth, which includes the villages of Upper Heworth, T^ ether Heworth, Heworth Shore, High Felling,

Low FeUing, Felling Shore, Bill Quay, and Windy Nook ; but in 1843, the southern portion of the chapelry was

formed into the chapelry district of St. Alban.

The township of Heworth contains an area of 2,853

acres, of which 67 acres are covered by tidal water. Its

population, in 1801, M-as 2,887 ; in 1811, 2,905 ; in 1821,

3,921 ; in 1831, in consequence of the opening of a new

colliery, and the establishment of manufactures, it had

increased to 5,424 ; in 1841, in was 7,008, including 56

persons in a workhouse, which, on the removal of the

inmates to the Union workhouse at Gateshead, was con-

verted into dwellings; and in 1851, 8,869, of whom
4,531 were males and 4,338 females. In 1841, there

were 1,392 inhabited houses, 76 uninhabited, and 9

building; and in 1851, 1,526 inhabited. 12 uninhabited,

and 15 budding. The annual value of property assessed

for the county-rate in 1853 was 19,028/. 4s. 96?.

The North-eastern Railway, with an extent of 3m. 4f.,

and an area of 42 a., contributed 190/. 5s. Zd. to the

local rates in 1851, and 161/. 3s. in 1852 ; the gross

amounts collected in those years being 1,684/. 5s. lOfrf.

and 1,640/. 2s. 5V/- There is a station at Low FeUing,

and another at Pelaw Main.

The vill of Heworth, at an early period, formed part

of the possessions of the church of Durham ; and the

lands, except a few parcels enfranchised imder the land-

tax redemption act, are still held by lease imder the dean

and chapter. The prior of Dm-ham had a park here, and

a grant of free warren from Bishop Famham in 1248.

Nether Heworth is a village on the east bank of

Hedworth Burn, on the road from Newcastle to Simder-

land, 25 miles east-south-east from Gateshead. It

contains a corn-mill, four public houses, a beer-shop, a

few shopkeepers, and a post-office. A parish school,

with apartments for the master and mistress, was erected

\
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in 1815, by a subscription amounting to 237/. The
" United Tradesmen's Society" has been successfully

conducted for many years* There is a good mansion-

house near the village, belonging to the Russclls.

THE CHURCH.

The old chapel of Heworth was, perhaps, little inferior

in antiquity to that of Jarrow. It was taken down in

1821 ; on the 23rd of May in which year, the foundation

stone of the present building was laid. The cost of this

structure was 2,026/. 3s. 4(/., towards which 100/. was

subscribed by Bishop Barrington, 100/. by Lord Crewe's

trustees, 200/. by the dean and chapter, 100/. by Sir

M. "W. Ridley, Bart., and Co., 50/. each by John Russell

and Cuthbert Ellison, Esqrs., 25/. by Matthew Russell,

Esq., 30/. by Mr. John Wylam, 20/. by the Rev. Dr.

Haggart, and 20/. by Mr. Robert "Wylam. The church

was opened on May 5, 1822. It is a neat building, with

a square tower, and contains seats for 1,400 persons. In

consequence of a grant from the Society for promoting

the Enlargement of Churches, 620 sittings are set apart

for the free use of the poor of the chapeby, in addition

to 67 free seats belonging to the old chapel. The inte-

rior is plain, neat, and comfortable; and the upper

compartments of some of the windows are filled with

stained glass. One of the bells was brought from

Gateshead church in 1701, hax-ing been presented to

Robert EUison, Esq., " in lieu of the arrearages for the

Blew Quarry spring." The inscription upon it, after

puzzling many of the best antiquaries, has been ex-

plained on the supposition that the legend has been

impressed in an inverted position, and, when viewed the

contrary way, reads thus:—" . .ihs. k. w. f de m. f
;"

the R, w, and m being the initials of the name and resi-

dence of the foimder.

When the chapel was rebuilt, half an acre was added

to the burying ground,t and consecrated by the Bishop

of Durham, September 27, 1828. The most remarkable

monument is that erected to the memory of the 91 per-

• At a meeting of the members, held on the 6th June, 1855, a piece

of plate was presented to their solicitor, John Theodore Hoyle, Esq.

Mr. Hoyle had been their legal adviser for upwards of twenty years;

ami having conducted the a0'airs of the association with much ability

and salislactiun to the members, the testimonial was offered as a mark
of their esteem and respect.

+ On October (i, 181.3, the Rev. John Hodgson presented to the

Antiquarian Society of Newcastle a styca, or small copper coin, of the

Northumbrian sovereign, Ecgfrith, who acceded in 070, and was killed

by the Picts in 685. It was one of several found in Heworth chapel-

yard, enclosed in a small vessel of red earthenware, slightly ornamented.

{ In this cemeteiy was interred the celebrated Greek critic, Richard

Dowos, A.M., author of " Miscellanea Critica," some time head master

sons who perished in the explosion at Felling colliery,

May 25, 1812.J

The baptisms, burials, and marriages at Heworth, were

registered at Jarrow up to the year 1808. The living is

also in the same patronage as that parish ; and the in-

cumbency continued the same until 1 834, when the Rev.

Matthew Plummer, A.B., was appointed to the living

of Heworth. At that period, the annual income was

68/. ; and the dean and chapter added the tithes of

Heworth common, 20/. ; those of Nether Heworth, 90/.

;

a house, garden, &c., 15/. ; total annual value, 125/. ;

fee-simple, 3,750/. The gross annual income is now

148/. per annum.

High Felling is a village on the ridge of a lofty liill,

about 2 miles east-by-south of Newcastle, and is pai'tly

in the district chaf)elry of St. Alban. The Independents,

Methodist New Connexion, Primitive Methodists, Wes-

leyans, and Wesleyan Reformers, have places of worship

here. During the last 30 years, the village has been

extended down the side of the hill till it has formed a

jimction with Low Felling, on the Gateshead and Sim-

derland turnpike road. The Roman Catholic church of

St. Patrick, at this place, was opened with the usual

formula of ceremonial on January 25, 1842. The groimd

was the gift of W. Caley, Esq., of Saltwell ; and the

church owed its erection to the efforts of the Rev. W.
Riddell, of Newcastle. It has recently been considerably

enlarged and improved.

There are several quarries for grindstones, &c., at

Felling. The two villages contain fourteen public

houses, eight beer-shops, and an eating house. There are

also a post-office, two surgeons, and four schools, one of

which belongs to the Felling Chemical Works, and is

attended by about 500 children of both sexes. These

extensive works are carried on by Hugh Lee Pattin-

son and Co.§ There is also a brick and tile manufactory,

belonging to Messrs. Hunter and Son. Croic Hall is the

residence of William Lockey Harle, Esq.

of the Grammar School, Newcastle, and who, during the latter years

of his life, resided at Heworth Shore, where ho died March 31, 1706,

aged 57.

§ Mr. Pattinson was a member of the Chemical Jury at the Great

Exliibition of 1851. On that occasion, he contributed a new substitute

for carbonate, which "appeared highly deserving of commendation,

from the originality of the process, namely, the oxichlnride of lead

consisting of single equivalents of chlorine and oxide of lead. The

salt is prepared by decomposing native galena by the hycU-ochloriu

acid, which is produced in great excess in the manufacture of soda

;

dissolving the chloride of lead thus formed in boiling water, and mix-

ing the solution with a proper quantity of lime water to convert on»

half of the chloride into oxide."
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The manor of Felling was held of the prior of Durham,

in the time of Henrj' III., by Walter de Selby ; and in

1331, it was in possession of the Surteeses, the last of

whom died in 1509. After long litigation amongst their

co-heirs. Sir Robert Brandling and his wife Ann obtained

possession of the Felling estate, which continued to be

the property and occasional residence of their descendants

till Charles Brandling, Esq., in 1760, built the present

elegant mansion at Gosforth.* Felling Hall, the old

family seat, is now occupied as an inn, being near the

railway station. The fine old trees, which stood in front

of it, are still remembered for the beauty of their ar-

rangement.

Felling Colliery.—The upper strata of coal in the

Felling estate were wrought in the beginning of the last

centnry. The high main seam, at the depth of 125

fathoms, was worked out in 1811 ; the low main was

commenced in October, ISIO. On the 25th of May,

1812, one of the most tremendoiis explosions recorded in

the history of coal-mining occurred at this colliery ; a

slight shock, as of an earthquake, being felt for half a

mile aroimd the workings, and the noise, though dull,

was heard to three or four miles distance. Only 29

persons were saved out of 121 who were in the pit at the

time ; and the fii'st dead body was not recovered till the

8th of July. On the 19th of September, aU. the corpses

had been found but one. A subscription, amoimting to

2,806/. 15s. 6j(/., was raised for the families of the

sufferers. It was in consequence of this accident that

the Sunderland society was formed, and the safety lamp

invented. Several fatal explosions have siace occurred

in Felling coUieiy. It is now carried on by Messrs.

Carr, Potts, and Co.

• A quaint play upon the name of Brandling was inserted on the

monument of Robert Brandling, Merchant Adventurer, in the old

church ofAU Saints, Newcastle: beneath the representation of a burn-

ing brand (an oak tree in flames, probably a Border beacon, is the

family crest) was inscribed

—

" Like as the brand doth flame and bum,
So we from death to life do turn."

'

The Brandlings have long held a promincat place in the north

of England for gentlemanly urbanity and extensive hospitality. The
following impromptu was addressed to a female member of the family,

who was distinguished for her beauty and accomplishments :

—

LINES WRITTEN IN NEWCASTLE THEATRE.
TO MISS F. B G.

" Whence and whither, lady fijir ?

Lady of the earth or air !

—

Is she of the earth or air ?

—

Lovely Fanny Brandling I

" Clear as marble is her brow,

Whito her neck as driven snow,

And her cheek hath summer's glow,

Charming Fanny Brandling

Fellesg Shore is a populoiis village on the Tj'ne, 2^
miles east from Gateshead, and contains chapels belong-

ing to the Wesleyans and Methodist New Coimexion.

The staith of Felling colliery is at this place, with quays

for shipping grindstones, &c. Messrs. Hoyle, Robson,

and Co., have oil and colour manufactories at Felling

Shore, Bill Quay, and Swalwell. There are also here a

fire-brick manufactory, a colour manufactory, a lamp-

black manufactory, an anchor forge, an iron and brass

foundry, a paper mill, and four public houses. East

Town is a small village, on the east side of a rivulet

which divides the parish of Gateshead from Heworth

chapelry. On the bank above the village is Nest Home,

the residence of Messrs. Easton, coal-owners.

Heworth Shore adjoins Felling Shore on the east,

and contains a Primitive Methodist chapel. Here are

the chemical works of T. Bramwell and Co.,t the alkali

works of Mr. Robert Imeary, the copperas works of Mr.

William Caley, a lamp-black manufactory, the grind-

stone depot of Mr. R. W. Hodgson, a boat-builder's

shop, four public houses, and a beer-shop.

Bill Quay is about 4 miles east from Gateshead, and

contains a Wesleyan Methodist chapel. There are here

two ship-building yards, a grindstone wharf, a coke

manufactory, a paint and colour manufactory, a boat-

builder's shop, a com null, and seven public houses.

Cat Dene, according to tradition, was formed by ancient

quarries, from whence stone was taken to build the walls

of Newcastle : it is now a thick jungle of thorns and

forest trees. About half a mile to the east are the

creek and cottage called lAzzie Moodie's, near which is

the hamlet of Pelaw Main,X containing a public house

" Grace and beauty round her lie,

In the depths of her dark eye,

If she smile or if she sigh,

—

Graceful Fanny Brandling I

" with thee one summer hour.

Musing in some woodland bower !

Thine the spell and thine the power.

Gentle Fanny Brandling.

" Happy angels could not be

Happier than I with thee I

Loving hearts and fancies free,

Angel Fanny Brandling."

+ At the Exhibition of 1851, Messrs. Bramwell obtained the prize

medal for prussiate of potash, of which salt they are amongst the oldest

producers in England. They also exhibited ferrocyanide of potassinm

of chemists, used for dyeing blue in place of indigo.

} Mr. James Alexander Whitfield, Pelaw Staith, sent to the Exhibi-

tion of \ht>\ an improved grappling or dredging iron, for drawing from

the water the bodies of persons apparently drowned. The improve-

ment consists in its passing over four times the space which the pre-
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CHAPELRY DISTRICT OF ST. ALBAN. 751

and a boat-builder's shop. At Pelaw Main staitb the

coals are shipped from Ouston colliery, and those from

Heworth colliery at Coronation staitb.

sent irons pass over, and in the same time. In cases of the hooks

fastening at the bottom of the river, they will straighten. The hanging

IIoUij Hill is a hamlet near the Newcastle and

Sunderland road, a short distance east-south-east from

Nether Heworth.

chain with the hooks will detect a body lying behind a rock or large

stone. Made to take into pieces, so that it can be easily repaired.

CHAPELUY DISTRICT OF ST. ALBAN.

The chapelry district of St. Alban " is bounded on the north and north-east by the parish of Gateshead, on the

west by the parish of Gateshead Fell, on the south-east by the boundary line which divides the property of

George Kirtley, Esq., from the respective property of Richard Carnaby Forster, Esq., and John Wjdam, Esq., (the

same being held imder three several leases from the dean and chapter of Durham,) as far as the old Sunderland

road, when the centre of thatroad forms the north-eastern boundary of the district as far as the parish of Gateshead."

This district was formed by order in council, February

24, 1843, and appeared in the London Gazette of May
23 following, when it was ordered " that baptisms,

churchings, and burials should be solemnized and per-

formed in the said chapel ; and that the fees arising

therefrom should be received by and belong to the minister

of the said chapel." In 1851, there were 456 in-

habited houses, 6 uninhabited, and 5 building, in the

district; population 2,288, of whom 1,131 were males

and 1,157 females.

THE CHURCH

Is situated at "Windy Nook, and was consecrated,

together with the enclosed burial-ground, by the

Bishop of Durham, on the 25th of August, 1842. It

is a neat structure, in the early Phiglish style, and

contains 300 sittings, the whole of which are free and

imappropriated. The dedication is to St. Alban, the

proto-martyr of Britain. The living is a perpetual

Camilla Colville.—Edward Colville, Esq., of "White House, had,

about the close of the 17th century, realized a competency as a butcher

and grazier; and his famOy were received in good society. On one

occasion, his youngest daughter, Camilla, was present at the assize ball

in Newcastle, where she attracted the attention of tlie young Lord Os-

sulston, eldest son of the first Earl of Tankerville. The youthful pair

having danced a minuet, he was so charmed with her grace and beauty

that he waited on her at White House next moi-ning, to pay his respects.

His visits being repeated daily, Mr. Colville, aware of the disjiropor-

tionate rank of the parties, becn-me alarmed, and forbade Lord Ossuls-

ton his house ; but the latter lay in wait for Miss Colville when she

went abroad, seated himself near her at church, and insinuated

himself into parties where he knew she was to be present. At

length, Mr. Colville determined to send his daughter to reside with a

relative who had settled in Holland ; and she was accordingly conveved

secretly to Rotterdam in a vessel belonging to a friiiid named CapUiin

VOL. II.

curacy, in the patronage of the inciunbent of Heworth ;

present curate, the Rev. Edward Hussey Adamson,

A.M. In the first report of the ecclesiastical com-

missioners, an annual grant of 15^. to the chapelry of

Heworth, and one of 135^. to that of St. Alban, making

150/. in all, are announced. A neat parsonage has

been recently erected, at a cost of 900/., 400/. of which

was contributed from the Maltby Fund.

Windy Nook is a populous hamlet, about 2j miles

south-east of Gateshead. It contains a Methodist New
Connexion chapel, two schools (one of which belongs to

the church), three public houses, and several mechanics.

The name is indicative of its exposed situation.

TFfiife House, a leasehold estate imder the chm-ch of

Durham, occupies the highest groimd between the vales

of the Wear and Tyne, and commands a varied and ex-

tensive view of the estuaries of both rivers. It was

successively a seat of the Jennisons, Colvilles,* and

Aubone of South Shields. Many weeks had not elapsed, however,

when Lord Ossulston appeared at Rotterdam, and became as trouble-

some to Mr. Colville's friend as he had been to himself. Numerous
interviews took place with Camilla ; signsils and messages were ex-

changed ; and on Captain Aubone's next voyage, she was once more
put on board his vessel. After being a day at sea, and out of sight of

the Dutch coast, the captain was congratulating himself on his success,

but was confounded, on going down into the cabin, to find Lord Os-

sulston kneeling at the leet of his lady love. He had been smuggled

on board by a friendly sailor, and, as may he conceived, not without

the knowledge of Camilla. The captain now exerted the authority

which his position gave him, and commanded the young lord to with-

draw from the cabin, and not to appear there again unless in his com-
pany, and by his express permission ; but the voyage proving a long

one, the lover, whose views were strictly honourable, found means to

conquer the objections of Aubouu, who permitted Uim to reside in his

6 N
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Staffords, from whom it passed to Richard Scruton, Esq.,

of Diu-hara. It is now the property and residence of

R. C. Forster, Esq.

Upper Heworth is a village situated about three

quarters of a mile south of Nether Heworth. Near this

house at South Shields till the consent of Mr. Colville could he oh-

tained, when the union of the pair took place at Jarrow church. It

may be presumed that Lord Ossulston's family did not look favourably

on this proceetUng, as the young people continued to reside for some

years with Mr. Colville at White House. At length, in 1723, the Earl

of Tankerville died, and was succeeded by his son. Camilla Colville,

as Countess, became entitled to the chief seat in the splendid halls of

ChUlingham Castle, Northumberland, and was afterwards one of the

ladies of the bed-chamber to Queen Caroline, consort of George II.

She conducted herself as a peeress mth a due portion of dignity and

spirit, and continued, long after being the mother of three children, to

be one of the most beautiful women at the English court. Her hus-

band, Charles Bennet, second Ear] of TankerviUe, died March 14,

place are several quarries of " Fire-stone," so cilled

from its property of withstanding the strong heats

of glass houses, and of iron and steel furnaces. It is

also of an open and porous nature, and makes excellent

filtering troughs. Hcicorth Colliery is worked by J. B.

Pearson, W. Anderson, R. Dixon, and— Kirkley, Esqrs.

1753, of an apoplectic fit, at the Green Man, on Epping Forest, as he

was travelling to London. She died October 8, 1775, not, indeed, at

the age of 105, as has been repeatedly stated in grave works of autho-

rity, but of 77 years, having been baptized March 8, 1697-8. The
present Earl of Tankerville, and his son. Lord Ossulston, M.P. for

the North Division of Northumberland, are her descendants.

Mr. Colville, father of CamiUa, died June 13, 1750, aged 105, and

was buried in All Saints' church, Newcastle, the burial-place of the

family. Susanna Colville, another daughter, who was baptized on the

31st December, 1690, married Charles Allan, Esq., an eminent mer-

chant at Kotterdam : she died Januaiy 11, 1783, aged 93, having out-

lived her husband, ten brothers and sisters, and buried ten children.

i

PARISH OP GATESHEAD.

The parish of Gateshead is bounded by the Tyne on the north, by the chapelries of Heworth and St. Alban on

the east, by Usworth on the south-east, by Lamesley on the south and south-west, and by the parish of Whickham
on the west. By an act passed in 1809, the Fell was constituted a separate rectory ; but it was provided " that

nothing in this act contained shall alter or affect the manor of Gateshead, or the division of the said parish into

townships, or separate districts, for the maintenance of the poor, or for any civil purpose whatever, but that the

said manor and parish of Gateshead shall, as to those purposes, remain in all respects the same as if this act had
not been passed."

The parish of Gateshead, including Gateshead FeU,

comprises an area of 3,255 acres, of which 340 acres are

covered with tidal water. Its population, between 1690

and 1700, was computed at about 7,000. The nimiber

of inhabitants has been nearly tripled during the

last half century; the returns at the succeeding

enumerations from 1801 to 1851 having been 8,597,

8,782, 11,767, 15,177, 19,505, and 24,805.* Of
the latter number, 12,333 were males and 12,472 females.

In 1841, there were 3,297' iahabited houses, 164 uninha-

bited, and 41 building; and in 1851, 3,379 inhabited,

72 uninhabited, and 65 building, f The annual value of

property assessed to the county-rate ia 1853 was 49,308/.

19s. The municipal and parliamentary borough in-

cludes a portion of the chapelry of Heworth, containing

• The returns include 79 persons in the union workhouse in 1841
and 185 in 1851 ; and the lunatic asylums at Gateshead FeU, Wrecken-
ton, and Bensham contained 201 persons in 1841, and 320 in 1851.

+ The small increase of houses, compai-ed with the increase of popu-
lation, is attributed to the dwelling of each family being returned as a

house in 1841, while in 1851 the houses were correctly returned.

180 acres, which, ia 1851, contained 223 inhabited

houses, 1 uninhabited, and 3 building, and a popidation

of 372 males and 391 females.

The North-eastern Railway has an extent of 3 m. 1 r.

57 Y., and an area of 37 a. 3 r. 26 p. in this parish, and

contributed 546/. 5s. Id. to the local rates in 1851, and

499/. 6s. IM. in 1852. The Newcastle and Carlisle

Railway, with an extent of 7 r. 88 v., and an area of

11 A. 1 R. 27 p., contributed 52/. 10s. in each of those

years. The gross amoimts collected were 5,773/. 7s. hi.,

and 6,956/. 8s. M.

HISTORY.

There is little doubt that Gateshead, by whatever

name it was called,J was co-existent with Newcastle,

} Auliquaiies ai-e divided in opinion as to the origin of the name of

Gateshead. Brand and other writers derive it from the head or end

of the gaU or road, because a branch of Watling Street ended here.

On the arms of the borough, a tower or gate-house is represented, pro-

bably referable to the tower on Tyne Bridge. Gate, gat, gap, (Scandi-

navian,) signify an entrance into a city; alargedoor, away, a road.

I
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and that the Romans had a fortified station at the

south end of the bridge which they erected across

the Tyne ; though the opinion of Camden, Gale, and

others, that it was the Gabrocentum of the Notitia, has

been disputed. The Saxons also would find it equally

necessary to fortify this important pass. In 1068,

"William the Conqueror gained a decisive victory over the

arm3^ of Edgar Etheling, Malcolm king of Scotland, and

certain Danish pirates on Gateshead FeU ; after which,

he recovered Newcastle, and laid it in ashes. The first

important historical event mentioned in Gateshead is

the death of Bishop Walcher in 1080 (see vol. i., p. 29).

In 1164, Bishop Pudsey granted a charter to the bur-

gesses of Gateshead, of which the chief pri%aleges were.

Liberty of forest, freedom from toll within the palatine,

and in general all such advantages as were enjoyed by

the burgesses of Newcastle. Boldon Book states that

Gateshead, with the profits of the borough, &c., and three

parts of the arable land, were fannedunder 60 marks rent

:

the remaining parts were in the hands of the bishop.

The chief incidents in the history of the borough are

the perpetual disputes betwixt the see of Durham and

the corporation of Newcastle ;* and it was considered no

small cause of triumph by Cardinal Langley, when he

recovered his third share of Tyne Bridge and the tower

which had been erected upon it. In 1552, during the

temporary dissolution of the see, an act was obtaiaed

which severed Gateshead from the bishopric, and annexed

it to Newcastle ; but one of the first acts of Queen Mary's

reign was the restoration of the borough to its original

position. The lease of the Salt Meadows, granted to the

corporation of Newcastle by Bishop Tunstal, is named
in vol. i., p. Go, 66. A lease of the manors of Gateshead

and Whickham was granted by Bishop Barnes to Queen

Elizabeth, in 1578, for 79 years ; but a new lease for 99

years, including all the pits, mines, wastes, and roj'alties,

was granted in 1582, imder 117/. 15s. 8(/. reserved rent.

This lease was afterwards transferred to the corporation

a path, a passage. The name assigned both by Bede and Simeon,

however, is Ad Caprm Caput ; and the latter writer, in another place,

calls it Gotesheved. The Gategangs, " Lords of Pipewellgato," bore on
their coat a chevron between three goats' heads couped ; and a seal of

one of the bailiffs of " Gati;shevid" has been described as bearing a

chevron charged with three swords between three goats' heads erased.

An entry in the parish books of 1040 mentions 3». having been paid
" for amending the Goatshead, being the waites cognizance." On a

chair in the vestry also, made in 1000, is sculptured a shield contain- i

ing a single goat's head, and the same idea forms the crest. The
possibility has been suggested of the name of Goat's Head being

appUed to a Roman station, where the legion beaiing that distinction

might be localized for a season ; a coin of Vespasian is given in Bruce :

of Newcastle, and expired in 1682. In 1716, Bishop

Crewe demised the manor of Gateshead, for 2 1 years, to

William Coatsworth, Esq., under the yearly rent of 235/.

lis. id. ; and this lease, after repeated renewals to the

Coatsworths, became vested in their descendant, Cuthbert

Ellison, Esq., of Hebbuin Hall. The ecclesiastical com-

missioners agreed, September 25, 1855, to pay the sum
of 1,058/. to the Bishop of Durham and his successors,

in Ueu of the said manor or lordship, subject to the se-

veral existing leases. The manor is thus described :

—

" AH that the manor or lordship, town and boi'ough of Gatesido,

otherwise Gateshead, with the appurtenances, in the said county of

Durham; and also all manner of houses, edifices, buildings, bams,
stables, orchards, gardens, woods, underwoods, mills, mines, quarries,

moors, marshes, waste grounds, waters, fishings, watercourses, borough

courts, profits and perquisites of courts, commons, furze, heaths,

grounds, copyhold lands, and lauds demised and demisable by copy of

court roll, and all the rents, fines, and services of the copyholders and
copyhold lands, and also of the freeholders and freehold lauds, tene-

ments, rents, and services, which were holden by the said bishop and
belonging to him within the said manor, town, borough, and lordship

aforesaid, or in any of them ; and also all goods, chattels of felons and
fugitives, felons of themselves, goods of persons outlawed and put in

exigent, goods, waifs, strays, deodands, and forfeitures which should

happen, chance, or fall -within the said manor, lordship, town, and
place aforesaid, or in any of them ; and also all fines, issues, and

amerciaments from time to time taxed, estreated, set, or assessed of or

upon any person or persons, for or by reason of, touching, or concern-

ing any oflfence or oflences whatsoever which should thereafter be had,

committed, sufl'ered, or done within the said manor, town, lordship,

and place aforesaid ; and all the mines of coal, as well opened as not

opened, or then already found or thereafter to be sought for and found;

and also all rents or sums of money whatsoever, theretofore reserved

or agreed to be paid to the said bishop or his predecessors, for wayleave

in or upon the said premises, or any part thereof; and all easements,

profits, ways, wayleaves, right, prerogative, privilege, and liberty what-

soever of wayleave over and along the premises or any part thereof,

or so claimed or enjoyed commodities, advantages, and hereditaments

whatsoever of the said bishop, of what nature, kind, or quality soever

the same be, situate, lying, and being, or which theretofore had been

used and had or enjoyed within the said manor, lordship, _town,

borough, fields, hamlets, precincts, or circuits of Gateside, otheswise

Gateshead, aforesaid, or any of them ; all which said herediuiments,

and the appurtenances thereto belonging, ai'e or reputed to be ( with

"Roman Wall," having reversed derai-goats, bearing between them a

shield.

• Some of these disputes are of comparatively recent date ; amongst

others, the foUowing occur in the parish books :—1640, " Novemb. Pd
to Rd. Sanderson, for dressing jergin's hole (a sewer near the Tyne

Bridge), and canyuig away much rubish when Newcastle men would

have fined Gateshead for it, 4s."—" To Roger Young and others ridoing

to Durham sevH tymes about the preventing of a great sess, which Mr.

Maior and otlier men of Newcastle did labour to impose upon the

inhabitants of Gaitshead, 02."—1702-;), "13 Jan., Ord. that Wm Lakyo

be forthwith kept and indcmpnifyd for a vexatious suite brought agt

him by the Mayor and Burgesses of Newcastle, for breweing of ale and

beer in the towne of Gateshead."
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certain exceptions) now in the tenure or occupation of Cuthbert

Ellison, Adam Washington, and James Polleine, Eichard Carnaby

Forster, and Robert WheaUey, theii- respective executors, administrators,

assigns, or under-tenants, or of some or one of them, by «rtue of four

several indentures of lease, dated respectively the nineteenth day of

September, one thousand eight hundred and fifty-four, the sixth day of

June, one thousand eight hundred and fifty-four, the first day of

November, one thousand eight hundred and fifty-one, and the ninth

day of October, one thousand eight hundred and fifty-four, granted by

the said bishop to the said Cuthbert Ellison, to the said Adam Wash-

ington and James Pulleine, to the said Richard Carnaby Forster, and

to the said Robert Wheatley respectively, and their several executors,

administrators, and assigns, for terms of twenty-one years each."

Gateshead House, which adjoined Trinity chapel on

the east, was anciently a possession of the nuns of St.

Bartholomew, in Newcastle, and, after the Dissolution,

became the property of the Riddells. The house and

gardens suffered severely by the Scotch under Lesley in

1640, as appears from a petition from Sir Thomas Rid-

deU to the king, preserved in Rushworth, stating

—

" That the Scots army now of late, since their coming hither Septem-

ber, 1C40, have taken and disposed of all your petitioner's com, as well

as that in his garners, being a great quantity, as also his com on the

ground ; and have spoiled and consumed all his hay, both of the last i

year, and this year's growth, and do keep possession of his two milnes

of great value, have spent his grass, and spoiled many acres of his
j

ground by making their trenches in it ; have wasted and disposed of

his coals already wrought ; have spoiled and broken his engines, and

utterly drowned and desti-oyed the best part of his coal mines, have
j

banished his servants, and have plundered divers houses of your peti- -

tioner's tenants, so that they are not able to pay your petitioner any
|

rent, nor do him any services. By all which your petitioner is
i

already damnified 1,500J.," A'C"
i

The Riddells sold Gateshead House to the Claverings

of CaUaly. On January 28, 1746, whilst the Duke of

Cumberland was passing through Gateshead on his way

to Scotland, previous to the battle of Culloden, the

house was destroyed by fire,f and was never tenanted

afterwards. The property was purchased of the Claver-

ings by the late Mr. Barrass, and sold by him to Henry

Ellison, Esq., father of Cuthbert Ellison, Esq., of neb-

burn. The fire-stained ruins of the mansion, with its

large bay windows divided by stone mullions and tran-

• Surttes gives insertion to a letter from Sir John Lessly to Sir

Thomas Riddell, bnt does not vouch for its accuracy. Lessly professes

to be cousin to the general and one of his captains; and this grasping

military pluralist thus subscribes himself :—" I am your humble servant,

John Lessly, Major General and Captain over sax score and twa men
and some mai-e ; Crowner [an officer to whom it belonged to attach all

persons against whom there was an accusation in matters pertaining to

the crown] of Cumberland, Northumberland, Murrayland, and Fife;

Bailie of Kirkaldie, Governor of Burnt Island and the Bass ; Laird of

Libertine, Tilley, and WoUey ; SiUer Tacker [collector of taxes] of

Stirling, Constable of Leilh, and Sir John Lessly, Knight, to the boot

of a' that."

;
soms, was suffered to fall into ruins, and its stones were

taken for building purposes.

I

:
THE BOROUGH PROPERTY.

j

The freehold property denominated the " Borough

Lands," which is vested in the " borough-holders" and

I freemen, cannot be traced to its original possessors. In

i 1557, however, the burgesses were in possession of

Windmill Hill, Longflatt, and Stonefiatt ; and, shortly

after, they litigated their common right in Redheugh

and Harelaw, with the Whites of Redheugh. There is

a decree of Queen Elizabeth which recognizes the right

of pasture in the " Town Fields ;" and it is certain that

I
cows were pastured there in 1607. An act for inclosing

the borough lands or town fields in the parish of Gates-

head received the royal assent on June 28, 1814. They

were estimated to contain together about 200 acres ; but

the Windmill Hills, containing about 1 acres, was spe-

cially exempted from the operation of the act. Mr. John

BeU, of Newcastle, was appointed sole commissioner. The

right of common on the Windmill Hills was to cease,

and to become vested in the borough-holders and legal

freemen of Gateshead, who were to have power, with

the sanction of two justices of the peace, to stop up, dis-

continue, or alter such roads or foot-paths over the said

hills, as might be done without prejudice or inconvenience

to the person or persons having a right of way or passage

along such roads. The expenses of obtaining the act

were to be paid by the persons having right of common
on the grounds to be divided. About 135 burgage or

ancient tenements in Gateshead confer the right of

borough-holders upon the proprietors ; but as several of

them are possessed of more than one borough-right, the

number of persons having an interest in the property is

more limited.

After the estabhshment of the new municipal corpo-

ration of Gateshead, several members of that body con-

tended that the management of the borough property

ought to be transferred to the council, or otherAsdse

appropriated to the public benefit. A proposal was

+ It appears that the populace, anxious to see his royal highness

whilst proceeding down High Street, had attempted to climb up the

garden wall; when the gardener, who had been left in charge of the

house and grounds in the absence of the family, in order to protect his

master's ( Mr. Clavering's) property, let loose some dogs upon the mob,

by which several keehnen were bitten. The people, now exasperated,

sought the gardener in all directions : he, however, escaped them,

and, by doing so, probably saved his life. Being deprived of their

victim, they set the mansion on fire. Every means were adopted to

discover the incendiaries, the coi-poration of Newcastle offering 501.

reward for their discovery; but all was fruitless.
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made to the borough-holders in 1840 to grant a rent-

charge on the property, by way of conciliation ; but

some of that body expressed an opinion that it would be

better to advance a sum of money for the purpose. In

the same year, certain portions of the property were

allotted for buQduig sites, at 5s. per square yard, the

purchasers agreeing to pay a perpetual ground-rent

equal to 5 per cent, on the value of the sites. Committees

were appointed in 1843 by the council and the borough-

holders to confer upon the subject of a compromise, when
600/. was offered by the latter party for that purpose.

Certain walls erected on the "Windnull HUls being alleged

to be obstructions by the council, a committee was ap-

pointed to enforce their removal ; and, under its direction,

a party proceeded to the spot on the 30th May, 1844,

and effected the demolition of the encroachments.* Not

satisfied with this, the populace overthrew the walls

which divided the once open common into enclosures.

Though a complaint on this subject was forwarded by

the borough-holders to the secretary of state, a large

meeting of the inhabitants of the town voted its approval

of the proceedings ; and, at a subsequent meeting, held

October 14, it was resolved to request the borough-

holders to give up the open part of the hills to the

• The excitement was much increased by the publication of a

" sqviib," extensively circulated and posted on the doors of the Town

Hall and other prominent places in the borough. It was headed as a

" Proclamation," and, having the royal arms and the usual letters,

" V. R.," passed, to some extent, as an official document. It ran thus:

"Whereas complaint has been made to us, that the borough-holders

of Gateshead have most shamefully and illegally closed up many of the

ancient footpaths upon the Windmill Hills, thereby causing much in-

convenience and annoyance to the inhabitants of the borough.

" We therefore, by and with the advice of our privy council, do

hereby command our loyal and liege subjects, the town council of

Gateshead, together with as many of the inhabitants as can possibly

attend, to move in procession from the Town Hall, Oakwellgate, to-

morrow (Thursday) morning, at ten o'clock, and pull down such por-

tions of the new walls upon the Hills as are marked for demolition.

"We would also earnestly desire the working classes to attend in

large numbers ; as they, we doubt not, will enjoy considerable satis-

faction by aiiling in so laudable an object as the restoration of the

people's footpaths.

"Given at our Court at St. James', this 2;)rd day of May, 18i4.

" God save the Queen."

t The King's Meadows.—The island known by tliis name is sur-

rounded by the river Tyno, and extends in length nearly the whole

distance from the embouchure of the Darwent to that of tlie Team.

It is supposed to have been anciently connected with the Elswick

estate, on the north bank of the river, and stiU pays rates to that town-

ship. There is an old pit in the centre of the river between the main

land and the island. The following narrative, in connection with this

tract, is given in the " Local Records" ofGateshead :
—"A boy of the name

of Moses, bora in the neighbourhood of Wolsingham, commenced his

career in life as a humble foot-boy in a family of the name of Mowbray, re-

siding at Manor House, near La.ichcster. The young man acquitted

I public, to solicit the assistance of government in laying

out the groimds, and to open a subscription for that

;

purpose. On the 27th February, 1845, the borough-

holders voted their assent to this, on condition of an act

of parliament being obtained to secure them in possession

of the remainder of the borough property. No further

measures, however, have been taken ; but the public

roads across the hiRs have been improved, and seats

placed in eligible situations, commanding fine views of

the Tyne, the King's Meadows,t and (when not obscured

by smoke) the town of Newcastle. Several rows of neat

houses have also been erected.

ASIATIC CHOLERA.

On Christmas-day, 1831, Asiatic cholera, which had

for some time been rife in Newcastle, broke out in

Gateshead ; and between that tirne and March 6, 1832,

402 persons were attacked, of whom 144 died. An ex-

tensive mortality from the same cause occurred in the

southern outskirts of the town in 1849 ; and on the 2nd
Sept., 1853, this epidemic again made its appearance in

Gateshead, and rapidly extended itself to all the sur-

rounding \'iUages.J From that day to the 7th of October

inclusive, there were 360 deaths from cholera and 36

himself so well, and displayed such quickness, that he was sent by his

master to a friend residing in Hull, a partner in a firm extensively en -

gaged in the Baltic trade. Here his good qualities were soon discovered

and appreciated. From his menial duties hewas advanced to those of an

under clerk in the counting house, and some time afterwards sent out

as resident agent to the firm in Riga, where his integrity and business

talent induced his employers to admit him to a small share. On his

return to this country, he married a lady with 30,000?. She dying

shortly after their union, he married another lady with a like fortune

;

and the same fate attending her, he married a third, who was also

mistress of 30,000L By this time, Mr. Moses was a man of immense

wealth, part of which he laid out in piirchasing property in his native

county. One of the estates he thus acquired is near his native place,

Wolsingham—another in the neighbourhood of Easington—a third at

Knitsley, in the parish of Lanehester—and a fourth, the ICing's

Meadows. The issue of his three matrimonial speculations was an

only daughter. Heiress to such immense wealth, no wonder that she

became Duchess of St. Alban's (she married, 17H8, Aubrey, the sixth

duke) ; and as her property was entailed on herself and her children,

it descended to her only chUd—a daughter, who married, in lull.

George William, eighth Earl of Coventi-}'.

'

J
Mr. Joseph Bell, chemist, Gateshead, recommended colchicum as

a remedy for the disease, and, during its prevalence in 184!), made up

not less than one hundred thousand jiowders for parties in Gateshead,

Newcastle, Shields, Sunderland, and the surrounding villages. Thuugh

this quantity of medicine was sufficient for the treatment of not less

than 30,000 patients, yet, from the pubU><hcd statements at the lime,

in no one instance was it known to ha\e failed in efl'ecting a cure.

During the visitation of the pestilence in iHtOS, the same remedy was

extensively supplied, with similar successful results; and a testimonial

was presented to Mr. Bell, in acknowledgment of his unwearied and

successful exertions.
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from diarrhoea in the parish of Gateshead, 41 deaths in

the chapeh-y of Howorth, 21 in the parish of Whickham,

and 14 in the parish of Winlaton, being a total mortality

of 472 in the Union. The disease gradually subsided

after that period ; and the 27th of October was observed

in the town as a day of thanksgiving.

GREAT FIRE AND EXPLOSION.

Gateshead has several times been the scene of destruc-

tive fires ; but these sink into insignificance when com-

pared with the awful conflagration and explosion which

occuiTed on the morning of the 6th of October, 1854.

The fire broke out on the premises of a worsted factory in

the vicinity of Hillgate, which had been burnt down in

the night of the 15th of October, 1850, and rebuilt in a

substantial manner. The large quantity of oil in the

place caused the flames to spread with fearful rapidity ;

and in less than half an hour, the factoiy was from top

to bottom an entire sheet of fire. The conflagration

soon spread to the neighbouring buildings and warehouses,

in which great quantities of sulphur, lead, and tallow

had been stored. Every exertion of the firemen to stop

theprogress of the flameswas unavailing. The warehouses

were fully 80 feet in length by 20 in width, and six sto-

ries high ; and when, about three o'clock in the morning,

the whole was one body of fire, the scene was the most

awfully magnificent that can be conceived. The Tyne

bridge, thehigh level bridge, the Quayside, Newcastle, and

every other available point, were lined with spectators.

A great nimiber of persons were engaged in saving their

goods from houses near the fire, or in endeavouring to

arrest its progress ; and a detachment of 50 of the 26th

Cameronians, with the barrack engine, were hastily sent

to assist. A slight concussion was heard, giving notice

of something more perilous than sulphur in the burning

pUe ; but it was naturaUj' supposed that with the shock

the danger had ceased. In a few minutes, however, one

of the most terrible explosions ever heard took place.*

" The air," says an eye-witness, " was rent as with

the voice of many thunders, and filled as with the

* The reverberation was felt so strongly in Shields that many of the

inhabitants rushed out of their beds, under the belief that the shock

had arisen fi-om an earthquake. Several bricks were dislodged from

Messrs. Swinburne's glass-bouse chimneys, and the workmen ran out

in the greatest fright and excitement. The gas-lights in the JaiTow

paper-mOl, and at the Pontop drops, were blown out. The explosion

was also felt at Sunderland, and was heard by the pitmen in Monk-

weamiouth eollieiy, who came up the shaft in alarm. Sulphur and

other materials, cast up by the blast, were scattered three or four miles

along the railway from Gateshead.

+ Amongst the suti'ercrs, who were endeavouring to render assist-

ance, was the second son of John Dobson, Esq., the well-known

! spimie of a volcano. Massive walls were crvmibled

into heaps, blocks of houses tumbled into ruins, win-

dows shattered from their frames far and near, and a

shower of burning timber and crashing stones rained

terror, destruction, and death on every side." Of

the 50 soldiers advancing with their engine, 30 were

struck down, and an ofiicer (Ensign C. H. Paynter) and

a lance coi-poral killed on the spot. Firemen and help-

ing citizens were crushed where they stood.f Some,

looking on in helpless amazement, were, in a moment,

stricken beyond consciousness. Crowds were dashed to

the ground by the violence of the concussion ; and many

persons in Newcastle and Gateshead, besides those

at once deprived of life, were maimed, bruised, and

wounded. An immense sheet of flaming sulj)hur and

other materials was projected across the Tyne, and in-

stantaneously set fire to the buildings on Newcastle Quay

to an extent of above 50 yards ; whilst the closely-packed

chares behind, as far as Butcher Bank, and the houses

at the George's Stairs and the foot of Pilgrim Street,

were also ignited by the frightful shower of fire and

brimstone. Tremendous conflagrations were thus raging

on both sides of the river at once ; and a general panic

was prevalent. The destruction of Hillgate was com-

plete ; St. Mary's church, and all the streets aroimd- it,

suffered considerably by the shock ; and some persons

in their beds, at considerable distances from the fire, were

killed or injured by faUing stones coming through the

roofs. Many rushed naked and shrieking into the streets,

and fled they knew not whither. " A battle-field," says

a writer of the day, " could not have yielded a more

horrible tragedy. Limbs were torn away, bones frac-

tured, limips of wood forced into the human body, hot

stones buried in the flesh, burning sulphur wrapped

around unconscious \ictims, and every conceivable in-

jury inflicted on man, woman, and child." The scorched

and crushed bodies of the dead were taken to the Gates-

head police station, to await the recognition of their

friends ; 60 of the wounded were conveyed to the New-

castle Infirmary ; and about 30 of the wounded soldiers

architect, of Newcastle. Alexander Rutherford Dobson had adopted

the profession of his father, and gave early promise of becoming

eminent in the art. He studied for some time in London, in

the office of his brother-in-law, Mr. Sydney Smirke, attending the

lectures of Professor Donaldson ; and received, at the London Uni-

versity, the first prize essay given for the study of the science

of architecture as a fine art. He became a member of the Insti-

tute of British Architects in 1851, and at the time of tbis melan-

choly and fatal accident, he was engaged as his father's assistant.

He died in the twenty-sixth year of his age, regretted by all for his

amiable disposition, worth of character, and gentlemanly unassuming

manners.
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were taken to the barracts. Tlie number of killed and

wounded amounted to upwards of 270 persons, of whom
25 were killed in Gateshead on the spot, and 5 in

Newcastle ; 3 died afterwards in Gateshead, and 15 in

the Newcastle Infirmary ; and the remainder were all

more or less injured.*

For some hours after the explosion, the fires continued

to rage with unabated fury ; and for several successive

days it was necessary to keep the fire-engines at work

on the smoking ruins. Every effort was made to clear

away the rubbish, and to recover the bodies of those

buried beneath it. The value of property destroyed

was estimated at more than 1,000,000/. ; and the open

spaces on both sides of the river, once crowded with busy

manufactories, shops, and ofiices, or with densely peopled

dwellings, still attest the extent and violence of this

unexampled calamity.

A subscription was promptly opened for the relief of

the sufferers, to which contributions were sent from

many distant parts of the kingdom ; the amount received

being 11,156/. 2s., towards which her majesty, Queen

Victoria, contributed 100/. ; and bank interest increased

the whole to 11,324/. 14s. Gd. Committees of the town

councils of Newcastle and Gateshead were appointed to

superintend the distribution of relief; and under their

auspices, 2, 186/. was paid to 526 persons in Gateshead

as compensation for losses, and 292/. 13s. to widows and

disabled persons. In Newcastle, 1,911/. 4s. 2d. was

paid to 273 persons as compensation for losses, 1,014/.

14s. 7d. to widows and disabled persons, and 353/. 17s.

5d. for clothing, compensation to the military and

police, &c. 188/. 17s. 3d. was distributed to 44 claim-

ants for compensation for losses by the workmen of

• OrriciAL Inqutry.—On the 18th of October, there were still 48

in-patients in the Newcastle Infirmary, besides a much greater nrnnher

attended at their own homes by surgeons in the district. A coroner's

inquest was opened at Gateshead two days after the accident, and

successively adjourned to the lltli, IBtli, and 20th of October, and

the 2nd of Xovomher. The cause of tlio explosion was the pi-incipal

subject of inquii-y ; the prevailing idea, at first, being that gunpowder

had been Ulegally deposited in the warehouses. Of tliis, however,

there was no conclusive proof; and Hugh Lee Pattinson, Esq., of the

Felling Chemical Works, demonstrated by experiments that ignited

sulphur and nitre, though not explosive of themselves when combined,

will, on the addition of water, explode with great violence. Large

quantities of these substances were in one of the vaults ; and hence it

was infen-ed that the sudden entrance of water from the pipes above

had caused the catastrophe. During the inquiry, Professor Taylor, of

the Royal College of Physicians, was sent to Gateshead by Lord Pal-

merston, Home Secretary, to investigate the affair, and assist at the

inquest ; and his theory was, that a mixture of gases, evolved by the

burning substances, was sufficient to produce the explosion. At the

conclusion of the inquest, the jury found, " that the death of Thomas
Scott and others was occasioned by the accidental explosion of a

Messr.s. Hawks, Crawshay, and Co., who, with their

employers, had contributed 305/. 8s. lid. towards the

fimd. 300/. was allowed the corporation of Newcastle

for sums advanced by them. The expenses of adminis-

tering the fund amounted to 186/. Os. Sd. The commit-
tee set aside a fund of 3,040/. for widows and orphans
for twelve years to come, and 100/. for the expenses of

the trust; 245/. 4s. 9d. for the Infirmary, and 5/. for

the Deaf and Dtmib Asylum, as specially requested by
the donors ; and they proposed to divide the surplus of

1,500/. 13s. 2d. between the Newcastle Infirmary and
Gateshead Dispensary, in the proportion of three-fourths

to the former and one-fourth to the latter.

THE TOWN.

Gateshead is situated on the southern bank of the

Tyne, opposite to Newcastle, and is 14 miles north-by-

west from Durham, 8 from South Shields, 11 from

Sunderland, and 272 north-by-west from London.

The town extends along the margin of the Tyne for

about 10 fm-longs from east to west, and from the river

southwards about a mile. The ground on which it is

situated rises very rapidly, in some places steeply, from

the brink of the river to the height of about 95 feet, and

thence more gradually to the southern extremity of the

town, where it attains the height of 200 feet. The
ascent to Wrekenton, on the verge of the parish, is very

steep : that village is distant about 2 miles from the

Tyne, and is upwards of 500 feet above the level of the

river.

The principal thoroughfare in Gateshead is Siffk

Street,f the carriage-way in many parts of which is

considerably below the level of the footpaths. From

quantity of nitrate of soda and sulphur contained in a warehouse in

HUlgate, commonly known as Bertram's warehouse. The immediate

cause of the explosion was a fire (the origin of which, owing to con-

flicting evidence, we have not been able to discover, although there

would appear to have been a want of caution displayed) which broke

out in the adjacent worsted mill belonging to Messrs. Wilson, ami
communicated to the warehouse alluded to ; but in what way the two

substances, nitrate of soda and sulphur, which in our opinion caused

the explosion, acted or reacted, chemically or racchanically, we are

unable to decide." The verdict concludes with a recommendation that

such substances ought not to be deposited near each other, and states

that there is a completcwant of evidence of the presence of gunpowder.

+ ,IonN Beix.—Mr. .Tohn Bell, the well known antiquarian and local

collector, has resided in High Street during the last S'i years ; and to

his valuable librarj' and collodions of antiquities, access has at all

times been readily afforded. Mr. Bell has long contributed to the

Gentleman's Magazine ; and ho corresponded with Sir Walter Scott,

Dr. Dibdin, Sydney Smith, .lohn G. Nichols, Ac, on matters connected

with " north couutrie lore." A portion of Mr. Bell's collection has

recently become the property of the British Museum and the Bodleian
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its norfhern extremity the Bottle Bank descends so pre-

cipitately, that it was found necessary, in 1790, to fonn

a curved road, called Church Street, on the east. Bridge

Street extends from the re-imion of the two roads to the

Tvne Bridge. A narrow street called Pipeicellgate runs

westward for 330 yards from the bridge ; and at a greater

distance, on the east, EiUgate* the scene of the great

conflagration, runs parallel with the river. On this site,

Library. Mr. Bell was born iu NewcasUe, in the year 1783 ;
he suc-

ceeded his father as a bookseller and land-surveyor, but subsequently

(onfined his attention exclusively to the latter pursuit.

• D-\NIEL De Foe.—In Hillgate resided for some time the author of

the ever popular and fascinating story of Robinson Crusoe, the first

part of which appeared in 1719. De Foe was the son of a butcher,

born in London in 1660. He was apprenticed to a hosier, and was in

business for some time in London on his own account. Influenced by

the stirring events of the time, he abandoned business, and subse-

quently earned a precarious subsistence by his pen. Amongst his

other popular works, which have given him a favourable position

amongst the authors of his day, are—The True-bom EngUshman,

History of the Great Plague in London, P^ligious Coui-tship, The

FamUy Instructor, The Shortest Way with Dissenters, &c., and several

religious and political pamphlets, for the opinions contained in some

of which he suflered imprisonment. He died in 1731.

+ Thomas Bewick.—Died, on 8th of November, 1828, at his

house in West Street, where he had resided many years. Thomas

Bewick, aged 75. This celebrated engraver and naturalist was bom

August 10, 1753, at Cherryburn, a Northumbrian hamlet on the banks

of the river Tyne, situated about 12 miles above the town of Newcastle,

but on the south side of the river. The parents of Bewick were in

comfortable cii-cumstances, but not wealthy ; they could not afford the

expenditure of much money upon the education of their children. At

Oringham, a pleasant village not far from Chen-yburn, was a respecta-

ble school, then presided over by the Rev. C. Gregson, M.A. At this

seminary Bewick was a day scholar, together with his younger brother

John. Here his decided genius for drawing displayed itself; and

many tales, of a questionable character as to accuracy, have been told

of sketches by Bewick under circumstances more extraordinaiy than

probable. At this period, the fine arts were pretty nearly strangers to

the county of Northumberland. Its state was then comparatively

primitive. Communications with the metropolis were few and far

between. Population was small. Travelling was less easy and less

common than it has since become. There was little literature and

less luxurj-. The whole county, including the town of Newcastle,

could hardly then, perhaps, have produced a single drawing master.

Thomas Bewick, in his 15th year, was apprenticed to Mr. Ralph

Beilby, an engraver in Newcastle ; and one of his first attempts on

wood was a set of diagrams for Hutton's Mensuration. Such were his

perseverance and success in engraving on wood, that in 1775 he re-

ceived a premium from the Society for the Encouragement of Arts

and Manufactures for his cut of the " Old Hound." Bewick, being on

a visit to some Cumberland friends, took the opportunity, for the first

and last time, to view the lake scenerj- of the district ; and on his re-

turn, he proceeded to London. His reputation as an ai-tist, and as a

professor in the neglected walk of wood engraving, now began to be

established ; but his residence in London was not protracted much

bevond a year. He returned to Newcastle with a thorough contempt

for every thing belonging to the l^nd of Cockaigne, for which, and the

natives and dwellers and sojourners theiein and thereof, he ever after

recently crowded to excess with houses reaching tier

above tier to the table land on which the church is

situated, it is now proposed to form an extensive quay

with suitable warehouses.

Parallel with High Street on the west is a road for-

merly called the Back Lane, but now containing rows of

good houses, named West Street.^ Half-moon Street,

Nelson Street, Melbourne Street, Jackson Street, and

entertained a contempt of no mitigated description. On his return to

Newcastle, he became the partner of his former master, Mr. Beilby.

In 1780, Mr. Bewick completed a setof wood cuts, 62 in number, for

a child's book, entitled, " A pretty Book of Pictures for little Masters

and Misses, published in the ssme year by Saint of Newcastle ; and

in 1787 appeared the celebrated cut of the ChUlingham Bull,

which has been deemed, by some, one of the finest efforts of the

artist's graver. These probably led to theundertaking of the History of

Quadrupeds, a publication which at once established Bewick's reputa-

tion as the finest engi-aver on wood, and one of the best delineators of

animal life, that the world had seen. In this undertaking, he and his

partner were joined by Mr. S. Hodgson, proprietor of the Newcastle

Chronicle, a man of considerable talent and enterprise. This work

was extolled as a novelty in art, by artists as well as by tlie literary

world in general. In 1791, a second, and in 1792, a third edition was

called for ; since which, various others have been published. Em-

ployment for talent so extraordinary as Bewick's now flowed in apace.

He commenced a History of British Land Birds, with wood engravings,

and also furnished cuts for editions of Parnell's Poems and the Chace

of SomervOle, which were published in 1795-6. The engravings for

these works having been shewn to George III., it is said that the king

w-as so incredulous as to the possibility of things so beautiful being cut

upon wood, that the blocks were brought to the palace for the royal

inspection.

The first edition of British Land Bii-ds saw the light in 1797, and

its success was more than equal to that of the History of Quadrupeds.

In addition to the figures of the birds, the artist has adorned the work

with a profusion of those exquisite tail-pieces, which, whether we

contemplate their admirable design, their nature, tbeii- truth, or their

humour and keen satire, or powerful morality, which are so often

superadded, certainly divide our admiration with the principal objects

of the work. As a whole, the publication was universally admired,

and the hold which it eventually took of the public attention has been

equalled by few works which have appeared either before or since.

Until the death of Mr. Hodgson in 1800, editions of this and Mr.

Bewick's other works were printed, and the cuts struck ofl', at the press

of the Newcastle Chronicle ; after that period, they were entrusted to

the skill and care of Mr. Walker, of the Newcastle Courant. The

second volume of birds, containing the water birds, did not appeal-

until 1804 : during the interval, Mr. Beilby retired from the partner-

ship, so that the burthen of the work fell, for the most pai-t, upon Mr.

Bewick alone.

In 1818, Bewick published an edition of Select Fables, a few of

which were written by himself; but this work is not considered equal

to its predecessors. It was his last finished work, and is not without

internal evidence that the great artist himself considered it might be so.

The tail-piece at page 1C2 of the first edition bears the date of his

mothers .death, and that at page 176 the date of the decease of his

father. The final tail-piece represents a funeral during its passage

through a country church-yard, which is evidently a sketch, though

not a close one, of that at Oviugham, now pointed out as the final

resting place of the celebrated artist. After the publication of his
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several other thorouglifares of recent erection, connect it

with High Street. Further to the west a number of

streets have been erected on the hill side within the last

twenty years ; whilst numerous rows, terraces, and villas

occupy the ground towards the Windmill Hills* and

Bensham.

Cannon Street, which branches eastward from Church

Street, leads to Oahicelhjate, which takes its name from

an ancient well, once shadowed by a broad branching

oak. At the southern extremity of OakweUgate are

some buildings called " Palace Place," supposed to have

been a residence of the Bishop of Durham in 1614, and

where popular tradition has fixed the site of a palace of

King John. Other streets and rows to the east have

been called into existence by the numerous factories

now carried on in that direction. A large and populous

suburb, called Neio Gateshead, has thus been formed.

A piece of land, on the hill-side to the south-east of

Gateshead, was purchased by a Freehold Land Society,

who took formal possession on the 31st December, 1850.

Several streets and detached houses are now erected,

and have received the general name of Mount Pleasant.

The boundaries of the parish were perambulated by

Fables, age began fast to overtake Bewick
; yet he tUd not desist from

his labours with the graver, and he projected and commenced a his-

tory of British tishes, and for which he cut some tail-pieces. This

work, however, he was not destined to finish. Towards the close of

the year 1838, he was suddenly assailed by illness, under which he

sank on the 8th of November.

Mr. Bewick married, AprU 20, 1786, Isabella, daughter of Mr. Robert

Elliott, of Ovingham, and, at the period of his death, left a son and

three daughters in a position of comfortable independence. More

distantly related to Thomas Bewick is Haydon's favourite pupil, Wil-

liam Bewick, now residing at Haughton-le-Skerne, neai' Darlington.

See vol. i., p. 01.'), and vol. ii., p. 665.

Likemany men of genius, Bewick was strongly acted upon by music,

more especially the simple Border melodies. His utter dislike to any

innovation upon that which was, he displayed very amusingly, and on

an interesting occasion towards the close of his life. A few of the

members of the Literary and Philosophical Society, in Newcastle,

wished to present a marble bust of him to the institution. To expect

the aiiist to go to London to sit to any sculjitor there, was a somewhat

hopeless expectation, and was therefore not entertained ; but Mr.

Bailey was brought down in order to make the model, from which the

bust was afterwards to be cut. So far all went smootUy ; but when it

came to be debated in what " costume" it should be taken, a sore con-

troversy arose. The sculptor, as is usual, insisted upon covering the

engraver's shoulders with some Idnd of drapery, which, for want of a

better word, we shall coll liomanesque. Whether it was precisely a

" toga" or not, we cannot say ; but it was, no doubt, something classical,

in so far as it was not English. Against this, however, Bewick at

once rebelled. The " toga" was accordingly given up, and the artist

was taken in his coat and waistcoat, not forgetting his neckcloth and

rutUe shii-t ; nor can we say that the likeness is thereby injured, what-

ever may be the case with the classicality.

In his treatise on wood-engraving, Mr. Jackson gives currency to a

VOL. II.

the Rev. John Collinson, rector, and other parishioners,

on the 27th May, 1824. On May 24, 1836, the boun-

daries of the borough were perambulated for the first

time under the new corporation by George Hawks, Esq.,

mayor, by whom the ceremony was repeated on May
24, 1847. Boundary tokens were struck and distributed

on these several occasions.

On September 19, 1836, a committee was appointed

to ascertain and fix the names of the several streets,

chares, and lanes or gates in the town.

ST. MARY'S CHURCH.t

This edifice consists of nave, aisles, and transept, of

about the date 1450. The transepts are divided by

arches similar to those of the aisles, supported by light

octagonal pillars without capitals ; the arch mouldings,

or rather their chamfered faces, springing at once from

the shafts. The chancel, separated from the nave by a

wide pointed arch, is of about the date 1280 ; and as the

under portions of the exterior walls of the aisles are of

considerable antiquity, and having a Norman door-way

on the south side, it is more than probable that the

present edifice has been erected upon the remains of a

statement, that the celebrated engraver on wood, and great improver

of the art, owes a pai-t of his celebrity to his pupUs ; and that some of

the best of his cuts were either designed or executed, or both, by his

apprentices. Had this assertion been made, and this claim been put

in during Mr. Bewick's life-time, it would have been manly, at all

events ; but during the life-time of the great engi-aver it sleeps, and

when his sleep is that of death, it finds time and opportunity for wak-

ing. In a suspicious way, then, it comes forth to the day ; and it is as

destitute of internal, as it is of external evidence.

—

Ahridgad from a

Sketch by Thomas Doubleday, Esq. See aho Memoir by G. C. Atkin-

son, Esq., in the Transactions of the Natural History Society of Dur-

ham, Northumberland, and Newcastle-upon-Tyne.

• Windmill Hills Hoppino.—The following advei-tisement relative

to this subject was placarded throughout the town in the month of

June, 1629 ; and it is to be hoped that the exhibition of barbarism

forming one portion of the amusement has not, since that time, been

repeated:—"The public are respectfully infoi-med, that tlic ancient

custom of holding an annual meri-y-meeting on the Windmill lliUs,

Gateshead, wUl be revived on Whit-Monday, the 8th inst., when the

following prizes will be awarded to successful competitors—A hat to

be run for by men ; another hat to be run for by boys ; a cheese to be

run for by men tied up in sacks ; a pound of tobacco to be giinned for

through a horse-collar ; and another pound of tobacco to be >Trestled

for. Gateshead, June 1, 1829."

+ Penamce.—Proceedings having been instituted in the Ecclesiasti-

cal Court, Durham, by Mr. Nicholson, lessee of the Newcastle theatre,

against Henry Tomlin Cleghom, attorney-at-law, Gateshead, for de-

faming the character of his daughter. Miss Ann Bishop Thompson

Nicholson, and the said H. T. Cleghom having been adjudged guilty,

did penance in the church on the 9nd AprU, 18J)0, in the presence of

Mr. Jos. Willis, Mr. Jas. Charlton, Mr. J. B. Johnson, Mr. Depledge,

and the Eev. John Tyson.

5o
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Norman building. Tlie church is mentioned in 1291,

as being at that time worth 13/. 6s. 8d. According to

tradition, the old church in which Bishop Walcher was

killed stood in a field at a short distance to the north-

east of the site of the present edifice, once called Law-

less Close, and afterwards the Miller's Field.

The tower of the present church, and a portion of

the west end of the nave, were rebuilt in the Italian

style in 1740, when a west door-way was formed. At

the south entrance, in front of the Norman door-way,

an unsightly modern porch has been erected, into the

walls of which are worked two stone coffin-lids.

In 1837, the church underwent a thorough repair

:

the western gallery was rebuilt, the northern one re-

paired, and a new one built on the south. The old

open-timbered roof was preserved. The carved oaken

pews, constructed in the time of Bishop Crewe, were

replaced ; and a vacant space under the west gallery was

partly pewed, and the remaining portion converted into

a baptistry. The baptismal font is of stone, presented

to Trinity chapel by the Ven. Archdeacon Thorp, and

transferred with his permission to its present position.

A beautiful stained glass window, presented by Mr.

Joseph Price in 1819, was removed from the soiith

transept to the east end of the chancel. Previous to

the alterations, there were 789 sittings, 120 of which

were free ; and 487 additional sittings were now ob-

tained, of which, in consequence of a grant from the

Society for Enlarging and Building Churches and Cha-
j

pels, 344 were declared for ever fi-ee and unappropriated.

The expense, amounting to about 2,000/, was, after

some delay, defrayed by subscrijjtion.*

The explosion in li illgate on the 6th of October, 18-54,

appeared to have shaken the church to its foundation.

Not a window was left whole ; that presented by Mr.

Price was totally destroyed; and the entire structure

was so severely injured, that a design to abandon it,

and construct a new chm-ch on a more convenient site,

was contemplated. After due consideration, and a

public meeting held on the subject, the sacred associa-

tions which belonged to the old edifice so far influenced

the parishioners, that it was resolved to restore it to its

pristine condition, so far as it could be accomplished

;

and, under the direction of John Dobson, Esq., architect,

• During the alterations, several antiquarian relics were found, con-

sisting of a sOver halfpenny of one of the Edwards ; some monastic

jettons, or counters, and other copper coins ; a rude stone coffin ; and

a tomb-stone, sculptured with a cross and other devices.

t The stones which fell through the roof of the chancel, and which

must have been projected to an immense height, have been formed into

the church has not only been thoroughly repaired and

restored, but several judicious alterations and improve-

ments effected. The chancel especially, which was

almost blown down,t has been entirely renewed ; and,

in doing so, the original design was closely followed.

The heavy low arch dividing the chancel from the body

of the church, which had long been partially filled up

with lath and plaster, was entirely opened out, giving

a clear view of the open timber roof and the east win-

dow. At the communion table is a beautiful window of

stained glass, by Mr. Wailes, of Newcastle, commemo-
rative of the explosion. It has five lights, in which are

represented the Saviour and the four Evangelists. Three

medallions in the tracery contain the Baptism, the

Su^jper, and the Resurrection ; and in smaller compart-

ments are the royal arms and those of Gateshead, the

latter accompanied by the modern motto, " Caput inter

iiuhila condit." The remains of the double piscina and

sedilia were presented by the churchwardens to the

Newcastle Society of Antiquaries.—The estimated cost

of the repairs and restorations was 1,255/.

Gateshead chm-ch is now rich in plate. The first

presentation is a silver cup, of 20 oz., inscribed, " The
free gift of James Cole to St. Marj^'s church, in the

parish of Gateshead." Mr. Cole died in 1662.J A
silver flagon, 56 oz., inscribed, " The gift of Wm. Col-

linson, late of Gateshead, deceased, to the church of St.

Mary's, Gateshead, 1672." Another silver chalice, 43

oz., " The gift of Elizabeth CoUinson, in memory of her

daughter, Jane Wrangham, deceased, to the church of

St. Mary's, Gateshead, 1672." A silver paten, 20 oz.,

"Honor et Gloria soli Deo, 1732." A cup, 19^ oz.,

" Soli Deo Gloria." A small silver plate, 7 oz., without

inscription ; a silver chalice, 73| oz. ; two silver plates

for coUecting alms, each 23| oz. ; and a sUver paten,

22J oz. : these three are inscribed, " The gift of Mrs.

Ann Shaftoe to the church of St. Mary, Gateshead,

July 9, 1785." A large silver basin, in which the alms

are placed on the commimion table, 40 oz., " The gift of

Richard Fawcett, D.D., rector, to the church of St.

Mary's, Gateshead, May 13, 1780." A silver cup and

salver, presented to St. Edmund's chapel by the Rev.

H. Phnipotts, prebendary of Durham, 1815.

The organ was built by Messrs. "Wood, Small, and

a pile in the church-yard. One of them, which bears a suitable in-

scription, weighs 6 cwt.

} The wealthy and loyal family of the Coles had their origin in

Gateshead, and occupied a mansion and gardens betwixt Oakwellgate and

the Fore Street. They held property also in Boldon and Kibblesworth

—rose from the smithy to the baronetage, and died in landless poverty.
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Co., of Edinburgh, in 1820, and cost 500 guineas. The

church is lighted hy gas at evening service, and warmed
by pipes containing heated water. There are six bells

in the tower, purchased by subscription in 1730. The

clock has three dials, illuminated with gas duiing the

night.*

Registers.—Books Nos. 1 to 10 contain entries of

baptisms and burials from 1559 to 1587, and from 1G08

to 1812 ; and marriages from 1559 to 1587, and from

1608 to 1753. Nos. 11 to 14 contain marriages from

1754 to 1812. No registers can be foimd from 1587 to

1608. The parish chest contains several origiaal char-

ters and other valuable documents. The parish books

commence in 1626 ; they have been minutely kept, and

contain many curious and interesting entries, such as

—

1626, To James Coats, for making glasps for the roge stob

(whipping post). Is. 2d." 1627, "Paid the fine estreated for want of

a ducking-stool, 6s. 8(i.;" and in the following year, "Payd for the

dokinge-stoull. Vis," 1628, " For makinge a new eoffinge and mending

two ould ones, 5s." 1632, " Paid for whipping black Barborie, 6d."

1633, "To workemen for making the streats even at ye King's coming,

IHs.id.;" and " Paid the piper for plajing to ye menders of yo high

waies five severall dales, 3s. id." 1042, Oct. 16th, " For as much as it

hath pleased Almighty God to visile this P'ish with the plague of

pestilence [a sume or sesse of 24 weeks ordered], collected for the use

of the infected poor, 281. 6s." 1644, June 8, " Paid to George JBrowne,

for helping the herdman to koepe the kine on the towne more (two

weekes night and day) because the tyme was troblesome, by reson of

the army, 7s. Id." 1649, " 1 stone of figgs riding the boundarie, 4s. 8d."

"Paid at Sins IVatsous, when the justices sate to examine the witches,

3s. id." 1050, " Paid the fidler, when the fields were mowed, 2s. 8d."

1664, " Spent when the Fell was sett out, 2s. 6d." 1671, " Paid for

powder and match when the keelemen mutinyed, 2s." 1684, " For

carrj-ing 26 Quakers to Durham, 21. 17s." " Expended on the corona-

tion day, Aprill 23, 2 barells gunn powder, Gl, ; 1 hogshd of ale, 21.
;

given the gunners and their mate, 15s.; paper, starch, match, and

• There were four chantries in this church. St. Mail's chantry, in

the north porch was founded by Allan Prestre, in 1330, "to find a

priest for the maintenance of God's service, and to pray for his soul,

and for all Christian souls :" its yearly value at the time of the Disso-

lution was 75s. id. St. John's chantry was founded by John Dol-

phanby before the year 1442 : its yearly value was (U. 12s. Hd. Trinity

chantry was also founded by Alone Prestre, and was of the yearly value

of il. 4s. 2d. St. Loy's chantry was founded by John Dolphaiiby in

1421; and its annual revenues amounted to Gl. 12s. tid. Richard

Jackson, the last incumbent, had an annual pension of 32, in 1553.

t In 1850, this burial-ground was thus described by Mr. Kell, town

elerk :
—" It is on a table land ; immeiliately adjoining, on the north,

there is a rapid ascent fi'om the river ; the soil on the northern side

is a stitf retentive clay, so much charged with water, that on vaults

being opened on that side of the church-yard, the coffins ai'e found

swimming about like boats ; and on a grave being opened on that side

of the ground, it tills with water so rapidly, that previous to any inter-

ment it is necessary to bale it. On the south side of the ground, the

clay is overlaid by a deep bed of yellow sand, and is quite dry. On the

north-western side, the ground is more than 20 feet above the surface

packthread, 3s. Id. ; nailes, and a skin for the rammers, Sd, ; bringing

up and carrj-ing downe 9 great gunns, 11. Os. id. ; 9 tai'-barrells an d

labourers, lis. ; labourers bringing the ale and powder ban-Us. 2s.; for

mending the church-yard wall, wch ^-as puUd down for the gunns, 2s.

Gd." 170S, " For sweetmeats to entertain the Bishop of Durham, 5s."

The chui-ch-yard comprises an area of 5,830 square

yards, 840 yards of which are occupied by the church.

f

Until 1811, it was the only burial-ground in the borough

;

and as the number of interments afterwards averaged

more than 300 per annum, an order to close it was
issued by the General Board of Health in 1853, and
the last interment took place on October 28, in that
year.J

Gateshead rectory is in the patronage of the Bishop of

Durham
; King's Books, 27/. 13s. id. ; Tenths, 21. 15s.

4:cl. ; Episc. proc, 10s. ; Archid. proc, 4s. Dedication

to St. Mary.

Eectoes.—Robert de Plessis is the first rector named ; and another
Robert occurs in 1275. The succession continued till the time of the

Commonwealth ; and on July 18, 1645, an order occurs in the Com-
mons Journals for inducting Mr. Jonathan Devereux, Clerk, into the

rectory of Gateshead. Thomas Weld, " au intruder," was put in by
the sequestrators in 1049. § John Laidler, A.M., was presented by
King Charles 11., March 10, ICCO, during the vacancy of the see. In
1691, John Cock, A.M., was deprived for Nonconformity, and was suc-

ceeded by Robert Brograve, A.M.; George Tully, A.M., 1C91 ; John
Smith, A.M., 1695; TheophUus Pickeiing, S.T.P., 1C95; Leonard
Shafto, A.M., 1705, p. res. Pickering for Sedgefield; Robert StUling-

fleet, A.M., 1732, p. m. Shafto ; William Lambe, A.M., 1733, p. res.

StUlingfleet for Ryton ; Andrew Wood, A.M., 1769, p. m. Lambe
;

Eichai'd Fawcett, D.D. (vicar of Newcastle and preb. of the 3rd stall),

1772, p. m. Wood; Robert Thorp, A.M. (rector of Ryton and arch-

deacon of Northumberland), 1782, p. m. Fawcett: Richard Prosser,

D.I), (preb. of the 3rd stall) ; H. F. Phillpotts, A.M. (preb. of the 9th

stall, afterwards of the 2nd, and now Bishop of Exeter), 1808, p. res.

Prosser; John CoUinson, A.M. (perp. curate of Lamesley), 1810,

of the adjoining Church Street, from which it is fenced by a higli

stone wall."

J
Mr. Brockett, of Gateshead, has a copy of all the inscriptions <m

earth-tombs and head-stones which were in the church-yard in 1856.

The following often.quoted epitaph on Robert Trollope, architect

of the Guildhall, Newcastie, is said to have been placed in this church-

yard ; but as there is no authority for this statement except tradition,

it is supposed to have been a rhyme written in his life-time as a joke,

and that he was fond of shewing it to his cronies ;

—

" Here lies Robert Trollope,

Who made yon stones roll up ;

When death took his soul up,

His body filled this hole up."

§ The corporation of Newcastle ordered the sum of 201. to be given

to Mr. Weld " for his good services" to that town. His own parish-

ioners, however, complained bitterly, in 1657, that he had for eight

years refused " the favour of administering the sacrnments to any of

his parish, but to eight women and two men, weak and unstable per-

sons that [were] sublimed his converts ;" nor would he permit his

excommunicated llock, consisting of 1,000 persons, to engage a lecturer

to administer the means of salvation.
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p. res. Phillpotts for Stanhope; John Davies, D.D. (an honorary

canon of Durham cathedral), ISIO, p. res. Collinson for Boldon.»

The old parsonage, which nearly adjoined the church

on the east, was a commodious house, with gardens,

and commandiag a view towards the river. On the

formation of the Brandling Junction Railway, the tem-

porary station of which was in the vicinity of the rec-

tory, the house was fitted up as an ion, and the rector

removed to the house erected at Bensham by the Rev. J.

Tyson, where a portion of the glebe consists of 3 R. 32 p.

This land, with a field of 3 a. 12 p., boimded on the

north by the Hexham road, and another of 1 a. 3 K. 25 p.

adjoining the old rectory-house and gardens, and called

the Rectory Field, were obtained in January, 1815, in

exchange for two fields at Low Team, of 2 a. 2 r. 35 p.,

a wayleave between them, for which Sir Thomas Liddell

paid 8/ per annum, a ruined cinder-oven and ale-house,

and a close of 2 A. 2 e. 37 p., all in the parish of WTiick-
I

ham. The exchange was made imder an act of parlia- i

ment for enclosing part of Whickliam parish, between

the late John Carr, Esq., of Dunston Hill, and the rector

of Gateshead, vdth consent of the Bishop of Durham, !

who also enfranchised the Rectory Field. There is also

belonging to the glebe a field of 3 a. 2 e. 30 p. between

the Middle and Stoney Flats. On October, 1851, notice

was given by the Enclosure Commissioners for England

and Wales, of the exchange of " a detached field, situate

at Saltwell, at a distance from the other glebe lands of

the rectory of Gateshead, occupied by George Robson,

5 A. 2 R. 28 p.," for " a parcel of land situate at Cathe-

rine Street, with the dwelling house and offices bmlt

thereon, and in the occupation of the Rev. Frederick

Betham," belonging to Charles Buhner, Esq., of Saltwell

House.

In 1835, the gross annual income of St. Mary's was

returned at 750/., subject to the payment of 114A From

the remaining 636/., 110/. was paid to two curates. The

rector is also master of King James' Hospital.

TRINITY CHAPEL.

The chapel of the Holy Trinity is situated on the east

side of the High Street, near Nim's Lane (now called

» The Eet. John Coujsson.—The Bev. John Collinson, A.M., one

of the honorary canons of Durham cathedral, held the rectory of

Gateshead for nearly thirty years. In 1839, he was presented to Bol-

don rectorj- by Bishop Maltby, and died at the rectoiy-house there on

the ITth of Februarr, 1857, in tl>e i7th yearof his age. Whilst rector

of Gateshead, Mr. Collinson was a great favourite with aU classes and

creeds of his parishioners, though his political opinions were at va-

riance with those of a great majority of his townsmen. He was

particularly active and instrumental in establishing the Gateshead

Dispensary, and, during the visitation of the cholera in 1831-3, fear-

Park Lane), about half a mile from the river. Origi-

nally the chantry of the Holy Trinity, it was added to

the hospital of St. Edmund and St. Cuthbert, and at

one time annexed to the establishment of the Nuns or

White Ladies of St. Bartholomew, Newcastle. Until

its recent restoration, the building was generally alluded

to as the ruins of the chapel of St. Edmund.

Uttan was abbot of a monastry here before the year

683 ; and Leland imagines it to " be lykelehod the same

that Bede spekythe of. " It perished during the incursion

of the Danes ; but a chapel, dedicated to the Holy Trinity,

was in existence prior to 1200, when the establishment

consisted of one chaplain and three poor brethren. In

1248, Bishop Farnham united this house with his new
foundation of " The Chapel and Hospital of St. Edmond,

King and Confessor, and of the glorious Bishop Cuthbert,

in Gateshead." This consolidated foundation, endowed

with the ^"illage of Ulkilston (Ouston), the old lordship

of Gateshead, the wood of Benchelm, and 29 acres of

escheated land in Alures-acyres, was to consist of four

chaplains or priests, one of whom was to be master,

eating at the same table and sleeping in the same chamber

with his three brethren, and paying to each 20s. a year.

It had a clear annual revenue of 18/. in 1292 ; but in

1448, Bishop NeviUe, in consequence of a fire and other

misfortimes which had befaUen the nuns of St. Bartholo-

mew in Newcastle, appropriated it to that convent, the

prioress of which held her court, by her steward, in the

chapel of St. Edmund's, for her lands of the nunnery in

Gateshead. It was surrendered in 1540. In 1544, it

had a clear yearly revenue of 11. 7s. 9d., " which Doctor

Belassis, now master of the same, hath towards hys

lyvyng, and giveth out of the same four marks by the

year to a prieste to say masse there tywse in the weke

for the commodite and easement of the parishoners that

do dweUe farr from the parish churche." After the

Dissolution, masters were regularly appointed to it.

Robert Claxton succeeded Dr. Belassis ; and from the

former the principal farm of the hospital derives its

present appellation.

The original chapel of St. Trinity seems to have fallen

lessly administered comfort and consolation to the poor. Mr. Collin-

son was tvrice presented with handsome testimonials of atfecdon and

esteem by bis parishioners. He married, in early Ufe, Miss King,

daughter of the Kev. Richard King, A.M., rector of Salop, by whom he

is survived, as well as by a numerous family ; his eldest son being the

Bev. H. K. Collinson, vicar of Stannington, Northumberland, and

another the celebrated traveller, whose connection with the Arctic

regions has rendered his name a household word with every lover of

science and adventure.
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into disuse after the union of the hospital of St. Trinity

and St. Ecbnond in 1248. It shared the violence of the

mob in 1746, and remained a roofless ruin until the

year 1836, when Cuthbert Ellison, Esq., lord of the

manor, gave the ground and building, with a site for

the erection of schools, and a contribution of 100/., to

the rector and churchwardens of Gateshead. In conse-

quence of this gift, a subscription was entered into,

which realized a siifficient sum for the repair of the

venerable edifice and the erection of the schools. The
principal contributors were—the Eev. John Collinson,

20/. ; the Eev. John Fox, 10/. ; Miss James, 10/. ; Miss

Emma James, 10/. ; Mr. C. Buhner, 25/. ; Mrs. Bulmer,

20/. ; Mrs. Lawrence, Studley Park, 100/. ; Messrs. W-
Hawks, sen., and Co., 25/. ; and Messrs. John PhiUips,

William Fox, Joseph Garnett, D. Akenhead, H. Smith,

John M. Chapman, and Joseph Price, 10/. each. The

chapel was opened for worship, according to the rites of

the Church of England, in 1837. It is in the style of

architecture that prevailed in the reign of Henry III.,

from 1216 to 1272. The west front has a door-way,

under a deep pointed arch, ornamented with a pro-

fusion of mouldings. Above the door is one long

lancet light in the centre, and two smaller ones, with

blank pointed arches intervening. " The windows of

the west front," says Mr. Billings, " formed the model

for the restoration of the southern gable of the chapel

of the Nine Altars in Durham cathedral ; and a most

appropriate restoration it was, if we regard the combina-

tion of architectural fitness and the singular fact of both

chapels having been principally the productions of the

same prelate." The south side of the church has five

lancet windows betwixt alternate buttresses. The north

side has four similar lights, and two small doors (now

bmlt up) ; one under a narrow pointed arch, and the

other under a trefoil head. The east end is pierced with

three lancets, of simple character. The building consists

of one aisle, 25 yards long, and 6^ broad. " Near the

steps leading to the altar," says Grose, " is a grave-stone,

on which is cut a cross, similar to that in the jamb of

the church door at Jarrow ; it has also the marks of an

inlaid border about it, but the brass is gone." This

stone, which is also alluded to by Brand (vol. i., p.

463), was discovered, August 29, 1836, whilst some

rubbish was being cleared away, preparatory to com-

mencing the restorations, and is now fixed in the wall

on the south entrance to the chapel. A handsome semi-

circular timber roof, of the character of those of St.

Nicholas' church at Newcastle and Hexham Abbey,

was among the additions made from designs by John

Dobson, Esq., architect, to whom the restorations were
entrusted. On a tablet is inscribed

—

" This chiirch, dedicated to the Holy Trinity, was built Anno Domini
MCCXX.V. Repaired by public subscription, itDcccxxxm. John Collin-

son, M.A., rector."

The gateway of the old mansion of the Riddells, which
formerly fronted the street, has been removed to the

north-western corner of the chapel. The Rev. Thomas
Speck is the present chaplain.

NEW CHAPEL OF ST. EDMUND.
This chapel is situate on ground belonging to the hos-

pital of King James, on the east side of the turnpike

road to Durham, and about a mile from Tyne Bridge.

A previous chapel stood a Kttle to the north. The pre-

sent one is a plain modern stone building, originally in-

tended to serve the additional purpose of a national school.

The cost of its erection was defrayed by a subscription,

amounting to 1,331/. 12.s. ; and it was consecrated by
Bishop Barrington on August 7, 1810. It is 80 feet in

length by 40 in breadth. A piece of ground on the

south, contaiaing 2e. 23 p., was purchased, inclosed,

and ai^propriated as a cemetery in 1811; an addition

was made to it in 1852, which was consecrated by
Bishop Maltby. The most remarkable object in this

burying ground is an obelisk, erected at the expense of

the late Eev. John Collinson, to the memory of 222
victims of the cholera who were interred here in 1832.

The Rev. William Bennett is chaplain.

HOSPITAL OF KING JAMES.

The united chapels and hospitals of Holy Trinity and
St. Edmvmd the Bishop became, after the Dissolution,

the property of the crown, by whom masters were regu-

larly appointed ; but the charters having been afterwards

lost, and the revenues partly converted to purposes of

private emolument, the establishment was refounded by
James I. on January 4, 1610, under the title of " Tho
Hospital of King James in Gateside." The now society

was ordered to consist of a master, who should always

be the rector of Gateshead for the time being, and of

three poor brethren. The king granted, for their use,

and the use of their successors, the said hospital or free

chapel, the site, mansion, and garden of the same, and
40 A. of arable land ; 5 loads of hay from 10 a. of meadow,

40 A. of pasture for the feeding of beasts, and a close at

Shotley Brigg. Power was given to demise the lands

and tenements for terms of 10 years in possession, and
not otherwise, at the best yearly rent ; and it was pro-

vided that during the Ufe of the then master, each of
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tlie tlien brethren should receive 3/. 6.s. 8d. yearly ; and I

after his death, his successor shoidd receive one-third of
j

the rents and profits, and the three brethren should each

receive an equal share of the remainder.

In IS 10, an act of parliament was passed, which em-

powered the master and brethren to let leases of their

property, in parcels not exceeding one acre, for a term

not exceeding 99 years ; and, by the provisions of the

said act, the number of brethren was increased to thir-

teen, ten of whom are styled younger brethren. Sta-

tutes for the government of the hospital were framed,

October 7, 1811, (by Bisliop Barrington,) under which

each of the elder or ancient brethren receives 25/. per '

annum, a suit of clothes, a house to live in, and an

allowance for coals. The ten younger brethren must

be single men, 5G years of age or upwards, of good .

character, and not possessing more than 20/. a year.

For some years, thej' each received 12/. per annum, and
|

a suit of clothes every two years. A salary of 40/. was
i

paid to the chaplain officiating in St. Edmund's chapel.

The whole of the appoiutments are made by the rector i

of Gateshead, as master, usually from inhabitants of the
|

town. The houses of the ancient brethren were built

about the year 1812, on lands belonging to the hospital,

principally with a sum of between 200/. and 300/. re-

ceived by the Rev. Henry Phillpotts, master, for ,

dilapidations. Thej' consist of three cottage rooms, >

with small gardens in front, situated on the north side

of the new chapel of St. Edmund.

The Charity Commissioners, in 1836, stated the in-

come of the hospital as follows :

—

Cornelius Garbutt and Kobert Duke, rent of four plots

of ground, let for building purposes i£i 13

The Friars Goose farm, part of, let to Anthony Clap-

ham, in five several leases, eanh of not more than

1 A., for 98 years from January 1, 1830, at 251. for

each parcel 125

The remainder of the farm, 10 a., let to Mr. Clapham,

under an agreement for 10 years 40

The Claston farm, 80 a., with about I J a., part of the

chapel garth, let to Joseph Robson as yeai-ly tenant 300

The colliery under the hospital estate (let at the time

of the passing of the act for lOOi., but now nearly

worked out) 50

For a piece of ground in Sunderland turnpike road . . 6 5

^525 17

The above rent of 4/. 12s. was not carried to the

general account, but appropriated by the master to his

own use, in lieu of a house and garden, formerly on the

groimd, for the master's residence. The average of the

other payments, during the preceding six years, was as

follows :

—

Tithes due the rector from Claxton farm ^70
Laud-tax 4 J 4
Eepairs 9

Retained by the master as his third 140 10

Chaplain 40

Clerk, and for cleaning the chapel 5

Master of the Sunday-school therein 5

Each of the three ancient bi-ethren, 25! 75

Each of the ten younger brethren, 121 120

Each of the thirteen brethren, a suit of clothes when

wanted 32 14 4

^'501 9 8

The balance in the hands of the master at that time

was 122/. 3s. 8d. The Commissioners observe—" In the

application of the income, there seems to have been

rather a slight departure from the directions of the sta-

tutes. These do not authorize the retaining any balance

in hand, nor does there appear to be any necessity for

it ; and if the payments to the clerk of the chapel and

the Sunday schoolmaster may be considered necessary

outgoings (by which alone they can strictly be justified),

the payments ought to be made before the division of

the surplus into three parts, or otherwise it falls whoUy

on the brethren, and no part on the master. It has

been suggested to the master to dispose of the balance

now in hand in the payment of the expenses of repairs,

and other extraordinary outgoings, so as to relieve the

income of such charges tmtil that fund is exhausted, and

in future to apply the whole of the two-thiid parts in

the payment of the chaplain's salary, and to the benefit

of the brethren, according to the statutes."

In the course of a few years, the value of the hospital

property became considerably enhanced. In 1849, a

committee of the churchwardens and four-and-twenty

was appointed to investigate the afiairs of the hospital

;

but Dr. Davies, the master, considering himself respon-

sible only to the bishop as visitor, declined affording to

the committee the required statements. After some

correspondence with the bishop, his lordship, on October

12, 1849, transmitted certain additional statutes for the

government of the hospital ; the principal alterations

being, the appointment of two additional younger bre-

thren ; two services to be performed every Simday by

the chaplain, one in the chapel, and the other in the

school-room at Friars Goose ; the increase of the chap-

lain's salary to 70/. a year ; that the balance reserved

in hand by the master, for incidental expenses, shall not

exceed 60/. ; that the shares of the younger brethren

respectively shall always be less than the shares of the

master and the three ancient brethren respectively ; and

that the accounts for each year shall be made up and
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presented to the bishop on or before the 25th of March.

For about the last five years, ending March 25, 1857,

each of the younger brethren has had an average pay-

ment of 23^. per annum.

ST. CtTTHBERT'S CHURCH.

This church, situated at Bensham, was erected as a

chapel of ease to St. Mary's. The foundation stone was

laid, July 24, 1846, by Lady Vernon, assisted by her

father, Cuthbert Ellison, Esq. ; and the edifice and

cemetery were consecrated by Bishop Maltby, March

16, 1848. The style of building is of the transition

date, between the Norman and English, which prevailed

during the latter part of the twelfth century. The

edifice consists of nave, chancel, vestry, and a tower

terminating with a spire. The spire is 110 feet high,

rising from a square tower at the south-west corner of

the building. The height of the side walls is 22 feet,

and the apex of the roof 46 feet above the pavement.

The nave is 22 feet long, with open ornamental timber

* John Dobson.—To no one has the revival of architecture in the

north been so largely indebted as to Mr. Dobson ; and numerous ex-

amples of his genius and taste are to be met with in Durham and the

adjoining counties. In early life, Mr. Dobson was intended to follow

the profession of a landscape gardener. His father occupied extensive

nursery grounds at Chirton, near North Shields, and was occasionally

employed in laying out ornamental pleasure grounds. Observing the

pleasure his son took in ornamental gardening, drawing flowers, &c.,

he determined that the education of his son, so far as it could be of

service at this period and in this locality, should he such as would

assist him and improve him for his intended profession. With his

father he received early instructions, and afterwards learned the mode

of early forcing at Lord Stnithmore's, Gibside. At the age of six, he

was considered an idle and miscliievous lad, annoying the villagers by

marking the doors and window shutters of the cottages with liis rough

chalk; the coach doors of Mr. CoUingwood being a special favoiuite for

his sketches ; and to the great annoj-auce of the old coachman, not-

withstanding the occasional use of the whip, the coach-house gates

were newly decorated every morning. Mr. Lawson, himself a good

artist, who resided opposite to Mr. CoUingwood, being attracted by the

youth's performances, spoke kindly and encouragingly to him, and sup-

plied him with drawing materials and subjects to copy ; so that be-

tween the encouragement of the schoolmaster, who was a good

mathematician, and the patronage of the village squire, the foun-

dation of Mr. Dobson's education as an artist was formed. At this

period, he was famous in the neighbourhood as a drawer of flowers;

and the yoimg artist was much flattered by being solicited to take

the honorary post of designer to Mr. M'Clasblan, a celebrated orna-

mental damask weaver of his day, wliose establishment was in the

acyoiuing village of Preston. This distinction led to a furtlier advance-

ment in the art, by being appointed draughtsman to Mr. Eatclitl'e, a

well-known grazier and butcher in North Sliields, to make drawings

of his fat oxen, for which the future architect received the munifi-

cent fee of one shilling a head. Having left the village school, our

embryo artist was sent to Newcastle, and became a pupil to Mr. Bon-

niface Muss, father of the celebrntcd enamel painter, by whom lie was

instructed in perspective and landscape drawing, to which was added

roof; and the chancel, measuring 22 feet, has a vaulted

ceiling, and terminates with an apse. There are two

entrances, one under the tower and one on the north

side of the nave ; the vestry being placed between the

nave and the chancel, on the south side. There are

sittings for 558 persons, about one-half of which are

free. The edifice was erected from designs by John

Dobson, Esq.,* at a cost of about 2,000/. The church-

yard, neatly laid out, contains an area of about an acre

:

the whole of the ground was given, at a nominal price,

by the proprietors of Redlteugh estate, and the expense

of the building defrayed by subscription—Cuthbert

Ellison, Esq., contributing 300/. ; Lord Ravensworth,

100/.; Bishop Maltby, 31/. lO.s. ; Dr. Davies, 105/.;

"W. Peareth, Esq., 50/. ; and George Hawks, George

Burdon, and R. C. Askew, Esqrs., 25/. each, &c.

DISSENTING CHAPELS.f

The Presbyterian Chapel.—A Presbyterian meeting-

house was opened in Bailey Chare, Half-moon Street, on

the polite art of fencing ; and his associate pupil was John Martin,

the subsequent world-famed historical painter. He was soon after-

wards placed under Mr. Hall, of Stamfordham, bridge surveyor of the

county, with whom he took instruclious in mechanical and architec-

tural drawing. At the ngc of seventeen, Mr. Dobson was placed under

Mr. David Stephenson, architect to the Duke of Northumberland, with

whom he served his clerkship. Having completed his term, he pro-

ceeded to London, and became, about the year 1808, a pupil of Mr.

John Vai'ley, landscape painter, in whose studio, at the time, was Mr.

William Hunt, the well-known painter of rustic figures and still life.

Until Mr. Varley's death, a warm friendship continued to exist between

him and Mr. Dobson. After remaining some time in the metropolis,

Mr. Dobson took a tour through England and a portion of the conti-

nent of Europe, taking sketches of ecclesiastical and castellated archi-

tecture, and occasionally practising as an architect. As, at tliat time,

there was not full employment, even in a town like Newcastle, for one

architect, our artist's time was occasionally filled up in surveying

estates and travelling for improvement. Dui-ing his professional

career, Mr. Dobson has erected many monuments to his future fame ;

and amongst others may be enumerated—Morpeth Bridge and Gaol,

Longhurst House, Mitford House, Meldon House, Nunnykirk, Anger-

ton House, Belford House, Lilbum Tower, Beaufront, Brinkburn

Priory, &o., in the county of Northumberland—(those in the county

of Durham have already been noticed) ; and in Newcastle-upon-Tyne,

the Gaol, the Fish Market, the New Markets, St, Thomas' chiu-ch,

St. Peter's church, the Railway Central Station, &c.; as well as

cliurcbos and mansions in Cheshire, Lincolnshire, Cambridgeshire,

the town of Windsor, A'c, &c.

+ There is no meeting-house at present in Gateshead lor the Society

of Friends. George Fox, in his journal, says, " We could not have a

publick meeting among the people of Newcastle ; but we got a little

meeting among friends and friendly people at the Gateside, where a

meeting is continued to tliis day, in the name of Jesus." The place

here alluded to was in Pipewellgate, in the house which was afterwards

for many years used as a tavern, and known by the sign of the

Fountain.
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January 1, 1786, but was taken down on the formation

of the railway station in 1842-3. The present building,

situate at the top of Melboui-ne Street, was erected in
,

1836, by a congregation of Independents, from whom it

'

was transferred to the present occupants. It is a com-

modious edifice, with school-room, &c., attached, and is

seated for 6-40 persons.
|

Wesleyan Chapels.—Previous to the year 1815, the

Wesleyan MetJiodists had theu- place of worship in

Maughan's Long Room. The present commodious

structure, situated in High Street, with spacious ground

in front, was erected in 1815, and will accommodate

670 persons. There is a vestry attached, and adjoining ,

are two dwelling houses for the use of the ministers, and
|

a spacious school-room, being one of the largest in the

town. The registry of bii-ths and baptisms, extending

from 1812 to 1837, contains 756 entries. Another

Wesleyan chapel, which will seat about 150 persons, is
;

.situated in Pipewellgate.—The Wesletjan Neic Connexion I

have a small neat chapel, with vestry, in Mount Plea- }

sant, with sittings for 200 hearers.—The Primitive

Methodist Chapel is in Nelson Street, of sufficient dimen-
|j

sions for 400 persons, with a school-room underneath.

The foundation-stone was laid May 17, 1853 ;
pre^-ious

to which time, this body occupied a small chapel in
j

"West Street.—The Wesleyan Reformers have a chapel

in Park Lane, capable of accommodating about 150

hearers.

Bethesda Chapel.—This spacious and commodious

building, the property of the Methodist New Con-

nexion, is situated between Melbourne Street and

Brunswick Terrace. The cost of its erection, besides

the ground, presented by Cuthbert Ellison, Esq., was

3,30W. This amount, except the present debt of 1,400/.,
[

was defrayed by subscription.* The building is of
^

brick, with a stone portico and iron palisading in front.

The basement story is used as a school- room. The

chapel was opened for public worship in 1834, and will

accommodate upwards of 1,000 persons. In 1857, an

excellent organ, at a cost of 250/., was erected ; the one \

in use being too small for the building.

Roman Catholic Ch.apel.—The Roman Catholics

have not had a chapel in Gateshead from the time that

Gateshead House was burnt by the mob until 1850.

In that year, the Rev. Frederick Betham, "parish

• On March 18, 1853, Bishop Maltby, in reply to an application on

the subject, forwarded lOi. towards the liquidation of the debt on

Bethesda chapel.

priest elect," issued an address to " the faithful Catholics

of the parish of Gateshead, in the diocese of Hexham ;"

its object being to obtain subscriptions for the erection of

a chapel. Considerable sums were forwarded for that

purpose ; meanwhile, the congregation met in a long

room fitted up for the purpose. In 1857, a piece of

groimd was selected opposite Walker Terrace, for the

erection of the chapel. The edifice will consist of nave,

aisles, sacristy, organ loft, and tower terminating with a

spire, from designs by Mr. A. M. Dunn, architect, New-

castle. The cost of the building is estimated at 3,000/.,

and it will afibrd accommodation for 1,000 persons.

CHARITIES.

The following is a list of charitable donations to the

poor of the parish of Gateshead, inclusive of that of

Gateshead Fell :

—

September 29, 1624.

—

Anthony Hehson, a rent-charge

of 20s. on property in Cannon Street.

1627-8.

—

Henry Smith, a portion of the income from

the Longstock estate (see p. 261), producing latterly

16/. 4.S. per annum.

November 16, 1648.

—

Anthony Aldworth, a rent-

charge of 20s.

August 29, 1660.

—

James and Ralph Cole, a rent-

charge of 4/.

January 16, 1672.

—

Elizabeth ColUnson, the rent of

two fields near Easington, containing 14 a. 3r., and two

other small parcels of ground, containing respectively

I 37p. and 30p., the whole now let for 15/., subject to

I

14s. 2d. property and land-tax.

February 7, 1676.

—

Matthew Bates, a rent-charge on

property, 20s.

March 9, 1679-80.—S/r William Blackett, Bart., 21.

yearly charged on premises at the north-west comer of

Tyne Bridge.

March 26, 1&87.—Ralph Harrison, 100/.; William

Coatsworth, 50/. ; Margaret Ramsey, 20/. ; and Isabel

Glover, 61. 13s. id. These legacies, with 60/. which had

accvmiulated as interest, formed part of 300/., which, in

1747, was lent on security of the tolls of the Newcastle

and Durham road. In 1755, this security was disposed

of, and 200/. applied towards biulding Powell's alms-

house. 100/. was appropriated in the erection of a gal-

lery at the west end of the church ; and the surplus of

the seat-rents, after paying the interest to the poor, was

invested in the funds. In 1788, the stock was sold for

128/. 13s. 8d. ; and 105/. of this sum was laid out on

mortgage, the remainder being distributed to the poor.

M

«
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The 105^. was placed in the Newcastle savings bank in

1824 ; and there is still a sum of 25/. there deposited.

September 26, 1689.

—

John Bowman goNe hisdweUing

house in HiEgate, after his wife's decease. Five or six

poor persons, appointed by the parish officers, resided

in this property; and a lock-up was erected by the

parishioners on the south of Hillgate. In consequence

of a recommendation by the Commissioners for inquir-

ing concerning Charities, it was suggested, in 1829,

that the overseers should pay 4/. a year rent to the

churchwardens for the dwelling, and that application be

made to the quarter sessions for 1/. a year as ground-

rent for the lock-up. In 1849, the house was rebuilt

as a dwelling, when 360/. was raised on mortgage, and

60/. borrowed from the Powell's Alms-house fund. The

lock-up is attached to the police office.

December 18, 1696.

—

Thomas Raiding, 31. yearly out

of a messuage in Oakwellgate. The premises, by en-

largement, are enhanced in value, and now let for 29/. 10s.

per annum. A borough-right is also attached to it,

which produces 3/. a year.

June 1, 1703.

—

Jane Sutton, a rent-charge of 20s.

July 17, 1728.

—

Thomas Pmvell gave all his property

towards building an alms-house for the use of the poor

of the parish. About the year 1755, the house was

erected on a piece of freehold ground ; 200/. from the

charities of Harrison and others, and money from several

benefactions, being contributed. Additions were after-

wards made ; and the whole were used for many years

as a parish workhouse. The Charity Commissioners

having commented on the non-payment of rent, it was

resolved, at a vestry meeting, September 28, 1829, that

10/. a year, as interest of the above 200/., shoxdd be paid

out of the poor-rates to the churchwardens, to be distri-

buted to the poor. On the erection of the Union work-

house, the alms-house was agreed to be let on lease,

November 14, 1845, at a rent of 50/. per annum. The

lease, however, has never been executed ; and the pro-

perty is now let into tenements at an increased rental.

Febraary 27, 1746.

—

Hannah Thompson gave 50-s. a

year out of a house in Gateshead, to be distributed

every Christmas-eve to 20 poor widows, in sums of 2s. 6d.

each. This is still continued by the owners of the

property.

* In 1723, Thomas Reed bequeathed a rent-charge nf 'iOs. a year

from Butt Houses ; but the property is not now known. Henry Hyl-

ton, Esq., of Hylton Castle, on February 20, Ui40, left, with other

charges, '2il. per annum to the poor of (iateshead for ill* years ; hut his

estates not beinp; sutlicient to iliseharge the whole sums charged upon
them, the churehwnrdeiis and overseers, in lOtiS, agreed to aecept the

VOL. H.

1840.

—

Mr. Millen bequeathed 100/., less 10/. legacy

duty, for the purpose of keeping his tombstone and

railing in repair, the residue of interest to be annually

distributed to the poor. The sum of 50/. was used in

repairing Oakwellgate malting, and 4/. 10s. as interest

on the whole is annually distributed at Christmas with

other charity money.

Out of the charity fimd, subscriptions are made to the

soup kitchen, 1/. to the Christmas dinner to the poor in

the workhouse, &c. Portions of the funds are entrusted

to the rectors of Gateshead and Gateshead Fell, and to

the churchwardens, who distribute the money according

to the wishes of the respective donors.*

GATESHEAD POOR-LAW UNION.

Gateshead is one of the fourteen Unions into which the

county was divided on the passing of the Poor Law
Amendment Act. Gateshead Union is subdivided into

four districts :—1, Heworth ; 2, Gateshead, with Gates-

head Fell ; 3, Whickham, with its dependent townships

;

and 4, Winlaton, including the parish of that name,

Ryton, and the chapelry of Stella. The Union contains

a population, according to the census of 1851, of 48,085 ;

and the four districts appoint 30 guardians, viz :

—

Gateshead, 10 ; Heworth, 6 ; Whickham, 4; Winlaton,

5 ; and the townships of Ryton, Ryton Woodside, SteUa,

ChopweU, and Crawcrook, 1 each. The entire Union

comprises an area of 25,943 acres, of which 747 acres

are covered by tidal water.

The oldest " Poore Booke" of Gateshead commences

in 1691, in which year the rate for the parish was 98/.

In 1692, the amount of poor-rate was 97/. 19.s\ 9(/. ; the

number of poor upon the books, 130.t In 1733, the

rate was 107/. 7s. l\d. ; the number on the books, 145 ;

allowances, 5 at '2d. per week, 55 at 'id., 39 at 4f/., 22

at 6r/., 2 at 8f/., 6 at Is., 2 at Is. M., and 1 at 2s. ; 1 at

2s. M. per quarter, 7 at 5s., 1 at 6s., 2 at 10s., and 2 at

15s. ; about 120 paid for 26 weeks only, the rest for the

whole of the year.

The county rate was first paid out of the poor rate in

1810, after some opposition. On the 21st June, 1821,

the maintenance of the poor was entrusted to a select

vestry, by whose exertions the amount of rate collected

annual sum of Ktf. The charity expired in 17.S9. Various benefac,

tions in money have, from time to time, been left for distribution.

tin 1700, it was "ordered by the Ffowpr and Twenty, that (leo.

Hell [the beadle at the cbureh] have paid him Is. (id. per week to ta,ko

care to turn nut vnurants and Seotts out of the parish."

5p
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was reduced from 4,499/. 14.s. Id. in 1821, to 3,559/.

Os. 2d. in 1822 ; or, from 6.s. id. to 4s. 10c/. in the pound.

In 1753, the rate was £317 18 4

In 1770, ,
308 11 lO.J

In 1780 .568 6 IJ

In 1790 1,134 10 lOJ

In 1800 1,847 14 8

In 1810 2,863 18 6

In 1820 4,499 14 1

In 1830 3,650 lOi

Being, in tliis latter year, at the rate of 3s. lOd. in the

pound, on a rental collected upon, including stock in

trade, of 19,043/. ;
paid for county-rate, 283/. 9s. 3rf.

;

76 praipers in poor-house ; average expense of each,

2s. 9(/. per week, including clothing.

The followiug is a statement of the income and ex-

penditxire of the Union* up to Lady-day in each of the

specified years :

—
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February, 1832, a public meeting was convened in the

Anchorage School, in compliance with a requisition, to

consider the best means to be adopted for the establish-

ment and siipport of a Dispensary; the nobility and

gentry in the neighbom-hood gave the undertaking their

support ; and from that day the Dispensary dates its

establishment. A house was rented in High Street

;

but greater accommodation and facilities becoming ne-

cessary, a special fund was formed for the purchase or

erection of a suitable building ; and soon afterwards Mr.

Swinburne's house, in West Street, was procured, the

amount of purchase money being 1,500/ The Dispen-

sary is solely supported by subscriptions and donations

;

and from its establishment to Februarj' 2, 1857, the aid

of the institution has been given to 115,168 cases.

The following, from the 25th annual report, shews

the income and expenditure of the institution, from

February 2, 1856, to February 2, 1857 :—

Income.

Feb. 8, 185B—Balance
Proceeds of annual ball .... ....

Donations .... .... ....

Legacies .... .... ....

Discounts .... .... .... ....

Annual subscriptions .... ....

Nov.—Collected at St. Mary's church ....

„ Wesloyau chapel ....

„ Bethesda do.

Interest on l.TOOJ. lent to Gateshead Board of Health

Interest on deposit note at Lambton's bank

E.XTENDITURE.

Feb. 2, 1856—Medicine and leeches

Surgical instruments ....

Salaries .... ....

Deposited in Lambton's bank

Sundry expenses ....

Balance .... .... ....

THE DISTRICT VISITING SOCIETY

Was established in 1840, having for its object the

promotion of the temporal and spiritual welfare of the
'

poor. The meetings are held in the upper Ellison

School, and are attended by about 30 visitors. The

society is supported by subscriptions and donations,

which amount to about 70/. a year. Dr. Davies, rector

of the parish, is the treasurer.

• Trainino Female Sehvants:—-An institution, supported by sub-

scription, for training female servants, was commenced in 183:3, the

object of which was to provide a more efficient class of domestic ser-

vants, by early initiating young girls in the best mode of porfonning

the various labours required in a household. A house st the Windmill

£58 16
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ANCHORAGE SCHOOL.

The term "Anchorage" is conjectured by Brand to

have been a corruption of anehoretage or hermitage ; and

the accuracy of this conjecture was confirmed, a few

years ago, by a discovery made by the Rev. James

Raine, among the manuscript registers of the see, of a

license granted by Bishop Bury, ia 1340, for " the se-

lecting and assigning a fit space in the cemetery of the

church of the Blessed Mary of Gateshead, contiguous to

the church itself, to build on the same, for the residence

and habitation of a certain female anchoret, to be shut

up therein, provided the good-will and consent of the

rector and parishioners should be given to the same, and

a competent place left for the burial of the dead."*

The building is situated on the north side of the

chancel : the ground floor is occupied as the vestry, in

* " Anchorages were not unfvequently attached to churches ; and

female anchorets sometimes turned thch- cells into schools for {rfrls,

the teacher sitting at the anchorage window, and the scholars in the

porch. The ceremony of ' shutting up ' these devoted beings in their

self-selected life-prisons— (for they were always locked in, and some,

times walled up in their nan'ow cells—a kind of garret-window only

being left open, by which they received the necessaries of life)—was

performed by the bishop, who placed his seal on the anchorage ; and

that could not be removed except the recluse had need of assistance

or was sick. Of some anchorages, it is recorded that they were the

great gossip-shops of the villages in which they were situated—an

imputation, however, which we have no authority for attaching to the

memory of the good old lady who resided some five hundred years

ago, or more, in the church-yard of St. Mary's."

+ GATESHE.\D P.UiISH REGISTERS:

"A true copy of a Ust of St. Mai-y's Registers, Gateshead, made by

the Rev. John ColUnson, Rector, in my presence, in the month of

May, 18;U ; according to an act of parliament, and forwarded to Lon-

don, as directed by the same.

" 1. A parchment book, in modem binding and excellent condition,

with this MS. title in a very good hand—' The Regester Booke of

Geatside, of all Christenings, Marriages, and Burrialls, beginninge

this Yeare of our Lord God a Thousand fyve Hundrede fyftie and

nynne and so yearlye after accnrfUnge to the Queens Maistes Annun-

tiones in that liehalfe provided.' From Sept. 24, 1559, continued to

1587; deficient till the year 160H; continued to March 24th, IfiCa.

" 2. A parchment liook in modem binding and excellent condition :

A Register of Christnings, Burialls and Weddings, fi-om JIarch 23,

1063, to March 25, 1694.

"3. A parchment book in modem binding and good condition, con-

taining a register of weddings, burials, and christenings, beginning

April 16, 1693, compleating the last years of the former book, with

some repetitions in the years 1693 and 1694, to Ang. 25, 1706. From

this date the christenings and burials are registered regularly to Dec.

30, 1723. At the end of the book is a separate register of weddings

from Sept. 24, 1706, to Aug. 4, 1723.

"4. .\ parchment book in modern bimUug, good condition, contain-

ing a register of burials and christenings Irom Jan., 1723, to the end

of Dec, 1747 ; and at the other end of the book, a register of weddings

from .\ug. 12, 1723, to Feb. 22, 1717.

which the register books of the parish are carefully

deposited,! and the upper part of the building is

occupied as the school-room. When it was first used

for the latter purpose is unknown. It was repaired

by the churchwardens in 1658, and was afterwards used

for their meetings and for a school. In 1701, Dr.

Pickering, rector of Gateshead, bequeathed to trustees

300/., to be laid out ia the purchase of some rent-charge,

or land, for the perpetual maiatenance of a free school

in Gateshead ; and directed that ia case the toll-booth,

which was then used as a school, could not be had for

that purpose, his gift should be settled upon the an-

chorage. For this endowment, 121. per annum, the

master teaches fifteen boys, at a reduced charge of 1«. a

quarter ; these boys beiag nominated by the rector for

the time being. According to the deed of foundation,

the boys are to be taught " the Latin and Greek

" 5. A parchment book, in modern binding and good condition,

containing a register of burials and christenings from Feb. 1, 1747, to

March 31, 1778 ; at the other end of the book, a register of weddings

from March 9, 1747, to Feb. 23, 1754.

" 6. A paper book, bound, in good condition, containing a register

of marriages from April 15, 1754, to July 9, 1770, with publications of

banns at the other end of the book.

" 7. A paper book, bound, in good condition, containing a register

of marriages from July 16, 1770, to Nov. 4, 17H7, with publications of

banns at tlie other end.

" H. A pai'chment book, bound, in good condition, containing a re-

gister of christenings and burials from .\pril 5, 1778, to Dec. 31, 1797.

" 9. A paper book, bound, in good condition, containing a register

of mai-riages from Nov. 5, 1787, to July 24, 1801, with publications of

banns at the other end.

10. A parchment book, bound, in good condition, containing a re-

gister of baptisms (according to Bishop Bariington's form, dated Sept.

30, 1797), from Jan. 1, 1798, to Aug. 12, 1804.

" 11. Ditto of burials from Jan. 1, 1798, to Apiil 25, 1803.

"12. A large paper book of registers of marriages, from July 26,

1801, to Dec. 29, 1812, with publications of banns at the other end.

" 13. A parchment book of registers of burials from Apiil 26, 1803,

to Dec. 27, 1812.

" 14. A parchment book of registers of baptisms from Aug. 12, 1804,

to Dec. 30, 1812.

" 15. A paper book of registers of mamages (under the new act, 52

Geo. III., c. 146) from Jan. 12, 1813, to Api-il 17, 1824.

" 16. A paper book of registers of burials (under the said act) from

Jan. 4, 1813, to Dec. 30, 1822.

" 17. A paper book of registers of baptisms (under the said act) from

Jan. 1, 1813, to Dec. 31, 1819. These three are bound in parchment.
" 18. A paper book of marriages, bound in calf, from Apiil 24, 1824,

to May 18, 1831—not finished.

" 111. \ paper book of burials from Jan. 1, 1^23, to May 17, 1831,

bound in calf—not finished.

" 20. A paper book of baptisms, bound in parchment, from Jan. 2.

1820, to July 10, 1825.

" 21. A paper book of baptisms, bound in calf, from July 10, 1825,

to May 18, lf<31—not finished.

" George Stoeabt
,

" Parish Clerk."
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tongues, as well as to write and cast up accounts, and

the art of navigation or plain sailing." In addition to

these, English grammar, geography, and the mathema-

tics, form a part of the course of instruction. The
school is well attended, and has been eminently useful

in disseminating education.

Masters.—Mr. George Hudson, 1701 ; the Rev. John Powel ; the

Rev. John Spooner, 1757 ; the Rev. — Busby ; the Rev. John Falcon,

A.B., 1771 ; the Rev. John Tyson, 1809 ; Mr. James Charlton, 1814
;

the Rev. W. Bennett, chaplain of St. Edmund's, 1K40.

NATIONAL SCHOOLS.

These schools were established in 1808, in Methuen's

Long Room, and removed in 1810 to St. Edmund's

chapel, where they were called the Chapel Schools. The

schools are now situated in West Barn Close, Ellison

Street, and occupy a good stone building, erected by

public subscription and a government grant, in 1842, at

an expense of 907/., exclusive of the site of about a

quarter of an acre, given by Cuthbert EUison, Esq.

The establishment comprises separate school-rooms for

boys and girls, class-rooms, &c. ; they are supported by

public subscription and the children's pence. Attend-

ance—about 250 boys and 150 girls.

ELLISON SCHOOLS.

These schools adjoin Trinity Chapel, High Street, and

were erected from designs by Mr. Dobson, architect, in

1838, at a cost of about 500/. The site, and a liberal

subscription, were given by Cuthbert Ellison, Esq. ; and

the remainder was defrayed by public subscription. The

ground floor of the building is occupied as an infant

school, and the floor above as a boys' school. A spacious

play-ground is attached. Average attendance—120

boys and 200 children. The infant school is supported

by public subscription and the pence of the children

;

and the upper school is the private establishment of Mr.

Cranston.

• According to a return made hy tlie Registrar.general, February 10,

1H,')4, there were in the Gatesliead Union !10 day-schools, 28 of which

were public and 6;^ private. The attendance at the pulilic schools, on

the 31st of March, 1851, was 1,84!) males and 1,283 females, or 3,1:)1

in all; on the books, 2,191 males and 1,572 females, or 3,7(i:i in all.

At the private schools, the attendance was 1,171) males and 1,224

females, or 2,403 in all ; on the books, 1,330 males and 1,410 females,

or 2,740 in all. The entii-e attendance, therefore, was 3,028 males and

2,500 females, or 5,534 in all ; on the books, 3,521 males and 2,982

females, or (i,503 in all. Estimating the number of children in the

Union, between the ages of 3 and 13, at 11,(100, the Hov. D. J. Stewart

LADY VERNON'S SCHOOLS

Are situated at Bensham, adjoining and in connexion

with St. Cuthbert's church. In 1854, a subscription,

amounting to above 200/., was raised for the piu-pose of

erecting these schools. Cuthbert Ellison, Esq., how-

ever, in commemoration of his daughter, and in grateful

recollection of that being the 50th year since his coming

into possession of his property in Gateshead, took'upon

himself the whole expense of the building, amounting

to 400/. ; and the original subscription was applied

towards erecting a house for the master. The building

is of stone, and in harmony with the church as to

architectural style. About 60 boys and girls attend the

schools. The rector of Gateshead has the appointment

of the master.

Other Schools.—There is a respectable day-school

for yoimg ladies at Hood's Villa, Windmill HiUs. The
Wesleyan and Bethesda chapels have schools attached

to them ; and the Roman Catholics have one in Mel-

bourne Street. There are several other schools in

various parts of the borough, unconnected \vith any

religious establishment. The British Schools were dis-

continued in 1850.*

MECHANICS' INSTITUTION.

This institution was commenced in 1836, and, in the

first year of its existence, acquired a library of nearly

1,000 volumes. For some time, it was held in the

school-room of Bethesda chapel ; but in 1846, a public

subscription was commenced for the erection of an ap-

propriate building. The foundation-stone was laid, on

May 31, 1847, by William Hutt, Esq., M.P., at which

time the building fund amounted to 823/. 7s. ; and the

proceeds of a bazaar, hold in March, 1848, amounted to

453/. 5.y. OU The cost of the site was 124/. 2s. 5d.

;

the building, 840/. ; and the architects' plans and super-

intendence, 42/. ; so that the entire receipts exceeded

the expenditure by 270/. 9s. This sum was expended

says that the above statement " leaves us to account, in some way or

other, for the occupation of some 5,4(i6 children. Some of these may

have been sick, some under the restraint of their parents, some forced

into the slavery of premature labour;—grant all this, and yet it is

probable that at least 2,000 children were wandering about in a state

of continual truancy."

At the above-named date, there were 50 Sunday-sohools in the

Union, at which there were 2,424 males and 2,271 females in attend-

ance, or 4,095 in all ; the numbers on the books being 3,207 males and

3,009 females, or 0,210 in all. At four evening schools for adults^

there was an attendance of 41 moles and 2 females.
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ia fitting up the interior. The building is situated on

the west side of "West Street, and occupies a site of 300

square yir^s, being isolated from the houses on each

side. It is 50 feet long ; and, exclusive of apartments

for a keeper, there are four rooms. Three of these, on

the groimd floor, are respectively 13 g feet by 18, 13i feet

by 18, and 14f feet by 18, each of them being 11 feet in

height. The upper room, or hall, is 47 feet long by 27

broad, and 20 high. The erection is from designs by

Messrs. Wardle and "Walker, of Newcastle.

The Gateshead institution is connected with the North-

ern Union of Literar)'' and Mechanics' Institutions. At
the anniversary of that body, held Sept. 10, 1856, the

Gateshead society was returned as consisting of 270

members, 6 of whom were ladies. The number of vo-

lumes in the librar}', was 3,785 ; and the niunber issued

during the preceding year was 4,196. 5 daily, 7

weekly, 14 monthly, and 3 quarterly periodicals and

newspapers were taken in. The income for the year

was 135^., being the amount of an annual subscription

of 10s. from each member.

THE TO"WN HALL.

The Town Hall is situated in Half Moon Lane, near the

south end of the High Level Bridge, and was recently a

good family mansion, surroimded bj^ gardens and

orchards. It was purchased of Edmund Graham, Esq.,

in 1844, by the corporation, and contains a spacious

council chamber, a police court, and various corporate

offices ; as also the Burgess and Non-burgess Oourts, and

the Court for the Recovery of small Debts, Gateshead

being included in the Newcastle County Court district.

The following portraits adorn the walls of the council

chamber, viz. :—The late Earl of Durham, a copy by

EUerby, purchased by the town council ; George Hawks,

Esq., by Ramsay, presented by Mr. Hawks ; Mr. James

Charlton, by Ramsay, presented by C. Rippon, Esq.,

M.P. ; and D. Haggle, Esq., by Shotton, presented by

Mr. Haggle.

POST-OFFICE.

A Post-office was fii'st established in Gateshead in

1771, when the communication with Newcastle was

interrupted by the fall of Tjnie Bridge. The present

office occupies premises in Half Moon Lane. Numerous
sub-post-offices, or locked letter-boxes, have been erected

near St. Edmund's chapel, on the "Windmill HiUs, at the

High and Low Fell, &c.

HILLGATE PROJECTED IMPROVEMENTS.

The great fire and explosion of October, 1854, (see pan-e

756,) destroyed the mass of buildings which occupied a

river frontage along Hillgate ; and upon this site it has

been proposed to form a quay, and erect warehouses,

such as might be required for the trade of the borough.

The quay at the east end of Hillgate, projected by the

Brandling Junction Railway Company in 1837, was

never carried out. In 1856, an application was made
by the town council to the Public "Works Loan Commis-
sioners, for an advance of 35,000^. on the security of the

quay-dues : the application was accompanied by plans,

sections, and working drawings, prepared by Mr. John-

stone, architect, shewing the proposed erections, &c.

The cost of constructing the quay, streets, &c., was

estimated at 15,243/. 9s., and the value of property at

67,356/., amounting to 82,599/. 9s. The value of build-

ing sites was stated at 26,171/., and that of old materials

at 1,500/., the amount of which, 27,671/., deducted from

the above, leaves a balance of 54,928/. 9s. The commis-

missioners, however, declined making the advance re-

quired ; and the property already purchased by the town

councU, amounting to 20,000/., has not as yet been

applied to any productive account. By the report of

the quay committee, presented to the town council June

10, 1857, it appeared there were two instalments, of

500/. each, due in respect of the debt, and that a road to

the quay could not be effected without an additional

expenditure of 3,000/., which would entail a further

payment of 150/. a year for interest. The coimcil

thereupon resolved, that the 20,000/. debt should be

repaid in 40 years, as previously stipulated, by equal

annual instalments ; and they deferred a consideration

of the proposition for purchasing the property requisite

for the approaches.

TYNE BRIDGE.

Ttne Bridge is supposed to owe its first foimdation to

the Emperor Hadrian (see Brand, vol. i., p. 35). In

the reign of Henry II., the bridge was composed of

wood, and was bm'nt with a great part of Newcastle.

In 1582, a decree was passed in the Exchequer, that the

Bishop of Durham, and not the inhabitants of the

county at large, should be charged with the repair of

one third of the bridge. The remainder belongs to the

corporation of Newcastle. A portion of the structui'e

was anciently a draw-bridge. Upon it were three

towers ; and shops and dwelling houses were arranged
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along its sides, and overhung the river.* On the night

between the 16th and 17th of November, 1771, the Tyne
rose in flood from incessant rains, and threw down the

middle arch and another on the south, with eight

houses; on the 18th, another arch with four houses

followed ; and, soon after, the entire range of buildings

on the bishop's portion of the bridge. It was found

necessary to take down the whole of the old structure

;

and the reconstruction of the bishop's part was effected,

under the powers of an act of parliament, at a cost of

12,000/.t In 1801, an act was passed for enabling the

trustees to widen and enlarge the bridge, which was

eflfected in a substantial manner. Mr. Grresley, in a note

to Bishop Maltby, July 6, 1836, says :

—

" In order to prevent any additional burthen being

thrown on the corporation and the see by the maintenance

of the added parts, a sum of 1,000^. was directed to be

raised from the toUs, and invested in the three per cents,

to form an accumulating fund for the indemnity of those

• A TiLLE OF Tyne Bkidge.—In one of the houses at the south end

and west side of Tyne Bridge resided Mr. James Oliphant, surgeon,

son of a wine merchant at Perth, and who came to Newcastle in 17.54-5.

Having married the daughter of Dr. William Erskine, of Gateshead,

he took up his abode in the house on the bridge previously occupied

by his father-in-law. Beneath it was a cellar, the floor of which stood

about 13 feet above the bed of the river, and from which a door in two

parts opened to the water. A young family of sous and daughters

were growing up around the surgeon and his wife ; and two sei-vants

were kept in their establishment. One of these, Dinali Annstrong, of

a pleasing exterior and plausible manners, had not been many days in

her situation when Mrs. Oliphant heard of her having been dismissed

from her prerious employer, Mrs. Heath, widow, Newcastle, for some

slight misbehaviour; and on the return of Mr. and Mrs. Oliphant

from a visit to Scotland, on July 10, 17fi4, Dinah was accused of having

stolen three damask napkins belonging to Mrs. Milne, of Newcastle,

at whose house she hadWsited in attendance on her master's childi-en.

The napkins were never found ; but a sheet belonging to Mrs. Heath

was discovered in Dinah's trunk. She was not, however, placed under

any restraint, but was repeatedly questioned about the supposed theft-

On the ITth July, while the family were at dinner, the other servant,

Mary Shittleton, went to the cellar in search of Dinah, when she

foun 1 both parts of the door open, and, on looking out, " saw the said

Dinah lying on one side, on the dry sand, and her face very pale."

She called to her by name several times, but got no answer ; upon

wnich she gave an alarm, and there was.a general rush to the ceUar.

Dinah, however, was seen no more, though three persons saw the

print her body had made in the sand, it being low tide, and search

was made under the arches of the bridge and in the lanes adjoining

the river. On the fifth day after she was missing, Joseph Barlow, a

keelman, stated to Mr. Oliphant that ho and John Southeron had

found the body of a woman in the river, and carried it ashore at

Dunston, where it was identified by Mary Shittleton and Jane Arm-

strong, sister of the deceased. The latter deposed, before the coroner,

that on the ICth Dinah was " very dull and heavy," and " looked down

and said nothing." Kobert Somenille, surgeon, of Swalwell, said that

there was a circular mark on deceased's neck, as though she had been

strangled. Mr. Oliphant now repaired, with two friends, to Dnnston,

corporations fi-om any such additional expense. The

1,000/. was invested in the year 1818, in the names of

the mayor and burgesses of Newcastle and the Bishop of

Durham, and purchased 1,320/. 2s. 7d. three per cents.

;

and a deed, in two parts, was executed, one of which

was lodged with the Newcastle corporation and the other

with the bishop ; and a power of attorney was given to

certain bankers to receive the dividends, which they were

at the same time ordered to invest half-yearly in the

pm'chase of further stock ; they were also to transmit

half-yearly to the chamber clerk of the corporation, and

the secretary of the bishop, accounts of these transactions,

which accovmts were to be entered in the respective

books of the corporation and the see."

The amount of this stock, on August 5, 1836, had

accmnulated to 2,509/. 15.s. 3rf. A correspondence took

place in March, 1840, respecting the repair of the south

end of Tyne Bridge ; the deputy clerk of the peace,

Durham, objecting to the liability, as it was not a

experiencing, as he went, aU the insolence of an enraged mob. The
coroner, Mr. John Robson, directed him to the jury, who were stand-

ing near a hedge at some distance ; but they, as well as the coroner,

declined to hear his evidence, whilst the sisters of the deceased busied

themselves in inflaming the populace. The jui-y found that James
Oliphant, Margaret Oliphant, and Mary Shittleton, feloniously, wil-

fully, and of their malice aforethought, had strangled the deceased

with a cord in the cellar ; although, in the depositions of the witnesses,

there is not the slightest proof of their guilt, or, indeed, that the girl

was strangled at all ; the Swalwell surgeon not having seen the body

taken from the water. On the accused being taken to Durham on the

24th of the month, several respectable parties endeavoured to have

Mrs. Oliphant, who was in delicate health, liberated on bail ; but this

was refused, although, in the end, all three were suft'ered to return

home, and remain there till the assizes, in the charge of a constable.

On the 13th of August, they returned to Durham, and were confined

in gaol four days before their trial came on ; when, although several

fresh witnesses were called, the jury immediately returned a verdict of

acquittal, and the judge observed that " he was son-y for Mr. Oliphant's

misfortune, believing him to be as innocent of the crime laid to his

charge as himself." After various unsuccessful efforts to obtain re-

dress from the coroner, and unwUling to hazai'd the expense and risk

of legal proceedings, Mr. Oliphant published a book, printed for him

on Tyne Bridge in 17BM, containing a statement of the facts, and in

which, after talung a brief retrospect of his former happy position and

prospects, he laments the dissipation of his litOe fortune, acquired by

industry, and designed for his lising family, in a necessary defence

—

his business greatly reduced—his reputation sullied—his peace of

mind wounded—his wife's health impaired—and the death of his

father. After a temporary residence in Church Chare, Gateshead, he

became, in 1771 orl77'3, Professor of Medicine at St. Andrew's, set-

tled afterwards at Irvine, and was the private physician of Lords

Eglintoun and Glasgow.

+ A more westerly site had been proposed in Newcastle, namely,

from the Javel Group in that town to that part of Pipowellgato which

is opposite ; but as it was suggested on behalf of Bishop Egerton, tliat

such a proceeding would release him from the responsibility of one-

third of the expense, the scheme was abandoned,
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county bridge. On an application being forwarded to

the bishop, the following favourable answer upon the

subject was addressed to the town clerk :

—

" Dmham, May 17, 1840.

" Dear Sir—I have been favovired mth your letter of yesterday,

respecting the pavement on the south end of TjTie Bridge : and in

answer beg to inform you, the Bishop of Durham will continue to

repair the part of the bridge in question, and I will order the repair

you mention to be done accordingly.

" 1 am, dear sir, yours truly,

" Thomas Davison.

" William Kell, Esfj."

A blue stone in the eastern footpath marks the

limit of the bishop's portion of the structure. The

erection of the High-leyel Bridge, and the increasing

requirements of commerce on the river, have suggested

to many the removal of the old bridge, or, at least, the

conversion of its central arch into a draw-bridge.

HIGH LEVEL BRIDGE.

The extensive manufactories which have risen into

existence, duriag the present century, on the south

and north banks of the Tyne, rendered desirable

some more direct and easy mode of communication

between the towns of Gateshead and Newcastle than

that of the low level bridge, which had hitherto been

considered sufficient ; and when the passenger railways

in Durham and Northumberland began to be completed,

and more especially the main trunk line north and

south, without any means of forming a junction in

crossing the Tyne, the construction of a high level

bridge became a necessity impossible to be longer de-

layed. In 1826, Capt. Brown, R.N., proposed to throw

a suspension bridge from Green's Field, Gateshead, to

the Back Row, in Newcastle ; and the necessary survey

was made by Mr. John Bell, Gateshead. A suspension

bridge was also proposed by Mr. B. R. Dodd, in 1834.

A railway bridge from Redheugh quay to Elswick

colliery was suggested in 1835 ; and another, in 1837,

from Green's Field, Gateshead, to Green Com-t, New-

» WniiAJi JiAr.TiN.—WiUiam Martin, brother of Sir John Martin,

the celebrated historical painter, was bom at Tow House, near Halt-

whistle, Northumberland. In early life, be was a soldier in the

Northumberland militia, and afterwards settled at WaUsend, near

Newcastle, where he turned his attention to a refutation of the New-

tonian philosophy, justifying his opinions on the authority of ^^sions

and other spiritual revelations. He also alleged that he had disco-

vered the perpetual motion, and exhibited in London an apparatus

illustrative of the discovery. For many years, he was well known in

Newcastle, Gateshead, and the neighbouring towns, where he vended

his numerous publications, designed to put the world and the church

in their proper position, and to explode the fallacies of " the impostor,"

Newton. His theological opinions were, that air is the spirit of God,

castle. Messrs. J. and B. Green brought forward a

plan for the erection of a bridge similar to the Ousebum
and WUHngton viaducts. Mr. Dobson, architect, in

1843 proposed a stone bridge at some distance west of

the present erection, consistiag of stone arches for a

road bridge, and a colonnade above for the support of a

railway line ; and Mr. Grainger suggested another, to

consist of a series of metal arches, supported by metal

columns, restiag upon the piers of Tyne Bridge. WhUst

aU those schemes were on foot for making a passage

over the TjTie, another was brought forward for going

under it, by a centrifugal railway in a tunnel ; and Mr.

William Martin, "Christian Philosopher," and " Philo-

sophical Conqueror of all Nations,"* also published his

plan of a high level, the designs for which he tenaciously

claimed as being exclusively his own. Of other schemes,

more or less meritorious, the one by Robert Stephenson,

supported by Mr. Hudson, and that of Lord Howick,

now Earl Grey, were the most popular. Lord Howick's

plan consisted in the erection of a bridge across the

Tyne at Redheugh, connected with a tunnel on the

north, through which the trains should be propelled, on

the atmospheric principle, under the town of Newcastle,

and emerge at some distance northward. Mr. Hudson's

plan, however, received the sanction of parliament ; and

on the 31st July, 1845, the royal assent was given to

the locomotive bill, one of the clauses of which bovmd

the company to commence the erection of the bridge

within nine months, and to complete it by the 31st

July, 1849. The northern approaches and the piers m
the river were contracted for by 3Icssrs. Rush and

Lawtou ; the southern approaches, by Messrs. Wilson

and Gibson ; and the iron work by Messrs. Hawks,

Crawshay, and Sons. The direction and superintendence

of the whole of this gigantic tmdertuking was entrusted

to Thomas Harrison, Esq., civil engineer ; and notmth-

standing the great difficulties encountered in obtaining

suitable foundations, the structure was completed with-

out a single accident. In Gateshead, 130 families left

that t!ie sun is heaven, and that hell is the " outer darkness" beyond

the sphere of the stars. On these subjects, Mr. Martin claimed

infaliiliilily. He was, however, a man of considerable mechanical

ingenuity, and was presented, on the 31st May, 1814. with a silv.^r

medal and ten guineas, by the Society of Arts, for the invention of a

spring weighing machine. He also claimed priority of Sir H. Davy

for the invention of the safety lamp ; and his models of life boats, Ufa

preser\'ers, high levels, railway gates, itc, evince great inventive

genius. Mr. Martin died in London, at the house of his brother, Sir

.John, on the 8th of February, 1851. Another brother, Jonathan,

acquired notoriety some years ago, by setting fire to York Minster,

and was confined in Bethlehem Hospital, in the same ward ^vith Hat-

field, who attempted the assassination of George m.
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the premises required by the company ; and in New-
castle, 650 families.* The first segment of the first

arch was placed on the 10th July, 1848 ; and on the

7th June, 1849, the iron work was closed by George

Hawks, Esq., mayor of Gateshead.f

The High Level Bridge combines the two principles

of the arch and the suspension bridge ; the railroad

resting upon the ribbed arches, and the carriage road

and footpaths being formed by suspension from the ribs.

The floor of the railway is thus the roof of the sus-

pended bridge, which resembles a vast gallery or aisle.

Length of the bridge, 1,337J feet ; height, from high

water to suspended carriage road, 85 feet ; to the rail-

way, 108J feet ; span of each arch, 125 feet ; weight of

the entire structure, 5,050 tons.

Cost of the bridge .... ....

Newcastle and Gateshead approaches

Land, including compensation for buildings

^243,096

113,057

135,000

Total i£iyi,153

From the southern extremity of the bridge the rail-

way crosses Half Moon Lane, High Street, and Oak-

wellgate, supported by suitable arches.

RAILWAY STATION.

The first railway station erected in Gateshead was that

of the Brandling Junction Railway, near the old rectory

house, Oakwellgate, now used as a luggage station. In

1846, a spacious and handsome edifice of stone was

built in Green's Field, on the west side of the town,

forming a terminus to the Brandling Junction and

Newcastle and Darlington lines, and connected by an

incUne with the Redheugh station of the Newcastle and

Carlisle Railway. The building is in the Ionic style of

• The purchase of the whole of the property required, as well as

arranging with landlords and tenants in compensation of claims for

immediate possession, &c., was entrusted to the entire management of

Mr. Dobson, architect of the Central Railway Station ; and, with the

exception of one jury ease, the purchase of this extensive property,

amounting to 135,000J., was amicably and satisfactorily arranged.

+ There were no formalities pbserved on the opening of the bridge

;

but advantage was taken on the occasion of her majesty passing from

the north on the 29th September, 1849, when the corporate bodies of

Gaieshead and Newcastle presented loyal addresses, &c. The noble

structure was an object of admiration to the Prince of Wales, when

proceeding to Lambton Castle, on the lllth May, 1H07, with the inten-

tion of descending a coal pit, on his return from a tour to the lakes of

Cumberland. Having alighted at Fence Houses, the royal party, in

the absence of the Earl of Durham, was received by Mr. H. T. Morton,

Houghton Colliery, the property of the earl, on the estate of T. W. U_

Robinson, Esq., of Houghtoii-leSpring, was selected for inspection.

The royal .party having descended the shaft, accompanied by Mr.

Morton, they were conducted through the pit by Mr, Heckles, and

VOL. II.

architecture, from a design by G. T. Andrews, Esq., of

York. Since the opening of the High Level Bridge,

which afibrds access to the Central Station in Newcastle,

erected from designs by Mr. Dobson, the Green's Field

station has been fitted up as a general workshop for the

use of the railway ; and the Gateshead Station is in Half

Moon Lane, In connexion with the High Level Bridge.

BATHS AND WASH-HOUSES.

This useful establishment was erected by the corporation

of the borough, on ground which they purchased for the

purpose in Oakwellgate. The lower floor of the building

is used as waiting rooms ; the one side for men, the

other for women, with superintendent's ofilce in the

centre. The upper floor contains a dwelling for the

superintendent. On the right are six first-class and

twelve second-class baths for men ; in the left wing, two

fijst-class and three second-class baths for women. Be-

hind are thirty-six washing stalls. Charges : first-class

warm bath, 6d. ; second-class do., 2d. ; cold baths, 2d.

and Id. ; and Id. per hour for the use of the wash-

houses. The establishment is imder the superintendence

of a committee of the town council, and was opened to

the public February 7, 1855. The cost of the building

was 5,117/. 19s. 2d. (see p. 779). The elevation is of

ornamental stone work, in the Elizabethan style.

GOVERNMENT AND FRANCHISE.

In early times, Gateshead was governed by a bailiff

appointed by the Bishop of Durham.^ The names of

several persons, who fiUed this office, occur as witnesses

to charters, in the vestry, from 1316 to 1620 ; and, in

1614, the steward of the orbough is stated to have sat in

conveyed down the " engine plane" into the workings in coal tubs.

The royal party remained in the pit about an hour and a half, his

royal highness exhibiting no symptoms of feai% but taking great inte-

rest in all that was shewn him.

* Bishop Tunstall, in 1557, incorporated the barkers and tanners of

Gateshead ; and in 1594, Bishop Mathew, by charter, confirmed the

dyers, fullers, blacksmiths, locksmiths, cutlers, joiners, and carpenters;

and the cordwainers in 1602. In 1(561, Bishop Cosin incorporated in

one company, at their own request, the drapers, tailors, mercers, hard-

waremen, coopers, and chandlers ; and, in 1(171, the occupations of

free masons, carvers, stene cutters, sculptors, brick-makers, tilers,

bricklayers, glaziers, painters, stainers, founders, nailers, pcwterers,

plumbers, mUlwrights, saddlers and bridlers, trunk-makers, and dis-

tillers. Only two of those companies now exist— the joiners and (he

chandlers, having each four members. Foresters were appointed in

regular succession by the bishop, and had an allowance of IJd. a day

till 1438, when the " Park-keeper" had a halfpenny a day added for tlie

" custody of the tower" of Gateshead, with other profits, and a rcbe, ov

8».in lieu of it, every Christmas-day.

5q
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its courts, with the bailiff. On the death of Robert

Delaval, whose patent is dated 1681, the office of baUiff

was discontinued. The bishop was petitioned to appoint

a successor in 1772 ; but, excepting a promise to refer the

subject to his attorney-general, no more was heard of

the matter. The bailiff appears to have held a court

in the town in 1415 ; and, in 1614, a head court of the

corporation of Newcastle was held in Gateshead, before

Thomas Riddle, Esq., bailiff, and George Nicholson,

steward. Stewards, assisted by grassmen, were appointed

in 1695, by the rector and four and twenty of the parish,

as substitutes for the bailiff ; but the office of grassmen

was discontinued on the division of the Town Fields, in

1815. There does not appear to be any corporate charter

in existence ; but it is believed that the borough was once

incorporated with a common seal and borough property

descending in perpetuity. The stewards, two in number,

are appointed by the freemen and borough holders.

These officers, however, exercised no jurisdiction or

municipal authority over the borough, and received no
[

tolls or dues of any kind. The county magistrates ad-

ministered justice, and the commissioners under the

Gateshead Street Act, passed in 1814, provided for the

lighting and watching of the town. In March, 1836,

the commissioners transferred their powers to the town

council.

MUNICIPAL CORPORATION.

The commissioners appointed to enquire into the state

of municipal corporations, attended at the vestry room

of the parish church, on the 6th November, 1833, for

the purpose of enquiring into the nature and mode of

government of the borough of Gateshead. Messrs. John

Lister and "William Angus appeared as stewards of the

borough ; and Messrs. William Kell, W, H. Brockett,

and others, on behalf of the enquiry. After some

hesitation, the stewards consented to a private examina-

tion of the contents of a chest in the Anchorage School,

containing the documents belonging to the borough

holders. The commissioners having retii-ed, stated, on

their retm-n, as the result of their investigation, that the

documents they had examined were all comparatively of

recent date ; that they had found a book commencing

in 1696, which contained a list of documents then be-

lon^ins to " the Town and Borough of Gateshead,"

amongst which were mentioned a grant by Queen

Elizabeth, of Bensham and Harp's Head " to the town

and borough of Gateshead ;" a deed from certain parties

to the " Bailiff and Burgesses" of the Harp's Head ;
an

inquisition concerning the pri\'ileges of Gateshead ; also

accounts of out-rents and wayleaves belonging to the

town of Gateshead. They had also seen the common
seal, inscribed " SigUlum Bm-gi de Gateshead ;" and
foimd that the meetings were called the " Meetings of

the Freemen and Borough-men of Gateshead." The
commissioners then enqmred what had become of the

deeds mentioned in the book ? In reply, Mr. "Willis,

solicitor, stated that they had been surreptitiously taken

away many years ago.

Mr. "W. Hymers said he was one of the borough holders,

and had served the office of steward. The rental of the

borough property he gave as 574^., from which were to

be deducted, for repairs, 30/. ; collecting rents, 10/. 10s.

;

taxes, 2/. ; subscription to school, 51. ; do. to Infirmary,

4/. 4s. ; do. to Gateshead Dispensary, 51. ; loss by rents,

15/., leaving a balance of 380/. 6s. A debt arose by the

pm-chase of some property amounting to 2,100/., part of

the purchase money remaining on mortgage, and part

being paid out of the accumulated rents. The money

was borrowed at 4J per cent. : the rental of the property

was about 20/. per annum. Other two properties have

been purchased since the division ; the one in High Street

cost 400/., and let for about 20/. per annum ; the other

is in Pipewellgate. Two houses have also been built on

the Windmill HUls. The duty of the stewards is to

keep the accounts, collect the rents, exhibit the accoxmts

at half-yearly meetings, at which meetings the borough

holders and freemen attend, and vote equally alike.

The borough holders are jurymen of a court leet and

baron, held by the lord of the manor of Gateshead.

The commissioners, after hearing evidence from several

other parties, concluded their inquiry on the 9th of No-

vember, and a charter of incorporation was granted to

Gateshead, in 1835.

The Municipal nnd Parliamentary Boundaries of the

borough are co-extensive, comprising an area of 3,500

acres ; and, excepting the addition of a tongue of land,

of 180 acres, forming part of the chapclry of Heworth,

which projected into the borough, the boundaries are the

same as those of the parish (see p. 752).

Omitting that portion of land which is covered by

tidal water, the total acreage is estimated at 2,955 a. 1 r.

33 p. ; and, by a sur\'ey of the parish, made by Mr. John

Bell, in 1836, at the instance of the overseers, it is thus

divided :

—

Arable land, including garden ground . .2,170 a. 2 e. 1 p.

Meadow and pasture land COO

Woodland in small plantations 50 3 32

Buildings and yards in Gatesliead "0

Turnpike and other roads 6i

2,865 1 33

I
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Rent-cliarge, payable to the rector of the parish,

633/. l.s. 2d
A small portion of the borough only is freehold ; the

greater part is church property, now in the hands of

the Ecclesiastical Commissioners (see p. 753). The

Corporation of Newcastle are proprietors of the extensive

estate of Salt Meadows ; that portion held by the bo-

rough holders is described at page 754.

The borough was divided into three wards, and incor-

porated under the style of " The Mayor, Aldermen, and

Burgesses of the Borough of Gateshead."

Boundaries of the Wakds.—The East Ward com-

mences at the east side of Tyne Bridge, and proceeds up

Bottle Bank, High Street, to the Sunderland turnpike

road, continuing along the same to Kirton's Tollgate,

from thence to the east portion of Friar's Goose, and

from thence westward by the boundaries of the river

Tyne to Tyne Bridge. 77ie West Ward proceeds from

the west side of Tyne Bridge, up Bottle Bank and High

Street, to and along Jackson Street, and crossiag West

Street, continues along the south fence of Lobley HUl
turnpike, passing Romulus Terrace and "Woodbine

Terrace, and branching off round Sedgwick Place, which

it includes, proceeds on a Hne nearly west to a township

road, and then joining Lobley Hill turnpike to High

Team Bridge, continues to the mouth of the Team

;

from thence by the boimdary line of the river, eastward

• William Henky Bkockett, a magistrate and a native of (jateshead,

third son of the late Mr. John Brockott, has taken a considerable and

active share in all public matters—political, municipal, Uterarj-, and

charitable—within the borough. To his exertions Gateshead is largely

indebted for its inclusion in the Eefoi-m BiU, by which it obtained a

representative in parliament ; and it was at Mr. Brockett's special and

personal solicitation that the Municipal Reform Commissioners visited

the borough, and investigated its pretensions to the character of an

ancient corporation—an enquiry which produced such a report from

the Commissioners as induced the authors of the Municipal Reform

Act to confer upon the borough the privileges and powers created or

extended by that measure. Mr. Brockett published several pamphlets

and papers in reference to both these great passages in the historj- of his

native town, always contending from the first that the borough property

belonged to the inhabitants at large, aud not to the borough-holders as

individuals. On the formation of the town council under the Reform

Act, Mr. Brockett was reeommended to the Lord Chancellor by the

couucU, as a fit and pi-oper person to be a magistratfi, and was included,

with other nominees of the corporate body, in the first commission of

tjie peace; and in 1H39-40, he filled the office of chief magistrate of his

native town. On the demolition of the walls on the VVinclniill Hills

(see page T.'iS), the Secretaiy of State was memorialized by several

borough-holders to remove Mr. Brockott and the lato Mr. Robert Da\ is

from the commission of the peace, ou the grouml tliat they were pn;-

sent on the removal of tlie encroachments, ami did not attempt to

prevent it ; but the memorial was not acceded to ; and the justices of the

peace complained of not only receivedthe unanimous thanks of a public

meeting of their fellow townsmen, but wei'e entertained at a public

to Tjme Bridge. South Ward commences at Jackson

Street on the south, continues along the tm-npike road,

and includes Romulus and Woodbine Terraces, takes

the line to the township road, proceeds by Lobley HiU
tm-npike to High Team Bridge, continues up the Team
to the chapelry of Lamesley, and by a line eastward,

passing Chowdean to Popplewell, thence southward,

passing the Stone Quarries at the west, to Wrekenton,

which village it includes, and proceeds eastward to and

including SpringweU Inn, from thence northward by the

parish boimdaries to the Blue Quarries, Kirton's Toll

Gate, and b}^ the Sunderland turnpike road to High
Street, terminating at Jackson Street.

Six aldermen and eighteen coimciUors were appointed

for the government of the borough, to which was added

a commission of the peace. The following gentlemen

were the first councillors elected :

—

East Ward, George

Hawks, James Hymers, John Abbot, John Colman,

Benjamia Matchitt, and John Greene ; West Ward,

James PoUock, Thomas Cummins, John Barras, John

Fairbaim, Edmund Graham, and John Bell Johnson

;

South Ward, George Sowerby, Thomas Wilson, William

Henry Brockett, Robert Davis, Michael Hall, and Robert

Robson.—George Hawks, Esq., mayor. The present

magistrates of the borough are (1857), George Hawks,

John Barrass, James Pollock, W. H. Brockett,* John

Grace, jun., James Smith, Ralph Wake, and Thomas
Cmnmins, Esqrs.

dinner in Gatesliead, in token of approval of their conduct. In 18:!2,

after the dreadful visitation of cholera, Mr. Brockett, in conjunction

with the late Mr. James Cliarlton, then master of the Anchorage

School, took steps to procui'e the establishment of a Dispensary in the

borough ; and the humane and philanthropic objects of these gentle-

men were eminently successful, their solicitations being munificently

responded to, and the institution (now the noblest and most efficient

monument of which the town can boast) is formed on a sound and

substantial basis. The political and literai'y world are understood to

be also indebted to Mr. Brockett for tlie establishment of The Gates-

head Observer, and for assisting materially in the formation of the

Mechanics' Institution ; and more than one testimonial lias been pre-

sented to him, among which may be mentioned one of a splendid and

Viduable kind, given him by liis neiglibours in In:t'-J, in commemoration

of his exertions in the cause of jiarliamentary reform ; and another in

18411, by the merchants, mauufactiu'crs, ship-owners, and others, on

both sides of the Tyne, to mark tlieir sense of his exertions to obtain

the abolition of the passing tolls, formerly levied on ship-owners by

the Bier Commissioners and corporation of Scarborough. Mr. Brockett

has also been a writer and editor of several antiquarian tracts, which

are to be found among the collections of the curious both at home and

elsewhere, copies having Vieeu freely presented to such persons as

might ha supposed, on account of a kindred taste, to deem them

worthy of preservation ; and it is to be regretted that Mr. Brockett has

not licen induced to publish a history of his native tomi, valuable and

interesting materials for which are known to be in liis possession, and

thus to have added another treasure to our local literature.
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Succession of Matoes.—November, 1835, George Hawks ; 1836,

Michael Hall; 1837, James Pollock; 1838, John Barras; 1839, Wil-

liam Henry Brockett ; 1840, William Hymers ; 1841, George Sowerby;

1842, Robert Davis; 1843, William Kenmir; 1844, Thomas Cummins;

1845, the same; 1840, Thomas Revely; 1847, John Cuthbert Potts;

1848, George Hawks; 1849, the same: 1850, Joseph Kobson;' 1851,

Charles John Pearson; 1852, John Lister; 1853, David Haggie;+

1854, Richard Wellington Hodgson ; 1855, James Smith ; 1856, George

Crawshay.

Town Clerks.—W. Kell.J 1835 ; G. J. Kenmir, 1854, per res. of Mr.

Kell ; J. W. Swinburne, 1856, per res. of Mr. Kenmir.

LOCAL COURTS.

The manor of Gateshead, demised to Mr. Coatsworth

by Bishop Crewe, comprised in the lease the right of

holding a Halmoie Court in the manor of Gateshead

;

and C. EUison, Esq., Mr. Coatsworth's representative,
|

has of late years annually held this court under the

presidency of Mr. Clayton, town clerk of Newcastle.
!

The borough-holders are jurymen of the court.
|

Petty Sessions for the Gateshead district of the East

Division of Chester "Ward, are held in the County Justice
j

Room, in "West Street, every Tuesday. The acting
j

magistrates are, the Hon. H. G. LiddeU, M.P., and

George Heppell Ramsay, George Hawks, Thomas

Bramwell, Charles Lamb, Charles Bulmer, and Joseph '

Laycock., Esqrs.—Clerk, Mr. W. Lockey Harle.

The following is a copy of the "Warrant by virtue of

which the jurisdiction of the Newcastle local courts was

extended to Gateshead :

—

"Warrant for extending the jurisdiction of certain civil courts in

the borough of Newcastle-upon-Tyne to the borough of Gateshead.

"Victoria, R.

" Victoria, by the Grace of God of the United Kingdom of Great

Britain and Ireland, Queen, Defender of the Faith, &c. To all to

whom these presents shall come greeting, whereas the council of the

borough of Newcastle-upon-Tyne, and the justices of the peace of the

county of Durham, in quarter sessions assembled, have prayed that

we would be graciously pleased to extend the jurisdiction of the court

of conscience, the mayor's court, and the sheriff's court, of the said

borough of Newcastle-upon-Tvne to the borough of Gateshead, the

said borough of Gateshead being a distiict adjacent to the said borough

of Newcastle-upon-Tyne, and within the jurisdiction of the said justices

of the peace of the said county of Durham. And whereas the town

• On April 7, 1851, an elegant gold chain and pendant, weight 10

oz. of standard stamped gold, and costing 1302., was presented to the

mayor of Gateshead for the time being, by the ladies of the borough.

+ Very arduous and responsible duties devolved upon Mr. Haggle

during his mayoralty, in consequence of the calamitous fire and explo-

sion ; and in token of respect and admiration of his conduct on that

trying and melancholy occasion, a numerous body of subscribers

presented him with his portrait, which Mr. Haggie afterwards geue-

lously transferred to the corporation of tlie borough.

council of the borough of Gateshead have also prayed that we would
be pleased to extend the jurisdiction of the said courts to the borough
of Gateshead, now know ye, that by and with the advice of our privy
council, and in pursuance of the provisions of the several Acts for the

Regulation of Municipal Corporations in England and Wales, and for

the better Administration of Justice in certain Boroughs, we herebv
will, grant, and ordain that the jurisdiction of the court of conscience,

and of the mayor's court, and the sheriff's court, of the borough of

Newcastle-upon-Tyne, shall be extended over the borough of Gateshead.
" Given at our court at Saint James's, the Twelfth day of March,

1838, in the first year of our reign.

" By Her Majesty's Command, J. Russell."

The Court of Conscience is now merged into the

County Court, by virtue of the Coimty Courts Act. The
sittings are held monthly, in the GuUdhall, Newcastle.

—Clerk, Mr. Arnott.

The Mayor's Court is now called the Burgess Court,

and the Sheriff's Court the Non-Burgess Court. The
former Court is held every Monday, and the latter everj--

"Wednesday and Friday, in the Guildhall, Newcastle,

for the recovery of debts of any amoimt, by pleadings

similar to those at Westminster Hall. Both courts are

presided over by "W. Lockey Harle, Esq., as Deputy

Recorder of Newcastle.

The Police Court offices are in the Town Hall. The
court is presided over by the mayor for the time being,

and the magistrates of the borough. Superintendent of

police, Mr. "W. H. Schorey.

POLICE RETURNS.

The follo'wing is a summary of the police retumB for

the three years ending November 9, 1855 :

—

1854.—Charges 488

Summonses . . . 358
-846

Prisoners 467

Re-apprehensions .... 21
-488

1855.—Charges

Summonses

.569

.339
-908

1856.—Charges 505

Summonses .... 336

841

Prisoners 551

Re-apprehensions 18

Prisoners 483

Re-apprehensions 82

-569

-505

The charges generally consist of larceny, drunk and

disorderlj', assaults, and other offences usually disposed

of at police courts.

\ For many years previous to the passing of the Municipal Corpora-

tion Act, Mr. KeU was identified with the public affairs of the borough.

He took an active part in the Municipal Corporation Reform Enquiry,

and ably ai^sisted R. Rawlinson, Esq., on the Board of Health's enquiry

into the sanitai-y condition of the town. He was the first town clerk,

and conducted with much judgment and ability the different legal

arrangements consequent upon the first formation of a pubUc corporate

body. Jlr. Kell is a liberal promoter of literary institutions, and is

himself an antiqiiaiy of considerable repute.
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CORPORATION ACCOUNTS.

ABSTBACT OF THE TREASURER'S ACCOUNTS, FOR THE
YEAR ENDING AUGUST 31, 1856.

Receipts.

To borough-rate collected ^62,647 5 5

— watch rate 402 10 2

— fine, paid by J. W. Swinburne, on resigning the

office of assessor to revise burgess list .£5

— repayments from quay commissioners . .731 15 2

— the British Fire Office, contribution to

fire and explosion 23 18 11

— Sun Fire Office, do 20

— Alliance, do 10

— penalties, (fee 1 16

792 10 1

— income of Baths and Laundries 353 6 9

— balance due treasurer 274 6 lOJ

^4,469 19 3J

Expenditure.

By balance due treasurer i£l,004 15 11

— salaries—Mr. Kenmir, as town clerk,

one year, due July 26 £110

— Mr. Pearse, do., as treasurer 10

— Mr. Schorey, do., as high constable 2 2
122 2

— insurance of 2,000!. on Town Hall and

offices 4 10

— rates and taxes for do 21 9 2

25 19 2

— policemen'swages.lesarent for lodgings 1156 9 9J

— Mr. Caldwell, clothes for do 21 15 8

— Mr. Dexter, do. do 66 4 3

— Anderson and Miller, hats do 10 3 4

— Wilson, boots, do 21 15

— gas for Town Hall and stations 11 4

— matting, oil, coals, &c 52 9 9

1,340 1 9J
27 9

1 10

222 2 6

X4,469 19 3*

BATHS AND LAUNDRIES.

Geneeai Receipts.

To loan from Public Works Loan Commissioners . . X'3,500

— Mr. Hall, surveyor 4 5

— interest returned byRailwayCo. on purchase of site 7 5 3

— interest allowed by bankers 68 8 4

— income from superintendent, December 31, 1854,

to August 31, 1856 568 5 5

Balance due borough fund 2,411 5 1

.£6,55!) 9 1

— repau-s

— use of National School, for election

— printing, advertising, and stationery

— surveyor's travelling expenses to London, Novem-

ber, February, May, and June 5115 2

— Mr. Fairs, for collecting rates 41 8 5 I

— fees, &c., magistrates' clerk 8 13 3

— bell ringers 5 7

— stamps, interest, ifec 22 4 11

— Baths and Laundries 1,596 18 5

Baths and Laundries, continued.

General Expendituee.

By Mr. Alexander, for building £2,876 19 5

— Mr. Watson, plumber work 1,438 15 9

— Railway Company, for building site 514 5 3

— Clerk of the works 70 6

— KeU and Apedaile, for conveyance 43 13 2

— Barnes and Barnard, law charges for mortgage of

borough rate 19 11 3

— cooperage, painting, furniture, printing, (fee 214 8 5

— instalments of money borrowed— 3 years, ending

December, 1856 535

— interest on do 391 6 7

— Mr. Chipchase, superintendent, from December 31,

1854, to August 31, 1856 246 1 7

— Sun Fire Office, insurance on 2,000f. for 2 years . . 15

— coals 102 10 5

— Water Company, 66J. 10». Id. ; gas, 19f. 9s. 6(i. . . 86 1

— sundries 15 11 2

£6,559 9 1

POLICE SUPERANNUATION FUND.
To balance in hand £5 8 7

— services of summonses and warrants 14 3 6

— fees, per magistrates' clerk 11 4 6

— forfeiture, Zl. ; old clothes, 6J. 6s 8 6

— Deductions from policemen's salaries 32 17 5*

— int. on 41 IZ. 5s. 6d. lent to Eastern Sewarage fund . .20 11

£92 11 0}

By balance on hand £92 11 0.i

MARKET FUND.
To stallage £6 19

— Mr. Neilson, Ij year's rent of shop at Tyne Bridge

End, less property tax 35 15

— int, on 359!. Vis. 8d. lent to Eastern Sewerage fund .. 17 19 6

£60 13 6

By the corporation of Newcastle, 1 year's rent of pre-

mises at Tyne Bridge End £5

Balance on hand 55 13 6

£60 13 6

GATESHE.4.D QUAY.
Receipts.

To mortgagi^.s on borough fund :

—

Hew Singers £8,436 17 9

Mrs. J. J. Hepple 600

Mrs. A. E. Hepple 500

Clifton and Walters 2,000

G.J. Hunter 2.000

John Davidson 2,.500

Rev. C.J.Carr 2,000

Mrs. L. M. Green and others .... 1,000

Mrs. J. Parker 400

T. Richardson and others 000
—19,936 17 !)

To old materials sold 331 1 6

— rents 63 9 8

— loan from Messrs. Lambton 3,000

— paj-ment of policy of insurance 56

£23,387 8 11
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Gateshead Quay continued.

Paymbnts.

By purchases :

—

Mr. Singers, property iu Hillgate, 8,436i. 17s.

Od. ; interest on purchase, SiiSl. Os. Id 8,834 18 i

Mr. Davison, mill and house property, 4,97i(.

las. od.; interest on do., 153Z. 5s. Sd 5,127 17 8

Mr. Woolston, property in Hillgate 486 13 i

.T. it J. Wilson, worsted manuf. in Hillgate, on acct. 1,000

M. Dunn, sen., property in Hillgate and Church

Walk, 1,000;. ; interest on do., 114?. 10s 1,114 10

Mr. C. Jess, property in Church Walk, 125?.

;

interest, 11. Us 126 14

Mrs. F. liumsden, property in Hillgate, 205Z.

;

interest, 2?. 10s 207 10

Mr. J. Woolston, property in Church Walk,

001. . interest, 4! 94

Jane Thompson, prop, in Hillgate, 2301.; int., 3?. 233

T. Richardson and others, properly in HiUgate,

500?. ; interest, 25! 525

T.Woolston, prop, in Hillgate, 205?.; int., 2?. 10s. 207 10

17,957 13 4

— interest on mortgage securities, less property tax 376 2 1

— wages 236 10

— repaid advances for Messrs. Toogood's hiU 520

— do. Messrs. Lamberts hiU 160

— do. half Mr. Singers' valuation account 51 15 2

— Mr. Kenmir, outlay and parliamentaiy costs of act 329 19 4

— Messrs. Toogood, halance of costs and payments 319 14 3

— Mr. Kenmir, conveyances of property, stamps, &c. 226 8 11

— do., for mortgages of borough rate, stamps, &c, 61 10 6

— Mr. Keenlyside, conveying Mr. M.Dunn's property 11 7 4

— Mr. Johnston, for plans, &c. (on account) 50

— repaid Messrs. Lambtou 3,000

— Mr. Matchitt, half year's interest on l,450i 33 16 8

— sundries 23 14 2

Balance in bank 28 17

£i3,-i87 8 10

LOCAL BOARD OF HEALTH.

Genekal Disikict Receipts.

To amount of rate collected £1,602 6 5

— penalties 9 4

£1,611 10 5

Geneeal District EsPENDiTtmE.

By balance due treasurer £29 1114
— Mr. Kenmir, as clerk, 1} year's salaiy 87 10

— Mr. Hall, surveyor, i year and 2 weeks' salary 113 1

— Mr. Lamb, surveyor, } year's salary 105

— Mr. Pearse, treasurer, Ij year's do 28 10

— Mr. Schorey, inspector of carriages 5 6

— Ughting and regulating clock 31 4 5

— printing, stationery, and advertising 48 3 3

— workmen's wages 311 12 3

— carting 230 19 3i

— erecting water-closets in Oakwellgate 66 10

— H.W. Toogood, Hexham road parliamentary expensesl63 12 7

— Mr. Kenmir, do. do. 84 11 6

— do., contracts 47 9

Carried forward £1,346 2

Local Board of Health continued.

Brought forward £1,346 2

By Mr. Liddell, making road from Church Walk to

South Shore 107 10 6

— Mr. Fairs, for collecting rat« 31 11 3

— sundi-ies—stones, iSrc 116 5

Balance in treasurer's hands 10 1 8

£1,611 10 5

Payed Footway District Receipts.

To amount of rate collected £1,596 17 8

— work done 64 12 11

— acknowledgments 32 13

— private improvements, Mulgrave Terrace 201 9 9

„ Grahamsley Street 25 2 8

Sheriff HUl 24 8 6

„ Wrekenton 20 6 6

By balance due treasurer 847 12 4

£2,813 3 4

EXPESTDITCRE.

By balance due treasurer £1,078 3 7

— wages, masons and labourers 687 18 9i

— carting, sweepings, ifec 281 9 1

— „ as per contract 217 12 3i

— paving and flagging 197 1 7

— interest on borrowed money 122 10

— Mr. Fairs, collecting rate 26 19 7

— sundries, interest, &c 10 6 7

£2,813 3 4

Lighting Distkici Receipis.

To balance in treasurer's hands £iB» 9 lOJ

— amount of rate collected 948 11 4

— broken lamps 3 7 4

£1,4.37 8 6

1

EXPENDITUEE.

By lighting pubUc lamps £723 1 3

— lamps, posts, and plumber work 73 13 9

— Mr. Fairs, collecting rate 23 2 5

— sundries 4 19 9i

Balance in treasurer's hands 612 11 4

£1,437 8 6j

Easieks Settekage Disteici Receipis.

To balance in the treasurer's hands £1,970 18 2

— J. Smith, Esq., mayor, a loan 100

— G. J. Kenmir, Esq., toB-n clerk, do 100

— Amount collected 96 1 1

£2,266 19 3

EXPENDITUBE.

Contractors (on account) £1,273 19 4

By Mr. Kenmir, cost of bonds, <tc 23 3 6

— Gateshead Dispensary, interest on 1,200? 56

— Police Supei-annuation Fund, do. on 411?. 5s. 6d.. . 20 11

— Market Fund, do. on 359?. 12s. 8d. 17 19 6

— Mr. Snowball, for draining pipes 356 11

— J. Smith, Esq., repayment of loan 100

— G. J. Kenmir, Esq. do 100

— advertising ' 3 1

Balance in treastirer's hands SI" 4

£2,266 19 3
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PAELIAMENTARY REPRESENTATION.

A llEMORi.tL was presented to the Lord Chancellor,

Januaiy 25, 1831, from Gateshead, claiming, on behalf

of the inhabitants, their share in the new parliamentary

representation ; and, during the debate in the House of

Lords, May 23, 1832, on the subject of the Parliamen-

tary Reform Bill, the Marquis of Londonderry objected

to Gateshead having the electoral franchise. Out of the

ten members, said his lordship, proposed to be given to

the count}'' ofDurham, eight were allotted to the northern,

which was the smallest division of the county, and only

two members reserved for the southern and largest

division. Why, or on what grounds had Gateshead

been selected ? Gateshead possessed nothiag, continued

the noble marq\iis, to recommend it—it was a mere

suburb—a pong dirty lane, leading to Newcastle—

a

most filthy spot, containing the vilest class of society,

and that description of population least worthy to enjoy

the right of voting for a member to serve in parliament.

In reply to this acrimonious aspersion upon the respect-

ability of Gateshead, Lord Durham claimed, for the

working classes of the district, the character of industry

and intelligence, and dwelt upon the rising influence,

enterprise, and wealth of those who had embarked in its

important and extensive manufactories ; and Gateshead

• CoiHBEET EiPPON.—Cuthbert Eippon, Esq., father of the member
for Gateshead, was a native of the county of Durham, and having

realised a large fortune on the London Stock Exchange, purchased

extensive estates in his native county, and erected as his residence the

present Castle of Stanhope. His son and successor, the future M. P.

for Gatashead, was bom in 1802; and after the usual routine of

education suitable to his position, he settled at Stanhope. On coming

into possession of the property on the death of his father, he invested

considerable capital in improving the Frosterley estate, and the produce

of his model daii-y at Eogerley gained him gi'eat reputation in the

district ; ho also considerably enlarged and improved the castle at

Stanhope. Mr. Eippon was also a scholar and a man of highly

cultivated intellect ; his politics were of the advanced liberal class, and

for several sessions ho brought before parliament a motion for the

removal]of the bishops, or, as he termed it, for relieving them from

their attendance in the House of Lords. A letter of his to Sir Eobert

Peel, protesting against an attempt which was being made to allow

the present Eishop of Exeter to hold the rectory of Stanhope in com-

mendam, created a great sensation at the time, and was supposed by

many to have been mainly instrumental in defeating the project.

After tlie session of 1840-41, Mr. Eippou did not again ofler himself for

the representation of the borough, owing, it was understood, to

pecuniaiy difficulties; See vol. i., p. Ca9-

+ WiixLiM HuTT.—Mr. Hutt, nephew of the late Captain .John Hutt
of ihc " Queen," to whose memoiy a monument was erected by the

nation in Westminster Abbey, was bom in 1803. He was educated at

Trinity College, where he graduated A.B. in 1827, and A.M. in 1831.

In the latter year, Mr. Hutt married Mary, Countess of Sti-athmore,

was ultimately added to the list of new boroughs, and
entitled to send one member to represent its interests

in the British House of Commons.
The Parliamentary Boundaries are the same as those

of the mimicipal. See. page 776.

The first election took place on December 12, 1832,

when Cuthbert Rippon, Esq.,* of Stanhope Castle (see

vol. i., p. 659), was returned without opposition ; John
Dobson, Esq., solicitor, retm-ning officer.

On January 8, 1835, Mr. Rippon was again returned

unopposed ; Matthew Pliunmer, Esq., returning officer

On July 26, 1837, the candidates were, Cuthbert

Rippon, Esq,, WiUiam WUliamson, Esq., of Whickham
;

audR. S. Surtees, Esq.,ofHamsterley. On the following

day, the latter gentleman retired from the contest ; and

the numbers poUed were, for Mr. Rippon, 235 ; Mr.

Williamson, 151 ; the mayor, returning officer.

On June 29, 18'11, William Hutt, Esq.,t of Gib-

side, and Mr. Mason, were candidates; but as the

proposer of the latter was not an elector, the nomination

could not be received, and Mr. Hutt was elected without

further opposition.

On July 28, 1847, Mr. Hutt was returned imopposed.

On JvJy 8, 1852, the candidates were, William Hutt,

Esq., the Hon. Adolphus LiddeU (see vol. ii., p. 644),

and Ralph Walters, Esq.J On the following day, the

and ^-idow of the tenth earl (see vol. ii., p. C94). He represented

Hull fi-om 1832 till 1841, and Gateshead since the latter date; his

fi-iends in Hull presented him, on his separation from that borough,

with a spleuded candelabrum in testimony of their gi'atitude and

esteem. Jlr. Hutt belougs to the liberal whig party; he has taken a

prominent part on questions of commerce, more especially those

relating to the Stade and Sound Dues, whose aboUtiou he has always

advocated and enforced, and for which he received the thanks of the

General Shipowners' Society. A porU-ait of Mi-. Hutt, painted by Mr.

Eeiuagle, E.A., was presented to him a few years ago by his Tyneside

friends, and was deposited by him in the rooms of the Newcastle

Society for the Promotion of the Fine Arts, an institution which

acknowledges Mr. Hutt as one of its earliest pau-ons.

J Eamh Walters was decidedly the most popular candidate, the

shew of hands on the day of nomination being ten to one in his favour.

His opinions on the leading topics of the day were with the people :

he advocated cml and religious Uberty in the most populoi- form-

extension of the suffrage, vote by ballot, total uboUtion of church-

rates, &c., and the removal of all restrictions which fettered educa-

tional progi-ess and commercial enterjnise. Besides being owner of

extensive property in Newcastle and various parts of the county of

Dvu-hara, ho became more locally connected with Gateshead, by the

purchase, about the year 18&0, of the Felling estate, for a long period

the property and family residence of the Brandlings. Mr. Walters is

a barrister of the Middle Temple, a director of the Eastern Counties

Eailway, and connected with other important public undertakings in

the metropolis.
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numbers poUed were, for Mr. Hutt, 270 ; Mr. Liddell,

193 ; Mr. Walters, 136.

On March 27, 1857, Mr. Hutt was returned unopposed.

After the contested election for the Northern Division

of the county in 1837, Gateshead was constituted a

poUing place. It is also the centre of a revising barris-

ter's district, comprising Gateshead, Gateshead FeU,

Upper and Nether Heworth, and Lamesley, including

Hedley, Kibblesworth, and Ravensworth.

SANITARY CONDITION.

In 1843, a report on the sanitary state of Gateshead was

made by Dr. D. B. Reid, one of the Health of Towns

Commissioners ; and at the time of the enquiry made by

Mr. RawUnson, Superintendent Inspector of the General

Board of Health, in 1849, the sanitary condition of the

town had not been materially improved. Mr. Rawlinson

visited Gateshead in consequence of a memorial from the

mayor, aldermen, and councillors of the borough; the

average annual mortality of the 7 years previous having

been 27-6 for each 1,000 of the population. The enquiry

commenced in the Town Hall, November 28 ; and Mr.

Rawlinson was ably assisted by several leading gentle-

men of the borough and district, amongst whom were'

—

George Hawks, Esq., mayor; Dr. Davles, rector; W.
Kell, Esq., town-clerk ; R. Nicholson, Esq., C. E.

;

John Dobson, Esq., architect ; Aldermen Brockett, Smith,

and Potts; W. Hymers, Esq., J. P.; J. Pollock, Esq.,

J. P.; Drs. Barkus, Dixon, JoUie, and Robinson;

surgeons—F. Bennett and S. E. Pearse, Esqrs. ; town-

counciUors—C. Allhusen, W. Cook,* J. Lister, C. J.

Pearson, B. J. Prockter, Esqrs., &c., &c.

Drainage.—^The town-clerk, in his description of the

borough, observed that the town of Gateshead, by reason

of its height above the river Tyne, and sloping direction

towards it, is not at aU liable to be flooded, nor are any

of the suburban districts ; that there are no obstructions

to the natural drainage ; on the contrary, great facilities

• Mr. Cook is one of the popular men of the borough. He has been

for several years a representative in the Uiwa council, and a member

of the board of guardians. During the pr«valence of fever and sick-

ness in 1847, and subsequently of cholera, Mr. Cook's self-devotion

was conspicuous in visiting the sick, and alleviating the distress of

those suffering from the effects of this dreadful scourge. The inha-

bitants of the town also acknoirledge the active and successful part he

took in procuring for the j)ublic an equal right with the borough-

holders to the use ofthe Windmill Hills ; and he has ever proved himself

a faithful representative, vigOently enforcing the strictest economy in

the expenditure of the revenues of the borough. By enterprise and

prudence, Mr. Cook, in the prime of life, has been able to retire from

business, having realized a competence as a brewer in Gateshead.

On the occasion of his retirement, a public entertainment was given to

for draining are presented by the steepness of descent in

all the lower, and of sufficient descent in all the upper
parts of the town; and the elevated positions and in-

equalities of surface at the Low FeU, Sheriif HiU, and

I

Wrekenton, afford the like facilities. In 1849, the

town coimcil, as commissioners of the Gateshead Street

Act, formed a sewer along Church Street and High
Street to the southern extremity of the tovm. The
sewer-age and drainage of the town, however, was most

I

imperfect; even in those streets where sewers have, at

;
great expense, been laid down, house drainage is very

j

imperfectly carried out; and one advantage of the Public

[

Health Act would be, that the local board would have

the power of constructing house-drains when owners

obstinately refuse to take advantage of the main sewers.

In many parts of the borough, and more especially in

some of the streets recently built, the houses are entirely

I

without sewers or drains, as William Street, PoUock
Street, and Russell Street; some of the streets, courts,

and entries are not only undrained, but remain unpaved

and uncleansed, and without any side channels to carry

off the liquid matters, so that in wet weather they

become almost impassable from ruts and filth ; the in-

I

habitants having no other method of disposing of their

refuse water, excrement, &c., but throw them upon the

streets and lanes, where they spread, become decomposed,

and evolve a most disgusting odour, more particularly

when the weather is warm and close. Fever raged in

an epidemic form during the months of September,

October, November, and December, 1847, and January

and February, 1848; the localities principally affected

were Leonard's Court, Pipewellgate, and HiUgate, which

are notoriously dirty places, where people are Uving

huddled together amongst tilth without the necessaries

of life.

CoNnrnoN of the Dwellings of the Poor.—" I

took with me," observes Mr. Rawlinson, "plans and

him by his admirers and friends; Ralph Walters, Esq., presiding^

supported by Joseph Cowen, Esq., chairman of the River Tyne Com-

missioners, the town clerk, G. J. Kenmir, Esq., Alderman Smith, and

other influential gentlemen. In politics, Mr. Cook is an extreme

liberal. He was amongst the first to denounce the conduct of the

Aberdeen administration for the manner in which they conducted the

war with Russia, and presided over a large and influential meeting

held in Newcastle upon the subject ; and on the dissolution of parlia-

ment in 1852, he nominated Ralph Walters, Esq., barrister, as a candi

date for the parliamentary representation of the borough. Mr. Cook

is a fluent speaker, and ready in debate ; and there are few meetings

of public interest in the district in which Mr. Cook does not take aa

active and prominent part.
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sections to show the crowded condition of the buildings

and manufactories in the lower part of the town, near

the south bank of the river Tyne, in Pipewellgate and

HUIgate ; but neither plan nor written description can

adequately convey to the mind the true state and con-

dition of the room-tenements, and of the inhabitants

occupying them. The subsoil on the sloping side of the

hill is damp and most foul, the brick work of the build-

ings is ruinous, the timber rotten, and an appearance of

general decay pervades the whole district. The build-

ings fronting to Hillgate have originally been erected

as residences of a superior description ; the stairs have

had carved balusters, the rooms have been fitted up with

various forms of decoration, which only serve at present

to heighten the grim misery which pervades them;

single rooms are let off as tenements, which are crowded

with men, women, and children ; the walls are dis-

coloured with age, damp, and rot; the windows are

broken ; old rags, straw, and boards occupying the place

of glass, so that means of light and ventilation are alike

absent. There are no sewers or drains, neither is there

any privy accommodation; solid filth encumbers the

surface, liquid refuse saturates the subsoil, and is drawn

by capillary attraction through the porous bricks up into

the walls
;
personal cleanliness, or a healthy atmosphere,

is impossible. The manufactories and skinner's-yard

add to these deleterious influences. For much of this

property, as it now stands, there is little chance of

amendment—the remedy must consist in its removal."

Common Lodging Houses.—Mr. Schorey, in his report,

stated that there were 26 houses of this class, situated

for the most part in low and crowded neighbourhoods;

they were principally kept by Irish. Many of the

dormitories were little better than hovels, whether as

regarded size, cleanliness, ventilation, or drainage, and

were calculated to engender disease in its most malig-

nant form; in rooms not measuring more than 14 feet

square, were lodged from 15 to 20 men, women, and

children, the whole almost entirely naked. The parties

by whom these dens are supported arc the sturdy va-

grant and the common thief; they are crowded at nights,

and during the day are never free of their filthy inmates.

The report of the medical gentlemen relates that they

had counted as many as 26 individuals in one room.

In Pipewellgate and Hillgate, the lodging houses were

the chief foci of disease. Mr. Inspector Rawlinson said

• Mr. George Crawshay, the present chief magistrate of the borough

(185B-7), is a member of the wealthy Welsh family of that namo. Ou
leaving the Universily of Cambridge, ha became on acting partner ia

VOL. II.

he could add his testimony to the trath of this descrip-

tion, and added, that the condition of the lodging houses

in Gateshead was a disgrace to civilization.

SUPPLY OF WATER AND GAS.

Water.—The Newcastle Water Company, the sub-

scribers to which were also shareholders in the Newcastle

Fire Office, were the first parties who supplied Gates-

head and Newcastle with water. These towns were

dependent almost entirely upon the quantity of water

produced in the reservoirs on Newcastle Town Moor.

In 1835, the Newcastle Subscription Water Com-

pany was established, and was succeeded, in 1845, by

the Whittle Dean Water Company, with a capital of

nearly a quarter of a million sterling, tmder an act of

parliament. From this company both towns are now
abundantly supplied. Water pipes are laid in upwards

of 50 streets in Gateshead, and tenemented property ia

most generally supplied at a charge of Is. 3(/. per quarter

for one room, and Is. Gd. for two rooms. A house

of 71. rental is charged about 7s., and a house of 100/.

rental, 40s. per annum. The Bishop's Well, near the

Windmill Hills, is open to the public, and was much im-

proved at the cost of Bishop Maltby, in 1845. The Pro

Bono Publico Well is in Saltwell Lane ; but from the

workings of an adjoining colliery, the water has been

diverted from its ancient course ; efforts, however, are

being made for its restoration.

Gas.—The town of Gateshead was first lighted with

gas by a joint stock company, formed in the borough in

1818. The works of the undertaking were afterwards

purchased by the Newcastle Subscription Gas-light Com-

pany ; and, on the 1st of August, 1838, this company

merged into the present undertaking—the " Newcastle

and Gateshead Union Gas-light Company," with a capital

of about 70,000/., and this company continues to supply

both towns. The present reduced charge for 1,000 cubic

feet is 4s. 6(/., subject to a discount of 10 to 20 per cent.

For charges for public lamps, &c., see corporation ac-

counts, p. 780, A gas holder, capable of containing

80,000 cubic feet, waa erected in Quarry Field in 1850,

to meet the increasing demand of the borough.

HAWKS & CRAWSHAYS' IRON-WORKS.

The extensive iron-works of Messrs. Hawks, Crawshay,*

and Sons, occupy considerable river frontage on the South

the above firm; and soon after settUng in the borough, he identified

himself with tlje leading political topics of the day. During the

agitation for the repeal of the corn laws, he ably seconded the efforts

5k

Thank you for purchasing from Ebay Shop Retromedia

http://stores.shop.ebay.co.uk/retromedia


784 CHESTER WARD—EAST DIVISION.

Shore. This establishment was commenced about a cen-

tury ago bj' Mr. William Hawks, at first in conjimction

with Mr. Michael Longridge, and afterwards on his own
account. During the French war, large contracts were

executed by Mr. Hawks for anchors, chains, and various

articles of naval ironmongery, for the Royal Dock Yards

and the East India Company ; and in the present day,

every description of iron work is executed at these works

on a very extensive scale. The Nasmith "direct-action

hammer" was "opened" on June 3, 1844, enabling the

company to execute the largest orders ; and the roUing

mills, planing machines, &c., and other machinery is

of the most approved description. The large arched

ribs of the High Level Bridge attest the capabilities of

the establishment in the foundry department. These

works give emj^loyment to upwards of 1,000 men.

PARK IRON WORKS,

Belonging to Messrs. John Abbot and Co., occupy

spacious groim^ds contiguous to the town. At these

works are manufactured anchors, chains and chain

cables, and articles in iron and brass foundry. This

establishment gives employment to a considerable num-
ber of workmen.

FRIARS GOOSE CHEMICAL WORKS.

These works, commenced by Mr. Anthony Clapham,

occupy spacious grounds, with river frontage, about 2

miles below Tyne Bridge. Mr. George Burdis and
Mr. Anthony Harrison succeeded Mr. Clapham ; and the

works are now the property of Mr. Alexander George

Grey. The high chimney attached to the buildings is

much admired for its fine proportions ; it is 263 feet high

from the base ; and its diameter at the bottom is 27 feet,

and 7 feet at the top. It is computed to weigh nearly

2,000 tons, and is of beautiful workmanship, deviating

only 1| inch from the perpendicular. The principal

articles manufactured are—sulphuric acid, alkali, crystals

of soda, bi-carbonate of soda, and Epsom salts. Employ-
ment is given to about 500 workmen. Contiguous to

the establishment large and commodious schools have

been erected by Mr. Grey for the children of the work-

men, in which interesting and appropriate lectures are

frequently delivered.* A news-room and library have

also been established in connection with the manufactory.

of Messrs. Cobden and Bright. Mr. Crawshay entertains enthusiastdo

Mid enlightened views on the extension of the commerce of the coun-

try, and giyes occasional lectures on this and other subjects of interest

in Gateshead and Newcastle. He is a supporter of literary and me-
chanics' institutions, and a freqtient contributer to varions popular

periodicals.

TYNE CHEMICAL WORKS.

Messrs. C. Allhttsen and Co. have extensive chemical

works and coke ovens at the South Shore, on the Salt

Meadows estate. Here are manufactured sulphuric

acid, sulphate of soda, carbonate of soda or alkali,

bicarbonate of soda, crystals of soda, hydrochloric acid,

and chloride of lime. The number of men employed in

the various processes exceeds 700. Some idea may be

formed of the rapid extension of the chemical trade on

the Tyne, when it is stated that, in these works alone,

the quantity of salt converted each week into sulphate

of soda exceeds 240 tons ; whereas, 15 years ago, the

quantity scarcely equalled 28 tons. The amount of

sulphur used in the production of sulphuric acid is

above 3,500 tons per annum. (See article on Alkali

Works, vol. i., pp. 190-1.) The Tyne Chemical Works

I

occupy extensive river frontage, and vessels of 300 tons

burthen can be safely moored in front of the spacioos

quay belonging to the company.

ELECTRIC TELEGRAPH WIRE WORKS.

The important wire rope manufactory of Messrs. R. S.

Newall and Co. is situated at the Team, about 2 miles

I

from Gateshead. These works, and their branch esta-

!
bUshment at Manchester, have acquired a national

I reputation. Most of the submarine electric telegraph

wires, connecting this coimtry with France, Belgium,

and other places, have been manufactured by Messrs.

Newall; and in the month of June, 1857, they concluded

a contract by which they engaged to supply, within four

months, 1,000 miles of wire cable, to be laid down by

the Mediterranean Extension Telegraph Company, in

connexion with Sardinia, Malta, and Corfu. At the

Great Exhibition of 1851, Messrs. Newall furnished

samples of their various wires for suspension bridges,

signal cords, lightning conductors, &c., besides their

wire ropes for submarine telegraphs.

Glass has long been one of the staple articles of ma-

nufacture in Gateshead. The Durham Glass Works in

Pipewellgate, established by the late Joseph Price, a

gentleman of great energy and enterprise, are the pro-

perty of his representatives. The Falcon Glass Works

are carried on by Messrs. Elliott and Co. ; and the

EUison Glass Works are the property of Messrs.

* Mr. Grey, jun., is an able chemist ; and his lectures on this sub-

ject in the school-rooms, and to various public audiences in Gateshead

and Newcastle, e\-ince considerable research, and are always of an in-

teresting and instructive character. Mr. Grey won University ho-

nours, and gives promise of distinction in the pursuit of his favourite

science.

i
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Sowerby and Neville. A history of the glass trade

and a notice of the various works established throughout

the county, are given in vol. i., p. 188.

Gateshead has for many years been celebrated for its

manufactories, and its commercial importance is daily in-

creasing. In addition to the establishments already de-

scribed, may be noticed the chemical and paint works of

Messrs. Cookson and Co. ; the extensive ropery of Messrs.

Haggie, Brothers, South Shore; Messrs. Gaddy and

Lamb's ship building yard and slip way ;• Mr. J. Rob-

son's iron ship building works ; the Tyne Paper (brown)

Mill, near Redheugh, the property of Mr. Muschamp

;

Mr. Milvain's canvas manufactory, Quarry Fields ; Mr.

Green's tannery. Half Moon Lane ; also, boiler builders,

earthenware works, asphalte works, pipe makers, grind-

stone quarries, patent fuel, glue, lamp black, vitriol, and

charcoal manufacturers ; and brick and tile makers, lime

burners, &c. There are several flour mills : those on

elevated groimd are driven by wind, the others have

steam power.

In the borough are five breweries, six wine and spirit

merchants, eighty public houses (three of which are

at Salt Meadows, one at Tyne Main, one at Blackwall,

and one at Woodbine Terrace), and twenty-one beer

shops. Ten fire and life insurance companies have agents

in the borough. There are several booksellers, some of

whom keep circulating libraries, and five printing ofiices,

the principal of which is the ofiice of the Gateshead

Observer. -f
The first hackney coach in Gateshead com-

moHced August 7, 1826 ; and there are now two coach

proprietors. Many of the retail shops in the borough

are judiciously arranged and well furnished, and the

outside fittings elegant and spacious; whilst the extensive

nursery grounds of Messrs. Finney and Co. (late W.
Falla) impart a pleasing aspect to the southern extremity

of the town.

Oakwellgate Colliery has its shaft and above-ground

workings near the street from which the coUiery takes

its name (Oakwellgate). It was commenced about

20 years ago, and is carried on by Messrs. Easton,

Anderson, and Co. Shipcote Colliery is situated near

• A shipping company, entitled " The Gateshead and Tyne Shipping

Company," was established in 18;!7, with a capital of 50,OOUL, in shares

of lOJ. each ; the offices of the company bi>ing in Newcastle. A num-

ber of vessels were purchased; and after conducting the imdertjiking

for three or four years, the company was dissolved, with considerable

leas to the shareholders.

+ The prospectus issued for the establishment of a weekly news-

paper in Gateshead was dated September 1, 1837. Shortly afterwards,

the first number of the Gateshead Observer appeared ; and the paper

has contiiiued to maintain an extensive circulation throughout the

the Sunderland turnpike road, at the head of High

Street. At these workings, an old pit has recently been

opened out by Messrs. Bowes, Hutt, Palmer, and Hood.

In former days, Gateshead had a Market on Tuesdays

and Fridays, when wheat and cattle were exposed for

sale at the cross which stood between the TolboothJ and

the pant or conduit ; and beans, pease, oatmeal, and

other goods and merchandise, at the " Brige gate."

These markets, however, have been long discontinued.

On the afternoon preceding the commencement of the

Newcastle fairs, in August and October, a Shoe Fair

has been held from time immemorial in the High
Street : of late years, it has been but indificrently at-

tended. A project for establishing a market in the

borough is occasionally discussed in the town council

;

but the proximity of the Newcastle markets seems, for

the present, to render the success of such a scheme

doubtful.

The Imports and Exports of the borough of Gateshead

pass through the Newcastle custom-house.—The corpo-

ration of Newcastle were, until 1850, sole conservators

of the river Tyne; but in that year (see pp. 725-6), an

act of parliament was passed, transferring the conser-

vancy to commissioners, under the title of " The Tyne

Improvement Commissioners." This body is composed

of eighteen members, representing Gateshead, Newcastle,

the district above Tyne Bridge, and South and North

Shields. Four of the board are elected for life, and the

remainder are elected annually, viz. :—two by the town

council of Gateshead, six by the town council of New-
castle, three by the town council of South Shields, and

three by the town coimcil of North Shields. In 1856-7,

the members of the board were

—

Life Commissioners,

Joseph Cowen, of Blaydon, chairman; W. R. Himter,

Newcastle ; J. Purdoe, Sunderland ; and J. C. Steven-

son, South Shields. Elected, by Gateshead, R. AV.

Hodgson and John Potts. By Newcastle, Ralph Park-

Philipson, Thomas Ridley, Ralph Dodds, John Rayne,

John Ormstou, and Charles Smith. By South Shields,

John Robinson, James Mather, and Thomas Stainton..

district. It has advocated, with mucli ability and impartiality, the

groat measures of political and commorciiU reform ; and in its columns

frequently appear valuable contributions relating to the trade and

commerce of the district. Under its able and talented editor, Mr.
James Clephan, the Gateshead Observer exercises a moral and political

influence equalled by few provincial journals.

{ The Tolbooth stood in the main street, a little below the west end^

of Oakwellgate Chare. In 1700, it was used as a school-room, but

afterwards converted into a Bridewell : it was taken down when Uie

lock.up house was built at the head of the Church Stairs.
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By Tynemouth (North Shields), Matthew Poppelwell,

William Liiiskill, and Joseph Straker.

FRIARS GOOSE.

This is an estate belonging to St. Edmund's Hospital,

and occupies the north-eastern angle of the parish of

Gateshead. The origin of this singular name is unknown,

but it is of considerable antiquity, as, in Hatfield's

Survey, a way-leave is mentioned, through the lord's

meadows, from St. Edmimd's Hospital to Freregose.

Extensive chemical works and other buildings are erected

on the estate. Tyne Main Colliery is carried on by Messrs.

Losh, Johnson, Reay, and Anderson. The pumping

engine of this colliery was erected here about 30 years

ago, for the purpose of draining off the water* in the

high main seam ; and it was by its means that the

colliery of St. Lawrence, on the north side of the

Tyne, was afterwards recovered. The engine is 180

horse power ; and another, erected in 1841-2, is of 70

horse power. The working shaft is at some distance to

the west, and has been many years in operation. The

workings are conducted under the river, and on both

sides of the Tyne.f

THE SALT MEADOWS
Is an estate at the north-eastern portion of the parish,

above half a mile below the town. It comprises about

83 acres, with considerable river frontage, and is the

property of the corporation of Newcastle, under lease

from the see of Durham for 450 yearsj from the year

1554, at a rental of 44.5. per annum. The greater por-

tion of the ground is now occupied by various manufac-

tories :§ 21 years' leases are granted, and the ground

rents yield to the Newcastle corporation 237/. 14s. 2d.

per annum ; the last renewal fines amounting, in addi-

tion, to 1,743/. 14s. 8d. The lease from the see of

• In the removing of some pillars of coal in Tyne Main, or Friars

Goose Colliery, near tbe docks of Messrs. Smith and Co., shipbuilders,

St. Peter's, on the opposite side of the river, some of the old water

courses were deranged, and a portion of the water drawn off, so that

the dock property sunk down 2 feet. The coUiery proprietors denied

having done the damage, inasmuch as no creep had taken place in the

pillars they were working, nor had they any concern in forming the

pillars underneath the docks, those workings having been made beyond

memory. The damages were laid by Messrs. Smith at 8,0001. ; the

matter was ultimately left to arbitratiou, and an award was made for

about half the amount claimed.

t In 1855, T. J. Taylor, Esq., in propounding a scheme for draining

the coal seams eastward of Newcastle, estimates the feeders of this part

of the basin at i,000 gallons per minute. To meet this, he proposes

to lift 1,100 gallons per minute at Tyne Main, 1,300 from Wallscnd,

and 1,300 from Howdon pit, Percy Main. The expense of construct-

Durham will not expire till the year 2004, so that the

corporation of Newcastle are entitled to the property for

the unexpired term of one hundred and forty-seven

years from 1857. The origin of this grant from the see

of Durham is given in vol. i., p. 66 ; but it may not be

inappropriate to repeat it here :

—

Queen Mary was proclaimed, July 19, 1553 ; and on the 5th August,

Bishop Tunstall left the Tower, again to become Bishop of Durham. The
repeal of the act fordisuniting Gateshead, preparatory to a division of the

diocese, was effected ; and the bishop was restored to all his temporali-

ties. The corporation of Newcastle, very naturally, resisted this alter-

ation, so mortifying to them, and with so much success, that it was

deemed prudent to compromise the matter. The bishop accordingly,

in conjunction with the dean and chapter, ceded to the corporation a

large plot of land, called the Salt Meadows, on the south bank of the

river Tyne, at a nominal rent, under a lease for 450 years.

The corporation of Newcastle have been in corres-

pondence with the ecclesiastical commissioners for the

enfranchisement of the property. The sum fixed be-

tween the parties is 2,000/. ; and at the town council

meeting of Newcastle, held July 1, 1857, the arrange-

ment was agreed to be confirmed.

GATESHEAD PARK HOUSE.

This mansion, situated at a distance of half a mile east

of Gateshead, was erected about the year 1723 ; it is a

handsome brick building, sheltered on the north by a

row of fine elms. The Gategangs, in the 14th century,

held parcels of land in the park. The estate is now in

the hands of the Ecclesiastical Commissioners, subject to

a lease held by C. Ellison, Esq. ; and the mansion is the

residence of .tVlexander George Grey, Esq., of Friar'a

Goose Chemical Works.

DECKHAM HALL

Is about a mile and a quarter south from Tyne Bridge,

on the east side of the old Durham road, and is partly

ing engines, &c., for this purpose, is estimated at 32,0001., whilst the

rent value of coal sacrificed in barriers is 322,0401., which the carrying

out of this project would enable to be worked. It is proposed that the

cost of erecting engines should be home by the lessors, the lessees

afterwards keeping them in operation.

J
Not 999 years, as stated by mistake in vol. i., page 66.

§ From a report of the Property Committee, presented to the town

council of Newcastle, June 3, 1857, it was st.ited that a 21 years' lease-

hold property at Salt Meadows is lessening in value by the abstraction

from it of a large quantity of sand and of brick clay, sold oflf the estate

for building purposes. At the same time, the lessee or his tenant has

also received a large sum of money as the charge for rubbish deposit

;

and the committee were of opinion that the lessee should he made to

pay to the corporation a fair consideration for the clay and sand, and

for the quantity of rubbish deposited in its place.

I
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in tlie parish of Gateshead and partly in the parish of

Heworth. Thomas Deckham,* in 1614, bequeathed this

estate to his daughter, Elizabeth, wife of Henry Mitford,

and 3/. to the poor of Gateshead " towards the bringing

home of the water ;" and the mansion was known until

recent years as Mitford's House. Mr. James pirrchased

the estate in 1817, of Mr. George Wooler, for 7,100/.
;

He enlarged the mansion, and called it Deckham Hall.

It is at present the residence of B. Biggar, Esq.

CRAMEE DYKE HOUSE.

This elegant and commodious mansion was erected by
the late William Falla, Esq., who also laid out the ex-

tensive and beautifid nursery grounds adjoining. The
house commands a view of the vale of Ravensworth and

the picturesque scenery in the neighbourhood. The
estate is situated nearly a mile south of Tyne Bridge,

opposite St. Edmund's chapel on the west, and is the

property of the representatives of the late Mr. Falla.

The mansion is now the residence of William Lockey

Harle, Esq.f

SALTWELLSIDE

I.s an estate of about 500 acres, sloping towards the

Team, 2 J miles south-south-west from Gateshead. It has

been successively in possession of the Hedworths, Halls,

and Maddisons ; in 1750, of Mr. Joseph LiddeU, of

Moor House, near Carlisle ; in 1792, of Mr. Joseph

Dunn, and afterwards of Mr. Joseph LiddeU, of Carlisle.

Mr. LiddeU sold part of the estate to Messrs. Bower and

Robson ; and, on the death of Mr. Robson, his portion

became the property of Mr. James King. Mr. King

died in 1818, and his property was sold to Mr. Thomas

Robson, for 10,000/. In 1819, an exchange was made
with C. EUison, Esq., of part of the North and part of

the South Tongues Field, and the difference in mea-

surement paid for at the rate of 100/. per acre. The

ground has recently been much divided for vUla sites.

Saltwell Hall, with about 120 acres of the estate, is the

property and residence of Charles Bulmer, Esq., who is

also lord of the manor of the entire estate. Saltwell

Tower, with grounds adjoining, is the^ property and resi-

• This Thomas Deckham, in writing to Bishop James relative to a

reduction of rent, diplomatically adds, " T have sente you, in remem-

brance of my duetye, two hollands cheeses by this bearer."

+ WriiiAM Locket Harle.—Mr. Harle has long been before the

public as an ardent liberal, and the eloquent advocate of political und

intellectual progress. Having finished his education at Eyhope,

under the Eev. T. Waite, he was articled as an attorney to Mr. John

Adamson, Newcastle, and afterwards spent some time as a student in

London University. On his return to Newcastle, Mr. Harle com-
|

VOL. II.

dence of Mr. Wailcs. SalUcell Cottage is the property

of Mr. D. Robson ; and Fern-dene House, an elegant

modern mansion, with ornamental grounds, is the re-

sidence and property of Mr. Newall, who purchased the

ground from the representatives of Mr. Thomas Robson

DARNCROOK.

Darv(tenceook, or Damcrook, a little south of SaltweU
HaU, was parcel of the possessions of Kcpyer Hospital,

and was purchased, in 1612, byThomas LiddeU, alderman
of Newcastle, whose male issue is extinct. It is now,
by purchase from several intermediate proprietors, vested

in the LiddeUs of Ravensworth. The estate, by survey

made in 1803, contained 155 a. 2 r. 11 p. Daricent

Crook Colliery has for some time been laid in.

FIELD HOUSE
Is SITUATED about half a mUe south-west from Gateshead,

adjoining SaltweUside on the south and west. The estate

formerly belonged to the Wilsons, stewards to theLumleys.
In 1684, it was held by Sir Ralph Carr, Knt., and
afterwards by the LiddeUs. Two freehold estates, Field

House and The Team, were advertised for public sale in

1804, containing 212 acres ; also, the royalty under the

Field House and adjoining estate of SaltweUside, con-

taining upwards of 350 acres of coal. Low Team was
purshased by Mr. John Barras, and Field House became

the property of Mr. George Barras, who sold part, in

1829, to Cuthbert EUison, Esq., and 53 acres to Mr.
Thomas Robson, of SaltwcU Cottage. Mr. Robson, in

1830, re-sold part to Mr. John Philips, for 3,937/. 10s.

;

and Mr. Barras afterwards sold the house and groimds,

and about 35 acres of land, to Mr. Joseph Shield. The
grounds and mansion are now the property and residence

of Tliomas Bramwell, Esq.

BENSHAM,
" The HiU of the sloping Descent," is a pleasant district

towards the west of the WindmiU HiUs, sloping gently

down to the river Team. It contains several elegant

viUas and rows of pleasant houses, many of which com-

mand beautiful views of the TjTie and the vale of

menced life in his profession. In 1841, he was elected a member of

the town council, and continued one of the representatives of St.

Nicholas' Ward until 1853: ho was again elected in May, 1857, and

was honoured with the appointment of deputy recorder for the town of

Newcastle, when Mr. Digby Seymour succeeded Mr. Wilkinson as

recorder. Mr. Harle is a well-known contributor to various local

publications, and is the author of a work entitled, "A Career in the

Commons." His speeches and lectures eWnce extensive reading,

vigorous thought, and fertility of imagination.

5 s
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Ravenswortli ; and it is a favourite residence of several

gentlemen whose business occupations are conducted in

Newcastle. Bensham was a portion of the borough

lands, or town fields, for enclosing which an act of

parliament was obtained in 1814. Bemham Lunatic

Asylu7n is conducted by Mr. Gr. Robinson, successor to

Mr. Frederick Glenton. In the district are two public

houses and a beer-shop.

REDHEUGH.
This estate is situated about a mile west of Tyne Bridge,

containing 215 acres, with a neat brick-bmlt mansion,

the residence of George Hawks, Esq.,* on the southern

slope of the banks of the Tyne, in the midst of old woods

and plantations. The Gateshead branch of the Newcastle

and Carlisle Railway runs along the northern margin of

the estate. Alexander del Redhogh held the manor

under the see of Durham, in 1280 ; and, after the ex-

tinction of the family in 1420, it passed to the Whites,

who sold it, in 1619, to Sir Francis Liddell, Knight.

Francis, Earl of Darwentwater, who purchased the estate,

devised Redheugh to the Hon. Thomas Radcliffe and

• Geobge Hawks, Esq., of Redheugh, grandson of the late Wil-

liam Hawks, is a partner in the extensive iron works of Hawks,

Crawshay, and Sons, which his grandfather originally established.

He is a magistrate for both the county of Durham and the borough

of Gateshead, and a deputy lieutenant of the county. On the

passing of the Municipal Reform Act, Mr. Hawks was elected by the

town council as the first mayor of his native borough; an honour

which was subsequently conferred upon him for two consecutive years.

When the queen first crossed the High Level Bridge, September 28,

1849 (see page 775), on her return from Scotland, the address from

the town council of Gateshead was presented to her majesty by Mr.

Hawks, in his capacity as mayor of the borough ; the circumstance

being peculiarly appropriate, inasmuch as the High Level Bridge had

been constructed b; the important firm of which Mr. Hawks was the

Lady Mary Radcliffe ; and the latter, in 1748, conveyed

it to Adam Askew, M.D., of Newcastle.f It is now
the property of his representative, H. W. Askew, Esq^
of Conishead Priory, Ulverstone. In 1850, it was ad-

vertised for sale, and is allotted into sites for villas,

manufactories, &c.

TEAM,

A HAMLET on the rivulet of that name, is nearly 2 miles

west from Gateshead, and contains a public house and a

Wesleyan Methodist and Methodist New Connexion

chapels. The Team Iron Works have been carried on

for many years, and are now in the hands of Messrs.

Crowley, Millington, & Co. ; another establishment of

the same kind is carried 'on by Messrs. Thompson

Brothers ; and here are also the Wire Rope Works of

Messrs. NewaU and Co., already noticed.

In the suburbs of the borough, particularly on the

southern and western banks, are erected several pleasant

villas and mansions, commanding varied views of the

rich and picturesque neighbourhood.

senior partner. The town councU, on his retirement from the mayor-

alty, unanimously elected him one of their representatives in the

Tyne Lnprovement Commission. During the embodyment of the

Durham militia a few years ago, in consequence of the Russian war,

Mr. Hawks exerted himself zealously and successfully ; a very large

portion of the volunteers having been obtained by his solicitations

and through the influence of his well-deserved popularity in the dis-

trict. In Mr. Hawks, the institutions of the'borough and neighbour-

hood, whether charitable, literary, or religious, have always found a

ready and liberal supporter,

f Dr. Askew was descended from Sir Hugh Askew, who was a cotir-

tier, soldier, and sheriff of Cumberland in the reign of Henry Till.

Dr. Askew followed his profession in Newcastle with great success, and

died in Westgate Street, January 15, 1773.

tfi

GATESHEAD FELL PARISH.

This ecclesiastical division (see page 752) forms the southern portion of the parish of Gateshead, by which it is

bounded on the north, by the chapelry of Lamesley on the west and south, and by the chapehy of Heworth on

the east. Gateshead Fell parish thus includes the High and Low Fell, containiag the vUlages of Sheriff Hill,

Carr's Hill, Low Fell, Chowdean, and Wrekenton.

Gateshead Fell, fifty years ago, was studded with

miserable mud huts and cottages, occupied by tinkers,

doggers, besom makers, egglers, muggers, and others of

the race called /a«rs. In 1809, an act of parliament was

obtained for dividing the Fell ; and the commissioners

therein named were empowered to set out such parts as

they pleased for roads, drains, quarries, watering places

&c., and one acre as a site for a church and church-

yard. Of the residue, l-16th part was appropriated to

the Bishop of Durham as lord of the manor ; 1-16 to the

borough-holders and freemen of Gateshead, in compen-

sation for their exclusive right of letting stints ; and
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l-16th to the rector of Gateshead. The royalties were

reserved to the bishop, the owners being allowed to

work and win stones for their own allotments only.

The remainder of the Fell (except a part for making

two waggon-waya) was divided amongst persons having

right of common. The whole Fell contained 631 a.

R. 21 p., exclusive of roads, quarries, wells, &c.

The allotments contained 595 a. 1 r. 19 r. ; and the

cottages and garths sold by the commissioners, 35 a.

3 R. 2 p. The claims of 17 freemen, 129 owners of an-

cient burgages, and 9 owners of various freehold estates

were allowed ; and 45 claims were withdrawn or

awarded against. At the time of the division, there

were 430 cottages upon the Fell, 90 of which were

pulled down as prejudicial to the division, and 340 were

enfranchised, amongst which were 8 public houses.

The plan and award were lodged in the Registrar's

OflSce, Durham.

THE CHURCH.

The trustees appointed under the act of parliament of

1809, for dividing the Fell, were authorised to raise a

sum not exceeding 1,000/., by rates upon the occupiers

of lands, houses, and mines within the district, at the

expiration of seven years after the passing of the act,

towards the building of a church. The right of pre-

sentation was reserved to the Bishop of Durham ; and

aU tithes and ecclesiastical fees within the new parish

were rendered payable to the rector of Gateshead Fell.

The church is erected on a lofty eminence, called

Sour Milk Hill. The foundation stone was laid May

• Besides the sum of 1,000!. raised by the trustees for the division

cif the Fell, the following contributions were received :—Commissioners

for buUding additional Churches, 1,0002. ; Society for building

Churches, SOOl.; C. Ellison, Esq., 105i. ; Eev. J. CoUinson, ISOJ.;

Bishop Barrington, IQOl. ; Lord Crewe's trustees, 1001. ; Lord Eavens-

•Vforth, 501. ; dean and chapter of Durham, SOI. ; Archdeacon Prosser,

251. ; M. Atkinson, Esq., M. Plummcr, Esq., and the borough of

Gateshead, each 30!. ; Adam Askew, Esq., Michael Hall, Esq., and the

Rev. Dr. PhUlpotts, each 20!. ; Messrs. Willis and Swinburne, amount

of their law bill, 70!. ; sundiy subscriptions under 20!. ; and a collec-

tion in the church, 220!.

t Meetinq the Jctdoes.—A procession to meet the judges of assize

at Gateshead Fell appeej-s to have been one of the most ancient cus-

toms in connexion with Gateshead. Prior to the year 1278, we find

that the bailiffs of the King of Scotland, the Archdeacon of York, the

Prior of Tynemouth, the Bishop of Durham, and GUberl de Umfreville,

went out to meet the justices on behalf of their masters. The high

sheriff of Northumberland, accompanied by the under sheriff and

others, in after years went as far on the turnpike road as Sheriff Hill,

which evidently derives its name from that circumstance. In later

times, the procession halted at a public house known by the sign of

the Cannon ; and since the formation of the new Durham road, the

]

13, 1824, and the building finished and consecrated

August 30, 1825. It cost 3,339/.,* and is dedicated to

St. John. The edifice consists of nave and chancel

with square tower : the tower terminates with four

pinnacles and a lofty spire, 148 feet in height, forming

a conspicuous object for many miles rotmd. The build-

ing is after the Gothic style, but possesses no architec-

tural beauty. The interior is fitted up to contain 1,000

sittings, half of which are free. A good organ was

introduced in 1827. The first incumbent was the Rev.

William Hawks, LL.B., who was succeeded, in 1838,

by the Rev. "William Atkinson. There is a parsonage

house, but no glebe. The g^oss income is 194/. a year,

subject to the annual payment of 22/. A silver cup

and salver were presented to the church by the late

Lady Hawks.

SHERIFF HILL,

A VILLAGE situated on the old Durham road, 2 miles

south of Gateshead. It derives its name from the

sherifis of Northimiberland having annually come in

procession from Newcastle to the Cannon public house

at this place, to meet the judges of assizef on their way
from Durham ; a ceremony which has been superseded

by the modern system of travelling. The village con-

tains a number of workmen's cottages, a post-office, a

Wesleyan Methodist and a New Connexion chapel, a

national school, an earthenware man ufactory, five public

houses, and a beer- shop. Sheriff^ Hill Lunatic Asylum,

conducted by Mr. Samuel Kent, stands on an elevated

site to the south. Beacon Hill farm is so called from a

party proceeded no further than the New Cannon public house, on the

Low Fell. Before the assizes were held twice a year, the judges

usually passed through Gateshead on their route to Newcastle, on the

afternoon of Saturday, which was generally regarded as a gala day.

Spectators of all classes crowded the streets and roads ; the windows

of the houses were filled by gaily attired ladies and children ; and

eveiy thing presented a holiday aspect. The magnitude and splendour

of the procession depended greatly upon the popularity of Uie high

sheriff, and the following ceremonials were usually observed :—The

high sheriff first received the congi-atiUations of the gentr)- of the

county at the Moot Hall, Newcastle ; he then proceeded on horseback,

attended by running pages (orsherifi' boys), in superb costume, pre-

ceded by two trumpaters dressed in gay livery, banners with embla-

zoned ai-ms being suspended from the trumjiets. His carriage, drawn

by six horses richly caparisoned, was followed by the state carriage of

the mayor of Newcastle, and a numerous assemblage of horsemen;

and the cortege was closed by a train of carriages of the resident and

neighbouring gentry. The procession passed along Mosley Stieet,

Dean Street, Sandhill, Tyne Bridge, and High Street, Gateshead ; and

on reaching the blue stone of the Tyne Bridge on its return, [was

joined by the sheriff and corporate officers of Newcastle ; and the

judges being conducted to the courts, the formalities of opening the

commission of assize were then gone through.
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beacon having been erected upon it during the Frenijli

war, when the country was threatened with invasion.*

Sherif Hill Souse, to the west of the church, was
|

erected by the late Matthew Plummer, Esq.,t and is an

excellent and commodious stone mansion, commanding

one of the finest and most extensive views in the dis-

trict. Sherif Hill Cottage is the property of the repre-

sentatives of the gentleman just named.

Haickshury Hill, a site a little towards the south of

the village, upon which was erected a residence for the

late Rev. W. Hawks. The house is in the Elizabethan

style, built, in 1828, by the late Sii- R. S. Hawks, and

has become, by recent purchase, the rectory for the

incumbent of Gateshead Fell. The arched gateway in

front of Anderson Place, PUgrlm Street, Newcastle,

was removed hither when Mr. Grainger's improvements

in that town were in progress.

Sheriff Hill Colliery.—The old pit has been for some

time laid in ; but some of the workings have been re-

opened by Mr. Muschamp. The coals are known in the

market as Sheriff Hill Wallsend.

CARR'S HILL,

About 1^ mile south-by-east from Gateshead, is a

village partly in Upper Heworth township, in the cha-

pelry of St. Alban's, and partly La Gateshead Fell

• Gateshead Volxinteees.—In 1795, during the French war, the

(rateshead Volunteers were enrolled, tirst under the command of Mr,

Huntley, of Gateshead. E. S. Hawks, Esij., afterwards became major,

and C. Ellison, Esq., lieutenant-colonel. At the time of their forma-

tion, 200 muskets were supplied by Mr. George Hawks at 50s. each.

Colours were presented to the corps by Mrs. Ellison. November 16,

1803 ; and after the corps was disbanded, March ii, 1813, they were

deposited at Mr. Bertram's, Goat Inn, Gateshead ; and on the 10th of

.A.u?ust, 1854, C. Ellison, Esq., presented these memorials to the town

.jouncil of the borough. ( For account of Count)' Militia, see vol. i.,

p. 155.)

+ Matthew Plummes.—Mr. Plummer was a merchant in Newcastle,

:in extensive ship-owner and colliery proprietor, and, from his honour-

nble aud upright conduct and uniform punctuality, he was deservedly

recognized as "the model merchant." The family from which Mr.

Plummer is descended were, it appears, driven out of Ireland at tie

time of the great Irish rebellion, 1641 ; their ancestors ha^ong pre-

viously gone over to Ireland from this country. They settled at

Xhormauby, Yorkshire, a village between Thirsk and Easingwold, and

applied themselves principally to agricultural pm-suits, holding chiefly

ijiazing ferms, and dealing much in horses and cattle. In this

locality the family are still numerous. The late Mr. Plummer was

educated at Sowerby school, near Thirsk, and for a short time pursued

farming under the care of some of his relatives. At the same period,

his father had two small fanns, one of which was held under the late

Mr. John Graham Clarke, of Newcastle, who, being pleased with the

intelligence and industry of the son, transferred him to his office;

and thus began, in 1785, Mr. Matthew Plummer's connexion with

Newcastle. Mr. Clarke was largely engaged as a West India merchant

parish. It contains an earthenware manufactory, and
three public houses and a beer-shop. South of the

village is a large reservoir belonging to the Whittle

Dean TVater Company. The estate of Carr's Hill con-

tained, by survey made in 1831, 27 a. 3 k. 15 p. Carr

Hill House, with 26 acres of the estate, conveyed from

the representatives of the late Mr. Matthew Atkinson,

is the residence of G. J. Kenmir, Esq. ; and T. Hewitt,

Esq., is the owner of considerable property in the village.

Blue Qu.iERiES is a hamlet where large quantities of

stone are worked, and contains a Primitive Methodist

chapel.

LOW FELL

Is a large village and populous district, through which

the new branch of the turnpike road from Gateshead to

Durham passes. This road, from Potticar's Lane, Gates-

head, to Leyburn Hold, was constructed, in stage coach

days, to avoid the great elevation of the ground over

which the old road passes. It was commenced Decem-

ber 6, 182-1 ; and the mail first passed along it on the

17th June, 1826. This line of road is studded with

numerous pleasant villas, which overlook the vale of the

Team. The village of Low Fell contains a post-office, a

Wesleyan Methodist chapel, a New Connexion chapel,

and the Gateshead Fell School, Library, and Lecture

in Pilgrim Street, where he had also an extensive breweiy. Mr.

Plummer's earliest efforts in business were directed to the sale of

some portions of the produce of the farms of his relatives : these he

carried on whilst with Mr. Clarke, dealing in cheese, hay, ifec, to some

extent. He afterwards commenced business for himself on the Quay-

side, and first entered into partnership with Mr. Kussell Blackbird, as

a ship and insm-ance broker; then with Mr. W. N. Greenwell, and

finally vrith his eldest son. Subsequently, Mr. Plummer became a

partner in the Northumberland Flax Mills, and the St, La^vrence

Bottle Works, and was engaged in other commercial adventures.

Somewhat later in life, he became a considerable coal-owner, being

^interested in the Haswell Coal Company's mines and other collieries

;

and he also became possessor of valuable landed property in the neigh-

bourhood of Gateshead and Newcastle. He was engaged in most ef the

undertakings and questions which affected the port of the Tyne, in the

prospei-ity of which he took the warmest interest, and for many years

was vice-consul for the United States. He was a director of the

Newcastle and Carlisle Eailway from its commencement ; for fifteen

years he was chairman of the board ; and, in great part, to the energy,

economy, and skilful management of Mr. Plummer, the success of

this undertaking is to be attributed. Mr. Plummer married, first, in

1794, Catherine, daughter of the late Robert Spencer, of Bawtry and

Durham ; and, secondly, Mary, daughter of the late William Storey,

of Bishopwearmouth, and widow of the late Eobert Spencer, surgeon,

of Newcastle. By his first wife, he had eight children, only two of

whom are living, viz,:—Robert, of Byker, justice of the peace; and

the Rev. Matthew, incumbent of Heworth. Mr. Plimimer died at his

residence. Sheriff Hill, December 25, ls56, in the 85th year of his

age, aud was buried at St. John's, Gateshead Fell.

!
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Eoom, erected by subscriptions amounting to 178/. 15s.,

and 391 shares of U. each. The building was opened

November 9, 1841 ; and the institution fully answers

the expectation of its promoters, the most ardent and

active of whom was Mr. Thomas Wilson, of Low Fell

House.* There are in the village and its vicinity ten

public houses.

Cho'wdean is a hamlet a little to the south, where the

road to Lamesley branches off from the main turnpike.

Belle Vue, near Darwent Crook, contains a number of

well-built cottages.

The principal supply of water to the Low Fell is from

Carter's Well, and was partly obtained on the opening

of Sheriff Hill colliery, by means of a drift. The Low
Fell was first lighted with gas in 1857.

WREKENTON.
"Weekenton, so called from the Wreken Dyke which

divides it from Eighton Banks, is a large village about

3 miles south of Gateshead, at the southern extremity of

Gateshead Fell parish. It is situated on elevated ground,

being about 500 feet above high water level at Tyne

Bridge, and contains a population of upwards of 700

inhabitants. At the north end of the village, many of

the houses are clean and well built ; but most of the

• Thomas Wilson.—-This able mathematician, poet, and merchant,

is a native of Gateshead Low Fell, where he was bom November 14,

1773. Being of humble parentage, he commenced, when only eight

years of age, a career of dreary toil, enduring privations and hardships

known only to those conversant with the working of coal mines some

eighty years ago. Instruction was almost out of the question ; but

knowledge was Mr. Wilson's great ambition, and, by constant reatling

at every moment of opportunity, he made considerable progress. He
was kept at his monotonous and confined employment in the mines

until the age of nineteen, at which time he procured the situation of

teacher at Galloping Green, a place about a mile distant from his

father's house. Continuing here a short while, he commenced, in

179.3, teaching at Shield Row ; and it was in this year he first saw the

Diaries, which, during a period of above sLxty years, have been a con-

stant source of interest to him, and to which, for a great portion of

that time, he has been a valualjle contributor. Whilst at Shield Row,

by persevering industiy, he added to his other acquirements a know-

ledge of the Latin language. In 1798, he succeeded in obtaining a

clerkship in the office of Mr. Thomas Robson, wharfinger, Newcastle.

Here, however, he found the hours long and the remuneration small

;

and, soon after, he commenced a schopl at Benwell; but an opporlu-

nity of obtaining a commercial situation having presented itself in

1799, he entered the ofiice of Mr. .John Head, an eminent merchant

and underwriter, of Newcastle. With Mr. Head he remained until the

beginning of 1803, when he removed to the counting house of Losh,

Lubliren, and Co., and, in 1805, entered into partnership with Mr
WiUiara Losh, which firm, in 1807, on the junction with it of the lair

Mr. Alderman Thomas Bell, was changed into the title, which it still

bears, of Losh, Wilson, and Bell. As a partner in this mercantile

firm, Mr. Wilson, by his industry, intelligence, foresight, and urbanity,

displayed the abilities of a shrewd man of business.

VOL. II.

other parts, Mr. Francis Bennett, on the sanitary enquiry

in 1848, described as ill-constructed, over-crowded,

without ventilation, damp, dirty, and some having

direct openings into ash pits. No wonder, then, tliat

such a place became a plague spot.

In 1847, the Irish fever, or typhus fever, was very virulent in this

village ; and on the outbreak of cholera in 1849, such were its fatal in-

fluences that it carried off, from the 9th to the 25th of Sept., no less than

one-seventh of the population ; in 158 houses, 110 deaths occuiTed,

and in some of the houses the disease proved fatal to the whole of the

inmates. The village had been erected principally to accommodate

the pitmen employed in adjoining coUieries; the pits being worked

out, the cottages gradually changed their tenants, " until the I'illage,"

says Mr. Rawlinson, who visited it two months after the fatal ^dsitation,

" became head-quarters for all the vagrants in the district ; men,
women, and children, with donkeys, pigs, and dogs, all crowded in the

same room ; demoralization, filth, and crime abounded. The cholera

found the wretched inhabitants in this state, and in a few weeks one-

seventh of the whole population died. Another proof," concludes the

inspector, " that people cannot be allowed to overcrowd houses with

impunity." Since this frightful scourge, many of the houses have been

closed, tinkers and tramps expelled the place, and the health of the

village has become of the average per centage.

A hiring. for servants was held in Wrekenton, for the

first time, on April 15, 1822, by leave of the lords of the

manor, and has since been continued every second Monday

in April, and the first Monday in August. In the village

are a chapel of ease to the parish church, dedicated to

On the passing of the Municipal Reform Act, Mr. WUson was

elected a member of the Gateshead town council, and, at its first

meeting, became an alderman ; an honour which he continued to

enjoy untU 1853, when, at his own request, he was allowed to retire

into private life.

Mr. Wilson's long and useful career has been devoted not less to the

extension than the attainment of knowledge. As education for himself

was his ambition in early life, so the dissemination of it to others has

be'eu to him most truly a labour of love. He has supported schools in

every way, and, in 1840, suggested the establishment of a public institu-

tion at the Low Fell, in which he was warmly assisted by all classes. On

the a51h of April, 184'2, he was invited to a public dinuer, tho rector

of Gateshead Fell in the chair, on which occasion a chaste and correct

bust, of Mr. Wilson, the president of the institution, was presented to

him. This bust, which is from the chisel of Dunbar, is now in the

long room ; Mr. Wilson, on its presentation to himself, having imme-

diately requested that the institution would accept it as a mark of his

attachment to its objects, and of respect and regai'd for those by whom
it had been established.

Mr. WUson's leisure hours have been engaged in mathematical re-

search and poetical composition. His " Stanzas on the intend(Hl new

Line of Road from I'otticar Lane to Leyliurn Holw," " The Oiling of

Dickey's Wig," " The Pitman's Bay Night," ifec, are productions

replete with humour, picturesque descriptions, and the most delicate

touches of nature. Whoever, in short, wishes to know the circumstances,

habits, and characteristics of our coal miners during the early part of

the present century, wUl find the subjeqt happily and accurately de-

lineated in "The Bitman's Pay Night."

Mr. Wilson married, in IHIO, Mrs. Mary Fell, who died in 1839. His

family has consisted of four sons and six daughters, of whom one son

and five daughters, as well as Mr. Wilson himself, are now (1857 } living.

5 T
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St. Thomas, a "Wesleyan Methodist chapel, two Primitive

Methodist chapels, and a Unitarian chapel. There are

also the Barrington and national schools, a library and

reading room, a post-office, and seven public houses.

Wrekeiitoii Lunatic A^yhim is situated in the village,

and commands an extensive view of the surroundino'

country. Messrs. Gowland and Smiles are proprietors of

the establishment.

ADDENDA.

BISHOP CHARLES THOMAS LONGLEY.

MEMOIRS of the bishops of the diocese have been

given in the early portion of vol. i., concluding with

that of Bishop Maltby (see page 92). During the pro-

gress of this work, Bishop Maltby retired by virtue and

under the provisions of an act of parliament, and has

been succeeded in the see by Dr. Longley.

Tlie act of parliament in question was passed Julv 29,

1856, 19 and 20 Yict., cap. 115, by which it is provided

that whenever the Archbishops of Canterbury and York
signify that they have canonically accepted the resigna-

tion of Charles James, Bishop of London, and of Edward,

Bishop of Durham, the sees shall be declared vacant,

and their rights in their sees and to their seats in par-

liament are to cease ; the sees to be filled up as by law

provided in cases of avoidance. The Bishop of London
is to retain for life the episcopal palace of Fulham, with

a pension of 6,000/. a year ;* the Bishop of Durham is to

have a pension of 4,500/. a year ; the pensions to com-

mence from the day of resignation. On resigning their

sees, their episcopal functions ;ire to be regulated by the

laws applicable to bishops who have exercised their

functions in colonies. The bishops who succeed to the

sees are to take them subject to such future arrange-

* Dr. Bloomfield did not long enjoy retirement from his episcopal

duties. His lordship, wbo was bom in 178C, died at tbe palace of

Fulham on August 5, 1857.

+ Election akd Entheosikg.—The dean and chapter of the cathe-

dral church of Durham, assembled on the 1st November, 1850, at the

chapter-house, for the purpose of proceeding to the election of a bishop

of the diocese, in the room of the Kight Kev. Dr. Maltby, who had
resigned. Mr. Davison read the queen's conge-d'-elire, and also the

recommendation which accompanied it ; whereupon the Hight Itev.

Charles Thomas Longley, D.D., Bishop of Ripon, was elected Bishop
of Durham by the dean and canons, then and there assembled, in

accordance with the statutes.

The enthroning was fixed for Friday, the 28th November, but post-

poned, owing to his lordship having been called upon to do homage to

lier majesty ; and instead of being personally enthroned, his lordship

requested the Ven. Archdeacon Bland to become his proxy. The
necessary documents only reached Durham on 'Wednesday morning,
and a special chapter was called for Hi o'clock in the chapter-room.

I

ments as to property, patronage, the limits of the diocese,

&c., as shall be authorised by jiarliament within three

years from the passing of this act.

Her majesty the queen, on the 13th Oct., 1856, ordered

a conge-d'-elire to pass the great seal, empowering the

dean and chapter of Durham to elect a bishop to that

see, the same being void by the resignation of Bishop

Maltbj" ; and recommended Dr. Longley to the vacant

diocese. The dean and chapter, therefore, met on the

1st November, and, in compliance with her majesty's

recommendation, elected Dr. Longley, Bishop of Ripon,

to the episcopal charge, f

Dr. Charles Thomas Longley, Bishop of Durham, is a

younger son of Mr. John Longley, formerly recorder of

Rochester, and for some time one of the magistrates at

the Thames Police Court, London. Charles Thomas

was bom at Rochester in 1794, and, having gone

through the iisual course at Westminster school, removed

to Christ Church, Oxford, where he graduated in 1815,

taking a first class in the classics. In 1829, he was

presented to the rectory of West Tytherley, near Stock-

bridge, Hampshire, and in 1831 resigned that benefice,

on being elected to the head mastership of Harrow

school. On the formation of the see of Ripon in 1836,

I he was appointed by Lord Melbourne, then prime

At the meeting of the chapter, the members present were—the Dean

of Durham, Archdeacon Bland, Archdeacon Thorp, the Kev. H. Jen-

kyns, D.D., the Eev. H. Douglas, and the Rev. E. Edwards. Arch-

I deacon Bland presented to the dean his proxy, authorising the chapter

to induct, enthrone, and install him as proxy for the Bishop of Durham.

He also presented the mandate from the Archbishop of York, calling

upon the dean and chapter to install Dr, Longley bishop of the diocese,

personally or by proxy. The usual oaths having been taken by Arch-

deacon Bland, the dean and the members of the chapter, preceded by

the vergers, then proceeded from the chapter-room to the choir of the

cathedral, and conducted Archdeacon Bland to the bishop's throne and

I

to the bishop's stall, observing the usual religious ceremonies ; and

i on returning to the chapter-room, the venerable archdeacon was in-

I

stalled in the seat set apart for the bishop (see Statutes, vol. i.,p. 232).

1 The bishop's seat in the chapter-room was the gift of Bishop Maltby.

Formerly, in the old chapter-room, there was a very ancient stone seat

(see vol. i., p. 283), in which the bishop sat, at the east end of the

room, and in w hich the bishops of the see, from CarUepho to Barring-

ton, had been successively installed.
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minister, to be its first bisliop, and presided over that

see to the period of his being translated to the cj)iscopacy

of Durham.

Bishop Longley's theological views are moderate, with

a slight leaning to the evangelical, rather than to the

high chm-ch party ; and he is considered to have well

earned his promotion by his arduous labours in the

West Riding see His learning, suavity, and earnest-

ness in the cause of duty, have also gained him general

esteem and respect.

PARLIAMENTARY REPRESENTATION.
A CHAPTER on this subject, bringing the parliamentary

representation of the county down to the general

election of 1852, will be foimd in vol. i., p. 150. The

members for the boroughs having parliamentary repre-

sentatives are given in the history of each town. To

make this portion of the history more complete, the

elections following those of 1852 are here subjoined.

Northern Division of the County.—In 1854, a vacancy

having been occasioned by the death of the Marquis of

Londonderry, and the consequent elevation to the House

of Lords of Viscount Seaham as Earl Vane, his brother.

Lord Adolphus Vane Tempest, was elected without oppo-

sition. At the general election of 1857, the f)revious

members were returned, viz. :—R. D. Shafto, Esq., and

Lord A. V. Tempest.

Southern Division.—Lord Harry Vane, J. Farrer, Esq.,

and H. Pease, Esq., were the candidates ; the two for-

mer having been the previous members. The nomina-

tion took place in Darlington, March 31, 1857 ; General

Beckwith, high sheriff. W. Hutt, Esq., M.P. for Gates-

head, nominated Lord Harry Vane, and observed

—

That his lordship had already been the representative of this division

of the county for the last sixteen years ; and during that period, his

lordship had given a uniform and consistent support to the various

great measures of the country brought before parliament.

R. H. AUan, Esq., of Blackwell Hall, seconded the

nomination of Lord Harry Vane

—

As a fit and proper person to represent the varied interests—the

mining, maritime, commercial, agricultural, and last, though not

least, the political interests, of this important division of the great

county of Durham. The votos of the noble lord in the Commons
House of the people had been consistent and independent. They
indicated groat prudence and forethought, and the exercise of sound

judgment and discrimination. They evinced an innate love of freedom,

and the true spirit of an Englishman, and were quite compatible with

the glorious cause of liberty and independence.

Marshall Fowler, Esq., of Preston Hall, proposed

James Farrer, Esq. ; and the nomination was seconded

by Col. Stobart, of Etherley.

Capt. Scurfield, of Hurworth, nominated Henry Pease,

Esq. ; and Joseph Pease, Esq., of Southend, supported

the nomination. He said

—

" I know what we want, and we'll have it! We have rights, and we

know how to defend them I We love our sovereign, and she asks us

to send men to the great council of the people, not to the House of

Lords, but to the House of the People—men born among the people,

living among the people, loved by the people. Are you farmers? So

are we. Are you manufacturers ? So are we. Are you miners ? So

are we. Are you ship-owners and traders? So are we. Have you a

single right, have you a single interest, have you any claim upon

good-nature and common sense to which we are not accessible, and

upon which we are not one with you in heart, and soul, and body ?

Tliis is what I call a man of the people—not below the people, not

above the people. He knows and feels for those with whom he asso-

ciates. Trot him out—see if he's safe. You know his paces—try him !

Does he draw steady? Yoke him ! You are the men of 18.33, or I'm

greatly mistaken. You are the men of 18il, or I don't know yon.

When you are determined to act, you act like men ; and when you

have set your mind on an honourable and lawful object, you know how
to obtain it."

The declaration of the poll was made on the 6th

April, and the result of the contest terminated in the

election of Mr. Pease and Lord Harry Vane ; the state

of the poll being, for Mr. Pease, 2,570; Lord Harry

Vane, 2,545 ; Mr. Farrer, 2,091.

Citi/ of Durham.—John Robert Mowbray, Esq., was

elected June 24, 1853, see vol. i., p. 446. At the elec-

tion of 1857, "William Atherton and John Robert Mow-

bray, Esqrs., were returned without opi^osition.

I

Sunderhmd.—In 1852, George Hudson and Digby

Seymour, Esqrs., were retm-ned. The latter being ap-

pointed recorder of Newcastle, his re-election was suc-

cessfully opposed, January, 1855, by Henry Fenwick,

Esq. (see page 493). The representation, in 1857, was

contested for ; the candidates being George Hudson,

Henry Fenwick, and Ralph Walters, of Newcastle. At

the close of the poll, the number of voters were—Henry

Fenwick, 1,123; George Hudson, 1,081; Ralph Wal-
i ters, 863 ; and the two former were declared duly

elected.

South Shields.—Robert Ingham, Esq., was returned

in 1857 without opposition.

Gateshead.—See page 781.
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ERRATA.

VOLUME I.

Page 14. Instead of "James Kaine, Esq.," read "the Eev. James

Eaine."

Page 15. Mr. Sartees' last volume was ushered into the world

under the auspices of Mr. Raine, to which a memoir was appended,

written by George Taylor, Esq., of Witton Hall.

Pages liO, 150. High SherilTs—John Gylet officiated in the episco-

pate of Robert de Stichel, and preceded Alexander de Bedyk; for

" Allen," read " Allan ;" for " Acklam," read " Aclom."

Page 153. Withdraw elections in January, 1847, for northern and

southern divisions of the county.

Page 211. In the General History of the City, three lines are

transposed after the seventh line in second column.

Page 436. For " J. D. Shafto," read " K. D. Shafto."

Page 496. For " unentailed," read " entailed."

Page 497. For " taste of," read " taste for."

Page 504. After " Dacres and the Howards," add " The ancestor of

the present Philip Heniy Howard, Esq., of Corby Castle, Sir Francis

Howard, sold Neasham to raise and maintain a regiment of horse for

Charles I. It was commanded by his son. Col. Thomas Howai-d, who

was slain at Atherton Moor in 1C43."

Page 510. For " Henry Howard," read " Philip Henry Howard.

Henry Francis Howai-d, Esq.. a younger brother, is envoy estraordi-

narj- and minister plenipotentiary to the court of Lisbon."

Page 577. After the word " diversion," add " of;" and for " Brom,"

read " Bromley."

Page 582. For " John Morton," read " John Methold. He after-

wards took the name of Eden."

VOLUME IL

Page 79. For " become," read " became."

Page 108. Omit the word " twice" in 1847.

Page 291. For " Capt. R. M. Dinsdale, Newsham Park, Torkshire,"

read " Capt. R. M. Dinsdale, Newsham Park, Durham."

Page 359. The Vice Chancellor's decree, in Stangers v. Nelson, was

subsequently reversed by the Lord Chancellor.

Page 375. For " Clayton," read " Chaytor."

Page 520. For " April 10, 1717," read " April 10, 1777."

Page 532. For " shout," read " shock ;" and for " Ramnuzzer," read

" Eamnugger."

Page 533. For " Major T. C. Havelock," read " Major C. F. Have-

lock." This officer is now a lieutenant-colonel. His brother, brigadier

general Henry Havelock, C.B., commanded the second division of the

army in the recent war with Persia.

Page 530. The family of Gregson of Murton, tempore Queen Eliza-

beth, has resided at Burdon for several generations. John Gregson-

Esq., M.A., the present representative of the family, is the principa

proprietor in the township of Burdon.

Page 572. After " WiUiam Henrj- Lambton," withdraw the conclud-

ing portion of the paragraph. Mr. Lambton was the next brother of

the first Earl of Durham, and is now the head of the firm of Messrs.

Lambton and Co., bankers, of Newcastle-on-Tyue.

Page 582. In note, third line from bottom, instead of" if," read "of.'

Page 631. After "Sept. 5," add " 1828 ;" and instead of " applica-

tion was made by the late Earl," read " present Earl."

Page 635. For " Temple," read " Taylor."

Page 655. For " Ornisby," read " Omsby."

Page 775. For " Sept. 29, 1849," read " Sept. 28, 1849."

DIRECTIONS TO BINDER.

ILLUSTRATIONS IN VOL. I.

Durham, from the East, to face title.

Portrait—Bishop Cosin to face page 76

Portrait—Bishop Barrington 86

Map of the County of Durham 101

T. Y. Hall's Safety Lamp 181

Brancepeth Castle 434

Darlington Church i.'if

Portrait—George Allan, Esq., M.P 494

Dinsdale Park 509

Portiait—William Bewick 515

i
Bishops Palace 548

I

Wearhead Bridge 67 5

ILLUSTRATIONS IN VOL. II.

Ravensworth Castle, from the North, to face tide.

Barnard Castle (by Moonlight) to face page 13

„ (in the Distance) 45

Cauldron Snout ''4

Raby Castle 109

Stockton 149

Portrait—Ralph Ward Jackson, Esq 299

Blackball Rocks 371

Sunderland Bridge 469

Aisle of Tombs 602

Lumley Castle 610

Portrait—Earl of Durham 630

Ravensworth Castle 641

Portrait—T. Y. HaU 682

Church of Benfieldside 699

Mouth of the Tyue 785

Marston Rock 735

Gateshead '^^''

Portrait—Thomas Bewick "i^^
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